
Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development 
Dear Member,
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Lead Member for Planning and 
Sustainable Development to be held as follows for the transaction of the business 
indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 15 January 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: The Boardroom, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Decision Items (Part 1 - Open to the Public): 

3a Salford Revised Draft Local Plan (Pages 1 - 2174)

3b Salford Revised Planning Obligations SPD. (Pages 2175 - 
2504)

4  Exclusion of the Public. 

5  Decision Items (Part 2 - Closed to the Public) - No Items. 

6  Any other business. 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602
Claire Edwards E-Mail: claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE
 

___________________________________________________________________

TO THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

ON 15 JANUARY 2019 
___________________________________________________________________

TITLE: SALFORD REVISED DRAFT LOCAL PLAN 
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development:

i) Approves the Revised Draft Local Plan and supporting documents for the purposes 
of public consultation from Friday 25 January 2019 to Friday 22 March 2019.
___________________________________________________________________

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Salford City Council is preparing a Local Plan which will form a key part of the 
statutory development plan for the city, setting out how Salford should develop up to 
2037. Once adopted, the Local Plan will replace the saved Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP) policies. 

Three stages of consultation have been undertaken on the Local Plan to date, and it 
is now proposed to publish the city council’s Revised Draft Local Plan for 
consultation. The document has been comprehensively modified since the last 
consultation, having regard to the comments received, updates to the evidence 
base, changes to national planning policy, and work on the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework (GMSF). 

The public consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan will run from Friday 25 
January 2019 to Friday 22 March 2019, providing an opportunity for all stakeholders 
to comment on the Revised Draft Local Plan and the associated consultation 
documents. It is the intention that the Salford Local Plan will be produced in parallel 
with the GMSF as far as possible, and consultation on the Revised Draft GMSF will 
overlap with the consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan.  
___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



2

 Revised Draft Local Plan
 Revised Draft Policies Map 
 Sustainability Appraisal of the Revised Draft Local Plan
 Community Impact Assessment of the Revised Draft Local Plan
 Consultation Statement for the Revised Draft Local Plan 
 Draft Statement of Common Ground 
 Revised Draft Local Plan Residential Viability Assessment 
___________________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION: NO  

At this stage the city council is publishing the Revised Draft Local Plan for the 
purposes of public consultation. As no alterations are being made to adopted policy 
at this stage, the decision to approve the documents for the purposes of consultation 
is not considered to have a have a significant impact on communities in two or more 
wards in the city. 
___________________________________________________________________

ON FORWARD LOOK:       YES  
___________________________________________________________________

DETAILS:

Introduction

1.1 Salford City Council is preparing a Local Plan which will form a key part of the 
statutory development plan for the city, and once adopted will replace the 
saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies. The Local Plan will:

 Set out how Salford should develop up to the year 2037;
 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across 

the city, such as housing, offices and industry, and the main areas in 
which this will be focused;

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and 
utilities;

 Protect the city’s important environmental assets;
 Allocate land for particular uses or protective designations; and
 Set out the main policies that will be used to determine planning 

applications.

1.2 Three stages of consultation have been undertaken on the Local Plan to date:

 Call for sites consultation (February - April 2013): Stakeholders were 
invited to nominate sites which they considered should be allocated for 
development, or land which should be given some form of protective 
designation. There was an extensive response to this consultation and 
a significant number of sites were nominated by landowners, 
developers and the local community. 

Page 2



3

 Suggested sites consultation (January – March 2014). The city council 
reviewed all of the nominated sites, and published detailed 
assessments of their suitability for development or protective 
designation in a series of ‘suggested sites consultation’ documents. 

 The Draft Local Plan consultation (November 2016 – January 2017). 
This was an initial full draft for consultation, and provided an 
opportunity for the community and other stakeholders to comment on 
the policies and proposals and suggest alternative approaches. Over 
600 representations and a petition were received in response to this 
consultation. 

1.3 The Statement of Consultation provides details of the consultation undertaken 
at each of the above stages, summarises the main issues raised and explains 
how these issues have been addressed. It is now proposed to publish the city 
council’s Revised Draft Local Plan for public consultation. The document has 
been comprehensively modified since the previous consultation draft, having 
regard to the comments received, updates to the evidence base, changes to 
national planning policy, and work on the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF).

1.4 The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a series of policies organised by topic. 
Before each policy is a reasoned justification, which explains and justifies the 
approach in the policy. The Revised Draft Local Plan also contains a series of 
diagrams, which illustrate the various policies and assist in their 
understanding. A Policies Map has been produced which shows the location 
of sites proposed to be allocated for development or given a protective 
designation. Any potential changes to the Green Belt in Salford are now being 
dealt with solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework process, 
and not through the Local Plan.

Revised Draft Local Plan Spatial Strategy

1.5 Over the next 20 years, Salford will continue its evolution into a modern global 
city, and one of the best business and residential locations in the country. This 
will involve high levels of economic growth, with significant increases in the 
number of jobs, residents and visitors. The approach will be, as was proposed 
in the Draft Local Plan, to continue to accommodate this growth in the most 
sustainable way, promoting the regeneration of the urban areas and 
accommodating as much development as possible on previously developed 
land in accessible locations. There will be a strong focus on securing social 
value from development, ensuring that all residents share in the benefits of 
the city’s growth, helping to reduce inequalities both within Salford and 
between the city and other parts of the country. 

1.6 Supporting the continued growth of the City Centre and Salford Quays will be 
central to the strategy. Although these areas have seen substantial levels of 
development and investment in recent years, they are of strategic importance 
to Greater Manchester’s future economic success, forming part of the huge 
agglomeration of economic activity at the centre of Greater Manchester. The 
Revised Draft Local Plan proposes that the vast majority of the city’s office 

Page 3



4

floorspace will be provided in these locations, and around half of the dwellings 
required in Salford for the period up to 2037, allowing people to live close to 
good public transport and the main locations for employment, shops and 
leisure. 

1.7 The eastern part of the city will continue to be an important focus for 
coordinated regeneration activity, addressing the high levels of deprivation 
and taking advantage of its close proximity to the City Centre and Salford 
Quays. Across Salford, there will be a strong emphasis on providing attractive 
and thriving neighbourhoods, supported by good town centres and other local 
facilities.

1.8 Most new dwellings will be provided on previously developed land. However, 
in order to ensure a good mix of new housing, some greenfield housing 
allocations are identified in the Local Plan. Three sites are also proposed to 
be removed from the Green Belt and allocated for housing through the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), as discussed in more detail 
in paragraph 1.18 of this report. The majority of the housing allocations in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan were included in the Draft Local Plan, with the 
exception of Orchard Street (a new allocation put forward by the majority 
landowner through the Draft Local Plan consultation) and the small sites (new 
allocations to meet the requirements of paragraph 68 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2018)). Some allocations previously included 
in the Draft Local Plan have been deleted due to these sites being granted 
planning permission (Clifton Business Park, the former Swinton Wastewater 
Treatment Works). The proposed housing allocation at Swinton Hall Road has 
also been deleted from the Revised Draft Local Plan, as the site is well 
occupied, supports a considerable number of jobs, and there is ongoing 
interest in its continued use for employment including existing businesses 
wanting to invest in their premises. The boundaries of some of the proposed 
allocations also changed.

1.9 Salford’s overall housing requirement has been identified through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework and is reflected in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan. A requirement of 32,680 is identified for the period 2018-37 which is an 
annual average of 1,720. This compares to the Draft Local Plan requirement 
of 34,900 dwellings over the period 2015-35, which was an annual average of 
1,745 dwellings.

1.10 Port Salford is under construction and will deliver a substantial amount of new 
warehousing floorspace, a new rail spur from the main Manchester-Liverpool 
rail line, new canal berths on the ship canal, and highway improvements. 
Once this new transport infrastructure has been delivered, Port Salford will be 
one of the most attractive and sustainable locations in Greater Manchester for 
industrial and warehousing development. The majority of the city’s industry 
and warehousing floorspace will be provided at Port Salford, and its 
expansion into part of the existing Green Belt to the north and west of Barton 
Aerodrome is proposed through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. 
A new employment allocation has been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan 
at Innovation Park to reflect the ambitions in the Salford Crescent Masterplan 

Page 4



5

and its potential to accommodate knowledge based uses and other activities 
associated with the University of Salford. Two of the employment allocations 
previously included in the Draft Local Plan have been deleted. Ashton’s Field 
now has planning permission for employment use and the capacity of the 
Clifton Junction to support other employment uses is considered to be more 
limited and uncertain.

1.11 A comprehensive, high quality network of green infrastructure will be 
established throughout Salford, and three areas are identified as being 
strategically important. Chat Moss, which will provide a rich wildlife resource 
and a vital carbon sink; the West Salford Greenway, which will be protected 
and enhanced as a varied series of interconnected greenspaces that make an 
important contribution to the character of West Salford; and the Irwell Valley 
which will be enhanced as a key landscape and wildlife corridor connecting 
the urban area to the countryside.

Main changes to the Local Plan policies 

1.12 The Revised Draft Local Plan incorporates policies covering a wide range of 
issues including: housing, employment, retail, transport, health, education, 
energy, water, green infrastructure, recreation, biodiversity, Green Belt, 
heritage, design and pollution. It also includes five area policies for the parts 
of Salford likely to see the most substantial change and/or development 
pressures over the plan period. The plan has been strengthened across a 
range of themes having regard to the comments received, updates to the 
evidence base, changes to national planning policy, and work on the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). 

1.13 The objective to deliver a fairer and more equal Salford is central to the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. Each chapter of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
begins with an explanation as to how the various policies within it can 
contribute towards an inclusive city, and a new fairness chapter has been 
introduced which includes a requirement for all major developments to submit 
a social value strategy, identifying how the development will support social 
inclusion.

1.14 New chapters have also been added on climate change, air quality and digital 
infrastructure. The climate change chapter explains how the Local Plan is 
taking a comprehensive approach to addressing the challenges of climate 
change, including identifying how it will help to minimise carbon emissions 
and mitigate the impacts of climate change. Recognising the existing 
problems along many of Salford’s roads, the new air quality chapter seeks to 
substantially improve the city’s air quality and identifies the various means by 
which this will be achieved. The approach to digital infrastructure has been 
strengthened to have regard to the NPPF, with a greater emphasis on future 
proofing development and including additional detail on telecommunications 
development. 

1.15 A number of new policies have been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan 
covering: employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, 

Page 5



6

economic inclusion, build to rent, self-build and custom house building, 
supporting better health, health and development, a learning city, sustainable 
streets, West Salford Greenway, the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area, delivering the North West River Basin Management Plan, 
soils and agricultural land, and ground instability. Maximum car parking 
standards are also now included in the plan (annex C).  

1.16 Given the contribution that Salford’s heritage assets make to the identity and 
character of its communities, it was considered that this part of the plan 
should be expanded and strengthened to safeguard this. The heritage chapter 
now provides a more detailed introductory section on the city’s history and 
heritage and contains additional policies on heritage at risk, managing change 
across historic areas, and heritage information and interpretation, which seeks 
to ensure that public understanding and access to heritage is maximised.

Relationship with the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF)

1.17 The GMSF is a strategic plan that will cover the whole of Greater Manchester, 
and is being produced collaboratively by the Mayor of Greater Manchester 
and the ten local authorities in the area1. It will set out the overall spatial 
strategy for Greater Manchester, including identifying the appropriate scale 
and distribution of housing and employment development across Greater 
Manchester. The GMSF will also contain a series of strategic policies and 
allocations aimed at delivering economic, social and environmental benefits 
for Greater Manchester. 

1.18 Some of the major decisions regarding Salford’s future development will be 
taken through the GMSF, and the Local Plan will provide a more detailed set 
of local policies to complement this. The Salford Local Plan will need to be 
consistent with the GMSF, and has been written accordingly. All decisions 
about whether Green Belt boundaries in Salford should be altered, including 
whether any existing Green Belt should be de-designated so that it can be 
developed, will be made through the GMSF and not through the Local Plan (at 
the Draft stage, such changes were included in both plans).

1.19 The following sites in Salford are proposed to be de-designated as Green Belt 
and allocated for development in the Revised Draft GMSF:   

 GM Allocation 30 Hazelhurst Farm (400 dwellings) 
 GM Allocation 31 East of Boothstown (300 dwellings) 
 GM Allocation 32 North of Irlam Station (1,600 dwellings) 
 GM Allocation 33 Extension of Port Salford (320,000m2 employment 

floorspace)

1.20 The Revised Draft GMSF is also proposing that some land in Salford is added 
to the Green Belt:

1 Bolton Council, Bury Council, Manchester City Council, Oldham Council, Rochdale Council, Salford 
City Council, Stockport Council, Tameside Council, Trafford Council, and Wigan Council

Page 6



7

 West Salford Greenway (184.5 hectares)
 Part of the Logistics North country park (15.3 hectares)
 Wharton Playing Fields (7.9 hectares)
 Land west of Burgess Farm (25.2 hectares)
 Blackleach Country Park (34.1 hectares)
 Land north-east of HMP Forest Bank (4.1 hectares)

1.21 It is the intention that the Local Plan will be produced in parallel with the 
GMSF as far as possible. Consultation on the Revised Draft GMSF is 
expected to take place between Monday 21 January and Monday 18 March 
2019, and will therefore overlap with the consultation on the Revised Draft 
Local Plan (Friday 25 January to Friday 22 March 2019). 

Sustainability appraisal 

1.22 A sustainability appraisal report has been produced to accompany the 
Revised Draft Local Plan, which appraises the plan against each of 21 
sustainability objectives. The sustainability appraisal report identifies a 
number of mitigation measures which, if implemented, could assist in 
improving the overall sustainability of the Local Plan, and these have been 
incorporated in the Revised Draft Local Plan as far as possible. This appraisal 
will complement the integrated assessment of the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework, which will provide an appraisal of that plan and its strategic 
allocations. 

Statement of Common Ground 

1.23 A draft Statement of Common Ground has been produced in support of the 
Local Plan which identifies the key strategic issues being considered through 
the Local Plan and the current position in relation to these issues. The city 
council has written to the relevant bodies, which include other local authorities 
as well as organisations such as the Environment Agency and Natural 
England, to seek their general agreement with regards to the issues identified. 
The Statement of Common Ground is a requirement linked to the Duty to 
Cooperate and will be updated at each of the remaining stages of the plan.  

Revised Draft Local Plan consultation

1.24 The period of public consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan will run from 
Friday 22 January 2019 to Friday 22 March 2019, and will provide an 
opportunity for the community and other stakeholders to comment on the 
Revised Draft Local Plan and the associated consultation documents. 

1.25 The consultation documents will be published on the city council’s website, 
and copies of the Revised Draft Local Plan will also be available in each of the 
city’s libraries and at the Civic Centre. An interactive map on the city council’s 
website will enable people to view the proposed allocations and designations 
and the relevant draft policies. All stakeholders on the city council’s planning 
consultee database will be notified at the start of the consultation. A 
stakeholder event will be organised during the consultation period which will 

Page 7



8

provide an opportunity for people to discuss the both the Local Plan and the 
GMSF and find out more about parts of the plans they are interested in. An 
invitation will also be sent to all community committees to offer to attend their 
meetings during the consultation period.   

Next steps in producing a Local Plan 

1.26 The stages remaining in producing the Salford Local Plan, together with the 
anticipated dates, are set out in Table 1 below. Any changes to the timetable 
for producing the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework may result in some 
of these Local Plan stages being brought forward or put back.

Table 1: Remaining stages in the production of the Local Plan 
Stage Dates
Revised Draft Local Plan January – March 2019 
Publication Local Plan September 2019
Submission of the Local Plan January 2020
Public examination During 2020
Adoption July 2021

Recommendation

1.27 It is recommended that the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development approves the Revised Draft Local Plan and supporting 
documents for the purposes of public consultation from Friday 25 January 
2019 to Friday 22 March 2019.

___________________________________________________________________

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN SAVED POLICIES 
___________________________________________________________________

COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

A community impact assessment of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been 
undertaken to assess whether there would be any differential impacts in relation to 
any of the equality groups. 
___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: MEDIUM

In order for the city council to be able to adopt the Local Plan, the document must be 
found sound when an independent examination of the document is carried out. To be 
sound a Local Plan must be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent 
with national policy, and the city council must be able to demonstrate the soundness 
of the document to a Planning Inspector on this basis. It is recognised that various 
policies and proposals in the Revised Draft Local Plan may be subject to significant 
challenge from those seeking higher or lower levels of development or different 
policy approaches, but the plan is considered to be sound. The Local Plan is being 
produced in parallel with the GMSF and any changes to the timetable for producing 

Page 8



9

the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework may necessitate changes to the Local 
Plan timetable for the remaining stages. 
___________________________________________________________________

SOURCE OF FUNDING: 

The non-staff costs associated with the consultation are limited in scale (associated 
with the printing of the documents) and will be met from existing revenue budgets. 
___________________________________________________________________

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Supplied by: Stephanie Hall, Senior Solicitor (0161 234 3094)

The legislative requirements in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 for the preparation of the local plan have been complied 
with.

The Council is required by Regulation 18 to notify various consultation bodies, the 
general public and local businesses of the proposed local plan and invite 
representations.  The Council must then take into account any representations 
received in preparing its local plan.    
 
If the proposed local plan is not prepared in accordance with Regulation 18, any 
subsequent attempt by the Council to adopt the plan would be susceptible to 
challenge.
___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Paul Hutchings, Strategic Finance Manager (x2574)

At the present time there are no specific financial implications of the consultation of 
the draft Local Plan.  Any additional resource requirements resulting from the 
consultation will be subsumed within the existing resources of the team.

The implementation of the Local Plan itself will clearly have wide ranging direct and 
indirect financial implications including, but not restricted to, income generation, 
demands on services and economic growth within the city.  These financial 
implications will feed into future budget setting.
___________________________________________________________________

 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

 HR IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:

The Local Plan is being prepared through engagement with directorates across the 
Council including Children’s Services and Regeneration. 

Page 9



10

___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Thorn TEL. NO. 0161 793 2664
David Percival TEL. NO. 0161 793 3656

___________________________________________________________________

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): ALL

Page 10



���������	�
�
�������	
��	
������

�����������
���	�������
������	����

Page 11



 
 

1 
 

CONTENTS  

 Chapter  Page 

   

1 Introduction  12 

2 Spatial portrait  16 

3 Spatial vision  20 

4 Strategic objectives 25 

5 A fairer Salford   28 

6 Climate change  34 

7 Efficient and coordinated use of land  37 

8 Planning conditions and obligations 40 

9 Area policies 43 

10 Economic development 59 

11 Culture and tourism 72 

12 Housing 78 

13 Town centres and retail development 127 

14 A learning city 137 

15 Health 144 

16 Accessibility  151 

17 Digital infrastructure 172 

18 Energy 175 

19 Water 181 

20 Design 192 

21 Heritage 204 

22 Green Belt and agriculture 216 

23 Green infrastructure 223 

Page 12



 
 

2 
 

24 Biodiversity 239 

25 Recreation 248 

26 Air quality 261 

27 Pollution and hazards 265 

28 Minerals and waste  270 

29 Implementation and monitoring 271 

   

 Annexes  

A Nationally described space standards 273 

B Town centre insets 274 

C Parking standards 282 

D Saved Unitary Development Plan policies 301 

E Strategic policies in the Local Plan 306 

 

   

Page 13



 
 

3 
 

 List of policies  Page  

   

Chapter 5: A fairer Salford    

F1 F1 An inclusive development process  29 

F2 F2 Social value and inclusion  30 

F3 F3 Inclusive places 31 

F4 F4 Fairness between generations  32 

   

Chapter 6: Climate change  

CC1 Climate change  34 

   

Chapter 7: Efficient and coordinated use of land  

EF1 Efficient use of land  37 

EF2 Coordinated development  38 

   

Chapter 8: Planning conditions and obligations  

PC1  Planning conditions and obligations  40 

   

Chapter 9: Area policies  

AP1 City Centre Salford 44 

AP2 Greengate Park  49 

AP3 Salford Quays 51 

AP4 Ordsall Waterfront 54 

AP5 Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays 57 

   

Chapter 10: Economic development  

Page 14



 
 

4 
 

EC1 Economic development spatial strategy 60 

EC2 Economic inclusion  63 

EC3 Office development  64 

EC4 Industrial and warehousing development 65 

EC5 Employment allocations 66 

EC5/1 Port Salford, Irlam and Winton  67 

EC5/2 Salford Innovation Park, Irwell Riverside  67 

EC6 Existing employment areas  68 

   

Chapter 11: Culture and tourism  

CT1 Tourism development  72 

CT2 Art and culture  75 

CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium, Irlam  76 

   

Chapter 12: Housing  

H1 Housing strategy  79 

H2 Scale and phasing of housing development  80 

H3 Distribution of housing  82 

H4 Type of housing  85 

H5 Size of dwellings  88 

H6 Housing density 91 

H7 Affordable housing  95 

H8 Build to rent  100 

H9 Housing land supply (includes housing allocations)  103 

H10 Housing for older people  117 

H11 Student housing  119 

Page 15



 
 

5 
 

H12 Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople  121 

H13 Self-build and custom housebuilding 123 

H14 Conversion of existing houses and new build residential 

developments of non-self-contained units  

124 

   

Chapter 13: Town centres and retail development  

TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres 128 

TC2 Development involving main town centre uses 130 

TC3 Retail frontages, changes of use and redevelopments within 

designated centres 

134 

TC4 Food and drink uses within designated centres  135 

   

Chapter 14: A learning city  

ED1 A learning city 137 

ED2 Schools and further education facilities  139 

ED3 Residential development and school places  139 

ED4 University of Salford  141 

   

Chapter 15: Health  

HH1 Supporting better health  145 

HH2 Development and health  146 

HH3 Provision of health and social care facilities  147 

HH4 Salford Royal Hospital  148 

   

Chapter 16: Accessibility  

A1 Sustainable transport strategy  152 

A2 Transport hierarchy  156 

Page 16



 
 

6 
 

A3 Sustainable streets  157 

A4 Walking and cycling  158 

A5 Public transport  160 

A6 Sustainable movement of freight  161 

A7 Highway network 163 

A8 Motor vehicle parking provision and drop off facilities in new 

developments  

164 

A9 City centre car parking  166 

A10 Park and ride facilities  166 

A11 Electric vehicle charging points  168 

A12 Barton Aerodrome  169 

A13 Protection of aviation safety at Manchester Airport  170 

A14 Safeguarding potential transport routes  170 

   

Chapter 17: Digital infrastructure  

DG1 Digital infrastructure  172 

DG2 Protecting digital infrastructure  174 

   

Chapter 18: Energy  

EG1 Sustainable energy in new development 175 

EG2 Renewable and low carbon energy schemes 177 

   

Chapter 19: Water  

WA1 Water strategy 182 

WA2 Delivering the North West River Basin Management Plan 184 

WA3 Water supply and water efficiency 186 

Page 17



 
 

7 
 

WA4 Flood related infrastructure  186 

WA5 Development and flood risk  187 

WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage 190 

   

Chapter 20: Design  

D1 Design principles 193 

D2 Local character and distinctiveness  194 

D3 Layout and access  195 

D4 Spaces  196 

D5 Amenity  197 

D6 Design and crime 198 

D7 Housing design  200 

D8 Alterations and extensions 201 

D9 Waterside development  202 

   

Chapter 21: Heritage  

HE1 Heritage spatial strategy 205 

HE2 Heritage assets 206 

HE3 Heritage protection 209 

HE4 Managing change across historic areas 210 

HE5 A positive future for heritage assets 212 

HE6 Heritage at risk 213 

HE7 Heritage information and interpretation 214 

   

Chapter 22: Green Belt and agriculture  

GB1 Green Belt 217 

Page 18



 
 

8 
 

GB2 Soils and agricultural land 220 

GB3 Farm diversification  220 

GB4 Agricultural, forestry and other occupational dwellings within the 

Green Belt 

221 

   

Chapter 23: Green infrastructure   

GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy 223 

GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development  225 

GI3 Chat Moss 229 

GI4 Irwell Valley 231 

GI5 West Salford Greenway  233 

GI6 Local Green Space  234 

GI7 Trees, woodland and hedgerows  237 

   

Chapter 24: Biodiversity   

BG1 Biodiversity spatial strategy 240 

BG2 Nature improvement areas 243 

BG3 Development and biodiversity 244 

BG4 Geodiversity 246 

   

Chapter 25: Recreation  

R1 Recreation spatial strategy 248 

R2 Recreation standards  252 

R3 Recreation facilities and residential amenity  254 

R4 Protection of recreation land and facilities  254 

R5 Strategic recreation routes 256 

Page 19



 
 

9 
 

   

Chapter 26: Air quality   

AQ1 Air quality  261 

   

Chapter 27: Pollution and hazards  

PH1 Pollution control  266 

PH2 Control of hazardous uses 267 

PH3 Development near hazardous installations  268 

PH4 Land instability  268 

 
  

Page 20



 
 

10 
 

Figure 
 

Page  

   

1 Key diagram 24 

2 City Centre Salford 48 

3 Salford Quays  53 

4 Ordsall Waterfront  56 

5 Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays 58 

6 Economic development spatial strategy  62 

7 Tourism development locations  74 

8 Housing areas  83 

9 Dwelling mix in individual developments  87 

10 Residential value areas  99 

11 Existing and proposed gypsy and traveller sites   122 

12 University of Salford  142 

13 Accessibility strategy 154 

14 Existing and proposed transport infrastructure   155 

15 Sustainable energy opportunities  179 

16 Heritage assets  208 

17 Green Belt  218 

18 Green infrastructure priority functions  228 

19 Biodiversity assets  242 

20 Strategic recreation opportunities  251 

21 Strategic recreation routes  258 

22 Air quality management area  263 

 

Page 21



11 
 

PREFACE 

A. Salford City Council consulted on a Draft Local Plan between November 2016 
and January 2017. The document has since been comprehensively modified, 
having regard to the comments received, updates to the evidence base, 
changes to national planning policy, and work on the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework (GMSF). The result is this Revised Draft Local Plan. 

 
How do I make comments on the Revised Draft Local Plan?  
 
B. We would welcome your comments on the Revised Draft Local Plan. If you 

wish to propose an alternative approach, new or revised policies, or consider 
that an additional site should be allocated for development or given a 
protective designation, then it is recommended that you provide as much 
evidence as possible to support this. This will assist the city council in giving 
your suggestion full consideration.  
 

C. Comments can be made in the following ways:  
 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 Online using the comments form at 
www.salford.gov.uk/reviseddraftlocalplan  

 By post to: Revised Draft Local Plan consultation   
                  Spatial Planning  
                  Salford Civic Centre 
                  Chorley Road 
                  Swinton 
                  M27 5BY 

 

D. All comments should be received by the city council no later than 4.30pm on 
Friday 22 March 2019.  
 

E. If you have any questions about the Local Plan, please contact the city 
council’s spatial planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk  

 
Treatment of comments 

F. All of the comments received, and the name of the individual or organization 
making them, will be matters of public record and open to public scrutiny. This 
information will be published on Salford City Council’s website following the 
consultation period. Those making comments will be entered onto the city 
council’s planning policy database so that they can be kept informed of the 
Local Plan and other planning policy documents in accordance with our 
privacy policy1. 

                                                           
1 https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/data-protection-legislation/ - 
see ‘Spatial planning privacy notice’ 

Page 22

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/reviseddraftlocalplan
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/data-protection-legislation/


12 
 

CHAPTER 1           INTRODUCTION 

What is the Local Plan? 
 
1.1 Salford City Council is preparing a Local Plan which will form a key part of the 

statutory development plan for the city, and once adopted will replace the 
saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies. The Local Plan will:  
 

 Set out how Salford should develop up to the year 2037; 

 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across 
the city, such as housing, offices and industry, and the main areas in 
which this will be focused; 

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and 
utilities; 

 Protect the city’s important environmental assets; 

 Allocate land for particular uses or protective designations; and 

 Set out the main policies that will be used to determine planning 
applications. 

 
1.2 The Local Plan includes a series of policies organised by topic. Before each 

policy is a reasoned justification, which explains and justifies the approach in 
the policy. The Local Plan also contains a series of diagrams, which illustrate 
the various policies and assist in their understanding. A Policies Map has 
been published which shows the location of sites proposed to be allocated for 
development or given a protective designation.    

 
How does the Local Plan relate to the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework? 
 
1.3 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) is a strategic plan that 

will cover the whole of Greater Manchester, and is being produced 
collaboratively by the Mayor of Greater Manchester and the ten local 
authorities in the area2. The GMSF will set out the overall spatial strategy for 
Greater Manchester, including identifying the appropriate scale and 
distribution of housing and employment development across Greater 
Manchester. This includes specifying the housing requirement for Salford. The 
GMSF will also contain a series of strategic policies and allocations aimed at 
delivering economic, social and environmental benefits for Greater 
Manchester. 
 

1.4 Some of the major decisions regarding Salford’s future development will 
effectively be taken through the GMSF, and the Local Plan will provide a 
much more detailed set of local policies to complement this. It is the intention 
that the Local Plan will be produced in parallel with the GMSF as far as 
possible. 
 

1.5 The Salford Local Plan will need to be consistent with the GMSF, and has 
been written accordingly. All decisions about whether Green Belt boundaries 

                                                           
2 Bolton Council, Bury Council, Manchester City Council, Oldham Council, Rochdale Council, Salford 
City Council, Stockport Council, Tameside Council, Trafford Council, and Wigan Council 

Page 23



13 
 

in Salford should be altered, including whether any existing Green Belt should 
be de-designated so that it can be developed, will be made through the GMSF 
and not through the Local Plan. 

 
How does the Local Plan relate to other planning documents? 

 

1.6 The Local Plan and the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) will 
form part of Salford’s development plan, along with the following two existing 
documents: 

 

 Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan Document 
(adopted in April 2013)  

 Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan Document 
(adopted in April 2012) 

 
1.7 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined 

in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 

1.8 It is possible that local communities may use their powers under the Localism 
Act 2011 to produce Neighbourhood Plans for their areas. Such documents 
would also form part of Salford’s development plan, and hence have 
significant weight in decision-making. Neighbourhood plans must be in 
general conformity with the GMSF and the strategic policies of the Local Plan. 
The policies in Salford’s Local Plan that are defined as strategic policies are 
identified in Annex E.  
 

1.9 The city council has produced a series of supplementary planning documents 
(SPDs), which provide more detailed advice on how some of the existing UDP 
policies will be implemented. These SPDs will be updated to reflect the Local 
Plan policies once it is adopted, and additional ones produced where required. 
The SPDs do not form part of the development plan, but are nevertheless 
important material considerations in decision-making. 

 
What is the process for producing the Local Plan? 
 
1.10 The process for producing the Local Plan has been largely set by Government 

policy and statutory requirements. Three stages of consultation have been 
undertaken to date as shown in Table 1.   
 

Table 1: Stages of consultation undertaken to date 

Stage  Dates  

Call for sites consultation  

Stakeholders were invited to nominate sites which 

they considered should be allocated for 

development, or land which should be given some 

February – April 2013  

Page 24



14 
 

Table 1: Stages of consultation undertaken to date 

Stage  Dates  

form of protective designation. There was an 

extensive response to this consultation and a 

significant number of sites were nominated by 

landowners, developers and the local community.  

Suggested sites consultation 

The city council reviewed all of the nominated sites, 

and published detailed assessments of their 

suitability for development or protective designation 

in a series of ‘suggested sites consultation’ 

documents.  

January – March 

2014  

Draft Local Plan  

The Draft Local Plan was an initial full draft for 

consultation, and provided an opportunity for the 

community and other stakeholders to comment on 

the policies and proposals and suggest alternative 

approaches.  

November 2016 – 

January 2017 

 
1.11 The stages remaining in producing the Salford Local Plan, together with the 

anticipated dates, are set out in Table 2 below. Any changes to the timetable 
for producing the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework may result in some 
of these Local Plan stages being brought forward or put back. 

 

Table 2: Remaining stages in the production of the Local Plan  

Stage Dates 

Revised Draft Local Plan January – March 

2019  

Publication Local Plan  September 2019 

Submission of the Local Plan  January 2020 

Public examination  During 2020 

Adoption  July 2021 

 
 
 

Page 25



15 
 

Sustainability appraisal 
 
1.12 A sustainability appraisal report has been produced to accompany the 

Revised Draft Local Plan, which appraises the plan against each of 21 
sustainability objectives. The sustainability appraisal report identifies a 
number of mitigation measures which, if implemented, could assist in 
improving the overall sustainability of the Local Plan, and these have been 
incorporated in the Revised Draft Local Plan as far as possible. This appraisal 
will complement the integrated assessment of the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework, which will provide an appraisal of that plan and its strategic 
allocations. 

 

Can the Revised Draft Local Plan be used at the moment? 
 
1.13 The Revised Draft Local Plan is a draft document for consultation, and people 

are invited to make comments and suggest alternative approaches. It will also 
be subject to an independent examination. Therefore, whilst this document 
identifies the approach that the city council proposes to take having regard to 
the evidence available, it is possible that elements of it could change before 
the Local Plan is adopted. Consequently, it is considered that the Revised 
Draft Local Plan has only very limited weight when making decisions on 
planning applications. 

 

  

Page 26



16 
 

CHAPTER 2  SPATIAL PORTRAIT 

 

About Salford 
 
2.1 The city of Salford is located at the heart of the metropolitan area that runs 

across the southern part of the North West Region of England. It lies on the 
western side of Greater Manchester, sharing boundaries with Bolton, Bury, 
Manchester, Trafford, Warrington and Wigan. 
 

2.2 City Centre Salford, Salford Quays, and some adjoining areas have 
experienced significant growth and investment in recent years and provide a 
major concentration of employment, retail, leisure, tourism and cultural 
opportunities. However, some of the inner neighbourhoods surrounding the 
City Centre are characterised by high levels of deprivation, and contribute 
towards Salford being identified as the 16th most deprived local authority in 
England.3 They form part of a much wider concentration of deprivation at the 
heart of the conurbation which extends into Manchester and Trafford. The 
River Irwell is a distinctive landscape feature running through this eastern part 
of the city, but it results in parts of the most accessible, economically 
important and socially deprived areas being at significant risk of flooding. 
 

2.3 The rest of the city is generally much more suburban in character. It includes 
some of Greater Manchester’s most affluent residential areas such as 
Worsley, Boothstown and Ellesmere Park, and fulfils an important economic 
function with some of the city’s best performing employment areas such as 
Agecroft and Northbank. There are however concentrations of deprivation in 
some neighbourhoods such as Little Hulton and Eccles which share similar 
challenges to large parts of the centre of the conurbation. 
 

2.4 In recent years, Salford has seen a substantial amount of investment in 
new homes, businesses, infrastructure and the public realm. The delivery of 
major projects such as MediaCityUK, Greengate, Port Salford and the AJ Bell 
Stadium, and the revitalisation of road and riverside corridors, has 
transformed large areas of Salford and had a significant impact on the city’s 
economy and profile. However, Salford has not yet reached its full potential 
and increasing numbers of people are choosing it as a place to live, work, 
invest and visit. With a population of 251,300, the city has experienced 
significant growth over the last 15 years, and this has been at a considerably 
higher rate (16.2%) than Greater Manchester (10.9%) or the North West 
(7.0%)4. 
 

2.5 Salford is a strategically important location not just within Greater Manchester 
but the north of England as a whole. It includes the confluence of the M60, 
M61, M62 and M602 motorways, one of the busiest stretches in the country, 
as well as rail infrastructure that is vital to the functioning of the wider network. 
This transport infrastructure provides direct links to Leeds and Liverpool, and 
Manchester Airport, which is just 10 miles to the south of the city. High levels 

                                                           
3 New Economy (October 2015) The English Indices of Deprivation 2015: Results for the North West 
4 ONS mid-year population estimates 2017 

Page 27



17 
 

of congestion on parts of the transport network threaten some of these 
locational advantages, and the ambitious growth plans for Salford and the 
wider Greater Manchester area is likely to increase the number of trips on the 
transport networks. 
 

2.6 Salford is a major employment centre which makes a significant contribution 
towards Greater Manchester’s economy. There are over 9,500 active 
businesses in the city5, and a significant number of these are concentrated 
within City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. Total employment reached over 
132,000 in 20166 across a wide range of sectors, however local employment 
is heavily dependent on service sectors, with the city having a strong financial 
and services market, and an expanding creative, media and digital sector 
concentrated at MediaCityUK. Salford is home to a number of major 
employers including the BBC, ITV, TalkTalk, Bupa, University of Salford and 
Salford Royal Hospital. Although the city’s unemployment rate has seen a 
substantial recent reduction, falling to 4.9% in the year to June 2018, this is 
still above the regional and national rates of 4.2% and 4.3% respectively.7 
 

2.7 Salford shares its city centre with neighbouring Manchester, with the main 
retail offer being located within Manchester. The City Centre is hugely 
important to the region’s economy as its primary employment, retail, tourism 
and leisure destination. The areas of the City Centre which are located in 
Salford are experiencing a period of considerable transformation, and these 
distinct neighbourhoods, and the cultural and historic assets and spaces 
within them, make a significant contribution to the successful functioning of 
the City Centre as a whole. There is a network of one large town centre, five 
other town centres and 20 local centres across the city, which meet a range of 
shopping needs and act as a focal point for local communities, contributing 
towards local identity and the successful functioning of the city’s 
neighbourhoods.  
 

2.8 Housing is an issue of great significance within the city. Average house prices 
have increased rapidly in recent years and are now around 15% above the 
previous peak of 20078. The house price to income ratio has risen above 5.6 
(with above 3.5 being deemed unaffordable), indicating that there are 
affordability issues in the city9. Although the ratio is considerably lower than 
the average for England as a whole (over 7.9), a significant number of 
households still find it financially difficult to access the right type of housing. 
Over the last 15 years a very strong apartment market has developed in and 
around the City Centre and Salford Quays, accounting for a significant 
number of Salford’s new dwellings. This is reflected in the higher than average 
proportion of dwellings in Salford that are apartments (28.8%), when 
compared to the Greater Manchester (19.4%) and England (22.1%) 
averages.10  

                                                           
5 ONS Business Demography 2016 
6 Greater Manchester Forecasting Model 2017 
7 Unemployment rate - aged 16-64 (%) ONS – Annual Population Survey 
8 HM Land Registry 
9 ONS housing affordability series – house price to workplace-based earnings ratio 
10 Property Types 2011 Census  

Page 28



18 
 

 

2.9 The city’s historic environment makes a significant contribution towards the 
character and identify of Salford. The city currently has 235 listed buildings, 16 
conservation areas, three scheduled ancient monuments and two registered 
parks and gardens, as well as a broad range of other heritage assets, 
including archaeology dating back to the city’s beginnings and features such 
as the Bridgewater Canal and Barton Aerodrome that represent the city’s 
legacy of industrial and transport heritage.   
 

2.10 Despite being at the heart of a large conurbation, Salford accommodates a 
wide range of green and blue infrastructure, consisting of green spaces, 
parks, woodlands, nature reserves, canals, golf courses, allotments and 
gardens. Over 30% of Salford’s land area is Green Belt. There are two major 
areas or green infrastructure in Salford which are sub-regionally important, 
stretching beyond the city’s boundaries. The Irwell Valley is a key landscape 
corridor connecting the urban area to the countryside and fulfilling a wide 
range of functions including recreation, biodiversity and flood risk mitigation. 
Chat Moss is the largest area of open land within the city, providing a 
distinctive landscape which forms part of a wider area of mossland that 
extends into Wigan and Warrington. The environmental quality of Chat Moss 
has been degraded over many decades as a result of peat cutting and 
agricultural activity, however some parts of the area are already under 
restoration to lowland raised bog and there remain significant opportunities for 
securing further restoration The West Salford Greenway provides a more 
locally significant area of green infrastructure, extending through the central 
western part of the city. 
 

2.11 Salford contains 1,800 hectares of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land (grades 1 and 2), all of which is located in Chat Moss. This represents 
approximately 36% of all grade 1 and 2 land in Greater Manchester, and it is 
therefore a resource of sub-regional importance.  
 

2.12 There are considerable challenges within the city with regards to health, 
education and skills. Salford currently suffers from very significant health 
inequalities, and average health levels in the city are much worse than the 
national average. Male life expectancy at birth for Salford residents is 2.5 
years less than the UK, and female life expectancy at birth is 2.0 years less.11 
There are also significant inequalities across the city with the average life 
expectancy in the city’s most deprived areas being 10.9 years lower for men 
and 7.6 years lower for women than its least deprived areas.12 Whilst there 
have been some significant improvements in educational performance in 
recent years, Salford remains below the national average for key indicators 
and there are also large disparities in educational attainment across the city.  

 
Challenges 
 

                                                           
11 Salford City Council (February 2018) Life Expectancy at Birth 2016: Analysis 
12 Public Health England (2018) Salford Health Profile 2018 

Page 29



19 
 

2.13 The next 20 years are going to be very important for Salford. Substantial 
progress has been made in securing the city’s regeneration, but there are 
significant challenges ahead in meeting Salford’s future development needs 
whilst tackling inequality and protecting its valued and attractive environment. 
It will be essential that new development is carefully integrated into the city in 
such a way that maximises benefits for all Salford residents and responds to 
the identified challenges so that the city can prosper. 

 
2.14 Some of the key challenges include how to: 
 

 Accommodate Salford’s growing population13, in housing that meets 
the full range of needs 

 Continue to develop a strong, diverse economy that can withstand 
economic shocks and provide a range of accessible employment 
opportunities 

 Facilitate the continued growth of those locations that are essential to 
Greater Manchester’s future prospects, such as the City Centre and 
Salford Quays 

 Cope with the additional demand for travel associated with the growth 
in population, businesses and tourists, in a sustainable way without 
worsening congestion 

 Deliver the infrastructure required to support a growing population, 
including transport, schools and health facilities 

 Ensure that growth has a positive impact on environmental and 
heritage assets, and contributes to attractive and distinctive places 

 Minimise contributions and adapt to climate change, and mitigate its 
impacts, including reducing the risk and impacts of flooding 

 Tackle inequality, promote fairness, and ensure that all residents share 
in the benefits of growth 

 Increase average levels of health and educational attainment, and 
reduce disparities 

  

                                                           
13 The ONS 2016-based population projection for Salford in 2037 is almost 287,000, an increase of 
14% on the 2017 population. The housing requirement for Salford of 32,585 net additional dwellings 
for the period 2018-2037, set by the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, would be 
expected to support even higher population growth. 

Page 30



20 
 

CHAPTER 3  SPATIAL VISION 

 
3.1 Salford is experiencing phenomenal growth. The purpose of this Local Plan is 

to deliver that growth in a sustainable way that benefits everybody. The city 
council is committed to inclusive growth and the Local Plan will contribute to 
wider political priorities which seek to create a fairer, more equal city. 
 

3.2 Salford has seen a turnaround in its fortunes over recent years, reversing 
decades of population decline and securing high levels of investment. The city 
is now delivering major growth, in both new housing and new jobs, and is 
helping to drive forward the Greater Manchester economy. Despite these 
successes, there are still significant inequalities across the city and areas of 
deprivation. 
 

3.3 Over the next 20 years, Salford will continue its evolution into a modern global 
city, and one of the best business and residential locations in the country. This 
will involve high levels of economic growth, with significant increases in the 
number of jobs, residents and visitors. The approach will be to continue to 
accommodate this growth in the most sustainable way, promoting the 
regeneration of the urban areas and accommodating as much development 
as possible on previously developed land in accessible locations.  
 

3.4 There will be a strong focus on securing social value from development, 
ensuring that all residents share in the benefits of the city’s growth, helping to 
reduce inequalities both within Salford and between the city and other parts of 
the country. This will include delivering: 

 

 Development that is of a high quality, future-proofed and designed in 
such a way as to maximise its social and environmental benefits 

 Distinctive places that support wellbeing, with high levels of green 
infrastructure 

 Quality of life improvements which, through improving air quality and 
reducing pollution, will reduce the health divide 

 Better open spaces, which will promote healthy lifestyles and are 
accessible to all, not a privileged few 

 More affordable homes and an increase in new homes being built to 
avert a housing crisis 

 Energy efficiency to address the scandal of fuel poverty in the city 

 More accessible and adaptable homes so that the needs of disabled 
people and older people are met 

 Local employment and training opportunities 
 

3.5 Those wanting to invest in Salford will be welcomed, on the basis that they will 
do their best to improve the lives of all residents in the city. This will involve 
helping to address inequalities, for example in terms of health, skills, incomes 
and opportunities. There will be an expectation that all developers will 
sign up to the City Mayor’s Employment Charter, demonstrating their 
commitment to acting responsibly and supporting social inclusion. 
 

Page 31



21 
 

3.6 There is a huge agglomeration of economic activity at the centre of Greater 
Manchester, including extensive parts of south-east Salford and stretching 
into central Manchester and north-east Trafford. This central economic area is 
of fundamental importance to the economic prosperity and prospects of 
Greater Manchester, and those parts in Salford will be managed so as to 
realise fully their potential contribution to the success of the city and wider 
sub-region. 
 

3.7 At the heart of this central economic area is the City Centre, which is located 
in both Salford and Manchester. Its position as the most significant economic 
location and largest office market in the country outside London will be further 
strengthened. It will continue to provide the primary focus for business, retail, 
leisure, cultural and tourism activity in Greater Manchester. City Centre 
Salford will continue to undergo considerable transformation, with each of its 
neighbourhoods having a strong sense of place and being well-integrated with 
other parts of the City Centre. 
 

3.8 Immediately to the south-west of the City Centre is Salford Quays, which 
provides an internationally significant cluster of digital and creative uses 
extending into neighbouring Trafford. Salford Quays will continue to grow as 
one of the most important economic locations in the country, and will be 
increasingly recognised globally as an excellent place to work, live and visit. 

 

3.9 Ordsall Waterfront provides a key link between the City Centre and Salford 
Quays. This role will be enhanced, with it continuing to be developed as a 
high-density residential-led mixed-use neighbourhood, where high quality 
development presents a striking waterside setting. 

 
3.10 There are three key existing employment areas on the edge of the City Centre 

and Salford Quays, at Eccles New Road, Liverpool Street and Cambridge. 
These areas currently provide a range of important employment functions, but 
are coming under increasing redevelopment pressures. Their excellent 
location just outside the City Centre and/or Salford Quays makes it particularly 
important that the best possible use is made of them. Consequently, their 
future will be very carefully controlled to ensure that any change is appropriate 
and fully supports the vital economic functions of the wider area. Masterplans 
will be developed for each area to manage any change within them, and they 
will continue to be protected as existing employment areas unless such 
masterplans indicate otherwise. 
 

3.11 Eccles Town Centre lies within the central economic area, just to the west of 
the Eccles New Road area and Salford Royal Hospital. It has outstanding 
transport connections, with a rail station, the terminus of the Salford Quays 
Metrolink line, a bus station, and junction 2 of the M602 motorway, as well as 
only being a short distance from the Trafford Centre and Trafford Park. 
Coordinated improvements to the town centre will be delivered, taking 
advantage of these opportunities and its heritage, building on its emerging 
role as a gateway to Salford Quays. 
 

Page 32



22 
 

3.12 The Manchester Ship Canal is a unique asset for Greater Manchester, 
providing an inland waterway that connects to the deep-water shipping 
facilities at the Port of Liverpool. Port Salford is under construction on the 
banks of the ship canal, and will deliver a substantial amount of new 
warehousing floorspace, a new rail spur from the main Manchester-Liverpool 
rail line, new canal berths, and a series of highway improvements. Once this 
new transport infrastructure has been delivered, Port Salford will be one of the 
most attractive and sustainable locations in Greater Manchester for industrial 
and warehousing development, enabling more goods to be moved by means 
other than road. In order to take advantage of this potential, and to provide 
more jobs in the west of the city, the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
proposes an expansion of Port Salford into part of the existing Green Belt to 
the north and west of Barton Aerodrome. 
 

3.13 The eastern part of the city will continue to be an important focus for 
coordinated regeneration activity, addressing the high levels of deprivation 
currently found in some of the inner areas and taking advantage of their close 
proximity to the opportunities in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 
Investment will also be directed towards the significant pockets of deprivation 
elsewhere in the city. Across Salford, there will be a strong emphasis on 
providing attractive and thriving neighbourhoods, supported by good town 
centres and other local facilities. 
 

3.14 Around half of the new dwellings in Salford will be delivered in the City Centre 
and Salford Quays, enabling people to live close to the main locations for 
employment, shops and leisure, and close to good public transport. Most 
other new dwellings will be provided within existing neighbourhoods. 
However, in order to ensure a good mix in terms of the type, affordability and 
location of new housing, a small proportion of the new homes will be on 
undeveloped land that will be taken out of the Green Belt through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework. The sites to be removed from the Green Belt 
and used for housing development have been carefully selected in order to 
broaden the range of new housing, retain Green Belt separation between 
neighbourhoods, promote public transport use and provide high quality living 
environments. The largest of these sites is to the north of Irlam Station, where 
there is the potential to deliver a sustainable new neighbourhood that takes 
advantage of the direct rail connection to the City Centre. 

 
3.15 Salford has a wealth of historic and culturally significant buildings and a wide 

range of leisure opportunities, making it an attractive location for visitors. The 
potential to significantly enhance the city’s tourism role will be realised, with 
new facilities such as RHS Garden Bridgewater helping to attract more visitors 
to the area and contributing towards the city’s economic success. 

 
3.16 A comprehensive, high quality network of green infrastructure will be 

established throughout Salford, with key strategic areas being enhanced. Chat 
Moss will provide a rich wildlife resource and a vital carbon sink, with 
connections to a wide range of outdoor recreation opportunities. Increased 
policy protection for the West Salford Greenway will secure this important 
open space for the long term, and new nature parks will be delivered at the 

Page 33



23 
 

former Swinton wastewater treatment works and at Cutacre in Little Hulton 
(Logistics North). The Irwell Valley will be enhanced as a key part of the green 
infrastructure network, with improved green spaces and a coordinated 
approach to minimising the risk and impacts of flooding. Irwell River Park will 
make a major contribution to the attractiveness of the City Centre and Salford 
Quays as places to live and work, providing high quality walking and cycling 
routes, green spaces and connections to the wider Irwell Valley. 
 

3.17 All new developments will be expected to maximise their environmental 
benefits, including by minimising their contributions to climate change, 
maximising the green infrastructure that they incorporate, and providing a net 
improvement in biodiversity. They will also be required to respond positively to 
Salford’s rich physical and cultural heritage, delivering high quality design that 
supports local distinctiveness. This will help to ensure that new development 
is seen by existing communities to make a positive overall contribution to their 
neighbourhood. 
 

3.18 A high quality, efficient and accessible transport system will be vitally 
important to the city’s success, and there will be continued investment in 
Salford’s transport infrastructure to assist in the delivery of the city’s growth 
aspirations and enhance Salford residents’ accessibility to key employment 
and leisure destinations both within and outside of the city. One of the biggest 
public concerns that must be addressed by new development is the potential 
impact on transport congestion. The scale of growth will generate an 
increased demand for travel, and it will be essential that the potential for 
walking, cycling and using public transport is maximised. At this stage, it is not 
possible to identify many of the precise transport schemes that will need to be 
delivered, but work on this will be ongoing in order to ensure the successful 
implementation of this plan. Where appropriate, it may be necessary to delay 
development proposals until suitable transport solutions have been identified. 

 
  

Page 34



Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

  Figure 1 - Key diagram  

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A Roads
Town centres
Central economic area
City Centre Salford
City Centre within Manchester local authority area
Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays
Ordsall Waterfront
Salford Quays

MediaCityUK

Port Salford (as permitted)
RHS Bridgewater

Salford Royal Hospital

Barton Aerodrome

Strategically important green infrastructure 
Chat Moss 
Proposals in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Green Belt as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Removals from the Green Belt as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Additions to the Green Belt as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Extension to Port Salford as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Housing allocations as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

M60

M602

M61 M60

M60
M62

City Centre
Salford

P
age 35



 

25 
 

CHAPTER 4  STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

 
4.1 The following strategic objectives will be central to the achievement of the 

spatial vision, and provide the basis for the plan’s monitoring framework. The 
policies and proposals of the plan are designed to support the achievement of 
these objectives. There are also more detailed indicators and targets at the 
end of each chapter, which will be used to monitor the policies within them. All 
indicators/targets below relate to the period 2018-2037 unless otherwise 
stated. 

 
1) To support high levels of economic growth in Salford and Greater 

Manchester 
 
Key targets: 
a) Provision of around 400,000m2 of new office floorspace 
b) Provision of around 565,000m2 of new industrial and warehousing 

floorspace14 
c) Increase in visitor numbers to key attractions in the city 
 

2) To significantly increase the unique economic competitive 
advantages of Salford and Greater Manchester 
 
Key targets: 
a) Significant increase in the quantity of office floorspace provided in 

City Centre Salford and Salford Quays  
b) Expansion of MediaCityUK 
c) Delivery of Port Salford and its infrastructure 
 

3) To enable all residents to share in the benefits of economic 
growth 
 
Key targets: 
a) Reduction in the difference in median household incomes 

between the city and the national average 
b) Reduction in the proportion of children (under 16s) in low income 

households 
c) Reduction in unemployment rates 
d) Increase in the proportion of the working age population qualified 

to NVQ level 3+ and above 
 

4) To support improvements in the average health of residents and 
reduce health inequalities 
 
Key targets: 
a) Increase in average life expectancy at birth 

                                                           
14 This target takes into account the proposal in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework to extend Port Salford by removing land from the Green Belt 

Page 36



26 
 

b) Reduction in the difference in average life expectancy at birth 
between wards in Salford 

c) Reduction in the difference in average life expectancy at birth in 
the worst performing Salford wards and the national average 

d) Significant decrease in the area of the city within an air quality 
management area 

 
5) To enable more households to access suitable and affordable 

housing 
 

Key targets: 
a) Provision of at least 32,680 net additional dwellings15 
b) A supply of specific deliverable sites to provide a minimum of five-

years’ worth of housing at all times 
c) Significant increase in the supply of affordable homes 

 
6) To support regeneration and the efficient use of land 

 
Key target: 
a) Delivery of at least 80% of new dwellings on previously-developed 

land 
 

7) To enable the provision of facilities and services to support new 
developments and existing communities 
 
Key targets: 
a) Maintain an appropriate number of surplus pupil places in each 

pupil planning area 
b) Increase in the provision of primary health care facilities 
 

8) To enhance the network of green infrastructure across Salford 
and protect important green spaces 
 
Key targets: 
a) Increase in the proportion of households that meet defined 

recreation access standards 
b) Increase in percentage of surface water bodies of at least good 

ecological status or potential, with 100% at this level by 2037 
 

9) To support a net gain in Salford’s biodiversity 
 
Key targets: 
a) Significant increase in the area of Chat Moss that is being 

restored to lowland raised bog or a complementary wetland 
habitat 

b) Increase in the area of land in positive nature conservation 
management 

 

                                                           
15 This target is set by the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

Page 37



27 
 

10) To minimise contributions to, and risks from, climate change 
 
Key targets: 
a) Significant reduction in per capita carbon dioxide emissions 
b) Significant increase in the capacity of renewable and low carbon 

energy production 
 

11) To significantly enhance accessibility and reduce congestion 
 
Key targets: 
a) Increase in the proportion of journeys to and from work that are by 

walking, cycling and public transport 
b) Improvement in journey times on the key route network 
 

12) To deliver high quality development that makes a positive 
contribution to the character, heritage and identity of Salford and 
its neighbourhoods 
 
Key targets: 
a) No net reduction in the number of statutorily protected heritage 

assets 
b) Increase in the proportion of major developments subject to a 

design review process 
 

  

Page 38



28 
 

CHAPTER 5  A FAIRER SALFORD 
 
 
5.1 The United Nations has identified 17 sustainable development goals to 

transform our world16, and this chapter helps to ensure that the Local Plan 
fully supports their achievement: 

 

 
 
5.2 Delivering a fairer Salford is central to everything that the Local Plan is 

seeking to accomplish. As the city’s anti-poverty strategy explains: 
 

“Salford has ambitious plans to become a modern global city and significant 
public and private investment over the last ten years has helped to create 
more new jobs and opportunities than ever before. But despite the success of 
the city’s continued growth, it is clear that not all of Salford’s residents are 
sharing in the benefits of this prosperity. The fact remains that significant 

levels of poverty continue to exist in many parts of the city.”17 

 
5.3 Addressing this poverty is fundamental to achieving a fairer Salford. More 

broadly, it will be essential that everyone is enabled to take advantage of the 
opportunities within Salford and beyond, able to play a full part in society, and 
not held back due to their personal characteristics or identity such as 
disability, age, gender, sexuality, ethnicity or social class. It will also be 
important that our focus is not just on the present, but that we ensure that 
decisions today open up rather than compromise the prospects of future 
generations. 

 
5.4 Realising a fairer, more equal and more pleasant Salford will require a wide 

range of actions, cutting across many stakeholders and areas of work. 
Development activity has a key role to play in this, and hence the Local Plan 
seeks to maximise its potential contribution to an inclusive city. 

                                                           
16 Courtesy of https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/  
17 Salford City Partnership (February 2017) No One Left Behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford, p.1 

Page 39

https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/


29 
 

 
 
An inclusive development process 
 
5.5 Development is vital to delivering a fairer Salford, helping to meet essential 

needs and providing employment, leisure and other opportunities. However, 
too often people feel excluded from the development process, only having the 
opportunity to be involved when a planning application has been submitted, 
which can lead to a process characterised by objections rather than 
collaboration. 

 
5.6 Early and continuous engagement of local stakeholders, including residents, 

can help to achieve greater ownership and acceptance of development. It also 
provides the potential to identify and incorporate opportunities to deliver social 
value outcomes. This more collaborative approach can provide benefits not 
just for local communities but also to developers, investors, and future 
occupiers, helping to speed up the development process, enabling new 
development to be better integrated into existing places, providing positive 
publicity, and supporting the long-term success of development. 

 
 
Policy F1 An inclusive development process 

 
Developers are strongly encouraged to involve local residents, businesses 
and other stakeholders throughout the development process, including: 
 
1) Understanding the varied needs of residents, and how the development 

could help to meet them; 
2) Collaboratively drawing up development proposals with residents, 

particularly where they would involve the provision of public spaces or 
facilities, or would have a significant impact on the local area; 

3) Communicating with local residents and businesses throughout the 
construction phase, keeping them informed and minimising any adverse 
impacts on their usual activities; and 

4) Seeking feedback on how the operation and management of completed 
developments could be improved in order to maximise their positive 
contribution to the local area and address any adverse impacts. 

 
Applications that can demonstrate early, proactive and effective engagement 
with the community shall be looked on more favourably than those that 
cannot.  
 
 
 
Social value and social inclusion 
 
5.7 If a fairer Salford is to be delivered, then it will be necessary for new 

development to take all practicable measures to maximise its wider social 
value and its contribution to social inclusion. The opportunities to deliver 

Page 40



30 
 

social value through new development arise throughout its lifecycle, including 
both the construction and operational phases. 

 
5.8 The production of a Social Value Strategy for major developments provides a 

mechanism for thinking about how social value and social inclusion can be 
maximised, securing the implementation of suggested measures, and 
enabling the public to understand the positive impact that new development 
will have on their neighbourhood and community. The city council will 
positively engage with developers in the production and implementation of 
their Social Value Strategies, but the involvement of other stakeholders 
including local residents is also strongly encouraged in order to maximise their 
impact and the acceptance of new development. 

 
 
Policy F2 Social value and inclusion 

 
All development shall be located, designed, constructed and operated so as to 
maximise its social value and contribution to making Salford a more socially 
inclusive city. 
 
All major developments shall submit a Social Value Strategy at the planning 
application stage for the approval of the city council. A condition will be 
included on all relevant planning permissions to ensure the implementation of 
any approved Social Value Strategy, including requiring compliance with the 
relevant parts of the strategy to be confirmed prior to the commencement and 
the occupation of the development. 
 
The Social Value Strategy shall identify how the development will support 
social inclusion and deliver social value throughout its lifecycle. This shall 
include demonstrating how the development will maximise its positive 
contribution to: 
  
1) Reducing inequalities in Salford and their adverse impacts on residents; 
2) The ability of local residents and vulnerable groups to fully participate in 

society; 
3) Inclusive places, in accordance with Policy F3; 
4) Economic inclusion, in accordance with Policy EC2; and 
5) Good mental and physical health, in accordance with Policy HH1. 
 
For the purposes of this policy, social value is defined as the range of 
potential social, economic and environmental benefits to communities in 
Salford, including existing residents, businesses and other stakeholders in the 
local area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



31 
 

Inclusive places 
 
5.9 The way in which places evolve, and the role of individual developments 

within them, can have an enormous impact on levels of social inclusion. 
Places can open up opportunities for everyone to realise their potential, but 
they can also narrow down prospects and introduce barriers that prevent 
people from meeting their needs or enjoying active lives. 

 
5.10 Enabling people to live healthier lives is a vital aspect of delivering social 

inclusion, particularly within Salford where there are significant health 
inequalities. The role of green infrastructure is especially important, 
encouraging people to spend time outdoors, contributing to the provision of 
high quality walking and cycling options that encourage active travel, 
mitigating pollution, reducing the adverse impacts of climate change, and 
more generally adding to quality of life, notwithstanding its broader 
environmental benefits such as in terms of enabling the movement of wildlife. 
This needs to be set within a broader strategy of delivering more walkable and 
cyclable streets. 
 

5.11 Central to inclusive places is equality of accessibility and opportunity, enabling 
everyone to participate fully in society and people to remain in their homes 
and communities as their needs change. Relatively small modifications can 
have a significant impact on the ability of people to enjoy their local area, such 
as incorporating appropriate lighting to reduce the fear of crime, providing 
places for people to rest and socialise, and incorporating public toilets into 
large developments. Careful design can ensure that places are welcoming for 
all generations, for example by integrating play areas that encourage children 
to lead more active lives, avoiding unnecessary clutter that reduces the 
accessibility of the public realm for those with restricted mobility and 
minimising disorienting noise and lighting for those with dementia. 

 
Policy F3 Inclusive places 

 
All places and developments shall be as inclusive as possible, capable of 
adapting to a broad range of changing needs and delivering a high quality of 
life, where no one is potentially excluded because of disability, age, gender, 
sexuality, ethnicity or social class. Achieving this will involve, where 
appropriate to the function of the area: 
 
1) Developing a distinctive local character, whilst enabling individuals to 

be confident in their own identity; 
2) Providing an attractive, safe and inviting environment and public 

spaces, free from excessive air and noise pollution; 
3) Integrating a high level of green infrastructure that raises the human 

spirit as well as contributes a variety of important environmental 
functions; 

4) Making it easy and attractive to walk, cycle and use public transport, 
with motor vehicles not being allowed to dominate; 

Page 42



32 
 

5) Offering excellent external connections, both through sustainable 
transport links and digital connectivity, that enable people to take full 
advantage of wider opportunities; 

6) Delivering a diverse mix of decent and adaptable homes, including 
affordable housing that enables everyone to meet their housing needs; 

7) Providing a varied choice of business accommodation, including for 
start-ups and small and medium enterprises (SMEs); and 

8) Incorporating a range of amenities and facilities to meet different local 
needs. 

 
 
 
Fairness for all generations 
 
5.12 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development18, and the United Nations has adopted the 

Brundtland Commission’s definition of sustainable development as “meeting 
the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs”19. Hence, fairness between generations 

is at the heart of planning, and the Local Plan must aspire to leave the 
environment and society in a better position and not just the economy. 

 
5.13 Many different aspects of the Local Plan will contribute to this, helping to 

ensure that the diversity of cultural and environmental resources is maintained 
and enhanced, and the prospects of younger and future generations are not 
diminished. For example, the requirements under Policy EG1 for enhanced 
energy efficiency requirements in new homes and under Policy A11 for the 
incorporation of electric vehicle charging points will help to reduce the city’s 
contributions to climate change, minimise energy costs for future generations, 
and lessen the need for potentially expensive retrofitting. The requirement for 
all developments to deliver a net gain in biodiversity under Policy BG3 and 
maximise the provision of green infrastructure under Policy GI2, coupled with 
the approach to Chat Moss set out in GI3 will help to enhance Salford’s 
environmental capital. Policy WA5 on flood risk, Policy WA6 on surface water 
drainage, Policy D5 on amenity and Policy AQ1 on air quality will all help to 
address pollution issues. More importantly, it is the collective implementation 
of the policies of the Local Plan that will help to ensure that development in 
Salford is genuinely sustainable and that the interests of future generations 
are properly protected and advanced. 

 
 
Policy F4 Fairness between generations 

 
The interests of future generations will be central to the overall development 
strategy for Salford, and will be promoted through a range of measures 
including: 

                                                           
18 Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 7 
19 Resolution 42/187 of the United Nations General Assembly 

Page 43



33 
 

 
1) Minimising carbon emissions and maximising carbon sequestration; 
2) Maximising the resilience of buildings and places, such as to the 

impacts of climate change; 
3) Enhancing environmental capital, such as through a considerable net 

gain in biodiversity; 
4) Addressing pollution issues, such as by improving air and water quality, 

and tackling land contamination; 
5) Enabling cultural and place-based identities to flourish; 
6) Protecting and enhancing the city’s heritage assets; 
7) ‘Future-proofing’ buildings and places, so as to minimise the need for 

future generations to pay for their retrofitting in response to changing 
technologies and environmental standards. 

 
 
  

Page 44



34 
 

CHAPTER 6         CLIMATE CHANGE 

 

 
6.1 The Climate Change Act 2008 introduced a legally binding target for the UK to 

reduce its carbon emissions by at least 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 
levels. This is a very challenging target, and the planning system will need to 
play a full role in its achievement. The widespread and potentially devastating 
impacts of climate change place a responsibility on us all to minimise our 
carbon emissions, and this must be seen as an essential component of all 
development. As well as taking actions to reduce emissions, it will also be 
important to maximise natural processes that can take carbon out of the 
atmosphere and lock it into features such as peat and trees, known as ‘carbon 
sequestration’. 

 
6.2 Even with concerted action now, current levels of greenhouse gases in the 

atmosphere will lead to changes in the climate, such as increased average 
global temperatures, more extreme weather events and heightened flood risk. 
It will be vital to the long-term sustainability of Salford, and the health, safety 
and quality of life of its residents, that the city is designed to adapt to changes 
in the climate. Green infrastructure will have a major role to play in this, 
helping to mitigate the impacts of high temperatures, reduce flood risk, and 
maintain biodiversity. 

 
6.3 Some of the necessary actions for tackling climate change, such as improving 

energy efficiency and increasing the provision of green infrastructure, could 
have direct benefits for residents by reducing energy bills and providing a 
higher quality environment. They may also open up business opportunities 
that will help Salford to develop a low carbon economy. 

 
 
Policy CC1 Climate change 

 
A comprehensive and integrated approach to addressing the challenges of 
climate change will be taken, consisting of the following key elements: 
 
A) Minimising carbon emissions, including by: 

1) Directing development towards locations that minimise the need 
to travel and maximise the ability to make trips by sustainable 
modes of transport 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Reducing the burden that falls on future generations of responding to 
climate change 

 Tackling the negative impacts of climate change, particularly on human 
health, which are more likely to be felt by the most vulnerable 

 

Page 45



35 
 

2) Delivering higher densities of development on the most 
accessible sites 

3) Providing more walkable and cyclable neighbourhoods that 
reduce demand for car use 

4) Incorporating electric vehicle charging points in new 
developments 

5) Supporting the sustainable movement of freight, such as through 
Port Salford and urban consolidation centres that facilitate zero 
carbon last mile delivery 

6) Requiring new  residential schemes to exceed the fabric energy  
efficiency required under Part L of the Building Regulations 2013 
by at least 19%, and achieve a higher standard than is required by 
any subsequent revisions to Building Regulations 

7) Requiring major non-residential development to meet the 
BREEAM very good standard or higher 

8) Promoting the retrofitting of existing buildings, including 
incorporating measures to reduce energy consumption 

9) Identifying and supporting a range of opportunities for the 
delivery of renewable and low carbon energy schemes 

 
B) Maximising carbon sequestration, including by: 

10) Securing the restoration of lowland raised bog, particularly within 
the Biodiversity Heartland in Chat Moss 

11) Significantly increasing the number of trees and extent of 
woodland in Salford, such as through City Forest Park and the 
planting of street trees 

 
C) Mitigating and adapting to the impacts of climate change, including by: 

12) Managing flood risk associated with higher peak river flows and 
more extreme weather events, and relocating vulnerable uses 
where appropriate 

13) Providing shade and green infrastructure to reduce overheating of 
urban areas during warmer summers 

14) Creating places that promote social interaction, since people who 
are isolated are typically at greater health risk from overheating 
urban areas 

15) Increasing the extent, interconnectedness and diversity of wildlife 
habitats to enable animals and plants to adjust 

16) Promoting greater water efficiency to minimise the potential for 
drought 

17) Reducing air pollution so as to minimise the potential for higher 
temperatures to worsen air quality 

 
D) Responding to the economic and policy changes that are likely to 

accompany climate change, including by: 
18) Reducing the reliance on the private car, which will ease the 

impact of increasing oil prices on residents and businesses 
19) Encouraging businesses to take advantage of new economic 

opportunities associated with reducing carbon emissions 

Page 46



36 
 

20) Protecting high grade agricultural land, which is likely to be a 
diminishing national and global resource as some areas become 
adversely impacted by rising temperatures, reduced rainfall 
and/or seawater inundation 

 
Monitoring 

6.4 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 
 

Indicator Target 

Per capita carbon dioxide emissions Significant 

reduction 

(2018-37) 

 
  

Page 47



37 
 

CHAPTER 7          EFFICIENT AND COORDINATED USE OF LAND 

 

7.1 If sustainable development is to be achieved, it will be important to use the 
city’s land and resources in an efficient and coordinated way. This will avoid 
more sites being developed than is necessary, and ensure that development 
supports the success of the wider area and does not compromise 
development options on other sites.  
 

Efficient use of land 
 

7.2 The efficient use of land will be particularly important for supporting economic 
growth, ensuring that the best possible use can be made of the finite land 
resources within the city. This will help to minimise the potential need for 
greenfield and Green Belt land, and other sensitive sites, to be developed. 
 

7.3 The density of development is a key aspect of using land efficiently, 
supporting efforts to minimise the need to travel and maximise the number of 
journeys made by more sustainable modes of transport such as walking, 
cycling and public transport. However, it will be equally important to ensure 
that other structures, infrastructure, open space, car parking, etc, are also 
integrated into a site as effectively as possible. 

 
 
Policy EF1  Efficient use of land 

 
Developments shall use land efficiently. All parts of a site shall have a clear 
and positive purpose. 
 
The density of a development shall: 
1) Respond to the local context and character; and 
2) Reflect the accessibility of the site: 

a) By public transport, cycling and walking; and 
b) To public services, community facilities, amenity and recreation 

provision. 
 
The highest density development shall be in the most accessible locations. 
Proposed improvements to the accessibility of a site will be taken into account 
in implementing this policy, but only where there is a high probability of their 
delivery and long-term retention. 
 
Residential densities shall meet the requirements in Policy H6. 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Maximising the efficient and effective use of land in all neighbourhoods, 
helping to minimise the loss of green areas and maximise opportunities to 
make trips by public transport, cycling and walking  

 

Page 48



38 
 

 
 
 
Co-ordinated development 
 
7.4 It is important to ensure that development on one site does not unnecessarily 

constrain what can be achieved on other potential development sites, as this 
could lead to the inefficient use of land, poor quality design, or land use 
conflicts. The possible impacts on other sites will therefore be important 
factors to be considered by developers when locating and designing their 
schemes. This principle will also be applied to large sites that are likely to be 
brought forward by more than one developer. 

 
7.5 The use of masterplans or frameworks may be necessary in some locations to 

ensure that development is properly co-ordinated and contributes to high 
quality neighbourhoods. This will be especially important for coordinating 
infrastructure delivery. It is anticipated that organisations other than the city 
council may produce masterplans/frameworks. However, where this occurs, it 
will be important for the city council to be involved at all stages of their 
production so as to ensure that the masterplans/frameworks properly meet 
policy requirements and to minimise the potential for delays in determining 
any associated planning applications. 
 

7.6 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is proposing to take a small 
number of sites out of the Green Belt in Salford to help increase the delivery 
of housing and employment floorspace. Given the size and location of these 
sites, and the level of public concern raised about their development, it will be 
important for each of them to be subject to a masterplan. 

 
 
Policy EF2  Co-ordinated development  

 
Development will not be permitted if it would unacceptably hamper or reduce 
the development options for adjacent sites or the wider area. Development 
must make provision for, and be phased with, supporting infrastructure, 
facilities, and appropriate environmental mitigation. 
 
Development on individual sites shall be guided by a masterplan or framework 
for the wider area where there is a need to: 
 
1) Demonstrate that development options on other sites would not be 

unacceptably reduced;  
2) Secure consistency in layout and/or design across more than one site; 
3) Accommodate and/or fund infrastructure when this would not be 

possible by viewing individual sites in isolation; 
4) Ensure that the cumulative impacts of development in the area are 

properly assessed; or 
5) Ensure that the development properly supports the success of the wider 

area. 

Page 49



39 
 

 
A masterplan/framework produced by someone other than the city council will 
only comply with the above paragraph where: 
 
A) The boundaries and scope of the masterplan/framework area have been 

agreed with the city council at an early stage in the production process; 
and 

B) The final version of the masterplan/framework has been endorsed by the 
city council. 

 
The production process for the masterplan/framework shall: 
 
i) Ensure the proper consultation of the local community and other 

stakeholders within and adjoining the masterplan/framework area, 
meeting the principles set out in Policy F1; 

ii) Seek to maximise social value and inclusion in any resulting 
development in accordance with Policy F2; and 

iii) Identify early in the process whether the scale and nature of the 
development proposed within the masterplan/framework area is likely to 
need to be subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and, if 
so and as far as practicable, use the EIA process to guide the 
development of the masterplan and identify opportunities to improve it. 

 
No development will be permitted on sites allocated for development through 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework until a masterplan or 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been developed with the local 
community and other stakeholders, and endorsed, or in the case of an SPD 
adopted, by the city council. 
 
 
 

Page 50



40 
 

CHAPTER 8         PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

 
8.1 Planning conditions and obligations will be used, where required, to ensure 

that land is utilised in the most appropriate and effective manner, to reduce 
the negative impacts of developments, and to ensure that developments are 
integrated and coordinated with their surroundings, contributing to the overall 
health of the area within which they are situated. In addition, the city council 
will negotiate with developers to secure additional community and 
environmental benefits, where appropriate. Whilst the city council will seek 
opportunities to secure external public funding to assist in the delivery of 
infrastructure, it will be very important to ensure that the contributions 
obtained from developers are maximised. The use of conditions and 
obligations will be consistent with the tests set out in national guidance. 
 

8.2 Priorities for planning obligations may evolve over the plan period, depending 
on changing circumstances, but those set out in the following policy reflect the 
anticipated pressures and additional demands associated with the proposed 
scale and location of development in Salford. Having regard to the fact that 
development costs, revenues and immediate priorities can rapidly change, the 
detailed planning obligation requirements will be set out in a supplementary 
planning document. 
 

8.3 Planning obligations often have financial implications for developers. In some 
cases, in the absence of more appropriate alternatives, land may need to be 
set aside within the development site for the provision of infrastructure such 
as open space, public realm, and schools. Hence, it will be important to 
discuss potential planning obligations early on in the development process, to 
minimise the potential need for scheme re-designs later on and other delays 
to the planning application process. 

 
8.4 The planning obligation requirements set out within this Local Plan have been 

subject to a plan-wide viability assessment, and any additional guidance 
produced by the city council will be similarly informed. As a result, it should 
not normally be necessary for viability assessments to be submitted with 
individual planning applications. However, it is recognised that there may be 
site-specific circumstances where the cumulative effect of policy requirements 
and planning obligations would compromise development viability for 
particular schemes, such as where a site requires expensive remediation prior 
to development. In these instances, an applicant may submit a viability 
assessment to demonstrate that a lower level of planning obligations would be 
appropriate in order to enable the development to be delivered. Any 
subsequent agreement will need to allow for the possibility that viability may 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Requiring new developments to make appropriate contributions to address 
their impacts, ensuring that they have a positive overall effect on local 
communities 

 

Page 51



41 
 

turn out to be better than anticipated, and hence ‘clawback’ clauses will be 
typically be used to ensure that the final planning obligations reflect actual 
viability. In considering the purchase of land, developers should take into 
account the costs associated with delivering the necessary policy 
requirements as well as any site specific issues which may increase 
development costs, for example contamination or the presence of heritage 
assets.  
 

8.5 There is a public interest in viability appraisals being available for inspection 
when these are relied upon to secure planning permission for development 
that does not deliver the planning obligations required to mitigate fully its 
impacts. Consequently, in order to provide transparency and maintain public 
confidence in the planning system, the city council will publish submitted 
viability appraisals prior to the planning application being determined. Where a 
developer considers that exceptional circumstances exist that mean that 
specific details of an assessment should be redacted or withheld, they should 
clearly set out the circumstances for this to the satisfaction of the city council. 

 
 
Policy PC1  Planning conditions and obligations 

 
Development that would have an adverse impact, or would result in a material 
increase in the need or demand for infrastructure, services, facilities and/or 
maintenance, will only be granted planning permission subject to planning 
conditions and/or planning obligations that would ensure adequate mitigation 
measures are put in place.  
 
Artificial splitting of sites 
Where there is evidence that a site or a development has been artificially split 
in order to avoid policy requirements by being below any relevant 
size/dwelling threshold, the council will consider whether it would be 
appropriate to apply the policy requirements to each of the smaller sites 
individually irrespective of their size/number of dwellings in order to secure 
planning obligations in accordance with this plan. In determining whether 
separate sites should be aggregated to form a single site for the purposes of 
applying this policy, the city council will consider: 
 
1) Existing and previous land ownership; 
2) Whether the areas of land could be considered to be a single site for 

planning purposes; and 
3) Whether the development should be treated as a single development. 
 
The city council will consider each application on the facts as a matter of 
planning judgement. 

 
Priorities for the use of planning obligations 
Priorities for planning obligations will include (in no order of prioritisation): 
 
A) Transport 

Page 52



42 
 

B) Public realm 
C) Open space, allotments and green infrastructure 
D) Education 
E) Health 
F) Affordable housing (as set out in policy H7) 
G) Biodiversity off-setting (as set out in policy BG3) 
H) Other site-specific contributions  

 
Long term maintenance 
Where new or improved open space, green infrastructure or public realm is 
secured, appropriate provision for its long-term maintenance will also be 
required. 
 
Reduced planning obligations 
Development will be permitted with reduced planning obligations compared to 
policy requirements only where: 
 
i) The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal that reflects the 

recommended approach in national planning guidance and provides a 
clear explanation for any assumptions that deviate from those used in 
the city council’s latest strategic viability assessment; 

ii) The value of the planning obligations has been maximised having 
regard to likely viability; 

iii) A clawback mechanism has been incorporated into a legal agreement, 
where appropriate, to ensure that additional mitigation is provided if 
final development viability is better than anticipated in the viability 
assessment; and 

iv) The benefits of the development outweigh the lack of full mitigation for 
its impacts, having regard to other material considerations. 

 
Where a viability appraisal is submitted by an applicant in order to justify a 
reduced contribution, it and any revisions to it will be published prior to the 
determination of the planning application unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. Where such exceptional circumstances exist, an executive 
summary that includes sufficient information to enable the public to fully 
understand the main inputs and conclusions of the appraisal must be provided 
and published. 
  

Page 53



43 
 

CHAPTER 9  AREA POLICIES 
 

 
9.1 Some parts of Salford are likely to see substantial change over the next few 

decades, and this chapter sets out policies specifically for those areas. Other 
areas of the city are also important, but the policies in the other chapters of 
this Local Plan are considered to provide sufficient guidance to manage 
development within them. 

 
 
City Centre Salford 
 
9.2 The City Centre lies within both Manchester and Salford, and is already 

hugely important not just to the Greater Manchester economy but to the North 
of England more generally. It provides around 10% of all jobs in Greater 
Manchester, and the scale of opportunity within the City Centre means that 
this figure will increase significantly over the next few decades. Continued 
investment in the very good public transport accessibility of the City Centre 
will be needed so as to ensure that these employment opportunities are 
accessible to residents across Greater Manchester and beyond, providing an 
enormous labour market that will help to attract businesses to the area. 

 
9.3 The City Centre is mainly contained within the inner relief road, but 

importantly now extends beyond to surrounding areas such as Middlewood, 
Chapel Street and the Crescent in Salford, and NOMA, Ancoats, New 
Islington and Oxford Road in Manchester. Over recent years, there has been 
significant developer interest in areas within City Centre Salford with major 
office and apartment developments under construction and with planning 
consent. 
 

9.4 The continued growth of the City Centre will require a careful balancing of its 
various functions. The priority must be to protect its fundamentally important 
economic role, and so those areas of City Centre Salford that form part of the 
main central business district should be used predominantly for office, tourism 
and cultural development. However, there will still be scope for a very large 
increase in the resident population alongside this, taking advantage of the 
lifestyle opportunities that a City Centre location can offer, and supporting 
sustainability objectives by enabling people to live close to where they work 
and socialise. The majority of new residential development within City Centre 
Salford will be in the form of apartments, exploiting the area’s locational 
advantages. Selected opportunities to deliver houses at a high density will 
add to the mix of accommodation available. 
 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Ensuring that areas of potentially major change are carefully managed for 
the benefit of local communities and the wider city 

 

Page 54



44 
 

9.5 The scale of development and densities envisaged make the provision of 
green infrastructure within the City Centre particularly important, contributing 
to a high quality urban environment and helping to address issues such as the 
urban heat island, biodiversity and flood risk. The high density urban 
environment can present particular challenges in this regard and all potential 
options to ‘green’ developments will need to be explored. 
 

9.6 It will be important for each part of City Centre Salford to have its own easily 
recognisable identity, providing a series of neighbourhoods that have a 
distinctive character but also contribute to a coherent and integrated City 
Centre. This neighbourhood character will be based not only on the uses 
within them, but also their heritage assets, green infrastructure, public realm, 
design, and local facilities. Irwell River Park will have a vital role in connecting 
the neighbourhoods and the spaces within them, providing cycling and 
walking links through the City Centre to Ordsall Waterfront and Salford Quays. 
New connections across the river will promote movement between different 
parts of the City Centre and to key assets such as The Meadow. 

 
 
Policy AP1 City Centre Salford 

 
The City Centre, which is located in both Manchester and Salford, will see a 
further strengthening of its position as the most significant economic location 
in the country outside London. It will continue to provide the primary focus for 
business, retail, leisure, culture and tourism activity in Greater Manchester, 
and will be a priority for investment in development and infrastructure 
improvements. 
 
City Centre Salford, which describes those parts of the City Centre within 
Salford, will continue to undergo considerable transformation, developing as a 
series of distinct but interdependent neighbourhoods, each with its own 
strong sense of place, making a major contribution to the city’s success: 
 
A) Greengate – The medieval heart of Salford, the area is now emerging as 

a new mixed-use neighbourhood distinguished by its cultural vitality 
and high quality public realm stretching through it and connecting 
across the river to Manchester. Key elements of Greengate’s future 
development will include a new park (allocated in Policy AP2), a new 
Greengate Boulevard fronted by active ground floor uses and providing 
a direct physical connection between the historic Market Cross and the 
grade II* listed Collier Street Baths, further high-density housing, and re-
invigorated heritage assets. 

 
B) Chapel Wharf – The area will maintain its diverse mix of uses and range 

of heritage assets, providing an important link between Greengate and 
New Bailey, and a key connection between the Salford and Manchester 
parts of the City Centre. 

 

Page 55



45 
 

C) New Bailey – The area will continue to be primarily characterised by 
office, leisure and tourism uses, forming part of the commercial core of 
the City Centre, with excellent connections across the river to 
Spinningfields in Manchester. Significant improvements to Salford 
Central rail station will further enhance the attractiveness of the area. 

 
D) Middlewood, New Bailey West and Wilburn Basin – These areas will 

provide residential-led mixed-use neighbourhoods that make the most 
of the waterfront settings (the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal, the 
River Irwell and Wilburn Basin, respectively). 

 
E) Chapel Street and Islington – Chapel Street itself will be further 

enhanced as a key corridor into the core of the City Centre, with high 
quality public realm and flanked by historically important buildings. This 
will provide a strong focus for further mixed-use development across 
the area, which will be carefully designed to respect the numerous 
heritage assets. 

 
F) Adelphi – This residential-led mixed-use area will take maximum 

advantage of the attractive riverside location overlooking The Meadow, 
providing a high quality setting for the area’s open spaces and riverside 
walkway. 
 

G) Crescent, University of Salford and Innovation Park – The area will 
provide a distinctive western entrance to the City Centre. Its historic 
buildings, coupled with enhanced views and connections to 
surrounding open spaces, will offer an attractive context for further 
development. The green character of Peel Park will be extended across 
the A6 around Fire Station Square, and high quality public realm will 
unify the important cluster of heritage, cultural and university assets, 
providing a strong, active focus for the area. The university campus will 
continue to be improved (see Policy ED4), and the adjacent Innovation 
Park enhanced for knowledge-based uses (see Policy EC5/2). Primarily 
residential uses will be focused in the south-east of the area. The line of 
the former Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal provides an opportunity 
to open up new green infrastructure through the south of the area. 

 
H) The Meadow and Peel Park – The Meadow and Peel Park will provide the 

largest integrated area of greenspace in the City Centre, with improved 
connections to surrounding areas. 

 
Individual developments shall be fully integrated into, and contribute to the 
success of, both the neighbourhood within which they are located and the City 
Centre as a whole. 
 
Uses and scale of development  
City Centre Salford will have a wide range of uses reflecting its importance 
within the wider City Centre, with a significant level of development and 
expansion of its roles as a key business location, tourism, cultural and leisure 
destination, and home to a series of residential neighbourhoods: 

Page 56



46 
 

 
1) Business, tourism, cultural and leisure development will be appropriate 

across the area with around 150,000m2 of new office development being 
provided, although higher levels would be supported including through 
the potential expansion of Salford Innovation Park. Development in New 
Bailey, and between New Bailey Street and Dearmans Place, shall be 
predominantly for offices, tourism, cultural and leisure uses, reflecting 
its role as part of the central business district. 

2) The continued enhancement of the facilities at the University of Salford 
campus will be supported, with student housing focused within and 
immediately around the campus. The western end of the University of 
Salford area will remain predominantly in use for university-related 
activities and other knowledge-based uses. 

3) Residential-led mixed-use development will be appropriate across the 
rest of City Centre Salford. Around 10,460 dwellings will be delivered 
within City Centre Salford, primarily in the form of apartments but they 
may also include houses built at high densities. 

4) There will be a considerable increase in retail floorspace, leisure uses, 
community and social facilities (including health and education 
facilities) and other amenities to support the growing residential, 
business and visitor populations, and contribute to the vitality of City 
Centre Salford. These facilities shall be focused on prominent frontages, 
busy intersections with high footfall, and where they can add vibrancy 
and best meet the needs of the neighbourhood. 

 
Transport and movement 
A key objective will be to successfully improve connections between the 
various neighbourhoods within the City Centre, including by overcoming the 
physical barriers presented by the inner relief road, Crescent/Chapel Street, 
the railway viaducts, and the River Irwell. Examples of such enhancements will 
include a new footbridge from the Crescent across the River Irwell, enabling 
The Meadow and Peel Park to act as a key green space in the City Centre and 
forming part of the wider Irwell River Park, and a new pedestrian bridge 
between New Bailey West and the St John’s quarter in Manchester, connecting 
areas of substantial growth. 
 
Further major improvements to the rail stations in the area will be sought. The 
continued improvement of Salford Central Station, including works which 
would allow more services to stop at the station, will enable it to function more 
effectively as the main western rail gateway to the central business district of 
the City Centre. 
 
The expansion of the Metrolink network through the area will be sought, 
including a new Metrolink line from Victoria in Manchester to Salford Crescent 
Station, a new Metrolink line connecting Salford Quays and Salford Crescent 
Station, and the conversion of the rail line between Salford Crescent Station 
and Wigan to tram-train use. When combined with other station improvements, 
including better integration between different forms of public transport, this 
will help to strengthen the role of Salford Crescent Station as a key local and 
regional transport interchange. 

Page 57



47 
 

 
Environmental quality 
Each neighbourhood will develop its own distinctive character within the wider 
City Centre, delivering a high density of development in a quality public realm 
setting that promotes walking and cycling, provides green infrastructure, 
incorporates a variety of functions, and is fronted by activity. This will be done 
in a way that protects and enhances City Centre Salford’s important heritage 
assets and their setting, including its conservation areas and key landmarks 
such as Salford Cathedral, St. Philip’s Church, Sacred Trinity Church and 
Collier Street Baths. All development will be expected to contribute to the 
provision of high quality public realm across City Centre Salford. 
 
Measures will be taken to ensure that the railway infrastructure, particularly 
the prominent viaducts, becomes a much more positive feature within City 
Centre Salford. This will include seeking opportunities to deliver additional 
and improved pedestrian routes through the viaducts, securing active uses in 
the railway arches that add to the vibrancy of the area, greening the 
infrastructure, and enabling appreciation of the heritage interest. Development 
shall respond positively to the viaducts and support these opportunities. 
 
Delivering a significant increase in the quantity and quality of City Centre 
Salford’s green infrastructure will be a high priority, including through: 
 
a) Ensuring that new development takes an innovative approach to the 

incorporation of green infrastructure within a high-density context 
b) Providing a riverside walkway and connected open spaces, including a 

new Greengate Park (see policy AP2), that are integrated into the wider 
Irwell River Park and designed to enhance the ecological role of the river 

c) Providing open space incorporating walking and cycling routes, public 
realm improvements and heritage interpretation features along the line 
of the former Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal, and securing its 
restoration wherever practicable 

 
Expansion of City Centre Salford  
Further expansion of City Centre Salford may be appropriate, provided that 
this does not adversely impact on the successful development and functioning 
of the existing neighbourhoods within it, as identified in points A to H above. 
Any such expansion will be carefully managed to ensure that it does not 
compromise the availability of a wide selection of employment sites and 
premises across the city (see policies AP5 (Employment areas close to the 
City Centre and Salford Quays) and EC6 (Existing employment areas)), and 
must be guided by a masterplan which is produced in accordance with the 
requirements of policy EF2 and endorsed by the city council. 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 58



Wilbu
rn B

asi
n

University
of Salford

and
Innovation

Park

Peel Park

Meadow

Crescent Chapel St
and Islington

Middlewood

New Bailey

Chapel Wharf

Greengate

Adelphi

New
Bailey
West

Figure 2 - City Centre Salford

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
City Centre Salford (Revised draft local plan policy AP1, Revised draft local plan policy TC1/1)
City Centre areas
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

P
age 59



 

49 
 

Greengate Park 
 
9.7 Greengate is bounded by the River Irwell, Victoria Bridge Street, Chapel 

Street, Blackfriars Road and Trinity Way, as shown on the diagram in Policy 
AP1. The area is the oldest part of Salford, and benefits from an exceptional 
location within the City Centre, next to Manchester Victoria rail station and the 
Medieval Quarter in Manchester. This central location makes the area suitable 
for high density development, but it is essential that this scale of growth is 
matched by the size and quality of the area’s green spaces and public realm. 

 
9.8 City parks are a vital element of growth, providing greenery, structure, beauty 

and breathing room to high density neighbourhoods, enabling people to 
connect with nature, and making a major contribution to quality of life. A new 
park within Greengate is therefore fundamental to the area’s ongoing 
redevelopment and future success, particularly given the overall scale of 
development that the area will accommodate. The size of the proposed 
Greengate Park reflects the level of use that is expected given the huge 
growth in the resident, business and visitor populations of the area. It will be 
important that the design of the park and surrounding developments fulfils the 
potential offered by this size and location. 
 

 
Policy AP2 Greengate Park 

 
A new high quality green space will be provided at the heart of the Greengate 
area. This park will be of sufficient scale to fulfil a wide variety of functions, 
meeting the needs of those living and working in the area, and drawing in 
visitors to support local businesses and cultural activity. 
 
The park will be designed to: 
 
1) Respond to the rich heritage of the area, including the historic routes of 

Greengate and Gravel Lane; 
2) Complement and be fully integrated with the other public spaces and 

streets in the area, including Greengate Square, Greengate Boulevard 
and Market Cross; 

3) Function as a cohesive whole, ensuring that Gravel Lane does not act as 
a barrier to movement or activity within the park; 

4) Fulfil a range of functions, including bringing nature into the City Centre, 
incorporating trees and biodiverse planting areas, and being capable of 
holding events; and 

5) Accommodate a shared space alongside the railway arches that will 
enable activities to spill out into the park and allow for essential 
servicing requirements. 

 
Development immediately surrounding Greengate Park shall be designed to 
maximise access to, and promote the use of, the park. This shall include the 

Page 60



50 
 

incorporation of active frontages at ground floor level in all buildings and 
railway arches surrounding the park, to generate activity and interest. 
  
  
 
Salford Quays 
 
9.9 Since the 1980s, Salford Quays has gradually been transformed from derelict 

docklands into a vibrant mixed-use area with well-established tourism, 
employment, retail, leisure and residential functions, taking advantage of the 
high quality environment and waterside setting. Although the area has seen 
very significant levels of investment in recent years, there is still enormous 
development potential. Balancing these various important functions will be a 
key challenge for the area’s continued success. 

 
9.10 The development of MediaCityUK over the last decade has helped to 

establish a major cluster of digital and media uses at Salford Quays, with 
potential for considerable further expansion. The area also has a wider 
business function and is one of the primary office locations within Greater 
Manchester. It will be appropriate to deliver a large supply of new employment 
floorspace to support these important roles and the economic growth of 
Greater Manchester.  
 

9.11 Salford Quays is one of the main tourism destinations in the sub-region, and 
there is potential both to expand this role and to improve integration with 
surrounding tourism locations such as the City Centre, Old Trafford and the 
Trafford Centre in order to increase the attractiveness of Greater Manchester 
as a visitor destination. It is also a residential neighbourhood in its own right, 
characterised by high density homes, with a very large number of additional 
dwellings anticipated. The environmental quality of Salford Quays is a major 
contributor to its identity and success, and further enhancements will be 
sought. 
 

9.12 It will be essential that public transport improvements match the scale of 
activity within the area, helping to reduce private car use. Double trams are 
being provided on the Salford Quays line, which will increase capacity, and it 
will be important to maximise connections to the new Trafford Park Metrolink 
line to the south, which will provide further options.  A much wider range of 
bus routes will also be needed, but the most effective way of enhancing public 
transport accessibility more widely is likely to be by securing high capacity 
rapid transit to rail stations in the City Centre, including Salford Crescent and 
Manchester Piccadilly. Although the emphasis must be on improving the use 
of more sustainable modes of transport, significant investment in highway 
improvements will also be required. This is likely to include junction 
improvements along Trafford Road, but the potential for new road, cycling and 
pedestrian bridges across the Manchester Ship Canal will also be 
investigated. 

 
 
 

Page 61



51 
 

Policy AP3 Salford Quays 

 
Salford Quays will continue to grow as one of the most important economic 
locations in the country, making a major contribution to prosperity across 
Salford and Greater Manchester. It will see high levels of development up to 
2037 and beyond, and will be increasingly recognised internationally as an 
excellent place to work, live and visit. The area is designated as a main town 
centre as shown in Annex B. 
 
Uses and scale of development 
Salford Quays will continue to be characterised by a wide mix of uses. Its 
business, housing, tourism/leisure, food and drink, and cultural roles will all 
be significantly expanded in a mutually supportive way, reinforcing the area’s 
interest, vibrancy and identity. 
 
1) Around 250,000m2 of new, high-quality business floorspace will be 

provided, supporting a highly diverse economic area as well as the 
continued expansion of the internationally important cluster of digital 
and media industries. Even higher levels of employment development 
will be acceptable, given the area’s strategic economic importance, 
provided the necessary supporting infrastructure is delivered. Business 
floorspace will be primarily located on and around Pier 9 and Anchorage 
Quay, with a smaller but still significant cluster around Exchange Quay. 

2) The tourism role of Salford Quays will be enhanced with the potential for 
additional nationally significant visitor attractions complementing the 
area’s existing offer. The development of additional hotels and visitor 
facilities will be encouraged. 

3) Around 6,750 new dwellings will be delivered, primarily in the form of 
apartments but may also include houses built at high densities. 
Residential development will complement rather than be at the expense 
of the important business and tourism functions of Salford Quays. 

4) A significant increase in retail floorspace, leisure uses and community 
facilities will be provided within the primary shopping area (and, if 
necessary, its expansion) shown in Annex B, meeting the needs of the 
major increase in the number of people working, visiting and living in 
Salford Quays. The expansion of retailing will be managed to ensure that 
it does not have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability 
of other designated centres. 

 
Transport and movement 
New development will be coordinated with the provision of new and improved 
transport infrastructure and services, with a very strong emphasis on 
significantly reducing the proportion of trips made by car. Improved bus 
access from across the city and additional rapid transit connections to the City 
Centre will be sought, including a new Metrolink line connecting Salford Quays 
and Salford Crescent Station, helping to ensure that the full potential of 
Salford Quays and the City Centre can be realised for the benefit of the Greater 
Manchester economy. 
 

Page 62



52 
 

A reduction in traffic levels will be sought within the area bounded by Trafford 
Road, Broadway and the Manchester Ship Canal, helping to improve the 
environmental quality of the area. This will include carefully controlling the 
location of, and access to, parking for cars and buses. 
 
Significant enhancements in walking and cycling routes will be required. This 
will include the construction of a new footbridge across the Manchester Ship 
Canal from Clippers Quay, enabling better connections to the new Trafford 
Park Metrolink line, and with provision for cyclists. Improved routes to the City 
Centre will also be delivered, including as part of Irwell River Park. 
 
Environmental quality 
The high environmental quality is a central part of the success of Salford 
Quays, and this will continue to be enhanced in order to maintain the area’s 
long-term competitiveness. 
 
This will include: 
 
A) Ensuring that new development and infrastructure protects and 

enhances the distinctive identity of Salford Quays, based around the 
waterways, tree-lined walkways, high quality architecture and major 
public spaces; 

B) Providing a variety of public spaces that allow different user 
experiences and connect into the wider Irwell River Park;  

C) Considerably increasing the level of greenery across the area; and 
D) Balancing the recreational use of the basins alongside their role in 

supporting wildlife, ensuring the protection of the existing site of 
biological importance and the successful management of their water 
quality. 

 
 
  

Page 63



Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Salford Quays
City Centre Salford
City Centre within Manchester local authority area
Indicative location of new footbridge

Metrolink
Existing
Under construction
Potential Metrolink link to Salford Crescent Station
Metrolink stops
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 3 - Salford Quays

Lowry
Theatre 

Lowry
OutletMall

To the
City Centre

Huron Basin
Erie Basin

North Bay

Central Bay
Ontario Basin

South Bay

Pier 9
MediaCityUK

P
age 64



 

54 
 

Ordsall Waterfront 
 
9.13 Ordsall Waterfront is situated in a strategically important location between two 

of Greater Manchester’s key economic areas and tourism destinations, the 
City Centre and Salford Quays. As a result, the corridor has a significant 
profile, presenting prime redevelopment opportunities, and it has already seen 
several recent major apartment developments. However, there remain a 
number of sites that are under used and do not take advantage of the 
waterfront location, presenting further potential for redevelopment. 
 

9.14 It is essential to the character and long-term success of the area that 
development takes full advantage of the location, opening up the waterside to 
public access, improving the quality of the existing waterside walkway, 
presenting an attractive backdrop that promotes its use, and incorporating 
green infrastructure wherever possible. A key priority is that new development 
should interact with public routes and spaces, providing strong frontages, 
promoting animation and overlooking. Opportunities to improve access across 
the water, especially to the key transport interchange of Cornbrook Metrolink 
stop, will be sought. 
 

9.15 New development should also support the functioning of Ordsall Lane as an 
attractive residential street, complementing the existing housing to the west. 
One of Salford’s most important and visited buildings, the grade I listed 
Ordsall Hall, is located on the opposite side of Ordsall Lane, and all 
development must ensure that its setting is fully respected. All of this will 
require great care in terms of the scale and design of development, and 
particularly the location of tall buildings, so as to avoid schemes that create an 
unattractive public realm along either the waterfront or Ordsall Lane. 

 
 
Policy AP4 Ordsall Waterfront 

 
Ordsall Waterfront will continue to be developed as a primarily residential 
corridor. It will provide a key link between the City Centre and Salford Quays, 
with high quality development presenting a striking waterside setting and a 
dynamic urban streetscape along Ordsall Lane. 
 
Uses and scale of development 
The area will be predominantly residential in character, delivering around 2,100 
new dwellings primarily in the form of apartments. 
 
Small scale active uses at ground floor level, including local needs retail and 
leisure uses, will be permitted in prominent locations along Ordsall Lane and 
the waterfront, where they will help to serve the needs of the growing 
population and generate activity. Additional social infrastructure such as 
health facilities will be required to support the growing population.  
 

Page 65



55 
 

Other uses compatible with the residential environment will be permitted, 
particularly at the northern and southern ends which are more commercial in 
character and more accessible by public transport. 
 
Transport and movement 
Development alongside the waterway must contribute to the provision of an 
attractive waterside walkway throughout the area, forming part of the wider 
Irwell River Park and connecting the City Centre and Salford Quays. The 
walkway must be of sufficient width to: 
1) Meet the requirements of Policy D9; 
2) Prevent a canyoning effect against the buildings fronting on to it; 
3) Allow pedestrians and cyclists to pass safely; and  
4) Ensure good visibility along the route. 
 
Improvements to cross river/canal connections will be sought, potentially 
including a new footbridge from the waterside walkway across the River 
Irwell/Manchester Ship Canal, in order to improve access to the Cornbrook 
Metrolink stop in Trafford. 
 
Development shall also accommodate existing, and provide new, high quality 
publicly accessible routes linking Ordsall Lane to the waterside walkway. This 
will include the provision of new routes: 
 
A) Along Worrall Street, aligned with the junction with Ordsall Lane and 

Oldfield Road; and 
B) Aligned with St. Clement’s Drive, leading to the grade II listed St 

Clement’s Church. 
 
Environmental quality 
The density of development shall reflect the opportunities presented by the 
area’s waterside location and strategic position between the City Centre and 
Salford Quays. Building heights shall avoid overly dominating dwellings to the 
west of Ordsall Lane. All development shall protect and enhance the setting 
and views of the grade I listed Ordsall Hall. 
 
 
  

Page 66



Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Ordsall Waterfront (Revised draft local plan policy AP4)
Irwell River Park / Riverside Walkway
Improved public routes to the Waterfront
Indicative location of new footbridge

Metrolink
Existing
Under construction
Metrolink stops
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 4 - Ordsall Waterfront

To Salford Quays

To the
City Centre

Cornbrook
Metrolink

St Clements
Church

Ordsall
Hall

P
age 67



 

57 
 

Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays 
 
9.16 There are three important existing employment areas on the edge of the City 

Centre and Salford Quays, at Eccles New Road, Liverpool Street and 
Cambridge, providing a range of valuable economic functions. Each of these 
areas has its own distinctive opportunities and challenges. 

 

 Eccles New Road lies immediately to the north of Salford Quays and 
already accommodates uses associated with the important digital and 
creative cluster there. The Salford Quays Metrolink line runs through 
the area, and the major health campus of Salford Royal Hospital lies 
just to the north-west, with Trafford Park to the south.  

 Liverpool Street immediately adjoins the City Centre, with high levels of 
ongoing development to the east, the University of Salford and the key 
interchange of Salford Crescent to the north, and the proposed 
Metrolink route between Salford Quays and Salford Crescent just to the 
west. 

 Cambridge lies to the north of the City Centre, with the Strangeways 
employment area adjoining it to the east in Manchester, but the major 
issue for the area is the need to take a coordinated approach to 
reducing and managing flood risk. 

 
9.17 The success of the City Centre and Salford Quays is leading to increasing 

development pressures in these three employment areas, including for uses 
such as housing that would change their character and role. The central 
location makes it particularly important that the best possible use is made of 
these areas. 
 

9.18 Further analysis is required to determine the scale and type of change that 
may be appropriate in each of these employment areas, having regard to their 
individual potential and their considerable current contribution to the economic 
success of the wider area. Where change is suitable, this will need to be 
carefully managed to ensure that it results in high quality development that 
delivers successful areas, rather than incremental schemes that compromise 
the effective functioning of each area or adversely impact on any important 
uses to be retained. It will also need to be ensured that any redevelopment 
does not detract, or divert investment away, from the key locations of the City 
Centre and Salford Quays. 

 
 
Policy AP5     Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays 

 
Masterplans will be produced for the Eccles New Road, Liverpool Street and 
Cambridge employment areas, and any development within them will be 
expected to accord with the relevant masterplan in accordance with Policy 
EF2. Each of these three areas will continue to be protected as an existing 
employment area, where applicable and in accordance with Policy EC6, unless 
such masterplans indicate otherwise. 

Page 68



Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays
Salford Quays
City Centre Salford
City Centre within Manchester local authority area boundary
Waterways
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 5 - Employment areas close to City Centre Salford and Salford Quays

P
age 69



 

59 
 

CHAPTER 10  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  

 
 
10.1 Salford is transforming into a modern global city, and significant investment in 

recent years has delivered large numbers of new jobs and opportunities. 
Forecasts suggest a highly positive economic future and this Local Plan sets 
out a strategy that seeks to deliver it. In order that the benefits are felt by all 
segments of the population it is critical that the city grows in an inclusive way, 
with public, private, community and social sectors working together to create 
opportunities that are accessible to all. 

 
10.2 Salford already has a strong economic role, and has tremendous economic 

potential given its location at the heart of the extensive Greater Manchester 
conurbation, its easy access to a large pool of skilled labour, and its excellent 
transport links via motorway, rail, water and air. The city’s future prosperity, 
and its contribution to the economic growth of the wider conurbation, will be 
heavily dependent on how successfully it can take advantage of this economic 
potential. However, this must be done in a careful and sensitive way, so that 
short-term economic growth does not undermine the longer term prospects of 
the city for example through the degradation of important environmental 
assets. 
 

10.3 The spatial strategy for economic development in Salford focuses on where 
the city has the greatest economic potential when balanced against 
environmental and social considerations. It recognises that Salford is part of a 
much larger functional economic area covering the whole of Greater 
Manchester and beyond. The economic success of Salford, and the prosperity 
of its residents, will therefore be heavily reliant on investment and 
opportunities outside the city, and improved public transport to access them. 
Equally, economic growth within Greater Manchester as a whole will only be 
maximised if Salford makes a major contribution. 
 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Enabling the provision of a diverse range of job opportunities that are 
accessible to local residents 

 Supporting the growth of sectors that can provide higher wage 
employment 

 Promoting green growth, such as through the use of low carbon 
technologies and the efficient use of resources, which will benefit future 
generations 

 Ensuring a good mix of sites and premises that enable people to start their 
own businesses 

 Encouraging developers to maximise the economic benefits of new 
development for local residents 

 

Page 70



60 
 

10.4 The south-eastern area of Salford forms part of Greater Manchester’s largest 
concentration of economic activity, stretching from Central Park in Manchester 
in the east through the City Centre and Salford Quays to Trafford Park and 
the Trafford Centre. This central economic area provides an enormous 
number of jobs and diverse range of businesses that are fundamental to the 
success not just of Greater Manchester but also the North of England more 
generally. Salford has an essential role to play in strengthening the success of 
this economic concentration, and a large proportion of the city’s new jobs and 
business investment will be focused there. One key aspect of this will be the 
further expansion of the City Centre’s core office market into Salford, taking 
advantage of key central locations alongside the River Irwell and Chapel 
Street.  Another will be the continued growth of MediaCityUK, which will see 
further expansion within Salford Quays. These projects will be fundamental to 
supporting the international competitiveness of Greater Manchester, helping 
to distinguish it from other conurbations within the country. Extending this 
huge area of economic activity westwards, the new Port Salford tri-modal 
freight interchange will be a major asset for Greater Manchester, enabling the 
more sustainable movement of freight by rail and water, and reducing reliance 
on heavy goods vehicles. 
 

10.5 The city’s existing employment areas will continue to have an important role, 
complementing new development to provide a varied portfolio of sites and 
premises to suit a wide range of occupiers from business start-ups to major 
inward investments. Changing market demands may mean that some of the 
city’s older employment areas will find it increasingly difficult to secure longer 
term investment and occupation. In order to make the best use of available 
land it may be appropriate for such areas to take a new direction, which could 
involve the introduction of non-employment uses including residential and 
leisure. It will be important that this process is carefully managed such that the 
city’s businesses are properly supported. 

 
 

Policy EC1   Economic development spatial strategy 

 
Salford will play a major role in the economic growth of Greater Manchester. It 
will continue to develop a diverse and inclusive economy with accessible 
employment opportunities, and will deliver a significant increase in the 
number of businesses, jobs and the employment rate of its residents. 
 
The city will focus particularly on those ways in which it can best make a 
strong and positive contribution to the overall success of Greater Manchester. 
This will include taking advantage of Salford’s excellent location and transport 
infrastructure, especially the opportunities provided by the enormous 
concentration of economic activity in and around the south-east of the city. It 
will also recognise the importance of seeing the Greater Manchester economy 
as an integrated whole, and ensuring that Salford residents can access 
economic opportunities outside the city. 
 

Page 71



61 
 

The key components of the spatial strategy for economic development in 
Salford are to: 
 
1) Deliver a major increase in office floorspace within City Centre Salford 

and at Salford Quays, thereby enhancing the degree to which the scale, 
quality and diversity of the offer within the city helps to distinguish 
Greater Manchester from international competitors; 

2) Continue to develop the cluster of business activity at MediaCityUK and 
the wider Salford Quays area into a high-tech creative hub of 
international significance that is able to attract a very broad range of 
digital, creative and media-related businesses; 

3) Provide a major tri-modal freight terminal at Port Salford that enables 
freight to be moved in and out of Greater Manchester more efficiently 
and sustainably, and improves international connections via the 
Manchester Ship Canal and the post-Panamax shipping facilities at the 
Port of Liverpool; 

4) Protect and enhance the existing town centres, and the employment 
areas that have long-term economic potential, providing an important 
source of local employment and business opportunities; 

5) Significantly enhance the city’s tourism role, both as an important 
economic contributor in its own right and as a way of raising the city’s 
profile to attract further economic investment; 

6) Support the activities of major employers such as the University of 
Salford and the Salford Royal Hospital Foundation Trust;  

7) Support the growth of knowledge-based businesses, including 
opportunities associated with the high-tech creative hub at Salford 
Quays and the city’s higher education and research institutions; 

8) Work with developers, businesses and other organisations to help 
Salford residents take up high quality jobs and training opportunities in 
the city;  

9) Improve transport connections, particularly public transport, to key 
employment areas within and outside the city, enabling Salford 
residents and businesses to take full advantage of their diverse 
opportunities, including the internationally important Manchester 
Airport and Airport City, the City Centre, the wider Quays area, Trafford 
Park, and Logistics North in Bolton; and 

10) Significantly enhance the digital connectivity of the city. 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



M62

Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays
Legend

Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
Town centres
Central economic area
City Centre Salford
City Centre within Manchester local authority area boundary
Innovation Park
Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays
Salford Quays
Trafford Park
Port Salford (as permitted)
Extension to Port Salford as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Logistics North

MediaCityUK

University of Salford Campuses

Salford Royal Hospital

Rail stations
Rail lines
Port Salford rail spur
Existing Metrolink

Existing wharves

Proposed wharves

Barton Aerodrome

© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 6 - Economic development spatial strategy

To Manchester Airport &
Airport City

To the
Port of Liverpool

M60

M602

M61 M60

M60M62

P
age 73



 

63 
 

Economic inclusion 
 
10.6 Salford is one of the key locations for economic growth in Greater Manchester 

but has an above average level of unemployment amongst its residents. 
Some of the areas that will see the largest increase in job opportunities over 
the next 20 years are located immediately adjacent to some of the most 
deprived neighbourhoods. It will be essential for the long-term success of the 
city that its residents fully share in the benefits of economic growth and 
development, including through the employment and training opportunities 
that they create. This will not only be important for delivering social objectives, 
such as raising people out of poverty, reducing inequalities and improving 
health, but will also support other objectives such as reducing the need to 
travel by using local labour. 

 
10.7 There are many ways in which developments can support these objectives, 

not least by targeting Salford residents when seeking to fill new jobs, including 
in the construction phase of development, and providing opportunities for 
residents to learn new skills such as through local apprenticeship and training 
schemes. This could be done in partnership with existing local providers, or 
through those delivered directly by the businesses involved. The city council is 
particularly keen for employers to sign up to the City Mayor’s Employment 
Charter, which seeks to ensure that employers put Salford first, buy goods 
and services within Salford, and adopt the best possible working conditions. 
By doing so, they will help to secure a more inclusive and sustainable city. 
 

10.8  Compliance with this policy will be determined primarily through the 
submission of Social Value Strategies under Policy F2. 

 
 

Policy EC2    Economic inclusion 

  
New development shall seek to maximise its economic benefits for the city’s 
population, particularly in terms of helping Salford residents into employment 
and/or training. Consideration shall be given to various ways in which this 
could be achieved, both in the construction and operational phases of 
development, including by: 
  
1) Promoting on-site employment opportunities to Salford residents 
2) Providing training opportunities for Salford residents 
3) Utilising local supply chains  
4) Signing up to the City Mayor’s Employment Charter 
 
 
 
Offices 
 
10.9 The continued supply of large quantities of new office floorspace will be vital 

to supporting the hugely important strategic economic roles of the City Centre 
and Salford Quays. Within City Centre Salford, there are opportunities to 

Page 74



64 
 

continue the expansion of the central business district into New Bailey and 
along Chapel Street, as well as enhancing the Innovation Park to maximise 
spin-off activities from the neighbouring University of Salford. Within Salford 
Quays, new office floorspace will support the continued growth of 
MediaCityUK, and strengthen other key sectors such as business, financial 
and professional services. 

 
10.10 Opportunities for new office development elsewhere in the city will generally 

be of a smaller scale, helping town centres and existing employment areas to 
adapt to the changing structure of the economy and provide a diverse range 
of jobs and business opportunities. Eccles Town Centre has particular 
potential due to its close proximity to MediaCityUK and excellent transport 
connections. 

 
 
Policy EC3 Office development  

 
Around 400,000m2 of new office floorspace will be provided in Salford over the 
period 2018-2037, with the vast majority located within City Centre Salford and 
Salford Quays.  
 
Elsewhere office development will be directed towards the city’s town and 
local centres, and employment areas where consistent with national guidance.  
 
A higher overall level of office development will be supported, provided that it 
is consistent with this strong focus on the City Centre and Salford Quays. 
 
 
 
Industry and warehousing 
 
10.11 Industrial and warehousing accommodation is vital to a wide range of 

businesses across many economic sectors and it is important that Salford 
maintains a diverse offer which is able to meet varied needs in terms of cost, 
quality, size and location. The mix of existing and proposed sites and 
premises within the city will allow for a varied choice of accommodation for 
potential investors and occupiers. 

 
10.12 The identification of new high quality employment sites is required in order to 

raise the attractiveness of the city as an investment location and to offer a 
good range of job opportunities in the industrial and warehousing sectors. The 
permitted Port Salford scheme is a key element of this new offer, both at the 
city and wider sub-regional level. Its tri-modal connections will provide a 
unique opportunity to deliver more sustainable logistics activity. Other 
opportunities within the city to deliver new high quality premises, which are 
not allocated in this plan as they benefit from planning permission and/or are 
within existing employment areas, include sites at Ashton’s Field (Walkden 
North), Logistics North (Little Hulton) and Northbank Industrial Estate 
(Cadishead). The city’s older employment areas also make an important 

Page 75



65 
 

contribution to the portfolio of sites and premises, providing for a large number 
of jobs and a range of occupation and redevelopment opportunities, and are 
protected accordingly under Policy EC6. 

 
 
Policy EC4 Industrial and warehousing development  

 
Around 565,000m2 of new industrial and warehousing floorspace will be 
provided in Salford over the period 2018-2037. 
 
This new provision will broadly comprise approximately: 
 
A) 120,000m2 at Port Salford (see policy EC5/1); 
B) 320,000m2 at the Port Salford Extension, as proposed in the Greater 

Manchester Spatial Framework (see policy EC5/1); and 
C) 125,000m2 on other sites identified in the Strategic Housing and 

Employment Land Availability Assessment, primarily within existing 
employment areas. 

 
The Port Salford expansion is contingent on the delivery of new and improved 
transport infrastructure, as set out in the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework. If it is not able to proceed in part or full due to delays in the 
necessary infrastructure improvements, then the total provision of industrial 
and warehousing floorspace in Salford may be considerably lower than the 
above total of 565,000m2. 
 
The gradual reuse, refurbishment and redevelopment of existing older 
industrial and warehousing floorspace to provide for new employment space 
and for other non-employment uses is expected to continue over the plan 
period. This process will be managed, in accordance with policy EC6, to 
ensure that the city maintains a diverse portfolio of industrial and warehousing 
sites and premises providing for a full range of market requirements from 
business start-ups to major inward investments and relocations. 
 
 
 
Employment allocations 
 
10.13 Many sites in Salford will be developed for employment uses over the next 

few decades, but they have not been specifically allocated in the Local Plan 
because they have planning permission and/or are located within an existing 
employment area (and hence covered by policy EC6) or in a major mixed-use 
area such as City Centre Salford or Salford Quays where retaining flexibility 
over the precise uses on individual sites is beneficial. Details of such sites can 
be found in Salford’s Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment. 

 
10.14 However, two sites have been allocated for employment purposes due to their 

strategic importance to the city. 
 

Page 76



66 
 

 
 
Policy EC5 Employment allocations 

 
The following sites are allocated for employment use: 
 

EC5/1 Port Salford (Irlam and Winton) 
EC5/2 Salford Innovation Park (Irwell Riverside) 

 
In addition, the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocates the following 
site for employment: 
 

GM Allocation 33 Port Salford Extension 
 
 
 
 
 
Port Salford 
 
10.15 Port Salford is currently under construction alongside the Manchester Ship 

Canal, to the south of the A57 and west of the M60, and will include an inland 
port and warehousing facility, a container terminal and a distribution park. 
Around 150,000m2 of employment floorspace is being provided across four 
large units. One unit has now been completed and is occupied, leaving 
potential for a further 120,000m2 of employment floorspace on the site.  

 
10.16 The tri-modal connections providing ship, rail and road connections will help 

to improve the sustainability of Greater Manchester’s distribution and supply 
chain activity, enabling goods and components to be moved by more 
sustainable modes closer to their origin or destination, and reducing the total 
distances travelled by road. The direct connections via the Manchester Ship 
Canal to the post-Panamax facilities at the Port of Liverpool will provide easy 
access to the very largest container ships. Port Salford should help to boost 
the competitiveness of Greater Manchester by significantly enhancing its 
logistics capabilities and the quality of investment opportunities, both in the 
immediate vicinity of the freight terminal and at nearby employment areas in 
both Salford and Trafford. 
 

10.17 It will be important to ensure that it is a genuinely tri-modal facility with a 
significant proportion of freight being moved by water and rail rather than 
road, and that the impacts of traffic on the local area are carefully managed. 
The delivery of the berths on the Manchester Ship Canal and the rail spur 
from the Manchester-Liverpool line is therefore fundamental to the success of 
the scheme. 
 

10.18 The tri-modal connections will make Port Salford unique in Greater 
Manchester, and hence it is appropriate to consider the ways in which the 
benefits of these connections could be maximised. The Greater Manchester 

Page 77



67 
 

Spatial Framework proposes the expansion of Port Salford onto land that is 
currently in the Green Belt to the north of the A57 and south of the M62 
motorway, immediately to the north and west of Barton Aerodrome. This 
expansion will only be allowed to proceed once the rail spur, canal berths and 
further highway improvements are completed and operational. 

 
 
Policy EC5/1     Port Salford, Irlam and Winton (50.3 hectares) 
 
A tri-modal freight terminal (Port Salford) will be delivered on land to the south 
of the A57 in Irlam, incorporating: 
 
A) A total of around 150,000m2 of warehousing, including completed units; 
B) Port facilities, including new berths on the Manchester Ship Canal; 
C) A rail link onto the Manchester-Liverpool rail line; and 
D) Major improvements to the strategic and local highway networks. 
 
The provision of the remaining employment floorspace on the site will be 
contingent on the rail link and highway improvements being completed and 
operational. Once delivered, the infrastructure in points B-D above shall be 
appropriately maintained and remain in full operation. 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocates land to the north and 
west of Barton Aerodrome, between the A57 and M62, for an expansion to Port 
Salford, providing around 320,000m2 of industrial and warehousing floorspace 
(Policy GM Allocation 33). 
 
 
 
Salford Innovation Park 
 
10.19 Salford Innovation Park benefits from an excellent location adjacent to the 

University of Salford’s main campus, only a short distance from Salford 
Crescent station, and also has super-fast broadband connectivity. However, 
the area is not currently fulfilling its potential, and there are opportunities to 
increase the scale and range of activities within it. In particular, the area has 
enormous potential to support business start-ups and small and medium-
sized enterprises (SMEs) looking to capitalise on the high quality research 
undertaken by the neighbouring university. As such the Innovation Park could 
play a key role in developing the links between education and industry that 
are central to the university’s Industrial Collaboration Zone aspirations. 

 
 
Policy EC5/2     Salford Innovation Park, Irwell Riverside (8.5 hectares) 
 
Within the area shown on the Policies Map, new development shall contribute 
to the enhancement and expansion of Salford Innovation Park, providing a 
high quality employment area capable of accommodating a diverse range of 
knowledge-based uses and providing opportunities for spin-off businesses 

Page 78



68 
 

and other activities associated with the University of Salford and Salford City 
College.  
 
The following will be promoted: 
 
1) An enhanced sense of place and community, with a strong emphasis on 

collaboration and innovation; 
2) The redevelopment of existing premises to provide enhanced 

accommodation and flexible workspaces, particularly at higher densities 
that make best use of the location; 

3) Improved pedestrian and cycling links to Salford Crescent Station and 
the University of Salford’s Peel Park and Frederick Road campuses; and 

4) The retention and improvement of Salford Innovation Forum. 
 
 
 
Existing employment areas 
 
10.20 Salford’s existing employment areas have a vital role to play in the city’s 

future economic success, providing a broad range of job opportunities that are 
accessible to local communities. It will be important to ensure that their 
economic function is not unnecessarily lost because of pressure for sites to be 
redeveloped for other uses such as housing. 

 
10.21 It is anticipated that during the Local Plan period there will be some existing 

employment areas, and parts thereof, that will find it increasingly difficult to 
attract and retain businesses due to their location and/or quality of 
accommodation. The release of such sites and areas for other uses may be 
appropriate, and this will be a significant source of land for housing. However, 
it will be important to carefully control this process so as to ensure that it is 
only those sites and areas that are unable to secure a long-term economic 
future, or that have been identified through an appropriate process as being 
essential for other uses, which are released. A more flexible approach is 
taken within the City Centre, Ordsall Waterfront and Salford Quays, because it 
is anticipated these areas will be redeveloped for high-density schemes that 
will provide much greater numbers of jobs overall as well as a range of other 
uses including housing. 

 
 
Policy EC6 Existing employment areas 

 
There will be a strong emphasis on protecting and enhancing the economic 
function of Salford’s existing employment areas, helping to provide a wide 
choice of premises and ensure that a broad range of businesses, including 
start-ups, can locate in Salford. 
 
The following will be encouraged within existing employment areas: 
 
1) The improvement and development of sites and premises for: 

Page 79



69 
 

A) Industry and warehousing, and other employment-generating 
uses of a similar nature 

B) Offices of a scale consistent with the overall approach in Policy 
EC3 

2) The provision of training facilities and similar uses directly connected to 
employment 

3) Environmental improvements that enhance the appearance and overall 
quality of the employment area, including addressing issues such as 
flood risk 

 
The following will be supported within existing employment areas where they 
would not have any significant adverse impact on the overall economic 
potential or successful functioning of those areas: 
 
4) Waste management development that promotes recycling and delivers 

high environmental standards, where it is consistent with the policies of 
the Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan Document 

5) The provision of sites for travelling people where they involve a 
significant employment function as well as residential accommodation 

6) The provision of community facilities where they cannot be adequately 
located elsewhere within the local area that they would serve 

 
Uses other than those identified above will only be permitted within existing 
employment areas where: 
 
7) They would not have any significant impact on the activities of the 

employment uses remaining within the employment area or the potential 
to reuse vacant sites and buildings for employment uses; and 

8) One or both of the following two criteria are met: 
A) The site or wider employment area is specifically identified as 

being appropriate for other uses in a plan or strategy that has 
been subject to public consultation and formally endorsed by the 
city council; 

B) The site and premises have been subject to a detailed market 
appraisal that clearly demonstrates that there is no current or 
likely future demand for them. The appraisal should take a long-
term view of the economic prospects of the site/premises and 
include: 
i) An explanation as to why it is not possible to retain or 

replace any existing occupiers; 
ii) Consideration of the potential to reuse, refurbish and 

redevelop the site to accommodate the full range of uses 
that would be appropriate within an existing employment 
area. A flexible approach should be adopted including both 
freehold and leasehold options; 

iii) An analysis of recorded and potential interest in the 
site/premises for a use appropriate within an existing 
employment area. This analysis should be informed by the 
findings of a comprehensive and prolonged marketing 
exercise of the site and premises (typically in excess of 12 

Page 80



70 
 

months) and have regard to enquiries and deals relating to 
similar sites/premises in the local area; and 

iv) Detailed consideration of the context of the economic 
health and future role of the wider employment area of 
which the site/premises forms a part and other employment 
areas in the local area. 

 
This policy does not apply to employment areas within City Centre Salford, 
Ordsall Waterfront and Salford Quays. 
 
Definition 
For the purposes of this policy, an existing employment area is defined as one 
or more sites and/or buildings that are currently used, have been designed to 
be used, or where vacant were last used, for non-retail employment uses and 
fall within one or more of the following categories: 
a) Five or more adjacent units of self-contained business accommodation 
b) Total continuous site area of 1 hectare or greater 
c) Total floor area of 5,000m2 of greater 
 
Non-retail employment uses include offices, research and development, 
industry, storage, distribution, waste management, and other uses of a similar 
nature that are typically found in an employment area. 
 
Other areas of land or buildings that are not, or have not previously been, used 
for non-retail employment uses but are entirely or predominantly surrounded 
by land/buildings that fall within the above definition of an existing 
employment area will themselves be considered to form part of an existing 
employment area. 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
10.22 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Amount of new office floorspace 

(gross) 

Around 400,000m2 (2018-

2037) 

Amount of new industrial and 

warehousing floorspace (gross) 

Around 565,000m2 (2018-

2037) 

The quantity of office floorspace 

provided in City Centre Salford and 

Salford Quays 

Significant increase 

Extent of MediaCityUK Significant expansion 

Page 81



71 
 

Indicator Target 

Extent of Port Salford Delivery of warehousing 

and associated 

infrastructure 

Median household incomes  Improvement against 

national average 

Proportion of children (under 16) 

living in low income households 

Reduction on current levels 

Unemployment rates Reduction on current levels 

% working age population qualified to 

NVQ level 3+ and above 

Increase on current levels 

 
  

Page 82



72 
 

CHAPTER 11 CULTURE AND TOURISM 

 
 

11.1 Salford has a wealth of historic and culturally significant buildings, a thriving 
artistic community and a diverse range of leisure opportunities, green spaces, 
parks and waterways, making it an attractive location for visitors. Existing 
tourism locations vary enormously in character, from the vibrant areas of the 
City Centre and Salford Quays, containing well-loved facilities such as the 
Lowry arts centre and MediaCityUK, to the tranquillity of the countryside in the 
west of the city. The forthcoming RHS Garden Bridgewater will bring another 
major visitor attraction to the city. 

 
11.2 There is significant potential to support the further growth of Salford’s tourism 

and cultural economy, which is a key economic sector. This will be important 
in raising the city’s profile and improving its competitiveness, but also in 
providing employment, creative and leisure opportunities for local residents. 

 
 
Policy CT1 Tourism development 

 
Salford’s tourism function will be significantly enhanced, expanding its role as 
a major visitor destination. 
 
Tourism development in Salford will be concentrated in the following 
locations: 
 
1) Salford Quays 

a) Expanding its function as an important established tourism 
destination containing major visitor attractions and encouraging 
the provision of additional nationally significant tourist attractions 
that complement the area’s existing offer; 

b) Focusing on its roles as a centre for culture, arts, media, retail, 
business and watersports; and 

c) Improving links to other tourist attractions in the wider area 
including Ordsall Hall in Salford, and Old Trafford football 
stadium, Old Trafford cricket ground and the Imperial War 
Museum in Trafford 

2) City Centre Salford 
a) Taking advantage of its close proximity to attractions and 

facilities in Manchester and the role of the wider City Centre as 
the primary leisure and business tourism destination in Greater 
Manchester; 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Improving access for all residents to leisure and tourism destinations 

 Providing more opportunities for artistic activity and individual expression 
 

Page 83



73 
 

b) Making the most of the area’s rich heritage and culture, vibrant 
neighbourhoods, green spaces (including The Meadow and Peel 
Park), assets such as Irwell River Park and Salford Museum and 
Art Gallery; and 

c) Providing a new Greengate Park as part of a continuous area of 
high quality public realm in the east of the area, drawing visitors 
into the area and providing an events space 

3) Worsley Village, RHS Garden Bridgewater and the Bridgewater Canal 
a) Enhancing, and enabling the appreciation of, the area’s unique 

heritage and environmental quality; 
b) Improving and diversifying the recreation and leisure facilities, 

with activity clustered in a small number of key locations along 
the canal corridor to promote linked trips; and 

c) Promoting improved access by public transport, cycling and 
walking 

4) The stadium area and Barton Aerodrome 
a) Extending tourism-related uses around the stadium, including 

appropriate retail and leisure provision in accordance with policy 
CT3; 

b) Protecting and improving Barton Aerodrome as a general aviation 
facility and heritage asset; and 

c) Promoting these facilities as part of a much larger tourism 
destination extending across the Manchester Ship Canal into 
Trafford, and including the Trafford Centre 

 
Hotel development shall be focused within and on the edge of these locations 
and the city’s town centres. 
 
Development that would compromise the tourism role of the above locations 
will not be permitted. 
 
The city’s network of green infrastructure will continue to be protected and 
enhanced as an important part of Salford’s recreation and tourism offer, with 
Chat Moss, the Irwell Valley and West Salford Greenway being identified as 
strategically important areas of green infrastructure that can help to attract 
visitors to the city.  
 
 
  

Page 84



Peel Park

The Meadow

Trafford Centre

Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Bridgewater Canal
Motorways
A roads
City Centre Salford
City Centre within Manchester local authority area
Salford Quays
Town centres
RHS Bridgewater
Worsley Village
A J Bell stadium
Barton Aerodrome
Trafford Centre
Strategically important green infrastructure 
Chat Moss
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 7 - Tourism development locations

M60

M602

M61 M60

M60

M62

Museum &
Art Gallery

P
age 85



 

75 
 

Art and culture 
 
11.3 Art and culture are critical elements of Salford’s identity and character, helping 

to support economic growth, inclusive communities and well-being. They will 
become increasingly important in developing the distinctive places that are 
essential to competitiveness and the ability to attract residents, businesses 
and tourists. The city already has a good range of facilities, and significant 
concentrations of cultural activity exist within the City Centre and Salford 
Quays. Facilities include the internationally renowned Lowry arts centre, 
MediaCityUK, Salford Museum and Art Gallery, Islington Mill, Hot Bed Press, 
the Working Class Movement Library, Ordsall Hall, local libraries and various 
performance venues. Salford also benefits from its proximity to nearby cultural 
facilities in Manchester. 
 

11.4 The continued enhancement of artistic and cultural opportunities is seen as 
central to place-making in Salford and contributing to a good quality of life. It 
will help to deliver the experiences that prompt reflection, engender debate 
and critical thinking, and deepen our understanding of the world, which will all 
be essential for Salford to be a sustainable and inclusive city. This importance 
of art and culture will need to be reflected in the way in which Salford and its 
neighbourhoods develop, with individual developments contributing towards 
this. 

 
11.5 The ‘agent of change’ principle is crucial to ensuring that mixed-use areas 

function successfully, enabling noisier cultural activities that are important to 
adding vibrancy and interest to an area to be located near to uses that may be 
sensitive to noise such as housing. For example, if a residential development 
is proposed that could be affected by noise from a cultural venue, then as the 
agent of change it would be the residential development that would need to 
ensure sufficient mitigation to avoid any potential complaints from future 
residents. Conversely, if a cultural venue is proposed that could generate 
noise affecting the amenity of existing residents in an area, then as the agent 
of change the responsibility for appropriate works would fall on the cultural 
venue. In either case, this could include both on-site and off-site works. 

 
 
Policy CT2 Art and culture 

 
Salford will make an increasing contribution to Greater Manchester’s world 
class artistic and cultural status, and local communities will have improved 
access to a wide range of cultural experiences. 
 
This will be achieved by: 
 
1) Retaining and enhancing the provision of cultural activities and facilities 

across the city, including workspaces and studios, with a significant 
expansion sought in the City Centre and Salford Quays; 

Page 86



76 
 

2) Requiring major developments to incorporate, where practicable, 
cultural activities, including providing public realm capable of hosting 
events and performances; 

3) Encouraging the temporary use of sites and premises for cultural 
activities, particularly in locations where they can help to animate the 
public realm; 

4) Promoting the provision of public art; 
5) Encouraging major developments to utilise digital technology to widen 

public access to art and culture, including through the interpretation of 
any heritage that the site and area possess; and 

6) Applying the ‘agent of change’ principle, whereby if a development 
would potentially result in conflict between a cultural activity and 
another use, especially in terms of noise, then the development 
responsible for the change must secure the implementation of 
appropriate mitigation. 

 
 
 
The AJ Bell stadium area 
 
11.6 The land around the AJ Bell Stadium forms part of a wider tourism area 

extending from Barton Aerodrome to the west across the Manchester Ship 
Canal to include the Trafford Centre to the east. There is vacant land around 
the stadium that provides opportunities to further bolster the tourism role of 
this part of Greater Manchester, supporting this vital part of the economy, as 
well as providing opportunities for local residents. A significant proportion of 
this land already benefits from planning permission for bulky goods retailing, 
and a public house/restaurant has recently been constructed. Further leisure-
based retail development would be appropriate to support the area’s tourism 
role provided that this does not cause significant harm to any of the 
surrounding town centres and local centres, in accordance with the retail 
policies of this plan. 

 
 
Policy CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium, Irlam (34.3 hectares) 

 
A wide range of tourism and related uses will be suitable on the land around 
the AJ Bell Stadium, including: 
 
A) Hotels; 
B) Food and drink, such as bars and restaurants; 
C) Leisure facilities; and 
D) Comparison goods shops, where there would be no significant adverse 

impact on the vitality and viability of designated centres. 
 
Proposals for these uses on the site will not be required to apply the 
sequential approach in policy TC2. Proposals for uses in points A-C on the site 
will be exempt from the impact assessment requirements in policy TC2. 
 

Page 87



77 
 

Development that would contribute to increased use of, and attendance at, the 
stadium will be encouraged. 
 
The development of the site shall: 
 
1) Be designed around high quality public realm that provides a focus for 

development on the site; 
2) Retain a line for a potential extension of the Trafford Park Metrolink line 

to pass through the site, incorporating a stop, on its way to Port Salford; 
3) Incorporate high quality walking and cycling routes that connect to the 

wider pedestrian/cycling networks and tourism attractions, including the 
Port Salford greenway, Bridgewater Canal, and the Trafford Centre; 

4) Ensure that access to individual developments is taken from the road 
infrastructure within the site rather than directly from the A57; 

5) Maintain and enhance Salteye Brook as a wildlife corridor, and protect 
its water quality and that of other nearby watercourses; and 

6) Mitigate flood risk associated with groundwater, surface water and 
Salteye Brook. 

 
 
Monitoring 
 
11.7 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 
 

Indicator Target 

Number of visitors to key tourist 

attractions in Salford 

Significant increase 

(2018-2037) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88



78 
 

CHAPTER 12        HOUSING 

 
12.1 If Salford is to be successful in the long-term then it will be essential that the 

quality, adaptability and affordability of its housing are improved. This applies 
as much to the dwellings that already exist as it does to the new homes that 
will be constructed during the Local Plan period. Salford’s population has 
grown by around 16% since 200220, and a similar increase is forecast over the 
plan period21, leading to an ongoing need to deliver a large number of homes 
within the city. Greater Manchester is also seeking to accelerate the delivery 
of new homes to contribute to economic growth and social objectives. 

 
12.2 It will be important to ensure that everyone is able to access suitable 

accommodation to meet their needs at a price they can afford. This raises a 
variety of issues around securing an appropriate mix of different types and 
tenures of housing across the city, including increasing the delivery of 
affordable housing. It will be vital that new and improved homes are set within 
high quality places that provide an attractive living environment, and support 
better health. Different parts of the city will have quite different housing roles, 
with locations such as City Centre Salford and Salford Quays characterised 
by high-density apartments, whereas some other parts of the city will be 
distinguished much more by lower density houses. The wider impacts of new 
housing also need to be taken into account, with a strong emphasis on 
directing development towards previously-developed sites and minimising 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
20 ONS 2017 mid-year estimates: 2002 population = 216,300, and 2017 population = 251,332 
21 ONS 2016-based sub-national population projections. 2018 population = 253,300 and 2037 
population = 286,800 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Increasing the supply of affordable homes across the city, helping to meet 
the needs of those on low incomes 

 Ensuring a diverse mix of high quality accommodation of different types 
and tenures, so that everyone can find a suitable home 

 Providing a significant continued supply of new homes, helping younger 
people to access the housing market 

 Supporting the delivery of specialist accommodation, including for older 
residents, in a way that enables people to remain within their existing 
communities 

 Requiring new homes to meet good space standards and be designed to 
adapt to changing needs 

 

Page 89



79 
 

Policy H1 Housing strategy 

 
A wide range of coordinated measures will be implemented to ensure that 
Salford’s existing and future housing stock fully meets the needs and 
demands of all sections of the community within attractive neighbourhoods 
where people want to live.  
 
The key components of the spatial strategy for housing in Salford over the 
period 2018-2037 are to: 
 
1) Deliver a good supply and mix of new dwellings across the city and 

within individual developments, in terms of type, size, tenure and 
affordability, supporting the regeneration of deprived areas and local 
and sub-regional economic growth; 

2) Ensure the provision of sufficient community facilities (such as schools 
and health services), transport infrastructure and green infrastructure to 
serve new housing developments and their occupiers;  

3) Focus the vast majority of new dwellings on previously-developed land 
in accessible locations, but with the limited release of greenfield and, 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, Green Belt sites in 
west Salford to diversify the location and type of housing coming 
forward in the city;  

4) Ensure that land is used efficiently in new residential developments in 
accordance with policy H6; 

5) Improve the availability of affordable housing through a combination of 
public funding, investment by registered providers and developer 
contributions; 

6) Ensure that appropriate provision is made in suitable locations for 
specialist housing needs such as accommodation for older people, 
vulnerable people, hostels, sites for travelling people, and student 
housing; 

7) Require that new dwellings are of a high quality, accessible, adaptable, 
highly energy-efficient, able to meet a wide range of needs and are well-
integrated into existing communities, thereby helping to ensure that 
they can successfully meet housing requirements in the long-term (see 
policy D7 Housing Design); 

8) Promote the use of suitable public sector land assets for housing, 
attract public funding, and work with developers and landowners to 
bring forward sustainable housing developments; 

9) Implement housing-led neighbourhood renewal schemes with the 
involvement of local residents, and use compulsory purchase orders 
where required; 

10) Support improvements in the private rented sector, including through 
the use of landlord licensing and landlord accreditation, and restricting 
the short-term letting of new apartments in order to ensure that an 
acceptable level of amenity is provided for longer-term residents; 

11) Secure the efficient use of the housing stock by ensuring that new 
developments are located and designed so as to minimise the potential 

Page 90



80 
 

for long-term vacancies, and by bringing empty homes back into use 
through a variety of interventions; 

12) Improve the quality of the existing housing stock, particularly in terms 
of meeting and maintaining decent standards across all tenures, and 
enhancing energy performance so as to minimise fuel poverty and 
carbon emissions; and 

13) Protect the positive character of existing residential areas and the 
supply of houses, including through controls over conversions, 
changes of use to houses in multiple occupation, and the 
redevelopment of existing homes and gardens. 

 
 
 
Number of new homes and timing of their delivery 
 
12.3 The housing requirement is a central part of any Local Plan, but it is much 

more than just a number. It is a way of helping to ensure that there is a 
continued and sufficient supply of new homes to meet the needs of people 
wanting to live in Salford, and hence supports a more inclusive city. 
 

12.4 Official projections anticipate an increase of almost 18,500 households in 
Salford over the period 2018-2037, which is an average of just under 1,000 
per annum22. The Government’s local housing need methodology, which 
makes an allowance for affordability, suggests that on average there is a need 
for around 1,372 net additional dwellings each year in the city23. 

 
12.5 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework has identified that it would be 

appropriate for Salford to deliver an even higher level of new housing, 
averaging around 1,720 net additional dwellings per annum, in order to 
support the drive to increase housing delivery across Greater Manchester. 
This reflects the ability to deliver large numbers of new homes in central 
locations such as City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, as well as there 
being a small number of Green Belt sites in Salford that have been assessed 
as appropriate for housing development through the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework when compared to other potential sites across the sub-
region. 

 
 
Policy H2 Scale and phasing of housing development 

 
At least 32,680 net additional dwellings will be provided in Salford over the 
period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2037, equating to an average of 1,720 net 
additional dwellings per annum. 
 

                                                           
22 DCLG 2016-based household projections 
23 Using the approach in: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (October 2018) 
Technical consultation on updates to national planning policy and guidance. This uses the 2014-
based household projections, rather than the more recent 2016-based household projections that 
would result in a lower figure, and the 2017 affordability ratio. 

Page 91



81 
 

It is anticipated that the rate of housing delivery will be reasonably even 
across the whole plan period. Nevertheless, there are likely to be significant 
peaks and troughs in net completions due to changing wider economic and 
housing market conditions, and depending on when individual large apartment 
schemes are completed. Consequently, housing delivery is likely to be broadly 
in the range of 1,150-2,290 net additional dwellings per annum. 
 
If any cumulative shortfall in housing delivery arises compared to the average 
per annum requirement of 1,720 net additional dwellings then this will be 
addressed over the remainder of the plan period (i.e. by 31 March 2037). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Distribution of new homes 
 
12.6 The location of new dwellings within Salford will have to respond to a wide 

variety of objectives, such as minimising the need to travel, maximising the 
reuse of previously developed land, responding to opportunities for higher 
densities, and ensuring that all communities have access to some new 
housing. 

 
12.7 A large proportion of new housing is being directed to the south-eastern part 

of the city, primarily within City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, as this will 
enable more people to live close to the major concentration of employment 
and leisure opportunities in Greater Manchester. These locations are well-
suited to high-density housing, enabling large numbers of new homes to be 
provided within a relatively small area. However, opportunities for new 

Page 92



82 
 

housing have also been identified across many other neighbourhoods in the 
city, helping to provide a wide range of options for existing and future 
residents. 
 

12.8 The precise distribution of new housing within Salford will be influenced by the 
sites that become available in different parts of the city, and so the distribution 
of new homes could deviate somewhat from that shown below. The 
distribution shown below reflects the proposed allocations in the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework as well as the proposals in this Local Plan. 

 
 
Policy H3 Distribution of housing 

 
The approximate distribution of new dwellings to be provided within Salford 
over the period 2018-2037 to deliver the total requirement of 32,680 net 
additional dwellings is shown in the following table: 
 

Area Number of net 

additional homes 

Proportion of total 

net additional homes 

City Centre Salford 10,460 32% 

Salford Quays 6,750 21% 

Rest of Central Salford 8,920 27% 

Eccles 1,010 3% 

Irlam and Cadishead 1,570 5% 

Swinton and Pendlebury 740 2% 

Walkden and Little Hulton 2,350 7% 

Worsley and Boothstown 880 3% 

   

Total 32,680 100% 

 
Higher levels of development in individual areas will be permitted where this is 
consistent with the overall strategy of the plan.  
 
 
  

Page 93



Swinton and Pendlebury

Eccles

Irlam and Cadishead

Rest of Central SalfordWorsley and Boothstown

Walkden and Little Hulton

City Centre Salford

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary

Local Plan housing areas
City Centre Salford
Eccles
Irlam and Cadishead
Rest of Central Salford
Salford Quays
Swinton and Pendlebury
Walkden and Little Hulton
Worsley and Boothstown
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 8 - Housing areas

P
age 94



 

84 
 

Type of new homes 
 
12.9 It will be important to ensure that a good range of housing comes forward 

across Salford, in order to meet the diverse needs of different types of 
household such as singles, couples and families with children. The type of 
housing that different types of household occupy is constantly changing, and 
in recent years there has been an increasing tendency for smaller households 
to occupy apartments rather than houses. This is likely to be due to a range of 
factors including affordability, the central location of many apartments, and 
lifestyle choices. The high level of future housing supply within City Centre 
Salford and Salford Quays is expected to reinforce this trend, enabling more 
households to live in very accessible locations close to a wide range of 
employment and leisure opportunities. Nevertheless, in order to 
accommodate a full range of households, and enable people to remain in 
Salford as their housing needs change, it will also be important to ensure 
continued delivery of a good supply of houses. 
 

12.10 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework has set a housing requirement 
for Salford of 32,680 net additional dwellings over the period 2018-2037, 
compared to the local housing need figure of 26,068. This is on the basis of 
the high demand from across Greater Manchester for high density apartments 
in accessible locations close to the main concentrations of economic activity, 
and the ability of Salford to accommodate a significant part of this demand. 
Hence the additional 6,612 dwellings that are being provided in Salford to 
meet demand from the rest of Greater Manchester are expected to be 
primarily in the form of apartments. 
 

12.11 The identified mix of dwellings in the following policy is considered suitable for 
meeting the forecast growth in different types of households, both within 
Salford and across Greater Manchester more generally. That mix reflects the 
importance of promoting sustainable patterns of movement and maximising 
the efficient use of land, and hence reducing the need to develop greenfield or 
Green Belt land, whilst also ensuring that there is an appropriate diversity of 
accommodation across the new and existing housing stock to cater to the 
varied requirements of households. 

 
12.12 Some sites in the city will be much more appropriate for apartments than 

houses due to their location, context and characteristics, such as City Centre 
Salford and Salford Quays, which have a key role at the sub-regional level in 
providing a large number of high quality apartments. The fact that some sites 
will only deliver apartments means that it will be necessary for many other 
sites to provide high proportions of houses in order to achieve a good overall 
choice of dwellings across the city. Hence, it is appropriate to seek to 
maximise the number of houses coming forward on many sites. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



85 
 

Policy H4 Type of housing 

 
The approximate mix of new dwelling types required within Salford over the 
period 2018-2037 to deliver the total requirement of 32,680 net additional 
dwellings, informed by forecast household type24 across the city and Greater 
Manchester, is shown in the following table: 
 

Type Number of net 

additional dwellings 

Proportion of total net 

additional dwellings 

Houses 8,450 26% 

Apartments  24,230 74% 

   

Total  32,680 100% 

 
Taking into account the number and type of dwellings that already have 
planning permission, in order to achieve the above mix it will be important to 
ensure that new permissions incorporate a significant proportion of houses in 
appropriate locations. 
 
Individual new residential developments shall contribute to the provision of a 
broad mix of housing options across Salford and within the local area, 
ensuring that identified housing needs can be met. This includes: 
 
A) Within City Centre Salford, Ordsall Waterfront, Salford Quays and the 

other town centres, incorporating ground floor duplexes and other 
larger dwellings where practicable that enable a wider range of 
households to live in these locations; and 

B) Within the rest of the city, providing at least 80% of the net increase in 
dwellings in the form of houses, with a lower proportion of houses only 
being acceptable where: 
1) The proportion of houses, and other dwelling types with at least 

three bedrooms and private amenity space, is still being 
maximised as far as possible; and 

2) At least one of the following apply: 
a) It can be clearly demonstrated that the site has distinct 

characteristics that make a higher proportion of houses 
inappropriate or impracticable to provide, such as financial 
viability, flood risk or design context; 

b) The development provides specialist accommodation, such 
as for older people, or there is a demonstrable need for 
different types of dwellings; or 

c) The minimum density requirements in Policy H6 can only 
be met through a higher proportion of apartments. 

                                                           
24 DCLG 2014-based and ONS 2016-based subnational household projections 

Page 96



86 
 

 
Definitions 
For the purposes of this policy, a dwelling is defined as a self-contained unit of 
accommodation. Self-containment is where all of the rooms (including the 
kitchen, bathroom and toilet) in a household’s accommodation are behind a 
single door and are not shared with other households. A cluster of non-self-
contained household spaces at the same address is counted as a single 
dwelling. Therefore, a dwelling can consist of one self-contained household 
space, or two or more non-self-contained household spaces at the same 
address. 
 
 
 
  

Page 97



Legend
Salford local authority boundary

Minimum proportion of houses
80%
No minimum requirement

© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 9 - dwelling mix in individual developments

3

1) City Centre Salford
2) Ordsall Waterfront
3) Salford Quays
4) Cheetham Hill Town Centre
5) Eccles Town Centre
6) Pendleton Town Centre
7) Swinton Town Centre
8) Walkden Town Centre

1

2

4

5
6

7

8

P
age 98



 

88 
 

Size of new homes 
 
12.13 A good mix of dwellings in terms of size will be required if the full range of 

housing needs in Salford is to be met. Size is partly related to the type of new 
homes discussed above, with houses typically providing larger internal space 
than apartments. As with dwelling type, the balance of dwelling sizes can vary 
considerably over time, depending on changing preferences of residents and 
wider housing market conditions. 

 
12.14 Smaller dwellings have an important role in meeting housing needs and 

enabling more people to secure their own home, whilst reducing the amount 
of land that is required to accommodate new housing. However, smaller 
dwellings are generally less adaptable and will only be able to meet the 
requirements of some households. If too many are provided then this could 
restrict the type of households that are able to live in Salford and the ability of 
people to remain in their home or find a new home within the same 
community as their needs evolve. Controls over the mix of dwellings sizes are 
therefore necessary. The fact that it is often impossible to increase the 
internal size of an apartment once constructed heightens the importance of 
ensuring that new apartment developments offer a range of sizes that are 
flexible enough to meet a variety of needs. 
 

12.15 Good internal space standards, both in new dwellings and conversions, are 
vital to ensuring that people can access decent housing and hence to 
delivering a fairer and more inclusive Salford. Inappropriately small homes 
can negatively impact on health, and so minimum size standards are required. 
More spacious dwellings can also allow more people to work from home, 
thereby supporting economic growth whilst minimising the need to travel.  

 
 
Policy H5 Size of dwellings 

 
A balanced mix of dwelling sizes will be secured, enabling people to access 
housing with sufficient space to meet their needs and support good health. 
 
Number of bedrooms 
 
The approximate mix of new dwelling sizes required within Salford over the 
period 2018-2037 to deliver the total requirement of 32,680 net additional 
dwellings, informed by forecast household type and size25 across the city and 
Greater Manchester, is shown in the following table: 
 

Size Number of net 

additional dwellings 

Proportion of total net 

additional dwellings 

1 bedroom 9,200 28% 

                                                           
25 DCLG 2014-based and ONS 2016-based subnational household projections 

Page 99



89 
 

Size Number of net 

additional dwellings 

Proportion of total net 

additional dwellings 

2 bedrooms 14,610 45% 

3 bedrooms 6,670 20% 

4 or more bedrooms 2,200 7% 

   

Total 32,680 100% 

 
In order to achieve the above mix, and to ensure that a good range of homes 
come forward across the city and within individual neighbourhoods, all 
developments providing net additional dwellings shall deliver a range of 
dwelling sizes in terms of the number of bedrooms. 
 
In new developments providing apartments, a minimum of 50% of the 
apartments shall contain at least two bedrooms. A lower proportion may be 
permitted where it can be clearly demonstrated by the applicant that smaller 
accommodation is required to meet an identified local need of acknowledged 
importance, such as the provision of affordable housing (in accordance with 
the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) or any subsequent definition), housing for older people or 
other specialist accommodation. 
 
Space standards  
 
In the following cases, the gross internal floor area of new dwellings shall as a 
minimum meet the nationally described space standards (or any subsequent 
standards): 
1) All dwellings in new build developments, including dwellings in build to 

rent schemes 
2) Where practicable, having regard to the physical constraints of the 

existing building, changes of use and conversions 
 
A summary of the nationally described space standards is shown in the table 
below, and the full standards are at Annex A of this Local Plan. 
 

Page 100



90 
 

  
*Where a 1b1p has a shower room instead of a bathroom, the floor area may be reduced from 
39 square metres to 37 square metres, as shown bracketed.   

 
Garages, balconies, buildings detached from the main dwelling, and 
communal areas shared with other dwellings, do not contribute towards 
meeting the minimum space standards. Built-in storage areas are included 
within the overall minimum gross internal areas. 
 
The nationally described space standards will not be applied to purpose-built 
student accommodation, hotels, residential institutions (including secure 
institutions), and dwellings with furnished layouts. Developments that do not 
meet the minimum space standards because they incorporate furnished 
layouts will be permitted subject to a condition or planning obligation 
requiring them to be first occupied and retained in perpetuity as furnished 
accommodation. For the purposes of this policy, a dwelling will only be 
considered to have a furnished layout if it incorporates all furniture that is 
likely to be required by a typical household occupying the dwelling.  
 
When submitting planning applications for residential development where the 
nationally described space standards apply, including changes of use and 
conversions where meeting the standard is practicable, the applicant will be 
required to state the number of bedspaces/occupiers that each dwelling type 
has been designed to accommodate as well as the number of bedrooms and 
minimum gross internal floor area (with a separate figure for built-in storage). 
 
Houses in multiple occupation 
 
The nationally described space standards will not be applied to houses in 
multiple occupation (HMOs). All HMOs shall instead meet the minimum room 
size and amenity standards set out in the city council’s published guidance for 

Page 101



91 
 

such properties, where practicable having regard to the physical constraints of 
the existing building.  
 
 
 
Density of new housing 
 
12.16 The appropriate minimum density of new housing will vary across the city, but 

many areas will require some increase in densities in order to deliver a 
sustainable Salford. Increasing the number of people who live in locations that 
are well-served by public transport and have good access to local facilities 
such as town centres will not just help to provide a range of attractive housing 
options for residents but will also support the achievement of goals that are 
partly reliant on reducing road traffic, such as lowering climate change 
emissions and enhancing air quality. Making the most efficient use of land will 
also help to minimise, both now and in the future, the need to release parts of 
the Green Belt to meet development requirements for housing and 
employment premises. 
 

12.17 Density considerations need to be assessed alongside the aim of delivering 
an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes. It should be possible to 
construct houses at densities up to around 70-80 dwellings per hectare, with 
apartments typically being required to achieve higher densities, and so the 
minimum density requirements should not prevent compliance with the type 
and size requirements in policies H4 and H5 on most sites. 

 
 
Policy H6 Housing density 

 
New residential development shall achieve the minimum densities in the table 
below: 
 

Location (use the highest density 

that applies when a site falls within 

more than one location) 

Minimum net residential density 

(dwellings per hectare) 

Within the 

centre 

Within 400 

metres 

Within 800 

metres 

Designated centres    

City Centre 200 120 70 

Town centres 120 70 50 

Local centres 70 50 40 

    

Page 102



92 
 

Location (use the highest density 

that applies when a site falls within 

more than one location) 

Minimum net residential density 

(dwellings per hectare) 

Within the 

centre 

Within 400 

metres 

Within 800 

metres 

Public transport stops    

Salford Central Station, Salford 

Crescent Station and all Metrolink 

stops 

N/A 200 120 

Eccles Station N/A 120 70 

Irlam Station, Swinton Station, 

Walkden Station and other rail 

stations with a frequent service26 

N/A 70 50 

Existing or potential bus stops on 

main bus corridors27 

N/A 50 35 

Areas within GMAL 6 and above28 50 35 35 

    

Minimum net residential density of 35 dwellings per hectare in all other 

locations 

 
Lower densities will only be acceptable where they can be clearly justified by: 
 
1) Local housing market issues, such as a demonstrable need for a 

particular type of housing that cannot be delivered at a higher density 
and would otherwise not be met; or 

2) Site-specific issues, such as the design context and any potential 
impact on the wider landscape or townscape including heritage assets. 
 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
26 Rail stations that are not named in the policy are not currently considered to have sufficiently 
frequent services for these higher minimum densities to apply, but this may change during the plan 
period as rail timetables and franchises are reviewed. 
27 This includes all stops on the Leigh-Salford-Manchester Busway 
28 GMAL is an abbreviation of Greater Manchester Accessibility Layer, which measures the 
accessibility of locations across Greater Manchester by walking and public transport. Areas are 
scored on a scale of 1-8, with 8 being the most accessible. GMAL scores are published online at 
data.gov.uk. 

Page 103



93 
 

Affordable housing 
 
12.18 Housing affordability in Salford is worsening and is a major challenge for 

many households. Housing costs can place significant pressures on 
household finances, particularly for those on low incomes or in insecure 
employment. Significantly increasing the supply of affordable housing is 
therefore a key priority, and a vital component of delivering a fairer Salford. 
 

12.19 In recent years, Salford has been very successful at attracting large levels of 
new residential development, but there has been widespread public concern 
about the low proportion of affordable homes that have been delivered in 
private sector developments and, in particular, the large number of schemes 
that have provided no affordable housing at all. 

 
12.20 As of 31 March 2018, there were 5,867 households on the housing register 

seeking affordable housing in Salford, with the vast majority of these being in 
priority need. Using the methodology in the national planning practice 
guidance, the 2019 Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment29 identifies a need for 613 affordable homes per annum in 
Salford if the backlog of need were to be addressed over the next five years.  
 

12.21 Given this scale of need and the fundamental right of people to have access 
to a decent home at a cost they can afford, it will be necessary for all housing 
developments to support the delivery of new affordable homes as far as 
possible. This will be vital to ensuring that inclusive communities are achieved 
and housing needs are met.  

 
12.22 In light of these issues, the city council considers that at least 20% of new 

dwellings on every major residential development in Salford should be in the 
form of affordable housing wherever possible (including in build to rent (see 
Policy H8) and purpose-built student housing (see Policy H11) schemes). This 
will help to deliver a continued supply of new affordable homes to meet the 
substantial need that has been identified, whilst also supporting diverse 
neighbourhoods and enabling households of varying means to stay within or 
close to their community. 
 

12.23 Government policy30 states that where major development involving the 
provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should 
expect at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home 
ownership, as part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site. 
Having regard to the characteristics of households in need and the existing 
tenure mix, taking such an approach in Salford would significantly prejudice 
the ability to meet affordable housing needs in the city and hence is not 
appropriate. Instead, the tenure mix of the affordable housing should typically 
be three-quarters for rent (evenly split between social rent and affordable rent) 
and one-quarter for shared ownership. Other forms of affordable home 

                                                           
29 Greater Manchester Combined Authority (January 2019) Greater Manchester Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment 
30 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 64 

Page 104



94 
 

ownership will typically only be appropriate where viability is especially 
challenging. This approach will help to ensure that there is a diverse range of 
new affordable homes coming forward in the city to meet a variety of needs 
whilst being targeted particularly at the high proportion of households in need 
who are unable to afford any model of home ownership. 
 

12.24 The strategic viability assessment31 that has been produced by the city 
council suggests that delivering 20% affordable housing for some types of 
residential development in some parts of the city may be very challenging. 
This is based on a range of assumptions that may vary on individual sites, 
with some developments being more viable and some less viable than 
indicated in the assessment depending on factors such as the specific site 
characteristics, the funding model and tendering process for the development, 
and the market conditions at the time. This variability in viability, both between 
sites and over time, means that it is appropriate that the assessment is the 
starting point rather than the only determinant of the affordable housing policy. 
 

12.25 The use of a minimum figure of at least 20% across Salford helps to clarify the 
expectation that all major developments will make an appropriate contribution 
to meeting a range of housing needs including those requiring affordable 
homes. Where viability is more challenging, there may still be opportunities to 
achieve the 20% figure, including by attracting funding from third parties such 
as registered providers and through the use of affordable housing tenures that 
require lower subsidies. Nevertheless, there will be situations where it is 
appropriate to reduce or even waive the affordable housing requirement, 
and/or agree an affordable housing tenure mix with higher levels of affordable 
home ownership than would normally be appropriate, due to the specific 
circumstances of the development and where the benefits of providing new 
homes outweigh the lack of compliance with the affordable housing policy 
requirements. 
 

12.26 The strategic viability assessment indicates that viability is sufficiently strong 
in some parts of Salford to support more than 20% affordable housing in new 
residential developments. These are the areas with the highest house prices 
in the city, and hence where affordable housing is especially important if a 
diverse range of people are to be able to access a suitable home within them. 
Hence, it is appropriate to set higher minimum requirements than 20% in such 
areas in order to deliver sustainable communities and maximise the provision 
of new affordable homes to address the identified need within Salford.  

 
12.27 Although the affordable housing requirements in this policy only apply to 

major developments in accordance with Government policy32, the delivery of 
affordable housing on smaller schemes is strongly encouraged. The city 
council will work in partnership with registered providers, Homes England, 
developers and landowners to maximise opportunities for affordable housing 
delivery across Salford.  

 

                                                           
31 Salford City Council (January 2019) Local Plan - Assessment of residential viability 
32 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 63 

Page 105



95 
 

 
Policy H7     Affordable Housing    

 
A significant improvement in the availability of affordable housing in Salford 
will be delivered through a combination of public funding, investment by 
registered providers, and developer contributions, enabling people to find a 
home at a cost they can afford. The provision of affordable housing at higher 
levels than the minimum requirements of this policy will be strongly 
supported. 
 
Minimum affordable housing requirements 
All developments that provide 10 or more net additional dwellings, or are on a 
site of 0.5 hectares or more in size and provide any number of dwellings, shall 
deliver at least 20% of those dwellings as affordable housing. Within the areas 
listed in the following table (and shown in Figure 10), such developments shall 
deliver a higher minimum affordable housing requirement in accordance with 
that table (or any future update of the table published by the city council in a 
supplementary planning document in response to changing levels of viability). 
 

Residential value 

area 

Dwelling type Minimum proportion 

of affordable housing 

Premium Houses and mid-density 

apartments 

50% 

High Houses 50% 

Mid-density apartments 35% 

Mid/high Houses 35% 

Mid-density apartments 25% 

For the purposes of this table, mid-density apartment schemes are those 

comprising fewer than six storeys. 

 
All minimum affordable housing requirements shall be rounded to the nearest 
full dwelling once the relevant proportion has been applied. 
 
Where there is evidence that a site or development has been artificially split in 
order to avoid policy requirements by being below the dwelling or site size 
threshold identified above, in accordance with Policy PC1 the city council will 
consider whether it would be appropriate to apply the policy requirements to 
each of the smaller sites individually irrespective of their number of dwellings 
or site area in order to secure the delivery of affordable housing in accordance 
with this policy. 
 

Page 106



96 
 

Green Belt land is not covered by the value areas, as new housing 
development within the Green Belt that is in excess of the thresholds in this 
policy will by definition be inappropriate. If exceptional circumstances exist to 
justify such development in the Green Belt, then the proportion of dwellings 
that are affordable must be maximised. The Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework removes three sites in Salford from the Green Belt and allocates 
them for housing. It specifies the minimum affordable requirements for each 
site, and the relevant value areas for those sites are shown in Figure 10 below. 
 
A reduced proportion of affordable housing from the above requirements may 
be considered acceptable only where: 
 
1) It has been clearly demonstrated that all practicable options have been 

exhausted for delivering the minimum affordable housing requirement, 
including by partnering with registered providers and accommodating 
affordable homes financed through various sources such as Homes 
England, investment funds and commuted sums from other sites; and 

2) The requirements of criteria i-iv in Policy PC1 have been met. 
 
Tenure of new affordable housing 
New affordable housing provision shall deliver the following mix of tenures to 
ensure that there is a diverse range of new affordable homes that meets the 
nature of the need within Salford: 
 

Tenure Proportion of the affordable homes 

Social rented 37.5% 

Affordable rented 37.5% 

Shared ownership 25% 

 
A different affordable housing tenure mix from the table above may be 
acceptable where there is clear evidence this would help to better meet 
specifically identified local needs and address site-specific circumstances.  
The identification of any such need will be informed by discussions with the 
city council, and registered providers where they are to manage the affordable 
housing, having regard to the: 
 
A) Choice based lettings data from Salford Home Search33; 
B) Characteristics of the households likely to be allocated to the affordable 

dwellings;  
C) Existing supply of affordable housing in the local area, including the 

size and type; 
D) Characteristics of the site; 
E) Scale of the proposed development; 

                                                           
33 Salford Home Search allows those who are eligible and registered as having a need for affordable 
housing to make a ‘bid’ for affordable properties when they become available for letting. Data that 
Salford Home Search provide includes the number of bid per property by size, type and location. 

Page 107



97 
 

F) Level of local house prices and incomes; and 
G) Financial viability of the proposed scheme. 
 
Type and size 
Given that there is a demonstrable need for all types (houses and apartments) 
and sizes (bedrooms and floorspace) of affordable housing, in the first 
instance the city council will expect that the affordable dwellings shall reflect 
the dwelling mix across the development as a whole. 
 
A different mix of types and sizes may be appropriate on an individual site 
where there is clear evidence that this would help to better meet specifically 
identified local needs and address site-specific circumstances. The 
identification of any such need will be informed by discussions with the city 
council, and registered providers where they are to manage the affordable 
housing, and having regard to criteria A-G of this policy.  
 
On-site and off-site provision 
The mechanism for providing the affordable housing shall be agreed with the 
city council, having regard to local factors and the desirability of delivering 
mixed communities. In some circumstances this will mean that on-site 
provision is most appropriate, whereas in other circumstances off-site 
provision or the payment of a commuted sum may enable the more effective 
delivery of affordable housing to meet local needs. The value of any commuted 
sum will be calculated on the basis of the above table, or any subsequent 
update in a supplementary planning document, and spent having regard to the 
latest evidence of need. 
 
Design 
Within mixed-tenure developments, the appearance of the affordable dwellings 
shall be indistinguishable from the open market dwellings and shall normally 
be “pepper-potted”. 
 
Small clusters of up to ten affordable dwellings will typically be acceptable 
given the practicalities of managing and maintaining units, although larger 
clusters may be appropriate where:  
 
i) A high proportion of units are affordable; or 
ii) An identified Registered Provider considers that larger clusters are 

required to ensure the efficient and effective management of the 
affordable housing.  

 
All affordable housing shall be designed and built to appropriate and agreed 
standards. 
 
Delivery 
The provision of affordable housing will be secured through a section 106 
agreement. This will specify the timing of the delivery of any dwellings and/or 
payment of commuted sums.  
 

Page 108



98 
 

Where a registered provider is involved, the developer shall, unless otherwise 
agreed, build the dwellings to the specification of the registered provider and 
sell them to the registered provider at an agreed discount on the sale price. 
This discount will be based on the projected rental income and the registered 
provider’s borrowing limits, taking into account location, property type, 
number of bedrooms, and tenure to be provided. 
 
Engagement 
Early involvement of the city council and registered providers in site 
discussions and design is strongly encouraged, preferably at the pre-
application stage, in order to ensure that affordable housing provision will 
meet relevant requirements and standards. 
 
Definitions 
Affordable housing is defined in Annex 2 of the 2018 National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 
 
Affordable housing shall include provisions to remain at an affordable price 
for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative 
affordable housing provision.  
 
The requirement for affordable housing set out in this policy applies to all 
types of self-contained residential development including retirement 
dwellings, and also to co-living developments. In build to rent developments, 
affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with Policy H8. In purpose-
built student housing developments, affordable housing shall be provided in 
accordance with Policy H11. Other housing that is not in the form of individual 
units of self-contained accommodation, as may be seen for example in care 
homes and nursing homes, will not be required to provide affordable housing.  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 109



Legend
Salford local authority boundary

Value area
Premium
High
Mid/high
Low to mid
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 10 - Residential value areas

P
age 110



 

100 
 

Build to rent dwellings 
 
12.28 Build to rent is purpose-built housing where typically all of the dwellings are 

rented, professionally managed and in single ownership, and can comprise 
either houses or flats. Over recent years the city council has granted planning 
permission for a significant number of build to rent schemes, particularly in 
City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. Many of these schemes are currently 
under construction, with further schemes continuing to be proposed, 
demonstrating the demand for build to rent developments in Salford. 

 
12.29 Build to rent can be an effective means of securing forward-funding for larger 

apartment developments, and so will have a significant role to play in 
delivering high density schemes in locations such as City Centre Salford, 
Salford Quays, Ordsall Waterfront, and the town centres. However, it will be 
important to ensure that build to rent adds to the diversity of housing options, 
and does not unduly dominate provision in these areas. There will also be 
opportunities for build to rent in other parts of the city, including for houses 
where this complements the delivery of owner-occupied and affordable 
dwellings, helping to meet the needs of different demographic and social 
groups. 

 
12.30 As with other private developments, build to rent schemes will need to make 

appropriate provision for affordable housing, helping to deliver more inclusive 
communities and a fairer Salford. This will typically be in the form of affordable 
private rent, but the provision of, or financial contributions towards, social rent, 
affordable rent or shared ownership will also be appropriate where it is of at 
least a commensurate financial value. 

 
 
Policy H8 Build to Rent 

 
The development of build to rent schemes will be supported, particularly in 
City Centre Salford, Salford Quays, Ordsall Waterfront and town centres, 
subject to: 
 
1) The whole development being under common ownership and 

management control for the long term; 
2) Operators offering tenancies of three or more years to all tenants, with 

tenants having the option to terminate at one month’s notice, after the 
first six months, without a break fee being payable; 

3) Being provided in accordance with the space standards in policy H5 in 
the case of non-furnished developments; and 

4) Consistency with the need to deliver a broad range of tenures across 
Salford and within individual areas, including owner-occupied dwellings. 

 
All build to rents schemes on sites of 10 or more dwellings, or having an area 
of 0.5 hectares or more irrespective of the number of dwellings, shall provide a 
minimum of 20% of the dwellings in the form of affordable private rent, with 
these dwellings being: 

Page 111



101 
 

 
a) At a rent that is at least 20% less than the private market rent (inclusive 

of service charges) for an equivalent dwelling; 
b) Maintained as affordable private rent in perpetuity;  
c) Distributed throughout the development and physically 

indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of quality and 
size; and 

d) Occupied by eligible households having regard to household income 
levels and local rent levels; 

 
Changes of use of existing buildings to uses that are similar in nature to build 
to rent, such as from purpose-built student housing, will be expected to 
comply with the above affordable housing requirements. 
 
The change of affordable private rent dwellings to another tenure will be 
permitted only where: 
 
A) It is clearly impracticable to retain the dwellings in affordable private 

rent, for example because the build to rent development is being 
converted to owner-occupation; and 

B) The full value of the subsidy for the affordable private rent dwellings is 
paid as a commuted sum to the city council for reinvestment in the 
provision of affordable housing. 

 
 
 
Supply of new homes 
 
12.31 The supply of housing land for the period 2018-2037 is made up of a number 

of different components, as shown in the table below. A relatively small 
number of sites are allocated in this Local Plan where there might otherwise 
be uncertainty about their suitability for housing, whilst some are allocated to 
promote opportunities for development of smaller sites. In addition, three sites 
in Salford that are currently in the Green Belt are allocated for housing in the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. 
 

12.32 Importantly, Salford benefits from a large number of existing planning 
permissions for housing34, many of which could be implemented in the early 
part of the plan period and hence will help to ensure that the city has a five-
year housing land supply. Details of these permitted sites together with a 
number of other sites identified as likely to be suitable, available and 
achievable for housing are set out in Salford’s Strategic Housing and 
Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA). Those sites that are 
identified in the HELAA for new housing (including those where housing is 
part of a mix with other uses) and are wholly brownfield are also identified on 
the city’s Brownfield Land Register. The land availability assessment has a 
site size threshold of over 0.1 hectares in City Centre Salford and the town 
centres and over 0.25 hectares in the rest of the City, and so an additional 

                                                           
34 As of 31 March 2018 there were 20,348 dwellings (gross) with planning permission.  

Page 112



102 
 

allowance is made for new housing on small sites that have not been 
specifically identified in the HELAA, based on past trends.  

 

Source of supply Number of net 

additional 

dwellings 

Proportion 

of total 

potential 

supply 

Local plan allocations (H9/1 to H9/18)  3,035 8% 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

allocations 

2,000 5% 

Other sites identified in Salford’s Housing 

and Economic Land Availability Assessment 

(HELAA)  

33,595 83% 

Small sites allowance 1,670 4% 

   

Total 40,300 100% 

 
12.33 This land supply is capable of delivering the scale of housing proposed in 

Policy H2, the broad distribution in Policy H3, and the approximate mix in 
Policy H4. It should be noted that the housing land supply and its various 
components will change over time, as new opportunities are identified and 
some existing ones may be developed for other uses. 

 
12.34 The allocations in this Local Plan, and in the Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework (GMSF), will be important in ensuring that there is a good supply 
of land for new houses, complementing the large supply of new apartments. 
In accordance with national policy35, the identified supply would allow for more 
than 10% of the total housing requirement to be delivered on sites of no larger 
than one hectare, helping to provide opportunities for small builders. 
 

12.35 The vast majority of the total supply is previously-developed land, although 
some greenfield and Green Belt sites are being released through the Local 
Plan and GMSF allocations to help deliver an appropriate scale, and more 
diverse distribution and mix, of housing. Overall, it should be possible to 
exceed a target of 80% of new homes being on previously-developed sites. 

 
 
 
  

                                                           
35 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 68 

Page 113



103 
 

Policy H9 Housing land supply 

 
A diverse supply of residential development opportunities will be made 
available in order to meet the identified housing needs set out in this Local 
Plan. 
 
Residential development will be directed towards previously-developed land, 
with a target that at least 80% of new homes should be on such land. 
 
The residential development of previously-developed sites not specifically 
allocated for housing will be strongly encouraged where this would be 
consistent with other policies in this Local Plan, including in terms of not 
resulting in a shortage of land and premises for other important uses such as 
employment. 
 
The following sites are allocated for housing, with further requirements for 
each site set out below: 
 

H9/1 Land west of Hayes Road, Cadishead (5.9 hectares) 
H9/2 Castle Irwell, Irwell Riverside (13.3 hectares) 
H9/3 Land east of Langley Road, Irwell Riverside (9.8 hectares) 
H9/4 Brackley golf course, Little Hulton (26.0 hectares) 
H9/5 Land at Ladywell Avenue, Little Hulton (1.1 hectares) 
H9/6 Land south-west of Hilton Lane, Little Hulton (6.9 hectares) 
H9/7 Land west of Kenyon Way, Little Hulton (5.7. hectares) 
H9/8 Land at Orchard Street, Irwell Riverside (10.1 hectares) 
H9/9 Land south of the Church of St. Augustine, Pendlebury (2.8 

hectares) 
H9/10 Land south of Hill Top Road, Walkden North (1.7 hectares) 
H9/11 Land south of Moss Lane, Walkden North (2.3 hectares) 
H9/12 Land north of Lumber Lane, Worsley (3.8 hectares) 

 
The following sites are allocated for open space together with enabling 
housing development, with further requirements for each site set out below: 
 

H9/13 Duncan Mathieson playing fields, Claremont (11.6. 
hectares) 

 
The following small sites are allocated for housing: 
 

H9/14 91 Barton Lane, Barton (0.2 hectares) 
H9/15 Cleggs Lane Mill, Seddon Street, Little Hulton (0.4 hectares) 
H9/16 Land at the corner of Langworthy Road and Eccles New 

Road, Ordsall (0.2 hectares) 
H9/17 Land to the south of Asgard Drive and east of Ordsall Lane, 

Ordsall (0.2 hectares) 
H9/18 Land to the west of Ordsall Lane and north of West Park 

Street, Ordsall (0.3 hectares) 
 

Page 114



104 
 

In addition, the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocates the following 
sites for housing: 
 

GM Allocation 30  Land at Hazelhurst Farm (15.7 hectares) 
GM Allocation 31  East of Boothstown (29.0 hectares) 
GM Allocation 32  North of Irlam Station (65.1 hectares) 

 
 
 
Land west of Hayes Road, Cadishead 
 
12.36 The site currently consists of a collection of occupied and vacant employment 

sites. It has previously been identified by the city council in the Cadishead 
South Regeneration Strategy as being suitable for redevelopment to housing, 
offering the potential to support the enhancement of the Cadishead 
neighbourhood. The accessibility and design context of the site means that it 
would be suitable for reasonably high density houses and potentially a small 
number of apartments in the most accessible parts of the site. An attractive 
green frontage to Cadishead Way will also be required, given its prominence 
and surroundings. 

 
 
 
Policy H9/1 Land west of Hayes Road, Cadishead (5.9 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 200 dwellings, indicatively comprised of 
165 houses and 35 apartments.  
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Provide a high quality green infrastructure buffer and public amenity 

spaces along the southern edge of the site, presenting an attractive 
setting for Cadishead Way and enhancing opportunities for wildlife, 
including pollinating insects, to move through the site;  

2) Incorporate a suitable buffer and/or a high degree of mitigation along 
the western edge of the site to ensure that its residents are able to enjoy 
a high level of amenity unaffected by noise and odour from the adjoining 
industrial site and to safeguard the future of the industrial site; 

3) Incorporate measures to mitigate against potential groundwater flooding  
and avoid built development within the small area of the site identified 
as being in flood zone 2; 

4) Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath the 
site; 

5) Provide 10 allotment plots, each 125m2 in size, within the site; and 
6) Ensure that it does not create opportunities for ‘rat-running’ between 

Liverpool Road and Cadishead Way. 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



105 
 

Castle Irwell, Irwell Riverside 
 
12.37 The site comprises the former Castle Irwell student village which has been 

vacated following the relocation of student accommodation to the University of 
Salford Peel Park campus. The riverside setting provides the opportunity to 
deliver an attractive development at the gateway to the Irwell Valley, 
maximising the benefits of the riverside setting through high quality design, 
improvements to the river’s water quality, and the provision of walking and 
cycling routes and green infrastructure. The location next to the river also 
means that significant parts of the site are at risk of flooding, and the layout 
and design of development will need to carefully mitigate this risk and ensure 
that the risk of flooding elsewhere is not increased. It will be necessary to 
liaise with United Utilities with regards to the layout of development at an early 
stage in the planning process, in order to ensure that the necessary 
easements are retained for the utilities infrastructure running beneath the site. 

 
H9/2 Castle Irwell, Irwell Riverside (13.3 hectares)  
 
The site will be developed for around 500 dwellings, indicatively comprised of 
400 houses and 100 apartments.  
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Take a comprehensive and coordinated approach to mitigating flood 

risk from the River Irwell, surface water and groundwater, taking into 
account the potential impacts of climate change on river flows and 
avoiding built development in the small area of the site which is 
identified as being in flood zone 3; 

2) Make a positive contribution to the character, environmental quality and 
public amenity value of the River Irwell, and enhance the waterside 
walking and cycling route, in accordance with policy D9; 

3) Support the improvement of the water environment of the River Irwell, 
and contribute to the other North West River Basin Management Plan 
objectives in accordance with policy WA2; 

4) Provide an eight metre easement to the River Irwell to allow for access 
and maintenance; 

5) Incorporate high levels of green infrastructure and walking and cycling 
routes through the site and to the waterside walkway, integrating it into 
the rest of Charlestown; 

6) Provide public amenity space and a play area within the site;  
7) Retain existing mature trees in accordance with policy GI7, where 

practicable; 
8) Incorporate active town centre uses at ground floor level on the 

Cromwell Road and Littleton Road frontages that fall within the defined 
Charlestown Local Centre; 

9) Provide vehicular access to the Castle Irwell changing rooms and the 
Castle Irwell flood basin; 

10) Provide appropriate replacement and/or compensation for the loss of 
the sports pitches and changing rooms;  

Page 116



106 
 

11) Set aside land to accommodate additional primary school provision, 
unless it can be demonstrated that sufficient additional school places 
can be provided off-site within the local area to meet the likely demand 
generated by the new housing; 

12) Protect and enhance the area’s heritage assets and their settings, 
including the grade II listed former Co-operative building at 1 Littleton 
Road, and the locally listed Manchester Racecourse Turnstiles on 
Cromwell Road  

13) Incorporate an information board on the site detailing the history of the 
former Manchester racecourse and the Turnstiles building; 

14) Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath the 
site; and 

15) Investigate the potential to develop a district heating network.  
 

 
 
Land east of Langley Road, Irwell Riverside 
 
12.38 The site comprises a former employment site at its western end that is being 

temporarily used for recycling of construction waste, scrubland at the rear of 
existing terraced housing in its central part, and a small employment area that 
is in active use at its eastern end. The riverside setting provides the 
opportunity to deliver an attractive development and the benefits of the 
riverside setting should be maximised, through high quality design, 
improvements to the river’s water quality and the provision of walking and 
cycling routes and green infrastructure. There are some industrial units on the 
western side of Langley Road and therefore careful consideration should be 
given to appropriate mitigation measures to protect the residential amenity of 
any housing development. It will be necessary to liaise with United Utilities 
with regards to the layout of development at an early stage in the planning 
process, in order to ensure that the necessary easements are retained for the 
utilities infrastructure running beneath the site.  
 

H9/3 Land east of Langley Road, Irwell Riverside (9.8 hectares)  
 
The site will be developed for around 320 dwellings, indicatively comprised of 
250 houses and 70 apartments.  
 
Development shall:   
 
1) Make a positive contribution to the character, environmental quality and 

public amenity value of the River Irwell, in accordance with policy D9, 
including through the provision of a waterside walking and cycling route 
which incorporates high levels of green infrastructure and provides 
opportunities for the movement of wildlife;  

2) Support the improvement of the water environment of the River Irwell, 
and contribute to the other North West River Basin Management Plan 
objectives in accordance with policy WA2;  

Page 117



107 
 

3) Take a comprehensive and coordinated approach to mitigating flood 
risk from the River Irwell and surface water, taking into account the 
potential impacts of climate change on river flows; 

4) Provide an eight metre easement to the River Irwell to allow for access 
and maintenance;  

5) Mitigate potential impacts from the remaining employment uses along 
Langley Road;  

6) Assess the potential archaeological interest of the site, particularly in 
relation to its industrial heritage, protecting and recording any remains 
and, if appropriate, providing interpretation on site; 

7) Address ground contamination associated with previous industrial uses 
and landfill activity on parts of the site; and 

8) Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath the 
site. 
 

 
 

Brackley golf course, Little Hulton 
 
12.39 The site comprises the former Brackley golf course which closed in 2016 due 

to a lack of demand and associated financial viability. It offers the opportunity 
to diversify housing provision in the Little Hulton area without utilising Green 
Belt land, and is well-located in relation to the major employment opportunities 
at Logistics North. Having regard to its location on the edge of the urban area, 
the majority of the development should be in the form of houses.  

 
12.40 The site is located within the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 

Improvement Area and is important for the movement of wildlife. The 
motorway to the north of the site acts as a barrier to movement for many 
species, and therefore provision should be made to enable wildlife to move 
east-west through the site along a landscape buffer in order to maximise 
connections with the wider ecological network. The whole site lies within the 
minerals safeguarding areas for brick clay and coal as identified by the 
Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan Document, which 
requires prior extraction where practicable so as to ensure that important 
mineral resources are not lost.  
 

12.41 It will be necessary to liaise with United Utilities with regards to the layout of 
development at an early stage in the planning process, in order to ensure that 
the necessary easements are retained for the utilities infrastructure running 
beneath the site. 
 

H9/4 Brackley golf course, Little Hulton (26.0 hectares)  
 
The site will be developed for around 690 dwellings, indicatively comprised of 
590 houses and 100 apartments.  
 
Development shall: 
 

Page 118



108 
 

1) Incorporate high quality on-site recreation facilities, including a play 
area, 20 allotment plots (each 125m2 in size) and public amenity spaces 
connected to existing public rights of way, and deliver off-site 
improvements to existing recreation facilities, in order to meet the needs 
of the residents of the development and to provide full compensation for 
the loss of the golf course; 

2) Provide a linear walking and cycling route along the site’s northern 
boundary, connected to the existing public rights of way;  

3) Mitigate the potential impacts of noise and air pollution from the M61, 
including through the provision of a significant landscape buffer that 
maintains a green appearance from that motorway;   

4) Retain the semi-improved natural grassland and deciduous woodland 
around the edges of the site; 

5) Make provision for protected species, with great crested newt and bird 
surveys being required prior to development; 

6) Enhance the ability for wildlife to move through the site and into the 
wider ecological network;    

7) Assess the site’s potential archaeological interest,  protecting and 
recording any remains appropriately; 

8) Be informed by a water body status assessment in accordance with 
policy WA2, having regard to the main river to the south-west of the site 
allocation; 

9) Incorporate sustainable drainage systems to mitigate the potential 
surface water flooding on the site in accordance with policy WA6; 

10) Set aside land to accommodate additional primary school provision, 
unless it can be demonstrated that sufficient additional school places 
can be provided off-site within the local area to meet the likely demand 
generated by the new housing; 

11) Address issues of contamination and land instability associated with 
previous mining and spoil tipping activities on part of the site; and  

12) Take the primary vehicular access from the A6 Manchester Road West. 
 
 
 
Land at Ladywell Avenue, Little Hulton 
 
12.42 The site is an existing grassed area, and is surrounded by residential 

properties on all sides. It will be necessary to liaise with United Utilities with 
regards to the layout of development at an early stage in the planning 
process, in order to ensure that the necessary easements are retained for the 
utilities infrastructure running beneath the site. 

 
H9/5 Land at Ladywell Avenue, Little Hulton (1.1 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 40 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 

Page 119



109 
 

1) Provide appropriate compensation for the loss of the public amenity 
space function, through the improvement of other amenity spaces in the 
local area;  

2) Address potential land stability issues associated with previous mining 
activity on the site; and 

3) Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath the 
site. 

 
 
 
Land south-west of Hilton Lane, Little Hulton 
 
12.43 The site is located off Hilton Lane, and was formerly used as grazing land 

together with a school playing field that has been declared surplus to 
requirements. It provides a natural extension to the Burgess Farm residential 
development just to its east.  
 

12.44 The site is located within the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area (NIA), and therefore a high level of green infrastructure 
should be incorporated into the site in order to increase the site’s biodiversity 
value and enable the movement of species within the NIA and beyond. A 
nature park is being provided within the ‘Ponds near New Manchester’ site of 
biological importance as part of the adjacent Burgess Farm development. This 
allocation should further enhance the biodiversity value of the site of biological 
importance, with particular regard to protected great crested newts.  
 

12.45 It will be necessary to liaise with United Utilities with regards to the layout of 
development at an early stage in the planning process, in order to ensure that 
the necessary easements are retained for the utilities infrastructure running 
beneath the site. 

 
H9/6 Land south-west of Hilton Lane, Little Hulton (6.9 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 200 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Provide opportunities for wildlife to move through the site and into the 

wider ecological network including by: 
a) Protecting and enhancing the ‘Ponds near New Manchester’ site 

of biological importance (SBI) to the west; 
b) Providing a layout which accommodates opportunities for the 

movement of wildlife between the site and the ‘Ponds near New 
Manchester’ SBI, particularly the nature park at the northern end 
of the SBI; and 

c) Retaining the hedgerows around the edge of the site; 
2) Incorporate sustainable drainage systems to mitigate the potential 

surface water flooding on the site in accordance with policy WA6;  
3) Provide 15 allotment plots, each 125m2 in size, within the site;  

Page 120



110 
 

4) Ensure appropriate noise mitigation from the railway immediately to the 
north of the site; 

5) Address potential land stability issues associated with previous mining 
activity on the site; and 

6) Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath the 
site.  
 

 
 
Land west of Kenyon Way, Little Hulton 
 
12.46 The site comprises an area of land between the existing housing along 

Kenyon Way to the east and Cutacre Country Park to the west, which is being 
delivered as part of the Logistics North development. The site’s development 
provides an opportunity to improve connections from existing residential areas 
to Cutacre Country Park, as well as delivering a significant number of new 
homes. The location on the edge of the urban area means that it will be best-
suited to houses rather than apartments.  

 
H9/7 Land west of Kenyon Way, Little Hulton (5.7 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 150 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Be designed to be well-integrated with the existing neighbourhood to 

the east; 
2) Provide opportunities for wildlife to move within and through the site, 

including by retaining and enhancing the deciduous woodland and 
brook which runs along the site’s western boundary and compensating 
for any loss of habitats through improvements to the adjoining Cutacre 
Country Park and Ponds North of Cleworth Hall site of biological 
importance; 

3) Provide public amenity spaces and high quality walking and cycling 
routes through the site, connecting existing neighbourhoods to Cutacre 
Country Park and linking into existing public rights of way;  

4) Be informed by a water body status assessment in accordance with 
policy WA2; 

5) Take the primary vehicular access from Kenyon Way; 
6) Address potential land stability issues associated with previous mining 

activity on the site; and 
7) Provide appropriate mitigation for any potential noise pollution from the 

employment areas to the north-west. 
 
 
 
Orchard Street, Irwell Riverside 
 
12.47 The site is currently in employment use and although it is judged to be 

important to protect most existing employment areas in the city in order to 

Page 121



111 
 

ensure a good range of business sites and premises, in this instance it is 
considered more appropriate to support the site’s redevelopment for 
residential uses. This is primarily because the majority of the site is in use for 
aggregate recycling and this conflicts with the residential uses located to the 
north of Langley Road South. Redevelopment of the site for housing will be 
beneficial to the local area by removing some of the heavy goods vehicles 
that use the immediate highway network, and increasing amenity levels for 
the surrounding community by reducing noise and air pollution. Employment 
uses will remain to the west and south, and it will be important to ensure that 
the site is carefully designed to provide its residents with a high level of 
amenity. 
 
 
 

 
H9/8 Orchard Street, Irwell Riverside (10.1 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 470 dwellings, indicatively comprised of 
370 houses and 100 apartments.  
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Focus on the provision of medium density houses, with the potential for 

higher densities including in the form of apartments towards Broughton 
Road;  

2) Retain the mature trees along the southern boundary and add further 
planting along this boundary to create a continuous corridor along it to 
help improve the ability of wildlife to move through the site; 

3) Provide public amenity space and 10 allotment plots (each 125m2 in 
size) within the site; 

4) Protect and enhance the surrounding heritage assets, their settings and 
views of them, particularly the Grade II listed former Pendleton 
Cooperative Industrial Society Buildings at 19 and 21 Broughton Road, 
the Grade II listed Tower of Church of St George with St Barnaby, and 
the locally listed Cheltenham Buildings on Cheltenham Street, 2- 10 
Cobden Street, and Kingston Mill on Cobden Street; 

5) Assess the site’s potential archaeological interest, protecting and 
recording any remains appropriately; 

6) Protect the line of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal that lies along 
the southern boundary of the site, incorporating walking and cycling 
routes along it; 

7) Support the relocation of the existing non-waste-related businesses and 
facilities within the local area; 

8) Incorporate appropriate mitigation for noise from the rail line and nearby 
employment uses, and odour from nearby waste management; and 

9) Address ground contamination associated with the current and previous 
uses of the site. 

 
 
 

Page 122



112 
 

Land south of the Church of St. Augustine, Pendlebury 
 
12.48 The eastern part of the site is currently used as a playing field for the 

adjoining primary school. The rest of the site was formerly used as a miners’ 
welfare, including a now disused bowling green.  

 
12.49 The site is in a very sensitive location, adjoining the St. Augustine’s 

conservation area, which includes one of Salford’s most important buildings, 
the Church of St Augustine, also known as the miner’s cathedral. 
Development should therefore be very carefully designed. The existing 
playing field provides opportunities for key views of the church to be enjoyed 
and should therefore be retained or reoriented in its current location as part of 
any development, in order to reinforce the prominence of the church.  
 

12.50 The St Augustine’s conservation area is identified on the Heritage at Risk 
Register as being in poor condition and deteriorating. Development of this site 
can contribute to the enhancement of the conservation area, such as by 
rebuilding the boundary wall, which would help to define the perimeter of the 
conservation area and create a strong sense of identity, arrival and security. 
Ensuring that the development protects and enhances the public rights of way 
which wrap around the edges of the site allocation and in front of the church 
could further improve public access and opportunities for the heritage assets 
to be experienced. 

 
H9/9 Land south of the Church of St. Augustine, Pendlebury (2.8 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 60 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Preserve and enhance the setting of the Grade I listed Church of St. 

Augustine, the Grade II listed Environmental Institute, and the 
associated St. Augustine’s conservation area, including by: 
a) Being informed by a detailed heritage impact assessment, which 

considers layout and the integration of new built development 
with the heritage assets, opportunities to appreciate the heritage 
assets from within and through the development site, and details 
such as scale, height, massing and materials; 

b) Retaining or reorienting the playing field as an open space in its 
existing location; 

c) Ensuring that dwellings face the church, providing natural 
surveillance and a high quality frontage to it;  

d) Rebuilding and repairing the boundary wall between the site and 
the conservation area; and  

e) Retaining and enhancing the public rights of way around the 
edges of the site; 

2) Maximise walking and cycling connections from all dwellings to Swinton 
Town Centre, Victoria Park and public transport routes; 

3) Fund off-site recreation improvements to compensate for the loss of the 
former bowling green; 

Page 123



113 
 

4) Protect the ability of wildlife, including pollinating insects to move 
through the site, connecting to adjoining green infrastructure;  

5) Address potential land stability issues associated with previous 
underground infrastructure on the site; 

6) Provide appropriate noise mitigation from employment uses to the 
north-west of the site; and 

7) Ensure that there is no adverse impact on the water quality of the 
ordinary watercourse to the south of the site. 

 
 
 
Land south of Hill Top Road, Walkden North 
 
12.51 The site currently comprises open scrubland, and is well located only a short 

distance from Walkden Town Centre and other local facilities. The site is 
located within the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area and 
on the edge of Blackleach Country Park, and so it will be important that the 
development maximises opportunities for wildlife to move through the site.  

 
H9/10 Land south of Hill Top Road, Walkden North (1.7 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 60 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Provide opportunities for wildlife to move through the site and into the 

adjoining Blackleach Country Park and Blackleach Reservoir site of 
biological importance, including through the retention of the existing 
hedgerows and compensating for any loss of habitats on the site 
through improvements to the country park; 

2) Address issues of contamination and land instability associated with 
former mining activity on the site; 

3) Incorporate appropriate noise mitigation relating to the employment 
uses at Barlow Street to the south-west of the site;  

4) Take the primary vehicular access from Hill Top Road; and 
5) Provide a high quality frontage to Hill Top Lane, helping to present an 

attractive gateway into Blackleach Country Park. 
 
 
 
Land south of Moss Lane, Walkden North 
 
12.52 This area of grassland is bounded to the east and south by new housing 

developments, and to the west and north by industrial uses. The north-west 
corner of the site falls within the hazardous installation middle notification 
zone for a gas depot, and this will need to be reflected in the design of any 
development in accordance with health and safety guidance. The site will 
need to be accessed via Moss Lane to its north-west, but this section is 
currently an unmade track and will have to be upgraded to accommodate 
vehicles as well as pedestrians and cyclists. 

Page 124



114 
 

 
H9/11 Land south of Moss Lane, Walkden North (2.3 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 80 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Incorporate mitigation to address potential noise pollution from the 

remaining employment uses in the area; 
2) Have regard to the notifiable installation located to the north-west of the 

site;  
3) Retain mature trees on the site where practicable; and 
4) Improve Moss Lane to the north-west of the site to provide the primary 

vehicular access, whilst ensuring appropriate provision along it for 
pedestrians and cyclists. 
 

 
 
Land north of Lumber Lane, Worsley 
 
12.53 The site is bounded to the north by the A580 East Lancashire Road, and to 

the south and east by recreation routes along former rail lines. It is only a 
short distance from the Leigh-Salford-Manchester busway, which provides a 
rapid transit route into the City Centre, and it is a fifteen minute walk to 
Walkden Town Centre. Hence there is the potential for a large proportion of 
journeys to and from the site to be made by sustainable modes. 

 
12.54 There are a number of constraints affecting the site that will require very 

careful design and mitigation, including the existing trees and other landscape 
features that contribute to its attractiveness and distinctiveness, the context of 
the adjoining conservation area, and pollution from the traffic along the A580. 
The site is located within the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area. It is likely that the recreation routes which border the site 
are important for species movement, and the linear habitats within the site will 
also play a role. The development of the site should therefore preserve and 
enhance these features. 
 

12.55 Vehicular access to the site will need to be taken via Hardy Grove and across 
the existing loopline recreation route, and it may be necessary to restrict on 
street parking on Hardy Grove and relocate the bus stop at Hardy 
Grove/Lumber Lane to enable this. Development of this site will require the 
consideration of flood risk issues, in particular along the channel of the 
Kempnough Brook in the west of the site and around How Clough in the 
eastern corner of the site. Surface water flood risk also affects a small area in 
the centre of the site which will require consideration in the design and layout 
of development.   

 
 
 
 

Page 125



115 
 

H9/12 Land north of Lumber Lane, Worsley (3.8 hectares) 
 
The site will be developed for around 60 houses. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Take vehicular access via Hardy Grove, with a new road bridge 

spanning the recreation route along the former railway line to the south 
of the site. The bridge should be carefully designed to protect the 
character and appearance of Hardy Grove, minimise any potential 
adverse effects on the amenity of residents on Hardy Grove, and 
maintain the quality and ecological connectivity of the recreation route;  

2) Retain public footpaths through the site and provide high quality 
pedestrian and cycle connections from all parts of the development to 
the Leigh-Salford-Manchester busway stops and adjacent recreation 
routes;   

3) Provide an eight metre buffer either side of the main river (Kempnough 
Brook) running through the western part of the site, avoid its culverting, 
protect its water quality and mitigate any associated flood risk; 

4) Take a comprehensive and coordinated approach to mitigating fluvial,  
reservoir and surface water flood risk and avoid built development in the 
small area of the site which is identified as being in flood zone 3; 

5) Be informed by a water body status assessment in accordance with 
policy WA2; 

6) Address issues of land instability associated with former mining activity 
on the site; 

7) Retain and enhance the pond in the southern part of the site, and the 
semi-natural broadleaved woodland within and around the site, and 
incorporate other green infrastructure to maximise opportunities for 
wildlife to move through and around the site; 

8) Preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the adjacent Roe 
Green/Beesley Green conservation area; and 

9) Provide appropriate mitigation for noise and air pollution from the 
adjacent A580 East Lancashire Road. 

 
 
 
Duncan Mathieson playing fields and adjoining open land, Claremont 
 
12.56 The site comprises playing fields which are currently largely disused due to 

poor ground conditions. It has the potential to contribute to the range of 
recreation facilities within the area and across the city more generally, but the 
investment necessary is only likely to be forthcoming if there is some enabling 
development on part of the site in the form of houses. Facilitating qualitative 
recreation improvements is considered to justify the loss of a small part of the 
site to built development, but this will be minimised as far as possible. It is 
anticipated that floodlit artificial sports pitches will be required as part of any 
recreation improvements to generate sufficient ongoing revenue to fund the 
long-term management and maintenance of the overall site.   

 

Page 126



116 
 

H9/13 Duncan Mathieson playing fields and adjoining open land, Claremont 
(11.6 hectares) 
 
The site will be comprehensively enhanced for recreation purposes, in order to 
significantly improve its overall recreation value and use. The site will 
incorporate outdoor sports pitches, allotments, car parking and a changing 
pavilion, and the existing scout hut on the site will be retained.  
 

Any floodlighting shall be carefully designed to ensure that there is no 
significant adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding residents in terms of 
light pollution.  
 
Some enabling residential development, in the form of houses, will be 
permitted in order to cross-fund the enhancement of the rest of the site for 
recreation purposes. This shall be the minimum necessary to fund the 
recreation improvement of the site, not exceeding 50 dwellings. 
 
Any built development on the site shall:  
 
1) Retain and enhance the existing hedgerows around the edges of the 

site;  
2) Incorporate sustainable drainage features to mitigate the surface water 

flood risk affecting the eastern part of the site in accordance with policy 
WA6; 

3) Be informed by an assessment of potential fluvial flood risk, and provide 
an eight metre buffer to the main river located to the south west of site 
and maintain access through the site to reach the river; and 

4) Take the primary vehicular access via Odessa Avenue/Orme Avenue; 
 
 
 
Housing for older people 
 
12.57 Ensuring that all age groups have access to suitable housing is an important 

aspect of delivering a fairer and more inclusive Salford. The latest projections 
produced by the Office for National Statistics indicate that around 42% of the 
population increase in Salford over the period 2018-2037 will be people aged 
65 or over, equating to 14,000 people overall36. Similarly, the number of 
households in Salford in which the household head is aged 65 or over is 
forecast to increase by 39% over the period 2018-203737. 

 
12.58 This increase in older people and households in Salford is to be welcomed, 

but it is likely to present some challenges including in terms of ensuring that 
appropriate housing is available to meet everyone’s needs. The relationship 
between housing quality and health is especially important for older people, 
and so providing suitable accommodation for them has much wider benefits. 

 

                                                           
36 Office for National Statistics (May 2018) 2016-based sub-national population projections 
37 Office for National Statistics (September 2018) 2016-based household projections 

Page 127



117 
 

12.59 A key principle in meeting the housing needs of older people will be to 
maximise their ability to live independently for as long as they are able and 
wish to do so. It will also be vital that they feel empowered to make choices 
regarding their accommodation and housing-related services. 

 
12.60 Although the majority of older people will live in mainstream housing, it is 

likely that new specialist accommodation such as sheltered and extra-care 
housing will be required during the Local Plan period, and such provision can 
help people to downsize and free up family houses for others. The precise 
amount and type of specialist accommodation required will depend on a range 
of factors including the choices of individual people and households. 
Incorporating such provision within larger housing developments will help to 
ensure a good range of housing for older people across the city, in mixed 
communities with good access to local facilities and services. 

 
12.61 As well as considering housing needs, it will also be important to ensure that 

the requirements of older people are appropriately reflected in development 
more generally, for example in terms of the design of public spaces and the 
type of recreation facilities that are provided. This will help to ensure that all 
areas of the city embody the concept of “lifetime neighbourhoods” as far as 
practicable. 

 
 
 
Policy H10 Housing for older people 

 
A broad range of housing choices will be secured for older people in Salford, 
maximising their ability to live independent lives and retain control over their 
accommodation and services, including through: 
 
A) Requiring all new dwellings to meet the accessible and adaptable 

standards under requirement M4(2) of Schedule 1 to the  Building 
Regulations 2010 for England (see Policy D7), except where it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this is impracticable due to site-specific 
constraints; 

B) Measures that enable people to stay within their existing homes, such as 
physical adaptations and energy efficiency enhancements; and 

C) The improvement of existing, and the development of new, specialist 
accommodation, including sheltered housing, extra care housing, 
nursing homes and residential care homes. 

 
New residential accommodation specifically targeted at older people will be 
supported where it: 
 
1) Is well-integrated with the wider neighbourhood; 
2) Offers easy access to community facilities, local services and public 

transport; 
3) Provides sufficient car parking for both occupiers (dependent on the 

nature of the development) and visitors (see policy A8); 

Page 128



118 
 

4) Is designed to reflect relevant best practice, including the Housing our 
Ageing Population Panel for Innovation (HAPPI) ten key design 
elements38: 
i) Space and flexibility; 
ii) Daylight in the home and in shared spaces; 
iii) Balconies and outdoor space; 
iv) Adaptability and ‘care ready’ design; 
v) Positive use of circulation space; 
vi) Shared facilities and ‘hubs’; 
vii) Plants, trees, and the natural environment; 
viii) Energy efficiency and sustainable design; 
ix) Storage for belongings and bicycles; and 
x) External shared surfaces and ‘home zones’; and 

5) Where appropriate, provides a range tenures. 
 
Given the increased scale of demand, residential developments of over 100 
dwellings shall, where practicable, incorporate housing provision specifically 
targeted at older people. 
 
 
 
Student housing 
 
12.62 The universities within the City Centre, including the University of Salford, are 

essential facilities that contribute to the economic growth and social 
advancement of Greater Manchester. It is therefore important that appropriate 
housing is available to accommodate the students of those universities. Some 
of this accommodation will be open market housing (for example in shared 
houses or in private rented sector apartment schemes), but a large amount is 
likely to be designed specifically for students. 

 
12.63 The provision of significant levels of on-site student accommodation is an 

integral part of the University of Salford’s vision for transforming its main Peel 
Park and Frederick Road campus. It will enhance the liveliness and 
successful functioning of the campus, thereby helping to attract and meet the 
aspirations of students. This will in turn support the university’s role as a key 
economic driver and educational facility. Consequently, this main campus is 
considered to be a priority location for new purpose-built student housing, 
along with that part of Salford Quays in close proximity to the university’s 
MediaCityUK campus where over 1,500 students are currently taught. 

 
12.64 Given the central location of the university campuses, the need to minimise 

car use and the low levels of car ownership amongst students, it is vital that 
any off-campus student accommodation has very easy access to the 
campuses by walking, cycling and public transport. Student housing should 
also positively contribute to the character and quality of places, and avoid 
becoming a dominant feature. Within lower density housing areas there is 

                                                           
38 Homes and Communities Agency et al (December 2009) HAPPI – Housing our Ageing Population: 
Panel for Innovation, p.3 (see also p.38-39 of main document) 

Page 129



119 
 

much greater potential for it to negatively impact on neighbourhood character 
and so large numbers of student units are unlikely to be appropriate. 

 
12.65 The future scale of demand for student accommodation is constantly evolving 

as it is influenced by a broad range of factors, including the overall quantity of 
accommodation, tuition fees, private sector rental levels and graduate 
employment prospects. It is therefore essential that any new off-campus 
student accommodation is designed to be easily converted to other uses if 
demand reduces. Early discussions with the University of Salford and Salford 
City Council on potential demand are encouraged. 
 

12.66 Financial pressures on students have increased significantly in recent years. 
The Institute for Fiscal Studies has estimated that on graduation from a three-
year course the average student debt nationally will be £50,000, with the 
figure increasing to £57,000 for students from the poorest backgrounds39. As 
a result, in order to promote equality of access to university education in 
accordance with the fairness theme at the heart of the Local Plan, it is 
appropriate to seek the provision of affordable housing in new purpose-built 
student accommodation, using a similar approach to that specified for build to 
rent developments in Policy H8. 

 

 

Policy H11 Student housing 

 
New student housing in Salford shall be concentrated in the following 
locations: 
 
A) Within and immediately adjacent to the University of Salford campus at 

Peel Park/Frederick Road 
B) In close proximity to the University of Salford campus at Salford Quays, 

whilst ensuring that it does not detract from the important business, 
tourism, leisure and residential functions of the area 

 
The limited provision of student housing elsewhere will be permitted where: 
 
1) It is of a modest scale, not exceeding 100 individual bedrooms/studios; 
2) It is located within easy walking distance of either the Peel Park/ 

Frederick Road or Salford Quays campuses of the University of Salford, 
or is very close to a public transport stop that has frequent and direct 
services with short journey times to either campus; 

3) It would be well-served by local shops and other services; 
4) It can be demonstrated that there is likely to be a demand for the 

accommodation from students, having regard to, amongst other things: 
a) Occupancy levels in existing student housing developments;  
b) Schemes for student housing with extant planning permission; 

and 

                                                           
39 Institute for Fiscal Studies (July 2017) Higher Education funding in England: past, present and 
options for the future, https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/9334  

Page 130

https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/9334


120 
 

c) Any proposals for additional student accommodation within and 
immediately adjacent to the University of Salford campus at Peel 
Park/ Frederick Road, or in close proximity to the University of 
Salford Campus at Salford Quays; 

5) It can be demonstrated that the accommodation could easily be 
converted into mainstream housing through post-completion adaptation 
compliant with other planning policies, in the event that there is 
insufficient long-term demand for continued use as student housing; 

6) It would not have an unacceptable impact, either individually or 
cumulatively, on the character of the area or the amenity of existing 
occupiers; and 

7) In the case of mixed-use developments, it would be located within 
separate buildings from other residential uses. 

 
New purpose built student housing schemes on sites of 10 or more 
bedrooms/studios, or having an area of 0.5 hectares or more irrespective of 
the number of bedrooms/studios, shall provide a minimum of 20% of the 
bedrooms/studios in the form of affordable private rent in accordance with the 
approach set out in Policy H8 (Build to rent). The affordable bedrooms/studios 
shall be allocated through a nominations process agreed with Salford City 
Council and the University of Salford. 
 
 
 
Travelling people 
 
12.67 The scale, distribution and type of housing discussed earlier in this chapter 

relate to the provision of built accommodation, but it is equally important to 
delivering a fairer and more inclusive city that appropriate sites are available 
for travelling people. Salford is already well-served with sites for travelling 
people, with one site for gypsies and travellers at Duchy Road providing 25 
pitches, and three sites for travelling showpeople at Lower Broughton, Duchy 
Road and Little Hulton collectively providing 87 plots. 
 

12.68 The latest assessment40 identifies a need in Salford for between 11 and 26 
new additional permanent pitches for gypsies and travellers, and a total need 
for a further 59 transit pitches across the whole of Greater Manchester, over 
the period 2017-2036. This Local Plan allocates one site at Duchy Road for 
gypsy and traveller use, forming a natural extension to the existing site on 
Duchy Road, which is capable of accommodating around 35 pitches and 
hence can meet the need for both permanent and transit pitches in Salford 
beyond the end of the plan period. 
 

12.69 The latest assessment also identifies a need for 68 additional travelling 
showpeople plots over the period 2017-2036 in Salford. The existing 
‘Fairways’ site for travelling showpeople at Clarence Street in Lower 
Broughton, which is the largest in the city providing around 43 plots, is subject 

                                                           
40 ARC4 (May 2018) Greater Manchester Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson 
Accommodation Assessment: final report 

Page 131



121 
 

to a greater than 1 in 100 year risk of flooding. Given the potential implications 
for health and safety, the relocation of this site is considered to be an 
important priority and the city council will work with the existing occupiers to 
identify appropriate alternative provision. Given the combination of storage, 
maintenance and residential uses, existing employment areas are likely to be 
the primary source of new travelling showpeople sites, as allowed for under 
policy EC6. 

 
 
Policy H12 Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople  

 
Land off Duchy Road, Irwell Riverside (allocation H12/1) is allocated for gypsy 
and traveller use, providing around 35 pitches. The priority will be to address 
the need for permanent pitches, but the site is also capable of accommodating 
transit pitches as part of a Greater Manchester network of transit sites. 
 
68 additional plots for travelling showpeople will be provided in Salford. In 
addition, the relocation of the current Fairways travelling showpeople site in 
Lower Broughton, which accommodates around 43 plots, will be facilitated 
due to it being at risk of flooding. Work is ongoing to identify a site or sites to 
meet the identified need.  
 
New sites to meet the needs of gypsies and travellers and travelling 
showpeople will be supported where they: 
 
1) Have a lower than 1 in 100 year risk of flooding; 
2) Have good access to local facilities and services; 
3) Are designed and laid out in accordance with best practice, including 

making adequate provision for the parking, servicing and turning of 
vehicles; 

4) Are properly serviced with the necessary utilities infrastructure; 
5) In the case of sites for travelling showpeople and transit sites for 

gypsies and travellers, are easily accessible from the strategic highway 
network; and 

6) In the case of sites for travelling showpeople, make adequate provision 
for storage and other business needs whilst ensuring that the amenity of 
residents both on the site and in the surrounding area is protected. 

 
 
 

Page 132



Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
Town centres

Gypsy and traveller sites
Existing gypsies and travellers site
Proposed extension to the gypsies and travellers site
Existing travelling showpeople sites
Travelling showpeople site to be relocated
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 11 - Existing and proposed gypsy and traveller sites

M60

M602

M61

M60

A580

P
age 133



 

123 
 

Self-build and custom housebuilding 
 
12.70 Self-build and custom housebuilding can play a role in increasing housing 

supply and housing choice, as part of a wider package of measures to secure 
greater diversity in the housing market, as well as helping to deliver the 
homes people want. Self-build is where an individual (or an association of 
individuals) purchases land and builds their own house on a single plot. The 
individual or association of individuals may build the house themselves or 
employ a builder, architect and, if necessary, a project manager to oversee 
the build. Custom housebuilding is similar to self-build but facilitated in some 
way by a developer. This still offers the chance to have a unique home, but 
through a more hands-off approach than a traditional self-build. Custom build 
can mean a single one-off home commissioned by an individual and built by a 
developer, through to a group of homes, built by a developer, but with 
considerable bespoke design for the individual. 

 
12.71 Local authorities are required to hold a register of individuals and associations 

of individuals who express an interest in acquiring a serviced plot of land in 
the authority’s area, and to give planning permission for enough serviced plots 
to meet that demand. As of October 2018 there were 24 individuals on the 
council’s register, but the scale of interest in some other parts of the country 
suggests that this demand could increase significantly. By ensuring availability 
of custom build plots, the following policy will help local residents to develop 
their own lower cost market housing, supporting the local economy by 
providing work for local builders and tradesmen, increasing the diversity of 
housing supply, and encouraging sustainable construction methods. 

 
 
Policy H13 Self-build and custom housebuilding 

 
To ensure that a supply of suitable opportunities are available for prospective 
self-build and custom housebuilders, all developments of 100 or more houses 
will be required to provide at least 5% of the total house plots in the form of 
serviced plots for sale to self-build and custom housebuilders.  
 
Where plots remain unsold after having been made available in serviced form 
at a realistic price and marketed appropriately for at least 24 months, then the 
plots may be utilised by other housing providers. 
  
The nationally described space standards as required by policy H5 shall apply 
to self-build and custom housebuilding developments. 
 
The definition of a serviced plot of land is set out in national planning practice 
guidance. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



124 
 

Conversions and non-self-contained residential units 
 
12.72 Around three-quarters of new dwellings in Salford over the period 2018-37 will 

be in the form of apartments, and it will be important to ensure that the supply 
of existing houses is protected and maintained as far as possible so as to 
ensure that there is a good mix of housing opportunities across the city. The 
supply of new apartments will mean that there should be little need for 
existing houses to be converted into apartments, except where this is required 
to meet an unmet need in a particular local area. 

 
12.73 There are a number of specialist residential uses that are essential to a 

successful society and sustainable communities, such as nursing homes, 
children’s homes and hostels. Finding appropriate and cost-effective 
accommodation that helps to integrate the occupants into the local community 
can be difficult, and the conversion of houses that are currently being used as 
single dwellings may sometimes provide the best opportunity. 

 
12.74 It is important that conversions to such uses, and to more commercial uses 

such as offices and hotels, are carefully controlled so that they do not 
compromise the attractiveness of the wider neighbourhood as a residential 
location or the amenity of individual dwellings. Some uses can be quite 
transitory in nature, having a relatively rapid turnover of occupants, and 
consequently a high concentration of them can adversely affect the stability of 
a neighbourhood. Some uses can also increase the pressures on their 
surroundings and local infrastructure (such as electrical circuits and waste 
water systems), due to an increase in the number, or a change in the type, of 
occupants. It is beneficial if uses such as hostels, care homes and children’s 
homes can be spread across the whole city so that they are easily accessible 
for all communities, rather than being concentrated in a small number of 
locations. 

 
12.75 It is important to note that some of the uses covered by the following policy 

may not always require planning permission for conversion from a house 
currently being used as a single dwelling, because they may be subject to 
permitted development rights or the proposed use may be judged not to be 
materially different from the existing use. It will not be possible to apply this 
policy in such situations. 

 
 
Policy H14 Conversion of existing houses, and new build residential 

developments of non-self-contained units 

 
The conversion of existing houses into any of the following uses will be 
carefully controlled to ensure that a good supply of houses is maintained 
within Salford and the positive character of neighbourhoods is protected: 
 
A) Apartments 
B) Student housing 
C) Houses in multiple occupation 

Page 135



125 
 

D) Hotels and guest houses 
E) Residential institutions 
F) Hostels, children’s homes and similar uses 
G) Non-residential uses such as offices 
 
Conversions to any of the above uses will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that the proposal would not, either individually or cumulatively 
with other completed developments and schemes with planning permission or 
prior approval: 
 
1) Have an unacceptable impact on the positive residential character of the 

surrounding neighbourhood, having particular regard to potential 
increases in: 
a) Noise and disturbance; 
b) On-street car parking; 
c) Waste management; and 
d) Population turnover levels that could reduce community stability;  

2)  Result in the infrastructure capacity of the site or local area being 
exceeded; and 

3) Result in any house that is in use as a single dwelling being immediately 
adjacent to more than one property in any of the above uses 
(immediately adjacent properties include properties directly behind and 
opposite, as well as to either side). 

 
New build developments in categories C-G will be judged by the same criteria. 
 
Some changes of use may constitute development but not require planning 
permission because of permitted development rights set at the national level. 
If there is evidence that such changes of use are having a significant negative 
impact on the character of residential neighbourhoods then the city council 
will introduce an Article 4 Direction covering part, or all, of Salford to remove 
the relevant permitted development rights. 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
12.76 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Net additional dwellings An average of at 

least 1,720 

dwellings per 

annum throughout 

the plan period 

Net additional dwellings by sub-area See Policy H3 

Page 136



126 
 

Indicator Target 

Supply of suitable, available and achievable 

sites for housing 

A supply of 

specific deliverable 

sites to provide a 

minimum of five-

years’ worth of 

housing at all 

times 

Proportion of dwellings on new previously-

developed land 

At least 80% 

Supply of affordable homes A significant 

increase 

Suitable mix of types of new dwellings Approximately 

26% houses and 

74% apartments 

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of dwellings that are vacant Maintain a 

vacancy rate 

below 3% 

Supply of plots for self-build and custom 

housebuilding  

Grant sufficient 

planning 

permissions to 

match demand on 

the self-build and 

custom 

housebuilding 

register 

 

 
 
 
  

Page 137



127 
 

CHAPTER 13       TOWN CENTRES AND RETAIL DEVELOPMENT  
 

 
13.1 Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an important role in meeting 

the varied needs of people of all ages, through the provision of a range of 
shops, services, community, leisure and employment opportunities, and public 
transport options. The centres are an important contributor to local identity, 
acting as a focal point for surrounding communities. 

 
13.2 Salford is near some of the region’s largest centres for retail and leisure uses, 

including the primary shopping area of the City Centre in Manchester, Bolton 
town centre, and the Trafford Centre. The City Centre and the Trafford Centre 
in particular account for a major proportion of Salford’s comparison goods 
expenditure and this is unlikely to change significantly during the Local Plan 
period. It will be important to ensure that Salford residents can continue to 
take full advantage of the broad range of high quality shopping and leisure 
opportunities just outside the city, and improved public transport access will 
be a key aspect of this. 
 

13.3 The proximity of these major facilities outside Salford results in the town and 
local centres in the city generally functioning at a more local level, playing a 
vital role in meeting the everyday needs of residents. The exception to this is 
Salford Quays, which is unique compared to other town centres in terms of its 
role, the substantial development opportunities that it offers, and its physical 
nature and layout. It has well established tourism, employment, retail, leisure 
and residential functions, but currently has a more limited role in meeting the 
day-to-day needs of residents for shops and services.  
 

13.4 Maintaining the vitality and viability of centres will be an ongoing challenge as 
shopping patterns and service delivery models change, especially with the 
growth of online retailing. Careful management of centres will be required in 
order to ensure their long-term success, with a clear focus on sustaining and 
creating vibrant destinations where activity can continue into the evening, with 
the retention of a robust retail presence complemented by a varied mix of 
uses including a strong leisure and community offer, whilst capitalising on 
individual identify and key assets including heritage and any tourism 
opportunities, all set with an enhanced environment. Any comprehensive 
redevelopment of centres should be guided by a masterplan endorsed by the 
city council. Increasing the number of people living within and around the 
centres will help to generate the footfall necessary to support a good range of 
shops and services, but it will be important that residential uses do not 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Ensuring that all communities have access to a good range of shops and 
services within attractive town and local centres 

 Avoiding the inappropriate overconcentration of food and drink uses that 
could detract from quality of life 

 

Page 138



128 
 

displace the essential retail, leisure, employment and community functions of 
the city’s designated centres. 

 
13.5 As well as identifying the boundaries of the centres themselves, this plan also 

defines primary shopping areas, primary frontages and secondary frontages 
for the town centres. The primary shopping area is the part of the centre 
where retail development is concentrated. Primary frontages are likely to 
include a high proportion of retail uses, such as shops selling groceries, 
clothing and household goods. Secondary frontages provide greater 
opportunities for a diversity of uses such as restaurants, cinemas and 
businesses. None of the city’s local centres are considered to be of a 
sufficient scale to make a distinction between primary and secondary 
frontages meaningful. 

 
 
Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres 

 
The following network of centres within Salford, as identified on the Policies 
Map, will be protected and enhanced: 
 
City centre 
 

1) City Centre (located in both Manchester and Salford) in 
accordance with policy AP1 

 
The primary shopping area in Manchester will continue to provide the 
main focus for retail activity within the City Centre. Within City Centre 
Salford there will be a considerable increase in retail floorspace, leisure 
uses and community facilities, in order to support the growing 
residential, business and visitor population. These facilities will be 
focused on prominent frontages, busy intersections with high footfall, 
and where they can add vibrancy and best meet the needs of the 
neighbourhood. 
 

Main town centre 
 

2) Salford Quays     
 

There will be a major expansion of the business, housing and tourism 
role of Salford Quays. There will also be a significant increase in the 
retail floorspace, leisure uses and community facilities in this part of the 
city to meet the needs of a rapidly growing population. The expansion of 
retailing will be managed to ensure that it does not have a significant 
adverse impact on the vitality and viability of other designated centres. 

  
Town centres (listed in no priority order) 
 

3) Cheetham Hill (predominantly in Manchester) 
4) Eccles 

Page 139



129 
 

5) Pendleton 
6) Swinton 
7) Walkden 

 
The network of the city’s town centres will meet the majority of the 
everyday needs of Salford’s residents for shops and other facilities. A 
coordinated approach will be taken to the improvement of each town 
centre, with an emphasis on taking advantage of the unique character of 
the centre and delivering a diverse range of uses that supports its 
vitality and viability. High density housing will be encouraged above 
active ground floor uses within town centres. 

 
Local centres (listed in no priority order)  
 

Within Central Salford  
8) Broughton Village 
9) Charlestown 
10) Hope 
11) Irlams o’ th’ Height 
12) Langworthy Road 
13) Leicester Road 
14) Mocha Parade 
15) Ordsall 
16) Regent Road 

 
Within West Salford: 
17) Bolton Road, Pendlebury  
18) Boothstown 
19) Cadishead 
20) Clovelly Road, Worsley 
21) Ellenbrook 
22) Higher Irlam 
23) Lower Irlam 
24) Little Hulton 
25) Monton 
26) Patricroft 
27) Peel Green 

 
The network of local centres will have an important role in providing 
local shops, services and community facilities for the surrounding 
neighbourhoods. There will be an emphasis on maintaining a strong 
convenience goods retail function in each centre, so they can continue 
to provide sustainable top-up shopping facilities and minimise the need 
for residents to travel further, complemented by a range of other town 
centre uses. This will be achieved through the careful management of 
changes of use within the centres. 

 
Primary shopping areas and frontages 
Annex B defines primary shopping areas together with primary and secondary 
frontages for each of the city’s town centres. Neither primary nor secondary 

Page 140



130 
 

frontages are identified for local centres, with the entirety of such centres 
being defined as the primary shopping area. 
 
 
 
Development involving main town centre uses 
 
13.6 Locating retail and other community and leisure facilities within the City 

Centre, town centres and local centres is considered to be the most 
sustainable way of meeting the needs of Salford’s residents. It helps to 
maximise the accessibility of facilities for more people and promotes linked 
trips, which in turn reduces the need to travel and can increase footfall and 
hence improve trading conditions within centres. Scattering facilities across a 
wider area would be likely to adversely affect the vitality and viability of the 
centres, leading to their gradual decline and reducing their ability to attract 
new retail floorspace to the city and serve the needs of residents. 

 
13.7 It is therefore essential that as much of the new retail floorspace and as many 

other facilities as possible are located within Salford’s centres, in accordance 
with the sequential approach set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. Although significant population growth is being planned for, the 
scale and extent of the various centres designated in policy TC1 is considered 
sufficient to accommodate the vast majority of retail and other facilities that 
will be required. Retail uses will be focused within the primary shopping areas 
of the centres so as to maximise their vibrancy. The scale of additional 
retailing required in Salford Quays to support the growth in the area’s 
residential, business and tourism populations may require an extension to its 
existing primary shopping area, and concentrating most leisure and food/drink 
uses within this core location will provide a strong focus for the area. Any 
significant out-of-centre retail floorspace in Salford beyond current 
commitments, other than where specifically referred to elsewhere in the Local 
Plan, is considered unnecessary and would be likely to reduce the success of 
some of the city’s centres. 

 
13.8 Planning applications for main town centre uses need to be accompanied by 

an appropriate level of information so as to enable the city council to 
determine whether their impact on existing centres would be acceptable. 

 
 
Policy TC2 Development involving main town centre uses 

 
Sequential approach 
 
Main town centre uses41 shall be located in accordance with the following 
sequential approach (highest priority first) and the table below: 
 
A) Within designated centres (‘in centre’) 

                                                           
41 Main town centre uses are defined in the Annex to the National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 141



131 
 

B) In locations on the edge of designated centres (‘edge of centre’) 
C) Accessible sites which are well connected to a designated centre 
D) Other locations that are accessible by walking, cycling and public 

transport 
 
The table below defines ‘in centre’ and ‘edge of centre’ for the designated 
centres in Salford that are identified in policy TC1. For some centres, the table 
sets out a more detailed sequential approach that retail uses in use class A1 
must follow (highest priority first), subdividing ‘in centre’ and/or ‘edge of 
centre’ locations, in order to support the successful functioning of those 
centres. 
 
Proposals for A1 retail uses within City Centre Salford will only be required to 
consider ‘in centre’ locations in preference where the proposals would: 
 
i) Be likely to have a significant adverse impact on the primary shopping 

area of the City Centre or on any other designated centre; or 
ii) Not provide an appropriate mix of uses for the purposes of policy AP1. 
 

Centre type  

Sequential approach by use and type of centre 

(highest priority first for each centre and use) 

A1 retail uses Other main town centre uses 

City Centre 

Salford 

Edge of centre 

1) Within the City Centre 
Salford boundary42 

In centre 

1) Within the City Centre 
Salford boundary 

 

Edge of centre 

2) Within 300 metres of the 
City Centre Salford 
boundary 

                                                           
42 The primary shopping area of the City Centre is located wholly within Manchester. 

Page 142



132 
 

Centre type  

Sequential approach by use and type of centre 

(highest priority first for each centre and use) 

A1 retail uses Other main town centre uses 

Main town 

centre 

(Salford 

Quays) 

In centre 

1) Within the Salford Quays 
primary shopping area 

2) Within the potential 
extension to the Salford 
Quays primary shopping 
area 

 

Edge of centre 

3) Elsewhere within the 
Salford Quays boundary 

4) Outside the Salford Quays 
boundary but within 300 
metres of the Salford 
Quays primary shopping 
area or its potential 
expansion area 

Leisure and food and drink 

uses shall follow the same 

approach as for A1 retail 

 

Other main town centre uses: 

 

In centre 

1) Within the Salford Quays 
boundary 

 

Edge of centre 

2) Within 300 metres of the 
Salford Quays boundary 

Town 

centres 

In centre 

1) Within the primary 
shopping area of the town 
centre 

 

Edge of centre 

2) Elsewhere within the town 
centre boundary 

3) Outside the town centre 
boundary, but within 300 
metres of the primary 
shopping area of the town 
centre 

In centre 

1) Within the town centre 
boundary 

 

Edge of centre 

2) Within 300 metres of the 
town centre boundary 

Page 143



133 
 

Centre type  

Sequential approach by use and type of centre 

(highest priority first for each centre and use) 

A1 retail uses Other main town centre uses 

Local  

centres 

In centre 

1) Within the local centre 
boundary 

 

Edge of centre 

2) Within 300 metres of the 
local centre boundary 

In centre 

1) Within the local centre 
boundary 

 

Edge of centre 

2) Within 300 metres of the 
local centre boundary 

 
Impact assessment 
An impact assessment will be required for any development proposal outside 
a designated centre identified in policy TC1 that would involve: 
 
A) An increase of more than 500m2 (gross) of retail floorspace; or 
B) An increase of between 250m2 and 500m2 (gross) of retail floorspace, or 

an increase of more than 500m2 (gross) of other main town centre use 
floorspace excluding offices, where any of the following raise concerns 
in relation to an existing centre: 
i) The scale of the proposal relative to the size of the units in the 

centre; 
ii) The health and vulnerability of the centre; 
iii) The nature of the proposal and its potential to compete with 

similar uses in the centre; 
iv) The potential cumulative effects of recent developments; or 
v) The likely effects of the proposed development on the 

implementation of a relevant council strategy or any planned 
investment in the centre. 

 
These thresholds apply to new floorspace, extensions to existing floorspace, 
changes of use and applications seeking variations to conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
Managing changes within centres 
 
13.9 Successful town and local centres are underpinned by a strong retail function 

both in terms of convenience and comparison goods, and this role should be 
protected and retained. This is important in meeting the day-to-day needs of 
residents. Centres must also have an appropriate mix of leisure, community, 
cultural and service provision, and this will be increasingly important for 

Page 144



134 
 

ensuring that they can generate the footfall necessary to remain attractive in 
the face of the growth in online shopping. 

 
13.10 As a result, it is vital that changes of use and redevelopments within 

designated centres are carefully controlled, so as to support the long-term 
success of the centres and their ability to meet local needs. In this context, it 
is recognised that Salford’s town and local centres vary in scale, function and 
composition of uses, and this needs to be taken into account in the 
determination of individual proposals. 

 
 
Policy TC3 Retail frontages, changes of use and redevelopments within 

designated centres 

 
The role of Salford’s centres in meeting a wide range of local needs will be 
protected and enhanced. A strong retail function will be retained for each 
centre, and the primary shopping areas of the town centres will have a 
particularly important role in this regard. Retail uses will be complemented by 
a broad range of other services and facilities. 
 
Changes of use and redevelopments within designated centres will be 
carefully controlled to ensure that they support, rather than detract from, the 
successful functioning of the centres and their ability to meet local needs. All 
such proposals will be required to: 
 
1) Make a positive contribution to the vitality, viability and diversity of the 

centre; 
2) Not unacceptably impact on daytime footfall; 
3) Maintain a strong role for the centre in providing a varied range of 

convenience goods and meeting other day-to-day needs; 
4) Positively restore and/or enhance the character and appearance of the 

frontage; 
5) Maintain the continuity of active frontages; and 
6) Be of a scale and type of use appropriate to the size and function of the 

centre, or part of the centre concerned. 
 
Within the primary shopping frontages of town centres, proposals that would 
involve the loss of A1 retail units will only be supported where the 
development would: 
 
A) Not be harmful to the overall shopping function of the centre having 

regard to the number and duration of vacancies; 
B) Not result in a concentration of non-retail uses that would be harmful to 

the vitality of the primary shopping frontages; 
C) Extend the offer and range of activities available to shoppers and other 

users so as to enhance the visitor experience of the centre; and 
D) Provide an active frontage and a direct service to visiting members of 

the general public. 
 

Page 145



135 
 

Ground floor residential uses will only be acceptable in designated centres 
where they are in secondary frontages with low levels of footfall, and there is 
no realistic prospect of securing an active use in the unit. The positive use of 
underused and vacant space on upper floors of properties within town or local 
centres, including for housing, will be encouraged.   
 
For the purpose of permitted development rights, the local centres and the 
primary shopping areas of town centres are classified as key shopping areas. 
 
 
 
Food and drink uses 
 
13.11 Bars, restaurants, cafes and similar uses can broaden the daytime attraction 

of a centre, as well as supporting a vibrant evening economy, and they have 
an important role to play in the long-term success of Salford’s designated 
centres. However, the overconcentration of such uses in a centre can create 
significant problems. It will be important to ensure that such development 
cumulatively does not harm the character and function of a centre, undermine 
its vitality and viability, or lead to significant problems of crime, disorder and 
noise that would unacceptably impact on the amenity of those living and 
working in the area. 

 
13.12 Within Monton local centre there has been a marked increase in the number 

of food and drink uses in recent years, and it is considered that a tipping point 
has been reached, whereby further changes of use to food and drink would be 
likely to harm the retail character and function of the centre as well as the 
amenity of neighbouring residents. 

 
 
Policy TC4 Food and drink uses within designated centres 

 
The sustainable growth of the daytime and evening leisure-based economy 
within Salford’s designated centres will be encouraged. Individual proposals 
for A3, A4 and A5 uses will be supported where:  
 
1) There would be no likely unacceptable impact, either individually or 

cumulatively, on the amenity and character of the surrounding area, 
particularly due to noise, litter, odour, traffic generation, parking or 
disorder/nuisance; and 

2) In the case of Monton local centre, it can be clearly demonstrated 
through extensive marketing for a period of at least 12 months that there 
is a lack of demand for reoccupation by: 
a) Active main town centre uses other than A3, A4 or A5 uses; or  
b) Community facilities.  

 
 
 
 

Page 146



136 
 

Monitoring  
 
13.13 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Proportion and amount of new retail 

floorspace (gross) granted consent and 

delivered within designated centres 

No target  

 

Vacancy levels in each designated centre  Decrease  

(2018-2037) 

Changes in % of floorspace occupied by the 

following uses in each centre:  

 A1 comparison 

 A1 convenience  

 A1 service  

 A2 financial and professional services  

 A3/4/5 food and drink uses  

 Other uses 
 

Maintain or 

increase 

proportion of A1 

retail in all centres 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 147



137 
 

CHAPTER 14         A LEARNING CITY 

 

 
14.1 Learning is transformative. It opens up new opportunities for people, not just 

in terms of jobs but also the ability to pursue interests and make new 
connections. It empowers people to make more active choices and protect 
their rights, as well as to adapt to changes in society and in their environment. 
The act of learning itself can make us more positive and reduce social 
isolation, and the results can improve health and wellbeing. Learning will be 
key to the move towards a more sustainable city, tackling deprivation, 
supporting economic growth and delivering social value. 
 

14.2 In this context, delivering a learning city needs to be all-embracing. Academic 
learning will be a central component, but the concept extends beyond formal 
education to include learning opportunities throughout our lives, from early 
years learning to apprenticeships and work-related training, and through to 
increased participation of older people.  
 

14.3 Whilst there have been some considerable improvements in educational 
performance in recent years, Salford remains below the national average for 
key indicators and there are also large disparities in educational attainment 
across the city. Improving educational performance will depend on a very 
wide range of factors, many of which are outside the influence of planning, but 
the continuing enhancement of education facilities will have an important role 
to play. 

 
 
Policy ED1 A learning city 

 
Salford will be developed as a learning city, including by: 
 
1) Seeking to integrate learning opportunities in all aspects of 

development, such as enabling people to understand better their natural 
environment and local history 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Maximising the ability of all residents to acquire knowledge and skills 
throughout their lives, thereby enabling them to take advantage of the 
varied social and economic opportunities available 

 Enabling all children to have a good start in life through the provision of 
appropriate early years facilities 

 Ensuring appropriate provision of school places throughout the city, so 
that all children can enjoy a high quality education 

 Delivering opportunities for adult learning, including through 
apprenticeships and work-related training 

 Maximising the benefits of the University of Salford for the city 
 

Page 148



138 
 

2) Enabling an appropriate supply of local early years provision such as 
nurseries 

3) Ensuring that additional school places are provided to meet growing 
demand, supported by financial contributions from new residential 
developments 

4) Facilitating the continued enhancement of the University of Salford and 
Salford City College, and capturing the benefits of their research 

5) Supporting the development of new training facilities, including within 
existing employment areas, and the provision of apprenticeships 

6) Encouraging developers to sign up to the City Mayor’s Employment 
Charter, including committing to creating training opportunities for 
Salford people and particularly for the long-term unemployed, young 
people not in education, work or training, looked after children, and lone 
parents 

7) Promoting artistic and cultural activity, enabling the expression of ideas 
8) Providing high quality new homes that can help to attract and retain 

skilled workers 
9) Promoting the integration of ‘smart city’ technology within buildings and 

spaces, to facilitate the more efficient and effective management of the 
built environment for the benefit of residents and businesses 

 
 
 
Schools and further education 
 
14.4 The demand for school places in an area can change quite rapidly, not just 

because of the impacts of new housing, but also due to changes in the birth 
rate and the type of households migrating into and out of the city. Over recent 
years, Salford has experienced a very significant increase in the requirement 
for primary school places, and this is now starting to cascade through to the 
secondary sector. The scale of new housing development that Salford is 
planning for over the plan period will create an additional requirement for pupil 
places over and above this, and taken together will require significant further 
expansion across both the primary and secondary sectors. This is likely to 
involve both the extension of existing schools and the provision of new 
buildings, responding to changing patterns of demand and the Government’s 
commitment to widening educational choice. 
 

14.5 It is not appropriate for the Local Plan to seek to plan for school provision in 
detail, as any proposals are likely to date very quickly. The focus is therefore 
on enabling the continued improvement of school facilities, managing the 
impacts of such development, and securing appropriate developer 
contributions to the provision of additional school places. 
 

14.6 Delivering improvements in education facilities is likely to require a reasonably 
flexible approach given the availability of sites and the competing demands for 
land resources in Salford. Nevertheless, it will be important to ensure that 
schools and further education facilities function effectively in the long-term, 
and do not suffer from locational or design failings that significantly constrain 
their ability to deliver improved learning outcomes. It will also be important to 

Page 149



139 
 

ensure that education facilities are welcomed by the surrounding communities 
rather than having a significant negative impact on them, for example by 
enabling facilities to be used as a community resource and addressing 
concerns about transportation issues such as car parking. 
 

 
Policy ED2 Schools and further education facilities 

 
Improvements in the quality and accessibility of schools and further education 
facilities will be supported. 
 
New schools and further education facilities shall: 
 
1) Be highly accessible to their intended catchments, particularly by 

walking, cycling and public transport; 
2) Be located, designed and managed to minimise the impacts of 

associated traffic and car parking on the surrounding area; 
3) Provide high quality indoor and outdoor facilities suitable for the 

intended number and age range of students; and 
4) Wherever practicable and appropriate, provide for the community use of 

playing fields and other school facilities. 
 
A flexible approach will be taken to the reuse and redevelopment of redundant 
school and further education sites, particularly where this would support the 
provision or improvement of education facilities elsewhere in the city. Such 
sites may be protected for educational use where this is necessary to secure 
an appropriate scale and distribution of education facilities to meet future 
needs. 
 
 
 
Residential development and school places 
 
14.7 It will be vital to the sustainability of local neighbourhoods that new housing 

developments support the delivery of the additional school places for which 
they generate the demand, otherwise there may be problems of school 
overcrowding and students may need to travel long distances to school. The 
preferred approach is usually to expand schools on their existing sites, but 
this is likely to be increasingly difficult as many buildings have already seen 
recent extensions. Consequently, some developments will need to incorporate 
additional school provision within their sites, and this is a requirement of two 
of the larger housing site allocations in this plan (H9/2 Castle Irwell and H9/4 
Brackley golf course). 

 
 
Policy ED3 Residential development and school places 

Where a residential development would contribute to a projected shortfall in 
school places, it shall enable an increase in school places proportionate to the 

Page 150



140 
 

number of pupils that it is likely to accommodate. This will typically involve 
making a financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school or 
additional school provision.  
 
Where additional school provision is required as a result of a new 
development, either individually or cumulatively, and the city council does not 
have control over a suitable and available site that would be very accessible to 
the development, then land should be set aside for such provision within the 
development. If this is not possible, then development will not be permitted 
until an appropriate supply of school places can be guaranteed in the local 
area. 
 
In all cases, development shall be phased so that the school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity. 
 
 
 
University of Salford 
 
14.8 Universities have a key role to play in supporting a learning city and economic 

growth, not just in terms of increasing the number of people with high level 
qualifications but also through their research activities, links to the business 
community and the creation of spin-off companies. The University of Salford 
currently has around 19,000 students, with a strong reputation for delivering 
high quality teaching, undertaking world-class research, and facilitating 
business enterprise. The university is a hugely important institution for the 
city, and one of its largest employers, making a significant contribution to the 
local economy. It forms part of a much larger concentration of student and 
academic activity at the heart of Greater Manchester, with the University of 
Manchester and Manchester Metropolitan University only a short distance 
away. 
 

14.9 The University of Salford is particularly well-located to take advantage of, and 
support, the economic growth opportunities in the city, with its main Peel Park 
and Frederick Road campus located at the western end of the City Centre, 
and its MediaCityUK campus at the heart of the concentration of media and 
digital industries in Salford Quays. There are numerous opportunities within 
the employment areas around these campuses to significantly increase the 
scale of business activity associated with the university, including at Salford 
Innovation Park (allocation EC5/2). 
 

14.10 The University of Salford is delivering a transformational programme to 
enhance its facilities, particularly within the Peel Park and Frederick Road 
Campus, which will enable it to compete successfully for students and offer 
the best possible learning environment. It will be important to carefully 
manage improvements so that their benefits for Salford are maximised and 
any adverse impacts on surrounding areas are minimised. The use of a clear 
development strategy, produced by the university in consultation with key 
stakeholders, will help to ensure that activity is properly coordinated. 
Enhancing the accessibility of the university campuses, including movements 

Page 151



141 
 

between them, and managing traffic impacts will be a central component of 
this. Policy H11 seeks to ensure that an appropriate scale and quality of 
student accommodation is available within and close to the campuses. 

 
 
Policy ED4   University of Salford 

 
The continued enhancement of the facilities and campuses of the University of 
Salford will be supported. 
 
Development proposals for the university shall: 
 
1) Form part of a comprehensive development strategy that will ensure 

that the continued evolution of the university estate is properly 
coordinated and managed;  

2) Support an increase in the proportion of staff, students and visitors who 
access the university, and move between its campuses, by public 
transport, cycling and walking; 

3) Take advantage of opportunities for greening the campus environment; 
and 

4) Seek to promote links between business sectors and the university’s 
skills and research strengths in support of the university’s Industrial 
Collaboration Zone aspirations, with the further enhancement of the 
Salford Innovation Park providing a particular opportunity in this regard. 

 
Development proposals for the Peel Park and Frederick Road campus shall: 
 
5) Significantly enhance the overall attractiveness of the campus to 

students, residents and visitors in terms of the quality of new built 
development, public realm and the overall vibrancy of the area; 

6) Improve the physical and functional integration of the campus with its 
surroundings, through working with partners to improve connectivity 
with the wider City Centre and enhancing key shared access points into 
the campus and other facilities such as Peel Park; 

7) Enhance pedestrian and cycling routes through the campus and 
onwards to surrounding areas; 

8) Minimise the negative impacts of traffic and parking within the campus 
and on the surrounding area, and significantly reduce the amount of 
land used for car parking; and 

9) Contribute towards the development of a Cultural Gateway, focused 
around Salford Museum and Art Gallery and Fire Station Square, with 
the latter being animated by new cultural and food and drink uses. 

 
 
  

Page 152



Peel Park

David Lewis Sports Ground

The Meadow

Salford CentralStation

Salford CrescentStation
Legend

Salford local authority boundary
River Irwell
Rail lines
Rail stations
University of Salford Campus
City Centre Salford
Innovation Park
Improved connectivity

Cultural gateway 

Potential future extension to Metrolink
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 12 - University of Salford

Salford Museum
and Art Gallery

A6 Chapel Street

Metrolink to
Quays

Metrolink to
Victoria

P
age 153



 

143 
 

Monitoring  
 
14.11 The main indicator that will be used to monitor this chapter is: 
 

Indicator Target 

Surplus number of school places in each 

pupil planning area  

5% each year 

(2018-2037) 

 

  

Page 154



144 
 

CHAPTER 15         HEALTH 

 
 
15.1 A healthy population is an essential component of a sustainable Salford. 

Good health not only makes a major contribution to quality of life, but also 
supports a strong economy. Salford currently suffers from very significant 
health inequalities, and average health levels in the city are generally much 
worse than the national average. Male life expectancy at birth for Salford 
residents is 2.5 years less than the UK average, and female life expectancy at 
birth is 2 years less. Healthy life expectancy (HLE) is the average number of 
years a person would expect to live in good health. Males in Salford are 
expected to spend 75.3% of their lives in good health compared to 79.7% for 
the UK overall. Females in Salford are expected to spend 73% of their lives in 
good health compared to 77.1% for the UK overall43. Average life expectancy 
in the city’s most deprived areas is 10.9 years lower for men and 7.6 years 
lower for women than in its least deprived areas44. These significant 
inequalities make it essential that all Salford residents have excellent access 
to high quality health facilities and have the opportunity to adopt healthy 
lifestyles. 
 

15.2 Recent years have seen much greater local control over health services and 
expenditure. In April 2016, Greater Manchester became the first region in the 
country to take control of its combined health and social care budgets. The 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 has given local authorities new 
responsibilities for public health, joining up local health policy with all other 
areas of work. A key aim is to better integrate health and social care services 
including wider community health services. In Salford, the formation of the 
Salford Together Partnership brings together the city council, the NHS Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Salford Royal Foundation Trust, 
Salford Primary Care Together and Greater Manchester West Mental Health 
NHS Foundation Trust, to deliver a clear vision for improved and more 
integrated health care for the people of Salford. The Salford Locality Plan sets 
out the vision for the improvement of wellbeing, health and care outcomes for 
residents in the city: 
 

                                                           
43 Salford City Council (February 2018) Life Expectancy at Birth 2016: Analysis 
44 Public Health England (2018) Salford Health Profile 2018 

 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Helping to tackle health inequalities within the city, and support improved 
health particularly in the most deprived areas 

 Promoting improved access to health facilities 

 Controlling the location of uses that could have an adverse impact on 
health, such as hot food takeaways 

 

Page 155



145 
 

“Salford people will start, live and age well - People in Salford will get the best 
start in life, will go on to have a fulfilling and productive adulthood, will be able 
to manage their health well into their older age and die in a dignified manner 
in a setting of their choosing. People across Salford will experience health on 
a parallel with the current “best” in Greater Manchester (GM), and the gaps 
between communities will be narrower than they have ever been before.”45 
 

15.3 Salford is also a member of the World Health Organisation global network of 
Age Friendly Cities and Communities and as such is committed to creating 
inclusive and accessible urban environments that more effectively meet the 
needs of an ageing population. 

 
15.4 The Local Plan has a significant role to play in delivering the Salford Locality 

Plan vision, an age friendly city and supporting health improvements more 
generally. It is vital that health considerations are integrated into all aspects of 
the plan, and without this it is difficult to see how any development strategy for 
the city could be considered ‘sustainable’. The challenges are likely to 
increase given the forecast increase in the average age of the population. 

 
 
Policy HH1 Supporting better health 

 
Significant improvements in the health of Salford residents, and reductions in 
health inequalities in the city, will be sought, including by: 
 
1) Enabling the improvement of health facilities, ranging from local GP 

surgeries to Salford Royal Hospital 
2) Supporting the provision of social care and wider community health 

services 
3) Promoting healthy lifestyles and increased physical activity by 

improving the city’s green infrastructure network, enhancing the quality 
and accessibility of recreation opportunities, and expanding the network 
of attractive pedestrian and cycling routes 

4) Reducing contributors to poor health and mitigating their risks, such as 
those associated with climate change, poor air quality, flooding, crime 
and hazardous uses 

5) Promoting a stronger local economy, recognising the clear links 
between income and health 

6) Improving and creating better access to education, training and 
employment 

7) Supporting good mental health, such as by helping to reduce 
deprivation, promoting social interaction through the design of high 
quality public spaces and places, improving access to nature and green 
spaces, and providing decent and affordable homes within an attractive 
environment 

8) Supporting healthy eating by increasing opportunities for growing food 
and improving the accessibility of retail facilities selling fresh food 

                                                           
45 NHS Salford CCG (August 2017) Locality Plan for Salford: Start Well. Live Well. Age Well., p.6 

Page 156



146 
 

 
 
 
Development and health 
 
15.5 New development has the potential to support significant improvements in 

human health, but can also have considerable adverse impacts on health if it 
is inappropriately located, designed, constructed and/or operated. Certain 
types of use can cause detrimental cumulative impacts as a result of their 
concentration. It is important that specific consideration is given to the 
potential overall impact of development on health during the planning process, 
with individual proposals seeking to maximise their positive contribution as far 
as practicable, recognising that health requirements and issues can vary 
between different groups of identity and on an individual basis. Health impact 
assessments will be an important tool for this. 

 
 
Policy HH2 Development and health 

 
All development shall support an improvement in public health and a 
reduction in health inequalities, including by: 
 
1) Minimising adverse impacts on health; 
2) Providing a healthy living and working environment; 
3) Supporting healthy lifestyles; 
4) Promoting social and economic inclusion; and 
5) Ensuring good access to a full range of health facilities. 
 
Health impact assessments will be required for development proposals that 
the city council considers would have the potential to have a significant 
adverse impact on health and wellbeing. Health impact assessments shall: 
 
i) Appraise the potential positive and negative impacts on health and 

wellbeing, both on end users and the local population; 
ii) Consider the impacts on different groups, taking into account that some 

groups will be more vulnerable to negative impacts; and 
iii) Set out actions to maximise positive impacts, and minimise and mitigate 

adverse impacts, on health and wellbeing, having regard to the most 
affected groups. 

 
Development that would have an unacceptable impact on health or wellbeing 
will not be permitted. 
 
In particular, the location and concentration of the following types of 
development will be carefully controlled to avoid possible adverse impacts on 
health and wellbeing: 
 
A) Hot food takeaways 
B) Off-licences 

Page 157



147 
 

C) Facilities that encourage smoking 
D) Payday lenders, betting shops and amusement arcades 
 
Where new facilities related to points A-D above can be justified, these shall be 
located away from places that are regularly frequented by younger people 
such as schools and youth facilities. The proximity to other community uses 
where the residents can be vulnerable will also be considered, for example 
refuges and temporary accommodation for the homeless.   
 
 
 
Health and social care facilities 
 
15.6 Health and social care facilities in England have traditionally been 

administered and accessed separately. As a result of people living longer on 
average, an increasing number of residents require both health and social 
care services and current policy is focussed on integrating the two services.  

 
15.7 Recent practice mergers have helped to reduce the relatively high proportion 

of small and sole-practitioner GP practices in the city, and some further 
consolidation may be necessary to deliver service improvements whilst 
ensuring that facilities remain easy for residents to travel to. Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) has identified that whilst a number of 
neighbourhoods are well-served by modern purpose-built health care 
facilities, there are parts of the city where improved facilities are required.  
The vision to transfer all care that does not require hospital facilities to a more 
accessible neighbourhood setting will need to be taken into account in 
improving existing and providing new facilities.   

 
15.8 The scale of additional housing proposed in the Local Plan will increase the 

pressure on existing health facilities. Improving the overall quality and, where 
needed, capacity of Salford’s primary care facilities will therefore be important, 
and this should also help to reduce pressure on hospital facilities. Maximising 
the accessibility of facilities to residents will promote their use and hence 
support better health, and so town and local centres will often be a suitable 
location for them. 

 
 
Policy HH3 Provision of health and social care facilities 

 
Improvements in the quality and accessibility of health and social care 
facilities will be supported. 
 
Where it would help to improve health outcomes whilst maintaining an 
appropriate level of accessibility for local residents, the merging of primary 
health care facilities such as GP practices, and their amalgamation with other 
health and social care facilities, will be supported. 
 

Page 158



148 
 

Primary health care facilities shall be co-located with other public facilities 
where possible, in order to provide a stronger focus of public services for 
local communities and to promote linked trips. 
 
The city council will work with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other 
health care providers to ensure that the capacity of health and social care 
facilities in Salford increases in line with the growing population and its 
changing needs. 
 
Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 shall ensure that 
appropriate provision is made for primary health care facilities. Individual 
developments that would generate a significant additional demand for primary 
health care, including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be 
required to incorporate appropriate primary health care facilities, unless 
satisfactory provision can be made elsewhere within the local area. 
 
Developers should engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group at the 
earliest opportunity in order to determine the health care requirements 
associated with new development.   
 
 
 
Salford Royal Hospital 
 
15.9 Salford Royal Hospital is a large and busy teaching hospital, with around 750 

in-patient beds. It provides a comprehensive range of services to the 
population of Salford, as well as a wider range of specialist services for the 
whole of Greater Manchester and beyond. The hospital is part of the Salford 
Royal NHS Foundation Trust which employs over 7,000 staff and also 
provides community, social and primary care services46. 
 

15.10 A programme of redevelopment has recently been undertaken at Salford 
Royal Hospital to deliver high quality new facilities. There is an ambition to 
move a range of services away from the hospital site and into the community, 
which will support more integrated services locally and enable more specialist 
services catering for a wider population to be based on the hospital site. It is 
likely that further improvements to the hospital will be required, and it is 
essential that these are coordinated so as to ensure that the site functions as 
efficiently and effectively as possible, high design standards are achieved, 
and the impacts on neighbouring communities are minimised particularly in 
terms of traffic generation and car parking. 

 
 
Policy HH4 Salford Royal Hospital 

The role of Salford Royal Hospital as both a local facility for the city’s 
residents and a regional centre of excellence will be further enhanced. 
 
                                                           
46 Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (2018) Annual Report and Accounts  1 April 2017 to 31 March 
2018, p7 and 31 

Page 159



149 
 

Development proposals for the hospital shall: 
 
1) Form part of a comprehensive development strategy that will ensure that 

the continued evolution of the hospital estate is properly coordinated 
and managed; 

2) Support an increase in the proportion of staff, patients and visitors who 
access the hospital by public transport, cycling and walking; and 

3) Minimise the negative impacts of traffic and car parking on the 
surrounding community. 

 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
15.11 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Average life expectancy at birth Increase 

(2018-2037) 

Gap between average life expectancy at birth  

between wards in Salford 

Decrease 

(2018-2037) 

Gap between average life expectancy at birth 

in the worst performing Salford wards and the  

UK average 

Decrease 

(2018-2037) 

 

Excess weight in adults (% of residents 

overweight or obese, based on body mass 

index (BMI)) 

Decrease 

(2018-2037) 

Excess weight in reception and year 6 

children 

Decrease 

(2018-2037) 

Type 2 diabetes prevalence Decrease  

(2018-2037) 

Number of off-licences No target 

Provision of primary health care facilities 

 GPs 

 Pharmacies 

 Dentists 

Increase 

(2018-2037) 

Page 160



150 
 

Indicator Target 

 Opticians 
 

15.12 Health is influenced by all aspects of the Local Plan, therefore indicators in 
other chapters are also relevant to the delivery and monitoring of health 
improvement, particularly those on recreation, housing, education, 
accessibility, employment, energy, water, and pollution and hazards. 

 
  

Page 161



151 
 

CHAPTER 16         ACCESSIBILITY 

 
16.1 Improving accessibility is a central theme of the Local Plan, as it is 

fundamental to fairness. The overall approach is aimed at ensuring that 
people can easily access jobs and services, meet up with friends and family, 
and enjoy their leisure time. It also aims to ensure that businesses have good 
physical access to suppliers, markets and labour, and that visitors can fully 
appreciate the city. There is a focus on maximising the ability of this to happen 
by the most sustainable modes of transport. All of this will be an essential part 
of delivering sustainable development in Salford, supporting economic growth 
and promoting social inclusion whilst minimising environmental impacts. 
 

16.2 Although Salford has good strategic road, rail, water and air infrastructure, 
these networks are already under significant pressure. Some parts of the 
motorway network are amongst the busiest and most congested in the 
country, and parts of the rail network are at capacity at peak times. 
Furthermore, although public transport services are relatively good for many 
areas of the city, other areas are less well-served. When combined with the 
costs of travel, these issues can reduce the ability of all residents to share in 
the benefits of growth. Improving the attractiveness and extent of low-cost 
travel alternatives such as walking and cycling will be important not just for 
maximising social inclusion but also supporting healthier lifestyles. 

 
16.3 The scale of development proposed in Salford’s Local Plan and in adjoining 

local authority areas (particularly Manchester and Trafford) will further 
increase the pressures on the city’s transport networks, as people travel 
through the city to access employment and leisure opportunities. The careful 
location and mix of development, delivered at appropriate densities, can help 
to minimise journey distances and encourage the use of sustainable transport 
modes. The concentration of economic activity within the City Centre and 
Salford Quays will heighten the importance of the main, radial routes into the 
centre of the conurbation, and the ability to interchange easily at key locations 
along these. 

 
16.4 Salford has a relatively settled urban form, and a well-established, fairly 

extensive transport network, and therefore the provision of a major 
transformation in the city’s transport infrastructure is unrealistic both physically 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Improving access for everyone to employment, retail and leisure 
opportunities within and around Salford 

 Providing increased opportunities for walking and cycling, thereby helping 
to support healthier lifestyles and reduce the costs of travel 

 Increasing the proportion of trips that can be made by public transport, to 
increase inclusivity (especially for the 37% of Salford households that do 
not have access to a car) and reduce reliance on the private car 

 Minimising the negative impacts of car use on quality of life 
 

Page 162



152 
 

and financially. The emphasis in the Local Plan is therefore around enhancing 
the existing network and adapting it to meet the changing needs of the city’s 
residents. This will be in part achieved through the successful integration of 
new development and its associated infrastructure, but also through 
supporting measures to improve the efficiency, capacity and sustainability of 
the city’s transport infrastructure, and technology and innovation will have a 
key role to play. The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 204047 sets out 
the long-term vision for how the transport system needs to change across 
Greater Manchester and the key priorities for achieving this. It will be 
supported by the development of more detailed strategies and delivery plans, 
and further proposals in Salford may emerge from this and the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework process. 

 
 
Policy A1 Sustainable transport strategy 

 
Significant improvements will be sought in the ability of people and goods to 
move around and through the city in an efficient, safe and sustainable way.  
 
This will be achieved by: 
 
A) Ensuring that the city’s transport networks are inclusive and accessible 

to all users; 
B) Reducing the overall need to travel by: 

i) Locating a significant amount of new development within the 
existing urban area; 

ii) Maximising development densities, and promoting a mix of uses, 
in sustainable locations, such as the City Centre, the town centres 
and close to public transport interchanges; 

C) Encouraging a modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport 
such as walking, cycling and public transport by:  
i) Ensuring that developments and neighbourhoods are designed to 

encourage walking and cycling; and  
ii) Prioritising access improvements to and within the major 

concentrations of employment and leisure activity, with: 
a) The highest priorities being the City Centre and 

MediaCityUK/Salford Quays; and 
b) Other important priority destinations including Salford’s 

other town centres, Port Salford, the AJ Bell stadium, 
Trafford Park, the Trafford Centre, Manchester Airport, 
Logistics North and Bolton Town Centre; 

D) Promoting the sustainable movement of freight; 
E) Protecting, adapting and enhancing the city’s existing transport 

infrastructure and services; 
F) Designing development and transport infrastructure to promote and 

facilitate sustainable travel choices; 

                                                           
47 Transport for Greater Manchester, Greater Manchester Combined Authority, and Greater 
Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership (February 2017) Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 
2040: A sustainable urban mobility plan for the future 

Page 163



153 
 

G) Phasing new development with the provision of sufficient transport 
infrastructure and services; and 

H) Ensuring that development minimises any adverse impacts on transport 
networks. 

 
 
  

Page 164



Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
Priority destinations for transport improvements
Key opportunities for interchange
Improvements to orbital and radial routes
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 13 - Accessibility strategy

To Liverpool

To Bolton

To Leeds

To Manchester
Airport

M60

M602

M61
M60

M60

M62

Trafford
ParkTrafford

Centre
Salford
Quays

Salford
Crescent City

Centre

Pendleton

Manchester
Piccadilly

Salford
CentralEccles

Swinton

Walkden

Irlam

Port
Salford

Logistics
North

AJ Bell
Stadium

P
age 165



 

Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
Town centre points
Port Salford (as permitted)
Extension to Port Salford as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework
Trafford Park
Rail lines
Rail stations
Port Salford rail spur
Potential for conversion to tram - train
Existing Metrolink
Metrolink under construction
Potential future extension of Metrolink

Existing wharves

Proposed wharves

Barton Aerodrome
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 14 - Existing and proposed transport infrastructure

Trafford
Centre

M60

M602

M61
M60

M60M62

A580

Jct 3

Jct 15

Jct 14

Jct 13

Jct 12

Jct 11

Salford Crescent
Station

Salford Central
Station

Manchester Victoria
Station

Jct 16

Trafford
Park

P
age 166



 

156 
 

Transport hierarchy 
 
16.5 The transport hierarchy is an important way in which more sustainable and 

socially inclusive modes of transport can be promoted. It provides a useful 
basis for ensuring that the needs of more vulnerable groups, such as 
pedestrians, cyclists, disabled people, people living with dementia and those 
with pushchairs, are taken into account in decision-making. This will help to 
support a modal shift within Salford and improve overall accessibility and 
fairness. Planning applications should be supported by evidence which 
demonstrates how the development would implement the transport hierarchy. 

 
16.6 In applying the hierarchy, the different functions of highways will need to be 

balanced and consideration should be given to how a street or area functions 
in terms of its ‘movement’ and ‘place’ roles, consistent with Policy A3. Even in 
areas that are strategically important to the movement network, a balance 
should be sought that delivers the required sense of place. 

 
 
Policy A2 Transport hierarchy 

 
New developments and transport infrastructure schemes shall be designed to 
promote the following hierarchy (highest priority first), whilst ensuring 
appropriate access for emergency vehicles at all times: 
 
A) Pedestrians 
B) Cyclists 
C) Public transport users 
D) Commercial deliveries and specialist service vehicles (e.g. waste 

collection, taxis/private hire vehicles) 
E) Other motor traffic 
 
The needs of all users, including those with impaired mobility and their carers, 
shall be taken into account within all levels of the transport hierarchy.  
 
This hierarchy will be applied to highway design consistent with the function 
of the street. 
 
Developments shall be located and designed so as to maximise the use of 
those modes towards the top of the hierarchy. 
 
 
 
Sustainable streets 
 
16.7 Streets are essential components of the life of the city, not just in terms of 

connecting people to opportunities but also providing important spaces where 
people can interact. Over recent decades, the role of streets has tended to 
focus increasingly on the movement of traffic to the detriment of its many 
other important functions. This process needs to be reversed in the future, so 

Page 167



157 
 

that streets more effectively fulfil a wide range of social, environmental and 
economic roles simultaneously. 
 

16.8 This will require a conscious choice to prioritise people and environmental 
quality over motor vehicles, and so has important links to other policies such 
as the transport hierarchy set out in Policy A2 of this plan. Streets need to be 
made more welcoming, comfortable, pleasurable, sociable and inclusive, and 
recognised as places and destinations in their own right rather than just 
corridors of movement. This will be particularly important for enabling people 
to live healthier and happier lives. 

 
 
Policy A3 Sustainable streets 

 
Opportunities shall be taken to deliver more sustainable streets, including by: 
 
1) Making it easier and more attractive to walk, cycle and use public 

transport, which may involve the reallocation of existing road space and 
the introduction of additional wayfinding signage and crossing points 

2) Providing varied spaces for people to meet, linger and rest, and for 
children to play, enabling greater social interaction 

3) Incorporating high levels of green infrastructure designed to bring 
people closer to nature, enhance biodiversity, enable the movement of 
wildlife, soak up pollutants, reduce flood risk, and improve quality of life 

4) Supporting local distinctiveness and identity through features and uses 
that provide visual interest and activity 

 
 
 
Walking and cycling 
 
16.9 Walking and cycling have the potential to replace a significant number of short 

car journeys, as well as contributing to healthier lifestyles, more vibrant places 
and social cohesion. The vision of Greater Manchester’s Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner to double and then double again cycling in Greater 
Manchester, and make walking the natural choice for short journeys48, is 
supported by the Local Plan. The emphasis is on making walking and cycling 
attractive choices for short trips and for everyday journeys to work, school and 
leisure facilities. Maintaining and enhancing the city’s walking and cycling 
infrastructure will be an important part of this. 

 
16.10 The overall development strategy will help to promote walkable and cyclable 

neighbourhoods by focusing development on previously developed sites 
within the urban area, and providing opportunities to deliver high density, 
mixed use developments which are within easy and convenient distance of 
local shops, facilities and employment opportunities. The design and layout of 

                                                           
48 Greater Manchester’s Cycling and Walking Commissioner (December 2017) Made to Move – 15 
steps to transform Greater Manchester by changing the way we get around 

Page 168



158 
 

development, and the mix and location of different uses within it, should also 
create the conditions to encourage active travel. 

 
16.11 Good quality cycle parking is a key element in developing a cycle-friendly 

environment. The absence of secure, convenient cycle parking can be a 
serious deterrent to cycle use and the provision of sufficient and well-located 
cycle parking can significantly reduce car dependence. Public cycle hire 
schemes also have the potential to increase the number of cycle trips within 
the urban area, as they remove some of the barriers associated with cycle 
ownership, including cost, maintenance and storage. 

 
 
Policy A4      Walking and cycling  

 
A significant increase in the proportion of journeys made by walking and 
cycling will be achieved by: 
 
A) Maintaining and enhancing an integrated network of safe, convenient 

and attractive walking and cycling routes which allow everyone to be 
active, through:  
i) Addressing identified gaps within that network, with segregated 

routes where possible; 
ii) Developing the potential of the city’s waterways as walking and 

cycling routes; 
iii) Protecting and extending the city’s network of strategic recreation 

routes in accordance with policy R5;  
iv) Reallocating road space where appropriate to provide wider 

footpaths and protected cycle lanes; and 
v) Introducing additional wayfinding signage and crossing points on 

the city’s streets and in the town centres; 
B) Significantly improving secure cycle parking facilities at all destinations 

that people wish to travel to, including railway stations, public transport 
interchanges, workplaces, town and neighbourhood centres and visitor 
destinations across the city; and 

C) Ensuring that new development makes appropriate provision to help 
maximise levels of walking and cycling. 

 
All developments and, where relevant, transport infrastructure schemes shall:  
 
1) Contribute to the delivery of walkable and cyclable neighbourhoods; 
2) Be designed to give the highest priority to pedestrians and cyclists, in 

accordance with policy A2;  
3) Connect to the network of walking and cycling routes where practicable 

and support the improvement of the network, particularly in terms of 
enhancing pedestrian and cycling accessibility from the development to 
employment areas and local facilities such as public transport stops, 
shops and schools; 

4) Comply with the minimum cycle parking standards set out in Annex C; 
5) Ensure that any cycle parking: 

Page 169



159 
 

a) Is secure; 
b) Is provided in a location that is visible, has good natural 

surveillance, and is convenient and attractive to potential users; 
c) Allows sufficient aisle widths, turning spaces and clearance 

distances from walls; and 
d) Provides multiple locking points; and 

6) Incorporate facilities for cycle hire schemes where there is an identified 
demand. 

 
Large-scale employment developments shall incorporate shower facilities 
wherever possible to encourage employees to cycle to work. 
 
The loss or diversion of an existing public right of way will only be permitted 
where there would be no significant reduction in pedestrian or cycling 
accessibility within the local area. 
 
 
 
 
Public transport 
 
16.12 An attractive, efficient and well-integrated public transport network is an 

essential element of the infrastructure of Salford and the wider conurbation, 
and is vital in supporting long-term, sustainable economic growth. Salford has 
a number of well-used public transport routes. However, the public transport 
potential of the city is constrained by the quality and accessibility of services 
and facilities, the extent of the existing network, which is focussed on radial 
routes, and the level of integration between different modes and operators. If 
a modal shift away from the private car is to be achieved, then it will be 
necessary to address these issues, with Transport for Greater Manchester 
having a central role. 

 
16.13 Interchanges both within and outside of the city provide opportunities to 

facilitate radial and orbital travel across Greater Manchester, thereby 
maximising access to employment and leisure opportunities for Salford 
residents. Manchester Piccadilly Station is the most significant transport 
interchange in the North of England, providing city to city connectivity and 
direct access to Manchester Airport, and as the proposed location for a new 
City Centre HS2 station it has the potential to become an even more 
significant gateway. It is therefore essential that access to this interchange for 
Salford residents is maximised. 

 
16.14 Salford’s town centres and rail stations provide opportunities to interchange 

between different public transport modes, and there is significant potential for 
these interchange points to facilitate more travel by public transport provided 
that some of the barriers to using it are addressed. Eccles Town Centre, 
Salford Central Station and Salford Crescent Station offer particular 
opportunities in this regard. Investment in individual stations and key routes 
will be an important part of this, as will broader initiatives such as integrated 
ticketing. 

Page 170



160 
 

 
 
Policy A5 Public transport 

 
Major improvements in Salford’s public transport network will be sought in 
order to maximise travel choices, enable the city’s growth, promote social 
inclusion, and reduce reliance on the private car. This will include supporting 
proposals that help to deliver enhancements to: 
 
A) Network capacity, including through improvements to the frequency, 

speed, directness, reliability and geographical coverage of public 
transport routes and services 

B) Service integration, including through the coordination of services, 
improved and more numerous interchange points, integrated ticketing, 
and enhanced marketing and information 

C) The passenger experience for public transport users, particularly in 
terms of passenger information and services, safety, security and 
comfort 

D) Access to public transport for all, including through improved 
affordability, enhanced accessibility for those with impaired mobility, 
and additional park and ride facilities 

E) Air quality, and reduce emissions associated with public transport, 
including through the electrification of rail lines and the use of low and 
zero emission vehicles 

 
The following are identified as key transport infrastructure priorities: 
 
1) The expansion of the Metrolink system in Salford, including: 

a) The extension of the Trafford Park line to the AJ Bell Stadium and 
Port Salford 

b) A new Metrolink line from Victoria in Manchester to Salford 
Crescent Station, supporting the growth of City Centre Salford 

c) A new Metrolink line connecting Salford Quays and Salford 
Crescent Station, supporting the growth of Salford Quays and its 
integration with the City Centre and the rail network 

d) The conversion of the rail line between Salford Crescent Station 
and Wigan to tram-train use, bringing the north of the city and 
neighbouring Wigan into the Metrolink network 

2) The development of new and improved public transport interchanges, 
focusing particularly on the town centres and rail stations 

3) The continued improvement of Salford Central Station as the main 
western rail gateway to the central business district of the City Centre, 
including through works which enable more services and longer trains 
to stop at the station 

4) The transformation of Salford Crescent Station into a major public 
transport interchange for rail, Metrolink and bus services, with the 
continued improvement of the station itself as a key rail facility serving 
Chapel Street and the University of Salford and the investigation into the 
potential to increase the number of platforms 

Page 171



161 
 

5) The enhancement of the city’s other rail stations, particularly in terms of 
passenger facilities and disabled access 

6) The electrification of the city’s rail lines 

7) The further expansion of rapid transit routes along the A580 East Lancashire Road 
and elsewhere within the city, particularly where this improves the accessibility of 
the key locations identified in policy A1 

 
The development of further passenger transport services on the city’s 
waterways is supported.  
 
 
 
Freight 
 
16.15 The distribution of goods by sustainable modes, and methods that reduce the 

number of vehicular trips, will be encouraged and supported. Innovative 
solutions such as urban distribution centres, last mile access by cargo bikes 
or electric vehicles, and emerging technologies, all have the potential to 
service the demand for deliveries in a more sustainable way.  
 

16.16 The Manchester Ship Canal is a major port, extending from the Wirral to 
Salford Quays. The canal offers the only opportunity for significant water-
based freight movement in the sub-region, providing a direct connection to the 
post-Panamax facilities at the Port of Liverpool. There is the potential to 
considerably increase freight traffic along its length, helping to reduce HGV 
movements on the region’s roads and support climate change objectives. It is 
therefore important that its freight potential is protected and enhanced 
wherever possible. The construction of the Port Salford inter-modal freight 
interchange at Barton, which will take advantage of rail access as well as 
provide new berths on the canal, will be an important part of this. The tri-
modal connections will make Port Salford unique in Greater Manchester, and 
hence it is appropriate to consider the ways in which the benefits of these 
connections could be maximised. The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
proposes the expansion of Port Salford onto land that is currently in the Green 
Belt to the north of the A57 and south of the M62 motorway, immediately to 
the north and west of Barton Aerodrome. At least maintaining the current 
number of wharves on the canal will help to maximise its use, although it may 
be appropriate to relocate some of them if this is required to support increased 
water-based freight movements. Irwell Park Wharf has already established an 
important role for the sustainable movement of freight, providing access within 
the M60 motorway, and it will therefore be protected in the long term. 

 
 
Policy A6 Sustainable movement of freight 

 
The sustainable movement of freight will be encouraged including by 
supporting: 
 

Page 172



162 
 

A) The development of urban distribution centres that reduce vehicle 
movements and utilise zero-carbon last mile delivery 

B) The increased use of the Manchester Ship Canal for freight movement, 
through: 
i) Controlling the loss of existing wharves along it; and 
ii) Supporting the development of sites adjacent to it for uses that 

would utilise it for freight movement. 
 
Through the development of Port Salford at Barton, the city will play a major 
role in the movement of freight within Greater Manchester and the North West. 
New berths and a rail spur running from the Manchester to Liverpool rail line 
into the site will be provided as a central part of the scheme and, together with 
highway improvements, will ensure that Port Salford provides a fully 
integrated tri-modal freight facility.  
 
Irwell Park Wharf is specifically protected as an important facility that enables 
the sustainable movement of freight.  
 
The loss of any other existing wharf on the Manchester Ship Canal within 
Salford will only be permitted where: 
 
1) It would be replaced elsewhere along the canal; or 
2) It can be clearly demonstrated that there is no current or likely future 

demand for the wharf or any replacement facility. 
 
 
 
Highways 
 
16.17 Salford will experience significant population growth over the next 20 years, 

and it will be important to ensure that this is not accompanied by a similar 
level of growth in the use of cars, which would lead to increased congestion, 
poor air quality and reduced quality of life. A key priority of the Local Plan is to 
encourage a modal shift towards more sustainable modes of transport and to 
reduce the overall need to travel. There will however be a need for some 
investment in the city’s highway network to ensure its reliable, safe and 
efficient operation, which will be vital in ensuring that people can access 
opportunities across the sub-region and supporting Greater Manchester’s 
economic success. This may include the need for additional bridges across 
the Manchester Ship Canal, to support growth at Salford Quays and to 
provide improved access for Salford residents to employment and leisure 
opportunities in Trafford. 
 

16.18 Salford’s motorways are amongst the most congested in the country, and 
addressing capacity issues on the north-west section of the M60 and the 
junctions along it is a particular challenge and priority. A number of 
approaches to managing, maintaining and improving the operation of the 
motorways are being considered at the conurbation-wide level and beyond49, 

                                                           
49 https://highwaysengland.co.uk/projects/manchester-north-west-quadrant/  

Page 173

https://highwaysengland.co.uk/projects/manchester-north-west-quadrant/


163 
 

which may identify the need for further highways infrastructure. The 
environmental and highways impacts of any proposed schemes will be 
carefully considered, and appropriate mitigation measures identified where 
required. 

 
 
Policy A7   Highway network  

 
The efficient, effective and safe operation of the city’s highway network will be 
supported through: 
 
1) Requiring developments that would be likely to generate significant 

amounts of movement to be supported by a Transport Statement or 
Transport Assessment, including transport modelling where 
appropriate; 

2) The refusal of development on transport grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe, having regard to issues 
such as likely traffic generation, access, parking and servicing 
arrangements and proposed mitigation measures; 

3) Encouraging a modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport 
by enhancing the city’s public transport, walking and cycling network in 
accordance with policies A4 and A5; and 

4) Investment in the city’s existing highway network, with key priorities 
being:  
 
a) Measures to address congestion on the motorway network, key 

route network and surrounding local road network, which 
complement each other, whilst ensuring that any schemes seek to 
maximise improvements to the city’s environment, particularly 
with regards to air and noise pollution; 

b) Investigation into the options for improving the capacity of the 
highway network at Salford Quays and its connectivity to the City 
Centre, Trafford and the M602 motorway. 

 
New road links will only be permitted where: 
 
i) It has been clearly demonstrated that there would be no unacceptable 

impact on the capacity of the highway network in Salford, particularly in 
terms of congestion and the ability to accommodate the proposed scale 
of development in the Local Plan; 

ii) The amenity of residents would be protected, including in relation to air 
and noise pollution; and 

iii) In the case of a link across the Manchester Ship Canal, all junction and 
other highway improvements in Salford that are required to manage the 
resulting traffic flows are completed and operational before the opening 
of the cross-canal link. 

 
 

Page 174



164 
 

 
Vehicle parking and drop-off 
 
16.19 The level of parking provision within developments should ensure that 

sufficient car and motorcycle parking is provided to promote social inclusion 
and support the successful functioning of developments, whilst also 
discouraging unnecessary private car journeys and the inefficient use of land. 
Minimum standards for car parking for disabled people must always be met so 
as to ensure that developments are inclusive.  
 

16.20 Car clubs can assist in embedding sustainable travel into new developments 
and give people the assurance that they can access a car when they really 
need one, but still travel by public transport, cycle or walk for most journeys. 
They can have a number of benefits, including helping to reduce congestion, 
improve air quality, implement lower levels of car parking in developments, 
and reduce costs for users, and so are encouraged as an alternative to 
general car parking provision. 

 
16.21 In addition to parking, the successful long-term functioning of developments 

relies on appropriate opportunities for motor vehicles to perform various types 
of ‘drop-off’ functions. Taxis and private hire vehicles play an important role in 
meeting the city’s transport needs, particularly for those without access to a 
private car, visitors to the city and, in the case of both hackney carriages and 
some private hire vehicles, wheelchair users. They can also help to support 
increased public transport use. Given the increasing amount of shopping 
conducted online, and to reduce the need for car ownership, it will be 
important that developments make appropriate provision for the efficient 
delivery of goods that ensures the safe operation of the highway network. The 
incorporation of secure delivery facilities in new housing development can 
also assist by minimising the need for repeat delivery attempts (see Policy 
D7).  

 
 
Policy A8 Motor vehicle parking provision and drop-off facilities in new 

developments 

 
The amount of parking provided within new developments shall: 
 
1) Ensure that the development is inclusive and accessible to all users; 
2) Support the efficient use of land; 
3) Reflect the type, mix and use of the development;  
4) Have regard to the accessibility of the development by modes of 

transport other than the private car; 
5) Not discourage the use of more sustainable modes of transport such as 

walking, cycling and public transport; 
6) Not lead to a level of off-site car parking that would have an 

unacceptable impact on: 
a) The safe and efficient operation of the highway network; or 

Page 175



165 
 

b) The environmental quality or residential amenity of the local area; 
and 

7) Not exceed the maximum car parking standards set out in Annex C. 
 
Where development would be likely to lead to levels of off-site car parking that 
would have an adverse impact on the surrounding area, appropriate mitigation 
measures will be required. This could include, for example, developments 
funding resident parking schemes, on-street parking restrictions and their 
enforcement. 
 
All developments shall make provision for: 
 
8) Car parking for disabled people in accordance with the minimum 

standards set out in Annex C; 
9) Secure motorcycle parking with suitable anchor points in accordance 

with the minimum standards set out in Annex C; and 
10) Where appropriate, proportionate to likely demand and in a suitable 

location: 
a) General user and delivery vehicle drop-off points; 
b) Hackney carriage taxi ranks; 
c) Private hire vehicle drop-off points; and 
d) Car clubs/car sharing bays (including the use of low emission 

vehicles where possible). 
 
The need for car parking, drop-off points, taxi ranks and car club/car sharing 
bays within developments shall be considered through a transport 
assessment or statement. This shall consider all relevant evidence of likely 
demand, including knowledge of taxi operators and private hire associations 
where available. 
 
The design and layout of all parking shall promote safety and security for all 
users.  
 
 
 
City Centre car parking 
 
16.22 Car parking can represent an inefficient use of land, particularly in the most 

accessible locations such as in and around the City Centre. Although it will be 
important to maximise the number of people using more sustainable modes of 
transport to access the City Centre, it is also recognised that there will always 
be some demand for car parking and it can support the area’s economic 
function. It is anticipated that the amount of surface car parking within the City 
Centre will continue to reduce significantly, with new provision normally in the 
form of high quality multi-storey car parks, undercrofts and basements. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



166 
 

Policy A9 City Centre car parking 

  
The city council will work with partners including Transport for Greater 
Manchester to take a coordinated approach to car parking within and around 
the City Centre, in accordance with the latest City Centre transport strategy, 
supporting the objectives of minimising congestion and increasing the use of 
sustainable modes of transport. Within Salford, the total amount of land used 
for car parking to serve the City Centre will continue to be significantly 
reduced, and this will be a particular priority within the Inner Relief Road.  
 
The provision of surface and public car parking serving the City Centre will be 
carefully controlled, with the emphasis being on: 
 
1) Meeting short-stay parking needs to support the attractiveness of the 

City Centre as a business, tourism, retail and leisure destination; 
2) Maximising the accessibility of the car parks from the Inner Relief Road; 

and 
3) Utilising land as efficiently as practicable. 
 
Where sites are identified in a regeneration framework adopted by the city 
council for alternative uses, the further expansion or intensification of existing 
car parking facilities will not be permitted. 
 
 
 
Park and ride 
 
16.23 Park and ride schemes can play an important role in supporting the use of 

public transport, encouraging cycling and reducing vehicular traffic levels. 
However, poorly located and designed proposals can sometimes actively 
encourage more car journeys, and may generate significant traffic levels on 
surrounding roads to the detriment of residential amenity and highway 
function. In some locations, the high level of public transport accessibility may 
mean that sites are more suitable for built development, and this could 
potentially be more beneficial in terms of increasing public transport use and 
minimising private car use. Consequently, although the principle of enhancing 
park and ride is supported, individual proposals will need to be carefully 
assessed among other options to improve connectivity and promote 
sustainable travel. 

 
 
Policy A10 Park and ride facilities 

 
Park and ride schemes will be supported where it can be demonstrated that 
they: 
 
1) Form part of a wider strategy for promoting public transport use and/or 

cycling, developed in conjunction with Transport for Greater Manchester 

Page 177



167 
 

and, where appropriate, other organisations such as Highways England 
and Network Rail; 

2) Would contribute to a reduction in overall traffic levels; 
3) Would not result in an unacceptable level of traffic congestion around 

the park and ride site; 
4) Would provide a high standard of vehicle security and personal safety; 
5) Would not represent an inefficient use of land in a highly accessible 

location, given the need to accommodate high levels of built 
development within the city; and 

6) Would manage the parking provision so as to maximise the use of 
public transport, which will typically involve no charge for users. 
 

The redevelopment of existing park and ride facilities will only be permitted 
where: 
 
A) It can be clearly demonstrated that there is no current or likely future 

demand for the facility; or 
B) All of the following criteria apply: 

i) The facility represents an inefficient use of land in a highly 
accessible location; 

ii) Its redevelopment forms part of a wider strategy for promoting 
public transport use; and 

iii) It would be replaced by a facility of equivalent or greater capacity 
and with equivalent or improved connections to relevant transport 
infrastructure. 

 
 
 
Electric vehicles 
 
16.24 The use of electric vehicles is an important measure in reducing emissions 

locally whilst providing people with a high level of mobility. The Government 
aspires that by 2040 every new car in the UK will be an ultra-low emission 
vehicle, and is facilitating this through a range of measures. New development 
can make an important contribution to enabling the use of electric vehicles. 

 
16.25 It is envisaged that the majority of electric vehicle charging should take place 

overnight at home, after the daily peak in electricity demand. Ensuring that 
residential properties with garages and drives incorporate a charging point will 
help to facilitate home charging, and the additional cost of providing this 
infrastructure is considered to be minimal. Non-residential development can 
also have a significant role to play, for example by providing dedicated 
charging points for a proportion of parking spaces to support workplace and 
visitor charging. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



168 
 

Policy A11    Electric vehicle charging points 

 
A network of electric vehicle charging points will be developed across Salford 
as part of a Greater Manchester wide scheme, with publicly accessible 
charging infrastructure focused in safe, convenient and accessible locations. 
 
New development shall make provision for electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure, using dedicated charge points specifically designed for 
charging all types of electric vehicle, in accordance with the following 
standards (unless superseded by higher standards adopted at the Greater 
Manchester level): 
 
1) For dwellings with a garage or driveway, at least one dedicated charge 

point per dwelling 
2) For residential developments with shared parking areas, the provision of 

at least one dedicated charge point per ten dwellings 
3) For non-residential developments, the provision of at least one 

dedicated charge point per 1,000m2 gross internal floorspace, with a 
reduced requirement being permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
the specific characteristics of development would result in lower levels 
of demand for electric vehicle charging 

 
These standards will be applied to the total scale of car parking provision that 
is proposed in the development, and additional car parking spaces should not 
be provided in order to meet them. 
 
Charge points shall be located so that they can be accessed by the maximum 
number of parking spaces at the development. 
 
Electric vehicle charging infrastructure within new development shall meet the 
minimum technical specification list published by the Office for Low Emission 
Vehicles. 
 
Within major developments, opportunities to incorporate public electric 
vehicle charging points should be considered, having regard to existing 
provision in the local area.  
 
 
 
Barton Aerodrome 
 
16.26 Barton Aerodrome (also called City Airport and Heliport) officially opened in 

January 1930 and was the first municipal airport in England. It provides a 
unique aviation landscape, with the original grass runways surviving and three 
listed buildings on the site. 
 

16.27 The aerodrome has a valuable general aviation role, serving business, 
recreational, training and emergency service needs, not just for Salford but 
also for the wider sub-region. This helps to reduce pressures on the nearby 

Page 179



169 
 

Manchester Airport. It will be important to ensure that Barton Aerodrome 
continues to function effectively as a general aviation facility for Greater 
Manchester, balancing the potential to increase its contribution to local 
economic growth with the high value of protecting and enhancing its 
distinctive heritage interest. 

 
16.28 In order to ensure that the operational integrity and safety of the aerodrome 

are not compromised, safeguarding zones have been notified to the city 
council by the operators. These define certain types of development that 
require prior consultation with the aerodrome operators, and the zones may 
be updated if the use of the aerodrome changes: 
 
1) All development within the zone identified on the Policies Map; 
2) Buildings exceeding 15 metres in height within the zone identified on 

the Policies Map; 
3) Buildings exceeding 45 metres in height within the zone identified on 

the Policies Map; 
4) Buildings exceeding 90 metres in height within the zone identified on 

the Policies Map; and  
5) Development within the zone identified on the Policies Map which is 

likely to attract birds, such as proposals involving significant tree 
planting, minerals extraction or quarrying, waste disposal or 
management, reservoirs or other significant areas of water, land 
restoration schemes, sewage works, nature reserves or bird 
sanctuaries. 

   
 
Policy A12 Barton Aerodrome 

 
Barton Aerodrome will be protected and improved as a general aviation 
facility. Development that would have an unacceptable impact on the 
operational integrity, safety or heritage value of the aerodrome will not be 
permitted. 
 
 
 
Manchester Airport 
 
16.29 Safeguarding zones for Manchester Airport have been notified to the city 

council by the Civil Aviation Authority, defining certain types of development 
which, by reason of their height, attraction to birds, inclusion of aviation 
activity or potential impact on radar and air traffic control (ATC) systems, 
require prior consultation with the airport. This is in order to ensure that the 
operational integrity and safety of the airport and aircraft operations are not 
compromised. However, the safeguarding zones are neither the responsibility 
nor the proposal of the city council. 

 
16.30 Consultation is required for the following: 
 

Page 180



170 
 

1) Buildings, structures, erections and works exceeding 90 metres in 
height within the zone identified on the Policies Map; 

2) Any development within 13 kilometres of Manchester Airport, as shown 
on the Policies Map that: 
a. is likely to attract birds, such as proposals involving significant 

tree planting, minerals extraction or quarrying, waste disposal or 
management, reservoirs or other significant areas of water, land 
restoration schemes, sewage works, nature reserves or bird 
sanctuaries; or  

b. is connected with aviation use; and  
3) Any wind turbine development, anywhere in the city.  

 
 
Policy A13    Protection of aviation safety at Manchester Airport 

 
Development that would have an unacceptable impact on the operational 
integrity or safety of Manchester Airport will not be permitted. 
 
 
 
 
 
Former railway lines 
 
16.31 Salford has a number of former railway lines, which have the potential to 

broaden transport choices in the future, particularly by accommodating public 
transport infrastructure. Any such use would need to be balanced with the 
important walking and cycling functions that they already provide. There are 
specific pedestrian routes associated with the former Carrington-Glazebrook 
railway line, which would need to be retained or otherwise satisfactorily 
diverted if it is to be re-used. 

 
 
Policy A14    Safeguarding potential transport routes  

 
Former railway lines shown on the Policies Map will be safeguarded from 
developments that would be likely to prevent their future re-use as transport 
routes. 
 
Their use for public transport will be encouraged, conditional upon pedestrian 
and cyclist access being retained wherever practicable. 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
16.32 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Page 181



171 
 

Indicator Target 

Proportion of journeys to work made by public 

transport, walking and cycling 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Average cycle flows  Increase 

(2018-2037) 

Journey times on the key route network Improve  

(2018-2037) 

Reliability of key strategic highways  Improve  

(2018-2037) 

Delivery of major public transport and 

highway infrastructure schemes  

By 2037 

Construction of a rail spur from the Eccles rail 

line to Port Salford 

By 2025 

Construction of new canal berths at Port 

Salford 

By 2025 

Number of electric vehicle charging points  Significantly 

increase  

(2018-2037) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 182



172 
 

CHAPTER 17 DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

 
17.1 Increasingly, the competitiveness of cities will be heavily influenced by the 

quality and capacity of their digital infrastructure, such as high speed 
broadband and the latest generation of mobile phone and wireless 
technology. Salford’s long-term success, and its ability to secure investment 
and attract modern businesses, will in part rely on constantly improving its 
digital connectivity, enabling it to respond to opportunities such as the ‘internet 
of things’ (the networking of a wide range of devices, buildings and other 
items) and ‘smart cities’ (integrating technology to manage assets and provide 
data). This will help the city to function more effectively, opening up new 
possibilities for residents and businesses. 
 

17.2 Access to high quality digital infrastructure, and having the skills to utilise it, 
will be a vital component of social inclusion, enabling everyone to take up 
employment, education and social opportunities, as well to access the full 
range of services that are increasingly provided online. It will also enable 
greater homeworking, and hence reduce pressures on transport systems. 

 
17.3 Salford is already well-positioned from an economic perspective, with 

MediaCityUK at Salford Quays recognised as an international centre of digital 
creativity, with a range of digital-based businesses and The Landing digital 
enterprise hub. It will be important for future economic growth and job creation 
to further enhance this position, whilst at the same time providing the rest of 
the city with access to similar standards of digital infrastructure. 

 
 
Policy DG1 Digital infrastructure 

 
The rollout and continued improvement of affordable, high speed, high 
capacity digital infrastructure serving all parts of the city will be supported. It 
will be particularly important to ensure that the City Centre and Salford Quays 
have the highest quality digital infrastructure, both in terms of fibre and the 
latest generation wireless technology, to strengthen their role in driving 
forward economic growth across the city and Greater Manchester. 
 
New development shall: 
 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Improving access for all residents and businesses to high quality digital 
infrastructure, enabling them to fully participate in the world 

 Helping to address the areas of poor digital infrastructure connectivity that 
currently reduce opportunities for some communities 

 ‘Future-proofing’ the city for the benefit of future generations 
 

Page 183



173 
 

1) Enable the enhancement of Salford’s digital infrastructure; 
2) Incorporate full fibre connections, including ducting capable of 

accommodating more than one digital infrastructure provider; and 
3) Build in potential for Building Information Modelling, through being 

designed to accommodate existing and future smart cities applications 
including data collection and communications facilities.  

 
Telecommunications development shall: 
 
A) Be located in the following order of preference: 

i) The sharing of existing telecommunications sites and 
installations, including masts, structures and buildings; 

ii) The use of existing buildings and structures where there are no 
existing telecommunications installations; and 

iii) Other locations; 
B) Limit street clutter through minimising the number, size and prominence 

of equipment cabins; 
C) Minimise the impact of equipment on the visual amenity, character and 

appearance of the surrounding area;  
D) If on a building, be sited and designed in order to seek to minimise its 

impact on the appearance of the building; 
E) Have special regard to the Green Belt, the natural environment and 

historic environment where the quality of the landscape/townscape may 
be particularly sensitive to the intrusion of communications 
infrastructure, including conservation areas and listed buildings; 

F) Not have a detrimental impact on the movement of pedestrians and 
cyclists or on the safe and effective functioning of highways; 

G) Not result in the International Commission guidelines on non-ionising 
radiation protection being exceeded; 

H) Not cause interference with other electrical equipment, air traffic 
services or instrumentation operated in the national interest; 

I) Where it is required to be operational during flooding, not be located in 
an area that would be subject to a 1 in 100 year risk of flooding (1% 
annual exceedance probability (AEP)), not taking into account flood 
defences; and  

J) Undertake appropriate pre-application consultation in accordance with 
national policy. 

 
 
 
Protecting existing digital infrastructure 
 
17.4 As well as supporting new infrastructure provision, the successful functioning 

of existing digital infrastructure needs to be protected from adverse impacts, 
including from new development. Such infrastructure includes existing 
telecommunications apparatus, microwave links and switching stations. It will 
also be important to ensure that new buildings do not prevent residents from 
accessing strong and unbroken television reception. 

 
 

Page 184



174 
 

 
Policy DG2 Protecting digital infrastructure 

 
Adverse impacts on the successful functioning of existing digital 
infrastructure shall be avoided. Where this is not practicable, appropriate 
mitigation shall be provided. 
 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
17.5 The main indicator that will be used to monitor this chapter is: 

 

Indicator Target 

Proportion of homes and businesses with full 

fibre connections 

90% (date TBC) 

 

 
 
  

Page 185



175 
 

CHAPTER 18 ENERGY  
 

 
18.1 Greater Manchester has an ambitious target to cut carbon dioxide emissions 

by 48% compared to 1990 levels by 2020. At the national level, the 
Government’s Fifth Carbon Budget would reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
by 57% by 2032, and the Climate Change Act requires at least an 80% 
reduction by 2050, both compared with 1990 levels. 

 
18.2 Energy use in the construction and operation of development is currently a 

major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions. If Salford is to fully support 
the achievement of the above targets then it will be necessary both to 
minimise energy demands from development and to increase the generation 
of energy from renewable sources. 

 
18.3 The starting point for minimising energy use is to maximise energy efficiency, 

both in new developments and through the retrofitting of existing buildings. 
This can have a direct economic benefit in terms of significantly lowering the 
running costs of new and existing buildings, helping to address fuel poverty, 
as well as tackling climate change. Exceeding the minimum energy efficiency 
requirements of Building Regulations will be necessary if emission reduction 
targets are to be met. 

 
18.4 Where energy use is necessary, then priority should be given to utilising the 

most sustainable sources. Within Salford, the scale and location of 
development means that there are particular opportunities to create and 
connect to district heating and cooling networks in parts of the city, through 
both new development and the retrofitting of existing buildings. 

 
 
Policy EG1 Sustainable energy in new development 

 
All developments shall accord with the following energy hierarchy (in order of 
preference): 
 
1) Minimise energy demand 
2) Maximise energy efficiency 
3) Utilise renewable energy 
4) Utilise low carbon energy 
5) Utilise other energy sources 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Supporting improvements in energy efficiency and energy security, which 
can help to reduce fuel poverty amongst poorer households 

 Enabling contributions to reductions in greenhouse gas emissions from 
across the city 

 Protecting residents from the adverse impacts of energy generation 
 

Page 186



176 
 

 
New-build development shall adopt the principles of the energy hierarchy to 
achieve the following standards, working towards the Greater Manchester 
target that all new development shall be zero net carbon from 2028: 
 
A) All residential development: Exceed the fabric energy efficiency 

required under Part L of the Building Regulations 2013 by at least 19%, 
and exceed the standard required by any subsequent revision to Part L 

B) Non-residential development of 1,000 square metres or more: BREEAM 
very good or above 

 
District heating network development areas 
Within district heat network development areas identified in Figure 15, where 
there is an existing or proposed district heat network, development (including 
new build, conversions and changes of use) involving ten or more dwellings 
and/or over 1,000m2 of non-residential floorspace shall connect into the heat 
network, or be designed to do so, unless it can be demonstrated that there are 
more effective alternatives for minimising carbon emissions or such 
connection is impracticable or financially unviable. 
 
Development and energy proposals that would generate significant surplus or 
waste heat shall take all practicable measures to utilise that heat to meet local 
energy needs, including as part of an existing or proposed district heating 
network. 
 
 
 
Renewable and low carbon energy 
 
18.5 Renewable and low carbon energy schemes will be a significant component in 

making Salford a more sustainable city, especially in terms of reducing the 
contributions to climate change, improving the security of the city’s energy 
supply, and helping to alleviate fuel poverty. A positive approach will therefore 
be taken to them. 

 
18.6 There is a range of opportunities for renewable and low carbon energy 

schemes in Salford, and the main ones are shown in Figure 15 having regard 
to practical, technical and policy constraints. Given the scale of new buildings 
proposed and their associated roof surface areas, there is considered to be 
particular potential for the use of solar photovoltaic technology development. 
 

18.7 There may also be potential outside the areas identified in Figure 15 and such 
opportunities are in no way precluded by this plan. The exception to this is 
wind energy development, which national planning policy states can only be 
permitted in an area identified as suitable in the development plan50. Chat 
Moss, as defined in Policy GI3, is considered to be inherently unsuitable for 
wind energy development due to its flat, open nature, deep peat, and the 

                                                           
50 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, footnote 49 

Page 187



177 
 

nature conservation proposals for the Biodiversity Heartland within it. The rest 
of Salford has been identified as potentially suitable, so that the use of wind 
energy is not unnecessarily constrained, but in practice there will be other 
parts of the city that will be unsuitable for example due to their 
landscape/townscape sensitivity or proximity to housing. 

 
18.8 The benefits of delivering increased renewable and low carbon energy 

capacity will need to be assessed against any potential adverse effects. The 
type of possible impacts will vary depending on the technology being used, 
but the need to protect residential amenity is likely to be a common issue for 
many scheme types. Other considerations will include impact on the local 
environment or wider landscape, harm to sites of nature conservation value, 
impact on heritage assets, interference with telecommunications and aviation 
equipment, and impact on air quality associated with certain energy sources 
for district heating schemes. 

 
 
Policy EG2 Renewable and low carbon energy schemes 

 
A positive approach will be taken to renewable and low carbon energy 
schemes, subject to the other policies in this plan. Developers are strongly 
encouraged to incorporate renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure 
into their schemes wherever possible. 
 
Standalone low carbon or renewable energy schemes do not, by definition, 
need to accord with the energy hierarchy in Policy EG1. 
 
Figure 15 shows the locations in Salford that are likely to have the greatest 
potential for renewable and low carbon energy based on technical 
considerations, but there will be other opportunities across the city 
particularly as technology improves. 
 
Solar 
All developments are encouraged to maximise opportunities for on-site 
electricity and heat production from solar technologies. Extensive roof 
surfaces and walls provide particular opportunities, such as on large-scale 
commercial or industrial developments, but there is also significant potential 
for smaller-scale installations including on individual dwellings. 
 
Wind 
Wind energy development involving one or more turbines is potentially 
suitable in all parts of Salford except for Chat Moss (with Chat Moss defined 
under Policy GI3 and shown on the Policies Map). 
 
Wind energy development will be permitted in a potentially suitable location 
where it can be clearly demonstrated that: 
 
1) Following consultation, the planning impacts identified by any local 

community that would be affected have been fully addressed; 

Page 188



178 
 

2) The proposal would not cause significant harm, both individually and 
cumulatively with other developments, to the quality and enjoyment of 
the landscape and related views; and 

3) There would be no unacceptable impact on amenity or public safety in 
terms of noise, shadow flicker, vibration, topple distance, or visual 
dominance. 

 
Hydropower 
The development of hydropower schemes shall protect and take opportunities 
to enhance the ecological interest and biodiversity of the waterway. 
 
Such schemes shall: 
A) Allow for the movement of multiple species and sizes of fish; 
B) Avoid any adverse reduction in water flows and levels; and 
C) Avoid any physical modifications to the river channel that could 

adversely affect plant life or invertebrates. 
 
District heating network development areas 
District heat network development areas are shown in Figure 15 and the need 
for developments to connect to them is set out in Policy EG1. 
 
A high priority is given to protecting air quality within the district heat network 
development areas, and this shall be reflected in the technology and fuels that 
are used for such networks. 
 
Decommissioning 
Temporary energy generation facilities must provide full details of the 
arrangements for decommissioning and the reinstatement/restoration of the 
site. This includes all solar farms, freestanding wind turbines and hydropower 
schemes.  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 189



Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A Roads
Potential renewable and low carbon energy areas
Solar and heat pumps (city wide)
Wind turbines
Shallow geothermal aquifer
District heating network development - short / medium term
District heating network development - longer term opportunities
Hydropower
Minewater heat extraction
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 15 - Sustainable energy opportunities

M60

M602

M61 M60

M60

M62

P
age 190



 

180 
 

Monitoring 
 
18.9 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Total renewable and low carbon energy 

generating capacity 

Significant  

increase 

(2018-2037) 

Total heat generating capacity of district 

heating networks 

Significant 

increase 

(2018-2037) 

New build residential development exceeding 

the fabric energy efficiency required under 

Part L of the Building Regulations 2013 by at 

least 19% 

All approved new 

build residential 

development 

New build non-residential development of 

1,000m2 or more achieving BREEAM very 

good or above 

Approved new 

build non-

residential 

development  

 
 
 
  

Page 191



181 
 

 
 CHAPTER 19 WATER 

 
19.1 Water is a key component of the natural environment, and a good supply of 

water resources is essential to health, quality of life, biodiversity and many 
business processes. Unlike some other parts of the country, water supply and 
wastewater treatment are not a significant constraint on the total amount of 
development that can be accommodated within Salford during the Local Plan 
period, although some further investment will be required to improve 
functionality and to facilitate individual new developments. However, water-
related issues are very important to Salford as a result of significant parts of 
its urban area being at risk of river and/or surface water flooding, and the 
relatively poor quality of some of its watercourses. 
 

19.2 Many prosperous cities across the world, such as London, successfully 
balance the management of flood risk with the need to accommodate large 
levels of development. The economic and social benefits of continuing to 
secure investment within areas of Salford that could be subject to flooding are 
considered to significantly outweigh the potential risks and costs. Some of 
these areas are fundamental to the prosperity of Greater Manchester, whilst 
others need investment to support their regeneration and to ensure that they 
can more actively contribute to and share in the city’s economic growth. They 
are also central to the overall development strategy and helping to reduce the 
need to travel. 
 

19.3 The emphasis is therefore on ensuring that the scale of flood risk is minimised 
as far as possible, and that buildings are appropriately sited and designed so 
as to reduce the potential impacts in the event of a flood. When combined 
with the relocation of vulnerable uses, and the replacement of some existing 
buildings with more flood resilient designs, this should ensure that the Local 
Plan helps to support continued economic growth whilst reducing the overall 
economic and social impacts in the event of a flood. No amount of investment 
in flood defences would entirely remove flood risk and therefore it is important 
that both existing and new development in flood risk areas is resilient to 
flooding. Overall, the number of people who live or work in a flood risk area 
will see an increase, but the number who would be significantly affected by a 
flood event should decrease. This will provide a more sustainable position 
than at present whilst also maintaining investment in key locations. 
 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Ensuring that everyone has access to a good supply of water 

 Improving the quality of water bodies across the city 

 Minimising the number of people and businesses that are at a significant 
risk from flooding, including within the high risk areas in the east of the city 
associated with the River Irwell 

 

Page 192



182 
 

19.4 Some of the measures aimed at reducing flood risk, such as minimising 
surface water runoff and increasing the use of sustainable drainage systems, 
should also help to address problems of water quality in the city’s 
watercourses. However, specific investment will be required, such as in 
improving the oxygen levels within the Manchester Ship Canal. This will help 
to ensure that European targets for water quality are met by the end of the 
plan period. 

 
 
Policy WA1 Water strategy 

 
A comprehensive and integrated approach to the management of water 
resources will be taken, enabling significant levels of development to be 
delivered in accessible locations in an environmentally sensitive way. This will 
include: 
 
1) Working towards achieving good status on all watercourses in Salford 

by 2027, helping to implement the North West River Basin Management 
Plan; 

2) Ensuring that water resources are used efficiently; 
3) Protecting and enhancing the resilience of the water supply network; 
4) Improving the functioning of the wastewater treatment works by 

securing additional investment and reducing hydraulic pressures on 
them; 

5) Restricting polluting activities that could contaminate water resources, 
and developing projects to address existing problems of polluted water 
bodies; 

6) Ensuring flood risk is not increased, and is reduced where practicable, 
through the careful control of the location, design and surface water 
management of new developments, but in a way that still enables the 
City Centre and Salford Quays to make a major contribution to economic 
growth and deprived neighbourhoods to be successfully regenerated; 

7) Supporting the replacement of existing buildings at risk of flooding, 
particularly housing, with new/alternative accommodation that has a 
significantly lower risk of being badly affected by a flood event through 
careful location, design and flood resilience measures; 

8) Improving the flood resistance and resilience of existing buildings 
within areas that have a significant risk of flooding; 

9) Seeking opportunities to relocate critical infrastructure and highly 
vulnerable uses from areas at significant risk of flooding; 

10) Protecting, maintaining and securing significant additional investment in 
flood management infrastructure, and seeking opportunities for further 
flood storage; 

11) Requiring new development to manage surface water and flood risk in a 
sustainable way, incorporating the wider environmental benefits 
provided by green infrastructure; 

12) Enhancing the scope and coordination of emergency planning 
procedures, and ensuring that new developments are integrated within 
them;  

Page 193



183 
 

13) Supporting a catchment-wide approach to managing water resources 
and flood risk, including natural flood risk management measures where 
suitable; and 

14) Ensuring that any development within or near to Chat Moss does not 
adversely affect the hydrology of the area. 

 
 
 
The North West River Basin Management Plan and water quality 
 
19.5 The North West River Basin Management Plan (RBMP) seeks to tackle the 

pressures facing the water environment. The legal framework for protecting 
and promoting sustainable water management of surface waters and 
groundwater is currently based on the Water Framework Directive (Directive 
2000/60/EC). This promotes an integrated approach to the water 
environment, including water quality, flood risk, biodiversity and the 
sustainable use of water as a resource, and requires all inland waters to 
achieve ‘good’ status. 

 
19.6 The overall status of each water body is assessed as a combination of 

ecological and chemical status, having regard to: 
 

 Biological quality (a measure of biodiversity); 

 Hydromorphological structure (such as the structure of a river bank and 
bed, and the continuity of the watercourse); 

 Specific pollutants (such as metals and organic compounds that have a 
detrimental impact on wildlife); 

 Physico-chemical quality (such as levels of dissolved oxygen, 
temperature and nutrients, which affect wildlife function); and 

 Chemical quality (relating to priority substances such as mercury and 
benzene that present a significant risk to the water environment). 

 
19.7 The majority of watercourses in Salford and the North West, as well as some 

canals and reservoirs, are currently failing to meet RBMP objectives. 
Achieving those objectives will take a combination of measures. Major 
environmental improvements are needed to most of Salford’s river corridors to 
improve their overall quality, functioning, connectivity and ecological quality, 
addressing issues such as canalisation and culverting, a lack of greenspace 
buffers and invasive non-native species. 

 
19.8 Development can have a major impact on the water environment, and so 

needs to be controlled accordingly, delivering enhancements wherever 
possible. Development that would be likely to lead to deterioration in the 
overall status of a water body, or would prevent future attainment of good 
status, can only be permitted in exceptional circumstances as set out in 
regulations. 
 

19.9 Even with improvements to the wastewater treatment works in Salford and 
adjoining areas, controls over polluting activities, and restrictions on surface 
water discharge to the sewerage network, other measures will be required to 

Page 194



184 
 

ensure that the water quality within the Manchester Ship Canal is improved. 
This will be particularly important at Salford Quays given the prominence of 
the area and the proposed scale of investment, building on the success of the 
existing oxygenation scheme. The city council will work with key partners 
including Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council, United Utilities, the 
Environment Agency and the Manchester Ship Canal Company to identify a 
funding mechanism for a more cost-effective long-term solution that could be 
extended further down the Manchester Ship Canal. 
 

19.10 The Environment Agency has identified Groundwater Source Protection 
Zones across the country which are intended to ensure that groundwater 
sources used for public drinking water are not adversely affected by 
contamination. In addition, all other groundwater abstractions intended for 
human consumption will assume a default source protection zone. The 
presence of these zones may lead to restriction on the activities that can take 
place within them. 

 
 
Policy WA2 Delivering the North West River Basin Management Plan 

 
The water quality of Salford’s water bodies will be protected and enhanced, 
including through the following measures: 
 
1) Controlling activities that could result in water pollution; 
2) Ensuring developments contribute to the achievement of River Basin 

Management Plan objectives; 
3) Securing further investment in Salford’s wastewater treatment works, 

particularly to reduce the frequency of intermittent discharges of storm 
sewage and accommodate the scale of development proposed in the 
Local Plan; 

4) Working with public and private sector partners to deliver a scheme that 
achieves long-term improvements in oxygen levels at Salford Quays and 
along the rest of the Manchester Ship Canal; 

5) Working with the Environment Agency to regulate activities within the 
Groundwater Source Protection Zones;  

6) Minimising the discharge of surface water to the sewerage network, and 
intercepting any associated pollutants, particularly through the use of 
green infrastructure and sustainable drainage systems (see Policy WA6); 
and 

7) Avoiding the culverting of watercourses unless there is an overriding 
need for it, and taking opportunities to remove existing culverts. 

 
Control of development 
Development must not have an adverse impact on the current overall status, 
or prevent future attainment of ‘good’ status, of any water body. 
 
Where practicable, development shall take opportunities to support the 
improvement of water bodies to at least ‘good’ status, including through: 
 

Page 195



185 
 

i) The provision and design of green infrastructure 
ii) Utilisation of sustainable drainage systems; 
iii) Control of pollution; 
iv) Remediation of contamination; 
v) Naturalisation of watercourses; and 
vi) Reducing obstacles to the movement of wildlife. 
 
An assessment identifying the impact of a proposed development on water 
body status shall be submitted with a planning application where: 
 
A) The proposed development would be likely to lead to deterioration in the 

overall status of a water body, or prevent future attainment of ‘good’ 
status; 

B) The development would involve the modification of a water body, for 
example through diversion, culverting, dredging or bridging; or 

C) The development is adjacent to a water body and requires an 
Environmental Impact Assessment. 

 
Definitions 
For the purposes of this policy, a water body is defined as the whole (or part) 
of a stream, river or canal, lake or reservoir, estuary or stretch of coastal 
water, or a defined area of an aquifer. 
 
The status of a water body is its classification in accordance with the River 
Basin Management Plan. 
 
 
 
Water supply, infrastructure and use 
 
19.11 Salford falls within United Utilities’ Integrated Resource Zone which covers 

much of the North West region. The latest baseline forecast, taking into 
account economic growth and climate change, suggests that the amount of 
water available to meet the projected demand shows a surplus over the 20 
years from 2020 to 204051. Consequently, the total available water supply 
should not act as a constraint on the scale of development within Salford 
during the Local Plan period. Nevertheless, it is still more sustainable for new 
developments to be designed to use water efficiently, in terms of reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions associated with water treatment and taking 
pressure off wastewater treatment works. 
 

19.12 Two critical pieces of water supply infrastructure run through Salford and so 
need to be protected from adverse impacts: 

 

 The Thirlmere Aqueduct forms part of the Greater Manchester ring 
main, which serves the majority of the conurbation 

 The West East Link Main connects the water supply systems that serve 
the Manchester and Liverpool City Regions, enabling water to be 

                                                           
51 United Utilities (2018) Revised Draft Water Resources Management Plan 2019, p.3 

Page 196



186 
 

moved around more easily to respond to the challenges of climate 
change, statutory compliance and maintenance 

 
 
Policy WA3 Water supply and water efficiency 

 
The Thirlmere Aqueduct and the West East Link Main will be protected from 
development that could compromise their physical integrity or effective 
maintenance. 
 
Development is encouraged to minimise water use as far as practicable by 
incorporating appropriate water efficiency and water recycling measures. 
 
 
 
Flood-related infrastructure 
 
19.13 The city council will use its powers under the Flood and Water Management 

Act 2010 to identify, protect and ensure the maintenance of structures and 
features that affect flooding. Planning controls will be coordinated with this 
regime, with developments not being permitted where they would adversely 
affect infrastructure that helps to reduce the risk and impacts of flooding. 
 

19.14 The two flood basins at Littleton Road and Castle Irwell protect Lower Kersal, 
Charlestown and Lower Broughton from river flooding to a standard of no 
flooding in a 1% annual exceedance probability (AEP) fluvial event52. 
However, further measures for reducing flood risk will be sought, in order to 
better protect the residents and businesses of Salford and communities 
downstream. This will not only include activities within the city, such as the 
coordinated improvement of the Cambridge area, but will also involve 
encouraging actions upstream of Salford that could slow the flow of water into 
the city. 

 
 
Policy WA4 Flood-related infrastructure 

 
Structures and other features that help to reduce the risk of flooding or 
mitigate its impacts will be protected, including the flood basins at Littleton 
Road and Castle Irwell. Their loss, alteration or replacement will only be 
permitted where there would be no increase in flood risk. 
 
Opportunities for further improvements in flood mitigation in Salford will be 
sought, potentially including through the provision of new open space within 
the Cambridge area and the raising of river banks. 
 

                                                           
52 That is in any year there is a 1% (1 in 100) chance of there being a river flooding event that would 
exceed the level of protection.   

Page 197



187 
 

The city council will work with other local authorities and the Environment 
Agency to identify the potential for additional flood water storage and reduced 
surface water runoff upstream of Salford. 
 
 
 
Development and flood risk 
 
19.15 Based on the 2011 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, approximately 3.6% of 

Salford’s land area and around 1,664 homes would be adversely affected by a 
1 in 100 year flood event53, with significant additional areas being at risk in a 1 
in 1,000 year event54. The main source of this flood risk is the River Irwell, 
although there is some limited flood risk associated with several of the city’s 
other watercourses, surface water, groundwater and sewers. It will only be 
appropriate to permit development where it can be clearly demonstrated that 
there would be no unacceptable risk or impact of flooding, either on the 
development itself or elsewhere. 
 

19.16 National planning policy sets some requirements for managing flood risk, 
based largely around a ‘Sequential Test’ and an ‘Exception Test’. The 
Sequential Test seeks to steer development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding, with this being particularly important for the uses that 
are most vulnerable in the event of a flood. Some uses are considered so 
vulnerable that it would be inappropriate for them to be located in the highest 
risk areas. Where such uses already exist in those locations, the city council 
will work with occupants to find alternative sites wherever possible. If 
development proposed for a site at risk of flooding can meet the Sequential 
Test then, for more vulnerable uses, it also needs to pass the Exception Test, 
which essentially requires it to be demonstrated that the sustainability benefits 
for the community outweigh the flood risk, the development will be safe, and 
that it will not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. 
 

19.17 Given the scale and extent of flood risk in Salford, it is essential that a 
rigorous approach to assessing the flood-related implications of developments 
is taken. Site-specific flood risk assessments are an important part of this, and 
these should have regard to the strategic flood risk assessment for Salford 
and any other relevant information on flood risk. Critical drainage areas, 
where drainage is a particular problem and stricter requirements for flood risk 
assessments apply, were initially defined within the strategic flood risk 
assessment and may be refined by subsequent information. 

 
 
Policy WA5 Development and flood risk 

 
Development will not be permitted where it would: 
 

                                                           
53 A 1 in 100 year flood event is an event that has a 1% chance of occurring in any one year 
54 A 1 in 1,000 year flood event is an event that has a 0.1% chance of occurring in any one year 

Page 198



188 
 

1A) Be subject to an unacceptable risk of flooding, with the acceptability of 
any risk being determined having regard to: 
a) The likely frequency of a flood event; 
b) The likely depth and velocity of any flood waters; 
c) The vulnerability of the use; 
d) The potential impacts on any users of the development; and 
e) The potential impacts on any buildings and other structures; 

1B) Materially increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; 
1C) Result in an unacceptable maintenance liability in terms of dealing with 

flood-related issues; or 
1D) Require unduly complicated or burdensome emergency planning 

procedures. 
 
Within areas that would be subject to a 1 in 100 year risk of flooding (1% 
annual exceedance probability (AEP)) (not taking into account flood defences), 
the following uses will not be permitted: 
 
2A) Police stations, ambulance stations, fire stations, command centres and 

telecommunications required to be operational during flooding; 
2B) Basement dwellings; 
2C) Caravans, mobile homes and park homes intended for permanent use, 

including sites for gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople; and 
2D) Installations requiring hazardous substances consent, except where 

there is an essential need. 
 
Development that would be subject to a 1 in 1,000 year risk of flooding shall: 
 
3A) Be designed to minimise the impact of any flooding, in a way that is 

proportionate to the level of flood risk; 
 
Development that would be subject to a 1 in 100 year risk of flooding (taking 
into account an appropriate allowance for climate change) shall: 
 
3B) Broadly maintain, and wherever possible increase, the flood water 

storage capacity of the flood cell within which it is located; 
3C) Enable the appropriate flow of flood waters; 
3D) Have safe and clearly identified access and egress routes, or a safe 

refuge, to be used in the event of a flood; and 
3E) Have clear evacuation procedures in the event of a flood, and be fully 

integrated into the city’s emergency planning systems throughout its 
lifetime. 

 
Flood risk assessments 
A site-specific flood risk assessment shall be submitted with any planning 
application for development that would: 
 
4A) Potentially increase the risk or impacts of flooding; and 
4B) Be located on: 

a) Any site within Flood Zones 2 or 3; 

Page 199



189 
 

b) Any site elsewhere that is known to be at significant risk from 
surface water, sewer or groundwater flooding; 

c)  Any site within a critical drainage area measuring 0.5 hectares or 
more; or 

d) Any other site in the city measuring 1 hectare or more. 
 
The flood risk assessment shall consider all types of flooding and the 
relationship between them, including that associated with rivers, canals, 
reservoirs, surface water, sewers and groundwater. 
 
The level of detail in the flood risk assessment should be proportionate to the 
potential risk and impact of flooding that the development would result in or to 
which it would be subject. 
 
Definitions 
For the purposes of this policy, all assessments of flood risk (excluding those 
relating to 1 in 1,000 year scenarios) shall take full account of the latest 
predicted impacts of climate change. 
 
 
 
Surface water management and sustainable drainage 
 
19.18 The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 introduced new responsibilities 

for the city council relating to the approval of proposed drainage systems in 
new developments and redevelopments, subject to certain thresholds and 
exemptions, having regard to minimum national standards. The following 
policy should be read in conjunction with these statutory requirements. 

 
19.19 Given the significant risk of surface water and river flooding affecting many 

parts of Salford, it will be important to minimise the amount of surface water 
runoff and discharge from development sites across the city. In addition to 
reducing flood risk, using sustainable drainage systems can provide 
construction and maintenance cost savings and bring a wide range of 
benefits, adding value to schemes by enhancing water quality, providing 
habitats for wildlife and creating more attractive and desirable developments. 
The wider benefits of investment in drainage systems should be maximised as 
far as possible, especially by designing them to form part of the city’s green 
infrastructure network and supporting the objective of significantly increasing 
Salford’s overall biodiversity value. Such benefits will be most effectively 
achieved by designing sustainable drainage systems into the site layout at an 
early stage. 
 

19.20 The discharge of surface water to the combined sewerage network can lead 
to the hydraulic capacity of that network and some of Salford’s wastewater 
treatment works and assets being exceeded. This results in intermittent 
discharges of storm sewage from those assets into the city’s watercourses, 
which have an adverse impact on water quality. Surface water discharge to 
the sewerage network can also result in local sewer flooding, due to the 
limited network capacity in some areas. It is therefore necessary to ensure 

Page 200



190 
 

that new developments across the whole city, including those on previously 
developed land, do not discharge any surface water to the combined 
sewerage network (either directly or indirectly). 

 
 
Policy WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage 

 

Development shall ensure that surface water across the whole site is managed 
in a sustainable way, helping to minimise flood risk and water pollution, 
promote biodiversity, and secure compliance with the North West River Basin 
Management Plan (see Policy WA2). 
 
Surface water shall be managed in line with the following hierarchy (highest 
priority first) recognising that a combination of measures from different levels 
in the hierarchy may be required to satisfactorily deal with all surface water: 
 
1) Infiltration to vegetation 
2) Store rainwater for later use on-site 
3) Infiltration (into the ground) 
4) Discharge to a surface water body such as a pond 
5) Discharge to a watercourse 
6) Discharge to a surface water sewer or highway drain 
7) Only in exceptional circumstances, discharge into the foul or combined 

sewer network, either directly or indirectly 
 
On-site measures to deal with surface water shall, wherever possible, be 
designed as multi-functional green infrastructure connecting to the wider 
green infrastructure network. 
 
Foul water shall be managed through a separate system to the management of 
surface water, and it shall drain to the public sewer. 
 
Development shall result in: 
 
A) On greenfield sites, no net increase in the rate of surface water 

discharge 
B) On previously-developed sites, a reduction of at least 50% in the rate of 

surface water discharge or a reduction to equivalent greenfield rates, 
whichever allows for the greater discharge 

 
Exceptions to points A and B may be made where it can be demonstrated that 
it is: 
 
a) Clearly impracticable to meet these requirements and the rate of surface 

water discharge has been minimised; or 
b) Necessary to move surface water away from a site more quickly in order 

to help mitigate serious flood risk problems within the local area. 
 

Page 201



191 
 

Where on-site attenuation measures are required to reduce the rate of surface 
water discharge, underground solutions such as detention tanks and 
oversized pipes shall only be utilised where it is not technically feasible to 
incorporate above ground sustainable drainage features that contribute to the 
green infrastructure network. 
 
Appropriate provision shall be made for the long-term management and 
maintenance of any sustainable drainage features. 
 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
19.21 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Percentage of surface water bodies of at least 

good ecological status or potential 

100% by 2037 

Planning applications approved contrary to 

Environment Agency advice on flood risk 

Zero 

(2018-2037) 

Number of developments approved which 

include sustainable drainage schemes 

Increase by 2037 

 
  

Page 202



192 
 

CHAPTER 20 DESIGN 

 
20.1 Good design is essential to the delivery of attractive, sustainable and well-

functioning places where people want to live, work and visit. It helps to 
achieve a high quality of life, support economic growth, and meet the 
challenges of climate change. It can promote pride and a sense of identity, 
and foster a successful image that attracts investment. It is also inclusive, 
enabling all people and communities to prosper, and helping people to live 
more active and healthier lives. 

 
20.2 High quality design is a positive investment, both for society as a whole and 

for developers in terms of increasing the attractiveness, marketability and 
long-term financial performance of their schemes. Any short-term savings that 
might be made by compromising on design quality would be likely to be 
hugely outweighed by the long-term negative impacts on the city’s economic, 
social and environmental sustainability. 

 
20.3 A very large amount of development will be delivered in Salford over the next 

20 years, which cumulatively could have a significant impact on places. Good 
design will be vital for ensuring that Salford and its neighbourhoods retain and 
enhance their local character as the city evolves. It can also make a 
considerable difference in the degree to which local communities welcome 
and accept new developments, and therefore to the success of those 
schemes. 

 
20.4 It will be important that all aspects of design are properly addressed, ranging 

from broad issues such as the layout, scale and massing of buildings, to more 
detailed issues such as the architectural coherence and use of materials that 
are fundamental to the quality of local townscapes. Developments need to be 
designed to be successful over the long-term, whether that be in terms of 
being able to adapt to changing circumstances or only using render if it will 
look as good after ten years as when it was applied. Good design will require 
close liaison with relevant statutory bodies from the early stages of the design 
process, but should also involve the public wherever possible in accordance 
with Policy F1. 

 
20.5 This chapter focuses on design, but many policies in other chapters of this 

Local Plan also have significant design implications, such as in terms of the 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Ensuring that new developments are designed to be inclusive to all 

 Increasing the access for everyone to well-designed places and 
developments 

 Protecting and enhancing the distinctive character of different parts of 
Salford 

 Using good design to create safer places with higher levels of amenity 

 Ensuring that all new homes provide a high quality living environment 
 

Page 203



193 
 

provision of green infrastructure (Policy GI2), the management of surface 
water and sustainable drainage (Policy WA6), the application of the transport 
hierarchy (Policy A2), the provision of recreation facilities within a site (Policy 
R3), and the protection and enhancement of biodiversity (Policy BG3). More 
detailed guidance on design issues is provided in a range of supplementary 
planning documents. 

 
 
Policy D1 Design principles 

 
All development shall achieve a high design quality, consistent with the 
following principles: 
 
1) Character: a place with its own identity 
2) Continuity and enclosure: a place where public and private places are 

clearly distinguished 
3) Quality of the public realm: a place with attractive and successful 

outdoor areas 
4) Ease of movement: a place that is easy to get to and move through 
5) Legibility: a place that has a clear purpose and is easy to understand 
6) Adaptability: a place that can change easily 
7) Diversity: a place with variety and choice 
8) Durability: a place built to last with a high quality visual appearance in 

the long term 
9) Environmentally sustainable: a place that enhances nature and adapts 

to climate change 
10) Wellbeing: a place that supports good health, happiness and active 

lifestyles 
11) Socially inclusive: a place for everyone, that promotes social interaction 

and support 
 
All Design and Access statements shall clearly explain how development 
delivers these eleven principles and the other design-related policies of this 
plan. 
 
Developments that raise significant design issues will be expected, where 
appropriate, to undergo a local design review before any planning application 
is determined. 
 
 
 
Local character 
 
20.6 Local identity and distinctiveness are important elements of successful places, 

helping to engender pride in an area. There is a risk that neighbourhoods will 
become increasingly indistinguishable as the function of places evolves and 
the economy becomes ever more globalised, particularly given the scale of 
development proposed in Salford. Protecting and enhancing the local 

Page 204



194 
 

character of areas therefore becomes particularly important, and design has a 
central role in this. 
 

20.7 As a result, it will be important that developments are designed to protect and 
take advantage of any distinctive characteristics that make a positive 
contribution to an area. The first priority should be to contribute to a 
successful place overall, rather than considering the design of the 
development in isolation, ensuring that it responds well to its context and local 
history. 

 
 
Policy D2 Local character and distinctiveness 

 
Development shall protect, enhance and respond to any positive character of 
the local area, and contribute towards local identity and distinctiveness. It 
shall be a positive addition to the surrounding area, being integrated within the 
townscape and landscape. 
 
In particular, development shall have regard to the following characteristics of 
the local area: 
 
1) Topography and landscape features; 
2) Historic assets and features, including views of and from them; 
3) Pattern, size and arrangement of street blocks, plots and buildings, 

including building lines; 
4) Scale and shape of buildings, including height, massing, silhouettes and 

roofscapes; 
5) Vertical and horizontal rhythms, for example created by window 

arrangements and architectural composition; 
6) Materials, boundary treatments and landscaping; 
7) Vistas, panoramas and views of natural and built landmarks; and 
8) Memories and associations including an area’s main (or former) uses, 

local traditions, social history and cultural expression 
 
New buildings shall use a consistent architectural style, individual elements 
adding up to a coherent whole, designed to relate to the positive context of its 
surroundings.  Buildings shall have a sufficient texture, depth and detailing to 
provide visual interest, particularly at street level where buildings will need to 
relate to a human scale. 
 
Where it is deemed that a deliberate contrast to certain characteristics would 
benefit the design, or to create a development that is highly sustainable, the 
development shall still relate to the points above and justify any non-compliant 
areas. 
 
Where there is no discernible or well-developed local character, developments 
shall contribute to the creation of a distinctive, integrated and coherent place.  
 
 

Page 205



195 
 

 
Layout and access 
 
20.8 The careful layout of highways, public spaces, private spaces and buildings is 

a vital component of high quality design. It can ensure that new developments 
function as an integral part of the wider area rather than being separated from 
it. Good layouts can help to promote walking, cycling and public transport use, 
and are easy for people to find their way around. A layout based around a 
grid, or distorted grid, will often be appropriate and the use of cul-de-sacs 
should generally be avoided wherever possible. 

 
 
Policy D3 Layout and access 

 
The layout of spaces and buildings shall be designed to ensure that 
developments: 
 
1) Are easy and safe to physically move through and around, including for 

those with constrained mobility and also for emergency access, 
maximising opportunities for the use of more sustainable modes of 
travel in accordance with the transport hierarchy in Policy A2; 

2) Are easy to navigate, using features to provide landmarks, vistas and 
wayfinding tools, and making use of the layout to protect and enhance 
views that are important for navigation; 

3) Are arranged to provide appropriate drop off, loading and parking, 
whilst still promoting walking and cycling as the preferred modes of 
transport in accordance with Policies A4 and A8; 

4) Where appropriate, use buildings to clearly define the spaces around 
them, including through the continuity of street frontages and 
consistent use of building lines; 

5) Are of a scale, height and massing sufficient to provide enclosure to 
surrounding spaces, whilst not being intimidating or unduly dominating 
the skyline or townscape; 

6) Locate principal frontages to face the most important public space or 
highway, whilst also providing a similar level of visual interest on other 
prominent frontages; and 

7) Locate main entrances on principal frontages, ensuring it is easy to 
identify and access. 

 
 
 
Spaces 
 
20.9 Spaces make an important contribution to the character and attractiveness of 

an area, and can also contribute to the significance of heritage assets. 
However, poorly defined and poorly lit spaces that have no clear function can 
detract from environmental quality, reducing safety and security. Surface car 
parking can have a highly detrimental impact on the appearance of an area 
unless it is carefully located and designed. 

Page 206



196 
 

 
20.10 The design of public spaces needs to be seen as an integral part of the 

overall design process rather than something separate. The relationship 
between different types of space needs to be carefully managed so as to 
avoid any confusion or conflict over their roles, and boundary treatments can 
play an important role in this. 

 
 
Policy D4 Spaces 

 
All spaces shall be designed to have a clear purpose and role, which is 
apparent to all potential users, and to form an integral part of developments. 
Their design shall be consistent with efforts to maximise green infrastructure, 
in accordance with Policy GI2. 
 
Public spaces shall connect to walking and cycling networks, and be designed 
to respond to desire lines. 
 
Developments and other proposals shall: 
 
1) Take opportunities to incorporate new spaces and respond positively to 

existing spaces; 
2) Provide appropriate levels of activity, particularly at ground floor level, 

that encourage a variety of uses in spaces and offer the natural 
surveillance required to make those spaces useable and safe; 

3) Carefully place street furniture, signage and other objects within spaces, 
to avoid clutter and unnecessary physical or visual obstacles, 
responding to the nature and use of the space in question and in 
particular the needs of visually impaired persons; 

4) Make appropriate use of spaces at all times, including the creation of 
sensitive lighting schemes that enable evening use without an 
unacceptable impact on residential amenity and the visually impaired; 

5) Provide shelter where people are likely to gather, for example through 
the location and design of buildings and landscaping; 

6) Minimise surface car parking and ensure that it does not dominate, or 
detract from, the streetscene or waterside locations; and 

7) Include provision for the maintenance and management of any public 
spaces that form part of, or are needed by, the overall development. 

 
Boundary treatments may be required where private spaces adjoin public 
spaces, and shall be carefully designed to respond to local character, utilising 
green infrastructure and providing visual permeability where compatible with 
the functions of the adjoining spaces. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207



197 
 

Amenity 
 
20.11 If buildings and spaces in Salford are to be popular and successful then they 

must provide a high level of amenity for their users. Poor amenity may result 
in high vacancy levels in buildings and only limited use of public and private 
spaces. New buildings and spaces need to be designed not only to ensure 
that their own users and occupiers have a good level of amenity, but also that 
they protect the amenity of the users of other developments and places. 

 
20.12 Tall buildings can raise particular issues, such as in terms of overshadowing 

and microclimate impacts, and so require special care. Higher density 
locations, such as City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, as well as some 
historic buildings, can present challenges in terms of maintaining suitable 
separation distances, but some flexibility and creative design should still 
enable both good amenity and high design quality to be achieved. 

 
 
Policy D5 Amenity 

 
Development shall ensure that it: 
 
1) Provides all potential users with an acceptable level of amenity; and 
2) Does not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of the users of 

other buildings and spaces. 
 
Amenity includes, but is not limited to, issues of: 
 
A) Space, both internal and external 
B) Layout 
C) Aspect 
D) Privacy 
E) Sunlight 
F) Daylight 
G) Temperature and microclimate 
H) Pollution (see also ‘Pollution and hazards’ chapter) 
 
Separation distances 
Development shall maintain suitable separation distances between the 
windows of habitable rooms in dwellings and the windows and walls of other 
properties, to ensure that an appropriate level of amenity is provided for all 
residential occupiers. 
 
The following minimum distances shall be maintained from the principal 
windows of habitable rooms in dwellings: 
 
a) 21 metres to facing principal windows of habitable residential rooms, 

and windows of other uses that could result in significant overlooking; 
b) 13 metres to other walls that are one storey higher; and 
c) 9 metres to other walls of a similar height. 

Page 208



198 
 

 
Shorter distances will be permitted where they are consistent with the 
character of the area, such as the high-density nature of City Centre Salford 
and Salford Quays, or are necessary to secure the positive reuse of an historic 
building, provided that it can be demonstrated that an appropriate level of 
amenity for occupiers would be achieved. Longer distances may be required 
where one of the buildings is more than one storey higher than the other. 
 
For the purposes of this policy, habitable rooms are defined as principal living 
rooms, principal dining areas, bedrooms, and, in dwellings where there is no 
separate dining room, kitchens. 
 
Microclimate 
All development shall be designed to ensure that it does not have any 
unacceptable impact on the local microclimate, for example in terms of the 
speed, direction or tunnelling of wind, or lead to the trapping of air pollution.  
A wind assessment shall be submitted with planning applications for tall 
buildings and other proposals likely to have significant wind implications. 
 
 
 
Design and crime 
 
20.13 Crime and the fear of crime can have a major impact on quality of life and the 

success of individual developments and places. Increasing security and 
minimising opportunities for crime and terrorism are therefore important 
objectives, but solutions should not be delivered in a way that reduces the 
attractiveness of places for example by resulting in a hostile appearance that 
actively gives the impression of significant crime problems. This problem can 
be overcome through careful design that integrates crime prevention features 
into the overall design of a building or space, rather than adding them on at 
the end. 
 

20.14 Human activity and the overlooking of spaces can help to discourage crime by 
effectively providing surveillance. For the same reason it is important to avoid 
concealed places where people can hide. All of this requires careful 
consideration of lighting levels as well as the siting and design of buildings 
and landscaping. 

 
 
Policy D6 Design and crime 

 
Development shall be designed to: 
 
1) Minimise the fear of crime; 
2) Minimise opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour; 
3) Minimise the threat of terrorism; and 
4) Support personal and property security. 
 

Page 209



199 
 

In particular, development shall be designed to: 
 
A) Allow for natural surveillance of public spaces, means of access and 

parking areas; 
B) Encourage activity within public areas; 
C) Avoid new, and where possible remove existing, places of concealment; 

and 
D) Avoid having a hostile appearance. 
 
Opportunities should be considered for taking advantage of existing public 
CCTV coverage to maximise safety and security in new development. 
 
 
 
Housing design 
 
20.15 It is essential that new housing is designed so as to ensure that its occupiers 

enjoy a high standard of amenity in the long-term, and this will have health 
benefits as well as helping to ensure that Salford is an attractive place to live. 
Meeting the nationally described space standards, as set out in Policy H5, will 
be a vital component of this. The availability of usable, private outdoor 
amenity space will also be important, supporting a higher quality of life and 
contributing to the city’s green infrastructure network. Issues such as the 
availability of natural light in homes are particularly significant for Salford 
given the large proportion of new dwellings that are likely to be in the form of 
apartments and high density houses. 
 

20.16 Delivering an inclusive built environment is a key aspiration of the Local Plan, 
and will become increasingly significant with a projected growth in the number 
of older people. It will be important to enable people to stay within their own 
homes wherever possible as their needs change, rather than having to move 
to more specialist accommodation. Designing new dwellings to meet the 
national standard for accessible and adaptable dwellings will assist in this, 
enabling easier adaptation. Achieving the higher standard for some homes of 
being wheelchair accessible or wheelchair adaptable would further increase 
the flexibility of new homes to adapt to varied needs. 

 
20.17 Measures also need to be taken to ensure the long-term sustainability and 

functionality of new homes, such as by delivering high levels of energy 
efficiency to support climate change objectives and reduce energy bills, and 
providing good recycling facilities to help meet targets to reduce the amount of 
waste being disposed of through landfill. The growing proportion of shopping 
conducted online will make it important that residential developments are 
designed to facilitate easy delivery of purchases. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 210



200 
 

Policy D7 Housing design 

 
All residential developments shall be designed to: 
 
1) Meet the nationally described space standards in accordance with the 

requirements set out in Policy H5; 
2) Be accessible and adaptable in accordance with requirement M4(2) of 

Schedule 1 to the Building Regulations 2010 for England (or any 
subsequent accessible and adaptable standards) except where it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this is impracticable due to site-specific 
factors; 

3) Provide an appropriate level of outdoor amenity space that reflects the 
type and size of each new dwelling; 

4) Ensure that their occupiers enjoy a high level of amenity, in accordance 
with Policy D5, including by providing all habitable rooms with a good 
level of natural light; 

5) Exceed the fabric energy efficiency required under Part L of the Building 
Regulations 2013 by at least 19%, and exceed the standard required by 
any subsequent revision to Part L, in accordance with Policy EG1; 

6) Make appropriate provision for refuse storage and collection; and 
7) Incorporate provision for the secure delivery of shopping and parcels. 
 
The delivery of homes to meet the optional standard in Building Regulations 
Part M4(3) for wheelchair user housing (either wheelchair accessible or 
wheelchair adaptable) or any subsequent revisions to the standard is 
encouraged. 
 
The requirements of this policy apply to all residential developments including 
student accommodation. However, as set out in Policy H5, the nationally 
described space standards requirement does not apply to purpose-built 
student accommodation, hotels, residential institutions (including secure 
institutions), dwellings with furnished layouts and houses in multiple 
occupation (HMOs). HMOs however shall, where practicable, meet the 
minimum room size and amenity standards set out in the city council’s latest 
published guidance for such properties, having regard to the physical 
constraints of the existing building. 
 
 
 
Alterations to buildings 
 
20.18 Alterations and extensions of existing buildings are an important way of 

ensuring that the city’s built environment is able to adapt to changing 
requirements. They can reduce the need for demolitions and redevelopments, 
and hence the use of building materials, and can also help to retain existing 
elements of the character of places that support local identity. As with new 
buildings, it is important that existing buildings that are extended have a high 
quality overall appearance, rather than appearing as a poorly thought through 

Page 211



201 
 

collection of different elements that do not work together. 
 

 
Policy D8 Alterations and extensions 

 
Alterations and extensions to existing buildings shall: 
 
1) Respect the general scale, character, rhythm, proportions, details and 

materials of the original building; 
2) Retain and avoid masking any key architectural features of the original 

building; 
3) Ensure that the resultant building appears as an attractive and coherent 

whole; and 
4) Where a heritage asset would be affected, either directly or in terms of 

its setting, be respectful of the significance of that asset. 
 
This does not preclude the use of innovative designs or contrasting materials, 
which in some circumstances may be more appropriate than copying the 
approach in the original building. 
 
 
 
Waterside development 
 
20.19 Salford’s waterways make a significant contribution to the character, identity 

and environmental quality of the city, and help to attract investment. 
Development alongside the waterways should fully support these varied roles. 
One key way of achieving this will be through the provision of waterside 
routes for pedestrians and cyclists, which will help to maximise their benefits 
for the whole community, increasing leisure opportunities and promoting 
healthy activities, and also linking into the city’s wider green infrastructure 
network.  
 

20.20 If the full potential of the city’s waterways is to be realised, particularly within 
the City Centre and Salford Quays, then it will be necessary to provide 
additional public spaces alongside them and bridges across them, helping to 
maximise their use and enjoyment for all. Individual developments will have 
an important role in facilitating and delivering this, supporting the successful 
functioning of the wider area. 
 

20.21 The application of other policies will be particularly important for waterside 
development, such as in terms of protecting and enhancing views of the 
waterway (Policy D2), providing a scale, height and massing sufficient to 
provide a sense of enclosure (Policy D3), offering visual interest (Policy D3), 
carefully using boundary treatments and locating surface car parking (Policy 
D4), allowing for natural surveillance of the waterway (Policy D6), and 
enhancing the city’s green infrastructure network (Policies GI1 and GI2). 

 
 

Page 212



202 
 

Policy D9 Waterside development 

 
Development near to Salford’s waterways (including the River Irwell, the 
Manchester Ship Canal, Salford Quays, the Bridgewater Canal and the 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal) shall make a positive contribution to their 
character, environmental quality, public amenity value, and role as key walking 
and cycling routes. 
 
Development shall: 
 
1) Provide a high quality frontage to the waterside, offering a positive 

setting to it; 
2) Provide natural surveillance and activity along the waterside, including 

through the incorporation of entrances to the site and buildings from 
any waterside walkway or highway; 

3) Enhance walking and cycling access to, along and across the waterway, 
including through the delivery of a waterside pedestrian and cycling 
route connecting to the wider walking and cycling networks, which shall 
be safe, accessible to all and at least 4 metres wide where practicable; 

4) Improve visual connections to and from the waterway; and 
5) Enhance the role of the waterway corridor within the green 

infrastructure network, including by supporting improvements to 
biodiversity, water quality and flood risk management. 

 
Where required to improve walking and cycling movements and/or enable 
public enjoyment of the waterside at key locations, development shall also 
accommodate: 
 
6) A larger waterside space to act as a focal point for public activity 
7) A crossing over the waterway 
 
Where the provision of a waterside pedestrian and cycling route would be 
impracticable, or incompatible with the commercial role of the waterway or the 
protection of the historic environment, then an alternative route shall be 
provided as near to the waterside as possible and linked into key routes 
including any existing waterside routes in the local area. 
 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 
 

Indicator Target 

Number of schemes assessed during 

the annual Planning Panel visit that 

100% 

Page 213



203 
 

Indicator Target 

achieve an overall average score of 4 or 

above (out of 5) 

 

 
  
  

Page 214



204 
 

CHAPTER 21 HERITAGE 

 
21.1 The city of Salford has a long and fascinating history, which is reflected not 

only in its diverse range of heritage assets but also the identity of its 
communities and neighbourhoods. 
 

21.2 There is evidence of human activity in the Salford area for several thousand 
years, with finds of flints and axes from the earliest periods, Bronze Age 
artefacts, the remains of Iron Age settlements and Roman roads, and the 
discovery of Worsley Man from around AD150 whose remains indicate that he 
may have been a sacrificial victim. The oldest surviving place name within 
Salford is that of Eccles, probably from the 6th century derived from the old 
British word 'ecles' meaning a church, with several other place names in the 
city thought to date from the 7th century. Salford, meaning ‘the ford by the 
willow’, gave its name to the Salford Hundred, one of the six administrative 
districts covering the land ‘between the Ribble and Mersey’, with the 
Domesday Book of 1086 suggesting that the majority of the land was either 
forest or uncultivated waste and that the population was very small. 
 

21.3 The medieval town of Salford was centred around the triangle of roads formed 
by the modern Greengate, Gravel Lane and Chapel Street (now part of City 
Centre Salford), being granted the right to hold a market in 1228 and made a 
free borough in 1230. Concurrent with these events was the development of a 
number of manorial sites, with Ordsall Hall surviving. The 16th and 17th 
centuries witnessed an increase in population, by which time the domestic-
based manufacture of textiles was firmly established as part of the town's 
economy. 

 
21.4 During the 18th and 19th centuries, Salford gained its reputation as an 

industrial city, with key innovations such as the opening of the Bridgewater 
Canal in 1761, the first canal in Britain to be built without following an existing 
watercourse, and the opening of the Manchester-Liverpool rail line in 1830, 
marking the dawn of the railway age that would transform the world. The 
population of Salford grew from less than 30,000 in 1801 to over 256,000 by 
1891, resulting in extensive areas of high-density housing. However, a striking 
feature on mid-19th century mapping of the city is the amount of land given 
over to high-status villa housing, elite houses and private parkland. The 
construction of the Manchester Ship Canal, which opened in 1894, and the 
creation of Salford Docks at the turn of the 20th century had a massive impact 
on the landscape of south Salford, with the docks subsequently closing in the 
1980s and later transformed into Salford Quays. Salford officially became a 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Protecting and enhancing the city’s heritage, which makes an important 
contribution to local history and identity for communities across the city 

 Increasing public access to heritage assets, and information about them, 
so that everyone is able to appreciate the city’s rich history 

 

Page 215



205 
 

city in 1926, with its current extent resulting from the local government 
reorganisation of 1974 when the former County Borough of the City of Salford 

was merged with the municipal boroughs of Eccles and Swinton and 
Pendlebury and the urban districts of Irlam and Worsley55. 
 

21.5 This history has left Salford with a diverse range of heritage assets, with the 
potential for further important palaeo-environmental56 and archaeological 
evidence to be discovered. The city’s pivotal role in the industrial revolution is 
reflected in this heritage. Salford also has a proud history of social 
advancement, for example with the vegetarian movement starting in Salford in 
1815, Chapel Street hosting the first cooperative Congress in 183157, Kersal 
Moor holding the largest of the Chartist meetings in 1838, the Crescent pub 
(then the Red Dragon) frequented by Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels in the 
1840s, Peel Park being one of the first three public parks in the country 
opening in 1846, Britain’s first public library opening in 1850 in what is now 
the Salford Museum and Art Gallery, the idea for the first Trades Union 
Congress discussed in a Chapel Street pub in 1866, the Battle of Bexley 
Square in 1931 when a 10,000-strong crowd protested against cuts in 
unemployment benefits, and today the city hosts the Working Class 
Movement Library, one of the most unusual libraries in the world, in a grade II 
listed former nurses home built in 1897. The city’s more recent social history 
and identity is also tied to the endeavours of hometown artists, such as those 
of painter LS Lowry, folk singer Ewan MacColl and playwright Shelagh 
Delaney. 
 

21.6 Salford’s history and heritage are hugely important to its residents. The pace 
and scale of change can lead to concerns about the impact on the character 
and identity of the city and its individual neighbourhoods, increasing the 
importance of heritage. In addition to being valuable in its own right, the 
historic environment can also enhance quality of life, make locations more 
attractive for investment, and support tourism activity. Hence it is vital that 
heritage issues are fully considered and addressed as Salford continues to 
develop, and that the city’s history is acknowledged and cherished. 

 
 
Policy HE1 Heritage spatial strategy 

 
The quality and appreciation of Salford’s heritage will be strengthened, 
including by: 
 
1) Protecting and enhancing heritage assets and their setting, and the 

wider historic character of places 
                                                           
55 Significant sections of this introduction are taken from: 
The Greater Manchester Archaeological Unit (November 2010) Greater Manchester Urban Historic 
Landscape Characterisation: Salford District Report 
Population figures from: GB Historical GIS / University of Portsmouth, Salford District through time | 
Population Statistics | Total Population, A Vision of Britain through Time 
56 Of, or pertaining to, the environment at a particular time in the geologic past 
57 https://www.theguardian.com/uk/the-northerner/2012/oct/24/blogpost-co-operative-movement-co-
op-history-salford-manchester  

Page 216

https://www.theguardian.com/uk/the-northerner/2012/oct/24/blogpost-co-operative-movement-co-op-history-salford-manchester
https://www.theguardian.com/uk/the-northerner/2012/oct/24/blogpost-co-operative-movement-co-op-history-salford-manchester


206 
 

2) Reflecting historic identity in development design, street naming and 
public art 

3) Supporting the positive reuse of heritage assets 
4) Encouraging the appropriate maintenance and repair of heritage assets 
5) Working with owners, occupiers, communities and other stakeholders to 

reduce the number of heritage assets at risk 
6) Developing masterplans and conservation area management plans to 

deliver positive change in historic areas 
7) Promoting public enjoyment of, and access to, heritage 
8) Increasing public understanding of the city’s heritage and history 

through improved access to information and interpretation 
9) Extending controls over heritage assets where appropriate, such as 

through the designation of conservation areas and use of article 4 
directions 

 
 
 
Heritage assets 
 
21.7 Salford has a significant number and wide range of heritage assets. Some of 

these are formally designated due to their special interest or identified locally 
as being important, but much of the city’s historic interest is not officially 
defined particularly in terms of its archaeology. Indeed, there is considerable 
potential for additional archaeological features to be found that are currently 
unknown, such as in parts of Chat Moss. 
 

21.8 Salford’s historic environment record provides details of all known heritage 
assets, and is managed on behalf of the city council by the Greater 
Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service. As of October 2018, Salford has 
235 listed building entries, 16 conservation areas, 3 scheduled ancient 
monuments and 2 registered parks and gardens. It also has a local list of 
heritage assets containing almost 300 entries. The designation of heritage 
assets is not static, and it may be appropriate for new assets to be designated 
and in exceptional circumstances for existing assets to be de-designated. 

 
 
Policy HE2 Heritage assets 

 
Heritage assets are found throughout Salford and will have an important role 
in supporting local identity, the quality of life and economic growth. 
 
The city council will continue to: 
 
A) Maintain a historic environment record, providing comprehensive 

information on Salford’s heritage 
B) Keep under review the need to designate new conservation areas and 

add entries to the local list of heritage assets 
C) Work with stakeholders to identify additional heritage assets that may 

be worthy of national designation 

Page 217



207 
 

 
Definitions 
A heritage asset is a building, monument, site, place or landscape identified as 
having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions. 
 
Heritage assets include designated heritage assets (such as scheduled 
monuments, listed buildings, registered parks and gardens, and conservation 
areas) and non-designated assets identified by the local planning authority 
(such as through local listing). 
 
Heritage assets shown on the Policies Map 
 
Conservation areas 
1. Adelphi/Bexley Square 
2. Barton-upon-Irwell 
3. Cathedral 
4. Cliff 
5. Crescent 
6. Ellesmere Park 
7. Flat Iron 
8. Irlams o' th' Height 
9. Mines Rescue Station 
10. Monton Green 
11. Radcliffe Park Road 
12. Roe Green/Beesley Green 
13. St Augustine's 
14. St Mark's 
15. Worsley Old Hall 
16. Worsley Village 
 
Scheduled ancient monuments 
17. The Delph, Worsley Road, Worsley, the canal tunnel entrances and 

wharf, dating back to 1759 to 1760 
18. Wardley Hall moated site, Wardley Hall Road, Worsley, a moated site 

with island occupied by medieval hall and gardens 
19. Promontory Fort, 300 metres west of Great Woolden Hall Farm, 

Cadishead, a promontory hill fort dating back to the Iron Age 
20. Lime Kiln, Barton Road, Worsley (proposed) 
 
Registered historic parks and gardens 
21. Buile Hill Park, Weaste and Seedley/Langworthy (grade II) 
22. Weaste Cemetery, Weaste and Seedley (grade II) 
 
 
  

Page 218



Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A Roads
Town centres
Conservation areas
Listed buildings
Scheduled ancient monuments
Registered parks and gardens
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 16 - Designated heritage assets

M60

M602

M61

M60

M60

M62

A580

P
age 219



 

209 
 

Heritage protection 
 
21.9 The protection and enhancement of its heritage assets is an important priority 

for Salford, and will help to deliver wider social, cultural, economic and 
environmental benefits. It will also support a strong local identity for the city, 
helping to differentiate it from other places and strengthening community 
pride. 
 

21.10 The value of heritage is recognised in legislation, with heritage being identified 
as more than just another material consideration. The relevant act is clear that 
special regard needs to be had to the desirability of preserving listed buildings 
and their settings and interesting features, and that special attention needs to 
be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas58. National planning policy emphasises the 
irreplaceable nature of heritage assets, both designated and non-designated, 
and the need to conserve them in a manner appropriate to their significance59. 

 
21.11 It is important to recognise that all places evolve over time. Change is not 

inherently problematic, and indeed can help to accentuate historic interest, 
and not everything that is old is necessarily worthy of protection. 

 
 
Policy HE3 Heritage protection 

 
Salford’s heritage assets and their setting will be protected, conserved and 
enhanced, ensuring that they continue to make a positive contribution to the 
character and identity of the city’s neighbourhoods. 
 
The level of protection afforded to any individual heritage asset will reflect: 
 
A) Whether it is a designated or non-designated heritage asset; 
B) The nature, extent and level of its significance, having regard to its 

architectural, historic, artistic and/or archaeological interest; 
C) The degree to which the setting and significance of other heritage assets 

is reliant on it and their relationship to each other and the individual 
heritage asset; and 

D) The contribution that it makes to the character and identity of the local 
area and Salford more generally including the city’s social history. 

 
Harm to heritage assets shall be minimised as far as practicable. The 
acceptability of any such harm will be determined in accordance with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Where harm to heritage assets is unavoidable, appropriate compensation shall 
be provided, for example by better revealing the significance of the heritage 
assets, securing repairs to them, improving public access to them, and 

                                                           
58 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, sections 66 and 70 
59 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 184 and definition of ‘heritage asset’ in Annex 2 

Page 220



210 
 

providing publicly accessible information about them. Where a heritage asset 
will be, or has been, lost or covered up, then the development design should 
make an appropriate reference to it. 
 
Definitions 
The terms ‘heritage asset’, ‘designated heritage asset’ and ‘non-designated 
heritage asset’ are defined in Policy HE2. 
 
The significance of an asset is its value to this and future generations because 
of its heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, 
artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s 
physical presence but also from its setting. 
 
 
 
Managing change across historic areas 
 
21.12 The historic environment of Salford consists of much more than its individual 

heritage assets. It also includes the setting of those assets, their grouping and 
interrelationships, and the wider historic significance, evolution and stories of 
places. Some areas of historic interest are formally designated as 
conservation areas, and it may be appropriate for additional conservation 
areas to be designated, but not all areas of interest will be suitable for 
designation. 
 

21.13 In some ways all parts of Salford may be considered to have some heritage 
interest, as they have all evolved over time and have a story to tell. 
Appropriately managing change across each area is not about preventing 
development, but instead relates to the need to recognise and respond to the 
history and heritage of the area. Development should reveal rather than 
extinguish that history, and support a strong and distinctive identity for each 
place. It may be appropriate for development in some historic areas to be 
guided by a masterplan for the wider area, in accordance with Policy EF2. 
Policy D2 (Local character and distinctiveness) is also especially relevant to 
managing change in historic areas. 

 
 
Policy HE4 Managing change across historic areas 

 
Development shall: 
 
1) Protect, conserve and enhance the historic character of places; and 
2) Positively respond to the history and stories of the local area, enabling 

people to understand how the site and area have changed over time. 
 
Change will be carefully managed across Salford, including in the following 
locations: 
 

Page 221



211 
 

A) Greengate, Salford Central and the Crescent, where the very large scale 
of new development proposed provides an opportunity to secure 
investment in the area’s large number of heritage assets but also needs 
to be designed to ensure it does not detract from those assets, 
including those in neighbouring Manchester 

B) Worsley Village and the Bridgewater Canal Corridor, where major 
investment in the area’s heritage assets, including those within RHS 
Garden Bridgewater, will support the expansion of its strategically 
important tourism and leisure roles, and the West Salford Greenway will 
assist in preserving the setting and special character of historic 
settlements in this part of the city 

C) Barton Aerodrome, where the development and potential expansion of 
Port Salford and its associated infrastructure need to respect and 
sustain the unique historic aviation landscape of Britain’s first municipal 
airport, which opened in 1930 and where the country’s first designated 
runways, first civil aviation aircraft hangar, first airport terminal building 
and first flight control tower still survive 

D) Eccles Town Centre, where there is considerable potential to take 
advantage of the high concentration of listed and locally listed buildings 
and the best surviving medieval core in the city, as well as its historic 
associations with the Eccles cake, to support the renewal of the town 
centre in a way that maximises the benefits of the highly accessible 
location 

E) Ordsall Hall, where the continued redevelopment of Ordsall Waterfront 
and other parts of the Ordsall area for high-density development needs 
to be managed in a way that protects and enhances the setting and 
views of one of the city’s most important heritage assets 

F) The wider Chat Moss area, where there is high potential for discoveries 
of further prehistoric archaeological remains and Iron Age evidence, and 
some areas of peat may retain important palaeo-environmental evidence 
and possibly bog bodies60 

 
 
 
A positive role for heritage assets 
 
21.14 Heritage assets that are actively used are much more likely to be subject to 

an appropriate maintenance regime that helps to protect their long-term future 
and heritage interest, whereas vacant historic buildings often fall into disrepair 
that can ultimately lead to their partial or complete loss. Finding appropriate 
uses for Salford’s heritage assets is therefore an important priority, and the 
city council will work with developers and Historic England in achieving this. 

 
21.15 Salford’s heritage will need to adapt to changing circumstances. This may 

involve some alterations and adaptations in order to accommodate new uses, 
but it needs to be ensured that these are sensitively designed and 
implemented so that the heritage interest is not significantly diminished. 

 

                                                           
60 A bog body is a human cadaver that has been naturally mummified in a peat bog 

Page 222



212 
 

21.16 Temporary uses of historic buildings can often be appropriate, as they provide 
a way of testing the market and securing the active use of heritage assets 
without the need for changes to the built fabric. Artistic uses and performance 
events can be particularly successful at increasing the public connection to 
the city’s heritage. The involvement of local communities can help to identify 
and secure long-term uses for heritage assets. 

 
 
Policy HE5 A positive future for heritage assets 

 
The positive use of heritage assets will be encouraged, helping to ensure that 
they are appropriately maintained. 
 
The use secured should be consistent with the protection and enhancement of 
the asset’s heritage significance and its sustainable long-term use. The 
original or a historically significant use will typically be the most appropriate 
long-term use for a heritage asset, and where a proposal departs from this 
then the applicant will need to demonstrate why it is not feasible to retain or 
restore that use original/historic use.  
 
Uses that provide opportunities for heritage learning and public access to and 
appreciation of heritage will be looked on more favourably. 
 
 
 
Heritage at risk 
 
21.17 Owning or occupying a heritage asset is both a privilege and a responsibility. 

It can often involve extra costs, such as in terms of the materials and skills 
required to maintain a historic building, but it also offers additional benefits 
including the character of accommodation that can contribute to commercial 
opportunities and quality of life. 
 

21.18 Unfortunately, not all owners and occupiers of heritage assets fulfil their 
responsibilities, and buildings and structures can fall into disrepair or suffer 
inappropriate adaptations as a result. Sometimes this is through deliberate 
negligence, but it can also be the result of the sheer scale of maintenance 
liabilities such as those faced by religious organisations in the upkeep of 
churches. 

 
21.19 Historic England updates annually its Heritage at Risk Register, which 

identifies the designated heritage assets most at risk and most in need of 
safeguarding for the future. Other organisations such as the Theatres Trust 
also publish lists of heritage assets that are at risk. The planning acts provide 
the city council with various powers to intervene where a heritage asset is at 
risk, but their use is contingent on the availability of adequate resources. 
 

21.20 It is wholly unacceptable for owners and occupiers to deliberately allow 
heritage assets to fall into disrepair, or to avoid maintenance responsibilities in 

Page 223



213 
 

the hope of securing more profitable uses for a building or site in the future. 
National policy is clear that: “Where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of, 
or damage to, a heritage asset, the deteriorated state of the heritage asset 
should not be taken into account in any decision.”61 Prospective owners 
should have full regard to the likely costs of restoration and maintenance of 
heritage assets in the price they pay for a site or building. 

 
 
Policy HE6 Heritage at risk 

 
The city council will work with owners, occupiers, communities and other 
stakeholders, to identify ways of securing the long-term future of heritage 
assets. 
 
Where appropriate, a range of actions may be taken to secure the appropriate 
restoration or maintenance of heritage assets, including enforcement action 
against unauthorised changes, compulsory purchase orders, urgent works 
notices, and dangerous structure orders. 
 
Owners and occupiers of heritage assets are strongly encouraged to 
investigate grant funding opportunities. 
 
 
 
Heritage information and interpretation 
 
21.21 High quality information is essential for the protection and appreciation of the 

city’s heritage. Various approvals are required for works affecting heritage 
assets, and the related applications can only be determined if they are 
accompanied by a clear heritage assessment setting out the significance of 
any heritage assets that would be affected, the likely impacts of the proposed 
works, and how any likely harm has been minimised and mitigated. 
 

21.22 There is huge public interest in the city’s history and heritage assets. Hence it 
is important to increase public access to heritage information and 
interpretation wherever possible, both on-site and as part of the historic 
environment record, and this can be a valued resource for communities. This 
connection to, and evidence of, a site’s history and heritage can also increase 
a development’s attractiveness to potential occupiers and investors, adding to 
its distinctiveness and combating uniformity. 

 
21.23 Where heritage assets are to be lost or covered up then it is especially 

important that they are fully recorded and this evidence is made publicly 
available. However, national policy is clear that a commitment to such 
recording can in no way justify the loss of a heritage asset62. 

                                                           
61 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 191 
62 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 199 

Page 224



214 
 

 
21.24 All of these issues can be particularly important for below ground 

archaeology, the details of which may not be fully understood at the point of 
application. This can result in the need for archaeological investigations prior 
to development taking place, and preservation and recording of anything that 
is found as a result. 

 
 
Policy HE7 Heritage information and interpretation 

 
All applications that affect the historic environment, heritage assets and their 
setting must be accompanied by a heritage assessment that provides 
appropriately detailed information to enable a full understanding of the 
significance of the relevant heritage assets and the potential impacts of the 
proposal. 
 
Where significant potential for below ground artefacts or remains has been 
identified, an archaeological investigation will be required prior to the 
development of the site. 
 
Proposals affecting heritage assets shall seek to maximise public access to 
information about those assets, proportionate to the significance of those 
assets and the impacts on them, including by: 
 
1) Recording details of any heritage assets that would be harmed, lost or 

covered up 
2) Making any information about the heritage assets available for public 

inspection, including as part of the historic environment record 
3) Publishing the findings of archaeological and other heritage 

investigations in an easily accessible format 
4) Drawing attention to heritage assets through signage and plaques 
5) Providing interpretation panels/boards on or around the site, and/or for 

use in public spaces 
6) Making materials available for use in schools and other community 

activities 
 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
21.25 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 
 

Indicator Target 

Heritage assets identified as ‘at risk’ Reduction in the 

number of assets 

at risk  

Page 225



215 
 

Indicator Target 

Number of heritage assets lost or de-

designated 

Minimise 

Number of statutorily protected heritage 

assets 

No net reduction 

 
  

Page 226



216 
 

CHAPTER 22 GREEN BELT AND AGRICULTURE 
 

 

22.1 The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy, as identified in national planning 
policy, is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The 
Green Belt in Salford was originally designated in full in 1984, as part of the 
wider Greater Manchester Green Belt. As of March 2018 it measured 3,372 
hectares, accounting for just over one-third of the total land area of the city. It 
is highly valued by residents, and hence its protection and enhancement is an 
important part of the spatial strategy for Salford. 
 

22.2 The need for any changes to the Green Belt in Salford, both in terms of land 
being removed or added to it, is being considered solely through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework rather than the Salford Local Plan. This is 
because it is important to consider any Green Belt boundary changes in 
Salford as part of the overall strategy across Greater Manchester for 
accommodating development and combatting urban sprawl. The Revised 
Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework proposes several changes to 
the Green Belt boundaries in Salford (shown in Figure 17 below and on the 
Policies Map), which would lead to a small net increase of 29.5 hectares in the 
area of the city that is designated as Green Belt: 
 

Land to be removed from the Green Belt (total of 241.5 hectares) 
A) East of Boothstown (29.5 hectares, to accommodate housing) 
B) North of Irlam Station (71.0 hectares, to accommodate housing) 
C) Port Salford Extension (124.2 hectares, to accommodate industry and 

warehousing) 
D) Land at Hazelhurst Farm (16.8 hectares, to accommodate housing) 
 
Land to be added to the Green Belt (total of 271.0 hectares) 
1) West Salford Greenway (184.5 hectares) 
2) Part of the Logistics North country park (15.3 hectares) 
3) Wharton Playing Fields (7.9 hectares) 
4) Land west of Burgess Farm (25.2 hectares) 
5) Blackleach Country Park (34.1 hectares) 
6) Land north-east of HMP Forest Bank (4.1 hectares) 
 

22.3 Given the extent of the Green Belt, it is vital that its various parts have positive 
roles that support the environmental, social and economic wellbeing of 
residents. The potential to deliver additional green infrastructure benefits is 
particularly significant, and increasing public access will be an important way 
of ensuring that all residents are able to directly benefit from the Green Belt. 
The approach to Chat Moss in Policy GI3 is a key part of this. 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Protecting the Green Belt for future generations 

 Encouraging improved public access to the Green Belt, so that all 
residents can benefit from this resource 

 

Page 227



217 
 

 
 
Policy GB1 Green Belt 

 
The Green Belt within Salford is defined on the Policies Map. This Green Belt 
will be afforded strong protection in accordance with national planning policy.  
 
The positive use of the Green Belt will be supported where this is consistent 
with its Green Belt status and the purposes of its designation. In particular, the 
enhancement of its green infrastructure functions will be encouraged, such as 
improved public access and habitat restoration, helping to deliver 
environmental and social benefits for the residents of Salford and providing 
the high quality green spaces that will support economic growth. 
 
  

Page 228



4

5

6

A

B

C

D
1

2
3

  Figure 17 - Green Belt  

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Existing Green Belt
Additions to the Green Belt as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework

Removals from the Green Belt as proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework

© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

1)  West Salford Greenway
2)  Part of the Logistics North country park 
3)  Wharton Playing Fields
4)  Land west of Burgess Farm
5)  Blackleach Country Park
6)  Land north east of Forest Bank Prison

A)  East of Boothstown
B)  North of Irlam Station
C)  Port Salford extension
D)  Land at Hazelhurst Farm

P
age 229



 

219 
 

Soils and agricultural land 
 
22.4 As the national soil strategy explains: 

 
“Soil is a fundamental natural resource on which life depends. It provides 
many essential services on which we rely including food production, water 
management and support for valuable biodiversity and ecosystems. As a 
large store of carbon it also plays a vital role in the fight against climate 
change.”63 
 

22.5 Protecting soils must therefore be an important priority for this Local Plan. 
This relates not just to land in agricultural use, but also to soils within the 
urban area, where the negative impacts of development on soil resources 
need to be minimised. 
 

22.6 High grade agricultural land is a precious and relatively scarce natural 
resource. Technical data from Defra indicates that there is around 1,800 
hectares of the highest grade land (grades 1 and 2) in Salford, located entirely 
within and around Chat Moss, equating to 19% of the city’s land area. Salford 
has around 83% of all grade 1 agricultural land in Greater Manchester, 
although it accounts for just 0.45% of such land within England as a whole. 
This high grade agricultural land is in a variety of uses, with a significant 
amount of arable activity as well as horticulture, turf growing, hobby farming, 
equestrian uses, woodland, a golf course, fishing lakes, designated nature 
conservation sites, habitat restoration, and fallow land. 
 

22.7 Given its potential importance for food production, the loss of higher grade 
land should normally be avoided wherever possible. However, a key 
environmental priority for Salford is the restoration of the Biodiversity 
Heartland in Chat Moss to lowland raised bog and complementary habitats, 
which would deliver nature conservation benefits and enhance the function of 
the area as a carbon sink. This is likely to involve the loss of some high grade 
land, although it would not preclude its return to agriculture in the future if 
there was an urgent need. 
 

22.8 A decision has been made in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework that 
the loss of a relatively small proportion of the high grade agricultural land in 
Salford would be appropriate in order to maximise the benefits of Port Salford 
(GM Allocation 33: Port Salford Extension) and to increase the supply of 
housing close to good public transport connections (GM Allocation 32: North 
of Irlam Station). 
 

22.9 Given the location and nature of high grade soils in Salford, where land is 
used for agriculture it will be important to ensure that this supports wider 
environmental objectives, such as minimising greenhouse gas emissions and 
enhancing biodiversity. 
 

                                                           
63 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) (2009) Safeguarding our Soils: A 
Strategy for England, paragraph 2 

Page 230



220 
 

 
Policy GB2 Soils and agricultural land 

 
Development shall safeguard and utilise on-site soil resources where 
practicable, maximising the retention of its environmental functions, in 
accordance with the Defra code of practice for the sustainable use of soils on 
construction sites. 
 
The loss of agricultural land shall be avoided wherever possible. Where 
development of agricultural land is proposed, it shall be demonstrated that: 
 
1) Preference has been given to the use of lower grade land; and 
2) The scale of loss has been minimised. 
 
The positive use of agricultural land for farming and agri-environmental 
schemes will be encouraged. The use of agricultural land shall seek to protect 
soil quality, minimise soil erosion, retain landscape features such as ponds 
and hedgerows, and maximise wider environmental benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Farm diversification 
 
22.10 Diversifying into non-agricultural activities can maintain the commercial 

viability of farm enterprises, supporting the wider rural economy and helping to 
ensure that profitable agricultural uses are retained. However, it is important 
that small-scale agricultural-related uses that are often not profitable in their 
own right, such as hobby farming, are not used to justify non-agricultural 
developments that would be better located elsewhere. 
 

22.11 There is the potential for farm diversification proposals to negatively impact on 
neighbouring land uses. For example, some activities could affect local 
drainage, which in turn could impact on the agricultural potential of nearby 
land, important wildlife habitats or lowland raised bog restoration. Many of the 
roads within Chat Moss are of relatively poor quality, and so accessibility is 
likely to be a considerable constraint on the location, scale and nature of farm 
diversification, with significant traffic generation unlikely to be appropriate. 

 
 
Policy GB3 Farm diversification 

 
Farm diversification projects that support the rural economy will be permitted, 
particularly where they enhance public access to the Green Belt, provided 
that: 
 

Page 231



221 
 

1) They support the long-term future of an established agricultural 
enterprise that has demonstrated profitability over a prolonged period; 

2) The scale of development is consistent with the rural location; 
3) There would be no unacceptable impact on the openness of the Green 

Belt; 
4) There would be no unacceptable impact on the use of surrounding land, 

including soils in accordance with Policy GB2; and 
5) The level of traffic generation would be consistent with the rural location 

and the quality of the local roads. 
 
 
 
New dwellings in the Green Belt 
 
22.12 Strict controls are required to avoid unnecessary built development within the 

Green Belt, which could harm its openness, and so it will be necessary to 
demonstrate a genuine, long-term functional need for any new dwellings in the 
Green Belt. They will only be appropriate where they are specifically required 
to accommodate those working in rural-based enterprises such as agriculture 
and forestry, and there are no realistic housing alternatives available in the 
local area.  
 

22.13 Where a new dwelling is permitted, it will be necessary to ensure that it is only 
occupied by people employed within the occupations that have justified its 
construction. Otherwise, it might be used for general market housing, which 
could then make it necessary to permit additional dwellings for those working 
in rural enterprises, leading to a gradual urbanisation of Salford’s Green Belt. 
Such restrictions will only be removed where there is clear evidence that there 
is no longer a demand for the properties from people within the specified 
occupations. 
 

22.14 It is also important to ensure that the land uses that justify the provision of 
new dwellings do not become separated from those dwellings as a result of 
subsequent sales. This is because the same land could then potentially be 
used to justify the need for a further new dwelling, again leading to an 
unnecessary increase in urban features within the Green Belt. 

 
 
Policy GB4 Agricultural, forestry and other occupational dwellings within the 

Green Belt 

 
New permanent dwellings to support agriculture, forestry or other activities 
acceptable in the Green Belt will only be permitted where: 
 
1) There is a clearly established existing functional need for the dwelling; 
2) The need relates to a full-time worker, or one who is primarily employed 

in the activity generating the need, and does not relate to a part-time 
requirement; 

3) The unit and the activity concerned: 

Page 232



222 
 

i) Have been established for at least three years; 
ii) Have been profitable for at least one of the last three years; and 
iii) Have a clear prospect of remaining profitable in the future; 

4) The functional need could not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling 
on the unit, or any other existing accommodation in the area which is 
suitable and available for occupation by the workers concerned; and 

5) The dwelling is of a size commensurate with the established functional 
requirement, and is not unusually large in relation to the needs of the 
unit. 

 
Where there is some uncertainty over the financial basis of the enterprise, it 
may be possible to justify a temporary dwelling for a period of up to three 
years to allow it to establish its long-term profitability. 
 
Where a new dwelling has been justified on the basis of a functional need to 
house someone working in agriculture, forestry or other activities acceptable 
in the Green Belt, a planning condition will be used to control its occupancy 
for that purpose. Where appropriate, a planning obligation will be used to 
ensure that the dwelling is not severed from the land the use of which justifies 
its construction. 
 
A condition restricting the occupancy of a dwelling to certain types of worker, 
such as those involved in agriculture, forestry and/or other activities 
acceptable in the Green Belt, will only be removed where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that there is no demand for the dwelling from people who would 
comply with the occupancy condition. Evidence must be provided that the 
dwelling has been widely marketed over a period of at least 12 months for both 
sale and rent at a price that reflects the occupancy condition, including 
directly approaching local rural employers, and that any reasonable offers 
have not been rejected. 
 
 
  

Page 233



223 
 

CHAPTER 23 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
23.1 Green infrastructure is defined in the National Planning Policy Framework as 

a “network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable 
of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local 
communities”. It also includes ‘blue’ features such as ponds, rivers and 
canals. 
 

23.2 Green infrastructure is essential to the success of Salford, not just because of 
the wide variety of environmental objectives that it helps to meet but also 
because it improves quality of life, supports economic growth, enhances the 
image of the city, assists in mitigating the impacts of climate change, and 
promotes social objectives such as good physical and mental health and 
wellbeing. Hence, investment in green infrastructure, such as the new RHS 
Garden Bridgewater, is an investment in the long-term health and prosperity 
of the city, its residents and its businesses. 
 

23.3 It will be important to ensure that all areas of Salford benefit from the provision 
of accessible and high quality green infrastructure, including within the more 
densely developed areas of the city. The green infrastructure network 
therefore needs to stretch throughout the whole city, and this will require the 
provision of new pieces of green infrastructure as well as the appropriate 
protection and improvement of existing ones. The contribution of Salford’s 
green infrastructure to the wider Greater Manchester network also needs to 
be recognised, and Chat Moss and the Irwell Valley in particular are 
considered to be of sub-regional importance. 

 
 
Policy GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy 

 
A comprehensive, high quality network of green infrastructure will be 
established throughout Salford, extending into surrounding districts. It will be 
formed from a wide variety of green and/or open features, including the 
countryside, parks, playing fields, public squares, rivers, canals, ponds, 
hedgerows, grass verges, trees, private gardens, green roofs and green walls. 
 
The green infrastructure network will have a wide variety of functions and 
uses, which will be protected and enhanced, including: 
 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Enabling all residents to benefit from good access to a diverse range of 
green spaces and features 

 Reducing the shortage of greenspace affecting some parts of the city 

 Using green infrastructure to support health, wellbeing and quality of life 
 

Page 234



224 
 

1) Providing habitats for plants and animals, and corridors and stepping 
stones for their movement 

2) Providing opportunities for food production, both commercial and non-
commercial 

3) Mitigating the risks and impacts of flooding 
4) Mitigating air, water and noise pollution 
5) Providing carbon storage and sequestration 
6) Offering relief from high temperatures 
7) Providing sport and recreation opportunities 
8) Providing space for public events, meeting places and quiet 

contemplation 
9) Providing attractive walking, cycling and horse riding routes 
10) Contributing to the quality of townscapes and landscapes, and 

providing a high quality setting for development 
11) Supporting heritage and local identity 
12) Separating individual developments and settlements 
13) Providing an educational resource 
 
The network will incorporate new, enhanced and existing green infrastructure. 
New developments will positively contribute to the improvement and 
expansion of the network. They will sit within and form part of the green 
infrastructure rather than being barren features around which the network is 
designed. 
 
The following areas of green infrastructure in Salford are strategically 
important: 
 
A) Chat Moss, where different parts of the area will have different priority 

functions such as biodiversity and recreation (see Policy GI3) 
B) Irwell Valley, where it will be important to maximise the range of 

functions that individual pieces of green infrastructure have, and to 
manage the potential conflicts between those functions, particularly in 
terms of flood risk mitigation, recreation and biodiversity (see Policy 
GI4) 

C) West Salford Greenway, which will be protected an enhanced as a varied 
series of interconnected greenspaces that make an important 
contribution to the character of West Salford (see Policy GI5) 

 
 
 
Development and green infrastructure 
 
23.4 Given the vital contribution of green infrastructure to the future success of the 

city, it will be essential that new developments protect existing and 
incorporate new green infrastructure wherever possible. This will help to 
ensure that all parts of the city benefit from high quality and accessible green 
infrastructure, and will avoid a disproportionate burden falling on any 
individual sites or developments. 
 

Page 235



225 
 

23.5 Its immense benefits, coupled with competing pressures on land resources, 
means that ideally there would always be far more green infrastructure 
available than it is possible to provide in practice. This necessitates thinking 
creatively about the opportunities to incorporate green infrastructure into 
developments, utilising buildings, streets and landscaping to increase the 
overall level of greenery as well as specifically setting aside land for green 
infrastructure. It also makes it important to maximise the range of functions 
that individual pieces of green infrastructure can support as far as practicable, 
whilst recognising that it may be appropriate to prioritise certain functions 
given the particular site context and that tensions between different functions 
will need to be managed. This enables the maximum advantage to be derived 
from the green infrastructure as well as representing a more efficient use of 
land. Ensuring that green infrastructure features are interconnected will further 
enhance their functionality, for example by enabling the more successful 
dispersal of flora and fauna, and providing more continuous attractive 
pedestrian and cycling routes. The ongoing management and maintenance of 
green infrastructure features such as woodland, trees and reed beds will be 
important in enabling it to continue to fulfil its various functions.   

 
 
Policy GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development 

 
All development shall deliver improvements to Salford’s green infrastructure 
network, maximising as far as practicable: 
 
1) The amount of green infrastructure on the site, whilst having regard to 

the development needs of the city and the design context, which will 
require the efficient and creative use of land and building surfaces; 

2) The interconnectedness of green infrastructure within and around the 
site, and connections to the wider network, thereby helping to enhance 
key functions of the green infrastructure network such as supporting the 
movement of plants and animals; 

3) The multi-functionality of any green infrastructure, whilst ensuring that it 
can properly fulfil its main functions; and 

4) The quality of any green infrastructure, to ensure that it can meet its 
various functions as effectively as possible. 

 
In complying with the above points, developments shall: 
 
A) Respond to the specific location, characteristics and surroundings of 

the site to take opportunities to incorporate green infrastructure that can 
most effectively benefit the wider area, for example providing 
sustainable urban drainage systems that address identified problems 
such as flood risk and water quality, and deliver environmental and 
quality of life benefits; 

B) Ensure that green infrastructure is central to the design, rather than 
being relegated to ‘left-over’ land; 

Page 236



226 
 

C) Seek to maximise the benefits, and where appropriate public use, of the 
green infrastructure, with an emphasis on promoting healthier 
communities; and 

D) Ensure that appropriate long-term management and maintenance 
measures are in place. 

 
Within the following parts of the city, some of which overlap, the provision and 
improvement of green infrastructure shall support and enhance the identified 
priority functions as far as practicable: 
 
a) Within flood zones 2 and 3 as identified by the Environment Agency, the 

provision of capacity for water storage in the event of a flood 
b) Within City Centre Salford, Salford Quays and other areas of high 

density development, the provision of relief from high temperatures, and 
the efficient use of surfaces to maximise the provision of green 
infrastructure including through green roofs, green walls and street 
trees  

c) Within areas of poor average resident health, the provision of 
opportunities for physical activity 

d) Within Chat Moss, the storage of carbon 
e) Within the Biodiversity Heartland, the wider Great Manchester Wetlands 

Nature Improvement Area, and areas that do not meet the standards 
relating to access to strategic and local natural greenspace (see Policy 
R2), the provision of habitats, movement corridors and stepping stones 
for plants and animals 

f) Within and around the waterway network and other water bodies, 
measures to achieve ‘good’ status of the water body in accordance with 
Policy WA2 and encourage movement of species 

 
 
 
  

Page 237



227 
 

 

Page 238



Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Key
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
Town centres
Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area
Chat Moss
Biodiversity heartland
City Centre
Salford Quays
Flood zones 2 and 3
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 18 Green infrastructure priority functions

M60

M602

M61

M60

M60

M62

P
age 239



 

229 
 

Chat Moss 
 
23.6 Chat Moss provides a distinctive, flat landscape, forming part of a larger area 

of lowland wetlands that includes the Wigan flashes and which falls within the 
Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area (see Policy BG2). 
Chat Moss accounts for almost 20% of Salford’s total land area, but it 
currently has relatively limited direct benefits for the city’s residents despite its 
immense potential. Consequently, a high priority for this plan is to open up 
public access across the whole area, providing opportunities for informal 
recreation activities such as walking and cycling, in a way that is consistent 
with enhancing biodiversity and protecting the openness of the Green Belt. 
 

23.7 There were originally some 2,650 hectares of lowland raised bog across Chat 
Moss, which is one of Western Europe’s rarest and most threatened habitats 
with a unique range of wildlife, but there are now only around 310 hectares of 
relatively undamaged peat deposits primarily in Salford. The restoration of 
lowland raised bog can make a major contribution to carbon emission targets, 
both reducing a significant source of emissions and locking in carbon, as well 
as supporting nature conservation objectives. 
 

23.8 A Biodiversity Heartland has been identified within Chat Moss, which provides 
the main opportunity for securing lowland raised bog restoration. It includes 
several former peat extraction sites, with some parts of the area already under 
restoration. However, lowland raised bog restoration may not always be 
practicable for a variety of reasons such as the previous use of the site, the 
remaining depth and quality of peat, or the hydrology of the immediate area. 
In these circumstances, habitats that are complementary to lowland raised 
bog will be sought, focusing particularly on wetlands. The Biodiversity 
Heartland also includes Botany Bay Wood, the largest area of woodland in 
Greater Manchester, which contains an important heronry that is potentially of 
national importance. 

 
 
Policy GI3 Chat Moss 

 
Chat Moss will be protected and enhanced as a key component of Greater 
Manchester’s strategic green infrastructure network, forming part of a wider 
lowland wetland area extending into Wigan and Warrington. 
 
There will be a strong emphasis on: 
 
1) Delivering nature conservation improvements, particularly within the 

Biodiversity Heartland, and providing ecological connections to 
surrounding areas; 

2) Significantly increasing public access, with high quality walking and 
cycling routes through the area and connecting it to surrounding 
communities and other parts of the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area, in a manner compatible with nature conservation 

Page 240



230 
 

objectives, so as to maximise the number of local residents who are able 
to benefit from this vital and distinctive piece of green infrastructure; 

3) Encouraging the provision of visitor facilities that support public use of 
Chat Moss and provide learning opportunities, potentially including one 
or more visitor centres; 

4) Providing high quality walking and cycling connections to the RHS 
Garden Bridgewater to the north, so that the two areas offer a distinctive 
visitor opportunity, with the garden providing a gateway to Chat Moss; 

5) Protecting and enhancing the area’s role in storing and sequestering 
carbon, thereby supporting climate change objectives; 

6) Retaining the flat, open and relatively tranquil character of the area, and 
its relative darkness; and 

7) Increasing the recreation use of land outside the Biodiversity Heartland, 
where this is consistent with maintaining the openness of the Green 
Belt. 

 
Within the Biodiversity Heartland, the priority will be to secure the restoration 
of lowland raised bog and the enhancement of the Botany Bay Wood site of 
biological importance. Elsewhere within the Biodiversity Heartland, 
complementary habitats shall be provided, particularly wetlands. 
 
Any development within or near to Chat Moss shall be consistent with these 
priorities, and shall ensure that the hydrology of the area is not adversely 
affected. 
 
 
 
Irwell Valley 
 
23.9 The Irwell Valley is a tremendously important piece of green infrastructure, 

and is a key component of Greater Manchester’s strategic green infrastructure 
network. It fulfils a very wide range of functions, and makes a major 
contribution to the identity of Salford and several of its neighbourhoods. It will 
be essential that the valley is protected and enhanced as the city continues to 
grow. 
 

23.10 Some of the valley is designated as Green Belt, but the openness of the 
broader area is important to its character. Some past developments have 
impinged on this, and any worsening of this situation needs to be avoided. 
The valley area contains a wide range of recreation facilities, and there is 
considerable potential to enhance this further. When coupled with new and 
improved strategic recreation routes, this will help to ensure that a large 
number of residents are able to easily access outdoor recreation 
opportunities, promoting healthy lifestyles in areas of the city that currently 
suffer from poor average levels of health. 
 

23.11 Key priorities for the Irwell Valley include the management of flood risk and 
improvements to water quality. The area within Salford contains two flood 
storage basins and other flood management infrastructure, but also includes a 
significant number of properties at risk of flooding. The water policies of this 

Page 241



231 
 

plan (see Chapter 19) set out the overall approach to addressing flood risk 
issues, including by carefully controlling new development, but actions will 
also be required further upstream outside Salford in order to reduce the peak 
flows of water entering the city. Improvements to water quality and the 
associated waterside environments are still required throughout the Irwell 
Catchment in order to achieve the North West River Basin Management Plan 
objectives (see Policy WA2). 
 

23.12 The Irwell Valley is home to a varied range of environmental and historic 
assets, including several sites of biological importance, half of the city’s 
existing and proposed local nature reserves, Salford’s only area of ancient 
woodland, parts of two conservation areas, sections of the former 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal, and historic open spaces such as Peel 
Park. This quantity and diversity of such assets is a key strength of the area, 
providing a wide range of benefits for local communities, and their protection 
and enhancement is therefore vital. 

 
 
Policy GI4     Irwell Valley 

 
The Irwell Valley will be enhanced as a key landscape and wildlife corridor 
connecting the urban area to the countryside, forming part of a large expanse 
of strategic green infrastructure extending into neighbouring districts, and 
providing multiple environmental, social and economic benefits. 
 
Within Salford, there will be a strong emphasis on: 
 
1) Retaining the open character of the river valley and avoiding its 

severance; 
2) Securing an integrated and varied network of new and improved 

recreation opportunities, including: 
A) Irwell River Park, providing high quality multi-functional open 

spaces and cycling and pedestrian routes connecting the City 
Centre with Ordsall Waterfront and Salford Quays; 

B) City Forest Park, in the northern part of the valley within Salford 
and extending into Bury, forming a key part of the proposed 
Northern Forest stretching across the North of England, and 
providing a natural space for culture and the arts and 
opportunities to improve priority habitats and flood management 
measures; 

C) Two of the city’s four strategic hubs for outdoor sports, at Salford 
Sports Village and Old Racecourse, providing enhanced facilities; 

D) Clifton Country Park; 
E) A new community wetland area in the Castle Irwell flood storage 

basin; and 
F) A series of strategic recreation routes through and to the valley; 

3) Improving walking, cycling and horse riding connections alongside and 
across the river, including through the provision of continuous 
waterside walkways and new bridges; 

Page 242



232 
 

4) Taking a comprehensive and coordinated approach to mitigating flood 
risk, both through actions within Salford and further upstream; 

5) Improving the water quality of the river, and contributing to other North 
West River Basin Management Plan objectives including naturalisation 
of the riverbed, river banks and associated environments where 
possible; 

6) Protecting and enhancing the biodiversity, geodiversity and heritage of 
the area; and 

7) Ensuring that development contributes to the character and 
environmental quality of the valley, including by providing a high quality 
backdrop to the river and taking advantage of the waterfront setting. 

 
 
 
West Salford Greenway 
 
23.13 The West Salford Greenway extends through the centre of the western part of 

the city, and is bounded by neighbourhoods in Worsley, Eccles, Swinton and 
Walkden. It has been formally protected by adopted planning policy since 
1995, originally as the Worsley Greenway, and is highly valued by the local 
communities that surround it. It has a very varied nature, including a village 
green at Roe Green in the north of the area, a cricket ground and adjoining 
open land, woodland, agricultural land, Duke’s Drive local natural greenspace, 
and a golf course. The northern part of the area lies within the Roe 
Green/Beesley Green conservation area, sections of the western part lie 
within the St. Mark’s and Worsley Village conservation areas, and a significant 
section of the northern half is designated as the Worsley Woods local nature 
reserve and site of biological importance. The historically important 
Bridgewater Canal runs along the south-west edge of the Greenway, with its 
original feeder reservoir of Old Warke Dam in the centre of the area and its 
starting point at Worsley Delph, which is a scheduled ancient monument. The 
Greenway also has a broader importance in providing the setting for historic 
settlements in this part of Salford. 
 

23.14 A loopline strategic recreation route runs from Monton Village to the south 
through the area before branching into two at the northern end, and is 
important for connecting the Greenway to surrounding communities. Several 
public footpaths provide access across the Greenway and link to the loopline, 
enabling residents in the adjoining areas to take advantage of this important 
green space. The individual parts of the Greenway are demonstrably special 
to the adjacent communities, resulting in several parts being designated as 
Local Green Space (see Policy GI6), but the area has a wider strategic 
significance in terms of the contribution it makes to the character of West 
Salford, including through some distinctive views. It is therefore essential that 
a coordinated approach is taken to protecting and enhancing its green 
infrastructure functions, and that built development is limited accordingly. 

 
 
 
 

Page 243



233 
 

Policy GI5 West Salford Greenway 

 
The West Salford Greenway will be protected and enhanced as a series of 
interconnected greenspaces of varied use and character, and important 
heritage assets, providing a major contribution to the identity and well-being 
of the surrounding neighbourhoods and west Salford more generally. 
 
There will be a strong emphasis on: 
 
1) Maintaining the openness and continuity of the Greenway, and avoiding 

any fragmentation of it; 
2) Protecting the historic character of the Greenway, and its contribution to 

the character and setting of four conservation areas (Monton Green, Roe 
Green/Beesley Green, St Mark’s, and Worsley Village), a scheduled 
ancient monument (The Delph), several listed buildings including the 
Grade 1 listed Church of St Mark, the Bridgewater Canal, and the 
historic settlements of Worsley, Roe Green, Beesley Green and Monton; 

3) Improving the extent and quality of public access to and within the 
Greenway, with the strategic recreation routes along the Bridgewater 
Canal and the former railway line providing connections to other parts 
of the city, and maintaining a diverse range of recreational uses; 

4) Enhancing the biodiversity functions of the Greenway, providing a 
mosaic of habitats that bring wildlife into the heart of west Salford, 
including through the careful management of the Worsley Woods Local 
Nature Reserve and Worsley Woods Site of Biological Importance; 

5) Managing land to deliver a range of green infrastructure functions, 
including minimising flood risk and delivering North West River Basin 
Management Plan objectives; and 

6) Limiting new development to the sensitive, small-scale extension of 
existing public or social facilities, and new buildings consistent with 
national Green Belt policy. 

 
 
 
Local Green Space 
 
23.15 The Local Green Space designation is used to identify and protect green 

areas that are of particular importance to local communities, and which meet 
specific criteria set out in national planning policy64. Many green areas are 
protected under other policies of the Local Plan, such as recreation sites 
under Policy R1 and sites of biological importance under Policy BG1. The 
Local Green Space designation provides additional protection, similar to 
Green Belt, but the absence of such a designation in no way diminishes the 
importance afforded to other green areas. 

 
 

                                                           
64 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 100 

Page 244



234 
 

Policy GI6 Local Green Space 

 
The following sites will be protected and enhanced as designated Local Green 
Spaces, and will be managed in accordance with national and local Green Belt 
policy: 
 
1) The Meadow, Broughton (6.4 hectares) 
2) Brickfield Wood, Boothstown and Ellenbrook (2.0 hectares) 
3) Three Sisters, Eccles (4.5 hectares) 
4) Blackleach Country Park, Walkden North (32.3 hectares) 
5) Roe Green, Worsley (3.4 hectares) 
6) Land at Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook, Worsley (27.0 hectares) 
7) Worsley Woods, Old Warke Dam and Aviary Field, Worsley (32.0 

hectares) 
8) Broadoak South, Worsley (27.0 hectares) 
9) Duke’s Drive, Worsley (10.1 hectares) 
10) Worsley Green, Worsley (1.8 hectares) 
 
 
23.16 GI6/1: The Meadow is a distinctive and attractive open space located within a 

meander of the River Irwell, making a significant contribution to the identity of 
Salford. The site is well-used, positively managed for nature conservation, 
and valued by the local community. It is one of the few significant green 
spaces within the City Centre, and has an important role to play in ensuring 
that this part of Greater Manchester is an excellent place to live, work and 
visit. Improvements to public access, particularly from the Crescent and 
Adelphi Street, and potentially including at least one new footbridge across 
the River Irwell, would enable many more people to enjoy this green space, 
and for it to function more effectively as a City Centre park. 
 

23.17 GI6/2: Brickfield Wood is an area of dense urban woodland, which is rare 
within Salford. It benefits from an informal footpath along its eastern side, 
connecting it to the surrounding neighbourhood and the loopline recreation 
route to the north. It is recognised for its nature conservation importance, 
forming part of the Brickfield Wood site of biological importance that also 
extends to the south-west, and makes a significant contribution to the 
character of the local area. 
 

23.18 GI6/3: Three Sisters is a varied site incorporating a mixture of open and 
vegetated areas, three small ponds, marsh and neutral grassland, and 
contains footpaths, boardwalks, and viewing platforms for the ponds. It is 
designated as a local nature reserve and site of biological importance, and 
also contains sections of a Roman road. Local people are engaged in the 
management of the site through an active local ‘friends’ group, and it is well-
used. This combination of recreation, biodiversity and archaeological 
significance is rare within the city, and the site is highly valued by the 
surrounding community. 
 

Page 245



235 
 

23.19 GI6/4: Blackleach Country Park is a vital local resource providing a wide 
range of green infrastructure and recreation functions, including a woodland 
play area. It is a designated local nature reserve and site of biological 
importance, and functions as a strategic natural greenspace and district park. 
It supports a mosaic of habitats including open water, swamp, marsh, tall herb 
vegetation, species-rich neutral grassland, woodland and scrub, with the 
reservoir being of interest for its resident water birds and waders. It has a 
mixture of open and vegetated areas, connected by formal footpaths, 
boardwalks and viewing platforms, and benefits from a visitor centre. An 
active ‘friends’ group supports the Salford ranger team in managing the site, 
and it is well-used by the local community. 
 

23.20 GI6/5: Roe Green makes a major contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area. It has the 
character of a village green, with a mixture of open and vegetated areas, 
connected by tree-lined formal footpaths. It provides a range of green 
infrastructure and recreation functions, including a play area. An active 
‘friends’ group contributes towards the management of the site, and it is well-
used by the local community. The site is located within the West Salford 
Greenway (Policy GI5). 
 

23.21 GI6/6: Land at Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook consists of areas of 
open land and woodland, which make a significant contribution towards the 
distinctive character, appearance and setting of the Roe Green/ Beesley 
Green conservation area. Beesley Green forms an open green surrounded by 
a cluster of buildings including the grade II listed Beesley Hall, Beesley 
Community Centre and areas laid out as a bowling green and tennis courts. 
To the south and east of the green lies Roe Green cricket pitch with its locally 
listed pavilion and two areas of agricultural land separated by the woodland 
along the course of Kempnough Brook. This combination of recreation, 
biodiversity and heritage significance is rare within the city, and the site is 
highly valued by the surrounding community. The woods are positively 
managed for nature conservation through an active local ‘friends’ group. The 
site is located within the West Salford Greenway (Policy GI5). 
 

23.22 GI6/7: Worsley Woods, Old Warke Dam and Aviary Field is defined by its 
heritage and recreation assets within a woodland setting, punctuated by open 
land which contribute towards the distinctive character, appearance and 
setting of the Worsley Village conservation area. This varied local green 
space contains a scheduled ancient monument at Worsley Delph with its 
canal tunnel entrances and wharf (from 1759-60), grade II listed cottages, and 
The Aviary, the grade II listed hunting and fishing lodge for the 1st Earl of 
Ellesmere adjacent to Old Warke Dam which collects water from Kempnough 
Brook. The woodland of Worsley Woods is also designated as a local nature 
reserve and site of biological importance containing a network of public rights 
of way. The open areas consist of playing fields for the Bridgewater School 
and agricultural land, which provide open views.  Local people are engaged in 
the management of the publicly accessible parts of the site, which are well-
used, through an active local ‘friends’ group. This combination of recreation, 
biodiversity and heritage significance is rare within the city, and the site is 

Page 246



236 
 

highly valued by the surrounding community. The site is located within the 
West Salford Greenway (Policy GI5). 
 

23.23 GI6/8: Broadoak South is defined by its openness and vistas. There is a large 
pond towards the south of the site, pockets of woodland around most of the 
boundary, and Sindsley Brook runs through the site. The site is dissected by 
several public rights of way that are well used, providing the only public 
access, including key connections between Tyldesley Loopline and the 
Bridgewater Canal. The site is highly valued by the surrounding community 
providing wide open views along the Bridgewater Canal and towards Monton 
Green. Broadoak South has a semi-rural character as a key aspect of 
Worsley’s identity, contrasting with the more urban nature of the surrounding 
built-up area. The site is located within the West Salford Greenway (Policy 
GI5). 
 

23.24 GI6/9: Duke’s Drive is a former miniature golf course which has partially re-
vegetated and has seen recent enhancements. The site now incorporates a 
varied mixture of open and vegetated areas, several small ponds, and 
grassland, and contains footpaths and boardwalks. It is identified as a local 
natural greenspace. Local people are engaged in the management of the site 
through an active local ‘friends’ group, it is well-used and is highly valued by 
the surrounding community. The site is located within the West Salford 
Greenway (Policy GI5). 
 

23.25 GI6/10: Worsley Green makes a significant contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Worsley Village conservation area, being an elegant open 
space with a magnificent row of lime trees bordering Worsley Road, and there 
are a number of listed buildings fronting onto its southern side. Until the start 
of the twentieth century, this important green space was actually Worsley 
Yard, sitting at the centre of an industrial complex that had grown following 
the construction of the Bridgewater Canal. Evidence of the mineral railway 
tracks which ran into the former works yard can be detected by slight 
depressions in the grass, and the green contains a grade II listed ornamental 
commemorative fountain dedicated to the 3rd Duke of Bridgewater who 
commissioned the Bridgewater Canal. The site is a designated village green, 
and provides an important public amenity space, which is utilised for 
community events. 

 
 
 
Trees, woodland and hedgerows 
 
23.26 Trees, woodland and hedgerows are extremely important components of 

Greater Manchester’s green infrastructure network, fulfilling a very wide range 
of functions including sequestering and storing carbon, enhancing 
biodiversity, providing access to nature, managing water, air, soil and noise 
pollution, reducing flood risk, stabilising land, reducing soil erosion, 
strengthening landscape character, and providing shade and cooling to 
combat high temperatures. 
 

Page 247



237 
 

23.27 Some parts of the city have significantly higher levels of tree cover than 
others, with trees making a major contribution to the character of certain 
neighbourhoods. The potential for increasing tree cover may be greater in 
some areas, but the vital roles of trees means that increases in provision will 
be sought everywhere. The inclusion of trees within development sites will 
often be appropriate, but where this is not practicable then street trees will be 
encouraged. The notable exception will be those landscapes and habitats 
where tree planting is generally inappropriate, in particular areas of lowland 
moss where there may be a need for tree removal to enhance this habitat. 
 

23.28 If the overall contribution of trees and woodland to Salford’s green 
infrastructure network is to be enhanced then it will be important to avoid 
harm to existing trees, and where this is not possible to secure appropriate 
replacements. Hedgerows typically provide one of the highest concentrations 
of biodiversity of any habitat, and can also be significant historic landscape 
features. Hence it will be important to retain the overall value of hedgerows in 
the city. Important hedgerows are provided additional statutory protection 
through The Hedgerow Regulations 1997. 

 
 
 
Policy GI7 Trees, woodland and hedgerows 

 
Salford will make a major contribution to meeting the City of Trees target to 
plant a tree for every resident in Greater Manchester over the next 25 years. 
 
The extent of tree cover across Salford will be increased, with an emphasis on 
native species that support wildlife and carbon sequestration, and the vital 
role that trees and hedgerows make to environmental quality will be protected 
and enhanced, through a range of measures including by: 
 
1) Affording very strong protection to the ancient woodland at Clifton 

Wood (BG2/43 on the Policies Map) and to ancient or veteran trees 
elsewhere; 

2) Affording strong protection to trees that are subject to a tree 
preservation order or are located within a conservation area; 

3) Ensuring that developments are designed and constructed in such a 
way as to minimise any adverse impacts on trees; 

4) Requiring developments that would involve the loss of trees to provide 
replacement trees of a suitable size and species in an appropriate 
location to deliver a net enhancement in the character and quality of the 
treescape in the local area, with a preference for on-site provision; 

5) Working towards the Woodland Trust standard of all households being 
within 4,000 metres walking distance of a publicly accessible woodland 
of at least 20 hectares in size (see Policy R2); 

6) Developing a new City Forest Park within the northern part of the Irwell 
Valley in Salford and extending into Bury (see Policy GI4), forming a key 
part of the proposed Northern Forest stretching across the North of 
England;  

Page 248



238 
 

7) Supporting the increased provision of street trees, ensuring that they 
meet minimum specification standards and maximise potential green 
infrastructure functions such as sustainable drainage and pollution 
control; 

8) Protecting hedgerows, particularly those of historic or biodiversity 
importance, and securing appropriate replacement in accordance with 
the Natural England biodiversity offsetting metric where their loss is 
unavoidable; and 

9) Encouraging the positive management of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows so as to maximise their green infrastructure functions. 

 
 
Monitoring 
 
23.29 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

 

Indicator Target 

Area of green infrastructure positively used 

for recreation 

Increase 

(2018-2037) 

Area of green infrastructure positively used 

for biodiversity purposes 

Increase 

(2018-2037) 

Area of green infrastructure positively used 

for flood risk mitigation 

Increase 

(2018-2037) 

Extent of tree cover across Salford Increase 

(2018-2037) 

 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 249



239 
 

CHAPTER 24 BIODIVERSITY 

 
24.1 The national biodiversity strategy65 recognises that biodiversity is important 

not just in its own right but because it is critical to human survival. It provides 
us with services that are vital to our wellbeing and economic prosperity. The 
UK National Ecosystem Assessment concluded that decision-making 
consistently undervalues nature, and that many of the services that it provides 
are in decline66. The message at the national level is therefore clear that 
biodiversity issues need to be taken more seriously and are a key component 
of sustainable development. 

 
24.2 The Local Plan seeks to respond to this challenge through a comprehensive 

range of measures aimed at ensuring that Salford’s biodiversity resources are 
protected and enhanced. The overarching aim is to deliver a significant net 
gain in the city’s overall biodiversity value, and to enhance the ability of 
ecological networks to adapt to climate change. All parts of the city and all 
developments have a role to play in this, and the cumulative benefit of small-
scale improvements in biodiversity resources should not be underestimated. 

 
24.3 There are no nationally or internationally designated sites in Salford at 

present, but a Site of Special Scientific Interest is proposed at the heronry in 
Botany Bay Wood. The local designation of Sites of Biological Importance 
(SBIs) is assessed at the Greater Manchester level, and there are currently 33 
such sites in Salford. Many of the SBIs include priority habitats identified in the 
national and/or local biodiversity action plans, although such habitats are also 
found in other locations across the city. 

 
24.4 The establishment of a Biodiversity Heartland within Chat Moss offers the 

most significant opportunity to enhance Salford’s biodiversity resources, with 
the potential to secure significant areas of lowland raised bog restoration, 
which is a European priority habitat. This area forms part of a wider ecological 
network within the Great Manchester Nature Improvement Area, which 
extends into Warrington and Wigan, where it includes the Manchester Mosses 
candidate Special Area of Conservation. There are numerous opportunities 
elsewhere in Salford to secure significant biodiversity enhancements, ranging 
from strategic areas such as the Irwell Valley to individual development sites. 

                                                           
65 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2011) Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for 
England’s wildlife and ecosystem services, p.4 
66 UK National Ecosystem Assessment (2011) The UK National Ecosystem Assessment: Synthesis of 
the Key Findings 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Improving access to nature for people in all parts of the city, including 
within higher density areas and other neighbourhoods poorly served at 
present 

 Significantly enhancing the city’s overall biodiversity interest for the benefit 
of existing and future residents 

 

Page 250



240 
 

 
 
Policy BG1 Biodiversity spatial strategy 

 
A considerable net gain in biodiversity will be sought across Salford, including 
through: 
 
1) A significant improvement in the size, quality, diversity and 

interconnectedness of the city’s habitats, to deliver a coherent and high 
quality ecological network as part of the wider green infrastructure 
network 

2) The protection, enhancement and recovery of the most valuable existing 
habitats and species, and the creation of new habitats where possible 

3) Increasing opportunities for the movement and dispersion of species 
across the city and into surrounding areas 

4) A range of nature conservation activities within the Great Manchester 
Wetlands Nature Improvement Area, and seeking opportunities for 
further designation of Nature Improvement Areas, in accordance with 
Policy BG2 

5) Securing lowland bog restoration and the provision of complementary 
habitats within the ‘Biodiversity Heartland’, and the improvement of the 
rest of Chat Moss for species such as breeding birds, brown hare and 
water vole, in accordance with Policy GI3 

6) Delivering coordinated improvements throughout the Irwell Valley, 
enhancing its role as a strategic wildlife corridor, in accordance with 
Policy GI4 

7) Achieving ‘good’ status across all of the city’s water bodies, in 
accordance with Policy WA2 

8) Requiring new developments to deliver a net gain in biodiversity, in 
accordance with Policy BG3 

9) Implementing a biodiversity offsetting scheme, with the Biodiversity 
Heartland as a key priority 

10) Controlling invasive species as part of improved land management 
 
Biodiversity assets shown on the Policies Map 
 
The local nature reserves, sites of biological importance and ancient woodland 
in Salford are shown on the Policies Map: 
 
Local Nature Reserves 
1. Blackleach Country Park 
2. Clifton Country Park 
3. Kersal Dale 
4. Kersal Moor 
5. Three Sisters 
6. Worsley Woods 
7. Kersal Wetland (proposed) 
8. Clifton Moss (proposed) 
9. Little Woolden Moss (proposed)  

Page 251



241 
 

 
Sites of Biological Importance 
10. Alder Forest Marsh 
11. Bittern Pits Wood 
12. Blackleach Reservoir 
13. Botany Bay Wood 
14. Brickfield Wood 
15. Bridgewater Canal 
16. Brindle Heath Junction 
17. Cadishead Moss 
18. Clifton Country Park 
19. Clifton Moss (South) 
20. Foxhill Glen 
21. Grassland and Heath off Clively Avenue 
22. Great Woolden Wood 
23. How Clough 
24. Kersal Dale 
25. Kersal High School Grounds 
26. Kersal Moor 
27. Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal at Agecroft 
28. Marsh near Clifton Junction 
29. Middle Wood 
30. Old River Irwell 
31. Ponds near New Manchester (East) 
32. Ponds North of Cleworth Hall (North) 
33. River Irwell 
34. Salford Quays (North) 
35. Springside Reservoirs 
36. Three Sisters 
37. Towns Gate Lake and Marsh 
38. Twelve Yards Road 
39. Walkden Reservoir 
40. Woodland North of Moss Farm 
41. Worsley Filterbeds 
42. Worsley Woods 

 
Ancient woodland 
43. Ancient Woodland at Clifton Wood (part of Clifton Country Park site of 

biological importance) 
 
 
  

Page 252



Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
Town centres
Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area 
Chat Moss 
Biodiversity heartland
Irwell Valley 
Sites of biological importance

Local nature reserves
Existing
Proposed
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 19 - Biodiversity assets

M60

M602

M61

M60

M60

M62

A580

P
age 253



 

243 
 

Nature Improvement Areas 
 
24.5 The Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area (NIA) was 

adopted by the Greater Manchester and Cheshire Local Nature Partnerships 
in May 2013, and covers around 48,000 hectares extending across parts of 
Salford, Wigan and Warrington. The area of the NIA within Salford is shown 
on the Policies Map and in Figure 19. 

 
24.6 The main focus of the NIA can be broadly split into three different landscapes: 
 

 The Mosslands, defined by the peaty soils and the flat topography 
associated with the former lowland bogs, which accounts for that part 
of the NIA within Salford and extends into Wigan and Warrington 

 The Mersey Valley Wetlands Corridor, which has the Glaze Brook 
along the south-western edge of Salford as its eastern boundary and 
lies within Warrington 

 The Flashes in Wigan 
 
24.7 The vision is for the NIA to become an exemplar of biodiversity restoration, 

enhancement and the delivery of landscape-scale ecological networks. A 
central part of this is to deliver a coherent collection of wetland habitats that 
will help to buffer existing designated sites and connect important habitats to 
allow free movement of key species, which will become increasingly important 
in mitigating the impacts of climate change. The whole of the Chat Moss area 
in Policy GI3 falls within the NIA, and the Biodiversity Heartland is one of the 
priority areas for habitat restoration and creation. 

 
24.8 The NIA designation does not prevent new development, and some of the 

allocations in this Local Plan are within the NIA. However, a location within the 
NIA makes it essential that a high level of green infrastructure is incorporated 
within the development site in order to increase the area of priority habitats, 
improve connectivity between habitats and species populations, and enable 
the movement of species within the NIA and beyond, and also for 
development to contribute to off-site improvements within the Biodiversity 
Heartland to help deliver the NIA objectives. The provision that is expected 
will vary depending on the characteristics of the site and its location within the 
NIA. 

 
 
Policy BG2 Nature Improvement Areas 

 
The area of Salford within the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement 
Area will be managed so as to: 
 
1) Mitigate the impact of environmental pressures by improving species 

mobility between Lancashire, Cheshire and Greater Manchester; 
2) Make a lasting improvement to some of Britain’s rarest habitats by 

restoring designated sites and priority habitats; 

Page 254



244 
 

3) Improve regional and local connectivity for critical species by creating 
stepping stones and corridors between habitats and populations; and 

4) Optimise the ecosystem services provided by all habitats, particularly 
the carbon storage function of lowland raised bog. 

 
Development will be carefully controlled to support the achievement of these 
objectives within the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area, 
and nature conservation projects will be encouraged. 
 
Opportunities for the further designation of Nature Improvement Areas will be 
sought, with the Irwell Valley being a high priority. 
 
 
 
Development and biodiversity 
 
24.9 If development is to be genuinely sustainable then it will be vital for it to play a 

full role in protecting and enhancing Salford’s biodiversity resources. 
Development generates opportunities to help achieve an overall nature 
conservation benefit, and it will often be possible to secure significant 
improvements through relatively simple measures, such as the incorporation 
of green infrastructure and features including bird/bat boxes and bricks that 
can enable wildlife to disperse throughout the city. On-site biodiversity 
improvements will also be vital to enhancing the liveability of urban areas, and 
improving the connection of people to nature, particularly as development 
densities increase. 

 
24.10 The ways in which developments secure a net gain in biodiversity value will 

vary considerably and be relative to the scale and nature of the site. On some 
sites, the focus will be on the retention on existing habitats. For others, this 
may be impracticable, and it may be necessary instead to make significant 
provision for new habitats either on- or off-site. It can be challenging to 
establish new habitats, and this will be taken into account when assessing the 
appropriateness of proposed mitigation measures. It is essential that the most 
important and irreplaceable habitats in the city are protected, and so 
mitigation rather than retention will not be appropriate in some circumstances. 
It will also be important to ensure that invasive species such as Japanese 
Knotweed are controlled. 

 
24.11 In the case of the Biodiversity Heartland, it will be important not just to protect 

the biodiversity resources that already exist, but also to support restoration 
schemes and secure further enhancements in the area’s nature conservation 
value where possible. This reflects the overall strategic importance of this 
area both within Salford and as part of a wider ecological network. 

 
 
Policy BG3 Development and biodiversity 

 
All development shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity value. 

Page 255



245 
 

 
Development shall avoid having any adverse impact on the nature 
conservation value of: 
 
A) The Biodiversity Heartland; 
B) Local Nature Reserves; 
C) Sites of Biological Importance; or 
D) Ancient woodland. 
 
Development shall avoid having any adverse impact on other priority habitats 
or species identified at the European, national, Greater Manchester or local 
level wherever practicable. 
 
Where an adverse impact on biodiversity is unavoidable then this shall be 
minimised as far as possible and appropriate compensation provided. 
 
Within the Biodiversity Heartland, development proposals shall take all 
practicable opportunities to enhance the area’s nature conservation value. 
 
Mitigation of adverse impacts on biodiversity resources 
Where mitigation is required to compensate for the reduction or loss of 
existing biodiversity resources then this shall be provided in line with the 
following principles with the objective of contributing to the creation of a 
coherent, high quality ecological network: 
 
1) A preference for on-site habitat provision/enhancement wherever 

practicable, followed by improvements to sites within the local area, and 
then other sites elsewhere within Salford; 

2) The maintenance and where possible enhancement of the ability of 
plants and animals including pollinating insects to move, migrate and 
genetically disperse across the city; and 

3) The provision/enhancement of priority habitats identified at the national, 
Greater Manchester or local level, having regard to the scarcity of that 
habitat within Salford. 

 
Where mitigation is needed, an offsetting mechanism based on the Natural 
England biodiversity offsetting metric will be used to calculate requirements. 
The Biodiversity Heartland will be a high priority for off-site offsetting 
schemes. 
 
The amount of mitigation required will be determined having regard to: 
 
4) The importance of the biodiversity resources that will be adversely 

affected, particularly in terms of whether they: 
a) Include priority habitats identified at the national, Greater 

Manchester or local levels; and/or 
b) Are able to support protected species, priority species or wild 

birds; 

Page 256



246 
 

5) The diversity of the biodiversity resources that will be adversely 
affected, with greater mitigation being required where a mosaic of 
habitats will be lost or a large number of species affected; 

6) The size and quality of the biodiversity resources that will be adversely 
affected, and their function within wider ecological networks; 

7) The impact of the development on the role and resilience of remaining 
biodiversity resources, for example in terms of their ability to maintain 
self-sustaining population levels of individual species and/or to adapt to 
climate change; and 

8) Any other issues identified through any ecological assessment of the 
site. 

 
The biodiversity value of any mitigation proposals will be measured in terms of 
the likely position five years from the commencement of the proposed 
development, or the relevant phase thereof, when determining whether that 
development would result in an overall net gain in biodiversity value. All 
adverse impacts, irrespective of timescale, will be taken into account when 
making that determination. This will help to ensure that there is no significant 
time gap between any negative impacts and the establishment of replacement 
habitats. Monitoring of mitigation measures will be required to ensure 
effectiveness, with further mitigation being required in the event of initial 
mitigation being ineffective. 
 
 
 
Geodiversity 
 
24.12 Geodiversity refers to the range of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms 

in an area. Salford does not currently have any sites designated specifically 
for their geodiversity interest. Features of geological value are scarce within 
the city, and the most significant and well-known asset is the former quarry at 
Worsley Delph which is also a site of very significant heritage interest. Parts of 
the River Irwell valley are also of potential geological significance. It will be 
important to provide appropriate protection for such features, both in terms of 
their inherent geological value and to maintain their contribution to local 
character and identity. It will also be important to have regard to the 
requirements of Policy GB2 in respect of the sustainable use of soils. 

 
 
Policy BG4 Geodiversity 

 
Development that would have a significant adverse impact on the value of any 
feature of geodiversity interest will not be permitted. 
 
 
 

Monitoring 
 
24.13 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 

Page 257



247 
 

 

Indicator Target 

Area of the Biodiversity Heartland being 
restored to lowland raised bog or a 
complementary wetland habitat 

686 hectares by 
2037 (target to be 
confirmed) 

Area of land designated as a Site of 
Biological Importance  

Net increase 
(2018-2037) 

Area of land in positive nature conservation 
management 

Significant 
increase 
(2018-2037) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 258



248 
 

CHAPTER 25 RECREATION 

 
25.1 The provision of a broad range of high quality, accessible recreation facilities 

is a major contributor to quality of life, and will help to ensure that Salford is an 
attractive place to live, work and visit. Recreation is vital to supporting the 
physical and mental health of residents, enabling people to lead more active 
lives. It also makes an important wider contribution to the social health of the 
city, for example providing positive leisure and learning opportunities for 
young people. 
 

25.2 A variety of strategically significant recreation projects will play a 
complementary role to local recreation facilities such as parks and play areas, 
helping to diversify the range of leisure opportunities in the city. Many of these 
projects will have an important role in attracting investment to the city and 
supporting economic growth, as well as having significant benefits for the 
health and wellbeing of people visiting, working and living in the city. They will 
therefore help to support a wide range of social, environmental and economic 
objectives that are fundamental to Salford’s future success, as well as 
enhancing the image of the city. 

 
 
Policy R1 Recreation spatial strategy 

 
A comprehensive range of recreation facilities will be provided across Salford, 
including: 
 
A) Parks and country parks 
B) Children’s play areas 
C) Sports pitches and facilities 
D) Allotments 
E) Natural greenspaces and nature reserves 
F) Public amenity spaces 
 
The following recreation schemes will be strategically important to the 
enhancement of recreation opportunities in Salford over the Local Plan period: 
 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Ensuring that all residents have good access to a wide range of recreation 
facilities and opportunities 

 Addressing shortfalls in recreation provision that currently affect 
communities in some parts of the city 

 Enabling everyone to live active and healthier lives 

 Improving access from all parts of the city to the countryside 
 

Page 259



249 
 

1) Chat Moss, significantly increasing public access in a manner 
compatible with the nature conservation objectives for the area, and 
encouraging the provision of visitor facilities (see Policy GI3) 

2) Irwell Valley, expanding on existing provision and tackling the extensive 
industrial legacy of derelict land to offer a broad range of interconnected 
recreation opportunities connecting through to Irwell River Park and 
extending into the neighbouring districts of Bolton and Bury (see Policy 
GI4) 

3) Developing a new City Forest Park within the northern part of the Irwell 
Valley in Salford and extending into Bury (see Policy GI4), forming a key 
part of the proposed Northern Forest stretching across the North of 
England 

4) Irwell River Park, providing high quality multi-functional open spaces 
and cycling and pedestrian routes, extending from The Meadow to 
Salford Quays and into the neighbouring districts of Manchester and 
Trafford 

5) Cutacre Country Park, providing a major new outdoor recreation facility 
of around 40 hectares in Salford and extending into the neighbouring 
district of Bolton 

6) Watersports at Salford Quays, protecting and enhancing the existing 
facilities and activities, which provide a sub-regionally important 
resource and support national sporting events 

7) Bridgewater Canal, providing high quality walking and cycling routes 
and a range of heritage-based attractions 

8) Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal, protecting its line, with its 
restoration being secured wherever practicable and elsewhere along the 
line providing open space incorporating walking and cycling routes, 
public realm improvements and heritage interpretation features 

9) AJ Bell Stadium, ensuring that the community benefits of this facility are 
maximised (see Policy CT1/4) 

10) Former Swinton Wastewater Treatment Works and surrounding open 
land, providing a new strategic natural greenspace with a diverse range 
of recreation opportunities, funded by a permitted residential 
development on a small part of the former treatment works site 

 
Salford’s latest playing pitch assessment identifies key hubs of city-wide 
importance for outdoor sports. These strategically important multiple-pitch 
sites will be enhanced over the Local Plan period: 
 

11) Salford Sports Village in Lower Kersal, expanding and diversifying what 
is already the city’s largest centre for organised outdoor sports as well 
as an important local community facility 

12) Old Racecourse Playing Fields, delivering changing rooms and car 
parking to serve the new community sports pitches within the flood 
storage basin 

13) Brookhouse Playing Fields, enhancing and expanding the playing area 
and improving the existing changing facilities 

14) Bolton Road Playing Fields, enhancing the existing playing area, 
changing facilities and car parking 

Page 260



250 
 

15) Duncan Mathieson Playing Fields, enhancing the existing playing area 
and delivering new changing rooms and car parking (see Policy H9/13) 

 
 
  

Page 261



Brookhouse
Playing
Fields

Eccles

Swinton

Walkden

Pendleton

Cheetham Hill

Salford Quays

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Bridgewater canal
Motorways
A roads
Irwell Valley 
Chat Moss
Hubs of citywide importance for outdoor sports
1. Salford Sports Village
2. Old Racecourse Playing Fields
3. Brookhouse Playing Fields
4. Bolton Road Playing Fields
5. Duncan Mathieson Playing Fields 
Former Swinton Waste Water Treatment Works
A J Bell stadium
Cutacre Country Park
Irwell River Park
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 20 - Strategic recreation opportunities

M60

M602

M61

M60

M60

M62

A580 1 2

3

45

P
age 262



 

252 
 

Local recreation standards 
 
25.3 Local recreation standards have been developed to help ensure that all 

residents have good access to a range of recreation opportunities which are 
able to meet a variety of different needs and demands. Many of the standards 
have been used in Salford for several years or more, and are derived from 
national standards produced by organisations such as the National Playing 
Fields Association and Natural England. The standard relating to woodland is 
based on the Woodland Trust’s Woodland Access Standard. It is recognised 
that land availability will act as a constraint on the achievement of some of 
these standards in parts of the city, but it will be important to work towards 
them as far as practicable, particularly given the importance of local recreation 
facilities in helping to address the poor average health levels in Salford. 

 
25.4 The demand for sports pitches is influenced significantly by population levels, 

the number of teams and leagues, changes in the popularity of different 
sports, and the availability of facilities elsewhere. The local recreation 
standard for sports pitches will therefore be kept under review, with reference 
to the recommendations of the latest playing pitch assessment and is likely to 
evolve over the course of the Local Plan period. 

 
25.5 It will be important that all new residential developments support the 

achievement of the recreation standards wherever possible, given the 
additional demand that they will create. Their contribution will be calculated 
based on the proposed number of dwellings (which equates to the number of 
households that could be accommodated) and the number of bed spaces 
(which equates to the population that could be accommodated) that the 
development would create, as well as the type of dwellings where appropriate. 
On-site provision will often be the most suitable form for such contributions, so 
as to maximise accessibility to occupants of the new housing, although this 
may not be practicable or deliver the most effective outcomes in some cases. 
In particular, it will be appropriate within areas of greenspace deficiency for 
larger developments to incorporate substantial public open space that can act 
as a focal point for the development as well as improving access to recreation 
opportunities. 

 
 
Policy R2 Recreation standards 

 
New residential developments shall contribute to the achievement of all of the 
following recreation standards, and the management and maintenance of any 
facilities provided for at least a 20 year period, proportionate to the additional 
demand that they would be expected to generate: 
 
Size-based standards 
1) A minimum of 0.45 hectares of publicly accessible amenity space per 

1,000 residents 
2) The minimum standard identified in Salford’s latest playing pitch 

assessment 

Page 263



253 
 

3) A minimum of 0.4 hectares of other outdoor sports facilities (both adult 
and youth) per 1,000 residents 

4) A minimum of 1 hectare of Local Nature Reserve per 1,000 residents 
5) A minimum of 5,000m² (or 0.50 hectares) of allotments per 1,000 

households, with each new plot being 125m² in size to enable as many 
residents as possible to take on an allotment 

 
Distance-based standards 
6) All households to be within 500 metres walking distance of a Local 

Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) 
7) All households to be within 1,000 metres walking distance of a 

Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play (NEAP) 
8) All households to be within 1,200 metres walking distance of a 

Neighbourhood Park 
9) All households to be within 3,200 metres walking distance of a District 

Park 
10) All households to be within 500 metres walking distance of a publicly 

accessible Local Natural Greenspace of at least 1 hectare in size 
11) All households to be within 2,000 metres walking distance of a publicly 

accessible Strategic Natural Greenspace of at least 20 hectares in size 
12) All households to be within 4,000 metres walking distance of a publicly 

accessible woodland of at least 20 hectares in size 
 
Other standards 
13) All households to have good access to a full range of other indoor and 

outdoor recreation facilities with sufficient capacity to meet demand 
 
Facilities will only be counted as helping to meet these standards where they 
are of sufficient quality to properly fulfil their intended function and meet the 
level of demand placed on them. 
 
The contribution made by new residential developments to the achievement of 
these standards shall be in accordance with the following order of preference, 
and may include both new facilities and the improvement or refurbishment of 
existing facilities: 
 
A) On-site provision where this is practicable and would be the most 

effective way of meeting the needs generated by the development 
B) Off-site provision and/or a financial contribution to off-site provision 
 
Where on-site provision is being made to meet standard 6 above, this shall 
achieve a minimum of 0.25 hectares of equipped children’s playspace per 
1,000 bed spaces (where the number of bed spaces in each dwelling is equal 
to the number of bedrooms plus one). 
 
All facilities shall be designed to serve other green infrastructure functions 
(see Policy GI1) wherever possible, linking into the wider green infrastructure 
network. 
 
 

Page 264



254 
 

 
Provision of recreation facilities 
 
25.6 Recreation facilities are an important component of a sustainable 

neighbourhood, but the noise and activity that some schemes generate can 
adversely affect the amenity of surrounding residents. In some cases this has 
led to new facilities being installed but later having to be removed due to 
amenity impacts, resulting in wasted investment and a lost opportunity to 
improve recreation provision in the long-term. The provision of a suitable 
buffer zone around recreation uses can help to minimise the potential for such 
conflicts. 

 
 
Policy R3 Recreation facilities and residential amenity 

 
A distance of at least 30 metres shall be maintained between the curtilage of 
residential properties and recreation facilities that are likely to generate a 
significant level of noise and activity such as Local Equipped Areas for Play, 
Neighbourhood Equipped Areas for Play, and Multi-Use Games Areas.22 
 
 
 
Protection of recreation facilities 
 
25.7 If the quantity, quality and accessibility of recreation provision in Salford are to 

be maintained and enhanced, then it will be necessary to strictly control 
developments that would affect existing recreation land and facilities. The 
incremental loss of existing recreation sites to other uses has the potential to 
compromise the overall Local Plan approach to improving recreation provision 
in support of social, economic and environmental objectives. The presumption 
will therefore be that an existing recreation site should be retained in 
recreation use unless there is clear evidence that its loss would not harm 
access to high quality recreation facilities. 

 
25.8 Some limited loss of existing recreation land will be necessary as part of the 

Local Plan site allocations, including some sports pitches and changing rooms 
in Policy H9/2 Castle Irwell, and a golf course in Policy H9/4 Brackley golf 
course. Appropriate compensation will need to be made in order to help 
deliver overall enhancements in recreation opportunities within Salford, and it 
will be determined having regard to the type and area of open space that 
would be lost. 

 
Policy R4 Protection of recreation land and facilities 

 
The development of existing recreation land or facilities for non-recreation 
purposes will only be permitted where: 
 

Page 265



255 
 

1) It is ancillary to the recreation use and does not reduce the overall 
recreation function of the site; 

2) Replacement recreation provision of at least the same quantity, quality, 
accessibility to its catchment population, community benefit and 
management level is made in a suitable location; 

3) It has been clearly demonstrated that the site is surplus to recreational 
requirements and is not capable of helping to meet any of Salford’s 
recreation standards; or 

4) The site has been allocated for alternative purposes in the Local Plan, 
and development will deliver a net improvement in the city’s recreation 
resources. 

 
Wherever practicable, replacement provision shall be made directly by the 
developer and shall be available for use before the existing recreation facility 
is lost. The payment of a financial contribution to the city council for 
replacement provision may be acceptable in other circumstances. 
 
This policy applies to all existing sites and facilities that have a recreation use 
or value, irrespective of whether they are owned or managed by the public, 
private or voluntary sectors. 
 
 
 
Strategic recreation routes 
 
25.9 The network of strategic recreation routes extends through the city and 

beyond, and is an important component of a sustainable Salford, helping to 
provide opportunities for outdoor recreation, linking recreation sites, and 
connecting the urban area to the countryside. It can therefore make a major 
contribution to public health and quality of life, enhancing public access to the 
green infrastructure network. It is complemented by a wider network of public 
rights of way. 
 

25.10 Many of the existing strategic recreation routes follow looplines (disused 
railways), public rights of way and waterside routes, and are generally 
separate from highways. These routes will continue to be protected and 
enhanced. Opportunities to expand the network will be taken where possible, 
both in terms of the specific proposed strategic recreation routes shown on 
the Policies Map, and other locations where improved public access is 
important but specific priority routes have yet to be identified. New 
development should make an appropriate contribution to the protection and 
enhancement of the network, including by ensuring that it promotes the safe 
use of strategic recreation routes in accordance with the design policies of this 
plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 266



256 
 

Policy R5 Strategic recreation routes 

 
A network of high quality strategic recreation routes extending through the 
city and into surrounding districts will be protected and enhanced. 
Opportunities will be sought to join up existing routes by filling in gaps in the 
network and to expand routes into other parts of the city. The routes will play 
an important role in connecting neighbourhoods with places of work, shops 
and between strategic open spaces, contributing towards public health and 
quality of life.  
 
Existing strategic recreation routes are identified on the Policies Map:  
 
1. Bridgewater Way 
2. Cadishead Way, Irlam to Liverpool Road, Cadishead 
3. Clifton Country Park 
4. Ellenbrook Loopline  
5. Glazebrook 
6. Irwell River Park (The Meadow to Salford Quays) 
7. Linnyshaw Loopline 
8. Port Salford Greenway 
9. River Irwell (Clifton Country Park to The Meadow) 
10. Roe Green Loopline 
11. Salford Quays and MediaCityUK 
12. Slack Brook Open Space  
13. Swinton Greenway  
14. The Meadow 
15. Tyldesley Loopline 
16. RHS Bridgewater Link 
 
Proposed strategic recreation routes are also identified on the Policies Map to 
fill some key gaps or improve connections in the network: 
 
17. Slack Brook Open Space 
18. River Irwell Link 
19. The Meadow (proposed bridge from the Crescent) 
20. Bridgewater Canal northern towpath and links 
21. Worsley Wood Greenway 
 
The provision of further strategic recreation routes in addition to these will be 
sought, particularly where they would improve links to and through Chat 
Moss, Port Salford, RHS Bridgewater, the West Salford Greenway and the 
Irwell Valley, and alongside the city’s waterways. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that would result in 
the permanent obstruction or closure of any strategic recreation route, unless 
an alternative route is provided that is equally attractive and convenient. 
 
New development that is proposed on a site needed for the provision of a 
proposed strategic recreation route, or which could help to fill a gap in the 

Page 267



257 
 

network, will be required to incorporate such a route as part of the 
development. Where the use of a site has previously prevented the provision 
of a continuous or direct strategic recreation route, such as along the 
Manchester Ship Canal, then any redevelopment proposals shall deliver a new 
route connecting to the wider network. 
 
 
 
  

Page 268



1

2

6

5

9

10

3

16

8

13

7

20

4

15

21

11

17

12

14

18

19

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Waterways
Motorways
A roads
RHS Bridgewater site
Irwell Valley 
West Salford Greenway

Strategic Recreation Routes (Draft local plan policy R5)
Existing
Proposed
Indicative additional strategic recreation routes
Broader areas of opportunity
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

Figure 21 - Strategic recreation routes

M60

M602

M61

M60

M60

M62

A580

Existing Routes
1.  Bridgewater Way
2.  Cadishead Way to Liverpool Road
3.  Clifton Country Park
4.  Ellenbrook Loopline
5.  Glazebrook
6.  Irwell River Park
7.  Linnyshaw Loopline
8.  Port Salford Greenway
9.  River Irwell
10. Roe Green Loopline
11. Salford Quays and MediaCityUK
12. Slack Brook Open Space
13. Swinton Greenway
14. The Meadow
15. Tyldesley Loopline
16. RHS Bridgewater Link
Proposed Routes
17. Slack Brook Open Space
18. River Irwell Link
19. The Meadow (proposed
      bridge from the Crescent)
20. Bridgewater Canal Northern
      Towpath and Links
21. Worsley Wood Greenway

9

18

14

19

1

16

20

P
age 269



 

259 
 

Monitoring 
 
25.11 The main indicators that will be used to monitor this chapter are: 
 

Indicator Target 

Area of publicly accessible amenity space per 

1,000 residents 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Area of playing pitches per 1,000 residents Minimum standard 

identified in latest 

playing pitch 

assessment 

Area of other outdoor sports facilities per 

1,000 residents 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Area of Local Nature Reserve per 1,000 

residents 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Number of allotments per 1,000 households Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 500 metres 

walking distance of a Local Equipped Area for 

Play 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 1,000 metres 

walking distance of a Neighbourhood 

Equipped Area for Play 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 1,200 metres 

walking distance of a Neighbourhood Park 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 3,200 metres 

walking distance of a District Park 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 500 metres 

walking distance of a publicly accessible 

Local Natural Greenspace of at least 1 

hectare in size 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 2,000 metres 

walking distance of a publicly accessible 

Increase  

Page 270



260 
 

Indicator Target 

Strategic Natural Greenspace of at least 20 

hectares in size 

(2018-2037) 

Proportion of households within 4,000 metres 

walking distance of a publicly accessible 

woodland of at least 20 hectares in size 

Increase  

(2018-2037) 

 
 
  

Page 271



261 
 

CHAPTER 26       AIR QUALITY 

 

26.1 Air pollution can be hugely harmful to human health. Public Health England 
estimates that 5% of deaths in Greater Manchester are attributable to long-
term exposure to particulate air pollution, the same rate as for the country as 
a whole. This equated to approximately 1,200 deaths in Greater Manchester 
in 201667. The young, old and those with existing lung or other health 
conditions are particularly at risk, with the potential for reduced life 
expectancy68. Increasing temperatures can heighten the impact of air 
pollutants, and so climate change further raises the importance of addressing 
air quality issues. 
 

26.2 Poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated with road transport, and 
hence this will need to be the focus for any solutions. The impacts are not 
only from exhaust emissions, but also particulates released by tyre and brake 
degradation. A number of roads in the city are likely to have levels of nitrogen 
dioxide in breach of legal limits beyond 202069  and there is a broader issue of 
poor air quality along many other main roads that detract from health and 
quality of life. The integrated nature of the highway network means that these 
problems cannot be solved by Salford in isolation, and effective joint working 
will be required with other local authorities and Highways England within and 
beyond Greater Manchester. In addition to transport, industrial processes and 
energy generation can also contribute to poor air quality, and hence require 
appropriate controls. 

 
 
Policy AQ1 Air quality 

 
A substantial improvement will be sought in Salford’s air quality, and 
particularly in air quality management areas, including by: 
 
1) Reducing emissions from road vehicles through a wide range of 

measures such as: 
A) Minimising the need to travel and maximising the ability to do so 

by walking, cycling and public transport 
B) Promoting the use of low and zero emission vehicles 

                                                           
67 Public Health England (September 2018) Air Quality in Greater Manchester – from a Public Health 
Perspective 
68 Greater Manchester Combined Authority (October 2016) Climate Change and Low Emission 
Strategies’ Whole Place Implementation Plan for Greater Manchester (2016-2020), p.3 
69 https://cleanairgm.com/gm-clean-air-plan  

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Supporting improvements in air quality, particularly for communities near 
major roads that currently suffer the worst levels of pollution, and hence 
promoting better health and quality of life 
 

Page 272

https://cleanairgm.com/gm-clean-air-plan


262 
 

C) Investigating the potential for Clean Air Zones 
2) Supporting the electrification of rail lines through the city to reduce 

diesel emissions 
3) Carefully controlling industrial uses and energy generation schemes 

that could increase the emission of air pollutants 
4) Enhancing the green infrastructure network to assist in the absorption 

of air pollutants 
5) Designing the built environment to minimise the potential for air 

pollution to become trapped close to the ground 
6) Requiring development to minimise and mitigate pollution as far as 

practicable, both during the construction and operational phases of 
development 

7) Locating sensitive uses away from areas of high air pollution, and, 
where this is not possible, incorporating mechanical ventilation as 
appropriate 

 
 
 
  

Page 273



Figure 22 - Air quality management area

Legend
Salford local authority boundary
Air quality management area 2016
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

P
age 274



 

264 
 

Monitoring 
 
26.3 The main indicator that will be used to monitor this chapter is: 
 

Indicator Target 

Area of the city within an air quality 

management area 

Significant 

decrease 

(2018-2037) 

 
 
  

Page 275



265 
 

CHAPTER 27         POLLUTION AND HAZARDS 
 

 
 
27.1 Pollution involves the introduction of harmful contaminants into the 

environment, which can include noise, light and vibration, as well as 
substances such as chemicals and certain gases. Pollution can have a major 
impact on health, amenity, natural resources, wildlife, heritage assets and 
quality of life, potentially compromising the success and sustainability of 
Salford and its individual neighbourhoods. 

 
27.2 Development can lead to the emission of pollutants to the atmosphere, land or 

watercourses, both during construction and through the operation of the 
completed scheme. Hence, it is important that the planning system is used to 
complement other regulatory mechanisms for controlling pollution. A 
development will not automatically be acceptable in planning terms simply 
because it meets minimum statutory requirements under pollution control 
regimes, and the broader acceptability of any potential pollution impacts will 
need to be carefully assessed. 

 
27.3 There are some existing pollution challenges in Salford, with parts of the city 

designated as an air quality management area (see Figure 22 in the Air 
Quality chapter), some of the waterways having a relatively poor ecological 
and/or chemical status, and land contamination presenting problems on some 
sites. Residential amenity can be harmed significantly by many forms of 
pollution, including noise, odour and vibration. It can also be affected by light 
pollution, as can the normal routines of plants and animals.   
 

27.4 Minimising pollution impacts as far as possible is therefore essential, 
however, there may be circumstances where it is impossible to avoid small 
increases in pollution, and such increases may be considered acceptable 
when balanced against the benefits that would result from development. 
 

27.5 Where there are already significant levels of pollution, or likely to be in the 
future as a result of development proposals, it will be necessary to control the 
type and form of new developments to ensure that no unacceptable levels of 
risk or nuisance result. This will be particularly important for sensitive uses 
such as residential uses, schools and hospitals where the occupiers are at 
particular risk from the effects of pollution due to their health, age or the 
potential time length of exposure to that pollution. The sensitivity of uses also 
extends to industrial processes and utilities infrastructure that require specific 
operating conditions that could be compromised by certain types or levels of 
pollution. 

Creating a fairer Salford by: 
 

 Taking a comprehensive approach to minimising pollution and the adverse 
impacts that it can have on residents 

 Minimising the potential for people to be affected by land instability 
 

Page 276



266 
 

 

27.6 New development will not be appropriate where, due to its sensitivity to 
pollution, it would prejudice the continuation of other important land uses such 
as businesses and community facilities (including places of worship, public 
houses, music venues and sports clubs). This issue is specifically referred to 
in other policies of the plan relating to the protection of existing employment 
areas (Policy EC6) and cultural activities (Policy CT2). 
 

27.7 The type of mitigation that may be required to make a development 
acceptable in terms of pollution will be dependent on its form, location and 
context. Restrictions on the layout of buildings, or the need for non-opening 
windows and mechanical ventilation, may impact directly on building design. 
Green infrastructure such as trees and hedges can be effective in relation to 
air, water and noise pollution, as well as having wider benefits for quality of 
life, biodiversity and recreation, and may need to be incorporated both within 
and outside the site. Measures targeted at mitigating other impacts, such as 
minimising the traffic impacts of developments and maximising the use of 
sustainable modes of transport, could also assist in addressing pollution 
issues. 

 
 
Policy PH1 Pollution control 

 
Development shall minimise and mitigate pollution during both the 
construction and operational phases of development. Development will not be 
permitted where it would result in unacceptable levels of pollution, either 
individually or cumulatively with other existing or proposed developments, or 
would itself be subject to unacceptable levels of pollution. 
 
The acceptability of likely pollution levels, during both the construction and 
operational phases of development, will be determined having regard to: 
 
A) The potential impacts on human health and amenity; 
B) The proximity and sensitivity of uses that could be affected by the 

pollution; 
C) The proximity and sensitivity of environmental and heritage assets, 

including potential impacts on wildlife; 
D) Existing pollution levels, including any air quality management area or 

other designation; and 
E) Any relevant strategies and targets for pollution control and reduction. 
 
Where appropriate, conditions or planning obligations will be used to ensure 
that during construction and through the operation of completed development: 
 
1) Pollution levels and impacts can be adequately monitored; and 
2) Measures to reduce and/or mitigate pollution impacts are being 

appropriately implemented and maintained. 
 
This policy applies to all types of pollution, including that relating to: 

Page 277



267 
 

 
a) Air 
b) Water 
c) Soil and other land contamination 
d) Noise 
e) Odour 
f) Light 
g) Vibration 
h) Litter 
i) Pests and vermin  
 
 
 
Hazardous uses 
 
27.8 The production and use of hazardous substances is a crucial part of the local 

and national economy. However, by definition, hazardous substances have 
the potential to cause significant harm to the public and the built environment 
if there is an accident involving them, and it is therefore essential that the 
location of associated facilities is carefully controlled. In doing so, it will be 
important to consider the constraints that a hazardous use could apply to the 
positive future use of surrounding sites, rather than just the impact on existing 
uses. 

 
 
Policy PH2 Control of hazardous uses 

 
Applications for hazardous substances consent, and developments involving 
the use of hazardous substances, will only be permitted where: 
 
1) There would be no unacceptable risk to the public, having regard to the 

number and vulnerability of people who would potentially use 
developments that would fall within any associated safety zones 
identified by the Health and Safety Executive; 

2) They would not unacceptably hamper or reduce the development 
options for adjacent sites or the wider area; and 

3) The hazardous substances would be stored in a way that minimises any 
potential harm to the environment. 

 
 
 
Development near hazardous installations 
 
27.9 Where hazardous installations already exist, it is necessary to carefully control 

development that takes place nearby them so as to ensure that the public is 
not put at an unnecessary level of risk. This does not automatically preclude 
development within the safety zones around hazardous installations, even if 
this would significantly increase the number of people that would be at risk in 
the event of a major accident. However, the resultant risk must be acceptable 

Page 278



268 
 

and manageable, and this will affect the type and scale of development that is 
appropriate in some locations. 

 
 
Policy PH3 Development near hazardous installations 

 
Development will not be permitted near hazardous installations where it would 
result in an unacceptable increase in the risk or consequences of a major 
accident. 
 
In determining whether there would be an unacceptable risk, regard will be had 
to: 
 
1) The proximity of the development to the hazardous installation, 

particularly whether it would be within the inner, middle, or outer safety 
zone of the installation as identified by the Health and Safety Executive; 

2) The type of hazardous substance and the nature of the hazard resulting 
from it; and 

3) The number of people likely to occupy, use or visit the development, 
their vulnerability, and the potential duration of their exposure to the 
risk. 

 
 
 
Land instability 
 
27.10 Problems of land instability have generally been quite limited in Salford in 

recent years, partly due to careful controls over development. However, the 
significant levels of past mining activity have left a legacy of mine and 
ventilation shafts, other openings and areas of potential instability. 
Furthermore, the city’s peatlands have distinct physical characteristics that 
require appropriate construction techniques and land management to ensure 
that any development does not suffer from subsidence. 

 
27.11 Applicants for planning permission will need to submit sufficient information to 

enable the city council to properly determine the risk of land instability and the 
appropriateness of any proposed mitigation measures. The Coal Authority has 
identified parts of the city as Coal Mining Development Areas, where planning 
applications, excluding householder developments, should include a Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment. 

 
 
Policy PH4 Land instability 

 
Development will not be permitted where it would, during either its 
construction or operational phases: 
 
1) Be subject to an unacceptable risk of land instability; or 

Page 279



269 
 

2) Result in an unacceptable risk to the stability of land, buildings or other 
structures. 

 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
27.12 Pollution-related indicators are included in other chapters of the plan, such as 

the extent of the air quality management area in the Air Quality chapter, and 
the percentage of surface water bodies of at least good ecological status or 
potential in the Water chapter. 

 
 
  

Page 280



270 
 

CHAPTER 28     MINERALS AND WASTE  

 
MINERALS  
 
28.1 A Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan Document has been 

produced, which provides the main development plan framework for minerals 
developments in Salford. It identifies the sub-regional aggregate 
apportionment, designates areas of search and minerals safeguarding areas, 
and includes policies for determining planning applications. 

 
WASTE  
 
28.2 The Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan Document provides 

the main development plan framework for waste-related developments. It 
identifies the future waste management requirements for the conurbation 
together with site allocations, area designations, and policies for determining 
planning applications. 

  

Page 281



271 
 

CHAPTER 29 IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 
 
Implementation 
 
29.1 The policies in the Local Plan will be one of the primary mechanisms for 

delivering the plan’s spatial vision and strategic objectives. However, it is 
important to recognise that many other processes will influence their 
achievement, including the implementation of other plans and strategies 
produced at the national, sub-regional and local levels, investment by the 
public, private and voluntary sectors, and the actions of individual businesses 
and residents. The Local Plan is therefore an essential component in 
delivering the spatial vision and strategic objectives, but not sufficient on its 
own. 

 
29.2 The development management process will be a key way in which the Local 

Plan will be implemented. Both the overall strategy and the individual policies 
of the Local Plan will provide the starting point for the determination of 
planning applications, along with the other parts of the development plan 
including the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, the Greater Manchester 
Joint Waste Development Plan Document, the Greater Manchester Joint 
Minerals Development Plan Document and any adopted neighbourhood 
plans. Other material considerations will be taken into account where relevant, 
including the National Planning Policy Framework and Salford’s 
supplementary planning documents. 

 
29.3 The Local Plan will also have an important role in influencing and providing a 

positive framework for investment decisions. Ultimately, it will be investments 
by individual developers, businesses, residents and other organisations, as 
well as the city council, which will deliver the spatial vision and implement 
many of the policies of the Local Plan. It is therefore vital that the Local Plan 
provides clarity regarding what is required to deliver growth in a sustainable 
way that benefits everybody, so that this can be taken into account in the 
huge number of decisions that will be made regarding individual 
developments and other investments. 

 
29.4 Planning conditions and obligations will reduce the negative impacts 

associated with development, ensure that developments are integrated and 
coordinated with their surroundings, and secure additional community and 
environmental benefits where appropriate. Some of the Local Plan policies will 
therefore potentially be implemented through this process. The city council will 
utilise its own resources where available and will also seek to attract charity-
based funding, such as from the National Lottery, and grant funding from 
central Government wherever possible, although the latter is likely to be quite 
limited at least in the short to medium term given the pressures on public 
sector finances. The private sector will therefore have a particularly important 
role in supporting the delivery of the Local Plan.  

 
29.5 The Local Plan provides a comprehensive set of planning policies for Salford. 

However, it will be appropriate to provide additional guidance on some issues 
so as to explain how individual policies should be implemented, such as 

Page 282



272 
 

through supplementary planning documents. The use of masterplans will also 
be necessary in some locations to ensure that development is properly co-
ordinated and contributes to high quality neighbourhoods. This has been 
identified as being particularly important for sites in the Green Belt which are 
proposed to be allocated for development through the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. 

 
Monitoring 
 
29.6 The strategic objectives in the Local Plan will be central to the achievement of 

the spatial vision, and provide the basis for the plan’s monitoring framework. 
The Local Plan includes more detailed indicators and targets at the end of 
each chapter, which will be used to monitor the achievement of policies within 
it. These will be reported on annually. 
 

29.7 Some of the indicators that have been included will be influenced by many 
factors and not just the Local Plan, but they still provide a useful way of 
monitoring the outcomes that the document is seeking to help achieve. For 
some policies, quantitative indicators will not be appropriate and the main 
focus will be on monitoring whether there have been any problems with 
implementing the policies through the development management process, for 
example because of a lack of clarity or change in circumstances. For other 
policies, it will be important to monitor key projects that will help to deliver 
those policies, not all of which will be specifically mentioned in the Local Plan. 
It will also be necessary to monitor the wider policy context, to ensure that the 
Local Plan remains consistent with national policy and other key plans and 
strategies. 

  

Page 283



273 
 

Annex A     Nationally Described Space Standards 
 
 
 

Page 284



March 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Technical housing standards – nationally 
described space standard 
 

 

Page 285



 

3 
 

Technical housing standards – nationally 
described space standard 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This standard deals with internal space within new dwellings and is suitable for 

application across all tenures. It sets out requirements for the Gross Internal 
(floor) Area of new dwellings at a defined level of occupancy as well as floor 
areas and dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage and 
floor to ceiling height.  

2. The requirements of this standard for bedrooms, storage and internal areas are 
relevant only in determining compliance with this standard in new dwellings and 
have no other statutory meaning or use.  

 
Using the space standard 

 
3. The standard Gross Internal Areas set out in Table 1 are organised by storey 

height to take account of the extra circulation space needed for stairs to upper 
floors, and deal separately with one storey dwellings (typically flats) and two and 
three storey dwellings (typically houses). 

4. Individual dwelling types are expressed with reference to the number of 
bedrooms (denoted as ‘b’) and the number of bedspaces (or people) that can be 
accommodated within these bedrooms (denoted as ‘p’). A three bedroom (3b) 
home with one double bedroom (providing two bed spaces) and two single 
bedrooms (each providing one bed space) is therefore described as 3b4p. 

5. This allows for different  combinations of single and double/twin bedrooms to be 
reflected in the minimum Gross Internal Area. The breakdown of the minimum 
Gross Internal Area  therefore allows not only for the different combinations of 
bedroom size, but also for varying amounts of additional living, dining, kitchen 
and storage space; all of which are related to the potential occupancy. 

6. Relating internal space to the number of bedspaces is a means of classification 
for assessment purposes only when designing new homes and seeking planning 
approval (if a local authority has adopted the space standard in its Local Plan). It 
does not imply actual occupancy, or define the minimum for any room in a 
dwelling to be used for a specific purpose other than in complying with this 
standard. 

7. Minimum floor areas and room widths for bedrooms and minimum floor areas for 
storage are also an integral part of the space standard. They cannot be used in 
isolation from other parts of the design standard or removed from it. 

Page 286



 

4 
 

 
8. The Gross Internal Area of a dwelling is defined as the total floor space 

measured between the internal faces of perimeter walls1 that enclose the 
dwelling. This includes partitions, structural elements, cupboards, ducts, flights of 
stairs and voids above stairs. The Gross Internal Area should be measured and 
denoted in square metres (m2). 

9. The Gross Internal Areas in this standard will not be adequate for wheelchair 
housing (Category 3 homes in Part M of the Building Regulations) where 
additional internal area is required to accommodate increased circulation and 
functionality to meet the needs of wheelchair households.   

 
Technical requirements  
 
10. The standard requires that: 

a. the dwelling provides at least the gross internal floor area and built-in 
storage area set out in Table 1 below 

b. a dwelling with two or more bedspaces has at least one double (or twin) 
bedroom 

c. in order to provide one bedspace, a single bedroom has a floor area of at 
least 7.5m2  and is at least 2.15m wide 

d. in order to provide two bedspaces, a double (or twin bedroom) has a floor 
area of at least 11.5m2 

e. one double (or twin bedroom) is at least 2.75m wide and every other 
double (or twin) bedroom is at least 2.55m wide 

f.     any area with a headroom of less than 1.5m is not counted within the 
Gross Internal Area unless used solely for storage (if the area under the 
stairs is to be used for storage, assume a general floor area of 1m2 within 
the Gross Internal Area) 

g. any other area that is used solely for storage and has a headroom of 900-
1500mm (such as under eaves) is counted at 50% of its floor area, and 
any area lower than 900mm is not counted at all 

h. a built-in wardrobe counts towards the Gross Internal Area and bedroom 
floor area requirements, but should not reduce the effective width of the 
room below the minimum widths set out above. The built-in area in excess 
of 0.72m2 in a double bedroom and 0.36m2 in a single bedroom counts 
towards the built-in storage requirement 

i. the minimum floor to ceiling height is 2.3m for at least 75% of the Gross 
Internal Area 

                                            
 
1 The internal face of a perimeter wall is the finished surface of the wall. For a detached house, the perimeter walls are the 
external walls that enclose the dwelling, and for other houses or apartments they are the external walls and party walls. 

Page 287



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2015 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

March 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4567-6

Page 288

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


 

5 
 

Table 1 -  Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage (m2) 
Number of 
bedrooms(b)  

Number of 
bed spaces 
(persons) 

1 storey 
dwellings 

2 storey 
dwellings 

3 storey 
dwellings 

Built-in 
storage 

 
1b 

1p 39 (37)2   1.0 
2p 50 58  1.5 

 
2b 

3p 61 70   
2.0 4p 70 79  

 
3b 

4p 74 84 90  
2.5 5p 86 93 99 

6p 95 102 108 
 
 

4b 

5p 90 97 103  
 

3.0 
6p 99 106 112 
7p 108 115 121 
8p 117 124 130 

 
5b 

6p 103 110 116  
3.5 7p 112 119 125 

8p 121 128 134 
 

6b 
7p 116 123 129  

4.0 8p 125 132 138 
 

 
 
 

                                            
 
2 Where a one person flat has a shower room rather than a bathroom, the floor area may be reduced 
from 39m2 to 37m2. 

Page 289



 

274 
 

Annex B Town Centre Insets 

P
age 290



275 
   

P
age 291



 

276 
 

 

P
age 292



277 
 

 

P
age 293



278 
  

P
age 294



279 
 

 

P
age 295



 

280 
 Page 296



 

281 
 Page 297



 

282 
 

ANNEX C PARKING STANDARDS 

 
C1. The table below sets out the following types of parking standards in 

accordance with policies A4 and A8 of the Local Plan: 
 

 Maximum standards for car parking; 

 Minimum standards for car parking for disabled people; 

 Minimum standards for motorcycle parking; and 

 Minimum standards for cycle parking 
 

C2. The standards vary between different uses. For convenience, the uses are 
listed in order of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
as existed in November 2018. It is possible that the use classes may change 
during the lifetime of the Local Plan, but the standards will continue to be 
applied in relation to the uses listed in the table. 
 
 

Development types not listed in the table 
 
C3. For those types of development that are not listed in the table below, the 

appropriate level of parking provision will be determined on a case by case 
basis having regard to: 
 
A) The accessibility of the development; 
B) Likely demand for different types of parking informed by the type, mix 

and use of the development; and 
C) Any similarities to development types for which standards are identified 

in the table. 
 

C4. The amount of parking provided should not discourage the use of more 
sustainable modes of transport or lead to a level of on-street parking which 
would have an unacceptable impact on the safe and efficient operation of the 
highways network.  

 
 
Mixed-use developments 
 
C5. Parking provision for mixed-use developments will vary depending on the type 

and relative proportions of the uses proposed. Where the various uses would 
generally operate at the same time, then the levels applicable to all uses 
should be aggregated. Where the uses proposed would be likely to generate 
parking demands at different times of the day then shared parking provision 
should be provided as far as practicable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 298



283 
 

 
Flexible uses 
 
C6. For developments comprising flexible uses, the maximum car parking 

standards that would result in the lowest level of car parking provision should 
be applied to the development as the starting point. If it is considered that 
additional car parking is required, this should be clearly justified by the 
applicant having regard to the travel demands likely to be generated by the 
development.  

 
 
Operational parking 
 
C7. Operational parking is defined as parking provision other than that used by 

residents, staff, visitors, shoppers, etc, that is required for a development to 
function effectively. It includes drop-off points for delivery/emergency/refuse/ 
private hire vehicles and taxi ranks. Operational parking requirements should 
be treated separately and in addition to the standards set out in the table 
below, and will be determined on a case by case basis in accordance with 
policy A8.  
 

C8. Conditions may be applied to planning permissions to ensure that operational 
parking is not used for other car parking functions. 

 
 

Floorspace calculations 
 
C9. All standards in the table that are expressed in the form “per square metre” 

(sqm) refer to the gross internal floorspace of the development unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
 
Maximum car parking standards 
 
C10. The city has been split into two area types for the purposes of the maximum 

car parking standards, with different standards applying in each area for most 
types of development. The area types are defined as follows: 
 

 Area type A: City Centre Salford (AP1), Salford Quays (AP3), Ordsall 
Waterfront (AP4), Cheetham Hill Town Centre, Eccles Town Centre, 
Pendleton Town Centre, Swinton Town Centre and Walkden Town 
Centre (TC1)  

 Area type B: All other parts of the city   
 

C11. Car parking provision that exceeds the standards set out in the table below 
will only be permitted where it can be clearly demonstrated by the applicant 
that there is no alternative practicable way of accommodating the travel 
demands likely to be generated by the development, and that all reasonable 
efforts are being made to minimise reliance on the private car. 
 

Page 299



284 
 

C12. Where the proposed scale of car parking complies with the maximum car 
parking standards, a lower level of car parking may still be sought due to the 
potential adverse impacts of the parking provision, such as where it may 
discourage the use of more sustainable modes of transport or would be likely 
to result in poor quality urban design or have an unacceptable impact on the 
street scene. 
 

C13. There are no minimum car parking standards for general users, only for 
disabled people. 

 
 
Minimum car parking standards for disabled people 
 
C14. Car parking provision for disabled people should be accommodated within the 

maximum car parking standards identified in the table rather than be in 
addition to it.  

 
C15. The need for additional parking for mobility scooters will be assessed on a 

case by case basis. 
 

C16. References in the table to provision being a “% of the total” relate to the total 
amount of car parking being provided as part of the development, including 
that for disabled people. 
 

C17. Spaces should be located and designed in accordance with the latest 
Government guidance on car parking provision for disabled people 
 
 

Minimum motorcycle parking standards 
 
C18. Motorcycle parking should be secure and have suitable anchor points in 

accordance with the requirements of policy A4. 
 
 

Minimum cycle parking standards  
 
C19. Cycle parking should be designed and located in accordance with the 

requirements of policy A4. 
 
 
Small-scale developments 
C20. The various minimum standards will be applied flexibly to small-scale 

developments having regard to the practicality of full compliance. 

Page 300



285 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

A1 Food retail 1 space per 

16sqm  

1 space 

per 14sqm  

Car parking 

located within 

designated city, 

town and local 

centres should 

be available for 

the general 

public to use 

wherever 

possible. 

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

350sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

140sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

A1 Non-food retail and 

retail services 

1 space per 

22sqm  

1 space 

per 20sqm  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

500sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

200sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)   

A1 Retail warehouse 

(defined as a large store 

specialising in the sale 

of household goods 

(such as carpets, 

furniture, and electrical 

goods), DIY items and 

other bulky goods) 

 

1 space per 

60sqm  

1 space 

per 40sqm  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

500sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

200sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

P
age 301



286 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

A2 Financial and 

professional services 

1 space per 

35sqm  

1 space 

per 30sqm  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

500sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

200sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

A3 Restaurants and 

cafes 

1 space per 

8sqm public 

floor area 

1 space 

per 5sqm 

public 

floor area  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

 

1 space per 

125sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 

50sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

A4 Drinking 

establishments 

1 space per 

8sqm public 

floor area 

1 space 

per 5sqm 

public 

floor area  

Car parking 

located within 

designated city, 

town and local 

centres should 

be available for 

the general 

public to use 

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

 

1 space per 

125sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

50sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces) 

P
age 302



287 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

A5 Hot food takeaways 1 space per 

8sqm public 

floor area 

1 space 

per 5sqm 

public 

floor area  

wherever 

possible. 

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

 

1 space per 

125sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

 

 

1 space per 

50sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces) 

B1 Offices, business 

parks, research and 

development 

1 spacer 

per 40sqm  

1 space 

per 30sqm 

 Individual 

spaces for 

each disabled 

employee plus 

2 spaces, or 

5% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

 

6 spaces plus 

2% of the total 

1 space per 

750sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

300sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

P
age 303



288 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

B1a/B2 General industry 1 space per 

60sqm  

1 space 

per 45sqm  

 Individual 

spaces for 

each disabled 

employee plus 

2 spaces, or 

5% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

6 spaces plus 

2% of the total 

1 space per 

1,000sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 

450sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces) 

B8 Storage and 

distribution (less than 

10,000sqm) 

 

1 space per 75sqm Reduced 

provision may 

be appropriate 

around highly 

automated 

distribution 

hubs.  

Individual 

spaces for 

each disabled 

employee plus 

2 spaces, or 

5% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

6 spaces plus 

2% of the total 

1 space per 

2,000sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 

850sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces) 

B8 Storage and 

distribution (10,000sqm 

or more) 

1 space per 100sqm 

P
age 304



289 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

C1 Hotels 1 space per bedroom These spaces 

should cater for 

staff as well as 

visitors.  

 

Car parking 

provision for 

ancillary uses 

such as 

conference 

centres and 

publicly 

available leisure 

centres should 

be treated as 

additional to the 

general hotel 

use. However, 

assessments 

should be made 

3 spaces or 

6% of the total, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

25 bedrooms 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 10 

bedrooms 

(minimum of 2 

spaces)  

P
age 305



290 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

of the potential 

for efficiencies in 

parking 

provision, 

making 

allowances for 

example, for 

conference 

delegates 

staying in the 

hotel.  

C2 Care homes 1 space per 

5 residents 

1 space 

per 4 

residents  

 3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

100 residents 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 10 

bedrooms 

(minimum of 2 

spaces)  

C2 Purpose built student 

housing 

1 space per 5 bedrooms   1 space per 100 bedrooms 

(minimum of 2 spaces)  

Provision 

should be 

determined 

1 space per 2 

bedrooms 

P
age 306



291 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

on a case by 

case basis.  

C2 Hospitals Parking provision should be determined on a case by case basis, taking into account the range of functions 

contained and in consultation with the relevant staff and patient groups. Parking levels and management 

arrangements should be defined in a transport assessment covering staff, patients and visitors. Parking 

requirements must reflect the likely proportion of disabled visitors. 

C3 Dwelling houses 0.5 spaces 

per dwelling  

1 bedroom 

dwellings:  

1 space 

per 

dwelling 

 

2-3 

bedroom 

dwellings: 

1.5 

spaces 

Garage 

provision does 

not count 

towards the 

maximum 

standard 

1 

bedroom 

 

One space per 

wheelchair 

accessible 

dwelling, and in the 

case of apartment 

developments at 

least 5% of total 

capacity if this is 

greater. 

 

Provision 

within 

communal 

parking areas 

should be 

determined 

on a case by 

case basis.  

Where the cycle 

parking is 

allocated to 

individual 

dwellings 

(including where it 

is provided within 

the curtilage of a 

dwelling): 

- 1 space per 1 

bedroom dwelling; 

2-3 

bedrooms 

 

 4+ 

bedrooms 

 

P
age 307



292 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

per 

dwelling 

 

4 bedroom 

dwellings: 

2 spaces 

per 

dwelling 

  

- 2 spaces per 2-3 

bedroom dwelling; 

- 3 spaces per 4+ 

bedroom dwelling 

 

Where the cycle 

parking is to be 

provided 

communally (and 

this should where 

possible be in the 

form of a locker): 

- 1 space per 1 

bedroom dwelling; 

- 1 space per 2-3 

bedroom dwelling; 

P
age 308



293 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

- 2 spaces per 4+ 

bedroom dwelling 

 

The cycle parking 

standards will not 

be applied to 

properties that 

have their own 

garages, where 

the garage is of a 

sufficient size to 

accommodate a 

cycle storage area 

appropriate to the 

number of 

bedrooms within 

the dwelling. 

 

P
age 309



294 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

C3 Sheltered 

accommodation 

1 space per 

3 bedrooms  

1 space 

per 2 

bedrooms  

These standards 

should cater for 

all users of the 

developments 

and not just 

residents.  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

50 bedrooms 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 20 

bedrooms 

(minimum of 2 

spaces)  

C4 Houses in multiple 

occupation and sui 

generis large houses in 

multiple occupation   

1 space per 

3 bedrooms  

1 space 

per 2 

bedrooms  

 Parking provision should be determined on a 

case by case basis 

1 space per 2 

bedrooms  

D1 Clinics and health 

centres 

1 space per 

2 staff plus 

3 per 

consulting 

room   

1 space 

per 2 staff 

plus 4 per 

consulting 

room 

 3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

 

Parking 

provision must 

reflect the 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

 

Parking 

provision must 

reflect the 

likely 

proportion of 

1 space per 2 

consulting 

rooms  

2 spaces per 

consulting room 

(minimum of 2 

spaces)  

P
age 310



295 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

likely 

proportion of 

disabled 

visitors 

disabled 

visitors 

 

D1 Creches, day 

nurseries and day 

centres 

1 space per member of 

staff  

The need for 

spaces for 

attendees (for 

day centres) and 

drop-off spaces 

will be 

determined on a 

case by case 

basis and should 

be assessed 

through a 

transport 

assessment.  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

10 staff 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 4 staff 

and 1 space per 

200sqm for 

visitors (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

P
age 311



296 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

D1 Schools (primary and 

secondary) 

1 space per 

classroom 

2 spaces 

per 

classroom 

Classrooms 

include any 

teaching space 

within a school 

including gyms, 

science rooms, 

etc.  

 

Where schools 

have a sixth 

form, it will be 

appropriate to 

apply the 

maximum 

standards for D1 

higher education 

uses to this 

element of 

development.  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

10 staff 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 5 staff 

plus 1 space per 3 

students  

P
age 312



297 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

D1 Galleries/museums/ 

libraries 

1 space per 

40sqm  

1 space 

per 20sqm  

 3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

500sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 

200sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

D1 Halls/places of 

worship 

1 space per 

10sqm  

1 space 

per 5sqm  

 3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

125sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 

50sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

D1 Higher and further 

education 

1 space per 

2 staff  

1 space 

per 2 staff 

plus 1 

space for 

10 

students  

These standards 

should be based 

on all staff 

including non-

teaching staff 

and the total 

student 

headcount 

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

12 staff plus 

1 space per 

10 students  

1 space per 5 staff 

plus 1 space per 3 

students  

P
age 313



298 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

including part-

time students.  

D2 Cinemas/bingo/ 

conference centres/ 

casinos/ music and 

concert halls 

1 space per 

10 seats  

1 space 

per 5 

seats  

If seating 

capacity is not 

known at the 

application 

stage, the 

relevant D2 

general leisure 

standard should 

be used.  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

50 seats 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 20 

seats (minimum of 

2 spaces) 

D2 General leisure: 

dance halls/swimming 

baths/ skating rinks/ 

gymnasiums/other 

indoor recreation 

facilities 

1 space per 

25sqm  

1 space 

per 22sqm  

 3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

500sqm 

(minimum of 

2 spaces) 

1 space per 

200sqm (minimum 

of 2 spaces)  

P
age 314



299 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

Stadia 1 space per 

18 

spectators 

1 space 

per 15 

spectators  

The standards 

relate to both 

seating and 

standing areas 

for spectators.  

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

600 

spectators 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

 

1 space per 100 

spectators 

(minimum of 2 

spaces)  

Theatres 1 space per 

10 seats 

1 space 

per 5 

seats  

If seating 

capacity is not 

known at the 

application 

stage, the 

relevant D2 

general leisure 

standard should 

be used. 

3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

whichever is 

greater 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

1 space per 

50 seats 

(minimum of 

2 spaces)  

1 space per 20 

seats (minimum of 

2 spaces)  

Motorcar showrooms 1 space per 

60sqm 

internal 

showroom 

1 space 

per 50sqm 

internal 

showroom 

 3 spaces or 

6% of the total 

capacity, 

4 spaces plus 

4% of the total 

Minimum of 2 

spaces  

1 space per 5 staff  

P
age 315



300 
 

Annex C Parking Standards  

 

Type of development Maximum car parking standards  Minimum car parking 

standards for disabled people 

Minimum 

motorcycle 

parking 

standards 

Minimum 

cycle parking 

standards Area type 

A  

Area type 

B 

Notes  Up to 200 

bays 

Over 200 

bays 

whichever is 

greater 

Petrol filling stations Provision required to 

enable the safe 

operation of petrol 

pumps, car washing, air 

pumps, water taps etc.  

 1 space minimum Minimum of 2 

spaces  

1 space per 5 staff  

Park and Ride, railway 

and bus stations and 

Metrolink stops.  

Parking provision should be determined on a case by case basis 

P
age 316



301 
 

ANNEX D SAVED UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
D1. The City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004-2016 (the UDP) was 

adopted by Salford City Council on 21 June 2006. Under the transitional 
provisions associated with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
the policies in the UDP were automatically ‘saved’ for three years after their 
adoption. If the city council wished to retain any of the UDP policies beyond 
that three-year period then it was required to apply to the Secretary of State to 
do so. The city council did apply to the Secretary of State to save most of the 
UDP policies beyond June 2009, and this was approved.  

 

D2. Regulation 8(5) of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 explains that ‘where a Local Plan contains a policy that is 
intended to supersede another policy in the adopted development plan, it 
must state that fact and identify the superseded policy.’ Where saved UDP 
policies have not already been replaced by policies within the Greater 
Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan Document (2012) or the Greater 
Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan Document (2013) it is intended 
that the saved UDP policies will be replaced by policies in the Local Plan. 
These policies are listed below.  

 

Policy 

reference Policy title 

ST1 Sustainable Urban Neighbourhoods 

ST3 Employment Supply 

ST4 Key Tourism Areas 

ST5 Transport Networks 

ST7 Mixed-use Development 

ST9 Retail, Leisure, Social and Community Provision 

ST10 Recreation Provision 

ST12 Development Density 

ST13 Natural Environmental Assets 

ST14 Global Environment 

ST15 Historic Environment 

MX1 Development in Mixed-use Areas 

MX2 Chapel Street Frontage 

Page 317



302 
 

Policy 

reference Policy title 

MX3 Sites for a Mix of Open Space and Built Development 

DES1 Respecting Context 

DES2 Circulation and Movement 

DES3 Design of Public Space 

DES4 Relationship of Development to Public Space 

DES5 Tall Buildings 

DES6 Waterside Development 

DES7 Amenity of Users and Neighbours 

DES8 Alterations and Extensions 

DES9 Landscaping 

DES10 Design and Crime 

H1 Provision of New Housing Development 

H3 Housing Improvement 

H4 Affordable Housing 

H5 Provision of Residential Accommodation within Existing Buildings 

H6 Residential Social and Community Uses 

H7 Provision of Student Accommodation 

H8 Open Space Provision Associated with New Housing Development 

H9 Sites for New Housing 

E1 Strategic Regional Site, Barton 

E2 Innovation Park 

E3 Knowledge Capital 

E4 Sites for Employment Development 

E5 Development within Established Employment Areas 

Page 318



303 
 

Policy 

reference Policy title 

S1 Retail and Leisure Development within Town and Neighbourhood 

Centres 

S3 Loss of Shops 

S4 Amusement Centres, Restaurants and Cafes, Drinking 

Establishments and Hot Food Takeaways 

S5 Site for New Retail Development 

EHC1 Provision and Improvement of Schools and Colleges 

EHC3 Provision and Improvement of Health and Community Facilities 

EHC4 Reuse of Existing Health and Community Facilities 

EHC5 University of Salford 

EHC6 Hope Hospital 

EHC7 Sites for Travelling People 

EHC9 Site for the Provision of a New School 

EHC10 Site for the Provision of Cemetery Facilities 

A2 Cyclists, Pedestrians and the Disabled 

A3 Metrolink 

A4 Railways 

A5 Buses 

A6 Taxis 

A8 Impact of Development on the Highway Network 

A9 Provision of New Highways 

A10 Provision of Car, Cycle and Motorcycle Parking in New 

Developments 

A11 Provision of Long Stay Commuter Car Parks 

A14 Barton Aerodrome 

A15 Safeguarding Potential Transport Routes 

Page 319



304 
 

Policy 

reference Policy title 

EN1 Development Affecting the Green Belt 

EN2 Worsley Greenway 

EN4 Farm Diversification 

EN5 Irwell Valley 

EN7 Nature Conservation Sites of National Importance 

EN8 Nature Conservation Sites of Local Importance 

EN9 Wildlife Corridors 

EN11 Mosslands 

EN12 Important Landscape Features 

EN13 Protected Trees 

EN17 Pollution Control 

EN18 Protection of Water Resources 

EN19 Flood Risk and Surface Water 

EN20 River Irwell Flood Control 

EN21 Renewable Energy 

EN22 Resource Conservation 

EN23 Environmental Improvement Corridors 

CH1 Works to, and Demolition of, Listed Buildings 

CH2 Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 

CH3 Works Within Conservation Areas 

CH4 Demolition of Buildings Within Conservation Areas 

CH5 Archaeology and Ancient Monuments 

CH6 Parks and Gardens of Historic Interest 

CH7 Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 

Page 320



305 
 

Policy 

reference Policy title 

CH8 Local List of Buildings, Structures and Features of Architectural, 

Archaeological or Historic Interest 

R1 Protection of Recreation Land and Facilities 

R2 Provision of Recreation Land and Facilities 

R3 Regional Park 

R4 Key Recreation Areas 

R5 Countryside Access Network 

R6 New and Improved Recreation Land and Facilities 

R7 Recreational Use Of Waterways 

DEV1 Telecommunications 

DEV2 Advertisements 

DEV3 Control of Hazardous Uses 

DEV4 Development Close to Hazardous Uses 

DEV5 Planning Conditions and Obligations 

DEV6 Incremental Development 

DEV7 Protection of Aviation Safety at Manchester Airport 

 
  

Page 321



306 
 

ANNEX E STRATEGIC POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 
 
E1. Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan. This table identifies the 

policies in the Local Plan that are strategic, and those that are not. 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

Chapter 5: A fairer Salford   

F1 An inclusive development process  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development. Inclusive growth is a 
central component of the vision.  

F2 Social value and inclusion  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development. Inclusive growth is a 
central component of the vision.  

F3 Inclusive places Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development. Inclusive growth is a 
central component of the vision.  

F4 Fairness between generations  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development. Inclusive growth is a 
central component of the vision.  

Chapter 6: Climate change 

CC1 Climate change  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the conservation and enhancement of the 
natural environment and broad measures for mitigating and adapting to climate 
change.  

Chapter 7: Efficient and coordinated use of land 

EF1 Efficient use of land  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development. Starting point for 
more detailed policies.  

EF2 Coordinated development  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development, ensuring that 
development is guided by a masterplan where appropriate. 

Chapter 8: Planning conditions and obligations 

PC1 Planning conditions and 
obligations  

Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development, identifying the 
priorities for planning obligations. 

Chapter 9: Area policies 

AP1 City Centre Salford Yes The strengthening and growth of the City Centre is a central component of the 
vision. This area will accommodate a significant proportion of the city’s housing 
and employment development and the policy is therefore important in ensuring 
sufficient provision for this type of development.  

P
age 322



307 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

AP2 Greengate Park  Yes The strengthening and growth of the City Centre is a central component of the 
vision. Greengate Park is fundamental to the area’s ongoing redevelopment 
and future success.   

AP3 Salford Quays Yes The strengthening and growth of Salford Quays is a central component of the 
vision. This area will accommodate a significant proportion of the city’s housing 
and employment development and the policy is therefore important in ensuring 
sufficient provision for this type of development. 

AP4 Ordsall Waterfront Yes The enhancement of this key link between the City Centre and Salford Quays is 
a central component of the vision. This area will accommodate a significant 
proportion of the city’s housing and employment development and the policy is 
therefore important in ensuring sufficient provision for this type of development. 

AP5 Employment areas close to the 
City Centre and Salford Quays 

Yes The strengthening and growth of the City Centre and Salford Quays is a central 
component of the vision and managing change in the adjoining areas will be 
important in supporting the economic function of the wider area.  

Chapter 10: Economic development 

EC1 Economic development spatial 
strategy 

Yes Provides an overall strategy for economic development and is the starting point 
for more detailed policies.  

EC2 Economic inclusion  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the quality of development. Inclusive growth is a 
central component of the vision. 

EC3 Office development  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the scale and distribution of office development. 

EC4 Industrial and warehousing 
development 

Yes Provides an overall strategy for the scale and distribution of industry and 
warehousing development.  

EC5 Employment allocations Yes Collectively assists in ensuring sufficient provision of employment development 
through identifying two strategic allocations.  

EC6 Existing employment areas  Yes The first part of the policy provides an overall strategy for the city’s existing 
employment areas.      

Chapter 11: Culture and tourism 

CT1 Tourism development  Yes Provides an overall strategy for tourism development in the city. Enhancing the 
city’s tourism role is a central component of the vision.  

CT2 Art and culture  Yes Assists in ensuring sufficient provision of community facilities by providing a 
strategy to improve access to cultural experiences.  

CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium, 
Irlam  

Yes Assists in ensuring sufficient provision of tourism facilities. Enhancing the city’s 
tourism role is a central component of the vision. 

P
age 323



308 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

Chapter 12: Housing 

H1 Housing strategy  Yes Provides an overall strategy for housing development and is the starting point 
for more detailed policies. 

H2 Scale and phasing of housing 
development  

Yes Provides an overall strategy for the scale of housing development.   

H3 Distribution of housing  Yes Provides an overall strategy for the distribution of housing development.  

H4 Type of housing  Yes The first part of the policy provides a strategy for the mix of dwelling types 
required in Salford.    

H5 Size of dwellings  Yes Provides a strategy for delivering a balanced mix of dwelling sizes in order to 
ensure the full range of housing needs are met.    

H6 Housing density Yes Implements the policy in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, which by 
definition is a strategic policy. 

H7 Affordable housing  Yes Assists in ensuring sufficient provision of affordable housing. Inclusive growth is 
a central component of the vision.  

H8 Build to rent  Yes Build to rent will contribute a significant proportion of new housing in Salford, 
and hence is of strategic significance. The policy also seeks to ensure sufficient 
provision of affordable housing.  

H9 Housing land supply  Yes Collectively assists in ensuring sufficient provision of housing development 
through identifying a range of allocations.  

H10 Housing for older people  Yes Assists in ensuring sufficient provision of housing for older people. Inclusive 
growth is a central component of the vision. 

H11 Student housing  No Detailed development management policy relating to a specific type of 
development. 

H12 Gypsies, travellers and travelling 
showpeople  

Yes Assists in ensuring sufficient provision of accommodation for gypsies, travellers 
and travelling showpeople. Inclusive growth is a central component of the 
vision. 

H13 Self build and custom 
housebuilding 

No Detailed development management policy relating to housing development.  

H14 Conversion of existing houses 
and new build residential 
developments of non-self-contained 
units  

No Detailed development management policy relating to the conversion of existing 
houses. 

Chapter 13: Town centres and retail development 

P
age 324



309 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

TC1 Spatial strategy for designated 
centres 

Yes Identifies the city’s overall network of centres.  

TC2 Development involving main 
town centre uses 

No Detailed development management policy relating to the development of main 
town centre uses.  
 

TC3 Retail frontages, changes of use 
and redevelopments within 
designated centres 

No Detailed development management policy relating to changes of use and 
redevelopment within town centres. 
 

TC4 Food and drink uses within 
designated centres  

No Detailed development management policy relating to food and drink uses within 
town centres. 
 

Chapter 14: A learning city 

ED1 A learning city Yes Provides an overall strategy for the development of Salford as a learning city.  

ED2 Schools and further education 
facilities  

No Detailed development management policy relating to the development of new 
schools and further education facilities and approach to the reuse and 
redevelopment of redundant school sites.   

ED3 Residential development and 
school places  

Yes Supports the delivery of additional school places by placing requirements on 
development, thereby assisting in the delivery of infrastructure.  

ED4 University of Salford  Yes Provides a strategy for the development of the University, which will contribute 
to the strengthening and growth of the City Centre, a central component of the 
vision.  

Chapter 15: Health 

HH1 Supporting better health  Yes Provides a strategy for improving the city’s health and reducing health 
inequalities, an important part of creating a fairer and more equal Salford.  

HH2 Development and health  Yes Provides a strategy identifying how development can support an improvement 
in public health and assist in the delivery of infrastructure, an important part of 
creating a fairer and more equal Salford. 

HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities  

Yes Provides a strategy for the improvement of health and social care facilities, an 
important part of creating a fairer and more equal Salford. 
 

HH4 Salford Royal Hospital  Yes Provides a strategy for the hospital, a major employer within the city. 
Supporting the activities of major employers is a key component of the spatial 
strategy for economic development.  

P
age 325



310 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

Chapter 16: Accessibility 

A1 Sustainable transport strategy  Yes Provides an overall strategy for accessibility and is the starting point for more 
detailed policies. 

A2 Transport hierarchy  Yes Provides a strategy for the quality of development which would contribute to 
achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider vision.  

A3 Sustainable streets  Yes Provides a strategy for the quality of development which would contribute to 
achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider vision. 

A4 Walking and cycling  Yes Provides a strategy for increasing proportion of journeys made by walking and 
cycling which would contribute to achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider 
vision. 

A5 Public transport  Yes Provides a strategy for increasing the proportion of journeys made by public 
transport which would contribute to achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider 
vision. 

A6 Sustainable movement of freight  Yes Provides a strategy for encouraging the sustainable movement of freight, which 
would contribute to achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider vision. 

A7 Highway network Yes Provides a strategy for the efficient, effective and safe operation of the city’s 
highway network, outlining priorities for further investment. 

A8 Motor vehicle parking provision 
and drop off facilities in new 
developments  

Yes Provides standards which would be applied to all types of development across 
the city, which would contribute to achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider 
vision.  

A9 City centre car parking  Yes Provides a strategy for car parking within the city centre, which will contribute to 
the strengthening and growth of the City Centre, a central component of the 
vision. 

A10 Park and ride facilities  Yes Provides principles for the development of park and ride facilities, which would 
contribute to achieving a modal shift i.e. part of the wider vision. 

A11 Electric vehicle charging points  Yes Provides standards which would be applied to various types of development 
across the city, and would contribute to an improvement in the city’s air quality 
i.e. part of the wider vision. 

A12 Barton Aerodrome  Yes Protects heritage assets and an important component of the city’s 
infrastructure.    

A13 Protection of aviation safety at 
Manchester Airport  

Yes Protects the safe functioning of a strategically important transport facility 
located in another district. 

P
age 326



311 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

A14 Safeguarding potential transport 
routes  

Yes Protects potential transport routes which could assist in improving accessibility.  

Chapter 17: Digital infrastructure 

DG1 Digital infrastructure  Yes The policy provides a strategy for improving the quality and capacity of the 
city’s infrastructure and therefore establishes standards which would apply to all 
types of development. It contributes to the development of a high quality future 
proofed city.  

DG2 Protecting digital infrastructure  Yes Protects the city’s digital infrastructure.  

Chapter 18: Energy 

EG1 Sustainable energy in new 
development 

Yes Provides standards which would be applied to all development across the city, 
and would contribute to reducing contributions to climate change i.e. part of the 
wider vision. 

EG2 Renewable and low carbon 
energy schemes 

Yes Provides a strategy for the development of renewable and low carbon energy 
schemes which would contribute to reducing contributions to climate change i.e. 
part of the wider vision.  

Chapter 19: Water 

WA1 Water strategy Yes Provides an overall strategy for water and is the starting point for more detailed 
policies. 

WA2 Delivering the North West River 
Basin Management Plan 

Yes Provides a strategy for improving the city’s water quality.  

WA3 Water supply and water 
efficiency 

Yes Protects critical pieces of the city’s water supply infrastructure  

WA4 Flood related infrastructure  Yes Protects components of the city’s flood risk infrastructure 

WA5 Development and flood risk  No Detailed development management policy  

WA6 Surface water and sustainable 
drainage 

No Detailed development management policy 

Chapter 20: Design 

D1 Design principles Yes Provides an overall standard for the quality of development. 

D2 Local character and 
distinctiveness  

No Detailed development management policy 

D3 Layout and access  No Detailed development management policy 

D4 Spaces  No Detailed development management policy 

D5 Amenity  No Detailed development management policy 

P
age 327



312 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

D6 Design and crime No Detailed development management policy 

D7 Housing design  Yes Includes standards that all residential developments will be expected to meet.  

D8 Alterations and extensions No Detailed development management policy 

D9 Waterside development  No Detailed development management policy for development in specific locations.  

Chapter 21: Heritage  

HE1 Heritage spatial strategy Yes Provides an overall strategy for heritage and is the starting point for more 
detailed policies. 

HE2 Heritage assets Yes Details the city’s heritage assets.  

HE3 Heritage protection Yes Explains how the city’s heritage assets will be protected.  

HE4 Managing change across historic 
areas 

Yes Identifies key historic areas in Salford.  

HE5 A positive future for heritage 
assets 

No Detailed development management policy 

HE6 Heritage at risk Yes Provides a strategy for reducing the number of heritage assets at risk  

HE7 Heritage information and 
interpretation 

No Detailed development management policy 

Chapter 22: Green Belt and agriculture 

GB1 Green Belt Yes Provides a strategy for the city’s Green Belt.  

GB2 Soils and agricultural land Yes Provides a strategy for the city’s agricultural land.  

GB3 Farm diversification  No Detailed development management policy for a specific type of development.  

GB4 Agricultural, forestry and other 
occupational dwellings within the 
Green Belt 

No Detailed development management policy for a specific type of development.  

Chapter 23: Green infrastructure  

GI1 Green infrastructure spatial 
strategy 

Yes Provides an overall strategy for green infrastructure and is the starting point for 
more detailed policies. 

GI2 Green infrastructure requirements 
for development  

Yes Identifies strategically important priority functions in different parts of Salford, 
and sets the requirements for delivering green infrastructure through new 
development which is a key component of the overall strategy. 

GI3 Chat Moss Yes Provides a strategy for the protection and enhancement of Chat Moss, a 
strategically important piece of green infrastructure  

GI4 Irwell Valley Yes Provides a strategy for enhancing the Irwell Valley, a strategically important 
piece of green infrastructure 

P
age 328



313 
 

Policy Strategic policy Reason  

GI5 West Salford Greenway  Yes Provides a strategy for the protection and enhancement of the West Salford 
Greenway, a strategically important piece of green infrastructure 

GI6 Local Green Space  No Protects areas that are of particular importance to local communities. 

GI7 Trees, woodland and hedgerows  Yes Provides a strategy for increasing tree cover across Salford, which will 
contribute to the achievement of various wider objectives e.g. mitigating and 
adapting to climate change.   

Chapter 24: Biodiversity  

BG1 Biodiversity spatial strategy Yes Provides an overall strategy for biodiversity and is the starting point for more 
detailed policies. 

BG2 Nature improvement areas Yes Provides a strategy for the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement 
Area.  

BG3 Development and biodiversity No Detailed development management policy 

BG4 Geodiversity No Detailed development management policy 

Chapter 25: Recreation 

R1 Recreation spatial strategy Yes Provides an overall strategy for recreation and is the starting point for more 
detailed policies. 

R2 Recreation standards  Yes Identifies the city’s recreation standards which all residential development 
would be expected to contribute towards.  

R3 Recreation facilities and 
residential amenity  

No Detailed development management policy. 

R4 Protection of recreation land and 
facilities  

No Detailed development management policy for a specific type of site.  

R5 Strategic recreation routes Yes Provides a strategy to protect and enhance the city’s network of recreation 
routes.  

Chapter 26: Air quality  

AQ1 Air quality  Yes Provides a strategy for securing a substantial improvement in the city’s air 
quality, a key component of the vision.  

Chapter 27: Pollution and hazards 

PH1 Pollution control  No Detailed development management policy. 

PH2 Control of hazardous uses No Detailed development management policy. 

PH3 Development near hazardous 
installations  

No Detailed development management policy. 

PH4 Land instability  No Detailed development management policy. 

P
age 329



���
������������
�����	�����������
�������	
����	
�����

�����	����
�������
�������
���	� !

������������������ !�!�"#
$%&����������'	���(�
�
���)�������'��'(*

+��(����#�� 

Page 330



EC5/1

EC5/2

GM Allocation 33
Port Salford Extension

H9/4

H9/2

H9/8

H9/3

H9/13

H9/6

H9/1

H9/7

H9/12

H9/9

H9/11

H9/10

H9/5

H9/15

H9/18

H9/16H9/14

H9/17

GM Allocation 32
North of Irlam Station

GM Allocation 31
East of Boothstown

GM Allocation 30
Land at Hazelhurst Farm

EC5/1/C

GI6/4

GI6/7

GI6/8

GI6/6

GI6/9

GI6/1

GI6/3

GI6/5GI6/2

GI6/10

BG1/43

BG1/13

BG1/18

BG1/32

BG1/29

BG1/12

BG1/24

BG1/42

BG1/31

BG1/19

BG1/38 BG1/34

BG1/17

BG1/26
BG1/21

BG1/33

BG1/40

BG1/16

BG1/11

BG1/22

BG1/41

BG1/30

BG1/25

BG1/36

BG1/28

BG1/15

BG1/23

BG1/27

BG1/14

BG1/39

BG1/10

BG1/37

BG1/35

BG1/20

BG1/9

BG1/2

BG1/3

BG1/1

BG1/6

BG1/8

BG1/7
BG1/6

BG1/4

BG1/5

R1/12R1/11

R1/14

R1/13

R1/15

GI1B, GI4 & R1/2

GI5

WA4
WA4

HE2/21

HE2/22

HE2/19

HE2/17

HE2/20

HE2/18

HE2/12

HE2/5

HE2/4

HE2/16

HE2/6

HE2/14

HE2/1

HE2/2

HE2/9 HE2/15

HE2/10

HE2/11

HE2/13

HE2/7
HE2/3

HE2/8

H12/1

GI1/a & GI3

AP4AP3 and TC1/2

AP2

AP1

CT3

TC1/23

TC1/16

TC1/26

TC1/24

TC1/25

TC1/8

TC1/11

TC1/18

TC1/22

TC1/17

TC1/14

TC1/27

TC1/15

TC1/19

TC1/9

TC1/12

TC1/21

TC1/13

TC1/20

TC1/10

   Revised Draft Local Plan Policies Map (January 2019)  Legend
Chapter 9 Area policies
City Centre Salford (Revised Draft Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1)
Greengate Park (Revised Draft Local Plan policy AP2) 
Salford Quays (Revised Draft Local Plan policies AP3 and TC1/2)
Ordsall Waterfront (Revised Draft Local Plan policy AP4)
Chapter 10 Economic development
Employment allocations (Revised Draft Local Plan policy EC5)
Port Salford rail link (Revised Draft Local Plan policy EC5/1/C)
Chapter 11 Culture and tourism
Tourism allocations (Revised Draft Local Plan policy CT3)
Chapter 12 Housing
Housing (Revised Draft Local Plan policy H9)
Open Space and Housing (Revised Draft Local Plan policy H9)
Gypsy and Traveller allocation (Revised Draft Local Plan policy H12)
Chapter 13 Town centres and retail development
Town centre (Revised Draft Local Plan policy TC1)
Local centre (Revised Draft Local Plan policy TC1)
Chapter 16 Accessibility
Irwell Park Wharf (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A6) 
Barton Aerodrome (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A12)
Barton Aerodrome consultation zone (policy A12)
All development (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A12 (1))
Buildings exceeding 15m in height (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A12 (2))
Buildings exceeding 45m in height (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A12 (3))
Buildings exceeding 90m in height (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A12 (4))
Development likely to attract birds (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A12 (5))
 Manchester Airport consultation zone (Policy A13)
Buildings exceeding 90m in height (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A13 (1))
Development likely to attract birds or connected with aviation use (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A13 (2)) 
Wind turbine development (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A13 (3))
Safeguarded potential transport routes (Revised Draft Local Plan policy A14)
Chapter 18 Energy
Wind turbine opportunity areas
Chapter 19 Water
Flood-related infrastructure - River Irwell flood control (Revised Draft Local Plan policy WA4)
Chapter 21 Heritage
Conservation areas (Revised Draft Local Plan policy HE2/1-16)
Scheduled ancient monuments (Revised Draft Local Plan policy HE2/17-20)
Registered parks and gardens (Revised Draft Local Plan policy HE2/21-22)
Chapter 22 Green Belt
Existing Green Belt
Chapter 23 Green Infrastructure
Chat Moss (Revised Draft Local Plan policies GI1A and GI3)
Irwell Valley (Revised Draft Local Plan policies GI1B, GI4 and R1/2)
Biodiversity heartland (Revised Draft Local Plan policy GI3)
West Salford Greenway (Revised Draft Local Plan policy GI1C and GI5)
Local Green Space (Revised Draft Local Plan policy GI6/1-10)
Chapter 24 Biodiversity
Local nature reserves (Revised Draft Local Plan policy BG1/1-9)
Sites of biological importance (Revised Draft Local Plan policy BG1/10-42)
Ancient Woodland at Clifton Wood (Revised Draft Local Plan policy BG1/43)
Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area (Revised Draft Local Plan policy BG2)
Chapter 25 Recreation
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal (Revised Draft Local Plan policy R1/8)
Hubs of citywide importance for outdoor sports (Revised Draft Local Plan policy R1/11-15)
Strategic recreation routes - Existing (Revised Draft Local Plan policy R5/1-16)
Strategic recreation routes - Proposed (Revised Draft Local Plan policy R5/17-21)

Proposals in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF)
These are not proposals of the Salford Revised Draft Local Plan and are shown on the Policies Map for information only. 
Removals from the Green Belt (as proposed in the Revised Draft GMSF)
Additions to the Green Belt (as proposed in the Revised Draft GMSF)
Port Salford extension (GM Allocation 33) (as proposed in the Revised Draft GMSF)
Housing allocations (GM Allocations 30, 31 and 32) (as proposed in the Revised Draft GMSF) 

0.5 0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

TC1/1
R1/8

R1/8

R1/8

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019737

P
age 331



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

SALFORD REVISED DRAFT LOCAL 
PLAN 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Report 
 

January 2019 
 

Page 333



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 2 

 

SALFORD REVISED DRAFT LOCAL 
PLAN 

 
SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL REPORT 

 
 

CONTENTS 
 

Components that constitute the Environmental Report ................................ 3 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................... 5 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................... 11 

2. Other relevant Policies, Plans and Programmes .............................. 19 

3. Baseline Information ......................................................................... 30 

4. Sustainability Issues and Problems .................................................. 34 

5. Sustainability Appraisal Framework .................................................. 39 

6. Appropriate Assessment ................................................................... 65 

7. Sustainability Appraisal of Strategic Options .................................... 69 

8.  Sustainability Appraisal of Site Allocation Options ............................ 76 

9.  Sustainability Appraisal of Policy Options ......................................... 80 

10. Implementation ................................................................................. 81 

11. Monitoring ......................................................................................... 83 

 
Appendix 1. List of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 
   

Appendix 2. Review of plans, policies and programmes 
   

Appendix 3. Details of baseline information 
   

Appendix 4. Details of sustainability indicators 
   

Appendix 5. Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan and strategic 
options 

   

Appendix 6. Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations  
   

Appendix 7. Sites not considered reasonable alternatives to Revised 
Draft Local Plan site allocations 

   

Appendix 8. Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 
reasonable alternatives 

   

Appendix  9. Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and 
reasonable alternatives 

   

Page 334



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 3 

 

Components that constitute the Environmental Report 

 
This Sustainability Appraisal report incorporates the requirements for an 
Environmental Report under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004. These Regulations transpose the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive (European Directive 2001/42/EC) 
into English law. 
 
Those elements of the Sustainability Appraisal Report that constitute the 
Environmental Report for the purposes of the SEA Directive are signposted in 
Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1: Required information under the SEA Regulations 

Information to be included in an Environmental 
Report under the SEA Regulations 

Relevant 
Sections in the 
Revised Draft 
Local Plan SA 
Report 

An outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan 
and its relationship with other relevant plans and 
programmes 

Chapter 1 
Para 5.10-5.31 

The relevant aspects of the current state of the 
environment and the likely evolution thereof without 
implementation of the plan 

Chapter 3 
Appendix 3 

The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be 
significantly affected 

Chapter 3 
Appendix 3 

Any existing environmental problems which are 
relevant to the plan, including in particular, those 
relating to any areas of a particular environmental 
importance, such as areas designated pursuant to 
Directives 79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC 

Chapter 4 
Chapter 6 

The environmental protection objectives, established at 
international, Community or national level, which are 
relevant to the plan and the way those objectives and 
any environmental considerations have been taken into 
account during its preparation 

Chapter 2 
Appendix 2 

The likely significant effects on the environment, 
including on issues such as biodiversity, population, 
human health, fauna, flora, soils, water, air, climatic 
factors, material assets, cultural heritage, landscape, 
and the interrelationship between the above factors 

Chapter 7 
Chapter 8 
Chapter 9 
Appendix 5 
Appendix 6 
Appendix 8 
Appendix 9 

The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as 
fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects 
on the environment of implementing the plan 

Chapter 7 
Chapter 8 
Chapter 9 
Appendix 5 
Appendix 6 
Appendix 8 

Page 335



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 4 

 

Appendix 9 

An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives 
dealt with and a description of how the assessment was 
undertaken including any difficulties 

Chapter 5 
Chapter 7 
Chapter 8 
Chapter 9 
Appendix 5 
Appendix 6 
Appendix 8 
Appendix 9 

A description of measures envisaged concerning 
monitoring 

Chapter 11 

A non-technical summary of the information provided 
above 

Executive 
summary 

Page 336



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 5 

 

Executive Summary 

 
E1 This section provides a non-technical summary of the Sustainability 

Appraisal Report. 
 

E2 The Local Plan is being prepared to set the overall spatial strategy for 
Salford’s evolution over the period to 2037.   

 
E3 The purpose of the sustainability appraisal (SA) is to promote 

sustainable development through the integration of sustainability 
considerations into the preparation, adoption and implementation of the 
Local Plan. The SA considers the Local Plan’s potential implications, 
from a social, economic and environmental perspective, by assessing 
options, in terms of overarching approach and individual sites, against 
available baseline data and sustainability objectives.  
 

E4 SA is mandatory for Local Plans under the requirements of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). The SA of the Local 
Plan should also fully incorporate the requirements of the European 
Directive 2001/42/EC, known as the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) Directive. This Directive is transposed into English 
law by the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 – the SEA Regulations. 

 
Appraisal methodology 
 
E5 The approach being adopted to undertake the SA is based on various 

government guidance, and takes an iterative approach with 
sustainability considerations informing options and proposals as they 
are being developed as well as there being a more formal sustainability 
appraisal towards the end of each stage. 
 

E6 The level of detail and the scope that the SA is covering was agreed 
through the SA Scoping Report, which was published for consultation 
in February 2013.  

 
Relationship to other plans, programmes and objectives 
 
E7 The purpose of reviewing other plans and programmes and 

sustainability objectives is to ensure that their relationship with the 
proposed Local Plan has been fully explored, to highlight any potential 
inconsistencies, and to identify opportunities for the Local Plan to 
support those various plans and programmes. 
 

E8 A range of international, national, regional and local strategies were 
reviewed as part of the SA process and no major inconsistencies were 
found between policies.  

 
 
Baseline characteristics 

Page 337



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 6 

 

 
E9 The collection and assessment of information and data about the 

current and likely future state of Salford (and nearby and larger 
geographical areas where appropriate) is being used within the SA to 
help identify sustainability problems and predict the effects of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan and the other strategic, allocation and policy 
options identified. Appendix 3 of this report gives full details, including 
the range of data sources. 
 

E10 The key baseline characteristics identified for Salford included: 
 

 A very high concentration of deprivation in Central Salford 

 Very significant population decline over the last century, but 
continuous and accelerating growth since 2002 

 Below average life expectancy, with some neighbourhoods 
having mortality rates twice the national average 

 Significant reductions in crime levels but higher concentrations 
in deprived areas 

 A very high proportion of social-rented housing, and above 
average numbers of semi-detached, terraced and flatted 
accommodation 

 Increasing housing affordability issues, despite low average 
house prices 

 Above average economic productivity growth, but with an 
increasingly strong reliance on the service sector 

 Below average educational attainment despite improvements in 
GCSE performance 

 Approximately 17,500 dwellings subject to a medium or high risk 
of flooding 

 
Key sustainability issues 
 
E11 The review of plans, programmes and objectives, the analysis of the 

baseline data, and consultation with the public and statutory bodies 
enabled the following key sustainability issues to be identified (see 
chapter 4 of this report for further details): 

 

 Population decline within the inner city areas coupled with an 
increasing proportion of single person households, affecting 
service provision and community diversity 

 Health inequalities and poor average health affecting life 
chances 

 Crime levels impacting on health and perceptions of the city 

 Good transport connections, particularly within areas around the 
city centre, but issues of congestion and limited orbital routes 
affecting accessibility levels 

 Lack of diversity of new residential accommodation in some 
parts of the city and increasing problems of affordability, 
affecting the ability of the city to attract and retain families 

Page 338



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 7 

 

 Low average skill levels limiting the ability for Salford residents 
to access the new employment opportunities that are 
increasingly focused in knowledge-based industries, reflected in 
relatively low mean pay levels 

 Success in capturing new employment in the growth sectors is 
supporting productivity increases but potentially at the expense 
of economic diversity 

 Scale of development potentially placing pressure on the limited 
biodiversity resources within the urban area, but large area of 
readily restorable degraded lowland raised bog offers potential 
to make a major contribution to national biodiversity objectives 

 High proportion of Greater Manchester’s high grade agricultural 
land 

 Significant supply of previously-developed land 

 Large number of households at risk of flooding, and potential for 
flood events to become more frequent due to climate change 

 Poor air quality around the strategic highway network 

 Salford has a rich cultural heritage  

 More than one third of the city is currently Green Belt 
 
E12 The establishment of SA objectives and criteria is central to the SA 

process and provides a way in which sustainability effects can be 
described, assessed and compared. The sustainability objectives used 
for the SA of the Local Plan options have been drawn from the 
sustainability issues identified through analysis of the baseline data and 
the review of other plans and strategies. 

 
E13 21 sustainability objectives have been identified, covering a broad 

range of issues, for example relating to health, biodiversity, air, water, 
climate, heritage, landscape, prosperity, housing, accessibility, and 
community cohesion. A range of questions have been identified for 
each objective to assist with the assessment against them. 

 
Appraisal of the strategic options 
 
E14 A key requirement of the SA is to consider reasonable alternatives as 

part of the assessment process. Four strategic options have been 
identified, informed by factors such as previous consultations, the 
evidence base, and the need to support and be consistent with other 
policies and proposals, in particular the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework.   

 
E15 None of the options include the development of Green Belt land as all 

decisions in relation to changes to Green Belt boundaries, including 
both reductions and additions to the existing Green Belt, are being 
taken through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework rather than 
the Local Plan. One of the options (Option 4) would include areas of 
land for development that are identified in the GMSF as additions to the 
Green Belt. Whilst the Local Plan must be consistent with the GMSF, 

Page 339



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 8 

 

these areas of land have been included within an option given that they 
are not currently designated as Green Belt.  

 
E16 The options represent alternatives that could be considered 

reasonable, however it is important to recognise that Options 1 and 4 
would potentially put the Local Plan in conflict with the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework. Whilst included in the appraisal, it is 
therefore questionable whether these options represent reasonable 
alternatives. The four options assessed as part of this sustainability 
appraisal are set out below:  

 
1) No Local Plan – reliance on household projections to determine the 

city’s housing requirement. A housing and employment supply 
focused on current opportunities.  

2) Revised Deposit Local Plan - A higher housing requirement 
reflecting decisions taken through the GMSF. Majority of 
development focused within the urban area but with a small 
number of greenfield sites developed for housing in the west of the 
city (including Lumber Land but not the rest of the West Salford 
Greenway). The employment supply would be focused on current 
opportunities which include the consented Port Salford. 

3) As Option 2 but with the identification of additional greenfield sites 
and a number of existing employment areas for housing 
development. This would again include Lumber Lane but not the 
rest of the West Salford Greenway. The option would therefore 
provide for a wider variety of dwelling types. The employment 
supply would remain focused on current opportunities. 

4) As Option 3 but with even higher levels of greenfield development 
including sites being considered as new areas of Green Belt in the 
GMSF. This would include parts of the West Salford Greenway and 
the Brickworks Site of Biological Importance to the west of Burgess 
Farm in Walkden. The option would provide an even higher 
proportion of houses and, with new sites in higher value areas, 
could also potentially support a higher level of affordable housing. 

 
E17 The four options for the Local Plan have been assessed against each 

of the 21 sustainability objectives. The overall impact in the short, 
medium and long-term has been identified using a five-point scale (with 
one additional “uncertain” category) as follows: ++ major positive; + 
minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major negative. The 
scale, certainty and permanence of the effect has also been assessed, 
together with any secondary, cumulative and synergistic impacts, and 
opportunities for additional mitigation beyond that already proposed. 

 
E18 In terms of a comparative assessment of options, the lower levels of 

development identified in Option 1, and the focus on the urban area, 
would limit some of the negative impacts identified against the other 
options. Some of these relative benefits could however be reduced if 
demand was diverted to more peripheral locations outside of the city.  

Page 340



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 9 

 

E19 Given the similar levels of development that would be pursued, options 
2, 3 and 4 score similarly against a number of the sustainability 
appraisal objectives. Whilst all three include some greenfield sites in 
the west of the city it is the higher number in options 3 and to a greater 
extent 4, along with a number of existing employment areas that are 
primarily responsible for the different ratings. The greater focus on 
these types of sites produces more negative impacts from an 
environmental perspective, this includes the loss of recreation 
opportunities and a reduced potential for sustainable transport options 
to be utilised than under Option 2. In particular, the proposed 
development of an existing Site of Biological Importance and parts of 
the Worsley Greenway result in negative impacts from Option 4. 
Options 3 and 4 also score more poorly against the economic inclusion 
objective as a result of the loss of local employment areas which can 
be an important source of second hand premises, more affordable 
development opportunities, and accessible jobs. As a result however 
Options 3, and to a greater extent 4, would however allow for a wider 
variety of dwellings in the city. These additions, and their potential 
benefits, need to considered in light of the proposed housing 
allocations being considered through the GMSF.  

 
Appraisal of sites 
 
E20 Sites proposed as employment or residential allocations in the Revised 

Draft Local Plan along with other reasonable alternatives identified 
during the Local Plan process have also been assessed against the 21 
sustainability objectives.  

 
Appraisal of policies 
 
E21 Policies proposed for inclusion within the Revised Draft Local Plan 

along with other reasonable alternatives have also been assessed 
against the 21 sustainability objectives. The appraisals identify potential 
mitigation and explain whether and how this has shaped the policy 
wording taken forward in the final Revised Draft document. 

 
Implementation and monitoring 
 
E22 The scale and nature of the impacts of the Local Plan options would 

depend very much on how development proposals are implemented. 
Other plans and strategies, particularly supplementary planning 
documents linked to the Local Plan, and the details of the development 
management process will be very important in this regard. Co-
ordination with other investment programmes, and working in 
partnerships with other organisations, will also be essential. 

 
E23 A series of indicators have been identified which have been chosen to 

strike a balance between providing a comprehensive assessment of 
sustainability effects and being manageable in terms of their number 
and data requirements. The emphasis is on direct, primary outcomes 

Page 341



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 10 

 

rather than inputs, outputs or indirect outcomes that affect the primary 
outcomes. They are intended to be “headline” indicators, and as a 
result there are not indicators relating to all objectives. It is therefore 
inevitable that other information will need to be collected in order to 
supplement the sustainability indicators and inform future policy 
development.  

Page 342



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 11 

 

 

1. Introduction 

 
 
The Local Plan 
 
1.1 The Local Plan will set out the overarching planning strategy for the city 

up to the year 2037. It will identify the overall level and broad 
distribution of different types of development and will allocate certain 
sites for specific uses. It will also set out policies and proposals that 
address a range of economic, social and environmental issues.  

 
1.2 Government guidance describes that the planning system should be 

genuinely plan-led. Succinct and up-to-date plans should provide a 
positive vision for the future of each are; a framework addressing 
housing needs and other economic, social and environmental priorities; 
and a platform for local people to shape their surroundings.1 Local 
Plans are to be prepared with the objective of contributing to the 
achievement of sustainable development.2 
 

1.3 The Local Plan will form part of Salford’s “development plan”. Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that, 
“if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination 
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise”. The development plan currently 
consists of the saved policies of the city of Salford Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) and the Greater Manchester Joint Waste 
Development Plan Document and Joint Minerals Plan. The Local Plan 
will replace large parts of the UDP.  

 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
 
1.4 A Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is currently also being 

prepared and will also form a part of the city’s development plan. 
 

1.5 The Framework will identify the land Greater Manchester needs to 
meet demand for housing and business development and will help 
manage the supply of land across the city-region. This will include: 
 

 determining how many new homes and how much land we need 
for new jobs over the next 20 years,  

 the allocation of sites central to its vision and the definition of new 
Green Belt boundaries, 

 identifying infrastructure (things like transport links and public 
services) required to support development 

                                            
1 HM Government (2018) National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph, paragraph 15 
2 HM Government (2018) National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 16  

Page 343



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 12 

 

 identifying ways to protect the city-region's green space alongside 
development so that we develop great places where people want to 
live, work and visit. 

 
1.6 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework will set an overarching 

vision and strategy which the Local Plan will complement and 
contribute towards the implementation of. The Integrated Appraisal of 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, which will address 
Sustainability and Strategic Environment Assessment requirements, 
provides a complementary assessment of that document.  

 
Sustainable development 
 
1.7 Section 39 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places 

the concept of “sustainable development” at the heart of the planning 
system. The most commonly used definition of sustainable 
development is: 

 
Development that meets the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs3 

 
1.8 The UK Government is committed to the delivery of 17 Sustainable 

development goals that have been identified by the United Nations4: 
 

5 
 
Sustainability appraisal 

                                            
3 World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987 
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/implementing-the-sustainable-development-
goals/implementing-the-sustainable-development-goals 
5 Courtesy of https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/ 

Page 344

https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 13 

 

 
1.9 Under Section 19(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, the 

Core Strategy must be subject to a sustainability appraisal. 
 

1.10 Government guidance describes that local plans should be informed 
throughout their preparation by a sustainability appraisal which should 
demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant economic, social 
and environmental objectives (including opportunities for net gains). 
Significant adverse impacts on these objectives should be avoided and, 
wherever possible, alternative options which reduce or eliminate such 
impacts should be pursued. Where significant adverse impacts are 
unavoidable, suitable mitigation measures should be proposed (or, 
where this is not possible, compensatory measures should be 
considered).6 

 
Strategic environmental assessment 
 
1.11 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 

2004 identifies that during the preparation of certain plans and 
programmes an environmental assessment should be carried out.  

 
1.12 As a town and country planning document setting a framework for 

future development and concerned with a variety of issues including 
land use, transport, industry, waste, water and tourism the Local Plan is 
a relevant document in these terms.7 

 
1.13 Having regard to the criteria in Schedule 1 of the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations and following 
consultation with the consultation bodies specified in European 
Directive 2001/42/EC (the SEA Directive)8 the city council has 
determined that the Local Plan is likely to have significant 
environmental effects and must therefore be subject to a strategic 
environmental assessment in accordance with the requirements of the 
aforementioned regulations. The sustainability appraisal of the Local 
Plan therefore incorporates a strategic environmental assessment. 

 
Sustainability appraisal process 
 
1.14 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 

2004 identifies that during the preparation of certain plans and 
programmes an environmental assessment should be carried out.  

 
1.15 As a town and country planning document setting a framework for 

future development and concerned with a variety of issues including 

                                            
6 HM Government (2018) National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 32  
7 Regulation 5 of The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 
8 In accordance with Regulation 9 of The Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 

Page 345



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 14 

 

land use, transport, industry, waste, water and tourism, the Local Plan 
is a relevant document in these terms9 

 
1.16 Having regard to the criteria in Schedule 1 of the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations and following 
consultation with the consultation bodies specified in European 
Directive 2001/42/EC (the SEA Directive)10, see section 8 below, the 
city council has determined that the Local Plan is likely to have 
significant environmental effects and must therefore be subject to a 
strategic environmental assessment in accordance with the 
requirements of the aforementioned regulations. The sustainability 
appraisal of the Local Plan therefore incorporates a strategic 
environmental assessment. 

 
Sustainability appraisal process 
 
1.17 The sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan will be an iterative 

process, and will follow Government guidance.  
 
1.18 As detailed above, the Local Plan is being progressed alongside the 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, and this sustainability 
appraisal should be read in conjunction with the integrated appraisal of 
that document. 

 
1.19 The stages of Local Plan production and its sustainability appraisal are 

summarised in table 2 below. 
 
Table 2: Sustainability appraisal process 

Local Plan stage Appraisal stage Main outputs 

Sustainability 
appraisal scoping 
report  

Set the context and objectives, 
establishing the baseline and 
deciding the scope 

 Sustainability 
appraisal scoping 
report 

Draft Local Plan Review the Draft Local Plan 
against the identified 
sustainability objectives. 
  
 

 Draft Local Plan 

 Full sustainability 
appraisal report 

 

Revised Draft Local 
Plan 

Review the Revised Draft Local 
Plan against the identified 
sustainability objectives. 

 Revised Draft Local 
Plan 

 Full sustainability 
appraisal report 
 

                                            
9 Regulation 5 of The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 
10 In accordance with Regulation 9 of The Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 

Page 346



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 15 

 

Local Plan stage Appraisal stage Main outputs 

Publication Local 
Plan11 

Update the sustainability 
appraisal as required 

 Publication Local Plan 

 Full sustainability 
appraisal report 
 

Public examination12 Changes proposed to the Local 
Plan during this process, either 
by the city council or by other 
parties should be accompanied 
by an assessment of their 
relative sustainability 

 Written statements to 
the examination 

 Inspector’s report 
identifying how the 
Local Plan should be 
amended 

Adoption of the 
Local Plan 

Ensure any changes to the Local 
Plan recommended by the 
Inspector’s report have been 
properly appraised 

 Adopted Local Plan 

 Final sustainability 
appraisal report 
 

Monitoring the 
implementation of 
the Local Plan 

Monitor the sustainability effects 
of the Local Plan 

 Local Plan annual 
monitoring report(s) 

 
 
Scoping stage of the sustainability appraisal 
 
1.20 In February 2013, the city council published a Local Plan Sustainability 

Appraisal Scoping Report, which was used as a vehicle for consulting 
on the proposed scope of the sustainability appraisal. This process also 
met the requirements of Regulations 12(5) and 12(6) of The 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004, in terms of consulting on the scope and level of detail of the 
information that must be included in the environmental report required 
by European Directive 2001/42/EC (the SEA Directive). The 
environmental report will be contained wholly within the final 
Sustainability Appraisal Report. 

  
1.21 The Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report set out: 
 

 A summary of other relevant policies, plans and programmes; 

 A series of sustainability objectives and indicators; 

 Key baseline information; 

 A summary of the main sustainability issues and problems; and 

 A proposed appraisal framework. 
 
1.22 The consultation on the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report took 

place between 8 February and 12 April 2013. As part of the 
consultation, the Scoping Report was published on the city council’s 
website and was sent to the following organisations: 

                                            
11 Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 
2012 
12 Regulation 20 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 
2012 

Page 347



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 16 

 

 

 Natural England 

 Environment Agency 

 English Heritage 

 Design Council CABE  

 Greater Manchester Planning and Housing Team  

 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit  

 Greater Manchester Geological Unit  

 Transport for Greater Manchester  

 Bolton MBC  

 Bury MBC  

 Manchester City Council  

 Oldham MBC  

 Rochdale MBC  

 Stockport MBC  

 Tameside MBC  

 Trafford MBC  

 Warrington BC  

 Wigan MBC  
 
1.23 The publication of the scoping report for a period of consultation was 

also publicised in a letter sent to all those on the city council’s spatial 
planning consultation database. 

 
1.24 Following this period of consultation the scoping report was updated, 

having regard to comments received.  
 
Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
 
1.25 A Draft Local Plan was published for a period of consultation between 

November 2016 and January 2017. A sustainability appraisal was 
published alongside the Draft Plan. A number of comments were 
received to the sustainability appraisal and have been taken into 
account in the drafting of the sustainability appraisal of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. 

 
Revised Draft Local Plan  
 
1.26  The purpose of this stage in the sustainability appraisal process, as 

per the previous stage, is to report on the likely significant effects of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan together with reasonable alternatives as 
required by the SEA Directive (Article 5.1). 

 
1.27 The appraisal has been undertaken by city council officers. This has 

helped to ensure that sustainability considerations have been at the 
forefront of the development of the Revised Draft Local Plan, with 
mitigation measures incorporated throughout the process rather than 

Page 348



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 17 

 

simply identified at the end following an isolated sustainability appraisal 
exercise. 

 
1.28 The Revised Draft Local Plan, along with the alternatives identified, 

have been assessed against each of the 21 sustainability objectives, 
with the overall direction, scale, timing, likelihood and permanence of 
the impacts being estimated. A summary is provided for each objective, 
together with the identification of any further opportunities for 
mitigation. 

 
Future stages of the sustainability appraisal process 
 
Publication of the Local Plan 
 
1.29 This sustainability appraisal report will be fully updated and augmented 

following the consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan. It is 
envisaged that this appraisal and report will follow a similar format to 
this version. 

 
Making comments 
 
1.30 Comments are invited on all aspects of this report including any 

opportunities for additional mitigation to ensure that the Local Plan is as 
sustainable as possible. 

 
1.31 Comments can be submitted by any of the following means 

 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 Online using the comments form at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/reviseddraftlocalplan 

 By post to: Revised Draft Local Plan consultation  
                  Spatial Planning  
                  Salford Civic Centre 
                  Chorley Road 
                  Swinton 
                  M27 5BY 

 
1.32 All comments should be received by the city council no later than 

4.30pm on Friday 22 March 2019.  
 
1.33 If you have any questions about the Revised Draft Local Plan 

sustainability appraisal consultation, please contact the city council’s 
spatial planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk  

 
Treatment of comments 
 
1.34 All of the comments received, and the name of the individual or 

organization making them, will be matters of public record and open to 
public scrutiny. This information will be published on Salford City 

Page 349

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 18 

 

Council’s website following the consultation period. Those making 
comments will be entered onto the city council’s planning policy 
database so that they can be kept informed of the Local Plan and other 
planning policy documents in accordance with our privacy policy13. 

 
  

                                            
13 https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/data-protection-
legislation/ - see ‘Spatial planning privacy notice’ 

Page 350

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/data-protection-legislation/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/data-protection-legislation/


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 19 

 

 

2. Other relevant Policies, Plans and Programmes 

 
Introduction 
 
2.1 The SEA Directive specifically requires environmental objectives 

established at international, European community or national levels to 
be taken into account in developing the Local Plan. However, in order 
to maximise its effectiveness and sustainability, it will be important to 
consider how the Local Plan can support the full range of other plans, 
policies and programmes that already exist, taking into account their 
economic and social as well as environmental objectives. 

 
2.2 This section summarises the key objectives of the relevant plans, 

policies and programmes, and identifies the potential synergies and 
inconsistencies with the Local Plan. A more detailed summary of those 
various objectives is contained in appendix 2 of this report. 

 
Key objectives of other plans, policies and programmes 
 
2.3 Table 3 below identifies the key conclusions from the review of other 

plans, policies and programmes, and identifies the implications for the 
Local Plan and its sustainability appraisal. 

 
Table 3: Key conclusions and implications from the review of plans, policies 
and programmes 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

 

General principles 

Ensure that sustainable 
development is the central policy 
objective 

 Need to ensure the spatial vision and 
strategic objectives of the Local Plan reflect 
all aspects of sustainable development 

 Need to integrate the sustainability appraisal 
throughout the Local Plan production 
process 

 Need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and adapt to climate change 

Positively seek opportunities to 
meet the objectively assessed 
need for development with the 
flexibility to adapt to rapid 
change 

 Need to ensure that the Local Plan is 
underpinned by an objective evidence base 
and provides for the development needs 
identified 

 Need to ensure the plan incorporates an 
appropriate level of flexibility 

 Need to ensure the Local Plan provides new 
development opportunities whilst also 
providing an appropriate level of protection 
for valued facilities and services. 

Page 351



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 20 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

Develop high quality sustainable 
communities that meet a variety 
of needs 

 Need to ensure that the Local Plan 
integrates consideration of all issues, rather 
than focusing on one or two priorities in 
isolation 

Develop Greater Manchester as 
a world class city distinguished 
by its quality of life 

 Need to ensure that the Local Plan is set in 
the context of the wider sub-region 

 Need to ensure good performance on all 
aspects of life to help improve international 
competitiveness 

The city centre and Salford 
Quays have a key role in driving 
forward the sub-regional 
economy. 

 Need to ensure sufficient land is available 
within key locations, and an appropriate mix 
of uses comes forward to enhance its 
strength 

 Need to maximise accessibility to the 
opportunities provided helping to reduce the 
need to travel and promote social inclusion 

Central Salford (outside of the 
city centre/ Salford Quays) is  
the priority for regeneration and 
new housing 

 Need to focus investment towards central 
Salford to support regeneration, whilst also 
recognising the important role of Salford 
West in meeting development needs 

 Need to maximise the sustainability benefits 
of such close proximity to the economic 
opportunities within the city centre and 
Salford Quays. 

West Salford to be one of the 
most desirable and prosperous 
areas in Greater Manchester 

 Need to identify an appropriate balance 
between securing investment in business 
and housing in the area alongside the 
protection and improvement of 
environmental, leisure, heritage and other 
assets 

Plan strategically across local 
authority boundaries 

 Need to ensure that there is cooperation 
with other local authorities in planning for 
sustainable development 

  

Population 

Increase Salford’s population 
and attract more families 

 Need to provide conditions that will attract 
people, including families, back to the city 
such as high quality housing, schools, jobs 
and environments 

 Need to ensure that the pressures resulting 
from more people living in the city are 
minimised 

 

Housing 

Plan for new housing  informed 
by a local housing need 
assessment, conducted using 

 Need to ensure the Local Plan clearly 
identifies housing need and identifies key 

Page 352



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 21 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

the standard national 
methodology 

sites critical to the delivery of the housing 
strategy 

Provide an appropriate mix of 
housing in terms of type, tenure 
and affordability to meet 
identified needs and secure 
mixed and integrated 
communities 

 Need to identify what “mix” of dwellings is 
needed in the city and the policies required 
to deliver it 

 Need to take into account issues of function, 
form and character of neighbourhoods, and 
so different areas may need different mixes 

Improve the condition of the 
existing housing stock 

 Need to ensure the Local Plan focuses on 
existing as well as new development 

 Need to support the decent homes 
programme 

 Need to balance additional material assets 
required by replacement dwellings with 
potential for securing more energy and 
water efficient homes with lower flood risk 

 

Economic health 

Positively and proactively 
encourage strong, stable and 
sustainable economy and 
provide for choice, flexibility and 
competition 

 Need to provide the sites, infrastructure and 
conditions to promote business enterprise 
and attract investment 

 Need to ensure that short-term imperatives 
do not undermine long-term growth 
prospects of the city and sub-region 

Maximise the economic growth 
opportunities of Greater 
Manchester to help reduce 
regional disparities 

 Need to ensure that the economic growth of 
the sub-region as well as the city is 
supported 

 Need to ensure this is balanced against 
environmental and social objectives to 
ensure economic growth can be sustained in 
the long-term 

Support the economic growth 
sectors, the expansion of key 
clusters and increases in 
productivity 

 Need to ensure that employment land and 
premises meet modern needs, which may 
require some restructuring of land uses 

 Need to ensure that targeting growth sectors 
does not unbalance the economy, and 
diversity needs to be retained to promote a 
more stable economy 

Promote business start-ups, 
entrepreneurialism and 
innovation 

 Need to ensure that appropriate and 
affordable premises are available 

 Supporting innovation and competition may 
require minimising the micromanagement of 
the economy 

Page 353



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 22 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

Deliver sites for strategic 
business investment 

 Support the increased use of the 
Manchester Ship Canal and rail freight 
network to deliver sustainable freight 
distribution. Consider the potential for further 
strategic sites  

 Need to ensure that any such sites are 
sustainably located whilst remaining 
competitive and meeting business needs 

Prosperity 

Reduce worklessness and 
increase prosperity 

 Need to promote access to employment as 
well as the generation of employment 
opportunities 

 Need to focus on the quality as well as the 
quantity of employment opportunities 

 Need to ensure that the benefits of 
economic growth are shared by all 

 

Retail and town centres 

Positively promote competitive 
town centre environment and set 
out policies for the management 
and growth of centres over the 
plan period 

 Need to ensure that the role of each centre 
is clear and provide a clear policy framework 
for their future management and growth 

 May be a need for new centres to ensure 
appropriate levels of accessibility and to 
accommodate development needs, 
particularly as the population of some areas 
increases significantly 

Develop a hierarchy of 
complementary centres that 
meet the needs of their 
catchments 

 Need to clarify the role of Salford’s centres 
within a constantly evolving sub-region, 
ensuring that all residents have good access 
to a range of facilities 

 Need to ensure that the hierarchy reduces 
the need to travel 

Focus new retail, leisure, office, 
culture and tourism development 
within existing centres, 
promoting their vitality and 
viability 

 Need to ensure that sufficient sites are 
available and that the role of each centre is 
clear 

 May be a need for new centres so as to 
ensure appropriate levels of accessibility 
and to accommodate development needs 

 

Education 

Provide accessible and inclusive 
education opportunities in high 
quality learning environments 

 Need to support the ongoing renewal of 
Salford’s primary and secondary schools 

 Need to ensure that the sustainability 
benefits of new schools are maximised, in 
terms of location, construction, etc 

 Need to ensure that an increase in school 
pupils from household increases can be 

Page 354



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 23 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

accommodated within the city’s education 
network  

Increase the skill levels of all 
sections of the community, so as 
to support economic growth and 
social inclusion 

 Need to support the development of the 
University of Salford, Salford City College, 
and Salford Royal Hospital and promote 
access to them 

 

Tourism 

Improve the quality and quantity 
of the tourism offer  

 Need to support tourism development and 
identify the main opportunities for it 

 Need to balance against other objectives 
given that tourism may be based on 
sensitive assets such as heritage and the 
countryside 

 

Accessibility 

Reduce the need to travel, 
especially by car 

 Focus new development in accessible 
locations, and promote linked trips Need to 
take into account the sustainability 
implications if new development were 
located outside Salford, in potentially less 
accessible locations 

Improve access by sustainable 
modes such as walking, cycling 
and public transport 

 Need to ensure that new development is 
integrated with sustainable transport 
systems rather than viewed in isolation 

 Need to promote integrated transport 
networks rather than individual routes 

 Need to encourage a modal shift to more 
sustainable forms of travel 

 Need to promote the more sustainable 
movement of freight, by rail and water 

Ensure that transport 
infrastructure investment 
supports new development and 
economic growth 

 Need to plan for major transport 
infrastructure investment, co-ordinating it 
with new development 

 May be potential conflicts with other 
sustainability objectives if new infrastructure 
has a significant land take, and need to 
ensure it does not simply promote additional 
travel without wider benefits 

 

Climatic Factors 

Reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions 

 Need to secure a pattern and form of 
development that minimise emissions from 
transport, business and housing 

 Need to find innovative ways of achieving 
this whilst retaining competitiveness and 

Page 355



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 24 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

recognising modern aspirations in terms of 
material possessions, mobility, etc 

 Need to identify, protect and enhance 
potential carbon sinks 

 Need to improve construction supply chains 

Adapt to the likely impacts of 
climate change 

 Need to clarify what the impacts are, given 
the science available, and determine the 
extent to which a precautionary approach is 
required 

 Need to integrate throughout all aspects of 
the Local Plan, for example in terms of the 
impacts on wildlife, flood risk, environmental 
quality, agriculture, etc 

 Need to exploit changing employment 
patterns, e.g. tourism opportunities 

 

Countryside and landscape 

Strengthen the links between 
town and country, and promote 
a range of uses in the 
countryside and urban fringe 

 Need to find an appropriate balance 
between the various functions of the urban 
fringe in terms of landscape value, 
agriculture, biodiversity and recreation 

 May need to prioritise different objectives in 
different parts of the urban fringe 

Protect and enhance the quality 
and character of the 
countryside, preserving the 
things that make it special 

 Need to identify what makes Salford’s 
countryside special, and plan for its 
protection 

 Different elements of its character may 
potentially be in conflict, and therefore some 
prioritisation may be necessary 

 

Recreation and open space 

Ensure that all households are 
within an appropriate distance of 
a full range of green spaces 

 Need to identify appropriate and realistic 
standards, which may require prioritisation 
where land resources are scarce 

 Need to ensure that the wider benefits of 
green spaces are maximised in terms of 
health, biodiversity, environmental quality, 
flood storage, etc 

Recognise and reconcile the 
various functions of ‘green 
infrastructure’ 

 Need to maximise and balance the various 
functions of the city’s open spaces rather 
than viewing individual issues such as 
biodiversity, landscape, etc, in isolation 

 Need to maximise links between different 
elements of green infrastructure, to support 
objectives relating to biodiversity and access 
to recreation facilities 

 

Page 356



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 25 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

Waste management 

Secure more sustainable waste 
management (in order of priority, 
reduction, reuse, recycling and 
composting, energy from waste, 
and final disposal as a last 
resort) 

 Need to ensure that more sustainable waste 
management facilities are positively planned 
for 

 Need to integrate waste management and 
resource efficiency considerations into all 
aspects of the Local Plan, whilst recognising 
that there is a separate Greater Manchester 
Joint Waste Development Plan Document 

Communities should take more 
responsibility for managing their 
own waste 

 May need to accept more waste 
developments within the city in order to 
minimise the movement of waste 

 

Water and flood risk 

Policy-making needs to 
recognise the impacts on water 
use and quality 

 Need to ensure that water pollution is 
minimised, both direct (discharges) and 
indirect (run-off) 

 Need to plan for more water-efficient 
developments 

 May need to plan for improved water 
treatment works and supply infrastructure, 
particularly if large-scale development is 
planned 

Reduce the risk of flooding and 
the severity of flood events on 
people, businesses, property 
and infrastructure 

 Need to locate new development and 
infrastructure outside the areas at risk of 
flooding wherever practicable, although this 
may need to be balanced against 
regeneration objectives 

 Need to ensure new development is 
designed to minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding, both on itself and others 

 Need to explore the potential for improving 
flood defences and promoting sustainable 
drainage systems 

 Need to take a coordinated approach at the 
river basin level 

 

Air quality 

Need to address the reasons for 
the designation of an air quality 
management area 

 Need to take a coordinated approach to 
improving air quality, including reducing the 
need to travel, promoting more sustainable 
forms of transport, and targeting cleaner 
economic sectors 

Need to minimise the impacts of 
poor air quality 

 Need to carefully consider the location and 
design of new developments, particularly 
sensitive uses such as housing, hospitals, 
schools, etc 

Page 357



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 26 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

 This may create challenges in terms of other 
sustainability objectives given that such 
locations are often the most accessible 

 

Biodiversity 

Promote the conservation, 
protection and enhancement of 
biological diversity 

 Need to identify and protect key habitats 
within the city, such as the degraded 
lowland raised bog within Chat Moss 

 Need to maximise the biodiversity benefits 
of open spaces and new developments 

 Multifunctional nature of many open spaces 
means that biodiversity considerations may 
need to be balanced against other 
objectives 

 

Material Resources 

Encourage the use of more 
environment-friendly energy 
systems 

 Need to identify and promote opportunities 
for renewable and low-carbon energy 
production 

 Need to promote reductions in energy use, 
for example through more efficient buildings 
and reducing the need to travel 

Ensure energy security and 
reduce fuel poverty 

 Need to promote more energy-efficient 
buildings to reduce energy expenditure 

 Need to promote more localised energy 
generation to minimise potential disruption 
to supplies 

 Need to deliver energy infrastructure to 
support new development 

Secure an adequate and steady 
supply of minerals 

 Need to safeguard mineral resources from 
being sterilised by new development 

 Need to identify where and the 
circumstances in which mineral 
development may be acceptable, and how 
this can take place in the most sustainable 
manner 

 May need to assess the relative impacts of 
mineral extraction in Salford compared to 
alternative sources, whilst recognising that 
there is a separate Greater Manchester 
Joint Minerals Development Plan Document 

Prioritise a reduction of use and 
promotion of secondary 
resources over primary 
extraction 

 Need to promote the reuse and recycling of 
materials, including through waste transfer 
stations 

 Need to promote waste minimisation 

 

Soil and land 

Page 358



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 27 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

Restore and remediate derelict, 
unstable and contaminated sites 

 Need to promote the reuse of previously 
developed land, whilst recognising that 
national planning policy no longer prioritises 
its reuse over greenfield development 

 Need to ensure the risks to human health 
are minimised 

Protect the best and most 
versatile agricultural land 

 Direct development towards land with poorer 
agricultural quality 

 The multifunctional nature of the urban 
fringe means that agricultural land quality 
will need to be balanced with other 
objectives such as nature conservation and 
recreation 

 

Heritage 

Preserve and enhance the 
historic environment 

 Need to identify the key heritage assets that 
need to be protected, and how this can be 
achieved whilst promoting new development 

 Need to explore the potential of the city’s 
heritage for supporting the economy (e.g. 
through tourism) and enhancing local pride 

 

Crime 

Aim to reduce crime and the fear 
of crime 

 Need to reduce opportunities for crime 
through the design and location of new 
development 

 Need to ensure that this does not 
compromise environmental quality (e.g. 
through hostile barriers) or accessibility (e.g. 
by reducing the ease with which people can 
move through the city by foot and cycle) 

 

Health 

Reduce health inequalities, and 
deliver safe, healthy and 
attractive places to live 

 Need to promote access to high quality 
health facilities, both in terms of primary and 
secondary care 

 Need to promote healthy lifestyles, in terms 
of access to recreation facilities, safe 
environments, access to fresh food, 
reductions in pollution, and encouraging 
walking and cycling 

Minimise the risk and 
implications of major incidents 
involving hazardous substances 

 Need to ensure that installations producing 
or storing such substances are appropriately 
located 

 Need to minimise development adjacent to 
such installations, although this may need to 
be balanced against other objectives such 

Page 359



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 28 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

as the efficient use of land and the location 
of development on accessible sites 

 

Design and construction 

New development should 
demonstrate good design quality 
and respect for its setting 

 Ensure that  the character of Salford and its 
neighbourhoods is protected and enhanced 
through the design of new development 

 Need to identify the key elements of that 
character (including views and landmarks) 

 Ensure that tall buildings are located 
appropriately and are of a high design 
quality 

Promote mixed-use 
developments that minimise the 
need to travel and enhance local 
character 

 Need to identify appropriate locations for 
mixed-use development 

 Need to recognise that a mix of uses can 
potentially conflict with other objectives such 
as minimising noise pollution and protecting 
amenity 

Need to promote more 
sustainable design and 
construction, helping to support 
inclusive environments and 
reduce climate change 
emissions 

 Need to identify how more adaptable and 
accessible buildings and spaces will be 
secured 

 Need to identify how development can 
minimise resource use in both construction 
and occupation 

 

Infrastructure 

Need to take into account the 
capacity of existing 
infrastructure when planning for 
new development 

 Need to identify existing and potential 
infrastructure constraints, and how they can 
be addressed in coordination with new 
development 

 Need to consider the potential for designing 
and locating new development in a way that 
minimises the need for new infrastructure, 
whilst balancing this against other objectives 

 

Noise 

Minimise the severity and impact 
of noise pollution 

 Need to identify opportunities for noise 
reduction 

 Need to identify noisy areas where sensitive 
uses should be avoided, although this may 
create challenges in terms of other 
sustainability objectives given that such 
locations are often the most accessible 

Tranquil zones should be 
identified and protected 

 Need to identify whether there are any 
existing tranquil areas within the city, or the 
potential for them to be created 

Page 360



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 29 

 

Key conclusions from review of 
plans, policies and programmes 

Implications for the Local Plan and 
sustainability appraisal 

 Need to balance against promoting public 
access to and the recreation use of the city’s 
countryside and urban fringe, which has 
health and quality of life benefits in particular 

 

Page 361



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 30 

 

3. Baseline Information 

 
Introduction 
 
3.1 Baseline information provides the basis for predicting and monitoring 

the effects of the Local Plan and helps to identify sustainability 
problems and alternative ways of dealing with them. This section sets 
out the main statistics that are relevant to the sustainability appraisal 
and the development of the Local Plan more generally. More detailed 
information is contained in appendix 3 of this report. 
 

3.2 A large amount of evidence will need to be collected in support of the 
Local Plan and this will evolve through the production process, 
ensuring that it is as up-to-date as possible. Therefore, the baseline 
information identified in this report may change over time, and future 
sustainability appraisal reports will reflect this. 

 
Summary of key baseline information 
 
3.3 The following key facts can be identified from the baseline review: 
 

Population 

 The city saw a very significant decline in population over the last 
century (by 36% from its peak in 1921), but since 2002 there 
has been a continuous and accelerating growth in the population 
which is projected to continue 

 The city has a relatively high number of single person 
households and single parent households 

 The city has a relatively high proportion of 20-29 year olds, and 
below average numbers aged 45 and over 

 
Health 

 Life expectancy remains below the national average 

 There is a particular concentration of high mortality rates within 
Central Salford 

 
Crime 

 There have been significant falls in crime rates in the city which 
have fallen below those seen across the sub-region as a whole 

 The highest crime levels are found in the most deprived areas 
 
Accessibility 

 More people in Salford access work via the most sustainable 
forms of transport such as walking, cycling and public transport 
than the Greater Manchester and North West averages, but 
slightly behind rates at the national level 

 This may reflect both lower incomes and the high accessibility of 
the city 

Page 362



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 31 

 

 The city has good radial public transport services, but weaker 
orbital connections 

 
Housing 

 Compared to the national average, the city has a very high 
proportion of social-rented housing, with particular 
concentrations in Broughton, Langworthy, and Little Hulton, and 
a low proportion of owner-occupied dwellings 

 The city has a very low proportion of detached dwellings, and 
above average numbers of semi-detached and flatted 
accommodation 

 Net residential completions in the city are increasing and there 
are a large number of dwellings with planning permission, but 
these are heavily skewed towards apartments.  

 Following a period of decline, the average ratio of house prices 
to incomes has increased over the last two years.  

 The number of people on the housing register waiting for social-
rented accommodation has increased significantly since 2000 

 Vacancy rates in the city have been falling and are now within 
an ‘acceptable’ range. 
  

Education 

 Levels of GCSE attainment in the city are behind those at the 
regional and national levels. There are however significant 
disparities within the city. 

 There have been significant improvements in the levels of 
qualifications held by the city’s residents however fewer people 
in Salford have higher qualifications than the national average. 

 There is a more pronounced focus on alternative forms of 
education including apprenticeships and work based learning in 
the city than at higher levels.  

 
Economic health 

 Whilst unemployment rates have fallen over recent years, they 
remain above the sub-regional and national averages 

 Total productivity and productivity per capita within Greater 
Manchester South West (which comprises Salford and Trafford) 
have increased faster than the sub-regional and regional 
averages over the period 1999-2016. The per capita average is 
above the national average 

 
Structure of the Economy  

 Salford’s economy is heavily reliant service sectors including 
distribution/hotels/catering, banking/finance and public 
administration/ education and health/ 

 There has been a continuing decline in manufacturing as an 
employer in the city, with the proportion of jobs in this sector 
significantly below the national average 

 

Page 363



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 32 

 

Prosperity 

 Over the period 2009-2016, the growth in active enterprises was 
significantly above the regional and national averages 

 Between 2006 and 2017 the increase in mean annual pay 
received by local residents has been behind rates seen at the  
sub-regional, regional and national averages 

 The rate of increase in the mean annual pay received by people 
working in Salford has significantly exceeded sub-regional, 
regional and national averages 

 Mean pay received by those working in Salford significantly 
exceeds those earned by its residents. The proportionate gap is 
significantly greater than that seen at higher levels. 

 
Biodiversity 

 The city’s priority habitats are dominated by readily restorable 
lowland raised bog 

 
Soil and land 

 More than 91.5% of new residential development was located 
on previously-developed land over the period 2003-2018  

 The city contains around 83% of the total grade 1 agricultural 
land in Greater Manchester 

 
Water and flood risk 

 Monitored watercourses in Salford are assessed as moderate in 
quality with the exception of the River Glaze and its tributaries 

 Approximately 17,500 dwellings are subject to a medium or high 
risk of fluvial flooding, the majority of these are within the River 
Irwell floodplain 

 
Air quality 

 The air quality management area is focused around main 
highways 

 
Climatic factors 

 The city’s “carbon footprint” per capita is slightly below the 
regional and national average, and has been decreasing since 
2005. 

 
Waste 

 Recycling rates for household waste are below the sub-regional 
average 

 
Minerals 

o Restoration of lowland raised bog and associated habitats is 
now progressing at the three main former peat extraction sites in 
the Chat Moss area. Peat extraction ceased entirely in Salford in 
2017. 

Page 364



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 33 

 

 There are sand and gravel reserves under Chat Moss however 
their exploitation would have serious environmental 
consequences 

 
Cultural heritage 

 Salford has a diverse heritage, particularly related to its 
industrial past, with 235 separate listed building entries on the 
national heritage list 

 In 2018, there were 11 listed buildings and 4 conservation areas 
identified as being ‘at risk’ 

 
Light and noise 

 There has been a generally increasing trend in the number of 
complaints received over recent years 

 

  

Page 365



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 34 

 

4. Sustainability Issues and Problems 

 
Introduction 
 
4.1 The assessment of other plans, policies and programmes, together 

with an analysis of the relevant baseline information, has enabled the 
identification of the main sustainability issues and problems that need 
to be taken into account in developing the Local Plan. These issues 
and problems are identified below and cover a variety of scales, with 
some not just affecting Salford but also the region, the country, and the 
world as a whole. 

 
Population 

 The major loss of population, particularly its inner city 
communities, has reduced the ability to sustain a full range of 
high quality facilities and services in some areas. 

 There are concerns that the city, and particularly its inner areas, 
is not sufficiently attractive to families. However the large 
proportion of single person households may partly reflect the 
attractiveness of the city centre to younger, single people 

 
Health 

 The population of Salford generally suffers from poor health, and 
there are very significant health inequalities within the city 

 
Crime 

 Crime rates in the city are reducing, however there remain high 
levels of incidences in particular parts of the city and the issue 
continues to negatively affect perceptions of the city. This will 
need to be tackled if the city is to become more attractive to 
potential residents, especially families, and investment is to be 
maximised, particularly within the most deprived 
neighbourhoods where crime is at its highest 

 
Accessibility 

 Salford is a very accessible city, particularly within and around 
the city centre, and is therefore well-placed to contribute to the 
sustainable location of new development 

 Public transport along radial routes into the city centre is 
generally very good, although congested at peak times 

 Orbital routes are much less well-developed, and consequently 
accessibility to key employment and leisure opportunities such 
as within and around Trafford Park could be improved 
significantly 

 The role of the city’s existing town and neighbourhood centres 
needs to be protected and enhanced in order to ensure that 
residents can easily meet their daily needs 

 
Housing 

Page 366



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 35 

 

 There is a relative lack of diversity in residential accommodation 
in some parts of the city, particularly within several Central 
Salford neighbourhoods 

 Following a period of low completion rates of apartment 
development and investment purchases, largely a result of the 
credit crunch, there is now a significant number of new 
apartment schemes coming forward  

 Vacancy rates in Salford have been consistently higher than 
average but there have been significant recent reductions. 
Vacancy rates in Salford West are much lower than Central 
Salford 

 Although Salford has a relatively high proportions of social 
rented properties, there are a significant number of households 
who require affordable housing 

 Whilst house price to income ratios on Salford are high, they are 
relatively affordable compared to Greater Manchester, the North 
West and England 

 
Education 

 Educational attainment is improving amongst Salford pupils, but 
the overall skill levels amongst the population are still relatively 
low. This has a negative impact on social inclusion and 
contributes to deprivation, as it reduces the ability of residents to 
access many of the employment opportunities within the sub-
region 

 Forecast declines in manufacturing jobs, with an increasing 
dominance of business services sectors, is likely to heighten the 
importance of improving skill levels within the city. If skill levels 
are not improved then the already significant problems of 
worklessness and deprivation may increase further 

 
Economic health 

 

 A proactive approach should be taken to encouraging economic 
growth  

 Unemployment is a problem for the city, significantly exceeding 
the national average. There is also a relatively large proportion 
of people claiming out of work benefits.  

 The city has done well in capturing new employment from the 
growth sectors, but there are question marks over how easy it is 
for local residents to benefit from these additional job 
opportunities  

 The city’s economy is increasingly dominated by a small number 
of sectors, and although it will be important to target the growth 
sectors it will also be vital to ensure economic diversity to make 
the economy more robust to changing circumstances and 
provide more diverse employment opportunities to meet the 
varied needs and skills of residents  

 

Page 367



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 36 

 

 
Prosperity 

 The high growth in businesses is encouraging, but this will need 
to be maintained if the economic growth objectives of other 
plans and strategies are to be achieved 

 It needs to be ensured that new employment opportunities 
provide a decent wage, and support is required to enable people 
to move from benefits to employment, in order to help close the 
gap between local and national disposable incomes. 

 
Biodiversity 

 The city has a large area of readily restorable degraded lowland 
raised bog, which is a UK/EU priority habitat, offering the 
potential to make a major contribution to national biodiversity 
objectives 

 The large scale of development proposed for the city may put 
pressures on biodiversity resources, and therefore careful 
consideration must be given to their ongoing protection and 
enhancement. The level of change also offers opportunities to 
integrate biodiversity considerations more effectively into 
neighbourhoods where there are limited resources at present 

 
Soil and Land 

 The city has a large supply of high grade agricultural land which 
could become increasingly important as global climate change 
and population increases place pressure on food resources and 
security of supply. This will need to be balanced against other 
priorities for such land including biodiversity and recreational 
access 

 More than 92% of new dwellings are being provided on 
previously-developed land, and there remains a significant 
supply of vacant/underused land in the city to continue this 
performance in the future, but pressures for more family houses 
and new employment sites that better meet modern business 
requirements may increase demands for greenfield land release  

 
Water and Flood Risk 

 Significant parts of the city are at risk of flooding, but those 
areas also include neighbourhoods in need of regeneration and 
thousands of households living in accommodation with 
inadequate flood protection, so it will be important to identify 
policy interventions that minimise risk whilst supporting 
community regeneration and recognising the increased potential 
for major flood events associated with climate change 

 The scale of new development proposed, coupled with projected 
increases in rainfall associated with climate change, could place 
additional pressure on sewers that are already near or at 
capacity and increase runoff into watercourses 

 

Page 368



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 37 

 

Air Quality 

 The air quality management area is focused on the city’s main 
highways. The levels of development proposed and potential 
increases in local traffic will need to be managed to avoid any 
greater impacts on health and quality of life 

 
Climatic Factors 

 The large scale of development proposed in the city offers the 
potential to significantly reduce the average per capita carbon 
footprint through the careful location and design of development, 
but reducing emissions from existing development will also be 
important though challenging 

 Successful adaptation to climate change will be fundamental to 
achieving other objectives, for example relating to quality of life 
(e.g. increased urban heat island effect), flood risk and 
biodiversity 

 The city’s green belt contains significant areas of peat which 
have a significant role in storing carbon. 

 
Material Resources 

 The city has a low recycling rate for household waste, and 
Greater Manchester generally exports a significant proportion of 
its waste 

 The large scale of development proposed will place major 
demands on material resources 

 
Landscape and Open Space 

 More than a third of the city is Green Belt, and there are other 
significant open spaces, all of which have competing functional 
demands for example in terms of recreation, agriculture, 
biodiversity, flood water storage and landscape value 

 The large scale of redevelopment proposed in some parts of the 
city may offer opportunities to enhance the provision of open 
spaces and other green infrastructure in areas that currently 
have only limited such resources 

 
Cultural Heritage 

 The city has a rich cultural heritage, which is an important 
source of local pride and identity, and contributes towards the 
city’s tourism potential. It is therefore important that an 
appropriate level of protection and enhancement is provided for 
the city’s heritage assets. 

 There are potentially conflicts between continuing the strong 
protection of the city’s heritage and enabling the large scale of 
development and regeneration proposed for the city 

 
Light and Noise 

Page 369



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 38 

 

 Increasing complaints over recent years indicate the need to 
carefully locate and design new development, and may increase 
the importance of retaining some areas of relative tranquillity 

 
 
 

Page 370



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 39 

 

5. Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

 
Introduction 
 
5.1 The sustainability appraisal framework provides the tools for 

describing, analysing and comparing the sustainability effects of the 
Local Plan and the reasonable alternatives options. The framework 
consists of three main elements: 

 
a) A series of sustainability objectives, which the Local Plan should 

seek to further as far as practicable 
 
b) A number of questions related to each objective, which will 

assist in determining the impact of the Local Plan, and 
reasonable alternatives, on those objectives 

 
c) A range of indicators, which will enable sustainability effects to 

be monitored, covering the full spectrum of objectives 
 
5.2 The sustainability appraisal framework has been developed by 

analysing the full range of sustainability issues that the Local Plan 
could potentially have an impact on, informed by the above sections of 
this report. 

 
5.3 The objectives have been designed to be fully comprehensive, whilst 

minimising any overlap between individual objectives that could 
potentially cause confusion and skew the results of any appraisal. All of 
the objectives are considered to be “primary” objectives, which are 
desirable in and of themselves in securing more sustainable outcomes, 
and purely “secondary” objectives that only help to achieve primary 
objectives have been excluded. For example, it will be important to 
maximise the use of more sustainable means of transport such as 
walking, cycling and public transport. However, it is not a primary 
objective but rather a secondary objective that helps to achieve a range 
of primary objectives such as minimising contributions to climate 
change, improving air quality, improving physical and mental health, 
and protecting and enhancing amenity. Similarly, although reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions has its own objective, there is not a 
separate objective on adaptation to climate change as it is covered by 
other objectives, for example relating to biodiversity, flood risk, health 
etc. Each objective is inevitably broad in its scope given the wide-
ranging nature of the Local Plan and its potential sustainability 
implications. 

 
5.4 The indicators have been chosen to strike a balance between providing 

a comprehensive assessment of sustainability effects and being 
manageable in terms of their number and data requirements. The 
emphasis is on direct, primary outcomes rather than inputs, outputs or 
indirect outcomes that affect the primary outcomes, although proxy 
indicators may sometimes be required. They are intended to be 

Page 371



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 40 

 

“headline” indicators, and as a result there are not indicators relating to 
all of the questions listed (with many of the questions relating to indirect 
outcomes or outputs). It is therefore inevitable that other information 
will need to be collected in order to supplement the sustainability 
indicators and inform future policy development. The 
interconnectedness of the sustainability objectives means that some of 
the indicators potentially relate to several different objectives, but they 
have been grouped under individual indicators for ease of use.  

 
The framework 
 
5.5 Table 4 below sets out the sustainability appraisal framework that is 

being used to assess the sustainability of the Local Plan and 
reasonable alternatives. The objectives, questions and indicators have 
been grouped under broad topic headings to assist in identifying the 
primary issues that they will address. The first ten headings reflect the 
requirements of point (f) of Annex I of the SEA Directive. 

 
5.6 Appendix 4 provides more details on the definition of and data sources 

for the indicators. 
 

Page 372



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 41 

 

Table 4: Sustainability appraisal framework 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

Health 1) To improve physical 
and mental health 

 Will it reduce death rates? 

 Will it reduce health inequalities? 

 Will it promote healthy lifestyles? 

 Will it minimise the potential 
negative health impacts of a 
changing climate? 

 Will it improve access to healthcare 
facilities? 

 Will it reduce isolation for vulnerable 
people? 

 Will it reduce exposure to 
pollutants? 

 Will it reduce accidents and the risk 
of accidents? 

 Will it improve access to healthy, 
affordable food? 

 Will it reduce fuel poverty and other 
negative health impacts of housing? 

 Will it promote good mental health? 

i) Direct standardised 
mortality rate (all causes) 
ii) Life expectancy 

Biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

2) To protect, enhance 
and restore 
biodiversity resources 

 Will it protect and enhance existing 
flora, fauna and priority habitats? 

 Will it provide opportunities for new 
habitat creation? 

 Will it minimise fragmentation of 
habitats and increase links? 

iii) Area of UK priority 
habitats by type 
iv) Area of locally designated 
sites  

P
age 373



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 42 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

 Will it take into account the potential 
impacts of climate change on 
biodiversity? 

Geodiversity 3) To protect, enhance 
and restore geological 
resources 

 Will it protect notable geological and 
geomorphological features? 

 Will it enhance appreciation of such 
features? 

 Will it support the management of 
such features? 

v) Area of designated 
geological sites 

Soil and land 4) To protect and improve 
soil and land 
resources 

 Will it protect the agricultural quality 
of soil resources? 

 Will it reduce land instability? 

 Will it reduce land contamination? 

 Will it reduce the amount of derelict 
and/or degraded land? 

 Will it minimise the net loss of 
greenfield land? 

No indicator identified 
 

Water 5) To protect and enhance 
water resources 

 Will it protect and enhance the 
quality of waterways and 
groundwater? 

 Will it ensure an adequate supply of 
water to homes and businesses? 

 Will it reduce per capita water 
consumption? 

vi) Proportion of waterways 
classified as “Moderate” or 
better under the terms of the 
Water Framework Directive 

 6) To minimise the risk 
and impacts of 
flooding 

 Will it reduce the number of people 
and properties at risk of flooding? 

 Will it reduce the severity of impacts 
of any flooding? 

vii) Number of dwellings at 
risk of flooding more often 
than once every 100 years 

P
age 374



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 43 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

 Will it increase the use of 
sustainable drainage systems? 

Air 7) To improve air quality  Will it reduce the emission of 
airborne pollutants? 

 Will it maximise the removal of air 
pollutants (e.g. by trees)? 

viii) Area of the city that 
complies with national air 
quality standards 

Climatic factors 8) To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

 Will it reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases, particularly 
carbon dioxide and methane? 

 Will it increase energy efficiency? 

 Will it increase the use of renewable 
energy? 

 Will it reduce traffic levels and 
encourage walking, cycling and 
public transport use? 

ix) Carbon dioxide emissions 
by per capita 
 

Material assets 9) To minimise the use of 
non-renewable 
resources 

 Will it reduce waste generation? 

 Will it maximise the use of waste as 
a resource, and minimise the 
amount of residual waste going to 
landfill? 

 Will it minimise the use of primary 
minerals? 

 Will it increase the use of building 
materials from sustainable sources? 

 Will it maximise the reuse of existing 
buildings? 

 Will it minimise the use of fossil 
fuels? 

xi Total amount of waste per 
capita per year 
xi) Annual recycling and 
composting rate 

P
age 375



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 44 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

Cultural heritage 10) To protect, enhance, 
and enable the 
appreciation of, the 
city’s heritage 

 Will it minimise the loss of, and 
damage to, places, landscapes and 
structures of historic, cultural and/or 
archaeological value? 

 Will it protect the setting and views 
of such assets? 

 Will it help to secure a positive and 
sensitive use for such assets? 

 Will it improve access to the city’s 
heritage? 

 Will it help to increase recognition of 
the value of the city’s heritage? 

xii) Net change in the 
number of nationally 
designated heritage assets 

Landscape and 
townscape 

11) To maintain and 
enhance the quality 
and character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

 Will it improve the quality of urban, 
architectural and landscape design? 

 Will it protect landscape features 
and open spaces? 

 Will it secure good maintenance of 
landscape and townscape? 

 Will it improve public access to 
quality landscapes and 
townscapes? 

 Will it protect and enhance local 
character and distinctiveness? 

No indicator identified 

Amenity 12) To protect and 
enhance amenity 

 Will it improve neighbourhood 
quality? 

 Will it minimise light and noise 
pollution? 

xiv) Number of noise 
complaints 
xv) Number of light pollution 
complaints 

P
age 376



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 45 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

 Will it ensure that occupiers of 
buildings and spaces have sufficient 
natural light and appropriate levels 
of privacy? 

 Will it ensure that public spaces are 
sufficiently well lit? 

 Will it maintain tranquil areas? 

 Will it mitigate the negative impacts 
of climate change on microclimates? 

Crime 13) To reduce crime and 
the fear of crime 

 Will it reduce actual levels of crime? 

 Will it reduce the fear of crime? 

 Will it reduce antisocial behaviour 
and disorder? 

xvi) Incidences of crime per 
1,000 population 
 

Economic health 14) To maximise 
economic growth that 
can be sustained in 
the long-term 

 Will it support a diverse and robust 
economy? 

 Will it support key growth sectors 
that drive economic growth? 

 Will it enhance productivity levels? 

 Will it encourage inward 
investment? 

 Will it support existing businesses? 

 Will it support innovation and 
business development? 

 Will it increase the quantity and 
quality of employment 
opportunities? 

 Will it promote security of energy 
supply and other resources? 

xvii) Number of jobs 
xviii) Number of active 
enterprises 

P
age 377



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 46 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

Prosperity 15) To enhance economic 
inclusion 

 Will it meet the employment needs 
of local people? 

 Will it increase economic activity 
levels? 

 Will it improve physical accessibility 
to jobs? 

 Will it support higher income levels 
for local residents? 

 Will it improve economic 
performance in disadvantaged 
areas? 

xix) Unemployment rate 
xx) Mean pay levels 
 

Education 16) To improve the city’s 
knowledge base 

 Will it increase the skills of local 
people? 

 Will it improve the qualifications of 
local people? 

 Will it increase the levels of 
participation in education? 

 Will it help to develop and maintain 
a healthy labour market? 

xxi) Proportion of pupils 
remaining in full-time 
education beyond the age of 
16 
xxii) Proportion of pupils 
achieving GCSE 9-4 English 
and Maths (standard pass)  

Housing 17) To ensure that 
everyone has access 
to a good home that 
meets their needs 

 Will it provide an appropriate mix of 
housing to enable all needs to be 
met? 

 Will it enable people to meet their 
needs within their existing 
communities? 

 Will it reduce homelessness? 

 Will it reduce the number of unfit 
dwellings? 

xxiii) Number of households 
in identified housing need 
xxiv) Number of non-decent 
homes 
 

P
age 378



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 47 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

 Will it reduce the number of vacant 
dwellings? 

 Will it increase the stability of the 
housing market? 

 Will it ensure that people can afford 
their housing? 

 Will it reduce overcrowding? 

Accessibility 18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

 Will it improve transport systems 
and services that provide access to 
facilities and opportunities for 
employment, shopping and leisure? 

 Will it reduce the distance people 
need to travel to access jobs, 
facilities and services? 

 Will it improve the range and quality 
of facilities within the city? 

 Will it secure accessible quality 
green space close to homes? 

 Will it protect existing town and 
neighbourhood centres where such 
facilities are focused? 

 Will it encourage linked trips? 

 Will it improve access to high quality 
information and communication 
technology? 

 Does it remove/reduce blockages to 
access? 

xxv) Proportion of population 
within walking distance of 
public transport stops/ 
stations, a GP, primary and 
secondary school, major 
areas of employment, 
designated centres, and a 
range of outdoor recreation 
facilities 

P
age 379



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 48 

 

Topic Objective Questions Indicators 

Community 
cohesion 

19) To improve community 
cohesion 

 Will it create a sense of belonging 
and identity? 

 Will it improve relations between 
different groups? 

 Will it reduce prejudice? 

 Will it support community 
development? 

 Will it promote equality? 

No indicator identified 

Decision-making 20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-making 

 Will it enable people to influence 
decision-making? 

 Will it keep people informed? 

 Will it involve people in the 
implementation of decisions? 

 Will it engage hard to reach groups? 

No indicator identified 

Image 21) To improve 
perceptions of the city 

 Will it support an increase in visitor 
numbers? 

 Will it provide a more positive image 
for the city? 

 Will it secure positive publicity? 

xxvi) Number of tourism 
visits to key attractions 
within the city 

 
 

P
age 380



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 49 

 

Internal compatibility of the sustainability objectives 
 
5.7 The sustainability objectives have been assessed for their internal 

compatibility. This will help to identify where there are potential synergies 
that could be maximised through the Local Plan, as well as where there 
are potential conflicts that the Local Plan will need to manage and 
mitigate. 
 

5.8 Sustainability considerations are not made in isolation but are mutually 
dependent. None of the sustainability objectives identified are considered 
to be inherently incompatible. However, there are some objectives that 
could potentially be incompatible depending on the proposals that come 
forward through the Local Plan, and these are identified below: 
 

 Maximising economic growth (objective 14) can have a positive 
impact on many of the other sustainability objectives identified, 
including securing higher social and environmental standards. 
However, it could potentially have a negative impact, as economic 
development has historically led to compromises in environmental 
conditions in particular, but also many social objectives such as 
good health. However, the links between economic growth and 
environmental/social degradation are not automatic, and the 
challenge for the Local Plan will be to ensure that the form of 
economic growth minimises the negative impacts and maximises 
the positive effects such as increasing prosperity and investment in 
infrastructure that has wider social benefits. 

 

 Achieving the objective of ensuring that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs (objective 17) could potentially 
require the demolition of existing buildings, some of which may be 
considered to make a positive contribution to the heritage and 
townscape character of the city (objectives 10 and 11). In these 
circumstances, it will be particularly important to ensure that any 
replacement buildings have at least the same positive impact on the 
quality and distinctiveness of the local area.  

 
Increases in population as a result of providing new housing could 
also potentially have a negative impact at the local level on many of 
the other objectives unless the per capita impacts of human activity 
are reduced. However, this needs to be balanced against the 
implications at a regional, national and international level were that 
population to be located outside Salford. For example, locating 
people within Salford rather than elsewhere could potentially help to 
minimise negative impacts, for example by enabling more people to 
live closer to the main concentrations of employment in the region. 
 

Page 381



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 50 

 

 Increasing involvement in decision-making (objective 20) has the 
potential to compromise the achievement of many of the objectives 
given that most people have a limited amount of time available to 
engage in the development of the Local Plan, and therefore may 
not be able to take all of the various sustainability considerations 
into account when seeking to influence the document. This 
emphasises the importance of ensuring that appropriate information 
is available for the public, and is written in plain English. 

 
5.9 Many of the sustainability objectives are mutually reinforcing. However, 

there are some synergies that are particularly important. 
 

 Although the Local Plan can only have a minor impact in the global 
context, reducing contributions to climate change (objective 8) will 
be essential in supporting many of the other objectives. For 
example, climate change could potentially have a negative impact 
on health (through higher temperatures and more extreme weather 
events) (objective 1), biodiversity (with the climate changing faster 
than ecosystems can adapt) (objective 2), soil quality (with longer 
dry periods potentially leading to dust bowls) (objective 4), water 
resources (by requiring greater water usage) (objective 5), risk of 
flooding (by increasing the severity of rain events and therefore 
peak river flows) (objective 6), air quality (with higher temperatures 
increasing incidences of photochemical smog) (objective 7), 
amenity (with higher temperatures making urban areas less 
comfortable to live in) (objective 12), and subsequent impacts on 
economic growth (objective 14). 

 

 Although a primary objective itself, improving physical and mental 
health can be influenced by many of the other objectives. For 
example, access to wildlife and quality landscapes and townscapes 
can promote good mental health (objectives 2 and 11), reducing 
contamination of land minimises health risks (objective 4), 
improving air quality helps to reduce respiratory diseases (objective 
7), protecting amenity, community cohesion and involvement in 
decision-making reduces stress levels (objectives 12, 19 and 20), 
reducing crime helps to protect health (objective 13), enhancing 
economic inclusion and improving access to facilities enable people 
to maintain healthier lifestyles (objectives 15 and 18), and reducing 
the number of people living in poor housing also reduces health 
impacts (objective 17). 

 

 Securing good educational standards (objective 16) also has 
important links with other objectives, particularly helping to promote 
economic growth by ensuring a quality labour supply (objective 14), 
assisting local residents to share in the benefits of economic growth 

Page 382



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 51 

 

(objective 15), and enabling people to become more fully involved 
in decision-making (objective 20). 

 
Compatibility of Sustainability Objectives for Greater Manchester and 
Salford   
 
5.10 As part of the development of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

(GMSF), an Integrated Assessment (IA) is being undertaken incorporating 
the requirements of Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA), Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA). The Integrated Assessment identifies 18 objectives, set 
out in the table below, which provide a framework for the assessment of 
the GMSF in these terms.  

 
5.11 The GMSF, alongside Salford’s Local Plan, will form part of the city’s 

Development Plan14 once they are adopted by Salford City Council. It is 
therefore appropriate to consider the compatibility of the sustainability 
objectives that frame the assessments of these documents in order to 
ensure that they are being appraised against similar goals. 

 
5.12 Table 5 below lists the 18 objectives (and sub-questions) within the GMSF 

integrated assessment. The final column explains how the issues 
identified are addressed within Salford’s sustainability appraisal. 

 
5.13 It can be seen that the Salford Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

addresses all of the sustainability objectives identified in the Greater 
Manchester Integrated Appraisal.  

 
 

                                            
14 Salford’s Development Plan currently comprises Saved Unitary Development Plan Policies, the 
Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan, the Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan 
and the Proposals Map. 

Page 383



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 52 

 

 
Table 5: Comparison of GMSF integrated appraisal sustainability objectives and Salford sustainability objectives 

 
GM Objectives 

 
GM Sub questions 

 
Key Links to Salford Objectives 

1 Provide a sustainable 
supply of housing land 
including for an 
appropriate mix of sizes, 
types, tenures in 
locations to meet housing 
need, and to support 
economic growth 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Ensure an appropriate quantity of housing 
land to meet the objectively assessed 
need for market and affordable housing? 

 Ensure an appropriate mix of types, 
tenures and sizes of properties in relation 
to the respective levels of local demand? 

 Ensure housing land is well-connected 
with employment land, centres and green 
space or co-located where appropriate? 

 Support improvements in the energy 
efficiency and resilience of the housing 
stock? 

Primarily addressed by objective 17 of 
Salford’s Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal, 
which is to ensure that everyone has access 
to a good home that meets their needs.  
 
Issues of access to facilities and 
opportunities, including quality green spaces, 
are addressed by objective 18 (to improve the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities). 
 
Issues of energy efficiency and resilience of 
the housing stock are addresses holistically 
through objectives 1 (To improve physical 
and mental health), 6 (To minimise the risk 
and impacts of flooding) and 8 (to minimise 
contributions to climate change).  
 

2 Provide a sustainable 
supply of employment 
land to ensure 
sustainable economic 
growth and job creation 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Meet current and future demand for 
employment land across GM? 

 Support education and training to provide 
a suitable labour force for future growth? 

Primarily addressed by objective 14 of 
Salford’s Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal, 
to maximise economic growth that can be 
sustained in the long-term. 
 
Objectives 15 (To enhance economic 
inclusion), 16 (To improve the city’s 

P
age 384



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 53 

 

 Provide sufficient employment land in 
locations that are well-connected and well-
served by infrastructure? 

knowledge base) and 18 (To improve the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities) 
address access to employment from a 
transport and skills perspective. 
 

3 Ensure that there is 
sufficient coverage and 
capacity of transport and 
utilities to support growth 
and development 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Ensure that the transport network can 
support and enable the anticipated scale 
and spatial distribution of development? 

 Improve transport connectivity? 

 Ensure that utilities / digital infrastructure 
can support and enable the anticipated 
scale and spatial distribution of 
development? 

Primarily addressed by objective 18 of 
Salford’s Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal, 
to improve the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities. The questions associated with 
the objectives include transport and digital 
connections. 
 
The provision of utilities is a key issue for 
both existing homes and businesses and 
underpinning future growth. Appropriate 
utilities infrastructure is therefore implicit in 
objectives 14 (to maximise economic growth 
that can be sustained in the long-term), 17 (to 
ensure that everyone has access to a good 
home that meets their needs), and 18 (To 
improve the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities).  Water supply is also 
addressed by objective 5 (to protect and 
enhance water resources).   

4 Reduce levels of 
deprivation and disparity 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Reduce the proportion of people living in 
deprivation? 

 Support reductions in poverty (including 
child and fuel poverty), deprivation and 

The aims of GM Objective 4 are addressed 
by a number of objectives in the Salford 
appraisal including objective 1 (To improve 
physical and mental health - which includes 
questions relating to health inequalities, 

P
age 385



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 54 

 

disparity across the domains of the Indices 
of Multiple Deprivation? 

access to affordable food and fuel poverty); 
15 (To enhance economic inclusion), 19 (To 
improve community cohesion) and 20 (To 
increase involvement in decision-making). 

5 Promote equality of 
opportunity and the 
elimination of 
discrimination 

Will the GMSF: 

 Foster good relations between different 
people? 

 Ensure equality of opportunity and equal 
access to facilities/infrastructure for all? 

 Ensure no discrimination based on 
‘protected characteristics’, as defined in 
the Equality Act 2010? 

 Ensure that the needs of different areas, 
(namely urban, suburban, urban fringe 
and rural) are equally addressed? 

Addressed by Salford Local Plan 
Sustainability Appraisal objectives 15 (To 
enhance economic inclusion), 19 (To improve 
community cohesion) and 20 (To increase 
involvement in decision-making). 

6 Support improved 
health and wellbeing of 
the population and 
reduce health inequalities 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Support healthier lifestyles and support 
improvements in determinants of health? 

 Reduce health inequalities within GM and 
with the rest of England? 

 Promote access to green space? 

Primarily addressed by objective 1 (to 
improve physical and mental health). 
Objective 18 (to improve the accessibility of 
facilities and opportunities) includes the 
accessibility of green spaces close to homes. 

7 Ensure access to and 
provision of appropriate 
social infrastructure15 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Ensure people are adequately served by 
key healthcare facilities, regardless of 
socio-economic status? 

Addressed by objective 18 (To improve the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities). 

                                            
15 In this instance social infrastructure is being used as a term to refer to schools, local healthcare services, playgrounds, public sports facilities, community 

buildings and land. 

P
age 386



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 55 

 

 Ensure sufficient access to educational 
facilities for all children? 

 Promote access to and provision of 
appropriate community social 
infrastructure including playgrounds and 
sports facilities? 

8 Support improved 
educational attainment 
and skill levels for all 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Improve education levels of children in 
the area, regardless of their background? 

 Improve educational and skill levels of 
the population of working age? 

Addressed by objective 16 (To improve the 
city’s knowledge base) 

9 Promote sustainable 
modes of transport 

Will the GMSF: 

 Reduce the need to travel and promote 
efficient patterns of movement? 

 Promote a safe and sustainable public 
transport network that reduces reliance 
on private motor vehicles? 

 Support the use of sustainable and active 
modes of transport? 

Addressed by objectives 8 (To minimise 
contributions to climate change) which 
includes reducing traffic levels and 
encouraging walking, cycling and public 
transport use, and 18 (To improve the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities) 

10 Improve air quality Will the GMSF: 

 Improve air quality within Greater 
Manchester, particularly in the 10 Air 
Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)? 

 

Addressed by objective 7 (To improve air 
quality). Objective 1 (To improve physical and 
mental health) also includes reducing 
exposure to pollutants. 

11 Conserve and 
enhance biodiversity, 
green infrastructure and 
geo-diversity assets 

Will the GMSF: 

 Provide opportunities to enhance new 
and existing wildlife and geological sites? 

 Avoid damage to or destruction of 
designated wildlife sites, habitats and 

Addressed by objectives 2 (To protect, 
enhance and restore biodiversity resources), 
3 (To protect, enhance and restore geological 
resources) and 
12 (To protect and enhance amenity) 

P
age 387



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 56 

 

species and protected and unique 
geological features? 

 Support and enhance existing 
multifunctional green infrastructure and / 
or contribute towards the creation of new 
multifunctional green infrastructure? 

 Ensure access to green infrastructure 
providing opportunities for recreation, 
amenity and tranquillity? 

 
Rather than an objective in its own right, the 
provision of multi functional green 
infrastructure would be encouraged by 
Salford’s Sustainability Appraisal as one way 
to address a number of objectives including 1 
(to improve physical and mental heath), 2 (to 
protect, enhance and restore biodiversity 
resources), 6 (minimise the risk and impacts 
of flooding), 7 (to improve air quality), 11 (to 
maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape), and 
18 (to improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities). 

12 Ensure communities, 
developments and 
infrastructure are resilient 
to the effects of expected 
climate change 

Will the GMSF: 

 Ensure that communities, existing and 
new developments and infrastructure 
systems are resilient to the predicted 
effects of climate change across GM? 

Resilience to a changing climate is addressed 
by a number of objectives in Salford 
sustainability Appraisal report including 
objective 1 (To improve physical and mental 
health) which includes minimising the 
potential negative health impacts of a 
changing climate. Objective 2 (To protect, 
enhance and restore biodiversity) which 
includes having regard to the impacts of 
climate change, Objective 6 (To minimise the 
risk and impacts of flooding). Objective 12 (To 
protect and enhance amenity) which includes 
mitigating the negative impacts of climate 
change on microclimates. Objective 13 (to 
maximise economic growth that can be 
sustained in the long-term) which includes 

P
age 388



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 57 

 

promoting security of energy supply and other 
resources,  

13 Reduce the risk of 
flooding to people and 
property 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Restrict the development of property in 
areas of flood risk? 

 Ensure adequate measures are in place to 
manage existing flood risk? 

 Ensure that development does not 
increase flood risk due to increased run-off 
rates? 

 Ensure development is appropriately 
future proof to accommodate future levels 
of flood risk including from climate 
change? 

Addressed by objective 6, to minimise the risk 
and impacts of flooding. 

14 Protect and improve 
the quality and 
availability of water 
resources 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Encourage compliance with the Water 
Framework Directive? 

 Promote management practices that will 
protect water features from pollution? 

 Avoid consuming greater volumes of water 
resources than are available to maintain a 
healthy environment? 

Addressed by objective 5, To protect and 
enhance water resources. 

15 Increase energy 
efficiency, encourage 
low-carbon generation 
and reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions 
 

Will the GMSF: 

 Encourage reduction in energy use and 
increased energy efficiency? 

 Encourage the development of low carbon 
and renewable energy facilities, including 
as part of conventional developments? 

The issues considered under GM objective 15 
are addressed through objectives 8 (to 
minimise contributions to climate change) and 
9 (to minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources) of Salford’s sustainability 
appraisal. 

P
age 389



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 58 

 

 Promote a proactive reduction in direct 
and indirect greenhouse gas emissions 
emitted across GM? 

16 Conserve and/or 
enhance landscape, 
townscape, heritage 
assets and their setting 
and the character of GM 

Will the GMSF: 

 Improve landscape quality and the 
character of open spaces and the public 
realm? 

 Conserve and enhance the historic 
environment, heritage assets and their 
setting? 

 Respect, maintain and strengthen local 
character and distinctiveness? 

The issues considered under GM objective 16 
are addressed by Salford’s objectives 10 (to 
protect, enhance and enable the appreciation 
of the city’s heritage) and 11 (to maintain and 
enhance the quality and character of 
landscape and townscape). 

17 Ensure that land 
resources are 
allocated and used in an 
efficient and sustainable 
manner to meet the 
housing and employment 
needs of GM, whilst 
reducing land 
contamination 

Will the GMSF: 

 Support the development of previously 
developed land and other sustainable 
locations? 

 Protect the best and most versatile 
agricultural land / soil resources from 
inappropriate development? 

 Encourage the redevelopment of derelict 
land, properties, buildings and 
infrastructure, returning them to 
appropriate uses? 

 Support reductions in land contamination 
through the remediation and reuse of 
previously developed land? 

Addressed by Salford’s objectives 4 (to 
protect and improve soil and land resources) 
and 9 (to minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources). 

18 Promote sustainable 
consumption of 
resources and support 

Will the GMSF: 

 Support the sustainable use of physical 
resources? 

Addressed by Salford’s objective 9 (to 
minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources). 

P
age 390



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 59 

 

the implementation of the 
waste hierarchy 

 Promote movement up the waste 
hierarchy? 

 Promote reduced waste generation rates? 

 

P
age 391



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 60 

 

 
Compatibility of the sustainability objectives and the Local Plan 
objectives 
 
5.14 In addition to assessing the internal compatibility of the sustainability 

objectives, the compatibility of the Local Plan objectives with them has 
also been assessed. This is important in terms of ensuring that the 
overall strategic direction of the Local Plan is sustainable, before there 
is any specific consideration of individual policies or proposals. 

 
5.15 The following strategic objectives have been identified in the Revised 

Draft Local Plan and are be central to the achievement of the plan’s 
spatial vision, and will provide the basis for the plan’s monitoring 
framework. The policies and proposals of the plan are designed to 
support the achievement of these objectives. 
 
1) To support high levels of economic growth in Salford and 

Greater Manchester 
 

2) To significantly increase the unique economic competitive 
advantages of Salford and Greater Manchester 
 

3) To enable all residents to share in the benefits of economic 
growth 
 

4) To support improvements in the average health of residents and 
reduce health inequalities 
 

5) To enable more households to access suitable and affordable 
housing 

 
6) To support regeneration and the efficient use of land 

 
7) To enable the provision of facilities and services to support new 

developments and existing communities 
 

8) To enhance the network of green infrastructure across Salford 
and protect important green spaces 
 

9) To support a net gain in Salford’s biodiversity 
 

10) To minimise contributions to, and risks from, climate change 
 

11) To significantly enhance accessibility and reduce congestion 
 

12) To deliver high quality development that makes a positive 
contribution to the character and identity of Salford and its 
neighbourhoods 
 
 

Page 392



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 61 

 

 
5.16 Many of the issues of compatibility between the Local Plan and 

sustainability objectives are similar to those relating to the internal 
compatibility of the sustainability objectives discussed above. Once 
again, there is not considered to be any inherent incompatibility 
between the various objectives, but the extent to which the delivery of 
the Local Plan objectives supports or works against the achievement of 
the sustainability objectives will be heavily dependent on the individual 
policies and proposals contained in the Local Plan, and particularly the 
level of mitigation related to development proposals. The main issues 
of compatibility are discussed below in relation to each Local Plan 
objective.  

 
 

1) To support high levels of economic growth in Salford and 
Greater Manchester 
 

5.17 Local Plan objective 1 could have a positive relationship with a number 
of sustainability objectives given the opportunities presented by 
increased levels of investment coming into the city. However, the 
benefits to local people will be heavily dependent on the precise nature 
of that growth and how it is accommodated within the city. There is also 
the potential for significant negative impacts against some of the 
sustainability objectives if high levels of growth are planned without full 
consideration of wider impacts, including those linked to increases in 
local traffic generation. Much will therefore depend on the 
implementation of specific schemes, the proper consideration of issues 
relating to development type, location and design, and the provision of 
appropriate mitigation measures including improvements to transport, 
communications and community infrastructure. 
 

5.18 The objective is directly linked to sustainability objective 14 (to 
maximise economic growth that can be sustained in the long-term). 
The achievement of this objective would also be expected to make a 
significant positive contribution to sustainability objectives 15 (to 
enhance economic inclusion) and 18 (to improve the accessibility of 
facilities and opportunities), however this is largely dependent on the 
accessibility of the additional jobs to local people in terms of type, 
location, transport and skill requirements. The Local Plan objective is 
also closely tied to sustainability objectives 1 (to improve physical and 
mental health), 16 (to improve the city’s knowledge base), and 21 (to 
improve perceptions of the city). 

 
2) To significantly increase the unique economic competitive 

advantages of Salford and Greater Manchester 
 

5.19 Local Plan objective 2 also has a direct positive relationship with 
sustainability objectives 14 (to maximise economic growth that can be 
sustained in the long term) and 21 (to improve perceptions of the city). 
Similar to the discussion above in relation to Local Plan strategic 

Page 393



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 62 

 

objective 1 much will however depend on exactly how these unique 
economic advantages are exploited and unless safeguards are put in 
place, the achievement of this objective could have negative impacts 
on a number of sustainability objectives including 2 (to protect, 
enhance and restore biodiversity resources), 4 (to protect and improve 
soil and land resources), 5 (to protect and enhance water resources), 7 
(to improve air quality) and 8 (to minimise contributions to climate 
change). 
 

3) To enable all residents to share in the benefits of economic 
growth 

 
5.20 Local Plan strategic objective 3 has a strong positive relationship with 

sustainability objective 15 (to enhance economic inclusion) and has an 
indirect positive relationship with objectives 1 (to improve physical and 
mental health), 12 (to protect and enhance amenity), 13 (to reduce 
crime and the fear of crime), 17 (to ensure everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs), 18 (to improve the accessibility of 
facilities and opportunities), and 21 (to improve perceptions of the city). 

 
4) To support improvements in the average health of residents and 

reduce health inequalities 
 
5.21 Local Plan strategic objective 4 has a strong positive relationship with 

sustainability objective 1 (to improve physical and mental health). 
Measures to achieve this Local Plan objective would also be expected 
to contribute to sustainability objectives 7 (to improve air quality), 12 
(protect and enhance amenity), 15 (enhance economic inclusion), 17 
(to ensure that everyone has access to a good home that meets their 
needs), and 18 (to improve the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities). 

 
5) To enable more households to access suitable and affordable 

housing 
 
5.22 Local Plan strategic objective 5 is directly linked to sustainability 

objective 17 (to ensure that everyone has access to a good home that 
meets their needs). The strategic objective is also linked to 
sustainability objectives 1 (to improve physical and mental health), 12 
(to protect and enhance amenity), 15 (to enhance economic inclusion) 
and 18 (to improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities).  
 

6) To support regeneration and the efficient use of land 
 
5.23 Local Plan strategic objective 6 is wide reaching in its relationship with 

the sustainability objectives. As with other objectives, much will depend 
on the specifics of regeneration proposals and other development. 
However, with appropriate safeguards, supporting regeneration has the 
potential to perform positively against sustainability objectives 1 (To 
improve physical and mental health), 11 (to maintain and enhance the 

Page 394



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 63 

 

quality and character of landscape and townscape), 12 (to protect and 
enhance amenity), 13 (to reduce crime and the fear of crime), 14 (to 
maximise economic growth that can be sustained in the long-term), 15 
(to enhance economic inclusion), 17 (to ensure that everyone has 
access to a good home that meets their needs), 18 (to improve the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities), 19 (to improve community 
cohesion) and 21 (to improve perceptions of the city). 
 

5.24 The efficient use of land requires a valued judgement on the specifics 
of the land in question and the use proposed. However in principle 
support given in this regard would also be expected to have wide 
reaching positive impact relating to a reduced demand for more 
sensitive areas of land (including sustainability objectives 2, 3, 4, and 
9) and improvements to the accessibility of services and facilities by 
sustainable modes (including sustainability objectives 1, 7, 8, 9 and 18) 

 
7) To enable the provision of facilities and services to support new 

developments and existing communities 
 

5.25 Local Plan strategic objective 7 is directly linked to sustainability 
objective 18 (to improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities) 
and could also have positive benefits in terms of sustainability 
objectives 1 (to improve physical and mental health), 12 (to protect and 
enhance amenity), 17 (to ensure that everyone has access to a good 
home that meets their needs), and 19 (to improve community 
cohesion). 

 
8) To enhance the network of green infrastructure across Salford 

and protect important green spaces 
 

5.26 Given the multi-functional nature of green infrastructure and the range 
of issues that can make a green space important Local Plan strategic 
objective 8 contributes positively to many of the sustainability 
objectives. These could include 1 (to improve physical and mental 
health), 2 (to protect, enhance and restore biodiversity resources), 3 (to 
protect, enhance and restore geological resources), 4 (to protect and 
improve soil and land resources), 5 (to protect and enhance water 
resources), 6 (to minimise the risk and impacts of flooding), 7 (to 
improve air quality), 8 (to minimise contributions to climate change), 9 
(to minimise the use of non-renewable resources), 10 (to protect, 
enhance and enable the appreciation of, the city’s heritage), 11 (to 
maintain and enhance the quality and character of landscape and 
townscape), 12 (to protect and enhance amenity), 17 (to ensure that 
everyone has access to a good home that meets their needs), 18 (to 
improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities and 21 (to 
improve perceptions of the city). 

 
9) To support a net gain in Salford’s biodiversity 

 
 

Page 395



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 64 

 

5.27 Local Plan strategic objective 9 has a direct relationship with 
sustainability objective 2 (to protect, enhance and restore biodiversity 
resources). Measures to achieve this Local Plan objective could 
contribute positively to range of other sustainability objectives including 
4 (To protect and improve soil and land resources); 5 (to protect and 
enhance water resources); and 7 (to improve air quality). 

 
10) To minimise contributions to, and risks from, climate change 

 
5.28 The levels of growth anticipated over the plan period have the potential 

to increase contributions to climate change, although there is the 
potential for per capita reductions. Much will depend on the location 
and form of development that takes place. Local Plan strategic 
objective 10 is however directly tied to sustainability objective 8 (to 
minimise contributions to climate change). The minimisation of risks 
has a positive relationship with sustainability objectives 1 (to improve 
physical and mental health), 2 (to protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources),6 (minimise the risk and impacts of flooding) 
and 12 (to protect and enhance amenity). 

 
11) To significantly enhance accessibility and reduce congestion 

 
5.29 Local Plan strategic objective 11 has a positive relationship with many 

of the sustainability objectives given the associated benefits it can have 
in terms of promoting active forms of travel, access to services, 
facilities and employment, and the negative impacts congestion can 
have environmentally, economically and socially. 
 

5.30 The achievement of this objective would therefore be expected to have 
a positive impact on sustainability objectives 1 (to improve physical and 
mental health), 7 (improve air quality), 8 (to minimise contributions to 
climate change), 9 (to minimise the use of non renewable resources), 
12 (to protect and enhance amenity), 14 (to maximise economic growth 
that can be sustained in the long-term), 15 (to enhance economic 
inclusion), 17 (to ensure that everyone has access to a good home that 
meets their needs), 18 (to improve the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities), and 21 (to improve perceptions of the city). 
 
12) To deliver high quality development that makes a positive 

contribution to the character and identity of Salford and its 
neighbourhoods 

 
5.31 The achievement of this objective in its fullest sense requires the 

consideration of a wide range of issues and is relevant to all of the 
sustainability objectives.  
 

 
 

Page 396



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 65 

 

6. Appropriate Assessment 

 
Introduction 
 
6.1 The Habitats Directive (Council Directive 92/43/EEC) requires that a 

“habitats regulations assessment” is undertaken of land use plans such 
as the Local Plan to ensure that the integrity of nature conservation 
sites of European importance is protected. Such sites are known as 
Natura 2000 sites, and include special areas of conservation (SACs), 
candidate special areas of conservation (cSACs), Special Areas of 
Protection (SPAs), candidate special areas of protection (cSPAs), and 
offshore marine sites (OMSs). 

 
6.2 Government guidance identifies three stages for an appropriate 

assessment: 
 
1) screening, to determine whether the plan, in combination with 

other proposals, is likely to have a significant impact on any 
European site 

 
2) assessment, to determine the scale and nature of the impacts 

on the integrity of any European site 
 
3) mitigation, to determine whether alternative solutions are 

available, or, if not, how the impacts can be minimised. 
 
Screening for habitats regulations assessment 
 
6.3 In carrying out the screening process it is appropriate to consider the 

main possible sources of effects on the European sites arising from the 
plan, possible pathways to the European sites and the effects on 
possible sensitive receptors in the European sites. Only if there is an 
identifiable source, a pathway and a receptor is there likely to be a 
significant effect. 

 
6.4 Possible sources and pathways for effects arising from development on 

the identified sites and used in the screening of European sites are 
considered to be:  
 

 Water (water pollution and hydrology) 

 Air (air pollution) 

 Direct land-take 

 Habitat/Species Disturbance 

 Increased recreational pressure 
 

Page 397



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 66 

 

6.5 The Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU) undertook a habitats 
regulation assessment for the Core Strategy16, a similar city wide 
strategic plan previously progressed by the city council. Further 
screening on the Local Plan will take place however the results are 
likely to be similar to those for the Core Strategy where it was identified 
that there could be an impact on Manchester Mosses and Rixton Clay 
Pits17. A summary of the GMEU’s conclusions in respect of these two 
protected areas is provided below18, which can be used as an 
indication of the key matters to consider as part of the Local Plan 
process. 

 
Manchester Mosses special area of conservation 
 
6.6 Mossland formerly covered a very large part of low-lying Greater 

Manchester, Merseyside and southern Lancashire, and provided a 
severe obstacle to industrial and agricultural expansion. While most of 
the mossland has been converted to agriculture or lost to development, 
several examples have survived as degraded raised bog, such as 
Astley & Bedford Mosses (Wigan), Risley Moss (Warrington) and 
Holcroft Moss (Warrington) on the Mersey floodplain. These sites form 
part of the Chat Moss complex, parts of which lie within Salford itself. 

 
6.7 While past drainage has produced dominant purple moor grass 

(molinia caerulea), bracken (pteridium aquilinum) and birch (betula) 
spp. scrub or woodland, wetter pockets have enabled the peat-forming 
species to survive. Recent rehabilitation management on all three sites 
has caused these to spread.  

 
6.8 The Mosses are therefore designated a special area of conservation 

(SAC) due to the degraded bog habitat they support, which is still 
capable of natural regeneration and has the potential to be restored to 
active raised bog. The conservation objective for the Manchester 
Mosses SAC is therefore to maintain the bog habitat, subject to natural 
change, in favourable condition.  

 
6.9 In light of this objective, the types of operation that could damage the 

special interest of the SAC include: 
 

 cultivation 

 grazing 

 mowing or cutting 

 application of manure, fertilisers or lime 

 application of pesticides 

 burning 

                                            
16 Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (November 2011) Habitats Regulations Assessment of 
the Impact on European Protected Sites of Salford City Council’s Publication draft of the Core 
Strategy 
17 Ibid. Appendices 1 and 2 
18 Ibid. Chapters 4 and 5 

Page 398



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 67 

 

 drainage, both within and outside the boundaries of the site 

 extraction of minerals including peat, topsoil and subsoil 

 construction or removal of roads, tracks, walls, fences, hardstands, 
banks, ditches or other earthworks, or the laying or removal of 
pipelines and cables 

 erection of permanent structures 

 use of vehicles likely to damage the vegetation 

 pollution including atmospheric pollutants and NOxs 

 recreational activities 
(adapted from information available from Natural England) 

 
6.10 Of the operations listed above, GMEU considered the following to be 

the most important in relation to matters subject of the core strategy 
process: 

 

 drainage, both within and outside the boundaries of the site 

 extraction of minerals including peat, topsoil and subsoil 

 construction or removal of roads, tracks, walls, fences, hardstands, 
banks, ditches or other earthworks or the laying or removal of 
pipelines and cables 

 erection of permanent structures 

 use of vehicles likely to damage the vegetation 

 pollution including atmospheric pollutants and NOxs 

 recreational activities 
 
6.11 They went on to say that although the Manchester Mosses are not 

within Salford’s boundary, it is considered that some or all of the above 
impacts could result from the implementation of the core strategy 
because of the proximity of the European site to Salford and 
‘secondary’ impacts arising.  

 
6.12 It was therefore concluded that the core strategy could have the 

potential to have a significant impact on the Manchester Mosses SAC. 
Given the similarities in terms of strategic context and geographic 
extent it is likely that a similar conclusion would be drawn in respect of 
the Local Plan. A habitats regulations assessment will therefore form 
part of the sustainability appraisal process. 

 
Rixton Clay Pits special area of conservation 
 
6.13 The Rixton Clay pits are situated in the east of Warrington MBC east of 

Warrington town centre and comprise parts of a disused brickworks 
excavated in glacial boulder clay. The excavation has left a series of 
hollows, which have filled with water since workings ceased in the 
1960s, leading to a variety of pond sizes. New ponds have also been 
created more recently for wildlife and amenity purposes. Great crested 
newt triturus cristatus, a european protected species, are known to 
occur in at least 20 ponds across the site and the population density of 

Page 399



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 68 

 

the species on this site is very high. The site also supports species-rich 
grassland, scrub and mature secondary woodland. 

 
6.14 The conservation objective for this site is therefore to maintain the 

population of the designated species, great crested newt, in favourable 
condition. 

 
6.15 In respect of the potential impacts the implementation of the core 

strategy could have on the SAC, the GMEU identified that great crested 
newts rarely travel more than 500m from their breeding sites, and 
Natural England’s mitigation guidelines (2001) quotes up to 1.3km as 
the longest distance travelled. Rixton Clay Pits are more than 2km from 
the boundary of Salford.  

 
6.16 There are no direct hydrological connections between the SAC and any 

sites within Salford and, although publicly accessible, Rixton Clay Pits 
is regarded as a specialised local recreational resource and it was 
considered to be very unlikely that any increases in recreational activity 
arising from the plan would significantly affect the Clay Pits. It was also 
considered that, since the site lies to the west of Salford and prevailing 
wind directions are predominantly from the west and south west, the 
possibility of air pollution from Salford affecting the site was remote. In 
any case none of the habitats present at Rixton Clay pits were 
considered to be particularly susceptible to small changes in air 
pollution. Similar conclusions would be drawn in respect of the Local 
Plan. 

Page 400



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 69 

 

7. Sustainability Appraisal of Strategic Options 

 
7.1 This section provides a summary assessment of the Revised Draft 

Local Plan and 3 alternative options against each of the 21 
sustainability objectives. The full assessment is provided at appendix 5. 

 
7.2 A key requirement of the SA is to consider reasonable alternatives as 

part of the assessment process and these have been identified having 
regard to factors such as previous consultations, the evidence base, 
and the need to support and be consistent with other policies and 
proposals. 

 
7.3 The potential options that could be pursued in the Local Plan are 

limited by the need to be consistent with the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. There are two areas where this is perhaps most 
significant, namely in respect of the dwelling requirement and the 
definition of Green Belt boundaries. 

 
7.4 Through the GMSF process net dwelling requirements have been 

identified for, and agreed by, each of the ten Greater Manchester local 
authorities. The Local Plan must therefore seek to deliver this figure 
and there is only considered to be one option for the Local Plan in this 
regard. The sustainability appraisal is however required to include a 
‘business as usual’ or  ‘no-plan’ option and therefore, despite this not 
being consistent with the GMSF, a continuation of the existing situation 
with a dwelling requirement informed by household projections is 
included as Option 1. 

 
7.5 The GMSF will also set Green Belt boundaries across Greater 

Manchester. All decisions relating to new development allocations 
within the Green Belt and the potential to bring new areas of land into 
the Green Belt will therefore be taken through this document rather 
than the Local Plan. Whilst the Local Plan makes reference to potential 
Green Belt changes, those references are provided for clarity and 
transparency and will be updated to reflect decisions taken through the 
GMSF. Options that would require changes to existing Green Belt 
boundaries are not therefore considered to be reasonable alternatives 
for the Local Plan and will instead be appraised through the Integrated 
Appraisal of the GMSF.  

 
7.6 The limitations described above apply to both Green Belt development 

allocations and the designation of new areas of Green Belt. Some of 
the areas of land proposed as new areas of Green Belt in Salford 
through the GMSF have however been suggested as development 
opportunities through the Local Plan process. Given that these areas of 
land are not currently designated as Green Belt, and whilst recognising 
that this raises issues of consistency with the GMSF, they have been 
included in a fourth option as described in further detail below. The 
sites proposed for development in this regard include the Brickworks 

Page 401



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 70 

 

SBI to the west of Burgess Farm and parts of the West Salford 
Greenway for residential development. With all of the above 
qualifications, these areas of land have also been assessed as an 
alternative to the Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations in Option 4.  
 

7.7 Land to the south of Logistics North has also been suggested for 
employment development however the site is part of the country park 
approved as part of the planning permission for Logistics North, and is 
also partially Green Belt, and has not therefore been included as part of 
an alternative strategic option.  

 
7.8 The four options assessed as part of the sustainability appraisal are set 

out below. The assessment does not appraise the merits or otherwise 
of the proposals being considered through the GMSF. It is however 
important to have regard to these proposals when considering the 
some of the impacts of the options on the various sustainability 
objectives. This is particularly the case in respect of the approach to 
industrial and warehousing development and the scale and mix of 
dwelling that will be provided.  

 
7.9 Option 1:  

 

 No Local Plan option  

 Retain existing UDP Policy Framework 

 Employment and housing supply focused on current opportunities, 
which would include high levels of office growth and apartment 
development in the City Centre and Salford Quays 

 Reliance on the Government’s Local Housing need methodology, 
using the 2014-based household projections to determine the city’s 
housing requirement (1,372 per annum or 26,068 over the period 
2018 – 2037) 

 Delivery of around 400,000sqm (21,052sqm per annum) of offices, 
significantly in excess of past development rates since 2002 
(16,093sqm per annum). 

 Delivery of around 245,000sqm (12,894sqm per annum) of industry 
and warehousing (in the absence of an extension to the permitted 
Port Salford), comparable with past rates since 2002 (13,642sqm 
per annum). 

 
7.10 Option 2: 

 

 Revised Draft Local Plan  

 The option would include sites which, alongside those being 
proposed in the GMSF, would deliver the higher housing 
requirement identified in the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (1,720 per annum or 32,680 over the period 2018-
2037). The additional housing growth taken under this option would 
be to satisfy the high demand from across Greater Manchester for 
apartments in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 

Page 402



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 71 

 

 Levels of economic development similar to Option 1 

 Development remains largely focused within the urban area with 
the addition of a small number of greenfield development 
opportunities in the west of the city in order to provide a wider mix 
of dwelling types than option 1.  

 Employment supply focused on current opportunities, which would 
include high levels of office growth in the city centre and Salford 
Quays.  

 
7.11 Option 3:  

 

 As Option 2 plus the release of additional greenfield sites (not 
proposed as Green Belt in the GMSF) and a number of existing 
employment areas for residential development 

 The option would include sites which, alongside those being 
proposed in the GMSF, would deliver the higher housing 
requirement identified in the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (1,720 per annum or 32,680 over the period 2018-
2037). The additional housing growth taken under this option would 
be to satisfy the high demand from across Greater Manchester for 
apartments in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 

 Higher levels of greenfield release for residential development 
would be pursued than in Option 2 however none of the sites 
proposed as Green Belt additions in the GMSF would be included.  

 Levels of new economic development would be similar to Option 1 
however a larger number of the city’s existing employment areas 
would be released for residential development which would reduce 
the supply of secondhand premises. 

 The two measures above would result in a higher proportion of new 
dwellings being provided in the western parts of the city and in the 
form of houses rather than apartments. The higher proportion of 
new dwellings delivered in higher value areas could potentially help 
to deliver more new affordable housing. 
 

7.12 Option 4: 
  

 As Option 3 with the additional release of a number of greenfield 
sites being proposed new Green Belt through the GMSF. 

 The option would include sites which, alongside those being 
proposed in the GMSF, would deliver the higher housing 
requirement identified in the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (1,720 per annum or 32,680 over the period 2018-
2037). The additional housing growth taken under this option would 
be to satisfy the high demand from across Greater Manchester for 
apartments in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 

 The additional greenfield opportunities, including the Brickworks 
SBI west of Burgess Farm and West Salford Greenway, would 
result in an even higher proportion of new dwellings being provided 
in the western parts of the city and in the form of houses rather 

Page 403



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 72 

 

than apartments. The higher proportion of new dwellings delivered 
in higher value areas could also help to deliver an even greater 
supply of affordable housing than under option 3. 

 Levels of new economic development would be similar to Option 1 
however a larger number of the city’s existing employment areas 
would be released for residential development which would reduce 
the supply of secondhand premises. 

 
7.13 Each option has been appraised against the 21 sustainability objectives 

having regard to the following issues: 
 

 The degree and type of impact, split by short term (0-5 years), 
medium term (5-10 years), and long-term (10+ years). These 
provide an overview, with the discussion that follows each table 
elaborating on the details. For some objectives this may include 
elements of the Local Plan that pull in different directions, or it 
may indicate that although the score is negative overall for 
Salford this would help to deliver a more positive score at a 
larger geographical scale (e.g. by focusing development in 
accessible locations within Salford this may result in more 
greenhouse gas emissions overall from the city, but this is likely 
to be lower than if the development were located in less 
accessible places which would be the alternative option). The 
following codes have been used to illustrate the impact type: 

 

Impact code Impact type 

-- Major negative 

- Negative 

0 Neutral 

+ Positive 

++ Major Positive 

? Uncertain 

 

 The certainty of the impact, in terms of high, medium or low 
 

 The scale of the impact, which may be local (site/neighbourhood 
level), city (affecting most or all of Salford), sub-regional 
(affecting whole of Greater Manchester), national (affecting the 
country as a whole), or global (potentially affecting the whole 
world) 

 

 The permanence of the impact, which may be high (to a large 
extent irreversible), medium (reversible but likely to require 
specific interventions), or low (easily reversible) 

 

 Any key secondary, cumulative and/or synergistic impacts, 
although the overall scores and text generally pick up the 
interconnectedness of the different sustainability objectives and 
the different proposals within each option 

Page 404



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 73 

 

 

 Any additional opportunities for mitigation beyond those already 
identified within the plan. 

 
7.14 Potential differences between the strategic options relate to the 

quantum and distribution of development that would be identified and 
also the policy framework that would be in place.   

 
Summary of sustainability impacts 
 
7.15 The four strategic options provide four different approaches to 

delivering a successful Salford, and as a result each has its own 
distinctive sustainability implications. The Revised Draft Local Plan 
presents an updated vision for the city, however many of the 
aspirations and proposals outlined are already being progressed. 
Therefore, at this strategic level, many of the summary scores in the 
table below how little or no differences between the four strategic 
options, although the detailed assessment in appendix 5 does highlight 
differences that are important but are often not enough to change the 
overall impact of the option from being minor to major. 

 
7.16 As described above, the sustainability appraisal of the strategic options 

looks at the short, medium and long term implications of the option 
against the 21 sustainability objectives. The table below summarises 
the long term scores (10+) years as the Local Plan will be looking over 
a 20 year horizon and beyond.   

 
Table 6: Comparative assessment of Local Plan strategic options 

Objective Option 1 
(No Plan) 

Option 2 
(Revised 

Draft Local 
Plan) 

Option 3 Option 4 

1) To improve physical and 
mental health 

0/+ ++ +/++ + 

2) To protect, enhance and 
restore biodiversity 
resources 

+ + ?/+ ?/-- 

3) To protect, enhance and 
restore geological resources 

0 0 0 0 

4) To protect and improve 
soil and land resources 

0 0/- - -/-- 

5) To protect and enhance 
water resources 

0/+ 0/+ 0/+ -/+ 

6) To minimise the risk and 
impacts of flooding 

?/+ ?/+ ?/+ ?/+ 

7) To improve air quality - - - - 
8) To minimise contributions 
to climate change 

- - - - 

Page 405



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 74 

 

Objective Option 1 
(No Plan) 

Option 2 
(Revised 

Draft Local 
Plan) 

Option 3 Option 4 

9) To minimise the use of 
non-renewable resources 

- -/-- -- -- 

10) To protect, enhance, and 
enable the appreciation of, 
the city’s heritage 

+ ?/+ ?/+ -/-- 

11) To maintain and enhance 
the quality and character of 
landscape and townscape 

++ ++ ++ --/++ 

12) To protect and enhance 
amenity 

-/+ -/+ --/+ --/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the 
fear of crime 

+ + + + 

14) To maximise economic 
growth that can be sustained 
in the long-term 

+/++ ++ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic 
inclusion 

++ ++ +/++ +/++ 

16) To improve the city’s 
knowledge base 

+ +/++ +/++ +/++ 

17) To ensure that everyone 
has access to a good home 
that meets their needs 

+ +/++ +/++ ++ 

18) To improve accessibility 
to facilities and opportunities 

+ + + -/+ 

19) To improve community 
cohesion 

0 + + -/+ 

20) To increase involvement 
in decision-making 

0 ? ? ? 

21) To improve perceptions 
of the city 

++ ++ ++ -/++ 

 
 
7.17 As discussed above Option 1 is inconsistent with the GMSF and would 

not therefore be considered a reasonable option. Nevertheless, the 
lower levels of development identified and the focus on the urban area 
does limit dome of the negative impacts identified against the other 
options. Some of these relative benefits could however be reduced is 
demand was diverted to more peripheral locations. Further, if a lower 
overall level of development was to be taken forward it is likely that a 
higher reliance of greenfield sites in the west of the city than assumed 
under Option 1 in order to deliver a mix. This would also reduce some 
of the relative benefits identified. 

 
7.18 Given the similar levels of development that would be pursued, options 

2, 3 and 4 score similarly against a number of the sustainability 

Page 406



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 75 

 

appraisal objectives. Whilst all three include some greenfield sites in 
the west of the city it is the higher number in options 3 and to a greater 
extent 4, along with a number of existing employment areas that are 
primarily responsible for the different ratings. The greater focus on 
these types of sites produces more negative impacts from an 
environmental perspective, this includes the loss of recreation 
opportunities and a reduced potential for sustainable transport options 
to be utilised than under Option 2. In particular, the proposed 
development of an existing Site of Biological Importance and parts of 
the Worsley Greenway result in negative impacts from Option 4. 
Options 3 and 4 also score more poorly against the economic inclusion 
objective as a result of the loss of local employment areas which can 
be an important source of second hand premises, more affordable 
development opportunities, and accessible jobs. As a result however 
Options 3, and to a greater extent 4, would however allow for a wider 
variety of dwellings in the city. These additions, and their potential 
benefits, need to considered in light of the proposed housing 
allocations being considered through the GMSF.  

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 407



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 76 

 

8.  Sustainability Appraisal of Site Allocation Options 

 
8.1 The sites proposed as housing and employment allocations in the 

Revised Draft Local Plan have been appraised against the 
sustainability appraisal framework. The appraisal has also considered 
other sites considered to be reasonable alternatives to the allocations 
identified. The only sites appraised as alternatives at this stage relate 
to sites suggested for development within the West Salford Greenway 
and the Brickworks SBI west of Burgess Farm in Walkden. As detailed 
in the previous section, these sites are being considered as additions to 
the Green Belt through the GMSF and it is therefore questionable 
whether they should be included here rather than in the list of sites not 
considered to be alternatives as discussed in the paragraph below.  
 

8.2 In determining what represents a reasonable alternative, sites which 
fall into the following categories have not been considered to be 
potential allocations and therefore have not been appraised:  

 

 Sites in the Green Belt as potential boundary changes are being 
considered through the GMSF 

 Sites with planning permission 

 Previously developed sites identified as being suitable for the 
brownfield register 

 Sites on which the suggested use is already established and/or the 
site specific allocation would not provide any greater certainty 

 Sites which may be required for education use 

 Sites where there is currently no indication from the landowner that 
the site will be brought forward for development/redevelopment or 
that the existing occupier is intending to move.  

 Sites with significant constraints that it is not considered can be 
overcome (e.g. flood risk, hazardous installation notification zone) 

 Sites which are considered inappropriate for development for other 
reasons 
 

8.3 Table 7 below identifies those sites that have been appraised through 
this sustainability appraisal. A full list of sites that are not considered 
reasonable alternatives for allocations in the Revised Draft Local Plan, 
and have therefore not be appraised in detail as part of this 
sustainability appraisal, is provided in Appendix 7.   

  

Page 408



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 77 

 

 
Table 7: sites appraised in this sustainability appraisal 

Revised Draft 
Local Plan 
reference 

Site Suggestion 
reference 

Reason for 
appraising  

Revised Draft Local Plan allocations  

(full appraisals in Appendix 6) 

A6 – Sustainable 
Movement of 
Freight 

EC003 – Land at 
Caledonian Drive/ Irwell 
Park Wharf 

Wharf allocation 

 

H12/1 Land off 
Duchy Road 

 

ES011 Duchy Road 
Gypsy and 
travellers site 
allocation 

CT3 Land around 
AJ Bell Stadium 

IC020 Land at Salford 
City Stadium 

Mixed use 
allocation 

E5/1 Port Salford IC019 Port Salford Not appraised, site 
has planning 
permission for the 
Port Facility 
proposed. 

EC5/2 Salford 
Innovation Park 

- Innovation Park 
allocation 

H9/1 Land west of 
Hayes Road, 
Cadishead 

IC002 Hayes Road 

 

Residential 
allocation 

H9/2 Castle Irwell ES016 Castle Irwell Residential 
allocation 

H9/3 Land east of 
Langley Road 

ES012 Hercules 

ES013 Langley Road 

ES014 East of Langley 
Road 

Residential 
allocation 

H9/4 Brackley Golf 
Course 

LW031 Brackley golf 
course 

Residential 
allocation 

H9/5 Land at 
Ladywell Avenue 

LW012 Ladywell 
Avenue 

Residential 
allocation 

H9/6 Land west of 
Burgess Farm 

LW022 Burgess Farm 
(element allocated by 
H9/6) 

Residential 
allocation 

H9/7 Land west of 
Kenyon Way 

- Residential 
allocation 

H9/8 Orchard 
Street 

- Residential 
allocation 

Page 409



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 78 

 

H9/9 Land south of 
St. Augustine’s 
Church 

SW016 Land south of 
St Augustine’s Church 

Residential 
allocation 

H9/10 Land south 
of Hill Top Road 

LW015 Hill Top Road Residential 
allocation 

H9/11 Land south 
of Moss Lane 

LW19 Safety Systems Residential 
allocation 

H9/12 Land north of 
Lumber Lane 

WB015 Lumber Lane Residential 
allocation 

H9/13 Duncan 
Mathieson playing 
fields 

CW008 Duncan 
Mathieson 

Open space and 
residential 
allocation 

H9/14 Former 
Swinton Sewage 
Treatment Works 

SW001 Swinton 
Sewage Treatment 
Works 

Open space and 
residential 
allocation 

 
Reasonable alternatives not allocated in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan 
 
(full appraisals in appendix 8) 
 

Not allocated LW022 Burgess Farm 
(remainder of site 
outside of Revised 
Draft Local Plan 
allocation H9/6) 

Site suggested as a 
residential 
allocation 

Not allocated WB001 Broadoak North Site suggested as a 
residential 
allocation 

Not allocated WB002 Broadoak 
South 

Site suggested as a 
residential 
allocation 

Not allocated WB003 Land at 
Beesley Green 

Site suggested as a 
residential 
allocation 

Not allocated WB004 Land at 
Crossfield Drive 

Site suggested as a 
residential 
allocation 

  

8.4 Each of the above sites has been assessed against the 21 
sustainability objectives and individual reports are provided in 
appendices 7 and 8. The site appraisals have been completed having 
regard to the site assessments undertaken during earlier stages of the 
Local Plan process (available on the Local Plan section of the city 
council’s website)19, other available information and officer knowledge. 
The site sustainability appraisal reports therefore only provide a 

                                            
19 www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-policies/local-planning-
policy/salfords-development-plan/salford-local-plan/ 

Page 410



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 79 

 

summary of the issues in relation to each site, rather than seeking to 
repeat, in full, the information held in any earlier assessments.

Page 411



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 80 

 

9.  Sustainability Appraisal of Policy Options 

 
9.1 In addition to the sites proposed as allocations within the Revised Draft 

Local Plan, the other policies proposed for inclusion within the Revised 
Draft Local Plan have also been appraised through the sustainability 
appraisal framework. 

 
9.2 A ‘business as usual’ or ‘no plan’ option for the relevant policy area has 

also been appraised. This no plan option is primarily informed by the 
Saved Policies of the Salford Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework but reference is also made to a 
number of other policy and guidance documents. As this option is a 
continuation of the existing situation, the policies of the emerging 
GMSF are not included. 

 
9.3 Other reasonable alternatives to the policy approach proposed in the 

Revised Draft Local Plan have also been appraised. These alternatives 
have been identified having regard to options considered through the 
process of policy development and comments received during earlier 
consultations. 

 
9.4 The sustainability appraisal was undertaken prior to the finalisation of 

the Revised Draft Local Plan for formal approval and consultation. The 
process of sustainability appraisal therefore provided a further 
opportunity to shape the document and specifically the wording of the 
policies included. The detailed appraisal of policies in Appendix 9 
identifies potential mitigation measures along with a brief explanation 
as to how those measures have influenced the wording of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 412



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 81 

 

 

10. Implementation 

 
10.1 The sustainability impacts of the Local Plan, both positive and negative, 

will depend very much on how it is implemented as well as on the 
contents of the document itself. The above analysis highlights a 
number of different issues that need to be carefully considered when 
implementing the Local Plan, and this will need to be done not only 
through the development management process but also through other 
plans and strategies, the investment decisions of a range of 
organisations and ‘non-planning’ processes. 

 
10.2 Some examples of the key implementation issues are listed below: 
 

 Need to ensure that new employment development furthers 
economic inclusion objectives as far as possible, and this will 
include improvements in the accessibility of jobs including both 
skills and transport.  

 

 In order to maximise the benefits and minimise the negatives, a 
comprehensive and coordinated approach to development will 
be key. Masterplans and regeneration frameworks will be 
essential, but equally important will be the process for producing 
them and consulting on associated planning applications in 
order to ensure that the objectives relating to community 
involvement and cohesion are also fully supported. 
 

 The scale of development anticipated is likely to put the city’s 
services and facilities under increasing pressure, schools and 
health services would be a particular concern. It will therefore be 
critical that the Local Plan sets a positive over-arching strategy 
in this regard and the capacity of local services/facilities is fully 
considered as part of larger development proposals and master-
planning exercises, which could include additional provision on 
site.   

 

 Need to ensure the careful design of development to maximise 
the benefits for a wide range of sustainability objectives and 
minimise the negatives. The cumulative impact of individual 
developments will be enormous given the scale of activity 
proposed, and therefore the development management of 
individual applications will be very important.  

 

 Need to carefully manage activity within Chat Moss in order to 
maximise the benefits for potentially conflicting objectives 
around environmental protection and access to opportunities. It 
is the detailed implementation of the approach that will be 
fundamental to reconciling these various objectives, working to 

Page 413



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 82 

 

influence the activities of individual landowners that could affect 
soil quality, hydrology and the ability to restore lowland bog 
habitat, and to manage public access in a positive way that 
supports recreation use but does not compromise other 
objectives. 

 

 Need to ensure a coordinated approach at the catchment level 
to improving water quality and minimising flood risk. This will 
involve close working with other local authorities, the 
Environment Agency and United Utilities through catchment 
management plans, as many of the activities required to improve 
conditions within Salford will need to take place outside the city, 
for example in terms of flood mitigation measures upstream and 
the improvement of sewage treatment works that overflow into 
Salford’s watercourses such as the Manchester Ship Canal. 

 

 Need to enable the provision of waste transfer stations, 
aggregate recycling depots etc, in/near areas of major change, 
in order to help minimise the use of non-renewable resources 
and minimise air pollution associated with transport waste 
materials. A very significant scale of new development and 
redevelopment of existing built areas is proposed within Salford, 
and this has the potential to generate large amounts of 
construction and demolition waste. It will be important to work 
with developers to enable the provision of temporary 
treatment/transfer sites, and to secure effective site waste 
management plans. This will need to be supported by 
masterplans, development frameworks, and individual planning 
applications. 

 

 The protection, enhancement, expansion and well-planned 
integration of the city’s network of green infrastructure as part of 
new development has a highly significant positive role to play in 
meeting a range of sustainability objectives. This will be key 
issue for the future master-planning of major areas of growth. 

 
10.3 The above is not intended to be comprehensive, but pulls together 

some of the main messages stemming out of the appraisal of the four 
strategic options and site appraisals. Other formal and informal 
planning documents will be important to ensuring that the 
implementation of the Local Plan furthers the sustainability objectives 
as much as possible. In terms of major development locations, area-
based development frameworks and masterplans will have a critical 
role in co-ordinating both development and the investment programmes 
of various organisations, including in terms of schools, health facilities, 
transport infrastructure, and utilities. 

 
 

Page 414



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Main Report - Page 83 

 

11. Monitoring 

 
 
11.1 Chapter 5 of this report sets out the sustainability appraisal framework 

for the Core Strategy, and this includes 35 headline indicators that will 
be used for monitoring purposes. These are as follows: 

 
i) Direct standardised mortality rate (all causes) 
ii) Life expectancy 
iii) Area of UK priority habitats by type 
iv) Area of locally designated sites 
v) Area of designated geological sites 
vi) Proportion of waterways classified of “moderate” or better 
vii) Number of dwellings at risk of flooding more often than once 

every 100 years 
viii) Area of the city that complies with national air quality standards 
ix) Carbon dioxide emissions per capita 
x) Renewable energy capacity 
xi) Total amount of waste per capita 
xii) Annual recycling and composting rate 
xiii) Net change in the number of nationally designated heritage 

assets 
xiv) Number of noise complaints 
xv) Number of light pollution complaints 
xvi) Incidences of crime per 1,000 population 
xvii) Number of jobs 
xviii) Number of active enterprises 
xix) Unemployment rate 
xxi) Mean pay levels 
xxii) Proportion of pupils remaining in full-time education beyond the 

age of 16 
xxiii) Proportion of pupils achieving GCSE 9-4 English and maths 

(standard pass) 
xxiv) Number of households in identified housing need 
xxv) Number of non-decent homes 
xxvi) Net additions as a proportion of identified housing requirement 
xxvii) Proportion of households within 30 minutes public transport time 

of a GP, hospital, primary and secondary school, areas of 
employment, major retail centres, and a range of outdoor 
recreation facilities 

xxviii) Number of tourism visits to key attractions within the city 
 
11.2 These indicators will be monitored on an annual basis, they are 

headline indicators, and therefore it will be important to collect 
information in relation to other environmental, social and economic 
indicators, which will be reported in annual monitoring reports and other 
research reports that the city council may produce. The indicators will 
be kept under review and revisions may be made to existing indicators 
or new indicators introduced to reflect the availability of data. 

Page 415



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 1 

APPENDIX 1  
 
Complete list of plans, policies and programmes 
reviewed 
 
Organisation Date Title 

 
International 

United Nations 2015 Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for 
Sustainable Development 

United Nations 
 

2002 Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable 
Development 

United Nations 1999 The Kyoto Protocol on Climate Change. 

UNCED 1992 Rio Declaration on Environment and 
Development 
 

UNESCO 1972 General Conference of UNESCO 

Ramsar Convention 1971 The Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of 
International Importance especially as 
Waterfowl Habitat  

European  

European Commission 2013 The 7th Environment Action Programme – The 
General Union Environment Action 
Programme to 2020 – Living well within the 
limits of our planet  

European commission  
 

2012 Council Directive 2012/18/EC on the Control of 
Major-Accident Hazards involving Dangerous 
Substances 

European Commission 2011 European Energy Efficiency Plan 2011 

European Commission 2011 Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU 
biodiversity strategy to 2020 

European Commission 2011 European Transport White Paper 2011 

European Commission 2009 European Conservation of Wild Birds Directive 
(2009/147/EC) 

European Commission 2008 European Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC) 

European Commission 2008 Directive 2008/98/EC on waste (Waste 
Framework Directive) 
 

European Commission 2007 European Flood Risk Directive 2007 

European Commission 2006 Mining Waste Directive 2006/21/EC 

European Commission 2006 European Sustainable development Strategy 
(DOC 10917/06) 

European Commission 2004 European Landscape Convention 

European Commission 2002 EC Water Framework Directive. 

Page 417



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 2 

European Commission 2002 Guiding Principles for Sustainable Spatial 
Development of the European Continent. 

European Commission 2002 EU Sixth Environmental Action Plan 
Environment 2010: Our Future Our Choice 

European Commission 2002 EC Directive 2002/91/EC – Energy 
Performance of Buildings 

European Commission 2001 A Sustainable Europe for a Better World. A 
European Union Strategy for Sustainable 
Development. 

European Commission 2001 A Sustainable Europe for a Better World: A 
European Union Strategy for Sustainable 
Development (COM[2001]264 final)   

European Commission 2001 EC Directive 2001/77/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 27 September 
2001 on the promotion of electricity from 
renewable energy sources in the internal 
electricity market 

European Commission 2000 The Water Framework Directive 2000 

European Commission 2000 EC Noise Directive 2004/14/EC. 

European Commission 1999 EC Council Directive 1999/31/EC, on the 
landfill of waste  

European Commission  
 

1999 The European Spatial Development 
Perspective: Towards balanced and 
sustainable development of the territory of the 
European Union. 

European Commission 1997 Energy for the future - renewable sources of 
energy: White Paper for a Community Strategy 
and Action Plan (COM(97)599 final) 

European Commission 1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive 

European Commission 1996 EC Air Quality Framework Directive 
(96/62/EC) 
 

European Commission 1995 The European Convention on the Protection of 
Archaeological Heritage (Valetta Convention) 
 

European Commission 1992 EC Council Directive 92/43/EEC, on the 
Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild 
Fauna and Flora. 

European Commission 1987 The Convention for the Protection of the 
Architectural Heritage of Europe (Granada 
Convention)  

European Commission 1985 EC Council Directive 85/337/EEC & 97/11/EC, 
on the Assessment of the Effects of certain 
Public and Private Projects on the 
Environment 

Page 418



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 3 

 
National (HM Government) 

HM Government  2018 25 Year Environment Plan  

HM Government 2018 Clean Growth Strategy 

HM Government 2017 Building a Britain Fit for the Future – UK 
Industrial Strategy 

HM Government  2016 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

HM Government 2015 Long Term Economic Plan for the North West 

HM Government  2015 The Planning (Hazardous Substances) 
Regulations 2015 
 

HM Government 2015 Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 

HM Government 2015 Written Statement: Column 43WS – 2 March 
2015 

HM Government 2015 Written Statement – HCWS488 – 25 March 
2015 
 

HM Government 2014 House of Commons: Written Statement 
(HCWS161) Sustainable Drainage Systems 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Policy for Waste 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Policy Guidance (viewed 
June 2018) 

HM Government 2013 Government Forestry and Woodlands Policy 
Statement 

HM Government 2013 Waste Management Plan for England 

HM Government 2013 Driving the Future Today – A strategy for ultra 
low emission vehicles in the UK 

HM Government 2012 Caring for our future: reforming care and 
support – White Paper summary 
 

HM Government 2012 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2012 Planning for traveller sites 

HM Government 2012 Guidance for local planning authorities on 
implementing planning requirements of the 
European Union Waste Framework Directive 
(2008/98/EC) 

HM Government 2012 High Streets at the Heart of our Communities:  
the Government's Response to the Mary 
Portas Review 
 

HM Government 2012 Crowded Places: The Planning System and 
Counter Terrorism 

HM Government 2012 Health and Social Care Act 2012 

Page 419



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 4 

HM Government 2012 UK Post 2010 Bio-diversity Framework 

HM Government 2012 The future of heating: a strategic framework for 
low carbon heat in the UK 
 

HM Government 2012 Gas Generation Strategy 
 

HM Government 2012 National Policy Statement for Ports 
 

HM Government 2011 Localism Act 

HM Government 2011 Strategic Rail Freight Interchange Policy 
Guidance 
 

HM Government 2011 Policy Statement: Planning for Schools 
Development 
 

HM Government 2011 Biodiversity 2020 - A strategy for England’s 
wildlife and ecosystem services 

HM Government 2011 Renewable Energy Roadmap 

HM Government 2011 Climate Resilient Infrastructure: preparing for a 
Changing Climate 

HM Government 2011 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 

HM Government 2011 The Natural Choice: securing the value of 
nature 

HM Government 2011 Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy 
for England 

HM Government 2011 Enabling the Transition to a Green Economy 

HM Government  2011 The Carbon Plan: Delivering our Low Carbon 
Future 

HM Government 2011 Planning for Growth: Ministerial Statement 

HM Government 2011 Water for Life 

HM Government 2011 Plan for Growth 

HM Government 2011 Healthy Lives, Healthy People 

HM Government 2010 Noise Policy Statement for England 

HM Government 2010 Confident Communities, Brighter Futures 
Framework 

HM Government 2010 The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations (the Habitats Regulations) as 
amended by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species (Amendment) Regulations 2012 

HM Government 2010 Flood Water Management Act 
 

HM Government 2010 Britain’s Superfast Broadband Future 
 

HM Government 2010 The path to strong, sustainable and balanced 
growth. 

Page 420



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 5 

HM Government 2010 Local growth: realising every place’s potential 
(Local Growth White Paper). 

HM Government 2009 UK Renewable Energy Strategy 

HM Government 2009 The UK low Carbon Transition Plan – National 
Strategy for Climate and Energy 

HM Government 2009 Safeguarding our Soils – A Strategy for 
England 

HM Government 2009 Digital Britain – Final Report 
 

HM Government 2008 The Play Strategy for England 

HM Government 2008 Lifetime homes, lifetime neighbourhoods – A 
national strategy for housing in an ageing 
society 

HM Government 2008 A Passion for Excellence – An Improvement 
Strategy for Media and Sport 
 

HM Government 2008 The Climate Change Act 2008 

HM Government 2007  
 

Heritage for the 21st Century – White Paper. 

HM Government 2007 Manual for Streets. 

HM Government 2007 Air Quality Strategy for England Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland 

HM Government 2007 Guidance for Local Authorities on 
Implementing the Biodiversity Duty 

HM Government 2007 A Strategy for England’s Trees, Woods and 
Forests 

HM Government 2007 Meeting the Energy Challenge: A White Paper 
on Energy 

HM Government 2006 The Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 

HM Government 2006 The Energy Challenge: Energy Review   

HM Government 2006 Our Energy Challenge: Power from the people.  

HM Government 2006 Microgeneration Strategy.    

HM Government 2006 River Basin Planning Guidance 

HM Government 2006 The UK Climate Change Programme – 
Review. 

HM Government 2005 How to create quality parks and open spaces 

HM Government 2005 Sustainable Communities: People, Places and 
Prosperity. 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future - UK Government 
sustainable development strategy. 

HM Government 2005 Biomass Task Force, A Report to Government.  

HM Government 2004 The Future of Transport White Paper 2004: A 
network for 2030 

HM Government 2004 Housing Act 

Page 421



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 6 

HM Government 2003 Sustainable Communities: Building for the 
Future 

HM Government 2003 The Water Environment (Water Framework 
Directive)(England and Wales) Regulations 

HM Government 2000 Rural White Paper: Our Countryside: The 
Future - A Fair Deal for Rural England. 

HM Government 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance. 

HM Government 1997 The Hedgerows Regulations 

HM Government 1995 Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 

HM Government 1994 The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) 
Regulations (as amended by the Conservation 
(Natural Habitats, &c) (Amendment) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2006 (Habitats 
Regulations)) 

HM Government  1991 Water Resources Act 1991 

HM Government 2000 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

HM Government 1990 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

HM Government 1990 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 

HM Government 1981 The Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981 

HM Government 1974 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 

HM Government 1908 Small Holdings and Allotments Act 

 
National (other organisations) 

DEFRA 2018 UK Plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations 

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
Local Authorities 
 

National Housing 
Federation, Tetlow King 
Planning, McCarthy & 
Stone, Contact 
Consulting and the 
Housing LIN 

2012 Housing in later life: Planning ahead for 
specialist housing for older people 
 

Environment Agency 2011 Understanding the risks, understanding 
communities and building resilience – the 
national flood and coastal erosion risk 
management strategy for England 

The Woodland Trust 2010 Space for People: Targeting Action for 
Woodland Access. 

Page 422



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 7 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

Electricity Networks 
Strategy Group 

2009 Our Electricity Transmission Network: A Vision 
for 2020 

CABE 2007 Guidance on Tall Buildings 

Countryside Agency 
English Heritage, 
English Nature and the 
Environment Agency  

2005 Environmental Quality in Spatial Planning. 

English Nature 2003 Providing Accessible Natural Greenspace in 
Towns and Cities 

National Playing Fields 
Association 

2001 The Six Acre Standard 

 

Regional 

Environment Agency 2009 Irwell Catchment Flood Management Plan 
(Summary Report)  
 

Environment Agency 2009 Mersey Estuary Catchment Flood 
Management Plan (Summary Report)  

North West Forestry 
Partnership 

2005 The Agenda for Growth - The Regional 
Forestry Framework for England’s North West 

English Heritage 2005 Streets for all (North West) 

North West Freight 
Advisory Group 

2004 North West Freight Strategy. 

Environment Agency 2000 Local Environment Agency Plan – Croal Irwell 
Action Plan 2000 

Countryside 
Commission 

1998 Countryside Character: Volume 2: North West 

 
Sub-regional 

GMCA 2018 The Greater Manchester Digital Strategy 2018-
2020 

Greater Manchester 
Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner 

2018 Made to Move – 15 Steps to transform Greater 
Manchester by changing the way we get 
around 

Transport for Greater 
Manchester 

2017 Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA 2016 Greater Manchester Freight and Logistics 
Transport Strategy 

GMCA and TfGM 2016 Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan 

   

GMCA 2016 Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy  

GMCA and GM Local 2015 Greater Manchester Manufacturing Strategy 

Page 423



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 8 

Enterprise Partnership 2015 

GMCA / GM LEP/ 
AGMA 

2014 Greater Manchester Growth and Reform Plan 

TfGM 2013 Transport for Sustainable Communities: A 
Guide for Developers 

AGMA 2013 Greater Manchester Minerals Plan 
 

GMCA 2012 Greater Manchester Rail Policy 

AGMA 2012 Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development 
Plan Document 

Greater Manchester 
Energy Group  

2012 Connected: The Greater Manchester Energy 
Plan 

Greater Manchester 
Economic Advisory 
Panel 

2011 Greater Manchester Growth Plan 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

AGMA 2010 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy 

AGMA 2010 Decentralised and zero carbon energy 
planning 

GMEU 2009 Greater Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan, 
2009 

AGMA / TEP / Natural 
England 

2008 Towards a Green Infrastructure Framework for 
Greater Manchester: Full Report 

AGMA 2008 An Ecological Framework for Greater 
Manchester 

AGMA 2008 The Manchester Multi Area Agreement 

Salford City Council/ 
Manchester City 
Council/ Trafford MBC 

2008 Irwell City Park Planning Guidance 
 

Salford CC, Natural 
England, Northwest 
RDA, Wigan Council, 
Warrington BC 

2007 The Mosslands Project – The Vision 

 

Greater Manchester 
Waste Disposal 
Authority 

2007 Greater Manchester Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy  
 

 
Local 

Salford CC 2018 Greengate – Salford Regeneration Strategy 

Salford CC 2017 Salford Tackling Poverty Strategy 

NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

2017 Locality Plan for Salford: Start Well. Live Well. 
Age Well.  

Salford CC 2015 Salford Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy 

Salford CC 2015 Planning obligations supplementary planning 

Page 424



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 9 

document 

Salford CC 2015 Housing Planning Guidance: Policies saved 
beyond 18 June 2015 

Salford CC  2014 Hot food take aways supplementary planning 
document 

Salford CC 2013 City Mayor’s Eco-City Charter 

Salford CC 2013 Salford 2025 – A Modern Global City 

Salford CC 2013 Transport 2025 – Connecting People to 
Opportunity 

Partners in Salford 2010 Community Engagement and Empowerment 
Policy 2010 

Salford CC 2010 Salford Climate Change Strategy 

Salford CC 2010 Established Employment Areas SPD 

Salford CC 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford CC 2009 Pendleton Planning Guidance 

Salford CC 2009 Salford Central Development Framework 

Central Salford URC 2009 Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy 

Salford CC 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

Salford CC 2008 Salford Central Planning guidance 

Salford CC 2008 Ordsall Riverside Planning Guidance 

Salford CC 2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan 

Salford CC 2008 Flood Risk and Development Planning 
Guidance 

Salford CC 2008 Ordsall Riverside Planning Guidance 

Salford CC 2008 Shaping Salford: Design Supplementary 
Planning Document 

Salford CC and Knight 
Kavanagh & Page 

2007 Salford City Council Playing Pitch and Outdoor 
Sports Assessment Report 

Salford CC 2006 Salford’s Affordable Housing Strategy 

Salford CC 2006 Greenspace Strategy supplementary planning 
document 

Salford CC 2006 Lower Broughton Design Code supplementary 
planning document  

Salford CC 2006 Nature Conservation and Biodiversity 
supplementary planning document  

Salford CC 2006 Ellesmere Park supplementary planning 
document  

Salford CC 2006 Design and Crime supplementary planning 
document 

Salford CC 2006 Mediacity:uk and Quays Point – Planning 
Guidance. 

Salford CC 2003 Local Cycle Strategy: Encouraging Cycling 

Page 425



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 1 Complete list of plans, policies and programmes reviewed 

 

Appendix 1 – page 10 

Salford CC 2003 Worsley Tourism Strategy 

Salford CC 2005 Reducing Health Inequalities in Salford: A 
Strategy for Action 2005-2020 

 

Page 426



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 1 

APPENDIX 2 
 

Review of plans, policies and programmes 
 
 
Contents 
 

Planning Strategy .......................................................................................................... 6 

European over-arching principle .................................................................................................. 6 
National over-arching principles ................................................................................................... 7 
Greater Manchester over-arching principles .............................................................................. 10 
Salford’s over-arching principles ................................................................................................ 11 
Salford’s spatial framework ........................................................................................................ 12 
References (planning strategy) .................................................................................................. 13 

Sustainable communities ........................................................................................... 15 

Principles of sustainable communities ....................................................................................... 15 
Objectives for sustainable communities .................................................................................... 16 
Governance ................................................................................................................................ 17 
Community cohesion ................................................................................................................. 17 
Citizenship and public involvement ............................................................................................ 18 
Social inclusion .......................................................................................................................... 18 
References (sustainable communities) ...................................................................................... 19 

Housing ........................................................................................................................ 21 

General ...................................................................................................................................... 21 
Housing renewal and improvement ........................................................................................... 22 
Meeting housing provision ......................................................................................................... 23 
Managing the supply of housing ................................................................................................ 23 
Bring vacant/underused properties back into use...................................................................... 24 
Re-using previously developed land .......................................................................................... 24 
Provision of an appropriate mix of housing ................................................................................ 25 
Housing design (also see design and construction) .................................................................. 26 
Affordable housing, special needs housing, and housing for minority groups .......................... 27 
First Time Buyers/ Starter Homes .............................................................................................. 28 
Student accommodation ............................................................................................................ 29 
Gypsies and travellers ............................................................................................................... 29 
Density of new housing .............................................................................................................. 30 
Provision of parking ................................................................................................................... 30 
Provision of open space within housing development (also see health) ................................... 30 
References (housing) ................................................................................................................. 31 

Employment................................................................................................................. 33 

Economic growth........................................................................................................................ 33 
Encouraging inward investment ................................................................................................. 36 
Green economy.......................................................................................................................... 37 
Managing employment development ......................................................................................... 38 
Targeting growth sectors and knowledge based industries ....................................................... 39 
Regional centre .......................................................................................................................... 40 
Regional investment sites .......................................................................................................... 40 

Page 427



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 2 

Mediacity:uk ............................................................................................................................... 40 
Freight and Logistics (see also transport) .................................................................................. 40 
Entrepreneurial culture/ business start-ups ............................................................................... 43 
Income ....................................................................................................................................... 44 
Rural economy (also see land and soil and countryside & landscape) ..................................... 44 
Mobile and home working .......................................................................................................... 44 
References (employment) .......................................................................................................... 45 

Retail and town centres .............................................................................................. 48 

Promoting growth and managing centres .................................................................................. 48 
Networks and hierarchies of centres ......................................................................................... 48 
Allocating sites and considering applications for town centre uses ........................................... 49 
Impact assessment .................................................................................................................... 49 
Area based policies on town centres and town centre uses ...................................................... 49 
Markets ...................................................................................................................................... 50 
Take aways ................................................................................................................................ 50 
Leisure uses ............................................................................................................................... 51 
References (retail and town centres) ......................................................................................... 51 

Education ..................................................................................................................... 52 

General ...................................................................................................................................... 52 
Improve education and skills levels of the population................................................................ 53 
References (education) .............................................................................................................. 53 

Transport ..................................................................................................................... 55 

Transport Vision ......................................................................................................................... 55 
Transport Planning General Principles ...................................................................................... 56 
Improve access by sustainable modes ...................................................................................... 58 
Environmental impact ................................................................................................................ 59 
Supporting economic growth ..................................................................................................... 59 
New development ...................................................................................................................... 60 
Transport assessment/ travel plan ............................................................................................. 61 
Highways .................................................................................................................................... 61 
Road safety ................................................................................................................................ 62 
Parking ....................................................................................................................................... 62 
Buses ......................................................................................................................................... 63 
Heavy and light rail .................................................................................................................... 64 
Cycling and walking ................................................................................................................... 65 
Freight and Ports (see also employment) .................................................................................. 66 
Electric and low emission vehicles ............................................................................................. 69 
Airports ....................................................................................................................................... 71 
References (transport) ............................................................................................................... 71 

Culture and Tourism ................................................................................................... 74 

General ...................................................................................................................................... 74 
Specific tourism locales ............................................................................................................. 74 
Waterways and tourism (also see water and flood risk) ............................................................ 75 
Regional parks and tourism (also see recreation/ open space/ green infrastructure) ............... 75 
Tourism, employment and the economy (also see employment) .............................................. 75 
References (culture and tourism) ............................................................................................... 75 

Climate change ............................................................................................................ 77 

General ...................................................................................................................................... 77 
Reducing contributions (also see energy, air quality, design and construction and transport) . 78 

Page 428



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 3 

Adapting to climate change ........................................................................................................ 80 
References (climate change) ..................................................................................................... 83 

Countryside and landscape (see also Green Infrastructure) ................................... 84 

General ...................................................................................................................................... 84 
Urban fringe ............................................................................................................................... 84 
Countryside protection and enhancement ................................................................................. 84 
Agriculture and diversification (also see land and soil) .............................................................. 84 
Landscape quality ...................................................................................................................... 85 
Greenbelt ................................................................................................................................... 86 
Trees, forestry & woodlands ...................................................................................................... 87 
Hedgerows ................................................................................................................................. 87 
References (countryside and landscape) .................................................................................. 88 

Recreation / open space / green infrastructure ......................................................... 89 

Recreation and leisure ............................................................................................................... 89 
Provision of open space/ recreation facilities ............................................................................. 90 
Open space/ recreation standards ............................................................................................. 91 
Open spaces and local communities ......................................................................................... 92 
Protection of open spaces/ recreational facilities ....................................................................... 92 
Accessible open spaces ............................................................................................................ 93 
Well-designed open spaces/ local amenity ................................................................................ 93 
Open space and development ................................................................................................... 94 
Security of open spaces ............................................................................................................. 95 
Countryside recreation (also see countryside and landscape) .................................................. 95 
Green infrastructure ................................................................................................................... 95 
Recreation and waterways (also see water and flood risk and transport (walking and cycling))
 ................................................................................................................................................... 98 
Regional parks ........................................................................................................................... 98 
Allotments .................................................................................................................................. 98 
References (recreation/ open space/ green infrastructure) ....................................................... 99 

Recycling and waste management .......................................................................... 101 

Sustainable waste management .............................................................................................. 101 
Waste hierarchy ....................................................................................................................... 103 
Proximity principle .................................................................................................................... 103 
Polluter - pays .......................................................................................................................... 104 
Promoting reduction/ reuse / recycling/ composting ................................................................ 104 
Landfill ...................................................................................................................................... 104 
Provision of waste facilities ...................................................................................................... 104 
Disposal of hazardous waste (also see hazardous substances) ............................................. 104 
Disposal of hazardous waste ................................................................................................... 104 
References (recycling and waste management) ..................................................................... 105 

Water & flood risk...................................................................................................... 106 

Integrated water management ................................................................................................. 106 
Water quality (also see utilities infrastructure) ......................................................................... 108 
Consumption ............................................................................................................................ 109 
Flooding ................................................................................................................................... 109 
Flood defences......................................................................................................................... 113 
Sequential approach ................................................................................................................ 113 
References (water and flood risk) ............................................................................................ 114 

Air quality .................................................................................................................. 117 

Page 429



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 4 

Air quality ................................................................................................................................. 117 
Air quality and health ............................................................................................................... 118 
Air quality management zones ................................................................................................. 118 
Air quality indicators ................................................................................................................. 119 
Impacts of new development ................................................................................................... 119 
References (air quality) ............................................................................................................ 120 

Biodiversity ............................................................................................................... 121 

General .................................................................................................................................... 121 
Protected habitats .................................................................................................................... 126 
Natura 2000 ............................................................................................................................. 127 
Protected species..................................................................................................................... 127 
Restoration of lowland bogs ..................................................................................................... 128 
Appropriate assessment .......................................................................................................... 128 
Ecological appraisal ................................................................................................................. 128 
Nature improvement areas ...................................................................................................... 128 
References (bio-diversity) ........................................................................................................ 129 

Land and soil ............................................................................................................. 131 

Greenfield/brownfield ............................................................................................................... 131 
Soil pollution, contaminated and unstable land ....................................................................... 131 
Derelict land ............................................................................................................................. 132 
Protection of important soil types ............................................................................................. 133 
References (land and soil) ....................................................................................................... 133 

Minerals ..................................................................................................................... 135 

General .................................................................................................................................... 135 
Supply (also see utilities infrastructure and energy) ................................................................ 136 
Peat .......................................................................................................................................... 137 
Safeguarding and prior extraction ............................................................................................ 138 
Efficient use .............................................................................................................................. 138 
Environmental impact .............................................................................................................. 138 
Restoration, aftercare and after-use ........................................................................................ 139 
Storage, handling and transportation ....................................................................................... 139 
References (minerals) .............................................................................................................. 139 

Energy ........................................................................................................................ 140 

General (also see utilities infrastructure) ................................................................................. 140 
Energy and the home / fuel poverty (also see design and construction) ................................. 143 
Energy and waste (also see recycling and waste management) ............................................ 143 
Energy efficiency/reducing consumption ................................................................................. 143 
Reducing emissions ................................................................................................................. 144 
Energy generation .................................................................................................................... 144 
Renewable and low carbon energy.......................................................................................... 146 
Micro generation ...................................................................................................................... 149 
Energy and new development ................................................................................................. 149 
References (energy) ................................................................................................................ 151 

Crime and security .................................................................................................... 153 

Reducing crime ........................................................................................................................ 153 
Property crime .......................................................................................................................... 153 
Anti-social behaviour and drugs and alcohol related offences ................................................ 153 
Designing out crime (also see design and construction) ......................................................... 153 
Fear of crime ............................................................................................................................ 154 

Page 430



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 5 

Prisons (also see sustainable communities) ............................................................................ 154 
References (crime) .................................................................................................................. 155 

Hazardous substances ............................................................................................. 156 

Hazardous substances and new development ........................................................................ 156 
Disposal of hazardous waste (see recycling and waste management) ................................... 156 
References (hazardous substances) ....................................................................................... 156 

Health (see also Recreation / open space / green infrastructure) .......................... 158 

Improving health....................................................................................................................... 158 
Reducing health inequalities .................................................................................................... 160 
Provision of/access to health facilities (also see retail and town centres) ............................... 160 
Health & new development ...................................................................................................... 161 
Promoting healthy living (also see recreation/ open space/ green infrastructure, transport, and 
retail and town centres) ............................................................................................................ 161 
References (health) ................................................................................................................. 162 

Design and construction .......................................................................................... 164 

General .................................................................................................................................... 164 
Sustainable design and construction ....................................................................................... 165 
Public realm ............................................................................................................................. 166 
Views ........................................................................................................................................ 168 
Design and crime ..................................................................................................................... 168 
Tall buildings ............................................................................................................................ 169 
Waterside development ........................................................................................................... 169 
References (design and construction) ..................................................................................... 170 

Utilities infrastructure ............................................................................................... 172 

General .................................................................................................................................... 172 
Water supply (also see water and flood risk) ........................................................................... 172 
Energy supply (also see energy) ............................................................................................. 172 
Gas supply ............................................................................................................................... 172 
Information and communication technologies ......................................................................... 173 
References (utilities infrastructure) .......................................................................................... 176 

Heritage and archaeology ......................................................................................... 177 

General .................................................................................................................................... 177 
Protection of heritage assets ................................................................................................... 177 
Heritage-led regeneration ........................................................................................................ 178 
Listed buildings & conservation areas ..................................................................................... 179 
Heritage tourism and access to assets (also see tourism) ...................................................... 179 
Archaeology ............................................................................................................................. 179 
References (heritage) .............................................................................................................. 180 

Noise .......................................................................................................................... 181 

Noise ........................................................................................................................................ 181 
References (noise) ................................................................................................................... 182 

Advertisements ......................................................................................................... 183 

General .................................................................................................................................... 183 
References (advertisements) ................................................................................................... 183 

 
 

  

Page 431



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 6 

Planning Strategy 

European over-arching principle 

 The three fundamental goals of European Policy are: 
o Economic and social cohesion 
o Conservation of natural resources and cultural heritage; and 
o More balanced competitiveness of the European territory (European 

Spatial Development Perspective para 18) 

 The overall aim of the renewed EU SDS is to identify and develop actions to 
enable the EU to achieve continuous improvement of quality of life both for 
current and for future generations, through the creation of sustainable 
communities able to manage and use resources efficiently and to tap the 
ecological and social innovation potential of the economy, ensuring 
prosperity, environmental protection and social cohesion (European 
Sustainable Development Strategy 2006, paragraph 5) 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy: 
o To limit climate change and its costs and negative effects to society and 

the environment  
o To ensure that our transport systems meet society’s economic, social 

and environmental needs whilst minimising their undesirable impacts on 
the economy, society and the environment 

o To promote sustainable consumption and production patterns 
o To improve management and avoid overexploitation of natural resources, 

recognising the value of ecosystem services 
o To promote good public health on equal conditions and improve 

protection against health threats 
o To create a socially inclusive society by taking into account solidarity 

between and within generations and to secure and increase the quality of 
life of citizens as a precondition for lasting individual well-being 

o To actively promote sustainable development worldwide and ensure that 
the European Union’s internal and external policies are consistent with 
global sustainable development and its international commitments 

 (European Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 The Environment Action programme identifies the following objectives: 

o To protect, conserve and enhance the Union’s natural capital  

o To turn the Union into a resource-efficient, green, and competitive low-

carbon economy   

o To safeguard the Union's citizens from environment-related pressures 

and risks to health and wellbeing  

o better implementation of legislation  

o better information by improving the knowledge base  

o more and wiser investment for environment and climate policy  

Page 432



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 7 

o full integration of environmental requirements and considerations into 

other policies 

o to make the Union's cities more sustainable  

o to help the Union address international environmental and climate 

challenges more effectively. (7th Environment Action Programme) 

National over-arching principles 

 Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has 
three overarching objectives which are interdependent and need to be 
pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to 
secure net gains across each of the objectives). The objectives are economic, 
social and environmental. (NPPF para 8) 

 So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of 
the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (para 10). Plans and decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. For plan-making this 
means that: 
o Local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 

development needs of their area, and be sufficiently flexible to adapt to 
rapid change (NPPF, para 11a) 

 Local Plans should: 

 Be prepared with the objective of contributing to the achievement of 
sustainable development (NPPF para 16a) 

 Be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable (NPPF 
para 16b) 

 Be shaped by engagement between plan makers and communities, local 
organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and operators and 
statutory consultees(NPPF para 16c) 

 Contain policies that are clearly written and unambiguous (NPPF para 
16d) 

 Be accessible through the use of digital tools to assist public involvement 
and policy presentation (NPPF para 16e) 

 Serve a clear purpose avoiding duplication (including policies in the 
Framework) (NPPF para 16f) 

 The development plan must include strategic policies to address priorities for 

development and use of land in the planning authority’s area through joint or 

individual local plans, or a spatial development strategy produced by an 

elected mayor or combined authority (NPPF para 17) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 

quality of development, and make sufficient provision for: 

 Housing (including affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and 

other commercial development (NPPF para 20a) 

 Infrastructure (NPPF para 20b) 

Page 433



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 8 

 Community facilities (NPPF para 20c) 

 Conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic 

environment (NPPF para 20d) 

 Strategic policies should look ahead for a minimum of 15 years from adoption, 

to anticipate and respond to long tem requirements and opportunities (NPPF 

para 22) 

 Broad locations for development should be indicated on a key diagram, and 

land use designations and allocations identified on a policies map. Strategic 

policies should provide a clear strategy for brining sufficient land forward, and 

at a sufficient rate, to address objectively assessed needs over the plan period 

in line with the presumption in favour of sustainable development. This should 

include planning for and allocating sufficient sites (NPPF para 23) 

 Local planning authorities are under a duty to cooperate with each other, and 
other prescribed bodies, on strategic matters that cross administrative 
boundaries (NPPF para 24)(Localism Act).  

 Non-strategic policies should be used to set out more detailed policies for 
specific areas, neighbourhoods or types of development  (NPPF para 28) 

 The preparation and review of all policies should be underpinned by relevant 
and up-to-date evidence (NPPF para 31) 

 The Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy (NPPF para 35) 

  

 Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from 
development, planning applications that comply with them should be 
assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether 
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the 
application stage (NPPF para 57) 

 The Government's top priority in reforming the planning system is to promote 
sustainable economic growth and jobs. Government's clear expectation is that 
the answer to development and growth should wherever possible be 'yes', 
except where this would compromise the key sustainable development 
principles set out in national planning policy. (Planning for Growth Ministerial 
Statement) 

 When deciding whether to grant planning permission, local planning 
authorities should support enterprise and facilitate housing, economic and 
other forms of sustainable development. Where relevant - and consistent with 
their statutory obligations - they should therefore: 
o consider fully the importance of national planning policies aimed at 

fostering economic growth and employment, given the need to ensure a 
return to robust growth after the recent recession 

o take into account the need to maintain a flexible and responsive supply of 
land for key sectors, including housing 

Page 434



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 9 

o consider the range of likely economic, environmental and social benefits of 
proposals; including long term or indirect benefits such as increased 
consumer choice, more viable communities and more robust local 
economies (which may, where relevant, include matters such as job 
creation and business productivity) 

o be sensitive to the fact that local economies are subject to change and so 
take a positive approach to development where new economic data 
suggest that prior assessments of needs are no longer up-to-date 

o ensure that they do not impose unnecessary burdens on development 
(Planning for Growth Ministerial Statement) 

 The government 25 Year Environment Plan (A Green Future: Our 25 year 

plan to improve the environment, 2018)  sets out government action to help 

the natural world regain and retain good health. It aims to deliver cleaner air 

and water in our cities and rural landscapes, protect threatened species and 

provide richer wildlife habitats. It calls for an approach to agriculture, forestry, 

land use and fishing that puts the environment first. In order to achieve this, 

10 25-year goals have been set out: 

1) Clean air 

2) Clean and plentiful water 

3) Thriving plants and wildlife 

4) A reduced risk of harm from environmental hazards such as flooding 

and drought 

5) Using resources from nature more sustainably and efficiently. 

6) Enhanced beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural 

environment 

7) Mitigating and adapting to climate change. 

8) Minimising waste. 

9) Managing exposure to chemicals. 

10) .Enhancing biosecurity  

 Local authorities have a critical role in supporting the economy of their area, 
key roles include: 
o Leadership and coordination, using their community leadership role and 

planning powers to set out a clear framework for local development; 
o Supporting growth and development through ensuring a responsive supply 

of land that supports business growth and increases housing supply; 
o Use their land assets to leverage private funding to support growth; 
o Directly and indirectly influencing investment decisions via the use of 

statutory powers, particularly the planning system; 
o Support local infrastructure; 
o Support local people and businesses; 
o Providing high quality services, such as schools and transport; 

Page 435



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 10 

o Keep markets fair by maintaining trading standards and provide wider 
services and investment that increase the attractiveness of an area; and 

o Leading efforts to support and improve health and well-being of the local 
population, promoting independence and rehabilitation to ensure that all 
individuals have the maximum opportunity to benefit from work and to 
contribute to the local economy (Local Growth White Paper – Box 2a 
paragraph 2.3) 

 Building sustainable communities and achieving regeneration in the North 
West is a national, as well as regional, priority (Sustainable communities in 
the North West – Building for the future) 
 

Greater Manchester over-arching principles 

 Our vision is to make Greater Manchester one of the best places in the world 
to grow up, get on and grow old:  
o A place where all children are given the best start in life and young people 

grow up inspired to exceed expectations.  
o A place where people are proud to live, with a decent home, a fulfilling job, 

and stress-free journeys the norm. But if you need a helping hand you’ll 
get it.  

o A place of ideas and invention, with a modern and productive economy 
that draws in investment, visitors and talent.  

o A place where people live healthy lives and older people are valued.  
o A place at the forefront of action on climate change with clean air and a 

flourishing natural environment.  
o A place where all voices are heard and where, working together, we can 

shape our future 
(Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Children starting school ready to learn 

o Young people equipped for life 

o Good jobs, with opportunities for people to progress and develop 

o A thriving and productive economy in all parts of Greater Manchester 

o World-class connectivity that keeps Greater Manchester moving 

o Safe, decent and affordable housing 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

o Safer and stronger communities 

o Healthy lives, with quality care available for those that need it 

o An age-friendly Greater Manchester 

(Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 The GM Growth and Reform Plan identifies the vision for Greater 
Manchester to become a net contributor to the national economy. It focuses 
on five key priorities:   

Page 436



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 11 

o Securing Greater Manchester and the North West’s place as a major 
centre for Life Sciences  

o Enhancing further education facilities to create more apprenticeships and 
maximise skills investment  

o Major investment in public transport and highways 
o Reforming public services so that they reduce duplication and are 

designed around the needs of residents 
o Providing effective business support services (Greater Manchester 

Growth and Reform Plan (2014)) 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 

be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 

other things it emphasises the importance of: 

o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting 

existing needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

Salford’s over-arching principles 

 By 2025 Salford will be a modern global city. The ambition is to: 

o Transform the skyline of the city through outstanding and iconic new 
infrastructure, places and spaces; 

o Strengthen and diversify Salford’s economic base, focusing on economic 
growth, inward investment, infrastructure and jobs; 

o Shape places and deliver outstanding environmental quality that will 
encourage Salford’s growing and increasingly diverse population to 
remain, support future families and promote the city to others as a place to 
liver and invest; and 

o Fully connect people to the growth opportunity (Salford 2025 – A Modern 
Global City, pages 9 and 10) 

 Salford 2025 is driven by four inter-connected strategic thematic programmes 

that will focus actions aimed at delivering a balanced programme of 

investment and delivery. These are: 

o Transforming places – Focus on Salford Quays/Media City, Key Corridors 
(including Crescent/Chapel Street/Greengate, Liverpool Road, Irwell River 
Park, and Bridgewater Canal), revitalising town centres, delivering 
sustainable neighbourhoods.  

o Stimulating and sustaining growth, quality sport and recreation offer – 
Focus on delivering major schemes (including Port Salford, Cutacre, the 
Soapworks), supporting business growth, stimulating and supporting 
cultural and heritage growth, and towards an eco-city. 

Page 437



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 12 

o Connecting people and opportunity – Focus on investing in education, 
raising employment (skills and work), and investing in health.  

o Strategic connectivity – Focus on a physical and digital connectivity 
(Salford 2025 – A Modern Global City, page 16) 

Salford’s spatial framework 

 The Regional Centre and Western Gateway are the city’s main economic 
drivers (Salford UDP para 4.16) 

 Develop Central Salford as one of the most popular and attractive places to 
live within the inner areas of GM, mixing easy access to the facilities and 
opportunities of the Regional Centre with high quality housing, and attractive 
environment, and a myriad of recreation and leisure opportunities (Salford 
Central Planning Guidance policies SC1 and SC2)(Salford Central 
Development Framework) 

 Ensure that climate change is an integral part of the vision for central Salford 
and Salford West (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 40) 

 In 2028 Salford West will be one of the most desirable and prosperous areas 
in Greater Manchester. With a diverse economy, successful neighbourhoods, 
access to excellent local town and neighbourhood centres with a range of 
housing choice. Unrivalled sporting, culture and leisure facilities and a 
comprehensive network of green and open space, enhanced leisure facilities 
and visitor attractions based on the rich heritage of the area (Salford West 
Regeneration Framework and Action Plan p.27). 

 Pendleton will be a distinctive neighbourhood with a strong identify, at the 
forefront of the renaissance of Greater Manchester’s inner areas. It will 
embody the principles of sustainable communities and sustainable 
development, and will be a celebration of everything that is good about urban 
living…Pendleton will act as a gateway to Central Salford and will be a key 
component in transforming Salford into the ‘beautiful city’ (Pendleton Planning 
Guidance p10). 

 Ordsall Riverside – create a new residential quarter alongside the river that 
offers a choice of high quality homes of all types and tenures; consolidate and 
strengthen the Exchange Quay corporate office development at the southern 
end of the Ordsall Riverside area; encourage small businesses to locate 
where they are easy to access by public transport; provide a limited range of 
facilities; ensure development responds to the existing context and enhance 
the setting of the Grade 1 listed Ordsall Hall (Ordsall Riverside Planning 
Guidance para 5.24) 

 The Vision of the Strategy is to deliver a dynamic residential and commercial 

place with an exceptional public realm. Greengate will be a focus of cultural 

activity for both residents and visitors alike, building on the current strong 

brands within the area and developing new exciting opportunities. The area 

will witness the regeneration of important historical aspects of the Collier 

Street Baths and the Market Cross. The delivery of Greengate Boulevard will 

Page 438



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 13 

provide a new key route linking Collier Street to the Market Cross and 

Greengate Park onwards to Greengate Square. (Greengate Regeneration 

Strategy para 5.1) 

 Chapel Street/ The Crescent in Salford’s city high street, design a street 

which is vibrant and enjoyable to walk and cycle, reduce the barrier effect 

created by the road and restore the connection between the street frontages, 

spaces and The Crescent/Meadows. (Salford’s places and spaces page 16) 

 The vision of Irwell City Park is of a new city centre place which will provide 
quality public open space and will reconnect Manchester Salford and Trafford. 
The river will no longer be the forgotten periphery but will become part of the 
heart of the two Cities and Trafford, ensuring that it makes a significant 
contribution to the physical, economic and social life of the emerging 
integrated city region (Irwell City Park para 5.9) 

 In 2020, Claremont Weaste will be an interconnected collection of stable 
neighbourhoods with a strong urban grain and a vibrant suburban feel 
(Claremont & Weaste Neighbourhood Plan para 3.1). 

References (planning strategy) 

 

Source Date  Title 

European 
Commission 

2013 The 7th Environment Action Programme - The 
General Union Environment Action 
Programme to 2020 - ‘Living well within the 
limits of our planet’ 
 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 
(DOC 10917/06) 

European 
Commission 

1999 European Spatial Development Perspective: 
Towards balanced and sustainable 
development of the territory of the European 
Union 
 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA/ GM LEP/ 
AGMA 

2014 Greater Manchester Growth and Reform Plan 
 

Greater Manchester 
Economic Advisory 
Panel 

2011 Greater Manchester Growth Plan 
 

HM Government 2018 A Green Future: Our 25 year plan to improve 
the environment, 2018)  
 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

Page 439



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 14 

HM Government 2011 Localism Act 

HM Government 2011 Planning for Growth: Ministerial Statement 

HM Government 2010 Local Growth: realising every place’s potential 
(Local Growth White Paper) 
 

ODPM 2003 Sustainable Communities: Building for the 
Future 

Salford CC 2017 No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford 

Salford CC 2018 Greengate – Salford Regeneration Strategy 

Salford City Council 2013 Salford 2025 – A Modern Global City 
 

Salford City Council 2010 Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 
 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 
– 2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 2009 
 

Salford City Council 2009 Pendleton Planning Guidance 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford Central Development Framework 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

Salford City Council 2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan. 

Salford City Council 2008 Ordsall Riverside Planning Guidance. 
 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford Central Planning guidance 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford West Strategic Regeneration 
Framework and Action Plan 2008 – 2028. 
 

Salford City Council/ 
Manchester City 
Council/ Trafford 
Borough Council 

2008 Irwell City Park Planning Guidance 

 

 
  

Page 440



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 15 

Sustainable communities 

Principles of sustainable communities     

 International commitment to building a humane, equitable and caring global 
society aware of the need for human dignity for all (Johannesburg Declaration 
on sustainable development (2002) 

 UN Sustainable Development Goals to 2030: 
1. No poverty 

2. Zero hunger 

3. Good health and well-being 

4. Quality education 

5. Gender equality 

6. Clean water and sanitation 

7. Affordable and clean energy 

8. Decent work and economic growth 

9. Industry, innovation, and infrastructure 

10. Reduced inequalities 

11. Sustainable cities and communities 

12. Responsible consumption and production 

13. Climate action 

14. Life below water 

15. Life on land 

16. Peace, justice and strong institutions 

17. Partnership for the goals 

(Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development) 

 Sustainable Communities embody the wider principal of Sustainable 
Development at the local level: social progress which recognises the needs of 
everyone; effective protection of the environment; prudent use of natural 
resources; and maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth 
and employment (A better quality of life – strategy for sustainable 
development in the United Kingdom 1999) 

 Active, inclusive and safe, well run, environmentally sensitive, well designed 
and built, well connected, thriving, well served and fair for everyone (Securing 
the Future: Delivering UK Sustainable Development Strategy 2005 pp 121) 

 Sustainable communities balance and integrate the social, economic, and 
environmental components of their community; meet the needs of existing 
and future generations; respect the needs of other communities in the wider 
region and globally (Securing the Future: Delivering the UK Sustainable 
Development Strategy 2005 pp 184) 

 Overriding aim of creating sustainable urban neighbourhoods is based 
around: providing an appropriate mix of uses including quality homes and job 
opportunities, accessible local facilities, sustainable transport systems; the 

Page 441



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 16 

sustainable use of resources and protection of important environmental and 
human made assets; a healthy, safe and attractive environment; social equity 
and inclusion (UDP Policy ST1) 

 Sustainable communities have: a flourishing local economy to provide jobs 
and wealth; strong leadership; promote effective engagement and 
participation; safe and healthy environment; of a size, scale, density and 
layout to support basic amenities and minimise the use of resources; good 
public and other transport infrastructure; buildings that can meet different 
needs over time and minimise the use of resources; a well-integrated mix of 
decent homes to support a range of household sizes, ages and incomes; 
good quality local public services; a diverse, vibrant and creative local culture 
and pride in the community; a sense of place; and the right links with the 
wider regional, national and international community.  (Sustainable 
Communities: Building for the Future ODPM 2003 p.5) 

 Priorities relating to the creation of sustainable communities are to: Create 
attractive and welcoming parks, play areas and public spaces; Engage and 
empower local people and communities; Improve the physical infrastructure 
of places; Make places cleaner and maintain them better; Make places safer 
and tackle anti-social behaviour; Improve health by encouraging and 
supporting healthy lifestyles ;Tackle inequalities and support the needs of 
children and young people (Securing the Future: Delivering UK Sustainable 
Development Strategy 2005 pp 121) 

 The new vision for urban living: people shaping the future of their community 
supported by strong and truly representative local leaders; people living in 
attractive, well kept towns and cities which use space and buildings well; 
good design and planning which makes it practical to live in a more 
environmentally sustainable way, with less noise, pollution and traffic 
congestion; towns and cities able to create and share prosperity; and good 
quality services that meet the needs of people and businesses wherever they 
are (Urban White Paper para 3). 

 Planning authorities should set a clear objective-led vision of the kind of 
environment and quality of life that they aspire to, reflecting the statutory duty 
to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, and integrated 
with plans and strategies at all levels. Delivery mechanisms to ensure the 
achievement of the vision should be identified (Environmental Quality in 
Spatial Planning). 

Objectives for sustainable communities     

 The council will seek to ensure a ‘social return’ on its investment by securing 

social value from: doing responsible business and being a good employer; 

Regeneration, Housing and Planning activity; Business, Economic Growth 

and Skills and Work activity; Internal providers, Mutuals and Joint Venture 

partnerships; and Applying Salford City Council’s new Procurement Strategy 

(Salford Social Impact report 2017).  

Page 442



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 17 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Safer and stronger communities 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Creating a safe, attractive and high quality environment to create a city where 
people choose to live (UDP Plan Strategy Aim 4) (Urban White Paper para 3) 

 Ensure access to a comprehensive range of local retail, community, 
education, health and recreation facilities (UDP Plan Strategy Aim 5) (Urban 
White Paper para 3) 

 Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve places which promote: 
o Opportunities for meetings between members of the community who might 

not otherwise come into contact with each other; 
o Safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear 

of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion – for 
example  through the use of  clear and legible pedestrian routes, and high 
quality public space, which encourage the active and continual use of 
public areas (NPPF para 91) 

 Planning policies and decisions should: 
o Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community 

facilities and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; 

o Guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 
particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its 
day-to-day needs; ensure that established shops, facilities and services 
are able to develop and modernise, and retained for the benefit of the 
community; and 

o Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and community facilities and services (NPPF para 92) 

Governance 

 To create sustainable cities, it is fundamentally important that leaders 
champion long-term decisions. This is true above all for critical projects 
related to transport, building schemes, green space, energy and waste 
(Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p7) 

 Creating sustainable towns and cities requires everyone working within 
government, at all levels, to think holistically about their spatial and service 
delivery plans. Policies for economic regeneration, public service 
improvement and health and well-being should be mutually reinforcing 
(Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p24) 

Community cohesion 

 Create diverse, vibrant and creative local culture, encouraging pride in the 
community and cohesion within (Building for the future p.5) 

Page 443



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 18 

Citizenship and public involvement 

 Create diverse, vibrant and creative local culture, encouraging pride in the 
community and cohesion within (Building for the future p.5) 

 Enable people to participate fully in the way their neighbourhoods are 
developed and run (UK Sustainability Strategy pp 10)(Urban White Paper 
para 3)(Building for the Future p.5)  

 By improving the quality of community engagement and empowerment we will 
support the Sustainable Community Strategy:  
o We will engage, empower and encourage all residents to be active in 

their community. 
o We will create a welcoming and cohesive city. 
o We will improve neighbourhood working to respond to local needs. 
o We will make young people part of the solution by ensuring their 

engagement (Community Engagement and Empowerment Policy 2010, 
page 5) 

Social inclusion 

 Meet the needs of all so the disadvantaged are not left behind (Sustainable 
Communities: Building for the Future ODPM 2003) 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy include: 
o To create a socially inclusive society by taking into account solidarity 

between and within generations and to secure and increase the quality of 
life of citizens as a precondition for lasting individual well-being 
(European Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 Meet the needs of all so the disadvantaged are not left behind (Sustainable 
Communities: Building for the Future ODPM 2003) 

 It is not just lifetime homes that are needed, but lifetime neighbourhoods, 
where people are not left out or forgotten because they cannot access 
buildings or public spaces (Lifetime Homes; Lifetime neighbourhoods p15) 

 Regional and local plans are required to take proper account of ageing and 
the needs of older people (Lifetime Homes; Lifetime Neighbourhoods p15). 

 The Ten Principles of Active Design include: Activity for all - Neighbourhoods, 
facilities and open spaces should be accessible to all users and should 
support sport and physical activity across all ages. Enabling those who want 
to be active, whilst encouraging those who are inactive to become active 
(Active Design) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Safer and stronger communities 

o Healthy lives, with quality care available for those that need it 

o An age-friendly Greater Manchester 

(Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

Page 444



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 19 

 Salford City Mayor’s Charter for Employment Standards contains a suite of 
pledges focused in three categories: 
o Putting Salford first: creating training and employment opportunities for 

Salford people, particularly those facing greatest disadvantage 
o Buying in Salford: looking to purchase Salford goods and services at every 

practicable opportunity 
o Setting the standard: promoting the adoption of the best possible working 

practices and conditions, such as working towards the introduction of a 
living wage, a commitment to eradicating the illegal practice of blacklisting 
and opposing the use of zero hours contracts (Salford City Mayor Charter 
for Employment Standards) 

 The strategy identifies a vision “for a fairer and more inclusive Salford where 
everyone is able to reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling 
lives free from poverty and inequality” and identifies actions across three key 
themes:  

1. Supporting people in to work 
2. Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place including by 

creating decent jobs with decent pay, ensuring enough good quality 
decent homes are provided at a price people can afford and enhancing 
green infrastructure. 

3. Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a 
better deal for Salford including by highlighting the unfairness of current 
planning rules in relation to affordable housing. 
(No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford) 

 

References (sustainable communities) 

 

Source Date  Title 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

Countryside Agency 
English Heritage, 
English Nature, 
Environment Agency 

2005 Environmental Quality in Spatial Planning. 

DCLG 2008 Lifetime homes, lifetime neighbourhoods – A 
national strategy for housing in an ageing 
society 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance 

DEFRA 1999 A better quality of life – strategy for 
sustainable development in the United 
Kingdom 

Page 445



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 20 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 
(DOC 10917/06)  

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future – delivering UK 
sustainable strategy 

HM Government  2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

ODPM 2003 Sustainable Communities: building for the 
future 

Partners in Salford 2010 Community Engagement and Empowerment 
Policy 2010 

Salford City Council 2017 Salford Tackling Poverty Strategy 

Salford City Council 2017 Salford Social Impact report 

Salford City Council 2014 Salford City Mayor Charter for Employment 
Standards 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 
– 2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 2009 

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

United Nations 2015 Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for 
Sustainable Development 

United Nations 2002 Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable 
Development 

 
  
  

Page 446



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 21 

 

Housing 

General 

 Provision about housing, estate agents, rent charges, planning and 
compulsory purchase (Housing & Planning Act 2016) 

 The Housing Strategy for England describes that a thriving, active but stable 
housing market that offers choice, flexibility and affordable housing is critical 
to our economic social wellbeing. It identifies the need to: 
o Support the delivery of new homes and support aspiration 
o Support choice and quality for tenants 
o Tackle empty homes 
o Provide better quality homes, places and housing support 

(Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy for England, page vii - ix) 

 A well-functioning housing market is inextricably linked to the wider health of 
the economy. The availability of housing in the right places means the supply 
of workers to firms where they are needed the most: areas of economic 
growth and high labour demand. Housing is therefore vital to our 
competitiveness and attractiveness to business (National Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 11.1) 

 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy key themes include: 
o Achieving the right quantity of housing - Take account of both the current 

economic context and longer term need for homes; provide a better 
match between the size, location and cost of new homes and the varied 
needs of existing and potential new residents; and contribute to carbon 
reduction targets and mitigate the consequences of climate change by 
intelligent planning, design of new homes and supporting infrastructure. 

o Continuing to raise the quality of the existing housing stock - Enhance 
choice and quality of housing, investing in both existing and new homes 
and contributing to wider place-shaping objectives. Create a housing 
offer which provide thermally efficient homes and are able to adapt to 
climate change. 

o Connecting people to the improved housing offer 
 Focus intervention in the most deprived areas, using flexible 

approaches where regeneration can have the greatest impact.  
 Improve life chances, address housing and diversify deprived 

neighbourhoods in order to generate communities with a greater 
mix of tenure and income levels 

 Improve housing management and the continued availability of 
appropriate and affordable housing related support services 

 Promote independent living and improve joining up of preventative 
services and strategies across housing, health and social care 
Provide homes that meet current and future needs and recognise 
the diversity of our communities 

Page 447



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 22 

(Greater Manchester Housing Strategy (2010)) 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 
be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 
other things it emphasises the importance of: 
o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting existing 

needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

 New housing development will be required to contribute towards the creation 
of sustainable neighbourhoods. (UDP, Policy ST1) 

 The strategy identifies a vision “for a fairer and more inclusive Salford where 
everyone is able to reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling 
lives free from poverty and inequality” and identifies actions across three key 
themes:  

4. Supporting people in to work 
5. Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place including by 

creating decent jobs with decent pay, ensuring enough good quality 
decent homes are provided at a price people can afford and enhancing 
green infrastructure. 

6. Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a 
better deal for Salford including by highlighting the unfairness of current 
planning rules in relation to affordable housing. 
(No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford) 

 Deliver a network of high quality neighbourhoods, with an increasing 
emphasis on home ownership and high quality family housing (Salford West 
Regeneration Framework p.28) 

 Planning policies should support an appropriate mix of uses, and within  
larger scale sites, to minimise the number and length of journeys needed for 
employment, shopping, leisure, education and other activities (NPPF para 
104). 

Housing renewal and improvement 

 Housing improvement schemes that comprise any or all of the following 
measures will be permitted; 
o Refurbishing and adapting the housing stock to meet local and special 

needs; 
o Providing new and replacement housing, in a form appropriate to the 

needs of the local area and wider regeneration objectives; 

Page 448



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 23 

o Improving residential environments and promoting environmental car 
measures; 

o Securing the provision of community and leisure facilities; 
o Enhancing open spaces, landscaped areas, an parks, in accordance with 

strategic and local needs; 
o Improving access to and within housing areas, particularly by public 

transport, cycling and walking; and 
o Clearing housing that is unfit, or for which there is little or no demand, or 

that is required for site assembly for regeneration purposes, as resources 
permit (City of Salford UDP Policy H3) 

Meeting housing provision 

 To determine the minimum number of homes needed, strategic policies 
should be informed by a local housing need assessment, conducted using the 
standard method in national planning guidance – unless exceptional 
circumstances justify an alternative approach which also reflects current and 
future demographic trends and market signals. In addition to the local housing 
need figure, any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas should 
be taken into account in establishing the amount of housing to be planned for 
(NPPF para 60) 

 Policies which are the most important for determining individual planning 
applications are out of date where a 5 year supply cannot be demonstrated 
(NPPF para 11d) 

 Six-point long-term economic plan for the north-west: 

o raise the quality of life in the north-west by supporting its great cultural and 
sporting strengths, building up to 25,000 new homes, nurturing the rural 
environment and improving education outcomes in the region’s schools so 
over 75,000 more pupils attend outstanding schools (Long Term 
Economic Plan for the North West) 

 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy key themes include: 
o Achieving the right quantity of housing - Take account of both the current 

economic context and longer term need for homes; provide a better match 
between the size, location and cost of new homes and the varied needs of 
existing and potential new residents; and contribute to carbon reduction 
targets and mitigate the consequences of climate change by intelligent 
planning, design of new homes and supporting infrastructure. (Greater 
Manchester Housing Strategy (2010)) 

Managing the supply of housing 

 It is vital to take steps to increase the housing supply. Infrastructure can play 
a key role in supporting this ambition by ensuring that sites are socially and 
commercially viable and that new developments do not constrain existing 
facilities (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 11.4) 

Page 449



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 24 

 Strategic policy making authorities should have a clear understanding of the 
land available in their area through the preparation of a strategic housing land 
availability assessment (NPPF para 67) 

 Local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of 
specific deliverable sites to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing 
against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies (NPPF 
para 73). The supply of specific deliverable sites should in addition include a 
buffer of either 5%, 10% or 20% (NPPF para 73a-c) 

 Local planning authorities should also identify a supply of specific 
developable sites or broad locations for growth for years 6 – 10 and, where 
possible, for years 11-15 (NPPF para 67). 

 Make allowance for windfall sites  as part of anticipated supply if there is 
compelling evidence that they will provide a reliable source of supply and be 
realistic having regard to a number of factors (NPPF para 70) 

 The supply of new homes can sometimes be best achieved through planning 
for larger scale development, such as new  settlements or significant 
extensions to existing villages and towns (NPPF para 72) 

 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy key themes include: 
o Continuing to raise the quality of the existing housing stock - Enhance 

choice and quality of housing, investing in both existing and new homes 
and contributing to wider place-shaping objectives. Create a housing offer 
which provide thermally efficient homes and are able to adapt to climate 
change (Greater Manchester Housing Strategy (2010)) 

Bring vacant/underused properties back into use 

 Local planning authorities should promote and support the development of 
under-utilised land and buildings including identifying and bringing back into 
use empty housing and other buildings, supported by the use of compulsory 
purchase powers where appropriate (NPPF para 118d) 

 The Government is committed to bringing empty homes back into use, as a 
sustainable way of increasing the overall supply of housing and reducing the 
negative impact that neglected empty homes can have on communities (Housing 
Strategy for England – Chapter 5 – summary). 

 Identify and bring into use empty housing (Reducing Empty Properties, p24)  

 Minimise land needed for new housing by making allowance for the 
contribution that can be made by conversions and subdivision (City of Salford 
UDP Policy H5) 

Re-using previously developed land 

 Unlock brownfield land to provide homes faster, requiring local authorities to 
prepare, maintain and publish local registers of specified land (Housing and 
Planning Act 2016) 

 The national annual target is that at least 60 per cent of new housing should 
be provided on previously developed land (Urban White Paper para 7.28) 

Page 450



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 25 

 Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of 
previously developed or ‘brownfield’ land (NPPF para 117) 

 Give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within 
settlements for homes and other identified needs (NPPF para 118) 

Provision of an appropriate mix of housing 

 It is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward 
where it is needed (NPPF para 59) 

 The size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups should be 
assessed and reflected in planning policies (including, but not limited to, those 
who require affordable housing, families with children, older people, students, 
people with disabilities, service families, travellers, people who rent their 
homes and people wishing to commission or build their own homes) (NPPF 
para 61) 

 A duty on local planning authorities to actively promote the development of 
Starter Homes and embed them in the planning system, and support for 
doubling of the number of custom built and self-built homes to 20,000 by 2020 
(Housing & Planning Act 2016) 

 People want and need different things from housing throughout their lives. But 
there are common threads. People need to find housing in the right place – 
enabling them to find work, to maintain contacts with friends and family, and 
often to provide care. Housing needs to be suitable for the size and shape of the 
household – with space for children, or good accessibility in older age. And 
housing can be a source of wealth – opening opportunities at critical life stages, 
such as helping children with their education or into home ownership in their own 
right (Housing Strategy for England Chapter 1 - para 2) 

 Create a sustainable mix of well-integrated decent homes of different types and 
tenures to support a range of household sizes, ages and incomes (Sustainable 
Communities: Building for the Future, key requirements of sustainable 
communities p.5)  

 Duty on local authorities to actively promote the development of Starter 
Homes and embed them in the planning system (Housing and Planning Act 
2016) 

 Support the doubling of the number of custom built and self-built homes to 
20,000 by 2020 (Housing and Planning Act 2016) 

 Provide wider housing opportunity and choice and a better mix in the size, 
type and location of housing…seek to create mixed communities (City of 
Salford UDP Policy H1) 

 Three key objectives have been highlighted: To ensure that the mix of new 
housing helps to build sustainable communities; 2. To ensure that the needs 
of all households are met; and 3. To secure more sustainable patterns of 
development (Salford Housing Planning Guidance) 

 Residential development should contribute to the provision of a balanced mix 
of dwelling types in Lower Broughton that creates an attractive offer, meets 

Page 451



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 26 

the needs of existing residents, enables people to remain in the area as their 
needs change, integrates tenures across the area, meets affordable need, 
provides family housing and underpins economic regeneration (Lower 
Broughton Design Code (Policy LBDC11) 

Housing design (also see design and construction) 

 This Government recognises that our homes need to be well designed, of the 
highest quality and environmentally sustainable. This applies to both new and 
existing homes which, where possible, should be more energy efficient and 
help to reduce our carbon emissions, be resilient to a future climate and 
protect our natural environment. High quality homes in high quality natural 
environments will support our plans for growth and are necessary for social, 
environmental and economic sustainability (Housing Strategy for England – 
Chapter 7 – summary) 

 The key actions that the government will take as part of their strategy to 

reduce emissions are: 

o Accelerating clean growth 
o Improving business and industry efficiency  
o Improving our homes - Improving the energy efficiency of our homes 
o Rolling out low carbon heating 
o Accelerating the shift to low carbon transport  
o Delivering Clean, Smart, Flexible Power  
o Enhancing the benefits and value of our natural resources  
o Leading in the public sector  
o Government leadership in driving clean growth (Clean Growth Strategy) 

 The impact of future climate change is important for the housing sector, given 
the life expectancy of buildings. We may, therefore, need to adapt our existing 
homes to deal with a climate that may be significantly different from that in 
which they were originally built (Housing Strategy for England – Chapter 7 
para 42) 

 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy key themes include: 
o Continuing to raise the quality of the existing housing stock - Enhance 

choice and quality of housing, investing in both existing and new homes 
and contributing to wider place-shaping objectives. Create a housing offer 
which provide thermally efficient homes and are able to adapt to climate 
change (Greater Manchester Housing Strategy (2010)) 

 Align relevant housing strategies with issues around carbon reduction and 
climate adaptation (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 27) 

 Develop local authority new build homes to Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 4 (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 27) 

 Promote good design in new housing development in order to create 
attractive, high-quality living environments that draw out the character of the 
local area (UDP, Policy H1) 

Page 452



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 27 

 All public housing to be built to Lifetime Homes standards by 2011 and an 
aspiration that all new housing will be built to these standards by 2013 
(Lifetime Homes; Lifetime neighbourhoods p14) 

 It is not just lifetime homes that are needed, but lifetime neighbourhoods, 
where people are not left out or forgotten because they cannot access 
buildings or public spaces (Lifetime Homes; Lifetime neighbourhoods p15) 

 Provide the best in housing to encourage city living for the family now and in 
the future (Salford City Council Design SPD p35) 

 

Affordable housing, special needs housing, and housing for minority 
groups 

 Help people stay active, connected and independent, through better support 
in communities and improved housing options (Caring for our future page 10) 

 Social housing is of enormous importance, for the millions who live in social 
homes and for the country as a whole. It can improve people’s life chances, 
providing the support they need, when they need it, to live safe, healthy and 
prosperous lives. It can also support mixed sustainable communities and local 
economies, acting as a springboard to social mobility for those who want to 
make a better life for themselves.  There is a real need for more affordable 
housing. Numbers on social housing waiting lists nearly doubled under the 
previous administration so that there are now 4.5 million people waiting for 
social housing, many of whom currently have no realistic chance of being 
allocated a home (Housing Strategy for England – Chapter 3 – para 1 to 4) 

 Planning homes and communities that enable older people to remain 
economically active, involved with their families, friends and community and 
able to choose where and how they live not only makes financial sense but 
also results in a better, more inclusive society (Housing Strategy for England 
– Chapter 6 – para 26.  

 In developing local policies and strategies regard should be had to the 
provision of specialist housing for older people including looking at the issues 
in housing and land assessments, incorporating it into local plans and 
considering the issue in planning obligations and through the New Homes 
Bonus (Housing in later life p2) 

 Make active ageing the norm rather than the exception, for example by 
building more Lifetime Homes (Healthy Lives Healthy People para 11(e). 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Safe, decent and affordable housing 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy key themes include: 
o Connecting people to the improved housing offer 
o Focus intervention in the most deprived areas, using flexible approaches 

where regeneration can have the greatest impact.  

Page 453



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 28 

o Improve life chances, address housing and diversify deprived 
neighbourhoods in order to generate communities with a greater mix of 
tenure and income levels 

o Improve housing management and the continued availability of 
appropriate and affordable housing related support services 

o Promote independent living and improve joining up of preventative 
services and strategies across housing, health and social care. Provide 
homes that meet current and future needs and recognise the diversity of 
our communities 

(Greater Manchester Housing Strategy (2010)) 

 New developments should contribute to a balanced mix of dwellings in terms 
of size, type, tenure and affordability (UDP, Policy H1) 

 Affordable housing should be provided in areas where there is a 
demonstrable lack of affordable housing to meet local needs on all residential 
sites over 1 hectare, irrespective of the number of dwellings, or in housing 
developments of 25 or more dwellings  (UDP, Policy H4) 

 Affordable housing should be provided in accordance with the council’s 
adopted planning policy (Planning Obligations SPD, policy OB1, June 2015) 

 Where there is a need for affordable housing, policies should specify the type 
of affordable housing required and expect it to be met on site (NPPF para 62) 

 Where major development is proposed, planning policies and decisions 
should expect at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home 
ownership, unless there are reasons for why a development should be 
exempt from this (NPPF para 64) 

 Many older people would like a wider choice of tenure options in specialised 
housing which is largely rental stock. Local authority older people’s housing 
strategies typically focus on social rented specialised housing, missing out 
opportunities for private sector delivery and new tenure options such as 
shared equity. Support for private sector developers and providing wider 
tenure options is an important part of improving choice for older people 
(Lifetime homes, lifetime neighbourhoods p136). 

First Time Buyers/ Starter Homes 

 Local planning authorities should work in a positive and proactive way with 

landowners and developers to secure a supply of sites suitable for housing for 

first- time buyers. In particular, they should look for opportunities to create high 

quality, well designed starter homes through exception sites on commercial 

and industrial land that is either under used or unviable in its current or former 

use, and which has not currently been identified for housing (Written 

Statement: Column 43WS – 2 Match 2015) 

Page 454



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 29 

Student accommodation 

 Important that need for student accommodation is satisfied, in areas that 
planning applications for Student Accommodation will be granted permission 
where they meet certain criteria  (UDP, Policy H7)   

 Any proposal submitted for the development of student housing should be 
accompanied by a needs assessment, and will only be permitted where 
demand can clearly be demonstrated. (Housing Planning Guidance, para 6.2/ 
6.3,) 

Gypsies and travellers 

 Include Gypsies and Travellers in local housing needs assessments and draw 
up a strategy demonstrating how the accommodation needs of Gypsies and 
Travellers will be met as part of wider housing strategies (Housing Act, 2004) 

 Government aims:  
o that local authorities should make their own assessment of need for the 

purposes of planning; 
o to ensure local authorities, working collaboratively, develop fair and 

effective strategies to meet need through the identification of land for sites; 
o to encourage local planning authorities to plan for sites over a reasonable 

timescale; 
o that plan-making and decision-taking should protect Green Belt from 

inappropriate development; 
o to promote more private traveller site provision while recognising that 

there will always be those travellers who cannot provide their own sites; 
o that plan-making and decision-taking should aim to reduce the number of 

unauthorised developments and encampments and make enforcement 
more effective; 

o for local planning authorities to ensure that their Local Plan includes fair, 
realistic and inclusive policies; 

o to increase the number of traveller sites in appropriate locations with 
planning permission, to address under provision and maintain an 
appropriate level of supply; 

o to reduce tensions between settled and traveller communities in plan 
making and planning decisions; to enable provision of suitable 
accommodation from which travellers can access education, health, 
welfare and employment infrastructure; and 

o for local planning authorities to have due regard to the protection of local 
amenity and local environment  
(Planning policy for traveller sites, paragraph 4) 

 Planning applications by travelling people for residential provision will be 
permitted where they meet particular criteria (City of Salford UDP, Policy 
EHC7)   

Page 455



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 30 

Density of new housing 

 Planning policies should support development that makes efficient use of land 
(NPPF para 122).. Where there is a shortage of land for housing it is 
especially important that building homes at low densities is avoided, and that 
developments make optimal use of the potential of the site (NPPF para 123) 

 Avoid developments which make inefficient use of land (less that 30 dwellings 
per ha) and encourage densities between 30 and 50 dwellings per ha, with 
greater intensity at places with good public transport accessibility (UDP, 
Policy H1) 

 Density of development in Lower Broughton should be appropriate to the 
location taking account of the objective of increasing the population of the 
area, the need to provide an attractive green environment, the accessibility of 
the location, the need to provide a good mix of dwellings and the need to 
provide a good standard of amenity (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy 
LBDC10) 

Provision of parking 

 If setting parking standards for residential development, account should be 
taken of accessibility; the type, mix and use of development; availability of 
and opportunities for public transport; local car ownership levels; and spaces 
for charging plug-in vehicles (NPPF para 105). 

 Car parking standards that result, on average, in development with more than 
1.5 off-street car parking spaces are unlikely to reflect the Government’s 
emphasis on securing sustainable residential environments (City of Salford 
UDP, Policy A10)  

 Parking Standards are covered in paragraph 39 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. The following text now needs to be read alongside that 
paragraph: “Local Planning authorities should only impose local parking 
standards for residential and non-residential development where there is a 
clear and compelling justification that it is necessary to manage their local 
road network” (Planning Update: Written Statement – HCWS488 – 25 March 
2015) 

Provision of open space within housing development (also see health) 

 Planning permission for housing development will only be granted where 
adequate and appropriate provision is made for formal and informal open 
space, and its maintenance over a twenty-year period (City of Salford UDP 
Policy H8) 

 Salford City Council’s Planning Obligations SPD will detail the appropriate 
open Space provision for new residential developments, referring to overall 
scale of provision and noting the value of financial contributions for off site 
improvements (City of Salford Greenspace Strategy SPD, para 17.2) 

Page 456



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 31 

References (housing) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2010 Greater Manchester Housing Strategy 
 

DCLG 2015 Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 

DCLG 2008 Lifetime homes, lifetime neighbourhoods – A 
national strategy for housing in an ageing 
society 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering an Urban 
Renaissance 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

Greater Manchester 
Economic Advisory 
Panel 

2011 Greater Manchester Growth Plan 

HM Government 2018 Clean Growth Strategy 

HM Government  2016 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 – 
2021 

HM Government 2015 Written Statement: Column 43WS – 2 March 
2015 

HM Government 2015 Long Term Economic Plan for the North West 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2012 Caring for our future: reforming care and 
support – White Paper summary 

HM Government 2011 White Paper: Healthy Lives, Healthy People: 
Our Strategy for Public Health in England 

HM Government 2011 Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy 
for England) 

HM Government 2004 Housing Act 2004 

National Housing 
Federation, Tetlow 
King Planning, 
McCarthy & Stone, 
Contact Consulting 
and the Housing LIN 

2012 Housing in later life: Planning ahead for 
specialist housing for older people 
 

Salford CC 2017 No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in 
Salford 

Salford City Council 2015 Salford Housing Planning Guidance (policies 
saved beyond 18 June 2015) 

Salford City Council 2015 Planning Obligations SPD 

Page 457



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 32 

Salford City Council 2015 Housing Planning Guidance – Policies saved 
beyond 18 June 2015 

Salford City Council 2010 Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004 – 2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2008 Shaping Salford: Design Supplementary 
Planning Document 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford West Strategic Regeneration 
Framework and Action Plan 2008 – 2028. 
 

Salford City Council 2006 Greenspace Strategy, Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) 

Salford City Council 2006 Lower Broughton Design Code 

Salford City Council 2006 Part of the bigger picture: affordable housing 
in Salford 

Secretary of State for 
Communities and 
Local Government 

2015 Planning Update: Written Statement – 
HCWS488 – 25 March 2015 
 

 
  

Page 458



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 33 

Employment 

Economic growth 

 The Government’s economic policy objective is to achieve strong, sustainable 
and balanced growth that is more evenly shared across the country and 
between industries. The Plan for Growth contains four overarching ambitions 
that will ensure the progress is made towards achieving this economic 
objective. The ambitions are: 
o to create the most competitive tax system in the G20 
o to make the UK one of the best places in Europe to start, finance and 

grow a business 
o to encourage investment and exports as a route to a more balanced 

economy; and 
o to create a more educated workforce that is the most flexible in Europe 

(Plan for Growth p5, para 1.2 and para 1.14) 

 The Governments economic ambition is to create a fairer and more balanced 
economy – one that is not so dependent on a narrow range of economic 
sectors, is driven by private sector growth and has new business 
opportunities that are more evenly balanced across the country and between 
industries. The Government is therefore determined that all parts of the 
country benefit from sustainable economic growth (Local Growth para 1.1).  

 The number of people living and working in the city and the number of new 
businesses starting up or relocating to Salford is increasing rapidly. To meet 
the futures skills of Salford residents and employers there are three key 
strategic priorities:  

 Young people achieving and progressing in education and work 

 Adults connecting to and progressing in employment and training 

 Employers creating accessible, quality and sustainable work and training 
opportunities (Salford employment and skills strategy, 2017) 

 For sustainable growth to be driven by private sector investment, enterprise 
and job creation, government needs to be pro-active in ensuring policy acts in 
a way that supports growth rather than hampers it. This requires tough 
choices and putting economic growth ahead of other priorities (The Plan for 
Growth para 1.12).The government has identified five foundations of 
productivity which are "the essential attributes of every successful economy". 
These are: 

 Ideas (R&D, innovation) 
 People (skills and education) 
 Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
 Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
 Places (tackling regional disparities) 

Improving the Five Foundation will enable to UK to tackle a series of Grand 
Challenges which will help the UK "take advantage of global changes, 
improve people's lives and the country's productivity." The Grand Challenges 
are:  

Page 459

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 34 

1. AI and the data revolution (how to embed and maximise the advantages 
of AI and data) 

2. Clean growth (low carbon technologies across the economy) 
3. Mobility (low carbon transport, automation, infrastructure) 
4. Aging society (healthcare and labour market challenges) 

(UK Industrial Strategy) 

 Six-point long-term economic plan for the north-west: 

o increase the long term growth rate of the north west to at least the forecast 
growth of the whole UK, by building a northern powerhouse; 

o raise the employment rate in the north-west to that of the UK average; 
o deliver the largest ever and most sustained investment in the long-term 

transport infrastructure for the north-west; 
o make the north-west a global centre of outstanding scientific innovation, 

with a particular focus on material science, biomedicine, supercomputing 
and energy with major investments in the excellent universities and NHS 
teaching hospitals in the region, and making sure the energy resources 
are used to the benefit of local people; 

o raise the quality of life in the north-west by supporting its great cultural and 
sporting strengths, building up to 25,000 new homes, nurturing the rural 
environment and improving education outcomes in the region’s schools so 
over 75,000 more pupils attend outstanding schools; 

o give greater power and voice to the great cities and counties of the north-
west, delivering a new directly-elected Mayor for Greater Manchester, and 
supporting other areas with appropriate plans to give people greater 
control over their local economy and local government (Long Term 
Economic Plan for the North West) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Good jobs, with opportunities for people to progress and develop 

o A thriving and productive economy in all parts of Greater Manchester 

(Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Planning should create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand 
and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth and productivity (NPPF para 80) 

 The planning system has a key role to play by ensuring that the sustainable 
development needed to support economic growth is able to proceed as easily 
as possible (Planning for Growth Ministerial Statement) 

 The Government's top priority in reforming the planning system is to promote 
sustainable economic growth and jobs. Government's clear expectation is that 
the answer to development and growth should wherever possible be 'yes', 
except where this would compromise the key sustainable development 
principles set out in national planning policy (Planning for Growth Ministerial 
Statement) 

 Where local authorities do not have plans for development, or they are silent, 
out of date or indeterminate, this policy will mean that local authorities should 

Page 460



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 35 

start from the presumption that applications for development and job creation 
will be accepted, for example, in relation to disused commercial premises or 
former Ministry of Defence sites (Plan for Growth para 2.12) 

 Sustainable Communities are “Thriving – with a flourishing and diverse local 
economy” (UK Sustainability Strategy p.186 Criterion ‘5’ of 8) 

 Build a strong, stable and sustainable economy, which provides prosperity 
and opportunities for all and social costs fall on those who impose them 
(polluter pays) and efficient resource is incentivised. (Securing the Future 
p.16). 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 
be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 
other things it emphasises the importance of: 
o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting existing 

needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

 Vision for manufacturing in Greater Manchester: An SME-driven 

manufacturing sector that’s GVA has grown by over 30% by 2023 and 

mirrors our edgy, curious and creative attitude in its exploration of new 

technologies and process innovation, and in doing so, takes full advantage of 

our world-leading research in advanced materials and our growing digital 

skills pool. Strategic Objectives: 

o To develop strong leadership within the manufacturing sector in Greater 
Manchester so that it is best placed to respond to the transformative 
changes that the sector will see over the next decade.  

o To promote and enhance the profile of the sector to attract a future 
workforce into a productive career in manufacturing.  

o To build a multi skilled adaptable workforce that is able to embrace 
change and take advantage of new market opportunities.  

o To create the necessary collaborative and supportive environment to drive 
sector investment, exporting and growth.  

o Ensure the necessary supporting energy, transport, digital infrastructure 
and sites are in place to support the growth of the sector. 

(GM Manufacturing Strategy) 
 

 Salford City Mayor’s Charter for Employment Standards contains a suite of 
pledges focused in three categories: 
o Putting Salford first: creating training and employment opportunities for 

Salford people, particularly those facing greatest disadvantage 

Page 461



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 36 

o Buying in Salford: looking to purchase Salford goods and services at every 
practicable opportunity 

o Setting the standard: promoting the adoption of the best possible working 
practices and conditions, such as working towards the introduction of a 
living wage, a commitment to eradicating the illegal practice of blacklisting 
and opposing the use of zero hours contracts (Salford City Mayor Charter 
for Employment Standards) 

 The strategy identifies a vision “for a fairer and more inclusive Salford where 
everyone is able to reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling 
lives free from poverty and inequality” and identifies actions across three key 
themes:  

1. Supporting people in to work 

2. Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place 

including by creating decent jobs with decent pay, ensuring enough 

good quality decent homes are provided at a price people can 

afford and enhancing green infrastructure. 

3. Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get 

a better deal for Salford including by highlighting the unfairness of 

current planning rules in relation to affordable housing. 

(No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford) 

 Deliver a successful local economy and business location of choice, with 
growing direct appeal to high value manufacturing, R&D, professional and 
business services, leisure, tourism and logistics. A highly skilled motivated 
workforce will actively contribute to the transformed economy of the city 
region and the accelerated growth agenda (Salford West Strategic 
Regeneration Framework p.28) 

Encouraging inward investment 

 Planning policies should recognise and seek to address potential barriers to 
investment, including inadequate infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor 
environment (NPPF para 81). 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 
be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 
other things it emphasises the importance of: 
o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting existing 

needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

Page 462



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 37 

Green economy 

 International commitment to sustainable production and consumption 
(Johannesburg Declaration 2002) 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy include: To promote sustainable consumption and 
production patterns (European Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 Our vision is that our green economy of the future will: 

o Grow sustainably and for the long term 

o Use natural resources efficiently 

o Be more resilient 

o Exploit competitive advantages 

(Enabling the Transition to a Green Economy) 

 Clean growth (low carbon technologies across the economy) is one of 5 

Grand Challenges identified in the UK Industrial Strategy (UK Industrial 

Strategy) 

 The key actions that the government will take as part of their strategy to 

reduce emissions are: 

o Accelerating clean growth 
o Improving business and industry efficiency  
o Improving our homes - Improving the energy efficiency of our homes 
o Rolling out low carbon heating 
o Accelerating the shift to low carbon transport  
o Delivering Clean, Smart, Flexible Power  
o Enhancing the benefits and value of our natural resources  
o Leading in the public sector  
o Government leadership in driving clean growth (Clean Growth Strategy) 

 Five point plan to tackle climate change: 
1. Protecting the public from immediate risk 
2. Preparing for the future 
3. Limiting the severity of future climate change through a new international 

climate agreement 
4. Building a low carbon UK 
5. Supporting individuals and businesses to play their part 

(UK Low Carbon Transition Plan – national strategy for climate and 

energy) 

 Industry makes up nearly a quarter of the UK’s total emissions. Over 80% of 

these emissions originate from generating the heat that is needed for 

industrial processes such as manufacturing steel and ceramics, and the 

remainder from chemical reactions involved in processes such as cement 

production. By 2050, the Government expects industry to have delivered its 

fair share of emissions cuts, achieving reductions of up to 70% from 2009 

levels (The Carbon Plan para 37)  

Page 463



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 38 

 Create a green economy, in which economic growth and the health of our 
natural resources sustain each other, and markets, business and Government 
better reflect the value of nature (The Natural Choice – paragraph 3) 

 Mainstream the value of nature across society by: Creating a green 
economy, in which economic growth and the health of our natural resources 
sustain each other, and markets, business and Government better reflect the 
value of nature (Natural Environment White Paper, paragraph 3) 

 Make a rapid transition to a low carbon economy (GM Climate Change 
Strategy page 18) 

 By 2020 establish a new generation of low carbon businesses and social 
enterprises trading in energy generation and efficiency, retrofitting, transport 
services, digital technology, urban food production, material re-use & 
resource efficiency and ecosystem services (GM Climate Change Strategy 
page 40). 

 Develop business and employment linkage to AGMA low carbon economy 
and explore opportunities to retrofit green attributes to business parks 
(Salford’s Climate Change strategy page 36) 

 In future, we will increasingly need to rely on more cyclical production and 
consumption processes (Securing the Future p.47) 

 Promote more radical new design solutions, which benefit the environment 
and the economy (Securing the Future p.47)  

 Ensure new work places are linked to walking and cycling networks (NICE 
Public Health Guidance 8 p.9) 

Managing employment development 

 Local planning authorities should allocate a range of suitable sites in town 
centres to meet the scale and type of development likely to be needed, 
looking at least 10 years ahead. It is important that development needs  
should not be compromised by limited site availability (NPPF para 85d). 

 LPAs should set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively 
and proactively encourages economic growth, set criteria or identify strategic 
sites, and set planning policies that are flexible and rapidly respond to 
changes in the economy (NPPF para 81) When undertaking Employment 
Land Reviews, it is important to consider the full range of employment 
opportunities, including appropriate waste management proposals, before 
releasing sites for non-employment uses, such as housing (Implementing the 
Waste Framework Directive, p.8) 

 Invest  in existing business locations (in particular Northbank, Wardley, and 
Agecroft) and establish new employment locations (in particular Ashton’s 
Field and Wharton Lane) to enable Salford West to become a business 
location of choice (Salford West Regeneration Framework p.38 and 39) 

 Planning policies and decision need to reflect changes in the demand for 
land, informed by regular reviews of both the land allocated for development 
in plans and of land availability (NPPF para 120) 

Page 464



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 39 

 Within Established Employment Area, planning permission will be granted for 
a range of employment related developments, planning permission will only 
be granted for non-employment uses where it would not compromise the 
operating conditions of other remaining employment uses and: 

o there is no current or likely future demand; or 
o there is a strong environmental case; or 
o it would contribute to the implementation of an approved 

regeneration strategy or plan; or 
o the site is allocated for another use. 
(UDP Policy E5, Established Employment Areas SPD) 

Targeting growth sectors and knowledge based industries 

 Science and research underpin innovation and have a vital role to play in 
building a technologically advanced economy that supports growth and 
productivity, enables the UK to stay ahead of its international competitors, 
and delivers wider benefits to society. Cutting-edge science cannot happen 
without high quality facilities and equipment. The UK’s research and science 
infrastructure has been a key to success so far and will be crucial in building 
on this momentum to remain globally competitive (National Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 10.1 – 10.3) 

 Encourage growth in the sectors covered by the Growth Review so far: 
healthcare and life sciences; advanced manufacturing; construction; digital 
and creative industries; retail; professional and business services; the space 
industry; and tourism (The Growth Plan p.8) 

 Six-point long-term economic plan for the north-west: 

o make the north-west a global centre of outstanding scientific innovation, 
with a particular focus on material science, biomedicine, supercomputing 
and energy with major investments in the excellent universities and NHS 
teaching hospitals in the region, and making sure the energy resources 
are used to the benefit of local people (Long Term Economic Plan for the 
North West) 

 Provide creative industries accommodation for both indigenous and new 
creative businesses in the Chapel Street South area, building on the existing 
creative enterprises at Islington Mill and the area around it as a hub for the 
creative industries sector (Salford Central Development Framework) 

 Encourage the development of a Knowledge Capital, consisting of a cluster of 
knowledge-based employment, education-related uses, cultural facilities and 
other complementary uses around Salford University linking through to the 
universities within Manchester (UDP Policy E3) and linked to this further 
develop the Innovation Park allocation as a location for new businesses and 
knowledge-based employment (UDP Policy E2) 

Page 465



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 40 

Regional centre 

 Encourage the spread of Grade A office development across the river into the 
Salford Central area to bring economic benefit to the wider area (Salford 
Central Development Framework p33) 

Regional investment sites 

 Develop the Barton Strategic Employment site to create a multi-modal port 
and rail facility and/or a mix of light and general industry, warehouse and 
distribution, and ancillary offices and other uses plus a sports stadium for 
Salford City Reds and appropriate enabling (UDP Policy E1) 

 Maximise the benefits of key development sites at Barton (Salford West 
Regeneration Framework p.38) 

Mediacity:uk 

 Maximise the benefits of mediacity:uk, with a focus on Salford Quays but also 
as a major regeneration opportunity for Salford West (Salford West 
Regeneration Framework p.38). 

 Link with the opportunities presented by MediaCityUK by redeveloping 
existing employment sites south of Eccles New Road for higher value 
employment uses (Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan Statement 6). 

Freight and Logistics (see also transport) 

 Define a strategy for moving towards ‘zero-emission urban logistics’ by 2030, 
bringing together aspects of land planning, rail and river access, business 
practices and information, charging and vehicle technology standards (EU 
Transport White Paper p27) 

 Establish an appropriate framework to optimise the internal market for inland 
waterway transport, and to remove barriers that prevent its increased use. 
Assess and define the necessary tasks and mechanisms for their execution, 
also with a view to the wider European context (EU Transport White Paper 
p.19)  

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: 
o ports and airports providing improved international and domestic links 

(Future of Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 The government seeks to encourage sustainable port development that will 
cater for long-term growth in import and export trade volumes by sea and 
continue to support domestic freight movements. Its role is to facilitate a 
competitive and efficient port industry which is cost effective and operates in 
a timely manner, and which will contribute to long-term economic growth and 
prosperity (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 5.15) 

Page 466



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 41 

 When planning for ports, airports and airfields plans should take account of 
their growth and role in serving business, leisure, training and emergency 
service needs (NPPF para 33) 

 Provide for the sustainable movement of freight (NW Freight Strategy p.10 
and 11). 

 30% of road freight over 300km should shift to other modes such as rail or 
waterborne transport by 2030, and more than 50% by 2050, facilitated by 
efficient and green freight corridors. To meet this goal will also require 
appropriate infrastructure to be developed (EU White Paper para 2.5) 

 The main objectives of Government policy for Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchanges are to reduce road congestion; reduce carbon emissions; 
support long-term development of efficient rail freight distribution logistics; 
support growth and create employment. Government aims to meet these 
objectives by encouraging the development of a robust infrastructure network 
of Strategic Rail Freight Interchanges (SRFI guidance, para 2.1) 

 It is important that SRFIs are located near the business markets they will 
serve - major urban centres, or groups of centres - and are linked to key 
supply chain routes. The need for effective connections for both rail and road 
means that the number of locations suitable as SRFI will be limited (SRFI 
guidance, para 2.3.4) 

 The Government seeks to:  
o encourage sustainable port development to cater for long-term forecast 

growth in volumes of imports and exports by sea with a competitive and 
efficient port industry capable of meeting the needs of importers and 
exporters cost effectively and in a timely manner, thus contributing to 
long-term economic growth and prosperity;  

o allow judgments about when and where new developments might be 
proposed to be made on the basis of commercial factors by the port 
industry or port developers operating within a free market environment; 
and  

o ensure all proposed developments satisfy the relevant legal, 
environmental and social constraints and objectives, including those in 
the relevant European Directives and corresponding national 
regulations (Ports NPS, para 3.3.1) 

 In order to help meet the requirements of the Government’s policies on 
sustainable development, new port infrastructure should also; contribute to 
local employment, regeneration and development; ensure competition and 
security of supply; preserve, protect and where possible improve marine and 
terrestrial biodiversity; minimise emissions of greenhouse gases from port 
related development; be well designed, functionally and environmentally; be 
adapted to the impacts of climate change; minimise use of greenfield land; 
provide high standards of protection for the natural environment;  ensure that 
access to and condition of heritage assets are maintained and improved 
where necessary; and enhance access to ports and the jobs, services and 

Page 467



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 42 

social networks they create, including for the most disadvantaged (Ports NPS 
3.3.3 and 3.3.4) 

 The Government wishes to see port development wherever possible: being 
an engine for economic growth; supporting sustainable transport by offering 
more efficient transport links with lower external costs; and supporting 
sustainable development by providing additional capacity for the 
development of renewable energy (Ports NPS, para 3.3.5) 

 The Government believes that there is a compelling need for substantial 
additional port capacity over the next 20–30 years, to be met by a 
combination of development already consented and development for which 
applications have yet to be received. Excluding the possibility of providing 
additional capacity for the movement of goods and commodities through new 
port development would be to accept limits on economic growth and on the 
price, choice and availability of goods imported into the UK and available to 
consumers. It would also limit the local and regional economic benefits that 
new developments might bring. Such an outcome would be strongly against 
the public interest (Ports NPS, para 3.4.16) 

 By bringing together groups of related businesses within and around the 
estate, ports also create a cluster effect, which supports economic growth by 
encouraging innovation and the creation and development of new business 
opportunities (Ports NPS, para 3.1.7) 

 The vision for GM is to provide ‘world-class connections that support long-
term sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all’. The 
specific aspirations of this relating to freight and logistics focus on two key 
aims:  
1. To maximise economic growth and competitiveness by boosting the 
network integration and efficiency of freight transport in GM and across the 
North and creating employment opportunities.  
2. To minimise the social and environmental impacts of the industry and 
encourage sustainable distribution (GM Freight and logistics strategy) 

 GM Key objectives for freight and logistics: 

1. To improve journey times and journey time reliability to create a more 

efficient environment for freight operating companies (FOCs) to operate in.  

2. To keep the total cost of freight and logistics as low as possible for 

operators and society and therefore reduce the impact on the overall price of 

goods; supporting the local economy.  

3. To ensure the regional infrastructure is capable of meeting future growth 

and demand.  

4. To focus available funding for investment across the road and rail 

networks.  

5. To increase network integration (rail/road/maritime/distribution centres).  

6. To increase GM’s share in the market for logistics space.  

Page 468



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 43 

7. To measure and actively reduce carbon levels generated by road freight 

transport.  

8. To reduce the impacts of freight to improve air quality in line with 

Government-set targets.  

9. To reduce the impact of noise, traffic disruption and congestion on local 

residents.  

10. To improve safety for, and reduce accident numbers involving, cyclists 

and HGVs (GM Freight and logistics strategy) 

 Work with industry to find alternatives to heavy freight and reduce excess 
lorry and van travel in urban areas (Made to Move) 

 Facilitate the transfer of freight from road to rail and/or water by: 
o  the identification of sites for inter-modal freight terminals including South 

West Greater Manchester (with access to the West Coast Main Line and 
Chat Moss rail route)(UDP Policy E1 - Barton) 

o Directing development to sites readily connected to the rail/water/port 
network (NW Freight Strategy p.11);  and  

o Protecting and enhancing relevant infrastructure (UDP Policy ST5)(NW 
Freight Strategy p.11) 

 Significant potential for an increase in freight traffic on the Manchester Ship 
Canal (NW Freight Strategy p.11, 32 and 34). 

 By 2050 connect all core network airports to the rail network, preferably high-
speed; ensure that all core seaports are sufficiently connected to the rail 
freight and, where possible, inland waterway system (EU Transport White 
Paper para 2.5). 

 Support multimodal transport and single wagon load business, stimulate the 
integration of inland waterways into the transport system and promote eco-
innovation in freight transport. Support the deployment of new vehicles and 
vessels and retrofitting (EU Transport White Paper p28) 

Entrepreneurial culture/ business start-ups 

 The government has identified five foundations of productivity which are "the 
essential attributes of every successful economy". These are: 

 Ideas (R&D, innovation) 
 People (skills and education) 
 Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
 Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
 Places (tackling regional disparities) 
(UK Industrial Strategy) 

 National target to build an enterprise society in which small firms of all kinds 
thrive and achieve their potential, with an improvement in the overall 
productivity of small firms (Securing the Future p.170) 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 
be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 
other things it emphasises the importance of: 

Page 469

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 44 

o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting existing 

needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

 Ensure business start up and support services are promoted and taken up 

throughout the area (Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan – 

Statement 6) 

Income 

 National target to halve the number of children in relatively low income 
households between 1998-99 and 2010-11, on the way to eradicating poverty 
by 2020 including: reducing the proportion of children living in workless 
households by 5% between spring 2005 and spring 2008; and increasing the 
proportion of Parents with Care on Income Support and income based 
Jobseeker’s allowance who receive maintenance for their children to 65% by 
March 2008 (Securing the Future p.172) 

Rural economy (also see land and soil and countryside & landscape) 

 Planning policies should support a prosperous rural economy. Policies and 
decisions should enable: 
o The sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and 

enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and 
well designed new buildings 

o Promote the development and diversification of agricultural and other 
land-based rural businesses 

o Support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that respect 
the character of the countryside 

o Promote the retention and development of local services and community 
facilities in villages (NPPF para 83) 

 Support development that delivers diverse and sustainable farming 
enterprises (UDP Policy EN4)  

 Recognise the need for diversification and further development of the rural 
economy that maintains viable and sustainable local communities and 
respects particular environmental sensitivity and distinctiveness (UDP Policy 
ST3 and EN5) 

Mobile and home working 

 The government has identified five foundations of productivity which are "the 
essential attributes of every successful economy". These are: 

 Ideas (R&D, innovation) 

Page 470

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 45 

 People (skills and education) 
 Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
 Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
 Places (tackling regional disparities) 

Improving the Five Foundation will enable to UK to tackle a series of Grand 
Challenges which will help the UK "take advantage of global changes, 
improve people's lives and the country's productivity." The Grand Challenges 
are:  

1. AI and the data revolution (how to embed and maximise the advantages 

of AI and data) 

2. Clean growth (low carbon technologies across the economy) 

3. Mobility (low carbon transport, automation, infrastructure) 

4. Aging society (healthcare and labour market challenges) 

(UK Industrial Strategy) 

 Allow for new and flexible working practices (such as live-work 

accommodation) (NPPF para 81d) 

References (employment) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 The Greater Manchester Climate Change 
Strategy 2011 – 2020 

BIS 2010 The path to strong, sustainable and balanced 
growth. 

DfT 2012 National Policy Statement for Ports 

DfT 2011 Strategic Rail Freight Interchange Policy 
Guidance 
 

DfT 2004 The Future of Transport White Paper 2004: A 
network for 2030 

DCLG 2012 Guidance for local planning authorities on 
implementing planning requirements of the 
European Union Waste Framework Directive 
(2008/98/EC) 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance 

European 
Commission 

2011 European Transport White Paper 2011 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

Page 471

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 46 

GMCA 2016 Greater Manchester Freight and Logistics 
Transport Strategy 

GMCA and GM Local 
Enterprise Partnership 

2015 Greater Manchester Manufacturing Strategy 
2015 

Greater Manchester 
Economic Advisory 
Panel 

2011 Greater Manchester Growth Plan 

HM Government 2018 Clean Growth Strategy 

HM Government 2017 Building a Britain Fit for the Future – UK 
Industrial Strategy 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

HM Government 2015 Long Term Economic Plan for the North West 

HM Government  2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

   

HM Government 2011 Natural Environment White Paper 2011 – The 
Natural Choice, securing the value of nature 

HM Government 2011 Enabling the Transition to a Green Economy 

HM Government  2011 Plan for Growth 

HM Government  2011 Planning for Growth: Ministerial Statement 

HM Government  2011 The Carbon Plan: Delivering our Low Carbon 
Future 

HM Government  2011 The Natural Choice – securing the value of 
nature 

HM Government  2010 Local Growth: Realising every place’s 
potential 

HM Government 2009 The UK low Carbon Transition Plan – National 
Strategy for Climate and Energy 

HM Government  2005 Securing the Future – delivering UK 
sustainable strategy. 

Salford CC 2017 No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford 

Salford CC 2014 Salford City Mayor Charter for Employment 
Standards 

Salford City Council 2017 Salford employment and skills strategy 

Salford City Council  2010 Established Employment Areas SPD 

Salford City Council  2010 Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 

Salford City Council  2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 
– 2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 2009 

Salford City Council  2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford West Strategic Regeneration 
Framework and Action Plan 2008 – 2028. 

United Nations 2002 Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable 
Development 

 

Page 472



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 47 

  
  
  

  

Page 473



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 48 

Retail and town centres 

Promoting growth and managing centres  

 Local planning authorities should support the role that town centres play at 
the heart of local communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth 
(NPPF para 85) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 
o Co-location of community  facilities - The co-location and concentration of 

retail, community and associated uses to support linked trips should be 

promoted. A mix of land uses and activities should be promoted that avoid 

the uniform zoning of large areas to single uses. Creating multiple reasons 

to visit a destination, minimising the number and length of trips and 

increasing the awareness and convenience of opportunities to participate 

in sport and physical activity (Active Design).  

  Identify roles and mechanisms for driving demand in the worst performing 
centres and enabling the more successful centres to meet retailer and 
customer requirements. Develop the emerging office market in Eccles and 
build on the retail centres of Swinton and Walkden (Salford West 
Regeneration Framework p.41). 

 Secure the provision of a comprehensive and accessible range of retail, 
leisure, social and community facilities through protecting the vitality and 
viability of town and neighbourhood centres, adopting a sequential approach 
to the location of new development and facilitating development which meets 
identified need, following the hierarchical approach to the location and scale 
of new development in order to achieve this (UDP Policy ST9) 

 Loss of shops through change of uses from A1 use to other uses will be 
resisted in defined town and neighbourhood centres where this would impact 
on the vitality and viability of the centre in question (UDP Policy S3) 

 Parking charges can have a real impact on the success of the high street. 
Local areas should implement free controlled parking schemes that work for 
their town centres and we should have a new parking league table (High 
Streets at the Heart of our Communities) 

 

Networks and hierarchies of centres  

 LPAs should define a network and hierarchy of town centres and promote 
their long term vitality and viability, by allowing them to grow and diversify in a 
way that can respond to rapid changes (NPPF para 7a) 

 A three-tier hierarchy is in operation within Salford to control the scale and 
location of retail and leisure development. 1) Town Centres (made up of 
Salford Precinct, Eccles, Swinton and Walkden) 2) 18 neighbourhood centres 
3) other local shops. Through this the vitality and viability of town and 

Page 474



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 49 

neighbourhood centres can be protected and local needs met (UDP Policy 
ST9)  

 Development should be planned at the appropriate scale for the centre (UDP 
Policy S1)  

Allocating sites and considering applications for town centre uses 

 Planning policies should allocate a range of suitable sites in town centres to 
meet anticipated needs for retail, leisure, office and other main town centre 
uses  (NPPF para 85d) 

 Where suitable and viable town centre sites are not available for main town 
centre uses, allocate appropriate edge of centres sites that are well 
connected to the town centre. If sufficient edge of centre sites cannot be 
identified, policies should explain how identified needs can be met in other 
accessible locations that are well connected to the town centre (NPPF para 
85e) 
 
Recognise that residential development can play an important role in ensuring 
the vitality of centres and set out policies to encourage residential 
development on appropriate sites (NPPF para 85f) 

 Retail development and other major generators of travel should be focused in 
existing centres in order to strengthen, regenerate and protect their current 
role (UDP Policy ST9)  

 Local planning authorities should apply a sequential test to planning 
applications for main town centre uses which are neither in an existing centre 
nor in accordance with an up to date plan. Main town centre uses should be 
located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; only if suitable sites 
are not available should out of centre sites be considered. (NPPF para 86) 

Impact assessment 

 When assessing applications for retail, leisure and office development outside 
of town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date Local Plan, 
local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if the 
development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there 
is no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500sqm) (NPPF para 89). 

Area based policies on town centres and town centre uses 

 Four areas (Chapel Street West, Chapel Street East, Salford Quays and 
Ordsall Lane Riverside Corridor) to be developed as vibrant mixed-use areas 
with a broad range of uses and activities within them, including the following 
town centre uses: 
o Offices 
o Tourism, including hotels 
o Leisure 
o Retail and food and drink uses, where consistent with the retail and leisure 

policies of the UDP (UDP Policy MX1) 

Page 475



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 50 

 The Adephi area will include new mixed-use development along the riverside 
providing commercial, residential, retail and leisure uses (Salford Central 
Planning Guidance Policy SC10) 

 Chapel Street South to include smaller scale high quality adaptable 
contemporary commercial units in a range of sizes complemented by smaller 
scale retail, leisure, community and cultural (Salford Central Planning 
Guidance Policy SC13) 

 Middlewood to provide a mix of residential commercial and leisure 
development (Salford Central Planning Guidance Policy SC11) 

 Locate retail and A3 and A4 uses (cafes/restaurants and bars) where they 
can benefit either from passing trade or at focal locations within the area. 
These include sites around the station, on Chapel Street, with a cluster 
around St. John’s Place and Bexley Square, and around the canal basin 
within Middlewood. The vaults under the station offer opportunity for 
commuter based retail, such as local foodstores, restaurants, cafes, as well 
as leisure facilities, or health clubs to add to the vitality of the setting. The 
nature of the retail and food and drink uses will vary with independent 
retailers encouraged on Chapel Street in order to create a more distinctive 
character to the place (Salford Central Development Framework page 51) 

 Improve the attractiveness and retail offer at West One in conjunction with the 
owners and taking into account the needs of the local community and its 
proximity to Eccles town centre (Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan 
Statement 5). 

 Retail and community uses should be focussed on streets and junctions at 
key locations in Lower Broughton, and should be designed as a vital part of 
the streetscape, create high quality public realms and local landmarks, 
demonstrate a clear strategy as to the mix of uses and, in the case of new 
build, face directly on to main streets (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy 
LBDC12)   

Markets 

 Local authorities should view markets as an integral part of the vision for their 
town centres and they should remove unnecessary barriers that may hinder 
or deter potential traders (High Streets at the heart of our communities) 

Take aways 

 

 When considering whether hot food takeaway would result in an 
overconcentration to the detriment of the vitality or viability of a town or 
neighbourhood centre regard will be had to the number and proximity, the 
type and characteristics, existence of vacant shop units, importance of the 
location for local shipping, the potential benefits for the wider community and 
any known unresolved amenity, traffic or safety issues (Hot Food Take Aways 
SPD policy HFTA1, Pendleton Planning Guidance Policy) 

Page 476



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 51 

Leisure uses  

 MX1 areas within the UDP are identified as key locations for the development 
of a range of leisure facilities (UDP Policy MX1) 

References (retail and town centres) 

 

Source Date  Title 

DCLG 2012 High Streets at the Heart of our Communities:  
the Government's Response to the Mary 
Portas Review 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

Salford City Council 2014 Hot Food Take Aways SPD 

Salford City Council  2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 
– 2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Pendleton Planning Guidance 

Salford City Council  2009 Salford Central Development Framework 

Salford City Council  2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan. 

Salford City Council  2008 Salford Central Planning Guidance 

Salford City Council  2008 Salford West Regeneration Framework and 
Action Plan 2008-2028. 

   

Salford City Council  2006 Lower Broughton Design Code 

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

 
 
 
  

Page 477



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 52 

Education 

General 

 Building and maintaining modern and effective social infrastructure is a key 
part of delivering the government’s aims and objectives in health, education 
and criminal justice sectors (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 para 12.1) 

 The government is committed to the delivery of schools infrastructure to help 
ensure there are enough high quality school places for all children who need 
one and every child receives the very best education (National Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 12.3). 

 It is important that a sufficient choice of school places is viable to meet the 
needs of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should 
take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this 
requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They 
should: 
o Give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and 
o Work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to 

identify and resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted 
(NPPF para 94) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for community facilities 
such as for education (NPPF para 20c) Deliver better education standards in 
all areas, and in particular in deprived areas (Urban White Paper para 7.28) 

 Six-point long-term economic plan for the north-west: 

o raise the quality of life in the north-west by supporting its great cultural and 
sporting strengths, building up to 25,000 new homes, nurturing the rural 
environment and improving education outcomes in the region’s schools so 
over 75,000 more pupils attend outstanding schools (Long Term 
Economic Plan for the North West) 

 Schools and colleges play a vital role in the life of local communities. Existing 
facilities sometimes operate from poor buildings and/or constrained sites, and 
the improvement and renewal of such facilities will therefore be supported 
(UDP Policy EHC1) 

 New housing development will generate an additional requirement for school 
places. A developer contribution will therefore be sought towards the 
expansion of primary schools within the city in order to accommodate the 
additional requirement for pupil places. In certain instances where there are 
no opportunities to expand existing schools within the surrounding area, a 
developer may be required to set aside land for a school (Planning 
Obligations SPD) 

 Maximise opportunities to open up facilities in schools to the wide community 
(Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan – Statement 10). 

Page 478



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 53 

Improve education and skills levels of the population 

 The government has identified five foundations of productivity which are "the 
essential attributes of every successful economy". These are: 

 Ideas (R&D, innovation) 
 People (skills and education) 
 Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
 Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
 Places (tackling regional disparities) 

 (UK Industrial Strategy) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Children starting school ready to learn 

o Young people equipped for life 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 The Strategic Objectives of the GM Manufacturing Strategy include: 

o To promote and enhance the profile of the sector to attract a future 
workforce into a productive career in manufacturing.  

o To build a multi skilled adaptable workforce that is able to embrace 
change and take advantage of new market opportunities.  

 (GM Manufacturing Strategy) 

 Salford City Mayor’s Charter for Employment Standards contains a suite of 
pledges focused in three categories: 
o Putting Salford first: creating training and employment opportunities for 

Salford people, particularly those facing greatest disadvantage 
o Buying in Salford: looking to purchase Salford goods and services at every 

practicable opportunity 
o Setting the standard: promoting the adoption of the best possible working 

practices and conditions, such as working towards the introduction of a 
living wage, a commitment to eradicating the illegal practice of blacklisting 
and opposing the use of zero hours contracts (Salford City Mayor Charter 
for Employment Standards) 

 Raise primary and secondary school standards and participation in post 16 
learning; to ensure higher standards, improve attendance and behaviour, 
improve outcomes for children with special education needs (SEN), ensure 
opportunities for post 16’s and integrate services into schools (Every Child 
Matters, p. 27) 

 Simplify the performance management system for children’s services through 
streamlining planning requirements, building on reforms already undertaken 
such as the creation of Education Plans (Every Child Matters, p. 75) 

References (education) 

 

Source Date  Title 

   

Page 479

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 54 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA and GM Local 
Enterprise Partnership 

2015 Greater Manchester Manufacturing Strategy 
2015 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

HM Government 2017 Building a Britain Fit for the Future – UK 
Industrial Strategy 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 – 
2021 

HM Government 2015 Long Term Economic Plan for the North West 

   

HM Government 2011 Plan for Growth 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future – Delivering UK 
Sustainable Development Strategy 

Salford City Council 2015 Planning Obligations SPD 

Salford  City Council 2014 Salford City Mayor Charter for Employment 
Standards 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford City Council (June 2009) City of 
Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 – 
2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 2009 

Salford City Council 2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

  
  

Page 480



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 55 

 

Transport 

Transport Vision 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy include: 

 To ensure that our transport systems meet society’s economic, social 
and environmental needs whilst minimising their undesirable impacts on 
the economy, society and the environment 
 (European Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: 
o the road network providing a more reliable and freer-flowing service for 

both personal travel and freight, with people able to make informed 
choices about how and when they travel; 

o the rail network providing a fast, reliable and efficient service, particularly 
for interurban journeys and commuting into large urban areas; 

o bus services that are reliable, flexible, convenient and tailored to local 
needs; 

o making walking and cycling a real alternative for local trips; and 
o ports and airports providing improved international and domestic links 

(Future of Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 Six-point long-term economic plan for the north-west: 

o deliver the largest ever and most sustained investment in the long-term 
transport infrastructure for the north-west (Long Term Economic Plan for 
the North West) 

 Our Vision is for Greater Manchester to have world class connections that 
support long-term, sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity 
for all (Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o World-class connectivity that keeps Greater Manchester moving 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Salford Transport in 2025 - The key principles of this Vision are that it must: 
o Support aspirations for economic growth and job creation by connecting 

people to opportunities and reducing congestion; 
o Promote sustainability through the provision of a high quality, reliable and 

convenient integrated transport network which allows all people to travel 
where they want, when they want; 

o Seek to reduce transport generated carbon emissions by tackling 
congestion and by facilitating and promoting the use of environmentally 
friendly modes of transport; 

Page 481



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 56 

o Improve safety for all by tackling problem areas, setting appropriate 
speed limits, providing adequate facilities for vulnerable users and 
ensuring road safety audits are undertaken for all new highway schemes; 

o Develop a framework to promote access for all, to cover all modes and 
users of all levels of mobility; and 

o Control through traffic in the area to help facilitate well designed streets 
and 
public spaces; and Improve the environment (especially air quality) 
(Transport in 2025 page 9) 

 Our aim is to provide more transportation choices for all those who travel in 
Salford by supporting the creation of a fully integrated transport system, 
reducing the need for interchange, improving journey time reliability and 
supporting healthier travel options (Transport in 2025 page 4) 

 The provision of an efficient, effective transport system that meets the needs 
of users is an essential part of achieving a connected Salford and delivering 
our ambitious plans for growth  (Transport in 2025 page 7) 

Transport Planning General Principles 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for infrastructure for 
transport (NPPF para 20b)   

 Planning policies should support an appropriate mix of uses across an area, 
and within larger scale sites, to minimise journey lengths needed for 
employment, shopping, leisure, education and other activities (NPPF para 
104a). 

 Planning policies should identify and protect, where there is robust evidence, 
sites and routes which could be critical in developing infrastructure to widen 
transport choice and realise opportunities for large scale development (NPPF 
para 104c). 

 It is important for local planning authorities to undertake an assessment of the 
transport implications in developing or reviewing their Local Plan so that a 
robust transport evidence base may be developed to support the preparation 
and/or review of that Plan. A robust transport evidence base can facilitate 
approval of the Local Plan and reduce costs and delays to the delivery of new 
development, thus reducing the burden on the public purse and private sector 
(NPPG - 001 Reference ID: 54-001-20141010) 

 The Ten Principles of Active Design: 
1. Activity for all 
2. Walkable communities  
3. Connected walking & cycling routes  
4. Co-location of community facilities  
5. Network of multifunctional open space  
6. High quality streets and spaces  
7. Appropriate infrastructure  
8. Active buildings 

Page 482

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-plans--2


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 57 

9. Management, maintenance, monitoring & evaluation  
10. Activity promotion & local champions (Active Design) 

 It is recommended that local communities assess their area for opportunities 
to reduce the need to travel, particularly by car, and to increase the share of 
trips made by sustainable travel, taking into account the need to maintain the 
sustainability of rural areas. Local planning authorities can assist this process 
by looking for opportunities to: 
o i secure support for existing and new shops and services, as well as pre-

school/primary education facilities, within walking distance of people’s 
homes, thus reducing the need to travel 

o ii secure better conditions for walking and cycling by lowering speed limits, 
managing motor traffic levels and increasing route options, for example by 
improving Rights of Way networks 

o iii secure better public transport services, including new demand-
responsive and community transport, as well as integration between 
existing services and opportunities to set up car-clubs; and 

o iv consider area/community-based travel plans linked to neighbourhood 
plans and transport strategies (Planning for Climate Change p.14) 

 To maximise the sustainability of a new development the following five 
transport principles should be followed: 
o Maximise accessibility; 
o Reduce the need to travel by car; 
o Make the best use of existing infrastructure; 
o Design for active travel; and 
o Mitigate impacts  
(Transport for sustainable communities page 9). 

 To achieve the vision for Greater Manchester the transport strategy needs to: 
o Facilitate and support regeneration and economic growth / improve 

access to opportunities 
o Improve the quality of life, health and make travel safer and more secure 

across GM; 
o Reduce transport emissions and make transport more resilient (Greater 

Manchester Growth and Reform Plan (2014), page 37) 

 Support the key development requirements of delivering low carbon energy, 
transport, buildings, green and blue infrastructure and sustainable 
consumption at the sub regional, district and neighbourhood level (GM 
Climate Change Strategy page 48)  

 Planning policies should be prepared with the active involvement of local 
highways authorities, other transport infrastructure providers and operators 
and neighbouring councils, so that strategies and investments for supporting 
sustainable transport and development patterns are aligned (NPPF para 
104b) 

 Planning policies should provide for any large scale transport facilities that 
need to be located in their area. Policies for large scale facilities should, 
where necessary, be developed through collaboration between strategic 

Page 483



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 58 

policy-making authorities and other relevant bodies. Examples of such 
facilities include ports, airports, interchanges for rail freight, public transport 
projects and roadside services. The primary function of roadside services 
should be to support the safety and welfare of the road user (and most such 
proposals are unlikely to be nationally significant infrastructure projects).  
(NPPF para 104e)  

Improve access by sustainable modes 

 The priorities and principles for Greater Manchester include a fully integrated 
public transport system, with high capacity for passengers and freight , that 
offers an attractive choice to support a rapidly growing City Region (GM 
Transport Strategy 2040) 

 Promote awareness of the availability of alternatives to individual 
conventional transport (drive less, walk and cycle, car sharing, park & drive, 
intelligent ticketing etc.) (European Transport White Paper p26) 

 The transport system needs to be balanced in favour of sustainable transport 
modes, giving people a real choice about how they travel (NPPF para 29 and 
35) 

 Transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of plan-
making and development proposals, so that opportunities to promote walking, 
cycling and public transport use are identified and pursued (NPPF, para 102c)  
Halve the use of ‘conventionally-fuelled’ cars in urban transport by 2030; 
phase them out in cities by 2050; achieve essentially CO2-free city logistics in 
major urban centres by 2030 (EU Transport White Paper para 2.5) 

 Local planning authorities should prioritise walking, cycling and public 
transport and other smarter choices by setting targets for the proportion of 
trips in their area by these modes (Planning for Climate Change p.21) 

 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are advised to 
expect proposed new development to: ‘vi’ increase the proportion of trips in 
the local area made by sustainable modes, in particular by active travel 
modes, by: 
o giving comparative advantages to sustainable travel, for example by 

placing cycle parking closer to the main entrance than car parking (other 
than disabled parking) 

o implementing travel plans, unless the scale of the development is small, 
so as to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 

o providing for safe and attractive walking and cycling opportunities, 
including secure cycle parking and, where appropriate, showers and 
changing facilities 

o managing the provision of car parking (including consideration of charging 
for use) so that it is consistent with cutting greenhouse gas emissions, 
including the provision of electric vehicle charging infrastructure; and 

o improving public transport and utilising a travel planning approach 
(Planning for Climate Change p23) 

Page 484



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 59 

 Local authorities should design their policies to focus on prioritising a move 
away from car dependency. Policies could include: i prioritisation of 
development which focuses on improving local high streets and town centres; 
and ii the prevention of both urban sprawl and the development of out-of-town 
centres (Planning for Climate Change p.21) 

 Improve public transport services in the radial corridors (Salford West 
Regeneration Framework p.34) 

 Influencing the location and design of new development can reduce the need 
to travel, particularly by car, minimising transport energy demand and impacts 
on the environment and climate change (Energy White Paper, 2007, para 
7.76). 

 Improve quality and frequency of transport to increase access and use of 
services. (Health Inequalities in Salford- a local strategy for action, p50) 

 Promote better public transport to Salford Quays across Claremont and 
Weaste (Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan – Statement 2). 

 Create green boulevards to reconnect Salford Central’s neighbourhoods and 
transform Chapel Street into a boulevard, reducing the number of lanes and 
adding on—street parking, public transport priority routes removing barriers 
between lands and enhancing the streetscape and widening pavements 
(Central Salford Planning Guidance Policy SC5)(Salford Central Development 
Framework). 

 Making a car unnecessary should be a primary consideration in choosing or 
permitting development on any given site (Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 
p.14) 

Environmental impact 

 Move towards full application of “user pays” and “polluter pays” principles and 
private sector engagement to eliminate distortions, including harmful 
subsidies, generate revenues and ensure financing for future transport 
investments (EU Transport White Paper para 2.5) 

 The Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy sets out a framework for 

policies and measures to: reduce air pollution as a contributor to ill health in 

Greater Manchester;  support the UK Government in meeting EU air quality 

thresholds;  contribute to a reduction in Greater Manchester’s carbon footprint; 

and  encourage low-emission behaviours in the culture and lifestyles of the city 

region 

  

Supporting economic growth 

 The government has identified five foundations of productivity which are "the 
essential attributes of every successful economy". These are: 

 Ideas (R&D, innovation) 
 People (skills and education) 

Page 485

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 60 

 Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
 Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
 Places (tackling regional disparities) 

Improving the Five Foundation will enable to UK to tackle a series of Grand 
Challenges which will help the UK "take advantage of global changes, 
improve people's lives and the country's productivity." The Grand Challenges 
are:  

1. AI and the data revolution (how to embed and maximise the advantages 

of AI and data) 

2. Clean growth (low carbon technologies across the economy) 

3. Mobility (low carbon transport, automation, infrastructure) 

4. Aging society (healthcare and labour market challenges) 

(UK Industrial Strategy) 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 
be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 
other things it emphasises the importance of: 
o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting existing 

needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

 A strategic objective of the GM Manufacturing Strategy is to ensure the 

necessary supporting energy, transport, digital infrastructure and sites are in 

place to support the growth of the sector (GM Manufacturing Strategy) 

 Improve access to employment areas and in particular the 
Quays/MediaCityUK so that Claremont Weaste residents benefit fully from its 
economic and cultural opportunities (Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood 
Plan – Statement 6) 

New development 

 Developments should be located and designed where practical to: 
o Accommodate the efficient delivery of goods and supplies 
o Give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, and have access to high 

quality public transport facilities 
o Create safe and secure layouts 
o Incorporate facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission 

vehicles; and 
o Consider the needs of people with disabilities by all modes of transport 

(NPPF para 35) 

Page 486

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 61 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
criteria including: ‘iv’ the scope for sustainable and low-carbon transport 
(particularly physically active modes) to make up a high proportion of trips to 
and from the site, including service trips (Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 Target of 100% of new major trip generating development within 400m of high 
frequency public transport services (UDP p.180). 

 Require development proposals to make adequate provision for the needs of 
the disabled, pedestrians, cyclists and maximise the use of public transport 
(UDP Policy ST5) 

 New development will place additional pressure on existing transport 
networks within the city, and may in turn generate a requirement for 
improvements to transport infrastructure and services. Planning obligations 
will be one mechanism used in order to secure the provision of necessary 
transport works and improvements (Planning Obligations SPD) 

Transport assessment/ travel plan 

 All developments that will generate significant amounts of movements should 
be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be supported 
by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment so that the likely impacts 
of the proposal can be assessed (NPPF para 111)(UDP Policy A1)  

 Develop a green travel plan for the city (Health Inequalities in Salford- a local 
strategy for action, p28) 

 School travel plans to include reference to public transport and safer routes to 
school (Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan Statement 2) 

  

Highways 

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: the 
road network providing a more reliable and freer-flowing service for both 
personal travel and freight, with people able to make informed choices about 
how and when they travel (Future of Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 The priorities and principles for Greater Manchester include a reliable and 
resilient multi-modal highway network that supports both efficient movement 
of people and goods to, from and across Greater Manchester, and high 
quality urban environments (GM Transport Strategy 2040) 

 The government is committed to building a better network with smarter roads 
that use technology and modern road building techniques. In this way it can 
ensure the country has a road network that drives, instead of constrains, 
growth. Key projects include smart motorways (M6 and in Manchester). 
Projects include Manchester North West Quadrant Study. (National 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 3.12) 

Page 487



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 62 

 Development will not be permitted where it would have an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety or the ability of the Strategic Route Network 
(including abnormal load routes)(UDP Policy A8). 

 Deliver new roads linking: 
o Broadway and Centenary Way (the Broadway Link)(Central Salford 

Integrated Transport Strategy p.49) (Salford West p.34) 
o A57 and Trafford Park (Salford West p.34) 
o A57 and M62(UDP Policy A9) 
o A57 and A6144 (UDP Policy A9) 

 Reduce traffic levels by 30% along Chapel Street (Central Salford Integrated 
Transport Strategy p.45) 

 Divert traffic off the Crescent through a revision of the Broad Street/ Albion 
Way/ Crescent Junction (Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy p.43) 

 Improvements to the following junctions: 
o A580/Langworthy Road (p.53) 
o  Liverpool Street/Albion Way (p.55) 
o Liverpool Street/ Oldfield Road (p.55) 
(Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy) 

Road safety 

 By 2050, move closer to zero fatalities in road transport. In line with this goal, 
the EU aims at halving road casualties by 2020. Make sure that the EU is a 
world leader in safety and security of transport in all modes of transport (EU 
Transport White Paper para 2.5) 

 The primary function of roadside facilities for motorists should be to support 
the safety and welfare of the road user (NPPF footnote 42). 

Parking 

 If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential 
development, local planning authorities should take into account: 
o The accessibility of the development; 
o The type, mix and use of development; 
o The availability of and opportunities for public transport; 
o Local car ownership levels; and 
o The need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in 

and other ultra-low emission vehicles (NPPF para 105). 

 Maximum parking standards for residential and non-residential development 
should only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification that they 
are necessary for managing the local road network, or for optimising the 
density of development in city and town centres and other locations that are 
well served by public transport (in accordance with chapter 11 of this 
Framework). In town centres, local authorities should seek to improve the 
quality of parking so that it is convenient, safe and secure, alongside 
measures to promote accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists (NPPF para 
106). 

Page 488



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 63 

 Parking charges can have a real impact on the success of the high street. 
Local areas should implement free controlled parking schemes that work for 
their town centres and we should have a new parking league table (High 
Streets at the Heart of our Communities) 

 Development with more than 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling is 
unlikely to be regarded as sustainable (Salford UDP Policy A10). 

 Enforce strict management of long stay parking in the Chapel Street area 
(Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy p.45) 

Buses 

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: 
o bus services that are reliable, flexible, convenient and tailored to local 

needs (Future of Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 Construct the Leigh-Salford-Manchester Guided Busway (UDP Policy 
A5)(Central Salford Planning Guidance (Policy SC5)(Central Salford 
Integrated Transport Strategy p.23)(Salford’s Climate Change Strategy p31) 

 Deliver bus rapid transport along the Manchester to Bolton Corridor (Central 
Salford Integrated Transport Strategy p.23) 

 Introduce Quality Bus Corridors: 
o A6 /A580 Leigh Guided Busway(UDP p103) 
o A56 Bury to Manchester (UDP Policy A5) 
o A6 through Swinton (UDP Policy A5) 
o A666 through Swinton (UDP Policy A5); and 
o A57/B5320 Cadishead to Eccles (UDP Policy A5) 

 Investigate potential for further QBCs: 
o A575 through Walkden and B5211 through Worsley, Winton and Patricroft 

(UDP Policy A5); 
o A5063 Trafford Road/ Albion Way (UDP Policy A5) 
o A576 Pendleton to Cheetham (UDP Policy A5); and 
o B5229 and B5231 Eccles to Swinton (UDP Policy A5) 

 Deliver cross city bus package allowing for through journeys across 
Manchester city centre from Salford, Middleton and Didsbury (Salford’s 
Climate Change Strategy p31) 

 Improve the bus interchange within the town centre and improve bus services 
between Pendleton town centre and Salford Quays and Trafford Park 
(Pendleton Planning Guidance Policy 7) 

 Extend the free Metro Shuttle bus service to Pendleton and Salford Quays 
(Pendleton Planning Guidance Policy 7) 

 Extend the free Metro Shuttle service to better serve the Central area around 
Chapel Street and Greengate (Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy 
p.24, 43 and 45) 

Page 489



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 64 

 Provide local bus service providing a link between Salford Crescent, Salford 
Quays and MediaCityUk via Pendleton and Langworthy (Central Salford 
Integrated Transport Strategy p.24) 

Heavy and light rail 

 By 2050, complete a European high-speed rail network. Triple the length of 
the existing high-speed rail network by 2030 and maintain a dense railway 
network in all Member States. By 2050 the majority of medium-distance 
passenger transport should go by rail (EU Transport White Paper para 2.5) 

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: the 
rail network providing a fast, reliable and efficient service, particularly for 
interurban journeys and commuting into large urban areas (Future of 
Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 The government’s vision is to provide world class train services that drive 
economic growth and exceed passenger expectations. To support this, it 
remains committed to carrying out the largest rail modernisation programme 
since Victorian times. Priorities include HS2 and Network Rail enhancement 
programme in the North of England (incl Ordsall Chord). Projects in 
development include High Speed 3 between Leeds and Manchester 
(National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 4.6, bullets on p35 
and 4.24) 

 A successful rail network is vital to the success of Greater Manchester. If rail 
is to play its full part in sustaining our economic development it must be 
capable of meeting the demands placed on it. That means: 
o having rolling stock to meet the number of passengers that want to 

travel;  
o the network capacity to carry all the services that train operators want to 

run; 
o stations that are safe and appealing and provide the facilities that 

passengers expect; 
o having fares that are attractive, but that allow revenue to be generated so 

that it can be reinvested and a range of tickets that suit people’s travel 
patterns and provide value for money; 

o increasing the amount of freight that can be carried so that the road 
network is freed up to carry more valuable traffic (Greater Manchester 
Rail Policy 2012 – 2024, page 5) 

 Deliver extension of Metrolink system to MediaCity UK(UDP Policy 
A3)(Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy p.49), the following lines 
will be investigated: 
o Eccles to Barton, via Patricroft, and through to Trafford 
o Chapel Street to Little Hulton, via Swinton; and 
o Eccles to Little Hulton, via Monton and Walkden (UDP Policy A3). 

Page 490



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 65 

 Protect disused railway lines from development where there is potential for 
future re-use as transport routes (UDP Policy A15). 

 Increase the number of platforms, enhance pedestrian access and improve 
bus interchange facilities at Salford Central Station (Salford Central Planning 
Guidance Policy SC5) (Salford Central Development Framework p33)(Central 
Salford Integrated Transport Strategy p43/45) 

 Improve Salford Crescent Station and upgrade its platforms and passenger 
waiting areas, including improved connectivity with bus services, and 
improved access for pedestrians and cyclists from the town centre and the 
wider Pendleton areas (Pendleton Planning Guidance Policy 7) 

 Support the conversion of the Manchester – Wigan railway line to tram train 
use (Pendleton Planning Guidance Policy 7). 

 Explore the potential for a new tram route running east west connecting 
Salford Crescent and Central Stations, through the Regional Centre to 
Piccadilly station (Central Salford Planning Guidance Policy SC5) 

Cycling and walking  

 To double and then double again cycling in Greater Manchester and make 

walking the natural choice for as many short trips as possible. We must do 

this by putting people first, creating world class streets for walking, building 

one of the world’s best cycle networks, and create a genuine culture of 

cycling and walking (Made to Move) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 

o Walkable communities - Homes, schools, shops, community facilities, 

workplaces, open spaces and sports facilities should be within easy 

reach of each other. Creating the conditions for active travel between all 

locations.  

o Connected walking & cycling routes - All destinations should be 

connected by a direct, legible and integrated network of walking and 

cycling routes. Routes must be safe, well lit, overlooked, welcoming, 

well-maintained, durable and clearly signposted. Active travel (walking 

and cycling) should be prioritised over other modes of transport. 

Prioritising active travel through safe, integrated walking and cycling 

routes (Active Design) 

 The priorities and principles for Greater Manchester include a comprehensive 

network of on and off-road walking and cycling routes linking homes to key 

local destinations and for leisure (GM Transport Strategy 2040) 

 Ensure all upcoming public realm and infrastructure investments, alongside 

all related policy programmes, have walking and cycling integrated at the 

development stage (Made to Move) 

 Promote cycling and walking (Salford West p.34) (Design SPD p35) 

Page 491



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 66 

 Complete the implementation of the Cycle Route Network by 2012 (Salford’s 

Cycling Strategy, p9) 

 Provide secure cycle parking at 50% of public buildings, public transport 

interchanges, and educational establishments by 2006, rising to 100% by 

2012 (Salford’s Cycling Strategy, p9).  

 Ensure pedestrians, cyclists and users of other modes of transport involve 

physical activity are given the highest priority by providing a comprehensive 

network of routes; reallocating road space; restricting motor vehicles access; 

introducing road user charging schemes; introducing traffic-calming 

schemes; create safe routes to schools (NICE Public Health Guidance 8 p7, 

8 and 9) 

 Transform the Crescent/ Chapel Street with reduced traffic flows, widened 

footways, enhanced crossings, bus and cycle lanes with high quality public 

realm (Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy p.43 and 45) 

 Development should facilitate the improvement of connections between 

different parts of Lower Broughton, to promote walking and cycling (Lower 

Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC7) 

 Chapel Street/ The Crescent in Salford’s city high street, design a street 

which is vibrant and enjoyable to walk and cycle, reduce the barrier effect 

created by the road and restore the connection between the street frontages, 

spaces and The Crescent/Meadows. Appropriately position trees along the 

route which will change perceptions about the quality of the rout and can 

influence pedestrian behaviour and provide a substitute for preventative 

barriers (Salford’s places and spaces page 16) 

 Establish green environments which encourage a mix of pedestrians, cyclists 

and slow moving vehicles, are accessible to all and create a sense of 

ownership (Salford’s spaces and places p20) 

 Improve cycle and pedestrian networks in Central Salford (Central Salford 

Integrated Transport Strategy) 

Freight and Ports (see also employment) 

 Define a strategy for moving towards ‘zero-emission urban logistics’ by 2030, 
bringing together aspects of land planning, rail and river access, business 
practices and information, charging and vehicle technology standards (EU 
Transport White Paper p27) 

 Establish an appropriate framework to optimise the internal market for inland 
waterway transport, and to remove barriers that prevent its increased use. 
Assess and define the necessary tasks and mechanisms for their execution, 
also with a view to the wider European context (EU Transport White Paper 
p.19)  

Page 492



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 67 

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: 
o ports and airports providing improved international and domestic links 

(Future of Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 The government seeks to encourage sustainable port development that will 
cater for long-term growth in import and export trade volumes by sea and 
continue to support domestic freight movements. Its role is to facilitate a 
competitive and efficient port industry which is cost effective and operates in 
a timely manner, and which will contribute to long-term economic growth and 
prosperity (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 5.15) 

 When planning for ports, airports and airfields plans should take account of 
their growth and role in serving business, leisure, training and emergency 
service needs (NPPF para 33) 

 Provide for the sustainable movement of freight (NW Freight Strategy p.10 
and 11). 

 30% of road freight over 300km should shift to other modes such as rail or 
waterborne transport by 2030, and more than 50% by 2050, facilitated by 
efficient and green freight corridors. To meet this goal will also require 
appropriate infrastructure to be developed (EU White Paper para 2.5) 

 The main objectives of Government policy for Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchanges are to reduce road congestion; reduce carbon emissions; 
support long-term development of efficient rail freight distribution logistics; 
support growth and create employment. Government aims to meet these 
objectives by encouraging the development of a robust infrastructure network 
of Strategic Rail Freight Interchanges (SRFI guidance, para 2.1) 

 It is important that SRFIs are located near the business markets they will 
serve - major urban centres, or groups of centres - and are linked to key 
supply chain routes. The need for effective connections for both rail and road 
means that the number of locations suitable as SRFI will be limited (SRFI 
guidance, para 2.3.4) 

 The Government seeks to:  
o encourage sustainable port development to cater for long-term forecast 

growth in volumes of imports and exports by sea with a competitive and 
efficient port industry capable of meeting the needs of importers and 
exporters cost effectively and in a timely manner, thus contributing to 
long-term economic growth and prosperity;  

o allow judgments about when and where new developments might be 
proposed to be made on the basis of commercial factors by the port 
industry or port developers operating within a free market environment; 
and  

o ensure all proposed developments satisfy the relevant legal, 
environmental and social constraints and objectives, including those in 
the relevant European Directives and corresponding national 
regulations (Ports NPS, para 3.3.1) 

Page 493



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 68 

 In order to help meet the requirements of the Government’s policies on 
sustainable development, new port infrastructure should also; contribute to 
local employment, regeneration and development; ensure competition and 
security of supply; preserve, protect and where possible improve marine and 
terrestrial biodiversity; minimise emissions of greenhouse gases from port 
related development; be well designed, functionally and environmentally; be 
adapted to the impacts of climate change; minimise use of greenfield land; 
provide high standards of protection for the natural environment;  ensure that 
access to and condition of heritage assets are maintained and improved 
where necessary; and enhance access to ports and the jobs, services and 
social networks they create, including for the most disadvantaged (Ports NPS 
3.3.3 and 3.3.4) 

 The Government wishes to see port development wherever possible: being 
an engine for economic growth; supporting sustainable transport by offering 
more efficient transport links with lower external costs; and supporting 
sustainable development by providing additional capacity for the 
development of renewable energy (Ports NPS, para 3.3.5) 

 The Government believes that there is a compelling need for substantial 
additional port capacity over the next 20–30 years, to be met by a 
combination of development already consented and development for which 
applications have yet to be received. Excluding the possibility of providing 
additional capacity for the movement of goods and commodities through new 
port development would be to accept limits on economic growth and on the 
price, choice and availability of goods imported into the UK and available to 
consumers. It would also limit the local and regional economic benefits that 
new developments might bring. Such an outcome would be strongly against 
the public interest (Ports NPS, para 3.4.16) 

 By bringing together groups of related businesses within and around the 
estate, ports also create a cluster effect, which supports economic growth by 
encouraging innovation and the creation and development of new business 
opportunities (Ports NPS, para 3.1.7) 

 The vision for GM is to provide ‘world-class connections that support long-

term sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all’. The 

specific aspirations of this relating to freight and logistics focus on two key 

aims:  

1. To maximise economic growth and competitiveness by boosting the 

network integration and efficiency of freight transport in GM and across 

the North and creating employment opportunities.  

2. To minimise the social and environmental impacts of the industry and 

encourage sustainable distribution (GM Freight and logistics strategy) 

 GM Key objectives for freight and logistics: 

1. To improve journey times and journey time reliability to create a more 

efficient environment for freight operating companies (FOCs) to operate in.  

Page 494



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 69 

2. To keep the total cost of freight and logistics as low as possible for 

operators and society and therefore reduce the impact on the overall price of 

goods; supporting the local economy.  

3. To ensure the regional infrastructure is capable of meeting future growth 

and demand.  

4. To focus available funding for investment across the road and rail 

networks.  

5. To increase network integration (rail/road/maritime/distribution centres).  

6. To increase GM’s share in the market for logistics space.  

7. To measure and actively reduce carbon levels generated by road freight 

transport.  

8. To reduce the impacts of freight to improve air quality in line with 

Government-set targets.  

9. To reduce the impact of noise, traffic disruption and congestion on local 

residents.  

10. To improve safety for, and reduce accident numbers involving, cyclists 

and HGVs (GM Freight and logistics strategy) 

 Work with industry to find alternatives to heavy freight and reduce excess 
lorry and van travel in urban areas (Made to Move) 

 Facilitate the transfer of freight from road to rail and/or water by: 
o  the identification of sites for inter-modal freight terminals including South 

West Greater Manchester (with access to the West Coast Main Line and 
Chat Moss rail route)(UDP Policy E1 - Barton) 

o Directing development to sites readily connected to the rail/water/port 
network (NW Freight Strategy p.11);  and  

o Protecting and enhancing relevant infrastructure (UDP Policy ST5)(NW 
Freight Strategy p.11) 

 Significant potential for an increase in freight traffic on the Manchester Ship 
Canal (NW Freight Strategy p.11, 32 and 34). 

 By 2050 connect all core network airports to the rail network, preferably high-
speed; ensure that all core seaports are sufficiently connected to the rail 
freight and, where possible, inland waterway system (EU Transport White 
Paper para 2.5). 

 Support multimodal transport and single wagon load business, stimulate the 
integration of inland waterways into the transport system and promote eco-
innovation in freight transport. Support the deployment of new vehicles and 
vessels and retrofitting (EU Transport White Paper p28) 

Electric and low emission vehicles 

 We want vehicle manufacturers to show that they can be part of the solution 

as well as the problem. The UK led the way in Europe in pushing for tough 

new type approval standards for cars and vans, including the ‘real world’ 

Page 495



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 70 

driving emissions tests that start to take effect from September this year, 

alongside tougher laboratory tests. We want to be absolutely sure that these 

new standards will deliver, and that we see a significant reduction in harmful 

emissions from new models of cars and vans (UK plan for tackling roadside 

nitrogen dioxide concentrations) 

 The Government’s overall vision for ultra low emission vehicles in the UK is 

ambitious, but realistic and for the long term. We want to see: 

o buoyant domestic fleet and private markets for ULEVs with every new 

car an ULEV from 2040 and an effectively decarbonised fleet by 2050 to 

meet our Carbon Plan targets;  

o a network of supporting infrastructure that ensures ULEVs are an 

attractive customer proposition;  

o world class skills and facilities for the development and manufacture of 

ULEV technologies, exporting vehicles globally;  

o a smarter electricity grid that maximises the benefits to vehicle owners 

and the electricity system from the shift to ULEVs; and  

o all of the above combining to make the UK the best place in Europe for 

the automotive sector and associated ULEV industries to invest (Driving 

the Future Today) 

 In delivering this vision for the ULEV sector in the UK, Government’s activities 
will be consistent with the following overarching principles:  
a. Focusing on inward investment and the supply chain  
b. Technological neutrality  
c. Working with the EU on ambitious but realistic regulation  
d. Addressing market failure  
e. Consistent communications (Driving the Future Today) 
 

 During the 2020s, we will move towards the mass market roll-out of ultra-low 
emission vehicles, although further improvements in the efficiency of 
conventional vehicles and sustainable biofuels are also anticipated to play a 
key role. Based on current modelling the Government anticipates that 
average new car emissions could need to be 50–70 gCO

2
/km and new van 

emissions 75–105gCO
2
/km by 2030 (The Carbon Plan para 31).  

 If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential 
development, policies should take into account the need to ensure an 
adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low 
emission vehicles (NPPF para 105e) 

 Applications for development should be designed to enable charging of plug-
in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient 
locations (NPPF para 110e) 

Page 496



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 71 

 By 2027, based on the scenarios set out in this plan, emissions from transport 
should be between 17% and 28% lower than 2009 levels (The Carbon Plan para 
36). 

 In the context of their transport strategies, local authorities should consider 
how to support the take-up of electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles, and, in 
particular, should encourage new developments with parking facilities to: 
o i be designed to provide opportunities for charging such vehicles, 

especially at home 
o ii include cabling for charging infrastructure 
o iii provide relevant charging infrastructure; and 
o iv support the use of car-clubs, in particular for such vehicles (Planning for 

Climate Change p.21). 

Airports 

 We need a transport network that can meet the challenges of a growing 
economy and the increasing demand for travel, but can also achieve our 
environmental objectives. This means coherent transport networks with: 
ports and airports providing improved international and domestic links 
(Future of Transport White Paper, paragraph 6) 

 Aviation in the UK is largely privatised and operates in a competitive 
international market. The government’s objectives are to: 
o ensure that the UK’s air links continue to make it one of the best 

connected countries in the world 
o ensure the aviation sector makes a significant and cost-effective 

contribution towards reducing global emissions 
o to limit, and where possible reduce, the number of people in the UK 

significantly affected by aircraft noise (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
2016 - 2021 para 5.6) 

 Planning policies should recognise the importance of maintaining a national 
network of general aviation airfields, and their need to adapt and change 
over time – taking into account their economic value in serving business, 
leisure, training and emergency service needs, and the Government’s 
General Aviation Strategy (NPPF para 104f) 

 By 2050 connect all core network airports to the rail network, preferably high-
speed; ensure that all core seaports are sufficiently connected to the rail 
freight and, where possible, inland waterway system (EU Transport White 
Paper para 2.5). 

References (transport) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a sustainable city 

Central Salford URC 2009 Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy. 

Page 497



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 72 

DCLG 2012 High Streets at the Heart of our Communities:  
the Government's Response to the Mary 
Portas Review 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance 

DEFRA 2017 UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations 

DfT 2012 National Policy Statement for Ports 

DfT 2011 Strategic Rail Freight Interchange Policy 
Guidance 
 

DfT 2004 The Future of Transport White Paper 2004: A 
network for 2030 

DTI 2007 Meeting the Energy Challenge: A White Paper 
on Energy 

European 
Commission 

2011 European Transport White Paper 2011 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 

Greater Manchester 
Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner 

2018 Made to Move – 15 Steps to transform 
Greater Manchester by changing the way we 
get around 

GMCA 2017 Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA 2016 Greater Manchester Freight and Logistics 
Transport Strategy 

GMCA 2012 Greater Manchester Rail Policy 2012 – 2024 

GMCA and GM Local 
Enterprise Partnership 

2015 Greater Manchester Manufacturing Strategy 
2015 

GMCA/ GM LEP/ 
AGMA 

2014 Greater Manchester Growth and Reform Plan 

Greater Manchester 
Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner 

2018 Made to Move – 15 Steps to transform 
Greater Manchester by changing the way we 
get around 

Greater Manchester 
Economic Advisory 
Panel 

2011 Greater Manchester Growth Plan 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

HM Government 2017 Building a Britain Fit for the Future – UK 
Industrial Strategy 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 – 
2021 

Page 498



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 73 

HM Government 2015 Long Term Economic Plan for the North West 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

HM Government 2013 Driving the Future Today – A strategy for ultra 
low emission vehicles in the UK 

   

North West Freight 
Advisory Group 

2003 North West Regional Freight Strategy. 
 

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
local authorities 

Salford City Council 2015 Planning Obligations SPD 

Salford City Council 2013 Transport in 2025 – Connecting people to 
opportunity 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Pendleton Planning Guidance 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford Central Development Framework 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

Salford City Council 2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford Central Planning guidance 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford West Regeneration Framework and 
Action Plan 2008-2028 

Salford City Council 2008 Shaping Salford: Design Supplementary 
Planning Document 

Salford City Council 2006 Lower Broughton Design Code 

Salford City Council 2003 Encouraging Cycling IN Salford – Salford City 
Council’s Local Cycling Strategy. 

   

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

TfGM 2017  Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 

TfGM 2013 Transport for Sustainable Communities: a 
guide for Developers 

 
  

Page 499



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 74 

Culture and Tourism 

General  

 In respect of tourism the Government’s aims are to: 

 Fund the most ambitious marketing campaign to attract visitors to the UK 
in the years following 2012 

 Increase the proportion of UK residents who holiday in the UK to match 
those that holiday abroad 

 Improve the sectors productivity to become one of the top 5 most efficient 
and competitive visitor economies in the world. (Government Tourism 
Policy Document paragraph 2.2) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Allocate a range of suitable sites in town centres to meet the scale and type 

of development likely to be needed, looking at least ten years ahead. 

Meeting anticipated needs for retail, leisure, office and other main town 

centre uses over this period should not be compromised by limited site 

availability, so town centre boundaries should be kept under review where 

necessary (NPPF para 85d) 

 Planning policies and decisions should enable sustainable rural tourism and 

leisure developments which respect the character of the countryside, and 

enable the retention and development of accessible local services and 

community facilities, such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, 

open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship in rural 

areas (NPPF para 83a and d).    

 Six-point long-term economic plan for the north-west: 

 raise the quality of life in the north-west by supporting its great cultural and 
sporting strengths, building up to 25,000 new homes, nurturing the rural 
environment and improving education outcomes in the region’s schools so 
over 75,000 more pupils attend outstanding schools ((Long Term 
Economic Plan for the North West)) 

 Ensure maintenance of current visitor attractions (Worsley Tourism Strategy, 
p.16) 

Specific tourism locales 

 The following key tourism areas, and connections between them should be 
protected and enhanced: Salford Quays; Chapel Street; Worsley Village; 
Barton Swing Aqueduct; and Bridgewater Canal Corridor (UDP, Policy ST4 
and RJ). 

Page 500



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 75 

 The part of the Regional Centre within Salford will be developed as a vibrant 
mixed-use area with a broad range of uses including tourism (UDP, Policy 
MX1).  

 Tourism uses are an appropriate use at ground floor level along Chapel 
Street (UDP, Policy MX2). 

 The mediacity:uk area has potential to contribute to the mix of leisure, retail 
and visitor attraction opportunities that will contribute to its role as a visitor 
destination (Mediacity: UK and Quays Point Guidance, Policy MC:UK2). 

 The Boysnope Wharf site in Irlam is suitable for tourism development 
amongst other uses (Policy E4/9 para 8.27).  

Waterways and tourism (also see water and flood risk) 

 Develop the potential of the region’s waterways – rivers and canals, locks and 
bridges – as centres for leisure activity, environmental arts and crafts, 
informal and formal learning (UDP, Policy R7)   

Regional parks and tourism (also see recreation/ open space/ green 
infrastructure) 

 Aim to develop a Regional Park which will secure additional economic 
benefits associated with tourism and recreation visits (Salford City Council 
Adopted UDP, para 2.20)(Salford West Framework p.75) 

Tourism, employment and the economy (also see employment) 

 Maximise tourism benefits through training, education and employment 
(Worsley Tourism Strategy, p. 17).    

References (culture and tourism) 

 

Source Date  Title 

DCMS 2011 Government Tourism Policy 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2015 Long Term Economic Plan for the North West 

   

HM Government 2005 Securing the future – UK Government 
sustainable development strategy. 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford West Regeneration Framework and 
Action Plan 2008-2028 

Salford City Council 2003 Worsley Tourism Strategy 

 

Page 501



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 76 

  

Page 502



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 77 

 

Climate change 

General 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy include: 

 To limit climate change and its costs and negative effects to society and the 
environment (European Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 In the context of the UK’s legal requirements under the Climate Change Act, 

the UK’s approach to reducing emissions has 2 guiding objectives: 

o To meet our domestic commitments at the lowest possible net cost to UK 

taxpayers, consumers and businesses; and, 

o To maximise the social and economic benefits for the UK from this 

transition. 

In order to meet these objectives, the UK will need to nurture low carbon 
technologies, processes and systems that are as cheap as possible (Clean 
Growth Strategy) 

 The key actions that the government will take as part of their strategy to 

reduce emissions are: 

o Accelerating clean growth 
o Improving business and industry efficiency  
o Improving our homes - Improving the energy efficiency of our homes 
o Rolling out low carbon heating 
o Accelerating the shift to low carbon transport  
o Delivering Clean, Smart, Flexible Power  
o Enhancing the benefits and value of our natural resources  
o Leading in the public sector  
o Government leadership in driving clean growth (Clean Growth Strategy) 

 Five point plan to tackle climate change: 
6. Protecting the public from immediate risk 
7. Preparing for the future 
8. Limiting the severity of future climate change through a new international 

climate agreement 
9. Building a low carbon UK 
10. Supporting individuals and businesses to play their part 

(UK Low Carbon Transition Plan – national strategy for climate and 

energy) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

Page 503



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 78 

 The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It 
should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; 
encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of 
existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and 
associated infrastructure. (NPPF para 148). 

 Plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate 
change, taking into account the long-term implications for flood risk, coastal 
change and water supply. Policies should support appropriate measures to 
ensure the future resilience of communities and infrastructure to climate 
change impacts, such as providing space for physical protection measures, or 
making provision for the possible future relocation of vulnerable development 
and infrastructure (NPPF para 149) 

 Community involvement is extremely important in tackling climate change 
(Securing the future – UK Government sustainable development strategy, 
p118)   

 The Government’s vision is for an infrastructure network that is resilient to 
today’s natural hazards and prepared for the future changing climate 
(Climate Resilient Infrastructure, page 7) 

 Local authorities in England will have a strengthened role to play in tackling 
climate change through measures in the new Local Government Performance 
Framework; and be able to use the new self-assessment tools to evaluate 
their own performance and provide guidance for improvement on tackling 
climate change (Energy White Paper, 2007, para 9.24). 

 Ensure that climate change is an integral part of the vision for central Salford 
and Salford West (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 40) 

 Addressing climate change must be a central priority of the planning system if 
we are to ensure our future economic, environmental and social wellbeing. 
While communities can benefit from the deployment of renewable energy 
systems, they can also build a resilient social and economic future by 
anticipating and responding to climate change that is now inevitable. 
Communities that ignore the challenge will find the cost of impacts and of 
insurance rising sharply, threatening their economic and social fabric 
(Planning for Climate Change, 2018) 

Reducing contributions (also see energy, air quality, design and 
construction and transport) 

 Kyoto protocol – international agreement linked to the United Nations 
Framework convention on Climate Change which commits its parties to 
internationally binding emmission reduction targets (Kyoto protocol 1999) 

Page 504



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 79 

 It is the duty of the Secretary of State to ensure that the net UK carbon 
account for the year 2050 is at least 80% lower than the 1990 baseline 
(Climate Change Act 2008) 

 The Carbon Plan sets out how the UK will achieve decarbonisation within the 
framework of the Government’s energy policy: to make the transition to a 
lowcarbon economy while maintaining energy security, and minimising costs 
to consumers, particularly those in poorer households. It identifies the vision 
for a long-term transition to a low carbon economy. By 2050 we will have 
transformed our buildings, transport and industry, the way in which we 
generate electricity and our agriculture and forestry. This is underpinned by 
the principles of: 
o Low carbon buildings 
o Low carbon transport 
o Low carbon industry 
o Low carbon power generation 
o Low greenhouse gas agriculture and forestry 

(The Carbon Plan, pages 3, 15 and 16) 

 In the next ten years, we will develop and deploy the technologies that will be 
needed to halve emissions in the 2020s. This will put the UK on a path 
towards an 80% reduction by 2050 (The Carbon Plan para 2, p3) 

 In the context of the UK’s legal requirements under the Climate Change Act, 
the UK’s approach to reducing emissions has 2 guiding objectives: To meet 
our domestic commitments at the lowest possible net cost to UK taxpayers, 
consumers and businesses; and, To maximise the social and economic 
benefits for the UK from this transition. In order to meet these objectives, the 
UK will need to nurture low carbon technologies, processes and systems that 
are as cheap as possible (UK clean growth strategy, 2017) 

 The city region should achieve a 15% cut in emissions year on year on 
average, including through: increasing solar PV installation; green heating 
technologies; reducing heating demand; cutting waste generation and 
transitioning two thirds of cars to zero emission models by 2030. The aim is to 
be carbon neutral by 2038, a decade earlier than previously set out 
(Springboard – a new environmental vision for GM, 2018) 

 By 2020 reduce GM Carbon emissions by 48% on 1990 levels (GM Climate 
Change Strategy page 18) 

 By 2020 have minimised the risks and impacts of climate change on health 
and well-being and prioritise the needs of those in the most deprived 
neighbourhoods (GM Climate Change Strategy page 47) 

 Carbon sinks will be protected, managed and enhanced as part of our carbon 
management strategy; carbon sinks include the extensive peat and mossland 
areas of GM which are also important biodiversity assets (GM Climate 
Change Strategy page 36) 

 Deliver work to Identify, protect and provide areas of high biodiversity and 
‘carbon sinks’, maximising opportunities to enhance and protect the natural 
environment in the long term (GM Climate Change Strategy page 48) 

Page 505



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 80 

 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are advised to 
expect proposed new development to: ‘ii’ be designed to contribute to 
achieving national targets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by: 
o using landform, layout, building orientation, tree planting, massing and 

landscaping to reduce likely energy consumption and resilience to 
increased temperatures; using the layout, density and mix of development 
to support identified opportunities for decentralised energy 

o connecting to an existing decentralised energy supply system where there 
is capacity to supply the proposed development, or by being designed for 
a future connection where there are firm proposals for such a system 

o not creating demand for bio-energy fuels known to result in net carbon 
emissions through production methods, transport requirements and/or loss 
of carbon sinks (Planning for Climate Change p22-23) 

 The key objectives of the Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan include 

that low emission behaviours will have become embedded into the culture of 

our organisations and lifestyles by 2025 (GM Air Quality Action Plan) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 

for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 

criteria including: ‘v’ whether development of the site would result in the loss 

of a significant carbon sink (Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 Deliver CO2 reductions of around 60% by 2050 (Energy White Paper, para 

1.10).  

 Major development proposals will be required to demonstrate how they will 

minimise greenhouse gas emissions (UDP, Policy ST14) 

 Priority areas for local authorities to decrease greenhouse gas emissions are 

transport and energy generation (EU Sixth Environment Action Plan p.5).  

Adapting to climate change  

 New development should be planned for in ways that: a) avoid increased 
vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new 
development is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be 
taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation 
measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure; and b) can 
help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, 
orientation and design. Any local requirements for the sustainability of 
buildings should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical 
standards (NPPF para 150) 

 By 2020 Greater Manchester will be prepared for and actively adapting to a 
rapidly changing climate (GM Climate Change Strategy page 18). 

 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are advised to 
expect proposed new development to: i be designed to avoid adding to the 
vulnerability of existing or other proposed development to impacts arising 
from changes in the climate (Planning for Climate Change p22) 

Page 506



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 81 

 In their local development plans, local authorities are recommended to: 
o i bring forward adaptation options for existing development in areas with 

significant vulnerability to impacts likely to arise from changes in the 
climate 

o ii pay particular attention to vulnerable groups, as different impacts (and 
options to manage impacts) will affect parts of the community differently; 

o iii set out how new development should be planned to avoid significant 
vulnerability to impacts arising from changes in the climate on a 30-year 
time horizon, tailored to the local authority area and the lifetime of the 
proposed development 

o iv ensure that, when new development is brought forward in areas with 
significant vulnerability to impacts arising from changes in the climate, 
risks can be avoided or managed through suitable and sustainable 
adaptation measures so as to provide sufficient resilience – in areas of 
water 

o stress, and in order to secure development that would otherwise be 
unacceptable for its proposed location, resilience could be provided by 
setting standards for water usage in new development; and 

o v plan green infrastructure in order to optimise its many benefits and, as 
part of wider green infrastructure networks, in order to support local 
biodiversity and healthy living environments, including through providing 
urban cooling, local flood risk management, carbon sequestration and 
local access to shady outdoor space (Planning for Climate Change p.17) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
the following criteria: 
o whether developing the site is appropriate, having regard to the intended 

lifetime of the development and increases in risk resulting from changes in 
the climate to known physical and environmental elements such as sea 
level rise, flooding, increased temperatures, instability and extremes of 
weather 

o the extent to which existing or planned opportunities for decentralised 
energy could contribute to the energy supply of new development on the 
site 

o the potential for new development on the site to contribute heat demand 
where a heat network exists or could be provided 

o the scope for sustainable and low-carbon transport (particularly physically 
active modes) to make up a high proportion of trips to and from the site, 
including service trips 

o whether development of the site would result in the loss of a significant 
carbon sink 

o whether developing the site would provide opportunities to help the 
existing community to adapt to impacts arising from changes in the 
climate, including through sustainable drainage systems (the Flood and 

Page 507



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 82 

Water Management Act 2010 includes provisions on sustainable drainage 
systems) and green infrastructure 

o the effect of developing the site on the capacity of biodiversity to adapt to 
likely changes in the climate; and 

o whether the development provides gardens and plots for allotments, or 
other community areas to maximise opportunities for local food sourcing 
(Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 Adaptation to impacts of climate change must be brought into all aspects of 
sustainable development (Securing the Future, pg92).   

 Conservation of biodiversity is vital in our response to Climate Change 
(Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the Biodiversity Duty, p.6). 
Wildlife habitats such as woodlands and peat bogs act as carbon sinks, 
helping to reduce the severity of climate change. Other habitats such as 
natural floodplains… can help reduce flooding… Natural habitats are also 
important in providing corridors to allow mobile species to move in response 
to changes in climate (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the 
Biodiversity Duty, p.9). 

 Sensitive urban design and strategically connected green spaces can create 
corridors of cooler cleaner air coursing across a town. A city-wide urban heat 
island management strategy will address the problem from the small scale 
(encouraging green roofs) to the large (having a better warning system). It 
complements a flooding strategy, since the design and management of green 
spaces, trees and water reduce the threat from both (Hallmarks of a 
Sustainable City p20). 

 Wildlife stands a better chance of adapting to climate changes if there is a 
well-functioning green infrastructure…fragmented habitats can prevent 
migration, and we need to design movement corridors (Hallmarks of a 
Sustainable City p21)  

 It would be difficult to overstate the vital role that green infrastructure can play 
in preparing towns and cities for climate change. A well-designed network of 
green spaces mitigates the urban heat island effect, provides opportunities for 
exercise and can alleviate some of the worst effects of flooding (Hallmarks of 
a Sustainable City p 25). 

 The Environment Agency has published guidance on climate change 
allowances and flood ris (Flood Risk Assessments: Climate Change 
Allocances) 

 Secure regeneration in central Salford that is resilient to the predicted impacts 
of climate change, especially in relation to flood risk and future heat island 
effects (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy) 

 Within urban areas it is important to apply plentiful and different greening 
techniques with environmental benefits; allowing water to drain through 
permeable pavements and exploiting the potential of green areas to cool the 
city (Salford’s spaces and places page 24) 

Page 508



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 83 

References (climate change) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

DEFRA 2007 Guidance for Local Authorities on 
Implementing the Biodiversity Duty 

DTI 2007 Meeting the Energy Challenge: A White Paper 
on Energy 

Environment Agency 2017 Flood Risk Assessments: Climate Change 
Allowances  

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 
(DOC 10917/06) 

GMCA 2018 Springboard – a new environmental vision for 
GM 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA and TfGM 2018 Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan 
2016-2021 

HM Government 2018 Clean Growth Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2017 UK Clean growth strategy 

HM Government 2011 Climate Resilient Infrastructure: preparing for 
a Changing Climate  

HM Government 2011 The Carbon Plan: Delivering our Low Carbon 
Future  

HM Government 2009 The UK low Carbon Transition Plan – National 
Strategy for Climate and Energy 

HM Government 2008 Climate Change Act 

HM Government 2005 Securing the future – UK Government 
sustainable development strategy.  

HM Government 2003 Energy white paper: our energy future – 
creating a low carbon economy.  

Salford City Council 2010 Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places Public Realm 
Handbook 

TCPA 2018 Planning for climate change 

United Nations 1997 Kyoto Protocol 
 

  

Page 509



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 84 

Countryside and landscape (see also Green Infrastructure) 

General 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

Urban fringe 

 The urban fringe serves the needs of both urban and rural communities, 
strengthens the links between town and country, and contributes fully towards 
sustainable development (Unlocking the Potential of the Urban Fringe, pg 8) 
(Countryside Agency, pg 20) 

 Improve access between the urban fringe and urban areas in particular 
through the use of strategic recreation routes (UDP Policy ST10). 

Countryside protection and enhancement 

 At the same time as encouraging visitors, we must preserve the things that 
make the countryside special: peace, space, wildlife and the natural beauty of 
the landscape (Our Countryside, pg7) 

Agriculture and diversification (also see land and soil) 

 Over 70% of England is farmed. Farmers and land managers play a vital role 
in achieving society’s ambitions for water, wildlife, healthy soil, food 
production and the management of landscapes. Food security is a long-term 
challenge; farming needs to be supported in building capacity for sustainable 
production both in the UK and globally. However, the food chain has major 
impacts on climate change, biodiversity and the wider environment, which 
require management (Natural Choice, para 2.45) 

 Agriculture – We will improve the delivery of environmental outcomes from 
agricultural land management practices, whilst increasing food production by, 
for example, reviewing how we use advice and incentives, and how we use 
agrienvironment schemes (Biodiversity 2020, paragraph 20) 

 Proposals involving the diversification of farms into non-agricultural activities 
will be permitted where they would: contribute to sustainable development 
objectives; help to sustain the agricultural enterprise; be consistent in scale 
with their rural location; not result in excessive expansion and encroachment 
into the countryside; reuse or replace existing buildings where feasible and 
not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of nearby residents, other 
rural businesses or recreational users of the area (UDP Policy EN4) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
the following criteria: 
o whether developing the site is appropriate, having regard to the intended 

lifetime of the development and increases in risk resulting from changes in 

Page 510



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 85 

the climate to known physical and environmental elements such as sea 
level rise, flooding, increased temperatures, instability and extremes of 
weather 

o the extent to which existing or planned opportunities for decentralised 
energy could contribute to the energy supply of new development on the 
site 

o the potential for new development on the site to contribute heat demand 
where a heat network exists or could be provided; 

o the scope for sustainable and low-carbon transport (particularly physically 
active modes) to make up a high proportion of trips to and from the site, 
including service trips 

o whether development of the site would result in the loss of a significant 
carbon sink 

o whether developing the site would provide opportunities to help the 
existing community to adapt to impacts arising from changes in the 
climate, including through sustainable drainage systems (the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010 includes provisions on sustainable drainage 
systems) and green infrastructure 

o the effect of developing the site on the capacity of biodiversity to adapt to 
likely changes in the climate; and whether the development provides 
gardens and plots for allotments, or other community areas to maximise 
opportunities for local food sourcing (Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 In order to develop a sustainable land use pattern for the future, there is a 
need to: 
o Enable agricultural diversification 
o Secure the long term viability of agriculture 
o Prevent the loss of further remnant raised bog sites and enable bog 

restoration by establishing biodiversity zones 
o Improve interpretation and access in order to realise the potential of the 

landscape to act as a ‘green lung’ 
o Using different land use ‘zones’ may help to balance competing land uses 

on Chat Moss (Mosslands Project – The Vision)  

Landscape quality 

 The aims of the European Landscape Convention are to promote landscape 
protection, management and planning, and to organise European co-
operation on landscape issues (European Landscape Convention (2004)) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for conservation and 
enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment, including 
landscapes and green infrastructure, and planning measures to address 
climate change mitigation and adaptation (NPPF para 20d) 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites 
of biodiversity or geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with 

Page 511



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 86 

their statutory status or identified quality in the development plan) (NPPF para 
170) 

 Local plans should include strategic policies for the conservation and 
enhancement of the natural environment, including landscape. This includes 
designated landscapes but also the wider countryside. (NPPG - 001 
Reference ID: 8-001-20140306) 

 Where appropriate landscape character assessments should be prepared, 
integrated with assessment of historic landscape character, and for areas 
where there are major expansion options assessments of landscape 
sensitivity (NPPF para 170)(NPPG - 001 Reference ID: 8-001-20140306) 

 The landscape has an important public interest role in the cultural, ecological, 
environmental and social fields, constitutes a resource favourable to 
economic activity (European Landscape Convention p.2).  

 Landscape quality is an important part of the quality of life of people 
everywhere: in urban areas and in the countryside, in degraded areas as well 
as in areas of high quality, in areas recognised as being of outstanding 
beauty as well as everyday areas (European Landscape Convention p.2). 

 Our vision is of rural areas evolving in ways which enhance landscape and 
biodiversity (Our Countryside, Pg 1) 

 The protection of important landscape features, and their replacement when 
they are lost, will assist in enhancing the attractiveness and image of the city 
(UDP Policy EN12 and RJ) 

 The Red Rose Community Forest will have a particularly important role in 
developing a diverse range of landscapes throughout Salford (UDP EN12 RJ) 

Greenbelt 

 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental 
aim of Green Belt of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping 
land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their 
openness and their permanence (NPPF para 133) 

 Once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where 
exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through the 
preparation or updating of plans. Strategic policies should establish the need 
for any changes to Green Belt boundaries, having regard to their intended 
permanence in the long term, so they can endure beyond the plan period. 
Where a need for changes to Green Belt boundaries has been established 
through strategic policies, detailed amendments to those boundaries may be 
made through non-strategic policies, including neighbourhood plans. (NPPF 
para 136) 

 Once Green Belts have been defined, local planning authorities should plan 
positively to enhance their beneficial use, such as looking for opportunities to 
provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation; to 
retain and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to improve 
damaged and derelict land (NPPF para 141). 

Page 512



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 87 

 When drawing up or reviewing Green Belt boundaries, the need to promote 
sustainable patterns of development should be taken into account. Strategic 
policymaking authorities should consider the consequences for sustainable 
development of channelling development towards urban areas inside the 
Green Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset within the Green Belt 
or towards locations beyond the outer Green Belt boundary. Where it has 
been concluded that it is necessary to release Green Belt land for 
development, plans should give first consideration to land which has been 
previously-developed and/or is well-served by public transport. They should 
also set out ways in which the impact of removing land from the Green Belt 
can be offset through compensatory improvements to the environmental 
quality and accessibility of remaining Green Belt land (NPPF para 138). 

 Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and 
should not be approved except in very special circumstances (NPPF para 
143)(UDP Policy EN1) 

Trees, forestry & woodlands 

 England’s trees, woods and forests are a vital national asset providing 
multiple economic, social and environmental benefits. Our objective is to 
ensure that this asset is protected, managed and enhanced so that these 
benefits can be both maximised now and realised in the future. Our forestry 
policy is, therefore, based on resilience. This means a forestry sector and 
woodland resource that keep growing, providing these multiple benefits; are 
financially sustainable and affordable; and are well equipped to respond to 
existing and future threats. To achieve this, everything we do must be focused 
on achieving the following key objectives, in priority order:  
o Protecting the nation’s trees, woodlands and forests from increasing threats 

such as pests, diseases and climate change,  
o Improving their resilience to these threats and their contribution to economic 

growth, people’s lives and nature,  
o Expanding them to increase further their economic, social and environmental 

value (Government Forestry and Woodlands Policy Statement) 

 Forestry – We will bring a greater proportion of our existing woodlands into 
sustainable management and expand the area of woodland in England 
(Biodiversity 2020, paragraph 20) 

 The Woodland Access Standard aspires to deliver the following: No person 
should living more than 500m from at least one area of accessible woodland 
of no less than 2ha in size; At least one area of accessible woodland of no 
less than 20ha within 4km of people’s homes (The Woodland Trust)  

Hedgerows 

 The Hedgerows Regulations include provisions for the identification of 
important hedgerows and requires permission from the local planning 
authority to remove them (Hedgerows Regulations 1997) 

Page 513



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 88 

References (countryside and landscape) 

 

Source Date  Title 

Countryside Agency 
and Groundwork 

2004 Unlocking the potential of the Rural –Urban 
Fringe 
 

DCLG 2000 Rural White Paper: Our Countryside: The 
Future - A Fair Deal for Rural England. 

DEFRA 2013 Government Forestry and Woodlands Policy 
Statement 

DEFRA 2011 Biodiversity 2020 – A Strategy for England’s 
Wildlife and Ecosystem Services 

European 
Commission 

2004 European Landscape Convention 

European 
Commission 

2000 European Landscape Convention 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government  2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
June 2018) 

   

HM Government 2011 The Natural Choice: securing the value of 
nature 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future: Delivering UK 
Sustainable Development Strategy 

HM Government 1997 The Hedgerows Regulations 1997 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council, 
Natural England, 
Wigan Council and 
Warrington BC 

2007 The Mosslands Project – The Vision 

The Woodland Trust 2010 Space for People: Targeting Action for 
Woodland Access. 

 
  

Page 514



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 89 

Recreation / open space / green infrastructure 

Recreation and leisure 

 Councils and their partners, including Local Strategic Partnerships will drive 
and deliver improvement at the local level and have responsibility for 
identifying local improvement priorities in the context of the strategic priorities 
to: 

 Improve the quality, effectiveness and efficiency of culture and sport in the 
delivery of economic, social and environmental outcomes in local 
communities 

 Improve the performance of the culture and sport sector and to address 
underperformance 

 Build capacity and leadership 

 Simplify and co-ordinate the improvement architecture (A Passion for 
Excellence p5 and 28) 

 Vision for play: 

o In every residential area there are a variety of supervised and 

unsupervised places for play, free of charge; 

o Local neighbourhoods feel like, safe, interesting places to play, 

o Routes to children’s play space are sade and accessible for all children 

and young people; 

o Parks and open spaces are attractive and welcoming to children and 
young people, and are well maintained and well used; 

o children and young people have a clear stake in public space and their 
play is accepted by their neighbours;  

o Children and young people play in a way that respects other people and 
property; 

o Children and young people and their families take an active role in the 
development of local play spaces; and 

o Play spaces are attractive, welcoming, engaging and accessible for all 
local children and young people, including disabled children, and children 
from minority groups in the community  
(The Play Strategy for England) 

 The Ten Principles of Active Design: 
1. Activity for all 
2. Walkable communities  
3. Connected walking & cycling routes  
4. Co-location of community facilities  
5. Network of multifunctional open space  
6. High quality streets and spaces  
7. Appropriate infrastructure  
8. Active buildings 
9. Management, maintenance, monitoring & evaluation  
10. Activity promotion & local champions (Active Design) 

Page 515



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 90 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 The strategy identifies a vision “for a fairer and more inclusive Salford where 
everyone is able to reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling 
lives free from poverty and inequality” and identifies actions across three key 
themes:  

7. Supporting people in to work 
8. Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place including by 

creating decent jobs with decent pay, ensuring enough good quality 
decent homes are provided at a price people can afford and enhancing 
green infrastructure. 

9. Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a 
better deal for Salford including by highlighting the unfairness of current 
planning rules in relation to affordable housing. 
(No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford) 

Provision of open space/ recreation facilities 

 Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport 
and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of communities 
(NPPF para 96) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 

o Appropriate infrastructure - Supporting infrastructure to enable sport and 
physical activity to take place should be provided across all contexts 
including workplaces, sports facilities and public space, to facilitate all 
forms of activity. Providing and facilitating access to facilities and other 
infrastructure to enable all members of society to take part in sport and 
physical activity.   

o Management, maintenance, monitoring & evaluation - The management, 
long-term maintenance and viability of sports facilities and public spaces 
should be considered in their design. Monitoring and evaluation should be 
used to assess the success of Active Design initiatives and to inform 
future directions to maximise activity outcomes from design interventions. 
A high standard of management, maintenance, monitoring and evaluation 
is essential to ensure the long-term desired functionality of all spaces. 
(Active Design) 

 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are advised to 
expect proposed new development to: ‘iii’ provide public or private open 
space as appropriate so that an accessible choice of shade and shelter is 
offered, recognising the opportunities for people, biodiversity, flood storage 
and carbon management provided by multi-functional green spaces and 
green infrastructure networks (Planning for Climate Change p.23) 

Page 516



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 91 

 Objective to ensure that sufficient outdoor sports facilities are provided of a 
good quality and which support the needs of each sport and club in Salford. 
This provision should be sufficient and flexible to deal with current and 
projected increases in demand” (Salford Playing Pitch Strategy and Action 
Plan 2015 – 2025) 

 Ensure that all households are within an appropriate distance of a full range 
of greenspaces (Greenspace Strategy SPD, para 1.17). 

 A full range of adult and youth facilities should be available within each 
Community Committee Area (UDP, Policy R2)(Greenspace Strategy, Policy 
GS9). 

 Any new open space should enhance the range and quality of existing areas 
(UDP, Policy R2[vi]) 

 Site pocket parks where routes converge, around focuses of activity or where 
people will naturally gather, enclose the spaces with built form and have uses 
that spill onto the edges of the square. Provide adequate shelter and give the 
square an internal focus of frame a view (Salford’s spaces and places page 
24) 

Open space/ recreation standards 

 Planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of 
the need for open space, sport and recreation facilities (including quantitative 
or qualitative deficits or surpluses) and opportunities for new provision. 
Information gained from the assessments should be used to determine what 
open space, sport and recreational provision is needed, which plans should 
then seek to accommodate (NPPF para 96) 

 All households to be within 400m walking distance of a LEAP, 1,000m of a 
NEAP, 1,200m of a Neighbourhood Park and 3,200m of a District Park (UDP 
Policy R2)(Salford Greenspace Strategy, Policy GS4, GS5, GS6 and GS7).    

 Provide at least 1ha of Local Nature Reserve per 1000 population; one 
accessible 20ha site within 2km from home; one accessible 100ha site within 
5km and one accessible 500ha site within 10km  (Providing accessible 
natural greenspace in towns and cities (Accessible Natural Greenspace 
Standard {ANGSt}], pg 1) (Greenspace Strategy SPD, para 3.5) 

 All households should be within 500 metres walking distance of a Local Natural 
Greenspace and 2,000 metres walking distance of a Strategic Natural 
Greenspace (Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS1, GS2 ) 

 No person should live more than 300m from their nearest area of natural 
greenspace (Providing accessible natural greenspace in towns and cities 
(Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard {ANGSt}], pg 1) (Greenspace 
Strategy SPD, para 3.5) 

 The Six Acre Standard recommends the provision of 2.43 hectares of outdoor 
recreation facilities per 1,000 population, made up of: 1.2ha of Sports Pitches; 
0.4-0.6ha of Other Youth and Adult Space; 0.4-0.5ha of Informal Children's 
Playspace; and 0.2-0.3ha of Equipped Children's Playspace (Cited 
Greenspace strategy SPD, para 3.2) 

Page 517



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 92 

 A minimum of 0.25 hectares of Equipped Children’s Play Space should be 
provided per 1,000 people across the city, and particularly within individual 
neighbourhoods where the demand for play facilities is relatively high (Adopted 
UDP, Policy R2)(Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS3)   

Open spaces and local communities 

 Ensure partnership working and community involvement in improving green 
spaces (Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS11). 

 The designation of land as Local Green Space through local and 
neighbourhood plans allows communities to identify and protect green areas of 
particular importance to them. Designating land as Local Green Space should 
be consistent with the local planning of sustainable development and 
complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs and other essential services. 
Local Green Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared or 
updated, and be capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period (NPPF 
para 99). 

 The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green 
space is: a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; b) 
demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local 
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, 
recreational value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its 
wildlife; and c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land (NPPF 
para 100). 

Protection of open spaces/ recreational facilities 

 Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including 
playing fields, should not be built on unless: 
o An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 

space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
o The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 

equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 

o The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 
benefits of which  clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use 
(NPPF para 97) 

 The development of existing recreation land or facilities will not be permitted 
unless the development is for formal or informal recreation purposes, 
adequate replacement is provided, the site is surplus to requirements (giving 
consideration to all the functions that open space can perform) or the 
development is ancillary to the use of the site (UDP, Policy R1) (Greenspace 
Strategy, policy GS13)  

 Greenspace should be designed so as to (where appropriate and practical) 
mitigate against the impacts of climate change, such as by providing flood 
storage or sustainable drainage systems (SUDS), or through increasing tree 
planting (Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS10). 

Page 518



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 93 

 Neglected green spaces should be revived and should be central to the 
regeneration of communities (How to create quality parks and open spaces, pg 
17) 

 Make active ageing the norm rather than the exception, for example by 
protecting green spaces and launching physical activity initiatives. Protect and 
promote community ownership of green spaces and improve access to land so 
that people can grow their own food (Healthy Lives Healthy People para 11(e))  

 Any development involving the loss of a Priority Sports Pitch (including 
Additional Capacity Pitches) will be required to provide a replacement pitch, 
irrespective of when that existing pitch was last used or its current condition 
(Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS12).  

 Development must not be to the detriment of Key Recreation Areas (Adopted 
UDP, Policy R4) 

Accessible open spaces 

 It should be ensured that all sections of society can enjoy greenspaces and 
recreation activities (Rural White Paper, para 11.1.2) (Greenspace Strategy 
SPD, para 1.17) 

 Local authorities should plan for new open space and sports and recreational 
facilities by promoting accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport, 
and ensure that facilities are accessible for people with disabilities 
(Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS10 and para.1.17) 

 Equipped Children’s Play Space should be located within safe and easy 
walking distance of its catchment area, minimising the need to cross main 
roads or other significant barriers, and providing safe access routes where 
there is such a need (Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS3).   

 Where possible the council should provide links to Strategic Natural 
Greenspace locations for walkers and cyclists (Greenspace Strategy SPD, 
para 5.2) 

 Improve access to and the quality of greenspace, leisure and recreation 
resources to provide greater opportunities for local people to lead healthier lives 
(Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan – Statement 12). 

 Ensure public open spaces and public paths are maintained to a high standard 
and can be reached on foot, by bicycle, other modes of transport that involve 
physical activity and public transport (NICE public health guidance 8) 

Well-designed open spaces/ local amenity 

 Create attractive and welcoming parks and play areas (Securing the Future, 
pg 122) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 

o Activity for all - Neighbourhoods, facilities and open spaces should be 
accessible to all users and should support sport and physical activity 
across all ages. Enabling those who want to be active, whilst encouraging 
those who are inactive to become active.   

Page 519



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 94 

o Management, maintenance, monitoring & evaluation - The management, 
long-term maintenance and viability of sports facilities and public spaces 
should be considered in their design. Monitoring and evaluation should be 
used to assess the success of Active Design initiatives and to inform 
future directions to maximise activity outcomes from design interventions. 
A high standard of management, maintenance, monitoring and evaluation 
is essential to ensure the long-term desired functionality of all spaces. 
(Active Design) 

 Amenity space should be to a standard reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development it serves and should be sufficient to meet the need for casual 
children’s play space (UDP, Policy R2).  

 Recreation land and facilities should not have an unacceptable impact on 
residential amenity; highway safety; quiet enjoyment of the open countryside 
(Adopted UDP, Policy R2) (Greenspace Strategy SPD, para 1.17) 

 Greenspace should be designed so as to protect and, where appropriate, 
enhance the setting and character and features of listed buildings, or locally 
listed, features or structures within or adjacent to the site (Greenspace 
Strategy SPD, Policy GS10). 

 Clearly delineate public, communal, semi-private and private spaces, avoiding 
ill-defined or left over spaces (Adopted UDP, Policy DES10[ii]). 

 Recreation should be managed in a way that benefits local communities and 
protects the environment that people come to visit (Rural White Paper, para 
11.1.2)  

 For new play areas there should be a distance between the play space and 
the curtilage of the nearest residential property of at least 30 metres 
(Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS4) 

Open space and development 

 Use planning obligations to provide new and enhanced recreation facilities 
(UDP Policy ST10) 

 New housing development will create additional demand for open space 
facilities, and therefore appropriate provision for formal and informal open 
space will be required, together with its ongoing maintenance. In some 
instances the most effective means of achieving this will be through providing 
some open space on-site. In other instances a financial contribution will be 
sought towards off-site provision (Planning Obligations SPD) 

 Planning permission for housing development will only be granted where 
adequate and appropriate provision is made for formal and informal open space 
and its maintenance over a twenty-year period (UDP Policies H8 and 
R2)(Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS15). 

 All open space in Lower Broughton should be designed as part of an integrated 
network of an appropriate quality and quantity to meet the needs of existing 
and future residents, wherever possible it should be located and designed to 
provide water storage capacity (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC 8) 

Page 520



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 95 

 Development adjoining key open spaces in Lower Broughton should provide 
enclosure to the open space, provide active frontages to the open space to 
ensure overlooking and, in the case of the Crescent Meadows, locate uses that 
could promote the active use of the meadows on the ground floor them (Lower 
Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC8) 

 Establish and strengthen green links between space, creating both a visual and 
physical connection throughout the city, provide opportunities for development 
plots to form a future link and take opportunities to advance biodiversity and a 
range of habitats (Salford’s spaces and places page 28) 

Security of open spaces 

 Improve safety of all open spaces, greenspaces and areas (Salford 
Greenspace Strategy, p.11) 

 Greenspace should be designed so as to minimise the potential for nuisance 
behaviour (Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS10). 

 Create natural surveillance overlooking open spaces (Policy DES10[ii]) 
(Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS10) 

Countryside recreation (also see countryside and landscape) 

 The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 establishes rights for the public 
to walk freely on mapped areas of mountain, moor, heath, down-land and 
registered common land (Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000) 

 Improve access between urban areas and the urban fringe and countryside, 
in particular through the network of existing and proposed Strategic 
Recreation Routes (UDP Policy ST10 and R5) 

Green infrastructure  

 Plans should take a strategic approach to maintaining and enhancing 
networks of habitats and green infrastructure; (NPPF para 171) 

 We need Green Infrastructure to complete the links in our national ecological 
network. Urban green space allows species to move around within and 
between towns and the countryside. Even small patches of habitat can benefit 
movement. Urban green infrastructure is also recognised as one of the most 
effective tools available to us in managing environmental risks such as 
flooding and heatwaves. It is part of the answer to the challenges posed by a 
changing climate (Natural Choice para 2.78) 

 High-quality green infrastructure can also drive local economic growth and 
regeneration. The Government will work with local authority partnerships 
through the Total Environment initiative to identify and address barriers to 
using green infrastructure to promote sustainable growth, and share the 
lessons learned (Natural Choice para 3.22). 

 In their local development plans, local authorities are recommended to: 
o v plan green infrastructure in order to optimise its many benefits and, as 

part of wider green infrastructure networks, in order to support local 

Page 521



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 96 

biodiversity and healthy living environments, including through providing 
urban cooling, local flood risk management, carbon sequestration and 
local access to shady outdoor space (Planning for Climate Change p.17) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 

o Network of multifunctional open space - A network of multifunctional open 

space should be created across all communities to support a range of 

activities including sport, recreation and play plus other landscape features 

including Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), woodland, wildlife 

habitat and productive landscapes (allotments, orchards). Facilities for 

sport, recreation and play should be of an appropriate scale and 

positioned in prominent locations. Providing multifunctional spaces opens 

up opportunities for sport and physical activity and has numerous wider 

benefits (Active Design) 

 A positive approach to green infrastructure in the City Region is essential if 
growth is to be sustained: 
o It is an imperative of national, regional and city-regional policy regarding 

sustainable development; 
o It brings economic and health benefits; 
o It contributes to climate change mitigation and adaptation; 
o It can offset the negative environmental and social effects of 

development and reverse the legacy of poor environmental quality left 
from the 19th and 20th centuries; 

o It meets the City’s twin aspirations of quality of life and quality of place; 
and, 

o It is consistent with the City-Region’s intended “brand” as an ambitious, 
green and vibrant place  
(Towards a Green Infrastructure Framework for Greater Manchester, 
paragraph 2.1) 

 Green Infrastructure (GI) underpins the growth, transformation and 
management of the Greater Manchester. GI will make places where people 
want to stay. In planning and managing GI, our aims are to: 
o ensure our residents enjoy outstanding quality of life; 
o care for our environment so it protects and sustains property and 

enterprise; 
o create a setting for prosperous growth. 

(Towards a Green Infrastructure Framework for Greater Manchester, 
page 21) 

 Our objectives are to shape the diverse outdoor environments of the City-
Region so they fulfil the following “Growth-support” functions. These 
functions are of City-Regional priority, but the only way they will be 
safeguarded and enhanced is through numerous actions by many different 
agencies, mostly organised and delivered at a local level. 
o Flood risk management and climate change adaptation 
o An ecological framework 

Page 522



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 97 

o A sustainable movement network 
o A sense of place 
o River and Canal Corridor Management 
o Positive image and a setting for growth 
o Supporting urban regeneration 
o Community health and enjoyment 

(Towards a Green Infrastructure Framework for Greater Manchester, 
page 21) 

 Support the key development requirements of delivering low carbon energy, 
transport, buildings, green and blue infrastructure and sustainable 
consumption at the sub regional, district and neighbourhood level (GM 
Climate Change Strategy page 48) 

 By 2020 GM will have a well co-ordinated green and blue infrastructure 
network that delivers cooling, shelter, resilience and flood management, 
increasing urban tree cover, local biomass production and food production 
within strategies that protect biodiversity and provide for local habitat 
adaptation (GM Climate Change Strategy page 36) 

 GM objective that by 2020 green infrastructure will be integrated into the 
strategies and work programmes of all organisations working in the growth, 
sustainability and wellbeing sectors including dissemination of research into 
costs, levies, standards and benefits (GM Climate Change Strategy p36) 

 We need to use the landscape of towns and cities – trees, parks, rivers and 
lakes – to mimic natural processes, like water flow and cooling air flow. This 
green infrastructure should be as much a priority for a successful place as 
grey infrastructure – like the road network or the sewerage system (Hallmarks 
of a Sustainable City p4) 

 The strategy identifies a vision “for a fairer and more inclusive Salford where 
everyone is able to reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling 
lives free from poverty and inequality” and identifies actions across three key 
themes:  
o Supporting people in to work 
o Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place including by 

creating decent jobs with decent pay, ensuring enough good quality 
decent homes are provided at a price people can afford and enhancing 
green infrastructure. 

o Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a 
better deal for Salford including by highlighting the unfairness of current 
planning rules in relation to affordable housing. 
(No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford) 

 Ensure that green spaces are interlinked (Greenspace Strategy SPD, para 
1.17) 

 High quality pedestrian and cycling routes will be developed between the 
strategic open spaces that contribute to meeting the standards in the 

Page 523



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 98 

Greenspace Strategy SPD, and between the open spaces and their 
surrounding neighbourhoods (Greenspace Strategy SPD, Policy GS14).  

 Establish and strengthen green links between space, creating both a visual 
and physical connection throughout the city, provide opportunities for 
development plots to form a future link and take opportunities to advance 
biodiversity and a range of habitats (Salford’s spaces and places page 28) 

 Improve access between urban areas and the urban fringe and countryside 
through the network of existing and proposed Strategic Recreation Routes 
(UDP, Policy ST10).  

 Green Infrastructure can play a positive role in achieving the objectives for 
clean air, water, soil and biodiversity conservation which are needed to 
ensure we are living within environmental limits. Incorporating green 
infrastructure into development plans will help deliver many of the social, 
economic and environmental benefits required for sustainable communities 
(Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the Biodiversity Duty, p.20) 

 The greatest benefits will emerge from understanding how a green space 
network and the water network interact, and developing a coordinated 
strategy to address them both (Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p18) 

 Maintain the biodiversity of The Meadows and enhance it further by linking 
this into a wider green network to provide continuous linkage which is better 
suited for wildlife habitats (Salford’s places and spaces, page 16) 

Recreation and waterways (also see water and flood risk and transport 
(walking and cycling)) 

 Provide a combined footway and cycleway along the entire riverside route of 
the Irwell City Park to provide the City Park with full public access all year 
round and at all times (Irwell City Park Policies ICP15 and ICP17) 

 Open up access to the River Irwell, the Meadows and the Bolton Bury Canal 
(Salford Central Development Framework p33). 

Regional parks 

 Establish a Strategic Regional Park in the Countryside and Urban Fringe of 
Salford and the Irwell Valley (UDP, Policy R3 and ST10)(Salford Greenspace 
Strategy p.25).  

Allotments 

 Local authorities have a statutory duty to provide a sufficient quantity of 
allotment plots for local people if there is a demand (1908 Small Holdings and 
Allotments Act s.23) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
the following criteria: ‘viii’ whether the development provides gardens and 
plots for allotments, or other community areas to maximise opportunities for 
local food sourcing (Planning for Climate Change page 18) 

Page 524



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 99 

References (recreation/ open space/ green infrastructure) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 GM Climate Change Strategy 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City. 

DCMS 2008 A Passion for Excellence – An Improvement 
Strategy for Media and Sport. 

DCMS 2008 The Play Strategy for England 

DEFRA 2007 Guidance for Local Authorities on 
Implementing the Biodiversity Duty 

DEFRA 2004 Rural White Paper: Our Countryside: The 
Future - A Fair Deal for Rural England 

English Nature 2003 Providing Accessible Natural Greenspace in 
Towns and Cities 

European 
Commission 

2002 Guiding Principles for Sustainable Spatial 
Development of the European Continent 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2011 White Paper: Healthy Lives, Healthy People: 
Our Strategy for Public Health in England 

HM Government 2005 Securing the future – UK Government 
sustainable development strategy. 

HM Government 2001 The Natural Choice: Securing the value of 
nature 

HM Government 2000 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

HM Government 1908 Small Holdings and Allotments Act 

National Playing 
Fields Association 

2001 The Six Acre Standard 
 

ODPM 2005 How to create quality parks and open spaces 

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
Local Authorities 

Salford CC 2017 No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford 

Salford City Council 2016 Salford Playing Pitch Strategy & Action Plan 
2015 – 2025 

Salford City Council 2015 Planning Obligations SPD 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s Spaces and Places Public Realm 
Handbook 

Salford City Council 2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan 

Salford City Council 2006 Greenspace Strategy SPD 

Salford City Council 2006 Lower Broughton Design Code 

Page 525



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 100 

Salford City Council/ 
Manchester City 
Council/ Trafford MBC 

2008 Irwell City Park Planning Guidance 
 

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

TEP / AGMA / Natural 
England 

2008 Towards a Green Infrastructure Framework for 
Greater Manchester 

 
  

Page 526



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 101 

Recycling and waste management 

Sustainable waste management    

 The first objective of any waste policy should be to minimise the negative 
effects of the generation and management of waste on human health and the 
environment. Waste policy should also aim at reducing the use of resources, 
and favour the practical application of the waste hierarchy (Waste 
Framework Directive, para 6)  

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 
regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of 
environmental effects must be considered together and the setting of permit 
conditions so as to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a 
whole. Issues covered in the directive include emissions to area, water and 
land, generation of waste, use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, 
prevention of accidents and risk management (Integrated Pollution 
Prevention and Control Directive 1996) 

 The Environmental Protection Act establishes the legal framework for dealing 
with the control of emissions to the environment, including: 
o integrated pollution control and Air Pollution Control by Local Authorities 
o The treatment and disposal of waste including hazardous waste 
o Air Quality (Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 makes provisions in respect of waste 

disposal, water pollution, noise, atmospheric pollution and public health and 

matters connected to these issues (Control of Pollution Act 1974). 

 The Waste Management Plan for England is in response to the requirements 
of Article 28 of the Waste Framework Directive and reinforces the waste 
hierarchy and the proximity principle (Waste Management Plan for England) 

 The Waste Regulations provide the legislative framework for the collection, 
transport, recovery and disposal of waste. It includes principles of sel-
sufficiency and proximity in relation to waste (4(1)) and a duty in relation to the 
waste hierarchy (12(1)) (Waste Framework Regulations 2011) 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy include: 
o To promote sustainable consumption and production patterns (European 

Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 The government aims to have the right infrastructure in place to deal with 
waste as efficiently as possible, with an ambition to move towards a ‘circular 
economy’ where material resources are valued and kept in circulation 
(National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 9.11) 

 Positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering this country’s waste 
ambitions through:  
o delivery of sustainable development and resource efficiency, including 

provision of modern infrastructure, local employment opportunities and 

Page 527



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 102 

wider climate change benefits, by driving waste management up the waste 
hierarchy; 

o ensuring that waste management is considered alongside other spatial 
planning concerns, such as housing and transport, recognising the 
positive contribution that waste management can make to the 
development of sustainable communities;  

o providing a framework in which communities and businesses are engaged 
with and take more responsibility for their own waste, including by 
enabling waste to be disposed of or, in the case of mixed municipal waste 
from households, recovered, in line with the proximity principle;  

o helping to secure the re-use, recovery or disposal of waste without 
endangering human health and without harming the environment; and 

o ensuring the design and layout of new residential and commercial 
development and other infrastructure (such as safe and reliable transport 
links) complements sustainable waste management, including the 
provision of appropriate storage and segregation facilities to facilitate high 
quality collections of waste  
(National Planning Policy for Waste, paragraph 1) 

 As part of the environmental objective of sustainable development, waste 
should be minimised (NPPF para 8c) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for infrastructure for 
waste management (NPPF para 20b) 

 The Local Plan relating to waste should identify sufficient opportunities to 
meet the identified needs of an area for the management of waste, aiming to 
drive waste management up the Waste Hierarchy. It should ensure that 
suitable sites and areas for the provision of waste management facilities are 
identified in appropriate locations (NPPG – 011 Reference ID: 28-011-
20141016) 

 Break the links between economic growth, the use of resources and the 
generation of waste…and reduce the environmental impacts of waste (GM 
Waste DPD page 17) 

 Continue the delivery of a holistic approach to long-term waste and resource 
management by increasing recycling rates, reducing waste going to landfill 
and working with manufacturers, suppliers, retailers, recyclers and waste 
management companies to refine the efficiencies in the flows of resources 
and waste (GM Climate Change Strategy page 40) 

 Provide  flexible approach for the delivery of required waste management 
facilities, allowing emerging technologies to come forward (GM Waste DPD 
page 17) 

 Reduce waste movements and, where waste needs to be moved, to promote 
the sustainable movement of waste across the sub-region (GM Waste DPD 
page 17) 

Page 528



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 103 

 Protect the quality of life of communities and protect and where possible 
enhance the sub-region’s natural environment, biodiversity, geo-diversity, 
cultural and historic heritage (GM Waste DPD page 17) 

 In 2009, emissions from waste management represented a little over 3% of 
the UK total. The Government is committed to working towards a zero waste 
economy, and by 2050 it is estimated that emissions of methane from landfill 
(responsible for around 90% of the sector’s emissions) will be substantially below 
current levels (The Carbon Plan, para 54) 

 The overall objective of Government policy on waste is to protect human 
health and the environment by producing less waste and by using it as a 
resource wherever possible (Securing the Future p16) 

 Local authorities should plan to reduce the need for freighting of waste by 
looking to collect, sort, reprocess and treat waste at the neighbourhood scale 
(Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p17) 

 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are advised to 
expect proposed new development to: ‘v’ support sustainable waste 
management by providing space for recycling and composting (Planning for 
Climate Change p.23) 

Waste hierarchy 

 The Waste Management Plan for England is in response to the requirements 
of Article 28 of the Waste Framework Directive and reinforces the waste 
hierarchy and the proximity principle (Waste Management Plan for England) 

 Move the management of waste up the ‘waste hierarchy’ of reduction, re-use, 
recycling and composting, using waste as a source of energy, and only 
disposing as a last resort (GM Waste DPD page 17) 

 The following waste hierarchy shall apply as a priority order in waste 
prevention and management legislation and policy: (a) prevention; (b) 
preparing for re-use; (c) recycling; (d) other recovery, e.g. energy recovery; 
and (e) disposal (Waste Framework Directive Article 4 (1)) 

 Drive an increase in waste prevention, reuse and recycling by prioritising 
above energy recovery through a combination of education and increased 
access to services (GM Waste Management Strategy para 1.4) 

 Improve the environmental management of waste by using the waste 
hierarchy (supported by life cycle assessment) to identify the most 
appropriate way to treat wastes, thus saving material resources or replacing 
fossil fuels (GM Waste Management Strategy para 1.4) 

Proximity principle 

 The Waste Management Plan for England is in response to the requirements 
of Article 28 of the Waste Framework Directive and reinforces the waste 
hierarchy and the proximity principle (Waste Management Plan for England) 

Page 529



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 104 

Polluter - pays 

 The polluter-pays principle is a guiding principle at European and international 
levels. The waste producer and the waste holder should manage the waste in 
away that guarantees a high level of protection of the environment and 
human health (Waste Framework Directive para 26) 

Promoting reduction/ reuse / recycling/ composting 

 Support behavioural change through a combination of measures that increase 
the opportunity and motivation to prevent, reuse and recycle wastes, and 
reduce the opportunity to throw away wastes that have not been separated 
(GM Waste Management Strategy para 1.4) 

 Support business to reduce, reuse, recycle and recover waste, and increase 
understanding of the actions government and business can take to develop 
increased producer responsibility (GM Waste Management Strategy para 1.4) 

 Enable at least 25% of household waste to be recycled or composted by 
2005-06, with further improvements by 2008 (Securing the Future p. 169) 

 Increase proportion of recycled household waste arisings from 25% to 50% 
2010 – 2020 (Salford’s Climate Change strategy page 43) 

Landfill 

 Reduce the amount of residual waste land-filled to the minimum that can be 
technically and economically achieved, using a combination of prevention, 
reuse, recycling and recovery with a target to achieve 90% diversion from 
landfill by 2015 (GM Waste Management Strategy para 1.4)  

Provision of waste facilities 

 Clifton Industrial Estate, Cobden Street, Oakhill Industrial Estate and Ashtons 
field are all identified as suitable for built waste management facilities (GM 
Waste DPD page 97) 

Disposal of hazardous waste (also see hazardous substances) 

 The implications of the Landfill Directive include: 
o An end to the practice of co-disposal (for instance where hazardous and 

non hazardous substances are disposed of in the same landfill) 
o Landfilling of hazardous materials only in facilities especially designed to 

accept the materials 
o Increased requirement of pre treatment of waste prior to landfilling 

Disposal of hazardous waste  

 The Mining Waste Directive’s overall objective is to provide measures to 

prevent or reduce as far as possible any adverse effects on the environment 

as well as any resultant risk to human health from the management of waste 

from the extractive industries (Mining Waste Directive 2006) 

Page 530



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 105 

References (recycling and waste management) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2012 Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development 
Plan Document 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

DEFRA 2013 Waste Management Plan for England 

DEFRA 2005 Securing the Future: UK Government 
Sustainable Development Strategy 

European 
Commission 

2008 Directive 2008/98/EC on waste (Waste 
Framework Directive) 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 

European 
Commission 

2006 The Mining Waste Directive 2006/21/EC 

European 
Commission 

1996 The Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

Greater Manchester 
Waste Disposal 
Authority 

2007 Greater Manchester Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy  
 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Policy for Waste 

HM Government 2011 The Carbon Plan: Delivering our Low Carbon 
Future 

HM Government 2011 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 
2011 

HM Government 1990 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

HM Government 1974 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 

ODPM 2000 Hazardous substances consent: a guide for 
industry 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

 
  

Page 531



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 106 

 

Water & flood risk  

Integrated water management 

 The Water Framework Directive seeks to: 

o Prevent further deterioration and protect and enhance the status of 

aquatic ecosystems and wetlands 

o Promote sustainable water use (reducing pollutants) 

o Contribute to mitigating effects of floods and droughts 

o Prevent further deterioration and risk of pollution in ground waters (Water 

Framework Directive 2000) 

 Water Management – We will protect water ecosystems, including habitats 
and species, through a river basin planning approach. We will also promote 
approaches to flood and erosion management which conserve the natural 
environment and improve biodiversity (Biodiversity 2020, paragraph 20) 

 The Water Environment Regulations led to the establishment of river basin 
districts in England and Wales and river basin management plans for each 
(The Water Environment Regulations 2003) 

 Water, sanitation and sewage services in England and Wales are provided 
by the private sector. The government sets the strategic policy framework for 
the industry to ensure resilient, sustainable and affordable water and 
sewerage services. Ofwat, the economic regulator, sets the framework within 
which companies are licensed (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 para 9.3) 

 The Water Resources Act sets out a framework towards effective water 
management including requirements in respect of: 
o Licenses in respect of water abstraction and impounding 

o Water quality objectives 

o Flood Risk Management (Water Resources Act 1991) 

 By 2050:  
o water bodies in England will be in excellent health, with reduced 

pollution, sustaining rich and abundant wildlife, and resilient to climate 
change.  

o Water environments will be safe and attractive, supporting a wide range 
of sustainable uses, including leisure and recreation. (Natural Choices 
paragraph 2.69) 

 Climate change will have a large impact on the region’s future demand for, 
and availability of, water and effective local and strategic management plans 
will be needed to address these important issues. (Spatial Implications of 
Climate Change, p.43)  
o  

Page 532



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 107 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 

quality of development, and make sufficient provision for infrastructure for 

water supply (NPPF para 20b) 

 In plan-making, there are a number of broad considerations relevant to water 

supply and water quality: 

o Infrastructure (water supply and wastewater); 

o Water quality; 

o Waste water 

o Cross-boundary concerns; 

o Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal (NPPG - 

002 Reference ID: 34-002-20140306) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 

for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 

criteria including: ’vi’ whether developing the site would provide opportunities 

to help the existing community to adapt to impacts arising from changes in 

the climate, including through sustainable drainage systems (the Flood and 

Water Management Act 2010 includes provisions on sustainable drainage 

systems) and green infrastructure (Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 At the heart of the Water Framework Directive is a new river basin planning 

system which will enable us to manage our waters in a more holistic and 

transparent way, following the principles of better regulation. (River Basin 

Planning Guidance, p.3) (UK Government Sustainable Development 

Strategy, page 99) 

 Support the key development requirements of delivering low carbon energy, 

transport, buildings, green and blue infrastructure and sustainable 

consumption at the sub regional, district and neighbourhood level (GM 

Climate Change Strategy page 48) 

 Where new development is planned, careful consideration should be given to 

local water resources, and planning conditions applied to address any 

shortage (Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p18) 

 The greatest benefits will emerge from understanding how a green space 

network and the water network interact, and developing a coordinated 

strategy to address them both (Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p18) 

 Within urban areas it is important to apply plentiful and different greening 

techniques with environmental benefits; allowing water to drain through 

permeable pavements and exploiting the potential of green areas to cool the 

city (Salford’s spaces and places page 24) 

Page 533



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 108 

Water quality (also see utilities infrastructure) 

 The Environmental Protection Act establishes the legal framework for dealing 
with the control of emissions to the environment, including: 
o integrated pollution control and Air Pollution Control by Local Authorities 
o The treatment and disposal of waste including hazardous waste 
o Air Quality (Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 

regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of 

environmental effects must be considered together and the setting of permit 

conditions so as to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a 

whole. Issues covered in the directive include emissions to area, water and 

land, generation of waste, use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, 

prevention of accidents and risk management (Integrated Pollution 

Prevention and Control Directive 1996) 

 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 makes provisions in respect of waste 

disposal, water pollution, noise, atmospheric pollution and public health and 

matters connected to these issues (Control of Pollution Act 1974). 

 Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental 

conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant 

information such as river basin management plans (NPPF para 170e) 

 Plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate 

change, taking into account the long-term implications for flood risk, coastal 

change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of 

overheating from rising temperatures (NPPF para 149) 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability (NPPF para 170e). 

 Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner (NPPF para 179) 

 Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to 
impacts that could arise from the development (NPPF para 180).  

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

Page 534



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 109 

 Development will not be permitted where it would have an unacceptable 

impact on surface or ground water in terms of its quality, level or flow (UDP, 

Policy EN18, ST13 and specifically in respect of the R.Irwell EN5) (Irwell City 

Park Policies ICP19 and ICP20) 

 Waterside development will be required to protect and, where possible, 

improve or provide wildlife habitats (Adopted UDP Policy DES6) 

Consumption 

 The planning system provides a framework for managing development and 
the use of land in ways which take into account the sustainable use of our 
natural resources, for example by designing in from the outset measures to 
tackle water resource (UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy) 

 Development will not be permitted if it would be likely to have an 
unacceptable impact on the conservation of non-renewable resources or on 
the local or global environments. Regard will be had to the use and disposal 
of water in a responsible and efficient manner (UDP Policy EN22) 

 Water Resource Use Indicator: total abstractions from non-tidal surface and 
groundwater sources and GDP (UK Government Sustainable Development 
Strategy, 2005; UK Framework Indicators) 

 Domestic Water Consumption Indicator: domestic water consumption per 
head (UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy, 2005; UK 
Framework Indicators) 

Flooding 

 In developing policies referring to water and land uses Member States and 

the Community should consider the potential impacts that such policies might 

have on flood risks and the management of flood risks (European Flood Risk 

Directive (9))  

 Requirement for member states to undertake preliminary flood risk 

assessment, produce flood hazard maps and flood risk maps, and establish 

flood risk management plans (European Flood Risk Directive). 

 The Flood and Water Management Act identifies key responsibilities in 
relation to flood risk. It includes a requirement for the Environment Agency to 
develop and apply a strategy for flood and coastal erosion risk management 
in England with local flood authorities doing the same at the local level. The 
Act encourages the uptake of sustainable drainage systems and introduces 
an improved risk based approach to reservoir safety (Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010). 

 Local authorities are responsible for managing flood risk from surface water, 
ordinary watercourses and groundwater. There is a need for a strategic 
approach to managing flood risk from these sources (2010 Flood Water 
Management Act) 

Page 535



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 110 

 Flooding can have a devastating effect on communities, causing significant 
damage to homes and businesses. It can cause severe disruption to energy, 
transport, water and communications networks and have a major effect on 
local economies. While it is not possible to prevent all flooding or coastal 
erosion, measures can be taken to reduce the risks and improve protection 
to help keep families and businesses safe from the damage that can be 
caused (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 8.1 and 8.4) 

 Communities, individuals, voluntary groups and private and public sector 
organisations will work together to: 
o manage the risk to people and their property; 
o facilitate decision-making and action at the appropriate level - individual, 

community, or local authority, river catchment, coastal cell or national; 
o achieve environmental, social and economic benefits, consistent with 

the principles of sustainable development (Risk Management Strategy 
for England, pages 13 and 14) 

 Government will work with individuals, communities and organisations to 
reduce the threat of flooding and coastal erosion by: 
o understanding the risks of flooding and coastal erosion, working 

together to put in place long-term plans to manage these risks and 
making sure that other plans take account of them; 

o avoiding inappropriate development in areas of flood and coastal 
erosion risk and being careful to manage land elsewhere to avoid 
increasing risks;  

o building, maintaining and improving flood and coastal erosion 
management infrastructure and systems to reduce the likelihood of 
harm to people and damage to the economy, environment and society; 
increasing public awareness of the risk that remains and engaging with 
people at risk to encourage them to take action to manage the risks that 
they face and to make their property more resilient; 

o improving the detection, forecasting and issue of warnings of flooding, 
planning for and co-ordinating a rapid response to flood emergencies 
and promoting faster recovery from flooding (Risk Management 
Strategy for England, pages 13 and 14) 

 The planning system provides a framework for managing development and 
the use of land in ways which take into account the sustainable use of our 
natural resources, for example by designing in from the outset measures to 
tackle flood risk (UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy) 

 Five point plan to tackle climate change: 
1. Protecting the public from immediate risk 
2. Preparing for the future 
3. Limiting the severity of future climate change through a new international 

climate agreement 
4. Building a low carbon UK 
5. Supporting individuals and businesses to play their part 

Page 536



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 111 

(UK Low Carbon Transition Plan – national strategy for climate and 
energy) 

 Planning policies and decisions should promote public safety and take into 
account wider security and defence requirements by anticipating and 
addressing possible malicious threats and natural hazards. This includes 
appropriate and proportionate steps that can be taken to reduce vulnerability, 
increase resilience and ensure public safety and security (NPPF para 95) 

 The Environment Agency has published guidance on climate change 
allowances and flood ris (Flood Risk Assessments: Climate Change 
Allocances) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
criteria including ‘I’ whether developing the site is appropriate, having regard 
to the intended lifetime of the development and increases in risk resulting 
from changes in the climate to known physical and environmental elements 
such as sea level rise, flooding, increased temperatures, instability and 
extremes of weather (Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 Aims of Salford’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy: 
o Knowing when and where it will flood - aim to improve knowledge of when 

and where it will flood and the roles of different agencies, amongst all 
relevant agencies and the wider community  

o Improved planning and reducing the risk of flooding and its impact – aim to 
minimise the impacts of flooding and achieve environmental, social and 
economic benefits from flood risk management, consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development and taking into account the impact 
of climate change. 

o Dealing with flooding incidents and the aftermath - aim to ensure that 
when the worst happens residents are rescued and cared for appropriately 
and that Salford is a resilient city which can recover quickly from flood 
events (Salford Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, page 6) 

 Development will not be permitted where it would be subject to an 
unacceptable risk of flooding, will materially increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere, or result in an unacceptable maintenance liability (UDP Policy 
EN18) 

 Development of new communities or the regeneration of existing ones, will, 
where possible, not be placed in unsustainable locations in terms of flood risk. 
(Sustainable Communities, para.3.12)  

 Use the best available science to provide a challenging vision for flood and 
coastal defence in the UK between 2030 and 2100 and so inform long-term 
policy. (Future Flooding, p.6) 

 Any application for development likely to be at risk of flooding or materially 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, needs to be accompanied by a formal 
flood risk assessment (UDP Policy EN19) 

 Development in Lower Broughton should be accompanied by a flood risk 
assessment which should take account of the wider potential for flood risk 

Page 537



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 112 

management in the area. Development should include design features to 
address flood risk (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC9) 

 A Flood Risk Assessment will be required to accompany planning 
applications for: 
i. any development proposals in High Flood Risk Zone 3 
ii. any development proposals in Medium Flood Risk Zone 2; or 
iii. any operational development of 1ha or above in Low Flood Risk Zone 

1 (Flood Risk and Development Planning Guidance, Policy FRD1). 

 Secure regeneration in central Salford that is resilient to the predicted impacts 
of climate change, especially in relation to flood risk and future heat island 
effects (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy) 

 New residential development proposed in High Flood Risk Zone 3 should be 
designed and built such that floor levels for habitable rooms would be no 
more than 600mm below the flood level predicted for the 1:1,000 year flood 
event (Flood Risk and Development Planning Guidance, Policy FRD4). 

 New development in High Flood Risk Zone 3 should not result in a net loss of 
flood storage capacity (Flood Risk and Development Planning Guidance, 
Policy FRD5). 

 New development in High Flood Risk Zone 3 should not have an 
unacceptable impact on the effectiveness of known linear flood flow routes. 
Where possible new development should seek to enhance the effectiveness 
of flow routes and/or be designed to allow permeability to the through flow of 
water (Flood Risk and Development Planning Guidance, Policy FRD 6). 

 EA policy to: 
o Take further action to prevent flood risk from the Manchester Ship Canal 

increasing in the future, initially working with the Manchester Ship Canal 
Company to better understand flood risk in this area (Sub area 1). 

o To do more to understand flood risk in Manchester City Centre and to 
work in partnership with the City Councils on flood risk and development 
issues (Irwell Catchment Flood Management Plan Summary Report - Sub 
area 2) 

o Take further action to reduce flood risk in Salford which might include 
constructing more flood defences or by making communities and 
properties more resilient to flood events through effective planning (Irwell 
Catchment Flood Management Plan Summary Report - Sub area 3) 

o Take action to store water or manage run-off in Kearsley and Kersal to 
reduce flood risk further down stream in Salford and Manchester (Irwell 
Catchment Flood Management Plan Summary Report - Sub area 4) 

o No large watercourse within Swinton and Eccles, actions to reduce flood 
risk relate to planning and development control (Irwell Catchment Flood 
Management Plan Summary Report - Sub-area 10) 

o Flood risk us low in the Glaze sub-area and future changes will be driven 
by climate change. Reduce existing flood risk management actions, as 
current defences mostly protect rural land and isolated properties. In these 

Page 538



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 113 

locations the flood risk will be allowed to naturally increase over time 
(Mersey Estuary Catchment Flood Management Plan – Sub area 1) 

Flood defences 

 Granting of planning permission for development subject to significant flood 
risk, will be linked to the improvement of flood defences (Adopted UDP Policy 
EN19) 

 Planning permission will not be granted for any development that would 
prejudice the provision of flood storage basins or associated water channel 
improvements to be undertaken as part of the River Irwell Flood Control 
Scheme (UDP Policy EN20) 

 One of the best ways to mitigate the impact of flood risk is by restoring flood 
plains (Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p19) 

 All open space in Lower Broughton should be designed as part of an 
integrated network of an appropriate quality and quantity to meet the needs of 
existing and future residents, wherever possible it should be located and 
designed to provide water storage capacity (Lower Broughton Design Code 
Policy LBDC 8) 

Sequential approach 

 All plans should apply a sequential, risk-based approach to the location of 
development - taking into account the current and future impacts of climate 
change – so as to avoid where possible flood risk to people and property. 
They should do this, and manage any residual risk, by: 
o Applying the sequential test and then, if necessary, the exception test 
o Safeguarding land from development that is required, or likely to be 

required, for current and future flood management 
o Using opportunities provided by new development to reduce the causes 

and impacts of flooding; and 
o Where climate change is expected to increase flood risk so that some 

existing development may not be sustainable in the long-term, seeking 
opportunities to facilitate the relocation of development, including housing, 
to more sustainable locations (NPPF para 157) 

 A sequential risk-based approach to determining the suitability of land for 
development in flood risk should be applied at all levels of the planning 
process (Meeting the Sequential Flood Risk Test: Guidelines for the North 
West Region, p.iv) 

 Regard will be had to the extent to which a development is located within or 
impacts upon a functional floodplain or flood zone (Adopted UDP Policy 
EN19) 

 
Sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) 

 Expectation that local planning policies and decisions on planning 

applications relating to major development - developments of 10 dwellings or 

Page 539



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 114 

more; or equivalent non-residential or mixed development (as set out in 

Article 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2010) - to ensure that sustainable drainage 

systems for the management of run-off are put in place, unless demonstrated 

to be inappropriate (Written Statement (HCWS161)) 

 Promote the use of sustainable drainage systems in the management of run-
off (Adopted UDP Policy EN19) 

 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are advised to 
expect proposed new development to: ‘iv’ give priority to the use of 
sustainable drainage systems, paying attention both to the potential 
contribution to water harvesting to be gained from impermeable surfaces and 
to layouts that accommodate waste water recycling (Planning for Climate 
Change p23) 

 New development in High Flood Risk Zone 3, Medium Flood Risk Zone 2 and 
areas that suffer from sewer and surface water drainage flooding and new 
development of 1ha or more in Low Flood Risk Zone 1, should demonstrate 
that the disposal of surface water from the site will not exacerbate existing 
flooding (Flood Risk and Development Planning Guidance, Policy FRD11). 

 Sustainable Drainage Systems should be used where practicable, particularly 
in areas prone to surface water flooding (Flood Risk and Development 
Planning Guidance, Policy FRD11). 

References (water and flood risk) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

DEFRA 2011 Biodiversity 2020 – A Strategy for England’s 
Wildlife and Ecosystem Services 

DEFRA 2006 River Basin Planning Guidance 

DEFRA 2005 Making Space for Water: Taking forward a 
new Government strategy for flood and 
coastal erosion risk management in England 

DEFRA 2005 Securing the Future - UK Government 
Sustainable Development Strategy  

Environment Agency 2017 Flood Risk Assessments: Climate Change 
Allowances  

Environment Agency 2011 Understanding the risks, understanding 
communities and building resilience – the 
national flood and coastal erosion risk 
management strategy for England 

Environment Agency 2009 Irwell Catchment Flood Management Plan 
(summary Report)  

Page 540



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 115 

Environment Agency 2009 Mersey Estuary Catchment Flood 
Management Plan (Summary Report) 

Environment Agency 
& NWRA 

2004 Meeting the Sequential Flood Risk Test: 
Guidelines for the North West Region 

European 
Commission 

2007 European Flood Risk Directive 

European 
Commission 

2000 The Water Framework Directive 

European 
Commission 

1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

Foresight 2004 Future Flooding Executive Summary 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

HM Government 2014 Written Statement (HCWS161) Sustainable 
Drainage Systems 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

HM Government 2011 Natural Choice: securing the value of nature 

HM Government 2010 Flood Water Management Act 

HM Government 2009 The UK low Carbon Transition Plan – National 
Strategy for Climate and Energy 

HM Government 2003 The Water Environment (Water Framework 
Directive)(England and Wales) Regulations 

HM Government 1991 Water Resources Act 1991 

HM Government 1990 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

HM Government 1974 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 

   

   

ODPM 2003 Sustainable Communities: Building for the 
Future 

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
Local Authorities 

Salford City Council 2015 Salford Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy 

Salford City Council 2010 Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

Page 541



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 116 

Salford City Council 2008 Flood Risk and Development Planning 
Guidance 

Salford City Council 2006 Lower Broughton Design Code 

Salford City Council/ 
Manchester City 
Council/ Trafford MBC 

2008 Irwell City Park Planning Guidance 

 
  

Page 542



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 117 

 

Air quality 

 

Air quality  

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 
regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of 
environmental effects must be considered together and the setting of permit 
conditions so as to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a 
whole. Issues covered in the directive include emissions to area, water and 
land, generation of waste, use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, 
prevention of accidents and risk management (Integrated Pollution 
Prevention and Control Directive 1996) 

 The Environmental Protection Act establishes the legal framework for dealing 
with the control of emissions to the environment, including: 
o integrated pollution control and Air Pollution Control by Local Authorities 
o The treatment and disposal of waste including hazardous waste 
o Air Quality (Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 To tackle the causes of air pollution, local authorities should consider a wide 

range of innovative options, exploring new technologies and seeking to 

support the government’s industrial strategy so that they can deliver reduced 

emissions in a way that best meets the needs of their communities and local 

businesses (UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations) 

 Local Plans can affect air quality in a number of ways, including through what 

development is proposed and where, and the encouragement given to 

sustainable transport. Therefore in plan making, it is important to take into 

account air quality management areas and other areas where there could be 

specific requirements or limitations on new development because of air 

quality (NPPG - 002 Reference ID: 32-002-20140306) 

 Drawing on the review of air quality carried out for the local air quality 

management regime, the Local Plan may need to consider: 

o the potential cumulative impact of a number of smaller developments on 

air quality as well as the effect of more substantial developments; 

o the impact of point sources of air pollution (pollution that originates from 

one place); and, 

o ways in which new development would be appropriate in locations where 

air quality is or likely to be a concern and not give rise to unacceptable 

risks from pollution. This could be through, for example, identifying 

measures for offsetting the impact on air quality arising from new 

Page 543

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 118 

development including supporting measures in an air quality action plan or 

low emissions strategy where applicable. (NPPG) 

 The Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy sets out a framework for 

policies and measures to: reduce air pollution as a contributor to ill health in 

Greater Manchester;  support the UK Government in meeting EU air quality 

thresholds;  contribute to a reduction in Greater Manchester’s carbon 

footprint; and  encourage low-emission behaviours in the culture and 

lifestyles of the city region 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 The key objectives of the Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan are 

that: 

o Air Quality across Greater Manchester will improve 

o Low emission behaviours will have become embedded into the culture of 

our organisations and lifestyles by 2025 

o We will support the UK Government in meeting and maintaining all EU 

thresholds for key air pollutants at the earliest date to reduce ill-health in 

Greater Manchester (GM Air Quality Action Plan) 

Air quality and health 

 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 makes provisions in respect of waste 
disposal, water pollution, noise, atmospheric pollution and public health and 
matters connected to these issues (Control of Pollution Act 1974). 

 Our health and well-being are inextricably linked to the quality of our air, 
water, soils and biological resources (Securing the Future p.97) 

 The Air Quality Strategy for England sets out a framework to achieve cleaner 
air that will bring health and social benefits to use all. It targets improvements 
in air quality, recognising the impact on health and the environment (page 3). 
It identifies the important role that local authorities have to play in helping 
deliver the strategy’s air quality objectives and the mandatory European air 
quality limit values. Action taken at the local level can be an effective way of 
tackling localised air quality problems, leading to an overall improvement of 
air quality across the UK (page 55)  (Air Quality Strategy for England, 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 2007) 

 

Air quality management zones 

 Part IV of the Environment Act requires local authorities to review air quality 
and designate air quality management areas is improvements are necessary 
in relation to nationally set thresholds (Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, 
Sections 83 and 84) 

Page 544



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 119 

 In AQMA’s, Air Quality Action Plans are to be drawn up in order to meet the 
future objectives and targets together with a timetable for implementation. 
(Environment Act 1995, Para 84 (3))  

 Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards 
compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, 
taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean 
Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. 
Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, 
such as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure 
provision and enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be 
considered at the plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit 
the need for issues to be reconsidered when determining individual 
applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in 
Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the 
local air quality action plan (NPPF para 181) 

 

Air quality indicators 

 The European Air Quality Directive includes legally binding limits for lead, 

nitrogen dioxide, sulphur dioxide, benzene, carbon monoxide, arsenic, 

cadmium, nickel, benzo(a)pyrene, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, ozone, 

and particulate matter (European Air Quality Directive) 

 Reduce carbon emissions by 60% by 2050 (Securing the Future p.7). 

 The Air Quality strategy for England identifies objectives (table 2) in relation to 
the reduction of: Particles (PM10); Particles (PM2.5), exposure reduction; 
Nitrogen dioxide; Ozone; Sulphur dioxide; Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons; 
Benzene; 1,3 – butadiene; Carbon monoxide; Lead; Nitrogen oxides; Sulphur 
dioxide; Ozone: protection of vegetation & ecosystems (Air Quality Strategy 
for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland) 
 

Impacts of new development 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 
environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account 
relevant information such as river basin management plans (NPPF para 
170e) 

 Local authorities should ensure that all developments are at least air quality 
neutral and do not lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality. 
They should ensure that where provision needs to be made to reduce 

Page 545



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 120 

emissions from a development, this is usually made on-site (Planning for 
Climate Change p.21). 

 Refuse development likely to have an adverse effect on air quality (including 
increasing dust pollution) (UDP, Policy EN17) 

 Where a Transport Assessment is required an Air Quality Assessment should 
accompany it with details of appropriate mitigation measures. (UDP, Policy 
EN 17) 

 Increase the number of green spaces in order to mitigate the impacts of air 
pollution. (Salford Greenspace Strategy, p9)  

References (air quality) 

 

Source Date  Title 

DEFRA 2017 UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations 

DEFRA 2007 Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland 

European 
Commission 

2008 European Air Quality Directive 

European 
Commission 

1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA and TfGM 2018 Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan 
2016-2021 

GMCA 2016 Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2014  National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future: Delivering UK 
Sustainable Development Strategy 

HM Government 1995 Environment Act 

HM Government 1995 Environment Act 1995 

HM Government 1974 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
Local Authorities 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2006 Salford Greenspace Strategy SPD 

 
 
  

Page 546



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 121 

Biodiversity 

General 

 By 2050, European Union biodiversity and the ecosystem services it provides 
— its natural capital — are protected, valued and appropriately restored for 
biodiversity's intrinsic value and for their essential contribution to human 
wellbeing and economic prosperity, and so that catastrophic changes caused 
by the loss of biodiversity are avoided (EU biodiversity strategy, page 2) 

 Halting the loss of biodiversity and the degradation of ecosystem services in 
the EU by 2020, and restoring them in so far as feasible, while stepping up 
the EU contribution to averting global biodiversity loss (EU biodiversity 
strategy, page 2). 

 Encourage collaboration between researchers and other stakeholders 
involved in spatial planning and land use management in implementing 
biodiversity strategies at all levels, ensuring coherence with relevant 
recommendations set out in the European Territorial Agenda (EU biodiversity 
strategy, paragraph 4.1) 

 Through this strategy, targeted efforts will strive to alleviate pressure on 
biodiversity emanating from the EU while contributing to greening the 
economy in line with EU priorities (EU biodiversity strategy, section 3.5). 

 The Habitats Regulations provide for the designation and protection of 
'European sites', the protection of 'European protected species', and the 
adaptation of planning and other controls for the protection of European 
Sites. Under the Regulations, competent authorities i.e. any Minister, 
government department, public body, or person holding public office, have a 
general duty, in the exercise of any of their functions, to have regard to the 
EC Habitats Directive (Habitats Regulations) 

 Public authorities have a duty to have regard to conserving biodiversity in 
exercising its functions. Conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a 
living organism or type of habitat, restoring or enhancing a population or 
habitat (Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, section 40) 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 
Development Strategy include: 
o To improve management and avoid overexploitation of natural resources, 

recognising the value of ecosystem services (European Sustainable 
Development Strategy 2006) 

 Vision - Halt overall biodiversity loss, support healthy well-functioning 
ecosystems and establish coherent ecological networks, with more and 
better places for nature for the benefit of wildlife and people (Biodiversity 
2020, paragraph 8) 

 Planning and Development – Through reforms of the planning system, we 
will take a strategic approach to planning for nature. We will retain the 
protection and improvement of the natural environment as core objectives of 
the planning system. We will pilot biodiversity offsetting, to assess its 

Page 547



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 122 

potential to deliver planning policy more effectively (Biodiversity 2020, 
paragraph 20) 

 UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework strategic goals: 
o Address the underlying causes of biodiversity loss by mainstreaming 

biodiversity across government and society. This goal includes targets 
for public awareness, integrating biodiversity values, improving 
incentives and sustainable production and use (UK Post-2010 
Biodiversity Framework, page 5) 

o Reduce the direct pressures on biodiversity and promote sustainable 
use. This goal includes targets on habitat loss, sustainable fisheries and 
land use, pollution, invasive alien species, and ecosystems particularly 
vulnerable to climate change (UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework, 
page 6) 

o To improve the status of biodiversity by safeguarding ecosystems, 
species and genetic diversity. This goal includes targets for protected 
areas, and for conservation of wild and domesticated species (UK Post-
2010 Biodiversity Framework, page 6) 

o Enhance the benefits to all from biodiversity and ecosystems. This goal 
includes targets for maintaining and restoring ecosystem services, and 
for benefit sharing (UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework, page 7) 

o Enhance implementation through participatory planning, knowledge 
management and capacity building. This goal includes targets for 
national strategies, participation of indigenous and local communities, 
improving knowledge, technologies, and mobilisation of financial 
resources (UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework, page 7) 

 Mainstream the value of nature across society by: 

o Facilitating greater local action to protect and improve nature; 
o Creating a green economy, in which economic growth and the health of 

our natural resources sustain each other, and markets, business and 
Government better reflect the value of nature; 

o Strengthening the connections between people and nature to the benefit 
of both (Natural Environment White Paper, paragraph 3) 

 The Countryside and Wildlife Act include provisions for the protection of 
native species, the protection of Sites of Special Scientific Interest and Public 
Rights of Way (The Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981) 

 A Vision for England - By 2050 our land and seas will be rich in wildlife, our 
biodiversity will be valued, conserved, restored, managed sustainably and be 
more resilient and able to adapt to change, providing essential services and 
delivering benefits for everyone (England Biodiversity Strategy p.12). 

 We must protect the essentials of life: our air, biodiversity, soils and water, so 
that they can continue to provide us with the services on which we rely. We 
must repair the damage done to our natural environment by restoring natural 
connections that have been broken. We must improve the quality and 
diversity of environments in both town and country, so that they are better 
able to respond to future pressures. We should set our sights on a vision that 

Page 548



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 123 

inspires us to act now and in the longer term: by 2060, our essential natural 
assets will be contributing fully to robust and resilient ecosystems, providing a 
wide range of goods and services so that increasing numbers of people enjoy 
benefits from a healthier natural environment (Natural Choices, paragraph 
2.5) 

 By 2020 – Our mission is to halt overall biodiversity loss, support healthy well-
functioning ecosystems and establish coherent ecological networks, with 
more and better places for nature for the benefit of wildlife and people 
(England Biodiversity Strategy p.12). 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are 
more resilient to current and future pressures (NPPF para 170d) 

 Plans should take a strategic approach to maintaining and enhancing 
networks of habitats and green infrastructure; and plan for the enhancement 
of natural capital at a catchment or landscape scale across local authority 
boundaries (NPPF para 171) 

 Plans should: a) Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich 
habitats and wider ecological networks, including the hierarchy of 
international, national and locally designated sites of importance for 
biodiversity; wildlife corridors and stepping stones that connect them; and 
areas identified by national and local partnerships for habitat management, 
enhancement, restoration or creation; and b) promote the conservation, 
restoration and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the 
protection and recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue 
opportunities for securing measurable net gains for biodiversity (NPPF para 
174). 

 NPPF para 175 states that when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should apply the following principles:  

o a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development 
cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less 
harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;  

o b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific 
Interest, and which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either 
individually or in combination with other developments), should not 
normally be permitted. The only exception is where the benefits of 
the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its 
likely impact on the features of the site that make it of special 
scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the national network 
of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;  

o c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable 
habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) 
should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons58 
and a suitable compensation strategy exists; and d) development 

Page 549



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 124 

whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity 
should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
improvements in and around developments should be encouraged, 
especially where this can secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 

 The following should be given the same protection as habitats sites: a) 
potential Special Protection Areas and possible Special Areas of 
Conservation; b) listed or proposed Ramsar sites; and c) sites identified, or 
required, as compensatory measures for adverse effects on habitats sites, 
potential Special Protection Areas, possible Special Areas of Conservation, 
and listed or proposed Ramsar sites (NPPF para 176) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
criteria including: ‘vii’ the effect of developing the site on the capacity of 
biodiversity to adapt to likely changes in the climate (Planning for Climate 
Change p18). 

 We need Green Infrastructure to complete the links in our national ecological 
network. Urban green space allows species to move around within and 
between towns and the countryside (Natural Choice para 2.78) 

 The development of an Ecological Framework for Greater Manchester has 
four main aims 
o To conserve and enhance biological diversity in Greater Manchester by 

repairing, creating and connecting habitats 
o To provide guidance as to the best ways of enhancing biological diversity 

in Greater 
o Manchester by repairing, creating and connecting habitats 

o To highlight the need for pro‐active nature conservation in Greater 

Manchester 

o To fulfil national and sub‐regional land‐use planning obligations and 

contribute to the requirement in Policy EM1 of RSS to achieve a step 
change increase in biodiversity resources  
(Ecological Framework for GM, section 6) 

 Promote the conservation, protection and enhancement of biological diversity 
in Greater Manchester for current and future generations (Greater 
Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan, introduction)  

 Maintain or restore, at favourable conservation status, natural habitats and 
species of wild fauna and flora of community interest (Habitats Directive 
Article 2.2) 

 Conserve natural habitats and wild fauna and flora to which the Treaty applies 
(Habitats Directive Article 2.1) 

 Local authorities have a Duty to have regard to the conservation of 
biodiversity in exercising their functions – introduced by the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act, 2006 (Guidance for Local 
Authorities on Implementing the Biodiversity Duty, p.3) 

Page 550



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 125 

 A comprehensive study of baseline conditions and trends in biodiversity has a 
number of benefits for those involved in planning, infrastructure and 
development (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the Biodiversity 
Duty, p.41). 

 Strategic objectives and policies should be developed for biodiversity, 
including objectives for enhancement. Consideration should be given to how 
biodiversity enhancement can be used to bring about more sustainable 
development through integration with other policy objectives and other land 
uses, for example housing and economic development, health, education and 
social inclusion (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the 
Biodiversity Duty, p.43). 

 Site specific allocation DPDs policies and allocations should be used to 
identify where enhancement opportunities lies and what actions need to be 
taken to enhance biodiversity. Land can be identified for biodiversity creation, 
restoration or improvements, linked to strategic objectives of the Core 
Strategy (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the Biodiversity 
Duty, p.44). 

 The setting of appropriate local biodiversity indicators and targets within the 
community planning process and as part of the drafting of Community 
Strategies, will be crucial in determining the effectiveness of their delivery 
(Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the Biodiversity Duty, p.17). 
It is important that objectives, indicators and targets for biodiversity are 
included in monitoring frameworks, and performance is reported upon in 
Annual Monitoring Reports (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing 
the Biodiversity Duty, p.45). 

 Planning conditions and obligations are useful mechanisms for imposing 
mitigation and enhancement measures where it is not possible to achieve the 
appropriate level of mitigation or enhancement as part of the design of a 
development proposal (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the 
Biodiversity Duty, p.46). 

 Wildlife stands a better chance of adapting to climate changes if there is a 
well-functioning green infrastructure…fragmented habitats can prevent 
migration, and we need to design movement corridors (Hallmarks of a 
Sustainable City p21)  

 Maintain the biodiversity of The Meadows and enhance it further by linking 
this into a wider green network to provide continuous linkage which is better 
suited for wildlife habitats (Salford’s spaces and places p16) 

 Establish and strengthen green links between space, creating both a visual 
and physical connection throughout the city, provide opportunities for 
development plots to form a future link and take opportunities to advance 
biodiversity and a range of habitats (Salford’s spaces and places page 28) 

Page 551



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 126 

Protected habitats 

 The preservation, maintenance or restoration of a sufficient diversity and 

area of habitats is essential to the conservation of all species of birds 

(European Conservation of Wild Birds Directive (8)) 

 Habitats and Ecosystems on land (including freshwater environments) – by 
2020 we will have put in place measures so that biodiversity is maintained 
and enhanced, further degradation has been halted and where possible, 
restoration is underway, helping deliver more resilient and coherent ecological 
networks, healthy and well-functioning ecosystems, which deliver multiple 
benefits for wildlife and people: 
o 90% of priority habitats to be in favourable or recovering condition and at 

least 50% of SSSIs in favourable condition 
o More, bigger and less fragmented areas for wildlife, with no net loss of 

priority habitat and an increase in the overall extent of priority habitats by 
at least 20,000ha 

o By 2020 at least 17% of land and inland water, conserved through 
effective, integrated and joined up approaches to safeguard biodiversity 
and ecosystem services; and 

o Restoring at least 15% of degraded ecosystems as a contribution to 
climate change mitigation and adaptation (England Biodiversity Strategy 
p.12) 

 The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where 
development requiring appropriate assessment because of its potential 
impact on a habitats site is being planned or determined (NPPF para 177) 

 By 2020 deliver work to Identify, protect and provide areas of high biodiversity 
and ‘carbon sinks’, maximising opportunities to enhance and protect the 
natural environment in the long term (GM Climate Change Strategy page 48) 

 Development that would adversely affect the special interest of a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), a Site of Biological Importance, a Local 
Nature Reserve, or a priority habitat for Salford as identified in the Greater 
Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan, will only be permitted where certain 
criteria can be met (Policy EN7 and EN8 City of Salford’s UDP) 

 The UK government has identified 42 habitats that are national priorities, for 
all of which there are national habitat plans. UK priority Habitats found in 
Salford are: Lowland raised bogland (readily restorable); Lowland acid 
grassland; Lowland heathland; Wet woodland; and Eutrophic standing water 
(Nature Conservation and Biodiversity SPD, pg 9) 

 Local authorities have the power to acquire, declare and manage areas as 
Local Nature Reserves (LNR’s). LNR’s should be managed to the purpose of 
preserving flora, fauna or geological or physiographical features of special 
interest in the area, and/or of providing opportunities for the study of those 
features and the habitats of the flora and fauna (Nature Conservation and 
Biodiversity SPD, pg 11) 

Page 552

file://salford.gov.uk/lowland


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 127 

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI’s) are of national importance and 
represent the country’s very best wildlife and geological sites. They are 
considered to be of interest because of their flora, fauna, or geographical or 
physiographical characteristics, and may support many characteristic, rare or 
endangered species (Nature Conservation and Biodiversity, pg 9) 

 Maximise the benefits that trees and woodland bring to our regions 
biodiversity and landscape (NW Forestry Framework, Action Area 3 p.28) The 
Audit Commission’s Library of Local Indicators for England and Wales 
suggests that there should be 1 hectare of LNR per 1000 head of population 
in a local authority’s area (Guidance for Local Authorities on Implementing the 
Biodiversity Duty, p.28).  

Natura 2000 

 Each Member State shall contribute to the creation of Natura 2000 - A 
coherent European ecological network composed of Special Protection Areas 
(Designated under this Directive) and Special Areas of Conservation 
(designated under the Habitats Directive) (EU Habitats Directive Article 3) 

Protected species 

 The conservation of the species of wild birds naturally occurring in the 

European territory of the Member States is necessary in order to attain the 

Community’s objectives regarding the improvement of living conditions and 

sustainable development (European Conservation of Wild Birds Directive (5)) 

 By 2020 we will see an overall improvement in the status of ou wildlife and 
will have prevented further human-induced extinctions of known threatened 
species (England Biodiversity Strategy p.14). 

 Local planning authorities should set criteria based policies against which 
proposals for any development on or affecting protected wildlife or 
geodiversity sites or landscape areas will be judged. Distinctions should be 
make between the hierarchy of international, national and locally designated 
sites, so that protection is commensurate with their status and gives 
appropriate weight to their importance and the contribution that they make to 
wider ecological networks (NPPF para 113) 

 Development that would affect any land that functions as a wildlife corridor, or 
that provides and important link or stepping stone between habitats, will not 
be permitted where it would unacceptably impair the movement of flora or 
fauna(Policy EN9 City of Salford’s UDP). 

 Where practicable and appropriate to the location, habitat creation/re-creation 
should focus on the provision of national priority habitats found in Salford 
(Policy NCB3, Nature Conservation and Biodiversity SPD) 

 The Habitats Directive provides protection to a range of animals (known as 
European Protected Species). It is an offence to deliberately kill or disturb 
such animals, or to destroy their eggs, without derogation from the provisions 
of the regulations (Nature Conservation and Biodiversity, SPD pg12) 

Page 553



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 128 

Restoration of lowland bogs 

 Development that would affect the conservation value or the integrity of an 
existing or restored lowland raised bog habitat or a site with the potential to 
be restored, will only be permitted subject to certain criteria. In every case, 
the overall nature conservation interest of the mosslands will be maintained 
(City of Salford UDP Policy EN11) 

 The Mossland Heartland will be the priority for the restoration of lowland 
raised bog habitat within Salford (Policy NCB4, Nature Conservation and 
Biodiversity SPD) 

 In order to develop a sustainable land use pattern for the future, there is a 
need to: 
o Enable agricultural diversification 
o Secure the long term viability of agriculture 
o Prevent the loss of further remnant raised bog sites and enable bog 

restoration by establishing biodiversity zones 
o Improve interpretation and access in order to realise the potential of the 

landscape to act as a ‘green lung’ 
o Using different land use ‘zones’ may help to balance competing land uses 

on Chat Moss (Mosslands Project – The Vision) 

Appropriate assessment 

 Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the 
management of a European site (as defined by Regulation 10 of the Habitats 
Regs 1994) but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either individually or 
in combination with other plans and projects, shall be subject to appropriate 
assessment of its implications for the site in view of the site’s conservation 
objectives (regulation 48 UK Habitat Regulations 1994 as amended by the 
2006 Regulations)(Article 6(3) of the European Habitats Directive)  

Ecological appraisal 

 An ecological appraisal must accompany any planning application for 
development that could potentially have a detrimental impact, either directly 
or indirectly, on: any designated conservation site (international, national or 
local); a locally significant area of national and/or local priority habitat; or a 
protected or priority species (Policy NCB2, Nature Conservation and 
Biodiversity SPD) 

Nature improvement areas 

 Establish new Nature Improvement Areas (NIAs), based on a local 
assessment of opportunities for restoring and connecting nature on a 
significant scale. Working within the framework of the National Policy 
Statements and the Government’s planning reforms, local authorities will be 
able to use local planning to support Nature Improvement Areas, including 
identifying them in their local plans where they choose, while not deterring 
sustainable development (The Natural Choice paragraphs 2.27 and 2.29). 

Page 554



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 129 

References (bio-diversity) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 GM Climate Change Strategy 

AGMA 2008 An Ecological Framework for Greater 
Manchester 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

DEFRA 2011 Biodiversity 2020 - A strategy for England’s 
wildlife and ecosystem services 

DEFRA 2011 Biodiversity 2020 – A Strategy for England’s 
Wildlife and Ecosystem Services 

DEFRA 2007 Guidance for Local Authorities on 
Implementing the Biodiversity Duty 

Defra and Joint 
Nature Conservation 
Committee 

2012 UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework 

European 
Commission 

2011 Our Life Insurance, Our natural capital: an EU 
biodiversity strategy to 2020 

European 
Commission 

2009 European Conservation of Wild Birds Directive 
(2009/147/EC) 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 
(DOC 10917/06)  

European 
Commission 

1992 EC Council Directive on the Conservation of 
Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora 
92/43/EEC   

Greater Manchester 
Biodiversity Project 

2009 Greater Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan 
 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2012 The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations (the Habitats Regulations) as 
amended by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species (Amendment) Regulations 2012  

HM Government 2011 Natural Environment White Paper 2011 – The 
Natural Choice, securing the value of nature 

HM Government 2011 The Natural Choice: securing the value of 
nature 

HM Government 2011 The Natural Choice: securing the value of 
nature 

HM Government 2006 The Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 

HM Government 1981 The Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981 

Salford CC, Natural 
England, Northwest 

2007 The Mosslands Project – The Vision 

Page 555



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 130 

RDA, Wigan Council, 
Warrington BC 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

Salford City Council 2006 Nature Conservation and Biodiversity SPD 

United Nations 1992 Rio Declaration on Environment and 
Development 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 556



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 131 

Land and soil 

Greenfield/brownfield 

 Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in 
meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and 
improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 
Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of 
previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ land (NPPF para 117) 

 Planning policies and decisions should give substantial weight to the value of 
using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other 
identified needs (NPPF para 118c) 

Soil pollution, contaminated and unstable land 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 The Environmental Protection Act establishes the legal framework for dealing 
with the control of emissions to the environment, including: 
o integrated pollution control and Air Pollution Control by Local Authorities 
o The treatment and disposal of waste including hazardous waste 
o Air Quality (Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 

regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of 

environmental effects must be considered together and the setting of permit 

conditions so as to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a 

whole. Issues covered in the directive include emissions to area, water and 

land, generation of waste, use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, 

prevention of accidents and risk management (Integrated Pollution 

Prevention and Control Directive 1996) 

 By 2030 we want all of England’s soils to be managed sustainably and 
degradation threats tackled successfully, in order to improve the quality of 
soils and to safeguard their ability to provide essential ecosystem services 
and functions for future generations (Natural Choice paragraph 2.61) 

 Our health and well-being are inextricably linked to the quality of our air, 
water, soils and biological resources (Securing the Future p.97) 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 
environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account 

Page 557



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 132 

relevant information such as river basin management plans (NPPF para 
170e) 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, 
derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate (NPPF para 
170f) 

 Planning policies and decisions should ensure that: a) a site is suitable for its 
proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from 
land instability and contamination. This includes risks arising from natural 
hazards or former activities such as mining, and any proposals for mitigation 
including land remediation (as well as potential impacts on the natural 
environment arising from that remediation); b) after remediation, as a 
minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated 
land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and c) 
adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
available to inform these assessments (NPPF para 178) 

 Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner (NPPF para 179) 

 Consideration of land contamination in Local Plans will vary between places 

and the type of issues that the plan needs to cover, but it can be helpful to: 

o consider a strategic, phased approach to dealing with potential 

contamination if this is an issue over a wide area, and in doing so, 

recognise that dealing with land contamination can help contribute to 

achieving the objectives of EU directives such as the Water Framework 

Directive; 

o use sustainability appraisal to shape an appropriate strategy, including 

through work on the ‘baseline’, appropriate objectives for the assessment 

of impact and proposed monitoring; 

o allocate land which is known to be affected by contamination only for 

appropriate development – and be clear on the approach to remediation; 

o have regard to the possible impact of land contamination on neighbouring 

areas (eg by polluting surface water or groundwater); and 

o be clear on the role of developers and requirements for information and 

assessments. (NPPG - 005 Reference ID: 33-005-20140306) 

Derelict land 

 Natural Resource Protection and Environmental Enhancement  - need better 
understanding of environmental limits, environmental enhancement and 
recovery where the environment is most degraded to ensure a decent 
environment for everyone, and a more integrated policy framework (Securing 
the future: The UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy, Page 17) 

Page 558

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-plans--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-water-quality
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-water-quality
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 133 

Protection of important soil types 

 By 2030 all England’s soils will be managed sustainable and degradation 
threats tackled successfully. This will improve the quality of England’s soils 
and safeguard their ability to provide essential services. This will mean: 
o Agricultural soils will be better managed and threats to them will be 

addressed 
o Soils will play a greater role in the fight against climate change and in 

helping us to manage its impact 
o Soils in urban areas will be valued during development, and construction 

practices will ensure vital soil functions can be maintained; and 
o Pollution of our soils is prevented, and our historic legacy of contaminated 

land is being dealt with (Safeguarding our soils p4). 

 Protect soils against erosion and pollution and recognise climate change 
impacts such as the ability of certain soil types to act as carbon sinks (EU 6th 
Environment Action Plan p.5 and 6) 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites 
of biodiversity or geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with 
their statutory status or identified quality in the development plan) (NPPF para 
170a) 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem 
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland (NPPF para 170b) 

  Where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be 
necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of a 
higher quality. (NPPF footnote 53) 

 Development that would result in an unacceptable impact on any of the city’s 
natural environmental assets will not be permitted (Policy ST13, UDP) 

 Development that would involve the loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 or 3a) will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that there are no appropriate alternative sites available on 
lower grade agricultural land or on non-agricultural land (Policy EN3, UDP) 
Development that would affect the conservation value or the integrity of an 
existing or restored lowland raised bog habitat or a site with the potential to 
be restored, will only be permitted subject to certain criteria. In every case, 
the overall nature conservation interest of the mosslands will be maintained 
(UDP Policy EN11) 

References (land and soil) 

 

Source Date  Title 

Page 559



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 134 

DEFRA 2009 Safeguarding our Soils – A Strategy for 
England 

European 
Commission 

2002 Sixth Environment Action Plan 

European 
Commission 

1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future: Delivering UK 
Sustainable Development Strategy 

HM Government 1990 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

UNCED 1992 Rio Declaration on Environment and 
Development 

 

 
  

Page 560



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 135 

Minerals 

General 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 

Development Strategy include: 

o To improve management and avoid overexploitation of natural resources, 
recognising the value of ecosystem services (European Sustainable 
Development Strategy 2006) 

 Minerals are essential to support sustainable economic growth and our quality 
of life. It is therefore important that there is a sufficient supply of material to 
provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country 
needs. However, since minerals are a finite resource, and can only be worked 
where they are found, it is important to make best use of them to secure their 
long-term conservation (NPPF para 142) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for the provision of 
minerals (NPPF para 20b); 

 It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since 
minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are 
found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term 
conservation (NPPF para 203) 

 Planning policies should provide for the extraction of mineral resources of 
local and national importance, but not identify new sites or extensions to 
existing sites for peat extraction (NPPF para 204) 

 Give great weight to the benefits of mineral extraction, including to the 
economy (NPPF para 205) 

 Local Planning Authorities should not grant planning permission for peat 
extraction from new or extended sites (NPPF para 205d) 

 Permission should not be given for the extraction of coal unless the proposal 
is environmentally acceptable, or can be made so by planning conditions or 
obligations; or if not, it provides national, local or community benefits which 
clearly outweigh its likely impacts (NPPF para 211) 

 LPAs should consider how to meet any demand for small-scale extraction of 
building stone at, or close to, relic quarries needed for the repair of heritage 
assets, taking account of the need to protect designated sites (NPPF para 
205f) 

 LPAs should recognise the small-scale nature and impact of building and 
roofing stone  quarries, and the need for a flexible approach to the potentially 
long duration of planning permissions reflecting the intermittent or low rate of 
working at many sites (NPPF para 205g) 

 Planning for the supply of minerals has a number of special characteristics 
that are not present in other development: 

Page 561



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 136 

o minerals can only be worked (ie extracted) where they naturally occur, so 
location options for the economically viable and environmentally 
acceptable extraction of minerals may be limited. This means that it is 
necessary to consider protecting minerals from non-minerals development 
and has implications for the preparation of minerals plans and approving 
non-mineral development in defined mineral safeguarding areas; 

o working is a temporary use of land, although it often takes place over a 
long period of time; 

o working may have adverse and positive environmental effects, but some 
adverse effects can be effectively mitigated; 

o since extraction of minerals is a continuous process of development, there 
is a requirement for routine monitoring, and if necessary, enforcement to 
secure compliance with conditions that are necessary to mitigate impacts 
of minerals working operations; and 

o following working, land should be restored to make it suitable for beneficial 
after-use. (NPPG - 001 Reference ID: 27-001-20140306) 

 In line with the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework positive consideration will be given to 
minerals development which accords with the policies set out in this 
document and with all other relevant local plan (Local Development 
Framework) policies. Such development will be considered to be sustainable 
and will be permitted unless other material considerations indicate otherwise 
(GM Minerals Plan Policy 1). 

 Protect local communities and the natural and built environment including 
landscape from the impacts of minerals development. To enhance these 
assets and ensure the achievement of effective restoration (reclamation) 
recognising the potential positive impacts on biodiversity once operations 
have ceased (GM Mineral Plan - objective 1) 

Supply (also see utilities infrastructure and energy) 

 Minerals planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply of 
aggregates and industrial minerals (NPPF paras 207 and 208) 

 Minerals planning authorities should make provision for the maintenance of 
landbanks of at least 7 years for sand and gravel and at least 10 years for 
crushed rock, whilst ensuring that the capacity of operations to supply a wide 
range of materials is not compromised. Longer periods may be appropriate to 
take account of the need to supply a range of types of aggregates, locations 
of permitted reserves relative to markets, and productive capacity of permitted 
sites (NPPF para 207f) 

 As far as practicable provide for the maintenance of landbanks of non-energy 
minerals from outside National Parks, the Broads, Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and World Heritage sites, Scheduled Monuments and 
Conservation Areas (NPPF para 205a). 

Page 562



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 137 

 Seek to provide a steady and adequate supply of minerals to meet Greater 
Manchester's needs through: contributing to the sub-regional apportionment 
of aggregates (including maintenance of appropriate landbanks); identifying 
and protecting existing non-aggregate minerals; and facilitating the re-use of 
secondary and recycled aggregates (GM Minerals Plan – objective 4) 

 Support the development of local energy minerals (excluding peat) where 
required to supplement the energy mix nationally and regionally (GM Minerals 
Plan – objective 5)  

 Within identified Areas of Search applications for the extraction and/or 
processing of sand, gravel or sandstone/gritstone will be permitted where: 
1. The mineral is required to meet a demonstrated need; the required 

landbank of: at least 7 years for sand and gravel or at least 10 years for 
crushed rock; and 

2. The site contains adequate reserves resources of the mineral, in terms 
of quality and quantity for extraction to take place; 

3. The proposal is in accordance with the Key Planning and Environmental 
Criteria in Policy 1 (GM Minerals Plan Policy 3) 

 Planning permission will be permitted for the extraction of aggregates outside 
Areas of Search provided that the developer can provide evidence to support 
the need for departure from the Areas of Search identified; the location 
accords with the Plan's Spatial Strategy; and the proposal meets the 
requirements of 1 to 3 above (GM Minerals Plan Policy 3) 

 Proposals for the working of natural building stone will be supported provided 
that this would assist the conservation and repair of historic buildings or 
structures built of the same or similar materials, or new construction where 
the use of building stone is specified (GM Minerals Plan Policy 4) 
Proposals for the development of non-aggregate minerals will be permitted 

where the location accords with the Plan's Spatial Strategy; the proposal is 
in accordance with the Key Planning and Environmental 
Criteria in Policy 1; and there are adequate resources on site of the 
mineral in terms of quality and quantity for extraction to take place (GM 
Minerals Plan Policy 5) 

Peat  

 Reduce peat use to zero by 2030, a progressive phase-out target of 2015 for 
government and the public sector on direct procurement of peat in new 
contracts for plants; a voluntary phase-out target of 2020 for amateur 
gardeners; and a final voluntary phase-out target of 2030 for professional 
growers of fruit, vegetables and plants (Natural Choice para 2.66) 

 In preparing Local Plans, local planning authorities should not identify new 
sites or extensions to existing sites for peat extraction (NPPF para 205d) 

 Planning permission for peat extraction will only be granted where the site 
has been previously worked for peat; the removal of peat is physically 
required to facilitate restoration and only peat physically required to 

Page 563



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 138 

implement that restoration is removed; and the site is to be restored to 
lowland raised bog (GM Minerals Plan Policy 7) 

Safeguarding and prior extraction 

  

 Planning policies should: safeguard mineral resources by defining Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas; and adopt appropriate policies so that known locations of 
specific minerals resources of local and national importance are not sterilised 
by non-mineral development where this should be avoided (whilst not creating 
a presumption that the resources defined will be worked); and set out policies 
to encourage the prior extraction of minerals, where practical and 
environmentally feasible, if it is necessary for non-mineral development to take 
place (NPPF para 204d and e) 

 Safeguard mineral resources from other forms of development (UDP Policy 
M1) 

 Safeguard potentially economically viable mineral resources and infrastructure 
from sterilisation, protect minerals related infrastructure and encourage the 
appropriate use of high quality materials (GM Minerals Plan – objective 2) 

Efficient use 

 Promote the efficient use of resources and energy (Securing the future 2005). 

 In preparing Local Plans, LPAs should so far as practicable, take account of 
the contribution that substitute or secondary and recycled materials and 
minerals waste would make to the supply of materials, before considering 
extraction of primary materials, whilst aiming to source minerals supplies 
indigenously (NPPF para 204b) 

Environmental impact 

 Planning policies should set out criteria or requirements to ensure that 
permitted and proposed operations do not have unacceptable adverse 
impacts on the natural and historic environment or human health, taking into 
account the cumulative effects of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or 
a number of sites in a locality. When developing noise limits, recognise that 
some noisy short-term activities, which may otherwise be regarded as 
unacceptable, are unavoidable to facilitate minerals extraction (NPPF para 
204) 

 When determining planning applications ensure that any unavoidable noise, 
dust and particle emissions and any blasting vibrations are controlled, 
mitigated or removed at source, and establish appropriate noise limits for 
extraction in proximity to noise sensitive properties (NPPF para 205c) 

 Ensure that where mineral extraction, mineral exploration, mineral disposal, 
and the provision of aggregate depots occur, they do so without causing 
undue detriment to the environmental, amenity, or economic interests (UDP 
Policy M2) 

Page 564



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 139 

 The environmental impact of mineral workings is to be minimised (UDP Policy 
ST17) 

 All proposals for minerals working or the provision of minerals infrastructure 
will be permitted where any unacceptable impact adverse impacts on a range 
of planning and environmental criteria is avoided or can be appropriately 
mitigated (GM Minerals Plan Policy 2) 

Restoration, aftercare and after-use 

 When determining planning applications provide for restoration and aftercare 
at the earliest opportunity, to be carried out to high environmental standards, 
through the application of appropriate conditions. Bonds or other financial 
guarantees to underpin planning conditions should only be sought in 
exceptional circumstances (NPPF para 205e) 

Storage, handling and transportation 

o Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk transport, 
handling and processing of minerals; the manufacture of concrete and 
concrete products; and the handling, processing and distribution of 
substitute, recycled and secondary aggregate material (NPPF para 204e) 

 Promote, where practicable, the sustainable transport of minerals (GM 
Minerals Plan – Objective 3) 

References (minerals) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2013 Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 
(DOC 10917/06)  

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

HM Government 2011 Natural Choice: Securing the value of nature 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future - UK Government 
sustainable development strategy 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

 
  

Page 565



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 140 

 

Energy 

General (also see utilities infrastructure) 

 International commitment to renewable energy and energy efficiency, to 
accelerate shift towards sustainable consumption and production, greater 
resource efficiency, new technology for renewable energy and to increase energy 
efficiency (Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable Development 2002) 

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 
regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of environmental 
effects must be considered together and the setting of permit conditions so as to 
achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a whole. Issues covered 
in the directive include emissions to area, water and land, generation of waste, 
use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, prevention of accidents and risk 
management (Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control Directive 1996) 

 The electricity grid is resilient and the right mechanisms are in place to manage 
tight margins in the short term as it undergoes this transition – security of supply 
remains the first priority. However, a system of affordable, clean energy 
infrastructure is required to safeguard future economic security. Modernisation is 
also needed to take advantage of digital technology – developing smart grids that 
are much more responsive and can deliver cleaner energy more flexibly and 
higher energy savings. This means creating an environment for business to 
invest in clean and secure energy, but crucially so in a way that is affordable, for 
UK households and businesses (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 para 6.3) 

 Give priority to the development of effective energy planning (GM Climate 
Change Strategy page 48) 

 Five point plan to tackle climate change: 
1. Protecting the public from immediate risk 
2. Preparing for the future 
3. Limiting the severity of future climate change through a new international 

climate agreement 
4. Building a low carbon UK 
5. Supporting individuals and businesses to play their part 

(UK Low Carbon Transition Plan – national strategy for climate and energy) 

 An objective for Greater Manchester to 2020 is to have strengthened our 
understanding and ensured that existing and planned energy infrastructure is 
secure, resilient to the impacts of climate change, changes in energy use and the 
connection of local low carbon supplies, and to have integrated energy security 
issues into our planning for civil contingencies (GM Climate Change Strategy 
page 30) 

 An objective for Greater Manchester to 2020 is to have developed an 
understanding of the need to decarbonise the energy supply at community and 
household level, ensuring that the benefits of both reducing emissions and 

Page 566



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 141 

ensuring a secure and affordable future energy supply are applied in the planning 
of energy infrastructure at neighbourhood level (GM Climate Change Strategy 
page 30) 

 Deliver a spatial strategy and policy instruments which optimise collaboration 
between District Core Strategies, the National Planning Framework and local 
opportunities, and create a robust, transparent and supportive framework which 
engages communities in balancing the need to encourage large and small scale 
generation and secure locations for energy infrastructure with local interests and 
amenity concerns (GM Climate Change Strategy page 30) 

 Support the key development requirements of delivering low carbon energy, 
transport, buildings, green and blue infrastructure and sustainable consumption 
at the sub regional, district and neighbourhood level (GM Climate Change 
Strategy page 48) 

 In order to meet its energy goals GM needs to: 
o Change energy systems, use and behaviour 
o Identify opportunities and locations for new low carbon energy generation 

and distribution infrastructure 
o Harness the substantial economic opportunities arising from the ways future 

energy requirements will be met 
o Make sure the skills expertise and knowledge are available 
o Recognise that the majority of investments and action will need to be market 

and private sector driven; and 
o Capitalise on, and grow our substantial energy systems R&D and innovation 

capability (GM Energy Plan, summary page 3) 

 The Framework does not contain specific policies for nationally significant 
infrastructure projects. These are determined in accordance with the decision 
making framework in the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and relevant national 
policy statements for major infrastructure, as well as any other matters that are 
relevant (which may include the National Planning Policy Framework) (NPPF 
para 5) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for infrastructure for 
transport, telecommunications, security, waste management, water supply, 
wastewater, flood risk and coastal change management, and the provision of 
minerals and energy (including heat) (NPPF para 20b) 

 Planning policies and decisions should promote public safety and take into 
account wider security and defence requirements (NPPF para 95) 

 To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and 
heat, plans should: a) provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, 
that maximises the potential for suitable development, while ensuring that 
adverse impacts are addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape 
and visual impacts); b) consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low 
carbon energy sources, and supporting infrastructure, where this would help 
secure their development; and c) identify opportunities for development to draw 
its energy supply from decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply 

Page 567



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 142 

systems and for colocating potential heat customers and suppliers (NPPF para 
151) 

 Local authorities and other public organisations should work in partnership to 
undertake local area studies. The studies will assess the scale, potential and 
mechanisms for implementing energy efficiency measures and deploying 
renewable energy infrastructure (North West Energy Strategy, pg 16)  

 Planning policy must encourage the use of more environment-friendly forms of 
energy systems (Guiding Principles for Sustainable Spatial Development of the 
European Continent [2000], para 37). 

 It is recommended that local authorities: 
o ensure that any local criteria-based policies, including local approaches for 

protecting landscape and townscape, which will be used to assess planning 
applications for renewable and low-carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure: 

o provide appropriate safeguards, so that any adverse impacts are addressed 
satisfactorily, but do not preclude the development of specific technologies 
other than in the most exceptional circumstances 

o require the scale and impact of developments affecting recognised 
designations to be compatible with the purpose of the designation (see also 
paragraph 118 of the NPPF) 

o are informed by the approach and policies set out in the National Policy 
Statements for nationally significant energy infrastructure 

o identify the most, and least, environmentally sensitive areas for deployment 
of different renewable technologies and communicate this information to 
developers and communities, making explicit what criteria have been 
applied, including the relevant approaches set down in the National Policy 
Statement on renewable energy 

o set out how any opportunities for district heating (to supply existing buildings 
and/or new development) identified through heat mapping will be supported 

o set out the decentralised energy opportunities that can supply new 
development proposed for the area; and 

o support opportunities for community-led renewable and low-carbon energy 
developments, including the production, processing and storage of bio-
energy fuels (Planning for Climate Change p.15 and 16) 

 Local authorities should through their plans, programmes and strategies, 
promote sustainable energy production and consumption in accordance with the 
principles of the Energy Hierarchy set out below:   
1. Minimise demand for energy and cut unnecessary use (preferred) 
2. Energy use to be as efficient as possible 
3. Renewable energy to be used and renewable sources developed  
4. Any Continuing use of fossil and other fuels to be clean and efficient for 

heating and CHP (option of last resort) 
(North West Energy Strategy, pg 6). 

Page 568



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 143 

 Regional and local development plans would be expected to have regard to 
proposed national policy statements on infrastructure (Energy White Paper, 2007 
para 8.81). 

 Local authorities have a growing role to play in helping to meet our energy policy 
goals by leading carbon emission reduction in their communities (Energy White 
Paper, 2007, para 9.11) 

 Towns and cities need to be more efficient and resilient. Each should produce an 
energy strategy, involving the utility companies, that maps current and future 
needs and sets out a plan for future provision, prioritising a range of low carbon, 
sustainable energy sources (Hallmarks of a Sustainable City p10) 

Energy and the home / fuel poverty (also see design and construction) 

 Home energy conservation and fuel poverty strategies should set 
improvement targets in line with national policy, and be informed by best 
practice (North West Energy Strategy, pg 16). 

 Ensure that every home is adequately and affordably heated (Energy White 
Paper, para 1.18).   

 The Government has targets of, as far as practicable, ending fuel poverty in 
England in vulnerable households by 2010 and in all households by 2016 (UK 
Climate Change Programme, March 2006, pg 43). 

Energy and waste (also see recycling and waste management) 

 Where viable, waste should be used as a source of energy (Securing the 
future – UK government sustainable development strategy, pg 63).      

 Waste should be used to generate energy only when reducing waste, re-
using, recycling or composting are unfeasible  (North West Energy Strategy, 
pg 16)  

Energy efficiency/reducing consumption 

 Energy efficiency is at the heart of the EU’s Europe 2020 Strategy for smart, 
sustainable and inclusive growth and of the transition to a resource efficient 
economy (European Energy Efficiency Plan, Section 1) 

 Energy efficiency is one of the most cost effective ways to enhance security 
of energy supply, and to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases and other 
pollutants. In many ways, energy efficiency can be seen as Europe's biggest 
energy resource. Union target for 2020 of saving 20% of its primary energy 
consumption compared to projections, a key step towards achieving long-
term energy and climate goals (European Energy Efficiency Plan, Section 1) 

 Local planning authorities should expect new development to take account of 
landform; layout; building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise 
energy consumption (NPPF para 96) 

 Increase energy efficiency (Securing the future – UK government sustainable 
development strategy, pg 19) 

Page 569



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 144 

 Local authorities should encourage energy conservation (North West Energy 
Strategy, pg 16) 

 The energy efficiency of conventional power stations should be improved 
(Guiding Principles for Sustainable Spatial Development of the European 
Continent [2000], para 44) 

Reducing emissions 

 The power sector accounts for 27% of UK total emissions by source. By 
2050, emissions from the power sector need to be close to zero (The Carbon 
Plan para 43) 

 Central Government considers that energy efficiency is central to the 
transition to a sustainable energy system, with a more important role to play 
in reducing CO2 emissions than renewable energy and carbon emissions 
trading combined (North West Energy Strategy, pg 16) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o A green city-region and a high quality culture and leisure offer for all 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Deliver CO2 reductions of around 60% by 2050 (Energy White Paper, para 
1.10) 

 Reduce CO2 emissions by 48% by 2020 (GM Energy Plan, summary page 3) 

 Major development proposals will be required to demonstrate how they will 
minimise greenhouse gas emissions (Adopted UDP, Policy ST14) 

Energy generation 

 Ensure a wide range of energy sources are developed (Energy White Paper, 
Para 1.14). 

 Ensure the maintenance and reliability of energy supplies (Energy White 
Paper, Para 1.18).  

 Government expects that gas will continue to play a major role in our 
electricity mix over the coming decades, alongside low-carbon technologies 
as we decarbonise our electricity system. Gas will play an integral role in the 
UK’s electricity mix, both in maintaining sufficient capacity margins and 
balancing out increasing quantities of renewables and low-carbon generation, 
much of which is relatively inflexible and intermittent. (Gas Generation 
Strategy p.14 and para 2.1) 

 There will be an important role for gas in 2030 and beyond, with the ability for 
gas to provide significant amounts of low-carbon electricity with ‘Carbon 
Capture Storage’ (CCS) (a technology that can remove CO2 emissions 
created by the combustion of fossil fuels, both coal and gas, in power stations 
as well as in a variety of industrial processes and transport it for safe storage 
underground). Government is committed to CCS and wants to see 
deployment at scale in the 2020s. (Gas Generation Strategy p.14 and para 
6.37) 

Page 570



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 145 

 Local authorities should encourage schools and other education facilities to 
adopt sustainable energy initiatives and energy management systems that 
will in turn help to educate and raise awareness (North West Energy Strategy, 
pg 17).  

 Planning policy must encourage the use of more environment-friendly forms 
of energy systems (Guiding Principles for Sustainable Spatial Development of 
the European Continent [2000], para 37). 

 The Government intend to provide more information for local authorities an 
developers on how to use distributed energy to help achieve their emission 
reduction goals including the role of planning policy information on specific 
technologies, the role of Energy Service Companies and other financing 
options. (Energy White Paper, 2007, para 3.54) 

 Local authorities and regions have a key role to play in facilitating the 
development and uptake of disturbed energy – as community leaders, 
through their knowledge of local opportunities, and through their powers and 
responsibilities for planning and regeneration (Energy White Paper, 2007, 
para 3.72) 

 In determining planning applications for the development of renewable or low-
carbon energy, and associated infrastructure, local planning authorities are 
recommended to: 
o i expect applicants to have taken appropriate steps to avoid and then 

mitigate any adverse impacts through careful consideration of location, 
scale, design and other measures 

o ii give significant weight to the wider environmental, social and economic 
benefits of renewable or low-carbon energy projects and fuel sources 
whatever their scale 

o iii not require applicants for energy development to demonstrate the 
overall need for renewable or low-carbon energy 

o iv expect developers of decentralised energy to support the local planning 
approach for renewable and low-carbon energy set out in the local 
development plan and, if not, to provide compelling reasons to justify the 
departure – but, otherwise, not question the energy justification for why a 
proposal for renewable and low-carbon energy must be sited in a 
particular location 

o v not refuse planning permission for a renewable energy project because 
a renewable energy target set out in the local plan has been reached – but 
where targets have not been reached this should carry significant weight 
in favour of proposals when determining planning applications 

o vi take great care to avoid stifling innovation 
o vii expect applicants to have regard to the policies contained within the 

National Policy Statements; and 
o viii recognise that, when located in the Green Belt, elements of many 

renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate development for 
which developers will need to demonstrate very special circumstances, 
which may include the wider environmental benefits associated with 

Page 571



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 146 

increased production of energy from renewable sources (Planning for 
Climate Change p24) 

Renewable and low carbon energy 

 The Government Renewable Energy Strategy sets out the path towards the 
legally binding target to ensure 15% of energy comes from renewable 
sources by 2020. It will help us to tackle climate change, promote the 
security of our energy supply, and provide outstanding opportunities for the 
UK economy. Lead scenario suggests that we could see: 
o More than 30% of our electricity generated from renewables – much of this 

will be from wind power but biomass, hydro and wave will also play an 
important role  

o 12% of our heat generated from renewables from a range of sources 
including biomass, biogas, solar and heat pumps  

o 10% of transport energy from renewables  
(UK Renewable Energy Strategy, page 8) 

 Planning system must enable renewable deployment in appropriate places, 
at the right time, and in a way that gives confidence to invest. Commitment 
to: 
o Improve the planning process 
o Ensure a strategic approach to planning 
o upport swifter delivery 
o Address the impacts of renewables deployment  
(UK Renewable Energy Strategy, page 15) 

 By 2020 an objective for Greater Manchester is to have created market 
conditions which promote low and zero carbon energy generation and 
distribution opportunities across Greater Manchester, including local 
renewable power stations, leading and facilitating the development of local 
heating, cooling and smart grid networks and integrating microgeneration 
opportunities into our new building development standards and retrofitting 
programmes (GM Climate Change Strategy page 30). 

 UK Target for share of energy from renewable sources in gross final 
consumption of energy in 2020 is 15% (Renewable Energy 
Directive)(Renewable Energy Roadmap p5) 

 8 technologies are capable of delivering more than 90% of the renewable 
energy we need for 2020 (onshore wind, offshore wind, marine energy, 
biomass electricity, biomass heat, ground source and air source heat pumps’ 
and renewable transport)(Renewable Energy Roadmap p6 and 7) 

 Identify opportunities for biofuel cropping to support future programme of 
biomass boilers (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 40) 

 To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and heat, plans 
should: 
o Have a positive strategy to promote energy from renewable and low 

carbon source 

Page 572



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 147 

o Design their policies to maximise renewable and low carbon energy 
development while ensuring that adverse impacts are addressed 
satisfactorily, including cumulative landscape and visual impacts 

o Consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy 
sources and supporting infrastructure where this would help to secure the 
development of such sources 

o Identify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for co-
locating potential heat customers and suppliers (NPPF para 151) 

 When drawing up a Local Plan local planning authorities should first consider 

what the local potential is for renewable and low carbon energy generation. 

In considering that potential, the matters local planning authorities should 

think about include: 

o the range of technologies that could be accommodated and the policies 

needed to encourage their development in the right places; 

o the costs of many renewable energy technologies are falling, potentially 

increasing their attractiveness and the number of proposals; 

o  different technologies have different impacts and impacts can vary by 

place; 

o the UK has legal commitments to cut greenhouse gases and meet 

increased energy demand from renewable sources. Whilst local 

authorities should design their policies to maximise renewable and low 

carbon energy development, there is no quota which the Local Plan has to 

deliver (NPPG - 003 Reference ID: 5-003-20140306) 

 It is recommended that local communities assess their area for opportunities 
for renewable energy and decentralised energy. The assessment could focus 
on opportunities at a scale which could supply more than an individual 
building and could include up-to-date mapping of heat demand and possible 
sources of supply. Local planning authorities can assist this process by 
looking for opportunities to secure: 
o decentralised energy to meet the needs of new development 
o greater integration of waste management with the provision of 

decentralised energy 
o co-location of potential heat suppliers and users 
o the supply of heat through district heating networks; and 
o the use of renewable energy in public buildings which can act as a critical 

mass for district heating systems (Planning for Climate Change p.14) 

 Local planning authorities are recommended to assess the suitability of sites 
for new development, and for the type and intensity of development, against 
criteria including: ‘iii’ the extent to which existing or planned opportunities for 
decentralised energy could contribute to the energy supply of new 
development on the site; and ‘iii’ the potential for new development on the site 

Page 573



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 148 

to contribute heat demand where a heat network exists or could be provided 
(Planning for Climate Change p18). 

 Local planning authorities should not require applicants for energy 
development to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon 
energy and also recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable 
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and approve the 
application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable (NPPF para 154 

 Planning permission will be granted for renewable energy development 
provided that the impact on environmental quality and amenity does not 
outweigh the benefits of the development’s potential contribution to reducing 
carbon dioxide emissions, diversifying the country’s energy supply, and 
meeting national targets for the production of renewable energy (Adopted 
UDP, Policy EN21) 

 Consulting with residents and other stakeholders who stand to be affected by 
a new renewable energy development is of critical importance (North West 
Energy Strategy, pg 15 and 21) 

 By 2010 at least 10% (rising to at least 15% by 2015 and at least 20% by 
2020) of the electricity supplied in the North West should be provided from 
renewable energy sources (Energy White Paper, Para 1.22) (UK Climate 
Change Programme March 2006, pg 36)  

 The energy planning system must be able to take into account and allow for 
the full implications of the drive towards a greater role for renewable energy 
and for a more localised pattern of generation and distribution (Energy White 
2007, para 8.72). 

 The Government will work with local authorities and with the industry to: 
ensure that high quality renewable energy schemes are prepared; resolve 
potential local impact problems; and improve the engagement with local 
communities on the case for renewable energy (Energy White Paper 2007, 
para 8.83). 

 Recognising the particular difficulties faced by renewables in securing 
planning consent, the Government is also: 
o Underlining that applicants will no longer have to demonstrate either the 

overall need for renewable energy or for their particular proposal to be 
sited in a particular location 

o Creating the expectation amongst applicants that any substantial new 
proposed developments would need to source a significant proportion of 
their energy supply from low carbon sources (including offsite and onsite 
renewables) 

o Encouraging planners to help create an attractive environment for 
innovation and in which the private sector can bring forward investment in 
renewable and low carbon technologies; and 

o Giving a clear steer to planning professionals and local authority decision-
makers, that in considering applicants they should look favourably on 
renewable energy developments (Energy White Paper, 2007, para 5.3.66) 

Page 574



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 149 

 The Electricity Networks Strategy Group document: Our Electricity 
Transmission Network: A Vision for 2020 takes develops electricity generation 
and demand scenarios consistent with the EU target for 15% of the UK’s 
energy to be produced from renewable sources by 2020. There are no 
specific implications identified for Salford (Our Electricity Transmission 
Network) 

 As the electricity grid moves to low carbon sources of generation, electricity 
will become a universal and versatile source of low carbon energy. 
Technologies that use electricity to generate heat e.g. heat pumps will be an 
increasingly effective way to decarbonise heat supply. (The Future of Heating: 
a strategic framework for low carbon heat in the UK , para 35) 

 Over the coming decades, the use of networks of pipes to deliver low carbon 
heat from a central source may be an effective means of providing low carbon 
heat to buildings. (The Future of Heating: a strategic framework for low 
carbon heat in the UK para 3.2) 

 Fuel sources for heat networks will need to change over time. Gas combined 
heat and power (CHP) may represent a cost-effective and resource-efficient 
option to develop and supply district heating networks now, but is unlikely to 
be acceptable in the long term if we are to reach the levels of decarbonisation 
the Government envisages. (The Future of Heating: a strategic framework for 
low carbon heat in the UK, para 3.13) 

 The national heat map for England reveals that nearly 50% of the heat 
demand in England is concentrated with enough density to make heat 
networks worth investigating. (The Future of Heating: a strategic framework 
for low carbon heat in the UK, p.68). 

Micro generation 

 By 2020 an objective for Greater Manchester is to have created market 
conditions which promote low and zero carbon energy generation and 
distribution opportunities across Greater Manchester, including local 
renewable power stations, leading and facilitating the development of local 
heating, cooling and smart grid networks and integrating microgeneration 
opportunities into our new building development standards and retrofitting 
programmes (GM Climate Change Strategy page 30). 

 The role of solar water heating in public buildings and hard-to-heat homes (as 
part of HECA and Fuel Poverty strategies) should be a particular focus for 
local authorities (North West Energy Strategy, pg 18).  

 Within Salford, there is likely to be greatest potential for the use of solar 
energy, although there may also be opportunities for the use of other 
technologies such as geothermal energy and energy crops (Adopted UDP, 
para 12.70). 

Energy and new development 

 In determining planning applications Local planning authorities should expect new 
development to: 

Page 575



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 150 

o Comply with adopted Local Plan policies on local requirements for 
decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the 
applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its 
design, that this is not feasible or viable; and 

o Take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and 
landscaping to minimise energy consumption (NPPF para 153) 

 It is recommended that local authorities set requirements for decentralised 
energy that: 
o i relate to identified development areas or specific sites 
o ii are consistent with giving priority to energy efficiency measures; and 
o iii focus on opportunities at a scale which developers would not be able to 

realise on their own in relation to specific developments (Planning for 
Climate Change p.19) 

 In determining planning applications, planning authorities are recommended 
to consider the likely impacts of proposed development on: 
o existing or other proposed development and their supply of, or potential for 

using, decentralised energy; and 
o existing, or proposed, sources of renewable or low-carbon energy supply 

and associated infrastructure (Planning for Climate Change p24). 

 Local planning authorities should consider the opportunity for incorporating 
renewable energy projects in all new developments, as such should be 
addressed in local development documents (North West Energy Strategy, pg 
19). 

 Development plans should ensure that development minimises energy use 
through careful and imaginative location, design and construction techniques 
(North West Energy Strategy, pg 16).   

 Local authorities should, within their development plans, set energy 
requirements for new developments over a specified size to be met by 
renewable sources, at least in line with relevant policies in the Regional 
Spatial Strategy (North West Energy Strategy, pg 18).  

 All new non-residential developments above a threshold of 1000m2 and all 
residential developments comprising 10 or more units, are expected to 
incorporate renewable energy production to provide, at least 10% of a 
developments predicted final energy requirements (North West Energy 
Strategy, pg 20). 

 Development proposals for more than 100 dwellings or 5,000 square metres 
of floorspace will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that full 
consideration has been given to the use of realistic renewable energy options, 
and such measures have been incorporated into the development where 
practicable (UDP, Policy EN22). 

 The Government believes that public consultation on proposals for major 
infrastructure projects and early engagement with key parties such as local 
authorities…is extremely important (Energy White Paper, para 8.59)     

Page 576



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 151 

References (energy) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

AGMA 2010 Decentralised and zero carbon energy 
planning 

CABE 2009 Hallmarks of a Sustainable City 

DECC 2012 Gas Generation Strategy 

DECC 2012 The future of heating: a strategic framework 
for low carbon heat in the UK 

DECC 2011 Renewable Energy Roadmap 

DEFRA 2006 UK Climate Change Programme 

DTI 2007 Meeting the Energy Challenge: A White Paper 
on Energy 

DTI 2003 Energy White Paper. Our energy future: 
Creating a low-carbon economy,  

European 
Commission 

2011 European Energy Efficiency Plan 2011 

European 
Commission 

2002 Guiding Principles for Sustainable Spatial 
Development of the European Continent 

European 
Commission 

2001 EC Directive 2001/77/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 27 
September 2001 on the promotion of 
electricity from renewable energy sources in 
the internal electricity market 

European 
Commission 

1997 Energy for the future - renewable sources of 
energy: White Paper for a Community 
Strategy and Action Plan 

European 
Commission 

1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

Greater Manchester 
Energy Group 

2012 Connected: The Greater Manchester Energy 
Plan 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Policy Framework (viewed 
June 2018) 

   

HM Government 2011 The Carbon Plan – Delivering our Low Carbon 
Future 

HM Government 2009 The UK low Carbon Transition Plan – National 
Strategy for Climate and Energy 

Page 577



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 152 

HM Government 2009 UK Renewable Energy Strategy 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future – UK Government 
sustainable development strategy.  

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
Local Authorities 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

The Electricity 
Networks Strategy 
Group 

2009 Our Electricity Transmission Network: A Vision 
for 2020 
 

United Nations 2002 Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable 
Development 

 

 
  

Page 578



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 153 

Crime and security 

Reducing crime 

 Local authorities and the police must consider the crime and disorder 
implications of every aspect of their activities and the need to do all they 
reasonably can do (Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998).  

 Building and maintaining modern and effective social infrastructure is a key 
part of delivering the government’s aims and objectives in health, education 
and criminal justice sectors (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 
para 12.1) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Safer and stronger communities 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 Community Safety objectives: 
o Driving down crime 
o Building and strengthening partnerships 
o Tackling anti-social behaviour 
o Protecting vulnerable people 
o Putting victims at the centre 
o Maintaining public safety, dealing with civil emergencies and emerging 

threats 
o Dealing effectively with terrorism, serious crime and organised criminality 

(Salford Community Safety Strategy 2014 – 2016) 

 The planning system should be an important contributor to the aim of 
reducing crime (Design and Crime SPD, para 2.1).  

 Planning policies and decisions should promote public safety and take into 
account wider security and defence requirements (NPPF para 95) 

Property crime 

 Access through the front of properties accounts for only 15% of domestic 
burglaries therefore it is vitally important that measures are taken to improve 
security of the back of properties as far as possible (A Guide to Alleygating IN 
Salford, p.4) 

Anti-social behaviour and drugs and alcohol related offences 

 Address the problem of anti-social behaviour in public places and at public 
transport facilities (Greater Manchester Transport Plan, para 2.16) 

Designing out crime (also see design and construction) 

 Designing out crime and designing in community safety should be central to 
the planning and delivery of new development (Sustainable Communities: 
Building for the Future, p.22) (UDP, Policy DES10) (Salford Safety Strategy 
2014-2016) 

Page 579



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 154 

 Natural and formal surveillance should be created in all developments and in 
open space (UDP, Policy DES10) (Design and Crime SPD, para 4.7-4.9; 
Policy DC6; Policy DC8; Policy DC15; Policy DC18).  

 The Government’s aim in promoting counter-terrorism design principles is to 
create safer places and buildings so that people are better protected from 
terrorist attack. This is to be achieved within the context of Government’s 
overall aim to encourage the creation of buildings which are practical, 
sustainable, affordable, attractive, and also deliver social goals, for instance, 
by designing out crime. Local planning authorities, with the police and other 
partners, should work to ensure that an appropriate local strategy is in place 
to guide proposals for higher risk buildings and spaces where they exist 
(Crowded Places the planning system and counter terrorism, para 2.02 and 
3.01) 

 Crime prevention measures should not be at the expense of the overall 
design quality, and proposals will not be permitted where they would have a 
hostile appearance or engender a fortress-type atmosphere (UDP, Policy 
DES10) 

 Place great importance on the speedy regeneration of derelict land as this 
can attract crime and anti-social behaviour (UDP, Policy DES10) (SPD 
Design and Crime, Policy DC5) 

 The environmental design principle of defensible space states that the 
environment should be clearly divided into defined areas which are either 
public, semi-private or private zones (UDP, Policy DES10[i]) (Design and 
Crime SPD, para 4.4) 

 All major development proposals should be accompanied by a Crime 
Prevention Plan which sets out how the development will achieve an 
appropriate standard of security (Design and Crime SPD, Policy DC1).  

 New residential developments should be mixed use with a range of facilities 
and housing types and tenures to create 24-hour surveillance (Design and 
Crime SPD, Policy DC6) 

 Ensure that adequate surveillance of spaces is maintained and seek to create 
urban squares that are vital and safe to use in a 24 hour culture. Use lighting 
creatively to support safe environments but also to add interest and an 
identity in the evening (Salford’s spaces and places page 24) 

Fear of crime 

 A sustainable community can only be achieved if the fear of crime does not 
undermine quality of life or community cohesion (Securing the future – UK 
Government sustainable development strategy, p.184)  

 Reduce the fear of crime(Design and Crime SPD, para 2.1; para 4.1) 

Prisons (also see sustainable communities)  

 A more effective criminal justice system requires a prison estate which is 
aligned to the needs of offenders and facilitates the future purpose of 
prisons. The government wants to transform the prison estate to better 

Page 580



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 155 

support rehabilitation, ensuring it is modern, with sites fit for purpose, and 
holds prisoners in security appropriate to their risk (National Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 12.16) 

 The need for potential locations for new prison development should be 
identified through the planning system (Circular 3/98 para.2) 

 Proposals (for prisons) should appear in the plan when it is clear that the 
development will take place during the plan’s lifetime (Circular 3/98 para.7) 

 Local Planning authorities should recognise that prison proposals have 
specific design requirements which, for reasons of public security, cannot be 
compromised (Circular 3/98 para.12) 

References (crime) 

 

Source Date  Title 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance  

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

HM Government 1998 Circular 3/98 Planning for Future Prison 
Development 

HM Government 1998 Crime and Disorder Act, section 17 

Home Office 2012 Crowded Places: The Planning System and 
Counter Terrorism 

ODPM 2005 Securing the future – UK Government 
sustainable development strategy 

ODPM 2003 Sustainable Communities: Building for the 
Future 

Salford City Council 2014 Salford Safety Strategy 2014 – 2016 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook   

Salford City Council 2006 Supplementary Planning Document: Design 
and Crime 

 
 
  

Page 581



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 156 

Hazardous substances  

Hazardous substances and new development 

 

 Member states shall ensure that the objectives of preventing major accidents 
and limiting the consequences of such accidents for human health and the 
environment are taken into account in their land-use policies or other relevant 
policies. They shall pursue those objectives through controls on: 

o a) the siting of new establishments 
o b) modifications to establishments covered by Article 11 
o c) new development including transport routes, locations of public 

use and residential areas in the vicinity of establishments, where 
the siting or development may be the source of or increase the risk 
or consequences of a major accident (EU Directive 2012/18/EU 
Article 13)(Planning (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2015) 

 Local planning authorities should consult the appropriate bodies when considering 
applications for the siting of, or changes to, major hazard sites, installations or 
pipelines, or for development around them (NPPF para 45). 

 When preparing Local Plans, local planning authorities are required to have 
regard to the prevention of major accidents and limiting their consequences. 
They must also consider the long-term need for appropriate distances 
between hazardous establishments and population or environmentally 
sensitive areas. They must also consider whether additional measures for 
existing establishments are required so that risks to people in the area are 
not increased (NPPG - 002 Reference ID: 39-002-20161209) 

Disposal of hazardous waste (see recycling and waste management) 

 The Environmental Protection Act establishes the legal framework for dealing 
with the control of emissions to the environment, including: 
o integrated pollution control and Air Pollution Control by Local Authorities 
o The treatment and disposal of waste including hazardous waste 
o Air Quality (Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 

References (hazardous substances) 

 

Source Date  Title 

European 
Commission 

2012 Council Directive 2012/18/EC on the Control 
of Major-Accident Hazards involving 
Dangerous Substances 

HM Government  2012 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2015 The Planning (Hazardous Substances) 
Regulations 2015 

HM Government 2914 National Planning Policy Framework (viewed 
June 2018) 

Page 582

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-plans--2


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 157 

   

HM Government 1990 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 
  

Page 583



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 158 

Health (see also Recreation / open space / green infrastructure) 

Improving health 

 Key Challenges / overall objectives for the European Sustainable 

Development Strategy include: To promote good public health on equal 

conditions and improve protection against health threats (European 

Sustainable Development Strategy 2006) 

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 

regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of 

environmental effects must be considered together and the setting of permit 

conditions so as to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a 

whole. Issues covered in the directive include emissions to area, water and 

land, generation of waste, use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, 

prevention of accidents and risk management (Integrated Pollution Prevention 

and Control Directive 1996) 

 Improve health services and a reduction in the health gap (Urban White 

Paper para. 7.28) 

 Building and maintaining modern and effective social infrastructure is a key 

part of delivering the government’s aims and objectives in health, education 

and criminal justice sectors (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 

para 12.1)  

 To support a strong National Health Service capable of providing 7-day care 

requires modern well maintained hospitals and facilities that are able to 

operate efficiently (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 2021 para 

12.13).  

 The Government’s key actions to improve health are: 
o Strengthening self-esteem, confidence and personal responsibility; 
o Positively promoting healthier behaviours and lifestyles, and adapting the 

environment to make healthy choices easier (Healthy Lives Healthy 
People paragraph 2.31) 

 The Framework for Action to understand and tackle the risk factors 
associated with poor mental health and poor well-being:  
o Taking a life course approach 
o Building strength, safety and resilience 
o Developing sustainable, connected communities 
o Integrating physical and mental health 
o Promoting purpose and participation 
(Confident Communities, Brighter Futures, page 12) 

o The Health and Social Care Act 2012 looks to safeguard the future of the 
NHS, identify the changes needed to meet the challenges it faces. It aims to 
put clinicians at the centre of commissioning, free up providers to innovate, 

Page 584



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 159 

empower patients and gives a new focus to public health (Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 (2012)) 

o Local planning authorities should ensure that health and wellbeing, and 
health infrastructure are considered in local and neighbourhood plans and in 
planning decision making. Public health organisations, health service 
organisations, commissioners and providers, and local communities should 
use this guidance to help them work effectively with local planning authorities 
in order to promote healthy communities and support appropriate health 
infrastructure (NPPG – 001 Reference ID: 53-001-20140306) 

 Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places which enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this 
would address identified local health and well-being needs – for example 
through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports 
facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that 
encourage walking and cycling (NPPF para 91) 

 Planning policies and decisions should take into account and support the 
delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for 
all sections of the community (NPPF, para 92b) 

 Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport 
and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of communities 
(para 96) 

 Local planning authorities should consult the appropriate bodies when 
considering applications for the siting of, or changes to, major hazard sites, 
installations or pipelines, or for development around them (NPPF para 45) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 
o Activity promotion & local champions - Promoting the importance of 

participation in sport and physical activity as a means of improving health 
and wellbeing should be supported. Health promotion measures and local 
champions should be supported to inspire participation in sport and 
physical activity across neighbourhoods, workplaces and facilities. 
Physical measures need to be matched by community and stakeholder 
ambition, leadership and engagement (Active Design) 

 Our vision is to make Greater Manchester (GM) one of the best places in the 

world to grow up, get on and grow old. This means a place where all children 

are given the best start in life and young people grow up inspired to exceed 

expectations. Across Greater Manchester, to ensure children have the best 

start in life, we’re integrating the services provided to children from when they 

are born until they start school, and are working on implementing this new 

approach throughout the city-region (GM Children and young people health 

and well-being strategy)_ 

 The Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy sets out a framework for 

policies and measures to: reduce air pollution as a contributor to ill health in 

Greater Manchester;  support the UK Government in meeting EU air quality 

Page 585



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 160 

thresholds;  contribute to a reduction in Greater Manchester’s carbon 

footprint; and  encourage low-emission behaviours in the culture and 

lifestyles of the city region 

 Salford’s Locality Plan articulates a vision over the next five years for the 

improvement of wellbeing, health and care outcomes for residents in the city, 

across a timescale of short, medium and longer term impacts. The Plan sets 

out specific programmes and objectives which are in place to deliver against 

that vision, using a life course approach (Starting Well, Living Well, and 

Aging Well). It also reflects the need to tackle the demographic, financial and 

clinical challenges facing the city 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o Healthy lives, with quality care available for those that need it 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 

Reducing health inequalities 

 Reduce the health gap between the most deprived areas and the rest of the 
country (Urban White Paper para. 7.28) 

 Reduce by at least 10% the gap between the 20 per cent of areas with the 
lowest life expectancy at birth and the population as a whole. (Regenerating a 
Great City, Salford’s Neighborhood Renewal Strategy, para 4.26) 

 Ensure the set up of a Health Inequalities Development Programme and 
produce Annual Health Inequalities Reports, in order to monitor and assess 
progress (Health Inequalities in Salford- a local strategy for action, p39 and 
44) 

Provision of/access to health facilities (also see retail and town centres) 

o ) 

 Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make sufficient provision12 for community 
facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure) (NPPF para 
20c) 

 Increase accessibility (both in terms of location and physical access) for all 
members of the community to health and community facilities (Health 
Inequalities in Salford- a local strategy for action, p48 and p.50) 

 The retention of existing health and community facilities will be encouraged. 
The re-use or redevelopment of health and community facilities will only be 
granted when a clear lack of demand for such a facility has been proven, or 
where appropriate alternative provision can be made. (Salford City Council 
UDP, Policy EHC4) 

 Those involved with campus sites, including hospitals and universities should 
ensure different parts of the site are linked by appropriate walking and cycling 
routes (NICE Public Health Guidance 8 p9) 

Page 586



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 161 

Health & new development 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 

and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 

contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 

affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 

instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 

environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account 

relevant information such as river basin management plans (NPPF para 170e) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 

o Active buildings - The internal and external layout, design and use of 
buildings should promote opportunities for physical activity. Providing 
opportunities for activity inside and around buildings. (Active Design) 

 The scale, location, nature and intensity of built development can impact on 
health in a variety of ways. For example, there is a considerable emphasis in 
national and regional planning policy on channelling development towards the 
most accessible locations such as town and city centres, and encouraging a 
high-density mix of uses in such locations. This has a number of potentially 
positive health benefits: reducing car usage, providing enhanced 
opportunities for walking and cycling, easier access to leisure facilities and 
neighbourhood networks. However, if not properly planned, concentrating 
development within high-density mixed-use locations can also give rise to 
some negative health impacts, for example due to the close proximity of 
industrial and residential uses (resulting in risks to health from pollution, noise 
etc), a lack of open space (providing limited opportunity for physical exercise), 
cramped or poor housing conditions (leading to a range of potential illnesses) 
and impacts on mental health resulting from stress associated with the 
intensity of built development (Salford Joint Strategic Needs Assessment para 
1.3) 

Promoting healthy living (also see recreation/ open space/ green 
infrastructure, transport, and retail and town centres) 

 Those responsible for all strategies policies and plans involving changes to the 
physical environment should: 
o Involve all local communities and experts at all stages of development to 

ensure the potential for physical activity is maximised; 
o Ensure planning applications always prioritise the need for people to be 

physically active as a routine of their daily life; 
o Assess in advance what impact the proposals are likely to have on physical 

activity levels (NICE Public Health Guidance 8 p6) 

 Increase availability, accessibility and affordability to nutritious and appropriate 
food. (Health Inequalities in Salford- a local strategy for action, p48,) 

 Make active ageing the norm rather than the exception, for example by building 
more Lifetime Homes, protecting green spaces and launching physical activity 
initiatives. Protect and promote community ownership of green spaces and 

Page 587



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 162 

improve access to land so that people can grow their own food (Healthy Lives 
Healthy People para 11(e)). 

 Where a hot food take away is proposed within 400 metres of a secondary 
school, planning permission will only be granted subject to a condition that 
the premises are not open to the public before 5pm Monday to Friday and 
there are no over the counter sales before that time, apart from in designated 
centres or locations unlikely to be accessed by pupils of a nearby school (Hot 
Food Take Aways SPD policy HFTA2) 

  

References (health) 

 

Source Date  Title 

DCLG 2000 Urban White Paper – Our Towns and Cities, 
The Future – Delivering and Urban 
Renaissance 

DoH 2012 Health and Social Care Act 2012 

European 
Commission 

2006 European Sustainable Development Strategy 

European 
Commission 

1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

GMCA and NHS in 
Greater Manchester 

2018 Greater Manchester Children and young 
people health and well-being framework 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA 2017 Greater Manchester Low-Emission Strategy 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 – 
2021 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

   

HM Government 2011 White Paper: Healthy Lives, Healthy People: 
Our Strategy for Public Health in England 

HM Government 2010 Confident Communities, Brighter Future 
Framework 

NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

2017 Locality Plan for Salford: Start well. Live Well. 
Age well.  

Salford City Council 2014 Hot Food Take Aways SPD 

Salford City Council 2010 Salford Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Page 588



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 163 

Salford City Council 2004 Health Inequalities in Salford- a local strategy 
for action. 

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 589



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 164 

Design and construction 

General 

 Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning, creates better places in which to live and work and helps 
make development acceptable to communities. (NPPF para 124)(NPPG - 001 
Reference ID: 26-001-20140306 and 003 Reference ID: 26-003-20140306) 

 Good design should: 
o ensure that development can deliver a wide range of planning objectives 
o enhance the quality buildings and spaces, by considering amongst other 

things form and function; efficiency and effectiveness and their impact on 
well being 

o address the need for different uses sympathetically (NPPG - 002 
Reference ID: 26-002-20140306) 

 Planning policies and decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 
o Will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, over the 

lifetime of the development 
o Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 

appropriate and effective landscaping 
o Are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 

built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased 
densities); 

o Establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, 
welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

o Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and 

o Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and 
future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience (NPPF 
para 58) 

o   

 Great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which 
promote high levels of sustainability, or so long as they fit in with the overall 
form and layout of their surroundings help raise the standard of design more 
generally in the area,  (NPPF para 131) 

 Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to 
take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions (NPPF para 130) 

 New development must demonstrate good design quality and respect for its 
setting (UDP, Policy DES 1) 

Page 590



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 165 

 Inclusive design places people at the heart of the design process, 
acknowledges diversity and difference; offers choice where a single solution 
cannot accommodate all users; provides flexibility in use; and provides 
buildings and environments that are convenient and enjoyable to use for 
everyone (Manual for Streets p.11) 

 Promote good design in new housing development in order to create 
attractive, high-quality living environments that draw out the character of the 
local area (UDP, Policy H1) 

 Development should: 
o Normally be orientated so that it fronts the street 
o Respect building lines of the existing urban environment and, where 

appropriate, build up to the edge of the curtilage 
o Maximise the amount of active street frontage 
o Avoid designs which are inward looking and which present   blank 

frontages 
o Provide level access from the public realm; and 
o In the case of development in edge-of-centre locations, provide good 

pedestrian access to the centre. (Planning for Town Centres, Para 2.4) 
(Design & Crime SPD, Policy DC2,3) 

 The internal layout of new dwellings in Lower Broughton should enable the 
best use of space and wherever possible provide generous space standards 
(Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC11) 

Sustainable design and construction  

 Any local requirement for a building’s sustainability should be set out in a 
Development Plan Document, and applied appropriately to specific sites 
(Planning for Climate Change p20). 

 In setting any such local requirement, it is recommended that local authorities: 
o ensure that any local standards for a building’s performance, or for 

measuring a building’s performance, on matters relating to construction 
techniques, building fabrics, products, fittings or finishes have a robust 
justification and do not duplicate the building regulations (unless, in the 
case of electric vehicle charging infrastructure/ cabling, this is a local 
requirement set out as recommended in Section 3.10 of this guide, or, in 
the case of green roofs/walls, this supports a local planning approach to 
adaptation set out as recommended in Section 3.5); and 

o specify local requirements in terms of the achievement of nationally 
described sustainable buildings standards – in the case of housing, this 
means a specific level of the Code for Sustainable Homes; where local 
circumstances do not support specifying compliance with an entire Code 
level (because of the range of environmental categories covered) or 
envisaged development could not attain the relevant Code level on all 
environmental categories, a local requirement can be stipulated solely in 
relation to the energy/carbon dioxide emissions standard and/or water 

Page 591



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 166 

standard in an identified level of the Code (Planning for Climate Change 
p.20 and 21) 

 Support the key development requirements of delivering low carbon energy, 
transport, buildings, green and blue infrastructure and sustainable 
consumption at the sub regional, district and neighbourhood level (GM 
Climate Change Strategy page 48) 

 By 2020 an objective for Greater Manchester is to have created market 
conditions which promote low and zero carbon energy generation and 
distribution opportunities across Greater Manchester, including local 
renewable power stations, leading and facilitating the development of local 
heating, cooling and smart grid networks and integrating microgeneration 
opportunities into our new building development standards and retrofitting 
programmes (GM Climate Change Strategy page 30). 

 Align relevant housing strategies with issues around carbon reduction and 
climate adaptation (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 27) 

 Develop local authority new build homes to Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 4 (Salford’s Climate Change Strategy page 27) 

 Our buildings will be designed and constructed to the highest environmental 
standards using materials and details to delight the senses (Design SPD p35) 

 Major new development will only be permitted where the applicant has clearly 
demonstrated that all practical measures have been taken to: 
o Minimise energy and water consumption; the impacts of ambient air and 

noise pollution; the speed and quantity of surface water run-off; the impact 
of flood events and construction waste 

o Maximise on-site renewable energy supply and/or connection to 
decentralised low-carbon energy supply; the use of responsibly sourced 
and/or recycled building materials; and the provision of wildlife habitats; 
and 

o Incorporate public and private open spaces that offer shade and shelter; 
waste recycling facilities and appropriate facilities for cyclists and 
pedestrians (Sustainable Design and Construction SPD Policy 
SDC1)(Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan Statement 15) 

 Promote eco-design as a mainstream element of good design practice. 
(Securing the Future- the UK’s Sustainable Development Strategy, p 48) 

Public realm 

 The management of streets and public open spaces should be framed by the 
principles of reducing clutter, coordinating design and reinforcing local 
character, whilst maintaining safety for all (Streets for all p.5) 

 The ten principles of active design include: 

o High quality streets and spaces - Flexible and durable high quality streets 

and public spaces should be promoted, employing high quality durable 

materials, street furniture and signage. Well designed streets and spaces 

support and sustain a broader variety of users and community activities. 

Page 592



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 167 

o Management, maintenance, monitoring & evaluation - The management, 

long-term maintenance and viability of sports facilities and public spaces 

should be considered in their design. Monitoring and evaluation should be 

used to assess the success of Active Design initiatives and to inform 

future directions to maximise activity outcomes from design interventions. 

A high standard of management, maintenance, monitoring and evaluation 

is essential to ensure the long-term desired functionality of all spaces. 

(Active Design) 

 To double and then double again cycling in Greater Manchester and make 
walking the natural choice for as many short trips as possible. We must do 
this by putting people first, creating world class streets for walking, building 
one of the world’s best cycle networks, and create a genuine culture of 
cycling and walking (Made to Move) 

 Ensure all upcoming public realm and infrastructure investments, alongside 
all related policy programmes, have walking and cycling integrated at the 
development stage (Made to Move) 

 Ensure that where development includes the provision of, or works to, public 
space, that public space, it must be designed to: 
o Have a clear role and purpose, responding to established or proposed 

local economic, social, cultural and environmental needs 
o Reflect and enhance the character and identity of the area 
o Form an integral part of, and provide an appropriate setting for, 

surrounding developments 
o Be attractive, safe, uncluttered and appropriately lit 
o Be of an appropriate scale 
o Connect to established pedestrian routes and other public spaces; and 
o Minimise, and make provision for, maintenance requirements.  
(UDP, Policy DES3) 

 All space within a development should be properly managed and maintained 
and this should be reflected in their design. (Design & Crime SPD, Policy 
DC5) 

 There may be instances where a development would result in a material 
increase in the need or demand for other types of infrastructure or services. In 
these cases the city council will negotiate with a developer on a case by case 
basis having regard to site-specific circumstances, and planning obligations 
may be the mechanism for securing provision (Planning Obligations 
SPD)Enhance public realm along Crescent, Chapel Street, Trinity Way, M602 
roundabout, Trafford Road, Regent Road, Broadway, Ordsall Lane, Oldfield 
Road, Langworthy Road and Liverpool Street (Central Salford Integrated 
Transport Strategy p43 to 55) 

 Establish green environments which encourage a mix of pedestrians, cyclists 
and slow moving vehicles, are accessible to all and create a sense of 
ownership (Salford’s spaces and places p20) 

Page 593



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 168 

 The provision of works of art, craft or decoration should form an integral part 
of new developments, where developments would have a significant visual 
impact by reason of its scale, location or number of visitors. In particular, 
works of art should be located along the River Irwell to complement the Irwell 
sculpture trail, in main areas of public space and within the focal points such 
as Mocha Parade (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC 14) 

Views 

 New developments within the Salford Central area will be expected to protect 
and contribute to the quality of key views (Salford Central Planning Guidance 
Policy SC7) 

 Design in Lower Broughton must respond to existing and potential views, key 
features include the River Irwell, Peel Park; the Meadows and David Lewis 
Recreation Ground; the Church of the Ascension; the Manchester/Salford City 
Centre; and the Crescent and Adelphi & Bexley Square Conservation Areas 
(Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC3) 

 Ensure that all built development along waterways will enhance views from, 
of, across and along the waterway, and provide visual links to the waterside 
from surrounding areas. (UDP, Policy DES 6)(Salford’s spaces and places 
public realm handbook page 16) 

 Development in the Cambridge Riverside area should reflect the context and 
attributes of the area, have a predominantly urban character, capitalise on the 
area’s spectacular views of the City Centre and reflect the former geography 
of the River Irwell (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC13) 

Design and crime 

 Ensure new developments create safe and accessible environments where 
crime and disorder or fear of crime does not undermine quality of life or 
community cohesion (NW Best Practice Design Guide p.9) 

 LPA’s to ensure development should; 
o Clearly delineate public, communal, semi private and private spaces, 

avoiding ill-defined or left over spaces 
o Allow natural surveillance, particularly of surrounding public spaces, 

means of access and parking areas 
o Avoid places on concealment and inadequately lit areas 
o Encourage activity within public areas. (UDP, Policy DES10) (Design & 

Crime SPD, Para 2.8) 

 Layouts that encourage walking and cycling should be designed to ensure the 
safety of those travelling along them. (Design & Crime SPD, Pg 12) 

 Ensure that new commercial buildings are designed to incorporate measures 
to deter external attack. (Design & Crime SPD, Policy DC12) 

 Lighting should be designed and positioned appropriately and maintained in 
order to avoid lights being obscured or the creation of deep shadows. (Design 
& Crime SPD, Policy DC15) 

Page 594



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 169 

 Communal car parking should be designed in order to maximise natural 
surveillance (Design & Crime SPD, Policy DC 19) 

 In assessing planning applications for hot food take aways, the council will 
consider issues around community safety, crime and disorder. Proposals for 
new hot food take aways which, on the advice from Greater Manchester 
Police would adversely affect personal safety, will be restricted in their 
opening hours and/or will be required to provide or contribute to deterrent 
measures (Hot Food Take Aways SPD) 

Tall buildings 

 Any new tall building should be in an appropriate location, should be of 
excellent design quality in its own right and should enhance the qualities of its 
immediate location and setting. It should produce more benefits that costs to 
the lives of those affected by it (Guidance on Tall Buildings, Para 2.4 and 4.4) 

 LPA’s are encouraged to identify suitable locations where tall buildings are, 
and are not, appropriate, in areas where such developments are a possibility. 
A Plan led approach, setting out a clear long-term vision is strongly 
encouraged by CABE and English Heritage (Guidance on Tall Buildings, Para 
2.4 and 2.5) 

 Ensure the siting and design of tall buildings is demonstrated thoroughly and 
shown in a comprehensive Design Statement (City of Salford UDP.Para 6.18) 

 Our skyline will welcome the variety of tall buildings bring whilst respecting 
their immediate environment (Design SPD p35) 

 Consult with Manchester Airport on any development exceeding 90metres in 
height within the southern half of the city (City of Salford UDP, Para 6.19). 

Waterside development 

 Development should serve to enhance the environmental, ecological and 
recreational qualities of the city’s waterways, including facilitating pedestrian 
access (UDP, para 6.20) Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC6 – 
R.Irwell) (City of Salford UDP, Policy DES 6 – R. Irwell, Ship Canal, Salford 
Quays, Bridgewater Canal and Manchester Bolton Bury Canal)(Design SPD 
p35)(Salford’s spaces and places public realm handbook page 16, 26 and 66) 

 Ensure that all built development along waterways will be required to: 
o Face onto the water, and incorporate entrances onto the waterfront, where 

appropriate 
o Be of the highest standard of design, creating a positive addition to the 

waterside environment and providing an attractive elevation to it 
o Be of a scale sufficient to frame the edge of the waterside and  
o Enhance views from, of, across and along the waterway, and provide 

visual links to the waterside from surrounding areas. (UDP, Policy DES 6) 

 Applications for development in the Quays Point area should be of high 
design quality (Media City & Quays Point: Salford Quays and Trafford 
Wharfside Planning Guidance Para 2.10) 

Page 595



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 170 

 Ensure the creation of clear physical linkages between the core Quays Point 
site and its essential hinterland, to encourage economic and social integration 
with surrounding industrial, commercial and residential areas. (Media City & 
Quays Point: Salford Quays and Trafford Wharfside Planning Guidance Para 
3.4) 

 Ensure linkages with elements of green infrastructure around Salford Quays 
and Trafford Wharfside and promote planting to create and enhance a 
network of green spaces and routes, particularly based around the 
Manchester Ship Canal, the River Irwell and the Bridgewater Canal.  (Media 
City & Quays Point: Salford Quays and Trafford Wharfside Planning 
Guidance, Para 3.4) 

 Waterside development within the Irwell City Park will provide a mix of uses to 
contribute to the creation of a vibrant and interesting area which has activity 
during the day and evening throughout the year, it should encourage further 
use of the River for transport, recreation and sport, and provide active 
frontages facing the river (Irwell City Park policies ICP22, ICP23 and ICP24) 

 Development in the Cambridge Riverside area should reflect the context and 
attributes of the area, have a predominantly urban character, capitalise on the 
area’s spectacular views of the City Centre and reflect the former geography 
of the River Irwell (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC13) 

 The provision of works of art, craft or decoration should form an integral part 
of new developments, where developments would have a significant visual 
impact by reason of its scale, location or number of visitors. In particular, 
works of art should be located along the River Irwell to complement the Irwell 
sculpture trail, in main areas of public space and within the focal points such 
as Mocha Parade (Lower Broughton Design Code Policy LBDC 14) 

References (design and construction) 

 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2011 Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 

CABE 2007 Guidance on Tall Buildings 

Central Salford URC 2009 Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy 

DCLG and DfT 2007 Manual for Streets 

English Heritage 2005 Streets for All (North West) 
 

Greater Manchester 
Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner 

2018 Made to Move – 15 Steps to transform 
Greater Manchester by changing the way we 
get around 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

   

   

Page 596



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 171 

Planning and Climate 
Change Coalition 

2012 Planning for Climate Change – Guidance for 
Local Authorities 

Salford City Council 2015 Planning Obligations SPD 

Salford City Council 2010 Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 

Salford City Council 2013 Hot Food Take Aways SPD 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

Salford City Council 2008 Claremont and Weaste Neighbourhood Plan 

Salford City Council 2008 Flood Risk and Development Planning 
Guidance 

Salford City Council 2008 Irwell City Park Planning Guidance 

Salford City Council 2008 Salford Central Planning guidance 

Salford City Council 2008 Shaping Salford: Design Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 

Salford City Council 2008 Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 

Salford City Council 2006 Design & Crime Supplementary Planning 
Document 

Salford City Council 2006 Lower Broughton Design Code 

Salford City Council 2006 Media City & Quays Point: Salford Quays and 
Trafford Wharfside Planning Guidance 

Sport England and 
Public Health England 

2015 Active Design: Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical activity 

 
  

Page 597



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 172 

Utilities infrastructure 

General 

 The Growth plan identifies a number of recommendations for steps that could 
be taken at the local national level to accelerate economic growth. Amongst 
other things it emphasises the importance of: 
o Trade and investment with growing markets such as China 

o Increasing rates of entrepreneurship including through the Growth Hub 

o Attracting and enhancing a high-skilled workforce 

o Infrastructure, including transport; utilities and housing, to meeting existing 

needs and supporting future growth 

o A strategic approach to the use of public money (Greater Manchester 

Growth Plan 2011) 

Water supply (also see water and flood risk) 

 The Government’s objectives include the need to paint a clear vision of the 
future and enable the water sector and users to prepare for it. To deliver 
benefits across society by improving water quality and reducing pollution. 
Affordability should be at the centre of decision making and taxpayers should 
be protected. A stable water sector should be ensured and barriers to 
competition, innovation and efficiency should be removed. Efforts should be 
made to build an understanding of the impact personal choices have on the 
water environment, resources and cost (Water for Life para 1.24) 

Energy supply (also see energy) 

 Ensure a wide range of energy sources are developed (Energy White Paper, 
Para 1.14) 

 Maintain reliability of energy supplies (Energy White Paper, Para 1.18) 

 The government has identified five foundations of productivity which are "the 
essential attributes of every successful economy". These are: 

 Ideas (R&D, innovation) 
 People (skills and education) 
 Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
 Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
 Places (tackling regional disparities) 

 (UK Industrial Strategy) 

 A strategic objective of the GM Manufacturing Strategy is to ensure the 
necessary supporting energy, transport, digital infrastructure and sites are in 
place to support the growth of the sector (GM Manufacturing Strategy) 

Gas supply 

 Promote the future development of gas and oil reserves (Energy White Paper, 
Para 6.37) 

Page 598

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 173 

 Promote the need for additional connections to supplies of both piped and 
liquefied natural gas from a range of sources. (Energy White Paper, para 
1.17) 

 Promote Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) as a flexible alternative to piped gas. 
(Energy White Paper, para 6.21). 

 Government expects that gas will continue to play a major role in our 
electricity mix over the coming decades, alongside low-carbon technologies 
as we decarbonise our electricity system. Gas will play an integral role in the 
UK’s electricity mix, both in maintaining sufficient capacity margins and 
balancing out increasing quantities of renewables and low-carbon generation, 
much of which is relatively inflexible and intermittent. (Gas Generation 
Strategy p.14 and para 2.1) 

 There will be an important role for gas in 2030 and beyond, with the ability for 
gas to provide significant amounts of low-carbon electricity with ‘Carbon 
Capture Storage’ (CCS) (a technology that can remove CO2 emissions 
created by the combustion of fossil fuels, both coal and gas, in power stations 
as well as in a variety of industrial processes and transport it for safe storage 
underground). Government is committed to CCS and wants to see 
deployment at scale in the 2020s. (Gas Generation Strategy p.14 and para 
6.37) 

 There are large quantities of gas in the shales beneath the UK, but not 
enough is yet known to estimate what fraction of this could be produced.  
Whilst the case for shale gas could form a part, and perhaps a significant 
part, of the UK’s gas supply in the longer term, considerably more exploration 
and testing is needed to establish a meaningful reserve estimate. (Gas 
Generation Strategy p.52 and para 5.12) 

 Applications for exploration and appraisal, and production wells for 
unconventional gas resources will be permitted where the applicant can 
demonstrate that the proposal: 
1. Is in accordance with the Key Planning and Environmental Criteria in 

Policy 1; and 
2. Includes options for the next stage of extraction, following exploration; 

and 
3. Includes detailed plans for removal of all equipment and restoration of 

the site in accordance with a scheme and to a standard approved by the 
Mineral Planning Authority (GM Minerals Plan Policy 6) 

Information and communication technologies 

 Reliable and high quality fixed and mobile broadband connections support 
growth in productivity, efficiency and labour force participation across the 
whole economy. The UK needs infrastructure that is high capacity, reliable, 
resilient, secure, affordable and fast (National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
2016 - 2021 para 7.2) 

 The government has identified five foundations of productivity which are "the 
essential attributes of every successful economy". These are: 

Page 599

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-foundations/industrial-strategy-the-5-foundations


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 174 

o Ideas (R&D, innovation) 
o People (skills and education) 
o Infrastructure (broadband, energy, transport) 
o Business environment (support for specific sectors and SMEs) 
o Places (tackling regional disparities) 

 Improving the Five Foundation will enable to UK to tackle a series of Grand 

Challenges which will help the UK "take advantage of global changes, improve 

people's lives and the country's productivity." The Grand Challenges are:  

1. AI and the data revolution (how to embed and maximise the advantages 

of AI and data) 

2. Clean growth (low carbon technologies across the economy) 

3. Mobility (low carbon transport, automation, infrastructure) 

4. Aging society (healthcare and labour market challenges) 

(UK Industrial Strategy) 

 Our vision is for Greater Manchester to be one of the best places in the world 

for developing and harnessing digital technology and to be recognised as 

being a top 5 European Digital City Region by 2020 which 

o empowers and enables residents to have the highest quality of life; and 

o supports the creation of high quality jobs and achieves the maximum 

possible productivity levels (GM Digital Strategy) 

 The 10 priorities for making things better in GM include 

o World-class connectivity that keeps Greater Manchester moving 

 (Our People Our Place – The Greater Manchester Strategy) 

 A strategic objective of the GM Manufacturing Strategy is to ensure the 
necessary supporting energy, transport, digital infrastructure and sites are in 
place to support the growth of the sector (GM Manufacturing Strategy) 

 Advanced, high quality communications infrastructure is essential for 
sustainable economic growth. The development of high speed broadband 
technology and other communications networks also plays a vital role in 
enhancing the provision of local community facilities and services (NPPF para 
42) 

 LPAs should work with other authorities and providers to: 
o Assess the quality and capacity of infrastructure for transport, water 

supply, waste water and its treatment, energy, telecommunications, 
utilities, waste, health, social care, education, flood risk and coastal 
change management, and its ability to meet forecast demands; and 

o Take account of the need for strategic infrastructure including nationally 
significant infrastructure within their areas (NPPF para 162) 

 
Telecommunications 

 Support the provision of high quality telecommunications networks that 
support economic growth and social inclusion. (UDP, Para 5.6) 

Page 600

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges/industrial-strategy-the-grand-challenges


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 175 

 Aim to keep the numbers of radio and telecommunications masts and the 
sites for such installations to a minimum consistent the needs of consumers,  
the efficient operation of the network and providing reasonable capacity for 
future expansion (NPPF para 113) 

 Telecommunications development should be located in accordance with the 
following order of preference: 
o The sharing of existing telecommunications sites and installations, 

including masts, structures and buildings. 
o The use of existing buildings and structures where there are no existing 

telecommunications installations; and 
o The use of sites where there are no existing telecommunications 

installations. (Supplementary Planning Document: Telecommunications, 
Policy TEL 1) 

 Ensure telecom development is delivered sensitively, keeping the impact on 
the environment to a minimum. (Telecommunications Supplementary 
Planning Document, Para 3.5) (UDP, Para 15.5) 

 All telecommunications development to meet all relevant health standards of 
the International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) 
(UDP, Para 15.6) 

 The provision of wi-fi hotspots within major developments is encouraged, 
particularly within the regional centre, the rest of the mediacity:uk area, and 
the town centres. (Supplementary Planning Document, Policy TEL 5) 

 Ensure traditional ‘’red’’ telephone boxes within the city are retained. (Draft 
Supplementary Planning Document, Policy TEL 7) 

 
Broadband 

 Digital Britain Objectives: 
o Modernising and upgrading our wired, wireless and broadcasting 

infrastructure to sustain Britain’s position as a leading digital economy; 
o Providing a favourable climate for investment and innovation in digital 

content, applications and services; 
o Securing a range of high quality public service content, particularly in 

news; 
o Developing the nations digital skills at all levels; and 
o Securing universal access to broadband, increasing its take-up and using 

broadband to deliver more public services more effectively and more 
efficiently (Digital Britain p.9) 

 The Government can play an important role in accelerating superfast 
broadband roll-out and it will invest £530 million over the next four years in 
order to create the best superfast broadband network in Europe by 2015 (The 
Growth Plan para 2.223).  

 The Government will deliver a package to support the UK’s digital 
infrastructure by: ensuring that all businesses in Enterprise Zones have 
access to superfast broadband; applying the principle of ‘a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ for superfast broadband deployment as it 

Page 601



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 176 

applies to wayleaves, overhead deployment of infrastructure and rights of 
access to multi-dwelling units; issuing guidance on micro-trenching and 
streetworks, emphasising that streetworks should prioritise critical 
infrastructure; and publishing a implementation plan for the release of 
500MHz of public sector spectrum (The Growth Plan p.100) 

 The Government aims to have the best superfast broadband network in 
Europe by 2015, and a functional level of broadband access for everybody, to 
enable improvements in business productivity and growth, better and more 
efficient public services, and support new business formation and growth in 
the technology sector (Britain’s Superfast Broadband Future paragraph 3) 

References (utilities infrastructure) 

Source Date  Title 

AGMA 2013 Greater Manchester Minerals Plan 

BIS and DCMS 2010 Britain’s Superfast Broadband Future 

DCMS and BIS 2009 Digital Britain – Final Report 

DECC 2012 Gas Generation Strategy 

DTI 2003 Energy White paper: Our Energy future- 
creating a low carbon economy 

GMCA 2018 The Greater Manchester Digital Strategy 
2018-2020 

GMCA 2017 Our People Our Place – The Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

GMCA and GM Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 

2015 Greater Manchester Manufacturing Strategy 
2015 

Greater Manchester 
Economic Advisory 
Panel 

2011 Greater Manchester Growth Plan 
 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2017 Building a Britain Fit for the Future – UK 
Industrial Strategy 

HM Government 2016 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 - 
2021 

   

HM Government 2011 The Growth Plan 

HM Government 2011 Water for Life 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council  2007 Supplementary Planning Document: 
Telecommunications 

 
  

Page 602



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 177 

Heritage and archaeology 

General 

 A key objective (1 of 3) of European policy is the conservation of natural 
resources and cultural heritage (European Spatial Development Perspective 
– para 18). 

 Promote policies for the conservation and enhancement of Europe’s Heritage 
(Convention for the Protection of the Architectural Heritage of Europe 
(Granada Convention) 1987)( European Convention on the Protection of 
Archaeologicla Heritage (Valetta Convention) 1995)(General Conference of 
Unesco 1972) 

 Local planning authorities should maintain or have access to a historic 
environment record. This should contain up-to-date evidence about the 
historic environment in their area and be used to: a) assess the significance 
of heritage assets and the contribution they make to their environment; and b) 
predict the likelihood that currently unidentified heritage assets, particularly 
sites of historic and archaeological interest, will be discovered in the future 
(NPPF para 187) 

 Local planning authorities should make information about the historic 
environment, gathered as part of policy-making or development management, 
publicly accessible (NPPF para 188) 

 In line with the National Planning Policy Framework, local authorities should 
set out their Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment 
of the historic environment. Such as a strategy should recognise that 
conservation is not a passive exercise. In developing their strategy, local 
planning authorities should identify specific opportunities within their area for 

the conservation and enhancement of heritage assets (NPPG -  004 

Reference ID: 18a-004-20140306) 

 Local authorities have a pivotal role in protecting and managing the NW’s 
historic environment and ensuring it makes the fullest possible contribution to 
local quality of life (NW Best Practice Design Guide p.21) 

 Salford boasts a proud history and one that is often captured in the built form 
itself, particularly evident in the conservation areas and listed buildings. There 
are a number of neighbourhoods that retain much of the original high quality 
public realm, especially along the Chapel Street Corridor. These areas have 
particular qualities that deserve consideration, protection and enhancement 
(Salford’s spaces and places page 30) 

Protection of heritage assets 

 Plans should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of 
the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk through 
neglect, decay or other threats. The strategy takes into account: 
o The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

Page 603



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 178 

o The wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that 
conservation of the historic environment can bring; 

o The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness; and 

o Opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic 
environment to the character of a place (NPPF para 185) 

 Where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of or damage to a heritage 
asset the deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be taken into 
account in any decision (NPPF para 191) 

 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (NPPF para 193) 

 Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or 
total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh 
that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 
o The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 
o No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 

through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; 
o Conservation by grant-funding or some form of charitable or public 

ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 
o The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into 

use (NPPF para 195) 

 The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage 
asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing 
applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss and the significance of the heritage asset (NPPF para 197) 

 LPAs should assess whether the benefits of a proposal for enabling 
development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies but which 
would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the 
disbenefits of departing from those policies (NPPF para 202) 

 In allocating sites in local plans LPAs should: identify which heritage assets 
are affected by the potential site allocation; understand what contribution the 
site (in its current form) makes to the significance of the heritage asset; 
Identify what impact the allocation might have on that significance; and 
Consider maximising enhancements and avoiding harm (Historic England 
Advice Note 3) 

Heritage-led regeneration 

 The historic environment is an essential element of building sustainable 
communities (Heritage Protection for the 21st Century p.7). 

Page 604



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 179 

 The reuse of historic buildings can provide a focus for regeneration and 
economic development and can ensure the sustainable use of resources 
(Heritage for the 21st Century p.7). 

Listed buildings & conservation areas 

 When considering the designation of conservation areas, local planning 
authorities should ensure that an area justifies such status because of its 
special architectural or historic interest, and that the concept of conservation 
is not devalued through the designation of areas that lack this special interest 
(NPPF para 186) 

 Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss 
of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial 
harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh that harm or loss (NPPF para 195) 

 Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development 
within Conservation Areas and World Heritage sites and within the setting of 
heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their significance (NPPF para 
200) 

 Ensure development in conservation areas will only be allowed where it would 
preserve or enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area. 
(UDP, Policy CH3) 

 Proposals involving alterations, extensions, change of use or demolition 
whether partial or total, of a listed building will be permitted only where they 
would preserve or enhance the character and features of special architectural 
interest that contribute to the reasons for its listing. (City of Salford UDP, 
Policy CH 1) 

 Greenspace should be designed so as to protect and, where appropriate, 
enhance the setting and character and features of listed buildings, or locally 
listed, features or structures within or adjacent to the site (Greenspace Strategy 
SPD, Policy GS10). 

Heritage tourism and access to assets (also see tourism) 

 Create a range of complementary attractions, which make best use of the 
city’s heritage assets (Adopted UDP, para 13.2) (Salford West Framework 
p.44 and 75).   

Archaeology 

 Where a site on which development is proposed includes or has the potential 
to include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning 
authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation (NPPF para 189) 

 Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are 
demonstrably of equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be 

Page 605



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 180 

considered subject to the policies for designated heritage assets (NPPF 
footnote 63) 

References (heritage) 

 

Source Date  Title 

DCMS 2007 Heritage for the 21st Century – White Paper. 

European 
Commission 

1999 The European Spatial Development 
Perspective 

European 
Commission 

1995 The European Convention on the Protection of 
Archaeological Heritage (Valetta Convention) 

European 
Commission 

1987 The Convention for the Protection of the 
Architectural Heritage of Europe (Granada 
Convention)  

Historic England  2015 Historic England Advice Note 3 – the historic 
environment and site allocation in Local Plans 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

HM Government 2014 National Planning Practice Guidance (viewed 
December 2018) 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

Salford City Council 2009 Salford’s spaces and places public realm 
handbook 

UNESCO 1972 General Conference of UNESCO 

 
  

Page 606



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 181 

 

Noise 

Noise 

 Member states to develop strategic noise maps and Noise Strategies for all 
agglomerations with more than 250,000 inhabitants, for roads with more that 
6 million vehicle passages a year and railways with more than 60,000 train 
passages per year, and airports by 2007 (EU Noise Directive 2002/49/EC 
Article 7 para.1) - See also http://www.noisemapping.org (DEFRA) 

 The IPPC directive applies an integrated environmental approach to the 
regulation of certain industrial activities, requiring that a range of 
environmental effects must be considered together and the setting of permit 
conditions so as to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a 
whole. Issues covered in the directive include emissions to area, water and 
land, generation of waste, use of raw materials, energy efficiency, noise, 
prevention of accidents and risk management (Integrated Pollution 
Prevention and Control Directive 1996) 

 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 makes provisions in respect of waste 
disposal, water pollution, noise, atmospheric pollution and public health and 
matters connected to these issues (Control of Pollution Act 1974). 

 The national noise policy statement identifies the following vision - Promote 
good health and a good quality of life through the effective management of 
noise within the context of Government policy on sustainable development 
(Noise Policy Statement for England 2010 – Para 1.6) 

 Through the effective management and control of environmental, neighbour 
and neighbourhood noise within the context of Government policy on 
sustainable development:  
o avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life;  
o mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality of life; and  
o where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of life 

(Noise Policy Statement for England 2010 para 1.7).  

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 
environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account 
relevant information such as river basin management plans (NPPF para 
170e) 

 Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area 
to impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should: a) 

Page 607

http://www.noisemapping.org/


Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 182 

mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from 
noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant 
adverse impacts on health and the quality of life60; b) identify and protect 
tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are 
prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason; and c) limit the 
impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark 
landscapes and nature conservation (NPPF para 180) 

 Keep noise sensitive developments separate from major sources of noise. 
Sensitive uses include: 
o Housing, hospitals and schools (UDP Policy EN17); and 
o Areas undisturbed by noise and prized for recreational and amenity value 

such as SSSI’s, National Parks, The Broads, AONB or Heritage coasts 
(UDP Policy EN17) 

 Sustainable communities enable a lifestyle that minimises negative 
environmental impacts and enhances positive impacts (e.g. by reducing noise 
pollution)(Securing the Future pg.185). 

References (noise) 

 

Source Date  Title 

HM Government 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

European 
Commission 

1996 Integrated Pollution Prevention Control 
Directive – 1996/61/EC 

HM Government 2010 Noise Policy Statement for England 

HM Government 2005 Securing the Future delivering UK sustainable 
development strategy. 

HM Government 1974 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 

European 
Commission 

2003 Environmental Noise Directive 2002/49/EC. – 
transposed in the Environmental Noise 
(England) Regulations 2006. 

 
 
  

Page 608



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 2 Review of plans, policies and programmes 

 

  

Appendix 2 – page 183 

Advertisements 

General 

 Control over outdoor advertisements should be efficient, effective and simple 
in concept and operation. Advertisements should be subject to control only in 
the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative 
impacts (NPPF para 67) 

 Where an area justifies a degree of special protection on the grounds of 
amenity, an Area of Special Control Order may be approved (NPPF para 68) 

 Advertisements should be designed to fit within their context (City of Salford 
UDP, Para 15.8 and 15.12) 

 LPA’s to have regard to the effect of the advertisement on the safe use and 
operation of any form of public transport on land, on or over water, or in the 
air (City of Salford UDP, Para 15.15) 

 Imaginative temporary advertisements that screen vacant land or 
development and function as public art, will normally be supported. (City of 
Salford UDP, Para 15.14) 

References (advertisements) 

 

Source Date  Title 

HM Government 2012 National Planning Policy Framework 

Salford City Council 2009 City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 
2004-2016 – Policies saved beyond 21 June 
2009 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 609



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 1 

 

 

APPENDIX 3 
 
Details of Baseline Information 
 

Contents 

1. Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2 Social .................................................................................................................. 5 

2A Population .............................................................................................................. 5 
2B Health ..................................................................................................................... 9 
2C Crime ................................................................................................................... 11 
2E Housing ................................................................................................................ 14 
2G Education ............................................................................................................. 20 

3. Economic .......................................................................................................... 24 

3A Economic health ................................................................................................... 24 
3B Structure of the economy ..................................................................................... 27 
3C Prosperity ............................................................................................................. 31 

4. Environmental .................................................................................................. 33 

4A Recreation ............................................................................................................ 33 
4B Biodiversity ........................................................................................................... 34 
4C Soil and land ........................................................................................................ 35 
4D Water ................................................................................................................... 39 
4E Air Quality and climatic factors ............................................................................. 41 
4F Waste ................................................................................................................... 43 
4G Minerals ............................................................................................................... 44 
4H Landscapes .......................................................................................................... 44 
4I Heritage ............................................................................................................... 45 

 
 

 
  

Page 611



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 2 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This appendix provides details of the baseline information that has informed 
the sustainability appraisal, and includes a summary of the data collected, 
comparator data sets, commentary and an indication of how the issue may 
evolve without intervention. 

 
1.2 Data availability at the local level means that the various data sets can be 

presented by either old (pre 2003) or new (2003 onwards) ward boundaries. 
The two plans below show both the old and new ward boundaries for 
reference.  

Page 612



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 3 

 

 

P
age 613



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 4 

 

 

P
age 614



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 5 

 

 

2 Social 
 

2A Population 

 
2.1 There has been a very significant loss of population from the city over the last 

century, falling some 36% from the peak in 1921 to 2001. The population 
largely stabilised between 2001 and 2004, following which there has been 
continuing growth. Prospects look good for ongoing population increases with 
the Greater Manchester forecasting model suggesting that the population 
could reach 282,349 by 2036.  

 
2.2 Migration data shows that the principal driver of this later population growth 

has been down to migration into the city from outside of the UK, providing a 
net increase of 21,946 people over the period 2002 and 2016. Over this same 
period Salford saw a net loss of 1,896 people to other parts of the UK.  

 
2.3 Salford’s population is made up of a relatively high proportion of people aged 

20 – 29, 17.3% compared with only 13.6% of the North West population and 
13.7% of that of England. Lower proportions than the North West and England 
averages are seen at all ages over 45. 

 
2.4 Population projections suggest that, like the rest of the country, Salford is 

likely to see an increase in the proportion of ‘older people’ and a decrease in 
the proportion of ‘working age’ population. Whilst these changes are relatively 
small compared with those seen at higher geographic levels, the city will still 
need to plan for the increasing number of older people residing in the city.  
 

2.5 In terms of the household composition, census data from 2011 indicates that 
the city has relatively large proportions of one person (36.14% compared with 
32.2% for the North West and 30.3% for England) and single-parent 
households (13.5% compared with 12.0% for the North West and 10.6% for 
England). The 2012 DCLG household projections suggest that the proportion 
of one person households is likely to remain relatively static and projects that 
35.9% of all households in Salford and 31.1% of all households in England 
will be one person households in 2037.  

 
2.6 The proportion of minority ethnic population within Salford (15.6%) is higher 

than the North West (12.9%) average. The proportion is however significantly 
below that for England (20.1%). Particular concentrations of minority ethnic 
population are found in Eccles, Broughton, Irwell Riverside, Langworthy, 
Kersal, Ordsall and Weaste.  

 
2.7 The Local Plan should take account of the above trends, catering for an 

increasing population and addressing the needs of a changing population, in 
terms of age, structure, ethnic diversity and household size.  

 
Total population change  

Page 615



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 6 

 

ONS Mid 
Year 
Population 
Estimate 

Total 
persons 

Annual 
Change 

1921 341,267 - 

2001 216,978 - 

2002 216,310  -668 

2003 217,312  1,002 

2004 217,921  609 

2005 219,536  1,615 

2006 221,931        2,395 

2007 223,468  1,537 

2008 226,782  3,314 

2009 228,948  2,166 

2010 231,837  2,889 

2011 234,487  2,650 

2012 236,946 2,459 

2013 238,674 1,728 

2014 241,539 2,865 

2015 245,614 4,075 

2016 248,726 3,112 

2026 269,670 2,274 

2031 276,694 7,024 

2035 282,349 5,655 

Source: Total persons 2001 – 2016 ONS Mid year estimates and GMFM Base Forecast 2017 
 
Proportion of total population by age – 2011 

Age 
band 

Under 15 15 - 19 20 - 29 30 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75+ 

Salford 18.1% 6.5% 17.3% 20.9% 17.8% 12.8% 6.7% 

GM 18.6% 6.6% 15.1% 20.9% 18.7% 13.5% 6.7% 

NW 17.5% 6.5% 13.6% 19.8% 19.8% 15.1% 7.7% 

England 17.7% 6.3% 13.7% 20.6% 19.4% 14.6% 7.7% 

Source: Census 2011 
 
Population projections by age 2014 and 2037 

  Proportion of Population (%) 

  Age Band Salford GM NW England 

2014 
  
  

0-14 18.6% 18.9% 17.7% 17.8% 

15-64 66.9% 65.5% 64.4% 64.6% 

65 and over 14.6% 15.5% 18.0% 17.6% 

2039 
  

0-14 17.7% 17.8% 16.8% 16.8% 

15-64 64.3% 61.2% 58.5% 59.2% 

65 and over 18.0% 21.0% 24.7% 24.0% 

Source: 2014 based sub national population projections  
 
 
 

Year Population 
Change 

Internal UK 
Migration (Net) 

International 
Migration (Net) 

Natural Change Other 

Births Deaths 
 

2002-03 1,002 -406 1,536 2,587 -2,652 -63 

2003-04 609 -66 859 2,687 -2,659 -212 

Page 616



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 7 

 

2004-05 1,615 -228 1,470 2,842 -2,463 -6 

2005-06 2,395 268 1,716 2,954 -2,414 -129 

2006-07 1,537 -889 1,786 3,051 -2,394 -17 

2007-08 3,314 347 2,087 3,278 -2,381 -17 

2008-09 2,166 -214 1,527 3,287 -2,443 9 

2009-10 2,889 81 1,491 3,524 -2,232 25 

2010-11 2,650 -365 1,759 3,714 -2,207 -251 

2011-12 2,598 137 1,158 3,555 -2,175 -77 

2012-13 1,928 -608 1,093 3,589 -2,222 76 

2013-14 3,027 174 1,478 3,516 -2,165 24 

2014-15 3,574 337 2,000 3,483 -2,248 2 

2015-16 3,112 -464 1,986 3,670 -2,122 42 

Total 32,416 -1,896 21,946 45,737 -32,777 -594 

Source: ONS Mid Year Estimates 
‘Other’ comprises unattributable change, special change and other adjustments for the years 2003-11 
and is simply defined as ‘other’ in the ONS tables in the later years.  
 
Proportion of white British and  minority ethnic population in Salford 2001 and 2011  

 Proportion of population (%) 

 Salford NW England 

 White 
British 

Minority 
Ethnic 

White 
British 

Minority 
Ethnic 

White 
British 

Minority 
Ethnic 

2001 92.6 7.4 92.0 8.0 86.8 13.2 

2011 84.4 15.6 87.1 12.9 79.8 20.2 

Source: Census 2001 and 2011 
 
Proportion of white British and minority ethnic population by ward - 2011 

 Proportion of Population (%) 

 White British Minority Ethnic 

Barton  90.1  10.1 

Boothstown & Ellenbrook  93.1 7.0 

Broughton  80.0  20.1 

Cadishead  95.2  4.7 

Claremont  93.6  6.3 

Eccles  87.3  12.8 

Irlam  95.8  4.1 

Irwell Riverside  81.7  18.3 

Kersal  88.1  11.9 

Langworthy  85.4  14.6 

Little Hulton  93.7  6.2 

Ordsall  80.2  19.8 

Pendlebury  92.0  8.0 

Swinton North  93.8  6.3 

Swinton South  94.2  5.8 

Walkden North  94.6  5.4 

Walkden South  95.8  4.2 

Weaste  88.3  11.8 

Winton  93.8  6.2 

Worsley  95.4  4.6 

Source: Census 2011 KS201EW Ethnic group 
 
Household Composition 

Proportion of total 
households (%) 

Salford North West England 

Page 617



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 8 

 

Household type 2001 2011 2001 2011 2001 2011 

One person – aged 65+ 16.8 12.1 15.1 12.8 14.4 12.4 

One person – other 19.9 24.3 15.9 19.4 15.7 17.9 

Family – all 65+ 7.3 5.7 8.5 7.8 8.9 8.1 

Family – couple 14.2 15.4 16.4 16.5 17.8 17.6 

Family - couple with children 23.6 21.2 27.4 24.9 27.1 25.4 

Family - lone parents 12.5 13.5 11.1 12.0 9.5 10.6 

Other - with children 2.0 2.2 2.2 2.3 2.2 2.6 

Other - all students 0.3 0.6 0.3 0.5 0.4 0.6 

Other - all pensioners 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.3 

Other 3.0 4.7 2.7 3.4 3.7 4.5 

Source: Census 2001 and 2011 
 

  

Page 618



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 9 

 

2B Health 

 
2.8 Salford’s direct standardised mortality ratio (DSR) is significantly above those 

for Greater Manchester, the North West and England. A particular 
concentration of high DSRs is found in the wards of Barton, Broughton, Irwell 
Riverside and Langworthy. 
 

2.9 Life expectancy rates for both men and women in Salford are improving; 
however they remain below those for Greater Manchester, the North West 
and England. The gap between Salford and these other areas appears to be 
have remained fairly consistent in males, however there has been some 
improvement in the life expectancy rate for females, with the gap between the 
Salford and England average reducing in recent years.  

 
2.10 Trends from Sport England’s active people survey have shown the proportion 

of adults in Salford participating in regular exercise to be below those at 
higher geographic levels. The ‘active people survey’ has recently been 
replaced by the ‘active lives survey’ which has new indicators for measuring 
levels of activity in the adult population. Two full years of data have been 
published under this new survey and whilst for 2015/16 the data fitted with the 
previous trend, the update for 2016/17 showed a significant improvement in 
activity levels on Salford. Whilst potentially positive for the city these latest 
figures should be treated with a degree of caution until a longer trend 
develops through further annual updates.   

 
2.11 Salford clearly has significant health issues, resulting in relatively high 

mortality rates and low life expectancies, and there appears to be an over 
concentration of such issues within some of the city’s most deprived wards.  
Whilst there do appear to be some improvements in life expectancy, this is 
generally below improvements seen across the country.  
 

 DSR - 3 year pooled 

Period Salford 
Greater 

Manchester 
North 
West England 

2011 - 13 481 424 402 342 

2012 - 14 471 418 396 337 

2013 - 15 467 414 394 335 

2014 - 16 456 415 394 334 

2015 - 17 455 413 391 332 

Data source: www.phoutcomes.info   
 

Under 75 mortality rate from all causes - Persons 

Directly Standardised Rates (DSRs) per 100,000 population 

  DSR - 5 year pooled 

Ward 
Code Ward name 

2009-
13 

2010-
14 

2011-
15 

2012-
16 

E05000759 Barton 625.45 614.91 597.15 640.81 

E05000760 Boothstown and Ellenbrook 311.39 294.48 329.16 299.60 

E05000761 Broughton 771.07 765.66 715.15 738.75 

E05000762 Cadishead 388.00 375.38 432.24 440.45 

E05000763 Claremont 416.58 405.61 380.77 361.66 

Page 619



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 10 

 

E05000764 Eccles 493.64 486.52 453.23 425.87 

E05000765 Irlam 422.05 409.73 397.30 381.77 

E05000766 Irwell Riverside 621.68 599.57 627.76 632.99 

E05000767 Kersal 373.17 400.00 397.61 375.29 

E05000768 Langworthy 758.18 683.75 703.71 699.92 

E05000769 Little Hulton 653.32 623.04 603.31 562.03 

E05000770 Ordsall 676.63 709.10 665.53 592.22 

E05000771 Pendlebury 448.63 434.88 420.61 392.57 

E05000772 Swinton North 442.92 403.22 405.93 397.07 

E05000773 Swinton South 492.49 483.53 458.36 460.73 

E05000774 Walkden North 489.94 465.09 439.25 428.50 

E05000775 Walkden South 325.16 341.79 347.48 349.25 

E05000776 Weaste and Seedley 525.61 520.09 528.93 527.70 

E05000777 Winton 571.26 528.69 493.29 473.93 

E05000778 Worsley 289.16 265.20 259.68 266.83 

 Salford 497.68 481.81 473.47 463.80 

Data source: PCMD/ONS mid-year ward population 
estimates   

 

Life expectancy at Birth: Males 

 
2000-
02 

2001-
03 

2002-
04 

2003-
05 

2004-
06 

2005-
07 

2006-
08 

2007-
09 

2008-
10 

2010 
-12 

2011-
13 

2012-
14 

Salford 73.2 73.2 73.4 73.8 74.2 74.6 74.5 74.7 74.8 76.1 76.6 76.7 

GM 74.1 74.3 74.6 74.9 75.3 75.6 75.9 76.1 76.4 NA NA NA 

NW 74.6 74.8 75.1 75.4 75.8 76.0 76.3 76.6 77.0 77.7 78.0 78.1 

England 76.0 76.2 76.5 76.9 77.3 77.7 77.9 78.3 78.6 79.2 79.4 79.5 

Gap 
between 
Salford 
and 
England 
averages 

-2.8 -3.0 -3.1 -3.1 -3.1 -3.1 -3.4 -3.6 -3.78 -3.1 -2.8 -3.4 

Source: ONS 

 
Life expectancy at Birth: Females 

 
2000-
02 

2001-
03 

2002-
04 

2003-
05 

2004-
06 

2005-
07 

2006-
08 

2007-
09 

2008-
10 

2010-
12 

2011-
13 

2012-
14 

Salford 78.1 77.9 78.3 78.4 78.7 79.0 79.0 79.6 79.9 80.5 80.4 80.7 

GM 79.1 79.1 79.4 79.5 79.8 80.0 80.2 80.5 80.1 NA  NA NA 

NW 79.4 79.4 79.7 79.9 80.3 80.4 80.6 80.8 81.1 83.0 83.1 83.2 

England 80.7 80.7 80.9 81.1 81.6 81.8 82.0 82.3 82.57 81.7 81.8 81.9 

Gap 
between 
Salford 
and 
England 
averages 

-2.6 -2.8 -2.6 -2.7 -2.9 -2.8 -3.0 -2.7 -2.67 -1.2 -1.4 -1.2 

Source: ONS 

 
 

Proportion of adults (aged 16+)  participating at least 4 sessions of at least moderate intensity for at least 
30 minutes in the previous 28 days 

 

Page 620



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 11 

 

 

Oct 
2005-
Oct 
2006 

Oct 
2007-
Oct 
2008 

Oct 
2008-
Oct 
2009 

Oct 
2009-
Oct 
2010 

Oct 
2010 - 

Oct 
2011 

Oct 
2011 - 

Oct 
2012 

Oct 
2012 - 

Oct 
2013 

Oct 
2013 -

Oct 
2014 

Oct 
2014 
– Sep 
2015 

Oct 
2015 
– Sep 
2016 

 

Salford 33.0% 35.3% 34.4% 31.5% 36.2% 31.8% 31.4% 37.8% 27.7% 34.4%   

Greater 
Manchester 

33.3% 36.3% 36.2% 35.2% 35.6% 36.0% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 34.1% 
 

North West 33.7% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 35.2% 36.1% 36.5% 36.3% 35.5% 35.7%  

England 34.2% 35.8% 35.7% 35.3% 34.8% 36.0% 36.6% 36.1% 35.8% 36.1%  

Source: Sport England - Active People Survey   

 
 

Levels of activity in the adult population 

(proportion of population aged 16+) 

  November 2015 - November 2016 

  Active  Fairly Active Inactive  

  
(150+ minutes a week) (30-149 minutes a week) (<30 minutes a week) 

Salford 57.5% 11.4% 31.1% 

GM 59.4% 12.1% 28.5% 

NW 60.7% 12.1% 27.2% 

England 62.1% 12.4% 25.6% 

  November 2016 - November 2017 

  Active  Fairly Active Inactive  

  (150+ minutes a week) (30-149 minutes a week) (<30 minutes a week) 

Salford 63.3% 10.5% 26.3% 

GM 61.4% 10.9% 27.8% 

NW 61.4% 12.0% 26.6% 

England 61.8% 12.5% 25.7% 

Source: Sport England Active Lives Survey   
 

2C Crime 

 
2.12 Incidents of crime per 1000 head of population have been increasing in 

Salford and during the last year are comparable with those recorded across 
Greater Manchester. The highest levels of recorded crime are in the wards of 
Barton, Broughton, Irwell Riverside, Langworthy, Ordsall, Walkden North and 
Weaste.   

 
Rates per 1,000 population for all crime by ward in Salford 

Ward 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 

Barton 77.6 69.9 92.9 94.3 144.6 

Boothstown & Ellenbrook 19.3 22.8 31.5 41.6 49.4 

Broughton 81.2 89.5 90.9 101.9 145.3 

Cadishead 44.2 47.0 49.1 56.2 78.7 

Claremont  43.8 39.4 48.5 44.9 67.8 

Eccles 62.7 64.5 71.3 92.1 117.7 

Irlam 46.2 41.0 36.5 48.5 60.1 

Page 621



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 12 

 

Irwell Riverside 85.2 89.8 90.7 113.8 185.4 

Kersal 51.9 49.7 54.7 55.7 82.8 

Langworthy 119.1 122.5 129.3 142.5 211.4 

Little Hulton 62.1 56.4 66.6 78.2 109.3 

Ordsall 97.5 96.3 107.5 118.7 167.8 

Pendlebury 51.3 53.7 69.5 85.7 105.9 

Swinton North 47.9 53.5 70.0 86.9 98.5 

Swinton South 47.3 45.6 61.9 74.3 104.2 

Walkden North 69.2 69.9 76.2 100.9 157.8 

Walkden South 33.6 40.7 44.3 61.2 89.4 

Weaste & Seedley 63.0 75.0 84.7 92.2 133.7 

Winton 51.6 57.2 65.0 54.8 106.1 

Worsley 29.2 36.3 42.0 60.1 71.2 

Total 61.6 63.6 72.2 83.9 119.4 

   

Greater Manchester 67.1 73.1 81.0 95.2 119.6 

Source: GMP BI System 

 
2D Accessibility 
 
2.13 Compared with rates across Greater Manchester (66.9%) and the North West 

(68.7%) Salford has a relatively low proportion of people travelling to work by 
car or van (63.0%). However the proportion in Salford is slightly above that 
seen across England at 62%. Public transport usage (metro, train and bus) 
presents a similar picture, with the proportion of Salford’s working population 
using such modes (15.2%) slightly above rates for Greater Manchester 
(14.7%) and the North West (11.7%), but slightly below those across England 
at 16.9%. 

 
2.14 The lowest levels of car use are seen in Salford’s central wards of Broughton, 

Irwell Riverside, Langworthy and Ordsall. It is in these areas that the highest 
proportion of people commuting on foot and public transport is seen, far 
exceeding the city and national averages. Although there may be some 
correlation with low levels of car ownership in the city which could affect these 
areas in particular, partly due to low income levels, it could also be due to the 
city’s high quality transport connections and suggests that there could be 
significant potential to encourage further use of sustainable modes as the 
population within these central areas increases.  

 
2.15 Whilst the city has good public transport links along radial routes into the city 

and regional centre, there are not such good connections along orbital routes. 
These weaker connections make it difficult for some residents to access the 
large concentration of jobs to the south of the city in Salford Quays and 
Trafford Park.  

 
2.16 678 people were killed or seriously injured within Greater Manchester in 2016, 

with 65 of these being within Salford. There has been a significant reduction in 
the number of such incidents in Salford, falling 66.7% since 1994 above the 
rate of decrease in Greater Manchester of 55.7%. 

  

Page 622



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 13 

 

Method of travel to work  

  

Work 
mainly 
at or 
from 
home 

Public 
transport*  

Taxi 
Motorcycle, 
scooter or 

moped 

Car or 
van  

Bicycle 
On 
foot 

Other 
method 
of travel 
to work 

England 5.4% 16.9% 0.5% 0.8% 62.0% 3.0% 10.7% 0.6% 
North West 4.5% 11.7% 0.8% 0.6% 68.7% 2.2% 10.9% 0.6% 
Greater 
Manchester 3.9% 14.7% 0.9% 0.6% 66.9% 2.1% 10.5% 0.6% 
Salford 3.6% 15.2% 1.1% 0.6% 63.0% 2.4% 13.6% 0.6% 
 Barton 2.5% 15.5% 1.3% 0.9% 62.9% 3.2% 13.0% 0.7% 
Boothstown 
and 
Ellenbrook 6.1% 5.6% 0.5% 0.3% 82.9% 0.7% 3.3% 0.5% 
Broughton 3.4% 26.3% 1.5% 0.3% 43.3% 2.6% 21.6% 0.9% 
Cadishead 3.2% 10.4% 0.9% 1.1% 70.3% 3.2% 10.5% 0.5% 
Claremont 3.3% 13.0% 1.3% 0.4% 70.3% 2.3% 9.0% 0.4% 
Eccles 4.9% 13.5% 0.9% 0.7% 65.5% 2.3% 11.6% 0.5% 
Irlam 2.3% 10.5% 0.9% 0.7% 74.9% 2.6% 7.7% 0.5% 
Irwell 
Riverside 2.8% 25.5% 1.6% 0.3% 37.5% 3.4% 28.3% 0.6% 
Kersal 7.9% 13.7% 1.0% 0.4% 59.4% 2.2% 14.8% 0.7% 
Langworthy 2.5% 26.2% 1.9% 0.3% 46.7% 3.5% 18.3% 0.7% 
Little 
Hulton 2.6% 14.9% 1.7% 1.0% 67.1% 2.0% 10.1% 0.6% 
Ordsall 3.1% 22.2% 0.9% 0.3% 38.1% 3.1% 31.6% 0.7% 
Pendlebury 2.9% 13.2% 1.1% 0.6% 69.0% 1.7% 10.4% 1.0% 
Swinton 
North 2.6% 13.5% 1.1% 0.7% 68.9% 1.7% 11.0% 0.4% 
Swinton 
South 2.7% 12.6% 1.3% 0.5% 71.0% 1.9% 9.5% 0.5% 
Walkden 
North 2.9% 12.9% 1.2% 0.8% 69.6% 1.4% 10.7% 0.4% 
Walkden 
South 3.9% 10.0% 1.0% 0.6% 75.4% 1.3% 7.3% 0.4% 
Weaste and 
Seedley 2.8% 18.8% 1.1% 0.4% 57.7% 2.7% 15.8% 0.7% 
Winton 2.3% 14.6% 1.4% 1.0% 68.1% 3.4% 8.7% 0.4% 
Worsley 7.2% 5.7% 0.4% 0.5% 80.1% 1.5% 4.1% 0.5% 

* Underground, Metro, light rail, tram, train, bus, minibus, coach. 
Source: Census 2011 

 
  

1994 2016 % Change 

Salford 128 65 -66.7% 

Greater Manchester 1,529 678 -55.7% 

Page 623



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 14 

 

  
Source: Department for Transport (RAS30) 
 
Accessibility by Public Transport 

 
Source:Transport for Greater Manchester 

2E Housing 

 

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Number of people killed or seriously injured road 
casualties in Salford

Page 624



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 15 

 

2.17 Over the last three years net residential completions within the city are 
comparable with the very high levels seen between 2006/07 and 2008/09.   

 
2.18 Salford has a relatively high proportion of social rented dwellings, with 

particular concentrations in Broughton, Irwell Riverside, Langworthy Little 
Hulton. Housing flows data shows a decline in the proportion of social rented 
dwellings in the city, with an increase in the private rented sector stock. 

 
2.19 The city has a relatively low proportion of detached dwellings and a 

significantly higher proportion of flats. Whilst the proportion of terraced 
dwellings in the city is similar to those seen at higher levels, this dwelling type 
dominates the stock in Barton, Broughton, Irwell Riverside, Langworthy, Little 
Hulton, Swinton North and Walkden North. 

 
2.20 The pipeline of residential planning permissions is heavily weighted towards 

apartments. 
 

2.21 Vacancy rates in the city have been falling over the last 13 years and in 2017 
rates in Salford were comparable with those across Greater Manchester and 
England, having previously been significantly higher.  

 
2.22 It is generally believed that 3.0 – 4.0% is an acceptable level of vacancy in a 

well functioning housing market. Vacancy rates within the city are therefore 
within this ‘acceptable’ range. Vacancy rates in a number of wards are in 
excess of this range, with the highest levels seen in Ordsall (5.46%).  
 

2.23 Following a peak in 2011 (16,476 households), the numbers of households on 
Salford’s housing waiting list has fallen at a faster rate than reductions seen 
across Greater Manchester and England. Over the longer term however the 
rate of increase in Salford’s waiting list has far exceeded those for Greater 
Manchester and England.  
 

2.24 Whilst still significantly below the national average (7.91), Salford’s house 
price to income ratio (6.03) has now exceeded that recorded across the North 
West (5.81).  
 
 

Net additional dwellings 2003-18 

Monitoring 
period 

Gross new 
build houses 

Gross new 
build 
apartments 

Change of 
use and 
conversion – 
net change 

Demolitions Net change  

2003/04 398 673 63 374 760 

2004/05 513 1,072 4 825 764 

2005/06 242 862 32 755 381 

2006/07 410 1,754 53 1,019 1,198 

2007/08 671 2,095 13 311 2,468 

2008/09 247 1,703 25 465 1,510 

2009/10 99 600 46 268 477 

Page 625



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 16 

 

2010/11 393 290 33 261 455 

2011/12 342 171 19 384 148 

2012/13 468 278 11 208 549 

2013/14 550 289 43 39 843 

2014/15 739 569 57 390 975 

2015/16 737 347 251 237 1,098 

2016/17 849 1,588 202 157 2,482 

2017/18 738 759 82 100 1,479 

TOTAL 
7,396 13,050 934 

 
5,793 

 
15,587 

 

AVERAGE 493 870 62 386 1,039 

Source: Salford City Council, Residential Development and Land Supply monitoring 
 

 
Source: Salford City Council, Residential Development and Land Supply monitoring 
 
 

Housing stock by type – 2011 

Housing Stock by Type (%) 

  Detached 
Semi-
detached Terraced Flats 

Caravan or other 

mobile or temporary 
structure 

Salford 8.6% 34.3% 28.2% 28.8% 0.1% 

GM 13.4% 36.9% 30.3% 19.4% 0.1% 

NW 17.7% 35.7% 30.0% 16.4% 0.3% 

England 22.3% 30.7% 24.5% 22.1% 0.4% 

Source: Census 2011 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

D
w

el
lin

gs

Gross new build completions by dwelling type between 2003 and 2018

Houses Apartments

Page 626



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 17 

 

 

Households by tenure of accommodation – 2011 

Proportion of Households by tenure (%) 

  Private 
Ownership 

Shared 
Ownership 

Social 
Rented - 
Local 
Authority 

Social 
Rented - 
Other 

Private 
Rented 

Living 
Rent 
Free 

Salford 50.3 0.5 17.8 11 18.8 1.6 

GM 60.2 0.5 11.9 10 16.1 1.4 

NW 64.5 0.5 7.7 10.6 15.4 1.3 

England 63.4 0.8 9.4 8.3 16.8 1.3 

Source: Census 2011 
 

Dwellings with extant planning permission by property type as at 31 March, 2008-2018 

 As at 31 March: 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Houses 

Total 
dwellings 

2,087 1,948 1,924 2,582 
 
2,463 

3,726 3,649 2,990 3,240 3,008 2,248 

% of total 12.1% 15.1% 12.1% 21.8% 
 
24.5% 

29.0% 28.0% 21.8% 18.7% 14.8% 11.0% 

Apart-
ments 

Total 
dwellings 

15,163 10,918 13,925 9,239  7,595 9,117 9,386 10,762 14,043 17,340 18,271 

% of total  87.9% 84.9% 87.9% 78.2% 
 
75.5% 

71.0% 72.0% 78.2% 81.3% 85.2% 89.0% 

Total dwellings 17,250 15,849 12,866 11,821 10,058 12,843 13,035 13,752 17,283 20,348 20,519 

Source: Salford City Council, Residential Development and Land Supply monitoring 
 

% of total residential stock that is vacant  

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
 

2016 
 

2017 

Salford 6.2 6.2 6.2 6.0 5.9 6.1 5.8 4.2 3.3 3.0 3.0 3.1 2.4 

Greater 
Manchester 

4.4 4.6 4.7 4.8 5.0 4.8 4.4 4.0 3.5 3.2 2.9 2.7 2.5 

England 3.3 3.3 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.4 3.2 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.6 2.5 2.5 

Sources: 

 DCLG Live Table 125, dwelling stock estimate by local authority district as of 31 March  

 DCLG Live table 615, all vacant dwellings by local authority district as of October 
 

Residential Vacancy rates by ward 

Ward Name 
April 
2011 

April 
2012 

April 
2013 

April 
2014 

April 
2015 

April 
2016 

April 
2017 

April 
2018 

Barton 2.58% 5.03% 3.64% 3.82% 5.20% 5.27% 4.10% 2.78% 

Boothstown & Ellenbrook 1.06% 2.44% 1.86% 2.00% 2.58% 1.92% 2.56% 2.72% 

Broughton 4.16% 8.54% 4.84% 3.53% 4.11% 3.25% 3.12% 3.05% 

Cadishead 1.62% 3.29% 2.72% 2.65% 2.57% 2.24% 2.39% 2.35% 

Claremont 1.09% 3.06% 2.81% 3.14% 3.12% 2.81% 2.54% 3.12% 

Eccles 2.05% 4.52% 3.76% 3.61% 3.43% 3.02% 3.07% 3.52% 

Irlam 1.61% 2.59% 2.07% 1.98% 1.66% 1.81% 1.76% 1.73% 

Irwell Riverside 2.42% 4.62% 4.12% 2.97% 3.62% 3.51% 3.98% 4.57% 

Kersal 1.84% 5.36% 4.29% 4.57% 4.45% 3.47% 3.49% 4.03% 

Langworthy 3.10% 7.75% 7.81% 9.13% 11.06% 3.02% 3.20% 4.67% 

Little Hulton 1.80% 3.34% 2.29% 2.33% 2.67% 2.46% 1.70% 2.16% 

Page 627



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 18 

 

Residential Vacancy rates by ward 

Ward Name 
April 
2011 

April 
2012 

April 
2013 

April 
2014 

April 
2015 

April 
2016 

April 
2017 

April 
2018 

Ordsall 1.43% 8.07% 5.36% 4.85% 6.31% 5.53% 4.56% 5.46% 

Pendlebury 1.72% 3.21% 2.80% 2.80% 2.44% 1.98% 1.73% 2.37% 

Swinton North 1.94% 4.08% 3.52% 3.13% 2.55% 1.84% 3.00% 3.71% 

Swinton South 1.57% 3.16% 2.82% 2.48% 2.89% 2.82% 2.31% 2.94% 

Walkden North 1.77% 4.26% 3.28% 2.81% 3.19% 2.40% 2.67% 2.38% 

Walkden South 1.51% 3.50% 2.37% 2.48% 2.74% 2.77% 3.06% 2.88% 

Weaste & Seedley 1.95% 4.01% 3.12% 3.73% 3.11% 3.29% 3.07% 3.30% 

Winton 1.85% 3.32% 2.55% 2.56% 2.13% 2.16% 1.77% 2.38% 

Worsley 1.95% 3.60% 3.31% 3.73% 3.26% 2.99% 3.23% 3.15% 

Salford 2.01% 4.69% 3.67% 3.60% 3.95% 3.09% 2.97% 3.33% 

Central Salford 2.33% 6.30% 4.84% 4.75% 5.48% 3.75% 3.55% 4.22% 

Salford West 1.80% 3.63% 2.89% 2.84% 2.92% 2.64% 2.58% 2.70% 

Source: Salford City Council, council tax records as at April 2016 

 
  Number of households on housing waiting list % increase 

  2002 2007 2012 2017 
2002 - 
2017 

2007 - 
2017 

2012-
2017 

Salford 3,668 9,269 12,222 6,826 86.1% -26.4% -44.1% 

Greater Manchester 52,733 87,565 102,025 85,639 62.4% -2.2% -16.1% 

England 1,093,342 1,674,421 1,851,426 1,155,285 5.7% -31.0% -37.6% 

Source: DCLG Live Table 600       
 

 
Source: DCLG Live Table 600 

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

Number of households on Salford's Housing Waiting List

Page 628



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 19 

 

 
Source: ONS 

  

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

8.00

R
at

io
Average House Price to Household Income Ratio

Salford

North West

England

Page 629



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 20 

 

2G Education 

 
1. The grading of GCSEs has been revised from letters A to G to numbers 9-1, 

where grade 9 is the highest. There are now two key indicators: 9-4 English 
and Maths (standard pass) and 9-5 English and Maths (strong pass) which 
show the percentage of pupils achieving grades 4 or 5 in both of these 
subjects. 
 

2. A further ‘attainment 8’ measure was introduced in 2016. This measures the 
achievement of a pupil across 8 qualifications including: 
 

 Maths (double weighted) 

 English (double weighted) 

 3 further qualifications that count in the English Baccalaureate (English 
language and literature, maths, the sciences, geography, history and a 
language) 

 33 further qualifications that can be GCSE qualifications or any other 
non-GCSE qualifications on the DfE approved list 

 
3. Given the recent changes to the grading of GCSE’s the latest data is not 

comparable with longer term trends however the data shows that at a city level 
attainment in Salford is behind the standards recorded at both the North West 
and England levels. 
 

4. There are however significant spatial inequalities across the city in terms of 
levels of school educational attainment with a considerable variation between 
the attainment 8 scores of the highest performing wards (Boothstown and 
Ellenbrook - 50.5 and Worsley 50.4) and the lowest (Langworthy – 36.4, Little 
Hulton – 36.8 and Ordsall – 36.8). The Attainment 8 scores recorded for pupils 
living in the wards of Boothstown and Ellenbrook, Claremont, Eccles, Walkden 
South Winton and Worsley are either at or above those set at higher 
geographic levels.  

 
5. In terms of the reasons underlying this variation, the performance of individual 

schools is obviously a key factor, however it is also clear that the situation 
appears to broadly mirror wider socio-economic inequalities with the city’s 
more deprived areas typically having the lowest levels of educational 
attainment.   

 
6. There is therefore a need to address the inequalities in educational attainment 

across the city and ensure that targeted interventions seek to raise attainment 
levels in those areas of the city which are already most disadvantaged in terms 
of socio-economic opportunities. Educational attainment in English and maths 
is frequently used as a standard entry requirement for further and higher 
education and for professional training, and therefore improving attainment in 
relation to these subjects will improve opportunities for Salford’s young people 
to access higher value employment. 
 

7. Salford has consistently had a lower proportion of 16 and 17 year olds in full 
time education than both the North West and England averages and the most 

Page 630



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 21 

 

recent data shows the city falling further behind. It is notable however that the 
city has a higher proportion of young people engaged in apprenticeships, work 
based learning, and full time employment with study.  
 

8. The proportion of residents in Salford with no qualification has been falling and 
is now comparable with rates across the North West but remains above the 
national average which has been falling at a faster rate. The proportion of 
population with higher rates of qualification (NVQ4+) is below that seen across 
the North West and England. Whilst the gap between Salford and the North 
West is closing improvements at a national level mean that the city is falling 
further behind the national average. 

 
9. In the context of an increasingly skills based labour market it will be important 

that steps are taken to improve educational attainment in the city in order that 
residents are able to effectively for employment opportunities in the city and 
wider GM area.  

 

Key Stage 4 (GCSE) Attainment  
  2016 2017 

  NOR Att 8 NOR 
9-4 

(E&M) 
9-5 

(E&M) Att 8 

Performance of pupils 

Salford Schools 2083 46.8 2057 54.2% 31.9% 41.7 

North West Schools  74,057 49.4 72,289 62.7% 40.3% 45.6 

England Schools 600,425 48.5 587,640 59.1% 39.6% 44.6 

Performance of pupils at Salford Schools by place of pupil residence 

Barton 91 46.1 90 50.0% 27.8% 39.9 
Boothstown and 
Ellenbrook 73 55.8 67 76.1% 52.2% 50.5 

Broughton 101 43.8 101 43.6% 24.8% 37.1 

Cadishead 105 44.9 108 61.1% 32.4% 42.4 

Claremont 102 50.0 89 64.0% 38.2% 44.6 

Eccles 81 54.6 75 62.7% 41.3% 47.2 

Irlam 109 43.6 94 54.3% 34.0% 41.1 

Irwell Riverside 73 40.9 77 45.5% 29.9% 40.2 

Kersal 54 45.7 69 43.5% 24.6% 37.4 

Langworthy 82 44.0 92 42.4% 15.2% 36.4 

Little Hulton 161 43.6 163 35.0% 19.0% 36.8 

Ordsall 59 38.9 58 39.7% 15.5% 36.8 

Pendlebury 100 48.9 95 54.7% 36.8% 40.5 

Swinton North 116 47.4 117 63.2% 35.9% 42.1 

Swinton South 111 50.6 97 55.7% 40.2% 42.2 

Walkden North 126 42.5 113 41.6% 25.7% 39.8 

Walkden South 85 48.4 78 73.1% 42.3% 46.1 

Weaste and Seedley 121 47.9 110 49.1% 25.5% 40.2 

Winton 150 45.9 160 60.0% 39.4% 45.6 

Worsley 64 53.9 66 77.3% 50.0% 50.4 

Salford 1964 46.7 1919 53.7% 31.9% 41.6 

Page 631



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 22 

 

Outside Salford/Unknown 119 48.6 138 60.9% 31.9% 43.0 

Source: ONS and Salford City Council 
 
 
Percentage of 16 & 17 year olds in education or training 

Source: Department for Education 
 

 
 
Source: Department for Education 
 
Qualifications in the working age population 

16 - 64 year olds holding an equivalent qualification 

2017 Salford North West England 

% with NVQ4+ 30.9 34.5 38.3 

% with NVQ3+ 51.1 54.2 57.1 

% with NVQ2+ 68.4 74.0 74.6 

% with NVQ1+ 80.8 85.2 85.5 

% with other qualifications 8.8 5.8 6.9 

% with no qualifications 10.4 9.0 7.6 

2012 Salford North West England 

% with NVQ4+ 27.6 30.2 34.1 

84.0%

85.0%

86.0%

87.0%

88.0%

89.0%

90.0%

91.0%

92.0%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
1

6
/1

7
 y

e
ar

 o
ld

s

Proportion of 16 and 17 year olds in education and 
training

England North West Salford

  

Proportion of 16 and 17 year olds recorded as participating in: Current 
activity  

not 
known  
to the 

LA 

Full time 
education 

and 
training Apprenticeship 

Work 
based 

learning 
Part time 
education 

Employment 
combined 
with study Other Total 

England 82.5% 6.7% 1.0% 0.1% 0.8% 0.2% 91.4% 3.2% 

North 
West 80.6% 7.3% 1.4% 0.1% 1.0% 0.2% 90.6% 3.2% 

Salford 75.6% 8.4% 2.5% 0.0% 2.7% 0.0% 89.2% 1.3% 

Page 632



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 23 

 

% with NVQ3+ 48.0 49.8 53.1 

% with NVQ2+ 67.5 69.8 71.7 

% with NVQ1+ 80.9 83.1 84.1 

% with other qualifications 7.0 5.8 6.4 

% with no qualifications 12.1 11.2 9.5 

2007 Salford North West England 

% with NVQ4+ 22.5 28.3 25.4 

% with NVQ3+ 41.5 45.8 43.9 

% with NVQ2+ 59.5 63.8 63.7 

% with NVQ1+ 75.3 77.8 78.0 

% with other qualifications 8.6 9.1 6.8 

% with no qualifications 16.2 13.1 15.2 

% change in number of 
population 2007 - 2017 Salford North West England 

% with NVQ4+ 37.3% 21.9% 50.8% 
% with NVQ3+ 23.1% 18.3% 30.1% 
% with NVQ2+ 15.0% 16.0% 17.1% 
% with NVQ1+ 7.3% 9.5% 9.6% 
% with other qualifications 2.3% -36.3% 1.5% 
% with no qualifications -35.8% -31.3% -50.0% 

Source: NOMIS 
  

Page 633



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 24 

 

 

3. Economic 

3A Economic health  

 
3.1 Following a period of high levels of unemployment between 2009 and 2014, 

unemployment rates are now falling. Salford has seen relatively large 
reductions in the proportion of unemployed working age population but rates 
remains above those seen across Greater Manchester, the North West and 
England. 

 
3.2 There is no official measure of unemployment at the ward level, however 

indicative data is available based on Job Seekers Allowance. These rates are 
clearly lower than the official measure of unemployment, but suggest that 
there are particularly high levels of unemployment in Barton, Broughton, Irwell 
Riverside, Langworthy, Little Hulton, Walkden North, Weaste and Seedley 
and Winton.  

 
3.3 Under Universal Credit a broader span of claimants are required to look for 

work than under Jobseeker's Allowance. Experimental statistics are published 
by NOMIS which provide counts of the number of people claiming Jobseeker's 
Allowance plus those who claim Universal Credit and are required to seek 
work and be available for work. This measure replaces the number of people 
claiming Jobseeker's Allowance as the headline indicator of the number of 
people claiming benefits principally for the reason of being unemployed. 
Nomis provides an informative that as Universal Credit Full Service is rolled 
out in particular areas, the number of people recorded as being on the 
Claimant Count is likely to rise. The proportion of working age population in 
Salford claiming Universal Credit is similar to that seen across Greater 
Manchester and the North West, but is behind those recorded at the national 
level.  
 

3.4 ONS does not provide local level GVA statistics as part of their national 
statistics package. The lowest level applicable to Salford is Greater 
Manchester South West which comprises Salford and Trafford. The area has 
seen huge increases in GVA since 1999, reaching £29,338 per head in 2016, 
exceeding that identified for GM, the NW and England. At this level, it is 
difficult to draw  too many conclusions about what this means for Salford, 
however these GVA increases are likely to be indicative of the growth 
associated with the City Centre and Salford Quays and may disguise parts of 
Salford that have not seen such high levels of investment and economic 
restructuring. 
 

Page 634



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 25 

 

 
 

 

Salford Greater 
Manchester 

North 
West 

England 

Jul 2004-Jun 2005 4.3 4.7 4.8 4.8 

Jul 2005-Jun 2006 6.6 6.1 5.2 5.3 

Jul 2006-Jun 2007 6.3 5.7 5.7 5.4 

Jul 2007-Jun 2008 5.2 6.8 5.9 5.3 

Jul 2008-Jun 2009 9.4 8.5 7.6 7.0 

Jul 2009-Jun 2010 12.0 9.6 8.4 7.9 

Jul 2010-Jun 2011 10.9 9.0 8.2 7.9 

Jul 2011-Jun 2012 10.4 10.1 8.9 8.2 

Jul 2012-Jun 2013 11.9 9.3 8.2 8.0 

Jul 2013-Jun 2014 10.7 8.7 8.1 7.0 

Jul 2014-Jun 2015 8.3 6.9 6.0 5.7 

Jul 2015-Jun 2016 9.6 6.6 5.5 5.2 

Jul 2016-Jun 2017 6.1 5.6 4.8 4.7 

Source: ONS – Annual Population Survey 
 

Proportion of working age population (16-64) claiming job seekers allowance 
 

Wards 

April 2015 April 2016 April 2017 April 2018 

Barton 2.2 1.7 1,8 2.5 

Boothstown & Ellenbrook 0.4 0.3 0.6 0.6 

Broughton 4.7 4.3 4.4 5.0 

Cadishead 1.3 1.1 0.8 1.1 

Claremont 1.0 0.8 0.8 0.7 

Eccles 1.6 1.4 1.3 1.6 

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

11.0

12.0

13.0

%
 o

f 
1

6
-6

4
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

s

Unemployment rate - aged 16-64

Salford
Greater Manchester
North West
England

Page 635



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 26 

 

Irlam 1.2 1.0 0.9 1.1 

Irwell Riverside 2.3 2.2 2.1 2.2 

Kersal 1.6 1.4 1.5 1.7 

Langworthy 3.4 2.7 3.4 3.7 

Little Hulton 3.5 2.6 2.2 2.7 

Ordsall 1.5 1.1 1.1 1.2 

Pendlebury 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.4 

Swinton North 1.8 1.7 1.4 1.6 

Swinton South 1.4 1.2 1.1 1.3 

Walkden North 2.6 2.3 1.9 2.1 

Walkden South 1.1 1.0 0.8 1.1 

Weaste & Seedley 2.0 2.1 1.6 2.0 

Winton 1.9 2.1 1.8 2.4 

Worsley 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.3 

Salford 2.0 1.7 1.7 1.9 

North West  1.7 1.3 1.1 1.1 

England  1.8 1.4 1.2 1.1 

Source: Nomis 
 

Proportion of working age population (16-64) claiming universal 
credit 

Wards 

April 
2013 

April 
2014 

April 
2015 

April 
2016 

April 
2017 

April 
2018 

Barton 7.2 4.4 3.1 3.0 3.5 3.8 

Boothstown & 
Ellenbrook 

1.7 1.4 0.7 0.8 1.0 0.9 

Broughton 8.7 6.7 5.4 5.6 5.7 6.2 

Cadishead 4.1 2.5 1.8 2.2 1.8 2.0 

Claremont 2.7 1.9 1.2 1.5 1.4 1.2 

Eccles 4.8 3.0 2.4 2.1 2.2 2.4 

Irlam 4.3 2.4 1.9 2.1 2.0 1.9 

Irwell Riverside 5.9 4.4 2.8 3.5 3.5 3.3 

Kersal 4.5 3.0 1.9 2.1 2.3 2.4 

Langworthy 8.5 5.4 3.8 4.1 5.0 5.1 

Little Hulton 9.9 6.8 5.1 5.4 5.5 5.7 

Ordsall 4.0 2.4 1.9 1.8 1.9 1.9 

Pendlebury 4.0 2.5 2.0 2.3 2.7 2.5 

Swinton North 5.6 3.8 2.5 2.8 2.7 2.4 

Swinton South 3.8 2.6 2.1 2.1 2.1 2.3 

Walkden North 7.4 5.2 3.8 4.4 4.3 4.2 

Walkden South 3.4 2.1 1.8 2.1 1.9 1.9 

Weaste & 
Seedley 

5.3 3.6 2.6 3.3 2.7 2.9 

Winton 6.9 4.4 2.9 3.4 2.9 3.5 

Worsley 1.4 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.6 

Page 636



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 27 

 

Salford 5.4 3.6 2.6 2.9 2.9 3.0 

Greater 
Manchester 

4.8 3.5 2.6 2.7 2.7 3.0 

North West  4.3 3.2 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.8 

England  3.7 2.7 1.9 1.8 1.9 2.2 

Source: Nomis 
 

 
 

Area GVA (Income Approach) per head of 
population at current basic prices (£) 

 1997 2016 % change 

Manchester (city) 16,976 33,063 94.8% 

GM South West (Salford and Trafford) 15,467 29,338 89.7% 

GM South East (Stockport and Tameside) 11,683 18,936 62.1% 

GM North West (Bolton and Wigan) 9,778 16,311 66.8% 

GM North East (Bury, Oldham and Rochdale) 10,206 17,483 71.3% 

GM 12,439 22,587 81.6% 

North West 12,417 22,899 84.4% 

England 14,842 27,060 82.3% 

Source: ONS 
 

3B Structure of the economy 

 
3.5 Data on employment is provided through the business register and 

employment survey (BRES). In 2015, the Office for National Statistics started 
to include businesses registered for PAYE only which had previously been 
excluded. The most recent data is therefore not comparable with longer term 
trends. Employment figures can be quite variable and therefore definitive 
conclusions should not be drawn from short term trends. 

GM

Manchester

GM South West

GM South East

GM North West

GM North East

England

North West

 8,000

 13,000

 18,000

 23,000

 28,000

 33,000

£
 p

e
r 

h
e

ad

GVA (income approach) per head of population at current basic prices

Page 637



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 28 

 

 
3.6 Nevertheless, there is a consistent pattern of growth in total employment at all 

levels, with Salford and Greater Manchester showing larger increases than 
the North West, but are both exceeded by the rate seen across England. The 
Greater Manchester Forecasting Model suggests that Salford will see 
relatively high increases in jobs when compared with Greater Manchester, 
North West and United Kingdom. 

 
3.7 Salford’s economy is heavily dependent on service sectors including 

distribution, hotels and restaurants (making up 21% of jobs), banking, finance 
and insurance (23.6% of jobs) and public administration, education and health 
(28.1% of jobs). 

 
3.8 The proportion of jobs in manufacturing has continued to fall to just 6.6% of 

jobs in 2016. 8.0% of the working population are still employed in 
manufacturing which is below the national average.  
 

3.9 Forecasts suggest that business services will continue to grow in importance 
while manufacturing will see a continuing decline. It will be important to 
ensure local residents have the transferable skills that will enable them to 
access the widest range of employment opportunities.  

 
Total Employment 

Total 
Employment 
(000’s) 

2009 2014 Change 
2009 – 
2014 (%)  

2015 2016 Change 
2015 – 
2016 (%) 

Salford 118 121 2.5% 121 121 0.0% 

Greater 
Manchester 

1,194 1,223 2.4% 1,252 1,293 3.3% 

North West 3,118 3,184 2.1% 3,263 3,338 2.3% 

England 24,068 25,137 4.5% 25,934 26,385 1.7% 

Data rounded to nearest 100  

Employment is defined as all employees plus working proprietors. 
Figures for 2015 and 2016 include units registered for PAYE only 
which were previously excluded 
Source: BRES 

 

 

Total 
Employment 
(Forecast)(000’s) 

2016 2036 % Change 
2016 – 2036 

Salford 132 157 18.9% 

Greater 
Manchester 

1,397 1,522 8.9% 

North West 3.609 3,808 5.5% 

UK 34,422 37,029 7.6% 

Source: GMFM 2017 
 
Employment and working residents by industry1 
 

                                                      
1 The two datasets used in this table are collected as part of separate surveys, one of households 
(Annual Population Survey) and one of businesses (Business Register and Employment Survey), their 
results are not therefore directly comparable.  
 

Page 638



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 29 

 

Total Employment (Jobs) by industry 2016 

  Salford GM NW England 

Industry No. % % % % 

A:agriculture and fishing 175 0.1 0.1 1.1 1.3 

B,D,E:energy and water 2,250 1.9 1.3 1.3 1.1 

C:manufacturing 8,000 6.6 8.3 9.7 7.9 

F:construction 6,000 5 3.9 4.1 4.6 

G,I:distribution, hotels and restaurants 25,500 21 22.5 23.2 22.6 

H,J:transport and communications 12,000 9.9 8.9 8.2 9.2 

K-N:banking, finance and insurance 28,500 23.6 25.3 21.5 23.5 

O-Q:public admin. education and health 34,000 28.1 25.8 27.1 25.1 

R-U:other services 3,000 2.5 3.6 3.8 4.6 

Residents in Employment by Industry 
2016           

  Salford GM NW England 

Industry No. % % % % 

A:agriculture and fishing ! ! 0.3 0.7 0.9 

B,D,E:energy and water 1,400 1.2 1.3 1.9 1.5 

C:manufacturing 9,200 8 9.3 10.9 9.3 

F:construction 8,300 7.3 6.8 6.6 7 

G,I:distribution, hotels and restaurants 28,900 25.3 19.8 19.8 18.4 

H,J:transport and communications 11,800 10.3 9.7 8.1 9.5 

K-N:banking, finance and insurance 18,600 16.3 16.7 15.1 17.6 

O-Q:public admin. education and health 30,100 26.4 30.4 31.1 29.5 

R-U:other services 5,200 4.6 5.3 5.3 5.9 

Note: ‘!’ = Restricted data 
Note: All figures have been rounded to the nearest 100 
Note: Total employment (Jobs) includes anyone aged 16+ that an organisation pays from its 
payroll(s), in return for carrying out a full-time or part-time job or being on a training scheme. It also 
includes working proprietors, defined as sole traders, sole proprietors, partners and directors.  
Note: Working residents (%) is those aged 16 to 64 
Source: Business Register and Employment Survey/ Annual Population Survey/ SIC2007  

 
 
 
 
 
 
% of total employment in Salford by sector (GMFM forecast) 

Sector 

Total Employment 
(000’s) % change 

2016 - 2036 
2016 2036 

Agriculture, forestry & fishing 0.3 0.3 -22.7% 

Mining & quarrying 0.1 0.0 -53.1% 

Manufacturing 6.9 4.8 -30.1% 

Electricity, gas, steam & air conditioning supply 0.6 0.5 -28.3% 

Water supply; sewerage, waste management  1.3 1.1 -11.4% 

Construction 8.8 12.4 40.9% 

Wholesale & retail trade 20.0 24.3 21.3% 

Transportation & storage 3.6 3.8 5.9% 

Accommodation & food service activities 8.0 10.0 24.5% 

Information & communication 10.0 12.2 22.2% 

Financial & insurance activities 5.0 5.1 0.3% 

Real estate activities 2.3 2.8 22.5% 

Page 639



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 30 

 

 Professional, scientific & technical activities 11.2 16.5 47.6% 

Administrative & support service activities 15.3 21.1 37.9% 

Public administration & defence 7.1 6.9 -4.1% 

Education 10.9 11.5 5.3% 

Human health & social work activities 15.3 17.7 15.5% 

Arts, entertainment & recreation 2.2 2.6 22.0% 

Other service activities 3.0 3.3 9.4% 

Total 132.1 156.9 18.8% 

Source: GMFM 2017 

  

Page 640



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 3 Details of Baseline Information  
 

Appendix 3 - Page 31 

 

3C Prosperity 

 
3.10 The rate of increase of active enterprises in Salford has exceeded that for the 

NW and England. 
 
3.11 The mean annual earnings of Salford residents are lower than those achieved 

at higher geographic levels. Whilst the rate of increase within the city since 
2006 is higher, the trend over this period is not consistent at the city level. 
Work places in Salford pay on average more than identified for GM, the North 
West and England and the rate of increase is significantly greater in Salford. 
Wages paid by jobs located within the city are significantly greater than those 
earned by the city’s residents. 
 

3.12 The city wide figures are likely to mask significant localised differences in 
resident and workplace pay scales. The growing concentration of media 
related uses at Salford Quays, adding to the office and residential premises 
already established there, is likely to have had, and will continue to have, a 
significant impact on the growth rates in average rates of pay. 

 
Number of active enterprises  

  All active enterprises 

  Salford NW England 

2009 7,255 236,095 2,040,150 

2010 7,330 233,735 2,046,310 

2011 7,370 231,345 2,040,980 

2012 7,640 232,400 2,070,400 

2013 7,995 240,075 2,140,985 

2014 8,440 249,465 2,235,345 

2015 8,930 259,740 2,348,065 

2016 9,570 276,520 2,499,060 

% change 
2009 - 2014 

30.6% 18.3% 22.1% 

Source: ONS 
 
Mean annual pay (£) 

  Salford Greater Manchester 

  Place of 
residence 

Place 
of 

Work 

% diff Place of 
residence 

Place 
of 

Work 

% diff 

2006 20,597 24,027 16.7% 21,822 23,045 5.6% 

2007 21,042 22,679 7.8% 22,746 24,072 5.8% 

2008 21,843 21,949 0.5% 23,221 24,209 4.3% 

2009 25,085 25,876 3.2% 23,952 24,729 3.2% 

2010 23,102 25,966 12.4% 24,044 24,771 3.0% 

2011 22,080 25,145 13.9% 23,248 23,953 3.0% 

2012 23,460 26,202 11.7% 23,750 24,484 3.1% 

2013 23,416 27,625 18.0% 24,258 25,146 3.7% 

2014 24,360 27,826 14.2% 24,310 25,181 3.6% 

2015 22,897 28,834 25.9% 24,786 25,652 3.5% 

2016 24,278 28,562 17.6% 25,278 26,490 4.8% 

Page 641



 

Appendix 3 - Page 32 

 

2017 
(provisional) 

24,719 30,070 21.6% 25,604 26,998 5.4% 

% change 
2006 - 2017 

20.0% 25.2% NA 17.3% 17.2% NA 

  North West England 

  Place of 
residence 

Place 
of 

Work 

% diff Place of 
residence 

Place 
of 

Work 

% diff 

2006 22,022 22,145 0.6% 24822 24,773 -0.2% 

2007 22,839 23,021 0.8% 25,663 25,621 -0.2% 

2008 23,522 23,527 0.0% 26,864 26,829 -0.1% 

2009 23,908 23,848 -0.3% 27,128 27,095 -0.1% 

2010 24,074 23,900 -0.7% 27,246 27,204 -0.2% 

2011 23,632 23,542 -0.4% 27,306 27,303 0.0% 

2012 23,922 23,889 -0.1% 27,404 27,382 -0.1% 

2013 24,529 24,389 -0.6% 27,702 27,692 0.0% 

2014 24,625 24,588 -0.2% 27,919 27,904 -0.1% 

2015 25,087 25,098 0.0% 28,028 28,031 0.0% 

2016 25,744 25,757 0.1% 28,799 28,802 0.0% 

2017 
(provisional) 

26,136 26,256 0.5% 29,578 29,576 0.0% 

% change 
2006 - 2017 

18.7% 18.6% NA 19.2% 19.4% NA 

Source: Annual survey of hours and earnings - The annual survey of hours and earnings (ASHE) is 
based on a 1 per cent sample of employee jobs. This is drawn from HM Revenue and Customs pay 
as you earn (PAYE) records.  

Page 642



 

Appendix 3 - Page 33 

 

4. Environmental 

4A Recreation 
 
4.1 An audit of formal open space is undertaken at least bi-annually and 

compared to Salford’s local greenspace standards which are set out within 
Salford greenspace strategy supplementary planning document (SPD), 2006, 
not replaced by an updated version, 2018. Between 2005/06 and 2017/18 
there has been some fluctuation in the citywide performance but there has 
been an overall increase in the proportion of households within walking 
distance of the majority of the local recreation standards. The citywide 
performance for access to district parks now exceeds the original target set by 
the SPD and there has also been an increase for local equipped areas of play 
(LEAP), neighbourhood equipped areas of play (LEAP, local natural 
greenspace and neighbourhood parks.  

 
4.2 There has however been a slight reduction in the proportion of households 

within walking distance of a strategic natural greenspace although this trend 
has begun to improve. 
 

4.3 The local standard for sports pitches is no longer monitored based on the 
targets set by the Greenspace SPD. Salford Playing Pitch Assessment 2018 
was completed based on revised guidance from Sport England. Salford 
Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan 2018 identify prioritised site by site 
recommendations to improve the quality and capacity of sports pitches rather 
than assessing the total area. 

  

 

Source: Salford City Council 
                                                      
2 Based on 2010-2011 performance compared to the number of households at 1 April 2011. 
3 Based on 2015-2016 performance compared to the number of households at 1 April 2016. 
4 Based on 2017-2018 performance compared to the number of households at 1 April 2018. 
5 The walking distance to a LEAP increased to 500 metres in 2017/18 

Local standard Citywide performance 

 2005-2006 
2010-
20112 

2015-20163 
2017-
20184 

% of households within 500m walking 
distance of a local natural greenspace 

47.3% 45.7% 52.7% 53.0% 

% of households within 2000m walking 
distance of a strategic natural 
greenspace 

50.8% 49.6% 45.2% 48.0% 

% of households within 400m walking 
distance of a LEAP 

33.1% 36.8% 35.4% 44.8%5 

% of households within 1000m walking 
distance of a NEAP 

63.3% 57.4% 61.8% 89.9% 

% of households within 1200m walking 
distance of a neighbourhood park 

69.0% 80.6% 76.2% 76.2% 

% of households within 3200m walking 
distance of a district park 

21.0% 90.8% 96.0% 96.1% 

Page 643



 

Appendix 3 - Page 34 

 

 

4B Biodiversity 

 

4.4 The area of sites of biological importance (SBIs) in the city has increased 
between 2005/06 and 2016/17, rising from 486ha to 516ha. 

 
4.5 The 2008 habitat survey identified that the city contained a total of 299.1 

hectares of UK priority habitats, which suggests a net gain of approximately 
20ha since 20066. However differences in the survey methodologies mean 
that they are not directly comparable.  

 
4.6 UK priority habitats within Salford  - 2008 
 

 Wet woodland – 5.2ha 

 Eutrophic standing waters – 18.9ha 

 Lowland dry acid grassland/ lowland heath – 20.3ha 

 Lowland raised bog – 14.2ha 

 Lowland raised bog (readily restorable) – 240.5ha 

 Total – 299.1 (of which 63.2ha are within SBIs) 
 

4.7 Local nature reserves are declared by local authorities under the National 
Parks and Access to Countryside Act 1949. They are habitats of local 
significance, which give the public an opportunity to see, learn about and 
enjoy wildlife. In 2014, Natural England approved a new site at Three Sisters 
increasing the number of local nature reserves in Salford to six7: 

 

 Blackleach country park (WLH/001) – 27.9ha 

 Kersal Dale (ESA/001) – 29.2ha 

 Worsley Woods (WBO/001) – 28.0ha 

 Clifton Country Park (SWI/001) – 48.0ha 

 Kersal Moor (ESA/002) – 7.9ha 

 Three Sisters (ECC/001) – 4.4ha 
 
4.8 The Revised Draft Local Plan proposes three new Local Nature Reserves: 

 

 Castle Irwell Wetland Area – 14.1ha 

 Clifton Moss – 16.2 ha 

 Little Woolden Moss – 99.9ha 
                                                      
6 ECUS (2006) Partial Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
7 The land areas of five of the local nature reserves have been revised compared to those identified in 
previous versions of the sustainability appraisal. The site boundaries that are designated as a local 
nature reserve remain the same but these are smaller in area than the other land use allocations for 
these sites. 

Page 644



 

Appendix 3 - Page 35 

 

 

4C Soil and land 

 

4.9 Between 2003 and 2018 there were 21,901 gross dwelling completions. Of 
this total 91.5% were on previously developed land and 8.5% on greenfield 
land.  
 

4.10 The city has a significant area of grade 1 agricultural land, and still supports 
farm enterprises.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 645



 

Appendix 3 - Page 36 

 

Development on previously developed land (PDL) 

Monitoring 
period 

Gross  completions 
(new build and changes 
of use / conversions) 

% of new dwellings 

On PDL Not on PDL On PDL Not on PDL 

2003/04 1,152 13 98.9% 1.1% 

2004/05 1,530 92 94.3% 5.7% 

2005/06 1,020 142 87.8% 12.2% 

2006/07 2,037 200 91.1% 8.9% 

2007/08 2,548 252 91% 9% 

2008/09 1,840 172 91.5% 8.5% 

2009/10 849 23 97.4% 2.6% 

2010/11 727 113 86.5% 13.5% 

2011/12 534 14   97.4%    2.6% 

2012/13 674 89 88.3% 11.7% 

2013/14 862 33 96.3% 3.7% 

2014/15 1309 76 94.5% 5.5% 

2015/16 1,190 164 87.9% 12.1% 

2016/17 2,406 244 90.8% 9.2% 

2017/18 1,369 227 86% 14% 

TOTAL 20,047 1,854 91.5% 8.5% 

Source: Salford City Council, residential development and land supply monitoring 
 
 

Page 646



 

Appendix 3 - Page 37 

 

P
age 647



 

Appendix 3 - Page 38 

 

Agricultural land classifications – Greater Manchester, Warrington, North West England and England*  
 

 
District 

Agricultural land classifications 

Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Total (grade 1-5) 

ha % of 
GM 

ha % of 
GM 

ha % of GM ha % of 
GM 

ha % of 
GM 

ha % of 
GM 

Bolton 0  0  3,086.06 11.9 3817.0 15.0 971.40 7.5 7874.46 11.4 

Bury 0  0  1,513.62 5.8 4611.34 18.1 486.29 3.8 6611.25 9.5 

Manchester 0  0  798.19 3.1 93.83 0.37 0  892.02 1.3 

Oldham 0  0  6.38 0.02 5618.46 22.1 4481.33 34.7 10,106.17 14.6 

Rochdale 0  0  1,788.19 6.9 5021.93 19.7 4717.54 36.6 11,527.66 16.6 

Salford 1,579.87 83.4 220.16 7.2 1,556.05 6.0 203.25 0.80 385.88 3.0 3945.21 5.7 

Stockport 0  0  3,252.70 12.5 2511.16 9.9 132.97 1.0 5896.83 8.5 

Tameside 0  114.33 3.7 790.50 3.0 2926.81 11.5 1528.23 11.8 5359.87 7.7 

Trafford 0  2,342.29 76.7 1,703.99 6.6 204.89 0.80 0  4251.17 6.1 

Wigan 314.66 16.6 379.03 12.4 11,476.92 44.2 421.0 1.65 192.43 1.5 12,784.04 18.5 

 
GM total 

 
1,894.53 

  
3,055.81 

  
25,972.70 

  
25,429.64 

  
12,896.07 

  
69,248.75 

 

             

Warrington 420.86  4893.29  8014.45  18.22  234.13  13,581  

 

 Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Total (grade 1-5) 

ha %  ha %  ha %  ha %  ha %  ha % of 
England 

NW England  29,108.9 5.0 63,222.1 10.9 283,971.3 48.8 123,656.8 21.2 81,965.6 14.1 581,924.6 5.1 
 

England* 354,644.1 3.1 1,849,257.7 16.2 6,291,711.2 55.0 1,840,315 16.1 1,100,783.8 9.6 11,436,711  

Sources: www.magic.defra.gov.uk and Ordnance Survey 
* excludes the Isle of Man and the Channel Isles 
 

P
age 648

http://www.magic.defra.gov.uk/


 

Appendix 3 - Page 39 

 

4D Water 

 
4.11 The European Water Framework Directive has changed the way in which the 

Environment Agency reports water quality. From 2009 onwards, watercourses 
have been classed as “high”, “good”, “moderate”, “poor” or “bad”. The criteria 
for qualifying as “good” under the new system are more stringent than under 
the previous system. A classification is produced based on a ‘one out, all out’ 
principle. This uses the poorest individual element result to set the overall 
classification. 
 

4.12 The monitored watercourses in Salford are primarily assessed as moderate, 
with the exception of the River Glaze and some of its tributaries, which are 
assessed as poor.8 
 

4.13 The map below shows the key fluvial flood risk issues in Salford, together with 
existing and planned flood defences. Approximately 175009 residential 
properties across Salford are subject to a medium or high risk of fluvial 
flooding. Flood defences including the new flood basin at Castle Irwell have 
raised the level of protection for the River Irwell to 1:100 year standard. 
However, a more extreme flood could still cause significant damage. For 
example, a 1:1,000 year event could result in floodwaters over 3 metres deep 
in some areas10. Such an extreme event is very unlikely, having only a 1 in 
1000 chance of occurring in any one year. 
 

4.14 Ongoing regeneration proposals are seeking to secure the regeneration of 
neighbourhoods in central Salford affected by flooding, which would increase 
the number of properties in those areas but decrease the number that would 
be significantly affected by a flood event, with careful design and siting of new 
development.  

  

                                                      
8 Source: mappinggm.org.uk (accessed January 2019) 
9 Source: Council tax records December 2018 and Environment Agency flood map November 2018 
10 Source: Strategic flood risk assessment March 2011 and more recent unpublished modelling 

Page 649



 

Appendix 3 - Page 40 

 

 

Source: adapted from Salford Local Flood Risk Management Strategy May 2015 to show 
updated flood defences and Flood Zones 

4.15 Surface water flooding has risen in prominence as an issue following the 2007 
floods, which in some parts of the country were largely caused by surface 
water flooding. Surface water flooding tends to be caused by extremely heavy 
rainfall over a short period of time which exceeds the capacity of the drainage 
system to remove the water. The latest surface water modelling does show 
some areas of Salford as at risk of surface water flooding. This issue is not as 
serious a concern in Salford as fluvial flooding, but it does need to be 
considered. The risk is in small pockets across the city, as shown on the map 
below. 

Page 650



 

Appendix 3 - Page 41 

 

 

Source: Salford Local Flood Risk Management Strategy May 2015; flooding data 
taken from Environment Agency updated Flood Map for Surface Water 

4.16 The table below shows the area and number of properties at risk of surface 
water flooding.  
 

Risk of surface water flooding (0.3m or greater)11 Properties 

1 in 30 year 11 

1 in 100 year 63 

1 in 1000 year 627 

  

4E Air Quality and climatic factors 

 
4.17 The AQMA is based on the monitoring of the seven air pollutants given in the 

Air Quality Regulations 2000: benzene; 1,3-butadiene; carbon monoxide; 
lead; nitrogen dioxide; particles (PM10); sulphur dioxide. 
 

                                                      
11 Source: Data from the updated Flood Map for Surface Water, Council Tax and LLPG as used in the 
Salford Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. Figures represent the total number of properties that 
the model suggests would be flooded to a depth of greater than 0.3m  

Page 651



 

Appendix 3 - Page 42 

 

 
4.18 The air quality management area in Salford is focused around the city’s main 

highways. The 2016 revision has considerably reduced the air quality 
management area which has had a significant impact on the extent to which it 
covers sites adjacent to relevant highways.  

 
 

 
  

Page 652



 

Appendix 3 - Page 43 

 

Per capita CO2 emission estimates (t CO2) 
 

   Tonnes of CO2 per capita 

 Year 

Industry and commercial 

Domestic Road transport Total 

      

Salford 2005    2.7 8.2 
2010  2.2 2.2 2.5 7.1 
2015  1.3 1.5 2.2 5.2 
% Change 
2005-15 

 
-53.9% -38.1% -21.2% -37.3% 

North 
West 

2005  3.9 2.6 2.2 8.6 
2010  3.3 2.3 2.0 7.5 
2015  2.2 1.7 1.9 5.7 
% Change 
2005-15  

 
-44.5% -34.1% -13.8% -34.3% 

England 2005  3.8 2.5 2.3 8.5 
2010  3.0 2.3 2.0 7.2 
2015  2.2 1.6 1.9 5.6 
% Change 
2005-15  

 
-41.7% -35.8% -15.7% -33.8% 

Source: Department for Energy and Climate Change (June 2017) 

4F Waste 

 
4.19 Household waste arisings within Salford are managed by Greater Manchester 

Waste Disposal Authority, who manages household waste arisings across 
nine of the ten Greater Manchester districts12. 

 
4.20 Household waste generation per head of population is significantly below that 

seen across the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority area, however 
the proportion of waste being sent for reuse, recycling or composting is below 
rates seen at that level.  
 

4.21 There could be a number of underlying factors why the city is not achieving 
rates seen across the wider conurbation, including the socio-economic status 
of the district (where areas of deprivation typically have lower levels of 
participation in recycling and materials sorting), the nature of the housing 
stock (where households in terraced houses and apartments generally have 
lower levels of participation in recycling due to facilities for storage and 
separation of materials being more limited), and the population turnover 
(where areas with higher levels of population turnover typically have lower 
levels of participation in recycling). 

 
4.22 Notwithstanding these underlying factors, it is clear that there is scope for 

further improvement in relation to Salford’s recycling and composting 

                                                      
12 The Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority is comprised of the districts of Bolton, Bury, 
Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, Tameside and Trafford. Wigan is the only Greater 
Manchester district that does not form part of the WCA, and has its own independent waste 
management authority – Wigan Waste Disposal Authority. 

Page 653



 

Appendix 3 - Page 44 

 

performance. There is a role for the planning system to support this, through 
ensuring that there is suitable provision for materials sorting and recycling 
within all new housing development, particularly in terms of apartments and 
higher density schemes.      

 

Household waste 2014 - 2016  
 Year Total 

household 
waste 

collected 
(tonnes) 

Total waste 
sent for 
reuse, 

recycling or 
composting 

(tonnes) 

% 
householder 
waste sent 
for reuse, 

recycling or 
composting 

Population Total 
household
waste per 
head of 

population 
(kg) 

Salford 2014/15 85,105 35,536 41.8% 242,040 35.2 

2015/16 78,394 33,072 42.2% 245,614 31.9 

Greater 
Manchester 

2014/15 982,291 442,989 45.1% 2,411,879 40.7 

2015/16 1,007,903 446,261 44.3% 2,434,140 41.4 

 Source: Wastedataflow.org 
 

4G Minerals 

 
4.23 Restoration of lowland raised bog and associated habitats is now progressing 

at the three main former peat extraction sites in the Chat Moss area. Peat 
extraction ceased entirely in Salford in 2017 as outlined below bringing an end 
to many years of this damaging activity. 
 

4.24 Restoration has taken place at the former Twelve Yards Road peat extraction 
site. This follows a Secretary of State decision to dismiss an appeal against 
the refusal of planning permission for further extraction in 2012. (Need to 
check area in Salford). Peat extraction ceased at Astley Moss East in 2015 
and the former peat extraction site is now undergoing restoration, with the 
exception of the areas which lie within the quarry boundary. The sand and 
gravel extraction in the south of the site has permission until 2022.  
 

4.25 Restoration is now being carried out on by Lancashire Wildlife Trust on 65ha 
of former peat extraction on Little Woolden Moss. This follows the purchase of 
the whole site by the Trust in 2011.  The Trust has now begun restoring the 
remaining 35 hectares of the site, having negotiated an early end to the 
extraction with the site operator. The Trust are also restoring the adjacent 8 
hectare Cadishead Moss former peat extraction site which they also now own. 

 
4.26 There are currently sand and gravel reserves under Chat Moss. Demand for 

such reserves is identified to increase but exploitation would have serious 
environmental consequences, not least recognising the Moss’ role as a 
carbon sink. 
 

4.27 The former open cast coal site at Cutacre is now being restored as a country 
park which extends into Bolton. This is part of a major business park scheme 
in Bolton and Salford. 

4H Landscapes 

 

Page 654



 

Appendix 3 - Page 45 

 

4.28 34.69% of the city’s land area is currently designated Green Belt. The Green 
Belt has only been subject to minor modification since it was originally 
designated as part of the Greater Manchester Green Belt in 1984. The 
potential for new development allocations within the Green Belt are however 
being considered through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. 

 
4.29 There are no nationally designated landscapes in the city. 
 

4I Heritage 

 

Grade Listed building entries 

Grade I 6 

Grade II* 13 

Grade II 216 

Total 235 

   

4.30 A review of how the city council assesses heritage assets has been 
undertaken, the figures quoted above are reflective of the number of statutory 
listed building entries on the national heritage list for England as compiled by 
English Heritage.  
 

4.31 In addition to statutory listed buildings, the City Council compiles a Local Plan 
of heritage assets. Local listing is a means for a local community to decide 
what it is in their area that makes a contribution to its character and historical 
legacy and as such what they would like recognised as a 'local heritage 
asset'. Whilst local heritage assets do not enjoy the protection of statutory 
listing, which is the responsibility of Historic England, they are given some 
degree of protection through the planning system. Salford’s Local List 
contains 278 individual heritage assets, comprising approximately 628 
individual buildings or structures. 
 

4.32 Salford also has 16 conservation areas, 3 scheduled ancient monuments (one 
addition proposed) and 2 registered parks and gardens, as well as a broad 
range of other heritage assets including archaeology, dating back to the city’s 
beginnings and features dating back to Salford’s key role in the industrial 
revolution such as the Bridgewater Canal. Areas of peat land in the west of 
the city could have potential for further archaeological finds. This heritage is a 
key contributor to the city’s positive local identity and character, as well as 
being an irreplaceable record of the past. Its retention and enhancement will 
therefore be an important component of Salford’s future success. 

 
4.33 In 2018, there were 11 listed buildings and 4 conservation areas identified as 

being ‘at risk’ on Historic England’s at risk register13. 
  

4J Light and noise 
 

                                                      
13 Heritage at risk register 2018 - Historic England, August 2018 
 

Page 655



 

Appendix 3 - Page 46 

 

4.34 There has been a generally increasing trend of noise complaints since 2000 
which could relate to the high levels of development taking place within the 
city. Over recent years a more active role has been played by some of the 
city’s housing providers and anti-social behaviour team in respect of dealing 
with noise complaints and therefore issues that can be addressed by these 
agencies may not always be registered with the city council’s environmental 
protection team and will not therefore be picked up in the trend shown.     

 
4.35 Complaints received relating to light are of a significantly lower order than 

those relating to noise, nevertheless, there have been a generally increasing 
trend since 2000. The peak in 2006 (29 complaints) coincides with light being 
designated as a statutory nuisance and therefore may be a result of the 
increased level of publicity at this time, although similar levels were recorded 
in 2012, 2016 and 2017. 

 

 

 
Source: Salford City Council 

700

750

800

850

900

950

1000

1050

1100

1150

1200

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

Number of complaints received relating to noise

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

Number of complaints received relating to light

Page 656



 

Appendix 3 - Page 47 

 

 
 

Page 657



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 4 Details of Sustainability Indicators 

 

Appendix 4 – page 1 

APPENDIX 4 
 
Details of Sustainability Indicators 
 
 

No. Indicator Definition Data source 

i Direct standardised mortality rate 
(all causes) 

Direct standardised Mortality Ratio 
for all causes for death in people 
under the age of 75 

Salford CC 

ii Life expectancy Average Life Expectancy at Birth for 
Males and Females 

Salford CC 

iii Area of UK priority habitats by type Area of Wet Woodland; Eutrophic 
Standing Waters; Lowland Dry Acid 
Grassland / Lowland Heathland 
(mosaic); and Lowland Raised Bog.  

Salford CC and Greater Manchester 
Ecological Unit 

iv Area of locally designated sites Areas designated for their intrinsic 
environmental value including sites 
of international, national, regional or 
sub-regional significance.  

Salford CC and Greater Manchester 
Ecological Unit 

V Area of designated geological sites Area of sites designated for their 
geological value 

Salford CC and Greater Manchester 
Geological Unit 

vi Proportion of waterways classified 
as “moderate” or better under the 
Water Framework Directive 

Annual individual watercourse 
assessment by Environment 
Agency, classifies the quality of 
each water-course.  
 
Proportions currently based on 
number of waterways within each 
category rather than length of 
watercourse. 

Environment Agency 
 

P
age 659



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 4 Details of Sustainability Indicators 

 

Appendix 4 – page 2 

No. Indicator Definition Data source 

vii Number of dwellings at risk of 
flooding more often than once every 
100 years 

Count of dwellings recorded on 
address point within the 
Environment Agency’s 1:100 year 
flood boundary. 
 
Excludes new build properties that 
have been specifically designed to 
withstand flooding. 

Environment Agency for 1:100 year 
flood boundary; and 
 
Address point for dwellings 

viii Area of the city that complies with 
national air quality standards 

Area of land that is outside of the 
Air Quality Management Area for 
the city. 

Salford CC 

ix Carbon dioxide emissions per 
capita 

Per capita CO2 estimates (t CO2) Department for Energy and Climate 
Change 

x Renewable energy capacity Data on individual completed / 
operational schemes (bio fuels, 
onshore wind, water, solar and 
geothermal) recorded by 
Renewables Northwest. 

Renewables Northwest website 

xi Total amount of waste per capita 
per annum 

Total amount of waste per capita Wastedataflow.org 

xii Annual recycling and composting 
rate 

Total amount of household waste 
sent for reuse, recycling or 
composting 

Wastedataflow.org 

P
age 660



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 4 Details of Sustainability Indicators 

 

Appendix 4 – page 3 

No. Indicator Definition Data source 

xiii Net change in the number of 
nationally designated heritage 
assets 

Net change in the number of 
heritage assets across the city, 
including details of the number 
added to and removed from the 
statutory list. Statutorily protected 
assets include Listed Buildings; 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments; and 
Parks and Gardens of Historic 
Interest.. 

English Heritage and Salford CC 

xiv Number of noise complaints Actual number of complaints made 
to the city council. 

Environmental Protection 

xv Number of light pollution complaints Actual number of complaints made 
to the city council. 

Environmental Protection 

xvi Incidences of crime per 1,000 
population 

Total reported crimes divided by 
resident population multiplied by 
1,000 (Based on GMP and CSU key 
crimes definition: Burglary Dwelling; 
Vehicle Taking; Theft from a 
vehicle; Personal Robbery; Theft 
from the person; Theft of pedal 
cycles; vehicle interference; 
damage to dwelling; damage to 
other buildings; damage to vehicles; 
other damage; arson; wounding 
endangering life; other wounding; 
common assault; or Assault police) 

GM Police statistics, via Community 
Safety Unit 

xvii Number of jobs Number of jobs identified through 
the Annual Business Inquiry 

BRES, via NOMIS website 

xviii Number of active enterprises Businesses that had either a 
turnover or employment at any time 
during the reference period 

ONS Business Demography 

P
age 661



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 4 Details of Sustainability Indicators 

 

Appendix 4 – page 4 

No. Indicator Definition Data source 

xix Unemployment rate % of people unemployed as a 
proportion of population 16-64 
(model based) 
 

ONS – Annual population survey 
 

xx Mean pay levels Mean pay levels 
 

Nomis 

xxi Proportion of people remaining in 
full-time education beyond the age 
of 16 

Proportion of 16 and 17 year olds in 
education or training 

Department for Education (SFR 
18/2010) 

xxii Proportion of pupils achieving 
GCSE 9-4 English and Maths 
(standard pass) 

Proportion of pupils achieving 
GCSE 9-4 English and Maths 
(standard pass) 

Salford City Council / Department 
for Education 

xxiii Number of households in identified 
housing need 

Number of Households 'at need' on 
the Housing Register data 

Salford City Council’s Housing 
register 

xxiv Number of non-decent homes Total number of non-decent homes 
is based on unfitness rating of the 
total private stock. 
 

Private Stock Condition Survey and 
Local Authority Condition Survey 
 

P
age 662



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 4 Details of Sustainability Indicators 

 

Appendix 4 – page 5 

No. Indicator Definition Data source 

xxv Proportion of population within 
walking distance of public transport 
stops/ stations, a GP, primary and 
secondary school, major areas of 
employment, designated centres, 
and a range of outdoor recreation 
facilities 

Individually identify the proportion of 
the population that is within: 

 400 metres of a bus stop on 
the city’s main bus corridors  

 800 metres of a rail station 
with a frequent service1, a 
Metrolink station, GP, 
primary and secondary 
school, major areas of 
employment, and designated 
centres 

 a range of outdoor recreation 
facilities in accordance with 
defined standards 

Salford CC 

xxvi Number of tourism visits to key 
attractions in the city 

Door count of visitors for key 
(Ordsall Hall;  Salford Museum & 
Art gallery; Lowry Centre; Lowry 
Outlet Mall; and Tourist Information 
Centre) tourism facilities within the 
city 

Tourist Information Centre data 

 
 

                                            
1 In accordance with Revised Draft Local Plan Policy H6 this currently includes Salford Central Station, Salford Crescent Station, Eccles Station, Irlam Station, 
Swinton Station and Walkden Station. The list of stations may however change during the plan period as rail timetables and franchises are reviewed. 

P
age 663



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 1 

APPENDIX 5 

Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Contents 

Explanation of strategic options appraised ............................................................. 2 

SA Objective 1 - To improve physical and mental health ........................................ 4 

SA Objective 2 - To protect, enhance and restore biodiversity resources ............... 7 

SA Objective 3 - To protect, enhance and restore geological resources ................ 9 

SA Objective 4 - To protect and improve soil resources ....................................... 11 

SA Objective 5 - To protect and enhance water resources ................................... 13 

SA Objective 6 - To minimise the risk and impacts of flooding.............................. 15 

SA Objective 7 - To improve air quality ................................................................. 17 

SA Objective 8 - To minimise contributions to climate change.............................. 19 

SA Objective 9 - To minimise the use of non-renewable resources ...................... 21 

SA Objective 10 - To protect, enhance and enable the appreciation of the city's 

heritage ................................................................................................................. 23 

SA Objective 11 - To maintain and enhance the quality and character of landscape 

and townscape ...................................................................................................... 25 

SA Objective 12 - To protect and enhance amenity .............................................. 27 

SA Objective 13 - To reduce crime and the fear of crime ..................................... 29 

SA Objective 14 - To maximise economic growth that can be sustained in the long 

term ....................................................................................................................... 30 

SA Objective 16 - To improve the city’s knowledge base ..................................... 34 

SA Objective 17 - To ensure that everyone has access to a good home that meets 

their needs ............................................................................................................ 36 

SA Objective 18 - To improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities ....... 38 

SA Objective 19- To improve community cohesion ............................................... 40 

SA Objective 20 - To increase involvement in decision making ............................ 42 

SA Objective 21 - To improve perceptions of the city ........................................... 44 

 

 

  

Page 665



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 2 

Explanation of strategic options appraised 

 
1. The four options assessed as part of the sustainability appraisal are set out 

below, with potential differences relating to the quantum and distribution of 
development and also the policy framework that would be in place. Further 
details regarding the strategic options identified is provided in chapter 7 of the 
main sustainability appraisal report.   
 

2. Option 1:  
 

 No Local Plan option  

 Retain existing UDP Policy Framework 

 Employment and housing supply focused on current opportunities, which 
would include high levels of office growth and apartment development in 
the City Centre and Salford Quays 

 Reliance on the Government’s Local Housing need methodology, using 
the 2014-based household projections to determine the city’s housing 
requirement (1,372 per annum or 26,068 over the period 2018 – 2037) 

 Delivery of around 400,000sqm (21,052sqm per annum) of offices, 
significantly in excess of past development rates since 2002 (16,093sqm 
per annum). 

 Delivery of around 245,000sqm (12,894sqm per annum) of industry and 
warehousing (in the absence of an extension to the permitted Port 
Salford), comparable with past rates since 2002 (13,642sqm per annum). 

 
3. Option 2: 

 

 Revised Draft Local Plan  

 The option would include sites which, alongside those being proposed in 
the GMSF, would deliver the higher housing requirement identified in the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (1,720 per annum or 32,680 over 
the period 2018-2037). The additional housing growth taken under this 
option would be to satisfy the high demand from across Greater 
Manchester for apartments in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 

 Levels of economic development similar to Option 1 

 Development remains largely focused within the urban area with the 
addition of a small number of greenfield development opportunities in the 
west of the city in order to provide a wider mix of dwelling types than 
option 1.  

 Employment supply focused on current opportunities, which would include 
high levels of office growth in the city centre and Salford Quays.  

 
4. Option 3:  

 

 As Option 2 plus the release of additional greenfield sites (not proposed 
as Green Belt in the GMSF) and a number of existing employment areas 
for residential development 

 The option would include sites which, alongside those being proposed in 
the GMSF, would deliver the higher housing requirement identified in the 

Page 666



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 3 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (1,720 per annum or 32,680 over 
the period 2018-2037). The additional housing growth taken under this 
option would be to satisfy the high demand from across Greater 
Manchester for apartments in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 

 Higher levels of greenfield release for residential development would be 
pursued than in Option 2 however none of the sites proposed as Green 
Belt additions in the GMSF would be included.  

 Levels of new economic development would be similar to Option 1 
however a larger number of the city’s existing employment areas would be 
released for residential development which would reduce the supply of 
secondhand premises. 

 The two measures above would result in a higher proportion of new 
dwellings being provided in the western parts of the city and in the form of 
houses rather than apartments. The higher proportion of new dwellings 
delivered in higher value areas could potentially help to deliver more new 
affordable housing. 
 

5. Option 4: 
  

 As Option 3 with the additional release of a number of greenfield sites 
being proposed as new Green Belt through the GMSF. 

 The option would include sites which, alongside those being proposed in 
the GMSF, would deliver the higher housing requirement identified in the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (1,720 per annum or 32,680 over 
the period 2018-2037). The additional housing growth taken under this 
option would be to satisfy the high demand from across Greater 
Manchester for apartments in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 

 The additional greenfield opportunities, including the Brickworks SBI west 
of Burgess Farm and sites within the West Salford Greenway, would 
result in an even higher proportion of new dwellings being provided in the 
western parts of the city and in the form of houses rather than apartments. 
The higher proportion of new dwellings delivered in higher value areas 
could also help to deliver an even greater supply of affordable housing 
than under option 3. 

 Levels of new economic development would be similar to Option 1 
however a larger number of the city’s existing employment areas would be 
released for residential development which would reduce the supply of 
secondhand premises. 

 
  

Page 667



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 4 

SA Objective 1 - To improve physical and mental health 

 
6. There are a wide range of contributors to the physical and mental health of 

the city’s residents including policy areas covering the protection of recreation 
land and facilities, the improvement of health facilities, the promotion of 
walking and cycling and controls relating to development and polluting 
activities. In this context ongoing investment and regeneration in the city, 
providing new homes, new job opportunities and increased service provision, 
would generally be expected to have benefits against this objective overall 
and therefore, even under the no plan option, a positive impact is identified 
over the longer term. It is the levels of development that are encouraged and 
how that development is managed that determine the scale and nature of any 
impacts.  

 
7. The lower levels of development pursued under Option 1 and the focus on 

existing, largely brownfield, opportunities could result in more limited 
pressures on the city’s greenfield sites, highway infrastructure and 
community facilities. The option could therefore have positive benefits in 
relation to issues such as the availability of recreation opportunities, air 
quality and capacity of public services when compared with the other options. 
It is important to recognise however that the dwelling requirement identified in 
the Options 2, 3 and 4 could also potentially be delivered through even higher 
densities on  previously developed land similar to Option 1. The inclusion of 
greenfield sites in those options allows for the delivery of more houses as 
part of the mix. The identified benefits of Option 1 in terms of avoiding 
greenfield development comes at the cost of a more varied mix in the new 
dwellings coming forward in the city. This could itself have some negative 
impacts on this objective in terms of people’s ability to find a good home that 
meets their needs which can again contribute to wellbeing. This must 
however be considered in the context of the new residential allocations being 
proposed through the GMSF. 

 
8. Revised Draft Local Plan (Option 2) introduces a number of new 

requirements for development that would be expected to have a positive 
impact in terms of the physical and mental health of the city’s residents, 
particularly over the longer term. These include requirements for major 
developments to submit social value strategies (Policy F2) which could help 
to ensure investment in the city benefits the city’s residents. The plan also 
introduces new restrictions on hot food takeaways; off licences; shisha bars 
and cafes; and payday lenders, betting shops and amusement arcades 
(Policy HH2). It also introduces measures that will help to minimise any 
potential negative impacts of new development including health impact 
assessments that could help to ensure that the capacity of local services 
expands alongside population increases. Developments would also be 
required to deliver improvements to the city’s green infrastructure network 
which can support health, well-being and quality of life.  This revised policy 
framework could be repeated under Options 3 and 4. 

 
9. With a similar policy framework, the differences between Options 2, 3, and 4 

relate to the distribution of development and the range of dwelling types 

Page 668



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 5 

provided. The higher levels of development concentrated in central areas 
under Option 2 could encourage more journeys to be made by walking and 
cycling and protect more of the city’s open spaces than options 3 and 4. The 
higher levels of greenfield development in the west of the city under Options 
3 and more significantly 4 would also be expected to have a number of 
negative impacts on health relating to the loss of open spaces, recreation 
opportunities and air quality given the potential for a higher reliance on 
private motor vehicles. Some of these impacts could in part be mitigated by 
policy requirements the Revised Draft Local Plan including the accessibility 
policies which promote a modal shift and encourage the use of low emission 
vehicles, as well as the various energy, green infrastructure, biodiversity and 
recreation policies 

 
10. The loss of local employment opportunities under these latter two options 

could have positive and/or negative impacts, depending on the areas chosen. 
Positives could include the removal of any existing conflicts between 
dwellings, HGV movements and other noise generating activities from 
residential areas. Negatives could include the loss of local employment 
opportunities, employment and economic inclusion being an important factor 
in both physical and mental health. 

 
11. A range of dwelling types would be provided under options 2, 3 and 4. The 

mix increasing in variety from 2 to 4, with the potential for affordable housing 
also increasing given that the Revised Draft’s requirements in this regard are 
higher for housing development. The importance of these potential additions 
to the mix in terms of meeting needs and the contribution this would have to 
physical and mental health is less certain in the context of residential 
allocation proposals in the GMSF. 
  

Page 669



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 6 

 
Sustainability Objective 1 

To improve physical and mental health 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 0 0/+ The Local Plan can 
provide 
opportunities and 
encourage 
activities that 
support well-being, 
however the 
impacts will to a 
great extent rely on 
individual choices 
and other 
supporting 
programmes and 
strategies. 

City 
 

Will be 
dependent on 
other plans, 
programmes 
and  strategies 
that work 
towards 
improvements 
in wellbeing 

The majority of policy 
areas within the plan 
have the potential to 
have a primary or 
secondary impact on 
this objective. The 
cumulative impact of 
the plan’s various 
policies is therefore 
particularly important. 

2 0 + ++ 

3 0 -/+ +/++ 

4 0 -/+ + 

Mitigation:  
 

 Policies within the Revised Draft Local Plan could help to mitigate some of the negative impacts 
identified against this objective including the promotion of active forms of travel, the use of more 
sustainable forms of transport including low emission vehicles, provision of green infrastructure and 
recreation provision.  

 To support proposed policy requirements relating to Health Impact Assessments, give consideration to 
the addition of health related services to existing guidance relating to planning obligations.  

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 
  

Page 670



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 7 

SA Objective 2 - To protect, enhance and restore biodiversity resources 

 
12. Adverse impacts on biodiversity resources would be resisted under all 

options, particularly for priority sites and habitats. The Revised Draft Local 
Plan contains strong policies to both protect and enhance biodiversity. Policy 
BG3 describes that all development shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity 
value, a requirement that could be included under Options 3 and 4, and 
would be expected to bring greater benefits than the existing policy 
framework (Option 1). The detailed policy framework in respect of green 
infrastructure under Options 2, 3 and 4, recognising its varied roles could also 
be positive in this regard.  

 
13. Options 2 to 4 therefore score positively from the outset against this 

objective, however there could be some negative impacts at a local level 
depending on how and where that net gain is delivered. There is a preference 
in the policy for on-site habitat provision/enhancement wherever possible, 
which could help to minimise even local negative impacts. However 
difficulties around delivering a net biodiversity gain and the potential for 
localised negative impacts would be greatest under Option 3 and more 
significantly 4 given the greater levels of greenfield development that would 
be included including an existing Site of Biological Importance under the 
latter option. 

 
14. Whilst previously developed sites can also have value in biodiversity terms, it 

would be expected that option 1 would have a negligible impact on 
biodiversity given the lower levels of development pursued and focus on 
existing opportunities within the urban area.  

 
15. The densities required to achieve option 2 could limit space given over to 

green infrastructure within central parts of the city when compared with the 
other options. However the high levels of development identified together 
with the lower levels of greenfield development under this option would 
protect and could provide more opportunities to enhance existing resources 
and as such a major positive impact has been identified over the long term 
against this sustainability objective.  

  

Page 671



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 8 

 
Sustainability Objective 2 

To protect, enhance and restore bio-diversity resources 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 + + + Specific 
requirements 
proposed in 
the Local Plan 
and the GMSF 
in terms of net 
biodiversity 
gain increases 
certainty of 
outcome. 

City / Sub-
regional – 
the city’s 
biodiversity 
resources 
form part of a 
wider 
network 

Impacts of 
climate 
change likely 
to be a 
significant 
determinant 
factor 

Benefits increase if 
coordinated with 
approach in 
neighbouring 
authorities 

2 + + + 

3 + ?/+ ?/+ 

4 + ?/-- ?/-- 

Mitigation: 

 
 New requirements proposed in the Revised Draft Local Plan relating to net biodiversity gains along with 

the protection and enhancement of assets within the city could mitigate some of the negative impacts 
associated with development and have wider positive benefits. Other areas of the plan could also 
contribute to this objective including policies that promote a modal shift towards more sustainable forms 
of transport, measures to encourage energy efficiency and the provision of green infrastructure. 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 672



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 9 

SA Objective 3 - To protect, enhance and restore geological resources 

 
16. Features of geological value are scarce within the city, and the most 

significant and well-known asset is the former quarry at Worsley Delph which 
is also a site of very significant heritage interest and is protected as such. 
Parts of the River Irwell valley are also of potential geological significance. It 
will be important to provide appropriate protection for such features, both in 
terms of their inherent geological value and to maintain their contribution to 
local character and identity. Revised Draft Local Plan policy BG4 ensures 
that development would not have a significant adverse impact on the value of 
any feature of geological importance and this would be carried forward under 
all of the strategic options. The Saved Policies of the UDP and the NPPF 
require also require consideration to be given to the impacts of development 
of features of geological value (Option 1)  

 
17. The majority of interesting geological features previously identified in Salford 

are riverbanks. These may require further works in order to mitigate flood risk 
(policies WA1, WA2, WA4 and WA5). Such works would be considered 
against policy BG4 of the plan and, in order to work towards the North West 
River Basin Management Plan would be as sensitive as possible to the 
natural functioning of the river (policy WA4).  

 
18. One of the key areas where the planning system interacts with geodiversity is 

minerals extraction. However, this is addressed by the Greater Manchester 
Joint Minerals Development Plan Document. 

 
19. Given that Salford does not currently have any protected areas of geological 

value none of the options would be expected to have any significant impacts 
against this objective. It is possible that through the increased focus on 
greenfield sites in Options 3 and 4 in particular new such features could be 
uncovered however appropriate safeguards would be in place under all 
options to ensure any potential impacts of development in this regard were 
fully considered. 

  

Page 673



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 10 

 
Sustainability Objective 3 

To protect, enhance and restore geological resources 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 0 0 There are few 
features of 
geological 
value in the 
city. 

Local There are 
few features 
of geological 
value in the 
city, if 
identified the 
protective 
policy 
ensures the 
issue is 
properly 
considered. 

Synergies with 
protecting biodiversity 
and heritage 2 0 0 0 

3 0 0 0 

4 0 0 0 

Possible mitigation: 

 
 None identified 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 674



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 11 

SA Objective 4 - To protect and improve soil resources 

 
20. The most significant impacts on soil and land resources are likely to come 

through the greenfield development identified under Options 2, 3 and 4, 
which would be in addition to the Green Belt development being considered 
through the GMSF. The most significant area of greenfield land would be 
identified for development under Option 4. 

 
21. Revised Draft Local Plan Policy GB2, which could be introduced under 

options 2, 3 and 4, describes that development shall safeguard and utilise on-
site soil resources where practicable, and that the loss of agricultural land 
should be avoided wherever possible. This policy, particularly in respect of 
the sustainable use of soils within development sites which is absent from the 
saved policies of the UDP, would be expected to have a positive impact 
against this objective. The requirements in this regard could be included 
under options 2 to 4.  

 
22. The higher levels of greenfield development proposed under Options 3 and 4 

have led to a minor negative, and potentially a major negative for Option 4, 
being identified against this objective. The reference to the Defra code of 
practice for the sustainable use of soils on construction sites that would be 
included under Options 2 to 4 could potentially help to mitigate some of the 
impacts of development. 

 
23. The identification of a number of employment areas for residential 

development under Options 3 and 4 could lead to improvements to soils 
through measures to address issues of contaminated land. This would 
however depend on the methods employed to address the issue and 
therefore impacts in this regard are unclear. 

  

Page 675



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 12 

 
Sustainability Objective 4 

To protect and improve soil resources 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 0 0 The most 
significant 
impacts relate 
to the potential 
allocation of 
greenfield land 
for 
development 
and are 
therefore 
certain. 
 

City 
 

The most 
significant 
impacts relate to 
the development 
of greenfield land 
and are therefore 
permanent. 

The scale of 
development in 
Salford under 
Option 2, 3 , and 4 
could reduce 
pressures 
elsewhere 

2 0 0/- 0/- 

3 0 - - 

4 0 - -/-- 

Possible mitigation: 

 
 Policy GB2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan requires development to safeguard and utilise on-site soils 

in accordance with the Defra code of practice for the sustainable use of soils on construction sites. 
This could help to mitigate some of the negative impacts of development against this objective. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
  

Page 676



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 13 

SA Objective 5 - To protect and enhance water resources 

 
24. The importance of the city’s waterways is established in the existing policy 

framework and therefore measures to ensure the protection and 
enhancement of the city’s waterways would continue under all options.  

 
25. The Revised Draft Local Plan (Option 2) proposes a more detailed policy 

framework in respect of water than is currently provided (Option 1), linked to 
the North West River Basin Management Plan. The additional direction this 
provides, which would also be provided under Option 3 and 4 could provide 
some additional benefits against this objective. 

 
26. The scale of development under options 2, 3 and 4 would in principle have 

greater potential to impact upon water quality through an increase in urban 
diffuse pollution particularly given the inclusion of greenfield development 
opportunities. Option 4 would be expected to have the greatest potential for 
negative impacts in this regard given the large scale of greenfield 
development that would be included. Requirements in terms of reducing 
water run-off and minimising surface water pollution, which could be carried 
forward under any of these options, as well as powers under other legislation 
(such as the Flood and Water Management Act 2010) could help to mitigate 
this to some extent. 

 
27. The city’s waterways contribute to the character of the city and are an 

important recreational resource, both in terms of the use of the water itself 
and routes and spaces alongside it. Regeneration opportunities along 
waterways in central areas under all options will provide new opportunities to 
utilise waterways for recreation and the redevelopment of previously 
developed sites could provide opportunities to improve water management. 
These opportunities may be greatest under Options 2, 3, and 4 given the 
higher levels of development identified. However the inclusion of greenfield 
sites, in particular West Salford Greenway under Option 4, could have the 
potential for some negative impacts, particularly in respect of the setting of 
the historically important Bridgewater Canal. 

  

Page 677



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 14 

 
Sustainability Objective 5 

To protect and enhance water resources 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 0/+ 0/+ Improvements in 
water quality in 
the will rely on 
many other plans, 
strategies and 
actions beyond 
the Local Plan 
and the city 
boundary. 
 

City / River 
Basin 
 

Ensuring that 
new 
development 
contributes to 
water quality 
could help to 
ensure 
permanent 
improvements 
but will depend 
on actions 
elsewhere. 
 

Benefits increase if 
coordinated with 
approach in 
neighbouring 
authorities 

2 0 0/+ 0/+ 

3 0 0/+ 0/+ 

4 0 -/+ -/+ 

Possible mitigation: 
 

 Revised Draft Local Plan requirements relating to reductions in water run-off and minimising surface 
water pollution (the water and pollution and hazards chapters) could help to mitigate negative impacts 
identified against this objective. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 678



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 15 

SA Objective 6 - To minimise the risk and impacts of flooding 

 
28. The need to have regard to issues of flood risk as part of new development is 

clearly set out in existing policy. The Revised Draft Local Plan identifies the 
intention to masterplan the Cambridge Industrial Area which suffers from high 
levels of flood risk, this process is already underway.  

 
29. The Revised Draft Local Plan commits to addressing flood risk upstream of 

the city and adds to current guidance on this issue, emphasising the role of 
Green Infrastructure as part of Sustainable Urban Drainage (WA6). The 
policy approach towards flood risk in the Revised Draft Local Plan (Option 2) 
is positive and the relevant policy appraisals have identified positives over the 
existing position (Option 1). The new policy framework could be similarly 
adopted under Options 3 and 4. 

 
30. In terms of the quantum and distribution of development under the various 

options, the lower levels of development that would be proposed under 
Option 1 could result in a lower level of new homes within flood risk areas. 
The option may however also result in lower levels of investment in the city 
which could potentially limit opportunities to deliver new flood risk solutions 
relative to other options.   

 
31. With higher levels of development than Option 1 and a greater reliance on 

previously developed sites than options 3 and 4, the highest number of new 
dwellings in flood risk areas could come forward under Option 2. This may 
however also allow for the greatest level of investment in new flood risk 
infrastructure given the clearer relationship with new development. 

 
32. The greater number of greenfield sites that would come forward under 

Options 3 and to a greater extent 4 could have negative impacts in terms of 
increasing run-off rates, however the Revised Draft Local Plan includes strict 
requirements relating to surface water management, which could help to 
mitigate some of the impacts in this regard.  

 
33. Whilst all of the options could potentially have a positive impact in flood risk 

through new investment in solutions and policy requirements for new 
development, climate change impacts and the effectiveness of any solutions 
identified will determine the level and nature of the impact over the longer 
term. 

  

Page 679



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 16 

 
Sustainability Objective 6 

To minimise the risk and impacts of flooding 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 ?/+ ?/+ Plan policies 
can work 
towards 
minimising 
impacts and 
risk however 
outcomes will 
depend on 
other actions 
and the 
implications of 
climate 
change. 

City / River 
Basin 

The lasting 
impact of 
measures 
taken will 
depend on 
the long term 
impacts of 
climate 
change and 
the accuracy 
of current 
predictions. 

Benefits could be 
partly offset by 
climate change. 

2 0 ?/+ ?/+ 

3 0 ?/+ ?/+ 

4 0 ?/+ ?/+ 

Possible mitigation: 
 

 The Revised Draft Local Plan includes strict requirements relating to surface water management, which 
could help to mitigate some of the negative impacts of new development against this objective.  

 Continue to investigate the potential for strategic flood defences and solutions as part of new 
development areas.  

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
  

Page 680



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 17 

SA Objective 7 - To improve air quality 

 
34. A variety of topic areas within the existing policy framework (Option 1) work 

towards improvements in air quality. This is similarly the case in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan (Option 2), which could be taken forward under Option 3 and 
4 and includes important new requirements in this regard, including in respect 
of electric vehicle charging points accessibility policies which promote and 
support a modal shift and emphasising the mitigatory role of green 
infrastructure. The permitted Port Salford, which would come forward under 
all options, could have localised negative impacts but wider benefits by 
supporting the sustainable movement of freight across and beyond the 
conurbation. 

 
35. The adoption of new technologies will be an important factor in air quality and 

it is notable that the air quality management area in the city has been 
significantly reduced in recent years. Overall however the ongoing 
development of the city and in particular the additional demands that this 
could place on road infrastructure, would be expected to have some negative 
impacts in respect of air quality at the local level.  

 
36. The lower levels of development under Option 1 would in theory be expected 

to have lesser negative impacts on air quality when compared with the other 
options. However this has to be considered in the context of the potential 
consequence of housing demand being met  in other areas, potentially more 
peripheral within the conurbation, which could reduce the benefits by 
resulting in more traffic on the highway network including that running 
through Salford.  

 
37. The higher levels of development under options 2, 3 and 4 would be 

expected to have greater negative impacts on air quality, particularly at the 
local level. The negative impacts would be expected to be lowest under 
option 2, with higher densities focused in central areas, although this may 
result in fewer opportunities to incorporate significant green infrastructure in 
these areas than under other options. The higher levels of greenfield release 
in option 3 and to an even greater extent 4, could have more significant 
negative impacts both in terms of the absorption/dissipation role of open 
greenfield land and the distribution of development focusing to a greater 
extent on less accessible sites in the western parts of the city.  

 
38. Similarly the loss of some of the city’s employment areas under Options 3 

and 4 could reduce the accessibility of jobs and lead to increasing journey 
times for some to access employment.  

  

Page 681



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 18 

 
Sustainability Objective 7 

To improve air quality 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 - - The air quality 
management 
area is focused 
around road 
infrastructure 
and therefore 
air quality in 
the city is 
partly 
dependent on 
actions 
elsewhere. 
Improvements 
in air quality 
are supported 
by legislative 
requirements. 
 

City 
 

Although 
negative 
impacts are 
identified from 
the levels of 
development 
identified, at a 
strategic level 
air quality is 
expected to 
improve 
through 
advancement 
and adoption 
of new 
technologies.  

Heavily influenced 
by activity outside of 
the city, particularly 
where it generates 
traffic that moves 
through Salford.  
 
The wider adoption 
of new technologies, 
such as electric cars 
will also be a key 
determinant.   

2 0 - - 

3 0 - - 

4 0 - - 

Mitigation 
 

 Policies within the Revised Draft Local Plan could help to mitigate some of the negative impacts 

identified against this objective including the promotion more sustainable forms of transport 

including low emission vehicles, measures to encourage energy efficiency, and the provision of 

green infrastructure.  

 Air quality in the city is influenced by activities outside of it and by journeys through it. Joint working 
at the Greater Manchester level is therefore critical in order to deliver the greatest benefits.  

 It will be important that other plans and strategies, particularly in respect of transport, also work 
towards the objective of improving air quality 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 682



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 19 

 

 

SA Objective 8 - To minimise contributions to climate change 

 

39. Increased development and activity within the city would be expected to 
result in increases in contributions to climate change. It is likely that options 2 
(Revised Draft Local Plan, 3 and 4 would lead greater increases given the 
higher levels of development proposed. Whilst the lower levels proposed 
under Option 1 could result in lesser impacts in this regard, similar to the 
discussion relating to air quality, the approach could lead to the displacement 
of demand to more peripheral locations and therefore negate any positive 
impacts to some extent. 

 
40. The higher densities of development in central areas promoted under Option 

2 could provide more opportunities for sustainable transport use. This option 
could therefore result in lesser negative impacts than Options 3 and more 
significant 4 given the higher number of dwellings that would be provided on 
greenfield sites in the west of the city under these latter two options. 

 
41. New requirements introduced in the Revised Draft Local Plan relating to 

energy efficiency and including electric vehicle charging points should 
increase opportunities for people to use such technologies, which should in 
turn assist in reducing carbon dioxide emissions from road transport. The full 
impacts will depend on the extent to which the national electricity supply can 
be decarbonised. These new requirements set Options 2, 3 and 4 apart from 
Option 1. 

 
42. The city’s mosslands function as a significant carbon store. Proposals being 

considered through the GMSF include development on some of these areas 
which could have negative climate change impacts if it affects that storage 
function. Agricultural activities and farm diversification could also lead to the 
release of emissions. There is also a risk that anticipated increases in 
temperature and reductions in summer rainfall associated with climate 
change could lead to the degradation of the mosslands, which could itself 
lead to further major releases of greenhouse gases. These issues heighten 
the importance of protecting this area and maximising its ability to adapt to a 
changing climate, although there may already be significant emissions from 
the agricultural soils in the area. 

  

Page 683



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 20 

 

Sustainability Objective 8 

To minimise contributions to climate change 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 - - Contribution to 
climate change 
will be 
significantly 
impacted by 
the adoption of 
new 
technologies 
and changing 
behaviours. 

Global Contributions 
to climate 
change will 
have lasting 
impacts. 

Climate change 
impacts could 
significantly affect 
several other 
sustainability 
objectives, such as 
health (1), biodiversity 
(2), soil (4), water (5), 
flooding (6), air quality 
(7) and economic 
growth (14). 

2 0 - - 

3 0 - - 

4 0 - - 

Mitigation 
 

 The Revised Draft Local Plan seeks to minimise contributions, maximise sequestration and mitigate 

and adapt to carbon change in a number of ways, the over-arching strategy provided in Policy CC1 

and which is complemented by a number of other policy areas including those that seek to promote 

the use of more sustainable forms of transport and measures to encourage energy efficiency.  

 Joint working at the Greater Manchester level is therefore critical in order to deliver the greatest 
benefits. It will be important that other plans and strategies, particularly in respect of transport, also 
work towards this objective. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 684



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 21 

SA Objective 9 - To minimise the use of non-renewable resources 

 
43. All of the strategic options would lead to an increase in the use of non-

renewable resources simply through the levels of development identified. The 
overall impact on this objective of all the strategic options is therefore likely to 
be negative, particularly in the long term as higher levels of development are 
delivered. This will however be partially dependent on advancements in 
building materials and technologies towards a greater reliance on recycled 
products. 

 
44. Option 3 (Draft Local Plan) and to a greater extent option 4 would be 

expected to be most significant in this regard given the higher levels of 
development and inclusion of higher levels of greenfield development sites 
and the redevelopment of existing employment areas which would require the 
demolition of existing buildings.  

 
45. The lower levels of development under Option 1 could potentially be more 

positive in this regard however, at a wider level, excessive restrictions on the 
number or mix of dwellings provided in Salford could lead to demand being 
catered for elsewhere thereby negating the benefits of this to some extent.  

 
46. At the sub-regional/ regional level, focusing new development within the inner 

part of Salford may help to minimise the additional non-renewable resource 
use overall, as it enables much of that development to be supported by 
existing infrastructure, rather than having to construct major new 
infrastructure. It also helps to minimise the need to travel and maximise 
public transport accessibility, therefore reducing the use of fossil fuels 
associated with travel. Option 2 would be expected to be most positive in this 
regard, accommodating high levels of development with a greater focus on 
central previously developed sites than options 3 and 4. Option 3, and to a 
greater extent, option 4 would include significant levels of development in the 
west of the city, and is likely to require higher levels of investment in transport 
infrastructure to ensure all sites are served by high quality public transport 
infrastructure.. 

 
47. The Revised Draft Local Plan supports significant improvements in the 

sustainability of Salford’s energy use and supply. The policy framework, 
which could also be introduced under options 3 and 4, would be expected to 
help minimise the use of fossil fuels associated with the generation of energy 
over the existing situation.  

  

Page 685



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 22 

 
Sustainability Objective 9 

To minimise the use of non-renewable resources 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 - -- Impacts over 
the long term 
will depend 
on the 
availability 
and adoption 
of new 
technologies 
and recycled 
construction 
products. 

National The objective 
relates to non-
renewable 
resources and 
therefore their 
use and the 
impact is 
permanent. 

Likely to be heavily 
influenced by 
commodity prices, 
national policy, and 
the adoption of new 
technologies. 

2 0 - -/-- 

3 0 - -- 

4 0 - -- 

Mitigation 
 

 Policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan will help to mitigate some of the impacts of new 

development against this objective including those that seek to promote the use of more sustainable 

forms of transport and measures to encourage energy efficiency.  

 The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building methods in a number of chapters 

including through policies CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to be given 

to the potential to supplement these policies in order to provide a wider encouragement for 

sustainable construction methods including the use of recycled materials. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 686



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 23 

 

SA Objective 10 - To protect, enhance and enable the appreciation of the city's 

heritage 

 
48. The policy framework under all options would provide a strong level of 

protection to the historic environment, encourage the conservation and 
enhancement of the city’s heritage assets and promote their positive use.  

 
49. The higher levels and distribution of development under options 2 and 4 

would be expected to raise the most significant risks of negative outcomes in 
relation to heritage assets. Option 2 would be in respect of the development 
densities that would be encouraged in central areas in which there are a 
large number of such assets. However given the scale of development 
already taking place in these areas any such impacts are likely to be 
manageable given the protective policy framework and clear policies on 
design requirements.  

 
50. Whilst a positive impact for Option 4 is identified in the short term relating to 

the protection of existing assets, a potentially more significant negative 
impact would be expected in the medium to long term arising from the 
development of parts of the West Salford Greenway for residential 
development. The Greenway makes an important contribution to the 
character and setting of the historic area of Worsley. 

 
51. The additional number of employment areas that would be identified for 

residential development under Options 3 and 4 could also have the potential 
to impact on this objective. Some of the city’s employment areas include mill 
and factory buildings and whilst not all may be listed (nationally or locally) 
could still be regarded as an important part of the city’s history. The impacts 
of Options 3 and 4 in this regard will therefore very much depend on the 
employment areas identified and the design of development. 

  

Page 687



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 24 

 
Sustainability Objective 10 

To protect, enhance and enable the appreciation of the city’s heritage 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 + + + Impacts on heritage 
assets will depend 
on decisions 
relating to individual 
development 
schemes. Impacts 
relating to the 
Greenway are 
potentially more 
certain given its 
open character. 

Local Many of the 
impacts on 
heritage 
assets, 
particularly 
those that 
cause 
harm, are 
likely to be 
permanent. 

The scale of  
change could 
impact on the city’s 
overall historic 
character, and not 
just on individual 
assets and areas 

2 + ?/+ ?/+ 

3 + ?/+ ?/+ 

4 + -/-- -/-- 

Mitigation 

 
 The Revised Draft Local Plan includes requirements in respect of the protection and enhancement 

of heritage assets which would help to mitigate some of the potential impacts.  

 Continue to develop the Council’s ‘local list’ of buildings, structures, features and landscapes that 
are considered to be important heritage assets but have not been designated at the national level. 

 Consider ways in which heritage assets could be enhanced as part of major development areas / 
master-planning exercises. 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 688



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 25 

SA Objective 11 - To maintain and enhance the quality and character of 

landscape and townscape 

 

52. High design standards would be encouraged under all options, however the 
detailed guidance provided in the Revised Draft Local Plan, which could be 
repeated under Options 3 and 4, could provide some additional benefits 
around the expectations in this regard. Given this, the ongoing development 
and regeneration of city would be expected to improve the city’s townscapes 
overall.  

 
53. The higher densities in Option 2 could lead to some challenges relating to the 

impact of tall buildings on the structures and spaces around them, particularly 
so in respect of heritage assets of which there are many in City Centre 
Salford. High density development is already a characteristic of City Centre 
Salford and Salford Quays however and therefore the Option simply 
continues this trend.  

 
54. The redevelopment of some of the city’s employment areas could lead to 

townscape improvements on a local level and the Revised Deposit Local 
Plan (Option 2) identifies the Orchard Street employment area for residential 
development which could have benefits in this regard. The additional number 
of employment areas that would be identified for residential development 
under Options 3 and 4 could have added benefits depending on the specific 
areas chosen. Many of the city’s employment areas are longstanding 
features and could be regarded as contributing to its townscape character, 
particular where they include mill and factory buildings that are an important 
part of the city’s history. The impacts of Options 3 and 4 in this regard will 
therefore very much depend on the employment areas identified and the 
design of development. 

 
55. The identification of greenfield sites for residential development under options 

2, 3 and 4 could have some negative impacts on landscapes, particularly so 
under Option 4 which would include parts of the West Salford Greenway 
which is valued area of open space and contributes to the character of the 
Worsley area. Site allocations being pursued through the GMSF on Green 
Belt land will also have negative impacts on the city’s landscapes.  
  

Page 689



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 26 

 
Sustainability Objective 11 

To maintain and enhance the quality and character of landscape and townscape 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 + ++ Potentially 
significant 
cumulative 
impact of many 
minor changes 
less 
predictable. 

Local Changes to the 
landscape and 
townscape are 
likely to have 
lasting impacts. 

Links to objective 10 
as heritage assets are 
often a key contributor 
to townscape quality. 

2 0 + ++ 

3 0 + ++ 

4 0 -/+ --/++ 

Mitigation 
  

 The positive approach to green infrastructure and detailed design standards in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan could help to mitigate some of the negative impacts of new development.  
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 690



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 27 

 

SA Objective 12 - To protect and enhance amenity 

 

56. All of the options would be expected to have some negative impacts on 
amenity given the levels of development proposed and the noise and activity 
associated with it.  

 
57. New development within the urban area, particularly around the city centre, 

would be expected to have noise implications during the construction phase 
and the increased level of activity. This could be greatest under Option 2 
given the higher densities of development that would be required however 
high densities are now an established feature of City Centre Salford and 
Salford Quays.  

 
58. The scale of development in the urban area is therefore likely to have some 

amenity impacts however policies within the Revised Draft Local Plan place 
amenity considerations central to development decisions and as such could 
do much to support this objective and keep any impacts to acceptable levels. 
The proposed green infrastructure network (GI policies) could play an 
important mitigation role in providing more tranquil areas within the urban 
area however again opportunities to do so may be more limited under Option 
2 than Options 3 and 4 given the higher densities required. 

 
59. Outside of the urban area, the loss of greenfield land to development is likely 

to be viewed, by those living closest to it in particular, as impacting negatively 
on amenity given the significant change in the local environment and the 
increased levels of activity and demand for services. Option 4 would have the 
most significant negative impact in the regard given the higher level of 
greenfield development including the West Salford Greenway. Options 3 and 
4 could also bring significant amenity benefits from new greenfield 
development however, particularly for those moving into new dwellings. 

 
60. In addition to greenfield development, Options 3 and 4 would include the 

redevelopment of some of the city’s employment areas for housing. The loss 
of local employment opportunities under these latter two options could have 
positive and/or negative impacts on amenity, depending on the areas chosen. 
Positives could include the removal of any existing conflicts between 
dwellings, HGV movements and other noise generating activities from 
residential areas. Negatives could include the loss of local employment 
opportunities which could mean longer commutes for some. 

  

Page 691



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 28 

 
Sustainability Objective 12 

To protect and enhance amenity 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 -/+ -/+ Amenity relates 
to a variety of 
issues and 
impacts. 

Local Measures to 
control issues 
of amenity will 
have lasting 
impacts . 

Cumulative impact of 
changes concentrated in 
particular parts of the 
city 

2 0 -/+ -/+ 

3 0 -/+ --/+ 

4 0 -/+ --/+ 

Mitigation 
  

 In addition to policies around amenity and good design, the introduction of Social Value Strategies 
through the Revised Draft Local Plan could help to mitigate some of the negative impacts and have 
wider positive benefits against this objective. 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
  

Page 692



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 29 

SA Objective 13 - To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

 
61. The four strategic options would be expected to have similar impacts in 

relation to this objective, improvements coming through the ongoing 
regeneration of the city and the benefits of economic growth. The differences 
in scale and distribution of development in the various options is unlikely to 
have any significant differential impacts. 

 
62. The Revised Draft Local Plan includes detailed design principles and new 

requirements relating to economic inclusion (Policy EC2) and Social Value 
Strategies (Policy F2). These requirements could also be included under 
Options 3 and 4, and could have some additional benefits over the existing 
situation given the importance of economic inclusion as an important factor in 
relation to incidences of crime (Option 1). 

 
Sustainability Objective 13 

To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 + + + Crime rates 
in the city 
will be 
affected by 
many other 
factors 
outside of 
the Local 
Plan. 

Local Measures 
taken through 
new 
development 
could have 
lasting impacts 
on an 
individual and 
cumulative 
basis. 

Enhancing economic 
inclusion (objective 15) 
will be a key influence 
on the achievement of 
this objective. 
 
A policy approach that 
actively deters crime 
and the fear of crime 
can have wide ranging 
benefits for the city 
contributing to a number 
of sustainability 
objectives. 

2 + + + 

3 + + + 

4 + + + 

Mitigation 
 

 None identified 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 693



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 30 

 

SA Objective 14 - To maximise economic growth that can be sustained in the 

long term 

 
63. The need to support the economic growth ambitions for Greater Manchester 

is one of the key challenges for the Local Plan. All of the options would 
encourage high levels of office growth in excess of part development rates 
and in strategically important parts of the city including the City Centre and 
Salford Quays, with flexibility to achieve higher levels if demand is evident. 
The scale of development fits the aspirations of the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework and ensures that the Local Plan is consistent with this 
wider vision for the sub-region.  

 
64. The supply of sites to support industrial and warehousing development would 

be limited to existing opportunities under all options, however this includes 
the permitted Port Salford which could have a significant positive economic 
benefit for the sub-region. Whilst being considered through the GMSF the 
Revised Draft Local Plan also identifies the potential for an extension to the 
permitted Port Salford on Green Belt land to the north of the A57. The supply 
of industrial and warehousing opportunities in the city must also be 
considered in the context of the large supply coming forward across Greater 
Manchester through the GMSF. 

  
65. Whilst at a strategic level, the concentration of office development at the 

conurbation core and the sustainable movement of freight through a tri-modal 
facility would be expected to make a positive contribution in terms of 
objectives to encourage sustainable forms of transport, these proposals could 
lead to increased movements on the city’s highway network. It will therefore 
be important that the transport implications of these proposals are effectively 
managed such that traffic levels and congestion do not have a negative 
impact on investment in the city and negate the benefits.  

 
66. The availability of quality housing and attractive living environments can 

contribute to economic growth in terms of encouraging and retaining highly 
skilled individuals. The high levels of housing development anticipated and, in 
the context of proposals for new residential allocations on Green Belt land 
being considered through the GMSF, the range of sites identified in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan should contribute to economic growth in providing a 
variety of dwelling types. An even wider mix of dwellings could be provided 
through the inclusion of additional residential development opportunities in 
the west of the city on greenfield sites and existing employment areas under 
option 3 and to a greater extent 4, the latter of which would include parts of 
the West Salford Greenway. However the potential additional contribution of 
that mix to the above objective, over and above that proposed in the GMSF, 
is unclear and must also be considered in the context of the potentially 
negative impacts on the quality of existing residential areas through the loss 
of greenspaces and the economic role of existing employment areas in 
providing local jobs and industrial units ranging in type, sizes and price levels.  

  

Page 694



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 31 

 
Sustainability Objective 14 

To maximise economic growth that can be sustained in the long term 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 + + +/++ The options 
focus on 
the 
continued 
growth of 
established 
strategically 
important 
office 
locations. 

Sub-regional Given the 
significance of 
the economic 
proposals in 
the Local Plan 
it would be 
expected that 
it would have 
lasting positive 
impacts. 

Highly reliant on the 
achievement of many 
other SA objectives in 
order to attract 
investment to the city 
and to maximise the 
positive impacts of 
economic growth. 

2 + + ++ 

3 + + ++ 

4 + + ++ 

Mitigation 
 

 None identified 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

  

Page 695



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 32 

SA Objective 15 - To enhance economic inclusion 

 
67. The range of opportunities available to the city’s residents can be improved 

both through the availability of jobs within the city and through improved 
accessibility to opportunities elsewhere.   

 
68. All of the options would deliver significant levels of high quality office 

development in City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. Industrial and 
Warehousing proposals coming through the Local Plan would be limited to 
existing opportunities, however this would include the Port Salford multi-
modal freight facility and it is important to recognise that an extension to that 
facility is currently being considered through the GMSF.  

 
69. Further retail and tourism development would also be encouraged under all 

options which could also add to the range of job available. The higher levels 
of development proposed under Option 2, 3 and 4 could be more beneficial in 
this regard, supporting larger increases in population and the demand for 
local goods and services. 

 
70. Existing employment areas, which provide an important source of local job 

opportunities, would be provided with a level of protection under all options. 
Option 2 (Revised Draft Local Plan) does however identify a part of one 
employment area as a residential development opportunity (Orchard street), 
and options 3 and 4 would deliver a wider mix of dwelling through the 
identification of additional employment areas for redevelopment. Options 3 
and 4 would therefore be expected to have some negative impacts against 
this objective. 

 
71. Proposals to improve the public transport accessibility, particularly to key 

locations will be vital to ensuring that residents across the city can physically 
access employment opportunities at a cost they can afford. These 
connections would be encouraged under all options, however the Revised 
Draft Local Plan (Option 2), together with Options 3 and 4, provide an 
opportunity to ensure the policy framework reflects and promotes the latest 
priorities and proposals in this regard. This will provide an important level of 
clarity around the priorities for the city. The inclusion of higher levels of 
development and the focus on high density development in central parts of 
the city under Option 2 could deliver the greatest number of dwellings in 
close proximity to employment opportunities. 

 
72. Skill levels within the city are relatively low and therefore in order to improve 

employment prospects the plan should promote an increase in skill levels and 
also a range of opportunities within the city and this is discussed further 
below in relation to sustainability objective 16 (to improve the city’s 
knowledge base). 

 
73. The Revised Draft Local Plan (Option 2) includes a specific policy on 

Economic Inclusion (Policy EC2), which is linked to requirements around the 
submission of Social Value Strategies (Policy F2). This could have significant 

Page 696



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 33 

positive benefits around economic inclusion and could be similarly included 
under Options 3 and 4. 

  
Sustainability Objective 15 

To enhance economic inclusion 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 + ++ The ability of 
the city’s 
residents to 
access 
employment 
relates to a 
number of 
factors 
outside of 
the control of 
the Local 
Plan. 

City Improvements 
in economic 
inclusion could 
have lasting 
impacts for 
individuals, 
households 
and the city as 
a whole. 

Complementary 
programmes essential, 
at the national, sub-
regional and local levels 

2 0 + ++ 
3 0 + +/++ 
4 0 + +/++ 

Mitigation 
 

 Requirements in relation to Social Value Strategies in the Revised Draft Local Plan could deliver 
significant positive benefits in relation to this objective. 

 The raising of skills levels requires a multi-faceted approach which goes beyond the limits of the 
Local Plan. It will therefore be important that plans, programmes, and strategies are coordinated 
towards a shared vision. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

 
  

Page 697



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 34 

 

SA Objective 16 - To improve the city’s knowledge base 

 

74. There are limits to the influence that the Local Plan can have on developing 
the city’s knowledge base, and much will depend on other initiatives. It is 
however important that the role of the Local Plan is maximised as far as 
possible, particularly given the baseline information on skill levels and the 
impact this has on economic inclusion as discussed above.  

 
75. The Revised Draft Local Plan promotes a range of employment opportunities 

which should help to improve accessibility to jobs and associated on-job 
training and experience. The large amounts of office based employment 
identified for key locations will support the growth of knowledge-based 
employment in the city which is likely to assist in improving the city’s 
knowledge base, both by attracting new residents who are employed in the 
knowledge-based sectors and providing training opportunities associated with 
the new jobs that are created. The introduction of a new policy relating to 
economic inclusion (EC2) and linked to a new requirement for social value 
strategies (Policy F2), could have positive benefits in relation to this objective, 
with the potential to bring increasing numbers of Salford’s residents into 
employment and training. In this regard Option 2, 3 and 4 would have 
significantly greater benefits than Option 1.  

 
76. The loss of existing employment areas under options 3 and 4 could have 

some negative impacts in terms of local job and training opportunities, 
including apprenticeships. 

 
77. The Revised Draft Local Plan (Option 2) presents a new vision for the city 

centre and most importantly in relation to this objective, the University of 
Salford and the nearby Innovation Park. This reflects the vision presented in 
the University of Salford and Crescent masterplan, but the status given 
through options 2, 3 and 4 could have a positive impact in terms of delivery.  

  
78. Providing a range of high quality housing, including larger dwellings could 

help to retain and encourage a more highly skilled population. Options 3, and 
to a greater extent 4, would be expected to have a greater positive impact in 
this regard given the greenfield sites that would be identified for development 
in the west of the city. These additional gains must however be considered in 
light of the proposals for Green Belt development being considered through 
the GMSF, some of which would also provide high value dwellings. It would 
also be important to ensure that scale and design of any such greenfield 
development was managed such that it does not detract from existing 
residential areas and ensures that the opportunities presented by new 
development sites are not lost through over-development.  
  

Page 698



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 35 

 
Sustainability Objective 16 

To improve the city’s knowledge base 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 + + Improvements 
in the city’s 
knowledge 
base are 
dependent on 
my other 
factors outside 
of the control 
of the Local 
Plan.  

City The policy 
framework, 
including a 
range of 
employment 
opportunities 
and high 
quality 
dwellings 
seeks to 
ensure lasting 
impacts for the 
city against 
this objective.  

Complementary 
programmes 
essential, at the 
national, sub-
regional and local 
levels 

2 0 + +/++ 

3 0 + +/++ 

4 0 + +/++ 

Mitigation 
 

 The raising of the city’s knowledge base requires a multi-faceted approach which goes beyond the 
limits of the Local Plan. It will therefore be important that plans, programmes, and strategies are 
coordinated towards a shared vision. 
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 699



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 36 

SA Objective 17 - To ensure that everyone has access to a good home that 

meets their needs 

 
79. The proposed dwelling requirement in the Options 2, 3 and 4 would be set by 

the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and has therefore had regard to 
needs and demand across the sub-region. Therefore, in numeric terms, 
options 2, 3 and 4 would be expected to deliver a good supply of new 
dwellings. Option 1 would be based on the standard local housing need 
methodology (household projections with an affordability uplift) and would, 
again in solely numbers terms, theoretically meet housing need in the city. 

 
80. Policy requirements in the Revised Draft Local Plan seek to provide a good 

range of dwellings in terms of number, type, size and tenure on a citywide 
basis. However, under all options it is envisaged that the vast majority of new 
dwellings in the City Centre, Ordsall Waterfront and Salford Quays would be 
in the form of apartments, given objectives in respect of maximising densities 
in the most accessible locations. It may not therefore be possible for all 
households who would like to live in that part of the city to find suitable 
accommodation there (i.e. those who do not want to live in an apartment).  

 
81. The inclusion of greenfield sites in the west of the city for housing 

development (increasing in number through options 2, 3 and 4 and including 
Green Belt proposals coming forward through the GMSF) together with some 
existing employment areas (a higher number identified in Option 3 and 4 than 
the one site identified under Option 2) should provide for a variety of dwelling 
types over and above that which would be achieved under Option 1. Any 
potential benefits of an increasing variety of dwellings through options 2, 3 
and 4 need to be considered in the context of the proposals coming through 
the GMSF and the potential negatives of such an approach as discussed 
under other sustainability objectives.  

 
82. There are many other factors that contribute to the ability of people to access 

a home that meets their needs and relevant issues are discussed elsewhere 
in this appraisals of strategic options and individual plan policies. 

  

Page 700



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 37 

 
Sustainability Objective 17 

To ensure that everyone has access to a good home that meets their needs 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 + + The Local Plan 
can encourage 
the delivery of a 
range of dwelling 
types in terms of 
type and size 
and tenure 
however it is 
primarily the 
private sector 
that delivers new 
dwellings. The 
ability of people 
to access a 
dwelling that 
meets their 
needs is 
dependent on 
many other 
factors, many of 
which are 
outside of the 
direct control of 
the Local Plan. 

Dwelling 
requirements 
are being 
considered 
on a sub-
regional 
basis through 
the GMSF. 

The Local Plan’s 
policies will seek 
to provide a mix 
of dwellings to 
meet future 
needs over the 
long term. 

Synergy of 
approach across 
the sub-region 
through the 
GMSF 

2 0 +/++ +/++ 
3 0 +/++ +/++ 
4 0 +/++ ++ 

Mitigation 
 

 Requirements in the design and housing chapters of the Revised Draft Local Plan in terms of the 
mix, size, type, tenure, energy efficiency and accessibility could have significant positive impacts in 
terms of providing a stock of dwellings with the flexibility to meet a range of needs.  
 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 
  

Page 701



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 38 

 

SA Objective 18 - To improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities 

 
83. The ongoing development and regeneration of the city would be expected to 

contribute to improvements in the accessibility of facilities and opportunities 
overall, though new homes, jobs, services and improvements to transport 
infrastructure. The protection given to existing facilities and opportunities 
including recreation and employment areas could also help to maintain 
current levels of accessibility, although this will vary by option as discussed 
further below. At a broad level all of the options would have the potential for 
some positive impacts against this objective. 

 
84. The higher levels of development proposed in Option 2 (over Option 1) and 

stronger focus on residential development in central areas (when compared 
with Options 3 and 4) would be expected to help maximise the number of 
people with good access to facilities and opportunities. Option 2 would 
provide more opportunities to utilise sustainable transport modes, including 
walking and cycling, whilst the higher levels of development in western parts 
of the city under Options 3 and 4 could have the potential to result in higher 
levels of car use and longer journey times for some. With the lowest levels of 
development and focused on the existing urban area, Option 1 might be 
expected to have the least significant impact in this regard however the 
benefits of identifying lower levels of development in the city could be 
reduced or negated if it leads to a displacement of demand and increased 
commuting distances through the city.  

 
85. The development of greenfield land under Options 2, 3 and 4 could reduce 

the accessibility of recreation opportunities for some parts of the city, 
although not all greenspaces are publically accessible and therefore may not 
equate equally in this regard. This loss of open spaces would be more 
significant under Option 3 and to an even greater extent under Option 4 
which would include parts of West Salford Greenway.  

 
86. Options 2, 3 and 4 also include the redevelopment of existing employment 

areas for housing. This lowest under Option 2 which include part of one 
employment areas whilst a number would be included within Option 3 and 4 
in order to add further variety of the supply of new dwellings. These losses 
could have negative impacts in terms of the accessibility of local employment 
opportunities.  

  

Page 702



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 39 

 
Sustainability Objective 18 

To improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 + + Improvements in 
the accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities rely 
heavily on the 
actions and 
decisions of those 
that provide those 
facilities and 
opportunities, 
including those 
resulting from 
wider changes in 
the market. 

Local The 
permanence 
of impact will 
be influenced 
by changes 
in the way 
goods and 
services are 
provided, for 
example 
increasing 
reliance on 
digitally 
based 
services. 

Cumulative impact of 
individual decisions 
key to addressing 
congestion.  
 
Improvements to 
accessibility levels 
heavily reliant on the 
provision and 
improvement of public 
transport services 
which are largely 
outside of the plan 
making process. 

2 0 + + 
3 0 + + 
4 0 -/+ -/+ 

Mitigation 
 

 The accessibility of facilities and opportunities is heavily dependent on the provision of public 
transport services and investment in transport networks. Whilst the Local Plan can provide strategic 
guidance, decisions in this regard are made at a variety of levels and through a range of plans and 
strategies. In order to maximise the contribution to this objective it will be important to ensure that 
there is coordination on this issue across different disciplines. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

  
  

Page 703



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 40 

 

SA Objective 19- To improve community cohesion 

 
87. The ongoing regeneration of parts of the city offers the potential to enhance 

community cohesion. Much will depend however on how development 
schemes are implemented and the processes followed, particularly ensuring 
that existing and new communities are integrated. The detailed design 
standards and in particular the new requirement for Social Value Strategies 
under options 2, 3, and 4 could bring significant additional benefits in this 
regard.  

 
88. Options 3 and 4 would be expected to have the greatest risk of negative 

impacts given the more significant areas of greenfield land that would be 
released for development. The negative impacts are likely to be contained to 
the residential areas around the spaces identified, however the impacts may 
be wider under Option 4 in particular due to the identification of the West 
Salford Greenway which spans a number of residential areas and is highly 
valued by the communities around it. 

 
89. The Revised Draft Local Plan identified one employment area as a residential 

development opportunities on the basis of the environmental improvements it 
could have for the residents currently living close to it. An additional number 
of employment areas would be identified as residential development 
opportunities under Options 3 and 4. The redevelopment of existing 
employment areas could have both positive and negative impacts, depending 
on the area identified. Positive in terms of the environmental improvements it 
could have, removing any conflicts with residential uses, and negative as a 
result of the loss of local job opportunities. 

 
90. Traffic generation and congestion is one of the most frequently cited 

concerns relating to new development. The higher levels of development in 
western parts of the city under options 3 and 4, relative to Options 1 and 2, 
could have more negative impacts in this regard given the better transport 
options available within central parts of the city.  The benefits associated with 
Option 1 in this regard could be reduced/ negated if the lower level of 
development resulted in displaced demand and increased commuting 
through the city. 

 
91. Pressures on existing community facilities is another key concern for local 

people. The requirements of Policy HH3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
(Option 2) in respect of the health impact assessments and ED3 in respect of 
the additional demand for school places, which could similarly be introduced 
under Options 3 and 4, could have positive impacts in this regard. The higher 
levels of development under Options 2, 3 and 4 would lead to higher demand 
for services than Option 1 given the lower levels of development pursued.  

  

Page 704



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 41 

 
Sustainability Objective 19 

To improve community cohesion 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 0 0 The impact of the 
Local Plan’s 
policies on 
community 
cohesion are 
difficult to predict 
and could be 
influenced by a 
range of factors.  
 
The most 
predictable 
impacts 
potentially relate 
to the impacts on 
cohesion that 
could arise from 
concerns about 
new development 
including traffic 
generation and 
the capacity of 
local services. 

Local Uncertain. The 
impacts of 
development 
on community 
cohesion could 
be short term 
or sustained. 

Strong synergy 
with other 
objectives that 
enhance 
opportunity 

2 0 + + 

3 0 + + 

4 0 -/+ -/+ 

Mitigation 
 

 Early consultation by developers with communities around development sites could help to support 
cohesion. This is encouraged through Policy F1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 

 Requirements in relation to Social Value Strategies could have significant positive impacts in 
relation to this objective 

 There are a number of factors that will influence community cohesion and could be supported 
through a range of plans and programmes outside of the planning process. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 705



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 42 

 

SA Objective 20 - To increase involvement in decision making 

 

92. The ability of the Local Plan to directly affect involvement in decision-making 
is limited, although it is relevant to other sustainability objectives including 15 
(to enhance economic inclusion), 18 (to improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities) and 19 (to improve community cohesion).  

 
93. The policy framework presented in the Revised Draft provides a significant 

additional level of detail on a range of issues that could have a positive 
impact in terms of providing an understanding of the vision for particular parts 
of the city and expectations around new development. This could be similarly 
the case under options 3 and 4. 

 
94. Some of the key issues for the city which have garnered the greatest level of 

response during previous consultations, including Green Belt and levels of 
residential development, are being decided through the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. It will therefore important that local people are clear 
about this process and the methods by which they can engage. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes links to the GMSF and refers to proposals within it. 

 
95. The scale of greenfield development and loss of employment areas that 

would be included under Options 3 and to a greater extent 4, would be 
expected to generate higher levels of interest and involvement in the plan in 
the short term given the potential impact on livelihoods and the value placed 
on greenspaces by local people. Dependent on the outcome of that process 
however it could lead to disengagement if businesses and/or residents feel 
that their voice has not been heard or conversely ongoing involvement if it is 
felt their efforts made a difference. 
  

Page 706



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 43 

 
Sustainability Objective 20 

To increase involvement in decision making 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 0 0 The ability of 
the Local 
Plan to 
directly affect 
involvement 
is limited 

Local Levels of 
involvement 
will change 
over time and 
depend on the 
nature and 
significance of 
issues / 
proposals 
being 
considered. 

Secondary impact of 
achievement of other 
sustainability 
objectives.  
 
Process followed and 
decisions taken can 
have a significant 
bearing on continued 
involvement. 

2 +  ? ? 

3 + ? ? 

4 -/++ ? ? 

Mitigation 
 

 Revised draft Local Plan Policy F1 encourages an inclusive development process. Requirements in 
relation to Social Value Strategies could also have positive impacts in relation to this objective. 

 The relationship between the concurrent Greater Manchester spatial framework and Local Plan 
processes requires every effort to be made to ensure understanding of the scope of the two 
documents, the methods of engagement and the reasons behind decisions taken. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 

 
  

Page 707



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 44 

 

SA Objective 21 - To improve perceptions of the city 

 
96. The ongoing growth and regeneration of the city would be expected to 

generally improve perceptions, particularly the major changes taking place 
within City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. Delivering major regeneration 
projects and improving areas that have suffered from under-investment in the 
past will also assist, as will redeveloping vacant and underused land that can 
detract from the appearance of the city. The clear up to date vision, centred 
around fairness, could have positive benefits in terms of demonstrating a 
clear direction for the city over the saved policies of the UDP. 

 
97. Much will however depend on the implementation of the Local Plan, for 

example in terms of the design quality of new development, the provision of 
high quality open spaces and facilities, the protection of and enhancements 
to the city’s heritage, biodiversity, and water resource. Policy areas that 
contribute to the delivery of many other sustainability objectives therefore 
also have the potential to improve the image of the city, for example in terms 
of improving air quality, tackling traffic congestion that may be many people’s 
only experience of Salford as they travel through the city, and ensuring that 
negative publicity is avoided for example in terms of the impact of any flood 
events or the incidence of crime. There are therefore important synergies 
with many of the other sustainability objectives. 

 
98. Proposals that will draw new people into the city could some of the biggest 

impacts on wider perceptions of the city. The updated vision for the University 
and Crescent area could be significant in this regard, as could the ongoing 
development of RHS Garden Bridgewater which will add to the attractions 
currently available in the Worsley area. The identification of new development 
sites within the West Salford Greenway as part of Option 4 could raise the 
profile of the city for those who would seek to live there, however the loss of 
Greenway which is an important element of the character of the area could 
have very significant negative impacts for others. 

 
99. The Revised Draft Local Plan’s (Option 1) positive approach to sustainable 

energy use, including energy efficiency in new buildings in excess of building 
regulation requirements (Policy D7), proposals for electric vehicle charging 
points (policy A11), renewable and low carbon energy (Policy EG2) could 
raise the city’s profile as a ‘sustainable city’. These could be similarly pursued 
under Options 3 and 4 however to what extent this will differentiate Salford is 
questionable as other parts of the country also seek to improve their 
environmental sustainability.  

 
100. New policy requirements in relation to social value strategies in support 

of planning applications for all major development (Policy F2) could however 
be more significant in this regard and could raise the profile of the city. This 
would set options 2, 3 and 4 apart from Option 1. 

 
101. The most significant changes in the city that are likely to have the 

biggest positive impacts would be pursued under all options, all therefore 

Page 708



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 5 Sustainability Appraisal of Local Plan Strategic Options 

 

Appendix 5 – Page 45 

have the potential for major positive impacts against this objective over the 
longer term. The new policy framework and updated vision for the city under 
options 2, 3, and 4, as described above, could set those options apart from 
option 1 to some extent, particularly as the results of new policy requirements 
are realised. The levels of greenfield development in Option 4 in particular 
could however result in some negative impacts on perceptions, particularly in 
respect of the Worsley given the importance of the West Salford Greenway to 
the character of that area.  

 
Sustainability Objective 21 

To improve perceptions of the city 

Option Timescale Nature of effect 

 0
-5

 y
e

a
rs

 

5
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

1
0
+

 y
e

a
rs

 

C
e
rt

a
in

ty
 

S
c
a
le

 

P
e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

, 

c
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e

, 

s
y
n

e
rg

is
ti

c
 

1 0 + ++ Improving 
perceptions of the 
city can have a 
positive impact on 
many other 
sustainability 
objectives, 
including those 
relating to 
economic growth 
and community 
cohesion. Certainty 
of impact is difficult 
to determine as 
perceptions can 
differ from person 
to person and can 
change very quickly 
through a single 
event or scheme 
(positively or 
negatively). 

City Strategic 
changes to the 
city will have 
lasting impacts 
on perceptions 
however 
perceptions 
can change 
quickly and 
differ from 
person to 
person. 

Strong synergy 
with economic 
growth and 
community 
cohesion but also 
many other policy 
areas. 

2 0 + ++ 

3 0 + ++ 

4 0 -/+ -/++ 

Mitigation 
 

 Effective consultation and engagement, ensuring that the process is transparent and the reasons 
behind any decisions taken are clear. 

 New requirements in relation to Social Value Strategies could have positive impacts in relation to 
this objective. 

 

Key for effects 
++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; -- major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Page 709



This page is intentionally left blank



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 1 

APPENDIX 6 

Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Allocations 

 

Contents 

 

Policy A6 Irwell Park Wharf ..................................................................................... 2 

Policy CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium ............................................................... 8 

Policy EC5/1 Port Salford ............................. (Site has planning permission and has  

                                                                         therefore not been appraised further) 

Policy EC5/2 Salford Innovation Park ................................................................... 18 

Policy H9/1 Land west of Hayes Road, Cadishead ............................................... 24 

Policy: H9/2 Castle Irwell ...................................................................................... 32 

Policy H9/3 Land east of Langley Road ................................................................ 42 

Policy H9/4 Brackley golf course, Little Hulton ...................................................... 52 

Policy H9/5 Land at Ladywell Avenue, Little Hulton .............................................. 61 

Policy H9/6 Land south-west of Hilton Lane, Little Hulton ..................................... 68 

Policy H9/7 Land west of Kenyon Way, Little Hulton ............................................ 77 

Policy H9/8 Orchard Street, Pendlebury ............................................................... 86 

Policy H9/9 Land south of St. Augustine’s Church, Pendlebury ............................ 97 

Policy H9/10 Land south of Hill Top Road, Walkden North ................................. 104 

Policy H9/11 Land south of Moss Lane, Walkden North ..................................... 112 

Policy H9/12 Land north of Lumber Lane, Worsley ............................................. 120 

Policy H9/13 Duncan Mathieson playing fields, Claremont ................................. 131 

Policy H12/1 Land off Duchy Road, Irwell Riverside ........................................... 138 

 

  

Page 711



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 2 

Policy A6 Irwell Park Wharf  

 
Appraised use: To protect in wharf use 
Site suggestion reference: EC003 Land at Caledonian Drive/ Irwell Park Wharf 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The site is already 
established as a wharf 
facility and therefore the 
allocation would continue 
the existing situation. 
 
Nevertheless, issues 
relating to noise were 
considered as part of a 
planning application for 
residential development 
on an adjoining site 
(Newhaven). That site 
now has planning 
permission for housing 
as appropriate mitigation 
was provided. Other 
potential housing 
development sites will 
also potentially need to 
provide noise mitigation 
as a result of the 
proximity to the Wharf.  

-/0 To consider mitigation to 
reduce the impact of noise 
on surrounding sites. 
 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Apart from the site’s 
most western extent 
which is overgrown, the 
site’s current use makes 
it unlikely that the site 
has any biodiversity 
value at present.  

0 If the site was redeveloped 
the biodiversity of the 
overgrown land would need 
to be considered.  . 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known issues 0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Understood that the site 
may have previously 
been used for landfill and 
there could therefore be 
levels of contamination 
present. 

0 None. 
 
 

Page 712



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 3 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
The continued use of the 
site as a wharf has no 
positive or negative 
impacts in this regard, 
although alternative 
proposals for the site 
could provide an 
opportunity to address 
these issues. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

The allocation proposes 
the continued use of an 
existing established 
wharf facility. 
 
Alternative proposals for 
the site could allow for 
opportunities to enhance 
the river banks and 
additional measures to 
control run-off and 
discharge. 

0 None 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

The site is affected by 
flood water in an 
extreme event however 
modelled depths are 
shallow. 
 
The established use has 
operated under these 
conditions and therefore 
its continuation raises no 
significant issues in this 
regard, although 
alternative proposals for 
the site might allow for 
specific mitigation and 
measures to control run-
off and discharge. 

0 None 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The wharf facility 
supports the use of the 
Ship Canal as part of the 
city’s transport network.  
 
Dependent on access to 
the wharf beyond the 
immediate use, as part 

+ 
 

To consider ways to 
encourage wider use of 
wharf facilities in order to 
divert the transportation of 
freight/materials from road 
to water. 

Page 713



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 4 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

of a network of wharf 
infrastructure the use 
has the potential to have 
a positive impact on air 
quality by reducing the 
number and distance of 
HGV journeys.  

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

The wharf facility 
supports the use of the 
Ship Canal as part of the 
city’s transport network, 
which can help to 
minimise contributions to 
climate change by 
reducing the number and 
distance of HGV 
journeys. 

+ To consider ways to 
encourage wider use of 
wharf facilities in order to 
divert the transportation of 
freight/materials from road 
to water. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

The site is currently in 
use for reclamation and 
materials sorting. 
 
The wharf facility 
supports the use of the 
Ship Canal as part of the 
city’s transport network, 
which can help to 
minimise contributions to 
climate change by 
reducing the number and 
distance of HGV 
journeys. 

++ To consider ways to 
encourage wider use of 
wharf facilities in order to 
divert the transportation of 
freight/materials from road 
to water. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. 

0 None 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

Alternative proposals for 
the site could provide an 
opportunity to improve 
the setting of the ship 
canal however the site is 
an established use 
requiring a waterside 
location. 

0 None 

12) To protect and The site allows for the 0/+ To consider mitigation to 

Page 714



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 5 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

enhance 
amenity 

sorting of materials and 
their transportation by 
water. This can have 
benefits in terms of 
reducing the number of 
HGV movements and 
the distance covered. 
 
Whilst an established 
use, issues relating to 
noise were considered 
as part of a planning 
application for residential 
development on an 
adjoining site 
(Newhaven); these 
issues were mitigated 
against. It is possible 
that noise affects 
existing dwellings in the 
area also. 

reduce the impact of noise 
on surrounding sites. 
 
To consider ways to 
encourage wider use of 
wharf facilities in order to 
divert the transportation of 
freight/materials from road 
to water. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues 0 None 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The reclamation and 
sorting of materials 
provides a component 
part of the economy 
supporting other sectors. 
 
Wharf facilities provide 
an opportunity to enable 
the sustainable 
movement of materials 
and freight. There could 
be limitations on the 
number of other 
opportunities to deliver 
wharf facilities.    

+ Protection of the wharf 
facility unless is it shown 
that there is a lack of 
demand or that alternative 
provision can be made 
elsewhere. 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The reclamation and 
sorting of materials 
provides a component 
part of the economy 
supporting other sectors 
and providing local jobs 

+ None 

16) To improve the No specific impact 0 None 

Page 715



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 6 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

city’s 
knowledge 
base 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

Issues relating to noise 
from the wharf facility 
were considered as part 
of a planning application 
for residential 
development on an 
adjoining site. 
Appropriate mitigation 
was provided in that 
instance, although it is 
possible that the 
continued protection of 
the facility could limit the 
future supply of housing 
on other sites in the local 
area if mitigation is not 
possible. 

-/? To consider mitigation to 
reduce the impact of noise 
on surrounding sites. 
 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The use provides a local 
employment opportunity 
and enables additional 
connections to the site 
by water. 

+ To consider ways to 
encourage wider use of 
wharf facilities in order to 
divert the transportation of 
freight/materials from road 
to water. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The retention of an 
existing use raises no 
particular issues in this 
regard. 

0 None 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

The retention of an 
existing use raises no 
particular issues in this 
regard. 

0 None 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The retention of an 
existing use is unlikely to 
raise any specific issues 
in this regard however, 
along with Port Salford, 
the retention of the wharf 
facility shows a positive 
approach to the 
sustainable movement of 
materials and freight. 

0 None 

    

Site summary  The allocation retains the existing use of the site as a wharf 

Page 716



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 7 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
 

which contributes positively to sustainability objectives by 
providing a local employment opportunity, supporting other 
sectors and contributing to the sustainable movement of 
materials and freight. 
 
Nevertheless there are noise issues associated with the use 
which have the potential to restrict development on 
neighbouring sites. Alternative development proposals could 
also allow for improvements to land contamination, the 
recreation and wildlife function of the riverbank and surface 
water run-off and discharge. 
 

Conclusion The existing wharf facility provides an important role in 
diverting the transportation of freight/materials from road to 
water, and therefore has positive sustainability implications 
particularly in minimising the use of non-renewable resources. 
Allocating the site provides certainty over the long term future 
of the facility.  

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 717



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 8 

 

Policy CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium 

 
Appraised Use: Mixed use (retail / leisure) 
Site suggestion reference: IC020 Land at Salford City Stadium 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The site is identified for 
the development of 
tourism and related 
facilities. As part of a 
wider cluster of such 
uses in the wider locality, 
the site could have a 
positive impact on this 
objective by expanding 
the availability of 
recreation opportunities 
in the city. 
 
Whilst infrastructure 
improvements are 
underway and there are 
proposals for a new 
Metrolink connection to 
the area, it would be 
expected that the growth 
of the area as a tourism 
destination will add traffic 
to already congested 
local roads. This could 
have a negative impact 
on health with issues 
including air quality and 
stress.   
 
The growth of the 
location and the 
increased level of activity 
could have impacts on 
nearby residential 
properties in terms of 
noise.   

-/+ Minimise traffic levels by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes in 
accessing the site. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 
infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
Reduce local congestion 
through continued 
improvements to road 
infrastructure, having 
regard to growth proposed 
in neighbouring authorities. 
 
Have regard to the potential 
impact on nearby dwellings 
during scheme design. This 
could include the retention 
of mature vegetation which 
currently provides a buffer 
between the site and 
existing residential 
properties. 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 

Salteye Brook flows to 
the north and through 
the site. The Brook 

0 Development to retain the 
wildlife corridor function 
and biodiversity value of 

Page 718



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 9 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

biodiversity 
resources 

functions as a wildlife 
corridor and may also 
qualify as a priority 
habitat. 
 
Land to the immediate 
south of the site 
boundary alongside the 
Manchester Ship Canal 
would also be expected 
to function as a wildlife 
corridor. 
 
As a previously 
developed site it would 
be expected that the 
area could be developed 
with limited impacts on 
these resources.  

Salteye Brook and the 
Manchester Ship Canal. 
 
Development to include 
sustainable urban drainage 
systems such that run-off 
rates and discharge are 
appropriately controlled and 
water quality is maintained 
or improved. 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known issues 0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Site is previously 
developed land. 
 
Site is identified as grade 
3 agricultural land 
(grades 1 to 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile 
agricultural land). 
 
Understood that parts of 
the site have previously 
been landfill and 
therefore issues of land 
stability and 
contamination may need 
further investigation. 
However it would be 
expected that this could 
be addressed as part of 
the site’s development 
given recent 
development in the area. 

0 To investigate and address 
issues of land stability and 
contamination as part of the 
site’s redevelopment. 

Page 719



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 10 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

Increasing levels of 
development in this 
location has the potential 
to alter run-off rates and 
affect water quality in 
nearby watercourses. 
However it would be 
expected that this could 
be addressed as part of 
the site’s development. 

0 Development to include 
sustainable urban drainage 
systems such that run-off 
rates and discharge are 
appropriately controlled and 
water quality is maintained 
or improved 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Flooding from Salteye 
Brook covers parts of the 
site in 1 in 100 year and 
1 in 1000 year level 
events. 
 
Surface water flooding 
and potential 
groundwater flooding as 
a result of a shallow 
water table also affect 
parts of the site.  

- Scheme design to include 
flood risk mitigation 
 
Development to include 
sustainable urban drainage 
systems such that run-off 
rates and discharge are 
appropriately controlled. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The growth of the area 
as a tourist destination 
would be expected to 
lead to increases in local 
traffic and negative 
impacts on air quality.  

- Minimise traffic levels by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes in 
accessing the site. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 
infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
Reduce local congestion 
through continued 
improvements to road 
infrastructure, having 
regard to growth proposed 
in neighbouring authorities. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure, including tree 
planting. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

The growth of the area 
as a tourist destination 
would be expected to 
lead to increases in local 
traffic and further 
contributions towards air 

- Minimise traffic levels by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes in 
accessing the site. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 

Page 720



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 11 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

quality.  
 

infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is previously 
developed land. 
 
The development of the 
site will increase the use 
of non-renewable 
resources and as a 
growing tourist 
destination will lead to 
increases in local traffic. 
 
 

- Minimise traffic levels by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes in 
accessing the site. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 
infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
Reduce local congestion 
through continued 
improvements to road 
infrastructure, having 
regard to growth proposed 
in neighbouring authorities. 
 
Design standards relating 
to sustainable use of 
resources including energy 
and waste. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

In the context of 
development proposed 
at Port Salford, for which 
planning permission is in 
place, the proposals for 
this site are unlikely to 
have any increased 
impact on heritage 
assets in the vicinity of 
the site. 
 
There is evidence of 
archaeological remains 
in the area which could 
be affected by the site’s 
development. The 
redevelopment of the 
site could however 

0 Archaeological 
investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings.  

Page 721



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 12 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

provide a means to fund 
the site’s investigation 
and make appropriate 
provision for 
archaeological remains 
to be preserved and 
made accessible. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

Significant changes are 
already taking place 
within the site and on 
adjacent sites as part of 
the Port Salford Inter-
modal freight facility. The 
definition of a new 
townscape is therefore 
already underway and 
the site’s development 
will form a part of this. 
 
Salteye Brook and the 
Manchester Ship Canal, 
along with mature 
vegetation extending 
from their banks, provide 
features of landscape 
value.  
 
Mature trees and 
vegetation to the north of 
the Brook also provide a 
landscape buffer 
between the site and 
existing residential 
properties along New 
Hall Ave/ Greenfield Ave 
and Wilfred Ave. 
 

0 Development to maintain 
and enhance the landscape 
quality of Salteye Brook, 
the Manchester Ship Canal  
 
Retention of mature 
vegetation lining the banks 
of these watercourses, 
which also provides a 
buffer to existing residential 
properties. 
 
 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The concentration of 
further tourist and leisure 
facilities around existing 
resources within the city 
has the potential to 
create an attractive 
leisure destination of 
benefit to the city’s 
residents as well as 
visitors to the city. 

-/+ Minimise traffic levels by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes in 
accessing the site. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 
infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
Reduce local congestion 

Page 722



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 13 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
Development could 
potentially lead to 
increased levels of traffic 
and noise in the local 
area which could have a 
negative impact on 
nearby residents.  

through continued 
improvements to road 
infrastructure, having 
regard to growth proposed 
in neighbouring authorities. 
 
Have regard to the potential 
impact on nearby dwellings 
during scheme design. This 
could include the retention 
of mature vegetation which 
currently provides a buffer 
between the site and 
existing residential 
properties. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

Increased levels of 
activity in the area could 
have a positive impact 
as a result of the 
increase in natural 
surveillance. 
 

+ To consider issues of crime 
in scheme design, which 
could include specific 
measures to increase 
overlooking of public routes 
and areas, most notably the 
canal-side walkway and 
Liverpool Road.  

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The development of 
further tourism and 
leisure facilities in the 
area would be expected 
to further enhance this 
part of Greater 
Manchester (also 
including the 
Bridgewater Canal, RHS 
Garden Bridgewater, 
Worsley Village and the 
Trafford Centre) as a 
tourist destination. 
 
This would be expected 
to have a positive 
economic impact, 
drawing further 
investment, spending 
and jobs into the city. 

++ Measures to improve 
access to the site and links 
to other nearby destinations 
in order to maximise 
appeal. 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The site has the potential 
to accommodate a range 
of uses and jobs which 
should make a positive 

+/++ To ensure employment 
opportunities are 
accessible to local people 
through improvements to 

Page 723



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 14 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

addition to opportunities 
within the city. 
 
There are proposals to 
improve public transport 
access to the site 
however, at the current 
time, sustainable 
transport options would 
appear limited beyond 
the local area. This could 
therefore limit the 
accessibility of jobs to 
some of the city’s 
residents. 

transport infrastructure, 
with a focus on sustainable 
modes. 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The potentially positive 
impact of development to 
economic inclusion could 
have indirect benefits for 
this objective through in 
employment learning 
opportunities. 
 
The redevelopment of 
the site could provide a 
means to fund the site’s 
investigation and make 
appropriate provision for 
archaeological remains 
to be preserved and 
made accessible. 

+ To ensure employment 
opportunities are 
accessible to local people 
through improvements to 
transport infrastructure, 
with a focus on sustainable 
modes. 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The provision of 
additional tourism, 
leisure and employment 
opportunities within the 
city could have a positive 
impact on the 
attractiveness of 
dwellings in accessible 
areas. 
 
The local impact of 
further development in 
this location including 
traffic, activity and noise 
could have the potential 
impact on dwellings 

-/+ Minimise traffic levels and 
maximise accessibility by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 
infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
Maximise accessibility and 
reduce local congestion 
through continued 
improvements to road 
infrastructure, having 
regard to growth proposed 
in neighbouring authorities. 

Page 724



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 15 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

directly adjacent to the 
site.  

 
Have regard to the potential 
impact on nearby dwellings 
during scheme design. This 
could include the retention 
of mature vegetation which 
currently provides a buffer 
between the site and 
existing residential 
properties. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The provision of 
additional tourism, 
leisure and employment 
opportunities within the 
city would be expected 
to have a positive impact 
on this objective.  
 
Increased traffic levels 
could however add to 
existing congestion 
levels which could have 
a negative impact on 
travel times to those 
travelling from, to or 
through the area. 

+ Minimise traffic levels and 
maximise accessibility by 
encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes. This 
could include the provision 
of new public transport 
infrastructure such as 
Metrolink. 
 
Maximise accessibility and 
reduce local congestion 
through continued 
improvements to road 
infrastructure, having 
regard to growth proposed 
in neighbouring authorities. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The site’s development 
would be expected to 
have a limited impact in 
this regard however the 
stadium and expansion 
of facilities in the 
surrounding area could 
provide opportunities for 
community based 
events. 

0/+ To encourage the use of 
the stadium and 
surrounding area for 
community based events. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents and 
businesses prior to any 
planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

As part of a major cluster 
of tourist and leisure 
facilities (also including 
the Bridgewater Canal, 
RHS Garden 

++ Measures to ensure that 
the visitor experience is a 
high quality one, including: 
 

 The availability of 

Page 725



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 16 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Bridgewater, Worsley 
Village and the Trafford 
Centre), high quality 
development to further 
expand this provision 
could have a strong 
positive impact on 
people’s perceptions of 
the city.  

sustainable transport 
options to the site and 
to other local 
tourist/leisure 
destinations 

 Measures to address 
issues of road 
congestion 

 High quality 
development to 
contribute to a safe 
and attractive 
destination 

 A vibrant and 
complementary mix of 
uses in order to 
maximise appeal 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site’s development raises a number of sustainability 
issues, perhaps most significantly relating to the site’s 
accessibility, biodiversity value and archaeological heritage.  
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 High quality development and a vibrant and 
complementary mix of uses in order to maximise the 
appeal of the location. 

 Improve access to the site and links to other nearby 
destinations, particularly by sustainable modes, in order 
to maximise appeal. 

 Continue improvements to road infrastructure having 
regard to growth proposed in neighbouring authorities. 

 Limit the impact on nearby dwellings through scheme 
design, which could include the retention of mature 
vegetation which currently provides a buffer between 
the site and existing residential properties. 

 Retain the wildlife corridor function and biodiversity 
value of Salteye Brook and the Manchester Ship Canal. 

 Incorporate green infrastructure, including tree planting. 

 Include flood risk mitigation and sustainable urban 
drainage systems such that run-off rates and discharge 
are appropriately controlled. 

 Investigate and address issues of land stability and 
contamination as part of the site’s redevelopment. 

Page 726



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 17 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures taken to protect, enhance and enable the 
appreciation of any findings. 

 Design standards relating to sustainable use of 
resources including energy and waste. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 To have regard to issues of crime in scheme design, 
which could include specific measures to increase 
overlooking of public routes and areas, most notably the 
canal-side walkway and Liverpool Road. 

 Encourage the use of the stadium and surrounding area 
for community based events. 

 Early engagement of local residents and businesses 
prior to any planning application. 

Conclusion The land forms part of a wider tourism area and would support 
the economy, providing job opportunities for local people.  
 
There is the potential some negative sustainability implications, 
however it is considered that these could be acceptably 
mitigated against. Revised Deposit Draft Policy CT3, which 
encourages a mix of uses that will increase activity at the 
stadium, specifically addresses a number of the issues 
identified above relating to improvements in accessibility 
(including walking and cycling routes), the protection and 
enhancement of Salteye Brook as a wildlife corridor, and the 
need to mitigate flood risk. The specific requirements of policy 
CT3 are further supplemented by policies elsewhere in the 
plan, particularly those within the fairness, accessibility, design, 
recreation, water and green infrastructure chapters.   
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site provides certainty around the vision 
for the area and the uses that will contribute to it. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 727



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 18 

Policy EC5/2 Salford Innovation Park  

 
Appraised use: Employment / Innovation Park  
Site suggestion reference: - 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The allocation will 
support the 
enhancement and 
expansion of Salford 
Innovation Park which 
would be expected to 
contribute positively to 
the city economy, the 
University of Salford and 
encourage the use of 
sustainable modes of 
transport given the 
potential to walk / cycle 
from Salford Crescent 
Station and the bus 
services on the A6 in 
particular.   

+ To ensure high quality 
walking and cycling routes 
through the University 
campus. 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The allocation will 
encourage the 
redevelopment of 
existing employment 
sites to provide the 
Innovation park 
opportunity.  

0 None 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features 0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

The allocation will 
encourage the 
redevelopment of 
existing employment 
sites to provide the 
Innovation park 
opportunity. 

+ None 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

The allocation will 
encourage the 
redevelopment of 
existing employment 
sites to provide the 

+ None 

Page 728



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 19 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Innovation park 
opportunity. 
Redevelopment could 
provide opportunities to 
incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Parts of the allocation 
are affected by surface 
water in an extreme 
event but to relatively 
low levels. The north 
eastern most corner of 
the allocation is within an 
area identified as 
vulnerable to 
groundwater flooding. 
 
This would not be 
expected to limit 
development.  
 
New development could 
incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage systems. 

0 Flood risk mitigation to be 
included in the design of 
any development 
 
May be potential to 
contribute to a reduction in  
surface water flooding in 
the area through the 
incorporation of sustainable 
urban drainage systems. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The Innovation Park 
opportunity is linked to 
the University. The 
location adjacent to the 
University and in walking 
distance from Salford 
Crescent and the A6 
provides opportunities to 
use sustainable forms of 
transport.  

+ To ensure high quality 
walking and cycling routes 
through the University 
campus. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

As above + To ensure high quality 
walking and cycling routes 
through the University 
campus. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

As above + To ensure high quality 
walking and cycling routes 
through the University 
campus. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 

Heritage assets in the 
local area include the 
lodge at David Lewis 
Recreation Ground and 

0 To assess in further detail 
as specific proposals are 
forthcoming. 

Page 729



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 20 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

the city’s 
heritage 

the Norweb offices on 
Frederick Road. Both are 
locally listed assets. 
Whilst this would need to 
be assessed having 
regard to the scale of 
development ultimately 
proposed, it would seem 
unlikely that 
development within the 
allocation would 
significantly impact 
significantly on these 
assets.  
 
No known archaeological 
assets. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

Potential for townscape 
improvements through 
industrial and underused 
sites. 
 
Any impacts on 
landscapes David Lewis 
Sports Ground but 
existing mature trees 
that bordered this area 
could ensure that 
impacts would be limited. 

0/+ None 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Much of the allocation 
covers existing 
employment premises 
with similar uses 
surrounding. There are 
however a limited 
number of residential 
properties within and 
adjacent to the 
allocation. There is 
therefore the potential for 
impacts on amenity and 
this will be an important 
consideration for future 
masterplanning. 

-/? The amenity of existing 
residents in the area will be 
an important consideration 
for future masterplanning. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

Vacant and underused 
sites can attract anti-
social behaviour. 

++ Scheme design to have 
regard to issues of crime, 
including promoting activity 

Page 730



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 21 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
The redevelopment of 
the area provides an 
opportunity to generate 
further activity and 
natural surveillance 
through the appropriate 
design and layout of 
development. 

and natural surveillance of 
public routes and spaces. 
 
 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The innovation park and 
its links to the 
University’s Industrial 
Collaboration Zone 
priorities could have a 
significant positive 
impact on economic 
growth. 
 
The proposals do 
however relate to 
existing employment 
premises and therefore a 
number of existing 
occupiers could be 
affected. 

++ To consider the relocation 
of existing occupiers. 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Positive contribution to 
economic growth could 
have general benefits in 
terms of economic 
inclusion. However the 
proposal relates to high 
skilled employment and 
the direct benefits to this 
objective could be more 
limited. 

+ None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The proposal is directly 
linked to the University’s 
Industrial Collaboration 
Zone priorities and could 
make a major positive 
contribution to the city’s 
knowledge base, 
particular if it helps to 
retain graduates within 
the city.  

++ None 

17) To ensure that Employment scheme, 0 None 

Page 731



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 22 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

limited impacts in this 
regard. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The allocation builds on 
the existing Innovation 
Park and is located 
adjacent to the 
University with which it is 
linked. Opportunities to 
travel by sustainable 
modes are available via 
Salford Crescent and the 
bus services along the 
A6 in particular.   

++ To ensure high quality 
walking and cycling routes 
through the University 
campus. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Unlikely to have any 
significant impact on 
community cohesion 
other than linked to the 
amenity issues above. 

0 The amenity of existing 
residents in the area will be 
an important consideration 
for future masterplanning 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific. ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents and 
businesses prior to any 
planning application. 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The proposal could be a 
significant addition to the 
economic offer within the 
city and the University 
and as such has the 
potential to make a 
positive contribution to 
perceptions of the city. 

+ None 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The allocation supports the aspirations in the University of 
Salford and Salford Crescent masterplan to deliver an 
expanded and enhanced Innovation Park linked to Salford 
University. It has the potential to contribute significantly to 
economic growth and the city’s knowledge base. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 To incorporate green infrastructure with consideration 
given to the movement of wildlife through the site. 

Page 732



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 23 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 Scheme design to have regard to issues of amenity for 
dwellings within and adjacent to the allocation.  

 Scheme design to encourage walking and cycling to 
nearby services, facilities and public transport 
connections. 

 Design standards in relation to efficient use of resources 
including energy, water and waste. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 To incorporate sustainable urban drainage. 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents and 
businesses prior to any planning application. 

 Early engagement with existing businesses and assist in 
their relocation as appropriate within the local area. 

 Scheme design to have regard to issues of crime, 
including promoting activity and natural surveillance of 
public routes and spaces. 

 To enhance the local townscape with high quality design 
and a comprehensive development scheme. 

Conclusion The allocation supports an existing proposal for the expansion 
and enhancement of Salford Innovation Park. The proposal 
could have significant positive benefits relating to economic 
growth and education and is in a sustainable location. An 
important issue for future development will be the amenity of 
existing residents in the area and the Revised Draft Local Plan 
design policies address this issue. The other mitigation issues 
highlighted are similar addressed throughout the plan, 
including policies within the fairness, design, accessibility, 
water and green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 733



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 24 

Policy H9/1 Land west of Hayes Road, Cadishead  

 
Appraised use: Housing 
Site suggestion reference: IC002 Hayes Road 
 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Issues of noise and 
odour from Cadishead 
Way and Lanstar have 
been identified as part 
of previous strategy 
development and would 
potentially require 
mitigation. 
 
The site lies within a 
hazardous notification 
zone associated with a 
facility in Trafford. The 
majority of the site is in 
the ‘outer’ zone which 
would not be expected 
to constrain housing 
development. 
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
There are also 
recreation opportunities 
in the local area. 
 
Significant site 
contamination has been 
identified as part of 
previous strategy 
development and would 
need to be addressed 
to avoid any risk in this 
regard. 

- Odour and noise 
mitigation to be 
addressed as part of 
development layout and 
building design. 
 
To address issues of 
land contamination  

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Site has little value for 
wildlife or species at 
present. 
Redevelopment for 
residential could 
improve the existing 

+ None 

Page 734



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 25 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

situation through the 
provision of green 
infrastructure and the 
biological value of 
residential gardens. 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known issues of 
geological importance.  

0 None 

4)   To protect 
and improve 
soil and land 
resources 

Redevelopment of 
previously developed 
land currently occupied 
by office and industrial/ 
warehouse 
accommodation. 
 
Significant site 
contamination has been 
identified as part of 
previous strategy 
development. 
Residential 
redevelopment could 
provide an opportunity 
to address this issue.  

+ To address issues of 
land contamination  

5)   To protect 
and enhance 
water 
resources 

The site is currently 
developed and the 
change to residential 
could provide 
opportunities to improve 
water management 
within the site.  
 
Given the proximity of 
the Manchester Ship 
Canal, addressing 
issues of land 
contamination could 
have the potential to 
have a positive impact 
on local water quality. 

+ Incorporate sustainable 
water management. 
 
Address issues of land 
contamination. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Southern margins of the 
site are within the 1 in 
1000 year flood risk 
area. 

+ Design to take account 
of flood risk and 
contributions to be 
minimised through 

Page 735



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 26 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

 
The site is currently 
developed and the 
change to residential 
could provide 
opportunities to improve 
water management 
within the site in order 
to reduce contributions 
to water levels. 

sustainable water 
management. 
 
 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is currently in 
employment use. It is 
unclear to what extent 
the redevelopment of 
the site for residential 
uses would impact upon 
air quality over the 
existing situation.  
 
The site does however 
have a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
Whilst the loss of an 
employment area has 
the potential to reduce 
locally accessible 
opportunities, the area 
is well-catered given the 
proximity of Northbank 
Industrial Estate. 

0/? Redevelopment of the 
site incorporating green 
infrastructure could 
make a positive 
contribution to local air 
quality. 
 
Promotion of sustainable 
transport options. 
 
 

8)   To minimise 
contributions 
to climate 
change 

The site is currently in 
employment use. It is 
unclear to what extent 
the redevelopment of 
the site for residential 
uses would impact upon 
air quality over the 
existing situation.  
 
The site does however 
have a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities.  
 
Modern development 
provides an opportunity 

0/? Promotion of sustainable 
transport options. 
 
Design standards 
relating to sustainable 
use of resources 
including energy and 
waste. 

Page 736



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 27 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

to achieve higher levels 
of design standard in 
relation to energy and 
other resource use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of 
non-
renewable 
resources 

Previously developed 
site. 
 
The demolition of 
existing buildings and 
redevelopment for 
residential will result in 
the further consumption 
of non-renewable 
resources. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities 
and modern 
development provides 
an opportunity to 
achieve higher levels of 
design standards in 
terms of resource use. 

-/0 Promotion of sustainable 
transport options. 
 
Design standards 
relating to sustainable 
use of resources 
including energy and 
waste. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation 
of, the city’s 
heritage 

Locally listed buildings 
directly opposite the site 
at the junction of 
Liverpool Road. Likely 
to be minimal impacts 
from the development 
of the site but will be a 
consideration for the 
closest corner of the 
allocation. 
 
No known 
archaeological remains 
of national importance 
but some potential for 
archaeological finds. 

0 Archaeological 
investigation of the site 
and appropriate 
measures to protect, 
enhance and enable the 
appreciation of any 
findings. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality 
and character 
of landscape 
and 

The site’s 
redevelopment provides 
an opportunity to 
improve the townscape 
given that the site 
includes underused and 

++ Development to respect 
local townscape. 

Page 737



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 28 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

townscape derelict sites. 

12) To protect 
and enhance 
amenity 

Main issues relate to 
odour and noise 
associated Lanstar and 
Cadishead Way.  
 
The redevelopment of 
the site would be 
expected to improve the 
environment of the local 
area for existing 
residents with amenity 
benefits. 

+ Odour and noise to be 
addressed in 
development layout and 
building design. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

Site includes derelict 
land which is 
understood to have 
suffered vandalism in 
the past.  

+ Ensure development 
addresses issues of 
design and crime. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that 
can be 
sustained in 
the long-term 

Loss of employment 
accommodation could 
have a negative impact 
on this objective, 
although there is a 
considerable supply in 
the wider area 
 
Redevelopment utilises 
an underused 
previously developed 
site, is likely to make a 
positive contribution to 
housing offer in the city 
and supports the house 
building industry. 

0/+ To ensure new 
residential development 
does not create new 
conflicts between 
employment and 
residential uses which 
could lead to further loss 
of local businesses and 
jobs. 
 
To consider measures to 
facilitate the relocation 
of businesses within the 
local area. 
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Loss of an employment 
area has the potential to 
reduce locally 
accessible opportunities 
although the area is 
well-catered for 
employment given the 
proximity of Northbank 
Industrial Estate, and 
also Port Salford in the 
wider area.  
 

+ 
 

To ensure new 
residential development 
does not create new 
conflicts between 
employment and 
residential uses which 
could lead to further loss 
of local businesses and 
jobs. 
 
To consider measures to 
facilitate the relocation 

Page 738



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 29 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

Households would 
therefore have access 
to a range of local job 
opportunities. 

of businesses within the 
local area. 
 

16) To improve 
the city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure in terms of 
pupil place planning. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected pupils in new 
households can be 
adequately 
accommodated within 
the capacity of local 
school provision.  

17) To ensure 
that everyone 
has access to 
a good home 
that meets 
their needs 

Redevelopment adds to 
the city’s supply of 
housing. The site has a 
good level of access to 
services and facilities. 

+ None 

18) To improve 
the 
accessibility 
of facilities 
and 
opportunities 

The site has a good 
level of access to 
services and facilities. 
 
There are significant 
employment 
opportunities in the 
local area. 

++ None 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

No particular issues. 0 None 

20) To increase 
involvement 
in decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early 
engagement of local 
residents and 
businesses prior to any 
planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

A scheme in this 
location would improve 
the local environment 
and the profile to 
Cadishead Way given 
that the site includes 
vacant and derelict 
land. It would therefore 
be expected to improve 
perceptions at the local 
level. 

+ None 

    

Page 739



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 30 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

Site summary: 
 
 
 

Provided that issues of land contamination, odour and noise can 
be effectively mitigated, the site does not appear to raise any 
significant issues that would be likely to prevent its 
development. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents and 
businesses prior to any planning application. 

 Odour and noise mitigation to be addressed as part of 
development layout and building design. 

 Address issues of land contamination. 

 Design to take account of flood risk.  

 Incorporate sustainable water management measures 

 Design standards relating to sustainable use of resources 
including energy and waste. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 To ensure new residential development does not create 
new conflicts between employment and residential uses 
which could lead to further loss of local businesses and 
jobs. 

 To consider measures to facilitate the relocation of 
businesses within the local area. 

 Promotion of sustainable transport options. 

 To ensure site’s development addresses issues of design 
and crime. 

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the 
appreciation of any findings. 
 

Conclusion The site includes occupied and vacant employment land. 
Development for housing would offer the potential to support the 
enhancement of the local area, although there would potentially 
be the need for mitigation measures as a result of any 
development, particularly odour and noise from adjoining 
employment land. These issues are fully set out within Revised 
Draft Local Plan Policy H9/1 and are similarly addressed in 
other policies within the plan relating to design, amenity, air 
quality and pollution. The allocation of the site for housing would 
remove any uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such 
use, subject to criteria within the plan being complied with. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 

Page 740



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 31 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order to 
provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 741



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 32 

Policy: H9/2 Castle Irwell 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion references: ES016 Castle Irwell 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The site is a mix of 
previously developed 
and greenfield land 
including playing fields 
and changing rooms. 
The loss of playing fields 
and other areas of 
greenfield land used for 
recreation could have a 
negative impact on this 
objective. 
 
The site has good 
access to a range of 
recreation areas, most 
notably Littleton Road 
playing fields and the 
riverside walkway. 
Residents would 
therefore have 
opportunities to partake 
in active pursuits. 
 
 

+ Encourage walking and 
cycling by 
 

 improving access and 
encouraging the use of 
public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway; 

 protecting and 
improving the existing 
Cromwell Road local 
centre to improve local 
choice and encourage 
walking and cycling 

 maximising densities in 
the site’s more 
accessible locations 
towards Cromwell 
Road. 

 
To protect or replace 
existing playing fields and 
changing rooms. 
 
To incorporate new areas 
of green infrastructure to 
encourage active pursuits 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Parts of the site have 
been identified as priority 
habitats and, together 
with the proximity of the 
waterway and areas of 
mature woodland and 
vegetation, the site 
would be expected to be 
supporting wildlife.  
 

- Retention of mature 
woodland and vegetation 
 
Utilise green infrastructure 
to integrate existing 
landscape features and the 
waterway to promote the 
movement of flora and 
fauna.  
 
Incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage in order to 
avoid impacts on wildlife 
through water quality. 

Page 742



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 33 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known geological 
resources, however 
riverbanks have 
previously been 
identified as some of the 
city’s more interesting 
features in this regard. 

0 To avoid any negative 
impacts on any features of 
geological significance 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

The site is a mix of 
previously developed 
and greenfield land.  
 

0 Investigate and address 
issues of land 
contamination and stability. 
 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

The site’s proximity to 
the River Irwell could 
result in impacts upon 
water quality unless 
properly managed.  
 
A comprehensive 
residential scheme could 
provide opportunities to 
incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage. 

0/+ To incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage to avoid 
impacts on water quality. 
Green infrastructure 
presents an opportunity in 
this regard. 
 
 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Environment Agency 
data suggests that the 
majority of the site is in 
flood zone 2 with a small 
part within zone 3.  
  
The comprehensive 
redevelopment of the 
site could however 
provide a major 
opportunity to 
incorporate flood 
infrastructure to reduce 
the risk overall. 
 

++ Incorporate flood risk 
mitigation and sustainable 
urban drainage, with a 
potential opportunity to 
utilise green infrastructure, 
in order to contribute to the 
reduction of hazard on-site 
and elsewhere 
 
 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site’s development 
for residential would be 
expected to have a 
negative impact on air 
quality, including the 
increase in local traffic. 
This could in part be off-
set if redevelopment 
involves the loss of 

- Encourage walking and 
cycling by 
 

 improving access and 
encouraging the use of 
public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway; 

 protecting and 

Page 743



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 34 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

existing employment 
premises. 
 
The site has good 
access to a range of 
services, facilities, open 
spaces and bus 
connections along 
Littleton Road and 
Cromwell Road.  
 
A small area of the site 
immediately to Cromwell 
Road is affected by the 
air quality management 
area. This is unlikely to 
have an impact on 
development. 
 

improving the existing 
Cromwell Road local 
centre to improve local 
choice and encourage 
walking and cycling 

 maximising densities in 
the site’s more 
accessible locations 
towards Cromwell 
Road. 

 
Protection of mature trees 
and vegetation and 
incorporate green 
infrastructure given positive 
impacts it can have on air 
quality. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

As above, it would be 
expected that the site’s 
redevelopment would 
increase contributions to 
climate change given 
that much of it is 
currently undeveloped. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has good levels of 
access and new 
development provides an 
opportunity to 
incorporate high 
standards in relation to 
the sustainable use of 
resources including 
energy and waste.  
 

 

- Encourage walking and 
cycling by 
 

 improving access and 
encouraging the use of 
public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway; 

 protecting and 
improving the existing 
Cromwell Road local 
centre to improve local 
choice and encourage 
walking and cycling 

 maximising densities in 
the site’s more 
accessible locations 
towards Cromwell 
Road. 

 
Design standards relating 
to sustainable use of 
resources including energy 
and waste. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 

Site is greenfield in parts 
and its development will 
increase the 

- Encourage walking and 
cycling by 
 

Page 744



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 35 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

resources consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
Whilst the site presents 
options in terms of the 
use of sustainable 
modes of transport, parts 
may be car dependent. 
 
New development 
presents an opportunity 
to incorporate high 
standards in relation to 
the sustainable use of 
resources including 
energy and waste.  
 
 

 improving access and 
encouraging the use of 
public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway; 

 protecting and 
improving the existing 
Cromwell Road local 
centre to improve local 
choice and encourage 
walking and cycling 

 maximising densities in 
the site’s more 
accessible locations 
towards Cromwell 
Road. 
 

Design standards relating 
to sustainable use of 
resources including energy 
and waste. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There is a grade II listed 
building (the former Co-
operative 
building, 1 Littleton 
Road) in close proximity 
to the site. Additionally 
there is one locally listed 
heritage asset located 
within the site 
(Manchester racecourse 
turnstiles).  
 
The Cliff conservation 
area lies just to the east 
of the site most eastern 
boundary on the 
opposite bank of the 
River Irwell.  
 
The site has previously 

0/+ Ensure that development 
proposals protect and 
enhance heritage assets 
and their settings. 
 
Archaeological 
investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings. 

Page 745



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 36 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

been developed for 
student accommodation, 
now demolished. 
 
Redevelopment of the 
site provides an 
opportunity to retain and 
reuse the turnstile 
building as well as 
introduce new 
information boards. 
 
The site allocation does 
not contain any known 
archaeological remains 
of national importance 
that would merit 
preservation in-situ. 
However there is 
considerably potential for 
the survival of 
archaeological remains, 
particularly in the north-
west half of the site 
pertaining to the growth 
of Salford’s printing and 
bleaching industry.   

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The redevelopment of 
the land presents an 
opportunity to improve 
the local townscape.  
 
The development of 
greenfield areas could 
result in the loss of some 
landscape features 
although it would be 
expected that more 
significant areas of 
mature trees and 
vegetation could be 
incorporated into a 
comprehensive scheme.  
 
The site’s proximity to 
the River Irwell provides 
an opportunity to 

+ To retain areas of mature 
trees and vegetation as 
part of a comprehensive 
approach to green 
infrastructure. 
 
Ensure that development 
contributes to an attractive 
townscape. 
 
Ensure that development 
takes advantage and 
contributes positively to the 
landscape character of the 
River Irwell. 

Page 746



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 37 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

develop dwellings in an 
attractive setting but also 
a need to ensure that 
development contributes 
positively to the 
landscape character of 
this area.  

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The loss of greenfield 
areas within the site 
could be seen as 
negatively, although new 
green infrastructure 
could be provided as 
part of a comprehensive 
scheme. 
 
The potential increase in 
population could allow 
for an increased range of 
services and facilities 
within the nearby local 
centre. 

+ Ensure the sensitive 
integration of existing 
dwellings. 
 
Ensure that new 
development makes a 
positive improvement to the 
local environment. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure as part of 
new development and 
coordinate it with the 
protection and 
enhancement of existing 
landscape features and the 
riverside walkway.  
 
Protect and improve the 
existing Cromwell Road 
local centre to improve the 
availability of services and 
facilities. 
 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

The redevelopment of 
vacant land could allow 
for increased 
surveillance of existing 
dwellings and public 
routes.  
 

+ To ensure development 
addresses issues of design 
and crime, in particular that 
development promotes 
overlooking and the use of 
public routes, in particular 
the riverside walkway. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

Redevelopment would 
(in part) utilise 
underused previously 
developed sites and is 
likely to make a positive 
contribution to the 
housing offer in the city 
in support of the house 
building industry. 

0 None.  

Page 747



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 38 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

  

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The site would provide 
quality new housing in a 
relatively deprived area. 

+ None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

Given the size of the site 
the increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under 
significant pressure to 
accommodate the 
additional population. 
 
 

-/0 Need to ensure the 
expected increase in pupils 
from new households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision, or set aside land 
within the site for additional 
school provision.  
 
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site presents an 
opportunity to develop 
an attractive residential 
area with a waterside 
setting, adding to range 
of accommodation within 
the city. 
 
 
 

+ Development to take 
advantage of its waterside 
setting in terms of design 
and access. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The site has a good level 
of access to services 
and facilities. 
 
There are significant 
employment 
opportunities in the local 
area. 

+ Higher population to 
support uses in existing 
centre 
 
Protect and improve the 
existing Cromwell Road 
local centre to improve 
local choice. Consider 
provision of additional 
services and facilities as 
part of comprehensive 
approach to the area. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

New development has 
the potential to improve 
the local environment 
and encourage activity 
along public routes 
which could make a 
positive contribution to 
cohesion.  
 

+ Early involvement of local 
residents and businesses in 
the planning application 
process. 
 
Careful integration of 
existing dwellings. 
 
New development to 

Page 748



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 39 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

The increase in 
population could support 
additional services and 
facilities at Cromwell 
Road Local centre, 
enhancing its role as a 
meeting place and 
promoting interaction. 

improve the urban 
environment, encourage 
activity and improve natural 
surveillance of public 
routes. 
 
Protect and improve the 
existing Cromwell Road 
local centre to improve 
local choice and community 
interaction. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents and 
businesses prior to any 
planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The redevelopment of 
this area has the 
potential to increase the 
use, and improve the 
setting of the walkway 
running alongside the 
River Irwell. As part of 
the Irwell Valley 
recreation area 
development in this 
location has a profile and 
a high quality 
development could make 
a positive contribution to 
this objective. 
 
 

+/0 To ensure high quality 
development that takes 
advantage of its riverside 
setting in terms of design 
and access.  
 
 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

Provided that issues of flood risk can be effectively mitigated, 
the site does not appear to raise any significant sustainability 
issues that would be likely to prevent its development. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Flood risk to be mitigated against and reflected in scheme 
design and layout. 

 Incorporate sustainable urban drainage systems in order to 
protect water quality and prevent further contributions to 

Page 749



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 40 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

flood risk in the area. 

 Improve access and increase the use of public routes, 
particularly the riverside walkway. 

 Protect and improve the existing Cromwell Road local 
centre to improve local choice. Consider provision of 
additional services and facilities as part of comprehensive 
approach to area. 

 Encourage the maximisation of densities in the site’s more 
accessible locations towards Cromwell Road. 

 Protect or replace existing playing fields and changing 
rooms. 

 Retain existing priority habitats and landscape features, 
and use new green infrastructure to retain and encourage 
the movement of flora and fauna. 

 Design standards relating to sustainable use of resources 
including energy and waste. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Ensure that development proposals protect and enhance 
heritage assets and their settings. 

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the appreciation 
of any findings. 

 To consider and mitigate as required the capacity of local 
schools to absorb the increase in population. 

 Careful integration of existing dwellings in the area. 

 Early consultation with local businesses and residents in 
the planning application. 

 

Conclusion The site comprises the former Castle Irwell student village 
which has been vacated following the relocation of student 
accommodation to the University of Salford Peel Park campus. 
Development for new housing would offer the potential to 
diversify the supply of housing in the local area (including the 
provision of affordable housing), although there would need to 
be mitigation for a number of issues highlighted in this 
assessment. In particular there is a need to mitigate against 
flood risk and provide appropriate replacement and/or 
compensation for the loss of the sports pitches and changing 
rooms.  
 
Revised Draft Local Plan Policy H9/2 outlines a number of 
requirements for this site that address issues raised above 
including in relation to flood risk, environmental quality, 
protection of waterways and mature tree, links to Charlestown 
Local Centre, heritage assets, playing fields and school 

Page 750



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 41 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

provision. The policy’s requirements are supplemented by a 
number of other policies in the plan to address all of the issues 
raised, including requirements for an inclusive planning 
process in the fairness chapter, local character and amenity in 
the design chapter, and the promotion of walking and cycling in 
the accessibility chapter.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 751



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 42 

Policy H9/3 Land east of Langley Road 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion references: ES012 Hercules; ES013 Langley Road; and ES014 East 
of Langley Road.  
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Parts of the site are 
identified as former 
mining and landfill. 
Issues of land stability 
and contamination could 
require further 
investigation. A history of 
industry on parts of the 
site could also contribute 
to levels of 
contamination. However 
it would be expected that 
these issues could be 
addressed as part of a 
comprehensive 
development scheme.  
 
The site has good 
access to a range of 
recreation areas, most 
notably Littleton Road 
playing fields and the 
riverside walkway. 
Residents would 
therefore have 
opportunities to partake 
in active pursuits. 
 
Langley road is currently 
a mixed environment of 
industry and residential 
uses. The 
redevelopment of the 
site could have benefits 
in improving the local 
environment and, 
through activity and 
overlooking, improve the 
route as a pedestrian 
and cycleway. 

+ Encourage walking and 
cycling by improving 
access and encouraging 
the use of public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway and Langley 
Road. 
 
Investigate and address 
issues of land 
contamination and stability. 
 
Attention to be given to the 
interface between 
residential and industrial 
uses to avoid any negative 
impacts in terms of health.  
 
To incorporate new areas 
of green infrastructure to 
encourage active pursuits 

Page 752



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 43 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Nevertheless, it is less 
likely that residents will 
be reliant on active 
modes of transport.  
 
The potential loss of 
local employment 
opportunities could 
reduce opportunities for 
walking and cycling to 
work, however there is a 
wider concentration of 
employment uses in the 
local area. 
 
There is the potential for 
conflicts between 
industrial and residential 
uses in close proximity, 
for example in terms of 
noise which can have a 
negative impact on 
health unless properly 
mitigated.  

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Redevelopment of land 
occupied by office and 
industrial/ warehouse 
accommodation.  
 
Biodiversity value within 
the site is most likely to 
come from the riverside 
walkway. 

0 Incorporates high levels of 
green infrastructure and 
provides opportunities for 
the movement of wildlife.  

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known geological 
resources however 
riverbanks have 
previously been 
identified as some of the 
city’s more interesting 
features in this regard. 

0 To avoid any negative 
impacts on any features of 
geological significance 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

The site is previously 
developed land.  
 
Parts of the site have a 
history of mining, landfill 
and industry which could 
suggest issues of land 

0 Investigate and address 
issues of land 
contamination and stability. 
 

Page 753



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 44 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

contamination and 
instability. It would be 
expected that these 
issues could be 
addressed as part of a 
comprehensive scheme. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

The site’s proximity to 
the River Irwell could 
result in impacts upon 
water quality unless 
properly managed.  
 
The site’s history of 
landfill and industry 
could suggest levels of 
land contamination 
which have the potential 
to impact on water 
quality if affecting 
groundwater and run-off. 
 
A comprehensive 
residential scheme could 
provide opportunities to 
address issues of 
contamination and 
incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage. 

0/+ To incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage to avoid 
impacts on water quality. 
Green infrastructure 
presents an opportunity in 
this regard. 
 
Investigate and address 
issues of land 
contamination. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Environment Agency 
data suggests that parts 
of the site are in flood 
zone 2.  
 
The comprehensive 
redevelopment of the 
site could provide a 
major opportunity to 
incorporate flood 
infrastructure to reduce 
the risk overall. 
 

+ Incorporate flood risk 
mitigation and sustainable 
urban drainage, with a 
potential opportunity to 
utilise green infrastructure, 
in order to contribute to the 
reduction of hazard on-site 
and elsewhere 
 
 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site’s development 
for residential would be 
expected to have a 
negative impact on air 
quality, including the 
increase in local traffic. 

- Encourage walking and 
cycling by improving 
access and encouraging 
the use of public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway and Langley 

Page 754



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 45 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

This could in part be off-
set given redevelopment 
involves the loss of 
existing employment 
premises. 
 
The site only has 
moderate levels of 
accessibility to public 
transport. Parts of the 
site could therefore be 
car dependent having 
some negative impact on 
air quality. 

Road. 
 
Protection of mature trees 
and vegetation and 
incorporate green 
infrastructure given positive 
impacts it can have on air 
quality. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

As above, it would be 
expected that the site’s 
redevelopment would 
increase contributions to 
climate change given 
that much of it is 
currently undeveloped. 
 
Nevertheless, new 
development provides an 
opportunity to 
incorporate high 
standards in relation to 
the sustainable use of 
resources including 
energy and waste.  

- Encourage walking and 
cycling by improving 
access and encouraging 
the use of public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway and Langley 
Road. 
 
Design standards relating 
to sustainable use of 
resources including energy 
and waste. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Whilst the site presents 
options in terms of the 
use of sustainable 
modes of transport, it 
may be car dependent. 
 
New development 
presents an opportunity 
to incorporate high 
standards in relation to 
the sustainable use of 
resources including 
energy and waste.  
 
 

- Encourage walking and 
cycling by improving 
access and encouraging 
the use of public routes, in 
particular the riverside 
walkway and Langley 
Road. 

 
Design standards relating 
to sustainable use of 
resources including energy 
and waste. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

Page 755



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 46 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

 

The redevelopment of 
the site for low rise 
residential has the 
potential to have less of 
an impact on Agecroft 
Cemetery than the 
existing industrial uses. 
 
The site allocation does 
not contain any known 
archaeological remains 
of national importance 
that would merit 
preservation in-situ. 
However there is 
substantial potential for 
the survival of 
archaeological remains, 
particularly in the north-
west half of the site 
highlighting the valuable 
riverside location in the 
growth of Salford’s 
printing and bleaching 
industry.   

0 Ensure that development 
proposals protect and 
enhance heritage assets 
and their settings. 
 
Archaeological 
investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings. 
 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The redevelopment of 
land along this corridor 
presents an opportunity 
to improve the local 
townscape given the 
current mix of industrial, 
residential, derelict and 
underused sites.  
 
The site’s proximity to 
the River Irwell provides 
an opportunity to 
develop dwellings in an 
attractive setting but also 
a need to ensure that 
development contributes 
positively to the 
landscape character of 
this area.  

+ To retain areas of mature 
trees and vegetation as 
part of a comprehensive 
approach to green 
infrastructure. 
 
Ensure that development 
contributes to an attractive 
townscape throughout the 
corridor. 
 
Ensure that development 
takes advantage and 
contributes positively to the 
landscape character of the 
River Irwell. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The redevelopment of 
the area presents an 
opportunity improve the 

+ Ensure the sensitive 
integration of existing 
dwellings. 

Page 756



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 47 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

local environment and 
reduce the number of 
derelict and underused 
sites.  
 
It could potentially 
reduce any existing 
conflicts between 
residential and industrial 
uses given the current 
mix of uses.   
 
 

 
Ensure that new 
development makes a 
positive improvement to the 
local environment including 
Langley Road as a 
pedestrian route. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure as part of 
new development and 
coordinate it with the 
protection and 
enhancement of existing 
landscape features and the 
riverside walkway.  

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

The redevelopment of 
vacant and derelict sites 
and the consolidation of 
residential uses to the 
north of Langley Road 
could allow for increased 
surveillance of existing 
dwellings and public 
routes.  

+ To ensure site’s 
development addresses 
issues of design and crime, 
in particular that 
development promotes 
overlooking and the use of 
public routes, in particular 
the riverside walkway and 
Langley Road. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

Loss of employment land 
could have a negative 
impact on this objective if 
existing businesses were 
to be pushed out.  
 
Redevelopment also 
utilises underused 
previously developed 
land and is likely to make 
a positive contribution to 
the housing offer in the 
city in support of the 
house building industry. 
 
Increased residential 
presence in the area 
could create conflicts 
between employment 
and residential uses.  

0 Early involvement of local 
businesses in the planning 
application process. 
 
To consider measures to 
facilitate the relocation of 
businesses within the local 
area. 
 
To ensure development 
does not create new 
conflicts between 
employment and residential 
uses. 

15) To enhance 
economic 

Loss of land within an 
employment area has 

0 To ensure new 
development does not 

Page 757



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 48 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

inclusion the potential to reduce 
locally accessible 
opportunities. A 
significant area of 
employment would 
however remain to the 
south of Langley Road.  

create new conflicts 
between employment and 
residential uses which 
could lead to further loss of 
local businesses and jobs. 
 
To consider measures to 
facilitate the relocation of 
businesses within the local 
area. 
 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

Given the size of the site 
the increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under 
significant pressure to 
accommodate the 
additional population.  

0 Need to ensure the 
expected increase in pupils 
from new households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision.  

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site presents an 
opportunity to develop 
an attractive residential 
area with a waterside 
setting, adding to range 
of accommodation within 
the city. 

+ Development to take 
advantage of its waterside 
setting in terms of design 
and access. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The site only has 
moderate levels of 
accessibility to public 
transport and other 
facilities. Parts of the site 
could therefore be car 
dependent having some 
negative impact on air 
quality. 
 
There are significant 
employment 
opportunities in the local 
area. 

+ Higher population to 
support uses in existing 
centre 
 
Provision of a waterside 
walking and cycling route to 
Cromwell Road local 
centre.  
 
Protect and improve the 
existing Cromwell Road 
local centre to improve 
local choice. Consider 
provision of additional 
services and facilities. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The consolidation of 
residential uses to the 
north of Langley Road 
has the potential to draw 
existing isolated 

+ Early involvement of local 
residents and businesses in 
the planning application 
process. 
 

Page 758



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 49 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

dwellings into a new 
community.  
 
New development has 
the potential to improve 
the local environment 
and encourage activity 
along public routes 
which could make a 
positive contribution to 
cohesion.  
 
The increase in 
population could support 
additional services and 
facilities at Cromwell 
Road Local centre, 
enhancing its role as a 
meeting place and 
promoting interaction. 

Careful integration of 
existing dwellings into the 
comprehensive master-
planning of the area. 
 
New development to 
improve the environment 
along, encourage activity 
and natural surveillance of 
public routes. 
 
Protect and improve the 
existing Cromwell Road 
local centre to improve 
local choice and community 
interaction. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents and 
businesses prior to any 
planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The redevelopment of 
this area has the 
potential to increase the 
use, and improve the 
setting of the walkway 
running alongside the 
River Irwell. As part of 
the Irwell Valley 
recreation area 
development in this 
location has a profile and 
a high quality 
development could make 
a positive contribution to 
this objective. 

+/0 To ensure high quality 
development that takes 
advantage of its riverside 
setting in terms of design 
and access.  
 
 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

Provided that issues of land contamination, land stability and 
flood risk can be effectively mitigated, the site does not appear 
to raise any significant sustainability issues that would be likely 
to prevent its development. 
 

Page 759



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 50 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Investigate and address issues of land contamination and 
stability. 

 Flood risk to be reflected in scheme design and layout. 

 Incorporate sustainable urban drainage systems in order to 
protect water quality and prevent further contributions to 
flood risk in the area. 

 Improve access and increase the use of public routes, 
particularly the riverside walkway and Langley Road. 

 Protect and improve the existing Cromwell Road local 
centre to improve local choice. Consider provision of 
additional services and facilities as part of comprehensive 
approach to area. 

 Attention to be given to the interface between residential 
and industrial uses to avoid potential conflicts. 

 Retain existing priority habitats and landscape features, 
and use new green infrastructure to retain and encourage 
the movement of flora and fauna. 

 Design standards relating to sustainable use of resources 
including energy and waste. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Ensure that development proposals protect and enhance 
heritage assets and their settings. 

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the appreciation 
of any findings. 

 To consider measures to facilitate the relocation of 
businesses within the local area. 

 To consider and mitigate as required the capacity of local 
schools to absorb the increase in population. 

 Careful integration of existing dwellings into any 
development. 

 Early consultation with local businesses and residents as 
part of the planning application process. 

 

Conclusion The site comprises a former employment site at its western 
end that is being temporarily used for recycling of construction 
waste, scrubland at the rear of existing terraced housing in its 
central part, and a small employment area that is in active use 
at its eastern end. Development for new housing would offer 
the potential to diversify the supply of housing in the local area 
(including the provision of affordable housing), although there 

Page 760



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 51 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

would need to be mitigation for a number of issues highlighted 
in this assessment. In particular there is a need to mitigate 
potential impacts from remaining employment uses along 
Langley Road which is specifically addressed in Revised Draft 
Local Plan Policy H9/8. The other areas of mitigation identified 
are similarly addressed either within the allocation policy or in 
other parts of the Revised Draft Local Plan, particularly policies 
within the fairness, design, accessibility, water and green 
infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 761



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 52 

Policy H9/4 Brackley golf course, Little Hulton 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: LW031 Brackley golf course 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations it 
is likely that the 
redevelopment of 
greenfield land will raise 
concerns with the local 
population which can 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
The site is was last in 
use as a golf course 
(although has been shut 
since 2016). Therefore 
although not currently 
serving a sporting 
function, the loss of the 
land for housing could 
reduce sporting 
opportunities in the local 
area.  
 
The site is outside of the 
air quality management 
area apart from a small 
element immediately 
adjacent to the 
motorway. 
 
Whilst there are 
accessible facilities in 
the local area, the site’s 
more peripheral location 
and limited immediate 
public transport options 
could result in a 
significant car 
dependency.  

- Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries and to the 
air quality management 
area to minimise impacts 
on amenity. 
 
Compensation for the loss 
of the golf course through 
on-site recreation facilities, 
public amenity space and 
improvements to existing 
off-site recreation facilities. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable, including 
improved public transport if 
possible. 
 
  
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 

The site is greenfield 
land that is identified as 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 

Page 762



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 53 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

part of a wildlife corridor 
area of search. 
 
There are records of 
important species on a 
nearby site and therefore 
there is potential for 
protected and/or priority 
species to be using this 
site. 
 
Part of the site area has 
been identified as priority 
habitat or potential 
priority habitat, in terms 
of semi-improved natural 
grassland which is 
focused mainly around 
the perimeter of the site. 

wildlife through the site. 
 
Further assessment of 
protected and priority 
species and measures to 
address if required. 
 
Loss of priority habitats 
should be avoided where 
possible and mitigation or 
compensation measures 
provided where loss is 
unavoidable.  
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

Almost all of the site is 
designated as a minerals 
safeguarding area for 
coal and brick clay, and 
a very small area for 
sandstone, under policy 
8 of the Greater 
Manchester minerals 
development plan 
document. 
 

No other known features 
of geological significance 
 

0 Further investigation and 
extraction of minerals 
resource would be required 
prior to development taking 
place, unless exception 
criteria are satisfied. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

None of the site is 
considered to be 
previously developed 
land. 
 
The strategic agricultural 
land data suggests that 
the majority of the site is 
grade 3 agricultural land 
(grades 1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). 
 
The former Brackley 

- More detailed 
survey information on the 
agricultural land value is 
needed so that the 
significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land 
can be fully assessed and 
weighed against any 
potential benefits of 
development. 
 
Detailed site investigations 
would be necessary to 
assess the extent to 

Page 763



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 54 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Colliery adjoined the site 
to the west, and it is 
understood that parts of 
the site were subject to 
extensive spoil tipping 
associated with this 
former use. As such, 
there may be extensive 
issues of contamination 
and land instability. 

which contamination and 
land instability may impact 
on the developable area of 
the site. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There are a number of 
drainage ditches in the 
vicinity of the site. 
 

0 Any development would 
need to be sensitive to the 
need to protect water 
quality. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Surface water modelling 
suggests that there may 
be some surface water 
flooding in the northern 
part of the site adjacent 
to the motorway. The 
modelling also identifies 
some other areas of 
surface water flood risk 
on the site but these are 
likely to be due to the 
golf course landscaping.  

0 Design and layout to 
account for surface water 
flooding and include 
sustainable urban drainage 
systems in order to 
minimise further 
contributions to water levels 
and potentially reduce the 
area at risk. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is outside of the 
air quality management 
area apart from a small 
element immediately 
adjacent to the 
motorway. 
 
The site is largely open 
greenfield land with a 
range of mature trees 
and pockets of 
vegetation associated 
with its use as a golf 
course; these can make 
a positive contribution to 
air quality.  
 
The development of a 
greenfield site would be 
expected to increase 
local traffic and therefore 

- Design and layout to take 
into account air quality 
management area. 
 
Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

Page 764



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 55 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

air pollution. This is 
particularly the case 
given the site’s more 
peripheral location and 
more limited existing 
public transport options 
(bus only). 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

The sites peripheral 
location, more limited 
existing public transport 
options, and the potential 
loss of greenfield land 
and mature vegetation 
could lead to negative 
impacts against this 
objective. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

The sites peripheral 
location, more limited 
existing public transport 
options, and the potential 
loss of greenfield land 
and mature vegetation 
could lead to negative 
impacts against this 
objective. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. Some 
potential for 
archaeological finds. 

0 Archaeological 
investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings. 
 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 

The site is not within the 
designated Green Belt.  
 
There are no protected 
trees on the site. The 

- Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 

Page 765



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 56 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

townscape site is crossed by a 
range of mature trees 
and pockets of 
vegetation associated 
with its use as a golf 
course. 
 
The redevelopment of 
the site would remove 
the existing landscape 
character (a golf course) 
however it would be 
expected that more 
significant features could 
be incorporated into 
development. 

 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace / 
a golf course, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting and could have a 
positive impact on the 
amenity of those moving 
to the area. 
 
A very small part of the 
site (adjacent to the 
motorway) is in the air 
quality management 
area. 
 
 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development and take into 
account the air quality 
management area. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure to 
mitigate the loss of green 
field land which may be 
valued by the local 
community. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues. 0 Scheme design to consider 
issues of crime and the fear 
of crime. 

Page 766



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 57 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

No specific issues. 0 None. 
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

No specific issues. 0 None.  

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate pupils in 
the new households. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected pupils can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision. There is 
potentially a requirement 
for the site to set aside land 
for a new primary school.   

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to diversify the local 
residential offer in terms 
of type and tenure.  
 
The site could potentially 
support some affordable 
housing, helping to 
address an identified 
shortfall. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to diversify the 
offer in terms of type and 
tenure. 
 
Requirements in relation to 
affordable homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The site is not 
considered to have good 
levels of access to 
services, facilities and 
recreation areas.  
 
It would however be 
close to the employment 
opportunities at Logistics 
North. 
 

- Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Site to accommodate new 
recreation space. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace / 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 

Page 767



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 58 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

a golf course, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services.  
 
 
 

minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development into the 
local area. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Replacement recreation 
provision would be required 
for the loss of the golf 
course land, unless it could 
be demonstrated that the 
land is surplus to 
requirements.  

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

It is unlikely that the 
development of the site 
would have a significant 
impact on perceptions of 
the city. 
 
At the local level 
additions to the housing 
offer could be viewed 
positively whilst the loss 
of the golf course land, 
despite being closed for 
golf, could be viewed 
negatively by some.    

-/+ Ensure the highest quality 
of design and inclusion of 
new recreation areas.  
 
Ensure the scheme 
contributes to the quality of 
housing offer in the local 
area. 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site presents an opportunity to deliver a high quality 
development that could diversify the type of accommodation 
that is available in the local area. However the site’s 
development will result in the loss of greenfield land currently 
in use as a golf course. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

Page 768



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 59 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 Provide full compensation for the loss of the golf course, 
both through the provision of high quality on-site 
recreation facilities, including a play area and public 
amenity spaces, and off-site improvements to existing 
recreation facilities. 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Design and layout to have regard to existing dwellings 
on the site’s peripheries and proximity to the M61 
motorway to minimise impacts on amenity. 

 Significant landscape features should be protected and 
accommodated within wider green infrastructure. 
Impacts on the wider landscape should be minimised. 

 Further assessment of protected and priority species 
and measures to address if required. 

 Loss of priority habitats should be avoided where 
possible and mitigation or compensation measures 
provided where loss is unavoidable. 

 Green infrastructure should be utilised to ensure the 
ability of wildlife to move through the site to be retained. 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted as far 
as possible including opportunities to integrate any 
scheme with footpaths and cycleways if/ where 
available.  

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Design and layout to account for surface water flooding 
and include sustainable urban drainage systems in 
order to minimise further contributions to water levels 
and potentially reduce the area at risk. 

 Further investigation and extraction of minerals resource 
to be considered.  

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the 
appreciation of any findings. 

 Opportunity to deliver larger, higher value dwellings 
should be exploited. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision, with land being set aside for the 
provision of additional primary school provision 
potentially being required. 

Conclusion The site is a former golf course that shut in 2016 as a result of 
lack of demand. Development for housing would offer the 

Page 769



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 60 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

potential to diversify the supply of housing in the local area, 
although there would need to be mitigation for a number of 
issues highlighted in this assessment, particularly the need to 
provide full compensation for the loss of the golf course.   
 
Revised Draft Local Policy H9/4 addresses many of the 
mitigation issues identified above and is supplemented by the 
requirements of a number of other policies including those 
within the fairness, housing, design, accessibility, water and 
green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 770



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 61 

Policy H9/5 Land at Ladywell Avenue, Little Hulton 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: LW012 Ladywell Avenue 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The site is greenfield 
land that has a public 
amenity space function / 
supports informal 
recreation and as such 
its loss could have some 
negative impact. 
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
There are also recreation 
opportunities in the local 
area. 

- Improvement of other 
amenity spaces within the 
local area 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Site is greenfield but 
surrounded by 
residential development 
and there are no known 
issues relating to 
habitats or species on 
the site. 
 
Dependent on their use, 
residential gardens can 
have a biodiversity value 
in bringing variety to an 
area.  

0 None 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance 
 

0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

The site is greenfield but 
has no agricultural value. 
 
Mining activities formerly 
took place underneath 
the site and therefore 
land stability 
investigation may be 
required. 

- Site investigations would be 
required in order to assess 
the extent of land stability 
issues associated with 
former mining activities 
beneath the site 

Page 771



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 62 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
There are no known 
issues of contamination 
on the site. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

No known site specific 
issues relating to water 
supply and waste water. 
 
 

0 None  

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

No known issues relating 
to flooding 

0 None 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Site is outside of the air 
quality management 
area. 
 
Site is open greenfield 
but has limited 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution to 
air quality. 
 
Access to services and 
facilities is generally 
good, however the 
development of 
greenfield land would be 
expected to have a 
negative impact on air 
quality to some extent 
given the increase in 
activity and local traffic 
however limited.  

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Development of 
greenfield land would be 
expected to increase 
contributions to climate 
change. 
 
However the site has 
generally good access to 
services and facilities 
and currently has limited 
vegetation that can have 
a positive role in 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

Page 772



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 63 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

processing emissions. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development will 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
The site does however 
have a good level of 
access to services and 
facilities which could limit 
car use. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. 
  

0 None 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

Redevelopment of the 
site will lead to the loss 
of open space; there will 
be some impact on 
townscape but this is not 
considered significant 
given the relatively small 
size of the site. 

- Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development.  

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The development of 
open space is likely to be 
considered locally as 
having some negative 
impacts on amenity.  
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop 
housing and could 
deliver improvements to 
other amenity and open 
spaces within the local 
area. 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 
the loss of green field land 

Page 773



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 64 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

which may be valued by the 
local community. 
 
Development to contribute 
to improvements to other 
local recreation space. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues 0 Potential to increase 
natural surveillance of 
surrounding roads. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

None  0 None 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The site would provide 
new housing in a 
relatively deprived area. 

0 Encourage sustainable 
transport connections to 
improve accessibility to 
local employment 
opportunities. 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate pupils in 
the new households. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected pupils in the new 
households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
family dwellings which 
could make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available in the area.  
 
 

+ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver family 
dwellings, which could 
include a requirement for a 
proportion of affordable 
homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Levels of accessibility 
are generally good 
throughout the site. 
Accessibility mapping 
suggests travel time 
(public transport/ 
walking) to a range of 
facilities and 
opportunities including 
the nearest local centre, 

+ Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 

Page 774



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 65 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

employment area, 
schools and GP surgery 
as being within 15 
minutes. 
 
The loss of recreation 
space could have some 
negative impacts on 
access to such provision, 
however the site has 
very good access  
to other open spaces, 
including Peel Park and 
Parr Fold Park.  

the loss of green field land 
which may be valued by the 
local community. 
 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The development of 
greenfield land that ah a 
public amenity space 
function could raise 
concerns in the local 
area and have a 
negative impact on 
community cohesion. 
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
around the site. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure and 
improvements of other 
amenity spaces in the local 
area to mitigate the loss of 
green field land which may 
be valued by the local 
community. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

In isolation the 
redevelopment of the 
site is unlikely to make a 
significant impact on 
perceptions of the city. 

0 None 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site raises a number of sustainability issues, both positive 
and negative. The site presents an opportunity to deliver family 
housing in a relatively deprived area with the potential to attract 
skilled workers and support economic growth. However the 
site’s development will result in the loss of greenfield land that 
could be viewed as being valuable amenity space by the local 

Page 775



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 66 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

community. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Improvements to other amenity spaces within the local 
area. 

 Design and layout to have regard to existing dwellings 
around the site. 

 Incorporation of green infrastructure as part of the 
development. 

 Development to contribute to improvements to other 
local recreation space. 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Opportunity to deliver family houses with a proportion of 
affordable homes. 

 Given that there was formerly mining underneath the 
site, investigations will be required to ensure that the 
land is stable enough to accommodate new housing 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision.  

 Promotion of sustainable transport options. 
 

Conclusion The site is open space within a residential area. Development 
for housing would offer the potential to diversify the supply of 
housing in the local area, although there would need to be 
mitigation for a number of issues highlighted in this 
assessment, particularly the need to provide full compensation 
for the loss of the open space.   
 
Revised Draft Local Policy H9/5 addresses many of the 
mitigation issues identified above and is supplemented by the 
requirements of a number of other policies including those 
within the fairness, housing, design, accessibility, water and 
green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 

Page 776



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 67 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 777



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 68 

Policy H9/6 Land south-west of Hilton Lane, Little Hulton 

 
Appraised Use: Residential  
Site suggestion reference: LW022 Burgess Farm 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations 
and representations 
received during 
consideration of planning 
applications for and the 
construction phase of 
housing to the east of 
the site, it is likely that 
the development of this 
greenfield site will raise 
concerns with the local 
population which can 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
The site was formerly 
used as grazing land, 
together with a school 
playing field although 
this has not been used 
for a significant period of 
time. 
 
The site is outside of the 
air quality management 
area. 
 
Whilst there are 
accessible facilities in 
the local area, the site’s 
more peripheral location 
could result in a 
significant car 
dependency.  

-/0 Design and layout to have 
regard to minimise impacts 
on amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable, including 
improved public transport if 
possible. 
 
  
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is greenfield 
land that is identified as 
a wildlife corridor area of 
search. 
 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Account to be taken of 

Page 778



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 69 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Land to the west of the 
site area has been 
identified as priority 
habitat or potential 
priority habitat, in terms 
of lowland fend.  
 
“Ponds near New 
Manchester (East)” SBI 
to the west. 

priority habitat and SBI to 
the west of the site in the 
design and layout of the 
any development.  
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

All of the site is 
designated as a minerals 
safeguarding area for 
brick clay and coal under 
policy 8 of the Greater 
Manchester minerals 
development plan 
document. 
 

No other known features 
of geological significance 
 

0 Further investigation and 
extraction of minerals 
resource would be required 
prior to development taking 
place, unless exception 
criteria are satisfied. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

None of the site is 
considered to be 
previously developed 
land. 
 
The strategic agricultural 
land data suggests that 
the majority of the site is 
grade 3 agricultural land 
(grades 1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). Land at 
the north eastern extent 
of the site was not 
assessed as part of this, 
and therefore would 
require further 
investigation. 
 
It is understood that the 
majority of the site may 
have previously been 
used for landfill. 
 
Potential land stability 

- More detailed survey 
information on the 
agricultural land value is 
needed so that the 
significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land 
can be fully assessed and 
weighed against any 
potential benefits of 
development. 
 
Detailed site investigations 
would be necessary to 
assess the extent to which 
contamination and land 
instability may impact on 
the developable area of the 
site. 

Page 779



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 70 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

issues associated with 
former mining activity 
beneath the site.  

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There is a main river on 
the western boundary of 
the site in a culvert which 
crosses from north to 
south. 
 

0 Any development would 
need to be sensitive to the 
need to protect water 
quality and it may be 
necessary to leave a buffer 
between the river and any 
development to allow 
access for maintenance. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

There is a significant 
area of flood risk within 
the woodland south of 
the site, which is 
identified as at risk by 
both the river and 
surface water modelling. 

0 Design and layout to 
account for potential 
flooding to the south of the 
site and include sustainable 
urban drainage systems in 
order to minimise further 
contributions to water levels 
and potentially reduce the 
area at risk. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is outside of the 
air quality management. 
 
Site is open greenfield 
land with some 
vegetation that can 
therefore make a 
positive contribution to 
air quality. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to have a negative 
increase on air quality 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 
Whilst there are services 
and facilities accessible 
from the site the site 
would be expected to 
generate additional car 
journeys, and therefore 
air pollution, given its 
more peripheral location 
and more limited existing 
public transport options 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

Page 780



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 71 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

(bus only). 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open greenfield 
land with some 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to have a negative 
increase on air quality 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development 
would be expected to 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
The site would be 
expected to generate 
additional car journeys, 
and therefore the use of 
non-renewable 
resources, given its more 
peripheral location. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There is one locally 
listed heritage asset (400 
- 402 Hilton Lane, which 
are the farm buildings at 
Burgess Farm) which 
adjoins the site to the 
east.  
 
Planning permission has 
however been granted 
for the demolition of the 
heritage asset as part of 
a development for 10 
houses (ref. 
17/71118/OUT).  
 

0 Should the heritage asset 
remain any development 
would have to be designed 
and layed out in a way that 
respects its setting.   
 
Archaeological 
investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings. 
 

Page 781



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 72 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Some potential for 
archaeological finds 
relating to 19th century 
mining activity. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site is greenfield 
land but not within the 
designated Green Belt.  
 
To the south of the site is 
the former Ellenbrook 
Brickworks which is an 
area of recolonised 
woodland, with protected 
trees and dense 
woodland. 

+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this 
greenfield site is likely to 
be considered by those 
living around it as having 
a negative impact on 
amenity by way of issues 
relating to the loss of 
greenspace, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. 
 
The Manchester to 
Wigan rail line forms the 
site’s northern boundary. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting and could have a 
positive impact on the 
amenity of those moving 
to the area. 
 
There are no other 
significant pollution or 
hazard issues 
which would constrain 
the development of the 
site for housing 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to dwellings on its 
peripheries (recently built 
as part of the wider 
development of Burgess 
Farm) to minimise impacts 
on amenity. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 
the loss of green field land 
which may be valued by the 
local community. 
 
There may be a 
requirement for site-specific 
mitigation measures to 
address any noise issues 
associated with the 
proximity to the railway line. 

13) To reduce No specific issues 0 Potential to increase 

Page 782



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 73 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

crime and the 
fear of crime 

natural surveillance. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality, 
higher value family 
dwellings. This could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 
of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 
as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to bring forward 
some higher value 
dwellings that will diversify 
the mix of dwellings in the 
local area.  
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
relatively prosperous 
area. 

0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 
 
The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to new pupils. 

+ Need to ensure the 
expected pupils from new 
households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 

+ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Could include a 
requirement for a significant 
proportion of affordable 
homes. 

Page 783



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 74 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

potentially support a high 
level of affordable 
housing, helping to 
address an identified 
shortfall. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Bus is the most 
accessible mode of 
public transport serving 
the site. Overall 
however, the site has 
only reasonable access 
to local services and 
facilities.  
 
The site has reasonable 
access to the types of 
open space provision 
covered by local 
recreation standards. 
The entire site is 
currently accessible to 
two district parks (Parr 
Fold Park and Peel Park, 
Little Hulton) and local 
natural greenspace. 
 
The site is not within 
walking distance of any 
play areas or strategic 
natural greenspace. 

- Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Site to potentially 
accommodate a play area.  

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 
 
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to dwellings on its 
peripheries (recently built 
as part of the wider 
development of Burgess 
Farm) to minimise impacts 
on amenity. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features.  

Page 784



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 75 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

Some will regard the loss 
of greenfield land (partly 
formerly used as a 
playing field) as a 
negative proposal. 
However, the former 
playing fields have not 
been in use for a 
significant period of time;  
the site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development.  

-/++ Ensure the highest quality 
of design. 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site presents an opportunity to deliver a high quality 
development with the potential to attract skilled workers and 
support economic growth. However the site’s development will 
result in the loss of greenfield land that is likely to be valued 
highly by the local community. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Significant landscape features should be protected and 
accommodated within wider green infrastructure.  

 Green infrastructure should be utilised to ensure the 
ability of wildlife to move through the site to be retained. 

 Account to be taken of priority habitat and SBI to the 
west of the site in the design and layout of any 
development.  

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted as far 
as possible including opportunities to integrate any 
scheme with footpaths and cycleways if/ where 
available.  

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Design and layout to account for potential flooding to the 
south of the site and include sustainable urban drainage 

Page 785



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 76 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

systems in order to minimise further contributions to 
water levels and potentially reduce the area at risk. 

 Ensure appropriate noise mitigation from the railway 
immediately to the north of the site 

 Further investigation and extraction of minerals resource 
to be considered.  

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the 
appreciation of any findings. 

 Opportunity to deliver larger, higher value dwellings 
should be exploited. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Conclusion The site is open land formerly in use a long time ago for 
grazing and as a school playing field. Development for housing 
would offer the potential to diversify the supply of housing in 
the local area (including higher value housing), although there 
would need to be mitigation for a number of issues highlighted 
in this assessment, particularly the need to provide 
opportunities for wildlife to move through the site.  
 
Revised Draft Local Policy H9/6 addresses many of the 
mitigation issues identified above and is supplemented by the 
requirements of a number of other policies including those 
within the fairness, housing, design, accessibility, water and 
green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 786



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 77 

Policy H9/7 Land west of Kenyon Way, Little Hulton 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: - 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations it 
is likely that the 
redevelopment of 
greenfield land will raise 
concerns with the local 
population which can 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
The site is public 
amenity space, the loss 
of which would reduce 
the amount of such 
space in the local area. 
However Cutacre 
Country Park is being 
delivered adjacent to the 
site (to the west and 
south) as part of the 
Logistics North 
development.  
 
The site is outside of the 
air quality management. 
 
Whilst there are 
accessible facilities in 
the local area, the 
development could result 
in significant car 
dependency.  

-/+ Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its eastern boundary to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable, including 
improved public transport if 
possible. 
 
Provide high quality routes 
through the site to Cutacre 
Country Park. 
  
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is greenfield 
land that is identified as 
a wildlife corridor area of 
search. 
 
Part of the site area has 
been identified as priority 
habitat or potential 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Loss of priority habitats 
should be avoided where 
possible and mitigation or 
compensation measures 

Page 787



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 78 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

priority habitat, in terms 
of broadleaved 
deciduous woodland 
which is focused to the 
north of the site. 

provided where loss is 
unavoidable.  
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

Almost all of the site is 
designated as a minerals 
safeguarding area for 
coal and brick clay, 
under policy 8 of the 
Greater Manchester 
minerals development 
plan document. 
 

No other known features 
of geological significance 
 

0 Further investigation and 
extraction of minerals 
resource would be required 
prior to development taking 
place, unless exception 
criteria are satisfied. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

None of the site is 
considered to be 
previously developed 
land. 
 
The strategic agricultural 
land data suggests that 
the majority of the site is 
grade 3 agricultural land 
(grades 1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). 
 
 

- More detailed survey 
information on the 
agricultural land value is 
needed so that the 
significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land 
can be fully assessed and 
weighed against any 
potential benefits of 
development. 
 
 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There appears to be a 
drainage ditch on the 
western boundary of the 
site. 
 

0 Any development would 
need to be sensitive to the 
need to protect water 
quality. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

No known flooding 
issues.  

0 None 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is outside of the 
air quality management. 
 
Site is largely open 
greenfield land with trees 
on the boundaries of the 

- Design and layout to take 
into account air quality 
management area. 
 
Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 

Page 788



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 79 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

site and in the northern 
part of the site; these 
can make a positive 
contribution to air quality. 
 
Services and facilities 
accessible from the site 
are limited, apart from  a 
bus service serving 
Kenyon Way, the site 
would be expected to 
generate additional car 
journeys, and therefore 
air pollution, given its 
more peripheral location 
and more limited existing 
public transport options.  

mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Greenfield site, 
residential development 
would be expected to 
increase contributions 
through activity on site 
and traffic generation. 
  

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Greenfield site, 
residential would 
increase the use of non-
renewable resources 
during construction and 
occupation.  
 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, Potential for the survival 0 Archaeological 

Page 789



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 80 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

of archaeological 
remains at the north end 
of the Site relating to the 
industrial activity of the 
19th century associated 
with Peel Hall Colliery. 

investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings. 
 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site is not within the 
designated Green Belt.  
 
The land to the south 
and south east of the site 
is within the Green Belt 
and is designated as a 
site of biological 
importance (Ponds north 
of Cleworth Hall). This 
land is being developed 
as a country park. 
 
There are no protected 
trees on the site.  

0 Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of public 
amenity space, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting in close proximity 
to Cutacre Country Park, 
and could have a 
positive impact on the 
amenity of those moving 
to the area. 
 
There are employment 
areas located to the 
north-west of the site, 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure to 
mitigate the loss of green 
field land which may be 
valued by the local 
community. 
 
Provide appropriate 
mitigation for any potential 
noise pollution from the 
employment areas to the 
north-west. 

Page 790



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 81 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

and so therefore there is 
likely to be noise issues 
associated with this 
employment use in 
proximity to residential 
development.  

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues 0 Scheme design to have 
regard to crime and the fear 
of crime 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

No specific issues 
 

0 None 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The site will provide 
dwellings in an 
economically deprived 
part of the city with good 
access to the 
employment 
opportunities at Logistics 
North.  

+ Encourage connections into 
Logistics North through the 
country park from the east. 
 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate pupils in 
new households. 
 
Any positive impact in 
terms of economic 
inclusion could have 
indirect benefits through 
skills developed in 
employment. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected pupils from the 
new households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

Potential for residential 
development with good 
access to employment 
and recreation 
opportunities. 
 
As a greenfield site its 
development could 
provide opportunities to 
diversify the mix and to 

++ Requirement for some of 
affordable homes. 

Page 791



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 82 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

provide affordable 
housing, helping to 
address an identified 
shortfall. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Overall the site does not 
have particularly good 
access to local services 
and facilities (although 
there is a bus route 
through the Kenyon 
estate).  
 
The site would however 
be highly accessible to 
the employment 
opportunities at Logistics 
North, which is being 
developed on land to the 
west of the site. 
 
Located adjacent to 
Cutacre country park. 
 
The site has good 
access to the six types of 
open space covered by 
local recreation 
standards.  

-/+ Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
could be considered by 
those living around it as 
having a negative impact 
on amenity by way of 
issues relating to the 
loss of greenspace, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 
 
 
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development into the 
local area. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
  

20) To increase 
involvement in 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 

Page 792



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 83 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

decision-
making 

any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The development of the 
site is unlikely to have a 
significant impact on 
wider perceptions of the 
city. 
 
At the local level, those 
living closest could 
regard the loss of 
greenfield land as 
somewhat negative, 
whilst the site also has a 
positive impact in 
allowing for new homes 
that could help to 
diversify the local offer, 
adjacent to a country 
park and with access to 
the employment 
opportunities at logistics 
north.  

-/+ Ensure the highest quality 
of design and layout with 
good linkages to the  
country park. 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site raises a number of sustainability issues, both positive 
and negative. The site presents an opportunity to deliver a high 
quality development that could diversify the type of 
accommodation that is available in the local area and provide 
housing in close proximity to Cutacre Country Park.  However 
the site’s development will result in the loss of greenfield land. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Design and layout to have regard to existing dwellings 
on the site’s eastern peripheries and be well integrated 
with the wider neighbourhood 

 Significant landscape features should be protected and 
accommodated within wider green infrastructure. 

 Impacts on the wider landscape should be minimised. 

 Loss of priority habitats should be avoided where 
possible and mitigation or compensation measures 
provided where loss is unavoidable. 

Page 793



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 84 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 Green infrastructure should be utilised to ensure the 
ability of wildlife to move through the site to be retained. 

 Provide high quality routes through the site to Cutacre 
Country Park. 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted as far 
as possible including opportunities to integrate any 
scheme with footpaths and cycleways if/ where 
available.  

 Encourage connections into Logistics North through the 
country park from the east 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Further investigation and extraction of minerals resource 
to be considered.  

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the 
appreciation of any findings. 

 Provide appropriate mitigation for any potential noise 
pollution from Lester Road employment area to the 
north-west. 

 Opportunity to deliver larger, higher value dwellings 
should be exploited. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Conclusion The site is open land between existing housing on the Kenyon 
Way estate and Cutacre Country Park. It is in close proximity 
to the Logistics North employment area.  Development for 
housing would offer the potential to diversify the supply of 
housing in the local area (including affordable housing), 
although there would need to be mitigation for a number of 
issues highlighted in this assessment, particularly the need to 
provide opportunities for wildlife to move through the site. 
There will also be a need to provide walking and cycling links 
to Cutacre Country park.   
 
Revised Draft Local Plan Policy H9/7 addresses a number of 
the mitigation issues identified above and is further 
supplemented by the requirements of a number of other 
policies including those within the fairness, housing, design, 
accessibility, water and green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 

Page 794



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 85 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 795



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 86 

Policy H9/8 Orchard Street, Pendlebury 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: - 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The site is in close 
proximity to 
Swinton Town 
centre and is 
accessible by 
walking or cycling 
to a good range of 
recreation 
opportunities. 
 
To the south-west 
of the site is a 
railway line, parts 
of the site could 
therefore be 
affected by noise. 
Given the size of 
the site it would be 
expected that this 
could be 
addressed in 
scheme design.  

++ Scheme design to have 
regard to issues of noise 
associated with the 
railway line. 
 
Scheme design to 
encourage walking and 
cycling to nearby 
services, facilities and 
public transport 
connections. 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Biodiversity value 
within the site is 
most likely to 
come from the 
mature vegetation 
alongside the 
railway line. 
 
Residential 
development 
could add to the 
biodiversity of the 
site through 
residential 
gardens and other 
green 
infrastructure. 

0 To retain the mature 
trees on the site and 
incorporate green 
infrastructure, with 
consideration given to 
the movement of wildlife 
through the site. 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 

No known 
features. 

0 Assess the site’s 
potential archaeological 

Page 796



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 87 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

restore 
geological 
resources 

interest, protecting and 
recording any remains 
appropriately. 

4)   To protect 
and improve 
soil and land 
resources 

Previously 
developed site. 
 
History of 
industrial use 
could have 
resulted in land 
contamination 
which would need 
to be addressed 
as part of a 
residential 
scheme. 

+ To investigate and 
address issues of land 
contamination. 

5)   To protect 
and enhance 
water 
resources 

No significant 
issues. 
 
Residential 
development 
could provide an 
opportunity to 
incorporate 
sustainable urban 
drainage and 
design standards 
in relation to 
efficient use of 
resources 
including water. 

+ To incorporate 
sustainable urban 
drainage. 
 
Design standards in 
relation to efficient use 
of resources including 
water. 
 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

The site is not 
affected by issues 
of flood risk. 
 

0 None. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is 
currently in 
employment use. 
It is unclear to 
what extent the 
redevelopment of 
the site for 
residential uses 
would impact 
upon air quality 
over the existing 

0/? Scheme design to 
encourage walking and 
cycling to nearby 
services, facilities and 
public transport 
connections. 
 
Incorporate high levels 
of green infrastructure 
including tree planting 
given their positive role 

Page 797



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 88 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

situation (although 
redevelopment 
would remove 
heavy goods 
vehicle 
movements).  
 
Residential 
development in 
this location would 
however provide 
good access to 
services and 
facilities by 
walking and 
cycling as well as 
frequent public 
transport 
connections 
elsewhere. 

in absorbing and 
processing emissions. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions 
to climate 
change 

Residential 
development in 
this location would 
provide good 
access to services 
and facilities by 
walking and 
cycling 
(particularly along 
the line of the 
Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury 
Canal) as well as 
frequent public 
transport 
connections 
elsewhere. 
 
New residential 
development 
could allow for the 
incorporation of 
design and 
technologies to 
promote the 
efficient use of 
resources. 

0/? Scheme design to 
encourage walking and 
cycling to nearby 
services, facilities and 
public transport 
connections. This 
includes using the line of 
the Manchester, Bolton 
and Bury Canal for 
walking and cycling.  
 
Design standards in 
relation to efficient use 
of resources including 
energy, water and 
waste. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable and recycled 
building methods and 
materials. 
 

Page 798



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 89 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

9)   To minimise 
the use of 
non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is previously 
developed land 
that is currently 
used for recycling 
of materials. 
Development for 
housing may 
reduce overall 
recycling capacity, 
and therefore 
additional waste 
may go to landfill. 
 
The demolition of 
existing buildings 
and 
redevelopment for 
residential will 
result in the further 
consumption of 
non-renewable 
resources. 
 
Residential 
development in 
this location would 
provide good 
access to services 
and facilities by 
walking and 
cycling 
(particularly along 
the line of the 
Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury 
Canal) as well as 
frequent public 
transport 
connections 
elsewhere. 
 
New residential 
development 
could allow for the 
incorporation of 
design and 
technologies to 

- Investigate the potential 
to relocate the existing 
businesses to an 
alternative site or sites/  
 
Scheme design to 
encourage walking and 
cycling to nearby 
services, facilities and 
public transport 
connections. This 
includes using the line of 
the Manchester, Bolton 
and Bury Canal for 
walking and cycling.  
 
Design standards in 
relation to efficient use 
of resources including 
energy, water and 
waste. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

Page 799



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 90 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

promote the 
efficient use of 
resources. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation 
of, the city’s 
heritage 

There are a 
number of 
surrounding 
heritage assets 
(Grade II listed 
former Pendleton 
Cooperative 
Industrial Society 
Buildings, the 
Grade II listed 
Tower of Church 
of St George with 
St Barnaby, and 
the locally listed 
Cheltenham 
Buildings and 
Kingston Mill.  
 
Depending on the 
form of 
development 
consideration will 
need to be given 
to the potential 
impact on its 
setting, however 
this is unlikely to 
be significant. 
 
The site does not 
contain any known 
archaeological 
remains of 
national 
importance that 
would merit 
preservation in-
situ.  However 
there is 
substantial 
potential for the 
survival of 
archaeological 
remains across 

0 To protect and enhance 
the surrounding heritage 
assets, their settings 
and views of them. 
 
 

Page 800



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 91 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

the site relating to 
the growth of 
Pendleton as an 
industrial town 
from the 19th 
century. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality 
and character 
of landscape 
and 
townscape 

The 
redevelopment of 
the site would be 
expected to have 
a positive impact 
on the local 
townscape, given 
the current use of 
the site for 
recycling 
aggregates. 

++ To enhance the local 
townscape with high 
quality design and a 
comprehensive 
development scheme 
that effectively 
integrates with 
surrounding uses. 

12) To protect 
and enhance 
amenity 

Noise from other 
employment uses 
and odour from 
nearby waste 
management.  
 
New residential 
development in 
this location would 
be expected to 
provide residents 
with a high level of 
amenity given the 
good levels of 
access to 
services, facilities, 
recreational 
opportunities and 
public transport 
connections. 
 
The 
redevelopment of 
the site would be 
expected to have 
a positive impact 
on the amenity of 
existing local 
residents, by 

++ To enhance the local 
townscape with high 
quality design and a 
comprehensive 
development scheme 
that effectively 
integrates with 
surrounding uses. 
 
Mitigate for noise from 
the rail line and nearby 
employment uses, and 
odour from nearby 
waste management 
 
Provide public amenity 
space within the site.  

Page 801



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 92 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

improving the local 
environment, 
reducing the 
number of HGV 
movements on 
local roads, and 
reducing noise 
and air pollution.  

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

The 
redevelopment of 
the area provides 
an opportunity to 
generate further 
activity on local 
roads and natural 
surveillance 
through the 
appropriate design 
and layout of 
development. 

+ Scheme design to have 
regard to issues of 
crime, including 
promoting activity and 
natural surveillance of 
public routes and 
spaces. 
 
 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that 
can be 
sustained in 
the long-term 

The loss of 
employment 
accommodation 
and the necessary 
relocation of 
businesses and 
jobs could have a 
negative impact 
on this objective. 
 

-- Assist the existing 
businesses in their 
relocation as appropriate 
within the local area. 
 
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The loss of land 
within a local 
employment area 
could have a 
negative impact 
on this objective. 
 
The site’s 
redevelopment for 
residential would 
however provide 
additional 
dwellings with 
good connections 
to local 
employment 
opportunities, 

-/+ Assist the existing 
businesses in their 
relocation as appropriate 
within the local area. 
 
Scheme design to 
encourage walking and 
cycling to nearby 
services, facilities and 
public transport 
connections. 
 
 

Page 802



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 93 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

including 
Pendleton town 
centre. Public 
transport 
connections also 
provide a good 
level of access to 
opportunities 
elsewhere. 
 

16) To improve 
the city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could 
place existing 
schools in the 
local area under 
greater pressure 
to accommodate 
additional pupil 
numbers. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected increase in 
pupils from new 
households can be 
adequately 
accommodated within 
the capacity of local 
school provision.  

17) To ensure 
that everyone 
has access to 
a good home 
that meets 
their needs 

New residential 
development in 
this location would 
be expected to be 
attractive to a 
variety of people 
given the good 
levels of access to 
services, facilities, 
recreational 
opportunities and 
public transport 
connections. 
 

++ To ensure that a range 
of dwelling types are 
provided including 
affordable housing. 
 
Design standards in 
relation to the flexibility 
and adaptability of 
dwellings to meet a 
variety of needs. 

18) To improve 
the 
accessibility 
of facilities 
and 
opportunities 

The loss of land 
within a local 
employment 
estate could have 
a negative impact 
against this 
objective 
 
However the site’s 
redevelopment 
would add to the 
supply of 
dwellings in the 
city with good 

-/++ Assist the existing 
businesses in their 
relocation as appropriate 
within the local area. 
 
Scheme design to 
encourage walking and 
cycling to nearby 
services, facilities and 
public transport 
connections. 
 

Page 803



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 94 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

levels of access to 
services, facilities, 
recreational 
opportunities and 
public transport 
connections. 
 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The 
redevelopment of 
this employment 
area could also 
impact positively 
on community 
cohesion, by 
rationalising uses 
and removing any 
conflicts between 
employment and 
residential. 
 
A high quality 
scheme could 
bring a new 
community feel to 
this part of the 
city. 

+ To enhance the local 
townscape with high 
quality design and a 
comprehensive 
development scheme 
that effectively 
integrates with 
surrounding uses. 
 

20) To increase 
involvement 
in decision-
making 

Not site specific. ? Ensure early 
engagement of local 
residents and 
businesses prior to any 
planning application. 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

In isolation the 
redevelopment of 
the site is unlikely 
to make a 
significant impact 
on perceptions of 
the city beyond 
the local level. 

+/0 None. 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

As a residential development opportunity the site 
contributes positively to a number of sustainability 
objectives, the most significant issue of concern being in 
relation to the potential loss of local businesses and job 
opportunities. 
 

Page 804



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 95 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the 
policy framework: 
 

 To incorporate green infrastructure with 
consideration given to the movement of wildlife 
through the site. 

 Scheme design to have regard to issues of noise 
associated with the railway line. 

 Scheme design to encourage walking and cycling to 
nearby services, facilities and public transport 
connections. This includes incorporating walking 
and cycling routes along the line of the Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury Canal. 

 Avoid any negative impact on the setting and views 
of surrounding heritage assets. 

 Archaeological investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of any findings. 

 Design standards in relation to efficient use of 
resources including energy, water and waste. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods 
and recycled materials. 

 Incorporate high levels of green infrastructure 
including tree planting given their positive role in 
absorbing and processing emissions. 

 To incorporate sustainable urban drainage. 

 To investigate and address issues of land 
contamination. 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents and 
businesses prior to any planning application. 

 To ensure that a range of dwelling types are 
provided including affordable housing. 

 Design standards in relation to the flexibility and 
adaptability of dwellings to meet a variety of needs. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of 
local school provision.  

 Early engagement with businesses and assist in 
their relocation as appropriate. 

 Scheme design to have regard to issues of crime, 
including promoting activity and natural surveillance 
of public routes and spaces. 

 To enhance the local townscape with high quality 
design and a comprehensive development scheme 
that effectively integrates with surrounding uses. 

Page 805



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 96 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

 

Conclusion The site is currently in employment use for aggregate 
recycling. Although employment land is normally protected 
from development for non-employment use, in this 
instance development for housing would deliver a number 
of sustainability benefits. These benefits include removing 
the conflict with existing residential uses by removing 
some of the heavy goods vehicles that use the immediate 
highway network, and increasing amenity levels for the 
surrounding community by reducing noise and air 
pollution. This therefore provides clear amenity benefits. 
On balance, it is considered that the positive sustainability 
benefits highlighted in this assessment would outweigh 
the negatives that have been identified. 
 
Revised Draft Local Plan Policy H9/8 addresses a number 
of the mitigation issues identified above and is further 
supplemented by the requirements of a number of other 
policies including those within the fairness, housing, 
design, accessibility, water and green infrastructure 
chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable 
building methods in a number of chapters including 
through policies CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. 
Further consideration to be given to the potential to 
supplement these policies in order to provide a wider 
encouragement for sustainable construction methods 
including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, 
subject to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 806



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 97 

Policy H9/9 Land south of St. Augustine’s Church, Pendlebury  

 
Appraised use: Residential  
Site suggestion reference: SW016 Land south of St Augustine’s Church 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

There are sports pitches, 
a disused bowling green 
and public amenity 
space within the site, the 
loss of which could 
reduce sporting 
opportunities in the local 
area. 
 
The site is outside of the 
air quality management 
area and is in an 
accessible location for 
most local facilities, 
services and 
employment. 
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities 
and all types of open 
space covered by 
recreation standards. 
 
The quality of 
development and its 
setting would be 
expected to have a 
positive impact on the 
physical and mental well-
being of future residents. 

-/+ Retain or replace existing 
playing fields and provide 
compensation for the loss 
of the bowling green.  

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site forms part of a 
wildlife corridor with 
mature trees along the 
site’s boundary and 
across the site. 

- Retain and incorporate 
green infrastructure to 
protect the biodiversity 
value of the site. 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

There are no known 
geological features. 

0 None. 

Page 807



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 98 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Much of the site is 
greenfield land. 
 
There are no known 
issues of contamination 
on the site.  

- None. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There is a watercourse 
in close proximity to the 
site’s southern boundary 
however it would be 
expected that the site 
could be developed 
without significant 
impact.  

0 Incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage systems 
and ensure there would be 
no impact on water quality 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

There are no known 
flooding issues. 

0 None. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is greenfield and 
includes mature trees 
which can make a 
positive contribution to 
air quality. The 
development of the site 
would therefore be 
expected to have some 
negative impacts over 
the existing situation. 
 
However the site is 
outside of the air quality 
management area and 
has good accessibility by 
sustainable modes to 
local facilities, services 
and employment.   

- Incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable modes of 
transport and provide links 
to Swinton town centre. 
 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

The development of the 
site would be expected 
to have a negative 
impact over the existing 
situation given that the 
site is greenfield in 
nature.  
 
The site does however 
have good levels of 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable modes of 

Page 808



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 99 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

accessibility to services 
and facilities. 
 
 

transport and provide links 
to Swinton town centre. 
 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

The development of a 
greenfield site would 
result in the use of non-
renewable resources 
and would therefore 
have a negative impact 
against this objective.  
 
The site does however 
have good levels of 
accessibility to services 
and facilities which could 
minimise use as a result 
of car journeys. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable use 
of resources. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable modes of 
transport and provide links 
to Swinton town centre. 
 
 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

The site lies immediately 
south of the St 
Augustine’s conservation 
area where there are a 
number of nationally 
listed heritage assets 
including St Augustine’s 
a grade I listed church.   
 
Development of the site 
could have an impact 
upon the significance of 
these heritage assets 
including their setting.  
 
There is already 
residential and industrial 
buildings situated close 
to the church and the 
site would appear to give 
scope to allow for some 
development whilst 
protecting heritage 
value.  
 
Some potential for 
archaeological finds of 
low local importance. 

-/0 To preserve and enhance 
the heritage value of the 
conservation area and 
heritage assets, including 
the grade I listed church.   
 
Archaeological 
investigation of the site and 
appropriate measures to 
protect, enhance and 
enable the appreciation of 
any findings. 
 

Page 809



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 100 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site has limited 
landscape value 
although mature trees at 
its peripheries, which it 
would be expected could 
be retained as part of the 
site’s development, have 
wider impacts.  
 
Mature vegetation and 
trees at the site’s 
boundary would avoid 
wider impacts to some 
extent and could be 
protected as part of a 
development scheme.  

0 Protect and enhance 
boundary landscaping. 
 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The loss of the existing 
sports pitches and open 
space could have a 
negative impact upon 
amenity. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting and could 
therefore have a positive 
impact upon the amenity 
of those moving to the 
area.   

-/+ Retain or replace existing 
playing fields  
 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues. 0 Incorporate secure by 
design measures within any 
new development on the 
site. 
 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

No particular issues 0 None 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Site would provide new 
dwellings in an 
accessible location and 
in close proximity to a 
range of employment 

+ Incorporate a range of 
dwelling types 
 

Page 810



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 101 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

opportunities in and 
around Swinton Centre. 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households is likely to 
increase the requirement 
for school places in the 
area. 

0 Need to ensure the 
expected pupils in new 
households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision. 
 
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site provides an 
opportunity to deliver a 
range of high quality 
homes including family 
housing (and affordable 
housing) in an 
accessible location.  
 
It would therefore 
contribute to the overall 
range of accommodation 
within the area and the 
city, and to the stability 
of the local housing 
market. 

++ Incorporate a range of 
dwelling types. 
 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Levels of accessibility 
are very good throughout 
the site with access to 
the nearest town/local 
centre, employment 
area, GP surgery and 
primary school able to be 
reached by public 
transport/walking within 
a maximum of 10 
minutes.  Travel time to 
the nearest secondary 
school is slightly longer 
at 20 minutes. 

++ Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
existing 
footpaths/cycleways/ bus 
routes within the area. 
 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

No specific issues. ? Ensure the engagement of 
local residents prior to any 
planning application. 
 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-

Not site specific. 0 Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 

Page 811



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 102 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

making 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site is unlikely to 
have a significant impact 
on perceptions of the 
city. However it provides 
the opportunity for high 
quality residential 
development in close 
proximity to Swinton 
town centre. 

+ None. 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site provides the opportunity to deliver a high quality 
residential development in an accessible location. The key 
sustainability issues relate to the potential loss of sports 
pitches and disused bowling green, its biodiversity value, and 
the potential impact on the Grade I listed St Augustine’s 
Church and the wider conservation area. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Incorporate a significant proportion of the existing open 
space and sports pitches, and provide compensation for 
the loss of the disused bowling green.   

 Retain and incorporate green infrastructure, including 
mature trees, in order to protect the biodiversity value of 
the site. 

 Protect and enhance boundary landscaping. 

 Ensure the engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Measures to promote sustainable transport options. 

 Take opportunities to integrate the development with 
existing footpaths/ cycleways/ bus routes within the 
area, including linkages to Swinton Town Centre 

 Incorporate a range of dwelling types. 

 Ensure that the expected increase in pupils in new 
households can be adequately accommodated within 
the capacity of local school provision. 

 Increase natural surveillance and incorporate secure by 
design measures within any new development on the 
site. 

 Protect and enhance the heritage value of the area 
including the grade I listed church. 

 Archaeological investigation of the site and appropriate 
measures to protect, enhance and enable the 

Page 812



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 103 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

appreciation of any findings. 
 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Incorporate sustainable urban drainage systems. 
 

Conclusion The site is open land that includes a playing field and 
discussed bowling green. It is in close proximity to the Logistics 
North employment area.  Development for housing would offer 
the potential to diversify the supply of housing in the local area 
(including the provision of affordable housing), although 
development would in particular need to preserve and enhance 
the conservation area and heritage assets. It would also need 
to retain the playing field on the site and provide compensation 
for the loss of the disused bowling green.  
 
Revised Draft Local Plan Policy H9/9 addresses a number of 
the mitigation issues identified above and is further 
supplemented by the requirements of a number of other 
policies including those within the fairness, housing, design, 
accessibility, water and green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 813



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 104 

Policy H9/10 Land south of Hill Top Road, Walkden North 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: LW015 Hill Top Road 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations it 
is likely that the 
redevelopment of the 
site will raise significant 
concerns with the local 
population which can 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
The site is currently 
allocated as a key 
recreation area, and its 
loss would reduce the 
level of allocated 
recreation space in the 
local area.  
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
There are also significant 
recreation opportunities 
in the local area (such as 
Blackleach Country 
Park). 
 

-/+ Incorporation of green 
infrastructure and 
improvement of other 
recreation spaces within 
the local area. 
 
Layout to promote access 
to Blackleach Country Park. 
 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and adjoins other areas 
of open land. It could 
therefore function as part 
of a wildlife corridor. 
 
The majority of the site is 
semi-improved neutral 
grassland and therefore 
may be a priority habitat 
at the Greater 
Manchester level, 
subject to more detailed 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Loss of priority habitat 
should be avoided where 
possible and mitigated or 
compensated where loss is 
unavoidable. 
 
 

Page 814



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 105 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

surveys.  

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance 
 

0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Greenfield land. 
 
The site has no 
agricultural value. 
 
Mining activities formerly 
took place underneath 
the site. 
 
It is unknown whether 
the site is contaminated. 

- Site investigations would be 
required in order to assess 
the extent of land stability 
issues associated with 
former mining activities 
beneath the site, and 
potential contamination.  

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

No known site specific 
issues relating to water 
supply and waste water. 
 
 

0 None  

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

No known issues relating 
to flooding 

0 None 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Site is outside of the air 
quality management 
area. 
 
Site is open scrubland, 
with a number of mature 
trees within the site that 
can make a positive 
contribution to air quality. 
Its redevelopment for 
residential would 
increase local activity, 
including traffic, and 
could have a negative 
impact on air quality. 
 
Site has good 
accessibility to services, 
facilities and recreation 
opportunities.  

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

Page 815



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 106 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open scrubland, 
with a number of mature 
trees within the site that 
can make a positive 
contribution. Its 
redevelopment for 
residential would be 
expected to increase 
contributions. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has good accessibility to 
services, facilities and 
recreation opportunities.   

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
that is currently allocated 
for recreation use. 
 
The redevelopment of 
the site will increase 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
Site has good 
accessibility to services, 
facilities and recreation 
opportunities. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable and recycled 
building methods and 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. 
  

0 None 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

Redevelopment of the 
site will lead to the loss 
of land currently 
designated as being part 
of Blackleach Country 
Park; in practice 
however this site does 
not form part of the 
country park and 
comprises unimproved 
open scrubland. There is 

- Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development.  

Page 816



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 107 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

no funding or delivery 
mechanism currently 
identified to incorporate 
the site into the Country 
Park. 
 
There will be some 
impact on townscape but 
this is not considered 
significant. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Given the results of 
previous consultations 
the development of this 
site is likely to be 
considered by those 
living around it as having 
a negative impact on 
amenity by way of issues 
relating to the loss of 
green space, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. 
 
There are a number of 
small industrial units 
which adjoin the site to 
the west at Barlow 
Street, that have the 
potential to create noise 
disturbance. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting and could have a 
positive impact on the 
amenity of those moving 
to the area. 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Noise disturbance from 
employment sues on 
Barlow Street to be 
addressed in development 
layout and building design. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 
the loss of land currently 
allocated for recreation 
which is valued by the local 
community 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues 0 Potential to increase 
natural surveillance of the 
surrounding land, including 
Blackleach Country Park. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 

+ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver high 

Page 817



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 108 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

be sustained in 
the long-term 

family dwellings which 
could have the potential 
to contribute to attract 
skilled workers.  

quality dwellings.  
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

The site would provide 
quality new housing in a 
relatively deprived area. 

+ None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate additional 
pupil numbers. 

0 Need to ensure the 
expected increase in pupils 
from households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
family dwellings which 
could make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city, 
and to the stability of the 
local housing market.  
 
The development of the 
site could support a 
proportion of affordable 
housing, helping to 
address an identified 
shortfall. 
 
 

+ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver family 
dwellings, which could 
include a requirement for 
affordable homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Levels of accessibility 
are generally good 
throughout the site.  
 
Accessibility mapping 
suggests travel time 
(public transport/ 
walking) to a range of 
facilities and local 
services is very good, 
with the nearest town / 
local centre, employment 
area, GP surgery and 

+ Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths / cycleways, 
particularly in Walkden 
Town Centre and 
Blackleach Country Park. 

Page 818



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 109 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

primary school able to be 
reached by public 
transport/walking within 
a maximum of 10 
minutes. Travel time to 
the nearest secondary 
school is longer (20 
minutes). 
 
The site has excellent 
access to all of the 
types of open space 
provision covered by 
local recreation 
standards. 
 
Site benefits from its 
proximity to Walkden 
town centre (0.2km) 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Given the results of 
previous consultations 
the development of this 
site is likely to be 
considered by those 
living around it as having 
a negative impact on 
amenity by way of issues 
relating to the loss of 
green space, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. The 
development of the site 
could therefore bring 
some negative impacts 
in terms of community 
cohesion. 
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
around the site and 
encourage linkages through 
to Blackleach Country Park. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 
the loss of land currently 
allocated for recreation 
which is valued by the local 
community. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

Some will regard the loss 
of land currently 
allocated for recreation 
use to be a negative 
proposal. However,  

-/0 None 

Page 819



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 110 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
The site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development in 
close proximity to 
Walkden town centre.   

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site presents an opportunity to deliver family housing in 
close proximity to Walkden town centre with the potential to 
attract skilled workers and support economic growth.  
 
However the site’s development will result in the loss of 
greenfield land, currently allocated for recreation that is viewed 
as being valuable open space by the local community. 
However, the purpose of the site’s allocation was to protect it 
for future improvement as a greenspace resource and 
integrate it as part of Blackleach Country Park. This has not 
been implemented to date, and there is no funding or 
delivery mechanism currently identified which would facilitate 
this. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 The majority of the site is semi-improved neutral 
grassland and therefore may be a priority habitat at the 
Greater Manchester level, subject to more detailed 
surveys. Loss of priority habitat should be avoided 
where possible and mitigated or compensated where 
loss is unavoidable. 

 Some form of site-specific mitigation may be required to 
address noise disturbance from the industrial units 
which lie adjacent to the site at Barlow Street. 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Design and layout to have regard to existing dwellings 
around the site and promote access to Blackleach 
Country Park. 

 Incorporation of green infrastructure as part of the 
development. 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable and recycled building 
methods and materials. 

 Opportunity to deliver family houses with a proportion of 

Page 820



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 111 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

affordable homes. 

 Given that there was formerly mining underneath the 
site, investigations will be required to ensure that the 
land is stable enough to accommodate new housing. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision.  

 Promotion of sustainable transport options. 
 

Conclusion The site is open scrubland on the edge of Blackleach Country 
Park. It is in close proximity to Walkden Town Centre and other 
local facilities.  Development for housing would offer the 
potential to diversify the supply of housing in the local area 
(including the provision of affordable housing), although 
development would need to provide opportunities for wildlife to 
move through site and provide an attractive gateway into 
Blackleach Country Park.  
 
Revised Draft Local Plan Policy H9/10 addresses a number of 
the mitigation issues identified above and is further 
supplemented by the requirements of a number of other 
policies including those within the fairness, housing, design, 
accessibility, water, green infrastructure chapters and pollution 
and hazards. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 821



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 112 

Policy H9/11 Land south of Moss Lane, Walkden North  

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: LW19 Safety Systems 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Issues of noise from 
employment uses at 
Linnyshaw industrial 
estate to the west and 
north. 
 
Any housing 
development in the north 
western part of the site 
may partly be 
constrained by it lying 
within a hazardous 
installation notification 
zone, which will impact 
on the form of 
development. 
 
No known issues of 
contamination on the 
site. 
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
There are also recreation 
opportunities in the local 
area. 

- Noise mitigation and 
proximity to hazardous 
installation to be addressed 
as part of development 
layout and building design. 
 
 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Greenfield site with 
mature vegetation and 
adjoins a wider area of 
open land to the north 
and could therefore 
function as part of a 
wildlife corridor.  
 
 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance 
 

0 None 

Page 822



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 113 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Greenfield land 
 
A very small area of the 
site is considered to be 
grade three agricultural 
land. However this is 
such an insignificant 
area of land which does 
not form part of any 
wider agricultural land 
that it is not considered 
to be of value. 
 
There are no known 
issues of contamination 
on the site. 
 
The site is unallocated in 
the Greater Manchester 
waste development plan 
document and the 
Greater Manchester 
minerals development 
plan document. 

- None 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There is a drainage ditch 
running along the site’s 
eastern boundary. 
 
 

0 Any development would 
need to be sensitive to the 
importance of protecting 
water quality.  
 
Incorporate sustainable 
water management. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

No known issues relating 
to flooding 

+ None 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Site is outside of the air 
quality management 
area. 
 
The loss of greenfield 
land and mature trees 
and an increase in 
activity through its 
development could have 
a negative impact on air 
quality.  
 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure that could 
make a positive 
contribution to local air 
quality, and retain the 
mature trees. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

Page 823



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 114 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Nevertheless, the site 
has a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities, 
with frequent bus 
services along the A6. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

The development of 
greenfield land for 
residential use would be 
expected to increase 
contributions to climate 
change, including 
through additional local 
traffic. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
Frequent bus services 
along the A6. 

- Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development will 
increase the use of non-
renewable resources. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
Frequent bus services 
along the A6. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. 
  

0 None 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 

The site is surrounded 
by development 
including residential to 

0 Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape and 

Page 824



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 115 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

the east and south, and 
industrial uses to the 
west. 
 
However the 
redevelopment of the 
site will lead to the loss 
of greenfield land, which 
could be valued by 
residents, particularly 
those living in dwellings 
bordering the site.  

nearby dwellings. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development.  

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The northern part of the 
site lies within a 
hazardous installation 
notification zone 
associated with an 
industrial gas depot 
located to the north west 
of the site at Moss 
Lane.  
 
Residential 
developments recently 
completed to the east 
and south of the site. 
 
There are existing 
industrial units to the 
west and north west of 
the site. 
 
The redevelopment of 
the site would be 
expected to improve the 
environment of the local 
area for existing 
residents (including 
those living in recently 
completed dwellings) 
with amenity benefits. 

-/+ In line with HSE guidance 
the hazardous installation 
zone may limit 
development, particularly in 
the north western part of 
the site. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to recently 
completed dwellings to the 
south and east in order to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity and complement 
their development. 
 
Noise to be addressed in 
development layout and 
building design. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 
the loss of land currently 
allocated for recreation 
which is valued by the local 
community 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

Site is vacant and a 
potential location for anti-
social behaviour. 
 
Development would 
provide natural 

0 To ensure site’s 
development addresses 
issues of design and crime. 

Page 825



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 116 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

surveillance for 
surrounding dwellings. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
family dwellings which 
could have the potential 
to contribute to attract 
skilled workers.  
 
Loss of land within an 
employment area could 
have a negative impact 
on this objective 
(although the land is 
currently unused).  
 

-/0 To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver high 
quality dwellings.  
 
To ensure new residential 
development does not 
create new conflicts 
between employment and 
residential uses which 
could lead to further loss of 
local businesses and jobs 
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Loss of land within an 
employment area could 
have a negative impact 
on this objective. 

- None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate increased 
pupil numbers. 

0 Need to ensure the 
expected pupils from new 
households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site provides an 
opportunity to deliver 
high quality family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city, 
and to the stability of the 
local housing market.  
 
The development of the 
site could support a 
proportion of affordable 
housing, helping to 
address an identified 
shortfall. 
 

+ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver family 
dwellings, which could 
include a requirement for a 
significant proportion of 
affordable homes. 

Page 826



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 117 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

The site has a good level 
of access to services 
and facilities. 
 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Levels of accessibility 
are generally good 
throughout the site.  
 
Accessibility mapping 
suggests travel time 
(public transport/ 
walking) to a range of 
facilities and local 
services is very good, 
with the nearest 
employment area and 
primary school able to be 
reached by public 
transport/walking within 
a maximum of 10 
minutes. The travel time 
to the nearest local/town 
centre, GP surgery and 
secondary school is 
longer (20 minutes). 
 
The site has excellent 
access to open space 
provision, including a 
new play area which is 
being provided as part of 
the housing development 
on land to the east which 
is currently under 
construction. 
 
Site benefits from being 
reasonably close to 
Walkden town centre 
(1.0km). 
 
Access to the site would 
be via Moss Lane to the  
north west of the site. 

+ Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths / cycleways. 
 
The access to the site 
would need to be upgraded 
to accommodate vehicular 
traffic as well as 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

No particular issues 
 

0 None 

Page 827



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 118 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

In isolation the 
redevelopment of the 
site is unlikely to make a 
significant impact on 
perceptions of the city. 
However it would utilise 
an under used site and 
could be viewed 
positively at the local 
level. 

+ None 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site presents an opportunity to deliver family housing in 
reasonably close proximity to Walkden town centre with the 
potential to attract skilled workers and support economic 
growth.  
 
Although the site’s development will result in the loss of 
greenfield land, the land is currently unused and has little value 
to the local community given its location within an existing 
employment area. If development were to be pursued the 
following mitigation measures should be considered for 
inclusion within the policy framework: 
 

 Access to the site would be from Moss Lane to its north. 
This is currently an unmade track and would need to be 
upgraded to accommodate vehicles as well as 
pedestrians and cyclists.   

 Some form of site-specific mitigation may be required to 
address noise disturbance from employment uses to the 
north and west of the site. 

 In line with HSE guidance the hazardous installation 
zone covering part of the site may limit its development 
potential, particularly in the north western part of the site 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Ensure new residential development does not create 
new conflicts between employment and residential uses 

 Incorporation of green infrastructure as part of the 
development. 

 Development to retain ability for movement of wildlife 
through the site. 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 

Page 828



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 119 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

of resources including energy and water. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Opportunity to deliver family houses with a proportion of 
affordable homes. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision.  

 Promotion of sustainable transport options. 
 

Conclusion The site is open scrubland bounded by new housing and 
industrial uses. Development for housing would offer the 
potential to diversify the supply of housing in the local area 
(including the provision of affordable housing), bring into use 
land that is not currently in active use, and complement 
recently completed housing developments. Particular regard 
will need to be had to the notifiable installation located to the 
north west of the site as part of any development.  
 
Revised Draft Local Policy H9/11 addresses many of the 
mitigation issues identified above and is supplemented by the 
requirements of a number of other policies including those 
within the fairness, housing, design, accessibility, water and 
green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 
uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 829



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 120 

Policy H9/12 Land north of Lumber Lane, Worsley 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
Site suggestion reference: WB015 Lumber Lane 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations it 
would be expected that a 
proposal for residential 
development on part of 
the Worsley Greenway 
would raise significant 
concerns with the local 
population which could 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
Locally valued for its role 
in supporting recreation 
activities and with 
footpaths on the site. Its 
development could 
therefore have some 
negative impact in this 
regard. 
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
There are also recreation 
opportunities in the local 
area. 
 
The site is partly within 
an air quality 
management area. 
 
In providing high quality, 
higher value dwellings 
the site has the potential 
to attract skilled workers 
and make a positive 
contribution to economic 
growth which can have 
wider positive impacts in 

- /+ Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
That the potential benefits 
of developing the site are 
maximised, taking the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Existing footpaths to be 
retained or diverted with 
consideration to protecting 
the recreational value of the 
area. 
 

Page 830



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 121 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

terms of health and well-
being. 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

Site is greenfield and 
part of a wider wildlife 
corridor.  
 
There is an area of semi-
natural broadleaved 
woodland around the 
brook which flows 
through the western part 
of the site. This habitat is 
also dominant along the 
loopline recreation route 
to the south of the site, 
and is a priority habitat at 
the Greater Manchester 
level. Hedgerows and 
standing water on the 
site may also be priority 
habitats (subject to more 
detailed surveys). 
 
There are records of 
important species on this 
site which may constrain 
development. 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Loss of priority habitats and 
important species should 
be avoided if possible, and 
mitigation or compensation 
provided where loss is 
unavoidable. 
 
 
 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance 
 

0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Greenfield site 
 
Agricultural land data 
suggests that the 
majority of the site 
comprises grade 3 
agricultural land. 
However, the site is 
separated from wider 
areas of agricultural 
land, and therefore the 
value of any agricultural 
land is likely to be much 
lower. 
 

- Site investigations would be 
required in order to assess 
the extent of land stability 
issues associated with 
former mining activities 
beneath the site 

Page 831



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 122 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Mining activities formerly 
took place underneath 
the site. 
 
There are no known 
issues of contamination 
on the site. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

The watercourse 
crossing the western part 
of the site is a main river 
and any works to it 
would require 
Environment Agency 
approval. 
 
A brook runs through the 
eastern end of the site 
and would require an 8m 
buffer to allow for access 
and maintenance. 
Culverting should be 
avoided. 
 
It would be expected that 
these watercourses 
could be effectively 
integrated into any 
development. 

-/0 Incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage systems. 
 
Retain appropriate buffers 
to watercourses. 
 
Undertake a water body 
status assessment. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Part of the site is at risk 
of fluvial, reservoir and 
surface water flood risk 
and a small part id also 
identified as being within 
flood zone 3. 
 
It would be expected that 
this could be managed 
as part of new 
development. 

-/0 Take a comprehensive 
approach to mitigating flood 
risk. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Site is outside of the air 
quality management 
area. 
 
Site is largely bounded 
by vegetation and some 
mature trees which can 
make a positive 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and retain 
trees around the edge of 
the site where practicable. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

Page 832



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 123 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

contribution to air quality. 
 
The site’s development 
would increase activity, 
including traffic, in the 
local area with the 
potential to impact on air 
quality. 
 
The site has good 
access to local services 
and facilities and is in 
close proximity to the 
Leigh-Salford-
Manchester busway. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

The site is greenfield in 
nature and its 
development would be 
expected to increase 
activity in the local area 
and increase 
contributions to climate 
change. 
 
Nevertheless, the site is 
in an accessible location. 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and 
potentially retain trees 
around the edge of the site. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development will 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
Site has good access to 
local services and 
facilities and is in close 
proximity to the Leigh-
Salford-Manchester. 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths/cycleways, 
particularly the loopline 
recreation routes to the 
south and east. 

10) To protect, There is one grade II - The development should be 

Page 833



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 124 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

listed building within 100 
metres of the site 
(Littlewood and 
Sisley including adjoining 
stable block), which lies 
to the south of Lumber 
Lane. 
 
The site lies immediately 
to the north west of the 
Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation 
area.  
 
The Worsley Greenway 
contributes to the 
character of the historic 
area of Worsley. 
 
Archaeological remains 
likely to be of low local 
importance. 

designed in a manner that 
does not affect the setting 
of the grade II listed 
building within 100m of the 
site.  
 
The design and layout of 
any development proposals 
coming forward on this site 
should preserve or 
enhance the character and 
appearance of the 
conservation area. 
 
Consideration to be given 
to protection of hedgerows. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

There are no protected 
trees on the site, and it is 
not located within the 
Green Belt. There are 
some non-protected 
mature trees around the 
edge of the site and a 
pond located in the 
southern part of the site. 
 
A brook runs north to 
south through the 
western part of the site. 
This is classed as a main 
river.  
 
Grade II listed building 
within 100m of site, and 
site also lies immediately 
to the north west of the 
Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation 
area. 
 
The Greenway as a 

- Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development, with the 
retention of existing trees 
and the pond on the site.  
 
Consider buffers to 
watercourses to protect and 
enhance as landscape 
features. 
 
The design and layout of 
any development proposals 
coming forward on this site 
should preserve or 
enhance the character and 
appearance of the 
conservation area. 

Page 834



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 125 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

whole is regarded by 
some as forming an 
important part of the 
character of the historic 
area of Worsley. 
 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of the site 
is likely to raise some 
concerns relating to 
amenity including loss of 
green space, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting and could have a 
positive impact on the 
amenity of those moving 
to the area. 
 
The site is adjacent to 
the A580 East 
Lancashire Road which 
could raise issues of 
noise. 
 
A small element of the 
northern part of the site 
being in an air quality 
management area. 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout (of the 
development and any 
access bridge) to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity.  
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure to 
mitigate the loss of green 
field land valued by the 
local community. 
 
There is likely to be a 
requirement for site-specific 
measures to mitigate noise 
and air pollution impacts 
associated with the A580. 
This may include a buffer 
strip, which would reduce 
the site’s developable area 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues 0 Potential to increase 
natural surveillance. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 

Page 835



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 126 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 
as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
relatively prosperous 
area. 

+ None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 
 
The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate increased 
pupil numbers. 

++ Need to ensure the 
expected pupils from new 
households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 
support a high level of 
affordable housing, 
helping to address an 
identified shortfall. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Include a requirement for a 
significant proportion of 
affordable homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Site is very close to the 
Leigh-Salford-
Manchester busway, 
which provides a high 

+ Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options, including 
pedestrian connections to 

Page 836



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 127 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

frequency public 
transport service into 
Manchester City Centre 
(and to Leigh). 
 
Access to local services 
and facilities is good, the 
nearest town/local 
centre, employment 
area, GP surgery, 
primary school and 
secondary school can 
currently be reached by 
public transport/walking 
within a maximum of 15 
minutes. Travel time to 
the nearest hospital is 
considerably longer (35 
minutes maximum). 
 
Good access to some 
types of open space 
covered by local 
recreation standards.  
 
The site is not located 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s town/local 
centres. 
 
Existing public footpaths 
on the site.  
 
Access likely to be via 
Hardy Grove.  

the Leigh Guided busway 
stops. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths/cycleways, 
particularly the loopline 
recreation routes to the 
south and east. 
 
The existing public 
footpaths on the site would 
need to be retained or 
diverted onsite. 
 
As part of any development 
explore potential for 
providing access to a play 
area for older children at an 
existing open space (Roe 
Green).  
 
If access is taken from 
Hardy Grove there will be a 
need to ensure that a new 
bridge spanning the former 
railway line is designed to 
minimise the visual impact 
and any potential adverse 
effects on the amenity of 
residents on Hardy Grove.  

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The site is likely to raise 
some local concerns and 
could have a negative 
impact on cohesion. 
 

- Early involvement of local 
residents and businesses in 
scheme design. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
around the site. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure to 

Page 837



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 128 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

mitigate the loss of green 
field land which may be 
valued by the local 
community. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development that 
is only found in a small 
number of locations 
across Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The loss of part of the 
Worsley Greenway is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on perceptions 
locally. 

+/- Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 
Ensure the highest quality 
of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships to 
existing dwellings.  

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site presents an opportunity to deliver a high quality 
development within a high demand area with the potential to 
attract skilled workers and support economic growth. The site 
raises a number of sustainability issues including biodiversity 
value, potential impact on the historic settlement of Worsley 
and issues relating to the development of part of the locally 
valued Worsley Greenway. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Ensure high quality development and dwellings types 
utilise the benefits of the site. 

 Design and layout to have regard to existing dwellings 
around the site. 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Protect and enhance heritage value of the area 

 Incorporate significant green infrastructure, integrated 

Page 838



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 129 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

with the protection and enhancement of existing areas 
of mature vegetation. 

 Existing footpaths to be retained or diverted with 
consideration to protecting the recreational value of the 
area. 

 Promotion of sustainable transport options. 

 Loss of priority habitats and species should be avoided 
if possible and mitigation or compensation provided 
where loss is unavoidable. 

 Appropriate consultation and buffers around water 
courses on the site. 

 Incorporate sustainable urban drainage systems and 
flood mitigation as required.  

 Mitigate noise and air pollution impacts associated with 
the A580. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision 

 If access is taken from Hardy Grove, ensure that a new 
bridge spanning the former railway line is designed to 
minimise the visual impact and any potential adverse 
effects on the amenity of residents.  

Conclusion The site is open land bounded by the A580 and by recreation 
routes along the former rail lines. Development for housing 
would offer the potential to diversify the supply of housing in 
the local area ( including the provision of larger and higher 
value housing), and is only a short distance from the Leigh-
Salford-Manchester busway, which provides a rapid transit 
route into the City Centre. Particular regard will need to be had 
to the constraints identified in this assessment including flood 
risk, vehicular access and the movement of species.  
 
Revised Draft Local Policy H9/12 addresses many of the 
mitigation issues identified above and is supplemented by the 
requirements of a number of other policies including those 
within the fairness, housing, design, accessibility, water, 
heritage and green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing would remove any 

Page 839



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 130 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such use, subject 
to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 840



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 131 

Policy H9/13 Duncan Mathieson playing fields, Claremont 

 
Appraised use: Open space and housing  
Site suggestion reference: CW008 Duncan Mathieson 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations it 
is likely that the 
redevelopment of green 
field land will raise 
concerns with the local 
population which can 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
There are sports pitches 
within the site, the loss of 
which would reduce 
sporting opportunities in 
the local area. However 
they are largely disused 
and therefore 
redevelopment of part of 
site provides an 
opportunity to invest and 
improve the quality of 
sporting provision in the 
remainder of the site.  
 
The site is outside of the 
air quality management 
area.  

++ Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Enhancement of the 
remaining sports pitches. 
 
Design to encourage 
walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities. 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The majority of the site is 
greenfield and has the 
potential to function as a 
wildlife corridor. 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance 
 

0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 

The majority of the site is 
greenfield land. 

- None 

Page 841



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 132 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

and land 
resources 

 
The site has no 
agricultural land value. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

No known site specific 
issues relating to water 
supply and waste water. 
 
Gilda Brook runs along 
the southern boundary 
and another watercourse 
runs down the western 
boundary of the site.  

0 Given the presence of 
watercourses the 
sustainable management of 
water, in particular run-off, 
will be a key issue for 
development in order to 
protect water quality. 
 
Provide a buffer to 
watercourses to limit impact 
and allow for access and 
maintenance.  

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Modelling suggests that 
the western boundary 
and south west corner of 
the site could be affected 
by surface water flooding 
which could limit 
development.  

- Design and layout to 
include sustainable urban 
drainage systems in order 
to minimise further 
contributions to water levels 
and potentially reduce the 
area at risk. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Site is outside of the air 
quality management 
area. 
 
Site is largely open 
greenfield land with 
some vegetation and 
mature trees, which can 
make a positive 
contribution to air quality. 
 
Residential development 
would therefore be 
expected to impact upon 
air quality. This would 
include additional local 
traffic although the site 
has good accessibility to 
local services and 
facilities. 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is largely open 
greenfield land with 
some vegetation and 
mature trees, which can 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 

Page 842



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 133 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

make a positive 
contribution in 
processing emissions.  
 
The development of 
greenfield land would 
therefore be expected to 
increase contributions 
through activity on site 
and local traffic. The site 
does however have good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 

Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Majority of site is 
greenfield land and its 
development would 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
The site does however 
have good accessibility 
to local services and 
facilities.  

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Encourage sustainable 
building methods and the 
use of recycled materials. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. 
  

0 None  

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site includes mature 
trees and watercourses. 
The development of part 
of the site will change 
the existing character 
which will be most 
significant for those living 
closest to it. 
 
 

- Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development.  
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure within any 
development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features on the boundary. 

Page 843



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 134 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Given the results of 
previous consultations 
the development of this 
site is likely to be 
considered by those 
living around it as having 
a negative impact on 
amenity including the 
loss of a local green 
space. 
 
The development of part 
of the site will however 
provide an opportunity to 
significantly improve the 
quality of recreation 
provision on the site 
which could have a 
major positive impact.  

-/++ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Enhancement of recreation 
facilities within the 
remainder of the site and 
the incorporation of green 
infrastructure will mitigate 
the loss of some of the 
green field land which is 
valued by the local 
community 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

The development of part 
of the site will improve 
recreation provision and 
through increased 
activity and natural 
surveillance could have 
a positive impact in 
terms of this objective. 

+ Design to encourage 
natural surveillance of 
public spaces. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

No specific issues. 
 

0 None 
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

No specific issues. 0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate additional 
pupil numbers. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected increase in pupils 
from new households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision.  
 

17) To ensure that The site’s location + To ensure development on 

Page 844



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 135 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
family dwellings, with a 
good level of access to 
services and facilities, 
including high quality 
recreation space, which 
could make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 

the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver high 
quality dwellings and 
improved recreation 
provision.  

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Levels of accessibility 
are generally good 
throughout the site. 
Accessibility mapping 
suggests travel time 
(public transport/ 
walking) to a range of 
facilities and 
opportunities including 
the nearest local centre, 
employment area, 
schools and GP surgery 
as being within 15 
minutes. 

- Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Ensure the development of 
the site provides high 
quality recreation provision 
to the benefit of new and 
existing residents.  
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Given the results of 
previous consultations it 
would be expected that 
proposals for the site will 
raise some concerns 
locally which could have 
a negative impact on 
cohesion. 
 
New and improved 
recreation provision 
could however provide a 
new focus for the area. 
 
 
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development and the 
enhancements to the 
recreation facilities. 
 
To investigate potential for 
new recreation provision to 
be used for community 
based events. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development. 
 
Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 

Page 845



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 136 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

the loss of green field land 
which may be valued by the 
local community. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site’s development 
is unlikely to impact on 
wider perceptions of the 
city. 
 
The site has the potential 
to provide high quality 
dwellings and improved 
recreation space, but at 
the expense of 
greenfield land. Locally 
this would be expected 
to generate both positive 
and negative responses.   

-/+ Ensure the highest quality 
of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships 
with the existing dwellings 
and the enhanced 
recreation facilities.  

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

The site presents an opportunity to deliver a high quality 
development on a small part of the site and support financially 
the delivery of significant recreation improvements on the 
remainder of the site. However the site’s development will 
result in the loss of some green field land. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Design and layout to have regard to existing dwellings 
on the site’s peripheries to minimise impacts on 
amenity. 

 Significant landscape features should be protected and 
accommodated within wider green infrastructure. 
Impacts on the wider landscape should be minimised. 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted as far 
as possible including opportunities to integrate any 
scheme with footpaths and cycleways if/ where 
available.  

 Ensure design promotes natural surveillance of new 
recreation facilities. 

Page 846



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 137 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Development to promote sustainable water 
management to reduce further contributions and to 
protect water quality. 

 Encourage sustainable building methods and the use of 
recycled materials. 

 Viability could allow for a proportion of affordable 
homes. 

 Ensure the highest quality of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships with the existing dwellings and 
the enhanced recreation facilities. 

 Need to ensure the expected increase in new 
households can be adequately accommodated within 
the capacity of local school provision.  
 

Conclusion The site comprises playing fields which are currently largely 
disused. Development of a small part of the site for housing 
would offer the potential to diversify the supply of housing in 
the local area (including the provision of affordable housing), 
and most importantly facilitate comprehensive qualitative 
recreation improvements. Particular regard will need to be had 
to the constraints identified in this assessment including flood 
risk.  
 
Revised Draft Local Policy H9/13 addresses many of the 
mitigation issues identified above and is supplemented by the 
requirements of a number of other policies including those 
within the fairness, housing, design, accessibility, water and 
green infrastructure chapters. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order 
to provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for housing and open space would 
remove any uncertainty about the suitability of the site for such 
use, subject to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 847



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 138 

Policy H12/1 Land off Duchy Road, Irwell Riverside 

 
Appraised use: Gypsy and Travellers site 
Site suggestion reference: ES011 Duchy Road 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The development of the 
site for gypsy and 
traveller pitches would 
meet an identified need. 
This could improve the 
mental health of 
travellers, particularly 
those who cannot find 
accommodation to meet 
their needs (and so may 
have been living in 
unauthorised 
encampments).   
 
Site has generally good 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 
There are also 
recreation opportunities 
in the local area. 
 

+  Design and layout to 
have regard to 
surrounding uses to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is considered 
to currently be 
functioning as a wildlife 
corridor given the 
mature vegetation and 
tree cover across it. 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site 
and where possible 
retain some of the 
vegetation. 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known issues of 
geological importance.   

0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil and 
land resources 

The site comprises 
open land that is 
densely vegetated with 
shrubs and some 
mature trees. It was 
historically occupied by 
rail sidings, but it has 
been vacant for many 

- None. 

Page 848



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 139 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

years and has 
extensively naturalised 
over this period.  
 
  

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

No known water 
resource issues.  

0 None. 
 
 

6)   To minimise the 
risk and impacts 
of flooding 

The surface water 
modelling suggests 
surface water flooding 
in the western corner of 
the site could reach 
depths of up to 1m in an 
extreme flood. 

- Potential flooding would 
need to be investigated 
as part of the design of 
any development, and 
mitigation may be 
necessary. 
 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Increased activity on 
the site would be 
expected to negative 
impacts on air quality to 
some extent 
 
The site does not lie 
within an air quality 
management area. 
 
The site to the 
east of the rail line is 
occupied by the 
Cobden Street 
household waste 
recycling centre 
 
The site has a good 
level of accessibility to 
local services and 
facilities. 

- Retention of mature 
trees and inclusion 
green infrastructure. 
 
There may be a 
requirement for some 
site-specific mitigation to 
address any air quality 
issues associated with 
the site’s proximity to the 
Cobden Street recycling 
centre. 
 
Promotion of sustainable 
transport options and 
links to local resources. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Development of a 
greenfield site and 
increased levels of 
activity would be 
expected to increase 
contributions to climate 
change. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has a good level of 

- Retention of mature 
trees and inclusion of 
green infrastructure  
 
Design of new 
development to promote 
sustainable energy use. 

Page 849



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 140 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 

9)   To minimise the 
use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Development of a 
greenfield site and 
increased levels of 
activity would be 
expected to increase 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
Nevertheless, the site 
has a good level of 
accessibility to local 
services and facilities. 

- Design of new 
development to promote 
sustainable energy use. 
 
Encourage sustainable 
building methods and 
recycled materials. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to 
integrate the 
development with 
footpaths/cycleways. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are no known 
heritage assets on the 
site or within close 
proximity of the site 
boundary. 

0 None 

11) To maintain and 
enhance the 
quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site is not within the 
Green Belt, and there 
are no protected trees 
within the site. 
The site is however 
extensively covered 
with dense vegetation 
and trees. 
 
The site’s 
redevelopment provides 
an opportunity to 
improve the townscape 
given that the site 
includes underused 
land. 

+ Retain some trees and 
vegetation as part of any 
development. 
 
Development to respect 
local townscape. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

The development of the 
site for traveller 
accommodation could 
lead to an improvement 
in neighbourhood 
quality, due to the 

+ Design and layout to: 
minimise wider impact 
on the local landscape 
beyond area identified 
for development; have 
regard to surrounding 

Page 850



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 141 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

potential reduction in 
unauthorised 
encampments 
elsewhere.  
 
The Cobden Street 
industrial estate is 
located beyond the rail 
line to the east of the 
site. The site to the 
east of the rail line is 
occupied by the 
Cobden Street 
household waste 
recycling centre. 
 
There are overhead 
power lines running 
across the 
northern part of the site. 

uses on its peripheries 
to minimise impacts on 
amenity; and offer 
occupiers sufficient light 
and privacy. 
 
Air and noise to be 
addressed in 
development layout and 
building design. 
 
Overhead power lines 
would potentially 
constrain development 
on part of the site. 

13) To reduce crime 
and the fear of 
crime 

The provision of 
accommodation for 
travellers has the 
potential to reduce 
levels of anti-social 
behaviour associated 
with unauthorised 
encampments.   
 
It is likely that occupiers 
of the site and their 
caravans would be 
secure, and so fear of 
crime would be reduced 
accordingly.   

+ None.  

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

Redevelopment utilises 
an underused site, and 
is likely to make a 
positive contribution to 
the housing offer in the 
city. 

+ None 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Providing 
accommodation for 
travellers could provide 
them with a permanent 
base from which they 
can engage in 

0/+ None 

Page 851



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 142 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

economic activity and 
enhance productivity 
levels. 

16) To improve the 
city’s knowledge 
base 

The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate 
additional pupils. 

- Need to ensure the 
expected increase in 
pupils from new 
households can be 
adequately 
accommodated within 
the capacity of local 
school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home that 
meets their 
needs 

The site adjoins the 
existing Duchy Road 
Caravan Park which 
provides pitches for 
the gypsy and traveller 
community. This site 
could therefore 
represent an extension 
of this. 
 
The development of the 
site for gypsy and 
traveller pitches could 
meet an identified need 
for additional new 
pitches. This will have 
the potential to reduce 
the number of 
unauthorised 
encampments, increase 
the stability in the 
housing market, and 
allow travellers to meet 
their needs within their 
existing community, 
particularly given the 
proximity of the existing 
gypsy and traveller site 
off Duchy Road.   

++ Ensure that the site is 
allocated for new gypsy 
and traveller pitches.  

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Bus is the most 
accessible mode of 
public transport serving 
the site. 
 
Access to local 

-/0 Consideration to be 
given as to whether it is 
possible to provide a 
play area as part of any 
development.  

Page 852



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 143 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

facilities and services is 
generally good. 
 
The site has good 
access to around half of 
the types of open space 
provision covered by 
local recreation 
standards. The site is 
not within walking 
distance of any play 
areas or strategic 
natural greenspace. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

The provision of new 
pitches could improve 
relations between 
travellers and non- 
travellers, particularly if 
the level of 
unauthorised 
encampments reduces. 
 
The development of 
traveller pitches would 
promote equality by 
ensuring that 
appropriate provision to 
meet need for new 
traveller pitches is being 
made. 

+ None 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early 
engagement of local 
residents prior to any 
planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

A potential decline in 
the number of 
unauthorised 
encampments is likely 
to provide a more 
positive image for the 
city, and reduce the 
level of negative 
publicity. 

+ None 

    

Site summary: The site does not appear to raise any significant sustainability 

Page 853



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 144 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site score Potential mitigation 

 
 
 

issues that would be likely to prevent its development. However, 
if development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 The design of any development scheme would need to 
address the surface water flooding issues on part of the 
site. 

 Incorporate green infrastructure to maintain wildlife 
corridor and positive impacts on air quality and 
contributions to climate change. 

 There may be a requirement for some site-specific 
mitigation to address any air quality or noise pollution 
issues associated with the site’s proximity to the Cobden 
Street household waste recycling facility. 

 Encourage sustainable building methods and recycled 
materials. 

 Consideration to be given as to whether it is possible to 
provide new recreation space as part of any 
development. 

Conclusion The site comprises greenfield land that has been extensively 
naturalised. Development of the site will meet the need for new 
gypsy and traveller accommodation and offers the potential to 
reduce unauthorised encampments. Particular regard will need 
to be had to the constraints identified in this assessment 
including flood risk.  
 
Policy H12 sets out general principles for new sites for gypsies 
and travellers and travelling show people. These include issues 
relating to flood risk, access, and on site activities. The 
mitigation issues identified above would be further addressed by 
policies in the water, Green Infrastructure, Pollution and 
Hazards and recreation chapters.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages sustainable building 
methods in a number of chapters including through policies 
CC1, EG10, WA2, WA3, D7 and H10. Further consideration to 
be given to the potential to supplement these policies in order to 
provide a wider encouragement for sustainable construction 
methods including the use of recycled materials. 
 
The allocation of the site for new gypsy and travellers pitches 
would remove any uncertainty about the suitability of the site for 
such use, subject to criteria within the plan being complied with. 

 

Page 854



Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Page 145 

Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
 

Page 855



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 1 

APPENDIX 7 
Sites not considered reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations  
 
 

Site  Suggested use Reason for not appraising in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

CW001 Land south of Kintyre Avenue Residential Former education site in council ownership. 
May be required for education use, if 
determined surplus no in principle issues 
preventing residential development apparent. 

CW006 Site of former Hope High  Residential Under construction  

CW002 Former Willows Stadium  Residential Residential development now complete  

CW003 Former Weaste Cricket Ground  Residential Residential development now complete 

CW004 All Hallows RC site  Residential Majority of site required for education use 

CW005 Land at Broadway Link  Employment Established employment area/ Planning 
permission 

CW007 Site of former De La Salle College  Residential Residential development now complete 

CW008 Duncan Mathieson Open space and 
residential 

Planning permission 

EC001 White’s reclamation   Housing – alternative 
option to leisure use 
as allocated in the 
Revised Draft Local 
Plan (policy CT3) 

Contaminated site, proximity to growing 
cluster of leisure and commercial uses. 

EC002 Land south of New Hall Avenue  Residential Significant flood risk issues 

EC004 Newhaven  Residential Site has planning permission for residential 
uses  

EC005 Ackros West  Residential / 
employment 

Established employment use no known 
proposals for alternative uses 
  

P
age 857



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 2 

EC006 Ackros East  Residential / 
employment 

Established employment use no known 
proposals for alternative uses  

EC007 Land south of Lankro Way  Employment Surrounded by employment uses and no 
issues of principle around similar uses. 
Previously had planning permission for office 
uses. 

EC009 Land at Weymouth Road  Residential No indication current occupiers wish to 
relocate  

EC010 GUS Residential Residential development now complete 

EC011 Nasmyth Residential Residential development now complete 

EC012 Mitchell Shackleton  Residential Under construction 

EC014 Wentworth High School  Residential Required for education purposes 

EC015 Land north of Barton Aerodrome  Consequential 
amendment to the 
Green Belt 

Green Belt - GMSF 

EC016 Land west of Clifford Street  Residential Residential development now complete  

EC017 Cawdor Street  Residential Current occupier not intending to move  

ES001 Kersal Way  Residential Significant flood risk issues likely in light of 
new EA modelling  

ES002 Land at Upper Camp Street  Residential Residential development now complete 

ES003 Land north of Green Grosvenor Park  Residential Under construction 

ES004 Land north and west of Mocha Parade Residential Residential development now complete 

ES006 Cambridge Riverside Residential Site is identified for residential use in the 
Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment. Guidance on future 
development of the wider Cambridge area 
under Policy AP5. 

ES007 Land east of Meadow Way  Residential PDL – brownfield register  

ES008 Land west of Meadow Road  Residential Site largely redeveloped, remaining element 
has planning permission. 

ES009 Duchy Road/Summerville Road  Residential PDL – brownfield register 

P
age 858



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 3 

ES010 Duchy Road  Gypsy and travellers 
site 

Site is adjacent to proposed extension to 
existing provision in the area. Further 
expansion of accommodation not considered 
appropriate. 

ES015 Charlestown Riverside Residential Planning permission for residential uses 

ES017 Seaford Industrial Estate  Residential Majority of the site has planning permission 
for residential development subject to signing 
of Section 106 agreement  

ES018 Land south of The Crescent  Housing, 
employment, retail 

PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic level guidance provided by Revised 
Draft Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

ES019 Land west of Adelphi Street Residential Majority with planning permission for 
residential uses.  
 
PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic level guidance provided by Revised 
Draft Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

ES020 Former Farmer Norton Site  Residential PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic level guidance provided by Revised 
Draft Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

ES021 Land at Flax Street  Residential PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic level guidance provided by Revised 
Draft Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

ES022 Land east of Springfield Lane  Residential Majority of site developed for residential use 

ES023 Land at Cheltenham Street  Residential Active employment area. No known proposals 
to introduce residential uses across the area. 

P
age 859



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 4 

ES024 Land north of Peru Street  Residential Residential uses to all sides and would be 
deemed acceptable on the site subject to all 
normal considerations. 

ES025 Allerton Campus  Residential, 
employment, 
university related 

Within existing university campus, part of site 
recently developed for student 
accommodation. 
 
Strategic level guidance provided by Revised 
Draft Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

IC001 Land south west of Cadishead Way  Residential Significant flood risk issues  

IC003 Land at Marten’s Road  Employment Established employment area, site developed 
for employment uses 

IC004 Univar Employment Established employment area, retention and 
expansion of existing use proposed by owner 

IC005 Land east of Omega Employment Established employment area, site has 
planning permission 

IC006 Irlam Container Terminal Employment – port 
activity 

Site partially in use as wharf facility. Site is 
within an established employment area 

IC007 East of Irlam Wharf Road  Employment Site in use for container storage in 
association with wharf facility.  

IC008 West of Irlam Wharf Road  Employment Site in employment use  

IC010 Land at Great Woolden Hall Farm Leisure, hotel, 
recreation, including 
a golf course. 

Green Belt - GMSF 

IC011 Astley Road Farm Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

IC012 Land at Astley Road  Residential PDL – brownfield register 

IC013 Land west of Irlam Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

IC014 Land east of Irlam Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

IC015 Land west of Barton Aerodrome Employment Green Belt - GMSF 

IC017 Boysnope Wharf Employment Part of site now developed for employment 
uses.  Adjacent to site of permitted Port 
Salford. 

P
age 860



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 5 

IC018 Makro Housing, 
employment, retail & 
leisure 

Active use, employment or similar uses would 
be appropriate in principle 
 
Site suggestion identified residential uses 
amongst others, however inappropriate use 
given surrounding land uses  

IC021 Land north of M62 at Chat Moss Residential Green Belt - GMSF.  

IC022 Land south of Fairhills Road  Residential No known intention to vacate the site 

IC023 Land at Sunningdale Drive  Residential Significant constraints – proximity to 
motorway  

IC024 Land north of Cadishead Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

LW001 Land west of Wharton Lane  Residential Planning permission for residential uses 
previously granted subject to signing of 
Section 106 agreement.  

LW002 Cutacre Employment Planning permission for employment uses 

LW005 Former St Joseph’s Primary School  Residential Residential development under construction 

LW006 Land south of Kenyon Way  Residential City West confirmed not proposing to take 
forward 

LW007 Longshaw Drive  Residential Part developed as NHS clinic and remaining 
area may be required for education use 

LW011 Ashton’s Field  Employment Planning permission for employment uses  

LW014 Eaton’s  Residential Planning permission for residential uses 

LW013 Recreation ground at Eastham Way  Residential City West confirmed not proposing to take 
forward 

LW017 Land east of Linnyshaw Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

LW018 Linnyshaw Industrial Estate  Residential Hazardous notification zone   

LW020 Linnyshaw – Klyne and Klyne Residential Site developed for residential uses  

LW021 Burgess Farm  Residential Under construction  

LW023 Land east of Greylag Crescent  Residential Under construction  

LW024 Land at Mesne Lea Residential Half of site developed for residential uses  

P
age 861



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 6 

LW025 Holyoake Road  Residential Part of site under construction the remainder 
with planning permission 

LW026 Former Walkden High School  Residential Under construction  

LW027 Recreation Land at Shap Drive  Residential Greenspace site in an area of deficiency 

LW028 Land south of A6 and north of 
Ellesmere Golf Course 

Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

LW029 Ellesmere Golf Course  Residential Land owner no longer proposing to develop 
this site 

LW030 St Georges RC High site Residential May be required for education use 

Southwards expansion of Logistics North  Employment The suggested site forms part of the country 
park to be delivered as part of the original 
planning permission for Logistics North.  
 
Part of the site is Green Belt. Changes to 
Green Belt boundaries are being considered 
through the GMSF 

OL001 Greengate Housing, offices, 
retail, tourism 

PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic guidance provided by Revised Draft 
Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

OL002 Former Staples site Housing, offices PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic guidance provided by Revised Draft 
Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

OL003 Chapel Wharf Residential Under construction  

OL004 Salford Central Residential, offices , 
retail, tourism 

PDL – brownfield register. Parts of area 
recently developed, parts under construction 
and others with planning permission. 
 
Strategic guidance provided by Revised Draft 
Local Plan policies AP1 and TC1/1 

P
age 862



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 7 

OL005 Middlewood Residential, offices, 
retail, tourism 

Planning permission with significant element 
under construction 

Ol006 Wilburn Street Basin  Residential Site developed for residential uses  

OL007 Liverpool Street  Residential, offices, 
light industry, retail 

Established employment area  
 
Intention to masterplan the area identified in 
Revised Draft Policy AP5 

OL008 Former Ordsall District Centre Residential Part public amenity space/allotments. 
Residential area, principle previously 
established through development framework 
agreement. No ‘in-principle’ issues. 

OL009 Land south of Robert Hall Street  Residential No longer required for education use and 
within a residential area. No ‘in-principle’ 
issues. 

OL010 Land at Worral Street  Residential PDL – brownfield register/under construction  

OL011 Land south of Ordsall Lane  Residential PDL – brownfield register/partially 
developed/under construction/ with planning 
permission 

OL012 Clippers Quay  Residential Developed for residential use  

OL014 King William Street  Student housing/ 
offices 

PDL – brownfield register/planning 
permission for student accommodation 

OL015 Land between Broadway and The 
Quays  

Residential, offices, 
retail, tourism 

PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic guidance provided by Revised Draft 
Local Plan policies AP3 

OL016 Quays Point  Residential, offices, 
retail, tourism 

PDL – brownfield register 
 
Strategic guidance provided by draft local 
plan policy AP3 

OL017 Pendleton PFI  Residential and 
associated uses 

Sites developed and with planning permission 

P
age 863



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 8 

OL019 Sovereign Enterprise Park  Residential and 
employment 

PDL. Multiple ownerships, no known 
intentions to pursue alternative uses. 

SW002 Former St Ambrose Barlow Residential May be required for education use 

SW004 Former Homebase, Wardley  Residential, 
employment 

Established employment area 
 
Hazardous notification zone   

SW005 Land west of new St Ambrose Barlow Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

SW006 Land north of new St Ambrose Barlow Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

SW007 Land north of Wardley Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

SW008 Land north west of Little Moss Road Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

SW009 Land at Moss Colliery Road Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

SW010 – Land west of Collegiate Way Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

SW012 Clifton Junction  Residential or 
employment 

Established employment area and much of 
site in active use. No known intention to 
vacate the site and pursue alternative uses.  

SW013 Agecroft Commerce Park  Employment Established employment area, much of site 
now developed. 

SW014 Land south of Agecroft Road Residential Under construction  

Swinton Hall Road (Draft Local Plan proposed 
allocation H3/12). Includes site suggestion 
SW015 East of Pendlebury Road and south of 
rail line 

Residential Well-occupied employment area with multiple 
ownerships and supports a significant number 
of employment opportunities. Whilst 
residential development has been pursued by 
landowners of individual sites, interest in the 
area from an employment perspective 
appears to remain. The residential allocation 
has not therefore been taken forward in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan and is no longer 
considered to be a reasonable alternative. 

SW017 Land south and east of the Civic 
Centre 

Residential Site in educational use 

SW018 Playing fields east of Pendlebury Road Residential Playing pitches in existing use 

P
age 864



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 7 Sites not considered to be reasonable alternatives to Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations 

 Appendix 7 – page 9 

SW019 Swinton Park Golf Club  Residential Land owner no longer proposing to develop 
this site 

SW020 Clifton Business Park Residential Landowner intention to retain in employment 
use 

SW022 Land north of M60 Junction 16 Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

WB005 Hazelhurst Farm Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

WB006 Land at Simpson Grove  Residential Planning permission 

WB007 Land west of Boothstown Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

WB008 Vicars Hall Lane Residential Developed for residential uses  

WB009 Land west of Boothstown Bridge 
playing fields 

Residential Under construction 

WB010 Land east of Vicars Hall Bridge  Residential Part with planning permission. No known 
intention to bring forward remaining area for 
development. 

WB011 Booths Bank Farm Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

WB012 278 Leigh Road  Residential Green Belt - GMSF  

WB013 Worsley Hall  Residential and 
recreation 

Site of RHS Bridgewater 

WB014 Land at junction of Walkden Road and 
A580 

Residential / leisure 
development 

Green Belt - GMSF 

WB016 Former Moorside High  Residential To be retained in education use  

WB018 Land east of Boothstown Residential Green Belt - GMSF 

 
 

P
age 865



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 1 

Appendix 8 
 
Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocation reasonable 
alternatives 

 

Site Name 
 

Site Suggestion reference Use appraised Page 

 
Land to West of 
Burgess Farm 

 
LW022 Land West of Burgess Farm (part 
of - land to the west of proposed Revised 
Draft Local Plan allocation H9/6)) 
 

 
Residential 

 
2 

 
Broadoak North 

 
WB001 Broadoak North 
 

 
Residential 

 
10 

 
Broadoak South 

 
WB002 Broadoak South 
 

 
Residential 

 
19 

 
Land at Beesley 
Green 
 

 
WB003 Land at Beesley Green 

 
Residential 

 
29 

 
Land at Cross 
Field Drive 
 

 
WB004 Land at Crossfield Drive 

 
Residential 

 
39 

 

All of the ‘reasonable alternative’ site allocations identified above relate to sites proposed as 

new areas of Green Belt in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

(GMSF). Given the need for the Local Plan to be consistent with the GMSF it is therefore 

questionable whether they should be considered as alternatives. Each site has however 

been appraised below against the sustainability appraisal objectives for completeness. 

Page 867



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 2 

Land to West of Burgess Farm  

 

Site suggestion reference: LW022 Burgess Farm (partial, land to the west of 

proposed allocation H9/6) 

 

Appraised Use: Residential  

 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

Given the results of 
previous consultations 
and representations 
received during 
consideration of planning 
applications for housing 
to the east of the site, it 
is likely that the 
development of this 
greenfield site will raise 
concerns with the local 
population which can 
have a negative impact 
on physical and mental 
health. 
 
The site is outside of the 
air quality management 
area. 
 
Whilst there are 
accessible facilities in 
the local area, the site’s 
more peripheral location 
could result in a 
significant car 
dependency.  

-/0 Design and layout to have 
regard to minimise impacts 
on amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable, including 
improved public transport if 
possible. 
 
  
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is greenfield 
land that is identified as 
a wildlife corridor area of 
search. 
 
The land has been 
identified as priority 
habitat or potential 
priority habitat, in terms 
of lowland fend.  
 

-- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Account to be taken of 
priority habitat and SBI in 
the design and layout of the 
any development.  
 

Page 868



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 3 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

“Ponds near New 
Manchester (East)” SBI. 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

All of the site is 
designated as a minerals 
safeguarding area for 
brick clay and coal under 
policy 8 of the Greater 
Manchester minerals 
development plan 
document. 
 

No other known features 
of geological significance 
 

0 Further investigation and 
extraction of minerals 
resource would be required 
prior to development taking 
place, unless exception 
criteria are satisfied. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

None of the site is 
considered to be 
previously developed 
land. 
 
The strategic agricultural 
land data suggests that 
the majority of the site is 
grade 3 agricultural land 
(grades 1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile).  
 
It is understood that the 
majority of the site may 
have previously been 
used for landfill. 
 
Potential land stability 
issues associated with 
former mining activity 
beneath the site.  

- More detailed survey 
information on the 
agricultural land value is 
needed so that the 
significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land 
can be fully assessed and 
weighed against any 
potential benefits of 
development. 
 
Detailed site investigations 
would be necessary to 
assess the extent to which 
contamination and land 
instability may impact on 
the developable area of the 
site. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There is a main river on 
the western boundary of 
the site in a culvert which 
crosses from north to 
south. 
 

0 Any development would 
need to be sensitive to the 
need to protect water 
quality and it may be 
necessary to leave a buffer 
between the river and any 
development to allow 
access for maintenance. 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 

There is a significant 
area of flood risk within 
the woodland in the 

0 Design and layout to 
account for potential 
flooding to the south of the 

Page 869



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 4 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

flooding south of the site, which is 
identified as at risk by 
both the river and 
surface water modelling. 

site and include sustainable 
urban drainage systems in 
order to minimise further 
contributions to water levels 
and potentially reduce the 
area at risk. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The site is outside of the 
air quality management. 
 
Site is open greenfield 
land with vegetation that 
can therefore make a 
positive contribution to 
air quality. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to have a negative 
increase on air quality 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 
Whilst there are services 
and facilities accessible 
from the site the site 
would be expected to 
generate additional car 
journeys, and therefore 
air pollution, given its 
more peripheral location 
and more limited existing 
public transport options 
(bus only). 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open greenfield 
land with some 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to have a negative 
increase on air quality 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure and protect 
mature trees. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 
 
Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-

Site is greenfield land 
and its development 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 

Page 870



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 5 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

renewable 
resources 

would be expected to 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
The site would be 
expected to generate 
additional car journeys, 
and therefore the use of 
non-renewable 
resources, given its more 
peripheral location. 

energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

No heritage assets 
would be affected by the 
development of the site 
for housing.   

0 None.    

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site is greenfield 
land but not within the 
designated Green Belt.  
 
The southern part of the 
site is the former 
Ellenbrook Brickworks 
which is an area of 
recolonised woodland, 
with protected trees and 
dense woodland. 

+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this 
greenfield site (which is 
an SBI) is likely to be 
considered by those 
living around it as having 
a negative impact on 
amenity by way of issues 
relating to the loss of 
greenspace, traffic 
generation, noise and 
demand for local 
services. 
 
The Manchester to 

-/+ Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape beyond 
area identified for 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to dwellings on its 
peripheries (recently 
completed as part of the 
wider development of 
Burgess Farm) to minimise 
impacts on amenity. 
 

Page 871



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 6 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Wigan rail line forms the 
site’s northern boundary. 
 
The site will provide an 
opportunity to develop a 
high quality residential 
area within an attractive 
setting and could have a 
positive impact on the 
amenity of those moving 
to the area. 
 
There are no other 
significant pollution or 
hazard issues 
which would constrain 
the development of the 
site for housing 

Incorporation of green 
infrastructure to mitigate 
the loss of green field land 
which may be valued by the 
local community. 
 
There may be a 
requirement for site-specific 
mitigation measures to 
address any noise issues 
associated with the 
proximity to the railway line. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues 0 Potential to increase 
natural surveillance. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality, 
higher value family 
dwellings. This could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 
of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 
as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to bring forward 
higher value dwellings that 
will further diversify the mix 
of dwellings in the local 
area.  
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
relatively prosperous 
area. 

0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 

+ Need to ensure the 
expected pupils in new 
households can be 
adequately accommodated 
within the capacity of local 

Page 872



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 7 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate increased 
pupil numbers. 

school provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 
potentially support a high 
level of affordable 
housing, helping to 
address an identified 
shortfall. 

+ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Could include a 
requirement for a significant 
proportion of affordable 
homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Bus is the most 
accessible mode of 
public transport serving 
the site. Overall 
however, the site has 
only reasonable access 
to local services and 
facilities.  
 
The site has reasonable 
access to the types of 
open space provision 
covered by local 
recreation standards. 
The entire site is 
currently accessible to 
two district parks (Parr 
Fold Park and Peel Park, 
Little Hulton) and local 
natural greenspace. 
 
The site is not within 

- Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Site to potentially 
accommodate a play area.  

Page 873



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 8 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

walking distance of any 
play areas or strategic 
natural greenspace. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 
 
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to dwellings on its 
peripheries (currently under 
construction as part of the 
wider development of 
Burgess Farm) to minimise 
impacts on amenity. 
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure within 
any development and retain 
more significant landscape 
features.  

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

Some will regard the loss 
of greenfield land as a 
negative proposal. 
However, the site 
provides an opportunity 
for high quality 
development.  

-/+ Ensure the highest quality 
of design. 

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Significant landscape features should be protected and 
accommodated within wider green infrastructure.  

 Green infrastructure should be utilised to ensure the 
ability of wildlife to move through the site to be retained. 

 Account to be taken of priority habitat and SBI in the 
design and layout of any development.  

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted as far 
as possible including opportunities to integrate any 

Page 874



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 9 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

scheme with footpaths and cycleways if/ where 
available.  

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Design and layout to account for potential flooding to the 
south of the site and include sustainable urban drainage 
systems in order to minimise further contributions to 
water levels and potentially reduce the area at risk. 

 Ensure appropriate noise mitigation from the railway 
immediately to the north of the site 

 Further investigation and extraction of minerals resource 
to be considered.  

 Opportunity to deliver larger, higher value dwellings 
should be exploited. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Conclusion Development for housing would offer the potential to further 
diversify the supply of housing in the local area (including 
higher value housing). However the site’s development would 
result in the development of land that is designated as an SBI 
and is being considered as an addition to the Green Belt 
through the GMSF. 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain  

Page 875



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 10 

Broadoak North 

Site suggestion reference: WB001 Broadoak North 

 

Appraised use: Residential 

 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The redevelopment of 
greenfield land (within 
the Worsley Greenway) 
will raise concerns with 
the local population 
which can have a 
negative impact on 
physical and mental 
health. This is known 
given the results of 
previous consultations 
on the local plan, and 
from evidence presented 
at two Public Inquiries by 
local people into the 
refusal of planning 
permission for housing 
on the site.  
  
The site has good 
access to some local 
facilities and services, 
and to the majority of 
types of open space 
provision, though not to 
a town/local centre.  
 
Site would provide a high 
quality development 
scheme that would have 
the potential to have a 
positive impact on the 
health of new residents. 

-/+ Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable. 
 
Requirements in respect of 
high quality scheme design 
and build. 
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is part of a wider 
wildlife corridor, although 
it is the margins of the 
site which are likely to be 
particularly important in 
this regard.  
 
The northern tip of the 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Loss of priority habitats 
should be avoided if 
possible and mitigated or 
compensated if loss is 

Page 876



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 11 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

site is semi-natural 
broadleaved woodland, 
which is a priority habitat 
nationally, and there is 
also standing water in 
the pond in the northern 
part of the site, which 
may be a priority habitat. 
 
The northern tip of the 
site lies within the 
Worsley Woods site of 
biological importance 
and local nature reserve. 
 
There are records of 
protected species using 
the site.  

unavoidable. 
 
Any development on this 
site should not adversely 
affect the nature 
conservation value of 
Worsley Woods. 
 
Further assessment of 
protected and priority 
species and measures to 
address if required (such as 
through the design of any 
development). 
 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance. 

0 None 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Greenfield land 
 
Agricultural land data 
suggests that a large 
area of the site is grade 
3 agricultural land 
(grades 1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). However 
an agricultural land 
assessment was 
submitted as part of a 
planning application 
involving development of 
this site. This explains 
that this site comprises 
entirely grade 4 
agricultural land. 
 
A very small part of the 
site (land at the edge of 
the site on the north-
western boundary) may 
have previously been 

- Detailed site investigations 
would be necessary to 
assess the extent to which 
contamination and the need 
for remediation may impact 
on the developable area of 
the site. 

Page 877



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 12 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

used for landfill 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

Pond on the site (in the 
north east). 

0 Permission will be needed 
for any works to the 
watercourse; culverting 
should be avoided. 
 
Particular regard will need 
to be had to the importance 
of protecting water quality 
 
Incorporation of sustainable 
urban drainage and 
promotion of water use 
efficiency 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

There are no known 
flooding issues on this 
site. 

0 Incorporation of sustainable 
urban drainage 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The development of a 
greenfield site would be 
expected to increase 
local traffic and therefore 
air pollution.  
 
Greenfield land with 
mature trees and 
vegetation can have a 
positive impact in 
processing emissions. 

- Protect mature trees/ 
vegetation and incorporate 
significant green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open greenfield 
land with some 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution. 
 
The development of a 
greenfield site would 
increase consumption 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development 
would be expected to 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 

Page 878



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 13 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

The site would be 
expected to generate 
additional car journeys, 
and therefore the use of 
non-renewable 
resources. 

 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There is one grade II 
listed building within 100 
metres of the site 
boundary (Drywood 
Hall), however the 
development of this site 
is unlikely to affect its 
setting. 
 
The site lies within 100 
metres of the northern 
part of Worsley Village 
conservation area. 
However, Worsley 
Woods (a site of 
biological importance) 
separates the site from 
the conservation area, 
meaning that its 
development may not 
affect the setting of the 
conservation area.  
 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 
 
Potential archaeological 
remains of local to 
regional significance on 
the site 

- Potential archaeological 
remains of local to regional 
significance on the site 
will require further 
archaeological investigation 
and recording ahead of any 
development works. 
 
To minimise impacts on the 
historic significance of the 
area. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 

Site forms part of the 
Worsley Greenway 
which covers a much 

-- See potential mitigation 
relating to objective 10 
above. 

Page 879



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 14 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

wider area (around 
195 hectares). Current 
policy seeks to protect 
the Greenway from 
development that would 
fragment or detract from 
its openness of 
continuity, or cause 
unacceptable harm to its 
character or value as an 
amenity, wildlife, 
agricultural or 
open recreation 
resource. 
 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 
 
Protected trees run 
along the south west 
edge of the site along 
Worsley Road. Given 
that the protected trees 
lie along the boundary of 
the site, they are unlikely 
to represent a significant 
constraint to 
development. 
 
The site is bounded by 
mature trees on the 
north, west and east 
side, and there is a pond 
in the north east corner 
of the site. Due to their 
location, these features 
should not significantly 
constrain the 
development of the site 
for housing, and the 
pond could potentially be 
retained within any 
scheme layout. 

 
Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape and 
townscape. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
A key consideration will be 
whether the benefits of 
housing development 
would outweigh the loss of 
open land within the urban 
area, which representations 
suggest is valued by local 
residents. 
 
Account to be taken of 
protected trees on the edge 
of the site as part of the 
design and layout of any 
development.  
 
 

12) To protect and Development of this site -/0 Protection of more 

Page 880



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 15 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

enhance 
amenity 

is likely to be considered 
by those in the local area 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenfield 
land, traffic generation, 
noise and demand for 
local services. 
 
The site presents a high 
quality development 
opportunity and could 
provide a high level of 
amenity for new 
residents. 

significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable. 
 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues. 0 Scheme design to consider 
issues of crime and the fear 
of crime. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings, which could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 
of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 
as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
prosperous area. 

0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 
 
The increase in 
households could place 

++ Need to ensure the 
expected households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision.  
 

Page 881



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 16 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate numbers. 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 
support a high level of 
affordable housing, 
helping to address an 
identified shortfall. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Include a requirement for a 
significant proportion of 
affordable homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

The site has good 
access to some local 
facilities and services, 
and to the majority of 
types of open space 
provision, though not to 
a town/local centre. 
 
Existing playing fields for 
the Bridgewater School 
on the site. 

-/+ Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Replacement playing fields 
to be provided.  
 
Incorporate significant 
green infrastructure 
including open space 
provision to address any 
deficiencies. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace /, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development into the 
local area. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 

Page 882



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 17 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

decision-
making 

any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development that 
is only found in a small 
number of locations 
across Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The loss of part of 
greenfield land within the 
Worsley Greenway is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on perceptions 
locally. 

- /+ Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 
Ensure the highest quality 
of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships to 
existing dwellings.  

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

This greenfield site is located in the residential area of 
Worsley. Part of the site is in use as playing fields for the 
Bridgewater School, and the remainder is currently used as 
grazing land. The site has good access to some local facilities 
and services, and to the majority of types of open space 
provision, though not to a town/local centre. However, it is 
currently located in the Worsley Greenway; notwithstanding 
this, the site provides an opportunity for high quality 
development that is only found in a small number of locations 
across Greater Manchester. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Any development would need to respond positively to 
the listed heritage assets, conservation areas and the 
wider character of the area. 

 Any development for housing should be designed to 
allow the movement of wildlife through the site. 

 Development should not adversely affect the nature 
conservation value of Worsley Woods. 

 Land remediation is likely to be required given former 
landfill activity on part of the site. 

 Development should be sensitive to the pond on the site 
and incorporate sustainable urban drainage systems 

 Potential archaeological remains of local to regional 

Page 883



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 18 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

significance on the site will require further 
archaeological investigation and recording ahead of any 
development works. 

 Minimise any negative impacts on the historic value of 
the area 

 Protect mature trees and other important landscape 
features. 

 Green infrastructure to be provided within the site 
including open space to address any deficiencies 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted 
including opportunities to integrate any scheme with 
footpaths and cycleways if/ where available.  

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Conclusion The potential development of this site raises a number of 
significant negative issues against the sustainability appraisal 
objectives. The main positive impact identified is in relation to 
the contribution the site could make to the variety of dwellings 
available within the city, however this must be considered in 
the context of new residential allocations proposed in the 
GMSF and the potential harm to existing residential areas in 
Salford resulting from its development.  
 
The site forms part of a wider West Salford Greenway strategic 
green infrastructure policy (GI5) recognising the characteristics 
and functions of this area from a range of perspectives 
including heritage, biodiversity, and recreation. The West 
Salford Greenway area is being considered as an addition to 
the Green Belt through the GMSF.  
 
The site is also designated as a Local Green Space in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (Policy GI6/7), one of five identified 
with the West Salford Greenway. 
 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 884



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 19 

Broadoak South 

Site suggestion reference: WB002 Broadoak South 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The redevelopment of 
greenfield land (within 
the Worsley Greenway) 
will raise concerns with 
the local population 
which can have a 
negative impact on 
physical and mental 
health. This is known 
given the results of 
previous consultations 
on the local plan, and 
from evidence presented 
at two Public Inquiries by 
local people into the 
refusal of planning 
permission for housing 
on the site.  
 
The site has good 
access to open space to 
support recreation 
activities. 
 
Site could provide a high 
quality development 
scheme which would be 
expected to have a 
positive impact on those 
living there.  

- Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be improved and 
promoted as far as 
practicable. 
 
Requirements in terms of 
high quality scheme design 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is part of a wider 
wildlife corridor and 
includes priority habitats 
and others that may also 
be priority habitats.  
 
Surveys submitted with a 
planning application on 
the site suggest that 
there may also be 
valuable marshy 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Loss of priority habitats 
should be avoided if 
possible and mitigated or 
compensated if loss is 
unavoidable. 
 
Further assessment of 

Page 885



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 20 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

grassland on the site. 
 
There are records of 
protected species using 
the site.  

protected and priority 
species and measures to 
address if required (such as 
through the design of any 
development). 
 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance. 

0 None. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Greenfield site 
 
Agricultural land data 
suggests that a large 
area of the site is grade 
3 agricultural land 
grades 1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). However 
an agricultural land 
assessment was 
submitted as part of a 
planning application 
involving development of 
this site. This explains 
that 5.4 hectares of 
grade 2 and 3a 
agricultural land would 
be lost as a result of the 
proposed development. 
 
It is understood that a 
very small part of the site 
(land in the north-west 
corner) may have 
previously been used for 
landfill. 

- The loss of high grade 
agricultural land will need to 
be fully assessed and 
weighed against any 
potential benefits of 
development. 
 
Detailed site investigations 
would be necessary to 
assess the extent to which 
contamination and the need 
for remediation may impact 
on the developable area of 
the site. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

There are a number of 
drainage ditches, ponds 
and small watercourses 
on the site, including 
Sindsley Brook which is 
a main river. 

0 Works to the main river 
would require permission 
from the Environment 
Agency, and a buffer strip 
alongside the main river 
may be required to allow 
access and maintenance. 
 

Page 886



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 21 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Any development would 
also need to be sensitive to 
the importance of 
protecting water quality 
given the presence of 
watercourses on the site. 
Incorporate sustainable 
urban drainage 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 
flooding 

Flood modelling shows 
significant areas of both 
river and surface water 
flooding on this site, 
primarily due to water 
backing up against the 
Bridgewater Canal 
embankment. Without 
mitigation measures, the 
developable area of the 
site would be 
significantly reduced. 

- Development to include 
flood mitigation and 
sustainable urban drainage 
to effectively manage run-
off and discharge rates. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

Greenfield site with 
mature trees/ vegetation 
which can have a 
positive role. 
 
The development of a 
greenfield site would be 
expected to increase 
local traffic and therefore 
air pollution.  

- Protect existing mature 
trees and incorporate 
significant levels of green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open greenfield 
land with mature trees / 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to increase contributions 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development 
would increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 

Page 887



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 22 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

The site would be 
expected to generate 
additional car journeys, 
and therefore the use of 
non-renewable 
resources. 

options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There is one grade II 
listed building within 100 
metres of the site 
boundary (Drywood 
Hall) which lies to the 
north of Worsley Road. 
There are two rows of 
trees either side of 
Worsley Road which if 
retained would act as 
buffer between the listed 
building and the 
development site.  
 
There is also one locally 
listed building within 30 
metres of the site 
boundary (Drywood 
Lodge), and the 
development of this site 
is likely to affect its 
setting. 
 
The site lies within 100 
metres of the Worsley 
Village conservation 
area, however the 
development of this site 
is unlikely to affect its 
setting.  
 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 

- Minimise any impact on the 
historic significance of the 
area. 
 
Potential archaeological 
remains of local to regional 
significance on the site will 
require further 
archaeological investigation 
and recording ahead of any 
development works. 

Page 888



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 23 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
Potential archaeological 
remains of local to 
regional significance on 
the site (including the 
remains of a Roman 
road linking Manchester 
to Wigan). 
 
The site is adjacent to 
the Bridgewater Canal, 
which is an important, 
historic, linear feature 
that should be taken into 
account in the design 
and layout of any 
development. 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

The site is greenfield 
land and forms part of 
the Worsley Greenway, 
as designated in saved 
unitary development plan 
policy EN2. This 
designation covers a 
much wider area (around 
195 hectares), and the 
current policy seeks to 
protect the Greenway 
from development that 
would fragment or 
detract from its 
openness of continuity, 
or cause unacceptable 
harm to its character or 
value as an amenity, 
wildlife, agricultural or 
open recreation 
resource. 
 
There is a mixture of 
species of protected 
trees on the site, 
however these are 
mainly located around 
the edges of the site, 
and therefore are 
unlikely to represent a 

-- Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape and 
townscape. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
Protect mature trees 
(including some protected 
with a preservation order) 
on the edge of the site as 
part of the design and 
layout of any development.  
 
Enhance the setting of 
Sindsley Brook. 
 
 

Page 889



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 24 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

significant constraint to 
development. There are 
also two clusters of oak, 
sycamore and ash trees 
located in the northern 
part of the site. 
 
Sindsley Brook runs 
north to south through 
the middle of the site. 
 
There is a pond, areas of 
woodland and mature 
vegetation, and 
footpaths crossing the 
site. These features 
could potentially be 
retained within any 
scheme layout if 
considered appropriate, 
however this is likely to 
reduce the amount of 
development that could 
be accommodated on 
the site. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those in the local area 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenfield 
land, traffic generation, 
noise and demand for 
local services. 
 
The site could provide a 
high quality development 
scheme that would have 
the potential to provide 
new residents with a 
high level of amenity. 

-/+ Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable. 
 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues. 0 Scheme design to consider 
issues of crime and the fear 
of crime. 

14) To maximise 
economic 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 

Page 890



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 25 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings, which could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 
of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 
as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
prosperous area. 

0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 
 
The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate numbers. 

++ Need to ensure the 
expected households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
The site would also 
provide berths for canal 
boats.  
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 
support a high level of 
affordable housing, 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Include a requirement for a 
significant proportion of 
affordable homes. 
 
The development of a 250 
berth marina in this location 
is identified as a key project 
in the Bridgewater Canal 
Masterplan, and therefore 
any housing development 
on this site would need to 

Page 891



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 26 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

helping to address an 
identified shortfall. 

incorporate this proposal. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

This is a very large site 
(27 hectares), and 
therefore travel time by 
public transport/walking 
to local services and 
facilities varies 
depending on where you 
are on the site.  
 
Development could 
result in significant car 
dependency. 
 
The nearest local centre 
to the site is Monton 
(1.2km), and the nearest 
town centre is Swinton 
(2.4km). 
 
The site is close to 
junction 13 of the M60. 
 
The site has good 
access to the majority of 
the types of open space 
covered by local 
recreation standards. 
The site is not within 
walking distance of a 
play area for younger 
children. 

-/+ Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Any housing development 
would need to incorporate 
significant open space on-
site, including a play area 
for younger children. A 
financial contribution should 
also be provided to 
assist in the creation of a 
neighbourhood park at 
Duke’s Drive. This would 
be within walking distance 
of the whole site. 
 
The existing public 
footpaths would need to be 
retained or diverted on-site. 
 
The development of a 250 
berth marina in this location 
is identified as a key project 
in the Bridgewater Canal 
Masterplan, and therefore 
any housing development 
on this site would need to 
incorporate this proposal. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace /, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development into the 
local area. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 

Page 892



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 27 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

making  

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development that 
is only found in a small 
number of locations 
across Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The loss of part of 
greenfield land within the 
Worsley Greenway is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on perceptions 
locally. 

- /+ Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 
Ensure the highest quality 
of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships to 
existing dwellings.  

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

This greenfield site is located in the residential area of 
Worsley. The site is grassed and partly wooded, and a number 
of footpaths run through the site, which connect the 
Bridgewater Canal towpath with the loopline and Worsley 
Woods. The site currently located in the Worsley Greenway; 
notwithstanding this, the site provides an opportunity for high 
quality development that is only found in a small number of 
locations across Greater Manchester. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Any development for housing should be designed to 
allow the movement of wildlife through the site. 

 Important species on the site should be taken into 
account in the design and layout of development. 

 Land remediation is likely to be required given former 
landfill activity on a very small part of the site. 

 Any development would need to respond positively to 
the listed heritage assets, conservation areas and the 
wider character of the area. 

 Potential archaeological remains of local to regional 
significance on the site will require further 
archaeological investigation and recording ahead of any 
development works. 

 The design and layout of any development should have 
regard to the Bridgewater Canal, which is an important, 

Page 893



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 28 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

historic, linear feature in this part of the city. 

 The layout of development should have regard to 
protected trees and other important landscape features. 

 Development of a 250 berth marina in this location given 
that it is identified as a key project in the Bridgewater 
Canal Masterplan 

 Protect more significant landscape features including 
mature trees and incorporate significant green 
infrastructure 

 Provide and/or contribute to improvements in local open 
space provision 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Incorporate sustainable urban drainage 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted 
including opportunities to integrate any scheme with 
footpaths and cycleways if/ where available.  

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Conclusion The potential development of this site raises a number of 
significant negative issues against the sustainability appraisal 
objectives. The main positive impact identified is in relation to 
the contribution the site could make to the variety of dwellings 
available within the city, however this must be considered in 
the context of new residential allocations proposed in the 
GMSF and the potential harm to existing residential areas in 
Salford resulting from its development.  
 
The site forms part of a wider West Salford Greenway strategic 
green infrastructure policy (GI5) recognising the characteristics 
and functions of this area from a range of perspectives 
including heritage, biodiversity, and recreation. The West 
Salford Greenway area is being considered as an addition to 
the Green Belt through the GMSF.  
 
The site is also designated as a Local Green Space in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (Policy GI6/8), one of five identified 
with the West Salford Greenway. 
 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 
  

Page 894



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 29 

Land at Beesley Green 

Site suggestion reference: WB003 Land at Beesley Green 

 
Appraised use: Residential 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The redevelopment of 
greenfield land (within 
the Worsley Greenway) 
will raise concerns with 
the local population 
which can have a 
negative impact on 
physical and mental 
health.  
 
Access to local facilities 
and public transport 
services is reasonably 
good, however it is not 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s town/local 
centres. Development 
could therefore result in 
significant car 
dependency.  
 
Site has good access to 
the majority of spaces 
covered by local 
recreation standards. 
 
Site would be expected 
to provide a high quality 
residential development, 
in a high demand area 
and with an attractive 
setting. Such a proposal 
would be expected to 
have a positive impact 
on the physical and 
mental health of those 
living there.  

-/+ Design and layout to have 
regard to proximity to 
motorway to minimise 
impacts on amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Improvements to public 
transport services and 
integration of development 
with local footpaths and 
cycleways. 
 
  
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 

The site is part of a 
wildlife corridor. 
 
The site is adjacent to 

- Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 

Page 895



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 30 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

resources Worsley Woods site of 
biological importance 
(SBI). 
 
A small area at the 
eastern edge of the site 
is semi-natural 
broadleaved woodland, 
which is a priority habitat 
nationally. The majority 
of the site is semi-
improved neutral 
grassland, and the pond 
is standing water. These 
may be priority habitats 
(subject to more detailed 
survey). 
 
There are records of 
important species on this 
site which may constrain 
development. 
 

Any development should be 
carefully designed to avoid 
adverse impacts on 
Worsley Woods. 
 
Loss of priority habitats 
should be avoided if 
possible and mitigated or 
compensated if loss is 
unavoidable. 
 
Further assessment of 
important species and 
measures to address if 
required. 
 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

No known features of 
geological significance. 

0 None. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

Greenfield site 
 
Agricultural land 
data suggests that all of 
the site is grade 3 
agricultural land (grades 
1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). 

- Detailed survey of 
agricultural land value 
required 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

Pond on the site and a 
number of watercourses 
nearby. 

0 Any development will need 
to be particularly sensitive 
to the importance of 
protecting water quality. 
 
Incorporation of sustainable 
urban drainage 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 
impacts of 

There are no significant 
flooding issues on this 
site. 

0 Incorporation of sustainable 
urban drainage 

Page 896



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 31 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

flooding 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The development of a 
greenfield site would be 
expected to increase 
local traffic and therefore 
air pollution to some 
extent.  

- Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open greenfield 
land with some 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to increase contributions 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
To retain mature trees / 
vegetation and incorporate 
green infrastructure. 
 
 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Despite good levels of 
accessibility, the 
development of this 
greenfield site would 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
 
  
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There is one grade II 
listed building within 100 
metres of the site 
(Beesley Hall (250- 
252 Greenleach Lane), 
and the development of 
this site is likely to affect 
its setting. 
 
The site lies wholly 
within the Roe Green 

-- Avoid negative impacts on 
listed buildings and the 
conservation area.  
 
 

Page 897



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 32 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

/Beesley Green 
conservation area. The 
development of this site 
would result in a large 
area of open land which 
makes a significant 
contribution to the 
special character and 
appearance of the 
conservation area, being 
lost. It is considered that 
the development of this 
site for housing would be 
likely to have a 
significant negative 
impact on the 
conservation area, 
causing considerable 
harm to the rural 
character of the area on 
which the designation is 
substantially based. 
 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 
 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

Site forms part of the 
Worsley Greenway 
which covers a much 
wider area (around 
195 hectares). Current 
policy seeks to protect 
the Greenway from 
development that would 
fragment or detract from 
its openness of 
continuity, or cause 
unacceptable harm to its 
character or value as an 
amenity, wildlife, 
agricultural or open 
recreation resource. 
 
There is a mix of 

-- Avoid negative impacts on 
listed buildings and the 
conservation area.  
 
Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape and 
townscape. Retention of 
existing mature trees on the 
site’s periphery could limit 
impacts to some extent. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
 

Page 898



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 33 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

protected trees on the 
eastern edge of the site. 
Given that these lie 
along the boundary of 
the site, they are unlikely 
to represent a significant 
constraint to 
development. 
 
There is a large pond 
located in the centre of 
the site, and mature 
trees around site’s 
edges. 
 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those in the local area 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenfield 
land, traffic generation, 
noise and demand for 
local services. 
 
The M60 is located to 
the south and east of the 
site and may be affected 
by noise to some extent. 
 
High quality 
development 
opportunity, those living 
within the site would be 
expected to have a good 
level of amenity.  

-/+ Incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Site specific noise 
mitigation measures  

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues. 0 Scheme design to consider 
issues of crime and the fear 
of crime. 

14) To maximise 
economic 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 

Page 899



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 34 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings, which could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 
of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 
as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
prosperous area. 

0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 
 
The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate numbers. 

++ Need to ensure the 
expected households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 
support a high level of 
affordable housing, 
helping to address an 
identified shortfall. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Include a requirement for a 
significant proportion of 
affordable homes. 

18) To improve the Access to local services + Opportunities to integrate 

Page 900



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 35 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

and facilities is generally 
quite good, however it is 
not particularly close to 
any of the city’s town / 
local centres. 
 
Bus is the most 
accessible mode of 
public transport serving 
the site (0.5km), as the 
nearest rail and 
metrolink stations are 
1.7km and 4.1km away 
respectively. 
 
The site is not located 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s existing 
town/local centres. The 
nearest local centre is 
Ellenbrook (2.3km), and 
the nearest town centre 
is Walkden (2.0km). 
 
The site includes the 
northern edge of an 
existing open space site 
identified in the 
Greenspace Strategy 
Supplementary Planning 
Document: Roe Green 
Cricket Club 
(WBO/018). 
 
The site has good 
access to the majority of 
the types of open space 
covered by local 
recreation standards 
(district park, local and 
strategic natural 
greenspace). Half of the 
site is within walking 
distance of a play area 
for younger children and 
a very small proportion 
of the site is within 

the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure and 
greenspace to address 
local deficiencies. 
 
Improve and promote 
sustainable transport 
options to improve wider 
accessibility. 

Page 901



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 36 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

walking distance of a 
play area for older 
children.  
 
The site is not within 
walking distance of a 
neighbourhood park.  

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace /, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development into the 
local area. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 
decision-
making 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development that 
is only found in a small 
number of locations 
across Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The loss of part of 
greenfield land within the 
Worsley Greenway is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on perceptions 
locally. 

-/+ Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 
Ensure the highest quality 
of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships to 
existing dwellings.  

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

This greenfield site is located in the residential area of 
Worsley, to the immediate south of the Roe Green Cricket 
Club. Access to local facilities and public transport services is 
reasonably good, although the site is not particularly close to 
any of the city’s existing town/local centres. The site is 
currently located in the Worsley Greenway and is in a 
conservation area. Notwithstanding this, the site provides an 
opportunity for high quality development that is only found in a 
small number of locations across Greater Manchester. 
 

Page 902



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 37 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Ensure development on the site takes the opportunity to 
deliver larger, higher value dwellings.  

 Include a requirement for a significant proportion of 
affordable homes  

 Design and layout to minimise wider impact on the local 
landscape and townscape. Retention of existing mature 
trees on the site’s periphery could limit impacts to some 
extent. 

 Development should not adversely affect the nature 
conservation value of Worsley Woods. 

 Detailed survey information on its agricultural land value 
would be needed, so that the significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land can be fully assessed 

 The design of development should respond positively to 
the nearby listed building. The site’s conservation area 
designation would need to be given very careful 
consideration in determining the design and layout of 
any scheme should this site come forward for 
development. 

 Noise mitigation measures are likely to be required 
given the proximity of the motorway network to the site. 

 The layout of development should have regard to 
protected trees and other important landscape features. 

 Significant green infrastructure to be provided within the 
site including open space to address local deficiency 

 Any development for housing should be designed to 
allow the movement of wildlife through the site. 

 Due to the presence of watercourses in and around the 
site, development should be sensitive to the importance 
of maintaining water quality  

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted 
including opportunities to integrate any scheme with 
footpaths and cycleways if/ where available.  

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Page 903



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 38 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

Conclusion The potential development of this site raises a number of 
significant negative issues against the sustainability appraisal 
objectives. The main positive impact identified is in relation to 
the contribution the site could make to the variety of dwellings 
available within the city, however this must be considered in 
the context of new residential allocations proposed in the 
GMSF and the potential harm to existing residential areas in 
Salford resulting from its development.  
 
The site forms part of a wider West Salford Greenway strategic 
green infrastructure policy (GI5) recognising the characteristics 
and functions of this area from a range of perspectives 
including heritage, biodiversity, and recreation. The West 
Salford Greenway area is being considered as an addition to 
the Green Belt through the GMSF.  
 
The site is also designated as a Local Green Space in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (Policy GI6/6), one of five identified 
with the West Salford Greenway. 
 

 
Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

  

Page 904



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 39 

Land at Crossfield Drive 

 
Site suggestion reference: WB004 Land at Crossfield Drive 
Appraised use: Residential 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

1)   To improve 
physical and 
mental health 

The redevelopment of 
greenfield land (within 
the Worsley Greenway) 
will raise concerns with 
the local population 
which can have a 
negative impact on 
physical and mental 
health.  
 
The M60 is located to 
the east of the site, and 
part of the site closest to 
the motorway falls within 
an air quality 
management area. 
 
Access to local facilities 
and public transport 
services is quite limited, 
and the site is not 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s existing 
town/local centres; 
development could result 
in significant car 
dependency.  

- Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to the air quality 
management area and 
proximity to motorway to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Protection of more 
significant landscape 
features and incorporation 
of green infrastructure. 
 
Sustainable transport 
options to be promoted as 
far as practicable. 
 
  
 

2)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
biodiversity 
resources 

The site is part of a 
wildlife corridor. 
 
The site is adjacent to 
Worsley Woods site of 
biological importance. 
 
There are records of 
important species on this 
site which may constrain 
development. 
 
Priority habitats areas 
adjacent to the south 

-/0 Development to retain 
ability for movement of 
wildlife through the site. 
 
Any development should be 
carefully designed to avoid 
adverse impacts on 
Worsley Woods 
 
Further assessment of 
protected and priority 
species and measures to 
address if required. 
 

Page 905



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 40 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

and north of the site Loss of priority habitats 
should be avoided if 
possible and mitigated or 
compensated if loss is 
unavoidable. 
 

3)   To protect, 
enhance and 
restore 
geological 
resources 

There are no allocations 
or designations on the 
site in the Greater 
Manchester 
waste development plan 
document or the Greater 
Manchester minerals 
development plan 
document. 
 
No other known features 
of geological 
significance. 

0 None. 

4)   To protect and 
improve soil 
and land 
resources 

None of the site is 
considered to be 
previously developed 
land. Agricultural land 
data suggests that all of 
the site is grade 3 
agricultural land (grades 
1, 2 and 3a are 
defined as the best and 
most versatile). 
 
Site investigations would 
be required in order to 
assess the extent of land 
stability issues 
associated with former 
mining activities on the 
site. 

- More detailed survey 
information on the 
agricultural land value is 
needed so that the 
significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land 
can be fully assessed and 
weighed against any 
potential benefits of 
development. 
 
Detailed site investigations 
would be necessary to 
assess the extent to which 
instability may impact on 
the developable area of the 
site. 

5)   To protect and 
enhance water 
resources 

An ordinary watercourse 
crosses the northern part 
of the site. Kempnough 
Brook lies to the east of 
the site. 

0 Permission will be needed 
for any works to the 
watercourse; culverting 
should be avoided. 
 
Particular regard will need 
to be had to the importance 
of protecting water quality 

6)   To minimise 
the risk and 

There are no known 
flooding issues on this 

0 None. 

Page 906



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 41 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

impacts of 
flooding 

site. 

7)   To improve air 
quality 

The M60 is located to 
the east of the site, and 
part of the site closest to 
the motorway falls within 
an air quality 
management area. 
 
The development of a 
greenfield site would be 
expected to increase 
local traffic and therefore 
air pollution.  
 
Access to local facilities 
and public transport 
services is quite limited, 
and the site is not 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s existing 
town/local centres; 
development could result 
in significant car 
dependency. 

- Likely to be a requirement 
for site specific measures 
to mitigate both air and 
noise pollution impacts of 
the motorway for residential 
development to come 
forward on the site. This 
may impact on the extent of 
the site which could be 
developed for housing. 
 
Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
  
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

8)   To minimise 
contributions to 
climate change 

Site is open greenfield 
land with some 
vegetation that can make 
a positive contribution. 
 
The development of the 
site would be expected 
to increase contributions 
through on-site activity 
and traffic generation. 
 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Site to incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
Seek improvements to 
public transport, cycling 
and walking options. 

9)   To minimise 
the use of non-
renewable 
resources 

Site is greenfield land 
and its development 
would be expected to 
increase the 
consumption of non-
renewable resources. 
 
The site would be 
expected to generate 
additional car journeys, 
and therefore the use of 

- Design of new development 
to promote sustainable 
energy use. 
 
Measures to promote 
sustainable transport 
options. 
 
Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 

Page 907



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 42 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

non-renewable 
resources. 

be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Encourage the use of 
sustainable building 
methods and recycled 
materials. 

10) To protect, 
enhance, and 
enable the 
appreciation of, 
the city’s 
heritage 

There are two grade II 
listed buildings within 
100 metres of the site 
and the development of 
this site is likely to affect 
their settings. 
 
The northern part of the 
site falls within the 
adopted Roe 
Green/Beesley Green 
conservation area. The 
development of the 
northern part of the site 
(within the conservation 
area) would result in an 
area of open land which 
contributes to the special 
character and 
appearance of the 
conservation area, being 
lost. It is considered that 
the development of this 
part of the site for 
housing would be likely 
to have a negative 
impact on the 
conservation area, 
adversely affecting the 
rural character of the 
area on which the 
designation is 
substantially based. 
 
The remainder of the site 
wraps around the 
southern part of the Roe 
Green/Beesley 
Green conservation area 
boundary. 

-- Any development would 
need to respond positively 
to these heritage assets 
within 100m of the site, 
ensuring that it does not 
detract from their 
significance or impact 
negatively on their settings. 
 
A  strong justification would 
be required for the 
development of housing in 
the conservation area, and 
there would need to be 
clear and substantial 
benefits to the 
development, which 
would outweigh the harm to 
the character and 
appearance of it. 
 
The design and layout of 
any development 
proposals coming forward 
on the part of the site 
outside of the conservation 
area should give careful 
consideration to the setting 
of and views from the 
conservation area. 

Page 908



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 43 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 
 

11) To maintain 
and enhance 
the quality and 
character of 
landscape and 
townscape 

See comments relating 
to objective 10 above.  
 
The site is greenfield 
land and forms part of 
the Worsley Greenway, 
as designated in saved 
unitary development plan 
policy EN2. This 
designation covers a 
much wider area (around 
195 hectares), and the 
current policy seeks to 
protect the Greenway 
from development that 
would fragment or 
detract from its 
openness of continuity, 
or cause unacceptable 
harm to its character or 
value as an amenity, 
wildlife, agricultural or 
open recreation 
resource. 
 
There are some 
protected poplar trees on 
the northern tip of the 
site, and a protected ash 
tree on the western edge 
of the site. There are 
also two protected oak 
and two protected ash 
trees to the immediate 
north east of the 
entrance to the site at 
Kempnough Hall Road. 
 
The site is dissected by 
two lines of trees and a 

-- See potential mitigation 
relating to objective 10 
above. 
 
Design and layout to 
minimise wider impact on 
the local landscape and 
townscape. 
 
Incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
A key consideration will be 
whether the benefits of 
housing development 
would outweigh the loss of 
open land within the urban 
area, which representations 
suggest is valued by local 
residents. 
 
Account to be taken of 
protected trees on the edge 
of the site as part of the 
design and layout of any 
development.  
 
It may be necessary to 
retain the line of trees 
running through the site, 
which would reduce the 
overall amount of 
development that can be 
accommodated on the site. 

Page 909



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 44 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

brook running east to 
west. 
 
The Greenway as a 
whole is regarded as 
forming an important part 
of the character of the 
historic area of Worsley. 

12) To protect and 
enhance 
amenity 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those in the local area 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenfield 
land, traffic generation, 
noise and demand for 
local services. 
 
The M60 is located to 
the east of the site, and 
part of the site closest to 
the motorway falls within 
an air quality 
management area. 
 
The site could however 
have potential to provide 
a high quality residential 
development that would 
have a positive impact 
on the amenity of those 
living in new dwellings. 

-/+ Incorporate green 
infrastructure. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity. 
 
Site specific noise and/or 
air quality mitigation 
measures should the site 
be developed for housing. 
This may include a buffer 
strip alongside the 
motorway, which would 
reduce the site’s 
developable area. 

13) To reduce 
crime and the 
fear of crime 

No specific issues. 0 Scheme design to consider 
issues of crime and the fear 
of crime. 

14) To maximise 
economic 
growth that can 
be sustained in 
the long-term 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings, which could 
have the potential to 
contribute to the 
retention and attraction 
of higher skilled workers.  
 
This has been identified 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 

Page 910



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 45 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

as an important factor in 
raising the skill levels of 
the conurbation and 
supporting economic 
growth. 

15) To enhance 
economic 
inclusion 

Limited impact given that 
the site would provide 
new housing in a 
prosperous area. 

0 None 

16) To improve the 
city’s 
knowledge 
base 

The location is likely to 
be highly attractive to 
skilled workers, thereby 
expanding the city’s 
knowledge base. 
 
The increase in 
households could place 
existing schools in the 
local area under greater 
pressure to 
accommodate numbers. 

++ Need to ensure the 
expected households can 
be adequately 
accommodated within the 
capacity of local school 
provision.  
 

17) To ensure that 
everyone has 
access to a 
good home 
that meets their 
needs 

The site’s location 
provides an opportunity 
to deliver high quality 
high value family 
dwellings which could 
make a valuable 
contribution to the range 
of accommodation 
available within the city. 
 
The strong development 
viability of the site could 
support a high level of 
affordable housing, 
helping to address an 
identified shortfall. 

++ To ensure development on 
the site takes the 
opportunity to deliver 
larger, higher value 
dwellings.  
 
Include a requirement for a 
significant proportion of 
affordable homes. 

18) To improve the 
accessibility of 
facilities and 
opportunities 

Access to local facilities 
and public transport 
services is quite limited, 
and the site is not 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s existing 
town/local centres. 
 
Bus is the most 
accessible mode of 

-/+ Opportunities to integrate 
the development with 
footpaths and cycleways to 
be exploited if/where 
available. 
 
Any development proposals 
would need to provide a 
play area for younger 
children on-site. A financial 

Page 911



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 46 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

public transport serving 
the site (0.3km), as the 
nearest rail and 
metrolink stations are 
1.8km and 4.1km away 
respectively. 
 
The site is not located 
particularly close to any 
of the city’s existing 
town/local centres. 
Walkden is the nearest 
town centre (2.1km) and 
Ellenbrook is the nearest 
local centre (2.1km). 
 
The site is within walking 
distance of half of the 
types of open space 
covered by the local 
recreation standards 
(district park, local and 
strategic natural 
greenspace).  Small 
proportion of the site is 
within walking distance 
of a play area for older 
children. 
 
The site is not within 
walking distance of a 
neighbourhood park or a 
play area for younger 
children. 

contribution should also be 
provided towards the 
improvement of the existing 
open space at Roe Green, 
to the north of the site. 

19) To improve 
community 
cohesion 

Development of this site 
is likely to be considered 
by those living around it 
as having a negative 
impact on amenity by 
way of issues relating to 
the loss of greenspace /, 
traffic generation, noise 
and demand for local 
services.  
 

- Involve existing residents in 
the design of any 
development. 
 
Design and layout to have 
regard to existing dwellings 
on its peripheries to 
minimise impacts on 
amenity, and to integrate 
the development into the 
local area. 

20) To increase 
involvement in 

Not site specific ? Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 

Page 912



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 47 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

decision-
making 

any planning application. 
 

21) To improve 
perceptions of 
the city 

The site provides an 
opportunity for high 
quality development that 
is only found in a small 
number of locations 
across Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The loss of part of 
greenfield land within the 
Worsley Greenway is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on perceptions 
locally. 

-/+ Ensure early engagement 
of local residents prior to 
any planning application. 
 
Ensure the highest quality 
of design, particularly in 
terms of the relationships to 
existing dwellings.  

    

Site summary: 
 
 
 

This greenfield site is located in the residential area of 
Worsley, to the immediate south of Worsley Woods. Access to 
local facilities and public transport services is quite limited, and 
the site is not particularly close to any of the city’s existing 
town/local centres. However, it is currently located in the 
Worsley Greenway and part of it is in a conservation area. 
Notwithstanding this, the site provides an opportunity for high 
quality development that is only found in a small number of 
locations across Greater Manchester. 
 
If development were to be pursued the following mitigation 
measures should be considered for inclusion within the policy 
framework: 
 

 Ensure early engagement of local residents prior to any 
planning application. 

 Any development for housing should be designed to 
allow the movement of wildlife through the site. 

 Important species on the site should be taken into 
account in the design of development. 

 Development should not adversely affect the nature 
conservation value of Worsley Woods. 

 Detailed survey information on its agricultural land value 
would be needed, so that the significance of any loss of 
high grade agricultural land can be fully assessed 

 Additional surveys may be required in relation to the 
stability of the ground relating to the former mining 
activities on the site. 

 The design and layout of development should have 

Page 913



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 48 

Sustainability 
objective 

Site review Site 
score 

Potential mitigation 

regard to the character and appearance, and setting of 
and views from the conservation area. 

 Air quality and noise mitigation measures are likely to be 
required given the proximity of the motorway network to 
the site. 

 Due to the presence of watercourses in and around the 
site, development should be sensitive to the importance 
of maintaining water quality. 

 The layout of development should have regard to 
protected trees and other important landscape features. 

 Green infrastructure to be provided within the site 

 Design of new development to promote sustainable use 
of resources including energy and water. 

 On-site open space would need to be provided including 
a play area for younger children. A financial contribution 
should also be provided towards the creation of a play 
area for older children at Roe Green. 

 Sustainable transport options should be promoted 
including opportunities to integrate any scheme with 
footpaths and cycleways if/ where available.  

 Encourage the use of sustainable building methods and 
recycled materials. 

 Need to ensure the expected households can be 
adequately accommodated within the capacity of local 
school provision. 

Conclusion The potential development of this site raises a number of 
significant negative issues against the sustainability appraisal 
objectives. The main positive impact identified is in relation to 
the contribution the site could make to the variety of dwellings 
available within the city, however this must be considered in 
the context of new residential allocations proposed in the 
GMSF and the potential harm to existing residential areas in 
Salford resulting from its development.  
 
The site forms part of a wider West Salford Greenway strategic 
green infrastructure policy (GI5) recognising the characteristics 
and functions of this area from a range of perspectives 
including heritage, biodiversity, and recreation. The West 
Salford Greenway area is being considered as an addition to 
the Green Belt through the GMSF.  
 
The site is also designated as a Local Green Space in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (Policy GI6/6), one of five identified 
with the West Salford Greenway. 
 

 

Page 914



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal  
Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reasonable alternatives 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Page 49 

Site scores: ++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 

Page 915



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 1 

 

APPENDIX 9  

Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan 

Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

 

Contents 

 

CHAPTER 5 A Fairer Salford ............................................................................................ 5 

Chapter 5 A Fairer Salford ............................................................................................. 5 

CHAPTER 6 CLIMATE CHANGE .................................................................................... 11 

Policy CC1 Climate change ......................................................................................... 11 

CHAPTER 7 EFFICIENT AND COORDINATED USE OF LAND ..................................... 12 

Policy EF1 Efficient use of land .................................................................................... 12 

Policy EF2 Coordinated development .......................................................................... 16 

CHAPTER 8 PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS ......................................... 20 

Policy PC1 Planning conditions and obligations ........................................................... 20 

CHAPTER 9 AREA POLICIES ........................................................................................ 25 

Policy AP1 City Centre Salford ..................................................................................... 25 

Policy AP2 Greengate Park ......................................................................................... 30 

Policy AP3 Salford Quays ............................................................................................ 34 

Policy AP4 Ordsall Waterfront ...................................................................................... 39 

Policy AP5 Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays ................. 43 

CHAPTER 10 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT .................................................................. 46 

Policy EC1 Economic development spatial strategy ..................................................... 46 

Policy EC2 Economic Inclusion .................................................................................... 47 

Policy EC3 Office Development ................................................................................... 51 

Policy EC4 Industrial and Warehousing development .................................................. 55 

Policy EC6 Existing Employment Areas ....................................................................... 59 

CHAPTER 11 CULTURE AND TOURISM ....................................................................... 64 

Policy CT1 Tourism Development ................................................................................ 64 

Policy CT2 Art and culture ........................................................................................... 69 

Policy CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium, Irlam ........................................................... 73 

CHAPTER 12 HOUSING ................................................................................................. 77 

Policy H1 Housing strategy .......................................................................................... 77 

Policy H2 Scale and phasing of housing ...................................................................... 82 

Policy H3 Distribution of housing and Policy H4 Type of new homes ........................... 88 

Policy H5 Size of new homes ....................................................................................... 94 

Page 917



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 2 

 

Policy H6 Housing density ........................................................................................... 99 

Policy H7 Affordable housing ..................................................................................... 104 

Policy H8 Build to rent ................................................................................................ 109 

Policy H10 Housing for older people .......................................................................... 113 

Policy H11 Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople .......................................... 118 

Policy H12 Purpose built student housing .................................................................. 123 

Policy H13 Self-build and custom housebuilding ........................................................ 128 

Policy H14 Conversion of existing houses, and new build residential developments of 

non-self-contained units ............................................................................................. 132 

CHAPTER 13 TOWN CENTRES AND RETAIL DEVELOPMENT ................................. 137 

Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres .................................................... 137 

Policies TC2 Development involving main town centre uses, TC3 Retail frontages, 

changes of use and redevelopments within centres and TC4 food and drink uses within 

centres ....................................................................................................................... 142 

CHAPTER 14 A LEARNING CITY ................................................................................. 148 

Chapter 14  A learning city ......................................................................................... 148 

CHAPTER 15 HEALTH ................................................................................................. 153 

Policies HH1 Supporting better health ........................................................................ 153 

Policy HH2 Development and health and HH3 Provision of health and social care 

facilities ...................................................................................................................... 154 

Policy HH4 Salford Royal Hospital ............................................................................. 159 

CHAPTER 16 ACCESSIBILITY ..................................................................................... 163 

Policy A1 Sustainable transport strategy .................................................................... 163 

Policy A2 Transport Hierarchy .................................................................................... 168 

Policy A3 Sustainable streets ..................................................................................... 172 

Policy A4 Walking and cycling .................................................................................... 176 

Policy A5 Public Transport ......................................................................................... 180 

Policy A6 Sustainable movement of freight ................................................................ 185 

Policy A7 Highway network ........................................................................................ 189 

Policy A8 Motor vehicle parking provision and drop off points in new developments .. 194 

Policy A9 City Centre Car Parking ............................................................................. 199 

Policy A10 Park and Ride .......................................................................................... 203 

Policy A11 Electric vehicle charging points ................................................................ 208 

Policy A12 Barton Aerodrome .................................................................................... 213 

Policy A13 Protection of aviation safety at Manchester Airport ................................... 217 

Policy A14 Safeguarding potential transport routes .................................................... 221 

CHAPTER 17 DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE ................................................................ 225 

Chapter 17 Digital Infrastructure ................................................................................ 225 

Page 918



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 3 

 

CHAPTER 18 ENERGY ................................................................................................ 229 

Chapter 18 Energy ..................................................................................................... 229 

CHAPTER 19 WATER .................................................................................................. 234 

Policy WA1 Water Strategy ........................................................................................ 234 

Policy WA2 Delivering the Water Framework Directive .............................................. 239 

Policy WA3 Water supply and water efficiency ........................................................... 244 

Policy WA4 Flood-related infrastructure ..................................................................... 248 

Policy WA5 Development and flood risk................................................................... 252 

Policy WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage ............................................... 257 

CHAPTER 20 DESIGN .................................................................................................. 261 

Chapter 20 Design ..................................................................................................... 261 

CHAPTER 21 HERITAGE ............................................................................................. 267 

Chapter 21 Heritage ................................................................................................... 267 

CHAPTER 22 GREEN BELT AND AGRICULTURE ...................................................... 273 

Policy GB1 Green Belt ............................................................................................... 273 

Policy GB2 Soils and agricultural land ........................................................................ 277 

Policy GB3 Farm Diversification ................................................................................. 282 

Policy GB4 Agricultural, forestry and other occupational dwellings within the Green Belt

 .................................................................................................................................. 286 

CHAPTER 23 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ................................................................. 290 

Policy GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy ......................................................... 290 

Policy GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development .................................. 294 

Policy GI3 Chat Moss................................................................................................. 298 

Policy GI4 Irwell Valley ............................................................................................... 304 

Policy GI5 West Salford Greenway ............................................................................ 308 

Policy GI6 Local Green Space ................................................................................... 312 

Policy GI7 Trees, woodland and hedgerows .............................................................. 316 

CHAPTER 24 BIODIVERSITY ...................................................................................... 320 

Chapter 24 Biodiversity .............................................................................................. 320 

CHAPTER 25 RECREATION ........................................................................................ 325 

Policy R1 Recreation spatial strategy ......................................................................... 325 

Policy R2 Recreation standards ................................................................................. 329 

Policy R3 Recreation facilities and residential amenity ............................................... 333 

Policy R4 Protection of recreation land and facilities .................................................. 337 

Policy R5 Strategic recreation routes ......................................................................... 342 

CHAPTER 26 AIR QUALITY ......................................................................................... 346 

Policy AQ1 Air Quality ................................................................................................ 346 

CHAPTER 27 POLLUTION AND HAZARDS ................................................................. 350 

Page 919



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 4 

 

Policy PH1 Pollution Control ...................................................................................... 350 

Policy PH2 Control of Hazardous Uses ...................................................................... 354 

Policy PH3 Development near hazardous installations............................................... 358 

Policy PH4 Land instability ......................................................................................... 361 

 

  

Page 920



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 5 

 

CHAPTER 5 A FAIRER SALFORD 

 

Chapter 5 A Fairer Salford 

 
Description of options 
  

 Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). The fairness chapter of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes four policies that seek to deliver a fairer, more equal 
and pleasant Salford. This requires a broad variety of actions and the chapter 
is therefore wide ranging, with many different aspects of the local plan 
contributing towards this. Policy F1 encourages the early and continuous 
engagement of local residents, businesses and stakeholders in the 
development process and outlines some ways in which they can be involved 
at different stages. F2 seeks to maximise the social value of developments 
and requires that all major developments submit a social value strategy. F3 
directs developments to be as inclusive as possible, and central to this is 
equality of accessibility and opportunity. F4 promotes fairness between 
generations, explaining how different aspects of the plan help to ensure that 
the diversity of cultural and environmental resources is maintained and 
enhanced, and the prospect of future generations is not diminished.  
 

 Option B (No Local Plan). With regards to the involvement of communities in 
the development, the city council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement encourages applicants to undertake pre-application discussions 
and explains how community engagement in the planning application process 
works. Chapter 4 of the NPPF highlights the value of early engagement in the 
development process and directs local authorities to encourage this. It also 
explains that local authorities should consider whether otherwise 
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of 
conditions (which could relate to timings/communication during the 
construction phase).  
 

With regards to social value, Policy ST1 of the saved UDP policies explains 
that development will be required to contribute towards the creation and 
maintenance of sustainable urban neighbourhoods – places that provide a 
positive long term future. Social equity is identified as an aspect of this. 
Employers are encouraged to sign up to the Salford City Mayor’s Employment 
charter which promotes social inclusion. There are no specific requirements 
however in the city’s current planning policy framework. Chapter 2 of the 
NPPF explains that a key element of achieving sustainable development is 
supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities and other parts of the 
NPPF seek to reduce inequalities through promoting safe and healthy 
communities and places which are designed to be safe, inclusive and 
accessible (chapter 8 and 12).  

 

 Reasons for selecting those options 
  

Page 921



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 6 

 

Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised. 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
 Assessment of options 

The issues identified in policies F3 and F4 within Option A are addressed in more 
detail in other chapters / policies elsewhere in the plan: 

 

 Chapter 6 Climate Change  

 Chapter 10 Economic development 

 Chapter 11 Culture and tourism   

 Chapter 12 Housing  

 Chapter 16 Accessibility 

 Chapter 17 Digital infrastructure 

 Chapter 20 Design  

 Chapter 21 Heritage  

 Chapter 23 Green Infrastructure 

 Chapter 24 Biodiversity 

 Chapter 26 Air Quality 

 Chapter 27 Pollution and Hazards 
 

The issues identified in Policies F3 and F4 are therefore appraised under other 
headings and have not been considered as part of this appraisal.  

 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

 Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +  

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore geological 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 922



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 7 

 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +  

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can be 
sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + +  

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +  

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + +  

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0  

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +  

Page 923



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 8 

 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +  

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +  

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

  

 Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A provides greater clarity with regards to 
the expectations of developers both in terms of 
the requirement to submit social value strategies.  
 
Whilst there would be expected to be positive 
benefits associated with the requirement for 
developers to submit a social value strategy, the 
actual benefits to communities is uncertain and 
will depend on the identification of effective 
measures within social value strategies and 
securing their implementation. It is noted that 
policy F2 explains that a condition will be 
included on relevant permissions to ensure the 
implementation of social value strategies.    
 
There is also uncertainty around the extent to 
which developers involve communities in the 
development process, as in accordance with the 
NPPF the local plan cannot require that a 
developer engages with the community at the 
pre-application process, but can only encourage. 
The statement policy F1 which explains that 
applications that can demonstrate early and 
effective engagement shall be looked on more 
favourably, should assist in encouraging 
developers to do this.   
 

Scale Impacts would be at a neighbourhood and city 
wide scale, and would be influenced by the 
ongoing commitment of businesses, residents 
and other stakeholders to the principles of the 
policies. 
 

Permanence Both options could deliver permanent benefits, 
with these expected to increase over time. 
Compliance with policy F2 would be determined 
through the submission of Social Value Strategies 

Page 924



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 9 

 

and their implementation would be secured by 
planning condition. The permanence of any 
impacts would be influenced by ongoing 
commitment of businesses, residents and other 
stakeholders to the principles of the policies.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Under option A, developers would be expected to 
demonstrate how development maximises its 
positive contribution to inclusive places (policy F2 
3)). This policy would therefore support the delivery 
of a range of policies in the local plan, whose 
objectives are reflected in F3. These potential 
benefits could be very wide ranging and beyond 
those identified in this appraisal, resulting in for 
example improved accessibility, increased green 
infrastructure etc.  

Policy F2 would also support the aims of the 
Mayor’s Employment Charter, and the broader 
objectives of policy EC2 (Economic inclusion).  

  

Appraisal summary 

Positive benefits would arise under both options in relation to a range of objectives.  
Whilst the no plan option (B) promotes social equity and encourages the 
engagement of communities in the planning process, option A would place specific 
requirements on developers to demonstrate how social inclusion is supported, and 
also provides much stronger encouragement for developers to engage with the 
community in the planning process. Option A therefore performs better when 
appraised against a number of the sustainability objectives.  
 
There are significant potential benefits associated with supporting people into 
employment in respect of physical and mental health (objective 1), which could 
assist in addressing some of the city’s health inequalities. The ongoing engagement 
of the local community in the planning process can assist in people’s understanding 
and acceptance of proposals, and potentially assist in reducing concerns or worries 
about how an area may change as a result of development.  
 
Involving the community throughout the development process (which is encouraged 
in both options), particularly from the outset, could also assist in improving 
neighbourhood quality (Objective 12), improve community cohesion by encouraging 
communities and other stakeholders to come together (Objective 19) and assist 
people in influencing decision making and remaining informed about proposals 
affecting their local area (objective 20). For all of these objectives, option A would be 
expected to perform better due to the encouragement that developers go further to 
understand needs, work collaboratively, communicate during the construction phase 
and seek feedback. The requirement for developments to submit social value 
strategies in option A would also be expected to assist in promoting equality and 

Page 925



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 10 

 

maximise social inclusion, which assist in this option scoring better when assessed 
against objective 19.  
 
Option A could help to sustain economic growth (Objective 14), contribute towards 
economic inclusion (objective 15) and improve the city’s knowledge base, including 
through expanding the available workforce and the skills within the local population. 
As a city promoting socially conscious development, the approach could also have a 
major positive impact on perceptions of Salford (Objective 21). In the absence of 
specific requirements in this regard, none of these additional benefits would be 
achieved under Option B (No plan Option). 
 
The requirement for developments to submit social value strategies would be a 
completely new policy requirement, and therefore it is expected that benefits 
associated with this would increase over time once opportunities and networks are 
better developed and examples of good practice are established 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 

Option A is considered to better reflect the city council’s vision to deliver a fairer 
Salford. It performs better in the sustainability appraisal than option B, due to the 
additional requirements it places on developers.  

 Potential mitigation 

 Supplementary guidance including the identification of best practice and key 
contacts/organisations could assist implementation of policy F2 and maximise 
the benefits identified. 

 The Statement of Community Involvement could be updated to reflect policy 
F1.  

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, further consideration to be given to the production of 
supplementary guidance in relation to social value strategies.  

 

  

Page 926



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 11 

 

CHAPTER 6 CLIMATE CHANGE 
 

Policy CC1 Climate change 

 
Description of options 
 
Revised Draft Local Plan Policy CC1 identifies the comprehensive and integrated 
approach that would be taken to addressing the challenges of climate change. All of 
the criterion of Policy CC1 are incorporated within other policies of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan, in particular within chapters related to housing, energy, water, design, 
green infrastructure and biodiversity. Assessment of the options against the 
sustainability objectives have been considered in relation to the individual policies of 
the following chapters:  
 
  

 Chapter  

  

3 Spatial vision  

4 Strategic objectives 

5 A fairer Salford   

7 Efficient and coordinated use of land  

8 Planning conditions and obligations 

9 Area policies 

10 Economic development 

11 Culture and tourism 

12 Housing 

13 Town centres and retail development 

15 Health 

16 Accessibility  

18 Energy 

19 Water 

20 Design 

21 Heritage 

22 Green Belt and agriculture 

23 Green infrastructure 

24 Biodiversity 

25 Recreation 

26 Air quality 

27 Pollution and hazards 

 
 
 
  

Page 927



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 12 

 

CHAPTER 7 EFFICIENT AND COORDINATED USE OF LAND 
 

Policy EF1 Efficient use of land  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy EF1 directs developments to use land 
efficiently. The density of development should respond to the context and character 
of the site and reflect its accessibility. The highest density development should be in 
the most accessible locations. The policy explains that residential densities should 
meet the requirements of policy H6.   
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP Policy ST12 requires that development within 
the regional centre, town centres and close to key public transport routes will be 
required to achieve a high density appropriate to the location and context. 
Residential density requirements are set out in policy H1 of the UDP. Chapter 11 of 
the NPPF promotes the effective use of land and local authorities are directed to 
refuse applications they consider fail to make efficient use of land.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
For both options, additional guidance is provided elsewhere in the plan with regards 
to specific housing density requirements. These are not considered in this appraisal 
and will be assessed separately in the appraisal of policy H6.  
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 928



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 13 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/? 0/? 

10+ 0/? 0/? 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/? 0/? 

10+ 0/? 0/? 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/? 0/? 

10+ 0/? 0/? 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

0-5 0 0 

Page 929



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 14 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options set out the broad principles for the efficient use of 
land. The detailed requirements relating to housing density are 
provided elsewhere in the plan and these would assist in providing 
greater clarity and therefore certainty with regards to the 
expectations for housing development.  
  

Scale The most significant impacts would be at a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts would be experienced across the city.  

Permanence Both options would provide a permanent policy approach for 
utilising land efficiently.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy would work alongside a number of policies in the local 
plan which would collectively ensure that the city’s land is used 
efficiently, including the overall development strategy, policy H6 
(housing density) and the design and accessibility chapters. The 
combined effects of these policies would be expected to be more 
significant. The housing and economic land availability 
assessment (HELAA) identifies sites suitable to accommodate 
development.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options provide similar general principles for the efficient use of land and 
therefore score the same throughout the assessment. The commentary below 
summarises the expected impact of both options.  
 
The policy approach would be expected to have positive benefits with regards to 
maximising economic growth and enhancing economic inclusion (objectives 14 and 
15), through making the best possible use of the finite land and resources in the city, 
increasing employment opportunities in accessible locations and enhancing the 
vitality and viability of centres. Locating the highest density development in the most 
accessible locations would also reduce the distance people need to travel to access 
jobs, facilities and services (objective 18). Using land efficiently would also be an 
important part of ensuring that the city’s housing needs can be met (objective 17).  
 

Page 930



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 15 

 

The efficient use of land would result in positive benefits with regard to minimising 
the net loss of greenfield land (objective 4), which in turn could have a positive 
impact on biodiversity assets (objective 2). Locating higher density development in 
the most accessible locations would reduce traffic levels and encourage walking, 
cycling and public transport use which would minimise the use of fossil fuels and 
therefore improve air quality (objectives 7, 8 and 9). 
 
The development of higher densities would mean that impacts on heritage, 
townscape and amenity (objectives 10, 11 and 12) are to some extent uncertain. 
However, development densities are directed to respond to local context and 
character in both options, and the implications of development on heritage assets 
and amenity would be considered in the design of development (chapter 20 design 
and chapter 21 heritage). 
 
With regards to objective 1 (to improve physical and mental health), it is expected 
that positive and negative impacts would be experienced. Delivering higher densities 
of development in the most accessible locations could assist in reducing the need to 
travel, encourage more active travel and therefore assist in reducing exposure to 
pollutants. However, local communities may consider that there would not be enough 
local services, facilities or infrastructure to deal with the increase in people living in 
the area which may have some mental health implications and potentially create 
tensions between existing and new residents (objective 19).    
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected, however both options are the same. The efficient use of land 
will be particularly important for supporting economic growth and ensuring that the 
best possible use can be made of the land and resources in the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable 

 
  

Page 931



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 16 

 

Policy EF2 Coordinated development   

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy EF2 identifies the circumstances where 
masterplans or frameworks will be required to ensure that development is properly 
coordinated and explains the process for the production and approval of 
masterplans. It explains masterplans/SPDs will be required for sites allocated for 
development through the GMSF.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP Policy DEV6 requires that on sites within of 
adjacent to an area identified for major development, planning permission would not 
be granted for incremental development that would unacceptably hamper or reduce 
development options for the wider area.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Some of the representations to the Draft Local Plan 
suggested that masterplans would not be required in the majority of circumstances 
and that this requirement could create delays. These comments are not considered 
to be proposing an alternative option that requires appraising. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
It is expected that there would be very limited impact in the first five years of the plan 
period due to the lead in time associated with producing a masterplan and 
developments of this scale and nature coming forward.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 932



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 17 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 933



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 18 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A outlines the circumstances where masterplans would be 
required, what is expected in terms of the production process and 
arrangements for approval. It would therefore be expected to offer 
greater certainty with regards to its effects.   
  

Scale The most significant impacts would be at a neighbourhood level. 
   

Permanence Both options would ensure that permanent development is 
coordinated and spaces that would create attractive places.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside the various design policies in the 
Local Plan to secure high quality development and well-functioning 
places and spaces. The area based policies would establish 
principles for the development of any masterplans within these 
areas.  The requirements in option A to ensure that masterplans 
maximise social value would also support the aims of the Mayor’s 
Employment Charter, and the broader objectives of policy EC2 
(Economic inclusion). 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options take similar approaches, to ensure that development on individual sites 
does not hamper or reduce options for the wider area. The main differences between 
the options are the additional detail provided in option A. Whilst the two options 
would be expected to have comparable effects, the outcomes of option A would be 
likely to be better due to the additional clarity and guidance it provides.   
 
The requirement for some developments to be guided by a masterplan could assist 
in ensuring consistency in design across a wider area and therefore help to maintain 
and enhance townscapes in the city, provide a more positive image for the city, 
improve neighbourhood quality and where heritage assets are in proximity of the 
site, assist in protecting their setting (objectives 10, 11, 12 and 21). This may be 
particularly valuable in the City Centre where a substantial scale of development is 
proposed to be accommodated in an area where there is a large number of heritage 
assets. Ensuring that development on one site does not reduce opportunities to 
develop adjoining/remaining sites would help to support the continued development 
of housing and employment uses within the city and therefore assisting in the 
provision of an appropriate mix of housing and employment opportunities (objectives 
14 and 17).  
 
The additional detail provided in option A which includes requires that masterplans 
are subject to consultation with the community and stakeholders and seek to 

Page 934



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 19 

 

maximise social value and inclusion in development, would be expected to have 
better outcomes in terms of promoting community cohesion and equality, enabling 
people to influence decision making and remain informed about proposals affecting 
their area, supporting economic inclusion and improving the skills within the local 
population (objectives 15, 16, 19 and 20).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as the preferred approach. Whilst both options are similar, the 
additional detail in option A provides clarity and the requirements around community 
engagement and social value better reflect the city council’s vision to deliver a fairer 
Salford.   
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable 

  

Page 935



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 20 

 

CHAPTER 8 PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 

Policy PC1 Planning conditions and obligations 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy PC1 requires that development that 
would have an adverse impact, or would result in a material increase in the need or 
demand for infrastructure, services, facilities and/or maintenance will only be granted 
planning permission subject to planning conditions and/or planning obligations. It 
goes on to provide policy relating to the artificial splitting of sites, priorities for the use 
of planning obligations, long term maintenance, and the circumstances where 
reduced planning obligations will be permitted. Detailed planning obligations (apart 
from affordable housing which is a separate policy in the revised draft local plan) 
would be set out in a supplementary planning document that would be adopted at 
the same time as the local plan.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Policy DEV5 of the saved UDP requires that development 
that would have an adverse impact on any interests of acknowledged importance, or 
would result in a material increase in the need or demand for infrastructure, services, 
facilities and/or maintenance will only be granted planning permission subject to 
planning conditions and/or planning obligations. An adopted supplementary planning 
document (SPD) on planning obligations contains further details of the council’s 
approach to securing planning obligations. It identifies that contributions will be 
specifically required for affordable housing, open space, education, transport and 
public realm.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Both options are essentially identical and therefore score very similarly throughout 
the assessment. Implementation is partly influenced by existing planning consents, 
and it is therefore assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact 
in the first five years of the plan period.  
 
Option A has been appraised having regard to the specific priorities for planning 
obligations that are identified in policy PC1 of the revised draft local plan (i.e. 
transport, public realm, open space, allotments and green infrastructure, education, 
health, affordable housing and biodiversity off-setting). It has been assumed that 
further detailed guidance on non-affordable housing obligations is provided in a 
supplementary planning document.  
 

Page 936



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 21 

 

Option B has been assessed against the contributions that are sought by the 2015 
planning obligations SPD (affordable housing, open space, education, transport and 
public realm).  
 
For both options there is uncertainty given that reduced planning obligations may be 
permitted subject to a number of criteria applying (including a consideration of 
financial viability). This is reflected in the table below.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? 0 

10+ +/? 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/0 +/0 

10+ +/0 +/0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 937



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 22 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++/? +/? 

10+ ++/? +/? 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
be similar overall. The overall principle of securing obligations in 
the two options would set out in an overarching policy which is 
expanded upon within a supplementary planning document 
(SPD)1.  
 
Each SPD would be underpinned by a strategic assessment of 
viability and so therefore the policy requirements should be 
deliverable; however a developer can submit a viability 
assessment to reduce or waive contributions, should there be site 
specific abnormals for example. This therefore reduces the 
certainty in securing obligations in line with policy, and so therefore 
this is reflected within the sustainability appraisal.  
 

                                                           
1 Although detailed affordable housing requirements would be set out under option A in a 
separate policy in the revised draft local plan. 

Page 938



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 23 

 

Effects Appraisal 

There is a degree of uncertainty with option A given that the 
planning obligations SPD has not yet been produced to provide 
further details on how the revised draft local plan policy on non-
affordable housing planning obligations would be implemented.  
 

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city 
centre.  

Permanence Both options would deliver, and fund / contribute to permanent 
projects. Where new or improved open space, green infrastructure 
or public realm is secured, appropriate provision for long-term 
maintenance would be required.   
 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy would form part of a strategy to ensure that 
developments would mitigate their impacts by requiring that 
planning conditions / obligations are put in place where necessary. 
Some of these measures would be site specific such as open 
space and affordable housing, whilst other measures would be 
delivered off-site and contribute towards the funding of a wide 
variety of projects. Planning obligations would have benefits for 
local communities and the people of Salford, and would provide 
funding for some things that otherwise could not be delivered.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The appraisal assumes that full policy compliant obligations would be secured under 
the two options, although it is recognised (and as noted above) that this is uncertain 
given that there will be site specific viability considerations that may reduce or waive 
the requirements.  
 
Under option A planning obligations would be secured that would be directed 
towards health facilities and services and so this would be a positive benefit against 
objective 1. Given the nature of the other obligations that would be secured through 
both options, there would be positive benefits relating to: securing open spaces and 
therefore biodiversity potential (objectives 2 and 11); improving sustainable transport 
modes which would minimise the use of fossil fuels and therefore improve air quality 
(objectives 7, 8, 9 and 18); ensuring that there are sufficient school places as a result 
of new housing developments (objective 16); and providing affordable housing to 
meet identified need (objective 17)2. Securing planning obligations would overall 
support community development (objective 19) given the nature of the obligations 
that would be secured.    

                                                           
2 Option A would rate more positively with regards to objective 17 given that there would be 
an affordable requirement in all developments and that the maximum requirement would be 
50% of the dwellings on a site. This compares with option B where some developments 
would not be required to provide affordable housing and the maximum affordable housing 
sought would be capped at 20%. 

Page 939



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 24 

 

 
The two options would allow people to be understand what the city council would 
seek through planning obligations. Both options also set out policy that would stop 
developers artificially splitting their sites as a means of avoiding policy requirements. 
This is positive in relation to increasing involvement in decision making (objective 
20); involvement in decision making would be more positive under option A given 
that where a viability assessment is submitted to justify a reduced contribution, it will 
be published prior to the determination of the planning application unless there are 
exceptional circumstances.  
 
Securing planning obligations and directing monies to specific projects would have 
the potential to improve positive perceptions of the city (objective 21).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected given that affordable housing would be sought in all 
developments, and in some circumstances 50% of dwellings would be secured as 
affordable housing.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 
A Planning Obligations SPD should be prepared in support of revised draft local plan 
policy PC1 in order to provide details on how the policy would be implemented. This 
SPD should be adopted at the same time as the local plan.  
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required 

 
  

Page 940



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 25 

 

CHAPTER 9 AREA POLICIES 
 

Policy AP1 City Centre Salford 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy AP1 describes that the City Centre will 
see a further strengthening of its position as the most significant economic location in 
the country outside of London. It defines the sub-areas that make up Salford’s part of 
the City Centre (City Centre Salford) and identifies a vision for each, reflecting the 
development that has taken place and the latest regeneration priorities. The policy 
identifies the types and scale of development anticipated within the area. The policy 
also identifies a key objective to improve connections between neighbourhoods and 
identifies examples including a new footbridge from the crescent across the River 
Irwell to The Meadow, and a new pedestrian bridge between New Bailey West and 
the St John’s quarter in Manchester. It identifies the importance of environmental 
quality, including having regard to important heritage assets. The policy describes 
that the further expansion of City Centre Salford may be appropriate provided it does 
not adversely impact on the neighbourhoods within it. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) – The majority of City Centre Salford falls within the area 
identified for mixed-use development under Saved UDP Policy MX1, it does not 
however cover the University campus and innovation park as is identified in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (Option A). Supplementary guidance covering parts of the 
City Centre has been adopted, or is in the process of being produced, by the City 
Council. This includes the adopted Greengate Regeneration Strategy, the adopted 
Salford Central planning guidance and the emerging University of Salford and 
Crescent Masterplan. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
An alternative approach, as was suggested in a representation to the Draft Local 
Plan, could be to remove reference to the city centre and instead identify a larger 
‘Regional Centre’, extending further south to take in Ordsall Waterfront and 
MediaCityUK. The Revised Draft Local Plan includes specific policies covering these 
additional areas (Policies AP3 Salford Quays and AP4 Ordsall Waterfront). It is not 
considered that bringing these areas together as a Regional Centre would alter the 
vision or the types of development deemed appropriate. Its outcomes would 
therefore be expected to be similar to Option A above and this approach has not 
therefore been identified as an alternative option. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that in relation to the majority of sustainability objectives there would be 

Page 941



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 26 

 

very limited impact in the first five years of the plan period. The exceptions to this are 
in respect of maximising economic growth (Objective 14), increasing involvement in 
decision-making (Objective 20) and improving perceptions of the city (Objective 21) 
where the presentation of a clear aspirational vision for the area could have more 
immediate impacts. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/++ -/++ 

10+ -/++ -/++ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/++ -/++ 

10+ -/++ -/++ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/++ -/++ 

10+ -/++ -/++ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 ++ + 

Page 942



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 27 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Development activity and interest in the area would be expected to 
continue under both options. The latest proposals for the area 
reflected in the policy under Option A would be expected to add to 
the level of certainty around potential impacts. 

Scale City / Sub-regional. As part of a larger City Centre the vision for 
City Centre Salford has implications for the sub-region. 

Permanence The policy relates to permanent development. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The City Centre is of strategic importance to the sub-region and 
the vision must therefore complement the aspirations for the area 
in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  
 
The success of the city centre is dependent on many other Local 
Plan policies and other local strategic plans and frameworks. 
These include the high quality transport connections as 
encouraged through the Local Plan accessibility chapter, the 
standards of residential accommodation required by the housing 
chapter and the high speed digital infrastructure encouraged 
through the digital chapter.    

 
Appraisal summary 
 

Page 943



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 28 

 

The City Centre has already seen high levels of development and the regeneration 
for the area continues guided by the Saved Policies of the UDP and other local 
strategies (Option B). The introduction of a new City Centre policy under Option A 
will not significantly alter the current approach to the area or the various areas of 
work currently ongoing. The outcomes in relation to the majority of sustainability 
objectives would therefore be expected to be similar, however the Option A adds 
value by bringing together a comprehensive vision for City Centre Salford that 
reflects the latest position and priorities for all of the city centre sub-areas. Providing 
this clarity of vision could have the potential to ensure greater positive impacts in 
terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) and improving public 
perceptions (Objective 21). The clarity of vision provided could also bring greater 
benefits in terms of maximising economic growth (Objective 14), particularly over the 
longer term. 
 
The comprehensive redevelopment of the city centre as a vibrant mixed use area, as 
would be encouraged under both options, would also be expected to have positive 
impacts in terms enhancing amenity (Objective 12) and ensuring everyone has 
access to a good home (Objective 17). However, in respect of the amenity, unless 
carefully managed, the significant levels of high density development anticipated 
within the area could have the potential to have some negative impacts in relation to 
amenity, particularly for those currently living in the area. 
 
The nature of the job opportunities provided and the opportunities for city centre 
living would also be expected to have a positive impact in terms of the city’s 
knowledge base, encouraging graduates and other skilled workers to live and work 
within the city (Objective 16). The availability of accessible job opportunities could 
also have benefits in terms of economic inclusion (Objective 15). 
 
The focus on central areas for high levels of development under both options takes 
pressure for residential development away from more sensitive land uses and 
therefore has the potential to result in positive benefits in relation to biodiversity 
(Objective 2), geological resources (Objective 3) and soil and land resources 
(Objective 4).  
 
The approach under both options also opens up opportunities for people to use 
active and other sustainable modes of travel access employment and other services. 
Both therefore also score positively in relation to improving physical and mental 
health (Objective 1), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), minimising the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9), and 
improving the accessibility of facilities and opportunities (Objective 18). However the 
high levels of development pursued and the additional levels of activity/ traffic it 
would bring could also have some negative impacts in relation to these same 
objectives. 
 
The delivery of the vision for the city centre will significantly enhance the quality of 
the town scape (Objective 11) and, through comprehensive development, provide 
opportunities to enhance and enable the appreciation of the many heritage assets 
within City Centre Salford (Objective 10). It is possible however that tensions could 
arise between accommodating high levels of development and the protection of all 

Page 944



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 29 

 

heritage assets (Objective 10) and therefore a negative impact has also been 
identified. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The option brings together a comprehensive vision 
for the city centre, reflecting the latest projects and priorities. 
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable 

  

Page 945



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 30 

 

Policy AP2 Greengate Park 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy AP2 allocates an area of land as 
Greengate Park. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) - Greengate Park is solely identified in the non-statutory 
Greengate Regeneration Strategy (February 2018) which supplements guidance 
relating to Salford’s central mixed-use area under Saved Unitary Development Plan 
Policy MX1 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
In representations to the Draft Local Plan it was suggested that a larger park should 
be allocated. The potential for a larger park was assessed through the formulation of 
the Greengate Regeneration Strategy which included discussions with key 
stakeholders including landowners. A larger park was considered to be undeliverable 
through this process and this has not therefore been appraised as a reasonable 
option. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
The assessment below assumes that the park is delivered during the first five years 
of the plan period and the wider Greengate neighbourhood established over the next 
5 to 10 years. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 0 0 

Page 946



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 31 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 
0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

Page 947



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 32 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + + 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The no plan option (B) lacks the certainty provided by a specific 
allocation in the Local Plan (Option A).  
 
Benefits related to biodiversity and air quality will depend on the 
final form of the park and the landscaping scheme employed 
including the planting of trees.  

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level 
however the contribution of the park in establishing a new city 
centre neighbourhood/destination could have wider impacts as 
part of the City Centre offer. 

Permanence As the Greengate neighbourhood becomes established and the 
city centre continues to grow the importance of the Park, and other 
open spaces within the city centre, is likely to increase. Subject to 
its successful delivery, continued protection, and maintenance, 
any benefits are likely to be permanent and could potentially 
increase over time. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The establishment of Greengate as a new City Centre 
neighbourhood including the park could bring wider benefits add to 
the leisure opportunities currently available across the City Centre 
and add to its attractiveness overall. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Greengate Park is considered an important element of the successful development 
of the Greengate Area and is a long held ambition of the city council and is currently 
identified in Salford’s adopted Greengate Regeneration Strategy. The Revised Draft 
Local Plan identifies the same park area as is shown in the adopted Greengate 
Regeneration Strategy. It is anticipated that the park would be delivered under both 
options and therefore the impacts under both options are the same.  
 
The park would make a major positive impact on the local townscape (objective 11) 
and, as the Greengate area becomes established as a residential and leisure 
destination, positive benefits derived from the availability of open space within the 
high density city centre would be expected to increase (objectives 1, 12, and 18). 
 
The park will complement the apartment development coming forward in the area 
(objective 17) and could help to improve community cohesions by providing 
opportunities for interaction (objective 19). As a key part of a new city centre 
neighbourhood the park will provide part of an offer that will encourage more people 
to appreciate the history of Greengate (Objective 10) and improve wider perceptions 
of the city (Objective 21). 
 
Positive impacts in respect of biodiversity (objective 2) and air quality (7) would 
largely depend on the landscaping scheme adopted. In this respect Policy AP2 

Page 948



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 33 

 

describes that the park should be designed to fulfil a broad range of functions, 
including bringing nature into the City Centre.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option as it brings an additional level of certainty in respect 
of the Park’s delivery through increased weight from a planning perspective. 
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 To ensure that any biodiversity and air quality benefits are maximised, and 
reflecting the vision for the park described in the adopted Greengate 
Regeneration Strategy, the policy could be more prescriptive in terms of the 
requirements of any landscaping proposals, emphasising the importance of 
trees and bio diverse planting. 

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Wording has been included within the final version of the policy to ensure that 

the design of the park incorporates trees and biodiverse planting. 

  

Page 949



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 34 

 

Policy AP3 Salford Quays 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy AP3 describes that Salford Quays will 
continue to grow as one of the most important economic locations in the country. 
The area will be characterised by mix of uses. High levels of office development will 
be delivered, the areas tourism role will be expanded, new apartments will 
complement the areas business and tourism functions, and there will be a significant 
increase in retail floorspace, leisure and community facilities. The policy identifies 
that new development will be coordinated with new and improved transport 
infrastructure and services including new connections to the city centre and Salford 
Crescent station. Significant enhancements to walking and cycling routes will be 
required and a reduction in traffic levels within Salford Quays will be sought. The 
Policy describes that environmental quality is a central part of the success of the 
area and identifies key principles for development in this regard. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) – Salford Quays falls within the area identified for mixed-
use development under Saved UDP Policy MX1. Planning guidance has been 
adopted for mediacity:uk & Quays Point. The guidance outlines a similar vision for 
the Salford Quays area as Option A. However it does not place the same emphasis 
on reducing traffic levels within the whole of the Quays area and does not include the 
latest proposals for new connections to Salford Crescent and rapid transport 
connections to the City Centre.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
An alternative approach, as was suggested in a representation to the Draft Local 
Plan that Salford Quays could be subsumed within a larger ‘Regional Centre’ 
designation, also including City Centre Salford and Ordsall Waterfront. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes specific policies covering all of these areas (In addition to 
AP3 Salford Quays, Policies AP1 City Centre Salford and AP4 Ordsall Waterfront). It 
is not considered that bringing these areas together as a Regional Centre would alter 
the vision or the types of development deemed appropriate. Its outcomes would 
therefore be expected to be similar to Option A above and this approach has not 
therefore been identified as an alternative option. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that in relation to the majority of sustainability objectives there would be 
very limited impact in the first five years of the plan period. The exceptions to this are 
in respect of maximising economic growth (Objective 14), increasing involvement in 
decision-making (Objective 20) and improving perceptions of the city (Objective 21) 
where the presentation of a clear aspirational vision for the area could have more 
immediate impacts. 

Page 950



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 35 

 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

Page 951



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 36 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ +/++ 

10+ ++ +/++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Development activity and interest in the area would be expected to 
continue under both options. The latest proposals for the area 
reflected in the policy under Option A would be expected to add to 
the level of certainty around potential impacts. 

Scale City / Sub-regional/ national. Media City at the heart of Salford 
Quays is an economic area of national significance.  

Permanence The policy relates to permanent development. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Salford Quays is of strategic importance to the sub-region and the 
vision must therefore complement the aspirations for the area in 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and those for sites to 
the south of the Ship Canal in Trafford. 
 
The success of the area is dependent on many other Local Plan 
policies and other local strategic plans and frameworks. These 
include the high quality transport connections as encouraged 
through the Local Plan accessibility chapter, design standards in 
the design chapter and the high speed digital infrastructure 
encouraged through the digital chapter.    

 
Appraisal summary 
 
High levels of development continue within the Salford Quays area guided by the 
Saved Policies of the UDP and adopted planning guidance (Option B). The 
introduction of a new Salford Quays policy under Option A would not significantly 
alter the current approach or the levels of development coming forward. The 

Page 952



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 37 

 

outcomes in relation to the majority of sustainability objectives are therefore be 
expected to be similar. 
 
Given the areas economic significance, its continued expansion under both options, 
including high levels of office floorspace as well as tourism, retail and leisure 
facilities, would be expected to have major positive impacts in terms of maximising 
economic growth (Objective 14).  The potential growth of the area in this regard 
would be assisted by the new connections identified in the policy proposed under 
Option A. Whilst similar guidance would be provided under both options, Option A 
would introduce a clear statement into the development plan in respect of residential 
development being complementary to the areas economic role. This could also help 
to ensure that the economic potential of the area is not compromised. 
 
Salford Quays provides and will provide a variety of job types in a range of industries 
which would be expected to have some benefits in terms of economic inclusion, 
however the strong focus on media and related industries under both options could 
limit those benefits in some respect (Objective 15). The opportunities around a 
growing media and culture cluster, together with the links to the university could 
however have major positive impacts in terms of enhancing the city’s knowledge 
base, particularly over the longer term (Objective 16). 
 
The range of opportunities to provided in the area including a variety of job 
opportunities, a range of leisure activities and high quality residential could contribute 
positively to physical and mental health (Objective 1) and similarly amenity 
(Objective 12). It will however be important that the capacity of community facilities in 
the area, including those relating to health, expands alongside the growing 
population.     
  
Similar to the City Centre, the focus on Salford Quays for high levels of development, 
including residential development, under both options takes pressure away from 
more sensitive land uses and therefore has the potential to result in positive benefits 
in relation to biodiversity (Objective 2), geological resources (Objective 3) and soil 
and land resources (Objective 4). The provision of high levels of residential 
development will also contribute to the available housing options within the city 
(Objective 17) 
 
The mixed use area will improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities within 
the city (Objective 18), the new transport schemes identified under option A 
potentially bringing greater benefits in this regard. The mix of uses also opens up 
opportunities for people to use active and other sustainable modes of travel access 
employment and other services. Both options therefore also score positively in 
relation to improving physical and mental health (Objective 1), air quality (Objective 
7), contributions to climate change (Objective 8), minimising the use of non-
renewable resources (Objective 9), and improving the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities (Objective 18). However the demolition of existing industrial buildings 
to enable development and the high levels of development pursued could also have 
some negative impacts in relation to these same objectives, including issues 
associated with additional vehicular traffic coming to the area. As above, the new 
transport schemes identified under option A, together with the aspiration to reduce 

Page 953



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 38 

 

traffic within the Salford Quays area, could help to mitigate some of these negative 
impacts, particularly at the local level. 
 
The need to ensure the character of the area is protected and enhanced would be 
clear under both options, the areas ongoing development would therefore be 
expected to continue to have major impacts on the quality of the town scape 
(Objective 11). Attractive waterside development and high quality public realm could 
also enhance the Ship Canal as a recreational resource (Objective 5) 
 
Option A adds value by bringing a clear vision for the area into the policies of the 
development plan that reflects the latest position and priorities and as such could 
have greater positive impacts in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 
20). 
 
Given the significance and profile of the area, the potential benefits of the ongoing 
growth of the area under both options would be expected to have major positive 
benefits in relation to perceptions of the city (Objective 21). 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The option brings a comprehensive vision for 
Salford Quays into the development plan and introduces new transport schemes and 
other principles, including controls on traffic within the area, that could bring greater 
potential benefits in relation to the sustainability objectives.  
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 An updated masterplan / planning guidance for the area could add an 
additional level of certainty around the delivery of the vision. 
 

 Given existing capacity constraints, it will be important that the provision and 
management of community facilities in the area, particularly with regard to 
health, has full regard to the potential increases in population. Specific policy 
requirements in this regard could help to supplement existing provision. 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 No change to the Revised Draft Local Plan proposed. Policy HH3 requires 

areas subject to a masterplan under Policy E2 to ensure that appropriate 

provision is made for primary health facilities. It also requires schemes 

involving 300 dwellings or more to incorporate appropriate primary health care 

facilities unless satisfactory provision can be make elsewhere. The policy 

states that developers should engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group 

at the earliest opportunity. 

  

Page 954



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 39 

 

Policy AP4 Ordsall Waterfront 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy AP4 describes that Ordsall Waterfront will 
be developed as a primarily residential corridor and provides guidance in terms of 
uses, scale, transport and movement, and environmental quality. The policy allows 
for local needs retail to help meet the needs of the growing population. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy MX1 allows for a mix of uses within the 
corridor. This is supplemented by Ordsall Riverside planning guidance. The 
guidance similarly emphasises the important of connections and environmental 
quality. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 955



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 40 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 - - 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+  +  + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Page 956



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 41 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Strong. A number of sites have already come forward for high 
density apartment development, with others under active 
construction and continuing interest in bringing forward other sites 
for residential development.  

Scale Neighbourhood / City. Proposals for the corridor have the potential 
to impact on the neighbouring Ordsall residential area. The 
corridor also functions as a key link between the City Centre and 
Salford Quays.  

Permanence Permanent, the proposals relate to the redevelopment of the 
corridor for residential development. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The proposals for the corridor have the potential to support the 
objectives of the accessibility chapter by improving the corridor as 
a pedestrian and cycle route. This could similar support the 
proposals for Salford Quays and the City Centre by joining up 
these two strategically important locations. 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The redevelopment of the area under both options will provide a large number of 
dwellings in close proximity to the range of opportunities in the City Centre and 
Salford Quays. It will also improve Ordsall Lane and the Canal as pedestrian / 
cycling corridors, with the potential for a new bridge over the Ship Canal to 
Cornbrook Metrolink. 
 
The areas redevelopment and the improvements in environmental quality sought will 
have major positive impacts in terms of the city’s townscape (Objective 11) and in 
prominent location alongside the river would be expected to raise perceptions of the 
city (Objective 21). Its comprehensive redevelopment, with high quality public realm, 
could also help to protect and enhance amenity (Objective 12) and provide 
opportunities to improve community cohesion (Objective 19). 
 
Requiring improvements to the riverside walkway and access to it, would enhance 
the River Irwell / Manchester Ship Canal as a recreational resource (Objective 5) and 
help to reduce the fear of crime along the existing riverside walkway (Objective 13). 
 
The areas redevelopment for housing, and the improvements to public realm 
encouraged, opens up opportunities to walk and cycle which has the potential to 
have a positive impact in terms of air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate 
change (Objective 8), the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9) and 
improving the accessibility of facilities and opportunities (Objective 18). The 
demolition of existing industrial buildings and the high levels of development 
anticipated would however also have a negative impact in terms of the use of non-
renewable resources (Objective 9). 
 
The redevelopment of existing employment sites could also have some negative 
impacts in terms of maximising economic growth (Objective 14) and potentially 
economic inclusion in terms of the availability of local job opportunities (Objective 
15). There are however a limited number of businesses remaining in the corridor and 

Page 957



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 42 

 

the availability of large numbers of homes in close proximity to two strategic 
economic areas could also have benefits in this regard. 
 
As with other central areas, the high density of development promoted, takes 
pressure for residential development away from more sensitive land uses and 
therefore has the potential to result in positive benefits in relation to biodiversity 
(Objective 2), geological resources (Objective 3) and soil and land resources 
(Objective 4). The benefits in this regard are potentially greater under Option A which 
has a greater focus on high density development than Option B. 
 
Option A provides a framework that reflects the latest proposals and priorities for the 
area and as such has a positive benefit in terms of involvement in decision making 
(Objective 20). Whilst the area’s redevelopment would continue to be supported 
under Option B, some of the principles in the adopted Ordsall Riverside planning 
guidance included in that option are no longer applicable.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The Option provides a positive framework for the area’s 
redevelopment reflecting the latest proposals and priorities. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable 

  

Page 958



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 43 

 

Policy AP5 Employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy AP5 describes that masterplans in 
accordance with Policy E2 of the Plan will be produced for Eccles New Road, 
Liverpool Street and Cambridge Employment Areas. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Employment areas would continue to be protected as 
employment areas under saved UDP Policy E5. The policy specifically allows for 
non-employment uses where the development would contribute to an approved 
regeneration strategy or plan for the area.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
An alternative option would be to remove reference to these areas and instead 
simply rely on Policy EC6 Existing Employment Areas of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan which, amongst other things, allows for the introduction of non-employment 
uses where the site or wider employment area is identified as being appropriate in a 
plan or strategy that has been subject to public consultation and formally endorsed 
by the city council. The three areas are however already considered to be a priority 
for review and work is already underway looking at Cambridge and Liverpool Street. 
Therefore, even without a specific reference in the plan, any outcomes would be 
similar to Option B.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

0-5 0 0 

Page 959



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 44 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 
0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

Page 960



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 45 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ ? ? 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The policy identifies that masterplans will be produced for three 
fringe areas to City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. The scale 
and nature of any change is not outlined. The potential impacts are 
therefore uncertain at this time.    

Scale The scale of any impacts will depend on the approach ultimately 
taken to each area. However, given their location on the edge of 
City Centre Salford and Salford Quays there is the potential for 
impacts at the city and sub-regional level. 

Permanence Dependent on the approach ultimately taken to each area. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The three areas are on the edge of the strategic economic areas 
of City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. They also support a 
large number of businesses and jobs. The approach ultimately 
taken is therefore closely tied to economic policies of the Local 
Plan and the area approach to Salford Quays and City Centre 
Salford. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The impacts of the policy are largely unknown as they will depend on the choices 
made about the future of each of the areas identified. The issues associated with the 
Cambridge and Liverpool Street areas are already being investigated. The inclusion 
of a specific policy for these areas, along with Eccles New Road, under option A 
ensures that the council’s intention to appraise and produce masterplans for each of 
these areas is signposted, along with the need for this to be a comprehensive and 
inclusive process. Option A therefore has some benefits in terms of notifying 
potential stakeholders. 
   
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as it reflects current and proposed regeneration projects.    
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None  

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable 

  

Page 961



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 46 

 

CHAPTER 10 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

Policy EC1 Economic development spatial strategy 

 
Policy EC1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan describes that Salford will play a major 
role in the economic growth of Greater Manchester. It describes that the city will 
continue to develop a diverse and inclusive economy and will focus particularly on 
the ways in which it can make a strong and positive contribution to the overall 
success of Greater Manchester.  
 
The Policy identifies the key components of the spatial strategy for economic 
development which are addressed in more detail in other policies including those 
within the economic development chapter and the following chapters / policies 
elsewhere in the plan: 
 

 AP1 City Centre Salford 

 AP3 Salford Quays 

 TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres 

 TC2 Development involving main town centre uses 

 Chapter 11 Culture and Tourism 

 HH4 Salford Royal Hospital 

 ED4 University of Salford 

 Chapter 16 Accessibility 

 Chapter 17 Digital infrastructure. 
 
The issues identified in Policy EC1 are therefore appraised under other headings 
and have not been duplicated here.  
  

Page 962



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 47 

 

Policy EC2 Economic Inclusion 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy EC2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
seeks to maximise the economic benefits of new development for the city’s 
population. It requires consideration to be given to the ways in which development 
schemes can contribute to these aims and will be assessed through Social Value 
Strategies required by Revised Draft Local Plan Policy F2.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan) – The promotion of measures to support economic 
inclusion is generally encouraged through the Saved Policies of the UDP and the 
NPPF. Employers are encouraged to sign up to the Salford City Mayor’s 
Employment charter which promotes social inclusion. Policy ST1 of the saved UDP 
policies explains that development will be required to contribute towards the creation 
and maintenance of sustainable urban neighbourhoods – places that provide a 
positive long term future. Social equity is identified as an aspect of this. However 
there are no specific requirements as would be in place under Option A. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that there would be very limited impact in the first five years of the plan 
period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 0 0 

Page 963



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 48 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ ++ 0/+ 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 
0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

Page 964



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 49 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ ++ 0/+ 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The requirement to submit a Social Value Strategy under Option A 
should ensure that the impacts identified above are realised. 
Further guidance providing best practice examples and key 
contacts/organisations could assist implementation and help to 
maximise the benefits identified. In the absence of any 
requirements under Option B the potential impacts are more 
uncertain. 

Scale Citywide 

Permanence Compliance with the policy will be determined through the 
submission of Social Value Strategies and their implementation 
will be secured by planning condition. The permanence and scale 
of any impacts will also be influenced by ongoing commitment of 
businesses, residents and other stakeholders to the principles of 
the policy.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy will work alongside other policies within the Economic 
and Fairness Chapters to support social and economic inclusion. It 
will also support the aims of the Mayor’s Employment Charter, 
which is specifically cited within the policy. 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The requirements of the Revised Draft Local Plan policy, tested through Social Value 
Strategies, could have major positive impacts in terms of economic inclusion. There 
are significant potential benefits associated with supporting people into employment, 
including in respect of physical and mental health (Objective 1), amenity (Objective 
12), knowledge base (Objective 16) and community cohesion (19). Promoting 
development that works towards economic inclusion, could help to sustain economic 
growth (Objective 14) including through expanding the available workforce and the 
skills within the local population. As a city promoting socially conscious development 
the approach could also have a major positive impact on perceptions of Salford 
(Objective 21). Whilst the aims of Option A would be likely to be encouraged under 
Option B, in the absence of specific requirements in the development plan the 
potential gains are more uncertain and would be expected to be to a lesser extent 
(No plan Option). 
 
The requirement for developments to submit social value strategies would be a 
completely new policy requirement, and therefore it is expected that benefits 
associated with this would increase over time once opportunities and networks are 
better developed and examples of good practice are established 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 

Page 965



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 50 

 

Option A is selected. The Option includes specific requirements relating to economic 
inclusion would could have significant positive benefits against the sustainability 
objectives.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Supplementary guidance including the identification of best practice and key 
contacts/organisations could assist implementation and maximise the benefits 
identified. 
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required 

  

Page 966



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 51 

 

Policy EC3 Office Development 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy EC3 identifies that around 400,000sqm of 
new office floorspace will be provided over the plan period however a higher overall 
level of development will be supported where it is consistent with the strong focus on 
the City Centre and Salford Quays. Elsewhere office development will be directed to 
town and local centres and employment areas. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy MX1 allows for offices within the central 
mixed-use area, which includes the City Centre and Salford Quays, and describes 
the important economic opportunities in these locations. Outside of this area Offices 
would be directed to town and local centres under the sequential approach outlined 
in the NPPF. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
An alternative option could include a lower level of office floorspace however this 
would be contrary to the vision for the City Centre and Salford Quays as set out in 
the GMSF.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 0-5 -/+ -/+ 

Page 967



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 52 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 ++ +/++ 

5-10 ++ +/++ 

10+ ++ +/++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ +/++ 

5-10 ++ +/++ 

10+ ++ +/++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

Page 968



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 53 

 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The office floorspace figures identified in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan relate to identified opportunities within the city, with the vast 
majority in the strategically important City Centre Salford and 
Salford Quays. As established office locations there is a high 
degree of confidence in their future growth and the potential 
benefits of that growth.  

Scale Sub-regional. The delivery of high levels of office development in 
City Centre Salford and Salford Quays will make a significant 
contribution to the growth of the Greater Manchester economy.  

Permanence The policy relates to permanent development. The potential loss of 
office floorspace through existing permitted development rights 
relating to office conversions to residential could negatively impact 
on objectives relating to economic growth. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy will work alongside others relating to the development 
of high quality mixed-use development within central parts of the 
city. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Option A provides a clear indication of levels of office development over the plan 
period with a strong focus on City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. Relying on 
established office locations, it would be expected that similar levels of office growth 
could be achieved under Option B (Objective 14). However the estimate of future 
growth in Option A, along with a specific allowance for higher levels of growth where 
this is consistent with the focus on City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, would 
provide greater clarity of vision which could have the potential to support higher 
levels of growth (Objective 14) and support involvement in decision making 
(Objective 20).  
 
The strong focus on established office locations in central areas under both options 
would help to encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport. Both options 
therefore score positively against related objectives including air quality (Objective 
7), contributions to climate change (Objective 8) and minimising the use of non-
renewable resources (Objective 9). Conversely however, whilst the majority of new 
office floorspace will be on previously developed sites, seeking high levels of 
development would also have negative impacts against these same objectives. 
 
The high numbers of office jobs that would be supported under either option, 
together with the potential to promote active forms of transport, has the potential to 
contribute positively to physical and mental health (Objective1) and the accessibility 
of facilities and opportunities (Objective 18). Although not specific, a focus on 
delivering high levels of job opportunities could also contribute positively to economic 
inclusion (Objective 15) and, with the potential to support skilled employment, the 
city’s skills base (Objective 16).  
 
Selected option and reasons 

Page 969



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 54 

 

 
Option A is selected. Whilst similar levels of growth would be expected under either 
option, Option A provides a clearer vision in respect of office growth within the city 
and allows for higher levels of growth where consistent with that vision. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Seek to minimise any negative impacts of development including in relation to 
air quality, climate change contributions and the use of non-renewable 
resources.     

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 No change made, issues addressed by other chapters of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan including chapters 6 (Climate change), 7 (Efficient and coordinated 
use of land), 16 (accessibility), 18 (energy), 20 (design), 26 (air quality) and 
27 (pollution and hazards). 

  

Page 970



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 55 

 

Policy EC4 Industrial and Warehousing development 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy EC4 identifies that around 565,000sqm of 
new industrial and warehousing floorspace will be provided over the plan period. The 
majority will be provided at Port Salford, subject to decisions in the GMSF relating to 
its potential expansion on Green Belt land to the north of the A57 in Irlam. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) The Saved Policies of the UDP do not provide an estimate 
of future growth or the current priority locations for new development. Industrial and 
warehousing development would generally be encouraged within existing 
employment areas in accordance with Saved UDP Policy E5, and in line with existing 
planning permissions. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
A significant number of objections were received to the Draft Local Plan in respect of 
the proposed expansion of Port Salford on Green Belt land in Irlam which is 
referenced within Policy EC4. Decisions relating to this proposed allocation will be 
taken through the GMSF and therefore its removal from the policy does not 
represent an alternative option in this sustainability assessment. Policy EC4 will be 
amended in line with any relevant changes to the GMSF. 
 
The identification of a lower floorspace figure (outside of the Port Salford expansion) 
is not considered a reasonable option as the total identified in the Policy primarily 
reflects existing planning permissions, the main addition to this being development 
within Salford’s Innovation Park which is a longstanding aspiration and which has 
been given new emphasis through the University of Salford and Crescent 
Masterplan. 
 
The identification of a higher floorspace figure is also not considered to be a 
reasonable option. The only significant addition to the existing supply suggested 
during the consultation on the Draft Local Plan was an extension to Logistics North in 
Little Hulton. The proposal would extend the area of development into the country 
park committed as part of the permitted scheme and on to land currently being 
considered for Green Belt designation through the GMSF. Given the need to 
accommodate high levels of residential development, opportunities for further 
industrial and warehousing development in the urban area are severely limited, and 
no further Green Belt options are being pursued through the GMSF.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The appraisal below does not take account of the proposal to expand Port Salford 
which is being considered through the GMSF and will be appraised in the associated 

Page 971



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 56 

 

Integrated Appraisal. The ratings and discussion below is therefore limited to the 
other elements of the policy. 
  

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 0-5 + + 

Page 972



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 57 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Outside of the expansion of Port Salford, the floorspace figures 
presented in the policy primarily reflect existing consents. The 
main addition to this being the delivery of new floorspace within 
Salford Innovation Park which is identified in Salford Crescent 
Masterplan published for consultation in August 2018. The levels 
of development identified are therefore considered deliverable. 

Scale City wide. The policy relates to proposals across the city for 
employment development. 

Permanence The policy relates to permanent development, the impacts 
identified are limited given that the majority of the supply reflects 
existing planning permissions and other proposals within existing 
employment areas. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The delivery of new industrial and warehousing floorspace is 
reliant on existing employment areas, the policy has a key 
relationship with Revised Draft Local Plan EC6 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
As discussed above, outside of the expansion of Port Salford which is being 
considered through the GMSF the floorspace figure identified within Policy EC4 is 
largely made up of existing planning permission within employment areas. The main 

Page 973



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 58 

 

exception to this is assumptions relating to the future growth of Salford Innovation 
Park as identified within the University of Salford and Crescent Masterplan. As such, 
other than the reference to the Extension of Port Salford being considered through 
the GMSF, Options A and B are likely to result in relatively similar impacts against 
the sustainability objectives. 
 
Employment development would continue to be supported under both options, 
contributing positively to objectives relating to physical and mental health (Objective 
1), economic growth (Objective 14) and economic inclusion (Objective 15). 
Economic growth, and in particular the proposals around Salford Innovation Park, 
could also have a positive relationship with the skills levels in the population 
(Objective 16).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The two options would be expected to result in similar 
outcomes, however the Revised Draft Plan Policy provides the latest position in 
terms of anticipated development levels and links to proposals in the GMSF. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 In order to further encourage economic growth within the city, consideration 
could be given to the potential for targeted interventions in the city’s 
employment areas, including for example the rationalisation of existing land 
uses, in order to improve their market attractiveness and open up new 
opportunities for employment development. 

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required. Potential for changes in a number of employment areas 
identified in Policy AP5. Relevant issue for wider planning/ regeneration 
activities in the city. 

  

Page 974



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 59 

 

Policy EC6 Existing Employment Areas 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy EC6 encourages development that will 
protect and enhance the economic role of the city’s existing employment areas. The 
policy defines ‘existing employment areas’ based on the number of business units, 
size of site and/or area of floorspace. Outside of typical employment uses, the policy 
allows for waste uses, sites for travelling people, and community uses, where they 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the employment area. Other non-
employment uses will only be permitted within employment areas where a number of 
tests can be met. Other than to ensure no adverse impact on existing businesses, 
the protective tests within the policy are not applied to City Centre Salford, Ordsall 
Lane and Salford Quays where the redevelopment of existing employment areas will 
enable the vision for a vibrant mixed use area providing a range of uses including 
business floorspace, residential units and leisure facilities. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Saved UDP Policy E5, alongside the adopted Established 
Employment Areas SPD, provides similar guidance to that proposed in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. It does not however include specific reference to employment areas 
potentially being a source of land/ premises for travelling people or community uses.  
 
Option C: Retain the policy approach in the Revised Draft Local Plan but identify the 
employment areas to which the policy’s restrictive tests will apply as well as those 
that will be released for other uses.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C was suggested in a comment to the Draft Local 
Plan. For the purposes of this option it is assumed that a significant number of 
employment areas would be released for other uses which, given the nature of the 
city’s employment areas, would include sites and premises currently occupied by 
businesses. Given that any replacement sites would be likely to require greenfield or 
Green Belt land, in the context of the large supply coming forward across Greater 
Manchester, it is assumed that no replacement allocations are identified in the Local 
Plan as part of this Option. 
 
A further comment to the Draft Local Plan suggested that the policy should be 
applied to all business sites and premises, thereby removing the size threshold 
currently identified. Whilst this could lead to the protection of some additional 
employment sites/premises that would otherwise fall below the threshold, it is 
considered unlikely that this would be to such an extent as to warrant the 
identification of a fourth strategic option. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Whilst some of the potential impacts of the options may be felt beyond the first five 
years following the redevelopment of existing employment areas many, including 

Page 975



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 60 

 

those associated with the loss of local employment opportunities, could be 
immediate as employment areas are prepared for redevelopment. 
  

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + - 

5-10 + + - 

10+ + + - 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 - - + 

5-10 - - + 

10+ - - + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 - - + 

5-10 - - + 

10+ - - + 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ -/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ -/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ -/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 0/+ 

10+ -/0 -/0 0/+ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ -/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 ++ ++ - 

5-10 ++ ++ - 

10+ ++ ++ - 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 0-5 ++ ++ - 

Page 976



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 61 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

5-10 ++ ++ - 

10+ ++ ++ - 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ + - 

5-10 ++ + - 

10+ ++ + - 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The impacts of all of the options relate primarily to the protection or 
otherwise of local employment opportunities. Options A and B 
provide a flexible approach which will ensure that the potential 
redevelopment of employment sites/areas is considered on the 
latest information available. Option C brings some certainty in 
respect of those employment areas that will be released for other 
uses. This approach is likely to affect existing businesses and the 
impacts of this will depend on the number and nature affected and 
their decisions in terms of relocation.   

Scale For all options the impacts would be experienced at a city and 
neighbourhood level, the overall approach seeking to ensure the 
city retains a good supply and distribution of employment 
opportunities, whilst the protection/loss of individual estates being 
most significant felt at the neighbourhood level. 

Permanence All of the Options would set a permanent policy approach towards 
the city’s employment areas. The more flexible approach in 
Options A and B allows for changing circumstances over the plan 
period. There is a risk that the identification of employment areas 
for release under Option C could impact negatively on existing 
businesses. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The approach taken will work alongside other policies in the Local 
Plan in relation to new office and industrial/warehousing supply 
and economic inclusion in terms of the range of accessible 
employment opportunities available within the city. 

 

Page 977



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 62 

 

Appraisal summary 
 
Options A and B would result in the protection of a greater number of employment 
areas and would therefore have positive impacts in relation to economic growth 
(Objectives 14 and 15). The loss of more employment areas through Option C could 
have negative impacts in this regard.  
 
Active employment can have a positive impact on both peoples physical and mental 
health and therefore Options A and B would be expected to have positive impacts in 
this regard (Objective 1). Local employment areas also provide opportunities to 
commute using active modes of travel. The loss of a larger number of employment 
areas under Option C could have negative impacts in this regard. 
 
The release of a significant number of the city’s employment areas for housing could 
reduce the demand for other Green Belt sites and therefore Option C could bring 
more positive results that the other two Options in respect of objectives relating to 
biodiversity and the protection of soil and land (Objectives 2 and 4). 
 
All of the options could bring both positive and negative impacts in relation to air 
quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change (Objective 8) and minimising 
the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). Options A and B would be 
expected to ensure more opportunities to commute by sustainable modes of 
transport, including active modes. However they would also require the release of 
more land from the Green Belt for housing than Option C, which could have negative 
localised impacts on air quality and result in the development of mossland which 
stores significant quantities of carbon. 
 
Whilst employment areas are a longstanding feature of the city, the redevelopment 
of some could have a positive impact on townscapes and along with a reduced need 
for Green Belt development sites for residential uses, Option C could be more 
positive in terms of the protection of existing landscapes (Objective 11). 
 
All of the options could have both positive and negative impacts in terms of amenity 
Objective 12). The loss of a greater number of employment areas in Option C could 
potentially remove conflicts, including HGV traffic, between residential and 
employment uses whilst Options A and B would protect more local employment 
opportunities. Similarly, Options A and B would be expected to be more positive in 
terms of the accessibility of facilities and opportunities (Objective 18) in protecting 
more local employment estates. Option A however has the added benefit in this 
regard of specifically allowing for other uses, including community uses where they 
cannot be adequately located elsewhere within the local area that they would serve. 
   
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as it provides an important level of protection for the city’s 
employment areas whilst retaining the flexibility to allow for changing circumstances. 
Whilst the certainty provided by Option C has some merit, there are a range of 
factors influencing the future of employment estates and, except where firm 
proposals are known, it is difficult to predict their future. The approach therefore 

Page 978



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 63 

 

lacks the flexibility of the other options and has the potential to negatively impact on 
on businesses and economic growth.    
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The adoption of supplementary guidance / regeneration frameworks for areas 
in which a change is anticipated could provide some of the certainty of Option 
C with the flexibility to respond to changing circumstances.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required. Potential for changes in a number of employment areas 
identified in Policy AP5 which identifies the need for a masterplan. Relevant 
issue for wider planning/ regeneration activities in the city. 

 
  

Page 979



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 64 

 

CHAPTER 11 CULTURE AND TOURISM 
 

Policy CT1 Tourism Development 

 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy CT 1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
describes that Salford’s tourism function will be significantly enhanced and identifies 
a number of locations in which tourism development will be concentrated: Salford 
Quays; City Centre Salford; Worsley Village, RHS Bridgewater and the Bridgewater 
Canal; and the stadium area and Barton Aerodrome. Hotel development will be 
focused on these areas and the city’s town centres. The city’s green infrastructure 
will continue to be protected, recognising that it forms an important part of the city’s 
recreation and tourism offer. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy ST4 identifies key tourism areas in the 
city and focuses development on them: Salford Quays; Chapel Street; and Worsley 
Village, Barton Swing Aqueduct, and the Bridgewater Canal Corridor. ST15 
describes that historic and cultural assets that contribute to the character of the city 
will be preserved and, wherever possible and appropriate, enhanced. Tourism 
development is identified as an appropriate use with the central mixed-use areas 
(Saved UDP Policy MX1) and the role of the city’s green infrastructure in this regard 
is recognised (including policies EN23 and R3). The city’s historic assets are an 
important tourism resource, protected under saved UDP Policies CH1 to CH8. The 
University of Salford Masterplan and Greengate Regeneration Strategy provide 
additional guidance for two important areas in relation to culture and tourism within 
the city. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 0-5 0 0 

Page 980



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 65 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +/++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 +/++ + 

5-10 +/++ + 

Page 981



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 66 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ +/++ + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Initiatives to improve the tourism offer in the city are currently 
being pursued and a supportive framework would be provided 
under both options. However Option A provides an expanded 
policy framework, which identifies specific priorities for key 
locations which would be expected to increase certainty around 
positive outcomes. 

Scale City and sub-regional, depending on the scale and nature of the 
activities that come forward. 

Permanence The policy promotes opportunities enhance the city’s tourism offer 
which would be expected to have lasting impacts. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

A number of policy areas are linked to the enhancement of the 
city’s tourism role. Improvements to transport networks will be 
important in supporting the locations identified and priorities in 
relation to green infrastructure, heritage and water will all 
contribute to the tourism offer in the city. Considerations in respect 
of design and efficient and coordinated development will also be 
important in encouraging visitors to the city and addressing some 
of the potential conflicts identified below in respect of increasing 
numbers of visitors. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The protection and enhancement of the city tourism resource would be encouraged 
under both options, with a similar focus under both on a number of key locations. 
Masterplans and schemes to improve the city’s tourism offer are already being 
progressed which again would be supported under both options. The outcomes 
under both Option A and B would therefore be expected to be broadly similar and the 
enhancements encouraged to the city’s tourism function has the potential to 
contribute positively to a number of the sustainability objectives. 
 
Over time, under both options, it would be anticipated that the accessibility of tourism 
facilities and opportunities would increase (Objective 18). Although the potential for a 
major positive impact has been identified over the long term for both options, Option 
A is potentially more positive in this regard as it includes new proposals for the area 
around the AJ Bell stadium and includes specific reference to the need to consider 
improving access by public transport, walking and cycling to the Worsley area. 
 
Enhancements to the range and accessibility of tourist facilities in the city would 
improve the availability of leisure activities for the city’s residents. This could 

Page 982



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 67 

 

encourage more active pursuits and provide a learning opportunity. As such both 
options would also be expected to have some positive impacts on objectives relating 
to physical and mental health (Objective 1) and knowledge base (Objective 16).  
 
The city’s heritage assets are a key part of its tourism offer and therefore their 
protection and enhancement in this regard could have positive impacts in terms of 
protecting, enhancing and enabling the appreciation of the city’s heritage (Objective 
10). There is the potential for some conflicts to arise between encouraging higher 
levels of visitors and protecting heritage assets and therefore policies relating to the 
protection of heritage assets will be an important additional consideration. 
 
In respect of amenity (Objective 12) there is again the potential for some positive 
impact derived from the availability of leisure opportunities. However, as with 
heritage assets, unless properly managed, there is also the potential for increasing 
visitor numbers to have some negative impacts on local amenity, particularly for 
those currently living in areas identified as the focus for new development.  
 
Tourism, including business tourism, is an important part of the economy and 
therefore the promotion of the sector under both options would have positive impacts 
in relation to (Objective 14). 
 
The availability of tourism opportunities, and all of the benefits described above, 
would be expected to lead to improving perceptions of the city (Objective 21), which 
could have major positive impacts over the longer term.  
 
If not supported by appropriate sustainable transport options, additional vehicles 
resulting from increasing visitor numbers could have some negative impacts in 
relation to air quality (Objective 7), minimising contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8) and minimising the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). 
Therefore could also be the potential for some negative impacts on local amenity in 
this regard (Objective 12).  
 
The main difference between the two options is perhaps in relation to involvement in 
decision making (Objective 20) and certainty around outcomes. In this regard the 
more detailed policy framework under Option A, which identifies specific priorities for 
each of the key tourism locations, would be expected to have greater benefits than 
that existing at the current time (Option B). 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The Option provides a positive framework for the enhancement 
of the city’s tourism function, including new proposals around the AJ Bell stadium, 
and identifies key priorities towards this objective.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The encouragement given to sustainable connections to the tourist attractions 
in and around Worsley could be applied to all tourist destinations, particularly 
the AJ Bell stadium which is in a more peripheral location to, and has weaker 
public transport connections than, the other destinations identified.  

Page 983



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 68 

 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, issue is addressed by Revised Draft Local Plan policy A1 
which encourages connections to a number key destinations in the city.  

  

Page 984



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 69 

 

Policy CT2 Art and culture 

 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy CT 2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
describes that Salford will make an increasing contribution to Greater Manchester’ 
world class artistic and cultural status. It identifies a number of ways in which this will 
be achieved including retaining and enhancing the provision of facilities across the 
city, with a significant expansion sought in the City Centre and Salford Quays. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) The Saved Policies of the UDP and the NPPF do not 
provide specific guidance on the provision of art and cultural uses other than as part 
of a range of main town centre uses and as a use appropriate with the centre mixed 
use area under Policy MX1. The Greengate Regeneration Strategy identifies 
proposals for high quality public realm with the potential to support events. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 0 0 

Page 985



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 70 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ ++ 0/+ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The policy framework can help to deliver opportunities however 
the expansion of activities within the city will rely on individuals and 
groups involved in arts and cultural activities utilising those 
opportunities. 

Page 986



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 71 

 

Effects Appraisal 

 
A number of points in the policy promote and encourage measures 
which will therefore be dependent on the specific opportunities that 
arise.  

Scale City and sub-regional, depending on the scale and nature of the 
activities that come forward. 

Permanence The policy promotes opportunities to deliver arts and cultural 
activities which include both permanent facilities and the 
temporary use of sites and premises. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

 The provision of high quality public realm can have a key 
role in supporting cultural activity and therefore the policy is 
strongly linked to policies relating to the efficient and 
coordinated use of land (Chapter 7), area policies (Chapter 
9) and design (Chapter 20). 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The policy approach under option A has the potential to expand the provision of art 
and cultural facilities in the city. The policy includes reference to the agent of change 
principle which can be important in protecting existing cultural venues, particularly in 
the high density city centre. A number of points in the policy promote and encourage 
and therefore the outcomes associated are to a degree uncertain dependent on the 
specific opportunities that arise. Nevertheless, the option has the potential to 
contribute positively to sustainability objectives relating to the city’s heritage 
(Objective 10), amenity (Objective 12), the city’s knowledge base (Objective 16), the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities (Objective 18) and to perceptions of the 
city (Objective 21). The impact on Objective 21 potentially increasing as the 
provision and spread of cultural activities expands. The opportunities for community 
interaction and understanding of the city’s heritage that could be delivered through 
the policy could also have a positive impact in terms of community cohesion 
(Objective 19).  
 
The policy framework under Option B is more limited, with specific guidance focused 
on the Greengate area. Given the prominence of this area it is likely that its 
redevelopment, including cultural uses, will help to improve perceptions on the city 
but to a lesser extent than under Option A.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A provides a positive framework that seeks to protect and enhance the 
provision of arts and culture facilities within the city. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The masterplanning of key opportunity areas, similar to the guidance currently 
provided for the Greengate area, could help to increase certainty around 
delivery. 

 

Page 987



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 72 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, relevant issue for wider planning/ regeneration activities in the 
city.  

 
  

Page 988



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 73 

 

Policy CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium, Irlam 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy CT3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
identifies land around AJ Bell Stadium as suitable for a wide range of tourism and 
related uses including hotels, food and drink, leisure and comparison good shops, 
that would otherwise need to apply the sequential approach to town centre uses in 
full. An impact assessment would still be required for comparison good shops where 
the relevant threshold is met. The policy requires, amongst other things, that 
development be designed around high quality public realm, retains a line for the 
extension of the Trafford Park Metrolink Line and incorporates high quality walking 
and cycling routes. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) As an out of centre location, town centre uses beyond the 
enabling development permitted alongside the AJ Bell stadium, would be considered 
against the sequential approach to development outlined in chapter 7 of the NPPF. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
It was suggested in representations to the Draft Local Plan that an additional policy 
area be added to the plan to provide guidance for an area termed “City Gateway”. 
The area identified included this site along with other major proposals in the local 
area. The priorities outlined in the Revised Draft Local Plan for the individual 
proposals that fall within the area suggested would not change under this alternative 
approach and therefore the outcomes would be similar. The treatment of the area as 
part of a ‘City Gateway’ has not therefore been considered an additional option for 
the purposes of this assessment. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 989



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 74 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/++ -/+ 

10+ -/++ -/+ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 990



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 75 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The policy relates to vacant land around the AJ Bell stadium which 
is already being marketed for the types of uses identified within the 
policy.  

Scale City, the stadium is a key asset for the city, the expansion of 
tourism development at this location could expand its role as a 
leisure destination. 

Permanence The policy relates to permanent development in support of the 
existing AJ Bell stadium. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The expansion of the area as a leisure destination will add to the 
range and quality of attractions within the city. The requirements of 
the policy have the potential to contribute to the aims of the 
accessibility chapter, in terms of protecting the line of a Metrolink 
extension, and the water chapter in terms of enhancing Salteye 
Brook as a wildlife corridor. 
 
The requirements of the accessibility chapter in terms of improving 
connections by sustainable modes will be an important element of 
the areas success, given the levels of congestion on nearby 
highway infrastructure and development proposals in the wider 
area. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The AJ Bell Stadium forms part of a wider tourism area extending from Barton 
Aerodrome in the west across the Manchester Ship Canal to the Trafford Centre in 
the east. Vacant land around the stadium provides an opportunity to expand its role 
as a leisure/ tourism destination within this cluster.  
 
The expansion of the area as a tourism/ leisure destination would be promoted under 
both options. However the clear vision and specific encouragement given to hotel, 
food and drink and leisure uses in particular, with comparison shopping uses still 
required to provide an impact assessment, under Option A would be expected to 
generate greater benefits in terms of economic growth (Objective 14) and, in respect 
of the delivery of a new leisure/tourism destination, the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities (Objective 14). The relaxation of the sequential approach to town 

Page 991



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 76 

 

centres under Option A could however result in some such uses locating at the 
stadium at the expense of existing town and local centres, although impact 
assessments would still be required for comparison goods stores where the relevant 
thresholds are met. The continued requirement to consider opportunities in existing 
centres under Option B would ensure a continued focus on centres in the first 
instance but such an approach could also have the potential to hold back the 
opportunity to enhance the stadium as a tourism destination. 
 
The policy approach in Option A includes requirements in terms of enhancing 
Salteye Brook and ensures the protection of a line for the potential expansion of the 
Trafford Park Metrolink Line. Through a more proactive approach, the Option may 
therefore achieve benefits in terms of enhancing biodiversity resources (Objective 2), 
water resources (Objective 5) and the accessibility of facilities and opportunities 
(Objective 18) that might otherwise be missed under Option B. 
 
The AJ Bell stadium is situated close to Junction 11 of the M60, an area which 
suffers with significant levels of congestion. There are significant levels of 
development proposed for this general area, both in Salford and Trafford, and the 
expansion of the area’s role as a tourist/leisure destination under both options could 
result in further traffic in the area. Both options could therefore have some negative 
impacts in terms of air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8) and the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). The protection 
of a route to accommodate a Metrolink extension and the links to pedestrian and 
cycling routes under Option A are positive in this regard.  
 
The clear vision for the area that would be presented under Option A would be 
expected to have positive benefits in terms of involvement in decision making 
(Objective 21) and perceptions of the city (Objective 21). These same benefits may 
not be realised to the same extent under Option B in the absence of such a vision.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A. The option identifies a vision for the area as an enhanced tourism and 
leisure destination and sets a proactive policy framework to encourage its delivery. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The identification of further improvements to local transport infrastructure, in 
particular that improve the site’s accessibility by sustainable modes of 
transport, could help to mitigate some of the potential negative impacts of 
development in this location. 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

None required, issue is addressed by Revised Draft Local Plan policy A1 which 

encourages connections to a number key destinations in the city including the AJ 

Bell stadium.  

Page 992



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 77 

 

CHAPTER 12 HOUSING 
 

Policy H1 Housing strategy 

 
Policy H1 of the revised draft local plan identifies that a wide range of measures will 
be implemented to ensure that Salford’s existing and future housing stock fully meets 
the needs and demands of all sections of the community within attractive 
neighbourhoods where people want to live.  
 
The policy identifies the key components of the spatial strategy for housing which are 
addressed in more detail in other policies including those within the housing chapter 
(policies H2 to H14), and the following chapters / policies elsewhere in the plan: 
 

 CC1 Climate change 

 HH3 Provision of health and social care facilities 

 HH4 Salford Royal Hospital 

 A1 Sustainable transport strategy 

 GI1 Green infrastructure strategy 

 GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development 

 Chapter 20 Design 
 
Many of the issues identified in revised draft local plan policy H1 are therefore 
appraised under other headings and have not been duplicated here.  
 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Having regard to the above approach, the only 
elements of policy H1 that that have been assessed under this option are as follows: 
 

 Criterion 1 – Supporting regeneration of deprived areas 

 Criterion 8 – Promoting the use of suitable public sector land assets for 
housing, attracting public funding, and working with developers and 
landowners to bring forward sustainable housing developments 

 Criterion 9 - Implementing housing-led neighbourhood renewal schemes with 
the involvement of local residents, and use compulsory purchase orders 
where required 

 Criterion 10 - Supporting improvements in the private rented sector, including 
through the use of landlord licensing and landlord accreditation, and 
restricting the short-term letting of new apartments in order to ensure that an 
acceptable level of amenity is provided for longer-term residents 

 Criterion 11 - Securing the efficient use of the housing stock by ensuring that 
new developments are located and designed so as to minimise the potential 
for long-term vacancies, and by bringing empty homes back into use through 
a variety of interventions 

 
Option B (No Local Plan): The saved UDP does not contain an overarching strategic 
policy for housing. Some of the issues identified above are covered in saved UDP 
policy H6 which sets out that the housing improvement schemes identified in the 

Page 993



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 78 

 

policy would be permitted where consistent with the strategy for the regeneration of 
the area, and with other policies and proposals of the plan. The 2018 NPPF states 
that the social, economic and environmental benefits of estate regeneration should 
be considered and that LPAs should use their planning powers to help deliver estate 
regeneration to a high standard. Footnote 45 of the NPPF further states that plans 
and decisions should support efforts to bring back into residential use empty homes 
and other buildings, supported by the use of compulsory purchase orders where 
appropriate.     
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the revised draft local plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 994



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 79 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options would overall provide certainty with regards to the 
approach to housing improvements, although there would be a 
degree of uncertainty with regards to option B given that that it is 

Page 995



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 80 

 

Effects Appraisal 

not explicit that local residents should be involved in housing-led 
neighbourhood renewal schemes.    

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Housing improvements link to a number of other strategies of the 
city council. It is an issue that relates to tackling poverty, improving 
mental health, improving environmental conditions, and ensuring 
that homes in the private rented sector are well managed and in 
decent condition.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The two options would rate similarly in sustainability terms. In particular 
neighbourhood renewal / housing improvement schemes (including estate 
regeneration) would lead to an improvement in housing conditions which would have 
clear mental health benefits (objective 1). There may however be negatives with 
regards to mental health if compulsory purchase orders are used to acquire 
properties for those people who do not want to move home as part of 
redevelopment.  
 
Under both options comprehensive redevelopment has the potential to improve the 
quality of urban design, and also enhance local character and distinctiveness 
(objective 11). Moreover the options would reduce crime, antisocial behaviour and 
disorder associated with the removal of poorly laid out estates, which would in turn 
reduce the fear of crime (objective 13). If estates are redeveloped to include 
employment space and other local facilities then this would enhance economic 
inclusion (objective 15) and improve the accessibility of facilities and opportunities 
(objective 18).   
 
Both options score highly with regards to protecting and enhancing amenity 
(objective 12). Option A would rate more highly against this objective given that it 
would restrict the short term letting of new apartments to ensure that an appropriate 
level of amenity is provided for long term residents. Supporting improvements in the 
private rented sector through landlord licensing and accreditation under option A 
would also have positive amenity benefits.  
 
The two options would score positively against objective 17 as they would provide an 
appropriate mix of housing, enable people to meet their needs within their existing 
communities, and reduce the number of unfit and vacant dwellings. This would have 
the potential to increase the stability of the housing market. In addition, option A 
would make explicit reference to working with developers and landowners to bring 
forward sustainable housing developments.  
 
The two options would be likely to improve community cohesion by supporting 
community development and creating a sense of identity and belonging through 
housing improvements (objective 19). Reducing short term letting of apartments 
under option A would further this objective. However, for benefits to occur as part of 
housing improvement scheme it is important that people can stay within their local 

Page 996



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 81 

 

community / neighbourhood rather than being displaced, and so they would need to 
be involved in decision making (objective 20). With regards to this, option A would 
rate higher given that it is clear that housing-led renewal schemes would be 
implemented with the involvement of local residents. There is uncertainty as to the 
involvement of local residents under option B.  
 
For the reasons highlighted above, both options would have the potential to improve 
perceptions of the city (objective 21).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option given that it performs better in sustainability terms, 
primarily as a result of providing additional detail, for example relating to supporting 
improvements in the private rented sector through the use of the short term letting of 
apartments and also landlord licensing and accreditation.  
  
Potential mitigation 
 
No mitigation identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable.  
  

Page 997



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 82 

 

Policy H2 Scale and phasing of housing  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H2 sets out that at least 32,585 new 
dwellings will be built over the plan period (2018-37), which equates to an annual 
average of 1,715 net additional dwellings per annum. This requirement is in 
conformity with the revised draft GMSF.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): There is no housing requirement in the saved UDP and so 
therefore the housing requirement that would apply would be calculated using the 
current local housing need methodology set out in planning practice guidance (last 
updated 13 September 2018). Taking into account the most recent household growth 
projections (2016 based) and affordability ratio (2017 based) for Salford, and 
guidance on capping the level of any increase, there would be a local housing need 
for Salford of 1,084 per annum, equating to at least 20,596 dwellings between 2018-
37.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the revised draft local plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal, even though the option would not be in conformity with the 
revised draft GMSF.  
 
At the draft local plan stage some consultees, particularly developers and 
landowners, stated that the housing requirement of 1,745 dwellings per annum over 
the plan period was too low However, an option setting out a higher requirement is 
not considered a reasonable alternative for the purpose of this sustainability 
appraisal, given that it would not be in conformity with the housing requirement 
identified in the revised draft GMSF. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents which would contribute to 
meeting housing requirements from the start of the plan period. Therefore impacts 
would be expected within all time periods identified in the table below. The 
assessment for this policy has only considered the scale of development; the more 
detailed issues relating to the distribution and mix of dwellings is considered under 
the assessment of policies H3 and H4 of the revised draft plan.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 +/- +/- 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 -- - 

5-10 -- - 

10+ -- - 

0-5 0 0 

Page 998



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 83 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 +/-- +/- 

5-10 +/-- +/- 

10+ +/-- +/- 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 --/+ -/+ 

5-10 --/+ -/+ 

10+ --/+ -/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 --/+ -/+ 

5-10 --/+ -/+ 

10+ --/+ -/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 --/+ -/+ 

5-10 --+ -/+ 

10+ --/+ -/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 ? ? 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 ?/- 0 

5-10 ?/- 0 

10+ ?/- 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 - - 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

Page 999



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 84 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 +/- +/- 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ? ? 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options would set out a housing requirement for the plan 
period and so in this respect there would be certainty. A sufficient 
supply of land to meet the quantitative requirements of the two 
options has been identified.  
 
The actual scale of development that comes forward over the plan 
period to meet the housing requirement is largely dependent on 
housing developers. The rate at which they build is influenced 
heavily by the condition of the housing market, and so therefore 
should there be another recession there would be uncertainty, 
particularly with regards to meeting the requirement identified 
under option A.  
 
Some of the implications of the two options identified in the 
appraisal are uncertain given that some of the issues will need to 
be considered at the planning application stage, and given that 
developments would be likely to include mitigation measures (for 
example relating to biodiversity, and soil and land resources) 

Scale Under both options the most significant impacts will be on a 
neighbourhood level, however wider impacts could be experienced 
across the city.  
 
The housing requirement under option A takes into account the 
redistribution of housing need form elsewhere in Greater 
Manchester to Salford, and so therefore its scale with regards to 
this is sub-regional. The housing requirement under option B 
would be for Salford to only meet its own need and so would not 
have the same sub-regional dimension.   

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The overall requirement for housing is closely linked to the 
consideration of the type and location of new housing, and will 
deliver a number of important council strategies. New development 

Page 1000



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 85 

 

Effects Appraisal 

will have implications on infrastructure and other services and 
facilities, and so it will be important that necessary infrastructure is 
provided to support new developments. New dwellings will have 
positive implications including supporting existing and new 
businesses, and increasing the council tax base to enable the 
council to continue to provide services.   

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The two options would have positive but also negative implications when considered 
in sustainability terms. Generally speaking option A would deliver greater benefits 
when considering meeting housing need and supporting the economy, but there 
would be greater negatives in environmental terms. The opposites would generally 
be true of option B. Full details relating to this are set out below.  
 
Option A would provide a significantly higher level of new housing development than 
that under proposed under option B, primarily as a result of Salford accommodating 
some of the need for housing that arises elsewhere in Greater Manchester. This 
scale of development would have major positive impacts against objective 17, 
including the provision of a high level of affordable housing as part of a wide range of 
dwellings coming forward. Although the scale of development would be less under 
option B, there would still be a large number of homes developed under the option 
and so therefore it would still rate positively against objective 17.  
 
The level of development identified under option A provides the potential to bring 
forward significant levels of brownfield land for new housing development, and so is 
likely to be positive with regards to reducing land contamination and bringing forward 
derelict and degraded land (objective 4). However, achieving the scale of 
development under the option would be likely to involve the development of large 
areas of greenfield land including some agricultural land, and so there would also be 
major negative implications against the objective. Linked to the development of 
greenfield and agricultural land, it is likely that there would be negative biodiversity 
implications (objective 2). Option B would raise similar issues against objectives 2 
and 4, although its negative implications would be reduced as a result of the lower 
scale of development it provides for.   
 
The impact on heritage assets (objective 10) is uncertain under both options given 
that this would be dependent on consideration of any impacts at the planning 
application stage. With regards to townscape, the higher level of development in 
option A may mean that some open spaces and landscape features would be 
developed. This would contribute to potential negative implications for local character 
and distinctiveness (objective 11). 
 
The two options would have the scope to improve mental health by ensuring that 
homes would be available in order to meet a variety of needs. However, the scale of 
development identified under either option could cause major mental health 
problems, such as anxiety and worry, for existing residents concerned about new 
developments and the impact they would have on their lives and homes (objective 
1).  

Page 1001



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 86 

 

 
Although the revised draft local plan seeks to encourage a modal shift away from car 
use, the level of development under both options would be associated with an 
increase in car use and would contribute towards increasing emissions and exposure 
to pollution and leading to a worsening in air quality, therefore having negative 
implications against objectives 7, 8 and 9. In turn this would be expected to have a 
negative effect on neighbourhood quality (objective 12). Having said that however, 
the level of development identified under both options would be likely to involve a 
high level of development in the City Centre and Salford Quays. These are highly 
accessible locations where there would be high levels of walking, cycling and public 
transport use, and so would therefore score positively against objective 7, 8, and 9 
with regards to this. 
 
The two options would have positive implications with regards to providing homes 
that would support a diverse and robust economy in the long term (objective 14), 
enhance economic inclusion through spin-off jobs associated with housing (objective 
15) and maintain and develop a healthy labour market (objective 16). Both options 
would also help to support a range of services and facilities (objective 18) associated 
with an increase in people associated with the development of new homes.  
 
Both options would involve new housebuilding which by its nature can be 
contentious. Irrespective of the overall the scale of development required over the 
plan period, some developments are likely to lead to the formation of new residents 
groups to oppose new development. This could create a sense of belonging and 
identity and increase involvement in decision making (objectives 19 and 20). 
However, a potential negative against objective 19 is that new developments may 
create tensions between existing residents and those moving into new 
developments.    
 
The implications of the two options for the perception of the city (objective 21) are 
uncertain as this would be in part determined by the quality and location of the new 
homes coming forward.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option given that it would be in conformity with the housing 
requirement identified for Salford in the revised draft GMSF.   
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 It will be important that new dwellings are of a high quality, are adaptable by 
meeting minimum size standards, energy efficient, and built at an appropriate 
density in order to minimise the amount of land that has to be released for 
new developments.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

Page 1002



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 87 

 

 None required, these issues are addressed by other polices in the housing 
chapter and also the specific housing policy on design within the housing 
chapter.   
 

  

Page 1003



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 88 

 

Policy H3 Distribution of housing and Policy H4 Type of new homes 

 
The distribution and type of homes are closely linked together, and therefore for the 
purposes of this section of the sustainability appraisal the implications of policies H3 
and H4 of the revised draft local plan have been considered alongside each other.   
 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H3 sets out the approximate distribution 
of new dwellings, to meet the citywide housing requirement set out in policy H2 of 
the revised draft local plan. There would be an emphasis on development in City 
Centre Salford and Salford Quays, although some greenfield and green belt sites in 
Salford West would be allocated for housing. Outside of City Centre Salford, Ordsall 
Waterfront, Salford Quays and the other town centres, at least 80% of new dwellings 
in individual developments would normally be in the form of houses. Overall, under 
this option Salford West would accommodate around 20% of the overall city 
requirement. Across the city around 26% of new homes would be houses and 74% 
would be apartments. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Under this option no greenfield or green belt land would be 
allocated for housing in Salford West. Outside of City Centre Salford, Ordsall 
Waterfront, Salford Quays and the other town centres, at least 70% of new dwellings 
in individual developments would normally be in the form of houses.  Compared to 
option A, there would be a reduction in the number of new dwellings in Salford West 
and an increased focus on the development of new dwellings in City Centre Salford 
and Salford Quays. The option would deliver a higher overall proportion of 
apartments than that identified under option A.   
 
Option C: Under this option additional greenfield land and employment land would be 
allocated in Salford West, whilst a more flexible policy approach to the protection of 
existing employment land would apply. Outside of City Centre Salford, Ordsall 
Waterfront, Salford Quays and the other town centres, at least 90% of new dwellings 
in individual developments would normally be in the form of houses. Compared to 
option A, there would be an increase in the number of dwellings in Salford West and 
less of a focus on the delivery of new dwellings in City Centre Salford and Salford 
Quays. The option would deliver a higher overall proportion of houses than that 
identified under option A. 
  
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
The three options above all assume that the housing requirement would be at least 
32,585 dwellings over the plan period. This is the housing requirement set out in the 
revised draft GMSF and policy H2 of the revised draft local plan. Given that the plan 
has to be in conformity with the GMSF there are no other reasonable options with 
regards to the housing requirement. 
 
Option A is the revised draft local plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C reflects comments received during consultation on 

Page 1004



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 89 

 

the draft local plan, that there should be a greater emphasis on delivering houses in 
Salford West. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents which would contribute to 
meeting housing requirements from the start of the plan period. Therefore impacts 
would be expected within all time periods identified in the table below. As noted 
above, the assessment jointly appraises options relating to the distribution and type 
of new homes.   
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 +/- ++ -/-- 

5-10 +/- ++ -/-- 

10+ +/- ++ -/-- 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 +/- ++ -/-- 

5-10 +/- ++ -/-- 

10+ +/- ++ -/-- 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 +/- + -/-- 

5-10 +/- + -/-- 

10+ +/- + -/-- 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 +/- + -/-- 

5-10 +/- + -/-- 

10+ +/- + -/-- 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 +/- + -/-- 

5-10 +/- + -/-- 

10+ +/- + -/-- 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 ? ? ? 

5-10 ? ? ? 

10+ ? ? ? 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 +/- +/? -/-- 

5-10 +/- +/? -/-- 

10+ +- +/? -/-- 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 +/- +/? - 

5-10 +/- +/? - 

10+ +/- +/? - 

Page 1005



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 90 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + +/- ++/-- 

5-10 + +/- ++-- 

10+ + +/- ++/-- 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + + 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 + +/- ++/-- 

5-10 + +/- ++/-- 

10+ + +/- ++/-- 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 +/++ + ++ 

5-10 +/++ + ++ 

10+ +/++ + ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 +/- + - 

5-10 +/- + - 

10+ +/- + - 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 +/- +/-  ?/- 

5-10 +/- +/- ?/- 

10+ +/- +/- ?/- 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + + + 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ? ? ? 

5-10 ? ? ? 

10+ ? ? ? 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty All three options would provide certainty around the mix and 
distribution of new dwellings over the plan period. This certainty 
would be greatest under option C given that it identifies specific 
housing allocations on greenfield land (over and above that under 
option A) and also allocates existing employment land for housing. 
Certainty would be less under option B given there would be no 
specific allocations.  
 

Scale Under the three options the most significant impacts will be on a 
neighbourhood level, however wider impacts could be experienced 
across the city.  
 
The scale of apartments identified under all options reflects the 
accessibility of City Centre Salford and areas like Salford Quays; 
this apartment market performs a sub-regional role which 

Page 1006



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 91 

 

Effects Appraisal 

complements the delivery of houses in other parts of Greater 
Manchester.  
 

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The implications of the mix and distribution are linked to a number 
of other council strategies and policies, such as locating 
development in the most accessible locations,  attracting highly 
skilled workers, proving affordable housing, and balancing housing 
needs against protecting environmental assets. New dwellings will 
have positive implications including supporting existing and new 
businesses, and increasing the council tax base to enable the 
council to continue to provide services.      

 
Appraisal summary 
 
All options would deliver positive benefits with regards to option 17 (ensuring 
everyone has access to a good home that meets their needs). Option B would 
provide a significant number of dwellings in the form of apartments in a small 
geographic part of the city and so although the option would rate positively against 
the objective it would be meet a narrower range of housing needs (including 
locational preference) when compared to options A and C. Option C would rate most 
positive out of the three options as it would be meet the widest spectrum of need,  
and provide the highest levels of new houses and overall development within Salford 
West.  
 
In environmental terms, option B would be the most positive given that there would 
be no greenfield or green belt land allocated for new housing, and the focus would 
be in areas such as the City Centre, which would involve the development of 
brownfield land. This would have major positive benefits with regards to minimising 
the net loss of greenfield land (objective 4) and also protecting biodiversity resources 
(objective 2).  Given option C would allocate additional greenfield land from that 
released under option A, it would rate negatively against objectives 2 and 4. Option 
A scores positively given the focus on brownfield development in areas such as the 
City Centre and Salford Quays, but also attracts negatives given the option releases 
greenfield and green belt land.  
  
The level of development identified under both options A and B would be likely to 
involve a high level of development in areas such as the City Centre and Salford 
Quays. These are highly accessible locations where there would be high levels of 
walking, cycling and public transport use, and so would therefore score positively 
(objectives 7, 8, and 9). The two options would also lead to the distance people 
having to travel to access jobs, facilities and services being reduced (objective18).  
 
Option A would also allocate greenfield land and green belt in Salford West which is 
less accessible than the more central areas of the city, and would be associated with 
an increase in car use and would contribute towards increasing emissions and 
exposure to pollution. This would all lead to a worsening in air quality, therefore 
having negative implications against objectives 7, 8, 9 and 18. In turn this would be 
expected to have a negative effect on neighbourhood quality (objective 12). These 

Page 1007



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 92 

 

negatives also apply to option C but are greater given that there would be the 
release of additional greenfield land for new housing.  
 
The impact on heritage assets (objective 10) is uncertain under all three options 
given that this would be dependent on consideration of any impacts at the planning 
application stage. 
 
With regards to townscape it is likely that option B would rate highest in sustainability 
terms, given that it would protect landscape features and open spaces by not 
allocating greenfield land or green belt in Salford West for housing (objective 11). 
However, the significant concentration of housing development in a small part of the 
city would potentially have a detrimental impact on townscape, local character and 
distinctiveness. Option C would perform poorly against objective 11 given that 
additional greenfield sites would be released which could lead to the additional loss 
of protected landscape features and open spaces, and have a greater detrimental 
impact on the  character of Salford West, when compared to option A.  
 
Option C would have major positive implications in terms of providing a higher level 
of houses for skilled workers and professionals in Salford West (objectives 14 and 
16). However, in order to provide land for these homes the option allocates 
employment land for new houses in Salford West, and takes a flexible approach to 
the protection of employment land. This would be detrimental to existing businesses, 
reduce the quantity and quality of employment opportunities, and would be contrary 
to the aim of having a diverse and robust economy. Option C would therefore also 
have major negative implications for objectives 14 and 16.  Option A would provide a 
balance between locating development in the most accessible locations and 
providing land for houses in Salford West, whilst option B would score negatively 
given that it would reduce the number of houses that would be built to meet the 
needs of those wanting family and aspirational houses in Salford West.    
 
All three options would involve new housebuilding which by its nature can be 
contentious. Experience shows however that planning applications involving houses 
in Salford West generally receive the most objections when planning applications are 
submitted. Therefore the increase in developments involving houses in Salford West, 
particularly under option C, could create tensions between communities and 
therefore be detrimental to community cohesion (objective 19). Notwithstanding this, 
planning application for new developments can lead to communities coming together 
to oppose development and so therefore there are potentially some benefits against 
objectives 19 and 20 under all three of the options. .  
 
The implications of the two options for the perception of the city (objective 21) are 
uncertain as this would be in part be determined by the quality and location of the 
new homes coming forward.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option given that it delivers an appropriate distribution and 
mix of housing, with only limited release of greenfield land and green belt.   
  
Potential mitigation 

Page 1008



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 93 

 

 

 None. 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable. 
 

  

Page 1009



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 94 

 

Policy H5 Size of new homes  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H5 sets out the approximate mix of 
housing that will delivered over the plan period, by the number of dwellings having 1, 
2, 3 and 4+ bedrooms, having regard to forecasts. In order to achieve this mix, all 
developments shall deliver a range of dwellings sizes in terms of bedrooms, whilst in 
schemes of houses a minimum of 50% of the apartments shall contain at least two 
bedrooms unless a lower proportion would meet an identified need. All new build 
dwellings should meet the national space standards, and where practicable 
developments involving changes of use / conversions. The space standards would 
not apply to purpose-built student accommodation, hotels, residential institutions, 
and dwellings with furnished layouts. The council’s HMO size standards would apply 
to HMOs.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Policy H1 of the saved UDP requires that all new housing 
development will be required to contribute towards the provision of a balanced mix of 
dwellings, including in terms of size. In determining an appropriate mix regard should 
be had to factors A to H.  
 
Policy HOU2 of the housing planning guidance supplements UDP policy H1 and 
requires that the majority of new houses should have at least three bedrooms. 
Where apartments are proposed a broad mix of dwelling sizes should be provided in 
terms of bedrooms and floorspace. Studios and one bedroom apartments should not 
predominate and a significant proportion of three bedroom apartments should be 
provided. The reasoned justification states that the majority of apartments should 
have a floorspace (typically in excess of 57 square metres). Within Broughton Park a 
significant proportion of dwellings with five bedrooms or more should be provided. A 
different mix of dwellings in terms of size would have to be justified, particularly 
against criteria A to H of UDP policy H1.   
 
Option C: This option is the same approach option A but with flexibility around the 
need to meet the national space standards for new build dwellings.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the revised draft local plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C reflects comments received at the draft local plan 
stage where some consultees suggested that there should be flexibility with regards 
to the requirement for developments to meet the national space standards.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Page 1010



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 95 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ++ + ++/? 

10+ ++ + ++/? 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? ? 

10+ ? ? ? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? ? 

10+ ? ? ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + +/? 

10+ + + +/? 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + +/? 

10+ + + +/? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + +/? 

10+ + + +/? 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ++ + ++/? 

10+ ++ + ++/? 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ++ + ++/? 

10+ ++ + ++/? 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ ++ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1011



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 96 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

5-10 ++ + ++/? 

10+ ++ + ++/? 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ++/? + ++/? 

10+ ++/? + ++/? 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + +/? 

10+ + + +/? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + ? ? 

10+ + ? ? 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would provide certainty with regards to a minimum 
proportion of apartments having two bedrooms or more, although 
no specific requirement is set with regard to houses in this respect. 
The national size standards would apply to all new build dwellings. 
Option B provides certainty with regards to the minimum number 
of bedrooms for apartments and houses and also provides a 
floorspace requirement for some apartments.  
 
Option C would provide the same certainty as option A in some 
regards, although the flexible application of the size standards 
means that this introduces uncertainty as it is likely that many 
dwellings could come forward that would not accord with the 
standards.  
 

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The implications of seeking minimum size standards are linked to 
a number of other council strategies and policies, such as 
attracting highly skilled workers, increasing the health of residents 
by ensuring homes are more adaptable, and minimising climate 
change by encouraging a greater degree of homeworking.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 

Page 1012



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 97 

 

The requirement for new build dwellings to meet the national space standards under 
option A would mean that dwellings would have a larger floorspace than those 
currently being built in the city, and so this would potentially require additional land to 
be released which may have implications for land resources (objective 4), which in 
turn may have an impact on biodiversity resources (objective 2). Notwithstanding 
this, it is possible that increases in density would mean that additional land would not 
need to be released in order to meet the space standards, and so this impact is not 
certain.  
 
Option A would provide spacious dwellings therefore allowing more people to work 
from home, supporting economic growth (objective 14), and ensuring that skilled 
workers would be attracted to the city which would help to maintain a healthy labour 
market (objective 16). An associated benefit of an increase in the number of people 
working from home would be the potential reduction in the need to travel, which 
would assist in minimising the use of fossil fuels and therefore improve air quality 
(objectives 7, 8, 9 and18). Given the large number of apartments that would come 
forward over the plan period, the requirement for at least 50% of them having two 
bedrooms or more would assist in meeting the objectives referred to above.  
 
Larger dwellings and at least 50% of apartments being two bed or larger under 
option A would ensure that occupiers would have a high standard of amenity in 
terms of space (objective 12) which would therefore have significant mental and 
physical health benefits (objective 1).  
 
There would be major positive benefits against objective 17, given that option A 
requires a good range of homes across the city and within individual neighbourhoods 
and that larger dwellings are more adaptable to respond to changing housing needs. 
An uncertain sustainability implication of larger dwellings however is that they are 
likely to be less affordable than dwellings of a smaller size, due to increased build 
costs.  
 
Option B would require that houses and apartments have a minimum proportion of 
bedrooms above a certain size, and that the majority of apartments have a 
floorspace in excess of 57sqm. These requirements are similar to those under option 
A in some respects, although the floorspace standard is far less detailed, not as 
large, and would only apply to some apartments. Therefore option B would rate 
positively against objectives 1, 7, 8, 9, 12, 16, 17 and 18, but not to the same extent 
as option A. 
 
With regards to option C, this would essentially be the same as option A apart from 
the space standards would be applied flexibly. Given this, it is likely that there would 
be some uncertainty associated with some of the benefits under this option as it is 
likely that in many cases developers would seek to build below the space standards. 
On this basis option C is likely to rate the same as option A, but with an added 
degree of uncertainty against objectives 1, 7, 8, 9, 12, 16, 17 and 18.   
 
The three options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to the 
size of new housing development and so would rate positively against objective 20 
relating to increasing involvement in decision making. Option A would have the 
greatest potential to improve perceptions of the city (objective 21).  

Page 1013



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 98 

 

 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option given that it performs better in sustainability terms, 
primarily as a result of requiring new build dwellings to meet the nationally described 
space standards.  
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 No mitigation identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable.   
  

Page 1014



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 99 

 

Policy H6 Housing density   

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H6 of the revised draft local plan sets out 
minimum net density (dwellings per hectare) requirements. These requirements take 
into account the accessibility of locations to designated centres (the City Centre, and 
town and local centres) and also public transport stops (including train stations, 
metrolink stops, and stops on main bus corridors). There is a minimum net density of 
35 dwellings per hectare in all other locations. Lower densities will be accepted 
where they can be clearly justified having regard to local housing market issues and 
site specific issues.   
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Saved UDP policy ST12 requires that development within 
the regional centre, town centres and close to key public transport routes will be 
required to achieve a high density appropriate to the location and context. Policy H1 
of the saved UDP expands on this and requires that housing development is built at 
an appropriate density, which is no less than 30 dwellings per hectare (net) 
throughout the city, and no less than 50 dwellings per hectare (net) on sites within or 
adjoining mixed use areas, town and neighbourhood centres, and major transport 
nodes along good quality public transport corridors. These standards may be varied 
having regard to a number of factors listed as criteria A to H.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents and therefore it is 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

Page 1015



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 100 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/? 0 

10+ 0/? 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/? 0 

10+ 0/? 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? 0 

10+ ? 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

0-5 0 0 

Page 1016



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 101 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options would provide certainty with regards to an overall 
minimum density (30 dwellings per hectare net in option A, and 35 
dwellings per hectare net in option B). This certainty is reduced 
however, given that the two options include exceptions as to when 
lower densities may be acceptable.  
 
Option A would provide greater overall certainty than option B as it 
would be much more detailed and includes different densities for 
different locations, having regard to designated centres and public 
transport accessibility.  

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments and spaces.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The implications of high minimum densities is dependent on many 
other Local Plan policies and council strategies. These include 
considerations of transport connections, high quality design, the 
standards of residential accommodation required by the housing 
chapter, and the requirements of the design and heritage chapters.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Option A would set out detailed density requirements for development sites and 
would take into account designated centres and public transport accessibility. 
Densities would range from a minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare (dph) (net) up to 
a minimum of 200dph net for sites located within the City Centre. The density 
requirements under option B would not be as onerous, requiring a minimum of 30dph 
net and a minimum of 50dph net in the more accessible locations.  
 
Having regard to the above, the higher density requirements in option A would be 
more sustainable than option B against a number of objectives. In particular there 
would be major positive benefits with regards to minimising the net loss of greenfield 
land (objective 4), which in turn would have a positive impact on biodiversity 
resources (objective 2). Locating higher density development in the most accessible 
locations would reduce traffic levels and encourage walking, cycling and public 
transport use which would minimise the use of fossil fuels and therefore improve air 
quality (objectives 7, 8, and 9).  
 

Page 1017



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 102 

 

An emphasis on locating the highest density of development under option A within 
the City Centre would enhance economic inclusion by improving physical 
accessibility to the concentration of jobs in the City Centre (objective 15), and also 
reduce the distance people need to travel to access jobs, facilities and services 
(objective 18). Locating high density developments in close proximity to designated 
centres, including the City Centre, will increase the number of people living in such 
locations and would protect and enhance the viability of the centres. Option A would 
therefore have major positive benefits against objectives 15 and 18. 
 
Option B would rate positively against the same objectives referred to above, but not 
to the same degree given that it would lead to land being used less efficiently.  
 
The delivery of higher densities of development under option A would mean that 
impacts on heritage (objective 10), townscape (objective 11), and amenity (objective 
12) are to some extent uncertain. However, the implications of development on 
heritage assets and amenity would be considered as part of the design of 
development, whilst the policy does identify that lower densities may be acceptable 
where there are site specific issues, such as the design context, and any impact on 
wider landscape or townscape issues including heritage assets.  
 
Both of the options would rate positively against objective 17 with regards to 
ensuring that homes would be provided to meet needs. Although the densities under 
option A are higher than those in option B, it is considered that it should be possible 
to construct houses at densities of up to around 70-80 dwellings per hectare. In 
addition the policy is clear that lower densities would be acceptable where this can 
be justified by local housing market issues such as a demonstrable need for a 
particular type of housing that cannot be delivered at a higher density and otherwise 
would not be met.  
 
In some locations the higher density requirements of option A may have negative 
community cohesion implications. In particular existing residents may consider that 
the density of development would be too high, out of keeping with the local area, and 
that there would not be enough local services, facilities and other infrastructure to 
deal with increases in the number of people living in the area. This may create 
tensions between existing and new residents, detrimental to relations between 
community groups (objective 19), and have some mental health implications 
(objective 1).  
 
The two options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to the 
density of new housing development and so would rate positively against objective 
20 relating to increasing involvement in decision making.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A selected. This option sets out higher minimum density requirements which 
would have greater sustainability implications across many of the objectives as 
identified in the appraisals above. 
   
Potential mitigation 
 

Page 1018



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 103 

 

 Design and green infrastructure and other site specific issues will be important 
considerations in the implementation of option A. However, no specific 
mitigation is necessary given that the option already identifies that lower 
levels of density may be acceptable having regard to site specific issues.    

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable.   
  

Page 1019



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 104 

 

Policy H7 Affordable housing  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H7 of the revised draft local plan sets out 
affordable housing requirements (in terms of the proportion and tenure mix) for 
different residential value areas, on sites of 10 or more dwellings, or 0.5ha in size 
regardless of the number of dwellings. The minimum proportions of affordable 
dwellings would be expressed as minimums and range from 10% to 50%. Land in 
the green belt (shown as amended by the revised draft GMSF) would not be covered 
by the value areas, but the proportion of affordable housing sought would be 
maximised.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Where there is a demonstrable need for affordable 
housing, policy H4 of the saved UDP requires developers to provide an element of 
affordable housing on all residential sites over 1 hectare, irrespective of the number 
of dwellings, or in developments of 25 or more dwellings. The saved UDP policy 
would be supplemented by policy OB1 of the planning obligations SPD; in some 
value areas there is no affordable housing requirement, with a maximum 
requirement of 20%. Land in the green belt (as shown on the UDP proposals map) is 
not covered by the value areas but the SPD states that as a minimum any 
development should support as a minimum the scale of contribution that applies to 
the highest value area.  
 
An alternative option considered was to appraise the approach taken in draft local 
plan policy H7. However, this is not considered to represent a sufficiently distinct 
option that requires appraising.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the revised draft local plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. Under both options reduced levels of affordable housing 
then that required by the policy would be acceptable where a viability assessment 
has been submitted in support of an application to show that the requirements would 
not be viable. This creates uncertainty about the scale of affordable housing delivery 
through the policy requirements; for the purposes of the assessment below it has 
been assumed that development complies with the full policy requirements.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

Page 1020



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 105 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 0 0 

Page 1021



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 106 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/- 

10+ + 0/- 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under both options there would be some uncertainty given that 
developers are able to submit viability appraisals with planning 
applications if the affordable housing requirements would make 
their development unviable. The outcome of this process is that 
the city council would have to reduce or waive its requirements. 
This approach is in line with the NPPF.   
 
Option A would require affordable housing in all developments, 
whereas for some of the value areas under option B there would 
be no requirement.  

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Increasing the supply of affordable housing is a key priority for the 
city council. It has links to other strategies such as ‘Shaping 
housing in Salford 2020’, the ‘Homelessness Strategy 2018 to 
2023’, and importantly ‘No one left behind: tackling poverty in 
Salford’.    

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Options A and B would both score positively against a number of the sustainability 
objectives. However, option A would be more positive overall given that it would be 
likely to deliver a higher number of affordable units than option B. This is because 
the requirements in option A would be significantly higher than those in option B (a 
requirement of up to 50% compared to up to 20%), and given that the thresholds for 
when affordable housing would be required are less under option A (and so therefore 

Page 1022



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 107 

 

more sites would be required to provide affordable housing). Both options would 
seek to maximise affordable housing delivery on sites within the green belt.  
 
The provision of affordable housing would have the potential to improve the mental 
health of people by reducing emotional strain (and conditions such as anxiety and 
depression) caused as a result of struggling to meet housing costs. It would have the 
potential to enhance economic inclusion by, for example, reducing fuel poverty given 
that households would have greater financial capacity to heat their homes, and 
allowing households to buy healthy food (objectives 1 and 15).  
 
Both of the options would require the affordable dwellings to match the appearance 
of the open market dwellings, and be designed and built to appropriate and agreed 
standards. Furthermore both options would require the early involvement of 
registered providers in order to ensure that the relevant standards would be met. 
This would therefore have positive townscape (objective 11) and amenity (objective 
12) implications.  
 
The provision of additional affordable housing would have clear benefits against 
objective 17, which is to ensure that everyone has access to a good home that 
meets their needs. The two options seek to maximise the delivery of rented 
accommodation given the need within Salford, which is related to low incomes, whilst 
ensuring that mixed tenure communities would be provided. Both options would 
contribute to meeting the shortfall of 760 affordable homes per annum (as assessed 
in line with national guidance), and meet specific needs such as those who are 
homeless. This would also support community development and promote equality 
(objective 19).  
 
The two options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to 
affordable housing and so would rate positively against objective 20 relating to 
increasing involvement in decision making. Option A would rate more positively with 
regards to this given that there where a viability assessment is submitted by an 
applicant in order to justify a reduced contribution, it will be published prior to the 
determination of the planning application unless there are exceptional circumstances 
(this is a requirement of revised draft local plan policy PC1 which is cross referenced 
in the revised draft local plan policy). Furthermore, option A also puts in place 
measure to stop developers artificially splitting sites as a means of avoiding the 
policy requirements.   
 
The approach under option A would have potential positive benefits relating to 
improving perceptions of the city when compared to option B (objective 21). Under 
option A there would be a requirement for affordable housing in all developments 
(unlike option B), whilst the levels sought under the option would be higher than that 
through option B. The current policy approach has attracted criticism and therefore 
would be likely to score negatively against objective 21. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option given that it performs better in sustainability terms, 
primarily as a result of higher affordable housing requirements than that under option 

Page 1023



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 108 

 

B, and given that there would be a citywide requirement for at least 10% affordable 
housing in new developments.  
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 No mitigation identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable.   
 

  

Page 1024



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 109 

 

Policy H8 Build to rent  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H8 sets out that build to rent schemes 
will be supported, particularly in City Centre Salford, Salford Quays, Ordsall 
Waterfront and town centres, subject to a number of criteria being met relating to: 
affordability and tenure mix; ownership; tenancy agreements; and space standards. 
It goes on to set out the circumstances where the change of affordable private rented 
dwellings will be permitted. The policy takes into account the planning practice 
guidance on build to rent, which would be a material consideration. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): There is no specific policy on build to rent in the saved 
UDP although policy H1 does require that new developments contribute to a mix of 
dwellings within the local area having regard to any specific need. Planning practice 
guidance on build to rent would be a material consideration.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1025



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 110 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1026



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 111 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would provide certainty relating to the city council support 
for build to rent, and particularly so in certain locations, subject to a 
number of criteria being met.   
 
It would be unclear under option B whether the city council would 
support build to rent schemes, or be in favour them in particular 
locations.  
 

Scale All options would have an impact on a neighbourhood level 
(particularly those locations identified under option A) as a result of 
developments taking place on specific sites, and a city level given 
that the provision of built to rent housing will help to meet the 
overall need for such accommodation.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent housing that would meet the 
needs for those requiring build to rent housing. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The provision of build to rent housing is a subset of delivering new 
homes to meet overall housing requirements identified in the local 
plan and also the housing planning strategy for the city identified in 
policy H1 of the revised draft local plan (particularly in terms of 
delivering a good supply and a balanced mix of new dwellings 
across the city and within individual developments). 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Build to rent housing is purpose-built housing where typically all of the dwellings are 
rented, professionally managed and in single ownership, and can comprise either 
houses or flats.  
 
Option A would clearly set out the city council’s support for build to rent, and also the 
locations where it would be most appropriate. It takes into account the national 
planning practice guidance on built to rent and provides additional local 
interpretation. Option B would rely wholly on the national planning practice guidance 
and so therefore many of the sustainability implications would be the same under 
both options. The key difference between the options is that it would be unclear 
under option B whether the city council would support build to rent schemes, and if it 
did so in what locations. The planning practice guidance relied upon under option B 
contains more detail on some elements than that set out under option A; however, 
the guidance would be a material consideration in any regard under option A.   
 

Page 1027



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 112 

 

Both options would ensure that build to rent accommodation comes forward as part 
of an appropriate mix of housing in order to meet housing needs and so would be a 
major positive benefit (objective 17). Furthermore, under both options 20% 
affordable housing would be provided in the form of affordable private rent with a 
discount of at least 20% less than private market rent. This would help to ensure that 
an appropriate mix of housing is provided to enable needs to be met, increasing the 
stability of the housing market and ensuring that people can afford their housing.  
 
Under option A the areas where there would be particular support for build to rent 
would involve the development of brownfield land, thus reducing the overall net loss 
of greenfield land over the plan period (objective 4). Moreover the locations identified 
would reduce the distance people need to travel to access jobs, facilities and 
services and would encourage walking and cycling rather than travel by car and 
other non-active transport modes (objective 18). This would provide positive physical 
health impacts (objective 1), reduce traffic levels and therefore minimise climate 
change (objective 8). Under option B it is less clear where build to rent schemes 
would be located and so therefore although the benefits highlighted above are still 
likely to arise, they are less certain to do so particularly if build to rent schemes are 
provided in less accessible locations.  
 
It is clear under option A that the requirements for dwellings to meet the national 
space standards would apply to build to rent schemes. This would ensure that 
occupiers of the dwellings would have sufficient levels of space which would mean 
that dwellings would provide more flexibility and adaptability, as well as providing 
physical and mental health benefits (objective 1). Under option B the space 
standards would not apply as they would need to be justified through the plan 
making process (i.e. Option A). 
 
Option A would explicitly enable people to understand the council’s approach to build 
to rent housing and so would rate positively against objective 20 relating to 
increasing involvement in decision making.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the selected option as it would make clear that the city council supports 
build to rent schemes, particularly in particularly in City Centre Salford, Salford 
Quays, Ordsall Waterfront and town centres, subject to a number of criteria being 
met. Moreover the national space standards would apply to build to rent dwellings 
under this option.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 No potential mitigation.  
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable. 
  

Page 1028



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 113 

 

Policy H10 Housing for older people  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H10 requires that a broad range of 
housing choices would be secured for older people through a number of specific 
measures. It also sets out criteria for when new residential accommodation 
specifically targeted at older people would be supported, and a requirement (where 
practicable) for residential developments of over 100 dwellings to incorporate 
housing provision specifically targeted at older people. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): There is no specific policy on older people in the saved 
UDP although policy H1 does require that new developments contribute to a mix of 
dwellings within the local area having regard to any specific need. Policy H6 of the 
saved UDP sets out criteria for when residential, social and community uses (which 
includes residential care homes and nursing homes) will be permitted. There are 
also general policies in the UDP relating to issues of design, amenity and housing 
improvement.   
 
Option C: This option is the same approach as in the revised draft local plan option 
but with the identification of specific sites for retirement villages. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C reflects the potential requirement for a retirement 
village as identified by the Western Cadishead and Irlam housing allocation in the 
draft local plan, and in response to comments received to the draft plan that 
retirement villages should be provided.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents and the potential 
allocation of sites in the green belt, and it is therefore assumed that for all three 
options, there would be very limited impact in the first five years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 + 

10+ + +/0 + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? ? 

10+ ? ? ? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1029



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 114 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

5-10 0 0 - 

10+ 0 0 - 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0/- 

10+ 0 0 0/- 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 - 

10+ 0 0 - 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 - 

10+ 0 0 - 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 ++ 

10+ + +/0 ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 - 

10+ 0 0 - 

19) To improve community cohesion 
0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ + 

Page 1030



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 115 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

10+ + 0/+ + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0/+ 

5-10 0 0 0/+ 

10+ 0 0 0/+ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 
Certainty Option A would provide a degree of certainty that accommodation for 

older people would be delivered in the city to meet need. The option 
would set out specific requirements for housing for older people 
including dwellings being accessible and adaptable, and reflect best 
practice for design. It also would require that residential developments of 
over 100 dwellings should incorporate housing provision specifically 
targeted at older people where this is practicable. The certainty therefore 
would be affected by how ‘where practicable’ is interpreted and 
implemented.  
 
Option B does not include specific requirements as set out in option A 
and is more general, only requiring a balanced mix of dwellings in the 
local area and providing criteria for assessing planning applications for 
residential, social and community uses.  
 
Option C would provide the most certainty given that specific sites of 
would be identified for retirement villages and that would be likely to 
attractive to providers of accommodation for older people and 
prospective occupiers. 
 

Scale All options would have an impact on a neighbourhood level as a 
result of developments taking place on specific sites, and a city 
level given that the provision of housing for older people will help 
to meet the overall need for such accommodation.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent housing that would meet the 
needs of older people. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The provision of housing for older people is a subset of delivering 
new homes to meet overall housing requirements identified in the 
local plan and also the housing planning strategy for the city 
identified in policy H1 of the revised draft local plan (particularly in 
terms of delivering a good supply and a balanced mix of new 
dwellings across the city and within individual developments).. 
 

 
Appraisal summary 

Page 1031



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 116 

 

 
The provision of housing for older people is an important aspect of delivering a fairer 
and more inclusive Salford. This is in the context of population projections indicating 
that around 42% of the population increase in Salford over the period 2018-37 will be 
aged 65 or over, equating to 14,000 people overall; with regards to the number of 
households in Salford, the number of households in Salford in which the household 
head is aged 65 or over is forecast to increase by 39% over the period 2018-2037.  
 
All options would have the potential to improve physical and mental health (objective 
1), although options A and C would deliver greater benefits given that there would be 
a specific requirement for new dwellings for older people to reflect the HAPPI ten 
design elements and given that homes would have to be accessible and adaptable. 
Many of the design elements under the HAPPI standards are not requirements under 
option B. In addition, under option C there would potentially be health facilities 
provided within retirement villages.  
 
Under all of the options, measures would be in place to ensure that good homes for 
older people are provided to meet the needs of an ageing population (objective 17). 
None of the options are tenure specific however. Options A and C would deliver 
greater benefits as they provide more certainty around actual delivery given that 
there would be a specific requirement for developments of over 100 dwellings to 
incorporate housing provision specifically targeted at older people where practicable. 
This certainty is increased under option C given that specific sites for retirement 
villages would also be identified and that these are likely to be attractive to the 
market.  
 
A requirement of options A and C would be that unless clearly impracticable, all new 
dwellings would be required to meet accessible and adaptable standards. This is 
important so that people can stay in their homes as their needs change. To a large 
degree option B would be dependent on developers choosing whether or not to 
provide accommodation for older people as part of their developments. Experience 
shows that general market housing schemes do not normally make specific provision 
for older people. Additionally under option B there would be no requirement for 
homes to be built to an accessible and adaptable standard and other elements that 
make up the revised draft policy for older people.  
 
Option A would lead to greater community cohesion (objective 19) than option B 
given that under option A there would a requirement for new residential 
accommodation for older people to be well integrated into the wider neighbourhood 
and offer easy access to community facilities, local services and public transport 
(objective 18). Under option C it is likely that the provision of standalone retirement 
villages would potentially lead to older people becoming isolated from the rest of the 
community particularly as any sites are likely to be standalone developments within 
the current green belt that are less accessible than sites within the main urban area.  
 
As noted above, it is likely that any retirement villages provided under option C would 
be in the current green belt given that there is a lack of suitable sites within the main 
urban area. This would lead to the loss of greenfield land and open space, some of 
which may be an agricultural resource, and also potentially detrimental to the 
amenity of tranquil areas (objectives 4 and 12). It would be important to ensure that 

Page 1032



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 117 

 

facilities such as hairdressers, cafes etc. are provided on-site in order to reduce the 
need to travel; if such facilities are not provided then this would potentially lead to 
increased car usage by those which can drive, or isolation for those who do not if 
there is poor public transport provision. Subject to appropriate mitigation measures 
being put in place it is likely that biodiversity resources could be protected as part of 
any development.  
 
The three options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to 
housing for older people and so would rate positively against objective 20 relating to 
increasing involvement in decision making.   
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option as it would provide additional accommodation for 
older people as part of general market housing developments, leading to increased 
community cohesion, and also set out other requirements specific to the needs of 
older people. Option B would be largely market led and so its impacts are somewhat 
uncertain.  Although the provision of retirement villages under option C would be 
likely to meet the needs of some older people there are a number of negatives 
associated with this as outline in the sustainability appraisal.   
  
Potential mitigation 
 
The policy could be tightened to require: 
 

 that all new dwellings meet the accessible and adaptable standards, irrespective 
of whether there are site specific constraints 

 a range of tenures  

 that in developments of over 100 dwellings incorporating housing provision 
specifically targeted at older people, the reference to ‘where ‘practicable’ should 
be deleted 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Policy wording has not been altered as a result of the above issues. The 
proposed wording seeks to provide a balance between flexibility and certainty. 

  

Page 1033



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 118 

 

Policy H11 Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H12 allocates land at Duchy Road for 
gypsy and traveller use with the priority being for permanent pitches (but with some 
transit provision to meet the Greater Manchester need). It goes on to identify the 
need for new travelling showpeople plots, the need to relocate the Fairways site, and 
states that work is ongoing to identify a site or sites to meet this need. The last 
section of the policy sets out criteria for when new sites for travellers will be 
supported.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Policy H1 of the saved UDP requires that new 
developments contribute to a mix of dwellings within the local area having regard to 
any specific need.  Saved UDP policy EHC7 sets out criteria for when new provision 
for gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople will be supported.  
  
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. An additional option considered was for the redistribution of 
the identified need at a Greater Manchester level. However, there is no agreement 
between the 10 Greater Manchester districts for this to take place and so is not 
considered to be a reasonable alternative that could be delivered.   
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents and the potential 
allocation of sites in the green belt to meet needs, and it is therefore assumed that 
for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five years of the plan 
period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? ? 

10+ +/? ? 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- ? 

10+ +/- ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1034



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 119 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++/0 0 

10+ ++/0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/- ? 

10+ 0/- ? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/? 

10+ + +/? 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- ? 

10+ +/- ? 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- ? 

10+ +/- ? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1035



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 120 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 
Certainty Option A sets out the need for new accommodation for travellers and 

allocates a site for gypsies and travellers to meet the need. No delivery 
mechanism is identified to bring the site forward so this reduces the 
degree of certainty of the allocation coming forward. No site or sites 
have been identified to meet the need for travelling showpeople although 
the option states that work is ongoing to do so. Option B does not 
include any consideration of need or allocate a site or sites, and so this 
reduces certainty in meeting identified need.  
 
Options A and B include criteria for when planning applications for 
travelling people will be supported / permitted, and provides certainty.  
 

Scale All options would have an impact on a neighbourhood level as a 
result of developments taking place on specific sites, and a city 
level given that the provision of housing for travellers will help to 
meet the overall need for such accommodation.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent sites that would accommodate 
the housing needs of travelling people. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The provision of accommodation for traveller will meet the needs 
of travellers alongside the needs of other groups. Provision of 
transit pitches is likely to reduce the number of unauthorised 
encampments, whilst any new permanent provision will also lead 
to more settled lives for travellers (and so would better able to 
access services such as schools etc.).  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
It is important to delivering a fairer and more inclusive city that appropriate sites are 
available for travelling people. Option A would take into account the need for 
accommodation in Salford as set out in the 2018 Greater Manchester gypsy and 
traveller accommodation assessment (GTAA). It would allocate a site to meet the 
Salford need for gypsies and traveller pitches (including some of the GM need for 
transit pitches), and is clear that work is ongoing to identify sites to meet the need for 
travelling showpeople. Option A also sets out a criteria based policy for when 
accommodation for travellers will be supported.  
 
Option A goes much further than option B which would only set out criteria for 
assessing planning applications for new accommodation. It does not consider issues 

Page 1036



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 121 

 

relating to need or how the need would be met, and so therefore option A is overall a 
more sustainable option for the reasons set out below.   
 
Allocation of sites to meet need 
 
Option A would seek to ensure that accommodation comes forward for travellers as 
part of an appropriate mix of housing in order to meet housing needs identified for 
Salford in the 2018 GTAA (objective 18). This would be a positive although the 
extent of this is influenced by the factors set out below. 
 
A site would be allocated for gypsies and travellers at Duchy Road as part of option 
A. This allocation would involve the development of brownfield land, thus reducing 
the overall net loss of greenfield land over the plan period, and bring back into use 
land that is degraded and likely to be contaminated (objective 4). New 
accommodation would improve the mental health of travellers (objective 1), 
particularly those who do not currently have accommodation and are forced to set up 
unauthorised encampments, whilst also improving neighbourhood quality and 
cohesion by reducing conflict between different communities (objective 19). 
However, it needs to be recognised that no delivery mechanism has been identified 
to implement the allocation and this therefore tempers the positives given the lack of 
certainty.  
 
Option A highlights that work is ongoing to identify a site or sites to meet the need for 
travelling showpeople. The main areas of land that are being considered are existing 
employment areas and also green belt. Should land be identified in employment 
areas then this would potentially be to the detriment of existing businesses (objective 
14), although it would support travelling showpeople to store their equipment and 
undertake their business needs. If green belt land was to be identified for travelling 
showpeople than this would likely to lead to the loss of greenfield land (unless the 
land in the green belt was brownfield), and would be detrimental to soil and land 
resources as a result (objective 4). Should a site or sites be identified for travelling 
showpeople then there would be positive sustainability implications similar to those 
identified in the paragraph above. However there may also be issues over 
implementation which would impact on the sustainability of the option. 
 
Option A identifies that around 43 plots on the current Fairways site in Lower 
Broughton will be relocated because they are in a flood risk area. As no travelling 
showpeople site or sites have yet been identified, a number of people remain at risk 
of flooding. If a site for new accommodation was ultimately identified then this would 
be majorly positive in terms of reducing flood risk to a vulnerable use (objective 6). A 
negative associated with an increase in the number of plots for travelling showpeople 
is that there would be an increase in the use of vehicles, and so this will have a 
negative impact on climate change due to an increase in greenhouse gases 
(objective 8).  
 
Option B would not allocate any sites and so would score poorly on many of the 
positives highlighted above, mainly as a result of a lack of certainty. Need is unlikely 
to be met through option B given the lack of any allocation. 
 
Criteria based- approach 

Page 1037



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 122 

 

 
Under option A, criteria is set out for when new sites for travellers would be 
supported, and includes consideration of: flood risk; access to local services and 
facilities; design and layout; servicing and utilities; access to the strategic highway; 
and ensuring showpeople have adequate provision for storage and other business 
needs whilst ensuring amenity is protected. Proper consideration of the issues as 
part of the application process (and/or any mitigation measures) would ensure that 
the option would rate positively against a number of the sustainability objectives (in 
particular objectives 6, 12, and 18).  
 
Option B sets out a number of criteria for when proposals for new provision for 
travelling people will be permitted. The issues that would be considered under this 
option are similar to those in option A, and so on this basis both options rate similarly 
in sustainability terms with regards to the criteria within them.  
 
The two options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to 
meeting the housing needs of gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople, and 
so would rate positively against objective 20 relating to increasing involvement in 
decision making. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the selected option as it seeks to meet the identified need for new 
accommodation in Salford by allocating a site for gypsies and travellers, and seeking 
to identify a site for showpeople.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 
Consideration should be given as to how the identified gypsy and traveller allocation 
would be implemented, including exploring funding opportunities and also engaging 
with the travelling community. Furthermore work should continue to identify a site or 
sites to meet the need for travelling showpeople, particularly given that the Fairways 
site is in a flood risk area. 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, issues for ongoing planning and regeneration activities in the 
city. 

  

Page 1038



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 123 

 

 
 

Policy H12 Purpose built student housing  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H11 sets out the locations where student 
housing would be concentrated. Outside of these locations the policy sets out criteria 
for when planning permission for student housing would be permitted.   
 
Option B (No Local Plan): UDP policy H1 requires that new developments contribute 
to a mix of dwellings within the local area having regard to any specific need. Policy 
H7 of the UDP sets out criteria for when the provision of student residential 
accommodation would be granted planning permission; this policy is supplemented 
by policy HOU7 of the housing planning guidance; this sets out criteria for 
demonstrating that there is a need for student accommodation.    
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options that there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1039



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 124 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ? 

10+ ++ ? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

Page 1040



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 125 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would provide certainty as to where student 
accommodation should be located, with the policy explicit that this 
should be within and immediately adjacent to the University of 
Salford campus at Peel Park/Frederick Road, and in close 
proximity to the University of Salford campus at Salford Quays. It 
then provides criteria for when student housing would be permitted 
elsewhere and places a cap on the number of bedrooms in these 
locations.  
 
Option B sets out criteria for when student accommodation would 
be permitted. Under this option the most appropriate location for 
student housing is not explicitly set out and so there is less 
certainty as to where new student accommodation would be 
provided. There is no reference within this option as to the 
appropriate scale of new student accommodation in terms of the 
number of bedrooms.  
 

Scale All options would have an impact on a neighbourhood level as a 
result of developments taking place on specific sites, and a city 
level given that the provision of new housing for students will help 
to meet the overall need for such accommodation.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent new student housing that 
would meet their needs. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The provision of housing for students is a subset of delivering new 
homes to meet overall housing requirements identified in the local 
plan and also the housing planning strategy for the city identified in 
policy H1 of the revised draft local plan (particularly in terms of 
delivering a good supply and a balanced mix of new dwellings 
across the city and within individual developments).. 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Options A and B would ensure that student accommodation comes forward as part 
of an appropriate mix of housing in order to meet housing needs, and increase the 
stability of the housing market (objective 17). This would be a major positive benefit. 
 
Option A would explicitly concentrate student housing within and immediately 
adjacent to the University of Salford campus at Peel Park/Frederick Road, and in 
close proximity to the University of Salford campus at Salford Quays. A 
concentration around these locations would: 

Page 1041



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 126 

 

 

 Provide positive physical health impacts and minimise climate change by 
encouraging walking and cycling rather than travel by car and other non-active 
transport modes (objectives 1 and 8) 

 Improve perceptions of the city and the University by ensuring that modern 
accommodation is available that meets the needs and expectations of modern 
day students and their families (objective 21) 

 Involve the development of brownfield land given that the campuses are within 
the main urban area, thus reducing the overall net loss of greenfield land over the 
plan period. This will help to protect soil and land resources (objective 4) 

 Bring amenity and character benefits to parts of the city in close proximity to the 
University where there are high concentrations of students living in non-purpose 
built student accommodation, should the supply of attractive purpose built 
accommodation reduce the number of students living in non-purpose built 
accommodation (objectives 11 and 12). This would potentially reduce anti-social 
behaviour and disorder in certain locations where there are concentrations of 
students in traditional houses (objective 13) 

 
Outside of the campuses, option A requires that accommodation should be located 
within easy walking distance of the campuses or be very close to public transport 
that has frequent and direct services with short journey times to the campus. This 
would bring a number of sustainability benefits (objective 18).  
 
Under option B the locational requirements for new student accommodation would 
not be as strong or as specific as they are under option A. The requirement of option 
B would be that new student developments should be in locations with very good 
access by public transport, walking and cycling to local facilities and to the 
educational establishment that it is designed to serve. There would potentially be no 
concentration around the campus, development may be on greenfield land, and 
there is no definition of what ‘very good’ public transport constitutes for applying the 
policy. Therefore some of the benefits highlighted above (for option A) would either 
not arise under option B or would be unknown given the lack of a policy 
concentrating the location of student accommodation to and around the campuses.   
 
Options A and B set out criteria for when planning permission would be granted for 
student accommodation. Under option A these requirements would apply to 
developments outside of the areas where student developments would be 
concentrated, whereas under option B they would apply to all developments of 
student accommodation. Both of the options are similar although option A limits 
development to 100 bedrooms / studios, whereas the appropriate scale is not 
defined under option B. Notwithstanding this, it should be noted that both options A 
and B would give consideration to issues relating to amenity and character as part of 
the determination of any planning application (objectives 11 and 12).  
 
Option A gives consideration to the demand for student accommodation whilst option 
B alternatively takes into account need; both options would ensure that the objective 
of ensuring that new homes meets needs is satisfied (objective 17). Option A does 
go further with regards to this as it would require that where permission is granted, 
the accommodation should easily be able to be converted through post-completion 

Page 1042



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 127 

 

adaptation if there is insufficient long term-demand for continued use as student 
housing. 
 
Option A also includes additional criteria over and above that in option B to require 
developments to be well served by local shops and other services, and in the case of 
mixed-use developments for the student units to be located within separate buildings 
from other residential uses.  This would bring additional sustainability benefits to that 
which would apply under option B.  
 
The two options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to new 
student housing development and so would rate positively against objective 20 
relating to increasing involvement in decision making. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option as it would explicitly set out the location where 
student accommodation should be concentrated, and would also contain additional 
criterion to guide developments than that set out under Option B. This would bring 
greater sustainability benefits.    
  
Potential mitigation 
 

 No mitigation required.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable.   
 

  

Page 1043



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 128 

 

Policy H13 Self-build and custom housebuilding  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H13 sets out that all developments of 
100 or more houses will be required to provide at least 5% of the total house plots in 
the form of serviced plots for sale to self-build and custom housebuilders. If the plots 
remain unsold after having been marketed for at least 24 months, then the plots may 
be utilised by other housing providers. The policy requires that self-build and custom 
housebuilding developments meet the nationally described space standards, and 
references the definition of a serviced plot set out in national planning practice 
guidance.   
 
Option B (No Local Plan): There is no specific policy on self-build and custom 
housebuilding in the saved UDP, although policy H1 requires that new developments 
contribute to a mix of dwellings within the local area having regard to any specific 
need.  The NPPF requires that the need for people wishing to commission or build 
their own homes should be reflected in planning policies. Further guidance is 
provided in the national planning practice guidance.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ? 

10+ + ? 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1044



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 129 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ +/0 

10+ ++ +/0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 0-5 0 0 

Page 1045



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 130 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would provide a mechanism for delivering self-build and 
custom housebuilding plots to meet the needs of those seeking to 
acquire serviced plots under section 1 of the Self Build and 
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015.  Option B would not set out any 
such requirement and so there would no certainty as to how the 
city council would seek to meet its requirements under the 2015 
Act.  
 
Aside from the policy requirements of option A, under both options 
the city council would have to determine any planning applications 
received from self–build and custom housebuilders. This would be 
a source of plots but is somewhat uncertain.   
 

Scale Both options would have an impact on a neighbourhood level as a 
result of developments taking place on specific sites, and a city 
level given that the provision of housing for self–build and custom 
housebuilders will help to meet the overall need for such 
accommodation.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent housing that would meet the 
needs of self–build and custom housebuilders. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The provision of self–build and custom housebuilding plots is a 
subset of delivering new homes to meet overall housing 
requirements identified in the local plan and also the housing 
planning strategy for the city identified in policy H1 of the revised 
draft local plan (particularly in terms of delivering a good supply 
and a balanced mix of new dwellings across the city and within 
individual developments). 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Self–build housing and custom housebuilding plots would be made available as a 
result of option A; this would contribute to the mix of housing coming forward, meet 
housing needs and increase the stability of the housing market (objective 17). This 
would be a major positive benefit. The requirements of option A would also ensure 
that self-build and custom housebuilding plots are integrated into new developments, 
which would have a positive community cohesion impact (objective 19). 
 

Page 1046



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 131 

 

There would be no specific requirements for plots to be made available under option 
B, and therefore that option cannot not rate as well in sustainability terms. Plots 
could still come forward under both options (irrespective of the requirements of 
option A), as part of the normal development management processes. However the 
scale of plots that would come forward under this mechanism is uncertain and 
therefore lacks certainty.   
 
The policy requirement under option A is not location specific; it is only triggered on 
individual sites when developments of over 100 houses come forward through the 
planning application process. As a result it is unclear whether plots that would be 
made available under option A would be on greenfield or brownfield land, and so 
therefore it is unclear as to what the impact would be for soil and land resources in 
this regard (objective 4). The impact for soil and land resources would also be 
unclear under option B. Similarly the accessibility of sites under both options would 
be site dependent, and so therefore ratings against objective 18 are at this stage 
uncertain.  
 
As part of option A, the requirements for dwellings to meet the national space 
standards would apply. This would ensure that occupiers of the dwellings would 
have sufficient levels of space which would mean that dwellings would provide more 
flexibility and adaptability, as well as providing physical, mental health, and amenity 
benefits (objectives 1 and 12). Under option B the space standards would not apply 
as they would need to be justified through the plan making process (i.e. Option A). 
 
The two options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to self-
build and custom housebuilding and so would rate positively against objective 20 
relating to increasing involvement in decision making. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the selected option as it provides a delivery mechanism for securing self-
build and custom housebuilding plots, and is clear that the nationally described 
space standards would apply to the development of these plots.   
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 No potential mitigation.  
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable. 
  

Page 1047



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 132 

 

Policy H14 Conversion of existing houses, and new build residential 

developments of non-self-contained units   

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy H14 requires that the conversion of 
existing houses into other uses, set out within points A to G, will only be permitted 
where development would not have an unacceptable impact on the positive 
character of the neighbourhood, and would not result in any house in use as a single 
dwelling being immediately adjacent to more than one property in any of the uses 
identified at points A to G. It goes onto state that new-build residential developments 
of non-self-contained units will be judged against the same criteria. Other policies in 
the revised draft local plan would also be applicable, such as those relating to 
design, amenity and highways.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Saved UDP policy H1 requires that new developments 
contribute to a mix of dwellings within the local area having regard to any specific 
need. Policy H5 sets out criteria for when the provision of residential accommodation 
within existing buildings will be permitted, whilst policy H6 sets out criteria for when 
residential, social and community uses (which includes residential care homes and 
nursing homes) will be permitted. There are also general policies in the UDP relating 
to issues of design, amenity and housing improvement.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents and therefore it is 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

Page 1048



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 133 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0/- 0/- 

10+ 0/- 0/- 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

0-5 0 0 

Page 1049



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 134 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would set out criteria for when the conversion of houses 
and new build developments of non-self-contained units will be 
permitted. The option would provide certainty as it is clear that 
development would not be permitted that would result in any 
house in use as a single dwelling being immediately adjacent to 
more than one property in the uses identified in the policy. 
Immediately ‘adjacent to’ is defined within the policy.  
 
Option B is essentially the same as option A although does not 
rule out development where it would result in any house in use as 
a single dwelling being immediately adjacent to more than one 
property in a residential type use. Therefore option B does not 
provide the same level of certainty.  
 
Note that that some of the uses covered by the options may not 
always require planning permission for a conversion from a house 
being used as a single dwelling, because they may be subject to 
permitted development rights or the proposed use may be judged 
not to be materially different from the existing use. This reduces 
certainty. 
 

Scale All options would have an impact on a neighbourhood level as a 
result of developments taking place within specific buildings and 
sites, and a city level given that the conversion of houses and new 
build developments of non-self-contained units will help to meet 
the overall need for such accommodation.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent housing that would meet 
needs. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The provision of housing involving the conversion of houses and 
new build developments of non-self-contained units is a subset of 
delivering new homes to meet overall housing requirements 
identified in the local plan and also the housing planning strategy 
for the city identified in policy H1 of the revised draft local plan 
(particularly in terms of delivering a good supply and a balanced 

Page 1050



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 135 

 

Effects Appraisal 

mix of new dwellings across the city and within individual 
developments). 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options would have very similar sustainability implications. Subject to the 
criteria under each option being met, both options would contribute to the mix of 
housing coming forward, meet housing needs and increase the stability of the 
housing market (objective 17). The options also deal with a wide range of residential 
uses some of which would reduce isolation for vulnerable people and promote good 
mental health (objective 1).  
 
Both options partly relate to the conversions of existing houses. The use of existing 
houses for new residential accommodation would minimise the net loss of greenfield 
land and maximise the reuse of existing buildings; this would contribute positively to 
protecting soil and land resources (objective 4), and minimise the use of non-
renewable resources (objective 9). However both options are also concerned with 
new build developments of HMOs, hotels and guest houses, residential institutions, 
hostels, children’s homes and similar use, and non-residential uses such as offices. 
The location of such developments is not specified under either option so this 
element of each option would rate as being uncertain against objectives 4 and 9.   
 
Objective 11 seeks to ensure that local character and distinctiveness is protected 
and enhanced, whilst objective 12 seeks to protect and enhance amenity. Both 
options would have criteria relating to these two objectives and would rate positively. 
Some of the uses covered by each option (such as hostels and children’s homes) 
are often viewed negatively by existing residents, particularly in relation to a 
perception that they would lead to an increase in antisocial behaviour. Even if such 
behaviour does not materialise there may be an increase in the fear of crime 
(objective 13), whilst there may also be community cohesion issues (objective 19) 
where some of the uses covered by each option are located in ‘traditional’ residential 
areas.     
 
The two options would enable people to understand the council’s approach to the 
conversion of existing houses, and new build residential developments of non-self 
contained units. Given this they would rate positively against objective 20 relating to 
increasing involvement in decision making. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Although both options are very similar, option A is the preferred option as it provides  
greater certainty given it specifies that development would not be permitted that 
would result in any house in use as a single dwelling being immediately adjacent to 
more than one property in the uses identified in the policy.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified.  

Page 1051



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 136 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

Not applicable.    

Page 1052



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 137 

 

CHAPTER 13 TOWN CENTRES AND RETAIL DEVELOPMENT 
 

Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres 

 
Description of options 
  

 Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy TC1 identifies a network of 
centres in Salford and seeks to protect and enhance them. The network of 
centres comprises the city centre, a main town centre (Salford Quays), five 
town centres and 20 local centres. The policy provides a brief description of 
the role of these centres within the hierarchy.  
 

 Option B (No Local Plan). UDP saved policy S1 identifies a network of centres 
in Salford, comprising of four town centres and 18 neighbourhood centres, 
and policy ST9 explains that the retail hierarchy will be maintained and 
enhanced. The City Council has adopted planning guidance for The Crescent 
and Salford Central (parts of the city centre) and MediaCityUK and Quays 
Point (part of Salford Quays). Paragraph 85 a) of the NPPF explains that 
planning policies should define a network and hierarchy of centres and 
promote their long term viability.  

 

 Reasons for selecting those options 
  

Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised. 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Representations to the Draft Local Plan suggested some 
amendments, including that: 

 The city centre should not be designated as a centre, and the area should be 
renamed as part of a wider regional centre at the top of the hierarchy.  

 Different terminology should be used to describe parts of Salford Quays (i.e. 
town centre core rather than primary shopping area.  

The suggested amendments are not considered to represent a distinct alternative 
option for the purposes of this appraisal, as the representations are seeking changes 
to terminology and both areas would remain in the hierarchy.  

Some changes have been made between the Draft and Revised Draft Local Plan to 
the boundary of Salford Quays town centre, primary shopping area and the potential 
extension to the primary shopping area. Salford Quays has also been elevated in the 
hierarchy from ‘town centre’ to ‘main town centre.’ These changes are not 
considered significant such that the Draft Local Plan represents a distinct alternative 
option for the purposes of this appraisal.  

 Assessment of options 

 Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 0-5 + + 

Page 1053



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 138 

 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore geological 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can be 
sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 0-5 + + 

Page 1054



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 139 

 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

  

  

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A provides descriptions of the role of the 
different types of centre in the hierarchy and 
explains how they function, what is important 
about the centres and how they would be 
expected to change during the plan period.  
 
The changing retail market and the growth of 
online retailing presents some uncertainty for 
future of Salford’s centres, and maintaining their 
vitality and viability will be an ongoing challenge. 
Changes to the retail offer outside of Salford could 
also have an impact.  

Scale The effects would be at a neighbourhood level, 
and also city wide for the higher order centres.  

Permanence The centres would be afforded permanent 
protection by this policy.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy would work alongside a number of 
other policies such that the impact would be more 
significant. With the area policies for the City 

Page 1055



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 140 

 

Centre and Salford Quays providing the wider 
strategic context, and the retail development 
management policies being important in 
supporting the implementation of the retail 
hierarchy.   

  

 Appraisal summary 

Both options would provide a positive policy framework for the protection and 
enhancement of Salford’s centres and would be expected to have very similar 
outcomes when assessed against a number of the sustainability objectives. The 
main differences between the two options are the identification of additional centres 
in option A, which includes the City Centre, Salford Quays (main town centre) and 
local centres at Charlestown, Clovelly Road and Ordsall. Cheetham Hill is also 
identified differently in the hierarchy in the two options: as a town centre in option A 
and a neighbourhood centre in option B.  

Whilst the City Centre and Salford Quays would appear to represent significant 
additions to the hierarchy, it is noted that they were previously identified in the UDP 
saved policies MX1 and ST7 as mixed use areas where the development of a range 
of town centre uses would be supported. It is however considered that the inclusion 
of these areas within the hierarchy of centres (which supports a significant increase 
in retail floorspace) would result in increased benefits when assessed against some 
of the objectives.   

The addition of three new local centres under option A is not considered to result in 
significantly different outcomes in the appraisal, it would however assist in ensuring 
access to local shops facilities in some parts of the city through affording protection 
to these existing groups of shops.  

Objective 1 is to improve physical and mental health, and under both options it would 
be expected that positive benefits would be experienced, potentially through the 
provision of facilities in accessible locations, including health centres and local shops 
which could provide access to healthy food.  

Reducing the overall need to travel through ensuring the provision of a varied range 
of shops, community facilities and services in accessible locations could assist 
reducing emissions and exposure to pollutants and minimising contributions to 
climate change, which supports a number of the sustainability objectives (2, 7, 8, 9, 
18). The City Centre and Salford Quays are expected to accommodate a significant 
amount of housing and employment development during the plan period and the 
provision of further shops and community facilities to support the growing community 
would in these locations in particular assist in reducing the need to travel. 

The centres identified within the hierarchy contain various heritage assets. 
Maintaining the vibrancy of these centres and supporting their enhancement could 
assist in encouraging the positive use of these heritage assets and the use of the 
buildings and public realm surrounding them (objective 10) it could also assist in the 
maintenance of the wider townscape across the centres (objective 11). The 
continued population of the centres could also assist in reducing crime and fear of 

Page 1056



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 141 

 

crime, through use of these centres during the daytime and evening providing natural 
surveillance.   

Centres are focal points for their surrounding communities and their continued 
protection and enhancement would be expected to improve neighbourhood quality, 
contribute to the sense of identity and support community development (objectives 
12 and 19).  

Identifying the City Centre and Salford Quays within the hierarchy and seeking to 
significantly increase the amount of retail, leisure and community facilities in these 
locations to support the growing population (option A), would be considered to have 
major benefits, supporting the economic success of these strategically important 
areas and creating further employment opportunities within them (objectives 14 and 
15). Both areas have an important tourism function and option A could also assist in 
encouraging increased visitor numbers (objective 21). These benefits would be 
expected to be experienced in option B, albeit potentially to a lesser extent.  

 

Selected option and reasons 
  

Option A better reflects the wider ambitions for Salford Quays and the City Centre 
and performs better in the sustainability appraisal.  

 Potential mitigation 

      Producing masterplans and supplementary planning guidance could assist in 
implementation by identifying key opportunities within the centres and establishing a 
more detailed strategy for their development.  

 Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, relevant issue / consideration for wider planning/ regeneration 
activities in the city.  
 

  

Page 1057



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 142 

 

Policies TC2 Development involving main town centre uses, TC3 Retail 

frontages, changes of use and redevelopments within centres and TC4 food 

and drink uses within centres 

 
Description of options 
  

 Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy TC2 explains that main town 
centre uses shall be located in accordance with the sequential approach and 
defines ‘in centre’ and ‘edge of centre’ for Salford’s centres. It also sets local 
floorspace thresholds for requiring an impact assessment for the retail and 
other main town centres development proposals (excluding offices) located 
outside of a designated centre. Policy TC3 controls changes of use and 
redevelopment within centres and includes requirements for all proposals 
within centres, sets out the circumstances where loss of A1 units within the 
primary shopping area would be supported and identifies where ground floor 
residential uses would be considered acceptable. The primary shopping areas 
and primary and secondary frontages for the town centres are defined on 
insets to the local plan policies map. Policy TC4 outlines the circumstances 
where proposals for food and drink uses would be considered acceptable 
within Salford’s centres and places additional controls over these uses in 
Monton local centre.  
 

 Option B (No Local Plan). 1. Sequential approach/impact assessment: The 
sequential approach to retail and leisure development is set out in Saved UDP 
policy ST9 (ii) and for main town centre uses in the NPPF (paragraph 86). The 
NPPF requires that an impact assessment would be required for applications 
for retail and leisure development proposals over 2,500sqm gross floorspace. 
2. Changes of use within centres: Policy S3 of the UDP Saved policies 
outlines the circumstances where the loss of A1 uses would be considered 
appropriate.  Paragraph 85 of the NPPF provides some general guidance 
around the role of town centres, managing their growth and change and 
recognises that residential development has a role in ensuring the vitality of 
centres and encourages it in appropriate locations. 3. Food and drink uses: 
Saved UDP policy S4 sets out criteria for consideration of food and drink uses 
and amusement centres. Further guidance on hot food takeaways is set out in 
the council’s supplementary planning document. 

 

 Reasons for selecting those options 
  

Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised. 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Representations to the Draft Local Plan suggested some 
amendments, including that: 

 The city centre should not be designated as a centre, and the area should be 
renamed as part of a wider regional centre at the top of the hierarchy.  

 Different terminology should be used to describe parts of Salford Quays (i.e. 
town centre core rather than primary shopping area.)  

 Other commercial centres should be identified. 

Page 1058



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 143 

 

The suggested amendments are not considered to represent a distinct alternative 
option for the purposes of this appraisal, as the representations are seeking changes 
to terminology and both areas would remain in the hierarchy. With regards to 
identifying other commercial centres, these were not defined in the representations 
and the city council has not identified any other clusters of main town centre uses 
that it considers represents a town or local centre.  

Some changes have been made between the Draft and Revised Draft Local Plan to 
the boundary of Salford Quays town centre and the potential extension to the 
primary shopping area. Salford Quays has also been elevated in the hierarchy from 
‘town centre’ to ‘main town centre.’ These changes are not considered significant 
such that the Draft Local Plan represents a distinct alternative option for the 
purposes of this appraisal.  

 Assessment of options 

 Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore geological 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1059



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 144 

 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can be 
sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

  

  

Effects Appraisal 

Page 1060



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 145 

 

Certainty The certainty is increased in option A through the 
clarification provided by the definition of ‘in centre’ 
and ‘edge of centre’ for Salford’s centres, primary 
shopping areas and primary/secondary frontages.  
 
The changing retail market and the growth of 
online retailing presents some uncertainty for 
future retail role of Salford’s centres, and 
maintaining their vitality and viability will be an 
ongoing challenge. Changes to the retail offer 
outside of Salford could also have an impact. 

Scale The effects would be at a neighbourhood level, 
and also city wide for the higher order centres.  

Permanence The centres would be afforded permanent 
protection through these policies.   

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

These retail development management policies 
will be important in supporting the implementation 
of the retail hierarchy (policy TC1) and some of 
the area policies (City Centre and Salford Quays). 
They will also work alongside other policies in the 
local plan which promote good health and protect 
amenity (chapter 15 health, chapter 20 design and 
chapter 27 pollution).  
 

  

 Appraisal summary 

The combination of policy requirements within both options would offer protection to 
Salford’s centres and their retail function, and assist in ensuring their continued 
vitality and viability. The impact of both options is therefore generally expected to be 
positive. The main difference between the two options is the additional detail 
provided within option A, which includes:  

 An explanation of how the sequential approach should be applied in Salford, 
defining in centre and edge of centre within Salford’s designated centres for 
retail uses and other main town centre uses.  

 Setting locally defined thresholds for requiring impact assessments. Impact 
assessments would be required for retail developments over 500sqm outside 
a designated centre (compared to 2,500sqm in the NPPF) but an assessment 
may be required for smaller retail developments (between 250sqm and 
500sqm) and for proposals for other main town centre uses, excluding offices, 
over 500sqm where there are concerns in relation to a centre.  

 Defining primary shopping areas, primary frontages and secondary frontages 
within Salford’s town centres, and explaining the circumstances where the 
loss of A1 retail uses would be supported within the primary shopping 
frontages.  

 The introduction of additional controls regarding proposals for A3, A4 and A5 
uses in Monton local centre.  

Page 1061



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 146 

 

The additional detail in option A would be expected to improve the certainty of the 
outcomes through the additional clarity it provides. However some elements of this 
detail could also afford greater protection to in particular the smaller centres, and the 
retail core of the town centres. For example, the lower locally defined impact 
assessment thresholds would ensure sufficient consideration is given to the potential 
impact that smaller development proposals could have on local centres. The 
identification of primary frontages affords greater protection to the core retail area 
within the town centres. Overall option A is therefore expected to perform better 
when assessed against objectives 14 and 18, as it would go further to protect the 
existing town and local centres and support existing businesses within them. 
Generally, for most other objectives the two options score the same.  

Under both options it would be expected that positive benefits would be experienced 
with regards to health, through the continued direction of main town centre uses 
(which could include shops selling healthy food and health/leisure facilities) to them. 
Option B would benefit from the detail in the hot food takeaways SPD, by controlling 
uses which could have adverse impacts on health. However, other policies in the 
local plan would control such uses (HH2), and it is expected that the hot food 
takeaways SPD would be updated once the local plan is adopted.  

Reducing the overall need to travel through continuing to direct main town centre 
uses to accessible in/edge of centre locations in the first instance could assist 
reducing emissions and exposure to pollutants and minimising contributions to 
climate change, which supports a number of the sustainability objectives (2, 7, 8, 9, 
18). This could also assist in minimising loss of greenfield land (objective 4) through 
encouraging the reuse of vacant buildings and land within and close to existing 
centres.  

The centres identified within the hierarchy contain various heritage assets. 
Continuing to direct main town centre uses to the centres could assist in encouraging 
the positive use of these heritage assets and the use of the buildings and public 
realm surrounding them (objective 10) and could assist in the maintenance of the 
wider townscape across the centres (objective 11). Maintaining the retail character of 
the frontages as uses within centres change would also contribute positively to the 
achievement of these objectives. The continued population of the centres could 
assist in reducing crime and fear of crime, through use of these centres during the 
daytime and evening providing natural surveillance (objective 13) and provide a 
more positive image of the city’s centres (objective 21).   

Centres are focal points for their surrounding communities and their continued 
protection and enhancement would be expected to improve neighbourhood quality, 
contribute to the sense of identity and support community development (objectives 
12 and 19).  

Neighbourhood amenity (objective 12) is protected in both options through the 
careful control of food and drink uses. In option A, food and drink uses would be 
controlled further in Monton local centre, and whilst there may be some local benefits 
as a result of this, the two options would be expected to have similar effects overall 
for the purposes of this appraisal.  

Both options recognise that residential development plays an important role in 
ensuring the vitality of centres and encourages it in appropriate locations within the 

Page 1062



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 147 

 

centres, with additional guidance with regards to these locations provided in option 
A. Both options could therefore assist in providing an appropriate mix of housing in 
Salford (objective 17).    

Selected option and reasons 
  

Option A provides local detail which is considered to assist in the interpretation of the 
NPPF policies in Salford.   

 Potential mitigation 

      The successful application of these policies will be dependent on the city 
council’s ongoing understanding of the uses within these centres and vacancy 
levels within them. 

 Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, issues relevant to the ongoing monitoring of the city’s town 
and local centres.  

  

Page 1063



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 148 

 

CHAPTER 14 A LEARNING CITY 
 

Chapter 14  A learning city 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Chapter 14 of the revised draft local plan has 4 
policies in it relation to delivering a learning city.  Policy ED1 sets out high level 
overarching criteria which pulls together the key elements of the chapter and also 
references other strategies and priorities for the city relating to things such as 
training and the promotion of artistic and cultural activity. Policy ED2 provides 
support for improvements to the quality and accessibility of schools and further 
education facilities whilst policy ED3 requires housing developers to make 
contributions for additional school provision (in the form of a financial contribution or 
land). Policy ED4 relates to the University of Salford and how facilities and the 
campus should be developed.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): The saved UDP contains policies on when planning 
permission will be granted for the provision of new schools and colleges and for their 
improvement or replacement on existing sites (policy EHC1). It also includes a policy 
that provides high level support for development at Salford University and 
establishes criteria for when development proposals within the campus would be 
granted planning permission (policy EHC5). The adopted Planning Obligations SPD 
supplements policy DEV5 of the saved UDP and requires developers to make a 
contribution towards school provision as a result of their developments.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Both options are essentially identical and therefore score similarly throughout the 
assessment. Implementation is partly influenced by existing planning consents, and 
it is therefore assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in 
the first five years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1064



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 149 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? +/? 

10+ +/? +/? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

Page 1065



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 150 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
be similar overall, however option A provides a greater degree of 
guidance, for example by explaining that development proposals 
for the university shall form part of a comprehensive development 
strategy and by better explaining the links between the university 
and business. The provision of new schools will be dependent on 
the need arising for pupil places which is in part related to the 
location, scale and type of new housing developments that will 
come forward over the plan period.  
 

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city 
centre.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments and spaces.  
 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy would form part of a strategy to ensure that a learning 
city is delivered in Salford. This will link into other strategies and 
policies of the city council such as the City Mayor’s Employment 
Charter, including commitments to training opportunities for local 
people, and to a number of cultural strategies. To deliver a 
learning city it will be necessary to work closely with a range of 
partners such as the University of Salford and other education 
providers.   
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
As part of the development of new and replacement schools under both options, 
there would be a requirement to secure playing fields and other recreation facilities. 
This would have benefits against objective 1 with regards to improving physical 
health. Related to this, both options would require that where practicable / possible 

Page 1066



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 151 

 

provision should be made for playing fields and other school facilities to be used by 
the community, therefore supporting community development (objective 19).  
 
Community cohesion under objective 19 would also be strengthened through the 
approach to the Peel Park and Frederick Road university campus in the two options, 
given that there is a requirement for developments to contribute to the integration of 
the campus with their surroundings. Option A goes further than option B in this 
respect, as it sets out that this would be achieved through working with partners to 
improve connectivity into the wider City Centre, and enhancing access points into the 
campus and other facilities.  
 
Impacts in relation to issues such as biodiversity, soil and land and landscape under 
both of the options are uncertain and are very much dependent on the type and form 
of development that would come forward (objectives 2, 4 and 11). Notwithstanding 
this, under both options there would be biodiversity benefits (objective 2) at the 
University campus given that the options would require that opportunities are taken 
for its greening (option A) and the retention of a network of open spaces through and 
around the campus (option B). These requirements would assist in minimising the 
net loss of greenfield land (objective 4). 
 
Both options would require that where new schools and education facilities are 
provided they should be accessible by walking, cycling and public transport. The 
approach to supporting and securing sustainable transport modes for those 
accessing the university campus is also supported by the two options. Option A 
further specifically requires that the negative impacts of traffic and parking within the 
campus and on the surrounding area are minimised, and that the amount of land 
used for car parking significantly is recued. Given this, overall the options would 
deliver objectives 1, 7, 8, 9, by encouraging a modal shift and public transport use, 
thereby reducing exposure to pollutants and potentially also reducing the risk of 
accidents.  
 
Option A would score well against objective 10 given that there would be a 
requirement for development at the university campus to contribute to a Cultural 
Gateway that would include food and drink uses. This is linked to the wider 
promotion of artistic and cultural activity, and also the enabling of people to 
understand better their natural and local history under option A.  
 
Option A would significantly enhance the attractiveness of the university campus, 
with this being achieved as part of a comprehensive development strategy. There 
would be major positive benefits under this approach for the quality and character of 
landscape and townscape, and an improvement in neighbourhood quality (objectives 
11 and 12). A comprehensive approach to development would not be required under 
option B and so it would not score as highly against objectives 11 and 12, although 
there is cross reference in the option to development having to be of a high quality 
and consistent with the design policies of the saved UDP. An increase in the 
vibrancy of the campuses is driver of both options, and with this would reduce the 
fear of crime by increasing activity and improving natural surveillance through new 
buildings (objective 13).  
 

Page 1067



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 152 

 

The university is one of the major employers in the city and makes a significant 
contribution to the local economy. It is also key source of knowledge and expertise, 
and a significant purchaser of services and supplies. It is a contributor to enhancing 
the external profile of the city, and a key provider of enhanced skills to the local 
community. There are also numerous opportunities with the employment areas 
around the campuses to significantly increase the scale of business activity 
associated with the University. Both options provide a policy basis for enhancing the 
role of the University. Option A goes further than option B as it is clear that 
development proposals at the university should promote links between business 
sectors and the university’s skills and research strengths in support of the 
university’s Industrial Collaboration Zone aspirations, and the enhancement of the 
Salford Innovation Forum. Option A would further score highly as a result of the 
support for new training facilities, and also encouraging developers to sign up for the 
City Mayor’s Employment Charter. Having regard to the above, the two options 
would score positively against a range of objectives (14, 15, 16, 18 and 21). 
 
Both options provide policy support for the provision of new schools, the 
development of the university, and also require that housing developers provide a 
financial contribution or land for additional school provision. This would ensure that 
the range and quality of educational facilities in the city would improve and so would 
score well against objective 18. Option A also explicitly seeks to secure an 
appropriate supply of local early years provision such as  nurseries; saved UDP 
EHC3 sets out criteria for assessing planning application for such uses but does not 
provide explicit in-principle support. Moreover option A also facilitates the continued 
enhancement of Salford City College and the development of new training centres.  
 
The two options would allow people to be understand how the a learning city would 
be created and also provide clarity with regards to the approach to Salford 
University, the provision of new schools, and clearly set out that housing developers 
are required to make contributions to school places as a result of their 
developments. This is positive in relation to increasing involvement in decision 
making (objective 20). A successful University and also the provision of new schools 
would improve positive perceptions of the city (objective 21).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. This makes clear that proposals for the development of the 
University should form part of a comprehensive development strategy, whilst the 
option also includes wider strategic support for other educational establishments 
including schools, training centres, Salford City College and nurseries. These and 
other elements of option A perform better against the sustainability objectives.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 No mitigation identified.  
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

Not applicable.  

Page 1068



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 153 

 

CHAPTER 15 HEALTH 
 

Policies HH1 Supporting better health  

 
Policy HH1 identifies the ways in which significant improvements in the health of 
Salford residents will be sought through the Local Plan through a wide variety of 
measures, including enabling the improvement of health facilities and promoting 
healthy lifestyles and increased physical activity through enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network and recreation opportunities.  
 
The issues identified in policy HH1 are addressed in more detail in the health chapter 
and in other policies elsewhere in the plan: 
 

 Economic development chapter  

 H7 Affordable housing  

 TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres  

 ED1 A learning city  

 HH2 Development and health  

 HH3 Provision of health and social care facilities 

 HH4 Salford Royal Hospital  

 A4 Walking and cycling  

 WA5 Development and flood risk  

 D4 Spaces 

 D6 Design and crime 

 GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy 

 GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development 

 R1 Recreation spatial strategy 

 R2 Recreation standards 

 AQ1 Air quality 

 PH1 Pollution control  
 

The issues identified in Policy HH1 are therefore appraised under other headings 
and have not been duplicated here.  
 

  

Page 1069



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 154 

 

Policy HH2 Development and health and HH3 Provision of health and social 

care facilities  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy HH2 explains how development should 
support an improvement in public health. It includes some general principles which 
all development would be expected to adhere to e.g. minimising adverse impacts on 
health, supporting healthy lifestyles etc. It also requires the submission of health 
impact assessments for development proposals that the city council considers would 
have the potential to have a significant adverse impact on health and wellbeing. 
Uses which could have adverse impacts on health and wellbeing are also controlled 
through this policy (hot food takeaways, off-licences, facilities that encourage 
smoking, payday lenders, betting shops and amusement arcades). Policy HH3 
supports improvements in the quality and accessibility of health and social care 
facilities, including opportunities to merge and co-locate facilities. The policy also 
includes a commitment to work with the Clinical Commissioning Group and directs 
developers to do the same in determining the health care requirements associated 
with new development. The policy requires that developments over 300 dwellings 
incorporate health care facilities where required.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP policy ST1 explains that development will be 
required to contribute towards the creation and maintenance of sustainable urban 
neighbourhoods, which would include the provision of accessible local facilities. The 
Hot Food Takeaways SPD includes policies which seek to avoid concentrations of 
hot food takeaways in town and neighbourhood centres and close to schools. 
Chapter 8 of the NPPF explains that plans should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive 
and safe places and identifies principles including supporting healthy lifestyles, 
planning positively for the use of shared spaces and services and taking an 
integrated approach to considering the location of community facilities and services.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1070



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 155 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 ?/- 0 

5-10 ?/- 0 

10+ ?/- 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 +/- 0 

5-10 +/- 0 

10+ +/- 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0   0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1071



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 156 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0   0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0   0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A provides some additional clarity as to what is expected of 
developers. Whilst the Local Plan has an important role to play in 
supporting health improvements, decisions regarding the 
investment in and the delivery of facilities will be made by the 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The commitment in 
option A to work with the CCG will assist in ensuring the capacity 
of health and social care facilities increases in line with the 
growing population and its changing needs.  
 

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city.  
 

Permanence Both options would support the delivery of permanent health 
facilities and would provide a permanent policy approach for 
considering and controlling proposals which have the potential to 
have an adverse impact on health.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

These policies would form part of a wider strategy to support 
health improvements in Salford and have a significant role to play 
in delivering the Salford Locality Plan. The policies would work 
alongside a large number of policies across the Local Plan which 
would collectively improve health through encouraging healthy 
lifestyles, promoting good mental health and reducing exposure to 
pollutants.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Salford experiences significant health inequalities and life expectancy is lower than 
the national average. Ensuring that Salford residents have good access to health 
facilities, have the opportunity to adopt healthy lifestyles and that development does 
not have considerable adverse impacts on health is therefore particularly important.  
 

Page 1072



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 157 

 

Both options would be expected to have positive impacts, by supporting improved 
health and controlling development that could have an adverse impact on health 
(objective 1). Both options would also contribute to improving the range and quality 
of healthcare facilities in the city, and both emphasise the importance of facilities 
being accessible (objective 18).   
 
Option A places some additional requirements on development including health 
impact assessments, the appropriate provision of health care facilities on sites 
subject to a masterplan/larger developments and directing developers to engage 
with the CCG in determining the healthcare requirements associated with 
development. Option A also controls the location and concentration of a wider range 
of uses that could have an adverse impact on heath. As a result of this, option A 
performs better in the appraisal against objective 1, through potentially improved 
access to healthcare.  
 
Where required under option A, health impact assessments would appraise the 
positive and negative impacts of a proposal on health and consider the local impacts 
on different groups, which would also be expected to assist in protecting 
neighbourhood amenity (objective 12).  
 
The control of a wider range of uses that could potentially have an adverse impact 
on health and wellbeing under option A could assist in improving neighbourhood 
quality (objective 12), however this could potentially constrain some local businesses 
of this nature looking to expand or relocate and also the provision of local 
employment opportunities, albeit at a small scale (objectives 14 and 15).  
 
Those developments which are subject to health impact assessments under option A 
would be required to consider the impacts on different groups, including the more 
vulnerable and most affected groups. Option A would therefore be expected to better 
promote equality (objective 19).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. Both Options would support improved health, however the 
additional requirements and actions in option A would go further to addressing the 
significant inequalities in Salford and ensuring that development in Salford supports 
an improvement in health as far as possible. Option A performs better in the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Supplementary guidance on the preparation of health impact assessments 
could assist in the implementation of policy HH2. Update the Hot Food 
Takeaways SPD to reflect the wider range of uses identified under policy 
HH2.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

Page 1073



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 158 

 

 None required, further consideration to be given to the need for new 
supplementary guidance on health impact assessments and an update of the 
existing Hot Food Takeaways SPD.  

  

Page 1074



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 159 

 

Policy HH4 Salford Royal Hospital 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy HH4 describes that the role of Salford 
Royal Hospital as a local facility and regional centre of excellence will be further 
enhanced. Development proposals for the hospital shall form part of a 
comprehensive strategy, support an increase in the use of public transport, cycling 
and walking; and minimise the negative impacts of traffic and car parking. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy ENC6 describes the modernisation and 
expansion of health care facilities at the Hospital will be permitted provided that it 
forms part of a coordinated programme; transport issues are addressed in a 
coordinated manner, there are no unacceptable impacts on amenity through for 
example traffic or parking; and is of a high design quality. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

0-5 + + 

Page 1075



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 160 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ 0/+ 0/+ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Page 1076



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 161 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The policy framework guides future proposals for the Hospital, 
many of the impacts described are therefore reliant on proposals 
coming forward that will enhance the facilities provided. 

Scale City / Regional. The Hospital provides local services but also has a 
regional role as a centre of excellence. The growth of the hospital 
therefore has the potential to contribute to economic growth and 
medical advancements at a high level, however many the impacts 
associated with that growth, including traffic generation, will be felt 
at a local level. 

Permanence The policy provides a framework to guide the future growth of the 
hospital and will be applicable to proposals as they arise. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

As a health facility and centre of excellence the growth of the 
hospital and the issues identified under both options complement a 
number of policy areas including economic growth, health; and 
accessibility.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 
As a local facility and regional centre of excellence the future growth of the hospital 
that would be encouraged under both options would have the potential to have 
impacts on a number of sustainability objectives. 
 
Enhancing the facilities available at the hospital in a comprehensive manner, as 
would be the case under both options, would be expected to have major positive 
impacts in terms of physical and mental health (Objective 1), maximising economic 
growth (Objective 14) and improving the city’s knowledge base (Objective 16). Whilst 
the potential impacts of the two options are identified as the same above, the policy 
under Option A is more promotional about the hospitals role including reference to its 
regional significance. 
 
The growth of the hospital together with the need to encourage more sustainable 
transport choices, again under both options, would also be expected to have major 
positive impacts in terms of the accessibility of facilities and opportunities both in the 
sense of medical care and the learning and employment opportunities there 
(Objective 18). Encouraging the use of sustainable modes could have positive 
impacts in terms of air quality (Objective 7), minimising contributions to climate 
change (Objective 8), and the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). There 
may however be negative local impacts on air quality (Objective 7) as a result of the 
increasing number of people potentially accessing the site. 
 
The policy under both options requires consideration to be given to issues of local 
amenity and are positive in this respect, however option A refers to ‘minimising 
impacts’ on the surrounding community and the policy under Option B refers to 
avoiding ‘unacceptable impacts’. There is therefore the potential for some negative 
impacts against Objective 12. 
 
A specific policy to manage the hospitals growth under both options is positive in 
terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20). 
 

Page 1077



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 162 

 

Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. Both Options present a similar list of considerations for the 
future growth of the hospital and the impacts from a sustainability appraisal 
perspective are similar. Option A specifically recognises the hospital’s regional 
profile and as such is perhaps more promotional about its role and potential. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable. 
  

Page 1078



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 163 

 

CHAPTER 16 ACCESSIBILITY 
 

Policy A1 Sustainable transport strategy  

 
Policy A1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan explains that significant improvements will 
be sought in the ability of people and goods to move around and through the city in 
an efficient, safe and sustainable way.  
 
The policy identifies the key components of the spatial strategy for accessibility 
which are addressed in more detail in other policies in the accessibility chapter and 
the following policies elsewhere in the plan: 
 

 AP1 City Centre 

 AP3 Salford Quays  

 H6 Housing density  

 D3 Layout and access 

 PC1 Planning obligations and conditions  
 
Many of the issues identified in revised draft local plan policy A1 are therefore 
appraised under other headings and have not been duplicated here.   
 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Having regard to the above approach, the only 
elements of policy A1 that that have been assessed under this option are as follows: 
 

 Criterion C (ii) – Prioritising access improvements to and within the major 
concentrations of employment and leisure activity with the highest priorities 
being the City Centre and MediaCityUK/Salford Quays. Other important 
priority destinations include Salford’s other town centres, Port Salford, the AJ 
Bell stadium, Trafford Park, the Trafford Centre, Manchester Airport, Logistics 
North and Bolton town centre.  

 
Option B (No Local Plan): Policy ST5 of the UDP contains some broad principles for 
maintaining and improving the city’s transport network, but does not prioritise access 
improvements to or within any part of the city. Some of the more detailed 
accessibility policies in the UDP support the improvement of transport infrastructure 
within the major concentrations of employment activity e.g. A4, A5.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the revised draft local plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
One of the representations to the Draft Local Plan suggested that the priority should 
be to link areas of high unemployment with employment areas. As the emphasis in 
A1 is to prioritise access improvements to and within major concentrations of 
employment and the policy is clear that the transport network should be inclusive 

Page 1079



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 164 

 

and accessible to all users, this is not considered to be a sufficiently distinct option 
that requires appraising.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The delivery of new transport infrastructure often has a significant lead in time, with 
the potential need to appraise and compare schemes and secure funding prior to 
construction starting. It is therefore assumed that there would be a very limited 
impact in the first five years of the plan period 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 0-5 0 0 

Page 1080



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 165 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + ?/+ 

10+ + ?/+ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A provides greater clarity by identifying the priority areas 
where improvements would be sought. However, the prioritisation 
of major transport infrastructure investments would be considered 
and determined by Transport for Greater Manchester and 
Highways England. Schemes in Salford will be considered 
alongside others in Greater Manchester having regard to existing 
capacity issues and the scale and distribution of new development. 
Some of the issues are therefore beyond the control of the local 
plan.  
 

Scale Impacts could be experienced at a neighbourhood level (through 
changes in the accessibility of some parts of the city as a result of 
the delivery of new and improved infrastructure), a city wide level 
through improving the city’s overall accessibility and people’s 
health and globally in terms of reducing emissions.  

Page 1081



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 166 

 

Effects Appraisal 

 
 

Permanence The benefits brought through the delivery of new and improved 
transport infrastructure would be expected to be experienced for 
the lifetime of the infrastructure, provided that services continue to 
operate.  
 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This element of the policy would work alongside other policies in 
the local plan which seek to improve accessibility, including those 
within the accessibility chapter and some of the area policies 
which identify more detailed proposals. It would also complement 
the Greater Manchester 2040 strategy which sets out the long-
term vision for how the transport system needs to change and 
establishes key priorities.  
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The main difference between the two options is the identification of priority locations 
for accessibility improvements in option A, which are major employment and leisure 
opportunities within and outside of Salford. Option B does not contain an overarching 
strategy of this sort, and so option A can only be compared with the broader 
principles to maintain and improve the city’s transport network in the UDP. Option B 
therefore offers less clarity in this regard and as a result there is less certainty 
around the benefits the existing policy would bring, which is reflected in how it is 
scored in the assessment.    
 
Prioritising access improvements between the key employment and leisure locations 
would capture a high volume of essential, regular trips. It would therefore be 
expected to have positive outcomes when assessed against a number of the 
sustainability objectives (1, 2, 7, 8, 9 and 12), having regard to its potential to 
encourage a modal shift through improvements to the capacity/coverage/quality of 
public transport services between these locations and addressing congestion on 
some of the city’s busiest routes through highways improvements, thereby assisting 
in reducing pollution and improving the city’s air quality. Option A is considered to 
perform better due to it being more specific about where accessibility improvements 
would be sought which provides greater clarity and may assist in securing 
improvements within and between these locations in the future.   
 
Option A also performs well when it is assessed against some of the more economic 
based objectives (14, 15, 16, 18 and 21). This is again due to the policy prioritising 
improvements to the city’s key employment locations, such as the City Centre and 
Salford Quays, thereby offering more support to the further growth and development 
of these significant economic and tourism locations and ensuring that people can 
access the various opportunities within them. This would also therefore assist in 
supporting economic inclusion and promoting equality (objectives 14 and 19).  
 

Page 1082



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 167 

 

Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as it provides clarity as to the areas of the city where 
accessibility improvements will be prioritised. It would better support the city’s wider 
vision to deliver a fairer Salford and support the economic growth of key locations 
such as the City Centre and Salford Quays.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

Not applicable.  

Page 1083



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 168 

 

Policy A2 Transport Hierarchy  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A2 requires that new developments and 
transport infrastructure schemes are designed to gives the highest priority to 
pedestrians and cyclists in the first instance and maximise the use of these modes. 
The policy emphasises the need to ensure access for emergency vehicles at all 
times and that the needs of those with impaired mobility are taken into account.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Whilst the saved UDP policies does not contain a 
transport hierarchy, it includes several policies which seek to ensure that 
development makes provision for pedestrians, cyclists and those with impaired 
mobility (policies A2, A9, DES2 and DES3).The NPPF directs development to give 
priority first to pedestrian and cycle movement and to facilitating access to public 
transport, to address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility and 
allow for access by emergency and delivery vehicles.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1084



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 169 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1085



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 170 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is very little difference between the expected outcomes of 
two options in practice, with both providing a clear indication that 
priority should be given first to pedestrian and cycle movements. 
Option A provides additional clarity by setting out the hierarchy in 
full, explaining that it should be promoted in transport infrastructure 
schemes as well as in developments and that regard should be 
had to the function of the street in its application.  

Scale For both options, impacts could be experienced at a 
neighbourhood level through the immediate physical and 
functional changes the policy could result in, city wide impact in 
terms of the impact they would have on improving overall 
accessibility and people’s health and globally in terms of reducing 
emissions.   

Permanence The policy framework would ensure the ongoing promotion of 
more sustainable and socially inclusive transport modes and 
ensure that their needs are considered and prioritised in 
development.  
  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the accessibility 
chapter of the local plan to assist in promoting a modal shift such 
that the combined effects are more significant. It would also 
complement the Greater Manchester 2040 strategy which sets out 
the long-term vision for how the transport system needs to change 
and establishes key priorities.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options are very similar, with the emphasis in both options being to ensure that 
development prioritises the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users 
in the first instance. The outcomes would therefore be expected to be generally 
positive.  
 
Both options would be expected to assist in encouraging a modal shift and therefore 
could contribute towards reducing emissions and exposure to pollution, improving 
the city’s air quality, therefore scoring positively against objectives 7, 8 and 9. In turn 
this would be expected to have a positive effect on neighbourhood quality (objective 
12) and assist in minimising the potential impacts of climate change on the city’s 
biodiversity assets (objective 2). Health benefits could also be experienced through 
increased opportunities for active travel, increased safety for the more vulnerable 

Page 1086



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 171 

 

road users and reduced risk of accidents through the consideration of the needs of 
all road users (objective 1).  
 
Both options would be expected to assist in improving access for all people to a 
range of employment, education and shopping and leisure uses and assist in 
reducing inequalities (objectives 15, 16, 18 and 19). 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as it provides greater clarity than the no plan option and is 
considered to be an appropriate, more detailed interpretation of the NPPF.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

Not applicable.  

Page 1087



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 172 

 

Policy A3 Sustainable streets  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A3 provides a strategy for delivering 
more sustainable streets, including by making streets more attractive for sustainable 
modes of travel, incorporating varied spaces, features, uses and green 
infrastructure.  
  
Option B (No Local Plan). Some of the issues covered in policy A3 are contained 
within various UDP policies and the NPPF. UDP policy DES3 (Design of public 
space) applies to streets as well as public spaces. This policy incorporates a series 
of principles to ensure spaces (and streets) are successful, requiring that they have 
a clear purpose, reflect the character of the area, are attractive, safe and connect to 
pedestrian routes and other public spaces. Policy A2 requires that adequate 
provision is made for pedestrians and cyclists in development proposals and road 
improvement schemes. The NPPF requires that development creates places that are 
safe, secure and attractive which minimise the scope for conflicts between 
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, respond to local design character and design 
standards.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

Page 1088



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 173 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

Page 1089



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 174 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options would have benefits, however option A provides 
greater clarity as to how the city’s streets should improve and 
identifies a range of measures that could assist in this, for example 
reallocation of road space, introduction of additional signage, 
crossing points and green infrastructure.  
 

Scale For both options, impacts could be experienced at a 
neighbourhood level through the immediate physical and 
functional changes the policy could result. However, both options 
could have a city wide impact in terms of the impact they would 
have on improving overall accessibility and people’s health, and 
globally in terms of reducing emissions.   
 

Permanence Both options could result in the delivery of permanent 
improvements to the city’s streets which could assist in creating 
attractive and sustainable places.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside numerous policies in the Local 
Plan which are also seeking to secure a modal shift, develop the 
city’s green infrastructure network, enhance the city’s biodiversity 
and address flood risk issues. Option A would bring together these 
issues into a single place within the plan, highlighting the 
importance of considering them in the city’s streets.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options would be expected to have positive impacts and would assist in 
enhancing the city’s townscape, local character and neighbourhood quality 
(objectives 10, 11 and 12).  
 
The main differences between the two options are that there is a much greater 
emphasis in option A on improving the overall quality of Salford’s streets and the 
experience that streets can provide as an important element of the public realm 
within which people can enjoy spending time. This results in option A performing 
better when assessed against some of the sustainability objectives. A proactive 
policy which seeks to make streets easier to navigate, more attractive and safe for 
pedestrians and cyclists more attractive would assist in promoting healthy lifestyles 
and good mental health and reducing accidents (objective 1). The contribution this 
would make towards achieving a modal shift would assist in reducing pollution and 
improving air quality and amenity for Salford residents (objectives 7, 8, 9 and 12) and 

Page 1090



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 175 

 

it would also be expected to improve accessibility (objectives 15 and 18). As is 
reflected in the assessment, option B would have some benefits with regards to 
these objectives as it seeks to improve the overall attractiveness and safety of 
streets, however as it is not as ambitious or transformational as option A, these 
would not be expected to be as significant.  
 
The safety of users features in both options, with the references being more general 
in option B, whilst option A identifies more specific measures e.g. encouraging the 
reallocation of road space, additional crossing points and uses that provide activity 
all of which would have a positive effect on people’s safety and assist in reducing 
crime and the fear of crime (objectives 1 and 13).    
 
Option A provides some additional further benefits. Incorporating green infrastructure 
into the city’s streets could assist in providing opportunities for new habitat creation 
and increasing linkages, thereby encouraging the movement of wildlife through the 
city (objective 2). The provision of spaces for rest, play and meeting could assist in 
supporting community development (objective 19) and the introduction of sustainable 
drainage features into the city’s streets could assist in minimising the risk and 
impacts of flooding (objective 6). Option A could also support the city’s economic 
growth (objective 14), through encouraging improvements to the environment in 
some of the city’s main employment areas such as the city centre, making them 
more attractive places to locate to, work or visit.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as it is considered to better support the plan’s wider objectives 
to secure a modal shift and will assist in creating attractive, sustainable and well-
functioning places where people want to live, work and visit. It helps to achieve a 
high quality of life, support economic growth, and meet the challenges of climate 
change and therefore performs better in the sustainability appraisal than option B. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 An SPD could assist in the implementation of this policy, providing further 
guidance as to how some of the opportunities can realised within the street 
environment and providing some examples of good practice.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to the need for new 
supplementary guidance. 

  

Page 1091



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 176 

 

Policy A4 Walking and cycling  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A4 seeks to increase the proportion of 
journeys made by walking and cycling through a range of measures including: 
maintaining and enhancing the network of routes and improving cycle parking 
facilities. It places requirements on development to contribute to walkable and 
cycleable neighbourhoods, connect in to the route network, comply with the 
minimum cycle parking standards and incorporate facilities for cycle hire schemes. 
This policy also controls the loss of existing public rights of way. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan). UDP saved policy A2 directs development to make 
provision for safe and convenient access for pedestrians, cyclists and those with a 
disability, and explains that these groups will afforded greater priority in highway 
improvement schemes and protects the network of routes. This policy also controls 
the loss of existing public rights of way. Minimum cycle parking standards are 
included within policy A10. The NPPF establishes higher level objectives with the 
emphasis being on developments maximising opportunities to promote walking and 
cycling, providing for high quality networks and supporting facilities and give priority 
first to pedestrian and cycle movements within development.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1092



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 177 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

Page 1093



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 178 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would provide greater clarity as it incorporates a more 
detailed set of requirements which developments would be 
required comply with. Encouraging more people to walk and cycle 
is likely to be dependent on a range of factors, and securing 
improvements to the walking and cycle network outside of Salford 
and the wider public transport network will be part of this.   
  

Scale Impacts could be experienced at a neighbourhood level through 
the immediate physical and functional changes the policy could 
result in, city wide level through improving the city’s overall 
accessibility and people’s health and globally in terms of reducing 
emissions.  
  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits through protecting 
the city’s network of walking and cycling routes. With continued 
protection and enhancement during the plan period, any benefits 
are likely to increase over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the accessibility 
chapter of the local plan to assist in promoting a modal shift such 
that the combined effects are more significant. The transport 
hierarchy (policy A2) would have a particularly important role to 
play in this regard.  
 
It would also complement the Greater Manchester 2040 strategy 
which sets out the long-term vision for how the transport system 
needs to change and establishes key priorities and the vision for 
walking and cycling for Greater Manchester as outlined in the 
‘Made to Move’ strategy (2017). 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The two options are similar, with both striving to improve accessibility for pedestrians 
and cyclists through a range of measures. Both options would therefore be expected 
to have positive impacts through promoting healthy lifestyles and good mental 
health, reducing accidents (objective 1), contributing towards achieving a modal shift 
therefore reducing pollution and improving air quality and amenity for Salford 
residents (objectives 7, 8, 9 and 12) and improving accessibility (objectives 15, 16 
and 18). 
 
Option A is however notably more ambitious in its approach, framed by a statement 
to secure a ‘significant increase in the proportion of journeys made by walking and 

Page 1094



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 179 

 

cycling.’ It identifies a much wider range of measures to encourage active travel, 
including developing the city’s waterways as routes, reallocating road space, 
introducing additional wayfinding signage and crossing points, improving cycle 
parking facilities at a range of destinations and directing developments to connect 
into the network of routes where practicable. Option A also extends the minimum 
cycle parking standards to a wider range of uses, establishes some principles for the 
design/location of cycle parking within developments and requires that developments 
incorporate facilities for cycle hire where there is demand. On this basis, option A 
performs better when assessed against some of the sustainability objectives, as it 
would be expected to make a greater contribution towards achieving a modal shift in 
the medium to long term.   
 
The more ambitious approach in Option A would also be expected to make it easier 
to walk and cycle around the city, allowing all people to live healthier lives and 
participate fully in society, and therefore better promoting equality (objective 20).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as it is considered to provide a more ambitious strategy for 
walking and cycling which would better assist in securing a modal shift in Salford and 
promoting social inclusion. It is considered to better represent the wider vision for 
walking and cycling in Greater Manchester and performs better than option B in the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Further guidance on cycle parking design could assist in the implementation 
of the policy and assist in discussions with developers. This could cover a 
range of issues including effective layouts and examples of cycle parking 
types that would be appropriate in different locations.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to the need for new 
supplementary guidance. 

  

Page 1095



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 180 

 

Policy A5 Public Transport  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Major improvements in the city’s public 
transport will be sought through this policy through enhancements to network 
capacity, service integration and the passenger experience. It also identifies key 
priorities including the extension of the Metrolink to various locations, the 
development of new and improved transport interchanges, the continued 
improvement of the city’s railway stations and lines and the further expansion of 
rapid transit routes across the city.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan). The saved UDP policies (A3, A4 and A5) identify a range 
of opportunities to enhance the city’s public transport network, including investigating 
the potential to extend Metrolink to various locations, improving the city’s rail 
stations, delivering new railway stations, introducing bus priority measures, 
improving the quality of bus services and facilities and requiring that development 
makes provision for access to and the use of buses. Some of these schemes have 
already been implemented and some remain under consideration by Transport for 
Greater Manchester and others are not currently being considered.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Comments received to the Draft Local Plan consultation 
suggested alternative public transport proposals, and whilst individual schemes 
could impact on parts of the city differently, it is not considered to represent a 
sufficiently distinct option that requires appraising. In addition to this, it is noted that 
the identification and prioritisation of major transport infrastructure investments such 
as those suggested in the comments would be considered and determined by 
Transport for Greater Manchester, having regard to existing capacity issues and the 
scale and distribution of new development. 
 

 
Assessment of options 
 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 +/- 0/+ 

5-10 +/- + 

10+ +/- + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 0/- 0/- 

Page 1096



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 181 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

5-10 0/- 0/- 

10+ 0/- 0/- 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0/- 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

19) To improve community cohesion 
0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

Page 1097



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 182 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0/+ 0/+ 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The prioritisation of major transport infrastructure investments 
would be considered and determined by Transport for Greater 
Manchester. Schemes in Salford will be considered alongside 
others in Greater Manchester having regard to existing capacity 
issues and the scale and distribution of new development. Some 
of the issues are beyond the control of the local plan for example 
changes to service frequency/coverage/timing/cost.  
 

Scale Impacts could be experienced at a neighbourhood level (through 
changes in the accessibility of some parts of the city as a result of 
the delivery of new and improved infrastructure), a city wide level 
through improving the city’s overall accessibility and people’s 
health and globally in terms of reducing emissions.  
 

Permanence The benefits brought through the delivery of new and improved 
transport infrastructure would be expected to be experienced for 
the lifetime of the infrastructure, provided that services continue to 
operate.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the accessibility 
chapter of the local plan to assist in promoting a modal shift such 
that the combined effects are more significant. It would also 
complement the Greater Manchester 2040 strategy which sets out 
the long-term vision for how the transport system needs to change 
and establishes key priorities. 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The two options have the same broad objectives, to develop and enhance Salford’s 
public transport network, through improving the network coverage and the quality of 
services and facilities. Some of the more specific ways this will be achieved are 
common to both options, for example the continued improvement of the city’s railway 
stations.  
 

Page 1098



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 183 

 

There is a greater emphasis on service integration and interchange in option A, and 
this option also identifies the need to reduce emissions associated with public 
transport, highlighting the electrification of the city’s rail lines and the use of low and 
zero emission vehicles as ways of achieving this.  
 
With regards to the identified schemes, option A reflects the public transport 
infrastructure schemes currently under consideration at the sub-regional level. The 
different public transport proposals in the two options, could if implemented improve 
the accessibility of and therefore have positive effects on different parts of the city, 
but the overall impact of both options would be broadly similar. However, the notable 
difference is that option A identifies more opportunities to improve the connectivity of 
City Centre Salford and its linkages with Salford Quays and Manchester (e.g. 
extensions to Metrolink, the development of Salford Crescent Station into a major 
rail/Metrolink/bus interchange etc), thereby offering more support to the further 
growth and development of these significant economic locations (objective 14).  
 
In the assessment, both options would be expected to have positive impacts through 
the contribution they would make to achieving a modal shift by reducing exposure to 
pollution and improving air quality, as well as improving amenity and accessibility for 
Salford residents to employment and other facilities (objectives 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, 12, 15, 
16 and 18). In supporting proposals that would reduce emissions associated with 
public transport, Option A would be expected to perform slightly better against some 
of these objectives.  
 
It is considered that benefits associated with both options would be likely to increase 
over time as service improvements take place and schemes are implemented. 
 
The land requirements associated with the delivery of some new infrastructure could 
have negative impacts (objective 4), and the increased use of the waterways for 
passenger transport services could have a negative impact on water quality and 
wildlife in and around the waterways (objectives 2 and 5), however other policies in 
the plan would be expected to mitigate this.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A performs better in the sustainability appraisal and reflects the public 
transport infrastructure schemes currently under consideration.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The policy could be expanded to explain that developments would be 
expected to facilitate access to public transport infrastructure, make provision 
for infrastructure such as bus stops and make good any deficiencies in 
services (similar to the requirements in UDP policy A5).  
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 No change made to the policy issue is addressed by other policies (A2, A4 
and PC1).   

Page 1099



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 184 

 

  

Page 1100



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 185 

 

Policy A6 Sustainable movement of freight  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A6 identifies a range of measures to 
encourage the sustainable movement of freight in Salford including the increased 
use of the Manchester Ship Canal, the protection of wharves along it and the 
development of Port Salford. The policy also supports the development of urban 
distribution centres that reduce vehicle movements and utilise zero carbon last mile 
delivery.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan). The UDP policy ST5 seeks to protect and enhance rail 
and water based infrastructure to support the movement of freight and policy E1 
allocates the strategic regional site at Barton (Port Salford) for freight movement. 
Policy A13 on freight transport was not saved beyond June 2009. The NPPF 
contains broad principles directing development to allow for the efficient delivery of 
goods.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. No further options were proposed through the previous 
stages of consultation.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 +/- +/- 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 - 0/- 

5-10 - 0/- 

10+ - 0/- 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 
0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

Page 1101



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 186 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ ++ + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Page 1102



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 187 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Advances in technology and efficiency in freight movement may 
generate changing infrastructure requirements over the plan 
period which could affect the implementation of this policy.  
 
The clear guidance in option A with regards to the role or the 
Manchester Ship Canal and the sites along it is considered to be 
positive in providing direction and therefore certainty.   
  

Scale As the policy approach affects the use and function of the 
Manchester Ship Canal, the impact would be experienced across 
the sub-region of Greater Manchester and beyond, and globally in 
terms of reducing emissions.  
 

Permanence Option A would afford permanent protection to the existing 
wharves along the Manchester Ship Canal.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Promoting the sustainable movement of freight forms part of a 
much wider strategy to deliver improvements in the ability of 
people and goods to move around the city in an efficient and 
sustainable way, such that the combined effects of the various 
policies in the accessibility chapter would be more significant. It 
would also complement the Greater Manchester 2040 strategy 
which sets out the long-term vision for how the transport system 
needs to change and establishes key priorities. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Options A and B are similar in what they are trying to achieve and would both 
support the sustainable movement of freight resulting in generally positive effects. 
However, option A is more proactive and ambitious, supporting the development of 
more innovative freight solutions, positively encouraging the increased use of the 
Manchester Ship Canal and preventing the loss of wharves along it that could 
contribute to its greater use. For these reasons, option A performs better in the 
assessment as it would be more effective in reducing pollution and improving the 
city’s air quality and therefore have a more positive effect on people’s health and the 
amenity of Salford residents (objectives 1, 7, 8, 9, and 12).  
 
Both options are considered to make a more positive contribution to the city’s 
economic growth (objective 14), through supporting the development of Port Salford, 
and in the case of option A encouraging the development of innovative freight 
transport solutions that can assist in supporting existing businesses and making 
Salford a more attractive place for businesses to invest in.   
 
Development can have a major impact on the water environment, and the increased 
use of the Manchester Ship Canal for freight movements and the development of 
sites adjacent to it for uses that would increase its freight movement could have 
potential negative impacts on water quality and any wildlife habitats within and close 

Page 1103



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 188 

 

to it. However, it is considered that other policies within the local plan (WA2 
Delivering the North West River Basin Management Plan, BG3 Development and 
Biodiversity and PH1 Pollution control) would provide sufficient controls and ensure 
that any adverse impacts are adequately mitigated.    
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests that 
similar outcomes would be experienced, however the benefits would be greater in 
option A and it also provides greater clarity with regards to the city council’s 
priorities.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1104



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 189 

 

Policy A7 Highway network  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A7 seeks to ensure the efficient, effective 
and safe operation of the city’s highway network and identifies key priorities for 
investment in it. Rather than listing individual schemes or proposals, the policy 
identifies broader priorities focussed on addressing the key challenges, including 
improving the capacity, performance and connectivity of the motorway network, 
addressing congestion on the key route network and improving the capacity and 
connectivity of the highway network at Salford Quays. The policy would also place 
some controls over new road links in Salford, to ensure that there would be no 
unacceptable impacts on Salford’s highway network or the amenity of residents.   
 
Option B (No Local Plan). The UDP saved policy A9 details specific highway 
proposals, some of which have already been implemented. The policy identifies the 
potential to deliver an additional crossing over the Manchester Ship Canal at 
Cadishead and a link road between the A57 and M62. Major development proposals 
are being considered in this area through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework and therefore the context for these areas has changed. Infrastructure 
solutions continue to be considered more widely through this process and through 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study. Option B would therefore 
effectively be relying on the broad principles in the NPPF, which promotes the use of 
sustainable transport modes, requires that all developments generating significant 
amounts of movement are accompanied by a travel plan and transport assessment 
and explains that development would be refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual, cumulative impacts on 
the road network would be severe. The NPPF also requires that the environmental 
impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure are identified, assessed and taken into 
account, including appropriate opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any adverse 
effects and for net environmental gains.        
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. A further option would be a policy which details specific 
highways infrastructure proposals, and some schemes were suggested through the 
comments on the Draft Local Plan, including motorway enhancements and schemes 
to improve the permeability of Cadishead. As discussed above, the North West 
Quadrant Study is considering a range of infrastructure solutions within a wider 
context and therefore, at this stage, it is not considered that an option detailing 
specific schemes represents a reasonable alternative.  

Assessment of options 
 
The delivery of new transport infrastructure often has a significant lead in time, with 
the potential need to appraise and compare schemes and secure funding prior to 
construction starting. It is therefore assumed that there would be very limited impact 
in the first five years of the plan period 

Page 1105



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 190 

 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 

10+ + +/0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

Page 1106



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 191 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The prioritisation of major highways infrastructure improvements 
will be considered at the Greater Manchester level and through the 
North West Quadrant Study. There is therefore uncertainty with 
regards to delivery of infrastructure to support the identified 
priorities in option A, both in terms of the nature of the solutions 
and timing of their delivery.  
 

Scale The impact would be city wide however the benefits associated 
with the continued safe operation of the city’s highway network 
would extend much more widely across the sub-region of Greater 
Manchester and beyond, and globally in terms of reducing 
emissions.  
 

Permanence Both options would provide a policy framework for the 
consideration of highways infrastructure schemes, which could 
support the delivery of highway infrastructure providing permanent 
benefits. Further changes to the city’s infrastructure network may 
be required in the future to ensure benefits continue to be 
experienced, and this could be influenced by factors such as travel 
habits, the location and nature of development in the long term 
and advances in technology.  
 

Page 1107



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 192 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy will work alongside other policies in the local plan which 
seek to reduce the need to travel and encourage a modal shift, 
which will all have an important role to play in ensuring the safe 
and efficient operation of the city’s highways alongside this policy.   
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Overall, option A is considered to perform the best and would have positive 
outcomes when assessed against a number of the sustainability objectives (1, 2, 7, 
8, 9 and 12), having regard to its potential to assist in reducing pollution and 
improving the city’s air quality. Option A is considered to perform better due to it 
being more specific in identifying the key priorities for investment in Salford’s 
highway network, which are focussed on improving capacity and addressing 
congestion on some of the city’s key routes, many of which are located within the air 
quality management area. Identifying these priorities provides greater clarity and 
may assist in securing improvements on these parts of the highway network in the 
future.   
 
The requirement in both options to assess the transport impacts of development 
proposals, refuse proposals where impacts are severe and carefully consider the 
impact of transport infrastructure schemes should minimise any negative impacts. In 
both options, there is also an emphasis on infrastructure securing environmental 
improvements, and option A identifies this specifically in the consideration of 
measures to enhance the motorway network.  
 
Option A also performs well when it is assessed against some the more economic 
based objectives (15, 16, 18 and 21), again due to the policy identifying key priorities 
for future investment. Ensuring the successful functioning of Salford’s key routes will 
be vital in ensuring that people can access opportunities and supporting area’s 
economic success. Salford Quays has a significant role as one of the primary office 
locations in Greater Manchester and a tourism, leisure and education destination, 
with considerable potential for further expansion. A policy which seeks to improve its 
connectivity and the capacity of the highway network around it could therefore assist 
in improving access to this substantial concentration of employment, education and 
leisure uses and assist in bringing more visitors to the city.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A has been chosen as it identifies the key priorities future investment in 
Salford’s highway network, whilst retaining flexibility for the most appropriate 
solutions to be worked up. It also performs better when appraised against the 
sustainability objectives.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Consider whether all of the key priorities for investment in the city’s highway 
network should seek to maximise improvements to the city’s environment 

Page 1108



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 193 

 

particularly with regards to air and noise pollution, rather than just those on 
the motorway network. 
     

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 
The emphasis of the policy was changed in relation to the above point to ensure that 

the requirements in the policy in relation to maximising improvements to the city’s 

environment apply to all highway schemes not just those on the motorway network.  

Page 1109



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 194 

 

Policy A8 Motor vehicle parking provision and drop off points in new 

developments  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). The policy includes maximum car parking 
standards, minimum car parking standards for disabled people and motorcycles and 
requires that provision is made for drop off points, taxi ranks and car clubs. This 
option involves the application of two different sets of car parking standards, one for 
the city centre/Salford Quays/Ordsall Waterfront/town centres and another set of 
standards for the rest of Salford.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan). The Unitary Development Plan saved policy A10 includes 
maximum car parking standards, minimum car parking standards for disabled people 
and motorcycles, but for a narrower range of uses. The NPPF does not include 
parking standards, but provides some principles for local authorities to follow in 
setting their own parking standards. In assessing the effects of option B, it is 
assumed that the UDP standards would continue to be applied.  
 
Option C. The Draft Local Plan (November 2016) did not include maximum car 
parking standards and provided a criteria based approach for determining how much 
parking should be provided in new developments. Minimum standards for disabled 
people and motorcycles were included in this policy.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C represents the approach which was proposed 
through Draft Local Plan. In response to the Draft Local Plan consultation, some 
concerns were expressed in relation to some of the proposed site allocations 
regarding existing problems of on street parking. The introduction of minimum car 
parking standards, which may provide a solution to these concerns, is not 
considered to be a reasonable alternative as it would not promote the use of 
sustainable travel modes.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all options there would be very limited impact in the first five years 
of the plan period.  
 
 
 

 
Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1110



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 195 

 

 
Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + 0/+ 

10+ + + 0/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

Page 1111



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 196 

 

 
Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

10+ 0 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option C could result in more or less car parking being provided 
within developments than options A and B which include maximum 
car parking standards, there is therefore less certainty around the 
sustainability effects. Option A would provide the most certainty 
due to the level of detail included in the maximum car parking 
standards, both in terms of the wider range of uses it covers and 
the introduction of more detailed, area based standards.       
 

Scale City wide 

Permanence All of the Options would set a permanent policy approach to the 
provision of parking within the city.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the accessibility 
chapter of the local plan to assist in promoting a modal shift, 
securing improvements in the city’s public transport network and 
ensuring the safe and efficient operation of the city’s highway 
network, such that the combined effects are more significant. 

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
All three options would result in positive sustainability outcomes, with all seeking to 
control the amount of car parking within developments, so as not to discourage the 
use of more sustainable modes of travel. There are subtle differences between some 
elements of the options, and so in many cases they score the same when assessed 
against the sustainability objectives.  
 

Page 1112



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 197 

 

Options A and B scored positively against several of the sustainability objectives. 
The application of maximum car parking standards would assist in improving health 
(objective 1) and air quality (objective 7), minimising contributions to climate change 
(objective 8), minimising the use of non-renewable resources (objective 9), by 
supporting a modal shift and encouraging public transport use, thereby reducing 
exposure to pollutants.  
 
Although there are differences between the maximum car parking standards 
included within options A and B, the difference in the sustainability effects is 
considered to be fairly modest. Option A would provide maximum car parking 
standards for a wider range of development types (and therefore provide greater 
certainty). The area based standards in option A would allow less car parking in 
some locations than the UDP maximum standards in option B would permit, and the 
overall development strategy in the local plan indicates that these locations would 
accommodate a very large proportion of the city’s development, hence the 
sustainability benefits could be more significant. In other locations, the standards in 
option A would allow for slightly more parking than the maximum UDP standards 
would permit. Option A may also perform slightly better against some of these 
objectives through being clear that lower levels of car parking would be acceptable in 
highly sustainable locations. Options A and C both require that appropriate provision 
is made for vehicle drop-off, taxis and car club bays within development, which could 
assist in ensuring the safe functioning of development and also help to support 
increased sustainable travel habits.   
 
Option C performs slightly less well against objectives 1, 7, 8 and 9, as it provides 
greater flexibility around the amount of car parking which could be provided within 
development, and therefore the effects are less certain/clear.  
 
The maximum standards in A and B could assist in enhancing the townscape and 
neighbourhood quality (objectives 11 and 12), by ensuring that development does 
not provide excessive car parking, which could dominate the streetscene and result 
in poor quality design solutions, for example a four car harstanding in front of a large 
dwelling. Again, option C would be expected to perform positively, however the 
effects are less clear. On-street parking within residential areas can compromise 
residential amenity, however controls in place within all options should ensure that 
parking provision does not lead to unacceptable impacts. 
 
All options would assist in reducing crime and the fear of crime (objective 13) 
through requirements which dictate that the design and layout of car parking should 
promote safety and security for all users.  
 
Securing the provision of car parking for disabled people and motorcycle parking in 
all three options would have positive effects in terms of promoting equality and 
accessibility to jobs, education and other facilities (objectives 15, 16, 18 and 19).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected as a detailed set of parking standards covering a wider range of 
development types is considered to provide greater clarity and certainty to 
developers. The introduction of area based maximum car parking standards will 

Page 1113



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 198 

 

enable parking provision to better reflect the differing accessibility levels across the 
city and is therefore a preferred approach above continuing with city wide standards.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Further guidance on car parking design could assist in the implementation of 
the policy and improve the accessibility and safety for all users. This could 
cover a range of issues including effective layouts, space size, safety and 
security measures, landscaping etc.   

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, consideration to be given to the need for supplementary 
guidance. 

  

Page 1114



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 199 

 

Policy A9 City Centre Car Parking  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A9 seeks to take a coordinated approach 
to car parking within the city centre area, including reducing the amount of land used 
for car parking, particularly within the inner ring road and controlling proposals for 
surface and public car parking, with the emphasis on meeting short-stay parking 
needs to a support the attractiveness of the city centre.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy A11 (Provision of long stay commuter 
car parks). This policy has similar aims to A9 of the Revised Draft Local Plan: to 
make more efficient use of land within the city centre through the control of surface 
car parking.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. No further options were suggested through the 
representations on the Draft Local Plan.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

Page 1115



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 200 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + 0/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Page 1116



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 201 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
be similar overall, however option A provides a greater degree of 
guidance, by explaining what the city council is trying to achieve in 
this part of the city (i.e. reducing the amount of land used for car 
parking) and sets out the expectations with regards to any parking 
proposals which come forward. Whilst it therefore provides greater 
clarity, the implementation of the policy and the change of use of 
land will be reliant on developers bringing forward development 
proposals.  
  

Scale The most significant impacts will be on a neighbourhood level, 
however wider impacts could be experienced across the city 
centre.  

Permanence Both options would set a permanent policy approach towards the 
provision of surface car parking within the city centre.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy would form part of a much wider strategy to strengthen 
the city centre (both in Salford and Manchester), as the most 
significant economic location outside of London. Various policies 
within Salford’s local plan would make a contribution to this. The 
implementation of the policy will be influenced and supported by 
the work of others, and it will be necessary to work closely with a 
range of partners in taking a coordinated approach to car parking 
across the city centre.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Whilst the two options are comparable, there are differences between them, most 
notable are the clear aims within the policy in option A to reduce surface car parking 
and that emphasis should be on meeting short stay parking needs to support the 
success of the city centre. This more ambitious and proactive strategy in option A 
means that it scores better against a number of sustainability objectives. 
 
Option A would more effectively deliver 1, 7, 8, 9, by encouraging a modal shift and 
public transport use, thereby reducing exposure to pollutants and potentially also 
reducing the risk of accidents.  
 
Large areas of surface car parking do not generally provide an attractive 
environment or backdrop for development. Option A in particular has the potential to 
enhance the city’s townscape and the setting of some of the city’s heritage assets (of 
which there are many within the city centre) as well as improve the quality of some of 
the city’s central neighbourhoods and the crime/fear of crime within them (objectives 
10, 11 and 12) by encouraging the replacement of areas of car parking with 
animated development. The positive outcomes would be dependent on the quality 
and design of the development which replaces the car parking and other policies in 
the local plan should ensure this.  
 

Page 1117



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 202 

 

Reducing the amount of land for car parking within the city centre (option A) could 
also assist in bringing forward further development opportunities, and in doing so 
support the city’s economy, improve access to employment and leisure opportunities 
and contribute towards meeting housing and employment needs (objectives 14, 15, 
16, 17 and 18). Securing the development of short stay parking to support the 
attractiveness of the city centre could also assist in delivering some of these 
objectives. In this high profile location, reducing the amount of surface car parking 
could have an important role to play in providing a positive image of the city 
(objective 21).    
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. This provides a more ambitious and clear strategy and 
performs better against the sustainability objectives.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
 
  

Page 1118



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 203 

 

Policy A10 Park and Ride  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A10 sets out the circumstances where 
proposals for park and ride schemes would be supported and where the 
redevelopment of existing park and ride facilities would be permitted.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Policy A7 park and ride of the Unitary Development Plan 
was not saved beyond June 2009, and the only reference to this in the saved 
policies is in policy A4, which explains that park and ride facilities may be appropriate 
as part of the refurbishment of the city’s railway stations. The NPPF does not provide 
any specific guidance with regards to park and ride. The Greater Manchester 2040 
Strategy includes a commitment to work with partners to identify expanded/additional 
park and ride provision.   
 
Option C: Identify sites for park and ride facilities and allocate in the local plan.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C reflects an approach which was previously 
considered through the local plan and suggested through the representations. Draft 
Local Plan policy EC4/1 and Draft GMSF policy WG3 included a requirement to 
incorporate a park and ride facility within the proposed extension to Port Salford, 
although this is no longer proposed to be a requirement of the policy. One of the 
representations to the Draft Local Plan suggested that further parking should be 
provided at Irlam Station.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The delivery of new transport infrastructure often has a significant lead in time, with 
the potential need to appraise and compare schemes and secure funding prior to 
construction starting. It is therefore assumed that there would be very limited impact 
in the first five years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 + 

10+ + +/0 + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1119



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 204 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

5-10 0 0 0/- 

10+ 0 0 0/- 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 + 

10+ + +/0 + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 + 

10+ + +/0 + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 + 

10+ + +/0 + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0/- 

10+ 0 0 0/- 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ + 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ + 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 

10+ + + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ + 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + +/0 + 

10+ + +/0 + 

19) To improve community cohesion 
0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

Page 1120



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 205 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

10+ 0 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Whilst all options could result in the delivery of park and ride 
facilities, option C would provide the greatest certainty in terms of 
potential effects through the allocation of specific sites. Option A 
would provide some by setting out the issues that would need to 
be considered in assessing sites in the future, however the 
locations of suitable sites and therefore local impacts would 
remain unknown.   
 
The prioritisation of major public transport infrastructure would be 
considered by Transport for Greater Manchester and determined 
at a Greater Manchester, and there is therefore limited certainty 
around the delivery of infrastructure and whether sites in Salford 
represent the best location.   
 

Scale For both options, impacts could be experienced at a 
neighbourhood level as a result of developments taking place on 
specific sites. However, all options could have a city wide impact in 
terms of the impact they would have on improving overall 
accessibility and people’s health, and globally in terms of reducing 
emissions.   
 

Permanence All options could result in the delivery of permanent park and ride 
sites.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the accessibility 
chapter of the local plan to assist in promoting a modal shift, 
securing improvements in the city’s public transport network and 
ensuring the safe and efficient operation of the city’s highway 
network, such that the combined effects are more significant. It 
would also complement the Greater Manchester 2040 strategy 
which sets out the long-term vision for how the transport system 
needs to change and establishes key priorities.  

 

 
 

Page 1121



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 206 

 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
All options would assist in improving health (objective 1) and air quality (objective 7), 
minimising contributions to climate change (objective 8), minimising the use of non-
renewable resources (objective 9), by supporting a modal shift and encouraging 
public transport use, thereby reducing exposure to pollutants and potentially also 
reducing the risk of accidents. Options A and C generally perform better against the 
above objectives, with option A clearly defining the circumstances where the 
development and loss park and ride facilities would be acceptable, which includes 
ensuring that new facilities would contribute to a reduction in traffic levels and would 
not result in an unacceptable level of congestion, and option C involving the 
identification of sites (which it is assumed in order to be allocated within a 
development plan would have been assessed against a set of criteria comparable to 
those in the revised draft local plan policy).  
 
All options could enhance economic inclusion by improving physical access to 
employment opportunities (objective 15). An effective transport network can assist in 
retaining a healthy labour market (objective 16) and the delivery of park and ride 
facilities can make a positive contribution towards this.  
 
Further benefits associated with option A include the potential to reduce crime and 
fear of crime (objective 13) (the policy stipulates that schemes must provide users 
with a high standard of vehicle security and personal safety), and assisting in 
meeting housing and supporting economic growth (objectives 14 and 17) by 
ensuring that the delivery of park and ride sites does not represent an inefficient use 
of land in an accessible location which could accommodate high levels of 
development.  
 
The allocation of park and ride sites in option C could have negative effects if it 
results in the development of greenfield or grade 1 agricultural land (objective 4) as 
was proposed in Draft Local Plan policy EC4/1. This may be likely given the 
emphasis on park and ride sites intercepting cars before they get on to congested 
roads, suggesting that locations on the outer edges of the city would be most 
appropriate. As park and ride schemes involve large areas of surface car parking, 
allocating sites could also have negative effects on the character of the townscape 
and landscape (objective 11) if not carefully designed and located. Whilst options A 
and B could eventually result in the same outcome, as neither option involves 
allocation, both options have been identified as having neutral effects.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is considered appropriate, as it has the potential to broaden transport 
choices, whilst ensuring that the impacts of any park and ride proposals in Salford 
are carefully considered. It allows for the consideration of park and ride schemes at a 
Greater Manchester level, as part of a broad range of possible options to improve 
connectivity.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

Page 1122



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 207 

 

 None  
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 
Not applicable  

Page 1123



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 208 

 

Policy A11 Electric vehicle charging points 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy A11 encourages the development of an 
electric vehicle charging network across Salford and Greater Manchester and 
includes specific requirements for the provision of electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure for residential dwellings with a driveway/garage, residential 
developments with shared parking areas and non-residential developments.  
 
Option B (No local plan): The saved Unitary Development Plan policies do not 
provide any requirements or guidance with regards to electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure, and therefore this option relies on the National Planning Policy 
Framework, which includes a more general requirement for development to be 
designed to enable the charging of electric and other low emission vehicles 
(paragraph 110).  
  
Option C: This option represents a more flexible policy approach, as proposed in the 
Draft Local Plan (November 2016). It includes requirements for the provision of 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure for residential dwellings with a 
driveway/garage but not for residential developments with shared parking or non-
residential developments. Instead, provision for electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure within this type of development would be determined through a 
transport assessment.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C represents a more flexible approach as proposed 
in the previous version of the local plan. A number of the representations received to 
the previous consultation suggested that the policy should be made even more 
flexible, however this is not considered to represent a sufficiently distinct option that 
requires appraising.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 0/+ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1124



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 209 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 0/+ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 0/+ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 0/+ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0/- 0 0 

10+ 0/- 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10  0/- 0 0 

10+ 0/- 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 0/+ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 0/+ 

Page 1125



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 210 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

10+ + 0/+ 0/+ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A would provide the greatest degree of certainty as it 
places specific requirements on a wider range of development 
types. Option B provides the least certainty, leaving all 
negotiations regarding the provision of infrastructure to the 
planning application stage. For all options, certainty around the 
impact would depend on the advancement in electric vehicle 
technology, wider development of the charging network and 
improvements in affordability, all of which would influence the take 
up of electric vehicles. 
 

Scale Whilst all of the options would have a city wide impact, they have 
the potential to contribute to improving air quality more widely 
across the sub-region of Greater Manchester and reducing 
emissions globally.  
 

Permanence All options would deliver permanent benefits through the delivery 
of electric vehicle charging infrastructure, provided that electric 
vehicles continue to be the most appropriate solution to reducing 
reliance on petrol and diesel vehicles and technology does not 
advance such that the infrastructure becomes redundant.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The overall development strategy in the local plan and other local 
plan policies relating to green infrastructure, air quality, energy, 
accessibility would collectively have a positive effect on the 
achievement of some of the sustainability objectives relating to 
climate change, air quality and health.  
 
There is the potential that widespread electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure could encourage car use overall, those that might 
otherwise avoid car use being attracted by the relative 
sustainability of the mode. It is important to recognise however that 
whilst a more sustainable option, the use of electric vehicles still 

Page 1126



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 211 

 

Effects Appraisal 

has impacts on resource use and air quality through contributions 
to road congestion, electricity demand/generation and particulates 
from tyre and brake use/degradation. 
 
Securing the delivery of charging infrastructure in Salford would 
support the delivery of a wider network of charging infrastructure 
across Greater Manchester, making the electric vehicle a more 
accessible form of travel. Option A should deliver more electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure and therefore would make a more 
significant contribution in this regard.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of electric vehicle charging points is important in encouraging the take 
up of electric vehicles within Salford, without which Salford residents would continue 
to continue to suffer the negative effects of petrol and diesel engines for longer. All 
options could result in the delivery of electric vehicle charging infrastructure and 
therefore scored positively against a range of sustainability appraisal objectives, 
particularly 1 and 7 which seek to improve people’s health and the city’s air quality. 
All options would assist in climate change mitigation by helping to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions, however it is important to recognise that the use of 
electric cars is not without its own environmental costs. All options scored positively 
for the contribution they would make to enhancing amenity, improving 
neighbourhood quality based on expected reductions in pollution and through 
ensuring that future residents have the opportunity to charge an electric vehicle at 
their home. Arguably without this, neighbourhood quality could be compromised, 
given the expectation that electric vehicles are expected to become mainstream over 
the coming years.  
 
Whilst all options score positively with regards to the above sustainability objectives, 
option A provides clarity and certainty as to what would be provided in new 
developments and therefore scores the highest. Around 74% of the city’s housing 
supply comprises apartments, therefore option A which incorporates requirements 
for residential developments with shared parking would ensure that a much larger 
number of residents have access to an electric vehicle charge point at their home.  
 
There are some potential negative effects associated with option A, but which could 
potentially also be incurred with options B and C. The most significant being that the 
increased provision of electric vehicle charging points across the city could have 
negative impacts on the townscape and could be damaging to attractive visual and 
historic environments.  
 
For all options it is unlikely that positive impacts would be experienced until at least 
year five, due to the fact that the majority of development delivered during the first 
five years of the plan already has planning permission.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 

Page 1127



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 212 

 

Option A is the preferred option as it provides more certainty in terms of the benefits 
it delivers as shown in the sustainability appraisal, it also better delivers the 
objectives of the Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Guidance could be provided regarding the layout/positioning of electric vehicle 
charge points within developments so as to ensure any negative impacts on 
the townscape are minimised and their usage is maximised.   

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to the need for 
supplementary guidance. 

  

Page 1128



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 213 

 

Policy A12 Barton Aerodrome  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy A12 would protect and improve Barton 
Aerodrome as a general aviation facility, and restrict development that would have 
an unacceptable impact on its operational integrity, safety or heritage value. The 
policy also includes a requirement that planning applications for certain types of 
development within identified safeguarding zones are subject to consultation with the 
aerodrome operators.  
   
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP policy A14 is seeks to retain and protect 
Barton Aerodrome as a general aviation facility, which is very similar to Draft Local 
Plan (November 2016) policy A11. The main differences between these policies and 
the Revised Draft Local Plan being the emphasis in the Revised Draft Local Plan on 
improving the aerodrome and the introduction of safeguarding zones for the 
aerodrome. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
In its representations on the Draft Local Plan, Peel Holdings considered that the 
policy should be more positively worded to support its improvement as a key asset, 
and suggested that the policy should be worded to support in principle development 
that enhances its aviation role or overall viability. Peel suggested that future 
investment at the airport may involve a new/realigned runway, additional built 
facilities and car parking, enhanced passenger/tourism/leisure/education facilities 
and landscaping, which would be considered and brought forward through an 
investment plan. Peel Holdings also suggested that the policy should be amended to 
reflect the airport’s potential to be used as a major events location. Option A 
recognises the airport’s potential to increase its contribution to economic growth and 
is positively worded to encourage its improvement (whilst balancing safety and 
heritage considerations), and therefore Peel’s representation and the more specific 
points within it are considered to represent a sufficiently distinct option that requires 
appraising.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0/- 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

Page 1129



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 214 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0/- 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0/- 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0/- 0 

5-10 0/- 0 

10+ 0/- 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + 0/+ 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 + 0/+ 

Page 1130



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 215 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + 0/+ 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Whilst both options score positively against objective 1, the 
introduction of safeguarding zones in option A provides greater 
clarity and certainty by defining the circumstances where 
development would require prior consultation with the aerodrome 
operator. Option A supports the improvement of the aerodrome, 
which may increase its usage and have negative effects on 
biodiversity (an SBI is located within the boundary of the 
aerodrome), amenity and air quality. It is however considered that 
any negative effects would be mitigated through other policies in 
the plan. The negative effects are uncertain and would be 
dependent on the nature and extent of the increased use.  
  

Scale Both options would have an impact at a neighbourhood level by 
protecting, managing development of and improving the 
aerodrome, and at a city wide level having regard to the wider 
interest in and use of the aerodrome as part of the city’s tourism, 
leisure and heritage offer.  
 

Permanence Both options would ensure the ongoing protection of the airport as 
a general aviation facility.   
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The approach to protect the aerodrome as a general aviation 
facility will work alongside other policies in the plan which seek to 
protect and enhance the city’s heritage assets. Barton Aerodrome 
is a unique aviation landscape containing a number of the 
country’s ‘firsts’ (e.g. designated runways, civil aviation aircraft 
hangar etc) and it is identified within the heritage chapter as an 
area where change will need to be carefully managed.   
 

 
Appraisal summary 

Page 1131



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 216 

 

 
Both options have similar sustainability implications, and would result in a range of 
positive effects. Notable are the positive effects both options would have on 
improving physical and mental health (objective 1), which would be achieved through 
the controls regarding aerodrome’s operational integrity and safety (in both options) 
and through the introduction of safeguarding zones (in option A), thereby reducing 
accidents and the risk of accidents. Option A performs slightly better due to the 
certainty it provides around consultation requirements within the safeguarding zones, 
however both options have been scored the same against this objective.  
 
Both options are clear that development would not be permitted that would have an 
unacceptable impact on the aerodrome’s heritage value, and this would assist in 
protecting and enhancing the city’s heritage assets (objective 10) and enable their 
continued appreciation and enjoyment. Improving the aerodrome (supported by 
option A) could assist in better revealing the significance of the heritage assets 
through for example physical improvements to listed buildings and their surroundings 
and opportunities for interpretation.   
 
There are some objectives where option A performs better than option B (14, 18 and 
21), and this is due to option A supporting improvements to the aerodrome which 
could result in increased economic benefits, improved recreation/leisure based 
transport facilities and opportunities and potentially increased visitors to the city.  
 
There is potential for some negative effects to be experienced if the improvement of 
the aerodrome results in the intensification of its use. Increased or extended levels of 
activity within the aerodrome could result in additional noise/light pollution, increased 
traffic and cause potential harm to site of biological importance located within the site 
(Foxhill Glen). The potential for negative effects associated with 2, 7, 8 and 12 is 
therefore highlighted in the assessment, however it is considered that other policies 
in the local plan would provide appropriate mitigation.         
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected, as it continues to afford protection to the aerodrome whilst 
providing some support for its improvement, which could deliver local economic, 
heritage and recreation benefits.        
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The policy could make reference to development avoiding having an adverse 
impact on the nature conservation value of the Foxhill Glen site of biological 
importance (SBI) which is located within the site.  
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 No change to the policy made, the issue is addressed by other policies within 
the local plan (BG3).   

  

Page 1132



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 217 

 

Policy A13 Protection of aviation safety at Manchester Airport  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy A13 would not permit development that 
would have an unacceptable impact on the operational integrity or safety of 
Manchester Airport. Safeguarding zones are identified on the policies map, within 
which certain types of development (including wind turbines, development likely to 
attract birds, development connected with aviation use and buildings and structures 
above 90m) would require prior consultation with Manchester Airport.  
   
Option B (No Local Plan). The Revised Draft Local Plan policy described in option A 
has been carried forward with very few amendments from the saved Unitary 
Development Plan (policy DEV7) and therefore option B is essentially the same as 
option A.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. In submitting representations to the Draft Local Plan 
consultation, the Manchester Airport Group (MAG) indicated that the safeguarding 
zones should not be shown on the policies map as they were subject to review and 
may change. More recently, MAG has requested that the zones are shown on the 
policies map, suggesting that there is no indication they will change. Having regard 
to the more recent views of MAG, it is not considered that there any further options 
to appraise.   
 
Assessment of options 
 
Both options are identical and therefore score the same throughout the assessment.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0/- 0/- 

5-10 0/- 0/- 

10+ 0/- 0/- 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1133



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 218 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0/- 0/- 

5-10 0/- 0/- 

10+ 0/- 0/- 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 0-5 + + 

Page 1134



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 219 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The requirement that certain types of development within Salford 
must be subject to prior consultation with Manchester Airport 
should ensure the above positive impacts are realised. Some 
uncertain effects are identified, associated with the type of 
development in Salford that would require consultation with 
Manchester Airport i.e. wind turbines and development likely to 
attract birds (for example nature reserves, bird sanctuaries, tree 
planting etc). This requirement could result in proposals in Salford, 
which could bring benefits such as enhancing the city’s biodiversity 
value or increasing the use of renewable resources, being refused.  
  

Scale The impact would be city wide however the benefits associated 
with the continued safe operation of the airport would extend much 
more widely across the sub-region of Greater Manchester and 
beyond.  
 

Permanence Both options would provide a permanent policy approach for 
considering the implications of development in Salford on 
Manchester Airport until such time as the plan is reviewed or the 
city council is notified that the safeguarding zones have changed,  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the local plan to 
enable Salford residents and businesses to continue to take 
advantage of the benefits and opportunities Manchester Airport 
brings, for example, policies which seek to improve access to the 
airport.   
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options are identical and therefore score the same throughout the assessment.  
 
Manchester Airport is the UK’s main international gateway outside of London, and is 
extremely important for Greater Manchester, the wider north of England and 
midlands. Its continued growth and development remains a priority for Greater 
Manchester.  
 
Both options would ensure that development in Salford does not compromise the 
operational integrity or safety of Manchester Airport and that for certain types of 
development in Salford, consultation is undertaken with the airport. The control this 

Page 1135



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 220 

 

policy provides would generate positive benefits in terms of the sustainability 
objective to improve physical and mental health, by reducing accidents and the risk 
of accidents.  
 
The airport has a very important role within Greater Manchester both in terms of 
enabling people to access international opportunities and boosting tourism and the 
area’s competitiveness. Policies which would contribute towards maintaining its 
continued safe operation as an international gateway would therefore bring positive 
benefits by supporting economic growth, connecting people with opportunities and 
bringing visitors to Salford and the wider sub-region.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected, however both options are the same. This approach is 
considered appropriate as it ensures that development in Salford does not 
compromise the operational safety of Manchester Airport.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 
Not applicable  

Page 1136



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 221 

 

Policy A14 Safeguarding potential transport routes  

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy A14 safeguards the city’s former railway 
lines from development that would be likely to prevent their future reuse as transport 
routes and seeks to ensure pedestrian and cycle access along these routes is 
retained where practicable.  
   
Option B (No Local Plan). The Revised Draft Local Plan policy described in option A 
has been carried forward with very few amendments from the saved Unitary 
Development Plan (policy A15) and therefore option B is essentially the same as 
option A.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. No alternative options were suggested through the 
consultation on the Draft Local Plan.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The delivery of new transport infrastructure often has a significant lead in time, with 
the potential need to appraise and compare schemes and secure funding prior to 
construction starting. It is therefore assumed that for both options there would be 
very limited impact in the first five years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 0-5 0 0 

Page 1137



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 222 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

Page 1138



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 223 

 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty For both options, the degree of certainty regarding the effects 
would be dependent on whether proposals come forward to reuse 
the former railway lines as transport routes in the future and if so 
what type of transport routes they would accommodate (i.e. all 
traffic road, rapid transit bus route, Metrolink line etc). Whilst the 
policy encourages the use of these lines for public transport, it is 
not a requirement and there is therefore uncertainty around the 
nature of their future use.  
 

Scale For both options, impacts could be experienced at a 
neighbourhood level through the immediate physical and 
functional changes the policy could result in if the former railway 
lines were reused as transport routes. However, both options 
could have a city wide impact in terms of the impact they would 
have on improving overall accessibility and people’s health, and 
globally in terms of reducing emissions.   
 

Permanence The policy would afford permanent protection to these routes from 
development that would be likely to prevent their future reuse as 
transport routes until such time as the local plan policy is reviewed. 
Both options could deliver permanent benefits if new transport 
infrastructure is successfully delivered, and provided that any 
services along it are maintained.  
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy would work alongside other policies in the accessibility 
chapter of the local plan to assist in promoting a modal shift, 
securing improvements in the city’s public transport network and 
ensuring the safe and efficient operation of the city’s highway 
network, such that the effects are more significant. Safeguarding 
potential transport routes in Salford could contribute towards 
improving connectivity across Greater Manchester and better 
integrate some parts of Salford into the wider transport network. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Both options are identical and therefore score the same throughout the assessment.  
 
The protection of former railway lines has the potential to encourage a modal shift 
towards more sustainable modes of travel (if the lines are used for public transport 
as the policy encourages). This could potentially improve the city’s air quality and 
people’s health through reducing pollutants, and could assist in climate change 
mitigation by helping to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, if these routes are used 
for public transport. As the policy requires that pedestrian and cycle access along 
these routes would be retained where practicable, it is assumed that some health 
benefits associated with this would generally continue to be experienced. However, 

Page 1139



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 224 

 

even if pedestrian and cycle access is retained, introducing transport routes along 
the former railway lines may change their nature such that some people no longer 
choose to use them for recreation, meaning they no longer function as effectively in 
terms of promoting healthy lifestyles.   
 
Both options would have both positive and negative effects on amenity, the positives 
being the improvements to neighbourhood quality that the delivery of new transport 
routes could bring, for example reducing congestion on existing transport routes 
and/or introducing new public transport services to improve accessibility. There could 
be negative effects associated with the loss of these routes exclusively for walking 
and cycling i.e. the loss of tranquil, off road recreation routes which may be an 
important feature in neighbourhoods. Both options could improve access to jobs and 
other facilities for more parts of the city if the policy results in the delivery of new 
public transport routes.  
 
There are some potential negative effects associated with both options. The former 
railway lines are generally treed along their boundaries providing opportunities for 
the movement of wildlife and some of the lines run through sites of biological 
importance and conservation areas. If the lines become transport routes, some 
punctuation of treelines may be required which could result in habitat fragmentation 
and alterations to these routes could have negative impacts on the townscape and 
could be damaging to attractive visual and historic environments and local identity.  
Other policies in the local plan would assist in ensuring that any proposals for the 
reuse of the railways lines as transport routes consider issues such as biodiversity, 
heritage and design, and ensures that the needs of all users are taken into account 
through the application of the transport hierarchy.  

 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected, however both options are the same. This approach is 
considered appropriate as it has the potential to broaden transport choices whilst 
delivering sustainability benefits, and provides flexibility for a range of solutions to be 
considered.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 The policy could be tightened to specify that future reuse should be for public 
transport routes, rather than general transport routes which could potentially 
include all traffic roads. This could improve how the policy performs against a 
number of the sustainability objectives relating to health, air quality and 
accessibility, and provide a greater degree of certainty.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 
Not change has been made to the policy as a result of the above suggested 

mitigation. The existing policy wording provides flexibility for the consideration of a 

range of options to be considered in the long term.  

Page 1140



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 225 

 

CHAPTER 17 DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

Chapter 17 Digital Infrastructure 

 
Policy D1 Digital Infrastructure and Policy D2 Protecting Digital Infrastructure 
 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) The Digital Infrastructure chapter supports the 
rollout and improvement of affordable, high speed, high capacity digital 
infrastructure. The chapter includes requirements for new development in terms of 
integrating digital infrastructure and building in potential for Building Information 
Modelling. It identifies a series of requirements for new telecommunications 
development including in relation to size, design and location. Its requirements also 
cover non-ionising radiation protection and interference with other communication 
equipment, Air Traffic Control and other equipment operated in the national interest. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP Policy DEV1 does not include specific 
requirements for new development in terms of integrating digital infrastructure but 
does identify a range of considerations for new telecommunications development. 
Chapter 10 of the NPPF supports the expansion of electronic communications 
networks. It encourages the shared use of existing equipment and, as Option A, 
includes requirements relating to non-ionising radiation protection and interference. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1141



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 226 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1142



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 227 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The benefits of a high quality digital network are dependent on 
take up and utilisation of the connections available. 

Scale City.  

Permanence The permanence of any impacts will relate to the resilience of the 
network provided. The requirements in Option A in respect of 
installing shared ducting, full fibre connections and building in 
potential for building information modelling, could go some way to 
future proof the city’s digital infrastructure. 
 
Over time, as technologies advance, telecommunications 
equipment in the city will be upgraded/ replaced. The 
considerations around the design and location of new 
telecommunications development under both options could be 
applied to new proposals as they arise.    

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy will work alongside others relating to the development 
of high quality mixed-use development within central parts of the 
city. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The expansion and improvement of digital infrastructure within the city has the 
potential to contribute to a number of sustainability objectives. 
 
High quality digital infrastructure will be critical in support of economic growth 
(Objective 14), particularly in City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, but also across 
the city. Both options therefore score positively in this regard, however Option A has 
the potential for a greater contribution to this objective by encouraging the highest 
quality connections in the City Centre and Salford Quays, and including measures 
that seek to provide flexibility and future proof new development with full fibre 
connections, ducting and building in potential for Building Information Modelling. 
 
Digital connections support remote working and, with increasing numbers of services 
available online, the support given to an expanded network under both options has 
the potential to reduce the need to travel, contributing positively to Objectives 7, 8 
and 9 in respect of air quality, contributions to climate change and minimising the 
use of non-renewable resources. Similarly the connections provided could have a 

Page 1143



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 228 

 

positive impact in terms of physical and mental health by supporting social inclusion 
(Objective 1), economic inclusion (Objective 15), the accessibility of facilities and 
opportunities (Objective 18) and involvement in decision making (Objective 20). It is 
possible however that the availability of high speed connections could also have 
some negative indirect impacts in terms of physical and mental health by 
discouraging physical activity / social engagement.  
 
The specific requirement to avoid flood risk areas under Option A is positive from a 
resilience perspective and therefore the option scores positively in terms of 
minimising the risk and impacts of flooding (Objective 6). 
 
There is the potential under both options for some conflicts between the 
communications equipment required to provide a high quality network and the city’s 
townscapes/landscapes and heritage assets. However both Options require that 
consideration is given to related issues, including supporting the sharing of existing 
equipment, and therefore a negative / neutral impact has been identified in relation to 
Objectives 10 (To protect, enhance, and enable the appreciation of, the city’s 
heritage) and 11 (To maintain and enhance the quality and character of landscape 
and townscape).  
 
The requirements under Option A to incorporate full fibre, shared ducting and 
potential for building information modelling mean that it scores more positively in 
terms of providing a good home that meets peoples need (Objective 17). 
 
Digital connections are an important element of a modern city and their 
availability/quality will contribute to people’s perceptions of the city (Objective 21).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. A network of high quality digital connections would be provided 
under both Options, however Option A gives specific prioritisation to key locations in 
the city and promotes resilience both in relation to flood risk and seeks to future 
proof installed infrastructure.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1144



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 229 

 

CHAPTER 18 ENERGY 
 

Chapter 18 Energy 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). The energy chapter contains two policies. 
Policy EG1 sets out an energy hierarchy for all new development to follow. It 
requires that residential schemes exceed the fabric energy efficiency required under 
the Building Regulations by at least 19% and that non-residential development of at 
least 1000 square metres achieves a standard of at least BREEAM very good. Policy 
EG2 sets out that a positive approach will be taken to renewable and low carbon 
energy schemes, with details provided for solar, wind (identifying potentially suitable 
areas on the policies map), hydropower and district heating networks. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP Policy EN21 states that planning permission 
will be granted for renewable energy provided that the impact on environmental 
quality and amenity does not outweigh the benefits. Policy EN22 requires that 
developments of more than 100 dwellings or 5000 square metres of floorspace 
minimise the use of non-renewable resources and give full consideration to the use 
of realistic renewable energy options. The NPPF (paragraphs 150-154) set out 
requirements in relation to energy efficiency and renewable and low carbon energy. 
These include a requirement that new development should be planned for in ways 
that can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through location, 
orientation and design. Community-led initiatives for renewable and low carbon 
energy should be supported by local planning authorities (paragraph 152). 
Applications for renewable and low carbon development should be approved if the 
impacts are acceptable. The exception to this is wind energy development, where 
proposals for one or more turbines should not be considered acceptable unless it is 
in an area identified as suitable for wind energy development in the development 
plan; and following consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts 
identified by the affected local community have been fully addressed and the 
proposal has their backing (paragraph 154).  
 
Option A contains a clear energy hierarchy which is not included within option B. 
Option A also represents a more detailed and supportive approach for renewable 
and low carbon energy than option B. Significantly more energy efficient buildings 
and renewable energy schemes are likely to come forward under option A than 
option B. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Page 1145



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 230 

 

Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ - 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

Page 1146



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 231 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty It is not known what means developers will take to implement the 
requirements of policy EG1, which reduces the certainty of the 
impacts. There is a low level of certainty as to what renewable 
energy schemes will come forward, particularly as such schemes 
are still heavily influenced by financial incentives and other 
aspects of central government policy, which has tended to change 
rapidly in this area in recent years. 

Scale City-wide 

Permanence Measures which are built into development to reduce energy 
demand and maximise energy efficiency under policy EG1 will 
generally last for the lifetime of the development. Renewable 
energy measures tend to have a shorter lifespan. Solar panels and 
wind turbines are expected to last 20-30 years, although 
hydropower installations are expected to last significantly longer 
than that with appropriate maintenance. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

There are synergies with Salford’s Climate Change Strategy 
(2010) and the Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy 
(2011). 
Because this chapter directly addresses climate change issues, a 
number of indirect effects have been recorded in relation to 
reducing the impact of climate change. These indirect impacts 

Page 1147



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 232 

 

Effects Appraisal 

have been given weight within the scoring because although 
climate change needs to be addressed at a global level, it will 
primarily be through the accumulation of small scale changes that 
climate change can be mitigated. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The impacts of both options are largely similar, but are more pronounced under 
option A as that is the stronger policy framework. Notably, Option A identifies all 
parts of the city as being potentially suitable for wind turbine development, except for 
Chat Moss. A large number of minor negative impacts have been recorded, but 
these are generally adequately mitigated by other chapters of the Local Plan and/or 
within this chapter. 
 
Both options score positively against health (objective 1) as they would minimise the 
health impacts of a changing climate and reduce fuel poverty by designing housing 
that does not require excessive energy for heating and/or cooling. Option A would 
have a particularly positive impact in this regard due to the requirement to exceed 
Building Regulations. Similarly, both options would have positive impacts (very 
positive in the case of option A) in relation to climate change (objective 8) and non-
renewable resources (objective 9). 
 
In relation to a number of objectives both positive and negative impacts have been 
recorded. This is because whilst there may be some negative direct impacts of the 
options, there will be positive impacts through reducing climate change. This applies 
to biodiversity (objective 2), water resources (objective 4), economic growth 
(objective 14) and housing (objective 17). All of these issues could be negatively 
impacted by this chapter but in the long term climate change represents a far greater 
threat and it is therefore in the long term interests of these objectives to address 
climate change. In relation to biodiversity and water resources there is already 
significant mitigation for any negative impacts contained within Policy EG2 as it 
relates to hydropower. Further mitigation, should it be required, is contained within 
the biodiversity and water chapters of the Local Plan. In relation to economic growth 
and housing the potential additional costs to construction are balanced by the 
support that these policies give to a growth sector, the increased security of energy 
supply, reduced energy bills and increased comfort for residents, even in the 
medium term, as well as increased resilience to climate change in the long term. 
 
A number of Salford’s geodiversity features which are potentially of interest 
(objective 3) are located within and around watercourses. There is therefore the 
potential for negative impacts arising from hydropower schemes. It may be 
appropriate for some additional mitigation to be included within Policy EG2, or 
possibly a cross reference to policy BG4 which protects geodiversity. 
 
In relation to soil (objective 4) the decommissioning clause in Policy EG2 provides a 
significant amount of protection for soil and land resources. Although a negative 
impact has been recorded against this objective, it is anticipated that the negative 

Page 1148



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 233 

 

impacts would be very minor and there is already sufficient mitigation within the 
policy. Similarly in relation to air quality (objective 7), there are potential impacts from 
district heating networks but there is adequate mitigation already contained within 
Policy EG2. 
 
There would be possible negative impacts on heritage assets (objective 10) and 
landscape/townscape (objective 11) from some forms of renewable and low carbon 
energy, although mitigation is contained within the heritage and design chapters of 
the Local Plan. There are also potential negative impacts on amenity, but there is 
adequate mitigation for this contained within the design chapter of the Local Plan, as 
well as within policy EG2. 
 
There is some support for local decision making (objective 20) in relation to wind 
energy. This is the case for both options as the requirements for the local community 
to be satisfied are contained within the NPPF. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A has been selected as this is the option with the most positive impacts due 
to being the stronger policy framework. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Possible cross reference to BG4 or reference to geodiversity within policy 
EG2 

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 No change made to the policy wording, issues of geodiversity are covered by 
policy BG4, a cross-reference is not considered necessary. 

 

  

Page 1149



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 234 

 

CHAPTER 19 WATER 
 

Policy WA1 Water Strategy 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy WA1 sets out a comprehensive, 
integrated and strategic approach to water resources and flooding issues within 
Salford and the wider catchment. Key aspects of the strategy include reducing flood 
risk where practicable through careful design and location of new developments but 
in a way still enables the City Centre and Salford Quays to make a major contribution 
to economic growth and deprived neighbourhoods to be successfully regenerated. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP policy EN18 requires development to have no 
unacceptable impact on water quality, level or flow and policy EN19 requires that 
development must not be subject to an unacceptable risk of flooding, materially 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere or result in an unacceptable maintenance 
liability. The NPPF requires that development does not create unacceptable water 
pollution and improves local environmental conditions wherever possible (paragraph 
170). The NPPF (paragraph 155) also states that inappropriate development in 
areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from 
areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in 
such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing 
flood risk elsewhere. Paragraph 158 requires that development should not be 
allocated or permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the 
proposed development in areas with a lower risk of flooding. Under Option B there 
would thus be some basic protection against flood risk and water pollution, but the 
proactive, positive elements of option A would be absent. 
 
Option C (direct development out of flood risk areas) This approach would prioritise 
flood risk over other considerations in determining the allocation of development, 
resulting in less development in central Salford, particularly in Lower Broughton. The 
approach to water supply, quality and treatment would be the same as option A. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C represents an alternative approach to tackling the 
challenge of flood risk within Salford. 
 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Page 1150



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 235 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 - 

5-10 + + - 

10+ ++ + +/- 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ + + +/- 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ ? 0 ? 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + + - 

10+ + + - 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 + + + 

5-10 + + + 

10+ ++ + ++ 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + 0 + 

5-10 + + ++ 

10+ ++ + ++ 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ + 0 + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 - 

10+ + 0 - - 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? - 

10+ ? ? - - 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? - 

10+ ? ? - - 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ + 0 + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 - - - 

10+ - - - - - - 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 - 

5-10 + + - 

10+ ++ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 - 

5-10 + + - 

10+ ++ ++ - - 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1151



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 236 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? - 

10+ ? ? - - 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? ? - 

10+ ? ? - - 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 - 

5-10 0 0 - 

10+ +/- 0 - - 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 ? 0 ? 

10+ ? 0 ? 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ + 0 ? 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There are a number of different elements to this policy, which in 
some cases may have contrasting impacts so it is difficult to be 
certain about what the overall impact of the policy will be. Some 
aspects of the policy are relatively straightforward and there is a 
high degree of certainty about how they will be delivered. Other 
aspects, such as the relocation of highly vulnerable uses are more 
complex and there is much less certainty about delivery and what 
the impacts will be. 

Scale Impacts are largely city-wide, although will be particularly marked 
within flood risk areas. For some environmental objectives such as 
biodiversity and flood risk, some impacts will be felt at a catchment 
scale. 

Permanence Long term, although climate change may start to reduce the 
positive impacts. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The greatest positive impacts will be realised through the benefits 
of multifunctional green infrastructure. 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Option A would result in a large number of positive impacts, and the impacts of 
option B would be similar though less pronounced. Option C would result in some 
areas of the city not being regenerated and development being relocated to other 
parts of the city, including greenfield sites. As a result, a large number of negative 

Page 1152



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 237 

 

and major negative impacts have been recorded against option C, including for: soil 
and land resources (objective 4); non-renewable resources (objective 9); heritage 
(objective 10); landscape/townscape (objective 11); economic inclusion (objective 
15); housing (objective 17); accessibility (objective 18) and community cohesion 
(objective 19). 
 
All three options would result in positive impacts on water resources (objective 5) 
and flood risk management (objective 6). These impacts would be particularly 
positive under both options A and C. Options A and C would also have a positive 
impact on amenity through the benefits of green infrastructure (required by bullet 11 
of the policy). 
 
For both options A and B there would be positive impacts on health (objective 1) 
through a number of mechanisms, including reduced risk from flooding, reduced 
anxiety about flooding and greater encourage to healthy lifestyles through a more 
attractive environment. There would also be positive health impacts under option C 
through reduced flood risk and increased green infrastructure. However, these would 
be outweighed for many years (possibly decades) by the negative impacts 
(particularly on mental health) of disrupting and displacing communities.  
 
In terms of biodiversity (objective 2), the biggest difference is that option C would 
lead to greater need for greenfield development on the edge of the city which would 
lead to biodiversity loss in at least the short to medium term, although this could to 
some extent be compensated for in the long term by an increase in biodiversity 
within the flood risk areas. Options A and B would have a positive impact on 
biodiversity by reducing the need for greenfield development. In addition, Options A 
and C would have a small positive impact at a catchment scale through the efficient 
use of water resources reducing impacts of water abstraction and by helping to 
implement the North West River Basin Management Plan. 
 
Options A and C involve ensuring that water resources are used efficiently which 
would minimise the need for water treatment, which is an energy intensive process. 
Therefore, both of these options would have a positive impact on mitigating climate 
change (objective 8). This is also a consideration in terms of minimising the use of 
non-renewable resources (objective 9), but is dwarfed by the potential impacts on 
resource use of having to abandon existing development in the city under option C. 
 
All the options are likely to have a negative impact on crime (objective 13). It is 
difficult to address flood risk without losing some passive surveillance. Raised floor 
levels (likely under both options A and B) can be particularly problematic if there are 
no active uses remaining at ground floor level. However, an approach which does 
not allow deprived neighbourhoods to be successfully regenerated (option C) would 
also be likely to have a negative impact on levels of both actual and perceived crime. 
 
Protecting homes and businesses from flood risk would have a positive impact on 
economic growth, particularly in the long term (objective 14). However, there would 
be likely to be short term negative impacts arising from uncertainty under option C. 
 
The impact on community cohesion under option A would be mixed. The flood 
management aspects of the policy may have negative impacts where hard defences 

Page 1153



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 238 

 

or sacrificial ground floors are created. The aspects of this policy that encourage 
green infrastructure may however have positive impacts. The impact of option C on 
community cohesion would be very negative due to the disruption to communities.  
 
None of the options currently include anything which has an impact on involvement 
with decision-making. However, given that aspects of this policy involve potentially 
relocating some highly vulnerable uses, it will be particularly important to involve 
those directly affected. It may be appropriate to include some wording to this effect 
within the policy as mitigation. 
 
Option A would result in the most positive impacts and the least negative impacts. 
Option C would result in the most negative impacts. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the selected option. It will result in the best balance of flood risk against 
other considerations and the best spread of positive impacts. In contrast, option C 
would result in major negative impacts. Option B would be a missed opportunity to 
proactively manage flooding and water issues and would not meet our obligations 
under the River Basin Management Plan. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 It may be appropriate to include some wording within the policy or supporting 
text to make it clear that affected communities should be involved in decisions 
regarding the relocation of highly vulnerable uses. 

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 No change proposed to the policy wording, issue is addressed by Policy F1 
(an inclusive development process). 

  

Page 1154



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 239 

 

Policy WA2 Delivering the Water Framework Directive 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): Policy WA2 encourages development to 
contribute towards achieving good overall status for water bodies both within and 
beyond Salford under the Water Framework Directive. It also requires that 
development should not result in a reduction in overall status of any water body. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): The saved Unitary Development Plan policies do not refer 
specifically to the Water Framework Directive, although saved policy EN18 requires 
that there are no unacceptable impacts on water quality. The NPPF similarly requires 
that development does not create unacceptable water pollution and improves local 
environmental conditions wherever possible (paragraph 170). 
 
Option C (rely on generic water quality policy): This was the approach taken in the 
November 2016 Draft Local Plan, which contained a generic policy on protecting and 
enhancing Salford’s water bodies, but had no specific reference to the Water 
Framework Directive in the policy and only brief reference to it in the reasoned 
justification.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Option C represents the approach of the previous draft of the 
Local Plan, which included a policy on water quality but had little focus on the Water 
Framework Directive. The city council received a number of representations in 
response to the November 2016 Draft Local Plan to the effect that more emphasis 
should be placed on the Water Framework Directive. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 + 

10+ + 0 + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + 0 0 

5-10 + 0 + 

10+ ++ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 + 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ ++ + + 

0-5 0 0 0 

Page 1155



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 240 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

5-10 + 0 0 

10+ ++ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 + + + 

5-10 ++ ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ ++ 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 +/- 0 +/- 

10+ +/- 0 +/- 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ + 0 + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ +/- 0 +/- 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 +/- 0 +/- 

10+ +/- 0 +/- 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 + 

10+ + 0 + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 + 

10+ + + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ ? 0 ? 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ + + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ - 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ - 0 - 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ -/+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 
0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

Page 1156



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 241 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C 

10+ + 0 + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 + 

10+ ++ + ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major 
negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is limited certainty as to what measures will be taken to 
implement this policy. However, implementation will be through a 
number of different routes including water industry investment; 
housing and economic development; specific river restoration 
schemes by the public, private or voluntary sector. There is 
therefore a reasonable level of confidence that some measures 
will be taken and the impacts identified will be realised. Confidence 
is greatest for option A as that is the strongest policy, followed by 
option C and then option B. 
 
The River Basin Management Plan originates as the way in which 
the European Water Framework Directive is implemented. 
However, leaving the EU is not expected to have an impact on this 
policy in the short term as the requirements of EU environmental 
law will be retained in UK legislation. 

Scale The impacts of this policy will be greatest within Salford but will 
also be felt across the wider Irwell and Mersey catchments. 
Impacts will be strongest in proximity to watercourses. 

Permanence Some changes arising from this policy would be very long term 
such as changes to the physical environment in and around 
watercourses and the design of drainage systems. Some aspects 
of the policy such as the control of polluting activities would only 
last so long as there was an appropriate policy or legislation in 
place. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

This policy will work in combination with policies on green 
infrastructure (particularly GI1, GI2 and GI4); biodiversity (BG1) 
and walking and cycling (A4) to improve the waterways through 
the city for both people and wildlife. The extent to which the wider 
benefits of green infrastructure are achieved will depend on how 
developers choose to comply with this policy when developing 
riverside sites. 
 
 
 

Page 1157



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 242 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Possible slight negative impact on numbers of housing provided 
though positive impact on living environments 
 

 
[Focus on overall issues and key differences between options] 
 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The general pattern of impacts is similar across all three options but is strongest for 
option A which is the strongest policy, followed by option C and then option B which 
is significantly weaker than the other two options. In general, the impacts of options 
A and C are positive, with few impacts being identified for option B. 
 
This policy performs particularly well against environmental objectives (notably 2,3,4 
and 5). It also performs well against a number of other objectives (1, 11, 12, 13 and 
21), although to some extent realising these benefits is dependent upon good quality 
green infrastructure improvements forming part of the implementation of this policy. 
For example, if developers and agencies only do the minimum required to meet this 
policy, the impact on community cohesion is likely to be negligible. However, good 
practice river restoration projects (such as the one on the River Medlock in 
Manchester) provide opportunities for community involvement as well as creating a 
more attractive environment. Some sustainability objectives, such as reducing crime 
and the fear of crime (objective 13), are particularly dependent on developments 
being well designed. Policy GI2 sets out detailed requirements for developments to 
deliver improvements to Salford’s green infrastructure network and this provides 
adequate mitigation. It may be appropriate to cross reference policy GI2 within this 
policy. 
 
For a number of sustainability objectives both positive and negative impacts have 
been recorded. The relationship with flooding (objective 6), for example, is complex. 
Removing culverts and restoring more natural river channels could be expected to 
reduce flooding in some locations but increase it in others. The River Irwell, for 
example is heavily modified through much of Salford and it is understood that some 
of the walls alongside the river perform an important flood defence function. 
Similarly, there may be conflict in some locations between preserving Salford’s 
industrial heritage and restoring watercourses. 
 
Another example where both positive and negative impacts have been recorded is 
accessibility (objective 18). Implementation of this policy would be likely to improve 
accessibility to green space and make better use of the city’s waterways for walking 
and cycling routes. However, limiting the culverting of watercourses could place 
restrictions on other forms of transport infrastructure. 
 
Some limited negative impacts have been recorded against options A and C based 
on some restrictions on the amount of built development that could be 
accommodated adjacent to the river. These impacts are however expected to be 
very small in the context of the city as a whole and are off-set by more general 
economic benefits of creating a more attractive environment. 

Page 1158



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 243 

 

 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the selected option. Neither Option B nor Option C would the same level 
of positive impacts. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Consider cross reference to policy GI2. 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Issues adequately covered by Policy GI2, cross reference not considered 
necessary. 

  

Page 1159



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 244 

 

Policy WA3 Water supply and water efficiency 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy WA3 protects key pieces of water supply 
infrastructure from development which could compromise their physical integrity or 
effective maintenance. It also encourages the incorporation of water efficiency and 
water recycling measures in new development. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP policy EN18 requires that there is no 
unacceptable impact on the quality, level or flow or surface or groundwater. There 
are no policies directly protecting the Thirlmere Aqueduct or West East Link Main, 
nor are there any policies directly encouraging water efficiency. The NPPF 
(paragraph 149) requires that plans should plan proactively for the implications of 
climate change on water supply and should make sufficient provision for water 
supply infrastructure (paragraph 20). There are however no direct requirements for 
individual planning applications regarding these matters within the NPPF. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 ++ 0 

10+ ++ - 

0-5 0 0 

Page 1160



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 245 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 
0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1161



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 246 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is a high degree of certainty that the existing water supply 
pipelines will be protected. There is much less certainty that the 
benefits of greater water efficiency and water recycling will be 
realised, as this aspect of the policy does not contain such strong 
wording.  

Scale The impacts of this policy will be felt throughout the United Utilities’ 
Integrated Resource Zone, which covers most of northwest 
England and also takes water from reservoirs in Wales. The 
biodiversity benefits will mostly not be within Salford but rather in 
the areas from which water is sourced, which includes sensitive 
lake and river systems in Cumbria. 

Permanence The benefits of water efficiency and water recycling measures will 
last for the lifetime of the development or relevant fittings. Climate 
change may increase the strain on water resources within the 
lifetime of the development. Protection of the pipelines will last for 
the duration of the plan. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Impacts on water resources in the north west will be influenced by 
water use across the region and not just within Salford. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Option A would ensure that water supply infrastructure within Salford is protected for 
the lifetime of the plan. Under option B there would be much less certainty of 
protection for these important assets, possibly leading to a negative impact on water 
resources. 
 
There is much less certainty about the impacts of option A relating to water efficiency 
and water recycling, as this aspect of the policy is not worded as strongly. However, 
it is expected that over the lifetime of the plan this policy would result in greater 
protection and enhancement of water resources than under option B. This would not 
only help to safeguard water resources and dependent habitats but also would also 
help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions through reduced water treatment. As the 
wording of the policy is the development is “encouraged” to minimise water use, 
there should be no negative impacts on the delivery of housing and economic 
development, as the policy would not place an unreasonable burden upon 
developers. 
 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 

Page 1162



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 247 

 

Option A has been chosen as the most sustainable option, protecting important 
water resources and helping to reduce future pressure on water resources. 
 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1163



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 248 

 

Policy WA4 Flood-related infrastructure 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy WA4 protects flood-related infrastructure 
in Salford and sets out that the opportunities for further flood mitigation will be 
sought. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) The main difference between options A and B is that option 
B does not commit the city council to working proactively to identify further 
opportunities to reduce flood risk. Some protection would be provided for flood-
related infrastructure through the provisions of the Flood and Water Management Act 
2010. Paragraph 20 of the NPPF requires that plans should set out strategic policies 
for flood management infrastructure. It also provides (paragraph 34) for plans to set 
out developer contributions required for flood management infrastructure and 
requires (paragraph 157) that plans should safeguard land from development that is 
required, or likely to be required, for current or future flood management. Saved UDP 
policy EN20 safeguarded land at Castle Irwell and Kersal Dale for a Flood Control 
Scheme, which has now been completed in a modified form at Castle Irwell. The 
focus is on this scheme and not on further measures upstream. The UDP does not 
provide explicit protection for existing flood related infrastructure but such protection 
would be largely provided by the requirement within saved policy EN19 that 
development must not be subject to an unacceptable risk of flooding nor materially 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 ? 0 

5-10 ? 0 

10+ ? 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 ? 0 

5-10 ? 0 

10+ ? 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 
0-5 ? 0 

5-10 ? 0 

Page 1164



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 249 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ ? 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 ? + 

5-10 ? + 

10+ ? + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 ? + 

5-10 ? + 

10+ ? + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 ? 0 

5-10 ? 0 

10+ ? 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 ? 0 

5-10 ? 0 

10+ ? 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1165



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 250 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is a high degree of certainty that existing flood infrastructure 
would be protected under both options. There is therefore a high 
degree of certainty that some of the positive impacts identified will 
be realised. 
However, there is a low degree of certainty about any further flood 
mitigation works, either within Salford or upstream to protect 
Salford, under both options and therefore some of the major 
positive impacts are uncertain. 
 

Scale Within the areas of the city at risk of flooding, particularly from the 
River Irwell. 

Permanence Long term, although benefits of defences may be reduced by 
climate change. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

If flood defences allow further intensification of development in 
Lower Broughton and other areas at risk within the city, this could 
provide many secondary benefits such as minimising the net loss 
of greenfield land, housing provision, economic inclusion and 
accessibility. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Flooding has a devastating impact on people and property when it occurs. Therefore, 
protection of flood mitigation measures and further improvements in flood mitigation 
will have a number of positive impacts on a range of social, economic and 
environmental objectives.  
 
The protection of existing flood mitigation measures would be strong under both 
options, as the provisions of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 offer 
significant protection to flood risk management assets. 
 
The main benefit of option A is that it commits to seeking further improvements to 
flood mitigation, both within Salford and further upstream. If further improvements 
are achieved, there would be significant positive impacts on a range of indicators. 
However, there is currently no mechanism identified for implementing further 
improvements and there is therefore a low degree of certainty regarding the impacts 
of this aspect of the policy. 
 
Uncertain impacts have been recorded against a number of objectives for option A 
because it depends on the measures taken to provide flood risk mitigation. For 

Page 1166



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 251 

 

example, community cohesion (objective 19) could be benefitted by a well-designed 
scheme which involved the local community, such as happened at the Kersal 
Wetlands within the Castle Irwell flood basin. Some flood management infrastructure 
could however have a negative impact on community cohesion. Similarly for heritage 
(objective 10) and landscape/townscape (objective 11), a reduced risk of flooding 
would be a positive impact but poorly designed infrastructure could have negative 
impacts. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the chosen option as it would provide the most positive impacts. Option B 
would not adequately address future flood risk which is a major challenge for Salford. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 
Not applicable  

Page 1167



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 252 

 

Policy WA5 Development and flood risk 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy WA5 sets out criteria which development 
will need to meet in order to be considered acceptable in relation to flood risk. The 
requirements vary depending on the nature of the flood risk and the policy also sets 
out requirements for flood risk assessments to accompany planning applications. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP policy EN19 requires that development must 
not to be subject to an unacceptable risk of flooding, materially increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere or result in an unacceptable maintenance liability. The city 
council’s 2008 Development and Flood Risk Supplementary Planning Guidance 
provides more details of what is considered to be acceptable in relation to flood risk. 
The NPPF also sets out requirements relating to development and flood risk, 
although these are less detailed than those in option A. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

Page 1168



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 253 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ ? ? 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ - - 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - - - 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ - - 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

Page 1169



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 254 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty A large number of uncertain impacts have been recorded for this 
policy because it is unclear how this policy will be implemented in 
some of the areas at highest risk of flooding. The detail of how this 
policy will be implemented in terms of required floor levels and 
acceptable ground floor uses is not included in this policy. It is 
anticipated that such details will be included in a Supplementary 
Planning Document to replace the 2008 Development and Flood 
Risk Planning Guidance. Questions such as whether less 
vulnerable uses such as offices and retail would be permitted to 
flood have been left to an SPD. They are not currently permitted to 
flood under the 2008 planning guidance. 
Option A provides a greater degree of certainty as there is more 
detail within the policy. 

Scale Impacts will be primarily felt in areas which are at risk of flooding 
but there will be impacts elsewhere if development is displaced. 

Permanence Impacts will last for the lifetime of development built under this 
policy, although if climate change projections continue to get 
worse that will diminish positive impacts. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

A number of the impacts identified are secondary/indirect impacts 
which would result if this policy leads to less development within 
the existing urban area and therefore more development on 
greenfield sites. 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Very little difference has been identified between the options, as policy WA5 is to a 
large extent a more detailed version of saved UDP policy EN19. As explained above, 
the impacts of this policy will be determined by how it is applied which will be 
influenced by a number of factors, including an anticipated Supplementary Planning 
Document. The main benefit of Option A is that it provides a greater degree of 
certainty by providing more detail within the policy. 
 
Both options would help to minimise flood risk and its impacts with consequent 
positive impacts on health (particularly mental health) and sustainable economic 
growth. Option A would take into account the vulnerability of the proposed use when 
determining whether the flood risk is acceptable, which isn’t explicitly stated in 
Option B. Providing greater flexibility for less vulnerable uses may help to support 
sustainable economic growth. 
 
The impacts on a number of other sustainability objectives are uncertain because it 

is unclear how this policy will be implemented in some of the areas at highest risk of 

Page 1170



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 255 

 

flooding. If flood risk cannot be dealt with upstream, then in some areas of Salford it 

may not be possible to have ground floor residential development, which has 

implications for the creation of sustainable communities. In the most extreme 

situation, this policy may prevent built development coming forward in some of the 

highest risk areas, which would have consequent impacts on a number of 

sustainability objectives. 

If the policy results in less built development within the urban area and increased 
pressure on greenfield sites, there are likely to be negative impacts on biodiversity, 
geological features, soil resources, accessibility and greenhouse gas emissions. 
However some of these impacts could be balanced by positive impacts within the 
urban area, for example through creating more natural watercourses. Pushing 
development out of traditional employment areas such as the Cambridge Industrial 
Estate would have a negative impact  on economic inclusion. There may also be 
negative impacts on the total number of houses provided however it is important that 
homes are safe from flooding which would be prioritised under both option A and 
option B. 
 
Both options are likely to restrict re-use of existing buildings in certain areas, with a 
consequent impact on non-renewable resources and on heritage. Aspects of this 
policy preventing increase in flood risk elsewhere would have a positive impact on 
heritage by protecting it from flood risk but other aspects of policy would be likely to 
result in some loss of existing buildings which might include some of historic/cultural 
value. Also, changes to urban form may be required in certain areas which would 
affect the appreciation of remaining historic buildings as they could be at a different 
level. 
 
Raised floor levels are likely to be required in some areas under both options. These 
generally have a negative impact on townscape, also some impact on amenity 
(neighbourhood quality) and can increase crime and reduce community cohesion. 
The 2015 Boxing Day flood suggested that flooding is not a threat to community 
cohesion, whereas some measures to protect against flood risk might damage 
community cohesion if communities were uprooted and new housing was less 
conducive to informal contact. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is chosen as the option which provides greatest certainty and thus more 
positive impacts. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 A Supplementary Planning Document setting out more details of suitable 
development types in areas of flood risk would assist with creating more 
certainty, maximising the positive impacts and minimising the negative 
impacts. 

 Careful masterplanning of some of the areas of highest flood risk would help 
to mitigate the impacts and increase the range of possible ways of addressing 
flood risk. 

  

Page 1171



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 256 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 
None required, issue of masterplanning is in part addressed by Policy AP5 in respect 

of the Cambridge area which suffers from significant issues of flood risk. Other areas 

will be an ongoing consideration for wider planning and regeneration activities in the 

city. Further consideration to be given to the need for supplementary guidance.  

Page 1172



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 257 

 

Policy WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy WA6 sets out requirements for surface 
water to be managed in a sustainable way. It includes a hierarchy for surface water 
management and requirements relating to the rate of surface water discharge. 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP policy EN19 requires “adequate provision” to 
be made for the discharge of foul and surface water but does not provide any details 
of what adequate provision would be. The NPPF (paragraph 163) requires that 
development in areas of flood risk and all major development should incorporate 
sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be 
inappropriate. The NPPF is supported by non-statutory technical standards for 
sustainable drainage systems (Defra, 2015). Option B does not place as much 
emphasis on achieving multiple benefits through creating sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS) as part of multifunctional green infrastructure. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ ++ 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

Page 1173



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 258 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? + 

10+ ? + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

Page 1174



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 259 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The most positive impacts of option A are reliant on the installation 
of multi-functional green infrastructure and not merely 
underground storage tanks. Policy WA6 does require that the latter 
are only used where the former are not technically feasible and so 
there is a reasonable level of certainty that “green SuDS” would be 
installed under option A, whereas these would be less likely under 
option B. There is a high degree of certainty that the required 
discharge rates can be achieved on the vast majority of sites. 

Scale City-wide 

Permanence Drainage measures require some maintenance and the longevity 
of benefits is dependent on adequate maintenance, which is 
required under option A. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Many of the anticipated positive impacts come from multi-
functional green infrastructure, which is less likely to be achieved 
through option B. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
A small number of positive impacts would occur under option B but a much larger 
number of positive impacts would result from option A. The biggest difference 
between the two options is that SuDS which form part of a network of multi-functional 
green infrastructure are more likely under option A. 
 
So, for example, there would be multiple health benefits (objective 1) under option A 
through both a reduced risk of flooding and an increase in green infrastructure, 
whereas under option B there would be positive impacts on health through a 
reduction in flood risk but there would be unlikely to be the secondary benefits 
achieved through green infrastructure. Similarly, there would be a positive impact on 
contributions to climate change and fossil fuel use (objectives 8 and 9) under both 
options through a reduced need for water treatment (by separating surface water 
and foul water discharges). Option A would be likely to have further positive impacts 
on emissions as green infrastructure will encourage more walking and cycling. Green 
infrastructure can play a particularly positive role in reducing the impact of climate 
change on microclimates and therefore option A would have a positive impact on 
amenity (objective 12). 
 
The city’s heritage (objective 10) would benefit from reduced surface water flooding 
under both options. 
 
Some sustainability objectives, such as reducing crime and the fear of crime 
(objective 13) and community cohesion (objective 19), are particularly dependent on 

Page 1175



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 260 

 

developments being well designed as poorly designed open spaces can increase 
crime. Policy GI2 sets out detailed requirements for developments to deliver 
improvements to Salford’s green infrastructure network and this provides adequate 
mitigation. It may be appropriate to cross reference policy GI2 within this policy.  
 
The relationship with economic growth (objective 14) is complex. Reducing surface 
water flood risk would benefit economic growth under both options. Under option A, 
the requirement for green infrastructure may be perceived as being more costly than 
underground tanks due to the land requirements. However, work by Defra3 suggests 
that SUDS can actually be delivered more cheaply than conventional piped solutions 
there may be long term benefits through creating an attractive environment that 
encourages investment. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A has been chosen as this would provide significantly more positive benefits 
than option B. 
 
Option B has not been chosen as it does not provide the full range of possible 
benefits from SUDS. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Consider cross reference to policy GI2. 
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Issues addressed by Policy GI2, cross reference not considered necessary. 
  

                                                           
3 “Comparative costings for surface water sewers & SuDS: Caledonian Road Housing, Islington, London” Defra 
2011 

Page 1176



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 261 

 

CHAPTER 20 DESIGN 
 

Chapter 20 Design 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan): The Design chapter of the revised draft local 
includes 9 policies that provide a design framework for assessing planning 
applications. The first policy in the Chapter (D1) sets out that development  
shall achieve a high quality design, consistent with 11 principles. Further policies in 
the chapter are as follows: local character and distinctiveness (D2); layout and 
access (D3); spaces (D4); amenity (D5); design and crime (D6); housing design 
(D7); alterations and extensions (D8); and waterside development (D9). Other 
elements of the revised draft local plan also have design implications. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan): Chapter 6 of the saved UDP contains 10 policies relating 
to design, whilst other elements of the saved plan also have design implications. The 
policies in the design chapter cover the following: respecting context (DES1); 
circulation and movement (DES2); design of public space (DES3); relationship of 
development to public space (DES4); tall buildings (DES5); waterside development 
(DES6); amenity of users and neighbours (DES7); alterations and extensions 
(DES8); landscaping (DES9); and design and crime (DES10). Chapter 12 of the 
NPPF sets out policy on achieving well-designed places (particularly paragraph 127). 
An adopted SPD on design would be part of Option B. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Both options are essentially identical and therefore score similarly throughout the 
assessment. Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is 
therefore assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the 
first five years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/? ? 

10+ +/? ? 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1177



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 262 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? ? 

10+ ? ? 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/? 

10+ + +/? 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + +/? 

10+ + +/? 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++/? ++/? 

10+ ++/? ++/? 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to 
a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 0-5 0 0 

Page 1178



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 263 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is little difference between the two options with regards to 
certainty. 
 
Option A would reflect the approach in the NPPF taking into 
account local circumstances, provide an up to date policy position, 
and give certainty to local communities and developers given that 
the option would form part of the adopted development plan. 
 
Under option B, design issues of importance in Salford would be 
within the saved UDP, the Design SPD and the NPPF. This option 
would also provide certainty but to a lesser degree than option A 
(given that option A is more explicit on a number of issues when 
compared to option B).  
 

Scale Neighbourhood and City.  
 

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent developments and spaces 
that would create attractive places.  
 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

High quality design and layout are essential to delivering attractive, 
sustainable, safe and well-functioning places and spaces that  
people have pride and commitment in, and are places they want to 
live, work, and visit. There are positives for society as a whole as a 
result of good design, with it increasing the attractiveness of a 
development which is a benefit to developers in terms of the 
marketability of their developments.  
 
Design issues such as amenity, and accessibility / adaptability link 
into other strategies including those regarding health and well-
being, particularly in terms of physical and mental health.  
 

 
Appraisal summary 

Page 1179



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 264 

 

 
Positive benefits would arise under both options in relation to mental and physical 
health by, for example, reducing negative impacts of new housing through ensuring 
dwellings have sufficient space and are adaptable (with the national space standards 
being required under option A). Spaces and buildings would have to connect to 
pedestrian and cycling links (including those along the waterside) under all options,  
encouraging physical activity (objective 1). 
 
Impacts in relation to issues such as biodiversity, soil and land and landscape under 
both of the options are uncertain and are very much dependent on the type and form 
of development that would come forward (objectives 2, 4 and 11). Where there is 
waterside development however, both options would require consideration to be 
given to the need to protect and enhance biodiversity resources. Option A offers a 
stronger emphasis with regards to this as it requires development to support 
improvements to biodiversity, whereas under option B development is only required 
to protect, improve or provide wildlife habitats ‘where possible’.  
 
Objective 5 requires that water resources are protected and enhanced. Under option 
A there is a requirement for waterside development to support improvements to 
water quality; option B provides less certainty with regards to this issue as it only 
requires that development should not affect the ‘integrity’ of the waterway.  
 
Designing buildings to be minimise the risks of flooding would ensure that there 
would not be an increase in the number of people and properties at risk of flooding 
under the two options (objective 6). Linked to this, option A requires that waterside 
developments enhance flood risk management, whilst option B requires such 
developments do not affect flood defences. There is a different emphasis between 
the two options (enhancement versus not affecting); option A therefore rates higher 
with respect to this objective.   
 
Minimising climate change by increasing the use of renewable energy in new 
developments would improve air quality by reducing the emission of airborne 
pollutants (objectives 7 and 8). With regards to these objectives, a theme running 
through both options is sustainable transport modes being fully considered as part of 
the design of buildings and spaces. Notwithstanding this, the two options would  
potentially have minor negative implications against objectives 7 and 8 given that 
option A requires that developments provide appropriate drop-off, loading and 
parking (policy D3), whilst option B also refers to car parking (policy DES2).  
 
A key part of local character is the city’s heritage and so both options, alongside 
other heritage policies, would contribute positively to the protection, enhancement 
and appreciation of heritage (objective 10).  
 
Requiring a high quality of architectural design would be a key requirement of the 
two options, whilst local character and distinctiveness would be protected and 
enhanced, including through ensuring that developments retain key features where 
existing buildings are being redeveloped. It is therefore considered that both options 
would score highly against objective 11. Where development is along the waterside 
the two options would require that visual connections to and from the waterway 
should be improved. Option A has greater benefits with regards to objective 11 in 

Page 1180



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 265 

 

some respects with policy D8 being clear that where key architectural features of 
buildings are retained they should not be masked (this issue is not considered under 
option B). 
 
Occupiers of buildings and spaces would be provided with a satisfactory / acceptable 
level of amenity by, for example, ensuring that there would sufficient natural light and 
privacy (objective 12). Both options would also require that new developments would 
not have an unacceptable impact on the users of other buildings and spaces. These 
considerations would improve neighbourhood quality and community cohesion. 
Option A would score better than option B against objective 12 with regards to 
separation distances between habitable room windows and walls / other habitable 
windows, given that it would explicitly formalise the distances into policy for all new 
developments (under option B the standards in the existing house extensions SPD 
would be applied to new build developments). Option A would further score better 
given that nationally described space standards would apply under it.  
 
Crime and the fear of crime would be reduced by, for example, designing places 
where public and private spaces are clearly distinguished, and offering natural 
surveillance to make spaces safe and usable (objective 13). Both options would also 
require that developments should avoid places of concealment; option A would score 
more highly in relation to this as it would also require the removal of existing places 
of concealment. 
 
With regards to employment developments, the two options would deliver high-
quality developments that would be attractive to large multi-national employers who 
expect the very highest quality of design and space (objective 14). Such 
developments would also have the potential to support existing businesses whose 
requirements may be changing, and also increase the quantity of quality of 
employment opportunities available. 
 
Requiring that all people, including those with impaired mobility, can access and 
move through and around buildings and spaces would allow them to access facilities 
and opportunities. Furthermore, both options require new developments to provide, 
where appropriate, crossings over waterways, therefore removing / reducing 
blockages to access and potentially reducing the distance people need to travel to 
access jobs, facilities and services. Taking this into account the options score as 
major positive against objective 18.   
 
The two options would have positive benefits with regards to ensuring that everyone 
has access to a good home that meets their needs (as set out under objective 17, 
but there are also clearly linkages to other objectives). Under both options, high 
quality design would ensure that the number of vacant dwellings would be low in new 
developments, therefore increasing the stability of the housing market.  
 
Option A goes further than option B in that it includes a policy specifically on housing 
design (policy D7). This policy includes requirements that would not form part of 
option B, including meeting the nationally described space standards (or the 
council’s HMO standards), be accessible and adaptable, provide an appropriate level 
of outdoor amenity space, and exceed energy efficiency requirements. The option 
further encourages homes to meet the optional wheelchair accessible or wheelchair 

Page 1181



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 266 

 

adaptable standards. On this basis option A scores as major positive against 
objective 17.  
 
In all developments high quality design would create a sense of belonging and 
identity and therefore improve community cohesion (objective 19), allow people to be 
understand the design issues that would be considered under the planning 
application process (links to objective 20), and also improve perceptions of the city 
by providing a more positive image (objective 21).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A selected. Both options provide a comprehensive basis on which to assess 
the design of proposals. However, option A provides more explicit guidance for a 
number of issues, particularly the design of new housing.   
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 No mitigation identified.  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1182



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 267 

 

CHAPTER 21 HERITAGE 
 

Chapter 21 Heritage  

 
Description of options 
  

 Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). The heritage chapter includes 7 policies 
that provide a framework for the protection and enhancement of Salford’s 
heritage assets. The first policy in the chapter (HE1) establishes high level 
objectives for the city’s heritage assets including supporting and encouraging 
their positive reuse, maintenance/repair, enjoyment and understanding and 
reducing the number of assets at risk. Further policies in the chapter provide 
more detail with regards to the city’s heritage assets (HE2), heritage 
protection (HE3), managing change across historic areas (the policy also 
identifies concentrations of heritage assets) (HE4), the use of heritage assets 
(HE5), heritage at risk (HE6) and heritage information and interpretation 
(HE7). 
 

 Option B (No Local Plan). Chapter 13 of the saved UDP contains 9 policies 
relating to heritage which cover the following: preservation and enhancement 
of historic and cultural assets (ST15), works to and demolition of listed 
buildings (CH1), development affecting the setting of a listed building (CH2), 
works within conservation areas (CH3), demolition of buildings within 
conservation areas (CH4), archaeology and ancient monuments (CH5), parks 
and gardens of historic interest (CH6), Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal 
(CH7) and local list of buildings, structures and features of architectural, 
archaeological or historic interest (CH8). Chapter 16 of the NPPF provides an 
up to date policy framework for conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment and The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 provides specific protection for buildings and areas of special 
architectural or historic interest. 

 

 Reasons for selecting those options 
  

Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised. 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 

 Assessment of options 

 

 Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10  ++ + 

10+  ++ + 

Page 1183



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 268 

 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5  ++  ++ 

5-10  ++  ++ 

10+  ++  ++ 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5  ++  ++ 

5-10  ++  ++ 

10+  ++  ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10  ++ + 

10+  ++ + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5  -/+  -/+ 

5-10  -/+ -/+ 

10+  -/+  -/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1184



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 269 

 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0/+ 

10+ + 0/+ 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10  ++ + 

10+  ++ + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + + 

5-10  ++ + 

10+  ++ + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

  

  

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Option A provides some additional clarity with 
regards to expectations of developers and also 
provides some additional context with regards to 
some parts of Salford.  
 
Whilst the city council can encourage owners to 
undertake maintenance, repairs and 
improvements to buildings and use various 
powers to intervene where necessary, the 
resources available will influence the ability to 
secure improvements.  

 

Scale Impacts would be at a neighbourhood and city 
wide scale.  

Permanence Both options would afford permanent protection to 
the city’s heritage assets.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The various policies in the design chapter would 
work alongside the heritage policies to ensure 
that development delivers good design which 
protects, enhances and responds to the character 
of the local area. The design policies have a 

Page 1185



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 270 

 

complementary role in protecting and enhancing 
the city’s heritage assets by ensuring that 
development has regard to the characteristics of 
the local area and does not detract from 
important buildings.  

  

 Appraisal summary 

 Both options A and B would provide a policy framework which would protect and 

enhance the city’s heritage assets and therefore would be expected to have positive 
benefits when assessed against many of the sustainability objectives. The main 
difference between the two options is that option A represents a more proactive and 
positive approach to strengthening the quality and appreciation of the city’s assets, 
including some commitments which would generally be expected to result in more 
positive outcomes. Some examples of how option A ‘goes further’ are evident in 
policy HE1, which includes a commitment to work with owners to reduce the number 
of assets at risk, encourage appropriate maintenance and repair and promote 
increased access and enjoyment of the city’s assets. 
 
Objective 1 is to improve physical and mental health, and under both options, it 
would be expected that positive benefits would be experienced. The city’s heritage 
provides cultural assets which can enable social interaction, offer creative 
opportunities and the memories associated with these assets can encourage a 
sense of pride, identity and belonging, assisting in promoting good mental health. 
Promoting public enjoyment, access and understanding of the city’s heritage assets 
and working proactively to deliver positive change, such as identifying ways to 
address some of the city’s heritage assets at risk would be expected to have 
increased benefits and therefore option A performs better when assessed against 
this objective.  
 
Both options are positive in terms of encouraging the positive use of heritage assets, 
which could bring vacant/derelict buildings back into use and therefore assist in 
reducing the amount of derelict land in the city (objective 4). Measures in option A, 
which include working with the relevant parties to reduce the number of assets at risk 
and encouraging the appropriate maintenance and repair of assets could result in 
this option performing slightly better.  
 
A number of the city’s heritage assets are located around the city’s waterways, with 
a particular concentration along the Bridgewater Canal in Worsley Village and 
various listed structures crossing over the Manchester Ship Canal/River Irwell. The 
continued protection and enhancement of the city’s heritage assets in both options 
would assist in maintaining and improving the quality and interest of the city’s 
waterside environment (objective 5), which makes an important contribution to the 
city’s overall character and identity.   
 
Both options would provide clear protection for the city’s heritage assets and explain 
the importance of understanding the significance of heritage assets in considering 
proposals, and would therefore be expected to have major positive benefits with 
regards to protecting, enhancing and enabling the appreciation of the city’s heritage 

Page 1186



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 271 

 

assets (objective 10). Option A provides some additional detail, explaining what 
would be expected where an adverse impact on heritage is unavoidable with regards 
to compensation (policy HE3) and how public access would be maximised through 
interpretation. It also incorporates a local context, by identifying some areas of 
Salford where change will need to be carefully managed, which includes for example 
areas containing a large number of heritage assets and areas facing particular 
development/regeneration challenges (policy HE4). These aspects of option A would 
assist in providing greater clarity both in terms of expectations of developers and 
explaining the local heritage context.   
 
A key part of the city’s local character is the city’s heritage, contributing to the sense 
of place. The protection afforded to the city’s heritage assets and their settings in 
both options would therefore be expected to have major positive effects with regards 
to protecting and enhancing the appearance of the city’s townscape and landscape, 
in particular its local character and distinctiveness (objective 11) .  
 
For objectives 10 and 11, the assessment indicates that both options would have 
major positive outcomes. Although in these cases, both options have scored the 
same, the overall outcomes of option A would be expected to be better as a result of 
the additional detail and clarity that is provided within the proposed policies, and the 
ambitions to deliver positive change.  
 
It is often the case that a place’s distinct heritage makes it both interesting and 
special to communities. Both options would be expected to have a positive impact on 
neighbourhood quality and amenity (objective 12), by protecting the heritage assets 
that feature in people’s everyday lives and contribute to the enjoyment and 
appreciation of the place in which they live. Some of the proposals in option A 
provide the opportunity to further enhance the quality of neighbourhoods, through 
securing the provision of additional information and interpretation, helping people to 
understand and appreciate their neighbourhood further. Option A would therefore be 
expected to perform better than option B when assessed against objective 12.  
 
 With regards to economic growth (objective 14), the expected outcomes are 
identified as being mixed. Protecting and investing in the historic environment could 
generate economic returns, attracting people to live, work and visit the city and 
businesses to locate there. Some of Salford’s heritage assets have an important 
tourism role, and the sensitive development of historic buildings and areas can 
improve the attractiveness of a place, revitalise areas and stimulate investment. 
However, there is potential that the controls within and around these sensitive areas 
could act as a constraint on development.  
 
Heritage learning opportunities, offer the potential for people to learn new skills and a 
greater knowledge of their local area. The provision of heritage learning opportunities 
as particularly encouraged by option A (policies HE1, 3, 5 and 7) would therefore be 
expected to have positive benefits when assessed against objective 16.  
 
Both options would be expected to contribute to community cohesion (objective 19), 
through the protection they would afford to heritage assets which have significant 
communal value, for example churches, libraries and parks. Option A would be 
expected to perform better against objective 19 due to the significant emphasis on 

Page 1187



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 272 

 

increasing public access to heritage assets, which could support community 
development in a variety of ways. Option A could also deliver additional benefits 
through allowing people to understand better understand proposals affecting 
heritage assets by maximising public access to information about those assets 
(objective 20).  
 
Heritage is a major component of tourism, and the continued protection and 
enhancement of the some of city’s heritage assets and preserving the setting of 
these assets would support the wider tourism and leisure roles of some parts of the 
city. Both options would therefore be expected to have positive outcomes when 
assessed against objective 21.  
 

Selected option and reasons 
  

Option A performs better in the sustainability appraisal than option B and the 
additional details it provides with regards to local context and expectations of 
developers are considered to bring additional benefits.  

 Potential mitigation 

      Updating the city’s conservation area appraisals and preparing management 

plans could assist further in enhancing the city’s assets through pinpointing 
key challenges, and identifying specific opportunities, constraints and 
responses, which may be particularly useful in the areas where a large 
amount of development is expected to take place during the plan period.   

 Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 None required, issue for ongoing monitoring, appraisal and management of 
the city’s conservation areas. 

  

Page 1188



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 273 

 

CHAPTER 22 GREEN BELT AND AGRICULTURE 
 

Policy GB1 Green Belt 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GB1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
defines, affords strong protection to, and encourages the positive use and green 
infrastructure functions of the Green Belt in accordance with national policy. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy EN1similarly defines the Green Belt and 
affords strong protection to the Green Belt in accordance with national policy. The 
National Planning Policy Framework also encourages the positive use of the Green 
Belt.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The Greater Manchester Green Belt is currently being considered and defined 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. Any changes to Green Belt 
boundaries through that process are considered in the GMSF integrated appraisal 
and are not therefore taken into account in the appraisal below.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +/++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1189



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 274 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 - - 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ +/++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

Page 1190



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 275 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The strong protection given to the Green Belt under both options 
would provide a high degree of certainty. The potential to 
encourage the positive use of the Green Belt, and the potential for 
greater benefits under Option A, will rely on a significant extent on 
the role of landowners in bringing forward appropriate proposals. 

Scale The Green Belt has a significant role in defining the character of 
the western part of the city. It is however an essential part of the 
wider Green Belt around Greater Manchester and extending 
westwards into Warrington.  

Permanence An essential characteristic of the Green Belt is its permanence.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Policies relating to soils, agricultural land and farm diversification 
have a direct relationship with the ongoing protection of the Green 
Belt. The protection of the Green Belt also has an important role 
for a number of other policy areas including green infrastructure, 
biodiversity and water management. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
A similarly strong level of protection would be given to the Green Belt under both 
options and similarly positive impacts against a number of sustainability objectives 
would be expected.  
 
The protection given can play a major role in protecting the quality and character of 
landscapes and similarly the form and character of urban areas, in particular the 
separation of settlements (Objective 11). Its relationship in defining, and providing a 
setting to the urban area, can also plan an important role in protecting the city’s 
heritage (Objective 10). The protection given to the wide expanse of greenfield land 
can also help to protect biodiversity (Objective 2), geological (Objective 3), soil 
(Objective 4) and water (Objective 5) resources. 
 
The protection it provides to large areas of greenfield land and the positive role a 
Green Belt designation can play in supporting urban regeneration also provides 
positive benefits in relation to air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate 
change (Objective 8) and the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). The 
presence of peatland within Salford’s Green Belt, which holds significant levels of 
carbon, makes the contribution to Objective 8 particularly significant. The area also 
has a significant role in relation to water capture and retention (Objective 6). 
 
Representations to the Draft Local Plan have illustrated the high value placed on the 
Green Belt by local people, including as a recreational resource. A strong protective 
could therefore have positive benefits in terms of physical and mental health 
(Objective1), protecting and enhancing amenity (Objective 12), ensuring everyone 

Page 1191



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 276 

 

has access to a home that meets their needs (Objective 17) and community 
cohesion (Objective 19). Whilst under both options the positive use of the Green Belt 
would be encouraged, the emphasis given to enhancing the green infrastructure 
functions of the Green Belt under Option A, could have the potential to deliver 
greater benefits, in relation to physical and mental health (Objective1) and improving 
the accessibility of facilities and opportunities (Objective 18), particularly over the 
longer term. 
  
The restrictions placed on development within the Green Belt could restrict some 
economic growth and housing delivery (Objectives 14 and 17) and therefore 
negative impact has been identified in relation to these objectives for both options. 
However, as above, the Green Belt is an important resource to local people and 
therefore also has a role in contributing to attractive areas to live. Although not part 
of this appraisal, it is also important to recognise that amendments to Green Belt 
boundaries to meet future development needs are currently being considered 
through the GMSF.  
  
The city’s Green Belt is an important element of its character. The positive use that 
would be encouraged under both options could increase awareness of this part of 
the city and improve perceptions, however the increased emphasis on the Green 
Belts green infrastructure functions under Option A could provide greater benefits, 
particularly over the long term.    
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The two options provide a similar level of protection for Green 
Belt land and encourage its positive use. However the policy framework under 
Option A would provide the Local Plan with an added emphasis on encouraging the 
Green Infrastructure functions of Green Belt which could bring greater benefits in this 
regard. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1192



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 277 

 

Policy GB2 Soils and agricultural land 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GB2 requires development to safeguard 
and utilise on-site soil resources where practicable. It describes that the loss of 
agricultural land should be avoided wherever possible and that the use of agricultural 
land shall seek to protect soil quality, minimise erosion, retain landscape features 
and maximise wider environmental benefits. The policy ensures that the methods 
outlined in the Defra Code of practice for the sustainable use of soils on construction 
sites are utilised. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Saved Unitary Development Plan Policy ST13 (Natural Environmental Assets) 
ensure that consideration is given to the impact of development on soils and 
agricultural land. The Defra Code of practice for the sustainable use of soils on 
construction sites provides advice. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The policy options are assessed on the basis of their potential impact on 
development following the adoption of the plan. Green Belt land, including that of 
agricultural value, is currently being considered for development though the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework. These decisions are being made in advance of the 
adoption of the Local Plan and the application of the above policy and are not 
therefore reflected in the ratings below. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 

(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 

biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

0-5 0 0 

Page 1193



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 278 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 

(years) 

Option 

A B 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 

geological resources 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 

resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 

flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 

change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 

resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 

appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 + + 

Page 1194



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 279 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 

(years) 

Option 

A B 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 

character of landscape and townscape 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 

be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 

good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 

and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 0-5 0 0 

Page 1195



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 280 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 

(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-

making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 

major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The policy framework under both options requires the 

consideration of the potential impacts on soils and agricultural land 

of development proposals. Individual decisions will however 

depend on a range of factors. The approach on the Revised Draft 

Local Plan cements Defra advice within the policy framework and 

ensures that attention is also given to soils within the urban area. 

The potential benefits resulting from the preservation of 

agricultural land will depend on that land being utilised for 

agricultural activities. 

Scale Sub-regional - Salford contains a significant proportion of Greater 

Manchester’s high grade agricultural.  

Permanence The policy framework would ensure ongoing protection of soils and 

agricultural land. The quality of existing soils and agricultural land 

could however be affected by other factors such as changes in 

climate. 

Secondary, 

cumulative, 

synergistic 

The scale of the benefits resulting from the protection of 

agricultural soils in particular will depend on their utilisation for 

agricultural activities. 

Page 1196



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 281 

 

Effects Appraisal 

The quality of the city’s soils will depend on a range of factors 

including changes in climate. Measures within the plan to reduce 

carbon emissions and other forms of pollution will therefore 

complement this policy area. 

Soils can perform an important role in water management and 

therefore their protection, alongside policies in respect of 

sustainable water management and flood risk, could have wider 

benefits. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The main difference between Options A and B relates to the focus given in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan on the sustainable use of all soils, including those within 
the urban area. However despite this wider focus, both options would be expected to 
have major direct benefits in terms of the protection and improvement of soil and 
land resources (Objective 4). Other potential benefits will relate to the specific areas/ 
types of soil/ land being protected, but the requirement to consider impacts on soils 
as part of development proposals would be expected to have positive benefits 
relating to health (as a result of protecting agricultural land and the opportunities to 
grow food locally -  Objective 1), biodiversity (Objective 2), water and flood risk 
(Objectives 5 and 6), climate change (particularly relating to the carbon storage 
function of peat - Objective 8), minimising the use of non-renewable resources 
(Objective 9) and the quality and character of landscape and townscape (Objective 
11).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The assessment of the two options identifies similar results, 
however the Revised Draft Local Plan policy provides greater emphasis on the need 
to consider impacts on all soils and their environmental functions, including soils 
within the urban area.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 

response to mitigation identified 

 Not applicable 

  

Page 1197



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 282 

 

Policy GB3 Farm Diversification 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GB3 allows for farm diversification 
projects where a number of criteria can be met, particularly where they enhance 
public access to the Green Belt. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy EN4 allows for farm diversification 
where a number of criteria can be met. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
The policy options are assessed on the basis of their potential impact on 
development following the adoption of the plan. Green Belt land, including that of 
agricultural value, is currently being considered for development though the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework. These decisions are being made in advance of the 
adoption of the Local Plan and the application of the above policy and are not 
therefore reflected in the ratings below. 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 ?/0 ?/0 

5-10 ?/0 ?/0 

10+ ?/0 ?/0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 ?/0 ?/0 

5-10 ?/0 ?/0 

10+ ?/0 ?/0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1198



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 283 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 ?/0 ?/0 

5-10 ?/0 ?/0 

10+ ?/0 ?/0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1199



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 284 

 

 
 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The impacts of the policy in relation to the sustainability objectives 
will depend on the number and nature of diversification schemes 
that come forward. Impacts on issues such as biodiversity, soil and 
landscape are perhaps the most uncertain but both Options A and 
B, together with specific policies on these issues, should ensure 
that they are properly considered as part of any diversification 
proposals. 

Scale Neighbourhood, the policy guides farm diversification schemes 
which are likely to be more limited in scale, most significantly 
impacting on the locations immediate surroundings and access to 
it. 

Permanence The permanence of any impacts will relate to the permanence of 
the farming enterprise / diversification scheme in question. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Farm diversification schemes have the potential to open up public 
access to areas of Green Belt currently in private ownership. The 
policy could therefore support objectives around public access to 
Chat Moss. This is specifically acknowledged in Option A. 
 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The two Options are considered likely to deliver similar outcomes. Allowing farm 
enterprises to diversify in a manner sensitive to their location can provide many 
benefits in terms of supporting existing enterprises, many of which will also be 
people’s homes, with potential benefits in terms of mental health (Objective 1), 
amenity (Objective 12), economic growth and inclusion (Objectives 14 and 15), and 
access to a good home (Objective 17). Supporting existing enterprises could also 
have positive benefits in terms of community cohesion (Objective 19).  
 
The potential to improve access to Chat Moss could also have positive impacts in 
terms of access to facilities and opportunities (Objective 18). 
 
Impacts in relation to issues such as biodiversity, soil and land and landscape are 
uncertain and are very much dependent on the types of diversification scheme 
proposed. Under both options there would be specific policies addressing these 
issues which would ensure that they are properly considered.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A selected. Whilst the two options are likely to achieve similar outcomes, the 
Revised Draft Local Plan wording reflects that found in paragraph 83 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 

Page 1200



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 285 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation 
in response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1201



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 286 

 

Policy GB4 Agricultural, forestry and other occupational dwellings within the 

Green Belt 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GB4 sets out the circumstances in which 
a new permanent dwelling to support agriculture, forestry of other activities 
acceptable within the Green Belt will be permitted. The policy also provides guidance 
on the use of occupancy conditions and their potential removal. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that “planning policies 
and decision should avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside 
unless”, amongst other things, “there is an essential need for a rural worker, 
including those taking majority control of a farm business, to live permanently at or 
near their place of work in the countryside”. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1202



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 287 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 
 
 

Page 1203



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 288 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both Options restrict isolated dwellings in the countryside to those 
deemed to be essential to support rural enterprises. The potential 
impacts in relation to the sustainability objectives are considered 
fairly certain. Option A is considered to provide greater certainty by 
setting out the key considerations in the development plan. 

Scale City / Sub-regional. An important element of the protection placed 
on the city’s Green Belt. 

Permanence The policy requirements together with occupancy conditions 
attached to planning permissions will ensure a lasting impact. The 
guidance in Option A ensures that the development plan is clear 
about the types of information that would be required in order to 
remove an occupancy condition should this be sought at a later 
date.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The policy will work alongside other policies in the plan that seek 
to protect the city’s Green Belt and related environmental issues 
including soils and biodiversity.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The main difference between the two options relates to the explicit guidance 
provided in Option A in relation to determining an essential need for a rural workers 
dwelling and the application of occupancy conditions. The two options would 
therefore be expected to have similar outcomes however, as a result of the more 
detailed guidance presented, Option A would be expected to support involvement in 
decision making to a greater extent (Objective 20).   
 
Common to both Options, the restrictions placed on isolated dwellings in the Green 
Belt would contribute positively to a number of the sustainability objectives including 
protecting biodiversity and soil resources (Objectives 2 and 3), protecting amenity by 
preserving tranquil areas (Objective 12) and perhaps most significantly, maintaining 
the quality of the landscape (11).  
 
The restrictive approach should help to ensure rural worker that need to live close to 
their place of work can access appropriate accommodation which has the potential 
to contribute positively to objectives relating to economic growth and inclusion 
(Objectives 14 and 15), ensuring that everyone has access to a good home that 
meets their needs (Objective 17) and access to facilities and opportunities by 
allowing certain workers to live close to their place of work (Objective 18). However 
the requirements of the policy do require a strong justification for new dwellings and 
as a result it could also be regarded as potentially having some negative impacts in 
relation to maximising economic growth (Objective 14), ensuring everyone has 
access to a good home that meets their needs (Objective 15) and improving the 
accessibility of facilities and opportunities (18).  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The two options are likely to have similar outcomes however 
Option A is considered to have more beneficial impacts in relation to certainty and 
involvement in decision-making. 

Page 1204



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 289 

 

 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1205



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 290 

 

CHAPTER 23 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

Policy GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GI1 identifies the overarching elements 
and wide variety of functions that would comprise the comprehensive network of 
green infrastructure to be established across Salford.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) identifies many of 
the green infrastructure functions but these are spread over a range of policies in 
topic chapters including design, environmental protection and improvement, heritage 
and recreation.  The term green infrastructure was not widely used when the UDP 
was adopted therefore a single policy combining the functions does not exist.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1206



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 291 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1207



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 292 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would list the strategic priorities for 
green infrastructure in the city, many of which are already being 
pursued. The potential outcomes of both options over the plan 
period could therefore be similar overall, however the clear 
strategic focus on multi-functional green infrastructure is 
considered to be positive in providing clear direction and therefore 
certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of green infrastructure functions, as could 
be delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health 
(Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and 
perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute 
positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). There could also 
be positive benefits in respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the quality of 
landscape and townscape (Objective 11) as well as aiding community cohesion by 
providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The up to date list of strategic priorities outlined in Option A could have a positive 
impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared with the 
neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that green infrastructure priorities 
could have some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth 
(Objective 14) and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality 
multi-functional green infrastructure could also impact positively on these objectives, 
particularly in respect of providing attractive places to live.  
 
 
 

Page 1208



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 293 

 

Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the focus on multi-functionality of green infrastructure in 
Option A would provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities for 
the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

  

Page 1209



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 294 

 

Policy GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GI2 identifies the requirements for all new 
developments to maximise contributions towards a wide variety of functions that 
would comprise the comprehensive network of green infrastructure to be established 
across Salford. The policy also identifies priority functions that should be supported 
and enhanced in specific parts of the city.  Policy GI2 would be partially 
supplemented by a revised Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning 
Document to provide additional guidance for recreation and other policies. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) identifies many of 
the green infrastructure functions but these are spread over a range of policies in 
topic chapters including design, environmental protection and improvement, heritage 
and recreation.  The term green infrastructure was not widely used when the UDP 
was adopted therefore a single policy combining the functions and the requirements 
for developments does not exist.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

7)   To improve air quality 0-5 + + 

Page 1210



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 295 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

Page 1211



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 296 

 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A all new developments would be expected to 
maximise contributions towards strategic priorities for green 
infrastructure in the city, many of which are already being pursued. 
The potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
therefore be similar overall, however the clear strategic focus on 
multi-functional green infrastructure is considered to be positive in 
providing clear direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits of green infrastructure 
are likely to increase over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of green infrastructure functions, as could 
be delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health 
(Objective 1), biodiversity (Objective 2), to minimise the risks of flooding (Objective 
6), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and 
perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute 
positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to the protection of open greenfield land 
including in respect of soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), 
contributions to climate change (Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources 
(Objective 9). There could also be positive benefits in respect of the city’s heritage 
(Objective 10) and the quality of landscape and townscape (Objective 11) as well as 
aiding community cohesion by providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The up to date list of strategic priorities outlined in Option A could have a positive 
impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared with the 
neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that green infrastructure priorities 
could have some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth 
(Objective 14) and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality 
multi-functional green infrastructure could also impact positively on these objectives, 
particularly in respect of providing attractive places to live.  
 

Page 1212



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 297 

 

 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the focus on multi-functionality of green infrastructure in 
Option A would provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities for 
the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

  

Page 1213



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 298 

 

Policy GI3 Chat Moss 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). Policy GI3 sets out a strategic vision for Chat 
Moss, with a strong emphasis on nature conservation improvements and increased 
public access. The role of Chat Moss as a key part of Greater Manchester’s strategic 
green infrastructure network would be protected and enhanced. Policy GI3 will work 
alongside other policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan to deliver the vision for Chat 
Moss, notably Policies BG1-BG3 and GI1-2. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan). Saved UDP policy EN11 Mosslands covers a similar area 
to policy GI3 and focuses on lowland raised bog restoration and nature conservation. 
There is no emphasis on recreation or public access on Chat Moss within the UDP 
policies. The NPPF sets out a number of requirements (paragraphs 170-177) relating 
to biodiversity, including that plans and planning decisions should provide net gains 
for biodiversity and establish coherent ecological networks (paragraph 170). NPPF 
paragraph 98 states that planning decisions should protect and enhance public rights 
of way and access. Option B, therefore, would protect the existing nature 
conservation value and public access on Chat Moss. However, without a clear vision 
for the area it would be less likely to deliver any enhancements to either nature 
conservation or recreation on Chat Moss, despite generic support for these within 
the NPPF. 
 
Option C (maximise nature conservation). This option would take forward only those 
aspects of option A relating directly to nature conservation and would not seek to 
many any improvements to public access. 
 
Option D (maximise public access). This option would take forward those aspects of 
option A relating to public access and visitor facilities and would limit nature 
conservation to the protection of existing sites in line with the minimum required by 
the NPPF. 
 
Option E (maximise agriculture). This option would focus on promoting agriculture on 
Chat Moss and would would limit nature conservation and recreation to the 
protection of existing sites in line with the minimum required by the NPPF. 
 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. Options C, D and E have been chosen as a way of 
appraising the impacts of prioritising each of the competing land uses in this area of 
the city. 
 
Assessment of options 
 

Page 1214



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 299 

 

Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all five options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C D E 

1)   To improve physical and mental 
health 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 ++ + + ++ + 

10+ ++ + + ++ + 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + + 0 0 

5-10 ++ + ++ - - 

10+ ++ + ++ - - - 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 ? 0 ? ? ++ 

10+ ? 0 ? ? ++ 

5)   To protect and enhance water 
resources 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 0 - 

10+ + + + 0 - 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + 0 0 

10+ + + + 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-
renewable resources 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 + + + 

10+ + 0 + + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of landscape and 
townscape 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + ? ? 

10+ + + + ? ? 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + + + - + 

10+ + + + - + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of 
crime 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 + + 

10+ + 0 0 + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that 
can be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 - - 0 0 

5-10 0 - - + + 

Page 1215



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 300 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B C D E 

10+ 0 - - + + 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 + + 

10+ 0 0 0 + + 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge 
base 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access 
to a good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of 
facilities and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 +/- - - + 0 

10+ +/- - - + 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 + 0 0 + 0 

10+ + 0 0 + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 

10+ 0 0 0 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

5-10 ++ + + + + 

10+ ++ + + + + 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - major negative; 
? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is a reasonable degree of certainty that most of the impacts 
identified above would be realised, although there is more 
certainty about some impacts than others. For example, some 
improvements at the Little Woolden Moss former peat site are 
relatively as funding has already been secured, whereas no site 
for a formal visitor centre has yet been identified. 
There is very little certainty about the impacts of Option E, as it is 
not clear how agriculture could be developed due to infrastructure 
constraints. Small scale farming which has been the historic land 
use on much of Chat Moss has largely been rendered unviable in 
this area and so a policy approach supporting agriculture may lead 
to large monocultures rather than the salad, fruit and vegetable 
produce which the area was historically famous for. 

Scale Chat Moss and adjoining communities (particularly Boothstown, 
Peel Green, Irlam and Cadishead).  

Permanence Improvements to biodiversity can often take a very long time to be 
established, whereas sensitive sites/species can be destroyed 
very quickly. Therefore some impacts of options A to C will be 
limited to the time within which a supportive policy framework 
remains in place. It is anticipated however that the policy 

Page 1216



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 301 

 

Effects Appraisal 

framework would continue to be supportive beyond the lifetime of 
the Local Plan. Recreation and access improvements would be 
expected to remain for a long time, although routes and facilities 
do require ongoing maintenance to remain attractive. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Policy GI3 will work alongside other policies in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan to deliver the vision for Chat Moss, notably Policies 
BG1-BG3 and GI1-2.  
Other ongoing work of relevance includes the Carbon Landscape 
Project (led by Lancashire Wildlife Trust) and the Great 
Manchester Wetlands NIA. The Wigan and Warrington Local Plans 
will also be relevant as the mosslands extend over the boundary 
into those authorities. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
All the options would improve physical and mental health (objective 1) but 
particularly options A and C which seek significant improvements to public access 
and recreation facilities, thus enabling more people to benefit from the high quality 
environments that Chat Moss has to offer. The health benefits of option E would 
come primarily through increased access to healthy affordable food rather than direct 
public use of the open space on Chat Moss. 
 
Options A, B and C all include significant elements of nature conservation and 
restoration. These options therefore score positively in terms of biodiversity 
resources (objective 2). The scores for options A and C are particularly strong as 
these represent a more proactive approach to biodiversity improvements. Increasing 
public access under option A would bring challenges for protecting sensitive habitats 
and species but it is considered that the policy as drafted provides sufficient 
mitigation as it makes clear that this should only be done “in a manner compatible 
with nature conservation objectives”. Conversely, options D and E would be 
expected to have a negative impact on biodiversity resources. 
 
Options A to C would make a positive contribution to mitigating climate change 
(objective 8) as protecting and restoring lowland raised bog would help to safeguard 
the carbon currently stored within the peat and help the bog return to being an active 
carbon sink. Bog restoration would be expected to create some positive impacts on 
water quality (objective 5) by reducing the quantity of peat particles entering 
watercourses. Options A to C have therefore all scored positively against this 
objective. Option E scored negatively in this regard because many agricultural 
practices can damage water quality, for example by the run-off of soil and chemicals 
into watercourses.  
 
The restoration of lowland raised bog may involve some loss of high grade 
agricultural land (objective 4) within the ‘Biodiversity Heartland’ under options A and 
C (this is not considered likely under option B). However, it must be remembered 
that, unlike loss to built development, bog restoration on agricultural land conserves 
the peat rather than degrading it and it would be technically possible to return the 
land to agriculture if required at some point in the future. Use of land for visitor 
facilities would represent a more permanent loss of agricultural land. 

Page 1217



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 302 

 

 
There are a number of different heritage assets on Chat Moss, including the historic 
Manchester to Liverpool railway line, potential archaeological remains preserved 
within the peat and the historic landscape and settlement pattern dating from the 19th 
century when the area was “reclaimed” for agriculture. Options A and D are the 
options which would best enable greater appreciation of the heritage of the area 
(objective 10), and would also therefore have the most positive impact on community 
cohesion (objective 19). However, option E may best protect the agricultural heritage 
and option C would best protect any archaeological remains within the peat deposits. 
 
In terms of landscape (objective 11), different options would best meet different 
aspects of this sustainability objective. Options A to C would be expected to have a 
positive impact overall, with clause 6 providing sufficient protection in option A to 
balance increased public access with the special character of the area. The impacts 
of option E would depend on what form agriculture was to take in the future. Option 
D would increase public access to the open landscape but may risk destroying some 
of its character in the process. Similarly in relation to amenity (objective 12), option D 
may destroy the tranquillity of the area whereas the other options would all maintain 
the relative tranquillity and darkness of Chat Moss. 
 
Increasing legitimate public access and/or agricultural activity should reduce crime 
(objective 13) and antisocial behaviour, assuming that the access is appropriately 
managed. 
 
Options D and E score most positively in terms of economic growth (objective 14) 
and economic inclusion (objective 15) as they actively promote economic activity in 
an area where jobs are currently limited. Options A to C would restrict economic 
growth through the emphasis on nature conservation, but under option A this would 
be balanced by the positive impacts of encouraging visitor facilities and connections 
to RHS Garden Bridgewater.  
 
In relation to accessibility (objective 18), options A to C which focus on nature 
conservation would have a negative impact on the provision of traditional transport 
infrastructure. Options A and D would however have a positive impact in terms of 
securing accessible quality greenspace close to homes and in terms of provision of 
walking and cycling infrastructure. 
 
All five options would improve perceptions of the city (objective 21) by increasing the 
profile of what is currently an under-appreciated part of Salford. The most positive 
impacts would be realised under option A, which balances increased public access 
(and therefore a higher profile for the area) with protection and enhancement of 
many of the features which make the area special. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A has been chosen as it represents the best balance between competing 
priorities for Chat Moss and would have the greatest positive impacts. 
 
Option B would be a missed opportunity to enhance the role of Chat Moss within 
Greater Manchester’s green infrastructure network. 

Page 1218



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 303 

 

 
Option C would provide greater benefits for biodiversity but considerably fewer 
benefits for human health and enjoyment. 
 
Option D would not provide sufficient protection to the special character of Chat 
Moss and would not enhance the important biodiversity assets. 
 
Option E would neither enhance the important biodiversity assets nor realise the 
many benefits of increased public access. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable.  
  

Page 1219



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 304 

 

Policy GI4 Irwell Valley 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GI4 identifies how the Irwell Valley would 
be enhanced as a key landscape corridor to provide multiple green infrastructure 
benefits with an emphasis on area specific requirements. Policy GI4 would be 
supplemented by a revised Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning 
Document to provide additional guidance for recreation and other policies. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy EN5 
similarly focuses on the Irwell Valley but with an emphasis on the criteria that will be 
considered to assess whether development would be permitted in the area. Saved 
Policy EN5 is supplemented by the adopted Greenspace Strategy Supplementary 
Planning Document which provides additional guidance for recreation and other 
policies. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1220



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 305 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1221



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 306 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would list the strategic priorities for 
green infrastructure in the Irwell Valley, many of which are already 
being pursued. The potential outcomes of both options over the 
plan period could therefore be similar overall, however the more 
detailed and clearer strategic focus on multi-functional green 
infrastructure is considered to be positive in providing clear 
direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, recreation, air quality, accessibility would collectively 
have a positive effect on the achievement of some of the 
sustainability objectives relating to climate change, air quality and 
health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of green infrastructure functions, as could 
be delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health 
(Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and 
perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute 
positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). There could also 
be positive benefits in respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the quality of 
landscape and townscape (Objective 11) as well as aiding community cohesion by 
providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The up to date list of specific strategic priorities outlined in Option A could have a 
positive impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared 
with the neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that green infrastructure priorities 
could have some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth 
(Objective 14) and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality 
multi-functional green infrastructure could also impact positively on these objectives, 
particularly in respect of providing attractive places to live.  
 
 

Page 1222



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 307 

 

 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the focus on multi-functionality of green infrastructure in 
Option A would provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities for 
the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

  

Page 1223



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 308 

 

Policy GI5 West Salford Greenway 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GI5 identifies how the West Salford 
Greenway would be protected and enhanced as interconnected greenspaces of 
varied use and character. The designation would be slightly smaller in size than 
Option B as it excludes a proposed housing allocation H9/12, Land north of Lumber 
Lane, Worsley (3.8ha). 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy EN2 
similarly focuses on Worsley Greenway with an emphasis on protecting its character 
or value from unacceptable harm from potential development.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + -/+ 

10+ + -/+ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + -/+ 

10+ + -/+ 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

Page 1224



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 309 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would list the interconnected 
greenspaces and the character of assets within the area to be 

Page 1225



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 310 

 

Effects Appraisal 

protected and enhanced, all of which are already being pursued. 
The potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
therefore be similar overall, however the more detailed and clearer 
focus is considered to be positive in providing clear direction and 
therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
protecting and improving local assets and resources, and at the 
city and sub-regional level by contributing to an integrated network 
of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, recreation, air quality, accessibility would collectively 
have a positive effect on the achievement of some of the 
sustainability objectives relating to climate change, air quality and 
health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
The provision of a comprehensive range of green infrastructure functions, as could 
be delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health 
(Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and 
perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute 
positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of air quality (Objective 7), 
contributions to climate change (Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources 
(Objective 9). There could also be positive benefits in respect of aiding community 
cohesion by providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The strategic priorities identified include four conservation areas, a scheduled 
ancient monument and several listed buildings which are a significant part of its 
history, the specific focus on these areas and other spaces within the urban area 
could also result in positive impacts in respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) 
and the quality of landscape and townscape (Objective 11). 
 
The up to date list of specific strategic priorities outlined in Option A could have a 
positive impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared 
with the neutral impact of Option B. 
 
There could be minor negative impacts in terms of biodiversity (Objective 2), soil and 
land (Objective 4) in years 5 onwards as a result of removing a small greenfield part 
of the previous designation for an infill housing area at Land North of Lumber Lane. 
However these would be balanced by minor positive impacts of protecting the 
surrounding woodland and strategic recreation routes and other minor positive 

Page 1226



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 311 

 

impacts throughout the remainder of the allocation. Where there is competition for 
land, it is possible that green infrastructure priorities could have some minor negative 
impacts in terms of limiting economic growth (Objective 14) and the provision of new 
homes (Objective 17). However high quality multi-functional green infrastructure 
could also impact positively on these objectives, particularly in respect of providing 
attractive places to live.  
 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the focus on multi-functionality of green infrastructure in 
Option A would provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities 
and value of specific characteristics of the area to be protected and enhanced. Land 
North of Lumber Lane is a greenfield site but does not have an existing open space 
use as there is no permitted access by right. The proposed use as an infill housing 
site would be mitigated by protecting the surrounding woodland and strategic 
recreation routes.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Protect mature woodland and recreation routes surrounding the proposed 
housing allocation at Land North of Lumber Lane  

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, issues regarding woodland and recreation routes are 
addressed in Policy H9/12. Consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

 
  

Page 1227



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 312 

 

 
 

Policy GI6 Local Green Space 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GI6 would designate ten Local Green 
Spaces across the city which have been identified as green areas of particular 
importance to local communities, and which meet specific criteria set out in national 
planning policy. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) identifies a range 
of policies in topic chapters including environmental protection and improvement, 
heritage and recreation that could contribute towards the specific criteria required for 
Local Green Space designation. The term local green space has been introduced 
relatively recently by national planning policy and was not widely used when the 
UDP was adopted therefore a single policy does not exist.   
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 
0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

Page 1228



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 313 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Page 1229



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 314 

 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would identify the ten sites that 
have been assessed as meeting the criteria for designation as a 
Local Green Space. The potential outcomes over the plan period 
would therefore be more certain for Option A similar overall, 
however the more detailed and clearer strategic focus on multi-
functional green infrastructure is considered to be positive in 
providing clear direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Option A would deliver permanent benefits particularly as sites 
designated as Local Green Spaces would have similar status and 
protection to areas designated as Green Belt. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, recreation, air quality, accessibility would collectively 
have a positive effect on the achievement of some of the 
sustainability objectives relating to climate change, air quality and 
health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The protection of the Local Green Space sites, as could be delivered under both 
options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health (Objective 1), amenity 
(Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and perceptions of the city 
(Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute positively in terms of 
providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). There could also 
be positive benefits in respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the quality of 
landscape and townscape (Objective 11) as well as aiding community cohesion by 
providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The designation of Local Green Spaces outlined in Option A could have a positive 
impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared with the 
neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that Local Green Spaces could 
have some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth (Objective 
14) and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality multi-
functional green infrastructure could also impact positively on these objectives, 
particularly in respect of providing attractive places to live.  

Page 1230



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 315 

 

 
 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options indicates greater 
protection for sites that are designated as Local Green Spaces. This designation in 
Option A would provide greater clarity, certainty and permanence.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified  
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1231



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 316 

 

Policy GI7 Trees, woodland and hedgerows 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy GI7 identifies the range of measures to 
protect and enhance trees and hedgerows across Salford that would contribute 
towards of a comprehensive network of green infrastructure and as part of significant 
tree planting in Greater Manchester.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy EN12 
identifies important landscape features for protection which includes trees, woodland 
and hedges. Saved Policy EN13 specifically relates to trees protected by tree 
preservation orders. Saved policies are supplemented by the adopted Trees and 
Development Supplementary Planning Document which provides additional 
guidance. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

0-5 + + 

Page 1232



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 317 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1233



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 318 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would list the range of measures to 
encourage the protection and enhancement of trees, woodland 
and hedgerows, many of which are already being pursued. The 
potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
therefore be similar overall, however the clear strategic focus on 
interventions and specific projects is considered to be positive in 
providing clear direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of measures to encourage the protection 
and enhancement of trees and hedgerows, as could be delivered under both options, 
could bring major benefits in terms of mental health (Objective 1), resources for 
biodiversity (Objective 2), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities 
(Objective 18) and perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces 
and woodland could also contribute positively in terms of providing attractive areas to 
live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of soil and land (Objective 4), 
air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change (Objective 8), and use of 
non-renewable resources (Objective 9). There could also be positive benefits in 
respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the quality of landscape and 
townscape (Objective 11) as well as aiding community cohesion by providing 
opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The up to date list of strategic priorities outlined in Option A could have a positive 
impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared with the 
neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that green infrastructure priorities 
could have some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth 
(Objective 14) and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality 
multi-functional green infrastructure could also impact positively on these objectives, 
particularly in respect of providing attractive places to live.  
 

Page 1234



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 319 

 

 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the focus on the list of strategic priorities for trees, 
woodland and hedgerows as part of a comprehensive network of green infrastructure 
in Option A would provide greater clarity and certainty for the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the Trees and 
Development SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

  

Page 1235



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 320 

 

CHAPTER 24 BIODIVERSITY 
 

Chapter 24 Biodiversity 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan). The biodiversity chapter includes 4 policies 
which provide a framework for the protection and enhancement of Salford’s 
biodiversity and geodiversity. Policy BG1 seeks a considerable net gain in 
biodiversity across Salford and sets out the priorities for this. It also designates a 
number of Local Nature Reserves and Sites of Biological Importance. Policy BG2 
sets out the approach to Nature Improvement Areas within Salford. Policy BG3 sets 
out requirements for development in relation to biodiversity, including a requirement 
that all development shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity value. Policy BG4 requires 
that development should not have a significant adverse impact on the value of any 
feature of geodiversity interest. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan). A number of saved UDP polices protect biodiversity within 
Salford, including: EN8 Nature Conservation Site of Local Importance, EN9 Wildlife 
Corridors, EN10 Protection of Species, EN11 Mosslands, EN12 Important 
Landscape Features and EN13 Protected Trees. These policies generally seek to 
protect biodiversity by placing relevant restrictions on development. They do not 
seek a net gain in biodiversity, and there is no mention of Nature Improvement 
Areas, although EN11 does address some of the key issues relating to lowland 
raised bog, which is a priority within the Salford part of the Nature Improvement 
Area. The NPPF sets out a number of requirements (paragraphs 170-177) relating to 
biodiversity, including that plans and planning decisions should provide net gains for 
biodiversity and establish coherent ecological networks (paragraph 170). There is no 
specific policy on geodiversity in the saved UDP policies, although EN12 Important 
Landscape Features could be used to protect geodiversity. 
 
Between the saved UDP policies and the NPPF, option B provides a significant 
amount of protection for biodiversity. However, it does not involve measures that 
seek to proactively enhance the biodiversity within the city. Although the NPPF 
seeks net gains and coherent ecological networks, without the detail contained within 
the Local Plan these are unlikely to be delivered. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period. 
 

Page 1236



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 321 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ ++ 0 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 ++ + 

10+ ++ + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ? 0 

10+ ? 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ + 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ + 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 - - 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 0-5 0 0 

Page 1237



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 322 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 - - 

5-10 - - 

10+ - - 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 +/- +/- 

10+ +/- +/- 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ 0 

10+ ++ 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty There is a reasonable level of certainty that the impacts identified 
above will be realised, as the chapter contains a high level of detail 
and is strongly worded, leaving little room for uncertainty. 
Biodiversity offsetting is a new concept for Salford, but similar 
schemes have operated successfully elsewhere in England for 
some years. However, there is flexibility within the chapter as to 
how the net gain for biodiversity is delivered which may affect 
some of the predicted impacts.  

Scale Primarily city-wide, although there will be impacts beyond the city 
boundary, particularly within the river catchments and the Nature 
Improvement Area, as plant and animal species migrate. 

Permanence Improvements to biodiversity can often take a very long time to be 
established, whereas sensitive sites/species can be destroyed 
very quickly. Therefore the impact of the policies will largely be 
limited to the time within which a supportive policy framework 
remains in place. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Cumulative impacts with policies GI1-GI7. 
The focus is on biodiversity but one of the outcomes is likely to be 
the creation of more attractive environments across the city, which 
will have a number of positive impacts. 
 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 

Page 1238



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 323 

 

Overall, both options would have a positive impact, although option A would have a 
much more positive impact as it seeks to proactively enhance biodiversity in the city 
as well as protecting existing biodiversity. 
 
Although the focus of the chapter is on biodiversity, a likely result of the chapter 
would be more attractive environments scattered through the city. Option A will be 
significantly better than option B in this regard because under option A policy BG3 
requires all development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity value and where 
mitigation is required lists a preference for on-site habitat provision or enhancement 
wherever practicable. This would help to deliver biodiversity close to where people 
live and where development is taking place, rather than focusing on protecting 
existing sites which are mostly in the west of the city and along the course of the 
Irwell.  
 
This would have a positive impact on a large number of the sustainability objectives. 
Firstly, there will be positive impacts on health (objective 1) as attractive 
environments will help to promote healthy lifestyles and good mental health. 
Similarly, there would be positive impacts on climate change mitigation (objective 8) 
as greener, more wildlife-rich environments would help to encourage active travel. 
This would also have a small impact on minimising fossil fuel use (objective 9). 
There would be likely to be a small positive impact on air quality (objective 7) from 
option A in the long term due to an increase in vegetation within the urban area. 
There would be a positive impact on amenity (objective 12) through improving 
neighbourhood quality, maintaining tranquil areas and mitigating the negative 
impacts of climate change on microclimates. There would be a strong positive impact 
on perceptions of the city (objective 21) under option A. 
 
Unsurprisingly, both options would have a positive impact on biodiversity (objective 
2) although option A would be much more positive due to the proactive nature of the 
policies and the requirement for net gain. Option A would have a positive impact on 
geological resources (objective 3) through the inclusion of policy BG4 and option B 
would have a positive impact through saved policy EN12. Both options would protect 
and enhance the quality of waterways (objective 5), but particularly option A as 
policy BG1 contains references to enhancing the role of the Irwell Valley as a 
strategic wildlife corridor and to achieving good status in all the city’s water bodies. 
 
The impact of option A on the loss of greenfield land is uncertain, as it depends on 
how developers choose to implement policy BG3, but, it is likely to help minimise the 
loss of greenfield land. The overall impact of the chapter on soil and land resources 
has been scored as uncertain because the restoration of lowland raised bog may 
involve some loss of high grade agricultural land within the ‘Biodiversity Heartland’. 
However, it must be remembered that, unlike loss to built development, bog 
restoration on agricultural land conserves the peat rather than degrading it and it 
would be technically possible to return the land to agriculture if required at some 
point in the future. Moreover, protecting and restoring lowland raised bog would help 
to safeguard the carbon currently stored within the peat and help the bog return to 
being an active carbon sink (objective 8). 
 
There could be negative impacts on both economic growth (objective 14) and 
housing provision (objective 17) as some additional costs to development are 

Page 1239



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 324 

 

possible, as well as some restrictions on development. These impacts would be felt 
under both options, although may be more pronounced under option A. 
The impacts on accessibility (objective 18) would be mixed under both options. Both 
options, but particularly option A, would contribute to securing accessible quality 
green space close to homes. However, both options would be likely to restrict the 
development of hard transport infrastructure. 
 
There would be some benefit to community cohesion (objective 19) particularly 
under option A as spaces designed for wildlife can help to create a sense of 
belonging and identity. This is particularly the case with the focus on locally 
distinctive landscapes such as the mosslands and the Irwell valley. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the chosen option as it would have the greatest positive impacts. Option 
B would represent a missed opportunity to secure a net gain in Salford’s biodiversity 
and would not be in line with the government’s 25 year environment plan.4 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None identified 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

                                                           
4 'A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment' Defra 2018 

Page 1240



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 325 

 

CHAPTER 25 RECREATION 
 

Policy R1 Recreation spatial strategy 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy R1 identifies the overarching elements 
that would comprise the comprehensive range of recreation facilities to be provided 
across Salford. It supplements this with a list of the strategically important recreation 
schemes that would be enhanced over the Local Plan period. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy ST10 
similarly identifies the overarching elements that would be secured in order to ensure 
a comprehensive range of recreation opportunities within the city. It does not identify 
strategic priorities however Saved UDP Policy R6 does provide a list of sites for new 
or improved recreation provision. The size and scale of the locations identified varies 
considerably, as does their current status and level of priority.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 0-5 + + 

Page 1241



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 326 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

Page 1242



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 327 

 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would list the strategic priorities for 
recreation in the city, many of which are already being pursued. 
The potential outcomes of both options over the plan period could 
therefore be similar overall, however the clear strategic guidance 
is considered to be positive in providing clear direction and 
therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of recreation land and facilities, as could be 
delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health 
(Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and 
perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute 
positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). It could also aid 
community cohesion by providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The strategic priorities identified include the city’ waterways which are a significant 
part of its history and weave through the urban area, the specific focus on these 
areas and other spaces within the urban area could also result in positive impacts in 
respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the quality of landscape and 
townscape (Objective 11). 
 
The up to date list of strategic priorities outlined in Option A could have a positive 
impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared with the 
neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that recreation priorities could have 
some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth (Objective 14) 
and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality recreation 

Page 1243



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 328 

 

opportunities could also impact positively on these objectives, particularly in respect 
of providing attractive places to live.  
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the up to date strategic framework in Option A would 
provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities for the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

 
  

Page 1244



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 329 

 

Policy R2 Recreation standards 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy R2 identifies the local recreation 
standards that the city council would adopt. These are a combination existing local 
recreation standards, those that have been amended, and new standards that have 
not previously been adopted. The policy supplements this with requirements for new 
residential developments to make contributions to achieving these standards. Policy 
R2 would be supplemented by a revised Greenspace Strategy Supplementary 
Planning Document to provide additional guidance for recreation and other policies. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy R2 similarly 
identifies the current local recreation standards. It also sets out criteria that need to 
be satisfied for recreation development to be acceptable. It does not identify the 
recreation contributions from new residential developments however Saved UDP 
Policy H8 does set these out having regard to local standards in Saved UDP Policy 
R2. Saved Policy R2 is supplemented by the adopted Greenspace Strategy 
Supplementary Planning Document which provides additional guidance for 
recreation and other policies. 
 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 + + 

Page 1245



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 330 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 
0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

Page 1246



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 331 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A new residential developments would be expected 
to contribute towards a wider range of local recreation standards, 
with a preference for on-site provision. The potential outcomes of 
both options over the plan period could therefore be similar overall, 
however the additional clear strategic guidance is considered to be 
positive in providing clear direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection, refurbishment where required, and enhancement any 
benefits are likely to increase over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of recreation land and facilities, as could be 
delivered through local recreation standards under both options, could bring major 
benefits in terms of mental health (Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the 
accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and perceptions of the city (Objective 21). 
Accessible open spaces could also contribute positively in terms of providing 
attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9), and positive 
impacts in respect of settings for some of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the 
quality of landscape and townscape (Objective 11). It could also aid community 
cohesion by providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19) and have a positive 
impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20). 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that recreation priorities could have 
some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth (Objective 14) 
and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality recreation 

Page 1247



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 332 

 

opportunities could also impact positively on these objectives, particularly in respect 
of providing attractive places to live.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the up to date and new local recreation standards and 
specific contributions required from new residential developments in Option A would 
provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities for the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

  

Page 1248



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 333 

 

Policy R3 Recreation facilities and residential amenity 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy R3 specifies a minimum distance 
required between the curtilage of residential properties and specific recreation 
facilities. Policy R3 would be supplemented by a revised Greenspace Strategy 
Supplementary Planning Document to provide additional guidance for recreation and 
other policies. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) is referenced in the reasoned justification of Saved Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) Policy R2. Saved Policy R2 is supplemented by the 
adopted Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document which provides 
additional guidance for recreation and other policies. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

Page 1249



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 334 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1250



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 335 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A suitable buffer distances will be applied to specific 
recreation facilities to minimise potential effects on the amenity of 
surrounding residents. The potential outcomes of both options 
over the plan period could be similar overall, however the 
additional weight of having a specific policy rather than a reference 
in a reasoned justification is considered to be positive in providing 
clear direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
protecting the amenity of surrounding residents.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits.  

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Both options would complement other local plan policies relating to 
design and amenity which would collectively have a positive effect 
on the achievement of some of the sustainability objectives.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Restricting the location of specific recreation facilities, as could be delivered under 
both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health (Objective 1), 
amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and perceptions of 
the city (Objective 21).  
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to the quality of landscape and townscape 
(Objective 11), and reducing crime and the fear of crime (Objective 13) by not 
locating recreation facilities too close to residential properties.  It could also aid 
community cohesion by providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that recreation priorities could have 
some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth (Objective 14) 
and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality recreation 
opportunities could also impact positively on these objectives, particularly in respect 
of providing attractive places to live.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the additional weight of having a specific policy in Option 
A would provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the appropriate location for 
recreation facilities.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 

Page 1251



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 336 

 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

  

Page 1252



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 337 

 

Policy R4 Protection of recreation land and facilities 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy R4 identifies the criteria that would be 
assessed when considering the principle of development proposals that would affect 
recreation land and facilities. Policy R4 would be supplemented by a revised 
Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document to provide additional 
guidance for recreation and other policies.   
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy R1 
identifies similar criteria to be assessed. Saved Policy R1 is supplemented by the 
adopted Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document which provides 
additional guidance for recreation and other policies.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

Page 1253



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 338 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1254



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 339 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would identify a criterion related to 
land allocated for alternative proposals provided that a net gain in 
recreation is delivered. The other criteria of both potential options 
could be similar overall when considering the principle of 
development proposals that would affect recreation land and 
facilities.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
protecting local resources, and at the city and sub-regional level by 
contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
Protecting the provision of a comprehensive range of recreation land and facilities, 
as could be delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of 
mental health (Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities 
(Objective 18) and perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces 
could also contribute positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live 
(Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). It could also result 
in positive impacts in respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10), the quality of 
landscape and townscape (Objective 11) and aid community cohesion by providing 
opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that the protection of recreation 
land and facilities could have some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting 
economic growth (Objective 14) and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). 
However high quality recreation opportunities could also impact positively on these 
objectives, particularly in respect of providing attractive places to live.  
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the up to date criteria in Option A would provide greater 
clarity and certainty in respect of proposals affecting recreation land and facilities.  
 

Page 1255



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 340 

 

Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

Page 1256



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 341 

 

  

Page 1257



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 342 

 

Policy R5 Strategic recreation routes 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy R5 identifies the overarching elements 
that would comprise the network of high quality recreation routes to be provided 
across Salford. It supplements this with a list of the existing and proposed strategic 
recreation routes that would be enhanced over the Local Plan period. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Policy R5 similarly 
identifies the overarching requirement for new development to protect existing routes 
and make provision for a new route or link in order to ensure a comprehensive 
network within the city. It does not name any strategic recreation routes in the policy 
although existing and proposed strategic routes are identified on the proposals map 
of Salford UDP.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
 
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

0-5 + + 

Page 1258



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 343 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 -/0 -/0 

5-10 -/0 -/0 

10+ -/0 -/0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 -/+ -/+ 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 + 

5-10 0 + 

10+ 0 + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 ++ ++ 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1259



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 344 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Under Option A the Local Plan would list the strategic priorities for 
recreation routes in the city, many of which are already being 
pursued. The potential outcomes of both options over the plan 
period could therefore be similar overall, however the clear 
strategic guidance is considered to be positive in providing clear 
direction and therefore certainty.  

Scale Both options would have impacts at the neighbourhood level by 
improving local connections, and at the city and sub-regional level 
by contributing to an integrated network of Green Infrastructure.  

Permanence Both options would deliver permanent benefits. With continued 
protection and enhancement any benefits are likely to increase 
over time. 
 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Other local plan policies relating to green infrastructure, 
biodiversity, air quality, accessibility would collectively have a 
positive effect on the achievement of some of the sustainability 
objectives relating to climate change, air quality and health.  

 

 
 
Appraisal summary 
 
The provision of a comprehensive range of recreation land and facilities, as could be 
delivered under both options, could bring major benefits in terms of mental health 
(Objective 1), amenity (Objective 12), the accessibility of facilities (Objective 18) and 
perceptions of the city (Objective 21). Accessible open spaces could also contribute 
positively in terms of providing attractive areas to live (Objective 17). 
 
Further benefits could be realised relating to a reduced need to travel and/ or the 
protection of open greenfield land including in respect of biodiversity (Objective 2), 
soil and land (Objective 4), air quality (Objective 7), contributions to climate change 
(Objective 8), and use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9). It could also aid 
community cohesion by providing opportunities for interaction (Objective 19). 
 
The strategic priorities identified include the city’ looplines and routes along 
waterways which are a significant part of its history and weave through the urban 
area, the specific focus on these areas and other spaces within the urban area could 
also result in positive impacts in respect of the city’s heritage (Objective 10) and the 
quality of landscape and townscape (Objective 11). 
 
The up to date list of strategic recreation routes outlined in Option A could have a 
positive impact in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20) compared 
with the neutral impact of Option B. 
 
Where there is competition for land, it is possible that recreation priorities could have 
some minor negative impacts in terms of limiting economic growth (Objective 14) 
and the provision of new homes (Objective 17). However high quality recreation 
opportunities could also impact positively on these objectives, particularly in respect 
of providing attractive places to live.  

Page 1260



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 345 

 

Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is the preferred option. The appraisal of the two options suggests similar 
outcomes overall, however the up to date strategic framework in Option A would 
provide greater clarity and certainty in respect of the key priorities for the city.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
would need to be updated to coincide with the adoption of the Local Plan, 
either independently or as part of a new Green Infrastructure SPD, to provide 
additional guidance on the implementation of the policy.  

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, further consideration to be given to an update of the 
Greenspace Strategy SPD running alongside the Local Plan process. 

 

  

Page 1261



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 346 

 

CHAPTER 26 AIR QUALITY 
 

Policy AQ1 Air Quality 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy AQ1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
describes that a substantial improvement in Salford’s air quality will be sought. It 
identifies a number of measures that will help to achieve this including sustainable 
transport options, control of activities that emit air pollutants, designing the built 
environment to minimise and mitigate air pollutants and locating sensitive uses away 
from areas of high air pollution. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Improvements in air quality and measures to achieve this 
are encouraged through the NPPF. Saved UDP Policy EN17 requires consideration 
to be given to the impacts of polluting activities and to locate sensitive uses away 
from sources of pollutants. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal. 
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for both options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

0-5 0 0 

Page 1262



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 347 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ ++ ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 
0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

Page 1263



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 348 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty A number of measures can be taken through the planning system 
to improve air quality however many provide opportunities that are 
reliant on individual choices in respect of adopting new 
technologies and taking more sustainable options.  
 
The air quality management zone is focused around the city’s 
main highways and therefore air quality is heavily influenced by 
measures taken in surrounding local authorities.  

Scale Improvements to air quality will have local benefits for the city and 
sub-region. The reduction in emissions will however have wider 
benefits in terms of reducing contributions to climate change.  

Permanence Impacts permanent and increasing as technologies improve and 
behavioural changes take effect. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The air quality management zone is focused around the city’s 
highway infrastructure. Air quality within the city is therefore 
affected by the transport movements of people living outside of its 
boundaries. The scale of improvements possible therefore in part 
depends on actions by surrounding local authorities. 
 
Improvements to air quality will depend on a variety of measures 
covering a number of topic areas including accessibility, green 
infrastructure and the location of new development.  

 
Appraisal summary 
 
Measures to improve air quality in the city would be promoted under both options, 
the two therefore score similarly against the various sustainability objectives. 
However Option A includes a specific policy relating to air quality which identifies a 
number of actions for the city. Given this additional level of local guidance the 
certainty around its impacts may be greater than under Option A under which the 
guidance would be more general in nature. 
 
A policy framework that encourages improvements to air quality and the careful 
location of polluting and/or sensitive uses would be expected to contribute positively 
to a number of sustainability objectives as above, with the benefits increasing over 
time as cumulative impacts grow and measures such as those relating to the 
promotion of sustainable modes of transport change behaviours. 
 
Improvements to air quality would be expected to have both positive and negative 
impacts in terms of maximising economic growth (Objective 14). Requirements 
around air quality could potentially support growth by contributing to sustainable 

Page 1264



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 349 

 

attractive city in which to live and work. Conversely some requirements could place 
restrictions on certain businesses/ economic activities. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. The two options would both require steps to be taken to 
improve air quality however Option A embeds those principles in the Local Plan and 
identifies a number of specific measures that will be taken towards that objective.  
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 Given the influence of the city’s highway infrastructure it will be important that 
the city continues to work closely with neighbouring authorities, Transport for 
Greater Manchester and the Highways Agency, to ensure complementary 
actions are taken elsewhere. 

 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 None required, relevant issue for wider planning and regeneration activities 
within the city. 

  

Page 1265



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 350 

 

CHAPTER 27 POLLUTION AND HAZARDS 
 

Policy PH1 Pollution Control 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy PH1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
requires that development minimise and mitigate pollution. Development that would 
result in unacceptable levels of pollution, either individually or cumulatively, will not 
be permitted. The policy identifies key issues to be considered in relation to 
acceptable pollution levels, including the potential impacts on human health and 
amenity. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy EN17 similarly ensures that pollution is 
considered as part of development proposals. The NPPF provides identifies 
minimising pollution as one of the overarching objectives (paragraph 7c) and 
describes that planning policies and decision should prevent new and existing 
development from contributing to, being put at risk from, or being adversely affected 
by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water, or noise pollution or land stability.  
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.  
 
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 0-5 0 0 

Page 1266



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 351 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

Page 1267



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 352 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The restrictions imposed under both options ensure that issues of 
pollution are fully considered through the development process. 

Scale Both options would provide local benefits for the city, however the 
nature of pollution, means that measures taken within the city can 
have wider benefits for neighbouring area and, through reductions 
in climate change emissions, on a much wider scale. 

Permanence Both options require measures to be taken to address issues of 
pollution through the development process. The impacts of the 
policy would therefore be felt over the long term. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

The objectives and controls imposed through the policy 
complement other policy areas that contribute to reductions in 
resource use and polluting emissions including the accessibility, 
design and energy chapters. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The controls on polluting activities under both options would be expected to have 
major positive impacts on a number of sustainability objectives, including those 
relating to physical and mental health (Objective 1), biodiversity resources (Objective 
2), soil and land (Objective 4), water resources (Objective 5), air quality (Objective 
7), contributions to climate change (Objective 8), amenity (Objective 12), ensuring 
everyone has access to a good home that meets their needs (Objective 17) and 
improving perceptions of the city (Objective 21). 
 
It is possible that the requirements under both options could place restraints on 
certain business activities and therefore a negative impact has been identified in 
relation to Objective 14. However, those same controls would be a key part of 
ensuring a sustainable attractive city and could also have positive impacts in relation 
to that same objective.  
 
The more detailed guidance provided under Option A is identified as having a 
positive impact in relation to decision making (Objective 20), with Option B having a 
neutral impact in this regard. 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. Both of the options would be expected to have similar benefits, 
however the more detailed guidance under Option A has the potential to aid the 
decision making process to a greater degree. 

Page 1268



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 353 

 

 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1269



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 354 

 

Policy PH2 Control of Hazardous Uses 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy PH2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
describes that hazardous use consents and developments involving hazardous 
substances will only be permitted where there is no unacceptable risk to the public, it 
will not hamper or reduce development options on adjacent sites and any 
substances will be stored in a way that minimises any potential harm. 
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy DEV3 places similar restrictions on 
hazardous uses but does not provide the same level of explanation in respect of the 
key considerations. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.   
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

Page 1270



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 355 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 -/+ -/+ 

10+ -/+ -/+ 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 0/+ 0 

5-10 0/+ 0 

10+ 0/+ 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1271



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 356 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty The outcomes under both options, which support the formal 
hazardous uses consent regime, would be expected to be fairly 
certain. The additional guidance provided in Option A around the 
key considerations would be expected to be more positive in this 
regard.   

Scale City / neighbouring authorities. Health and Safety consultation 
zones around hazardous installations extend beyond the city 
boundaries. 

Permanence Both options require controls on hazardous installations in terms of 
their location, impact on neighbouring sites and the way 
substances are stored. The impact of the policy is therefore long-
term/ permanent relating to the lifespan of the use proposed. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Hazardous installations are found within the city’s employment 
areas and therefore the controls outlined complement the 
protection and enhancement of existing employment areas 
outlined in the economy chapter.   

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The control of hazardous substances that would be in place under both options has 
the potential to have a major positive impact on sustainability objectives relating to 
physical and mental health (Objective 1), biodiversity (Objective 2), soil and land 
(Objective 4), water resources (Objective 5), air quality (Objective 7) and amenity 
(Objective 12). 
 
In respect of maximising economic growth (Objective 14) there is the potential for 
both positive and negative impacts. Negative associated with the potential for 
constraints to be placed on certain business activities and positive in respect of the 
requirements in both options to ensure development potential on neighbouring sites 
is not compromised.  
 
The additional guidance provided in Option A around the key considerations would 
be expected to be more positive in respect of involvement in decision making 
(Objective 20).   
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. Both options would be expected to lead to similar sustainability 
outcomes, however the additional level of guidance under Option A could provide 
greater clarity around the key considerations and therefore greater certainty around 
those outcomes. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

Page 1272



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 357 

 

 Not applicable 
  

Page 1273



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 358 

 

Policy PH3 Development near hazardous installations 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy PH3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
reinforces the consultation requirements of the Health and Safety Executive in terms 
of the proximity of development to hazardous installations.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Saved UDP Policy DEV4 provides a similar level of 
guidance. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.   
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1274



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 359 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + + 

5-10 + + 

10+ + + 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options ensure that consideration is given to the proximity of 
development hazardous installations. This supports consultation 

Page 1275



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 360 

 

Effects Appraisal 

requirements imposed by the Health and Safety Executive. The 
sustainability outcomes are therefore certain. 

Scale City / neighbouring authorities. Health and Safety consultation 
zones around hazardous installations extend beyond the city 
boundaries. 

Permanence Both options relate to the location of new development and 
therefore the impacts are long term/ permanent. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

Closely linked to requirements relating to the location of hazardous 
installations. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The controls over development close to hazardous installations that would be in 
place under both options has the potential to have a major positive impacts in terms 
of objectives relating to physical and mental health (Objective 1) and amenity 
(Objective 12). Both options also signpost the consultation requirements of the 
Health and Safety Executive, and the key issues in this regard, and as such could 
have a positive impact in relation to involvement in decision making (Objective 20). 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. Both options provide a similar level of guidance and would be 
expected to result in similar outcomes. The policy under Option A would be more 
detailed which is positive in terms of providing a better understanding of the issues. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 

Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable  
  

Page 1276



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 361 

 

Policy PH4 Land instability 

 
Description of options 
 
Option A (Revised Draft Local Plan) Policy PH4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
describes that development will not be permitted where it would be subject to, or 
would result in, an unacceptable risk in relation to land instability.  
 
Option B (No Local Plan) Paragraph 170(e) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework sets out that planning policies and decisions should prevent new and 
existing development from contributing to, being put at risk from, or being adversely 
affected by land instability. The Saved Policies of the UDP are silent on the issue of 
land stability. 
 
Reasons for selecting those options 
 
Option A is the Revised Draft Local Plan option and therefore needs to be appraised.  
Option B is the no plan option which is a requirement to consider through the 
sustainability appraisal.  
 
Assessment of options 
 
Implementation is influenced by existing planning consents, and it is therefore 
assumed that for all three options, there would be very limited impact in the first five 
years of the plan period.   
 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

1)   To improve physical and mental health 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

2)   To protect, enhance and restore 
biodiversity resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

3)   To protect, enhance and restore 
geological resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

4)   To protect and improve soil and land 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

5)   To protect and enhance water resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

6)   To minimise the risk and impacts of 
flooding 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

7)   To improve air quality 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

Page 1277



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 362 

 

Sustainability objective 

Timing 
(years) 

Option 

A B 

8)   To minimise contributions to climate 
change 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

9)   To minimise the use of non-renewable 
resources 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

10) To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of, the city’s heritage 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

11) To maintain and enhance the quality and 
character of landscape and townscape 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

12) To protect and enhance amenity 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 ++ ++ 

10+ ++ ++ 

13) To reduce crime and the fear of crime 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

14) To maximise economic growth that can 
be sustained in the long-term 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

15) To enhance economic inclusion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

16) To improve the city’s knowledge base 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

17) To ensure that everyone has access to a 
good home that meets their needs 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

18) To improve the accessibility of facilities 
and opportunities 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

19) To improve community cohesion 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

20) To increase involvement in decision-
making 

0-5 + 0 

5-10 + 0 

10+ + 0 

21) To improve perceptions of the city 

0-5 0 0 

5-10 0 0 

10+ 0 0 

++ major positive; + minor positive; 0 neutral; - minor negative; - - 
major negative; ? uncertain 

 
 

Page 1278



Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
Appendix 9 Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan Policies and Reasonable Alternatives 

Appendix 9 - Page 363 

 

Effects Appraisal 

Certainty Both options ensure that consideration is given to issues of land 
instability. The sustainability outcomes are therefore certain. 

Scale Neighbourhood. The policy ensures new development is not 
affected by or causes issues of land stability which could affect 
surrounding sites / buildings. 

Permanence Both options relate new development and therefore the impacts 
are long term/ permanent. 

Secondary, 
cumulative, 
synergistic 

None. 

 
Appraisal summary 
 
The considered of land stability issues through the development management 
process, as would be required under both options, helps to ensure that new or 
existing development is not affected by related issues such as subsidence. As such 
both options have the potential to have major positive impacts in relation to physical 
and mental health (Objective 1), protecting soil and land (Objective 4), minimising 
the use of non-renewable resources (Objective 9) and protecting amenity (Objective 
12). Whilst a similar approach would be taken under both options, the explicit 
reference to land instability in the development plan gives prominence to the issue 
and could be positive in terms of involvement in decision making (Objective 20). 
 
Selected option and reasons 
 
Option A is selected. Both options provide a similar level of guidance and would be 
expected to result in similar outcomes. The explicit reference to the issue under 
Option A gives greater prominence to the issue. 
 
Potential mitigation 
 

 None 
 
Changes made to Revised Draft Local Plan prior to approval/ consultation in 
response to mitigation identified 
 

 Not applicable 
 

Page 1279



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1281



Page 1282



Page 1283



Page 1284



1 
 

 
 

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) 
 

Title of proposal: Revised Draft Local Plan 

Service Group/ Team: Spatial Planning  

Date of assessment: 17/12/2018 

Lead CIA Officer: Cheryl Ma 

Officers in Assessment 
Team: 

Claire Thorn, Matt Doherty, Jimmy McManus, Amelia 
Lucas, Steve Davey, Fiona Fryer 

Review Date: April-May 2019 following consultation on the Revised 
Draft Local Plan 

 
The findings of your CIA MUST be included within the report for decision and 
this document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact 
on communities. 
 
 

Summary of Community Impact Assessment 
 
 
Summary of proposal  
 
Salford City Council is preparing a Local Plan. This is a planning policy document 
which will form the main part of the statutory development plan for Salford, setting 
out how Salford should develop up to 2037. Once adopted the Local Plan will 
replace the saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies.  
 
The Local Plan will:  

 Set out how Salford should develop over the next two decades up to the year 
2037 

 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the city, 
such as housing, offices, industry and retail and the main areas in which this will 
be focused 

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities 
 Protect the city's important environmental assets 
 Allocate land for particular uses or protective designations 
 Set out the main policies that will be used to determine planning applications 

The Local Plan will provide policies covering a very wide range of topics including 
housing, economic development, town centres and retail development, health, 
education, accessibility, energy, climate change, air quality, water, design, heritage, 
green infrastructure, Green Belt, agriculture, biological and geological diversity, 
recreation, pollution and hazards, minerals and waste. 

 

Page 1285



2 
 

The Revised Draft Local Plan is the next version in the production of the Local Plan. 
It follows on from the Draft Local Plan which was consulted upon between November 
2016 and January 2017. The revised draft version has been modified, having regard 
to comments received, updates to the evidence base, changes to national planning 
policy and other guidance. Work on the emerging Greater Manchester planning 
policy document known as the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) has 
also informed changes to the Local Plan.    

CIA approach  
Policy topic leads all contributed to the CIA assessment of each of the policy areas in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan, and considered whether the proposed policies would 
have a disproportionate impact on protected groups.  
 
 

Page 1286



3 
 

1. The proposal 

 
This section should outline details of the proposal. This could include (where 
applicable) 
 

 Description of the current service (policy, procedure, strategy, function) 

 Explanation of the proposal 

 Reason for the proposal 

 Aim or purpose of the proposal 

 Who should benefit from the proposal 

 Who are the key stakeholders 

 What outcomes are required from the proposal 

 Details of other services on which the proposal could impact  

 Social value considerations 
 

  

 
Proposal 
Salford City Council is preparing a Local Plan which will be the main land use planning 
document for the city. The Local Plan will: 

 Set out how Salford should develop over the next two decades up to the year 2035 
 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the city, 

such as housing, offices, industry and retail and the main areas in which this will 
be focused 

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities 
 Protect the city's important environmental assets 
 Allocate land for particular uses or protective designations 
 Set out the main policies that will be used to determine planning applications 

The Local Plan will provide policies covering a very wide range of topics including 
housing, economic development, town centres and retail development, health, 
education, accessibility, energy, climate change, air quality, water, design heritage, 
green infrastructure, Green Belt, agriculture, biological and geological diversity, 
recreation, pollution and hazards, minerals and waste. The Revised Draft Local Plan 
contains draft policies covering the issues listed above.  

This CIA relates to the Revised Draft Local Plan which is the next version in the 
production of the Local Plan. It follows on from the Draft Local Plan which was 
consulted upon between November 2016 and January 2017. The revised draft version 
has been modified, having regard to comments received, updates to the evidence 
base, changes to national planning policy and other guidance. Work on the emerging 
Greater Manchester planning policy document known as the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework (GMSF) has also informed changes to the Local Plan.    
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan is due to go out for public consultation for approximately 
an eight week period commencing the end of January 2019. Following this period of 
consultation, the publication version of the plan that the city council intends to adopt is 
envisaged to be issued later in 2019, prior to submission to the Secretary of State. A 
public examination will then be held into the proposed Local Plan, and subject to its 
outcome, the city council would then seek to formally adopt the document.  
 

Page 1287



4 
 

Details of previous stages of consultation are set out in section 3 of the community 
impact assessment.  
 
Related policies and plans 
Given the broad scope of the Local Plan, there are a large number of policies and 
strategies which must be taken into account in its production. Government planning 
policy at the national level is contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) of which a revised version was published in July 2018. The NPPF covers most 
planning issues with additional guidance provided in the National Planning Policy 
Guidance (NPPG).  
 
Another planning document entitled the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
(GMSF) is currently being produced. The Revised Draft GMSF will go out to 
consultation at roughly the same time as the Revised Draft Local Plan. The GMSFwill 
provide an overarching plan that will cover the whole of Greater Manchester. The Local 
Plan will need to be consistent with the GMSF and assist with its implementation, with 
some of the major decisions about Salford’s future being taken through the GMSF.  
 
The GMSF will provide the overall spatial strategy for Greater Manchester, including 
setting out the scale and distribution of housing and employment growth across the 
conurbation for the next 20 years, including requirements for each district. It will identify 
strategic land allocations for housing and employment, key infrastructure requirements 
to support this growth and, if required, make amendments to the Green Belt 
boundaries. It will provide a strategic environmental policy framework to ensure that 
growth is accommodated in a sustainable way and that Greater Manchester will be 
resilient to existing and future climate pressures. The GMSF will also set out strategic 
development management policies where it is important for there to be a consistent 
Greater Manchester approach. 
 
Some of the major decisions regarding Salford’s future development will effectively be 
taken through the GMSF, and the Local Plan will provide a much more detailed set of 
local policies to complement this. It is the intention that the Local Plan will be produced 
in parallel with the GMSF as far as possible. 
 
The Salford Local Plan will need to be consistent with the GMSF, and the revised draft 
version has been written accordingly. All decisions about whether Green Belt 
boundaries in Salford should be altered, including whether any existing Green Belt 
should be de-designated and allocated for development, will be made through the 
GMSF and not through the Local Plan. 
 
Who will the Local Plan impact on / key stakeholders 
The Local Plan, should it be adopted will impact on the lives of residents, workers and 
visitors to the city, also local businesses, landowners and developers, public bodies 
(such as the Environment Agency and Highways Agency), infrastructure providers and 
adjoining local authorities.   
 

 

Page 1288



5 
 

2. Evidence and research 

 
What equality information (qualitative and quantitative), research or other intelligence 
have you used to develop this proposal? 
 
This can include; equality monitoring information, census data, customer satisfaction 
surveys and feedback, inspection reports, desktop research (local, regional and 
national), professional journals, feedback from individuals and groups. Details of 
information considered when assessing the impact should be published (whilst 
ensuring individual confidentiality). 
 
Please note the information sources etc listed may have influenced the development of 
other policies in the plan, but the policies listed are those that have been directly informed 
by the reports, data or research etc. 
 

Information source Revised Draft Local Plan 
policies 

What has this told you? / Notes 

All Revised Draft Local Plan policies 

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
2018 (NPPF)  

All  Government planning policy at the 
national level is contained in the 
National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) which covers 
most planning issues.   
 

National Planning 
Policy Guidance 
(NPPG) 

All  Additional guidance at the national 
level is set out in the National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 

Economic development  

Revised Draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF) 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC2 
Policy EC3  
Policy EC4  
Policy EC5 
Policy EC6 
 
 

Identifies economic vision, priorities 
and development levels anticipated 
to 2037. Identifies potential to 
extend Port Salford beyond the 
area currently permitted on to 
Green Belt land north of the A57. 

Salford City Council  
Non-residential 
development 
monitoring report April 
2017-March 2018 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC2 
Policy EC3  
Policy EC4  
Policy EC5 
Policy EC6 
 

Provides data on planning 
permissions and past completions 
in the city.  

MDS Transmodal 
Greater Manchester 
Logistics Study 
(September 2014) 
 
 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC4 
Policy EC5 
Policy EC6 

Identifies Port Salford as the only 
opportunity to develop a tri-modal 
distribution park within Greater 
Manchester.  

Nathaniel Lichfield and 
Partners Salford 
Employment Land 
Review (2009) 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC3 
Policy EC4 
Policy EC5  

Provides a description and 
assessment of the city’s main 
employment areas.   
 

Page 1289



6 
 

Policy EC6 
 

 

Salford City Council’s  
Saved Unitary 
Development Plan 
policy E5 and the 
Established 
Employment Areas 
Supplementary 
Planning Document   

Policy EC1 
Policy EC6 

 
Application of the policy and the 
supplementary planning document 
has influenced the development of 
the policy approach to established 
employment areas. 

NOMIS Labour Market 
Statistics / ONS data 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC3 
Policy EC4  
Policy EC6 

 Data relating to the city’s economy 

Salford City Council 
Housing and 
Economic Land 
Availability 
Assessment (2018) 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC2 
Policy EC3 
Policy EC4  
Policy EC5  
Policy EC6 

Identifies specific sites for new 
employment land across the city to 
meet the identified requirement.   

 

City Mayor’s 
Employment Charter 
(November 2013)  

Policy EC1 
Policy EC2 
Policy EC3 
Policy EC4  
Policy EC5  
Policy EC6 

Designed to help to raise 
employment standards for 
employees and businesses.  

No One Left behind: 
Tackling Poverty in 
Salford. A joint 
strategy for the Salford 
City Mayor and 
Salford Youth Mayor 
(February 2017) 

Policy EC1 
Policy EC2 
Policy EC3 
Policy EC4  
Policy EC5  
Policy EC6 

The strategy restates Salford’s 
commitment to tackling poverty and 
tackling inequality and set out the 
approach Salford City Mayor and 
Salford Youth Mayor will take over 
the next few years to give residents 
the best chance of a poverty free 
future.  

Housing 

Changes to planning 
policy and guidance 
including the standard 
methodology for 
assessing local 
housing need 
(October 2018) 

Policy H1 
Policy H2 

Consultation setting out how the 
government propose that local 
housing need should be calculated 
using the standard methodology.   

Revised Draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial 
Framework 
 

Policy H1  
Policy H2 
Policy H3 
Policy H4 
Policy H6 
Policy H7  
Policy H9  
Policy H12  
 

Establishes the housing 
requirements for each district in 
Greater Manchester over the 
period 2017-37, including Salford. 
These have been carried forward 
into the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
The Local Plan also takes into 
account other policies in the 
GMSF.  

Salford City Council 
Residential 

Policy H2 
 

Provides data on planning 
permissions and past completions 

Page 1290



7 
 

Development 
Monitoring Report 1 
April2017-31 March 
2018 

in the city. 

ONS 2016 based sub 
national population 
projections (2018) 
informs the type and 
scale of new housing 
being planned for in 
the Local Plan 

Policy H1 
Policy H2 
Policy H3 
Policy H4 
Policy H5 
Policy H10  
Policy H11 

Informs the size, type, and scale of 
new housing being planned for in 
the Local Plan.  

ONS 2016 based 
household projections 
(2018) 

Policy H1 
Policy H2 
Policy H3 
Policy H4 
Policy H5 
Policy H9 
Policy H10  
Policy H11 

Informs the size, type and scale of 
new housing being planned for in 
the Local Plan.  

Housing and 
Economic Land 
Availability 
Assessment (2018) 

Policy H1 
Policy H2 
Policy H3 
Policy H9 

Identifies specific sites for new 
housing across the city to meet the 
identified requirement.  

Greater Manchester 
Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment 
(2019) 

Policy H1 
Policy H2 
Policy H4 
Policy H5 
Policy H7 
Policy H10 
Policy H11 
Policy H12 

Established the overall need for 
housing across the sub-region and 
also gives consideration to the 
appropriate types of housing that 
need to be provided.  

Greater Manchester 
Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation 
Assessment (2018)  

Policy H1 
Policy H12 

Identifies the need for new pitches 
for gypsies and travellers and new 
plots for travelling showpeople.  

Salford City Council 
Evidence of the need 
for affordable housing 
(December 2014) 

Policy H1 
Policy H7 

Identifies the need for affordable 
housing so that the council can 
have a policy in its Local Plan 
requiring the provision of affordable 
homes as part of new 
developments.  

Salford City Council 
Local Plan: 
assessment of 
residential viability 
(January 2019) 

Policy H1 
Policy H2 
Policy H3 
Policy H5 
Policy H7 
Policy D7 
Policy R1 
Policy PC1 

An assessment of the financial 
implications of the policies in the 
Local Plan on scheme viability, 
particularly the requirements for 
internal space standards, planning 
obligations and affordable housing. 
Informs the affordable housing 
policy. 

Building Regulations 
2010 part M (2015 
Edition)  

Policy H1 
Policy H10 
Policy D7 

Sets out the national requirements 
for accessible and adaptable 
dwellings that the city council are 
seeking through the Local Plan 

Page 1291



8 
 

(and also wheelchair standards 
that developers will be encouraged 
to build to).  

DCLG (March 2015) 
Technical housing 
standards – nationally 
described space 
standard.  

Policy H1 
Policy H5  
Policy D7 

The national internal space 
standards that the city council are 
seeking to adopt through the Local 
Plan.  
 

Homes and 
Communities Agency 
et al (December 2009) 
HAPPI – Housing our 
Ageing Population: 
Panel for Innovation. 

Policy H1 
Policy H10 

Sets out best practice for housing 
for older people.  

Salford City Council 
custom and self-build 
register 

Policy H1 
PolicyH13 

Identifies the need for new plots for 
custom and self-build plots.  

Town centres and retail development 

Salford’s town and 
neighbourhood centre 
review (September 
2016) 
 
 
 

Policy TC1 
Policy TC2 
Policy TC3 
Policy TC4 

Provides a review of the current 
role and function of the city’s 
existing centres, proposed new 
centres, former centres and other 
identified clusters of main town 
centre uses. This has then 
informed the boundaries of existing 
centres, designation of any new 
retail centres, primary shopping 
areas and retail frontages as 
covered by the Draft Local Plan. 

Education   

Salford City Council 
School Census (2018) 

Policy ED2 
Policy ED3 

Provides details of primary and 
secondary schools within Salford 
and the current number of pupils 
on roll.  

Salford’s Planning 
Obligations 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD): background 
document on primary 
pupil yield 
methodology and 
evidence base (June 
2015)  

Policy ED2 
Policy ED3 

Sets out the methodology and 
evidence base for Salford City 
Council’s approach to defining the 
primary pupil yield factor from new 
housing development.  
 
The primary pupil yield factor 
provides the basis for calculating 
the average number of primary 
pupils that a new housing 
development can be expected to 
generate. It therefore forms the 
basis of the standard approach to 
calculating a proportionate financial 
contribution from new 
development, as set out in Policy 
OB3 of the Planning Obligations 
SPD.   

Salford’s Planning Policy ED2  Sets out information on the 

Page 1292



9 
 

Obligations 
Supplementary 
Planning Document: 
background document 
on primary pupil 
projections (March 
2016) 
 
 
 

Policy ED3 capacity of existing state-funded 
primary schools within Salford, 
having regard to the city council’s 
projections of the requirement for 
primary pupil places in future. 
Updated school capacity will be 
published annually by the city 
council. This will determine 
whether it is appropriate to seek 
financial contributions from new 
housing development across all 
parts of the city via Policy OB3 of 
the Planning Obligations SPD.  

Salford’s Planning 
Obligations 
Supplementary 
Planning Document: 
background document 
on cost updates 
(March 2018) 

Policy ED2  
Policy ED3 
 

Sets out the most up-to-date 
education contribution costs which 
will be applied in relation to policies 
OB2 and OB3 of the planning 
obligations SPD. Updated cost 
data is published annually by the 
city council.  

Health 

Public Health England 
(2018) Salford Health 
Profile 2018 

Policy HH1  
Policy HH2 
Policy HH3 
Policy HH4 

Health profile of Salford residents 

Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (topic 
chapters various 
dates) 

Policy HH1  
Policy HH2 
Policy HH3  
Policy HH4 

Assessment of current and future 
needs of local communities – 
health is one focus of the report.  

Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(2018) Annual Report 
and Accounts 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 
2018 

Policy HH1  
Policy HH2 
Policy HH3  
Policy HH4 
 

Includes an introduction to the 
Salford NHS Foundation Trust 

NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
(August 2017) Locality 
Plan for Salford: Start 
Well. Live Well. Age 
Well.  

Policy HH1  
Policy HH2 
Policy HH3  
Policy HH4 
 

The document is the ‘blueprint’ for 
the city’s health and social care. It 
explains how the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and other 
NHS providers and commissioners, 
Salford City Council and voluntary 
and community sector will build on 
what is already in place so services 
work better and cost less.  

Accessibility 

Greater Manchester 
Cycling Strategy (July 
2014)  

Policy A1 
Policy A4 

The strategy sets out a target of 
increasing cycle trips to 10% of 
mode share by 2025. 

Greater Manchester 
Freight and Logistics 
Transport Strategy 
(2016) 

Policy A1 
Policy A6 

The strategy identifies the vision to 
provide ‘world class connections 
that support long-term sustainable 
economic growth and access to 
opportunity for all’.  

Page 1293



10 
 

Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 
2040 ( February 2017) 

Policies A1-14 
  

Vision for transport  

Made to Move: 15 
steps to transform 
Greater Manchester, 
by changing the way 
we get around (2018) 

Policy A1 
Policy A2 
Policy A3 
Policy A4 
Policy A7 

Recommendations will inform the 
development of the Greater 
Manchester Cycling and Walking 
Strategy (to be published in 2019) 

Air Quality / Climate Change / Energy / Pollution and hazards 

Climate Change Act 
2008  

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2  
Policy PH1  

The Climate Change Act 2008 
commits the UK to reducing 
emissions by at least 80% in 2059 
from 1990 levels.  

Salford’s Air Quality 
Management Area 
(AQMA) 2016 
 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2 
Policy PH1  

Greater Manchester AQMA 2016 
(updates the 2006 AQMA) shows 
areas in particular where an 
improvement in air quality is 
needed 

Greater Manchester 
Low-Emission 
Strategy (December 
2016)  

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG2 
 
 
 

Sets out a framework for policies 
and measures to:  

 Reduce air pollution as a 
contributor to ill-health in 
Greater Manchester 

 Support the UK Government 
in meeting EU air quality 
thresholds 

 Contribute to a reduction in 
Greater Manchester’s 
carbon footprint; and  

 Encourage low emission 
behaviours in the culture 
and lifestyles of the city 
region 

Greater Manchester 
Air Quality Action Plan 
(December 2016) 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG2 
 
 

The key objectives of the plan are:  

 Air quality across Greater 
Manchester will improve 

 Low-emission behaviours 
will have become embedded 
into the culture of 
organisations and lifestyles 
by 2025 

 The plan will support the UK 
government in meeting and 
maintaining all EU 
thresholds for key air 
pollutants at the earliest 
date to reduce ill-health in 
Greater Manchester 

Greater Manchester 
Climate Change 
Strategy (2011) 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2 

Aims to tackle carbon emissions 
and sets out how it will build a 
greener, more sustainable region. 
This sets a target to cut carbon 

Page 1294



11 
 

Policy PH1 dioxide emissions by 48% 
compared to 1990 levels by 2020.   

Salford’s Climate 
Change Strategy 
(June 2010) 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2  
Policy PH1 

The strategy is a statement of 
commitment intended to address 
the challenges of climate change.  

City Mayor’s Eco-City 
Charter 2013 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1  
Policy EG2 
Policy PH1 

The City Mayor’s Eco-City Charter 
2013 committed Salford to saving 
energy and reducing our 
greenhouse gas emissions.  

25 Year Environment 
Plan (January 2018) 

Policy AQ1  
Policy CC1  
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2 
 

This 25 Year Environment Plan 
sets out government action to help 
the natural world regain and retain 
good health. It aims to deliver 
cleaner air and water in our cities 
and rural landscapes, protect 
threatened species and provide 
richer wildlife habitats. 

Industrial Strategy 
(November 2017)  

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2 
 
 
 

Outlines the Government’s plan for 
improving the UK’s productivity 
rates and provides further clarity for 
the energy industry with a 
commitment to minimising 
business energy costs, developing 
new energy technologies and 
decarbonising transportation.  

Clean Air Strategy 
Consultation (May 
2018) 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2 
 
 
 

Sets out government ambitions for 
improved air quality by reducing 
pollution from a wide range of 
sources. Comments were sought 
on the overall strategy and specific 
proposed actions.  

Clean Growth Strategy 
(October 2017) 

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
 

The strategy sets out policies and 
proposals that aim to accelerate 
the pace of “clean growth” 
delivering increased economic 
growth and decreased emissions.  

UK Plan for tackling 
roadside nitrogen 
dioxide concentrations 
(DEFRA, July 2018)  

Policy AQ1 
Policy CC1 
 

A statutory air quality plan for 
tackling nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
setting out how the UK will be 
reducing roadside NO2 
concentrations.  
 
Seven districts in Greater 
Manchester including Salford 
(Regent Road) are predicted to 
continue to breach or be at risk of 
breaching the NO2 annual air 
quality limit value in 2021.  
 

Page 1295



12 
 

Salford and other identified Greater 
Manchester local authorities are 
required to develop and implement 
a plan designed to deliver 
compliance in the shortest possible 
time.  

Water 

Salford Local Flood 
Risk Management 
Strategy (2015)  

Policy WA1 
Policy WA4 
Policy WA5 
Policy WA6 

The strategy is intended to help to 
guide and prioritise actions within 
Salford to manage local flood risk.  

Environment Agency 
North West River 
Basin Management 
Plan (2015)  

Policy WA1 
Policy WA3 

Designed to protect and improve 
the quality of the water 
environment.  

United Utilities Water 
Resources 
Management Plan 
(2015) 

Policy WA3 Sets out the investment needed to 
ensure that we have sufficient 
water to continue supplying 
customers.  

Irwell Catchment 
Partnership Irwell 
Catchment Flood 
Management Plan 
(2012) 

Policy WA2 Guidance for sustainable flood risk 
management. 

 Manchester, Salford, 
Trafford Strategic 
Flood Risk 
Assessment 2011  

Policy WA4 
Policy WA5 
Policy WA6 

The strategic flood risk assessment 
presents an independent analysis 
of the risk posed by flooding from 
all sources in the study area. It 
includes an assessment of flood 
risk from rivers, canals, surface 
water, sewers, groundwater and 
other water bodies in a range of 
scenarios, and including 
cumulative impacts. 

Salford City Council 
Flood Risk and 
Development Planning 
Guidance (2008)  

Policy WA5 
Policy WA6 

The overarching aim of the 
planning guidance is to ensure that 
new development in areas at risk of 
flooding in the city, is adequately 
protected from flooding and that 
the risks of flooding are not 
increased elsewhere as a result of 
new development. 

AGMA Greater 
Manchester Surface 
Water Management 
Plan (2013)  

Policy WA5 
Policy WA6 

A study of surface water flood risk, 
recognising the cause and effect of 
flood hazard between districts and 
communities in Greater 
Manchester. 

Environment Agency 
Updated Flood Map 
for Surface Water 
(2013)  

Policy WA5 
Policy WA6 

The updated flood map for surface 
water assesses flooding scenarios 
as a result of rainfall with the 
following chance of occurring in 
any given year:   

 1 in 30  

Page 1296



13 
 

 1 in 100  

 1 in 1000  

Design 

By Design – Urban 
Design in the planning 
system: towards better 
practice (2000) 

Policies D1-D9 Urban design principles.  

Urban Design 
Compendium Homes 
and Community 
Agency (2013) 

Policies D1-D9 Urban design principles. 

Climate Change, 
Justice and 
Vulnerability Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation 
(Nov 2011)  

Policy D5 Climate change and design 
principles.  

Tall Buildings: Historic 
England Advice Note 
4 (Dec 2015)  

Policy D1 
Policy D2  
Policy D3 
Policy D5 
 

Guidance on planning for tall 
buildings.  

House Extensions 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(July 2006)  

Policy D1 
Policy D5 
Policy D8  
 

Current guidance for amenity and 
privacy distances applied in 
residential extensions 

Shaping Salford : 
Design Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(March 2008)  

Policy D1 
Policy D2  
Policy D3  
Policy D4  
Policy D5  
Policy D6  
Policy D7  
Policy D8  
Policy D9  

Urban design principles for Salford. 

Bridgewater Canal: 
Vision & Masterplan 
for a Regional Tourist 
Attraction Urbed and 
Landscape Projects 
(March 2011)  

Policy D1 
Policy D2  
Policy D3  
Policy D4  
Policy D5  
Policy D6  
Policy D7  
Policy D8  
Policy D9 

Guidance on the Bridgewater 
Canal 

Design and Crime 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(July 2006) 

Policy D6 Guidance on designing out crime in 
new developments in Salford.  

Heritage 

Greengate 
Regeneration 
Strategy, Fielden 
Clegg Bradley Studios 
(March 2014) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
 

Guidance on the future 
development of the Greengate 
area of the city 

Page 1297



14 
 

Central Salford 
Development 
Framework (May 
2009) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE44 

Guidance on the future 
development of Central Salford 

Bridgewater Canal: 
Vision and Masterplan 
for a Regional Tourist 
Attraction Urbed and 
Landscape Projects 
(March 2011) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 

Guidance on the future 
development of the Bridgewater 
Canal 

Salford City Council 
List of Local Heritage 
Assets (Nov 2013) 
 

Policy HE1  
Policy HE2 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
Policy HE6 
 

List of local heritage assets 

Conservation 
Principles, Policies 
and Guidance 
(Historic England 
2008) 
 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE2 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
Policy HE6  
Policy HE7  

Conservation principles 

Heritage at Risk 
Register (2018 
Historic England) 
 
 

Policy HE1  
Policy HE2  
Policy HE3  
Policy HE4  
Policy HE5  
Policy HE6 

Buildings most at risk within Salford 

The Historic 
Environment in Local 
Plans (Historic 
England 2015) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE2 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
Policy HE6  
Policy HE7 

Advice on taking account heritage 
assets in local plan making 

The Historic 
Environment and Site 
Allocations in Local 
Plans (Historic 
England 2015) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE2 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
Policy HE6  
Policy HE7 

Advice on taking account heritage 
assets in local plan making 

Heritage Works: The 
use of Historic 
Buildings in 
Regeneration (English 
Heritage 2013) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
 

Guidance on the use of historic 
buildings in regeneration 

Greater Manchester 
Urban Historic 
Landscape 
Characterisation 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE2 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 

Landscape characterisation study 

Page 1298



15 
 

Salford District Report  
(2010) 

Policy HE5 
Policy HE6  
Policy HE7 

The National Heritage 
List for England 
Register 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE2 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
Policy HE6  

Lists all listed buildings, scheduled 
monuments, protected wrecks and 
registered parks, gardens and 
battlefields.  

Good Practice Advice 
Note: The Setting of 
Heritage Assets  
Historic England 
(March 2015) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 
Policy HE5 
 

Guidance on assessing proposals 
that may have an impact on the 
setting of heritage assets.  

Tall Buildings: Historic 
England Advice Note 
4 (Dec 2015) 

Policy HE1 
Policy HE3 
Policy HE4 

Guidance on tall buildings in the 
context of heritage.  

Green Infrastructure / Biodiversity  / Recreation 

Towards a Green 
Infrastructure 
Framework for Greater 
Manchester  
(TEP, 2008) 

Policy GI1 
Policy GI2 
Policy GI3 
Policy GI4 
Policy GI5 
Policy BG1 
Policy BG3 
Policy R1  
Policy R4 

Analysis and assessment of 
strategic green infrastructure 
functions, advising how green 
infrastructure can be embedded 
within the Local Plan. These 
documents have been used to 
identify priority functions 
throughout Salford and for specific 
strategic areas of the city.  

Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework 
Natural Environment 
Report – Priority 
Green and Blue 
Infrastructure (Greater 
Manchester Combined 
Authority, 2016) 

Policy GI1 
Policy GI2 
Policy GI3 
Policy GI4 
Policy GI5 
Policy BG1 
Policy BG3 
Policy R1  
Policy R4 

Analysis and assessment of 
strategic green infrastructure 
functions, advising how green 
infrastructure can be embedded 
within the Local Plan. These 
documents have been used to 
identify priority functions 
throughout Salford and for specific 
strategic areas of the city. 

Salford City Council 
Local Green Space 
Site Assessment 
Methodology (2013) 

Policy GI4 Expanding on guidance in the 
NPPF/NPPG, the methodology 
sets out how sites proposed 
through the ‘call for sites 
consultation’ were assessed to 
determine whether the city council 
considered sites suitable for this 
new designation. 

Salford City Council 
Local Green Space 
Site Assessments 
(2013) 

Policy GI4 Proposing 6 new local green space 
designations based on the 
individual site assessments.  

Salford Greenspace 
Audit 2017/18 (2018) 
 

Policy R1 
Policy R2  
Policy R3 
Policy R4 
Policy R5 

Robust assessment of a wide 
range of greenspaces to identify 
the type, location, facilities 
available, the quality of provision, 
and the level of accessibility. The 

Page 1299



16 
 

audit informs the range of 
recreation policies. 

Access to Natural 
Greenspace 
Standards (ANGSt), 
(Natural England) 

Policy R1  
Policy R2  
Policy R3  
Policy R4 

Voluntary national recreation 
standards that have formed the 
basis for local standards that have 
been adopted or proposed in 
Salford, some of which have been 
modified to be applicable for the 
city. 

The Six Acre Standard 
(National Playing 
Fields Association) 

Allotment Standard 
(the National Allotment 
Society) 

Salford Playing Pitch 
Assessment (Knight, 
Kavanagh and Page, 
2015, updated 2018) 

Policy R1 
Policy R2 
Policy R4 

Independent assessment of the 
supply and demand of a range of 
sports pitches in the city (for 
football, rugby union, rugby league, 
cricket, hockey and tennis). The 
strategy and action plan identifies 
key proposals for individual sports, 
a hierarchy of sports pitch sites, 
and proposals for specific 
enhancements to ensure that there 
is adequate provision to 
accommodate the increasing 
population of the city. 

Salford Playing Pitch 
Strategy & Action Plan 
(Knight, Kavanagh 
and Page, 2015, 
updated 2018) 

Salford Monthly 
Allotment Status 
Report (April 2018) 

Policy R1 
Policy R2 

Local assessment of the supply of 
allotment plots and the unmet 
demand as evidenced by the latest 
waiting list 

Sites of Biological 
Importance Surveys 
(various years). 
GMEU 

Policy BG1 
Policy BG3  
Policy BG4 

Independent assessment of sites 
which area protected locally valued 
sites of biological diversity.  

25 Year Environment 
Plan (January 2018) 

Policy AQ1  
Policy CC1  
Policy EG1 
Policy EG2 
Policy BG1 
Policy BG3 
Policy WA1 

This 25 Year Environment Plan 
sets out government action to help 
the natural world regain and retain 
good health. It aims to deliver 
cleaner air and water in our cities 
and rural landscapes, protect 
threatened species and provide 
richer wildlife habitats. Seeks to 
embed a “net environmental gain” 
principle for development. 
Promotes an expansion of natural 
flood management solutions. 

Great Manchester 
Wetlands NIA 
Partnership Briefing 
Note 

Policy BG2 
Policy GI3 

Sets out the boundary and 
objectives of the Great Manchester 
Wetlands Nature Improvement 
Area 

Digital infrastructure 

National Infrastructure 
Assessment (National 
Infrastructure 

Policy DG1 
Policy DG2  

Sets out the National Infrastructure 
Commission’s plan of action for the 
country’s infrastructure over the 

Page 1300



17 
 

Commission, July 
2018) 

next 10-30 years including a 
recommendation for nationwide full 
fibre broadband by 2033.  

A Fairer Salford 

No One Left behind: 
Tackling Poverty in 
Salford. A joint 
strategy for the Salford 
City Mayor and 
Salford Youth Mayor 
(February 2017) 

Policy F1  
Policy F2  
Policy F3 

The strategy restates Salford’s 
commitment to tackling poverty and 
tackling inequality and set out the 
approach Salford City Mayor and 
Salford Youth Mayor will take over 
the next few years to give residents 
the best chance of a poverty free 
future. 

 
 
 
 
  

 

Page 1301



18 
 

3. Engagement / Consultation 

 
 
When considering your proposal, you should be engaging with individuals and groups covering the following protected characteristics 
(You can use evidence from existing consultations if this evidence is relevant to your proposal): 

 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion and belief 

 Sexual orientation 
 

We also advise you to consult people on a low income, carers, ex-offenders, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies 
and travellers, where appropriate. 
 
You should detail below your engagement activities (Please note; you must ensure individual confidentiality) 
 

Date(s) of engagement Who will be/was involved 
 

Main issues identified 

Call for sites consultation 
8 February 2013 to 12 April 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See below, under ‘Revised Draft Local Plan 
consultation’ for who was involved.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The purpose of the 
call for sites 
consultation was to 
seek suggestions for 
sites or areas of land 
in the city that may be 
appropriate for 
allocation or 
designation in the 
Local Plan.  

P
age 1302



19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Suggested sites consultation  
10 January 2014 to 21 March 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See below under ‘Revised Draft Local Plan 
consultation’ for who was involved.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
No formal documents 
were produced for the 
consultation but a 
letter was sent to all 
consultees together 
with a proforma for 
comments to be 
submitted.  
 
See attached ‘Salford 
Local Plan 
Consultation 
Statement January 
2019’ for main issues 
raised.   
 
 
The purpose of the 
suggested sites 
consultation was to 
seek views on the 
sites that had been 
suggested at the 
previous consultation 
stage, and on the 
council’s initial 
assessment of these 
sites, in order to 
inform the preparation 
of the Draft Local 
Plan.  The 
consultation also 
presented the 

P
age 1303



20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

opportunity for 
additional sites to be 
suggested, either for 
development, or for 
protective designation.   
 
A series of documents 
were issued for 
consultation at this 
stage including:  
-An overview 
document, listing all 
the sites that the city 
council had assessed, 
along with the 
methodology for 
assessment.   
-Neighbourhood area 
documents – setting 
out all sites suggested 
for each area of the 
city 
-Green Belt document 
- Identifying all sites 
suggested for 
development or as 
additions to the Green 
Belt. 
  
See attached ‘Salford 
Local Plan 
Consultation 
Statement January 
2019’ for main issues 

P
age 1304



21 
 

 
 
Draft Local Plan consultation 
8 November 2016 to 16 January 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Revised Draft Local Plan 
25 January – 22 March 2019 
 
Previously with consultation events for other planning 
documents, drop in events have been found to be 
resource intensive, but in comparison have not been 
that well attended. As with the consultation on the 
Draft Local Plan, for this round of consultation, due to 
constraints on staffing and monetary resources, the 
overall aim of the consultation is to front load as much 
information to consultees and residents as possible.  
 
It is recognised that community committees have an 
important role to play in engaging with protected 
groups. Prior to the start of the consultation, all 
community committees will be written to, to offer to 
attend one of their meetings and explain the proposals 
in more detail. Officers will also attend other meetings 
if requested. This way it is hoped that the consultation 
will be more “tailor made” to meet people’s concerns 
and will result in effective and efficient consultation.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan and key supporting 
documents will be on deposit in each of the city’s 

 
 
See below under ‘Revised Draft Local Plan’ for 
who was involved 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is recognised that working with established 
community networks and groups will assist in 
raising awareness of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
and ensuring the protected groups covered by the 
Equality Act 2010 are engaged in the process. 
When the Revised Draft Local Plan is published 
individuals and organisations will have the 
opportunity to comment on the document, and all 
of the council’s Local Plan database will be notified 
in writing. Those on the Local Plan database were 
also consulted on previous stages of the Local 
Plan. This database lists a range of businesses, 
individuals and organisations, including the 
following who are considered to be protected 
groups:  
 
Jewish Representative Council of Greater 
Manchester 
Salford Community Network  
Salford Council for Voluntary Service 
Salford Deaf gathering 

raised.  
 
See attached ‘Salford 
Local Plan 
Consultation 
Statement January 
2019’ for main issues 
raised.   
 
 
 
 
 
Not applicable – 
consultation yet to be 
undertaken 
 
 
 
 

P
age 1305



22 
 

libraries for people to view. Letters/emails will be sent 
to those on the consultee database. Councillors, 
neighbourhood managers and council department 
heads of service will be emailed. The council’s website 
will be updated with details of the consultation, 
including all documentation, a link will also be 
available on the council’s intranet for council 
employees. There will be a press release in the 
Talking News and an advert in the Jewish Advertiser. 
The council’s Facebook and Twitter accounts will also 
notify followers of the consultation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salford Disability Forum 
Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
Salford Primary Care Trust 
The National Federation of Gypsy Liaison  Groups 
Age Concern 
Age UK 
LGBT Foundation 
Eccles and Salford Mosque 
Church of England Diocese of Manchester 
Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership 
Salford Local Enterprise Partnership 
Older Peoples Partnership Board 
Salford’s Citizen Advice Bureau 
Salford City Partnership  
Salford Community Leisure 
Salford Disabled Motorist Association 
Salford Equality Network 
Salford Forum of Older People 
Salford Link Project 
Salford Scholl Health Service 
Salford Youth Service 
Salford Weight Management Service 
 
 

 

  

P
age 1306



23 
 

4. Assessing the impact 

 
From your evidence gathering, you will have identified potential 
disproportionate negative impacts. Please provide details and your actions 
to overcome these below. We would also like to know if there will be any 
positive impacts that your proposals will make to improve equalities: 

 Potential impact: If the proposal could result in some groups 
(including customers and/or staff) being disadvantaged or treated 
unfairly 

 Mitigations and actions: Where there is a potential for disadvantage 
or unfair treatment, what are your plans to eliminate, reduce, 
mitigate or justify it? Could making these changes have a negative 
effect on any other group(s)? Explain why and what you will do 
about this. You should include details of who will be responsible for 
the actions and target dates for completion:  

 Promoting Equality: Could the proposal result in an opportunity to 
promote equality or inclusion? Explain how. 

 
Please note: this table will form the basis of your action plan. 
 
 

The following section outlines the potential impact of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
policies on protected groups/characteristics. The impact assessment will be 
reviewed following consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan. Officers 
responsible will be those listed above which have formed part of the assessment 
team.   
 
 
A fairer Salford 
 
Realising a fairer, more equal city requires a wide range of actions, involving 
many stakeholders and areas of work. Development activity guided by the Local 
Plan has a key role to play in this, and hence the Local Plan seeks to maximise its 
potential contribution to an inclusive and fair city.  
 
This current version of the Local Plan has a new chapter entitled ‘A fairer Salford’. 
The introductory text to the chapter confirms “delivering a fairer Salford is central 
to everything that the Local Plan is seeking to accomplish”. A number of 
overarching policies are included which aim to: facilitate an inclusive development 
process; maximise social value in all development; create inclusive places; and 
ensure that the interests of future generations will be central to the overall 
development strategy for Salford. Policy F3 Inclusive places requires all places 
and developments to be as inclusive as possible, capable of adapting to a broad 
range of changing needs and delivering high quality of life, where no one is 
potentially excluded because of disability, age, gender, sexuality or social class.  
 
Each chapter of the Revised Draft Local Plan covers a different topic area and at 
the beginning of each of chapter it is set out how the policies aim to create a fairer 
Salford.  
 

Page 1307



24 
 

The inclusion of this chapter and the key issue of ‘fairness’ at the beginning of 
each of the other chapters in the plan is considered to be a significant positive 
addition in terms of striving to improve equalities on protected 
groups/characteristics. This change should also have a positive impact on all 
those live and/or work or visit Salford.   
 
 
Protected characteristic or other group: age 
  
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 has given local authorities new 
responsibilities for public health and this is recognised in the Local Plan. The 
Salford Locality Plan sets out the vision for the improvement of wellbeing, health 
and care outcomes for residents in the city which is “Salford people will start, live 
and age well”. The health chapter of the Local Plan has been greatly expanded 
upon since the draft version which had regard to the provision of primary health 
care facilities and also the role of Salford Royal Hospital.  
 
The scope of the health chapter has been widened to have regard to both the 
provision of primary health care facilities and social care facilities in Policy HH3. 
There is now a new policy on development and health (Policy HH2) which 
confirms all development should support an improvement in public health and a 
reduction in health inequalities. These changes are likely to lead to positive 
benefits for all ages but particularly the young and old who generally draw upon 
health services more often. People with disabilities may also need to make use of 
health services more than other residents in the city.  
 
Taking figures from the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, the Revised Draft 
Local Plan identifies significant requirements for both office development and 
industrial and warehousing development (Policy EC1 Economic development 
spatial strategy, Policy EC3 Office development and Policy EC3 Industrial and 
warehousing development). This, together with jobs associated with the promotion 
of tourism destinations and the continued focus on the city’s town and local 
centres (Policy CT1 Tourism development and the town centres and retail 
development chapter) should allow for the continued provision of a wide range of 
types of jobs throughout the city that cater for all ages.  
 
There may be some reduction in existing older industrial areas, with land 
redeveloped for other uses, which could reduce the availability of local 
employment areas. However, the managed approach to this issue should help to 
ensure that this is primarily where the economic function of the area is in decline 
(Policy EC6 Existing employment areas).  
 
The level of skills in the population and the efficiency of the transport network are 
important issues which can affect different age groups to different extents. There 
may be issues around the accessibility of new jobs, in terms of skills in relation to 
the high levels of office growth anticipated, and related to physical accessibility 
with more than half of new industrial and warehousing development being 
provided at Port Salford. However many other jobs will be delivered in highly 
accessible locations as required by Policy A1 Sustainable transport strategy. 
 
Chapter 14 which focusses on education and learning has been expanded upon 
since the previous version of the plan. At the beginning of the chapter a key 

Page 1308



25 
 

objective contributing to a fairer Salford is maximising the ability of all residents to 
acquire knowledge and skills throughout their lives. In support of this objective, 
Policy ED1 has been added to the draft revised plan and provides an overarching 
policy which strives to strengthen Salford’s role as a learning city.  These changes 
to the plan should assist in the promotion of learning opportunities for all, 
irrespective of age.  
 
Policy ED2 Schools and education facilities addresses the importance of 
enhancing education facilities. Policy ED3 Residential development and school 
places sets out that residential developments will be expected to enable an 
increase in school places through financial contributions or setting aside land 
within development, and that development will not be permitted until an 
appropriate supply of school places can be guaranteed in an area. Both policies 
should promote enhanced learning for young people and assist them in accessing 
higher paid/skilled employment opportunities. In addition Policy ED4 University of 
Salford ensures that young people can obtain further skills and qualifications they 
need to access employment opportunities, and that opportunities for 
community/adult learning are maximised, to assist the existing workforce in re-
skilling where necessary.  
 
Policy EC2 Economic Inclusion is another new policy that has been included in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. The policy sets out that it will be essential for the long-term 
success of the city that its residents fully share in the benefits of new development. 
When new development is brought forward consideration should be given to the 
promotion of on-site employment opportunities to Salford residents and the provision of 
training opportunities for Salford residents. Developers should also consider signing up 
to the City Mayor’s Employment Charter. This again has the potential to broaden the 
scope of learning and extend opportunities to a wider distribution of ages.   
  
New Policy F2 Social value and inclusion requires all development to be located, 
designed, constructed and operated so as to maximise its social value and contribution 
to making Salford a more socially inclusive city, with a requirement placed on major 
developments to submit a social value strategy. This should benefit all ages.   
 
There is a risk that the design of new housing may not meet the needs of all 
members of the community, particularly older people, students, or those with a 
disability. This is particularly the case where raised floor levels and other 
measures may be necessary for flood mitigation in line with Policy WA5. However, 
this is mitigated by other policies within the plan. Ensuring that all age groups 
have access to suitable housing is recognised in the Revised Draft Local Plan to 
be an important aspect of delivering a fairer and more inclusive city. Policy H10 
Housing for older people seeks to secure a broad range of housing choices for 
older people, recognising that the housing needs of older people will vary 
significantly and flexibility for adaptation will be needed. The policy also sets out a 
number of criteria including that new residential accommodation should offer easy 
access to community facilities, local services and public transport.  
 
Both Policy H10 and Policy D7 Housing design set out that residential 
development should be designed to be accessible and adaptable in line with the 
building regulations technical standard. Policy D7 also encourages new homes to 
be either wheelchair accessible or wheelchair adaptable.  Smaller dwellings are 
generally less adaptable and will only be able to meet the needs of a relatively 

Page 1309



26 
 

limited proportion of households. Policy H5 Size of dwellings sets out 
requirements on size of dwellings (number of bedrooms and floorspace) which 
apply to all sites where there is a net addition of dwellings so to enable people to 
remain in their own home (given that larger homes are generally more adaptable) 
or find a new home within the same community as their needs evolve.  
 
Policy H7 Affordable housing addresses the need for affordable housing                                                                                                                                                     
and places a requirement on developers in certain areas of the city to include a 
proportion of affordable dwellings. Rising house prices means that it has 
particularly become difficult for younger people to buy their first home. Affordability 
can also be an issue for other demographics.  
 
Finding appropriate and cost effective accommodation for uses such as children’s 
homes and nursing homes can be difficult. In some circumstances the conversion of 
houses may provide the best opportunity. The Revised Draft Local Plan seeks to 
carefully control the conversion of houses into such uses (Policy H14 Conversion of 
existing houses, and new build residential developments of non-self contained units), in 
order to protect the positive character of existing neighbourhoods. However, the policy 
should provide sufficient flexibility to enable the needs of the young and elderly requiring 
this type of accommodation to continue be met in the city. 

 
Policy H11 Student housing concentrates student accommodation around the campus 
which will ensure that university facilities are highly accessible to students. This could 
enhance the university experience, which will benefit students, the majority of whom are 
young people. 

 
It is considered appropriate to highlight that other policies in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan should also generate significant positive benefits for the young and elderly: 

 

 Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres: Protecting and enhancing the 
existing network of town and local centres and designation of new centres  has 
the potential to increase the range of facilities on offer in Salford , which may 
mean that there are more ‘things to do’ for young people. This has the potential to 
reduce incidences of antisocial behaviour. 

 

 Policy A1 Sustainable transport strategy and Policy A5 Public transport: 
Improving public transport facilities and services should significantly improve 
access for the young and elderly, who are more likely to not have access to a car 
than other sections of the population. 

 

 Policy A4 Walking and cycling: Enhancing the walking and cycling network and 
addressing identified gaps in the network will help to ensure that the provision of 
safe routes to school for young people is maximised. This will encourage young 
people to have healthier lifestyles and help moderate the rise in childhood 
obesity. 

 

 Policy R1 Recreation spatial strategy/Policy R2 Recreation standards/Policy 
GI1Green infrastructure spatial strategy/GI6 Local green space/GI5 West Salford 
Greenway: Providing more opportunities for young people to participate in sport 
and recreation in locations close to their home will encourage young people to 
have healthier lifestyles and help to tackle the anticipated rise in childhood 
obesity. Policy R2 includes specific standards for play areas which are specifically 

Page 1310



27 
 

aimed at young children. All new developments will be required to contribute to 
the achievement of these standards. 

 
 
Protected characteristic or other group: disability 

 
 A significant challenge for the Revised Draft Local Plan is to ensure that new 
development and their associated open spaces, landscaped areas and car parks are 
designed in such a way that they do not create barriers for or exclude those people with 
a disability. 
 
Although the Local Plan is planning for a significant amount of new housing 
development (Policy H2 Scale and phasing of housing development and Policy H3 
Distribution of housing), without placing specific requirements on developers, there is a 
risk that it may not be designed in such a way that it is accessible to those with a 
disability. As previously noted, Policy D7 Housing design sets out that all residential 
development should be designed to be accessible and adaptable in accordance with the 
optional building regulations requirement (or any subsequent accessible and adaptable 
standard).  Designing new dwellings to this national standard will assist in enabling 
easier adaptation. In recognition of the impact on developer viability, this policy does not 
set a minimum requirement for wheelchair accessible, although Policy D7 encourages 
new homes to be either wheelchair accessible or wheelchair adaptable.  
 
Whilst the requirement for accessible and adaptable dwellings will apply to all new 
dwellings including student accommodation, it is recognised that there may be site 
specific factors such as site topography which vulnerability to flooding, site 
topography, and other circumstances which may make achievement of the 
standard impracticable.  

 
The minimum size requirements for new dwellings (Policy H5 Size of dwellings) will also 
assist in ensuring that more dwellings are adaptable to the needs of wheelchair users. 
Requiring that the layout of spaces and buildings is designed in such a way that they are 
easy to physically move through and around for those with constrained mobility (Policy 
D3 Layout and access) will also assist in ensuring that developments are accessible to 
all. 
 
It is considered appropriate to highlight that other policies in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan should also generate significant positive benefits for those people with a disability: 
 

 Policy A2 transport hierarchy: The needs of all users, including those with 
impaired mobility and their carers shall be taken into account within all levels of 
the transport hierarchy.  

 Policy A3 Sustainable streets: Taking opportunities to deliver more sustainable 
streets including by making it easier to walk, cycle and use public transport will 
benefit those with disabilities. 

 Policy A4 Walking and cycling: Enhancing the walking and cycling network and 
addressing identified gaps in the network should help to make the network of 
routes easier to navigate for those with a physical disability. The reallocating of 
road space where appropriate to provide wider footpaths will allow for easier 
movement for those with certain disabilities (addition to the policy since the draft 
stage).  

Page 1311



28 
 

 Policy A5 Public transport: Proposals will be supported that help deliver 
enhancements to access to public transport for all, including enhanced 
accessibility for those with impaired mobility. Seeking to secure improvements in 
the frequency, speed directness, reliability and geographical coverage of public 
transport routes and services should be to the benefit of disabled people and 
remove some of the current barriers associated with using public transport.  

 Policy A8 Motor vehicle parking provision and drop-off facilities in new 
developments:  The policy has been added to setting out parking provision within 
development shall ensure that developments are inclusive and accessible to all 
users. In addition requiring all development makes appropriate provision for car 
parking for disabled people in accordance with the minimum standards proposed 
will ensure that sufficient car parking is provided for disabled people. Hackney 
carriages and some private hire vehicles play an important role in meeting the 
transport needs of wheelchair users. The policy requires that where appropriate, 
adequate provision of taxi ranks and drop off points which will also have positive 
benefits for those with disabilities.  

 Heritage chapter: Policy HE1 Heritage spatial strategy has been strengthened 
since the last version of the Local Plan, now setting out that the quality and 
appreciation of Salford’s heritage will be strengthened including by promoting 
access to heritage assets and through improved access to information and 
interpretation. This should benefit people with a disability.   

 Health chapter: Discussed under ‘protected characteristic/group: age’ 
 
 

Protected characteristic or other group: gender 
 

Crime and fear of crime can have a major impact on quality of life, and this can be a 
particular concern for some of the groups that are generally perceived to be more 
vulnerable to crime and harassment, including women, the elderly and ethnic minority 
groups. Poorly designed developments and spaces can create a hostile environment 
that gives the impression of significant crime problems and can act as a barrier, 
preventing people from accessing buildings, services and facilities. Ensuring 
development is designed so that it minimises the fear of crime and opportunities for 
crime and antisocial behaviour (Policy D6 Design and crime) should ensure that all 
people have safe and secure access to and from buildings. Policy D4 Spaces also refers 
to the importance of visual permeability, natural surveillance, lighting and the avoidance 
of unnecessary physical or visual obstacles. Other policies in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan will also help to remove some of the barriers associated with fear of crime by for 
example, improving the vitality and viability of designated centres, improving the quality 
of public realm, and enhancing the overall vibrancy of the University of Salford Campus 
(Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres, Policy D4 Design Principles and 
Policy ED4 University of Salford). 

 
Requiring the layout of spaces and buildings to be designed in such a way that they are 
easy to physically move through and around for those with constrained mobility (Policy 
D3 Layout and access) will also assist in ensuring that developments are accessible to 
all, including people with pushchairs/small children, who are more often than not women. 
Increasing the accessibility of public transport facilities (Policy A5 Public transport) 
should also mean that public transport interchanges and services are more accessible to 
those with pushchairs/small children. Policy A2 Transport hierarchy requires the needs 
of all users to be taken into account within the all levels of the transport hierarchy. This is 

Page 1312



29 
 

a new addition to the policy should benefit all, including again those with 
pushchairs/small children.  

 
 

Protected characteristic or other group: race, religion and belief 
 

Crime and fear of crime can have a major impact on quality of life, and this can be a 
particular concern for some of the groups that are generally perceived to be more 
vulnerable to crime and harassment, including women, the elderly and black and 
minority ethnic groups, also some faith groups. Poorly designed developments and 
spaces can create a hostile environment that gives the impression of significant crime 
problems and can act as a barrier, preventing people from accessing buildings, services 
and facilities. Ensuring that development is designed so that it minimises the fear of 
crime and opportunities for crime and antisocial behaviour (Policy D6 Design and crime 
and Policy D4 Spaces) should ensure that all people have safe and secure access to 
and from buildings.  

 
Salford is already well served with sites for travelling people, however in order to ensure 
that future needs are met, in line with the latest Greater Manchester gypsy and traveller 
accommodation assessment, a site off Duchy Road has been identified in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan (allocation H12/1) to meet future need for new gypsy and traveller 
pitches. The council will continue to work to identify a site or sites for travelling 
showpeople in order to meet the identified need for new plots and to relocate the 
existing Fairways site due to it being at risk of flooding.  
 
Policy H7 Affordable housing will also potentially assist in meeting the needs of Roma 
and Irish Heritage Travellers (and potentially other minority ethnic groups) many of 
whom choose to live in ‘bricks and mortar’ rented accommodation across the city rather 
than living on sites specifically identified as being for gypsies and travellers.  
 
Salford has a slightly higher percentage of people stating they are part of a religious 
group than other parts of the UK according to 2011 Census data. The Revised Draft 
Local Plan does not have a policy explicitly protecting places of worship, nor does it 
allocate land for such a use. However, the Draft Revised Local Plan retail chapter 
supports and recognises the value of locating community uses in-centre. Policy EC6 
Existing employment areas also confirms the provision of community facilities will be 
supported in employment areas where they cannot be located elsewhere within the local 
area they would serve and where they would not have a significant adverse impact on 
the overall economic potential or successful functioning of the area. This is considered 
to be sufficient detail, as further direction is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, setting out planning decisions should plan positively for the provision of 
community facilities including places of worship and guard against the unnecessary loss 
of valued facilities (paragraph 92[a] and [c]). Furthermore, guidance on plan making sets 
out policies should not unnecessarily repeat guidance contained at the national level. 
Policy ED1 has been added the draft revised plan and provides an overarching 
policy which strives to strengthen Salford’s role as a learning city.  These changes 
to the plan should assist in the promotion of learning opportunities for all including 
those who identify themselves as forming part of particular faith groups and 
people of all races.   
 
Policy ED2 Schools and education facilities addresses the importance of 
enhancing education facilities. Policy ED3 Residential development and school 

Page 1313



30 
 

places sets out that residential developments will be expected to enable an 
increase in school places through financial contributions or setting aside land 
within development, and that development will not be permitted until an 
appropriate supply of school places can be guaranteed in an area. Both policies 
should promote enhanced learning for young people which may have particular 
benefits for some faith groups who tend to have families that are larger than the 
UK average.  
 
There is a new policy on development and health (Policy HH2) which confirms all 
development should support an improvement in public health and a reduction in 
health inequalities. In addition, the policy aims to control the location and 
concentration of a number of types of development including hot food take aways 
to avoid possible adverse impact on health and wellbeing. Further detail on the 
implementation of this policy will be set out in a supplementary planning document 
once the Local Plan is adopted.  
 
There is anecdotal evidence suggesting that the majority of hot food take aways in the 
city are owned by people from the black and minority ethnic (BME) community. 
Increased planning control is likely to have a greater impact on these communities but it 
must be recognised that hot food take aways are not solely operated by the BME 
population.  Any negative impact on employment and the creation of new businesses is 
thought to be outweighed by potential benefits of contributing to the creation of a more 
healthy population.  
 
 
Protected characteristic or other group: sexual identity 
 
Crime and fear of crime can have a major impact on quality of life, and this can be a 
particular concern for some of the groups that are generally perceived to be more 
vulnerable to crime and harassment, including lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender 
people. Poorly designed developments and spaces can create a hostile environment 
that gives the impression of significant crime problems and can act as a barrier, 
preventing people from accessing buildings, services and facilities. Ensuring that 
development is designed so that it minimises the fear of crime and opportunities for 
crime and antisocial behaviour (Policy D6 Design and crime and Policy D4 Space) 
should ensure that all people have safe and secure access to and from buildings. Other 
policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan will also help to remove some of the barriers 
associated with fear of crime by for example, improving the vitality and viability of town 
centres and improving the quality of the public realm and the overall vibrancy of the 
University of Salford Campus (Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for designated centres and 
Policy ED4 University of Salford). 
 

 
Protected characteristic or other group:  socio-economic inequalities 

 
Delivering a fairer Salford is central to everything that the Local Plan is seeking to 
achieve. The new chapter entitled ‘A fairer Salford’ recognises that addressing poverty is 
fundamental to achieving this aim. The Revised Draft Local Plan requires all places and 
developments to be as inclusive as possible, capable of adapting to a broad range of 
changing needs and delivering high quality of life, where no one is potentially excluded 
because of disability, age, gender, sexuality or social class (Policy F3). The requirement 
for all major developments to submit a Social Value Strategy, demonstrating how the 

Page 1314



31 
 

development will maximise its positive contribution to economic inclusion and reducing 
inequalities (Policy F2) is also an important contribution to creating an inclusive city.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan as a whole seeks to accommodate a significant amount of 
development in the city and attract investment to help secure a positive economic future 
for the city and the wider sub-region. The economic success of Salford and prosperity of 
its residents will be reliant on economic investment within and around the city, and 
without this it will be much harder to address socio-economic inequalities. The last few 
years have seen a widening of disparities at the national level and it will be important to 
ensure that Salford is economically robust in order to close that gap and prevent it 
widening further. 
 
There is a high level of office development and industrial and warehousing development 
being proposed in the Revised Draft Local Plan (Policy EC1 Economic development 
spatial strategy, Policy EC3 Office development, Policy EC4 Industrial and warehousing 
development and Policy EC5 Employment allocations). Together with the protection of 
existing employment areas through Policy EC6 (Existing employment areas), the policy 
framework should help to support the continued provision of a wide range of types of 
jobs throughout the city that cater for a broad range of skills. Whilst it is anticipated that 
there will be some reduction in existing older industrial areas over the plan period, with 
land redeveloped for other uses, the managed approach to this issue should help to 
ensure that this is primarily where the economic function of the area is in decline (Policy 
EC6 Existing employment areas). Other jobs will be created in the retail sector and 
tourism/cultural industry (Policy CT1 Tourism Development, Policy CT2 Art and culture, 
Policy AP1 City Centre, Policy AP3 Salford Quays and Policy TC1 Spatial strategy for 
designated centres), further diversifying the type of jobs on offer to meet a variety of skill 
levels.    
 
Supporting the continued development of business activity at Salford Quays, Port 
Salford and supporting the activities of major employers in the city, including the 
University of Salford and the Salford Royal Hospital Foundation Trust (Policy EC1 
Economic development spatial strategy, EC5 Employment allocations, Policy AP3 
Salford Quays, Policy AP1 City Centre, Policy A6 Sustainable movement of freight, 
Policy ED4 University of Salford and Policy HH4 Salford Royal Hospital) will also assist 
in creating and retaining job opportunities within the city. 
 
Salford Innovation Park has been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan as a new 
allocation (EC5/2). This is to reflect the aspirations outlined in the Salford Crescent 
Masterplan published in March 2018. The expansion and enhancement of the area is 
supported, providing a high quality employment area capable of accommodating a 
diverse range of knowledge-based uses and providing opportunities for spin-off 
businesses and other activities associated with the University of Salford and Salford City 
College. This will further assist in creating and retaining a diverse range of employment 
opportunities in the city.  
 
The Clifton Junction was allocated in the Draft Local Plan (allocation EC4/2) to highlight 
the potential of undeveloped sites within the existing employment area to accommodate 
employment uses, including those relocated from elsewhere in the city. The allocation 
has not been carried forward to the latest version of the Local Plan, although the 
employment function of the site is still supported and this change to the plan is not 
thought to be to the detriment of job opportunities. The reason for the deletion of the 
allocation is that since the Draft Local Plan was published, planning permission has 

Page 1315



32 
 

been granted for waste uses on a large proportion of the site and there have been other 
uses occupying space at the Junction Eco Park. Given the recent activity on the site it is 
not considered necessary to promote the site through the Local Plan.  
 
The Draft Local Plan also identified the Swinton Hall Road industrial area for 
housing (Policy H3/12). This allocation has now been deleted from the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. Whilst it remains to be a good site for housing, given it is close to 
transport links and amenities in Swinton, on balance the decision has been made 
to delete the allocation due to the site being on the whole well occupied. It 
continues to support a considerable number of jobs and there is ongoing interest 
from employment uses including existing businesses wanting to invest in their 
premises. Furthermore, Clifton Business Park was allocated in the Draft Local 
Plan for housing; this allocation has not been carried forward into the Revised 
Draft Local Plan for housing; this allocation has not been carried forward into the 
Revised Draft Local Plan because the site owner is investing in and marketing the 
site for office (M60 Office Park). The removal of these sites will not unduly restrict 
choice of homes, given the quantity and range of other housing sites available in 
the city but will assist in creating and retaining employment opportunities in the 
city.  
 
The new economic inclusion policy (Policy EC2) recognises that Salford residents 
should fully share in the benefits of economic growth and new development should 
maximise its economic benefit for this city’s population. Consideration should be given to 
various ways in which this can be achieved, for example by targeting Salford residents 
when seeking to fill new jobs, and providing opportunities for residents to learn new skills 
such as through local apprenticeship and training schemes. The education chapter 
(Chapter 11 A learning city) has also been expanded upon since the previous version of 
the plan. A key objective contributing to a fairer Salford is maximising the ability of all 
residents to acquire knowledge and skills throughout their lives. In support of this 
objective, Policy ED1 has been included which advocates learning opportunities for all 
residents. These changes to the plan should assist in the promotion of, and broaden the 
scope of learning opportunities for all, irrespective of age.  
 
Improving the skills and qualifications of Salford residents by supporting improvements 
to schools and further education facilities and the University of Salford (Policy ED2 
Schools and further education facilities, Policy ED4 University of Salford Policy ED3 
Residential development and school places  and Policy EC1 Economic development 
spatial strategy) should help to assist in ensuring that people are not excluded from the 
benefits of economic growth (i.e. able to access new employment opportunities created 
in and outside of the city) as a result of poor levels of educational attainment. This will be 
a vital component in tackling deprivation, reducing disparities in the city and increasing 
incomes. A large pool of skilled labour will also make Salford a more attractive place for 
businesses to locate, and should therefore assist in increasing the number of job 
opportunities in Salford. Improving access via public transport to major employment 
hubs outside of the city (Policy A1 Sustainable transport strategy) will also assist local 
residents benefiting from economic growth.  
 
The scale of residential development proposed in Policy H2, should help to ensure that 
households are able to access housing to meet their needs, therefore reducing the 
potential for an undersupply of housing that can lead to increasing levels of 
unaffordability.  
 

Page 1316



33 
 

A significant increase in the supply of affordable housing will be sought across the city 
(Policy H7 Affordable housing). Separate requirements are set for different types of 
schemes in different areas, reflecting that viability assessments demonstrate that there 
are significant differences between them in terms of their viability and therefore their 
scope to support affordable housing. The requirements are significantly in excess of the 
currently adopted affordable housing requirements. This will help to increase the number 
of affordable homes available to those unable to access market housing. Policy H7 
should therefore assist in tackling social exclusion and help to support a wide range of 
social groups, particularly those on low incomes.   
 
If the Local Plan is successful, with Salford attracting substantial investment and 
there is a corresponding increase in population, then this could push up house 
prices and exacerbate affordability issues. For this reason, ensuring that the 
amount of affordable housing is maximised as far as possible, increasing the 
number of highly skilled/paid jobs in the city and supporting improvements to 
education facilities to enable residents to obtain the necessary skills to access 
these jobs will be critical.   
 
The minimum size requirements for new dwellings (Policy H5 Size of dwellings) and 
requirements relating to housing design (Policy D7 Housing design) should ensure that 
more people have access to high quality housing with sufficient space, which will help to 
reduce disparities. Supporting improvements to the existing housing stock (Policy H1 
Housing strategy) through neighbourhood renewal schemes and tools such as landlord 
licensing and landlord accreditation will significantly improve living conditions for people 
living in the private rented sector and also contribute to reducing disparities. 
 
Residents may have concerns that the scale of housing and employment development 
proposed in the Revised Draft Local Plan will have a negative impact on their quality of 
life. This has been raised as a concern at the Draft Local Plan stage of consultation 
including worries about the loss of green infrastructure/open spaces and capacity of 
infrastructure (particularly the road network) to support the scale of development 
proposed in some locations.  
 
Policy H9 Housing land supply identifies a number of sites for housing, but also ensures 
these developments will be carefully integrated, with benefits to the local community 
maximised. For example, allocation H9/1 (Land west of Hayes Road, Cadishead) 
requires high quality green infrastructure, public amenity space together with the 
provision of 10 allotment plots within the site. Another allocation at land west of Kenyon 
Way (H9/7) requires retention and enhancement of the woodland and brook along the 
site’s western boundary, provision of public amenity space, also high quality walking and 
cycling routes through the site.  Other policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan including 
Policy E2 Co-ordinated development, Policy PC3 Planning conditions and obligations 
and Policy A7 Highway network should also contribute to ensuring that development 
(both housing and employment) addresses any negative impacts it may generate, so 
that it does not lead to a decline in quality of life or the characteristics of individual 
neighbourhoods. 
 
Protecting and enhancing the identified network of town and local centres, together with 
activities and the offer of Salford’s part of the City Centre (Policy TC1  Spatial strategy 
for designated centres, Policy AP1 City Centre and Policy AP3 Salford Quays) should 
ensure that all residents have good access to a range of shops, services, community, 
and leisure facilities. In areas subject to considerable population uplift (in terms of 

Page 1317



34 
 

residents and/or workers) there will be expansion of shops, facilities and services to 
meet their needs (for example Salford’s part of the City Centre and Salford Quays). This 
will help to promote social inclusion by ensuring that residents do not have to travel far 
or have to rely on the private car to access such facilities and should also help to 
maintain local job opportunities. However, the limitations of Policy TC1 and other retail 
policies should be recognised, in that whilst the council can seek to protect the retail 
function of centres, there is no way to retain retailers. Whilst a vibrant centre may in turn 
attract other retailers to open shops in centres, there are no means to ensure this will be 
the case.    
 
Other policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan will help to maintain and improve the 
vitality and viability of Salford’s centres through carefully controlling changes of use 
within centres and the location of retail development through directing development 
proposals for new town centre uses to town and local centres (Policy TC2 Development 
involving main town centre uses, Policy TC3 Retail frontages, changes of use and 
redevelopments within centres and Policy TC4 Food and drink uses within centres). The 
development of any additional retail floorspace will also create further job opportunities 
across the city and therefore reducing social inequalities.   
 
Residents will also benefit from enhanced tourism facilities and cultural experiences 
(policies CT1 Tourism development, CT2 Art and culture, AP1 City Centre and AP3 
Salford Quays) adding to the local offer of community and leisure facilities, contributing 
to social interaction, activity and inclusion.   
 
Salford currently suffers from very significant health inequalities, and health levels are 
much worse than the national average. Poor health can prevent people from accessing 
employment opportunities and therefore contribute to social exclusion.  
 
The health chapter has been expanded upon since the Draft Local Plan, 
recognising that it is vital that health considerations are integrated into all aspects 
of the plan and there is a new overarching policy to support this aim (Policy HH1 
Supporting better health). There is also a new policy on development and health 
(Policy HH2) which confirms all development should support an improvement in 
public health and a reduction in health inequalities. The policy also requires health 
impact assessments for development proposals that the city council considers 
would have the potential to have a significant adverse impact on health and 
wellbeing. As part of the assessment process consideration will need to be given 
to impacts on different groups, taking into account that some groups will be more 
vulnerable to negative impacts. The scope of another of the policies (Policy HH3) 
has also been widened to have regard to the provision of primary health care 
facilities along with social care facilities.    
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan through policies HH3 Provision of health and social care 
facilities and HH4 Salford Royal Hospital seeks to reduce health inequalities in a variety 
of ways, including enabling the improvement of health facilities and social care. Given 
that additional housing will increase the pressure on existing health facilities, Policy H1 
is clear that a key component of the spatial strategy for housing over the plan period is 
to develop sufficient community facilities (such as health services), Additionally, Policy 
HH3 sets out that areas subject to a masterplan under Policy E2 shall ensure that 
appropriate provision is made for primary health care facilities. Individual developments 
that would generate a significant additional demand for primary health care, including 
those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be required to incorporate appropriate 

Page 1318



35 
 

primary health care facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made elsewhere within 
the local area 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan design chapter has been expanded upon, setting out that 
all development shall achieve a high design quality consistent with a number of 
principles, including a place that supports good heath, happiness and active lifestyles. 
The Revised Draft Local Plan also seeks to promote healthier lifestyles through 
promoting sustainable streets and active travel, making places more attractive to walk 
and cycle (policies A2 Transport hierarchy, A3 Sustainable streets and A4 Walking and 
cycling) and supporting improvements to recreation facilities within the city (Policy R1 
Recreation spatial strategy and R2 Recreation standards) whilst protecting existing 
facilities (Policy R4 Protection of recreation land and facilities). 
 
Protecting and enhancing local green space and a green infrastructure network in 
Salford (policies GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy, Policy GI2 Green 
infrastructure requirements for development and GI6 Local green space) will provide a 
variety of functions and uses including increasing people’s access to open space, 
offering more opportunities for free exercise and opportunities for food growing for those 
that do not have their own garden. This should assist in reducing health inequalities and 
enable all communities to have access to multi-functional outdoor space and recreation 
facilities regardless of their income. Various forms of green infrastructure can also help 
bring people together, engaging individuals from different social groupings that may not 
normally interact. The designation of local green space in Policy GI6 and seeking to 
increase the accessibility of the Green Belt and creating additional recreational 
opportunities within it (policies GB1 Green Belt, GI3 Chat Moss, GI4 Irwell Valley and 
GI5 West Salford Greenway) will also contribute to this.  
 
Policy A1 Accessibility spatial strategy seeks to improve overall accessibility within the 
city and reduce the need to travel. Good levels of accessibility make an important 
contribution to social inclusion, by helping to ensure that everyone can not only benefit 
from the wide variety of employment (as referred to above), but also retail and leisure 
facilities within and around Salford. Policy A5 Public transport has been expanded upon 
since the last version of the plan, setting out that support will be afforded to proposals 
that help deliver enhancements to access to public transport for all, including through 
improved affordability. This policy and others in the accessibility chapter (Policy A2 
Transport hierarchy and Policy A4 Walking and cycling) will help to promote more 
socially inclusive modes of travel by for example, securing improvements in the 
frequency, speed, directness and geographical coverage of public transport facilities and 
services, maintaining and enhancing the network of walking and cycling routes, ensuring 
that new development provides sufficient cycle parking and promoting a transport 
hierarchy to ensure that the needs of more vulnerable road users such as pedestrians 
and cyclists, are fully taken into account in new developments and highway design. 
Construction work began in late 2016 on a new Metrolink line between Pomona and the 
Trafford Centre. Key transport priorities also include the expansion of the Metrolink 
system Trafford Park line to the AJ Bell Stadium and Port Salford and a new Metrolink 
line from Victoria Station in Manchester to Salford Crescent Station The Pomona to the 
Trafford Centre line will increase accessibility to job opportunities and so will the other 
Metrolink lines should they be implemented.   
 
Lower Broughton, Lower Kersal and Charlestown are among the areas at greatest risk 
of river flooding in Salford, and are also some of the most deprived communities in the 
city. Measures to reduce the risk and impact of all types of flooding (Policy WA1 Water 

Page 1319



36 
 

strategy, Policy WA4 Flood-related infrastructure, Policy WA5 Development and flood 
risk and Policy WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage), alongside and the two 
flood basins at Littleton Road and Castle Irwell will benefit those communities who are 
most vulnerable to flooding. The Revised Draft Local Plan should assist in creating 
areas that are more resilient to flood risk by incorporating design features to cope with 
flooding. Policy WA1 commits the city council to ensuring that floodrisk is not increased 
and is reduced where practicable in a way that still enables deprived neighbourhoods to 
be successfully regenerated.  
 
The need to spend a large proportion of income on energy bills means that low income 
households may have to make difficult decisions about other household essentials, 
which can lead to poor diet and withdrawal from the community. Requiring 
developments to move as far up the energy hierarchy as possible, by minimising energy 
demand and increasing energy efficiency in the first instance (Policy EG1 Sustainable 
energy in new development) should help to reduce fuel poverty. Energy efficiency 
requirements have been further tightened in the Revised Draft Local Plan, requiring all 
residential schemes to exceed current Building Regulations which should reduce energy 
bills. Ensuring that all development is designed so that users have an acceptable level of 
amenity which includes having regard to comfort of homes and their temperature (Policy 
D5 Amenity) should also contribute towards this. 
 
Well-designed developments and buildings will be an essential component in making the 
city an attractive place for developers and businesses to invest and locate in, and for 
tourists to visit (Policy CT1 Tourism development and CT2 Art and culture). High quality 
design will therefore make an important contribution to the city’s overall success and 
should assist in maximising the number of employment opportunities in the city. The 
Revised Draft Local Plan provides a comprehensive suite of design policies (policies D1 
– D9), which will ensure that all aspects of design are carefully considered in new 
developments. 
 
The whole of the Heritage chapter has been revisited and strengthened in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan (policies HE1 Heritage spatial strategy, HE2 Heritage assets, HE3 
Heritage protection, HE4 Managing change across historic areas, HE5 A positive future 
for heritage assets, HE6 Heritage at risk and Heritage information and interpretation). 
The protection afforded to the city’s heritage assets will also assist in making Salford 
more attractive for investment and support the development of the city’s tourism 
economy, which has the potential to create additional job opportunities in the city. 
Heritage assets can also provide free opportunities for learning and recreation which are 
accessible to all communities regardless of their income. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1320



37 
 

5. Assessing the impact on community cohesion  

Community cohesion is what must happen in all communities to enable different 
groups of people to get on well together. A key contributor to community cohesion 
is integration which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing 
residents to adjust to one another. 

An integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations: 

 People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities. 

 People knowing their rights and responsibilities. 

 People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly. 

And three ways of living together: 

 A shared future vision and sense of belonging. 

 A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside 
a recognition of the value of diversity. 

 Strong and positive relationships between people from different 
backgrounds. 

Detail below if the proposal is likely to impact on community cohesion, including if 
there is likely to be a positive impact. 

In the new ‘A fairer Salford’ chapter, it is recognised that development activity has a key 
role to play in creating a more equal Salford, and the Local Plan seeks to maximise its 
potential contribution to an inclusive city. The encouragement given to developers to 
involve local residents and businesses throughout the development process, 
collaboratively drawing up proposals with residents, particularly where they would 
involve the provision of public spaces or facilities or would have a significant impact on 
the local area (Policy F1 An inclusive development process), has the potential to bring 
residents together who would not ordinarily meet, fostering community cohesion. It will 
be important that this is carefully managed, so that ‘hard to reach groups’ and those with 
protected characteristics have the opportunity to participate effectively, as there is a risk 
that these people could be missed. There is also a new requirement in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan for all major developments to submit a Social Value Strategy which will need 
to identify how the development will support social inclusion and deliver social value 
throughout its lifecycle (Policy F2 Social value and inclusion).  
 
There will be an increase in development, also more residents, workers and visitors in 
Salford as a result of the proposals in the Revised Draft Local Plan, which has the 
potential to challenge and put pressure on community cohesion. The Revised Draft 
Local Plan seeks to manage this through a range of detailed policies (detailed below and 
referenced in section 4) that will ensure that new development is carefully integrated into 
the city so that it does not have a negative impact on community cohesion, and that 
existing residents can benefit from the new development as far as possible. 
 
The significant amount of employment development proposed in Salford (policies EC1 
Economic development spatial strategy, EC3 Office development and EC4 Industrial 
and warehousing development) will mean that more people are coming into the city to 
work. Policies EC5 (Employment allocations) provide details of where new employment 

Page 1321



38 
 

development will be located, which should help to reduce uncertainty for communities 
about how their area may change in the future, and ensure that the scale of 
development being proposed can be successfully integrated into the city. 
 
Whilst there will be a strong emphasis on protecting and enhancing the economic 
function of Salford’s existing employment areas, permitting the redevelopment of some 
existing employment areas to other uses such as housing (Policy EC6 Existing 
employment areas) may assist in improving community cohesion in some areas of the 
city, where as a result of the redevelopment, adjoining uses become more compatible 
and are able to be more comfortably integrated with the existing residential community.  
 
The Draft Local Plan identified the Cambridge industrial area for a mix of housing, 
employment uses and open space (Policy C1). There has been a change to the 
approach for this area in the Revised Draft Local Plan.  Policy C1 has been replaced by 
a new policy covering three employment areas on the edge of City Centre Salford and 
Salford Quays (Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool Street). The policy 
highlights that masterplans will be produced for these areas and any development 
brought forward in accordance with them. Once masterplans are in place this will 
provide communities with some degree of certainty about changes that are likely to 
happen.  
 
Planning for sufficient housing to meet identified housing needs (Policy H2 Scale and 
phasing of housing development)  and maximising the amount of affordable housing that 
is provided (Policy H7 Affordable housing), should mean that, as they grow up, young 
people are able to find suitable housing close to their families. Policy H3 provides details 
of broadly where the new housing development will be located, which will provide some 
certainty to local communities as to the extent to which their area is likely to change and 
develop. 
 
Planning for a mix of different types of dwellings within developments (Policy H4 Type of 
housing) and integrating affordable housing into open market housing schemes by 
making them indistinguishable from the open market dwellings (Policy H7 Affordable 
housing) should assist in ensuring that developments are attractive to a broad range of 
household types, helping to reduce social segregation and encourage people from 
different backgrounds to mix.  
 
The conversion of houses into uses such as hostels, children’s homes and houses in 
multiple occupation, is carefully controlled through the Revised Draft Local Plan (Policy 
H14 Conversion of existing houses, and new build residential developments of non self 
contained units), in order to protect the supply of existing houses and the residential 
character of neighbourhoods. The Revised Draft Local Plan recognises that it can be 
difficult to find appropriate accommodation for these types of uses, and that often the 
conversion of houses may sometimes provide the best opportunity. Permitting the 
conversion of houses into this type of use provided it would not impact on the character 
of the area should ensure that the supply of this type of accommodation continues to be 
made available in Salford, and should enable the occupants to be integrated into the 
local community rather than separated from it.  
 
Measures to improve existing housing areas and stock (Policy H1 Housing strategy) 
should prevent the physical deterioration of neighbourhoods and should help to retain 
and attract people to live in Salford. Supporting improvements in the private rented 
sector including landlord licensing and preventing the short term letting of new 

Page 1322



39 
 

apartments should improve stability and help to create a more permanent sense of 
community in those areas of the city affected by such issues. 
 
Ensuring that sufficient provision is made for accommodation for gypsies, travellers and 
travelling show people (Policy H12 Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople) should 
enable these communities to live together without being isolated from other family 
members. It should also reduce unauthorised encampments, which can lead to friction 
and unrest between communities. 
 
Directing new student housing to the area immediately adjacent to the University of 
Salford campus at Peel Park/Frederick Road and in close proximity to the Salford Quays 
campus (Policy H11 Student housing) should avoid the concentration of student housing 
in existing low density housing areas, which can have a negative impact on the 
character of neighbourhoods and how they function. This approach should also 
contribute to the vibrancy of the university and create a stronger sense of community 
within the student population through the concentration of accommodation and activity. 
 
Protecting and enhancing Salford’s network of town and local centres, designation of 
new centres, together with Salford’s part of the City Centre (Policy TC1 Spatial strategy 
for designated centres, Policy AP1 City Centre and Policy AP3 Salford Quays) will 
ensure that they continue to provide essential facilities and services and function as 
hubs of activity where communities can come together. Policies TC2 (Development 
involving main town centre uses), TC3 (Retail frontages, changes of uses and 
redevelopments within centres) and TC4 (Food and drink uses within centres) will help 
to maintain the vibrancy of the centres by controlling the location and scale of new retail 
development and other uses. Creating new centres at Salford Quays, Ordsall, 
Charlestown and at Clovelly Road (Policy TC1 Town centres spatial strategy) will ensure 
that established and newer communities will also have adequate local facilities and an 
identified ‘hub’ of activity where they can come together. Similarly, area policies AP1 
City Centre and AP3 Salford Quays will broaden the tourism, cultural and leisure offer of 
these areas to the benefit of both residents and visitors.  
 
Requiring new schools and further education facilities where practicable, to provide for 
the community use of playing fields and other school facilities (Policy ED2 Schools and 
further education facilities) could result in the provision of new community resources and 
help to promote community cohesion. 
 
Several Gateway Centres have already been provided in Salford, involving the co-
location of a range of primary health care facilities with other community uses such as 
meeting rooms and libraries. This approach has been considered to be very successful, 
and the Revised Draft Local Plan continues to encourage the co-location of new primary 
health care facilities with other public facilities where possible (Policy HH3 Provision of 
health and social care facilities). Such facilities can provide buildings in which 
communities can come together for a variety of reasons and can therefore create a 
focus for community cohesion. 
 
Maintaining and enhancing the network of walking and cycling routes and addressing 
identified gaps in the network (Policy A4 Walking and cycling, Policy R5 Strategic 
recreation routes should help to encourage more children to walk to school, which can 
assist in promoting community cohesion. More generally, making neighbourhoods more 
‘walkable’ (policies A2 Transport hierarchy, A4 Walking and cycling and R5 Strategic 
recreation routes) should provide opportunities for social interaction and increase 

Page 1323



40 
 

people’s confidence and sense of belonging to a community, helping to promote 
community cohesion. 
 
Protecting Barton Aerodrome as a general aviation facility (Policy A12) will mean that 
existing community groups that come together to use the facility, such as flying clubs, 
can continue to do so. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a suite of detailed design policies (Policies D1-9), 
which should ensure that new development is of a high quality, and that Salford’s 
neighbourhoods retain and enhance their local character and identity. Developments 
that provide interest and people are proud of, feel safe within and are inviting to spend 
time in, will encourage a sense of community pride and belonging, and well-designed 
developments can therefore have a very positive impact on community cohesion. 
 
Heritage assets make a vital contribution to local identity, provide a link to people’s 
collective past and can help maintain local pride in an area. Protecting, conserving and 
enhancing the city’s heritage assets and encouraging the positive use of them where 
possible as well as drawing attention to heritage assets through signage, plaques, 
interpretation panels and boards should provide opportunities for learning, boosting 
sense of place, identity and a better understanding of the places people live in, fostering 
pride and a sense of belonging (policies HE1 Heritage spatial strategy, HE2 Heritage 
assets, HE3 Heritage protection, HE4 Managing change across historic areas, HE5 A 
positive future for heritage assets, HE6 Heritage at risk and HE7 Heritage information 
and interpretation).  
 
The designation of local green space, development of a green infrastructure network 
and range of recreation facilities (policies GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy, GI3 
Chat Moss, GI4 Irwell Valley GI5 West Salford Greenway, GI6 Local green space, GI2 
Green infrastructure requirements for development, R1 Recreation spatial strategy and 
R2 Recreation standards), will provide opportunities for communities to come together 
and enjoy their leisure time. The new policy on sustainable streets (Policy A3) and the 
focus on prioritising people over has the potential to deliver further spaces for people to 
meet, linger and rest, and for children to rest, enabling greater social interaction.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1324



41 
 

6. Monitoring 
 
You should ensure that any actions within your CIA are monitored and reviewed regularly within Covalent. You should review 
progress on your action plan annually. 

 
7. Review 

 
Your CIA should be reviewed after the proposals have been implemented to review actual impact. You should record an 
appropriate review date below.  

 

Review 
Date 

 April-May 2017 following consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan 

 
8. Sign off  

 
When you have completed your CIA, it must be signed off by a senior manager within your service group (Assistant Director or 
above).  
 

Name 
 

Signature Date 

 
 
Chris Findley 
 

 

 

 
 
19th December 2018 

 
 

When your CIA has been signed off and after the decision has been made, send it to Rachel Todd 
(rachel.todd@salford.gov.uk) in Strategy and Change for publishing on the council’s website.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 1325

mailto:rachel.todd@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/impact-assess.htm


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

Salford Local Plan 
Consultation Statement 

 
 
 

January 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1327



 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 Page 
  
Introduction 1 
  
Local Plan – call for sites consultation 3 
  
Local Plan – suggested sites consultation 7 
  
Local Plan – Draft Local Plan consultation 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1328



3 
 

Introduction 
 
1.1 This consultation statement has been prepared having regard to the 

requirements of Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. For each stage of consultation on the 
Salford Local Plan that has been undertaken to date it details: 
• which bodies and persons were invited to make representations under  

Regulation 18; 
• how those bodies and persons were invited to make such representations; 

and 
• a summary of the main issues raised by those representations. 

 
1.2 There have been three key stages of consultation on the local plan to date: 

• Call for sites consultation (8 February – 12 April 2013) 
• Suggested sites consultation (10 January – 21 March 2014) 
• Draft Local Plan consultation (8 November 2016 – 16 January 2017) 

 
Statement of community involvement 

 
2.1 The city council’s statement of community involvement (SCI) was formally 

adopted on 20 January 2010. The SCI aims to increase public involvement in 
the planning process. It sets out who will be involved, by what method and at 
what point in the process of document production or in the determination of 
planning applications. It gives more certainty to those wishing to get involved 
in the planning process. 

 
2.2 The SCI sets out the council’s policy for community engagement in the 

production of formal planning documents. Below is a summary of the SCI 
guidance in respect of consultation at the different stages of development plan 
document (DPD) production: 

 
Stage 1  
This stage includes defining the objectives for the DPD as well as the 
framework and scope of the sustainability appraisal (SA). 

 
Stage 2 
This stage includes evidence gathering and identifying the main issues and 
options for the DPD, and developing the necessary evidence to support the 
DPD. It may involve a number of periods of consultation but is a key stage in 
the preparation of the DPD as it enables people to express their views, put 
forward their own ideas and to actively participate in developing options 
before any firm proposals have been drawn up.  

 
Stage 3 
At this stage the council will take into account any representations received as 
a result of the consultation as it prepares the final document. Representations 
can sometimes be conflicting and therefore the council will have regard to all 
opinions expressed as the final document is produced.  

Page 1329



4 
 

Local plan – call for sites consultation  
(8 Feb – 12 April 2013) 
 
3.1 The local plan call for sites consultation was the initial stage of consultation 

undertaken to inform the local plan. The consultation period ran for nine 
weeks from 8 February 2013 to 12 April 2013. The purpose of the consultation 
was to seek suggestions for sites or areas of land in the city that may be 
appropriate for allocation or designation in the local plan. 

 
3.2 No formal documents were produced for the consultation but a letter was sent 

to all consultees together with a proforma for comments to be submitted. 
 
3.3 Any consultees or persons wishing to submit suggestions and 

recommendations for sites were invited to make their comments in any of the 
following ways during the consultation period: 
• by email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
• by post to Local Plan consultation, Spatial Planning, Salford Civic Centre, 

Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 
• by returning forms by hand to the main reception desk at the Civic Centre. 

 
Consultation letter 
 
3.4 The local plan call for sites consultation letter was sent to all stakeholders on 

the city council’s planning consultation database. The letter is set out at 
Appendix A1. As the city council had recently ceased work on the production 
of its core strategy (November 2012), the letter included additional information 
about why the city council was now progressing with a local plan and what this 
would do.   

 
Sustainability appraisal 
 
3.5 The consultation letter also referred to the consultation on the proposed 

methodology for carrying out the sustainability appraisal (SA) for the local 
plan. This consultation ran alongside the local plan call for sites consultation 
and the SA scoping report has subsequently been revised having regard to 
the comments received during the consultation. The revised local plan 
sustainability appraisal scoping report is available at 
www.salford.gov.uk/localplan-scopingreport.htm 

 
Consultees 
 
3.6 The local plan call for sites consultation letter was sent to all general and 

specific consultees. There were a total of 11 general and 43 specific 
consultees. A list of all general and specific consultees consulted at this stage 
is set out at Appendix A2. 

 
3.7 All of the relevant bodies identified in Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 as duty to cooperate bodies 

Page 1330



5 
 

were also consulted. A list of these bodies for Salford is set out at Appendix 
A3.  

 
3.8 In addition to the specific, general and duty to cooperate consultees, all 

stakeholders on the city council’s planning consultation database were notified 
about the consultation. This included a total of 1,022 individuals and 
organisations who had previously commented on, or expressed an interest in, 
one of Salford’s planning documents (including the core strategy which was 
withdrawn in November 2012).    

 
3.9 Finally, an email was sent to all local councillors informing them of the 

consultation.   
 
Proforma 

 
3.10 In order to assist local residents and businesses in responding to the call for 

sites consultation, a proforma was produced for respondents to complete for 
each proposed site. The proforma required details of the proposed site 
including its address and a site location plan to be submitted, together with 
information on the current use of the site, what the respondents considered 
the site should be allocated or designated for, and why the site would be 
appropriate for this use.  By producing the proforma, it was hoped that this 
would aid the submission of a fully detailed proposal and ensure that sufficient 
information was submitted in order to understand the nature of the proposal.    
  

3.11 A copy of the proforma was enclosed with all consultation letters and a copy 
was also available to download on the local plan webpage. 

 
Internet 

 
3.12 As soon as the city council commenced work on the production of the local 

plan a dedicated webpage was set up on the city council’s website which 
explained about the local plan, its purpose and what it would do. A webpage 
specifically dedicated to the consultation was established which went live for 
the start of the consultation. This webpage set out briefly the purpose of the 
local plan consultation, outlined the dates of the consultation including the 
closing date for comments and also included downloadable copies of the 
consultation letter and proforma. A copy of the local plan call for sites 
consultation webpage is set out at Appendix A4. 
 

3.13 A hotlink was also set up on the homepage of the city council’s website, 
highlighting the consultation and providing a direct link from the city council’s 
homepage to the local plan consultation page. This was available on the 
homepage throughout the duration of the consultation. 
 

3.14 In addition an article was advertised on the city council’s intranet (the city 
council’s internal network) for the consultation, inviting comments and 
providing details of where further information could be found regarding the 
consultation. This was displayed periodically throughout the duration of the 
consultation.  

Page 1331



6 
 

 
Presentations 

 
3.15 A presentation was given to the Shadow Health and Well Being Board on 21 

March 2013 to provide information about the consultation and invite them to 
submit representations. This board had been established in advance of the 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group and the city council taking over 
responsibilities from NHS Salford (formerly the primary care trust for Salford) 
from April 2013. This meeting was attended by representatives from the 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Greater Manchester Police, the voluntary and 
community sector, and the NHS Foundation Trust, amongst others. 
 

3.16 An informal presentation was also given on 5 March 2013 to the Ordsall and 
Langworthy community committee following a request from an elected 
councillor. 

 
Representations received and issues raised 

 
3.17 A total of 315 individuals and organisations responded to the consultation, 

with over 1,100 sites suggested for either some form of development or 
protective designation. A list of all those who submitted representations is set 
out at Appendix A5. 

 
Sites suggested for development 
 
3.18 The city council reviewed all of the suggested sites and consolidated these by 

removing overlapping sites and discounting sites that were below 1 hectare in 
size1. The city council also reviewed its strategic land assessment work to 
identify sites which may have potential to accommodate housing or 
employment development, or where there has been known developer interest 
previously. This process resulted in a total of 137 sites being identified, to be 
assessed for their potential to accommodate development. 

 
Sites suggested for local green space designation  
 
3.19 A number of sites across the city were suggested by the local community for 

designation as local green space. The city council reviewed all of these sites 
and consolidated them by removing overlapping sites. It also included any 
sites which had not been put forward by the community but which the city 
council considered could meet the criteria for local green space designation. 
This process resulted in a total of 48 sites being identified, to be assessed 
against the criteria for local green space designation. 

 
Sites suggested for recreation allocation 
 

                                            
1 Sites below 1 hectare in size were typically discounted for the purposes of assessment, as the local 
plan will not generally allocate sites below this size. The exception to this was where a site would 
require an allocation in order to make it developable in planning policy terms (e.g. where a site was 
within the green belt). In such instances, sites below 1 hectare in size were also assessed.  

Page 1332



7 
 

3.20 A number of sites across the city were suggested by the local community for 
allocation for recreation purposes. The city council reviewed all of these sites 
and consolidated them by removing overlapping sites. This process resulted 
in a total of 48 sites being identified, to be assessed for their suitability to be 
allocated for recreation purposes. 

 
Sites suggested for green belt designation 
 
3.21 A number of sites across the city were suggested by the local community for 

designation as green belt land. The city council reviewed all of these sites and 
consolidated them by removing overlapping sites. This process resulted in a 
total of 20 sites being identified, all located within Salford West and 
predominantly within Little Hulton and Walkden, and Worsley and Boothstown, 
with a small number in Irlam and Cadishead, and in Swinton.  
 

3.22 Appendix A6 sets out the source of the site suggestion for each of the sites 
suggested for development. It also sets out the number of representations 
relating to each site that was proposed for local green space designation, 
recreation allocation, and green belt designation. Some sites were suggested 
for more than one type of designation. 
 

3.23 The local plan suggested sites consultation overview document sets out in 
more detail the criteria against which the sites were assessed and how the 
final list of sites was derived in terms of those sites for development, for local 
green space designation, for recreation allocation and for green belt 
designation. 

 
 
 

  

Page 1333



8 
 

Local Plan – suggested sites consultation 
(10 January – 21 March 2014) 
 
4.1 The local plan suggested sites consultation ran for a ten week period from 10 

January 2014 to 21 March 2014. The purpose of the consultation was to seek 
views on the sites that had been suggested at the previous consultation stage, 
and on the city council’s initial assessment of these sites, in order to inform 
the preparation of the Draft Local Plan. The consultation also presented the 
opportunity for additional sites to be suggested, either for development, or for 
protective designation. 
 

4.2 A series of documents were issued for consultation including: 
• overview document – providing an overview of this stage of consultation, 

listing all sites that the city council had assessed, together with the 
methodology for the assessment. 

• neighbourhood area documents – a separate document was prepared for 
each of the city’s eight neighbourhood areas (Claremont and Weaste, East 
Salford, Eccles, Irlam and Cadishead, Little Hulton and Walkden, Ordsall 
and Langworthy, Swinton, and Worsley and Boothstown), containing all of 
the sites that have been suggested within that area and the city council’s 
assessment of them. 

• green belt assessment document – identifying those sites within the green 
belt which had been suggested for development, and those sites proposed 
in submissions to the local plan as possible additions to the green belt. 

• consultation statement – detailing the call for sites consultation stage. 
 
4.3 Any consultees or persons wishing to make representations were invited to do 

so in any of the following ways during the consultation period: 
• by email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
• by post to Local Plan consultation, Spatial Planning, Salford Civic Centre, 

Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 
• by returning forms by hand to the main reception desk at the Civic Centre 

 
Consultation letter 
 
4.4 A letter was sent to all stakeholders on the city council’s planning consultation 

database to advise them of the suggested sites consultation and how to make 
representations. A copy of the consultation letter is set out at Appendix B1.   

 
Consultees 
 
4.5 The suggested sites consultation letter was sent to all general and specific 

consultees, as at the call for sites consultation stage. The list of these 
consultees is set out at Appendix A2. Similarly, all of the Duty to Cooperate 
bodies as identified in Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, were consulted.  These bodies are 
listed at Appendix A3. 
 

Page 1334



9 
 

4.6 In addition to the specific, general and duty to cooperate consultees, all 
stakeholders on the city council’s planning consultation database were notified 
about the consultation. This represented a total of 1,258 individuals and 
organisations being notified, including all those who submitted representations 
at the local plan call for sites consultation stage. 
 

4.7 An email was also sent to all councillors to inform them of the consultation, 
and the city council’s neighbourhood managers were encouraged to circulate 
details of the consultation across their own network of community contacts 
and via social media. 

 
Proforma 
 
4.8 A proforma was prepared to assist consultees in making representations. In 

addition to this, the proforma from the call for sites consultation was also 
made available in order to provide the opportunity for any additional sites to 
be suggested. Both proformas were made available on the city council’s 
website, and hard copies of the proformas were enclosed with letters which 
were mailed out as part of the consultation, and were also made available at 
all deposit locations.  

 
Internet 
 
4.9 A dedicated webpage for the suggested sites consultation went live on the city 

council’s website which from 10 January 2014 to coincide with the start of the 
consultation period. This webpage set out the purpose of the consultation and 
also included downloadable versions of all consultation documents including 
the proformas, the overview document and the consultation statement. A copy 
of the suggested sites consultation webpage is set out at Appendix B2. 
Associated with this, a webpage featuring an interactive map was created, 
identifying all sites across the city that were suggested for inclusion in the 
local plan and providing a direct link to each relevant site assessment. The 
interactive map has remained live for reference purposes following the end of 
the consultation period. 
 

4.10 In addition, an item was included on the city council website homepage as a 
rotating news item for defined periods during the consultation, to prominently 
highlight the consultation to visitors to the city council’s website. A snapshot of 
the website homepage showing the link to the local plan consultation is set out 
at Appendix B3. 
 

4.11 During the consultation, information was collated about the number of views of 
the suggested sites consultation webpages. There were a total of 3,727 
unique pageviews (the number of sessions during which that page was 
viewed one or more times) over the course of the consultation period, with 
500 of these occurring on the first day of the consultation.  

 
Additional publicity 
 

Page 1335



10 
 

4.12 The following additional activities were undertaken to publicise the 
consultation period and engage with stakeholders.  
 

4.13 An article was included within the December 2013 issues of LIFE IN Salford. 
This is a partnership magazine for the city, produced four times a year which 
is distributed to every home and business in the city by Royal Mail and a door-
to-door distributor, and is also available on the city council’s website. The 
LIFE IN Salford article is set out at Appendix B4. 

 
4.14 Salford’s City Mayor published a press release on 17 December 2013 to 

publicise the local plan suggested sites consultation. This is set out at 
Appendix B5. 
 

4.15 City council officers attended three community committee meetings during the 
consultation period, to provide an overview of this stage of consultation and 
answer any questions posed by the local community: 
• Irlam and Cadishead community committee – 16 January 2014 
• East Salford community committee – 23 January 2014 
• Worsley and Boothstown community committee – 12 February 2014 

 
Representations received and issues raised 
 
4.16 A total of 380 individuals and organisations responded to the consultation, 

with many respondents making representations on multiple sites. Of the 380 
respondents, 34 of these had previously put forward sites at the call for sites 
stage. A list of all those who submitted representations is set out at Appendix 
B6. 
 

4.17 Representations provided comments on the city council’s assessment of the 
suggested sites, and in some cases provided additional evidence in this 
regard. In addition, a number of respondents suggested additional sites which 
they considered should be allocated for development, or be given some form 
of protective designation. As part of this: 
• 22 additional sites were suggested for development 
• 16 additional sites were suggested for local green space designation 
• 3 additional sites were suggested for recreation allocation 

 
4.18 In addition to the above, three other sites were suggested including one for 

the protection of existing allotments at Dixon Street (Irlam), one to designate 
land at City Airport and Heliport for the continuation and protection of the 
existing airport facility, and one to designate Salford Quays/Media City UK as 
a strategic location for growth suitable for a range of development consistent 
with its role as a major creative/digital industries, educational, residential, 
business and visitor destination.  

 
Additional sites suggested for development 
 
4.19 Of the additional 22 sites suggested for development, 13 were below the 1 

hectare threshold for allocation within the local plan. These smaller sites were 
considered for identification within the city council’s Housing and Economic 

Page 1336



11 
 

Land Availability Assessment (HELAA). The 9 sites which exceeded the 1 
hectare threshold were subject to the same assessment process as those 
sites which were consulted on at the suggested sites consultation stage. In 
addition, a further 4 sites were assessed for development, reflecting those 
sites put forward via the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework call for sites 
in January 2016 which had not previously been assessed. 

 
Additional sites suggested for local green space designation 
 
4.20 16 additional sites were suggested for local green space designation. All of 

these sites were assessed using the same assessment process as those sites 
which were consulted on at the suggested sites consultation stage. 

 
Additional sites suggested for recreation allocation 
 
4.21 3 additional sites were suggested for recreation allocation. All of these sites 

were assessed using the same assessment process as those sites which 
were consulted on at the suggested sites consultation stage. 
 

4.22 Appendix B7 sets out all of the additional sites assessed following the 
suggested sites consultation. For those sites assessed for development, the 
source of the site suggestion is identified for each site. For those sites 
assessed for local green space designation or recreation allocation, the 
number of representations relating to each site is identified. 
 

 
Summary of main issues raised in representations, and how these were 
addressed in the Draft Local Plan 
 
4.23 The table below provides a brief summary of the main issues raised in 

representations received at the suggested sites stage, and how these were 
addressed in the Draft Local Plan. 

 
Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

General comments 
 

 

A local MP objected to the principle of 
developing green belt and greenfield 
land, which they consider should only 
be lost in the most exceptional of 
circumstances. They highlighted that 
this reflects the views of their 
constituents, who want to see green 
belt and greenfield land protected, 
and that any unprotected greenfield 
land should be designated as local 
green space. 
 

The Local Plan seeks to maximise the 
use of previously-developed land. 
However, some release of green belt 
land is proposed. This includes a 
proposed expansion of Port Salford, 
so as to support economic growth 
and the sustainable movement of 
goods, and four housing sites, so as 
to increase the supply of new houses 
to enable more families to live in 
Salford. 

Page 1337



12 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
(GMEU) highlighted the need to 
understand the cumulative impact in 
ecological terms if a number of 
greenfield sites were to be developed. 
The response identified that whilst 
detailed surveys may find that the 
qualitative ecological constraints on 
individual sites are low, the 
cumulative quantitative impact could 
still be large, particularly for non-
protected species, leading to a 
potential erosion of local wildlife 
interests. 
 
Where there would be clusters of 
greenfield sites proposed to be 
allocated for development, GMEU 
recommend that:  
• Extended phase 1 habitat surveys 

are carried out of allocated sites 
(preferably prior to allocation); 

• For any of these sites that are 
determined as suitable for 
development that these areas are 
required to develop ‘master plans’ 
that include proposals for retaining 
/ enhancing biodiversity interests; 
and 

• Biodiversity offsetting be 
considered for development 
proposals where applicable. 

 

The proposed site allocations make 
specific reference to biodiversity 
issues, requiring the 
protection/enhancement of 
designated sites, priority habitats and 
landscape features. The more 
general requirement for 
developments to incorporate green 
infrastructure should also help to 
ensure that individual developments 
do not result in any net loss of 
ecological value, as required by draft 
Policy BG2. 

The Highways Agency emphasised 
the importance of considering the air 
quality impacts that new development 
will generate, given that the 
development of sites within the air 
quality management area or close to 
the strategic road network will clearly 
impact on air quality. 
  

The air quality management area has 
been taken into account when 
considering the development potential 
of individual sites, with some 
allocations referring to the need for 
buffers to motorways. A strong 
emphasis has been placed on 
maximising the potential for making 
journeys by public transport, cycling 
and walking, so as to minimise 
potential air pollution. 

A developer commented that it is not 
possible to draw conclusions about 
the suitability of any site for a 

A strategic housing market 
assessment and evidence on 
employment issues are being 

Page 1338



13 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

particular use or designation until the 
city council has prepared a complete 
and up to date evidence base to 
inform the local plan, to include the 
following: 
• strategic housing market 

assessment 
• strategic housing land supply 

assessment 
• retail and leisure study 
• employment land supply study 
• open space / recreational land 

audit 
 

published as part of the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework 
evidence base. The latest housing 
land supply position and a summary 
of a recent greenspace audit are 
available on the city council’s website. 
The need for a new retail and leisure 
study will be kept under review. 

A developer proposed that City Airport 
and Heliport should be designated in the 
local plan for the continuation and 
protection of the existing airport facility, 
and that Salford Quays/Media City UK 
should be designated as a strategic 
location for growth suitable for a range of 
development consistent with its role as a 
major creative/digital industries, 
educational, residential, business and 
visitor destination. The developer also 
expressed support for the designation of 
Salford Quays as a town centre within 
the local plan. 
 

The draft plan protects the role of City 
Airport and Heliport. Salford Quays is 
identified as a strategic growth 
location, with a significant level of 
development proposed, provided 
transport infrastructure issues can be 
addressed, and it is also designated 
as a town centre. 

The Environment Agency 
recommended that existing River 
Irwell flood storage basin and the 
proposed second storage basin 
should be designated as functional 
flood plain so that they are 
safeguarded from any future 
development. 
 

The two flood storage basins are 
specifically protected under Policy 
WA4, and are shown on the Policies 
Map. 

A developer highlighted the potential 
of Irlam and Cadishead as a 
sustainable location to accommodate 
a strategic scale of new housing 
development. 
 

Policy H3/4 allocates a strategic site 
to the west of Cadishead and Irlam 
for housing, seeking to take 
advantage of the proximity to Irlam 
station. This would involve the 
removal of land from the green belt. 

Transport for Greater Manchester 
identified that the local plan should 
support and safeguard future 
Metrolink alignments across the 

Given there is not a specific 
alignment at this stage, the potential 
Metrolink extension to Port Salford is 
identified on the transport diagram. 

Page 1339



14 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

Manchester Ship Canal and between 
the Western Gateway Infrastructure 
Scheme (WGIS) and Port Salford.  
 

The land allocation at the AJ Bell 
Stadium specifically requires the 
incorporation of Metrolink through the 
site, and the allocation for the 
expansion of Port Salford also 
requires Metrolink to be 
accommodated. A more specific line, 
if available, can be included at the 
next stage. 

A large number of representations 
from the local community highlighted 
that the local plan needs to focus on 
supporting the development of 
previously developed land within the 
urban area, so that green belt and 
greenfield land can be protected from 
development. 
  

The Local Plan seeks to maximise the 
use of previously-developed land. 
However, some release of green belt 
land is proposed. This includes a 
proposed expansion of Port Salford, 
so as to support economic growth 
and the sustainable movement of 
goods, and four housing sites, so as 
to increase the supply of new houses 
to enable more families to live in 
Salford. 

Comments on methodology for 
assessing sites 
 

 

English Heritage recommended a 
number of changes to the approach 
to assessing the impact of the 
development of sites on the 
significance of both designated and 
non-designated heritage assets. 
 

These issues are covered in the 
National Planning Policy Framework 
and so are not duplicated in the Draft 
Local Plan. Evidence on heritage 
assets has informed the proposed 
allocations, and this will be updated 
prior to the next stage. 

Natural England recommended that 
sites should be assessed for their 
impact on geodiversity interests. 
 

Policy BG3 deals specifically with 
geological diversity. 

Comments on site assessments: 
Claremont and Weaste 
 

 

A developer agreed that site ‘CW005 
– Land at Broadway Link Road’ would 
be suitable for general employment 
purposes, but disagreed with the city 
council’s conclusion that this would 
be an unsuitable location for retail 
development. 
 

The site is in an out-of-centre 
location, and so its use for retail 
would be unlikely to comply with 
national planning policy on retail 
uses. The Draft Local Plan seeks to 
direct new retail floorspace to 
designated centres. 

Comments on site assessments: 
East Salford 

 

Page 1340



15 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
highlighted that development within 
this area should not harm the 
functionality of the River Irwell as a 
wildlife corridor. The sites along the 
course of the river represent an 
opportunity to enhance the River 
Irwell corridor for wildlife, recreation 
and potentially in terms of flood 
defence. 
 

The Draft Local Plan includes a 
separate policy on the Irwell Valley, 
which seeks to protect and enhance 
its wildlife, recreation and flood 
mitigation functions. These issues are 
also highlighted in the housing 
allocation for Charlestown Riverside 
(Policy H3/5). 

The University of Salford proposed 
the allocation of site ‘ES016 – Castle 
Irwell’ for residential use together with 
the potential for small scale retail 
development along Cromwell Road. 
 

The Castle Irwell site has been 
allocated for housing as part of the 
larger Charlestown Riverside site in 
the Draft Local Plan (Policy H3/5). It 
specifically requires the incorporation 
of active town centre uses, which 
would include retailing, on the 
Cromwell Road and Littleton Road 
frontages that fall within the proposed 
Cromwell Road local centre. 

A number of local community 
representations highlighted concerns 
that the noise and air quality impacts 
arising from the existing heavy 
industrial operations in close 
proximity to site ‘ES018 – Land south 
of the Crescent’ would compromise 
the redevelopment of this site and its 
suitability for residential development. 
  

The Draft Local Plan does not 
allocate individual development sites 
within the City Centre. Any proposals 
on this site would need to comply with 
the pollution policies in the plan. 

Comments on site assessments: 
Eccles 
 

 

Natural England identified that the 
following sites contain priority habitat 
as listed on Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006, and 
therefore if significant harm resulting 
from development cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated, or 
compensated for, then planning 
permission should be refused: 
• EC007 – Land south of Lankro 

Way 

Of these sites, only EC015 is 
proposed for allocation, forming part 
of the Port Salford expansion (Policy 
EC4/1), and this specifically requires 
the retention of existing woodland, 
hedgerows and ponds where 
practicable. None of the other sites 
are proposed for allocation. Three of 
them (EC010, EC011 and EC012) 
have planning permission for housing 
and are under construction. 

Page 1341



16 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

• EC009 – Land at Weymouth Road 
• EC010 – Former GUS warehouse 
• EC011 – Nasmyth Technology 

Centre 
• EC012 – Former Mitchell 

Shackleton  
• EC015 – Land north of Barton 

Aerodrome 
 

The local MP objected to the 
development of site ‘EC015 – Land 
north of Barton Aerodrome’ as it is 
green belt land, and because of the 
impact on local biodiversity and 
sustainability. 
 

The site forms part of the Port Salford 
expansion, which is a proposed 
allocation (Policy EC4/1). Given the 
relative merits of the Port Salford site 
once the rail, water and road 
infrastructure has been completed as 
part of the development of land to the 
south of the A57, it is considered that 
there is an argument for releasing 
additional land in this area so as to 
enable more goods to be moved 
sustainably and to maximise the use 
of the new rail and water-based 
infrastructure. This would also have 
the benefit of providing additional 
employment opportunities in this part 
of Salford and Greater Manchester. 
These factors are considered to 
outweigh the loss of green belt. The 
proposed allocation specifically 
requires the incorporation of 
landscaping to maximise biodiversity. 

Natural England highlighted that site 
‘EC015 – Land north of Barton 
Aerodrome’ comprises Grade 1 
Agricultural land and that the plan 
should safeguard the long term 
capability of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land and make 
clear that areas of lower quality 
agricultural land should be used for 
development in preference. 
 

Defra data suggests that much of the 
land is of grade 1 agricultural value, 
but the benefits of expanding Port 
Salford are considered to outweigh 
the loss of the agricultural land, and 
so the site forms part of the proposed 
Port Salford expansion allocation 
(Policy EC4/1). 

Comments on site assessments: 
Irlam and Cadishead 
 

 

Over 200 representations were 
submitted from the local community 

The Draft Local Plan includes a 
proposed allocation for a large 

Page 1342



17 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

and the local MP objecting to any 
proposed development on green belt 
land around Irlam and Cadishead. 
These representations considered 
that proposals for the development of 
green belt land within this area should 
not be taken forward, for a range of 
reasons including the loss of Grade 1 
agricultural land, impact on the 
character and biodiversity of the 
mossland, traffic impacts, and there 
being inadequate infrastructure to 
support the proposed scale of 
development.  
 
These representations specifically 
objected to the development of the 
following sites: 
• IC010 – Land at Great Woolden 

Hall Farm 
• IC011 – Astley Road Farm 
• IC013 – Land west of Irlam 
• IC014 – Land east of Irlam 
• IC015 – Land west of Barton 

Aerodrome 
• IC021 – Land north of the M62 at 

Chat Moss 
 

The community representations also 
opposed the development of any 
formal recreation facilities on the 
following sites: 
• REC32 – Former Ferry Hill Tip 

and surrounding land 
• REC34 – Astley Road Farm 
• REC35 – Land adjoining Irlam 

Steelworks 
• REC36 – Land north of Silver 

Street 
 

housing development in western 
Cadishead and Irlam, which 
incorporates sites IC010, IC011 and 
IC013 (H3/4). The site offers the only 
opportunity in Salford to deliver a 
major new area of housing close to a 
direct rail connection (Irlam station) to 
the City Centre. It also benefits from 
being close to an existing local centre 
and major areas of existing 
(Northbank, Trafford Park, Trafford 
Centre) and proposed (Port Salford) 
employment. It is located within the 
Western Gateway, which is identified 
as a strategic growth location in the 
draft Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework. The benefits of the 
development are considered to 
outweigh the loss of the green belt 
and agricultural land. The draft 
allocation includes various 
requirements to maximise its 
sustainability, including the 
incorporation of large amounts of 
green infrastructure and the 
provision/enhancement of local 
facilities such as schools and shops. 
 
Site IC015 is a proposed allocation, to 
enable the expansion of Port Salford 
expansion (Policy EC4/1). Given the 
relative merits of the Port Salford site 
once the rail, water and road 
infrastructure has been completed as 
part of the development of land to the 
south of the A57, it is considered that 
there is an argument for releasing 
additional land in this area so as to 
enable more goods to be moved 
sustainably and to maximise the use 
of the new rail and water-based 
infrastructure. This would also have 
the benefit of providing additional 
employment opportunities in this part 
of Salford and Greater Manchester. 
These factors are considered to 
outweigh the loss of green belt. The 

Page 1343



18 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

proposed allocation specifically 
requires the incorporation of 
landscaping to maximise biodiversity. 
 
Sites IC014 and IC021 are not 
proposed for development in the Draft 
Local Plan, and would remain in the 
green belt. Site IC021 forms part of 
the Chat Moss are which is identified 
as a strategic piece of green 
infrastructure, which should be 
subject to habitat restoration and 
improved public access. The plan 
does not allocate any of the 
recreation sites. 

Natural England highlighted that the 
following sites contain priority habitat 
as listed on Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006: 
• IC010 – Land at Great Woolden 

Hall Farm 
• IC013 – Land west of Irlam 
• IC014 – Land east of Irlam 
• IC015 – Land west of Barton 

Aerodrome 
• IC021 – Land north of the M62 at 

Chat Moss 
 
For those sites which comprise Grade 
1 Agricultural land, Natural England 
recommended that the plan should 
safeguard the long term capability of 
the best and most versatile 
agricultural land and make clear that 
areas of lower quality agricultural land 
should be used for development in 
preference. 
 
In relation to a number of green belt 
sites across this area, Natural 
England highlighted that these sites 
lie in close proximity to the 
Manchester Mosses Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), and therefore 
advise that if the development of a 
site was to have adverse impacts on 

IC010 and IC013 form part of a 
proposed housing allocation (H3/4). 
The benefits of delivering a large 
amount of family housing close to a 
direct rail link to the City Centre are 
considered to outweigh the loss of 
green belt and grade 1 agricultural 
land, with there being no similar 
opportunities of the same scale in 
less sensitive locations. 
 
Similarly, the benefits of expanding 
Port Salford are considered to 
outweigh the loss of the agricultural 
land and green belt, and so site 
IC015 is a proposed allocation for an 
expansion to Port Salford (Policy 
EC4/1). There are no other 
opportunities in Greater Manchester 
to deliver a multi-modal employment 
site of this order. 
 
A habitat regulations assessment will 
be completed prior to the next stage, 
assessing the potential impacts on 
the SAC. 

Page 1344



19 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

the integrity of the designated SAC, it 
should not be taken forward in the 
local plan. 
 
A developer identified that site ‘IC015 
– Land west of Barton Aerodrome’ 
represents a unique combination of 
multi-modal accessibility as an 
expansion to Port Salford to meet the 
need for multi-modal logistics 
development serving the regional 
centre and the north west region. 
They consider that there is no 
alternative site in the region that can 
realise the same sustainability 
benefits and that this context provides 
the exceptional circumstances to 
justify green belt release in this 
location.  
 

The site is a proposed allocation in 
the Draft Local Plan (EC4/1 Port 
Salford expansion). 

Comments on site assessments: 
Little Hulton and Walkden  
 

 

In relation to site ‘LW001 – Land west 
of Wharton Lane’ a developer 
considered there needs to be further 
assessment of the compatibility of 
residential development on this site 
with the employment uses on the 
adjoining site, ‘LW002 – Cutacre, 
Wharton Lane’. They recommended 
that the site be allocated for mixed-
use development or reduced in area 
to allow an appropriate buffer zone. 
 

The site is not allocated in the Draft 
Local Plan. It is identified as being 
suitable for housing in Salford’s 
housing and employment land 
availability assessment, but this 
would not preclude other uses if 
appropriate. 

A number of local community 
representations and the local MP 
objected to any development of site 
‘LW015 – Land south of Hill Top 
Road’. They consider it to be well 
used open space that also functions 
as a wildlife habitat, and a space that 
is of considerable value to the local 
community. 
 

The site has no formal recreation use, 
and there is no funding to improve it 
for recreation purposes. It is 
considered that the benefits of 
providing new houses in an 
accessible location outweigh the loss 
of greenfield land, and so it is 
allocated for housing (Policy H3/13). 
The policy specifically requires 
development to provide for wildlife to 
move through the site. 

Page 1345



20 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

Natural England identified that site 
‘LW017 – Land east of Linnyshaw’ 
contains priority habitat as listed on 
Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006, and 
therefore if significant harm resulting 
from development cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated, or 
compensated for, then planning 
permission should be refused.  
 

The Draft Local Plan does not 
allocate the site, and it is proposed for 
retention within the green belt. 

In relation to site ‘LW017 – Land east 
of Linnyshaw’, a developer contested 
the city council’s conclusion that there 
would be a lack of demand for 
employment uses in this location, and 
considered that this assertion was 
unsubstantiated in the absence of an 
up to date employment land study. 
They identified that in the context of a 
mixed use proposal coming forward, 
the specific split between residential 
and employment uses would be 
determined by a strategic 
masterplanning exercise. 
 

The Draft Local Plan does not 
allocate the site, and it is proposed for 
retention within the green belt. 

A number of local community 
representations and the local MP 
objected to any development of sites 
‘LW017 – Land east of Linnyshaw’, 
‘LW028 – Land south of A6 and north 
of Ellesmere Golf Course’ and 
‘LW029 – Ellesmere Golf Course’ on 
the basis that this green belt land 
plays a key role in providing 
separation between Walkden, 
Swinton and Kearsley, and in 
mitigating air quality impacts 
associated with the adjoining M60 / 
M61. 
 

The Draft Local Plan does not 
allocate these sites, and they are 
proposed for retention within the 
green belt. 

In relation to site ‘LW022 – Land west 
of Burgess Farm’, a developer 
contested the city council’s 
conclusion that only the north eastern 
part of the site has the potential to 

The northern part of the site is a 
proposed allocation in the Draft Local 
Plan (Policy H3/8). The rest of site 
LW022  is designated as a site of 
biological importance, and therefore 

Page 1346



21 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

accommodate built development due 
to identified constraints. They 
therefore consider that the site could 
support a greater number of dwellings 
and that the identified mitigation 
requirements can be achieved in the 
context of the site’s development. 
 

forms an important part of Salford’s 
green infrastructure and ecological 
networks. Consequently, it is not 
considered appropriate for 
development. 

A number of local community 
representations, together with a 
petition signed by 52 people and a 
representation by the local MP, 
objected to any development of site 
‘LW027 – Recreation land at Shap 
Drive’ on the basis that this provides 
a valuable recreation function for the 
local community, and there is a lack 
of alternative spaces for children’s 
play within the area. Representations 
highlighted that the site would benefit 
from the provision of play equipment.  
 

The site is not proposed for 
development in the Draft Local Plan. 

Comments on site assessments: 
Ordsall and Langworthy 
 

 

A number of local community 
representations recognised that the 
existing heavy industrial operations 
and waste processing facilities which 
lie within site ‘OL007 – Liverpool 
Street’ would compromise 
opportunities for redevelopment 
across this area. However, they 
considered that the local plan should 
set the long-term strategic direction 
and provide the basis for the 
comprehensive redevelopment of this 
area, involving the relocation of these 
uses. 
 

The local plan does not include any 
specific proposals for this area. The 
need to consider its redevelopment 
will be kept under review. 

In relation to site ‘OL015 – Land 
between Broadway and the Quays’, a 
key developer agreed that future 
development of significant scale will 
need to be integrated with the 
delivery of additional highway and 
transportation infrastructure, and that 

The site lies within Salford Quays, 
which is subject to its own policy in 
the Draft Local Plan. This identifies 
Salford Quays as having capacity for 
significant growth, but that this will 
need to be carefully phased with 

Page 1347



22 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

on-going and future modelling work 
will be used to inform the phasing of 
such development and necessary 
infrastructure. 
 

improved transport infrastructure and 
services. 

A developer recommended that 
Salford Quays/Media City UK should 
be identified in the local plan as a 
strategic location for growth suitable 
for a range of development consistent 
with its role as a major creative/digital 
industries, educational, residential, 
business and visitor destination. They 
also identified a number of sites 
within this strategic location which 
they consider should be identified as 
strategic development sites. 
 

The site lies within Salford Quays, 
which is subject to its own policy in 
the Draft Local Plan. This identifies 
Salford Quays as having capacity for 
significant growth, but that this will 
need to be carefully phased with 
improved transport infrastructure and 
services. 

Comments on site assessments: 
Swinton 
 

 

Over 40 local community 
representations were submitted 
together with a petition signed by 28 
people, in relation to site ‘SW001 – 
Former Swinton Sewage Treatment 
Works and surrounding land’. The 
majority of these representations 
considered that some housing 
development on this site would be 
acceptable, on the basis that this was 
kept to the minimum necessary to 
facilitate the open space 
improvements across the wider site. 
These representations typically 
considered that 100 dwellings is the 
maximum that the site should 
accommodate. A number of 
representations, together with the 
petition, did however oppose the 
principle of any built development on 
this site and considered that the 
whole site should remain as open 
land. 
 
The representation submitted by the 
landowner of this site requested that 

The site is allocated for improvement 
as a strategic natural greenspace of 
at least 20 hectares in size, together 
with enabling housing development 
not exceeding 250 dwellings (Policy 
H4/2). The policy is clear that the 
number of dwellings should be the 
minimum required to deliver the 
recreation improvements, and to the 
actual number could be significantly 
less than 250 dwellings depending on 
viability. 

Page 1348



23 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

the scale of housing development be 
based on a robust assessment of 
viability which takes into account the 
potential need for open space 
improvements, remediation of 
contaminated land, ecological 
enhancements and any other 
abnormal site costs likely to be 
experienced on the site. 
 
Approximately 15 representations 
from the local community objected to 
the principle of any built development 
on sites ‘SW005 – Land west of new 
St Ambrose Barlow High School’ and 
‘SW006 – Land north of new St 
Ambrose Barlow High School’ on the 
basis that this green belt land plays a 
key role in providing separation 
between Walkden, Swinton and 
Clifton, and in mitigating air quality 
impacts associated with the adjoining 
M60 / M61. Concerns regarding 
biodiversity impacts and the loss of 
open space with a recreation function 
were also highlighted.  
 

The sites are not proposed for 
development in the Draft Local Plan, 
and would be retained within the 
green belt. 

Approximately 30 representations 
from the local community objected to 
the principle of any built development 
on site ‘SW007 – Land north of 
Wardley’. These raised similar 
concerns to those raised in relation to 
the adjoining sites SW005 and 
SW006, with concerns regarding 
biodiversity impacts and the loss of 
open space with a recreation function 
being particularly emphasised.  
 

The site is not proposed for 
development in the Draft Local Plan, 
and would be retained within the 
green belt. 

Natural England identified that the 
following sites contain priority habitat 
as listed on Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006, and 
therefore if significant harm resulting 
from development cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated, or 

The sites are not proposed for 
development in the Draft Local Plan, 
and would be retained within the 
green belt. 

Page 1349



24 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

compensated for, then planning 
permission should be refused: 
• SW007 – Land north of Wardley  
• SW008 – Land north west of Little 

Moss Lane 
• SW009 – Land at Moss Colliery 

Road 
• SW010 – Land west of Collegiate 

Way  
 
A landowner submitted 
representations in relation to site 
‘SW010 – Land west of Collegiate 
Way’ which contend that the site no 
longer serves any of the purposes 
that green belt land should and that 
there are exceptional circumstances 
surrounding the site and its condition 
which warrant the amendment of the 
green belt boundary. 
 

The site is not allocated in the Draft 
Local Plan, and would be retained 
within the green belt. The Greater 
Manchester green belt assessment 
identifies the site as performing 
moderate roles in terms of checking 
urban sprawl and maintaining the 
separation of settlements. It forms 
part of the wider collection of sites 
that maintain the separation of 
Swinton, Walkden, Clifton and 
Kearsley, the others of which are also 
proposed for retention within the 
green belt. Consequently, it is not 
considered that there is sufficient 
justification to remove the land from 
the green belt. 

Two businesses based on site 
‘SW012 – Clifton Junction industrial 
estate’ expressed support for the city 
council’s assessment that the site’s 
existing employment function should 
be retained and expanded. They 
strongly opposed any proposal for the 
site to be redeveloped for housing. 
 

Clifton Junction is allocated in the 
Draft Local Plan for industrial, 
warehousing and similar functions 
(Policy EC4/2), protecting its long-
term employment use. 

English Heritage registered its 
opposition to the allocation of site 
‘SW016 – Land south of St 
Augustine’s Church’ at this stage of 
the plan. Given the site’s proximity to 
the Grade I listed St Augustine’s 
Church and other designated heritage 
assets, English Heritage advised that 
if the Council wish to pursue this site 
as an allocation, a heritage impact 
assessment will need to be 

The site is allocated in the Draft Local 
Plan for housing (Policy H3/11). 
Regard has been had to the important 
heritage context of the site, and the 
allocation is clear that any 
development must preserve and 
enhance the setting of the Grade I 
listed St. Augustine’s church, the 
Grade II listed Environmental 
Institute, and the associated 

Page 1350



25 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

undertaken prior to this site being 
included in the next stage of the plan. 
This would need to consider the 
contribution this land makes to the 
significance of the heritage assets. 
English Heritage would wish to review 
and comment on any such heritage 
impact assessment. 
 

conservation area. A more detailed 
heritage assessment will be prepared.

Comments on site assessments: 
Worsley and Boothstown 
 

 

Approximately 30 local community 
representations identified that the 
Worsley Greenway should be 
retained in its entirety, as it is a 
strategically important “green wedge” 
within the Worsley area and 
contributes to the setting of 
designated heritage assets at 
Worsley Village, Roe Green and 
Beesley Green, and the Bridgewater 
Canal. 
 
A series of representations were 
submitted by the local community, 
together with elected councillors and 
the local MP, in relation to each of the 
sites which form part of the Worsley 
Greenway: 
• WB001 – Broadoak North 
• WB002 – Broadoak South 
• WB003 – Land at Beesley Green 
• WB004 – Land at Crossfield Drive 
• WB015 – Land north of Lumber 

Lane  
 
These representations opposed the 
principle of development on these 
sites, and highlighted particular 
concerns including loss of open 
space, loss of wildlife habitat, flood 
risk on parts of sites, and traffic 
impact. 
 
38 representations were received 
from the local community, elected 

The Draft Local Plan proposes the 
inclusion of the vast majority of the 
Greenway in the green belt, and 
proposes to designate almost all of it 
as local green space. This would 
increase its protection. 
 
Land north of Lumber Lane is 
included in the Draft Local Plan as a 
housing allocation (Policy H3/16). It is 
somewhat separated from the other 
parts of the Greenway, and the 
justification for including it within the 
green belt and/or designating it as 
local green space is more limited. 
Consequently, given the protection of 
other sites, it provides the potential to 
increase the housing land supply in 
this part of the city. 

Page 1351



26 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

councillors and the local MP, 
objecting to any built development on 
site ‘WB015 – Land north of Lumber 
Lane’. Representations also 
highlighted significant concerns 
regarding any potential access to the 
site being via Hardy Grove. 
 
A number of local community 
representations highlighted high 
levels of traffic congestion within this 
area at peak times, and opposed 
further housing development in the 
absence of significant public transport 
improvements. 
 

The Draft Local Plan proposes four 
housing allocations in Worsley and 
Boothstown (H3/1 Land east of 
Boothstown, H3/2 Land west of 
Boothstown, H3/15 Hazelhurst Farm, 
and H3/16 Lumber Lane), collectively 
providing around 1,110 dwellings. 
H3/2 specifically refers to phasing 
development in line with improved 
public transport along the A580, and 
all sites would need to ensure good 
walking and cycling connections, 
including to the Leigh busway stops 
from H3/15 and H3/16. 

A developer submitted 
representations in relation to the 
following sites objecting to any 
proposed local green space 
designation: 
• LGS26 – Land north of Lumber 

Lane 
• LGS28 – Land at Beesley Green 
• LGS30 – Land east of Crossfield 

Drive 
• LGS35 – Broad Oak South  
• LGS36 – Broad Oak North 
 
They consider that the Council has 
incorrectly applied the methodology in 
appraising these sites for local green 
space designation. They also 
consider that the Worsley Greenway 
constitutes an extensive tract of land 
and is therefore unsuitable for 
designation as local green space in 
the context of NPPF guidance. 
 

These individual parts of the 
Greenway are demonstrably special 
to the adjacent communities, but the 
area has a wider strategic 
significance in terms of the 
contribution it makes to the character 
of West Salford, including through 
some distinctive views. The Greater 
Manchester green belt assessment 
identifies the northern parts as having 
a strong role in terms of protecting the 
setting and special character of 
historic settlements, and the southern 
part for having a strong sense of 
openness. All parts are identified as 
having a moderate role in preventing 
urban sprawl and protecting the 
countryside from encroachment. This 
collection of characteristics 
emphasises the importance of 
strengthening the protection of the 
Greenway. Its designation as green 
belt and local green space is 
considered to be consistent with 

Page 1352



27 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

national planning policy and 
guidance. 

English Heritage registered its 
opposition to the allocation of site 
‘WB003 – Land at Beesley Green’ at 
this stage of the plan. It highlighted 
that the site forms a substantial part 
of the Roe Green / Beesley Green 
conservation area and makes a 
considerable contribution to its 
significance. English Heritage 
identifies that the city council should 
undertake a conservation area 
appraisal and management plan to 
assess what contribution this land 
makes to the character, appearance 
and setting of the conservation area. 
It also highlighted that should the city 
council wish to pursue this site as 
suitable for redevelopment, then a 
heritage impact assessment will need 
to be undertaken prior to it being 
including as an allocation at the next 
stage of the plan. 
 

The Draft Local Plan does not 
propose development on the site, and 
instead seeks to designate it as green 
belt and local green space. 

Natural England identified that the 
following sites contain priority habitat 
as listed on Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006, and 
therefore if significant harm resulting 
from development cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated, or 
compensated for, then planning 
permission should be refused: 
• WB003 – Land at Beesley Green 
• WB004 – Land at Crossfield Drive 
• WB013 – Worsley New Hall 
 

The Draft Local Plan does not 
propose development on WB003 and 
WB004, and instead seeks to 
designate them as green belt and 
local green space. 
 
WB013 is part of the allocation for the 
RHS Garden Bridgewater (Policy 
CT3/2). The policy is clear that the 
development of the garden must 
deliver an increase in the biodiversity 
value of the site, protecting the Middle 
Wood site of biological importance. 

In relation to site ‘WB004 – Land at 
Crossfield Drive’, a developer 
contested the identified scale of 
development as they consider that 
there is no basis for concluding the 
northern part of the site is 
undevelopable simply because it lies 

The Draft Local Plan does not 
propose development on the site, and 
instead seeks to designate it as green 
belt and local green space. 

Page 1353



28 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

within the Roe Green / Beesley Green 
Conservation Area. 
  
Green Belt assessment 
 

 

For each of the following sites, a 
developer submitted a green belt 
impact appraisal which seeks to 
assess the site’s green belt function 
and contribution, and the impact on 
the green belt arising from its release: 
• GBEX01 – Linnyshaw Green Belt 
• GBEX02 – Land south of A6 and 

north of Ellesmere Golf Course 
• GBEX04 – Green Belt west of 

Boothstown 
• GBEX09 – Hazelhurst Farm 
• GBEX12 – Green Belt between 

Irlam and Barton Moss Road 
• GBEX13 – Green Belt east of 

Barton Moss Road and south of 
the M62 

• GBEX15 – New St Ambrose 
Barlow High School and Green 
Belt immediately to the north and 
west 

• GBEX16 – Green Belt north of 
Wardley 

 

The Greater Manchester green belt 
assessment demonstrates that all of 
Salford’s green belt fulfils a green belt 
function. 

In relation to site ‘GBEX11 – Land 
west of Irlam’, a developer submitted 
representations which seek to 
demonstrate the land does not 
adequately fulfil the purposes of 
including land within the green belt, 
and that it should therefore be 
considered for release. The developer 
considers that that there is a clearer 
case for release of this site from the 
green belt than for the other green 
belt locations around Irlam and 
Cadishead which have been 
suggested for release by other 
developers.  
 

The Greater Manchester green belt 
assessment demonstrates that all of 
Salford’s green belt fulfils a green belt 
function. However, the site is 
proposed for housing development as 
part of a large allocation in the Draft 
Local Plan (Policy H3/4). The site 
offers the only opportunity in Salford 
to deliver a major new area of 
housing close to a direct rail 
connection (Irlam station) to the City 
Centre. It also benefits from being 
close to an existing local centre and 
major areas of existing (Northbank, 
Trafford Park, Trafford Centre) and 
proposed (Port Salford) employment. 
It is located within the Western 

Page 1354



29 
 

Main issues raised by respondents 
at the suggested sites consultation 
stage 

How these issues were addressed 
in the Draft Local Plan 

Gateway, which is identified as a 
strategic growth location in the draft 
Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework. The benefits of the 
development are considered to 
outweigh the loss of the green belt. 

English Heritage opposed any 
proposal to release site ‘GBEX14: 
Green Belt around Wardley Hall’ from 
the green belt. Due to Grade I listed 
Wardley Hall lying within this land, 
English Heritage consider that any 
release from the green belt and its 
possible development should not be 
considered and this option should be 
removed from the plan. 
 

The site is not proposed for 
development in the Draft Local Plan, 
and would be retained within the 
green belt. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1355



30 
 

Local plan – Draft Local Plan Consultation 
(8 November 2016 – 16 January 2017) 
 
 
 
5.1  By the end of the suggested sites consultation for the local plan in March 

2014, work had already commenced on the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF).  Once adopted, the GMSF will set out the overall 
planning strategy for the whole of Greater Manchester until 2035.  As the 
GMSF document would eventually identify the housing and employment land 
requirements for each of the Greater Manchester authorities including Salford, 
it was considered by the city council that the local plan should be “paused” 
following the suggested sites consultation to allow the GMSF to be further 
progressed and to catch up with the local plan.  By realigning the local plan 
timescales in this way to run in parallel with the GMSF, it was hoped that the 
two documents would then be able to reflect and complement each other 
when they were progressed. 

 
5.2 However, progress was subsequently resumed on the local plan in 2016 

following announcements from government that effectively required 
authorities to progress a local plan as a matter of priority, (where authorities 
had not submitted a local plan by 2017 it was indicated that they could face 
some form of intervention or penalty).  By this time, the GMSF had reached 
such a stage that it was considered appropriate to “mirror” the two documents 
(ie the GMSF and the local plan) as some of the key proposals that affected 
the city of Salford were included within both documents.  Both plans were 
therefore put out for public consultation at the same time, albeit that the 
GMSF consultation commenced the week prior to the Draft Local Plan.  
Reference was made to both consultations in all publicity that the city council 
undertook for the local plan.  

 
5.3 Initially, the Draft Local Plan consultation was to run for an eight and a half 

week period from 8 November 2016 to 6 January 2017 but this was later 
extended to 10 weeks to the 16 January 2017 following the significant amount 
of public interest generated and to therefore ensure that everyone had the 
opportunity to take part in the consultation. 

 
5.4 The Draft Local Plan identifies the approach that the city council intends to 

take to Salford’s future development.  It has had regard to previous comments 
received during the initial stages of consultation as well as additional evidence 
that had been assembled and changes to national planning policy.  The 
purpose of the consultation was therefore to seek views on this identified 
approach.    

 
5.4 A series of documents were issued for consultation including: 

• The Draft Local Plan and Policies Map showing the location of sites proposed 
to be allocated for development or given a protective designation.  

• Sustainability assessment 
• Consultation statement 

Page 1356



31 
 

• Additional sites assessed for development 
• Additional sites assessed for local green space 
• Additional sites assessed for recreation 
• Sites assessed to correct factual inaccuracies 
• Schedule of representations 

 
5.5 All documents were made available on the Draft Local Plan webpage and 

paper copies of all documents were also available at the Civic Centre 
reception.  Paper copies of the Draft local plan were available at all of the 
city’s libraries. 

 
5.5 Any consultees or persons wishing to make representations were invited to do 

so in any of the following ways during the consultation period: 
 

• Online using the comments form at http://salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon 
• By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
• By post to Draft Local Plan consultations, Spatial Planning, Salford Civic 

Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 
• By returning forms by hand to the main reception desk at the Civic Centre or 

at the public consultation event on the 2nd December 2016. 
 

 
Consultation letter 
 
5.6 A letter was sent to all stakeholders on the city council’s planning consultation 

database to advise them of the Draft Local Plan consultation and how to make 
representations.  A copy of the consultation letter is set out in Appendix C1.  
The letter made reference to, and provided details about, both the Draft Local 
Plan consultation and also the draft GMSF consultation.  As referred to above 
in paragraph 5.3 the consultation period was later extended to end on the 16 
January 2017 and therefore a second letter was sent to all stakeholders on 
the city council’s database and relevant landowners to inform them about the 
time extension.  This extension of time letter can be viewed in Appendix C2. 

 
Consultees 
 
5.7 The Draft Local Plan consultation letter was sent to all general and specific 

consultees, as at the previous stages of the local plan process.  The list of 
these consultees is set out at Appendix A2.  Similarly, all of the Duty to 
Cooperate bodies as identified in Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, were consulted.  These bodies 
are listed at Appendix A3. 

 
5.8 In addition to the specific, general and duty to cooperate consultees, all 

stakeholders on the city council’s planning consultation database who had 
indicated an interest in the local plan were notified about the consultation.  
This represented a total of 1,472 individuals and organisations being notified, 
including all those who submitted representations at the previous consultation 
stages. 

 

Page 1357



32 
 

5.9 An email was also sent to all councillors and the city council’s neighbourhood 
managers to inform them of the consultation.  The neighbourhood managers 
were also asked to circulate details of the consultation across their own 
network of community contacts and via social media. 

 
5.10 Again, an extension of time notification was sent electronically to all 

councillors and neighbourhood managers once that decision had been made.  
See Appendix C4. 

 
Letter to landowners 
 
5.10 A letter was sent to all persons identified as having a land interest on any site 

allocated or identified for development in the Draft Local Plan.  The purpose of 
this was to highlight that the land in which they had an interest in, had been 
identified for development or an allocation in the Draft Local Plan.  The 
relevant policy or allocation was included within the letter and a link provided 
to the Draft Local Plan.  In total a landowner letter was sent to 269 persons.  A 
copy of the letter sent to all landowners is included in Appendix C5. 

 
Representation Form 
 
5.11 An online representation form was prepared to assist consultees in making 

representations.  This was available on the city council’s website and a paper 
copy was also made available at all deposit locations.  A total of 92 
representations were received in this format. 

 
Internet 
 
5.12 A dedicated webpage for the Draft Local Plan consultation went live on the 

city council’s website from 8 November 2016 to coincide with the start of the 
consultation period.  However, as the consultation letter also referred to the 
GMSF consultation which started on the 31 October 2016, the Draft Local 
Plan webpage was made available from this date but with a holding statement 
identifying that the page would be live from the 8 November and asking users 
to return to the page on that date.  The webpage was available for the 
duration of the consultation period until 16 January 2017. 

 
5.13 The webpage set out the purpose of the consultation making reference to the 

earlier stages of consultation and also included downloadable versions of all 
consultation documents.  A copy of the webpage and the list of downloadable 
documents is set out in Appendix C6. 

 
5.14 The webpage was also updated following the decision to extend the 

consultation period.   
 
 
Consultation Event 
 
5.15 A joint consultation event for stakeholders and residents for the Draft Local 

Plan and the draft GMSF was held at the Salford Suite, Civic Centre Swinton 

Page 1358



33 
 

on Friday 2 December 2016 between 3pm – 8pm.  It was intended to provide 
an informal opportunity for stakeholders and residents to discuss both draft 
documents and find out more about the parts of the plan(s) which they were 
interested in.  Planning officers were available throughout the event to provide 
more information and answer questions.  A range of information was mounted 
on display boards together with copies of the Draft Local Plan and Policies 
Map.   

 
5.16 The date for the consultation event was included in the initial consultation 

letter sent to all stakeholders on the city council’s database and nearer the 
time postings were published on both Facebook and Twitter acting as a 
reminder for residents.  In addition, an email was sent to all neighbourhood 
managers asking them to cascade the details of the event down to the local 
community and other relevant contacts on their database.  All councillors were 
also reminded of the event by email.  

 
5.17 A total of 51 persons attended the consultation event providing a steady 

stream of attendees throughout the duration of the event.    
 
Additional meetings 
 
5.18 In addition to the drop in consultation event held on the 2 December 2016 

each of the community committees in Salford were offered the opportunity for 
a representative to attend their next meeting to explain the relevant proposals 
within the plan for the community committee area.  The following five 
community committee meetings were attended: 

 
• Irlam and Cadishead Community Committee – 17 November 2016 
• East Salford Community Committee – 24 November 2016 
• Claremont & Weaste Community Committee – 29 November 2016 
• Walkden Community Committee – 15 December 2016 
• Ordsall and Langworthy Community Committee – 10 January 2016 

 
5.19 A presentation was given at each of the meetings followed by a question and 

answer session. 
 

5.20 In addition to the community committee meetings, officers also attended the 
following additional meetings throughout the consultation period: 
 

• Irlam Regeneration Group – 9 November 2016 
• The Ordsall Forum – 29 November 2016 
• Jewish Forum – 30 November 2016 
 

5.21 It was also considered appropriate to ensure that all Councillors were aware 
of the Draft Local Plan and its key proposals.  A series of four, individual topic 
based Member briefing sessions which also included a presentation were 
therefore held on Port Salford (1 December), Infrastructure (5 December), 
Housing (7 December) and Environment and Culture (14 December). 

   
Additional publicity 

Page 1359



34 
 

 
5.22 The following additional activities were also undertaken to publicise the 

consultation period and engage with stakeholders. 
 
5.23 An article was included in the Jewish Advertiser on Sunday 13 November 

2016 and a similar article was also published in the Jewish Telegraph on 
Friday 18 November 2016 which has a much wider catchment across the 
whole of Greater Manchester.  A copy of the article can be seen in Appendix 
C7. 

 
5.24 Two adverts were also included on the Talking News over the weekends of 

November 14 and December 10 2016.  This raised awareness of the 
consultation and the closing dates for comments.  A copy of these two adverts 
can be viewed in Appendix C8. 

 
5.25 Throughout the course of the consultation a series of tweets and postings 

were published on Facebook about the consultation for the Draft Local Plan 
with some relating specifically to particular proposals of the plan e.g. Port 
Salford.   

 
 
Representations received and issues raised 
 
5.26 A total of 648 representations were received during the consultation period.  

In addition there was one petition which was submitted with 2,056 signatories.  
 
Summary of main issues raised in representations on the Draft Local Plan, and 
how these were addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan  
 
5.27 The Local Plan has been comprehensively modified since the Draft Local 

Plan was published for consultation in 2016, having regard to the comments 
received through the consultation as well as updates to the evidence base, 
changes to national planning policy, and work on the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework (GMSF).  
 

5.28 The majority of the representations received to the Draft Local Plan 
consultation were regarding the proposed site allocations and comprised 
objections from the local community to several of the site allocations for a 
variety of reasons. A large number of objections were also received to the 
changes to the city’s Green Belt, which were proposed in both the Draft Local 
Plan and Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). It should be 
noted that all decisions about whether Green Belt boundaries in Salford 
should be altered, including whether any existing Green Belt should be de-
designated so that it can be developed, will now be made through the GMSF 
and not through the Local Plan. 
 

5.29 The table below provides a brief summary of the main issues raised in 
representations received through the Draft Local Plan consultation, and how 
these issues have been addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan. Appendix 

Page 1360



35 
 

C10 of this report provides a more detailed explanation of the issues raised 
and how they were addressed.  
 

5.30 Appendix C10 also outlines other significant changes that have been made to 
the plan as a result of updates to the evidence base, changes to national 
planning policy, key council priorities etc. This includes the addition of new 
chapters on fairness, climate change, air quality and digital infrastructure, and 
a significantly expanded heritage chapter in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
New policies have been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan covering 
employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, economic 
inclusion, build to rent, self-build and custom house building, supporting 
better health, health and development, a learning city, sustainable streets, 
West Salford Greenway, and soils and agricultural land. Some allocations 
previously included in the Draft Local Plan have been deleted, some new 
allocations have been added, and the boundaries of some of the proposed 
allocations and designations have also changed.  

 
  

Page 1361



36 
 

 
Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

Area policies  
A range of comments were received 
to the Area Policies in the Draft Local 
Plan, generally of a supportive nature 
subject to detailed amendments and 
requests for additional information 
including relating to transport 
infrastructure and flood risk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
A developer suggested that the City 
Centre, Ordsall Waterfront and 
Salford Quays should be redefined as 
a Regional Centre to reflect existing 
and potential economic function. 
 
 
It was suggested that a new City 
Gateway area should be identified 
covering land around the permitted 
Port Salford and its extension on to 
Green Belt land north of the A57, the 
AJ Bell Stadium and City Airport and 
Heliport. 

The over-arching approach in the Area 
Policies chapter of the plan remains 
largely the same in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan subject to a number of 
detailed amendments. 
 
The Cambridge area policy has been 
replaced by a new policy covering three 
employment areas close to the City 
Centre and Salford Quays, including 
Cambridge, which identifies that 
masterplans will be produced. 
 
The area policies identified in the plan 
are considered to provide a clear policy 
framework for the area suggested as a 
‘Regional Centre’ in representations and 
no change has therefore been made in 
this regard. 
 
In respect of the proposal for a City 
Gateway policy, the plan includes 
specific policies for the permitted Port 
Salford, the AJ Bell Stadium and City 
Airport. Proposals relating to Green Belt 
will be considered through the GMSF. It 
is not considered that these elements 
are sufficiently linked or raise similar 
issues to the extent that an area policy is 
warranted.  

Scale of Office development 
A developer supported the levels of 
office development identified but 
considered that the office floorspace 
figures for the City Centre and Salford 
Quays should be expressed as a 
minimum. It was also suggested that 
a hierarchy of office locations should 
be added to the plan. Highways 
England commented that the plan did 
not provide any additional 
infrastructure. 

The policy has been updated to reflect 
the latest estimates of office 
development potential within the city. 
The policy still uses the term ‘around’ as 
the figures presented are long term 
estimates and the terminology reflects 
this. 
 
Further details regarding transport 
infrastructure are provided below in 
relation to accessibility policies of the 
plan. However Policies AP1 (City 
Centre) and AP3 (Salford Quays) 
identify specific priorities and proposals 

Page 1362



37 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

in respect of access to these key office 
locations. 
 

Scale of Industrial and warehousing development  
Comments to the Draft Local Plan 
queried whether the scale of industrial 
and warehousing growth was 
justified, from both a perspective of it 
being too high and too low. One 
developer considered the scale of 
growth should be increased to 
600,000sqm to reflect a proposed 
extension to Logistics North. The 
CPRE queried whether the scale of 
growth was really justified.  

The industrial and warehousing figures 
have been updated and reflect existing 
opportunities in the city, the vast majority 
with planning permission and/or within 
one of the city’s existing employment 
areas. The supply has been broken 
down to illustrate the elements that it 
comprises. This includes reference to 
potential supply from an extension to 
Port Salford. Decisions relating to the 
extension of Port Salford will now be 
taken through the GMSF rather than the 
Local Plan. The Local Plan policy will be 
updated accordingly. 
 
The extension to Logistics North has not 
been added to the plan. The suggested 
extension to Logistics North would be on 
land committed as a country park as part 
of its original planning permission. The 
site comprises existing Green Belt and 
land proposed as Green Belt in the 
GMSF. Decisions relating to changes to 
Green Belt boundaries are being taken 
through the GMSF. 
 

Employment Allocations 
A large number of objections were 
received to the proposal to extend 
Port Salford on to Green Belt land. 
Objections raised questions in 
respect of the need for the 
development and concerns regarding 
the potential impacts of the 
development including issues relating 
to Green Belt policy, traffic 
generation, loss of open space and 
biodiversity.  
 
A more limited number of 
representations expressed support 
the expansion identifying its economic 
significance. A developer objected to 

Decisions relating to the extension of 
Port Salford will now be taken through 
the GMSF, not the Local Plan. 
References to the potential for 
development in this location remain 
within the Revised Draft Local Plan to 
ensure the position is clear, however the 
Local Plan will be updated to reflect 
decisions taken through the GMSF. 
 
The Revised Draft GMSF continues to 
propose the extension of Port Salford to 
the north and west of Barton Aerodrome 
to accommodate around 320,000m2 of 
floorspace (GM Allocation 33). 

Page 1363



38 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

a number of the requirements 
included in the policy. 
Scale of housing development  
A range of views were expressed with 
regards to the overall housing 
requirement given the uncertainty 
over calculating the objectively 
assessed need. Communities 
generally considered the scale of 
development proposed was too high, 
and landowners considered that it 
was too low.  
 

The total housing requirement for 
Greater Manchester, and its distribution 
between the ten local authority areas 
(including Salford), has been determined 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF). The Salford Local 
Plan uses the housing requirement 
agreed through that process.  
 
The overall scale of development for 
Greater Manchester in the Revised Draft 
GMSF has been calculated having 
regard to the government’s standard 
methodology for local housing need. The 
requirement for Salford in the Revised 
Draft GMSF has been calculated having 
regard to the overall Greater Manchester 
requirement and the redistribution of this 
requirement across the sub-region to 
reflect issues such as the available 
supply of sites for housing. 
 
The proposed scale of housing 
development in the 2016 Draft Local 
Plan was 34,900 net additional dwellings 
over the period 2015-35, which was an 
annual average of 1,745 dwellings. The 
Revised Draft Local Plan includes a 
requirement of 32,680 over the period 
2018-37 which is an annual average of 
1,720. 
 
Salford’s housing requirement primarily 
reflects the ability to deliver large 
numbers of new homes in central 
locations such as City Centre Salford 
and Salford Quays, and other 
opportunities elsewhere within the city 
(including Salford West). 
 

Housing mix  
Developers and landowners 
considered that there was a need to 

The issue of seeking to secure the 
delivery of an increased level of houses 
(to complement the provision of 

Page 1364



39 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

increase the supply of houses in 
Salford.   
 

apartments) has been carefully 
considered in producing the Revised 
Draft Local Plan.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan continues 
to allocate greenfield land in the western 
parts of Salford in order to support a 
good mix of new dwellings across the 
city in terms of type and location. In 
addition, three of the four Green Belt 
sites that were proposed for housing 
through the Draft Local Plan / Draft 
GMSF have been carried forward into 
the Revised Draft GMSF; the western 
Boothstown site has been deleted as a 
result of looking at the sustainability of 
Green Belt sites across Greater 
Manchester for new housing2. This 
means that in the plan period, 2,000 
dwellings will be delivered on sites 
currently in the Green Belt (1,800 of 
which would be houses).  
 
Given the deletion of the western 
Boothstown allocation, and a reduction 
in the yield from the Western Irlam and 
Cadishead allocation, the scale of 
houses identified in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan is less than that set out in the 
draft plan. However, the mix of dwellings 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan is 
considered appropriate having regard to 
forecasts of household type, the 
opportunities for apartments in highly 
accessible locations such as City Centre 
Salford, and the provision of high levels 
of houses elsewhere in the sub-region to 
meet overall needs. 
 

Housing allocations  
A significant number of objections 
were received to the proposed 
housing allocations that would 

Green Belt boundary changes in Salford 
are now being considered solely through 

                                            
2 Note that the Revised Draft Local Plan does not allocate Green Belt sites for housing; Green Belt 
allocations for housing are set out within in the revised draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  
 

Page 1365



40 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

remove land from the Green Belt; that 
is: 

• H3/1 Land east of Boothstown 
• H3/2 Land west of Boothstown 
• H3/4 Western Cadishead and 

Irlam 
• H3/15 Hazelhurst Farm 

the GMSF rather than the Salford Local 
Plan. 
 
The Revised Draft GMSF carries 
forward the H3/1 allocation largely 
unchanged as GM Allocation 31 (East of 
Boothstown). It carries forward the 
H3/15 allocation as GM Allocation 30 
(Land at Hazelhurst Farm), which has 
been reduced from 24 hectares to 16 
hectares, with the approximate number 
of dwellings dropping from 450 to 400. It 
replaces the Western Cadishead and 
Irlam allocation with a much smaller GM 
Allocation 32 (North of Irlam Station), 
where the site area is reduced from 289 
hectares to 65 hectares, and the 
approximate number of dwellings is 
reduced from 2,250 to 1,600. 
 
The H3/2 allocation (land west of 
Boothstown) has not been taken forward 
in the Revised Draft GMSF, with it 
instead proposing that the land remains 
in the Green Belt. 

A significant number of objections 
were received to the proposed 
housing allocation at Lumber Lane 
(H3/16) and the proposed open space 
and housing allocation at Duncan 
Mathieson playing fields (H4/1).  
 
For the Duncan Mathieson site, the 
main concerns were regarding the 
loss of the playing fields and the 
anticipated impacts on the local 
community.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The objections to the Lumber Lane 
allocation were for a variety of 

Both allocations remain in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Duncan Mathieson playing fields 
allocation has been amended to reduce 
the maximum number of dwellings that 
would be permitted to cross fund the 
enhancement of the rest of the site for 
recreation purposes from 100 (in the 
Draft Local Plan) to 50 (in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan). The boundary has 
also been extended to include a further 
three hectares of land to the immediate 
east of the site, which as former playing 
fields has similar characteristics.  
 
Lumber Lane provides an opportunity to 
increase the supply of houses, and 

Page 1366



41 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

reasons, including: the use of Hardy 
Grove as an access route, impact on 
the amenity of residents, local 
character and biodiversity, loss of a 
green space, congestion/air 
quality/noise, and the capacity of 
infrastructure to support further 
development.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
A number of the comments on 
various allocations raised concerns 
regarding the insufficient capacity of 
existing community infrastructure, and 
considered that this would worsen as 
a result of new development. 
  
 

being only a short distance from the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester busway, there 
is the potential for a large proportion of 
journeys to and from the site to be made 
by sustainable modes. Its development 
would be likely to have some impact on 
the amenity of existing residents and 
these would need to be assessed fully at 
the planning application stage. The city 
council has undertaken some additional 
analysis of the site constraints as 
explained in more detail in appendix C10 
of this report.  
  
The scale of additional housing 
proposed in the Local Plan will increase 
the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing 
developments support improvements to 
these facilities will be important. Various 
policies in Salford’s Local Plan should 
collectively assist in the provision of 
sufficient infrastructure (PC1, H1, HH3, 
ED3, A1, and R2) to support new 
development. Amendments have been 
made to some of these policies and 
some of the site allocation policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address the 
concerns expressed and identify site 
specific requirements, as explained in 
more detail in appendix C10 of this 
report.  
 

Various suggestions were made for 
additional housing allocations by 
developers. A number of these sites 
were either in the Green Belt or had 
been recently granted planning 
permission for residential 
development.  
 
One of the suggested housing 
allocations was an existing 
employment site at Orchard 
Street/Langley Road South, which 
was suggested by the majority 
landowner and occupier.  

For suggested sites with planning 
permission, as the principle of residential 
development has been established, it is 
not necessary to allocate the site for 
housing. Suggested sites involving the 
loss of Green Belt are now being 
considered solely through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
process. 
 
With regards to Orchard Street, the site 
is considered to be suitable for housing 
given the adjoining residential uses and 
the amenity issues created by the 

Page 1367



42 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

 existing use of the site. It is therefore 
allocated in the Revised Draft Local Plan 
(policy H9/8).  
 

Town centres and retail development 
A developer suggested that the 
Salford Quays town centre boundary 
should be extended to Trafford Road 
to the east to better reflect the Salford 
Quays area geographically and the 
NPPF definition of main town centre 
uses. 
 

The Salford Quays town centre 
boundary has been amended in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan so that it 
mirrors the boundary of the Salford 
Quays area in policy AP3, and includes 
the eastern frontage of Trafford Road 
and the commercial uses around 
Exchange Quay. This is considered to 
better reflect the existing range of uses, 
function and aspirations for the area. 

Health  
Comments received from some 
organisations (including the NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group and 
the LGBT Foundation) suggested that 
the chapter should be broadened out 
from primary care to consider health 
needs and services. It was also 
suggested that the health impact of 
development should be assessed.  
   

Two new policies have been added to 
the Revised Draft Local Plan. Policy 
HH1 identifies a variety of ways that 
planning can assist in supporting the 
health of Salford residents and reducing 
inequalities, including enabling the 
improvement of health facilities, 
supporting good mental health and 
reducing contributors to poor health. 
Policy HH2 identifies how development 
should support an improvement in public 
health and includes a requirement for 
some developments to be supported by 
a health impact assessment. It also 
controls the development some uses 
that could have an adverse impact on 
health.  
 

Accessibility  
Highways England, a developer and 
various individuals suggested that the 
plan should identify the infrastructure 
required to support growth, including 
details of the requirements, phasing 
and funding.  
 

Various pieces of work are ongoing to 
determine the strategic infrastructure 
required to support the scale of growth 
proposed in Salford and across the 
wider conurbation. The potential impacts 
on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater 
Manchester conurbation are being 
assessed by Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM). The conclusions of 
this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address problems, 

A significant number of the comments 
from the local community raised 
concerns regarding the existing 
congestion and capacity issues on 
the city’s highway network, and 

Page 1368



43 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

suggested that these need to be 
addressed to ensure the plan does 
not exacerbate existing problems. 
Worsley, Irlam and Cadishead and 
the motorway network were cited as 
particular problem areas.  
 
Highways England also suggested 
that a transport assessment of the 
allocations is required. 
 
Some alternative highways proposals 
were also suggested.   

will be an important part of the evidence 
base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and 
Salford’s Local Plan. The ten Greater 
Manchester local authorities and 
Highways England are engaged in this 
process. In addition to this, Highways 
England’s North West Quadrant Study is 
looking at strategic changes to the 
motorway network between junctions 8 
and 18 of the M60. Regard will be had to 
the conclusions, and proposed actions, 
from the study as they emerge. 
 
Policy A1 requires that development is 
phased with the provision of sufficient 
transport infrastructure and the specific 
requirements will generally be 
determined through a transport 
assessment at the planning application 
stage. 
 

Concerns were expressed by the 
community regarding the public 
transport services in the west of the 
city, and it was suggested that 
improvements are required. Some 
alternative public transport proposals 
were also suggested.  
 

Policy A5 of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan positively supports measures to 
improve the capacity and integration of 
public transport services. Whilst these 
broad objectives are supported in the 
Local Plan, Transport for Greater 
Manchester will have a central role in 
identifying and securing improvements 
in public transport infrastructure during 
the plan period, having regard to existing 
capacity issues and the scale and 
distribution of new development. 
 

A significant number of the comments 
from the local community raised 
concerns that development and 
associated traffic will exacerbate 
existing air quality issues.  
 

Air quality impacts on people’s health 
and the natural environment, and whilst 
planning policy cannot solve immediate 
air quality issues, it has a role to play in 
ensuring that development is delivered 
in such a way that the impacts are 
minimised and reasonably mitigated. 
The Revised Draft Local Plan seeks to 
address this in a number of ways, 
including the development strategy 
which seeks to reduce the need to 
travel, the accessibility policies which 

Page 1369



44 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

promote and support a modal shift and 
encourage the use of low emission 
vehicles, and the various energy, green 
infrastructure, biodiversity and recreation 
policies. A new air quality policy has 
been added to the Revised Draft Local 
Plan which seeks to substantially 
improve the city’s air quality and 
identifies the various means by which 
this will be achieved.  

Water  
The Environment Agency and the 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
suggested that the requirements of 
the Water Framework Directive 
should be reflected in the plan 
highlighted the need to improve the 
ecological quality of Salford’s 
watercourses as outlined in the North 
West River Basin Management Plan.  
 

A new policy (WA2 Delivering the North 
West River Basin Management Plan) 
has been added to the Revised Draft 
Local Plan which seeks to protect and 
enhance Salford’s water bodies through 
a variety of measures.  

Energy  
The Environment Agency suggested 
that where hydropower is under 
consideration, schemes should 
enhance the ecological potential of 
currently failing water bodies.  
 

Policy EG2 has been amended in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to require that 
hydropower schemes protect and 
enhance the ecological interest of the 
waterway and details specific 
requirements to allow the movement of 
fish and avoid adverse reduction in 
water flows/levels and physical 
modifications that could affect plant life.  
     

Heritage  
There was general support from 
Historic England for the general thrust 
of the heritage strategy for the 
conservation, enhancement and 
enjoyment of the historic 
environment. However, Historic 
England considered that there had 
been insufficient historic evaluation of 
the impact of development upon 
historic assets.  
 

In response to those comments, detailed 
heritage appraisals have been 
undertaken for the proposed site 
allocations, which assess the potential 
impact of development on the above and 
below ground heritage assets. These 
assessments have been produced in 
consultation with Historic England and 
The Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Advisory Unit (GMAAS) and form part of 
the supporting evidence base for the 
plan.  

Green infrastructure  

Page 1370



45 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

Natural England highlighted the 
absence of a policy on soils and best 
and most versatile agricultural land 
and suggested that a policy was 
required to recognise the 
requirements of the NPPF regarding 
the importance of soils being 
protected and used sustainably.  
 
 

A new policy has been added to the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (GB2) which 
explains that development shall 
safeguard soil resources and avoid the 
loss of agricultural land wherever 
possible.  

A significant number of 
representations from the local 
community expressed strong support 
for the designation of the West 
Salford Greenway as a Local Green 
Space. A developer objected strongly 
to this proposed designation and 
considered that it was a 
misinterpretation of the NPPF and the 
council’s own assessment 
methodology.   
 

The designation remains in the plan but 
has been split into five distinctive smaller 
areas:  

 GI6/5 Roe Green, Worsley  
 GI6/6 Land at Beesley Green 

and around Kempnough Brook,  
 GI6/7 Worsley Woods, Old Warke 

Dam and Aviary Field 
 GI6/8 Broadoak South 
 GI6/9 Duke’s Drive 

 
These areas are considered to satisfy 
the Local Green Space criteria at a 
national and local level as set out in the 
individual reasoned justifications. 

Green Belt  
Mixed views were expressed with 
regards to the release of land in the 
Green Belt for development.  
 
Communities generally considered 
that Green Belt should not be 
released as there is enough 
brownfield land to accommodate the 
development needed.  
A large number of objections were 
received from communities to the 
proposed removal of land from the 
Green Belt and its allocation for 
development, with the EC4/1Port 
Salford expansion and the H3/4 
Western Cadishead and Irlam 
allocations receiving the most 
objections.  
 

Allocations involving the loss of Green 
Belt are no longer set out within the 
Local Plan, and instead they will be 
considered solely through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
process. The delivery of housing on 
brownfield land within the existing urban 
area is being maximised as far as 
possible, helping to minimise the need 
for greenfield release. 
 

Page 1371



46 
 

Main issues raised through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation  
  

How these issues were addressed in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan  

Some developers and landowners 
considered that additional Green Belt 
should be released for development, 
identified some additional locations 
for the de-allocation/development of 
Green Belt.  
 
Biodiversity  
Comments (from individuals and 
organisations including the 
Environment Agency and Natural 
England) suggested that suggested 
that the approach to biodiversity 
should be strengthened and that 
development should deliver a net gain 
in biodiversity.   
 

Various changes have been made to the 
biodiversity chapter, including the 
development of a more ambitious 
strategy to deliver a net gain in 
biodiversity (within policy BG1), the 
introduction of a policy for the Great 
Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area (policy BG2) and a 
new requirement that all development 
shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity 
value (within policy BG3). Some 
additional requirements have also been 
included within various site allocation 
policies to highlight the key biodiversity 
features that should be retained.  
 

Pollution  
The Coal Authority considered that 
the plan should include a specific 
policy on ground instability.  
  

A policy on ground instability has been 
added to the Revised Draft Local Plan 
(policy PH4).  

 
 
 
 

Page 1372



 
 

 
 
 

Salford Local Plan 
Consultation Statement 

 

 
 

January 2019 
 

APPENDICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1373



 
 

Contents 

 
 

 Page 

Appendix A – Call for Sites Consultation 1 

A1 Consultation letter  2 

A2 List of specific and general consultees 8 

A3 Duty to cooperate bodies 10 

A4 Consultation webpage text 13 

A5 Organisations and individuals who submitted a representation 14 

A6 Schedule of sites and source of site suggestion 18 

  

Appendix B – Suggested Sites Consultation  

B1 Consultation letter 29 

B2 Consultation webpage text 31 

B3 Snapshot of website homepage 34 

B4 LIFE IN Salford article 35 

B5 Press release issued by the City Mayor 36 

B6 Representations submitted 38 

B7 List of additional sites assessed following suggested sites 
consultation 

42 

  

Appendix C – Draft Local Plan Consultation  

C1 Consultation letter 45 

C2 Extension of time letter to consultees and landowners 49 

C3 Email to all consultees and neighbourhood managers 51 

C4 Extension of time email to neighbourhood managers 53 

C5 Letter sent to landowners 55 

C6 Screenshot of consultation webpage 57 

C7 Notice published in the Jewish Advertiser and Jewish 
Telegraph 

58 

C8 Talking News Adverts 59 

C9 Representations submitted 60 

C10 Issues raised in representations received on the Draft Local 
Plan and an explanation of how these changes are being 
addressed 

65 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1374



1 
 

 

Appendix A  
 

 Call for Sites 
Consultation 

 
 
 

Page 1375



2 
 

Appendix A1 
Call for sites consultation letter 

 

Page 1376



3 
 

 
 
  

Page 1377



4 
 

  

Page 1378



5 
 

 

  

Page 1379



6 
 

 
  

Page 1380



7 
 

 

Page 1381



8 
 

Appendix A2 
List of specific and general consultees 
 
 
Specific consultees 
 
Ambulance Service North West HNS Trust 

Bolton Council LDF Team 

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council 

British Gas 

Bury MBC 

Carrington Parish Council 

Civil Aviation Authority 

Culcheth and Glazebury Parish Council 

Department of Transport 

Electricity North West Ltd 

English Heritage 

EnviolinkNW 

Environment Agency 

GM Fire and Rescue Services HQ 

Grappenhall and Thelwall Parish Council 

Highways Agency 

Highways Agency 

Homes and Communities Agency 

Manchester City Council 

Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership 

Marine Management Organisation 

Mobile Operators Association 

National Grid 

National Grid 

Natural England 

Network Rail (Infrastructure) Ltd 

NW Strategic Health Authority 

Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Greater Manchester 

Office of Rail Regulation 

Partington Town Council 

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cheshire 

Salford Primary Care Trust 

Salford Primary Care Trust 

Stockport Council 

Tameside MBC 

The Coal Authority 

Trafford MBC 

Trafford MBC 

Transport for Greater Manchester 

United Utilities 

Warrington Borough Council 

Westhoughton Town Council 

Wigan Council 

 
 

Page 1382



9 
 

General Consultees 
 
Business Consultative Forum 

Eccles and Salford Mosque 

Federation of Jewish Services 

Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce 

People First Manchester 

Rapar 

Salford Community Network 

Salford Council for Voluntary Service 

Salford Deaf Gathering 

Salford Disability Forum 

Salford Link Project 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 1383



10 
 

Appendix A3 
Duty to cooperate bodies 
 
 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic England (formerly English Heritage) 

 Natural England 

 Civil Aviation Authority 

 Homes and Communities Agency 

 Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (formerly Salford Primary Care Trust which 
was up on 31 March 2013) 

 Office of Rail Regulation 

 Transport for Greater Manchester 

 Highways Agency  

 Marine Management Organisation 

 Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1384



11 
 

Appendix A4 
Call for sites consultation webpage text 
 

 

Page 1385



12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1386



13 
 

Appendix A5 
List of organisations and individuals who submitted a 
representation to the call for sites consultation 
 

Name Organisation 

 - Arnold Laver and Arnold Trailers 

Malcolm Carter Batleys Cash and Carry 

Simon Godley Bolton Council 

Michael Howard Boothstown Residents Association 

 - BUPA 

David Dutton Bury Council 

Michael Whitehead Bury Council 

Anthony Campbell Cadishead Sports JFC 

Mark Charnley 
CAMRA (Campaign for Real Ale) North 
Manchester Branch 

Alison Truman Canal and River Trust 

 - City of Salford Conservative Councillors Group 

 - City West Housing Trust 

Rachel Allwood Dandara Ltd 

David Lyons Derwent Construction Ltd 

Bruce Thompson Ellesmere Park Residents Association (EPRA) 

Gillian Laybourn English Heritage 

Helen Telfer Environment Agency 

n/a Euan Kellie Property Solutions (Agent) 

Andy Sagar FE Barber Ltd (Kingsland Wines and Spirits) 

 - Friends of Roe Green 

Anne Morgan 
Greater Manchester Local Enterprise 
Partnership 

Neil McArthur Hamilton Davies Trust 

 - Harworth Estates 

 - Investec Ltd/Sky Properties Ltd 

John Ferguson Irlam and Cadishead College 

Warren Dodd Irlam Football Club 

Fred Catterall Irlam Vale Junior Football Club 

 - James Industrial Ltd 

 - JWPC Ltd (Agent) 

Jack Ellis LGA Europe Ltd 

A Love Love Brothers 

 - Maher, Mallon and Loftus 

Tim Reeve Makro 

Alan Hodson Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal Society 

Andrew Garnett MCI Developments 

 - Moncton Properties Ltd 

Robert Snowling Morston Assets Ltd 

Janet Baguley Natural England 

Diane Clarke Network Rail 

Louise Morrissey Peel Holdings (Land and Property) Ltd 

Warren Marshall Peel Ports Ltd 

Bobby Williams Persimmon Homes (North West) 

Sean Mcbride Persimmon Homes (North West) 

Neil Turnbull Redcliff Estates Ltd 

Ben Rosengarten RMS International Ltd 

Page 1387



14 
 

Name Organisation 

 - Rock Asset Management 

Nigel Stanyard Roe Green Cricket Club 

Richard Critchley Salford City Council 

Paul Daly Sport England 

Andrew Connolly Swinton Open Space Community Association 

Anthony Northcote The Coal Authority 

Sabaa Ajaz United Utilities PLC 

Peter Vernon Vernon and Co 

Adrian Dunning 
Worsley and Boothstown Community 
Committee 

Barbara Keeley MP Worsley and Eccles South Constituency 

Anne Broomhead Worsley Civic Trust 

Joy Openshaw Worsley Road North Senior Citizens 

A and J Challinor  - 

A D and M Smethurst  - 

A Gale  - 

A Halligan  - 

A P Moore  - 

A T and S Robinson  - 

Adrian Morley  - 

Alan Bibby  - 

Alan Woods  - 

Amanda Ashworth  - 

Amanda Rigby  - 

Andrea Fickling  - 

Andrew Aherne  - 

Andrew Fearnley  - 

Andrew Fickling  - 

Andrew Jones  - 

Andrew Moore  - 

Andy  Halligan  - 

Andy Brunt  - 

Andy Cheetham  - 

Ann Middleton  - 

Anne Hector  - 

Anne Martins  - 

Anne Middleton  - 

Annette Lloyd  - 

Annette Walsh  - 

Anthony Counsell  - 

Asim Rajpura  - 

B and D Breward  - 

B B Clegg  - 

B Ebert  - 

B P Burns  - 

B Walker  - 

B Williams  - 

Barbara Leigh  - 

Barbara Lyon  - 

Barry Moult  - 

Barry Watts  - 

Page 1388



15 
 

Name Name 

Beryl Hughes Gail and Harry Muskett 

Bethan Pickup Gary James 

Bhavin Patel Gillian Millett 

C and K Ogden Glyn Grainger 

C and P Seddon Gordon Clay 

C Batten Gwyneth Ridgway 

C Cowx Harry and Gail Muskett 

C V Stott Harry Jones 

Carol A Smith Heather Medlicott 

Carol O’Brien I and D Lingard 

Caroline Devlin I and J Ashton 

Catharine Cooper Ian Bailey 

Christina Bradley Ian Sidebotham 

Christine Booth Irene Bailey 

Christopher Murray Irene Counsell 

Claire Makin J A Bainbridge 

Clare Batten J and A Cumbers 

Clare Edwards J and D Wroe 

Colin and Sybil Ackers J and G Batty 

D and H Silcock J and J Shaw 

D and J Smith J and K Stott 

D Minshall J and L Warton 

D T Belshaw J Brook 

D W Murphy J E Marginson 

David and Janis Williams J F Burns 

David Bartlett J Hazeldine 

David Fox J N Burke 

David Grant J R Cartwright 

David Leaver J, T, A and C Stiff 

David Leigh Jacqueline Mason 

David McCormick James C Austin 

David Naylor James Hennessy 

David Yates Jane Eberhart 

Doreen and Ben Marsh Jean Grainger 

Dr and Mrs Hyams Joan Clay 

E and R Lipski Joan Summers 

E M Blackridge John and Gill Batty 

Eileen Hill John and Wendy Knight 

Elizabeth Lyon John D Cleare 

Ellen Cotogni John Elton 

F and I Greaves John Winstanley 

Frank Howell Jon Bell 

Fred Eyre Jonathan Hart 

G and J McMahon Judith Austin 

G and L Matthews Judith Watts 

G and S Steenson Juliet Young 

G Jatwell K B and  JP Ashton 

G Ledger K Lowndes 

G M and J L Kemp K Patel 

G Ogden Kath Rigby 

G Tyrrell Kathryn Barlow 

Page 1389



16 
 

Name Name 

Kathryn Doyle Norah and Alan Virtue 

Kelly McFarlane P and A Coggins 

Keryn Green P Jackson 

L A Goodall P M Royle 

L A Hall P O’Reilly 

L A Richards Pam and Paul Rimmer 

Laura Summers Pat Sugden 

Levinia Frost Paul Burgess 

Liezel Griffin Paul Medlicott 

Lilian Lo Paul Michael Ashurst 

Lindsay Hall Paul Nuttall 

Liz Wallwork Peter and Siobhan Morrison 

Louise Adkin Peter Andrew 

Louise Reid Peter Hughes 

Lyndsey Furse Peter Yates 

M  McCormick Philip and Carol Barooah 

M and D G Smith Philip Mansfield 

M and J Fitzsimmons Piers Griffin 

M and P Rigg R and C Yeo 

M C Beddows R and L C Gilbert 

M Creer R D  Boyd 

M McCormick R Maclennan 

M Preston R W Goodall 

M Robinson Rachel Chape 

Maggie Lunn Rennie McFarlane 

Mark and Leanne Watts Richard Coffey 

Mark Charnock Richard Evans 

Mark Edwards Richard Franklin 

Mark Upton Robert Lawdber 

Mark Watts Robin Stimson 

Martin Anglesey Roddy Maclennan 

Martin Hogg Ron and Mary Booth 

Martin Seeley Ronnie Lam 

Marylyn Barlow Rosemary Steven 

Michael and Nicola 
Hazeldine Roy Addison 

Michael Dawson Ruth Potter 

Mike and Jill Hazeldine S and A Dhayaude 

Mr and Mrs Ahamed S Hartley 

Mr and Mrs Chetcuti S J Sumner 

Mr and Mrs Linford S M Gosland 

Muriel and Brian Dunn S Rennie 

N A Binns Sadia Jilani 

N and E Austin Sally Fryer 

N Gilbert Sally Shepherd 

Nandu Modi Samantha Farrell 

Neil Shepherd Sandra Issar 

Neill Virtue Sarah Walton 

Nick Ketley Sean Dunne 

Nigel Gray Sheila Berry 

Nina Ainsworth Sheila Sidebotham 

Page 1390



17 
 

Name  

Stephen Rennie  

Stephen Rigby  

Steve Fraser  

Steven Gunn-Russell  

Stewart Pyrah  

Susan Parker  

Susan Seeley  

Susan Walker  

Susan Wareing  

Susannah Kwok  

T Wild  

Tim Weber  

Tony Dunmore  

Tracey Peake  

V M Blackburn  

Vivien Brearley  

Wayne Lynch  

Wayne Morris  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1391



18 
 

Appendix A6 
Schedule of sites and the source of the site suggestion 
 
a) Sites assessed for potential to accommodate development 
 

Ref Site assessed for development Source of site suggestion 

Claremont and Weaste 

CW001 Land south of Kintyre Avenue Strategic land assessment1 

CW002 Former Willows Stadium Strategic land assessment 

CW003 Former Weaste Cricket Ground MCI Developments 

CW004 Site of All Hallows RC High 
School 

Strategic land assessment 

CW005 Land at Broadway Link Road Peel Holdings 

CW006 Site of former Hope High School Strategic land assessment 

CW007 Site of former De La Salle 
College 

Strategic land assessment 

East Salford 

ES001 Land at Kersal Way Strategic land assessment 

ES002 Land at Upper Camp Street Strategic land assessment 

ES003 Land north of Green Grosvenor 
Park 

Strategic land assessment 

ES004 Land north and west of Mocha 
Parade 

Strategic land assessment 

ES006 Cambridge Riverside Strategic land assessment 

ES007 Land east of Meadow Road Strategic land assessment 

ES008 Land west of Meadow Road Strategic land assessment 

ES009 Land at junction of Duchy Road 
and Summerville Road 

Strategic land assessment 

ES010 Land at Duchy Road north of 
electricity substation 

Strategic land assessment 

ES011 Land at Duchy Road south of 
electricity substation 

Strategic land assessment 

ES012 Former Hercules site and 
adjoining land 

Maher, Mallon and Loftus 

ES013 Land to the rear of 12-66 Langley 
Road 

Morston Assets Ltd 

ES014 Land to the east of Langley Road Strategic land assessment 

ES015 Charlestown Riverside Strategic land assessment 

ES016 Castle Irwell Strategic land assessment 

ES017 Seaford industrial estate Rock Asset Management 

                                            
1 These are sites which were not suggested through the call for sites consultation, but which were 
identified by the city council through its strategic land assessment, which reflects where there has 
been known developer interest previously or may be potential for redevelopment. 

Page 1392



19 
 

Ref Site assessed for development Source of site suggestion 

ES018 Land south of the Crescent Manchester, Bolton and Bury 
Canal Society, local community 
(1)2 

ES019 Land west of Adelphi Street Strategic land assessment 

ES020 Former Farmer Norton site Strategic land assessment 

ES021 Land at Flax Street Strategic land assessment 

ES022 Land east of Springfield Lane Strategic land assessment 

ES023 Land at Cheltenham Street Strategic land assessment 

Eccles 

EC001 White’s Reclamation, Liverpool 
Road 

Peel Holdings 

EC002 Land south of New Hall Avenue City West Housing Trust 

EC003 Land at Caledonian Drive/Irlam 
Park Wharf 

Peel Holdings 

EC004 Newhaven industrial estate Strategic land assessment 

EC005 Akcros west Strategic land assessment 

EC006 Akcros east Strategic land assessment 

EC007 Land south of Lankro Way Peel Holdings 

EC009 Land at Weymouth Road City West Housing Trust 

EC010 Former GUS warehouse City West Housing Trust, local 
community (4) 

EC011 Nasmyth Technology Centre Local community (2) 

EC012 Former Mitchell Shackleton Investec Ltd / Sky Properties 
Ltd, City West Housing Trust, 
local community (5) 

EC014 Wentworth High School and 
playing field 

Strategic land assessment 

EC015 Land north of Barton Aerodrome Peel Holdings  

EC016 Land west of Clifford Street Strategic land assessment 

Irlam and Cadishead 

IC001 Land south west of Cadishead 
Way 

Strategic land assessment 

IC002 Land west of Hayes Road Arnold Laver and Allied Trailers 

IC003 Land at Martens Road, 
Northbank 

Peel Holdings 

IC004 Univar Limited, Northbank Peel Ports 

IC005 Land east of Omega, Northbank Strategic land assessment 

IC006 Irlam Container Terminal Peel Ports 

IC007 Land east of Irlam Wharf Road Strategic land assessment 

IC008 Land west of Irlam Wharf Road Strategic land assessment 

IC010 Land at Great Woolden Hall Farm Peel Holdings 

IC011 Astley Road Farm Mr Mark Upton 

IC012 Land at Astley Road City West Housing Trust 

                                            
2 The number in brackets reflects the number of nominations from the local community which 
proposed the site for some form of development. 

Page 1393



20 
 

Ref Site assessed for development Source of site suggestion 

IC013 Land west of Irlam Persimmon Homes, Vernon and 
Co, Mr Gary James 

IC014 Land east of Irlam Peel Holdings, local community 
(1) 

IC015 Land west of Barton Aerodrome Peel Holdings, local community 
(1) 

IC017 Boysnope Wharf Peel Holdings, local community 
(1) 

IC018 Makro, Liverpool Road Makro Properties Ltd, local 
community (1) 

IC019 Port Salford Peel Holdings 

IC020 Land at Salford City Stadium Peel Holdings 

IC021 Land north of the M62 at Chat 
Moss 

Local community (1) 

IC022 Land south of Fairhills Road FE Barber Ltd (Kingsland Wines 
and Spirits) 

Little Hulton and Walkden 

LW001 Land west of Wharton Lane James Industrial Ltd 

LW002 Cutacre, Wharton Lane Harworth Estates, Bolton 
Council 

LW005 Former St Joseph’s Primary 
School, Old Lane 

City West Housing Trust 

LW006 Land south of Kenyon Way and 
Parkway 

City West Housing Trust 

LW007 Land at Longshaw Drive City West Housing Trust 

LW008 Former Our Lady and the 
Lancashire Martyrs School, 
Wicheaves Crescent 

City West Housing Trust 

LW011 Ashton’s Field Strategic land assessment, City 
West Housing Trust 

LW012 Land at Ladywell Avenue City West Housing Trust 

LW013 Recreation ground at Eastham 
Way 

City West Housing Trust 

LW014 Eaton’s, Walkden Road North Strategic land assessment 

LW015 Land south of Hill Top Road Strategic land assessment 

LW017 Land east of Linnyshaw Peel Holdings 

LW018 Linnyshaw industrial estate – 
triangle of land north of Moss 
Lane 

Local community (1) 

LW019 Linnyshaw industrial estate – 
land east of Safety Systems 

Local community (1) 

LW020 Linnyshaw industrial estate – 
Klyne and Klyne 

Local community (3) 

LW021 Burgess Farm Peel Holdings 

LW022 Land west of Burgess Farm Peel Holdings 

LW023 Land east of Greylag Crescent Peel Holdings 

LW024 Land at Mesne Lea / A580 Peel Holdings 

Page 1394



21 
 

Ref Site assessed for development Source of site suggestion 

LW025 Land south of Holyoake Road Local community (1) 

LW026 Former Walkden High School City West Housing Trust, local 
community (2) 

LW027 Recreation land at Shap Drive City West Housing Trust 

LW028 Land south of A6 and north of 
Ellesmere Golf Course 

Peel Holdings 

LW029 Ellesmere Golf Course Peel Holdings 

LW030 Site of St George’s RC High 
School 

Strategic land assessment 

Ordsall and Langworthy 

OL001 Greengate Strategic land assessment 

OL002 Former Staples site, off Trinity 
Way 

Strategic land assessment 

OL003 Land at Chapel Wharf Dandara Ltd 

OL004 Salford Central Strategic land assessment 

OL005 Middlewood Strategic land assessment 

OL006 Wilburn Street Basin Strategic land assessment 

OL007 Liverpool Street Local community (1) 

OL008 Former Ordsall District Centre Strategic land assessment 

OL009 Land south of Robert Hall Street Strategic land assessment 

OL010 Land at Worrall Street LGA Europe Ltd, Monckton 
Properties Ltd 

OL011 Land south of Ordsall Lane Strategic land assessment 

OL012 Clippers Quay Strategic land assessment 

OL013 Waterfront Quay Strategic land assessment 

OL014 Land at King William Street Peel Holdings 

OL015 Land between Broadway and The 
Quays 

Peel Holdings 

OL016 Quays Point Peel Holdings  

OL017 Pendleton PFI area Strategic land assessment 

OL018 Langworthy Local community (1) 

OL019 Sovereign Enterprise Park Strategic land assessment 

Swinton 

SW001 Former Swinton Sewage 
Treatment Works and 
surrounding land 

Swinton Open Space 
Community Association, local 
community (1) 

SW002 Former St Ambrose Barlow High 
School 

Strategic land assessment 

SW004 Former Homebase, Wardley Local community (1) 

SW005 Land west of new St Ambrose 
Barlow High School 

Peel Holdings 

SW006 Land north of new St Ambrose 
Barlow High School 

Peel Holdings 

SW007 Land north of Wardley Peel Holdings 

SW008 Land north west of Little Moss 
Lane 

Peel Holdings 

Page 1395



22 
 

Ref Site assessed for development Source of site suggestion 

SW009 Land at Moss Colliery Road Peel Holdings 

SW010 Land west of Collegiate Way Redcliff Estates Ltd 

SW012 Clifton Junction industrial estate Manchester, Bolton and Bury 
Canal Society 

SW013 Land at Agecroft Commerce Park Strategic land assessment 

SW014 Land south of Agecroft Road  Euan Kellie Property Solutions, 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury 
Canal Society 

SW015 Land east of Pendlebury Road 
and south of rail line 

RMS International Ltd 

SW016 Land south of St Augustine’s 
Church 

Strategic land assessment 

Worsley and Boothstown 

WB001 Broadoak North Peel Holdings 

WB002 Broadoak South Peel Holdings 

WB003 Land at Beesley Green Peel Holdings 

WB004 Land at Crossfield Drive Peel Holdings 

WB005 Hazelhurst Farm Peel Holdings 

WB006 Land at Simpson Grove Peel Holdings 

WB007 Land west of Boothstown Peel Holdings 

WB008 Land at Vicars Hall Lane and 
Highclove Lane 

Peel Holdings 

WB009 Land west of Boothstown Bridge 
playing fields 

Peel Holdings 

WB010 Land east of Vicars Hall Bridge Strategic land assessment 

WB011 Booth’s Bank Farm Love Brothers 

WB012 Land at 278 Leigh Road Mr Richard Coffey 

WB013 Worsley New Hall Local community (1) 

WB014 Land at junction of Walkden 
Road and A580 

Peel Holdings 

WB015 Land north of Lumber Lane Peel Holdings 

WB016 Former Moorside High School Local community (1) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1396



23 
 

b) Sites assessed for local green space 
 

Ref Site assessed for local 
green space 

Neighbourhood area Number of 
individuals / 

organisations 
nominating 

the site 

LGS01 Peel Park Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS02 St Mary’s Park Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS03 Blackleach Country Park Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS04 Burgess Farm Little Hulton and Walkden 4 

LGS05 Parr Fold Park Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS06 Bedford Field Little Hulton and Walkden 4 

LGS07 Land east of Greylag 
Crescent 

Little Hulton and Walkden 12 

LGS08 Land at Mesne Lea / A580 Little Hulton and Walkden 6 

LGS09 Land south of A6 and north 
of Ellesmere Golf Course 

Little Hulton and Walkden 2 

LGS10 Ellesmere Golf Course Little Hulton and Walkden 2 

LGS11 Loopline between Newearth 
Road and the A580 

Worsley and Boothstown 3 

LGS12 Landscaping around 
Ellenbrook, to the east of 
Newearth Road 

Worsley and Boothstown 5 

LGS13 Brickfield Wood Worsley and Boothstown 3 

LGS14 Land at Simpson Grove Worsley and Boothstown 6 

LGS15 Land north of Vicars Hall 
Lane 

Worsley and Boothstown 2 

LGS16 Land west of Highclove 
Lane 

Worsley and Boothstown 4 

LGS17 Land west of Boothstown 
Bridge playing fields 

Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS18 Land east of Vicars Hall 
Bridge 

Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS19 Bridgewater Park and 
playing fields 

Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS20 Boothsbank Park Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS21 Boothstown Basin Worsley and Boothstown 5 

LGS22 Land to the east of 
Boothstown Marina 

Worsley and Boothstown 3 

LGS23 Middle Wood and Booth’s 
Bank 

Worsley and Boothstown 2 

LGS24 Worsley Hall Golf Club 
woodland 

Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS25 Land at Ellesmere Bowling, 
Tennis and Croquet Club 

Worsley and Boothstown 5 

LGS26 Land north of Lumber Lane Worsley and Boothstown 11 

LGS27 Roe Green Worsley and Boothstown 7 

LGS28 Land at Beesley Green Worsley and Boothstown 131 

Page 1397



24 
 

Ref Site assessed for local 
green space 

Neighbourhood area Number of 
individuals / 

organisations 
nominating 

the site 

LGS29 Land east of Roe Green Worsley and Boothstown 9 

LGS30 Land east of Crossfield 
Drive 

Worsley and Boothstown 131 

LGS31 Land around Kempnough 
Brook 

Worsley and Boothstown 10 

LGS32 St Mark’s Church and 
vicarage 

Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS33 Aviary Field Worsley and Boothstown 4 

LGS34 Worsley Woods and Old 
Warke Dam 

Worsley and Boothstown 6 

LGS35 Broad Oak South Worsley and Boothstown 31 

LGS36 Broad Oak North Worsley and Boothstown 26 

LGS37 Dukes Drive Neighbourhood 
Park 

Worsley and Boothstown 2 

LGS38 Worsley Green Worsley and Boothstown 2 

LGS39 Hazelhurst Farm Worsley and Boothstown 27 

LGS40 Alder Forest Eccles 1 

LGS41 Three Sisters, Ellesmere 
Park 

Eccles  1 

LGS42 Ellesmere Park Playing 
Fields  

Eccles 1 

LGS43 Wentworth High School 
playing fields 

Eccles 1 

LGS44 Playing fields south of 
Portland Road 

Eccles 1 

LGS45 Former Swinton Sewage 
Treatment Works 

Swinton 1 

LGS46 Green Belt around Wardley 
Hall 

Swinton 2 

LGS47 Barton Green Belt Irlam and Cadishead 1 

LGS48 Crescent Meadows East Salford 0 (site 
identified by 
city council) 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 1398



25 
 

c) Sites assessed for recreation 
 

Ref Site assessed for 
recreation 

Ward Number of 
individuals / 

organisations 
nominating 

the site 

REC01 Linnyshaw Green Belt Little Hulton and Walkden 2 

REC02 Burgess Farm Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

REC03 Bedford Field Little Hulton and Walkden 4 

REC04 Land east of Greylag 
Crescent 

Little Hulton and Walkden 12 

REC05 Land at Mesne Lea / A580 Little Hulton and Walkden 5 

REC06 Playing fields of new 
Walkden High School 

Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

REC07 Land south of A6 and north 
of Ellesmere Golf Course 

Little Hulton and Walkden 3 

REC08 Ellesmere Golf Course Little Hulton and Walkden 3 

REC09 Land south of Edenvale Worsley and Boothstown 2 

REC10 Land south of Ellenbrook 
Road 

Worsley and Boothstown 2 

REC11 Landscaping around 
Ellenbrook, to the east of 
Newearth Road 

Worsley and Boothstown 4 

REC12 Brickfield Wood Worsley and Boothstown 4 

REC13 Land at Simpson Grove Worsley and Boothstown 3 

REC14 Land north of Vicars Hall 
Lane 

Worsley and Boothstown 4 

REC15 Land at Vicars Hall Lane 
and Highclove Lane 

Worsley and Boothstown 6 

REC16 Land west of Boothstown 
Bridge playing fields 

Worsley and Boothstown 3 

REC17 Land east of Vicars Hall 
Bridge 

Worsley and Boothstown 3 

REC18 Land east of Boothstown 
Marina 

Worsley and Boothstown 5 

REC19 Boothstown Marina Worsley and Boothstown 9 

REC20 Middle Wood and Booth’s 
Bank 

Worsley and Boothstown 4 

REC21 Land north of Lumber Lane Worsley and Boothstown 17 

REC22 Roe Green Worsley and Boothstown 7 

REC23 Land east of Roe Green Worsley and Boothstown 2 

REC24 Land at Beesley Green Worsley and Boothstown 26 

REC25 Land east of Crossfield 
Drive 

Worsley and Boothstown 25 

REC26 Land around Kempnough 
Brook 

Worsley and Boothstown 11 

REC27 Aviary Field Worsley and Boothstown 7 

Page 1399



26 
 

Ref Site assessed for 
recreation 

Ward Number of 
individuals / 

organisations 
nominating 

the site 

REC28 Worsley Woods and Old 
Warke Dam 

Worsley and Boothstown 8 

REC29 Broad Oak North Worsley and Boothstown 36 

REC30 Broad Oak South Worsley and Boothstown 41 

REC31 Hazelhurst Farm Worsley and Boothstown 25 

REC32 Former Ferry Hill Tip and 
surrounding land 

Irlam and Cadishead 1 

REC33 Land adjoining Rowson 
Drive playing fields 

Irlam and Cadishead 2 

REC34 Astley Road Farm Irlam and Cadishead 4 

REC35 Land adjoining Irlam 
Steelworks 

Irlam and Cadishead 2 

REC36 Land north of Silver Street Irlam and Cadishead 3 

REC37 Land west of Salford City 
Stadium 

Irlam and Cadishead 1 

REC38 Three Sisters, Ellesmere 
Park 

Eccles 1 

REC39 Ellesmere Park Playing 
Fields  

Eccles 1 

REC40 Land south of Portland 
Road 

Eccles 1 

REC41 Former Swinton Sewage 
Treatment Works and 
surrounding land 

Swinton 6 

REC42 Land north of Overdale Swinton 1 

REC43 Green Belt around Wardley 
Hall 

Swinton 4 

REC44 Wardley Green Belt south of 
the M60 

Swinton 2 

REC45 Duke’s Drives 
Neighbourhood Park 

Worsley and Boothstown 3 

REC46 Slack Brook Country Park 
(adjacent to the River Irwell) 

Swinton 1 

REC47 Former Kersal High School 
woodland 

East Salford 1 

REC48 Land at Chaseley Field Ordsall and Langworthy 0 (site identified 
by city council) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 1400



27 
 

 
d) Sites assessed for potential to be designated as green belt land 
 

Ref Site assessed for green belt 
designation 

Number of individuals / 
organisations nominating the 
site 

Little Hulton and Walkden 

GBAD01 Cutacre, Wharton Lane 1 

GBAD02 Open land south of Cutacre 1 

GBAD03 Playing field south of Ashawe 
Terrace 

1 

GBAD04 Brackley Golf Course 1 

GBAD05 Land north of Little Hulton, 
between Anchor Lane and Cleggs 
Lane 

1 

GBAD06 Land west of Kent Close 1 

GBAD07 Land north of Ashton’s Field 1 

GBAD08 Land west of Burgess Farm 1 

GBAD09 Land east of Greylag Crescent 2 

GBAD10 Land at Mesne Lea / A580 3 

Worsley and Boothstown 

GBAD11 Land at Vicars Hall Lane and 
Highclove Lane 

1 

GBAD12 Land at Simpson Grove 2 

GBAD13 Worsley Greenway north of the 
M60 

8 

GBAD14 Worsley Greenway south of the 
M60 and north of Worsley Road 
(inc land west of Woodstock Drive) 

9 

GBAD15 Worsley Greenway south of 
Worsley Road 

9 

GBAD16 Land north east of Roe Green 1 

Irlam and Cadishead 

GBAD17 Barton Aerodrome 3 

GBAD18 Buildings at Barton Moss Road 3 

Swinton 

GBAD19 Land at Mossfield Road 1 

GBAD20 Land east of HMP Forest Bank 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1401



28 
 

 

APPENDIX B  
 

Suggested Sites 
Consultation

Page 1402



29 
 

Appendix B1 
Local Plan Suggested Sites Consultation letter 

 
 
 

Page 1403



30 
 

 
 

Page 1404



31 
 

Appendix B2 
Local plan suggested sites web page 
 
 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/lp-suggestedsites.htm 
 
Select Language ▼ 

Local plan suggested sites consultation 
The city council is currently consulting on sites that have been suggested by 
landowners, developers and the local community for development or for protective 
designation through the local plan. 
 
In February 2013 as part of the initial stage of consultation on the local plan, the city 
council invited people to suggest sites or areas of land in the city that they thought 
may be appropriate to be allocated for development or given some form of protective 
designation. 
 
A large number of sites across the city were put forward both by individuals and 
organisations. Sites were suggested for development, such as housing, offices, or 
industry. Sites were also nominated for some form of protective designation, such as 
local green space, recreation or green belt. 
 
The city council has carried out an initial assessment of each of the sites, and some 
sites have been assessed for more than one type of designation. 
 
We would welcome your views on the sites that have been suggested so far, and the 
city council’s initial assessment of them. If you consider there is additional evidence 
that we need to take into account in our assessment of the sites, then we would 
welcome this information. This is also an opportunity to send us details of any 
additional sites that you think we should be considering, which have not already 
been put forward. 
 
How to find out which sites have been suggested 
A separate document has been prepared for each of the city’s eight neighbourhood 
areas, which contains all of the sites that have been suggested within that area and 
the city council’s assessment of them. These documents can be downloaded below. 
 

 

Page 1405

http://www.salford.gov.uk/lp-suggestedsites.htm


32 
 

 
 

 

Alternatively, you can use the interactive map to see all of the sites that have been 
suggested. This enables you to search for a specific address or postcode, or zoom 
to a particular area. If you click on a site on the map, this will take you to the city 
council’s initial assessment of the site. 
 
In addition to the eight neighbourhood area documents, the city council has also 
prepared a number of other documents. The overview document sets out the 
methodology the city council has used in carrying out its initial assessment of the 
sites. The green belt assessment document contains the assessments for all sites 
that have been suggested for green belt designation. The consultation statement 
sets out details of the previous stage of consultation and how site suggestions and 
comments have been taken into account. These documents can be downloaded 
below. 
 
All of the documents are available to view in each of the city’s libraries during normal 
opening hours. 
 
Making comments 
If you wish to make comments or provide additional information in relation to the 
sites that have been assessed, please complete the comments form. 
 
If you wish to suggest an additional site that has not already been put forward then 
please complete the additional sites form. 
 
Both forms are available to download below. 
 
All comments should be received by the city council no later than 4.30pm on 
Friday 21 March 2014. 
 

Page 1406



33 
 

Comments may be submitted by any of the following means: 
By email plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
By post 
Local Plan Suggested Sites Consultation 
Spatial Planning 
Salford Civic Centre 
Chorley Road 
Swinton 
M27 5BY 
 
What happens next? 
The city council will consider all comments that are submitted through this 
consultation and these will be taken into consideration in informing the preparation of 
the draft local plan. It is anticipated that the draft local plan will be published for 
public consultation in autumn 2014. This will be the first point at which the city 
council sets out its preferred approach for Salford’s future development. 
 
If you have any queries regarding the local plan please contact the spatial planning 
team using the details below. 
 
Downloadable documents 
Consultation letter (Adobe PDF format, 128kb) 
Comments form (Microsoft Word format, 285kb) 
Additional sites form (Microsoft Word format, 293kb) 
Overview document (Adobe PDF format, 4.1mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Claremont and Weaste (Adobe PDF format, 
13.4mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: East Salford (Adobe PDF format, 23.8mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Eccles (Adobe PDF format, 23.4mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Irlam and Cadishead (Adobe PDF format, 
23mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Little Hulton and Walkden (Adobe PDF format, 
27.9mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Ordsall and Langworthy (Adobe PDF format, 
24.4mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Swinton (Adobe PDF format, 21.1mb) 
Neighbourhood area document: Worsley and Boothstown (Adobe PDF format, 
27.6mb) 
Green belt assessment document (Adobe PDF format, 4.8mb) 
Consultation statement (Adobe PDF format, 1.1mb) 
 
If you are unable to view documents of these types, our downloads page provides 
links to viewing software. 
 
Who to contact 
Name Spatial Planning 
Address Salford City Council, Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 
Map to this location 
Telephone 0161 793 3782 
Email plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

Page 1407

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


34 
 

Appendix B3 
Snapshot of Salford City Council website homepage 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1408



35 
 

 

Appendix B4 
LIFE IN Salford article (published 2 December 2013)  

Page 1409



36 
 

Appendix B5 
Press release issued by the City Mayor 
 
 
Salford City Mayor 

Published on December 17th, 2013 | by Office of the City Mayor 

250 sites earmarked by residents 

More than 250 sites across Salford have been suggested for development or protection by the city’s 
residents. 

Earlier this year, residents, businesses, landowners and developers all came forward with 
suggestions for sites in Salford for development or protection. 

Council officers have now carried out a full assessment of each one – totalling more than 250 sites 
across Salford. 

Residents will soon have a further chance to offer their thoughts on the sites that have been 
suggested – to take the city closer to putting together its planning guidance for the next 20 years. 

It is all part of the Local Plan – which will be in place until 2032. 

A new 10-week consultation kicks off on January 10, with residents being able to make suggestions, 
present more evidence on sites, or to suggest other sites. 

Salford’s Assistant Mayor for Strategic Planning, Councillor Derek Antrobus, said: “Residents have 
a real chance to shape the future of how their city will look. 

“We need new housing and employment sites to cope with the city’s rapid growth. Local residents 
must be part of that process. 

“We must first filter out any suggestions that are unachievable. Then we have to make tough choices 
that balance our housing requirements and our wish to maintain green spaces. 

“No choices have yet been made and everyone will have the chance to have their say when the 
consultation on choices takes place next Autumn.” 

Notes: 

The Salford local plan suggested sites consultation will run for a 10 week period from 10 January to 
21 March 2014. Details of all of the sites which have been suggested and the city council’s 
assessment of them are available on the city council’s website at www.salford.gov.uk/lp-
suggestedsites 

All of the documents are also available in each of the city’s libraries. Comments should be submitted 
no later than 4.30pm on Friday 21 March 2014 for them to be taken into consideration. 

The next stage of consultation on the local plan will be in Autumn 2014, when the city council 
publishes its proposed approach and identifies which sites it considers should be allocated for 
development or for protective designation.  

Page 1410

http://www.salford.gov.uk/lp-suggestedsites
http://www.salford.gov.uk/lp-suggestedsites


37 
 

 

Page 1411



38 
 

Appendix B6 
List of consultees who submitted a representation to the suggested 
sites consultation 
 

Surname Title Name Organisation 

Henry Mrs Frances 
Action Against Astley Road Development 
(AAARD) 

MacDougall Dr Craig Americhem Europe Ltd 

      Askon Estates (UK) c/o BDO LLP 

Kelly Mr Jim Boys and Girls Clubs Greater Manchester 

      Bredale Developments Ltd 

      DPP on behalf of unknown client 

Thompson Mr Bruce Ellesmere Park Residents Association 

Hrycan Ms Emily English Heritage 

Whittingham Ms Sylvia Environment Agency 

Charnley Mr Mark Friends of Patricroft Station (FROPS) 

Richardson Mr Derek Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

Evans Mr Jonathan Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Unit 

      Harworth Estates Ltd 

Owen-Ellis Mr Sion Highways Agency 

Pearson Mr James Irwell Valley Heritage 

Bond Mr Graham Magnesium Elektron 

      Maher, Mallon and Loftus 

Belford Mrs Natalie Manchester Airport 

      MDR Associates 

Considine Mr Andrew MEL Chemicals 

Keeley Ms Barbara 
Member of Parliament for Worsley and Eccles 
South 

      MHE Investments Ltd 

Maguire Ms Sally Natural England 

Clarke Ms Diane Network Rail 

Yaqub   Humeira Office for Rail Regulation 

Davison Ms Clare Oldham Council 

      Peel Holdings (Land and Property Ltd) 

McBride Mr Sean Persimmon Homes (North West) Ltd 

      Punch Partnerships Ltd 

      Redcliff Estates Ltd 

      
Residents Against Inappropriate Development 
(RAID) 

Cullen Mr Michael Salford Crescent Neighbourhood Association 

Daly Mr Paul Sport England 

Connelly Mr Andrew 
Swinton Open Space Community Association 
(SOSCA) 

Truman Ms Alison The Canal and River Trust 

Northcote Mr Anthony The Coal Authority 

Clowes Mr Richard Transport for Greater Manchester 

      United Utilities Property Services Ltd 

Sherratt Mr Dave United Utilities Water Plc 

      University of Salford 

Fowler Mr Iain Wainhomes NW Ltd 

Donovan Mr Paul Wardley Residents Group 

Page 1412



39 
 

Surname Title Name Organisation 

Legg Mr Gary Warrington Borough Council 

Walker Mr Martyn 
Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester and 
North Merseyside 

Dunning Mr Adrian 
Worsley and Boothstown Community 
Committee 

      
Zerum Consult Ltd on behalf of unknown 
client 

 
  

 Name 
  

Ainscough 
Mr Colin 

Alldred 
R & B 

Allsey 
Ms Judith 

Allsey 
Ms Lorraine 

Armitage 
Mr JL 

Ashton 
Mr David 

Assuncao 
 Mr Jose 

Bailey 
Mr & Mrs 

Balham 
Mr & Mrs 

Banks 
Mr TW 

Banks 
Dr TL 

Banks 
Mr Andy 

Banks 
Mr Peter 

Bannon 
Ms Sheila 

Batten 
Mrs R 

Battersby 
Mrs Diana 

Battersby 
Mr David 

Bentham 
 Ms Margaret 

Berry 
Mrs Lilla 

Berry K 

Bertenshaw 
Mrs Helen 

Beswick Mrs A 

Blears Mr R 

Blears 
Mrs Maureen 

Bloor 
Ms Beryl 

Booth 
Mrs Jane  

Bowater 
Mrs 
Rita 

Bowers 
Mrs 

  

 Name 
  

Laura 

Boyce 
Ms 
Carol 

Bracken 
J 

Bradford 
Mr & Mrs 

Bradford 
Mrs 
Mary 

Bradford 
Mr 
John 

Breadney 
Ms 
Joyce 

Brennan 
Renay 

Brown  PT 

Browne 
Mr 
Stewart 

Browne 
Mrs 
Barbara 

Busby S 

Busby 
Mr John 

Butters 
Mrs 
Diane 

Campbell 
Mrs AT 

Cardwell 
Mr 
Benjamin 

Carruthers 
Ms 
Lisa 

Carruthers 
Mr 
Alastair 

Carruthers 
Ms  
Jean 

Clay 
Mrs Joan 

Coeulle 
Ms 
Sarah 

Collins 
Mrs 
Deborah 

  

 Name 
  

Collins 
Mr 
Daniel 

Collins 
Mr Geoffrey 

Cooke 
Mrs 
Gwyneth 

Cooper 
Mr David 

Coopersmith 
Mrs 
Gladys 

Coopersmith 
 R 

Corbett 
Mr 
William 

Corlett 
Ms 
Sarah 

Cotterill 
 H 

Cotterill 
Ms  
Susan  

Cowmeadow 
Miss 
Louise 

Creed 
Ms 
Jade 

Critchley 
Cllr 
Richard 

Cunliffe 
Mrs 
Rita 

Davenport 
Mr 
Ian 

Davies 
Mr & Mrs 
Keith and Janet 

Davis  
Mr SJ 

Day Mrs A 

Dennison 
Mr 
Mark 

Dennison S 

Denwood 
Mr 
Peter 

  

 Name 
  

Dixon 
Mr Colin 

Dixon 
Mr 
William J 

Docker 
Mr 
John 

Doherty 
Mrs Gail 

Donovan 
Mr 
Paul 

Draper 
Miss 
Janet 

Drew 
Mr 
Jonathan 

Dunn 
Mrs 
P 

Dutson 
Mrs 
Sandra 

Eames 
Ms 
Debra 

Eaton 
Mrs 
P 

Eccles 
Mrs 
Angela 
 

Eden 
Mr 
Mike 

Edwards 
Mr  
Ron 

Edwards 
Mrs 
H 

Edwards-Viller 
Mrs 
Carole 

Ellis 
Mrs 
Bettina 

Evans 
Miss 
Carol  

Faragher 
Mr 
Gordon 

  

 Name 
  

Farley, A and 
Wright, V 

Farrell 
 D and S 

Fell 
Dr Krister 

Fletcher 
Mr & Mrs 
  

Fletcher 
 J 

Fletcher 
 B and A 

Fogg 
Mrs 
Nicola 

Fraser 
Dr 
Steve 

Furness 
Mr Ian 

Gabbay 
Prof 
Mark 

Gaffney P 

Garratt 
Mr 
Martin 

Gill 
Mrs 
Norma 

Glynn 
Mrs 

Gordon 
Mrs I 

Gorton 
Mr Alan 

Gould 
Mr 
John 

Grant 
Mrs 
Anne 

Greaves 
Mr David 

Green 
Mr Les 

Grice 
Ms 
Michelle 

Griffin 
Dr  Liezel 

Griffiths 
Ms Cheryl 

Guinnane 

  

 Name 
  

Mr P 

Guite 
Ms 
Deborah 

Hallen 
Mr 
Mark 

Halliwell 
Mrs Irene 

Hamer 
Ms 
Christine 

Hampson Mee S 

Hanley 
Mr 
Patrick 

Hannah 
Ms 
Margaret 

Hardman 
Mrs Sarah 

Hartley 
Ms Joanne 

Harvey 
Ms  
Deborah 

Hawkes 
Ms 
Angela 

Hawksworth 
Ms 
Susan 

Heathcote 
Mr  
Michael 

Heathcote 
Ms Joanne 

Heaton 
Mr 
Darren 

Heaton 
Ms  
Catherine 

Heaton 
Mr W 

Heaton 
Mr Ian 

Heaton 
Ms  
Elaine 

Hemmins 
 C 

Henry 
Mr Peter 

Page 1413



40 
 

  

 Name 
  

Hepburn 
Mrs 
Anne 

Hepburn 
Mrs 
Maxine 

Hesford 
Ms 
Janet 

Hesford 
Mr 
Rob 

Hesford-Preston 
Ms 
Katherine 

Heslop 
Mr 
Paul 

Heslop 
 Pat 

Hibbert 
Ms 
Betty 

Hickson 
Ms  
Janet 

Hickson 
Ms  
Charlotte 

Higgins 
Ms Cathy 

Higham 
Mrs S 

Hill 
Mr Daniel 

Hill GL 

Hill 
Mr 
William 

Hill 
Barbara 

Hillan W 

Hindley 
Mr 
Alan 

Hindley 
Ms  
Lynn 

Hodges S 

Hodges J 

Horner 
Mr Barry 

Horner 
Mr Martin 

Howard 
Mr 
Scott 

Hunt 
Mr Keith 

Hunt 
Ms June 

  

 Name 
  

Hyams 
Dr & Mrs 
N & K 

James 
Mrs 
Elizabeth 

James 
Mr & Mrs 

Johnson 
Mr 
Anthony 

Johnson 
Ms 
Sharon 

Jones 
Mr A 

Jones 
Ms 
Anne 

Jones 
Mr 
Barrie 

Jones 
Ms  
Dorothy 

Juee 
Mr Dave 

Keen 
Ms S 

Kerr 
Mr 
Robert 

Kershaw 
Mrs 
Katherine 

Knight 
Mrs C 

Lambert M 

Lambley 
Mr & Mrs 

Leaver 
Mr 
David 

Legerton 
Mr  
Philip 

Legerton 
Mrs 
Barbara 

Leigh 
Mr & Mrs 

Leisuman 
Mr 
Andrew 

Leisuman Mrs 

Levy 
Ms  Marie 

Lindley, I and 
Turner, L Cllrs 

Lohan 
Ms Margaret 

  

 Name 
  

Longbottom 
Mrs Pat 

Love 
Mr Andrew 

Lumney 
Ms  Patricia 

Luscombe 
 A 

Mahony 
Ms 
Doreen 

Malin 
Ms  
Elizabeth 

Malone 
Mr & Mrs 
Robert and Ann 

Mangan 
Mrs 
Jean 

Marsh 
Ms  
Nicola 

Marsh 
Mrs L 

Marshall J 

Massey 
Ms Sarah 

Mather 
Mr 
Robert 

Mather S 

Mather A 

Matthews 
Mr David 

Mattlock 
Ms  
Joan 

McCormick 
Mr 
David 

McGovern 
Ms  
Brenda 

McHolland 
Ms 
Elaine 

McNicoll 
Ms 
Cath 

McWhirk M 

Meehan 
Ms Linda 

Mellor 
Mr & Mrs M 

Merron 
Mr 
Richard 

Midermott J 

Mitchell 

  

 Name 
  

Mrs Linda 

Morris 
Mr Wayne 

Morris 
Mrs Eunice 

Moss 
Ms  
Christine 

Moult 
Mr & Mrs 

Mull 
Mr & Mrs 
Linda and 
James 

Murray 
Mr 
Christopher 

Musgrave 
Ms  
Margaret 

Musgrave A 

Musgrave Allan 

Nelson 
M Lewis 

Ness 
Mr James 

Nettleton T 

Noble 
Mrs 
Maureen 
 

Nugent 
Ms 
Janet 

O’Brien 
Mrs 
Carole 

O’Connor 
Mrs A 

O’Reilly 
Ms  
Margaret 

Parker 
Mr 
Stephen 

Parkinson 
Mr Lee 

Parkinson 
Mrs 
Sandra 

Parncutt A 

Parncutt 
Mr Jeffrey 

Parncutt 
Ms Anita 

Parncutt 
Mr Andy 

Pasiero 
Ms Carla 

Pearson 

  

 Name 
  

Ms Janet 

Pearson 
Mr 
John 

Peddie 
Mr Gavin 

Pendlebury 
Ms  
Helen 

Peterson 
Mrs 
Mildred 
 

Phillips 
Ms  
Donna 

Piets 
Mr  
Alwin 

Pimlott 
Miss 
Helen 

Podlasiuk 
Ms  
Alison 

Podlasiuk 
Mr Peter 

Poole 
Mr 
Darren 

Preston 
Miss 
Lauren 

Price 
Ms Sandra 

Pritchard 
Mr & Mrs 
Robert and 
Susan 

Pugh 
Ms 
Rebecca 

Pugh 
Mr Ryan 

Pugh 
Ms  
Christine 

Pye 
Ms Dorreen 

Rabbitt 
Mr & Mrs 
Joseph and 
Nuala 

Redshaw 
Mrs  S 

Rice 
Ms Agnes 

Rice 
Ms 
Jacqueline 

Richardson 
Mr W 

  

 Name 
  

Richardson 
 C 

Ridgway 
Mrs 
Gwyneth 

Rigby 
Mr Dennis 

Roberts 
Miss Mavis 

Roberts 
Mr John 

Roberts 
Ms  Janet 

Roberts 
Mr Clive 

Roberts L 

Roberts 
J and J 

Rogerson 
Mrs A 

Rowles 
C Brett 

Royle 
Mrs 
Beverley 

Ruddy 
Mr Mark 

Ruddy L Mrs 

Ruddy  A 

Rutter M J 

Ryan 
Ms  Gemma 

Savery F 

Seely 
Mr Martin 

Seely 
Mrs Susan 

Selby 
Mr David 

Sherlock 
Mrs I 

Sidwell 
Ms Linda 

Singleton 
Mrs A 

Skinner Mrs 

Sleaford 
Ms  
Deborah 

Smith 
Mr  
Lawrence S 

Smith Mrs B 

Sollazzi 
Mr Rossano 

Sparkes R 

Sparkes 
Mr S 

Sparkes 

Page 1414



41 
 

  

 Name 
  

Ms  
Helen 

Steel 
Mr David 

Stubbs 
Mr 
Robert 

Sullivan B 

Talbot 
Miss C 

Taylor 
Mr Ian 

Taylor 
Ms  
Lynn 

Taylor 
Ms Karen 

Thomas 
 Glyn & Jean 

Thomas 
Ms Jean 

Thompson B 

Thorpe 
Mr  
Stephen 

Thorpe 
Ms  
Michelle 

Thurston 
Ms 
Jane 

Turnbull AL 

Turner 
Mrs 

Turner 
Cllr Les 

Upton 
Mr 
Mark 

Waddecar 
Mrs M 

Walton 
Miss 
Sarah 

Walton 
Mrs Cath 

Walton 
Ms  
Nicola 

Walton 
Mr John 

Welsby 
Mr Colin 

Weston 
Mr 
Michael 

Whalley 
Ms 
Jean 

White 
J & M 

  

 Name 
  

Wild 
Ms Susan  

Wilkins 
Mr Graham 

Wilkins 
Mrs 
Letitia 

Wilkinson 
Ms B 

Williams 
Ms 
Alison 

Williams 
Mrs 
Lucia 

Williams 
 DK 

Williams 
Mr Guy 

Williams 
Mr  Paul 

Willis 
Ms  
Samantha 

Woodling 
Mr 
Barry 

Wright 
Mrs 
C 

Wright 
Mr 
John S 

Yates 
Ms  
Yvonne 

Zammit 
Mr 
Roy 

Page 1415



42 
 

Appendix B7 
List of additional sites assessed following the suggested 
sites consultation  
 
 
a) Additional sites assessed for potential to accommodate development 
 

Ref Site assessed for development Source of site suggestion 

Claremont and Weaste 

CW008 Duncan Mathieson playing fields 
and adjoining land 

Boys and Girls Clubs of Greater 
Manchester 

East Salford 

ES024 Land north of Peru Street University of Salford 

ES025 Allerton Campus, University of 
Salford 

University of Salford 

Eccles 

EC017 Land at Cawdor Street Americhem Europe Ltd 

Irlam and Cadishead 

IC023 Land at Sunningdale Drive  J Fletcher 

IC024 Land north of Cadishead Strategic land assessment3 

Little Hulton and Walkden 

LW031 Brackley Golf Course MHE Investments Ltd 

Swinton 

SW017 Land south and east of Salford 
Civic Centre 

Strategic land assessment 

SW018 Playing fields east of Pendlebury 
Road 

Strategic land assessment 

SW020 Clifton Business Park Askon Estates (UK) 

SW021 Land at Swinton Park Golf Club Peel Holdings (Land and 
Property) Ltd 

SW022 Land north of M60 Junction 16 The Casey Group Ltd 

Worsley and Boothstown 

WB018 Land east of Boothstown Peel Holdings (Land and 
Property) Ltd 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
3 These are sites which were not suggested through the suggested sites consultation, but which were 
identified by the city council through its strategic land assessment, which reflects where there has 
been known developer interest previously or may be potential for development. 

Page 1416



43 
 

b) Additional sites assessed for local green space 
 

Ref Site assessed for local 
green space 

Neighbourhood area Number of 
individuals / 

organisations 
nominating 

the site 

LGS49  Land south of New Hall 
Avenue 

Eccles 1 

LGS50  Land north of Barton 
Aerodrome 

Eccles 1 

LGS51  Albion Green East Salford 1 

LGS52  Land south of Cadishead 
Way 

Irlam and Cadishead 1 

LGS53  Land at Great Woolden Hall 
Farm 

Irlam and Cadishead 1 

LGS54  Astley Road Farm Irlam and Cadishead 1 

LGS55  Land north of the M62 at 
Chat Moss 

Irlam and Cadishead, and 
Worsley and Boothstown 

1 

LGS56  Land south of Kenyon Way 
and Parkway 

Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS57  Land at Ladywell Avenue Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS58  Recreation ground at 
Eastham Way 

Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS59  Land south of Hill Top Road Little Hulton and Walkden 10 

LGS60  Land east of Linnyshaw Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS61  Land west of Burgess Farm Little Hulton and Walkden 1 

LGS62  Recreation land at Shap 
Drive 

Little Hulton and Walkden 2 

LGS63  Land west of Boothstown Worsley and Boothstown 1 

LGS64  Land at 278 Leigh Road Worsley and Boothstown 1 

 
c) Additional sites assessed for recreation 
 

Ref Site assessed for 
recreation 

Ward Number of 
individuals / 

organisations 
nominating 

the site 

REC49 Land bounded by Brinell 
Drive and Cadishead Way  

Irlam and Cadishead 1 

REC50 Recreation land at Shap 
Drive 

Little Hulton and Walkden 1, and a 
petition with 52 

signatures 

REC51 Bowling green at the Rock 
House public house, Edison 
Road 

Eccles 1 

 
 

Page 1417



44 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C  
 

Draft Local Plan 
Consultation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1418



45 
 

APPENDIX C1 
Draft local plan consultation letter sent to all statutory and 
non statutory consultees and all those on the city council’s 
database 
 
 
 
31 October 2016 

Dear Sir / Madam,                                     

Draft Salford Local Plan and the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework  
 
Over the next few months, public consultation will take place on two draft plans that 
will have significant implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of Greater 
Manchester, and the Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies for 
Salford. The most significant proposals for Salford are included in both documents. 
 
 
Draft Salford Local Plan 
 
As you have previously commented on, or expressed interest in, one of Salford’s 
planning documents we wanted to let you know that the city council has now 
recommenced the preparation of the Salford Local Plan, which will be the main land 
use planning document for the city. 
 
The Local Plan will: 
 

 Set out how Salford should develop up to the year 2035; 

 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the city, 
such as housing, offices and industry, and the main areas in which this will be 
focused; 

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities; 

 Protect the city’s important environmental assets; and 

 Allocate land for particular uses or protective designations. 
 

The Local Plan will set out the main policies that will be used to determine planning 
applications, and once adopted, will replace the saved Unitary Development Plan 
policies. 
 
As you may recall, some work has already been undertaken in preparing a local plan 
for Salford. The initial consultation was a “call for sites” exercise which was 
undertaken between February and April 2013.  At this stage, people were invited to 
nominate sites for development or identify land that should be given some form of 
protective designation. The city council reviewed the nominated sites and completed 
an initial assessment of their suitability for development or a protective designation. 

Page 1419



46 
 

These assessments were published and consulted on between January and March 
2014. 
 
Consultation on a full Draft Local Plan is due to start on Tuesday 8 November 2016 
and run until Friday 6 January 2017 and we would welcome your views on the 
plan during this time. 
 
The Draft Local Plan identifies the approach that the city council intends to take, 
having had regard to the comments received during the initial stages of consultation, 
the additional evidence that has been assembled and changes to national planning 
policy. A Policies Map has also been published which shows the location of sites 
proposed to be allocated for development or given a protective designation.    
 
A full copy of the Draft Local Plan and all the supporting documentation will be 
available on our website at http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon  from the start 
of the consultation and a paper copy of all documentation will also be available to 
view at the Civic Centre, Swinton.  A paper copy of the Draft Local Plan and Policies 
Map will also available to view in each of the city’s libraries during normal opening 
hours. 
 
There will be a drop in consultation event held during the afternoon/evening on 
Friday 2 December 2016 at the Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre. This will provide 
an opportunity to discuss the Draft Local Plan and find out more about the parts of 
the plan which you are interested in. For further information about the consultation 
event please visit the website using the link above. We have also written to 
community committees to offer to attend one of their meetings to explain in more 
detail the relevant proposals should they wish us to.  
 
Making comments on the Draft Local Plan 
 
Comments on the Draft Salford Local Plan can be submitted by any of the following 
means: 
 

 Online using the comments form at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 By post to: Draft Local Plan consultation 
                  Spatial Planning 
                  Salford Civic Centre 
                  Chorley Road 
                  Swinton 
                  M27 5BY 

 
All comments should be received by the city council no later than 
4.30pm on Friday 6 January 2017.  

 
The city council’s preferred communication method is via email and therefore if you 
have received this letter by post, we would be grateful if you could provide an email 
address for all future correspondence about planning policy in Salford to assist us in 
minimising our costs. 

Page 1420

http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


47 
 

 
If you have any queries regarding the Draft Local Plan please contact the Spatial 
Planning team on 0161 793 3782 or via plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk  If you no 
longer wish to be kept informed about future stages of the Local Plan please contact 
us and your details will be removed from our database.  
 
 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
 
We would also like to take this opportunity to inform you about a consultation on the 
draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework which is running from 31 October to 
23 December 2016.  During this time, comments are welcomed on this document, 
together with the associated Integrated Assessment Report and other background 
papers.  
 
Over the next twenty years there is a need to deliver continued sustainable 
economic growth, creating more jobs and new homes for the people of Greater 
Manchester.  
 
The ten local authorities in Greater Manchester are working together to deliver this 
growth and to ensure that these new homes and jobs are provided in the right places 
with the transport infrastructure (roads, rail, Metrolink) to support the communities 
and manage growth sustainably. 
 
The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework sets out: 
 

 How much housing and employment land is needed and the distribution 
between each district up to 2035.  

 A number of strategic sites across Greater Manchester to assist in meeting 
these requirements. 

 The importance of infrastructure such as, health, education, transport, green 
spaces and utilities to support neighbourhoods and employment. 

 Ways to protect and improve the natural environment. 
 
For further information on the consultation please visit www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/GMSF 
 
Paper copies of the draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework may be viewed at 
the Civic Centre, Swinton and also at each of the city’s libraries during normal 
opening hours.  A paper copy of the Integrated Assessment may also be viewed at 
the Civic Centre, Swinton. 
 
Making comments on the draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
 
Responses to the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) consultation may 
be made: 

 Online at http://gmsf-consult.objective.co.uk or 

 By email to GMSF@agma.gov.uk  

 By Post to :  Greater Manchester Integrated Support Team 
PO Box 532 

Page 1421

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://gmsf-consult.objective.co.uk/
mailto:GMSF@agma.gov.uk


48 
 

Town Hall 
Manchester 
M60 2LA 

 
All comments about the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework must be 
sent to the email/postal addresses above or the online form completed, 
to be received by 17:00 on Friday 23 December 2016. 

 
A series of events are being hosted across Greater Manchester which the public are 
invited to attend and discuss the draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. For 
Salford, there will be a joint Greater Manchester Spatial Framework / Salford Draft 
Local Plan consultation event held on Friday 2 December 2016 as mentioned earlier 
in this letter. Please see the website for further information if you would like to attend 
one of these events.   
 
If you require any further information on the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
consultation please do not hesitate to contact the Greater Manchester Planning 
Team on 0161 237 4636. If you would like to discuss one of the individual allocations 
in the draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework that are within Salford, please 
contact Salford City Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782. 
 
 
Data protection 
 
Please note that for the Draft Local Plan consultation all comments will be held by 
Salford City Council, and for the GMSF by the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority, and in both cases will be available to view publicly. Comments cannot be 
treated as confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and e-mail 
address will not be published, but your name and organisation (if relevant) will.  
 
Both Salford City Council and the Greater Manchester Combined Authority maintain 
databases of consultees who wish to be kept informed about the Local Plan and the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, respectively. In responding to these 
consultations your contact details will automatically be added to the relevant 
consultation database. If you do not want to be contacted about future Local Plan or 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework consultations please state this in your 
response. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Chris Findley 
Assistant Director for Planning 
 
 

Page 1422



49 
 

 
APPENDIX C2  
Extension of time letter to consultees and landowners 
 
 
21 December 2016 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Public consultation on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and 
Draft Salford Local Plan extended until 16 January 2017 
  
As you will be aware, public consultation is currently taking place on two draft plans 
that will have significant implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of 
Greater Manchester and the Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies 
for Salford. The most significant proposals for Salford are included in both 
documents.  
 
These are important plans which have already generated a huge amount of public 
interest.  The Greater Manchester Combined Authority and Salford City 
Council wants to make sure that everyone who wants to, has the opportunity to take 
part in the consultation, and some people have told us that they need longer, so a 
decision has been taken to extend the consultation on the above documents until 
Monday 16 January 2017 (23.59).  
 
Making comments on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework  
 
The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and supporting documents can be 
accessed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF  
 
Responses to the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) consultation may 
be made: 

 Online at http://gmsf-consult.objective.co.uk or 

 By email to GMSF@agma.gov.uk  

 By Post to :        Greater Manchester Integrated Support Team 
PO Box 532 
Town Hall 
Manchester 
M60 2LA 

 
If you require any further information on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework consultation please do not hesitate to contact the Greater Manchester 
Planning Team on 0161 237 4636. If you would like to discuss one of the individual 
allocations in the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework that are within 
Salford, please contact Salford City Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 
3782. 
 
 

Page 1423

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://gmsf-consult.objective.co.uk/
mailto:GMSF@agma.gov.uk


50 
 

 
Making comments on the Draft Salford Local Plan  
 
The Draft Salford Local Plan and supporting documents are available on the city 
council’s website at http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon. Comments on the 
Draft Salford Local Plan can be submitted by any of the following means: 
 

 Online using the comments form at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 By post to: Draft Local Plan consultation 
                  Spatial Planning 
                  Salford Civic Centre 
                  Chorley Road 
                  Swinton 
                  M27 5BY 

 
If you have any queries regarding the Draft Local Plan please contact Salford City 
Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk   
 
Data protection 
 
Please note that for the Draft Local Plan consultation all comments will be held by 
Salford City Council, and will be available to view publicly. Comments cannot be 
treated as confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and e-mail 
address will not be published, but your name and organisation (if relevant) will.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Chris Findley 
Assistant Director for Planning 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1424

http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


51 
 

 
 

APPENDIX C3  
Email sent to all consultees and neighbourhood managers 
for the start of the consultation period 
 
 
All consultees covering email 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Over the next few months, public consultation will take place on two draft plans that 
will have significant implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of Greater 
Manchester, and the Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies for 
Salford. Please find attached a letter which provides more information about these 
draft documents and explains how to make comments.   
 
The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and supporting documents can be 
accessed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF If you require any further 
information on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework consultation please 
do not hesitate to contact the Greater Manchester Planning Team on 0161 237 
4636. If you would like to discuss one of the individual allocations in the Draft 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework that are within Salford, please contact 
Salford City Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782. 
 

Consultation on the Draft Local Plan is due to start on 8 November 2016. The Draft 
Local Plan and supporting documents will be available on the city council’s website 
at http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon  from the start of the consultation.  If 
you have any queries regarding the Draft Local Plan please contact Salford City 
Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk   
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Neighbourhood Managers Email: 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Over the next few months, public consultation will take place on two draft plans that 
will have significant implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of Greater 
Manchester, and the Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies for 
Salford. Please find attached a letter which provides more information about these 
draft documents and explains how to make comments.   
 

Page 1425

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


52 
 

The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and supporting documents can be 
accessed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF If you require any further 
information on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework consultation please 
do not hesitate to contact the Greater Manchester Planning Team on 0161 237 
4636. If you would like to discuss one of the individual allocations in the Draft 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework that are within Salford, please contact 
Salford City Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782. 
 

Consultation on the Draft Local Plan is due to start on 8 November 2016. The Draft 
Local Plan and supporting documents will be available on the city council’s website 
at http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon  from the start of the consultation.  If 
you have any queries regarding the Draft Local Plan please contact Salford City 
Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk   
 
We are trying to raise people’s awareness of both these documents given the 
significant implications they have for all areas of the city. Therefore, please could I 
request that you cascade this information down to the local community and other 
relevant contacts on your database.   
 
We would like to offer the opportunity for members of the spatial planning team to 
attend your next community committee meeting (or to attend a specifically arranged 
community committee meeting if you are not due to have a community committee 
meeting during the consultation period), to discuss the proposals affecting your area 
of the city and any other aspect of the plan(s) you are interested in. If you would like 
to arrange to do this or require any further information, please contact a member of 
the spatial planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 1426

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


53 
 

APPENDIX C4 
Extension of time email sent to Neighbourhood Managers 
 
 
Dear Neighbourhood Manager, 
 

Public consultation on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and 
Draft Salford Local Plan is being extended until 16 January 2017 
 
As you will be aware, public consultation is currently taking place on two draft plans 
that will have significant implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of 
Greater Manchester and the Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies 
for Salford. The most significant proposals for Salford are included in both 
documents.  
 
These are important plans which have already generated a huge amount of public 
interest. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority and Salford City Council 
wants to make sure that everyone who wants to, has the opportunity to take part in 
the consultation, and some people have told us that they need longer, so a decision 
has been taken to extend the consultation on the above documents until Monday 16 
January 2017 (23.59).  
 
Making comments on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework  
 
The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and supporting documents can be 
accessed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF  
 
Responses to the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) consultation may 
be made: 

 Online at http://gmsf-consult.objective.co.uk or 

 By email to GMSF@agma.gov.uk  

 By Post to : Greater Manchester Integrated Support Team 
PO Box 532 
Town Hall 
Manchester 
M60 2LA 

 
If you require any further information on the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework consultation please do not hesitate to contact the Greater Manchester 
Planning Team on 0161 237 4636. If you would like to discuss one of the individual 
allocations in the Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework that are within 
Salford, please contact Salford City Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 
3782. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1427

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://gmsf-consult.objective.co.uk/
mailto:GMSF@agma.gov.uk


54 
 

Making comments on the Draft Salford Local Plan  
 
The Draft Salford Local Plan and supporting documents are available on the city 
council’s website at http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon. Comments on the 
Draft Salford Local Plan can be submitted by any of the following means: 
 

 Online using the comments form at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 By post to: Draft Local Plan consultation 
Spatial Planning 
Salford Civic Centre 
Chorley Road 
Swinton 
M27 5BY 

 
If you have any queries regarding the Draft Local Plan please contact Salford City 
Council’s Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782 or email 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk  
 

Please could you cascade the above information to your networks.  
 
I have also attached a short note explaining the next stages in the local plan 
process.  
 
Kind regards 
 
Claire 
 
Claire Thorn 
Principal Planning Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 1428

http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


55 
 

APPENDIX C5 
Letter sent to landowners at the Draft Local Plan stage 
 
15 November 2016 

Dear Sir / Madam,                                     

Draft Salford Local Plan   
 
You may be aware that public consultation is currently taking place on two draft 
plans that will have significant implications for Salford’s future.  The Draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of 
Greater Manchester, and the Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed 
policies for Salford.   
 
The Local Plan will: 
 

 Set out how Salford should develop up to the year 2035; 

 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the city, 
such as housing, offices and industry, and the main areas in which this will be 
focused; 

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities; 

 Protect the city’s important environmental assets; and 

 Allocate land for particular uses or protective designations. 
 

The Local Plan will form the main part of the statutory development plan for the city, 
and once adopted will replace the saved Unitary Development Plan policies.  
 
The current consultation on the Draft Local Plan is running until Friday 6 January 
2017.  We are aware that you currently have an interest in land that is proposed to 
be allocated for development in the Draft Local Plan as set out below: 
 
 
Policy xxxx   Local plan site name 
 
 
If you would like to find out more about the proposed allocation/s please visit our 
website at http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon  or paper copies of the Local 
Plan and Policies Map are available at the Civic Centre, Swinton or in the city’s 
libraries.   
 
There will be a drop in consultation event held during the afternoon/evening on 
Friday 2 December 2016 at the Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre. This will provide 
an opportunity to discuss the Draft Local Plan and find out more about the parts of 
the plan which you are interested in. For further information about the consultation 
event please visit the website using the link above.  
Making comments on the Draft Local Plan 
 

Page 1429

http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon


56 
 

The Draft Local Plan is an initial draft for consultation, and provides an opportunity 
for the community and other stakeholders to comment on the policies and proposals, 
and suggest alternative approaches. Comments can be submitted by any of the 
following means: 
 

 Online using the comments form at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 By post to: Draft Local Plan consultation 
                  Spatial Planning 
                  Salford Civic Centre 
                  Chorley Road 
                  Swinton 
                  M27 5BY 

 
All comments should be received by the city council no later than 
4.30pm on Friday 6 January 2017.  

 
The city council’s preferred communication method is via email and therefore as you 
have received this letter by post, we would be grateful if you could provide an email 
address for all future correspondence about planning policy in Salford to assist us in 
minimising our costs.    If you no longer wish to be kept informed about future stages 
of the Local Plan please contact us and your details will be removed from our 
database.  
 
 
Data protection 
 
Please note that for the Draft Local Plan consultation all comments will be held by 
Salford City Council, and will be available to view publicly. Comments cannot be 
treated as confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and e-mail 
address will not be published, but your name and organisation (if relevant) will.  
 
If you have any queries about the Draft Local Plan or would like to discuss it further, 
please contact the Spatial Planning team on 0161 793 3782. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Chris Findley 
Assistant Director for Planning 
 
 

 
 

Page 1430

http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


57 
 

APPENDIX C6 
Screenshot of Draft Local Plan consultation webpage 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1431



58 
 

APPENDIX C7 
Notice published in the Jewish Advertiser and Jewish 
Telegraph 
 

 

 

Page 1432



59 
 

APPENDIX C8 
Talking News Adverts 
 
Advert published week commencing 6 November 2016: 
 
Public consultation has just started on two draft plans that will have significant 
implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of Greater Manchester, and the 
Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies for Salford. The most 
significant proposals for Salford are included in both documents and your comments 
on both documents will be welcomed during the consultation periods. 
 
To find out more about the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework please visit 
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF or telephone the Greater Manchester 
Planning Team on 0161 237 4636.  This document is out for consultation until the 23 
December 2016. 
 
To find out more about Salford’s draft local plan which is out for consultation until the 
6th January 2017, please visit the website at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon or telephone the Spatial planning team 
on 0161 793 3782.    
 
 
 
Advert published week commencing 11 December 2016: 
 
Public consultation will shortly finish on two draft plans that will have significant 
implications for Salford’s future. The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
sets out the overall planning strategy for the whole of Greater Manchester, and the 
Draft Salford Local Plan provides more detailed policies for Salford. The most 
significant proposals for Salford are included in both documents and your comments 
on both documents will be welcomed during the consultation periods. 
 
To find out more about the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework please visit 
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF or telephone the Greater Manchester 
Planning Team on 0161 237 4636.  This document is out for consultation until the 23 
December 2016. 
 
To find out more about Salford’s draft local plan which is out for consultation until the 
6th January 2017, please visit the website at 
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon or telephone the Spatial planning team 
on 0161 793 3782.    
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 1433

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/GMSF
http://www.salford.gov.uk/draftlocalplancon


60 
 

APPENDIX C9 
List of organisations and individuals who submitted 
representations to the draft local plan consultation 

Organisation/ 
Individual 
A Bloor 

A Day 

A Legerton 

A Walker 

A. Perkins 

Abigail Quigley 

Action Against 
Astley Road 
Development 
(AAARD) 

Adele Walton 

Adrian O 
Sullivan 

Adrian Richards 

Alan and Jean 
Challinor 

Alan Bannon 

Alan Cavanagh 

Alan R Woods 

Alan Ratcliffe 

Alan Williams 

Aled Owen 

Alison Bennett 

Alison Booth 

Alison Williams 

Alistair 
Wallworth 

Allison and Phill 
Reader 

Alma Moore 

Amanda D 
Lovell 

Amber Bryden 

Amy Challender 

Amy Goodwin 

Andrew Aherne 

Andrew Green 

Andrew Ingham 

Andrew Nelson 

Andy Cheetham 

Andy Salmon 

Andy Shaw 

Angela Eccles 

Angela Eccles 

Angela Solan 

Angela West 

Anita and Dave 
Barnett 

Ann Chaplin 

Ann Luckman 

Ann Warrington 

Anne and Nigel 
France 

Anne 
Broomhead 

Anne Clark 

Anne Grant 

Anne Martins 

Anonymous 

Anonymous 
Salford 
Landowners (De 
Pol Associates 
on behalf of) 

Anthony and 
Patricia Lewin 

Anthony Lee 

Arnold Laver Ltd 
(How Planning 
on behalf of) 

AS Foster 

B A Legerton 

B Cheape 

B J Powell 

B Segal 

B, K, M, and M 
Pandya 

B. Jones 

B.A. Marsh 

Barbara Hill 

Barbara Keeley 
MP 

Barbara Leigh 

Barratt Homes 

Barry and Sheila 
Watts 

Barry Woodling 

Ben Jones 

Ben Pascall 

Ben Ravenscroft 

Bernard & 
Marian Walker 

Beryl Thompson 

Beverley 
Lowndes 

Bolton Council 

Boys & Girls 
Clubs Greater 
Manchester 

Bredale 
Properties Ltd 
(Pegasus Group 
on behalf of) 

Brenda 
Drinkwater 

Brenda Stanley 

Brian and Muriel 
Dunn 

Brian Lowndes 

Brian Mccarthy 

Bridget Williams 

Bruce and 
Pauline 
Sutherland 

Bruce Kinloch 

Bruce 
Thompson 

Bury Council 

C Gibson 

C Pugh 

C Taylor 

C W Willis 

C Wright 

Calum Gray 

Canal and River 
Trust 

Carol Ward 

Carole O'Brien 

Caroline 
Lightfoot 

Carolyn Evans 

Catherine 
Bentley and 
Richard Bentley 

Charles & 
Kathryn Ogden 

Charles Woods 

Charlotte 
Hickson 

Cheri Muldoon 

Chris Legerton 

Christina 
Bradley & Mr 
Leslie Hall 

Christine Bold 

Christine 
Cooper 

Christine 
Marshall 

Christine 
Richardson 

City of Salford 
Community 
Stadium (NJL 
Consulting on 
behalf of) 

City of Trees 

Claire Davies 

Claire Moore 

Claire Whalley-
Livesey 

Claire White 

Clare Atherton 

Clare Edwards 

Clare Platt 

Clare Taylor-
Russell )Trafford 
Council on 
behalf of) 

Cllr Christine 
Hudson 

Cllrs R Garrido, 
Collison and 
Clarke 

Coal Industry 
Social Welfare 
Organisation 

Colin Ackers 

Colin Lowndes 

Colin Williams 

Colin Wood 

Consortium of 
Landowners - ---
Irlam and 
Cadishead 

Corrine Batty 

Councillor Iain 
Lindley 

Page 1434



61 
 

Councillor 
Richard 
Critchley 

Countryside 
Properties 
(Nathaniel 
Lichfield and 
Partners on 
behalf of) 

CPRE 
Lancashire 

D L Cookson 

D Lund 

D Segelit 

D Young 

D. Hodson 

D.E. Gresty 

Dale Robinson 

Darrell Warner 

David and 
Joanne Done 

David and 
Marjorie 
McCormick 

David Arthur 
Sugden 

David Ashton 

David Bartlett 

David Bennett 

David Cooper 

David Fox 

David Gape 

David Grant 

David Horsfall 

David Isherwood 

David Mattison 

David Norris 

David 
Sommerville 

David Steel 

David Wrennall 

Dean Pyke 

Debbie Dove 

Debbie Fletcher 

Deborah Swift 

Debra Adderley 

Denis 
McLaughlin 

Denis Robbins 

Denise Cooper 

Denise Fox 

Derek and 
Valerie 
Greenhalgh 

Derek Brooks 

Derek Nuttall 

Derwent Group 
(Aylward Town 

Planning - ATP - 
on behalf of) 

Diane Hickford 

Diane Reed 

Donald Parry 

Doreen Marsh 

Dorothy Lennard 

Dorothy Smith 

Dr John E 
Marginson 

Dr Rebecca 
Wild 

Duncan Chester 

E Jordan 

E Roberts 

E. A. McLean 

Elaine Carter 

Elaine Seddon 

Elizabeth Elton 

Elizabeth Griffin 

Ellen Margaret 
Blocksidge 

Ellesmere Park 
Residents' 
Association 

Elsie Hardman 

Eman 
Altwairesh 

Emer Sheridan 

Emma Farrelly 

Environment 
Agency 

Eric Lowndes 

Ernest Turner 

Eve Goodwin 

Fiona Flanagan 

ForViva 

Fran Heslin 

Frank Marshall 

FRECCLES - 
Friends of 
Eccles Station 

Frederic 
O'Gorman 

Friends of Roe 
Green (Jean 
Barnes) 

G A and L I 
Matthews 

G Ellis 

G Irwin 

G Tyrell 

G Williams 

Gail Ledger and 
Edward Ward 

Gary Adamson 

Gary and Janet 
McMahon 

Gary Gardner 

Gary Hindle 

Gary McKenzie 

Gavin Wickham 
and Faye Steel 

Gayle Clipsham 

Ged Connor 

Genna Oliver 

Geoff Hamilton 

Geoffrey N 
Laughton 

George Jarvis 

Gillian Ruleman 

Gillian Wright 

Glyn Thomas 

Grace Choi 

Greater 
Manchester 
Ecology Unit 

Greta Barwise 

Groundwork 
MSSTT 

Gwyneth Cooke 

H L Watson 

H. Hague 

Hamilton Davies 
Trust 

Harry Jones 

Harworth Group 
(Cushman & 
Wakefield) 

Hayley Cubley 

Heather Thorpe 

Helen Crowley 

Helen Gates 

Helen Hubbard 

Helen Legerton 

Helen 
Pendlebury 

Helena Graham 

Highways 
England 

Hilda Johnson 

Historic England 

Home Builders 
Federation 

Hoon Teo 

I Booth 

I L Hodgkinson 

Ian and 
Christine Davies 

Ian and Debra 
Lingard 

Ian Davenport 

Ian McLachlan 

Ian P. Heffernan 

Imperial Point 
and Sovereign 

Point Residents' 
Association 
(SPRA)  (Colin 
Wood on behalf 
of) 

Irene Blay 

Irene Brice 

Irene Bridgford 

Irene Rowlinson 

Irlam and 
Cadishead 
Branch Labour 
Party 

Isla Gray 

J Ahmed 

J and G Clay 

J and J Austin 

J D Leaver 

J Harding 

J Legerton 

J M Leach 

J Marshall 

J O'Shea & 
Sons Ltd and 
Connell Brothers 
Ltd 

J Ravenscroft 

J Walton 

J. Dennett 

Jack Evans 

Jackie and 
Anthony 
Norcross 

Jackie and 
Stuart Taylor 

Jacqueline 
Bewsher 

James and 
Geraldine 
Buckley 

James Hilton 

Jamie and 
Margaret 
Bentham 

Jane Carney 

Jane McNulty 

Jane Unwin 

Janet Hickson 

Janet Lewis 

Janet Morgan 

Jannine 
Mcmahon 

Jason Horsfall 

Jean A 
Robinson 

Jean Barnes 

Jean Mckenna 

Jean Whalley 

Page 1435



62 
 

JG Ness 

Joan McCann 

Joan Sheila 
Bannon 

Joanne Egan 

John and Aileen 
Cumbers 

John and Delyse 
Gregory 

John and Diana 
Wroe 

John Bohan 

John Elton 

John Hudson 

John Lemmon 

John Philip 
Wood 

John R Long 

John Samuel 
Wright 

Jonathan Bell 

Jonathan Wright 

Jonathon and 
Michelle Drew 

Joseph Bailey 

Joseph Fletcher 

Joseph Rabbitt 

Joseph 
Thompson 

Josie Sevier 

Judith King 

Judith Watts 

Julia Horner 

Julie Lynch 

Julie Niland 

Julie Smith 

K and S Jerath 

K J Hunt 

K Lowndes 

K. Davis 

Karen Sharples 

Kasim Jameel 

Kate Fowles 

Katherine Norris 

Kathryn 
Richardson 

Keith Luckman 

Kerry 
Sommerville 

Kevin Crabtree 

L A Robinson 

L Cripley 

L K Cunliffe 

L M Bruce 

Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust 

Laura Hawkins 

Laura Rawlinson 

Laurence 
Keeley 

Lawrence 
Merryweather 

Lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and 
trans people 
(LGBT) 
Foundation 

Lesley and 
George 
Wiszniewski 

Lewis Hickson 

LGA Europe 
Limited 
(Cushman & 
Wakefield on 
behalf of) 

Liezel Griffin 

Lilla Berry and 
Alan Smith 

Linda Hilditch 

Linda Jones 

Lindsay 
Marsden 

Lisa Quigley 

Lisa Rooney 

Lisa Van 
Damms 

Liz Wallwork 

LM Critchley 

Lorraine Bradley 

Louise Davies 

Love Brothers 
Ltd (Turley on 
behalf of) 

Lucy Ainsworth 

Lucy Crabtree 

Luke Murfin and 
Laura Black 

Luke Wareham 

Lynda Waring 

Lyndsey & Colin 
Furse 

Lynn Keegan 

Lynsey Shaw 

M 
Brimblecombe 

M Darwin 

M E Williams 

M Legerton 

M R Andrews 

M R Chaplin 

M Segelit 

M Warburton 

M Woodcock 

M. Lawrinson 

Maggie Lunn 

Manchester 
Airport 

Manchester 
Bolton and Bury 
Canal Society 

Margaret Duffy 

Margaret Lohan 

Margaret 
Waddecar 

Maria Ashton 

Maria Smith 

Maria Stones 

Marion Gray 

Mark Ackerley 

Mark Elliott 

Mark Gardner 

Mark Jones 

Mark Powell 

Mark Upton 
(Paul Butler 
Associates on 
behalf of) 

Mark Watts 

Marlene McLean 

Martin Barlow 

Martin Hudson 

Martyn 
Shedwick 

Mary Glynn 

Mary-Liz Walker 

Matt Lord 

Maureen and 
Brian Noble 

Maureen 
Preston 

Maureen 
Rawcliffe 

McCarthy & 
Stone 
Retirement 
Lifestyles 
Limited (The 
Planning Bureau 
Limited on 
behalf of) 

Melissa 
Tomlinson 

MHE 
Investments 
(HOW Planning 
on behalf of) 

Michael Keegan 

Michael Quigley 

Michael 
Sharples 

Michelle Gibson 

Michelle Jenkins 

Mick Gorton 

Mike Lewis 

Minerals and 
Waste Planning 
Unit 

MJ and JL 
Parker 

Moira Farrelly 

Monica Yakiah 

Monkcton 
Properties Ltd 
(MPL) (TEM 
Property Group 
on behalf of) 

Mr & Mrs 
Hopkins 

Mr and Mrs A 
Attwell 

Mr and Mrs A 
Farley 

Mr and Mrs A 
Steven 

Mr and Mrs D 
Grennan 

Mr and Mrs D 
Smith 

Mr and Mrs DW 
Minshall 

Mr and Mrs 
Hamer 

Mr and Mrs J R 
Cartwright 

Mr and Mrs 
Lever 

Mr and Mrs 
Orwin 

Mr and Mrs R. 
Fowles 

Mr and Mrs 
Roberts 

Mr and Mrs 
Wickham 

Mr Graham 
Smith 

Mr Heravi 

Mr Hill 

Mr Turner 

Mrs Fagan 

Mrs Glenys 
Williams and Mr 
C. C. Williams 

Mrs T Patel and 
Mr K Patel 

Mylvia Hunt 

N Graham 

N Kennedy & D 
Ashworth 

N Nixon 

Natalie Dickson 

Natalie Mansell 

Page 1436



63 
 

Natalie 
Whitehead & 
Richard Franklin 

Nathan and 
Clair Phillips 

Natural England 

Neil and 
Amanda 
Ashworth 

Neil Horner 

Neill Virtue 

Newton Ashley 

NHS Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

Nick Harrison 

Nick Rawlinson 

Nicola Austin 

Nicola Walton 

Nigel Gray 

Nita Mello 

Norah Virtue 

North Walkden 
Football Club 

Nuala Rabbitt 

Olivia Gray 

Ordsall Health 
Surgery Patient 
Participation 
Group 

P Atkinson 

P C Legerton 

P Elliott 

P Massey 

P R Blay 

Pamela Turner 

Pamela Walsh 

Pat Kelly 

Patricia and 
Anthony 
Clayson 

Patricia Brock 

Patricia Dawson 

Patricia Dennett 

Patricia Heslop 

Patricia Mary 
Still 

Patricia Sugden 

Patrick Farrelly 

Paul and Margo 
Acheson 

Paul and Susan 
Tobin 

Paul Davies 

Paul Dennen 

Paul Gates 

Paul Gilesnan 

Paul Hassall 

Paul Heslop 

Paul Lowndes 

Paula Bailey 

Pauline and 
Geoff Ogden 

Peel Media 
Management 
Limited (NJL 
Consulting on 
behalf of) 

Persimmon 
Homes (North 
West) (Mosaic 
Town Planning 
on behalf of) 

Pete Thomas 

Peter & Ann 
Bloor 

Peter Shaw 

Peter Walkden 

Peter Walker 

Phil Carter 

Phil Hinsley 

Phil Paterson 

Philip and Carol 
Barooah 

Philip Hesketh 

Philip Parry 

Philip Picken 

Philip Sharples 

Piers Grffin 

Planning for Our 
Future in Irlam 
and Cadishead 

R Bannister 

R Chaplin 

R K Jones 

RAID 

Ramblers and 
Friends of 
Eccles Station 

Redcliff Estates 
Ltd (Steven 
Abbott 
Associates on 
behalf of) 

Rekha Senapit 

Rev Des 
O'Driscoll 

Rhys O'Brien 

Richard Evans 

Richard Sargent 

Richard Tindall 

Rita Mitchell and 
Nigel Hopwood 

Rixton with 
Glazebrook 
Parish Council 

RMS 
International Ltd 
(Pegasus Group 
on behalf of) 

Rob Prill 

Robert Alan 
Moss 

Robert and 
Joanne 
Holbrook 

Robert C. Lane 

Robert Kerr 

Robert Seddon 

Robin Stimson 

Roe Green 
Cricket Club 

Ronald Hover 

Ross 

Roy Chilton 

Royal 
Horticultural 
Society (Barton 
Willmore on 
behalf of) 

Royal Mail 
Group Limited 
(Cushman & 
Wakefield on 
behalf of) 

Russell Wood 

Ruth Orwin 
Taylor 

S Adamson 

S Crosland 

S E Andrew 

S Hart 

S J Matthews 

S Killon 

S McKay 

S Roberts 

S. Dennison 

Sadia Kalsum 
Rajput 

Salford 
Allotment 
Federation 

Salford City 
Council 
Conservative 
Group 

Salford 
Community 
Leisure 

Sally Hope 

Sam Dickson 

Samantha 
Armstrong 

Samuel Bailey 

Sandra Dutson 

Sandra O 
Suliivan 

Sara Hughes 

Sarah 
Fitzpatrick 

Sarah Gilham 

Sarah Walton 

Scott West 

Sean Dunne 

Sharon Crabtree 

Sheila Guy 

Sheila Wicks 

Simon Goodwin 

Sir Alan 
Cockshaw 

Sophie Warner 

Sport England 

Stacey Antcliff 

Stephanie Foy 

Stephen and 
Joan Thompson 

Stephen Lovell 

Stephen Parker 

Stephen Perry 

Steve Jones 

Steven Machin 

Steven Moss 

Sue and John 
Sargeson 

Sue Wright 

Susan and 
Gerarde 
Steenson 

Susan Hind 

Susan J Somner 

Susan Redshaw 

Susan Wareing 

Swinton Open 
Space 
Community 
Association 
(SOSCA) 
(Andrew 
Connelly on  
behaf of) 

Sylvia Hartley 

Tammy 
Fullelove 

Tarmac Ltd 

The Coal 
Authority 

The Emerson 
Group 

The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

The Woodland 
Trust 

Page 1437



64 
 

Theatres Trust 

Thomas Mellor 

Tobias 
Challender 

Tony ? 

Tony and Pat 
Steed 

Tony Wallwork 

Tony Ward 

Tracey Parker 

Tracy Mellet 

Transport for 
Greater 
Manchester 

Trisha Moynihan 

United Utilities 

United Utilities 
Property 
Services 

University of 
Salford 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Val Whitehead 

Valerie Hesketh 

Veronica and 
Tony Hamer 

Veronica M 
Blackburn 

Victor Ranicar 

Victoria and 
John Gould 

W T Hill 

W. E. Williams 

Wardley 
Residents 
Group 

Warrington 
Borough Council 

Wayne 
Flanagan 

Wendy 
Stephenson 

William Dixon 

Worsley 
Councillors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1438



65 
 

APPENDIX C10  
Issues raised in representations received on the Draft 
Local Plan and an explanation of how these issues are 
being addressed 
 

Draft Local Plan Chapter  Page number  
 

General comments   

1 Introduction  

2 Spatial Portrait  

3 Spatial Vision  

4 Strategic Objectives  

5 Area Policies  

6 Development Principles  

7 Economic Development  

8 Culture and Tourism  

9 Housing  

10 Town Centres and Retail Development  

11 Education  

12 Health  

13 Accessibility  

14 Energy  

15 Water  

16 Design  

17 Heritage  

18 Green Infrastructure  

19 Green Belt  

20 Biodiversity  

21 Recreation  

22 Pollution and Hazards  

23 Minerals and Waste  

24 Implementation and Monitoring  

Annex A Technical housing standards – nationally described 
space standard 

- 

Annex B Town Centre Insets - 

Annex C Parking Standards - 

Annex D Saved Unitary Development Plan Policies - 

Annex E Green Belt Changes and Suggested Development 
Sites 

 

Additional Allocations Suggested   

Evidence Base – Assessment of Residential Viability  

Evidence Base - CIA  

Evidence Base - HELAA  

Sustainability Appraisal   

 
 
 

Page 1439



  
 

1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: GENERAL COMMENTS   

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Aims and objectives of the plan  

Mixed views were expressed with regards to the plan as a whole. 
Some individuals and organisations were supportive, suggesting that 
it would be a strong driver for economic growth/improved quality of 
life, with others objecting or seeking changes or a shift in emphasis, 
with many suggesting that the reuse of previously developed land 
should be the key priority and that the countryside should be 
protected from development (Individuals/various organisations).  
 

The plan continues to seek to deliver sustainable development in 
Salford, supporting economic growth, promoting healthy and vibrant 
communities, and protecting and enhancing the environment. There 
is a much stronger focus on fairness running throughout the plan, 
and new chapters have been added on climate change and air 
quality. 
 
The more detailed comments received in response to specific 
chapters/policies have been considered and an explanation of how 
the issues are being addressed in the revised draft plan is provided 
later in this schedule. 
 
Decisions about any changes to the Green Belt boundaries in 
Salford are now being made solely through the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework and not the Salford Local Plan. 
  

Agricultural land  

Best and most versatile agricultural land should be protected from 
development (CPRE). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a new policy on soils and 
agricultural land (GB2) which seeks to avoid the loss of agricultural 
land where possible and where this is required give preference to 
the development of lower grade land and minimise the scale of loss.  
 
The Revised Draft GMSF allocates two sites in Salford that would 
involve the loss of grade 1 agricultural land: GM Allocation 32 (North 
of Irlam Station) and GM Allocation 33 (Port Salford Extension). It 
has been concluded that the benefits of development in these two 
locations would outweigh the loss of high grade agricultural land. 
The size of the North of Irlam Station, and hence the potential loss of 

P
age 1440



  
 

2 
 

grade 1 land, has been reduced considerably compared to the Draft 
GMSF stage (where it was referred to as Western Cadishead and 
Irlam). 
 

Air quality 

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and individuals expressed 
concerns regarding Salford’s air quality, and it being particularly poor 
compared to other areas of Greater Manchester and the UK. The 
comments highlighted the associated health implications, the 
importance of retaining green spaces and need for clear action to 
address these issues, particularly a reduction in car travel.  
 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but due to the integrated nature of the 
highway network and the amount of traffic that travels through 
Salford to and from other destinations means that joint working 
across a wide area is required to tackle the issue. The Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority has led the production of an Air 
Quality Action Plan for Greater Manchester (2016-2021) in 
partnership with the Greater Manchester local authorities, Highways 
England and Transport for Greater Manchester, which includes a 
series of actions and measures to bring about an improvement in air 
quality.  
 
The planning process does however have an important role to play 
in supporting an improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in 
promoting better health and an improved quality of life. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the 
various ways in which the Local Plan can assist in securing an 
improvement in the city’s air quality, for example reducing road 
emissions by minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of 
low and zero carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network, and requiring development to minimise and 
mitigate pollution as far as possible.  
 
The emphasis in the Local Plan development strategy is to focus the 
vast majority of new housing development on previously developed 
land in accessible locations and ensure that housing is delivered at a 
higher density in the locations which are well served by public 
transport facilities.   
 

Coal mining  

P
age 1441



  
 

3 
 

The Coal Authority highlighted the potential need for prior extraction 
on development sites and also the importance of recognising 
problems associated with previously mined sites and associated 
land stability issues.  

The relevant site allocation policies note where sites are located 
within a minerals safeguarding area (and potentially prior extraction 
may be required if practicable), and any potential land instability 
issues associated with previous mining use which need to be 
addressed when the site comes forward for development. A new 
policy on land instability has been added to the Pollution and 
Hazards chapter. 

Consultation   

Concerns were expressed with regards to awareness of the general 
public, the engagement of harder to reach groups and the timing of 
some of the correspondence regarding the consultation on the Draft 
Local Plan (Individuals)  
 

The city council sought to maximise people’s awareness of the 
consultation through various means including letters, the local press 
and social media and carried out the consultation in accordance with 
its adopted Statement of Community Involvement. As with any 
consultation exercise, lessons can always be learnt and the city 
council will seek to ensure it engages as widely as possible on the 
Revised Draft Local Plan, having regard to its available resources.  
 

Duty to cooperate  

The plan should provide evidence to demonstrate how the city 
council has discharged its duty to cooperate (Home Builders 
Federation).  
 

A draft statement of common ground, which relates to the duty to 
cooperate, is to be published alongside the Revised Draft Local 
Plan.  

Ecology  

The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) consider that the 
plan is ecologically sound, but raised concerns regarding some of 
the site allocations and the lack of reference to mitigation towards 
achieving good ecological potential for the River Irwell.   

Support is welcomed. Responses have been provided to GMEU’s 
comments against the relevant site allocation policies and some 
changes have been made to the policies in response to their 
comments. A new policy (WA2 Delivering the North West River 
Basin Management Plan) has been added to the water chapter 
which directs development to take opportunities to support the 
improvement of water bodies to good status.  
 

Equality 

The plan does not show how it is considering the needs of groups 
that share characteristics under the Equality Act 2010, including 
people that identify as LGBT and there are some ways commitment 

Delivering a fairer Salford is central to everything that the Local Plan 
is seeking to accomplish and the Revised Draft Local Plan has been 
significantly expanded to reflect this. A new fairness chapter has 
been introduced into the Revised Draft Local Plan and policy F3 

P
age 1442



  
 

4 
 

to meeting the needs of these groups can be demonstrated (LGBT 
Foundation).  

(Inclusive Places) in particular should address the issues raised. It 
explains that all places and developments shall be as inclusive as 
possible, capable of adapting to a broad range of changing needs 
and delivering a high quality of life, where no one is potentially 
excluded because of disability, age, gender, sexuality, ethnicity or 
social class. This policy identifies ways in which development will be 
expected to ensure this, including through developing a distinctive 
local character and providing an attractive, safe and inviting 
environment.   

Evidence base 

Highways England commented that a collective transport impact of 
the site allocations needs to be understood and complemented by 
further analysis of the individual larger sites. Peel Media 
Management Limited suggested that a transport plan is required that 
identifies solutions and delivery timescales and others suggested 
more investment/commitment was needed in the city’s infrastructure 
given the current capacity issues.  

The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

The plan should be supported by an infrastructure delivery plan and 
economic viability appraisal. This should be developed in partnership 
with infrastructure providers and delivery partners and provide a 
deliverable investment plan to support the city’s growth ambitions 
(Peel).  

An infrastructure plan will be produced in support of the Local Plan 
at the publication stage. As discussed in response to the comments 
above, work is ongoing at the Greater Manchester level with regards 
to transport infrastructure solutions.  
 
 

Infrastructure   

Additional development will put pressure on the city’s infrastructure 
(Salford Community Leisure and individuals) and the plan does not 

It is noted that many of the comments, particularly regarding the site 
allocations have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of 
the city’s existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands 

P
age 1443



  
 

5 
 

provide a commitment to addressing infrastructure needs 
(individuals).   
 

generated by further development. The scale of additional housing 
proposed in the Revised Draft Local Plan will increase the pressure 
on existing facilities, and ensuring that new housing developments 
support improvements to the quality and where needed, capacity of 
these facilities will be important. Some amendments have been 
made to policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan to address these 
issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

P
age 1444



  
 

6 
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 

P
age 1445



  
 

7 
 

In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Green Belt release  

Concerns were expressed with regards to the proposed release of 
land in the Green Belt by a large number of people, and it was 
suggested that the special circumstances for building on Green Belt 
have not been justified and that Green Belt should be protected 
(individuals and CPRE Lancashire).   
 
 

All changes to Green Belt boundaries in Salford are now being 
considered solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF) and not the Salford Local Plan. 
 
The Revised Draft GMSF allocates four sites for development in 
Salford that are currently in the Green Belt: 
 

 GM Allocation 30 (Land at Hazelhurst Farm) – the size of the 
site has been reduced (from 24 hectares to 16 hectares) to 
remove the site of biological importance and land along the 
M61 slip road on the northern edge, with the estimated yield 
reducing from 450 to 400 dwellings. 

 GM Allocation 31 (East of Boothstown) – this is largely 
unchanged from the Draft GMSF, proposing the development 
of 300 dwellings 

 GM Allocation 32 (North of Irlam Station) – the size of the site 
has reduced considerably compared to the ‘Western 
Cadishead and Irlam’ proposal in the Draft GMSF, from 289 
hectares to 65 hectares, with the estimated number of 
dwellings reducing from 2,250 to 1,600. The site is now 
focused on land close to the station. 

 GM Allocation 33 (Port Salford Extension) – this is largely 
unchanged from the Draft GMSF, proposing 320,000m2 of 
new employment floorspace. 

P
age 1446



  
 

8 
 

 
The proposal in the Draft GMSF to release land to the west of 
Boothstown for housing has not been taken forward in the Revised 
Draft GMSF. 
 
The Revised Draft GMSF proposes the addition of six areas of land 
to the Green Belt, the first three of which were also proposed in the 
Draft GMSF: West Salford Greenway; part of Logistics North Country 
Park; Wharton Lane Playing Fields; land west of Burgess Farm, 
including Ellenbrook Brickworks; Blackleach Country Park; and a 
small area east of HMP Forest Bank. 
 
Overall, these changes would result in a net increase of just under 
30 hectares in the area of land in Salford that is designated as 
Green Belt. 
 

Strategic policies  

The plan does not state which policies are strategic for the purposes 
of the NPPF and it should be clear that policies for the historic 
environment are strategic otherwise they will risk being overridden 
by neighbourhood plan policies (Historic England)  
 

The policies identified as being strategic are now listed in a new 
Annex E of the Local Plan.  

Canals  

Policies which protect and enhance the heritage, environmental and 
recreational values of canals, rivers and docks are encouraged and 
the potential restoration of the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal 
should be referred to in the Local Plan (Canal and River Trust)  
 

Support is welcomed. Policies GI1 (Green infrastructure spatial 
strategy), GI2 (Green infrastructure requirements for development, 
WA2 (Delivering the North West River Basin Management Plan), R1 
(Recreation spatial strategy) and the heritage chapter collectively 
seek to enhance the environment in and around the city’s 
waterways. The Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal is identified 
specifically as a strategically important recreation project in policy 
R1, with the emphasis being on protecting its line, securing its 
restoration where practicable and elsewhere along the line 
incorporating walking and cycling routes, public realm improvements 
and heritage interpretation features.  

 

P
age 1447



  
 

9 
 

 

  

 

P
age 1448



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: INTRODUCTION  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Concerns were expressed with regards to awareness of the general 
public, the engagement of harder to reach groups and the timing of 
some of the correspondence regarding the consultation on the Draft 
Local Plan (Individuals)  
   
 

The city council sought to maximise people’s awareness of the 
consultation through various means including letters, the local press 
and social media and carried out the consultation in accordance with 
its adopted Statement of Community Involvement. As with any 
consultation exercise, lessons can always be learnt and the city 
council will seek to ensure it engages as widely as possible on the 
Revised Draft Local Plan, having regard to its available resources. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to the introduction  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1449



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: SPATIAL PORTRAIT   

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Various elements of the spatial portrait are supported in the 
comments received, including references to key features such as the 
River Irwell and Chat Moss, the city’s transport network and links to 
the airport and challenges such as flood risk and accommodating the 
city’s population growth (individuals, GMEU, Highways England, 
developers).  
 

Support is welcomed.  

The spatial portrait should also refer to: 

 City Gateway (developer) 

 MediaCityUK (developer) 

 Blue infrastructure (Environment Agency)  

 The protection of Green Belt (CPRE)  

 Conservation of Chat Moss (CPRE) 
 

 

The purpose of the spatial portrait is to explain what Salford is like, 
and the key challenges facing the area, and therefore not all of the 
suggested additions are appropriate. The following amendments 
have been made in response to the comments.  
 

 Reference to the delivery of various key projects and proposals 
(e.g. Port Salford, Stadium, MediaCityUK) is made in the spatial 
portrait, however referring to the City Gateway concept is not 
considered to add value or assist in understanding of the city’s 
characteristics.  

 Reference to MediaCityUK is already included within the spatial 
portrait and the level of detail is considered appropriate.   

 Reference to blue infrastructure has been added. 

 The spatial portrait explains how much of the city’s land is in the 
Green Belt and the function of Chat Moss, however the strategy 
for the protection and enhancement of the Green Belt/Chat Moss 
is more appropriately located within the spatial vision and 
relevant policies.  

 

Reference to the degrading of Chat Moss is misleading as it is grade 
1 agricultural land (individuals and community group) 
 

The spatial portrait has been expanded and explains that Salford 
contains 1,800 hectares of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land (grades 1 and 2), all of which is located in Chat Moss. 

P
age 1450



 

Reference to the environmental quality of Chat Moss being 
degraded remains within the spatial portrait, but it has been 
expanded stating that parts of the area are under restoration to 
lowland raised bog.   
 

The challenges should include the delivery and funding of transport 
infrastructure (developer) and adaptation to climate change 
(Environment Agency) 
  

Reference to these challenges have been added. 

  

Other significant changes made to the introduction  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference is made to the other strategically important areas of green 
infrastructure (Irwell Valley and West Salford Greenway).  

These areas are both of strategic significance in terms of the existing 
contribution they make to the character of different parts of Salford.  

 

P
age 1451



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES    

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General and common issues 

Support was expressed both generally for the objectives (developer, 
CPRE), and also for some specific objectives (1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10) 
(developers, Manchester Airport, Coal Industry Social Welfare, 
CPRE).  
 

Support is welcomed.  

It was questioned whether some of the indicators within the 
objectives could be delivered if greenfield sites are developed (4b, 
6a, 7a and b, 9a and c, 10a and b) for a range of reasons including 
additional traffic, loss of Green Belt, loss of peat bogs, increased 
flood risk and lack of commitment to deliver community infrastructure 
(developer, community group and individuals) 

These comments relate to the impact that some of the site 
allocations would have on the achievement of some of the 
objectives. These issues are discussed in the schedules for the 
individual site allocations. The proposals in the Local Plan are 
considered to be consistent with the targets in the strategic 
objectives. 

Objective 1: To support high levels of economic growth in Salford and Greater Manchester 

Is an increase in the amount of office space required? (individual) 
 

City Centre Salford and Salford Quays have established office 
markets and are of strategic importance to the economic growth of 
the Greater Manchester sub-region in this regard. It is therefore 
considered appropriate to encourage the ongoing expansion of their 
economic role through the provision of high quality office space.  

Objective 3: To enable all residents to share in the benefits of economic growth 

Question how jobs will increase income as they are not skilled jobs 
(community group and individuals) 
 

The Revised Draft Local Plan encourages the protection and 
improvement of the city’s employment areas and identifies the 
potential for new employment development, including significant 
levels of office floorspace in City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. 
The priorities identified within the accessibility chapter also have the 
potential to improve access to a wider range of job opportunities in 
surrounding areas. Many of the jobs in these locations are skilled 
jobs. 
 

P
age 1452



 

The Revised Draft Local Plan gives an increased emphasis to 
economic inclusion including a specific policy on the issue in the 
Employment Chapter.  
 
It is hoped that an increasing availability of local job opportunities 
and the requirements of the Economic Inclusion chapter will help to 
provide opportunities for local people to raise their income levels. 

Growth at Salford Quays could be more ambitious, potentially 
through setting minimum targets for housing and employment 
(developer) 
 

Policy EC3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan (previously EC2) 
describes that “around 400,000m2 of new office floorspace will be 
provided in Salford over the period 2018-2037” and that “a higher 
overall level of office development will be supported, provided that it 
is consistent with this strong focus on the City Centre and Salford 
Quays”.  
 
A statement regarding the levels of development expected can be a 
valuable reference point, for infrastructure providers in particular. 
Policy EC3 and the inclusion of indicative figures prefaced with 
‘around’ provide this reference point whilst recognising the 
uncertainties around long term estimates and the potential of the 
area to exceed them. The policy does not impose a cap on 
development and therefore higher levels could potentially be 
achieved and this is specifically explained in the policy.  
 
The use of minimum targets would not reflect the fact that the figures 
identified are long term estimates of development, nor would they 
provide an indication of the levels of growth expected. An alternative 
approach using minimum figures is not considered to add to the 
policy approach and therefore no change has been made in this 
regard. 

Additional indicator suggested ‘to increase the number, range and 
accessibility of jobs available within Salford (developer)  
 

The Revised Draft Local Plan, primarily through the employment and 
accessibility chapters, seeks to secure an increase in the number, 
range and accessibility of jobs available in Salford, and beyond its 
boundaries. The indicators under Objective 3 are however focused 
on the outcomes for local people, which the issues identified would 

P
age 1453



 

contribute to. The suggested indicator has not therefore been added 
to the plan. 

Change indicator a) to proportion of children in poverty (individual)  
 

An indicator relating to the proportion of children living in low income 
households has been added to the plan. The measure provides a 
broad proxy for relative low income child poverty. 

Objective 4: To support improvements in the average health of residents and reduce health inequalities 

Objections were raised to indicator a) (developer)  
 

No changes are proposed as a result of these comments. Typical life 
expectancy for Salford residents is less than the UK average and 
there are significant inequalities across the city. The local plan has 
an important role to play in supporting health improvements, as is 
reflected in the strategic objectives. 

Objective 5: To enable more households to access suitable and affordable housing 

It was highlighted that developing one of the housing allocations 
(H3/3) would assist in delivery (developer) 

Comments noted 

This objective should be strengthened to boost the supply of market 
and affordable housing (developers)  

The increase in the number of affordable dwellings that will be 
delivered over the plan period is very difficult to quantify given that it 
will be influenced by a number of factors including the state of the 
housing market, the level of public funding available, and the viability 
of individual schemes. The objective of a ‘significant increase’ in 
affordable housing is therefore considered to be appropriate in this 
context. 

Indicator a) ‘around’ should be replaced with ‘at least’ (developer)  
 

The indicator has been updated to change the reference to ‘around’ 
to ‘at least’.   

Indicator b) clarify what is meant by affordable (individuals) 
 

A definition of affordable housing is set out in Annex 2 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and this is cross referenced in 
the affordable housing policy in the housing chapter. The definition is 
very detailed and it is not therefore considered appropriate to include 
it within the strategic objectives chapter. 

Objective 6: To support regeneration and the efficient use of land 

It was highlighted that developing one of the housing allocations 
(H3/3) would assist in delivery (developer) 

Comments noted.  

Objections were raised to indicator a) (developer)  
 

No changes are proposed as a result of these comments. The vast 
majority of the city council’s housing supply is on previously 
developed land with some limited greenfield and, through the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, Green Belt sites being 

P
age 1454



 

released to help deliver an appropriate mix. It should be possible to 
deliver 80% of new dwellings on previously developed land and 
therefore this target remains appropriate. 

Objective 7: To enable the provision of facilities and services to support new developments and existing communities 

Indicator b) expand to refer to all primary and community health care 
and social care services (CCG)  

The target has been expanded to refer to primary health care 
facilities more generally, which would include pharmacies and 
opticians as well as GPs and dentists. Further work is required to 
determine whether community and social care services would be 
monitorable for the purposes of this target. 

Objective 8: To enhance the network of green infrastructure across Salford and protect important green space 

Indicator b) additional wording to recognise cross boundary issues 
between the Manchester Mosses SAC and the role of the Greater 
Manchester Nature Improvement Area (Natural England)  

This is considered to be too detailed for a high level objective/target. 

Indicator b) concerns regarding increased public access without 
proper management (GMEU)  

Reference to a significant increase in the area of Chat Moss that is 
public accessible has been deleted. Whilst policy GI3 encourages 
increased public access within Chat Moss, it explains that will be 
compatible with nature conservation objectives. 

Additional indicators were suggested:  

 Ensure no deterioration in Water Framework Bodies 
associated with new development and incorporate 
environmental improvements to failing water bodies 
(Environment Agency)  

 Ensure the quality and extent of green infrastructure is 
maintained and where feasible enhance functioning to 
maximise multiple environmental benefits (Environment 
Agency)  

 Maintain extent and ecological quality of all existing local 
wildlife sites (Environment Agency)  

 Ensure no net loss of biodiversity (Environment Agency)  

 Increase the ecological potential of the River Irwell and its 
tributaries through improvements to water quality, biodiversity 
and flow pattern (GMEU)  

A new target has been added relating to water body quality: 
“Increase in percentage of surface water bodies of at least good 
ecological status or potential, with 100% at this level by 2037”. This 
also addresses the last of the suggested indicators relating to the 
River Irwell. 
 
The suggested target about the quality and extent of green 
infrastructure is insufficiently precise to be measurable. The other 
targets relating to green infrastructure would ensure that key green 
infrastructure functions are measured, such as biodiversity. 
 
A new target has been added relating to the quality of wildlife sites: 
“Increase in the area of land in positive nature conservation 
management” 
 
A new strategic objective has been added: “To support a net gain in 
Salford’s biodiversity” 
 

P
age 1455



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_ 

 

Objective 10: To significantly enhance accessibility and reduce congestion 

Consider that the reuse of previously developed land will assist in 
the achievement of this objective (CPRE)  

Comments noted. Locating a significant amount of new development 
within the existing urban area and maximising development densities 
in sustainable locations is identified as a key element of the 
accessibility spatial strategy (policy A1) and should reduce the 
overall need to travel.  

Make reference to improving accessibility to/from Manchester Airport 
(Manchester Airport)  

The accessibility chapter prioritises access improvements to a 
number of key employment and leisure destinations including 
Manchester Airport (as identified in policy A1). It is not considered 
appropriate to detail these locations within the objectives.    

Objective 11: To deliver high quality development that makes a positive contribution to the character and identity of Salford and 
its neighbourhoods 

Should reference preserving and enhancing the built/historic 
environment (Historic England)   

Amendments have been made to this objective to reference 
heritage.  

  

Other significant changes made to the strategic objectives   

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Target 3a has been revised to “Reduction in the difference in median 
household incomes in the city and the national average” 

To provide clarity around the relevant dataset. 

P
age 1456



 

A new Target 3c has been added: Increase in the % working age 
population qualified to NVQ level 3+ and above 

To provide an indicator relating to educational attainment as a key 
factor in the accessibility of employment opportunities. 

Objective 7a has been amended to refer to maintaining an 
appropriate number of surplus pupil places in each pupil planning 
area, as opposed to an increase in school places as set out in the 
Draft Local Plan. 

In order to ensure that the need and supply of pupil places is 
reflected in the objective (rather than simply being supply related). 

 

P
age 1457



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: SPATIAL VISION  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The principles of the vision were supported by a number of the 
respondents (Developer, Manchester Airport group, Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group) 

Support is welcomed.  

Some of the detail in the vision is focussed on delivery (i.e. % of 
housing in different parts of the city) which is not appropriate to 
include (developer) 

Specific figures have been removed from the vision. However, it is 
considered important to highlight in broad terms how much housing 
will be accommodated in Salford Quays/City Centre, as its ongoing 
development and transformation is central to the vision.   

That the delivery strategy is inconsistent with the vision and doesn’t 
reflect the northern powerhouse ambition (developer)  
 

The rest of the Local Plan is considered to be consistent with the 
vision, and will ensure that Salford makes an appropriate 
contribution to delivering the Northern Powerhouse 

Links with the GMSF vision should be made clearer (Natural 
England)  

The Local Plan vision highlights the key proposals in the Revised 
Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework which it is considered 
have a key influence the overall vision i.e. the proposed alterations 
to the Green Belt and site allocations for housing and employment 
development. The Introduction to the Local Plan explains the 
relationship with the GMSF. 

Greater reference should be made to social value (CCG). Support 
was expressed for the reference to the City Mayor’s employment 
charter and some suggested that it should be a requirement to sign 
up to it (individuals) 

Support is welcomed. 
 
Additional text has been added to the vision to emphasise that there 
will be a strong focus on securing social value from development, 
helping to reduce inequalities from development. The vision 
continues to refer to the expectation that all developers will sign up 
to the City Mayor’s employment charter and this is further 
encouraged in a new economic inclusion policy within the Local Plan 
(EC2).  

Developers should be required to confirm their commitment to the 
provision of infrastructure (e.g. schools, health facilities etc.) prior to 
planning permission being granted (individuals).  

In response to the comments received, a number of policies have 
been expanded in the Local Plan to provide clarity with regards to 
this matter, including A1 and HH3. Policy ED3 continues to require 
that residential developments enable an increase in school places 

P
age 1458



 

proportionate to the number of pupils they are likely to house where 
there is a projected shortfall.  

Some concerns were expressed with regards to the potential to 
interpret that the requirement for Green Belt developments to 
support the restoration of Chat Moss and improve public access to it 
applies to the RHS site - there is uncertainty that the links could be 
delivered (RHS).  

This reference has been removed from the vision, however the 
objective to provide high quality connections between Chat Moss 
and RHS Garden Bridgewater remain in policy GI3 as an aspiration, 
and as part of the wider strategy to improve public access across 
Chat Moss in a manner compatible with nature conservation 
objectives.   

The requirement for developments to deliver net biodiversity gains 
should be referenced in the vision (Environment Agency, individuals) 

The vison and policy BG3 have been amended to reflect this.  

There is no evidence base to allow the plan to be fully assessed 
(Highways England)  

Various pieces of work are ongoing to determine the strategic 
infrastructure required to support the scale of growth proposed in 
Salford and across the wider conurbation. The potential impacts on 
the highway network of planned development across the Greater 
Manchester conurbation are currently being assessed by Transport 
for Greater Manchester (TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and 
the identification of potential solutions to address existing and/or 
future problems, will be an important part of the evidence base 
underpinning Greater Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s 
Local Plan. The Ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities and 
Highways England are engaged in this process.  

Existing congestion issues will be exacerbated as a result of the 
developments proposed (Individuals)  
 

Additions to the key diagram:  

 All waterways (Environment Agency) 

 GM Wetlands NIA (Natural England) 

 The former line of the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal 
(MBBC) (Canal and River Trust). 

The purpose of the key diagram is to indicate the broad locations for 
strategic development.  

 The River Irwell, Manchester Ship Canal and Bridgewater 
Canal are shown on the key diagram, but it is considered that 
showing all waterways would add too much detail to a 
strategic diagram.  

 Although it is not proposed to show the NIA on the key 
diagram, it will feature on both the biodiversity diagram and 
the green infrastructure priority functions diagrams, which is 
considered appropriate and useful in the application of policy. 

 The MBBC will be shown on the policies map and the 
strategic recreation opportunities diagram to assist in the 
interpretation of policy R1.   

P
age 1459



 

Additions to the spatial vision:  

 An extended Logistics North (Developer)  

 Improving access to key destinations (Manchester Airport)  

 RHS Garden Bridgewater (RHS)  

 The expansion of Logistics North in Salford would require 
incursions into the country park committed as part of the 
original planning permission for the site. Given this, and in 
the context of the employment land supply identified at the 
Greater Manchester level, it is not considered appropriate to 
expand the Logistics North site.  

 The vision has been amended to recognise the importance of 
enhancing Salford residents’ accessibility to key employment 
and leisure destinations both within and outside of the city. 

 The potential for the RHS to help to attract more visitors to 
the area and contribute towards the city’s economic success 
is reflected in the vision. 

  

Other significant changes made to the strategic objectives   

Change  
 

Reason for change  

There have been various other additions to the spatial vision 
including reference to: 
 

 The significant concentration of economic activity in south 
east Salford, central Manchester and north Trafford.  

 The role of Ordsall Waterfront 

 The opportunities in Eccles town centre 

 The existing employment areas adjacent to the city centre 
and Salford Quays 

 The need to address deprivation and deliver attractive 
neighbourhoods across the city 

 The development of the city’s green infrastructure network 

 The importance of the transport system in supporting the 
city’s growth aspirations.   
 

To better reflect the key strategic priorities and opportunities in 
Salford, as detailed in the various Local Plan policies.  

 

P
age 1460



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Chapter 5 Area Policies (General) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

No specific policy for Irlam and Cadishead which has resulted in 
strategic objectives for the area being ignored (individuals) 

The area policies are focused on those parts of the city where the 
existing built environment is expected to see major change over the 
plan period and/or is likely to be subject to considerable 
development pressures that could substantially change its function. 
These areas are all within or around the City Centre and Salford 
Quays. 
 
The Local Plan is not proposing any major changes within the 
existing urban area of Irlam and Cadishead. The most significant 
changes affecting the area will result from two proposals in the 
Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, which would 
take land out of the Green Belt around Irlam and Cadishead – the 
extension of Port Salford to the north and west of Barton Aerodrome 
(GM Allocation 33) and the development of 1,600 new dwellings 
north of Irlam Station (GM Allocation 32). The two GMSF allocation 
policies comprehensively address the issues associated with the 
development of those sites, and hence it is not considered that an 
additional area policy for this part of Salford is required in the Local 
Plan. 
 

Broadly supporting of the area policies as they promote urban 
concentration and regeneration of existing areas (CPRE) 

Support welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to Chapter 5 Area Policies 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy C1 has been removed from the plan and replaced with a new 
policy covering three employment areas close to the City Centre and 

To provide guidance covering three centrally located employment 
areas within which development pressures are being felt. Given their 

P
age 1461



 

Salford Quays, namely Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool 
Street (reference AP5). The policy describes that masterplans will be 
produced for these areas, and any development brought forward will 
need to be in accordance with them. 
 

location it is important that best possible use is made of these 
employment areas and to this end masterplans will be brought 
forward to guide any future development. 

Various – see detail under each policy See detail under each policy 

 

P
age 1462



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CC1 City Centre 

(Policy reference has been changed to AP1 City Centre in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

City Centre Boundary 

Support identification of City Centre as a key area for growth through 
policy CC1. Local plan would however be more effective if it 
promoted the significant national and regional role the City Centre 
plays in driving forward economic growth and tourism / leisure 
opportunities.  
 
The City Centre is a regional asset and its boundary should be 
extended and renamed “Regional Centre” reflecting its existing and 
potential economic function rather than a conventional city/town 
centre function. The extension to the boundary incorporates the 
areas identified on Figure 2 of the Draft Plan plus Salford 
Quays/MediaCityUK and Ordsall Waterfront (developer) 

Salford Quays and MediaCityUK has its own distinctive character 
and identity. This is one of the area’s strengths. The Local Plan is 
clear about the importance of both the City Centre and Salford 
Quays in driving forward economic growth and tourism/ leisure 
opportunities and, whilst improved connections between the two 
locations is important, it is considered that the distinctive identity of 
Salford Quays should be emphasised rather than subsuming it within 
a larger City Centre.  
 
The City Centre boundary has not therefore been extended to 
include Salford Quays/ MediaCityUK and Ordsall Waterfront. The 
Spatial Vision emphasises the importance of the City Centre, Salford 
Quays and MediaCityUK as part of a central economic area 
extending into Manchester and Trafford. 

City centre boundary should be extended to include land at Cow 
Lane which aligns with the principles of CC1 (developer) 

A new Policy AP5 ‘Employment areas close to the City Centre and 
Salford Quays’ has been added to the plan. The policy covers the 
Liverpool Street employment area, which the site identified falls 
within, along with Eccles New Road and Cambridge employment 
areas. The policy identifies the development pressures being 
experienced, describes that their central location makes it important 
that the best possible use of these areas, and states that 
masterplans will be produced. However, they will continue to be 
protected as employment areas unless the masterplans indicate 
otherwise. 
 
 

P
age 1463



 

Manchester Bury and Bolton Canal 

Welcome reference to the positive relationship between 
development and restored canal in relation to Middlewood, New 
Bailey and Wilburn Basin (Canal and River Trust, Manchester Bolton 
and Bury Canal Society).  

Noted 

Crescent and University section should require development to 
protect and positively address the line of the canal (Canal and River 
Trust) 

Policy R1/8 is clear about the need to protect and wherever 
practicable secure the canal’s restoration, and policy D9 sets out 
requirements for waterside development including adjacent to the 
line of the canal. 
 
To emphasise the potential role of the canal within the area the 
following text has been added to the Crescent and University section 
of the policy: 
 
“The line of the former Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal provides 
an opportunity to open up new green infrastructure through the south 
of the area.” 

Uses and Scale 

Balanced mix of dwellings on the periphery of the City Centre is 
important. Policy should acknowledge role of family housing in 
providing choice and retaining graduates, highly skilled workers, and 
young families. Larger apartments do not meet the requirements of 
the family housing market. (developer) 

Point 3 of the policy has been amended to describe that residential 
development within the area will be “primarily in the form of 
apartments but they may also include houses built at high densities”. 
 
The following text has also been added to paragraph 9.4 to identify 
the potential for higher density housing schemes in selected 
locations: 
 
“The majority of new residential development within City Centre 
Salford will be in the form of apartments, exploiting the area’s 
locational advantages. Selected opportunities to deliver houses at a 
high density will add to the mix of accommodation available.” 
 
There are many development opportunities just outside the City 
Centre, or with easy access to it, which provide greater potential for 
the provision of houses. 

P
age 1464



 

Support the aim of providing jobs and high-quality residential 
development. High density residential development on brownfield 
sites in the urban core will enable the protection of greenspaces in 
Salford and across GM (Salford City Council Conservative Group).  

Support welcomed. 

Transport 

Support commitment to improving transport by sustainable modes 
including rail stations (Salford City Council Conservative Group) 
(Highways England). 

Support welcomed. 

Policy does not discuss any potential impacts of growth on the local 
network or SRN. Consideration should be given to improvements to 
sustainable modes when phasing allocations (Highways England). 

The Transport and Movement section of the policy identifies actions 
to encourage the use of sustainable modes. This is complemented 
by policies in the Accessibility chapter. The emphasis for the City 
Centre is very strongly on improving access by walking, cycling and 
public transport. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 

Environmental Quality 

Recommend additional wording “All development must be designed 
to minimise the risk of flooding and the potential impact on flooding 
elsewhere, taking opportunities to incorporate sustainable drainage 
systems wherever practicable” (Environment Agency).  

The issues raised are addressed by policies WA5 and WA6 of the 
Local Plan. 
 

Support the policy to develop neighbourhoods that achieve high 
environmental quality however additional wording should be added 
to strengthen the policy to provide a commitment that new 
developments achieve high standards of blue and green 
infrastructure (Natural England). 

The following wording has been added to the environmental quality 
section of the policy to address these issues. Explanatory text has 
also been added at paragraph 9.5. 
 

P
age 1465



 

Development along the River Irwell corridor should integrate with 
adjoing green infrastructure to maintain a high quality and 
multifunctional asset (Environment Agency).  

“Delivering a significant increase in the quantity and quality of City 
Centre Salford’s green infrastructure will be a high priority, including 
through: 
a) Ensuring that new development takes an innovative 

approach to the incorporation of green infrastructure within a 
high-density context 

b) Providing a riverside walkway and connected open spaces, 
including a new Greengate Park (see policy AP2), that are 
integrated into the wider Irwell River Park and designed to 
enhance the ecological role of the river 

c) Providing open space incorporating walking and cycling 
routes, public realm improvements and heritage interpretation 
features along the line of the former Manchester, Bolton and 
Bury Canal, and securing its restoration wherever 
practicable” 

 
Policy D9 (Waterside development) also addresses the issues raised 
describing that development near to Salford’s waterways shall make 
a positive contribution to their character, environmental quality, 
public amenity value, and role as key walking and cycling routes. 
 
Amongst other things the policy states that development shall 
“Enhance the role of the waterway corridor within the green 
infrastructure network, by supporting improvements to biodiversity, 
water quality and flood risk management.” 
 

Riverside development offers the opportunity to enhance the 
ecological potential of the river (Environment Agency)(GMEU) 

 

Other significant changes made to policy CC1 

Change  Reason for change  

The boundary of the City Centre has been expanded to the north-
west.  

To incorporate the existing Salford Innovation Park and land 
proposed for its enhancement and expansion in the Crescent 
Masterplan published in March 2018. 

The boundaries of sub-areas ‘University of Salford, David Lewis and 
Peel Park have been revised. 

To reflect the expansion of the City Centre and the current split of 
uses within the area. 

P
age 1466



 

Point ‘G’ of the policy has been revised including additional guidance 
in respect of the Innovation Park. Links to Policies ED4 (University of 
Salford) and EC5/2 (Salford Innovation Park) have been added. 

To reflect the Crescent Masterplan published in March 2018 and 
provide links to key policies within the plan which also cover this part 
of the City Centre. 

The figures in the policy have been updated to refer to around 
150,000sqm of new office space (an increase on the 140,000sqm 
identified in the Draft Plan) and 10,420 dwellings (a decrease from 
the 11,500 dwellings identified in the Draft Plan) coming forward 
within the area.  

To reflect the most up to date information. 

The policy now identifies the potential for a new Metrolink connection 
to Salford Quays and Victoria Station in Manchester and tram-train 
to Wigan. 

To reflect the latest aspirations for the area 

The following text has been added to the environmental quality 
section of the policy: 
 
“Measures will be taken to ensure that the railway infrastructure, 
particularly the prominent viaducts, becomes a much more positive 
feature within City Centre Salford. This will include seeking 
opportunities to deliver additional and improved pedestrian routes 
through the viaducts, securing active uses in the railway arches that 
add to the vibrancy of the area, greening the infrastructure, and 
enabling appreciation of the heritage interest. Development should 
respond positively to the viaducts and support these opportunities.” 

The additional text promotes measures to reduce that impact of and 
positively utilise railway arches which are a prominent feature in the 
area. 

 

P
age 1467



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CC2 Greengate Park 

(Policy reference has been changed to AP2 Greengate Park in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 
 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the creation of Greengate Park which will be a valuable 
addition to the growing and increasingly residential City Centre area 
(Salford City Council Conservative Group). 

Support welcomed 

Policy is welcomed although it should cross refer to policy BG1 
(Biodiversity spatial strategy) of the Draft Local Plan (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust). 

The Draft Local Plan policy referred to the Park bringing nature into 
the city, this has been retained within the policy. Policies BG1 and 
BG3 will ensure that issues of biodiversity are considered as part of 
new development, and it is not considered necessary to include a 
specific cross-reference within this policy. However, a reference has 
been added to point 4 of the policy to refer to incorporating 
biodiverse planting areas. 

Policy is welcomed; however the Park should be extended to 
connect into Irwell River Park (Greater Manchester Ecology Unit).  

Since the publication of the Draft Local Plan a new Draft 
Regeneration Strategy1 has been published for the Greengate area 
as part of which further consideration has been given to the 
feasibility of an open space at Greengate. The guidance identifies a 
reconfigured space alongside the railway arches and stretching 
across Gravel Lane. The allocation will be amended as a result. 
 
The Irwell City Park concept comprises a riverside walkway and 
nearby open spaces and areas of public realm. The adopted 
guidance2 identifies an open space at the heart of Greengate with 
connections to the riverside walkway via public routes rather than a 
direct physical connection. The Consultation Draft Greengate 
Framework similarly identifies a park at the heart of Greengate, 

                                                           
1 Salford City Council (November 2017) Greengate – Salford Regeneration Strategy Consultation Draft 
2 Manchester City Council, Salford City Council, Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council (March 2008) Planning Guidance: Irwell City Park 

P
age 1468



 

which will complement other areas of public realm within the area 
including a riverside walkway accessible via New Bridge Street.  

 

Other significant changes made to policy CC2 

Change  Reason for change  

Various changes to the policy, reasoned justification and allocation 
boundary 

To reflect the new Consultation Draft Greengate Framework3, and 
updated evidence on the deliverability of the park. 

 

                                                           
3 Salford City Council (November 2017) Greengate – Salford Regeneration Strategy Consultation Draft 

P
age 1469



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Policy SQ1 Salford Quays 

(Policy Reference changed to AP3 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Boundaries / Area definition 

Policy would be assisted by a plan setting out the boundary of the 
Salford Quays area to which the policy relates (developer). 

Supporting diagram now included. 

The location and accessibility of the Quays means that it should rank 
alongside the commercial core of the City Centre as focus for mixed 
use growth and form part of a wider “Regional Centre” as opposed to 
a “City Centre” (developers) 

Salford Quays and MediaCityUK has its own distinctive character 
and identity. This is one of the area’s strengths. The Local Plan is 
clear about the importance of both the City Centre and Salford 
Quays in driving forward economic growth and tourism/ leisure 
opportunities and, whilst improved connections between the two 
locations is important, it is considered that the distinctive identity of 
Salford Quays should be emphasised rather than subsuming it within 
a larger City Centre.  
 
The City Centre boundary has not therefore been extended to 
include Salford Quays/MediaCityUK and Ordsall Waterfront. 
However, the Spatial Strategy has been amended to emphasise the 
importance of Salford Quays and MediaCityUK as part of a central 
economic area. 

An explanation of the relationship between Salford Quays and 
MediaCityUK is necessary as both terms are used throughout the 
Plan (developer) 

Paragraph 5.10  describes that MediaCityUK is a cluster of specific 
uses at Salford Quays: 
 
“The development of MediaCityUK over the last decade has helped 
to establish a major cluster of digital and media uses at Salford 
Quays, with potential for considerable further expansion”. 

The relationship between the Salford Quays boundary and the town 
centre boundary needs addressing; this could be best clarified on a 
plan of Salford Quays (developer). 

Salford Quays and Salford Quays Town Centre are shown in the 
diagram related to the policy and now have the same boundary. 

P
age 1470



 

Support the allocation of Salford Quays for a wide mix of uses that 
reflects our vision (developer) 

Support welcomed 

Issues such as Salford Quays links to Trafford Wharfside have not 
yet been addressed but there is an opportunity to do so. This would 
provide a platform for discussions with neighbouring local authorities 
about strategic cross boundary issues (such as transport 
infrastructure). 

The Local Plan guides development within the city boundary. Links 
to Trafford are identified in the policy in terms of the provision of a 
bridge across the Ship Canal and the proximity of other tourist 
attractions. The Plan cannot provide guidance in respect of 
development in Trafford. 
 
The synergies and cross-boundary approach to the Quays 
(comprising Salford Quays and Trafford Wharfside) is appropriately 
outlined in the GMSF. 

Town Centre Designation and Uses 

Support the designation of part of Salford Quays as a town centre 
but would benefit from a bespoke approach responding to the 
specific needs of Salford Quays (developers) 

The town centre boundary has been expanded to encompass 
Exchange Quay reflecting the vision for Salford Quays as a vibrant 
mixed-use area. The primary shopping area remains focused on Pier 
9 and the Lowry Outlet Mall however, which has priority for certain 
town centre uses within Salford Quays under the sequential 
approach set out in Policy TC2. 
 
All other issues relating to the designation of the Salford Quays 
Town Centre are considered under Policy TC1. 
 

Strong support for a significant increase in retail, leisure and 
community uses within the town centre but concerns about these 
uses being restricted to the primary shopping area (developer) 

Concerns raised about town centre uses being restricted to the town 
centre boundary, specifically in respect of Exchange Quay 
(developer). 

Employment development 

The identification of Salford Quays as “one of the most important 
economic locations in the country” is supported. However the policy 
suggests that it will grow into this role whereas it already has this 
status (developers)  

First sentence of the policy has been amended as follows: 
 
“Salford Quays will continue to grow as one of the most important 
economic locations in the country, making a major contribution to 
prosperity across Salford and Greater Manchester.” 

Support the continued growth of the digital and media cluster 
(developer) 

Support welcomed 

The designation for around 260,000sqm of office floorspace should 
be seen as a minimum figure to ensure consistency with the city’s 
growth agenda – policy EC2 notes that office development can 
exceed 260,000sqm and this should be reflected in policy SQ1 for 
consistency (developer). 

The office floorspace figure in the policy (now 250,000m2) is 
intended to give an indication of the levels of development expected 
over the plan period. The precise level of development that will take 
place is uncertain given the extended period over which the estimate 
is being made. 

P
age 1471



 

 
A statement regarding the levels of development expected can be a 
valuable reference point for infrastructure providers in particular. 
Together, policies AP3 and EC3 and the inclusion of indicative 
figures prefaced with ‘around’ provide this reference point whilst 
recognising the uncertainties around long term estimates and the 
potential of the area to exceed them. The policy does not impose a 
cap on development and therefore higher levels could potentially be 
achieved and this is specifically identified in Policy EC3. 
 
The use of minimum targets would not reflect the fact that the figures 
identified are long term estimates of development, nor would they 
provide an indication of the levels of growth expected. An alternative 
approach using minimum figures is not considered to add to the 
policy approach and therefore no change has been made in this 
regard. 
  
Additional text has been added to point 1 of the policy, to clarify that 
the level of floorspace identified is not intended to restrict 
development at Salford Quays: 
 
“Even higher levels of employment development will be acceptable, 
given the area’s strategic economic importance, provided the 
necessary supporting infrastructure is delivered.” 

Text relating to the focus for business floorspace should be changed 
to: “MediaCityUK and Anchorage Quay will be the focus for business 
uses in Salford Quays but a wider mix of uses, including residential 
use, will be supported in these areas where they are complementary 
and will enhance the areas.” (developer). 

The office floorspace figure within the policy anticipates the 
expansion of the types of uses found to the west of the Metrolink 
Line at Pier 9, between Broadway and North Bay/Erie Basin, onto 
land to the east of the Metrolink line. 
 
Pier 9 does not correspond with the boundary for MediaCityUK 
identified in adopted guidance which is considerably larger1. The use 
of this larger area does not provide the necessary level of spatial 
direction. 

                                                           
1 Salford City Council and Trafford Council (2007) MediaCityUK and Quays Point planning guidance 

P
age 1472



 

 
It is not considered appropriate to define a smaller MediaCityUK 
boundary within the Local Plan. Whilst the core will be concentrated 
on Pier 9, related uses have spread into surrounding areas and it is 
therefore considered important that a level of flexibility is maintained 
around the MediaCityUK concept.  
 
It is not therefore considered that the use of the term ‘MediacityUK’ 
rather than ‘Pier 9’ is appropriate within the Policy. 
 
The policy is clear that a mix of uses will be permitted across Salford 
Quays. The wording identified in the comment is specifically 
regarding the primary locations in which business uses will be 
focused. It is not considered necessary to repeat the mix of uses 
deemed appropriate at this point.  
 

Residential Development 

The policy should be amended so that the 5,200 dwellings to be 
delivered are expressed as a minimum (rather than “around 5,200 
new dwellings”). This provides flexibility and allows the Quays to 
absorb demand from other locations that may under deliver in the 
plan period (Peel Media Management Limited). 
 

The net increase in residential units identified in the policy (now 
6,750) is intended to give an indication of the levels of development 
expected over the plan period. A slightly lower level of provision is 
not necessarily problematic, provided that other equally sustainable 
areas deliver higher levels of new housing, and nor would a higher 
level within Salford Quays provided that appropriate infrastructure is 
provided and the vision relating to the mix of uses is not 
compromised. 
 
A statement regarding the levels of development expected can be a 
valuable reference point, for infrastructure providers in particular. 
The inclusion of an indicative figure prefaced with ‘around’ provides 
this reference point whilst recognising the uncertainties around long 
term estimates and the potential of the area to exceed them. The 
policy does not impose a specific cap on development however, as 
referenced in the policy, any potential impacts on the area’s 
economic role would be a key issue alongside infrastructure 
consideration. 

P
age 1473



 

 
 

The policy implies that residential development may be restricted in 
parts of the area, but does not state where. Salford Quays is a mixed 
use area and residential development is an important part of this; no 
uses should be given primacy, flexibility is required (developer) 

Salford Quays is one of the most important economic locations in the 
country. Whilst a mix of uses is supported, and is an important part 
of its character, it is critical that the area’s economic role, and its 
future growth in this regard, is not compromised by competing land 
uses.  This is particularly the case for residential development where 
comparable land and development values can lead to other uses 
being pushed out.  
 
The qualification in the policy that “residential development will 
complement rather than be at the expense of the important business 
and tourism functions” is therefore considered to be an important 
one. The implications of the qualification are that as part of 
residential proposals, consideration will need to be given to any 
potential conflicts with Salford Quays’ business and tourism 
functions and their future growth.  This is not to say that there will be 
a blanket restriction on residential proposals within specifically 
defined areas or that parts will not be dominated by, or wholly, 
residential. Rather it requires consideration to be given to any wider 
implications. Given the area’s strategic economic importance this is 
considered to be wholly appropriate. Masterplanning of parts of the 
area, in accordance with Policy EF2, may be appropriate. 
 
In response to the comment however, the statement has been 
amended to refer to ‘Salford Quays’ rather than ‘the area’ in order to 
ensure that its geographical application in clear.  

Visitor attractions and hotels 

Support for ‘additional hotel and visitor facilities’ as an important part 
of Salford Quays’ offer (developer) 

Support welcomed 

Support aspiration for delivering a nationally significant visitor 
attraction but should be an ambition rather than a requirement and 
need an infrastructure strategy to support it (developer). 

The wording relating to tourism facilities has been amended as 
follows: 
 

P
age 1474



 

“The tourism role of Salford Quays will be enhanced with the 
potential for additional nationally significant visitor attractions 
complementing the area’s existing offer.” 

Infrastructure 

Need for a robust transport infrastructure strategy to support the 
plans growth with consideration of strategic interventions (e.g. 
motorway improvements, heavy rail links, tram capacity) and funding 
(developer)  

Policy AP3 recognises the importance of improved transport links to 
Salford Quays and MediaCityUK, describing that “new development 
will be coordinated with the provision of new and improved transport 
infrastructure and services” 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 

Welcome commitment to maximise use of sustainable modes 
(Salford City Council Conservative Group)(Highways England) 

Support welcomed 

Modal shift and reducing traffic within Salford Quays core, along with 
enhancing walking and cycling routes around the area supported 
(developer). 

Support welcomed 

There is no place to safely cross The Quays with a child buggy in 
order to access Holyrood Media City nursery. In addition the area 
around the nursery and Ohio Avenue has lots of car parking and so 
there is no easy way to get into the nursery (individual).  

The transport and movement section of the policy promotes 
improvements to transport infrastructure and services with a strong 
emphasis on significantly reducing the proportion of trips made by 
car. 
 
In particular a reduction in traffic levels is sought within the area 
bounded by Trafford Road, Broadway and the Manchester Ship 
canal, and the policy identifies that significant enhancements in 
walking and cycling routes will be required. The identification of 
specific pedestrian crossing points is too detailed for the Local Plan. 
 

P
age 1475



 

Policy A1 (Sustainable transport strategy) similarly identifies that 
“significant improvements will be sought in the ability of people and 
goods to move around and through the city in an efficient, safe and 
sustainable way including encouraging a modal shift towards more 
sustainable forms of transport with the highest priority being given to 
improving access to and within the City Centre and 
MediaCityUK/Salford Quays. 

Specific reference to the provision of a new footbridge across the 
Ship Canal from Clippers Quay is not the best approach to delivering 
connectivity across the Ship Canal. May be alternative interventions 
and the policy should be worded to allow all opportunities to be 
considered (developer). 

A footbridge from Clippers Quay remains an important aspiration 
and would provide a valuable link to the Wharfside stop on the 
Trafford Park Metrolink Line. The reference has therefore been 
retained within the policy in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

Strain on existing physical and social infrastructure, new housing 
should be phased to allow existing services to manage increasing 
demand and the plan should make provision for the expansion, 
relocation, and/or the commissioning of new health services 
(community group). 

The Draft Local Plan policy included the following text which has 
been retained in the Revised Draft Local Plan:  
 
“A significant increase in retail floorspace, leisure uses and 
community facilities will be provided within the primary shopping 
area (and, if necessary, its expansion) shown in Annex B, meeting 
the needs of the major increase in the number of people working, 
visiting and living in Salford Quays.” 
 
Further guidance in relation to this issue has also been added to 
Policy HH3 (Provision of health and social care facilities) of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. The revised policy includes the following 
statements: 
 

 The city council will work with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and other health care provides to ensure that the 
capacity of health and social care facilities in Salford 
increases in line with the growing population and its changing 
needs 

 Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 shall 
ensure that appropriate provision is made for primary health 
care facilities. Individual developments that would generate a 
significant additional demand for primary health care, 

P
age 1476



 

including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be 
required to incorporate appropriate primary health care 
facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made 
elsewhere within the local area 

 Developers should engage with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group at the earliest opportunity in order to determine the 
health care requirements associated with new development. 

Environmental quality 

There are areas of fluvial flood risk within this policy area. To align 
with other policies the following additional wording should be 
included “‘All development must be designed to minimise the risk of 
flooding and the potential impact on flooding elsewhere, taking 
opportunities to incorporate sustainable drainage systems wherever 
practicable” (Environment Agency).  

The issues raised are addressed by policies WA5 and WA6 of the 
Local Plan. 

The Environment Agency has published new guidance on climate 
change allowances and this evidence will need to be considered 
further within this policy (Environment Agency). 

Welcome commitment to include blue and green infrastructure 
enhancements as part of Salford Quays development; however 
protection alongside enhancement of the Quays environmental 
quality should be recognised in the policy (Natural England).  

The Environmental Quality section of the policy already refers to the 
need to ensure that new development and infrastructure enhances 
the distinctive identity of Salford Quays. This has been amended to 
refer to ensuring that new development and infrastructure protects 
and enhances that character. 

Salford Quays’ role in supporting wildlife should be recognised the 
policy: 
 

 Opportunities should be taken to soften the hard edges to the 
water (docks/rivers) to make them more accessible to wildlife 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust).  

 Under bullet A) wildlife should be mentioned; Salford Quays 
is an SBI primarily for its bird interest and this has been 
eroded in recent years as a result of recreational activity due 
to improvements in water quality (GMEU). 

The hard edges to the waterway are part of the character of Salford 
Quays and the softening of the edges would bring with it additional 
management requirements relating to litter/debris. It is not therefore 
considered appropriate to promote this measure at Salford Quays. 
 
A new criterion D has been added to the environmental quality 
section of the policy as follows: 
 
“Balancing the recreational use of the basins alongside their role in 
supporting wildlife, ensuring the protection of the existing site of 
biological importance and the successful management of their water 
quality” 
 

P
age 1477



 

Policy D9 (Waterside development) of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
also ensures that development near to the city’s waterways makes a 
“positive contribution to their character, environmental quality, public 
amenity value, and role as key walking and cycling routes.” 

Support the aspirations to create a high quality environment. 
However point B) should be amended so that rather than just 
increasing greenery as currently worded the policy should require 
the provision of a variety of spaces that allow different user 
experiences (developer). 

A new criterion has been added to the policy as a way in which the 
area’s high environmental quality will continue to be enhanced: 
 
“Providing a variety of public spaces that allow different user 
experiences and connect into the wider Irwell River Park”. 
 
However, the criterion relating to increasing the level of greenery is 
retained as this is an important priority for the area, and would need 
to be taken into account in the design of any public spaces. 

 

Other significant changes made to policy SQ1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1478



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Policy OW1 Ordsall Waterfront 

(Policy Reference changed to AP4 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Area and uses permitted 

Support further development of Ordsall Waterfront as a high quality 
and primarily residential area; development at a higher density on 
brownfield land will enable greenspaces across Salford and GM to 
be protected (Salford City Council Conservative Group).  

Support welcomed 

Support the inclusion of land at Worrall Street (developer).  Support welcomed 

Concerns relating to restrictions on commercial uses along the 
corridor, making the following comments: 
 

 No justification why commercial uses only acceptable to 
support residential-led development or why commercial uses 
are only allowed in some parts of the area. 

 Should allow for main town centre uses of an appropriate 
scale outside of town centre locations, in line with one of the 
12 Core Planning Principles in the NPPF (paragraph 17: 
promote mixed use communities) and paragraph 69.  

 Question what is meant by “commercial uses”. Other 
complementary uses such as leisure, restaurants/cafes, 
conference and meeting spaces, and hotels should be 
allowed. 

 Policy should be redrafted to read as follows: "Ordsall 
waterfront will continue to be redeveloped as a residential-led 
corridor, which can provide a range of supplementary town 
centre use commercial uses to support the high-density 
development and create sustainable communities removing 
the need to travel. It will provide a key link between the City 
Centre and Salford Quays, with high quality development 

The vision for the corridor is one of residential led development with 
opportunities for small scale active uses at ground floor level to 
serve local needs and generate activity and interest along key 
routes. The northern and southern ends of the corridor, which benefit 
from better transport connections, and already have a commercial 
focus, could present opportunities for alternative uses providing they 
are compatible with the residential environment. This pattern of 
development has largely been confirmed through existing land uses, 
recent development and extant planning permissions spread 
throughout the corridor. 
 
It is intended that the policy allows for active town centre uses of an 
appropriate scale in prominent locations along the corridor. It would 
appear that the structure of the policy in the Draft Local Plan made 
this unclear, unintentionally linking the comments about active uses 
to those about the commercial clusters at the northern and southern 
ends of the corridor. The policy has been restructured to address 
this issue in the Revised Draft Local Plan 
 
The locational guidance around active uses has also been amended 
to remove reference to clusters and replace it with a requirement for 

P
age 1479



 

presenting a striking waterside setting and a dynamic urban 
street scope along Ordsall Lane." (developer). 

 Paragraph 3 of the policy should be redrafted to read: "Other 
uses compatible with the residential environment will be 
permitted where they complement the residential provision or 
create an active frontage to the waterside. Appropriate scale 
active use at ground floor level, including local needs retail 
and leisure uses, will be permitted where they are located in 
a prominent location on the frontage to the canal or Ordsall 
Lane, helping to generate activity and maximise their use."  
(developer). 

active uses to be in “prominent locations along Ordsall Lane and to 
the waterfront where they will help serve the needs of a growing 
population and generate activity”. It is of course important that 
accommodation to support active uses is attractive to the market and 
remains occupied, and does not draw town centre uses away from 
designated centres. The extent to which commercial units are 
considered to be in ‘prominent locations’ and will ‘generate activity’ 
will therefore be key considerations, and they will need to comply 
with the sequential approach set out in Policy TC2. 
 

The policy should give greater emphasis to the regenerative role that 
sites immediately border the canal will play in the regeneration of the 
area and the role of commercial and leisure uses on these sites at 
ground floor (developer). 

The policy as amended is considered to provide an appropriate 
framework for the ongoing development of the area. The policy is 
sufficiently promotional, describing that the corridor “will provide a 
key link between the City Centre and Salford Quays, with high 
quality development presenting a striking waterside setting and a 
dynamic urban streetscape along Ordsall Lane.” 

Infrastructure 

Given strains on existing services new housing should be phased to 
allow existing services to manage increasing demand and the plan 
should make provision for the expansion, relocation, and/or the 
commissioning of new health services. What criteria or “trigger 
mechanisms” might be used to determine when further new 
development should be permitted? (community group). 

A statement identifying the need for additional social infrastructure 
such as health facilities to support the growing population within the 
corridor has been added to the policy in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan. 
 
Further guidance in relation to this issue has also been added to 
Policy HH3 (Provision of health and social care facilities) of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. The revised policy includes the following 
statements: 
 

 The city council will work with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and other health care provides to ensure that the 
capacity of health and social care facilities in Salford 
increases in line with the growing population and its changing 
needs 

 Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 shall 
ensure that appropriate provision is made for primary health 

P
age 1480



 

care facilities. Individual developments that would generate a 
significant additional demand for primary health care, 
including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be 
required to incorporate appropriate primary health care 
facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made 
elsewhere within the local area 

 Developers should engage with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group at the earliest opportunity in order to determine the 
health care requirements associated with new development.   

 

Paragraph 5 of the policy should be redrafted to make reference to 
development along the waterway “having to upgrade the existing 
canalside walkway”, in addition to the current drafting which requires 
development to “provide an attractive waterside walkway…” 
(developer). 

The wording in the policy in relation to the waterside walkway has 
been amended to require that development “must contribute to the 
provision of” rather than “provide” an attractive waterside walkway. 
The revised wording broadens the requirement which would be 
applicable to the existing walkway and additional provision as part of 
new development. 
 
Text has also been added to the introduction/ justification to the 
policy to refer to “improving the quality of the existing waterside 
walkway”. 
 
Policy D9 (Waterside Development) provides further guidance 
relating to development near to Salford’s waterways which would 
also be applicable here, and this is now cross-referenced in the 
policy. 
 

Strongly object to the requirement for a new footbridge across the 
Ship Canal. There is an existing bridge at Woden Street providing 
access to Cornbrook Metrolink stop which could be refurbished via 
developer contributions and residents also benefit from easy access 
to Exchange Quay Metrolink stop.   
 
Land on the Trafford side is owned by Peel and forms part of the 
Manchester Waters strategic site. Accommodating the landing of the 
bridge alongside footpaths, ramps, lighting and landscaping would 

Given uncertainties around its delivery, the policy no longer includes 
a specific requirement in relation to a bridge from Worrall Street 
across the river/canal. Improvements to cross river/canal 
connections remain an aspiration however, and the policy describes 
that these will be sought and that they could potentially include a 
new footbridge link to improve access to Cornbrook Metrolink stop in 
Trafford.  

P
age 1481



 

require a significant area of land and hinder the efforts to create a 
cohesive and high quality canal side development frontage 
(developer). 

Environmental quality 

Opportunity to create a high quality amenity and landscape resource 
along the river. New development should face the river and be set 
back from it to provide a wide and uninterrupted recreational 
routeway, with well designed and integrated soft landscaping that 
can add new ecological and wildlife value to the urban environment 
(Environment Agency). 

The requirements around a riverside walkway have been 
supplemented in Policy AP4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan. It 
additionally specifies that the walkway will form part of Irwell River 
Park and that it should meet the requirements of Policy D9. 
 
Policy D9 (Waterside development) addresses the issues raised 
describing that development near to Salford’s waterways shall make 
a positive contribution to their character, environmental quality, 
public amenity value, and role as key walking and cycling routes. 
 
Amongst other things the policy states that development shall 
“Enhance the role of the waterway corridor within the green 
infrastructure network, by supporting improvements to biodiversity, 
water quality and flood risk management.” 

Opportunities should be taken to improve the ecological value of the 
River including measures to softening the edges of the river 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust)(GMEU) and to reduce diffuse pollution 
(GMEU).  

New guidance on climate change allowances will need to be 
considered further within the policy (Environment Agency). 

Heritage 

Some of the older industrial and warehouse premises may be judged 
to be non-designated heritage assets and worthy of protection 
through decision making. The use of the word “redeveloped” at 
paragraph 1 of the policy suggests demolition and rebuilding as 
opposed to constructive conservatism , adaptation and reuse and 
should therefore be avoided (Historic England).  
 

It is envisaged that the residential led development of the corridor 
will involve demolition of much of the older industrial accommodation 
found there. Whilst it may be suggestive of demolition and rebuild, 
the term ‘redeveloped’ does not necessitate this. Nevertheless it has 
been changed to ‘developed’ which would cover all of the terms 
stated in the comment.  
 
The guidance under policies HE1 (Heritage spatial strategy), HE3 
(Heritage protection) and HE5 (A positive future for heritage assets) 
would be applicable to any non-designated heritage assets within 
the corridor.  
 
The final sentence of the ‘Uses and Scale’ section of the policy, 
which previously read “The redevelopment of older industrial and 
warehouse premises, and similar types of sites and buildings, to 
provide for the uses above, will be actively encouraged”, has also 

P
age 1482



 

been deleted in response to this comment. The opening paragraph 
of the policy is considered to be sufficiently clear about the continued 
development of the corridor for residential uses.   

  

Other significant changes made to policy OW1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The number of dwellings identified within the policy has been 
changed from 2,000 to 2,100. 

To reflect the latest position in this regard. 

Final sentence of the policy which read as follows has been deleted: 
“All development must be designed to minimise the risk of flooding 
and the potential impact on flooding elsewhere, taking opportunities 
to incorporate sustainable drainage systems wherever practicable.”  
 

Issues are adequately addressed by policies WA5 and WA6. 

 P
age 1483



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: C1 Cambridge  

(The policy has not been carried forward in the Revised Draft Local Plan. The area is instead covered by a new Policy AP5, which 

relates to three employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, namely Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool 

Street.) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The policy is designed to address the high level of flood risk in the 
area and this is supported. However, reference should be made to 
the role that part of the area can play in respect of housing delivery 
as part of the comprehensive redevelopment of New Broughton 
(Countryside Properties).  

The policy has been replaced by a new policy (AP5) covering three 
employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, 
Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool Street. This new policy 
highlights that masterplans will be produced for these areas, and any 
development brought forward will need to be in accordance with 
them. Issues of flood risk and housing delivery are being considered 
through the masterplanning process. 
 
  

It is not clear on how a significantly lower risk of flooding will be 
achieved and this will be particularly important if the Exception Test 
(as required by NPPF) becomes difficult in light of the flood risk 
issues (Environment Agency). 

The policy has been replaced by a new policy (AP5) covering three 
employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, 
Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool Street. The policy 
highlights that masterplans will be produced for these areas, and any 
development brought forward will need to be in accordance with 
them. 
 
Flood risk is central to the masterplanning of the Cambridge area, 
with specific measures being determined through that process and 
as part of planning application decisions. Policy WA4 makes 
reference to the potential for safeguarding land in Cambridge for 
flood risk management purposes, stating that: “Opportunities for 
further improvements in flood mitigation in Salford will be sought, 
potentially including through the provision of new open space within 
the Cambridge area and the raising of river banks.” 
 

The Council should consider the opportunities to safeguard land for 
flood risk management purposes or where climate change impacts 
are so severe, seeking opportunities to relocate development to a 
more sustainable location (NPPF Paragraph 100) (Environment 
Agency). 

P
age 1484



 

Welcome any proposals to enhance the green infrastructure 
associated with the River Irwell (GMEU). 

The policy has been replaced by a new policy (AP5) covering three 
employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, 
Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool Street. The policy 
highlights that masterplans will be produced for these areas, and any 
development brought forward will need to be in accordance with 
them. 
 
Green infrastructure provision is addressed by other policies within 
the plan, as set out below, and specific opportunities within the 
Cambridge area can be considered through the master planning 
process and planning applications. 
 
Requirements in respect of green infrastructure provision are set out 
in Chapter 24 (Green Infrastructure), the Irwell Valley being 
specifically identified as a strategic piece of green infrastructure in 
Policy GI1. 
 
Policy D9 sets out principles for waterside development, and 
describes that such development shall “enhance the role of the 
waterway corridor within the green infrastructure network, including 
by supporting improvements to biodiversity, water quality and flood 
risk management. 
 
Policy WA2 states that where practicable, development shall take 
opportunities to support the improvement of water bodies to at least 
‘good’ status. It identifies a number of measures to achieve this 
including through the provision and design of green infrastructure, 
the naturalisation of watercourses and reducing obstacles to the 
movement of wildlife. 

The area has fairly hard edges to the river and therefore 
opportunities should be taken to soften these edges to make them 
more accessible to wildlife (Lancashire Wildlife Trust).  

The policy has been replaced by a new policy (AP5) covering three 
employment areas close to the City Centre and Salford Quays, 
Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool Street. The policy 
highlights that masterplans will be produced for these areas, and any 
development brought forward will need to be in accordance with 
them. 

P
age 1485



 

 
Policy WA2 states that where practicable, development shall take 
opportunities to support the improvement of water bodies to at least 
‘good’ status. It identifies a number of measures to achieve this 
including through the provision and design of Green Infrastructure, 
the naturalisation of watercourses and reducing obstacles to the 
movement of wildlife.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy C1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy C1 has been removed from the plan and replaced with a new 
policy covering three employment areas close to the City Centre and 
Salford Quays, namely Cambridge, Eccles New Road and Liverpool 
Street (reference AP5). The policy describes that masterplans will be 
produced for these areas, and any development brought forward will 
need to be in accordance with them. 
 

To provide guidance covering three centrally located employment 
areas within which development pressures are being felt. Given their 
location it is important that best possible use is made of these 
employment areas and to this end masterplans will be brought 
forward to guide any future development. 

 

P
age 1486



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES CHAPTER – GENERAL COMMENTS  

Issue raised in the representations on the draft local plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the revised draft local plan 

General  

United Utilities assets running beneath sites and adjacent 
wastewater treatment works should be considered in masterplanning 
and United Utilities would welcome discussion.  
 

The presence of United Utilities assets beneath some of the Local 
Plan site allocations is noted and the relevant site allocations have 
been amended to reflect this, so as to ensure that developers are 
aware of this infrastructure from the outset. Revised Draft Local Plan 
policy EF2 is clear that where masterplans are considered 
necessary, proper consultation with stakeholders will be a 
requirement. This will ensure that consideration is given to existing 
infrastructure within or close to the site in the design and layout of 
any scheme.  
 
In addition, Revised Local Plan policy PH1 explains that 
development will not be permitted where it would itself be subject to 
unacceptable levels of pollution (including noise, odour and a range 
of other types of pollution), recognising the importance of controlling 
development, particularly for sensitive uses such as residential, to 
ensure that no unacceptable levels of risk or nuisance arise. This 
should also assist in addressing United Utilities’ concerns about 
locating additional sensitive receptors near to existing treatment 
works.  
 

  

 

P
age 1487



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY DP1: EFFICIENT USE OF LAND  

(The policy reference has been changed to policy EF1 in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the draft local plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the revised draft local plan 

General  

Support offered to the principal / content of the policy Persimmon 
Homes / Highways England / Countryside Properties / CPRE 
Lancashire). 
 
Reference to efficient use of land with highest densities in the most 
accessible locations to prevent increased car dependence is 
welcomed (GMEU).   

Comments noted.  

Minimum net density 

Support the minimum net density of 35 dwellings per hectare and 
that lower densities may be permitted where this can be justified 
(Persimmon Homes). 

Support noted. The reference to a minimum density of 35 dwellings 
per hectare has been deleted from the policy and incorporated into a 
separate policy on housing density in the housing chapter (policy 
H6).  
 

The policy could potentially be changed to allow a lower density for a 
parcel of land within a wider area covered by an approved 
masterplan (Persimmon Homes). 

Comments noted although it is not considered appropriate to change 
the policy given that this is only likely to be an issue for small 
number of sites. If it is an issue then this would be a material 
consideration in the determination of any planning application or 
could be agreed with the city council through the masterplanning 
process. Policy H6 allows for lower densities where there is a site-
specific justification. 
 

The policy or supporting text should be amended to confirm that the 
proposed minimum density of 35dph does not apply to allocation 
H3/1 (East of Boothstown) (Love Brothers Ltd).  

Allocations involving the loss of Green Belt are no longer set out 
within the Local Plan, and instead they will be considered solely 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
process. Policy H6 allows for lower densities where there is a site-
specific justification. 

P
age 1488



 

 

Policy H3/3, H3/4 and EC4/1 do not accord with the density 
stipulations of policy DP1 (individuals).  

It is important to note that the minimum density requirements of 35 
dwellings per hectare are net not gross requirements (i.e. they apply 
only to the part of a site that is developed for housing and directly 
associated works and not to the whole site area). 
 
Draft Local Plan allocation H3/3 (Hayes Road) (now policy H9/1) 
required a 30-50 metre buffer between the site and the employment 
site to the west and so this is excluded land is excluded when 
calculating the actual net density. When account is taken of this then 
the minimum net residential density of 35 dwellings per hectare 
would be achievable on the allocation. 
 
Draft Local Plan allocation H3/4 (Western Cadishead and Irlam) 
involved the loss of Green Belt and so is now only being considered 
through the GMSF process. 
 
The development of EC4/1 (Port Salford expansion) would accord 
with the density requirements of the policy.  
 

Support is offered to the efficient use of land and high density 
development at Salford Quays (Peel Media Management Limited).  
 

Support noted.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy DP1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Details on residential density have been removed from the policy 
with a cross reference made instead to a new policy on housing 
density (policy H6).  

The policy has been changed so that it is more strategic and 
overarching in nature, with the detail on residential density 
considered to be more appropriate in the housing chapter.  

The policy has been amended to remove examples of where high 
density development will be appropriate, with reference simply made 
to the highest density being in the most accessible locations.  

In relation to residential development, policy H6 of the revised draft 
plan sets out minimum densities for different locations reflecting 
accessibility characteristics. 
  

P
age 1489



 

Reference made to proposed improvements to the accessibility of a 
site being taken into account in implementing the policy, but only 
where there is a high probability of their delivery and long-term 
retention 

To reflect the fact that density could be higher in certain 
circumstances.  

 

P
age 1490



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: DP2 COORDINATED DEVELOPMENT  

(The policy reference has been changed to EF2 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Involvement in the production of masterplans  
 

Landowners should be required to sign up to a memorandum of 
understanding where sites are in multiple-ownership, to prevent one 
landowner from dominating the process (individual). 
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments.  
 
Revised Draft Local Plan policy EF2 explains that in producing 
masterplans/frameworks, proper consultation with the local 
community and stakeholders within and adjoining the 
masterplan/framework area will be required. It is considered 
unnecessary to require the relevant parties to sign up to an 
agreement in the form of a legal document, as this may create 
unnecessary delays. The policy is clear that masterplans must be 
endorsed by the city council in order to meet the requirements of the 
policy, which would enable the city council to ensure that no party 
unduly dominates the process. 
 

Residents should be informed about and involved in masterplans 
(individuals)  
 

The policy has been amended to explain that proper consultation 
with the local community within and adjoining the 
masterplan/framework area will be required.  This policy has been 
further expanded to explain that consultation on a 
masterplan/framework should meet the principles of a new policy ‘F1 
Inclusive development process.’ Policy F1 seeks to ensure the 
continuous, considered and effective involvement of residents in the 

development process, recognising that a collaborative approach can 
provide benefits for local communities, developers, and future 
occupiers, and support the long-term success of development. This 
policy is also clear that no development will be permitted on sites 

P
age 1491



 

allocated for development in the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework until a masterplan or supplementary planning document 
has been developed with the local community and endorsed by the 
city council.  
    

Highways England should be involved (Highways England)  No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. The relevant statutory consultees will be consulted 
during the production of any masterplan, however it is not 
appropriate to list every potential consultee in the policy.   
 

Requirement for a masterplan  
 

The requirement for development to be guided by a masterplan 
could create unnecessary delays (developers) and masterplans 
should be developed as quickly as possible (Highways England).  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. It is recognised that there is potential for this requirement 
to create delays if the policy is not considered at an early stage in 
the development process. Developers bringing forward proposals for 
housing and commercial schemes, particularly on larger sites, would 
be expected to seek pre-application advice from the city council as a 
matter of course in order to obtain a clear understanding of the 
objectives of, and constraints on, development. The city council 
would then seek to work with all interested parties to produce any 
masterplan/framework as quickly as possible, and this should help to 
reduce potential delays later in the development management 
process.  
 

It is not clear when a masterplan would be required (developer)  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. It is considered that criteria 1) – 5) of Revised Draft Local 
Plan policy EF2  provide sufficient clarity to consider when a 
masterplan is likely to be required, as it will be important to respond 
to the specifics of the particular situation. Attempting to provide more 
detail would result in the policy being too prescriptive. 

In the majority of circumstances, a masterplan would not be 
appropriate and should only be required where it can be justified for 
particular reasons and this should be generally related to specific 
proposals on the policies map (developer)  

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. It is recognised that masterplans will not be necessary in 
the majority of cases, however the purpose of criteria 1) – 5) of 

P
age 1492



 

Revised Draft Local Plan policy EF2 is to identify the situations 
where masterplans are likely to be required.   
 

Requirement for the masterplan to be adopted is not justified/ 
required where there is one landowner. Why must masterplans for 
Green Belt sites be adopted rather than endorsed (developers)? 

The policy has been amended to require that, for sites allocated for 
development in the Greater Manchester Development Framework, 
masterplans are ‘endorsed’ or ‘adopted’ by the city council 
depending on the type of document that is produced. Where a 
supplementary planning document is produced for one of these 
sites, it would need to be adopted by the city council in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 
2012.  
   

Masterplans are not required for:  
 

 Booths Bank Farm (developer)  

 Land east of Boothstown, Land west of Boothstown, 
Hazelhurst Farm due to them not being sufficiently large and 
being under the control of a single landowner (developer)   

 
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. The sites referred to in the comments are all currently 
located in the Green Belt, and any decision on whether they will be 
taken forward as allocations will be made through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). 
 
The development of sites within the Green Belt raises particular 
concerns for local communities, and it is essential that they are 
designed so as to be successfully integrated into the existing 
neighbourhoods. By definition, a site allocated in the GMSF must be 
strategic. The requirement for the development of any such sites to 
be guided by a masterplan or supplementary planning document 
developed with the local community is considered to be the most 
appropriate solution due to their sensitive nature and strategic 
significance. 
  

Additional guidance required 

An SPD is required to guide development along the River Irwell 
(GMEU)  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. The River Irwell is too extensive for a single masterplan. 
Further consideration can be given to the need for an SPD in this 
location to help implement Policy GI4 (Irwell Valley), potentially as 
part of a wider green infrastructure SPD. The need for masterplans 

P
age 1493



 

for parts of the area will be considered on a case-by-case basis 
having regard to policy EF2. 
 

The Local Plan should set out what the coordinated development 
should be before anything is agreed (individuals)  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. The Local Plan allocations set out the amount and type 
of development that should be delivered on some sites and any site 
specific requirements. On other sites that may be affected by this 
policy, it is considered appropriate to respond to proposals put 
forward by developers rather than seek to be prescriptive on every 
site at this stage. 
 

Other issues raised 

The principle of this policy is supported (CPRE, Highways England, 
GMEU and the Canal and River Trust).  
  

The support is welcomed.  

For large infrastructure projects, EIAs would be required and 
developers will be required to assess cumulative impact as part of 
that process (Historic England). 
 

The potential requirement for EIAs on these sites is noted. The 
policy has been amended to explain that the EIA requirement should 
be considered at an early stage in the masterplanning process, and 
that the EIA process which follows should guide the development of 
the masterplan as far as possible. 
 

The policy is restrictive on development without proposing solutions 
(developers)  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. Revised Draft Policy EF2 is effectively a continuation of 
policy DP6 of the UDP, but provides further details as to the 
circumstances where a masterplan is likely to be required, explains 
the process that should be followed in producing masterplans (where 
this is by someone other than the city council) and arrangements for 
involving those with a land interest. The policy is not considered to 
be restrictive on development, and indeed seeks to avoid one 
development from restricting the successful development of nearby 
sites, and will only be used in limited circumstances. It will provide a 
mechanism for generating and implementing solutions, supporting 
high quality development. 
 

  

P
age 1494



 

Other significant changes made to policy DP2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1495



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY DP3: PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

(The policy reference has been changed to policy PC1 in the revised draft local plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the draft local plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the revised draft local plan 

General  

Support offered to the approach of the policy (RMS International Ltd 
/ Bredale Properties Ltd / Highways England / Monkcton Properties 
Ltd).   

Support noted.  

The City Council will need to update its Planning Obligations SPD 
alongside the Local Plan. The updated SPD should not introduce 
guidance on obligations that are not requirements of the Local Plan 
itself (Countryside Properties). 

As set out in paragraph 8.2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan, priorities 
for planning obligations may evolve over the plan period, depending 
on changing circumstances, but those set out in the revised draft 
policy reflect the anticipated pressures and additional demands 
associated with the proposed scale and location of development in 
Salford. Having regard to the fact that development costs, revenues 
and immediate priorities can rapidly change, the detailed planning 
obligation requirements will be set out in a supplementary planning 
document.  
 

Irlam and Cadishead 

Building on the Green Belt would have “an adverse effect on 
interests of acknowledged importance” such as wildlife. It would also 
result in the demand for infrastructure services and facilities, such as 
much needed improvement to the A57, schools and NHS facilities 
within Irlam and Cadishead which are currently overstretched before 
any development (individual).  
 
Development planned will have an adverse impact on transport and 
education in Irlam and Cadishead (individuals). 
 
The A57 needs improving now (individuals). 
 

In the revised draft local plan reference to “interests of 
acknowledged importance” has been deleted from the policy. This 
strengthens the policy by removing any ambiguity as to what 
“interests of acknowledged importance” are in practice. The policy 
now requires that: 
 
“Development that would have an adverse impact, or would result in 
a material increase in the need or demand for infrastructure, 
services, facilities and/or maintenance, will only be granted planning 
permission subject to planning conditions and/or planning obligations 
that would ensure adequate mitigation measures are put in place.”  
 

P
age 1496



 

It is considered that this addresses the issues raised by the 
respondents.  
  

Biodiversity  

Reference to ‘interests of acknowledged importance’ should include 
an adverse impact on biodiversity and important wildlife site 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust).  
 
The use of conditions and planning obligations to mitigate and/or 
compensate for unavoidable ecological impacts is supported 
(GMEU). 

Reference has been added to the revised draft policy to state that 
one of the priorities for planning obligations will be biodiversity off-
setting (as set out in policy BG3 of the revised draft plan). 
 
Support from GMEU is welcomed. 

Clarification/ confirmation on how contributions would be used for 
the restoration of Chat Moss should be included. One mechanism 
would be planning obligations, alternatively biodiversity off-setting 
could be utilised (GMEU). 

Reference has been added to the revised draft policy to state that 
one of the priorities for planning obligations will be biodiversity off-
setting (as set out in policy BG3 of the revised draft plan). Policy 
BG1 of the revised plan also states that a comparable net gain in 
biodiversity will be sought, including through securing lowland bog 
restoration and the provision of complementary habitats within the 
‘Biodiversity Heartland’, and the improvement of the rest of Chat 
Moss for species such as breeding birds, brown hare and water vole, 
in accordance with Policy GI3 (criterion 5).  
 
It is likely that any obligations secured for the restoration of Chat 
Moss would be directed to those elements referred to in Policy GI3. 
Consideration will be given to providing additional details within an 
updated Planning Obligations SPD.   
  

Heritage 

Where development involves “at risk” sites / assets the policy / 
justification could state that reduced contributions may be 
acceptable, or a higher quantum of development than would 
normally be needed should be allowed (Historic England). 

This is considered to be too detailed for the Local Plan, and would 
be a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications in any regard. Consideration will however be given to 
including details around this issue within an updated Planning 
Obligations SPD that will be published to supplement the adopted 
Local Plan.  
 

Highways 

P
age 1497



 

It does not appear that the implications of proposed developments in 
Irlam and Cadishead on the A57 have been addressed (Action 
Against Astley Road Development). 

The focus of the Local Plan accessibility policies is to collectively 
promote and encourage sustainable travel choices through a variety 
of ways. It is essential that the significant growth in the city’s 
population over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar 
level of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the policies 
in the accessibility chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need for 
additional infrastructure and services, and where this is the case, 
policy A1 is clear that such development should be carefully phased 
alongside the delivery of the necessary transport infrastructure.  
 

Where a development is considered to have a severe impact on the 
strategic road network, mitigation of impacts must be of the utmost 
importance. If a developer is unable to meet the obligations 
associated with the operation of the strategic road network, 
Highways England should be engaged at the earliest possible 
opportunity (Highways England).  
 
It is commented that instances where a development cannot support 
contributions and it is still permitted should be few and subject to 
robust justification. Highways England should be involved in any 
instances where this may affect the strategic road network 
(Highways England) 

Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 
As a statutory consultee Highways England would be involved in any 
instances where development may affect the strategic road network. 
The revised draft plan requires a robust justification for reduced 
planning obligations with this set out within criterion i. to iv.  
 

Previously developed land 

The policy does not go far enough to support the revitalisation and 
redevelopment of previously developed sites which should be given 
greater consideration due to higher abnormalities associated with 
their redevelopment so as to ensure viability does not compromise 
the ability to deliver some schemes (Monkcton Properties Ltd). 

It is recognised that there may be higher abnormals for brownfield 
land than for greenfield sites. Where this means that the full planning 
obligations would make a scheme unviable, the revised draft policy 
sets out the circumstances where reduced obligations will be 
permitted. This includes submitting a viability assessment (criterion 
i); as part of this the level of abnormals would be a consideration if it 
is a particular issue on a site. 
 
   

P
age 1498



 

Typical priorities 

The council should consider adding the following to the typical 
priorities for the use of planning obligations: 
 

 Flood defence infrastructure (Environment Agency) 

 Green infrastructure networks alongside open space as a priority 
(Natural England) 

 Heritage (Historic England) 

 Emergency services (individuals) 

Reference has been added to the policy to green infrastructure being 
a priority (criterion C) in response to the comment from Natural 
England.  
 
The priorities for planning obligations set out in the policy are not 
intended to be an exhaustive list covering every possible use of 
planning obligations. Criterion H identifies that there may be other 
site specific contributions that would be a priority; this would include 
issues relating to flood defence infrastructure and heritage, but these 
are likely to be less common than the other priorities listed in the 
policy. 
 
A reference to health being a priority has been added to the policy. It 
is not considered however appropriate to make a wider reference to 
the emergency services being a priority for planning obligations 
given that this would not meet the three tests set out in Regulation 
122 (2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations. These 
state that planning obligations should be: necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the 
development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development.  
 

New schools / places, NHS buildings and recreation facilities should 
be added to paragraph 6.13 of the reasoned justification (individual).   

The revised draft plan makes reference to education, health and 
open space/green infrastructure being priorities for planning 
obligations. 
 

Viability 

A clawback mechanism (criterion C) should only be used for larger 
or phased developments (Persimmon Homes). 

The revised draft policy is clear that clawback may apply to all 
developments irrespective of how small or large they are.  
 
In any development where reduced planning obligations have been 
agreed there is always going to be the potential for viability to be 
better than anticipated. Given this, ‘clawback’ clauses will typically 
be used to ensure that the final planning obligations reflect actual 

P
age 1499



 

viability. This approach seeks to ensure that developments mitigate 
their impact as far as is viable and is set out in paragraph 8.4 of the 
introduction / justification to revised draft policy PC1. The policy 
allows for clawback not to be used where its use would not be 
appropriate. 
 

The policy is broadly supported provided that planning obligations do 
not render a development unviable (Countryside Properties).  

Broad support noted. 

Other issues 

The policy should clarify that tariff style contributions will not be 
sought for starter homes or small sites (Persimmon Homes). 

A supplementary planning document will provide more details on the 
use of tariff-style contributions. It will be in full accordance with 
national guidance, which currently excludes starter homes exclusion 
sites and sites with fewer than 10 dwellings from tariff-style 
contributions. 

The Local Plan does not set out a clear and deliverable 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan to secure the necessary infrastructure 
(The Peel Group).  

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be published to accompany the 
Publication Local Plan.  

The policy should be amended to be clear that mitigation needed to 
realise development opportunities will be identified and secured 
where necessary but this may be secured /part secured through 
public sector funding and the implementation of an Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (The Peel Group).  
 
The policy is unlikely to deliver the infrastructure required to facilitate 
the scale of development projected in the plan (Peel Media 
Management Limited).   
 
An appropriate evidence base is not yet in place to identify the 
infrastructure required to deliver development at Salford Quays, 
although it is likely that the infrastructure needed will be strategic 
and it is not feasible for this to be funded through section 106 
contributions (Peel Media Management Limited).   
 

Comments noted. Reference has been added to the introduction / 
justification to the policy to make it clear that the council will seek 
opportunities to secure external public funding to assist in the 
delivery of infrastructure, but that it will be very important to ensure 
that the contributions obtained from developers are maximised. 
 

The policy is in conflict with the NPPF and Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations and is unsound (The Peel Group).  

Disagree. The policy is considered to be in accordance with the 
NPPF and also the CIL Regulations. The introduction / justification to 

P
age 1500



 

the policy clearly states that the use of conditions and obligations will 
be consistent with the tests set out in national guidance. 
 

Paragraph 6.13 is inappropriate as it assumes that an education 
contribution will be sought in all cases rather than only where there 
is an identifiable shortfall (Persimmon Homes).  

Paragraph 8.1 of the revised plan states that the use of conditions 
and obligations will be consistent with the tests set out in national 
guidance. If there is no shortfall then contributions towards education 
will not be sought.  
 

Funding through section 106 agreements is unlikely to work due to 
timescales for the release of funds is likely to be phased, cannot be 
predicted by the council, and is limited to pooling 5 contributions 
towards one project. A strategy is needed to obtain public funding for 
strategic transport infrastructure to act as a platform to support the 
growth agenda (Peel Media Management Limited).   

Comments noted. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan will set out the 
strategic transport infrastructure needed. However, it is considered 
that any strategy for obtaining public funding for strategic transport 
infrastructure will be outside of the Local Plan. In the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government document 
“Government response to supporting housing delivery through 
developer contributions: A summary of consultation responses and 
the Government’s view on the way forward” (October 2018), the 
Government stated its intention to lift the pooling restrictions. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy DP3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A new section has been added to the policy dealing with the artificial 
splitting of sites as a means of avoiding planning obligations policy 
requirements.  

In order to ensure that developers do not seek to avoid mitigating the 
impacts of their developments by artificially splitting their site. The 
wording of the policy reflects the High Court judgement in New Dawn 
Homes Limited v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government & Tewksbury Borough Council [2016] EWHC 3314 
(Admin). 
 

Additional text has been added stating that where a viability 
appraisal is submitted by an applicant in order to justify a reduced 
contribution, it will be published prior to the determination of the 
planning application unless there are exceptional circumstances. 

To reflect the national planning practice guidance, which states that 
any viability assessment should be prepared on the basis that it will 
be made publicly available other than in exceptional circumstances 
(Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 10-021-20180724), and the city 
council’s commitment to transparency. 
 

P
age 1501



 

 

P
age 1502



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Chapter 7 Economic Development (General) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Accept the need to support economic growth and pleased to 
see reference to wider issues including inequalities and to 
developers signing up to the Mayor’s Employment Charter. 
Business ethics and ethos are important to creating high 
quality jobs and there should be greater reference to social 
value and encouraging not for profit and social enterprises 
(NHS Clinical Commissioning Group) 

A new opening statement has been added to the chapter which 
emphasises the need for the benefits of growth to be felt by all 
segments of society. 
 
Policy EC1 has been amended to refer to the development of a 
“diverse inclusive economy” and includes a new point ‘8’ as 
follows: 8) Work with developers, businesses and other 
organisations to help residents take up high quality jobs and 
training opportunities in the city 
 
A new policy EC2 Economic Inclusion has also been added to 
the chapter to address the issues raised. 
 
More generally, fairness is now much more prominently the 
central theme of the plan, and a new chapter on this topic has 
been included near the start of document. 
 

Support the identification of the line of the former Manchester 
Bury and Bolton Canal on Figure 4 but suggest that it is 
differentiated from existing waterways to avoid confusion 
(Canal and River Trust). 

Support welcomed, Figure 4 has been amended to address 
this issue. 

  

Other significant changes made to Chapter 7 Economic Development (General) 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Various - see individual policy tables for detail See individual policy tables for detail 

P
age 1503



2 
 

A new policy EC6 (Economic Inclusion) has been added to the 
Economic Development chapter of the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
 

It is essential for the long term success of the city that its residents 
share in the benefits of economic growth and development. In this 
regard the policy states that new development should seek to 
maximise its economic benefit for the city’s population, with 
consideration given to the various ways this could be achieved 
including on-site employment and training opportunities for Salford’s 
residents, utilising local supply chains and signing up to the Mayor’s 
Employment Charter. 
 
The policy will contribute to a number of social objectives but also 
other objectives, including reducing the need to travel by using local 
labour. The policy should therefore help to secure a more inclusive 
and sustainable city. 

 P
age 1504



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC1 Economic Development Spatial Strategy 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Levels of growth 

Support the commitment to economic growth and the city’s role in 
the economic growth of Greater Manchester, however consider that 
the floorspace targets should be higher, taking a higher proportion of 
GM growth (developers) 

The levels of economic growth identified in the Local Plan reflect the 
identified land supply in Salford and help to deliver the total 
employment floorspace figures for Greater Manchester that are set 
out in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. 
 
Identified provision within the city reflects the key opportunities it 
presents, with high levels of office growth within the City Centre and 
Salford Quays. The figures also reflect the proposal in the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework for the expansion of Port Salford. 
Additions to the identified supply for industry and warehousing would 
require land either currently in the Green Belt or proposed as Green 
Belt in the GMSF. All decisions about whether Green Belt 
boundaries in Salford should be altered, including whether any 
existing Green Belt should be de-designated so that it can be 
developed, will be made through the GMSF and not through the 
Local Plan. 
 
The overall levels of growth identified in the Local Plan will continue 
to be reviewed alongside progress on the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. 

Supportive of the housing and employment growth proposed, the 
proposal for the Western Gateway complement Warrington’s own 
growth aspirations (Warrington Borough Council) 

Support welcomed. 

City Centre and Salford Quays/ MediaCityUK 

An alternative spatial definition of the City Centre is proposed, 
incorporating Salford Quays/MediaCityUK, and a redefinition as also 
being part of a wider Regional Centre. This more accurately reflects 

Salford Quays/MediaCityUK has its own distinctive character and 
identity. This is one of the area’s strengths. The Local Plan is clear 
about the importance of both the City Centre and Salford Quays in 
driving forward economic growth and tourism/leisure opportunities 

P
age 1505



 

its role, status and importance, as well as the proper spatial extent of 
the economic centre of Greater Manchester (developer)  

and, whilst improved connections between the two locations is 
important, it is considered that the distinctive identity of Salford 
Quays should be emphasised rather than subsuming it within a 
larger City Centre.  
 
No changes to the City Centre boundary have therefore been 
proposed. However, the Spatial Vision to the plan has been 
amended to emphasise the importance of these two areas at the 
heart of the conurbation, as part of a wider central economic area. 

Support for the identification of MediaCityUK as a key component to 
the economic spatial strategy, however the digital, creative and 
media hub at MediaCityUK is established rather than emerging and 
this should be reflected in Policy (developer) 

Criterion 2 of Policy E1 has been amended to reflect the established 
nature of MediaCityUK and is now proposed as follows: 
 

2) Continue to develop the  cluster of business activity at 
MediaCityUK into a high-tech creative hub of international 
significance that is able to attract a very broad range of 
digital, creative and media-related businesses; 

 

Growth at MediaCityUK needs to be linked to a clear 
infrastructure plan to ensure it is deliverable, which is not yet in 
place (developer) 
 

Policy AP3 recognises the importance of improved transport links to 
Salford Quays and MediaCityUK, describing that “new development 
will be coordinated with the provision of new and improved transport 
infrastructure and services” 

Port Salford 

Port Salford does not fit with the Liverpool System, the need to 
transfer goods from large to small ships meaning that goods will 
instead be transported by road or rail (individual) 
 

Port Salford to the south of the A57 already has planning 
permission. An extension to the permitted scheme to provide 
additional employment accommodation is proposed in the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework. 
 
The potential benefits of Port Salford to support freight movements 
by water are identified in the Greater Manchester Logistics Study 
produced by MDS Transmodal, in association with Regeneris 
Consulting and LCP Consulting, on behalf of Greater Manchester 
Chief Executives Investment Group and MIDAS in 2014. 
 
The study refers to the existing barge service from Seaforth to Irlam 
utilising the Ship Canal and describes that this “is likely to be 

P
age 1506



 

augmented by the use of larger barges or sea-going vessels and an 
increased frequency once Port Salford is developed so that the 
existing traffic of 20,000 containers per annum can be increased to 
about 100,000 containers” (Technical Report Page 35). 
 
It describes that “GM could extend its role to become a more cost-
effective location for NDCs for occupiers with an average national 
distribution pattern if it can develop a distribution park with access to 
rail and waterborne transport and so take advantage of GMs’ unique 
selling point at a national level: the availability of a site at Port 
Salford for a tri-modal distribution park on the Manchester Ship 
Canal with a barge service to a deep water container port at 
Liverpool. If the distribution centre is co-located with a rail terminal 
then rail offers the means of receiving goods from south-east ports 
at costs that are less than by road haulage to much of the ‘golden 
triangle’ while providing a low cost means of delivering into south-
east markets. Where the shipping line carrying imports is using the 
Port of Liverpool, the barge service will provide an even lower cost 
means of transporting a container to a Manchester terminal 
(Technical Report page 66). 
 

Infrastructure Provision 

Strongly support improved transport connections to Manchester 
Airport and Airport City, both for businesses and residents. 
Recommend that Manchester Airport is labelled on Figure 3 
(Manchester Airport) 

Support welcomed, labelling of Figure 3 has been amended. 

Concerns regarding the city’s infrastructure and the impacts of 
growth including: 

 That the plan is not supported by a clear and deliverable 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (developers) 

 The implications of development on the A57 in Irlam and 
Cadishead (community group) 

 No details of how improved connectivity will be achieved 
(Highways England) 

The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 

P
age 1507



 

 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Other 

There should be more emphasis on providing evidence for 
encouraging manufacturing and production, technical facilities, 
college, training etc we are going to need it when trade with Europe 
on the East Coast slows down and a larger amount of trade will 
move to the West Coast and the World (individual) 

The Local Plan is a strategic planning document and so there are 
limits to which it can address the issues raised.  
 
Nevertheless, the city has a range of existing employment areas that 
support a variety of businesses and these will continue to be given a 
level of protection through Policy EC6. The existing supply will be 
supplemented by development on new employment sites including 
Port Salford which has the potential to bring wider benefits to the city 
and conurbation. Port Salford will link Greater Manchester to the 
post-Panamax facilities at the Port of Liverpool which will be 
essential for tapping into the international trade referred to. 
 
The Local Plan presents a positive policy framework towards the 
city’s educational establishments in Chapter 14 and a new point 7 in 
Policy EC1 expresses support for knowledge based employment 
linked to higher education and research institutions. 
 
A new allocation for ‘Salford Innovation Park’, Policy EC5/2, seeks to 
enhance existing provision in the area in support of the connections 
between education, research and industry. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy EC1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

P
age 1508



 

The second sentence of the policy has been amended to refer to a 
‘diverse and inclusive economy’. 

The change emphasises the importance of economic growth that will 
benefit all parts of the community, reflecting the plan’s central theme 
of fairness. 

‘Salford Quays’ added to point 1. To reflect the major increases in office floorspace identified for the 
City Centre and Salford Quays. 

‘Salford Quays’ added to point 2 To reflect the role of the wider Salford Quays area in respect of the 
growing cluster of digital, creative and media-related businesses. 

A new point ‘7’ added to the policy as follows: 
 
7) Support the growth of knowledge-based businesses, including 
opportunities associated with the high-tech creative hub at Salford 
Quays and the city’s higher education and research institutions; 

The Draft Local Plan provided support for knowledge based 
businesses associated with the University of Salford and Salford 
Royal Hospital Foundation Trust. This new point ‘7’ provides wider 
support for knowledge based businesses recognising other 
opportunities including the creative hub at Salford Quays. 

A new point ‘8’ added to the policy as follows: 
 
8) Work with developers, businesses and other organisations to help 
residents take up high quality jobs and training opportunities in the 
city; 

The point emphasises the importance of economic growth that 
benefits local people as an overarching principle. This complements 
Policy EC2 (Economic inclusion) which has also been added to the 
plan. 

Points ‘7’ and ‘8’ as shown in the Draft Plan have been merged to 
create a new point 9 as follows: 
 
“Improve transport connections, particularly public transport, to key 
employment areas within and outside the city, enabling Salford 
residents and businesses to take full advantage of their diverse 
opportunities, including the internationally important Manchester 
Airport and Airport City, the City Centre, the wider Quays area, 
Trafford Park, and Logistics North in Bolton; and” 
 

The two bullets were covering similar issues and the new bullet also 
addresses the importance of transport connections within the city 
which was not previously identified. 

 

P
age 1509



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC2 Office Development 

(Policy reference has been changed to EC3 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Levels of growth 

Support that Salford is expected to deliver a very significant 
proportion (at least 17%) of the office development requirement for 
Greater Manchester. This reflects the economic role of the City and 
its key office locations, including Salford Quays/MediaCityUK as a 
critical part of the Regional Centre (developer) 

Support welcomed. 

Support the identification of Salford Quays as one of two key office 
locations in Salford and that office development can exceed the 
target identified in the Plan, if it is focused in the City Centre or 
Salford Quays. As such the target for these areas should be set out 
as a minimum figure. (developer) 

Support welcomed.  
 
Policy EC3 (previously EC2) describes that “around 400,000m2 of 
new office floorspace will be provided in Salford over the period 
2018-2037” and that “a higher overall level of office development will 
be supported, provided that it is consistent with this strong focus on 
the City Centre and Salford Quays”.  
 
A statement regarding the levels of development expected can be a 
valuable reference point, for infrastructure providers in particular. 
Policy EC3 and the inclusion of indicative figures prefaced with 
‘around’ provide this reference point whilst recognising the 
uncertainties around long term estimates and the potential of the 
area to exceed them. The policy does not impose a cap on 
development and therefore higher levels could potentially be 
achieved and this is specifically identified in the policy.  
 
The use of minimum targets would not reflect the fact that the figures 
identified are long term estimates of development, nor would they 
provide an indication of the levels of growth expected. An alternative 
approach using minimum figures is not considered to add to the 

P
age 1510



 

policy approach and therefore no change has been made in this 
regard. 
 

Pleased to see focus on City Centre and MediaCityUK but query 
whether 915,000sqm of office, industrial and warehousing floorspace 
to 2035 is really justified (CPRE Lancashire) 

The levels of office growth identified in the Local Plan have been 
defined in the context of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
(GMSF) and reflect the key opportunities the city presents, with high 
levels of office growth within the strategically important locations of 
the City Centre and Salford Quays. 
 
The overall levels of growth identified in the Local Plan will continue 
to be reviewed alongside progress on the GMSF. 
 
No alternative floorspace figure was provided as part of this 
representation to the policy. 

Want to see a marketing strategy that promotes and utilises vacant 
and unoccupied space before new office blocks are provided at 
Salford Quays (community group) 

The marketing of completed office premises falls to the owner of the 
property in question. MIDAS (Manchester Inward Investment 
Agency) and Salford’s Business Team provide assistance in 
matching investors with available accommodation and can provide 
advice on the marketing of vacant premises.  
 
Salford Quays and MediaCityUK is a strategic priority for the sub-
region and it is not considered necessary or appropriate for 
development to be constrained due to the lack of a marketing 
strategy for the area or on the basis of occupation levels which can 
fluctuate over time. 
 
No changes are therefore proposed to the policy. 

Town Centre Hierarchy 

Policy wording indicates a hierarchy of office locations, with Salford 
Quays and the City Centre taking primacy over town and 
neighbourhood centres, before other locations. This hierarchy could 
be used as the basis for sequential site assessments and impact 
assessments for office developments but it is considered that a more 
detailed definition is required for Salford Quays role and its place in 
the hierarchy (developer) 

Policy EC3 (previously EC2) identifies Salford Quays and the City 
Centre as the city’s primary office locations and that together they 
will provide the vast majority of the 400,000sqm of office floorspace 
expected within the city to 2037. Policies AP1 ‘City Centre’ and AP3 ‘ 
Salford Quays’ describe that the City Centre is expected to 
accommodate around 150,000sqm and Salford Quays around 
250,000sqm.  

P
age 1511



 

 
Policy AP3 provides a wider description of the role of Salford Quays 
and policy TC1 (Town Centre Hierarchy) identifies its position in the 
town centre hierarchy.  
 
Policy EC3 is clear that, should higher levels of office growth come 
forward than envisaged within the plan, this should not be allowed to 
detract from the achievement of the proposed levels of office 
development in the City Centre or Salford Quays.  
 
The guidance provided by the four policies identified above provides 
a clear description of the role of Salford Quays and provides an 
appropriate level of protection for the primacy of Salford Quays and 
the City Centre. No changes are therefore proposed to Policy EC3. 

Infrastructure 

There are no good public transport links for people in West Salford 
to Salford Quays, Port Salford and Manchester Airport where new 
job opportunities will be created (individual)  

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies, in particular the accessibility 
chapter. The locations listed in the representation are identified in 
the plan as priority locations where a modal shift towards more 
sustainable forms of transport such as walking, cycling and public 
transport will be encouraged. 
 
Policy AP3 ‘Salford Quays’ also describes that new development will 
be coordinated with the provision of new and improved transport 
infrastructure and services and that improved bus connections from 
across the city will be sought. 

Policy does not discuss the need to provide any additional 
infrastructure, despite the concentration of development in specific 
areas (Highways England) 

The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 

P
age 1512



 

 
Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. The City Centre and Salford Quays, in 
which the majority of new office floorspace will be delivered, are 
identified in Policy A1 as the highest priority locations in which a 
modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport such as 
walking, cycling and public transport will be encouraged. 
 
Specific priorities and proposals are also identified in policies AP1 
‘City Centre’ and AP3 ‘Salford Quays’.  

Other significant changes made to policy EC2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 P
age 1513



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC3 Industrial and Warehousing Development 

(Policy reference has been changed to EC4 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Levels of growth 

The amount of new industrial and warehousing floorspace could be 
increased to 600,000sqm to reflect a proposed extension to Logistics 
North, and to better reflect Salford’s role in delivering the goals of the 
GMSF (developer) 

The expansion of Logistics North in Salford, as proposed in the 
representation, would require incursions into the country park 
committed as part of the original planning permission. The extension 
identified comprises land currently in the Green Belt and further land 
proposed as an addition to the Green Belt in the GMSF. All 
decisions about whether Green Belt boundaries in Salford should be 
altered, including whether any existing Green Belt should be de-
designated so that it can be developed, will be made through the 
GMSF and not through the Local Plan. 
 

Query the justification for the levels of industrial and warehousing 
growth identified: 
 

 Want to see adequate new jobs in Salford but query whether 
915,000sqm of office, industrial and warehousing floorspace 
to 2035 is really justified (CPRE Lancashire) 

 It is unclear how the level of growth has been derived and 
Salford could potentially accommodate a greater level of 
warehousing/industrial floorspace. Policy EC3 underplays its 
role and potential in this regard, particularly having regard to 
its current and planned infrastructure connections to the Port 
of Liverpool and the new deep-sea port at Liverpool 2 
(developer) 

The levels of industrial and warehousing growth identified in the 
Local Plan have been defined in the context of the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) and reflect existing planning 
permissions, vacant sites within existing employment areas, and the 
expansion of Port Salford that is proposed in the GMSF. 
 
The allocation of additional employment sites would require further 
Green Belt release for which very special circumstances are not 
considered to exist in the context of provision at the Greater 
Manchester level. 
 
The overall levels of growth identified in the Local Plan will continue 
to be reviewed alongside progress on the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. 
 
 

P
age 1514



 

The absence of a net change figure for industrial and warehousing 
floorspace, together with the proposed development of existing 
employment sites for residential, makes the policy unclear. It is 
therefore not possible to consider the effectiveness or positivity of 
the policy (developer) 

The levels of industrial and warehousing growth identified in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan have been defined in the context of the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) and reflect existing 
planning permissions, vacant sites within existing employment 
areas, and the expansion of Port Salford that is proposed in the 
GMSF. 
 
The overall levels of growth identified in the Local Plan will continue 
to be reviewed alongside progress on the GMSF. 
 
The Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment, which is 
updated on an annual basis, provides details of potential gains and 
losses of industrial and warehousing floorspace. It can therefore be 
used to give an indication of net change over the plan period. It is 
however anticipated that there will be further losses than currently 
identified in that assessment and which will be managed in 
accordance with Policy EC6, but it is not possible to identify the 
precise scale of these as it will depend on market conditions. 
 
Therefore, whilst the policy does not include a net change figure for 
industrial and warehousing uses, the HELAA provides an annually 
updated source of information, and the plan provides an effective 
policy framework to manage proposals involving the loss of existing 
sites and premises. 

Port Salford and Port Salford Expansion 

Object to the expansion of Port Salford to the north of the A57 
allocation of Barton Moss based on insufficient evidence that 
negative impacts on biodiversity (including UK protected species and 
priority species) can be adequately avoided (GMEU) 

The tri-modal connections to be provided as part of the permitted 
Port Salford south of the A57, including ship, rail and road, will help 
to improve the sustainability of Greater Manchester’s distribution and 
supply chain activity, enabling goods and components to be moved 
by more sustainable modes closer to their origin or destination, and 
reducing the total distances travelled by road.  
 
The direct connections via the Manchester Ship Canal to the post-
Panamax facilities at the Port of Liverpool will provide easy access 
to the very largest container ships.  

Support for the brownfield part of Port Salford and of water-borne 
freight however oppose the development greenfield element and 
view it as unsustainable development. (CPRE Lancashire) 

Support the development of Port Salford but should be limited to the 
east of Barton Moss Road and all infrastructure must be in place 

P
age 1515



 

before development commences (Irlam and Cadishead Branch 
Labour Party) 

 
Port Salford should help to boost the competitiveness of Greater 
Manchester by significantly enhancing its logistics capabilities and 
the quality of investment opportunities, both in the immediate vicinity 
of the freight terminal and at nearby employment areas in both 
Salford and Trafford. 
 
The tri-modal connections will make Port Salford unique in Greater 
Manchester, and hence it is appropriate to consider the ways in 
which the benefits of these connections could be maximised. The 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework proposes the expansion of 
Port Salford onto land that is currently in the Green Belt to the north 
of the A57 and south of the M62 motorway, immediately to the north 
and west of Barton Aerodrome. This expansion will only be allowed 
to proceed once the rail spur, canal berths and further highway 
improvements are completed and operational. 
 
An ecological appraisal of the site has now been undertaken on 
behalf of the city council by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
and it is not considered that the issues identified outweigh the 
importance of the location in support of economic growth.   
 
The proposed GMSF policy requirements include the following which 
are of particular relevance to the issues raised in the 
representations: 

 Not commence until the rail link, highway improvements, canal 
berths and container terminal associated with the permitted Port 
Salford scheme to the south of the A57 have been completed 
and are operational 

 Be designed to form part of an integrated facility with the 
permitted Port Salford site to the south of the A57 and associated 
infrastructure, encouraging and enabling all occupiers to utilise 
the rail and water connections for freight movement 

 Incorporate high levels of landscaping, including the retention or 
replacement of existing  woodland, hedgerows and ponds where 

P
age 1516



 

practicable, so as to minimise the visual impact on the wider 
landscape (including on the remaining Green Belt separating the 
site from Irlam), maximise biodiversity and mitigate the 
environmental impacts of development including noise; 

 Support the objectives for the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area and avoid harm to protected species 

 Protect the quality of watercourses through and around the site 

 Not adversely affect the hydrology of surrounding areas of 
peat/mossland 

Small Business Uses 

To enable Salford to move into the next two decades and encourage 
the start-up of small businesses, small industrial units should be built 
at low rents in industrial parks local to motorway access (individual) 

There are a range of employment sites and premises within the city 
which can provide for a variety of investors and occupiers including 
small businesses. The protective approach through Policy EC6 will 
help to ensure that the city retains a range of such opportunities. 
 
Text has been added to the introduction/ justification to the policy to 
highlight the range of new opportunities available in the city away 
from Port Salford. These include Ashton’s Field, which has outline 
planning permission for industrial/warehouse development with 
indicative layouts showing a range of unit sizes (planning application 
reference 17/69776/OUT). 
 
The allocation of additional employment sites would require further 
Green Belt release for which very special circumstances are not 
considered to exist in the context of provision at the Greater 
Manchester level and locally. 

Infrastructure 

Policy does not discuss the need to provide any additional 
infrastructure, despite the concentration of development in specific 
areas (Highways England) 

The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 

P
age 1517



 

Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies within the Local Plan, in 
particular the accessibility chapter. Port Salford, which accounts for 
the majority of new industrial and warehouse floorspace to be 
delivered, is identified in Policy A1 as an important priority 
destination in which a modal shift towards more sustainable forms of 
transport such as walking, cycling and public transport will be 
encouraged. 
 
The extension of Port Salford will now be considered and proposed 
for allocation in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than the Local Plan. The  proposed GMSF policy 
requirements include the following which are of particular relevance 
to the issues raised in the representations:  

 Not be commenced until the rail link, highway improvements, 
canal berths and container terminal associated with the permitted 
Port Salford scheme to the south of the A57 have been 
completed and are operational; 

 Be designed to form part of an integrated facility with the Port 
Salford site to the south of the A57 and associated infrastructure, 
encouraging and enabling all occupiers to utilise the rail and 
water connections for freight movement 

 Deliver highway improvements to cater for the additional traffic 
created by the expansion of Port Salford in a way that is 
compatible with any proposals for the enhancement of the wider 
motorway network 

 Provide high quality walking and cycling routes from across the 
site to the bus stops on the A57 and the wider pedestrian and 
cycling network; 

 Maximise links to existing public transport services and support 
new routes as appropriate, including accommodating a potential 
extension of the Trafford Park Metrolink line to serve Port Salford 

P
age 1518



 

Existing Employment Areas 

The word ‘redevelopment’ suggests demolition and rebuilding as 
opposed to constructive conservation, adaptation and reuse and 
should be avoided (Historic England) 
 

The policy has been amended to refer to the “gradual reuse, 
refurbishment and redevelopment of existing older industrial and 
warehousing floorspace” in order to address this issue. However, it 
is important to recognise that redevelopment may be the most 
appropriate way forward for some existing employment premises. 
Other policies in the plan, and national guidance, would ensure that 
the impact on any heritage assets is taken into account. 

Other significant changes made to policy EC3 

Change Reason for change  

A breakdown of the overall supply has been added to the policy. To provide further clarification of the elements of the supply. 

Text has been added to the policy to explain that the allocation of 
land to provide for the extension of Port Salford will be taken forward 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework rather than the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. It also details the implications for the 
supply of the extension not coming forward. 

To reflect the latest versions of the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. 

 

P
age 1519



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC4 Employment Allocations (General) 

(Policy reference has been changed to EC5 in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for the overall economic ambitions of the plan. However 
insufficient justification provided for the scale of employment 
development, in order to be found sound the plan must 
accommodate a higher proportion of the overall economic 
development requirements of Greater Manchester (developer) 

Identified provision within the city reflects the key opportunities 
available, with high levels of office growth within the City Centre and 
Salford Quays, and the expansion of Port Salford as a strategic 
opportunity alongside the Manchester Ship Canal. No alternative 
floorspace figures were identified as part of the representations to 
Policy EC1. The Local Plan seeks to ensure that Salford is able to 
make a proportionate contribution to meeting the economic 
development needs of Greater Manchester. 
 
The figures presented in the Local Plan have now been updated to 
reflect the latest position and reflect an additional opportunity for new 
development at Salford Innovation Park, as identified in the Crescent 
Masterplan. The only additional opportunity identified in the 
representations that would potentially add to the supply of floorspace 
accommodated within the city was an expansion to Logistics North, 
which is considered further in relation to Draft Local Plan Policy EC3. 
Any other additions would require Green Belt development for which 
very special circumstances would be difficult to demonstrate in the 
context of the wider supply identified at the Greater Manchester 
level. 
 
The overall levels of growth identified in the Local Plan will continue 
to be reviewed alongside progress on the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. 

Logistics North now has only limited plot availability for occupiers 
seeking premises between 100,000 sq. ft. and 300,000 sq. ft and an 

The expansion of Logistics North in Salford, as proposed in the 
representation, would require incursions into the country park 
committed as part of the original planning permission. The extension 

P
age 1520



 

extension to the south is proposed in Salford (along with extension in 
Bolton) (developer) 

identified comprises land currently in the Green Belt and further land 
proposed as an addition to the Green Belt in the Revised Draft 
GMSF. All decisions about whether Green Belt boundaries in Salford 
should be altered, including whether any existing Green Belt should 
be de-designated so that it can be developed, will be made through 
the GMSF and not through the Local Plan. 

Site allocations should be subject to the requirements of the NPPF 
to undertake the flood risk sequential test, having regard to new 
guidance on climate change allowances (The Environment Agency) 

The Port Salford (EC5/1) allocation has planning permission, and so 
flood risk issues have already been assessed through the 
application process. A very small part of the Innovation Park 
allocation (EC5/2) could be subject to a 1% annual exceedance 
probability if flows increased by 70% due to climate change and only 
then in the undefended scenario, but the benefits of securing the 
more effective economic use of the area are considered to outweigh 
this risk. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy EC4 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Employment allocations EC4/2 Clifton Junction and EC4/3 Ashton’s 
Field have been removed from the policy. 

See table of changes to EC4/2 and EC4/3. 

A new employment allocation EC5/2 Salford Innovation Park has 
been added to the policy 

To reflect the aspirations outlined in the Salford Crescent Masterplan 
published in March 2018. 

 

P
age 1521



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC4/1 Port Salford Expansion 

Allocations involving development on land in Salford that is currently in the Green Belt are 
now being considered solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than Salford’s Local Plan. 
 
Issues raised in relation to Draft Local Plan policy EC4/1 are summarised below and have 
been taken into account in the drafting of GM Allocation 33 (Port Salford Extension) in the 
Revised Draft GMSF.  
 

 
Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

Consultation / Masterplanning 

Concerns expressed in relation to efforts of the council in notifying people of the plan 
and its proposals and the opportunities for people to get involved 

Need for Development, uses and extent of site 

Extent of the allocation does not correspond with that being promoted by Peel, in 
particular land immediately north of Barton Grange Farm on Fiddlers lane has been 
excluded. The land follows the indicative route of a new highway link between the 
A57 and M62 and would form a logical boundary (Peel Group) 

A number of comments questioned why further development is needed given 
progress of approved Port Salford (Individuals, community group, Hamilton Davis 
Trust). Issues raised included: 

 when approved there must have been consideration to a 10 - 20 year growth 
plan, therefore why is this development being discussed at this point?  

 The planning permission already granted state that before any further 
permissions for expansion are granted that the tri-modal infrastructure is in 
place 

 Without approved elements in place it is premature. Once released this land 
cannot be protected from speculative variance planning applications, e.g. 
Culina Why can’t Port Salford work successfully with the land it already has 
on the south side of the A57…was the granting of this permission flawed. 

A number of comments questioned the demand for further warehousing space 
(individuals, community groups, CPRE). Issues raised included: 

 query whether 915,000m2 of new office, industrial and warehousing 
floorspace over the period 2015-2035 is really justified. Support brownfield 
elements of Port Salford but opposed to greenfield and view it as 
unsustainable (CPRE) 

 The economic needs post Brexit are uncertain and the size of the original 
planned tri-modal hub may not be required 

 The calculations both in housing and warehousing are unrealistic 

 Why do we need such a mass of warehousing when we live in a just in time 
delivery world 

 Why is Salford electing to use ‘exceptional’ growth percentages as opposed 
to long/medium historical growth information?  

 If distribution is all retail based is it susceptible to economic volatility? Is this 
the best way to achieve a secure and diverse economy? Overall Greater 

Page 1522



2 
 

Manchester needs to export goods and services, it cannot survive as a net 
importer or distribution centre 

 Jobs targets seem very high based on the growth policy with little regard for 
the damage long term. We want new jobs and homes but not at all cost to the 
natural environment  

We support the building of Port Salford and welcome the economic growth it will 
bring to our area, we also agree that some of the extra workers creating this growth 
should have homes in Irlam and Cadishead but object to the development of Green 
Belt land (individual) 

The benefits of the scheme were questioned by a number of respondents 
(individuals, community group, Hamilton Davis Trust). Comments received included:  

 Port Salford does not fit with the Liverpool System, the need to transfer goods 
from large to small ships meaning that goods will instead be transported by 
road or rail. The respondent identifies that the journey along the Ship Canal is 
a perilous one and that the Liverpool docks have their own problems with the 
larger ships berthing. 

 Question the number of jobs warehousing will provide given low job densities  

 Question the skill levels of jobs in the warehouses and the salaries that will be 
available  

 No mention of any white collar jobs coming to the area  

 Question how much it will benefit local people 

 Question GVA benefits 

 Question balance of environmental cost versus economic benefit 

 Hamilton Davis Trust commented that if greenbelt is to be lost then it should 
be only to housing to minimise such loss 

 For the benefit of the community to live a healthier lifestyle under the GMSF 
plan under 'polluter pays' there should measures in place with a more greener 
suitable infrastructure, other countries are already doing green warehouses.  

 The proposal of half work units and housing only ever produces slums over 
time where no one would live if they had the choice 

A more limited number of comments expressed support for the expansion of Port 
Salford within the Green Belt: 

 Support the proposal but consider some of the detailed policy requirements 
should be amended (Peel Group) 

 I do not object to warehouses being built to ensure Port Salford becomes one 
of the most profitable businesses (individual) 

 Support the Port Salford proposals set out in Policy EC4/1 within the context 
of the wider plan strategy which seeks to support high levels of economic 
growth and increase the unique competitive advantages of the area, enabling 
residents to share in this (Persimmon Homes) 

 Acknowledge that Port Salford is of huge national and international 
significance. The scheme should progress green technologies and methods. 
However some comments from their community meetings that suggest some 
objection to the proposal (community group) 

 Agree in principle with plans to grow, develop and build houses, employment 
zones and infrastructure. Although concern at loss of mosses, feel it is 
inevitable for growth of towns (individual) 

We need warehousing for jobs to support the economy (Councillor) 

Page 1523



3 
 

Reasoned Justification Para 7.19 - High quality manufacturing should also be 
provided - we request that "should" be changed to "may" as the precise blend of 
uses will be market led (Peel Group) 

Highways and Transport Infrastructure 

A very large number of comments objected to the expansion of Port Salford in 
relation to existing and potential congestion and assocated impacts including poor 
air quality and highway safety. Specific comments referred to: 

 Unreliable Public Transport services (including cancellation of timetabled 
services, over crowding and inclusive access to Irlam Station) 

 Distance to Irlam Station 

 Ability to interchange at Irlam Station needs to be examined 

 Approach is not the most appropriate given alternatives, with reference to 
better connections in town and city centres and arterial routes. 

(individuals, community groups, Salford City Council Conservative Group, 
Barbara Keeley MP). 

The impacts of this development cannot be fully evaluated or conclusively 
commented on. The involvement of Highways England will be crucial in fully 
assessing the potential impacts of these allocations, developing the required 
mitigatory measures and developing an appropriate strategy for the phasing of 
development. (Highways England). 

A number of other representations questioned whether assessments of transport 
impacts had taken place, and how extensive this had been in factoring in particular 
proposals including: 

 Why were Port Salford traffic numbers/ travel plan not made available as part 
of this draft? 

 Impacts on the A57 from HS2 

 Railway line entering the Port 

 Red Diesel Routes around the Port 

 Carrington-M62 road link 

 existing congestion, anticipated extra 4000 cars expected as a result of the 
new dwellings, additional traffic associated with articulated lorry movements 
to and from Port Salford as well as traffic crossing from warehouse to the 
North and South of the A57, trains crossing the A57 going into Port Salford, 
HS2 crossing the A57 just past Glaze Brook, and the new Carrington spur to 
the M62.  

 response times for emergency vehicles on the A57 (individuals and 
community groups) 

Concerns relating to a lack of infrastructure upgrades and further details were 
sought (individuals and community groups).  

The benefits of the potential M62 / A57 link were questioned (individuals). 
Comments included: 

 rather than alleviate traffic, it would add to traffic within an already congested 
area 

 it will bring more fine particulates to the area 

 as development cannot progress until transport infrastructure is in place, does 
this include the A57/M62 link? 

The benefits of the Western Gateway Infrastructure Scheme were questioned 
(individual) 

Page 1524



4 
 

Support for a Metrolink extension and suggestion that more justification if extended 
to Irlam but questioned time period over which it would be delivered (individuals and 
community group) 

It is essential that infrastructure is provided in tandem expansion. The infrastructure 
works specified at 1) B of the policy and in particular the delivery of a new junction of 
the M62, north-east of Irlam must be delivered from the outset, whilst the Metrolink 
extension along with park and ride should be evaluated as the Local Plan evolves 
and included as a specific requirement as appropriate (Persimmon Homes) 

The site should not be developed until the current Port Salford site is complete and 
new transport infrastructure is in place. Agree with extension of Metrolink line to Port 
Salford and would like further investigation of route to Irlam and Cadishead 
(individual and Salford City Council Conservative Group) 

The original Port Salford was based on tri-modal connections, the rail link was based 
on European funding that will not happen post-Brexit (individual) 

Concerns relating to the proposed park and ride including that it will not help local 
people, will add to congestion on Liverpool Road and question whether it will be 
delivered (individuals and community group) 

No explanation what will happen to Barton Moss Road as access to existing 
homes/businesses (individuals) 

Loss of Green Belt together with HS2 will change Cadishead and Irlam and not for 
the better (individual) 

The cost of the infrastructure within moss land will be far greater than other lands 
due to the nature of the ground and this will mean that there will be a reliance on the 
residents of Salford to subsidise the cost of infrastructure to allow development to 
proceed (individual) 

Recommend that a fifth bullet is added to 1B) requiring the Manchester Ship Canal 
to be fully operational to freight ship traffic between Liverpool and Salford'. (GMEU) 

Criterion 1B - The proposed rail link is a key part of the scheme and will therefore be 
delivered prior to operation of the development. It is considered that "prior to 
commencement" is too onerous a condition (Peel Group) 

Criteria 1Bii - Whilst water access is an important aspect of the project, it is not 
necessary to enable access to the site or to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms. Furthermore, the requirement to deliver water access was not 
included as a condition on the planning permission for the original Port Salford 
scheme and there has been no material change in circumstances which would 
warrant a different approach being taken now. The design and timing of such 
facilities will need to relate to the types of businesses attracted to Port Salford to 
ensure that the significant investment involved in their provision is properly and 
effectively directed. It is not appropriate that they should have to be completed in 
advance. As such, the requirement in respect of the wharves is unjustified and 
should be deleted accordingly. It should also be noted in terms of terminology that 
the existing planning permission refers inter alia to ‘ancillary facilities including a 
canal quay and berths’. There is no mention of ‘wharves’. (Peel Group) 

Criteria 1Biii and 1Biv - Concerns about the scale of burden placed on the 
development of the site which includes a new motorway junction and link road prior 
to commencement. The representation identifies several flaws in this approach 
including: 
 

Page 1525



5 
 

 Proposals for the new junction and link road need to be properly evaluated in 
terms of benefits to the strategic road network and not just in respect of a 
single development site 

 Establishing disproportionate requirements for development to forward-fund 
new infrastructure would fail the relevant legal tests of being necessary, 
directly related, and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind, to the 
development. This is particularly the case given that these are strategic 
highway improvements for the wider the area which should fall within the 
scope of the North West Quadrant Study [Manchester North-West Quadrant 
Strategy Study: Stage 3 Report, Department for Transport (November 2016)], 
the Highways England Route Investment Strategy or other more localised or 
GM level funding streams. 

 the proposed requirements are highly commercially onerous for the proposed 
development to deliver on its own (or indeed contribute a lion’s share of) and 
would simply undermine viability and deter investment. 

 No comparable restrictions are placed on any other proposed GMSF 
employment allocation - placing Port Salford as a multi-modal site at a 
competitive disadvantage to road-only sites across GM and beyond. (Peel 
Group) 

The priority must therefore be to establish the infrastructure evidence and develop a 
funding strategy appropriate to the infrastructure. An appropriate trigger mechanism 
may then be considered (Peel Group) 

Criterion 2  - The policy states that occupiers must have "easy access" to the rail link 
and wharves. There should be no restriction in relation to the water access. As 
regards the rail link, whilst all occupiers will be able to access it, only some will have 
direct access or frontage. This reflects the scale and layout of the site. Peel 
therefore requests that the reference to "easy access" is amended to simply 
"access" such that the requirement is precise in what it requires and capable of 
objective assessment (Peel Group) 

Criterion 3 – Requirements relating to the operation and safety of City Airport are 
unneccesary as they are covered by other legislation and policies (Peel Group) 

Criterion 8 -  There is no evidence regarding the need for or feasibility of Metrolink at 
the present time. Indeed, Peel understands that TfGM has no plans for such an 
extension and that such a route is likely to be unfeasible due to the constraints of the 
Port Salford railway bridge. Unless and until such evidence is available the Metrolink 
criterion is unjustified and should be removed (Peel Group) 

Criterion 9 - to our knowledge no work has been undertaken to demonstrate that a 
park and ride is required in this location or who and where it would serve. The ‘need’ 
for such a facility is not generated by the development itself and the requirement for 
it is unclear and unjustified. Such a facility would be land hungry and could detract 
from the viability of the Expansion development, including the need for a critical 
mass of floorspace to support investment in other infrastructure (Peel Group) 

Loss of Green Belt / Seperation 

A large number of comments objected to the reclassification of Green Belt land for 
development (individuals, petition, community groups, Hamilton Davis Trust, Salford 
City Council Conservative Group, and Barbara Keeley MP) 

Exceptional / Special Circumstances have not been shown (individuals, community 
groups and Barbara Keeley MP).  

Page 1526



6 
 

A number of representation identified alternative brownfield sites that should be 
developed and/or alternative ways of accommodating growth including: 

 Cadishead petrol station 

 Cadishead South (north of Cadishead Way) 

 Kingsland Wines 

 Sites discounted as alternative options in the sustainability appraisal 

 Trafford Park  

 Smart Growth 
(individuals, community groups and Barbara Keeley MP) 

Has anyone completed a survey of Warehouse space standing idle in Greater 
Manchester / Greater Liverpool (individual) 

Concerns relating to the loss of land that breaks up development / separates 
settlements / prevents urban sprawl. Reference was made to the gap between Irlam 
and Winton/Barton/Eccles and the potential for continuous development from the 
City Centre to Warrington (individuals, community groups, Hamilton Davis Trust, 
Salford Council Conservative Group, Irlam and Cadishead Branch Labour Party). 

We are separated from other towns and this is keeping crime figures down 
(individual and community group) 

The A57 was identified as a definite and easily defendable boundary (individual and 
community group) 

The proposal could create a precedent (individual and Barbara Keeley MP) 

With reference to ‘on the ground’ knowledge of these areas, it was suggested that 
the moderate rating in the Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment should / 
must be reclassified as Strong (individual) 

The use of Green Belt land for warehousing is a poor use of the lost amenity, and 
job creation in warehousing is low for the amenity lost (Hamilton Davis Trust) 

Unfair to develop these highly values areas of land in an otherwise urban 
environment to meet targets set for the whole of GM (Barbara Keeley MP) 

The development weakens the ability of adjacent Green Belt land (between the site 
and Irlam) to perform its Green Belt function (community group) 

The development makes it all the more important to retain the residual area 
(between the site and Irlam), as it makes a vital contribution to maintaining the 
separation of Irlam and Eccles (Persimmon Homes).  

If industrial development must proceed there needs to be a hard boundary at Barton 
Moss Road. This is both to protect the green space and acknowledge the high 
probability of an M62 link road in the future (Hamilton Davis Trust) 

Support for Policy A9 Park and ride facilities, but opposed to sites in the Green Belt 
due to the adverse impact on openness (CPRE) 

Peel Group do not agree with the findings of the Green Belt assessment. Issues 
raised included that: 

 The parcel is separate and detached from the wider Green Belt given its 
location south of the M62 

 The site is surrounded by urbanising features which, along with urbanising 
features within the site, affect openness 

 The site has an urban fringe character 

Page 1527



7 
 

 The Green Belt designation therefore serves relatively limited purpose and 
the release would not result in significant harm against the purposes or 
objectives of Green Belt. 

The Peel Group state that the site is suitable for development and is in a highly 
sustainable location for large scale mixed-use development. Jobs, homes, leisure 
and community uses, green space and road and public transport investment make 
this one of the most sustainable and logical locations for development in GM. There 
are therefore clearly exceptional circumstances to justify its release. 

Landscape/ Countryside 

A number of comments related to the loss of landscape quality/ openness/ 
countryside (individual, community group and Barbara Keeled MP). Reference was 
made to the loss of outstanding natural beauty, whether a large very visually 
intrusive warehouse is appropriate for this open rural location, loss of openness and 
loss of countryside.  

Mossland 

Protection of the mosslands should extend to land south of the M62 (Salford City 
Council Conservative Group) 

Land is unsuitable for building, land is peat and very wet (individuals and community 
group) 

Concerns relating to cumulative impacts of Green Belt development proposals and 
the lack of detail regarding biodiversity off-setting (GMEU) 

Objections relating to the role of Mossland in respect of carbon sink / contribution to 
the carbon emissions target within the Salford and Greater Manchester area/ air 
quality (individuals, community groups and Barbara Keeley MP) 

Objections relating to the role of the impact of development on role of mosslands as 
flood protection and in supplying fresh/drinking water (individuals and community 
groups) 

The site should contribute to the enhancement of Chat Moss in the interests of 
environmental sustainability (Persimmon Homes) 

Lancashire Wildlife Trust identified a lack of definitions for "significant"  and “Chat 
Moss” in criteria 12 and question how improvements will be delivered. 

Objection to lack of evidence relating to improvements to Chat Moss and that 
biodiversity off-setting can be guaranteed and biodiversity safeguarded.  (GMEU) 

Criterion 12 – the policy requires development to make a "significant contribution" to 
the enhancement of Chat Moss. The Reasoned Justification states that this is as 
compensation for the loss of Green Belt land, peat and mossland. In respect of the 
Green Belt, a decision to remove land from the Green Belt does not require 
"compensation". Such an approach does not feature in national policy. By definition 
it is justified by the exceptional circumstances which allow the land to be removed 
from the Green Belt in the first place. In respect of peat and mossland the impact of 
the allocation needs to be properly considered with regard to the quality of the Port 
Salford Extension land. 

 
At this stage it is unclear and questionable whether such contributions would satisfy 
the relevant legal tests of being necessary, directly related, and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind, to the development. No assessment has been undertaken 
of the potential impact of such contributions on the viability and deliverability of 
development on the Site. Furthermore, no evidence has been presented as to what 

Page 1528



8 
 

actual enhancements might be made, by whom and whether they are achievable. 
Unless and until these points can be addressed, this criterion must be omitted from 
Policy EC4/1 to ensure it is sound and legal (Peel Group). 
Biodiversity / Natural Environment 

Concerns relating to impact on the natural environment, habitats and species including 
protected red and amber bird species, mammals, reptiles and amphibians (individuals, 
community groups, Barbara Keeley MP) 

Natural history of the site far outweighs the need for development and the area is part of 
major conservation efforts including the Carbon Landscape Initiative, GM Wetlands Project, 
Mosslands Strategy, Nature Improvement Area, State of Nature Report, the Birds of 
Conservation Report (individual)  

Concerns relating to the information / evidence provided relating to habitats and species 
(GMEU and Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

No reference to the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Areas (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust) 

Little reference to ecological networks which would guide development. The site provides an 
opportunity to enhance severed north south ecological networks across the M62 but these 
are not mentioned, nor is there cross-reference to biodiversity policies (Lancashire Wildlife 
Trust) 

Welcome policy requirements 5, 6 and 12 where they make reference to Local 
Wildlife Sites (SBIs), and wetland habitats of principal importance (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust) 

Propose a further requirement that: ‘where retention of existing habitat is not 
practicable, compensation will be required to provide / retain connectivity of existing 
habitat and produce net gain of quantity and quality of equivalent 
habitats’(Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

Question whether the policy should also include the requirement to ‘Protect and 
enhance the Foxhill Glen site of biological importance and other marsh habitats 
around Boyle Brook’ as appears in the GMSF (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 
The size, quality, diversity and interconnectedness of Salford's habitats will be significantly 
reduced. The development will impede and disrupt connectivity between Woolston Eyes 
Nature reserve SSI, Risley Moss SSSI, and Astley & Bedford Mosses SSSI, compromising 
their ecological integrity. These mossland sites form the Manchester Mosses Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC), which is protected under the EC Habitats Directive (individuals and 
community groups) 

Allocations for development should prioritise land of lesser environmental value (individuals 
and community group) 

Food Production / Loss of Agriculture 

Concerns relating to loss of Grade 1 agricultural land and potential for food 
production. Comments included reference to food security and livlihoods 
(individuals, community groups and Barbara Keeley MP) 

Referencing low employment densities, Hamilton Davis Trust felt strongly that if any 
grade 1 agricultural land must be lost, it should be to housing, not industry (Hamilton 
Davis Trust) 

Surface water and groundwater 

A number of objections cited issues relating to the impact development would have 
on water movement and storage (individuals and community group). 

The Environment agency stated that Bullet point 6 should be strengthened to ensure 
development seeks to ‘enhance’ rather than just ‘protect’ watercourses through the 
site. This supports the objectives of the Water Framework Directive and NPPF 
Paragraph 109. They also identified that dewatering and drainage of peat may lead 

Page 1529



9 
 

to land subsidence and can release stored carbon. Any development on peatlands 
will need to be supported by a hydrological assessment. 

Two responses highlighted the impact drainage issues and a shallow water table 
could have on deliverability (individuals) 

Green infrastructure based SuDS also need to be included within any development 
(City of Trees). 

Consideration must be given to disposal of surface water in the most sustainable 
way (United Utilities) 

Environment Agency suggested wording regarding SUDS: Incorporate measures to 
mimic natural drainage through the use of green sustainable urban drainage to 
control the rate of surface water run-off (Environment Agency) 

Green Infrastructure 

Point 12 extended to cover enhancement of green infrastructure and trees. In the 
reasoned justification the reference to high quality green infrastructure should read 
as “extensive and high quality green infrastructure”. In the reasoned justification the 
contribution to the enhancement of green infrastructure of trees and other green 
infrastructure needs to be included (City of Trees). 

Minerals 

Pleased to note reference to mineral safeguarding areas and prior extraction where 
practicable so as to ensure that important mineral resources are not lost (Minerals 
and Waste Planning Unit) 

Recreation, health and well being 

Concerns relating to the loss of the recreational, health and well being benefits of the 
Green Belt were exclicit and implicit in a large number of representations. 
Comments included concerns relating to the loss of the Golf Course (individuals, 
community groups, Hamilton Davis Trust and Barbara Keeley MP) 
Air Quality 

The area already suffers from poor air quality and respiratory illness in adults and children 
which will be made worse with additional vehicles and loss of mosslands (the latter 
considered to function as a “Green Lung” (individuals, community groups, Barbara Keeley 
MP)  

Light and Noise Pollution 

Objections relating to 24 hour operation of the scheme, noise and light pollution 
(individuals) 

Community Infrastructure 

Concerns relating to the impact of development in respect of the capacity of 
community facilities and transport infrastructure to support it (individuals and 
community group) 

Developers should be made to sign that the are committed to the development of 
new schools, hospitals and a fully and properly coordinated infrastructure and all that 
this encompasses. Should quite clearly state they have to or planning permission will 
not be permitted (individuals) 

Heritage 

Concern that there is not a proper assessment of the potential impact on nearby 
Grade II listed buildings (Historic England)   

The site is of archaeological significance (individual and community group) 

The land is part of Irlam and Cadishead’s heritage (individual) 

Delivery and policy requirements (not addressed under the topic summaries 
above) 

Page 1530



10 
 

Concerned that the requirements of the policy are extremely onerous and well 
beyond other proposed employment allocations in the GMSF. They risk making Port 
Salford uncompetitive relative to road-only employment sites emerging elsewhere in 
Greater Manchester. (Peel Group) 

Strong prospect of the site commencing shortly after plan adoption and completed in 
its entirety over the plan period (Peel Group) 

Criterion 1A - There is no objective basis for the 75% limit. It removes flexibility to 
respond to market opportunities which may be better suited to the Expansion site 
rather than the existing Port Salford site. Similarly, no other proposed allocations 
have a restriction requiring existing employment land to be completed first, such as 
those in the Northern Gateway or Eastern Gateway areas of GMSF. The criteria 
should be removed or significantly reworded to ensure fair competition in the GM 
context and to allow for market flexibility (Peel Group) 

Recommend further strengthening of the triggers, 'that 75% of proposed floor space 
is occupied rather than completed (GMEU) 

Criterion 5 - The phrase ‘very high levels of landscaping’ is unclear and imprecise. It 
should read "appropriate landscaping" (Peel Group) 

Criterion 10 - The requirement to maintain the direct pedestrian link between the golf 
course and clubhouse is not an appropriate matter for a Local Plan policy. It is a 
detailed design issue that relates to a private facility. The criterion should be 
removed (Peel Group) 

Criterion 13 - Community engagement is covered by NPPF and the SCI. There is no 
need to duplicate it in the Local Plan. Additionally there is no definition of ‘high levels 
of community engagement’ or ‘frequent liaison meetings’ (Peel Group). 

Reasoned Justification Para 7.21 - contains additional text to that found in the 
corresponding GMSF policy WG3 in relation to the golf course and playing fields. 
The second sentence reads as a policy requirement which as Reasoned Justification 
text it cannot be. The sentence should be deleted. It should not be replicated within 
the policy itself, as these matters are not evidenced as being necessary or 
achievable (Peel Group) 

In America ships are able to hook up to land side electrics when in dock so they can 
turn off their engines which give off pollutants. Can this be seriously considered at 
the Port (individual) 

Development of site could raise the possibility of fracking (individual) 
 

Page 1531



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC4/2 Clifton Junction 

(Allocation EC4/2 Clifton Junction has not been carried forward in the Revised Draft Local Plan (see below)) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the continued and more efficient use of Clifton Junction for 
employment use (Salford City Council Conservative Group) 

The Clifton Junction allocation was included in the Draft Local Plan 
to highlight the potential of undeveloped sites within the existing 
employment area to accommodate employment uses, including 
those relocated from elsewhere in the city. 
 
The area can be broadly split into three parts, comprising 
Magnesium Elektron, Junction Eco Park and Pilkington’s tiles. It is 
the latter two elements in which available land is concentrated.  
 
Junction Eco Park has an advertised focus on green and renewable 
related industries and additional such uses have continued to locate 
there. Since the publication of the Draft Local Plan a further planning 
permission for waste uses has been granted on a cleared section of 
the Pilkington’s tiles site. Given the advertised focus on waste 
related uses at Junction Eco Park and the increasing coverage of 
these uses, the capacity of the site to support other employment 
uses is considered to be more limited and uncertain. 
 
As such it is not considered that the opportunities that the site 
presents warrant a specific allocation and, as an existing 
employment area, future development can be adequately managed 
under the guidance of Local Plan Policy EC6 (Existing employment 
areas). 

Welcome the reference within the supporting text that the site is 
identified in the Greater Manchester Joint Waste Development Plan 
Document as being a suitable location for a range of enclosed waste 
management facilities (Minerals and Waste Planning Unit) 

No justification for its allocation for employment. The site is 
extensively developed and whilst limited infill opportunities may 
exist, it would appear that the site does not provide significant 
development potential over the plan period. There is a significant 
level of uncertainty over the deliverability of development at the site 
and should be managed under policy EC5 (developer) 

Large areas of open space should be provided alongside the River, 
in excess of the 8 metres identified in the policy where feasible 
(GMEU and Environment Agency) 

With the removal of the Clifton Junction policy specific guidance will 
no longer be provided. The provision of green infrastructure and 
access to and along the river will be addressed by the requirements 

P
age 1532



 

of policies D9 (Waterside development) GI2 (Green infrastructure 
requirements for development) and GI4 (Irwell Valley).  
 

Flood storage and attenuation requirements be integrated with 
biodiversity and landscape enhancement measures (Environment 
Agency);  

With the removal of the Clifton Junction policy, specific guidance will 
no longer be provided. The Local Plan provides a framework that 
promotes the multi-functional nature of green infrastructure including 
surface water management and habitat creation. Key policies 
include WA5 (Development and flood risk), WA6 (Surface water and 
sustainable drainage), GI2 (Green infrastructure requirements for 
new development), and BG1 (Biodiversity spatial strategy). 

Incorporate long term conservation management/monitoring of 
retained and new semi-natural greenspaces within the site and/or 
adjoining areas (Environment Agency) 

With the removal of the Clifton Junction policy specific guidance will 
no longer be provided. Policy GI4 (Irwell Valley) provides an 
overarching strategy for the Valley corridor. 
 

Consideration should be given to an amendment to the allocation 
boundary, or to the wording for the five policy requirements of any 
development, to reflect the pack saddle bridge and Fletchers Canal 
which are closely related to Clifton Aqueduct. It is suggested that 
they both be named in Point 4 and their restoration required/allowed 
for (Bury Council) 

With the removal of the Clifton Junction policy specific guidance will 
no longer be provided. There are currently no commitments to 
reinstate Fletchers Canal however such a proposal would fit with the 
priorities identified in Policy GI4 (Irwell Valley). Clifton Aqueduct 
along with its setting is protected as a statutorily listed structure. The 
Local Plan supplements this through Local Plan Policies HE1 
(Heritage spatial strategy) and HE3 (Heritage protection). 

Highways Agency identified that further work will be required to 
assess the potential of impact of this allocation on the SRN as the 
transport evidence becomes available.  

The allocation relates to an established employment area. Whilst 
development opportunities remain, the allocation has been removed 
from the plan given the more limited opportunities it now presents. 
The requirements of the transport chapter of the plan will ensure that 
the transport implications of forthcoming development proposals in 
the area are given proper consideration.   

  

Other significant changes made to policy EC4/2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1533



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC4/3 Ashton’s Field 

(The site now has planning permission and as a result allocation EC4/3 Ashton’s Field has not been carried forward in the Revised 

Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the reference to waste uses on the site in paragraph 7.26 
(GMEU) 

The Draft Local Plan Ashton’s Field allocation was granted outline 
planning permission for flexible B1(b), B1(c), B2 and B8 employment 
use with ancillary B1(a) office space on 11 May 2017 
(17/69776/OUT). A reserved matters application for infrastructure 
and enabling works was approved 23 February 2018 
(17/70983/REM). 
 
As the site now has planning permission the allocation has not been 
carried forward in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

Support the allocation for employment use but not waste uses 
(Salford Council Conservative Group) 

Welcome the requirement to protect wildlife and green infrastructure 
(GMEU). 

Further work required to understand the transport implications of 
development, particularly the impact on junctions 3 and 4 of the M61 
(Highways England) 

  

Other significant changes made to policy EC4/3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1534



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EC5 Existing Employment Areas 

(The policy reference has been changed to EC6 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Measures encouraged or supported within existing employment areas 

A further measure that should occur for existing employment areas 
is reduction of flood risk and diffuse pollution. Employment sites 
adjacent to rivers could be susceptible to flooding and may also be 
contributing to flood risk downstream through impervious surfaces 
adjacent to the watercourse.  Development of areas within these 
employment sites as Green Infrastructure could provide economic 
benefits to the wider City (GMEU) 

In response to this comment a third item has been added to the list 
of measures to be encouraged within existing employment areas: 
 
3) Environmental improvements that enhance the appearance 

and overall quality of the employment area, including 
addressing issues such as flood risk.  

 
Further to the above, it should be noted that many of the issues 
highlighted in Local Plan policies WA1 and WA2 in terms of flood 
risk mitigation, water efficiency and recycling measures, and 
improving the quality of water bodies would be valid considerations 
for development proposals within employment areas. 

 

Pleased to note that Policy EC5 supports the use of waste 
management developments within existing employment areas 
(Minerals and Waste Planning Unit). 
 

Support welcomed. 

Criteria based test for other non-employment uses within employment areas (Criteria 6 and 7) 

If part 7 is satisfied, this would effectively render part 6 superfluous 
in cases where it can satisfactorily be proven that the whole of an 
"existing employment area" (as defined by paragraph 7.31) can be 
redeveloped for an alternative non-employment use. Object to Policy 
EC5 part 6 as worded and request that it be amended to reflect that 
it would not apply if part 7 is satisfied. (developer) 

The issues covered by criteria 6 and 7 of Policy EC5 of the 2016 
Draft Local Plan are now addressed by criteria 7 and 8 of Policy EC6 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
 
If a proposal was justified under criterion 8 of Policy EC6 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan and would result in the redevelopment of 
the totality of the relevant existing employment area there would be 
no “employment uses remaining within the employment area” and no 

P
age 1535



 

“potential to reuse vacant sites and buildings for employment uses”.  
No further justification would therefore be required in relation to 
criterion 7. This is considered to be a straight-forward interpretation 
of the policy and therefore no changes to the policy are proposed to 
reflect this specific circumstance. 
 

Spatial application of the criteria based test (Criteria 6 and 7 and paragraph 7.31) 

Object to the allocation of existing employment sites for residential. 
No evidence has been presented that these sites do not have a 
viable future as employment locations nor of the impact on the local 
economy. Unless such sites have planning permission, until the 
Council has undertaken a proper assessment of the viability of 
retaining these sites in employment use through a comprehensive 
employment land review, it cannot be concluded that such sites 
provide a suitable source of residential development land, 
particularly given the provisions of Policy EC5 of the DSLP 
(developer) 
 

Policy EC6 of the Revised Draft Local Plan does not allocate sites 
for residential use but requires an assessment of the viability of 
retaining sites in employment use. No change is therefore proposed 
to the policy in response to this comment. However, the proposed 
allocation of the Swinton Hall Road employment area (policy H3/12 
in the Draft Local Plan) has been deleted. 
 

The applicability of the policy through paragraph 7.31 is unclear and 
uncertain. The Local Plan should identify those areas which are 
expected to be released, those that may be released, and those 
which should not be. The policy should be accompanied by 
allocations on the Policies Map that identifies main employment 
areas which can expect to be protected. Parts 6 and 7 of the Policy 
could then be adapted to identify those circumstances whereby non-
employment uses may be permitted within types of existing 
employment areas. (developer) 
 

It is not considered appropriate to categorise employment areas in 
this way through Revised Draft Local Plan Policy EC6 and the 
policies map. There are many factors affecting the future of 
employment areas and it is therefore important that a flexible policy 
approach is adopted. 
 
The various criteria ensure that proposals relating to the introduction 
of non-employment uses are properly considered without attempting 
to predict the long term future of all areas at this point.  
 
The definition of an existing employment area is based on that in 
saved UDP Policy E5 and has been shown, through numerous 
planning application decisions, to be a workable solution to this 
issue.   
 
No change is therefore proposed to policy in response to this 
comment. 

P
age 1536



 

 

Support policy approach but should be extended to all existing 
employment sites and not just those which meet the definition of an 
"established employment area". (Royal Mail). 

The definition is considered to be an appropriate threshold such that 
onerous requirements are not placed on applicants proposing 
smaller scale developments with limited wider impacts. 
 
The definition of an existing employment area is based on that in 
saved UDP Policy E5 and has been shown through numerous 
planning application decisions to be a workable definition.   
 
No change is therefore proposed to the policy in response to this 
comment. 
 

Other 

In reference to policy EC5 reasoned justification 7.29, site H3/4 is 
ready for food production at no extra cost. Before joining the 
European market the area produced a wide range of crops, 
supplying areas as far south as London and north as Carlisle. With 
Brexit, which this plan has not been based around, food production 
will be just as important, if not more important, than housing. Chat 
Moss is Grade 1A arable land and should therefore not be sacrificed 
for housing 

Revised Draft Local Plan Policy EC6 would not be applicable to the 
area identified. The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a policy on 
soils and agricultural land (Policy GB2), which encourages the 
positive use of agricultural land for farming. However, it is not 
considered necessary or appropriate to specify agricultural uses on 
particular sites, especially as this use does not require planning 
permission. 
 
Decisions regarding the allocation of the land covered by Draft Local 
Plan Policy H3/4 will now be considered solely through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework process. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy EC5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The words “area-based” have been removed from criterion 7(A) as 
shown in the 2016 Draft Local Plan. The criterion is numbered 8(A) 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

The term ‘area-based’ was considered to be unnecessary and 
potentially inflexible. It is considered that the important parts of this 
criterion are that a relevant plan or strategy has been subject to 
public consultation (8Ai) and formally adopted by the city council 
(8Aii). 
 

P
age 1537



 

Part 7(B) of Policy EC5 as shown in the 2016 Draft Local Plan has 
been restructured and expanded in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
The criterion is numbered 8(B) in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

The redrafting clarifies and provides further guidance around the 
issues to be addressed in the market appraisal required in relation to 
this criterion. The changes to the policy ensure that consideration is 
given to the wider employment area in which a site/premises is 
located, and others in the local area, and emphasises the need to 
take a long term view of economic prospects. 

The definition of an existing employment area has been modified 
slightly, and the following text added: “Other areas of land or 
buildings that are not, or have not previously been, used for non-
retail employment uses but are entirely or predominantly surrounded 
by land/buildings that fall within the above definition of an existing 
employment area will themselves be considered to form part of an 
existing employment area.” 
 

The amendments are intended to clarify the definition of an existing 
employment area and reduce any potential uncertainty around the 
status of a site. 
 
Recognising the nature of the city’s employment areas, the 
additional text clarifies that in addition to the employment uses that 
meet the threshold set in the policy, existing employment areas may 
also include land or buildings that are not, or have not previously 
been, used for employment purposes. 

 

P
age 1538



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CT1 Tourism Development 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Biodiversity 

Policy should be cross-refenced to the Biodiversity Policies 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

The biodiversity policies may be important considerations in relation 
to new and expanded tourism facilities however it is not considered 
necessary to include a specific cross-reference. 

Ordsall Hall 

Ordsall Hall should be referred to by name given its historical 
importance (Salford Community Leisure) 

The redrafted Policy CT1 identifies four main clusters of tourism 
development within the city. In respect of Salford Quays it identifies 
as an action “improving links to other tourist attractions in the wider 
area including Ordsall Hall in Salford, and Old Trafford football 
stadium, Old Trafford cricket ground and the Imperial War Museum 
in Trafford”. 
 
Paragraph 8.3 of the introduction/ justification to Policy CT2 also 
identifies Ordsall Hall as one of a number of arts and cultural 
facilities within the city. 

RHS Bridgewater 

Support the identification of RHS Garden Bridgewater however, in 
planning terms, it does not amount to a nationally significant project 
and the term should be removed (developer) (RHS) 

References to RHS Garden Bridgewater being ‘nationally significant’ 
have been removed from the chapter.   

Salford Quays 

Support allocation of Salford Quays as a centre for culture, arts, 
media and watersports. Business uses are addressed through 
Policies EC1 & EC2 and so do not need to be included in a tourism 
policy (developer) 

It is considered appropriate to retain reference to ‘business’ within 
the policy to reflect the business tourism potential of the area, 
including for major conferences. 

It is not possible to formulate a robust tourism strategy for Salford 
Quays without it referencing nearby cultural, media and sporting 
assets including The Imperial War Museum North, ITV Studios, Old 
Trafford football stadium and Old Trafford Cricket Ground. This 

The redrafted Policy CT1 identifies four main clusters of tourism 
development within the city. In respect of Salford Quays it identifies 
as an action “improving links to other tourist attractions in the wider 
area including Ordsall Hall in Salford, and Old Trafford football 

P
age 1539



 

should be through a map that highlights the connectivity between 
these locations (developer) 

stadium, Old Trafford cricket ground and the Imperial War Museum 
in Trafford”. 
 
Additional labels have been incorporated in the diagram after Policy 
CT1. 

Worsley 

The scale and nature of tourism activity in this area, and uses along 
the canal corridor, will need to be carefully and sensitively managed 
to ensure that the historic assets and environmental quality that are 
fundamental to its attractiveness are not compromised. It will be 
important to concentrate visitor facilities in a small number of 
locations along the corridor, as this will help to encourage their use 
and promote linked trips, rather than activity being dispersed across 
a wide area. Worsley Village needs to be enhanced with shops, a 
Village Hall containing a Heritage centre, residents could be helped 
to start up Bed and Breakfast Guest Houses (Worsley Councillors) 

In relation to Worsley Village, RHS Bridgewater and the Bridgewater 
Canal Corridor, the policy recognises the importance of heritage 
assets and environmental quality. The policy also describes that 
activity will be clustered in a small number of key locations along the 
canal corridor to promote linked trips.  

Transport 

Increase in tourist destinations is likely to increase trips on the SRN, 
particularly the AJ Bell and RHS Garden Bridgewater in close 
proximity to M60 junctions 11 and 13. Important for Highways 
England to understand the cumulative impacts of increased tourism 
and the impacts of these two allocated destinations. Consideration of 
any mitigatory measures should also take account of nearby housing 
allocations (Highways England) 

RHS Garden Bridgewater now has planning permission and the site 
is under development. In respect of Land Around the AJ Bell, Policy 
CT3 requires high quality walking and cycling routes as part of the 
site’s development and the retention of a line for the potential 
extension of the Trafford Park Metrolink line. The AJ Bell stadium is 
also identified as an important priority destination to encourage a 
modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport in Policy A1. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 

P
age 1540



 

 

  

Other significant changes made to policy CT1 Tourism Development 

Change Reason for change 

Policy has been restructured around the key concentrations of 
tourism activity in the city and additional guidance added to reflect 
their tourism potential. 

To improve the structure of the policy and clarity around the priorities 
for the destinations identified. 

Reference to the potential for additional nationally significant tourist 
attractions at Salford Quays has been added to the policy. 

Consistency with policy SQ1 (Salford Quays). 

 

P
age 1541



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CT2 Art and Culture 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for policy CT2. It clearly reflects guidance in Paragraph 70 
on the NPPF. Welcome inclusion of the 'agent of change' principles 
(Theatres Trust) 
 

Support welcomed. 

Ordsall Hall should be referred to by name given its historical 
importance (Salford Community Leisure) 

Ordsall Hall is now specifically referenced in paragraph 8.3. 

Support identification of Salford Quays for significant expansion of 
cultural activities and facilities. For consistency Policy CT2 should 
reference the ambition for a nationally significant visitor attraction for 
Salford Quays that is referenced in Policy SQ1 (developer) 
 

The ambition for nationally significant visitor attractions is identified 
in Policies SQ1 (Salford Quays) and CT1 (Tourism development). It 
is not considered necessary to include a further reference in Policy 
CT2 which is specifically about art and culture, and already 
describes that a significant expansion of activities and facilities will 
be sought at Salford Quays.  

Propose change to CT2/5 to read as follows ‘....interpretation of any 
heritage the site and area possesses; and....’ (Historic England) 

Suggested change made with slightly different wording. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy CT2 Art and Culture 

Change Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1542



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CT3/1 Land around AJ Bell Stadium (Irlam)  

(Policy reference has been changed to CT3 Land around AJ Bell Stadium (Irlam))  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Designation of the area 

Welcome designation. This site forms part of the wider City Gateway 
area. The case for designating a specific Area Policy for this location 
has been set out. (developers) 

The part of the Western Gateway in Salford, as defined in the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), contains a number 
of significant existing uses and major proposals including Port 
Salford and its extension north of the A57, City Airport and Heliport, 
AJ Bell Stadium and surrounding land, and new residential 
development on land to the north of Irlam Station. 
 
Through the Revised Draft Local Plan and the GMSF each of the 
uses/proposals above will be addressed in a specific policy. It is not 
considered that they are sufficiently linked or raise similar issues to 
the extent that an area policy is warranted. 
 
The Spatial Vision of the Revised Draft Local Plan does however 
identify a “Central Economic Area” which is of “fundamental 
importance to the economic prosperity and prospects of Greater 
Manchester” (paragraph 3.7). The area shown includes Port Salford, 
City Airport and Heliport and the AJ Bell Stadium. 

Greater certainty would be provided by designating the area as a 
‘commercial centre’, within which planning applications for the uses 
listed in the policy would not require a sequential assessment under 
NPPF paragraph 24 (developer) 

The area does not constitute a town centre or local centre for the 
purposes of NPPF sequential assessment. It does not currently 
have, nor is proposed to have, the scale and mix of town centre uses 
that would justify such a designation and does not act as the focus 
for a residential neighbourhood. 
 
Paragraph 86 of the NPPF describes that “local planning authorities 
should apply a sequential test to planning applications for main town 

P
age 1543



 

centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in accordance 
with an up-to-date plan”.  
 
Policy CT3 identifies a number of specific uses deemed to be 
appropriate within the allocation boundary in order to develop the 
area’s tourism role. This includes hotels; food and drink; leisure 
facilities; and comparison goods shops where there would be no 
significant adverse impact on vitality and viability of designated 
centres. 
 
Therefore, other than shops, proposals for the uses listed in the 
policy would generally be in accordance with an up-to-date plan and 
no sequential assessment would be required. Retaining the 
sequential approach for other types of shops is important for 
ensuring that any retail-based tourism role for the site does not come 
at the expense of the successful functioning of existing centres on 
which local residents rely. 
 
It is considered that the NPPF and Local Plan policy are sufficiently 
clear on this issue and no change is therefore proposed. 

Policy Requirements 

Concern that the criteria 1 to 6 could unacceptably stifle 
development, especially criteria 1, 2, 5 and 6.  
 
Criterion 1 - the requirement for high quality public realm could have 
a major effect on development viability. 
 
Criterion 2 - Object to the current wording which would be 
inconsistent with the site layout of the stadium retail development as 
approved. Any potential route for Metrolink extension would need to 
be agreed to establish whether it is feasible without sterilising 
development plots. 
 

Criterion 1 - If the area is to achieve its potential as a tourism 
destination it is important that it is well planned with high quality 
public realm. This is not considered to be an onerous requirement. 
 
Criterion 2 - The extension of the Trafford Park Metrolink to Port 
Salford remains an aspiration and the need to retain a line through 
the site has been retained within the policy. The most appropriate 
line of any extension is to be determined and therefore the 
requirement for it to specifically pass through the public realm at the 
centre of the site has been removed from the policy. 
 
Criterion 5 – The specific measures required to maintain and 
enhance the role of Salteye Brook as a wildlife corridor and protect 
its water quality and that of nearby watercourses will be determined 

P
age 1544



 

Criterion 5 - more information needed in respect of how the Salteye 
Brook might be enhanced to determine whether this requirement can 
be supported,  
 
Criterion 6 - needs to clarify that it is any serious flood risk that would 
be posed by potential development that would need to be mitigated 
(developer) 
 

on a case by case basis. Such measures may include the protection 
of landscape buffers to the watercourse and the incorporation of 
sustainable urban drainage systems as part of new developments. 
The specific measures would be considered in relation to 
development proposals as they are forthcoming. This is not 
considered to be an onerous requirement and can be adequately 
dealt with through the development management process. 
 
Criterion 6 – Much of the allocation falls within Environment Agency 
Flood Zone 2, with elements alongside the canal and following the 
line of Salteye Brook within Flood Zone 3. It is therefore important 
that development proposals mitigate flood risk in terms of protecting 
the use in question and ensuring that it does not lead to greater 
levels of risk elsewhere. Measures to achieve this will be determined 
on a case by case basis having regard to the level of risk and the 
opportunities that the proposal presents. It is not considered 
necessary or appropriate to include reference to ’serious flood risk’. 

Criterion 4 is a totally inaccurate statement as the only feed to these 
new roads is from the A57 (community group) 

Criterion 4 of the policy is intended to specify that new developments 
will take their access points from the internal road structure rather 
than via new entrance points directly onto the A57. For clarity point 4 
of the policy has been amended to read: 
 
“Ensure that access to individual developments is taken from the 
road infrastructure within the site rather than directly from the A57” 
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
An objection is made to the locally set impact assessment threshold 
being applied to the land at the AJ Bell Stadium. It is suggested that 
a 2,500m2 impact threshold instead should be applied to ‘land 
around the AJ Bell Stadium’ so that development on this site is not 
stifled unnecessarily (City of Salford Community Stadium, NJL 
Consulting on behalf of). 
 

Policy CT3 (Land around AJ Bell Stadium) has been amended as 
follows (changes in bold):  
 

A wide range of tourism and related uses will be suitable on 
the land around the AJ Bell Stadium, including: 
 
A) Hotels; 
B) Food and drink, such as bars and restaurants; 
C) Leisure facilities; and 

P
age 1545



 

D) Comparison goods shops, where there would be no 
significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of 
designated centres. 
 
Proposals for these uses on the site will not be required 
to apply the sequential approach in policy TC2. 
Proposals for uses in points A-C on the site will be 
exempt from the impact assessment requirements in 
policy TC2. 

 
Main town centre uses including hotels, leisure facilities and food 
and drink uses are proposed to be exempt from the impact 
assessment process given their key role in supporting the tourism 
role of the AJ Bell Stadium and wider area. This in part, is 
considered to address comments. However, in order to protect the 
vitality and viability of existing centres, it is considered important to 
have the opportunity to take into account impact of shops in line with 
the locally set impact threshold set out in Policy TC2.  
 

Transport and Services 

Concerns relating to cumulative impacts of development in the area 
on congestion and local services (individual) (community group) 

Policy CT3/2 (RHS Garden Bridgewater) of the Draft Local Plan has 
not been carried forward in the Revised Draft given that the site now 
has planning permission and works have commenced on site. 
 
Land Around the AJ Bell stadium is now allocated under Policy CT3 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan (CT3/1 in the 2016 Draft Local Plan). 
The policy requires high quality walking and cycling routes as part of 
the site’s development and the retention of a line for the potential 
extension of the Trafford Park Metrolink line. The AJ Bell stadium is 
also identified as an important priority destination to encourage a 
modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport in Policy A1. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 

Important to understand the cumulative impacts of increased tourism 
in Salford, and to understand the impacts of CT3/1 and CT3/2 which 
lie in close proximity to sections of the M60 which are already known 
to experience congestion. Consideration of any mitigatory measures 
should also take account of nearby housing allocations in the vicinity 
(Highways England) 
 

P
age 1546



 

(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy CT3/1  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1547



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CT3/2 RHS Bridgewater 

(The site now has planning permission and works have commenced on site. As a result the policy has not been carried forward in the 

Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General 

Support RHS Garden Bridgewater (Salford City Council 
Conservative Group) (developer) (RHS) 

Support welcomed. 

In planning terms RHS Bridgewater does not amount to a nationally 
significant project and the term should be removed (developer) 

Since the publication of the Draft Local Plan RHS Garden 
Bridgewater has been granted planning permission and as a result 
Policy CT3/2 has been removed from the plan. The importance of 
RHS Garden Bridgewater and access to it will however continue to 
be emphasised through Local Plan Policies CT1 (Tourism 
Development) and GI3 (Chat Moss). 
 
The reference to the garden being nationally significant has been 
removed from the reasoned justification to Policy CT1 where it also 
appeared.  

Agree that the RHS garden is an excellent piece of green space 
which the local residents should be proud of but this does not give 
the council free licence to develop on every other free piece of space 
remaining. The RHS garden is a pay to enter attraction and local 
residents should have the option to enjoy some green space that 
doesn’t have an admission fee (individual) 

Comments noted. The Recreation and Green Infrastructure chapters 
of the plan provide a framework for the protection, enhancement and 
provision of new green spaces. 

Transport  

Concerns relating to the transport impacts of the proposal 
individually and cumulatively: 
 

 important to understand the cumulative impacts of increased 
tourism in Salford, any mitigatory measures should also take 

Since the publication of the Draft Local Plan RHS Garden 
Bridgewater has been granted planning permission as part of which 
the transport implications of the scheme were considered.  
 
It is understood that the entrance to RHS Garden Bridgewater has 
been designed to accommodate the development of the proposed 

P
age 1548



 

account of nearby housing allocations in the vicinity 
(Highways England) 

 acknowledge that there is further work to do to provide 
sustainable travel options to the new site which do not impact 
on the amenity of neighbouring communities (Salford City 
Council Conservative Group) 

 Significant highways restructuring of Leigh Road is being 
proposed to accommodate the RHS project which as 
councillors we do not feel answers the increase in traffic onto 
this road. What should be being looked at with Highway 
England would be a new Junction from the M62 leading into 
the site (Worsley Councillors) 

 Concerns relating to transport impacts of the proposal 
alongside housing development in the area (3)(community 
group) 

 Strongly object to criterion 5 of Policy CT3/2. A significant 
increase in the provision of public transport services to the 
site would be an unjustified obligation (developer)(RHS) 

residential allocation immediately to the west (Land East of 
Boothstown). 
 
As a result of planning permission having been granted, Policy 
CT3/2 has been removed from the plan. The importance of RHS 
Garden Bridgewater and access to it will however continue to be 
emphasised through Local Plan Policies CT1 (Tourism development) 
and GI3 (Chat Moss). 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Policy requirements 

To afford greater flexibility the wording of the start of the policy 
should be amended to state "the development of the garden should 
where possible include:". This would allow the Council to retain 
control of new development whilst ensuring that the requirements of 
the policy do not hinder the deliverability of this significant tourism 
development (RHS) 

Since the publication of the Draft Local Plan RHS Garden 
Bridgewater has been granted planning permission and as a result 
Policy CT3/2 has been removed from the plan. The importance of 
RHS Garden Bridgewater and access to it will however continue to 
be emphasised through Local Plan Policies CT1 (Tourism 
development) and GI3 (Chat Moss). 
 
Access to the Bridgewater Canal and Chat Moss are encouraged 
through Local Plan Policy D9 (Waterside development) and the 

Strongly support requirement for access to the canal (community 
group)(CPRE Lancashire) 

Strongly object to all links made between Chat Moss to the south, 
whilst aspirational links may not be achievable due to third party land 

P
age 1549



 

ownership interests and funding considerations. It is therefore 
unacceptable for such an onerous requirement to be included as a 
fundamental element at this stage. This would be contrary to 
paragraph 182 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(developer)(RHS) 

policies of the Green Infrastructure chapter, particularly GI3 (Chat 
Moss). 

  

Other significant changes made to policy CT3/2 RHS Bridgewater 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1550



  

1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER 9 HOUSING: GENERAL COMMENTS 

(The housing chapter has been changed to chapter 12 in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the 2016 Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Recently built houses are not affordable particularly to first time 
buyers (individuals). 
 
Not enough rented accommodation that is affordable is being 
provided (individual). 
 

The city council in its Draft Local Plan and subsequently through the 
revised plan has sought to maximise the level of affordable housing 
that developers provide in new developments – the most recent 
approach is set out in policy H7 of the revised draft plan. However in 
preparing revised policy H7 the city council has had to have regard 
to the NPPF and associated planning guidance which require 
viability of development to be considered when setting policy 
requirements such as that for affordable housing. In addition a 
developer can submit a viability appraisal with a planning application 
seeking to reduce or even waive the affordable housing requirement 
if it would make their development unviable. This is supported by the 
government’s planning guidance on viability.   
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan proposes a minimum requirement of 
20% affordable housing for new major residential developments, but 
it is recognised that viability considerations may mean that this is not 
achievable on some sites in some parts of the city. Viability evidence 
prepared in support of the Revised Draft Local Plan shows that there 
is the potential for up to 50% of new dwellings to be affordable in the 
higher value areas. The preferred tenure mix in the policy for this 
affordable housing is 75% rented (split evenly between social rent 
and affordable rent) and 25% shared ownership, but an alternative 
mix may need to be considered where viability is more challenging. 
 
As well as seeking to secure affordable housing through new 
developments, the city council will also continue to work with the 

P
age 1551



  

2 
 

Homes England, landowners and registered providers to secure the 
delivery of more affordable housing. 
 

There is a lack of amenities to cope with the proposed population 
increase as a result of new housing (individual). 
 

A new criterion has been inserted into Revised Draft Local Plan 
policy H1 (as criterion 2) to make it clear that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for housing in Salford over the period 2018-37 is to: 
 
“Develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and health 
services, transport infrastructure and green infrastructure to serve 
new housing development and their occupiers”. 
 

The plan needs to make reference to Green Homes with all housing 
development being built to the highest levels of self sustainability 
possible, including photo-voltaic roofs, maximum insulation etc 
(individuals). 
 

Policy H1 criterion 7 of the Draft Local Plan required that new 
dwellings should be energy efficient whilst policy EG1 specifically set 
out policy relating to sustainable energy. In the Revised Draft Local 
Plan a new criterion has been added to the policy (criterion A) 
requiring that the energy efficeincy of all new dwellings should 
exceed Part L of the Building Regulations by at least 19%. This will 
ensure high levels of energy sustainability.  
 

Given some sites that are in agricultural use will be needed for new 
housing, farms should be created in new developments to 
compensate for their loss (individual). 
 

It is not considered appropriate for new farms to be created as part 
of new developments 
 
Notwithstanding this, the Revised Draft Local Plan does promote 
food growing in new housing developments. Policy R1 (criterion D) 
requires that a comprehensive supply of allotments will be secured, 
whilst policy R2 (criterion 5) requires that new residential 
development should contribute to the achievement of a minimum 
5,000 square metres (or 0.5 hectares of allotments per 1,000 
households.  
 

Green Belt land to the north and south of Manchester Road in 
Walkden should not be built on as this would lead to Wardley, Little 
Hulton and Worsley merging  (individual). 
 

Green Belt land to the north and south of Manchester Road was 
suggested for new housing by a landowner / developer as part of a 
‘call for sites’ exercise at an earlier stage of the preparation of the 
Local Plan. However, the city council did not subsequently allocate 
the land for housing in the Draft Local Plan. 

P
age 1552



  

3 
 

 
Green Belt boundary changes in Salford are now being considered 
solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than the Local Plan. The Revised Draft GMSF proposes that 
the land should remain part of the Green Belt.    
 

At least 33% of land per square kilometre within housing 
developments should be designated as public greenspaces, with half 
of this being designated for natural habitat (individual). 
 

The appropriate proportion of land within new housing developments 
that should be used for public greenspace will vary depending on the 
type of housing, the location, and the availability of existing 
greenspace in the surrounding area. 
 
Policy R2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out the recreation 
standards that will apply to residential developments. These include 
standards for publicly accessible amenity space, playing pitches, 
other outdoor sports facilities, local nature reserves, allotments, 
parks, natural greenspace, and woodland. Many of these standards 
have been used in Salford for several years or more, and are 
derived from national standards produced by organisations such as 
the National Playing Fields Association and Natural England. 
 

New development will add to congestion during rush hour and create 
additional air pollution (individual) 
 

With regards to congestion, improvements to public transport 
infrastructure within the city are encouraged in a number of policies 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan, in particular the accessibility 
chapter. The City Centre and Salford Quays, in which the majority of 
new office floorspace will be delivered, are identified in Policy A1 as 
the highest priority locations in which a modal shift towards more 
sustainable forms of transport such as walking, cycling and public 
transport will be encouraged. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 

P
age 1553



  

4 
 

Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan contains a policy on air quality and 
sets out measures to secure a substantial improvement in Salford’s 
air quality (policy AQ1). Air pollution is also an issue that is being 
considered at the Greater Manchester level. On behalf of the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM) has developed the Greater Manchester 
Low-Emission Strategy and Greater Manchester Air Quality Action 
Plan, concentrating on ways to tackle emissions from road transport 
to improve air quality and to help in reducing carbon dioxide 
emissions. TfGM is currently conducting feasibility studies on behalf 
of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to identify how best 
to meet legal limits for nitrogen dioxide as soon as possible. They 
have identified a range of measures that could help Greater 
Manchester tackle instances of air pollution breaching legal limits in 
the shortest possible time. 

 

Kingsland Wines and Spirits in Irlam should not be developed for 
new housing; it has historical industrial value and moving it out of the 
area would lead to increased commuting (individual) 
 

The Kingsland Wines site in Irlam has not been specifically identified 
for new housing in the Local Plan and there is no indication that the 
occupier is considering moving from the site. Notwithstanding this, 
should the owners of the site wish to bring the site forward for 
housing any planning application would be treated on its own merits 
having regard to the saved policies of the UDP (until the Local Plan 
is adopted) and other material considerations.   
 

Housing should be sited within 1 mile of Port Salford to encourage 
short distance commuting. In addition there should be some 

The emphasis in the Local Plan is on delivering housing in the most 
sustainable locations, particularly where it would support greater 

P
age 1554



  

5 
 

development in the Broughton and Higher Broughton areas given 
the proximity to Manchester City Centre (individual) 
 

public transport use, rather than close to specific employment areas. 
The only significant site within 1 mile of Port Salford that has been 
suggested for housing is the Green Belt land to the east of Irlam. 
The Revised Draft GMSF proposes that this should be retained as 
Green Belt rather than developed for housing. 
 
With regards to locating new development in Broughton and Higher 
Broughton the council’s interim 2018 Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment identifies the potential for 1,500 dwellings in 
the ward of Broughton up to 2037, with this including the 
redevelopment of the southern part of the Cambridge industrial 
estate for around 850 apartments.  
 

There is likely to be a serious shortfall in specialist accommodation 
for older population due to the increasingly ageing demograhic 
profile of the City (older persons housing provider) 
 

Criterion 6 of policy H1 in the Revised Draft Local Plan is an 
overarching part of the housing spatial strategy over the plan period 
that includes the provision of accommodation of accommodation for 
older people. 
 
Further detail on housing for older people is set out in policy H10 of 
the Revised Draft Local Plan, which sets out how a broad range of 
housing choices will be secured for older people in Salford, and also 
sets out the criteria that would apply when determining planning 
applications for new residential accommodation specifically targeted 
at older people.  
 
The policy requires that residential developments of over 100 
dwellings shall incorporate housing provision specifically targeted at 
older people. This provides clarity from what was in the Draft Local 
Pplan which only made reference to ‘major’ residential developments 
having to incorporate housing provision for older people, but did not 
specify what was meant by ’major’. 
 

Under provision of family accommodation will lead to unsustainable 
patterns of development by encouraging commuting - apartments 
will not meet the needs of families (developer) 

The Draft Local Plan identified a requirement of 34,900 net 
additional dwellings for the period 2015-35, made up of between 30-
35% houses and 65-70% apartments. There was a strong focus in 

P
age 1555



  

6 
 

 the plan on the delivery of high density apartments in locations such 
as City Centre Salford, Salford Quays and Ordsall Waterfront 
reflecting the accessibility of these locations to services and public 
transport. This fully supported the spatial strategy for the city and will 
help to minimise the need to travel.  
 
The city council gave careful consideration to the provision of 
releasing more land for houses that are suitable for families as part 
of producing the Draft Local Plan. As a result, it allocated a number 
of greenfield sites in the western part of the city for houses, including 
some land to be taken out of the Green Belt (land to be taken out of 
the Green Belt was identified in both the Draft Local Plan and the 
Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF)).  
 
The issue of seeking to secure the delivery of an appropriate mix of 
housing has again been carefully considered in producing the 
Revised Draft Local Plan, as part of the overall approach in the 
GMSF to delivering an appropriate mix of dwellings across Greater 
Manchester. Green Belt boundary changes in Salford are now being 
considered solely through the GMSF rather than the Salford Local 
Plan, and the GMSF proposes the allocation of three sites in Salford 
that are currently in the Green Belt for housing which would provide 
a total of 2,300 dwellings (2,000 before 2037). 
 
Policy H4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out that the housing 
requirement is 32,680 over the period 2018-37, with this being 
comprised of around 8,450 houses (26%) and 24,230 apartments 
(74%). The allocation of a small number of greenfield sites in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan and the release of the three Green Belt 
sites for housing in the Revised Draft GMSF will help to deliver this 
mix, which is considered to be appropriate having regard to the 
forecast household types/sizes and the mix of housing proposed 
elsewhere in Greater Manchester. Additional release of greenfield 
and/or Green Belt land for housing is not considered necessary in 
order to meet the needs of households. 

P
age 1556



  

7 
 

 

Consider that there are exceptional circumstances to justify the 
release of sites from the Green Belt (particularly H3/1, H3/2 and 
H3/15). These circumstances relate to the quantitative and 
qualitative need in the city (developer) 

Green Belt boundary changes in Salford are now being considered 
solely through the GMSF rather than the Salford Local Plan. The 
Revised Draft GMSF carries forward the H3/1 allocation largely 
unchanged as GM Allocation 31 (East of Boothstown). It also carries 
forward the H3/15 allocation as GM Allocation 30 (Land at 
Hazelhurst Farm), which has been reduced from 24 hectares to 16 
hectares, with the approximate number of dwellings dropping from 
450 to 400. The H3/2 allocation (land west of Boothstown) has not 
been taken forward in the Revised Draft GMSF, with it instead 
proposing that the land remains in the Green Belt. 

  

Other significant changes made to Chapter 9 Housing (General) 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Various - see individual policy tables for detail See individual policy tables for detail 

 

 

P
age 1557



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H1: HOUSING STRATEGY  

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan. Note however that the ordering of the policy has been 

amended) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Comments relating to the policy as a whole 

Key components of the housing strategy overall are comprehensive 
and well balanced – we anticipate it will need updating pending 
national guidance on starter homes (developer). 
 

Comments relating to the housing spatial strategy for Salford being 
comprehensive and well balanced are welcomed. 
 
With regards to starter homes, Annex 2 of the 2018 National 
Planning Policy Framework defines affordable housing, which 
includes starter homes. Planning Practice Guidance on starter 
homes was published on 27 March 2015. It is not however 
considered that policy H1 should be amended to refer to starter 
homes given that the policy is strategic in nature and does not any 
make specific reference to the types of affordable housing that will 
be secured within the city.  
 
Policy H7 of the Revised Draft Local Plan is concerned with the 
provision of affordable housing. The policy references the affordable 
definition from the NPPF, which includes starter homes, although the 
introduction / justification to the policy is clear that the priority for 
affordable housing in the city is for social and affordable rented 
accommodation and to a lesser extent shared ownership dwellings. 
A different tenure mix may however be appropriate having regard to 
criteria A to H of policy H7; this could include the provision of starter 
homes. 

Criterion 1 – dwelling type 

P
age 1558



 

Too many flats are proposed; there needs to be more houses for 
families (individuals). 
 
The plan places a significant reliance upon delivery from urban 
apartment sites (developer).  

Policy H4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out that the housing 
requirement is 32,680 net additional dwellings over the period 2018-
2037, with this being comprised of approximately 8,450 houses 
(26%) and 24,230 apartments (74%). This reflects the importance of 
delivering as much new housing as possible on previously 
developed land in the most accessible locations, so as to minimise 
the need to travel, maximise the use of sustainable modes of 
transport, and minimise the need for the development of greenfield 
sites and existing Green Belt land. 
 
This total housing requirement for Salford is 6,612 dwellings above 
the Local Housing Need figure for the city, and this additional 
housing growth is targeted at City Centre Salford and Salford Quays 
reflecting the high demand across Greater Manchester to live in 
locations close to the main concentrations of employment 
opportunities. The mix of houses and apartments in Salford is 
considered appropriate in light of these issues, and having regard to 
the type of household growth that has been forecast and the overall 
supply of new houses and apartments proposed across the rest of 
Greater Manchester. 
  

Criterion 1 – a good supply of housing 

Support for the scale housing proposed in the Draft Local Plan 
(Warrington Borough Council). 
 

Support welcomed. The scale of development in the 2016 Draft 
Local Plan was 34,900 dwellings over the period 2015-35, which 
was an annual average of 1,745 dwellings. The Revised Draft Local 
Plan includes a requirement of 32,680 over the period 2018-37 
which is an annual average of 1,720. This figure has come from the 
revised draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), in 
which the overall housing figure for Greater Manchester is sufficient 
to meet the total Local Housing Need for the sub-region. 
 

Scale of housing across GM (and potentially the requirement in the 
Draft Local Plan) is 30,000 too high according to an independent 
demographer (CPRE Lancashire). 
 

The overall scale of development for Greater Manchester in the 
revised draft GMSF has been calculated having regard to the 
government’s standard methodology for Local Housing Need. The 
requirement for Salford in the revised draft GMSF (and which has 

P
age 1559



 

More dwellings are not needed due to the implications of Brexit 
(individuals). 
 
 

been carried forward into the Revised Draft Local Plan) has been 
calculated having regard to the overall Greater Manchester 
requirement and the redistribution of new housing across the sub-
region to the most sustainable locations.  
 
The government’s planning practice guidance is clear that any 
alternative approach which results in a lower housing need figure 
than identified using the standard methodology would be unsound, 
unless there are local exceptional circumstances to deviate from the 
standard method. The GMSF process has not identified that there 
are exceptional circumstances to justify this. Brexit is not considered 
to be a suitable justification for lower housing figures, as the 
Government would have factored this into its Local Housing Need 
methodology if it deemed it relevant. Indeed, the Government has 
chosen to ignore the latest 2016-based household projections and 
instead requires the use of the 2014-based household projections 
that result in higher forecast household growth. 
 

No need for more houses in the Walkden area given existing 
developments under construction in the area; more development will 
make the area an undesirable place to live (individual). 
  

Policy H3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies that there is the 
potential for around 2,350 additional dwellings in the Walkden and 
Little Hulton area (the wards of Walkden North and South, and Little 
Hulton) between 2018 and the end of the plan period in 2037. Many 
of these dwellings already have planning permission, and are sites 
that are suitable, available and achievable for new housing 
development in accordance with government guidance. 
 
A significant proportion of these dwellings will be on brownfield land 
and this represents an efficient use of land. Some release of 
greenfield land is proposed in this part of the city across six sites 
(H9/4 Brackley Golf Course, H9/5 Ladywell Avenue, H9/6 Land west 
of Burgess Farm, H9/7 Land west of Kenyon Way, H9/10 Land south 
of Hill Top Road, and H9/11 Land south of Moss Lane) in order to 
provide a good supply of houses across Salford. These six sites 
would deliver a total of around 1,220 dwellings, just over half of the 
total number of dwellings proposed in the area. It is considered that 

P
age 1560



 

this scale of development can be accommodated within the area 
without detracting from its attractiveness. 
 
The scale of development proposed for Walkden and Little Hulton 
represents around 7% of the total housing proposed across the city 
and is not considered to be excessive compared to other parts of the 
city. The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework does not propose 
the removal of any land from the Green Belt for development in this 
area, and indeed proposes the designation of additional Green Belt 
(including around Ellenbrook Brickworks, part of Cutacre Country 
Park, Wharton Lane Playing Fields, and Blackleach Country Park) to 
ensure that important open land in the area is properly protected. 
 

  

Criterion 2 – development of previously developed land  

The viability of some of the brownfield sites relied upon by the 
council may be challenging and so there will be a need for the plan 
to have sufficient in-built flexibility to deal with under or no delivery 
from some sites (developers). 
 

It is considered that the identified land supply has sufficient flexibility 
to address this issue, totalling over 40,000 dwellings compared to 
the housing requirement for Salford of 32,680 dwellings for the 
period 2018-2037. Brownfield sites that have previously been 
suggested as being unviable have come forward in Salford, 
demonstrating the high level of demand for such sites and the 
attractiveness of the city as a development location. 
 
Over the last 15 years or so around 90% of dwellings in Salford have 
come forward on brownfield land. This shows that brownfield 
development is viable and will continue to come forward over the 
plan period.  
 

The focus on brownfield sites may have implications for the delivery 
of affordable housing (developer). 
 

The focus on brownfield sites is fully in accordance with the 2018 
NPPF which states that planning policies should give substantial 
weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within 
settlements within homes. It is also clear from responses to the 2016 
Draft Local Plan that local communities place great weight in the 
need to focus on the development of brownfield land. 
 

P
age 1561



 

It is recognised that brownfield sites may deliver a lower level of 
affordable housing than greenfield sites due to issues around 
contamination and abnormal costs, although this is not necessarily 
always the case given the infrastructure costs that can be associated 
with the development of greenfield land. Through the Local Plan / 
GMSF the city council has sought to maximise the delivery of 
affordable housing whilst striking a balance between the amounts of 
greenfield land (including Green Belt) that it is releasing for 
development.  Furthermore, some of the brownfield sites are in 
areas with low house prices and rents, and so new housing 
development on them is likely to come forward at a relatively 
affordable price. 
 

Research by Durham University evidenced a link between poor 
health and the incidence of brownfield land. Vacant brownfield sites 
that are in a neglected condition blight communities (CPRE 
Lancashire). 
 

The city council remains committed to working with developers and 
landowners to bring forward brownfield sites for new housing, 
including those that are in a neglected condition blighting local 
communities. The council has a long history of prioritising the 
delivery of brownfield land and remains committed to the vast 
majority of dwellings being delivered over the plan period on 
brownfield land. 
 

Criterion 2 – development of greenfield and Green Belt land   

Selected release of Green Belt land is supported (registered 
provider). 
 

Support welcomed. 

Release of greenfield land including Green Belt in order to diversify 
the housing mix within the city is supported (developer). 
 

Support welcomed. 

Green areas should be preserved (individual). 
 
The City Centre, Salford Quays and the rest of urban Salford can 
absorb more housing, before farmland is released for development 
(CPRE Lancashire). 
 

The justification to policy H9 of the Revised Draft Local Plan states 
that it should be possible to provide more than 80% on new 
dwellings on brownfield land with a strong focus on City Centre 
Salford, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas. The release of 
greenfield land through the Revised Draft Local Plan and Green Belt 
through the Revised Draft GMSF is considered appropriate to enable 
a good mix of dwellings, including an increased supply of houses, to 

P
age 1562



 

come forward in sustainable locations. The delivery of housing on 
brownfield land within the existing urban is being maximised as far 
as possible, helping to minimise the need for greenfield release. 
 

Greenfield development should be minimised by the Local Plan in 
order to not hamper regeneration (CPRE Lancashire). 

There is no evidence that the development of greenfield land in the 
west of Salford will hamper the regeneration of parts of the city, 
particularly areas within Central Salford. Greenfield development has 
been minimised as far as possible, but some is considered 
necessary to deliver an appropriate mix of new housing in terms of 
location, type and size. 
 

Criterion 3 – energy efficiency and high quality homes  

Welcome the requirement for new properties to have good energy 
efficient features (registered provider). 

Support welcomed. 

Energy efficiency measures are a matter for Building Regulations not 
planning policy. It was made clear in a Ministerial Statement dated 
25 March 2016 that planning permission should not require 
compliance with any uplifted enegy requirements (developer). 
 

The government response to consultation responses received 
regarding the 2018 NPPF clearly states at page 48 the following:  
 
“A number of local authority respondents stated the view that the text 
in the revised Framework restricted their ability to require energy 
efficiency standards above Building Regulations. To clarify, the 
Framework does not prevent local authorities from using their 
existing powers under the Planning and Energy Act 2008 or other 
legislation where applicable to set higher ambition. In particular, local 
authorities are not restricted in their ability to require energy 
efficiency standards above Building Regulations. The Government 
remains committed to delivering the clean growth mission to halve 
the energy usage of new buildings by 2030.” 
 
The issue of energy efficiency is set out in more detail in policy EG1 
(Sustainable energy in new development) and D7 (Housing design) 
of the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
 

Pleased to see the reference to high quality homes given the 
relationship between poor housing and health (NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group). 

Support welcomed. 

P
age 1563



 

Criterion 4 – public sector land assets  

The release of public sector land assets for housing is welcomed 
(registered provider). 
 

Support welcomed. 

Criterion 6 – affordable housing  

The use of developer contributions for new affordable development 
is welcomed (registered provider). 
 

Support welcomed. 

Criterion 8 – efficient use of the housing stock 

Paragraph 5.78 of the 2016 GM SHMA identifies that 64% of 
dwellings were under occupied in 2011. Under occupancy would be 
reduced if 1 and 2 bed energy efficient apartments were provided 
that would be attractive to older people currently living in 
accommodation which it too big and potentially costly to maintain 
(individual). 
 

It is acknowledged that the 2016 GM SHMA shows that 64% of 
properties in Salford were under-occupied at the time of the 2011 
Census in relation to the number of bedrooms relative to the number 
of people living in the property. However, some households will 
actively seek to ‘under-occupy’, as defined by the Census, for 
example due to a desire to maintain spare bedrooms for visiting 
family. 
 
A significant proportion of the dwellings that will be delivered over 
the plan period will be in the form of 1 and 2 bed apartments that will 
be built to high energy efficiency standards, with policy EG1 
(Sustainable energy in new developments) and D7 (Housing design) 
of the Revised Draft Local Plan requiring developments to exceed 
building regulations. These dwellings will potentially be attractive to 
older people who want to downsize.  
 

Wording of this criterion should be amended as it is unclear how this 
might be interpreted and demonstrated in the context of a planning 
application for housing (in relation to the requirement to secure the 
efficient use of the housing stock by ensuring that new 
developments are located and designed to minimise the potential for 
long-term vacancies) (developer). 
 

A range of issues could lead to a new residential development 
suffering from long-term vacancies, such as limited accessibility to 
jobs and facilities, poor quality design, low amenity levels, and a lack 
of demand for the product provided. Given the wide range of factors 
that will need to be taken into account, it is not considered 
appropriate to seek to list such issues within the criterion. 
 

Criterion 10 – specialist housing needs 

P
age 1564



 

The positive approach in seeking to provide appropriate 
accommodation to meet the need of an ageing popuialtion in 
criterion 10 is welcomed (developer of accommodation for older 
people) 
 

Support welcomed. 

Not enough provision is being made for housing for older people 
(individuals) 
 
There should be a policy to develop apartments in areas close to 
shops, public transport etc. for the over 55s, where there is some 
communal space including a garden (individual) 
 
2 bed bungalows built in circles / squares should be provided for 
older people, with the fitter older people able to keep an eye on 
those less fit (individual) 
 
There is a need for more spacious care homes with up to date 
facilities in and around Worsley (individual) 

Criterion 6 of policy H1 in the Revised Draft Local Plan is an 
overarching part of the housing spatial strategy over the plan period 
that includes the provision of accommodation of accommodation for 
older people. 
 
Further detail on housing for older people is set out in policy H10 of 
the Revised Draft Local Plan. This sets out how a broad range of 
housing choices will be secured for older people in Salford, and also 
sets out the criteria that would apply when determining planning 
applications for new residential accommodation specifically targeted 
at older people. Criteria include ensuring accommodation is 
integrated into the wider neighbourhood with easy access to 
community facilities, local services and public transport, and also 
requiring that properties reflect design best practice, including 
provision of balconies and outdoor space.  
 
The policy also specifically requires that residential developments of 
over 100 dwellings shall incorporate housing provision specifically 
targeted at older people (which could include for example 
bungalows). This will help to ensure the supply of new housing of the 
types sought in the representations. 

Homelessness is increasing due to the closure of hostels and 
shelters. Empty properties around the Chapel Street area (such as 
the former education offices, the former police station and bank 
offices) should be used for homeless people, and better use made of 
the former Crescent Hostel (individual) 
   

Reducing homelessness is a priority for Salford. The city council 
recently published a homelessness strategy that will shape the work 
done by the council and its partners over the period 2018-23. This 
strategy has three priorities: 1) Preventing homelessness; 2) 
Reducing the impact of homelessness; and 3) Eradicating the need 
for rough sleeping. Part of the action plan for the strategy is to bring 
empty properties back into use by implementation of an empty 
properties initiative.  
 

P
age 1565



 

The issue of homelessness is also a key priority across Greater 
Manchester and the top priority for the GM Mayor. In November 
2018 the Mayor launched ‘A bed every night’ the goal of which is to 
provide a place for every person sleeping rough every night from 
November 1 2018 to March 31 2019. In addition a target has been 
set to end the need for anyone to sleep rough on the streets of 
Greater Manchester by May 2020, which is seven years ahead of 
the government target.   
 

Criterion 12 – efficient use of land 

Cross reference should be made to policy DP1 as it is important that 
the minimum density of 35 dwellings per hectare should not be 
regarded as an absolute minimum regardless of site specific 
circumstances or the housing market (developer) 
 
Flexibility should be built into the policy to allow deviation in more 
peripheral areas, for example to diversify the housing mix, respect 
local character or due to site specific circumstances (developer) 
 
 

Policy DP1 (Efficient use of land) of the draft local plan has been 
updated in the Revised Draft Local Plan and is now in the plan as 
policy EF1. It does not go into detail in relation to residential density 
requirements, and much more detailed requirements than in the 
Draft Local Plan are now included in a new Policy H6 (Housing 
density).  
 
Criterion 4 of revised draft local plan policy H1 requires that land is 
used efficiently in new residential developments in accordance with 
policy H6 of the revised plan. Policy H6 is clear that that there is a 
minimum density requirement of 35 dwellings per hectare. The policy 
is though clear that a lower density may be acceptable where this is 
justified by local housing market issues.    
 

Other issues raised  

There is a need to preserve green areas and wildlife (individual) There are policies and chapters in the plan that look to preserve 
green areas and wildlife, including those on green infrastructure, 
green belt, biodiversity and recreation.  
 
Some greenfield land and, through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework, Green Belt land is being released for new housing in 
order to provide a good mix of dwellings in terms of location and 
type. These allocations contain significant mitigation requirements, 
whilst policy BG3 (Development and biodiversity) specifically 

P
age 1566



 

requires that all development shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity 
value.  
    

There is a lack of capacity with regards to schools, doctors and 
dentists (individual) 
 
More housing will create additional problems of traffic congestion 
(individual) 

A new criterion has been inserted into Revised Draft Local Plan 
policy H1 (as criterion 2) to make it clear that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for housing in Salford over the period 2018-37 is to: 
 
“Ensure the provision of sufficient community facilities (such as 
schools and health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing development and their 
occupiers”. 
 
The scale of additional housing proposed in the Local Plan will 
increase the pressure on existing facilities, and ensuring that new 
housing developments support improvements to the quality and 
where needed, capacity of these facilities will be important. Some 
amendments have been made to policies in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 (Provision of health and social 
care facilities) (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 (Residential developments and 
school places) (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments must enable an increase 

P
age 1567



 

in school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

There should be a requirement for a minimum of 20 allotments per 
1,000 units of housing (individual) 

The importance of new allotments is recognised elsewhere in the 
plan, and it is not considered appropriate to refer to it specifically in 
the policy on the housing spatial strategy for Salford.  
 
Policy R2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out a minimum 
standard of 5,000sqm (or 0.5 hectares) of allotments per 1,000 
households, and the reasoned justification refers to this being in the 

P
age 1568



 

form of half-sized plots that are 125m2 in size. Hence this effectively 
corresponds to the suggestion of 20 full-sized allotments, or 40 half-
sized allotments, per 1,000 households. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H1 of the Draft Local Plan 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The criteria in the policy have been reordered. 
 

In order to make the policy flow better. Note that the criteria are not 
ranked in order of importance.  

Criterion 1 of policy H1 of the Draft Local Plan has been amended in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan to refer to delivering a good supply and 
mix of dwellings across the city and within individual developments 
(the 2016 draft only referred to the mix across the city). 
  

To emphasise that new developments should deliver a good supply 
and mix of dwellings, which will then lead to a good mix across the 
city.  

Criterion 5 of policy H1 of the Draft Local Plan stated that a key 
component of the spatial strategy for housing was to “Implement 
housing-led neighbourhood renewal schemes, and use compulsory 
purchase orders where required”. This criterion has been carried 
forward into the Revised Draft Local Plan (as criterion 9) with 
reference being added to involving local residents in renewal 
schemes. 
 

To make it clear that the implementation of any housing led 
neighbourhood renewal schemes will be developed in partnership 
with local residents, rather than them being imposed on residents 
without them having any involvement. 

Criterion 7 of policy H1 of the Draft Local Plan referred to 
improvements in the private rented sector, including the prevention 
of short-term letting of new apartments where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that this is having a detrimental impact. This issue has 
been carried forward into the Revised Draft Local Plan (criterion 10) 
although the wording has been changed to “restricting the short-term 
letting of new apartments in order to ensure that an acceptable level 
of amenity is provided for longer-term residents”. 
 

The revised wording seeks to ensure that short term letting is 
restricted more generally in order to protect residential amenity, 
rather than waiting for significant harm to occur before taking action. 

P
age 1569



 

Addition of a new criterion to the Revised Draft Local Plan (criterion 
2) to state that a key component of the spatial strategy for housing is 
to:  
 
“Ensure the provision of sufficient community facilities (such as 
schools and health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers.” 

To reflect consultee comments to the Draft Local Plan, particularly 
from local residents. 

 

P
age 1570



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H2 SCALE, PHASING, DISTRIBUTION AND MIX OF HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 

The policy references in the Revised Draft Local Plan have been amended as follows: 
 

 Scale and phasing of housing – revised draft policy H2 

 Distribution of housing – revised draft policy H3 

 Mix of housing (type) – revised draft policy H4 
  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Requirement expressed as a minimum  

The reference to the requirement as a net minimum (i.e. ‘at least’) is 
supported and considered consistent with the NPPF requirements 
for plans to be positively prepared and the need to significantly boost 
housing supply (Home Builders Federation, Persimmon Homes and 
Countryside Properties). 

Support noted. The revised draft local plan refers to a requirement of 
“…at least 32,680 net additional dwellings” being provided over the 
period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2037 (policy H2).  

Scale of proposed housing is too low  

The Peel Group noted that the overall requirement figure for Salford 
is derived from Policy GM5 of the Draft GMSF. However, they 
considered that there is no clear explanation as to how the overall 
Greater Manchester housing figure has been disaggregated 
amongst the Local Authorities.  
 
The Peel Group stated that the objectively assessed need (OAN) is 
not policy compliant and does not accurately reflect the needs of the 
conurbation. It fails to meet either the quantitative need for homes or 
the qualitative need for different types of homes that ensure a mixed 
and balanced community. 
 
The Peel Group set out a technical critique of the OAN and the 
derived housing requirement within its representations to the Draft 
GMSF (this document is provided at Appendix 1 of Document 3 of 

Issues relating to the scale of housing across Greater Manchester 
and its distribution continue to be considered through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) process.  
 
The overall level of housing need for Greater Manchester that is 
identified in the Revised Draft GMSF has been calculated in 
accordance with the government’s local housing need methodology 
(specifically the approach in the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (October 2018) Technical consultation on 
updates to national planning policy and guidance, which uses the 
2014-based household projections, rather than the more recent 
2016-based household projections, and the 2017 affordability ratio).  
 
For Salford the methodology suggests that on average there is a 
need for around 1,372 net additional dwellings each year in the city, 

P
age 1571



 

their representations to the Local Plan, and the full extent of these 
concerns is not repeated here). 

 
Peel’s critique of the OAN for GM identified that it is flawed and falls 
below the minimum number of new homes needed. The review 
identified that the OAN for GM: 

 

 Does not make a reasonable and appropriate adjustment for 
‘market signals’ 

 Does not strike a sustainable balance between economic growth 
and housing provision by number and type 

 Does not consider implications of need for affordable housing 
 
As a result they considered that housing requirements for all districts 
should increase for a sound plan. 
 
In this context, Peel concluded that Policy H2 should be re-drafted to 
reflect the vision set out within the Draft GMSF and reinforced within 
the local plan to ensure that the aspirations for economic growth are 
matched though a supporting level of housing provision. It is critical 
that a more aspirational level of job growth within Salford is 
transparently presented within the plan. 
 
The Peel Group made detailed comments in their representations to 
the approach taken to calculating the OAN and translating these into 
requirements. They highlighted what they consider to be 
methodological flaws that confirm that the full need for housing in 
Salford is higher than that identified within the GMSF. These are 
summarised below: 
 

 The projected rate of population growth falls below recent and 
longer term trends (i.e. the last 10 years), with the projection 
continuing to assume a significant out-migration to other parts of 
the UK. This is unduly pessimistic and reflects sustained under 
provision of housing in Salford over recent years. 

whilst the individual local housing need figures for the 10 districts in 
Greater Manchester total 10,583 dwellings per annum.  
 
Having regard to the local housing need methodology, the revised 
draft GMSF identifies that a minimum of 201,000 net additional 
dwellings will be delivered over the period 2018-37, equating to an 
annual average of 10,580 dwellings.  
 
Further details relating to the calculation of local housing need are 
set out within the January 2019 GM Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (GM SHMA).  
 
Taking the overall housing need identified using the government’s 
local housing need methodology, the Revised Draft GMSF sets out 
housing requirements for the 10 districts. These requirements are 
informed by the 2019 SHMA but also take into account issues such 
as land supply, Green Belt, other development constraints and 
infrastructure in order to ensure new housing is located in the most 
sustainable locations.  
 
The housing requirement for Salford set out in the Revised Draft 
GMSF is 1,720 dwellings per annum, which is significantly above the 
local housing need of 1,372 dwellings per annum (which in turn is 
well above the average household growth of 962 households per 
annum in the latest 2016-based household projections). This 
effectively means that there is some redistribution of the overall 
Greater Manchester housing need to Salford. It specifically reflects 
the ability within Salford to deliver large numbers of new homes in 
central locations such as City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, as 
well as there being a small number of Green Belt sites in Salford that 
have been assessed as appropriate for housing development 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework when compared 
to other potential sites across the sub-region.  
 

P
age 1572



 

 The application of an adjustment to household formation rates for 
younger people is broadly supported; however this is only an 
increase of 11% to the ‘starting point’ for Salford which is below 
the overall GM adjustment of 18%.  

 The change to household formation rates is the only adjustment 
applied - no further uplifts to respond to market signals or 
economic factors are considered necessary for any of the ten 
GM authorities. This is not considered to be consistent with the 
PPG and is expolored further in representations by Peel to the 
Draft GMSF (provided as Appendix 1 of Document 3 of Peel’s 
representations to the Draft Local Plan). 

 As noted in the GM SHMA under the LPEG methodology Salford 
would need to incldue an additonal 10% uplift to provide a supply 
led resposne to market signals that reflect evidnce of worsening 
affordability. Such evidence includes: increasing house price to 
income ratios; rapid rises in average entry level rents and the 
relationship between median rent and median income. 

 The limiting of uplifts to the ‘starting point’ projections in the 
calculation of the OAN for Salford to a single adjustment to 
household formation rates, with no further adjustments to 
respond positively to evidenced affordability issues and an 
acknowledged historic under-provision of housing, is in this 
context considered to conflict with the PPG and produce an 
unsound assessment of OAN 

 The comparatively modest assumption regarding future levels of 
projected migration into the city which underpins the starting 
point projection of need noted above is also considered to fail to 
reflect the implications of strong anticipated job growth in Salford. 

 
Peel also criticised the evidence and approach relating to the links 
between economic growth and housing. These can be summarised 
as follows: 
 

 Whilst it is recognised that the authority is currently a net 
importer of labour and that this role is likely to be sustained in the 

Given that the Local Plan has to be in conformity with the GMSF, 
policy H2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies a housing 
requirement for Salford of at least 32,680 dwellings over the period 1 
April 2018 to 31 March 2037, equating to an annual average of 
1,720 net additional dwellings (i.e. it is the same requirement as that 
in the Revised Draft GMSF).  

 

P
age 1573



 

future Peel considers that the proposed level of housing under 
Policy H2 will fail to sustainably support forecast job growth in 
the authority. 

 Evidence from edge Analytics to the GMSF (submitted as 
Appendix 1 to Peel’s representations to the local plan) highlights 
that a failure to set a more positive level of housing provision will 
serve to either constrain economic growth or lead to further 
unsustainable increases in net commuting into the city which 
have not been adequately justified in the context of evidenced 
housing market relationships 

 The Draft GMSF evidence base does not include a local 
authority disaggregation of even the 0.7% p.a. growth forecast 
across GM albeit it is assumed that Salford would see a 
significant proportion of the additional growth based on its 
current share and the stated ambition within the lcoal plan. 

 
Having regard to all of the above, the evidence underpinning the 
OAN for GM and therefore Salford should be revisited to address the 
identified points of the critique. Peel considers that the full demand 
for housing in Salford is likely to be in excess of the current housing 
requirement of 1,745 homes per annum when full account is given to 
forecast levels of potential job growth in Salford in particular. 
 
Further points made by Peel were that it is inappropriate and at odds 
with national policy that the GMSF should limit itself to planning for a 
provision of housing which is simply aligned to the OAN. This applies 
equally to the Draft Local Plan. 
 
They also considered that 0.7% annual average employment growth 
over the plan period remains insufficiently ambitious in the context of 
the local and national aspirations for the role of Greater Manchester 
in the Northern Powerhouse (see paper by Frontier Economics 
included as Appendix 3 to draft GMSF consultation). Comments 
related to this were that: 

 

P
age 1574



 

 Job growth of 0.9% would more closely align with historic trends 
and the GMSF vision and is similar to the 1.0% considered 
appropriate by NLP on behalf of the Housing the Powerhouse 
campaign 

 Supporting a higher level of job growth than the 0.7% per annum 
presented within the Draft GMSF will require the retention and 
attraction of working households to GM. This in turn will require 
an uplift in housing provision which reflects the investment in 
infrastructure and wider investment associated with the 
Government’s Devolution Deal with GM. 

 The draft local plan plans for delivery of 915,000sqm of new 
office, industrial and warehousing floorspace and even higher 
levels could be achieved (see paragraph 7.12 of the Draft Local 
Plan). 

 
Reference was made by Peel to the Deep Dives Background report 
submitted as part of the Draft GMSF consultation. This report refers 
to a focus on jobs in the Regional Centre, growth in ‘Digital and 
creative industries’ at MediaCityUK/ Salford Quays, and the potential 
for logistics at Port Salford and Carrington (Western Gateway). 
Comments in relation to this are that: 
 

 Planned level of housing should reflect these opportunities; 
inadequate allowance is made in the housing requirement to 
respond to the potential implications of the concentration and 
scale of new employment opportunities in Salford. 

 It is recognised that the significant growth potential of Salford will 
in part depend upon improving accessibility for residents in other 
parts of the conurbation to access employment opportunities. 
However, account must also be made of the operation of HMAs 
in GM which has implications for labour mobility. 

 
The Home Builders Federation commented that the GM 
requirements are based on a lack of aspiration relating to 
employment growth, the lack of uplift applied for market signals and 

P
age 1575



 

other assumptions applied. Given this, the overall Greater 
Manchester housing requirement is not robust nor sufficiently 
aspirational. They further noted that: 
 

 Based upon the 2016 GM SHMA we consider the OAN to be 
somewhere in excess of 14,622 per annum as identified in 
Appendix 3 of the document. However a figure in excess of this 
is suggested by us due to overly optimistic assumptions over 
resident economic activity rates.    

 Work undertaken by NLP on behalf of the Housing the 
Powerhouse Campaign identifies an annual average of 16,643 
dwellings across GM to ensure that Greater Manchester rightfully 
fulfils its role as the key city driving growth within the North of 
England and providing a counterbalance to the strength of 
London and the South East. 

 
Persimmon Homes agreed with the Housing the Powerhouse 
campaign that insufficient housing is proposed; at least 16,000 
homes per annum should be provided to achieve a 1% growth rate 
in the GM economy (which is below the 1.2% achieved since 1999). 
They also commented that: 
 

 The proposed level of housing is only marginally above 
household forecasts - meaning that there is little scope to both 
address the existing shortfall and cater for housing need arising 
from increased economic growth 

 Housing is a key contributor to economic growth, with evidence 
from the Housing the Powerhouse campaign finding that building 
16,000 homes per annum would support additional: capital 
investment; FTE construction jobs; local jobs as a result of 
expenditure from new residents; new homes bonus; and council 
tax.  

 The most effective way of tackling the shortfall in affordable 
housing is to allocate more land for market housing with an 
element of affordable housing. 

P
age 1576



 

 If Salford were to retain the same proportion of the GMSF total 
as present (15.36%), having regard to the overall GM 
requirement advocated by Housing the Powerhouse this 
translates into a housing requirement of 53,700 for Salford. 

 

The housing requirement being in conformity with GMSF policy GM5 
is welcomed, but there are significant concerns in relation to these 
requirements (Home Builders Federation).  

The Revised Draft Local Plan is in conformity with the Revised Draft 
GMSF with regards to the housing requirement. The way the 
requirements in the GMSF have been derived are set out above.  

Peel noted that the Draft Local Plan affordable housing policy states 
that there is a need for 750 affordable dwellings per annum as set 
out in the GM SHMA. However they consider that there is a lack of 
detail in the SHMA about this calculation and this udnermines it. 
 
They went on to say that the Draft Local Plan refers to the challenge 
of providing affordable housing in the context of public funding 
reductions and that affordable gousing is a key priority for the 
council. They state that within this context the plan fails to take into 
account the significant benefits a higher OAN would make in 
delivering affordable housing as part of market housing schemes.   

The January 2019 GM SHMA identifies a need for 4,678 affordable 
dwellings per annum across Greater Manchester, with a specific 
need for 613 affordable dwellings per annum in Salford. These 
figures assume that the existing backlog of need is addressed within 
five years. Full details of how they have been calculated are set out 
in the SHMA.  
 
Although it is recognised that a higher housing requirement could 
potentially lead to higher levels of affordable housing, the housing 
requirement in the Revised Draft Local Plan is considered to be 
appropriate having regard to the objectives of the plan. The 
requirement is 6,612 dwellings above the Local Housing Need figure 
for the city and so provides considerable scope for more affordable 
housing to be delivered in Salford than would be the case if just the 
Local Housing Need was being planned for (particularly also having 
regard to the affordable housing requirements in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan). It should also be noted that the Local Housing Need 
methodology applies an uplift compared to the household projections 
specifically in order to address affordability issues, and effectively 
seeks to ‘over-supply’ new dwellings compared to forecast demand 
in order to improve affordability. 

Scale of proposed housing is too high  

Going off past trends there is a real possibility that the city will fail to 
meet the proposed housing target. Being realistic in the housing 
target does not mean the city isn’t being ambitious, it means it is 
learning from past mistakes and caring about the future (Cllr 
Critchley). 

Issues relating to the scale of housing across Greater Manchester 
and its distribution continue to be considered through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) process.  
 

P
age 1577



 

 
The Department for Communities and Local Government Household 
projections in GMSF Background Paper 3 - Objectively Assessed 
Housing Need - show an overall figure of 28,108. However, the Draft 
Local Plan requires 34,900. This 6700+ difference requires 
clarification (Planning for Our Future in Irlam and Cadishead). 
 
Action Against Astley Road Development (AAARD) and a local 
resident considered that the calculation of the housing requirement 
for Salford is flawed and therefore there is no need to release Green 
Belt land, especially in Irlam and Cadishead. AAARD went on to 
state that: 
 

 The 2011 Census states the average UK household contains 
2.40 people 

 The current 2016 population in Salford is 246,000 and in 2035 it 
will be 290,0001 which represents a 44,000 increase 

  Dividing the forecast population increase of 44,000 by the 
dwelling requirement of 34,900 in the Draft Local plan gives an 
average household size of 1.25 

 Having regard to the estimated dwelling type split in policy H2 
and the dwelling requirement of 34,900 there will be a population 
increase of 55,666 calculated as follows: 

o Apartments: 34,900 x 70% x 1.25 people per household = 
30,538 

o Houses: 34,900 x 30% x 2.4 people per household = 
25,128 

 The 55,666 population increase is 11,666 higher than the 44,000 
forecast.  

 The release of land in Western Irlam and Cadishead for 2,250 
dwellings (that would have a population of 5,400 people if an 
average size of 2.4 per people per is applied) is therefore not 
required. 

The overall level of housing need for Greater Manchester that is 
identified in the Revised Draft GMSF has been calculated in 
accordance with the government’s local housing need methodology 
(specifically the approach in the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (October 2018) Technical consultation on 
updates to national planning policy and guidance, which uses the 
2014-based household projections, rather than the more recent 
2016-based household projections, and the 2017 affordability ratio).  
 
For Salford the methodology suggests that on average there is a 
need for around 1,372 net additional dwellings each year in the city, 
whilst the individual local housing need figures for the 10 districts in 
Greater Manchester total 10,583 dwellings per annum.  
 
Having regard to the local housing need methodology, the revised 
draft GMSF identifies that a minimum of 201,000 net additional 
dwellings will be delivered over the period 2018-37, equating to an 
annual average of 10,580 dwellings.  
 
The government’s planning practice guidance is clear that any 
alternative approach which results in a lower housing need figure 
than identified using the standard methodology would be unsound, 
unless there are local exceptional circumstances to deviate from the 
standard method. The GMSF process has not identified that there 
are exceptional circumstances to justify this. 
 
Further details relating to the calculation of local housing need are 
set out within the January 2019 GM Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (GM SHMA).  
 
Taking the overall housing need identified using the government’s 
local housing need methodology, the Revised Draft GMSF sets out 
housing requirements for the 10 districts. These requirements are 

                                                           
1 Note that AARD do not quote the source for these figures – they are slightly different to the 2014 based Subnational population projections for Salford 

P
age 1578



 

 informed by the 2019 SHMA but also take into account issues such 
as land supply, Green Belt, other development constraints and 
infrastructure in order to ensure new housing is located in the most 
sustainable locations.  
 
The housing requirement for Salford set out in the Revised Draft 
GMSF is 1,720 dwellings per annum, which is significantly above the 
local housing need of 1,372 dwellings per annum (which in turn is 
well above the average household growth of 962 households per 
annum in the latest 2016-based household projections). This 
effectively means that there is some redistribution of the overall 
Greater Manchester housing need to Salford. It specifically reflects 
the ability within Salford to deliver large numbers of new homes in 
central locations such as City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, as 
well as there being a small number of Green Belt sites in Salford that 
have been assessed as appropriate for housing development 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework when compared 
to other potential sites across the sub-region.  
 
Given that the Local Plan has to be in conformity with the GMSF, 
policy H2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies a housing 
requirement for Salford of at least 32,680 dwellings over the period 1 
April 2018 to 31 March 2037, equating to an annual average of 
1,720 net additional dwellings (i.e. it is the same requirement as that 
in the Revised Draft GMSF). 

Redistribution of need across Greater Manchester  

The Peel Group noted that Salford’s requirement represents an uplift 
to the OAN due to redistribution between the 10 GM districts and 
there is a strong rationale for this due to current and anticipated 
employment opportunities and a rapidly growing population in 
Salford. However the level of housing under H2 is inadequate 
because: 
 

 Where the full OAN is met across GM there will be a higher OAN 
for Salford. 

The housing requirement for Salford set out in the Revised Draft 
GMSF for Salford is 1,720 dwellings per annum, which is above the 
local housing need figure for Salford of 1,372 dwellings per annum. 
This effectively means that there is some redistribution of the overall 
Greater Manchester housing need to Salford.  
 
The redistribution of some of Greater Manchester’s housing need to 
Salford continues to be considered appropriate, and specifically 
reflects the ability within Salford to deliver large numbers of new 

P
age 1579



 

 The GM redistribution of the OAN is not adequately justified or 
sufficiently in line with the spatial distribution of economic 
investment across GM. In particular Salford will generate 
significant labour force demand which will need sufficient 
housing within the city. 

 Insufficient consideration given to scale of affordable housing 
need in the city and the benefits of planning for higher housing 
provision will bring in relation to this. 

 Due to issues around housing markets additional needs 
generated in Salford, or the authorities with which it has 
strongest housing market links, cannot therefore be ‘re-
distributed’ indiscriminately around other housing markets in the 
conurbation. 

 
Through the GMSF, Salford is accommodating a higher requirement 
than its need. The housing requirement should be revisited in order 
to prevent development on greenfield land and Green Belt sites 
(Worsley Councillors). The local plan should only provide housing to 
meet Salford’s need (Cllr Critchley). 
 
The proposal to reallocate housing from some districts to others 
should be based on size of the borough (for example Wigan is nearly 
twice the area of Salford but is meeting less of the redistribution), 
existing housing density, access to good public transport links as 
well as potential land supply (individual). 
 
It does not seem justifiable that Salford’s housing requirement 
includes an additional requirement to offset under-development in 
other areas, particualrly as: Salford is the second smallest district in 
GM but providing the second highest scale of development; and 
many of the houses will be built at the west end of Salford which 
already has an over-crowded road network (individual). 

homes in central locations such as City Centre Salford and Salford 
Quays. It also takes into account there being a small number of 
Green Belt sites in Salford that have been assessed as appropriate 
for housing development through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework when compared to other potential sites across the sub-
region.  
 
 

Housing land supply  

P
age 1580



 

As set out in Appendix 2 of Document 3 of The Peel Group’s 
representations to the Draft Local Plan, they consider that green belt 
release is needed and exceptional circumstances exist to justify this 
across GM, including Salford. They went on to state that the 
proposed housing requirement for Salford is too low and should be 
increased; any increase can only realistically be met through the 
release of additional land within the Green Belt.  
 
Peel also noted that there is also a need to release additional land 
across GM to meet the draft GMSF requirement of 227,200 as the 
supply will deliver 47,500 fewer units than assumed (i.e. only deliver 
179,671 dwellings) as a result of overestimating yield from identified 
sites – see Appendix 2 of Document 3 of Peel’s representations to 
the Draft Local Plan. 

Issues relating to the scale of housing across Greater Manchester 
and its distribution continue to be considered through the GMSF 
process.  
 
The Revised Draft GMSF and Revised Draft Local Plan both identify 
a requirement of 32,680 dwellings over the period 1 April 2018 to 31 
March 2037 for Salford. The introduction / justification to Policy H9 of 
the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out that there is an identified 
supply of 40,300 dwellings to meet the requirement. This supply 
includes the release of 3 sites through the GMSF that are currently 
in the Green Belt, totalling 2,000 dwellings in order to diversify the 
mix of housing coming forward in the city. The release of additional 
land in the Green Belt for new housing in Salford is not considered to 
be necessary or appropriate given the land supply position.   
 
 

 

Peel made the following comments in relation to Salford’s 2016 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment: 
 

 DCLG analysis indicates that between 10-20% of planning 
permissions are not delivered at all (DCLG presentation to 2015 
HBF Planning Conference in September 2015), whilst a further 
proportion of sites deemed developable will inevitably not 
materialise as planning applications. As a starting point at least 
10% of the supply will not come forward in the plan period. 

 3,300 dwellings are proposed on sites to be released from the 
Green belt. This equates to less than 2 years supply against the 
Draft Local Plan requirement. An additional 6 sites are identified 
in policy H3 that do not comply with the current policy framework, 
equating to 1,560 dwellings. Together this represents less than 3 
years supply. The remainder of the supply (over 85% is on 
unconstrained sites that could have come forward at any point 
over the last 20+ years).  

Responses to Peel’s comments with regards to the 2016 HELAA are 
set out in the separate schedule that sets out and responds to all 
comments received to the HELAA.  

P
age 1581



 

 As no policy change is required for over 85% of the supply, 
historic delivery rates in the city from non-Green belt land supply 
can provide a proxy for the likely yield from the same non-Green 
belt supply going forward. 

 The policy unconstrained supply is expected to deliver 30,040 
dwellings equating to 1,502 per annum [It is unclear where the 
respondent has got this unconstrained figure from]. 

 Since the UDP was adopted in 2006 there has been an annual 
average of 972 per annum, with 1,502 only being exceeded on 
two occasions. This is an increase in delivery of 55% from 
effectively the same supply which has delivered an annual 
average of 972 per year over 10 years. Although there may be a 
short term boost to delivery over the next 2-3 years, there is no 
evidence to support a 55% increase in delivery year on year from 
the same land supply. 

 The short term boost to supply is from the least constrained and 
most viable sites within the land supply – such sites will reduce 
over time. More complex sites (such as those which require land 
assembly, remediation etc) and those in less established parts of 
the Regional Centre (eg. Ordsall Riverside) will not sustain 
current delivery levels over the plan period 

 The scale and rate of development assumed is unprecedented 
and, even allowing for maximum delivery from stronger 
performing market areas, is unlikely to be achieved. 

The Peel Group considered that there are qualitative deficiencies in 
the identified supply. In particular they commented that: 
 

 57% of dwellings will be directed to single ward (Ordsall) which 
accounts for the majority of the Regional Centre located in 
Salford. The housing market in this ward is predominantly 
investor-led and one which is vulnerable to fluctuations in market 
confidence. Occupier and investor demand and confidence 
within a single market area is evidently finite.  

 The above will fail to meet qualitative needs: most will be 1 or 2 
bed apartments; a very significant proportion will be private 

Policy H4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out that the housing 
requirement is 32,680 net additional dwellings over the period 2018-
2037, with this being comprised of approximately 8,450 houses 
(26%) and 24,230 apartments (74%). This reflects the importance of 
delivering as much new housing as possible on previously 
developed land in the most accessible locations, so as to minimise 
the need to travel, maximise the use of sustainable modes of 
transport, and minimise the need for the development of greenfield 
sites and existing Green Belt land. 
 

P
age 1582



 

rented by design or default; and very little affordable housing will 
be delivered particularly given high density apartment schemes 
in the City Centre and Salford Quays only have a 10% affordable 
housing requirement) 

 Given relatively low delivery of family housing in recent years 
resulting in significant pent up demand, and clear qualitative 
deficiencies in the forward supply, there is a need to allocate 
additional family housing sites that can come forward in the very 
early years of the plan period (such as Broadoak). 

 A more balanced approach whereby reliance on different 
residential markets is more evenly distributed, and more closely 
aligned to the identified housing needs and aspirations of the city 
is needed. This will ensure a more robust plan with added 
certainty of deliverability and which secures the qualitative mix of 
housing which the city needs. This requires a more balanced 
distribution of housing across the city and a significant increase 
in the level of family housing which the city plans for.  

 Notwithstanding the above, delivery within the Regional Centre 
market area should not be capped in anyway but rather it should 
not be so heavily relied upon to deliver the Local Plan’s housing 
requirements. 

This total housing requirement for Salford is 6,612 dwellings above 
the Local Housing Need figure for the city, and this additional 
housing growth is targeted at City Centre Salford and Salford Quays 
reflecting the high demand across Greater Manchester to live in 
locations close to the main concentrations of employment 
opportunities. The mix of houses and apartments in Salford is 
considered appropriate in light of these issues, and having regard to 
the type of household growth that has been forecast and the overall 
supply of new houses and apartments proposed across the rest of 
Greater Manchester. 

 

The identified need for housing can be met through building on 
brownfield land, existing properties that are for sale or rent, bringing 
empty properties back into use, also sites with planning permission 
where development has not yet started (individuals).  

The city council has sought to maximise the amount of new housing 
that will be built on brownfield land. The introduction / justification to 
Revised Draft Local Plan policy H9 is clear that the vast majority of 
the total supply is previously-developed land, although some 
greenfield and Green Belt sites are being released through the Local 
Plan and GMSF allocations to help deliver an appropriate scale, and 
more diverse distribution and mix, of housing. Overall, it should be 
possible to exceed a target of 80% of new homes being on 
previously-developed sites. 
 
It is recognised that empty properties can play a role in meeting the 
need for housing. An indicator that will be used to monitor the 
housing chapter of the Revised Draft Local Plan is to maintain a 
vacancy rate below 3% (which is considered to represent a low 

P
age 1583



 

vacancy rate that takes into account natural churn in the housing 
market). The city council also has a team that seeks to bring empty 
properties back into use.  
 
Sites that already have planning permission form part of the 
identified supply of dwellings that will come forward for development 
over the plan period. An assessment of the deliverability/ 
developability of each site with permission has been undertaken in 
line with government guidance.  

Brownfield land must be reused rather than the unnecessary use of 
greenfield and particularly Green Belt land. The loss of Grade 1, 2 or 
3a farmland should be avoided (Planning for Our Future in Irlam and 
Cadishead). 

Issues relating to the release of Green Belt across Greater 
Manchester is being considered through the GMSF process. Land to 
the north of Irlam Station has been allocated in the Revised Draft 
GMSF; it has been assessed as appropriate for housing 
development through the GMSF process when compared to other 
potential sites across the sub-region, primarily based on its proximity 
to Irlam Station. 

Through the February 2013 Local Plan ‘call for sites’, sites for 600 
homes were identified in Irlam and Cadishead; these sites must be 
developed before any others   (Planning for Our Future in Irlam and 
Cadishead).  

It is unclear what sites the respondent is referring to as part of this 
representation. 
 
The council published a neighbourhood area document for Irlam and 
Cadishead in January 2014 relating to “Local Plan: suggested sites 
consultation”. In this document the following non-green belt sites 
were considered for housing use: 
 

 IC002 – Land west of Hayes Road (172 dwellings) 

 IC012 – Land at Astley Road (35 dwellings) 

 IC018 – Makro, Liverpool Road (288 dwellings) 

 IC022 – Land south of Fairhills Road – Kingsland Wines (247 
dwellings) 

 
IC002 is allocated for housing in the Revised Draft Local Plan for 
200 dwellings (policy H9/1), whilst IC012 is accounted for in the 
housing supply identified within Irlam and Cadishead (as identified in 
policy H3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan).   
 

P
age 1584



 

Sites IC018 and IC022 have not been allocated in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan, or included elsewhere within the identified supply of 
40,300 (as set out in policy H9 of the revised plan). This is because 
there has been no recent indication that the current active uses on 
each site will cease, and therefore they will not become available for 
new housing. ICO18 will be surrounded by Port Salford and so its 
use for housing is unlikely to be appropriate. ICO22 is within an 
existing employment area and is occupied by a major employer, and 
so the presumption is that it will remain in employment use. 

Appendix 6 of the Draft Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal sets out 
“Sites discounted as alternative options for local plan allocations”. 
This document details sites that are either currently being developed 
for housing (which amount to circa 2500 homes) or have the 
potential to be used for housing (circa 2400) and are being 
discounted from the overall figures. These homes must be included 
in the overall figures for the Salford Local Plan, as this would remove 
the requirement for H3/4 for housing (Planning for Our Future in 
Irlam and Cadishead). 

Appendix 6 of the Draft Local Plan sustainability appraisal (SA) has 
been updated as part of the SA for the Revised Draft Local Plan. It 
should be noted that many of the sites discounted as potential 
housing allocations are actually included within the supply of 40,300 
dwellings that will be delivered over the plan period (2018-37), as 
highlighted in the introduction / justification to policy H9 of the 
revised draft plan.  
 
Reasons why some sites have not been allocated are fully set out in 
the updated Revised Draft Local Plan SA (at appendix 6). It is not 
necessary for all potential housing sites to be allocated, and seeking 
to do so would increase the size, complexity and production time of 
the Local Plan. For example, where a site already has planning 
permission or where housing on it would raise no policy objections, it 
is unnecessary to allocate it in the Local Plan. However, such sites 
appear in the Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment, and where relevant on the Brownfield Land Register, 
which helps to draw them to the attention of potential developers. 

Going off all past trends there is a real possibility that the city will fail 
to meet the proposed housing target, meaning we will not have a 5 
year housing supply, threatening further green spaces from 
development (Cllr Critchley) 

It is recognised that there are likely to be significant peaks and 
troughs in net completions due to changing wider economic and 
housing market conditions, and depending on when individual large 
apartment schemes are completed. However, policy H2 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan is clear that If any cumulative shortfall in 
housing delivery arises compared to the average per annum 
requirement of 1,720 net additional dwellings then this will be 
addressed over the remainder of the plan period, reflecting the 

P
age 1585



 

extended period over which the impacts of a downturn may be felt 
(rather than it all being made up in the relevant five year period). 
Given this, and the expected timing of delivery of dwellings over the 
plan period, it is envisaged that there will be a 5 year housing supply 
throughout the plan period. 

Housing supply – flexibility and reserve sites  

The Peel Group stated that the Local Plan needs to allocate 
significantly more land than proposed to achieve the level of growth 
proposed in order to mitigate against non-delivery of the supply and 
to ensure a sound plan. This would be in accordance with paragraph 
21 of the NPPF. Moreoever, they highlighted that although the NPPF 
does not prescribe a “Flexbility Factor” in realtion to housing 
allocations, LPEG reccomended the release of developable 
“Reserve sites” equivalent to 20% of their total housing requirement 
to respond to rapid change (see paragraph 11.4 of March 2016 
report). 
 
Paper 2 of Peel’s representations to the Draft GMSF at Appendix 2 
of Document 3 of Peel’s representations to the DSLP) sets out the 
need for the GMSF to identify a sufficient supply of reserve sites. 
They consider that the same approach should apply to Salford. 
 
Peel noted that the 2016 HELAA non Green Belt supply is 35,727; 
when Green Belt sites are added to this and delivery between 2015-
16 is factored in (to provide a supply figure of 40,125) there is only a 
15% flexibility factor. There is not a suffcient buffer as recommended 
by LPEG. [It is unclear where the respondent has got the supply 
figure of 40,125 from]. 
 
The Home Builders Federation commented that they have concerns 
over the overall quantum of allocations and the lack of an 
appropriate buffer. They raised the following specific issues: 
 

 Table 6 of the HELAA identifies a total supply of 35,727 over the 
period 2016-35. Once the 1,098 completions for 2015-16 are 

The 2018 NPPF does not require either a ‘Flexibility Factor’ in 
relation to housing allocations, or the release of ‘Reserve sites’ 
equivalent to 20% of their total housing requirement as 
recommended by LPEG. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies a supply 
of 40,300 dwellings to meet a requirement of 32,680 dwellings. 
There is therefore 23% flexibility in the supply, which is considered 
to accord with the paragraph 11a of the 2018 Framework which 
requires that plans should be sufficiently flexible to adapt to rapid 
change. 

P
age 1586



 

factored in the plan period supply is 36,825. This is a buffer of 
only 5.5% against the requirement of 34,900. 

 The supply in the GM SHMA at figure 10 is 38,726 dwellings 
which is a 11% buffer. Clarity is required over the differences 
between this and the HELAA identified supply 

 A 5.5% or 11% is contrary to the 20% buffer recommended by 
LPEG 

 
Persimmon Homes also stated that consideration should be given to 
the need to identify Reserve Sites equivalent to 20% of the housing 
requirement, as recommended by LPEG. 

Housing supply – safeguarded land  

The Peel Group considered that The Draft Local Plan is contrary to 
paragraph 85 of the NPPF as it does not identify a proper supply of 
safeguarded land “"...in order to meet longer-term development 
needs stretching well beyond the plan period..". There is only an 
over supply of 3 years against the Draft Local Plan requriement 
(assuming a total supply of 40,197).  
 
Peel were further of the view that The potential land supply post-
2035 will be wholly insufficient to meet longer term development 
needs. A proper strategy for the identification of safeguarded land, 
consistent with the NPPF requirement that Green Belt boundaries 
should endure over the long term and that safeguarded land should 
be identified to meet development needs stretching ‘well beyond’ the 
plan period is needed. 

Issues relating to Green Belt boundary changes are being 
considered solely through the GMSF process, rather than the Local 
Plan. Through the GMSF it has not been considered appropriate or 
necessary to identify safeguarded land to meet needs following the 
plan period. 

Housing supply – reliance on employment sites  

The Peel Group objected to the allocation of existing employment 
sites for residential development (e.g. Draft allocations H3/10, 
H3/12). No evidence has been presented by the Council that these 
sites do not have a viable future as employment locations nor has an 
assessment of the impact on the local economy and local 
businesses and employment arising from the release of these sites 
for alternative uses being undertaken.  
 

Draft Local Plan housing allocations H3/10 (Clifton Business Park) 
and H3/12 (Swinton Hall Road employment area) have been deleted 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan.  
 
H3/10 was allocated in the draft plan as there was known interest 
from the landowner for the site to be used for housing and there was 
an undetermined planning application for such use; since then the 

P
age 1587



 

They further stated that any existing employment sites within the 
Council’s identified housing land supply which do not benefit from 
planning permission should not be included in the supply at this 
stage and until a proper assessment of the viability of retaining these 
sites in employment use is undertaken as part of the progression of 
the Local Plan. 

owner has invested in the site and it is now being marketed as M60 
Office Park and so therefore will not become available for housing.  
 
H3/12 was allocated for residential development as it presents one 
of only a few opportunities to significantly increase the supply of 
housing in close proximity to a town centre, rail station and busy bus 
routes (in this case along the A6 and A666). However on balance 
the allocation has been deleted from the Revised Draft Local Plan in 
recognition of the fact that the site overall is well occupied by 
employment uses (with around 50 separate properties / plots), 
supports a considerable number of jobs, and there is ongoing 
interest from an employment perspective including existing 
businesses wanting to invest in their premises.  
 
An additional existing employment site has been allocated for 
housing in the Revised Draft Local Plan (H9/8 – Land at Orchard 
street: 470 dwellings). The site was put forward to the council for 
housing during consultation on the Draft Local Plan. Although it is 
important to protect most existing employment areas in the city in 
order to ensure a good range of business sites and premises, in this 
instance it is considered more appropriate to support the site’s 
redevelopment for residential uses. This is primarily because the 
majority of the site is in use for aggregate recycling and this conflicts 
with the residential uses located to the north of Langley Road South. 
 
Only a small number of existing employment sites that do not benefit 
from planning permission for housing have been included in the 
housing land supply. Where such sites have been identified they 
include land within masterplan / development framework areas 
where land uses will change (for example through the Crescent 
Masterplan), undetermined planning applications for housing, and 
known interest in redevelopment of sites for housing. 
  

Phasing of development   

P
age 1588



 

It is not clear how the phasing of development would  be 
implemented in the Ordsall / Quays area; therefore further guidance 
should be provided showing how this phasing would work in practice 
i.e. what criteria or 'trigger mechanisms' might be used to determine 
when further new development should be permitted (Ordsall Health 
Surgery Patient Participation Group and Imperial Point and 
Sovereign Point Residents' Association). 

 

Policy HH3 Provision of health and social care facilities (previously 
policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work with 
health care providers to ensure that the capacity of health facilities 
(such as GPs and dentists) increases in line with the growing 
population, and to direct developers to engage with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group to determine requirements associated with 
development. Developments of 300 or more dwellings will be 
required to incorporate health care facilities as part of the 
development unless provision can be made elsewhere within the 
local area.  

Notwithstanding concerns over the scale of housing proposed, 
equally spreading the requirement over the plan period is supported 
in order to ensure needs are met as soon as possible (Home 
Builders Federation). 
 
Although phasing is referred to in the title of the policy it is not 
discussed within the policy wording or reasoned justification. We do 
not favour phasing policies as in general they frustrate early delivery 
and are not compatible with significantly boosting the supply of 
housing. Policy DP2 addresses issues relating to sites proceeding in 
a coordinated manner (Persimmon Homes). 

Policy H2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies that it is 
anticipated that the rate of housing delivery will be reasonably even 
across the whole plan period (i.e. it does not take a phased 
approach). Nevertheless, there are likely to be significant peaks and 
troughs in net completions due to changing wider economic and 
housing market conditions, and depending on when individual large 
apartment schemes are completed. Consequently, the policy 
identifies that housing delivery is likely to be broadly in the range of 
1,150-2,290 net additional dwellings per annum. 
 

Mix of dwellings over the plan period  

The Peel Group stated that the requirement across Salford is 
essentially a product of the city’s assumed housing land supply, with 
non-Green Belt developable sites identified and then additional sites 
to be released from the Green Belt to meet any residual quantitative 
and qualitative requirement identified. They noted that whilst it is 
recognised that there is likely to be a strong demand for apartments 
and that the housing market in Salford in particular is shaped by the 
location of the Regional Centre and the associated apartment 
market, there is a failure to provide for sufficient family  housing. 
 
Having regard to the above, they identified that between 2003 and 
2015, 67% of new homes (gross) in Salford were apartments. 

Policy H4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out that the housing 
requirement is 32,680 net additional dwellings over the period 2018-
2037, with this being comprised of approximately 8,450 houses 
(26%) and 24,230 apartments (74%). This reflects the importance of 
delivering as much new housing as possible on previously 
developed land in the most accessible locations, so as to minimise 
the need to travel, maximise the use of sustainable modes of 
transport, and minimise the need for the development of greenfield 
sites and existing Green Belt land. 
 
This total housing requirement for Salford is 6,612 dwellings above 
the Local Housing Need figure for the city, and this additional 

P
age 1589



 

Further they considered that the pipeline of planning permissions is 
skewed towards apartments, with a concentration of permissions in 
a limited geographical part of the city (predominantly the Regional 
Centre Ward of Ordsall). Moreover they stated that the pipeline: 
 

 Accentuates highly restricted delivery of homes of any sort of 
strong West Salford market area. Contrary to paragraph 50 of 
the NPPF which requires a wide choice of high quality homes 

 When overlaid by ward against the value areas used for the Draft 
Local Plan affordable housing policy shows that development 
has been skewed to the provision of housing (majority of which 
are apartments) within the City Centre and Salford Quays with 
very little development seen across many of the other stronger 
and more traditional family housing markets. 

 
Peel went on to make reference to various strategies / documents 
referring to retaining talent and providing more family and 
aspirational homes in locations of demand (Northern Powerhouse 
Strategy; Manchester Independent Economic Review; Centre for 
urban Cities). They further noted that Salford’s growing economy will 
include a significant proportion of jobs for highly skilled people. The 
latest GMFM baseline forecasts show that 68% of jobs in Salford are 
forecast to be in business, financial and professional services and 
cultural and creative sectors. With regards to this a proportion of this 
workforce may be attracted to living in the regional centre; different 
life-stage circumstances of the employees in Salford will be 
expected to translate into requirement for family houses in other 
parts of the city. The Draft Local Plan recognises these issues at 9.3 
and 9.12 with the release of greenfield and Green Belt land in West 
Salford. 
 
Peel identified that the Draft Local Plan proposes around 10,500 to 
12,200 houses; on the basis of the SHMA’s own analysis of need 
based on changing demographics this will fail to accommodate 
locally generated demand (based upon the SHMA’s disaggregation 

housing growth is targeted at City Centre Salford and Salford Quays 
reflecting the high demand across Greater Manchester to live in 
locations close to the main concentrations of employment 
opportunities. The mix of houses and apartments in Salford is 
considered appropriate in light of these issues, and having regard to 
the type of household growth that has been forecast and the overall 
supply of new houses and apartments proposed across the rest of 
Greater Manchester. 

 

P
age 1590



 

of the potential split in the need for housing and apartments in 
Salford). In relation to this: 
 

 Under the modelled scenario of need by housing type presented 
within the SHMA (Dwelling Mix 4) which most closely aligns with 
the Draft GMSF split across GM (55% housing and 45% 
apartments) the SHMA identifies a higher need for family 
housing in Salford than accommodated through policy H2 

 Notwithstanding the above comment, the evidence set out in the 
GMSF SHMA to inform the Draft GMSF’s split of housing by type 
is not soundly evidenced (see Paper 3 ‘GMSF Housing and 
Economic Growth Evidence Growth Evidence Critical Review’ to 
Peel’s submitted representations to the Draft GMSF, January 
2016, section 8) 

 
Peel recognises the role of the City Centre and Salford Quays / 
Ordsall Waterfront in providing apartments to respond to a specific 
element of the housing market but to be sound needs to plan more 
positively for additional family housing beyond the Regional Centre. 
 
They went on to state that 16,200 homes in the rest of Salford 
(outside of the City Centre, and Salford Quays / Ordsall Waterfront) 
is not sufficient to meet needs and does not reflect significant 
employment growth in the west of the City – most notably Port 
Salford and land around AJ Bell Stadium. Housing should be located 
in close proximity to areas of such economic growth. 
 

 The rationale for only a maximum 11,200 dwellings of the 16,200 
being houses is unclear and contradicts evidence of need 

 The assumption that 5,000 apartments will be delivered outside 
of the City Centre and Quays fails to reflect the market or 
suitability of land within the city 

 

P
age 1591



 

Further comments from Peel were that failure to provide sufficient 
family housing will continue the historic out-migration of working 
family households outside of Salford. In particular: 
 

 Some may chose to live within GM and travel to employment in 
Salford; current commuting patterns however show that others 
will locate outside GM.  

 Reference is made to a KPMG report which found that 59% of 
employees at MediaCityUK lived within GM with comparatively 
strong representation of people living in Cheshire and Warrington 

 These patterns fail to capture the full fiscal and socio-economic 
benefits of growth within the conurbation 

 Continued out-migration of labour and in particular higher-skilled 
labour to other areas surrounding GM will in turn lead businesses 
to follow the labour-market resulting 

 
Perel concluded by stating that there is very little evidence of 
affordable housing being provided through historic completions of or 
the planned pipeline of apartment schemes. Failing to provide for 
greater numbers of housing sites which are likely to be able to viably 
support a greater proportion of affordable housing will further 
exacerbate the issue of under-providing for affordable housing. 
 
The Home Builders Federation and Countyrside Properties noted 
that ppartments will undoubtedly form a significant part of the 
housing needs and supply for Salford over the plan period. It is, 
however, important that other forms of housing are also provided to 
ensure that the needs of working families and those aspiring to start 
families are also met. To provide a more balanced approach a 
higher percentage of houses would appear justified. 
 
Concerns that the Draft Local Plan does not allocate enough land 
which is suitable for family housing (Persimmon Homes). 

P
age 1592



 

The need for a mix of dwelling types is recognised but this can be 
achieved by policies stipulating a broader mix of dwellings on 
specific sites, not by allocating more land (Cllr Critchley).  

Additional text has been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan to 
require that: “Individual new residential developments shall 
contribute to the provision of a broad mix of housing options across 
Salford and within the local area, ensuring that identified housing 
needs can be met” (policy H4).  
 
Notwithstanding the above, the Revised Draft Local Plan continues 
to allocate some greenfield sites for housing, whilst the Revised 
Draft GMSF proposes three sites for housing that are currently in the 
Green Belt. These sites will help to ensure that an appropriate range 
of new housing comes forward in the city. 

In the Salford Quays area a broader mix of residential dwelling types 
other than high-rise apartments would be welcomed; low level, 
traditional housing with some outdoor space would be appreciated 
(for example Lawrence Quay and Chimney Pot Park) (Imperial Point 
and Sovereign Point Residents' Association).  

Some areas of the city such as Salford Quays will be much more 
appropriate for apartments than houses due to their location, context 
and characteristics, and have a key role at the sub-regional level in 
providing a large number of high quality apartments. However, 
additional reference has been made in the revised draft plan to 
developments incorporating ground floor duplexes and other larger 
dwellings where practicable to enable a wider range of households 
to live at Salford Quays. 

The housing targets identified for Salford Quays should be minimum 
figures. This would allow Salford’s Quays’ housing market to 
respond demand (Peel Media Management Limited). 

Policy H3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies that there will be 
approximately 6,750 net additional dwellings in Salford Quays over 
the period 2018-2037. The policy is clear that: “Higher levels of 
development in individual areas will be permitted where this is 
consistent with the overall strategy of the plan.” 

A local resident commented that population trends indicate that there 
is a greater need for single person dwellings which will require 1 or 2 
bedroom developments rather than family homes / dwellings. The 
proprtion of single person dwellings equates to at least two thirds of 
the requirements in GM and Salford. Furthermore: 
 

 The GMSF information identifies a shortfall of 65,000 homes 
mainly related to smaller dwellings – this development should be 
located in the inner cities of Manchester and Salford rather than 
in the outer areas. 

The type of housing that different types of household occupy is 
constantly changing, and in recent years there has been an 
increasing tendency for smaller households to occupy apartments 
rather than houses. This is likely to be due to a range of factors 
including affordability, the central location of many apartments, and 
lifestyle choices. The high level of future housing supply within City 
Centre Salford and Salford Quays is expected to reinforce this trend, 
enabling more households to live in very accessible locations close 
to a wide range of employment and leisure opportunities. Having 
regard to this, it is considered appropriate that approximately 74% of 

P
age 1593



 

 Although the outer areas of GM have net out migration in the 
ages of 15-31 (and particularly 19-21) this is the reverse in the 
inner areas of Manchester and Salford. 

 Past trends form 2002-12 for GM show an uplift of 0.7% per 
annum compared to the proposed 0.81% per annum. There is no 
conclusive evidence that an uplift on past trends is required, 
particularly given Government policy to reduce in-migration and 
the implications of Brexit 

the new dwellings coming forward in Salford over the period 2018-37 
will be in the form of apartments. 

Minimum proportion of houses in new developments  

The principle of there being an appropriate mix of houses and 
apartments is supported (ForViva). 

Support welcomed.  

The reference to no minimum requirement for houses in Salford 
Quays, which reflects the apartment led market in this location, is 
supported (Peel Media Management Limited). 

Support welcomed. Policy H4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
continues the approach of not setting a minimum requirement for 
houses in Salford Quays. However, reference has been added to 
incorporating ground floor duplexes and other larger dwellings where 
practicable to enable a wider range of households to live in locations 
such as Salford Quays.  

The table in the policy refers to 65-70% of the dwellings being in the 
form of apartments and 30-35% houses city wide between 2015 and 
2035. It is unclear how this relates to paragraph 4 of the policy which 
requires that 80% of the net increase in dwellings (outside of 
specified areas) resulting from individual developments should be 
houses (Arnold Laver, MHE Investments, Home Builders Federation, 
Persimmon Homes and United Utilities).   

The 80% requirement for houses in the Draft Local Plan related to 
new dwellings that would be granted planning permission following 
the adoption of the Local Plan. There were a significant number of 
dwellings in the form of apartments already with planning 
permission, and this was reflected in only 30-35% of dwellings being 
provided over the plan period in the form of houses.  
 
The 80% requirement for houses in new developments has been 
retained in the Revised Draft Local Plan (policy H4). This policy 
identifies that around 26% of new dwellings over the plan period 
would be in the form of houses. This again reflects the issue of the 
large number of apartments that already have permission / are likely 
to be granted prior to the requirements of the Local Plan applying. 
 
To clarify this, the following text has been added to the policy H4: 
 
“Taking into account the number and type of dwellings that already 
have planning permission, in order to achieve the above mix it will be 

P
age 1594



 

important to ensure that new permissions incorporate a significant 
proportion of houses in appropriate locations.” 

The  policy requirement for 80% of dwellings to be houses is very 
concerning; it would be perverse for a situation to occur where the 
absence to identify sufficient land for family housing was used as a 
basis to reject proposals for apartment developments in suitable 
locations. Also concerned regarding how the Council will apply this 
policy, particularly in the light of paragraph 9.13 of the reasoned 
justification (Countryside Properties). 

The fact that some sites will only deliver apartments means that it 
will be necessary for many other sites to provide high proportions of 
houses in order to achieve a good overall choice of dwellings across 
the city. Hence, it is appropriate to seek to maximise the number of 
houses coming forward on many sites. Given this, the requirement 
for at least 80% of dwellings being houses outside of City Centre 
Salford, Ordsall Waterfront, Salford Quays and the other town 
centres has been retained in the Revised Draft Local Plan (policy 
H4). 
 
The Draft Local Plan set out where a lower proportion of houses 
would be acceptable. Additional text has now been added to the plan 
(revised policy H4) to set out that a lower proportion of houses may 
be acceptable where there is a demonstrable need for different types 
of dwellings (criterion B) 2) b), or where the minimum density 
requirements in Policy H6 can only be met through a higher 
proportion of apartments (criterion B) 2) c). 

Specialist forms of development should be exempt from the 
minimum proportion of new houses in developments for a variety of 
reasons (McCarthy and Stone). 

Additional text has been added to set out that a lower proportion of 
houses may be acceptable where the development provides 
specialist accommodation, such as for older people, or there is a 
demonstrable need for different types of dwellings (Revised Draft 
Local Plan policy H4, criterion B) 2) b).  

The policy should not seek to introduce a definition of a dwelling that 
might be different with the interpretation of dwelling in the evidence 
base that underpins the policy, related legislation, or used in the 
Framework or any other related guidance. This simply confuses the 
situation and may suggest that it does not relate to the definitions as 
set out in the Use Classes Order for example (Countryside 
Properties). 

The definition of “a dwelling” has been retained in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan (policy H4) in order to provide clarity over the application 
of the policy.  

Other issues – community infrastructure  

There will be increased demand for services and facilities including 
but not confined to leisure centres, libraries, etc. which are central to 
people being a part of their local community and to residents’ health, 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 

P
age 1595



 

wellbeing and access to advice, information and support (Salford 
Community Leisure). 
 
In order to create sustainable communities, it is essential that social  
infrastructure is provided before or alongside any new housing 
development (Worsley Councillors and Salford City Council 
Conservative Group). 
 
Need for the explicit recognition of the need for additional community 
facilities such as banks, building societies, pharmacies, etc., to 
support the growing population planned for the Salford Quays area 
(Imperial Point and Sovereign Point Residents’ Association). 
 
Explicit recognition should be given in the Plan to provision for the 
expansion or relocation of medical services in or adjacent to the 
proposed new Ordsall Local Centre, and / or the commissioning of 
more health services in the area, especially around MediaCity 
(Imperial Point and Sovereign Point Residents’ Association). 

further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 

P
age 1596



 

however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres. 
 
 

Other issues – transport infrastructure and highways  

P
age 1597



 

In order to create sustainable communities, it is essential that 
transport  infrastructure is provided before or alongside any new 
housing development.  (Worsley Councillors and Salford City 
Council Conservative Group). Developments will only worsen the 
‘severe’ traffic problems in Worsley (Worsley Councillors). 

Transport infrastructure: The focus of the Local Plan accessibility 
policies is to collectively promote and encourage sustainable travel 
choices through a variety of ways. It is essential that the significant 
growth in the city’s population over the next 20 years is not 
accompanied by a similar level of growth in the use of cars, which 
could have a detrimental impact on the quality of life of Salford 
residents. Many of the policies in this chapter have been expanded 
and amended to ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal 
shift. Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key priorities for 
further investment are identified in policy A5. It is recognised that 
some developments will generate the need for additional 
infrastructure and services, and where this is the case, policy A1 is 
clear that such development should be carefully phased alongside 
the delivery of the necessary transport infrastructure.  

 

The proposed ‘new road’ in Worsley / Boothstown will only help if it 
doesn’t feed into the already congested Junction 13 on the M60. A 
serious look needs to be taken by Highways England to the closure 
of Junction 13 on the M60 and a new slip road off the A580 going 
south (Worsley Councillors). 

Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 

  

 

P
age 1598



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GENERAL COMMENTS TO H3 (HOUSING ALLOCATIONS) AND H4 (OPEN SPACE AND HOUSING ALLOCATIONS) 

(The housing and open space and housing allocation in the Revised Draft Local Plan are set out under policy H9).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Community infrastructure 

An individual raised concerns about the 2 allocations in the 
Boothstown area, particularly in relation to local school capacity 
(individual). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues.  
 
Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and school places 
(previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) remains largely 
unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is clear that residential 
developments will need to enable an increase in school places 
where there is a projected shortfall, so as to avoid overcrowding in 
schools or students having to travel longer distances to school. This 
will generally be through a financial contribution to the expansion of 
an existing school, however in some cases developments will need 
to incorporate additional school provision within their sites, which is a 
requirement of some of the larger site allocations. Policy ED3 
requires that the additional school places are delivered before 
demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

Climate change and flood risk 

P
age 1599



 

New guidance has been published on climate change allowances 
and this evidence will need to be considered further against the 
proposed allocations (particularly to meet the NPPF and where the 
Exception Test applies (Environment Agency). 

Policy WA5 has been amended to explain that an appropriate 
allowance for climate change should be made in considering 
proposals.  
 

Allocation of sites should be subject to requirements of NPPF to 
undertake flood risk sequential test. Only where there are no sites in 
Flood Zone 1 and 2 should development in Flood Zone 3 be 
considered (Environment Agency). 

Salford does not have enough reasonably available sites in Flood 
Zone 1 and 2 to accommodate the required level of development 
and achieve regeneration aims. None of the Local Plan housing site 
allocations propose any built development within Flood Zone 3. 

Green Belt release 

Exceptional circumstances exist to justify the release of sites from 
the Green Belt for residential development (Peel Holdings). 

All changes to the Green Belt, including any removal of land from the 
Green Belt for development, are now being considered solely 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  

Highways 

Highways England made the following comments: 
 

 A Transport Assessment should be undertaken of the Draft Local 
Plan allocations, in order to fully evaluate the traffic impact of 
development across the allocated sites. The aggregate impact of 
all of the allocations should be assessed, with this work likely to 
be undertaken in association with work on the GMSF 

 The Local Plan housing allocations contain no mitigatory 
measures on the local highway network or SRN, despite a 
number of them being significant in size. Where mitigatory 
measures are identified it is expected these should be reflected 
in requirements for the relevant sites  

 Without a supporting transport evidence base and Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan, the impacts of the Local Plan allocations cannot 
be fully evaluated or conclusively commented on 

 
An individual raised concerns about the 2 allocations in the 
Boothstown area, particularly in relation to traffic and congestion 
around junction 13 of the M60, HGVs and vehicle emissions 
(individual). 

The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning the Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 
An Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be published alongside the 
Publication Local Plan.  
 
Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 

P
age 1600



 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but due to the integrated nature of the 
highway network and the amount of traffic that travels through 
Salford to and from other destinations means that joint working 
across a wide area is required to tackle the issue. This Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority has led the production of an Air 
Quality Action Plan for Greater Manchester (2016-2021) in 
partnership with the Greater Manchester local authorities, Highways 
England and Transport for Greater Manchester, which includes a 
series of actions and measures to bring about an improvement in air 
quality.  
 
The planning process does however have an important role to play 
in supporting an improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in 
promoting better health and an improved quality of life. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the 
various ways in which the Local Plan can assist in securing an 
improvement in the city’s air quality, for example reducing road 
emissions by minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of 
low and zero carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network and requiring development to minimise and 
mitigate pollution as far as possible. 
 

Healthcare  

When taken together the allocations will have a significant localised 
impact. Given this, the Salford CCG would want to be involved at the 
earliest possible stage in the planning of these developments to help 
predict, plan for, develop and commission services to meet the 
health care needs of the residents (NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group). 

The city council is working with the CCG to identify the best way of 
involving them in the planning process. Revised Draft Local Plan 
Policy HH3 requires developments involving 300 dwellings or more 
to incorporate appropriate primary care facilities, and early 
engagement with the CCG is encouraged. 

Through our pooled budget for adult health and social care, the CCG 
would be involved in decision making in relation to the planning and 
commissioning of social care provision to ensure integrated health 
and social care services (NHS Clinical Commissioning Group). 

Comments noted.  

Heritage 

P
age 1601



 

Historic England is not yet satisfied, and the Council has not yet 
demonstrated, that it has identified and assessed the particular 
significance of any heritage assets that may be affected by its 
proposed site allocations and key areas of intervention (taking 
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise) in 
accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 158 and 169 of the 
NPPF and our Advice Note No.3: Site Allocations (HEAN3). Failiure 
to do this would resulty in the allocations being unsound. 
 
It is necessary to identify any heritage assets outside of the city 
boundary and how their setting may be impacted from potential 
development proposals (Historic England). 
 
Concern that inadequate evaluation has been undertaken of the 
impact of development upon any heritage assets including their 
setting and therefore the impact upon their significance.  Without 
demonstrating that this assessment has been undertaken they do 
not consider that the local authority can demonstrate that the 
objectively assessed development needs of the area will be met in 
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  As a consequence there is a danger that the local 
distinctiveness and character of the area may be lost (Historic 
England). 

Working proactively with Historic England and the Greater 
Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) with regards 
to built heritage and underground heritage respectively, the city 
council has undertaken an initial screening of all of the built 
development allocations. This included the identification of heritage 
assets outside of the city boundary.  
 
More detailed consideration has then been given to those allocations 
where it was identified that heritage assets may be affected by built 
development. This included assessing the particular significance of 
heritage assets and an evaluation of the impact of development 
upon the assets, including their setting and therefore the impact of 
development upon their significance.    
 
Heriatge assessments will be published alongisde the Revised Draft 
Local Plan and these have directly informed changes to the 
allocations in the plan.  
 
The approach taken is in conformity with the NPPF (2018) and the 
city council considers that needs can be met in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.     

Scale of allocations 

Object to the plan’s failiure to allocate developable sites in the urban 
area. This is contrary to national policy and therefore unsound (Peel 
Holdings). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan allocates 18 sites for new housing 
development, primarily within the existing urban area (policy H9). 
Hundreds of potential sites for housing are identified in the council’s 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) and 
its Brownfield Land Register, demonstrating that there is sufficient 
land to deliver the city’s housing requirement. The HELAA and 
Brownfield register are updated on an annual basis to take into 
account changing circumstances. Many of the sites in them already 
benefit from planning permission. The allocation of such sites would 
have very limited benefit, but would increase the length of the plan 

P
age 1602



 

considerably and would lead to delays in its production, and hence is 
not considered appropriate.  

In order for the plan to be sound additional Green belt and non-
Green Belt land will need to be allocated for residential development 
to meet the housing needs of the City over the plan period. A series 
of additional sites in relation to this have been submitted (Peel 
Holdings). 

Decisions about whether to release Green Belt land for housing 
development are now being taken solely through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) and not through the Local 
Plan. The GMSF proposes the release of three sites in the Green 
Belt for housing in Salford, which would collectively deliver around 
2,000 dwellings. When combined with the Local Plan proposals, it is 
considered that an appropriate distribution and mix of dwellings 
would be delivered across the city. 
 

Sport pitches 

Any allocation where playing fields are proposed to be redeveloped 
needs to be justified by clear reference to the up to date Playing 
Pitch Strategy (Sport England).  

Allocations involving playing fields will deliver a net improvement in 
the quality and/or quantity of playing field provision in Salford.  

 P
age 1603



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/1 LAND EAST OF BOOTHSTOWN, BOOTHSTOWN AND ELLENBROOK 

AND WORSLEY 

Allocations involving development on land in Salford that is currently in the Green Belt are 
now being considered solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than Salford’s Local Plan. 
 
Issues raised in relation to Draft Local Plan policy H3/1 are summarised below and have 
been taken into account in the drafting of GM Allocation 31 (East of Boothstown) in the 
Revised Draft GMSF. The boundary of the allocation is very similar to the draft stage. 
 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

Air quality and noise pollution 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors, and local 
residents groups, collectively expressed the view that the potential health implications 
associated with air pollution from cars and congestion will worsen as a result of 
development. The site functions as a green lung in a built up city and this would be lost. 
 
Barbara Keeley MPF further suggested that air quality is a significant issue for Salford, 
and referred to a reported higher than average mortality figure attributable to air 
pollution, a worse than average prevalence of respiratory problems, high levels of 
nitrogen dioxide (recorded at junction 13 of the M60) and higher than average levels of 
carbon monoxide and particulate matter. 

Biodiversity 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors, and local 
residents groups, collectively expressed the view that there would be an adverse impact 
on wildlife and the local environment as a result of the proposed development.  
 
Boothstown and Ellenbrook local councillors further commented that there will be a 
significant impact on wildlife, woodland and flora around areas to the north of the 
Bridgewater Canal. 

The Lancashire Wildlife Trust submitted detailed comments identifying the presence of 
particular species on the site. The Trust also expressed the view that there should be 
an analysis of the biodiversity value of the allocation (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 

It should be acknowledged in policy that the site lies adjacent to the Middle Wood SBI 
and reference should be made to the Greater Manchester Wetland Nature Improvement 
Area within which the proposed allocation lies (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 

GMEU commented that criterion 2 should be amended to refer to Shaw Brook being 
landscaped as a high value demonstration site for enhancement of ecological potential 
and as an ecological habitat and semi-natural open space with specific attention to 
enhancing the habitat for water vole. They further stated that Criterion 2 may also 
provide an opportunity to contribute to the GM Biodiversity Action Plan for black poplar 
as a suitable site for planting of this species. 

An individual commented that enhancements to Chat Moss would not be adequate 
compensation for the loss of this area of Green Belt as Chat Moss is too far away. 

The Lancashire Wildlife Trust made the following comments relating to criterion 7: 
 

 Clarity should be provided with regards to what is meant by a “significant” 
contribution to the enhancement of Chat Moss as required by of the policy 

 It is unclear what is meant by Chat Moss – a definition is required for clarity 

Page 1604



2 
 

 Much of the mossland is in private ownership, so it is also unclear how the 
requirement for improvement and restoration could be delivered 

Chat Moss is large enough to absorb biodiversity compensation to off-set the 
cumulative impacts of other land allocations, however further evidence and details need 
to be provided (GMEU).  

A full extended phase 1 habitat survey of the site and water framework assessment of 
Shaw Brook be carried out as part of any planning application (GMEU). 

Object to the allocation on the basis of the site’s biodiversity value (South Lancashire 
Bat Group). 

Community Infrastructure 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors, local residents 
groups, and the South Lancashire Bat Group collectively expressed the following views: 
 

 Concerns with regards to the capacity of existing community infrastructure and the 
potential for the development of this site to worsen the situation. 

 Primary and secondary schools together with doctor surgeries were referred to most 
frequently, with concern also raised regarding the capacity of dentists, local 
hospitals, chemists, shops, and leisure facilities. 

New community infrastructure should be in place prior to occupation of any new 
dwellings (individual).  

Flood risk and water quality 

The Environment Agency had no objection in principle to the release of sites in the 
Green Belt, based on the number of waterbodies and local wildlife sites that bisect or 
adjoin the site, but made the following comments: 
 
1. Bullet point 2 – With regards to Shaw Brook, this should be strengthened to ensure 

development seeks to ‘enhance’. Shaw Brook is currently at ‘poor’ status and the 
policy should ‘protect and enhance’ rather than just ‘utilise’. 
 

2. The use of sustainable urban drainage systems is supported. It is recommended 
that the policy refers to “soft” or “green” SUDs.  
 

3. Any development on peatland areas will need to be supported by a detailed 
hydrological assessment which demonstrates that there is no detrimental 
impact to the water environment.  
 

4. Retaining open space of a minimum of 8 metres width adjoining Shaw Brook is 
required and access to through the site to reach the watercourse must also be 
provided. 

The proposed housing allocation is affected by the Thirlmere Aqueduct and West East 
Link Main. The Thirlmere Aqueduct lies to the western edge of the site and the 
proposed allocation has the West East Link passing through it. United Utilities would 
require an access strip either side for access and maintenance and to prevent damage 
to the infrastructure. United utilities would also welcome GIS layers of allocations in 
order to identify any of their interests that pass through the allocation.  

United Utilities responded to the consultation noting that there are several pressurised 
water mains and sewers cutting through the site. Also there are existing easements 
which will need to be considered. Consideration must also be given to disposal of 
surface water in the most sustainable way.  

Green Belt 

Given the amount of extra housing that is needed in Greater Manchester, this means 
that some of the Green Belt will need to be developed (individual). 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors, local residents 
groups and CPRE collectively expressed the following views: 

Page 1605



3 
 

 

 There are sufficient, suitable previously developed sites (including vacant 
employment sites) and empty homes to meet needs, and these and other options 
should be fully explored before sites in the Green Belt are considered particularly 
given that developing the Green Belt will harm regeneration.  

 The Green Belt designation is a green wedge that prevents Astley and Boothstown 
merging into each other as a result of urban sprawl 

 Exceptional circumstances have not been adequately demonstrated to warrant loss 
of Green Belt; the need for affordable homes and unmet housing need is unlikely to 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm to constitute the very special 
circumstances test to justify Green Belt development 

 The site should not be released to meet targets for the whole of Greater Manchester 

Developing parts of the Green Belt will harm the integrity and function of the remaining 
Green Belt (Barbara Keeley MP). 

Green Infrastructure 

The site’s value to the community as a green space and a recreation asset (including 
for walking) was identified in a large proportion of the comments received, and the 
development of the site was strongly objected to on this basis. Furthermore 2 
comments were received stating that open space should be protected for health and 
well-being of residents. 

There will be a potential loss of strategic green infrastructure associated with the 
allocation (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 

It is possible that there will be adverse impacts to Chat Moss (CPRE Lancashire). 

The proposed development would lead to the loss of farming land (individuals). 

Development will lead to a loss of view across the fields (individual).  

The release of the land for housing would impact on the special character of Astley 
Green and the Bridgewater Canal corridor (Salford Conservative Group), whilst an 
individual noted that Higher Green will disappear and become part of a vast housing 
estate losing its intrinsic character. 

The land would be much better put to use by developing it into a large park to 
complement the RHS Bridgewater development (individual). 

Highways and public transport 

The following comments were made: 
 

 A new junction could take substantial amounts of traffic from the M60 onto the A580  

 The policy should be amended to ensure that commuted sums are provided to 
ensure highways improvements 

 A traffic and travel plan should be provided  

 A traffic management plan should be prepared which considers the need for signal 
controlled junctions at the roundabouts of Worsley Brow and reinstatement  of a 
dual carriageway access onto the M60 southbound at junction 13 before the smart 
motorway scheme comes live  

A number of respondents questioned how a new road would solve the traffic problems 
in the area whilst others noted that although a new road is referenced in the plan text, 
the location is not shown.  

Comments were made that traffic congestion is already a major issue in the area and 
further development would exacerbate the problem which are considered to be severe 
at peak times by many. In particular the A572 Leigh Road, the A580 East Lancashire 
Road, the A575 Walkden Road Junction 13 of the M60 and Worsley Road were 
identified. Other roads mentioned were Leigh Road, Worsley roundabout approaching 
from Barton Road, and Worsley Brow. 
 
Concerns were expressed regarding the cumulative impact on traffic. Reference was 
made to the RHS Bridgewater site, also existing and proposed residential 

Page 1606



4 
 

developments, including some of the other GMSF allocations in Salford and the 
adjoining authorities. 
 
Many considered that the local road network cannot accommodate further development 
without significant investment. In particular the NW Quadrant Study Stage 3 Report 
(2016) identifies the issues with capacity of the M60 between junctions 8 to 18. 
Consultees considered that the M60Smart Motorway will not alleviate congestion. 

Changes / improvements to highways infrastructure will take at least 20 years. It is 
commented that further development should not occur until the next version of the plan 
is prepared, so by then plans for improvements for road infrastructure will be more 
advanced (Ellenbrook and Boothstown councillors). 

It was commented by a large number of residents that the area is poorly served by 
public transport and has no tram/train station. One respondent commented that the tram 
system should be extended to the Worsley and Boothstown area. 
 
Capacity of the Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway was highlighted as an issue. 
Others suggested that even if public transport were to be improved, this may have 
limited impact on traffic due to lifestyles and the ingrained reliance on the car.  

Existing public transport provision is not adequate to meet current demand. It is 
commented that there are concerns that there are very few measures within the 
council’s powers to ensure there is adequate means of public transport to discourage 
residents from using cars (individual). 

Housing 

The Peel Group fully supported the development of the site, commenting that the land 
represents a suitable, available and achievable development opportunity.   

Although Peel support the allocation they have raised the following issues: 
 
1) Criterion 7 requires development of the site to make a significant contribution to the 

enhancement of Chat Moss. The reasoned justification states that this is as 
compensation for the loss of Green Belt land.  The Peel Group comment that such 
an approach does not feature in national policy. By definition it is justified by the 
exceptional circumstances which allow the land to be removed from the Green Belt 
in the first place. It is then commented that it is unclear and questionable whether 
such contributions satisfy the relevant legal tests of being necessary, directly 
related, and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind, to the development. No 
assessment has been undertaken of the potential impact of such contributions on 
the viability and deliverability of housing development on the Site. Furthermore, no 
evidence has been presented as to what actual enhancements might be made, by 
whom and whether they are achievable. The Peel Group conclude that unless and 
until these points can be addressed, this criterion must be omitted from Policy H3/2 
to ensure it is sound and lawful. 
 

2) Criteria 1-6 could be included in a masterplan and are capable of being delivered. 
However, access to Chat Moss is currently not possible from the site and not be 
achievable under Draft Policy 3/1. The words “and Chat Moss to the south” should 
therefore be removed from criterion 3.  

Landowners of Booths Bank Farm (Love Brothers Ltd) offered their support to the 
redevelopment of the farm for housing. They noted that the site is accessible to local 
services and public transport and therefore is considered to be a sustainable location 
(Love Brothers Ltd).  The redevelopment of the wider allocation is also supported with 
low density high quality housing 

Booths Bank Farm is a logical first phase of development of the site. It is relatively self-
contained and there is no reason why development on the site could not come forward 
in advance of the majority of the allocation. It should be made clear that, despite the 

Page 1607



5 
 

wording of Policy DP2, a masterplan for Booths Bank Farm will not be required (Love 
Brothers Ltd).   

The additional homes planned for Boothstown/Astley together with homes that have 
already been built combined are commented to be excessive over development 
(Boothstown and Ellenbrook councillors, individual). 

More houses are needed but for first time buyers, (individuals). 

The policy is not prescriptive enough to ensure the delivery of luxury housing, whilst a 
maximum density is not set (individual). 

One respondent commented that 50% of houses built should be affordable to first time 
buyers. Areas including Broughton, Langworthy and Wigan were identified as suitable 
locations to deliver this type of housing given the regenerative benefits this would have. 

It was questioned whether there is a demand for extra housing in the local area and it 
was noted that exiting the European Union will further reduce the need for new 
dwellings.  

Other local authorities should take on more of the burden of increasing housing 
numbers. 

There is a lack of affordable housing in the city due to the council selling off its stock 
and the proliferation of private landlords. The number of empty properties was also 
drawn attention to.  

The development would be of poor quality, both in terms of construction and design. 

The development of the site could also result in some existing residents choosing to 
move out of the area. 

Sports pitches 

Any loss of any existing sports facilities / playing field will need to be fully justified by 
clear reference to the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy (Sport England). 

Other issues 

The Minerals and Waste Planning Unit welcome the acknowledgement that the site falls 
within a minerals safeguarding area (individual).  

The RHS garden development will be adversely affected by the allocation (Boothstown 
and Ellenbrook councillors). 

There is insufficient infrastructure as a whole to support the housing allocation 
(individual). 

  

 

Page 1608



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/2 LAND WEST OF BOOTHSTOWN, BOOTHSTOWN AND ELLENBROOK 

Allocations involving development on land in Salford that is currently in the Green Belt are 
now being considered solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than Salford’s Local Plan. 
 
The site involving land west of Boothstown has not been allocated for housing development 
in the Revised Draft GMSF, as it has been concluded that there are more sustainable sites 
elsewhere in Salford and the rest of Greater Manchester that are available to meet sub-
regional housing needs. Instead it is proposed that the land will remain as Green Belt. 
 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

Air quality and noise pollution 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors, and local residents 
groups, collectively expressed the view that the potential health implications associated with 
air pollution from cars and congestion will worsen as a result of development. The site 
functions as a green lung in a built up city and this would be lost. 
 
Barbara Keeley MPF further suggested that air quality is a significant issue for Salford, and 
referred to a reported higher than average mortality figure attributable to air pollution, a 
worse than average prevalence of respiratory problems, high levels of nitrogen dioxide 
(recorded at junction 13 of the M60) and higher than average levels of carbon monoxide and 
particulate matter. 

Biodiversity 

Chat Moss is large enough to absorb biodiversity compensation to off-set the cumulative 
impacts of other land allocations, although a full extended phase 1 habitat survey of the site 
and water framework assessment should be carried out as part of any planning application 
(GMEU).  

The site has biodiversity value and development would have an adverse impact on the local 
environment (individuals, Barbara Keeley MP/ Boothstown and Ellenbrook councillors). In 
particular Boothstown and Ellenbrook councillors commented that there will be a significant 
impact on wildlife, woodland and flora around the Stirrup Brook, Whitehead Brook and areas 
to the north of the Bridgewater Canal. 

The Lancashire Wildlife Trust suggested the following additions to the policy: 
 

 Pond habitat must be retained and enhanced and connectivity maintained and improved 
between the ponds and the wider ecological network 

 Sufficient amphibian terrestrial habitat needs to be included in the provision of green 
infrastructure  

 It should be outlined which particular habitats for wildlife would be most important and 
effective in maintaining, and preferably enhancing, the ecological network within the 
allocation  

The Lancashire Wildlife Trust submitted detailed comments identifying the presence of 
particular species on the site. The Trust also expressed the view that there should be an 
analysis of the biodiversity value of the allocation (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 

Community Infrastructure 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors and local residents 
groups collectively expressed the following views: 
 

 Concerns with regards to the capacity of existing community infrastructure and the 
potential for the development of this site to worsen the situation 

Page 1609



2 
 

 Primary and secondary schools together with doctors surgeries were referred to most 
frequently, with concern also raised regarding the capacity of dentists, local hospitals, 
chemists, local shops, and leisure facilities 

 Shopping and community facilities should be provided on site 

Flood risk and water quality 

The Environment Agency has no objection in principle to the release of sites in the Green 
Belt, based on the number of waterbodies and local wildlife sites that bisect or adjoin the 
site, but comments there should be no deterioration of existing Water Framework Directive 
bodies. Development should also enhance with any wildlife sites that connect with these 
where possible.  

A large part of the allocation is within flood zone 3 but is not referred to in the reasoned 
justification. It is questioned by the Environment Agency whether the site has been subject 
to a sequential test. The site should meet the exception test in paragraph 102 of the NPPF 
(Environment Agency). 

Retaining open space of a minimum of 8 metres width to Stirrup/Whitehead Brook is 
required and access to through the site to reach the watercourse must also be provided 
(Environment Agency).  

Criterion 4 of the policy: With regards to Stirrup Brook and Whitehead Brook, this should be 
strengthened to ensure development seeks to ‘enhance’. Both these waterbodies are 
classified as been ‘poor’ and the policy should ‘protect and enhance’ rather than just ‘utilise’ 
(Environment Agency). 

Criterion 5 of the policy: The use of sustainable urban drainage systems is supported. It is 
recommended that the policy refers to “soft” or “green” SUDs (Environment Agency).   

There are flooding and drainage issues towards the east of the site; development will affect 
the natural drainage on the site and will increase the risk of flooding. 

Green Belt 

Comments from individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, local ward councillors, local residents 
groups and CPRE between them expressed the following views: 
 

 There are sufficient, suitable previously developed sites (including vacant employment 
sites) and empty homes to meet needs, and these and other options should be fully 
explored before sites in the Green Belt are considered particularly given that developing 
the Green Belt will harm regeneration.  

 The Green Belt designation is a green wedge that prevents Astley and Boothstown 
merging into each other as a result of urban sprawl 

 Exceptional circumstances have not been adequately demonstrated to warrant loss of 
Green Belt; the need for affordable homes and unmet housing need is unlikely to 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm to constitute the very special 
circumstances test to justify Green Belt development 

 The site should not be released to meet targets for the whole of Greater Manchester 

Developing parts of the Green Belt will harm the integrity and function of the remaining 
Green Belt (Barbara Keeley MP).  

Green Infrastructure 

The site’s value to the community as a green space and a recreation asset (including for 
walking) was identified in a large proportion of the comments received, and the development 
of the site was strongly objected to on this basis. Furthermore 2 comments were received 
stating that open space should be protected for health and well-being of residents. 

It is possible that there will be adverse impacts to Chat Moss (CPRE Lancashire). 

The proposed development would lead to the loss of farming land (individuals). 

Development will lead to a loss of view across the fields (individual).  

The release of the land for housing would impact on the special character of Astley Green 
and the Bridgewater Canal corridor (Salford Conservative Group), whilst an individual noted 
that Higher Green will disappear and become part of a vast housing estate losing its intrinsic 
character. 

Page 1610



3 
 

Highways and public transport 

The following comments were made: 
 

 A new junction could take substantial amounts of traffic from the M60 onto the A580  

 The policy should be amended to ensure that commuted sums are provided to ensure 
highways improvements 

 A traffic and travel plan should be provided  

 A traffic management plan should be prepared which considers the need for signal 
controlled junctions at the roundabouts of Worsley Brow and reinstatement  of a dual 
carriageway access onto the M60 southbound at junction 13 before the smart motorway 
scheme comes live  

 A new orbital motorway is needed which connects the M56, M62, M61 and M66 to 
reduce traffic on the M60 

Various comments were made regarding access to the site as follows:  
 

 Object to taking access from Vicars Hall Lane  

 Primary access routes from the A580 appear acceptable, however there is no 
southbound access on to the M60 from this locality and drivers will be forced to leave 
the A580 to join the A572 Walkden Road and join the motorway at Worsley Brow 
causing additional congestion 

Comments were made that traffic congestion is already a major issue in the area and further 
development would exacerbate the problem. In particular the A572 Leigh Road, the A580 
East Lancashire Road, Junction 13 of the M60 and Worsley Road were identified as being 
problematic at peak travel times. Other roads mentioned were Walkden Road, Leigh Road 
and Worsley Brow (individuals). 
 
Many considered that the local road network cannot accommodate further development 
without significant investment. In particular the NW Quadrant Study Stage 3 Report (2016) 
identifies the issues with capacity of the M60 between junctions 8 to 18. Consultees 
considered that the M60Smart Motorway will not alleviate congestion. 

Changes / improvements to highways infrastructure will take at least 20 years. It is 
commented that further development should not occur until the next version of the plan is 
prepared, so by then plans for improvements for road infrastructure will be more advanced 
(Ellenbrook and Boothstown councillors). 

The GMSF allocation states that the site will not be released until for development until 
major improvements in the public transport are secured along the A580 but the Salford local 
plan policy sets out the development of the site will need to “be phased with the delivery of 
major improvements to public transport along the A580” (Highways England).  

It was commented by a large number of residents that the area is poorly served by public 
transport and has no tram/train station. One respondent commented that the tram system 
should be extended to Worsley and Boothstown, whilst another commented that the site is 
some distance from the Guided Busway and Walkden train station with no options to travel 
to south Manchester.  

No mention of what form the rapid transit system would take along the A580 (individual). It 
was also noted that there are no dedicated bus lanes for the Guided Busway along the 
busiest stretches of the route. 

Existing public transport provision is not adequate to meet current demand. It is commented 
that there are concerns that there are very few measures within the council’s powers to 
ensure there is adequate means of public transport to discourage residents from using cars 
(individual). 

Housing 

The Peel Group fully support the allocation of the site, commenting that the land represents 
a suitable, available and achievable development opportunity, and consider that there are 
exceptional circumstances to justify the release of the land from the Green Belt. 

Page 1611



4 
 

Although Peel support the allocation they have raised the following issues: 
 
1) Criterion 9 requires development of the site to make a significant contribution to the 

enhancement of Chat Moss. The reasoned justification states that this is as 
compensation for the loss of Green Belt land.  The Peel Group comment that such an 
approach does not feature in national policy. By definition it is justified by the exceptional 
circumstances which allow the land to be removed from the Green Belt in the first place. 
It is then commented that it is unclear and questionable whether such contributions 
satisfy the relevant legal tests of being necessary, directly related, and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind, to the development. No assessment has been 
undertaken of the potential impact of such contributions on the viability and deliverability 
of housing development on the Site. Furthermore, no evidence has been presented as 
to what actual enhancements might be made, by whom and whether they are 
achievable. The Peel Group conclude that unless and until these points can be 
addressed, this criterion must be omitted from Policy H3/2 to ensure it is sound and 
lawful. 
 

2) Access to Chat Moss is not currently possibe from the site and will not be achievable 
under  Policy H3/2. The words “and Chat Moss to the south” should therefore be 
removed from criterion 6.  
 

3) Concern over infrastructure investment and comment unrealistic expectations are placed 
on development proposals through the policy. It is not viable or appropriate for the 
development to be solely responsible for infrastructure funding that is needed to address 
exiting problems or would provide benefits beyond the development itself. This is 
particularly the case where proposed infrastructure is strategic in nature 
 

4) The development will generate demand for new primary school places, but no work has 
been done by either Salford or Wigan to determine whether additional places through 
expansion of existing schools or a new school would be needed. It is inappropriate for 
and premature for the policy to suggest a preferred solution. If a school is to be provided 
on site, there is no reason why this would need to be located on the Salford side of the 
allocation. The policy should be amended to highlight the need to assess the 
requirement for new primary school places as part of the development and that a 
strategy for this will need to be identified and agreed 
 

5) Peel agree that criteria 2-6 can be included in a masterplan for the site and are capable 
of being delivered by the site.   
 

The additional homes planned for Boothstown/Astley together with homes that have already 
been built combined are commented to be excessive over development (Boothstown and 
Ellenbrook councillors, individual). 

More houses are needed but for first time buyers, whilst the area needs 1 or 2 bed 
apartments/bungalows for retired people (individuals). 

The policy is not prescriptive enough to ensure the delivery of luxury housing, whilst a 
maximum density is not set (individual). 

The need for new dwellings in GM is too high, particularly given the estimated growth in 
population from the 65+ age group is very uncertain and the lower immigration due to Brexit 
(individual). 

Development will lead to a loss of value of the properties adjacent to the proposed site 
(individual). 

Other issues 

Planning obligations should be sought from the development towards public realm 
improvements in the local area (individual). 

Page 1612



5 
 

The Minerals and Waste Planning Unit welcome the acknowledgement that the site falls 
within a minerals safeguarding area (individual). 

There is insufficient infrastructure as a whole to support the housing allocation (individual). 

The RHS garden development will be adversely affected by the allocation (Boothstown and 
Ellenbrook councillors).  

  

 

Page 1613



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/3 LAND WEST OF HAYES ROAD, CADISHEAD 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/1 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Buffer 

Recent technical work has suggested that the buffer zone for noise 
and odour under criterion 2 is not required (part landowner of the 
site). 

Urban Vision (UV) air and noise team have been consulted on the 
technical work referred to as part of this representation and the 
provision of a buffer. Although they consider that the site could be 
designed and laid out in order to meet certain noise standards 
without a buffer, they concluded that non-opening windows and 
mechanical ventilation etc is not good practice. The potential 
requirement for a buffer is therefore retained in the policy; however 
UV recognise that an alternative to a buffer may be acceptable so 
long as a high degree of mitigation is provided and that residents are 
still able to enjoy a high level of amenity. The policy has been 
amended to provide this flexibility. Specific reference in the 
justification to a buffer of 30-50m wide has been deleted to 
recognise that the precise width of any buffer will be considered in 
more detail at the planning application stage.   
 
UV has also stated that future residents may complain about the 
surrounding employment uses which may potentially restrict their 
operating conditions. Given this, reference has been added to the 
policy to require that any buffer / mitigation safeguards the future of 
the industrial site. 
 

Community infrastructure 

The site is appropriate for housing development providing that the 
appropriate infrastructure is in place (SCC Conservative Group). 

Support for the site is welcomed, and other policies of the plan would 
help to ensure appropriate infrastructure provision. 

Concerns over insufficient capacity of local schools, medical clinics 
and dentists (local councillor and an individual). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 

P
age 1614



 

existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below: 
  

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers. 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will need to enable an 
increase in school places where there is a projected shortfall, 
so as to avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to 
travel longer distances to school. This will generally be 

P
age 1615



 

through a financial contribution to the expansion of an 
existing school, however in some cases developments will 
need to incorporate additional school provision within their 
sites, which is a requirement of some of the larger site 
allocations. Policy ED3 requires that the additional school 
places are delivered before demand exceeds existing 
capacity.  

 

Green infrastructure 

Any development should contribute to the enhancement of access 
along the Manchester Ship Canal (GMEU). 

A footpath is provided on Cadishead Way along the southern 
boundary to the allocation, whilst there is an existing grass verge 
fronting onto the Canal. In addition the introduction / justification to 
the policy is clear that an attractive green frontage to Cadishead 
Way will be required, given its prominence and surroundings. Given 
this, it is considered unreasonable to require any development to 
contribute to the enhancement of access along the Manchester Ship 
Canal, from which the site is separated by Cadishead Way. 
 

Housing  

Sufficient flexibility is required to enable some apartments in addition 
to houses given the noise constraints (part landowner of the site). 

The policy has been amended to refer to the site being developed 
for around 200 dwellings, with this indicatively being comprise of 165 
houses and 35 apartments. The introduction / justification to the 
policy states that “The accessibility and design context of the site 
means that it would be suitable for reasonably high density houses 
and potentially a small number of apartments in the most accessible 
parts of the site.”  
 

Support for new housing in Irlam and Cadiahead (Hamilton Davies 
Trust, local councillor and an individual). 

Support welcomed.  

An additional 1,300 new properties in Irlam and Cadishead is an 
appropriate level of new housing, on developments not exceeding 
200 houses (Hamillton Davies Trust). 

Policy H3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan identifies the potential for 
around 1,570 dwellings in Irlam and Cadishead over the plan period 
(2018-37). This is made up of around 1,300 on land to the north of 
Irlam Station that is allocated for housing in the revised draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (with 300 more homes being 
delivered on this site after 2037) and around 270 dwellings on other 

P
age 1616



 

sites that have been identified in the area (including this allocation). 
This represents 5% of the total dwellings to be provided between 
2018 and 2037 across the city and is considered to be an 
appropriate scale. 
 
As noted above the land north of Irlam Station has the potential to be 
developed for 1,600 new homes in total. This is considered to 
represent a sustainable site that has excellent accessibility to the 
train station. Limiting new developments to 200 dwellings would 
arbitrarily restrict the potential to take advantage of the train station. 
Apart from this allocation, there are no sites in the area outside of 
the Green Belt that are considered to be developable with the 
capacity to accommodate up to 200 dwellings.  
 

Need to provide social and affordable housing for purchase as well 
as more expensive housing, as well as 2 bed bungalows for disabled 
and ageing people (local councillor and an individual). 

Policy H7 of the revised draft plan sets out the approach to 
affordable housing across the city; as the site lies in a mid-value 
area the policy expectation is that 20% of any houses and 10% of 
apartments should be affordable (made up of social rented, 
affordable rented and shared ownership dwellings). Aside from the 
affordable housing requirements the dwellings would be for open 
market sale.  
 
Policy D7 and H10 of the revised draft plan require that where 
practicable, all new dwellings should meet the accessible and 
adaptable standard under requirement M4(2) of Schedule 1 to the 
Building Regulations 2010 for England, except where this is 
impracticable due to site specific constraints. Policy H10 further 
requires that in developments of over 100 dwellings (such as this 
allocation) shall incorporate housing provision specifically targeted at 
older people. This could include 2 bed bungalows. 
 

All new dwellings should have gardens and private parking rather 
than having to rely on on-street parking. 

Policy D7 of the Revised Draft Local Plan (criterion 3) requires that 
all residential development should provide an appropriate level of 
outdoor amenity space that reflects the type and size of each new 
dwelling.  

P
age 1617



 

 
The introduction / justification to Policy A8 of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan states that the level of parking provision within developments 
should ensure that sufficient car and motorcycle parking is provided 
to promote social inclusion and support the successful functioning of 
developments (paragraph 13.19).This policy establishes maximum 
car parking standards for residential developments, but is also clear 
that the amount of car parking within developments should not lead 
to a level of off street parking that would have an unacceptable 
impact on the operation of the highway network, environmental 
quality or residential amenity.  
 

Principle of development  

The site is suitable, available and achievable for new housing 
development and come come forward before 2026 (part landowner 
of the site). 

Comments noted. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A new criterion has been added to the policy (revised policy criterion 
3) to state the following; 
 
“Incorporate measures to mitigate against potential groundwater 
flooding and avoid built development within the small area of the site 
identified as being in flood zone 2”. 
 

The entire site is within an area of shallow groundwater, meaning 
that the water naturally present in the ground may be quite close to 
the surface at this location. This increases the risk of groundwater 
flooding. In addition, a small area of the site is in Flood Zone 2. This 
is along the boundary with Cadishead Way and from a flood risk 
perspective built development in this area should be avoided.  

A new criterion has been added to the policy (revised policy criterion 
4) to state the following: 
 
“Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath 
the site”. 
 

United Utilities has advised that there are sewers running under 
parts of the site. 

P
age 1618



 

A new criterion has been added to the policy (revised policy criterion 
5) to state the following: 
 
“Provide 10 allotment plots, each 125m2 in size, within the site”. 
 

To help meet the need for allotments across the city and reflect the 
requirements of policy R2 of the revised draft plan. 

 

P
age 1619



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/4  WESTERN CADISHEAD AND IRLAM, CADISHEAD AND IRLAM 

Allocations involving development on land in Salford that is currently in the Green Belt are 
now being considered solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than Salford’s Local Plan. 
 
Issues raised in relation to Draft Local Plan policy H3/4 are summarised below and have 
been taken into account in the drafting of GM Allocation 32 (North of Irlam Station) in the 
Revised Draft GMSF. The size of the allocation has decreased substantially from 289 
hectares to 65 hectares, with the proposed amount of housing reduced from 2,250 dwellings 
to 1,600 dwellings. 
 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

Air quality and noise pollution 

A large number of comments expressed the view that the potential health implications 
associated with air pollution from cars and congestion will worsen as a result of development. 
The site functions as a green lung in a built up city and this would be lost. 
 
Many of the comments further suggested that this site (as part of Chat Moss) has a 
particularly important role in lowering the city’s carbon footprint given that it acts as a carbon 
sink. 
  
A local residents group stated that an Air Quality Management Area has already been 
declared in this part of the city and further development will lead to a significant breach in air 
quality limits - no solutions to existing problems have been identified. 

A small number of comments were received with regards to the potential for noise pollution as 
a result of the development, especially from vehicle movements.  

Agricultural land 

The site’s agricultural value was highlighted in a large number of the comments as follows: 
 

 High grade agricultural land is a very limited resource in the UK and Greater Manchester 

 The importance of future food production was stressed having regard to the proposed exit 
from the European Union 

 Higher value agricultural land is afforded elevated status in the NPPF and Natural 
England’s 2011 White Paper (The Natural Choice)  

 The removal of the Common Agricultural Policy (paid farmers not to grow) is likely to bring 
land back into food production 

 Local food growing has an education and health value 

 Crops are currently grown on the land (as well as turf) 

 The land could be used for allotments so local people can grow their own food 

Whilst there is some anecdotal evidence which suggests that limited areas should be 
downgraded from grade 1 (assuming wetness class III soils are grade 2), there is no evidence 
of the inability of the land to produce flexibly or consistently. 

A soil survey should be undertaken to determine the quality of the land. 

The proposed allocation conflicts with policy GB3 Farm diversification (criteria 1 and 3) of the 
draft local plan. 

Biodiversity 

A very large number of the comments raised were made with regards to the loss of or impact 
on wildlife and the natural environment. A large number of the comments cited the presence 
of particular species, most frequently birds. Reference was made to the site being important 
for breeding birds, farmland birds and birds identified on the RSPB’s red/amber lists. 

Page 1620



2 
 

 
Aside from birds, others suggest that the site is important as an area for priority habitats 
including mature trees and established hedgerows. 

The plan should be seeking to provide net gains in biodiversity as directed by the NPPF. 

A large number of comments questioned how Chat Moss could be enhanced, given that 
development will result in the loss of wildlife/endangered species, building on the moss and 
removal of peat. 

A local resident group expressed concerns with regards to the loss/disruption of peat with 
comments highlighting its value, including: its ability to support wildlife habitats, archaeology, 
climate change adaptation/mitigation, carbon storage, water quality, flood prevention, 
collecting/supplying drinking water, providing breathing spaces and creating a sense of place 

Natural England and The Lancashire Wildlife Trust challenged how the enhancements to 
Chat Moss as referred to in the policy would be delivered, and suggested that further 
consideration should be given to the Nature Improvement Area within which the site is 
located. 
 
A local resident group stated that restoration of the mosslands can mitigate climate change, 
store carbon, and safeguard wildlife. The mosslands fall within the GM wetlands project. 

Natural England and local resident groups noted that the site allocation policy fails to identify 
the site’s proximity to Holcroft Moss SSSI (part of Manchester Mosses SAC). Criterion 13 
should be amended to reflect this. They further commented that: 
 

 Compensation measures, as described in paragraph 9.25 should be ‘like for like’ fit for 
purpose habitat creation.  

 The requirement for water vole and bird surveys is supported and reference is made to 
standing advice for protected species. 

 Development close to the SSSI must be sensitive to hydrological and air quality impacts. 
Nitrogen loads exceed critical load levels for this designation 

The Lancashire Wildlife Trust made the following comments:  
 

 Criterion 12 is aimed at minimising further degradation, and that only of the mineral peat’s 
passive carbon storage capacity, rather than active carbon sequestration by lowland 
raised mire.   

 Criterion 13 does not define what is meant by ‘significant.’ Due to different ownerships, it 
is unclear how, where and for how long restoration and improvement could be delivered 
or the area defined as Chat Moss.  

 There are opportunities for restoration and enhancement of the severed north-south 
ecological network across the M62.  

 An additional requirement ‘to ensure continued and enhanced functionality for wildlife of 
the green infrastructure corridor adjacent to the Glaze Brook’ is suggested.  

GMEU expressed some concerns with regards to the allocation, noting that there are records 
of protected and priority species in this area. They also commented as follows: 
 

 There is a potential cumulative impact of this allocation and those in Boothstown 

 In the absence of significant mitigation or compensation, there may be significant negative 
impacts on biodiversity contrary to the NPPF 

 A large area of potentially restorable mossland would be lost as a result of development 

 There is a need for more detail of potential mitigation / compensation for potential 
ecological harm 

 Criterion 13 – it is questioned whether land is available in Chat Moss for extensive off 
setting and therefore the GMEU provisionally objects to the allocation based on lack of 
evidence that off-site compensation can be guaranteed. 

 Given the complexity of the habitats involved, an SPD should be produced detailing the 
level of contribution and off-set areas within Chat Moss 

Page 1621



3 
 

CPRE and local resident groups questioned the impact on Cadishead Moss SBI. 

Brownfield sites 

The views expressed by some of the local community suggest that there are brownfield sites 
in the area which they believe are not being considered and could be developed for housing 
ahead of releasing land in the Green Belt, with some suggesting that up to 1,500 dwellings 
could be accommodated on brownfield sites in the local area. Various sites suggested in the 
representations included:  
 

 Kingsland Wines 

 Council offices site at Astley Road 

 Demolished Cadishead Lion public house; Vacant Dawson’s Garage site 

 Disused trailer park on the old steelworks site 

 Land between Boysnope Wharf and the Golf Course 

 Land on the north side of Cadishead Way between Lanstar and the junction with Roseway 
Avenue.  

The city council should be looking to compulsory purchase brownfield sites (AAARD), and 
deliver high density development on them. 

Some of the comments made by the local community suggest that the amount of housing 
proposed to be delivered on brownfield sites in Irlam and Cadishead only represents a very 
small proportion (8.16%) of the area’s housing requirement, and therefore doesn’t meet wider 
plan objectives to deliver 80% of housing on brownfield sites. 

Community Infrastructure 

The following comments were made: 
 

 Concerns with regards to the insufficient capacity of community infrastructure and the 
potential for further development to worsen the issue in an area where existing facilities 
are already at capacity and many have already been withdrawn 

 Existing infrastructure and addressing problems with it, should be the priority before new 
homes are built 

 Primary and secondary schools together with doctors surgeries were referred to most 
frequently as having capacity issues, with concern also raised regarding the capacity of 
dentists, emergency services, local hospitals, chemists, local shops, social care, utilities 
and leisure facilities 

 One respondent highlighted the need for a clubhouse/pitches for Irlam Vale FC 

 There are difficulties recruiting teachers and doctors 

 There should be a firm commitment within the policy to deliver the infrastructure first 
(schools, medical facilities and recreation opportunities) 

 No details on how the community infrastructure required will be delivered 

It was questioned by some individuals where a new local centre could be provided within the 
site which can offer easy access to local facilities and public transport. 

The CCG has suggested that criterion 6) should refer to ‘a range of health services’ rather 
than ‘a new health centre offering GP and dental services.’  
 
The CCG went on to explain that it would work in partnership with wider health and social 
care providers to look at service needs, and notes that the development would generate 
significant additional demand on primary and other health care services and it is advised that 
the development of a health facility will be a lengthy process. 

A local residents group commented that part of the site is some distance from the existing 
urban area and doesn’t offer easy access to community facilities or opportunities to integrate 
well with the neighbourhood, which for older people will be important.  

Extent of the allocation 

Some of the comments expressed concerns with regards to the overall size of the allocation, 
suggesting that this does not represent an efficient use of land and a much smaller area is 

Page 1622



4 
 

required to accommodate the development. It was suggested the current allocation could 
accommodate over 10,000 dwellings. 
 
Hamilton Davies Trust considered that the policy should state how many hectares of the 
allocation are required to accommodate development, and highlighted that some parts of the 
site are less isolated and have better access than others. 
 
The Irlam and Cadishead Branch Labour Party opposed the size of the development and 
considered that it should be reduced to 160 hectares and that a local plan must be in place 
before any planning applications are considered.   

Flood risk and water quality 

A large number of representations considered that the site currently offers flood protection, 
and raised concerns that its development would increase flood risk in the area. 

A local residents group specifically commented that the western extent of the site is subject to 
significant risk of surface water flooding and there will be an increase in surface water 
flooding in the area as a result of the development 

The existing sewer system is at capacity and results in localised flooding.  

The Environment Agency highlighted that the site’s development would need to be subject to: 
 

 A hydrological assessment of the impacts on controlled waters 

 No deterioration of existing WFD waterbody or key green infrastructure assets such as 
Glaze Brook 

 Where feasible, the enhancement of ecological and hydro morphology of poor riparian 
corridor, and create links with any priority wetland/ peatland habitats that adjoin this 

Green Belt 

A small number of comments were received, which considered that, if this site is developed, 
the rest of Chat Moss should be protected, whilst an individual stated that the loss of 4% of 
the Green Belt does not seem a bad compromise. 

A very large number of the comments received objected to the loss of Green Belt. These 
comments raised the following issues: 
 

 There are sufficient, suitable previously developed sites (see brownfield site section 
above) and empty homes to meet needs, and these and other options should be fully 
explored before sites in the Green Belt are considered particularly given that developing 
the Green Belt will harm regeneration.  

 The Green Belt in this location performs the functions for it set out in the NPPF (such as 
preventing urban sprawl); its loss is contrary to paragraphs 79 and 85 of the NPPF 

 Exceptional circumstances have not been adequately demonstrated to warrant loss of 
Green Belt; the need for affordable homes and unmet housing need is unlikely to 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm to constitute the very special 
circumstances test to justify Green Belt development 

 Release of the site would set a precedent for further loss of Green Belt  

 The Green Belt at Chat Moss has historic and scientific value and is the most unique in 
Greater Manchester 

 The site should not be released to meet targets for the whole of Greater Manchester 

Planning for Our Future commented that should there be a requirement to release Green Belt 
land, they considered that land east of Irlam should be released, having regard to significant 
urban sprawl already taken place in this location and the impact of the Port Salford expansion 
on the site’s ability to perform its Green Belt function. 

A joint venture of landowners considered that Green Belt assessment scores the parcels of 
land too generously. 

A local resident stated that they did not agree with the classification given to the land in the 
GM Green Belt Assessment. They considered that it should be reclassified as ‘performs 
strongly’ having regard to their own site visits, wildlife and community value, previous 

Page 1623



5 
 

planning decisions made on the Green Belt, and the historic reasons for establishing Green 
Belt 

Green Infrastructure 

A very large number of respondents highlighted the site’s value to the local community as a 
green space, recreation asset (with walking and cycling being most frequently cited) and 
education resource. The development of this site was strongly objected to on this basis. 

The site should not be developed given that it provides health and well-being benefits, with 
Barbara Keeley MP highlighting that 39% of adults in Salford are classed as being inactive, 
with premature deaths and cost being identified as being implications of this. She went on to 
say that research indicates that green spaces have a positive impact on mental well-being, 
alleviate symptoms of various medical conditions, benefit children’s development and 
encourage social interaction 

The green infrastructure network has an important ecological function, providing habitats for 
plants and promoting movement, contributing to the attractiveness of places and promoting 
good health. Development on existing wildlife sites should be avoided and better links 
between sites promoted. 

GMEU support the significant green infrastructure proposed in the site and developer 
contributions to Chat Moss, and considers that it could theoretically support 65 hectares of 
development and 220 hectares of green infrastructure depending on the detail in the 
masterplan and evidence that compensation can occur. 

Peel has also challenged the requirement in policy GI3 of the Draft Local Plan that 
development on the four sites proposed to be taken out of the Green Belt around Chat Moss 
should make a significant contribution to the enhancement of Chat Moss, suggesting that 
removing land from the Green Belt does not require compensation.   
 
Peel notes that the H3/4 allocation has a direct and significant impact on the mossland area 
and therefore considers that this requirement may be more capable of satisfying legal tests 
given the potential for the impact on the mossland landscape. 

Heritage  

Farming is an important part of the area’s heritage; this would be lost with the development on 
agricultural land. 

The site contains a scheduled ancient monument and a grade II listed building. Historic 
England strongly objected to the allocation and considered that the principle of development 
could not be considered to be acceptable without an assessment of the effects on the historic 
environment. They further stated that the requirement for an archaeological assessment 
should be included in the policy 

Highways and public transport 

A large number of local residents expressed significant concerns with regards to existing 
congestion issues in the area and considered that these issues should be addressed. The 
proposed allocation would exacerbate existing problems. Congestion on the A57, as the 
single road in and out of the area, was highlighted as a particular concern, with some people 
commenting on the impact congestion has on emergency response times.   
 
Congestion on the M60 impacts on the operation of the A57, both in terms of encouraging ‘rat 
running’ through the area and bringing traffic to a standstill on the A57 at peak times. 
Reference was made to the key findings from the NW Quadrant Study Stage 3 Report (2016). 
 
Comments suggested that the existing capacity issues could not be resolved due to the 
surrounding motorway and waterway network, and others stressed the need for additional 
roads and bridge crossings into the area to address the existing problems. 
 
Concerns were also expressed with regards to the cumulative impact of existing and 
proposed developments, including: 
 

Page 1624



6 
 

 Housing development at Carrington  

 Port Salford – some suggested that the impact of this will be greater than initially 
anticipated should the rail link not be delivered, whilst others queried the transport 
assessments that have accompanied planning applications for the site 

 The AJ Bell Stadium  

 HS2 construction 
 
Many of the representations criticised the plan for its lack of transport solutions, suggesting 
that, with the exception of the link road, no details are provided as to how the local road 
network will be improved to accommodate the development proposed. An individual 
commented that WGIS will not assist in resolving existing congestion issues.  

Infrastructure solutions identified by the local community included: 
 

 Using Barton Moss Road as an alternative route for a link road 

 A link road connecting Cadishead, Glazebrook and the M62  

 A new junction on the M62 and a new road to Flixton or Partington  

 A relief route to the M61 west of Bolton 

 At the Crossville Interchange, vehicles from Cadishead Way should be directed before 
leaving Cadishead Way to the outside lane leaving the inside lane for vehicles from the 
B5320 

 Bridge over the River Glaze to the B5212 in Warrington, access to the M62 and over the 
MSC 

 A Road/cycle crossing across the Manchester Ship Canal using the old railway bridge at 
Cadishead would ease congestion at Barton toll 

 
An individual questioned what new road links would be provided between the development 
and the A57/M62/M60/M6. 

A small number of the comments suggested that the access routes into the site are not 
suitable due to their width, weight, capacity and current function. Specifically issues around 
on street parking creating access challenges and potential road safety issues due to 
schools/sports facilities on these streets was raised.  
 
The Hamilton Davies Trust considered that site access via existing routes is difficult (Astley 
Road is challenging and Glazebrook Lane may be preferable to New Moss Road).   

Highways England noted that despite the significant size of the site, no mitigatory measures 
are discussed, and considers that a transport evidence base and infrastructure delivery plan 
is required to enable the allocation to be fully evaluated. Mitigatory measures to support the 
allocation and consideration of transport impacts should take account of proposals in 
neighbouring local authority areas (e.g. employment and housing development in Carrington) 
and Port Salford in the context of a western corridor of movement (Highways England).  

A large number of respondents identified problems with the area’s public transport provision, 
with suggestions that existing services are limited, overcrowded and unreliable, and in the 
cases of buses, affected by congestion and do not serve the whole area.  
 
Many of the comments highlighted that Irlam Station has limited disabled access, only has a 
small car park, whilst services do not go directly to some of the main places of work (e.g. 
Trafford Park and Salford Quays).   
 
The need for the plan to identify solutions and direct more investment to the area was 
identified; this should be implemented before any housing development begins.  
 
Calls were made for: 
 

 Reopening redundant rail lines running through Cadishead  

Page 1625



7 
 

 Cycle links to the station 

 Improved public transport links to Port Salford to reduce the traffic impact 

 The Metrolink to be extended to serve the area (i.e. it should be extended beyond Port 
Salford).   

Housing 

A very small number of local residents expressed support for the allocation, suggesting that 
some more housing and infrastructure is needed in the area. 

The site allocation was supported by some individuals (including Mark Upton and Alan Moss) 
and organisations with an interest in the land, and the representations indicate that these land 
interests are generally located in the eastern part of the site. 
 
Persimmon Homes indicated that it would support a lower level of housing development on 
the eastern part of the site between Irlam and Moss Road, and considered that 2,040 
dwellings (type not specified) could be accommodated within a reduced 116 hectare site. A 
vision and masterplan document was submitted by Persimmon in support of this, which 
outlined: 
 

 A local centre/school, sports pitches, Neighbourhood Park, SUDS ponds and 
health/retirement care centre.  

 7 access points at MacDonald Road, Astley Road (north and south), Roscoe Road, 
Victoria Road, Springfield Road, School Lane 

 Land in the north east of the site is identified as being immediately deliverable, not subject 
to technical constraints and is proposed as an early phase - initial work on site access, 
potential for restoration to lowland raised bog, flood risk and ecological value has been 
completed for this part of the site 

 The policy should not be too prescriptive with regards to requirements associated with the 
development as flexibility will be required as circumstances change 

 
Wainhomes supported the inclusion of its site (a 3.8 hectare site located within the eastern 
part of the proposed allocation and also within the area being promoted by Persimmon 
Homes) within the proposed allocation, and indicated that it is a deliverable site, which is not 
considered to be integral to the function of the wider Green Belt. Wainhomes indicates that 
the site could accommodate 115 family homes. The representation included a report which 
briefly considered the Green Belt, landscape character and visual amenity, ecology and 
arboriculture matters. 

Network Rail proposed a small addition to the site boundary on land to the south of the 
railway line. 

The general thrust of the comments made by the local community was that too many 
dwellings are being proposed in the area, particularly given: 
 

 The view that there is no need for new housing, or for the level of housing proposed in the 
area, especially having regard to the implications of the UK’s proposed exit from the 
European Union 

 Existing infrastructure is inadequate, crime will increase, quality of life will be reduced, and 
the area will be overburdened  

 The impact development would have on the character of the area having regard to the 
number of existing dwellings in Irlam and Cadishead 

 Recent housing developments that have taken place in the area have lead to a saturation 
point being reached 

 The number of properties for sale in the area 

 Concerns over increased housing density in the area 
 
The six local ward councillors submitted a joint statement explaining that they disagree with 
the scale of housing proposed (2,250 new houses) in the allocation and the removal of 730 

Page 1626



8 
 

acres of land from the Green Belt in Irlam and Cadishead. They also confirmed that they did 
not consider that 1,400 houses (as promoted by Peel) should be built on the Boysnope Golf 
Course (land to the east of Irlam). 
 
The Hamilton Davies Trust indicated that it would support a lower level of housing in Irlam 
and Cadishead (around 1,300 dwellings) and would support the widening of the area rather 
than the lengthening of it. 
 
One respondent suggested that a maximum of 400 new dwellings should be planned for. 

Planning for Our Future considered that sites identified as having the potential to be used for 
housing in Appendix 6 of the sustainability appraisal (sites discounted as alternative options 
for local plan allocations) must be included in the overall figures as this would remove the 
requirement for this site to be developed. 

McCarthy and Stone supported the positive approach in seeking to provide housing for older 
people through this allocation, having regard to the shortfall in specialist accommodation for 
the older population. 
 
Some of the comments questioned where the housing for older people is being proposed, 
whether there is a demand for this and what is meant by ‘a significant amount. 

The development industry made some challenges to the 40% affordable housing requirement 
included in the policy.  
 
Persimmon commented that the affordable housing requirements must be realistic and 
deliverable and have regard to abnormal costs e.g. contribution to Chat Moss.  
 
The Irlam and Cadishead consortium of landowners suggested that whilst the area has the 
same requirement as a premium value area, it is located adjacent to a mid-value area and a 
significant distance from a mid to high, high or premium value area.  
 
The Peel Group commented that the 40% affordable housing requirement should be removed 
from the policy. It is not included in other allocations and would be subject to the tests in H7. 
 
Some of the comments from the local community also questioned whether the affordable 
housing proposed will be delivered due to the high build costs associated with building on the 
mosslands. Others from the local community considered that the amount of affordable 
housing to be provided is not significant, and raised concerns that most of the housing would 
be for people moving into the area for work and questioned whether the housing provided will 
be affordable.  
 
Other comments suggest that there is a shortage of affordable housing in the local area and 
affordable housing is needed 

It was suggested that some higher value housing and bungalows with disabled access for the 
elderly should be provided, and that all housing should have gardens and sufficient car 
parking. 

Landscape 

A limited number of the comments expressed concerns with regards to the impact of the 
allocation on landscape value. In particular: 
 

 The flat, open and tranquil character of the area will be lost 

 The proposal will change the character of the mossland and result in the loss of an 
attractive landscape 

 A countryside survey suggests that hedgerows have declined in length and that the 
botanical diversity of field margins declined. Chat Moss retains the patchwork of field 

Page 1627



9 
 

boundaries and fields where in many cases these patterns have been destroyed or 
weakened 

Land stability 

A large number of the comments highlighted that the site is constrained by deep peat 
deposits and that building will be difficult and expensive, as will the cost of delivering 
infrastructure. Concerns were expressed that this will result in the community having to pay 
for infrastructure and that high build costs will result in high house prices. 
 
The Irlam and Cadishead Branch Labour Party considered that the whole of the site should 
be surveyed to ascertain the suitability of the land to accommodate development.  

Public consultation 

Concerns were expressed that residents were unaware of the plan and have been 
disadvantaged with insufficient time to formulate a response, that there has been little 
opportunity for the community to be involved in masterplanning to date ,and that comments 
from the previous stages of consultation have not been taken into account 

Other issues 

Warrington Council requested further discussion with regards to access, infrastructure 
requirements and implications for land within their local authority area. 

Further evidence to assess the site’s development potential, feasibility issues and 
environmental and technical constraints is required (The Peel Group). 

A sequential approach to site selection is required. IC014 (land to the east of Irlam) should be 
prioritised over this site reflecting its more sustainable location (The Peel Group). 

Litter and parking are existing issues which will be exacerbated by the additional 
development. 

Developing housing in the centre of the site offers opportunities to utilise the Irlam and 
Cadishead college site for education uses (Hamilton Davies Trust). 

Irlam and Cadishead was not identified in the inspector’s report on the Core Strategy as a 
suitable location to accommodate the additional dwellings required beyond the urban area 
(AAARD). 

Reference to the fact the site lies within a minerals safeguarding area should be made 
(MWPU). 

It is essential that City West is involved in the development of the site due to its proximity to 
existing stock (to ensure it is complementary) and potential routes through this to access the 
development (For Viva).  

A number of respondents stated that the plan should set out exactly what the development 
will comprise, including details of infrastructure and mitigation measures. Residents should be 
able to review the masterplan and be kept informed of it. 

The Consortium of Landowners considered that criterion 10 is unnecessary and that some 
dwellings may need to be demolished where they are located in strategically important 
positions. 

An individual noted that there is a need for greater clarity to explain how some of the issues 
identified in the policy will be addressed, including criteria 9, 11 and 12. 

  

 

Page 1628



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/5 CHARLESTOWN RIVERSIDE 

Land that formed part of housing allocation H3/5 in the Draft Local Plan has been split into 2 separate sites in the Revised Draft Local 

Plan (policy references H9/2 (Castle Irwell) and H9/3 (Land east of Langley Road)). Land that formed part of the Draft Local Plan 

allocation which now has planning permission and is under construction for housing is not allocated in the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Flood risk and water quality 

Any proposals must retain open space of a minimum of 8 metres 
width adjoining the main river watercourse (River Irwell) and access 
through the site to reach the watercourse must also be provided 
(Environment Agency) 

Reference has been added to revised draft plan allocations H9/2 and 
H9/3 requiring that development shall provide an eight metre 
easement to the River Irwell to allow for access and maintenance 
(criterion 4 in both of the policies).  
 

Need to ensure that there is no deterioration of the existing WFD 
waterbody and key green infrastructure asset of the River Irwell as 
part of any development (Environment Agency). 
 
Seek to enhance the ecology and hydromorphology of the River 
Irwell, link this with any adjoining local wildlife sites and new urban 
wetland, and look to include new multi species fish easement on 
Littleton Road weir, helping achieve multiple environmental / 
ecosystem benefits (Environment Agency / GMEU) 

Reference has been added to revised draft plan allocations H9/2 and 
H9/3 requiring that development shall support the improvement of 
the water environment of the River Irwell, and contribute to the other 
North West River Basin Management Plan objectives in accordance 
with policy WA2 of the plan (criterion 3 and criterion 2 respectively).  
 
Reference has also been added to revised draft plan allocations 
H9/2 and H9/3 requiring that development shall make a positive 
contribution to the character, environmental quality and public 
amenity value of the River Irwell, in accordance with policy D9 
(criterion 2 and criterion 1 respectively). Policy D9 further goes on to 
require that development shall enhance the role of the waterway 
corridor within the green infrastructure network, including by 
supporting improvements to biodiversity, water quality and flood risk 
management (criterion 5). 
 

New developments within the allocation should make a contribution 
to the new urban wetland at Castle Irwell (Environment Agency). 

Given the new urban wetland at Castle Irwell has already been 
completed it is not considered appropriate or necessary in planning 

P
age 1629



 

terms to require the proposed housing allocations to make a 
financial contribution towards it.  
 

Principal of housing development 

Support provided there is flood risk mitigation (SCC Conservative 
Group) 

Criterion 3 of the Draft Local Plan required that new development will 
need to take a comprehensive and coordinated approach to 
mitigating flood risk from the River Irwell and surface water, taking 
into account the potential impacts of climate change on river flows. 
This requirement has been retained in the revised draft plan 
allocations H9/2 and H9/3 (in criterion 1 and 3 respectively). 
Criterion 1 of revised draft allocation H9/2 has also been 
supplemented with reference to development having to avoid built 
development in the small area of the site which is identified as being 
in flood zone 3. 
 

Support for the housing allocation, which includes land interests of 
the company (landowner) 

Support welcomed.  

Will the propsoed development affect Auckland Drive? (individual) Land to the east of Auckland Drive formed part of Draft Local Plan 
allocation H3/5, although in the revised draft plan this part of the 
allocation has not been carried forward given the land now has 
planning permission and is under construction for housing.  
 
There are no proposals in the Revised Draft Local Plan that directly 
affect properties on Auckland Drive.  
   

Sports pitches 

Any loss of any existing sports facilities / playing field will need to be 
fully justified by clear reference to the Council’s Playing Pitch 
Strategy (Sport England) 

Criterion 10 of revised draft plan allocation H9/2 requires that any 
development shall provide appropriate replacement and/or 
compensation for the loss of the sports pitches and changing rooms 
on the site. The loss of playing pitches is not an issue for revised 
draft plan allocation H9/3. 
 

  

 

P
age 1630



 

Other significant changes made to policy H3/5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Revised Draft Local Plan allocation H9/2 (Castle Irwell): 
 

 Requirement for development to provide amenity space and a 
play area within the site (criterion 6) 

 Retain existing mature trees  (criterion 7) 

 Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath 
the site (criterion 13) 

 Investigate the potential to develop a district heating network 
(criterion 14).  
 

 

To reflect further assessment by the city council of recreation 
requirements, information from United Utilities, and the existence of 
mature trees on the site which are worthy of retention. The 
requirement to investigate the potential for a district heating network 
reflects the requirements of policy EG2 of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan.  

Revised Draft Local Plan allocation H9/2 (land east of Langley 
Road): 
 

 Assess the site’s potential archaeological interest,  protecting 
and recording any remains appropriately (criterion 6) 

 Address ground contamination associated with previous 
industrial uses and landfill activity on parts of the site (criterion 7) 

 Retain easements for the utilities infrastructure that runs beneath 
the site (criterion 8) 

 

To reflect further assessment by the city council of issues relating to 
archaeology and contamination, and information from United Utilities 
relating to the presence of utilities infrastructure.  

 

P
age 1631



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/6 BRACKLEY GOLF COURSE, LITTLE HULTON 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/4 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Biodiversity 

Any loss of ecological features should be mitigated or compensated 
for (GMEU). 

Policy BG3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan requires that all 
development shall deliver a net gain in biodiversity value. It further 
states that where mitigation is required to compensate for the 
reduction or loss of existing biodiversity resources then this shall be 
provided in line with a number of principles (criteria 1 to 3). The 
amount of mitigation will be determined having regard to criteria 4 to 
8 of policy BG3. 
 

MHE Investments stated that criterion 3 should be amended to read 
as follows: 
 
“Retain the semi-improved natural grassland around the northern 
edge of the site, make provision for protected species, and enhance 
the ability of wildlife to move through the site;”  

Additional criteria have been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan 
to respond to this representation. Criterion 5 requires that 
development shall make provision for protected species, with great 
crested newt and bird surveys being required prior to development, 
whilst criterion 6 requires that development enhances the ability for 
wildlife to move through the site and into the wider ecological 
network. 
 

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure. In particular 
schools, doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, bus services and 
leisure facilities (individuals and Friends of Roe Green). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  

P
age 1632



 

 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers. 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

P
age 1633



 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 

P
age 1634



 

In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Support the provision of new primary school places; discussions are 
taking place with the Council about bringing additional land owned or 
controlled by SCC into the masterplan area which could be set aside 
for a new school (MHE Investments). 

Support noted. Criterion 10 of the revised draft plan requires that 
land is set aside to accommodate additional primary school 
provision, unless it can be demonstrated that sufficient additional 
school places can be provided off-site within the local area to meet 
the likely demand generated by the new housing. 
 

MHE Investments commented that the provision of a new primary 
school should be linked to viability. Therefore criterion 4 should be 
amended to read as follows: 
 
“Set aside land for a new primary school unless it can be 
demonstrated that a) it is not financially viable to set a side this land 
or b) sufficient additional school places can be provided off-site 
within the local area to meet the likely demand generated by the new 
housing.” 

A specific reference to viability in the policy and justification as 
requested is not considered necessary. Revised Draft Local Plan 
policy PC1 sets out when development will be permitted with 
reduced planning obligations compared to policy requirements.   

Green Belt 

Exceptional circumstances have not been adequately demonstrated 
to release this site from thr Green Belt. This site meets the purposes 
of Green Belt (CPRE Lancashire). 

The site is not within the Green Belt and so therefore exceptional 
circumstances do not need to be demonstrated.  

Adjacent land in Bolton is in the green belt. The potential Green Belt 
and highways implications need to be fully understood to consider 
any impacts and how these could be addressed (Bolton Council). 

The adjoining land in Bolton is wooded, and so there should be 
limited potential for the site to have an adverse visual impact on the 
Green Belt in Bolton. 
 
An additional criterion has been added to the allocation in the 
revised draft plan to make it clear that primary vehicular access will 

P
age 1635



 

be taken from the A6 Manchester Road which is within Salford 
(criterion 12). 
 

Green Infrastucture  

Alternative sports and recreation uses should be considered for the 
site (Salford City Council Conservative Group and an individual). 
 
There is a need to retain recreation areas in the area given they 
already limited in nature (individual) and for the health and well-
being of local people and future generations (individual). 

The NPPF at paragraph 117 states that strategic policies should set 
out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, 
in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Having regard to this, policy H9 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan states that residential development will be 
directed towards previously-developed land, with a target that at 
least 80% of new homes should be on such land, with a strong focus 
on the City Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas.  
 
The release of this greenfield site in the Local Plan is considered 
appropriate to enable a good mix of dwellings to come forward in 
sustainable locations. The delivery of housing on brownfield land 
within the existing urban area is being maximised as far as possible, 
helping to minimise the need for greenfield release (and Green Belt 
release through the GMSF). 
 
Criterion 1 of the revised draft allocation requires that public amenity 
spaces and high quality on-site recreation facilities are provided on 
the site, alongside improvements to existing off-site recreation 
facilities. This is in order to meet the needs of the residents of the 
development and to provide full compensation for the loss of the golf 
course. 
  

The tree line bordering the golf course and Clarke Crescent need to 
be retained as a landscape feature and to provide privacy for local 
residents (individuals). 

A reference has been added to the revised draft allocation to 
retaining deciduous woodland around the edges of the site. This 
includes the tress to the north of Clarke Crescent (criterion 4).  
 

Fully support that there is not a requirement for a replacement golf 
course given the longstanding viability issues with the existing golf 
course. Existing recreation facilities in the local area which require 
investment and enhancement and it would be more appropriate to 

Support for no requirement for a replacement golf course is noted. 
However, the city council considers that it is important that new 
recreation provision is provided on site, including a play area, as well 
as improvements to off-site recreation facilities. This is in order to 

P
age 1636



 

upgrade these facilities rather than provide new recreation facilities 
on site (MHE Investments). 

meet the needs of the residents of the development and to provide 
full compensation for the loss of the golf course (criterion 1). 
 

MHE Investments commented that criterion 1 should be sufficianetly 
flexbilble so as to not over burden the vaibility of the development. It 
should be reworded to read: 
 
“Subject to viability, provide adequate compensation for the loss of 
the golf course, both through the provision of high quality onsite 
open space, including a play area and public amenity spaces 
connected to existing public rights of way, and off-site improvements 
to existing recreation facilities;” 
 
In addtion they go on to say that paragraph 9.30 of the reasoned 
justification should be amended to read: 
 
“Subject to viability, the loss of the golf course facility will require 
adequate compensation through a combination of on-site open 
space and the improvement of off-site recreation facilities;” 

A specific reference to viability in the policy and justification as 
requested is not considered necessary. Revised Draft Local Plan 
policy PC1 sets out when development will be permitted with 
reduced planning obligations compared to policy requirements.   

The extent of the landscape buffer required by criterion 2 will be 
designed having regard to the conclusions of the ongoing noise, air 
quality, ecology and landscape assessments (MHE Investments). 

Comments noted.  

Highways 

Development would worsen congestion which is already considered 
severe. Respondents raised the following as having capacity 
problems: roads leading junction 13 of the M60; Manchester / 
Chorley Road; and Old Clough Lane (individuals, Friends of Roe 
Green). 
 

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning the Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 

P
age 1637



 

Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Housing 

Strong support for the principle of the allocation for housing (MHE 
Investments). 

Support noted.  

Object to the principal of the loss of the land for housing (individuals) The site offers the opportunity to diversify housing provision in the 
Little Hulton area without utilising Green Belt, and is well located in 
relation to the major employment opportunities at Logistics North. 
Criterion 1 of the policy requires that public amenity spaces and high 
quality on-site recreation facilities are provided on the site, alongside 
improvements to existing off-site recreation facilities. This is in order 
to meet the needs of the residents of the development and to 
provide full compensation for the loss of the golf course. 

 

Pleased that reference is made for the need for prior extraction of 
important mineral resources where practicable as referred to in 
paragraph 9.30 (GM Minerals and Waste Planning Unit). 

The reference to prior extraction that was in paragraph 9.30 of the 
Draft Local Plan has been carried forward into the introduction / 
justification to the allocation in the Revised Draft Local Plan.  
 

Clarification sought by an individual on whether the proposed 
houses would be private or council housing, whilst another 
respondent considered that there should be a mixture of rental 
accommodation and houses for sale. 

Policy H7 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out that the site lies 
within a mid-value area; given this there would be a requirement for 
the development to provide 20% of the homes as affordable 
dwellings. These would ideally be in the form of 25% social rented, 
25% affordable rented and 50% shared ownership, but a different 
tenure mix could be appropriate depending on viability. The 
remainder of the dwellings would be for open market sale, some of 
which might potentially become privately rented in tenure. 
 

P
age 1638



 

The draft masterplan for the site indicates that 780 houses could be 
delovered on the site rarther than the 500 identified in the policy. The 
policy should be amended to reflect this (MHE Investments). 

The city council has reconsidered the yield on the site having regard 
to emerging proposals which indicate that the site has the potential 
to accommodate 690 dwellings, indicatively comprised of 590 
houses and 100 apartments. The yield is expressed as “around”, 
and so a modest deviation from these numbers would be 
acceptable. 
 

MHE Investments commented that sufficient flexibility is required to 
enable the provision of some apartments. The wording of paragraph 
9.28 of the reasoned justification should be amended as follows: 
 
“The location on the edge of the urban area means that it is most 
suited to the development of a housing led scheme which could 
include apartment provision.” 

The introduction / justification to the allocation in the revised draft 
plan states that: “Having regard to its location on the edge of the 
urban area, the majority of the development should be in the form of 
houses.” Furthermore the revised allocation states that around 100 
apartments will come forward alongside 590 houses.  These 
changes are considered to adequately address the representation. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference added to require 20 allotment plots, each 125sqm in size 
(criterion 1).  

To assist in meeting the demand for new allotments across the city.  

New criterion added that requires development to provide a linear 
walking and cycling route along the site’s northern boundary, 
connected to the existing public rights of way (criterion 2). 

To ensure that the development links into the Rotary Way long 
distance footpath.   

New criterion added that requires development to assess the site’s 
potential archaeological interest, protecting and recording any 
remains appropriately (criterion 7). 

Added following consideration of potential archaeology interests on 
the site.  

Additional criterion added to require that development shall be 
informed by a water body status assessment in accordance with 
policy WA2, having regard to the main river to the south-west of the 
site allocation (criterion 8).  

To recognise that there is a main river (a brook) to the south-west of 
the allocation and to ensure that a water body assessment is carried 
out given this.  

Reference added to development addressing issues of 
contamination and land instability associated with previous mining 
and spoil tipping activities on part of the site (criterion 11).  

Added the requirement given that the site is associated with mining 
and spoil tipping and so likely to have contamination and stability 
issues.  

 

P
age 1639



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/7 LADYWELL AVENUE 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/5 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan  

Biodiversity  

Not aware of any ecological constraints (GMEU). Comments noted.  

Community Infrastructure 

There is insufficient capacity of community infrastructure that would 
worsen as a result of any development. In particular there are issues 
relating to the capacity of schools, doctors, dentists, hospitals, local 
shops, bus services and leisure facilities (individuals). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers. 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 

P
age 1640



 

engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 

P
age 1641



 

carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Flood risk and water quality  

In accordance with the easements surrounding the large treated 
water distribution mains, we will require an access strip either side of 
the main/aqueduct for access and maintenance, and to prevent 
damage occurring to the main (United Utilities). 

Criterion 3 of the policy requires that easements for the utilities 
infrastructure that runs beneath the site are retained.  

P
age 1642



 

The developer should contact United Utilities at the earliest 
opportunity, prior to masterplanning the proposed site. 
 

A reference has been added to the introduction / justification to the 
policy stating that It will be necessary to liaise with United Utilities 
with regards to the layout of development at an early stage in the 
planning process. 
 

Water flows underground to a former lodge, which would be affected 
by any built development. Guarantees regarding financial 
compensation are needed (individual) 

It is understood that prior to the surrounding area being developed 
for housing in the 20th century, the site allocation was used for 
agricultural land and contained two ponds which have since been 
drained and levelled. It is a requirement of the site allocation policy 
that utilities infrastructure running beneath the site is taken into 
account in the layout of development, but the city council is not 
aware of any further infrastructure beneath the site. The city council 
would welcome any further information with regards to this to ensure 
that due consideration can be given at an early stage in the 
development process.  

Green infrastructure  

Land is well used, functions as a green lung, contributes to the 
health and wellbeing of local people, and should therefore remain as 
open space (individuals, local community group, CPRE Lancashire) 

The NPPF at paragraph 117 states that strategic policies should set 
out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, 
in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Having regard to this, policy H9 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan states that residential development will be 
directed towards previously-developed land, with a target that at 
least 80% of new homes should be on such land, with a strong focus 
on the City Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas.  
 
The release of this greenfield site in the local plan is considered 
appropriate to enable a good mix of dwellings to come forward in 
sustainable locations. The delivery of housing on brownfield land 
within the existing urban is being maximised as far as possible, 
helping to minimise the need for greenfield release. 
 
Although the site is an existing grassed area, the policy requires that 
development shall provide appropriate compensation for the loss of 
the public amenity space function, through the improvement of other 
amenity spaces in the local area (criterion 1). Policy BG3 of the 

P
age 1643



 

Revised Draft Local Plan requires that all development shall deliver 
a net gain in biodiversity value.  
 

Highways  

Development would worsen congestion which is already considered 
severe. Respondents raised the following as having capacity 
problems: roads leading junction 13 of the M60; Manchester / 
Chorley Road; and Old Clough Lane (individuals, local community 
group) 

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning the Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 

 

Housing – principle of development  

The land may be suitable for development providing that alternative 
amenity space can be allocated in the immediate neighbourhood 
(SCC Conservative Group). 

Although the site is an existing grassed area, the policy requires that 
development shall provide appropriate compensation for the loss of 
the public amenity space function, through the improvement of other 
amenity spaces in the local area (criterion 1).  

 

Interested in developing the site which is within a large City West 
estate (ForViva) 

Comments noted. 

  

 

P
age 1644



 

Other significant changes made to policy H3/7 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference added to development addressing issues of land 
instability associated with previous mining activities on the site 
(criterion 2). 

To ensure that the issue of land instability is taken into account as 
part of any development. 

 

P
age 1645



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/8 LAND WEST OF BURGESS FARM, LITTLE HULTON 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/6 in the Revised Draft Local Plan and the name of the allocation has been changed to 

‘Land to the south-west of Hilton Lane’).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Air quality  

Pollution levels are already high due to severe traffic congestion 
(Friends of Roe Green) and will worsen as a result of new 
development. Air quality is a significant issue for Salford with higher 
than average mortality rates and respiratory problems because of air 
pollution, high levels of nitrogen dioxide (junction 13 of the M60) and 
higher than average levels of carbon dioxide and particulate matters 
(Barbara Keeley MP). 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but the integrated nature of the highway 
network and the amount of traffic that travels through Salford to and 
from other destinations means that joint working across a wide area 
is required to tackle the issue. This Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority has led the production of an Air Quality Action Plan for 
Greater Manchester (2016-2021) in partnership with the Greater 
Manchester local authorities, Highways England and Transport for 
Greater Manchester, which includes a series of actions and 
measures to bring about an improvement in air quality.  
 
The planning process does however have an important role to play 
in supporting an improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in 
promoting better health and an improved quality of life. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the 
various ways in which the local plan can assist in securing an 
improvement in the city’s air quality, for example reducing road 
emissions by minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of 
low and zero carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network and requiring development to minimise and 
mitigate pollution as far as possible. 

Biodiversity 

GMEU have no further comments to make at this stage. 
 

Noted.  

P
age 1646



 

The site has ecological value, including protected species (CPRE 
Lancashire).  

A number of ecological constraints have been identified on this site 
which will require further surveys before development will come 
forward. These are not likely to prevent development of the site 
taking place but any loss of ecological features should be mitigated 
or compensated for in line with policy BG2 of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan.  Detailed ecological surveys would need to be undertaken at 
the time of any planning application to determine the level of 
mitigation and/or compensation required to address impacts on 
biodiversity. 
 

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure which will 
worsen as a result of new development. In particular schools, 
doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, bus services and leisure 
facilities (individuals, Friends of Roe Green and Barbara Keeley 
MP). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers. 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 

P
age 1647



 

engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 

P
age 1648



 

carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Food production 

The site serves an important agricultural function (CPRE 
Lancashire). 

The site was formerly used as grazing land but does not currently 
serve any agricultural function. The development of this site will help 
to reduce the need to develop sites that are in agricultural use. 
 

P
age 1649



 

Green Belt 

The proposed development contributes to a squeezing of the Green 
Belt between Salford and Wigan at both sides, inlcuding draft GMSF 
proposal ELR1 and Peel’s wider proposal for land at Parr Fold  
(individual). 
 
Site should be retained as open space to define the edge of the 
conurbation (individual). 

The proposed local plan housing allocation at Burgess Farm is not in 
the Green Belt. At the ‘call for sites’ stage of the GMSF, the Peel 
Group identified land within Salford and Wigan to the west of the 
proposed Burgess Farm allocation, which they called ‘Land at Parr 
Fold (Parkland 1)’, covering a site area of around 155ha. This 
included land within Salford that is designated as a Site of Biological 
Importance (SBI) by the saved UDP.  
 
The Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocated part of 
the land put forward by Peel (site ELR1 North of Mosley Common) 
for new housing; this land is wholly within Wigan and therefore does 
not include any land in Salford. The Revised Draft GMSF also 
includes such an allocation (GM Allocation 49 North of Mosley 
Common), with revised boundaries but again wholly within Wigan. 
 
The Draft Local Plan maintained the designation of land to the west 
of the Burgess Farm allocation as an SBI and this has also been 
included within the Revised Draft Local Plan. The Revised Draft 
GMSF proposes the designation of this SBI in Salford as Green Belt, 
which would increase the Green Belt coverage in this part of Salford 
rather than reducing it. 
  

Green Infrastucture  

The site functions as a green lung in a built up city and there are 
concerns over the loss of this open space (Barbara Keeley MP). 
Open countryide should not be lost (CPRE Lancashire).  
 
The site should be retained as green open space for the wellbeing of 
local people and future generations (individuals, Friends of Roe 
Green, SCC Conservative Group, local councillor and Barbara 
Keeley MP). 
 

The site offers the opportunity to diversify housing provision in the 
Walkden / Little Hulton area without utilising Green Belt. 
 
The NPPF at paragraph 117 states that strategic policies should set 
out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, 
in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Having regard to this, policy H9 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan states that residential development will be 
directed towards previously-developed land, with a target that at 
least 80% of new homes should be on such land, with a strong focus 
on the City Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas.  

P
age 1650



 

Brownfield sites and and vacant former employment sites should be 
developed rather than loosing another green area (Barbara Keeley 
MP). 

 
The release of this greenfield site in the Local Plan is considered 
appropriate to enable a good mix of dwellings to come forward in 
sustainable locations. The delivery of housing on brownfield land 
within the existing urban is being maximised as far as possible, 
helping to minimise the need for greenfield release. 
 

An appropriate recreation use should be found for the site 
(individual, SCC Conservative Group, and local councillor). 

This housing allocation will be required to provide 15 allotment plots 
on-site to contribute towards local demand (criterion 3). The 
proposed housing development will also be expected to make 
financial contributions towards other recreation facilities in the local 
area. 

Highways and public transport 

Development would worsen congestion which is already considered 
severe at peak times. Respondents raised the following as having 
capacity problems: roads leading junction 13 of the M60; Hilton Lane 
(individuals, Friends of Roe Green, local councillor and Barbara 
Keeley MP). 
 
Traffic solutions have not been identified for the existing traffic 
problems and development would exacerbate issues, with traffic on 
Salford’s roads increasing by 3.6% between November 2014 and 
November 2015 compared to an average increase of 1.1% (Barbara 
Keeley MP). 
 
The North West Quadrant Study Stage 3 Report (2016) identifies 
numenrous issues with the M60 junction 8-18 including it already 
operating at capacity. New developments would exacerbate this 
(Barbara Keeley MP). 
 
Public transport provision is not adequate to meet current demand 
and discourage residents from using cars (Friends of Roe 
Green/Barbara Keeley MP). 

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning the Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Housing 

P
age 1651



 

The Waldken area has already seen significant housing 
development and there is no justifciation for land west of Burgess 
Farm to be allocated (local councillor).  
 
 

Land at Burgess Farm is being allocated within the Local Plan in 
order to ensure that a diverse mix of accommodation is being 
provided across the city (in terms of the balance between the supply 
of houses and apartments).  
 
 

There is no longer a lack of housing land as there was when 
Burgess Farm was granted planning permission on appeal (local 
councillor). 

When other land at Burgess Farm was granted planning permission 
at appeal by the Secretary of State the city council could not 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of land for housing and so the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development applied. The city 
council now has a 5 year supply of sites; this does not mean 
however that new sites should not be released for housing as it is 
important that the city council continues to demonstrate a 5 year 
supply on an annual basis. 
 
Ensuring that there is a good mix of accommodation (in terms of the 
balance between houses and apartments) is also important. The 
release of this land (which is not in the Green Belt) will contribute 
towards ensuring that a good mix comes forward across the city. 
 

The plans will not provide sustainable homes but rather executive 
homes for developers’ profit (individual). 

Having regard to the requirements of policy H7 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan there will be a requirement for 35% of the houses to be 
provided as affordable housing (i.e. 70 dwellings). These would 
include social rented, affordable rented and shared ownership 
dwellings. The affordable requirements are based on a strategic 
assessment of viability that has allowed an 18% profit for the 
developer; this is in line with the government’s planning practice 
guidance which states that a developer profit of 15-20% is 
appropriate. 

 

Playing fields 

Redevelopment of any playing fields needs to be justified by clear 
reference to the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy. (Sport England) 

Salford’s Playing Pitch Strategy will be a material consideration for 
any proposals which come forward that would result in the loss of 
playing fields. Part of the site was previously detached playing fields 
for a high school which closed many years and were rarely used. 

P
age 1652



 

The site was then used for grazing for the adjacent Burgess Farm for 
an extensive period of time, but is now disused. 

Other issues 

The development of this site will be damaging to social wellbeing 
(individual) and have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 
existing residents (local councillor).  

The development of the site will bring social benefits by ensuring 
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of present and future generations.  
 
With regards to the amenity of existing residents, it is not considered 
that the development of the site would have unacceptable impacts in 
relation to this. At the planning application stage detailed 
consideration will have to be given to the amenity of existing 
residents; policy D5 (criterion 2) of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
requires that development shall ensure that it does not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of the users of other buildings 
and spaces. The development of the site offers the potential to 
deliver additional local amenities, particularly new allotments. 
 

The views of local people should be respected (Barbara Keeley MP) 
 

The city council has given careful consideration to comments 
received on the Draft Local Plan, including those from local 
residents. In considering these comments the city council has to 
balance the views of residents against the government’s objectives 
of significantly boosting the supply homes and providing a sufficient 
amount and variety of land (as required by paragraph 59 of the 
NPPF). In order to ensure that a good mix of housing comes forward 
in the city, and the need to development land in the Green Belt is 
minimised, the city council considers that it is appropriate to release 
this greenfield site for new housing.   
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/8 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

P
age 1653



 

The policy has been amended to refer to development providing a 
layout which accommodates opportunities for the movement of 
wildlife between the site and the ‘Ponds near New Manchester’ SBI, 
particularly the nature park at the northern end of the SBI (criterion 
1b) and retaining the hedgerows around the edge of the site 
(criterion 1c).   

Regard has been had to an ecological assessment which identified 
further ways that opportunities for wildlife moving through the site 
and into the wider ecological network could be provided.  

An additional criterion has been added to the policy requiring 15 
allotment plots, each 125sqm in size within the site (criterion 2). 

To clarify how the site should meet the recreation standards in 
Revised Draft Local Plan policy R2. 
 

Requirement for new development to address land stability issues 
associated with previous mining activity on the site has been added 
(criterion 5).  

Added the requirement given that the site is associated with mining 
and so likely to have stability issues. 

An additional criterion has been added to the policy that requires that 
easements are retained for utilities infrastructure that runs beneath 
the site (criterion 6).  

To take into account information from United Utilities relating to the 
presence of utilities infrastructure. 

 

P
age 1654



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/9 LAND WEST OF KENYON WAY, LITTLE HULTON 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/7 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Air quality  

Pollution levels are already high due to severe traffic congestion 
(Friends of Roe Green). 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but due to the integrated nature of the 
highway network and the amount of traffic that travels through 
Salford to and from other destinations means that joint working 
across a wide area is required to tackle the issue. There are 
however a range of measures by which the local plan can support an 
improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in promoting better 
health and an improved quality of life. The Revised Draft Local Plan 
includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the various ways in 
which the local plan can assist in securing an improvement in the 
city’s air quality, for example reducing road emissions by minimising 
the need to travel and promoting the use of low and zero carbon 
emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green infrastructure network 
and requiring development to minimise and mitigate pollution as far 
as possible. 

Biodiversity 

GMEU highlighted the potential for a protected species to be present 
on this site. GMEU is not aware of any other ecological constraints 
associated with this site allocation. 

Noted.  

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure which will 
worsen as a result of new development. In particular schools, 
doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, bus services and leisure 
facilities will be affected (individuals, and Friends of Roe Green). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 

P
age 1655



 

the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
housing spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 
is to develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools 
and health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers. 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 

P
age 1656



 

Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 

P
age 1657



 

maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Green Infrastucture  

Open spaces in the area are at a premium and need to be protected 
for the well-being of residents and future generations (Friends of 
Roe Green and individuals).  
 
There is a need for recreational green areas and very little 
recreational space currently (individual). 
 
Ordinary countryside should not be lost (CPRE Lancashire). 

The NPPF at paragraph 117 states that strategic policies should set 
out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, 
in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Having regard to this, policy H9 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan states that residential development will be 
directed towards previously-developed land, with a target that at 
least 80% of new homes should be on such land, with a strong focus 
on the City Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas.  
 
The release of this greenfield site in the Local Plan is considered 
appropriate to enable a good mix of dwellings to come forward in 
sustainable locations. The delivery of housing on brownfield land 
within the existing urban is being maximised as far as possible, 
helping to minimise the need for greenfield release. 
 
The site is considered to be sustainable location that will deliver a 
significant number of homes. Although there would be the loss of 5.7 
hectares of open land as a result of the housing allocation, criterion 
3 of the policy requires that development shall provide public 
amenity spaces and high quality walking and cycling routes through 

P
age 1658



 

the site, connecting existing neighbourhoods to Cutacre Country 
Park and linking into existing public rights of way.  
 
Cutacre Country Park is located immediately west of the proposed 
housing site. The Country Park is around 225 hectares in size which 
includes footpaths, bridleways and cycleways and areas of wildlife 
and woodland, watercourses and ponds and farmland. On balance 
therefore the loss of 5.7 hectares of open land in this location is 
considered acceptable particularly given the proximity and scale of 
Cutacre Country Park. 
 

150 dwellings of ‘enabling development’ will be a high cost to the 
environment in this location (CPRE Lancashire). 

The construction of 150 dwellings on the site is not a form of 
‘enabling development’. Rather the site is considered to be a 
suitable development location that will deliver a significant number of 
homes. It has excellent access to open space at Cutacre Country 
Park and employment at Logistics North.   
 

Highways 

Development would worsen congestion which is already considered 
severe at peak times. Respondents raised all roads leading to 
junction 13 of the M60 as having capacity problems (individuals and 
Friends of Roe Green).  
 
Existing highway infrastructure will not support the additional traffic 
from planned development in the Walkden area (individuals). 

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning the Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 

P
age 1659



 

18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Housing 

The plans will not provide sustainable homes but rather executive 
homes for developers’ profit (individual). 

Having regard to the requirements of policy H7 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan there will be a requirement for at least 20% of the homes 
to be provided as affordable housing. These would include social 
rented, affordable rented and shared ownership dwellings, 
depending on site viability. 
 

Noise and amenity 

Without appropriate mitigation, residential development in close 
proximity to the proposed extension to Logistics North could result in 
noise complaints from residents of the new housing (Harworth 
Group).  
 
The proximity of proposed residential development to the proposed 
extension to Logistics North could cause harm to the amenity of 
prospective residents and reduce the attractiveness of Logistics 
North to businesses. (Harworth Group). Harworth Group suggest 
changing the proposed use of the allocation to B1/B2/B8 or a mixed 
use allocation. If this remains a residential allocation, Harworth 
Group request scaling back development to the east to allow 
adequate mitigation measures to be put in place to safeguard the 
amenity of prospective residents. 

The Draft Local Plan stated that development would need to provide 
appropriate mitigation for any potential noise pollution from the 
Lester Road employment areas to the-north west (criterion 4). The 
revised draft plan has removed specific reference to the Lester Road 
and has generalised the criterion to employment areas to the north-
west, which would include Logistics North. It is not however 
considered necessary for the proposed boundary of the allocation to 
be scaled back to the east given that Cutacre Country Park will be 
immediately to the west of the proposed allocation.   
 
    

Public transport  

There is a lack of bus services (Friends of Roe Green) 
 

It is noted that bus services run along Kenyon Way to the immediate 
east of the site, with bus stops located very close to the site at the 
Kenyon Way / Owlwood Close junction. The site is less than 1km 
from the A6 Manchester Road, a key bus route providing frequent 
services between Bolton and the city centre. Improvements to public 
transport infrastructure within the city are encouraged in a number of 
policies in the Local Plan, in particular policy A5 of the accessibility 
chapter which supports improvements to the frequency and 
coverage of public transport routes and the service integration.  

P
age 1660



 

 

Other issues  

It is essential that City West is involved in the development of plans 
for this site due to proximity to existing City West stock. 
Development is likely to include openings into the Kenyon Estate to 
encourage community cohesion. City West assets may be needed 
for access (ForViva). 

Comments noted. Criterion 1 of the policy requires that development 
shall be well-integrated with the existing neighbourhood to the east 
that is referred to in this representation.  

There is some City West land to the rear of properties on Carrfield 
Avenue that should be included in the development area (ForViva). 

The boundary of the site has been amended to include land to the 
rear of properties on Carrfield Avenue.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/9 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

An additional criterion has been added stating that development 
shall provide opportunities for wildlife to move within and through the 
site, including by retaining and enhancing the deciduous woodland 
and brook which runs along the site’s western boundary and 
compensating for any loss of habitats through improvements to the 
adjoining Cutacre Country Park and Ponds North of Cleworth Hall 
site of biological importance (criterion 2). 

This site contains areas of priority habitat and there may be great 
crested newts on the site, and so therefore any development shall 
provide opportunities for wildlife to move within and through the site. 

Reference has been added to a requirement for public amenity 
spaces as part of any development (criterion 3). 

All new residential developments will be expected to contribute to 
achievement of the local recreation standards as outlined in policy 
R2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan, and requirements for individual 
developments are based upon the number of dwellings proposed. In 
this case, it is expected on-site public amenity space would be 
provided within the development. It is considered useful to set out 
any such requirements within the relevant site allocation policy so 
that they can be considered and discussed at an early stage in the 
development process.  
   

The policy requires that development should be informed by a water 
body status assessment in accordance with policy WA2 (criterion 4).  

A brook flows south along the western boundary of the site; this is 
classed as an ordinary watercourse. 
 

P
age 1661



 

Primary vehicular access should be taken from Kenyon Way 
(criterion 5). 

To reflect advice from Urban Vision Highways and to provide clarity.  

Development shall address potential land stability issues associated 
with previous mining activity on the site (criterion 6). 

Added the requirement given that the site is associated with mining 
and therefore potential land stability issues. 

 

P
age 1662



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H3/10: Clifton Business Park, Pendlebury  

This allocation has been deleted from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

CPRE raised concerns relating to air quality at the site, and the 
potential for flooding. 
 
Prospective occupiers of the dwellings will need to be protected from 
nearby employment and industrial uses (Salford City Council 
Conservative Group). 
 

The site was granted outline planning permission with all matters 
reserved except for access for the demolition of existing buildings 
and erection of up to 92 dwellings (reference 16/67827/OUT), 
subject to the signing of a legal agreement under section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act. However the legal agreement was 
never signed and the application has been ‘disposed of’ by the Local 
Planning Authority after the applicant / agent did not respond to 
requests to work towards completing the required legal agreement. 
 
The existing office buildings on the site have had work undertaken to 
them and the site is now being marketed as M60 Office Park. On this 
basis it is no longer considered to be available for new housing 
development and therefore the allocation has been deleted. 
 

No objection to the allocation of the site for housing (GMEU) Comments noted.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/10 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy deleted from the plan. The site is now being marketed as M60 Office Park and on this basis 
it is no longer considered to be available for new housing 
development. 
 

 

P
age 1663



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/11 LAND SOUTH OF ST. AUGUSTINE’S CHURCH, PENDLEBURY 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/9 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Biodiversity 

GMEU is not aware of any ecological constraints associated with this 
site, although request that ecological surveys should be provided as 
part of any planning application. 

Noted.  

Green Infrastucture  

Ordinary countryside should not be lost (CPRE Lancashire).  The eastern part of the site is currently used as a playing field for the 
adjoining primary school, and shall be retained or reoriented as an 
open space as part of any development (criterion 1b). The rest of the 
site was formerly used as a miners’ welfare (which is now an area of 
hardstanding), including a long disused bowling green. Given this, 
the site is considered to be a mixture of greenfield and brownfield 
land and is not considered to be ‘ordinary countryside’.  
 
The release of this site in the Local Plan is considered appropriate to 
enable a good mix of dwellings to come forward in sustainable 
locations. 
 
The policy ensures that public rights of way around the site are 
retained and enhanced as part of any development (criterion 1e).  
 

Highways  

The current access from Temple Drive is complicated because of the 
different ownerships and this access may not prove suitable to serve 
a development of the entire site. Other options for access may need 
to be explored (Coal Industry Social Welfare Organisation – 
CISWO). 

The potential access to the site has been discussed with Urban 
Vision Highways team who consider that the primary access to the 
site would be through land at the corner of Birch Road and High 
Bank Road that is located in the north eastern part of the site. 
Temple Drive could potentially be a suitable secondary access point 
subject to it being widened.  

P
age 1664



 

Housing  

CISWO own the site of the former Welfare but not the playing field – 
this belongs to Salford Council as does part of the access. In 
principle CISWO supports the allocation. 

Noted. 

The appeal relating to planning application 07/55208/FUL, which 
was for new housing on part of the allocation, was dismissed due to 
the lack of a Section 106 agreement. The inspector concluded that 
the development would otherwise be acceptable (CISWO). 

Noted. The city council considers that development of the site would 
be acceptable subject to compliance with the criteria set out within 
the policy.  

Heritage 

Concerns about the impact of development on the nearby St. 
Augustine’s church (CPRE Lancashire / Salford City Council 
Conservative Group). 

Criterion 1 of policy H3/11 of the Draft Local Plan set out that the 
development of the site will need to preserve and enhance the 
setting of the Grade I listed St. Augustine’s Church, the Grade II 
listed Environmental Institute and the associated conservation area. 
The revised draft policy (criterion 1) carries forward this approach 
although sets out further criteria (a. to e.) as to how these heritage 
assets will be preserved and enhanced. This includes a requirement 
for development to be informed by a detailed heritage impact 
assessment. The changes have been informed by discussions with 
Historic England and a heritage assessment that has been prepared 
by the council.  
    

Criterion 1 – The requirement for ‘highest quality design’ does not 
reflect the findings of the appeal inspector regarding the impact on 
the Conservation Area and listed buildings and could have a 
significant detrimental impact on the viability of the development. 
CISWO objects to the wording of criteria 1. 

The reference to ‘highest quality design’ has been deleted from the 
policy. However, reference has been retained in the introduction / 
justification to the policy stating that development will need to be 
very carefully designed. Criterion 1 has also been amended to set 
out the design parameters for development that would ensure a high 
standard of design that would preserve and enhance the setting of 
listed buildings and the conservation area.  
 

Sport facilities  

Criterion 4 (compensation for loss of bowling green) – The site has 
been vacant in excess of 17 years. The delivery of homes and 
redevelopment of the welfare site should outweigh any perceived 
potential recreation value delivered by the disused bowling green 
(CISWO). 

Although it is recognised that the bowling green has not been used 
for a number of years, the delivery of homes and redevelopment of 
the site does not outweigh the need to provide compensation for its 
loss. Therefore the requirement for off-site recreation improvements 

P
age 1665



 

to compensate for the loss of the former bowling green has been 
retained in the revised draft policy (as criterion 3).  
 
Revised Draft Local Plan policy PC1 sets out when development will 
be permitted with reduced planning obligations compared to policy 
requirements.   

Other issues  

There is a small piece of City West land behind homes on North 
Drive that could be used as part of the development (ForViva). 

The boundary of the site has been amended to reflect the issue 
raised by this respondent.  
 

The fact that there are various owners and the potential need for 
joint working should be recognised in the supporting text. It is 
important that there is no obligation for this to be a comprehensive 
development if joint working doesn’t result in a joint scheme 
(CISWO). 

The site is in a very sensitive location, adjoining the St. Augustine’s 
conservation area, which includes one of Salford’s most important 
buildings, the Church of St Augustine. The St Augustine’s 
conservation area is identified on Historic England’s Heritage at Risk 
Register as being in poor condition and deteriorating. Given these 
issues and the limited size of the site, it is considered that the site 
should be developed in a comprehensive manner rather than on a 
piece-meal basis.  
 

The Council is asked to recognise that CISWO is a charity and that 
the viability of delivering this development will be marginal if 
unreasonable expectations are placed on the scheme.   
 

It is recognised that CISWO is a charity. However, the requirements 
are not considered to be unreasonable. They set out how the site 
should be developed having regard to the fact that the site is in a 
very sensitive location and other site specific issues that need to be 
addressed in order for the development to be acceptable and 
considered to be sustainable development.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/11 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy has been amended to refer to refer to maximising walking 
and cycling connections to Swinton Town Centre, Victoria Park and 
public transport routes from all dwellings (criterion 2). At the Draft 
Local Plan stage the allocation referred to maximising walking and 

At the draft stage the policy referred to connections to other roads. 
The revised policy instead specifically sets out two places that 
connections to should be maximised by walking and cycling 
recognising the role of shops and leisure facilities in Swinton Town 

P
age 1666



 

cycling connections to surrounding areas, including to Bolton Road, 
Swinton Hall Road and Temple Drive.  

Centre and the proximity to greenspace at Victoria Park. The added 
reference to connectivity to public transport routes has been added 
to ensure that there are other sustainable transport options easily 
available to potential residents.  
  

The policy has been amended to specifically refer to protecting the 
ability of “pollinating insects” to move through the site (criterion 4). 

The site within a “B-line” which is identified as having potential for 
pollinating insects.  

Reference added to development addressing issues of land 
instability associated with previous underground infrastructure on the 
site (criterion 5).  

Added the requirement given that the site is associated with mining 
and spoil tipping and so likely to have contamination and stability 
issues.  
 

New criterion added to the policy requiring that appropriate noise 
mitigation from uses to the north-west of the site is provided 
(criterion 6).  

Advice was provided by the Urban Vision Air and Noise team who 
noted that the proximity of the site to employment uses (BASF) may 
constrain part of the site and so therefore the site layout will involve 
mitigation. This new criterion reflects this advice. 

 P
age 1667



CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT                                                                                                                                                         10 DECEMBER 2018  
 

 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/12 SWINTON HALL ROAD EMPLOYMENT AREA, SWINTON SOUTH 

This allocation has been deleted from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Biodiversity 

GMEU is not aware of any ecological constraints associated with this 
site, although request that ecological surveys should be provided as 
part of any planning application. 

Noted.  

Housing 

Salford City Council Conservative Group support the allocation of 
the site. They consider it an appropriate site for new housing, given it 
is close to transport links and to the amenities in Swinton town 
centre. 

The case for allocating the site for residential development remains, 
with it presenting one of only a few opportunities to significantly 
increase the supply of housing in close proximity to a town centre, 
rail station and busy bus routes (in this case along the A6 and 
A666). However on balance the allocation has been deleted from the 
Revised Draft Local Plan in recognition of the fact that the site 
overall is well occupied by employment uses (with around 50 
separate properties / plots), supports a considerable number of jobs, 
and there is ongoing interest from an employment perspective 
including existing businesses wanting to invest in their premises.  
 
Any proposals for housing in the area would have to satisfy policy 
EC6 (existing employment areas) of the Revised Draft Local Plan at 
the planning application stage.  
 

Loss of employment land  

Shocked and upset that the area is to become residential in nature. 
Have been trading from Bridge Street for 19 years and have built up 
a good customer base, including local taxi companies. The garage 
contains lots of heavy equipment that would need to be relocated. 
Proposals should be reconsidered for the sake of business owners, 
employers and customers (local business). 

Comments noted. The allocation has been deleted from the Revised 
Draft Local Plan for reasons set out above. 

P
age 1668



CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT                                                                                                                                                         10 DECEMBER 2018  
 

 

Development of the area for residential use will jeopardise 
livelihoods, particularly 20+ taxi drivers (local business). 

Comments noted. The allocation has been deleted from the Revised 
Draft Local Plan for reasons set out above. 

RMS International site 

RMS International own 2.18ha of the draft allocation and provided 
comments on the land in their ownership as set out below: 
 
The land represents a highly accessible location for residential 
development. 
 
Office space to be relocated to Minerva House on opposite side of 
Pendlebury Road; warehouse space to be moved to a purpose built 
space with easy access to strategic highways network. Site will 
become surplus in 2017. 
 
Criterion 1 - Preparation of an agreed masterplan is supported, 
although further clarity needed. 
 
Justification to the policy should reflect the fact that the allocation will 
come forward in phases so as to allow the relocation of existing 
businesses across the wider site. 
 
The RMS site could come forward as a stand-alone site; if this is the 
case the RMS site would make the required provisions for 
pedestrian access and linkages into the wider allocation, and respect 
neighbouring uses/businesses, which can be achieved through 
sensitively designed layouts and elevations. 
 

Noted. It is acknowledged that the office and warehouse space have 
now been relocated. 
 
The allocation has been deleted from the Revised Draft Local Plan 
for reasons set out above. Any proposals for housing in the area 
would have to satisfy policy EC6 (existing employment areas) of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan at the planning application stage. 

 

P
age 1669



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/13 LAND SOUTH OF HILL TOP ROAD, WALKDEN NORTH 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/10 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the draft local plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the revised draft local plan 

Air quality  

Pollution levels are already high due to severe traffic congestion 
(Friends of Roe Green). 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but due to the integrated nature of the 
highway network and the amount of traffic that travels through 
Salford to and from other destinations means that joint working 
across a wide area is required to tackle the issue. The Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority has led the production of an Air 
Quality Action Plan for Greater Manchester (2016-2021) in 
partnership with the Greater Manchester local authorities, Highways 
England and Transport for Greater Manchester, which includes a 
series of actions and measures to bring about an improvement in air 
quality.  
 
The planning process does however have an important role to play 
in supporting an improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in 
promoting better health and an improved quality of life. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the 
various ways in which the local plan can assist in securing an 
improvement in the city’s air quality, for example reducing road 
emissions by minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of 
low and zero carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network and requiring development to minimise and 
mitigate pollution as far as possible. 

Biodiversity 

Concern with the allocation of the site given that it adds to the 
ecological value of Blackleach Country Park and SBI, providing 
additional habitat and recreation green infrastructure (GMEU). 

The policy has been amended to refer to the retention of the existing 
hedgerows and compensating for any loss of habitats on the site 
through improvements to Blackleach Country Park (criterion 1). The 

P
age 1670



 

introduction / justification to the policy also states that it will be 
important that the development maximises opportunities for wildlife 
to move through the site. 
 

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure which will 
worsen as a result of new development. In particular schools, 
doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, bus services and leisure 
facilities will be affected (individuals, and Friends of Roe Green). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
housing spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 
is to develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools 
and health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers. 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

P
age 1671



 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 

P
age 1672



 

residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Green Infrastucture  

The site is integral to the setting of Blackleach Country Park (2 local 
councillors and SCC Conservative Group)  

Criterion 5 requires that development shall provide a high quality 
frontage to Hill Top Lane, helping to present an attractive gateway 
into Blackleach Country Park (this was included as criterion 3 in the 
Draft Local Plan). 
 

Brownfield sites should be developed instead of greenfield land 
(individual). 
 

The NPPF at paragraph 117 states that strategic policies should set 
out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, 
in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Having regard to this, policy H9 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan states that residential development will be 

P
age 1673



 

All of the valuable green spaces in Worsley, Roe Green, Walkden, 
Boothstown and Ellenbrook for the health and well being of residents 
and future generations (Friends of Roe Green). 
 
The site should be retained and enhanced as open space 
(individuals). 

directed towards previously-developed land, with a target that at 
least 80% of new homes should be on such land, with a strong focus 
on the City Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas.  
 
The release of greenfield land through the Local Plan and Green 
Belt through the GMSF (that includes land that is in agricultural use) 
for houses is considered appropriate to enable a good mix of 
dwellings to come forward in sustainable locations. The delivery of 
housing on brownfield land within the existing urban is being 
maximised as far as possible, helping to minimise the need for 
greenfield release. 
 
Given the proximity of the site to Blackleach Country Park, there will 
remain excellent levels of open space in the local area.   
 

Fencing has been added and the land grazed by horses only within 
the last 12 months simply to make it inaccessible to the public 
(individual).  

This is a civil matter between the landowner and respondent rather 
than an issue for the Local Plan.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/13 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference added to development addressing issues of land 
instability associated with previous mining activities on the site 
(criterion 2). 

To ensure that the issue of land instability is take into account as 
part of any development. 

An additional criterion has been added to the policy requiring the 
primary vehicular access is taken from Hill Top Road (criterion 4).  

To provide clarity.  

 

P
age 1674



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/14 LAND SOUTH OF MOSS LANE, WALKDEN NORTH 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/11 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Air quality  

Pollution levels are already high on all roads leading to junction 13 of 
the M60 (Friends of Roe Green). 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but due to the integrated nature of the 
highway network and the amount of traffic that travels through 
Salford to and from other destinations means that joint working 
across a wide area is required to tackle the issue. The Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority has led the production of an Air 
Quality Action Plan for Greater Manchester (2016-2021) in 
partnership with the Greater Manchester local authorities, Highways 
England and Transport for Greater Manchester, which includes a 
series of actions and measures to bring about an improvement in air 
quality.  
 
The planning process does however have an important role to play 
in supporting an improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in 
promoting better health and an improved quality of life. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the 
various ways in which the local plan can assist in securing an 
improvement in the city’s air quality, for example reducing road 
emissions by minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of 
low and zero carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network and requiring development to minimise and 
mitigate pollution as far as possible. 

Biodiversity 

Not aware of any ecological constraints associated with the 
allocation; however ecological surveys should be provided as part of 
any planning application (GMEU). 

Comments noted.  

P
age 1675



 

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure which will 
worsen as a result of new development. In particular schools, 
doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, bus services and leisure 
facilities will be affected (individuals, and Friends of Roe Green). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 

P
age 1676



 

school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 

P
age 1677



 

include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

 

Green Infrastucture 

All green spaces in Worsley, Roe Green, Walkden, Boothstown and 
Ellenbrook ahould be protected from development (Friends of Roe 
Green). 
 
Brownfield sites should be developed, rather than loosing green 
spaces (individual). 
 
There is a need for greenspaces in and around the Linnyshaw area 
(individuals). 
 

The NPPF at paragraph 117 states that strategic policies should set 
out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, 
in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Having regard to this, policy H9 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan states that residential development will be 
directed towards previously-developed land, with a target that at 
least 80% of new homes should be on such land, with a strong focus 
on the City Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas.  
 
The release of some greenfield land through the Local Plan for 
houses is considered appropriate to enable a good mix of dwellings 
to come forward in sustainable locations. The delivery of housing on 
brownfield land within the existing urban is being maximised as far 
as possible, helping to minimise the need for greenfield release. 

P
age 1678



 

 
The site is open land within a mixed employment / housing area that 
does not have a particular recreation function. Given this, and the 
proximity of the site to Blackleach Country Park and public rights of 
way across Linnyshaw Moss to the east and the Linnyshaw 
Loopline, it is considered the loss of 1.7 hectares of greennfield land 
is acceptable in this context.   

Highways 

Development would worsen congestion which is already considered 
severe, particularly on all roads leading to junction 13 of the M60, 
roads from Wardley to Walkden and on Old Clough Lane (Friends of 
Roe Green, individual). 
 
Existing highway infrastructure cannot support additional traffic, with 
the guided busway leading to increased traffic on the A6 (individuals, 
local councillor). 
 
There is a significant amount of development taking place on Moss 
Lane with only one vehicular access (local councillor), whilst the 
cumulative impact should have regard to the Wain Homes and 
Countryside developments at Linnyshaw (individual). 

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Development of the site should be conditional on the establishment 
of pedestrian and vehicular access between Sharp Street and Moss 
Lane to distribute traffic in the area (there is already a link between 
these two roads but it is inaccessible). This would provide direct 
access to employment sites and a safe direct route through to the 
town centre, and mitigate the impacts on Manchester Road and 
keep cyclists and pedestrians away from busy roads and junctions 
(local councillor). 

The policy has been amended to clarify that Moss Lane to the north-
west of the site should be improved and provide the primary 
vehicular access for the development (criterion 4). This would be via 
Sharp Street. The introduction / justification to the policy notes that 
this section of Moss Lane is currently an unmade track and will need 
to be upgraded to accommodate vehicles as well as pedestrians and 
cyclists. 
 

P
age 1679



 

A vehicular loop road from Sharp Street to Moss Lane that then 
carries on to the part of Moss Lane that forms the main spine road 
for recent housing developments by Wain Homes and Countryside is 
not considered appropriate. This would involve building on a public 
footpath which is particularly narrow to the rear of new properties on 
Yarn Close, meaning that there would also be insufficient space to 
provide a road of adoptable standards and a pavement for 
pedestrians.  
 

Housing 

The proposed development would not be sustainable and would be 
executive homes built by greedy developers (individual). 

Having regard to the requirements of policy H7 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan there will be a requirement for 20% of the houses to be 
provided as affordable housing. These would include social rented, 
affordable rented and shared ownership dwellings, subject to 
viability. The affordable requirements are based on a strategic 
assessment of viability that has allowed an 18% profit for the 
developer; this is in line with government’s planning practice 
guidance which states that a developer profit of 15-20% is 
appropriate. 

 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/14 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Additional criterion added to require development to retain mature 
trees on the site where practicable (criterion 3). 

To highlight the importance of the mature trees on the site and the 
need for these to be incorporated into the development where this is 
practicable.  

 

P
age 1680



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/15   HAZELHURST FARM, WORSLEY 

Allocations involving development on land in Salford that is currently in the Green Belt are 
now being considered solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than Salford’s Local Plan. 
 
Issues raised in relation to Draft Local Plan policy H3/15 are summarised below and have 
been taken into account in the drafting of GM Allocation 30 (Land at Hazelhurst Farm) in the 
Revised Draft GMSF. The size of the allocation has decreased from 24 hectares to 16 
hectares, with the proposed amount of housing reduced from 450 dwellings to 400 dwellings. 
 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

Air quality and noise pollution 

Concerns were raised regarding the site’s proximity to the M60 and A580 and the potential for 
increased air pollution resulting from the additional vehicle movements and also issues during 
the construction phase. 
 
Many of the comments highlighted the potential health implications associated with increased 
air pollution and expressed concerns with regards to poor air quality in Salford compared to 
other areas, suggesting that ‘green lungs’ such as this site should be protected. 

Consultees questioned whether acceptable noise levels could be achieved on the site due to 
the significant contributors to noise (i.e. adjacent roads, park and ride facility, high voltage 
cables and pylons on site). 

Concerns were expressed that noise would be created as a result of the development both 
during and after construction, impacting on the quality of life of local residents. 

Biodiversity 

General concerns were expressed regarding the loss of wildlife, and some of the comments 
cited the presence of particular species (most frequently birds), and important features on the 
site such as woodland and hedgerows. Some of the comments raised concerns with regards 
to the impact on the Worsley Woods SBI, and some thought that this would be lost due to it 
being included within the allocation. 

The Lancashire Wildlife Trust requested that the policy is strengthened with the following 
additional policy requirement: ‘To maintain and, where appropriate, restore functional 
ecological network links between identified strategic green infrastructure, pond habitat and 
the Worsley Wood SBI’. 

Community Infrastructure 

Comments raised the following: 
 

 Concerns with regards to the capacity of existing community infrastructure and the 
potential for the development of this site to worsen the situation 

 Primary and secondary schools together with doctors surgeries were referred to most 
frequently, with concern also raised regarding the capacity of dentists, local hospitals, 
shops, leisure facilities, public utilities, and pressures this would place on emergency 
services in the area 

 The provision of a new primary school should be made a requirement due to limited 
capacity of schools in the area 

Flood risk and water 

A limited number of comments were received raising concerns regarding increased surface 
water run-off and flood risk as a result of the development, and the requirement for sufficient 
drainage on the site to avoid this (although the Environment Agency did not raise any specific 
concerns in this regard, but requested that the policy makes reference to green/soft SUDS).  

Page 1681



2 
 

The Environment Agency asked that the following should be taken into account: 
 

 Future development should ensure that there is no deterioration of existing Water 
Framework Directive waterbodies and green infrastructure assets, and where feasible 
seek to enhance ecological quality of any poor waterbodies and associated riparian 
corridor, and link with any retained or enhanced local wildlife site or priority habitats that 
connect with these (Environment Agency). 

 Retaining open space of a minimum of 8 metres width adjoining the main river 
watercourse (Wardley Brook) is required and access to through the site to reach the 
watercourse must also be provided.  

United Utilities explained that consideration must be given to the disposal of surface water in 
the most sustainable way. 

Green Belt 

An individual commented that the location of the site is acceptable in principle, being 
constrained on all sides it will not result in urban encroachment. 

Comments received expressed the following: 
 

 There are sufficient, suitable previously developed sites, empty properties and homes for 
sale/rent to meet needs, and that these options should be fully explored before sites in the 
Green Belt are considered, particularly given the regeneration benefits of such an 
approach. 

 The site is one of the last remaining areas of Green Belt in the local area and is land 
which prevents urban sprawl, helping the residential areas of Walkden, Worsley and 
Swinton to maintain their own identity 

 Exceptional circumstances have not been adequately demonstrated to warrant loss of 
Green Belt; the need for affordable homes and unmet housing need is unlikely to 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm to constitute the very special 
circumstances test to justify Green Belt development 

 The site should not be released to meet targets for the whole of Greater Manchester 

Green Infrastructure 

The site’s value to the community as a green space and a recreation asset (including for 
walking) was identified in a large proportion of the comments received, and the development 
of the site was strongly objected to on this basis. Furthermore, comments were received 
stating that open space should be protected for the health and well-being of residents. 

Comments were received stating that there is a public right of way going east to west through 
the site from Hawthorne Drive to Hazelhurst Fold/Richmond Drive.  This has been an 
established route for many years and is used by many as a short cut. The policy should be 
amended to ensure this is retained and formalised/adopted, with consideration given to the 
need for a S106 agreement to ensure appropriate sums for this. 

Heritage  

Historic England considers that the requirement for an archaeological assessment (as 
currently referred to in the reasoned justification) should be reflected in the policy. 

Highways and public transport 

The following comments were made: 
 

 The policy should be amended to ensure that commuted sums are provided to ensure 
highways improvements 

 A traffic and travel plan should be provided  

 A traffic management plan should be prepared which considers the need for signal 
controlled junctions at the roundabouts of Worsley Brow and reinstatement  of a dual 
carriageway access onto the M60 southbound at junction 13 before the smart motorway 
scheme comes live  

A study should be undertaken to look at the feasibility of access issues (individual). 
 

Page 1682



3 
 

Concerns were expressed with regards to achieving appropriate site access, and access 
options for the site were identified as being limited. Taking access via Hazelhurst Road was 
identified as being challenging due to existing congestion issues on the road and the capacity 
of its junction with Moorside Road and the A580, its narrow width, on street parking and traffic 
calming measures. 
 
An alternative access point could be via Hawthorne Grove to Roe Green but this would 
involve loss of woodland and would be unsuitable (individuals). 

Comments were made that traffic congestion is already a major issue in the area and further 
development would exacerbate the problem. The M60 (in particular junction 13) and the A580 
were identified as being very congested, which has a significant impact on the operation of 
the local road network that surrounds the site allocation.  
 
Concerns were expressed regarding the cumulative impact of existing and proposed 
developments (such as the Trafford Centre, RHS Garden Bridgewater, AJ Bell Stadium and 
Port Salford), including some of the other GMSF allocations in Salford and the adjoining 
authorities. 
 
Many considered that the local road network cannot accommodate further development 
without significant investment, and that this would be challenging due to the area being 
physically constrained by the infrastructure and geographical features which surround it (for 
instance the motorways, canal, golf course and the mosslands).  
 
The NW Quadrant Study Stage 3 Report (2016) identifies the issues with capacity of the M60 
between junctions 8 to 18. Consultees considered that the M60 Smart Motorway will not 
alleviate congestion. 
 
Calls were also made for a comprehensive traffic assessment to better understand the 
problems. 

It was commented that although the site is close to the Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided 
busway, it was considered inappropriate to rely on this to achieve a significant modal shift due 
to the limited destinations it serves. Capacity of the Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway 
was highlighted as an issue in some comments.    
 
Many of the comments considered that the area is poorly served by public transport and has 
no tram/train station. The need for better connections to the main employment areas such as 
Salford Quays and Trafford Park was identified.  
 
A modal shift will be difficult to achieve due to people’s lifestyles. 

Housing 

The Peel Group fully supported the development of the site, commenting that the allocation is 
an accessible site that is well related to the existing urban area and not subject to any 
constraints preventing its development.   

Although Peel support the allocation they have raised the following issues: 
 
1) The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment identifies that the site makes ‘a strong 

contribution in restricting urban sprawl of the urban area.’ The Peel Group does not 
consider that the site performs a strategic Green Belt function. It is a small parcel 
separated from the wider GM Green Belt that performs a moderate contribution in 
restricting sprawl and should be considered as a logical infill gap. The release of land will 
not result in urban sprawl; rather the M60/A580 would function as new defensible 
boundaries 
 

Page 1683



4 
 

2) There are no site specific requirements in respect of highway infrastructure. Peel is 
undertaking further work on this and would welcome discussion with SCC/AGMA.  

 
3) Peel notes the potential requirement for a primary school on site and potential demand for 

one GP and one dental practitioner and will work with SCC to establish how the demand 
accommodated taking into account capacity, natural growth and timing of the 
development.  

 
4) 2.4 hectares of on-site open space and 2.6 hectares of parks, gardens and semi-natural 

green space will be required and Peel will work with officers to establish the most 
appropriate means of provision 

 
5) Wardley Woods would be retained. The proposals would safeguard any protected species 

and deliver a management regime 
 

6) With regards to delivery, assuming the GMSF is adopted in 2018, development could 
commence in 2021/22 and be built at a rate of 30 to 50 dwellings per annum, completing 
in 2034. This is considered conservative and there is potential that it could be delivered in 
a shorter timeframe 

Some respondents questioned the need for higher value housing in the local area, and 
instead suggested the demand is for affordable dwellings.  

The type of housing proposed for the site should be provided in areas including Broughton, 
Langworthy and Wigan given the regenerative benefits this would have (individual). 

The housing requirement in the Draft Local Plan is not much higher than the annual average 
requirement as recommended by the inspector examining the document (1,600 dwellings) 
when building on Green Belt land was not considered necessary to meet the requirement. 
Various developments have since taken place in the area therefore question need to release 
land at Hazelhurst. The site is not necessary to meet overall housing requirement (individual). 

Some expressed concern that there was limited detail on the type of housing to be provided 
on site, and questioned whether this would be apartments. 

The area has already seen a significant amount of development (individual).  

Respondents suggested that the proposal represents overdevelopment and that the overall 
scale of housing proposed to be accommodated on the site should be reduced. 

The development of this site will have a negative impact on house prices (individuals).  

The overhead power lines are a constraint to the site’s development (an individual and some 
councillors)  

Other issues 

Concerns raised relating to the loss of land used for crop production. 

Concern over the proximity of high voltage cables and pylons 

The development would have a negative impact on the area’s character, identity and 
economic potential.  

The site is close to the Royal Mail Manchester North West Delivery Office (Shield Drive) 
which generates significant noise, light and vehicle movements. The requirement for a buffer 
to the A580 is supported and considered sufficient to ensure the existing activities of Royal 
Mail are not adversely affected (Royal Mail Group Limited). 

Reference should be made to the fact the site falls within the minerals safeguarding area 
(MWPU).  

The development of the site would have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of those 
living and working nearby 

  

Page 1684



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H3/16 LAND NORTH OF LUMBER LANE, WORSLEY 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/12 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Air quality  

A significant number of the representations highlighted the problems 
on the existing road network and noted that air pollution in the area 
is one of the worst in the country, with emissions exceeding 
permitted levels. This has a negative impact on health and well-
being and contributes to a range of health conditions. Salford’s 
mortality figure attributable to air quality is also higher than average. 
Traffic is the most significant cause of poor air quality and additional 
cars as a result of development will increase air and noise pollution 
(individuals and Barbara Keeley MP). 
 

 
 

It is recognised that poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated 
with transport emissions, but due to the integrated nature of the 
highway network and the amount of traffic that travels through 
Salford to and from other destinations means that joint working 
across a wide area is required to tackle the issue. The Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority has led the production of an Air 
Quality Action Plan for Greater Manchester (2016-2021) in 
partnership with the Greater Manchester local authorities, Highways 
England and Transport for Greater Manchester, which includes a 
series of actions and measures to bring about an improvement in air 
quality.  
 
The planning process does however have an important role to play 
in supporting an improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in 
promoting better health and an improved quality of life. The Revised 
Draft Local Plan includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the 
various ways in which the local plan can assist in securing an 
improvement in the city’s air quality, for example reducing road 
emissions by minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of 
low and zero carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure network and requiring development to minimise and 
mitigate pollution as far as possible. 
 

A significant number of representations expressed concerns with 
regards to the air quality and noise associated with the site 
allocation, namely:  

The site is bounded to the north by the A580, and this is a constraint 
affecting the site which it is recognised will require careful design 
and mitigation. Criterion 9 of the Revised Draft Local Plan policy 

P
age 1685



 

 

 Its proximity to the M60/A580 and potential health issues for 
future occupiers and existing residents on Hardy Grove due 
to additional traffic 

 Its location within the air quality management area 

 Increased noise and pollution as a result of the development 
(particularly for residents on Hardy Grove) and the need to 
assess these impacts  

 The requirement to provide appropriate mitigation for noise 
and air pollution is too vague 

 
(individuals)  
 
 
 

makes provision for this, explaining that the development of the site 
must provide appropriate mitigation for the noise and air pollution 
associated with the A580. The city council’s environmental health 
officers have advised that whilst the necessary mitigation measures 
may be more costly/time consuming for the developer to address, 
the site allocation as proposed in the Draft Local Plan should be able 
to be progressed. The type of mitigation required will need to be 
determined at the planning application stage and a range of 
solutions may be appropriate, for example restrictions on the layout 
and location of buildings, the use of non-opening windows and 
mechanical ventilation etc.  
 
A very small area on the northern edge of the site allocation is 
located within the air quality management area, and the city council’s 
environmental health officers have advised that at the planning 
application stage an air quality impact assessment would be 
required due to the site’s proximity to this area.  
 
The concerns about pollution for both future occupiers of the 
development and existing residents are recognised, and other local 
plan policies will ensure that the potential pollution impacts of 
development are carefully assessed. Revised Draft Local Plan policy 
PH1 explains that development will not be permitted where it would 
result in unacceptable levels of pollution or would itself be subject to 
unacceptable levels of pollution, and where appropriate, planning 
conditions or obligations will be used to ensure appropriate 
mitigation measures are put in place. 
 

12 local residents commented that development would be 
detrimental to health of residents, contrary to paragraphs 120 and 
123 of the NPPF as it would not: 
 

 Avoid noise creating an impact on health and quality of life 

 Mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on 
quality of life 

The potential noise impacts are discussed immediately above. 
 
Several criteria in the allocation policy seek to minimise the impact 
on residential amenity, for example with criterion 1 requiring that site 
access minimise any potential adverse impact on the amenity of 
residents on Hardy Grove, criterion 2 requiring the retention of public 
footpaths through the site, and criterion 8 requiring that the character 

P
age 1686



 

 Identify and protect areas of tranquillity 
 

and appearance of the adjacent Roe Green / Beesley Green 
Conservation Area is protected and enhanced. 
 
The tranquillity of the site is affected by the proximity to the A580. 
The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a strong protective policy for 
the West Salford Greenway (policy GI5), which provides an 
important area of relative tranquillity in this part of the city. 

Amenity  

Concerns were expressed with regards to the impact on amenity of 
local residents in terms of: 
 

 Traffic 

 Pedestrians passing close to properties 

 Visibility of the bridge 

 Disruption during construction 
 
It was suggested that having regard to the impact on  
 

It is recognised that the development will have some impact on the 
amenity of existing residents, in particular through the use of Hardy 
Grove for access, and the increased vehicle and pedestrian traffic as 
associated with this. The impacts would need to be assessed fully at 
the planning application stage. Policies in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan (D5, PH1) would ensure that development is designed to 
provide users and occupiers have a good level of amenity, but also 
ensure that development does not have an unacceptable impact on 
the amenity of the users of other existing developments.  
 
The concerns with regards to the visibility of the bridge are 
recognised and it is a requirement of the site allocation policy 
(criterion 1) that the bridge would be carefully designed to protect the 
character and appearance of Hardy Grove, minimise any potential 
adverse effects on the amenity of residents on Hardy Grove.  
 
Construction would be for a temporary period of time and conditions 
would be placed upon any planning permission to limit such 
disruption. 
 

Biodiversity 

Not aware of any ecological constraints associated with the 
allocation, other than those highlighted within the policy (GMEU). 
 

Comments noted. 

P
age 1687



 

The site’s biodiversity value was noted in many of the comments, 
highlighting its features (trees, woodland, wetland, bushland etc) and 
its value as a habitat for a range of protected species (in particular 
bats and various bird species).  
 
It was suggested that the site’s wildlife value (including whether the 
standing water and hedgerows are priority habitats which need 
protecting) should be assessed, and it was considered that Peel’s 
Habitat and Protected Species survey from 2014 was inconclusive 
as to whether important species inhabit the site (individuals).  
 
Concerns were expressed with regards to the impact the 
development of the site would have on wildlife, in particular damage 
to:  

 brooks and ponds (individuals)  

 semi-leaved broadleaved woodland (individuals) 

 the linear walkways (individuals)  

 priority habitats (individuals)  

 historic lime trees (individuals) 

 trees which provide a buffer from pollution (individuals)  
 
The need to incoporate green infrastructure into the site was also 
highlighted (individual) 
 

A number of ecological constraints have been identified on this site 
which will require further surveys at the planning application stage 
before development comes forward. This would be used to inform 
the design and layout of the development and identify any 
appropriate mitigation measures.   
 
Criterion 7 of the site allocation policy explains that development 
would need to protect the features of most importance, including the 
pond in the southern part of the site and the semi natural 
broadleaved woodland and also maintain the ecological connectivity 
of the recreation route which runs along the site’s southern 
boundary. Development would also be required to incorporate other 
green infrastructure to ensure that wildlife can move through and 
around the site. 

Development would be contrary to Section 11 of the NPPF 
(Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) (individual). 
 

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure which will 
worsen as a result of new development. In particular schools are 
overcrowded / full, whilst doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, 
bus services and leisure facilities will be affected. Consideration 
should be given to investment in local amenities (individuals, and 
Friends of Roe Green). 
 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 

P
age 1688



 

important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers 
 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 

P
age 1689



 

Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 
Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 

P
age 1690



 

maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres. 

 

Any development of the site must include appropriate section 106 
arrangements (individuals).  

Section 106 requirements will be sought in line with Revised Draft 
Local Plan policy PC1 where a development would result in a 
material increase in the need or demand for infrastructure, services, 
facilities and/or maintenance. 
  

Flood risk  

Comments highlighted the flood risk issues on the site, noting that 
parts of the site and surrounding area as are in flood zones 2 and 3 
and identifying the following locations within the site as being 
particularly prone to flooding:   
 

 The eastern end of the site  

 A marshy area which flows to a new pond at the foot of the 
embankment on the loopline adjacent to Hardy Grove  

 The culverts along the loopline adjacent to Lumber Lane  

 The brook (with debris blocking the culvert)  
 
It was observed that the land provides a soakaway at times of high 
rainfall. Its development could lead to the discharge of further water 
to the watercourse, leading to flooding in existing areas of flood risk.   
 

Although most of the site is understood not to be at risk of flooding, 
there are flood risk issues in three small areas of the site: the 
channel of Kempnough Brook in the west of the site (which is in 
flood zone 2 (medium probability) and flood zone 3 (high 
probability)), the eastern corner of the site (which is in flood zone 2) 
and an area of surface water flood risk in the centre of the site. The 
Revised Draft Local Plan site allocation policy has been expanded to 
better reflect the known flood risk issues on the site, and ensure that 
development takes a comprehensive and coordinated approach to 
managing fluvial, reservoir and surface water flood risk on the site 
and avoids built development in the small area of the site which is in 
flood zone 3 (criterion 4). The policy continues to require that any 
flood risk associated with the Kempnough Brook is mitigated.  
 
If the site is developed, the surface water on the site will need to be 
managed in line with the surface water hierarchy detailed in Revised 

P
age 1691



 

Draft Local Plan policy WA6. This policy has been amended to 
include a much clearer and more prescriptive hierarchy for dealing 
with surface water and will have an important role in minimising the 
amount of surface water runoff and discharge from development 
sites across the city.  
   

Mitigation measures to deal with flooding are vague and lack 
specifics (individuals).  

The most appropriate mitigation measures will depend on the 
precise design and layout of the development, and so it is not 
appropriate to be more specific in the allocation policy. A site-
specific flood risk assessment would be required at the planning 
application stage which would consider all types of flooding and the 
relationship between them in identifying appropriate mitigation 
measures.  

Green Infrastucture 

Site is located outside of the Green Belt and not affected by any 
insurmountable environmental or technical constraints that would 
restrict its development over the plan period (Peel Holdings).  
 

Comment noted.  

Several of the comments objected to the loss of green space, 
highlighting its value to the local area, how well it is used 
(walking/exercise), and more generally the importance of local green 
spaces for:  
 

 Health and well being  

 Future generations 

 Social interaction  

 Children’s development  
 
(individuals, Barbara Keeley MP, Salford City Council Conservative 
Group, individuals, Friends of Roe Green) 
 

Salford’s greenspace audit does not identify the site at Lumber Lane 
as having an existing open space use as there is no permitted 
access by right to the site other than the public rights of way. 
However the Roe Green and Tyldesley Looplines on the eastern and 
southern boundaries respectively are strategic recreation routes 
which connect to other routes and provide natural greenspace. The 
surrounding area has good access to a range of other open spaces 
most notably Worsley Woods (local nature reserve), Parr Fold Park 
(district park) and Roe Green (equipped play area and amenity 
space) as well as a range of local sports facilities. Criterion 2 of the 
site allocation policy requires that public footpaths through the site 
are retained. 

P
age 1692



 

Some of the comments suggest that the development of the site is in 
conflict with the NPPF:  
 

 Paragraph 74 - criteria for when open space could potentially 
be built upon are not met. The site is not surplus to 
requirement and forms part of the Greenway. The loss would 
not be replaced by equivalent or better provision.  

 Paragraph 110 - which directs plans to allocate land with the 
least environmental/amenity value.  

 Section 8 (promoting healthy communities) - the loss of a 
large area of public open space  

Salford’s greenspace audit does not identify the site at Lumber Lane 
as having an existing open space use, therefore the criteria of 
paragraph 74 of the NPPF (now paragraph 97) and saved policy R1 
of Salford Unitary Development Plan would not be applicable. 
Lumber Lane is considered to form an appropriate infill site. 
 
In allocating the site the city council has considered the 
environmental and amenity value the site currently performs, 
alongside other elements of the NPPF including delivering a wide 
choice of high quality homes. The site has been allocated in order to 
contribute to a good mix of dwellings coming forward across the city 
(in terms of the balance between houses and apartments) helping to 
meet a diverse range of needs. The policy sets out amenity / 
environmental mitigation measures, whilst policy BG3 of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan requires that all new development shall deliver a net 
gain in biodiversity value. 
 

Alternative uses were suggested for the site including:  
 

 Retain as local natural greenspace 

 Utilise as a key recreation area or for football/rugby 

 Local greenspace (consider that it meets the criteria)  

 Declared common land and given to the local people of the 
area  

 
(individuals)  

Salford’s greenspace audit does not identify the site at Lumber Lane 
as having an existing open space use as there is no permitted 
access by right to the site other than the public rights of way. The 
surrounding area has good access to a range of open spaces 
including local sports facilities. The shape and location of the site 
means that it is unlikely to be suitable for additional sports uses. 
 
The land north of Lumber Lane has been assessed as not meeting 
the criteria for Local Green Space designation. The city council is 
also not aware that the site would meet the criteria for being 
designated as common land and it is unlikely that the landowner 
would gift the site for public use. It is considered to form an 
appropriate infill site, close to the Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided 
busway, and hence its proposed allocation is retained in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan as policy H3/16. 
 

P
age 1693



 

Comments were made that the proposed development would be 
detrimental to the looplines for the following reasons: 
 

 A bridge will damage the loopline and its embankments (with the 
embankments forming part of the character of the looplines, 
reminding people of former use as a railway) 

 Development would reduce amenity for users of the loopline 

 Any bridge across the loopline would be unsightly 

 The loopline is used by cyclists, joggers and walkers (including 
those going to Walkden High School) and would be decimated 
 

It is recognised that the looplines are important to communities, both 
in terms of the recreation opportunities they provide and their 
contribution to the character and attractiveness of some of the city’s 
residential areas. The Tyldesley and Roe Green looplines would 
continue to be protected as a strategic recreation routes. The 
introduction of bridge over the loopline would require very careful 
consideration at the planning application stage and the site 
allocation policy is clear that the bridge will be carefully designed to 
protect the character and appearance of the area and maintain the 
quality of the recreation route (criterion 1).  

Brownfield sites and and vacant former employment sites should be 
developed rather than loosing another green area (Barbara Keeley 
MP). 

The delivery of housing on brownfield land within the existing urban 
is being maximised as far as possible. The NPPF at paragraph 117 
states that strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for 
accommodating objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as 
much use as possible of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ land. 
Having regard to this, policy H9 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
states that residential development will be directed towards 
previously-developed land, with a target that at least 80% of new 
homes should be on such land, with a strong focus on the City 
Centre, Salford Quays and the surrounding areas. 
 
Whilst the emphasis in the Local Plan is to focus the vast majority of 
new dwellings on previously developed land, a small number of 
greenfield sites are proposed to be allocated in the Local Plan to 
enable a good mix of dwellings to come forward in sustainable 
locations. The site offers the opportunity to diversify housing 
provision in the area without utilising Green Belt. 
 

The integrity of Worsley Woods which is a local nature reserve would 
be affected (individuals).  

Worsley Woods Local Nature Reserve is located approximately 80m 
from the south end of Hardy Grove and physically separated from 
the site allocation by residential properties on Greenleach Lane and 
Lumber Lane. Whilst it is not considered likely that this would 
constrain the site’s development, the impact on the nature reserve 

P
age 1694



 

would need to be considered through an ecological appraisal at the 
planning application stage.  
 

Heritage  

Development of the site will impact on the setting of, and views from, 
the conservation area at Roe Green/Beesley Green, would not 
preserve its character and would lead to the loss of a physical barrier 
between the conservation area and the rest of the urban area 
(individuals). 

The proposed development of the site could potentially result in 
some minor harm to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area (especially if the proposed amendment to the 
boundary as set out in the Draft Conservation Area Appraisal is 
adopted, which would incorporate Hardy Grove into the conservation 
area), with the level of harm depending upon the design of the 
proposed road bridge.  However it is considered that the issue of this 
potential harm has been adequately identified and addressed within 
the Local Plan policy, and would be outweighed by the benefits of 
providing the new homes. More detailed mitigation measures would 
be considered through any future planning application submission 
 

A number of individuals commented that the proposed development 
would be contrary to the 2016 Conservation Area appraisal for Roe 
Green/Beesley Green as: 
 

 The appraisal identified Hardy Grove as land that should be 
included in the conservation area due to the houses being of 
historical significance and epitomising the character of the area; 
this received unanimous support 

 Any junction improvements / road widening at Hardy Grove 
would have a negative effect 

 The appraisal identifies rat-running as having a negative impact 
on the Conservation Area; the increase in traffic associated with 
any new development would worsen this impact 

Hardy Grove continues to be proposed for inclusion within the 
conservation area. Criteria 1 and 8 of the site allocation policy 
recognise the importance of ensuring that the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and Hardy Grove are protected 
and enhanced. The design of any junction improvements and new 
bridge across the loopline would need to reflect this. The new bridge 
would be likely to have some adverse impact on the conservation 
area, for example as a result of the loss of some trees along that 
part of the loopline and the change in character of Hardy Grove from 
a cul-de-sac to a through road to the new development, but for the 
purposes of paragraphs 193 and 196 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework this is considered to constitute ‘less than substantial 
harm’ and to be outweighed by the benefits of the development. 

The loss of the site would be harmful to the character of the area, 
contrary to the council’s vision to make Worsley one of the most 
desirable places to live in Greater Manchester (individuals and local 
councillor). 
 

See immediately above in relation to heritage issues. The broader 
character of the area would not be adversely impacted significantly 
by the development of the site. The policy requirements for its 
development should ensure the delivery of a high quality scheme 
and the retention and enhancement of important green infrastructure 
features, providing good homes in a high quality setting and close to 

P
age 1695



 

public transport that will support the area’s desirability as a 
residential location. 

Impact on grade 2 listed house opposite Hardy Grove (individual). It is noted that Littlewood and Sisley including the adjoining Stable 
block (Grade II listed) are located 12m from the proposed access 
into the site off Hardy Grove on the opposite side of Lumber Lane. 
However, owing to its location and orientation, it is not considered 
that the site contributes to the setting and significance of Littlewood 
and Sisley cottages in any way. 
 

Highways 

Individuals and a local councillor objected to the use of Hardy Grove 
as an access to the proposed development site for the following 
reasons: 
 

 The road is a quiet cul-de-sac not designed for through traffic. 

 At least 240 vehicle movements would have a tremendous 
impact and lead to safety issues (including vulnerable residents, 
disabled and children) 

 The road and footpaths are narrow and do not meet the council’s 
design criteria /UV Adoption Guide. Widening would be required  
leading to the loss of the grass verge and trees; 

 Pavements would need to be widened for safety if traffic flow 
increases; 

 Cars parked on driveways overhang the pavement. On street 
parking would make access to the site impossible (and impact on 
other vehicles such as waste disposal and emergency vehicles); 

 Alternative access options should be explored and consulted 
upon, in line with Transport Guidance for Transport Assessment 
2007 (updated in 2014).  

 The bus stop at corner of Hardy Grove and Lumber Lane would 
need to be relocated; currently when a bus stops it blocks the 
entrance to Hardy Grove 

 Junction of Hardy Grove and Lumber Lane is dangerous due to 
limited visibility, compounded by people parking at junctions 

It is recognised that the use of Hardy Grove for access to the site 
allocation presents concerns for local residents. The construction of 
the bridge across the recreation route is likely to result in the loss of 
some mature trees and the use of this route for access would result 
in some changes to the appearance of the street, and to the parking 
arrangements on it, as discussed below.   

The carriageway, footway and verge on Hardy Grove are considered 
to be sufficiently wide to accommodate access to the proposed site 
allocation and there is sufficient visibility at its junction with Lumber 
Lane provided the bus stop to the left of Hardy Grove is relocated. It 
is noted that there is on street parking along Hardy Grove. In order for 
this route to be used as the main access route to the site, a traffic 
regulation order would be required to restrict parking, however it is 
considered that appropriate parking provision for residents could be 
retained.  
 
There are limited options in terms of site access, and Hardy Grove is 
considered to provide the most appropriate access route. Other 
options have been considered and discounted: 
 

 The Coppice: due to insufficient road widths and the need to 
cross an extensive area of woodland to access the site 

 The A580 East Lancashire Road: an additional access point 
in this location would present operational issues due to the 

P
age 1696



 

 Work to facilitate access to the site (including a bridge) could not 
be undertaken safely or without significant detriment to residents 
of Hardy Grove 

 The head of the cul-de-sac is lined by mature lime trees 

 Increased potential for crime and anti-social behaviour with 
access roads being notorious for increasing incidences of 
criminal damage and burglary (individual). 
 

proximity of the existing A575 junction and also the impact on 
the operation of the bus lane.   

 
As discussed in response to some of the other comments, The 
development of this site would need to be supported by a transport 
assessment, which would consider in detail the capacity of the road 
network and junctions, the additional trips generated by the 
development, safety implications of the development and mitigation 
measures where applicable. This would be undertaken at the 
planning application stage.  
 

A significant number of the comments highlighted that traffic/ 
congestion is a big problem in the local area, with many roads and 
junctions operating at capacity and raised concerns that the 
development of the site would exacerbate this. Comments 
suggested that an increase in traffic would be contrary to section 8 of 
the NPPF (Promoting health communities).  
 
Key issues and problem areas identified include: 
 

 Motorway junctions (congestion/capacity)  

 A580 to Manchester (congestion) 

 A575 Walkden Road (congestion/junction)  

 Worsley Brow approaching junction 13 of the M60 

 Hardy Grove (congestion/junction)  

 Greenleach Lane (congestion/junctions/speed limit)  

 Lumber Lane (congestion/junction)  

 Old Clough Lane (congestion) 

 Roe Green (limited permeability)  

 Impact of school traffic/parking on some roads (Lumber 
Lane/Greenleach Lane)  

 Rat running to avoid Walkden Road 

 Traffic impacts of the busway  

The development of this site would need to be supported by a 
transport assessment, which would consider in detail the capacity of 
the road network and junctions, the additional trips generated by the 
development, safety implications of the development and mitigation 
measures where applicable. This would be undertaken at the 
planning application stage.  
 
With regards to the concerns about the capacity of the wider 
network, the potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. Highways England’s North West Quadrant 
Study is looking at strategic changes to the motorway network 
between junctions 8 and 18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the 
conclusions, and proposed actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

P
age 1697



 

 Safety for road users, pedestrians, cyclists and children 
walking to school 

 
(Barbara Keeley MP, Friends of Roe Green and local residents). 
 
Barbara Keeley MP commented that: 

 The introduction of M60 Smart Motorway scheme will not 
resolve acute traffic congestion and identified a lack of short 
to medium term solutions to address traffic issues, 
highlighting the recent increases in traffic on Salford’s roads.  

 Manchester NW Quadrant Study identified: future 
development will compound existing problems; majority of 
M60 between junctions 8 and 18 fall within worse 10% of 
national motorway for journey time reliability; lack of 
alternative routes if incident on the motorway; problems will 
worsen over next 20 years even taking into account planned 
improvements to motorway and public transport; and 
transport problems will hinder economic growth and Northern 
Powerhouse aspirations. 

 New large scale developments will exacerbate the issues 
 

Public transport  

A number of issues were raised with regards to the capacity of the 
city’s public transport: 

 Capacity of bus services generally  

 Overcrowding on the V1/V2 buses by the time they reach the 
Walkden road stop. Buses don’t stop due to being full.  

 To get to the V1/V2 stop to Manchester is 0.33km and 
requires crossing the loopline and walking up 45 steps – not 
accessible to older people or wheelchair /pushchair users. 
Also isolated and unsafe for young /older people 

 
(individuals) 

The development of this site would need to be supported by a 
transport assessment, and this would include an assessment of the 
capacity of public transport in the area. This would be undertaken at 
the planning application stage.  
 
Policy A5 of the Revised Draft Local Plan positively supports 
measures to improve the capacity public transport services, 
including the further expansion of rapid transit routes. Whilst these 
broad objectives are supported in the Local Plan, Transport for 
Greater Manchester will have a central role in identifying and 
securing improvements in public transport infrastructure during the 
plan period.   
 

P
age 1698



 

Housing 

The allocation will provide high quality family housing in a strong 
market area to attract and retain higher income families (Peel 
Holdings). 

Comments noted.  

There would only be limited requirements for affordable housing as 
part of any development (individual). 
 
Houses built will not be affordable given the house prices in the local 
area (individuals). 

Having regard to the requirements of policy H7 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan there will be a requirement for 50% of the houses to be 
provided as affordable housing. These would include social rented, 
affordable rented and shared ownership dwellings. 

 

Development of the site will lower local house prices (individuals). House prices are not a material consideration in planning decisions, 
but there is no evidence that high quality new homes have an 
adverse impact on existing house prices. 

The density per hectare appears high when compared to allocations 
H3/1 (land east of Boothstown) and H3/2 (land west of Boothstown) 
and should be looked at carefully (individual). 

The gross densities of allocations H3/1 (land east of Boothstown) 
and H3/2 (land west of Boothstown) of the Draft Local Plan were 10 
and 15 dwellings per hectare respectively. The gross density of the 
Lumber Lane allocation (H3/16) is 16 dwellings per hectare. The 
density of development is therefore slightly higher on the Lumber 
Lane allocations than the two others referred to by the respondent. 
 
The density of 10 dwellings per hectare on land east of Boothstown 
was a result of this site being proposed for low density houses that 
will be of an exceptional quality, targeting the top end of the housing 
market. The density of 15 dwellings per hectare on land west of 
Boothstown reflected a significant area of flood risk in the centre of 
the site. Consideration needs to be given on a site by site level basis 
to the constraints on sites which reduces the developable area (for 
example retaining trees, the presence of watercourses, utilities 
easements etc.). Having regard to this, the developable area of 
Lumber Lane is considered to be greater than that in Draft Local 
Plan allocations H3/1 and H3/2 and a higher gross density is 
appropriate. Notwithstanding this, the gross density for Lumber Lane 
is relatively low compared to other housing sites across the city, 
reflecting the need to retain various green infrastructure features 
across the site. 
 

P
age 1699



 

The constraints to development of the site set out at paragraph 9.45 
of the RJ override the benefits of developing the site and therefore 
the site should not be allocated for housing in the Local Plan 
(individual). 

Although it is recognised that there are constraints and the 
development would have some adverse impacts, it is considered 
that these can be mitigated and are outweighed by the benefits of 
development, particularly in terms of assisting in diversifying the mix 
of dwellings that will come forward in the city. 
 

Site is not strategic in nature given it is not identified in the GMSF; 
there is no reason to include it in the Draft Local Plan as other sites 
will meet the need (individuals). 

The GMSF only allocates land that is currently in the Green Belt or 
that is a major area of protected open land on the edge of the urban 
area. The site is allocated in the Local Plan to provide certainty 
about its suitability for housing development. Its development is 
considered necessary to contribute to a good mix of housing coming 
forward across the city.  
   

The site is not needed to meet Salford’s housing needs with the 
HELAA identifying 35,727 dwellings to meet a requirement of 34,900 
dwellings. When allocations are taken into account there is a supply 
of 40,197 dwellings which is far above the requirement. There does 
not appear to be a legitimate planning explanation for this 
(individuals). 

It is accepted that the release of the Lumber Lane site is not needed 
in purely numerical terms given the supply that has been identified to 
meet the overall requirement. However, the site has been allocated 
in order to add to the mix of dwellings that is coming forward across 
the city (in terms of the balance between houses and apartments) in 
order to ensure that a diverse range of needs can be met. 
 

The site is identified in the HELAA as ‘not developable for housing or 
economic use’ (individuals). 

The HELAA shows the site as ‘not developable for housing or 
economic use’ as this reflects the current planning status of the site 
(i.e. in the saved UDP the land is identified within the Worsley 
Greenway which affords the site protection from development). 
Through the Local Plan the council is effectively removing the 
Lumber Lane site from the Greenway and allocating it for housing; 
this will change its planning status and the protection from 
development that it is currently afforded. Should the Local Plan be 
adopted with the Lumber Lane housing allocation, the HELAA will be 
updated to identify the site as being developable for new housing.  
 

No need for additional houses in the area (individuals). The allocation contributes to meeting the need for houses in Salford 
in an area where there is clearly a high demand for housing. 
  

P
age 1700



 

If the need for housing was so great then small parts of land to the 
east of Crossfield Drive should be developed (individual). 

The city council considers that land to the east of Crossfield Drive 
should be afforded protection from development. It is within the West 
Salford Greenway in Revised Draft Local Plan (policy GI5), which 
states that the Greenway will be protected and enhanced as a series 
of interconnected greenspaces of varied use and character, and 
important heritage assets, providing a major contribution to the 
identity and well-being of the surrounding neighbourhoods and west 
Salford more generally. The land east of Crossfield Drive is also 
included in the Revised GMSF as a proposed addition to the current 
Green Belt. The land at Lumber Lane is considered to be relatively 
detached from the rest of the Greenway, whereas the land east of 
Crossfield Drive is more integral to it. 
 

Utilities 

There have been issues with the gas, water and sewer systems 
around Worsley. Extra demand on the old systems will only lead to 
further bursts, further blockages, over flows, and gas leaks 
(individuals). 

There are no known utilities infrastructure constraints that would 
prevent development of this site. Consultation would be undertaken 
with the relevant organisations at the planning application stage.  

Viability 

All of the policy requirements for the site can be included in a 
masterplan for the site and are capable of being delivered by the 
proposed development of the site (Peel Holdings).  

Comments noted.  

10 local residents commented that the site is not viable for 
development if Hardy Grove is the access route. Reasons include: 

 A noise buffer will be required due to noise/air pollution from the 
A580 / M60 slip road 

 A 16m buffer (8m either side) will be required for access and 
maintenance to Kempnough Brook. There will be a need to avoid 
culverting the brook. 

 The need to avoid building anywhere near the further brook at 
eastern end of site and the existing pond. 

 Quite steep embankments on site, particularly towards the A580. 

 The considerable expense of providing a bridge over the 
loopline.  

As noted above the landowner considers that the site is viable for 
development having regard to the requirements of the policy. 
Although additional requirements have been added to the policy at 
the revised draft stage, the city council has no evidence that these 
would make the site unviable.  

Water 

P
age 1701



 

The site provides water features including the pond and Kempnough 
brook (a main river) and is of great value to the local area 
(individuals). 

Criteria 7 and 3 of the Revised Draft Local Plan (H9/12) explain that 
development will need to retain the pond in the southern part of the 
site and provide a buffer to Kempnough Brook.  
 

A 16m buffer (8m either site) will be required for access and 
maintenance to Kempnough Brook which is a main river. There will 
be a need to avoid culverting the brook (individuals). 

Criterion 3 of the Draft Local Plan stated that any development 
would need to provide an eight metre buffer either side of the main 
river running through the western part of the site, avoid its culverting, 
and protect its water quality and mitigate any associated flood risk. 
This criterion has been included within with the Revised Draft Local 
Plan (again as criterion 3) with clarification provided that the main 
river being referred to is Kempnough Brook.  
 

Potential damage to water quality, contrary to paragraph 109 of the 
NPPF (individuals). 
 
Development of the site would have to safeguard water features 
(RAID and individuals). 

An additional criterion 5 has been added to the policy requiring that 
development shall be informed by a water body assessment in 
accordance with policy WA2. This addresses issues relating to water 
quality and the safeguarding of water features.  
 

Worsley Greenway 

A number of comments considered that the site should remain 
designated as part of the Worsley Greenway, and wanted to better 
understand the reasons for not including it within this designation.  
 
Comments also suggested that the development of this site would 
fragment the Greenway and harm its character and amenity. And 
some did not agree with the council’s assessment that the site is 
‘somewhat separate from other parts of the Greenway given it is 
connected via linear walkways (individuals, local councillor)   
 
 

The site is considered to be somewhat separate / peripheral from the 
other parts of the Greenway and is regarded as having less 
significance in terms of forming part of an interconnected series of 
spaces that contribute to the character of Worsley.  

Green Belt  

The site should be afforded Green Belt protection like the rest of the 
Greenway and land to the west of Walkden Road is. It could assist in 
controlling urban sprawl between Walkden and Worsley. The loss of 
the site could lead to merging of Walkden/Roe Green.  
(individuals, local councillors, RAID) 

The site is considered to be somewhat separate / peripheral from 
other parts of the Greenway and the justification for including it 
within the Green Belt is therefore more limited.  
 

P
age 1702



 

 Land to the west of Walkden Road is considered to contribute 
towards providing separation between Boothstown, Ellenbrook and 
Worsley.  
 

Other issues 

The site should also be allocated in the GMSF for new housing (Peel 
Holdings).  
 

Given the size of the site and that it is not currently Green Belt, the 
city council does not considered it appropriate to allocate the site in 
the GMSF as well as the Local Plan.  
 

The development would be contrary to NPPF paragraph 69 which 
requires local planning authorities to create a shared vision with 
communities of the residential environment, particularly given 
comments made to the city council to a previous stage of 
consultation on the local plan (individuals). 
 

The city council welcomes all of the comments that have been 
received on the Draft Local Plan and has given them careful 
consideration. It has to balance a wide range of objectives in 
preparing the Local Plan, including the need to ensure an 
appropriate supply of new homes. The concerns of residents 
regarding the allocation are recognised, but it is considered that it 
should be possible to develop the site in such a way that any 
potential adverse impacts are limited, with the allocation policy being 
updated in the Revised Draft Local Plan accordingly. As a result, it 
has been concluded that the benefits of delivering the additional 
homes in this location would outweigh any adverse impacts. 

Bridging the old railway line will be an obstacle to the promised 
expansion of Metrolink; if trams ran from Eccles through Monton and 
Roe Green, Walkden and Farnworth to Bolton and from Bolton to 
Bury congestion would be eased considerably (individual). 

The former railway lines will continue to be protected as potential 
transport routes through the Local Plan (policy A14) and 
consideration would need to be given to this in the design of the 
bridge.   

  

Other significant changes made to policy H3/16 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy has been amended to add reference to the proposed new 
road bridge being designed to protect the character and appearance 
of Hardy Grove and maintain the quality and ecological connectivity 
of the recreation route (criterion 1).  

To highlight that the importance of the character and appearance of 
Hardy Grove will be an important consideration when considering 
the impact of the new road bridge, and the role the recreation route 
has in ecological connectivity and quality terms. 

P
age 1703



 

Reference added to high quality pedestrian and cycle connections 
from all parts of the development to the adjacent recreation routes 
(criterion 2). 

To ensure that the development is fully linked in with the recreation 
routes. 

Additional text to require a comprehensive and coordinated 
approach to flood risk and avoid built development in flood zone 3 
(criterion 4).  

To provide further details on what is required from a flood risk 
perspective.  

The policy has been amended to add reference to development 
being informed by a water body status assessment in accordance 
with policy WA2 (criterion 5). 

To reflect the fact that there are water bodies on the site.  

Reference added to addressing issues of land instability associated 
with former mining activity on the site as part of the development 
(criterion 6).  

To ensure that residents would not be affected by land instability 
issues.  

Reference added to the pond in the southern part of the site being 
enhanced (rather than just being retained as in the Draft Local Plan) 
(criterion 7) 

The pond is currently in a poor condition so therefore it should be 
enhanced as part of the development as part of an overall strategy 
for delivering net improvements in biodiversity and green 
infrastructure.  

 

P
age 1704



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H4/1 DUNCAN MATHIESON PLAYING FIELDS, CLAREMONT 

(The policy reference has been changed to H9/13 in the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Biodiversity 

Not aware of any ecological constraints associated with the 
allocation (GMEU). 

Comments noted.  

The fields are important for wildlife, for example used by bats for 
foraging. The ecological value of the site needs to be assessed 
(individuals)  
 

The hedgerows located around the site’s boundaries are identified 
as the most important ecological feature on the site, and the Revised 
Draft Local Plan policy has been amended to require that these 
hedgerows are retained and enhanced as part of the development. 
The city council is not aware of any specific species constraints on 
the site, although the hedgerows and watercourses around the site’s 
edges are both potential routes for species movement.  
  

There is Japanese Knotweed on the site (individual). 
 

The presence of Japanese knotweed is noted in three locations on 
the site (two on the eastern perimeter and an area in the south west 
of the site). Appropriate measures would need to be taken in 
handling the soil from areas where Japanese knotweed is present 
and it would be appropriate to address this at the planning 
application stage through a planning condition.  
 

Greater Manchester Trust for Recreation (formerly Boys and Girls Clubs of Greater Manchester) 

There were comments from indvidiauls regarding site ownership and 
protection, specifically the recreation covenant, the fields being in 
Trust, house deeds stating no built development, and residents’ 
rights. 
 

The freehold to the site allocated in the Draft Local Plan is owned by 
Greater Manchester Trust for Recreation, formerly known as the 
Boys and Girls Clubs of Greater Manchester. The Revised Draft 
Local Plan extends the allocation to include the adjoining city council 
land to the east. As an open space the site is afforded some 
protection by saved UDP Policy R1 which will be replaced in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. The city council is aware of covenants and 

P
age 1705



 

other suggested protections for the site, which will need to be fully 
evaluated as part of future detailed feasibility studies.   
 

Flood risk and water quality 

Any proposals must retain open space of a minimum of 8 metres 
width adjoining the main river watercourse (Folly Brook) and access 
through the site to reach the watercourse must also be provided 
(Environment Agency). 

The policy has been amended to require that any built development 
on the site provides an eight metre buffer to the main river to the 
south west of the site and maintains access through the site to reach 
the river (criterion 3).  
 

Folly Brook runs paralell to Oxford Road (individuals). Criterion 3 requires an eight metre buffer to the brook and 
assessment if any associated flood risk. 

The drainage of the site is poor as a result of lack of mainteneance, 
is subject to flooding and a rising water table (individuals).  

There is potential for surface water flooding to occur on the site and 
therefore the site allocation policy explains that any built 
development on the site should incorporate sustainable drainage 
features to mitigate this risk (criterion 2). 

Community Infrastructure 

Insufficient capacity of existing community infrastructure which will 
worsen as a result of new development. In particular schools, 
doctors, dentists, hospitals, local shops, bus services and leisure 
facilities will be affected (individuals). 

It is noted that many of the comments regarding the site allocations 
have expressed concerns with regards to the capacity of the city’s 
existing infrastructure to meet the additional demands generated by 
further development. The scale of additional housing proposed in the 
Local Plan will increase the pressure on existing facilities, and 
ensuring that new housing developments support improvements to 
the quality and where needed, capacity of these facilities will be 
important. Some amendments have been made to policies in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan to address these issues, as detailed below:  
 

 Community facilities: A new criterion has been added to 
policy H1 (criterion 2) to state that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for Salford over the period 2018-37 is to 
develop sufficient community facilities (such as schools and 
health services), transport infrastructure and green 
infrastructure to serve new housing developments and their 
occupiers 
 

P
age 1706



 

 Health facilities: Policy HH3 Provision of health and social 
care facilities (previously policy HH1 in the Draft Local Plan) 
has been expanded to explain that the city council will work 
with health care providers to ensure that the capacity of 
health facilities (such as GPs and dentists) increases in line 
with the growing population, and to direct developers to 
engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 
requirements associated with development. Developments of 
300 or more dwellings will be required to incorporate health 
care facilities as part of the development unless provision can 
be made elsewhere within the local area.  
 

 Schools: Whilst policy ED3 Residential developments and 
school places (previously policy ED2 in the Draft Local Plan) 
remains largely unchanged from the Draft Local Plan, it is 
clear that residential developments will enable an increase in 
school places where there is a projected shortfall, so as to 
avoid overcrowding in schools or students having to travel 
longer distances to school. This will generally be through a 
financial contribution to the expansion of an existing school, 
however in some cases developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, 
which is a requirement of some of the larger site allocations. 
Policy ED3 requires that the additional school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity.  
 

 Transport infrastructure: The focus of the local plan 
accessibility policies is to collectively promote and encourage 
sustainable travel choices through a variety of ways. It is 
essential that the significant growth in the city’s population 
over the next 20 years is not accompanied by a similar level 
of growth in the use of cars, which could have a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of Salford residents. Many of the 
policies in this chapter have been expanded and amended to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve a modal shift. 

P
age 1707



 

Securing major improvements to Salford’s public transport 
network will form an important part of this and the key 
priorities for further investment are identified in policy A5. It is 
recognised that some developments will generate the need 
for additional infrastructure and services, and where this is 
the case, policy A1 is clear that such development should be 
carefully phased alongside the delivery of the necessary 
transport infrastructure.  

 

 Leisure facilities: Policy R2 Recreation standards includes 
local recreation standards to help ensure that all residents 
have good access to recreation opportunities. All new 
residential developments will be required to support the 
achievement of these standards having regard to the 
additional demand the development will create. The 
contribution made by new residential developments may 
include the provision of new facilities and the 
improvement/refurbishment of existing facilities.   
 

 Shops: Salford’s network of town and local centres plays an 
important role in meeting the varied needs of Salford 
residents, and the local plan will continue to protect and 
enhance these centres, with a particular emphasis on 
maintaining a strong convenience retail function (i.e. the sale 
of food, drinks, newspapers etc.) within the centres so as to 
ensure that people’s everyday shopping needs can be met. 
In those areas of the city where a very large amount of 
development is proposed (e.g. City Centre and Salford 
Quays), a significant increase in retail floorspace and 
community facilities will be provided to support the growing 
population. Elsewhere in the city, the existing centres are 
considered to be the most sustainable way of meeting 
shopping needs, and more people living around these 
centres will increase their use and therefore improve the 
viability and trading conditions within the centres.  

P
age 1708



 

 

Existing provision for the 43rd Scouts Group should be protected 
(individuals).  

The policy has been amended in the Revised Draft Local Plan to 
explain that the existing scout hut on the site will be retained.  

Green Infrastucture 

There is a lack of local recreation facilities and alternative uses for 
the site were suggested including a children’s play area, community 
days and events, a local park, nature reserve or animal park. 

The city council’s playing pitch strategy (2018) identifies that there is 
a shortfall of pitches for football, rugby union and rugby league in 
Claremont and Weaste and proposes significant investment to return 
the site to active uses. The playing fields located within the proposed 
site allocation are largely disused due to poor ground conditions. 
The purpose of the site allocation is to enhance this site to 
significantly improve its overall recreational value, including through 
the provision of outdoor sports pitches, allotments and a new 
changing pavilion. The investment necessary to deliver these 
improvements is not likely to be forthcoming without some housing 
development on a small part of the overall site. The majority of the 
site will remain as outdoor sports pitches rather than other recreation 
uses, but other smaller recreation facilities could be considered if 
there is adequate support from the local community. New facilities 
such as play areas or an outdoor gym would only be supported if 
these had natural surveillance from new front facing properties as 
part of some housing development.  
 

The site should be acquired by the city council or the local 
community (individuals).  

The majority of the site allocation as proposed in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan is in the ownership of the registered charity Greater 
Manchester Trust for Recreation, but the allocation has been 
extended to include the city council land to the east. The Trust has 
indicated to the city council and community representatives that it 
intends to retain ownership of its part of the site.  
 

Individuals made comments about the value of the playing fields, 
including: 
 

 As greenspace 

 As an area for dog walking 

 Enriching health and well-being 

The purpose of the site allocation is to enhance this site to 
significantly improve its overall recreational value, particularly for 
sports use, and sensitively designed built development on the site 
could enhance its overall biodiversity value. Key features such as 
the hedgerows will be retained to assist in this.  

P
age 1709



 

For birds and wildlife 

Highways 

Development would worsen congestion on the surrounding road 
network at peak times, particularly Eccles Old Road, Lancaster 
Road, Oxford Road, Sunningdale Drive.   
 

Improvements to public transport infrastructure within the city are 
encouraged in a number of policies in the Local Plan, in particular 
the accessibility chapter. 
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 

Housing 

Object to the principal of developing the site for housing (individual). The purpose of the site allocation is to enhance this site to 
significantly improve its overall recreational value, however the 
investment necessary to deliver these improvements is not likely to 
be forthcoming without some enabling housing development on the 
site. The amount of enabling residential development permitted on 
the site has been reduced from 100 dwellings to no more than 50 
dwellings in the Revised Draft Local Plan, having regard to the 
concerns expressed by the local community. Hence there would only 
be built development on a small proportion of the site. 
 

None of the residents have been informed and feel that the 
proposals are being taken forward behind closed doors (individual). 

The Draft Local Plan which included the proposed site allocation was 
subject to public consultation between November 2016 and January 
2017. The Revised Draft Local Plan is also a consultation document 

P
age 1710



 

on which comments on the various policies are invited. Following the 
end of the public consultation on the draft plan regular meetings 
have taken place involving representatives from the Trust, city 
council and local community (Save Duncan Mathieson Group) to 
discuss the future of the site.     

Sports pitches  

The site has been used for a long time for sports activities for the 
children after school and at weekends and for football and rugby in 
recent years by local sports clubs, scouts and the wider community 
(individuals).  

Two local football clubs currently have leases to use sports pitches. 
The site was also used recently by a local rugby team for training 
purposes. The proposed allocation seeks to increase significantly its 
use for sports activities. 

The site has no changing facilities, no floodlighting and the grass 
surface is prone to flooding and requires periods of rest between 
play and accordingly are at best playable twice a week. The sports 
pitches should be retained and improved for community, club and 
school use (individuals). 
 

The city council is aware of these issues and the site allocation 
policy is seeking to deliver improvements to recreation facilities on 
the site through some limited enabling development.  
 

Any loss of any existing sports facilities / playing field will need to be 
fully justified by clear reference to the Council’s Playing Pitch 
Strategy (Sport England).  

The proposed allocation seeks to deliver a significant net 
enhancement of the sports use of the site, in accordance with the 
playing pitch strategy. Policy R1 identifies the site as one of five key 
hubs in the city for outdoor sports.  

Views of the Greater Manchester Trust for Recreation (formerly Boys and Girls Club of Greater Manchester (BGCGM)  

An alternative concept plan has been prepared for the site which 
proposes residential development, informal community parkland, 
and offsite improvements to an existing sports and recreational 
facility in Claremont and Weaste. In their representations the 
BGCGM was seeking greater flexibility within the policy to allow for 
both off-site in a ‘suitable location’ and on-site improvements to 
sports provision in Claremont and Weaste. 
 
BGCGM also objected to ceiling of 100 dwellings which is 
considered unsound, and will not deliver the improvements in 
recreation sought (BGCGM). 
 
The proposed revised draft policy wording is shown below: 

As a recreation asset which has declined, the primary objective of 
the city council is to bring the site, which is well located within an 
existing residential area, back into recreational use. It is recognised 
that a significant amount of money needs to be spent on improving 
the facilities and therefore unless an alternative funding source is 
identified it is acknowledged that some enabling development is 
required, however this should be kept to a minimum. The alternative 
approach proposed is not consistent with the council’s priorities for 
this site and would provide a high degree of uncertainty to local 
communities with regards to its future use.  
 
The amount of enabling development which would be permitted on 
the site has been reduced in the Revised Draft Local Plan so that it 

P
age 1711



 

 
“H4/1 Duncan Mathieson playing fields, Claremont (10 hectares) 

 
The site is considered suitable for residential development. 
Recognising that the sites last use was for outdoor sport and 
recreation, any development proposal will need to ensure equivalent 
or better provision is made in a suitable location. Such a location 
may involve on site provision but may also entail off site provision by 
way of qualitative improvements to other sites within Claremont and 
Weaste. In the event that on site provision is made the layout of the 
recreation facilities, features such as floodlights and vehicular 
access arrangements will all be carefully controlled to ensure that 
there is no significant adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding 
residents, particularly in terms of potential noise and light pollution. 
The site design should also incorporate sustainable drainage 
features to mitigate the fluvial and surface water flood risk affecting 
the site.” 
 

does not exceed 50 dwellings (in the Draft Local Plan it was 
proposed that up to 100 dwellings would be permitted). This is 
considered sufficient to enhance the site’s recreation value whilst 
taking into account local residents’ concerns about built development 
on the site and the likely views of Sport England. 
 

The allocation does not follow any clear or logical physical 
boundaries, which should be extened to form the combined BGCGM 
and city council land. In its present form it seeks a comprehensive 
solution to the Duncan Mathieson site yet fails to deal with the site 
as a comprehensive "whole" (BGCGM). 
 

The site allocation boundary has been extended in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan to include the city council owned land to the east.  

The part of the site owned by SCC is currently unused for any form 
of activity whilst Duncan Mathieson playing fields is mown and used 
for outdoor sports on a formal but ad-hoc irreguar basis for 
organised sports (BGCGM) Salford Playing Pitch Strategy & Action 
Plan published in October 2015 describes both the land owned by 
BGCGM and that owned by the Council as "disused". There is no 
evidential basis which demonstrates the need to retain and improve 
Duncan Mathieson playing fields, particuarly if other improvements 
are made in the local area (BGCGM). 
 

It is understood that the city council land has worse ground 
conditions than other parts of the site which has prevented use over 
a number of years. Previous feasibility studies have indicated that 
significant investment would be required if this area was to be 
reinstated but that these pitches would remain of low quality, 
allowing only limited use, and would be expensive to maintain. The 
city council’s playing pitch strategy (2018) identifies that there is a 
shortfall of pitches for football, rugby union and rugby league in 
Claremont and Weaste and proposes significant investment to return 
the site to active uses. The playing fields located within the proposed 
site allocation in the Revised Draft Local Plan are largely disused 

P
age 1712



 

due to poor ground conditions. The purpose of the site allocation is 
to enhance this site to significantly improve its overall recreational 
value, including through the provision of outdoor sports pitches, 
allotments and a new changing pavilion. 
 

The city council misinterprets the criteria within paragraph 74 of the 
NPPF that are relevant to the site. The paragraph does not place a 
total prohibition upon redevelopment of sport pitches whether they 
are in use, disused or lapsed. Indeed the local plan policy clearly 
envisages that pitches may be developed where certain criteria are 
met; given this the Council must consider that paragraph 74 of the 
NPPF has been satisfied (BGCGM).   
 

The Revised Draft Local Plan is considered to be consistent with 
paragraph 97 of the new NPPF published in July 2018. The 
proposed allocation H9/13 is clear that limited development will only 
be accepted to generate the funding necessary to deliver the 
enhancements required.  Any loss of existing sports facilities / 
playing field will need to be fully justified by clear reference to 
Salford’s Playing Pitch Strategy (2018 update) which concludes that 
local shortfalls remain. Bringing the overall Duncan Mathieson site 
back into active sports uses will alleviate the majority of these 
shortfalls. 
 

In relation to finacial vaibility BGCGM commented as follows: 
 

 A feasibility study on the Council land confirmed that a return to 
active uses would not be cost effective / sustainable. 

 It would not be a financially sustainable proposition to seek to 
improve the pitches. The cost of maintaining any enhanced or 
improved pitch would far exceed the revenue. 

 A study by Professional Sportsturf Design [PSD] shows a 
minimum cost of circa £375,000 to provide 3 senior football 
pitches, in addition to circa £240,000 to construct a 2 team 
changing room. Thus the capital investment required is a 
minimum of £610,000, which could be reasonably estimated to 
generate an income of £1500 per annum, which would not be a 
financially sustainable model for the provision of sports and 
recreation facilities.  

 The development of artificial outdoor pitches allows for far 
greater levels of usage particularly where floodlighting is 
provided but involves far greater levels of initial capital 
investment. An all weather floodlit senior football pitch would be 

It is accepted that the site needs to be financially sustainable in the 
long-term, and that the level of investment required to enhance the 
facilities is likely to be significant.  
 
Following the end of the public consultation regular meetings have 
taken place involving representatives from the Trust, the city council 
and local community (Save Duncan Mathieson Group) to discuss the 
future of the site.  
 
It is considered that the equivalent of two artificial pitches will need 
to be part of the proposals to generate sufficient ongoing revenue to 
fund the management and maintenance of the overall site. It is 
accepted that income from grass pitches does not cover the costs of 
providing them. 

P
age 1713



 

£935,000, with the costs rising to £1,220,000 if a senior rugby 
pitch is to be provided. 

 A basic 4 team changing room and club room would cost 
£640,000 to construct whilst an affordable 4 court sport hall 
would be £2,215,000.  

 None of the given figures allow for bespoke drainage solutions, 
ground conditions inflation beyond 2Q2016 or VAT.  

 The current site generates minmal income and operates at a 
significant loss with a deficit of £19,807 in 2014/15 and £19,887 
in 2015/16. 

 Other BGCGM sites with outdoor grass pitches and a large 
indoor sports hall operate with even greater deficits.  

If residential development on the playing field was to be acceptable, 
this could be a vehicle for the delivery of actions in the Playing Pitch 
at locations including at De La Salle Sports Club and Oakwood Park 
BGCGM would be willing to work with the owners of these existing 
facilities  deliver demonstrable qualitative improvements (BGCGM). 

The city council does not support the level of housing development 
proposed by the Trust, particularly as it would involve significant loss 
of playing fields. The latest update of Salford’s Playing Pitch 
Strategy (2018) demonstrates that there remains a shortfall of 
pitches for football, rugby union and rugby league in Claremont and 
Weaste which can be partly alleviated by returning the majority of 
Duncan Mathieson to active sports uses. Qualitative improvements 
will also be sought at other local sites but improvements to these 
sites in isolation would not justify the loss of Duncan Mathieson. 
 

Other issues  

Debris from the bombing of the Arndale Centre is buried at the fields 
(individual). 

If necessary, site investigations and a remediation strategy would be 
undertaken at the planning application stage.  
 

Green Belt and marsh land cannot be built on (individual). This site is not located within the Green Belt. Ground conditions 
would need to be assessed at the planning application stage, but it is 
not considered that they would prevent the implementation of the 
allocation. 
 

Development would lead to increased pollution (individual).  The planning process has an important role to play in supporting an 
improvement in the city’s air quality to assist in promoting better 
health and an improved quality of life. The Revised Draft Local Plan 
includes a new air quality chapter which outlines the various ways in 

P
age 1714



 

which the local plan can assist in securing an improvement in the 
city’s air quality, which is particularly important having regard to the 
scale of development expected to be accommodated in Salford 
during the plan period. Actions include reducing road emissions by 
minimising the need to travel and promoting the use of low and zero 
carbon emission vehicles, enhancing the city’s green infrastructure 
network and requiring development to minimise and mitigate 
pollution as far as possible. Policy PH1 is clear that development will 
not be permitted where it would result in unacceptable levels of 
pollution or would itself be subject to unacceptable levels of 
pollution. The necessary assessments would be undertaken at the 
planning application stage.  
 

An individual made reference to the 2007 Trost Report.  The city council has not been able to locate the report that is being 
referred to. 

A number of other issues were raised, including that:  

 Sport pitch bookings on the site are expensive or have been 
refused or cancelled by the management (individuals)  

 Questions regarding financial benefits to individuals and 
where the money from the sale of the other sites owned by 
the charity had gone (individuals). 

 The redevelopment of the Duncan Mathieson Playing Fields 
would provide vital funding to ensure the continued operation 
and growth of the Boys and Girls Clubs of Greater 
Manchester (BGCGM). 

 The owners have neglected the site and restricted access to 
the community so that it does not get used with the aim of 
selling the site to developers (individual). 

These are not material planning considerations. The city council is 
focusing on how best to deal with the current situation in a way that 
maximises the sporting benefits of the site for local communities. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H4/1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference to the provision of indoor recreation facilities on the site 
deleted   

It is considered that the equivalent of two artificial pitches will need 
to be part of the proposals to generate sufficient ongoing revenue to 

P
age 1715



 

fund the management and maintenance of the overall site. Indoor 
recreation facilities have been removed from the proposals as these 
would require significantly more capital funding than artificial pitches 
and would also not generate adequate income for the site. Indoor 
facilities would require additional enabling development that would 
not be supported by the local community.   
 

The site allocation in the Revised Draft Local Plan has been 
extended to incorporate the city council land to the east. 

The Draft Local Plan did not identify a proposed use for this city 
council land. This part of the site has similar characteristics to the 
adjacent land with the former playing fields being underused for a 
greater number of years due to ground conditions. The city council 
considers that it is important to identify specific uses for the site and 
its inclusion provides greater flexibility for the enabling development 
and associated recreation enhancements. Sport England has also 
indicated that they will consider the whole site as one for the 
purpose of future proposals.  

 

P
age 1716



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H4/2 FORMER SWINTON WASTEWATER WORKS AND SURROUNDING OPEN LAND, SWINTON SOUTH 

(The allocation has been deleted from the Revised Draft Local Plan).  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Air quality 

The proposed development would adversely affect local air quality, 
whilst the plan as a whole fails to identify the aggregated air quality 
of all of the proposed developments (SOSCA - Swinton Open Space 
Community Association).   

Part of draft local plan allocation H4/2 was granted planning 
permission in August 2017 for the erection of 241 dwellings 
(reference 17/70853/FUL), and construction has now started. The 
planning permission includes a legal agreement requiring the 
developer to pay a financial contribution to the delivery of a 
community park on land adjoining their housing development (which 
formed part of the Draft Local Plan allocation), and also undertake 
works on their land that will form part of the community park.  
 
Given the above, there is certainty that the Draft Local Plan 
allocation will be delivered as housing and open space as intended. 
Therefore the allocation has been deleted from the plan.  

Community Infrastructure 

There is unmet demand for primary school places in the local area; 
expansion of Monton green primary School should be considered 
(SOSCA). 
 
A new on-site primary school would exacerbate congestion and air 
pollution (SOSCA). 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Flood risk and water quality 

Any proposals must retain open space of a minimum of 8 metres 
width adjoining the main river watercourse (Folly Brook) and access 
through the site to reach the watercourse must also be provided 
(Environment Agency).  
 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Green Infrastucture 

P
age 1717



2 
 

Several comments referred to allotments on the site, with the key 
points being:  
 

 Incorporating the provision of allotments within the 
development is supported (Barbara Keeley MP, SOSCA) 

 Allotment provision should involve discussions with the 
Salford Allotment Federation (United Utilities Property 
Services). 

 Allotment provision should not adversely impact on the 
existing open space (SOSCA). 

 Clarification sought regarding the future of the existing 
derelict allotments (individual)  

 
The requirement to retain hedgerows and mature trees (criterion 5) 
should be deleted in order to provide flexibility to potentially take 
access from Folly Lane (United Utilities Property Services). 
 
Areas of the site which are not required for development or already 
protected as allotments should be designated as Local Green Space 
(Ellesmere Park Residents’ Association /individuals). 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Highways 

The only appropriate and practical access point to service the 
housing development and the school from a main road is at the 
bottom of Folly Lane (SOSCA). 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

There is a technically acceptable highway access from Campbell 
Road to the north, which has been discussed at consultation events. 
If the location of the access for the proposed housing were to 
change, this could affect viability and therefore flexibility is requested 
to the policy wording to “around” 250 dwellings (United Utilities 
Property Services). 
 

Housing 

P
age 1718



3 
 

Support was expressed for the allocation in principle (SOSCA, 
United Utilities Property Services), however a range of views were 
expressed with regards to the enabling housing development:  
 

 The housing should not reduce the quality of the existing 
public green space on Campbell Road playing fields 
(SOSCA) 

 Some considered that 250 dwellings is too many (SOSCA), 
whilst others considered that greater flexibility is required to 
enable the scale of housing to be based on viability (United 
Utilities Property Services). 

 Housing should be developed along the western side of the 
site so as to not adversely impact the existing high quality 
public green space that adjoins the site’s eastern boundary 
(SOSCA). 

 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Open space  

Some comments expressed support for the proposal to create a new 
natural greenspace subject to the design of the area (GMEU/ 
SOSCA), with specific suggestions including that :  
 

 The character and type of the new public greenspace should 
be similar to the existing area with the addition of a network 
of pathways (SOSCA)  

 New play area should be designed for younger children and 
be sited in the centre of the new housing to provide security 
(SOSCA)  

  
The need for an additional play area should be determined through a 
community consultation exercise rather than prescribed through 
policy (United Utilities Property Services). 
 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

Sports pitches  

P
age 1719



4 
 

Any loss of any existing sports facilities / playing field will need to be 
fully justified by clear reference to the Council’s Playing Pitch 
Strategy (Sport England). 

For the reasons set out above, allocation H4/2 has been deleted 
from the Revised Draft Local Plan.  

  

 

P
age 1720



 

RESPONSE TO 2016 DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H5: SIZE OF DWELLINGS  

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the revised Draft Local Plan 

Minimum proportion of bedrooms by dwelling type 

General support regarding the need for a mix of dwelling sizes in 
terms of bedrooms. However, the requirement for a minimum of 75% 
of houses having at least three bedrooms, and a minimum of 60% of 
apartments having at least two bedrooms has not been justified by 
evidence as required by paragraph 182 of the NPPF. Should 
justification not be provided the requirement should be removed from 
the policy (landowners, developers). 
 
Landowners and developers commented that the requirements are 
contrary to paragraph 59 of the NPPF which states that policies 
should not be overly prescriptive. The policy lacks flexibility to take 
into account issues such as: 
 

 site specific constraints / characteristics 

 the size of a site 

 market conditions  

 viability 

 local need 

 the mix/size of dwellings in the surrounding area  

 the demand for larger proportions of 1 bed apartments and 2 bed 
houses due to the spare room subsidy (registered provider) 

 
The requirements should not apply to specialist older persons’ 
accommodation as it is not always possible to provide a minimum of 
60% of apartments being 2 bed or more on constrained sites, and in 
mid to lower value areas where 1 bed units are more affordable and 

The revised draft plan policy has been amended to make specific 
reference to all developments delivering a range of dwelling sizes in 
terms of bedrooms. This is considered to be a reasonable 
requirement.  
 
The requirement for 75% of houses having at least three bedrooms 
that was in the Draft Local Plan has been deleted in the revised draft 
plan. This it to recognise that smaller houses can be an important 
source of housing for first time buyers given that they are more 
affordable than larger houses, and that they contribute towards the 
diversity of housing that will come forward in the city to meet differing 
needs.  
 
The requirement for at least 60% of apartments having at least two 
bedrooms has been amended in the revised draft plan to at least 
50%. This will ensure that a good mix of apartments come forward in 
the city and recognises the role that smaller apartments can play in 
meeting needs whilst avoiding an excessive preponderance of 
studios and one bedroom accommodation that is only able to meet a 
more narrow range of requirements. 
 
A requirement of 50% of apartments having at least two bedrooms is 
also the same as the longstanding requirement that has been 
successfully applied since the adoption of housing planning 
guidance in 2006 by the city council (set out in policy HOU2), which 
has ensured that a mix of apartment sizes has been delivered over 

P
age 1721



 

suitable to the local market (a developer of older persons’ 
accommodation). 
 
 

the last decade or so. Further flexibility has been added to this 
requirement, with the revised draft policy stating that a lower 
proportion of two bed apartments can be permitted where it can be 
clearly demonstrated by the applicant that smaller accommodation is 
required to meet an identified local need of acknowledged 
importance, such as the provision of affordable housing (in 
accordance with the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of 
the NPPF or any subsequent definition), housing for older people or 
other specialist accommodation. 
 

Strong objection to any requirement to provide three bedroom 
apartments (developer). 
 

There is no specific requirement in the policy or in the introduction / 
reasoned justification to the policy requiring a minimum proportion of 
apartments to have three bedrooms. However, three bedroom 
apartments will be appropriate in some schemes in order to provide 
a balanced mix of dwelling sizes in accordance with the policy. 
 

Minimum proportions with regards to number of bedrooms is ‘about 
right’ to help Salford achieve the right mix of property types (CPRE 
Lancashire). 
 

Broad support welcomed. However, the policy has been amended to 
reflect other comments received to it with regards to flexibility, with 
the removal of the minimum proportion of three bedroom houses and 
a reduction in the proportion of apartments that need to have at least 
two bedrooms from 60% to 50%.  

Nationally described space standards 

No evidence or justification has been put forward to explain why the 
national standard is appropriate or workable in Salford, with relevant 
issues identified in the PPG having not been considered 
(developers, landowners). 
 

The size of new homes is considered to be vital in order to deliver a 
fairer and more inclusive Salford by enabling people to access 
housing with sufficient space to meet their needs and support good 
health; therefore the nationally described space standards are 
considered to be appropriate for inclusion within the Revised Draft 
Local Plan and an essential component of its strategy for delivering 
a sustainable city. The removal of the space standards would 
compromise the ability of the plan to address properly key issues 
relating to diversity of housing provision, adaptability of new housing, 
and health. 

P
age 1722



 

The current approach is overly prescriptive. If the introduction of the 
space standards is justified by the council they should be applied 
flexibly to take into account local and site specific needs and 
constraints, and to reflect the market profile of occupiers and 
investors (such as in the PRS sector) (developers, landowners). 
 
The national space standards could be guidelines but there should 
be an opportunity to present a different approach, on a case by case 
basis based on site specific factors (developer). 
 
 

The city council considers that the national space standards should 
apply to all dwellings in new build developments so as to ensure that 
homes are adaptable and flexible to changing needs. The size of 
new homes is considered to be vital in order to deliver a fairer and 
more inclusive Salford by enabling people to access housing with 
sufficient space to meet their needs and support good health; 
therefore the nationally described space standards are considered to 
be appropriate for inclusion within the Revised Draft Local Plan and 
an essential component of its strategy for delivering a sustainable 
city. Therefore this requirement has not changed from the draft plan. 
 
However, the Revised Draft Local Plan includes amendments to 
provide flexibility relating to changes of use and conversions. For 
such developments the nationally described space standards will 
only apply where practicable, having regard to the physical 
constraints of the existing buildings. In addition the policy has been 
changed so that the national space requirements do not apply to 
HMOs (they should instead conform to the council’s HMO 
standards).  
 
It is not considered that the policy should be amended any further to 
be more flexible; if there are material considerations which indicate 
that the space standards should not apply to a particular 
development these will be considered as part of the planning 
application process on a case by case basis, but such situations are 
likely to be exceptional. 
  

Comments were received from developers and landowners in 
relation to the financial viability and affordability implications of 
introducing the space standards as follows:  
 

 The requirements are a regulatory burden that will hinder 
marginal brownfield sites from coming forward  

 It is recognised that the council factored in the floorspace 
standards through its 2016 Residential Viability Assessment. 

It is accepted that a requirement for all dwellings to meet the national 
space standards will potentially make new homes more expensive 
due to increased build costs associated with an uplift in floorspace. 
However, at an individual property level it is not considered that 
there would be a significant adverse impact on viability, as higher 
build costs for larger properties could mostly be recovered through 
increased sales values.  
 

P
age 1723



 

However this assessment identified clear viability issues across 
Salford and so it is questionable whether all homes should be 
required to meet the standard  

 Developers have entry level 2, 3 and 4 bed properties that may 
not meet the space standards. These types of property provide a 
valuable product for those who need a certain number of 
bedrooms but who are unable to afford larger proprties.  

 It would be counterproductive if the approach was applied to 
starter homes 

 The space standards are welcomed in principle, although this will 
increase build costs above those at present by £5-£10k per 
property (registered provider) 

 

The requirements are not considered by the council to be a 
regulatory burden. Rather they are a key component in ensuring that 
new homes are of a satisfactory size to meet the needs of occupiers 
and provide benefits associated with this (such as more adaptable 
homes, better mental health etc.). 
 
The council has again factored in the floorspace standards to its 
2018 residential viability assessment that has been prepared in 
support of the Revised Draft Local Plan. It is recognised that there 
are viability issues in parts of Salford, but this is not considered 
sufficient to mean that new homes should be built at a size below the 
nationally described space standards. 
 
The standards will apply to all dwellings / tenures including starter 
homes and other affordable homes. Although it is recognised that 
the standards may make new dwellings more expensive there is no 
planning reason why affordable homes should be smaller than open 
market dwellings or provide occupiers with a lower level of amenity 
and standard of living. If there are material considerations which 
indicate that the space standards should not apply to a particular 
development these will be considered as part of the planning 
application process, but such situations are likely to be exceptional. 
 

The standards may have an impact on density contrary to the 
imperative to make the best use of land, and conflict with policies on 
housing mix (developers, landowners). 
 

Policy H6 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out the approach to 
density and requires a minimum density of 35 dwellings per hectare 
(but with significantly higher requirements elsewhere). The space 
standards are considered to be fully compatible with meeting these 
density requirements. As noted in the introduction / justification to 
the density policy, it should be possible to construct houses at 
densities up to around 70-80 dwellings per hectare.  
 
It is imperative that residential accommodation provided within the 
city is of a high quality and adaptable to changing needs. It is 
important to recognise that making the best use of land is not just 
about density, it relates also to ensuring that developments are of a 

P
age 1724



 

high quality that contributes to creating successful places where 
people want to live. The council considers that providing 
accommodation of a good size is a key part of this.  

A specialist provider of housing for older people commented that the 
space standards should not apply to the accommodation they 
provide due to: 
 

 Two bedroom apartments in their developments often being used 
for alternative uses (such a separate dining room /  study) 

 Their developments often being in highly constrained town / edge 
of centre locations 

 

The city council considers that the national space standards should 
apply to all dwellings so as to ensure that homes are adaptable and 
flexible to changing needs.  
 
It is not considered that the policy should be amended to be any 
more flexible where accommodation for older people is being 
provided; if there are material considerations which indicate that the 
space standards should not apply to a particular development these 
will be considered as part of the planning application process but 
such situations are likely to be exceptional. 
 
The space standards will not be applied to residential institutions, 
including those accommodating older people. 

The most recent HBF customer satisfaction surveys show that 92% 
of new home buyers were satisfied with the internal layout 
(developers, landowners). 
 

Recent research by RIBA (Royal Institute of British Architects)1 
based on a sample of new build homes across the country revealed 
that more than half of the new homes being built today are not big 
enough to meet the needs of the people who buy them. The space 
standards are considered to be an important way in which it can be 
ensured that new homes meet the needs and support the health of 
their occupiers. 
 

Guidelines change and so tying Salford to particular standards to 
2035, when there is every chance that such standards could vary 
over this 18 year period, may not be appropriate (developer). 

It is recognised that the space standards could vary up to by the end 
of the Revised Draft Local Plan (2037). The policy does though state 
that if the current national space standards are amended any 
subsequent standards will apply. Moreover paragraph 33 of the 2018 
NPPF is clear that local plans should be reviewed to assess whether 
they need updating at least once every five years. Reviews should 
take into account changing circumstance, or any relevant changes in 
national policy.    
 

                                                           
1 RIBA (2015) Homewise Report 

P
age 1725

https://www.architecture.com/-/media/gathercontent/space-standards-for-homes/additional-documents/homewisereport2015pdf.pdf


 

  

Other significant changes made to policy  H5 of the Draft Local Plan  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy H2 of the 2016 Draft Local Plan set out the mix of dwellings 
that would be provided in Salford over the period 2015-2035 in terms 
of houses and apartments, but it did not provide details of the 
estimated mix by number of bedrooms. In order to provide an 
indication of the size of dwellings over the plan period, Revised Draft 
Local Plan policy H5 sets out the approximate mix of dwellings by 
number of bedrooms in order to deliver the identified housing 
requirement. This is informed by forecast household type and size.  
 
Reference has also been added to the policy to state that in order to 
achieve the approximate mix, and to ensure that a good range of 
homes comes forward across the city and within individual 
neighbourhoods, all developments providing net additional dwellings 
shall deliver a range of dwelling sizes in terms of the number of 
bedrooms. 
 

In line with paragraph 61 of the 2018 NPPF which states that the 
size of housing should be assessed and reflected in planning 
policies.    

Added a sentence to the policy as follows:  
 
“When submitting planning applications for residential development 
where the nationally described space standards apply, including 
changes of use and conversions where meeting the standard is 
practicable, the applicant will be required to state the number of 
bedspaces/occupiers that each dwelling type has been designed to 
accommodate as well as the number of bedrooms and minimum 
gross internal floor area (with a separate figure for built-in storage).” 
 

The change has been made so that the city council can easily 
assess a scheme against the various space standards.  

The Draft Local Plan stated that the national space standards would 
apply to houses in multiple occupation (HMOs). The revised draft 
plan states that the nationally described space standards will not 
apply to HMOs; instead they should meet the minimum room size 

It is likely that HMOs will be fully furnished and so therefore the city 
council could not apply the national space standards to them. It is 
important however that space standards are applied to HMOs given 
the nature of the accommodation and the need to ensure that 

P
age 1726



 

and amenity standards set out in the city council’s latest published 
guidance for such properties.  

residents have a satisfactory level of amenity and space. Given that 
the city council already has published size standards for HMOs it is 
considered appropriate to apply them and any future update to them.    
  

 

P
age 1727



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H6: HOUSING DESIGN  

(The policy reference has been changed to policy D7 in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Criterion 1) Nationally described space standards 

The requirement to meet the nationally described space standards is 
objected to, in line with separate comments made to policy H5 
(developers) 
 

The size of new homes is considered to be vital in order to deliver a 
fairer and more inclusive Salford by enabling people to access 
housing with sufficient space to meet their needs and support good 
health; therefore the nationally described space standards are 
considered to be appropriate for inclusion within the Revised Draft 
Local Plan. 
 

Criterion 2) Accessible and adaptable homes 

The introduction of optional standards is supported in principle, and 
will assist in meeting the need the future housing needs of older and 
disabled persons (developers)  
 

The support is welcomed. 

The city council has not gathered evidence to explain the specific 
need for accessible and adaptable homes in Salford, as required by 
the national Planning Practice Guidance. If further evidence is not 
provided the requirement should be deleted (developers) 
 

As noted in the introduction / justification to policy D7 in the revised 
draft plan, delivering an inclusive built environment is a key 
aspiration of the Local Plan, and will become increasingly significant 
with the projected growth in the number of older people and older 
households. It will be important to enable people to stay within their 
own homes wherever possible as their needs change, rather than 
having to move to more specialist accommodation. Designing new 
homes to meet the national standard for accessible and adaptable 
dwellings will assist in this, enabling easier adaptation, and is an 
important component of delivering a fairer Salford. 
 
More detailed evidence will be published alongside the Publication 
Local Plan. 
 

P
age 1728



2 
 

Subject to evidence being provided to justify the requirement, 
developers commented that the policy should not apply to all 
dwellings. Regard should be had to: 
 

 Type and location of housing being provided 

 Local site characteristics 

 The needs or requirements of various groups (for example those 
wanting retirement homes near urban centres, apartments within 
the urban area, family / executive housing in suburban or semi-
rural locations) 

 The council’s viability evidence that shows that some areas are 
not viable with the policy burdens of the local plan (including the 
accessible and adaptable standards) 

 The impact of the standards on housing affordability, with not all 
buyers wanting the standard meaning they will pay more for 
something they do not need or desire 

 

The policy has been amended to recognise that the requirement 
may not be met where it can clearly be demonstrated this is 
impracticable due to site-specific factors.  It is considered that this 
change clarifies that there will be some flexibility in how the policy is 
applied. 
 
The cost to provide homes to the accessible and adaptable 
standards used by the city council ranges from £520 to £940 per 
dwelling depending on its type and size., and these have been 
factored into the residential viability assessment of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan. These costs are 2014 based and it is likely that they will 
reduce over time as homes built to the standard become 
commonplace. Consequently, the requirement for new 
developments to meet the accessible and adaptable standards will 
have a limited impact on development viability and housing 
affordability, when compared to the overall cost of buying a new 
dwelling. 
 
Although buyers may not need or desire the standard currently, their 
circumstances may change over time. Building to the standard will 
mean that they will be able to stay in their home, rather than having 
to move to more specialist accommodation. 
 

Criterion 4) High level of amenity for occupiers  

Policy wording or justification to explicitly state that amenity and 
pollution considerations include noise, light and vibration from traffic 
movements; and that the applicant is wholly responsible for meeting 
the costs of, and implementing, any mitigation measures required to 
ensure an acceptable residential amenity can be achieved (Royal 
Mail Group Limited) 
 

Policy D5 of the revised draft plan provides further details on issues 
of amenity and is clear that development shall provide all potential 
users with an acceptable level of amenity and ensure that it does not 
have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of the users of other 
buildings and spaces. Criteria A to H of the policy give examples of 
what amenity includes whilst there is also cross reference in the 
policy to the pollution and hazards chapter. 
    

Other issues raised  

The principle of a policy relating to housing design is supported 
(developer) 

The support is welcomed. 

P
age 1729



3 
 

 

Housing developments should have green innovation and be 
environmentally responsible as part of any mitigation, and improve 
the biodiversity of the area (local community group) 
 

Policy H1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan (criterion 7) requires that 
new dwellings are highly energy efficeint. This is expanded upon 
within policy D7 which includes a new requirement that all residential 
developments shall be designed to exceed the fabric energy 
efficiency required under Part L of the Building Regulations 2013 by 
at least 19%, and achieve a higher standard than that required by 
any subsequent revision to building regulations (criterion 5).     
 
With regards to being envionmentally responsible and improving  
biodiversity, these issues are addressed in other chapters of the 
plan, particularly the chapter relating to biodiversity.   
 

The Environment Agency commented that where new development 
is riparian in nature and adjoins a key green infrastructure asset and 
receptor the housing design should: 
 

 Be based around ‘front facing’ dwellings where development 
positively integrates with river, and minimises future pollution  
risk and or inappropriate built encroachment 

 Integrate flood storage and attenuation requirements with 
biodiversity and landscape enhancement measures, rather than 
dealing with these on a separate basis. 

 Incorporate long term conservation management/monitoring of 
the semi-natural greenspaces retained within the site and/or 
adjoining semi-natural areas 

 

It is not considered that the housing design policy in the revised draft 
plan should be amended to reflect the Environment Agency’s (EA) 
comments. However, additional criteria has been added to policy D9 
(waterside development) of the revised draft plan to require that all 
development near to Salford’s waterways shall: 
 

 Provide a high quality frontage to the waterside, offering a 
positive setting to it (criterion 1); and 

 Enhance the role of the waterway corridor within the green 
infrastructure network, including by supporting improvements to 
biodiversity, water quality and flood risk management (criterion 
5). 

 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

P
age 1730



4 
 

A new criterion has been added to the policy at the revised draft 
stage (criterion 7) to require that all residential developments shall 
incorporate provision for the secure delivery of shopping and 
parcels.  
 

To ensure that the built environment responds effectively to the 
continuing increase in online shopping, helping to avoid the need for 
repeat deliveries and hence unnecessary vehicle movements. 

A new paragraph has been added to the policy to state that the 
requirements of the policy apply to all residential developments 
including student accommodation. It goes on to cross reference the 
exceptions contained in policy H5 (Size of dwellings) of the plan for 
when the nationally described space standards apply. 
 

For clarity.  

 

P
age 1731



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: H7 AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the 2016 Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Evidence base 

The 2012 Salford SHMA is largely out of date and should be 
updated to esnure that the overall level of affordable housing sought 
and the tenure mix is justified (Home Builders Federation). 

A 2019 Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
will be published alongside the Revised Draft Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. Using the methodology in the national planning 
practice guidance, this identifies a need for 613 affordable homes 
per annum in Salford if the backlog of need were to be addressed 
over the next five years. 
 
The policy seeks a typical tenure mix of three-quarters for rent 
(evenly split between social rent and affordable rent) and one-
quarter for shared ownership, given the low and/or insecure incomes 
of most households in identified need. 
 

Tenure mix 

There should be flexibility around the tenure mix in all value areas to 
allow for providers to come forward (United Utilities Property 
Services). 

The revised draft policy is clear that a different affordable housing 
tenure mix may be acceptable where there is clear evidence this 
would help to better meet specifically identified local needs and 
address site-specific circumstances. The identification of any such 
need will be informed by discussions with the city council, and 
registered providers where they are to manage the affordable 
housing, having regard to criteria A to G in the policy. This flexibility 
applies to all value areas.  
 

Viability  

The policy should be clear that the requirements are the starting 
point for negotiation and that lower or no affordable housing may be 
appropriate where supported by the submission of viability evidence 

The revised draft plan policy sets out where reduced levels of 
affordable housing will be acceptable. This includes a consideration 
of viability in accordance with policy PC1 of the Revised Draft Local 

P
age 1732



2 
 

to reflect site specific circumstances in all of the value areas 
(developers). 

Plan, and the applicant clearly demonstrating that all practicable 
options have been exhausted for delivering the minimum affordable 
housing requirement, including by partnering with registered 
providers and accommodating affordable homes financed through 
various sources such as Homes England, investment funds and 
commuted sums from other sites. 
 

Unclear as to why the density of development correlates to viability 
(developer). 

The city council prepared a residential viability assessment in 
support of the Draft Local Plan and this has been updated for the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. As part of this, the city council has used a 
typology approach as advocated by the national planning practice 
guidance on viability. Three typologies have been assessed: family 
houses, mid density apartments, and high density apartments. The 
assessment identifies that there are clear differences in the viability 
of these development typologies, particularly for the high density 
apartments given the increased build costs associated with such 
developments. Having regard to the evidence it is considered that 
the policy requirements need to reflect the differing viability of the 
typologies (and hence why density correlates to viability).  
 

Practice suggests that the policy requirements will not be viable, and 
this should be reflected in the policy with the requirements being 
described as maxima (developer). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan affordable housing policy has been 
amended so that the proportions of affordable housing sought are 
referred to as being minimum requirements. The policy is also clear 
that developments that provide a higher level than the minimum will 
be strongly supported. These changes provide clarity that higher 
levels will be acceptable given the need for affordable housing in the 
city. Having regard to this it is not considered appropriate for the 
requirements to be expressed as maxima. 
 
Notwithstanding this, it is recognised in practice that not all 
developments will achieve the minimum policy requirements, 
primarily due to site level viability considerations including abnormal 
costs such as remediation. The Revised Draft Local Plan policy sets 
out where reduced levels of affordable housing will be acceptable. 
This includes a consideration of viability in accordance with policy 

P
age 1733



3 
 

PC1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan, and the applicant clearly 
demonstrating that all practicable options have been exhausted for 
delivering the minimum affordable housing requirement, including by 
partnering with registered providers and accommodating affordable 
homes financed through various sources such as Homes England, 
investment funds and commuted sums from other sites. 
 

Where viability assessments are being undertaken for larger phased 
developments, the viability assessments must be cumulative, so that 
the assessment for Phase 2 also considers Phase 1 and the 
assessment for Phase 3 considers Phases 1 and 2. This ensures 
that infrastructure requirements that are front loaded into a 
development form part of the viability base for the entire 
development (developer). 

It is recognised that larger multi-phased developments will have 
different viability considerations to many other sites that will come 
forward in Salford as a result of infrastructure requirements. This will 
be a material consideration in the determination of individual 
planning applications and is not considered appropriate for inclusion 
in the policy given that it will not be a common occurrence.    

On-site delivery / commuted sums  

Recognition that there will be circumstances where on-site provision 
is most appropriate, whereas in other circumstances the payment of 
a commuted sum may enable the more effective delivery of 
affordable housing to meet local needs, is supported (develoeprs) 

Support welcomed. 

Type and size of affordable housing 

Not appropriate to prescribe that the mix of affordable housing 
should reflect the mix of the wider development – there should be 
flexibility to allow for an alternative mix where supported by evidence 
from RPs (developer) 

The Draft Local Plan policy stated that a different mix of tenure, 
types and sizes may be appropriate where this would better meet 
specifically identified local needs and address site-specific 
circumstances. The policy was clear that the identification of such 
need was to be informed by discussions with registered providers.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan policy sets out when a different tenure 
mix for the affordable housing sought will be appropriate. In addition 
text has been retained so that in the first instance the type and size 
of dwellings should reflect the development as a whole. However, 
the policy also sets out when different types and sizes would be 
appropriate. This includes discussions with RPs (registered 
providers).  
   

P
age 1734



4 
 

Paragraph 9.61 which states that the mix reflecting the mix of the 
wider development is the ‘starting point’ is appropriate and should be 
incorporated into the policy itself (developer) 

The reference to the mix reflecting the development as a whole 
being a ‘starting point’ has been deleted from the justification to the 
policy (with the justification being much shorter now). This is on the 
basis that the policy is already clear that ‘in the first instance’ the 
affordable dwellings should reflect the mix across the development 
as a whole.   
 

Pepperpotting 

Developers commented that the policy wording is overly onerous 
and reference to ‘small clusters of up to ten’ should be reworded as 
follows: 
 
“"Within mixed tenure developments, the affordable dwellings should 
normally be clustered given the practicalities of managing and 
maintaining units. The amount and location of the clusters will be 
subject to negotiations with the Council. Larger clusters may be 
necessary where a high proportion of units are affordable." 
 
The policy should be amended to clearly set out that the level of 
clustering be based on individual site circumstances, including 
discussions with an RP, or market tested where an RP has not been 
formally identified (developer) 

It is not considered appropriate to delete reference to ‘small clusters 
of up to ten’ affordable dwellings. The specific reference to ‘up to ten’ 
provides clarity to developers as to the city council’s expectations on 
the issue of clustering.  
 
However, additional text has been added to refer to larger clusters 
potentially being appropriate where an identified registered provider 
considers that larger clusters are required to ensure the efficient and 
effective management of the affordable housing (see criterion i). This 
addresses part of this representation; it is not though considered 
appropriate to refer to market testing where an RP has not been 
formally identified. The policy is clear that the early involvement of 
RPs is strongly encouraged at the pre-application stage. Where an 
RP has not been formally identified then the requirement for clusters 
of up to 10 will apply, unless a high proportion of units are 
affordable. 
 

Welcomed that the Council acknowledges that in some cases it is 
not always possible to have clusters of affordable housing up to 10 
dwellings,  particularly those sites with a high proportion of 
affordable units (developer). 

The support is welcomed. 

Definitions  

Although use of affordable housing definition in the NPPF is 
appropriate, flexibility should be retained to ensure that changes to 
government policy are reflected in the local plan policy (developer) 

The Revised Draft Local Plan policy refers to the definition of 
affordable housing in Annex 2 of the 2018 NPPF. Should the 
definition change in any future iteration of the NPPF or another 
government publication, this will be a material consideration in the 
determination of any planning application.  

P
age 1735



5 
 

 

The affordable housing requirements should not be applied to 
assisted living  (extra care) developments as it would render them 
unviable (developer) 

The revised draft plan continues to apply the affordable housing 
requirements to all types of self-contained dwellings including extra 
care dwellings where they are self-contained. Where the 
requirements make development unviable then the policy specifically 
sets out when a reduced level of affordable housing may be 
acceptable in line with criteria i-iv of policy PC1 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan.   
 

Starter homes 

The policy does not provide any reference to the possible 
introduction of starter homes. It would be beneficial for interested 
parties to understand the council’s position on starter homes 
(developers) 

Policy H7 of the Revised Draft Local Plan references the affordable 
definition from the NPPF, which includes starter homes, although the 
introduction / justification to the policy and its requirements are clear 
that the priority for affordable housing in the city is for social and 
affordable rented accommodation and to a lesser extent shared 
ownership dwellings.  
 
The introduction/justification explains that, in areas where financial 
viability is more challenging, a different affordable housing tenure 
mix may be appropriate, which could potentially include the provision 
of starter homes. 
 

Other representations 

Difficult to understand how 750 home per annum will be delivered to 
meet the identified need (registered provider) 

Using the methodology in the national planning practice guidance, 
the latest evidence in the 2019 Greater Manchester Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment identifies a need for 613 affordable 
homes per annum in Salford if the backlog of need were to be 
addressed over the next five years.  
 
Meeting the need for 613 affordable dwellings per annum will be 
challenging. The affordable housing requirements in the policy have 
been increased to help maximise the delivery of new affordable 
homes. The revised draft policy is clear that the provision of 
affordable housing at higher levels than the minimum requirements 
of this policy will be strongly supported, and the council will continue 

P
age 1736



6 
 

to work with registered providers, Homes England and investment 
funds to maximise the delivery of affordable housing. 
 
The city council has recently established a local housing company in 
order to increase the number of affordable dwellings that are built 
across the city. 
  

The policy is complex and lengthy and so should be shortened or 
much of is placed in the supporting text (developer) 
 
Whilst variation in the affordable housing requirement to reflect 
viability is generally welcomed the Council should seek, wherever 
possible, to minimise the complexity within the policy (developer) 

The policy has been simplified by adopting a minimum 20% 
affordable housing requirement across most of the city, and by 
identifying a preferred affordable housing tenure mix for all sites. 
 
Nevertheless, the policy remains relatively long as it attempts to 
provide clarity for developers on a range of issues, including the 
circumstances in which it may be acceptable to deviate from these 
affordable housing policy requirements. 
 
The supporting text has however been shortened to improve 
readability. 
 

The need for affordable housing is so high due to right to buys 
(individual) 

The city council cannot prevent right to buy sales as this is a national 
policy.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy H7 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The threshold for when the policy applies has been changed from 
developments that provide 11 or more dwellings, to developments 
that provide 10 or more dwellings or where the site has an area of 
0.5ha or more. 

To reflect the 2018 NPPF.  

The introduction/justification to the policy has been substantially 
amended, including an explanation of the new minimum 20% 
requirement. 
 

To improve its clarity and to reflect changes in the policy.  

P
age 1737



7 
 

Text added to the policy regarding the artificial splitting of sites to 
avoid affordable housing policy requirements.  

To make it clear that the artificial splitting up of sites is unacceptable, 
and having regard to the implementation of the current Planning 
Obligations SPD and a separate court decision on the matter.   

A minimum 20% requirement has been introduced across the city, 
with higher requirements in the higher value areas. 

To help to maximise the delivery of affordable housing across 
Salford, to support the delivery of inclusive communities, and to 
reflect the council’s 2018 residential viability assessment.  

The policy makes reference to the requirement for affordable 
housing applying to co-living developments.  

 To recognise that co-living schemes are coming forward in Salford 
and that such developments should provide affordable housing. 

It has been made clear that the affordable housing requirements for 
build to rent schemes are set out within policy H8 of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. 

To reflect the 2018 NPPF. 

Reference has been added to affordable housing in purpose-built 
student housing developments being provided in accordance with 
policy H11 of the Revised Draft Plan. 

To promote equality of access to university education in accordance 
with the fairness theme at the heart of the Local Plan. 

In the Draft Local Plan, the requirements for land currently 
designated as Green Belt were considered to correspond to the 
premium value areas. 
 
In the Revised Draft Local Plan, the three housing allocations in the 
Revised Draft GMSF (which involve the removal of land from the 
Green Belt) have been assigned value areas based on what value 
areas the site is likely to best correspond to, having regard to its 
location and the proposed nature of the development. All other sites 
in the Green Belt will be assessed on a site by site basis having 
regard to the need to maximise delivery and factors such as viability. 
The policy has been amended to clarify this.  

To reflect comments received on the 2016 residential viability 
assessment.  

 

P
age 1738



 

RESPONSE TO 2016 DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H8: CONVERSION OF EXISTING HOUSES, AND NEW BUILD RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS OF NON-SELF-CONTAINED 

UNITS  

(The policy reference has been changed to policy H14 in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the 2016 Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Bat roosts 
 

The principle of the policy is supported but there is the potential for 
bat roosts (which are European protected species) to be disturbed. 
There is a need to ensure that development should address this 
issue (GMEU) 

Policy BG2 of the Draft Local Plan set out the approach to 
development and biodiversity. The policy stated that development 
should avoid having any adverse impact on priority habitats at the 
national, Greater Manchester or local level wherever practicable, 
and compensation provided where this would be unavoidable.  
 
Policy BG2 of the Draft Local Plan chapter has been carried forward 
into the Revised Draft Local Plan as policy BG3 and has been 
amended to include additional reference to development avoiding 
having any adverse impact on priority species at the European, 
national, Greater Manchester or local level wherever practicable with 
compensation being provided where this would be unavoidable.  
 
In addition, reference has been added to policy BG1 in the revised 
plan to state that as part of seeking a net gain in biodiversity the 
most valuable species will be protected and enhanced.  
  

  

Other significant changes made to policy H8 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Criterion 2 of Policy H8 of the Draft Local Plan set out that 
conversions would be permitted where it could be demonstrated that 

To clarify what is meant by “immediately adjacent” in the context of 
the policy.  

P
age 1739



 

the proposal would not: “Result in any house that is in use as a 
single dwelling being immediately adjacent to more than one 
property in any of the above uses.” 
 
In the revised draft plan (within policy H14) this text has been 
updated to provide additional clarity to read: “Result in any house 
that is in use as a single dwelling being immediately adjacent to 
more than one property in any of the above uses (immediately 
adjacent properties include properties directly behind and opposite, 
as well as to either side).” 
 

The reasoned justification to policy H8 of the Draft Local Plan 
referred to the city council putting in place an article 4 direction to 
require planning permission for the change of use of a 
dwellinghouse to a small HMO by the end of 2017. This has been 
removed from the introduction / justification to revised draft policy 
H14. 
  

The introduction/justification to revised draft policy H14 has been 
shortened and the level of detail relating to the HMO article 4 
direction is not considered necessary. The article 4 direction came 
into force on 25 November 2018.  

 

P
age 1740



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H9: HOUSING FOR OLDER PEOPLE  

(The policy reference has been changed to H10 in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Criterion 1) Integration with wider neighbourhood 
Criterion 2) Easy access to community facilities, local services and public transport 
 

Policy H3/4 of the Draft Local Plan allocated land for around 2,250 
new homes by 2035 at Western Cadishead and Irlam. As part of this 
criterion 1D required that the development of the site would need to 
provide a significant amount of housing targeted at older people, 
potentially including a retirement village close to a new local centre. 
 
A local community group commented that allocation H3/4 in this 
respect would be contrary to criteria 1 and 2 of policy H9 given that 
any development would be further up the moss away from existing 
community facilities (and it is not expected that older people would 
be able to walk or cycle to existing community facilities). 
      

Part of the land that was within the boundary of the Draft Local Plan / 
Draft GMSF Western Cadishead and Irlam housing allocation has 
been carried forward into the Revised Draft GMSF to accommodate 
1,600 dwellings (i.e. 650 less than at the draft plan stage)1. 
 
The Revised Draft GMSF allocation land is focussed around land to 
the north of Irlam train station with a much smaller boundary than 
that previously shown, reducing the amount of Green Belt to be 
released. Given the reduced number of dwellings from the draft 
stage, the requirement for a significant amount of housing targeted 
at older people, potentially including a retirement village close to a 
new local centre has been removed from the policy.  
 
The Revised Draft GMSF allocation requires that development of the 
site will provide a broad mix of housing with densities increasing 
towards the most accessible parts of the site around Irlam Station, 
including accommodation specifically targeted at older people. This 
approach is line with Revised Draft Local Plan policy H10 which 
requires that residential developments of over 100 dwellings shall 
incorporate housing provision specifically targeted at older people. 

                                                           
1 Note that sites involving the release of Green Belt are only set out in the Revised Draft GMSF, rather than also being in the Revised Draft Local Plan too. 

 

P
age 1741



 

 
 

Local residents commented that they were not clear where on the 
proposed H3/4 allocation a local centre (referred to at criterion 6 of 
that policy) could be located that would be in accordance with criteria 
1 and 2 of policy H9. 
 

Reference to a local centre that was set out at the Draft Local Plan / 
GMSF stage has been removed from the Revised Draft GMSF 
allocation. This is primarily on the basis that the boundary of the site 
has been amended so that many of the proposed dwellings will be in 
close proximity to the nearby Lower Irlam Local Centre. The 
additional population from the proposed development will help to 
support the vitality and viability of the Local Centre and other existing 
shops and services in Irlam and Cadishead.  
 
The reasoned justification to the policy does however recognise that 
that the proposed development site could potentially accommodate 
small scale facilities to serve local needs if identified as appropriate 
through a masterplanning process. 
 

Other issues raised  

The council is to be commended for taking a positive approach to 
provide appropriate accommodation to meet the needs of its ageing 
population in policy H9 (developer). 
  

Support welcomed.  
 

In order to provide housing for a growing elderly population there is a 
need to provide a broad range of housing including retirement 
villages with services such as restaurants, hairdressers, a range of 
tenures and types (including bungalows) (Worsley Councillors). 

Policy H1 of the Draft Local Plan sought to deliver a good supply and 
a balanced mix of dwellings across the city in terms of type, size 
tenure and affordability (criterion 1). This criterion has been 
amended in the Revised Draft Local Plan to refer to also refer to a 
good supply and mix of dwellings being delivered within individual 
developments as well as across the city. 
  
Detail on housing for older people is set out in Revised Draft Local 
Plan policy H10 which sets out how a broad range of housing 
choices will be secured for older people in Salford, and also sets out 
the criteria that would apply when determining planning applications 
for new residential accommodation specifically targeted at older 
people.  

P
age 1742



 

 
The policy also specifically requires that residential developments of 
over 100 dwellings shall incorporate housing provision specifically 
targeted at older people. This provides clarity from what was in the 
2016 Draft Local Plan which only made reference to ‘major’ 
residential developments having to incorporate housing provision for 
older people, but did not specify what was meant by ’major’.   
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H9 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Criterion A has been amended to remove the reference to “almost” 
all new dwellings being accessible and adaptable under requirement 
M4(2) of the Building Regulations. The criterion now requires that all 
new dwellings should meet the M4(2) requirement “except where 
impracticable due to site specific constraints”.   

For consistency and to reflect the change made to what was criterion 
2 of policy H6 in the Draft Local Plan (which has been incorporated 
into the Revised Draft Local Plan under policy D7).  

 

P
age 1743



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H10: GYPSIES, TRAVLLERS AND TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE 

(The policy reference has been changed to policy H12 in the Revised Draft Local Plan)  

Issue raised in the representations on the 2016 Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Bolton Council would like to discuss and receive assurance from the 
city council that sufficient sites would be allocated to meet the needs 
(as identified in policy H10) for travelling showpeople. This is in the 
context of the local plan not allocating a site or sites for travelling 
showpeople.  
 

Since the Draft Local Plan was published an updated gypsy and 
traveller accommodation assessment has been published. This 
identifies a need for 68 additional plots for travelling showpeople and 
also there will need to relocate a current site which accommodates a 
further 43 plots. The city council is continuing to work to identify a 
site or sites to meet this need.  
 

There should be a requirement for new sites for travellers to avoid 
harm to important wildlife sites or protect / enhance biodiversity 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 
  

It is not considered that it is necessary to have a specific reference 
to new sites for travellers avoiding harm to important wildlife sites or 
protect and enhance biodiversity.  Policy BG3 of the revised draft 
plan (development and biodiversity) adequately addresses the 
issues raised by this representation.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy H10 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The need figures for gypsy and traveller pitches and travelling 
showpeople plots have been updated to reflect the publication of an 
updated gypsy and traveller accommodation assessment in May 
2018.  

To reflect the publication of new evidence.  

 

P
age 1744



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY H11: PURPOSE-BUILT STUDENT HOUSING 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the 2016 Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Salford Quays campus 

Requirement to locate student housing at Salford Quays is 
supported. However area around the MediaCityUK campus has 
either been developed or is committed for other development. The 
policy should be rephrased to say that student accommodation 
should be in close proximity to the campus, where possible 
(developer)  
 

Policy H11 of the Draft Local Plan stated that “New purpose-built 
student housing in Salford should be concentrated within and 
immediately adjacent to the University of Salford campuses at Peel 
Park/Frederick Road and Salford Quays, in order to minimise the 
need to travel and maximise the vitality and vibrancy of those areas”.   
 
In response to this representation criterion B has been added to the 
policy to refer to new student housing being concentrated “In close 
proximity to the University of Salford campus at Salford Quays, 
whilst ensuring that it does not detract from the important business, 
tourism, leisure and residential functions of the area.” 
 

Amenity 

Amend policy to explicitly state that the design of purpose-built 
student accommodation should have consideration to ensuring an 
appropriate level of residential amenity can be achieved, particularly 
as policy H11 requires any new purpose-built student 
accommodation to be easily converted to mainstream residential 
accommodation should there be a future lack of demand (Royal Mail 
Group Limited) 
 

Revised draft policy D5, criterion 1, seeks to ensure that 
development shall ensure that it provides all potential users with an 
acceptable level of amenity.  

It will be important to avoid harming the residential amenity of 
existing occupiers as a result of new student housing developments 
(Historic England)  
 

In the Revised Draft Local Plan, criterion 6 of the student housing 
policy has been amended to make additional reference to student 
housing not having an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 
existing occupiers. In addition, criterion 2 of revised draft policy D5 

P
age 1745



 

(amenity) requires that development shall ensure it does not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of users of other buildings and 
spaces.  
 

Other issues raised  

Aspirations of the policy are supported as it will help to provide a 
vinbrant student quarter whilst protecting the character and 
sustainability of neighbouring areas (Salford City Council 
Conservative Group) 
 

Support welcomed.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy H11 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy title has been changed to ‘Student housing’, and parts of 
the policy have been broadened out to cover all student housing and 
not just purpose-built student housing. 

To ensure appropriate policy coverage for all student housing, and 
not just purpose-built accommodation. 

A requirement has been added to the policy for 20% of new student 
units in major developments to be in the form of affordable private 
rent, in accordance with the approach in policy H8 (Build to rent). 

To promote equality of access to university education in accordance 
with the fairness theme at the heart of the Local Plan. 

 

P
age 1746



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER 10: TOWN CENTRES AND RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (GENERAL)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

CPRE Lancashire confirm they are generally supportive of the 
policies in Chapter 10.  
 

The support is welcomed.  

Sport England have commented that it should be recognised that 
sport can contribute to the evening economy.  

The introduction/justification to policy TC1 sets out “Salford’s 
network of town and local centres plays an important role in meeting 
the varied needs of people of all ages, through the provision of a 
range of shops, services, community, leisure and employment 
opportunities, and public transport options. The centres are an 
important contributor to local identity, acting as a focal point for 
surrounding communities”. 
 
Policy TC1 has been amended setting out the role and function of 
Salford’s hierarchy of centres. This includes highlighting the 
importance of community and leisure facilities.  
 
The introduction/justification to Policy TC2 sets out that “locating 
retail and other community and leisure facilities within the City 
Centre, town centres and local centres is considered to be the most 
sustainable way of meeting the needs of Salford’s residents”.  
 
The introduction/justification to policy TC3 sets out “centres must 
also have an appropriate mix of leisure, community cultural and 
service provision, and this will be increasingly important for ensuring 
that they can generate the footfall necessary to remain attractive in 
the face of the growth of online shopping”.      
 
It is also noted that the definition of main town centre uses in the 
NPPF also includes leisure and more intensive sport and recreation 
uses.  

P
age 1747



 

 
The content of the NPPF and changes made to the town centres and 
retail development chapter are considered to address comments 
from Sport England.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to Chapter 10 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The chapter has been added to, explaining that to maintain vitality 
and viability a robust retail presence is important, but centres should 
have a wider role, complemented by a varied mix of uses including a 
strong leisure and community offer. This is in the context of changing 
shopping patterns and service delivery models, particularly with the 
growth of online retailing.  

To ensure that the chapter is fully reflective of the role of the city’s 
town and local centres.  

 

P
age 1748



  

 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: TC1 SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR DESIGNATED CENTRES 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Retail hierarchy 
 

 

The ‘city centre’ as a whole should not be designated a town centre 
within the hierarchy set out in Policy TC1. The ‘city centre’ does not 
perform the traditional function of a town centre. It has a broader role 
as an economic, tourism, cultural, education and leisure centre.  
This location should be extended and renamed as the ‘Regional 
Centre’ at the top of the hierarchy, reflecting its economic function 
and spatial extent. It should include the MediaCityUK/Salford Quays 
area (still defined as a town centre) area and Orsdall Waterfront 
(developer).  

City Centre Salford forms part of the wider City Centre extending into 
Manchester, and so it is appropriate that it sits at the top of the 
hierarchy. 
 
Salford Quays and MediaCityUK has its own distinctive character 
and identity. This is one of the area’s strengths. The Local Plan is 
clear about the importance of both the City Centre and Salford 
Quays in driving forward economic growth and tourism/ leisure 
opportunities and, whilst improved connections between the two 
locations is important, it is considered that the distinctive identity of 
Salford Quays should be emphasised rather than subsuming it within 
a larger City Centre. The designation of Salford Quays as a main 
town centre recognises its importance. 

***The following  comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
The City of Salford Community Stadium (NJL Consulting on behalf 
of) offers support to the centre retail hierarchy. However it is 
recommended that consideration be given to designating established 
‘commercial centres’, forming an additional tier in the retail hierarchy. 
This however would not negate the requirement for an impact 
assessment for main town centres uses, where floorspace proposed 
is above the national or locally set threshold.  
 
The Dumfries and Galloway Council Local Development Plan 
includes an approach that could be taken. Policy ED6 sets out  

The support given to the centre retail hierarchy is welcomed.  
 
A comprehensive review of existing centres and other clusters of 
main town centre uses has been undertaken as part of the town and 
neighbourhood centre review. The reasons for designating centres 
and any changes to boundaries / hierarchy of existing centres in the 
adopted Unitary Development Plan are set out in this report.  It is not 
considered appropriate, for the reasons set out in the town and 
neighbourhood centre review to designate other clusters of main 
town centre use over and above those set out in Policy TC1. 
 
However, Policy CT3 (Land around AJ Bell Stadium, Irlam) identifies 
a number of specific uses deemed to be appropriate within the 
allocation boundary in order to develop the area’s tourism role. This 

P
age 1749



  

 

A Policy example in Dumfries and Galloway proposals for new 
retail/leisure development outside an identified town centre must 
demonstrate that a sequential assessment has been made of the 
following locations: town centre; edge of town centre; other identified 
commercial centres; and out of centre locations.     
 

includes hotels; food and drink; leisure facilities; and comparison 
goods shops where there would be no significant adverse impact on 
vitality and viability of designated centres. 
 
Therefore, other than shops, proposals for the uses listed in the 
policy would generally be in accordance with an up-to-date plan and 
no sequential assessment would be required. Retaining the 
sequential approach for other types of shops is important for 
ensuring that any retail-based tourism role for the site does not come 
at the expense of the successful functioning of existing centres on 
which local residents rely. 

Salford Quays 
 

The designation of Salford Quays as a town centre is supported 
(developer and residents association) and the boundaries are 
considered to be appropriate (residents association).  

The support is welcomed.  
 
See below reasons for amending proposed boundaries.  
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
There is concern that the town centre designation will make part of 
Trafford Wharfside covered by Trafford Council Core Strategy Policy 
SL2 ‘edge-of centre’ and this could be used to justify significant retail 
development in Trafford Wharfside. The council deems this contrary 
to Core Strategy Policy SL2 which sets out in the MediacityUK area 
an appropriate scale of supporting retail and community uses can be 
delivered.  
 
The Manchester Ship Canal should be considered the logical extent 
of the town centre and a natural barrier to what would be considered 
edge of centre. Normal policies in terms of edge-of-centre should not 
apply here. It is requested that wording is added to the town centre 
policies to reflect that new retail floorspace can be met entirely within 
the proposed town centre boundaries (Trafford Council).  
 

No changes are made in response to these comments.  
 
It is not considered appropriate to give direction on the use of land in 
an adjoining local authority area. Given that the Salford Local Plan 
does not cover Trafford Wharfside, it does not affect the status of 
Trafford Core Strategy Policy SL2 as part of Trafford’s development 
plan and hence its position as the starting point for determining 
planning applications at Trafford Wharfside. The size of the Salford 
Quays primary shopping area designated in the Salford Local Plan 
(and the potential extension area identified) means that it should be 
possible to accommodate all of the retail growth associated with the 
town centre within the designated town centre boundary in Salford. 
 

P
age 1750



  

 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
The proposed extension to the primary shopping area covers a large 
area and the trigger point for developers to be able to use this area 
is unclear. It is also unclear how the size of the extended primary 
shopping area will meet the purposes of primary shopping areas. 
Trafford Council consider the policy/evidence base should be 
amended to address these matters (Trafford Council).  
 

Policy TC2 has been amended to include the following text:  
Main town centre uses shall be located in accordance with the 
following sequential approach (highest priority first) and the table 
below: 

A) Within designated centres (‘in centre’)  
B) In edge of centre locations (‘edge of centre’)  
C) Accessible sites which are well connected to a designated 

centre 
D) Other locations that are accessible by walking, cycling and 

public transport 
 
The table added to the policy confirms for each designated centre 
what is ‘in centre’ and what is ‘edge of centre’ to A1 retail and other 
main town centre uses. 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy TC2 
and Policy TC3 *** 
 
Clarification is sought in relation to the status of the Lowry Outlet 
Mall following the adoption of the Local Plan (Trafford Council).  
 

As in the Draft Local Plan, Appendix B to the Revised Draft Local 
Plan shows the Lowry Outlet Mall to form part of the primary 
shopping area. Amendments have been made to show primary and 
secondary frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall.   
 
Ground floor units which front out onto the plaza are occupied by 
restaurant uses and are identified as secondary frontage. The 
southern side of the Mall provides further opportunities to create 
active frontages out onto the waterside for a range of uses, and for 
this reason is also identified as secondary frontage. Other internally 
facing units provide the greatest concentration of retail uses and 
should provide a strong retail frontage in the long term and as such 
are identified as primary frontages. 

The town centre boundary should be extended to Trafford Road to 
the east. This more accurately reflects the Salford Quays area 
geographically and the NPPF definition of main town centre uses. 
There are a significant number of offices and some restaurants in 
the area between the town centre boundary as defined in the Draft 
Local Plan and Trafford Road which should be included in the centre 
(developer).  
 

The Salford Quays town centre boundary has been amended so that 
it is the same as the boundary of the Salford Quays area policy SQ1 
boundary. This not only extends it to Trafford Road, but also 
incorporates some of the town centre uses on the eastern frontage 
of Trafford Road and the commercial uses around Exchange Quay. 
This is considered to better reflect the existing range of uses, 
functions and aspirations for the area.  

P
age 1751



  

 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy TC2 
and TC3*** 
 
Salford Quays is a new form of town centre which does not directly 
correlate with definitions in the NPPF and therefore it is not 
appropriate for it to be treated in the same way as other centres in 
the Local Plan.  
 
The core of Salford Quays centre is the Lowry Outlet Mall, the Lowry 
and MediaCityUK. The area is the focus for retail uses which 
includes the Lowry Outlet Mall and Booths supermarket and 
therefore could be defined as the primary shopping area, but it is 
much more than that. The area comprises other important functions 
including: The Lowry; the plazas; offices and studios; food and drink 
uses; and market square (permission reference: 16/68299/FUL). 
These uses are just as important to Salford Quays role as a town 
centre as its retail function.  
 
There is an opportunity for a different approach to be brought 
forward for Salford Quays with a separate policy for the centre. This 
could define a ‘town centre core’ comprising MediaCityUK, the Lowry 
Outlet and The Lowry rather than a primary shopping area or 
primary shopping frontages. This area could be the focus for main 
town centre uses (as defined in Annex 2 of the Framework) and the 
application of the sequential approach to site selection as set out in 
the Framework (Para. 24). The sequential preferability of Salford 
Quays could radiate out from this core area, to ensure that 
development is focused within central areas as a priority.  
 
A ‘town centre core’ is suggested as the name for this area, to 
differentiate it from a primary shopping area (developer).  
 

The Salford Quays town centre proposed boundaries map has been 
amended. The Revised Draft Local Plan map now shows the primary 
shopping area to include the MediaCityUK area, the Lowry Outlet 
Mall, The Lowry theatre and Plaza area. The potential extension to 
the primary shopping area east of Michigan Avenue provides further 
opportunities for retail, leisure and food and drink uses. The 
sequential approach in Policy TC2 has been expanded significantly 
to further clarify the approach in Salford Quays, with retail, leisure 
and food/drink uses being focused in the primary shopping area and 
its potential extension. 
 
It is not considered appropriate to use the terminology ‘town centre 
core’ as opposed to ‘primary shopping area’, as this would deviate 
from the NPPF and may be confusing. P

age 1752



  

 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
It is important to acknowledge within retail policies that the Salford 
Quays area operates functionally with Trafford Wharfside 
(developer).  
 

Given that there is no shared retail function between Salford Quays 
and Trafford Wharfside, such a reference would not be appropriate. 

Lower Irlam local centre 
 

The Hamilton Davies Trust comment that the neighbourhood centre 
needs to be “re-enforced, especially between Fairhills Road and 
Station Road”.  

These comments appear to be referring to Lower Irlam local centre. 
An extension to the existing local centre boundary is proposed up to 
Clarendon Road on the western side of Liverpool Road and Preston 
Avenue on the eastern side of Liverpool Road. This is considered to 
address this point, as it would help to protect and enhance the 
function as a local centre. 
 

Eccles 
 

The extent of the proposed Eccles town centre boundary is 
supported (The Emerson Group).   
 

The support is welcomed.  

Pendleton 
 

The extent of the proposed Pendleton town centre boundary is 
supported by the Emerson Group. There are no objections to the 
renaming of the centre from “Salford Precinct” to Pendleton town 
centre. 
 

The support is welcomed.  

Walkden 
 

The extension of the town centre boundary close to Kingsley Road is 
supported. It is commented that given there is an extant permission 
for an overflow carpark near Fereday Street (approved at appeal 

The support for the extension of the town centre boundary close to 
Kingsley Road is welcomed.  
 

P
age 1753



  

 

under 14/65760/FUL), this land should also be included in the 
revised town centre boundary (centre owner).  
 

The land near Fereday Street is bound to the north, east and west 
by housing and as such it would seem more appropriate in the future 
for the land to come forward for housing.  
 
No changes are made to the Walkden town centre boundary in 
response to these comments.  
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC3*** 
 
The identification of primary shopping frontages in the Ellesmere 
Centre is not supported. It is not appropriate given the vacancies 
and will restrict the ability to fill these (centre owner).  
 

It is generally accepted that primary shopping frontages are likely to 
include a high proportion of retail uses which may include food, 
drinks clothing and household goods. Primary and secondary 
frontages are identified in Salford’s town centres in order to protect 
the retail core and maintain the primary shopping function of key 
areas.  
 
The whole of the Ellesmere Centre (with the exception of the 
external units on the eastern and western sides of the centre) and 
the frontage of the Tesco store on which the main entrance is 
located are identified as primary frontages. The reason for this is that 
these areas provide the main retail offer and accommodation within 
the centre, and it is anticipated that the proportion of retail uses will 
increase in the Ellesmere Centre over the course of the plan period. 
 
To not identify the Ellesmere Centre as primary frontage would be at 
odds with the approach taken with Salford’s other town centres, 
where primary frontages have been identified where there is the 
highest concentration of, or potential for, retail uses. To address 
comments from the centre owner Policy TC3 criterion A is amended 
as follows (added text is in bold):  
 
“Within the primary shopping frontages of town centres, proposals 
that would involve the loss of A1 retail units will only be supported 
where the development would: (A) Not be harmful to the overall 
shopping function of the centre having regard to the number and 
duration of vacancies” 
 

P
age 1754



  

 

  

Other significant changes made to policy TC1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Annex B Salford Quays town centre plan has been amended with 
changes to the potential extension to the primary shopping area. 
This no longer includes the MediaCityUK area, which is now part of 
the primary shopping area itself, but includes the land east of Ohio 
Avenue. This is up to the Broadway/ The Quays roundabout, bound 
by Broadway to the north and The Quays to the south.  
 
 

The potential extension to the primary shopping area has been 
extended to include land east of Ohio Avenue so as not to constrain 
future growth opportunities for large scale retail, food and drink, and 
leisure uses. As with the Michigan Avenue industrial estate, land 
east of Ohio Avenue is well related to the existing MediaCityUK area 
and therefore it is considered logical to include it in the potential 
extension to the primary shopping area.    

Salford Quays is identified as a main town centre.  To align with the Revised Draft GMSF hierarchy of centres.  
 

 P
age 1755



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: TC2 DEVELOPMENT INVOLVING MAIN TOWN CENTRE USES 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Salford Quays 
 

 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC1*** 
 
There is concern that the town centre designation will make part of 
Trafford Wharfside covered by Trafford Council Core Strategy Policy 
SL2 ‘edge-of centre’ and this could be used to justify significant retail 
development in Trafford Wharfside. The council deems this contrary 
to Core Strategy Policy SL2 which sets out in the MediacityUK area 
an appropriate scale of supporting retail and community uses can be 
delivered.  
 
The Manchester Ship Canal should be considered the logical extent 
of the town centre and a natural barrier to what would be considered 
edge of centre. Normal policies in terms of edge-of-centre should not 
apply here. It is requested that wording is added to the town centre 
policies to reflect that new retail floospace can be met entirely within 
the proposed town centre boundaries (Trafford Council).  
 

No changes are made in response to these comments.  
 
It is not considered appropriate to give direction on the use of land in 
an adjoining local authority area. Given that the Salford Local Plan 
does not cover Trafford Wharfside, it does not affect the status of 
Trafford Core Strategy Policy SL2 as part of Trafford’s development 
plan and hence its position as the starting point for determining 
planning applications at Trafford Wharfside. The size of the Salford 
Quays primary shopping area designated in the Salford Local Plan 
(and the potential extension area identified) means that it should be 
possible to accommodate all of the retail growth associated with the 
town centre within the designated town centre boundary in Salford. 
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy TC1 
and TC3*** 
 
Clarification is sought in relation to the status of the Lowry Outlet 
Mall following the adoption of the Local Plan (Trafford Council).  
 
 

As in the Draft Local Plan, Appendix B to the Revised Draft Local 
Plan shows the Lowry Outlet Mall to form part of the primary 
shopping area. Amendments have been made to show primary and 
secondary frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall.   
 
Ground floor units which front out onto the plaza are occupied by 
restaurant uses and are identified as secondary frontage. The 
southern side of the Mall provides further opportunities to create 
active frontages out onto the waterside for a range of uses, and for 

P
age 1756



 

this reason is also identified as secondary frontage. Other internally 
facing units provide the greatest concentration of retail uses and 
should provide a strong retail frontage in the long term and as such 
are identified as primary frontages. 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC1*** 
 
The proposed extension to the primary shopping area covers a large 
area and the trigger point for developers to be able to use this area 
is unclear. It is also unclear how the size of the extended primary 
shopping area will meet the purposes of primary shopping areas. 
Trafford Council consider the policy/evidence base should be 
amended to address these matters (Trafford Council).  
 

Policy TC2 has been amended to include the following text:  
Main town centre uses shall be located in accordance with the 
following sequential approach (highest priority first) and the table 
below: 

A) Within designated centres (‘in centre’)  
B) In edge of centre locations (‘edge of centre’)  
C) Accessible sites which are well connected to a designated 

centre 
D) Other locations that are accessible by walking, cycling and 

public transport 
 
The table added to the policy confirms for each designated centre 
what is ‘in centre’ and what is ‘edge of centre’ to A1 retail and other 
main town centre uses. 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy TC1 
and Policy TC3*** 
 
Salford Quays is a new form of town centre which does not directly 
correlate with definitions in the NPPF and therefore it is not 
appropriate for it to be treated in the same way as other centres in 
the Local Plan.  
 
The core of Salford Quays centre is the Lowry Outlet Mall, the Lowry 
and MediaCityUK. The area is the focus for retail uses which 
includes the Lowry Outlet Mall and Booths supermarket and 
therefore could be defined as the primary shopping area, but it is 
much more than that. The area comprises other important functions 
including: The Lowry; the plazas; offices and studios; food and drink 
uses; and market square (permission reference: 16/68299/FUL). 
These uses are just as important to Salford Quays role as a town 
centre as its retail function.  

The Salford Quays town centre proposed boundaries map has been 
amended. The Revised Draft Local Plan map now shows the primary 
shopping area to include the MediaCityUK area, the Lowry Outlet 
Mall, The Lowry theatre and Plaza area. The potential extension to 
the primary shopping area east of Michigan Avenue provides further 
opportunities for retail, leisure and food and drink uses. The 
sequential approach in Policy TC2 has been expanded significantly 
to further clarify the approach in Salford Quays, with retail, leisure 
and food/drink uses being focused in the primary shopping area and 
its potential extension. 
 
It is not considered appropriate to use the terminology ‘town centre 
core’ as opposed to ‘primary shopping area’, as this would deviate 
from the NPPF and may be confusing. 

P
age 1757



 

 
There is an opportunity for a different approach to be brought 
forward for Salford Quays with a separate policy for the centre.  This 
could define a ‘town centre core’ comprising MediaCityUK, the Lowry 
Outlet and The Lowry rather than a primary shopping area or 
primary shopping frontages. This area could be the focus for main 
town centre uses (as defined in Annex 2 of the Framework) and the 
application of the sequential approach to site selection as set out in 
the Framework (Para. 24). The sequential preferability of Salford 
Quays could radiate out from this core area, to ensure that 
development is focused within central areas as a priority.  
 
A ‘town centre core’ is suggested as the name for this area, to 
differentiate it from a primary shopping area (developer).  

 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC1*** 
 
It is important to acknowledge within retail policies that the Salford 
Quays area operates functionally with Trafford Wharfside 
(developer).  

Given that there is no shared retail function between Salford Quays 
and Trafford Wharfside, such a reference would not be appropriate. 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC3*** 
 
An objection is made by Sovereign Point and Imperial Residents 
Association to any type of development that would deleteriously 
impact on the quiet enjoyment for residents of Imperial and 
Sovereign Points and other predominantly residential areas 
throughout The Quays. Such development could include, but is not 
restricted to, bars, clubs, pubs and restaurants (Policy TC2/Policy 
TC3).  
 

Amendments have been made showing primary and secondary 
frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall. Ground floor units which front out 
onto the plaza are occupied by restaurant uses and are identified as 
secondary frontage. The southern side of the Mall provides further 
opportunities to create active frontages out onto the waterside for a 
range of uses, and for this reason is also identified as secondary 
frontage. Other internally facing units provide the greatest 
concentration of retail uses and should provide a strong retail 
frontage in the long term and as such are identified as primary 
frontages.  
 
These changes to the frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall could 
encourage more food and drink uses in the Lowry Outlet Mall, 
particularly those units fronting out onto the plaza and waterfront. 

P
age 1758



 

However, Revised Draft Local Plan Policy TC4 (Food and drink uses 
within centres), which previously formed part of Draft Local Plan 
TC3, specifically requires that food and drink uses shall not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity or character of the surrounding 
area (which would include residential amenity), either individually or 
cumulatively, and refers to issues such as noise.  
   

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC3*** 
 
It is commented that provisions A-D of Policy TC3, which seek to 
restrict non-retail uses in primary retail frontages, should not apply to 
Salford Quays town centre. The restaurant sector is growing in 
Salford Quays, which is commented to be creating a vibrant evening 
economy and this should not be constrained beyond considerations 
of amenity addressed through parts i to ii of the policy (developer).                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

Further detail has been included on the sequential test in Policy 
TC2. The policy identifies that leisure and food and drink uses 
should be directed to the primary shopping area of Salford Quays, 
and this is to ensure that there is a strong central focus for the area 
that supports its vibrancy. This primary shopping area includes the 
MediaCityUK area, The Lowry theatre, Lowry Outlet Mall and Plaza 
area. The potential extension to the primary shopping area provides 
further opportunities for such uses. 
 
The Lowry Outlet Mall frontages have also been amended to identify 
existing ground floor units that front out onto the plaza as secondary 
frontage. These units are currently occupied by food and drink uses. 
The southern side of the Mall provides further opportunities to create 
active frontages out onto the waterside for a range of uses, and for 
this reason is also identified as secondary frontage. Other internally 
facing units provide the greatest concentration of retail uses and 
should provide a strong retail frontage in the long term and as such 
are identified as primary frontages.  
 
These amendments to the Salford Quays town centre boundary and 
Policy TC2 are considered sufficient to address concerns regarding 
any constraints to the evening economy. 
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC3*** 
 
Sovereign Point and Imperial Residents Association offer their 
support to the use of the Lowry Outlet Mall for predominantly retail 

The support is welcomed. The identification of internally facing units 
as primary frontages should provide a strong retail frontage in the 
long term. 
 

P
age 1759



 

purposes and any measures that would further strengthen this policy 
would be supported. 

 Land around AJ Bell Stadium 
 

 

***The following  comments are also  considered against Policy CT 
3/1*** 
 
An objection is made to the locally set impact assessment threshold 
being applied to the land at the AJ Bell Stadium. It is suggested that 
a 2,500m2 impact threshold instead should be applied to ‘land 
around the AJ Bell Stadium’ so that development on this site is not 
stifled unnecessarily (City of Salford Community Stadium, NJL 
Consulting on behalf of). 
 

Policy CT3 (Land around AJ Bell Stadium) has been amended as 
follows (changes in bold):  
 

A wide range of tourism and related uses will be suitable on 
the land around the AJ Bell Stadium, including: 
 
A) Hotels; 
B) Food and drink, such as bars and restaurants; 
C) Leisure facilities; and 
D) Comparison goods shops, where there would be no 
significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of 
designated centres. 
 
Proposals for these uses on the site will not be required 
to apply the sequential approach in policy TC2. 
Proposals for uses in points A-C on the site will be 
exempt from the impact assessment requirements in 
policy TC2. 

 
Main town centre uses including hotels, leisure facilities and food 
and drink uses are proposed to be exempt from the impact 
assessment process given their key role in supporting the tourism 
role of the AJ Bell Stadium and wider area. This in part, is 
considered to address comments. However, in order to protect the 
vitality and viability of existing centres, it is considered important to 
have the opportunity to take into account impact of shops in line with 
the locally set impact threshold set out in Policy TC2.  
 

Sequential test 
 

 

P
age 1760



 

***The following  comments are also  considered against Policy 
TC1*** 
 
The City of Salford Community Stadium (NJL Consulting on behalf 
of) offers support to the centre retail hierarchy. However it is 
recommended that consideration be given to designating established 
‘commercial centres’, forming an additional tier in the retail hierarchy. 
This however would not negate the requirement for an impact 
assessment for main town centres uses, where floorspace proposed 
is above the national or locally set threshold.  
 
The Dumfries and Galloway Council Local Development Plan 
includes an approach that could be taken. Policy ED6 sets out  
A Policy example in Dumfries and Galloway proposals for new 
retail/leisure development outside an identified town centre must 
demonstrate that a sequential assessment has been made of the 
following locations: town centre; edge of town centre; other identified 
commercial centres; and out of centre locations.     
 

The support given to the centre retail hierarchy is welcomed.  
 
A comprehensive review of existing centres and other clusters of 
main town centre uses has been undertaken as part of the town and 
neighbourhood centre review. The reasons for designating centres 
and any changes to boundaries / hierarchy of existing centres in the 
adopted Unitary Development Plan are set out in this report.  It is not 
considered appropriate, for the reasons set out in the town and 
neighbourhood centre review to designate other clusters of main 
town centre use over and above those set out in Policy TC1. 
 
However, Policy CT3 (Land around AJ Bell Stadium, Irlam) identifies 
a number of specific uses deemed to be appropriate within the 
allocation boundary in order to develop the area’s tourism role. This 
includes hotels; food and drink; leisure facilities; and comparison 
goods shops where there would be no significant adverse impact on 
vitality and viability of designated centres. 
 
Therefore, other than shops, proposals for the uses listed in the 
policy would generally be in accordance with an up-to-date plan and 
no sequential assessment would be required. Retaining the 
sequential approach for other types of shops is important for 
ensuring that any retail-based tourism role for the site does not come 
at the expense of the successful functioning of existing centres on 
which local residents rely. 

  

Impact assessment threshold 
 

 

An objection is made to the proposed impact assessment 
thresholds, in the absence of any supporting evidence or sufficient 
justification (developers [2]).  
 
It is commented that the Salford Retail and Leisure Study (August 
2010) is outdated and does not cover the impact assessment issue. 
It is requested that the council should commit to undertaking a 

It is important to assess the impacts of all retail schemes exceeding 
500m2, and any schemes above 250m2 that raise specific concerns, 
given the potentially adverse effects that they could have on the 
vitality and viability of designated centres and hence the ability of 
residents to meet their everyday needs in sustainable locations. The 
current pressures on high street retailing, and the availability of 
floorspace within designated centres that could accommodate new 

P
age 1761



 

review of its retail and leisure evidence prior to the next stage of 
consultation (developer). 

retail uses, further increase the importance of assessing carefully the 
impact of out-of-centre developments. 
 
A background note setting out further justification for the locally set 
impact thresholds will be published alongside the Publication Local 
Plan.   

It is commented that the impact assessments are too prescriptive, 
which could stifle investment in the city. It is suggested that a greater 
degree of flexibility is introduced into the policy (developer). 
  

The impact assessment requirements are important for ensuring that 
the vitality and viability of designated centres is protected in 
accordance with national policy. The amount of information required 
as part of the impact assessment process will typically be less for 
smaller schemes. 

Scale 
 

 

Demonstrating the appropriateness of scale of development is no 
longer a requirement set out by national policy. A rewording of Policy 
TC2 is suggested (AJ Bell Stadium)   

The sentence is considered unnecessary and has been removed 
from the policy. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy TC2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The following text (in bold) has been added to the policy:  
 
An impact assessment will be required for any development 
proposal outside a designated centre that would involve: 
A) An increase of more than 500m2 (gross) of retail floorspace 

outside a defined centre identified in policy TC1; or 
B) An increase of between 250m2 and 500m2 (gross) of retail 

floorspace, or an increase of more than 500m2 (gross) of 
other main town centre use floorspace excluding offices, 
where any of the following raise concerns in relation to an 
existing centre: 
 

It is important to have the opportunity to consider the impact of other 
main town centre uses, in addition to retail, which individually or 
cumulatively could have an impact on the vitality and viability of 
designated centres.   
 
An impact assessment is not required for offices to reflect paragraph 
90 of the Revised NPPF.   
 
 

 

P
age 1762



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: TC3 RETAIL FRONTAGES, CHANGES OF USE AND REDEVELOPMENTS WITHIN CENTRES  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Salford Quays 
 

 

Parts 1-5 of Policy TC3 are supported which aim to promote the 
vitality and viability of centres and parts i-ii which promotes the 
leisure economy (developer).   
  

The support is welcomed.  

Policy TC3 would be more easily read if the section on A3, A4 and 
A5 uses were to be separated into a different policy.   

The section in Draft Local Plan Policy TC3 on A3, A4 and A5 uses 
and related text in the reasoned justification has been placed in a 
separate policy (Policy TC4 Food and drink uses within centres).  
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy TC1 
and TC2*** 
 
Clarification is sought in relation to the status of the Lowry Outlet 
Mall following the adoption of the Local Plan (Trafford Council).  
 

As in the Draft Local Plan, Appendix B to the Revised Draft Local 
Plan shows the Lowry Outlet Mall to form part of the primary 
shopping area. Amendments have been made to show primary and 
secondary frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall.   
 
Ground floor units which front out onto the plaza are occupied by 
restaurant uses and are identified as secondary frontage. The 
southern side of the Mall provides further opportunities to create 
active frontages out onto the waterside for a range of uses, and for 
this reason is also identified as secondary frontage. Other internally 
facing units provide the greatest concentration of retail uses and 
should provide a strong retail frontage in the long term and as such 
are identified as primary frontages. 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
An objection is made by Sovereign Point and Imperial Residents 
Association to any type of development that would deleteriously 
impact on the quiet enjoyment for residents of Imperial and 

Amendments have been made showing primary and secondary 
frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall. Ground floor units which front out 
onto the plaza are occupied by restaurant uses and are identified as 
secondary frontage. The southern side of the Mall provides further 
opportunities to create active frontages out onto the waterside for a 
range of uses, and for this reason is also identified as secondary 

P
age 1763



 

Sovereign Points and other predominantly residential areas 
throughout The Quays. Such development could include, but is not 
restricted to, bars, clubs, pubs and restaurants (Policy TC2/Policy 
TC3).  

 

frontage. Other internally facing units provide the greatest 
concentration of retail uses and should provide a strong retail 
frontage in the long term and as such are identified as primary 
frontages.  
 
These changes to the frontages in the Lowry Outlet Mall could 
encourage more food and drink uses in the Lowry Outlet Mall, 
particularly those units fronting out onto the plaza and waterfront. 
However, Revised Draft Local Plan Policy TC4 (Food and drink uses 
within centres), which previously formed part of Draft Local Plan 
TC3, specifically requires that food and drink uses shall not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity or character of the surrounding 
area (which would include residential amenity), either individually or 
cumulatively, and refers to issues such as noise.  

   

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
Sovereign Point and Imperial Residents Association offer their 
support to the use of the Lowry Outlet Mall for predominantly retail 
purposes and any measures that would further strengthen this policy 
would be supported.  
 

The support is welcomed. The identification of internally facing units 
as primary frontages should provide a strong retail frontage in the 
long term.  
 
 
  

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC2*** 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
It is commented that provisions A-D of Policy TC3, which seek to 
restrict non-retail uses in primary retail frontages, should not apply to 
Salford Quays town centre. The restaurant sector is growing in 
Salford Quays, which is commented to be creating a vibrant evening 
economy and this should not be constrained beyond considerations 
of amenity addressed through parts I to ii of the policy (developer).  
 

Further detail has been included on the sequential test in Policy 
TC2. The policy identifies that leisure and food and drink uses 
should be directed to the primary shopping area of Salford Quays, 
and this is to ensure that there is a strong central focus for the area 
that supports its vibrancy. This primary shopping area includes the 
MediaCityUK area, The Lowry theatre, Lowry Outlet Mall and Plaza 
area. The potential extension to the primary shopping area provides 
further opportunities for such uses. 
 
The Lowry Outlet Mall frontages have also been amended to identify 
existing ground floor units that front out onto the plaza as secondary 
frontage. These units are currently occupied by food and drink uses. 

P
age 1764



 

The southern side of the Mall provides further opportunities to create 
active frontages out onto the waterside for a range of uses, and for 
this reason is also identified as secondary frontage. Other internally 
facing units provide the greatest concentration of retail uses and 
should provide a strong retail frontage in the long term and as such 
are identified as primary frontages.  
 
These amendments to the Salford Quays town centre boundary and 
Policy TC2 are considered sufficient to address concerns regarding 
any constraints to the evening economy. 
 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy TC1 
and Policy TC2*** 
 
Salford Quays is a new form of town centre which does not directly 
correlate with definitions in the NPPF and therefore it is not 
appropriate for it to be treated in the same way as other centres in 
the Local Plan.  
 
The core of Salford Quays centre is the Lowry Outlet Mall, the Lowry 
and MediaCityUK. The area is the focus for retail uses which 
includes the Lowry Outlet Mall and Booths supermarket and 
therefore could be defined as the primary shopping area, but it is 
much more than that. The area comprises other important functions 
including: The Lowry; the plazas; offices and studios; food and drink 
uses; and market square (permission reference: 16/68299/FUL). 
These uses are just as important to Salford Quays role as a town 
centre as its retail function.  
 
There is an opportunity for a different approach to be brought 
forward for Salford Quays with a separate policy for the centre.  This 
could define a ‘town centre core’ comprising MediaCityUK, the Lowry 
Outlet and The Lowry rather than a primary shopping area or 
primary shopping frontages. This area could be the focus for main 
town centre uses (as defined in Annex 2 of the Framework) and the 

The Salford Quays town centre proposed boundaries map has been 
amended. The Revised Draft Local Plan map now shows the primary 
shopping area to include the MediaCityUK area, the Lowry Outlet 
Mall, The Lowry theatre and Plaza area. The potential extension to 
the primary shopping area east of Michigan Avenue provides further 
opportunities for retail, leisure and food and drink uses. The 
sequential approach in Policy TC2 has been expanded significantly 
to further clarify the approach in Salford Quays, with retail, leisure 
and food/drink uses being focused in the primary shopping area and 
its potential extension. 
 
It is not considered appropriate to use the terminology ‘town centre 
core’ as opposed to ‘primary shopping area’, as this would deviate 
from the NPPF and may be confusing. 

P
age 1765



 

application of the sequential approach to site selection as set out in 
the Framework (Para. 24). The sequential preferability of Salford 
Quays could radiate out from this core area, to ensure that 
development is focused within central areas as a priority.  
 
A ‘town centre core’ is suggested as the name for this area, to 
differentiate it from a primary shopping area (developer).  
 

Walkden town centre 
 

 

***The following comments are also considered against Policy 
TC1*** 
 
The identification of primary shopping frontages in the Ellesmere 
Centre is not supported. It is not appropriate given the vacancies 
and will restrict the ability to fill these (centre owner).  
 

It is generally accepted that primary shopping frontages are likely to 
include a high proportion of retail uses which may include food, 
drinks clothing and household goods. Primary and secondary 
frontages are identified in Salford’s town centres in order to protect 
the retail core and maintain the primary shopping function of key 
areas.  
 
The whole of the Ellesmere Centre (with the exception of the 
external units on the eastern and western sides of the centre) and 
the frontage of the Tesco store on which the main entrance is 
located are identified as primary frontages. The reason for this is that 
these areas provide the main retail offer and accommodation within 
the centre, and it is anticipated that the proportion of retail uses will 
increase in the Ellesmere Centre over the course of the plan period. 
 
To not identify the Ellesmere Centre as primary frontage would be at 
odds with the approach taken with Salford’s other town centres, 
where primary frontages have been identified where there is the 
highest concentration of, or potential for, retail uses. To address 
comments from the centre owner Policy TC3 criterion A is amended 
as follows (added text is in bold):  
 
“Within the primary shopping frontages of town centres, proposals 
that would involve the loss of A1 retail units will only be supported 
where the development would: (A) Not be harmful to the overall 

P
age 1766



 

shopping function of the centre having regard to the number and 
duration of vacancies” 
 

Residential amenity 
 

 

The Royal Mail Group Limited request that Policy TC3 is amended to 
state that the introduction of residential uses in designated centres 
will only be permitted where an appropriate level of amenity can be 
achieved.  

Amenity is addressed in the housing chapter. It is not therefore 
considered necessary to repeat this requirement in the retail chapter.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy TC3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy has been added to, setting out: “The positive use of 
underused and vacant space on upper floors of properties within 
town or local centres, including for housing, will be encouraged”.  
 
 

To ensure consistency with paragraph 118(d) of the 2018 NPPF 
which sets out that “planning policies and decisions should promote 
and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings, 
especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing 
where land supply is constrained and available sites could be used 
more effectively (for example converting space above shops)”.  
 
NPPF paragraph 85(f) also sets out that “planning policies should 
recognise that residential development often plays an important role 
in ensuring the vitality of centres and encourage residential 
development on appropriate sites”.   

 

P
age 1767



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EDUCATION CHAPTER GENERAL COMMENTS  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

School provision in Irlam and Cadishead should be planned for as 
the existing schools cannot accommodate the additional children 
(community group). 
 

Due to the long term nature of the Local Plan (the plan period goes 
up to 2037), it is not considered appropriate to set out the potential 
detailed requirements for new and expanded schools as this is likely 
to change during the life of the plan, and therefore any proposals 
would be likely to date very quickly. Instead, the Local Plan seeks to 
ensure that development which takes place during the plan period 
supports the delivery of additional school places through financial 
contributions and where necessary, setting aside land within the 
development. The Local Plan includes a commitment to ensure that 
in all cases, development is phased so that the school places are 
delivered before demand exceeds existing capacity. 
 
GMSF Allocation 32 (North of Irlam Station) requires development of 
the site to set aside land to provide additional school provision, 
unless it can be demonstrated that sufficient additional school places 
will be provided off-site within the local area to meet the likely 
demand generated by the new housing. 

Objection to the statement in the plan that it is not appropriate to 
plan for school provision in detail and that no new schools are 
planned in the local plan.  

  

Other significant changes made to the education chapter  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

New policy ED1 A learning city. This policy outlines the various ways 
in which the city will improve its learning opportunities  

Whilst academic learning is a central component, learning extends 
beyond formal education, and includes opportunities throughout our 
lives. The policy recognises the wider elements of learning, many of 
which are already referenced in other parts of the Local Plan.  
 

 

P
age 1768



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: ED1 SCHOOLS AND EDUCATION FACILITIES (RENUMBERED TO ED2 DUE TO THE ADDITION OF A NEW POLICY) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the approach to require the community use of playing fields 
and school facilities (Sport England).  
 

The support is welcomed.  

Some school premises are of historic interest and proposals 
affecting them should have regard to their historic interest (Historic 
England).  
 

It is recognised that heritage features (which may include schools) 
can make an important contribution to local history and identity, and 
therefore Salford’s heritage assets will be protected and enhanced 
accordingly through the policies in the heritage chapter.  
  

There is a need for an adult education facility (individual).   
 

There are currently a range of adult learning opportunities in Salford 
including courses at Salford City College, as well as apprenticeships 
and community based learning opportunities. A new policy (ED1 A 
learning city) has been included in the revised draft of the plan, 
which highlights the importance of creating learning opportunities 
throughout peoples’ lives. The policy supports the continued 
enhancement of the University of Salford and Salford City College 
and the development of new training facilities. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy ED1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A  

 

P
age 1769



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: ED2 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT AND SCHOOL PLACES (RENUMBERED TO ED3 DUE TO THE ADDITION OF A NEW 

POLICY) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for ensuring the phasing of school places prior to the 
completion of development (The Conservative Group, Persimmon). 
  

The support is welcomed.  

There is a contradiction between policy ED2 (renumbered to ED3) 
which makes reference to the potential requirement for developers to 
provide a new school and paragraph 11.4 (now 14.5) which states 
that it is not appropriate for the Local Plan to seek to plan for school 
provision in any detail and the focus is on enabling the continued 
improvement of school facilities and managing the impacts of such 
development.   
 

Whilst it is not considered that the two elements of the chapter are in 
conflict with one another, the introduction/justification to the policy 
has been altered confirming the preferred approach is usually to 
expand schools on their existing sites, but this is likely to be 
increasingly difficult as many buildings have already seen recent 
extensions. Consequently, some developments will need to 
incorporate additional school provision within their sites, and this is 
the requirement of two of the larger housing site allocations in this 
plan (H9/2 Castle Irwell and H9/4 Brackley golf course).    

Contributions should only be sought from developers where there is 
an identified shortfall of places (developers).  
 

The policy has been amended to explain that residential 
developments will only be required to enable an increase in school 
places only where there is a projected shortfall.   

The policy should include a clear methodology for calculating the 
level of financial contribution which developers are expected to make 
(developer).   

It is considered to be more appropriate to include this level of detail 
within a supplementary planning document as currently outlined in 
the city council’s Planning Obligations SPD (June 2015), so that it 
can be easily updated to respond to the latest evidence.  

Sites should not be subject to obligations which compromise 
development viability (developer).  

There may be circumstances where developers demonstrate that the 
cumulative effect of policy requirements/planning obligations would 
compromise development viability for particular schemes. In these 
instances, as explained in Policy PC1 (previously Policy DP3), the 
city council may negotiate with the developer to agree a reduced 
contribution, so that planning obligation requirements are not 
responsible for stalling development, but only where the benefits of 
the development outweigh the lack of full mitigation for its impacts, 
having regard to other material considerations. Policy ED3 is clear 

P
age 1770



 

that development will not be permitted until an appropriate supply of 
school places can be guaranteed in the local area, given the 
importance of this issue to local residents and the sustainability of 
neighbourhoods. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy ED2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A  

 

P
age 1771



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: ED3 UNIVERSITY OF SALFORD (RENUMBERED TO ED4 DUE TO THE ADDITION OF A NEW POLICY) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

None  N/A 

  

Other significant changes made to policy ED3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy has been expanded to identify greening the campus 
environment, creating a cultural gateway, promoting links between 
business sectors and university’s skills and research strengths and 
enhancing the adjacent Innovation Park as priorities in the continued 
enhancement of the university.  

To reflect the proposals in the University of Salford/Salford City 
Council/5plus masterplan, consulted on between August and 
September 2018. 

 

P
age 1772



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER 12: HEALTH (GENERAL)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The recognition of existing health inequalities and the significant 
emphasis in the Local Plan on how it can contribute to reducing 
these inequalities is welcomed (NHS Clinical Commissioning Group).  
  

The support is welcomed.  

Significant population growth of the scale outlined in the plan is likely 
to increase pressure on health and social care services. This 
requires thought in the context of Salford’s Locality Plan for health 
and social care (NHS Clinical Commissioning Group). 
 

The introduction/justification to policy HH1 to the chapter has been 
amended making reference to the Salford Locality Plan.  

Education and training should be referenced in paragraph 12.3 (NHS 

Clinical Commissioning Group). 

 

The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a new Policy HH1 
(Supporting better health) setting out that significant improvements 
in the health of Salford residents, and reductions in health 
inequalities in the city, will be sought, including by improving and 
creating better access to education, training and employment.  
 

Irlam and Cadishead have the worst case of respiratory illness within 
Salford. Development of the peat fields and increased housing, 
traffic and congestion will not help the health of residents in this 
area.  

Two additional policies have been included in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan (policy HH1 Supporting better health and policy HH2 
Development and health).  
 
Policy HH1 (Supporting better health) sets out that significant 
improvements in the health of Salford residents, and reductions in 
health inequalities in the city, will be sought, including by reducing 
contributors to poor health and mitigating their risks those associated 
with poor air quality.  
 
Policy HH2 (Development and health) is an overarching health 
policy, setting out that all development should support an 
improvement in public health and a reduction in health inequalities. 
Within the policy it is also set out that health impact assessments will 

P
age 1773



 

be required for development proposals that the city council considers 
would have the potential to have significant adverse impact on 
health and wellbeing. 
 
A new policy has also been added on air quality (Policy AQ1), which 
sets out a comprehensive set of measures to support improvements 
in air quality, helping to promote better respiratory health. 
 

There are two fit for purpose libraries in Irlam and Cadishead. Why 
would a more centralised one provide more benefit to residents. 
Concern is raised that those with limited mobility or parents with 
young children will need to travel further (individual)? 
 

No changes are proposed to the chapter in response to these 
comments, as the comment refers to a separate proposal that the 
city council has consulted on rather than the Local Plan.  
 
Libraries complement education provision and are valued local 
community facilities. NPPF paragraph 90(c) sets out that planning 
policies and decisions should guard against the unnecessary loss of 
valued facilities and services, particularly where this would reduce 
the communities ability to meet its day-to-day needs. Any changes to 
the provision of library services would need to be considered in this 
policy context.  
                                                                       

The provision of essential services such as housing, education, 
social care, health, mental health and the care and support of 
vulnerable people in our community should be the responsibility of 
the local authority and the NHS. We should not rely on charities, 
voluntary or non-profit making organisations to provide the main 
basic services and support for our community (resident).  
 

No changes are proposed to the chapter in response to these 
comments, as they relate to issues outside the scope of the Local 
Plan.  
 
Amended policy HH3 (Provision of health and social care facilities) 
(previously HH1) places a requirement on “areas that are subject to 
a masterplan under policy EF2 should ensure that appropriate 
provision is made for primary health care facilities. Individual 
developments that would generate a significant additional demand 
for primary health care, including all those involving 300 or more 
dwellings will be required to incorporate appropriate primary health 
care facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made elsewhere 
within the local area”.     
 

P
age 1774



 

Policy ED3 (previously ED2) sets out residential developments shall 
enable an increase in school places proportionate to the number of 
pupils that they are likely to house where there is a projected 
shortfall.  
 
These requirements will potentially reduce pressure on charities, 
voluntary or non-profit organisations, but the management model for 
such facilities lies outside the scope of the Local Plan. 
 

Development of a high quality green infrastructure network, including 
creating new green infrastructure in areas where needs are greatest 
for health will increase opportunities for healthy recreation, 
improvements in mental health and help mitigate impacts of climate 
change (Natural England).  
 

Comments are noted and support is welcomed. Chapter 23 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan promotes the development of a high quality 
green infrastructure network. 

Chapter 12 on health is limited to thinking generally about access to 
primary care. LGBT people in Salford will face severe health 
inequalities compared to the general population, including high 
prevalence rates of HIV, poor mental health and high use of risk 
facts linked mortality. It is important that LGBT people’s health is 
considered (Lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans people [LGBT] 
Foundation).  
 

The new policy ‘HH2 Development and health’ sets out that all 
development should support an improvement in public health and 
reduction in health inequalities. The policy also sets out that health 
impact assessments will be required for development proposals that 
the city council considers would have the potential to have a 
significant adverse impact on health and wellbeing. Health impact 
assessment shall consider the impacts on different groups, taking 
into account that some groups will be more vulnerable to negative 
impacts.  
  
The introduction/justification to policy HH2 also sets out that it is 
important that specific consideration is also given to the potential 
overall impact of development on health during the planning 
process, with individual proposals seeking to maximise their positive 
contribution as far as practicable, recognising that health 
requirements and issues can vary between different groups of 
identity and on an individual basis.  
 
The new policy ‘HH1 Supporting better health’ sets out that 
significant improvements in the health of Salford’s residents and 

P
age 1775



 

reductions in health inequalities will be sought in a number of ways 
including: enabling the improvement of health facilities, ranging from 
local GP surgeries to Salford Royal Hospital; supporting wider 
community health services; and supporting good mental health.  
The scope of policy HH3 (Provision of health and social care 
facilities) (previously policy HH1) has been broadened beyond 
primary health care to cover health and social care. 

CPRE Lancashire agree that tackling issues of poor air quality 
associated with increased car journeys and congested motorways is 
a key issue, and believes that the local plan must not increase 
unsustainable transport modes.  
 

The new policy ‘HH1 Supporting better health’ sets out that 
significant improvements in the health of Salford residents, and 
reductions in health inequalities in the city, will be sought, including 
by reducing contributors to poor health and mitigating their risks, 
such as those associated with climate change and poor air quality.  
 
The new policy ‘HH2 Development and health’ sets out that all 
development shall support an improvement in public health, 
including by minimising adverse impacts on health and providing a 
healthy living and working environment. The policy also sets out that 
health impact assessments will be required for development 
proposals that the city council considers would have the potential to 
have a significant adverse impact on health and wellbeing.  
 
Air quality is also addressed in the air quality, climate change and 
pollution and hazards chapters and policy A1 sets out a sustainable 
transport strategy for the city.  
 

  

 

Other significant changes made to Chapter 12: Health 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

New Policy HH1 (Supporting better health) To provide a clearer strategy for delivering health improvements, 
and tackling health inequalities, through the planning system and 
related processes. 

P
age 1776



 

This policy outlines the various ways in which significant 
improvements in the health of Salford residents, and reductions in 
health inequalities in the city, will be sought. 

New Policy HH2 (Development and health) 
This policy sets out the need for new development to support an 
improvement in public health and a reduction in health inequalities, 
and sets out a requirement for health impact assessments in certain 
circumstances. It also seeks to control particular uses that could 
have adverse impacts on health. 

To ensure that new development makes an appropriate contribution 
to improving public health and reducing health inequalities, and 
avoids adverse impacts on health. 
 
Alcohol, smoking and financial hardship are key reasons as to why 
average health levels across Salford as a whole and in some 
individual neighbourhoods are relatively poor compared to the 
national average. It is therefore important that particular care is 
taken when considering proposals involving uses related to these 
issues, such as new off-licences, hot food takeaways, and betting 
shops, payday lenders and amusement arcades. This will include 
preventing the unnecessary proliferation of such facilities, especially 
in areas already suffering from poor levels of health, and locating 
them so as to minimise their potential for encouraging unhealthy 
lifestyles amongst younger people. 

 

P
age 1777



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: HH1 PROVISION OF PRIMARY HEALTH CARE FACILITIES 

(RENUMBERED AND RENAMED IN THE REVISED DRAFT LOCAL PLAN TO ‘HH3 PROVISION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 

FACILITIES’, REFLECTING THE ADDITION OF TWO POLICIES TO THE CHAPTER AND THE EXPANSION OF THE SCOPE OF THIS 

POLICY) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

It is agreed that new healthcare facilities must be provided to meet 
demand created by any new development but the policy text should 
be amended to make clear that new facilities must be provided 
before or alongside new development as per draft local plan Policy 
ED2 (political group). Similar comments were made by the NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group.  
 
The Ordsall Health Surgery is at near maximum capacity. The scale 
of development proposed in the Local Plan will make it difficult, if not 
impossible, for the surgery to meet likely demand (Ordsall Health 
Surgery Patient Participation Group).  
 

It is not considered appropriate to amend the policy requiring 
development to be phased so that health care facilities are delivered 
before demand exceeds existing capacity. The city council does not 
have sufficient control over the provision of health services to ensure 
that this does not become a block on new housing development. 
Such a requirement would also be too reliant on the decisions of 
individual GPs and practices, such as whether a retiring GP is 
replaced, or an existing GP practice is prepared to expand. 
 
The focus will instead be on working with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group to identify potential changes in demand in different parts of 
the city as a result of new development, and to determine whether 
this necessitates some new developments to incorporate new health 
facilities. 

Local services are under significant pressure and access to services 
are limited. It is asked what the council is proposing to do to increase 
local health services (individual).  

The policy sets out that improvements in the quality and accessibility 
of health and social care facilities will be supported.  
 
In addition the policy has been amended setting out:  
 

Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 shall 
ensure that appropriate provision is made for primary health 
care facilities. Individual developments that would generate a 
significant additional demand for primary health care, 
including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be 
required to incorporate appropriate primary health care 

P
age 1778



 

facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made 
elsewhere within the local area. 
 

The threshold of 300 dwellings was chosen as it equates to 
approximately one-third of a GP. 

It is requested that a policy be included within the Local Plan to 
make provision for the expansion or relocation of health services in 
or adjacent to the proposed new Ordsall local centre, and/or the 
commissioning of more health services in the area to cater for future 
population growth (Ordsall Health Surgery Patient Participation 
Group). 
 

The policy sets out that improvements in the quality and accessibility 
of health and social care facilities will be supported.  
 
The need for additional provision within the Ordsall area will have to 
be determined in conjunction with the Clinical Commissioning Group, 
and it is not considered appropriate for the Local Plan to specify that 
this should be in the Ordsall local centre as this may not necessarily 
be the optimum solution. 
 
However, the Revised Draft Local Plan supports community uses 
(such as health provision) within designated centres, including in the 
introductions/justifications to amended policies TC1, TC2 and TC3, 
and policy TC1 itself.    
 

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group would welcome an addition 
to the policy that where it is proposed that a development should not 
comply with a policy that is relevant to health due to overriding 
considerations of viability, or the need to balance the policy against 
other considerations, a full assessment of the health impact of the 
development should be required.  

An additional policy has been included in the local plan (policy HH2 
Development and health), setting out that all development should 
support an improvement in public health and a reduction in health 
inequalities. It requires health impact assessments (HIA) for 
development proposals that the city council considers would have 
the potential to have a significant adverse impact on health and 
wellbeing.  
 
The policy also sets out that the following types of development will 
be carefully controlled to avoid possible adverse impacts on health:  

 Hot food takeaways 

 Off-licences  

 Shisha bars and cafes  

 Payday lenders, betting shops and amusement arcades 
 

P
age 1779



 

Where new facilities related to points A-D above can be justified, 
these shall be located away from places that are regularly 
frequented by younger people such as schools and youth facilities. 
The proximity to other sensitive community uses will also be 
considered, for example refuges and temporary accommodation for 
the homeless.  
 

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group would like to see the policy 
make some reference to wider community health services, and also 
the integration agenda focussing on health and social care.  
 
 
 

The scope of the policy has been broadened to include health and 
social care along with primary health care services. The policy is 
now entitled “provision of health and social care facilities” and sets 
out:  
 

Improvements in the quality and accessibility of health and 
social care facilities will be supported.  
 
Where it would help to improve health outcomes whilst 
maintaining an appropriate level of accessibility for local 
residents, the merging of primary health care facilities such 
as GP practices, and their amalgamation with other health 
and social care facilities, will be supported. 
 
Primary health care facilities shall be co-located with other 
public facilities where possible, in order to provide a stronger 
focus of public services for local communities and to promote 
linked trips. 

 
The introduction/justification to new policy HH1 (Supporting better 
health) refers to the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which has 
given local authorities new responsibilities for public health, joining 
up local health policy with all other areas of work. As part of this, a 
key aim is to better integrate health and social care services 
including wider community health services. It is then recognised that 
it is vital for health considerations to be integrated into all aspects of 
the Local Plan.  
 

P
age 1780



 

Policy HH1 sets out that significant improvements in the health of 
Salford residents, and reductions in health inequalities in the city, will 
be sought, with criterion 2 specifically supporting the provision of 
social care and wider community health services.  
 

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group request that they be 
involved at the earliest stage so as to ensure that plans can be made 
and implemented to meet the health needs of residents.  

Policy HH1 (now HH3 Provision of health and social care) has been 
amended setting out that developers should engage with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group at the earliest opportunity in order to 
determine the health care requirements associated with new 
development.   
 

The policy should be amended to be clear how the need for health 
care facilities will be calculated and the scale and type of housing 
development to which this requirement applies (developer).   
 

The policy has been amended to clarify that:   
 

Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 shall 
ensure that appropriate provision is made for primary health 
care facilities. Individual developments that would generate a 
significant additional demand for primary health care, 
including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be 
required to incorporate appropriate primary health care 
facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made 
elsewhere within the local area.  

 
Further detail on how the need for health care facilities will be set out 
in a supplementary planning document (SPD).  
 

There should not be a default assumption that contributions towards 
new provision are justified, rather the need should be considered on 
a case-by-case basis having regard to existing facilities in the area 
and their level of utilisation (developer).  
  

The policy has been amended, setting out:  
 

Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 shall 
ensure that appropriate provision is made for primary health 
care facilities. Individual developments that would generate a 
significant additional demand for primary health care, 
including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will be 
required to incorporate appropriate primary health care 
facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made 
elsewhere within the local area. 

P
age 1781



 

 
Smaller developments may also need to make provision for health 
facilities, but this will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis. Policy 
PC1 (Planning conditions and obligations) identifies health as one of 
the priorities for the use of planning obligations. 
  

The policy does not yet provide sufficient details to explain how the 
developer would assess whether it must provide health care facilities 
and specifically:  
What scale of housing development would be liable? It only states 
‘major new housing development’. 
What scale of demand would trigger a need for provision and how 
would this be assessed? The Policy states ‘significant additional 
demand’ but how would this be measured? 
Who would the developer need to consult to understand capacity in 
the local area? It is assumed that this would be the Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group but it should be set out clearly as a step in the 
process (developer). 
 

The policy has been amended setting out:  
 

Areas that are subject to a masterplan under Policy EF2 
should ensure that appropriate provision is made for primary 
health care facilities. Individual developments that would 
generate a significant additional demand for primary health 
care, including all those involving 300 or more dwellings, will 
be required to incorporate appropriate primary health care 
facilities, unless satisfactory provision can be made 
elsewhere within the local area. 

 
Further detail on the need for health care facilities will be set out in a 
supplementary planning document (SPD). 
 
The policy has also been amended, setting out that developers 
should engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group at the earliest 
opportunity in order to determine the health care requirements 
associated with new development.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy HH1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy HH1 has been renumbered HH3 and renamed ‘Provision of 
health and social care facilities’ 

Due to the inclusion of two additional policies in the health chapter, 
and the expansion of the scope of the policy due to the need for 
greater integration between health and social care. 
 

 

P
age 1782



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: HH2 SALFORD ROYAL HOSPITAL  

(POLICY NOW RENUMBERED HH4) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

There is ambition to move a range of community and other services 
for Salford’s population away from the Salford Royal Hospital site 
and into the community, at a neighbourhood level. The NHS CCG 
would like this referenced in the policy.  
 

Text has been added to the introduction/justification to the policy to 
reflect these comments.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy HH1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy HH2 has been renumbered so it is now HH4.  Due to the inclusion of two additional policies in the health chapter. 
 

 

P
age 1783



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: CHAPTER 13 ACCESSIBILITY (GENERAL COMMENTS)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General comments  

Linkages to the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 should 
be referred to in this chapter (TFGM).  

The introduction to the chapter has been amended to explain the 
role of this strategy and how it relates to the Local Plan.   

Support in the accessibility policies in principle subject to continued 
dialogue with TFGM (TFGM).  

The support is welcomed.  

Infrastructure requirements and delivery  

The plan should identify the infrastructure required to support 
growth, including: 

 Phasing 

 funding  

 capacity enhancements  

 requirements for new infrastructure  
 
The site allocations and Salford Quays were referred to specifically 
in this regard, and it was considered that further detail should be 
added to the plan to reflect the above (Highways England/ 
developer/individuals).  

Policy A1 makes reference to ensuring that development is phased 
with the provision of sufficient transport infrastructure. The 
requirements will generally be determined through a transport 
assessment associated with a planning application, and secured 
through planning conditions and obligations. Similar references are 
made in the Local Plan with regards to securing the delivery of 
education and health infrastructure.  
 
Various pieces of work are ongoing to determine the strategic 
infrastructure required to support the scale of growth proposed in 
Salford and across the wider conurbation. The potential impacts on 
the highway network of planned development across the Greater 
Manchester conurbation are currently being assessed by Transport 
for Greater Manchester (TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and 
the identification of potential solutions to address existing and/or 
future problems, will be an important part of the evidence base 
underpinning Greater Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s 
Local Plan. The ten Greater Manchester local authorities and 
Highways England are engaged in this process. In addition to this 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 

P
age 1784



 

 
 

Where infrastructure delivery is subject to contributions from 
developers/partners it would be useful to explain this (TFGM).  

As infrastructure delivery arrangements can be subject to change, it 
is considered more appropriate to include such information in the 
infrastructure plan which will be published alongside the Publication 
Draft Local Plan in late 2019.  

Requiring allocations to fund infrastructure is unlawful and does not 
have regard to existing need or development viability (developer).  
 

The principle of new development delivering, or contributing to the 
provision of, infrastructure has been a feature of the planning system 
for many years. Paragraph 23b-002-20140306 of the Planning 
Practice Guidance states that: 
“Developers may be asked to provide contributions for infrastructure 
in several ways. This may be by way of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy and planning obligations in the form of section 106 agreements 
and section 278 highway agreements.” Requiring allocations to fund 
infrastructure, where it is necessary for the development to proceed, 
is therefore clearly lawful. 

  

Other significant changes made to chapter 13 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Introduction of a new policy on sustainable streets (Revised Draft 
Policy A3).  

Streets are an essential component of the city and the role of streets 
in recent years has increasingly become focussed on the movement 
of traffic. The new policy seeks to take opportunities to deliver more 
sustainable streets so that these spaces can fulfil a wide range of 
social, economic and environmental roles and become more 
attractive places to move through and spend time in.   

Various - see individual policy tables for detail See individual policy tables for detail 

 

P
age 1785



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A1 SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT STRATEGY 

(The policy reference remains the same in Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the policy (developer, Environment Agency, CPRE, 
Highways England) and reference to Manchester Airport being a 
priority destination for improved access (Manchester Airport Group).  
 

The support is welcomed.  

Some of the policy relates to areas outside of Salford, which is not 
appropriate (developer).  

The locations referred to outside of Salford include Manchester 
Airport, which is a key international gateway providing connections 
across the world and other very significant concentrations of 
economic and leisure activity (e.g. Trafford Park and the Trafford 
Centre). These destinations provide significant employment 
opportunities and are important in meeting the economic and social 
needs of Salford’s residents. It is therefore appropriate to encourage 
improved access to these locations, and this may be achieved in 
part by maximising opportunities to interchange in Salford.  

The priority should seek to link areas of high unemployment to job 
opportunities (individual).  

Ensuring that areas experiencing high unemployment have good 
transport links to the concentrations of employment is recognised as 
an important priority. In response to this issue, policy A1 has been 
amended to explain that the city’s transport network should be 
inclusive and accessible to all users, as this is considered more 
appropriate than referencing a specific group of users.  

The expansion of Logistics North is an accessible location with 
potential to link into the rail network and would contribute to B) 
promoting the sustainable use of freight (developer). This developer 
has also suggested that the policy should prioritise accessible and 
deliverable sites which help maximise the return from investments in 
infrastructure. 

The expansion of Logistics North in Salford would require incursions 
into the country park committed as part of the original planning 
permission for the site. Given this, and in the context of the 
employment land supply identified at the Greater Manchester level, it 
is not considered appropriate to expand the Logistics North site.  
 
In response to the second point raised, the reasoned justification to 
the policy explains that the development strategy will assist in 

P
age 1786



 

delivering this policy, particularly important in this regard is the 
emphasis on securing high density development in accessible 
locations.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy A1  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy makes reference to ensuring that development is phased 
with the provision of sufficient transport infrastructure and services, 
and minimises any adverse impacts on transport networks.  

The capacity of existing transport infrastructure was raised as a 
concern in a large number of the representations, and it was 
therefore considered important to be explicit in the Local Plan that 
this would be phased accordingly alongside development and that 
impacts on transport networks would be minimised. The 
infrastructure requirements will generally be determined through a 
transport assessment associated with a planning application, and 
secured through planning conditions, planning obligations or s278 
agreements. Similar references are made in the Local Plan with 
regards to securing the delivery of education and health 
infrastructure.   

 

P
age 1787



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A2 TRANSPORT HIERARCHY  

(The policy reference remains the same in Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the policy (CPRE, individual)  The support is welcomed. 

Concern that other road users are prioritised above 
commercial/service vehicles and the policy should clarify that 
schemes would not have an adverse impact on the movements of 
commercial/service vehicle (Royal Mail).  
 

No amendments are proposed in response to these comments. The 
application of the hierarchy should not have any significant adverse 
impact on commercial/service vehicle movements, but it will be vital 
that walking and cycling are prioritised if Salford is to be an 
attractive, liveable city, and sustainable travel is to be promoted. The 
introduction/justification to Revised Draft Local Plan policy A2 
explains that in applying the hierarchy, consideration should be 
given to the function of an area or street, recognising that Salford 
contains a number of routes which are strategically important for 
vehicle movements. Further support to enable the efficient 
movement of service/delivery vehicles is provided through Revised 
Draft Local Plan policy A8 (Motor vehicle parking provision and drop-
off facilities in new developments), which has been amended to 
require that sufficient drop-off points are provided for these vehicles 
in new developments.  

Emergency vehicles should be the highest priority (individuals). Policy A2 has been amended to explain that new developments and 
transport schemes should ensure appropriate access for emergency 
vehicles. Given the significance of the issue, but the fact that 
emergency service access will be the exception rather than a 
commonplace occurrence, emergency services now sit outside the 
hierarchy. 

The needs of pedestrians with pushchairs should be given greater 
consideration in new developments (individual). 

Policy A2 has been amended to explain that the needs of all users 
should be taken into account in the application of the hierarchy, and 
examples of some of the more vulnerable users (such as those with 
pushchairs) are cited in the reasoned justification.   

  

P
age 1788



 

Other significant changes made to policy A2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A  

 

P
age 1789



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A3 WALKING AND CYCLING 

(The policy reference has been changed to A4 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

 Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The aspiration to secure a modal shift is supported, but further 
investment in cycling infrastructure is required (individuals).  
 

The support is welcomed. Revised Draft Local Plan policy A4 
provides a positive framework for securing ongoing improvements to 
the city’s cycling infrastructure (both the route network and cycle 
parking provision). Policy A4 seeks to ensure that development 
makes an appropriate contribution towards this. The need for further 
investment in cycling infrastructure in order to encourage a modal 
shift is acknowledged, and the Cycling and Walking Commissioner 
for Greater Manchester submitted a report to the Combined 
Authority in December 20171 which includes proposals to publish a 
detailed Greater Manchester-wide walking and cycling infrastructure 
plan and establish a 10-year, £1.5 billion infrastructure fund for 
walking and cycling. 
 

Waterways could be used more effectively as cycling routes 
(Environment Agency). 
  

Other parts of the Local Plan recognise the potential of the city’s 
waterways and support the development of high quality, accessible 
pedestrian and cycling routes along them (including policy D9 
Waterside development). Revised Draft Local Plan policy A4 has 
been amended to reflect this objective.   
 

Pedestrians (particularly those with buggies) should be given greater 
consideration in new developments (individual).  
 

Policy A2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan requires that 
developments and infrastructure schemes are designed to promote 
a transport hierarchy that prioritises the needs of pedestrians and 
cyclists above other road users. Policy A2 has been expanded to 
explain that the needs of all users should be taken into account in 
applying the hierarchy and the introduction/justification to the policy 

                                                           
1 Greater Manchester’s Cycling and Walking Commissioner – December 2017. Made to Move – 15 steps to transform Greater Manchester by changing the way we get around. 

P
age 1790



 

highlights some of the more vulnerable groups (including those with 
pushchairs) whose needs should be given consideration.   

  

Other significant changes made to policy A3   

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Revised Draft Local Plan policy A4 has been amended to direct 
development to contribute to the delivery of walkable 
neighbourhoods.   
    

The attractiveness of walking and cycling is dependent on distance 
and the nature and quality of routes. Promoting walkable 
neighbourhoods encourages physical activity and reduces reliance 
on public transport and the private car. The vast majority of 
development will be high density, mixed-use schemes on previously 
developed sites within the urban area, which are within easy and 
convenient distance of local shops, facilities and employment 
opportunities. Whilst the overall development strategy will promote 
walkable communities, it will also be important to ensure that the 
layout of development, and mix and location of different uses within 
it should also create the conditions to encourage active travel.  
 

Revised Draft Local Plan policy A4 has been amended to identify a 
wider range of measures by which the city’s walking and cycling 
network can be enhanced, including reallocating road space, 
protecting and enhancing the city’s recreational routes, introducing 
additional wayfinding signage and crossing points and developing 
the potential of the city’s waterways as walking and cycling routes. 

With Greater Manchester’s first Walking and Cycling Commissioner 
appointed2 there is a strong drive to making cycling and walking a 
viable, attractive and important part of the transport network in 
Greater Manchester. Revised Draft Local Plan policy A4 has been 
expanded to identify and provide support for a wider range of 
measures to enhance the city’s walking and cycling network. 
Enabling more people to cycle safely on segregated routes makes 
cycling more accessible to a wider range of people, and the 
reallocation of road space to cycle routes in the right location can 
therefore make an efficient use of scarce road space. The Greater 
Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 aims to provide for sustainable 
modes on the highway network3, and identifies the reallocation of 
road space as an opportunity. The other additions to the policy 

                                                           
2 https://greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/chris-boardman/ 
3 GMCA (February 2017) Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, paragraph 137, page 36 

P
age 1791



 

comprise priorities already identified in other parts of the plan which 
it is considered appropriate to cross reference in this policy.     
 

Revised Draft Local Plan policy A4 has been amended to require 
that development incorporates facilities for cycle hire/cycle share 
schemes where appropriate.  

Cycle hire schemes are another way of making cycling a more 
accessible mode of travel. The Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040 has established a commitment to work with partners 
to support a range of modes of transport including cycle hire 
schemes 4 and there are already cycle hire schemes operational in 
Greater Manchester. Dockless cycle hire schemes can be located 
and unlocked by a smart phone offering the potential to extend cycle 
hire schemes more widely across the city without the need to 
provide docking stations. There may be opportunities to 
accommodate facilities for cycle hire schemes within the larger, 
mixed-use schemes in and around the City Centre and Salford 
Quays, and the policy directs applicants to consider the need for this 
provision where appropriate.  
 

Some changes have been made to the cycle parking standards in 
Annex C as follows:  
 

 Standards for care homes increased from 1 space per 40 
residents to 1 space per 10 bedrooms.  
 
 

 Requirement for communal cycle parking within residential 
developments to be provided in the form of a locker. 

 
 
 

 Reference added to ensuring that where separate cycle 
parking is not required in properties which have their own 
garage, that the garage should be of a sufficient size to 
accommodate cycle parking.  

Explanation of changes to cycle parking standards:  
 
 

 Care homes: This is comparable to the standards proposed 
to be applied to hotel developments and is considered to 
better meet the likely demand for spaces from staff. 
 

 Communal parking residential development: This is the 
preferred type of parking in these circumstances where cycle 
parking will be for longer periods of time, providing greater 
security and protection from the elements.    
 

 To provide clarity and ensure garages are of a sufficient size 
to accommodate cycle parking provision where separate 
parking is not provided.  
 

                                                           
4 GMCA (February 2017) Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, Policy 1, page 36 

P
age 1792



 

 

 Railway and bus stations and Metrolink stops identified as 
types of development to which consideration should be given 
to the need for cycle parking on a case by case basis.  

 

 Providing cycle parking at public transport interchanges will 
assist in encouraging sustainable travel choices. 
 

 

P
age 1793



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A4 PUBLIC TRANSPORT   

(The policy reference has been changed to A5 in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Inadequacy of public transport services  

Public transport services in the west of the city are inadequate and 
improvements are required to support the housing allocations and 
connect people with job opportunities, particularly in the following 
locations (community group/individuals):  
 

 Irlam and Cadishead 

 Worsley, Boothstown and Ellenbrook  
 
  

Policy A5 of the Revised Draft Local Plan positively supports 
measures to improve the capacity and integration of public transport 
services and maximise opportunities to interchange, in order to 
facilitate more efficient radial and orbital travel across Greater 
Manchester, improving access between a wider range of locations. 
Whilst these broad objectives are supported in the Local Plan, 
Transport for Greater Manchester will have a central role in 
identifying and securing improvements in public transport 
infrastructure during the plan period.   
 
There are some area-specific proposals included within the Local 
Plan which relate to the areas identified as being of concern in the 
comments received:   

 The Local Plan supports the improvement of the city’s 
transport interchanges, focussing specifically on its town 
centres and railway stations. It is recognised that Irlam 
station has the potential to become a more significant 
interchange, having regard to the scale of development 
planned in this part of the city.  

 The further expansion of rapid transit routes along the A580 
and elsewhere where this improves the accessibility of key 
locations.  

 
Policy A1 provides the overarching sustainable transport strategy. 
This policy has been amended to require that new development is 
phased with the provision of sufficient transport infrastructure, and 

P
age 1794



 

this would include public transport infrastructure, the need for which 
would be determined through a transport assessment prepared in 
support of a planning application. 
 

Alternative proposals suggested 

Some alternative public transport proposals were suggested 
(individuals):   
 

1. Larger car park at Irlam Station 
2. Re-opening of redundant railway lines in Irlam and 

Cadishead. 
3. Rail station and park and ride in Little Hulton 
4. Further Metrolink extensions to Cadishead (with a park and 

ride), Worsley, Walkden and Bolton.  
5. Extension of the A580 Guided busway to Boothstown and 

Tyldesley. 
 
 
 

The Local Plan supports the continued investment in Salford’s public 
transport network, however the identification and prioritisation of 
major transport infrastructure investments such as those suggested 
in the comments is considered and determined by Transport for 
Greater Manchester, having regard to existing capacity issues and 
the scale and distribution of new development. A response is 
provided in relation to the proposals suggested: 
  

1) It is understood that there are aspirations to expand the 
existing Irlam Station car park, which would require the 
acquisition of land outside of the existing car park. The 
Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
(GMSF) proposes to allocate land to the North of Irlam 
Station for residential development. GMSF Allocation 32 
explains that the development of this site should include a 
new direct pedestrian and cycle route to Irlam Station from 
the west and enhance cycle parking and car parking facilities 
at the station. 

2) A proposal was launched by the Hamilton Davis Trust in 
March 2017 to reopen the rail line across the viaduct to 
create a heritage railway or alternative public transport route, 
and provide a pedestrian/cycle route along it. It is understood 
that discussions regarding these proposals are ongoing 
between the relevant parties, and in the short term its 
reopening as a cycleway/footway is under consideration. 

3) Transport for Greater Manchester has identified a potential 
rail station at Little Hulton as one of a number of possible 
new stations across Greater Manchester that require further 
consideration.  

P
age 1795



 

4) Transport for Greater Manchester is engaged with Greater 
Manchester districts in producing a transport programme to 
respond to the emerging GMSF. It is anticipated that this 
process will lead to the identification of a number of other 
proposed extensions to the network. Some of the locations 
suggested are being considered as part of this process, and 
point 1d of Revised Draft Local Plan policy A5 refers to the 
potential conversion of the Wigan rail line (which runs 
through Walkden) to tram-train use.   

5) Policy A5 of the Revised Draft Local Plan recognises the 
significant opportunities rapid transit presents and supports 
its further expansion along the A580.  

 

Other comments  

Improvements to the public transport networks are supported 
provided this is not at the expense of road capacity (Conservative 
Group). 
 

Policy A1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan seeks to ensure the 
efficient, effective and safe operation of the city’s highways. 
Encouraging a modal shift to public transport by enhancing the city’s 
public transport network will have an important role in this regard. 
Where public transport proposals affect the operation or capacity of 
the highway, such as the reallocation of road space, the impacts 
would need to be carefully considered. A new policy A3 (Sustainable 
streets) highlights the importance of reconciling the different 
functions of streets, and refers to the potential need to reallocate 
some road space to support walking, cycling and public transport 
use. 
 

Question deliverability of the extension of Metrolink to Port Salford 
(Individuals) 

Having regard to the major development opportunities identified in 
this area, Transport for Greater Manchester is currently appraising a 
range of transport measures to serve this area, including the 
extension of Metrolink. The deliverability of the proposed extension 
will therefore be better understood in due course and it remains in 
the Local Plan as a longer term aspiration.  
 

Eccles Station should be identified as an interchange with particular 
opportunities (community group).  

Eccles Town Centre has excellent public transport links, and its 
proximity to Salford Quays and other major concentrations of 

P
age 1796



 

employment and leisure opportunities at Trafford Park and the 
Trafford Centre means that it has the potential to function as an 
important interchange. The reasoned justification to the policy has 
been amended to explain this.    
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy A4  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference is made in Revised Draft Local Plan policy A5 to 
supporting proposals that enhance air quality and reduce emissions.  

Poor air quality in Salford is primarily associated with road transport, 
however some public transport vehicles will also contribute towards 
this. The Revised Draft Local Plan seeks to secure an improvement 
in the city’s air quality, and whilst this will be achieved through a 
range of measures, the introduction of low and zero emission buses 
and the electrification of rail lines to reduce diesel emissions will 
make a contribution towards this.   
 

Reference is made in Revised Draft Local Plan policy A5 to 
supporting the continued improvement of Salford Crescent Station.  

To reflect its importance as a regional interchange and the 
aspirations in the Salford Rail Strategy to secure further 
improvements to its facilities and to investigate the potential to 
provide additional platforms.  

Reference is made in Revised Draft Local Plan policy A5 to 
supporting the development of new Metrolink lines connecting 
Victoria in Manchester with Salford Crescent Station, Salford Quays 
with Salford Crescent Station and the conversion of the rail line 
between Salford Crescent Station and Wigan to tram-train use.  
 

These new connections would support the growth and success of 
the City Centre and Salford Quays, two of the most important 
economic locations in the country expected to accommodate very 
high levels of development during the plan period. The expansion of 
Metrolink into these areas could bring huge benefits, including better 
connectivity with the wider public transport network, reduced 
congestion and improved air quality. These proposals are currently 
being considered by Transport for Greater Manchester.  

 

P
age 1797



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A5 SUSTAINABLE MOVEMENT OF FREIGHT  

(The policy reference has been changed to A6 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The ambition to secure a modal shift is supported (individual).  
 

The support is welcomed.  

There is concern with regards to the additional HGV movements 
associated with Port Salford (individuals).  
 

One of the key attributes of Port Salford is its potential to remove 
freight from the roads and move it more sustainably by rail and 
water. It will be important to ensure that a significant amount of the 
freight is moved in this way rather than on the road and the delivery 
of the necessary infrastructure to enable this is fundamental to the 
success of the scheme. The Revised Draft Local Plan policy EC5/1 
Port Salford (which allocates the element of the scheme which 
already has planning permission and is under construction) explains 
that the delivery of the remaining employment floorspace will be 
contingent on the rail link and highway improvements being 
completed and operational. The Revised Draft Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework allocates land in the Green Belt to the north and 
west of Barton Aerodrome for the major expansion of Port Salford 
(GM Allocation 33), and the policy is clear that the development of 
this part of the site will not be commenced until the rail link, highway 
improvements, canal berths and container terminal associated with 
the permitted Port Salford scheme to the south of the A57 have been 
completed and are operational. It also requires that the expansion of 
Port Salford is designed to form an integrated facility with the 
existing permitted element, encouraging all occupiers to utilise the 
rail and water connections for freight movement.  
 
The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 

P
age 1798



 

(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework and the Salford Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester Local Authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 

 
 

  

  

Other significant changes made to policy A5  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy has been augmented to support the development of 
urban distribution centres that reduce vehicle movements and utilise 
zero-carbon last mile delivery.   
 

These innovative solutions are likely to be important in the future and 
have the potential to service the demand for deliveries in a more 
sustainable way. It is therefore considered appropriate for the policy 
to encourage development that would support such proposals.  

 

P
age 1799



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A6 Highway Network  

(The policy reference has been changed to A7 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Refusal of development on transport grounds  

The refusal of development where the transport impacts are severe 
was supported (Conservative Group). However, others considered 
that the capacity of the highway network should not be a reason for 
refusal where the council have implemented active traffic 
management measures to reduce the capacity of the network 
(developer).  
 

The policy position to refuse development on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts are severe reflects paragraph 
109 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and it is not 
considered appropriate to deviate from this national policy. Transport 
assessments will be used to determine whether a development’s 
impact on transport will be acceptable, and the assessment will need 
to consider the existing highway conditions, including a description 
and functional classification of the highway network in the vicinity of 
the site, reflecting any established traffic management measures 
which may alter the capacity of the network.  A new bullet point has 
been added to the policy on transport assessments to clarify this. 

Transport impacts of development  

A transport assessment of individual allocations and the combined 
impact of all allocations is required (Highways England). 
 

The potential impacts on the highway network of planned 
development across the Greater Manchester conurbation are 
currently being assessed by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM). The conclusions of this work, and the identification of 
potential solutions to address existing and/or future problems, will be 
an important part of the evidence base underpinning Greater 
Manchester’s Spatial Framework and Salford’s Local Plan. The ten 
Greater Manchester local authorities and Highways England are 
engaged in this process. 
 
Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and proposed 
actions, from the study as they emerge. 

Existing congestion and capacity issues on the city’s highway 
network need to be addressed to ensure the plan does not 
exacerbate existing problems. Worsley, Irlam and Cadishead and 
the motorway network cited as particular problem areas in this 
regard (individuals/community group). 
 

P
age 1800



 

 

Development and associated traffic will exacerbate existing air 
quality issues (individuals/community group).  
   

Air quality impacts on people’s health and the natural environment, 
and whilst planning policy cannot solve immediate air quality issues, 
it has a role to play in ensuring that development is delivered in such 
a way that the impacts are minimised and reasonably mitigated. The 
Local Plan recognises this and seeks to address it in a number of 
ways, including the development strategy which seeks to reduce the 
need to travel, the accessibility policies which promote and support a 
modal shift and encourage the use of low emission vehicles, and the 
various energy, green infrastructure, biodiversity and recreation 
policies. A new air quality policy has been added to the Revised 
Draft Local Plan which seeks to substantially improve the city’s air 
quality and identifies the various means by which this will be 
achieved. Further work on addressing air pollution is taking place at 
the Greater Manchester level. 
 

Highway maintenance     

Developers should contribute towards highways maintenance 
(individual).  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. Financial contributions from developers (known as 
planning obligations) can only be sought by the city council to assist 
in mitigating the unacceptable impacts of proposed development. 
Planning obligations must be necessary to make a development 
acceptable in planning terms, directly related to it, and 
fair/reasonable in scale and kind to the development. Having regard 
to this, policy PC1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan explains when 
planning obligations and/or conditions will be used and what they 
may be used for. This includes transport infrastructure, however 
contributions are generally more likely to be sought to fund the 
provision of new or improved infrastructure to serve a development, 
rather than the maintenance of highways, for which the city council 
has its own budget. There may be limited circumstances where a 
developer remains liable for maintenance once new highway 
infrastructure is in operation, such as the provision of a new bridge. 

Comments regarding specific highway schemes 

P
age 1801



 

Concerns were expressed regarding the proposed M62/A57 link:  
 

 The A57/M62 link road will worsen congestion issues on the 
A57 (individuals).  

 No new access to the SRN should be permitted unless it is 
required to support growth (Highways England)  

 The ecological impact of the link road, and identification of 
appropriate compensation (GMEU).  

 
Concerns were expressed that other proposed infrastructure, for 
example the Carrington Spur would worsen congestion in the Irlam 
and Cadishead area. 

Highways England’s North West Quadrant Study is looking at 
strategic changes to the motorway network between junctions 8 and 
18 of the M60. The A57/M62 link road is being considered alongside 
other solutions as part of this work. Regard will be had to the 
conclusions, and proposed actions, from the study as they emerge. 
Policy A7 has been amended to remove reference to the provision of 
the A57/M62 link road and instead the policy refers to measures to 
significantly improve capacity, performance and connectivity on the 
city’s motorway network.  
 

Other highways proposals were put forward, which fall into two 
broad categories:  
 

 Motorway enhancements (a second junction on the M62, an 
M61 relief route, southbound access from the M60 to the 
A580, alternative high speed road links); and  

 Schemes to improve the permeability of Cadishead and the 
capacity of the road network in this part of the city (new road 
to Partington/Flixton, utilising the Cadishead railway bridge 
as a crossing over the Manchester Ship Canal, extension of 
the Carrington Spur to Cadishead, improvements to the A57).  

 
 

As discussed above, Highways England’s North West Quadrant 
Study is looking at strategic changes to the motorway network 
between junctions 8 and 18 of the M60. A range of solutions are 
being considered, which may include some of those suggested in 
the representations. Regard will be had to the conclusions, and 
proposed actions, from the study as they emerge. 
 
 

Other significant changes made to policy A6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

P
age 1802



 

 

None  N/A 

P
age 1803



   
 

 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A7 PARKING AND DROP OFF FACILITIES IN NEW DEVELOPMENT  

(The policy reference has been changed to A8 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Low parking provision in new developments may result in increased 
off-street parking and the local plan should provide guidance as to 
how this could be mitigated (residents’ association).  
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. Policy A8 of the Revised Draft Local Plan explains that 
where development could lead to levels of off-site parking that would 
have an adverse impact on the surrounding area, mitigation 
measures would be required. Resident parking schemes and on-
street parking restrictions are cited within the policy as examples of 
potential mitigation measures.   
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy A7  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Reference made to the need to consider the requirements of delivery 
vehicle drop-off points within developments.  
 

Having regard to the continuing increase in online shopping,1 the 
needs of delivery vehicles should be considered within 
developments, to ensure that they can function safely and 
successfully and to avoid unnecessary traffic movements.  

Area-based maximum car parking standards are included within the 
policy.  

Area-based maximum parking standards have been introduced to 
assist in optimising development densities within the city’s most 
accessible locations and help to encourage sustainable travel 
choices and assist in managing congestion. This will also provide 
greater clarity to developers bringing forward development 
proposals.  

                                                           
1 Lichfields – August 2017. We all knew it but now the evidence is there – our town centres are changing. Extract as follows: According to Experian, in 2016 the proportion of 
sales in special forms of trading (i.e. non-store retail activity such as mail order sales, some internet sales and so on) as a proportion of comparison sales was 13% and this is 
projected to rise to 17% by 2035; http://lichfields.uk/blog/2017/august/21/we-all-knew-it-but-now-the-evidence-is-there-our-town-centres-are-changing/ 

 

P
age 1804

http://lichfields.uk/blog/2017/august/21/we-all-knew-it-but-now-the-evidence-is-there-our-town-centres-are-changing/


   
 

 

 

P
age 1805



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A8 CITY CENTRE CAR PARKING  

(The policy reference has been changed to A9 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

None  N/A 

  

Other significant changes made to policy A8  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A statement has been added to the policy to explain that reducing 
the amount of land used for car parking within the City Centre will be 
a particular priority within the inner relief road.  

This reflects the prominence of surface car parking currently 
occupying the area, which represents an inefficient use of land in 
this highly accessible location where there are significant 
opportunities to expand the area’s role as a business, tourism and 
culture location and vibrant neighbourhood.  
 

 

P
age 1806



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A9 PARK AND RIDE FACILITIES  

(The policy reference has been changed to A10 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Highways England should be involved in the implementation of park 
and ride facilities as these are likely to be close to the SRN 
(Highways England).  
 

An addition has been made to the policy to provide clarity that 
schemes should be developed in conjunction with Transport for 
Greater Manchester and where appropriate other organisations such 
as Highways England and Network Rail. 

The development of park and ride facilities should be evidence 
based and considered among other options to improve connectivity 
(TFGM)  

Policy A10 of the Revised Draft Local Plan explains that schemes 
will only be supported where they form part of a wider strategy for 
promoting sustainable travel choices and recognises that on highly 
accessible sites built development may be a more appropriate 
solution to improve connectivity, increase public transport use and 
promote active travel. An addition has been made to the policy to 
provide clarity that schemes should be developed in conjunction with 
Transport for Greater Manchester and where appropriate other 
organisations such as Highways England and Network Rail. 

Park and ride sites in the Green Belt are opposed (individual).  
 

The Draft Local Plan included a requirement to set aside land within 
the EC4/1 Port Salford expansion site (a Green Belt site) for a park 
and ride facility, and there has been some objection to this 
requirement. This proposal has not been included in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan, which does not identify any other sites within the 
Green Belt for the development of park and ride facilities.      

Irlam Station needs a larger car park (individual).  
 

The Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
proposes the allocation of land in the Green Belt north of Irlam 
Station for residential development and requires that the 
development of the site should include a new direct pedestrian and 
cycle route to Irlam Station from the west and enhance cycle parking 

and car parking facilities at the station.  
  

P
age 1807



 

Other significant changes made to policy A9 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A  

 

P
age 1808



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A10 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS   

(The policy reference has been changed to A11 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The policy goes beyond the NPPF requirement (HBF/developer) 
 
 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments and it is noted that the wording in the latest version of the 
National Planning Policy Framework has been strengthened 
(paragraph 110 (e)) to direct applications for development to be 
designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations. In setting local 
parking standards, local authorities are also directed to take into 
account the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for 
charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles.  
 
There has been a significant uptake in ultra-low emission vehicles 
(ULEVs) since the original NPPF was published, and efforts being 
made by manufacturers along with the various initiatives being 
progressed by the government demonstrate that electric vehicle (EV) 
technology is a viable long-term proposition for the future of road 
transport. The Government has announced an end to the sale of all 
conventional petrol and diesel cars by 2040, and has recently 
published its Clean Growth Strategy (October 2017), which identifies 
‘accelerating the shift to low carbon transport’ as one of its key 
actions. The strategy explains that the government wants to have 
one of the best electric vehicle charging networks in the world, and 
recognises that residential and workplace charging forms part of this. 
The Government’s Industrial Strategy1 proposes to undertake a 
package of measures to promote the uptake of zero emission 
vehicles and refers to a further £200 million of public investment to 

                                                           
1 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (November 2017) Industrial Strategy – Building a Britain fit for the future, page 145.  

P
age 1809



 

create a new charging infrastructure fund and a commitment to 
updating building regulations to mandate that all new residential 
developments must contain the enabling cabling for charge-points in 
new homes.   
 
Greater Manchester already has a well-developed electric vehicle 
public charge point network (launched in 2013), and the Greater 
Manchester Transport 2040 strategy seeks to expand this further. 
However, it is recognised that the majority of plug-in vehicle owners 
will charge their vehicles at home, at night time, during the off-peak 
period.2 This is the most convenient for drivers and maximises the 
environmental and economic benefits of electric vehicles by using 
cheaper, lower carbon night time electricity generation. Having 
regard to the more recent advancement of this technology and the 
government’s commitment to it, the proposed requirement within 
draft policy A11 is considered to be both appropriate and consistent 
with paragraphs 105 and 110 of the NPPF.  
 

Evidence is required to support the policy, including the 
consideration of impact on development viability and design and the 
policy should be more flexible to allow for lower provision should it 
not be viable (HBF/developers). 
 

The cost of installing this infrastructure within residential dwellings is 
considered to be fairly minimal, with supply costs estimated to 
between £750 and £1,500 per dwelling.3 These estimates date from 
2015, and the Office for Low Emission Vehicles has suggested that 
costs are likely to have reduced since then (due to greater 
production and take up), and has also provided some examples of 
current indicative costs from some of the larger suppliers of charge 
points, which suggests that charge points could be purchased and 
installed at the lower end of this range. With the opportunities to bulk 
purchase and install at the build stage, this could provide developers 
with further cost savings.  
 
This cost has been incorporated into the updated assessment of 
financial viability of residential development which has been 

                                                           
2 OLEV (September 2013) Driving the Future Today – A strategy for low emission vehicles in the UK, paragraph 27, page 9 
3 UKVSE (2015) Making the right connections – general procurement guidance for electric vehicle charge points, page 24 

P
age 1810



 

prepared by the city council in support of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan, enabling the city council to consider the impact of this 
requirement on development viability.    
 

The policy should be more flexible with regards to:  
 

 the form of charge point (‘plug socket’)  

 the approach for non-residential developments (i.e. ‘subject 
to negotiations’ rather than ‘every opportunity taken’ )  
 

Dedicated domestic charging units allow vehicle owners to charge 
their vehicles more safely and quickly than using a conventional 
three pin socket, therefore providing consumers with greater 
flexibility and supporting the uptake of electric vehicles. Maximising 
charging speed will become increasingly important as battery 
capacity improves resulting in potentially longer charge times. 
Dedicated charging units also have smart capabilities, meaning that 
they can receive, transmit and react to information, be accessed 
remotely, monitor energy consumption and promote energy 
efficiency. Dedicated charge points are supported by the Office for 
Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) in their Home Charge Scheme and 
are also recommended by the industry.4 The requirement for 
residential dwellings with a garage or driveway to include a 
dedicated charge point is therefore considered appropriate and 
proportionate. As EV technology is likely to evolve and advance 
significantly during the plan period, the policy has been expanded to 
explain that the provision of charge points should be in accordance 
with the minimum technical specification list published by OLEV, to 
ensure that the policy is flexible to accommodate changes to 
charging infrastructure.    
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy A10   

Change  
 

Reason for change  

                                                           
4 As set out in the UK Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment Association General Procurement Guidance for Electric Vehicle Charge Points (2015) and the BEAMA Guide to 

Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (2015). 

P
age 1811



 

Specific requirements are proposed for provision for electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure for residential developments with shared 
parking and for non-residential developments.   
 
 

The use of electric vehicles can make an important contribution to 
reducing emissions and take up of electric vehicles is forecast to 
increase significantly during the plan period. There is an expectation 
in the Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan (2016-2021) that 
Greater Manchester councils will adopt as best practice the most 
recent development and planning control guidance published jointly 
by the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) and 
Environmental Protection UK (EPUK) and subsequent updates.5 The 
IAQM/EPUK guidance which dates from Jan 2017 refers to 
principles of good practice, which include the provision of at least 1 
EV rapid charge per 10 residential dwellings/1,000sqm commercial 
floorspace and where on-site parking is provided for residential 
dwellings EV charging points for each parking space should be 
made.6 The policy has therefore been amended to incorporate a 
slightly amended version of these requirements.  

 

                                                           
5 Paragraph 6.2, page 34.  
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/downloads/file/228/greater_manchester_air_quality_action_plan_2016-21 
6Paragraph 5.10, page 17.  
 http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-quality-planning-guidance.pdf 

P
age 1812

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/downloads/file/228/greater_manchester_air_quality_action_plan_2016-21


 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A11 Barton Aerodrome  

(The policy reference has been changed to A12 in the Revised Draft Local Plan 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The policy should be more positively worded to support the airport’s 
improvement as an important economic and transport asset and its 
potential to host major events. Potential future investments are being 
considered through an investment plan (owner). 
 

The introduction/justification to the policy highlights the potential for 
the airport to increase its contribution to local economic growth. 
Policy A12 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been amended to 
make reference to ‘protecting and improving’ the airport in order to 
better reflect this ambition.  

Barton Aerodrome should be renamed as City Airport and Heliport 
(owner).  
 

The name of the airport has been changed several times in recent 
years and may be subject to further changes in the future. ‘Barton 
Aerodrome’ is a well-established, locally recognised name for the 
airport which also reflects its historic significance. It is therefore 
considered appropriate to continue to refer to it as Barton 
Aerodrome.  
    

Protection of the aerodrome is supported (The Conservative Group). 
 

The support is welcomed.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy A11 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The safeguarding zones for Barton Aerodrome have been added to 
the policies map.  

Safeguarding zones have been established for Barton Aerodrome 
and these are shown on the policies map in order to ensure that 
development does not have an unacceptable impact on the 
operational safety of the airport.  
 

 

P
age 1813



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A12 Aviation Safety at Manchester Airport  

(The policy reference has been changed to A13 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Manchester Airport’s safeguarded area is currently undergoing a 
review and may be subject to changes. It should not therefore be 
shown on the policies map (Manchester Airport Group).    
 

The Manchester Airport Group has more recently requested1 that the 
safeguarded area is shown on the policies map, explaining that there 
is no indication that these zones will be changed, and any changes 
would be made by the Civil Aviation Authority and stakeholders 
notified accordingly.   
 

Reference should be made in the reasoned justification to 
considering the impact of development on air traffic control (ATC) 
systems (Manchester Airport Group). 
   

The introduction/justification to policy A13 of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan has been amended to make reference to ATC systems.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy A12 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A  

 

                                                           
1 Email from Scott Howard at Manchester Airport Group, 10 October 2017.  

P
age 1814



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: A13 Safeguarding potential transport routes  

(The policy reference has been changed to A14 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support the continued protection of former transport routes (Salford 
City Council Conservative Group)  

Support is welcomed.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy A13 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1815



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: ENERGY AND DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE (GENERAL)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

***The following  comments are also considered against Policy 
EG1*** 
 
In paragraph 14.2, the reference to energy generation having the 
‘potential to have adverse impacts on local air quality if not properly 
controlled’ should be removed. Some types of energy generation 
can have this impact but air quality impacts are not exclusively a 
consideration of energy generation schemes whilst some energy 
generation proposals will have a nil impact (such as hydro and wind 
energy generation). This should be reflected in the Local Plan 
(developer).  
 

The introduction/justification text within the chapter has been 
reworked and the text referred to has been deleted.  
  

***The following  comments are also considered against Policy 
EG2*** 
 
Paragraph 14.6 refers to the benefits which renewable energy 
schemes can secure and alludes to potential support for such 
proposals. It would benefit from additional clarity by reference to the 
council being supportive of increasing the city’s renewable and low 
carbon capacity over the plan period (developer).  
 

The introduction/justification to Policy EG2 explains “renewable and 
low carbon energy schemes will be a significant component in 
making Salford a more sustainable city”.  
 
 

  

Other significant changes made to Chapter 14: Energy and digital infrastructure 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  

 

P
age 1816



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EG1 SUSTAINABLE ENERGY  

(POLICY TITLE CHANGED TO: SUSTAINABLE ENERGY IN NEW DEVELOPMENT)  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The Environment Agency welcomes the possibility of creating new 
renewable energy generation.  
 

The support is welcomed. 

Manchester Airport is supportive of the intention to mitigate and 
adapt to climate change and welcomes policies which seek to 
reduce carbon emissions, promote sustainable energy supplies and 
opportunities for renewable energy.   
 

The support is welcomed. 

It is welcomed that opportunities for ‘sustainable energy’ should not 
be constrained to those shown on Figure 10 (developer).  

 

The support is welcomed. 

***The following  comments are also considered against the energy 
and digital infrastructure chapter (general)*** 
 
In paragraph 14.2, the reference to energy generation having the 
‘potential to have adverse impacts on local air quality if not properly 
controlled’ should be removed. Some types of energy generation 
can have this impact but air quality impacts are not exclusively a 
consideration of energy generation schemes whilst some energy 
generation proposals will have a nil impact (such as hydro and wind 
energy generation). This should be reflected in the Local Plan 
(developer).  

 

The introduction/justification text within the chapter has been 
reworked and the text referred to has been deleted.  
 

It is welcomed that opportunities for ‘sustainable energy’ should not 
be constrained to those shown on Figure 10 (developer).  
 

The support is welcomed.  

P
age 1817



 

GMEU welcomes the recognition that developments have the 
potential for negative impacts on biodiversity and therefore 
ecological assessments are required.  
 

The support is welcomed. 

***The following  comments are also considered against Policy EG2 
Renewable and low carbon energy schemes*** 
 
Where hydropower is under consideration on the River Irwell and 
Manchester Ship Canal, schemes should look to enhance the 
ecological potential of currently failing Water Framework Directive 
waterbodies. An assessment of the waterbody should be 
undertaken. A fish easement should be included where a waterbody 
is failing (Environment Agency).    
 

A new policy has been included in the chapter (discussed further 
below). For ease of reading, renewable and low carbon energy 
schemes, including wind turbine development, are now considered 
in Policy EG2 (Renewable and low carbon energy schemes). Under 
the subheading ‘hydropower’, the policy sets out:  
  

“The development of hydropower schemes should protect 
and take opportunities to enhance the ecological interest and 
biodiversity of the waterway.  
 
Such schemes shall:  
A) Allow for the movement of multiple species and sizes 
of fish; 
B) Avoid any adverse reduction in water flows and 
levels; and 
C) Avoid any physical modifications to the river channel 
that could adversely affect plant life or invertebrates”. 

 

 

Other significant changes made to policy EG1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A new policy has been included in the chapter (Policy EG2 
Renewable and low carbon energy schemes). Renewable and low 
carbon energy schemes, including solar, district heat networks and 
hydropower are now considered under this policy, whereas in the 
Draft Local Plan renewable and low carbon energy schemes were 
considered under Policy EG1. Draft Local Plan Policy EG2 (Wind 
development) has also been deleted and its content on wind turbines 
included in the new Policy EG2. 

To improve readability.  

P
age 1818



 

 

Figure 10 sustainable energy opportunities has been amended 
removing ‘potential areas for growth of energy crops’.  

Given the location of Salford and the significant amount of high 
grade agricultural land, it is considered more appropriate for the 
emphasis to be on agricultural activity rather than energy crops.  
 
The reasoned justification to the policy sets out that it is possible that 
there may be renewable and low carbon energy potential outside the 
areas identified and such opportunities are in no way precluded by 
this policy. As such, the amended diagram does not rule out energy 
crops. 
 

The policy is amended as follows:  
 

New-build development shall adopt the principles of the 
energy hierarchy to achieve the following standards: 
 
A) All residential schemes: Exceed the fabric energy 
efficiency required under Part L of the Building Regulations 
2013, and any subsequent revisions, by at least 19%, and 
achieve a higher standard than is required to any subsequent 
revision to Building Regulations 
B) Non-residential development of 1,000 square metres 
or more: BREEAM very good or above 

 

There is a city council commitment to see the council push for 
energy efficiency standards that exceed building regulations. This 
reflects the importance of reducing the city’s greenhouse gas 
emissions. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 1819



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: EG2 WIND DEVELOPMENT 

(WIND ENERGY IS NOW DEALT WITH IN POLICY EG2 RENEWABLE AND LOW CARBON ENERGY SCHEMES) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

GMEU welcomes the recognition that such developments have the 
potential for negative impacts on biodiversity and therefore 
ecological assessments are required.  
 

The support is welcomed.  

Manchester Airport support the inclusion of Policy EG2 and strongly 
welcomes the reasoned justification which states proposals for wind 
energy development will only be supported in the areas identified 
where there are no unacceptable effects on air traffic safety, radar 
and telecommunications.  
 

The support is welcomed.  

***The following comments are also considered against the energy 
and digital infrastructure chapter (general)*** 
 
Paragraph 14.6 refers to the benefits which renewable energy 
schemes can secure and alludes to potential support for such 
proposals. It would benefit from additional clarity by reference to the 
council being supportive of increasing the city’s renewable and low 
carbon capacity over the plan period (developer).  
 

The introduction/justification to Policy EG2 explains “renewable and 
low carbon energy schemes will be a significant component in 
making Salford a more sustainable city”.  
 

The policy should be clear that developments for energy schemes 
do not, by definition, need to accord with the energy hierarchy set 
out (developer).  
 

Policy EG2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan confirms that 
“standalone low carbon or renewable energy schemes do not, by 
definition, need to accord with the energy hierarchy in Policy EG1”.  
 
 

A developer strongly objects to the identification of wind turbine 
opportunity areas as shown on Figure 11. This is on the basis that 
the council has presented no evidence to support the areas.  

The policy approach to wind turbines has been amended identifying 
the whole of the city as potentially suitable for wind turbines, with the 
exception of Chat Moss as defined in Policy GI3. This is subject to 

P
age 1820



 

the applicant demonstrating planning impacts are acceptable (set 
out in criteria 1-3 of the policy and the policy 
introduction/justification). This provides a more flexible approach that 
enables developers to respond to wind energy opportunities whilst 
avoiding harmful impacts. 
 

The northernmost opportunity area as identified on Draft Local Plan 
figure 11 is located on land within a developers ownership. The 
developer is putting forward this land for residential development 
through both the GMSF and Salford Local Plan (land at Linnyshaw). 
The landowner does not support the designation and as such it is 
requested that it be removed from Figure 11.  
 

The policy approach to wind turbines has been amended identifying 
the whole of the city as potentially suitable for wind turbines, with the 
exception of Chat Moss as defined by Policy GI3. This is subject to 
the applicant demonstrating planning impacts are acceptable (set 
out in criteria 1-3 of the policy and the policy 
introduction/justification).    
 

The last paragraph of the reasoned justification should be amended 
to confirmed that the areas of potential impact identified need to be 
considered in the planning balance. There may be circumstances 
where a scheme is able to proceed in the context of an impact which 
would usually be considered to be unacceptable but wider 
considerations outweigh this and support the granting of planning 
permission. It is overly simplistic to say that any development which 
has an unacceptable impact in respect of any individual area of 
consideration must be refused (developer). 
 

The policy approach to wind turbines has been amended and the 
justification/introduction to the policy has been amended setting out:  
 
“The benefits of delivering increased renewable and low carbon 
energy capacity will need to be assessed against any potential 
adverse effects. The type of possible impacts will vary depending on 
the technology being used, but the need to protect residential 
amenity is likely to be a common issue for most scheme types. Other 
considerations will include impact on the local environment or wider 
landscape, harm to sites of nature conservation value, impact on 
heritage assets, interference with telecommunications and aviation 
equipment, and impact on air quality associated with certain energy 
sources for district heating schemes”.  
 
 

Reasoned justification paragraph 14.17 advises that proposals for 
wind energy development will not be supported where they, amongst 
other things, have an unacceptable effect on heritage assets and 
archaeology. It should be noted that harm is caused to heritage 
assets, designated or otherwise, when their significance is adversely 
affected. Both the NPPF and Draft Local Plan make allowances for 
this, subject to certain tests, where public interests outweigh that 

The policy approach to wind turbines has been amended and the 
justification/introduction to the policy has been amended setting out:  
 
“The benefits of delivering increased renewable and low carbon 
energy capacity will need to be assessed against any potential 
adverse effects. The type of possible impacts will vary depending on 
the technology being used, but the need to protect residential 

P
age 1821



 

loss. The use of the word ‘unjustifiable’ might be more appropriate, 
whilst allowing for great weight to be attached to the conservation of 
any heritage assets as required by paragraph 132 of the 
NPPF(Historic England).  
 

amenity is likely to be a common issue for most scheme types. Other 
considerations will include impact on the local environment or wider 
landscape, harm to sites of nature conservation value, impact on 
heritage assets, interference with telecommunications and aviation 
equipment, and impact on air quality associated with certain energy 
sources for district heating schemes”. 
 
The wording of the revised introduction/justification to the policy is 
considered to be in line with Local Plan Policy HE1 and heritage 
guidance set out in the 2018 National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Historic England welcome the increased life expectancy 
technologies can give to buildings. However it should be 
acknowledged that some energy efficiency measures are untested 
and unproven. Some have been shown to have potentially harmful 
effects on building fabric to the detriment of longer term viability and 
attractiveness 
 

An amendment is made to the introduction/justification to Policy 
EG2, setting out that other considerations [when considering 
schemes for renewable and low carbon energy] will include impact 
on heritage assets.    
 
The energy technologies shown on the energy opportunities map 
and referred to in the policy are established, and as such no 
amendments are made to the policy in response to Historic 
England’s comments that some energy efficiency measures are 
untested/unproven.  
 

***The following  comments are also considered against Policy EG1 
Sustainable energy*** 
 
Where hydropower is under consideration on the River Irwell and 
Manchester Ship Canal, schemes should look to enhance the 
ecological potential of currently failing Water Framework Directive 
waterbodies. An assessment of the waterbody should be 
undertaken. A fish easement should be included where a waterbody 
is failing (Environment Agency).    
 

A new policy has been included in the chapter (discussed further 
below). For ease of reading renewable and low carbon energy 
schemes, including wind turbine development are now considered in 
Policy EG2 Renewable and low carbon energy schemes. Under the 
subheading ‘hydropower’, the policy sets out:  
  

“The development of hydropower schemes should protect 
and take opportunities to enhance the ecological interest and 
biodiversity of the waterway.  
 
Such schemes shall:  
A) Allow for the movement of multiple species and sizes 
of fish; 

P
age 1822



 

B) Avoid any adverse reduction in water flows and 
levels; and 
C) Avoid any physical modifications to the river channel 
that could adversely affect plant life or invertebrates”. 

 

  

 

Other significant changes made to policy EG2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A new policy has been included in the chapter (Policy EG2 
Renewable and low carbon energy schemes). Renewable and low 
carbon energy schemes, including solar, district heat networks and 
hydropower are now considered under this policy, whereas in the 
Draft Local Plan renewable and low carbon energy schemes were 
considered under Policy EG1. Draft Local Plan Policy EG2 (Wind 
development) has also been deleted and its content on wind turbines 
included in the new Policy EG2.  
 

To improve readability. 

 

P
age 1823



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Water chapter: general comments  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Broad support was expressed for the proposed policies (United 
Utilities and CPRE) and indicators (GMEU)  
 

Support is welcomed. 

Many of the proposed site allocations have United Utilities assets 
running through them which need to be afforded due regard in the 
masterplanning process (United Utilities)  
  

Discussions have been ongoing with United Utilities with regards to 
the sites affected and the relevant allocations policies have been 
updated to refer to the need to retain easements for the utilities 
infrastructure which runs beneath the sites.  
 

The proximity of development sites to waste water treatment works 
should be considered, having regard to the issues of odour and 
noise. Developers should engage in early discussions with United 
Utilities with regards to such matters (United Utilities)  
  

Policy PH1 explains that development will not be permitted where it 
would itself be subject to unacceptable levels of pollution. This would 
apply to all types of pollution including odour and noise.   

Water and wastewater services are vital for the future well-being of 
communities. It is important to locate development where 
infrastructure is available and developers should engage with United 
Utilities as early as possible to ensure delivery of development can 
be coordinated (United Utilities)  

Whilst forecasts suggest that the total available water supply should 
not act as a constraint on the scale of development within Salford 
during the Local Plan period, developments should be designed to 
use water efficiently (policy WA3 Water supply and water efficiency). 
The approach in the Local Plan is to continue to accommodate 
growth in the most sustainable way, through the regeneration of the 
urban areas and accommodating as much development as possible 
on previously developed land in accessible locations. Policy EF2 
(Coordinated development) requires that development makes 
provision for and is phased with supporting infrastructure and 
engagement with stakeholders throughout the development process 
is strongly encouraged through F1 (An inclusive development 
process).  
 

Built development on Chat Moss will exacerbate existing flood risk 
issues (individuals)  

The Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
proposes the allocation of land north of Irlam Station for housing 

P
age 1824



 

(GM Allocation 32) and land to the north and west of Barton 
Aerodrome for the expansion of Port Salford (GM Allocation 33). It is 
recognised that there are peat deposits located across these sites as 
well as pockets of surface water flood risk. The Revised Draft GMSF 
is clear that development on these sites will need to mitigate any 
flood risk and ensure that the hydrology of the surrounding peat and 
mossland is not adversely affected.  
 
Other policies in the Local Plan will also ensure that flood risk issues 
are properly considered as part of any development:  
 

 A site specific flood risk assessment would be required as 
part of any planning application for the development of these 
sites (policy WA5)  

 No development will be permitted on sites allocated for 
development through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework until a masterplan or Supplementary Planning 
Document has been developed with the local community and 
other stakeholders, and endorsed by the city council (policy 
EF2).   

 

Concerns expressed with regards to flood risk in the Linkfield area of 
Boothstown (individual).  

Linkfield Drive is located in Boothstown to the north east of one of 
the housing allocations in the Draft GMSF, ‘land west of 
Boothstown.’ This allocation has not been included in the Revised 
Draft GMSF and will remain as Green Belt. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to the water chapter  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Introduction of a new North West River Basin Management policy 
(WA2)  

The North West River Basin Management Plan seeks to tackle the 
pressures facing the water environment under the requirements of 
the EU Water Framework Directive. Representations received from 
the Environment Agency and the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

P
age 1825



 

highlighted that the majority of the watercourses and some canals 
are failing the statutory ecological objectives and that there is a 
significant amount of restoration required to enable water bodies to 
reach good ecological status, indicating that these issues should be 
addressed within the plan. A new policy has been drafted which 
directs development to take opportunities to support the 
improvement of water bodies to good status and outlines the 
circumstances where a water body status assessment is required.  

 

P
age 1826



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: WA1 Water Strategy 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The policy should be strengthened to seek opportunities to reduce 
flood risk, relocate development to a more sustainable location, 
support natural flood risk management measures and safeguard 
land for flood risk management (Environment Agency).  
 

Additions have been made to the policy to address the issues raised 
(see criteria 6, 10 and 13). With regards to the relocation of 
development, the policy seeks opportunities to secure the relocation 
of critical infrastructure and highly vulnerable uses (see criterion 9).   
 

The requirements of the Water Framework Directive should be 
addressed. The majority of watercourses are failing and the need to 
improve their ecological quality to good status and restore river 
corridors as outlined in the North West River Basin Management 
Plan should be reflected in the plan (Environment Agency/Greater 
Manchester Ecology Unit).  

An additional high level objective has been added to the policy to 
reflect this (see criterion 1). In addition to this, a new policy has been 
drafted (WA2 Delivering the North West River Basin Management 
Plan) which explains how the water quality of Salford’s water bodies 
will be protected and enhanced, directs development to take 
opportunities to support the improvement of water bodies and 
outlines the circumstances where a water body status assessment is 
required. 
 

Investment in flood risk management infrastructure and improving 
poor quality green and blue infrastructure should be reflected in DP3 
(Planning obligations and conditions).  

Policy PC1 (DP3 in the Draft Local Plan) identifies broad priorities for 
planning obligations. Priorities may evolve over the plan period and 
there may be instances where a development would result in an 
increase in the need for other types of infrastructure which are not 
identified within the policy. Flood risk management infrastructure 
may be required to address issues specific to a site’s conditions or 
location, however the requirements identified in policy PC1 relate to 
the more general pressures and demands associated with 
development. Green infrastructure is identified in the list of priorities, 
which would include rivers, canals and ponds. 
 

  

 

P
age 1827



 

Other significant changes made to the water chapter  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Two additional criteria have been added to the policy to require: 

 development to manage surface water and flood risk in a 
sustainable way; and  

 that any development within or near to Chat Moss does not 
adversely affect the hydrology of the area. 

 
 

Managing surface water in a sustainable way is important in Salford 
given the significant risk of surface water flooding affecting many 
parts of the city, and it is considered important to reflect this priority 
in the water strategy. The surface water management policy (WA6) 
has been expanded to provide a clearer and more prescriptive 
hierarchy for dealing with surface water.  
 
Some of the proposed GMSF allocations are located close to Chat 
Moss and therefore it is considered important to explain (both in 
policy WA1 Water strategy, and policy GI3 Chat Moss) that 
development shall ensure that the hydrology of this sensitive area, 
which forms part of a larger area of lowland wetlands, is not 
adversely affected.  
 

 

P
age 1828



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: WA2 Water supply and water efficiency 

(The policy reference has been changed to policy WA3 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Some of the housing allocations (East of Boothstown and Ladywell 
Avenue) are affected by the United Utilities infrastructure such that 
an easement will be required.  

All of the proposed site allocations have been discussed with United 
Utilities, and the need for easements for utilities infrastructure 
running beneath the sites has been reflected in the site allocation 
policies where relevant.  

  

Other significant changes made to the water chapter  

Change  
 

Reason for change  

N/A N/A  

 

P
age 1829



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: WA3 Water quality  

(The policy reference has been changed to policy WA2 in the Revised Draft Local Plan and its title changed to ‘Delivering the North 

West River Basin Management Plan’, reflecting its broadened scope) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The policy should refer the NW River Basin Management Plan and 
Water Framework Directive and ecological status/potential which is 
broader than just water quality (Environment Agency/Greater 
Manchester Ecology Unit) 
 

The policy has been expanded and retitled to reflect these 
comments. It now includes criteria which seek to ensure that 
developments contribute to the achievement of the River Basin 
Management objectives and directs development to take 
opportunities to support the improvement of water bodies to at least 
‘good’ status.  

The policy should refer to the need for developments to assess the 
impact of proposals on waterbody status (Environment agency)   
 

The policy has been amended to outline the circumstances where a 
proposed development should be supported by a water body status 
assessment (see criteria A, B and C)  

The greater uptake of above ground SUDS will be important in 
improving water quality (Environment Agency)  
 

The policy has been amended to reflect these comments (see 
criterion 6). Policy WA6 (Surface water and sustainable drainage) 
provides further support for above-ground SUDS. 

Suggested that the policy should be strengthened with regards to 
Ground Water Source Protection Zones to state:  
 

 All other groundwater abstractions intended for human 
consumption should assume a default source protection 
zone 1 or 2 (Environment Agency)  

 Development within these zones should be in accordance 
with the Environment Agency position statement, early 
liaison with Environment Agency and United Utilities required 
within these zones, risk assessments, masterplanning and 
other mitigation measures may be required (United Utilities).  

 

The introduction/justification to the policy has been amended to 
explain that all other groundwater abstractions intended for human 
consumption will assume a default source protection zone.  
 
It is considered sufficient to refer in general terms to the need to 
work with the Environment Agency, rather than referencing a specific 
position statement which may be updated and other potential 
requirements which may only be required in some circumstances.   

  

P
age 1830



 

Other significant changes made to policy WA3   

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A  

 

P
age 1831



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: WA4 Flood related infrastructure   

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Future development along the riparian corridor should adopt designs 
that maximise green infrastructure benefits to enable the borough to 
be more resilient to climate change (Environment Agency). 

Policy D9 (Waterside Development) of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
(previously policy D12 in the Draft Local Plan) establishes principles 
for development near to Salford’s waterways. This policy has been 
expanded to explain that development should enhance the role of 
the waterway corridor within the green infrastructure network, 
including by supporting improvements to biodiversity, water quality 
and flood risk management.  
 
Policy GI2 (Green Infrastructure and Development) of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan has also been expanded to explain that around the 
waterway network the provision and improvement of green 
infrastructure should support measures to achieve ‘good status’ of 
the waterbody and encourage the movement of species as a priority 
as far as practicable. In areas of flood risk, the priority for green 
infrastructure is the provision of capacity for water storage.   
 

The council should consider opportunities to safeguard land for flood 
risk management purposes, which may be critical for the Cambridge 
area (Environment Agency).  

No changes to the policy are proposed to the policy in response to 
these comments.  
 
Policy WA4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan explains that 
opportunities for further improvements in flood mitigation will be 
sought, potentially including the provision of new open space within 
the Cambridge area. Policy AP5 (Employment areas close to the city 
centre and Salford Quays) of the Revised Draft Local Plan explains 
that a masterplan will be produced for Cambridge. Reducing and 
managing flood risk within this area will be an important part of this, 
and opportunities to safeguard land for flood risk management 
purposes would be considered through this process.   
 

P
age 1832



 

Opportunities should also be taken to reduce flooding to 
communities downstream of the City Centre (GMEU) 

The introduction/explanation for policy WA4 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan has been amended to explain that further measures for 
reducing flood risk will be sought, in order to better protect the 
communities downstream as well as Salford residents and 
businesses.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy WA4   

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A  

 

P
age 1833



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: WA5 Development and flood risk  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The flood risk problem has not been fully considered and will be a 
major concern for developers (individuals)  
 

The plan as a whole takes full consideration of flood risk issues, and 
the overall strategy seeks to reduce the potential impacts of flooding 
in Salford. 
 
Policy WA5 ensures that a rigorous approach is taken to assessing 
the flood risk implications of development in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework. Development will only be 
permitted where it can be clearly demonstrated that there would be 
no unacceptable risk or impact of flooding, either on the 
development itself or elsewhere. 
 

The Environment Agency has published new guidance on climate 
change allowances which should be considered in the policy 
(Environment Agency) 
 

Policy WA5 has been amended to explain that an appropriate 
allowance for climate change should be made in considering 
proposals. The allocation policies have had regard to initial flood risk 
modelling using the climate change allowances. 
 

The requirements relating to drainage should be strengthened, in 
particular the policy should state that a flood risk assessment would 
be required for any major development to ensure that sustainable 
drainage systems for the management of run-off are put in place 
(United Utilities)  
 

No changes are proposed to be made to policy WA5 in response to 
these comments as the suggested addition to the policy is 
considered unnecessary and unduly onerous. However, Revised 
Draft Local Plan policy WA6 (Surface water and sustainable 
drainage) has been significantly expanded to ensure that surface 
water is managed in a sustainable way within developments in 
accordance with a hierarchy which prioritises infiltration to 
vegetation, storage, and infiltration to the ground, before discharge 
to surface water bodies, watercourses or surface water sewers are 
considered as solutions. 
 

3A explains that development should be designed to minimise the 
impact of flooding in a way which is proportionate to the level of risk, 

It is considered appropriate to set out such detail in a supplementary 
planning document, and it is the intention that the 2008 Flood Risk 

P
age 1834



 

and further guidance as to what is means by proportionate is 
requested (Environment Agency) 
 

and Development Planning Guidance will be updated to provide 
additional guidance for development in areas at risk of flooding.  
  

It was queried whether the Flood Risk and Development Guidance 
document will be reviewed (Environment Agency).  

It is the intention that this guidance will be updated to supplement 
the Local Plan policies.  

  

Other significant changes made to policy WA5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A  

 

P
age 1835



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage   

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support expressed for the policy and its approach to minimise 
surface water flooding (Developer/United Utilities)  
 

The support is welcomed. 

Some organisations requested that the policy is strengthened, to 
address the following issues:  
 

 separate drainage for foul and surface water 

 a wider site drainage strategy 

 a surface water drainage hierarchy 

 information to be provided in flood risk assessments 
 
(United Utilities)  

 
 
 

The policy has been significantly expanded to provide a more 
detailed and comprehensive strategy. The issues raised in the 
comments have been addressed as follows:   

 The policy has been amended to explain that foul water shall 
be managed through a separate system to the management 
of surface water and it shall drain to the public sewer. 

 The opening sentence of the policy now refers to ensuring 
that surface water across the whole site is managed in a 
sustainable way, which addresses the issue of a wider site 
drainage strategy 

 The policy has been amended to include a clearer and more 
prescriptive hierarchy for dealing with surface water. 

 It is considered appropriate to set out detail regarding what 
should be included in a flood risk assessment in a 
supplementary planning document, rather than the Local 
Plan, and it is the intention that the 2008 Flood Risk and 
Development Planning Guidance will be updated to provide 
additional guidance for development in areas at risk of 
flooding.  
 

Support expressed for green infrastructure based sustainable 
drainage systems (City of Trees/Environment Agency) 

The policy explains that measures to deal with surface water shall be 
designed as multi-functional green infrastructure wherever possible. 
The policy has also been amended to explain that underground 
solutions such as detention tanks and oversized pipes shall only be 
utilised where it is not technically feasible to incorporate above 
ground sustainable drainage features that contribute to the green 

P
age 1836



 

infrastructure network. The sustainable drainage hierarchy which 
has also been introduced in the revised draft policy should also 
assist in securing green infrastructure based systems.   

A minimum standard is developed for SUDS enabled street trees 
with all future street trees to meet this standard (City of Trees)  
 

Policy GI7 (trees and woodland) of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
supports the increased provision of street trees and refers to 
maximising their potential green infrastructure functions such as 
sustainable drainage. It is considered most appropriate to establish 
detailed standards and guidance relating to street trees in a 
supplementary planning document.  
 

50% reduction in surface water run-off will not be possible on all 
sites and lower rates have recently been accepted. The policy 
should make an allowance for exceptions where it is necessary to 
move water more quickly to address flood risk problems (Developer) 
 

The policy has been expanded to specify the circumstances where 
exceptions can be made, which includes where it can be 
demonstrated that it is necessary to move surface water away from a 
site more quickly in order to help mitigate serious flood risk 
problems.    

  

Other significant changes made to policy WA6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy now includes a requirement that provision shall be made 
for the long-term management and maintenance of any sustainable 
drainage features.  

To ensure the effective, safe and long-term functioning of the 
infrastructure.  

 

P
age 1837



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D1 Design principles 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

Being active should be an intrinsic part of everyone’s daily life as set 
out in the Active Design Guidance.  Active design should be 
incorporated into the policy. (Sport England) 

 “Wellbeing: a place that supports good health, happiness and active 
lifestyles” is identified within criterion 10 of the policy as one of the 
principles that all development should meet. 
 
 

The policy should require developments to be designed with the aim 
of protecting and where practicable enhancing biodiversity.  There 
should be cross reference to Biodiversity policies (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust) 

Paragraph 20.5 now provides a cross reference to other policies, 
including those relating to biodiversity and green infrastructure. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured and includes the 
following policies: D1 Design principles; D2 Local character and 
distinctiveness; D3 Layout and access; D4 Spaces; D5 Amenity; D6 
Design and Crime; D7 Housing design; D8 Alterations and 
extensions and D9 Waterside development.  
 
The following policies have been deleted and their issues addressed 
in a revised policy as set out below: 
 
D4 Views – addressed within D1, D2 and D9 
D6 Architectural design – addressed within D2 and D3 
D8 Materials – addressed within D1 and D2 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across policies 
within the former Design chapter, the chapter has been restructured 
and the policies streamlined. 
 

P
age 1838



 

D10 Microclimate – addressed within D1 and D5. 
 

Policy D1 has been redrafted although the supporting justification 
has remained largely the same except for the additions outlined 
above. 

The design principles have been redrafted to incorporate the 
principles of the NPPF, the By Design principles and also principles 
relating to durability and socially inclusive which are current relevant 
issues for the city. 
 

 

P
age 1839



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D2 Local Character and distinctiveness 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all design policies (various groups and 
individuals) 

Support for the policy is welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured with some policies 
deleted together with amendments to remaining policies. (See 
response to policy D1 for further details of the restructure).  
However, this policy has remained largely the same with some minor 
amendments referring to views to and from heritage assets in 
response to comments received from Historic England. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
design policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1840



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D3 Layout  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) and improving access for all 
 

The support is welcomed. 

Through encouraging a greater uptake of sustainable travel modes, 
the policy can have the concurrent effect of reducing private car trips 
and therefore potentially reducing the impact of development on the 
strategic road network. (Highways England) 
 

Comments noted.  Criterion 1 now specifically refers to “maximising 
opportunities for the use of more sustainable modes of travel in 
accordance with the transport hierarchy in policy A2” 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured. (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). Policy D3 has been retitled and slightly 
broadened in scope to cover Layout and Access. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
design policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1841



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D4 Views 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

Support for positive references within policy D4 that development 
should enhance views of waterways (Canal and River Trust) 

Support noted. Issues relating to views are now incorporated into 
policies D2 (Local character and distinctiveness) and D9 (Waterside 
development). 
 

To better reflect the NPPF the policy should seek to protect views to, 
from and of heritage assets where such visibility/intervisibility is 
important to their significance.  
 
It should also be noted that a view of a development from a listed 
building, as well as a third party view of a listed building and a 
proposed development, have both been found depending on 
circumstances to be material in law to its significance. These would 
almost certainly have been private views. (Historic England) 
 

Reference has been made to views under criterion 2 of revised 
policy D2 (Local character and distinctiveness) to now say “Historic 
assets and features and including views to and from them” 
 
By including reference to views to and from the listed building this 
would also include private views where appropriate. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D4 Views 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured.  (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). Policy D4 has consequently been 
deleted with issues relating to views incorporated into policy D2 
(Local character and distinctiveness) and also D9 (Waterside 
development). 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1842



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D5 Spaces 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

Spaces within historic areas and around heritage assets can be of 
great importance in safeguarding their significance (Historic 
England) 

The first sentence of the supporting introduction to the policy 
(paragraph 20.9) makes direct reference to this and states “Spaces 
make an important contribution to the character and attractiveness of 
the area and can also contribute to the significance of our heritage 
assets.” 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured (see response to 
policy D1 for further details). The issues contained in the former D5 
are now contained within policy D4 Spaces. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1843



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D6 Architectural Design 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured.  (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). Policy D6 Architectural Design has now 
been deleted, with issues relating to architectural design 
incorporated into revised policies D1, D2, D3, D4, D7 and D8.  
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1844



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D7 Alterations and Extensions 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

Alterations and extensions to existing buildings should be shown to 
be respectful of the significance of any heritage assets directly or 
indirectly affected. (Historic England) 

Criterion 4 of revised policy D8 (Alterations and extensions) relates 
to heritage assets and requires that alterations and extensions be 
respectful of the significance of the heritage asset. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D7 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured. (See response to 
policy D1 for further details) The former D7 policy has largely been 
retained in similar form as at the Draft Local Plan stage but is now 
policy D8.Alterations and extensions. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1845



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D8 Materials 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D8 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured. (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). The standalone Policy D8 Materials has 
been deleted with the key issues relating to materials incorporated 
into policies D1 and D2. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1846



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D9 Amenity 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

In some historic areas or in relation to some historic buildings, it 
might prove difficult to achieve the desired separation distances 
especially in relation to the amenity of occupants of properties 
created through building conservation.  Where this is the case, some 
flexibility should be allowed for in order not to stifle otherwise 
welcome conservation-led regeneration. (Historic England) 
 

The last sentence of the supporting introduction/justification now 
recognises that historic buildings (and also higher density locations) 
sometimes require flexibility and creative design, but good amenity 
and high quality design can still be achieved.    
 

The policy is not explicit enough in ensuring that proposals for 
residential development have sufficient consideration to specific 
components of pollution to ensure that an acceptable level of 
residential amenity can be achieved for future residents.  (Royal 
Mail) 
 

Criterion H of the policy refers to pollution and now also refers to the 
pollution and hazards chapter. By keeping it worded as such, the 
policy retains the flexibility to include all types of pollution that are 
relevant.      

The policy wording should explicitly state that amenity and pollution 
considerations include noise, light and vibration from traffic 
movements. (Royal Mail) 

See comments above regarding flexibility of the type of pollution. 
The issues identified are specifically referred to in Policy PH1 
(Pollution control). 
 

The wording is not explicit that the applicant should be responsible 
for meeting the costs of and implementing any mitigation measures 
required to ensure an acceptable residential amenity can be 
achieved as opposed to having a detrimental impact upon the 
incumbent business operation. (Royal Mail) 

Criterion 2 of the policy specifically refers to development not having 
an unacceptable impact on the amenity of users of other buildings 
and spaces. By default, to ensure a development would not have an 
unacceptable impact upon another building/use, the applicant may 
have to incorporate sufficient mitigation measures and therefore be 
responsible for the cost of these measures where appropriate. 
 

Enhancements to any new build scheme (Lowry Outlet Mall) should 
be carried out in such a way as to respect longer term maintenance 

Criterion H refers to pollution and also refers to policy PH1 (Pollution 
control).  Policy PH1 specifically refers to the acceptability of likely 

P
age 1847



 

and health and safety considerations.  Negative experiences such as 
reduced access to buildings (Imperial Point) and vibration suffered 
throughout refurbishment (e.g. Virgin Active Gym) should be 
avoided. (Imperial Point and Sovereign Point Residents Association 
(SPRA) 
 

levels of pollution during both the construction and operational 
phases of development. 

The policy sets out minimum separation distances which are broadly 
comparable to other local authorities but these are not normally 
embedded within policy.  Application of rigid policy standards with no 
flexibility is likely to fetter good design and prevent the consideration 
of site specific circumstances.  At the very least the policy wording 
should be amended to include “Shorter distances will only be 
permitted where it can be clearly demonstrated that an appropriate 
level of amenity for occupiers would be provided” (Countryside 
Properties).  
 

Wording of the policy has been amended and now states: “Shorter 
distances will be permitted where they are consistent with the 
character of the area, such as the high-density nature of City Centre 
Salford and Salford Quays, provided that it can be demonstrated that 
an appropriate level of amenity for occupiers would be achieved.” 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D9 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured. (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). Policy D9 has largely been retained as 
at the draft local plan stage but is now policy D5. 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 
 

 

P
age 1848



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D10 Microclimate 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 

The support is welcomed. 

  

  

Other significant changes made to policy D10 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured. (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). Policy D10 has been deleted with the 
issues relating to microclimate now addressed in policy D5 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1849



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D11 Design and Crime 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for all policies securing quality of design (various 
groups and individuals) 
 

The support is welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D11 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured. (See response to 
policy D1 for further details). The Design and Crime policy is now 
policy D6 but it has largely been retained in a similar form as at the 
Draft Local Plan stage. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
policies, the chapter has been restructured and the policies 
streamlined. 

 

P
age 1850



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: D12 Waterside Development 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for a waterside development policy (various groups 
and individuals) 
 

All support is welcomed. 

The policy should be expanded to provide a more robust approach 
to how such waterside development should be provided This would 
enable the value of locating development adjacent to waterways to 
be achieved. Example wording of suggested policy was provided. 
(Canal and River Trust) 
 

The policy has been redrafted and strengthened to set out additional 
considerations including: providing natural surveillance and activity 
along the waterside; improving visual connects to and from the 
waterway; supporting improvements to biodiversity; water quality 
and flood risk management. The requirement in relation to 
enhancing walking and cycling access has also been broadened out 
to make reference to crossings, and includes a requirement for new 
waterside pedestrian cycling routes to be at least 4m wide where 
practicable. 
 

All waterways should be afforded the same aspiration to provide 
high quality frontages and public realm areas, not just those listed in 
the policy. (Environment Agency) 

The policy wording has been amended and now refers to 
development “near to Salford’s waterways” which includes all 
waterways across the city. 
 

The policy should include reference to only permitting development 
which causes no deterioration to waterbody status to support the 
Water Framework Directive and associated local plan policies. 
(Environment Agency) 
 

Criterion 5 has been added to the policy and states: “Enhance the 
role of the waterway corridor within the green infrastructure network, 
including supporting improvements to biodiversity and water quality 
and flood risk management” thereby directly supporting the Water 
Framework Directive. Policy WA2 (Delivering the North West River 
Basin Management Plan) will also be relevant to such development. 
 

The policy is welcomed but should go further to incorporate 
innovative high quality design features to address mitigation 
measures to help achieve good ecological potential by 2035 
(Greater Manchester Ecology Unit) 
 

The support is welcomed. Criterion 5 has been added to the policy 
and will contribute towards achieving ecological potential. 

P
age 1851



 

Objection to the assumption that it will be appropriate in all waterside 
proposals to provide waterside space as public realm and a crossing 
over the river.  The policy should be clarified to summarise that open 
space contributions will be apportioned where required. (Monkton 
Properties Ltd) 

The wording of the policy has been amended to provide further 
clarification of when these would be required and that it does not 
necessarily relate to all waterside proposals. In this respect the 
policy now reads: 
 
“Where required to improve walking and cycling movements and/or 
enable public enjoyment of the waterside at key locations, 
development shall also accommodate: 
6) A larger waterside space to act as a focal point for public activity 
7) A crossing over the waterway. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy D12 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole design chapter has been restructured with some policies 
deleted together with amends to remaining policies. (See response 
to policy D1 for further details of the restructure). This policy has 
been expanded to address a wider range of issues relevant to 
waterside development, including green infrastructure, natural 
surveillance and views, with some other minor amendments to 
respond to comments and improve clarity. 
 

Following concerns of duplication and repetition across some of the 
design policies, the chapter has been structured and the policies 
streamlined. 
 

 

P
age 1852



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Heritage General 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

It is disappointing that there is no specific policy to protect the line of 
the Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal, and to ensure that the 
opportunities offered by its restoration can be realised whilst 
ensuring that development would not prejudice its reinstatement.  It 
is noted that certain draft policies do mention protecting the line of 
the Canal (e.g. EC4/2 Clifton Junction and R1 Recreation) but it is 
not considered that this negates the need for a specific policy.  
These policies do not also address the wider multi-functional 
benefits that its protection and potential future restoration could bring 
to the Borough in the future. A policy approach should be adopted 
which provides solutions for the restoration associated with 
development potential along its route. (Canal and River Trust) 

The Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal is identified specifically as a 
strategically important recreation project in policy R1, with the 
emphasis being on protecting its line, securing its restoration where 
practicable, and elsewhere along the line incorporating walking and 
cycling routes, public realm improvements and heritage 
interpretation features. That policy has been amended to identify the 
wider multi-functional benefits, and it now states: “Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury Canal, protecting its line, securing its restoration 
wherever practicable, and elsewhere along the line providing open 
space incorporating walking and cycling routes, public realm 
improvements and heritage interpretation features”. 
 
There is currently no identified mechanism for delivering the 
restoration of the canal, and so the Local Plan can only set out the 
overall strategy for the line of the canal. 

Taking the draft local plan as a whole it can be regarded as 
amounting to a positive strategy for the conservation, enhancement 
and enjoyment of the historic environment consistent with paragraph 
126 of the NPPF. (Historic England) 
 

Comments welcomed. 

The chosen indicators used to monitor the policies in the heritage 
chapter are not as helpful as they could be.  Numbers of heritage 
assets on their own, will do little to measure the success or 
otherwise of the local plan in protecting the area’s stock.  For the 
same unforeseen reasons that heritage assets find themselves “at 
risk”, they can also be “lost” through, for example, catastrophic 
events such as fire and it would serve no purpose for the local plan 
to be judged in such circumstances.  An indicator which measures 
the frequency with which heritage assets suffer a substantial loss of 

The indicators have been revised and are now considered to reflect 
the positive approach of the city council to its heritage asset by 
demonstrating the importance of maintaining our assets and 
reducing and minimising those at risk or lost/de-designated. The 
indicators are now: 

 Heritage assets identified as ‘at risk’ 

 Number of heritage assets lost or de-designated 

 Number of statutorily protected heritage assets 

P
age 1853



 

significance would help demonstrate the weight attaching to heritage 
protection in relation to other plan objectives. (Historic England) 
 

Why are the city’s two museums, Salford Museum and Art Gallery 
and Ordsall Hall not referenced specifically within this section? Both 
are not only important physical heritage assets but also repositories 
for Salford’s collections.(Salford Community Leisure) 

Both of these assets are now specifically referred to in the 
introductory paragraphs to policy HE1, which identify some of the 
key aspects of Salford’s history and associated range of heritage 
assets. Both of these assets are also specifically referred to in policy 
CT1, highlighting their additional importance in relation to tourism in 
the city.   
 

It should be recognised within the document that some species and 
habitats have a heritage element which should also be protected.  
Heritage orchards and trees, such as boundary markers, are part of 
Salford’s agricultural heritage and should be protected where 
possible. 

Policy GI7 (Trees, woodland and hedgerows) has been expanded to 
cover hedgerows as well as trees and woodland, and restructured to 
provide greater prominence to Salford’s arboreal heritage. It now 
includes reference to ancient woodland in criterion 1 and additional 
text has also been incorporated to refer to aged and veteran trees. 
Criterion 8 now refers specifically to hedgerows. All are now afforded 
considerably greater protection within the policy.  
 

  

Other significant changes made to the heritage chapter 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole of the Heritage chapter has been revisited and 
strengthened. As part of this process policy HE1 has been redrafted 
to relate to the city’s Heritage Spatial Strategy. The key elements of 
the former HE1 relating to the level of protection afforded to 
individual assets are now addressed in policy HE3 (Heritage 
protection), as well as the definition of a heritage asset. Identification 
of the city’s designated assets is now included in policy HE2 
(Heritage assets), as well as a definition of significance. A new policy 
HE4 (Managing change across historic areas) has been added to 
the chapter and this identifies and expands on the locations across 
the city where heritage assets have an important role to play, which 
were previously in policy HE1. Policy HE5 (A positive future for 

Given the importance and contribution of our heritage assets to the 
city, and to the identity and character of its communities, it was 
considered that the existing chapter should be expanded to 
safeguard this. It was also considered appropriate that the new 
chapter should emphasise the importance of public access to our 
heritage assets to ensure that everyone is able to appreciate the 
city’s rich history and provide a sense of place. 

P
age 1854



 

heritage assets) and policy HE6 (Heritage at risk) have been 
included to seek to safeguard our existing assets, ensure that 
appropriate uses are found for them, and thus reduce our heritage 
“at risk”, whilst a new policy HE7 (Heritage information and 
interpretation) seeks to ensure that public understanding and access 
to heritage information is increased as much as possible for 
everyone. 
 

 

P
age 1855



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: HE1 Heritage Spatial Strategy 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General support for the protection of the city’s heritage assets 
(various groups and individuals) 

The support is welcomed. 

New development should not be allowed if it harms the setting of 
important heritage assets, and where allowed in proximity must be 
sensitively designed to enhance as opposed to detract from a 
heritage asset (CPRE Lancashire) 

This is embedded in all of the policies in this heritage chapter and 
also national policy. 

Patricroft railway bridge and surrounding area is of international 
significance and a major omission from the heritage list. (Ramblers 
and Friends of Eccles Station) 

The railway bridge is included on the city council’s local list of 
heritage assets. The new policy HE3 (Heritage protection) provides 
protection for non-designated heritage assets, such as those 
included on the local list.   

The policy should make it clear that great weight should be given to 
the conservation of designated heritage assets and it should reflect 
paragraph 133 and 134 of the NPPF in relation to the consideration 
of harm to designated heritage assets. 
 
In relation to non-designated heritage assets the policy should reflect 
paragraph 135 of the NPPF and the balanced judgement that is 
required, having required to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. The policy should differentiate 
between designated and non-designated assets (Peel) 

The revised heritage chapter is fully consistent with the NPPF. It is 
not considered necessary or appropriate to repeat parts of the NPPF 
in the Local Plan. 
 
The new policy HE3 (Heritage protection) explains that the level of 
protection afforded to a heritage asset will depend on a range of 
factors, including whether it is designated or non-designated. 
 

It should be acknowledged that setting is not a heritage asset. Its 
importance lies in what it contributes to the significance of the 
heritage asset. (Peel) 

A definition of significance is included in the new policy HE3 
(Heritage protection) which makes it clear that setting is something 
that contributes to the significance of an asset. 

The implication of the policy wording in paragraph 17.6 suggests that 
the city council does not currently maintain a historic environment 
record resource. (Historic England)  

Criterion A of the new policy HE2 (Heritage assets) states that the 
city council will continue to maintain a historic environment record. 

The strategy could explicitly state a commitment to identifying, 
celebrating and protecting local heritage assets that link to the LGBT 

The city council consider all assets on their significance and their 
value including their historical, architectural, communal and 
evidential value.  The new policy HE3 (Heritage protection) includes 

P
age 1856



 

community that could otherwise be overlooked and lost.(Lesbian, 
gay, bisexual & trans people (LGBT) 

reference to the level of protection afforded to any heritage asset to, 
amongst other things, reflect its contribution to the city’s social 
history (which would include any specific importance for the LGBT 
community). 
 

The boundary for the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area 
should be revised in accordance with Peel’s representations to the 
draft conservation area appraisal. The proposed amendments are 
unjustified and unsound. (Turley’s) 

The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal has 
been out for consultation and the representations received are now 
being considered. Until such time as this draft document is formally 
adopted the existing boundary to the conservation area will remain 
shown as currently adopted. 

Impact on Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area if the site at 
Lumber Lane were to be developed. (Various individuals) 

Please see response to comments made on Draft Local Plan policy 
H3/16. The impact of any development would always be assessed in 
terms of its impact upon the character and appearance of the 
conservation area amongst other considerations, and a criterion has 
been retained in the allocation policy accordingly (now criterion 8 in 
policy H9/12). A detailed heritage assessment has now been 
completed for this site and this can be viewed in the supporting 
documentation to this Revised Draft Local Plan. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy HE1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The whole of the Heritage chapter has been revisited and 
strengthened. As part of this process policy HE1 has been redrafted 
to relate to the city’s Heritage Spatial Strategy. The key elements of 
the former HE1 relating to the level of protection afforded to 
individual assets are now addressed in policy HE3 (Heritage 
protection), as well as the definition of a heritage asset. Identification 
of the city’s designated assets is now included in policy HE2 
(Heritage assets), as well as a definition of significance. A new policy 
HE4 (Managing change across historic areas) has been added to 
the chapter and this identifies and expands on the locations across 
the city where heritage assets have an important role to play, which 
were previously in policy HE1. Policy HE5 (A positive future for 

Given the importance and contribution of our heritage assets to the 
city, and to the identity and character of its communities, it was 
considered that the existing chapter should be expanded to 
safeguard this. It was also considered appropriate that the new 
chapter should emphasise the importance of public access to our 
heritage assets to ensure that everyone is able to appreciate the 
city’s rich history and provide a sense of place. 

P
age 1857



 

heritage assets) and policy HE6 (Heritage at risk) have been 
included to seek to safeguard our existing assets, ensure that 
appropriate uses are found for them, and thus reduce our heritage 
“at risk”, whilst a new policy HE7 (Heritage information and 
interpretation) seeks to ensure that public understanding and access 
to heritage information is increased as much as possible for 
everyone. 
 

 

P
age 1858



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: HE2 A POSITIVE FUTURE FOR HERITAGE ASSETS 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

No representations were made on this policy.  No changes are proposed to the policy. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy HE2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1859



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Green infrastructure definition and functions 
 

The plan goes a long way into preserving the greenways and 
conservation areas (individual). 

The protection of the West Salford Greenway has been further 
enhanced by including a separate policy on it in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan (Policy GI5 West Salford Greenway). The heritage 
chapter has been significantly expanded, further supporting the 
protection and enhancement of the city’s heritage including its 
conservation areas. 

Welcome the use of the NPPF definition of green infrastructure, 
which could be supplemented by the Natural England definition 
(Natural England). 

The NPPF definition of green infrastructure has been retained in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. It is considered sufficient, and adding a 
further definition could be confusing. 

Broad support for policies to establish a high quality network of multi-
functional green space (organisation). 

Support is welcomed. 
 

Strong support for the production of a GI strategy and the 
comprehensive list of functions and uses (organisation).    

Support is welcomed. 
 

The farmland to the west of Boothstown could support green 
infrastructure and recreation needs for proposed housing 
developments in the area (individual). 

The proposed housing allocation west of Boothstown has been 
dropped and does not appear in the Revised Draft GMSF. The Local 
Plan does not include any specific proposals for the land, which 
would be subject to Green Belt policies. 

Support for policy GI1, noting that the importance of Chat Moss 
extends to those areas of mossland south of the M62, which should 
be protected from development rather than allocated for the release 
of green belt under policies EC4/1 and H3/4 (organisation). 

The two development allocations referred to are now being dealt 
with solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
(GMSF) rather than the Local Plan. H3/4 has been reduced 
significantly in size in the Revised Draft GMSF from 289 hectares to 
65 hectares, and is referred to as GM Allocation 32, whereas EC4/1 
is largely unchanged and is referred to as GM Allocation 33. 
 

P
age 1860



2 
 

The Chat Moss boundary has been amended in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan to include all remaining Green Belt land to the south of 
the M62 once these two GMSF allocations have been taken into 
account. 

The 12 functions of  the green infrastructure are all met by the 
farmland between west of Boothstown and Lower Green Lane, 
Astley. If house building goes ahead in the area, including East 
Wigan at Mosley Common, Tyldesley and Astley then it will provide 
much needed space for recreation and help to alleviate air pollution 
(individual). 

The proposed housing allocation west of Boothstown has been 
dropped and does not appear in the Revised Draft GMSF. 

Food production 
 

A new policy should be added that recognises the requirements of 
paragragh 112 of the NPPF including the importance of soils being 
protected and used sustainably, ensuring that development (soil 
sealing) avoids high grade soil and BMV (best and most versatile) 
land, appropriate mitigation and the ecological value of soils of high 
environmental value (e.g. wetland and carbon stores such as 
peatland) (Natural England). 

A new policy GB2 (Soils and agricultural land) has been added to 
the Revised Draft Local Plan, addressing the points in this 
representation. 

Mitigating air, water and noise pollution 
 

A green infrastructure policy should highlight the current pressures 
with the majority of waterbodies failing their statutory environmental 
objectives, and identify strategic approaches as to how to protect 
and enhance such key green infrastructure, helping Salford be more 
resilient to future climate change pressures (Environment Agency). 

A new policy WA2 (Delivering the North West River Basin 
Management Plan) has been added to the Revised Draft Local Plan, 
in the water chapter rather than the green infrastructure chapter. 
This policy is cross-referenced numerous times in the green 
infrastructure chapter, recognising the links between them. 
 

Recreation routes and corridors 
 

Irlam and Cadishead has four green / wildlife corridors between Chat 
Moss and the Manchester Ship Canal that should be retained and 
re-enforced as development takes place (organisation). 

Protection and enhancement of these and other corridors will be an 
important consideration. Policy GI2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
makes it clear that the green infrastructure network will be among 
the requirements which should be maximised as far as possible by 
all developments. Masterplans for the GMSF allocations will need to 
take this into account. 

P
age 1861



3 
 

Support for canals being acknowledged as part of a high quality 
green infrastructure network (organisation). 

The support is welcomed. 
 

Add horse riding to walking and cycling under bullet 9 (GMEU). This criterion has been expanded to ‘9) Providing attractive walking, 
cycling and horse riding routes’ 

Sport and recreation opportunities 
 

It is important that playing fields are recognised as a type of green 
infrastructure, with a commitment to protect, improve and increase 
provision including for projected population growth (organisation). 

Sport and recreation facilities are identified in Policy GI1 as one of 
the functions and uses of the green infrastructure network to be 
protected and enhanced. These are linked to policies of the 
recreation chapter including key hubs for outdoor sports and a local 
recreation standard for sports pitches. Playing fields have been 
added to the examples of green infrastructure in the first paragraph 
of the policy. 

Pleased that this policy recognises sport and recreation taking place 
within green infrastructure. Policies should be positively worded to 
protect and encourage peripatetic sporting events as well as 
permanent sport facilities. (Sport England). 

Support welcomed. The green infrastructure policies would not 
prevent peripatetic sporting events, but their appropriateness will 
depend on the specific site characteristics. Any significant existing 
peripatetic use would be protected under policy R4 (Protection of 
recreation land and facilities). 

Heritage assets 
 

The conservation of heritage assets should be an integral part of 
enhancing the green infrastructure of the city, including conservation 
areas, historic parks & gardens, cemeteries and canals (Historic 
England). 

A new criterion ’11) Supporting heritage and local identity’ has been 
added to the list of functions and uses to be protected and enhanced 
by Policy GI1 as part of the green infrastructure network. This 
criterion supports the Heritage chapter of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan, which has been expanded substantially. 

Requirements for development 
 

It is important that there is mitigation from development with regard 
to green space provision, biodiversity and carbon reduction and the 
links to health and physical activity (NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group). 

These issues are addressed by the Revised Draft Local Plan, in 
particular Policy GI2 (Green infrastructure requirements for 
development). 

Support for incorporating appropriate green open space into any 
new development at The Quays to increase biodiversity and provide 
more recreational areas including linkages to other open spaces and 
routes (Residents' Association).  

Comments of support are welcomed. 
Policy GI2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out the green 
infrastructure requirements for developments. 

P
age 1862



4 
 

GI should be high quality, as abundant as possible to ensure 
maximum ecosystem services are secured and be available to all 
including city centre and less affluent areas. Where possible planting 
of GI should take place well in advance of any built development and 
be provided with sufficient space (organisation). 

Policy GI2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out the green 
infrastructure requirements for developments. The individual 
requirements will be considered on a case by case basis, and area-
based regeneration projects in particular should provide 
opportunities for the provision of green infrastructure in advance of 
any built development. Policy AP2 allocates land for a new park at 
Greengate, which should help to enhance access to greenery in the 
City Centre. 

Mapping of green infrastructure assets 
 

The plan needs to identify mapping of current strategic and local 
green infrastructure assets, and local proposals and priorities to 
improve the network  including new parks, open spaces and access 
routes (Natural England). 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. 
Figure 20 identifies the strategically important recreation 
opportunities and Figure 21 the existing and proposed strategic 
recreation routes. These are supplemented by the open space 
chapter of the infrastructure delivery plan, which identifies the 
existing and proposed sites to meet the local recreation standards 
from policy R2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan. The city council 
intends to produce a Green Infrastructure supplementary planning 
document to provide additional policy and guidance in support of 
policies in the Local Plan. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy GI1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1863



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for this green infrastructure policy 

Support for this policy (GMEU) and for the protection and restoration 
of existing priority wetland habitat within the Chat Moss zone, with its 
potential wider and multiple environmental benefits (Environment 
Agency). 

The support is welcomed. 

 
Priority green infrastructure functions 

Additional wording should be added with reference to key waterways 
and the function of green infrastructure within this network to 
improve habitat and water quality (Environment Agency and GMEU) 

A new criterion has been added to the list of priority functions which 
should be supported and enhanced: 
 
f) Within and around the waterway network and other water 
bodies, measures to achieve ‘good’ status of the water body in 
accordance with Policy WA2 and encourage movement of species 
 
A new criterion has been added to Policy D9 (Waterside 
development), requiring waterside development to enhance the role 
of the waterway corridor within the green infrastructure network. 

Add the main river water bodies (main river valleys) to the GI priority 
map (GMEU). 

The main river valleys have been added to Figure 18 Green 
infrastructure priority functions 

The requirement for green roofs and green walls should be replaced 
by utilising roof spaces for terraces and roof gardens (developer) 

No changes are proposed to the policy in response to these 
comments. Green roofs and green walls can contribute towards 
several of the functions and uses identified in policy GI1 of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. These provide important green 
infrastructure functions particularly in high density areas where there 
is limited access to other green and/or open features. Terraces and 
roof gardens could have some potential to supplement or 

P
age 1864



2 
 

incorporate green roofs and green walls depending on their design 
and features, but would not in themselves automatically be green 
infrastructure and so it would be inappropriate to refer to them in the 
policy. 

Additional references should be made to Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) and street trees (City of Trees). 

Policy GI2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been amended to 
make references to the requirements of developments with regards 
to SuDS and street trees. 

 
New allotment provision 

Every new development should be required to provide a minimum of 
20 allotments per 1000 units of housing, particularly  for apartment 
developments which are less likely to provide of open space for 
growing foods unless developers are obliged to provide it as part of 
the planning process (individual). 

Policy R2 of the Revised Draft Local Plan requires new residential 
developments to contribute towards a wide range of recreation 
standards including a minimum quantity of allotments (0.50 hectares 
per 1,000 households).  

  

Other significant changes made to policy GI2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A new criterion has been added to Revised Draft Local Plan policy 
GI2:  
 
D) Ensure that appropriate long-term management and maintenance 
measures are in place. 

This additional wording is considered necessary to ensure that the 
green infrastructure provided as part of a development proposal has 
positive functions in the long-term rather than the benefits potentially 
being lost over time.  

The introduction / justification of this policy in the Revised Draft Local 
Plan has been expanded to refer to the need for ongoing 
management and maintenance of green infrastructure features such 
as woodland, trees and reed beds.   

To ensure that the green infrastructure features will continue to fulfil 
their various functions. 

 

P
age 1865



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI3 Chat Moss 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for Policy GI3 

Support for the restoration of Chat Moss, including improved public 
access to it and linkages to the RHS Garden Bridgewater and 
Bridgewater Canal (CPRE Lancashire) 

Comments of support are welcomed. 

Support for the policy approach to Chat Moss on the basis that this 
relates to a defined area to the north of the M62 (Persimmon 
Homes). 

 
Re-classification of parts of the area 

Objections to the re-classification of parts of the Green Belt on Chat 
Moss for housing development (Salford City Council Conservative 
Group / Planning for Our Future in Irlam and Cadishead / 10 
individuals). 

Changes to Green Belt boundaries are now being considered solely 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and not through 
the Local Plan. 

The proposed housing allocation H3/4 (Western Cadishead and 
Irlam) is inconsistent with the aim to protect and enhance Chat Moss 
(10 individuals) and the emphasis of the 5th criteria of Policy GI3 of 
the importance of the area’s role in storing and sequestering carbon 
(10 individuals). 

Changes to Green Belt boundaries are now being considered solely 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and not through 
the Local Plan. 
 
The area covered by Policy GI3 has been expanded significantly to 
include Green Belt land to the south of the M62 motorway (excluding 
land proposed for removal from the Green Belt in the GMSF). 

Comments were made that there has been a lack of information 
provided directly to the residents of Irlam and Cadishead and 
insufficient consultation regarding an area master plan, re-
classification of Green Belt and proposed housing development (1 
individual). 
 

Changes to Green Belt boundaries are now being considered solely 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and not through 
the Local Plan. 
 
It is anticipated that master plans would be produced once the 
GMSF has been formally adopted, to consider specific allocations. 

P
age 1866



2 
 

Objection to policy proposals for Chat Moss, which are considered to 
be unsound and are not deliverable. The proposals are not 
supported by evidence and do not have the support of the landowner 
or agricultural tenants, who have not been engaged over the detail 
and intent of the policy (The Peel Group). 

The proposals are considered to be sound and deliverable, and are 
supported by a large body of evidence accumulated over many 
years. For example, within the biodiversity heartland significant 
progress has already been made with habitat restoration at all the 
former peat extraction sites, in particular Little Woolden Moss. The 
current Carbon Landscape Project is using funding from a range of 
sources including the Heritage Lottery Fund to make improvements 
for both wildlife and public access. Moreover a mechanism to 
provide biodiversity off-setting is being progressed to support Policy 
BG1 (Biodiversity spatial strategy) and this will help to enable the 
implementation of proposals for Chat Moss in the future. 
Public consultation has been extensive and consistent across the 
city and the Great Manchester Wetlands Partnership, of which the 
Peel Group is a member, has been kept informed. Further details 
may be provided if necessary within a proposed Green Infrastructure 
SPD or an area-based SPD, and there would be further engagement 
on details at that stage. 

 
Functions and Benefits of Chat Moss 

Reference to the Greater Manchester Wetland Nature Improvement 
Area (NIA) and increasing public access across the area is 
welcomed. The policy needs to be redrafted to reflect paragraph 117 
of the NPPF and be implemented in coordination with the Greater 
Manchester Wetland NIA partnership aims and vision (Natural 
England). 

The policy is considered consistent with paragraph 117 of the NPPF, 
replaced by paragraph 174 of the revised NPPF (2018) and which 
now refers to a Nature Recovery Network. The Revised Draft Local 
Plan includes a new Policy BG2 (Nature Improvement Areas) which 
specifically references the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area and seeks to ensure that development within that 
area supports the NIA objectives. 

The existing value of Chat Moss and the diverse range of benefits 
need to be protected including biodiversity, recreation opportunities, 
carbon storage, grade 1 agricultural land for food production, 
flooding protection and improving air quality (Planning for Our Future 
in Irlam and Cadishead / 1 individual). 

Policy GI3 recognises the existing value of Chat Moss, and seeks to 
protect and enhance its various functions including biodiversity 
(criterion 1), recreation (criterion 7) and carbon storage (criterion 5). 
The policy also refers to protecting the area’s hydrology. 
 
Paragraph 22.7 in the introduction/justification to the new policy GB2 
(Soils and agricultural land) explains that the loss of some high 
grade agricultural land is likely to be required to support the 

P
age 1867



3 
 

restoration of the Biodiversity Heartland to lowland raised bog and 
complementary habitats. 
 
The area covered by Policy GI3 has been expanded significantly to 
include Green Belt land to the south of the M62 motorway (excluding 
land proposed for removal from the Green Belt in the GMSF). 

Support and encouragement for existing and new community 
involvement and education activities, enterprises and projects 
including those provided by the Lancashire Wildlife Trust and the 
Incredible Edible Network, establishing a community market garden, 
food growing and honey production (Planning for Our Future in Irlam 
and Cadishead). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a new Policy GB2 on soils 
and agricultural land, particularly the value of the higher grades 
which are located within Chat Moss. However, the GMSF does 
include two allocations (GM Allocation 32 North of Irlam Station, and 
GM Allocation 33 Port Salford) that would result in the loss of high 
grade agricultural land, where this loss is considered to be 
outweighed by the benefits of development. 

This policy is welcomed but further clarification is required to 
demonstrate how this mostly private area will be protected and 
enhanced over the long-term including proposals for specific areas 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust / GMEU). 

Policy GI3 provides the overall strategy for the area, and any 
additional details would be more appropriate in supporting 
documents. 
 
A mechanism to provide biodiversity off-setting is being progressed 
to support Policy BG1 (Biodiversity spatial strategy) and this will help 
to enable the implementation of proposals for Chat Moss. 
 
In addition the city council will consider supplementary planning 
documents to support policies of the Local Plan. Further clarification 
may be provided if necessary within a proposed Green Infrastructure 
SPD or an area-based SPD. 

Objection to the proposal to significantly increase public access 
across the ‘whole area’ as existing biodiversity is sensitive to 
physical and recreational disturbance.  Minor word changes are 
required to the policy by deleting ‘whole area’ and/or making 
reference to ‘managed access’ (GMEU).  

Minor word changes have been made to the second criterion of the 
policy by deleting ‘whole area’. The amended criterion confirms that 
increased public access will be ‘in a manner compatible with nature 
conservation objectives’. It is worth noting that Natural England’s 
response welcomed proposals to increase public access across the 
area in a way that is compatible with the nature conservation 
objectives. 

There is a lack of reference to Chat Moss as the prime agricultural 
land for food growing (and habitat for many of the priority farmland 

The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a new Policy GB2 on soils 
and agricultural land, particularly the value of the higher grades 
which are located within Chat Moss. Paragraph 22.7 in the 

P
age 1868



4 
 

birds), the loss of which will need to be balanced to allow for 
mossland restoration (GMEU). 
 

introduction/justification to that policy explains that the loss of some 
high grade agricultural land is likely to be required to support the 
restoration of the Biodiversity Heartland to lowland raised bog and 
complementary habitats. 

A definition is required for Chat Moss (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 
 

The area covered by Policy GI3 is shown on the Policies Map. This 
area has been extended significantly in the Revised Draft Local Plan 
to include Green Belt land to the south of the M62 motorway 
(excluding land proposed for removal from the Green Belt in the 
GMSF). 

There is the need for a revised Biodiversity and Nature Conservation 
SPD (Lancashire Wildlife Trust) and a spatial SPD for the Lowland 
Wetlands/Chat Moss (Lancashire Wildlife Trust, GMEU). 

The city council will consider supplementary planning documents to 
support policies of the Local Plan. These topics could be included in 
a proposed Green Infrastructure SPD and potentially an area-based 
SPD. 

 
Mitigation through Developer Contributions 

Support for the proposed approach to mitigation being achieved 
through developer contributions to the enhancement of the area 
designated under Policy GI3 (Persimmon Homes, GMEU, Love 
Brothers Ltd) but further evidence and a mechanism is required to 
demonstrate that enough land is available for restoration and 
enhancement to off-set/compensate for the loss (GMEU). 

Comments of support are noted. 
The reference to the development of specific sites making a 
significant contribution to the enhancement of Chat Moss has been 
deleted from the policy, and the most suitable approach will be 
determined on a case-by-case basis, through a masterplanning 
process where appropriate. A mechanism to provide biodiversity off-
setting is being progressed to support Policy BG1 (Biodiversity 
spatial strategy), which identifies details of biodiversity net gain that 
will be sought and specifies the Biodiversity Heartland in Chat Moss 
as a high priority for any off-site offsetting. 

The policy wording should be revised to clarify that the scale of any 
financial contributions will be established through the masterplanning 
and planning application process, and informed by detailed 
proposals for the site and viability evidence (Love Brothers Ltd). 
 

The reference to the development of specific sites making a 
significant contribution to the enhancement of Chat Moss has been 
deleted from the policy, and the most suitable approach will be 
determined on a case-by-case basis, through a masterplanning 
process where appropriate. A mechanism to provide biodiversity off-
setting is being progressed to support Policy BG1 (Biodiversity 
spatial strategy), which identifies details of biodiversity net gain that 
will be sought and specifies the Biodiversity Heartland in Chat Moss 
as a high priority for any off-site offsetting. 

P
age 1869



5 
 

There is no current justication for named development proposals to 
make a contribution to delivering the proposed improvements to 
Chat Moss (and the Lowland Wetland in the context of GMSF) (The 
Peel Group). 
 

The reference to the development of specific sites making a 
significant contribution to the enhancement of Chat Moss has been 
deleted from the policy, and the most suitable approach will be 
determined on a case-by-case basis, through a masterplanning 
process where appropriate. A mechanism to provide biodiversity off-
setting is being progressed to support Policy BG1 (Biodiversity 
spatial strategy), which identifies details of biodiversity net gain that 
will be sought and specifies the Biodiversity Heartland in Chat Moss 
as a high priority for any off-site offsetting. 

Chat Moss is large enough to absorb biodiversity compensation to 
off-set the cumulative impacts of other land allocations, however 
further evidence and details need to be provided (GMEU).  

The reference to the development of specific sites making a 
significant contribution to the enhancement of Chat Moss has been 
deleted from the policy, and the most suitable approach will be 
determined on a case-by-case basis, through a masterplanning 
process where appropriate. A mechanism to provide biodiversity off-
setting is being progressed to support Policy BG1 (Biodiversity 
spatial strategy), which identifies details of biodiversity net gain that 
will be sought and specifies the Biodiversity Heartland in Chat Moss 
as a high priority for any off-site offsetting. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Criterion 6 of the policy has been expanded to refer to the emphasis 
on retaining the relative darkness of Chat Moss. 
 

Response to a representation from the Environment Agency in 
relation to pollution control. 

Cross referencing to proposed housing and employment land 
allocations has been removed from the policy. 

The most suitable approach will be determined on a case-by-case 
basis, through a masterplanning process where appropriate. 

 

 

P
age 1870



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI4 Irwell Valley 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for this green infrastructure policy 

Support for proposals to protect and enhance the River Irwell and 
the Irwell Valley (GMEU, Salford City Council Conservative Group 
and two organisations). 

Support is welcomed. 

 
Clifton Junction 

It has been suggested that there is boundary and policy wording 
changes for allocation EC4/2 at Clifton Junction related to the pack 
saddle bridge and Fletchers Canal, to complement other Draft Local 
Plan policies including Policy R1 (Bury Council). 
 

The Clifton Junction policy (EC4/2) has been deleted, and it is not 
considered that there are any issues relating to the saddle bridge 
and Fletchers Canal that warrant specific mention elsewhere in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. There are currently no commitments to 
reinstate Fletchers Canal, however such a proposal would be 
consistent with the priorities identified in Policy GI4 (Irwell Valley), 
which refers to the importance of protecting and enhancing the 
heritage of the area.  

 
Bridle bridges 

 

The third bullet should be amended to refer to bridle bridges 
(GMEU). 

Policy GI4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been expanded to 
include a reference to horse riding connections. The existing bridge 
crossing the River Irwell from Slack Brook Open Space in Salford to 
Drinkwater Park in Bury is suitable for bridle use to facilitate the 
existing bridleways in this area. 

 
Funding mechanisms towards enhancements and maintenance  

Comments were made that further details should be provided on 
funding mechanisms including contributions and enhancements 
provided from major developments within the River Valley (GMEU). 

This policy will be supported by other policies of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan, particularly from the Green Infrastructure and Recreation 
chapters, which set out how developments will be expected to 

P
age 1871



2 
 

Opportunities should be considered to secure long term 
maintenance of urban wetland and associated semi-natural 
greenspace as part of any proposed adjoining development. The 
new urban wetland at Castle Irwell demonstrates that the types of 
opportunities to create multiple functioning green infrastructure 
assets that can make a positive contribution to the wildlife value, but 
also assist in reducing flood risk and provide new amenity access for 
local residents (Environment Agency).  
 

contribute to the functions of Irwell Valley. The most suitable 
approach will be determined on a case-by-case basis, through a 
masterplanning process where appropriate. 
 
Policy GI2 (Green infrastructure requirements for development) and 
paragraph 23.5 highlight the need for development to make 
appropriate provision for green infrastructure maintenance. 

 
Water quality 

 

Similar to the majority of waterbodies the River Irwell is failing 
statutory environmental objectives. Strategic approaches need to be 
identified to protect and enhance such key green infrastructure, 
helping Salford be more resilient to future climate change pressures 
(Environment Agency). 

Policy WA2 (Delivering the North West River Basin Management 
Plan) of the Revised Draft Local Plan sets out in further detail how 
water quality of water bodies will be enhanced towards these 
environmental objectives. 

 
City Forest Park 

 

Opportunities to improve adjoining priority habitats and potentially 
adopt new natural flood management projects in the wider Irwell 
corridor should be explored further as part of any City Forest Park 
proposal (Environment Agency). 

Criterion 2B of Policy GI4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been 
expanded to refer to City Forest Park as a key part of the proposed 
Northern Forest and ‘opportunities to improve priority habitats and 
flood management measures’. 

The concept of City Forest Park is supported whilst having some 
reservations regarding the direction that it is taking. Concerns were 
raised with the emphasis on arts and culture in an area where 
significant funding has already been invested promoting tree and 
woodland planting and biodiversity, rebranded on more than one 
occasion and on the Bury side of the Irwell land designated as a 
Local Nature Reserve. Nature conservation should remain as one of 
the key objectives for this area (GMEU). 
 

 

 

P
age 1872



3 
 

Other significant changes made to policy GI4 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1873



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5 Local Green Space  

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for proposals to protect Local Green Spaces (organisation / 
individual). 

Comments of support are welcomed. 

Additional designations 
 

Areas of the Former Swinton Wastewater Treatment Works which 
are not required for development should be designated as Local 
Green Space (organisation / two individuals).  

Additional designations will be considered for existing sites which 
satisfy the criteria that the city council has identified. Proposed sites 
such as the former wastewater treatment works will need to be 
established before they can be considered for designation as a Local 
Green Space.  

  

Other significant changes made to GI5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1874



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5/1 Local Green Space – The Meadow 

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6/1 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for designation of the site as Local Green Space 
(organisation). 

Support is welcomed. 

 
Fish easement 

Opportunities should be considered to include a fish easement on 
the existing large Adelphi Weir adjacent to the site as an integral aim 
of enhancing this reach of the River Irwell corridor and enhancing 
ecological connectivity with wider Irwell catchment (Environment 
Agency). 

A potential fish easement would be beyond the scope of Policy 
GI6/1. New policy EG2 (Renewable and low carbon energy 
schemes) of the Revised Draft Local Plan states that hydropower 
schemes shall protect and take opportunities to enhance the 
ecological interest and biodiversity of the waterway, and such 
schemes must allow for the movement of multiple species and sizes 
of fish. Point vi of new policy WA2 (North West River Basin 
Management Plan) of the Revised Draft Local Plan states that 
development should, where practicable, reduce obstacles to the 
movement of wildlife. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI5/1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1875



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5/2 Local Green Space – Brickfield Wood 

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6/2 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for designation of the site as Local Green Space 
(organisation). 

The support is welcomed. 

The boardwalk and path through this wood should be made a Public 
Right of Way. This permitted path has been closed by owners Peel 
Holdings (organisation).  
 

Consideration of a new public right of way is beyond the scope of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. An application pack for any proposed 
modifications to the public right of way network is available on the 
city council website (https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-
travel/footpaths-and-pavements/public-rights-of-way/ ). 

The word ‘designated’ is not required within the description of GI5/2 
(GMEU). 

A minor change has been made to the wording of the policy 
accordingly. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI5/2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1876

https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/footpaths-and-pavements/public-rights-of-way/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/footpaths-and-pavements/public-rights-of-way/


1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5/3 Local Green Space – Three Sisters  

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6/3 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for designation of the site as Local Green Space 
(organisation). 

The support is welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI5/3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1877



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5/4 Local Green Space – Blackleach Country Park 

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6/4 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for designation of the site as Local Green Space 
(organisation). 

Comments of support are noted 

The Local Green Space should be extended to include Hill Top Moss 
(organisation). 

The land at Hill Top Moss has been assessed as not meeting the 
criteria for Local Green Space designation. As a result it is 
considered appropriate to assess its potential for development, and 
it continues to be proposed as a housing allocation (H3/13) in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan. The boundary of the proposed Local 
Green Space designation at Blackleach Country Park is unchanged. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI5/4 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1878



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5/5 Local Green Space – West Salford Greenway 

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6/5, GI6/6, GI6/7, GI6/8 and GI6/9 in the Revised Draft Local Plan, to reflect the 

replacement of a proposed single Local Green Space designation with five separate Local Green Space designations) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Strong support for designation of the site as Local Green Space 
(Barbara Keeley MP, 5 organisations and 141 individuals). 

The support is welcomed. However, in order to maximise the 
robustness of the designation, five separate Local Green Space 
designations are proposed instead of the larger single designation, 
as listed below, collectively covering a smaller area (99 hectares 
rather than the 180 hectares of the previous proposed Local Green 
Space designation). The whole West Salford Greenway is now 
covered by a separate strategic green infrastructure policy (GI5) in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

Objection to Land North of Lumber Lane being removed from the 
Greenway and proposed for housing development (Cllr. Lindley / 
Salford City Council Conservative Group / Worsley Councillors / 12 
individuals). 

The land north of Lumber Lane has been assessed as not meeting 
the criteria for Local Green Space designation. It is considered to 
form an appropriate infill site, close to the Leigh-Salford-Manchester 
guided busway, and hence its proposed allocation is retained in 
Policy H3/16. A new West Salford Greenway policy has been 
included in the Revised Draft Local Plan, but the land north of 
Lumber Lane has been omitted from it for the same reasons. 

Strong objection to the designation of the site as Local Green Space, 
which is based on a fundamental misapplication of the NPPF and 
the Council’s own assessment methodology (developer). 

The original Local Green Space designation GI5/5 West Salford 
Greenway (180 hectares) in the draft Local Plan has been separated 
into five distinctive smaller areas: 
 

 GI6/5 Roe Green, Worsley (3.4 hectares) 
 GI6/6 Land at Beesley Green and around Kempnough Brook, 

Worsley (27.0 hectares) 
 GI6/7 Worsley Woods, Old Warke Dam and Aviary Field, 

Worsley (32.0 hectares) 
 GI6/8 Broadoak South, Worsley (27.0 hectares) 
 GI6/9 Duke’s Drive, Worsley (10.1 hectares) 

P
age 1879



2 
 

 
These areas are considered to satisfy the Local Green Space criteria 
at a national and local level as set out in the individual reasoned 
justifications. The remaining areas (81.0 hectares) of the original 
GI5/5 designation are not considered to meet the criteria unless they 
form part of the wider larger site. In order to ensure that the strength 
of the designation of the five sites listed above is not watered down 
in any way, it is now proposed to designate them individually as 
Local Green Space. The whole West Salford Greenway will continue 
to be protected under a new Policy GI5 of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan, recognising its role as an important part of the green 
infrastructure network. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI5/5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

A new detailed policy has been produced on the West Salford 
Greenway (GI5) similar to the area-based policies on Chat Moss and 
Irwell Valley 
 

This new area-based policy is required to set out the importance of 
the characteristics and functions of this area from a range of 
perspectives including heritage, biodiversity, and recreation. 

 

P
age 1880



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI5/6 Local Green Space – Worsley Green 

(The policy reference has been changed to GI6/6 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for designation of the site as Local Green Space 
(organisation). 

The support is welcomed. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI5/6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1881



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GI6 Trees and woodland 

(The policy reference has been changed to GI7 in the Revised Draft Local Plan, and the title changed to ‘Trees, woodland and 

hedgerows’) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for Policy GI6 

Support for the City Forest Park (City of Trees / Woodland Trust). The support is welcomed. 
 
The reference to two for one replacement of removed trees has 
been amended, due to concerns that it could still lead to a reduction 
in the quality of the treescape. The wording has been amended to 
require developments that would involve the loss of trees to provide 
replacement trees of a suitable size and species in an appropriate 
location to deliver a net enhancement in the character and quality of 
the treescape in the local area, with a preference for on-site 
provision. 

The concept of City Forest Park is supported (GMEU) 

General support for the protection of existing tree cover (GMEU). 

Support for the use of the Woodland Trust's Access to Woodland 
Standard (Woodland Trust) 

Support for the two for one replacement of any trees which have to 
be removed (Woodland Trust).  

 
City Forest Park 

There are some reservations regarding the emphasis on arts and 
culture in an area where significant funding has already been 
invested promoting tree and woodland planting and biodiversity. 
Nature conservation should remain one of the key objectives for this 
area (GMEU). 

The text in 2B of Policy GI4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has 
been expanded to refer to ‘potential opportunities to improve priority 
habitats and flood management measures’ within the City Forest 
Park. 

 
Positive conservation management 

 

The trees and woodlands policy should include focus on positive 
conservation management from an ecological/wildlife value/priority 
habitat perspective. It is recommended that existing or proposed 
new woodland habitats in Salford are high quality, provide a positive 
long term wildlife benefit, ensure new woodland proposals protect 

New points have been added to Policy GI7 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan to reflect these comments and to also refer to hedgerows: 
8) Protecting hedgerows, particularly those of historic or biodiversity 
importance, and securing appropriate replacement in accordance 

P
age 1882



2 
 

other important priority habitats and undertake appropriate 
environmental assessment as part of any new tree planting 
proposals (Environment Agency). 

with the Natural England biodiversity offsetting metric where their 
loss is unavoidable; 
9) Encourage the positive management of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows so as to maximise their green infrastructure functions  
 
These issues raised are also considered to be covered in part by 
other policies in the green infrastructure chapter, in particular Policy 
GI1 which is supplemented by Policy GI7. 

 
Ancient woodlands, aged or veteran trees and hedgerows 

 

This policy should be strengthened to enable the protection of 
ancient woodlands, aged or veteran trees to fully reflect the NPPF 
(paragraph 118) (Natural England), and to clarify that these 
irreplaceable habitats would only be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances (Woodland Trust). 

Policy GI7 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been restructured to 
provide greater prominence to ancient woodland in criterion 1, with 
additional text to refer to aged and veteran trees: 
1) Affording very strong protection to the ancient woodland at Clifton 
Wood (BG2/43 on the Policies Map) and to ancient or veteran trees 
elsewhere; 

This policy could be broadened to include (historic) hedgerows and 
those which lie along the footpath and bridleway network (Historic 
England). 

New points have been added to Policy GI7 to reflect these 
comments:  
8) Protecting hedgerows, particularly those of historic or biodiversity 
importance, and securing appropriate replacement where their loss 
is unavoidable.  
9) Encourage the positive management of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows so as to maximise their green infrastructure functions.  
 
Additional explanation has also been added to the justification of 
Policy GI7 and ‘hedgerows’ has been added to the list of features in 
the opening paragraph of Policy GI1.  

 
Sustainable Drainage (SUDS) 

Comments were made that bullet 6 should also refer to SuDS (City 
of Trees). 

Additional text has been added to point 7 of Policy GI7 to also refer 
to sustainable drainage. 

 
Other Comments 

There are some landscapes and habitats where tree planting is 
inappropriate eg. Lowland Moss where the emphasis is on tree 

An additional sentence has been added to the second paragraph of 
the justification (paragraph 23.27):  

P
age 1883



3 
 

removal.  The policy should include a caveat requiring proper 
ecological assessments of any large scale tree planting on open 
land above 0.5ha in size (GMEU). 

‘The notable exception will be those landscapes and habitats where 
tree planting is generally inappropriate, in particular areas of lowland 
moss where there may be a need for tree removal to enhance this 
habitat.’ 

An additional paragraph to recognise Ash dieback (Chalara) 
including the requirement for appropriate replacement street and 
self-sown trees (City of Trees). 

These requirements are considered too detailed for the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. Criterion 3 of Policy GI7 requires the replacement 
of trees where they are lost to development. 

Bio-security should continue to be promoted across all green 
infrastructures, in order to reduce the risk of further outbreaks of 
potentially harmful pests and diseases (City of Trees). 

These requirements are considered too detailed for the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. 

  

Other significant changes made to GI6 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Criterion 4 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been rewritten: 
‘Requiring developments that would involve the loss of trees to 
provide replacement trees of a suitable size and species in an 
appropriate location to deliver a net enhancement in the character 
and quality of the treescape in the local area, with a preference for 
on-site provision’ 

The revised wording in the Revised Draft Local Plan will ensure that 
replacement tree planting is of high quality and in the most 
appropriate location rather than being related solely to the quantity 
that has been lost. 

 

P
age 1884



RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 
 
POLICY: GB1 GREEN BELT, AND GENERAL COMMENTS ON THE GREEN BELT 
CHAPTER 
 
Changes to the Green Belt in Salford are now being considered solely through the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) rather than Salford’s Local Plan. As a result, the first 
table below only provides a response to general comments made on the Green Belt chapter 
in the Draft Local Plan that do not relate to boundary changes and associated issues. 
 
The second table summarises significant changes to the Green Belt chapter and policy GB1 
made in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
 
The third table summarises all of the other general comments that were received on the 
Green Belt chapter and policy GB1 in the Draft Local Plan, which relate to issues now being 
dealt with in the GMSF rather than the Local Plan. 
  

Issue raised in the representations 

which remain a Local Plan matter   

How is this being addressed in the 

Revised Draft Local Plan 

Concerned about unauthorised 
development in the Green Belt. In such 
cases, there is no opportunity to 
appropriately limit or mitigate the harm that 
has already taken place. For these reasons, 
objector seeking to introduce a new 
evidenced-based planning and recovery 
policy for the Green Belt to introduce early 
in the next Parliament to strengthen 
protection against unauthorised 
development.  

The city council does not have any control 
over national legislation. Where 
unauthorised development takes place in 
the Green Belt, the city council will take 
appropriate and proportionate enforcement 
action. 

For every property on brownfield land that 
is built the developer should be allowed to 
develop a property on greenfield land of a 
similar size. 

The city council disagrees with this 
suggestion, and the Revised Draft Local 
Plan instead adopts a strong ‘brownfield 
first’ approach that seeks to maximise the 
use of previously-developed land and 
minimise the use of greenfield land for 
development. This is important both for 
promoting regeneration and protecting the 
city’s environment. 

 

Significant changes made to policy GB1 and the Green Belt chapter 

Change  Reason for change  

A new policy GB2 (Soils and agricultural 
land) has been added to the Green Belt 
chapter. This seeks to protect soil resources 
and minimise the loss of agricultural land 
particularly higher grade land. It encourages 
the positive use of agricultural land and the 
protection of its environmental functions. 

To ensure appropriate policy coverage and 
protection for soil resources and 
agricultural land in the Local Plan. 

Page 1885



Title of the chapter has changed to Green 
Belt and Agriculture 

To reflect the full scope of the chapter 

 

 
 
Summary of all issues raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

Comments in support of Green Belt release 

General support from housebuilders on the principle of Green Belt release to meet needs, 
stating that exceptional circumstances exist, although the amount of land that needs to be 
released has been substantially under-estimated (comments included those from Persimmon 
Homes, Peel Group). 

Without additional releases, the amount of new development that could be planned would be 
low, and would lead to significant reliance upon neighbouring authorities agreeing to take any 
unmet needs, when their ability to accommodate such need is extremely unlikely (Home 
Builders Federation). 

Support for release of Green Belt land to provide housing opportunities as there is a lack of 
family homes in areas people wish to live and there is land available to meet the shortfall with 
existing infrastructure in place to support it. 

The volume of housing required will not be secured without encroachment onto the Green 
Belt and that many of the sites identified have significant potential as areas capable of 
delivering substantial economic growth as well as delivering the housing units that are so 
desperately required. 

Recognition of the proposed approach to releasing Green Belt sites by identifying a relatively 
small number of larger sites capable of supporting the range of infrastructure and facilities 
required, rather than widespread incremental development of smaller sites. Such an 
approach provides for a simpler plan-led system. 

Loss of Green Belt to meet needs is much better than the alternative, which is pushing 
development out into national parks, and building on city parks. Protection of Green Belt from 
development will result in a loss of parks and unplanned development.  

There needs to be a degree of flexibility to recognise that other smaller Green Belt sites on 
the fringes of urban areas may be considered suitable for development over the plan period. 

Greater Manchester’s Directors of Public Health support the policy but note that it is 
undermined by an erosion of the existing Green Belt. The creation of new settlements in the 
Green Belt, on land identified as the most suitable by a strategic review, is preferable to the 
erosion of the Green Belt at its margin or to substantial loss of urban open space. Where 
open space is to be lost, developments should include attractive green pedestrian and cycle 
passages, structured provision of space for tranquillity and space for active recreation and re-
provision of open space such as green roof. 

Additional allocations within the Green Belt 

Propose the extension of logistics north on land bounded by existing commercial 
development to the north, draft residential allocation to the east and railway line to the south. 
Site will form a natural extension to the development area filling in a corner between 
developments (Harworth Group). 

Propose land off Manchester Road, Clifton for residential development. Contest description 
that parcel comprises a ciritcal gap between Clifton and Swinton because the M60 and M61 
prevent merging. Exceptional circumstances exist because of the ground condition of the site, 
which means that appropriate Green Belt uses such as forestry and agriculture are not 
possible on the site and the site is not serving the five purposes of Green Belt set out in 
paragraph 80 of the NPPF (Redcliff Estates). 

The Peel Group proposed the following sites for removal from the existing Green Belt: 

 Land East of Irlam 

 Land at Linnyshaw 

Page 1886



 Land at Wardley 

 Land at the junction of Walkden Road and allocated for mixed use of residential and 
roadside retail and related uses. 

 Land north of Leigh Road - as does not contribute to purposes of the Green Belt in this 
location  

Safeguarded land 

Persimmon Homes considers that the failure to consider requirements for housing land well 
beyond the plan period, which will affect the longevity of the Green Belt boundaries now being 
proposed, is contrary to paragraph 85 of NPPF. It will be necessary to identify new 
Safeguarded Land now to ensure that Green Belt boundaries do not need to be reviewed 
again by 2035. 

The extent of over-supply against the requirement set out in Policy H2 equates to just 3 years. 
As such, the potential land supply post-2035 will be wholly insufficient to meet longer term 
development needs. A proper strategy for the identification of safeguarded land, consistent 
with the NPPF requirement that Green Belt boundaries should endure over the long term and 
that safeguarded land should be identified to meet development needs stretching ‘well 
beyond’ the plan period is needed. The failure to identify sufficient safeguarded land for this 
purpose puts the plan in conflict with the requirements of the NPPF. It is therefore unsound. 
(Peel Group) 

Safeguarded land is necessary to provide certainty to both residents and developers and 
should be identified in order to ensure that the coordinated growth of Greater Manchester in 
the GMSF is continued beyond the plan period, until at least 2050. 

Safeguarded land should be identified to aid deliverability and allow the full housing target to 
be delivered over the plan period with residual land remaining rolled forward to the next plan 
period. The minimum requirement is to provide a similar amount of safeguarded land to the 
amount of Green Belt being released in this plan period, as was found in the Cheshire East 
Local Plan examination. 

Comments against Green Belt release 

Significant number of objections to Green Belt development. Issues identified included: 

 Exceptional circumstances do not exist 

 Should revisit housing figures 

 Prioritise brownfield land, seek to remove obstacles to development and raise brownfield 
targets  

 Availability of vacant properties (housing and warehousing) 

 Build out planning permissions first 

 Contrary to urban regeneration objectives 

 Greenspace / Green belt is a fundamental requirement for the well being and mental 
health of residents  

 Although Salford has a lot of open land much is not publicly accessible 

 Loss of high grade agricultural land / food security 

 Urban sprawl / seperation of settlements 

 Impacts on habitats / wildlife 

 Increased congestion and impacts on air quality 

 Capacity of community infrastructure to accomodate 

 Increase risk of flooding preventing land from absorbing excess run-off 

 That 293 ha or 8.7% lost is far from modest  

 Increase in Manchester material footprint 

Not consistent with recent announcements and ministerial statements from Government that 
the Green Belt is sacrosanct and should be protected and the need to reuse previously-
developed land. 

The approach is in breach of several UK and EU Habitat Directives. 

The GMSF should be re-written to achieve a substantial reduction in loss of Green Belt. 
Support is given to the commitment of ensuring the GMSF releases the minimum amount of 

Page 1887



Green Belt to meet our need sustainably, although this should be strengthened to ensure no 
net loss of Green Belt or as close to this as possible. The difficulty of this is recognised and 
further work is required to designate new areas of Green Belt to replace those that may need 
to be lost (Andy Burnham MP). 

The Campaign to Protect Rural England calls on GMCA to set more ambitious targets for 
Green Belt protection and enhancement, to prioritise saving existing Green Belt and creating 
new Green Belt. The GMSF should include a strategy for securing the greater positive use of 
Green Belt, as recommended by the Green Belt Assessment, as there remains considerable 
scope in terms of providing for informal recreation close to the conurbation in particular. 

Friends of the Earth opposes loss of Green Belt and is critical of a failure to consider 
reasonable alternatives to Green Belt, lack of robust evidence and no case for exceptional 
circumstances. Previous brownfield targets should be used and new development should be 
in locations that reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

Saddened to note the plan to reduce the existing green belt though recognise difficult 
decisions will need to be made to meet the needs of our growing area.  In particular, we 
stress the link between health, activity and green space.  We are pleased to see significant 
action proposed to mitigate the requirement to reduce green belt land with regard to green 
space provision, biodiversity and carbon reduction.  This could include even more about 
greening our urban environments, through for example greening tram tracks and greater 
support for community orchards and the like (NHS Clinical Commissioning Group). 

How much of the land to be taken out of the green belt is being done so to meet the shortfall 
in housing provision in other parts of Greater Manchester. I can’t see how this is justified 
when other districts in Manchester are significantly bigger in area than Salford, and have 
better access to public transport links (individual). 

There should be no net loss of Green Belt. This is a decision that cannot be reversed. Green 
Belt was introduced to ensure such areas were preserved whereas these proposals ignore 
this concept and modify it, threatening the permanence it is supposed to represent and 
therefore setting a precedent for further revisions. 

Cannot be certain of the population increase over the next few generations. A more cautious 
approach should be taken and other options explored. 

Object to the large and disproportionate scale of Green Belt release in some areas and the 
uneven spread of release across the city region. 

The Northern Powerhouse needs to look beyond GM and consider new towns beyond the 
Green Belt. They may well be preferable to allowing coagulation of the conurbation towns to 
continue. 

Concerns expressed regarding the role of developers in the release of Green Belt. 

Use of Green Belt land for development, which in many cases contains areas that are 
economically active, runs counter to the economic uplift of poorer areas and removes diverse 
rural economic activity. Brownfield sites are in less economically active areas, and will allow 
affordable homes to be built nearer places of employment and existing amenities, as well as 
bringing growth to more deprived areas and communities. 

These areas are located in peripheral locations far away from places of work in the district 
centres. 

The proposals are contrary to efforts to regenerate our urban areas and town centres. 

Loss of green belt should be avoided where it would cause unjustified harm to the 
significance/setting of heritage assets (Historic England) 

Does not accord with objectives to expand and enhance green infrastructure and increase 
tree planting. It is vitally important that any mature trees, woodland and SBIs are further 
protected and enhanced. 

The concept of a "net" reduction implies that many older Green Belt sites will be lost and 
some will be replaced with new areas, however, these will not be as wildlife rich and will be 
more human recreation areas.  

The extent of the proposed release of Green Belt land is in conflict with the value placed on 
Green Belt space as part of the wider public health agenda. Loss of open space and 

Page 1888



recreation deprives future generations of people from having some connection with the 
natural environment.  

Would not create mixed communities but will rather result in social segregation, ghettoization 
and large areas of new housing which look virtually identical to each other, undermining the 
sense of place and distinctiveness of communities.  

Must avoid the overdevelopment of rural areas and any harm to unspoilt countryside. 

Environmental impact via greenhouse gases, reducing air quality for the current residents and 
making the carbon target harder to meet. 

National Farmers Union are particularly concerned with the proposed significant loss of Green 
Belt where this is farmland, as, particularly where the land is productive, the contribution that 
Greater Manchester can make to its own food security UK food security, together with 
reducing flood risk and recreation, are being undermined. However, farmers also need to 
maintain the viability of farms by utilising land and so where it is appropriate and makes 
economic sense some development on farmland should be allowed. 

Greater Manchester Cycling Campaign does not support Policy GM13 on sustainability 
grounds. The plan currently does not and should consider the impact on the environment 
outside GM and overseas of the increase in number of residents and associated resource 
consumption and degradation of environmentally sensitive habitats such as the Arctic and 
rainforests. 

Manchester Climate Change Agency view that the current Green Belt proposals appear to be 
inconsistent with stated GM policy objectives and commitments in other GM policy 
documents. 

Support retention of Linnyshaw/ Walkden Green Belt (individuals, community group, Cllr 
Richard Critchley). Issues identified included: 

 Provides an essential function in separating Walkden from Swinton 

 Buffer to the M60 and M61 

 Maintain identity of adjoining towns and communities  

 Green Belt already been lost in the area through construction of St Ambrose Barlow High 
School  

 Loss of recreation function 

 Wildlife and learning opportunity  

 Traffic  

 Brownfield sites available  

Object to loss of greenspaces in Worsley, Roe Green, Walkden, Boothstown and Ellenbrook 
(community group). 

Object to loss of Green Belt in Walkden, Worsley and Swinton. These parts of the city have 
their own identity and as such GB needs to be maintained between them (individual). 

Development heavily weighted to Irlam & Cadishead with insufficient consideration given to 
the north western boundaries of Chat Moss in Boothstown and Worsley. The investment at 
RHS Bridgewater together with minimal amount of green belt lost seems out of balance 
(Hamilton Davis Trust). 

In the short to medium term there will be alternative albeit smaller opportunities for residential 
development within urban areas when the number of petrol stations falls with the mass 
introduction of electric cars, expected to be onwards from 2020. 

Need to look beyond the Green Belt to the surrounding open moorland. Whilst this may 
impact upon native wildlife it will not take away the well-used Green Belt countryside within 
urban areas. 

Produce an accurate measure of capacity of business to ascertain the need for 
warehouse/light industry development to help identify the millions of square feet of unused 
business premises around the Greater Manchester region which should be prioritised before 
use of Green Belt land. 

There is a need for better, up to date employment land requirements as too much 
employment land is identified and could be alternatively be allocated for housing (comment(s) 
to GMSF) 

Page 1889



Extensions to Green Belt 

General support for extensions to the Green Belt (individual and GMEU) 

Green Belt should be extended to include locations adjacent to motorways and trunk roads to 
protect residents from the adverse effects of vehicle pollution on their health. Allocations 
adjacent to motorways should be removed. 

Harworth group object to the extension to Green Belt west of Little Hulton in light of their 
proposed extension to Logistics North which would include part of this land (Harworth Group) 

Support allocation of Cutacre country park and Wharton Playing fields as Green Belt  (Cllr 
Richard Critchley) (CPRE) 

Support Worsley Greenway’s inclusion within the Green Belt (individuals, community groups, 
Salford City Council Conservative Group, Cllr Richard Critchley, Worsley Councillors and 
CPRE). Issues raised included: 

 Protects the historic character the area (conservation areas, Worsley Village and 
Bridgewater Canal Corridor) 

 Protects the rural character of Worsley Woods 

 Green lung 

 Essential break in urban form  

 Much valued open space  

 Important linear separation between the different settlements of Broad Oak, Monton, 
Alder Forest and the historic town of Worsley which are recognisably different spatial 
characteristics and feel 

 Major change in circumstances through the emerging GMSF and green belt releases 

 GM GB Assessment is a bit lightweight because it does not reflect the importance of 
these open areas for recreation and biodiversity  

 Prevents urban sprawl 

West Salford Greenway Green Belt designation is unsound, unjustified and exceptional 
circumstances have not been demonstrated: 

 Sites within provide significant and sustainable housing development potential in the 
context of a clear under provision; 

 Inspectors report to 2006 UDP concluded that the physical links to the Green Belt are 
“tenuous” and therefore rejected the proposal. No material change in circumstances. 

 Council’s appraisal in the “Suggested Sites consultation Green Belt assessment 
document 2014” concludes that “whilst a level of protection of all or some of the area 
may be appropriate, Green Belt would not be considered to be the appropriate type of 
designation”  

 (Peel Group) 

Consider that other strategic sites should be looked at for inclusion in the Green Belt where 
these would assist in maintaining the separation of towns/ development: 

 Blackleach country Park – a natural extension to GB north of Walkden making a more 
logical and consistent boundary 

 Land west of Burgess Farm – including St George’s playing fields, the new country park 
and land on the Wigan side of the boundary. Essential to maintain separation of Walkden 
and Tyldesley. 

 Land off Lumber Lane south of A580 – provides essential function linking existing green 
belt around Walkden, Worsley and the proposed green belt at Worsley Greenway (Cllr 
Richard Critchley) 

Allocation boundaries / masterplanning 

If limited development on Green Belt land is necessary, then proposals which are sensitive to 
the need to retain what is valuable about Green Belt should be given preference, favouring 
developments which do not overwhelm previously rural land. 

Pleased that the policy approach protects the Green Belt where it forms a buffer between 
villages to prevent coalescence which would be detrimental to the character of the areas 
concerned. 

Page 1890



Where possible the development of Green Belt land should enhance existing supply and help 
address adjacent brownfield sites that alone provide limited regeneration opportunities. 

The large areas of Green Belt proposed for release should be broken up with retained Green 
Belt which should link the adjacent areas of Green Belt to each other. 

The proposals for amending Green Belt boundaries do not describe or quantify the 
significance of the land to be lost and also leaves fragmented pockets of existing Green Belt 
vulnerable to future development pressures. These should be afforded added protection 
possibly as buffer zones, accessible greenspace or green infrastructure. 

Other 

Request that the respondent and the other residents on East Lynn Drive are included on 
future correspondence and consultation regarding the Green Belt (individual) 

Require extensive and meaningful consultation and engagement going forward for those 
affected. 

Need more synergy between GMSF and Local Plans to give certainty on Green Belt 
boundaries. Local Plans at district level need to be progressed as a matter of urgency. 

Significant action required to mitigate reduction in Green Belt with regard to green space 
provision including greening of urban environments, biodiversity and carbon reduction. 

Manchester City Council’s Green and Blue Strategy should be replicated at the GM level. 

Local Plans should include Green Belt reviews within their remit as there are numerous 
anomalies where the original boundaries were badly drawn or circumstances have changed, 
and the GMSF should reference this requirement or at least provide clarity on the approach. 

A Greater Manchester-wide SHLAA should be undertaken and a trajectory prepared to 
ensure the exceptional circumstances case is adequately demonstrated and to provide 
evidence on need, supply and any further releases. 

Forestry Commission suggest that a quality not quantity approach to Green Belt is required to 
ensuring that Green Belt is managed for the social, economic or environmental outcomes that 
are required over the next 25 years.  

  

 

Page 1891



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GB2 – Agricultural, forestry and other occupational dwellings within the Green Belt 

(Policy reference has been changed to GB4 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for measures to support agriculture and forestry as long as it 
does not threaten biodiversity.  Where necessary ecological 
assessments should be provided as part of any such proposal 
(GMEU) 

The requirements of Policy BG2 would ensure that issues of 
biodiversity are given proper consideration as part of development 
proposals.  
 
It should be noted that section 55 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 excludes the agricultural use of land and associated 
buildings from the definition of development, and so much 
agricultural activity will not be subject to planning controls. 

Policy GB2(3)(ii) – this clause allows for a business profitable in its 
first year, but failing in the next two, to satisfy the criterion.  
Businesses should be profitable during at least the most recent of 
the last three years (Historic England) 

The tests identified in the policy reflect those previously held in 
Annex A to Planning Policy Statement 7: Sustainable Development 
in Rural Areas1. Whilst this guidance has been replaced by the 
National Planning Policy Framework, the tests continue to provide a 
useful basis to determine whether there is an “essential need for a 
rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in the 
countryside” as identified in paragraph 79 of the Framework.  
 
Criterion 3 of Revised Draft Local Plan Policy GB4 ensures that the 
need for a dwelling is associated with an established economically 
viable activity.  
 
Through sub-criterion 3(ii) an applicant is required to show that the 
activity has been profitable, sub-criterion 3(iii) supplements this with 
a requirement to demonstrate that the activity will remain so.  
 

                                                           
1 Department for Communities and Local Government (3 August 2004) Planning Policy Statement 7: Sustainable Development in Rural Areas. 

P
age 1892



 

A change to refer to at least the most recent of the last three years is 
considered inappropriately inflexible, for example it would not allow 
for circumstances where a business has been profitable for two 
years but not in the last due to circumstances outside of its control. If 
a business was profitable in its first year but failed in the next two 
then this would need to be explained under criterion iii. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy GB2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The Draft Local Plan policy referred to the need to demonstrate a 
lack of ‘current’ demand for an agricultural dwelling in order to 
remove an existing occupancy condition. In the Revised Draft Local 
Plan the policy now refers to ‘current or likely future demand’. 

The addition of ‘likely future’ ensures that an occupancy condition is 
not lifted where it is likely that a demand for the dwelling to support 
an agricultural enterprise in the locality will arise in the foreseeable 
future. For example, whilst there may be a lack of current demand, it 
could be the case that an emerging demand is evident in relation to 
an expanding agricultural enterprise in the local area. Conversely, it 
may be that agricultural activities in the local area are relatively 
stable, or the demand for labour is declining, such that the current 
lack of demand is unlikely to change. 

 

P
age 1893



 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: GB3 Farm Diversification 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Support for measures to support agriculture and forestry as long as it 
does not threaten biodiversity.  Where necessary ecological 
assessments should be provided as part of any such proposal 
(GMEU) 

The requirements of Policy BG2 would ensure that issues of 
biodiversity are given proper consideration as part of development 
proposals.  
 
It should be noted that section 55 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 excludes the agricultural use of land and associated 
buildings from the definition of development, and so much 
agricultural activity will not be subject to planning controls. 

What you are proposing for Chat Moss does not comply with points 
1 and 3 (individuals) 
 

The representation relates to two proposed development allocations 
in the Green Belt that were included in the Draft GMSF and the Draft 
Local Plan (namely H3/4 Western Cadishead and Irlam and EC4/1 
Port Salford Expansion, in the Draft Local Plan). The allocation of 
land in these locations is now being taken forward solely through the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework under policies GM Allocation 
32 (North of Irlam Station) and GM Allocation 33 (Port Salford 
Extension) respectively, and not through the Local Plan, as all 
changes to Green Belt boundaries are being dealt with in the GMSF. 
The area of land allocated to the north of Irlam Station has been 
significantly reduced in size from that proposed in the draft plans 
(from 289 hectares to 65 hectares) and is specifically focused 
around the station itself, which has been reflected in the change in 
name. 
 
It is recognised that the two allocations will result in the loss of 
Grade 1 agricultural land and openness. The GMSF process has 
determined that the opportunities that the sites present in terms of 
accessible high quality housing around Irlam Station and maximising 
the potential of the tri-modal connections to be provided as part of 
the permitted Port Salford outweigh these issues in this case. 

P
age 1894



 

  

Other significant changes made to policy GB3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1895



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Biodiversity General Comments 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
General Biodiversity Comments 

The Local Plan could do much more to raise the profile of wildlife 
and biodiversity by at least cross-referencing to it in the earlier 
chapters rather than being limited to the biodiversity chapter 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

A new strategic objective has been added to the Revised Draft Local 
Plan: ‘9) To support a net gain in Salford’s biodiversity’. Other 
chapters of the Revised Draft Local Plan also make specific 
references to wildlife and biodiversity, including the new Chapter 6 
Climate Change, Chapter 12 Housing, and in particular Chapter 24 
Green Infrastructure. 

Broad support was expressed for the biodiversity policies. 
(CPRE/Lancashire Wildlife Trust). The policies provide good 
protection for and seek enhancement of wildlife / biodiversity 
(Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

The support is welcomed. 

The absence of any accompanying analysis of the natural capital 
within the site allocations preclude objective nature conservation 
comment on the allocations. (Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

Background assessments have been completed to inform the 
proposed site allocations of the Revised Draft Local Plan. These 
assessments have been informed by discussions with Natural 
England and GMEU. Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has 
also been restructured to focus on the considerable biodiversity net 
gain that will be sought across the city.   

Comments were received about the variety of birdlife in the Worsley 
and Boothstown area and a concern that building extra homes will 
erode nature (individual) 

 
Ecological Network 

The identification of an ecological network for Salford and 
surrounding area is crucial for biodiversity protection and 
enhancement and the net effect of the local plan should be a 
substantial improvement in the ecological network (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan seeks a considerable net gain in 
biodiversity in Policy BG1, and Policy BG3 requires all development 
to deliver a net gain in biodiversity value. The city council will 
continue to work with partners to improve the evidence base in 
relation to ecological networks, which will assist with the 
implementation of the plan. 

In order to secure an ecological network it will be necessary to have 
already identified the baseline existing ecological network(s) across 
the city, their extent, quality and functionality, and the needs and 

Work is in progress by Natural England and the GMEU to further 
improve the evidence base in relation to ecological networks. 
However, sufficient evidence is available to ensure that site selection 

P
age 1896



2 
 

opportunities for maintenance, recovery, re-creation and creation of 
all parts of those networks - internally and into adjacent areas. It is 
essential that this network be included as a key component of the 
emerging plan.  Without it site selection is premature. (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust). 

takes appropriate account of biodiversity issues, and the Local Plan 
is considered to be consistent with paragraph 174 of the NPPF 
(2018). 

A defensible system of 'biodiversity metrics' should be established 
that would quantify both the extent and scale of any losses to the 
ecological network(s) and weigh these against those measures 
which were guaranteed to deliver gains expressed in terms of 
quantity, quality and functionality. All development should be 
required to deliver net gains to the ecological network. (Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust). 

Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been restructured to 
focus on the considerable biodiversity net gain that will be sought 
across the city. Policy BG3 requires that all development delivers a 
net gain in biodiversity value. It explains that, where mitigation is 
needed, an offsetting mechanism based on the Natural England 
biodiversity offsetting metric will be used to calculate requirements. 

There should as a minimum be policies which will protect ecological 
networks and identified enhancement strategies, once they are in 
place (Lancashire Wildlife Trust). 

The focus on a biodiversity net gain in the restructured Policy BG1 
should protect ecological networks. 

 
Monitoring 

We would recommend changing number of SBIs to area of SBIs.  
There is limited potential for increasing the number of SBI’s in 
Salford CC, but significant potential to extend existing SBIs 
particularly on Chat Moss. (GMEU) 

The indicator related to sites of biological importance in the 
Biodiversity chapter of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been 
amended in response to this suggestion.  

We would recommend an indicator be included to reflect the 
ecological quality of the borough’s waterbodies: “Number of WFD 
waterbodies achieving good ecological potential or good ecological 
status”. (Environment Agency) 

The Draft Local Plan included an indicator relating to the 
“Percentage of surface water bodies of at least good ecological 
status or potential’, with a target of 100% by 2037, and this has been 
retained in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

It would be beneficial if the environmental targets would be more 
specific to bring them in line with targets for housing and growth. 
(Natural England) 

The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a range of environmental 
targets across several chapters, which are considered to provide an 
appropriate level of coverage and detail for the development plan. 
More specific and detailed targets may be included in a 
supplementary planning document. 

It would be good for the plan to think about monitoring connectivity in 
the ecological network, rather than just number of sites and 
management of these. (Natural England) 

It has not been possible to identify an indicator and target for 
ecological connectivity that could be readily monitored and would be 
appropriate for inclusion in the development plan. 

  

P
age 1897



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: BG1 Biodiversity spatial strategy 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for Policy BG1 

General support for the commitment to biodiversity and the 
principles of the policy (Harworth Group / Salford City Council 
Conservative Group / Natural England / GMEU) 

The support is welcomed. 

 
Flexibility 

One landowner commented that the significance of areas designated 
for nature conservation should not be undermined by inclusion of 
areas not of high biodiversity value, and there should be flexibility to 
respond to opportunity to create higher value habitats in new 
locations (Harworth Group) 

All of the biodiversity assets listed in Policy BG1 and shown on the 
Policies Map are considered to be of high biodiversity value. 
 
Policy BG3 requires all development to deliver a net gain in 
biodiversity value. In accordance with paragraph 175 of the NPPF, it 
places the emphasis on first avoiding harm to priority habitats and 
species, and only then mitigating any remaining harm or 
compensating for it. 

 
Need for policy to be strengthened 

A number of individuals commented that the second paragraph of 
the policy was incorrect because the plan involves building on 
valuable habitats not protecting them (9 individuals). 

The allocations in the Revised Draft Local Plan are consistent with 
the protection and enhancement of the city’s most valuable existing 
habitats. 

The policy should be strengthened to relect paragraph 109 of the 
NPPF which states that the planning system should seek to 
minimise impacts on biodiversity and provide net gain where 
possible. Future development should aim to halt any further loss of 
biodiversity interest in Salford, support healthy, well-functioning 
ecosystems, and establish coherent and high quality ecological 
networks (Environment Agency). 

The policy has been restructured to focus on delivering a 
considerable net gain in biodiversity across the city. 
 
Policy BG3 in the Revised Draft Local Plan requires all development 
to deliver a net gain in biodiversity value, strengthening the approach 
in accordance with the suggestion. 

P
age 1898



2 
 

The majority of Salford watercourses are still failing statutory 
objectives under the River Basin Management Plan – there is much 
to do to improve and enhance these ecological networks 
(Environment Agency). 

Point 7 of the amended policy seeks to achieve ‘good’ status across 
all of the city’s water bodies, in accordance with Policy WA2. Policy 
WA2 (Delivering the North West River Basin Management Plan) is a 
new policy in the Revised Draft Local Plan, replacing Draft Local 
Plan policy WA3 on water quality, and provides a stronger focus on 
delivering the objectives of the River Basin Management Plan. 

The ecosystem services role of the natural environment should be 
emphasised, recognising that enhancing degraded environments 
can provide multiple environmental benefits and not just benefit 
wildlife. (Environment Agency) 

The policy has been restructured to focus on delivering a 
considerable net gain in biodiversity across the city. Policy BG3 
requires all development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity value, 
which could include through enhancing degraded environments. 

BG1 should make reference to the ecological framework within 
Salford and the need to protect and enhance it. (Lancashire Wildlife 
Trust) 

The policy has been restructured to focus on delivering a 
considerable net gain in biodiversity across the city. Point 1 now 
relates to delivering a coherent and high quality ecological network 
as part of the wider green infrastructure network. 

 
Biodiversity Heartland 

The principles of BG1 should be extended to the mossland south of 
the M62 (Salford City Council Conservative Group) 

The principles of policy BG1 apply to the whole city. The Chat Moss 
area covered by policy GI3 has been extended in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan to include the Green Belt to the south of the M62 
motorway, excluding the two sites that are proposed for 
development in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. 

The Biodiversity Heartland recognises relationship with neighbouring 
Manchester Mosses SAC and will need to be integrated into wider 
ecological network (Natural England). Any developments coming 
forward should support the Great Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area objectives (Natural England). 

Policy GI3 (Chat Moss) continues to recognise the important role of 
Chat Moss (within which the Biodiversity Heartland is located) as 
part of a wider lowland wetland area extending into Wigan and 
Warrington 
 
A new policy BG2 (Nature Improvement Areas) has been included in 
the Revised Draft Local Plan, requiring development within the Great 
Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area to support its 
objectives. 

One developer expressed support for this policy in relation to Chat 
Moss. The Biodiversity Heartland provides an opportunity to mitigate 
the impact of development within areas of lesser value (Persimmon 
Homes). 

The support is welcomed. 
 
Policy BG3 (Development and biodiversity) explains that the 
Biodiversity Heartland will be a high priority for off-site offsetting 
schemes, but it also states that where biodiversity mitigation is 

P
age 1899



3 
 

required then there is a preference for on-site habitat 
provision/enhancement wherever practicable. 

GMEU agree that Chat Moss and the Biodiversity Heartland are the 
main priority for protection and enhancement. However, Chat Moss 
is not just important for lowland raised bog but also farmland 
breeding birds, brown hare and water vole. (GMEU) 

Point 5 of the policy now specifically refers to securing lowland bog 
restoration and the provision of complementary habitats within the 
‘Biodiversity Heartland’, and the improvement of the rest of Chat 
Moss for species such as breeding birds, brown hare and water vole. 

 
Irwell Valley 

Reference should be made to the strategic value of Irwell Valley as a 
wildlife corridor in sub-regional context. (GMEU) 

Point 6 of the policy now specifically refers to delivering coordinated 
improvements throughout the Irwell Valley, enhancing its role as a 
strategic wildlife corridor, in accordance with Policy GI4. 

  

Other significant changes made to BG1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been restructured to 
provide a more comprehensive strategy for delivering biodiversity 
net gain across Salford. 

To improve the clarity and effectiveness of the policy. 

Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan now includes the lists of 
local nature reserves, sites of biological importance and ancient 
woodland that were previously part of Policy BG2 Development and 
biodiversity  

The sites are an important part of the overall biodiversity spatial 
strategy, rather than specifically being related to biodiversity and 
development, and so are more appropriately listed in policy BG1. 

Worsley Filterbeds added to the list of sites of biological importance Site surveys by GMEU on behalf of the city council have resulted in 
the designation of a new site of biological importance. 

 

 

P
age 1900



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: BG2 Development and Biodiversity  

(The policy reference has been changed to BG3 in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for Policy BG2 

General support for this policy (GMEU / Natural England / 
Persimmon Homes). 
 

The support is welcomed. 

Reference to priority habitats is welcomed (Natural England). 

 
Specific Sites of Biological Importance 

Harworth Group objects to the boundary of Ponds North of Cleworth 
Hall SBI. The site was last surveyed in 2003 prior to mining 
operations taking place at the site. The SBI area to the north of the 
railway line (the entirety of the SBI within Salford) should be 
removed. This element of the SBI will be re-provided within Cutacre 
Country Park (Harworth Group). 

The list of sites of biological importance has been moved into a 
restructured Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
 
All sites of biological importance are surveyed periodically by GMEU 
on behalf of the city council to ascertain their status and habitat 
value. A new survey of this SBI will be conducted once all works 
relating to the site have been completed and the country park is 
established. If this results in a change to the boundary of the SBI 
then this will be reflected in the Local Plan. 

Peel Group objects to the designation of Ponds near New 
Manchester SBI. Peel believes that this land should be designated 
for residential development as part of the wider Land North of 
Mosely Common site proposed in the GMSF. The SBI designation 
would conflict with the site’s allocation for residential development. 
The extent of the SBI on the draft proposals map does not 
accurately reflect the key areas of ecological value. An overall 
ecological gain can be achieved through targeted interventions and 
improvements within key areas (Peel Group). 

The list of sites of biological importance has been moved into a 
restructured Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan. 
 
All sites of biological importance are surveyed periodically by GMEU 
on behalf of the city council to ascertain their status and habitat 
value. Ponds near New Manchester (East) has been re-surveyed 
recently and still meets SBI criteria for designation. The protection of 
the whole site as part of the city’s ecological network therefore 
continues to be important, and development within it would be 
inappropriate. 

P
age 1901



2 
 

 
Additional Requirements Requested 

There are still major environmental improvements needed to 
enhance the majority of Salford’s river corridors. There may be 
significant opportunities as part of new development along river 
corridors to enhance the green infrastructure. Any new riparian 
development should assess options for enhancing green 
infrastructure and include improvements where feasible. 
(Environment Agency). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a number of policies which 
more specifically address this, including: 

 A revised Policy WA2 which focuses more closely on meeting 
the requirements of the River Basin Management Plan. There is 
a cross reference to this within the revised Policy BG1. 

 Policy D9 (Waterside development) which requires that 
waterside development enhances the role of the waterway 
corridor within the green infrastructure network, including by 
supporting improvements to biodiversity, water quality and flood 
risk management. 

 

Natural England would like additional wording that makes it clear the 
Local Plan seeks to achieve a net gain for biodiversity, reflecting 
NPPF paragraph 9, and also recommend further wording centred on 
the recovery (not just protection) of priority species and habitats 
(Natural England). 

Policy BG1 of the Revised Draft Local Plan has been restructured to 
focus on the considerable biodiversity net gain that will be sought 
across the city. 
 
Point 2 of Policy BG1 now refers to recovery as well as protection 
and enhancement of habitats and species, in response to this 
representation. 

The policy wording needs to be amended to clearly identify the 
impacts from new developments, e.g. the recreational impacts of 
new housing on designated sites (Natural England). 

The potential impacts from developments will vary considerably from 
site to site, and it is not considered appropriate to attempt to list 
them in the policy. The policy instead focuses on ensuring that 
development delivers a net gain in biodiversity value, and setting out 
how this should be done. 

Paragraph 20.10 of the reasoned justification should be clarified 
(Natural England). 

This paragraph has been deleted, as the issue is effectively dealt 
with as part of the Natural England biodiversity offsetting metric that 
is now referred to in the policy. 

The policy should include a requirement for development proposals 
to include an ecological assessment (Lancashire Wildlife Trust) 

The city council’s validation checklist is the appropriate place to 
specify when an ecological assessment is required, rather than the 
Local Plan. 

Additional bullet points should be added to the start of the policy, 
such that development should also avoid having any adverse impact 
on the nature conservation value of: sites that support species and 

The biodiversity assets listed in points A-D of the policy are all 
shown on the Policies Map, as they can be readily defined and are 
unlikely to change significantly. The addition suggested by LWT is 
effectively covered in the next paragraph of the policy, where 

P
age 1902



3 
 

habitats of principle importance in England (Lancashire Wildlife 
Trust) and wildlife corridors (GMEU). 

development should avoid having an adverse impact wherever 
practicable. The movement of priority species would also be covered 
by that paragraph, and hence the role of land as a wildlife corridor. 
 

Species should be mentioned alongside habitats throughout the 
policy, as a site may support a protected or priority species without 
being recognised as a protected or priority habitat. (City of Trees) 

The wording of the policy has been revised to make appropriate 
references to ‘species’. 

 
Invasive Species 

With reference to invasive species being ‘eradicated’ the text should 
be replaced with the word “controlled” as eradication will not be 
possible on some sites. (GMEU) 

The wording of the policy has been amended as suggested. 

  

Other significant changes made to BG2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The emphasis of the policy has been amended to require 
development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity value, rather than 
simply avoiding a net loss. 

To support a more positive approach to biodiversity in the Local 
Plan, which seeks to deliver a considerable net gain across Salford 
as set out in Policy BG1 (Biodiversity spatial strategy). 

Where off-site mitigation is needed, an offsetting mechanism based 
on the Natural England biodiversity offsetting metric will be used to 
calculate requirements with the Biodiversity Heartland being a high 
priority for offsetting schemes. 

This additional wording clarifies how biodiversity offsetting will be 
calculated and monitored. 

 

 

P
age 1903



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: BG3 Geological Diversity  

(The policy reference has been changed to BG4 Geodiversity in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

 
Support for Policy BG3 

Support for the inclusion of this policy (Natural England and GMEU) The support is welcomed. 

A provisional RIGS system is now in production (GMEU) 
 

Recommendation to extend the context to include geomorphology 
and soils (GMEU). 

Paragraph 24.12 in the Revised Draft Local Plan now provides a 
definition of geodiversity, which is based on that in Annex A of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. This paragraph also cross-
references the new policy GB2 (Soils and agricultural land). 

 

Other significant changes made to BG3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy name has been amended to Geodiversity. To reflect the term used in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

P
age 1904



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: R1 RECREATION SPATIAL STRATEGY 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Broad support for the recreation policies (organisation) The support is welcomed. 

Further evidence needs to be provided to demonstrate that the 
recreation policies are based on a robust and up-to-date assessment 
of open space to inform the opportunities for new recreation 
provision within the area (Natural England). 

The city’s recently published open space chapter of the 
infrastructure delivery plan provides the results of the most recent 
robust assessment.  

Alternative management and maintenance models for parks and 
green spaces could be considered (organisation). 

The new Salford Greenspace Strategy SPD includes a specific 
policy (GS19) relating to the management and maintenance of open 
spaces. This states that “the ongoing delivery and type of 
maintenance and management of individual sites will remain under 
review”. 

Green Infrastructure 
 

The value and health benefits of informal outdoor greenspace must 
be fully recognised and promoted (organisation). 

The introduction to the recreation chapter emphasises the 
importance of recreation facilities for quality of life and public health, 
and a standard for publicly accessible amenity space is included in 
policy R2 helping to ensure that there is an appropriate supply of 
informal outdoor greenspace. 

The green space policies should be linked to policies to deliver an 
integrated green and blue infrastructure network. These should 
consider the value of local rights of way to health and wellbeing, 
access to nature and the countryside, delivering modal shift and 
reducing CO2 and providing opportunities from an economic 
(tourism) development perspective. (Natural England). 

The green infrastructure chapter earlier in the plan provides this 
connection and context, identifying recreation as an important 
function of the green infrastructure network. 
 
Policy R5 seeks to deliver a high quality network of strategic 
recreation routes, promoting access to the countryside. This 
complements the wider approach to supporting an increase in 
walking and cycling that is set out in the Accessibility chapter. 

Irwell Valley 
 

P
age 1905



2 
 

Consideration should be given to an amendment to the allocation 
boundary of EC4/2, or to the wording for the five policy requirements 
of any development, to reflect the pack saddle bridge and Fletchers 
Canal which are closely related to Clifton Aqueduct. It is suggested 
that they both be named in Point 4 and their restoration 
required/allowed for (Bury Council). 

With the removal of the Clifton Junction policy (EC4/2) specific 
guidance will no longer be provided. There are currently no 
commitments to reinstate Fletchers Canal however such a proposal 
would fit with the priorities identified in Policy GI4 (Irwell Valley). 
Clifton Aqueduct along with its setting is protected as a statutorily 
listed structure. Policy HE1 (Heritage spatial strategy) of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan supplements this. 

Watersports at Salford Quays 
 

Any proposals to enhance water sports at Salford Quays or restore 
the Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal will need to provide measures 
to mitigate or compensate for potential ecological impacts to the 
existing sites of biological importance (GMEU). 

Point D of policy AP3 (Salford Quays) of the Revised Draft Local 
Plan policy refers to the need to balance the recreational use of the 
basins with their role in supporting wildlife, and to ensure the 
protection of the existing site of biological importance. 
 
Any restoration of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal will need 
to be consistent with policy BG3 (Development and biodiversity), 
which requires development to avoid having any adverse impact on 
the nature conservation value of a site of biological importance. 

Cutacre Country Park 
 

Support for the creation of the new natural greenspace (GMEU) The support is welcomed. 

Former Swinton Wastewater Treatment Works 
 

The site should be designated as a Local Green Space (individual) Policy GI6 of the Revised Draft Local Plan designates the Local 
Green Spaces in the city. The proposed strategic natural 
greenspace to be created within this and adjoining land can only be 
considered for designation once it has become established, and any 
designation at this stage would be premature. 

Support for the creation of the new natural greenspace (GMEU, 
landowner) 

The support is welcomed. 

A flexible approach should be adopted to the open space and scale 
of housing development to ensure that the viability of the scheme is 
not threatened (landowner) 

The reference has been updated to read: “Former Swinton 
Wastewater Treatment Works and surrounding open land, providing 
a new strategic natural greenspace with a diverse range of 
recreation opportunities, funded by a permitted residential 
development on a small part of the former treatment works site”. This 

P
age 1906



3 
 

reflects the fact that planning permission was granted in August 
2017 for the erection of 241 dwellings (reference 17/70853/FUL), 
and construction has now started. The planning permission includes 
a legal agreement requiring the developer to pay a financial 
contribution to the delivery of a community park on land adjoining 
their housing development (which formed part of the Draft Local Plan 
allocation), and also undertake works on their land that will form part 
of the community park. 

Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 
 

Support for the inclusion of the restoration of the canal (organisation) The support is welcomed. 

Consider a new policy on the protection and restoration of the 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal which is consistent with Policy 
GMS12 of the draft GMSF (organisation). 
 

A new policy is not considered necessary. Existing references in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan, in particular the eighth criterion of policy 
R1, have been strengthened to make it clear that specific sections of 
the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal will be restored where 
practicable.  

City Forest Park 
 

City Forest Park needs to be added to the list of strategically 
important recreation opportunities (organisation). 

A new criterion 2 related to the City Forest Park has been added to 
the policy in the Revised Draft Local Plan. 

Outdoor Sports Hubs 
 

Support for having regards to the city’s playing pitch strategy (Sport 
England, individual sports club) 

The support is welcomed. 

Existing recreational facilities should be upgraded and maintained 
rather than proposing new facilities within the Green Belt 
(individuals). 

The four key hub sites of citywide importance for outdoor sports are 
based on the findings of Salford playing pitch strategy. These 
strategic sites will be among the priorities for enhancement to ensure 
that local people and clubs have good access to a range of formal 
sports pitches on sites that can also accommodate sufficient facilities 
including changing facilities and car parking. 
 
Details of the existing open spaces and facilities in the city and the 
proposed site specific enhancements have recently been published 
in the open space chapter of the infrastructure delivery plan, which 
supports the Greenspace Strategy SPD. 

P
age 1907



4 
 

A key hub for outdoor sports should be identified in the Little Hulton 
and Walkden neighbourhood area. Assistance has also been 
requested for improved facilities for the club at a dedicated local site 
(individual sports club).  

The four key hub sites of citywide importance for outdoor sports are 
based on the findings of Salford playing pitch strategy. These 
strategic sites will be among the priorities for enhancement to ensure 
that local people and clubs have good access to a range of formal 
sports pitches on sites that can also accommodate sufficient facilities 
including changing facilities and car parking. 
 
The playing pitch strategy also identifies proposed enhancements for 
a wide range of outdoor sports sites subject to funding being 
secured. The city council and Salford Community Leisure are 
working separately with local clubs to identify additional facilities to 
meet their growing needs. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy R1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The list of strategically important recreation schemes has been 
expanded and reordered. 

To make it more comprehensive and easy to understand. 

A new diagram has been added showing most of the strategic 
recreation schemes referred to in policy R1. 

To improve understanding of the policy. 

 

P
age 1908



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: R2 RECREATION STANDARDS 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Playing Pitch Assessment 

Welcome the commitment to protecting existing playing fields and 
increasing the quantity and quality of provision to accompany the 
projected growth in population (Salford Community Leisure) 

The support is welcomed. 

  

Local Nature Reserves, Natural Greenspace and Accessible Woodland 
 

Support for the adoption of local standards for local nature reserves, 
natural greenspace and accessible woodland (GMEU). 

The support is welcomed. 

Allotments 
 

Support for a new allotment standard, and recognition of the benefits 
of allotment plots (Barbara Keeley MP, organisation) 

The support is welcomed. 

New Residential Development Contributions 
 

The value of and access to existing recreation resources, for 
example the Manchester Ship Canal, should be considered when 
negotiating reduced recreational requirements (developer). 

Developer contributions to the local recreation standards will be 
considered on a case by case basis. 

The policy should be amended to allow for off-site contributions to be 
made where on-site recreational provision is not feasible 

The policy already allows for off-site provision and/or a financial 
contribution to off-site provision, which will be considered on a case 
by case basis. 

  

 

 

P
age 1909



2 
 

Other significant changes made to policy R2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The justification of the policy has been amended with regard to 
development contributions. 
 

To provide further explanation as to the method applied to calculate 
appropriate development contributions based on the number of 
dwellings and bed spaces. 

 

P
age 1910



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: R3 RECREATIONAL FACILITIES AND RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

No representations were made on this policy.  No changes are proposed to the policy. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy R3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1911



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: R4 PROTECTION OF RECREATION LAND AND FACILITIES  

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

This policy is consistent with Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy 
and paragraph 74 of the NPPF (Sport England) 

Comments are noted 

The policy should not apply to sites that have an existing recreation 
purpose that have also been allocated for housing, such as Brackley 
Golf Course. A fourth criteria should be added to the policy.  
 

An additional criterion has been added to the policy accordingly: ‘4) 
The site has been allocated for alternative purposes in the Local 
Plan, and development will deliver a net improvement in the city’s 
recreation resources’. 
 
The justification of the policy has also been expanded to explain that 
some limited loss of existing recreation land will be necessary as 
part of the Local Plan site allocations but on the basis that 
appropriate compensation will need to be delivered. 
 

  

Other significant changes made to policy R4 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  
 

N/A  

 

P
age 1912



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: R5 STRATEGIC RECREATION ROUTES 

(The policy reference remains the same in the Revised Draft Local Plan) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Objection to the proposed strategic recreation route at Irwell Park 
Wharf adjacent to the Manchester Ship Canal as it would be 
inappropriate alongside the existing employment uses (Developer) 

Proposed strategic recreation routes alongside the Manchester Ship 
Canal have been deleted from the Policies Map for the Revised Draft 
Local Plan. The policy wording of the Revised Draft Local Plan has 
also been amended to clarify that additional routes adjacent to the 
Manchester Ship Canal will only be sought if current employment 
uses were to cease, to be replaced by new compatible uses.  

In the context of proposals to improve links to and through Chat 
Moss, congestion problems along the A57 need to be resolved 
(Individuals). 
 

Other parts of the plan, such as policy A1 (Sustainable transport 
strategy) and policy A6 (Highway network), support efforts to tackle 
congestion. 

  

  

Other significant changes made to policy R5 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The policy has been expanded to set out a more detailed vision, and 
it now provides lists of the fifteen existing and four proposed 
strategic recreation routes 

To improve the clarity of the policy in terms of its purpose and the 
existing and proposed strategic recreation routes 

A new diagram has been added which identifies: the individual 
existing routes; proposed routes to fill gaps in the network; broader 
areas of opportunity; and indicative additional links to better connect 
specific areas and sites 

To enable a better understanding of the policy proposals 

 

P
age 1913



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER 22: POLLUTION AND HAZARDS (GENERAL) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The Coal Authority welcomes the fact that a number of site 
allocations highlight mining instability as being an issue. A specific 
policy on ground instability is however absent. This should be 
included in the plan addressing the city’s mining legacy.   

A new policy PH4 (Land instability) is now included in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. The introduction/justification refers to the city’s 
mining legacy. 

  

Other significant changes made to Chapter 22: Pollution and Hazards 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The monitoring section has been amended removing the air quality 
management area indicator. It is instead explained that pollution-
related indicators are included in other chapters of the plan, such as 
the extent of the air quality management area in the Air Quality 
chapter, and the percentage of surface water bodies of at least good 
ecological status or potential in the Water chapter.  
 

It is considered that monitoring the extent of the air quality 
management area sits better in the new air quality chapter.  
 
The Draft Local Plan Pollution and Hazards chapter did not make 
reference to the indictor in the Water chapter requiring the 
monitoring of the percentage of surface water bodies of at least good 
ecological status or potential.   

 

P
age 1914



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: PH1 POLLUTION CONTROL  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

It should be recognised within the policy that heritage assets could 
potentially be harmed by certain types of pollution (Historic England).  

Criterion C of the policy has been amended, so that when 
determining the acceptability of likely pollution levels regard will also 
be had to the proximity and sensitivity of heritage assets.  
 
The introduction/justification to the policy recognises that pollution 
can have a major impact on heritage assets.   
 

Natural England commented that it would like to see the policy 
recognising the impact of pollution on European and National 
designated sites.  

Criterion C of the policy has been amended, so that when 
determining the acceptability of likely pollution levels, regard will also 
be had to the impact on wildlife. This is considered to be sufficient 
detail to allow for consideration of all wildlife, including any European 
and National designated sites.  
 
The introduction/justification recognises that some of the city’s 
waterways have a relatively poor ecological status and in this regard 
pollution impacts should also be mitigated.  
 

Concerns have been expressed regarding the links between 
pollution and health (individuals/ Barbara Keeley MP).  
 
  

The introduction/justification to the policy recognises pollution can 
have a major impact on health. It is further explained in the 
introduction that:  
 

“27.5 Where there are already significant levels of pollution, 
or likely to be in the future as a result of development 
proposals, it will be necessary to control the type and form of 
new developments to ensure that no unacceptable levels of 
risk or nuisance result. This will be particularly important for 
sensitive uses such as residential uses, schools and 
hospitals where the occupiers are at particular risk from the 
effects of pollution due to their health, age or the potential 

P
age 1915



2 
 

time length of exposure to that pollution. The sensitivity of 
uses also extends to industrial processes and utilities 
infrastructure that require specific operating conditions that 
could be compromised by certain types or levels of pollution.” 

 
The policy has been amended to explain that the potential impacts 
on human health and amenity will be considered during the 
construction phase of development as well as the operational phase.  
 
New policy HH1 (Supporting better health) sets out:  
 

“Significant improvements in the health of Salford residents, 
and reductions in health inequalities in the city, will be 
sought, including by: … 4) Reducing contributions to poor 
health and mitigating their risks, such as those associated 
with … poor air quality”.   
 

New policy CC1 (Climate change) states that a comprehensive and 
integrated approach to addressing the challenges of climate change 
will be taken. This specifically includes reducing air pollution so as to 
minimise the potential of higher temperatures to worsen air quality 
(point 17), which will help to mitigate and adapt to the impacts of 
climate change. 

 
The introduction/justification to new policy AQ1 (Air quality) 
recognises that: “Air pollution can be hugely harmful to human 
health. Public Health England estimates that 5% of deaths in Greater 
Manchester are attributable to long-term exposure to particulate air 
pollution, the same rate as for the country as a whole. This equated 
to approximately 1,200 deaths in Greater Manchester in 2016. The 
young, old and those with existing lung or other health conditions are 
particularly at risk, with the potential for reduced life expectancy. 
Increasing temperatures can heighten the impact of air pollutants, 
and so climate change further raises the importance of addressing 
air quality issues.” 

P
age 1916



3 
 

 
The introduction/justification also acknowledges that poor air quality 
in Salford is primarily associated with road transport, and hence this 
will need to be the focus for any solutions. A small number of 
highways currently fail statutory targets relating to concentrations of 
nitrogen dioxide, but there is a broader issue of poor air quality along 
many main roads that detract from health and quality of life.  
 
New policy AQ1 (Air quality) confirms that a substantial improvement 
will be sought in Salford’s air quality, setting out a range of measures 
(criteria 1-7) to support this.  
 

There should be a separate policy on light pollution as this has 
negative impacts on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 
nature conservation, especially bats and invertebrates (Natural 
England).  

The policy already confirms that it applies to all types of pollution 
including light pollution. The introduction/justification to the policy 
now explains that residential amenity and the normal routines of 
plants and animals can be affected by light pollution. It is considered 
that this provides an appropriate level of policy coverage to ensure 
that light pollution is addressed, and that it is not necessary to have 
a separate policy for each different type of pollution. 
 
A new point 6 has been added to policy GI3 (Chat Moss), setting out 
there will be a strong emphasis on retaining the flat, open and 
relatively tranquil character of the area, and its relative darkness.  
 

The role of trees and other green infrastructure in helping to reduce 
pollution needs to be recognised (City of Trees).  

The introduction/justification to policy PH1 recognises that green 
infrastructure such as trees and hedges can be effective in relation 
to air, water and noise pollution.  
 
The introduction/justification to policy GI1 (Green infrastructure 
spatial strategy) highlights the importance of green infrastructure in 
assisting in mitigating the impacts of climate change.  
 
The introduction/justification to policy GI7 highlights that trees, 
woodland and hedgerows are extremely important components of 
Greater Manchester’s green infrastructure network, fulfilling a very 

P
age 1917



4 
 

wide range of functions including managing pollution. The policy 
itself then sets out that the extent of tree cover across Salford will be 
increased, including the increased provision of street trees that 
maximise potential green infrastructure functions such as pollution 
control. This policy requirement has been carried forward from the 
Draft Local Plan.  
 

Concern is raised regarding noise from local businesses and 
roadworks (individual).  

Policy PH1 has been strengthened to require development to 
minimise and mitigate pollution during both the construction and 
operational phases of development. 
 
The introduction/justification  to the policy sets out that: 
“Where there are already significant levels of pollution, or likely to be 
in the future as a result of development proposals, it will be 
necessary to control the type and form of new developments to 
ensure that no unacceptable levels of risk or nuisance result. This 
will be particularly important for sensitive uses such as residential 
uses, schools and hospitals where the occupiers are at particular 
risk from the effects of pollution due to their health, age or the 
potential time length of exposure to that pollution.” This text is 
carried forward from the reasoned justification to Draft Local Plan 
policy PH1 Pollution control.  
 

Natural England welcomes the following wording in draft Policy PH1 
“within air quality management areas, developments must minimise 
and mitigate as far as practicable the local impact of emissions, both 
during the construction and operational phases of development”.  
 

The support is welcomed.   

Natural England welcomes the inclusion of the mapping areas and a 
commitment to reduce air pollution between 2015-2035.  
 

This support is welcomed. The map showing the air quality 
management area has been moved into the new air quality chapter. 

  

  

P
age 1918



5 
 

Other significant changes made to policy PH1 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

The introduction/justification to policy PH1 now sets out that: “New 
development will not be appropriate where, due to its sensitivity to 
pollution, it would prejudice the continuation of other important land 
uses such as businesses and community facilities (including places 
of worship, public houses, music venues and sports clubs). This 
issue is specifically referred to in other policies of the plan relating to 
the protection of existing employment areas (Policy EC6) and 
cultural activities (Policy CT2)” (paragraph 27.6). 
 

To clarify the explanation for the policy, including the importance of 
ensuring that established businesses and community facilities do not 
have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established, and to provide 
cross-references to other relevant policies.  
 

The policy has been amended so that the requirement to minimise 
and mitigate pollution applies to all development, not just proposals 
in air quality management areas. 

To strengthen the policy approach.  

 P
age 1919



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: PH2 CONTROL OF HAZARDOUS USES 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

No representations were made on this policy.  No changes are proposed to the policy. 

  

Other significant changes made to policy PH2 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 P
age 1920



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: PH3 DEVELOPMENT NEAR HAZARDOUS INSTALLATIONS 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

An amendment should be made to the reasoned justification setting 
out that the council is aware that preparation of risk assessments 
involves the provision of potentially sensitive information that it may 
not be appropriate to place in the public domain and therefore 
assessments will, where necessary, be treated on a private and 
confidential basis (developer). 

It is not deemed necessary to explicitly state that 
confidential/sensitive information will not be placed in the public 
domain, as this may apply to documents other than just risk 
assessments. Any decision about publication will need to be 
considered on a case by case basis in order to comply with 
environment information regulations.   

  

Other significant changes made to policy PH3 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1921



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: 23 MINERALS AND WASTE 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The Coal Authority welcomes the signposting of the Greater 
Manchester Joint Minerals and Waste Development Plan Document 
within the chapter.  

The support is welcomed.  

The Waste Planning Unit explains the purpose of mineral 
safeguarding areas in the Minerals and Waste Development Plan 
Document.  

No action required.  

Concern raised regarding bins and waste and that the building of 
more houses will create more waste (individual).  

Policy D7 sets out that all residential development should be 
designed to make appropriate provision for refuse storage and 
collection. The frequency of bin collections is outside the scope of 
the Local Plan.   

It is questioned why there has not been a reduction in council tax 
paid for those on three weekly bin collections.  

The frequency of bin collections is outside the scope of the Local Plan.  

  

Other significant changes made to chapter 23 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None N/A 

 

P
age 1922



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

CHAPTER: 24 IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING  

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

CPRE Lancashire support the plan, monitor and manage approach  
to ensure that policies are fine tuned to make sure agreed priorities 
are pursued to best effect.  

The support is welcomed.  

  

Other significant changes made to chapter 24 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A 

 P
age 1923



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Annexes 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The only annex to which specific comments were made was to 
Annex E. There was strong support for the retention of Green Belt 
around the Walkden / Swinton area expressed in these comments 
including the following sites: 
 

 LW107 - Land east of Linnyshaw 

 LW029 – Ellesmere Golf Course 

 SW005 - Land around new St Ambrose Barlow School 

 SW007 – North of Wardley 
 
It should be noted that many of the comments made to other parts of 
the plan are also relevant to this annex and are dealt with under the 
relevant local plan policy rather than being repeated here. 

All changes to the Green Belt in Salford are now being considered 
solely through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
rather than the Salford Local Plan. However, the Revised Draft 
GMSF proposes no changes to the Green Belt status of the sites 
identified. 

  

Other significant changes made to Annexes 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1924



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

ADDITIONAL ALLOCATIONS SUGGESTED 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Allocation of sites in the housing supply 

The Draft Local Plan does not allocate sites that are assumed to be 
not constrained by existing policy. This is contrary to NPPF 
paragraph 157. Where land is known to be developable over the 
plan period and forms part of the land supply upon which the council 
relies in order to meet its needs, this should be allocated in the plan. 
This provides the certainty that the supply can be delivered over the 
plan period by providing a clear and unambiguous supportive policy 
context.  Without these additional allocations the plan is not 
deliverable and therefore unsound (Peel Holdings). 

The city council has allocated 18 sites within the Revised Draft Local 
Plan for new housing, including some small sites as required by the 
NPPF (paragraph 68). Other sites for housing are identified on the 
council’s brownfield register and in the housing and economic land 
availability assessment that are updated on an annual basis. This 
approach will ensure that sufficient land will come forward at a 
sufficient rate to meet need (in accordance with NPPF paragraph 
23). This is considered more appropriate than seeking to allocate the 
whole housing land supply, as doing so would lead to an extremely 
long Local Plan and could significantly increase the time taken to 
produce and examine it whilst adding no value. 
 
The Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 
allocates three sites for housing that are currently in Salford’s Green 
Belt: GM Allocation 30 (Land at Hazelhurst Farm), GM Allocation 31 
(East of Boothstown), and GM Allocation 32 (North of Irlam Station). 

Boysnope Golf Course 

Agree that the golf course at Boysnope should be built on if it 
becomes available (individual). 

The golf course at Boysnope is in the Green Belt. Decisions relating 
to Green Belt boundary changes are now being taken solely through 
the GMSF process, rather than through Salford’s Local Plan. The 
Revised Draft GMSF allocates part of the Boysnope golf course as 
part of a larger site to accommodate an expansion of Port Salford 
(GM Allocation 33: Port Salford Extension).  

City Gateway  

Peel Holdings commented that an additional area policy should be 
created in Chapter 5 of the Plan for “City Gateway” reflecting its 
economic importance and the level of growth and development that 
will be directed to this strategic location over the plan period. 

The Revised Draft GMSF does not take forward the Western 
Gateway terminology. It continues to propose an expansion of Port 
Salford (GM Allocation 33: Port Salford Extension), but does not 

P
age 1925



2 
 

 

 City Gateway forms part of the wider Western Gateway identified 
in the Draft GMSF. It reflects the area of the Western Gateway 
falling within Salford, with the remainder located within Trafford.  

 City Gateway contains a number of strategic development sites 
which will play a critical role in meeting the development needs 
of the city including: Port Salford including proposed expansion 
land; City of Salford Stadium and surrounding land; City Airport 
and Heliport; and land east of Irlam suggested by Peel for 
residential development  

 City Gateway is on a par with other key locations across the city 
which are subject to specific area policies within the Plan. 

 Key diagram on page 12 should be amended to show City 
Gateway.   

propose housing on the land east of Irlam which is instead retained 
as Green Belt. 
 
Consequently, a City Gateway policy is not considered appropriate 
within the Local Plan. However, the Spatial Strategy has been 
amended to refer to a “Central Economic Area” which is of 
“fundamental importance to the economic prosperity and prospects 
of Greater Manchester” (paragraph 3.7). This area stretches through 
the centre of the conurbation and is focused around the City Centre 
and Salford Quays, but also extends westwards through Trafford 
Park to include Port Salford, Barton Aerodrome and the AJ Bell 
Stadium. This broad area is shown on the Key Diagram. 

Eaton’s, Walkden 

Employment loss considered acceptable by the city council given 
previous consents on the site for housing development. Capable of 
accommodating over 200 dwellings and would lead to remediation 
and regeneration of an unsightly predominantly vacant employment 
site (Countryside Properties). 

The site was granted planning permission in November 2018 for the 
erection of 302 residential dwellings (reference 18/71344/FUL). 
Given this, the principle of residential development has been 
established and it is not necessary to allocate the site for housing in 
order to provide certainty.  

Holyoake Road  

The old railway goods station on the north side of Walkden train 
station should be used as parking for the station and could 
accommodate several hundred cars. The site is vacant and would be 
a good facility for the people of Walkden, Worsley, Boothstown, 
Astley, Mosley Common and Little Hulton and would relieve parking 
problems for local residents (individual). 

The site is under construction for 123 dwellings that was granted 
planning permission in December 2016 (reference 16/68126/FUL). 
Given this, the site is not available for car parking associated with 
Walkden Station 

Leigh Road  

Land north of Leigh Road should be removed from the Green Belt as 
it does not logically contribute to the purpose of the Green Belt in 
this location. Notwithstanding this, it is not proposed for development 
at the present time (Peel Holdings).  

Decisions relating to Green Belt boundary changes are now being 
taken solely through the GMSF process, rather than through 
Salford’s Local Plan. The Revised Draft GMSF retains the land north 
of Leigh Road in the Green Belt. 

Logistics North  

P
age 1926



3 
 

Unclear why the part of the Logistics North site in Salford has not 
been allocated for employment within the Draft Local Plan (Bolton 
Council). 

Logistics North in Salford (and Bolton) has planning permission for 
employment development. There is therefore sufficient certainty 
around its development and hence its allocation is not considered 
necessary.   

The Harworth Group commented that given high demand for 
medium to large scale commercial units within the Logistics North 
site there is need for an expansion of the site wholly within Salford. 
They also stated: 

 The proposed extension extends to the railway line to the south 
of the Logistics North site. 

 Potential for a rail halt to serve the development for commuters, 
and a potential spur / siding for goods. Additionally there is scope 
for a road link to connect the site into the wider Logistics North 
development. 

 Part of the proposed site is in the ownership of Salford City 
Council and is designated as an addition to the Green Belt in the 
plan – suggest the land is excluded from the Green Belt. Part of 
the site is currently designated as Green Belt and an SBI. To 
accommodate development these boundaries should be 
amended. 

 That there remains a commitment to the delivery of the Country 
Park to the west, and ensuring that any development maintains 
and enhances the accessibility to the residents of Salford. 

The expansion of Logistics North in Salford, as proposed in the 
representation, would require incursions into the country park 
committed as part of the original planning permission. The extension 
identified comprises land currently in the Green Belt and further land 
proposed as an addition to the Green Belt in the Revised Draft 
GMSF. All decisions about whether Green Belt boundaries in Salford 
should be altered, including whether any existing Green Belt should 
be de-designated so that it can be developed, will be made through 
the GMSF and not through the Local Plan. 

Manchester Road, Clifton 

Redcliffe Estate commented that land off Manchester Road in Clifton 
should be allocated for housing. They made detailed representations 
which are summarised below: 
 

 Site has previously been submitted through call for sites, but 
should be looked at afresh 

 Bulk of the site is previously developed land and does not fulfil 
the purposes of the Green Belt; this constitutes exceptional 
circumstances 

 A Highways Statement prepared by WYG shows the site can 
accommodate 350 dwellings with a access taken off Moss 

The site is in the Green Belt. Decisions relating to Green Belt 
boundary changes are now being taken solely through the GMSF 
process, rather than through Salford’s Local Plan. The Revised Draft 
GMSF retains this site within the Green Belt. 

P
age 1927



4 
 

Colliery Road to the west of the site 9and could also be possible 
from Manchester Road / Collegiate Way). It is in a sustainable 
location. 

 Noise from the motorway can be mitigated against according to a 
report by Miller Goodall Environmental Services.  

 Air quality can also be mitigated against by having a buffer of 
between 25m and 40m from the motorway according to Miller 
Goodall Environmental Services. 

 The site has been assessed incorrectly in the Green Belt 
assessment; the M60 means that Clifton and Swinton will never 
merge into one another 

 There is serious in the site from a volume house builder who 
considers the site to deliverable and viable 

New Broughton  

Countryside Properties identified that the following sites should be 
allocated in the Plan: 
 
Lower Broughton area 
There is no allocation for the Lower Broughton area even though 
there are phases which remain to be delivered. The area was 
previously identified for approximately 3,500 new homes, including a 
significant area covered by draft policy C1. The area should be 
allocated under policy H3.  
 
Phase 5 
Countryside Properties commented that the site was granted 
planning permission in 2008 for 428 apartments with all conditions 
varied / discharged with development commencing, but not 
progressed due to market conditions. The site is: brownfield; located 
in a predominantly residential area; sustainable with excellent public 
transport links and other services; and identified as developable in 
the HELAA. In addition none of the sites allocated in the Draft Plan 
specifically consist of apartments.   
 
Phase 9 – Cambridge Riverside 

It is not considered appropriate to allocate the Lower Broughton area 
for housing development. It is already established as an area where 
new housing would be appropriate and there is an adopted Design 
Code SPD to guide development in the area. Many of the sites in the 
area have already been developed and the city council remains 
committed to working in partnership to bring additional housing sites 
forward for residential development.  
 
Phase 5 was granted planning permission in July 2018 for the 
construction of 299 apartments together with raised car park, flood 
mitigation measures, hard and soft landscaping, and other 
associated works (reference 18/71546/FUL). It is understood 
development on the site has started and so therefore it is not 
considered necessary to allocate it for development.  
 
Policy C1 of the Draft Local Plan has been deleted. Revised Draft 
Local Plan policy AP5 (Employment areas close to the City Centre 
and Salford Quays) identifies Cambridge as an area where a 
masterplan will need to be prepared for the development of the area, 
with the supporting text being clear that the major issue for the area 
is the need to take a coordinated approach to reducing and 

P
age 1928



5 
 

Identified in the HELAA for 850 houses. Acknowledged by 
Countryside that there are flood risk issues in the area – they 
comment that this can be mitigated by provision of open space and 
design which is likely to be in the form of apartments.  
 
Given policy C1 (Cambridge, Broughton) is clearly committed to 
addressing flood risk issue, policy H3 should be amended to 
reference the phase 9 site.  

managing flood risk. Phase 9 falls within the areas covered by AP5 
and so it is not considered necessary to make specific reference to 
it. 

Newhaven Business Park  

Majority of buildings on the site have been demolished. Subject to 
current planning application where the principle outstanding issue 
relates to noise (not the principle of development – reference 
14/65186/FUL). Predominantly residential area with a range of 
services within walking distance in Eccles. Identified as a 
developable housing site in the 2013 HELAA. Continued use for 
employment not compatible with predominantly residential setting. 
Benefits of housing use include: a reduction in HGV traffic on local 
roads; improved visual amenity of the area; removal of noise and 
emissions. It was also stated that the site is not viable for 
employment use and there is a lack of demand for such use 
(Countryside Properties).  

The site was granted planning permission in November 2018 for the 
construction of 244 dwellings with associated works (14/65186/FUL). 
Given this, the principle of residential development has been 
established and it is not necessary to allocate the site for housing in 
order to provide certainty. 

Orchard Street / Langley Road South  

Land is and occupied by J O’Shea and Connell Brothers Ltd (who 
have put the site forward for housing) with a small part being 
occupied by the city council. The overall site is 9.3ha in size with 
8.3ha being in the ownership of the respondent. Given current 
employment use it has been identified in the HELAA as not 
developable for housing due to conflict with UDP policy E5. 
Respondent considers the site should be allocated for housing 
given: 
 

 Difficulties operating from the site due to conflict with 
neighbouring residential uses and a day nursery 

The city council has given consideration to the proposed site 
suggestion and has allocated it (and additional land) in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan for housing (reference H9/8). Indicatively the site 
will accommodate around 470 dwellings comprised of 370 houses 
and 100 apartments and would be subject to compliance with 9 
criteria. It would be 10.1ha in size.  
 
Support is given to the allocation of the site for housing because the 
majority of the site is in use for aggregate recycling and this conflicts 
with the residential uses located to the north of Langley Road South. 
South. Redevelopment of the site for housing will be beneficial to the 
local area by removing some of the heavy goods vehicles that use 

P
age 1929



6 
 

 Limited interest for employment use, as demonstrated by 
response to current marketing of part of the site (land to the west 
of Holland Street). 

 NPPF and Government agenda is to increase housing supply; 
the development of the site will assist in this (although further 
work has to be undertaken by respondent to assess the capacity 
of the site) 

 The site is considered to be available, suitable and achievable 
for new housing and would constitute sustainable development  

the immediate highway network, and increasing amenity levels for 
the surrounding community by reducing noise and air pollution 

Peel Holdings sites  

Peel commented that additional Green Belt and non-Green Belt land 
needs to be allocated to meet the housing needs of the city over the 
plan period (including the full OAN and the type of homes required). 
These sites are as follows: 
 

 Land east of Irlam – Green Belt 

 Land at Linnyshaw – Green Belt 

 Land at Wardley – Green Belt 

 Land at Broadoak – non Green Belt 

 Land at Crossfield Drive - non Green Belt 

 Land at Beesley Green - non Green Belt 

 Land north of Mosley Common / Parr Fold (land is partly 
allocated in the Draft GMSF but does not reflect full extent of 
land put forward by Peel) - Green Belt 

 
They further commented that existing Green Belt land at the junction 
of Walkden Road should be allocated for mixed use development 
comprising roadside retail and related uses. The release of this site 
would not result in any material harm to the Green Belt and should 
be allocated in the GMSF and Salford Local Plan.   

Decisions relating to Green Belt boundary changes are now being 
taken solely through the GMSF process, rather than through 
Salford’s Local Plan. The Revised Draft GMSF retains this site within 
the Green Belt. 
 
Suggested sites within the West Salford Greenway (Land at 
Broadoak, Crossfield Drive and Beesley Green) form part of a wider 
West Salford Greenway strategic green infrastructure policy area 
(GI5) which recognises the characteristics and functions of this area 
from a range of perspectives including heritage, biodiversity, and 
recreation. The sites in the West Salford Greenway that are referred 
to in the representation are also designated as Local Green Space 
under policies GI6/6, GI6/7 and GI6/8. The Revised Draft GMSF 
proposes to add the West Salford Greenway to the Green Belt. 
 
Hence none of the sites are allocated for housing in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan. 
 

Seaford Road (Vita Site)  

Site subject to planning approval for 80 houses subject to the signing 
of a legal agreement (reference 14/65806/OUT). Site also identified 

The site was granted planning outline permission in September 2015 
for the construction of 80 dwellings with associated works, subject to 
the signing of a section 106 agreement (reference 14/65086/OUT).  

P
age 1930



7 
 

in the HELAA as being developable for housing. Sustainable location 
on the edge of the draft City Centre area (Countryside Properties). 

Given this, the principle of residential development has been 
established and it is not necessary to allocate the site for housing in 
order to provide certainty (particularly as the site owner is still looking 
to progress the signing of the legal agreement). 

Sunningdale Drive, Irlam 

The land behind the frontage of Sunningdale Drive should be taken 
out of the Green Belt and be developed for housing (the land on the 
frontage is not in the Green Belt). The respondent noted that the 
council decided against taking land out of the Green Belt due to the 
proximity to the motorway and the impact on residential amenity of 
any potential occupiers, even though new dwellings have been built 
along the A580 and M60 at Weaste. If the land is to remain in the 
Green Belt could it be used for: caravan storage; solar panels; 
allotments; or fishing ponds (Mr Fletcher)? 

Decisions relating to Green Belt boundary changes are now being 
taken solely through the GMSF process, rather than through 
Salford’s Local Plan. The Revised Draft GMSF retains this site within 
the Green Belt. 
 
The Revised Draft GMSF retains the land in the Green Belt. Any use 
of the land would therefore need to be in accordance with Green Belt 
policy, and in particular would need to maintain the openness of the 
Green Belt.  

Swinton Wastewater Treatment Works  

The site meets the criteria for Local Green Space designation set out 
in paragraph 77 of the NPPF given it is: in reasonable close 
proximity to the community it serves; special to the local community 
and holds a particular significance in respect of recreational value 
and tranquillity; and is local in character and not an extensive tract of 
land (Ellesmere Park Residents’ Association).  
 

Part of Draft Local Plan allocation H4/2 was granted planning 
permission for the erection of 241 dwellings in August 2017 
(reference 17/70853/FUL), and construction has now started. The 
planning permission includes a legal agreement requiring the 
developer to pay a financial contribution to the delivery of a 
community park on land adjoining their housing development (which 
formed part of the draft local plan allocation), and also undertake 
works on their land that will form part of the community park.  
 
Given the above, there is certainty that the Draft Local Plan 
allocation will be delivered as housing and open space as intended. 
Therefore the allocation has been deleted from the plan. 
 
Additional designations will be considered for existing sites which 
satisfy the criteria that the city council has identified. Proposed sites 
such as this will need to be established before they can be 
considered for designation 
 
 
 

P
age 1931



8 
 

Other sites in Irlam and Cadishead  

The following sites in Irlam and Cadishead were highlighted by a 
community group in order as a means of utilising previously 
developed land to meet housing need in this part of the city: 
   
• IC02 – Land West of Hayes Road - 175 homes 
• IC012 – Land at Astley Rd (site of former council offices) – 35 
homes 
• IC022 – Land South of Fairhills Rd (Kingsland Wines & Spirits) – 
247 homes 
• Various – S/CAD/000, S/CAD/089 & S/CAD/060 (Ref: Salford 
housing and economic land availability assessment – 161 homes 

Land west of Hayes Road was allocated in the Draft Local Plan for 
200 dwellings (reference H3/3). This allocation has been carried 
forward into the revised draft local plan (reference H9/1). 
 
Although not allocated in the Draft or Revised Draft Local Plan, land 
at Astley Road is included in the Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment (HELAA) as a site for new housing to 
accommodate 33 dwellings. This is therefore factored into the 
potential supply of new dwellings that will be delivered in Irlam and 
Cadishead over the plan period.  
 
Land south of Fairhills Road (Kingsland Wines) was suggested to 
the city council as a potential housing site by the site owner in 2014. 
However there has been no recent indication from the owner that 
they are looking to vacate the site, and so on that basis it is not 
considered as a potential housing allocation and has not been 
factored into the housing supply. 
 
Site reference S/CAD/089 (land at Bradburn Rd) has already been 
built and so therefore will not contribute to the supply of housing in 
the plan period (2018-37). Site reference S/CAD/060 (Irlam Locks 
Tower) has the potential for 86 dwellings – it is identified in the 
HELAA and therefore is already factored into the potential supply of 
new dwellings that will be delivered in Irlam and Cadishead over the 
plan period.  
 

  

 

P
age 1932



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

EVIDENCE BASE: ASSESSMENT OF RESIDENTIAL VIABILITY (November 2016) 

The city council has published an updated assessment of residential viability (January 2019) in support of the Revised Draft Local 

Plan. 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

General comments  

Surprised the council has made no reference to the RICS Guidance 
Note, Financial Viability in Planning (2012) which forms a best 
practice documents informing preparation of viability assessments 
(Peel Holdings). 

An additional chapter has been added to the Revised Draft Local 
Plan viability assessment setting out the policy / guidance context. 
This refers to the 2018 NPPF, updated planning practice guidance 
from July 2018, and other guidance on viability testing including the 
2012 RICS Guidance Note.  
 

Private rented sector  

The PRS housing product (build to rent) is significantly different to 
standard housing built for sale. A range of assumptions will need to 
be amended for such schemes, amongst other things: gross:net 
area reduction; achievable scheme sales value reflecting investor’s 
net yield expectations; build costs; and development cashflow (Peel 
Holdings). 

Agree that PRS / build to rent products are significantly different to 
standard housing schemes that are built for sale. The national 
planning practice guidance on viability from July 2018 recognises 
this by stating that:  
 
“The economics of build to rent schemes differ from build for sale as 
they depend on a long term income stream. For build to rent it is 
expected that the normal form of affordable housing provision will be 
affordable private rent. Where plan makers wish to set affordable 
private rent proportions or discount levels at a level differing from 
national planning policy and guidance, this can be justified through a 
viability assessment at the plan making stage. Developers will be 
expected to comply with build to rent policy requirements.”1  
 
In the Revised Draft Local Plan the city council has included a 
specific policy on build to rent which reflects affordable private rent 

                                                           
1 Paragraph: 019 Reference ID: 10-019-20180724 

P
age 1933



2 
 

proportions and discount levels that are the same as those in 
national policy and guidance (see policy H8). Given this, it is not 
considered necessary to undertake a viability assessment at the 
plan making stage for build to rent. Therefore, the Revised Draft 
Local Plan viability assessment focusses on the viability of 
developments of build for sale.  
 

Evidence and modelling should be provided to assess the potential 
for build to rent housing to provide contributions towards affordable 
housing – it is essential that the city council acknowledge that on-site 
provision of affordable housing is not appropriate within build to rent 
schemes (Peel Holdings). 

Planning practice guidance on build to rent2 (September 2018) 
makes it clear that the NPPF states that affordable housing on build 
to rent schemes should be provided by default on-site in the form of 
affordable private rent, and that 20% is generally a suitable 
benchmark, with a minimum rent discount of 20% relative to local 
housing markets. Therefore on-site provision of affordable private 
rent dwellings in build to rent schemes is considered appropriate. 
The Revised Draft Local Plan includes a policy on build to rent to 
reflect this (H8). 
  

Dwelling typologies   

Peel Holdings made the comments below. 
 
Using a single typology for houses of 35 dwellings per hectare is 
inappropriate as it does not reflect market practice where high value 
developments will generate circa 30 dwellings per hectare and lower 
value circa 40 dwellings per hectare – a variable scale of 
development density should be used. Higher density in lower value 
areas and vice versa. 
 
A single mix of dwellings has been used across all typologies, 
including 2, 3, 4 and 5 bed houses. The mix will vary across value 
areas with smaller houses provided in lower value areas and larger 
houses in higher value areas. In particular:  
 

It is recognised that the mix and density of dwellings in the houses 
typology will vary according to the value area. Therefore the Revised 
Draft Local Plan viability assessment ranges from 35 dwellings per 
hectare in the premium and high value areas, to 50 dwellings per 
hectare in the low/mid and low value areas. These densities take 
into account: 
 

 A review of recent developments 

 A general reduction in the level of 3 story townhouses being built 
on sites over the last few years 

 The provision of larger dwellings (including detached) in the 
higher value areas and smaller dwellings in the lower value 
areas (which then impacts on the overall density) 

 A requirement in the Revised Draft Local Plan for a minimum 
density of 35dph 

                                                           
2 Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 60-002-20180913 

P
age 1934



3 
 

 The adopted mix appears to be more suited to the mid/high or 
high/premium value areas rather than the low, low/mid, or mid 
value areas, with 4 and 5 bed dwellings  

 No provision made for 3 bed-semi-detached houses – average 
sites will include a greater number of 2 storey units in 
comparison to 3 storey units 

 Above reduces development density to 3,412sqm per hectare 
compared to council’s mix of 3,599sqm per hectare – this is a 
more much more appropriate average density to be applied 
across a range of value areas 

 Proposed unit mix should be evidenced to match current 
understanding of average scheme delivery. 
 

Assumptions should be amended to reflect the value area being 
assessed. 

 
The dwelling mix for apartment schemes has also been reviewed 
having regard to recent completions and permissions.  

No details provided in respect of parking provision for apartment 
schemes – apartments are only allocated a 5% allowance for works / 
infrastructure and this is an insufficient allowance to provide a 
reasonable level of on-site parking (Peel Holdings).  

Taking into account the advice of Urban Vision Property Services, 
for the purposes of this strategic viability assessment it has been 
assumed that the build costs include infrastructure / external costs 
and therefore no additional separate allowance is proposed within 
the Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment for this.  
 
The number of car parking spaces in high density apartment 
schemes will be minimal as evidenced by schemes recently 
completed, those under construction, or which have extant planning 
permission. Developers generally sell car parking spaces separately 
from the actual apartment, and there is evidence that this can range 
from around £10,000 to £20,000 per space. No allowance has been 
made for the sale of car parking spaces in high density schemes, 
which would contribute to the income a developer would receive 
from a scheme. 
  

Peel Holdings commented that an allowance of 14sqm was made for 
all townhouses and detached dwellings to allow for a single garage.  
Peel commented that this increases values by between £22,400 and 
£42,000 per garage depending on value area. 

A review of recent developments and sites with permission was 
undertaken to look at the levels of garages in new developments 
involving houses. This showed that the proportion of houses with 
garages is higher in the higher value areas but there are still big 

P
age 1935



4 
 

 

 The scale of garage provision (89%) is excessive and reflects a 
level of provision only found in  the highest value areas 

 Although garages add value to a dwelling, the increase is 
excessive and unevidenced – it is not appropriate to apply the 
full sales rate on a per square metre basis 

differences between developments in the same value areas. For 
simplicity it has been assumed that all detached dwellings have a 
single garage of 14sqm. This results in garage provision of 66% in 
the family houses scheme in the premium and high value areas, to 
no provision of garages in the low/mid and low value areas for the 
houses typology.  
 
The full sales rate has been applied to the garage floorspace given 
that the city council does not have any evidence that different sales 
rates are commonly applied to garages and the rest of the house.   
 

Peel Holdings stated that the calculation of gross internal area for 
assessment of apartment construction costs equates to a 15% 
reduction from gross internal area. They regard this as low and have 
evidence (from a recent Manchester City Centre development and 
Peel’s schemes at Chatham Waters and Liverpool Waters) to 
support an average 20% reduction from gross to net area. 
 
 

The gross to net uplift for the mid density apartment scheme in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment was taken as being 
15% for mid density apartment typology, with a higher figure of 
17.5% being applied to the high density apartments typology. It is 
recognised that there will be some variation in the specification of 
the final dwellings in individual schemes but the above is considered 
to be a reasonable assumption having regard to: 

 

 The HCA development appraisal tool states that an allowance of 
15% for common areas may be a typical figure 

 Viability assessments submitted for developments within Salford 
as part of planning applications  

 A review of other area-wide viability assessment for areas 
outside of Salford that have been published in support of Local 
Plans and CIL charging schedules.  

 

Differences between build to sell and build to rent apartments should 
be modelled and acknowledged – build to rent schemes require 
increased gross areas to accommdoate additional common areas 
and facilities. 

Build to rent schemes have not been modelled for reasons set out 
above.  

Gross development value  

P
age 1936



5 
 

Residential sales values 
 
Peel Holdings criticised the council’s approach of using asking prices 
from developer websites and Rightmove as follows: 
 

 Asking prices do not reflect actual transaction levels which are 
often discounted. 

 Many property listings do not contain a floor plan or an estate 
agents assessment of floor area, and it is not clear in these 
instances how the floor area has been calculated. 

 Some areas of the city are based on very limited evidence, with 
only 6 comparables. 

 The majority of the 300 properties looked at by the council 
appear to relate to asking prices dating from 2013/14 with only a 
limited number derived from 2016. Appears to be a rehash of 
evidence from 2015 Planning Obligations SPD – data not up to 
date and unsound.  

 
Publicly available EPC data is a much more accurate and reliable 
source of unit sizes for resale units. Having regard to this, Peel 
Holdings has carried out an exercise looking at achieved sales 
values in the Premium, High and Mid/high value area for similar unit 
types and roads as used by the council. They have obtained sales 
values from Land Registry data (available on sites such as 
Rightmove) and floor areas from EPC data, and also made an 
allowance for garages of 14sqm (single) and 28sqm (double). As a 
result of this, four of the nine value areas looked at by Peel should 
be reclassified to a lower value area: Broughton Park, Swinton 
South, Boothstown and Worsley. 

The sales values evidence base has been fully updated with 
2017/18 data. It uses Land Registry price paid data and also the 
floorspace information from the EPC register, for the same dwelling, 
to calculate a sales value per square metre. Properties in new / 
recent residential developments have been identified using the city 
council’s development monitoring records. 
 
725 properties have been assessed with a minimum sample size of 
10 properties per area. Significantly higher number of properties 
have been considered in areas such as Chapel Street, Ordsall 
Riverside and Salford Quays given the large number of recent 
developments in these locations.  
 
The floorspace data from the EPCs does not include garages and so 
therefore an additional floorspace of 14 square metres was added to 
the EPC floorspace data for all detached dwellings (with the dwelling 
type being available from the land registry). This assumption is in 
line with an additional allowance of 14 square metres being added to 
the floorspace of detached dwellings in the family houses typology to 
allow for garages, and is considered appropriate for this plan making 
stage viability assessment 
 
Having regard to the above, the value areas have been updated. 
This has involved raising the values per sqm in the low areas from 
£1,600 to £1,800, and in the premium areas from £3,000 to £3,400. 
 
 

Value area Typical values 
per sqm 

Premium £3,400 

High £2,800 

Mid/high £2,500 

Mid £2,200 

Low/mid £2,000 

Low £1,800 
 

P
age 1937



6 
 

Ground rents 
 
The application of ground rent reinvestment for houses is 
inappropriate and not generally reflective of market expectations. 
Houses are frequently sold on a freehold basis (Peel Holdings). 

Since the viability assessment was produced for the Draft Local 
Plan, and consultation comments received on it, the government 
launched a crackdown on unfair practices within the leasehold 
system. Following a consultation the government has said it will 
legislate to prevent the sale of new build leasehold houses except 
where necessary such as shared ownership.  
 
Given the above it is not considered appropriate to make an 
allowance for ground rent from houses. Having regard to a review of 
recent viability assessments submitted to the council as part of 
planning applications and other strategic viability assessments, the 
ground rents for apartments previously adopted appear to be 
reasonable. 
 

Scheme timings – build period 
 
The council assumes for the houses typology that the first unit will be 
sold after four months of the construction period. This does not 
reflect commercial reality; the standard assumption is 6 months 
construction prior to the first sale in month 7 (Peel Holdings). 

Having regard to actual developments in Salford, the assumption for 
the houses typology is that the first sale is 4 months after the start of 
construction (with a 3 month lead in construction starts). This has 
been carried forward into the Revised Draft Local Plan viability 
assessment.  

Scheme timings – sales period 
 
Peel Holdings commented that the council assumes a sales rate of 
3.5 houses per month; this is in excess of current market conditions 
of 2.5-2.75 per month  
 
Peel further commented that the assumption that apartments start 
selling four months before construction end is unlikely as it will not 
be possible to achieve legal completion of sales prior to practical 
completion of the whole development. They further went on to state 
that:  

 

 Typically one third of apartments are reserved off-plan with 
transactions completing upon completion of construction. 

The sales rate has been reconsidered as part of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan viability assessment. The assumption for the houses 
typology that the first sale is 4 months after start of construction (7 
months including lead-in time) has been carried forward, although 
the last housing market sale has been amended so that it is 4 
months after construction end (rather than 2 months as in the Draft 
Local Plan viability assessment). This therefore represents a sales 
rate of around 3.3 houses per month, which is not considered 
excessive having regard to actual developments within Salford and 
the current housing market conditions.  
 
It is accepted that apartments will not be sold prior to construction 
end as the development would not be completed. Having regard to 
actual delivery of apartments schemes in the city, the reservation 
rate off-plan and also the remaining sales rates suggested by Peel is 

P
age 1938



7 
 

 Remaining apartments generally sold at 3-4 units per annum; 
applying sales of 4 per month this produces a 20 month post 
construction period for mid density apartment schemes and 25 
months for high density schemes (compared to 6 months 
assumed by the council for both typologies).   

not considered reflective of the apartment market in the city 
(particularly City Centre schemes). Given this, the Revised Draft 
Local Plan residential viability assessment assumes that in the 
apartment typologies, 90% are reserved off-plan with transactions 
completed on construction finish. For the apartment typologies it has 
been assumed that the last market sale is 3 months after 
construction end. 
  

Land acquisition costs  

Maximum unencumbered land value 
 
Peel Holdings stated the following: 
 
The land values adopted for family housing sites is based on DCLG 
information, a publicly available data source. No evidence is 
provided to support the approach to the assessment of apartment 
land values.  
 
It appears the council has taken into account abnormal costs in 
determining a land value for the high density apartment scheme in 
the Premium and High value areas, given that the costs are 
“…having regard to known land values/transactions in these areas”. 
Abnormal costs are not included within the council’s appraisals  and 
the different typologies are not assessed on a like for like basis 

 
Achievable land transaction values for high density apartment sites 
equate to £15,000 to £20,000 per plot (the council has assumed 
£6,000 to £8,000). It is noted that UV through planning application 
negotiations have assumed £2,500 to £5,000 per plot for premium 
high density apartment schemes. This is without support in the 
market. 
 

The city council has reconsidered benchmark land values having 
regard to the government’s planning practice guidance on viability 
that was published in July 2018. This states that to define land value 
for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value should be 
calculated on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, 
plus a premium for the landowner. The premium should provide a 
reasonable incentive, in comparison with other options available, for 
the landowner to sell land for development while allowing a sufficient 
contribution to comply with policy requirements. This approach is 
often called ‘existing use value plus’ (EUV+)3.  
 
For reasons set out within paragraphs 4.26-4.37 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan viability assessment, benchmark land values of between 
£440,000 per hectare and £773,500 per hectare have been used 
(with this value including a premium for the landowner). A landowner 
premium of 20% has been applied to the EUV across all typologies 
except for the high density apartment typology where a 30% 
premium to the EUV is applied.  

                                                           
3Para 013. Reference ID: 10-013-20180724 

P
age 1939



8 
 

The council should review land sale and planning application 
evidence to form appropriate benchmark land values, adjusted to 
exclude negative impact of abnormals, for mid/high density 
apartment developments.  

Legal fees 
 
The council has assumed £600 across all appraisals. Whilst 
potentially appropriate for lower value houses and apartments, for 
mid/high and above values an average of £750 per unit is more 
appropriate (Peel Holdings). 

The Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment has taken a 
different approach to legal fees from that previously set out. It 
assumes that legal fees are 0.75% of site value, with this being an 
industry standard, and reflective of viability assessments submitted 
with planning applications in Salford. 

Development costs  

General comment 
 
The under-estimation of costs will have profound implications upon 
the credibility of the viability report, which could suggest many of the 
policy requirements within other value areas to be unjustified. Such 
costs are either below or at the lower end of those recommended by 
the Local Housing Delivery Group report chaired by John Harmon 
(Home Builders Federation). 

The costs are reflective of costs seen in Salford within viability 
assessments submitted with planning applications.  

Build costs 
 
For high density apartments the council has used BCIS average 
prices for 6+ storey apartments of £1,415per sqm. This is insufficient 
with Peel’s experience highlighting actual costs of £1,722-£1,991 per 
sqm dependent on height, location and specification (Peel Holdings). 
 
Further detail should be provided as to the assumed scale (storeys) 
of the high density apartment typology, to show construction costs 
area based on an appropriate range of developments including 
schemes well in excess of 6 storeys (Peel Holdings).   
 
Average BCIS costings increased by 13.29% from February 6 2016 
(i.e. the data used by the council) to 20 December 2016. This is a 

The planning practice guidance on viability states that a cost of 
development is build costs and suggests that such costs should be 
based on appropriate data, for example that of the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS).4  
 
Consideration was given to using build costs per square metre of the 
gross internal floorspace as set out by BCIS (as had been used in 
the assessment for the draft plan). However, Urban Vision Property 
Services have advised that the costs are not now representative of 
the actual build costs that they are seeing on schemes within 
Salford, including those that have been verified by the district valuer. 
 
Having regard to this, a build cost of £1,615 per sqm has been 
adopted for high density apartments (Urban Vision have advised that 

                                                           
4 Para 012. Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 

P
age 1940



9 
 

considerable increase and so the appraisals should be re-run on the 
basis of up to date BCIS data (Peel Holdings). 
 
Build costs are inflated at paragraph 3.4of the assessment by 5% to 
introduce a “buffer” to ensure the appraisals do not over-estimate 
viability. This is minimal equating to only £50sqm, especially 
considering the value areas are based on a £100-£200sqm 
rounding. Further reasoning should be provided to justify the level of 
viability buffer adopted (Peel Holdings). 
 
 

this reflects schemes of up to 18 storeys in height). Where schemes 
in excess of 18 storeys in height are coming forward with higher 
build costs then this can be considered as part of the planning 
application process. For houses a build rate of £1,033 per sqm has 
been applied for all houses rather than having different costs for 
each type of house reflecting that this is a strategic viability 
assessment. For mid density apartments a rate of £1,065 per sqm 
has been applied. 
 
The previous version of the planning guidance on viability stated that 
plan makers should not plan to the margins of viability, and should 
allow for a buffer to respond to changing markets and to avoid the 
need for frequent plan updating. There is no reference in the current 
version of the guidance on viability with regards to applying a buffer, 
and so on this basis the city council has not applied one.   
 

Abnormals and demolition 
 
Concern that there is no consideration of abnormal costs or the 
costs of demolition. This is despite the high reliance upon previously 
developed land (Home Builders Federation). 

Clearly some sites, particularly those of a brownfield nature, will 
have an element of abnormal costs. However the strategic area-wide 
nature of the Local Plan viability assessment is not designed to test 
the viability of specific sites; it cannot seek to encompass all the 
potential differences in individual site circumstances / abnormals that 
affect viability. Given this, the assessment makes a nil allowance for 
abnormals, recognising that any site specific issues should result in 
a reduced existing use value, subject to the proper exercise of due 
diligence by the site purchaser. This is line with the planning practice 
guidance on viability which states that abnormal costs should be 
taken into account when defining benchmark land value.5  
 

Accessible and adaptable homes 
 
Since the costs of meeting accessible and adaptable homes were 
considered by EC Harris in September 2014 for DCLG, BCIS 
average prices within Greater Manchester have risen 29%. The 

The process costs identified in the EC Harris report would be 
expected to reduce over time as architects/developers become more 
familiar with the standard, including in the time since the report was 
published. It is assumed that this offsets any inflation in professional 
fees (as this is the source of the costs). 

                                                           
5 Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 

P
age 1941



10 
 

costs used by the council should be increased to reflect current day 
costings (Peel Holdings).  

Marketing and sales fees 
 
Concern that only 3% of GVA is allowed for marketing costs (Home 
Builders Federation). 

Based on other schemes coming forward in the city, this is 
considered to be appropriate and has been carried forward into the 
Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment.  

Building design fees 
 
The council has assumed this as 8% of build costs – the appraisals 
show that “fees and certification” are calculated at 8% of the base 
build costs. In reality fees will be incurred in respect of other costs 
such as plot specific external works, M4(2) and accessible and 
adaptable costs, and infrastructure. Professional fees should be 
recalculated to fully reflect the costs incurred by housing developers, 
not just costs relating to base build costs (Peel Holdings). 

For the purposes of this strategic viability assessment, and as 
commonly seen elsewhere, it is only considered appropriate to apply 
professional fees to build costs. Urban Vision Property Services 
advised that a figure of 5% of build costs for all professional fees 
should be applied given that this figure has been agreed with volume 
housebuilders as being appropriate on schemes within Salford 
where a viability assessment has been submitted in support of a 
planning application. This 5% figure has been used in the Revised 
Draft Local Plan viability assessment.  
  

Building contingencies 
 
The contingency amounts are insufficient; the allowance should 
apply to all costs of construction (Peel Holdings).  

Building contingencies of 3% of build costs have been allowed for. 
Calculating contingencies in this way is considered to be industry 
standard and reflects other developments in Salford (and as agreed 
through planning application viability assessments) and the North 
West.  
 
Urban Vision Property Services have advised that building 
contingencies for regional or national volume house builders usually 
remain relatively stable across different developments as they have 
in-house design teams who design standard house types which are 
used across multiple sites. Furthermore they will often use the same 
contractors who become familiar with the house types and which 
leads to greater efficiencies. 
 

Developer profit  

The level of profit adopted is at the lower end of the scale and not 
appropriate in the case of large scale urban extensions. This issue is 

The planning practice guidance on viability6 states that “For the 
purpose of plan making an assumption of 15-20% of gross 

                                                           
6 Paragraph 018. Reference ID: 10-018-20180724 

P
age 1942



11 
 

raised at paragraph 3.3.2 of the 2012 RICS guidance on Financial 
Viability in Planning and page 31 of the Local Housing Delivery 
Group report (Persimmon Homes). 
 
Concern that the assumed 17.5% developer profit is at the lower end 
of the scale (Home Builders Federation). 
 
The council has applied a developer profit of 17.5% of gross 
development value. It is widely accepted and supported by Planning 
Inspectorate appeal decisions that a profit rate of 20% is appropriate 
for the majority of market housing sites in current market conditions. 
The proposed profit level will divert investment to other areas where 
a greater return is regarded as reasonable (Peel Holdings). 
 
The appraisals are modelled on the basis of off-site affordable 
housing delivery, with 100% market housing on site. The profit level 
adopted is insufficient and artificially inflates viability (Peel Holdings). 

development value (GDV) may be considered a suitable return to 
developers in order to establish the viability of plan policies. Plan 
makers may choose to apply alternative figures where there is 
evidence to support this according to the type, scale and risk profile 
of planned development”.  
 
Having regard to the planning practice guidance, and on the basis of 
recent viability evidence submitted to the city council, a developer 
profit of 18% of gross development value is considered to be an 
appropriate benchmark in current market conditions. A lower 
percentage developer profit will be appropriate for specific types of 
scheme (e.g. a Private Rented Sector scheme, or a scheme where 
units are to be sold to a Registered Provider). However the 18% 
figure has been applied across all tenures, and so this provides a 
form of a buffer.  
 
It is also recognised that a higher or lower percentage developer 
profit may be necessary depending on the risk of the schemes. It is 
however considered that 18% represents an appropriate benchmark 
in current market conditions and for the purposes of this area wide 
viability assessment. 
 
The appraisals are not modelled on the basis of 100% market 
housing on site (i.e. affordable dwellings off-site). The approach 
taken is to calculate the surplus / deficit of a 100% market scheme, 
apply non affordable housing planning obligations to the surplus / 
deficit, and then work out how much discount a developer would 
have to provide in order for a registered provider to acquire units on 
the site (at the differing proportions of affordable housing assessed).  
 

Impact of non-affordable housing planning obligation requirements 

The evidence base for the assessment of non-affordable housing 
planning obligation requirements should be clearly stated and 
evidenced (Peel Holdings). 

Section 6 of the Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment sets 
out in full how the non-affordable housing planning obligations have 
been calculated.  

Affordable housing – discounts off open market value required  

P
age 1943



12 
 

The council has assumed that the discount off open market value for 
RPs to acquire units is 55% for social rent, 45% for affordable rent 
and 25% for intermediate dwellings. Peel has held direct discussions 
with RPs, including those currently active in Salford, and at the 
present time understands offers will be made at discounts equating 
to 70% for social rent, 60-80% for affordable rented and 25-40% for 
intermediate (Peel Holdings). 
 
Evidence should be provided to support the proposed discounts, 
with adjustments made within the appraisals in line with evidence 
which directs that greater discounts should be adopted (Peel 
Holdings). 
 

The discount off open market value will inevitably differ on a scheme 
by scheme basis, but acknowledging the recent delivery of 
affordable housing in the city and information supplied by registered 
providers active in the Salford, an appropriate discount off open 
market value is considered to be 60% for social rented, 50% for 
affordable rented and 40% for shared ownership dwellings. This has 
been factored into the Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment.  
 
Explicit evidence has not been provided to support these discounts 
by the city council given that they are commercially sensitive, and 
have been provided to the city council on a confidential basis in 
order to inform the development of policy.  

  

Margins of viability 

The requirements sought by the policy present an inappropriate 
starting point. In accordance with the findings of the Local Housing 
Delivery Group, "Given the clear emphasis on deliverability within 
the NPPF, Local Plan policies should not be predicated on the 
assumption that the development upon which the plan relies will 
come forward at the ‘margins of viability’." (p16) (Persimmon 
Homes).  
 
It is notable that in many of the areas deemed viable, this in many 
cases is marginal. This is not considered to provide the relevant 
viability buffer inferred by the PPG (ID 10-008) (Home Builders 
Federation, Persimmon Homes). 

The previous version of the planning guidance on viability stated that 
plan makers should not plan to the margins of viability, and should 
allow for a buffer to respond to changing markets and to avoid the 
need for frequent plan updating. There is no reference in the current 
version of the guidance on viability with regards to applying a buffer 
and so on this basis the city council has not applied one. 
 

Proportion of affordable housing required  

High density apartments 
 
Peel Media Management Limited commented that the findings of the 
viability assessment have not been accurately reflected in the policy, 
specifically in relation to the requirement for 10% affordable housing 
in high density developments. They made the following points 
relating to this: 

The city council has amended the affordable housing requirements 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan having regard to the updated viability 
assessment, and a policy expectation that all major developments 
provide a minimum of at least 20% affordable housing. The viability 
assessment is the starting point rather than the only determinant in 
setting affordable housing requirements.  

P
age 1944



13 
 

 

 At the preferred tenure mix (37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% intermediate) affordable housing is not viable with 
even a 5% requirement. 

 The tenure mix has been changed to 100% intermediate; a 5% 
requirement would be viable but 10% would not be 

 The policy requirement in the plan is for 10% affordable housing 
and is contrary to the evidence. 

 Concerns about altering tenure mix – no evidence that 
intermediate housing will meet identified needs and so 
assessment may not be robust.  

 
Peel Holdings fully supported the above comments from Peel Media 
Management Limited and further commented as follows: 
 

 Table 26 shows that high density apartments in the premium 
value area would produce a deficit of £173,161 with a 10% 
requirement comprised of 100% intermediate dwellings, and that 
this deficit could be accommodated by “slight adjustments to 
some of the assumptions underpinning the assessments”. 

 The Draft Local Plan requires that all high density apartment 
development in Salford should provide 10% intermediate 
housing. This is not supported by the evidence base, with high 
density apartments shown to be unviable in all areas except 
premium value.   

Premium value areas or land currently designated as Green Belt 
 
Green Belt status is a policy designation which is not relevant to 
development viability. There is insufficient evidence that 40% 
affordable provision on land currently designated as Green Belt is 
realistic and deliverable (Persimmon Homes). 
 
Peel Holdings commented that the adoption of a ‘blanket 
assumption’ that all Green Belt land is premium value is 
inappropriate. Peel acknowledge and appreciate greenfield sites are 

The approach to Green Belt and the value areas has been 
reconsidered in the Revised Draft Local Plan viability assessment.  
 
The Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocates 
three sites that are currently within Salford’s Green Belt for new 
housing. There is no comparable sales values data available for 
these sites and so therefore a judgement needed to be made as to 
what value area they are likely to correspond to, for the purposes of 
the viability assessment. The assessment notes that the Green Belt 

P
age 1945



14 
 

likely to be expected to the delivery of their own infrastructure – 
however it is clear from the value areas map that only small areas of 
Green Belt are adjoined by medium/high, high or premium areas, 
with the vast majority adjoined by mid value areas. It is difficult to 
understand how all areas of Green Belt can be assessed as 
premium when no evidence and little reasoning is provided to 
support this. Given this, the base assumption for Green Belt land 
should be that it falls within the mid value category 
 
Anonymous Salford Landowners and Consortium of Landowners – 
Irlam and Cadishead commented that the approach of including 
Green Belt sites with premium sites is not reasonable with different 
areas of Green Belt falling into different residential value areas. 
Furthermore: 
 

 H3/4 Western Cadishead and Irlam allocation is located adjacent 
to a designated mid-value area, and is a significant distance from 
any part of Salford considered to be mid/high, high or premium. 

 On the basis of the proposed policy site H3/4 would be required 
to provide affordable housing at 40 percent whilst, in the area 
immediately adjacent to the south and east, a requirement for 10 
percent would be applied. 

 No evidence to support the supposition that Green Belt sites 
have the same ability to support the same level of affordable 
housing as premium areas,  and no attempt at any form of 
analysis to suggest that this is correct. 

 The Green Belt sites proposed for allocation are not one 
homogenous site and are not even all broadly located in the 
same area. 

 The proposed Green Belt sites make a significant contribution to 
the plan with site H3/4 particularly critical to its delivery, with an 
allocation of approximately 2,250 dwellings. It is vital that the 
authority has an understanding of the deliverability of Green Belt 
sites to ensure that the plan can be delivered in the setting of the 
proposed affordable housing requirement. 

allocations are considered to fall under the sales value area as set 
out below: 
 

 East of Boothstown – Premium value area: the dwellings that will 
come forward on this site will be to an exceptional quality, 
targeting the top end of the housing market with the intention of 
attracting highly skilled professionals. On this basis the sales 
value of dwellings on the site are going to be reflective of the 
premium values.  

 Land at Hazelhurst Farm– High value area: the sales values for 
this site are likely to be the same as the area that they are 
adjacent to.  

 North of Irlam Station – Mid/high value area: given the scale of 
development on this site, it is likely the development will create 
its own market which will have higher sales values than the 
areas that it adjoins. 

 
Policy H7 (affordable housing) of the Revised Draft Local Plan 
identifies that Green Belt is not covered by the value areas, as new 
housing development within the Green Belt that is in excess of the 
thresholds in this policy will by definition be inappropriate. If 
exceptional circumstances exist to justify such development in the 
Green Belt, then the proportion of dwellings that are affordable must 
be maximised. 
 

P
age 1946



15 
 

High value areas 
 
The 40% affordable housing sought on lower density schemes would 
produce a surplus of just £23,907, compared with £548,920 if 35% 
were to be sought. Even with no account taken of remediation of 
abnormal infrastructure, the proposed affordable provision would 
clearly cause development to be at the margins of viability 
(Persimmon Homes).  

The city council has amended the affordable housing requirements 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan having regard to the updated viability 
assessment, and a policy expectation that all major developments 
provide a minimum of at least 20% affordable housing. The viability 
assessment is the starting point rather than the only determinant in 
setting affordable housing requirements. 

Mid/high value areas 
 
25% requirement for houses scheme; however there is only a  
surplus of £10,704 with 25% affordable housing to being sought 
compared with £459,969 if 20% were to be sought. Even with no 
account taken of remediation of abnormal infrastructure, the 
proposed affordable provision would clearly cause development to 
be at the margins of viability (Persimmon Homes).  
 
The 25% requirement for houses and 10% for mid density 
apartments is different from the requirement of 20% for houses and 
10% for mid density apartments required by the 2015 Planning 
Obligations SPD. The Local Plan policy should be ameded to reflect 
the Obliagtions SPD (United Utilities Property Services). 

The city council has amended the affordable housing requirements 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan having regard to the updated viability 
assessment, and a policy expectation that all major developments 
provide a minimum of at least 20% affordable housing. The viability 
assessment is the starting point rather than the only determinant in 
setting affordable housing requirements. 

Mid value areas 
 
The schedule of residential values (Annex A) refers to Cadishead as 
being a mid value area. Table 34 of the main report identifies that in 
this value area the evidence shows that mid density and high density 
apartment schemes cannot support affordable housing; policy H7 
conflicts with this as it requires 10% affordable housing for mid 
density apartment schemes. Policy should be amended to reflect a 
0% requirement (Arnold Laver).   
 
Within this value area policy compliant developments would be 
unviable - the justification for the affordable housing policy 
requirement is therefore unclear (Home Builders Federation).   

The city council has amended the affordable housing requirements 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan having regard to the updated viability 
assessment, and a policy expectation that all major developments 
provide a minimum of at least 20% affordable housing. The viability 
assessment is the starting point rather than the only determinant in 
setting affordable housing requirements. 

P
age 1947



16 
 

Low/mid and low value areas 
 
Within these value areas policy compliant developments would be 
unviable - the justification for the affordable housing policy 
requirement is therefore unclear (Home Builders Federation). 
 
The 10% affordable housing requirement for mid density apartments 
are not supported by the evidence base, and are unviable and 
undeliverable. 

The city council has amended the affordable housing requirements 
in the Revised Draft Local Plan having regard to the updated viability 
assessment, and a policy expectation that all major developments 
provide a minimum of at least 20% affordable housing. The viability 
assessment is the starting point rather than the only determinant in 
setting affordable housing requirements. 

  

 

P
age 1948



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

EVIDENCE BASE: COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The focus within the document on crime and hate crime in the lives 
of Lesbian, Gay Bisexual and Trans People (LGBT) is welcomed.   

The support is welcomed.  

It is suggested that mapping work could be done to supplement the 
anecdotal evidence that LGBT people, particularly gay and bisexual 
men, are clustering in certain areas of Salford. Identifying these 
areas would help identify other ways that development opportunities 
can be taken to positively support the communities that live there.  

Community Impact Assessments (CIAs) are used to: inform decision 
making and help to assess whether proposals may have a 
disproportionate impact on protected groups; and identify how these 
impacts may be eliminated, reduced or mitigated.  
 
The Community Impact Assessment (CIA) for the Draft Local Plan 
concluded that the policies would not have a disproportionate 
negative impact on LGBT people. No further evidence based work or 
changes to policies are therefore proposed in response to these 
comments.   
 
A CIA has also been undertaken, assessing the potential impact of 
the Revised Draft Local Plan on protected groups/people with 
protected characteristics.  
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan CIA recognises that crime and fear of 
crime can have a major impact on quality of life, and this can be a 
particular concern for some of the groups that are generally 
perceived to be more vulnerable to crime and harassment, including 
lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people. Poorly designed 
developments and spaces can create a hostile environment that 
gives the impression of significant crime problems and can act as a 
barrier, preventing people from accessing buildings, services and 
facilities.  
 
It is noted that ensuring that development is designed so that it 
minimises the fear of crime and opportunities for crime and antisocial 

P
age 1949



2 
 

behaviour (Policy D6 Design and crime, and Policy D4 Space) 
should ensure that all people have safe and secure access to and 
from buildings. Other policies in the Revised Draft Local Plan will 
also help to remove some of the barriers associated with fear of 
crime by for example, improving the vitality and viability of town 
centres and improving the quality of the public realm and the overall 
vibrancy of the University of Salford Campus (Policy TC1 Spatial 
strategy for designated centres and Policy ED4 University of 
Salford). 
 
Revised Draft Local Plan chapter 12 on health has been added to 
and amended. The introduction/justification to Policy HH2 
(Development and health) explains it is important that specific 
consideration is given to the potential overall impact of development 
on health during the planning process, with individual proposals 
seeking to maximise their positive contribution as far as practicable, 
recognising that health requirements and issues can vary between 
different groups of identity and on an individual basis.  
 
Policy HH2 sets out health impact assessments will be required for 
development proposals that the city council considers would have 
the potential to have a significant adverse impact on health and 
wellbeing. Health impact assessments shall (ii) consider the impacts 
on different groups, taking account that some groups will be more 
vulnerable to negative impacts.  
 
A new fairness chapter has been introduced into the Revised Draft 
Local Plan and policy F3 (Inclusive Places) in particular should 
address the issues raised. It explains that all places and 
developments shall be as inclusive as possible, capable of adapting 
to a broad range of changing needs and delivering a high quality of 
life, where no one is potentially excluded because of disability, age, 
gender, sexuality, ethnicity or social class. 

  

P
age 1950



3 
 

Other significant changes made to evidence base: Community Impact Assessment 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None  N/A 

 

P
age 1951



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

EVIDENCE BASE: HOUSING AND ECONOMIC LAND AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT (November 2016) 

An updated 2018-based housing and economic land availability assessment has been prepared in support of the revised draft local 

plan (published January 2019) 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

Additional sites for housing 

Councillor Critchley stated that the HELAA does not reflect the true 
potential of sites that could come forward over the lifetime of the 
plan. He identified potential development sites that in his opinion 
would be sufficient to justify protection of greenfield sites in West 
Salford. The sites he identified are as follows: 
 
1) Cambridge Industrial Estate: disappointing that large areas of the 

estate are expected to lie derelict during the plan period 
2) Vacant grassed space south of Frederick Road is classed as 

undevelopable; in contrast farms and moss land in other parts of 
the city are included for development  

3) Cleared Church site off St Boniface Road 
4) Abandoned car park between Lower Broughton Road and the 

River Irwell 
5) Vacant land north of Gerald Road 
6) Derelict site west of Lower Broughton Road along the riverfront 

The sites have been considered and the response is set out below: 
 
1) Cambridge – the HELAA identifies part of Cambridge Industrial 

Estate for 850 dwellings (reference S/BRO/053). Revised Draft 
Local Plan policy AP5 requires that a masterplan will be 
produced for the whole of the Cambridge area, and that any 
development will be expected to accord with the relevant 
masterplan in accordance with policy EC2. Therefore the 
Cambridge area could yield significantly more than 850 dwellings 
depending on the outcome of the masterplanning work, but it 
would not be appropriate to assume this in terms of the current 
housing land supply. 
   

2) Land to the south of Frederick Road (reference S/BRO/031) has 
been classed as undevelopable given that it is amenity space 
and provides a buffer from the road to existing properties.  
 

3) It is unclear whether the site is available for housing given the 
intentions of the diocese are at this time unknown.   
 

4) It is understood that the site being referred to is hardstanding 
south of Mocha Parade / Lower Broughton and north of the River 
Irwell. The site is around 0.13ha and so therefore below the site 
size threshold for inclusion in the assessment. 
 

P
age 1952



2 
 

5) It is assumed that the site being referred to is the open land 
bounded by Gerald Road and Cairn Drive. The site is around 
0.15ha and so therefore below the site size threshold for 
inclusion in the assessment. Furthermore, the land functions as 
amenity space that is valued locally and was retained as open 
land after the development of the Albion Estate to the north. 
Around 10 years ago a planning application was summited to 
include the site and also land to south of Gerald Road (Poet’s 
site) for new affordable housing. The plan was ultimately 
amended to remove the Albion given the valued recreation 
function the space provides in this location. Housing was 
subsequently built on the Poet’s part of the site.  
 

6) Land to the west of Lower Broughton Road (south of no. 341) is 
around 0.10ha and therefore below the site size threshold for 
inclusion in the assessment. 

 
Note that the HELAA makes an allowance for small sites below the 
thresholds for inclusion in the assessment (greater than 0.25ha, 
except in the regional centre / town centres where the threshold is 
0.1ha). This is based on looking at the past trends for developments 
on small sites and extrapolating this forward. This ensures that the 
potential contribution of small sites to the housing supply is 
accounted for. 
 

Assumptions on sites in the assessment 

If Green Belt is to be lost in Irlam and Cadishead then sites at 
Cadishead South and Fairhills Road (Kingsland Wines site) should 
be identified for commercial and economic development in order to 
ensure that the increase in population is supported by economic 
development as well (Hamilton Davies Trust).  

Kingsland Wines have given no recent indication to the city council 
that the site will become available for housing development. On this 
basis the site is not considered to be developable for housing and 
will continue to be used for employment purposes (reference 
S/CAD/045).  
 

S/ORD/012 and S/ORD/012a (land at Quays Point) - Support 
identification on the GMSF map for 1,871 dwellings and 29,163sqm 
of office space. However, there is permission for a further 4,280sqm 

The potential yield has been amended to reflect the most up to date 
details. 

P
age 1953



3 
 

of live/work accommodation and 5,155sqm of retail/leisure 
floorspace (outline permission as amended by 16/68123/NMA and 
16/68299/FUL) (Peel Media Management Limited).  

S/ORD/059 (King William Street) - Support the identification of the 
site as being deliverable for residential development on the GMSF 
map. However it is identified for 154 units whereas part of the site 
has permission for 300 student units. Full capacity will be 
determined by masterplanning work (Peel Media Management 
Limited). 

In the 2018 HELAA (published January 2019) the site has been 
identified as having the potential for 302 units, reflecting planning 
permission 18/72048/FUL. Note that the permission is for 402 beds 
– the council’s yield reflects the number of individual self-contained 
units taking into account clustered accommodation.  
 

S/ORD/090 (land between Broadway and Salford Quays) - Support 
the conclusion on the GMSF map that the site is a suitable location 
for office development. However Peel promoted the site during the 
GMSF call for sites for a broad range of uses including residential, 
hotel, retail, leisure, food and drink in line with pending application 
11/61096/OUT (Peel Media Management Limited). 

The boundary of the site and potential yield has been amended to 
reflect the most up to date details.  

S/ORD/108 (Plot E2, MediaCityUK) - The GMSF map identifies the 
site as capable of delivering 4,851sqm of office space. However the 
site has permission for 4,851sqm offices, 112 bed hotel and 590sqm 
media hub (permission 14/65145/REM) (Peel Media Management 
Limited). 

The site has been completed and therefore is not in the 2018 
HELAA (published January 2019). 

S/SSO/020 (former Swinton Sewage Treatment Works) - The 
assessment assumes delivery of 75 houses between 2016 and 
2021. Given the track record of Bellway who are involved in the 
development of the site it is considered that 120 houses can be 
delivered up to 2021 (United Utilities). 

The site has been granted planning permission for 241 dwellings, as 
part of the development of new houses and improvements to open 
space (reference 17/70853/FUL). It has been assumed for the 
purposes of the HELAA that 150 houses will be built between 2018 
and 2023 and the remainder in the period 2023 to 2028. This is 
considered to be realistic given when the site was granted 
permission and also site works that need to take place before any of 
the dwellings are actually built.  
 

Demolitions 

Paragraph 3.9 of the HELAA identifies 496 demolitions over the plan 
period, which at 26 per annum appears low. Further evidence in 
relation to this should be provided including previous rates of 
demolition in the city (Home Builders Federation). 

The 2018 HELAA (published January 2019) identifies net dwelling 
change; the net figures take into account losses from demolitions 
and changes of use, as appropriate, on specifically identified sites. 
There are no other sites that the city council is currently aware of 
where there will be the loss of dwellings.  

P
age 1954



4 
 

 
The city council’s annual housing land supply monitoring report 
identifies the past trend of housing losses. This is published on the 
city council’s website. A demolition allowance based on these past 
trends is not considered to be appropriate given that for a number of 
years significant funding was available in parts of the city for 
regeneration that involved large scale demolition (such as Housing 
Market Renewal, New Deal, and Single Regeneration Budget). This 
finding is no longer available, and so as a result, demolition going 
forward will be less than the past trends. If significant demolition was 
to take place in the future, then it is likely that this would enable a net 
increase in dwellings overall, given the emphasis on using land more 
efficiently. 
 
The small sites allowance in the HELAA is based on the net number 
of dwellings delivered on small sites, and so takes into account 
losses through demolition, changes of use and conversions. 
  

Flexibility and reserve sites  

Peel Holdings made the following comments: 
 
Although the NPPF does not prescribe a “Flexbility Factor” in realtion 
to housing allocations, LPEG reccomended the release of 
developable “Reserve sites” equivalent to 20% of their total housing 
requirement to respond to rapid change (see paragraph 11.4 of 
March 2016 report).  
 
Paper 2 of Peel’s representations to the Draft GMSF at Appendix 2 
of Document 3 of Peel’s representations to the DSLP) sets out the 
need for the GMSF to identify a sufficient supply of reserve sites. 
This same approach should apply to Salford. 
 
The HELAA non Green Belt supply is 35,727; when Green Belt sites 
are added to this and delivery between 2015-16 is factored in (to 

The 2018 NPPF does not require either a ‘Flexibility Factor’ in 
relation to housing allocations, or the release of ‘Reserve sites’ 
equivalent to 20% of their total housing requirement as 
recommended by LPEG.  
 
Notwithstanding this, the Revised Draft Local Rlan identifies a supply 
of 40,300 dwellings to meet a requirement of 32,680 dwellings. 
There is therefore 23% flexibility in the supply, which is considered 
to accord with the paragraph 11a of the Framework which requires 
that plans should be sufficiently flexible to adapt to rapid change.  

P
age 1955



5 
 

provide a supply figure of 40,125) there is only a 15% flexibility 
factor. There is not a suffcient buffer as recommended by LPEG.  

Housing supply compared to requirement 

The HELAA assessment identifies land for 35,727 dwellings; it 
identifies an additional 4,470 dwellings once an allowance is made 
for the release of Green Belt and other sites through the GMSF 
and/or Local Plan that are not compliant with the current policy 
framework. This results in a total identified supply of 40,197 
dwellings. Given the GMSF / Local Plan requirement is 34,900 there 
does not appear to be a legitimate planning reason for the 
identification and release of the additional 4,470 dwellings 
(individuals).  

The 4,470 additional homes proposed for release on greenfield land 
and in the green belt (and other sites not compliant with the current 
policy framework) were identified in order to diversify the type of 
sites coming forward across the city, and in particular increase the 
supply of houses in Salford West. The release of such sites is 
meeting a qualitative need rather than a purely quantitative need.    
 
The Revised Draft Local Plan continues to include greenfield 
allocations, whilst the Revised Draft GMSF allocates 3 sites for 
housing in Salford that are currently in the Green Belt. These sites 
will help to deliver an appropriate mix of housing across the city.  
 

Peel Holdings made the following comments: 
 
3,300 dwellings are proposed on sites to be released from the Green 
belt. This equates to less than 2 years supply against the Draft Local 
Plan requirement. An additional 6 sites are identified in policy H3 
that do not comply with the current policy framework, equating to 
1,560 dwellings. Together this represents less than 3 years supply. 
The remainder of the supply (over 85% is on unconstrained sites 
that could have come forward at any point over the last 20+ years).  
 
As no policy change is required for over 85% of the supply, historic 
delivery rates in the city from non-green belt land supply can provide 
a proxy for the likely yield from the same non-Green belt supply 
going forward. 

 
The policy unconstrained supply is expected to deliver 30,040 
dwellings equating to 1,502 per annum [It is unclear where the 
respondent has got this unconstrained figure from]. 

The city council considers the supply of land that has been identified 
in the 2018 HELAA (published January 2019) and allocated in the 
revised draft plans (the Local Plan and the GMSF), will be sufficient 
to meet the identified housing requirement for Salford. 
 
It is acknowledged that the scale and rate of development assumed 
will require a significant uplift in the deliervy of new homes in the city 
from that seen historically. However, the city council is confident that 
there is enough flexibility in the supply to ensure that the overall 
housing requriement will be delivered over the plan period. Salford 
beneifts from a large number of existing planning permissions for 
housing1, many of which could be developed early in the plan period. 
With reagrds to the apartment market, it is considered that the 
significant growth in build to rent schemes has added resilience to 
that market and will ensure that such schemes continue to come 
forward even under more difficult market conditions. 
 

                                                           
1 As of 31 March 2018 there were 20,348 dwellings (gross) with planning permission.  

P
age 1956



6 
 

 
Since the UDP was adopted in 2006 there has been an annual 
average of 972 per annum, with 1,502 only being exceeded on two 
occasions. This is an increase in delivery of 55% from effectively the 
same supply which has delivered an annual average of 972 per year 
over 10 years. Although there may be a short term boost to delivery 
over the next 2-3 years, there is no evidence to support a 55% 
increase in delivery year on year from the same land supply. 
 
The short term boost to supply is from the least constrained and 
most viable sites within the land supply – such sites will reduce over 
time. More complex sites (such as those which require land 
assembly, remediation etc.) and those in less established parts of 
the Regional Centre (eg. Ordsall Riverside) will not sustain current 
delivery levels over the plan period. 
 
The scale and rate of development assumed is unprecedented and, 
even allowing for maximum delivery from stronger performing market 
areas, is unlikely to be achieved. 
 
Given all of the above, The Local Plan needs to allocate significantly 
more land than proposed to achieve the level of growth proposed in 
order to mitigate against non-delivery of the supply and to ensure a 
sound plan. This would be in accordance with paragraph 21 of the 
NPPF.  

The issue of delivery is ideintifed in Policy H2 of the Revised Draft 
Local Plan which states that the rate of housing delivery will be 
reasonably even across the whole plan period. Nevertheless, it goes 
on to state that there are likely to be significant peaks and troughs in 
net completions due to changing wider economic and housing 
market conditions, and depending on when individual large 
apartment schemes are completed. Consequently, housing delivery 
is likely to be broadly in the range of 1,150-2,290 net additional 
dwellings per annum. 
 

Lapse rate for planning permissions 

Whilst it is noted that sites with planning permission have been 
reassessed and some are anticipated to come forward at a different 
yield to that which they have permission, it is unclear whether any 
specific discount has been made for the possibility of none or under 
delivery from the sites. This should be clearly expressed in the 
assessment (Home Builders Federation).  

 
A lapse rate should be applied to existing permissions to take into 
account some will not come forward. Many local plans have 

The city council has assessed all sites with planning permission for 
housing to consider whether they are deliverable / developable for 
new housing. Consideration has also been given to whether a site 
will come forward as permitted. This is considered to be more robust 
than applying an arbitrary lapse rate as suggested.  

P
age 1957



7 
 

identifies actual lapse rates at around 10% whilst others other have 
applied a notional 10% lapse rate. A 10% rate also accords with a 
number of appeals and a similar level should be applied in Salford 
(Home Builders Federation). 
 
DCLG analysis indicates that between 10-20% of planning 
permissions are not delivered at all (DCLG presentation to 2015 
HBF Planning Conference in September 2015), whilst a further 
proportion of sites deemed developable will inevitably not materialise 
as planning applications. As a starting point at least 10% of the 
supply will not come forward in the plan period (Peel Holdings). 

Safeguarded land   

Peel Holdings commented as follows: 
 
The Draft Local Plan is contrary to paragraph 85 of the NPPF as it 
does not identify a proper supply of safeguarded land "...in order to 
meet longer-term development needs stretching well beyond the 
plan period..". There is only an over supply of 3 years agsint the 
Draft Local Plan requriement (assuming a total supply of 40,197). 
 
The potential land supply post-2035 will be wholly insufficient to 
meet longer term development needs. A proper strategy for the 
identification of safeguarded land, consistent with the NPPF 
requirement that Green Belt boundaries should endure over the long 
term and that safeguarded land should be identified to meet 
development needs stretching ‘well beyond’ the plan period is 
needed. 

Issues relating to Green Belt are now being considered solely 
through the GMSF process, rather than the Local Plan. Through the 
GMSF it has not been considered appropriate or necessary to 
identify safeguarded land to meet needs following the plan period. 

Windfall allowance  

The Home Builders Federation made by the following comments: 
 
Agree that a windfall allowance should not be included within the first 
five years to avoid double counting with permissions. Also agree that 
an allowance for small sites and conversions is appropriate as not 
covered by the assessment and are likely to continue to come 
forward.  

Comments noted with regards to not making an allowance for 
windfalls in the first five years. This approach has been carried 
forward into the 2018 HELAA (published January 2019).  
 
The calculation of windfalls from the development of small sites has 
been calculated having regard to historic delivery rates between 
2013 and 2018, in accordance with the approach taken at the 

P
age 1958



8 
 

 
Concern over the assumption that windfalls will come forward at the 
same level as past trends. Annex 5 of the HELAA provides details of 
windfall completions between 2000 and 2016 but the analysis does 
not: consider the per annum level of completions from this source or 
whether there are particular anomalies such as particularly high 
delivery in certain years which may bias the supply. The analysis 
does not implement the 3.3% discount for development of garden 
land noted at paragraph 2.58.   
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF requires an assessment of whether 
windfalls will continue to provide a reliable source of supply in the 
future. The council has not done this. This assessment should be 
made in the context of an up to date plan with new allocations – a 
reduction in windfalls is likely as developers focus upon the certainty 
provided by the allocations and considerable development in the City 
Centre, Salford Quays and Ordsall Waterfront (Home Builders 
Federation). 
 
The windfall allowance in the HELAA is significantly above the 
windfall allowance of 1,500 in the draft GMSF. This difference needs 
explanation (Home Builders Federation). 

Greater Manchester level. The council has no evidence to come to 
the conclusion that historic delivery rates would not be reflective of 
future trends, even in the context of an up to date plan. Furthermore 
it is considered that the council already provides some certainty to 
developers through the publication of the HELAA and also the 
brownfield register. It is unlikely that the considerable scale of 
development in places such as the City Centre, Salford Quays and 
Ordsall Waterfront would lead to a reduction in small sites coming 
forward for development elsewhere (particularly small schemes of 
houses given that they provide for a different market segment to high 
density apartments).  
 
Developments of housing on garden land have not been discounted 
from the allowance given that an assessment of the impact of such 
developments on the local area is considered at the planning 
application stage. 
 
The windfall (small sites) allowances in the 2018 HELAA (published 
January 2019) and the Revised Draft GMSF are aligned given that 
they have been calculated in the same way using the same data. 
   
 
 
 
 

  

 

P
age 1959



1 
 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT LOCAL PLAN REPRESENTATIONS 

POLICY: Sustainability Appraisal 

Issue raised in the representations on the Draft Local Plan  
 

How is this being addressed 

The Environment Agency published new guidance on flood risk 
climate change allowances in 2016 which supersedes the Council’s 
SFRA and therefore the Sustainability Appraisal is not based on the 
most up to date evidence (as required by NPPF paragraph 158) 
(Environment Agency) 

Reference to this guidance has been added to the sustainability 
appraisal. 

Throughout the appraisal a number of heritage assets are identified 
as being affected by proposed site allocations, yet we are advised 
that no mitigation is required or else that effects on setting are 
‘unlikely’. If the sustainability appraisal is unable to identify what is 
significant about a heritage asset (and what contribution its setting 
makes to that significance) it cannot properly assess the extent to 
which that significance might be harmed or lost as a consequence of 
a site being allocated for development.  The appraisal would 
therefore fail in its ability to assess whether the development would 
satisfy SA Objective 10 ‘To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of the city’s heritage’.  If it cannot do this, and 
uncertainty in this regard remains, the Council would be unable to 
demonstrate that such harm or loss of heritage significance is 
necessary to achieve wider public benefits that cannot be met in any 
other way.  This will cast doubts on the site allocation being justified, 
deliverable and, ultimately, sustainable (Historic England) 

Further evidence on the potential impacts on the city’s heritage 
assets as a result of proposed allocations has now been produced in 
consultation with Historic England and the Greater Manchester 
Archaeological Advisory Service. The sustainability appraisals of the 
Revised Draft Local Plan allocations reflect the conclusions of this 
work. 

Sustainability Indicator (xiii) total number of nationally designated 
heritage assets is considered to be a weak measure.  It fails, for 
example, to encompass non-designated and locally important 
heritage assets, it masks the extent to which new additions to the list 
might hide any losses, and it fails to measure the extent to which 
damage done to the significance of heritage assets falls short of total 
loss (Historic England) 

It is recognised that there are many other issues relevant to 
sustainability objective 10 (To protect, enhance, and enable the 
appreciation of the city’s heritage). 
 
The indicators have been chosen to strike a balance between 
providing a comprehensive assessment of sustainability effects and 
being manageable in terms of their number and data requirements. 
Given the scope of the document, the indicators chosen are of a 

P
age 1960



2 
 

headline nature and, as is described within the SA document, other 
information will need to be collected in order to supplement the 
sustainability indicators and inform future policy development.  
 
Given the high level focus the indicator identified for Objective 10 is 
focused on nationally designated assets. The wording of the 
indicator has however been changed to “net change in the number 
of nationally designated heritage assets” to reflect changes in terms 
of additions and losses. The definition provided in appendix 4 further 
defines that the indicator will show the “net change in the number of 
heritage assets across the city, including details of the number 
added to and removed from the statutory list”. 

  

Other significant changes made to the Sustainability Appraisal 

Change  
 

Reason for change  

None NA 

 

P
age 1961



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Salford Local Plan 
Draft Statement of Common Ground 

 
January 2019 

 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................................... 2 

2. The process of cooperation .............................................................................. 5 

3. Governance and management ......................................................................... 6 

4. Summary of strategic matters and signatories ................................................. 7 

5. Housing ............................................................................................................ 9 

6. Economic development .................................................................................. 11 

7. Town centres .................................................................................................. 14 

8. Green infrastructure........................................................................................ 18 

 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 1963



2 
 

 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that: 

 
“In order to demonstrate effective and on-going joint working, strategic 
policymaking authorities should prepare and maintain one or more statements 
of common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being 
addressed and progress in cooperating to address these. These should be 
produced using the approach set out in national planning guidance, and be 
made publicly available throughout the plan-making process to provide 
transparency.”1 
 

1.2 The ‘Plan-making’ section of the national Planning Practice Guidance states 
that: 
 
“A statement of common ground is a written record of the progress made by 
strategic policy-making authorities during the process of planning for strategic 
cross-boundary matters.”2 
 

1.3 This indicates that the statement of common ground should focus on 
‘strategic’ issues rather than seeking to consider every potential cross-
boundary impact. The term ‘strategic’ is interpreted in this context as meaning 
having a significant impact on at least two local planning authority areas3. 
 

1.4 This draft statement of common ground has been produced as part of the 
process for producing the Salford Local Plan. It has been published alongside 
the Revised Draft Local Plan and comments are welcomed on its content. 
 

1.5 It relates to the area of Salford, as shown on the map below, which is 
considered to be the appropriate area for the statement as it is the same area 
as covered by the Salford Local Plan. The cross-boundary issues involve 
neighbouring local authority areas and other parts of Greater Manchester. 
 

                                                           
1 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 27 
2 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (September 2018) Plan-making, 
paragraph 61-001-20180913 
3 Based on the definition of “strategic matter” in Section 33A(4) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 

Page 1964



3 
 

 
 

1.6 Although the Salford Local Plan deals with a wide range of issues that are of 
strategic significance for Salford, most of the strategic cross-boundary issues 
involving the city are dealt with through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF). A separate statement of common ground will be 
produced for the GMSF. 
 

Page 1965



4 
 

 

  

Page 1966



5 
 

2. The process of cooperation 
 
2.1 Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as inserted 

by section 110 of the Localism Act 2011, requires the city council to cooperate 
with other local authorities and prescribed bodies in maximising the 
effectiveness of preparing the Local Plan so far as it relates to strategic cross-
boundary matters. This cooperation requires the city council to engage 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis. The city council publishes an 
annual monitoring report that sets out the main actions that have taken place 
as part of this statutory duty to cooperate. 

 
2.2 This statement of common ground focuses on identifying the strategic cross-

boundary matters that are relevant to Salford, and how they are being 
addressed through the Local Plan (or, where relevant, the GMSF). It does not 
seek to compile all of the activities undertaken in relation to the duty to 
cooperate or cross-boundary working. Each relevant strategic cross-boundary 
matter is dealt with in turn in this statement, with an explanation of the issues, 
how the strategic matter is being addressed, any outstanding areas of 
disagreement or uncertainty, and a table listing the potential signatories to 
that part of the statement. 

 
2.3 The process of producing the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 

has involved an enormous amount of cooperation between Salford and the 
other nine local authorities in Greater Manchester. This includes the 
preparation of a wide range of evidence documents covering the whole of 
Greater Manchester, as well as frequent discussions about how to address 
cross-boundary matters within Greater Manchester and extending into 
neighbouring areas, and the production of a draft GMSF that seeks to tackle 
such issues. This work has in turn informed the production of the Salford 
Local Plan, and so forms part of the city council’s compliance with the duty to 
cooperate. 

 

2.4 The city council engages positively with all of the duty to cooperate bodies 
throughout the plan-making process. All such bodies are invited to comment 
on draft plans, and where relevant working drafts. Correspondence is 
exchanged and/or discussions take place where potential issues are raised in 
preparing the evidence base and writing the Local Plan, and where duty to 
cooperate bodies have raised concerns in response to draft versions. This 
approach enables strategic cross-boundary issues to be addressed 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis, whilst being proportionate to 
the significance of the issues and any potential disagreement around how 
they should be addressed. 

  

Page 1967



6 
 

 

3. Governance and management 
 

2.6 This draft statement of common ground has been prepared by Salford City 
Council and published for comment alongside the Revised Draft Local Plan. It 
was approved for consultation as part of a package of documents in support 
of the Revised Draft Local Plan by the Lead Member for Planning and 
Sustainable Development.  
 

2.7 The plan-making and other relevant bodies identified in the statement have 
not been asked to approve / sign the relevant sections of the document at this 
stage. A draft of the statement was however shared in advance of the 
consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan and amendments have been 
made having regard to comments received.  

 
2.8 Cooperation with identified bodies will continue as the Local Plan develops. 

An updated version of the statement of common ground will be published at 
each key stage in the plan-making process, working towards a final version 
that the relevant plan-making and other bodies will be invited to sign. 

 
  

Page 1968



7 
 

4. Summary of strategic matters and signatories 
 
4.1 The strategic cross-boundary matters discussed in the following sections of 

this statement of common ground are: 
 

 Housing 
o Scale of housing (dealt with in the Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework (GMSF)) 
o Type of housing (dealt with in the GMSF) 
o Travelling people 

 Economic development 
o Scale of office floorspace 
o Scale of industrial and warehousing floorspace 
o Port Salford (dealt with in the GMSF) 

 Town centres 
o City Centre (principles dealt with in GMSF) 
o The Quays (principles dealt with in GMSF)  

 Green infrastructure 
o Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area and Chat 

Moss   
o Irwell Valley 

 
4.2 Each section that follows, where relevant, explains the strategic matter under 

consideration, sets out the areas of agreement in relation to that matter, 
identifies any outstanding issues that require further discussion (which may 
result in future changes to the Local Plan, the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework or other documents), and lists the signatories to that section. 
 

4.3 Many of the strategic cross-boundary issues affecting Salford are addressed 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), and discussed 
in the associated statement of common ground. This includes issues such as 
transport, air quality, flood risk and Green Belt. The Salford Local Plan does 
not raise any additional strategic cross-boundary issues on such matters 
beyond those considered in the GMSF and hence they are not discussed 
further in this statement of common ground. 
 

4.4 This statement of common ground has been written by Salford City Council. 
Other plan-making authorities responsible for joint-working on the issues 
herein are: 
 

 Bolton Council 

 Bury Council 

 Manchester City Council 

 Oldham Council 

 Rochdale Council 

 Stockport Council 

 Tameside Council 

 Trafford Council 

Page 1969



8 
 

 Warrington Borough Council 

 Wigan Council 
 

4.5 Other relevant public bodies to the issues herein are: 
 

 Environment Agency 

 Natural England  

 Greater Manchester Local Nature Partnership 

  

Page 1970



9 
 

5. Housing 
 

A. Scale of housing 
 
5.1 The total housing requirement for Greater Manchester, and its distribution 

between the ten local authority areas (including Salford), is being determined 
through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). The Salford 
Local Plan uses the housing requirement agreed through that process, and 
hence the details for this issue are set out in the GMSF statement of common 
ground.  

 
 

B. Type of housing 
 
5.2 The GMSF seeks to ensure that an appropriate mix of dwelling types is 

provided across Greater Manchester. As part of this, it sets out an indicative 
mix of houses and apartments for each district. This assumes that some of 
the demand generated in one district may be met in other districts in Greater 
Manchester, reflecting the opportunities to provide houses and apartments in 
each district, but the overall mix of dwellings across Greater Manchester will 
effectively meet the identified need. Therefore this is a strategic cross-
boundary issue. 
 

5.3 The Salford Local Plan complies with the indicative mix in the GMSF, and 
hence any relevant details for this issue are set out in the GMSF statement of 
common ground.  
 

C. Travelling people 
 
Strategic matters 
 
5.4 The latest Greater Manchester gypsy and traveller accommodation 

assessment (2018 GTAA)4 identifies a need, over the period 2017-2036, for: 
 

 11-26 additional permanent pitches for gypsies and travellers in Salford 
(a total of 103 pitches are required across Greater Manchester)  

 68 additional travelling showpeople plots in Salford (a total of 204 plots 
are required across Greater Manchester)  

 59 transit pitches for gypsies and travellers across Greater Manchester 
 

5.5 The requirement for 59 transit pitches across Greater Manchester has not yet 
been split into district requirements. Initial discussions have taken place 
between the ten local authorities on how these transit pitches should be 
distributed across Greater Manchester, but no final agreement has been 
reached at this point. 

 

                                                           
4 arc4 (July 2018) Greater Manchester Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson 
Accommodation Assessment Update 2018: Final Report 

Page 1971



10 
 

Areas of agreement 
5.6 The Salford Local Plan seeks to meet the Salford need for additional 

permanent pitches for gypsies and travellers and plots for travelling 
showpeople as identified in the 2018 GTAA. Given the high level of existing 
provision and identified need within Salford, it would not be appropriate for 
any identified needs for additional accommodation for travelling people in 
other local authority areas to be met in Salford. 
 

5.7 The Salford Local Plan allocates a site for gypsy and traveller use which could 
provide around 35 pitches. This will enable Salford to make an appropriate 
and proportionate contribution to transit pitches in Greater Manchester as well 
as meeting the Salford need for permanent pitches. 

 
Outstanding issues 
5.8 Given the uneven distribution across Greater Manchester of existing sites for 

travelling people and forecast future needs for additional accommodation, the 
ten local authorities in Greater Manchester will continue to discuss whether it 
would be appropriate for there to be any redistribution of that need between 
local authority areas. 

 
Signatories 
5.9 The signatories to this section are: 
 

Signatory Date agreed 

Bolton Council  

Bury Council  

Manchester City Council  

Oldham Council  

Rochdale Council  

Salford City Council  

Stockport Council  

Tameside Council  

Trafford Council  

Wigan Council  

 
 
 
 

  

Page 1972



11 
 

6. Economic development 
 

A. Scale of office floorspace 
 
Strategic matters 
6.1 The total office floorspace requirement for Greater Manchester is being 

determined through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). This 
specifies a total office floorspace figure for Greater Manchester but does not 
identify individual requirements for each local authority area. It needs to be 
ensured that Salford is making appropriate provision for new office floorspace 
to support delivery of the Greater Manchester figure. 

 
Areas of agreement 
6.2 The scale of new office floorspace proposed in the Salford Local Plan, which 

is around 400,000m2 over the period 2018-2037, will enable Salford to make 
an appropriate contribution to meeting the overall requirement for new office 
floorspace in Greater Manchester. This figure is based on the Salford 
Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment, which was 
part of the evidence base for determining the Greater Manchester 
requirement. 
 

6.3 This scale of provision in Salford will mean that the city will provide 
approximately 16% of new office floorspace in Greater Manchester over the 
period 2018-2037. This proportion is considered appropriate as it reflects the 
wider economic importance of City Centre Salford and Salford Quays, where 
the vast majority of new office floorspace in Salford will be concentrated. This 
approach will allow for the continued development of well-established 
business locations such as MediaCityUK and New Bailey, which forms part of 
the city centre’s central business district, thereby helping to boost Greater 
Manchester’s economic competitiveness and strengthening key sectors.  

 
Outstanding issues 
6.4 There are no outstanding issues with regard to this strategic matter. 
 
Signatories 
6.5 The signatories to this section are: 
 

Signatory Date agreed 

Bolton Council  

Bury Council  

Manchester City Council  

Oldham Council  

Rochdale Council  

Salford City Council  

Stockport Council  

Tameside Council  

Trafford Council  

Wigan Council  

 

Page 1973



12 
 

 

B. Scale of industrial and warehousing floorspace 
 
Strategic matters 
6.6 The total industrial and warehousing floorspace requirement for Greater 

Manchester is being determined through the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF). This specifies a total industrial and warehousing 
floorspace figure for Greater Manchester but does not identify individual 
requirements for each local authority area. It needs to be ensured that Salford 
is making appropriate provision for new industrial and warehousing floorspace 
to support delivery of the Greater Manchester figure. 

 
Areas of agreement 
6.7 The scale of new industrial and warehousing floorspace proposed in the 

Salford Local Plan, which is around 565,000m2 over the period 2018-2037, 
will enable Salford to make an appropriate contribution to meeting the overall 
requirement for new industrial and warehousing floorspace in Greater 
Manchester. This figure is based on the Salford Strategic Housing and 
Economic Land Availability Assessment, which was part of the evidence base 
for determining the Greater Manchester requirement. 
 

6.8 This scale of provision in Salford will mean that the city will provide 
approximately 13% of new industrial and warehousing floorspace in Greater 
Manchester over the period 2018-2037. This proportion is considered 
appropriate, particularly as around three-quarters of it will be at Port Salford 
which is an agreed priority for Greater Manchester. 

 
Outstanding issues 
6.9 There are no outstanding issues with regard to this strategic matter. 
 
Signatories 
6.10 The signatories to this section are: 
 

Signatory Date agreed 

Bolton Council  

Bury Council  

Manchester City Council  

Oldham Council  

Rochdale Council  

Salford City Council  

Stockport Council  

Tameside Council  

Trafford Council  

Wigan Council  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1974



13 
 

C. Port Salford 
 
6.11 The Salford Local Plan allocates the Port Salford site to the south of the A57 

in Irlam. As this already benefits from planning permission, all relevant cross-
boundary matters have already been addressed and so are not revisited here. 
 

6.12 An expansion to Port Salford, on Green Belt land to the north of the A57 in 
Irlam, may be allocated in the GMSF, and so any additional cross-boundary 
issues that this raises are considered through the Greater Manchester 
statement of common ground. 

 
 

  

Page 1975



14 
 

7. Town centres 
 

A. City Centre 
 
Strategic matters 
7.1 The City Centre is located within both Manchester and Salford, with that part 

in Salford referred to as City Centre Salford. The primary shopping area is 
located wholly within Manchester, but there are significant office, tourism and 
residential functions in City Centre Salford, together with smaller scale retail 
and leisure uses. 
 

7.2 The GMSF identifies the City Centre as a key component of the strategy for 
Greater Manchester, and sets out an overall policy approach for it. It will be 
important that actions in Salford support the success of the City Centre as a 
whole, and its vital role within Greater Manchester. 

 
Areas of agreement 
7.3 The Salford Local Plan designates the boundary of City Centre Salford as 

shown on the map below. This is agreed to be an appropriate boundary for 
the City Centre within Salford. The Local Plan provides an explanation of the 
role of the different areas within City Centre Salford and how they are 
expected to develop and evolve during the plan period.    
 

 
 

7.4 The Salford Local Plan identifies that around 11,000 dwellings and 150,000m2 
of new office floorspace will be provided in City Centre Salford over the period 

Page 1976



15 
 

2018-2037. This is agreed to be an appropriate scale of development to 
support the wider role of the City Centre as the primary economic driver for 
Greater Manchester and its important function as a residential location, 
complementing the anticipated scale and type of development in City Centre 
Manchester. 

 
7.5 The two city councils will continue to work together to coordinate infrastructure 

and environmental improvements across the City Centre. 
 
Outstanding issues 
7.6 There are no outstanding issues with regard to this strategic matter. 
 
Signatories 
7.7 The signatories to this section are: 
 

Signatory Date 

Bolton Council  

Bury Council  

Manchester City Council  

Oldham Council  

Rochdale Council  

Salford City Council  

Stockport Council  

Tameside Council  

Trafford Council  

Wigan Council  

 
 

B. The Quays 
 
Strategic matters 
7.8 The Quays is located within both Salford and Trafford, with that part in Salford 

referred to as Salford Quays. The GMSF identifies the importance of the 
Quays and sets out an overall policy approach for it. It also identifies Salford 
Quays as having the status of a town centre within the retail hierarchy. It will 
be important that actions in Salford support the success of the Quays as a 
whole, and its essential role within Greater Manchester. 

 
Areas of agreement 
7.9 The Salford Local Plan designates the boundary of Salford Quays town 

centre, and the primary shopping area within it, as shown on the map below. 
This is agreed to be an appropriate boundary for the town centre. 
 

Page 1977



16 
 

 
 

7.10 The Salford Local Plan identifies that around 7,100 dwellings and 250,000m2 
of new business floorspace will be provided in Salford Quays over the period 
2018-2037. This is agreed to be an appropriate scale of development to 
support the wider role of the Quays as economic location of national 
importance, complementing the anticipated scale and type of development in 
Trafford’s part of the Quays area. 
 

7.11 The Salford Local Plan states that a significant increase in retail floorspace, 
leisure uses and community facilities will be provided within the primary 
shopping area (and, if necessary, its northward expansion within Salford), 
meeting the needs of the major increase in the number of people working, 
visiting and living in Salford Quays. It continues that the expansion of retailing 
will be managed to ensure that it does not have a significant adverse impact 
on the vitality and viability of other designated centres. When combined with 
the application of the sequential approach to the location of town centre uses, 
it is agreed that this will help to avoid any potential adverse impacts on land in 
Trafford as a result of the town centre designation of Salford Quays. 
 

7.12 If the designation of Salford Quays town centre leads to applications for town 
centre uses in Trafford on the assumption that this will be considered an ‘edge 
of centre’ location, then Salford City Council will support Trafford Council’s 
interpretation that the designation of Salford Quays as a town centre does not 
lead to any additional land in Trafford being considered edge of centre. 
 

7.13 Salford and Trafford councils will continue to work together to coordinate 
infrastructure and environmental improvements across the Quays. 

Page 1978



17 
 

 
Outstanding issues 
7.14 There are no outstanding issues with regard to this strategic matter. 
 
Signatories 
7.15 The signatories to this section are: 
 

Signatory Date 

Bolton Council  

Bury Council  

Manchester City Council  

Oldham Council  

Rochdale Council  

Salford City Council  

Stockport Council  

Tameside Council  

Trafford Council  

Wigan Council  

  

Page 1979



18 
 

8. Green infrastructure 
 

A. Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area and 
Chat Moss  

 
Issue 
8.1 The Great Manchester Wetlands Nature Improvement Area (NIA) covers 

around 11,000 hectares extending across parts of Salford, Wigan and 
Warrington. It is currently the only NIA within Greater Manchester. 
 

8.2 The vision for the Great Manchester Wetlands NIA is for it to become an 
exemplar of biodiversity restoration, enhancement and the delivery of 
landscape-scale ecological networks. The Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework identifies the Great Manchester Wetlands NIA as a strategically 
important area of green infrastructure. It is important that actions within 
Salford support the achievement of the vision for the Great Manchester 
Wetlands NIA, and its role within the wider strategic green infrastructure 
network. 

 
Areas of agreement 
8.3 The Salford Local Plan requires development to support the achievement of 

the objectives of the Great Manchester Wetlands NIA. It identifies Chat Moss 
as a key component of Greater Manchester’s strategic green infrastructure 
network. It seeks to deliver nature conservation improvements across the 
area, particularly within the Biodiversity Heartland (which adjoins both Wigan 
and Warrington) where lowland raised bog restoration is identifies as a 
priority. It also seeks the provision of ecological connections to surrounding 
areas. These measures will make an appropriate contribution to delivering the 
vision of the Great Manchester Wetlands NIA, complementing actions in 
Warrington and Wigan. 
 

8.4 The diagram below, taken from the Revised Draft Local Plan, identifies the 
key biodiversity assets within the city including the Great Manchester 
Wetlands NIA, Chat Moss and the Biodiversity Heartland. 

 

Page 1980



19 
 

 
 
Outstanding issues 
8.5 There are no outstanding issues with regard to this strategic matter. 
 
Signatories 
8.6 The signatories to this section are: 
 

Signatory Date agreed 

Environment Agency  

Natural England   

Greater Manchester Local Nature 
Partnership 

 

Salford City Council  

Warrington Borough Council  

Wigan Council  

 
 
 
 
  

Page 1981



20 
 

 

B. Irwell Valley  
 
Issue 
 
8.7 The Irwell Valley is a key component of Greater Manchester’s green 

infrastructure network, extending across Salford, Bury and Bolton. It provides 
multiple environmental, social and economic benefits and makes a major 
contribution to local identity and sense of place within these areas. Some of 
the valley is designated as Green Belt.  
 

8.8 The GMSF recognises that river valleys and canals form an important part of 
Greater Manchester’s landscape, connecting urban areas with open 
countryside and providing opportunities for recreation and the movement of 
wildlife. Key priorities for the Irwell Valley include the management of flood 
risk and improvements to water quality.   
 
Areas of agreement  
 

8.9 The Salford Local Plan seeks to enhance the Irwell Valley as a key landscape 
and wildlife corridor, with a strong emphasis on retaining the open character 
of the valley and securing a range of new and improved recreation facilities 
including the Irwell River Park, City Forest Park and walking and cycling 
routes. The local plan policy also explains that a comprehensive and 
coordinated approach to flood risk will be taken, acknowledging that actions 
will be required both in Salford and upstream. Improvements to water quality 
and the associated waterside environments will also be important in working 
towards meeting the River Basin Management Plan objectives, and this is 
reflected in the policy.  
 

8.10 The three councils will continue to work together to address the challenges 
and deliver improvements within the river valley.   
 

Page 1982



21 
 

 
 
Outstanding issues 
8.11 There are no outstanding issues with regard to this strategic matter. 
 
Signatories 
8.12 The signatories to this section are: 

 

Signatory Date agreed 

Environment Agency  

Bolton Council   

Bury Council  

Salford City Council  

 

Page 1983



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

Salford Revised Daft Local Plan 
 
Assessment of residential 
viability 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
January 2019  

Page 1985



 

 

  

 
 

Page 1986



 

 

  

Contents  
 

 

  Page  

 
1. Introduction 

 
2 

2. Viability assessment policy and guidance  
 

4 

3. Approach to viability testing 7 
   
4. Viability assessment assumptions 9 
   
5. Baseline appraisal results 24 
   
6. Impact of policy requirements and non-affordable housing 

planning obligation requirements on viability 
26 

   
7. Impact of affordable housing requirements on viability 34 
   
8. Potential affordable housing requirements based on viability 

and conclusions 
40 

   
   
   

Annexes 
  
 
A. Assumed dwelling mix 

 
B. Dwelling floorspace calculations 

 
C.  Total floorspace by scheme typology 

 
D.  Sales value per square metre 

 
E. Literature review of cost of providing electric vehicle charging 

 
F. Cost of policy requirements and planning obligations 

(excluding affordable housing) 
  
G. Appraisals G1 to G16 – impact of policy requirements and 

non-affordable housing planning obligations  
  
H. Appraisals H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H14 and 

H16 – cumulative impact of policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing 

 

Page 1987



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

1 
 

  

Page 1988



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This strategic assessment of the viability of residential development 

within Salford (referred to as the assessment hereafter) has been 
undertaken in order to inform the policy approach within Salford’s 
Revised Daft Local Plan, particularly policy H7 (affordable housing).  
 

1.2 Although this assessment is part of the evidence base for the Revised 
Daft Local Plan it should be seen as the starting point rather than the 
only determinant of affordable housing requirements / policy. The   
assessment is strategic, and does not seek to test the viability of 
specific sites or changes in viability that occur over time. Affordable 
housing requirements will need to reflect the spatial vision for the City, 
including creating a fairer Salford, and also evidence of affordable 
housing need.  
 

1.3 In producing this assessment, regard has been had to the relevant 
parts of the 2018 national planning policy framework (NPPF)1 and the 
associated online national planning practice guidance (PPG). The 
viability assessments have been run using the Homes and 
Communities Agency development appraisal tool. 
 

1.4 This assessment builds on an earlier assessment of residential viability 
that was produced in November 2016 in support of the city council’s 
Draft Local Plan, and takes into account comments received to it.  
 

Viability of build to rent developments 
 

1.5 This assessment has examined the viability of build for sale residential 
developments. With regards to the build to rent sector, the national 
viability planning practice guidance, which is titled “How does viability 
assessment apply to the build to rent sector?”2, states that: 
 
“The economics of build to rent scheme differ from build for sale as 
they depend on a long-term income stream. For build to rent it is 
expected that the normal form of affordable housing provision will be 
affordable private rent. Where plan makers wish to set affordable 
private rent proportions or discount levels at a level differing from 
national planning policy and guidance, this can be justified through a 
viability assessment at the plan making stage. Developers will be 
expected to comply with build to rent policy requirements.” 
 

1.6 The planning practice guidance on build to rent3 explains that 20% is 
generally a suitable benchmark for the level of affordable private rent 
homes to be provided with national policy also requiring a minimum 
rent discount of 20% for affordable private rent homes. This national 

                                                 
1 “National planning policy framework” – Department for Communities and Local Government 
(July 2018). 
2 Para 019. Reference ID: 10-019-20180724 
3 Para 002. Reference ID: 60-002-20180913 

Page 1989

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

3 
 

approach is reflected in the Revised Daft Local Plan policy on build to 
rent (policy H8). Given this, and the advice in paragraph 19 of the build 
to rent planning practice guidance, it is not considered necessary for 
this assessment to consider the viability of build to rent schemes any 
further.    
 

 

  

Page 1990



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

4 
 

2. Viability assessment policy and guidance 
 
National policy context 
 
2018 National Planning Policy Framework 
 
2.1 Paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

advises that: 
 

“Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected 
from development, planning applications that comply with them should 
be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate 
whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 
assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a 
viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard 
to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the 
viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site 
circumstances since the plan was brought into force. All viability 
assessments, including any undertaken at the plan-making stage, 
should reflect the recommended approach in national planning 
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly 
available”.  

 
Planning Practice Guidance 
 
2.2 Updated planning practice guidance (PPG) on viability was published 

on 24 July 2018 and provides details about how the NPPF should be 
applied. Key points from the guidance relating to plan making are set 
out below: 

 
1) Policy requirements should be informed by a proportionate 

assessment of viability that takes into account all relevant policies, 
and local and national standards, including the cost implications of 
section 1064 

2) The role for viability assessment is primarily at the plan making 
stage with the total cost of all relevant policies not undermining 
deliverability of the plan5 

3) Plan makers can use site typologies to determine viability at the 
plan making stage. In some circumstances more detailed 
assessment may be necessary for particular areas or key sites on 
which the delivery of the plan relies6 

4) Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected 
from development, planning applications that comply with them 
should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to 
demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a 
viability assessment at the application stage7 

                                                 
4 Para 001. Reference ID: 10-001-20180724 
5 Para 002. Reference ID: 10-002-20180724 
6 Para 006. Reference ID: 10-006-20180724 
7 Para 007. Reference ID: 10-007-20180724 

Page 1991



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

5 
 

5) Assessment of costs should be based on evidence which is 
reflective of local market conditions. Abnormal costs, site specific 
costs, policy requirements (including affordable housing), and 
professional fees should be taken into account when defining 
benchmark land value8 

6) Benchmark land value should be on the basis of the existing use 
value of the land (EUV), plus a premium for the landowner. This 
approach is often known as EUV+, with the premium providing a 
reasonable incentive for the land owner to sell land for development 
while allowing a sufficient contribution to comply with policy 
requirements9.   

7) EUV is not the price paid and should disregard hope value10 
8) An assumption of 15-20% of gross development value may be 

considered a suitable return to developers in order to establish the 
viability of plan policies. A lower figure may be appropriate in 
consideration of the delivery of affordable housing11 

9) For build to rent it is expected that the normal form of affordable 
housing provision will be affordable private rent. Where plan makers 
wish to set affordable private rent proportions or discount levels at a 
level differing from national planning policy and guidance, this can 
be justified through a viability assessment at the plan making 
stage12 

 
2.3 Full regard has been had to the NPPF and associated planning 

practice guidance in the production of this assessment.  
 
Other guidance on viability testing 
 
2.4 In response to the 2012 NPPF, the Local Housing Delivery Group, a 

cross industry group of residential property stakeholders including the 
House Builders Federation, Homes and Communities Agency and 
Local Government Association, published guidance entitled ‘Viability 
Testing Local Plans’ in June 2012. The guidance states as an 
underlying principle, that: 

 
“An individual development can be said to be viable if, after taking 
account of all costs, including central and local government policy and 
regulatory costs and the cost and availability of development finance, 
the scheme provides a competitive return to the developer to ensure 
that development takes place and generates a land value sufficient to 
persuade the land owner to sell the land for the development proposed. 
If these conditions are not met, a scheme will not be delivered.” 
 

                                                 
 
8 Para 012. Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 
9 Para 013. Reference ID: 10-013-20180724 
10 Para 015. Reference ID: 10-015-20180724 
11 Para 018. Reference ID: 10-018-20180724 
12 Para 019. Reference ID: 10-019-20180724 

Page 1992



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

6 
 

2.5 The guidance is not prescriptive about the use of particular financial 
assessment models but advises that a residual appraisal approach 
which tests the ability of development to yield a margin beyond all the 
test factors to determine viability or otherwise is widely used and 
accepted. The guidance sets out the key elements of viability appraisal 
and the factors that need to be considered to ensure robust 
assessment. 

 
2.6 In August 2012 the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 

published a guidance note entitled “Financial Viability in Planning’. The 
guidance defines financial viability for planning purposes as follows: 

 
 “An objective financial viability test of the ability of a development 

project to meet its costs including the cost of planning obligations, while 
ensuring an appropriate Site Value for the landowner and a market risk 
adjusted return to the developer in delivering that project. (Where 
viability is being used to test and inform planning policy it will be 
necessary to substitute ‘a development project’ into the wider context)” 

 
2.7 The guidance highlights the residual appraisal methodology should be 

used where either the level of return or residual site value can be 
compared to a benchmark to assess the impact of planning obligations 
or policy. Site value is defined as market value having regard to 
development plan policies and all other material considerations; it does 
however go on to state that the site value may need to be further 
adjusted to ensure delivery would not be prejudiced.  
 

2.8 The guidance note encourages practitioners to be reasonable, 
transparent and fair in objectively undertaking or reviewing financial 
viability assessments. Where possible, practitioners should seek to 
resolve differences of opinion. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 1993



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

7 
 

3. Approach to viability testing 
 
3.1 Residential viability appraisals include a wide range of assumptions 

about particular schemes / sites, including the capital value of a 
development (primarily the value realised by selling new dwellings), the 
cost of developing a site (such as buying the land, and build costs), the 
profit a developer expects from a particular site, and finance costs.  

 
3.2 Viability assessments can vary significantly with only minor changes in 

assumptions, and therefore they can only ever provide a relatively 
broad estimate of the potential of a scheme to support developer 
contributions via planning obligations. It is important that they are seen 
in this context as a broad assessment of viability rather than as precise 
forecasts.  
 

3.3 Having regard to the above and given the advice in planning practice 
guidance13, it was not considered appropriate to individually test every 
site or seek assurance that individual sites are viable. For the purposes 
of this assessment site typologies have been used based on a range of 
different development characteristics that reflect the nature of sites 
coming forward in Salford (in terms of dwelling mix, different residential 
sales values in the city etc.). 
 

3.4 Such appraisals are not intended to be detailed site appraisals for use 
in relation to particular schemes, and as such do not reflect site-specific 
issues which may arise in relation to particular sites (such as for 
instance abnormal costs). However, the typology approach allows the 
city council appraisals to make informed judgements and estimates 
with regard to different variables, and are considered to be an 
appropriate basis for assessing general levels of viability across the 
city.  

 
3.5 The city council utilised Version 4.05 of the HCA development 

appraisal tool (DAT) model to run the viability appraisals. The DAT is a 
standard valuation model that runs in Microsoft Excel and is freely 
available to download via the gov.uk website14. Full details of the 
operation of the model are set out in the user manual which is also 
available from the gov.uk website.  

 
3.6 The viability assessments undertaken by the city council used a form of 

the residual value technique, although land values were inputted into 
the appraisals so that the output is actually the residual surplus/deficit. 
The reason this approach was used is that it enabled the appraisals to 
identify any residual surplus, after costs including developer profit have 
been deducted, which would be available to be directed towards policy 
requirements and planning obligations (including affordable housing).   

                                                 
13 Para 003. Reference ID: 10-003-20180724 
14 Homes and Communities Agency development appraisal tool: version 4.05 (November 
2017)  

Page 1994

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/development-appraisal-tool


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

8 
 

 
3.7 The approach taken by the city council, and the different variables that 

make up the appraisals, can be summarised as follows: 
 
Table 1 – Approach to calculating scheme surplus/deficit 

A 
A1 
A2 
A3 

Gross development value  
Residential sales values 
Ground rent per unit per annum  
Ground rent yield  

B 
B1 
B2 
B3 
B4 

Land acquisition costs 
Benchmark land value 
Agent fees 
Legal fees 
Stamp duty land tax 

C 
C1 
C2 
C3 
C4 
C5 

Development costs 
Build costs 
Abnormals 
Marketing, sales and legal fees 
Professional fees (building design fees) 
Building contingencies 

D 
D1 

Finance costs 
Interest rates 

E 
E1 

Developer overhead and return for risk 
Developer ‘profit’ 

Overall surplus/deficit available for planning obligations and 
other policy requirements = A – (B+C+D+E) 

  

Page 1995



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

9 
 

4. Viability assessment assumptions  
 
4.1 Data on the different variables that form part of the appraisals set out 

below was collated having regard to a number of factors, including: 
 

 Discussions with Urban Vision Property Services 

 Development appraisals submitted within Salford in support of 
planning applications 

 A review of other area-wide viability assessments prepared as part 
of the evidence base for other Local Plans and Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedules 

 The HCA development appraisal tool and associated user manual 
(November 2014) 

 Publicly available data (such as stamp duty rates and land value 
estimates for policy appraisals) 

 Local Housing Delivery Group – viability testing Local Plans: advice 
for planning practitioners (June 2012), and other guidance 

 Evidence submitted by those making representations on the 
assessment of residential viability that was part of the evidence 
base for the Draft Local Plan of November 2016 

 The city council’s Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment and annual residential development monitoring 

 
4.2 The following section sets out the different assumptions the city council 

used to input to the appraisals.   
 
Mix of dwellings (type and number of bedrooms) 
 
4.3 In order to test a broad range of residential scheme types that come 

forward for development in Salford, three different scheme typologies 
were defined. These were as follows: 

 
1) Family houses on a 2 hectare site comprising of between 70 to 100 

houses at a density ranging from 35 dwellings per hectare to 50 
dwellings per hectare. The density of 35 dwellings reflects the 
requirement in Revised Daft Local Plan policy H6 for all 
developments to be built at a minimum residential density of 35 
dwellings per hectare.  
 
The density differs by value area15 given that in practice the 
type/number of bedrooms of houses will vary between the different 
value areas. For example, in the higher value areas development 
will be at a lower density than that seen in lower value areas (given 
that a greater proportion of larger sized properties will be built in the 
higher value areas and vice versa). Further details are shown in the 
table below: 

 
 

                                                 
15 See paragraphs 4.16 to 4.22 below for further details of the value areas. 

Page 1996



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

10 
 

 
Table 2- Density and number of dwellings for family houses scheme by value 
area  

Scheme type Value area(s) Site size Number of dwellings 

Family houses at 35 
dwellings per 
hectare 

Premium and 
high 

2ha 70 houses 

Family houses at 
37.5 dwellings per 
hectare 

Mid/high 2ha 75 houses 

Family houses at 40 
dwellings per 
hectare 

Mid 2ha 80 houses 

Family houses at 50 
dwellings per 
hectare 

Low/mid and low 2ha 100 houses 

 
2) Mid density apartments at 125 dwellings per hectare, comprising 

125 apartments on a 1 hectare site 
 

3) High density apartments at 300 dwellings per hectare, comprising 
150 apartments on a 0.5 hectare site 

 
4.4 For each of the typologies, Annex A sets out the assumed mix in terms 

of number of bedrooms and the type of dwellings. These are derived 
from the broad range of schemes that are likely to come forward for 
development within the city having regard to: 
 

 A review of recent developments that have been built in the city or 
are under construction  

 Sites with extant planning permission for housing where 
development has not started 

 The type and density of schemes identified in the city council’s 
housing and economic land availability assessment as being 
developable for new housing in the future.  
 

4.5 Note that the precise mix on actual sites will of course vary on a 
specific site by site basis. 

 
Size of dwellings 
 
4.6 Having established the mix of dwellings for the each of the typologies, it 

was necessary to estimate the total floorspace in each, given that the 
appraisals need to include an allowance for build costs and sales costs 
on a per square metre basis. 

 
4.7 In order to calculate the floorspace in each scheme typology, the 

starting point was to make an assumption about the floorspace of each 
of the dwelling types. For the purposes of the appraisals, the following 

Page 1997



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

11 
 

dwelling floorspaces (gross internal area in square metres) were 
assumed.  

 
Table 3 – Dwelling floorspace by number of bedrooms and property type 

 Terraced Apartment Semi-
detached 
(2 storey) 

Townhouse  
(3 storey) 

Detached 
(2 storey) 

1 bed n/a 50sqm n/a n/a n/a 

2 bed 74.5sqm 65sqm n/a n/a n/a 

3 bed  n/a 86sqm 93sqm 99sqm 107sqm 

4 bed n/a n/a 106sqm n/a 120sqm 

5 bed n/a n/a n/a n/a 133sqm 

 
4.8 The assumptions in the table above were developed having regard to 

the nationally described space standards, which were published in 
March 201516 which set out the minimum gross internal floor areas and 
storage (sqm) by number of bedrooms, bedspaces (persons) and the 
height of the dwelling (storeys). The city council has included the 
requirement for national space standards in policy H5 of the Revised 
Daft Local Plan and so it is considered necessary for the standards to 
be included within this assessment.  

 
4.9 The table above is inclusive of an additional allowance of 14sqm for all 

detached dwellings in the family houses scheme typology, to allow for a 
single garage. Assuming all detached dwellings have a single garage 
results in the following proportion of garages by scheme type: 
 

Table 4 – Number of garages in the family houses scheme by value area  

Scheme type Value 
area(s) 

Number 
of houses 

Number of 
garages 

% of houses with 
a garage 

Family houses at 
35 dwellings per 
hectare 

Premium 
and high 

70  46 66% 

Family houses at 
37.5 dwellings 
per hectare 

Mid/high 75  44 59% 

Family houses at 
40 dwellings per 
hectare 

Mid 80  43 41% 

Family houses at 
50 dwellings per 
hectare 

Low/mid 
and low 

100 0 0% 

 
4.10 Although it is recognised that in practice not all detached dwellings will 

have garages, and that some semi-detached dwellings will have 
garages etc., for the purposes of this area-wide assessment it is 
considered to be an appropriate assumption The council’s assumptions 

                                                 
16 “Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard” – Department for 
Communities and Local Government (March 2015, as amended on 19 May 2016)  

Page 1998

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housing-standards-nationally-described-space-standard


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

12 
 

do not over-estimate the number of garages in new developments 
particularly when this is benchmarked against developments recently 
completed or currently under construction in the city.  
 

4.11 Full details of how the floorspaces in Table 3 have been derived are set 
out in Annex B.  

 
Net to gross adjustment 

 
4.12 Note that the net sales areas adopted for the apartment typologies set 

out above do not reflect circulation space and other common areas (i.e. 
access corridors, lifts and stairwells). To ensure that these additional 
areas are factored into the build cost a net to gross adjustment needs 
to be made. In other words, the total net sales area for all of the 
apartments in each site was identified (the net sales area of each flat 
multiplied by the number of flats), and then an uplift applied.  
 

4.13 The gross to net uplift for the mid density apartment typology was taken 
as being 15%, with a higher figure of 17.5% being applied to the high 
density apartment typology. It is recognised that in the market place, 
there will obviously be some variation in the specification of the final 
dwellings but the above is considered to be a reasonable assumption 
having regard to: 
 

 The HCA development appraisal tool states that an allowance of 
15% for common areas may be a typical figure 

 Viability assessments submitted within Salford as part of planning 
applications  

 A review of other area-wide viability assessment for areas outside 
of Salford that have been published in support of Local Plans and 
CIL charging schedules.  

 
4.14 For houses, there are no common areas and therefore a net to gross 

ratio of 100% was assumed (i.e. net and gross are the same). This 
approach is recognised as industry standard. 
 

4.15 Having regard to all of the above, the total gross floorspace for each 
typology is calculated in Annex C.  
 
 

A. Gross Development Value 
 
A1. Residential sales values 

 
4.16 The Development Appraisal Tool requires that residential sales value 

data per square metre is inputted. Given this, openly available data 
from the land registry was obtained for the actual sales value of 
individual properties across the city (rather than the asking price as had 
been used in previous work published by the council). This was then 

Page 1999

http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/ppd/search


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

13 
 

cross referenced with floorspace data for those properties from open 
data contained within Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs).  
 

4.17 The floorspace data from the EPCs does not include garages and so 
therefore an additional floorspace of 14 square metres was added to 
the EPC floorspace data for all detached dwellings (with the dwelling 
type being available from the land registry). This assumption is in line 
with an additional allowance of 14 square metres being added to the 
floorspace of detached dwellings in the family houses typology to allow 
for garages, and is considered appropriate for this plan making stage 
viability assessment.   

 
4.18 33 areas were identified across the city. Land registry price paid data 

was identified for properties that were mainly sold between the start of 
2017 and the end of March 2018, largely focused on new build 
residential developments or modern housing developments (completed 
within the past 10-15 years). For areas of the city where there were a 
limited number of new build developments or modern housing 
developments, older dwellings were identified. Where there was a lack 
of sales in 2017 / early 2018, older sales have been used instead.  
 

4.19 A minimum of 10 residential properties were identified per area, with a 
total of 725 residential across all of the areas and this is considered to 
be a satisfactory sample for the purposes of this area wide viability 
assessment. The schedule of all properties reviewed and a summary of 
the data by sales value area is set out at annex D. 

 
4.20 This detailed analysis identified a significant range of asking price 

values across the city. Clear patterns were identified with particular 
spatial areas having broadly similar typical values. Taking account of 
this, six broad residential value areas have been identified. These are 
considered to give a good overall indication of residential values across 
the city, although inevitably there will be some degree of variance and 
outliers within each. 
 

4.21 The table below sets out the six defined residential value areas and the 
range of values within them.  

 
Table 5 – Residential value areas 

Value area Typical values per sqm 

Premium £3,400 

High £2,800 

Mid/high £2,500 

Mid £2,200 

Low/mid £2,000 

Low £1,800 

 
Land in the Green Belt 

 

Page 2000

https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

14 
 

4.22 The revised draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocates 
three sites that are currently within Salford’s Green Belt for new 
housing. There is no comparable sales values data available for these 
sites and so therefore a judgement needed to be made as to what 
value area they are likely to correspond to, for the purposes of this 
assessment. Having regard to this, the Green Belt allocations are 
considered to fall under the sales value area set out below: 

 

 East of Boothstown – Premium value area: the dwellings that will 
come forward on this site will be to an exceptional quality, targeting 
the top end of the housing market with the intention of attracting 
highly skilled professionals. On this basis the sales value of 
dwellings on the site are going to be reflective of the premium 
values.  

 Hazelhurst Farm– High Value area: the sales values for this site is 
likely to be the same as the areas that they are adjacent to.  

 North of Irlam Train Station – Mid/High value area given that the site 
is likely to create its own market and will have higher sales values 
than the areas that it adjoins. 

 
4.23 Other land within the green belt (as proposed as a result of 

amendments to the boundary through the revised draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework) are not covered by the value areas. 
This is due to any such development being by definition inappropriate.  
 

4.24 The plan below identifies the boundaries of the value areas. 
 

 
 
 

Page 2001



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

15 
 

P
age 2002



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  16 

A2. Average ground rent per unit per annum (£) 
4.25 This was assumed as follows, on the basis of a review of recent housing 

development within the city and viability evidence submitted to the city 
council: 

 

 Houses: No ground rent assumed given that the government has said that 
it will legislate to prevent the sale of new build leasehold houses except 
where necessary such as shared ownership. 

 Mid density apartments: £150 per dwelling 

 High density apartments £300 per dwelling 
 
A3. Ground rent yield (%) 
4.26 This was assumed to be 5% for all residential appraisals, recognising that 

ground rent income is a secure investment. 
 
 
B. Land acquisition costs 
 
B1.  Benchmark land value 

 
4.27 As noted above, planning practice guidance on viability was published by the 

government to accompany the revised NPPF on 24 July 2018. This states that 
to define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value 
should be calculated on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, 
plus a premium for the landowner. The premium should provide a reasonable 
incentive, in comparison with other options available, for the landowner to sell 
land for development while allowing a sufficient contribution to comply with 
policy requirements. This approach is often called ‘existing use value plus’ 
(EUV+)17. 
 

4.28 The guidance goes on to state that in all cases benchmark land value should: 
 

 Be based upon existing use value 

 Allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those 
building their own homes) 

 Reflect the implications of abnormal costs; site-specific infrastructure 
costs; and professional site fees and 

 Be informed by market evidence including current uses, costs and values 
wherever possible. Where recent market evidence is used to inform 
assessment of benchmark land value this evidence should be based on 
developments which are compliant with policies, including for affordable 
housing. Where this evidence is not available plan makers and applicants 
should identify and evidence any adjustments to reflect the cost of policy 
compliance. This is so that historic benchmark land values of non-policy 
compliant developments are not used to inflate values over time. 

 
4.29 The guidance further states that when undertaking any viability assessment 

EUV can be established by assessing the value of the specific site or type of 

                                                 
17Para 013. Reference ID: 10-013-20180724 

Page 2003



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  17 

site using published sources of information such as agricultural or industrial 
land values. Source of data include valuation office agency and public sector 
estate/property teams’ locally held evidence18.  
 

4.30 An appropriate level of premium above the EUV is not set out in the guidance 
although the premium should provide a reasonable incentive for a land owner 
to bring forward land for development. Plan makers should establish a 
reasonable premium to the landowner for the purpose of assessing the 
viability of their plan.19 
 

4.31 It is clear from the guidance that the existing land use value benchmarks used 
to test plan policies can be less than the value at which land is being traded in 
the market. This point was highlighted in the London Mayoral CIL examiner’s 
report which, although relating directly to CIL, sets out important principles in 
the treatment of benchmark land values20  
 
“Finally the price paid for development land may be reduced. As with profit 
levels there may be cries that this is unrealistic, but a reduction in 
development land value is an inherent part of the CIL concept. It may be 
argued that such a reduction may be all very well in the medium to long term 
but it is impossible in the short term because of the price already paid/agreed 
for development land. The difficulty with that argument is that if accepted the 
prospect of raising funds for infrastructure would be forever receding into the 
future. In any event in some instances it may be possible for contracts and 
options to be re-negotiated in the light of the changed circumstances arising 
from the imposition of CIL charges”. 
 

4.32 Recent RICS research also highlights the drawback in using market evidence 
to set land value benchmarks: “If market value is based on comparable 
evidence without proper adjustment to reflect policy compliant planning 
obligations, this introduces a circularity, which encourages developers to 
overpay for sites and try to recover some or all of this overpayment via 
reductions in planning obligations”.21 
 

4.33 In May 2018 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) published land value estimates for policy appraisal as of 1 April 
2017, along with guidance for their use. With regards to residential land 
values, a figure of £1,345,000 per hectare is set out for Salford. The guidance 
explains that the figure assumes nil affordable housing and so therefore the 
figures may be significantly higher than would reasonably be obtained in the 
actual market. The figure is for a ‘typical’ site with planning permission where 
“….no major allowances need to be made for other s106/s278 costs. The site 
is regular shape, with services provided up to the boundary, without 
contamination or abnormal development costs, not in an underground mining 
area, with road frontage, without risk of flooding, with planning permission 
granted and that no grant funding is available.  

                                                 
18 Para 015. Reference ID: 10-015-20180724 
19 Para 016. Reference ID: 10-015-20180724 
20 Report to The Mayor of London, by Keith Holland January 2012 
21 RICS, 2015, Financial Viability Appraisal in Planning Decisions: Theory and Practice 

Page 2004



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  18 

 
4.34 MHCLG also published industrial land values for policy appraisal in May 2018. 

No specific figure is set out for Salford, although for Greater Manchester 
figures of £650,000 and £550,000 are given for Manchester and Bolton 
respectively as of 1 April 2017. The guidance for these values notes that 
these figures can be used a proxy for developments on brownfield land. It is 
assumed that they are for a brownfield site in an urban location, services to 
the edge of the site, use restricted to industrial/warehouse with full planning 
consent in place, and no abnormal, contamination and/or remediation issues. 
 

4.35 Having regard to all of the above, the city council has been advised by Urban 
Vision Property Services on appropriate benchmark land values for the 
purposes of this assessment. These land values are based on the EUV+ 
approach with the existing use being industrial / employment land that is 
within an urban location and is brownfield land. The land values differ by the 
residential value areas used in this assessment recognising that there are 
differences in what the current use of a site is worth depending on location.   
 

4.36 Although not all land that will come forward for residential development will be 
on employment land it is considered reasonable to apply the employment 
values to all of the typologies in this assessment. Whilst other land uses may 
have a different EUV and could command a higher/lower value, for the 
purposes of the high level assessment it is deemed proportionate to apply this 
figure.  
 

4.37 With regards to an appropriate premium that would provide an appropriate 
premium for the landowner to sell the land, Urban Vision have advised that 
this should be 20% above the existing use value for the family houses and 
mid density apartment typologies. A premium of 20% is commonly used on 
viability modelling across the country (particularly for viability work that has 
been tested at Examination for CIL).  For the high density apartment typology, 
Urban Vision have advised that the premium should be 30% reflecting the 
higher premiums required to incentivise landowners to sell their land given 
such sites will achieve a higher density of development. 

 
4.38 The existing use values per hectare and also the premium required to 

incentivise a landowner to sell their land that have been used in this 
assessment are set out below.  

 
Table 6 - Land value by value area: Family houses and mid density apartment 
typologies 

Value area Existing use 
value (EUV) 
per hectare 

Premium to 
landowner (+) 

EUV + value 
per hectare 

Premium £595,000 20% £714,000 

High £595,000 20% £714,000 

Mid/high £495,000 20% £594,000 

Mid £495,000 20% £594,000 

Low/mid £430,000 20% £516,000 

Low £370,000 20% £444,000 

Page 2005



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  19 

 
Table 7 - Land value by value area: High density apartment typology 

Value area Existing use 
value (EUV) 
per hectare 

Premium to 
landowner (+) 

EUV + value 
per hectare 

Premium £595,000 30% £773,500 

High £595,000 30% £773,500 

Mid/high £495,000 30% £643,500 

Mid £495,000 30% £643,500 

 
B2, B3 and B4: Fees associated with land purchase 
 
4.39 The table below shows the fees associated with the acquisition of a site. 
 
Table 8 – Fees associated with land cost 

Cost type Assumption Commentary 

B2. Agents 
fees 

1% of site value Assumed at 1% across all residential 
appraisals, which is a commonly 
accepted figure, and consistent with the 
Local Housing Delivery Group advice22 

B3. Legal 
fees 

0.75% of site value Industry standard assumption 

B4. Stamp 
duty land tax 

 0% on the first 
£150,000 of the 
land value; 

 2% on the next 
£125,000 (the 
portion from 
£125,001 to 
£250,000); 

 5% on the 
remaining amount 
(the proportion 
above £250,000) 

 

As per HMRC rates for non-residential 
and mixed use land and property rates.  
 

 
 
C. Development costs 
 
4.40 For the purposes of this viability assessment, the planning practice guidance 

advises that costs should be based on evidence which is reflective of local 
market conditions. 

 
C1. Build costs  

 
4.41 The planning practice guidance on viability states that a cost of development 

is build costs and suggests that such costs should be based on appropriate 

                                                 
22 “Viability testing Local Plans: advice for planning practitioners” – Local Housing Delivery Group 
chaired by Sir John Harman (June 2012), p35. 

Page 2006



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  20 

data, for example that of the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS).23 
Consideration was given to using build costs per square metre of the gross 
internal floorspace as set out in the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) 
residential build cost data. However, Urban Vision Property Services have 
advised that the costs are not representative of the actual build costs that they 
are seeing on actual schemes within Salford, including those that have been 
verified by the district valuer. 
 

4.42 Urban Vision have advised that the following costs should be adopted for the 
purposes of this local plan viability assessment: 

 
Table 9 – Build costs by dwelling type 

Dwelling type  Build cost per square metre 

Houses £1,033 

Mid density apartments (3 to 5 storeys) £1,065 

High density apartments (6+ storeys) £1,615 

 
4.43 The above build costs for houses has been applied to all of the different 

house types, whilst different figures are given for different heights of 
apartments reflecting the increased build costs associated with the 
development of higher buildings. It is recognised that there are likely to be 
different build costs in the different value areas associated with the quality of 
internal fixtures and fittings within the different value areas. However, given 
this assessment is high level and that its purpose is to inform policy rather 
than being site specific, it was considered appropriate use the figures above 
across all of the value areas.  
 

4.44 Urban Vision have advised that the build costs identified above include 
infrastructure / externals (i.e. access roads, services and drainage, 
landscaping etc.). Services are assumed to be provided to the boundary of 
the site and so no allowance needs to be provided for this.  

 
C2. Abnormals such as decontamination and demolition 
 
4.45 Clearly some sites, particularly those of a brownfield nature, will have an 

element of abnormal costs. However this strategic area-wide nature of this 
viability assessment is not designed to test the viability of specific sites; it 
cannot seek to encompass all the potential differences in individual site 
circumstances / abnormals that affect viability. Given this, all appraisals made 
a nil allowance for abnormals, recognising that any site specific issues should 
result in a reduced existing use value, subject to the proper exercise of due 
diligence by the site purchaser. 

 
Other scheme costs 
 
4.46 There is a range of other development costs that apply to all the residential 

development case studies and which have been included in viability testing. 
These are set out in the table below. 

                                                 
23 Para 012. Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 

Page 2007



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  21 

 
Table 10 – other development costs 

Cost type Assumption Commentary 

C3. 
Marketing, 
sales and 
legal fees  

3% of market housing 
value 

Based on other schemes within Salford. 
The timing of this cost coincides with the 
period between the first and last open 
market sale. 
 

C4. 
Professional 
fees (building 
design fees) 

5% of build costs Figure has been agreed with volume 
housebuilders as being appropriate on 
schemes within Salford where a viability 
assessment has been submitted in 
support of a planning application. 
 

C5. Building 
contingencies 

3% of build costs Assumed having regard to other 
developments in Salford (and as agreed 
through planning application viability 
assessments) and the North West.  
 
Building contingencies for regional or 
national volume house builders usually 
remain relatively stable across different 
developments as they have in-house 
design teams who design standard 
house types which are used across 
multiple sites. Furthermore they will often 
use the same contractors who become 
familiar with the house types and which 
leads to greater efficiencies. 
 

D1. Interest 
rate 

Debit – 6.5% 
Credit – 0% 

Debit rate reflects recent viability 
appraisals submitted in support of 
planning applications for residential 
development within Salford. A nil rate 
was assumed for credit reinvestment, 
recognising that it is not standard 
practice to reflect this in strategic 
assessments of residential viability. 
 

E1. 
Developer 
profit 

18% of GDV The planning practice guidance on 
viability24 states that “For the purpose of 
plan making an assumption of 15-20% of 
gross development value (GDV) may be 
considered a suitable return to 
developers in order to establish the 
viability of plan policies. Plan makers 
may choose to apply alternative figures 
where there is evidence to support this 

                                                 
24 Paragraph 018. Reference ID: 10-018-20180724 

Page 2008



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  22 

Cost type Assumption Commentary 

according to the type, scale and risk 
profile of planned development”.  
 
Having regard to the planning practice 
guidance, and on the basis of recent 
viability evidence submitted to the city 
council, a developer profit of 18% of 
gross development value is considered 
to be an appropriate benchmark in 
current market conditions. A lower 
percentage developer profit will be 
appropriate for specific types of scheme 
(e.g. a Private Rented Sector scheme, or 
a scheme where units are to be sold to a 
Registered Provider).  
 
It is also recognised that a higher or 
lower percentage developer profit may 
be necessary depending on the risk of 
the schemes. It is however considered 
that 18% represents an appropriate 
benchmark in current market conditions 
and for the purposes of this area wide 
viability assessment. 
 

 
 
Scheme timings  
 
4.47 The HCA DAT takes into account cashflow through the course of a 

development. As such, timings for different elements of a development need 
to be inputted into the model. The city council’s assumptions in relation to this 
are set out below.  

 
Build period (construction start / end) 
4.48 Construction start was assumed as 3 months after the grant of planning 

consent. This construction start time was assumed as standard for all scheme 
typologies to ensure consistency across the appraisals. The build period was 
assumed to vary for each of the 3 scheme typologies, reflecting the different 
scheme sizes. A build rate of 40 units per annum was assumed for the family 
houses typology which is considered conservative given the rate schemes are 
being out at in the City. For both apartment scheme typologies it was 
assumed that the apartments would be built out at a rate of 100 units per 
annum. These build rates have been informed by the speed of delivery on 
recent residential development schemes within Salford and in some respects 
are also considered to be conservative assumptions. Taking this into account, 
the table below sets out the build period assumptions for each of the scheme 
typologies: 

 

Page 2009



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  23 

Table 11 – Build period by scheme typology 

Scheme typology Dwelling number Build period 

Family houses scheme 70 houses 21 months 

75 houses  23 months 

80 houses  24 months 

100 houses 30 months 

Mid density apartment scheme 125 apartments 15 months 

High density apartment scheme 150 apartments 18 months 

 
Other timings 
4.49 The DAT contains other timings that need to be populated. The city council’s 

assumptions in relation to each of these are set out in the table below.  
 
Table 12 – Other development timings 

Stage Timing 

Overall scheme end 
date 

 All typologies: 1 month after the last open market 
sale 
 

First market 
housing sale 

 Family houses typology: 4 months after the start of 
construction 

 Mid density and high density apartment typologies: 
90% of units are reserved off-plan with transactions 
completed on construction finish (remaining 10% 
sold following this). 
 

Last market housing 
sale 

 Family houses typology: 4 months after construction 
end 

 Mid density and high density apartment typologies: 
3 months after construction end 
 

Timing of ground 
rent payment 
(month) 

 Mid density and high density apartment typologies: 
the same as the overall scheme end date (i.e. one 
month after last open market sale) 
 

 
 
Overall surplus/deficit  
 
4.50 The potential surplus/deficit available from a development was calculated by 

deducting total development costs, land acquisition costs, finance costs and 
developer profit from the total gross development sales value. The next 
section of this assessment sets out the results of the viability appraisals. 

 

Page 2010



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  24 

5. Baseline appraisal results 
 
5.1 Having regard to the assumptions set out above, 16 baseline requirements 

were undertaken. Although these baseline appraisals take into account the 
dwelling floorspace requirements of policy H5 of the Revised Daft Local Plan, 
they do not take into account any other policy requirements of the revised 
draft plan or planning obligations / affordable housing. The different appraisals 
are summarised in the table below. 

 
Table 13 – Baseline appraisals undertaken 

Appraisal 
number  

Site size 
(ha) 

Scheme typology Sales value area 

1 0.5 High density apartments Premium 

2 1.0 Mid density apartments Premium 

3 2.0 Family houses Premium 

4 0.5 High density apartments High 

5 1.0 Mid density apartments High 

6 2.0 Family houses High 

7 0.5 High density apartments Mid/high 

8 1.0 Mid density apartments Mid/high 

9 2.0 Family houses Mid/high 

10 0.5 High density apartments Mid 

11 1.0 Mid density apartments Mid 

12 2.0 Family houses Mid 

13 1.0 Mid density apartments Low/mid 

14 2.0 Family houses Low/mid 

15 1.0 Mid density apartments Low  

16 2.0 Family houses Low 

 
5.2 The three scheme typologies were appraised within each of the six residential 

value areas, with the exception of the high density apartment scheme 
typology which was not assessed within the low/mid and low value areas 
recognising that this form of development is not anticipated to come forward 
within these locations.  

 
5.3 A summary of the outputs for each of the baseline appraisals is shown in the 

table below 

Page 2011



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  25 

Table 14 – Findings of baseline appraisals 

Appraisal 
Site 
size 
(ha) 

Sales 
value 
area 

Scheme type 
No. of 
units 

Total capital 
value of 
open market 
housing 

Total capital 
value of 
scheme (A) 

Total direct 
costs (B) 

Finance 
&acquisition 
costs (C) 

Developer 
profit (D) 

Surplus/deficit 
at completion 
= A – 
(B+C+D) 

Surplus / 
deficit per 
dwelling 

1 0.5 Premium High density 
apartments 

150 £30,730,900 £31,630,900 £20,030,959 £1,502,534 £5,531,562 £4,565,845 £30,439 

2 1 Premium Mid density 
apartments 

125 £25,620,700 £25,995,700 £10,965,482 £1,275,926 £4,611,726 £9,142,556 £73,140 

3 2 Premium Family houses 70 £26,798,800 £26,798,800 £9,597,438 £1,624,957 £4,823,784 £10,752,620 £153,609 

4 0.5 High High density 
apartments 

150 £25,307,800 £26,207,800 £19,868,266 £1,535,015 £4,555,404 £249,114 £1,661 

5 1 High Mid density 
apartments 

125 £21,099,400 £21,474,400 £10,829,843 £1,288,247 £3,797,892 £5,558,417 £4,467 

6 2 High Family houses 70 £22,069,600 £22,069,600 £9,455,562 £1,638,555 £3,972,528 £7,002,954 £100,042 

7 0.5 Mid/high High density 
apartments 

150 £22,596,250 £23,496,250 £19,786,920 £1,486,802 £4,067,325 -£1,844,797 -£12,826 

8 1 Mid/high Mid density 
apartments 

125 £18,838,750 £19,213,750 £10,762,024 £1,154,640 £3,390,975 £3,906,111 £31,249 

9 2 Mid/high Family houses 75 £19,802,500 £19,802,500 £9,431,059 £1,699,733 £3,564,450 £5,107,257 £68,097 

10 0.5 Mid High density 
apartments 

150 £18,224,355 £20,784,700 £19,705,573 £1,525,991 £3,579,246 -£4,026,110 -£26,841 

11 1 Mid Mid density 
apartments 

125 £16,578,100 £16,953,100 £10,694,204 £1,163,309 £2,984,058 £2,111,529 £16,892 

12 2 Mid Family houses 80 £18,000,400 £18,000,400 £9,668,178 £1,734,003 £3,240,072 £3,358,147 £41,977 

13 1 Low/mid Mid density 
apartments 

125 £15,071,000 £15,446,000 £10,648,991 £1,078,236 £2,712,780 £1,005,993 £8,048 

14 2 Low/mid Family houses 100 £17,565,000 £17,565,000 £10,325,058 £1,223,397 £3,161,700 £2,854,844 £28,548 

15 1 Low Mid density 
apartments 

125 £13,563,900 £13,938,900 £10,603,778 £1,004,580 £2,441,502 -£110,961 -£888 

16 2 Low Family houses 100 £15,808,500 £15,808,500 £10,272,363 £1,076,113 £2,845,530 £1,614,494 £16,144 

 

P
age 2012



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  26 

 

6. Impact of policy requirements and non-affordable housing 
planning obligation requirements on viability 

 
6.1 As noted above, the appraisals were run with land values and developer profit 

as an input, and therefore the output from the model is the surplus/deficit 
(after land costs and developer profit have been deducted) which would be 
available to support policy requirements, and planning obligations including 
affordable housing.  

 
6.2 The cost implication of the policy requirements and non-affordable housing 

planning obligations were then added into the baseline appraisals. These cost 
assumptions are set out below.  

 
Accessible and adaptable homes 

 
6.3 Policy D7 of the Revised Daft Local Plan requires that all new homes are built 

to the national accessible and adaptable dwelling standards under optional 
requirement M4(2) of the Building Regulations. A review of the cost of meeting 
the requirement was undertaken by EC Harris on behalf of DCLG;25 the report 
estimates the extra cost of providing accessible and adaptable dwellings over 
current industry practice26. The provenance of these figures has not been re-
examined which is beyond the scope of this assessment. There is no obvious 
reason to question their continued soundness and the council are not aware 
of any changes in practice that will have materially changed the cost basis of 
the figures (either higher or lower). The costs are summarised in the table 
below: 
 

Table 15 – Accessible and adaptable home costs per dwelling by type 

Dwelling type Costs 

1 bed apartment £940 

2 bed apartment £907 

2 bed terrace £523 

3 bed semi-detached £521 

4 bed detached £520 

 
6.4 The above costs were taken into account in calculating the overall costs of 

providing homes to the accessible and adaptable standards for each of the 
dwelling types that appear in the appraisals as follows: 
 

Table 16 – Accessible and adaptable homes costs assumed in viability assessments 
by dwelling type  

Dwelling type  Cost applied to each 
dwelling type / size 

1 bed apartment £940 

2 bed apartment £907 

                                                 
25 “Housing standards review: cost impacts” EC Harris (September 2014) 
26 Ibid. Table 45: Access costs summary 

Page 2013

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/353387/021c_Cost_Report_11th_Sept_2014_FINAL.pdf


 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  27 

3 bed apartment £907 

2 bed semi-detached house £523 

3 bed townhouse £523 

4 bed townhouse £523 

4 bed detached house £520 

5 bed detached house £520 

  
6.5 Applying the costs per dwelling identified above to the scheme typology 

dwelling mix shown in table 1 above, the following costs were factored into the 
city council’s assessments27: 
 

Table 17 – Accessible and adaptable homes costs for each scheme typology 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Total cost of complying with 
M4(2) accessible and 
adaptable standard 

Family houses  Premium and high £36,424 

Family houses Mid/high £39,039 

Family houses Mid £41,675 

Family houses Low/mid and low £52,253 

Mid density apartments  All areas £115,025 

High density apartments All areas £138,030 

 
Electric Vehicle Charging points 
 
6.6 Policy A11 of the Revised Daft Local Plan requires that: 
 

“Every new residential dwelling with a garage or driveway shall include a 
dedicated charge point specifically designed for charging all types of electric 
vehicle. Where a residential dwelling has more than one parking space within 
a garage or driveway, the charge point shall be located so that it can be 
accessed by a vehicle parked in any of the spaces.” 

 
6.7 Given this it is considered that a cost should be attributed to this policy 

requirement for all houses within the family houses typology within this 
assessment. A literature review of other area-wide viability assessments 
shows that the cost per house for a charging point ranges from £100 to 
£1,500. In one assessment no specific additional cost was made with this 
being captured within the external development allowances. Further details 
are set out at Annex E.  

 
6.8 Having regard to the information in Annex E an allowance of £500 per house 

was made for an electric vehicle charging point. Taking this into account the 
following costs were factored into the city council’s assessments.  
 

 Table 18 – Electric vehicle costs for each typology and value area 

                                                 
27 For the purposes of this assessment the EC Harris costs for a terrace dwelling were applied to the 
townhouse dwelling type, whilst the costs for a 2 bed apartment were also applied to the provision of 
3 bed apartments.  

Page 2014



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  28 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Total cost of providing electric 
vehicle charging points 

Family houses  Premium and high £35,000 

Family houses Mid/high £37,500 

Family houses Mid £40,000 

Family houses Low/mid and low £50,000 

Mid density apartments  All areas Not applicable 

High density apartments All areas Not applicable 

 
Sustainable energy in new developments 
 
6.9 Criterion A) of policy EG1 (and policy D7) of the Revised Daft Local Plan 

requires that new build residential schemes shall exceed the fabric energy 
efficiency required under Part L of the Building Regulations by at least 19%, 
and achieve a higher standard than is required under any subsequent revision 
to building regulations. 

 
6.10 The above requirement would apply to all dwellings, not just houses. 

Therefore it is considered necessary to factor in a cost for sustainable energy 
in all of the typologies considered within this assessment. With regards to this, 
the UK Green Build Council (UKGBC)28 states the following: 
 
“A 19% improvement beyond Part L 2013 can be achieved entirely through 
energy efficiency measures (enhanced insulation, glazing, airtightness and 
high efficiency heating and hot water heat recovery). Our discussions suggest 
that developers feel this approach might cost between £2-3k for a mid or end 
terraced home up to £5-6k for a detached house. However, for those building 
to the Part L 2013 notional specification it is possible to achieve a 19% 
improvement through the use of photovoltaics (PV) or other renewables. A 
terraced would need around 0.8 kWp of PV with a detached house needing 
perhaps 1.2 kWp (depending on floor area). The capital costs of adopting a 
renewables based strategy are likely to be c.£1,500-£2,000 per home.” 

 
6.11 With regards to these costs, the UKGBC goes on to state that: 
 
 “We do not believe this will impede housing delivery. A modest increase to 

build costs can be factored into the cost of land acquisition and/or minimised if 
not entirely eliminated over time through supply chain innovation and 
efficiencies. Developers already exceeding the baseline requirements 
recommended simply see this as the cost of doing business.” 

 
6.12 The UKGBC also notes that there are various studies that can be utilised in 

considering costs, although most are a few years old given that they relate to 
previous policy commitments by central government. They go on to also state 
that LAs can use existing resources produced by other LAs on viability.  
 

                                                 
28 UK Green Build Council (Version 1.1: July 2018) Delivering sustainability in new homes: a resource 
for local authorities  
 

Page 2015



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  29 

6.13 A review of the studies and resources highlighted by the UKGBC shows that 
Brighton and Hove Council made an allowance of £220 per dwelling29.  
Alternatively an extra over costs equivalent to 2% of build costs was assumed 
by Havant Borough Council30, whilst an extra over cost equivalent figure to of 
3.14% of build costs was applied by Guildford Borough Council31. 
 

6.14 Having regard to all of the above it is clear that estimated the costs of a 19% 
improvement beyond Part L of the 2013 building regulations for energy 
efficiency varies significantly. For the purposes of this assessment it has been 
assumed that the cost will be an extra over cost equivalent to 2% of build 
costs for all dwellings. This is lower than the UKGBC estimate for achieving 
the standard through fabric efficiency, although higher than the figure used by 
Brighton and Hove Council in support of their adopted local plan policy CP8. 
In setting an appropriate assumption, regard has also been had to the advice 
of the UKGBC with regards to the requirement for increased energy efficiency 
not impeding delivery as it can be factored into land acquisition costs and can 
be minimised / entirely eliminated over time due to supply chain innovation 
and efficiencies.    
 

6.15 Taking into account the 2% of build cost estimate for sustainable energy in 
new developments, the following costs were factored into the city council’s 
assessments. 
 

Table 19 – Sustainable energy costs for each scheme typology and value area 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Total cost of sustainable 
energy measures 

Family houses  Premium and high £162,842 

Family houses Mid/high £163,297 

Family houses Mid £168,482 

Family houses Low/mid and low £181,457 

Mid density apartments  All areas £188,497 

High density apartments All areas £353,879 

 
Allotments 
 

                                                 
29 Element Energy Limited and David Langdon (August-September 2013) Costs of building to the 
Code for Sustainable Homes. Prepared for Bath and North East Somerset Council, Brighton and 
Hove Council, Bristol City Council, Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council.  
 
30 DSP (November 2017) Havant Borough Council Local Plan and CIL viability study draft report. 
Appendix I states that the 2% figure is derived as follows: “The above costs are based on the DCLG 
Housing Standards Review Impact Assessment costings assuming equivalent CfSH L4 energy costs 
only base. Appraisals assume cost uplift in line with figures above assuming average cost uplift from 
each unit type (£1,932 per unit average, equating to the 2% assumed above).” 
 
31 Porter Planning Economics Ltd (November 2017) Guildford Local Plan viability update. Para 4.13 of 
this study notes that a report by Evora Edge on behalf of Guildford Borough Council identified that he 
average increase in build costs, to improve a Part L compliant building so that it complies with 
proposed Policy D2, is between 2.62% and 3.14%. For the revised testing, the upper (worst case) 
extra-over cost of 3.14% is applied. This cost relates to a 20% improvement over part L.  

Page 2016



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  30 

6.16 Criterion 5 of policy R2 of the Revised Daft Local Plan states that new 
residential developments shall contribute to the achievement of a minimum of 
5,000m² (or 0.50 hectares) of allotments per 1,000 households, with each new 
plot being 125sqm in size to enable as many residents as possible to take on 
an allotment. The policy also requires that the management and maintenance 
of the allotments shall be provided for a period of at least 20 years.  
 

6.17 The cost of creating each individual plots will vary depending on the specific 
site conditions, previous uses and its location. Typical costs tend to include 
significant clearance, excavation to a depth of 600mm, and the importation of 
new topsoil. In addition to these costs the new local standard expects the 
plots to include appropriate access (via footpath as a minimum), car parking 
(depending on the site / location) and access to water. 
 

6.18 Actual costs from a limited number of recent allotment schemes that have 
been delivered in Salford have been provided by the city council’s 
environment and regeneration sections for the purposes of this assessment. 
This shows a typical cost of £6,562 per 125sqm plot. Having regard to this 
and the requirement of Revised Daft Local Plan policy R4, would result in a 
cost of £262 per dwelling for allotments32. Taking this into account the 
following costs were factored into the city council’s assessments. 
 

Table 20 – Allotment costs for each scheme typology by value area 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Allotment costs 

Family houses  Premium and high £18,340 

Family houses Mid/high £19,650 

Family houses Mid £20,960 

Family houses Low/mid and low £26,200 

Mid density apartments  All areas £32,750 

High density apartments All areas £39,300 

 
Non affordable housing planning obligations 

6.19 The city council adopted its Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) on 18 June 201533. The SPD sets out that contributions to 
open space and education will be sought using set formulas. Current costs, 
and also an explanation as to how they have been derived, are set out in a 
document that was published by the city council in March 201834. The costs 
are set out below. 

 
Table 21 – Open space and education planning obligations 

 Open space contribution 
(policy OB2) 

Education contribution (policy OB3) 

Houses £1,555 per bed space A £1,132.45 per non principal bedroom B 

Apartments £1,123 per bed space A Nil 

                                                 
32 This is calculated by multiplying the cost per plot of £6,562 by 40 (number of plots required) and 
then dividing this by 1,000 (requirement per households). 
33 Salford City Council (June 2015) Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document 
34 Salford City Council (March 2018) Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document: 
background document on cost updates 

Page 2017



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  31 

 
A - A bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms within a dwelling plus one  
B - The number of non-principal bedrooms is the total number of bedrooms within a house, 
minus one. 

 
6.20 The SPD also sets out that the council will seek contributions towards 

transport and public realm on a site specific basis. It goes on to clarify that 
“site specific means that the council may require a contribution to mitigate the 
impact of the development, and the appropriate scale of any contribution will 
be negotiated having regard to site-specific circumstances. Having regard to 
the scale of contributions sought from applicants as part of the planning 
application process, the following costs have been assumed for the purposes 
of this assessment.  

 
Table 22 – Transport and public realm planning obligations 

 Transport Public realm 

Houses £200 per bed space No allowance sought as contribution will 
not be sought in all instances 

Apartments £200 per bedspace £550 per dwelling 

 
6.21 Taking the above into account the following costs were factored into the city 

council’s assessments for planning obligations.  
 
Table 23 - Total planning obligations costs for each scheme typology by value area 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Open 
space 

Education Transport Public 
realm 

Family houses  Premium and 
high 

£522,480 £221,960 £67,200 n/a 

Family houses Mid/high £519,370 £208,371 £66,800 n/a 

Family houses Mid £522,480 £199,311 £67,200 n/a 

Family houses Low/mid and 
low 

£583,125 £198,179 £75,000 n/a 

Mid density 
apartments  

All areas £371,713 n/a £66,200 £182,050 

High density 
apartments 

All areas £445,831 n/a £79,400 £218,350 

 
Total cost of policy requirements / planning obligations 
 
6.22 Annex F summarises the costs for each of the 16 appraisals of the above 

Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and also the non-affordable 
housing planning obligations as set out within the city council’s adopted 
planning obligations supplementary planning document.  

 
Impact of policy requirements and non-affordable housing planning 
obligations on viability 
 
6.23 Taking the baseline appraisal results from section 5 of this assessment, the 

Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and non-affordable housing 
planning obligations costs set out at Annex F were inputted into the 

Page 2018



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  32 

appraisals. The DAT required that payment start and payment end dates were 
entered, with the assumption being that the cash flow is ‘flat lined’ between 
start and end dates. Having regard to this, the following assumptions were 
made: 

 

 Policy requirements (accessible and adaptable homes, electric vehicle 
charging, and energy efficiency) payment start and end date was the same 
as the overall period of construction for all of the appraisals 

 Planning obligations (open space, education, transport and public realm) 
and allotment payment start and end date was different for the houses and 
apartment typologies. For the houses typology the start date was the same 
as the first open market sale with the end of payments being 75% into the 
construction period. For the apartment typologies payment start date was 
at construction start with the final payment being at 90% of the 
construction period.   

 
6.24 The above assumptions are considered to represent an appropriate proxy for 

an approach that allows phased payment of contributions.  
 
6.25 The table below shows the surplus/deficit at completion for the 16 baseline 

appraisals, and also shows the impact that policy requirements of the revised 
draft plan and non-affordable housing planning obligations has on this when 
run through the DAT taking into account cashflow associated with the timings 
of the payments.  
 

Table 24 – Surplus/deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and 
planning obligations 

Appraisal 
Site 
size 
(ha) 

Sales 
value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. 
of 

units 

Baseline 
surplus/deficit 
at completion 

Policy 
requirements 

and 
obligations 

value 

Surplus/deficit 
at completion 
with policy 
and planning 
obligations 

G1 0.5 Premium High 
density 
apartments 

150 £4,565,845 £1,274,790 £3,210,444 

G2 1 Premium Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £9,142,556 £936,220 £8,163,638 

G3 2 Premium Family 
houses 

70 £10,752,620 £1,064,246 £9,682,955 

G4 0.5 High High 
density 
apartments 

150 £249,114 £1,274,790 -£1,119,384 

G5 1 High Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £5,558,417 £956,712 £4,550,727 

G6 2 High Family 
houses 

70 £7,002,954 £1,064,246 £5,928,944 

G7 0.5 Mid/high High 
density 
apartments 

150 -£1,844,797 £1,274,790 -£3,214,659 

G8 1 Mid/high Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £3,906,111 £956,712 £2,898,420 

Page 2019



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  33 

Appraisal 
Site 
size 
(ha) 

Sales 
value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. 
of 

units 

Baseline 
surplus/deficit 
at completion 

Policy 
requirements 

and 
obligations 

value 

Surplus/deficit 
at completion 
with policy 
and planning 
obligations 

G9 2 Mid/high Family 
houses 

75 £5,107,257 £1,054,026 £3,858,559 

G10 0.5 Mid High 
density 
apartments 

150 -£4,026,110 £1,274,790 -£5,403,018 

G11 1 Mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £2,111,529 £956,712 £1,105,791 

G12 2 Mid Family 
houses 

80 £3,358,147 £1,060,109 £2,233,924 

G13 1 Low/mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £1,005,993 £956,712 -£4,511 

G14 2 Low/mid Family 
houses 

100 £2,854,844 £1,166,213 £1,662,266 

G15 1 Low Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 -£110,961 £956,712 -£1,128,340 

G16 2 Low Family 
houses 

100 £1,641,494 £1,166,213 £405,770 

 
Copies of appraisals 
 
6.26 Full copies of the appraisals outline in table 24 above are attached at Annex 

G.  
 

Page 2020



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  34 

7.  Impact of affordable housing requirements on viability 
 
7.1 The implications of providing affordable housing on viability, after other 

obligations and policy requirements of the Revised Daft Local Plan are taken 
into account, is considered further below.  

 
Preferred tenure mix  
 
7.2 The tenure of affordable housing has a significant bearing on scheme viability, 

given that the subsidy required for social rented and affordable rented 
dwellings is much more substantive than that for affordable home ownership 
dwellings. For the purposes of estimating the viability of schemes as part of 
this assessment, it is necessary to determine the tenure mix of the affordable 
housing to be provided.  

 
7.3 The 2018 NPPF glossary states that affordable housing is housing for sale or 

rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including housing that 
provides a subsidised route to home ownership and / or is essential for local 
workers). It goes on to state that this should be: 

 
a)  Affordable housing for rent (social rent, affordable rent and affordable 

private rent) 
b) Starter homes 
c) Discounted market sales housing 
d) Other affordable (shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low 

costs homes for sale and rent to buy)  
 
7.4 If the city council were seeking to maximise the delivery of affordable housing 

purely in terms of total numbers, then it would seek to ensure that all 
affordable dwellings secured are for a subsidised route to home ownership 
(as the subsidy required is much less than for social and affordable rented 
dwellings). However, the city council consider it appropriate to seek a high 
proportion of social rented and affordable rented dwellings through planning 
obligations, given evidence of housing need. Also having regard to need and 
levels of incomes, it is considered that seeking shared ownership dwellings is 
the preferred product for those requiring a subsidised route to home 
ownership. The implication of specifically requiring a high proportion of rented 
and shared ownership dwellings is that fewer affordable dwellings will be 
delivered than potentially could be (for example if starter homes were 
provided instead), but overall it should help to ensure that a good mix of 
affordable dwellings come forward that best meets need.  

 
7.5 Having regard to this, the table below sets out the different tenure mixes used 

in the appraisals for the different residential value areas.  
 

Table 25 – Affordable housing tenure mix by value area 

Value area Typical 
value per 
sqm 

% social rented % affordable rent % shared 
ownership 

Premium £3,400 37.5% 37.5% 25% 

Page 2021



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  35 

High £2,800 37.5% 37.5% 25% 

Mid/high £2,500 37.5% 37.5% 25% 

Mid £2,200 25% 25% 50% 

Low/mid £2,000 25% 25% 50% 

Low £1,800 12.5% 12.5% 75% 

 
7.6 The tenure mixes above were primarily derived from a range of housing and 

other socio-economic data including the 2011 Census; the findings of both the 
Salford and the Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market Assessments 
and evidence of the need for affordable housing; the objectives of securing 
mixed communities and greater diversity in the stock; and the longer term 
sustainability of neighbourhoods. Regard has also been had to policy H1 of 
the Revised Daft Local Plan which requires that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for housing in Salford is to deliver a good supply and a 
balanced mix of new dwellings across the city and within individual 
developments, in terms of tenure and affordability. 

 
Developer contribution / subsidy 
 
7.7 In order to determine what each notional scheme can support in terms of 

affordable housing, it was necessary to calculate the cost to the developer of 
having to provide affordable housing as part of their schemes.  
 

7.8 To secure the involvement of a registered provider to manage affordable 
housing, a developer will normally have to provide dwellings to them at a 
discount from open market value. The discount off open market value will 
inevitably differ on a scheme by scheme basis, but acknowledging the recent 
delivery of affordable housing in the city and information supplied by 
registered providers active in the Salford, it was considered that an 
appropriate discount off open market value is 60% for social rented, 50% for 
affordable rented and 40% for shared ownership dwellings.  
 

7.9 An output from the viability assessment is the total capital value of market 
housing. It was therefore possible to calculate the average sales value of 
each dwelling under the different appraisals, and then apply the discounts off 
open market value referred to above in order to determine the discount a 
registered provider needs in order to take on the management of affordable 
dwellings. 
 

Table 26 – Discount off open market value required by registered provider by tenure 
per dwelling 

Appr-
aisal  

Value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. of 
units 

Total capital 
value of 
open market 
housing 

Average 
dwelling 
sale price 
(capital 
value / 
dwellings) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per social 
rent unit 
(60% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per 
affordable 
rent unit 
(50% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per shared 
ownership 
unit (40% 
discount 
per unit) 

1 Premium High 
density 
apartments 

150 £30,730,900 £204,873 £122,924 £102,436 £81,949 

Page 2022



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  36 

Appr-
aisal  

Value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. of 
units 

Total capital 
value of 
open market 
housing 

Average 
dwelling 
sale price 
(capital 
value / 
dwellings) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per social 
rent unit 
(60% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per 
affordable 
rent unit 
(50% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per shared 
ownership 
unit (40% 
discount 
per unit) 

2 Premium Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £25,620,700 £204,966 £122,979 £102,483 £81,986 

3 Premium Houses 70 £26,798,800 £382,840 £229,704 £191,420 £153,136 

4 High High 
density 
apartments 

150 £25,307,800 £168,719 £101,231 £84,359 £67,487 

5 High Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £21,099,400 £168,795 £101,277 £84,398 £67,518 

6 High Houses 70 £22,069,600 £315,280 £189,168 £157,640 £126,112 

7 Mid/high High 
density 
apartments 

150 £22,596,250 £150,642 £90,385 £75,321 £60,257 

8 Mid/high Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £18,838,750 £150,710 £90,426 £75,355 £60,284 

9 Mid/high Houses 75 £19,802,500 £264,033 £158,420 £132,017 £105,613 

10 Mid High 
density 
apartments 

150 £18,224,355 £121,496 £72,897 £60,748 £48,598 

11 Mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £16,578,100 £132,625 £79,575 £66,312 £53,050 

12 Mid Houses 80 £18,000,400 £225,005 £135,003 £112,503 £90,002 

13 Low/mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £15,071,000 £120,568 £72,341 £60,284 £48,227 

14 Low/mid Houses 100 £17,565,000 £175,650 £105,390 £87,825 £70,260 

15 Low Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £13,563,900 £108,511 £65,107 £54,256 £43,404 

16 Low Houses 100 £15,808,500 £158,085 £94,851 £79,043 £63,234 

 
7.10 Taking account of the discount that registered providers need in order to 

acquire dwellings for affordable housing, the table below shows the total 
estimated cost to a developer of having to provide affordable housing. This is 
based on between 5% and 50% of the total dwellings in a scheme being 
affordable (at 5% intervals), whilst having regard to the different tenure splits 
in the different value areas as shown in table 25 above. 

 

Page 2023



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  37 

Table 27 – Cost to a developer of providing affordable housing to a registered provider 
      Total discount required to allow RP to purchase units 

Value area / tenure 
mix 

Appraisal Scheme 
type 

50% 
affordable 

45% 
affordable 

40% 
affordable 

35% 
affordable 

 30% 
affordable 

25% 
affordable 

20% 
affordable 

15% 
affordable 

10% 
affordable 

5% 
affordable 

Premium value 
areas (37.5% social 
rent, 37.5% 
affordable rent, 25% 
shared ownership) 

1 High density 
apartments 

£7,874,793 £7,087,314 £6,299,835 £5,512,355 £4,724,876 £3,937,397 £3,149,917 £2,362,438 £1,574,959 £787,479 

2 Mid density 
apartments 

£6,565,304 £5,908,774 £5,252,244 £4,595,713 £3,939,183 £3,282,652 £2,626,122 £1,969,591 £1,313,061 £656,530 

3 Houses £6,867,193 £6,180,473 £5,493,754 £4,807,035 £4,120,316 £3,433,596 £2,746,877 £2,060,158 £1,373,439 £686,719 

High value areas 
(37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent, 25% shared 
ownership) 

4 High density 
apartments 

£6,485,124 £5,836,611 £5,188,099 £4,539,587 £3,891,074 £3,242,562 £2,594,050 £1,945,537 £1,297,025 £648,512 

5 Mid density 
apartments 

£5,406,721 £4,866,049 £4,325,377 £3,784,705 £3,244,033 £2,703,361 £2,162,689 £1,622,016 £1,081,344 £540,672 

6 Houses £5,655,335 £5,089,802 £4,524,268 £3,958,735 £3,393,201 £2,827,668 £2,262,134 £1,696,601 £1,131,067 £565,534 

Mid/high value 
areas (37.5% social 
rent, 37.5% 
affordable rent, 25% 
shared ownership) 

7 High density 
apartments 

£5,790,289 £5,211,260 £4,632,231 £4,053,202 £3,474,173 £2,895,145 £2,316,116 £1,737,087 £1,158,058 £579,029 

8 Mid density 
apartments 

£4,827,430 £4,344,687 £3,861,944 £3,379,201 £2,896,458 £2,413,715 £1,930,972 £1,448,229 £965,486 £482,743 

9 Houses £5,074,391 £4,566,952 £4,059,513 £3,552,073 £3,044,634 £2,537,195 £2,029,756 £1,522,317 £1,014,878 £507,439 

Mid value areas 
(25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership) 

10 High density 
apartments 

£4,669,991 £3,895,456 £3,462,627 £3,029,799 £2,596,971 £2,164,142 £1,731,314 £1,298,485 £865,657 £432,828 

11 Mid density 
apartments 

£4,248,138 £3,543,569 £3,149,839 £2,756,109 £2,362,379 £1,968,649 £1,574,920 £1,181,190 £787,460 £393,730 

12 Houses £4,612,603 £3,847,586 £3,420,076 £2,992,567 £2,565,057 £2,137,548 £1,710,038 £1,282,529 £855,019 £427,510 

Mid/low value areas 
(25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership)  

13 Mid density 
apartments 

£3,861,944 £3,221,426 £2,863,490 £2,505,554 £2,147,618 £1,789,681 £1,431,745 £1,073,809 £715,873 £357,936 

14 Houses £4,501,031 £3,754,519 £3,337,350 £2,920,181 £2,503,013 £2,085,844 £1,668,675 £1,251,506 £834,338 £417,169 

Low value areas 
(12.5% social rent, 
12.5% affordable 
rent, 50% shared 
ownership) 

15 Mid density 
apartments 

£3,475,749 £2,670,393 £2,373,683 £2,076,972 £1,780,262 £1,483,552 £1,186,841 £890,131 £593,421 £296,710 

16 Houses £4,050,928 £3,112,298 £2,766,488 £2,420,677 £2,074,866 £1,729,055 £1,383,244 £1,037,433 £691,622 £345,811 

 
 

P
age 2024



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  38 

 
7.11 The cost of a developer providing affordable housing under each scenario 

above was inputted into the appraisals. The starting point for this process was 
the surplus / deficit at completion shown in table 24, which takes into account   
allowances for policy requirements and planning obligation contributions.  

 
7.12 It was assumed that the affordable housing is provided on-site and that it is 

phased throughout the whole of the build period. Given that the HCA DAT 
requires that payment start date and end date are entered (i.e. the period 
when the affordable housing is built), it has been assumed that the costs of 
providing affordable housing for the developer is spread evenly throughout the 
construction period (i.e. the payment start date is the same as the 
construction start date, and the payment end is the same as the construction 
end date).  

 
7.13 The table below shows the implications the provision of affordable housing at 

different proportions has on scheme viability. Appraisals have not been run for 
each scenario towards the higher end of the requirement range where it is 
clearly not viable at the lower requirements.  
 

 

Page 2025



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  39 

Table 28 – Implications of providing different levels of affordable housing by value area and typology 
Value area / 
tenure mix 

Ap
pra
isal 

Scheme type 50% 
affordable 

45% 
affordable 

40% 
affordable 

35% 
affordable 

30% 
affordable 

25% 
affordable 

20% 
affordable 

15% 
affordable 

10% 
affordable 

5% 
affordable 

Premium value 
areas (37.5% 
social rent, 
37.5% 
affordable rent, 
25% shared 
ownership) 

1 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£987,735 -£144,308 £695,459 £1,534,471 £2,373,484 

2 Mid density 
apartments 

£1,310,621 £1,997,362 £2,682,506 £3,367,651 £4,052,795 £4,737,939 £5,423,083 £6,108,228 £6,793,372 £7,478,517 

3 Family 
houses 

£2,699,054 £3,405,273 £4,108,838 £4,810,269 £5,510,049 £6,207,829 £6,904,668 £7,600,565 £8,295,288 £8,989,503 

High value 
areas (37.5% 
social rent, 
37.5% 
affordable rent, 
25% shared 
ownership) 

4 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£2,508,557 -£1,813,970 

5 Mid density 
apartments 

  n/a -£580,491 -£6,017 £565,483 £1,136,951 £1,708,342 £2,276,818 £2,845,296 £3,413,773 £3,982,250 

6 Family 
houses 

£108,674 £703,699 £1,294,312 £1,881,597 £2,465,476 £3,046,852 £3,626,156 £4,203,809 £4,780,099 £5,354,853 

Mid/high value 
areas (37.5% 
social rent, 
37.5% 
affordable rent, 
25% shared 
ownership) 

7 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£4,461,518 -£3,838,088 

8 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a -£669,678 -£156,754 £354,306 £864,545 £1,374,785 £1,883,283 £2,390,852 

9 Family 
houses 

  n/a -£1,020,659 -£471,713 £75,810 £620,501 £1,162,701 £1,704,901 £2,245,408 £2,784,770 £3,321,909 

Mid value areas 
(25% social rent, 
25% affordable 
rent, 50% 
shared 
ownership) 

10 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£6,335,055 -£5,869,036 

11 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£561,771 -£143,428 £273,479 £689,635 

12 Family 
houses 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£505,111 -£44,680 £413,575 £869,658 £1,325,283 £1,780,595 

Mid/low value 
areas (25% 
social rent, 25% 
affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership)  

13 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£765,140 -£384,825 

14 Family 
houses 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£526,203 -£79,297 £361,395 £798,046 £1,231,399 

Low value areas 
(12.5% social 
rent, 12.5% 
affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership) 

15 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£1,753,993 -£1,441,166 

16 Family 
houses 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£700,645 -£327,681 £41,359 

 

P
age 2026



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  40 

8. Potential affordable housing requirements based on viability 
and conclusions 

 
8.1 Table 28 above shows the typical surplus/deficit once affordable housing 

provision at different levels is taken into account (and also including the costs 
of the Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and planning obligations). 
It is clear that there is differing viability across the residential value areas. 
Moreover, there are also significant differences in the viability by scheme 
typology (i.e. between high density apartments, mid density apartments and 
family houses). 

 
Premium value area 
8.2 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

premium value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable rent and 
25% shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 29 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the premium value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H1) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H2) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H3) 

50%  £1,310,621 £2,699,054 

45%   £1,997,362 £3,405,273 

40%  £2,682,506 £4,810,269 

35%  £3,367,651 £4,810,269 

30%  £4,052,795 £5,510,049 

25% -£987,735 £4,737,939 £6,207,829 

20% -£144,308 £5,423,083 £6,904,668 

15% £695,459 £6,108,228 £7,600,656 

10% £1,534,471 £6,793,372 £8,295,288 

5% £2,373,484 £7,478,517 £8,989,503 

 
High value area 
8.3 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the high 

value area with different proportions of affordable housing, comprised of a 
tenure mix of 37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable rent and 25% shared 
ownership tenure. 

 
Table 30 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the high value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H4) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H5) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H6) 

50%   £108,674 

45%   -£580,491 £703,699 

40%  -£6,017 £1,294,312 

Page 2027



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  41 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H4) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H5) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H6) 

35%  £565,483 £1,881,597 

30%  £1,136,951 £2,465,476 

25%  £1,708,342 £3,046,852 

20%  £2,276,818 £3,626,156 

15%  £2,845,296 £4,203,809 

10% -£2,508,557 £3,413,773 £4,780,099 

5% -£1,813,970 £3,982,250 £5,354,853 

 
Mid/high value area 
8.4 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable rent and 
25% shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 31 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the mid/high value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H7) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H8) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H9) 

45%    -£1,020,659 

40%   -£471,713 

35%  -£669,678 £75,810 

30%  -£156,754 £620,501 

25%  £354,306 £1,162,701 

20%  £864,545 £1,704,901 

15%  £1,374,785 £2,245,408 

10% -£4,461,518 £1,883,283 £2,784,770 

5% -£3,838,088 £2,390,852 £3,321,909 

 
Mid value area 
8.5 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 25% social rent, 25% affordable rent and 50% 
shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 32 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the mid value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H10) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H11) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H12) 

30%   -£505,111 

25%   -£44,680 

20%  -£561,771 £413,575 

Page 2028



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  42 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H10) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H11) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H12) 

15%  -£143,428 £869,658 

10% -£6,335,055 £237,479 £1,325,283 

5% -£5,869,036 £689,635 £1,780,595 

 
Low/mid value areas 
8.6 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 25% social rent, 25% affordable rent and 50% 
shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 33 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the low/mid value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H13) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H14) 

30%   

25%  -£526,203 

20%  -£79,297 

15%  £361,395 

10% -£765,140 £798,046 

5% -£384,825 £1,231,399 

 
Low value areas 
8.7 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 12.5% social rent, 12.5% affordable rent and 
75% shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 34 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the low value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal 15) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal 16) 

15%  -£700,645 

10% -£1,753,993 -£327,681 

5% -£1,441,166 £41,359 

 
 
Potential affordable housing requirements based only on evidence of viability 
 
8.8 Having regard to the above, the table below shows the level of affordable 

housing that could be supported through developer contributions, by the 
different residential value areas and scheme typology. Note that this is based 

Page 2029



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  43 

on a range of assumptions that may vary on individual sites, with some 
developments being more viable and some less viable than indicated in the 
assessment depending on factors such as the specific site characteristics, the 
funding model and tendering process for the development, and the market 
conditions at the time. This variability in viability, both between sites and over 
time, means that it is appropriate that the table below is the starting point 
rather than the only determinant of the affordable housing policy 
 

Table 35 – Potential affordable housing requirements through developer 
contributions 

Appr
aisal 

Sales 
value area 

Typology Potential 
affordable 
housing 
requirement 

Assumed tenure of 
affordable dwellings 

H1 Premium  High density apartments 15% 37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% 
shared ownership  

H2 Mid density apartments 50% 

H3 Family houses 50% 

H4 High  High density apartments 0% 37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% 
shared ownership 

H5 Mid density apartments 35% 

H6 Family houses 50% 

H7 Mid/high High density apartments 0% 37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% 
shared ownership 

H8 Mid density apartments 25% 

H9 Family houses 35% 

H10 Mid High density apartments 0% 25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent 
and 50% shared 
ownership 

H11 Mid density apartments 10% 

H12 Family houses 20% 

H13 Low/mid Mid density apartments 0% 25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent 
and 50% shared 
ownership 

H14 Family houses 15% 

H15 Low Mid density apartments 0% 12.5% social rent, 
12.5% affordable 
rent and 75% 
shared ownership 

H16 Family houses 5% 

 
8.9 It can be seen that the potential affordable housing requirements based solely 

on an assessment of financial viability range from 0% up to 50% of the total 
dwellings in a development.  
 

8.10 The full appraisals for where affordable housing through a developer 
contribution is estimated to be viable having regard to the assumptions in this 
assessment (H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H14 and H16) are set 
out in Annex H of this assessment.  

 
Conclusions 
 

Page 2030



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  44 

8.11 In line with the requirements of the NPPF and planning practice guidance, the 
city council has undertaken assessments of the likely economic implications of 
the policy requirements of the Revised Daft Local Plan, planning obligations, 
and affordable housing in new build for sale residential developments. The 
approach taken is considered to provide a broad understanding of viability and 
is proportionate, and will inform the development of policy.  

 
8.12 The assessments have involved inputting a large number of variables into the 

Homes and Communities Agency development appraisal tool in order to 
determine the likely potential surplus/deficit of generic schemes across the 
range of residential value areas. The table above shows the levels of 
affordable housing that could be required by policy, based purely on evidence 
of viability.  

 

Page 2031



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Local Plan 
 
Assessment of residential viability 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEXES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
January 2019 

Page 2033



 

Page 2034



Annex A – Assumed dwelling mix 
 

Scheme 
typology 

Value 
area(s) 

Site 
size 

Total 
number of 
dwellings 

Mix of dwellings 

Family 
houses at 
35 
dwellings 
per hectare 
(dph) 

Premium 
and high 

2ha 70 houses  16 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 5 x 3 bed detached 

 8 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 34 x 4 bed detached 

 7 x 5 bed detached 

Family 
houses at 
37.5 dph 

Mid/high 2ha 75 houses  29 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 12 x 3 bed detached 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 24 x 4 bed detached 

  

Family 
houses at 
40 dph 

Mid 2ha 80 houses  4 x 2 bed terraced 

 20 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 25 x 3 bed detached 

 11 x 3 bed townhouse 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 10 x 4 bed detached 
 

Family 
houses at 
50 dph 

Low/mid 
and low 

2ha 100 houses  35 x 2 bed terraced 

 14 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 41 x 3 bed terraced 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

  

Mid density 
apartments 

All 1ha 125 
apartments 

 50 x 1 bed apartments 

 69 x 2 bed apartments 

 6 x 3 bed apartments 
 

High 
density 
apartments 

All 0.5ha 150 
apartments 

 60x1 bed apartments 

 83x2 bed apartments  

 7 x 3 bed apartments 
 

 
  

Page 2035



 

Page 2036



Annex B – Dwelling floorspace calculations  
 

Property type 
and size 

National space standard 
type (gross internal floor 
area) (A) 

Garage 
allowance (B) 

Total gross 
floor area 

(A+B) 

1 bed 
apartment 

 1 storey dwelling  

 1 bedroom 

 2 bedspaces 
 
 50sqm 

0sqm 50sqm 

2 bed 
apartment 

 1 storey dwelling 

 2 bedrooms 

 Mid point between 3 and 
4 bedspaces 

 
65sqm 

0sqm 65sqm 

3 bed 
apartment 

 1 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 
86sqm 

0sqm 86sqm 

2 bed 
terraced 
house 

 2 storey dwelling 

 2 bedrooms 

 Mid point between 3  
and 4 bedspaces 

 
74.5sqm 

0sqm 74.5sqm 

3 bed semi 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 

93sqm 

0sqm 93sqm 

3 bed 
townhouse 

 3 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 

99sqm 

0sqm 99sqm 

3 bed 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 
93sqm 

14sqm 107sqm 

4 bed semi 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 4 bedrooms 

 6 bedspaces 
 
106sqm 

0sqm 106sqm 

Page 2037



Property type 
and size 

National space standard 
type (gross internal floor 
area) (A) 

Garage 
allowance (B) 

Total gross 
floor area 

(A+B) 

4 bed 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 4 bedrooms 

 6 bedspaces 
 

106sqm 

14sqm 120sqm 

5 bed 
detached 
house 

 2 storey dwelling 

 5 bedrooms 

 7 bedspaces 
 
119sqm 

14sqm 133sqm 

 

  

Page 2038



Annex C - Total floorspace by scheme typology 
 

Scheme 
typology / 
value areas 

Total 
dwellings  

Mix of dwellings  Floorspace 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
35dph 
(Premium 
and high 
value areas) 

70 
dwellings 

 16 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 5 x 3 bed detached 

 8 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 34 x 4 bed detached 

 7 x 5 bed detached 

 16 x 93sqm 

 5 x 107sqm 

 25 x 106sqm 

 34 x 120sqm 

 7 x 133sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
7,882 sqm 
 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
37.5dph 
(Mid/high 
value areas) 

75 
dwellings 

 29 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 12 x 3 bed detached 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 24 x 4 bed detached 
 

 29 x 93sqm 

 12 x 107sqm 

 10 x 106sqm 

 24 x 120sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
7,904 sqm 
 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
40dph (Mid 
value areas) 

80 
dwellings 

 4 x 2 bed terraced 

 20 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 25 x 3 bed detached 

 11 x 3 bed townhouse 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 10 x 4 bed detached 
 

 4 x 74.5sqm 

 20 x 93sqm 

 25 x 107sqm 

 11 x 99sqm 

 10 x 106sqm 

 10 x 120sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
8,155 sqm 
 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
50dph 
(Low/mid 
and low 
value areas) 

100 
dwellings 

 35 x 2 bed terraced 

 14 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 41 x 3 bed terraced 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 
 

 34 x 74.5sqm 

 14 x 93sqm 

 41 x 93sqm 

 10 x 106sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
8783 sqm 
 

Mid density 
apartment 
scheme  
at125dph 

125 
dwellings 

 50 x 1 bed apartments 

 69 x 2 bed apartments 

 6 x 3 bed apartments 
 

 50 x 50sqm 

 68 x 65sqm 

 7 x 86sqm 
 

Page 2039



Scheme 
typology / 
value areas 

Total 
dwellings  

Mix of dwellings  Floorspace 

Total net 
sellable 
floorspace = 
7,541sqm 
 
Divide by 0.85 to 
allow for common 
areas at 15% of 
gross 
 
Total gross 
floorspace = 
8,872sqm 
 

High density 
apartment 
scheme at 
300dph 

150 
dwellings  

 60x1 bed apartments 

 83x2 bed apartments  

 7 x 3 bed apartments 
 

 50 x 50sqm 

 95 x 65sqm 

 5 x 86sqm 
 
Total net 
sellable 
floorspace = 
9,039sqm 
 
Divide by 0.825 to 
allow for common 
areas at 17.5% of 
gross 
 
Total gross 
floorspace = 
10,956 sqm 
 

 

 

  

Page 2040



Annex D – Sales values per square metre 
 
Summary by value area 
 
Sales value area Proper

ty 
sample 
size 

Mean 
property 
value per 
sqm (£) 

Sales value 
area  

Value per 
sqm for 
appraisals(£) 

Agecroft 16 2103 Mid 2200 

Barton and Peel Green 10 2321 Mid 2200 

Boothstown 17 2717 High 2800 

Brindle Heath 10 1916 Low/mid 2000 

Broughton Park 10 2357 Mid/high 2500 

Cadishead 10 2109 Mid 2200 

Chapel Street - outside inner 
relief route 

25 2711 High 2800 

Chapel Street - within inner 
relief route 

86 3468 Premium  3400 

Charlestown 10 2118 Mid 2200 

Claremont 13 2109 Mid 2200 

Eccles 23 2407 Mid/high 2500 

Eccles New Road 19 1721 Low  1800 

Ellesmere Park and Monton 25 2728 High 2800 

Higher Broughton 10 2181 Mid 2200 

Irlam 16 2191 Mid 2200 

Kersal Moor  19 2120 Mid 2200 

Langworthy 23 2258 Mid 2200 

Little Hulton 11 1924 Low/mid 2000 

Lower Broughton 23 2128 Mid 2200 

Lower Kersal 10 1638 Low 1800 

Mid Swinton 25 2130 Mid 2200 

North Swinton and Clifton 19 1992 Low/mid 2000 

North Walkden 41 2187 Mid 2200 

Ordsall 12 2152 Mid 2200 

Ordsall Riverside (including 
Exchange Quay) 

64 2693 High 2800 

Pendleton 12 1973 Low/mid 2000 

Salford Quays 65 3294 Premium 3400 

Seedley 12 2182 Mid 2200 

South Swinton 10 2478 Mid/high 2500 

South Walkden 31 2410 Mid/high 2500 

Trinity 12 2210 Mid 2200 

Winton 20 2422 Mid/high 2500 

Worsley 16 2711 High 2800 

 725    

Page 2041



Schedule of properties

Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Agecroft
10 Banksman Way, Manchester, M27 8WD  240000 03/03/2017 102 14 116 2069 Detached Agecroft
19 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 228995 11/08/2017 107 14 121 1893 Detached Agecroft
2 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 199995 20/10/2017 91 14 105 1905 Detached Agecroft
4 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 209995 29/09/2017 95 14 109 1927 Detached Agecroft
6 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 204995 20/10/2017 88 14 102 2010 Detached Agecroft
8 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 204995 20/10/2017 88 14 102 2010 Detached Agecroft
10 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 164995 27/10/2017 68 0 68 2426 Semi‐detached Agecroft
11 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 169995 28/07/2017 75 0 75 2267 Semi‐detached Agecroft
12 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 164995 13/11/2017 68 0 68 2426 Semi‐detached Agecroft
14 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 174995 10/11/2017 75 0 75 2333 Semi‐detached Agecroft
21 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 174995 09/02/2018 72 0 72 2430 Semi‐detached Agecroft
16 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 174995 10/11/2017 75 0 75 2333 Semi‐detached Agecroft
31 Brattice Drive, Manchester, M27 8WE  195000 26/07/2017 99 0 99 1970 Terraced Agecroft
33 Brattice Drive, Manchester, M27 8WE  160000 23/06/2017 76 0 76 2114 Terraced Agecroft
61 Kilcolby Avenue, Swinton, Manchester, M27 8AD 188500 30/08/2017 108 0 108 1745 Terraced Agecroft
76 Kilcolby Avenue, Swinton, Manchester, M27 8Ae 190000 20/10/2017 106 0 106 1792 Terraced Agecroft
Sample size 16 MEAN 2103

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 persqm

Barton and Peel Green
Apartment 5 Barton Locks, 74 Barton Road, Eccles, Manchester, M30 7AE 114000 25/08/2017 64 0 64 1781 Apartment Barton and Peel Green
8 Langland Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 7NJ 155000 01/02/2017 49 0 49 3163 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
66 Gorton Street, Manchester, M30 7EH  210000 12/07/2017 64 0 64 3281 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
7 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  135000 17/02/2017 54 0 54 2500 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
20 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  130000 17/02/2017 84 0 84 1548 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
24 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  150000 19/05/2017 79 0 79 1899 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
16 Henty Close, Manchester, M30 7ER  139950 24/10/2017 65 0 65 2156 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
30 Thistledown Close, Manchester, M30 7TD  122500 20/02/2017 56 0 56 2180 Terraced Barton and Peel Green
33 Thistledown Close, Manchester, M30 7TD  129000 09/01/2017 60 0 60 2150 Terraced Barton and Peel Green
18 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  143000 09/10/2017 56 0 56 2554 Terraced Barton and Peel Green
Sample size 10 MEAN 2321

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Boothstown
5 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  333000 29/09/2017 103 14 117 2846 Detached Boothstown
10 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  379950 30/09/2016 116 14 130 2923 Detached Boothstown
20 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  474950 22/07/2016 145 14 159 2987 Detached Boothstown
30 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  389950 09/09/2016 131 14 145 2689 Detached Boothstown
32 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  549950 30/09/2016 190 14 204 2696 Detached Boothstown
61 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  394950 30/09/2016 131 14 145 2724 Detached Boothstown
26 Boothstown Drive, Manchester, M28 1UF  249000 25/05/2017 76 14 90 2770 Detached Boothstown
37 Boothstown Drive, Manchester, M28 1UF  385000 07/03/2017 123 14 137 2810 Detached Boothstown
76 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  320000 15/08/2017 110 14 124 2581 Detached Boothstown
80 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  345000 03/07/2017 117 14 131 2634 Detached Boothstown
91 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  325000 07/04/2017 100 14 114 2851 Detached Boothstown
43 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  235000 31/03/2017 97 0 97 2423 Semi‐detached Boothstown
22 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  364950 30/09/2016 125 0 125 2920 Semi‐detached Boothstown

P
age 2042



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

26 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  254950 26/08/2016 103 0 103 2475 Semi‐detached Boothstown
57 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  254950 30/09/2016 103 0 103 2475 Semi‐detached Boothstown
48 Boothstown Drive, Manchester, M28 1UF  205000 27/04/2017 71 0 71 2887 Semi‐detached Boothstown
20 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  176500 28/07/2017 71 0 71 2500 Terraced Boothstown
Sample size 17 MEAN 2717

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Brindle Heath
10 Nave Court, Salford, M6 7EF 127500 16/12/2016 59 0 59 2161 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
40 Maurice Street, Salford, M6 7DG  120000 12/05/2017 64 0 64 1875 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
56 Maurice Street, Salford, M6 7DG  136000 24/08/2017 65 0 65 2092 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
49 Brindleheath Road, Salford, M6 6GD 113000 14/10/2016 67 0 67 1687 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
51 Brindleheath Road, Salford, M6 6GD 143000 06/10/2017 68 0 68 2103 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
1 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  122500 31/03/2016 69 0 69 1775 Terraced Brindle Heath
7 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  133000 23/08/2016 68 0 68 1956 Terraced Brindle Heath
6 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  119995 15/04/2016 68 0 68 1765 Terraced Brindle Heath
3 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA 135000 19/01/2018 68 0 68 1985 Terraced Brindle Heath
4 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  119995 26/05/2016 68 0 68 1765 Terraced Brindle Heath
Sample size 10 MEAN 1916

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per m2

Broughton Park 
Flat 3 Ingledene Court, Upper Park Raod, Salford, M7 4YH 205000 01/03/2018 101 0 101 2030 Apartment Broughton Park
Flat 3 Ingledene Court, Upper Park Raod, Salford, M7 4YH 315000 15/12/2017 105 0 105 3000 Apartment Broughton Park
Flat 5 Falcon Court Park Street, Salford, M7 4WH 165000 08/11/2016 77 0 77 2143 Apartment Broughton Park
Apartment 6 Singleton Point, 28 Singleton Road, Salford, M7 4NN 260000 24/05/2016 121 0 121 2149 Apartment Broughton Park
Apartment 4 Singleton Point, 28 Singleton Road, Salford, M7 4NN 207500 21/01/2016 73 0 73 2842 Apartment Broughton Park
63 Upper Park Road, Salford, M7 4JB  485000 31/01/2017 192 14 206 2354 Detached  Broughton Park
65 Upper Park Road, Salford, M7 4JB  760000 30/10/2017 339 14 353 2153 Detached  Broughton Park
12 Cavendish Road, Salford, M7 4WW 454000 11/08/2017 209 0 209 2172 Semi‐detached Broughton Park
31 Tully Street, Salford, M7 2BB 220000 04/04/2017 100.1 0 100 2198 Terraced Broughton Park
11 Legh Street, Salford, M7 4EF 245000 01/03/2016 97 0 97 2526 Terraced Broughton Park
Sample size 10 MEAN 2357

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 \sqm

Cadishead
61 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GH  249995 16/03/2018 102 14 116 2155 Detached Cadishead
209 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GH  160000 01/12/2017 80 0 80 2000 Terraced Cadishead
3 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GG  280000 03/02/2017 117 14 131 2137 Detached Cadishead
67 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GG  285000 18/08/2017 124 14 138 2072 Detached Cadishead
18 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GJ  239000 24/02/2017 102 14 116 2060 Detached Cadishead
8 Daneshill Lane, Manchester, M44 5GN  220000 25/08/2017 94 14 108 2037 Detached Cadishead
29 Daneshill Lane, Manchester, M44 5GN  245000 31/03/2017 111 14 125 1960 Detached Cadishead
56A Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GJ  165000 19/05/2017 73 0 73 2260 Semi‐detached Cadishead
14 Apple Blossom Grove, Cadishead, Manchester, M44 5FX 125000 30/01/2018 52 0 52 2404 Semi‐detached Cadishead
64 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GJ  160000 27/04/2017 80 0 80 2000 Terraced Cadishead
Sample size 10 MEAN 2109

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route

P
age 2043



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

111, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6FT  132500 03/07/2017 47 0 47 2790 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
102, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6FT  126000 03/11/2017 35 0 35 3600 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
65, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6FT  123500 15/08/2017 58 0 58 2129 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
34, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  212000 20/06/2017 74 0 74 2874 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
31, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  130000 28/02/2017 71 0 71 1831 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
16, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  225000 20/01/2017 123 0 123 1829 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
3, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  125000 22/06/2017 51 0 51 2451 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 4 Zenith, 365 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JT 136000 09/06/2016 40 0 40 3400 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 3, Fusion 9, 2 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LH  130000 10/08/2017 47 0 47 2762 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 22, Fusion 6, 8 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LN  140000 16/03/2017 54 0 54 2593 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 20, Fusion 3, 14 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LW  140000 07/07/2017 52 0 52 2708 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 19, Fusion 3, 14 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LW  128000 23/02/2018 53 0 53 2415 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 18, Fusion 3, 14 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LW  128000 19/01/2018 54 0 54 2370 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 105, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF  140000 25/05/2017 46 0 46 3043 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 106, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 137500 05/05/2017 45 0 45 3056 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 110, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 200000 24/12/2017 73 0 73 2740 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 206, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 142500 31/08/2017 45 0 45 3167 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 207, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 142500 27/08/2017 46 0 46 3098 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 217, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 142500 22/06/2017 48 0 48 2969 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 304, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 140650 29/09/2017 46 0 46 3058 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 314, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 149950 30/08/2017 48 0 48 3124 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 220, Vimto Gardens, Islington Way, Salford, M3 5JH  220000 27/10/2017 73 0 73 3014 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 103, Transport House, 1 Crescent, Salford, M5 4JN  130000 11/09/2017 55 0 55 2364 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 403, Transport House, 1 Crescent, Salford, M5 4JN  142500 10/03/2017 79 0 79 1794 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
6 Barrow Street, Salford, M3 5JE  280000 30/06/2017 108 0 108 2593 Terraced Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Sample size 25 MEAN 2711

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Chapel Street ‐ within Inner Relief Route
16, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 225,000 04/05/2017 48 0 48 4664 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
26, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 275000 16/03/2017 80 0 80 3455 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
28, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 369000 16/01/2018 101 0 101 3653 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
30, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  500000 16/03/2017 119 0 119 4202 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
40, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  225000 09/03/2018 53 0 53 4245 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
43, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 305100 08/08/2017 81 0 81 3748 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
47, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 320000 05/12/2017 103 0 103 3107 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
50, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  355,000 29/09/2017 84 0 84 4226 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
51, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  350,000 30/11/2017 84 0 84 4167 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
132, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NE 195,000 12/12/2017 54 0 54 3611 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
139, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NE 345,000 10/11/2017 81 0 81 4259 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
161, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NE 300000 16/06/2017 70 0 70 4286 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
218, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NF  425000 08/06/2017 108 0 108 3935 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
229, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NF  247000 29/09/2017 53 0 53 4660 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
233, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NF  160000 23/08/2017 35 0 35 4511 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
239, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NG  185000 10/11/2017 48 0 48 3854 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
258, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NG  242000 20/02/2017 70 0 70 3476 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
272, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NG  167500 13/06/2017 39 0 39 4306 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 3, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 138500 18/08/2017 30 0 30 4617 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 22, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 106000 07/12/2017 30 0 30 3533 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 26, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 128000 24/02/2017 37 0 37 3448 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 40, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 183000 01/11/2017 67 0 67 2731 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route

P
age 2044



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 43, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 193000 16/03/2018 59 0 59 3271 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 3, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ  138500 18/08/2017 37 0 37 3743 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 52, Block 3 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BP  219000 11/05/2017 67 0 67 3248 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 195, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT  185000 08/09/2017 61 0 61 3038 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 199, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT  151000 28/06/2017 54 0 54 2801 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 205, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 191500 01/02/2017 61 0 61 3134 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 243, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 232500 03/11/2017 43 0 43 5407 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 255, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT  215000 30/06/2017 61 0 61 3530 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 266, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 190000 17/02/2017 61 0 61 3110 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 273, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 112000 03/02/2017 28 0 28 3944 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 297, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU 168520 15/02/2017 28 0 28 5934 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 299, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  240000 20/01/2017 61 0 61 3960 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 300, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  182950 14/08/2017 61 0 61 2994 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 301, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU 230000 19/09/2017 44 0 44 5287 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 303, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU 230000 01/09/2017 44 0 44 5227 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 304, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  230000 17/08/2017 58 0 58 3938 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 306, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  241000 27/04/2017 61 0 61 3944 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 321, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  173950 08/06/2017 58 0 58 2979 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 331, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  175950 30/06/2017 58 0 58 3013 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 159, Block 3 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EB  167000 10/10/2017 61 0 61 2756 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 174, Block 3 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EB  204950 11/08/2017 58 0 58 3509 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 5, Block B Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GB 145000 08/06/2017 62 0 62 2339 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 13, Block C Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GD  215000 22/06/2017 60 0 60 3583 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 14, Block C Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GD  229563 06/03/2017 60 0 60 3826 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 51, Block C Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GD  213500 28/07/2017 55 0 55 3882 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 1, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  176035 31/05/2017 56 0 56 3143 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 17, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  284300 11/01/2018 85 0 85 3345 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 30, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  211945 25/05/2017 61 0 61 3475 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 43, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  219511 05/05/2017 60 0 60 3659 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 46, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  229600 11/08/2017 64 0 64 3588 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 47, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  299245 24/10/2017 85 0 85 3521 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 49, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  235600 31/05/2017 64 0 64 3681 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 60, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  231830 02/05/2017 61 0 61 3800 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 66, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  244902 12/05/2017 64 0 64 3827 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 75, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  239610 13/10/2017 61 0 61 3928 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 54, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6ES  161500 07/07/2017 70 0 70 2324 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 71, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6ES  163000 20/12/2017 61 0 61 2672 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 73, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6ES  130000 23/11/2017 42 0 42 3095 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 164, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6EU  158000 09/05/2017 58 0 58 2743 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 178, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6EU  158000 15/01/2018 55 0 55 2873 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 197, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6EU  167000 30/06/2017 60 0 60 2783 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 115, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7NB 95000 02/10/2017 33 0 33 2900 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 230, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7NB  107000 01/08/2017 31 0 31 3484 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 313, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7NB  115000 15/05/2017 32 0 32 3594 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 501, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7ND 140000 28/09/2017 57 0 57 2452 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 518, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7ND  96000 02/05/2017 32 0 32 2981 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 519, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7ND 130000 11/07/2017 68 0 68 1922 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 121, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DU  160000 18/08/2017 68 0 68 2353 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 117, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  165000 30/03/2017 71 0 71 2324 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 208, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  120000 10/03/2017 40 0 40 3000 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 315, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  157000 10/04/2017 59 0 59 2661 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 501, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  174000 13/10/2017 50 0 50 3480 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 510, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  193250 21/07/2017 77 0 77 2498 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 305, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DY  118000 07/06/2017 41 0 41 2878 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route

P
age 2045



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 25, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 175000 06/10/2017 68 0 68 2574 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 9, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 162000 20/09/2017 59 0 59 2746 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 19, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 167000 26/04/2017 54 0 54 3093 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 29, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 183500 21/03/2017 47 0 47 3904 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 39, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 170000 20/03/2017 64 0 64 2656 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
1007, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  250000 30/06/2017 91 0 91 2747 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
201, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  172000 11/09/2017 53 0 53 3252 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
402, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  167500 03/08/2017 50 0 50 3350 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
901, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  167500 28/04/2017 54 0 54 3102 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
1007, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  250000 30/06/2017 91 0 91 2747 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Sample size 86 MEAN 3468

Proposed 
value area Premium £3,400 per m2

Charlestown
22, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 134995 15/12/2017 60 0 60 2250 Semi‐Detached Charlsetown
16, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 134995 21/12/2017 60 0 60 2250 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
24, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 131995 30/12/2017 60 0 60 2200 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
8, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 154995 31/08/2017 79 0 79 1962 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
17, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6G 157995 31/08/2017 77 0 77 2052 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
2, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 125995 21/12/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
4, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 123995 22/09/2017 60 0 60 2067 Terraced Charlsetown
6, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 125995 15/09/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
23, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 125995 30/06/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
25, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 125995 30/06/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
Sample size 10 MEAN 2118

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per m2

Claremont
57 Chaplin Close, Salford, M6 8FW  137000 08/09/2017 68 0 68 2015 Apartment Claremont
66 Lancaster Road, Salford, M6 8AW  122000 25/09/2017 56 0 56 2179 Apartment Claremont
Apartment 5 Odean House, 395 Langwrthy Rd, M6 7AH 98000 05/03/2018 58 0 58 1690 Apartment Claremont
8 Keaton Close, Salford, M6 8EB  255000 31/08/2017 103 14 117 2179 Detached Claremont
15 Chaseley Road, Salford, M6 7DZ  330000 13/10/2017 142 14 156 2115 Detached Claremont
8 Keaton Close, Salford, M6 8EB  255000 31/08/2017 103 14 117 2179 Detached Claremont
15 Weylands Grove, Salford, M6 7WX 235000 23/02/2018 86 14 100 2350 Detached Claremont
6 Park Lane, Salford, M6 7RQ 228000 23/09/2017 104 0 104 2192 Detached Claremont
4A Chaseley Road, Salford, M6 7DZ  210000 28/04/2017 92 0 92 2285 Semi‐detached Claremont
31 Light Oaks Road, Salford, M6 8NQ  177000 26/01/2017 94 0 94 1883 Semi‐detached Claremont
6 Lancaster Road, Salford, M6 8AN  303000 23/02/2018 127 0 127 2386 Semi‐detached Claremont
1 Oakville Drive, Salford, M6 8EZ 156000 13/04/2017 74 0 74 2108 Semi‐detached Claremont
43 Claremont Road, Salford, M6 7RJ  117000 20/12/2017 63 0 63 1857 Terraced Claremont
Sample size 13 MEAN 2109

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Eccles
11 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 214995 17/03/2017 88 14 102 2108 Detached Eccles
15 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 249995 31/03/2017 107 14 121 2066 Detached Eccles
17 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 249995 27/03/2017 107 14 121 2066 Detached Eccles
42 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 237995 19/10/2017 88 14 102 2333 Detached Eccles
44 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 259995 07/07/2017 107 14 121 2149 Detached Eccles
46 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 259995 27/07/2017 107 14 121 2149 Detached Eccles
11 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 189995 21/12/2017 72 14 86 2209 Detached Eccles
14 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 239995 21/12/2017 91 14 105 2286 Detached Eccles

P
age 2046



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

1 Ernest Avenue, Manchester, M30 8EY 194995 26/01/2018 72 14 86 2267 Detached Eccles
3 Havenscroft Avenue, Manchester, M30 0TD  126000 10/02/2017 57 0 57 2225 Semi‐detached Eccles
7 Newry Road, Manchester, M30 0LD  140000 19/07/2017 69 0 69 2032 Semi‐detached Eccles
35 Waterslea, Manchester, M30 0SR  140000 23/06/2017 58 0 58 2414 Semi‐detached Eccles
6 Kiel Close, Eccles, Manchester 145000 12/09/2016 70 0 70 2071 Semi‐detached Eccles
11 Leander Close, Eccles, M30 8ER 239995 11/09/2017 72 0 72 3333 Semi‐detached Eccles
30 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 174995 26/05/2017 68 0 68 2573 Semi‐detached Eccles
32 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 174995 26/05/2017 68 0 68 2573 Semi‐detached Eccles
15 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 182995 30/11/2017 72 0 72 2542 Semi‐detached Eccles
16 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 197995 19/02/2018 75 0 75 2640 Semi‐detached Eccles
18 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 199995 19/01/2018 75 0 75 2667 Semi‐detached Eccles
20 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 199995 19/01/2018 75 0 75 2667 Semi‐detached Eccles
1 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 182995 15/01/2018 68 0 68 2691 Terraced Eccles
3 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 177995 21/12/2017 68 0 68 2618 Terraced Eccles
3 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 182995 12/01/2018 68 0 68 2691 Terraced Eccles
Sample size 23 MEAN 2407

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 per sqm

Eccles New Road
Apartment 20, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  133000 10/05/2017 50 0 50 2644 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 27, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  101000 10/02/2017 59 0 59 1712 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 32, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  85000 30/06/2017 47 0 47 1809 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 4, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  105000 28/02/2017 57 0 57 1842 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 51, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  105000 08/03/2017 66 0 66 1591 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 52, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  106000 12/04/2017 79 0 79 1338 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 67, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  97000 15/03/2017 69 0 69 1406 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 136, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW  134100 24/03/2017 75 0 75 1779 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 155, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW  105000 26/01/2018 57 0 57 1842 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 165, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW  101950 09/02/2018 61 0 61 1671 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 97, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW 100000 27/01/2017 61 0 61 1635 Apartment Eccles New Road
70 Sugar Mill Square, Salford, M5 5EB  90550 30/11/2017 55 0 55 1646 Apartment Eccles New Road
22 Sugar Mill Square, Salford, M5 5EB  80000 29/09/2017 64 0 64 1242 Apartment Eccles New Road
66 Sugar Mill Square, Salford, M5 5EB  73000 22/06/2017 70 0 70 1046 Apartment Eccles New Road
2001, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DB  119950 17/08/2017 53 0 53 2269 Apartment Eccles New Road
1009, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DH  100000 24/07/2017 62 0 62 1607 Apartment Eccles New Road
1309, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DJ 69000 03/08/2017 33 0 33 2087 Apartment Eccles New Road
1208, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DJ  120000 11/08/2017 69 0 69 1739 Apartment Eccles New Road
1414, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DJ  89950 03/11/2017 50 0 50 1799 Apartment Eccles New Road
Sample size 19 MEAN 1721

Proposed 
value area Low £1,800 per sqm

Ellesmere Park and Monton
52 Godolphin Close, Manchester, M30 9EW  146000 30/06/2017 63 0 63 2317 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
61 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  115000 19/12/2017 50 0 50 2300 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
62 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  117500 20/08/2017 50 0 50 2350 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 21, Wendover Court, 116 – 118 Monton Road, Manchester, M30 
9HG  230000 11/01/2017 59 0 59 3898 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 28, Wendover Court, 116 – 118 Monton Road, Manchester, M30 
9HG  230000 17/03/2017 65 0 65 3538 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
49 Corbel Way, Manchester, M30 9GH  110000 15/02/2018 35 0 35 3143 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 29 Clarendon Place, 22‐26 Wellington Road, M30 0NP 102500 23/10/2017 53 0 53 1934 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 3 Clarendon Place, 22‐26 Wellington Road, M30 0NP 104000 17/07/2017 54 0 54 1926 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
78 Godolphin Close, Manchester, M30 9EW  368000 26/10/2016 116 14 130 2831 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
32 Greenwood Place, Eccles, Manchester, M30 9EX 400000 02/05/2017 139 14 153 2614 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton

P
age 2047



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

53 Cavendish Road, Manchester, M30 9EE  405000 20/01/2017 161 14 175 2310 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
2 Cavendish Road, Manchester, M30 9JF  770000 31/07/2017 279 14 293 2626 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
58 Cavendish Road, Eccles, Manchester, M30 9EF 600000 21/12/2017 176 14 190 3158 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
34 Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9GG  335000 31/10/2017 108 14 122 2746 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
32 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  245000 07/04/2017 109 0 109 2258 Semi‐detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
34 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  255000 11/08/2017 50 0 50 5100 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
40 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  243000 02/10/2017 110 0 110 2209 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
73 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  225000 27/10/2017 91 0 91 2473 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
76 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  232000 31/01/2018 73 0 73 3178 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
3 Chorlton Brook, Manchester, M30 9NP  237500 07/08/2017 80 0 80 2969 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
7 Chorlton Brook, Manchester, M30 9NP  260000 10/07/2017 93 0 93 2796 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
14 Corbel Way, Manchester, M30 9GH  230000 30/06/2017 100 0 100 2300 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
28 Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9GG  241000 15/08/2017 95 0 95 2533 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
36c Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9GG  252500 31/01/2018 99 0 99 2551 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
49 Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9QS  205000 01/09/2017 96 0 96 2135 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
Sample size 25 MEAN 2728

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Higher Broughton
Apartment 1, 226 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 135000 16/07/2017 61 0 61 2213 Apartment Higher Broughton
3 Carnarvon Street, Salford, M7 4QH  325000 21/12/2017 116 14 130 2500 Detached  Higher Broughton
Apartments 1, 226 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 135000 16/06/2017 61 0 61 2213 Flat Higher Broughton
12 Bugle Close, Salford, M7 2GP  145000 13/07/2017 60 0 60 2417 Terraced Higher Broughton
6 Bugle Close, Salford, M7 2GP  141000 08/02/2017 60 0 60 2350 Terraced Higher Broughton
23 Bandy Fields Place, Salford, M7 2ZT  180100 22/08/2017 108 0 108 1668 Terraced Higher Broughton
5 Bandy Fields Place, Salford, M7 2ZT  193000 01/06/2017 102 0 102 1892 Terraced Higher Broughton
228 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 225000 02/02/2018 110 0 110 2045 Terraced Higher Broughton
350 Lower Broughton Road, Salford, M7 2HY  237000 19/01/2017 96 0 96 2469 Terraced Higher Broughton
223 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 225000 02/02/2018 110 0 110 2045 Terraced Higher Broughton
Sample size 10 MEAN 2181

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Irlam
5 Mariners Way, Manchester, M44 6GN  69500 28/04/2017 34 0 34 2044 Apartment Irlam
51 Rixtonleys Drive, Manchester, M44 6RN  285000 25/04/2017 125 14 139 2050 Detached Irlam
47 Rixtonleys Drive, Manchester, M44 6RN  295000 01/09/2017 78 14 92 3207 Detached Irlam
2 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  200000 26/06/2017 100 14 114 1754 Detached Irlam
3 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  177000 30/06/2017 69 14 83 2133 Detached Irlam
6 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  220000 23/08/2017 75 14 89 2472 Detached Irlam
29 Stickens Lock Lane, Manchester, M44 6RG  272000 11/05/2017 115 14 129 2109 Detached Irlam
33 Stickens Lock Lane, Manchester, M44 6RG  195000 11/05/2017 85 14 99 1970 Detached Irlam
3 Powder Mill Close, Manchester, M44 6RR  212000 22/06/2017 85 14 99 2141 Detached Irlam
11 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  185000 26/01/2018 99 0 99 1869 Semi‐detached Irlam
39 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  182000 20/11/2017 62 0 62 2935 Semi‐detached Irlam
24 Stickens Lock Lane, Manchester, M44 6RG  162000 06/07/2017 64 0 64 2530 Semi‐detached Irlam
15 Mariners Way, Manchester, M44 6GN  146000 14/07/2017 72 0 72 2028 Semi‐detached Irlam
8 Mariners Way, Manchester, M44 6GN  140000 12/05/2017 87 0 87 1613 Semi‐detached Irlam
18 Colling Close, Manchester, M44 6BY  160000 24/05/2017 82 0 82 1951 Semi‐detached Irlam
49 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  155000 05/12/2017 69 0 69 2246 Terraced Irlam
Sample size 16 MEAN 2191

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Kersal Moor
105 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL 115000 06/10/2017 55 0 55 2091 Apartment Kersal Moor

P
age 2048



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

77 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL 95000 27/10/2017 44 0 44 2159 Apartment Kersal Moor
17 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP  230000 05/04/2017 102 14 116 1983 Detached Kersal Moor
64 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP  214000 31/08/2017 101 14 115 1861 Detached Kersal Moor
8 Sisley Close, Salford, M7 3BB  209000 27/10/2017 85 14 99 2111 Detached Kersal Moor
19 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP 245000 23/01/2018 102 14 116 2112 Detached Kersal Moor
2 Stubbs Close, Salford, M7 3BD 220000 27/07/2017 94 14 108 2037 Detached Kersal Moor
9 Racecourse Way, Salford, M7 3AA  265000 19/12/2017 102 14 116 2284 Detached Kersal Moor
105 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  115000 06/10/2017 55 0 55 2093 Flat Kersal Moor
77 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  95000 27/10/2017 44 0 44 2145 Flat Kersal Moor
131 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  167500 24/04/2017 78 0 78 2160 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
64 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 195000 17/11/2017 84 0 84 2321 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
28 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 186000 19/12/2017 96 0 96 1938 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
49 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP  168000 21/07/2017 68 0 68 2471 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
5 Racecourse Way, Salford, M7 3AA  192000 06/12/2017 83 0 83 2313 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
28 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 186000 19/12/2017 96 0 96 1938 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
64 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 195000 17/12/2017 84 0 84 2321 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
131 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL 167500 24/04/2017 78 0 78 2147 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
121 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  171000 15/01/2018 95 0 95 1800 Terraced Kersal Moor
Sample size 19 MEAN 2120

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Langworthy
38 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  145000 31/07/2017 56 0 56 2574 Terraced Langworthy
48 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  141000 12/05/2017 70 0 70 2003 Terraced Langworthy
12 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  135000 09/02/2018 68 0 68 1985 Terraced Langworthy
4 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  150500 08/09/2017 54 0 54 2787 Terraced Langworthy
54 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  133000 05/05/2017 70 0 70 1889 Terraced Langworthy
5 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  135000 10/04/2017 69 0 69 1957 Terraced Langworthy
11 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  140000 31/03/2017 54 0 54 2594 Terraced Langworthy
29 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  167000 13/10/2017 53 0 53 3151 Terraced Langworthy
39 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  142000 15/12/2017 67 0 67 2119 Terraced Langworthy
45 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  145000 08/01/2018 69 0 69 2101 Terraced Langworthy
57 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  146000 07/02/2018 52 0 52 2808 Terraced Langworthy
42 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  146500 01/03/2018 70 0 70 2093 Terraced Langworthy
9 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  146000 13/11/2017 67 0 67 2179 Terraced Langworthy
16 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  145000 15/09/2017 70 0 70 2071 Terraced Langworthy
28 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  161000 01/11/2017 84 0 84 1917 Terraced Langworthy
30 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  141000 17/03/2017 70 0 70 2003 Terraced Langworthy
22 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  132500 10/03/2017 70 0 70 1882 Terraced Langworthy
31 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB 135000 15/03/2017 52 0 52 2587 Terraced Langworthy
72 Laburnum Street, Salford, M6 5LZ  160000 05/05/2017 66 0 66 2422 Terraced Langworthy
50 Laburnum Street, Salford, M6 5LZ  142000 08/12/2017 68 0 68 2088 Terraced Langworthy
48 Laburnum Street, Salford, M6 5LZ  133000 24/03/2017 50 0 50 2660 Terraced Langworthy
18 Field Street, Salford, M6 5EY  159000 10/02/2017 67 0 67 2373 Terraced Langworthy
8 Field Street, Salford, M6 5EY  175000 24/08/2017 103 0 103 1699 Terraced Langworthy
Sample size 23 MEAN 2258

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Little Hulton
27 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  162500 21/07/2017 79 14 93 1742 Detached Little Huilton
3 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  212000 17/08/2017 112 14 126 1683 Detached Little Huilton
108 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YG  141000 28/11/2017 67 0 67 2104 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
16 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  178200 21/07/2017 95 0 95 1876 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
18 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  132000 26/01/2018 57 0 57 2316 Semi‐detached Little Huilton

P
age 2049



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

46 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  128850 11/12/2017 71 0 71 1815 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
40 Courtyard Drive, Manchester, M28 0YR  142500 19/05/2017 67 0 67 2135 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
42 Courtyard Drive, Manchester, M28 0YR  130000 27/10/2017 67 0 67 1932 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
38 Hallview Way, Manchester, M28 0BF  125000 22/05/2017 75 0 75 1665 Terraced Little Huilton
142 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YG  116000 26/01/2018 57 0 57 2035 Terraced Little Huilton
143 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YG  130000 21/07/2017 70 0 70 1857 Terraced Little Huilton
Sample size 11 MEAN 1924

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per sqm 

Lower Broughton
39 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AE  169950 06/06/2017 83 0 83 2036 Apartment Lower Broughton
43 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AE  93000 17/12/2017 37 0 37 2514 Apartment Lower Broughton
Apartment 5, 2 Oriel Gardens, Salford, M7 1AA 104000 23/06/2017 37 0 37 2811 Apartment Lower Broughton
Apartment 4, 132 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UF  89000 02/03/2017 37 0 37 2405 Apartment Lower Broughton
Apartment 125, The Vibe, 175 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UZ  120000 28/03/2017 48 0 48 2511 Apartment Lower Broughton
406 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1ZN 125000 06/11/2017 61 0 61 2049 Apartment Lower Broughton
238 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1ZN 115000 06/01/2017 57 0 57 2018 Apartment Lower Broughton
24 River View Drive, Salford, M7 1BG 240000 24/11/2017 114 14 128 1875 Detached Lower Broughton
7 Water Meadow Lane, Salford, M7 1AR 255000 20/02/2018 105 14 119 2143 Detached Lower Broughton
25 Lord Street, Salford, M7 1UA  212000 28/04/2017 121 0 121 1752 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
38 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AD  188000 12/05/2017 88 0 88 2147 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
61 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AE 222500 07/07/2017 112 0 112 1991 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
61 Meadow Road, Salford, M7 1PA  200000 08/05/2017 97 0 97 2062 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
79 Meadow Road, Salford, M7 1PA  207950 30/09/2016 115 0 115 1808 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
21 Hatton Gardens, Salford, M7 1AH 220000 31/03/2017 121 0 121 1818 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
17 Dragonfly Close, Salford, M7 1BH 188000 21/08/2017 83 0 83 2265 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
9 Harrison Street, Salford, M7 1AU 260000 26/10/2017 103 0 103 2524 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
8 Cowslip Close, Salford, m7 1tb 213000 29/01/2018 97 0 97 2196 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
34 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AD  219995 07/11/2017 112 0 112 1964 Terraced Lower Broughton
182 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UF 215000 23/10/2017 111 0 111 1937 Terraced Lower Broughton
162 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UF 213500 13/12/2017 102 0 102 2093 Terraced Lower Broughton
68 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1LG  172000 20/01/2017 88 0 88 1964 Terraced Lower Broughton
70 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1LG  180000 21/04/2017 88 0 88 2055 Terraced Lower Broughton
Sample size 23 MEAN 2128

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Lower Kersal
5 Cowling Street, Salford, M7 3NT  110000 03/03/2017 64 0 64 1728 Terraced Lower Kersal
54 Castlewood Road, Salford, M7 3GN  152000 16/01/2017 71 0 71 2141 Detached Lower Kersal
57 Castlewood Road, Salford, M7 3QW  137000 22/06/2017 78 0 78 1767 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
242 Littleton Road, M7 3QS 112000 01/08/2017 84 0 84 1333 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
5 Illona Drive, Salford, M7 3GE 127000 07/09/2017 77 0 77 1649 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
5 Matlock Avenue, Salford, M7 3RN 160000 27/10/2017 102 0 102 1569 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
8 Tideway Close, Salford, M7 3AR 99950 11/07/2016 54 0 54 1851 Terraced Lower Kersal
6 Lamorna Close, Salford, M7 3GT 111000 30/11/2017 72 0 72 1542 Terraced Lower Kersal
13 Ukraine Road, Salford, M7 3TE 95000 11/12/2017 65 0 65 1462 Terraced Lower Kersal
5 Valencia Road, Salford, M7 3TD 90000 08/06/2017 67 0 67 1343 Terraced Lower Kersal
Sample size 10 MEAN 1638

Proposed 
value area Low £1,800 per sqm

Mid Swinton
2 Safflower Avenue, Manchester, M27 9LA  175000 02/03/2017 89 14 103 1699 Detached Mid Swinton
11 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  205000 27/10/2017 86 14 100 2050 Detached Mid Swinton

P
age 2050



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

53 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 120000 17/11/2017 59 14 73 1644 Detached Mid Swinton
17 Borchardt Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FN 249950 23/08/2017 86 14 100 2500 Detached Mid Swinton
36 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FR  253000 21/04/2017 113 14 127 1992 Detached Mid Swinton
1 Sillavan Close, Manchester, M27 4FS 243000 25/08/2017 107 14 121 2008 Detached Mid Swinton
82 Hospital Road, Manchester, M27 4EY  257000 15/12/2017 112 14 126 2040 Detached Mid Swinton
1 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  183000 27/10/2017 71.88 0 71.88 2546 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
2 Liebert Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FP 180000 18/09/2017 77 0 77 2338 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
7 Liebert Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FP 155000 18/08/2017 61 0 61 2541 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
16 Liebert Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FP 217250 22/09/2017 87 0 87 2497 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
21 Stancliff Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FY 205000 24/11/2017 80 0 80 2563 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
77 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  150000 19/01/2018 80 0 80 1875 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
2 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FR 217000 29/09/2017 108 0 108 2009 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
4 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FR 205000 16/08/2017 108 0 108 1898 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
63 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 155000 04/08/2017 95 0 95 1632 Terraced Mid Swinton
71 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 145000 21/06/2017 88 0 88 1648 Terraced Mid Swinton
73 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 165000 20/10/2017 95 0 95 1737 Terraced Mid Swinton
31 Wrigley Avenue, Pendlebury, Manchester 195000 01/12/2017 75 0 75 2600 Terraced Mid Swinton
101 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  185000 18/08/2017 76 0 76 2434 Terraced Mid Swinton
43 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  145000 24/02/2017 58 0 58 2500 Terraced Mid Swinton
89 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  210000 23/08/2017 113 0 113 1858 Terraced Mid Swinton
25 Sillavan Close, Manchester, M27 4FS 208000 21/04/2017 92 0 92 2261 Terraced Mid Swinton
60 Hospital Road, Manchester, M27 4EY  205000 14/07/2017 80 0 80 2563 Terraced Mid Swinton
70 Hospital Road, Manchester, M27 4EY  205000 21/06/2017 113 0 113 1814 Terraced Mid Swinton
Sample size 25 MEAN 2130

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

North Swinton and Clifton West
77 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  87000 10/03/2017 57 0 57 1525 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
Flat 1, Ashley Court, Hall Street, Manchester, M27 6FL  59950 11/01/2017 34 0 34 1763 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
Flat 12, Ashley Court, Hall Street, Manchester, M27 6FL  63500 17/03/2017 30 0 30 2110 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
Flat 14, Ashley Court, Hall Street, Manchester, M27 6FL  55000 03/05/2017 34 0 34 1642 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
43, Scholars Court, Collegiate Way, Manchester, M27 4LA  93000 18/08/2017 52 0 52 1788 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
2 Safflower Avenue, Manchester, M27 9LA  202000 19/01/2018 89 14 103 2270 Detached North Swinton and Clifton West
11 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  205000 27/10/2017 86 14 100 2384 Detached North Swinton and Clifton West
36 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  138000 26/01/2018 52 0 52 2654 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
79 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  90000 06/07/2017 52 0 52 1744 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
24 Ealinger Way, Manchester, M27 6HG  132000 12/06/2017 57 0 57 2316 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
3 Cheesington Rise, Clifton, Manchester, M27 8LB 119000 09/03/2018 51 0 51 2333 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
18a Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  120000 13/10/2017 58 0 58 2069 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
16 Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  115000 18/08/2017 58 0 58 1983 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
29 Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  162000 27/07/2017 77 0 77 2095 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
44 Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  100000 08/05/2017 71 0 71 1401 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
1 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  183000 27/10/2017 72 0 72 2546 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
60 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  88000 10/03/2017 53 0 53 1668 Terraced North Swinton and Clifton West
22 Brightsmith Way, Manchester, M27 9GE  114500 20/01/2017 72 0 72 1590 Terraced North Swinton and Clifton West
25 Queensmere Drive, Manchester, M27 8PY  150000 24/03/2017 99 0 99 1510 Terraced North Swinton and Clifton West
Sample size 19 MEAN 1992

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per sqm 

North Walkden 
33 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  80000 13/08/2017 44 0 44 1818 Apartment North Walkden 
33 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA 85000 31/10/2017 44 0 44 1932 Apartment North Walkden 

P
age 2051



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

14 Spinners Drive, Manchester, M28 3UB  94000 02/06/2017 43 0 43 2186 Apartment North Walkden 
52 Oakwood Drive, Manchester, M28 3HN  116000 27/06/2017 71 0 71 1634 Apartment North Walkden 
35 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 107995 21/12/2017 63 0 63 1714 Apartment North Walkden 
37 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 111995 21/12/2017 63 0 63 1778 Apartment North Walkden 
26 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA 255000 19/10/2017 121 14 135 2107 Detached North Walkden 
47 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  265000 09/11/2017 121 14 135 2190 Detached North Walkden 
23 Spinners Drive, Manchester, M28 3UB  275000 21/12/2017 121 14 135 2273 Detached North Walkden 
20 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF  274950 26/05/2017 116 14 130 2370 Detached North Walkden 
22 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF 229950 19/05/2017 103 14 117 2233 Detached North Walkden 
50 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF  275000 16/06/2017 115 14 129 2391 Detached North Walkden 
70 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF 246000 27/01/2007 116 14 130 2121 Detached North Walkden 
29 Greenhaven Close, Manchester, M28 3TX  215000 17/02/2017 90 14 104 2381 Detached North Walkden 
4 Thorne Crescent, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3YF 239950 29/09/2017 116 14 130 2069 Detached North Walkden 
6 Thorne Crescent, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3YF 279950 28/09/2017 120 14 134 2333 Detached North Walkden 
4 Herringborne Road, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3YK 279950 15/12/2017 120 14 134 2333 Detached North Walkden 
4 Oakwood Drive, Salford, M6 7NQ  165000 24/03/2017 78 14 92 2115 Detached North Walkden 
29 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 205995 15/12/2017 77 14 91 2675 Detached North Walkden 
7 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 255995 14/08/2017 112 14 126 2286 Detached North Walkden 
19 Spinners Drive, Manchester, M28 3UB  212000 27/10/2017 103 0 103 2058 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
1 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 190995 20/10/2017 77 0 77 2480 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
11 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 225995 20/10/2017 111 0 111 2036 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
15 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 225995 20/10/2017 111 0 111 2036 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
17 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 224995 24/11/2017 103 0 103 2184 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
19 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 220995 24/11/2017 103 0 103 2146 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
25 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 222995 07/12/2017 89 0 89 2506 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
27 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 197995 26/01/2018 77 0 77 2571 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
31 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 226995 15/12/2017 103 0 103 2204 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
33 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 226995 21/12/2017 103 0 103 2204 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
1 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 207995 06/05/2017 89 0 89 2337 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
3 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 222995 29/06/2017 103 0 103 2165 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
5 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 224995 25/08/2017 103 0 103 2184 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
43 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA 165000 16/08/2017 82 0 82 2012 Terraced North Walkden 
56 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  158000 24/03/2017 82 0 82 1927 Terraced North Walkden 
59 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  158500 11/10/2017 82 0 82 1933 Terraced North Walkden 
32 Yarn Close, Manchester, M28 3UG  149950 13/01/2017 67 0 67 2238 Terraced North Walkden 
43 Yarn Close, Manchester, M28 3UG  130000 30/06/2017 59 0 59 2203 Terraced North Walkden 
21 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 139995 01/12/2017 59 0 59 2373 Terraced North Walkden 
23 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 142995 01/12/2017 59 0 59 2424 Terraced North Walkden 
10 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 193995 23/02/2018 77 0 77 2519 Terraced North Walkden 
Sample size 41 MEAN 2187

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Ordsall
Apartment 3 C, Quay 5, 236 Ordsall Lane, Salford, M5 3NE  90000 10/02/2017 49 0 49 1853 Apartment Ordsall
6 West Craven Street, Salford, M5 3GN  112500 24/02/2017 59 0 59 1923 Apartment Ordsall
29 Hulton Street, Salford, M5 3GE  176000 03/03/2017 83 0 83 2120 Apartment Ordsall
Apartment 21 B, Quay 5, 234 Ordsall Lane, Salford, M5 3WJ  99000 09/02/2017 45 0 45 2208 Apartment Ordsall
45 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GH  149500 24/10/2017 63 0 63 2377 Apartment Ordsall
6 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GG  112000 20/12/2017 44 0 44 2545 Apartment Ordsall
28 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GG  170000 26/09/2017 83 0 83 2048 Semi‐detached Ordsall
43 Whimberry Close, Salford, M5 3WL 154950 03/07/2017 75 0 75 2069 Semi‐detached Ordsall
18 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GG  177000 13/04/2017 83 0 83 2133 Semi‐detached Ordsall

P
age 2052



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

3 Cooke Place, Salford, M5 3LJ  188750 30/03/2017 107 0 107 1757 Terraced Ordsall
72 Taylorson Street, Salford, M5 3EX  168000 04/08/2017 71 0 71 2353 Terraced Ordsall
78 Taylorson Street, Salford, M5 3EX  178000 11/07/2017 73 0 73 2432 Terraced Ordsall
Sample size 12 MEAN 2152

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Ordsall Riverside
3, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  165000 08/02/2018 58 0 58 2845 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
204, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  179950 22/11/2017 55 0 55 3268 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
206, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  187000 13/10/2017 94 0 94 1997 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
409, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  172000 04/01/2017 44 0 44 3935 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
609, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  171000 01/08/2017 71 0 71 2408 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
808, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  134000 10/11/2017 49 0 49 2735 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 49 Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB 91000 25/08/2017 32 0 32 2844 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24 Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB 123000 28/07/2017 43 0 43 2860 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 53 Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB 115000 10/02/2017 32 0 32 3594 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 63, Steele House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UU  157000 31/01/2018 47 0 47 3340 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 4, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  145000 08/12/2017 60 0 60 2417 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 48, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  160000 02/03/2018 57 0 57 2807 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  143000 19/10/2017 61 0 61 2344 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 42, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  132000 01/09/2017 43 0 43 3085 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 50, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  128500 06/01/2017 53 0 53 2425 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 57, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  145000 07/04/2017 62 0 62 2339 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 61, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  125000 03/07/2017 43 0 43 2879 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 15, Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB  128500 09/06/2017 60 0 60 2142 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB  123000 28/07/2017 43 0 43 2860 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 53, Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB  115000 10/02/2017 32 0 32 3549 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 17, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  145000 25/04/2017 55 0 55 2636 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 22, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  154950 02/02/2018 59 0 59 2626 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 32, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  169500 07/07/2017 74 0 74 2291 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 53, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  125000 28/07/2017 49 0 49 2551 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 61, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  165000 15/12/2017 58 0 58 2845 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 65, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  155050 31/03/2017 55 0 55 2819 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 15, The Riley Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4TA  182000 05/09/2017 73 0 73 2493 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 18, The Riley Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4TA  185000 30/10/2017 73 0 73 2534 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 29, The Riley Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4TA  172500 18/10/2017 73 0 73 2363 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1106, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  137000 19/10/2017 47 0 47 2932 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1113, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  186000 27/01/2017 66 0 66 2818 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1120, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  180000 07/07/2017 59 0 59 3066 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1010, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  133000 12/12/2017 46 0 46 2891 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 12, Gilbert House, 2 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DE  168000 15/09/2017 59 0 59 2828 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Gilbert House, 2 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DE 160000 10/07/2017 60 0 60 2678 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 30, Gilbert House, 2 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DE 160000 31/07/2017 58 0 58 2759 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  155000 20/02/2017 74 0 74 2095 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 30, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  152000 10/11/2017 59 0 59 2576 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 33, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  125000 19/01/2017 59 0 59 2128 Apartment Ordsall Riverside

P
age 2053



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 42, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  153000 09/06/2017 55 0 55 2775 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 44, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  173000 22/09/2017 60 0 60 2893 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 19, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  154000 21/07/2017 57 0 57 2702 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 22, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  146000 15/03/2017 59 0 59 2463 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 27, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  160000 26/09/2017 58 0 58 2746 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 32, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  145000 29/01/2018 54 0 54 2685 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 33, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  156000 07/07/2017 73 0 73 2127 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 35, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  149950 10/11/2017 69 0 69 2173 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 12, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR  150000 02/02/2017 58 0 58 2573 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 2, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR  170000 23/10/2017 68 0 68 2499 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 25, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR 152000 30/10/2017 60 0 60 2533 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 35, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR 171000 07/03/2017 53 0 53 3226 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 5, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR  145000 30/06/2017 69 0 69 2108 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 14, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  166766 20/12/2017 70 0 70 2382 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 38, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  162000 10/03/2017 61 0 61 2677 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 41, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  158000 28/04/2017 58 0 58 2717 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 42, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  173000 17/11/2017 59 0 59 2932 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 55, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  155000 28/04/2017 59 0 59 2642 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 104, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  132500 20/06/2017 61 0 61 2172 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 107, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  132500 20/06/2017 65 0 65 2038 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 305, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  135000 25/09/2017 45 0 45 3000 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 406, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  165000 16/08/2017 62 0 62 2661 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 504, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  170000 28/07/2017 61 0 61 2787 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 601, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  185000 03/03/2017 57 0 57 3246 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 709, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NY  165000 15/08/2017 53 0 53 3113 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Sample size 64 MEAN 2693

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Pendleton
25 Amersham Park Road, Salford, M6 5TQ  166995 29/07/2016 85 0 85 1965 Terraced Pendleton
19 Amersham Park Road, Salford, M6 5TQ  168000 24/11/2017 85 0 85 1976 Terraced Pendleton
21 Amersham Park Road, Salford, M6 5TQ  164995 01/07/2016 85 0 85 1941 Terraced Pendleton
7 Scanlon Lane, Salford, M5 4GW 176995 29/06/2017 85 0 85 2082 Terraced Pendleton
10 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  136995 03/06/2016 71 0 71 1930 Terraced Pendleton
12 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  162995 10/06/2016 85 0 85 1918 Terraced Pendleton
16 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF 160995 15/04/2016 86 0 86 1872 Terraced Pendleton
2 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  191995 01/07/2016 119 0 119 1613 Terraced Pendleton
22 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  157995 18/03/2016 86 0 86 1837 Terraced Pendleton
11 Langshaw Street, Salford, M6 5TG  161995 12/05/2016 59 0 59 2746 Terraced Pendleton
19 Langshaw Street, Salford, M6 5TG  156995 29/04/2016 86 0 86 1826 Terraced Pendleton
11 Coconut Grove, Salford, M6 5UE 130000 24/10/2016 63 0 63 2063 Semi‐detached Pendleton
Sample size 12 MEAN 1973

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per sqm 

Salford Quays
Apartment 10, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  300000 09/02/2017 103 0 103 2913 Apartment Salford Quays

P
age 2054



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 11, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  172500 23/01/2018 67 0 67 2575 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 27, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  295000 28/11/2017 103 0 103 2864 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 50, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  170000 25/05/2017 53 0 53 3208 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 54, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  190000 01/02/2017 53 0 53 3603 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 56, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  175000 19/05/2017 54 0 54 3247 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 59, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  180000 09/06/2017 49 0 49 3666 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 65, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  182500 31/10/2017 32 0 32 5634 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 73, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  295000 30/11/2017 95 0 95 3105 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 79, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  585000 19/05/2017 164 0 164 3577 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 90, N V Building, 98 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BD  180500 15/01/2018 47 0 47 3840 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 104, N V Building, 98 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BD  305000 01/02/2017 113 0 113 2707 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 125, N V Building, 98 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BD  185000 29/09/2017 58 0 58 3180 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 167, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  310000 16/02/2018 100 0 100 3100 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 177, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  200000 18/08/2017 53 0 53 3774 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 186, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  315000 28/07/2017 104 0 104 3029 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 208, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  187500 23/02/2018 47 0 47 3989 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 228, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  270000 21/12/2017 80 0 80 3375 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 240, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  600000 13/07/2017 171 0 171 3509 Apartment Salford Quays
204, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  275000 14/03/2017 79 0 79 3481 Apartment Salford Quays
208, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  200000 14/07/2017 77 0 77 2597 Apartment Salford Quays
217, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  162000 25/01/2017 57 0 57 2827 Apartment Salford Quays
407, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  265000 30/01/2018 80 0 80 3313 Apartment Salford Quays
409, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  265000 20/02/2017 79 0 79 3373 Apartment Salford Quays
509, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  252000 09/08/2017 80 0 80 3158 Apartment Salford Quays
708, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  273500 31/10/2017 79 0 79 3462 Apartment Salford Quays
711, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  210000 19/12/2017 73 0 73 2877 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1012, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  270000 15/09/2017 62 0 62 4383 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 802, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  330000 14/12/2017 93 0 93 3548 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment P3, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  500000 16/02/2017 122 0 122 4106 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment P8, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  520000 16/02/2017 177 0 177 2939 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 204, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AX 290000 18/08/2017 94 0 94 3085 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 406, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AX  218000 11/10/2017 60 0 60 3633 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1301, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AY  330000 25/07/2017 108 0 108 3046 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1401, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AY  315000 14/06/2017 100 0 100 3142 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1803, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  140000 16/02/2017 42 0 42 3310 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 2004, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  115300 29/06/2017 32 0 32 3614 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 2005, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  228000 13/11/2017 66 0 66 3465 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 2306, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  111000 03/01/2017 33 0 33 3314 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1106, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TJ  128000 08/09/2017 33 0 33 3822 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1107, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TJ  154950 28/02/2017 66 0 66 2356 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 805, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TJ  237000 21/06/2017 66 0 66 3602 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 18, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  220000 16/01/2018 64 0 64 3438 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 46, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  163000 09/06/2017 50 0 50 3241 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 49, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  215000 24/02/2017 69 0 69 3110 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 65, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  245000 24/01/2017 58 0 58 4224 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 102, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 238000 31/05/2017 66 0 66 3606 Apartment Salford Quays

P
age 2055



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 124, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 242000 07/09/2017 69 0 69 3507 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 132, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 170000 05/05/2017 55 0 55 3091 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 137, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 335000 11/01/2018 72 0 72 4653 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 186, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 135000 06/10/2017 39 0 39 3462 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 174, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 231000 14/09/2017 73 0 73 3164 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 198, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 245000 01/09/2017 72 0 72 3403 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 143, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 232000 03/08/2017 85 0 85 2729 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 190, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 205000 17/02/2017 72 0 72 2847 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 206, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  90000 10/10/2017 30 0 30 2972 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 404, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  152500 21/04/2017 50 0 50 3039 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 406, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  88000 24/08/2017 30 0 30 2893 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 507, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  117500 01/12/2017 43 0 43 2733 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 801, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  160000 15/09/2017 80 0 80 2000 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 805, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  158000 19/12/2017 65 0 65 2431 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 907, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  119950 27/10/2017 41 0 41 2917 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1102, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SB 145000 01/03/2018 56 0 56 2589 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1306, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SB 117500 29/01/2018 31 0 31 3790 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1603, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SB 225000 26/01/2018 79 0 79 2848 Apartment Salford Quays
Sample size 65 MEAN 3293

Proposed 
value area Premium £3,400 per sqm

Seedley
1 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG 206995 29/04/2016 90 0 90 2300 Detached Seedley
10 De La Salle Way, Salford, M6 8ER 189895 29/07/2016 80 0 80 2374 Semi‐detached Seedley
15 De La Salle Way, Salford, M6 8ER  202995 01/07/2016 104 0 104 1952 Semi‐detached Seedley
Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford 200000 67 0 67 2985 Semi‐detached Seedley
25 Peveril Road, Salford, M6 6LN 148500 84 0 84 1768 Semi‐detached Seedley
38 Lostock Road, Salford, M5 5LH 125000 25/09/2017 68 0 68 1838 Semi‐detached Seedley
7 Lostock Road, Salford, M5 5LH 173000 15/09/2017 83 0 83 2084 Semi‐detached Seedley
3 Joslyn Road, Salford, M5 5LQ 165000 16/02/2018 82 0 82 2012 Semi‐detached Seedley
15 Hart Hill Drive, Salford, M5 5LX 163000 25/09/2017 76 0 76 2145 Semi‐detached Seedley
11 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG  176995 01/04/2016 80 0 80 2212 Terraced Seedley
17 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG  179995 01/04/2016 80 0 80 2250 Terraced Seedley
3 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG  180995 18/04/2016 80 0 80 2262 Terraced Seedley
Sample size 12 MEAN 2182

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

South Swinton
Apartment 9 Worsley Point, 251 Worsley Road, M27 0YE 167000 28/04/2016 83 0 83 2012 Apartment South Swinton
Apartment 20 Worsley Point, 251 Worsley Road, M27 0YE 187000 31/03/2016 129 0 129 1450 Apartment South Swinton
11 Hardy Grove, Manchester, M27 0DA  350000 15/06/2017 129 14 143 2448 Detached South Swinton
31 Hardy Grove, Manchester, M27 0DA  290000 26/06/2017 117 14 131 2214 Detached South Swinton
15 Houghton Lane, Manchester, M27 0DX  405000 22/08/2017 139 14 153 2647 Detached South Swinton
7 Knights Grove, Manchester, M27 0GL  235000 02/03/2017 74 0 74 3159 Semi‐detached South Swinton
4 Lambton Road, Manchester, M28 2ST  320000 30/08/2017 101 0 101 3168 Semi‐detached South Swinton
40 Lambton Road, Manchester, M28 2ST  370000 16/02/2018 153 0 153 2418 Semi‐detached South Swinton

P
age 2056



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

60 Thorn Road, Manchester, M27 5QT  238000 11/07/2017 108 0 108 2195 Semi‐detached South Swinton
33 Houghton Lane, Manchester, M27 0DZ  264000 11/09/2017 86 0 86 3070 Semi‐detached South Swinton
Sample size 10 MEAN 2478

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 per sqm

South Walkden
2a Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 294995 03/08/2017 109 14 123 2398 Detached South Walkden
2B Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 339995 17/08/2017 128 14 142 2394 Detached South Walkden
4 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 314995 23/08/2017 128 14 142 2218 Detached South Walkden
6 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 334995 17/08/2017 128 14 142 2359 Detached South Walkden
8 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 359995 25/08/2017 138 14 152 2368 Detached South Walkden
10 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 324995 17/03/2017 128 14 142 2289 Detached South Walkden
12 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 259995 24/03/2017 95 14 109 2385 Detached South Walkden
14 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 269995 31/03/2017 105 14 119 2269 Detached South Walkden
16 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 294995 05/05/2017 113 14 127 2323 Detached South Walkden
18 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 271995 10/05/2017 105 14 119 2286 Detached South Walkden
33 Avoncliffe Road, Manchester, M28 3UJ 364995 24/11/2017 128 14 142 2570 Detached South Walkden
14 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 318995 02/06/2017 133 14 147 2170 Detached South Walkden
15 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 254995 28/04/2017 104 14 118 2161 Detached South Walkden
16 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 380995 05/06/2017 157 14 171 2228 Detached South Walkden
17 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 305995 28/04/2017 119 14 133 2301 Detached South Walkden
18 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 342995 22/06/2017 135 14 149 2302 Detached South Walkden
20 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 343500 31/05/2017 135 14 149 2305 Detached South Walkden
22 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 389995 31/05/2017 157 14 171 2281 Detached South Walkden
24 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 349995 07/07/2017 122 14 136 2573 Detached South Walkden
26 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 359995 30/06/2017 156 14 170 2118 Detached South Walkden
28 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 305995 30/06/2017 119 14 133 2301 Detached South Walkden
1 Bullbridge View, Manchester, M28 3YB 249995 30/11/2017 89 14 103 2427 Detached South Walkden
26 Bullbridge View, Manchester, M28 3YB 322995 31/01/2018 133 14 147 2197 Detached South Walkden
28 Bullbridge View, Manchester, M28 3YB 269995 09/01/2018 104 14 118 2288 Detached South Walkden
1 Edge Green, Worsley, M28 7XP 265000 03/02/2017 75 14 89 2978 Detached South Walkden
23 Langtree Close, Worsley, M28 7XT 270000 03/11/2017 82 14 96 2813 Detached South Walkden
33 Eden Vale, Worsley, M28 1YR 400000 01/12/2017 115 14 129 3101 Detached South Walkden
17 Hindburn Drive, Worsley, M28 1XY 335000 09/11/2017 121 14 135 2481 Detached South Walkden
25 Bellpit Close, Manchester, M28 7XH  325000 25/08/2017 120.18 14 134.18 2422 Detached South Walkden
43 Bellpit Close, Manchester, M28 7XH  350000 14/09/2017 119.24 14 133.24 2627 Detached South Walkden
24Greylag Crescent, Manchester, M28 7AB 180000 24/11/2017 65 0 65 2769 Terraced South Walkden
Sample size 31 MEAN 2410

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 per sqm

Trinity
30 Linen Court, Salford, M3 6JG  115000 14/09/2016 58 0 58 1989 Apartment Trinity
65 Linen Court, Salford, M3 6JG  165000 17/01/2017 95 0 95 1737 Apartment Trinity
6 Angora Drive, Salford, M3 6AL 101000 03/11/2017 53 0 53 1906 Flat Trinity
26 Bevill Square, Salford, M3 6BB  113000 28/07/2017 63 0 63 1794 Flat Trinity
Apartment 22 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 145000 20/12/2017 68 0 68 2132 Flat Trinity
Apartment 41 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 150000 18/12/2017 66 0 66 2273 Flat Trinity
Apartment 46 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 182000 28/12/2017 75 0 75 2427 Flat Trinity
Apartment 36 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 173000 07/06/2017 66 0 66 2621 Flat Trinity
7 Tysoe Gardens, Salford, M3 6BL  165000 13/05/2016 63 0 63 2617 Semi‐detached Trinity
59 Calico Close, Salford, M3 6AH  130000 11/10/2017 64 0 64 2031 Semi‐detached Trinity
14 Chiffon Way, Salford, M3 6AB  142500 12/08/2016 56 0 56 2523 Semi‐detached Trinity
2 Brocade Close, Salford, M3 6AG  140000 31/08/2016 57 0 57 2470 Terraced Trinity

P
age 2057



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Sample size 12 MEAN 2210
Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Winton
155 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  96750 08/12/2017 49 0 49 1974 Apartment Winton 
119 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  82500 05/09/2017 39 0 39 2128 Apartment Winton 
143 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  92000 24/03/2017 38 0 38 2421 Apartment Winton 
30 Chesterfield Close, Manchester, M30 8EJ  235000 10/02/2017 110 14 124 1895 Detached Winton 
4 Chesterfield Close, Manchester, M30 8EJ  240000 30/01/2018 72 14 86 2791 Detached Winton 
2 Chesterfield Close, Manchester, M30 8EJ  234995 21/12/2016 72 14 86 2733 Detached Winton 
35 Calder Lane, Manchester, M30 8EL  235000 28/09/2017 110 14 124 1895 Detached Winton 
35 Calder Lane, Manchester, M30 8EL  235000 28/09/2017 110 14 124 1895 Detached Winton 
1 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  172995 10/03/2017 68 0 68 2544 Semi‐detached Winton 
4 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  234995 03/02/2017 68 0 68 3456 Semi‐detached Winton 
7 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  162995 27/01/2017 68 0 68 2397 Semi‐detached Winton 
23 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  157995 07/10/2016 68 0 68 2323 Semi‐detached Winton 
25 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  157995 29/09/2016 68 0 68 2323 Semi‐detached Winton 
26 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  171995 30/06/2016 80 0 80 2150 Semi‐detached Winton 
43 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  156995 27/05/2016 68 0 68 2309 Semi‐detached Winton 
10 Calder Lane, Manchester, M30 8EL  175000 27/10/2016 74 0 74 2365 Semi‐detached Winton 
58 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BG  161000 11/08/2017 58 0 58 2791 Semi‐detached Winton 
163 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  177500 10/08/2017 64 0 64 2773 Semi‐detached Winton 
7 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  236000 02/10/2017 74 0 74 3189 Semi‐detached Winton 
65 Montonfields Road, Manchester, M30 8AW  198000 31/03/2017 95 0 95 2084 Semi‐detached Winton 
Sample size 20 MEAN 2422

Proposed 
value area Mid/high  £2,500 per sqm

Worsley
58 Manthorpe Avenue, Manchester, M28 2AZ  125500 17/02/2017 54 0 54 2340 Apartment Worsley
47 Drywood Avenue, Manchester, M28 2QA  595000 29/09/2017 208 14 222 2680 Detached Worsley
67 Drywood Avenue, Manchester, M28 2QA 575000 11/05/2017 232 14 246 2337 Detached Worsley
5 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  390000 13/04/2017 156 14 170 2300 Detached Worsley
2 Manthorpe Avenue, Manchester, M28 2AZ  385000 11/05/2017 126 14 140 2750 Detached Worsley
11 Woodstock Drive, Manchester, M28 2NP  428000 18/08/2017 126 14 140 3057 Detached Worsley
16 Leaconfield Drive, M28 2WE 485375 12/09/2017 198 14 212 2290 Detached Worsley
3 Broadoak Road, Manchester, M28 2TL  700000 21/04/2017 206 14 220 3182 Detached Worsley
144 Chatsworth Road, Manchester, M28 2NT  950000 28/06/2017 308 14 322 2950 Detached Worsley
2 The Coppice, Manchester, M28 2NS  385000 17/02/2017 101 0 101 3822 Semi‐detached Worsley
18 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  380000 15/03/2017 156 0 156 2443 Semi‐detached Worsley
27 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  370000 09/02/2018 156 0 156 2372 Semi‐detached Worsley
12 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  360000 29/09/2017 156 0 156 2308 Semi‐detached Worsley
10 Manthorpe Avenue, Manchester, M28 2AZ  240000 23/02/2017 102 0 102 2353 Semi‐detached Worsley
19 Broadoak Road, Manchester, M28 2TL  650000 21/04/2017 174 0 174 3736 Semi‐detached Worsley
15 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  353000 30/06/2017 144 0 144 2451 Terraced Worsley
Sample size 16 MEAN 2711

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

P
age 2058



Annex E – Literature review of cost for providing electric vehicle charging 
points 
 

Organisation / 
Local Authority 

Cost / commentary Cost source 

Chelmsford City 
Council 

The additional costs of providing a car 
charging point is modest. An allowance of 
£500/unit is made. 

Chelmsford City Council  
Local Plan viability assessment 
including CIL viability review 
 
HDH Planning and Development Ltd. 
 
January 2018 

Havant Borough 
Council 

£500 / unit. Local plan and CIL viability study 
 
Dixon Searle Partnership 
 
November 2017 

Leeds City 
Council 

For the purpose of this assessment we 
have assumed that all dwellings (houses) 
will be provided with an electric vehicle 
charging point, which is clearly a worst 
case scenario. With respect to apartment 
schemes in the City Centre we have 
assumed that 1 charging point will be 
provided for every 10 apartments. 
 
We have modelled the viability of policy 
EN8 by including an extra over cost of 
£100 for every charging point. 
 

Economic Viability Study (EVS) 
Update 2018 
 
GVA 
 
January 2018 

Greater London 
Authority 

In addition, £1,500 per space has been 
allowed for active electric car charging, 
which was based on quotations received 
on recent projects for standard residential 
projects in London.  This is a conservative 
approach since the draft London Plan 
allows for a proportion of parking spaces 
to have passive electric charging which 
will have a lesser cost at the start of a 
development. 
 

London Plan Viability Study  
 
Three Dragons 
 
December 2017 

Wealden District 
Council 

External development costs factor in an 
allowance of 10% - this includes 
requirement for EVC.  
 

Wealden Local Plan – viability study 
 
BPS  
 
July 2017 

South 
Kensington 
District Council 

A £500 allowance has been made.  
 

Whole Plan Viability Study 
 
AECOM 
 
February 2018 

Borough of 
Broxbourne  

The costs for individual dwellings are 
£500-£1,500 per dwelling. This is less 
than 1% of the likely value on individual 
dwellings. If developers are unable to 
meet this requirement, viability appraisal 
is the recognised route for challenge and 
this is not therefore considered to be a 
Local Plan matter. 

Local Plan Deliverability Report 
 
June 2018 
 
 

Page 2059

http://www.chelmsford.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/1121291.pdf
http://www.chelmsford.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/1121291.pdf
http://www.chelmsford.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/1121291.pdf
http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Appendix%20I%20-%20Assumptions%20Summary.pdf
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/Local%20Plans/Publication%20Draft%20Plan%20Supporting%20Documents/8.Economic%20Viability%20Study%20Update%202018.pdf
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/Local%20Plans/Publication%20Draft%20Plan%20Supporting%20Documents/8.Economic%20Viability%20Study%20Update%202018.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_plan_viability_study_dec_2017.pdf
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/nmsruntime/saveasdialog.aspx?lID=23308&sID=1617
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23239&p=0
https://www.broxbourne.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Documents/Planning_Policy/EXAM%203B%20-%20BBC%20-%20Local%20Plan%20Deliverability%20Report%20JUNE%202018.pdf


Organisation / 
Local Authority 

Cost / commentary Cost source 

 
A similar conclusion was reached by the 
London Plan viability assessment: “It 
should be noted that whilst it is important 
to make an allowance for any of these 
additional costs, some (e.g. affordable 
workspace, cycle parking [£758 per 
space]) have a minimal impact on overall 
build costs as they are a very small 
percentage, often less than 1% of GDV 
[Gross Development Value]. Therefore, 
any minor amendments of the policy 
through the plan process, or its 
application, will have very limited effect on 
overall viability” (London Plan Viability 
Study (Greater London Authority, 
December 2017), paragraph 7.2.10 page 
50.   
 

Tandridge 
District Council 

The Council has advised that electric car 
charging points can be installed at a cost 
of £250 per unit. We have incorporated 
this cost into our appraisals. 

Tandridge Draft Local Plan: Viability 
Assessment  
 
BNP Paribas 
 
June 2018  

 

Page 2060

https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Planning%20and%20building/Planning%20strategies%20and%20policies/Local%20plan/Evidence%20base%20and%20technical%20studies/Tandridge-Draft-Local-Plan-Viability-Assessment-%282018%29.pdf
https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Planning%20and%20building/Planning%20strategies%20and%20policies/Local%20plan/Evidence%20base%20and%20technical%20studies/Tandridge-Draft-Local-Plan-Viability-Assessment-%282018%29.pdf


 

 
Annex F – Cost of policy requirements and planning obligations (excluding affordable housing) 
 
        Planning obligations Policy requirements         

 
Scheme type Value area Number 

of 
dwellings 

A .Open 
space 

B. 
Education 

C. 
Transport 

D. Public 
realm 

E. 
Allotme-

nts 

F. 
Accessible 

and 
adaptable 

homes 

G. 
Electric 
vehicle 

charging 

H. Energy 
efficiency 

Total 
obligations 

(A to E) 

Total 
policy 

require-
ments (F 

to H) 

Overall 
total (A to 

H)) 

Cost per 
dwelling 

1 High density 
apartments 

Premium 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

2 Mid density 
apartments 

Premium 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £168,482 £652,713 £283,507 £936,220 £7,490 

3 Houses Premium 70 £522,480 £221,960 £67,200 £0 £18,340 £36,424 £35,000 £162,842 £829,980 £234,266 £1,064,246 £15,204 

4 High density 
apartments 

High 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

5 Mid density 
apartments 

High 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

6 Houses High 70 £522,480 £221,960 £67,200 £0 £18,340 £36,424 £35,000 £162,842 £829,980 £234,266 £1,064,246 £15,204 

7 High density 
apartments 

Mid/high 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

8 Mid density 
apartments 

Mid/high 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

9 Houses Mid/high 75 £519,370 £208,371 £66,800 £0 £19,650 £39,039 £37,500 £163,297 £814,191 £239,836 £1,054,026 £14,054 

10 High density 
apartments 

Mid 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

11 Mid density 
apartments 

Mid 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

12 Houses Mid 80 £522,480 £199,311 £67,200 £0 £20,960 £41,675 £40,000 £168,482 £809,951 £250,158 £1,060,109 £13,251 

13 Mid density 
apartments 

Low/mid 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

14 Houses Low/mid 100 £583,125 £198,179 £75,000 £0 £26,200 £52,253 £50,000 £181,457 £882,504 £283,709 £1,166,213 £11,662 

15 Mid density 
apartments 

Low 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

16 Houses Low 100 £583,125 £198,179 £75,000 £0 £26,200 £52,253 £50,000 £181,457 £882,504 £283,709 £1,166,213 £11,662 

 

P
age 2061



 

Page 2062



Annex G: Appraisals G1 to G16 – impact of policy requirements and 

non-affordable housing planning obligations 

Page 2063



 

Page 2064



Appraisal G1.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £2,815,703
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 1. High density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £30,730,900 £0 £0 £0 £0 £30,730,900

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £30,730,900

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £30,730,900 £ 2,805 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £12,506,545

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2065



Appraisal G1.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,406,545

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,406,545

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.1% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.4% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 1.6% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 2.8% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,881 5,219

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £921,927 6,146
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £921,927

Total Direct Costs £21,305,749

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £386,750 2,578 per OM home 773,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2066



Appraisal G1.

Agents Fees £3,868
Legal Fees £2,901
Stamp Duty £8,838
Total Interest Paid £1,180,789

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,583,144

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £5,531,562 36,877 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £5,531,562
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £28,420,456

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 £3,210,444

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £2,815,703

Scheme Investment MIRR 25.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.2% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,845,874

Site Value (PV) per hectare £5,631,406 per hectare £2,598,498 per acre

Page 2067



 

Page 2068



Appraisal G2.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £7,273,489
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £25,620,700 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,620,700

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £25,620,700

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £25,620,700 £ 2,890 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,895,916

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2069



Appraisal G2.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,270,916

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £16,270,916

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 1,348 0.6% 168,482
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.4% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£283,507 1.1% 283,507
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 1.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £755,584 6,045

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £768,621 6,149
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £768,621

Total Direct Costs £11,901,702

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2070



Appraisal G2.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £566,938

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,318,633

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,611,726 36,894 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,611,726
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,832,062

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £8,163,638

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £7,273,489

Scheme Investment MIRR 58.7% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 2.7% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,737,058

Site Value (PV) per hectare £7,273,489 per hectare £3,303,779 per acre

Page 2071



 

Page 2072



Appraisal G3.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £8,359,729
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 3. Houses,  premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £327,533 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £406,543 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £26,798,800 £0 £0 £0 £0 £26,798,800

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £26,798,800

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £26,798,800 £ 3,400 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,412,431

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2073



Appraisal G3.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,412,431

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £18,412,431

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.6% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.1% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.1% 17,500

£234,266 0.9% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.5% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Other 1 £522,480 7,464
Other 2 £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £829,980 11,857

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £803,964 11,485
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £803,964

Total Direct Costs £10,661,684

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2074



Appraisal G3.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £116,486

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,630,376

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,823,784 68,911 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,823,784
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,115,845

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £9,682,955

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £8,359,729

Scheme Investment MIRR 111.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£3,404,022

Site Value (PV) per hectare £4,179,864 per hectare £1,959,319 per acre

Page 2075



 

Page 2076



Appraisal G4.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£981,749
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 4. High density apartments, high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 4. High density apartments, high value Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £140,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £183,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £240,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £25,307,800 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,307,800

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £25,307,800

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £25,307,800 £ 2,310 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £7,083,445

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2077



Appraisal G4.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £26,207,800
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £7,983,445

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £26,207,800
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £7,983,445

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.4% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.5% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 1.9% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 3.4% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,931 2,973
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,981 5,220

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £759,234 5,062
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £759,234

Total Direct Costs £21,143,156

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £386,750 2,578 per OM home 773,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2078



Appraisal G4.

Agents Fees £3,868
Legal Fees £2,901
Stamp Duty £8,838
Total Interest Paid £1,226,268

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,628,623

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,555,404 30,369 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,555,404
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £27,327,184

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 (£1,119,384)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£981,749)

Scheme Investment MIRR 14.6% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,845,980

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£1,963,499 per hectare -£906,017 per acre

Page 2079



 

Page 2080



Appraisal G5.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £4,054,523
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 5. Mid density apartments, high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 5. Mid density apartments, high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £140,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £183,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £240,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £21,099,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £21,099,400

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £21,099,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £21,099,400 £ 2,380 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,616

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2081



Appraisal G5.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,749,616

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,749,616

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 0.9% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.5% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.4% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.2% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £632,982 5,064
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £632,982

Total Direct Costs £11,786,555

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2082



Appraisal G5.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £587,531

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,339,226

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,797,892 30,383 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,797,892
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,923,673

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £4,550,727

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £4,054,523

Scheme Investment MIRR 42.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,800,875

Site Value (PV) per hectare £4,054,523 per hectare £1,841,654 per acre

Page 2083



 

Page 2084



Appraisal G6.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £5,118,722
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 6. Houses,  high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £269,733 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £334,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £22,069,600 £0 £0 £0 £0 £22,069,600

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £22,069,600

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £22,069,600 £ 2,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £13,683,231

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2085



Appraisal G6.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,683,231

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,683,231

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.7% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.2% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.2% 17,500

£234,266 1.1% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.8% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 7,464
Allotments £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £829,980 11,857

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £662,088 9,458
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £662,088

Total Direct Costs £10,519,808

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2086



Appraisal G6.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £134,430

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,648,320

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,972,528 56,750 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,972,528
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,140,656

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £5,928,944

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £5,118,722

Scheme Investment MIRR 86.5% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£3,404,022

Site Value (PV) per hectare £2,559,361 per hectare £1,199,705 per acre

Page 2087



 

Page 2088



Appraisal G7.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£2,819,399
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 7. High density apartments, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 7. High density apartments, mid/high value Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £125,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £163,750 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £215,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £22,596,250 £0 £0 £0 £0 £22,596,250

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £22,596,250

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £22,596,250 £ 2,063 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £4,371,895

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2089



Appraisal G7.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £23,496,250
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £5,271,895

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £23,496,250
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £5,271,895

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.5% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.6% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 2.1% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 3.8% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,881 5,219

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £677,888 4,519
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £677,888

Total Direct Costs £21,061,710

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £321,750 2,145 per OM home 643,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2090



Appraisal G7.

Agents Fees £3,218
Legal Fees £2,413
Stamp Duty £5,588
Total Interest Paid £1,248,906

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,581,874

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,067,325 27,116 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,067,325
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £26,710,909

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 (£3,214,659)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£2,819,399)

Scheme Investment MIRR 8.7% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.4% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,768,402

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£5,638,798 per hectare -£2,601,909 per acre

Page 2091



 

Page 2092



Appraisal G8.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £2,582,382
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £125,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £163,750 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £215,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,838,750 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,838,750

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,838,750

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,838,750 £ 2,125 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,113,966

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2093



Appraisal G8.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,488,966

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,488,966

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.0% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.6% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.6% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.5% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £565,163 4,521
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £565,163

Total Direct Costs £11,718,736

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2094



Appraisal G8.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £582,024

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,205,619

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,390,975 27,128 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,390,975
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,315,330

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £2,898,420

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £2,582,382

Scheme Investment MIRR 34.5% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.1% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,660,084

Site Value (PV) per hectare £2,582,382 per hectare £1,172,975 per acre

Page 2095



 

Page 2096



Appraisal G9.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £3,296,485
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 9. Houses, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 75 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 75 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,921 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 38 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,961 sq m / hectare equals 17,250                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £242,744 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £289,706 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £19,802,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19,802,500

 Net Area (sq m) 7,921 - - - - 7,921
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £19,802,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £19,802,500 £ 2,500 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,427,865 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,635

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2097



Appraisal G9.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,374,635

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,374,635

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,246 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £163,297 2,177 0.8% 81,649
Electric vehicle charging £37,500 500 0.2% 18,750

£369,279 1.9% 184,640
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £409,120 5,455 2.1% 204,560
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £778,399 10,379

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £208,371 2,778
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,800 891
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £519,370 6,925
Allotments £19,650 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £814,191 10,856

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £594,075 7,921
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £594,075

Total Direct Costs £10,614,529

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 15,840 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2098



Appraisal G9.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £507,272

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,764,962

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,564,450 47,526 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,564,450
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,943,941

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £3,858,559

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £3,296,485

Scheme Investment MIRR 38.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.0% Peak Cash Requirement -£7,656,882

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,648,243 per hectare £780,769 per acre

Page 2099



 

Page 2100



Appraisal G10.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£4,738,688
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 10. High density apartments, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 10. High density apartments, mid value Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £110,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £144,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £189,200 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £19,884,700 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19,884,700

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £19,884,700

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £19,884,700 £ 1,815 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £1,660,345

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2101



Appraisal G10.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £20,784,700
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £2,560,345

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £20,784,700
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £2,560,345

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.7% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.7% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 2.4% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 4.3% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,881 5,219

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £596,541 3,977
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £596,541

Total Direct Costs £20,980,363

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £321,750 2,145 per OM home 643,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2102



Appraisal G10.

Agents Fees £3,218
Legal Fees £2,413
Stamp Duty £5,588
Total Interest Paid £1,295,141

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,628,109

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,579,246 23,862 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,579,246
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £26,187,718

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 (£5,403,018)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£4,738,688)

Scheme Investment MIRR 2.2% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,768,402

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£9,477,375 per hectare -£4,373,143 per acre

Page 2103



 

Page 2104



Appraisal G11.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £985,218
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £110,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £144,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £189,200 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £16,578,100 £0 £0 £0 £0 £16,578,100

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £16,578,100

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £16,578,100 £ 1,870 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,853,316

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2105



Appraisal G11.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £7,228,316

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £7,228,316

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.1% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.7% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.8% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £497,343 3,979
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £497,343

Total Direct Costs £11,650,916

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2106



Appraisal G11.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £588,740

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,212,335

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,984,058 23,872 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,984,058
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,847,309

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £1,105,791

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £985,218

Scheme Investment MIRR 25.4% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,579,981

Site Value (PV) per hectare £985,218 per hectare £447,508 per acre

Page 2107



 

Page 2108



Appraisal G12.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £1,908,510
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 12. Houses, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 80 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 80 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,182 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 40 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,091 sq m / hectare equals 17,818                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £163,900 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £220,943 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £248,600 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,000,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,000,400

 Net Area (sq m) 8,182 - - - - 8,182
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,000,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,000,400 £ 2,200 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,705,566 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,294,834

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2109



Appraisal G12.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,294,834

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,294,834

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,106 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £41,675 521 0.2% 20,838
Electric vehicle charging £40,000 500 0.2% 20,000

£250,157 1.4% 125,079
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £422,600 5,283 2.3% 211,300
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £672,757 8,409

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £199,311 2,491
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £67,200 840
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 6,531
Allotments £20,960 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £809,951 10,124

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £540,012 6,750
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £540,012

Total Direct Costs £10,728,286

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 14,850 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2110



Appraisal G12.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £540,428

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,798,118

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,240,072 40,501 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,240,072
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,766,476

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £2,233,924

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £1,908,510

Scheme Investment MIRR 30.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£7,715,573

Site Value (PV) per hectare £954,255 per hectare £452,028 per acre

Page 2111



 

Page 2112



Appraisal G13.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£4,019
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 13. Mid density apartments, low/mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 13. Mid density apartments, low/mid value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £100,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £131,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £172,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £15,071,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,071,000

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,000 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £15,071,000

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,071,000 £ 1,700 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £5,346,216

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2113



Appraisal G13.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £15,446,000
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £5,721,216

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £15,446,000
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £5,721,216

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £189,974 1,520 1.2% 189,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.7% 115,025
Electirc vehicle charging £0

£304,999 2.0% 304,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 3.1% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £777,076 6,217

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £452,130 3,617
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £452,130

Total Direct Costs £11,606,703

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £516,000 4,128 per OM home 516,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2114



Appraisal G13.

Agents Fees £5,160
Legal Fees £3,870
Stamp Duty £15,300
Total Interest Paid £590,698

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,131,028

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,712,780 21,702 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,712,780
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,450,511

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 (£4,511)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£4,019)

Scheme Investment MIRR 19.4% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,489,445

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£4,019 per hectare -£1,826 per acre

Page 2115



 

Page 2116



Appraisal G14.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £1,368,903
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 14. Houses, low/mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £149,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £186,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £212,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £17,565,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £17,565,000

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,000 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £17,565,000

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £17,565,000 £ 2,000 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £8,220,508

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2117



Appraisal G14.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,220,508

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £8,220,508

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.0% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.6% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.6% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £882,504 8,825

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £526,950 5,270
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £526,950

Total Direct Costs £11,491,272

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,032,000 10,320 per OM home 516,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2118



Appraisal G14.

Agents Fees £10,320
Legal Fees £7,740
Stamp Duty £41,100
Total Interest Paid £158,602

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,249,762

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,161,700 31,617 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,161,700
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,902,734

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £1,662,266

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £1,368,903

Scheme Investment MIRR 45.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.9% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,652,038

Site Value (PV) per hectare £684,451 per hectare £336,355 per acre

Page 2119



 

Page 2120



Appraisal G15.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£1,005,308
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 15. Mid density apartments, low value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 15. Mid density apartments, low value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £90,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £117,900 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £154,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £13,563,900 £0 £0 £0 £0 £13,563,900

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £1,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £13,563,900

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £13,563,900 £ 1,530 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £3,839,116

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2121



Appraisal G15.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,938,900
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £4,214,116

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £13,938,900
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £4,214,116

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.4% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.8% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 2.2% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 3.4% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £406,917 3,255
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £406,917

Total Direct Costs £11,560,490

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £444,000 3,552 per OM home 444,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2122



Appraisal G15.

Agents Fees £4,440
Legal Fees £3,330
Stamp Duty £11,700
Total Interest Paid £601,778

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,065,248

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,441,502 19,532 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,441,502
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,067,240

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 (£1,128,340)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£1,005,308)

Scheme Investment MIRR 13.0% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.2% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,466,335

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£1,005,308 per hectare -£456,633 per acre

Page 2123



 

Page 2124



Appraisal G16.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £334,158
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 16. Houses, low value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £134,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £167,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £190,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £15,808,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,808,500

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £1,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £15,808,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,808,500 £ 1,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,464,008

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2125



Appraisal G16.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £6,464,008

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £6,464,008

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.1% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.8% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.9% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £882,504 8,825

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £474,255 4,743
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £474,255

Total Direct Costs £11,438,577

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £888,000 8,880 per OM home 444,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2126



Appraisal G16.

Agents Fees £8,880
Legal Fees £6,660
Stamp Duty £33,900
Total Interest Paid £181,183

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,118,623

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,845,530 28,455 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,845,530
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,402,730

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £405,770

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £334,158

Scheme Investment MIRR 36.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,492,567

Site Value (PV) per hectare £167,079 per hectare £82,106 per acre

Page 2127



 

Page 2128



Annex H: Appraisals H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H14 and 
H16 – cumulative impact of policy requirements, planning obligations 
and affordable housing 
 

Page 2129



 

Page 2130



Appraisal H1.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £609,949
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 1. High density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £30,730,900 £0 £0 £0 £0 £30,730,900

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £30,730,900

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £30,730,900 £ 2,805 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £12,506,545

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2131



Appraisal H1.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,406,545

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,406,545

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.1% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.4% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 1.6% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 2.8% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing - 15% on site £2,362,438 15,750
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £3,145,319 20,969

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £921,927 6,146
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £921,927

Total Direct Costs £23,668,187

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £386,750 2,578 per OM home 773,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2132



Appraisal H1.

Agents Fees £3,868
Legal Fees £2,901
Stamp Duty £8,838
Total Interest Paid £1,333,336

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,735,691

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £5,531,562 36,877 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £5,531,562
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £30,935,441

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 £695,459

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £609,949

Scheme Investment MIRR 19.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.2% Peak Cash Requirement -£23,199,254

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,219,898 per hectare £562,897 per acre

Page 2133



 

Page 2134



Appraisal H2.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £1,167,713
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £25,620,700 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,620,700

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £25,620,700

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £25,620,700 £ 2,890 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,895,916

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2135



Appraisal H2.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,270,916

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £16,270,916

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 1,348 0.6% 168,482
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.4% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£283,507 1.1% 283,507
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 1.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £755,584 6,045

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 50% on site £6,565,304 52,522
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £7,218,017 57,744

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £768,621 6,149
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £768,621

Total Direct Costs £18,467,006

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2136



Appraisal H2.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £854,652

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,606,347

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,611,726 36,894 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,611,726
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £24,685,079

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £1,310,621

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £1,167,713

Scheme Investment MIRR 25.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 2.7% Peak Cash Requirement -£17,143,819

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,167,713 per hectare £530,401 per acre

Page 2137



 

Page 2138



Appraisal H3.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £2,330,214
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 3. Houses,  premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £327,533 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £406,543 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £26,798,800 £0 £0 £0 £0 £26,798,800

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £26,798,800

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £26,798,800 £ 3,400 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,412,431

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2139



Appraisal H3.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,412,431

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £18,412,431

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.6% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.1% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.1% 17,500

£234,266 0.9% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.5% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 50% on site £6,867,193 98,103
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Other 1 £522,480 7,464
Other 2 £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £7,697,173 109,960

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £803,964 11,485
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £803,964

Total Direct Costs £17,528,877

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2140



Appraisal H3.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £233,195

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,747,085

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,823,784 68,911 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,823,784
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £24,099,746

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £2,699,054

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £2,330,214

Scheme Investment MIRR 57.0% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£4,669,113

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,165,107 per hectare £546,146 per acre

Page 2141



 

Page 2142



Appraisal H5.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £503,823
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 5. Mid density apartments, high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 5. Mid density apartments, high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £140,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £183,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £240,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £21,099,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £21,099,400

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £21,099,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £21,099,400 £ 2,380 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,616

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2143



Appraisal H5.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,749,616

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,749,616

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 0.9% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.5% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.4% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.2% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 35% on site £3,784,705 30,278
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £4,437,418 35,499

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £632,982 5,064
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £632,982

Total Direct Costs £15,571,260

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2144



Appraisal H5.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £788,070

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,539,765

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,797,892 30,383 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,797,892
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £20,908,917

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £565,483

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £503,823

Scheme Investment MIRR 21.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£15,502,121

Site Value (PV) per hectare £503,823 per hectare £228,848 per acre

Page 2145



 

Page 2146



Appraisal H6.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £93,823
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 6. Houses,  high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £269,733 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £334,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £22,069,600 £0 £0 £0 £0 £22,069,600

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £22,069,600

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £22,069,600 £ 2,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £13,683,231

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2147



Appraisal H6.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,683,231

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,683,231

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.7% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.2% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.2% 17,500

£234,266 1.1% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.8% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 50% on site £5,655,335 80,791
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 7,464
Allotments £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £6,485,315 92,647

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £662,088 9,458
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £662,088

Total Direct Costs £16,175,143

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2148



Appraisal H6.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £299,365

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,813,255

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,972,528 56,750 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,972,528
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £21,960,926

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £108,674

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £93,823

Scheme Investment MIRR 38.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£4,445,862

Site Value (PV) per hectare £46,911 per hectare £21,990 per acre

Page 2149



 

Page 2150



Appraisal H8.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £315,673
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £125,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £163,750 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £215,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,838,750 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,838,750

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,838,750

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,838,750 £ 2,125 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,113,966

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2151



Appraisal H8.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,488,966

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,488,966

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.0% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.6% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.6% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.5% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 25% on site £2,413,715 19,310
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £3,066,428 24,531

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £565,163 4,521
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £565,163

Total Direct Costs £14,132,451

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2152



Appraisal H8.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £712,423

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,336,018

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,390,975 27,128 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,390,975
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £18,859,444

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £354,306

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £315,673

Scheme Investment MIRR 21.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.1% Peak Cash Requirement -£14,020,573

Site Value (PV) per hectare £315,673 per hectare £143,386 per acre

Page 2153



 

Page 2154



Appraisal H9.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £64,767
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 9. Houses, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 75 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 75 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,921 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 38 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,961 sq m / hectare equals 17,250                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £242,744 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £289,706 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £19,802,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19,802,500

 Net Area (sq m) 7,921 - - - - 7,921
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £19,802,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £19,802,500 £ 2,500 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,427,865 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,635

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2155



Appraisal H9.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,374,635

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,374,635

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,246 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £163,297 2,177 0.8% 81,649
Electric vehicle charging £37,500 500 0.2% 18,750

£369,279 1.9% 184,640
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £409,120 5,455 2.1% 204,560
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £778,399 10,379

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £208,371 2,778
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 35% on site £3,552,073 47,361
Transport £66,800 891
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £519,370 6,925
Allotments £19,650 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £4,366,264 58,217

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £594,075 7,921
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £594,075

Total Direct Costs £14,166,602

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 15,840 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2156



Appraisal H9.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £737,947

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,995,637

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,564,450 47,526 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,564,450
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £19,726,690

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £75,810

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £64,767

Scheme Investment MIRR 20.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.0% Peak Cash Requirement -£9,812,587

Site Value (PV) per hectare £32,383 per hectare £15,340 per acre

Page 2157



 

Page 2158



Appraisal H11.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £243,659
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £110,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £144,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £189,200 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £16,578,100 £0 £0 £0 £0 £16,578,100

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £16,578,100

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £16,578,100 £ 1,870 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,853,316

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2159



Appraisal H11.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £7,228,316

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £7,228,316

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.1% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.7% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.8% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 10% on site £787,460 6,300
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £1,440,173 11,521

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £497,343 3,979
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £497,343

Total Direct Costs £12,438,376

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2160



Appraisal H11.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £633,592

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,257,187

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,984,058 23,872 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,984,058
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,679,621

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £273,479

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £243,659

Scheme Investment MIRR 20.9% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£12,350,077

Site Value (PV) per hectare £243,659 per hectare £110,675 per acre

Page 2161



 

Page 2162



Appraisal H12.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £353,330
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 12. Houses, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 80 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 80 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,182 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 40 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,091 sq m / hectare equals 17,818                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £163,900 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £220,943 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £248,600 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,000,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,000,400

 Net Area (sq m) 8,182 - - - - 8,182
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,000,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,000,400 £ 2,200 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,705,566 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,294,834

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2163



Appraisal H12.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,294,834

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,294,834

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,106 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £41,675 521 0.2% 20,838
Electric vehicle charging £40,000 500 0.2% 20,000

£250,157 1.4% 125,079
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £422,600 5,283 2.3% 211,300
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £672,757 8,409

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £199,311 2,491
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 20% on site £1,710,038 21,375
Transport £67,200 840
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 6,531
Allotments £20,960 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £2,519,989 31,500

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £540,012 6,750
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £540,012

Total Direct Costs £12,438,324

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 14,850 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2164



Appraisal H12.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £650,738

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,908,428

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,240,072 40,501 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,240,072
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,586,825

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £413,575

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £353,330

Scheme Investment MIRR 21.7% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£8,711,860

Site Value (PV) per hectare £176,665 per hectare £83,686 per acre

Page 2165



 

Page 2166



Appraisal H14.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £297,615
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 14. Houses, low/mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £149,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £186,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £212,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £17,565,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £17,565,000

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,000 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £17,565,000

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £17,565,000 £ 2,000 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £8,220,508

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2167



Appraisal H14.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,220,508

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £8,220,508

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.0% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.6% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.6% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £1,251,506 12,515
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £2,134,010 21,340

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £526,950 5,270
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £526,950

Total Direct Costs £12,742,778

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,032,000 10,320 per OM home 516,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2168



Appraisal H14.

Agents Fees £10,320
Legal Fees £7,740
Stamp Duty £41,100
Total Interest Paid £207,967

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,299,127

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,161,700 31,617 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,161,700
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,203,605

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £361,395

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £297,615

Scheme Investment MIRR 35.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.9% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,815,659

Site Value (PV) per hectare £148,807 per hectare £73,127 per acre

Page 2169



 

Page 2170



Appraisal H16.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £34,060
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 16. Houses, low value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £134,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £167,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £190,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £15,808,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,808,500

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £1,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £15,808,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,808,500 £ 1,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,464,008

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2171



Appraisal H16.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £6,464,008

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £6,464,008

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.1% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.8% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.9% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 5% on site £345,811 3,458
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £1,228,315 12,283

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £474,255 4,743
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £474,255

Total Direct Costs £11,784,388

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £888,000 8,880 per OM home 444,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2172



Appraisal H16.

Agents Fees £8,880
Legal Fees £6,660
Stamp Duty £33,900
Total Interest Paid £199,783

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,137,223

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,845,530 28,455 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,845,530
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,767,141

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £41,359

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £34,060

Scheme Investment MIRR 33.2% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,537,777

Site Value (PV) per hectare £17,030 per hectare £8,369 per acre

Page 2173



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE
 

___________________________________________________________________

TO THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

ON 15 JANUARY 2019 
___________________________________________________________________

TITLE: SALFORD REVISED PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SPD 
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development:

i) Approves the Draft Planning Obligations SPD for the purposes of public 
consultation from Friday 25 January 2019 to Friday 22 March 2019.
___________________________________________________________________

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Salford City Council adopted a Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) in June 2015. The SPD seeks to secure planning obligations from 
developments that are usually directed towards affordable housing, open space, 
education, transport, and public realm. It supplements policies in the saved Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP)

The adopted Planning Obligations SPD is being updated for three main reasons:

 To reflect changing national policy and legislation
 To respond to the latest information on development viability in Salford
 To provide additional guidance on the implementation of local policies on 

planning obligations in light of experience in applying the existing SPD

The update takes forward the general approach and also the priorities for planning 
obligations that are within the adopted SPD. A more comprehensive update will be 
prepared to supplement the city council’s Local Plan upon its adoption.

Between March and April 2018 the city council sought the views of stakeholders and 
consultees on its intention to undertake a review of the current Planning Obligations 
SPD. The responses received have informed the draft SPD. 

Page 2175

Agenda Item 3b



2

Public consultation on the Revised Planning Obligations SPD will run from Friday 25 
January 2019 to Friday 22 March 2019, providing an opportunity for all stakeholders 
to comment on the Revised Planning Obligations SPD and associated documents. 
___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:
 Draft Planning Obligations SPD
 Salford Revised Draft Local Plan assessment of residential viability (January 

2019)
 Determination statement on the need for sustainability appraisal and strategic 

environmental assessment 
 Consultation statement

___________________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION: NO  

This stage of public consultation on the Draft SPD is to seek views on the proposed 
policy approach to planning obligations. As no alterations are being made in relation 
to the city council’s policy approach at this stage, the decision to approve the 
documents for the purposes of consultation is not considered to have a significant 
impact on communities in two or more wards in the city.

___________________________________________________________________

ON FORWARD LOOK:       YES  
___________________________________________________________________

DETAILS:

1. Introduction

1.1 The city council currently secures planning obligations from new development 
within the city via section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
Planning obligations are sought in order to mitigate the impact of new 
development, and to make development acceptable in planning terms. 
Planning obligations can be secured to support the delivery of a wide range of 
infrastructure, services and facilities, such as the provision of affordable 
housing, the improvement of open space, the delivery of transport 
improvements, or the expansion of schools to create additional places.

1.2 Planning obligations are secured through a legal agreement entered into 
under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (s106). They 
may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for a 
development where they meet the following tests1:

a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) Directly related to the development; and
c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

1 Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010

Page 2176



3

2. Adopted Planning Obligations SPD

2.1 The city council adopted a Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) in June 2015. The adopted  SPD specifically supplements 
the following saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies:

 DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations 
 ST5 – Transport networks
 DES3 – Design of public space
 H1 – Provision of new housing development
 H4 – Affordable housing
 H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing development
 EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community facilities
 A8 – Impact of development on the highway network
 CH3 – Works within conservation areas
 CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal
 R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities

2.2 The SPD focuses upon the following:

 Affordable housing – new housing developments are required to contribute 
to a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms of tenure and 
affordability. Developers are required to provide an element of affordable 
housing where appropriate in order to assist in meeting local housing 
need.

 Open space – new housing developments create additional demand for 
open space facilities, and therefore appropriate provision for formal and 
informal open space is required, together with its ongoing maintenance. In 
some instances the most effective means of achieving this is through 
providing some open space on-site. In other instances a financial 
contribution is sought towards off-site provision.

 Education – new housing development generates an additional 
requirement for school places. A developer contribution is therefore sought 
towards the expansion of primary schools within the city in order to 
accommodate the additional requirement for pupil places. In certain 
instances where there are no opportunities to expand existing schools 
within the surrounding area, a developer is required to set aside land for a 
school.

 Transport – new development places additional pressure on existing 
transport networks within the city, and may in turn generate a requirement 
for improvements to transport infrastructure and services. Planning 
obligations is one mechanism used in order to secure the provision of 
necessary transport works and improvements.

Page 2177



4

 Public realm – new development generates a requirement for investment 
in the public realm, where a development will generate intensified use of 
the public realm, or to provide a high quality setting for new development 
and ensure its positive integration within the urban form. Planning 
obligations may therefore be sought in order to secure the provision or 
improvement of the public realm.

 Other contributions – there are instances where a development results in a 
material increase in the need or demand for other types of infrastructure or 
services. In these cases the city council negotiates with a developer on a 
case by case basis having regard to site specific circumstances, and 
planning obligations may be the mechanism

2.3 Whilst the adopted SPD does not form part of the development plan, it is an 
important material consideration in the determination of planning applications.

3. Review of the Planning Obligations SPD

3.1 The adopted Planning Obligations SPD is being updated for three main 
reasons:

 To reflect changing national policy and legislation
 To respond to the latest information on development viability in Salford
 To provide additional guidance on the implementation of local policies on 

planning obligations in light of experience in applying the existing SPD

3.2 The update takes forward the general approach and also the priorities for 
planning obligations that are within the adopted SPD. A more comprehensive 
update will be prepared to supplement the city council’s Local Plan upon its 
adoption.

Scoping consultation

3.3 Between March and April 2018 the city council sought the views of 
stakeholders and consultees on its intention to undertake a review of the 
current Planning Obligations SPD. The city council issued a scoping 
consultation letter which set out the intention to undertake a review of the 
SPD, and welcomed both general comments and responses to a number of 
specific issues.

3.4 Responses to this scoping consultation were received from 13 organisations. 
These responses have been used to inform the production of this draft SPD. 
Details of the scoping consultation, together with the representations received 
and the city council’s response to these is set out in the consultation 
statement which is published alongside this draft SPD2.

Draft planning obligations SPD

2 Salford City Council (January 2019) Planning Obligations SPD – Consultation Statement

Page 2178



5

3.5 The main changes in the draft SPD when compared to the adopted SPD are 
as follows:

 Informed by a new strategic viability assessment3
 Updated to reflect new/revised national planning policy and guidance, 

including an expectation that all viability assessments will be made 
public

 Shortened some text to improve readability and remove duplication
 Added new policies on the artificial splitting of sites and reduced 

planning obligations
 Revised the affordable housing requirements so that there is a 

minimum requirement of 20% across the city
 New policies on build to rent developments and the application of the 

vacant building credit
 Amended thresholds in some policies:

o For affordable housing, in the case of residential sites over 1 
hectare the policy now applies to all schemes involving 10 or 
more dwellings rather than 11 or more

o For education contributions, the policy now applies to all 
schemes involving a net increase of 10 or more dwellings rather 
than 11 or more houses

o For open space, transport and public realm, the policies now 
apply to all schemes involving a net increase of 10 or more 
dwellings rather than 11 or more

3.6 Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations currently places limitations on the 
pooling of planning obligations. It effectively provides that since 6 April 2015 
no more than five separate planning obligations may be entered into which 
provide for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or for the 
funding or provision of a type of infrastructure. For the purposes of this 
pooling restriction, the limit of five planning obligations is applied 
retrospectively to all obligations signed by an authority after 6 April 2010.

3.7 The draft SPD has been written on the assumption that the government 
implements draft regulations amending the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010, as set out in a current consultation that closes on 31 
January 20194. In particular, the Government has signalled its intention to lift 
the restriction on the pooling of planning obligations (i.e. the number of 
planning obligations that can contribute to the same infrastructure project), 
and to make clear that local authorities can seek a fee from applicants 
towards monitoring planning obligations.

3.8 It should be noted that the policies within the draft SPD will only be applied for 
the purposes of decision making upon any future adoption of the document. In 

3 Salford City Council (January 2019) Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Strategic Assessment of 
Viability
4 MHCLG (December 2018) Reforming developer contributions – technical consultation on draft 
regulations 

Page 2179



6

advance of this, the existing approach to planning obligations as set out within 
the adopted Planning Obligations SPD will continue to be applied.

Sustainability appraisal and strategic environmental assessment

3.9 The review of the Planning Obligations SPD has been screened for the need 
to undertake a sustainability appraisal and strategic environmental 
assessment, and it has been determined that such assessments are not 
required.

4.        Revised Planning Obligations SPD consultation

4.1 The period of public consultation on the Revised Planning Obligations SPD 
will run from Friday 22 January 2019 to Friday 22 March 2019, and will 
provide an opportunity for stakeholders to comment on the Revised Planning 
Obligations SPD and the associated consultation documents.

 
4.2 The city council will consider all responses received and will make 

amendments to the draft SPD where appropriate. It is intended to that the final 
SPD will be adopted by the city council in the Summer of 2019.

5. Recommendation

5.1 It is recommended that the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development approves the Revised Draft Local Plan and supporting 
documents for the purposes of public consultation from Friday 25 January 
2019 to Friday 22 March 2019.

___________________________________________________________________

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN SAVED POLICIES 
___________________________________________________________________

COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

A full CIA statement will be completed following the end of the formal consultation 
period and will inform the final version of the SPD. 
___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: MEDIUM

It is recognised that various policies and proposals in the Revised Planning 
Obligations SPD may be subject to challenge through both the formal consultation 
period, and potentially also to its subsequent adoption. 
___________________________________________________________________

SOURCE OF FUNDING: 

The non-staff costs associated with the consultation are limited in scale (associated 
with the printing of the documents) and will be met from existing revenue budgets. 
___________________________________________________________________

Page 2180



7

 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Comments received from Robert Irvine (Group Manager – 
Planning and Infrastructure). 

Before adopting a Supplementary Planning Document, a Local Planning Authority is 
required to undertake a public consultation for a period of at least four weeks.  As 
part of the consultation, the Draft SPD must be made available along with a 
statement setting out who has been consulted during the preparation of the 
document, the main issues raised by them and how those have been addressed in 
the Draft SPD.  This report seeks approval to carry out a consultation in accordance 
with the statutory provisions.

The Council is also required, during the preparation of a plan such as a SPD to 
consider whether an Environmental Assessment is required, and should consider 
whether a sustainability appraisal is required.  The determination statement 
addresses these issues.
___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The city council currently secures planning obligations 
from developers as a result of new developments in line with the adopted Planning 
Obligations SPD (June 2015). In 2017/18 the city council received £3,218,304 of 
planning obligations, with expenditure in the period of £2,304,666. Once adopted 
planning obligations will be secured having regard to the policies in the revised SPD.
___________________________________________________________________

 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

 HR IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:

The Draft SPD has been prepared through engagement with directorates across the 
Council including Regeneration, and also the development management section of 
Urban Vision. 
___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: Matt Doherty TEL. NO. 0161 793 2304
David Percival TEL. NO. 0161 793 3656

___________________________________________________________________

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): ALL

Page 2181



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

Salford City Council 
 
Draft Supplementary Planning Document 
Planning Obligations  
 

January 2019 
 
 

Page 2183



 

 
 Page 2184



 

 
 

Contents  
 
 

Page 
 

1 Introduction 
 

1 

2 Planning obligations and the need for this document 5 
   
3 Approach to securing planning obligations 

 
9 

4 Viability appraisals and reduced planning obligations 15 
   
5 Affordable housing 

 
20 

6 Open space 
 

30 

7 Education 
 

36 

8 Transport 
 

43 

9 Public realm 
 

45 

10 Other site-specific planning obligations 
 

48 

11 Implementation 
 

49 

12 Monitoring and review 
 

53 

 Annexes 
 

54 

A Detailed methodology for deriving open space provision 
costs 
 

54 

B Plan of primary pupil planning areas 
 
 

59 

C Worked example of the calculation of the education 
contribution 
 

60 

D Developer guidance on provision of highway improvement 
works and associated fees 

61 

 
 
  

Page 2185



 

 
 

List of policies 
 
 

Page 
 

OB1 Artificial splitting of sites 
 

12 

OB2 Reduced planning obligations 15 
   
OB3 Affordable housing 

 
20 

OB4 Build to rent 27 
   
OB5 Vacant building credit 

 
28 

OB6 Open space contributions 
 

30 

OB7 Education contributions 
 

36 

OB8 Setting aside land for school provision 
 

40 

OB9 Transport contributions 
 

43 

OB10 Public realm contributions 
 

45 

 
 
 

 

Page 2186



 

1 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This document is a proposed revision of the existing Planning Obligations 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) that was adopted by Salford City 
Council in June 2015. The SPD is being updated for three main reasons: 
 

 To reflect changing national policy and legislation 

 To respond to the latest information on development viability in Salford 

 To provide additional guidance on the implementation of local policies 
on planning obligations in light of experience in applying the existing 
SPD 

 

Planning obligations and this document 
 
1.2 Planning obligations are used in order to mitigate the impacts of new 

development and to ensure that it is acceptable in planning terms. Planning 
obligations can be secured to support the delivery of a wide range of 
infrastructure, services and facilities, such as the provision of affordable 
housing, the enhancement of open space, the delivery of transport 
improvements, or the expansion of schools to create additional places. 
 

1.3 Planning obligations are secured through a legal agreement entered into 
under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (s106). They 
may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for a 
development where they meet the following tests1: 
  
a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
b) Directly related to the development; and 
c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

1.4 This Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out 
the city council’s policies relating to planning obligations that are 
supplementary to existing development plan policies. 
 

1.5 A key principle underpinning the approach to securing planning obligations is 
the need to have regard to development viability. The cumulative impact of all 
financial requirements when taken together with other policy requirements 
should not compromise development viability across the city. The policy 
approach has been informed by a strategic assessment of viability2. The 
requirements for affordable housing vary by area, reflecting the variation in 
development viability which exists across the city. 
 

1.6 The SPD specifically supplements the following saved Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP) policies, although other development plan policies may also be 
relevant for individual developments: 

 

                                            
1 Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
2 Salford City Council (January 2019) Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Strategic Assessment of 
Viability 

Page 2187



 

2 
 

 DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations  

 ST5 – Transport networks 

 DES3 – Design of public space 

 H1 – Provision of new housing development 

 H4 – Affordable housing 

 H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing development 

 EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community facilities 

 A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 

 CH3 – Works within conservation areas 

 CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 

 R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities 
 

1.7 Whilst the SPD does not form part of the development plan, it will be an 
important material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

 

Main changes in this draft SPD 
 
1.8 The overall approach in this draft SPD is similar to that in the existing adopted 

SPD. This reflects the successful way in which the existing SPD has been 
implemented, and the way in which it has helped to ensure that the impacts of 
new development are satisfactorily mitigated. 
 

1.9 The main changes in this draft SPD are as follows: 
 

 Informed by a new strategic viability assessment3 

 Updated to reflect new/revised national planning policy and guidance, 
including an expectation that all viability assessments will be made 
public 

 Shortened some text to improve readability and remove duplication 

 Added new policies on the artificial splitting of sites and reduced 
planning obligations 

 Revised the affordable housing requirements, including separate new 
policies on build to rent developments and the application of the vacant 
building credit 

 Amended thresholds in some policies: 
o For affordable housing, in the case of residential sites over 1 

hectare the policy now applies to any number of dwellings rather 
than 11 or more 

o For education contributions, the policy now applies to all 
schemes involving a net increase of 10 or more dwellings rather 
than 11 or more houses 

o For open space, transport and public realm, the policies now 
apply to all schemes involving a net increase of 10 or more 
dwellings rather than 11 or more 

 

Consultation on this draft SPD 

                                            
3 Salford City Council (January 2019) Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Strategic Assessment of 
Viability 

Page 2188



 

3 
 

 
1.10 The city council invites comments from stakeholders and consultees on this 

Draft Planning Obligations SPD. Comments should be received by the city 
council no later than 4.30pm on Friday 22 March 2019 in order for them to be 
taken into account in informing the final version of the SPD that the city 
council will adopt. 
 

1.11 Comments may be submitted by the following means: 
 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 By post to: Planning Obligations SPD consultation, Spatial Planning, 
Salford City Council, Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 

 By hand to: Salford Civic Centre main reception, Chorley Road, 
Swinton, Salford 

 
1.12 If you have any questions regarding this consultation, please contact the city 

council by telephone on 0161 793 3782, or by email at 
plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 
 

1.13 It should be noted that the policies within this draft SPD will only be applied for 
the purposes of decision making upon any future adoption of the document. In 
advance of this, the existing approach to planning obligations as set out within 
the adopted Planning Obligations SPD will continue to be applied. 
 

1.14 This draft SPD has been written on the assumption that the Government 
implements its proposed changes to planning obligations that were published 
in October 20184. In particular, the Government has signalled its intention to 
lift the restriction on the pooling of planning obligations (i.e. the number of 
planning obligations that can contribute to the same infrastructure project), 
and to make clear that local authorities can seek a fee from applicants 
towards monitoring planning obligations5. In December 2018, it published 
draft regulations to implement these changes6. 

 

Previous consultation that has informed the preparation of this 
draft SPD 

 
1.15 Between March and April 2018 the city council sought the views of 

stakeholders and consultees on its intention to undertake a review of the 
current Planning Obligations SPD. The city council issued a scoping 
consultation letter which set out the intention to undertake a review of the 
SPD, and welcomed both general comments and responses to a number of 
specific issues. 
 

                                            
4 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (October 2018) Government response to 
supporting housing delivery through developer contributions: A summary of consultation responses 
and the Government’s view on the way forward 
5 Ibid, paragraphs 25 and 53 
6 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (December 2018) Reforming developer 
contributions: Technical consultation on draft regulations 

Page 2189

mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


 

4 
 

1.16 Responses to this scoping consultation were received from 13 organisations. 
These responses have been used to inform the production of this draft SPD. 
Details of the scoping consultation, together with the representations received 
and the city council’s response to these is set out in the consultation 
statement which is published alongside this draft SPD7. 

 

Sustainability appraisal and strategic environmental assessment 
 

1.17 The review of the Planning Obligations SPD has been screened for the need 
to undertake a sustainability appraisal and strategic environmental 
assessment, and it has been determined that such assessments are not 
required. 
 

1.18 The determination statement can be viewed on the Review of Planning 
Obligations SPD webpage on city council’s website.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
7 Salford City Council (January 2019) Planning Obligations SPD – Consultation Statement 

Page 2190

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-policies/local-planning-policy/other-local-planning-policies/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document/review-of-planning-obligations-spd/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-policies/local-planning-policy/other-local-planning-policies/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document/review-of-planning-obligations-spd/


 

5 
 

2. Planning obligations and the need for this 
document 

 

Introduction 
 
2.1 When determining a planning application for new development, the city 

council has to weigh a broad range of considerations to assess if the 
development would be acceptable. One of those considerations is whether 
the development would generate a need for new or improved infrastructure, 
services or facilities, without which the development may be unacceptable. 

 
2.2 Planning obligations are one mechanism for ensuring that any such need is 

met. Planning obligations can be used to secure new or improved 
infrastructure, services and facilities, and where appropriate their 
maintenance, to ensure that new development is acceptable. The new or 
improved facilities may either be provided directly by the developer, or a 
financial contribution may be paid to the city council, which will arrange for the 
necessary investment to be made. Planning obligations can be secured to 
support the delivery of a wide range of infrastructure, such as the provision of 
affordable housing, the improvement of open space, the delivery of transport 
improvements, or the expansion of schools to create additional places. 

 

Legislative context 
 
2.3 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides the 

mechanism for planning obligations to be secured from development. The 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended) set out 
additional legislation on the use of planning obligations. 
 

2.4 Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations defines that for a planning obligation to 
be taken into consideration in granting planning permission, it must be: 

 
a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
b) Directly related to the development; and 
c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
2.5 Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations currently places limitations on the 

pooling of planning obligations. It effectively provides that since 6 April 2015 
no more than five separate planning obligations may be entered into which 
provide for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or for the 
funding or provision of a type of infrastructure. For the purposes of this 
pooling restriction, the limit of five planning obligations is applied 
retrospectively to all obligations signed by an authority after 6 April 2010. 
 

Page 2191



 

6 
 

2.6 The Government has recently indicated its intention to lift these pooling 
restrictions, and it is anticipated that this will occur during 20198. This SPD 
has been written on the basis that there will be no pooling restrictions by the 
time of its adoption. 
 

National policy context 
 
2.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)9 identifies that local 

planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. It highlights that planning obligations should only be 
used where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a 
planning condition (paragraph 54). 
 

2.8 The NPPF sets a presumption that up-to-date policies on planning obligations 
should apply, and says that it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether 
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the 
application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter 
for the decision-maker, and such assessments should reflect the approach in 
national guidance and be made publicly available (paragraph 57).  
 

2.9 The national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further advice on 
planning obligations and viability. It sets out a clear expectation that viability 
assessments should be made publicly available other than in exceptional 
circumstances. It also states that an “existing use value plus” (EUV+) 
approach should be taken to land value assumptions in viability assessments, 
which is based on the existing use value of the land plus a suitable premium 
for the landowner. 
 

Development plan 
 
2.10 The Planning Obligations SPD supplements the following saved policies of 

the Unitary Development Plan (UDP), although other development plan 
policies may also be relevant for individual developments: 

 

 Policy DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations identifies that 
development that would have an adverse impact on any interests of 
acknowledged importance or would result in a material increase in the 
need or demand for infrastructure, services, facilities, and/or 
maintenance, will only be granted planning permission subject to 
planning conditions or planning obligations that would ensure adequate 
mitigation measures are put in place. 

 

                                            
8 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (October 2018) Government response to 
supporting housing delivery through developer contributions: A summary of consultation responses 
and the Government’s view on the way forward, paragraph 25 
9 Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework 

Page 2192



 

7 
 

 Policy ST5 – Transport networks identifies that transport networks 
will be maintained and improved through a combination of measures, 
including the protection and extension of the network of pedestrian and 
cycling routes, the expansion and improvement of the public transport 
system, the maintenance and improvement of the highway network, 
and the provision of new road infrastructure where this will support the 
city’s economic regeneration. 

 

 Policy DES3 – Design of public space sets out a series of design 
criteria for development which includes the provision of, or works to, 
public space. 

 

 Policy H1 – Provision of new housing development identifies that 
all new housing development will be required to contribute towards the 
provision of a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms 
of size, type, tenure and affordability. The policy also identifies that new 
housing development will where necessary be required to make an 
adequate contribution to local infrastructure and facilities required to 
support the development.   

 

 Policy H4 – Affordable housing identifies that in areas where there is 
a demonstrable lack of affordable housing to meet local needs, 
developers will be required to provide an element of affordable housing 
of appropriate types on all residential sites over 1 hectare or in housing 
developments of 25 or more dwellings. 

 

 Policy H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing 
development identifies the requirements in relation to open space 
provision associated with new housing development, and states that 
planning permission for housing development will only be granted 
where adequate and appropriate provision is made for formal and 
informal open space and its maintenance over a twenty year period. 
The policy identifies that the open space should be provided either as 
part of the development or through an equivalent financial contribution 
based on a standard cost per bed space for both capital and 
maintenance. 

 

 Policy EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and 
community facilities relates to the provision and improvement of 
health and community facilities, and identifies that where a significant 
expansion of facilities is proposed on a site that does not currently 
enjoy good accessibility by a range of means of transport, contributions 
or improvements to pedestrian, cycling and/or public transport facilities 
and services may be sought. 

 

 Policy A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 
identifies that development will not be permitted where it would have an 
unacceptable impact on the highway network. The reasoned 
justification identifies that it will be important that development 
proposals incorporate sufficient measures to ensure that they will have 

Page 2193



 

8 
 

no unacceptable impact on the highway network. It identifies that 
planning obligations will be used where appropriate to ensure that any 
proposed mitigation or improvement measures are implemented. 

 

 Policy CH3 – Works within conservation areas seeks to preserve 
and enhance the character and appearance of conservation areas. The 
reasoned justification identifies that the city council will seek to enter 
into planning obligations with developers to secure improvements to 
the public realm of conservation areas, to ensure that the overall 
impact of development on an area’s character and appearance is 
positive. 

 

 Policy CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal identifies that 
where the restoration or improvement of the canal or towpath is 
necessary to enable development to proceed satisfactorily, or where 
the development would benefit directly from the restoration or 
improvement, contributions will be sought with a view to securing such 
restoration or improvement. 

 

 Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities identifies the 
recreation standards which are applied for the purposes of saved UDP 
Policy H8 in terms of identifying the requirements in relation to open 
space provision associated with new housing development. 

 
 
 

Page 2194



 

9 
 

3. Approach to securing planning obligations 
 

Summary of overall approach 
 
3.1 The nature of planning obligations, and the legislative requirements which 

govern their use, means that each obligation needs to be considered 
individually having regard to the site-specific circumstances of a development 
proposal. Notwithstanding this, it is possible to identify common issues that 
are likely to arise from the majority of development schemes, and for which 
planning obligations may be required to mitigate the impacts. 

 
3.2 The city council’s approach to securing planning obligations is therefore 

based around the following priorities, which derive clearly from the saved 
policies of the Salford Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

 

 Affordable housing: New housing development will be required to 
contribute to a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms 
of tenure and affordability. Where there is a demonstrable lack of 
affordable housing developers will be required to provide an element of 
affordable housing to meet local housing needs, and this will be 
secured via a planning obligation. 
 

 Open space: New housing development will create additional demand 
for open space facilities, and therefore appropriate provision for formal 
and informal open space will be required, together with its ongoing 
maintenance. In some instances the most effective means of achieving 
this will be through providing some open space on-site. In other 
instances a financial contribution will be sought towards off-site 
provision. 

 

 Education: New housing development will generate an additional 
requirement for school places. A developer contribution will therefore 
be sought towards the expansion of primary schools within the city in 
order to accommodate the additional requirement for pupil places. In 
certain instances where there are no opportunities to expand existing 
schools within the surrounding area, a developer may be required to 
set aside land for a school. 

 

 Transport: New development will place additional pressure on existing 
transport networks within the city, and may in turn generate a 
requirement for improvements to transport infrastructure and services. 
Planning obligations will be one mechanism used in order to secure the 
provision of necessary transport works and improvements. 

 

 Public realm: New development may generate a requirement for 
investment in the public realm, where a development will generate 
intensified use of the public realm, or to provide a high quality setting 
for new development and ensure its positive integration within the 

Page 2195



 

10 
 

urban form. Planning obligations may therefore be sought in order to 
secure the provision or improvement of the public realm. 

 

 Other contributions: There may be instances where a development 
would result in a material increase in the need or demand for other 
types of infrastructure or services. In these cases the city council will 
negotiate with a developer on a case by case basis having regard to 
site-specific circumstances, and planning obligations may be the 
mechanism for securing provision. 

 
3.3 The policies within this document and their reasoned justification provide 

supplementary guidance on when planning obligations will be required, and 
the nature of these requirements. 

 

Responding to the latest evidence 
 
3.4 The policies in this SPD on open space and education use financial formulae 

for calculating the typical scale of contribution that would be appropriate. The 
city council publishes annual updates of the relevant cost information, usually 
around March each year, to ensure that any financial contributions accurately 
reflect the costs of provision involved. 

 
3.5 The policy on education is based around the number of children of primary 

school age that would be expected to occupy the proposed development. 
Demographic changes can result in these pupil yields changing over time. 
The city council will publish new data as it becomes available, and amend the 
application of the policy accordingly if required. 

 
3.6 The city council will monitor changes in the viability of development. If any 

such changes are significant, then this is likely to prompt a review of this SPD. 
 

Definitions 
 
3.7 The definitions below apply to all relevant policies in this SPD. 
 
3.8 A dwelling is defined as a self-contained unit of residential accommodation. 

Self-containment is where all of the rooms (including the kitchen, bathroom 
and toilet) in a household’s accommodation are behind a single door and are 
not shared with other households. Non-self-contained household spaces at 
the same address are collectively counted as one or more dwellings, based 
on the extent to which they share facilities. 

 
3.9 The definition of a house includes: 

a) Self-contained residential accommodation with direct access from the 
ground floor and no adjoining accommodation either above or below, 
such as detached, semi-detached, terraced, townhouse and mews 
dwellings; 

b) Other forms of self-contained residential accommodation that would 
have a similar function to the above in category (a), having regard to 
the size and layout of their internal and external space, particularly in 

Page 2196



 

11 
 

terms of the likelihood of them being occupied by households with 
children. 

 
3.10 A bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms within a dwelling, plus 

one. For example, a two bedroom dwelling has three bed spaces, and a four 
bedroom dwelling has five bed spaces. Bed spaces represent the number of 
people that could reasonably be expected to occupy a dwelling, and therefore 
its likely impact on the need for facilities such as open space. Studio 
apartments and bedrooms in non-self-contained accommodation are 
considered to have two bed spaces, unless it can be clearly demonstrated 
that they are incapable of satisfactorily accommodating more than one 
person. The exception to this is student accommodation, where it will be 
assumed that each bedroom has one bed space unless it has been designed 
to accommodate more people. 

 

Thresholds 
 
3.11 Planning obligations are used to address the unacceptable impacts of 

proposed developments, and hence their use may be appropriate for 
developments of all types and size. 

 
3.12 Minimum thresholds (in terms of the number of dwellings proposed, amount of 

floorspace and/or site size) are used in this SPD for the policies on affordable 
housing, open space, education, transport and public realm, as it will be 
appropriate for all developments above those thresholds to make a suitable 
contribution given the scale of the impacts that they are likely to have. 

 
3.13 A threshold of 10 dwellings is used for open space, education, transport and 

public realm. The thresholds for affordable housing are: all developments 
providing 25 or more dwellings, and all residential sites over 1 hectare 
irrespective of the number of dwellings. These affordable housing thresholds 
are based on saved UDP Policy H4. 
 

3.14 For non-residential developments, a threshold of 1,000 square metres is used 
for transport and public realm. 

 
3.15 It may also be appropriate for smaller developments to make contributions in 

relation to these and other requirements, and this need will be determined on 
a case by case basis. Affordable housing will not be sought for residential 
developments of fewer than 10 dwellings or the site has an area of less than 
0.5 hectares in accordance with paragraph 63 NPPF, although the city council 
would strongly encourage such provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2197



 

12 
 

Artificial splitting of sites 
 
 

Policy OB1 Artificial splitting of sites 
 
Where there is evidence that a site or a development has been artificially 
split in order to avoid policy requirements by being below any relevant 
size/dwelling threshold, the council will consider whether it would be 
appropriate to apply the policy requirements to each of the smaller sites 
individually irrespective of their size/number of dwellings in order to secure 
planning obligations in accordance with this supplementary planning 
document. In determining whether separate sites should be aggregated to 
form a single site for the purposes of applying this policy, the city council 
will consider: 
 
1) Existing and previous land ownership; 
2) Whether the areas of land could be considered to be a single site for 

planning purposes; and 
3) Whether the development should be treated as a single development. 
 
The city council will consider each application on the facts as a matter of 
planning judgement. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
3.16 The use of thresholds helps to provide clarity for developers regarding likely 

planning obligation requirements whilst maintaining flexibility for smaller sites. 
It is important that this flexibility is not abused by developers who artificially 
split their sites in order to fall below any threshold and hence potentially 
reduce or avoid appropriate planning obligations. This is particularly important 
in relation to affordable housing, given the relatively large size threshold. 

 
 

Area-based requirements 
 
3.17 The requirements of this SPD apply equally to all areas of Salford, except in 

the case of affordable housing. The affordable housing policy sets different 
requirements in different areas of the city (shown on a map in Policy OB3), 
based on the local housing market and financial viability. 

 

Existing buildings 
 
3.18 All references in this SPD to the number of dwellings or number of bed 

spaces in a residential development apply to the net change in dwellings/bed 
spaces; that is, the number of dwellings/beds spaces proposed in the 
development minus any that currently exist on the site and would be lost for 
example due to demolition, conversion or change of use. Where there is a 
relatively short time period between the demolition of dwellings and their 
replacement, as would be expected as part of a regeneration scheme, it will 

Page 2198



 

13 
 

be appropriate for the demolitions to be deducted in calculating the net 
increase. In circumstances where a longer time period has elapsed between 
demolition and redevelopment, there is unlikely to be a case for deducting 
previous demolitions in calculating the net increase. 

 
3.19 Similarly, all references in this SPD to the amount of non-residential 

floorspace in a development apply to the net change in floorspace. Where the 
development involves the loss of one use of floorspace and its replacement 
with another type of floorspace, then regard will be had to the varying impacts 
that the different uses might have. 

 
3.20 The approach to the vacant building credit is set out in Policy OB5 in the 

affordable housing chapter of this SPD. 
 

Outline applications 
 
3.21 Several of the policies in this SPD are directly related to the number of 

dwellings, houses, bed spaces and/or non-principal bedrooms that will be 
provided in a development. For an outline planning application, it is possible 
that some or even all of these may not be known, as the number and/or type 
of dwellings may be amongst the reserved matters. 
 

3.22 In such circumstances, it will still be necessary to ensure that the 
development makes appropriate provision for infrastructure, services and 
facilities in accordance with the policies of this SPD. The preferred approach 
will be to include the relevant cost formulae in the s106 agreement, so that 
there is a clear commitment to providing appropriate contributions to priorities 
such as open space and education. Those contributions can then be 
calculated at the reserved matters stage once the number, type and/or size of 
dwellings is known, without having to amend the agreement. 

 

Starter homes exception sites 
 
3.23 National planning practice guidance states that starter homes on starter 

homes exception sites should not be required to make affordable housing or 
tariff-style section 106 contributions, but that planning obligations should be 
sought from any market housing on such sites10. This approach will be 
followed in the application of this SPD. 

 

Delivering wider benefits 
 
3.24 The city council will seek to maximise the benefits that are delivered through 

planning obligations, whilst ensuring that such obligations meet the legal tests 
set out in paragraph 2.4 of this SPD. As part of this, the city council will have 
regard to existing plans and strategies when determining the most appropriate 
way to spend financial contributions or agreeing off-site works. This will 
include area-based regeneration strategies, green infrastructure and 

                                            
10 Paragraph 31 of the Planning obligations section (Reference ID: 23b-031-20161116) and 
paragraph 12 of the Starter Homes section (Reference ID: 55-012-20150318) 

Page 2199



 

14 
 

greenspace strategies, biodiversity action plans, school investment 
programmes, and transport delivery plans. Regard will also be had to 
opportunities to bring different funding streams together in order to further 
enhance the benefits of investment. This will help to better mitigate the 
impacts and meet the needs of new developments, as well as delivering wider 
advantages for local communities. 

 

Pre-application engagement 
 
3.25 Applicants are strongly encouraged to engage in pre-application discussions 

with the city council in order to determine the nature and scale of contributions 
that will be required, prior to submitting a planning application. This will ensure 
that the determination of applications is not unnecessarily delayed. Details of 
the process for engaging with the city council at the pre-application stage are 
set out on our website at http://www.salford.gov.uk/preapplicationadvice 

 

Page 2200

http://www.salford.gov.uk/preapplicationadvice


 

15 
 

4. Viability appraisals and reduced planning 
obligations 

 

Viability assessment of the SPD 
 
4.1 This SPD has been informed by an assessment of the viability of residential 

development within Salford11. The purpose of the viability assessment is to 
ensure that the cumulative impact of the affordable housing and other 
planning obligation requirements, when taken together with other local and 
national policies and standards, should not compromise the viability of a 
typical scheme. It is a strategic assessment of viability across the city and is 
based on the appraisal of a number of example development typologies, 
which have been assessed across defined residential value areas.  

 
4.2 It is recognised that the economics of individual schemes will vary, reflecting 

site-specific conditions. Where there are significant site abnormals, it is 
possible that the required level of affordable housing provision and other 
developer contributions could compromise development viability. In such 
instances, the city council will enter into negotiations with developers to 
consider whether there is a justifiable case for a reduction in the scale of 
contributions. 
 

4.3 The strategic viability assessment conducted by the city council relates 
exclusively to residential development. There would be no value in 
undertaking an assessment of viability for non-residential development, as 
where a contribution is required this will be negotiated on a case by case 
basis, and viability will be a legitimate consideration informing these 
negotiations.   

 
 

Viability appraisals and reduced planning obligations 
 

Policy OB2 Reduced planning obligations 
 
Development will be permitted with reduced planning obligations compared 
to policy requirements only where: 
 
1) The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal that reflects the 

recommended approach in national planning guidance and provides a 
clear explanation for any assumptions that deviate from those used in 
the city council’s latest strategic viability; 

2) The value of the planning obligations has been maximised having 
regard to likely viability; 

3) A clawback mechanism has been incorporated into a legal agreement, 
where appropriate, to ensure that additional mitigation is provided if 

                                            
11 Salford City Council (January 2019) Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Strategic Assessment of 
Viability 

Page 2201



 

16 
 

final development viability is better than anticipated in the viability 
assessment; and 

4) The benefits of the development outweigh the lack of full mitigation 
for its impacts, having regard to other material considerations. 

 
Where a viability appraisal is submitted by an applicant in order to justify a 
reduced contribution, it and any revisions to it will be published prior to the 
determination of the planning application unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. Where such exceptional circumstances exist, an executive 
summary that includes sufficient information to enable the public to fully 
understand the main inputs and conclusions of the appraisal must be 
provided and published. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
4.4 Where a developer considers that there are site-specific issues which mean 

that the cumulative effect of policy requirements and planning obligations 
would compromise development viability in relation to a particular scheme, the 
city council will enter into negotiations to determine whether a reduced 
contribution would be appropriate and, if so, the scale and nature of that 
reduction. In such circumstances, the developer will be required to provide the 
city council with appropriate evidence of the likely impact of the proposed 
planning obligation(s) on the viability of their development. The scope of the 
viability evidence that needs to be submitted is set out within the city council’s 
planning obligations proforma statement. Further advice on viability appraisals 
is set out later in this section and in the national Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
4.5 In reviewing the viability evidence, the city council will take a view on the 

applicant’s case as a whole. There will be instances where certain planning 
obligations are fundamental in order to mitigate the impact of a development, 
and therefore even where a viability assessment demonstrates that a scheme 
is unable to support any obligations, this does not necessarily mean that 
these requirements can be waived. In such instances the city council may 
therefore refuse a planning application where a development would generate 
unacceptable impacts which could not be effectively mitigated and which are 
not outweighed by the benefits of the development. 

 
4.6 Where a developer intends to submit viability evidence as the basis for 

seeking to negotiate a reduced contribution, this evidence should be received 
prior to validation of the planning application unless otherwise agreed at the 
pre-application stage. Where evidence is submitted following validation, this 
will only be accepted where the applicant agrees to an appropriate extension 
of time for the determination of the planning application, given that the 
timescales associated with the independent assessment of such evidence 
and subsequent negotiation may otherwise compromise the city council’s 
ability to meet the application determination deadline. Any delays resulting 
from discussions about development viability will not be an appropriate 
justification for applicants not properly engaging in other relevant discussions 
about planning obligations, such as whether affordable housing can be 
provided on a site. 

Page 2202



 

17 
 

 
4.7 Where the city council accepts the applicant’s case for a reduced contribution, 

the city council will need to take a view on the prioritisation of the various 
contributions, having regard to the impact on development viability as a 
whole. 

 
Viability appraisals 
4.8 The ‘Viability’ section of the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

establishes a series of key principles that developers should have regard to in 
the preparation of viability evidence. All viability appraisals will be expected to 
comply with these principles. 

 
4.9 The city council will seek independent advice to review any viability evidence 

that is submitted by applicants. The costs associated with this will be met by 
the applicant. 

 
4.10 It is expected that developers should have regard to the scale of policy 

requirements and planning obligations when acquiring land as part of their 
due diligence, and therefore where a developer has clearly overpaid for a site 
this will not be accepted as a justification for negotiating a reduced 
contribution. The PPG is clear that: “Under no circumstances will the price 
paid for land be relevant justification for failing to accord with relevant policies 
in the plan”12. In particular, the city council will expect viability appraisals to 
use the ‘existing use value plus’ (EUV+) approach set out in the PPG13, based 
on the existing use value of the land plus a suitable premium for the 
landowner. 

 
4.11 Viability appraisals must be based on up-to-date evidence, with an 

appropriate breakdown of costs, which reflect local market circumstances and 
the specifics of the proposed development. For example, the use of published 
development cost averages will often not be appropriate, even where they 
purport to relate to Greater Manchester or the North West, as in practice 
these are typically higher than the actual costs of developments in Salford. 
 

4.12 All viability appraisals should be produced by a relevant qualified professional, 
who should be instructed on the basis of conducting an independent 
assessment with no incentive for reducing the scale of planning obligations. 

 
Transparency 
4.13 Good information on how planning obligations have been agreed and used is 

essential to maintaining public confidence in the planning system. 
 
4.14 Where planning obligations do not accord with all of the policy requirements in 

this SPD, it is important that local communities can understand fully why a 
reduced contribution is considered necessary and appropriate. The 
publication of viability appraisals is a key aspect of this. The PPG is clear that: 

                                            
12 Paragraph 018 of the Viability section of the Planning Practice Guidance (10-018-20180724) 
13 Paragraph 013 of the Viability section of the Planning Practice Guidance (10-013-20180724) 

Page 2203



 

18 
 

“Any viability assessment should be prepared on the basis that it will be made 
publicly available other than in exceptional circumstances”14. 

 
4.15 The city council will apply a presumption that all viability assessments 

submitted as part of the planning application process, or in relation to 
clawback (see below), will be published. In accordance with the above advice 
in the PPG, the city council will only depart from this presumption where this 
would create a genuinely exceptional problem for the applicant that is highly 
unlikely to apply to other developments and clearly outweighs the benefits of 
publishing the full viability assessment. 

 
4.16 The city council produces quarterly reports on planning obligation income and 

expenditure, which are published on its website15. This helps to ensure that 
people can understand the scale of financial contributions, and how and 
where they are being spent. 

 
Clawback mechanism 
4.17 Where the city council accepts an applicant’s case for a reduced contribution, 

it will typically require the applicant to enter into a legal agreement which 
would require the developer to make a financial contribution in the event that 
the viability of a scheme improves subsequent to the undertaking of the initial 
viability appraisal. It may be that in the period between the point of an 
application’s submission and the completion of a development (which will 
typically be a number of years for larger schemes), the viability of a scheme 
improves. This could be due to a range of variables, such as a reduction in 
construction costs, or an increase in sales values. 

 
4.18 In such instances, it will be appropriate that a developer submits an updated 

viability appraisal in order to demonstrate whether the scheme could have 
supported an increased developer contribution (addressing both affordable 
housing and other planning obligations where relevant). The city council will 
agree via negotiation with a developer the appropriate trigger points for the 
submission of updated viability evidence. In relation to a large scheme, or one 
that will be constructed in a series of defined phases, it will typically be 
appropriate to require the submission of an updated viability appraisal at one 
or more points over the course of development. 

 
4.19 The city council will enter into a legal agreement with a developer in relation to 

the clawback mechanism, which defines the process for the submission of 
updated viability evidence and the mechanism for the recovery of any 
financial contributions. The developer will be liable to pay any fees incurred by 
the city council in relation to the independent financial appraisal of the viability 
evidence, and to pay any fees incurred associated with the preparation of the 
legal agreement.  

 

                                            
14 Paragraph 021 of the Viability section of the Planning Practice Guidance (10-021-20180724) 
15 https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-obligations-and-
community-infrastructure-levy/planning-obligations-income-and-expenditure/  

Page 2204

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-obligations-and-community-infrastructure-levy/planning-obligations-income-and-expenditure/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-obligations-and-community-infrastructure-levy/planning-obligations-income-and-expenditure/


 

19 
 

4.20 In calculating the maximum value of any clawback that may be payable, 
regard will be had to the full scale of affordable housing and other planning 
obligation requirements that would normally apply as set out within this SPD. 

 
4.21 The city council will direct any developer contributions secured via the 

clawback mechanism in accordance with the policies of this SPD. 

  

Page 2205



 

20 
 

5. Affordable housing 
 

Affordable housing requirements in new development 
 

Policy OB3 Affordable housing 
 
Minimum affordable housing requirements 
All developments that provide 25 or more net additional dwellings, or are on 
a site of 1 hectare or more in size and provide any number of dwellings, shall 
deliver at least 20% of those dwellings as affordable housing. Within the 
areas listed in the following table (and shown in Figure 1 at the end of this 
policy), such developments shall deliver a higher minimum affordable 
housing requirement in accordance with that table. 
 

Residential value 
area 

Dwelling type Minimum proportion 
of affordable housing 

Premium 
Houses and mid-density 
apartments 

50% 

High 
Houses 50% 

Mid-density apartments 35% 

Mid/high 
Houses 35% 

Mid-density apartments 25% 

For the purposes of this table, mid-density apartment schemes are those 
comprising fewer than six storeys. 

 
All minimum affordable housing requirements shall be rounded to the 
nearest full dwelling once the relevant proportion has been applied. 
 
Where there is evidence that a site or development has been artificially split 
in order to avoid policy requirements by being below the dwelling or site size 
threshold identified above, in accordance with Policy PC1 the city council 
will consider whether it would be appropriate to apply the policy 
requirements to each of the smaller sites individually irrespective of their 
number of dwellings or site area in order to secure the delivery of affordable 
housing in accordance with this policy. 
 
Green Belt land is not covered by the value areas, as new housing 
development within the Green Belt that is in excess of the thresholds in this 
policy will by definition be inappropriate. If exceptional circumstances exist 
to justify such development in the Green Belt, then the proportion of 
dwellings that are affordable must be maximised. The Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework removes three sites in Salford from the Green Belt and 
allocates them for housing. It specifies the minimum affordable 
requirements for each site, and the relevant value areas for those sites are 
shown in Figure 1 below. 
 
A reduced proportion of affordable housing from the above requirements 
may be considered acceptable only where: 
 

Page 2206



 

21 
 

1) It has been clearly demonstrated that all practicable options have 
been exhausted for delivering the minimum affordable housing 
requirement, including by partnering with registered providers and 
accommodating affordable homes financed through various sources 
such as Homes England, investment funds and commuted sums from 
other sites; and 

2) The requirements of criteria 1-4 in Policy OB2 have been met. 
 
The provision of affordable housing at higher levels than the minimum 
requirements of this policy will be strongly supported. 
 
Tenure of new affordable housing 
New affordable housing provision shall deliver the following mix of tenures 
to ensure that there is a diverse range of new affordable homes that meets 
the nature of the need within Salford: 
 

Tenure Proportion of the affordable homes 

Social rented 37.5% 

Affordable rented 37.5% 

Shared ownership 25% 

 
A different affordable housing tenure mix from the table above may be 
acceptable where there is clear evidence this would help to better meet 
specifically identified local needs and address site-specific circumstances.  
The identification of any such need will be informed by discussions with the 
city council, and registered providers where they are to manage the 
affordable housing, having regard to the: 
 
A) Choice based lettings data from Salford Home Search16; 
B) Characteristics of the households likely to be allocated to the 

affordable dwellings;  
C) Existing supply of affordable housing in the local area, including the 

size and type; 
D) Characteristics of the site; 
E) Scale of the proposed development; 
F) Level of local house prices and incomes; and 
G) Financial viability of the proposed scheme. 
 
Type and size 
Given that there is a demonstrable need for all types (houses and 
apartments) and sizes (bedrooms and floorspace) of affordable housing, in 
the first instance the city council will expect that the affordable dwellings 
shall reflect the dwelling mix across the development as a whole. 
 
A different mix of types and sizes may be appropriate on an individual site 
where there is clear evidence that this would help to better meet specifically 

                                            
16 Salford Home Search allows those who are eligible and registered as having a need for affordable 
housing to make a ‘bid’ for affordable properties when they become available for letting. Data that 
Salford Home Search provide includes the number of bid per property by size, type and location. 

Page 2207



 

22 
 

identified local needs and address site-specific circumstances. The 
identification of any such need will be informed by discussions with the city 
council, and registered providers where they are to manage the affordable 
housing, and having regard to criteria A-G of this policy.  
 
On-site and off-site provision 
The mechanism for providing the affordable housing shall be agreed with 
the city council, having regard to local factors and the desirability of 
delivering mixed communities. In some circumstances this will mean that 
on-site provision is most appropriate, whereas in other circumstances off-
site provision or the payment of a commuted sum may enable the more 
effective delivery of affordable housing to meet local needs. The value of any 
commuted sum will be calculated on the basis of the above table, or any 
subsequent update in a supplementary planning document, and spent 
having regard to the latest evidence of need. 
 
Design 
Within mixed-tenure developments, the appearance of the affordable 
dwellings shall be indistinguishable from the open market dwellings and 
shall normally be “pepper-potted”. 
 
Small clusters of up to ten affordable dwellings will typically be acceptable 
given the practicalities of managing and maintaining units, although larger 
clusters may be appropriate where:  
 
i) A high proportion of units are affordable; or 
ii) An identified Registered Provider considers that larger clusters are 

required to ensure the efficient and effective management of the 
affordable housing.  

 
All affordable housing shall be designed and built to appropriate and agreed 
standards. 
 
Delivery 
The provision of affordable housing will be secured through a section 106 
agreement. This will specify the timing of the delivery of any dwellings 
and/or payment of commuted sums.  
 
Where a registered provider is involved, the developer shall, unless 
otherwise agreed, build the dwellings to the specification of the registered 
provider and sell them to the registered provider at an agreed discount on 
the sale price. This discount will be based on the projected rental income 
and the registered provider’s borrowing limits, taking into account location, 
property type, number of bedrooms, and tenure to be provided. 
 
Engagement 
Early involvement of the city council and registered providers in site 
discussions and design is strongly encouraged, preferably at the pre-
application stage, in order to ensure that affordable housing provision will 
meet relevant requirements and standards. 

Page 2208



 

23 
 

 
Definitions 
Affordable housing is defined in Annex 2 of the 2018 National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
Affordable housing shall include provisions to remain at an affordable price 
for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for 
alternative affordable housing provision.  
 
The requirement for affordable housing set out in this policy applies to all 
types of self-contained residential development including retirement 
dwellings, and also to co-living developments. In build to rent developments, 
affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with Policy OB4. Other 
housing that is not in the form of individual units of self-contained 
accommodation, as may be seen for example in care homes and nursing 
homes, will not be required to provide affordable housing. 

 

 
 
Reasoned justification 
 
5.1 Housing affordability in Salford is worsening and is a major challenge for 

many households. Housing costs can place significant pressures on 
household finances, particularly for those on low incomes or in insecure 
employment. Significantly increasing the supply of affordable housing is 
therefore a key priority, and a vital component of delivering a fairer Salford. 
 

Page 2209



 

24 
 

5.2 In recent years, Salford has been very successful at attracting large levels of 
new residential development, but there has been widespread public concern 
about the low proportion of affordable homes that have been delivered in 
private sector developments and, in particular, the large number of schemes 
that have provided no affordable housing at all. 
 

5.3 As of 31 March 2018, there were 5,867 households on the housing register 
seeking affordable housing in Salford, with the vast majority of these being in 
priority need. Using the methodology in the national planning practice 
guidance, the 2019 Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment identifies a need for 613 affordable homes per annum in Salford 
if the backlog of need were to be addressed over the next five years.  
 

5.4 Criterion 1 of saved UDP policy H1 ‘Provision of new housing development’ 
states that all new housing development will be required to contribute towards 
the provision of a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms of 
size, type, tenure and affordability. 
 

5.5 Saved UDP policy H4 ‘Affordable housing’ states that: 
 
 “In areas where there is a demonstrable lack of affordable housing to meet 

local needs, developers will be required, by negotiation with the city council, to 
provide an element of affordable housing, of appropriate types, on all 
residential sites over 1 hectare, irrespective of the number of dwellings, or in 
housing developments of 25 or more dwellings.” 

 
5.6 Given the identified level of need and the fundamental right of people to have 

access to a decent home at a cost they can afford, the city council will 
negotiate the provision of affordable housing in all residential schemes that 
are above the thresholds set out in saved UDP policy H4. This will be vital to 
ensuring that inclusive communities are achieved and housing needs are met.  

 
5.7 In light of the affordability challenges that residents face and having regard to 

development viability, the city council considers that at least 20% of new 
dwellings in schemes above the relevant thresholds should be in the form of 
affordable housing wherever possible (including in build to rent (see Policy 
OB4)). This will help to deliver a continued supply of new affordable homes to 
meet the substantial need that has been identified, whilst also supporting 
diverse neighbourhoods and enabling households of varying means to stay 
within or close to their community. 
 

5.8 Government policy states that where major development involving the 
provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should 
expect at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home 
ownership, as part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site. 
Having regard to the characteristics of households in need and the existing 
tenure mix, taking such an approach in Salford would significantly prejudice 
the ability to meet affordable housing needs in the city and hence is not 
appropriate. Instead, the tenure mix of the affordable housing should typically 
be three-quarters for rent (evenly split between social rent and affordable rent) 

Page 2210



 

25 
 

and one-quarter for shared ownership. Other forms of affordable home 
ownership will typically only be appropriate where viability is especially 
challenging. This approach will help to ensure that there is a diverse range of 
new affordable homes coming forward in the city to meet a variety of needs 
whilst being targeted particularly at the high proportion of households in need 
who are unable to afford any model of home ownership. It will also support the 
delivery of criterion 1 of saved UDP policy H1 relating to contributing to a 
balanced mix of dwellings in the local area. 
 

5.9 The strategic viability assessment that has been produced by the city council 
suggests that delivering 20% affordable housing for some types of residential 
development in some parts of the city may be very challenging. This is based 
on a range of assumptions that may vary on individual sites, with some 
developments being more viable and some less viable than indicated in the 
assessment depending on factors such as the specific site characteristics, the 
funding model and tendering process for the development, and the market 
conditions at the time. This variability in viability, both between sites and over 
time, means that it is appropriate that the assessment is the starting point 
rather than the only determinant of the affordable housing policy. 
 

5.10 The use of a minimum figure of at least 20% across Salford helps to clarify the 
expectation that developments above the saved UDP thresholds will make an 
appropriate contribution to meeting a range of housing needs including those 
requiring affordable homes. Where viability is more challenging, there may still 
be opportunities to achieve the 20% figure, including by attracting funding 
from third parties such as registered providers and through the use of 
affordable housing tenures that require lower subsidies. Nevertheless, there 
will be situations where it is appropriate to reduce or even waive the 
affordable housing requirement, and/or agree an affordable housing tenure 
mix with higher levels of affordable home ownership than would normally be 
appropriate, due to the specific circumstances of the development and where 
the benefits of providing new homes outweigh the lack of compliance with the 
affordable housing policy requirements. The approach that will be taken in 
relation to the negotiation of reduced contributions is set out in Policy OB2 of 
this SPD. 
 

5.11 The strategic viability assessment indicates that viability is sufficiently strong 
in some parts of Salford to support more than 20% affordable housing in new 
residential developments. These are the areas with the highest house prices 
in the city, and hence where affordable housing is especially important if a 
diverse range of people are to be able to access a suitable home within them. 
Hence, it is appropriate to set higher minimum requirements than 20% in such 
areas in order to deliver sustainable communities and maximise the provision 
of new affordable homes to address the identified need within Salford. In 
some of these areas, separate requirements are set for schemes comprising 
houses and schemes comprising apartments, given that the strategic viability 
assessment demonstrates that there are significant differences between them 
in terms of their viability and therefore their scope to support affordable 
housing. Where a scheme as a whole exceeds the thresholds for when the 
policy applies, and comprises both houses and apartments, the relevant 

Page 2211



 

26 
 

affordable requirements will be applied proportionately to the houses and the 
apartments. 
 

5.12 There is a demonstrable affordable housing need across the city for houses 
and apartments, and properties ranging from one bedroom to four bedrooms 
or more. It is considered impracticable and potentially undeliverable for each 
individual development to make provision to meet all of the varied needs that 
have been identified. Therefore, the approach set out in the policy is that 
where affordable housing is required, the starting point is that the type and 
size of the affordable dwellings should reflect the development as a whole. 
Given that new developments across the city when taken on a cumulative 
basis will provide a full range of types and sizes, this approach will ensure that 
new developments will be making provision that contributes towards meeting 
the identified affordable housing need for different property types and sizes.  

 
5.13 The city council strongly encourages developers to bring forward affordable 

housing in partnership with registered providers (RPs) of affordable housing. 
Early engagement between the city council, RP and developer is also 
encouraged given the complexity of providing affordable housing. This will be 
particularly important for high density apartment schemes where there may be 
specific management issues for RPs associated with the integration of 
affordable dwellings in such schemes. 

 
5.14 On-site provision of affordable housing will often be the most suitable 

approach, but off-site provision or a financial contribution of broadly equivalent 
value may be more appropriate in some circumstances, for example if this 
would better help to meet local affordable housing needs. Where a financial 
contribution is considered acceptable, the approximate cost of on-site 
provision to the developer will be established and the developer will pay this 
value to the city council. The cost to a developer of providing affordable 
housing is different by tenure, and so account will be taken of the tenure mix 
that would normally be sought on-site when calculating the value of the 
financial contribution. In addition, the city council will have regard to 
information from RPs active in the city in relation to the discounts they would 
normally need off the open market sales value to be able to manage 
properties.     

 
5.15 Where a financial contribution has been agreed the city council will expect the 

developer to enter into a s106 agreement which will set out details including 
the timing of the payment and the point at which it is calculated, and the 
timescale within which it will be used. Any payment received will be held in a 
ring-fenced account and will be used to support affordable housing delivery. 
Having regard to this, amongst other things, financial contributions towards 
affordable housing will be used by the city council in the following ways: 

 

 Financial support for the provision of sub-market rental properties, 
including those at lower than affordable rents, meeting local housing 
need, including provision through Derive (which is the local authority 
housing company); 

 Assembly of land to support affordable housing delivery; 

Page 2212



 

27 
 

 Gap funding for affordable housing provision by RPs; 

 Funding to support city council approved affordable housing 
intermediate products, including shared ownership and shared equity; 
and 

 Any suitable means to support affordable housing in line with the 
objectives of the Salford housing strategy (or equivalent). 

 
5.16 Although the affordable housing requirements in this policy only apply to 

developments above the thresholds in saved UDP policy H4, the delivery of 
affordable housing on smaller schemes is strongly encouraged. The city 
council will work in partnership with registered providers, Homes England, 
developers and landowners to maximise opportunities for affordable housing 
delivery across Salford. 

 
 

Affordable housing in build to rent schemes 
 

Policy OB4 Build to rent 
 
Build to rent housing within developments that provide 25 or more net 
additional dwellings, or are on a site of 1 hectare or more in size and provide 
any number of dwellings, shall ensure that a minimum of 20% of the build to 
rent dwellings are in the form of affordable private rent and are: 
 
1) At a rent that is at least 20% less than the private market rent 

(inclusive of service charges) for an equivalent dwelling; 
2) Maintained as affordable private rent in perpetuity;  
3) Distributed throughout the development and physically 

indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of quality and 
size; and 

4) Occupied by eligible households having regard to household income 
levels and local rent levels. 

 
For the purposes of this policy, housing only qualifies as build to rent if: 
  
a) The whole development is under common ownership and 

management control for the long term; 
b) The operator offers tenancies of three or more years to all tenants, 

with tenants having the option to terminate at one month’s notice, 
after the first six months, without a break fee being payable. 

 
The change of affordable private rent dwellings to another tenure will be 
permitted only where: 
 
A) It is clearly impracticable to retain the dwellings in affordable private 

rent, for example because the build to rent development is being 
converted to owner-occupation; and 

Page 2213



 

28 
 

B) The full value of the subsidy for the affordable private rent dwellings is 
paid as a commuted sum to the city council for reinvestment in the 
provision of affordable housing. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
5.17 Build to rent is purpose-built housing where typically all of the dwellings are 

rented, professionally managed and in single ownership, and can comprise 
either houses or flats. Over recent years the city council has granted planning 
permission for a significant number of build to rent schemes, particularly in 
City Centre Salford and Salford Quays. Many of these schemes are currently 
under construction, with further schemes continuing to be proposed, 
demonstrating the demand for build to rent developments in Salford. 

 
5.18 As with other private developments, build to rent schemes will need to make 

appropriate provision for affordable housing, helping to deliver more inclusive 
communities and a fairer Salford. This will typically be in the form of affordable 
private rent, but the provision of, or financial contributions towards, social rent, 
affordable rent or shared ownership will also be appropriate where it is of at 
least a commensurate financial value. 

 
5.19 The scale of affordable housing provision required for build to rent schemes is 

consistent with the approach set out in the ‘Build to rent’ section of the 
Government’s Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
 

Vacant building credit 
 

Policy OB5 Vacant building credit 
 
Vacant building credit 
In accordance with the stated purpose of the vacant building credit, the 
credit will only be applied where it would support the reuse or 
redevelopment of buildings that would otherwise lie vacant. Consequently, it 
will not be applied where any of the following apply: 
 
a) The vacant building has been abandoned; 
b) The building has been made vacant for the sole purpose of 

redevelopment; 
c) The building was occupied at the time the planning application was 

submitted; 
d) The building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning 

permission for a similar development; 
e) The site is protected for an alternative land use; or 
f) The building is a temporary structure or of a secondary nature such as 

a shed or outbuilding. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the building must be in existence at the time the 
planning application is approved, and the vacant building credit will not be 

Page 2214



 

29 
 

applied to buildings that have already been demolished irrespective of how 
recent that demolition may have been. 
 
Where the affordable housing contribution is reduced as a result of the 
application of the vacant building credit, the provision of rented 
accommodation rather than affordable home ownership will be prioritised for 
the remaining contribution, reflecting the need within Salford. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
5.20 The NPPF states that the affordable housing contribution due from a 

development should be reduced where vacant buildings are being reused or 
redeveloped, in order to support the reuse of brownfield land. This reduction 
should be equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings, 
but does not apply to vacant buildings that have been abandoned17. The 
‘Planning obligations’ section of the national Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) provides advice on the implementation of the credit. 
 

5.21 It is important that the vacant building credit is not used as a way of reducing 
or removing legitimate affordable housing requirements. The PPG reinforces 
that the credit should not be applied to abandoned buildings, but also explains 
that it may be appropriate for local planning authorities to consider other 
issues such as whether the building has been made vacant deliberately for 
the purposes of redevelopment18. 
 

5.22 Vacant buildings can provide opportunities for positive temporary uses such 
as community functions or artistic activities. The city council does not want 
these temporary uses to be discouraged due to fears about the vacant 
building credit being lost. Hence, where the city council has agreed that the 
vacant building credit should be applied, any genuinely temporary use of the 
building in the interim that does not delay development will not void this. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
17 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 63 and footnote 28 
18 Paragraph 023 of the Planning obligations section of the Planning Practice Guidance (23b-023-
20160519) 

Page 2215



 

30 
 

6. Open space 
 

Open space contributions from new housing development 
 

Policy OB6 Open space contributions 
 
New housing development that would result in a net increase of 10 or more 
dwellings and which includes no on-site provision of open space will be expected 
to make a financial contribution towards the provision or improvement of off-site 
open space as follows: 
 

 House: £1,555 per bed space (at 2018/19 financial year prices) 

 Apartment (and other forms of accommodation which are not encompassed 
within the definition of a house): £1,123 per bed space (at 2018/19 financial 
year prices) 

 
Where a development does provide open space on-site, a calculation of the value 
of this facility will be made. Where the value of the on-site provision falls below the 
scale of the formula-based financial contribution (as set out above) and the 
proposed development would not meet the recreation standards set out in the 
saved UDP policies, payment of the balance will be required via a financial 
contribution towards off-site provision. 
 
Whether open space is provided on-site or whether a contribution is made towards 
off-site provision, the developer will be required to ensure that the open space will 
be appropriately maintained in the long term.  
 
For the purposes of this policy, a bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms 
within a dwelling, plus one. 
 
The open space cost per bed space will be published annually by the city council. 
The most up to date published cost at the point of an application’s determination 
will be used for the purposes of calculating the financial requirement. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
6.1 The provision of high quality open space facilities is a vital element of 

successful residential areas. New housing development creates additional 
demand for such facilities, and it is therefore important that this is satisfied 
either through the provision of new facilities or the improvement of existing 
ones. 

 
6.2 Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policy H8 ‘Open space provision 

associated with new housing development’ requires new housing 
development to make adequate and appropriate provision for formal and 
informal open space, and its maintenance over a twenty year period. It 
identifies that the amount of open space to be provided associated with new 
housing development will be calculated having regard to the aim of achieving 

Page 2216



 

31 
 

the standards set out in saved UDP policy R2 ‘Provision of recreation land 
and facilities’. Policy R2 identifies standards relating to four types of open 
space provision: 

 

 A full range of youth and adult facilities in each service delivery area; 

 A minimum proportion of 0.92 hectares of high quality managed sports 
pitches per 1,000 population19; 

 A minimum of 0.25 hectares of equipped children’s playspace per 
1,000 population; and 

 Amenity open space to a standard reasonably related in scale and kind 
to the development it serves and sufficient to meet the need for casual 
children’s play space.   

 
6.3 In addition to these standards, the policy also identifies walking distance 

standards, relating to the accessibility of households to equipped children’s 
playspace and to neighbourhood and district parks. 

 
6.4 In some instances the most effective means of meeting the need generated 

by a development will be through providing an area of open space on-site 
within a development scheme. In other situations, it may be more effective to 
provide or improve open space facilities within the surrounding area.  

 
6.5 Where a development does not provide any open space on-site, a financial 

contribution will be sought towards off-site provision. Equally, where a 
development does provide some open space on-site, subject to the nature 
and value of this provision, it may be that a proportionate financial contribution 
towards off-site provision will be required in addition. Such financial 
contributions will be secured via planning obligation. In order to calculate the 
appropriate scale of contribution that each new development will generate, the 
costs of providing open space have been calculated on a per bed space 
basis.  

 
6.6 The policy identifies that a bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms 

within a dwelling, plus one. For example, a two bedroom dwelling has three 
bed spaces, and a four bedroom dwelling has five bed spaces. Bed spaces 
represent the number of people that could reasonably be expected to occupy 
a dwelling, and therefore its likely impact on the need for open space. Studio 
apartments are considered to have two bed spaces, given that they will 
normally be designed to enable occupation by up to two persons.  

 
6.7 The policy applies to all types of housing, including other forms of 

accommodation which are not encompassed within the definition of a house. 
It therefore applies to specialist forms of accommodation, recognising that 
such development will typically generate a requirement for open space 
provision. In calculating the number of bed spaces within specialist forms of 

                                            
19 In relation to this standard, saved UDP policy R2 identified a minimum proportion of 0.73 hectares 
of high quality managed sports pitches per 1,000 population. The requirement was however 
subsequently revised upwards on the basis of the ‘Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment 
report’ (Knight, Kavanagh and Page on behalf of Salford City Council (December 2007)), which 
updated the local sports pitch standard to 0.92 hectares per 1,000 population. 

Page 2217



 

32 
 

accommodation, the city council will have regard to the nature of proposed 
use and occupation. For example, in relation to student accommodation 
where each bedroom is designed for occupation by one student, each student 
bedroom will be counted as one bed space unless it has been designed to 
accommodate more people. In relation to retirement living accommodation, 
where each unit is designed for occupation by up to two persons, each unit 
will be counted as two bed spaces. 

 
6.8 The costs of delivering each of the types of open space provision have been 

informed by data published by Sport England on the costs of delivering new 
sports facilities, and by empirical data collated by the city council on the costs 
associated with recent investment in open space across the city. A detailed 
explanation is set out at Annex A. This identifies that the proportionate cost 
(capital and maintenance) associated with meeting all of these standards 
would equate to £1,555 per capita (i.e. per bed space) for the year 2018/19. 
 

6.9 It is recognised that the open space needs of different types of dwelling will 
vary. Houses can be expected to generate a requirement for each of the four 
types of provision (children’s playspace, sports pitches, amenity space, and 
youth and adult facilities), and therefore the £1,555 per capita figure is 
appropriate in this context. There will however typically be a reduced 
requirement for equipped children’s playspace associated with the 
development of apartments. The evidence base which was assembled in 
order to inform the education contribution demonstrates that the average 
primary pupil yield from dwellings in the form of apartments within the city is 
minimal20. On this basis, it is not considered that a contribution towards 
equipped children’s playspace can be justified from apartments or other forms 
of accommodation which are unlikely to be occupied by households with 
children. Removing this from the calculation, the proportionate cost (capital 
and maintenance) to be applied in relation to apartments (and other forms of 
accommodation which are not encompassed within the definition of a house) 
would be £1,123 per capita (i.e. per bed space). 

 
6.10 It should be noted that this approach does not calculate a separate financial 

contribution towards parks as there is no defined standard from which to 
quantify the provision of parks on a per capita basis. These figures are 
therefore likely to underestimate the actual cost of open space requirement 
that new housing will generate, however no additional contribution over and 
above the requirement set out in Policy OB6 will be sought in this regard. It 
will however be appropriate for financial contributions to be directed to parks, 
recognising that this will often be the most appropriate place for open space 
facilities to be located.  

 
6.11 In the absence of evidence which justifies a more substantive change in 

costs, the open space cost per bed space will be increased annually in line 
with inflation. This will be undertaken by applying the Retail Prices Index (all 
items) annual percentage change to the value of the cost. The revised cost 

                                            
20 Salford City Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on primary pupil 
yield methodology and evidence base 

Page 2218



 

33 
 

will be published annually by the city council. The most up to date published 
cost at the point of an application’s determination will be used for the purpose 
of calculating the financial requirement. 

 
Maintenance 
 
6.12 Whether open space is provided on-site, or a financial contribution is secured 

towards its off-site provision, the developer will need to ensure that the long 
term maintenance of the open space is effectively provided for.  

 
6.13 Where open space is to be provided on-site, the city council’s preference will 

generally be to assume management responsibility for any new open space. 
This is in order to provide a consistent and reliable approach to maintenance 
that is clearly accountable to the local community, recognising that where a 
developer has put private management arrangements in place and issues 
have arisen, the city council has often needed to intervene to rectify any 
issues that could not otherwise be resolved.  

 
6.14 Where the city council assumes management responsibility for new open 

space, the developer will therefore be required to make a financial 
contribution towards the maintenance costs over a twenty year period. The 
appropriate contribution will be calculated having regard to the maintenance 
element of the published open space costs that applies to the particular type 
of open space which is being provided. 

 
6.15 Where the city council does not assume management responsibility for new 

open space, the developer should ensure that its ongoing maintenance is 
provided for in the form of a management company or trust that is responsible 
for the upkeep of the open space in perpetuity to the satisfaction of the city 
council. In these circumstances, a covenant will be required to ensure that the 
area is available as public open space, together with an agreed specification 
for maintenance and management to ensure that the open space is properly 
cared for. 

 
6.16 Where a financial contribution is secured towards the off-site provision of 

open space, a sum to cover its maintenance over a twenty year period is 
factored in to the value of the open space contribution set out within the 
policy.  

 
How contributions will be spent 
 
6.17 Financial contributions raised will be directed towards funding the capital 

costs associated with the provision or improvement of open space facilities, 
and towards the ongoing maintenance of those facilities which have been 
subject to provision or improvement.  

 
6.18 Contributions may be directed towards a specific project that is named within 

the planning obligation agreement, or towards a type of open space in order 
to provide more flexibility in how the open space needs of the development 
are met. Other sources of funding from the city council or other organisations 

Page 2219



 

34 
 

may also be directed towards a project where appropriate, helping to 
maximise the benefits of developer contributions.  

 
6.19 Whilst the scale of the financial contribution has been calculated having 

regard to the four types of open space facility as derived from the UDP policy 
(children’s playspace, sports pitches, amenity space, and youth and adult 
facilities), it would not be realistic to direct each individual contribution towards 
all of these four types. Such an approach would typically result in a small 
contribution towards each type, which would be insufficient to deliver any 
single facility. It would therefore be contingent on awaiting a number of 
contributions of a sufficient scale to be secured within the surrounding area 
which could be pooled together towards delivering a facility. This could mean 
that contributions are not spent until a number of years after a development is 
complete, resulting in a deficit of local provision in the interim. In order to 
maximise the effectiveness of any investment and to minimise any delay 
between a development’s completion and the provision or improvement of an 
open space facility, each contribution will therefore typically be directed 
towards funding a single facility type, having regard to the priority schemes 
locally. Whilst an individual contribution may be directed towards only one 
facility type, over time contributions will be directed towards the full range of 
open space facilities in the context of addressing any deficits in local 
provision. 

 
6.20 Contributions may be directed towards the provision or improvement of a 

range of open space facilities, including: 
 

 The full range of youth and adult facilities, such as bowling greens, 
tennis courts, all weather pitches, skateboard and wheeled facilities, 
basketball courts 

 High quality managed sports pitches, including football, rugby and 
cricket, and associated changing facilities 

 Equipped children’s playspace 

 Amenity open space 

 Natural greenspace 

 Parks 

 Allotments 
 
6.21 Contributions may also be directed towards access improvements to such 

open space facilities, focused on their immediate vicinity. This will help to 
minimise potential barriers to residents of a development enjoying such 
facilities, and hence increase the effectiveness of off-site open space 
provision in meeting the needs generated by the development. 

 
6.22 In relation to maintenance, it will generally only be appropriate for 

contributions to be directed towards the ongoing maintenance of those 
facilities which have been subject to provision or improvement via developer 
contributions, or where open space investment has been forward funded 
utilising public funding in advance of development coming forward.  

 
Calculating the value of on-site provision 

Page 2220



 

35 
 

 
6.23 In calculating the value of any on-site open space provision, the city council 

will have regard to the quantity, quality and location of the provision. The 
quantity will be calculated as a proportion of the relevant local standard based 
on the total number of bed spaces within the development. The quality will be 
specific to the type of open space being provided, but the space must have a 
clear recreation function and be appropriately located within the site. The 
value of any land set-aside for open space provision will not be included for 
the purposes of the calculation. 

 

Page 2221



 

36 
 

7. Education 
 

Education contributions from new housing development 
 

Policy OB7 Education contributions 
 
New residential development that would result in a net increase of 10 or 
more dwellings will be expected to make a financial contribution towards 
education provision on the basis of the following calculation: 
 

Financial contribution per house =  
primary pupil yield factor  x  cost per primary pupil place 

 
Primary pupil yield factor 
This is calculated according to the number of non-principal bedrooms within 
a house. Each non-principal bedroom is expected to generate a requirement 
for 0.11 primary pupil places. The number of non-principal bedrooms within 
a house is the total number of bedrooms minus one. The primary pupil yield 
factor for houses is set out in the table below. 
 

 Calculation 
(non-principal bedrooms) x 0.11 

Primary pupil yield 
factor 

1-bed house (1 – 1) x 0.11 0 

2-bed house (2 – 1) x 0.11 0.11 

3-bed house (3 – 1) x 0.11 0.22 

4-bed house (4 – 1) x 0.11 0.33 

5-bed house (5 – 1) x 0.11 0.44 

6-bed house (6 – 1) x 0.11 0.55 

And so on   

 
Cost per primary pupil place 
This cost will be published annually by the city council, to reflect the 
average capital cost of creating an additional primary school place through 
new-build construction / extension. The most up to date published cost at 
the point of an application’s determination will be used for the purpose of 
calculating the financial requirement. As of 2018/2019 financial year, the cost 
is £10,295 per primary pupil place. 
 
Exemptions 
Financial contributions towards education provision will not be sought from 
the following types of accommodation: 

 Apartments 

 One-bedroom houses 

 Non-family units (e.g. sheltered housing, student housing, residential 
institutions, houses in multiple occupation) 

 
Reasoned justification 
 

Page 2222



 

37 
 

7.1 Over recent years, Salford has faced a significant increase in the demand for 
primary school places, and pupil projections indicate that this increase will be 
sustained. The growth in demand for school places is creating significant 
pressures at the primary school level, where the majority of schools across 
the city are already full or approaching capacity. Whilst there are some areas 
of the city where the shortage of primary places is more acute, it is an issue 
facing all of the city’s neighbourhoods. 
 

7.2 In order to fulfil its statutory duty to provide school places, the city council has 
had to direct significant investment towards the creation of additional primary 
school places. This has been achieved through a range of measures, 
including bringing back all available space within existing school buildings to 
create additional classrooms, extending school buildings on their existing site, 
and where necessary through the expansion of existing schools via split-site 
solutions using land within the city council’s ownership for the erection of new 
school buildings. 
 

7.3 In response to the shortage of pupil places nationally, central government has 
made financial allocations to those authorities facing the greatest pressure on 
pupil places via basic need funding. Whilst these funding allocations have to 
date supported the city council’s primary school programme, it is clear that 
they will not be sufficient to fund the large-scale capital investment necessary 
to meet future requirements. 
 

7.4 Expansion of the city’s primary school estate will be needed in order to 
accommodate the requirement for pupil places that new homes will generate. 
It is therefore appropriate that new housing development contributes towards 
meeting the demand for additional pupil places that it will lead to. In the 
majority of instances the city council will apply a formula-based approach to 
calculate the financial contribution towards education provision that will be 
sought from new housing development. 

 
Primary pupil yield factor 
 
7.5 In order to inform the approach to requiring an education contribution, the city 

council assessed the number of primary pupils resident within recent housing 
developments within the city. This led to a primary pupil yield factor being 
calculated. The assessment demonstrated that the average primary pupil 
yield from dwellings in the form of apartments within the city is minimal21. On 
this basis, contributions are not currently being sought in relation to dwellings 
in the form of apartments. However, the most recent monitoring suggests that 
primary pupil yields have increased for both houses and apartments in recent 
years, and if this continues then it may be necessary in a future review of this 
SPD to raise the primary pupil yield factor for houses and expand the scope of 
the policy to include apartments. 
 

                                            
21 Salford City Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on primary pupil 

yield methodology and evidence base 

Page 2223



 

38 
 

7.6 The primary pupil yield factor provides the basis for calculating the average 
number of primary pupils that a new housing development can be expected to 
generate. It therefore forms the basis of the approach to calculating a 
proportionate contribution from new development. The methodology for how 
the primary pupil yield factor was derived is set out in full in the background 
document on the primary pupil yield methodology and evidence base22. 

 
7.7 One-bedroom houses are exempt as they should not typically result in a 

primary pupil yield, as they do not allow for separate sleeping accommodation 
for a parent and child. Whilst there may be particular circumstances where a 
family is occupying a one-bedroom house, this is considered to be exceptional 
and contributions will not therefore be sought in relation to one-bedroom 
houses.  
 

7.8 Non-family units will not typically result in a primary pupil yield. Whilst there 
may be exceptions to this (for example, student housing that includes units 
designed specifically for occupation by students with children), such cases are 
exceptional and therefore contributions will not be sought in relation to non-
family units. 

 
Cost per primary pupil place 
 
7.9 The cost factor that the city council will apply for the 2018/19 financial year is 

£10,295 per primary pupil place. This is derived from the Education Funding 
Agency’s contractors’ framework rates, as set out within cost guidance 
published by the Department for Education, adjusted for inflation. Additional 
detail on how this cost has been derived is set out in a separate report23. The 
cost factor will be published annually by the city council, to reflect the average 
capital cost of creating an additional primary school place through new-build 
construction / extension. The most up to date published cost at the point of an 
application’s determination will be used for the purpose of calculating the 
financial requirement. 
 

Application of calculation 
 
7.10 The calculation will be applied to all dwellings in the form of houses within a 

development (excluding one-bedroom houses), as all tenures will lead to 
additional primary pupil place demand. Notwithstanding that securing 
affordable housing is an important policy objective, the city council will seek 
contributions regardless of tenure in order that new development makes 
appropriate provision for the requirement it will generate. In calculating the 
scale of contributions that development can support, the viability assessment 
which underpins the policy approach has been undertaken on this basis24. 
 

                                            
22 Ibid 
23 Salford City Council (March 2018) Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document: background document on cost updates 
24 Salford City Council (January 2019) Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Strategic Assessment of 
Viability 

Page 2224



 

39 
 

7.11 A worked example of the how the formula-based calculation set out in this 
policy would be applied for a large scheme comprising a range of dwelling 
types is set out at Annex C. 

 
7.12 In order to fully meet the additional requirement for primary pupil places that a 

development will generate, there may be circumstances where it is 
appropriate for the city council to agree a contribution that is either higher or 
lower than the standard calculation where there is clear evidence to justify 
departing from this. Such instances will be exceptional however, and the 
calculation set out within the policy will be the most appropriate mechanism 
for calculating the financial contribution in the majority of instances. 

 
7.13 In line with saved policy DEV5 of the UDP, the city council considers that 

where a development would result in a material increase in the requirement 
for additional pupil places but the developer fails to make appropriate 
provision as set out in this SPD, this would justify the refusal of planning 
permission. 

 
How contributions will be spent 
 
7.14 Financial contributions will be directed to funding the capital infrastructure 

works associated with addressing the increased pressure on school provision 
that a development will generate. Other sources of funding from the city 
council or other organisations may also be directed towards a project where 
appropriate, and therefore developers may only provide a proportion of the 
total investment required to deliver the project. 

 
7.15 Contributions may be directed towards a range of projects, including for 

example: 
 

 Investment in expanding or converting existing school facilities, 
including classroom space and non-teaching facilities necessary to 
accommodate additional children (for example assembly space and 
catering facilities); 

 Construction of new school buildings, or conversion of existing 
buildings into schools; 

 Improvement and expansion of playground and playing field facilities 
necessary to accommodate additional children; 

 Acquisition of land or buildings to accommodate school facilities; and 

 Transport works around a school to enhance accessibility for residents 
of the development and mitigate the impacts of additional pupils, such 
as new/improved pedestrian crossings and parking management. 

 
7.16 The city council will seek to minimise the capital cost to developers as far as 

practicable, by seeking to expand existing schools in the first instance, and by 
utilising the city council’s land assets to accommodate additional school place 
provision and facilities where necessary. 
 

7.17 Expenditure will be directed to state-funded schools within the catchment of 
the contributing development. This will typically be within the pupil planning 

Page 2225



 

40 
 

area within which the development lies. In certain circumstances it may be 
appropriate for contributions to be directed to facilities within an adjacent pupil 
planning area, where a development scheme would result in additional 
pressure on these facilities. 

 
7.18 Contributions will only be directed to the one-off capital infrastructure costs 

associated with addressing the increased pressure on school facilities. 
Contributions will not be used to fund school revenue expenditure. There is 
therefore no double-counting in terms of the use of contributions and the 
education grant funding that the city council receives from central 
government.  
 

7.19 The city council will in the first instance seek to direct investment associated 
with increasing the number of pupil places towards strengthening Salford’s 
established education base. The expansion of existing schools will therefore 
be the city council’s first preference where practicable. Where the only option 
available is the establishment of a new school, the city council will seek to 
work with developers to ensure that the establishment of any new school 
complements existing education provision across the city. 

 
 

Setting aside land for school provision 
 

Policy OB8 Setting aside land for school provision 
 
Where it is not practicable for the city council to expand capacity within existing 
schools sufficient to accommodate the additional requirement for pupil places that 
will be generated by a development, and there are no alternative solutions 
available in this regard, the city council will negotiate with the developer to secure 
the setting aside of land to accommodate a school.  
 
Land set aside for schools should: 
 
1) Be of sufficient size to accommodate the school facilities, including 

appropriate provision for outdoor recreation space. A one-form entry 
primary school will typically require a site of 1 hectare, and a two-form entry 
primary school will typically require a site of 2 hectares; 

2) Be accessible to the development it is primarily intended to serve, and the 
wider catchment. The school site should be located so that it can effectively 
serve its catchment having regard to maximising accessibility by 
sustainable modes of transport.  The school site should typically be located 
no more than a 1 mile walking distance from any of the dwellings on the 
development it is primarily intended to serve; and 

3) Be located to minimise the impacts of associated traffic and car parking on 
the surrounding area. 

 
Where land is to be set aside for a school, the school should be operational at a 
sufficiently early stage in the phasing of the overall development in order to ensure 
that the demand for school places can be satisfactorily accommodated. 

Page 2226



 

41 
 

 
The financial contribution set out in Policy OB7 will be reduced accordingly to 
reflect the cost of setting aside the land. Where the value of the land to be set 
aside falls below the value of the financial contribution as set out in Policy OB7, 
the developer will be expected to pay the remaining balance of the contribution 
towards the delivery of the school. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
7.20 In the majority of instances, the approach to raising financial contributions as 

set out in Policy OB7 will be the most appropriate mechanism for a developer 
to make a proportionate contribution to the requirement for additional pupil 
places that their development will generate. The financial contribution secured 
will enable the city council to fund the capital infrastructure works associated 
with addressing the increased pressure on existing school provision that the 
development will generate. 
 

7.21 There will however be certain instances where there is no scope to expand 
existing schools within an area (i.e. where schools occupy constrained sites), 
and there are no suitable alternatives available to the city council (for 
example, where there are no land or property assets within the city council’s 
ownership which would be suitable to accommodate a school).  
 

7.22 Where there are no options available to the city council to provide additional 
pupil places within an area, the city council will enter into negotiation with the 
developer in order to ensure that appropriate provision is made for the pupil 
place requirement that the development will generate. In such circumstances, 
the developer will be required to set aside land for the provision of a school. 
 

7.23 This situation is more likely to arise in relation to larger development 
schemes, given that such developments will generate a significant 
requirement for additional pupil places which may not be able to be met 
through expanding existing schools. This may require liaison with more than 
one developer or landowner. 
 

7.24 Where land is to be set aside for a school, the city council will need to ensure 
that this is of an appropriate size and location. The land will need to be of a 
sufficient size to accommodate a school and its associated outdoor recreation 
space. The site sizes identified in the policy are derived from the guidance 
within Building Bulletin 9925 which is considered to represent best practice in 
relation to primary school space standards, and will provide some flexibility for 
future expansion. The site should also be accessible to the catchment it is 
intended to serve. It should typically be located no more than a 1 mile walking 
distance from any of the dwellings on the development it is primarily intended 
to serve, so as to enable households to access the school by walking and 
minimise the number of car-based trips associated with school drop-off and 
pick-up.  

                                            
25 Department for Education and Skills (April 2004) Building bulletin 99: briefing framework for primary 
school projects 

Page 2227



 

42 
 

 
7.25 The financial contribution set out in Policy OB7 will be reduced accordingly to 

reflect the cost of setting aside the land. Where the value of the land to be set 
aside falls below the value of the financial contribution as set out in Policy 
OB7, the developer will be expected to pay the remaining balance of the 
contribution towards the delivery of the school. This will ensure an equitable 
approach so that the setting aside of land does not result in the overall value 
of a developer’s contribution being below what would typically be sought via 
Policy OB7. Conversely, where the value of the land exceeds the value of the 
financial contribution that would be sought via Policy OB7, the developer will 
be expected to set aside the land at no additional cost to the city council. In 
such instances, the setting aside of a site for a school will by definition be 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, and 
therefore it would not be appropriate for the city council to have to make a 
payment to the developer for the setting aside of a part of their development 
site, given that the need for the school arises from the need generated by the 
development itself. 

 
 

Page 2228



 

43 
 

8. Transport 
 

Transport contributions from development 
 

Policy OB9 Transport contributions 
 
The city council will seek a financial contribution towards the provision or 
improvement of transport infrastructure or services on a case by case basis from 
relevant developments comprising 10 or more dwellings, or 1,000 square metres 
or more of non-residential floorspace. The appropriate scale of any contribution will 
be negotiated having regard to site-specific circumstances. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
8.1 New development will place additional pressure on existing transport 

networks within the city, and may in turn generate a requirement for 
improvements to transport infrastructure and services. Increasing levels of 
congestion will act as a barrier to the city’s future growth, and therefore it is 
important that all new development maximises its potential to encourage 
sustainable travel patterns. A development may require specific transport 
works to be undertaken in order to make the scheme acceptable in planning 
terms. It is therefore appropriate that planning obligations are utilised as a 
mechanism to secure developer contributions towards these works. 
 

8.2 A standard formula has not been defined for calculating the scale of any 
transport contribution that is required, as this will vary on a site-specific basis 
depending on the scale, location and accessibility of the development. The 
strategic viability appraisal assumes an average contribution of £200 per bed 
space for transport, but the appropriate contribution for an individual 
development could be considerably higher or lower. The appropriate 
contribution for non-residential development will vary depending on the use. 

 
8.3 Planning applications for development likely to give rise to significant transport 

implications will be accompanied by a transport statement, or a transport 
assessment and travel plan. The city council’s validation checklist identifies 
the thresholds for when transport assessments and transport statements will 
be required. The mitigation measures identified as necessary to make a 
development acceptable in planning terms will typically be secured via 
planning obligation. 

 
8.4 Where development requires the construction of new highways or works 

adjacent to or on existing highways, this is typically secured via planning 
condition and the provisions within the Highways Act 1980. As such, these 
works are controlled by an alternative process and do not need to be secured 
via planning obligation. Additional information on the relevant provisions of the 
Highways Act 1980 and the associated fees that the city council will apply are 
set out in Annex D. 

 

Page 2229



 

44 
 

How contributions will be spent 
 
8.5 Contributions may be directed towards a range of projects, including for 

example: 
 

 Rail station improvements; 

 Improvements or extension to the Metrolink network; 

 Provision of new public transport services, or increased frequency of 
existing services; 

 Measures to reduce travel demand, for example through travel 
planning and demand management, and the associated monitoring of 
travel plans; 

 Subsidised travel passes for residents of new development; 

 Parking management measures, such as a resident permit holder 
parking scheme, where a new development would result in an 
unacceptable impact in terms of demand for on-street parking; and 

 The provision or improvement of the following transport infrastructure: 
o Bus stop facilities; 
o Metrolink stop facilities; 
o Footbridges; 
o Pedestrian routes, including pedestrian crossings; 
o Cycle routes, including toucan crossings; 
o Cycle facilities, including storage and changing facilities; 
o Equestrian routes, including Pegasus crossings. 

 
8.6 Other sources of funding from the city council or other organisations may also 

be directed towards a project where appropriate, with the developer providing 
a proportion of the total cost. 

 
 
 

Page 2230



 

45 
 

9. Public realm 
 

Public realm contributions from development 
 

Policy OB10 Public realm contributions 
 
The city council will seek a financial contribution towards the provision or 
improvement of public realm on a case by case basis from relevant developments 
comprising 10 or more dwellings, or 1,000 square metres or more of non-
residential floorspace. The appropriate scale of any contribution will be negotiated 
having regard to site-specific circumstances. 
 
Where a contribution towards the provision or improvement of public realm is 
required, a contribution towards its maintenance over a twenty year period will also 
be secured. 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
9.1 National policy highlights the importance of planning positively for the 

achievement of high quality and inclusive design for all development, 
including individual buildings, public and private spaces26. The design and 
quality of the public realm is central to creating successful places, in terms of 
providing the space for movement, interaction and activity, as well as defining 
the setting and relationship between surrounding buildings. A high quality and 
well-designed public realm can also serve to promote sustainable transport 
choices, by encouraging walking and cycling, and facilitating access to public 
transport hubs and services. 

 
9.2 Saved policy DEV5 of the Unitary Development Plan provides the basis for 

the city council to seek contributions towards the provision or improvement of 
the public realm. There will be instances where new development will require 
improvement to the surrounding public realm in terms of providing a setting for 
the development that ensures its positive integration within the urban form, as 
well as facilitating access to and movement around the development. In other 
instances, a development may generate a requirement for an improvement to 
the public realm within the vicinity of the development, where that 
development will generate intensified use of the public realm. The 
requirement for improvement to the public realm can therefore extend beyond 
those areas that directly adjoin a development. 

 
9.3 Not all developments will require an improvement to the public realm to make 

them acceptable in planning terms, and therefore a public realm contribution 
will not be sought in all instances. Similarly, it is not appropriate to define a 
standard formula for calculating the scale of any public realm contribution that 
is required, as this will vary on a site-specific basis depending on the scale 
and location of the development. The strategic viability appraisal assumes an 

                                            
26 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018) National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 127 

Page 2231



 

46 
 

average contribution of £550 per bed space for public realm for apartment 
schemes, but the appropriate contribution for an individual development could 
be considerably higher or lower, and contributions may be required from 
schemes of houses. 

 
9.4 Where a contribution towards the provision or improvement of public realm is 

secured, it will be important that a contribution towards its future maintenance 
is also obtained in order to ensure that the infrastructure can be managed to a 
high standard that ensures its longevity.  

 
9.5 Whilst it is not possible to define all instances where a public realm 

contribution is likely to be sought, development within the vicinity of the 
following locations is likely to generate a requirement for investment in the 
public realm, given the additional pressures on the public realm that 
development will generate: 

 

 Irwell River Park – a new urban river park which is transforming an 8km 
stretch of the Irwell from The Meadow to Salford Quays. Irwell River 
Park is improving pedestrian and cycle connections both along and 
across the river corridor, and provides a valuable recreation resource 
for those who live and work within the area 

 City Centre Salford and Salford Quays – high quality public realm is 
central to underpinning the economic and social resurgence of these 
areas, and strengthening their economic vitality, environmental quality 
and ability to attract substantial housing and commercial investment 

 Bridgewater Canal – the Bridgewater Canal is being transformed with 
new towpaths and public spaces, to create a valuable recreation 
resource and visitor destination 

 Town and local centres – a high quality public realm is an important 
element of a successful centre, through improving its attractiveness to 
retailers and shoppers as well as providing valuable civic space for 
activity and community interaction 

 Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal – the city council supports the 
restoration of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal, and it will be 
appropriate for development along the line of the canal to contribute 
towards its use as a green transport and recreation corridor, or the 
restoration of the canal 

 
9.6 Contributions may be directed towards a wide range of projects, including for 

example: 
 

 Environmental enhancements; 

 Footpath, footway or cycleway improvements; 

 Footbridges; 

 Tree planting, landscaping and other green infrastructure; 

 Provision / improvement of public space, such as public squares; 

 Signage and interpretation boards; 

 Street lighting; 

 Pedestrian prioritisation; and 

Page 2232



 

47 
 

 Street furniture. 
 
9.7 In relation to maintenance, it will generally only be appropriate for 

contributions to be directed towards the ongoing maintenance of those 
facilities which have been subject to provision or improvement via developer 
contributions, or where public realm investment has been forward funded 
utilising public funding in advance of development coming forward. 

 
 
 

Page 2233



 

48 
 

10. Other site-specific planning obligations 
 
10.1 There may be instances where a development would result in a material 

increase in the need or demand for other types of infrastructure or services 
which are not specifically addressed within this document, and where 
provision is required in order to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. In these cases, the city council will negotiate with a developer on a 
case by case basis having regard to site-specific circumstances, and planning 
obligations may be the mechanism for securing provision. 

 
10.2 The potential scope of site-specific planning obligations is very wide and may 

include a diverse range of infrastructure and services. Examples of other 
types of site-specific planning obligations which could be required include: 

 

 Off-site provision of suitable replacement recreation land or facilities, 
where a development would involve the loss of existing recreation land 
or facilities (as required by saved UDP policy R1) 

 Ecological mitigation or compensatory measures, where development 
would result in a negative impact on biodiversity and habitats 

 Flood defence infrastructure, where a development would be at a 
significant risk of flooding 

 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), where these are necessary to 
make a development acceptable in planning terms and cannot be 
provided on-site 

 Pollution or air quality mitigation measures, where development would 
result in an unacceptable impact 

 Works that would result in a positive impact on an identified heritage 
asset, to mitigate adverse impacts of a development on the local 
historic environment 

 Provision or improvement of community facilities, where development 
would create or exacerbate a shortage 

 
10.3 In addition, Salford’s Local Plan may identify site-specific infrastructure 

requirements that will be required to facilitate delivery of the sites it allocates 
for development. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2234



 

49 
 

11. Implementation 
 
11.1 Where a s106 legal agreement is required, draft heads of terms setting out 

the type and extent of planning obligations should be submitted with the 
planning application. A planning obligation proforma statement27 is available 
on the city council’s website and should be submitted alongside any planning 
application that would meet the thresholds defined within this document. 

 

Provision of works by a developer 
 
11.2 In certain instances, the best means of addressing the impact of a 

development may be for a developer to deliver infrastructure works 
themselves as an alternative to making a financial contribution towards off-site 
provision. For example, a developer may undertake public realm 
improvements and subject to the nature of such works, there may be no 
requirement for a separate financial contribution towards off-site public realm 
improvements in order to mitigate the impact of the development.  
 

11.3 Where a developer considers that they can satisfactorily address the impact 
of a development by delivering infrastructure works themselves, they should 
discuss their proposals with the city council at an early stage prior to the 
submission of an application. The city council will consider whether the scope 
of the works would be appropriate to address the impact of the development. 
Any works will need to be implemented to an agreed standard, having regard 
to the quantity, quality and location of the provision. 

 
11.4 Where a developer undertakes open space or public realm works and the city 

council is to assume responsibility for the future management of the space, 
the developer will be required to make a financial contribution towards its 
ongoing maintenance in accordance with the approach set out in policies OB6 
and OB10 of this SPD. In exceptional circumstances where the city council 
does not assume management responsibility, the developer will be required to 
make effective provision for the ongoing long term maintenance of the space 
and this will typically be secured via a covenant. 
 

11.5 For certain types of planning obligation, it will also be appropriate for the 
developer to fund the costs of monitoring, and in such cases a monitoring fee 
will be added to the value of any financial contribution accordingly. For 
example, this could include the costs of monitoring performance against a 
travel plan, or measuring the effects of a development on air quality. 

 

Unilateral undertakings 
 
11.6 In certain instances, where only the applicant needs to be bound by a 

planning obligation and not the city council, it may be appropriate for a 
developer to make a unilateral undertaking in relation to the delivery of 
planning obligations. This represents an alternative mechanism to negotiating 

                                            
27 Salford City Council (undated) Planning obligations proforma statement 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/apply-for-planning-permission/  

Page 2235

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/apply-for-planning-permission/


 

50 
 

a s106 agreement. Resolving planning obligations through unilateral 
undertakings can offer advantages in terms of time, cost and resourcing to 
both the city council and the developer. Where a developer is considering 
making a unilateral undertaking, it should seek the views of the city council as 
to the appropriateness of the proposed approach and the relevant projects 
which funding is to be directed towards. 

 

Approach to phasing of payments and works 
  
11.7 In many instances of residential development, the following schedule of 

payments will be considered appropriate: 
 

 25% of the total contribution upon completion of the first dwelling; 

 A further 50% of the total contribution upon completion of 50% of the 
dwellings; and 

 The balance of the total contribution upon completion of 75% of the 
dwellings. 

 
11.8 An alternative approach is typically required for apartment schemes, as all of 

the dwellings may be completed at the same time. In this situation, the 
phasing of payments will be linked to construction stages and first occupation. 
 

11.9 In relation to the non-residential component of any development, contributions 
will usually be required in full within 7 days of the commencement of 
development. 

 
11.10 Where it is agreed that a developer will deliver infrastructure works 

themselves as an alternative to making a financial contribution, trigger points 
for the delivery of such works will be agreed between the city council and the 
developer on a case by case basis.  

 
11.11 Where a developer considers that this approach to the phasing of payments 

would compromise the deliverability of a scheme, the city council will 
negotiate with developers and seek to agree an alternative approach to 
phasing that has regard to the particular cashflow issues of the development 
scheme. In negotiating an alternative approach, the city council will however 
need to have regard to whether there is a requirement for infrastructure to be 
in place prior to occupation of the development. For example, in relation to 
education provision, where there is no existing capacity within an area it may 
be that school expansion would need to be completed prior to occupation of 
the dwellings in order to ensure that there are sufficient school places 
available. 

 

Forward funding of infrastructure and services 
 
11.12 Where a planning obligation involves a financial contribution from a developer, 

it may be necessary for the city council to spend that money on the 
infrastructure scheme or service provision prior to the contribution being 
received from the developer. For example, this may be required in order for 

Page 2236



 

51 
 

the infrastructure to be available before the development is operational, or 
because the availability of match-funding is time-limited. 
 

11.13 In these circumstances, the city council will not accept any renegotiation of 
the planning obligation to reduce the contribution that has effectively been 
spent. The payment of that contribution will be used to reimburse the city 
council for its forward funding of the infrastructure or services, which could 
include for example repaying borrowing that has been incurred as a result. 
This reimbursement will continue to be deemed necessary for the 
development to be acceptable, irrespective of the time that has elapsed since 
the city council has incurred the expenditure. 

 

Index linking of financial contributions 
 
11.14 For the purposes of calculating the value of the open space and education 

contributions, the associated cost factors will be republished annually to 
ensure that the calculation reflects the most up to date costs. In the absence 
of evidence which justifies a more substantive change in costs, they will be 
increased annually in line with inflation. This will be undertaken by applying 
the Retail Prices Index (all items) annual percentage change to the value of 
the open space cost per bed space (as identified in Policy OB6) and to the 
cost per primary pupil place (as identified in Policy OB7). The revised costs 
will be published annually by the city council. The most up to date published 
cost at the point of an application’s determination will be used for the purpose 
of calculating the scale of each contribution. 

 
11.15 All financial contributions will be index linked (using the Retail Prices Index – 

all items) to the date of the determination of the planning application by the 
city council. If the index is negative then it will be treated as being zero, to 
avoid creating potential funding gaps. 

 

Non-payment  
 
11.16 The city council will monitor planning obligations to ensure compliance. 

Interest will be charged on late payments. Delivery of obligations will be 
required in line with trigger points in the legal agreements. 

 

Unspent contributions 
 
11.17 Legal agreements will specify timeframes for planning obligations to be 

delivered on-site or off-site or for the spending of monies secured through 
planning obligations. If money has not been spent by the end of the relevant 
contribution period, the city council may need to negotiate an extension. 
Otherwise, it will make provision to refund the contribution upon request. It is 
unreasonable for the city council to hold money in perpetuity, but for some 
projects a longer timeframe may be appropriate. 

 

Costs to be met by the developer 
 

Page 2237



 

52 
 

11.18 All reasonable legal fees incurred by the city council in preparing a legal 
agreement will be recovered in full from the developer, and the city council will 
not enter into negotiations on planning obligations until there is a commitment 
to this from the developer. 

 
11.19 A developer may submit financial viability evidence in order to demonstrate 

that the cumulative impact of all policy requirements would compromise 
development viability, and that the contribution should be reduced or waived 
accordingly. In such instances, the submitted viability evidence will be subject 
to independent financial appraisal for which the city council incurs a charge. It 
is therefore appropriate that the city council should recover these costs from 
the developer.  

 
11.20 Similarly, where a developer seeks to undertake works as a payment in kind 

as an alternative to providing a financial contribution, the developer will be 
liable to pay any fees incurred by the city council associated with the 
independent financial appraisal of the value of the works proposed, and to pay 
any fees incurred associated with the preparation of a formal agreement to 
secure provision of the works.  

 
11.21 Where a clawback mechanism is entered into between the city council and a 

developer, the developer will be liable to pay any fees incurred by the city 
council in relation to the independent financial appraisal of the viability 
evidence, and to pay any fees incurred associated with the preparation of the 
legal agreement. 

 
 

Page 2238



 

53 
 

12. Monitoring and review 
 
12.1 The city council will keep under review the range of variables which would 

impact on the application of the SPD policies in terms of calculating the 
appropriate level of financial contribution. This will include the following: 

 

 Cost information – as identified in the implementation section above, 
the city council will regularly review the cost information which 
underpins the open space and education contributions. In the absence 
of evidence which justifies a more substantive change in costs, they 
will be increased annually in line with inflation by applying the Retail 
Prices Index (all items) annual percentage change. 

 

 Assumptions underpinning the assessment of residential viability – the 
city council will keep under review any substantive changes in 
variables which could impact on development viability and imply a need 
to undertake a review of the viability assessment and the SPD as a 
whole. 

 

 Assumptions informing the education contribution (Policy OB7) – the 
city council will publish updated details on capacity and pupil 
projections. This will ensure that there is transparency with regard to 
the existing level of capacity at any point in time, in order to 
demonstrate the need to seek contributions from new housing 
development. In addition, the city council will keep under review the 
average primary pupil yield from recent housing completions in order to 
ensure that the pupil yield factor identified within the SPD presents an 
accurate basis for calculating the appropriate level of financial 
contribution. Any update to the primary pupil yield factor would be 
undertaken via a formal review of the SPD. 

 
12.2 The city council will report annually on the financial contributions raised via 

this SPD and their expenditure, as part of the city council’s monitoring of s106 
receipts and expenditure. The city council will publish information on an 
annual basis on the number of planning obligations secured and how they 
have been spent. This will be available to view on the city council’s website. 

 

  

Page 2239



 

54 
 

Annex A Detailed methodology for deriving open 
space provision costs  

 
A.1 The methodology for deriving the costs which form the basis of the open 

space contribution (Policy OB6) is set out below, and is unchanged from the 
Planning Obligations SPD that was adopted in June 2015. The costs used in 
the methodology have a 2015 base, and are then adjusted to the current year 
based on the RPI in each of the intervening years. 

 

Sports pitch provision 
 
A.2 The cost of providing a full-size sports pitch, measuring 0.77ha including 

safety runoff areas, is £75,000 (equating to £9.74 per square metre)28. The 
costs of providing junior pitches and mini soccer pitches are higher per square 
metre, at £10.58 and £13.56 respectively29. 
 

A.3 Utilising the lower of these figures, to meet the standard of 0.92ha of sports 
pitches per 1,000 population30 would cost £89,608. This equates to £90 per 
bed space. Utilising the figures for junior or mini soccer pitches would give a 
figure of around £97 or £125 per bed space respectively. 
 

A.4 Maintenance costs for sports pitches over a twenty year period are £8.48 per 
square metre31. This equates to £78,016 per 1,000 population (based on the 
0.92 ha standard), or £78 per bed space. 

 
A.5 Therefore, an average development may reasonably be expected to 

contribute at least £168 per bed space for the provision and maintenance of 
sports pitches. 

 

Equipped children’s playspace 
 
A.6 The standard for equipped children’s playspace set out in saved UDP policy 

R2 is 0.25ha per 1,000 population. The cost of providing this amount of 
playspace depends very much on the type of facilities included within it. 
These could include, for example, traditional playground areas, swings or high 
quality imaginative play areas aimed at younger children, or skate parks, 
tennis courts, basketball courts, youth shelters, and multi-use games areas 
(MUGAs) aimed at older children. 

 
A.7 The average cost of providing an equipped children’s play area, measuring 

0.1ha, varies from £58,650 within existing parks to £178,240 for stand-alone 

                                            
28 Based on average Sport England Facility Costs (2nd Quarter 2012) 
https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf  
29 Ibid. 
30 Standard derived from: Knight, Kavanagh and Page on behalf of Salford City Council (December 
2007) Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment report 
31 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 

Page 2240

https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf


 

55 
 

sites32. This is based on a design including toddler and junior swings, 
springers, seesaw, multi-action units, slide and roundabout, together with 
fencing, surfacing, seats, picnic tables, litter bins and footpath link. The twenty 
year maintenance cost for such a facility would be £60,04033. 

 
A.8 The cost of providing a 0.078ha MUGA would be £115,00034, and the twenty 

year maintenance cost for such a facility would be £51,14335. 
 
A.9 A typical play area, providing facilities aimed at both younger and older 

children, might therefore combine these two facilities and measure 0.178ha, 
with a capital cost of between £173,650 – £293,240 and a twenty year 
maintenance cost of £111,183. Utilising the lower of these figures in relation 
to the 0.25ha per 1,000 population standard would equate to a £243,890 
capital cost and a £156,156 maintenance cost, representing a combined total 
of £400 per bed space. 

 

Youth and adult facilities 
 
A.10 Saved UDP policy R2 includes a standard for adult and youth facilities, which 

is the provision of a full range of such facilities within each service delivery 
area. The National Playing Field Association (NPFA) recommends the 
provision of 0.4 – 0.6ha of youth and adult facilities per 1,000 population36, 
and this is considered to approximate to what is required to deliver a full range 
of facilities in each part of the city. 

 
A.11 The table below identifies the capital costs of providing a range of different 

youth and adult facilities37. 
 
Capital costs of youth and adult facilities 
Type of facility Size (hectares) Total cost Cost per square 

metre 

Bowling green 0.16 £110,000 £69 

Tennis – 2 courts 0.123 £160,000 £130 

Tennis – 4 courts (0.234) (£280,000) (£120) 

All-weather pitch – mini 3G 0.26 £375,000 £144 

(0.09) (£138,365) (£154) 

                                            
32 Based on review of schemes implemented by Salford City Council as set out in: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 
33 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 
34 Based on review of schemes implemented by Salford City Council as set out in: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 
35 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 
36 National Playing Field Association (1998) The Six Acre Standard 
37 Based on average Sport England Facility Costs (2nd Quarter 2012) 
https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf and review of schemes 
implemented by Salford City Council as set out in: Salford City Council (June 2015) Planning 
obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 
 
 

Page 2241

https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf


 

56 
 

Skateboard and wheeled 
facility 

0.051 £69,682 £136 

Basketball court 0.0061 £7,294 £120 

TOTAL 0.60 £721,976  

 
A.12 Providing one of each type of facility (utilising the smaller of the options for 

both tennis and for a skateboard and wheeled facility) would have a total cost 
of £721,976 and a size of 0.60ha, equating to £120.33 per square metre. On 
the same basis, the provision of 0.4ha of youth and adult facilities per 1,000 
population (thereby meeting the lower end of the NPFA standard) would have 
a capital cost of £481,317, or £481 per bed space.  

 
A.13 Maintenance costs vary considerably between different types of facility, but 

the cost for a multi-use games area would be a representative average. This 
would give a maintenance cost of £66 per square metre, or £262 per bed 
space.  

 
A.14 Taking the capital and maintenance costs together, this would give a total cost 

of £743 per bed space. 
 

Amenity space 
 
A.15 Saved UDP policy R2 requires the provision of amenity open space to a 

standard reasonably related in scale and kind to the development it serves 
and sufficient to meet the need for casual children’s play space. 

 
A.16 The NPFA recommends a minimum of 0.4-0.5ha of informal children’s 

playspace per 1,000 population. Therefore, the provision of 0.4ha of amenity 
space for all users per 1,000 population is likely to be the minimum that is 
required in order to meet the policy standard. 

 
A.17 The capital cost of providing amenity space is £17.50 per square metre38, 

which equates to £70,000 for an area measuring 0.4ha, or £70 per bed space. 
The twenty-year maintenance cost is £14.40 per square metre39, which 
equates to £57,600 for an area measuring 0.4ha, or £58 per bed space. 

 
A.18 Taking the capital and maintenance costs together, this would give a total cost 

of £128 per bed space. 
 

Parks 
 
A.19 Saved UDP policy R2 also includes standards for accessibility to park 

facilities, in terms of all households being within 1,200 metres walking 
distance of a neighbourhood park and 3,200 metres walking distance of a 
district park. 

                                            
38 Based on review of schemes implemented by Salford City Council as set out in: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 
39 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in: Salford City 
Council (June 2015) Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates, Annex A 

Page 2242



 

57 
 

 
A.20 There is no defined standard from which to quantify the provision of parks on 

a per capita basis and therefore it is not possible to identify an associated cost 
of provision per bed space. It is however recognised that some of the 
identified facility types could be provided within parks. 

 

Summary and adjustment for inflation 
 
A.21 The table below summarises these costs per bed space and calculates the 

total for 2015 accordingly. The totals are then adjusted for inflation, using the 
Retail Price Index (RPI) 12-month rate for January each year. These RPI 
figures were 1.3% in January 2016, 2.6% in January 2017, and 4.0% in 
January 2018. 

 

 

Page 2243



 

58 
 

Type of facility Cost of provision per m2 Provision 
standard 
(hectares 
per 1,000 

population) 

Cost per capita (or bed space) to achieve 
provision standard (i.e. (cost of provision per 

m2 x provision standard x 10,000) / 1,000) 

Adjustment for inflation (RPI) 

Capital Maintenance 
(over 20 year 

period) 

Capital Maintenance 
(over 20 year 

period) 

Total 2015 
(capital and 

maintenance) 

2016 
+ 1.3% 

2017 
+ 2.6% 

2018 
+ 4.0% 

Youth and adult 
facilities 

£120.33 £65.57 0.40A £481 £262 £743 £753 £772 £803 

Sports pitches 
 

£9.74 £8.48 0.92B £90 £78 £168 £170 £175 £182 

Equipped children’s 
playspace 

£97.56 £62.46 0.25C £244 £156 £400 £405 £416 £432 

Amenity space 
 

£17.50 £14.40 0.40A £70 £58 £128 £130 £133 £138 

          

Total  £1,439 £1,458 £1,496 £1,555 
A Derived from: National Playing Field Association (1998) The Six Acre Standard 
B Derived from: Knight, Kavanagh and Page on behalf of Salford City Council (December 2007) Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment report 
C Identified in saved UDP Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities, and also derived from: National Playing Field Association (1998) The Six Acre Standard 

  

P
age 2244



 

59 
 

Annex B Plan of primary pupil planning areas 

 

P
age 2245



 

60 
 

Annex C Worked example of the calculation 
of the education contribution 

 

 
Worked example 
 
A development scheme comprising a total of 160 dwellings, with the 
following mix of dwelling types proposed: 
 
Apartments 

 6 x 1-bedroom apartments 

 12 x 2-bedroom apartments 

 2 x 3-bedroom apartments 
 

Houses 

 24 x 2-bedroom houses 

 48 x 3-bedroom houses 

 52 x 4-bedroom houses 

 16 x 5-bedroom houses 
 

Dwelling type Pupil 
yield 
factor 

Calculation Number 
of 

primary 
pupil 

places 

Contribution 
(£10,295 per 
primary pupil 

place) 

6 x 1-bedroom 
apartments 

n/a n/a n/a Exempt 

12 x 2-bedroom 
apartments 

n/a n/a n/a Exempt 

2 x 3-bedroom 
apartments 

n/a n/a n/a Exempt 

24 x 2-bedroom 
houses 

0.11 24 x 0.11 2.64 
 

£27,179 
 

48 x 3-bedroom 
houses 

0.22 48 x 0.22 10.56 
 

£108,715 
 

52 x 4-bedroom 
houses 

0.33 52 x 0.33 17.16 
 

£176,662 
 

16 x 5-bedroom 
houses 

0.44 16 x 0.44 7.04 
 

£72,477 
 

  TOTAL 37.40 
 

£385,033 
 

 
On the basis of applying the pupil yield factors, the development would be 
expected to generate a requirement for an additional 37.40 primary pupil 
places.  
 
Applying the per pupil place cost (£10,295 for 2018/19 financial year) this 
would result in the requirement for a developer contribution of £385,033 
towards education provision. 
 

 

 

Page 2246



 

61 
 

Annex D Developer guidance on provision of 
highway improvement works and 
associated fees 

 
Delivering obligations for highway improvements 
 
D.1 The construction and improvement of highways in connection with 

development are normally controlled by planning conditions and provisions in 
the Highways Act 1980 and are therefore outside the scope of planning 
obligations. A summary of the city council’s approach to securing highway 
infrastructure works associated with new development is set out below. 
 

D.2 The two key provisions within the Highways Act 1980 relating to the 
implementation of highway infrastructure works associated with new 
development are Section 38 and Section 278. A Section 38 (S38) Agreement 
applies to new highway infrastructure works. A Section 278 (S278) Agreement 
is for highway works adjacent to or on existing highways. 
 

D.3 For Section 38 Agreements, and where appropriate for Section 278 
Agreements (Highways Act 1980), the requirement will be for the developer to 
implement the approved highway infrastructure works, which will then be 
adopted by the city council once they are in an adoptable condition.  
 

D.4 Where such agreements are used, development must not commence until: 
 

1) the development has entered into a bond with an approved surety for 
an amount, based on the estimated cost of the adoptable highway 
infrastructure works, to ensure that the city council’s position is 
protected should the developer default in any way with regard to the 
works; and 

2) the developer has received written approval of the submitted detailed 
engineering drawings, setting out the highway infrastructure works; and 

3) the developer has paid a fee to cover the city council’s costs incurred in 
designing the works (applies to S278 Agreements only), approving the 
drawings, supervising the adoptable highway infrastructure works, and 
administration of the Agreement. 

 
D.5 Planning conditions or obligations will normally require that the development 

not be occupied until the adoptable highway infrastructure works are 
implemented by the developer and completed to the point that the city council 
or its agent can issue a S38 Part 1 Certificate (Certificate of Substantial 
Completion). However, where developments are phased, they may be 
occupied in accordance with an agreed phasing plan, subject to the 
necessary highway works for each phase being completed. 
 

D.6 The adoptable highway infrastructure works should be maintained by the 
developer, at their expense, for a minimum period of 12 months following the 
issue of the S38 Part 2 Certificate and/or the S278 Certificate of Completion. 
 

Page 2247



 

62 
 

D.7 After this period, the S38 Final Certificate and/or the S278 Maintenance 
Certificate will be issued and the city council will adopt the highway 
infrastructure works as maintainable at public expense, subject to: 

 
a. any defects being remedied to the satisfaction of the city council; and 
b. sewers beneath the adoptable highway infrastructure works being 

adopted by United Utilities PLC. 
 
Materials 

 
D.8 All materials proposed for use on the highway network require city council 

Highway Network Management prior approval. Where appropriate these shall 
be subject to HAPAS approval (or other nationally recognised testing and trial 
procedures). 
 

D.9 Materials (paving etc) shall be from a readily available source so that repair 
timescales of 28 days can be achieved. Areas subject to enhanced materials, 
and products which carry additional inspection/maintenance liability, shall 
where appropriate require a calculated commuted sum for future 
maintenance. 

 
Section 38 and 278 fees 
 
D.10 The city council’s total fee for drawing approval, inspection of the works and 

administration of the Agreement will be calculated as a proportion of the value 
of the cost of the adoptable highway infrastructure works. Currently these are: 

 

 Section 38 Agreements: 
o for developments with an estimated cost of adoptable highway 

infrastructure works up to £25,000, the minimum standard 
supervision fee is £3,000. 

o for developments with an estimated cost of adoptable works 
over £25,000, the standard supervision fee will be calculated at 
8% of the estimated cost of adoptable highway infrastructure 
works.  

 

 Section 278 Agreements: 
o The city council (as the highway authority) has the right to 

design and construct the works on behalf of the developer, 
because the works are on or adjacent to the adopted highway. 
Therefore, fees will be calculated on an individual basis, 
dependent on the works involved. 

o Where the City Council (as Highway Authority) does not 
undertake its right to design and construct the works, a fee 
figure of 8% shall be charged against the estimated cost of the 
works. 

 
Works on the motorway network 
 

Page 2248



 

63 
 

D.11 For works on the motorway network, developers will need to enter into a S278 
Agreement with the Highways Agency, which is the highway authority for the 
motorway and trunk road network in England (there are currently no trunk 
roads within Salford). Early discussion with the Highway Agency is therefore 
advised where a development could potentially affect the motorway network. 

 
Traffic Signal Schemes – S278 Agreements and Commuted Sums 
 
D.12 Following the creation of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

(GMCA) on 1 April 2011 the ownership of all traffic signal assets in Greater 
Manchester transferred to GMCA. The maintenance and operational running 
costs are the responsibility of GMCA and this is funded by a central levy. The 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority Order statutorily delegates to the 
GMCA several key functions related to the installation, upgrading, 
maintenance and management of traffic signals on local highway authority 
roads. The Local Authority Protocols prescribe that Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM) will undertake this work. 

 
D.13 Under the agreed Traffic Signals Protocols between the GMCA, TfGM, the 

TfGM Committee, and the Association of Greater Manchester Authorities 
(AGMA) Local Highway Authorities, the GMCA has the power to enter into 
agreements under S278 of the Highways Act 1980 to obtain third party 
funding for the installation, maintenance and operating costs of signal 
controlled junctions and crossings. 
 

D.14 For works that will impact on an existing traffic signal junction/crossing or 
where a new installation is proposed, developers will need to enter into a 
S278 agreement with GMCA. Early discussion with Transport for Greater 
Manchester is therefore advised. 
 

 
Developer’s responsibilities and commuted sums 
 
1) Where a new development, which is not funded and promoted by the local 

authority, requires traffic signal work to be carried out on the existing (publicly 
maintained) highway it will be necessary to enter into an agreement with 
GMCA. It will not be acceptable to describe a development as promoted by 
the local authority to avoid the need for a S278 agreement with GMCA and 
the required commuted sums. 

 
2) If a planning application is approved on the understanding that a new or 

modified traffic signal installation must be provided at the developer’s expense 
then the developer will be required to covenant with GMCA and TfGM to pay 
the following sums: 
a) the design costs for the signal scheme; 
b) the costs incurred by TfGM for carrying out the works. This includes the 

supply and installation of the traffic signal equipment, utility 
connections and management fees; 

c) TfGM’s legal fees for the preparation of the S278 agreement; and  

Page 2249



 

64 
 

d) a commuted sum for the 15 year maintenance and running costs of the 
traffic signal installation. This includes the first line maintenance of the 
signals using the TfGM Traffic Signal Maintenance Contract, the mains 
electricity charges, the communications between the remote site and 
the UTC in-station and the in house costs of ongoing signal 
management. 

e) these responsibilities exist for all developer led traffic signal schemes 
within the AGMA Local Highway Authorities where design work has 
commenced after 1 April 2011. 

 
3) The commuted sum, as of 1st December 2012, is as follows: 

a) for new signal junctions: £3,300 per year over 15 years = £49,500. 
b) for new signal crossings (puffin, toucan and pegasus): £1,650 per year 

over 15 years = £24,750. 
c) where an existing site is modified, for example by adding pedestrian 

facilities, an additional approach arm or converting a pelican to a puffin, 
then the proportional increase in the value of the asset is calculated 
and used to determine what proportion of the normal commuted sum is 
payable. 

d) the costs for the signal installation, the legal fees and the commuted 
sums are all payable in advance by the developer to GMCA at the time 
when the S278 agreement between the developer and GMCA is 
signed. If there is no payment forthcoming then the procurement of 
traffic signal equipment will not commence. 

 
4) Other costs that apply under the S278 agreement: 

a) the design costs will be agreed in advance based on a general 
arrangement layout agreed between the city council and TfGM. 

b) the actual total installation costs payable will depend on the size and 
complexity of the installation and will be agreed before any installation 
works are commenced. 

c) the final decision on the need for a commuted sum to be payable rests 
with TfGM on behalf of the GMCA. 

d) so that a S278 agreement can be processed the legal section of TfGM 
will need the name and address of the developers solicitor at an early 
stage of the scheme development. 

 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) fees 
 
D.15 A Traffic Regulation Order is a legal order, enforceable by law, which allows 

the highway authority to regulate the speed, movement and parking of 
vehicles, and regulate pedestrian movement. 

 
D.16 If the highway infrastructure works result in the introduction of a new TRO, or 

the amendment of an existing TRO, a fee of £4,000-£6,000 (2018/9 financial 
year prices) will be required to cover the city council’s costs in introducing or 
amending the TRO. 

 
Licensing 
 

Page 2250



 

65 
 

D.17 Some developments will require licensing in accordance with Highways Act 
1980 and NRSWA 1991. It will be incumbent on developers to ensure that 
appropriate highway licensing arrangements (both temporary and permanent) 
are in place. 

 
Further information 
 
D.18 Further information can be obtained from Urban Vision’s Highways Group, 

which provides highway services on behalf of the city council. 
 

Highways Group 
Salford Civic Centre 
Chorley Road 
Swinton 
Salford 
M27 5AW 
 
T: 0161 779 4894  
W: http://www.salford.gov.uk/living/streets/roadenquiries/roadadoption 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2251

http://www.salford.gov.uk/living/streets/roadenquiries/roadadoption


 

 
 

 

Page 2252



1 

Draft determination statement on the need for 
sustainability appraisal and strategic environmental 
assessment of the review of the planning obligations 
supplementary planning document 
 

January 2019 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Salford City Council is undertaking a review of its approach to securing 

planning obligations via an update of the Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
1.2 The Planning Act 2008 and associated regulations removed the 

mandatory requirement for a sustainability appraisal to be prepared 
alongside a supplementary planning document (SPD). The intention of 
this was to bring to an end the duplication of effort resulting from local 
planning authorities having to prepare a sustainability appraisal report 
even when appraisal had already been undertaken for an overarching 
plan. Local planning authorities are however still required to screen 
their SPDs to ensure that the legal requirements for sustainability 
appraisal are met where there are impacts that have not been covered 
in the appraisal of the parent plan, or where an assessment is required 
by the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive1.  

 
1.3 Under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations 20042, councils must where appropriate carry out a 
strategic environmental assessment (SEA) of land-use and spatial 
plans. The first part of the SEA process is to screen the relevant plan 
or programme to test whether SEA is required. The council has a duty 
to consult with specified consultation bodies (Natural England, Historic 
England and the Environment Agency) when determining the need for 
SEA. Having consulted with the specified consultation bodies, where 
the council determines that the plan or programme is unlikely to have 
significant environmental effects and does not require SEA, the council 
is required to prepare a statement of its reasons for the determination. 

 
1.4 This report constitutes a draft determination statement as to the need 

for a sustainability appraisal of the review of the Planning Obligations 
SPD. It sets out the screening process along with the reasoning behind 
the determination that no significant additional sustainability issues 
would be raised by the SPD that have not already been considered 
through the appraisal of the unitary development plan (UDP). It is 
determined that sustainability appraisal of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD is not required. 

                                                 
1 European Directive 2001/42/EC transposed into UK law by the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. 
2 Statutory Instrument 2004 No.1633. 

Page 2253



2 

 
1.5 The report also constitutes a determination statement as to the need 

for a full strategic environmental assessment under Regulation 9(3) of 
the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004. It sets out the SEA screening process together with the 
reasoning behind the determination that strategic environmental 
assessment of the review of the Planning Obligations SPD is not 
required.   

 
 

2 Review of planning obligations SPD 
 
2.1 Policy DEV5 of Salford’s unitary development plan provides the main 

policy for the use of planning obligations in the city. This is 
supplemented by policies in the existing Planning Obligations SPD 
(adopted in June 2015), which provides guidance on the use of 
planning obligations for a range of infrastructure including affordable 
housing; open space; education; transport; public realm; and the 
approach to securing a range of other planning obligations. 
 

2.2 The city council is updating the SPD for three main reasons: 
 

 To reflect changing national policy and legislation 

 To respond to the latest information on development viability in 
Salford 

 To provide additional guidance on the implementation of local 
policies on planning obligations in light of experience in applying 
the existing SPD 

 
2.3 As with the existing SPD, the updated SPD will supplement the 

following saved policies of the UDP: 

 ST5 – Transport networks 

 DES3 – Design of public space 

 H1 – Provision of new housing development 

 H4 – Affordable housing 

 H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing 
development 

 EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community 
facilities 

 A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 

 CH3 – Works within conservation areas 

 CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 

 R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities 

 DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations 
 
2.4 Policy DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations identifies that 

development that would have an adverse impact on any interests of 
acknowledged importance or would result in a material increase in the 
need or demand for infrastructure, services, facilities, and/or 

Page 2254



3 

maintenance, will only be granted planning permission subject to 
planning conditions or planning obligations that would ensure adequate 
mitigation measures are put in place. 
 

2.5 Policy ST5 – Transport networks identifies that transport networks 
will be maintained and improved through a combination of measures, 
including the protection and extension of the network of pedestrian and 
cycling routes, the expansion and improvement of the public transport 
system, the maintenance and improvement of the highway network, 
and the provision of new road infrastructure where this will support the 
city’s economic regeneration. 
 

2.6 Policy DES3 – Design of public space sets out a series of design 
criteria for development which includes the provision of, or works to, 
public space. 
 

2.7 Policy H1 – Provision of new housing development identifies that 
all new housing development will be required to contribute towards the 
provision of a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms 
of size, type, tenure and affordability. The policy also identifies that new 
housing development will where necessary be required to make an 
adequate contribution to local infrastructure and facilities required to 
support the development. 
 

2.8 Policy H4 – Affordable housing identifies that in areas where there is 
a demonstrable lack of affordable housing to meet local needs, 
developers will be required to provide an element of affordable housing 
of appropriate types on all residential sites over 1 hectare or in housing 
developments of 25 or more dwellings3. 
 

2.9 Policy H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing 
development identifies the requirements in relation to open space 
provision associated with new housing development, and states that 
planning permission for housing development will only be granted 
where adequate and appropriate provision is made for formal and 
informal open space and its maintenance over a twenty year period. 
The policy identifies that the open space should be provided either as 
part of the development or through an equivalent financial contribution 
based on a standard cost per bed space for both capital and 
maintenance. 
 

2.10 Policy EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and 
community facilities relates to the provision and improvement of 
health and community facilities, and identifies that where a significant 
expansion of facilities is proposed on a site that does not currently 
enjoy good accessibility by a range of means of transport, contributions 

                                                 
3 The UDP requirement for an affordable housing contribution on all residential sites over 1 hectare 

needs to be read in the context of the subsequent update to the NPPF which identifies that contributions 

should not be sought from developments comprising fewer than 10 dwellings. 

Page 2255



4 

or improvements to pedestrian, cycling and/or public transport facilities 
and services may be sought. 
 

2.11 Policy A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 
identifies that development will not be permitted where it would have an 
unacceptable impact on the highway network. The reasoned 
justification identifies that it will be important that development 
proposals incorporate sufficient measures to ensure that they will have 
no unacceptable impact on the highway network. It identifies that 
planning obligations will be used where appropriate to ensure that any 
proposed mitigation or improvement measures are implemented. 
 

2.12 Policy CH3 – Works within conservation areas seeks to preserve 
and enhance the character and appearance of conservation areas. The 
reasoned justification identifies that the city council will seek to enter 
into planning obligations with developers to secure improvements to 
the public realm of conservation areas, to ensure that the overall 
impact of development on an area’s character and appearance is 
positive. 
 

2.13 Policy CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal identifies that 
where the restoration or improvement of the canal or towpath is 
necessary to enable development to proceed satisfactorily, or where 
the development would benefit directly from the restoration or 
improvement, contributions will be sought with a view to securing such 
restoration or improvement. 
 

2.14 Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities identifies the 
recreation standards which are applied for the purposes of saved UDP 
Policy H8 in terms of identifying the requirements in relation to open 
space provision associated with new housing development. 
 

2.15 The screening of the adopted Planning Obligations SPD concluded that 
it did not require a sustainability appraisal or a strategic environmental 
assessment. 

 
 

3 Screening of the requirement for sustainability appraisal 
 
3.1 The UDP was subject to sustainability appraisal at a number of stages 

during its production, and each of the emerging plan’s policies was 
subject to individual appraisal against a set of defined sustainability 
objectives. 

 
3.2 At the UDP first deposit stage the appraisal identified the following in 

relation to each of the relevant policies4: 

                                                 
4 “Sustainability Appraisal of the City of Salford UDP First Deposit Draft Replacement 
Plan 2002-2011” – Baker Associates for Salford City Council (February 2003), 
Appendix 1. 

Page 2256



5 

 
3.3 Policy ST5 – Transport networks: the appraisal welcomed the 

emphasis on other road users in addition to those with access to a 
private car, recognising that the ability for all to access a range of 
goods and services is essential to achieving a more sustainable city. It 
did however recognise that as the policy makes provision for new 
roads, it is inevitable that this will lead to increased car use which is 
contrary to sustainable development objectives of air quality and 
atmospheric integrity. 
 

3.4 Policy DES3 – Design of public space: the appraisal considered that 
this policy should help bring about a better quality wider built 
environment, with associated economic and social benefits. 
 

3.5 Policy H1 – Provision of new housing development: the appraisal 
recognised that the policy contained provision for new housing 
development to include or make a contribution towards infrastructure 
that will support the development. The policy was considered to have a 
positive relationship with housing, accessibility, land and built 
environment, community and health objectives.  
 

3.6 Policy H4 – Affordable housing: the appraisal welcomed this policy 
in the context of Salford’s characteristics, on the basis that setting a 
minimum affordable housing provision within the UDP would be 
inappropriate for the city as a whole. 
 

3.7 Policy H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing 
development: the appraisal considered that this policy should help 
ensure that all have access to open space. It noted that as the policy 
does not include a distance to open space requirement for new 
development, it must be ensured that all financial contributions go to 
support open space easily accessible from the proposed development. 
 

3.8 Policy EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and 
community facilities: the appraisal found that this policy has the 
potential for positive relationships with some social and environmental 
objectives. 
 

3.9 Policy A8 – Impact of development on the highway network: the 
appraisal considered that there should be no negative impacts on the 
sustainability objectives. 
 

3.10 Policy CH3 – Works within conservation areas: the appraisal 
considered that this policy should have a positive impact in relation to 
the protection of the built environment. 
 

3.11 Policy CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal: the appraisal 
considered that this policy would support increased leisure use of the 
canal, which would be line with the sustainability objectives.   
 

Page 2257



6 

3.12 Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities: the appraisal 
considered that there should be no negative impacts on the 
sustainability objectives. 
 

3.13 Policy DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations: the appraisal 
identified that the policy itself could be further strengthened by 
incorporating some of the information that is contained within the 
reasoned justification, and that this would be in line with the general 
tone of the plan as a proactive document aiming to achieve the best 
possible outcomes through land use planning.  

 
3.14 The appraisal assessed each UDP policy against a set of defined 

sustainability objectives. Against each objective the policy was 
assigned one of four ratings: 

 ‘ O ’ = likely to contribute to the achievement of greater 
sustainability according to the identified concern 

 ‘ X ’ = likely to detract from the achievement of greater sustainability 
according to the identified concern 

 ‘ ? ’ = likely, but unpredictable effect 

 ‘ - ‘ = no identified relationship between the topic covered in the 
policy and the sustainability concern 

 
3.15 The appraisal of each of the relevant policies is set out in the table 

below. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 2258



7 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable direction of 
change 

 UDP sustainability appraisal rating of policies 

P
o

lic
y
 S

T
5
 

P
o

lic
y
 D

E
S

3
 

P
o

lic
y
 H

1
 

P
o

lic
y
 H

4
 

P
o

lic
y
 H

8
 

P
o

lic
y
 E

H
C

3
 

P
o

lic
y
 A

8
 

P
o

lic
y
 C

H
3

 

P
o

lic
y
 C

H
7

 

P
o

lic
y
 R

2
 

P
o

lic
y
 D

E
V

5
 

Social progress which recognises the needs of everyone            

SP1 Participation To increase the sense amongst the 
community that the planning 
decisions made are the proper way 
forward to meet understood needs 

- - - - - - - - - - - 

SP2 Accessibility To enable people all to have similar 
and sufficient levels of access to 
services, facilities and opportunities 

O O/? O O O O ? - ? ? O 

SP3 Housing To provide the opportunity for 
people to meet their housing needs 

- - O O - - - - - - - 

SP4 Skills To assist people in gaining the skills 
to fulfil their potential and increase 
their contribution 

- - - - - ? - - - - O 

SP5 Health To improve overall levels of health 
and reduce the disparities between 
different groups and different areas 

? - ? - O O ? - - ? O 

SP6 Community To maintain and promote the culture 
and cohesion of the community 

- - O O ? O - - - - O 

Effective protection of the environment            

EN1 Biodiversity To maintain and enhance the 
diversity and abundance of species 

- - - - - - - - ? - O 

EN2 Landscape character To maintain and enhance the quality 
and character of the landscape, 
including the special qualities of 
remoteness and tranquillity 

- - - - - - - - ? - - 

EN3 Built environment To maintain and enhance the quality 
and distinctiveness of the built 
environment, including the cultural 
heritage 

- O O - - ? - O ? - - 

P
age 2259



8 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable direction of 
change 

 UDP sustainability appraisal rating of policies 

P
o

lic
y
 S

T
5
 

P
o

lic
y
 D

E
S

3
 

P
o

lic
y
 H

1
 

P
o

lic
y
 H

4
 

P
o

lic
y
 H

8
 

P
o

lic
y
 E

H
C

3
 

P
o

lic
y
 A

8
 

P
o

lic
y
 C

H
3

 

P
o

lic
y
 C

H
7

 

P
o

lic
y
 R

2
 

P
o

lic
y
 D

E
V

5
 

Prudent use of natural resources            

R1 Air To reduce all forms of air pollution in 
the interests of local air quality and 
the integrity of the atmosphere 

?/X - - - - - - - - - - 

R2 Water To maintain and improve the quality 
of ground and surface waters 

- - - - - - - - ? - - 

R3 Land To retain undeveloped land - - O - - ? - - - - - 

R4 Soil To maintain the resource of 
productive soil 

- - - - - - - - - - - 

R5 Minerals To maintain the stock of minerals - - - - - - - - - - - 

R6 Energy sources To maintain the stock of non 
renewable energy sources 

? - - - - - - - - - - 

Maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and 
employment 

           

EG1 Employment To maintain and enhance 
employment opportunities, and to 
reduce the disparities arising from 
unequal access to jobs 

? - ? ? - ? - - - - - 

EG2 Wealth creation To retain and enhance the factors 
which are conducive to wealth 
creation, including personal 
creativity and attractiveness to 
investors 

- ? ? - ? ? ? ? O ? ? 

P
age 2260



9 

3.16 At the UDP revised deposit stage, the appraisal did not identify any 
substantive changes in sustainability terms in response to the relevant 
changes to these policies5. In relation to Policy H8, the appraisal noted that 
the amount of open space required through new development had been 
reduced in response to an updated open space assessment. In relation to 
policy R2, it noted that this now incorporated accessibility threshold distances 
for different types of open space, and that these were derived from the 
updated open space assessment. In relation to policy CH7, the appraisal 
noted that a section had been added to the policy identifying the canal 
environment as being important for the biodiversity of Salford and specifying 
that development along the line of the canal should provide for its restoration, 
improvement or maintenance where appropriate. The appraisal considered 
this to be consistent with the sustainability agenda. The impact of these 
changes did not therefore result in any significant change to the sustainability 
appraisal of these policies. 
 

3.17 The table below sets out the potential impact of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD on each of the identified sustainability objectives and 
identifies whether there would be any additional significant sustainability 
issues raised by its review. 

                                                 
5 “Sustainability Appraisal of the City of Salford Unitary Development Plan (Comments on 
the Revised Deposit Draft Replacement Plan 2003 – 2016)” – Baker Associates (November 
2003). 

Page 2261



10 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable 
direction of change 

Description of potential impact of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD 

Significant 
sustainability 
issues? 

Social progress which recognises the needs of everyone 

SP1 Participation To increase the sense 
amongst the community 
that the planning 
decisions made are the 
proper way forward to 
meet understood needs 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD will provide clear 
guidance on the circumstances where planning obligations will 
be required and the nature of such obligations. This will give 
greater certainty to applicants / developers, and will give 
confidence to Salford’s residents and communities that the 
infrastructure requirements arising from new development will 
be effectively provided for. 
 
The review of the SPD will not therefore raise any significant 
sustainability issues in this regard. 
 

No 

SP2 Accessibility To enable people all to 
have similar and sufficient 
levels of access to 
services, facilities and 
opportunities 

The updated SPD will assist in securing the provision of the 
infrastructure requirements arising from new development, and 
will support this objective through ensuring that new 
development does not result in an unacceptable impact on 
existing infrastructure. It will support the delivery of new 
infrastructure, which will have a positive benefit for existing and 
future households in terms of enhancing access to services, 
facilities and opportunities. 
  
The review of the SPD is therefore likely to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable outcomes in this regard. 
 

No 

SP3 Housing To provide the opportunity 
for people to meet their 
housing needs 

The updated SPD will provide additional guidance to 
supplement UDP saved policy H4 in relation to the type and 
nature of affordable housing provision that will be required. This 
will support the delivery of this sustainability objective, by 
providing greater opportunity for those who are unable to afford 

No 

P
age 2262



11 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable 
direction of change 

Description of potential impact of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD 

Significant 
sustainability 
issues? 

market housing to meet their housing needs. 
 
The review of the SPD is therefore likely to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable outcomes in this regard. 
 

SP4 Skills To assist people in 
gaining the skills to fulfil 
their potential and 
increase their contribution 

The updated SPD will incorporate guidance in relation to where 
planning obligations will be sought to secure the provision of 
education infrastructure. It will therefore support investment in 
new education infrastructure to ensure that there are sufficient 
pupil places to meet the requirement that new housing 
development will generate. In this context, it will support the 
objective of skills development amongst school-age children by 
supporting the provision of suitable learning environments.   
 
The review of the SPD is therefore likely to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable outcomes in this regard. 
 

No 

SP5 Health To improve overall levels 
of health and reduce the 
disparities between 
different groups and 
different areas 

The updated SPD will assist in securing the provision of the 
infrastructure requirements arising from new development, and 
will support this objective through ensuring that new 
development does not result in an unacceptable impact on 
existing infrastructure. This is likely to have a positive impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective, through for example 
assisting in ensuring that development is effectively served by 
open space provision, that sustainable travel choices are 
promoted, and that people who cannot afford market housing 
have the opportunity to meet their housing needs.   
 
The review of the SPD is therefore likely to contribute to the 

No 

P
age 2263



12 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable 
direction of change 

Description of potential impact of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD 

Significant 
sustainability 
issues? 

achievement of sustainable outcomes in this regard. 
 

SP6 Community To maintain and promote 
the culture and cohesion 
of the community 

The updated SPD will assist in securing the provision of the 
infrastructure requirements arising from new development, and 
will support this objective through ensuring that new 
development does not result in an unacceptable impact on 
existing infrastructure. It will support the delivery of new 
infrastructure, which will have a positive benefit for existing and 
future households. It should therefore have a positive impact in 
relation to maintaining and promoting community cohesion. 
 
The review of the SPD is therefore likely to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable outcomes in this regard. 
 

No 

Effective protection of the environment 

EN1 Biodiversity To maintain and enhance 
the diversity and 
abundance of species 
 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective.  
  

No 

EN2 Landscape 
character 

To maintain and enhance 
the quality and character 
of the landscape, 
including the special 
qualities of remoteness 
and tranquillity 
 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective. 

No 

EN3 Built environment To maintain and enhance 
the quality and 
distinctiveness of the built 

The updated SPD will support investment in the built 
environment, particularly in terms of providing guidance on 
when contributions will be required towards investment in the 

No 

P
age 2264



13 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable 
direction of change 

Description of potential impact of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD 

Significant 
sustainability 
issues? 

environment, including 
the cultural heritage 
 

public realm.  
 
The review of the SPD is therefore likely to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable outcomes in this regard. 
 

Prudent use of natural resources 

R1 Air To reduce all forms of air 
pollution in the interests of 
local air quality and the 
integrity of the 
atmosphere 

By assisting in securing transport related planning obligations 
that will promote sustainable travel choices, the updated SPD 
could result in an indirect positive impact in terms of minimising 
the air quality impact arising from new development within the 
city. 
 
The review of the SPD will not therefore raise any significant 
sustainability issues in this regard. 
 

No 

R2 Water To maintain and improve 
the quality of ground and 
surface waters 
 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective. 

No 

R3 Land To retain undeveloped 
land 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective. 
 

No 

R4 Soil To maintain the resource 
of productive soil 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective. 
 

No 

R5 Minerals To maintain the stock of 
minerals 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective. 
 

No 

R6 Energy sources To maintain the stock of The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in No 

P
age 2265



14 

Sustainability objective Explanation and desirable 
direction of change 

Description of potential impact of the review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD 

Significant 
sustainability 
issues? 

non renewable energy 
sources 
 

relation to this sustainability objective. 

Maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and employment 

EG1 Employment To maintain and enhance 
employment 
opportunities, and to 
reduce the disparities 
arising from unequal 
access to jobs 

The updated SPD has the potential to provide additional 
guidance to supplement UDP saved policy ST3 in relation to 
the use of planning obligations to secure local labour contracts 
and training opportunities, and as such could have a positive 
impact in relation to this sustainability objective. 
 
The review of the SPD will not therefore raise any significant 
sustainability issues in this regard. 
 

No 

EG2 Wealth creation To retain and enhance 
the factors which are 
conducive to wealth 
creation, including 
personal creativity and 
attractiveness to investors 
 

The updated SPD is unlikely to have any significant impact in 
relation to this sustainability objective. 

No 

P
age 2266



15 

 
3.18 As set out in the table above, the review of the Planning Obligations 

SPD is not considered to raise any additional sustainability issues 
beyond those considered through the sustainability appraisal of the 
UDP. It is therefore considered that sustainability appraisal of the 
review of the Planning Obligations SPD is not required. 

   
 

4 Screening of the requirement for strategic environmental 
assessment 

 
4.1 Under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations 20046, councils must where appropriate carry out a 
strategic environmental assessment (SEA) of land-use and spatial 
plans. 

 
4.2 Regulation 5(2) of the Regulations describes that an environmental 

assessment should be undertaken for a plan or programme which –  
 

(a) is prepared for agriculture, forestry, fisheries, energy, industry 
transport, waste management, water management, 
telecommunications, tourism, town and country planning or land 
use, and 

(b) sets the framework for future development consent of projects 
listed in Annex I or II to Council Directive 85/337/EEC on the 
assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects 
on the environment, as amended by Council Directive 97/11/EC. 

 
4.3 The European Commission guidance7 (paragraph 3.23) states that 

plans and programmes which set the framework for future development 
consent of projects would normally contain “criteria or conditions which 
guide the way a consenting authority decides an application for 
development consent”. 

 
4.4 An updated Planning Obligations SPD would meet criterion (a) of 

Regulation 5(2), being a plan prepared for town and country planning 
or land use purposes. It also meets criterion (b) on the basis that the 
SPD will set out policies that will provide additional guidance on when 
planning obligations will be required. It will therefore provide a basis for 
the determination of planning applications insofar as a planning 
application that does not accord with its provisions could be refused 
citing lack of conformity with the SPD within the identified reasons for 
refusal.  

 
4.5 Further to the above, Regulation 5(6) of the Regulations describes that 

an environmental assessment need not be carried out –  

                                                 
6 Statutory Instrument 2004 / No 1633. 
7 “Implementation of Directive 2001/42/EC on the Assessment of the Effects of 
Certain Plans and Programmes on the Environment” – European Commission. 

Page 2267



16 

 
(a) for a plan or programme of the description set out in paragraph 

(2) or (3) which determines the use of a small area at local level; 
or  

(b) for a minor modification to a plan or programme of the 
description set out in either of those paragraphs, 

  
unless it has been determined under Regulation 9(1) that the plan, 
programme or modification, as the case may be, is likely to have 
significant environmental effects, or it is the subject of a direction 
under Regulation 10(3).  

 
4.6 The European Commission guidance (paragraphs 3.33 – 3.35) 

suggests that the key criterion for the application of the Directive, is not 
the size of area covered but whether the plan or programme would be 
likely to have significant environmental effects. 

 
4.7 The updated Planning Obligations SPD would replace the adopted 

SPD, and would be citywide in its scope. It is considered that the SPD 
therefore meets criterion (a) of Regulation 5(6). 

 
4.8 It is therefore only where it is considered likely that the SPD will have 

significant environmental effects that a full SEA would be required, as 
the SPD is not subject to a direction under Regulation 10(3). 

 
4.9 The Regulations advise that the likelihood of any significant 

environmental effects should be determined by a screening process 
which should use a specified set of criteria (set out in Schedule 1 to the 
Regulations). This includes two sets of characteristics for determining 
the likely significance of effects on the environment as follows:  

 The characteristics of the plan or programme; and 

 The characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be 
affected. 
 

4.10 Under each characteristic there are a number of criteria with which to 
assess the plan or programme against, and this appraisal of the 
updated Planning Obligations SPD is set out in the table below. 

 

Page 2268



17 

Criteria Details Significant 
environmental 
impact? 

 
1. The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to -  
 

(a) the degree to which the plan 
or programme sets a framework 
for projects and other activities, 
either with regard to the location, 
nature, size and operating 
conditions or by allocating 
resources; 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD will supplement a number of Salford’s saved 
UDP policies, providing additional guidance on when planning obligations will be 
required and the nature of such obligations. The SPD will therefore supplement 
existing policy rather than setting a framework in itself. 
  

No 

b) the degree to which the plan 
or programme influences other 
plans and programmes including 
those in a hierarchy; 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD will supplement a number of Salford’s saved 
UDP policies, and therefore is the lowest tier of the local development framework. It 
provides additional guidance on how these UDP policies will be applied in relation to 
securing planning obligations, and has no other influence on other plans in the 
development plan hierarchy. 
 

No 

(c) the relevance of the plan or 
programme for the integration of 
environmental considerations in 
particular with a view to 
promoting sustainable 
development; 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD has no relevant bearing on the assessment 
of environmental considerations, as it is about providing additional guidance on 
when planning obligations will be required and the nature of such obligations. 

No 

(d) environmental problems 
relevant to the plan or 
programme; and 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD has no relevant bearing on environmental 
problems. 

No 

(e) the relevance of the plan or 
programme for the 
implementation of Community 
legislation on the environment 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD has no relevant bearing on the 
implementation of European Community legislation on the environment. 

No 

P
age 2269



18 

(for example, plans and 
programmes linked to waste 
management or water 
protection). 

 
2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard, in particular, to –  
 

(a) the probability, duration, 
frequency and reversibility of the 
effects; 

The updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any environmental effects, 
as it is about providing additional guidance on when planning obligations will be 
required and the nature of such obligations. 
 

No 

(b) the cumulative nature of the 
effects; 

As set out above, the updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any 
environmental effects. There will therefore be no cumulative environmental effects.  
 

No 

(c) the transboundary nature of 
the effects; 

As set out above, the updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any 
environmental effects. There will therefore be no transboundary environmental 
effects.  
 

No 

(d) the risks to human health or 
the environment (for example, 
due to accidents); 

As set out above, the updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any 
environmental effects. There will therefore be no risks to human health or the 
environment.  
 

No 

(e) the magnitude and spatial 
extent of the effects 
(geographical area and size of 
the population likely to be 
affected); 

As set out above, the updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any 
environmental effects.  
 

No 

(f) the value and vulnerability of 
the area likely to be affected due 
to -  
(i) special natural characteristics 
or cultural heritage; 

As set out above, the updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any 
environmental effects.  
 

No 

P
age 2270



19 

(ii) exceeded environmental 
quality standards or limit values; 
or 
(iii) intensive land-use; and 

(g) the effects on areas or 
landscapes which have a 
recognised national, Community 
or international protection status. 

As set out above, the updated Planning Obligations SPD will not result in any 
environmental effects. In any case, there are currently no landscapes within Salford 
which have a recognised national, Community, or international protection status. 
 

No 

 
 
 

P
age 2271



20 

5 Consultation with statutory bodies 
 

5.1 The specified consultation bodies were consulted for initial comments 
on the proposed review of the SPD in March/April 2018: 

 The Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England 
(English Heritage); 

 Natural England; and 

 The Environment Agency. 
 

5.2 One comment was received on the issue of whether a strategic 
environmental assessment is required. 
 

Organisation Comment 

Natural England A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment only in exceptional circumstances 
as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance 
here. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to 
likely significant effects on European Sites, they 
should be considered as a plan under the 
Habitats Regulations in the same way as any 
other plan or project. If your SPD requires a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment or 
Habitats Regulation Assessment, you are 
required to consult us at certain stages as set 
out in the Planning Practice Guidance. 
Should the plan be amended in a way which 
significantly affects its impact on the natural 
environment, then, please consult Natural 
England again. 

 
5.3 This draft determination statement provides a further opportunity for the 

three specified consultation bodies to make comments on the 
screening opinion of the city council that the SPD requires neither a 
sustainability appraisal nor a strategic environmental assessment. 

 
 

6 Conclusion 
 
6.1 The updated Planning Obligations SPD will supplement saved UDP 

policies, and will set out additional guidance on when planning 
obligations will be required and the nature of such obligations. A 
screening of the proposed document has led to the conclusion that it is 
not likely that the SPD will result in any significant additional 
sustainability impacts, and therefore SA is not required. A screening of 
the document has also led to the conclusion that it is not likely that the 
SPD will have any significant environmental impacts and therefore SEA 
is not required. 

 
6.2 In accordance with Regulation 9(2) of the Environmental Assessment 

of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, the city council therefore 

Page 2272



21 

determines that the updated Planning Obligations SPD is unlikely to 
have significant environmental effects. This draft determination 
statement constitutes a statement of the city council’s reasons for this 
determination.  

 
7 Statement of determination 
 
7.1 It is considered that a full sustainability appraisal is NOT required for 

the updated Planning Obligations SPD for the reasons set out in 
Section 3 above. 
 

7.2 It is considered that a strategic environmental assessment is NOT 
required for the updated Planning Obligations SPD for the reasons set 
out in Section 4 above. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2273



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
 
 
Supplementary Planning Document 
Planning Obligations 
 
Consultation Statement – January 2019

Page 2275



1 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This document has been prepared to comply with the requirements of 

Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. Regulation 12(a) requires that before a 
local planning authority adopt a supplementary planning document 
(SPD), it must prepare a consultation statement setting out i) the 
persons consulted when preparing the SPD, ii) a summary of the main 
issues raised by those persons, and iii) how those issues have been 
addressed in the SPD.  Regulation 12(b) requires that this consultation 
statement be made available alongside the draft SPD, during the 
period for representations on the document. 

 
 

Page 2276



2 
 

2 Statement of community involvement 
 
2.1 The city council’s statement of community involvement (SCI) was 

formally adopted on 20 January 2010. The SCI aims to increase public 
involvement in planning processes. It sets out who will be involved, by 
what method and at what point in the process of document production 
or in the determination of planning applications. It gives more certainty 
to those wishing to get involved in the planning process.  

 
2.2 The SCI sets the council's policy for community engagement in the 

production of formal planning documents. Below is a summary of the 
SCI guidance in respect of consultation at the different stages of SPD 
production: 

 
Stage 1 – pre-production 
This stage is based around the gathering of evidence and asking 
people to identify issues and make suggestions in order to inform the 
preparation of the SPD. 

 
Stage 2 – production 
A draft document is produced following the evidence gathering pre-
production stage. Whilst the regulations simply require that draft SPDs 
are subject to a consultation period of at least 4 weeks, the SCI 
commits the city council to always consulting on the draft SPD for 6 
weeks in order to maximise potential involvement. The city council will 
carefully consider any representations received during the consultation 
period and will update the SPD where it is considered necessary and 
appropriate. 

 
Stage 3 – adoption 
The SPD will then be adopted. A summary of representations received 
and how they have been taken into account will be published at this 
stage. 

 

Page 2277



3 
 

3 Background to the review of the Planning Obligations 
SPD 

 
3.1 Salford City Council is undertaking a review of its approach to securing 

planning obligations from development, within the framework 
established via the relevant saved policies of the Salford Unitary 
Development Plan. 
 

3.2 The city council secures planning obligations from new development 
within Salford via section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. Planning obligations are sought in order to mitigate the impact of 
new development, and to make development acceptable in planning 
terms. Planning obligations can be secured to support the delivery of a 
wide range of infrastructure, such as the provision of affordable 
housing, the improvement of open space, the delivery of transport 
improvements, or the expansion of schools to create additional places. 
 

3.3 A review of the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) is being undertaken for three main reasons: 

 

 To reflect changing national policy and legislation 

 To respond to the latest information on development viability in 
Salford 

 To provide additional guidance on the implementation of local 
policies on planning obligations in light of experience in applying 
the existing SPD 

 
3.4 A key principle guiding the review is the need to ensure that the city 

council’s approach to planning obligations has clear regard to 
development viability. The cumulative impact of all financial 
requirements when taken together with other policy requirements 
should not compromise development viability across the city. 

 
3.5 The SPD will specifically supplement the following policies of the UDP: 

 DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations  

 ST5 – Transport networks 

 DES3 – Design of public space 

 H1 – Provision of new housing development 

 H4 – Affordable housing 

 H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing 
development 

 EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community 
facilities 

 A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 

 CH3 – Works within conservation areas 

 CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 

 R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities 
 

Page 2278



4 
 

3.6 Whilst the SPD will not form part of the development plan, it will be an 
important material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 2279



5 
 

4 Scoping consultation 
 
4.1 Between March and April 2018, the city council sought the views of 

stakeholders and consultees on its intention to undertake a review of its 
approach to securing planning obligations. The city council issued a 
scoping consultation letter which set out the intention to undertake a 
review of the existing Planning Obligations SPD. 

 
4.2 The city council consulted 503 consultees registered on its planning 

consultee database, including all statutory consultation bodies together 
with other consultees who the city council considered may have an 
interest in the production of this document. This included 
housebuilders, developers and landowners, together with property and 
planning agents, and residents and community groups who had 
previously expressed an interest or submitted representations on 
related planning policy documents. A list of all those consulted is set 
out at Annex A, and a copy of the scoping consultation letter which was 
sent to consultees is set out at Annex B. Details of the consultation 
were also published on the city council’s website1 and an electronic 
version of the letter was available to download.  

 
4.3 Comments were invited from Friday 9 March 2018 upon the issue of 

the scoping consultation letter, to the end of the consultation period on 
Friday 6 April 2018. 

 
4.4 The following organisations and individuals submitted representations 

on the scoping consultation: 
 

 Canal and River Trust 

 Culcheth and Glazebury Parish Council 

 Environment Agency 

 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

 HOW Planning 

 Natural England 

 Network Rail 

 Peel Holding (Land and Property) Ltd 

 Sport England 

 Transport for Greater Manchester 
 
4.5 The following organisations responded to confirm that they had no 

comments to make on the scoping consultation: 

 Education and Skills Funding Agency 

 Historic England 
 

                                                 
1 https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-
policies/local-planning-policy/other-local-planning-policies/planning-obligations-
supplementary-planning-document/review-of-planning-obligations-spd/  

Page 2280

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-policies/local-planning-policy/other-local-planning-policies/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document/review-of-planning-obligations-spd/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-policies/local-planning-policy/other-local-planning-policies/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document/review-of-planning-obligations-spd/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-policies/local-planning-policy/other-local-planning-policies/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document/review-of-planning-obligations-spd/


6 
 

4.6 A schedule of all representations received together with the city 
council’s response and how this has informed the draft SPD are set out 
at Annex C. 

 
4.7 A summary of the main issues raised by representations submitted to 

the scoping consultation is set out below. 
 

Summary of representations submitted 
 
4.8 A number of the respondents commented in relation to what the 

priorities should be for planning obligations. In particular, it was 
suggested that the following should be identified: the mosslands; flood 
defences; watercourses; the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal;  
allotments; health; semi-natural green spaces; biodiversity; rail stations; 
and transport assessments. One respondent commented that sports 
pitch requirements should be made separate to wider requirements for 
open space.  
 

4.9 Comments were received with regards to the need for flexibility, 
particularly the need to take into account the implications of planning 
obligations on financial viability. Related to this, it was commented that 
polices should not be overly prescriptive, whilst flexibility was 
specifically sought by one respondent with regards to affordable 
housing requirements, particularly around tenure, size and 
pepperpotting. 
 

4.10 Two respondents made comments with regards to how certain 
obligations are calculated under the current adopted Planning 
Obligations SPD. These related to how open space contributions are 
calculated for outline planning applications where the precise mix of 
dwellings is unknown, and also the principle of using a per bedspace 
figure for calculating open space contributions.  
 

4.11 Two representations offered support for making the planning 
obligations process more transparent, particularly around viability 
assessments. However the issue of commercial sensitivity was raised 
in relation to how this should be implemented.  
 

4.12 One representation was received which identified that SEA of the 
revised SPD would only be required in exceptional circumstances.  
 
 

Page 2281



7 
 

ANNEX A – List of stakeholders consulted during the review of the 
planning obligations SPD2 
 
Consultee Consulted At 

Scoping Stage 

Abstract Securities X 

Acremoss Designs X 

Action Against Astley Road Development X 

Aecom X 

Aew X 

Age Uk X 

Ainscough Stratgeic Land X 

Allied London X 

Ambulance Service North West Nhs Trust X 

Amec (National Grid) X 

Amion X 

Ar Planning X 

Arcon Housing Association X 

Arcus Consultancy Services Lts X 

Argent Group X 

Armitage Residents Assoc. X 

Arqiva X 

Artisan X 

Arup X 

Ask Developments X 

Atelier Mb Architects X 

Atkins Global X 

Barbara Keeley Mp Office X 

Bardsley Construction X 

Barnes Construction X 

Barratt Homes Manchester X 

Barton Wilmore X 

Bdp X 

Bdw Trading Ltd X 

Beaumont Morgan Developments Ltd X 

Beech Farm Residents Association X 

Bellway Homes North West X 

Benmore Group X 

Bfls X 

Bloc X 

Blue Mantle X 

Blue Sky Planning Ltd X 

Bnp Paribas X 

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council X 

Bovis Homes X 

Breem Centre X 

Bridgewater Canal Company Ltd X 

British Gas X 

British Telecom X 

Broadway Malyan Planning X 

Brookfinch Developments X 

Brookhouse Community Association X 

Brookhouse Group X 

                                                 
2 A total of 503 individual stakeholders were consulted. It should however be noted that this 
number includes multiple stakeholders within the same organisation. To avoid duplication, this 
table therefore lists each organisation / individual only once.  

Page 2282



8 
 

Bruntwood Estates X 

Bullock Construction X 

Bury MBC X 

Business Consultative Forum X 

CA Planning X 

Campaign For Real Ale X 

Canal And River Trust X 

Canmoor X 

Canning O'neill X 

Capital And Centric X 

Carillion Igloo Limited X 

Carrington Parish Council X 

Carter Jones X 

Casserly Property Management X 

CBI - North West Office X 

CBRE X 

Centre For Local Economic Strategies X 

Cheetham And Mortimer X 

Chesters Coaches X 

Chris Thomas Ltd X 

Christopher Dee X 

Church Of England Diocese Of Manchester X 

City Airport Manchester X 

City Centre Cruises X 

City Heart X 

City Of Trees X 

City West Housing X 

Civil Aviation Authority X 

Claremont Community Association X 

Clifton Hamlet X 

Colliers International X 

Cooperative Group Property Division X 

Copthorne Hotel X 

Council for British Archaeology X 

Country Land And Business Association North X 

Countryside Properties Plc X 

CPRE Lancashire Branch X 

Culcheth and Glazebury Parish Council X 

Cushman and Wakefield X 

Cussons Technology X 

Dalton Warner Davies X 

Dandara X 

David Wilson Homes X 

Davies Harrison X 

Davis Langdon LLP X 

De Pol Associates X 

De Traffords Resident Assoc. X 

Deloitte LLP X 

Department for Transport X 

Deputy Director of Public Health X 

Derwent Holdings X 

Development Securities X 

Director Of Public Health X 

DMS Architecture Ltd X 

Dorribo T/A Regional Map Distributers X 

Dpp One Ltd X 

DTZ X 

Dundedin Property X 

Page 2283



9 
 

Eccles and Salford Mosque X 

Eddisons X 

Education and Skills Funding Agency X 

Edward and Co X 

Edward Symmons X 

EE Telecommunications X 

EFM Ltd X 

Ekosgen X 

Elan Homes X 

Electricity North West X 

Ellesmere Park Residents Association X 

Emery Planning X 

English Cities Fund (Muse Developments) X 

Environment Agency X 

Euan Kellie Property Solutions X 

Eversheds LLP X 

Fairhurst X 

Faithful and Gould X 

Federation of Jewish Services X 

FICM Ltd X 

Fields in Trust X 

First Plan X 

Forestry Commission NW X 

Framptons X 

Freight Transport Association Northern Region X 

Friends, Families and Travellers and Traveller Law Reform Project X 

Gamma Telecommunications X 

Gerald Eve X 

GL Hearn X 

Glenbrook Property X 

Gm Fire And Rescue Services HQ X 

Gm Pedestrians Association X 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service X 

Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce X 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority X 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit X 

Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning Unit X 

Greater Manchester Police X 

Greater Manchester Police Force HQ X 

Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority X 

Greenoaks Ltd X 

Groundwork Manchester Salford Trafford X 

GVA X 

Hamilton Davies Trust X 

Harland Machine Systems Ltd X 

Harrow Estates Plc X 

Harworth Estates X 

Health And Safety Executive NW X 

Heaton Planning Ltd X 

Highway Authority X 

Highways England X 

Hill Street Residents Association X 

Himor Group X 

Historic England X 

Historic England (English Heritage) X 

HMP & YOI Forest Bank X 

Hollins Strategic Land X 

Home Builders Federation X 

Page 2284



10 
 

Homes And Communities Agency X 

Hourigan Connolly X 

How Planning X 

Igloo X 

Ignite Homes Ltd X 

Iliad Group X 

Indigo Planning X 

Inpartnership X 

Institute Of Directors North West X 

Irlam Medical Centre X 

Isis  Waterside Regeneration X 

J. Fletcher (Engineers) Ltd X 

JASP Planning Consutancy Ltd X 

Jewish Representative Council Of Manchester X 

JMP Consulting X 

Jones Lang Lasalle X 

JWPC Ltd X 

Keepmoat X 

Keppie Massie X 

Kier Limited X 

Kingsland Wines and Spirits X 

Kirkwells X 

Knight Frank X 

Lambert Smith Hampton X 

Lancashire  Wildlife Trust X 

Lancashire Gardens Trust X 

Lancs Circuit Of Jehovah's Witnesses X 

Langtree Group X 

Lichfields X 

Lidl Uk Properties X 

Local Enterprise Partnership X 

Local Nature Partnership X 

Lovell Partnerships Ltd X 

LPC Living X 

Lvmh Uk Ltd X 

Mace Group X 

Maghull Developments X 

Magnesium Elecktron Uk X 

Makro (Booker Group Plc) X 

Manchester Airport Group X 

Manchester City Council X 

Manchester Civic Society X 

Manchester Doors & Cubicals X 

Manchester Enterprise Partnership X 

Manchester Friends of the Earth X 

Maple Grove Developments X 

Marine Management Organisation X 

Mawdsley Brooks and Co X 

Mcaleer and Rushe Group X 

Mcr Property X 

Miller Construction X 

Miller Homes X 

Miller Homes North West X 

Mister Blister Ltd X 

Morgan Sindall X 

Morris Homes (North) Ltd X 

Morris Homes Ltd X 

Mosaic Town Planning X 

Page 2285



11 
 

N M Rothschild and Sons Ltd X 

Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners X 

National Federation of Gypsy Liasion Groups X 

National Grid X 

Natural England X 

Neptune Developments X 

Network Rail (Infrastructure) Ltd X 

Nexus Planning Ltd X 

NFU X 

NHS England (NHS Commissioning Board) X 

NHS Property Services Ltd X 

Nikal X 

Nimans Ltd X 

Njl Consulting X 

Northbank Management Company X 

Novotel  Hotel X 

Npower Renewables X 

Off The Rails Ltd X 

Office for Graham Stringer MP X 

Office for Rebecca Long Bailey MP X 

Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Greater 
Manchester 

X 

Office Of Barbara Keeley MP X 

Office Of Rail And Road X 

Oldham MBC X 

Omi Architects X 

Orbit Developments Emerson X 

Partington Town Council X 

Paul Butler Associates X 

PBN X 

Peacock And Smith X 

Peel Holdings X 

Peel Investments Ltd X 

Peel Ports Ltd X 

Pegasus Planning Group Ltd X 

Pendleton College X 

People First Manchester X 

Persimmon Homes NW X 

Peterloo Estates X 

Plan Info (Part Of DPDS Group) X 

Planning Potential X 

Planware Ltd X 

Pochins Ltd X 

Pozzoni X 

Praxis X 

Prds X 

Property Alliance Group X 

Public Health Service Salford X 

Ramblers Association X 

Rapar X 

Rapleys Llp X 

Realty Estates X 

Red Property Serrvices X 

Red Rose Forest X 

Redrow Homes X 

Regeneris X 

Renaker Build X 

Renewable Uk X 

Page 2286



12 
 

Rg+P Ltd X 

Riverside Island Tenants Assoc X 

Rixton With Glazebrook Parish Council X 

Rochdale MBC X 

Roger Hannah And Co X 

RSPB X 

Rybram Ltd X 

Safety Systems UK Ltd X 

Salford City College X 

Salford City Partnership X 

Salford Community Leisure X 

Salford Deaf Gathering X 

Salford Disability Forum X 

Salford Disabled Motorists Association. X 

Salford Equality Network X 

Salford Forum Of Older People X 

Salford Link Project X 

Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group X 

Salford Youth Service X 

Salix Homes X 

Sanderson Weatherall X 

Sanderson Weatherall  (Royal Mail) X 

Savills X 

Scarborough Group X 

Seddon Group Ltd X 

Seddons X 

Sedgwick Associates X 

Seybourne X 

Shed Km X 

Shelter (London) X 

SISI Development X 

Skills Funding Agency X 

SLR Consulting Ltd X 

Sport England X 

SSA Planning Ltd X 

St Modwen Developments X 

Stama Development Ltd X 

Steven Abbott Associates LLP X 

Stewart Ross Associates X 

Stockport Council X 

Storeys Edward Symonds X 

Story Homes Ltd X 

Stratus Environmental Ltd X 

Swinton Judo Club X 

Swinton Open Space Community Association X 

Symphony Housing Group X 

Tameside MBC X 

Taylor Wimpey Strategic Land X 

Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd X 

Terrace Hill X 

Tesco X 

Tetlow King Planning X 

The Coal Authority X 

The Emerson Group X 

The Emerson Group (Jones Homes NW Ltd) X 

The Gardens Trust X 

The Lawn Tennis Association X 

The Manchester Ship Canal Company X 

Page 2287



13 
 

The Planning Bureau X 

The Planning Bureau Ltd X 

The Seedley And Langworthy Trust X 

The SPAB X 

The Stables X 

The Theatres Trust X 

The Twentieth Century Society X 

The Wildlife Trust X 

The Woodland Trust X 

Thomas Eggar LLP X 

Thorn Court Residents Association X 

Three Telecommunications X 

Together Housing X 

Trafford MBC X 

Transport For Greater Manchester X 

TSG X 

Turley X 

Turner and Townsend X 

Tushingham Moore X 

Tyler Parkes Partnership X 

UK Coal Head Office X 

UK Land And Property X 

United Utilities Plc X 

United Utilities Property Services X 

Urban Splash X 

URS Global X 

Vanguard Self Storage X 

Ventures X 

Villafont Ltd X 

Vincent and Gorbing X 

Vision Developments X 

Vita Ventures X 

Vodafone and O2 X 

Wainhomes X 

Walton And Co X 

Warburton Parish Council X 

Ward Headway X 

Warrington Borough Council X 

Wates Living Space X 

West Properties Uk Ltd X 

Westhoughton Town Council X 

Westleigh Developments Ltd X 

White Young Green X 

WHR Property Consultants X 

Wigan Council X 

Worsley Civic Trust & Amenity Society X 

Wrightington Parish Council X 

WSP X 

X1 X 

Your Housing Group X 

Mr And Mrs Stringer  

Beryl Patten  

Derek Butterworth  

Peter Ball  

Gary James  

Mr Nazar  

Mrs P Walker  

Christopher Gray  

Page 2288



14 
 

Hamish Robertshaw  

R D Boyd  

 

Page 2289



15 
 

ANNEX B – Letter to consultees on scoping stage 
 

 
 

Page 2290



16 
 

 
 

Page 2291



17 
 

ANNEX C – Schedule of representations submitted at the scoping consultation stage 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

001 Canal and River Trust Which aspects of the current SPD should be retained/amended? 
The Trust is committed to maximising the potential of the Manchester, 
Bolton & Bury Canal (MBB) and its towpath as a leisure and recreation 
resource, a heritage and wildlife corridor and a sustainable transport 
route. The Trust also remains committed to supporting the restoration of 
the canal to full navigation, alongside other partners and stakeholders 
including the Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal Society. In our role as 
statutory consultee on planning applications, the Trust seeks to secure 
improvements to the canal infrastructure through planning obligations 
where such contributions would meet the tests set out at paragraph 204 
of the National Planning Policy Framework, i.e. necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the 
development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  
 
With this in mind the Trust would wish to see the following 
aspects/mechanisms retained in the updated Planning Obligations SPD. 
 
Policy OB5 – Transport Contribution 
The towpath of the Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal provides a 
sustainable transport route for walking and cycling, connecting residential 
areas to employment, shops and local facilities both with Salford and in 
the neighbouring communities of Bolton. Where development in the 
vicinity of the canal will result in the increased use of the towpath by 
pedestrians and cyclists, it will be reasonable to secure a developer 
contribution towards further improvements to the surface of the towpath 
and/or access improvements. 
 
The Trust therefore supports Policy OB5 of the SPD and the supporting 
text which enables contributions to be sought towards the improvement of 
transport infrastructure, having regard to site-specific circumstances. The 
existing policy allows such contributions to be directed towards a range of 

One of the saved UDP policies that 
the draft SPD specifically supplements 
is Policy CH7 (Manchester, Bolton and 
Bury Canal).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support welcomed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2292



18 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

projects (para 8.8) including the improvement of existing pedestrian and 
cycle routes. This mechanism should be retained. 
 
Policy OB6 – Public Realm 
Policy CH7 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan (as saved) states 
that: 
“In circumstances where the restoration or improvement of the canal or 
towpath is necessary to enable development to proceed satisfactorily, or 
where the development would benefit directly from the restoration or 
improvement, contributions will be sought with a view to securing such 
restoration or improvement.” 
 
The Trust has previously commented that it is unfortunate that a similar 
standalone policy does not appear in the current draft Salford Local Plan. 
This said draft Local Plan policy D12 – Waterside Development and policy 
R1(8) – Recreation Spatial Strategy, which seeks to secure the 
restoration and protection the line of the MBB, do provide potential policy 
support. Given this it clearly remains an objective of the Council to 
support the restoration and protection of the MBB, especially as a 
monitoring indicator of the Plan includes increasing the restored length of 
the MBB (para 12:15 of the draft Local Plan). The review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD would provide an opportunity to address this matter 
further and set out a mechanism for securing contributions for the long 
term restoration or improvement of the MBB. 
 
In this regard the Trust support the thrust of Policy OB6 and would wish to 
see a similar policy retained, along with an updated version of the criteria 
at paragraph 9.4 of the current Planning Obligations SPD.  
That being: “Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal – the city council 
supports the restoration of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal. It will 
be appropriate for development along the line of the canal to contribute 
towards its restoration or improvement.” 
 
We suggest that the wording should however be reviewed and amended 

 
 
 
The reasoned justification to Policy 
OB10 (Public realm contributions) 
continues to make reference to the 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal. 
The text has been amended to explain 
that “the city council supports the 
restoration of the Manchester, Bolton 
and Bury Canal, and it will be 
appropriate for development along the 
line of the canal to contribute towards 
its use as a green transport and 
recreation corridor, or the restoration 
of the canal”. 

P
age 2293



19 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

due to concerns in relation to meeting the planning obligations tests in 
terms of being able to demonstrate that such a contribution would be 
directly related to the development and necessary to make the 
development acceptable. There is also the matter of pooling restriction as 
well. It could be broadened and redrafted along the lines of:  
 
“Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal – the City Council supports the 
former line of the canal being safeguarded as a green corridor and for 
development along the line of the canal contributing towards the provision 
of a recreation route and its uses as a sustainable transport route, 
pending its long term restoration or improvement.” 
 
This would enable contributions to be sought towards public 
realm/sustainable travel/green infrastructure improvements, along the 
former line of the canal. 
 
The Trust would be happy to discuss an appropriate mechanism with the 
Council for significant new development to contribute towards the 
restoration of the canal, for example at Middlewood Lock.  
 

002 Culcheth and Glazebury 
Parish Council 

As we are a Parish bordering Salford our main interests are keeping the 
gap between settlements and protecting the moss lands and water 
courses. 
 
Our other concern is for developments which adversely affect the free 
flow of traffic on our region's roads and motorways. 
Traffic problems already exist so planning obligations could be used, for 
example, to improve junctions and provide safe crossings for residents. 
Also parking standards in new development should be such that overflow 
parking on important transport routes is avoided. 
 

Other policy documents support the 
protection of the mosslands and 
watercourses. 
 
The reasoned justification to Policy 
OB9 (Transport contributions) 
provides examples of how transport 
contributions may be spent, which 
include pedestrian crossings and 
parking management measures. The 
issue of parking standards will be 
considered through the Local Plan. 
 

003 Environment Agency We would recommend that within the current listed priorities in the SPD Flood defence infrastructure has been 

P
age 2294



20 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

(affordable housing, open space, primary school places, transport, and 
public realm) that flood defence infrastructure and Green Infrastructure 
are also included as priorities. 
 
We would also encourage an approach for partnership working on wider 
flood management initiatives across the Borough of Salford between 
developers, local community, the Council and ourselves. 

added to the list of examples of other 
site-specific planning obligations in 
section 10. A reference to green 
infrastructure has been added to the 
examples of how public realm 
contributions could be spent, in the 
reasoned justification to Policy OB10 
(Public realm contributions). The 
approach to open space in Policy OB6 
will also have substantial green 
infrastructure benefits. 
 

004 Greater Manchester 
Ecological Unit (GMEU) 

Section 6 - Open Space only includes four typologies of open space. We 
believe this is too restrictive and that other forms of open space should be 
included as potential receptors of planning obligation funding including 
semi-natural greenspace and allotments. 
 
 
 
Section 10 – Other Site Specific obligations. Whilst we realise that section 
10.2 is only giving examples we recommend that riverside development 
be include as an example that may be required to provide financial 
provision towards either flood defence and/or improvements to the 
ecological potential of the waterbody as defined under the Water 
Framework Directive. 
 
 
 
Our only experience with the current SPD related to the Charlestown 
Development where we recommended that the public open space 
contribution be spent on the riverside path. Whilst we did not follow this 
through, we were informed that the open space contribution was likely to 
be waived because of the affordable housing contribution. This was 
disappointing given that Salford CC is the lead authority on implementing 

The reasoned justification to Policy 
OB6 (Open space contributions) 
provides examples of the types of 
open space on which contributions 
might be spent, including natural 
greenspace and allotments. 
 
Flood defence infrastructure has been 
added to the list of examples of other 
site-specific planning obligations in 
section 10. Ecological mitigation or 
compensatory measures are also 
listed, which could include measures 
relating to the ecological potential of a 
waterbody. 
 
The approach to planning obligations 
needs to take into account the 
implications on development viability. 
This may mean that some types of 
contribution need to be prioritised over 
others on an individual site. 

P
age 2295



21 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

the Natural Course project which seeks to enhance the Irwell Corridor in 
Greater Manchester. 
 

005 HOW Planning OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
Policy OB2 (Open Space Contribution) of the 2015 SPD sets out the 
financial contribution requirement towards the provision or improvement 
of off-site open space which is required for new housing developments 
that would result in a net increase of 11 or more dwellings and which 
includes no on-site provision of open space. The financial contributions 
are set out as follows: 
 

 "House: £1,439 per bed space (at 2015/16 financial year prices) 

 Apartment (and other forms of accommodation which are not 
encompassed within the definition of a house): £1,039 per bed space 
(at 2015/16 financial year prices)" 

 
The policy further states that a bed space is defined as the number of 
bedrooms within a dwelling, plus one. Furthermore the reasoned 
justification states: 
 
"The policy identifies that a bed space is defined as the number of 
bedrooms within a dwelling, plus one. For example, a two bedroom 
dwelling has three bed spaces, and a four bedroom dwelling has five bed 
spaces. Bed spaces represent the number of people that could 
reasonably be expected to occupy a dwelling, and therefore its likely 
impact on the need for open space. Studio apartments are considered to 
have two bed spaces, given that they will normally be designed to enable 
occupation by up to two persons." 
 
What the current SPD does not take account of is calculating financial 
contributions for off-site open space provision for outline planning 
applications. In normal circumstances house types and sizes and 
therefore, bed spaces, are not usually known at the outline stage and 
therefore the open space contributions cannot be calculated accurately in 

 
Text has been added to section 3 
(Approach to securing planning 
obligations), which explains the 
approach that will be taken for outline 
planning applications. This says that: 
“The preferred approach will be to 
include the relevant cost formulae in 
the s106 agreement, so that there is a 
clear commitment to providing 
appropriate contributions to priorities 
such as open space and education. 
Those contributions can then be 
calculated at the reserved matters 
stage once the number, type and/or 
size of dwellings is known, without 
having to amend the agreement.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2296



22 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

line with the SPD. 
 
It is recommended that the Council review the way financial contributions 
for off-site open space provision is calculated for outline planning 
applications to make this more user-friendly. 
 
VIABILITY TESTING 
A number of policies in the 2015 SPD refer to viability testing which is 
essential and fully supported by HOW Planning. These include policy 
OB1 (Affordable Housing) which sets out the affordable housing 
requirements which should be provided in housing developments of 25 or 
more dwellings or on all residential sites over 1 hectare which comprise 
11 or more dwellings. 
 
The policy refers to financial viability and states: 
 
"In instances where an applicant demonstrates to the city council's 
satisfaction that full or partial delivery of the affordable housing 
requirement is not possible on viability grounds, the city council will 
negotiate alternative provision having regard to local need. In 
circumstances where obligations are reduced or waived, clawback 
mechanisms will be put in place should viability improve subsequently." 
 
The policy does not directly specify that if a reduced affordable housing 
contribution is proposed, a viability assessment is required to be 
submitted however, it is inferred through its requests for viability to be 
demonstrated. 
 
Furthermore, policy OB6 (Public Realm Contribution) sets out when 
contributions towards the provision or improvement of public realm are 
required. The reasoned justification makes reference to viability evidence 
being submitted. 
 
Finally, paragraph 11.15, which relates to 'costs to be met by the 

 
 
Support welcomed. 
 
The city council is committed to 
transparency in the planning 
application process, as this is 
considered important for retaining 
public confidence in the system. 
Consequently, and in accordance with 
the national Planning Practice 
Guidance, Policy OB2 (Reduced 
planning obligations) of the draft SPD 
states that: “Where a viability appraisal 
is submitted by an applicant in order to 
justify a reduced contribution, it will be 
published prior to the determination of 
the planning application unless there 
are exceptional circumstances.” 

P
age 2297



23 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

developer' states that: 
 
"A developer may submit financial viability evidence in order to 
demonstrate that the cumulative impact of all policy requirements would 
compromise development viability, and that the contribution should be 
reduced or waived accordingly…" 
Firstly, HOW supports the flexibility to allow viability assessment to be 
submitted if it is not financially viable for full contributions sought by the 
SPD to be provided. This flexibility needs to be retained and bolstered in 
the revised SPD. It is understood that regard will be had in the 
forthcoming SPD to the draft NPPF, which has been published alongside 
proposed guidance on viability in planning. This includes a requirement 
that all viability assessments (where needed) should be made publically 
available. Whilst we understand the requirement for transparency, if full 
information is to be published in the public domain, this could give others 
a commercial advantage in the development / site acquisition process. As 
such, this approach should be carefully considered. Should the Council 
adopt a more transparent approach, then it is suggested that viability 
assessments only be available for Planning Committee Members and 
redacted versions to the public to avoid any unnecessary disadvantage. 

006 Natural England We welcome this opportunity to give our views on Salford City Council’s 
updated Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning (SPD). As part of 
your review, we would like to bring to your attention Natural England’s 
previous comments on Salford City Council’s Planning Obligations SPD, 
which the following was stated: 
“We welcome the inclusion of ‘Open Space’ in the Draft Planning 
Obligations SPD but we are of the opinion that this could be strengthened 
by linking in with any green infrastructure (GI)/open space strategies so 
that planning obligations can help achieve GI objectives for the area. We 
would also like to see more of a focus on delivering enhancements to 
biodiversity by linking in with biodiversity action plans. 
We also welcome the inclusion on active transport infrastructure like cycle 
and foot paths and we would like to see this linked in with any appropriate 
transport plans that may highlight gaps and requirements in active 

A reference to green infrastructure has 
been added to the examples of how 
public realm contributions could be 
spent, in the reasoned justification to 
Policy OB10 (Public realm 
contributions). The approach to open 
space in Policy OB6 will also have 
substantial green infrastructure 
benefits. A new paragraph has been 
added to the chapter 3 (Approach to 
securing planning obligations) which 
explains that regard will be had to 
existing plans and strategies when 
spending financial contributions, with 

P
age 2298



24 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

transport infrastructure.” (NE Response 25.02.2015, Ref: 142398). 
The updated Planning Obligations SPD should ensure the above 
recommendation is taken forward as part of a revised version of the 
document. We do not wish to provide specific comments on the 
application of the SPD, but advise you to consider the following issues as 
part of the update: 
 
Green Infrastructure 
This SPD could consider making provision for Green Infrastructure (GI) 
within development. This should be in line with any GI strategy covering 
your area. 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that local planning 
authorities should plan ‘positively for the creation, protection, 
enhancement and management of networks of biodiversity and green 
infrastructure’. The Planning Practice Guidance on Green Infrastructure 
provides more detail on this. 
Urban green space provides multi-functional benefits. It contributes to 
coherent and resilient ecological networks, allowing species to move 
around within, and between, towns and the countryside with even small 
patches of habitat benefitting movement. Urban GI is also recognised as 
one of the most effective tools available to us in managing environmental 
risks such as flooding and heat waves. Greener neighbourhoods and 
improved access to nature can also improve public health and quality of 
life and reduce environmental inequalities. 
There may be significant opportunities to retrofit green infrastructure in 
urban environments. These can be realised through: 

 green roof systems and roof gardens; 

 green walls to provide insulation or shading and cooling; 

 new tree planting or altering the management of land (e.g. 
management of verges to enhance biodiversity). 

You could also consider issues relating to the protection of natural 
resources, including air quality, ground and surface water and soils within 
urban design plans. 
Further information on GI is include within The Town and Country 

green infrastructure and greenspace 
strategies, biodiversity action plans 
and transport delivery plans included 
as examples. 
 
 
 
The structure and content of the SPD 
is determined in part by the saved 
UDP policies that it supplements. This 
is why the focus is on open space 
rather than green infrastructure more 
generally, but the SPD makes 
connections to green infrastructure 
where appropriate such as in the 
reasoned justifications to policies OB6 
(Open space contributions) and OB10 
(Public realm contributions) as 
explained above. 
 
The SPD will be updated again once 
the Local Plan has been adopted, and 
this may provide an opportunity for 
more detail to be set out in relation to 
green infrastructure and biodiversity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2299



25 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

Planning Association’s "Design Guide for Sustainable Communities" and 
their more recent "Good Practice Guidance for Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity". 
 
Biodiversity enhancement 
This SPD could consider incorporating features which are beneficial to 
wildlife within development, in line with paragraph 118 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. You may wish to consider providing guidance 
on, for example, the level of bat roost or bird box provision within the built 
structure, or other measures to enhance biodiversity in the urban 
environment. An example of good practice includes the Exeter Residential 
Design Guide SPD, which advises (amongst other matters) a ratio of one 
nest/roost box per residential unit. 
 
Landscape enhancement 
The SPD may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local 
distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and built environment; use 
natural resources more sustainably; and bring benefits for the local 
community, for example through green infrastructure provision and 
access to and contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and 
townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and capacity 
assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider how 
new development might makes a positive contribution to the character 
and functions of the landscape through sensitive siting and good design 
and avoid unacceptable impacts. 
For example, it may be appropriate to seek that, where viable, trees 
should be of a species capable of growth to exceed building height and 
managed so to do, and where mature trees are retained on site, provision 
is made for succession planting so that new trees will be well established 
by the time mature trees die. 
 
Other design considerations 
The NPPF includes a number of design principles which could be 
considered, including the impacts of lighting on landscape and 

 
 
 
 
Section 10 of the SPD provides 
examples of other types of site-
specific planning obligations that may 
be sought, one of which is: “Ecological 
mitigation or compensatory measures, 
where development would result in a 
negative impact on biodiversity and 
habitats”. 
 
 
The city council has produced a 
separate SPD on ‘Trees and 
development’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council has produced a 
separate SPD on design. 
 

P
age 2300



26 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

biodiversity (para 125). 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment 
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in 
exceptional circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance 
here. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on 
European Sites, they should be considered as a plan under the Habitats 
Regulations in the same way as any other plan or project. If your SPD 
requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation 
Assessment, you are required to consult us at certain stages as set out in 
the Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
 
The city council does not consider that 
the SPD requires a strategic 
environmental assessment or a habitat 
regulations assessment. 

007 Network Rail The SPD states, “8.8 Contributions may be directed towards a range of 
projects, including for example: 
• Rail station improvements;” 
 
Consideration should be given in Transport Assessments to the potential 
for increased footfall at Railway Stations as a result of proposals for 
residential development / employment areas within the council area. 
Location of the proposal, accessibility and density of the development, trip 
generation data should be considered in relation to the station. Where 
proposals are likely to increase footfall and the need for car parking at 
Railway Stations, the council should include developer contributions 
(either via CIL, S106) to provide funding for enhancements as part of 
planning decisions. 

The city council’s validation checklist 
provides guidance on the 
requirements for transport 
assessments. 
 
Where the transport assessment 
identifies a possible impact on a 
railway station then the potential need 
for mitigation will have to be 
considered, but this must be balanced 
against the potential need for other 
planning obligations. 

008 Peel Holdings (Land and 
Property) Ltd 

Question 1: which aspects of the current SPD should be retained or 
amended? 
 
The need for flexibility in approach 
As a general comment, Peel supports the continued use of a dedicated 
SPD relating to planning obligations. This provides a consistent basis for 
determining some aspects of the infrastructure requirements of 
development and a sufficient degree of certainty as to the potential costs 
associated with these. Notwithstanding this, it is important that the 
Council’s approach to the agreement of planning obligations is flexible 

 
 
 
The city council will always take into 
account any material considerations 
that suggest an alternative approach 
to the policies in the SPD may be 
more appropriate. 
 
 

P
age 2301



27 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

and able to respond to the context of each development proposal. For 
example, there may be opportunities to address the infrastructure 
requirements of developments in an alternative manner to that set out in 
the SPD to achieve more beneficial outcomes for the city and 
communities. A specific example is raised below in respect of public open 
space requirements. However, this principle applies to the other 
categories of planning obligation. All policies within the SPD should be 
clear that alternative approaches can be agreed with the Local Authority 
on a case-by-case basis. 
  
Calculating residential population 
For the purposes of calculating the resident population of housing 
developments, Policy OB2 of the current SPD uses a ‘per bed space’ 
approach. The number of bed spaces in a development is calculated as 
the number of bedrooms + 1. For example, a four bed house is assumed 
to contain five bed spaces and to therefore accommodate five persons. 
The assumed residential population of each dwelling, based on the above 
approach, is used to calculate the amount of public open space to be 
provided on site or off site via a financial contribution. The level of 
provision required is derived from a ‘per person’ standard. 
We consider that the ‘per bed space’ approach does not provide a 
realistic estimation of open space needs of development as it significantly 
overestimates the realistic residential population of individual housing 
developments. Based on the 2011 census, the average household size in 
Salford was 2.19 persons. [DC4405EW - Tenure by household size by 
number of bedrooms (ONS 2011)] The average number of people 
residing in different property sizes was reported as follows: 
• 1-bed = 1.25 persons 
• 2-bed = 1.82 persons 
• 3-bed = 2.51 persons 
• 4-bed = 3.18 persons 
• 5-bed = 3.64 persons 
To more accurately reflect the realistic population of a given residential 
development, the above figures should be used. As such, a ‘per property’ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SPD supplements saved UDP 
policy H8, which specifically states 
that financial contributions will be 
based on a standard cost per bed 
space. The SPD needs to be 
consistent with the development plan, 
and hence it is appropriate for it to use 
a per bed space approach. The overall 
value of the contribution set out in the 
SPD is not considered to overestimate 
the total impact of new development 
on open space needs, and indeed 
does not take into account parks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2302



28 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

calculation, based on the above averages and having regard to the 
housing mix proposed, rather than a ‘per bed space’ contribution, should 
be used in the future for the purposes of calculating open space 
contributions. 
The approach set out in the current SPD places a significant burden on 
residential developments in requiring the provision of open space on site 
or via commuted sums which is disproportionate to the demand for such 
infrastructure arising from development. This arises from over estimating 
the residential population of individual developments based on the 
approach currently taken. This in turn presents a breach of Regulation 
122(2) (c) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 which 
confirms that planning obligations must be ‘fairly and reasonably related 
in scale and kind to the development.’ The current approach does not 
satisfy this test. 
 
Type of affordable housing 
Policy OB1 of the current SPD sets out the expected tenure mix of 
affordable housing provided as part of residential developments. This is 
partly informed by the latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the mix of affordable housing needs to 
respond effectively to local needs, it important that a flexible approach is 
also taken to reflect that local needs can change over time. It is therefore 
recommended that the revised SPD avoids an overly prescriptive 
approach with regards to this matter. It may set out an indicative mix but 
be clear that this can be determined on a case-by-case basis according to 
local needs and with advice and input from the preferred Registered 
Provider of Social Housing for the scheme. This ensures the policy is able 
to adapt to changing circumstances where needed to ensure the most 
appropriate mix of affordable housing is provided. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council considers it important 
to set out the preferred tenure mix, as 
this will be important for developers in 
understanding the potential financial 
implications. The policy provides some 
flexibility for alternative tenure mixes, 
stating that: “A different affordable 
housing tenure mix may be acceptable 
where there is clear evidence this 
would help to better meet specifically 
identified local needs and address 
site-specific circumstances.” It then 
sets out the issues that will inform 
such decisions, and explains that any 
alternative tenure mix will be informed 
by discussions with registered 
providers where they are to manage 
the affordable housing. 
 

P
age 2303



29 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

Provision of Public Open Space - typologies 
The current SPD sets out a highly prescriptive approach with respect to 
the typologies of open space which residential developments should seek 
to provide; this being youth and adult facilities, sports pitches, equipped 
children’s play space and amenity space. 
Some residential sites will offer the opportunity to provide a bespoke open 
space solution as part of a development proposal. For example, there 
may instances where there is an opportunity to deliver an enhancement 
to existing open space adjacent or near to a residential development site 
or where a site of significant size can deliver a bespoke on-site open 
space solution providing accessible open space (e.g. one of the Council’s 
defined park typologies). This may not sit neatly into any of the categories 
of open space covered in Policy OB2 of the current SPD but may provide 
at least the same or greater benefit in terms of access to open spaces 
and recreational opportunities. 
The SPD should recognise and allow for bespoke solutions to be agreed 
with the Local Authority as an alternative to the provision (on site or via off 
site commuted sums) of the typologies set out in Policy OB2. This 
approach was successfully used in respect of the development of land off 
High Clove Lane in Boothstown (outline planning permission reference 
15/67036/OUT). In this case a bespoke package of public open space 
proposals was agreed which will deliver significant local public open 
space benefits whilst meeting the needs of the development. The 
proposals put forward respond to opportunities presented by the site’s 
location adjacent to existing recreational assets (namely the Bridgewater 
Canal and the Bridgewater Nature Park). A tailored approached was also 
used in respect of the development of land at Burgess Farm, Hilton Lane 
(outline planning permission reference 10/58745/OUTEIA) where a new 
nature park, accessible to the wider community, was provided as part of 
the development. 
Other bespoke opportunities to deliver public open space benefits which 
go beyond meeting the standardised need of the development itself may 
exist in respect of future development sites. The SPD’s approach to the 
provision of public open space should recognise this and should be 

Policy OB6 (Open space 
contributions) provides considerable 
flexibility around the provision of open 
space. The policy supplements saved 
UDP policies H8 (Open space 
provision associated with new housing 
development) and R2 (Provision of 
recreation land and facilities), and so 
the starting point needs to be the open 
space standards set out in saved UDP 
Policy R2. However, the reasoned 
justification to Policy OB6 is clear that 
contributions may be spent on a range 
of open space facilities, with examples 
given that include natural greenspace 
as well as the facilities specifically 
mentioned in saved UDP Policy R2. 
 
A new paragraph has been added to 
section 3 (Approach to securing 
planning obligations) of the SPD, 
which explains that the city council will 
seek to maximise the wider benefits 
from planning obligations by having 
regard to other plans and strategies. 
An example of this would be the 
Salford Greenspace Strategy, which 
will be appropriate for influencing 
discussions about open space 
provision. This will help to ensure that 
the opportunities referred to in the 
representation are properly 
considered. 
 

P
age 2304



30 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

supportive of this approach where such opportunities exist. This is 
particularly relevant in the context of proposals for the development of a 
number of large, phased sites through the emerging Salford Local Plan 
which will provide their own significant open space proposals as part of 
the masterplanning process. 
 
Approach to education contributions 
The current SPD sets out the requirement for financial contributions 
towards the provision of education (primary school) places as part of 
residential developments. At present, this assumes that a development 
will need to fund 100% of new primary school places for which a demand 
arises as a result of the development. No account is therefore taken of 
existing primary school capacity. 
Regulation 122(2) (a) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 states that a planning obligation should only be sought where it is 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. In 
instances where there is capacity within primary schools which can be 
reasonably expected to serve the residential population within a new 
development, this capacity should be taken into account in establishing 
the extent to which the development needs to fund the provision of new 
primary school places. Any revised SPD should include this provision to 
ensure the approach satisfies the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations. 
 
Question 2: are there problems with the implementation of the 
current SPD? 
 
Affordable housing mix 
Policy OB1 sets out the presumption that the affordable housing mix to be 
provided as part of a residential development should reflect the mix of the 
wider development. Whilst this may be helpful starting point, Peel 
considers that this can be problematic in instances where there is a need 
for certain types and sizes of properties, which may not reflect the mix of 
housing proposed as part of the wider development, and where 

 
 
 
 
 
 
School place projections indicate that 
any existing primary school capacity 
will be taken up without any additional 
houses being provided beyond 
existing commitments. Hence it is 
appropriate for additional houses to 
make a proportionate contribution to 
the provision of new school places for 
which they will generate the demand. 
If this situation changes, and there is 
evidence that the education 
contributions are no longer necessary 
or should be reduced, then this will 
prompt a further review of the SPD. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy OB3 (Affordable housing) is 
considered to provide appropriate 
flexibility in this regard, enabling all 
relevant evidence to be taken into 
account in determining the appropriate 
mix of affordable housing. It states 
that: “A different mix of types and 

P
age 2305



31 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

Registered Providers therefore have a preference for these products. 
Indeed in some situations it may be that Registered Providers are unable 
to deliver a mix that reflects the size of units on site. For example, this 
may apply where a market housing scheme proposes to deliver 
predominantly larger family housing whereas the need for similar sized 
affordable accommodation, relative to the need for smaller affordable 
homes, may be very limited. In this regard, it should also be noted that 
due to recent changes in legislation, the demand for larger properties 
from Registered Providers and their ability to take on and manage larger 
properties has now decreased. 
Furthermore, given the very low levels of affordable housing secured 
within higher density apartment schemes and schemes within Central 
Salford, coupled with the likelihood of many schemes within higher value 
areas of West Salford (where affordable housing is more viable) being 
focused on 3 and 4+ bed family housing units, the prospect of a genuinely 
balanced mix of affordable housing being delivered by the portfolio of 
housing sites across Salford is low. The policy should therefore allow for 
the type of affordable units to be determined on a case-by-case basis 
having regard primarily to local evidence of need. 
 
Secondly, whilst the aspiration to pepper-pot affordable housing provision 
is supported, there are practical issues with restricting clustering to ten 
units each. For example, where a scheme delivers say 12 affordable 
units, this requires two separate clusters to be provided (e.g. 6 and 6). In 
our experience this level of pepper-potting is impractical for Registered 
Providers from a management and maintenance point of view. 
Conversely, where a scheme delivers a large number of affordable units, 
providing these in maximum clusters of ten may result in a large number 
of clusters across the site which is also impractical. In such instances, 
larger clusters should be supported which, given the overall size of the 
affordable housing aspect, will still result in an appropriate level of pepper 
potting without undermining the overall approach to achieving a mixed 
and inclusive development. The appropriate level of clustering should 
therefore be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

sizes may be appropriate on an 
individual site where there is clear 
evidence that this would help to better 
meet specifically identified local needs 
and address site-specific 
circumstances.  The identification of 
any such need will be informed by 
discussions with the city council, and 
registered providers where they are to 
manage the affordable housing, and 
having regard to criteria A-G of this 
policy”. Criteria A-G specifically refer 
to choice based lettings data, and the 
characteristics of the households likely 
to be allocated to the affordable 
dwellings. 
 
 
 
 
The city council considers that pepper-
potting is an important principle. 
However, Policy OB3 (Affordable 
housing) explains that clusters larger 
than ten units may be appropriate 
where a high proportion of units are 
affordable and an identified Registered 
Provider considers that larger clusters 
are required to ensure the efficient and 
effective management of the 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 

P
age 2306



32 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

 
Question 3: are the current priorities in the SPD appropriate; that is, 
affordable housing, open space, primary school places, transport, 
and public realm? 
 
See comments under Question 1 above. 
 
Question 4: how can the transparency of the financial viability 
appraisal process for individual planning applications be maximised 
in order to maintain public confidence in the system? 
 
The Government has put forward suggested amendments to the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) in relation to this matter. These amendments 
are currently subject to consultation until 10th May. Peel is preparing 
representations to the consultation. 
Peel is not opposed to the principle of making some information about a 
scheme’s viability publically available where an appraisal is submitted to 
support a proposal for reduced planning obligations. However there will 
be instances where full viability appraisals contain commercially sensitive 
information and where it would be prejudicial to an applicant’s interests to 
make this sensitive information publically available. As such it would be 
appropriate to require a summary viability appraisal setting out the key 
findings and conclusions of this to be made publically available in respect 
of any individual planning applications where a reduction in the planning 
obligations against the policy requirement is proposed. The SPD could 
make provision for this. 
 
Question 5: what are the potential implications of the government’s 
current consultations on: the draft revised national planning policy 
framework; draft planning practice guidance for viability; and 
supporting housing delivery through developer contributions? 
 
The SPD will need to be in full accordance with the revised NPPF, PPG 
and other relevant Government policy and guidance upon its publication. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council is committed to 
transparency in the planning 
application process, as this is 
considered important for retaining 
public confidence in the system. 
Consequently, and in accordance with 
the national Planning Practice 
Guidance, Policy OB2 (Reduced 
planning obligations) of the draft SPD 
states that: “Where a viability appraisal 
is submitted by an applicant in order to 
justify a reduced contribution, it will be 
published prior to the determination of 
the planning application unless there 
are exceptional circumstances.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SPD has been updated to reflect 
the latest national policy and 

P
age 2307



33 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

In this regard, Peel would wish to raise the following points. 
 
Definition of affordable housing 
Firstly there will be a need to ensure the definitions of affordable housing 
within the SPD are updated to reflect those in the revised NPPF – those 
being affordable housing for rent; starter homes; discounted market sales 
housing. Any policies relating to the provision of affordable housing and 
the typologies of affordable housing should reflect the range of types of 
affordable housing set out in emerging national planning policy. Any 
future assessment of affordable housing need should also consider these 
different typologies of affordable housing. 
 
Pooling restrictions 
Paragraph 102 of ‘Supporting housing delivery through developer 
contributions’ (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
March 2018) sets out the proposal that current pooling restrictions in 
relation to Section 106 contributions will be lifted in Local Authority areas 
where the average new build house price is within the lowest 10% of 
those in England. It is not clear how this will be determined at this stage. 
Whilst house prices are increasing in Salford at a faster rate than the 
national average, Salford may be a 10% Authority for the purposes of this 
provision. This does not materially affect the content of the SPD itself. 
However it may affect the content and scope of Section 106 Agreements 
insofar as they may or may not be required to be drafted so as to identify 
a specific beneficiary of the financial contribution to ensure the obligation 
does not fall foul of any pooling restriction. 
 
Provision of viability appraisals 
Lastly, the Draft PPG seeks to ensure that viability is frontloaded in the 
development plan process and considered as part of the formulation of 
Local Plans. Notwithstanding this, the Draft PPG supports the approach 
of permitting developers to submit viability evidence if policy compliant 
planning contributions cannot be viably provided. 

guidance. 
 
The affordable housing sought through 
Policies OB3 (Affordable housing) and 
OB4 (Build to rent) reflects both NPPF 
definitions and evidence of need in 
Salford. This is consistent with 
paragraph 64 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 
 
In the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 
document “Government response to 
supporting housing delivery through 
developer contributions: A summary of 
consultation responses and the 
Government’s view on the way 
forward” (October 2018), the 
Government stated its intention to lift 
the pooling restrictions. The draft SPD 
has been written on that basis. 
 
 
 
 
Policy OB2 (Reduced planning 
obligations) sets out the requirements 
for agreeing reduced planning 
obligations, which includes the 
submission of a viability appraisal. 

009 Sport England 1. Which aspects of the current SPD should be retained or The city council considers that the 

P
age 2308



34 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

amended? 
Sport England would like to see the outdoor sport and playing pitch 
element of open space separated out from the generic open space policy 
OB2. This is to recognise the distinct role and function outdoor sport and 
playing pitches have in the community. The supply and demand for 
outdoor sport is very different to other open typologies as shown in the 
Council’s current Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). The demand for pitches 
and courts will be dependent on the type, size and accessibility of a pitch, 
the age of the players and format of the game being played. Different 
pitch types and sizes have different catchment areas. For instance adult 
rugby union often has a Borough wide catchment whereas the catchment 
for junior football is invariably at a neighbourhood level. 
The PPS is currently being refreshed with scenarios being included to 
assess the likely demand for each pitch sport type and size arising from 
housing growth. Sport England is assisting with this work and will help the 
Council devise a developer contributions process based on the 
information contained within the PPS. Sport England have been assisting 
other neighbouring Local Authorities develop similar processes. Please 
contact the undersigned for more details. 
Sport England agree that contributions should be directed towards 
specific projects, and for pitches that decision should be informed by an 
up to date PPS. 
 
2. Are there any problems with the implementation of the current 

SPD? 
The use of standards to inform future demand for pitches and obtain 
developer contributions is not appropriate. Standards invariably result in 
single site pitches located in the middle of or adjacent to housing estates 
that are unsustainable and do not contribute effectively to the supply of 
pitches. These areas become informal kick about areas at best, and are 
often picked up as disused or lapsed sites in subsequent PPS and 
identified as informal open space in Open Space Audits. These sites are 
often in the wrong location and/or of the wrong pitch type to meet 
identified need in that area. 

approach in the adopted SPD should 
be continued, as this provides an 
appropriate level of flexibility to 
respond to the open space issues 
relevant to each development. 
Separating outdoor sport and playing 
pitch elements into a new policy would 
reduce this flexibility. The city council 
has been successful at securing 
investment in sports pitches through 
the current approach, and does not 
consider that there is evidence that an 
alternative approach would deliver 
greater open space benefits overall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council agrees that isolated 
single pitches are typically not 
appropriate. The combination of the 
Planning Obligations SPD and the 
Salford Greenspace Strategy SPD has 
been successful in directing 
investment in sports pitches to sites 
containing several pitches, enabling 
better management. A new version of 
the Greenspace Strategy SPD is 
about to be adopted. 

P
age 2309



35 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

It is noted the standards for all open space typologies contained in the 
current SPD are based on the NPFA’s Six Acre. This is not appropriate 
because the NPFA is a national benchmark and not a standard as such. If 
standards for other open space typologies are to be retained then it 
should be based on local data and local circumstances.  
As mentioned in point 1 Sport England is working with the Council to look 
at current unmet demand and estimate future demand for each pitch type 
arising from housing growth. A process can be developed using Sport 
England’s strategic planning tools as an alternative method to using 
standards.  
I have attached an Advice Note which sets out Sport England’s stance on 
standards and planning obligations for your information. 
 
3. Are the current priorities in the SPD appropriate; that is, 

affordable housing, open space, primary school places, 
transport, and public realm? 

Sport England agree with the priorities but like to see health included. 
Health will overlap with some of the other priorities such as open space 
used to promote physical activity and mental health but working with 
organisations such as Public Health England there could be specific 
projects related to that development that a developer contribution could 
help deliver. The draft NPPF also includes health as an example of a 
contribution at paragraph 34 and Section 8 relates to Promoting Healthy 
and Safe Communities. 
 
4. How can the transparency of the financial viability appraisal 

process for individual planning applications be maximised in 
order to maintain public confidence in the system? 

No comment 
 
5. What are the potential implications of the government’s current 

consultations on the draft revised national planning policy 
framework; draft planning practice guidance for viability; and 
supporting housing delivery through developer contributions? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The contributions to affordable 
housing, open space, transport and 
public realm can all have significant 
health benefits, and regard to health 
will be had in their implementation. 
One of the development plan policies 
that the SPD specifically supplements 
is saved UDP Policy EHC3 (Provision 
and improvement of health and 
community facilities). This highlights 
that there may be a need for 
contributions to health facilities, but it 
is not considered that a separate SPD 
policy is necessary as such 
contributions are unlikely to be 
required for most developments. 

P
age 2310



36 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

No comment. 

010 Transport for Greater 
Manchester 

TfGM considers it is important that Salford City Council retain the 
"Transport" and "Public Realm" priorities within their approach to securing 
planning obligations. Congestion on the transport networks across 
Greater Manchester remains an issue and has recently been highlighted 
by the Mayor's Congestion Conversation and subsequent Congestion 
Deal. 
 
It remains important that all new development maximises its potential to 
encourage sustainable travel in order to prevent increasing levels of 
congestion acting as a barrier to the city's future growth. One method of 
helping to achieve this is through securing planning obligations towards 
necessary improvements to sustainable transport infrastructure or 
services, improvements to public realm can also serve to promote 
sustainable transport choices by encouraging walking and cycling and 
facilitating access to public transport. 
 
TfGM in partnership with the ten GM local authorities, are in the process 
of developing a GM wide Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP) which will build on Salford CC's recent Key Cycling Network 
Review and Infrastructure Recommendations. The LCW1P should allow 
future investment decisions in walking and cycling infrastructure to be 
informed by a coherent vision of how walking and cycling as modes of 
transport can contribute to the overall transport mix across GM. It will 
identify the walking and cycling networks and prioritise areas where 
improvements are required. In the future, planning obligations could be 
used to ensure where possible that all new development is linked to these 
networks and in some instances developer contributions could be used to 
help deliver identified improvements where the development will place 
additional demand on the network. 
 
Section 8.8 of the existing SPD lists examples of the range of transport 
infrastructure or services that contributions could be directed towards. It 
could also include equestrian provision in the form of Pegasus Crossings.  

The transport and public realm 
sections have been retained. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A new paragraph has been added to 
the chapter 3 (Approach to securing 
planning obligations) which explains 
that regard will be had to existing 
plans and strategies when spending 
financial contributions, with transport 
delivery plans included as an example. 
The Local Walking and Cycling 
Infrastructure Plan will also be relevant 
in this regard. 
 
 
 
 
Reference to equestrian routes and 
Pegasus crossings has been added to 
the list. 

P
age 2311



37 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

The main issue with securing planning obligations for transport from 
development is that the transport impacts of a development and any 
necessary mitigation measures, are identified in the Transport 
Assessment accompanying the planning application. Unfortunately most 
Transport Assessments focus on the likely vehicle traffic that the 
development will generate and then assess the impact on the nearest 
junctions often leading them to conclude that the development will have 
no significant impact on the immediate highway network. However there 
is a wider, accumulative impact from development in the form of 
increased congestion over the wider highway network. If the Transport 
Assessment doesn't identify the need for mitigation, it is difficult to 
convince a developer that a planning obligation is necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and directly related to the 
development. It is important that a revised SPD continues to recognise 
the need for all new development to maximise its potential to encourage 
sustainable travel. 
 
Annex E of the existing document refers to developer guidance on 
provision of highway improvement works and associated fees and the 
following two paragraphs appear on page 62. TfGM would recommend 
that the closing paragraph (below in bold) is added to this section of the 
revised document.  
Traffic Signal Schemes — 5278 Agreements and Commuted Sums  
Following the creation of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) on 1 April 2011 the ownership of all traffic signal assets in 
Greater Manchester transferred to GMCA. The maintenance and 
operational running costs are the responsibility of GMCA and this is 
funded by a central levy. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
Order statutorily delegates to the GMCA several key functions related to 
the installation, upgrading, maintenance and management of traffic 
signals on local highway authority roads. The Local Authority Protocols 
prescribe that Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) will undertake 
this work.  
Under the agreed Traffic Signals Protocols between the GMCA, TfGM, 

 
The emphasis in the reasoned 
justification to Policy OB9 (Transport 
contributions) continues to be on 
sustainable travel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2312



38 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for draft SPD 

the TfGM Committee, and the Association of Greater Manchester 
Authorities (ALMA) Local Highway Authorities, the GMCA has the power 
to enter into agreements under 5278 of the Highways Act 1980 to obtain 
third party funding for the installation, maintenance and operating costs of 
signal controlled junctions and crossings.  
For works which will impact upon an existing traffic signal junction / 
crossing or where a new installation is proposed, developers will need to 
enter into a S278 Agreement with GMCA. Early discussion with Transport 
for Greater Manchester is therefore advised where there is an impact on 
existing traffic signal installations or traffic signal installations are planned 
as mitigation.  
The amount of the commuted sum, (quoted on page 63) for the 15 year 
maintenance and running costs of the traffic signal installation, has not 
changed however this is subject to review.  
 
Government is currently consulting on "Supporting housing delivery 
through developer contributions" which includes proposals to lift the 
pooling restriction of Section 106 Agreements (currently limited to 5). 
Should this apply to Salford CC, this could significantly aid the funding of 
the infrastructure needed to support development on strategic sites. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The draft SPD has been written on the 
assumption that the pooling 
restrictions will be lifted. 

 

P
age 2313



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

Salford Revised Daft Local Plan 
 
Assessment of residential 
viability 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
January 2019  

Page 2315



 

 

  

 
 

Page 2316



 

 

  

Contents  
 

 

  Page  

 
1. Introduction 

 
2 

2. Viability assessment policy and guidance  
 

4 

3. Approach to viability testing 7 
   
4. Viability assessment assumptions 9 
   
5. Baseline appraisal results 24 
   
6. Impact of policy requirements and non-affordable housing 

planning obligation requirements on viability 
26 

   
7. Impact of affordable housing requirements on viability 34 
   
8. Potential affordable housing requirements based on viability 

and conclusions 
40 

   
   
   

Annexes 
  
 
A. Assumed dwelling mix 

 
B. Dwelling floorspace calculations 

 
C.  Total floorspace by scheme typology 

 
D.  Sales value per square metre 

 
E. Literature review of cost of providing electric vehicle charging 

 
F. Cost of policy requirements and planning obligations 

(excluding affordable housing) 
  
G. Appraisals G1 to G16 – impact of policy requirements and 

non-affordable housing planning obligations  
  
H. Appraisals H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H14 and 

H16 – cumulative impact of policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing 

 

Page 2317



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

1 
 

  

Page 2318



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This strategic assessment of the viability of residential development 

within Salford (referred to as the assessment hereafter) has been 
undertaken in order to inform the policy approach within Salford’s 
Revised Daft Local Plan, particularly policy H7 (affordable housing).  
 

1.2 Although this assessment is part of the evidence base for the Revised 
Daft Local Plan it should be seen as the starting point rather than the 
only determinant of affordable housing requirements / policy. The   
assessment is strategic, and does not seek to test the viability of 
specific sites or changes in viability that occur over time. Affordable 
housing requirements will need to reflect the spatial vision for the City, 
including creating a fairer Salford, and also evidence of affordable 
housing need.  
 

1.3 In producing this assessment, regard has been had to the relevant 
parts of the 2018 national planning policy framework (NPPF)1 and the 
associated online national planning practice guidance (PPG). The 
viability assessments have been run using the Homes and 
Communities Agency development appraisal tool. 
 

1.4 This assessment builds on an earlier assessment of residential viability 
that was produced in November 2016 in support of the city council’s 
Draft Local Plan, and takes into account comments received to it.  
 

Viability of build to rent developments 
 

1.5 This assessment has examined the viability of build for sale residential 
developments. With regards to the build to rent sector, the national 
viability planning practice guidance, which is titled “How does viability 
assessment apply to the build to rent sector?”2, states that: 
 
“The economics of build to rent scheme differ from build for sale as 
they depend on a long-term income stream. For build to rent it is 
expected that the normal form of affordable housing provision will be 
affordable private rent. Where plan makers wish to set affordable 
private rent proportions or discount levels at a level differing from 
national planning policy and guidance, this can be justified through a 
viability assessment at the plan making stage. Developers will be 
expected to comply with build to rent policy requirements.” 
 

1.6 The planning practice guidance on build to rent3 explains that 20% is 
generally a suitable benchmark for the level of affordable private rent 
homes to be provided with national policy also requiring a minimum 
rent discount of 20% for affordable private rent homes. This national 

                                                 
1 “National planning policy framework” – Department for Communities and Local Government 
(July 2018). 
2 Para 019. Reference ID: 10-019-20180724 
3 Para 002. Reference ID: 60-002-20180913 

Page 2319

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

3 
 

approach is reflected in the Revised Daft Local Plan policy on build to 
rent (policy H8). Given this, and the advice in paragraph 19 of the build 
to rent planning practice guidance, it is not considered necessary for 
this assessment to consider the viability of build to rent schemes any 
further.    
 

 

  

Page 2320



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

4 
 

2. Viability assessment policy and guidance 
 
National policy context 
 
2018 National Planning Policy Framework 
 
2.1 Paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

advises that: 
 

“Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected 
from development, planning applications that comply with them should 
be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate 
whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 
assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a 
viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard 
to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the 
viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site 
circumstances since the plan was brought into force. All viability 
assessments, including any undertaken at the plan-making stage, 
should reflect the recommended approach in national planning 
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly 
available”.  

 
Planning Practice Guidance 
 
2.2 Updated planning practice guidance (PPG) on viability was published 

on 24 July 2018 and provides details about how the NPPF should be 
applied. Key points from the guidance relating to plan making are set 
out below: 

 
1) Policy requirements should be informed by a proportionate 

assessment of viability that takes into account all relevant policies, 
and local and national standards, including the cost implications of 
section 1064 

2) The role for viability assessment is primarily at the plan making 
stage with the total cost of all relevant policies not undermining 
deliverability of the plan5 

3) Plan makers can use site typologies to determine viability at the 
plan making stage. In some circumstances more detailed 
assessment may be necessary for particular areas or key sites on 
which the delivery of the plan relies6 

4) Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected 
from development, planning applications that comply with them 
should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to 
demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a 
viability assessment at the application stage7 

                                                 
4 Para 001. Reference ID: 10-001-20180724 
5 Para 002. Reference ID: 10-002-20180724 
6 Para 006. Reference ID: 10-006-20180724 
7 Para 007. Reference ID: 10-007-20180724 

Page 2321



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

5 
 

5) Assessment of costs should be based on evidence which is 
reflective of local market conditions. Abnormal costs, site specific 
costs, policy requirements (including affordable housing), and 
professional fees should be taken into account when defining 
benchmark land value8 

6) Benchmark land value should be on the basis of the existing use 
value of the land (EUV), plus a premium for the landowner. This 
approach is often known as EUV+, with the premium providing a 
reasonable incentive for the land owner to sell land for development 
while allowing a sufficient contribution to comply with policy 
requirements9.   

7) EUV is not the price paid and should disregard hope value10 
8) An assumption of 15-20% of gross development value may be 

considered a suitable return to developers in order to establish the 
viability of plan policies. A lower figure may be appropriate in 
consideration of the delivery of affordable housing11 

9) For build to rent it is expected that the normal form of affordable 
housing provision will be affordable private rent. Where plan makers 
wish to set affordable private rent proportions or discount levels at a 
level differing from national planning policy and guidance, this can 
be justified through a viability assessment at the plan making 
stage12 

 
2.3 Full regard has been had to the NPPF and associated planning 

practice guidance in the production of this assessment.  
 
Other guidance on viability testing 
 
2.4 In response to the 2012 NPPF, the Local Housing Delivery Group, a 

cross industry group of residential property stakeholders including the 
House Builders Federation, Homes and Communities Agency and 
Local Government Association, published guidance entitled ‘Viability 
Testing Local Plans’ in June 2012. The guidance states as an 
underlying principle, that: 

 
“An individual development can be said to be viable if, after taking 
account of all costs, including central and local government policy and 
regulatory costs and the cost and availability of development finance, 
the scheme provides a competitive return to the developer to ensure 
that development takes place and generates a land value sufficient to 
persuade the land owner to sell the land for the development proposed. 
If these conditions are not met, a scheme will not be delivered.” 
 

                                                 
 
8 Para 012. Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 
9 Para 013. Reference ID: 10-013-20180724 
10 Para 015. Reference ID: 10-015-20180724 
11 Para 018. Reference ID: 10-018-20180724 
12 Para 019. Reference ID: 10-019-20180724 

Page 2322



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

6 
 

2.5 The guidance is not prescriptive about the use of particular financial 
assessment models but advises that a residual appraisal approach 
which tests the ability of development to yield a margin beyond all the 
test factors to determine viability or otherwise is widely used and 
accepted. The guidance sets out the key elements of viability appraisal 
and the factors that need to be considered to ensure robust 
assessment. 

 
2.6 In August 2012 the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 

published a guidance note entitled “Financial Viability in Planning’. The 
guidance defines financial viability for planning purposes as follows: 

 
 “An objective financial viability test of the ability of a development 

project to meet its costs including the cost of planning obligations, while 
ensuring an appropriate Site Value for the landowner and a market risk 
adjusted return to the developer in delivering that project. (Where 
viability is being used to test and inform planning policy it will be 
necessary to substitute ‘a development project’ into the wider context)” 

 
2.7 The guidance highlights the residual appraisal methodology should be 

used where either the level of return or residual site value can be 
compared to a benchmark to assess the impact of planning obligations 
or policy. Site value is defined as market value having regard to 
development plan policies and all other material considerations; it does 
however go on to state that the site value may need to be further 
adjusted to ensure delivery would not be prejudiced.  
 

2.8 The guidance note encourages practitioners to be reasonable, 
transparent and fair in objectively undertaking or reviewing financial 
viability assessments. Where possible, practitioners should seek to 
resolve differences of opinion. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 2323



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

7 
 

3. Approach to viability testing 
 
3.1 Residential viability appraisals include a wide range of assumptions 

about particular schemes / sites, including the capital value of a 
development (primarily the value realised by selling new dwellings), the 
cost of developing a site (such as buying the land, and build costs), the 
profit a developer expects from a particular site, and finance costs.  

 
3.2 Viability assessments can vary significantly with only minor changes in 

assumptions, and therefore they can only ever provide a relatively 
broad estimate of the potential of a scheme to support developer 
contributions via planning obligations. It is important that they are seen 
in this context as a broad assessment of viability rather than as precise 
forecasts.  
 

3.3 Having regard to the above and given the advice in planning practice 
guidance13, it was not considered appropriate to individually test every 
site or seek assurance that individual sites are viable. For the purposes 
of this assessment site typologies have been used based on a range of 
different development characteristics that reflect the nature of sites 
coming forward in Salford (in terms of dwelling mix, different residential 
sales values in the city etc.). 
 

3.4 Such appraisals are not intended to be detailed site appraisals for use 
in relation to particular schemes, and as such do not reflect site-specific 
issues which may arise in relation to particular sites (such as for 
instance abnormal costs). However, the typology approach allows the 
city council appraisals to make informed judgements and estimates 
with regard to different variables, and are considered to be an 
appropriate basis for assessing general levels of viability across the 
city.  

 
3.5 The city council utilised Version 4.05 of the HCA development 

appraisal tool (DAT) model to run the viability appraisals. The DAT is a 
standard valuation model that runs in Microsoft Excel and is freely 
available to download via the gov.uk website14. Full details of the 
operation of the model are set out in the user manual which is also 
available from the gov.uk website.  

 
3.6 The viability assessments undertaken by the city council used a form of 

the residual value technique, although land values were inputted into 
the appraisals so that the output is actually the residual surplus/deficit. 
The reason this approach was used is that it enabled the appraisals to 
identify any residual surplus, after costs including developer profit have 
been deducted, which would be available to be directed towards policy 
requirements and planning obligations (including affordable housing).   

                                                 
13 Para 003. Reference ID: 10-003-20180724 
14 Homes and Communities Agency development appraisal tool: version 4.05 (November 
2017)  

Page 2324

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/development-appraisal-tool


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

8 
 

 
3.7 The approach taken by the city council, and the different variables that 

make up the appraisals, can be summarised as follows: 
 
Table 1 – Approach to calculating scheme surplus/deficit 

A 
A1 
A2 
A3 

Gross development value  
Residential sales values 
Ground rent per unit per annum  
Ground rent yield  

B 
B1 
B2 
B3 
B4 

Land acquisition costs 
Benchmark land value 
Agent fees 
Legal fees 
Stamp duty land tax 

C 
C1 
C2 
C3 
C4 
C5 

Development costs 
Build costs 
Abnormals 
Marketing, sales and legal fees 
Professional fees (building design fees) 
Building contingencies 

D 
D1 

Finance costs 
Interest rates 

E 
E1 

Developer overhead and return for risk 
Developer ‘profit’ 

Overall surplus/deficit available for planning obligations and 
other policy requirements = A – (B+C+D+E) 

  

Page 2325



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

9 
 

4. Viability assessment assumptions  
 
4.1 Data on the different variables that form part of the appraisals set out 

below was collated having regard to a number of factors, including: 
 

 Discussions with Urban Vision Property Services 

 Development appraisals submitted within Salford in support of 
planning applications 

 A review of other area-wide viability assessments prepared as part 
of the evidence base for other Local Plans and Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedules 

 The HCA development appraisal tool and associated user manual 
(November 2014) 

 Publicly available data (such as stamp duty rates and land value 
estimates for policy appraisals) 

 Local Housing Delivery Group – viability testing Local Plans: advice 
for planning practitioners (June 2012), and other guidance 

 Evidence submitted by those making representations on the 
assessment of residential viability that was part of the evidence 
base for the Draft Local Plan of November 2016 

 The city council’s Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment and annual residential development monitoring 

 
4.2 The following section sets out the different assumptions the city council 

used to input to the appraisals.   
 
Mix of dwellings (type and number of bedrooms) 
 
4.3 In order to test a broad range of residential scheme types that come 

forward for development in Salford, three different scheme typologies 
were defined. These were as follows: 

 
1) Family houses on a 2 hectare site comprising of between 70 to 100 

houses at a density ranging from 35 dwellings per hectare to 50 
dwellings per hectare. The density of 35 dwellings reflects the 
requirement in Revised Daft Local Plan policy H6 for all 
developments to be built at a minimum residential density of 35 
dwellings per hectare.  
 
The density differs by value area15 given that in practice the 
type/number of bedrooms of houses will vary between the different 
value areas. For example, in the higher value areas development 
will be at a lower density than that seen in lower value areas (given 
that a greater proportion of larger sized properties will be built in the 
higher value areas and vice versa). Further details are shown in the 
table below: 

 
 

                                                 
15 See paragraphs 4.16 to 4.22 below for further details of the value areas. 

Page 2326



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

10 
 

 
Table 2- Density and number of dwellings for family houses scheme by value 
area  

Scheme type Value area(s) Site size Number of dwellings 

Family houses at 35 
dwellings per 
hectare 

Premium and 
high 

2ha 70 houses 

Family houses at 
37.5 dwellings per 
hectare 

Mid/high 2ha 75 houses 

Family houses at 40 
dwellings per 
hectare 

Mid 2ha 80 houses 

Family houses at 50 
dwellings per 
hectare 

Low/mid and low 2ha 100 houses 

 
2) Mid density apartments at 125 dwellings per hectare, comprising 

125 apartments on a 1 hectare site 
 

3) High density apartments at 300 dwellings per hectare, comprising 
150 apartments on a 0.5 hectare site 

 
4.4 For each of the typologies, Annex A sets out the assumed mix in terms 

of number of bedrooms and the type of dwellings. These are derived 
from the broad range of schemes that are likely to come forward for 
development within the city having regard to: 
 

 A review of recent developments that have been built in the city or 
are under construction  

 Sites with extant planning permission for housing where 
development has not started 

 The type and density of schemes identified in the city council’s 
housing and economic land availability assessment as being 
developable for new housing in the future.  
 

4.5 Note that the precise mix on actual sites will of course vary on a 
specific site by site basis. 

 
Size of dwellings 
 
4.6 Having established the mix of dwellings for the each of the typologies, it 

was necessary to estimate the total floorspace in each, given that the 
appraisals need to include an allowance for build costs and sales costs 
on a per square metre basis. 

 
4.7 In order to calculate the floorspace in each scheme typology, the 

starting point was to make an assumption about the floorspace of each 
of the dwelling types. For the purposes of the appraisals, the following 

Page 2327



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

11 
 

dwelling floorspaces (gross internal area in square metres) were 
assumed.  

 
Table 3 – Dwelling floorspace by number of bedrooms and property type 

 Terraced Apartment Semi-
detached 
(2 storey) 

Townhouse  
(3 storey) 

Detached 
(2 storey) 

1 bed n/a 50sqm n/a n/a n/a 

2 bed 74.5sqm 65sqm n/a n/a n/a 

3 bed  n/a 86sqm 93sqm 99sqm 107sqm 

4 bed n/a n/a 106sqm n/a 120sqm 

5 bed n/a n/a n/a n/a 133sqm 

 
4.8 The assumptions in the table above were developed having regard to 

the nationally described space standards, which were published in 
March 201516 which set out the minimum gross internal floor areas and 
storage (sqm) by number of bedrooms, bedspaces (persons) and the 
height of the dwelling (storeys). The city council has included the 
requirement for national space standards in policy H5 of the Revised 
Daft Local Plan and so it is considered necessary for the standards to 
be included within this assessment.  

 
4.9 The table above is inclusive of an additional allowance of 14sqm for all 

detached dwellings in the family houses scheme typology, to allow for a 
single garage. Assuming all detached dwellings have a single garage 
results in the following proportion of garages by scheme type: 
 

Table 4 – Number of garages in the family houses scheme by value area  

Scheme type Value 
area(s) 

Number 
of houses 

Number of 
garages 

% of houses with 
a garage 

Family houses at 
35 dwellings per 
hectare 

Premium 
and high 

70  46 66% 

Family houses at 
37.5 dwellings 
per hectare 

Mid/high 75  44 59% 

Family houses at 
40 dwellings per 
hectare 

Mid 80  43 41% 

Family houses at 
50 dwellings per 
hectare 

Low/mid 
and low 

100 0 0% 

 
4.10 Although it is recognised that in practice not all detached dwellings will 

have garages, and that some semi-detached dwellings will have 
garages etc., for the purposes of this area-wide assessment it is 
considered to be an appropriate assumption The council’s assumptions 

                                                 
16 “Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard” – Department for 
Communities and Local Government (March 2015, as amended on 19 May 2016)  

Page 2328

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housing-standards-nationally-described-space-standard


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

12 
 

do not over-estimate the number of garages in new developments 
particularly when this is benchmarked against developments recently 
completed or currently under construction in the city.  
 

4.11 Full details of how the floorspaces in Table 3 have been derived are set 
out in Annex B.  

 
Net to gross adjustment 

 
4.12 Note that the net sales areas adopted for the apartment typologies set 

out above do not reflect circulation space and other common areas (i.e. 
access corridors, lifts and stairwells). To ensure that these additional 
areas are factored into the build cost a net to gross adjustment needs 
to be made. In other words, the total net sales area for all of the 
apartments in each site was identified (the net sales area of each flat 
multiplied by the number of flats), and then an uplift applied.  
 

4.13 The gross to net uplift for the mid density apartment typology was taken 
as being 15%, with a higher figure of 17.5% being applied to the high 
density apartment typology. It is recognised that in the market place, 
there will obviously be some variation in the specification of the final 
dwellings but the above is considered to be a reasonable assumption 
having regard to: 
 

 The HCA development appraisal tool states that an allowance of 
15% for common areas may be a typical figure 

 Viability assessments submitted within Salford as part of planning 
applications  

 A review of other area-wide viability assessment for areas outside 
of Salford that have been published in support of Local Plans and 
CIL charging schedules.  

 
4.14 For houses, there are no common areas and therefore a net to gross 

ratio of 100% was assumed (i.e. net and gross are the same). This 
approach is recognised as industry standard. 
 

4.15 Having regard to all of the above, the total gross floorspace for each 
typology is calculated in Annex C.  
 
 

A. Gross Development Value 
 
A1. Residential sales values 

 
4.16 The Development Appraisal Tool requires that residential sales value 

data per square metre is inputted. Given this, openly available data 
from the land registry was obtained for the actual sales value of 
individual properties across the city (rather than the asking price as had 
been used in previous work published by the council). This was then 

Page 2329

http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/ppd/search


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

13 
 

cross referenced with floorspace data for those properties from open 
data contained within Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs).  
 

4.17 The floorspace data from the EPCs does not include garages and so 
therefore an additional floorspace of 14 square metres was added to 
the EPC floorspace data for all detached dwellings (with the dwelling 
type being available from the land registry). This assumption is in line 
with an additional allowance of 14 square metres being added to the 
floorspace of detached dwellings in the family houses typology to allow 
for garages, and is considered appropriate for this plan making stage 
viability assessment.   

 
4.18 33 areas were identified across the city. Land registry price paid data 

was identified for properties that were mainly sold between the start of 
2017 and the end of March 2018, largely focused on new build 
residential developments or modern housing developments (completed 
within the past 10-15 years). For areas of the city where there were a 
limited number of new build developments or modern housing 
developments, older dwellings were identified. Where there was a lack 
of sales in 2017 / early 2018, older sales have been used instead.  
 

4.19 A minimum of 10 residential properties were identified per area, with a 
total of 725 residential across all of the areas and this is considered to 
be a satisfactory sample for the purposes of this area wide viability 
assessment. The schedule of all properties reviewed and a summary of 
the data by sales value area is set out at annex D. 

 
4.20 This detailed analysis identified a significant range of asking price 

values across the city. Clear patterns were identified with particular 
spatial areas having broadly similar typical values. Taking account of 
this, six broad residential value areas have been identified. These are 
considered to give a good overall indication of residential values across 
the city, although inevitably there will be some degree of variance and 
outliers within each. 
 

4.21 The table below sets out the six defined residential value areas and the 
range of values within them.  

 
Table 5 – Residential value areas 

Value area Typical values per sqm 

Premium £3,400 

High £2,800 

Mid/high £2,500 

Mid £2,200 

Low/mid £2,000 

Low £1,800 

 
Land in the Green Belt 

 

Page 2330

https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/


Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

14 
 

4.22 The revised draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework allocates 
three sites that are currently within Salford’s Green Belt for new 
housing. There is no comparable sales values data available for these 
sites and so therefore a judgement needed to be made as to what 
value area they are likely to correspond to, for the purposes of this 
assessment. Having regard to this, the Green Belt allocations are 
considered to fall under the sales value area set out below: 

 

 East of Boothstown – Premium value area: the dwellings that will 
come forward on this site will be to an exceptional quality, targeting 
the top end of the housing market with the intention of attracting 
highly skilled professionals. On this basis the sales value of 
dwellings on the site are going to be reflective of the premium 
values.  

 Hazelhurst Farm– High Value area: the sales values for this site is 
likely to be the same as the areas that they are adjacent to.  

 North of Irlam Train Station – Mid/High value area given that the site 
is likely to create its own market and will have higher sales values 
than the areas that it adjoins. 

 
4.23 Other land within the green belt (as proposed as a result of 

amendments to the boundary through the revised draft Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework) are not covered by the value areas. 
This is due to any such development being by definition inappropriate.  
 

4.24 The plan below identifies the boundaries of the value areas. 
 

 
 
 

Page 2331



Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

15 
 

P
age 2332



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  16 

A2. Average ground rent per unit per annum (£) 
4.25 This was assumed as follows, on the basis of a review of recent housing 

development within the city and viability evidence submitted to the city 
council: 

 

 Houses: No ground rent assumed given that the government has said that 
it will legislate to prevent the sale of new build leasehold houses except 
where necessary such as shared ownership. 

 Mid density apartments: £150 per dwelling 

 High density apartments £300 per dwelling 
 
A3. Ground rent yield (%) 
4.26 This was assumed to be 5% for all residential appraisals, recognising that 

ground rent income is a secure investment. 
 
 
B. Land acquisition costs 
 
B1.  Benchmark land value 

 
4.27 As noted above, planning practice guidance on viability was published by the 

government to accompany the revised NPPF on 24 July 2018. This states that 
to define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value 
should be calculated on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, 
plus a premium for the landowner. The premium should provide a reasonable 
incentive, in comparison with other options available, for the landowner to sell 
land for development while allowing a sufficient contribution to comply with 
policy requirements. This approach is often called ‘existing use value plus’ 
(EUV+)17. 
 

4.28 The guidance goes on to state that in all cases benchmark land value should: 
 

 Be based upon existing use value 

 Allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those 
building their own homes) 

 Reflect the implications of abnormal costs; site-specific infrastructure 
costs; and professional site fees and 

 Be informed by market evidence including current uses, costs and values 
wherever possible. Where recent market evidence is used to inform 
assessment of benchmark land value this evidence should be based on 
developments which are compliant with policies, including for affordable 
housing. Where this evidence is not available plan makers and applicants 
should identify and evidence any adjustments to reflect the cost of policy 
compliance. This is so that historic benchmark land values of non-policy 
compliant developments are not used to inflate values over time. 

 
4.29 The guidance further states that when undertaking any viability assessment 

EUV can be established by assessing the value of the specific site or type of 

                                                 
17Para 013. Reference ID: 10-013-20180724 

Page 2333



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  17 

site using published sources of information such as agricultural or industrial 
land values. Source of data include valuation office agency and public sector 
estate/property teams’ locally held evidence18.  
 

4.30 An appropriate level of premium above the EUV is not set out in the guidance 
although the premium should provide a reasonable incentive for a land owner 
to bring forward land for development. Plan makers should establish a 
reasonable premium to the landowner for the purpose of assessing the 
viability of their plan.19 
 

4.31 It is clear from the guidance that the existing land use value benchmarks used 
to test plan policies can be less than the value at which land is being traded in 
the market. This point was highlighted in the London Mayoral CIL examiner’s 
report which, although relating directly to CIL, sets out important principles in 
the treatment of benchmark land values20  
 
“Finally the price paid for development land may be reduced. As with profit 
levels there may be cries that this is unrealistic, but a reduction in 
development land value is an inherent part of the CIL concept. It may be 
argued that such a reduction may be all very well in the medium to long term 
but it is impossible in the short term because of the price already paid/agreed 
for development land. The difficulty with that argument is that if accepted the 
prospect of raising funds for infrastructure would be forever receding into the 
future. In any event in some instances it may be possible for contracts and 
options to be re-negotiated in the light of the changed circumstances arising 
from the imposition of CIL charges”. 
 

4.32 Recent RICS research also highlights the drawback in using market evidence 
to set land value benchmarks: “If market value is based on comparable 
evidence without proper adjustment to reflect policy compliant planning 
obligations, this introduces a circularity, which encourages developers to 
overpay for sites and try to recover some or all of this overpayment via 
reductions in planning obligations”.21 
 

4.33 In May 2018 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) published land value estimates for policy appraisal as of 1 April 
2017, along with guidance for their use. With regards to residential land 
values, a figure of £1,345,000 per hectare is set out for Salford. The guidance 
explains that the figure assumes nil affordable housing and so therefore the 
figures may be significantly higher than would reasonably be obtained in the 
actual market. The figure is for a ‘typical’ site with planning permission where 
“….no major allowances need to be made for other s106/s278 costs. The site 
is regular shape, with services provided up to the boundary, without 
contamination or abnormal development costs, not in an underground mining 
area, with road frontage, without risk of flooding, with planning permission 
granted and that no grant funding is available.  

                                                 
18 Para 015. Reference ID: 10-015-20180724 
19 Para 016. Reference ID: 10-015-20180724 
20 Report to The Mayor of London, by Keith Holland January 2012 
21 RICS, 2015, Financial Viability Appraisal in Planning Decisions: Theory and Practice 

Page 2334



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  18 

 
4.34 MHCLG also published industrial land values for policy appraisal in May 2018. 

No specific figure is set out for Salford, although for Greater Manchester 
figures of £650,000 and £550,000 are given for Manchester and Bolton 
respectively as of 1 April 2017. The guidance for these values notes that 
these figures can be used a proxy for developments on brownfield land. It is 
assumed that they are for a brownfield site in an urban location, services to 
the edge of the site, use restricted to industrial/warehouse with full planning 
consent in place, and no abnormal, contamination and/or remediation issues. 
 

4.35 Having regard to all of the above, the city council has been advised by Urban 
Vision Property Services on appropriate benchmark land values for the 
purposes of this assessment. These land values are based on the EUV+ 
approach with the existing use being industrial / employment land that is 
within an urban location and is brownfield land. The land values differ by the 
residential value areas used in this assessment recognising that there are 
differences in what the current use of a site is worth depending on location.   
 

4.36 Although not all land that will come forward for residential development will be 
on employment land it is considered reasonable to apply the employment 
values to all of the typologies in this assessment. Whilst other land uses may 
have a different EUV and could command a higher/lower value, for the 
purposes of the high level assessment it is deemed proportionate to apply this 
figure.  
 

4.37 With regards to an appropriate premium that would provide an appropriate 
premium for the landowner to sell the land, Urban Vision have advised that 
this should be 20% above the existing use value for the family houses and 
mid density apartment typologies. A premium of 20% is commonly used on 
viability modelling across the country (particularly for viability work that has 
been tested at Examination for CIL).  For the high density apartment typology, 
Urban Vision have advised that the premium should be 30% reflecting the 
higher premiums required to incentivise landowners to sell their land given 
such sites will achieve a higher density of development. 

 
4.38 The existing use values per hectare and also the premium required to 

incentivise a landowner to sell their land that have been used in this 
assessment are set out below.  

 
Table 6 - Land value by value area: Family houses and mid density apartment 
typologies 

Value area Existing use 
value (EUV) 
per hectare 

Premium to 
landowner (+) 

EUV + value 
per hectare 

Premium £595,000 20% £714,000 

High £595,000 20% £714,000 

Mid/high £495,000 20% £594,000 

Mid £495,000 20% £594,000 

Low/mid £430,000 20% £516,000 

Low £370,000 20% £444,000 

Page 2335



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  19 

 
Table 7 - Land value by value area: High density apartment typology 

Value area Existing use 
value (EUV) 
per hectare 

Premium to 
landowner (+) 

EUV + value 
per hectare 

Premium £595,000 30% £773,500 

High £595,000 30% £773,500 

Mid/high £495,000 30% £643,500 

Mid £495,000 30% £643,500 

 
B2, B3 and B4: Fees associated with land purchase 
 
4.39 The table below shows the fees associated with the acquisition of a site. 
 
Table 8 – Fees associated with land cost 

Cost type Assumption Commentary 

B2. Agents 
fees 

1% of site value Assumed at 1% across all residential 
appraisals, which is a commonly 
accepted figure, and consistent with the 
Local Housing Delivery Group advice22 

B3. Legal 
fees 

0.75% of site value Industry standard assumption 

B4. Stamp 
duty land tax 

 0% on the first 
£150,000 of the 
land value; 

 2% on the next 
£125,000 (the 
portion from 
£125,001 to 
£250,000); 

 5% on the 
remaining amount 
(the proportion 
above £250,000) 

 

As per HMRC rates for non-residential 
and mixed use land and property rates.  
 

 
 
C. Development costs 
 
4.40 For the purposes of this viability assessment, the planning practice guidance 

advises that costs should be based on evidence which is reflective of local 
market conditions. 

 
C1. Build costs  

 
4.41 The planning practice guidance on viability states that a cost of development 

is build costs and suggests that such costs should be based on appropriate 

                                                 
22 “Viability testing Local Plans: advice for planning practitioners” – Local Housing Delivery Group 
chaired by Sir John Harman (June 2012), p35. 

Page 2336



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  20 

data, for example that of the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS).23 
Consideration was given to using build costs per square metre of the gross 
internal floorspace as set out in the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) 
residential build cost data. However, Urban Vision Property Services have 
advised that the costs are not representative of the actual build costs that they 
are seeing on actual schemes within Salford, including those that have been 
verified by the district valuer. 
 

4.42 Urban Vision have advised that the following costs should be adopted for the 
purposes of this local plan viability assessment: 

 
Table 9 – Build costs by dwelling type 

Dwelling type  Build cost per square metre 

Houses £1,033 

Mid density apartments (3 to 5 storeys) £1,065 

High density apartments (6+ storeys) £1,615 

 
4.43 The above build costs for houses has been applied to all of the different 

house types, whilst different figures are given for different heights of 
apartments reflecting the increased build costs associated with the 
development of higher buildings. It is recognised that there are likely to be 
different build costs in the different value areas associated with the quality of 
internal fixtures and fittings within the different value areas. However, given 
this assessment is high level and that its purpose is to inform policy rather 
than being site specific, it was considered appropriate use the figures above 
across all of the value areas.  
 

4.44 Urban Vision have advised that the build costs identified above include 
infrastructure / externals (i.e. access roads, services and drainage, 
landscaping etc.). Services are assumed to be provided to the boundary of 
the site and so no allowance needs to be provided for this.  

 
C2. Abnormals such as decontamination and demolition 
 
4.45 Clearly some sites, particularly those of a brownfield nature, will have an 

element of abnormal costs. However this strategic area-wide nature of this 
viability assessment is not designed to test the viability of specific sites; it 
cannot seek to encompass all the potential differences in individual site 
circumstances / abnormals that affect viability. Given this, all appraisals made 
a nil allowance for abnormals, recognising that any site specific issues should 
result in a reduced existing use value, subject to the proper exercise of due 
diligence by the site purchaser. 

 
Other scheme costs 
 
4.46 There is a range of other development costs that apply to all the residential 

development case studies and which have been included in viability testing. 
These are set out in the table below. 

                                                 
23 Para 012. Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 

Page 2337



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  21 

 
Table 10 – other development costs 

Cost type Assumption Commentary 

C3. 
Marketing, 
sales and 
legal fees  

3% of market housing 
value 

Based on other schemes within Salford. 
The timing of this cost coincides with the 
period between the first and last open 
market sale. 
 

C4. 
Professional 
fees (building 
design fees) 

5% of build costs Figure has been agreed with volume 
housebuilders as being appropriate on 
schemes within Salford where a viability 
assessment has been submitted in 
support of a planning application. 
 

C5. Building 
contingencies 

3% of build costs Assumed having regard to other 
developments in Salford (and as agreed 
through planning application viability 
assessments) and the North West.  
 
Building contingencies for regional or 
national volume house builders usually 
remain relatively stable across different 
developments as they have in-house 
design teams who design standard 
house types which are used across 
multiple sites. Furthermore they will often 
use the same contractors who become 
familiar with the house types and which 
leads to greater efficiencies. 
 

D1. Interest 
rate 

Debit – 6.5% 
Credit – 0% 

Debit rate reflects recent viability 
appraisals submitted in support of 
planning applications for residential 
development within Salford. A nil rate 
was assumed for credit reinvestment, 
recognising that it is not standard 
practice to reflect this in strategic 
assessments of residential viability. 
 

E1. 
Developer 
profit 

18% of GDV The planning practice guidance on 
viability24 states that “For the purpose of 
plan making an assumption of 15-20% of 
gross development value (GDV) may be 
considered a suitable return to 
developers in order to establish the 
viability of plan policies. Plan makers 
may choose to apply alternative figures 
where there is evidence to support this 

                                                 
24 Paragraph 018. Reference ID: 10-018-20180724 

Page 2338



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  22 

Cost type Assumption Commentary 

according to the type, scale and risk 
profile of planned development”.  
 
Having regard to the planning practice 
guidance, and on the basis of recent 
viability evidence submitted to the city 
council, a developer profit of 18% of 
gross development value is considered 
to be an appropriate benchmark in 
current market conditions. A lower 
percentage developer profit will be 
appropriate for specific types of scheme 
(e.g. a Private Rented Sector scheme, or 
a scheme where units are to be sold to a 
Registered Provider).  
 
It is also recognised that a higher or 
lower percentage developer profit may 
be necessary depending on the risk of 
the schemes. It is however considered 
that 18% represents an appropriate 
benchmark in current market conditions 
and for the purposes of this area wide 
viability assessment. 
 

 
 
Scheme timings  
 
4.47 The HCA DAT takes into account cashflow through the course of a 

development. As such, timings for different elements of a development need 
to be inputted into the model. The city council’s assumptions in relation to this 
are set out below.  

 
Build period (construction start / end) 
4.48 Construction start was assumed as 3 months after the grant of planning 

consent. This construction start time was assumed as standard for all scheme 
typologies to ensure consistency across the appraisals. The build period was 
assumed to vary for each of the 3 scheme typologies, reflecting the different 
scheme sizes. A build rate of 40 units per annum was assumed for the family 
houses typology which is considered conservative given the rate schemes are 
being out at in the City. For both apartment scheme typologies it was 
assumed that the apartments would be built out at a rate of 100 units per 
annum. These build rates have been informed by the speed of delivery on 
recent residential development schemes within Salford and in some respects 
are also considered to be conservative assumptions. Taking this into account, 
the table below sets out the build period assumptions for each of the scheme 
typologies: 

 

Page 2339



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  23 

Table 11 – Build period by scheme typology 

Scheme typology Dwelling number Build period 

Family houses scheme 70 houses 21 months 

75 houses  23 months 

80 houses  24 months 

100 houses 30 months 

Mid density apartment scheme 125 apartments 15 months 

High density apartment scheme 150 apartments 18 months 

 
Other timings 
4.49 The DAT contains other timings that need to be populated. The city council’s 

assumptions in relation to each of these are set out in the table below.  
 
Table 12 – Other development timings 

Stage Timing 

Overall scheme end 
date 

 All typologies: 1 month after the last open market 
sale 
 

First market 
housing sale 

 Family houses typology: 4 months after the start of 
construction 

 Mid density and high density apartment typologies: 
90% of units are reserved off-plan with transactions 
completed on construction finish (remaining 10% 
sold following this). 
 

Last market housing 
sale 

 Family houses typology: 4 months after construction 
end 

 Mid density and high density apartment typologies: 
3 months after construction end 
 

Timing of ground 
rent payment 
(month) 

 Mid density and high density apartment typologies: 
the same as the overall scheme end date (i.e. one 
month after last open market sale) 
 

 
 
Overall surplus/deficit  
 
4.50 The potential surplus/deficit available from a development was calculated by 

deducting total development costs, land acquisition costs, finance costs and 
developer profit from the total gross development sales value. The next 
section of this assessment sets out the results of the viability appraisals. 

 

Page 2340



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  24 

5. Baseline appraisal results 
 
5.1 Having regard to the assumptions set out above, 16 baseline requirements 

were undertaken. Although these baseline appraisals take into account the 
dwelling floorspace requirements of policy H5 of the Revised Daft Local Plan, 
they do not take into account any other policy requirements of the revised 
draft plan or planning obligations / affordable housing. The different appraisals 
are summarised in the table below. 

 
Table 13 – Baseline appraisals undertaken 

Appraisal 
number  

Site size 
(ha) 

Scheme typology Sales value area 

1 0.5 High density apartments Premium 

2 1.0 Mid density apartments Premium 

3 2.0 Family houses Premium 

4 0.5 High density apartments High 

5 1.0 Mid density apartments High 

6 2.0 Family houses High 

7 0.5 High density apartments Mid/high 

8 1.0 Mid density apartments Mid/high 

9 2.0 Family houses Mid/high 

10 0.5 High density apartments Mid 

11 1.0 Mid density apartments Mid 

12 2.0 Family houses Mid 

13 1.0 Mid density apartments Low/mid 

14 2.0 Family houses Low/mid 

15 1.0 Mid density apartments Low  

16 2.0 Family houses Low 

 
5.2 The three scheme typologies were appraised within each of the six residential 

value areas, with the exception of the high density apartment scheme 
typology which was not assessed within the low/mid and low value areas 
recognising that this form of development is not anticipated to come forward 
within these locations.  

 
5.3 A summary of the outputs for each of the baseline appraisals is shown in the 

table below 

Page 2341



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  25 

Table 14 – Findings of baseline appraisals 

Appraisal 
Site 
size 
(ha) 

Sales 
value 
area 

Scheme type 
No. of 
units 

Total capital 
value of 
open market 
housing 

Total capital 
value of 
scheme (A) 

Total direct 
costs (B) 

Finance 
&acquisition 
costs (C) 

Developer 
profit (D) 

Surplus/deficit 
at completion 
= A – 
(B+C+D) 

Surplus / 
deficit per 
dwelling 

1 0.5 Premium High density 
apartments 

150 £30,730,900 £31,630,900 £20,030,959 £1,502,534 £5,531,562 £4,565,845 £30,439 

2 1 Premium Mid density 
apartments 

125 £25,620,700 £25,995,700 £10,965,482 £1,275,926 £4,611,726 £9,142,556 £73,140 

3 2 Premium Family houses 70 £26,798,800 £26,798,800 £9,597,438 £1,624,957 £4,823,784 £10,752,620 £153,609 

4 0.5 High High density 
apartments 

150 £25,307,800 £26,207,800 £19,868,266 £1,535,015 £4,555,404 £249,114 £1,661 

5 1 High Mid density 
apartments 

125 £21,099,400 £21,474,400 £10,829,843 £1,288,247 £3,797,892 £5,558,417 £4,467 

6 2 High Family houses 70 £22,069,600 £22,069,600 £9,455,562 £1,638,555 £3,972,528 £7,002,954 £100,042 

7 0.5 Mid/high High density 
apartments 

150 £22,596,250 £23,496,250 £19,786,920 £1,486,802 £4,067,325 -£1,844,797 -£12,826 

8 1 Mid/high Mid density 
apartments 

125 £18,838,750 £19,213,750 £10,762,024 £1,154,640 £3,390,975 £3,906,111 £31,249 

9 2 Mid/high Family houses 75 £19,802,500 £19,802,500 £9,431,059 £1,699,733 £3,564,450 £5,107,257 £68,097 

10 0.5 Mid High density 
apartments 

150 £18,224,355 £20,784,700 £19,705,573 £1,525,991 £3,579,246 -£4,026,110 -£26,841 

11 1 Mid Mid density 
apartments 

125 £16,578,100 £16,953,100 £10,694,204 £1,163,309 £2,984,058 £2,111,529 £16,892 

12 2 Mid Family houses 80 £18,000,400 £18,000,400 £9,668,178 £1,734,003 £3,240,072 £3,358,147 £41,977 

13 1 Low/mid Mid density 
apartments 

125 £15,071,000 £15,446,000 £10,648,991 £1,078,236 £2,712,780 £1,005,993 £8,048 

14 2 Low/mid Family houses 100 £17,565,000 £17,565,000 £10,325,058 £1,223,397 £3,161,700 £2,854,844 £28,548 

15 1 Low Mid density 
apartments 

125 £13,563,900 £13,938,900 £10,603,778 £1,004,580 £2,441,502 -£110,961 -£888 

16 2 Low Family houses 100 £15,808,500 £15,808,500 £10,272,363 £1,076,113 £2,845,530 £1,614,494 £16,144 

 

P
age 2342



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  26 

 

6. Impact of policy requirements and non-affordable housing 
planning obligation requirements on viability 

 
6.1 As noted above, the appraisals were run with land values and developer profit 

as an input, and therefore the output from the model is the surplus/deficit 
(after land costs and developer profit have been deducted) which would be 
available to support policy requirements, and planning obligations including 
affordable housing.  

 
6.2 The cost implication of the policy requirements and non-affordable housing 

planning obligations were then added into the baseline appraisals. These cost 
assumptions are set out below.  

 
Accessible and adaptable homes 

 
6.3 Policy D7 of the Revised Daft Local Plan requires that all new homes are built 

to the national accessible and adaptable dwelling standards under optional 
requirement M4(2) of the Building Regulations. A review of the cost of meeting 
the requirement was undertaken by EC Harris on behalf of DCLG;25 the report 
estimates the extra cost of providing accessible and adaptable dwellings over 
current industry practice26. The provenance of these figures has not been re-
examined which is beyond the scope of this assessment. There is no obvious 
reason to question their continued soundness and the council are not aware 
of any changes in practice that will have materially changed the cost basis of 
the figures (either higher or lower). The costs are summarised in the table 
below: 
 

Table 15 – Accessible and adaptable home costs per dwelling by type 

Dwelling type Costs 

1 bed apartment £940 

2 bed apartment £907 

2 bed terrace £523 

3 bed semi-detached £521 

4 bed detached £520 

 
6.4 The above costs were taken into account in calculating the overall costs of 

providing homes to the accessible and adaptable standards for each of the 
dwelling types that appear in the appraisals as follows: 
 

Table 16 – Accessible and adaptable homes costs assumed in viability assessments 
by dwelling type  

Dwelling type  Cost applied to each 
dwelling type / size 

1 bed apartment £940 

2 bed apartment £907 

                                                 
25 “Housing standards review: cost impacts” EC Harris (September 2014) 
26 Ibid. Table 45: Access costs summary 

Page 2343

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/353387/021c_Cost_Report_11th_Sept_2014_FINAL.pdf


 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  27 

3 bed apartment £907 

2 bed semi-detached house £523 

3 bed townhouse £523 

4 bed townhouse £523 

4 bed detached house £520 

5 bed detached house £520 

  
6.5 Applying the costs per dwelling identified above to the scheme typology 

dwelling mix shown in table 1 above, the following costs were factored into the 
city council’s assessments27: 
 

Table 17 – Accessible and adaptable homes costs for each scheme typology 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Total cost of complying with 
M4(2) accessible and 
adaptable standard 

Family houses  Premium and high £36,424 

Family houses Mid/high £39,039 

Family houses Mid £41,675 

Family houses Low/mid and low £52,253 

Mid density apartments  All areas £115,025 

High density apartments All areas £138,030 

 
Electric Vehicle Charging points 
 
6.6 Policy A11 of the Revised Daft Local Plan requires that: 
 

“Every new residential dwelling with a garage or driveway shall include a 
dedicated charge point specifically designed for charging all types of electric 
vehicle. Where a residential dwelling has more than one parking space within 
a garage or driveway, the charge point shall be located so that it can be 
accessed by a vehicle parked in any of the spaces.” 

 
6.7 Given this it is considered that a cost should be attributed to this policy 

requirement for all houses within the family houses typology within this 
assessment. A literature review of other area-wide viability assessments 
shows that the cost per house for a charging point ranges from £100 to 
£1,500. In one assessment no specific additional cost was made with this 
being captured within the external development allowances. Further details 
are set out at Annex E.  

 
6.8 Having regard to the information in Annex E an allowance of £500 per house 

was made for an electric vehicle charging point. Taking this into account the 
following costs were factored into the city council’s assessments.  
 

 Table 18 – Electric vehicle costs for each typology and value area 

                                                 
27 For the purposes of this assessment the EC Harris costs for a terrace dwelling were applied to the 
townhouse dwelling type, whilst the costs for a 2 bed apartment were also applied to the provision of 
3 bed apartments.  

Page 2344



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  28 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Total cost of providing electric 
vehicle charging points 

Family houses  Premium and high £35,000 

Family houses Mid/high £37,500 

Family houses Mid £40,000 

Family houses Low/mid and low £50,000 

Mid density apartments  All areas Not applicable 

High density apartments All areas Not applicable 

 
Sustainable energy in new developments 
 
6.9 Criterion A) of policy EG1 (and policy D7) of the Revised Daft Local Plan 

requires that new build residential schemes shall exceed the fabric energy 
efficiency required under Part L of the Building Regulations by at least 19%, 
and achieve a higher standard than is required under any subsequent revision 
to building regulations. 

 
6.10 The above requirement would apply to all dwellings, not just houses. 

Therefore it is considered necessary to factor in a cost for sustainable energy 
in all of the typologies considered within this assessment. With regards to this, 
the UK Green Build Council (UKGBC)28 states the following: 
 
“A 19% improvement beyond Part L 2013 can be achieved entirely through 
energy efficiency measures (enhanced insulation, glazing, airtightness and 
high efficiency heating and hot water heat recovery). Our discussions suggest 
that developers feel this approach might cost between £2-3k for a mid or end 
terraced home up to £5-6k for a detached house. However, for those building 
to the Part L 2013 notional specification it is possible to achieve a 19% 
improvement through the use of photovoltaics (PV) or other renewables. A 
terraced would need around 0.8 kWp of PV with a detached house needing 
perhaps 1.2 kWp (depending on floor area). The capital costs of adopting a 
renewables based strategy are likely to be c.£1,500-£2,000 per home.” 

 
6.11 With regards to these costs, the UKGBC goes on to state that: 
 
 “We do not believe this will impede housing delivery. A modest increase to 

build costs can be factored into the cost of land acquisition and/or minimised if 
not entirely eliminated over time through supply chain innovation and 
efficiencies. Developers already exceeding the baseline requirements 
recommended simply see this as the cost of doing business.” 

 
6.12 The UKGBC also notes that there are various studies that can be utilised in 

considering costs, although most are a few years old given that they relate to 
previous policy commitments by central government. They go on to also state 
that LAs can use existing resources produced by other LAs on viability.  
 

                                                 
28 UK Green Build Council (Version 1.1: July 2018) Delivering sustainability in new homes: a resource 
for local authorities  
 

Page 2345



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  29 

6.13 A review of the studies and resources highlighted by the UKGBC shows that 
Brighton and Hove Council made an allowance of £220 per dwelling29.  
Alternatively an extra over costs equivalent to 2% of build costs was assumed 
by Havant Borough Council30, whilst an extra over cost equivalent figure to of 
3.14% of build costs was applied by Guildford Borough Council31. 
 

6.14 Having regard to all of the above it is clear that estimated the costs of a 19% 
improvement beyond Part L of the 2013 building regulations for energy 
efficiency varies significantly. For the purposes of this assessment it has been 
assumed that the cost will be an extra over cost equivalent to 2% of build 
costs for all dwellings. This is lower than the UKGBC estimate for achieving 
the standard through fabric efficiency, although higher than the figure used by 
Brighton and Hove Council in support of their adopted local plan policy CP8. 
In setting an appropriate assumption, regard has also been had to the advice 
of the UKGBC with regards to the requirement for increased energy efficiency 
not impeding delivery as it can be factored into land acquisition costs and can 
be minimised / entirely eliminated over time due to supply chain innovation 
and efficiencies.    
 

6.15 Taking into account the 2% of build cost estimate for sustainable energy in 
new developments, the following costs were factored into the city council’s 
assessments. 
 

Table 19 – Sustainable energy costs for each scheme typology and value area 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Total cost of sustainable 
energy measures 

Family houses  Premium and high £162,842 

Family houses Mid/high £163,297 

Family houses Mid £168,482 

Family houses Low/mid and low £181,457 

Mid density apartments  All areas £188,497 

High density apartments All areas £353,879 

 
Allotments 
 

                                                 
29 Element Energy Limited and David Langdon (August-September 2013) Costs of building to the 
Code for Sustainable Homes. Prepared for Bath and North East Somerset Council, Brighton and 
Hove Council, Bristol City Council, Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council.  
 
30 DSP (November 2017) Havant Borough Council Local Plan and CIL viability study draft report. 
Appendix I states that the 2% figure is derived as follows: “The above costs are based on the DCLG 
Housing Standards Review Impact Assessment costings assuming equivalent CfSH L4 energy costs 
only base. Appraisals assume cost uplift in line with figures above assuming average cost uplift from 
each unit type (£1,932 per unit average, equating to the 2% assumed above).” 
 
31 Porter Planning Economics Ltd (November 2017) Guildford Local Plan viability update. Para 4.13 of 
this study notes that a report by Evora Edge on behalf of Guildford Borough Council identified that he 
average increase in build costs, to improve a Part L compliant building so that it complies with 
proposed Policy D2, is between 2.62% and 3.14%. For the revised testing, the upper (worst case) 
extra-over cost of 3.14% is applied. This cost relates to a 20% improvement over part L.  

Page 2346



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  30 

6.16 Criterion 5 of policy R2 of the Revised Daft Local Plan states that new 
residential developments shall contribute to the achievement of a minimum of 
5,000m² (or 0.50 hectares) of allotments per 1,000 households, with each new 
plot being 125sqm in size to enable as many residents as possible to take on 
an allotment. The policy also requires that the management and maintenance 
of the allotments shall be provided for a period of at least 20 years.  
 

6.17 The cost of creating each individual plots will vary depending on the specific 
site conditions, previous uses and its location. Typical costs tend to include 
significant clearance, excavation to a depth of 600mm, and the importation of 
new topsoil. In addition to these costs the new local standard expects the 
plots to include appropriate access (via footpath as a minimum), car parking 
(depending on the site / location) and access to water. 
 

6.18 Actual costs from a limited number of recent allotment schemes that have 
been delivered in Salford have been provided by the city council’s 
environment and regeneration sections for the purposes of this assessment. 
This shows a typical cost of £6,562 per 125sqm plot. Having regard to this 
and the requirement of Revised Daft Local Plan policy R4, would result in a 
cost of £262 per dwelling for allotments32. Taking this into account the 
following costs were factored into the city council’s assessments. 
 

Table 20 – Allotment costs for each scheme typology by value area 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Allotment costs 

Family houses  Premium and high £18,340 

Family houses Mid/high £19,650 

Family houses Mid £20,960 

Family houses Low/mid and low £26,200 

Mid density apartments  All areas £32,750 

High density apartments All areas £39,300 

 
Non affordable housing planning obligations 

6.19 The city council adopted its Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) on 18 June 201533. The SPD sets out that contributions to 
open space and education will be sought using set formulas. Current costs, 
and also an explanation as to how they have been derived, are set out in a 
document that was published by the city council in March 201834. The costs 
are set out below. 

 
Table 21 – Open space and education planning obligations 

 Open space contribution 
(policy OB2) 

Education contribution (policy OB3) 

Houses £1,555 per bed space A £1,132.45 per non principal bedroom B 

Apartments £1,123 per bed space A Nil 

                                                 
32 This is calculated by multiplying the cost per plot of £6,562 by 40 (number of plots required) and 
then dividing this by 1,000 (requirement per households). 
33 Salford City Council (June 2015) Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document 
34 Salford City Council (March 2018) Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document: 
background document on cost updates 

Page 2347



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  31 

 
A - A bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms within a dwelling plus one  
B - The number of non-principal bedrooms is the total number of bedrooms within a house, 
minus one. 

 
6.20 The SPD also sets out that the council will seek contributions towards 

transport and public realm on a site specific basis. It goes on to clarify that 
“site specific means that the council may require a contribution to mitigate the 
impact of the development, and the appropriate scale of any contribution will 
be negotiated having regard to site-specific circumstances. Having regard to 
the scale of contributions sought from applicants as part of the planning 
application process, the following costs have been assumed for the purposes 
of this assessment.  

 
Table 22 – Transport and public realm planning obligations 

 Transport Public realm 

Houses £200 per bed space No allowance sought as contribution will 
not be sought in all instances 

Apartments £200 per bedspace £550 per dwelling 

 
6.21 Taking the above into account the following costs were factored into the city 

council’s assessments for planning obligations.  
 
Table 23 - Total planning obligations costs for each scheme typology by value area 

Scheme typology Value area(s) Open 
space 

Education Transport Public 
realm 

Family houses  Premium and 
high 

£522,480 £221,960 £67,200 n/a 

Family houses Mid/high £519,370 £208,371 £66,800 n/a 

Family houses Mid £522,480 £199,311 £67,200 n/a 

Family houses Low/mid and 
low 

£583,125 £198,179 £75,000 n/a 

Mid density 
apartments  

All areas £371,713 n/a £66,200 £182,050 

High density 
apartments 

All areas £445,831 n/a £79,400 £218,350 

 
Total cost of policy requirements / planning obligations 
 
6.22 Annex F summarises the costs for each of the 16 appraisals of the above 

Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and also the non-affordable 
housing planning obligations as set out within the city council’s adopted 
planning obligations supplementary planning document.  

 
Impact of policy requirements and non-affordable housing planning 
obligations on viability 
 
6.23 Taking the baseline appraisal results from section 5 of this assessment, the 

Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and non-affordable housing 
planning obligations costs set out at Annex F were inputted into the 

Page 2348



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  32 

appraisals. The DAT required that payment start and payment end dates were 
entered, with the assumption being that the cash flow is ‘flat lined’ between 
start and end dates. Having regard to this, the following assumptions were 
made: 

 

 Policy requirements (accessible and adaptable homes, electric vehicle 
charging, and energy efficiency) payment start and end date was the same 
as the overall period of construction for all of the appraisals 

 Planning obligations (open space, education, transport and public realm) 
and allotment payment start and end date was different for the houses and 
apartment typologies. For the houses typology the start date was the same 
as the first open market sale with the end of payments being 75% into the 
construction period. For the apartment typologies payment start date was 
at construction start with the final payment being at 90% of the 
construction period.   

 
6.24 The above assumptions are considered to represent an appropriate proxy for 

an approach that allows phased payment of contributions.  
 
6.25 The table below shows the surplus/deficit at completion for the 16 baseline 

appraisals, and also shows the impact that policy requirements of the revised 
draft plan and non-affordable housing planning obligations has on this when 
run through the DAT taking into account cashflow associated with the timings 
of the payments.  
 

Table 24 – Surplus/deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and 
planning obligations 

Appraisal 
Site 
size 
(ha) 

Sales 
value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. 
of 

units 

Baseline 
surplus/deficit 
at completion 

Policy 
requirements 

and 
obligations 

value 

Surplus/deficit 
at completion 
with policy 
and planning 
obligations 

G1 0.5 Premium High 
density 
apartments 

150 £4,565,845 £1,274,790 £3,210,444 

G2 1 Premium Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £9,142,556 £936,220 £8,163,638 

G3 2 Premium Family 
houses 

70 £10,752,620 £1,064,246 £9,682,955 

G4 0.5 High High 
density 
apartments 

150 £249,114 £1,274,790 -£1,119,384 

G5 1 High Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £5,558,417 £956,712 £4,550,727 

G6 2 High Family 
houses 

70 £7,002,954 £1,064,246 £5,928,944 

G7 0.5 Mid/high High 
density 
apartments 

150 -£1,844,797 £1,274,790 -£3,214,659 

G8 1 Mid/high Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £3,906,111 £956,712 £2,898,420 

Page 2349



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  33 

Appraisal 
Site 
size 
(ha) 

Sales 
value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. 
of 

units 

Baseline 
surplus/deficit 
at completion 

Policy 
requirements 

and 
obligations 

value 

Surplus/deficit 
at completion 
with policy 
and planning 
obligations 

G9 2 Mid/high Family 
houses 

75 £5,107,257 £1,054,026 £3,858,559 

G10 0.5 Mid High 
density 
apartments 

150 -£4,026,110 £1,274,790 -£5,403,018 

G11 1 Mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £2,111,529 £956,712 £1,105,791 

G12 2 Mid Family 
houses 

80 £3,358,147 £1,060,109 £2,233,924 

G13 1 Low/mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £1,005,993 £956,712 -£4,511 

G14 2 Low/mid Family 
houses 

100 £2,854,844 £1,166,213 £1,662,266 

G15 1 Low Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 -£110,961 £956,712 -£1,128,340 

G16 2 Low Family 
houses 

100 £1,641,494 £1,166,213 £405,770 

 
Copies of appraisals 
 
6.26 Full copies of the appraisals outline in table 24 above are attached at Annex 

G.  
 

Page 2350



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  34 

7.  Impact of affordable housing requirements on viability 
 
7.1 The implications of providing affordable housing on viability, after other 

obligations and policy requirements of the Revised Daft Local Plan are taken 
into account, is considered further below.  

 
Preferred tenure mix  
 
7.2 The tenure of affordable housing has a significant bearing on scheme viability, 

given that the subsidy required for social rented and affordable rented 
dwellings is much more substantive than that for affordable home ownership 
dwellings. For the purposes of estimating the viability of schemes as part of 
this assessment, it is necessary to determine the tenure mix of the affordable 
housing to be provided.  

 
7.3 The 2018 NPPF glossary states that affordable housing is housing for sale or 

rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including housing that 
provides a subsidised route to home ownership and / or is essential for local 
workers). It goes on to state that this should be: 

 
a)  Affordable housing for rent (social rent, affordable rent and affordable 

private rent) 
b) Starter homes 
c) Discounted market sales housing 
d) Other affordable (shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low 

costs homes for sale and rent to buy)  
 
7.4 If the city council were seeking to maximise the delivery of affordable housing 

purely in terms of total numbers, then it would seek to ensure that all 
affordable dwellings secured are for a subsidised route to home ownership 
(as the subsidy required is much less than for social and affordable rented 
dwellings). However, the city council consider it appropriate to seek a high 
proportion of social rented and affordable rented dwellings through planning 
obligations, given evidence of housing need. Also having regard to need and 
levels of incomes, it is considered that seeking shared ownership dwellings is 
the preferred product for those requiring a subsidised route to home 
ownership. The implication of specifically requiring a high proportion of rented 
and shared ownership dwellings is that fewer affordable dwellings will be 
delivered than potentially could be (for example if starter homes were 
provided instead), but overall it should help to ensure that a good mix of 
affordable dwellings come forward that best meets need.  

 
7.5 Having regard to this, the table below sets out the different tenure mixes used 

in the appraisals for the different residential value areas.  
 

Table 25 – Affordable housing tenure mix by value area 

Value area Typical 
value per 
sqm 

% social rented % affordable rent % shared 
ownership 

Premium £3,400 37.5% 37.5% 25% 

Page 2351



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  35 

High £2,800 37.5% 37.5% 25% 

Mid/high £2,500 37.5% 37.5% 25% 

Mid £2,200 25% 25% 50% 

Low/mid £2,000 25% 25% 50% 

Low £1,800 12.5% 12.5% 75% 

 
7.6 The tenure mixes above were primarily derived from a range of housing and 

other socio-economic data including the 2011 Census; the findings of both the 
Salford and the Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market Assessments 
and evidence of the need for affordable housing; the objectives of securing 
mixed communities and greater diversity in the stock; and the longer term 
sustainability of neighbourhoods. Regard has also been had to policy H1 of 
the Revised Daft Local Plan which requires that a key component of the 
spatial strategy for housing in Salford is to deliver a good supply and a 
balanced mix of new dwellings across the city and within individual 
developments, in terms of tenure and affordability. 

 
Developer contribution / subsidy 
 
7.7 In order to determine what each notional scheme can support in terms of 

affordable housing, it was necessary to calculate the cost to the developer of 
having to provide affordable housing as part of their schemes.  
 

7.8 To secure the involvement of a registered provider to manage affordable 
housing, a developer will normally have to provide dwellings to them at a 
discount from open market value. The discount off open market value will 
inevitably differ on a scheme by scheme basis, but acknowledging the recent 
delivery of affordable housing in the city and information supplied by 
registered providers active in the Salford, it was considered that an 
appropriate discount off open market value is 60% for social rented, 50% for 
affordable rented and 40% for shared ownership dwellings.  
 

7.9 An output from the viability assessment is the total capital value of market 
housing. It was therefore possible to calculate the average sales value of 
each dwelling under the different appraisals, and then apply the discounts off 
open market value referred to above in order to determine the discount a 
registered provider needs in order to take on the management of affordable 
dwellings. 
 

Table 26 – Discount off open market value required by registered provider by tenure 
per dwelling 

Appr-
aisal  

Value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. of 
units 

Total capital 
value of 
open market 
housing 

Average 
dwelling 
sale price 
(capital 
value / 
dwellings) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per social 
rent unit 
(60% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per 
affordable 
rent unit 
(50% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per shared 
ownership 
unit (40% 
discount 
per unit) 

1 Premium High 
density 
apartments 

150 £30,730,900 £204,873 £122,924 £102,436 £81,949 

Page 2352



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  36 

Appr-
aisal  

Value 
area 

Scheme 
type 

No. of 
units 

Total capital 
value of 
open market 
housing 

Average 
dwelling 
sale price 
(capital 
value / 
dwellings) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per social 
rent unit 
(60% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per 
affordable 
rent unit 
(50% 
discount 
per unit) 

Discount 
RP needs 
per shared 
ownership 
unit (40% 
discount 
per unit) 

2 Premium Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £25,620,700 £204,966 £122,979 £102,483 £81,986 

3 Premium Houses 70 £26,798,800 £382,840 £229,704 £191,420 £153,136 

4 High High 
density 
apartments 

150 £25,307,800 £168,719 £101,231 £84,359 £67,487 

5 High Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £21,099,400 £168,795 £101,277 £84,398 £67,518 

6 High Houses 70 £22,069,600 £315,280 £189,168 £157,640 £126,112 

7 Mid/high High 
density 
apartments 

150 £22,596,250 £150,642 £90,385 £75,321 £60,257 

8 Mid/high Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £18,838,750 £150,710 £90,426 £75,355 £60,284 

9 Mid/high Houses 75 £19,802,500 £264,033 £158,420 £132,017 £105,613 

10 Mid High 
density 
apartments 

150 £18,224,355 £121,496 £72,897 £60,748 £48,598 

11 Mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £16,578,100 £132,625 £79,575 £66,312 £53,050 

12 Mid Houses 80 £18,000,400 £225,005 £135,003 £112,503 £90,002 

13 Low/mid Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £15,071,000 £120,568 £72,341 £60,284 £48,227 

14 Low/mid Houses 100 £17,565,000 £175,650 £105,390 £87,825 £70,260 

15 Low Mid 
density 
apartments 

125 £13,563,900 £108,511 £65,107 £54,256 £43,404 

16 Low Houses 100 £15,808,500 £158,085 £94,851 £79,043 £63,234 

 
7.10 Taking account of the discount that registered providers need in order to 

acquire dwellings for affordable housing, the table below shows the total 
estimated cost to a developer of having to provide affordable housing. This is 
based on between 5% and 50% of the total dwellings in a scheme being 
affordable (at 5% intervals), whilst having regard to the different tenure splits 
in the different value areas as shown in table 25 above. 

 

Page 2353



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  37 

Table 27 – Cost to a developer of providing affordable housing to a registered provider 
      Total discount required to allow RP to purchase units 

Value area / tenure 
mix 

Appraisal Scheme 
type 

50% 
affordable 

45% 
affordable 

40% 
affordable 

35% 
affordable 

 30% 
affordable 

25% 
affordable 

20% 
affordable 

15% 
affordable 

10% 
affordable 

5% 
affordable 

Premium value 
areas (37.5% social 
rent, 37.5% 
affordable rent, 25% 
shared ownership) 

1 High density 
apartments 

£7,874,793 £7,087,314 £6,299,835 £5,512,355 £4,724,876 £3,937,397 £3,149,917 £2,362,438 £1,574,959 £787,479 

2 Mid density 
apartments 

£6,565,304 £5,908,774 £5,252,244 £4,595,713 £3,939,183 £3,282,652 £2,626,122 £1,969,591 £1,313,061 £656,530 

3 Houses £6,867,193 £6,180,473 £5,493,754 £4,807,035 £4,120,316 £3,433,596 £2,746,877 £2,060,158 £1,373,439 £686,719 

High value areas 
(37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent, 25% shared 
ownership) 

4 High density 
apartments 

£6,485,124 £5,836,611 £5,188,099 £4,539,587 £3,891,074 £3,242,562 £2,594,050 £1,945,537 £1,297,025 £648,512 

5 Mid density 
apartments 

£5,406,721 £4,866,049 £4,325,377 £3,784,705 £3,244,033 £2,703,361 £2,162,689 £1,622,016 £1,081,344 £540,672 

6 Houses £5,655,335 £5,089,802 £4,524,268 £3,958,735 £3,393,201 £2,827,668 £2,262,134 £1,696,601 £1,131,067 £565,534 

Mid/high value 
areas (37.5% social 
rent, 37.5% 
affordable rent, 25% 
shared ownership) 

7 High density 
apartments 

£5,790,289 £5,211,260 £4,632,231 £4,053,202 £3,474,173 £2,895,145 £2,316,116 £1,737,087 £1,158,058 £579,029 

8 Mid density 
apartments 

£4,827,430 £4,344,687 £3,861,944 £3,379,201 £2,896,458 £2,413,715 £1,930,972 £1,448,229 £965,486 £482,743 

9 Houses £5,074,391 £4,566,952 £4,059,513 £3,552,073 £3,044,634 £2,537,195 £2,029,756 £1,522,317 £1,014,878 £507,439 

Mid value areas 
(25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership) 

10 High density 
apartments 

£4,669,991 £3,895,456 £3,462,627 £3,029,799 £2,596,971 £2,164,142 £1,731,314 £1,298,485 £865,657 £432,828 

11 Mid density 
apartments 

£4,248,138 £3,543,569 £3,149,839 £2,756,109 £2,362,379 £1,968,649 £1,574,920 £1,181,190 £787,460 £393,730 

12 Houses £4,612,603 £3,847,586 £3,420,076 £2,992,567 £2,565,057 £2,137,548 £1,710,038 £1,282,529 £855,019 £427,510 

Mid/low value areas 
(25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership)  

13 Mid density 
apartments 

£3,861,944 £3,221,426 £2,863,490 £2,505,554 £2,147,618 £1,789,681 £1,431,745 £1,073,809 £715,873 £357,936 

14 Houses £4,501,031 £3,754,519 £3,337,350 £2,920,181 £2,503,013 £2,085,844 £1,668,675 £1,251,506 £834,338 £417,169 

Low value areas 
(12.5% social rent, 
12.5% affordable 
rent, 50% shared 
ownership) 

15 Mid density 
apartments 

£3,475,749 £2,670,393 £2,373,683 £2,076,972 £1,780,262 £1,483,552 £1,186,841 £890,131 £593,421 £296,710 

16 Houses £4,050,928 £3,112,298 £2,766,488 £2,420,677 £2,074,866 £1,729,055 £1,383,244 £1,037,433 £691,622 £345,811 

 
 

P
age 2354



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  38 

 
7.11 The cost of a developer providing affordable housing under each scenario 

above was inputted into the appraisals. The starting point for this process was 
the surplus / deficit at completion shown in table 24, which takes into account   
allowances for policy requirements and planning obligation contributions.  

 
7.12 It was assumed that the affordable housing is provided on-site and that it is 

phased throughout the whole of the build period. Given that the HCA DAT 
requires that payment start date and end date are entered (i.e. the period 
when the affordable housing is built), it has been assumed that the costs of 
providing affordable housing for the developer is spread evenly throughout the 
construction period (i.e. the payment start date is the same as the 
construction start date, and the payment end is the same as the construction 
end date).  

 
7.13 The table below shows the implications the provision of affordable housing at 

different proportions has on scheme viability. Appraisals have not been run for 
each scenario towards the higher end of the requirement range where it is 
clearly not viable at the lower requirements.  
 

 

Page 2355



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  39 

Table 28 – Implications of providing different levels of affordable housing by value area and typology 
Value area / 
tenure mix 

Ap
pra
isal 

Scheme type 50% 
affordable 

45% 
affordable 

40% 
affordable 

35% 
affordable 

30% 
affordable 

25% 
affordable 

20% 
affordable 

15% 
affordable 

10% 
affordable 

5% 
affordable 

Premium value 
areas (37.5% 
social rent, 
37.5% 
affordable rent, 
25% shared 
ownership) 

1 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£987,735 -£144,308 £695,459 £1,534,471 £2,373,484 

2 Mid density 
apartments 

£1,310,621 £1,997,362 £2,682,506 £3,367,651 £4,052,795 £4,737,939 £5,423,083 £6,108,228 £6,793,372 £7,478,517 

3 Family 
houses 

£2,699,054 £3,405,273 £4,108,838 £4,810,269 £5,510,049 £6,207,829 £6,904,668 £7,600,565 £8,295,288 £8,989,503 

High value 
areas (37.5% 
social rent, 
37.5% 
affordable rent, 
25% shared 
ownership) 

4 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£2,508,557 -£1,813,970 

5 Mid density 
apartments 

  n/a -£580,491 -£6,017 £565,483 £1,136,951 £1,708,342 £2,276,818 £2,845,296 £3,413,773 £3,982,250 

6 Family 
houses 

£108,674 £703,699 £1,294,312 £1,881,597 £2,465,476 £3,046,852 £3,626,156 £4,203,809 £4,780,099 £5,354,853 

Mid/high value 
areas (37.5% 
social rent, 
37.5% 
affordable rent, 
25% shared 
ownership) 

7 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£4,461,518 -£3,838,088 

8 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a -£669,678 -£156,754 £354,306 £864,545 £1,374,785 £1,883,283 £2,390,852 

9 Family 
houses 

  n/a -£1,020,659 -£471,713 £75,810 £620,501 £1,162,701 £1,704,901 £2,245,408 £2,784,770 £3,321,909 

Mid value areas 
(25% social rent, 
25% affordable 
rent, 50% 
shared 
ownership) 

10 High density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£6,335,055 -£5,869,036 

11 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£561,771 -£143,428 £273,479 £689,635 

12 Family 
houses 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£505,111 -£44,680 £413,575 £869,658 £1,325,283 £1,780,595 

Mid/low value 
areas (25% 
social rent, 25% 
affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership)  

13 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£765,140 -£384,825 

14 Family 
houses 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£526,203 -£79,297 £361,395 £798,046 £1,231,399 

Low value areas 
(12.5% social 
rent, 12.5% 
affordable rent, 
50% shared 
ownership) 

15 Mid density 
apartments 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£1,753,993 -£1,441,166 

16 Family 
houses 

 n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a -£700,645 -£327,681 £41,359 

 

P
age 2356



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  40 

8. Potential affordable housing requirements based on viability 
and conclusions 

 
8.1 Table 28 above shows the typical surplus/deficit once affordable housing 

provision at different levels is taken into account (and also including the costs 
of the Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements and planning obligations). 
It is clear that there is differing viability across the residential value areas. 
Moreover, there are also significant differences in the viability by scheme 
typology (i.e. between high density apartments, mid density apartments and 
family houses). 

 
Premium value area 
8.2 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

premium value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable rent and 
25% shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 29 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the premium value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H1) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H2) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H3) 

50%  £1,310,621 £2,699,054 

45%   £1,997,362 £3,405,273 

40%  £2,682,506 £4,810,269 

35%  £3,367,651 £4,810,269 

30%  £4,052,795 £5,510,049 

25% -£987,735 £4,737,939 £6,207,829 

20% -£144,308 £5,423,083 £6,904,668 

15% £695,459 £6,108,228 £7,600,656 

10% £1,534,471 £6,793,372 £8,295,288 

5% £2,373,484 £7,478,517 £8,989,503 

 
High value area 
8.3 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the high 

value area with different proportions of affordable housing, comprised of a 
tenure mix of 37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable rent and 25% shared 
ownership tenure. 

 
Table 30 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the high value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H4) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H5) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H6) 

50%   £108,674 

45%   -£580,491 £703,699 

40%  -£6,017 £1,294,312 

Page 2357



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  41 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H4) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H5) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H6) 

35%  £565,483 £1,881,597 

30%  £1,136,951 £2,465,476 

25%  £1,708,342 £3,046,852 

20%  £2,276,818 £3,626,156 

15%  £2,845,296 £4,203,809 

10% -£2,508,557 £3,413,773 £4,780,099 

5% -£1,813,970 £3,982,250 £5,354,853 

 
Mid/high value area 
8.4 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 37.5% social rent, 37.5% affordable rent and 
25% shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 31 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the mid/high value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H7) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H8) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H9) 

45%    -£1,020,659 

40%   -£471,713 

35%  -£669,678 £75,810 

30%  -£156,754 £620,501 

25%  £354,306 £1,162,701 

20%  £864,545 £1,704,901 

15%  £1,374,785 £2,245,408 

10% -£4,461,518 £1,883,283 £2,784,770 

5% -£3,838,088 £2,390,852 £3,321,909 

 
Mid value area 
8.5 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 25% social rent, 25% affordable rent and 50% 
shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 32 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the mid value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H10) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H11) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H12) 

30%   -£505,111 

25%   -£44,680 

20%  -£561,771 £413,575 

Page 2358



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  42 

Affordable 
requirement 

High density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H10) 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H11) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H12) 

15%  -£143,428 £869,658 

10% -£6,335,055 £237,479 £1,325,283 

5% -£5,869,036 £689,635 £1,780,595 

 
Low/mid value areas 
8.6 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 25% social rent, 25% affordable rent and 50% 
shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 33 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the low/mid value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal H13) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal H14) 

30%   

25%  -£526,203 

20%  -£79,297 

15%  £361,395 

10% -£765,140 £798,046 

5% -£384,825 £1,231,399 

 
Low value areas 
8.7 The table below sets out the surplus/deficit at scheme completion in the 

mid/high value area with different proportions of affordable housing, 
comprised of a tenure mix of 12.5% social rent, 12.5% affordable rent and 
75% shared ownership tenure. 

 
Table 34 – Surplus deficit with Revised Daft Local Plan policy requirements, planning 
obligations and affordable housing in the low value areas 

Affordable 
requirement 

Mid density 
apartments 
typology 
(appraisal 15) 

Family houses 
typology 
 
(appraisal 16) 

15%  -£700,645 

10% -£1,753,993 -£327,681 

5% -£1,441,166 £41,359 

 
 
Potential affordable housing requirements based only on evidence of viability 
 
8.8 Having regard to the above, the table below shows the level of affordable 

housing that could be supported through developer contributions, by the 
different residential value areas and scheme typology. Note that this is based 

Page 2359



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  43 

on a range of assumptions that may vary on individual sites, with some 
developments being more viable and some less viable than indicated in the 
assessment depending on factors such as the specific site characteristics, the 
funding model and tendering process for the development, and the market 
conditions at the time. This variability in viability, both between sites and over 
time, means that it is appropriate that the table below is the starting point 
rather than the only determinant of the affordable housing policy 
 

Table 35 – Potential affordable housing requirements through developer 
contributions 

Appr
aisal 

Sales 
value area 

Typology Potential 
affordable 
housing 
requirement 

Assumed tenure of 
affordable dwellings 

H1 Premium  High density apartments 15% 37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% 
shared ownership  

H2 Mid density apartments 50% 

H3 Family houses 50% 

H4 High  High density apartments 0% 37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% 
shared ownership 

H5 Mid density apartments 35% 

H6 Family houses 50% 

H7 Mid/high High density apartments 0% 37.5% social rent, 
37.5% affordable 
rent and 25% 
shared ownership 

H8 Mid density apartments 25% 

H9 Family houses 35% 

H10 Mid High density apartments 0% 25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent 
and 50% shared 
ownership 

H11 Mid density apartments 10% 

H12 Family houses 20% 

H13 Low/mid Mid density apartments 0% 25% social rent, 
25% affordable rent 
and 50% shared 
ownership 

H14 Family houses 15% 

H15 Low Mid density apartments 0% 12.5% social rent, 
12.5% affordable 
rent and 75% 
shared ownership 

H16 Family houses 5% 

 
8.9 It can be seen that the potential affordable housing requirements based solely 

on an assessment of financial viability range from 0% up to 50% of the total 
dwellings in a development.  
 

8.10 The full appraisals for where affordable housing through a developer 
contribution is estimated to be viable having regard to the assumptions in this 
assessment (H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H14 and H16) are set 
out in Annex H of this assessment.  

 
Conclusions 
 

Page 2360



 
Salford Revised Daft Local Plan: assessment of residential viability (January 2019) 

 

  44 

8.11 In line with the requirements of the NPPF and planning practice guidance, the 
city council has undertaken assessments of the likely economic implications of 
the policy requirements of the Revised Daft Local Plan, planning obligations, 
and affordable housing in new build for sale residential developments. The 
approach taken is considered to provide a broad understanding of viability and 
is proportionate, and will inform the development of policy.  

 
8.12 The assessments have involved inputting a large number of variables into the 

Homes and Communities Agency development appraisal tool in order to 
determine the likely potential surplus/deficit of generic schemes across the 
range of residential value areas. The table above shows the levels of 
affordable housing that could be required by policy, based purely on evidence 
of viability.  

 

Page 2361



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Local Plan 
 
Assessment of residential viability 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEXES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
January 2019 

Page 2363



 

Page 2364



Annex A – Assumed dwelling mix 
 

Scheme 
typology 

Value 
area(s) 

Site 
size 

Total 
number of 
dwellings 

Mix of dwellings 

Family 
houses at 
35 
dwellings 
per hectare 
(dph) 

Premium 
and high 

2ha 70 houses  16 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 5 x 3 bed detached 

 8 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 34 x 4 bed detached 

 7 x 5 bed detached 

Family 
houses at 
37.5 dph 

Mid/high 2ha 75 houses  29 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 12 x 3 bed detached 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 24 x 4 bed detached 

  

Family 
houses at 
40 dph 

Mid 2ha 80 houses  4 x 2 bed terraced 

 20 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 25 x 3 bed detached 

 11 x 3 bed townhouse 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 10 x 4 bed detached 
 

Family 
houses at 
50 dph 

Low/mid 
and low 

2ha 100 houses  35 x 2 bed terraced 

 14 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 41 x 3 bed terraced 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

  

Mid density 
apartments 

All 1ha 125 
apartments 

 50 x 1 bed apartments 

 69 x 2 bed apartments 

 6 x 3 bed apartments 
 

High 
density 
apartments 

All 0.5ha 150 
apartments 

 60x1 bed apartments 

 83x2 bed apartments  

 7 x 3 bed apartments 
 

 
  

Page 2365



 

Page 2366



Annex B – Dwelling floorspace calculations  
 

Property type 
and size 

National space standard 
type (gross internal floor 
area) (A) 

Garage 
allowance (B) 

Total gross 
floor area 

(A+B) 

1 bed 
apartment 

 1 storey dwelling  

 1 bedroom 

 2 bedspaces 
 
 50sqm 

0sqm 50sqm 

2 bed 
apartment 

 1 storey dwelling 

 2 bedrooms 

 Mid point between 3 and 
4 bedspaces 

 
65sqm 

0sqm 65sqm 

3 bed 
apartment 

 1 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 
86sqm 

0sqm 86sqm 

2 bed 
terraced 
house 

 2 storey dwelling 

 2 bedrooms 

 Mid point between 3  
and 4 bedspaces 

 
74.5sqm 

0sqm 74.5sqm 

3 bed semi 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 

93sqm 

0sqm 93sqm 

3 bed 
townhouse 

 3 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 

99sqm 

0sqm 99sqm 

3 bed 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 3 bedrooms 

 5 bedspaces 
 
93sqm 

14sqm 107sqm 

4 bed semi 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 4 bedrooms 

 6 bedspaces 
 
106sqm 

0sqm 106sqm 

Page 2367



Property type 
and size 

National space standard 
type (gross internal floor 
area) (A) 

Garage 
allowance (B) 

Total gross 
floor area 

(A+B) 

4 bed 
detached 

 2 storey dwelling 

 4 bedrooms 

 6 bedspaces 
 

106sqm 

14sqm 120sqm 

5 bed 
detached 
house 

 2 storey dwelling 

 5 bedrooms 

 7 bedspaces 
 
119sqm 

14sqm 133sqm 

 

  

Page 2368



Annex C - Total floorspace by scheme typology 
 

Scheme 
typology / 
value areas 

Total 
dwellings  

Mix of dwellings  Floorspace 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
35dph 
(Premium 
and high 
value areas) 

70 
dwellings 

 16 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 5 x 3 bed detached 

 8 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 34 x 4 bed detached 

 7 x 5 bed detached 

 16 x 93sqm 

 5 x 107sqm 

 25 x 106sqm 

 34 x 120sqm 

 7 x 133sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
7,882 sqm 
 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
37.5dph 
(Mid/high 
value areas) 

75 
dwellings 

 29 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 12 x 3 bed detached 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 24 x 4 bed detached 
 

 29 x 93sqm 

 12 x 107sqm 

 10 x 106sqm 

 24 x 120sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
7,904 sqm 
 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
40dph (Mid 
value areas) 

80 
dwellings 

 4 x 2 bed terraced 

 20 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 25 x 3 bed detached 

 11 x 3 bed townhouse 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 

 10 x 4 bed detached 
 

 4 x 74.5sqm 

 20 x 93sqm 

 25 x 107sqm 

 11 x 99sqm 

 10 x 106sqm 

 10 x 120sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
8,155 sqm 
 

Family 
houses 
scheme at 
50dph 
(Low/mid 
and low 
value areas) 

100 
dwellings 

 35 x 2 bed terraced 

 14 x 3 bed semi-detached 

 41 x 3 bed terraced 

 10 x 4 bed semi-detached 
 

 34 x 74.5sqm 

 14 x 93sqm 

 41 x 93sqm 

 10 x 106sqm 
 
Total gross  
floorspace = 
8783 sqm 
 

Mid density 
apartment 
scheme  
at125dph 

125 
dwellings 

 50 x 1 bed apartments 

 69 x 2 bed apartments 

 6 x 3 bed apartments 
 

 50 x 50sqm 

 68 x 65sqm 

 7 x 86sqm 
 

Page 2369



Scheme 
typology / 
value areas 

Total 
dwellings  

Mix of dwellings  Floorspace 

Total net 
sellable 
floorspace = 
7,541sqm 
 
Divide by 0.85 to 
allow for common 
areas at 15% of 
gross 
 
Total gross 
floorspace = 
8,872sqm 
 

High density 
apartment 
scheme at 
300dph 

150 
dwellings  

 60x1 bed apartments 

 83x2 bed apartments  

 7 x 3 bed apartments 
 

 50 x 50sqm 

 95 x 65sqm 

 5 x 86sqm 
 
Total net 
sellable 
floorspace = 
9,039sqm 
 
Divide by 0.825 to 
allow for common 
areas at 17.5% of 
gross 
 
Total gross 
floorspace = 
10,956 sqm 
 

 

 

  

Page 2370



Annex D – Sales values per square metre 
 
Summary by value area 
 
Sales value area Proper

ty 
sample 
size 

Mean 
property 
value per 
sqm (£) 

Sales value 
area  

Value per 
sqm for 
appraisals(£) 

Agecroft 16 2103 Mid 2200 

Barton and Peel Green 10 2321 Mid 2200 

Boothstown 17 2717 High 2800 

Brindle Heath 10 1916 Low/mid 2000 

Broughton Park 10 2357 Mid/high 2500 

Cadishead 10 2109 Mid 2200 

Chapel Street - outside inner 
relief route 

25 2711 High 2800 

Chapel Street - within inner 
relief route 

86 3468 Premium  3400 

Charlestown 10 2118 Mid 2200 

Claremont 13 2109 Mid 2200 

Eccles 23 2407 Mid/high 2500 

Eccles New Road 19 1721 Low  1800 

Ellesmere Park and Monton 25 2728 High 2800 

Higher Broughton 10 2181 Mid 2200 

Irlam 16 2191 Mid 2200 

Kersal Moor  19 2120 Mid 2200 

Langworthy 23 2258 Mid 2200 

Little Hulton 11 1924 Low/mid 2000 

Lower Broughton 23 2128 Mid 2200 

Lower Kersal 10 1638 Low 1800 

Mid Swinton 25 2130 Mid 2200 

North Swinton and Clifton 19 1992 Low/mid 2000 

North Walkden 41 2187 Mid 2200 

Ordsall 12 2152 Mid 2200 

Ordsall Riverside (including 
Exchange Quay) 

64 2693 High 2800 

Pendleton 12 1973 Low/mid 2000 

Salford Quays 65 3294 Premium 3400 

Seedley 12 2182 Mid 2200 

South Swinton 10 2478 Mid/high 2500 

South Walkden 31 2410 Mid/high 2500 

Trinity 12 2210 Mid 2200 

Winton 20 2422 Mid/high 2500 

Worsley 16 2711 High 2800 

 725    

Page 2371



Schedule of properties

Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Agecroft
10 Banksman Way, Manchester, M27 8WD  240000 03/03/2017 102 14 116 2069 Detached Agecroft
19 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 228995 11/08/2017 107 14 121 1893 Detached Agecroft
2 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 199995 20/10/2017 91 14 105 1905 Detached Agecroft
4 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 209995 29/09/2017 95 14 109 1927 Detached Agecroft
6 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 204995 20/10/2017 88 14 102 2010 Detached Agecroft
8 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 204995 20/10/2017 88 14 102 2010 Detached Agecroft
10 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 164995 27/10/2017 68 0 68 2426 Semi‐detached Agecroft
11 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 169995 28/07/2017 75 0 75 2267 Semi‐detached Agecroft
12 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 164995 13/11/2017 68 0 68 2426 Semi‐detached Agecroft
14 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 174995 10/11/2017 75 0 75 2333 Semi‐detached Agecroft
21 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 174995 09/02/2018 72 0 72 2430 Semi‐detached Agecroft
16 Virginia Drive, Manchester, M27 8BR 174995 10/11/2017 75 0 75 2333 Semi‐detached Agecroft
31 Brattice Drive, Manchester, M27 8WE  195000 26/07/2017 99 0 99 1970 Terraced Agecroft
33 Brattice Drive, Manchester, M27 8WE  160000 23/06/2017 76 0 76 2114 Terraced Agecroft
61 Kilcolby Avenue, Swinton, Manchester, M27 8AD 188500 30/08/2017 108 0 108 1745 Terraced Agecroft
76 Kilcolby Avenue, Swinton, Manchester, M27 8Ae 190000 20/10/2017 106 0 106 1792 Terraced Agecroft
Sample size 16 MEAN 2103

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 persqm

Barton and Peel Green
Apartment 5 Barton Locks, 74 Barton Road, Eccles, Manchester, M30 7AE 114000 25/08/2017 64 0 64 1781 Apartment Barton and Peel Green
8 Langland Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 7NJ 155000 01/02/2017 49 0 49 3163 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
66 Gorton Street, Manchester, M30 7EH  210000 12/07/2017 64 0 64 3281 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
7 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  135000 17/02/2017 54 0 54 2500 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
20 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  130000 17/02/2017 84 0 84 1548 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
24 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  150000 19/05/2017 79 0 79 1899 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
16 Henty Close, Manchester, M30 7ER  139950 24/10/2017 65 0 65 2156 Semi‐detached Barton and Peel Green
30 Thistledown Close, Manchester, M30 7TD  122500 20/02/2017 56 0 56 2180 Terraced Barton and Peel Green
33 Thistledown Close, Manchester, M30 7TD  129000 09/01/2017 60 0 60 2150 Terraced Barton and Peel Green
18 Redmans Close, Manchester, M30 7EL  143000 09/10/2017 56 0 56 2554 Terraced Barton and Peel Green
Sample size 10 MEAN 2321

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Boothstown
5 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  333000 29/09/2017 103 14 117 2846 Detached Boothstown
10 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  379950 30/09/2016 116 14 130 2923 Detached Boothstown
20 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  474950 22/07/2016 145 14 159 2987 Detached Boothstown
30 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  389950 09/09/2016 131 14 145 2689 Detached Boothstown
32 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  549950 30/09/2016 190 14 204 2696 Detached Boothstown
61 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  394950 30/09/2016 131 14 145 2724 Detached Boothstown
26 Boothstown Drive, Manchester, M28 1UF  249000 25/05/2017 76 14 90 2770 Detached Boothstown
37 Boothstown Drive, Manchester, M28 1UF  385000 07/03/2017 123 14 137 2810 Detached Boothstown
76 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  320000 15/08/2017 110 14 124 2581 Detached Boothstown
80 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  345000 03/07/2017 117 14 131 2634 Detached Boothstown
91 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  325000 07/04/2017 100 14 114 2851 Detached Boothstown
43 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  235000 31/03/2017 97 0 97 2423 Semi‐detached Boothstown
22 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  364950 30/09/2016 125 0 125 2920 Semi‐detached Boothstown

P
age 2372



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

26 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  254950 26/08/2016 103 0 103 2475 Semi‐detached Boothstown
57 Malkins Wood Lane, Manchester, M28 1ZQ  254950 30/09/2016 103 0 103 2475 Semi‐detached Boothstown
48 Boothstown Drive, Manchester, M28 1UF  205000 27/04/2017 71 0 71 2887 Semi‐detached Boothstown
20 Highclove Lane, Manchester, M28 1GZ  176500 28/07/2017 71 0 71 2500 Terraced Boothstown
Sample size 17 MEAN 2717

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Brindle Heath
10 Nave Court, Salford, M6 7EF 127500 16/12/2016 59 0 59 2161 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
40 Maurice Street, Salford, M6 7DG  120000 12/05/2017 64 0 64 1875 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
56 Maurice Street, Salford, M6 7DG  136000 24/08/2017 65 0 65 2092 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
49 Brindleheath Road, Salford, M6 6GD 113000 14/10/2016 67 0 67 1687 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
51 Brindleheath Road, Salford, M6 6GD 143000 06/10/2017 68 0 68 2103 Semi‐detached Brindle Heath
1 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  122500 31/03/2016 69 0 69 1775 Terraced Brindle Heath
7 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  133000 23/08/2016 68 0 68 1956 Terraced Brindle Heath
6 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  119995 15/04/2016 68 0 68 1765 Terraced Brindle Heath
3 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA 135000 19/01/2018 68 0 68 1985 Terraced Brindle Heath
4 Heath Field Green, Salford, M6 6QA  119995 26/05/2016 68 0 68 1765 Terraced Brindle Heath
Sample size 10 MEAN 1916

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per m2

Broughton Park 
Flat 3 Ingledene Court, Upper Park Raod, Salford, M7 4YH 205000 01/03/2018 101 0 101 2030 Apartment Broughton Park
Flat 3 Ingledene Court, Upper Park Raod, Salford, M7 4YH 315000 15/12/2017 105 0 105 3000 Apartment Broughton Park
Flat 5 Falcon Court Park Street, Salford, M7 4WH 165000 08/11/2016 77 0 77 2143 Apartment Broughton Park
Apartment 6 Singleton Point, 28 Singleton Road, Salford, M7 4NN 260000 24/05/2016 121 0 121 2149 Apartment Broughton Park
Apartment 4 Singleton Point, 28 Singleton Road, Salford, M7 4NN 207500 21/01/2016 73 0 73 2842 Apartment Broughton Park
63 Upper Park Road, Salford, M7 4JB  485000 31/01/2017 192 14 206 2354 Detached  Broughton Park
65 Upper Park Road, Salford, M7 4JB  760000 30/10/2017 339 14 353 2153 Detached  Broughton Park
12 Cavendish Road, Salford, M7 4WW 454000 11/08/2017 209 0 209 2172 Semi‐detached Broughton Park
31 Tully Street, Salford, M7 2BB 220000 04/04/2017 100.1 0 100 2198 Terraced Broughton Park
11 Legh Street, Salford, M7 4EF 245000 01/03/2016 97 0 97 2526 Terraced Broughton Park
Sample size 10 MEAN 2357

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 \sqm

Cadishead
61 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GH  249995 16/03/2018 102 14 116 2155 Detached Cadishead
209 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GH  160000 01/12/2017 80 0 80 2000 Terraced Cadishead
3 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GG  280000 03/02/2017 117 14 131 2137 Detached Cadishead
67 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GG  285000 18/08/2017 124 14 138 2072 Detached Cadishead
18 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GJ  239000 24/02/2017 102 14 116 2060 Detached Cadishead
8 Daneshill Lane, Manchester, M44 5GN  220000 25/08/2017 94 14 108 2037 Detached Cadishead
29 Daneshill Lane, Manchester, M44 5GN  245000 31/03/2017 111 14 125 1960 Detached Cadishead
56A Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GJ  165000 19/05/2017 73 0 73 2260 Semi‐detached Cadishead
14 Apple Blossom Grove, Cadishead, Manchester, M44 5FX 125000 30/01/2018 52 0 52 2404 Semi‐detached Cadishead
64 Roseway Avenue, Manchester, M44 5GJ  160000 27/04/2017 80 0 80 2000 Terraced Cadishead
Sample size 10 MEAN 2109

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route

P
age 2373



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

111, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6FT  132500 03/07/2017 47 0 47 2790 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
102, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6FT  126000 03/11/2017 35 0 35 3600 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
65, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6FT  123500 15/08/2017 58 0 58 2129 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
34, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  212000 20/06/2017 74 0 74 2874 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
31, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  130000 28/02/2017 71 0 71 1831 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
16, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  225000 20/01/2017 123 0 123 1829 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
3, The Royal, Wilton Place, Salford, M3 6WP  125000 22/06/2017 51 0 51 2451 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 4 Zenith, 365 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JT 136000 09/06/2016 40 0 40 3400 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 3, Fusion 9, 2 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LH  130000 10/08/2017 47 0 47 2762 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 22, Fusion 6, 8 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LN  140000 16/03/2017 54 0 54 2593 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 20, Fusion 3, 14 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LW  140000 07/07/2017 52 0 52 2708 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 19, Fusion 3, 14 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LW  128000 23/02/2018 53 0 53 2415 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 18, Fusion 3, 14 Middlewood Street, Salford, M5 4LW  128000 19/01/2018 54 0 54 2370 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 105, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF  140000 25/05/2017 46 0 46 3043 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 106, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 137500 05/05/2017 45 0 45 3056 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 110, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 200000 24/12/2017 73 0 73 2740 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 206, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 142500 31/08/2017 45 0 45 3167 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 207, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 142500 27/08/2017 46 0 46 3098 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 217, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 142500 22/06/2017 48 0 48 2969 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 304, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 140650 29/09/2017 46 0 46 3058 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 314, Vimto Gardens, Chapel Street, Salford, M3 5JF 149950 30/08/2017 48 0 48 3124 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 220, Vimto Gardens, Islington Way, Salford, M3 5JH  220000 27/10/2017 73 0 73 3014 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 103, Transport House, 1 Crescent, Salford, M5 4JN  130000 11/09/2017 55 0 55 2364 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Apartment 403, Transport House, 1 Crescent, Salford, M5 4JN  142500 10/03/2017 79 0 79 1794 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
6 Barrow Street, Salford, M3 5JE  280000 30/06/2017 108 0 108 2593 Terraced Chapel Street ‐ outside inner relief route
Sample size 25 MEAN 2711

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Chapel Street ‐ within Inner Relief Route
16, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 225,000 04/05/2017 48 0 48 4664 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
26, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 275000 16/03/2017 80 0 80 3455 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
28, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 369000 16/01/2018 101 0 101 3653 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
30, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  500000 16/03/2017 119 0 119 4202 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
40, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  225000 09/03/2018 53 0 53 4245 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
43, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 305100 08/08/2017 81 0 81 3748 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
47, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB 320000 05/12/2017 103 0 103 3107 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
50, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  355,000 29/09/2017 84 0 84 4226 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
51, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NB  350,000 30/11/2017 84 0 84 4167 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
132, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NE 195,000 12/12/2017 54 0 54 3611 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
139, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NE 345,000 10/11/2017 81 0 81 4259 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
161, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NE 300000 16/06/2017 70 0 70 4286 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
218, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NF  425000 08/06/2017 108 0 108 3935 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
229, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NF  247000 29/09/2017 53 0 53 4660 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
233, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NF  160000 23/08/2017 35 0 35 4511 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
239, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NG  185000 10/11/2017 48 0 48 3854 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
258, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NG  242000 20/02/2017 70 0 70 3476 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
272, The Edge, Clowes Street, Salford, M3 5NG  167500 13/06/2017 39 0 39 4306 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 3, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 138500 18/08/2017 30 0 30 4617 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 22, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 106000 07/12/2017 30 0 30 3533 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 26, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 128000 24/02/2017 37 0 37 3448 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 40, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 183000 01/11/2017 67 0 67 2731 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route

P
age 2374



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 43, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ 193000 16/03/2018 59 0 59 3271 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 3, Block 1 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BJ  138500 18/08/2017 37 0 37 3743 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 52, Block 3 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BP  219000 11/05/2017 67 0 67 3248 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 195, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT  185000 08/09/2017 61 0 61 3038 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 199, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT  151000 28/06/2017 54 0 54 2801 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 205, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 191500 01/02/2017 61 0 61 3134 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 243, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 232500 03/11/2017 43 0 43 5407 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 255, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT  215000 30/06/2017 61 0 61 3530 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 266, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 190000 17/02/2017 61 0 61 3110 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 273, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BT 112000 03/02/2017 28 0 28 3944 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 297, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU 168520 15/02/2017 28 0 28 5934 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 299, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  240000 20/01/2017 61 0 61 3960 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 300, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  182950 14/08/2017 61 0 61 2994 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 301, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU 230000 19/09/2017 44 0 44 5287 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 303, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU 230000 01/09/2017 44 0 44 5227 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 304, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  230000 17/08/2017 58 0 58 3938 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 306, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  241000 27/04/2017 61 0 61 3944 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 321, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  173950 08/06/2017 58 0 58 2979 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 331, Block 5 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7BU  175950 30/06/2017 58 0 58 3013 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 159, Block 3 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EB  167000 10/10/2017 61 0 61 2756 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 174, Block 3 Spectrum, Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EB  204950 11/08/2017 58 0 58 3509 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 5, Block B Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GB 145000 08/06/2017 62 0 62 2339 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 13, Block C Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GD  215000 22/06/2017 60 0 60 3583 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 14, Block C Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GD  229563 06/03/2017 60 0 60 3826 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 51, Block C Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GD  213500 28/07/2017 55 0 55 3882 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 1, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  176035 31/05/2017 56 0 56 3143 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 17, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  284300 11/01/2018 85 0 85 3345 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 30, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  211945 25/05/2017 61 0 61 3475 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 43, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  219511 05/05/2017 60 0 60 3659 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 46, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  229600 11/08/2017 64 0 64 3588 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 47, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  299245 24/10/2017 85 0 85 3521 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 49, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  235600 31/05/2017 64 0 64 3681 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 60, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  231830 02/05/2017 61 0 61 3800 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 66, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  244902 12/05/2017 64 0 64 3827 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 75, Block D Alto, Sillavan Way, Salford, M3 6GF  239610 13/10/2017 61 0 61 3928 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 54, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6ES  161500 07/07/2017 70 0 70 2324 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 71, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6ES  163000 20/12/2017 61 0 61 2672 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 73, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6ES  130000 23/11/2017 42 0 42 3095 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 164, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6EU  158000 09/05/2017 58 0 58 2743 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 178, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6EU  158000 15/01/2018 55 0 55 2873 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 197, City Point, 156 Chapel Street, Salford, M3 6EU  167000 30/06/2017 60 0 60 2783 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 115, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7NB 95000 02/10/2017 33 0 33 2900 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 230, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7NB  107000 01/08/2017 31 0 31 3484 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 313, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7NB  115000 15/05/2017 32 0 32 3594 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 501, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7ND 140000 28/09/2017 57 0 57 2452 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 518, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7ND  96000 02/05/2017 32 0 32 2981 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 519, Abito, 85 Greengate, Salford, M3 7ND 130000 11/07/2017 68 0 68 1922 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 121, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DU  160000 18/08/2017 68 0 68 2353 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 117, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  165000 30/03/2017 71 0 71 2324 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 208, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  120000 10/03/2017 40 0 40 3000 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 315, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  157000 10/04/2017 59 0 59 2661 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 501, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  174000 13/10/2017 50 0 50 3480 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 510, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DX  193250 21/07/2017 77 0 77 2498 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 305, Quebec Building, Bury Street, Salford, M3 7DY  118000 07/06/2017 41 0 41 2878 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route

P
age 2375



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 25, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 175000 06/10/2017 68 0 68 2574 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 9, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 162000 20/09/2017 59 0 59 2746 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 19, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 167000 26/04/2017 54 0 54 3093 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 29, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 183500 21/03/2017 47 0 47 3904 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Apartment 39, The Bayley, 21 New Bayley Street, Salford, M5 5AX 170000 20/03/2017 64 0 64 2656 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
1007, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  250000 30/06/2017 91 0 91 2747 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
201, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  172000 11/09/2017 53 0 53 3252 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
402, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  167500 03/08/2017 50 0 50 3350 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
901, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  167500 28/04/2017 54 0 54 3102 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
1007, The Bridge, 40 Dearmans Place, Salford, M3 5EW  250000 30/06/2017 91 0 91 2747 Apartment Chapel Street ‐ within Inner releif route
Sample size 86 MEAN 3468

Proposed 
value area Premium £3,400 per m2

Charlestown
22, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 134995 15/12/2017 60 0 60 2250 Semi‐Detached Charlsetown
16, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 134995 21/12/2017 60 0 60 2250 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
24, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 131995 30/12/2017 60 0 60 2200 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
8, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 154995 31/08/2017 79 0 79 1962 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
17, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6G 157995 31/08/2017 77 0 77 2052 Semi‐detached Charlsetown
2, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 125995 21/12/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
4, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 123995 22/09/2017 60 0 60 2067 Terraced Charlsetown
6, Daisy Street, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GQ 125995 15/09/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
23, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 125995 30/06/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
25, Elm Tree Road, Salford, Greater Manchester M6 6GR 125995 30/06/2017 60 0 60 2100 Terraced Charlsetown
Sample size 10 MEAN 2118

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per m2

Claremont
57 Chaplin Close, Salford, M6 8FW  137000 08/09/2017 68 0 68 2015 Apartment Claremont
66 Lancaster Road, Salford, M6 8AW  122000 25/09/2017 56 0 56 2179 Apartment Claremont
Apartment 5 Odean House, 395 Langwrthy Rd, M6 7AH 98000 05/03/2018 58 0 58 1690 Apartment Claremont
8 Keaton Close, Salford, M6 8EB  255000 31/08/2017 103 14 117 2179 Detached Claremont
15 Chaseley Road, Salford, M6 7DZ  330000 13/10/2017 142 14 156 2115 Detached Claremont
8 Keaton Close, Salford, M6 8EB  255000 31/08/2017 103 14 117 2179 Detached Claremont
15 Weylands Grove, Salford, M6 7WX 235000 23/02/2018 86 14 100 2350 Detached Claremont
6 Park Lane, Salford, M6 7RQ 228000 23/09/2017 104 0 104 2192 Detached Claremont
4A Chaseley Road, Salford, M6 7DZ  210000 28/04/2017 92 0 92 2285 Semi‐detached Claremont
31 Light Oaks Road, Salford, M6 8NQ  177000 26/01/2017 94 0 94 1883 Semi‐detached Claremont
6 Lancaster Road, Salford, M6 8AN  303000 23/02/2018 127 0 127 2386 Semi‐detached Claremont
1 Oakville Drive, Salford, M6 8EZ 156000 13/04/2017 74 0 74 2108 Semi‐detached Claremont
43 Claremont Road, Salford, M6 7RJ  117000 20/12/2017 63 0 63 1857 Terraced Claremont
Sample size 13 MEAN 2109

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Eccles
11 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 214995 17/03/2017 88 14 102 2108 Detached Eccles
15 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 249995 31/03/2017 107 14 121 2066 Detached Eccles
17 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 249995 27/03/2017 107 14 121 2066 Detached Eccles
42 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 237995 19/10/2017 88 14 102 2333 Detached Eccles
44 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 259995 07/07/2017 107 14 121 2149 Detached Eccles
46 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 259995 27/07/2017 107 14 121 2149 Detached Eccles
11 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 189995 21/12/2017 72 14 86 2209 Detached Eccles
14 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 239995 21/12/2017 91 14 105 2286 Detached Eccles

P
age 2376



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

1 Ernest Avenue, Manchester, M30 8EY 194995 26/01/2018 72 14 86 2267 Detached Eccles
3 Havenscroft Avenue, Manchester, M30 0TD  126000 10/02/2017 57 0 57 2225 Semi‐detached Eccles
7 Newry Road, Manchester, M30 0LD  140000 19/07/2017 69 0 69 2032 Semi‐detached Eccles
35 Waterslea, Manchester, M30 0SR  140000 23/06/2017 58 0 58 2414 Semi‐detached Eccles
6 Kiel Close, Eccles, Manchester 145000 12/09/2016 70 0 70 2071 Semi‐detached Eccles
11 Leander Close, Eccles, M30 8ER 239995 11/09/2017 72 0 72 3333 Semi‐detached Eccles
30 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 174995 26/05/2017 68 0 68 2573 Semi‐detached Eccles
32 Cassidy Way, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8EQ 174995 26/05/2017 68 0 68 2573 Semi‐detached Eccles
15 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 182995 30/11/2017 72 0 72 2542 Semi‐detached Eccles
16 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 197995 19/02/2018 75 0 75 2640 Semi‐detached Eccles
18 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 199995 19/01/2018 75 0 75 2667 Semi‐detached Eccles
20 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 199995 19/01/2018 75 0 75 2667 Semi‐detached Eccles
1 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 182995 15/01/2018 68 0 68 2691 Terraced Eccles
3 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 177995 21/12/2017 68 0 68 2618 Terraced Eccles
3 Leach Drive, Eccles, Manchester, M30 8ET 182995 12/01/2018 68 0 68 2691 Terraced Eccles
Sample size 23 MEAN 2407

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 per sqm

Eccles New Road
Apartment 20, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  133000 10/05/2017 50 0 50 2644 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 27, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  101000 10/02/2017 59 0 59 1712 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 32, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  85000 30/06/2017 47 0 47 1809 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 4, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  105000 28/02/2017 57 0 57 1842 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 51, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  105000 08/03/2017 66 0 66 1591 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 52, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  106000 12/04/2017 79 0 79 1338 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 67, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AU  97000 15/03/2017 69 0 69 1406 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 136, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW  134100 24/03/2017 75 0 75 1779 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 155, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW  105000 26/01/2018 57 0 57 1842 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 165, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW  101950 09/02/2018 61 0 61 1671 Apartment Eccles New Road
Apartment 97, Ladywell Point, Pilgrims Way, Salford, M50 1AW 100000 27/01/2017 61 0 61 1635 Apartment Eccles New Road
70 Sugar Mill Square, Salford, M5 5EB  90550 30/11/2017 55 0 55 1646 Apartment Eccles New Road
22 Sugar Mill Square, Salford, M5 5EB  80000 29/09/2017 64 0 64 1242 Apartment Eccles New Road
66 Sugar Mill Square, Salford, M5 5EB  73000 22/06/2017 70 0 70 1046 Apartment Eccles New Road
2001, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DB  119950 17/08/2017 53 0 53 2269 Apartment Eccles New Road
1009, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DH  100000 24/07/2017 62 0 62 1607 Apartment Eccles New Road
1309, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DJ 69000 03/08/2017 33 0 33 2087 Apartment Eccles New Road
1208, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DJ  120000 11/08/2017 69 0 69 1739 Apartment Eccles New Road
1414, City Link, Hessel Street, Salford, M50 1DJ  89950 03/11/2017 50 0 50 1799 Apartment Eccles New Road
Sample size 19 MEAN 1721

Proposed 
value area Low £1,800 per sqm

Ellesmere Park and Monton
52 Godolphin Close, Manchester, M30 9EW  146000 30/06/2017 63 0 63 2317 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
61 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  115000 19/12/2017 50 0 50 2300 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
62 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  117500 20/08/2017 50 0 50 2350 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 21, Wendover Court, 116 – 118 Monton Road, Manchester, M30 
9HG  230000 11/01/2017 59 0 59 3898 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 28, Wendover Court, 116 – 118 Monton Road, Manchester, M30 
9HG  230000 17/03/2017 65 0 65 3538 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
49 Corbel Way, Manchester, M30 9GH  110000 15/02/2018 35 0 35 3143 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 29 Clarendon Place, 22‐26 Wellington Road, M30 0NP 102500 23/10/2017 53 0 53 1934 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
Apartment 3 Clarendon Place, 22‐26 Wellington Road, M30 0NP 104000 17/07/2017 54 0 54 1926 Apartment Ellesmere Park and Monton
78 Godolphin Close, Manchester, M30 9EW  368000 26/10/2016 116 14 130 2831 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
32 Greenwood Place, Eccles, Manchester, M30 9EX 400000 02/05/2017 139 14 153 2614 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton

P
age 2377



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

53 Cavendish Road, Manchester, M30 9EE  405000 20/01/2017 161 14 175 2310 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
2 Cavendish Road, Manchester, M30 9JF  770000 31/07/2017 279 14 293 2626 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
58 Cavendish Road, Eccles, Manchester, M30 9EF 600000 21/12/2017 176 14 190 3158 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
34 Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9GG  335000 31/10/2017 108 14 122 2746 Detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
32 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  245000 07/04/2017 109 0 109 2258 Semi‐detached Ellesmere Park and Monton
34 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  255000 11/08/2017 50 0 50 5100 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
40 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  243000 02/10/2017 110 0 110 2209 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
73 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  225000 27/10/2017 91 0 91 2473 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
76 Ellesmere Green, Manchester, M30 9EZ  232000 31/01/2018 73 0 73 3178 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
3 Chorlton Brook, Manchester, M30 9NP  237500 07/08/2017 80 0 80 2969 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
7 Chorlton Brook, Manchester, M30 9NP  260000 10/07/2017 93 0 93 2796 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
14 Corbel Way, Manchester, M30 9GH  230000 30/06/2017 100 0 100 2300 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
28 Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9GG  241000 15/08/2017 95 0 95 2533 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
36c Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9GG  252500 31/01/2018 99 0 99 2551 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
49 Clifton Road, Manchester, M30 9QS  205000 01/09/2017 96 0 96 2135 Terraced Ellesmere Park and Monton
Sample size 25 MEAN 2728

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Higher Broughton
Apartment 1, 226 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 135000 16/07/2017 61 0 61 2213 Apartment Higher Broughton
3 Carnarvon Street, Salford, M7 4QH  325000 21/12/2017 116 14 130 2500 Detached  Higher Broughton
Apartments 1, 226 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 135000 16/06/2017 61 0 61 2213 Flat Higher Broughton
12 Bugle Close, Salford, M7 2GP  145000 13/07/2017 60 0 60 2417 Terraced Higher Broughton
6 Bugle Close, Salford, M7 2GP  141000 08/02/2017 60 0 60 2350 Terraced Higher Broughton
23 Bandy Fields Place, Salford, M7 2ZT  180100 22/08/2017 108 0 108 1668 Terraced Higher Broughton
5 Bandy Fields Place, Salford, M7 2ZT  193000 01/06/2017 102 0 102 1892 Terraced Higher Broughton
228 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 225000 02/02/2018 110 0 110 2045 Terraced Higher Broughton
350 Lower Broughton Road, Salford, M7 2HY  237000 19/01/2017 96 0 96 2469 Terraced Higher Broughton
223 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 2ZS 225000 02/02/2018 110 0 110 2045 Terraced Higher Broughton
Sample size 10 MEAN 2181

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Irlam
5 Mariners Way, Manchester, M44 6GN  69500 28/04/2017 34 0 34 2044 Apartment Irlam
51 Rixtonleys Drive, Manchester, M44 6RN  285000 25/04/2017 125 14 139 2050 Detached Irlam
47 Rixtonleys Drive, Manchester, M44 6RN  295000 01/09/2017 78 14 92 3207 Detached Irlam
2 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  200000 26/06/2017 100 14 114 1754 Detached Irlam
3 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  177000 30/06/2017 69 14 83 2133 Detached Irlam
6 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  220000 23/08/2017 75 14 89 2472 Detached Irlam
29 Stickens Lock Lane, Manchester, M44 6RG  272000 11/05/2017 115 14 129 2109 Detached Irlam
33 Stickens Lock Lane, Manchester, M44 6RG  195000 11/05/2017 85 14 99 1970 Detached Irlam
3 Powder Mill Close, Manchester, M44 6RR  212000 22/06/2017 85 14 99 2141 Detached Irlam
11 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  185000 26/01/2018 99 0 99 1869 Semi‐detached Irlam
39 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  182000 20/11/2017 62 0 62 2935 Semi‐detached Irlam
24 Stickens Lock Lane, Manchester, M44 6RG  162000 06/07/2017 64 0 64 2530 Semi‐detached Irlam
15 Mariners Way, Manchester, M44 6GN  146000 14/07/2017 72 0 72 2028 Semi‐detached Irlam
8 Mariners Way, Manchester, M44 6GN  140000 12/05/2017 87 0 87 1613 Semi‐detached Irlam
18 Colling Close, Manchester, M44 6BY  160000 24/05/2017 82 0 82 1951 Semi‐detached Irlam
49 Sandywarps, Manchester, M44 6RF  155000 05/12/2017 69 0 69 2246 Terraced Irlam
Sample size 16 MEAN 2191

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Kersal Moor
105 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL 115000 06/10/2017 55 0 55 2091 Apartment Kersal Moor

P
age 2378



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

77 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL 95000 27/10/2017 44 0 44 2159 Apartment Kersal Moor
17 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP  230000 05/04/2017 102 14 116 1983 Detached Kersal Moor
64 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP  214000 31/08/2017 101 14 115 1861 Detached Kersal Moor
8 Sisley Close, Salford, M7 3BB  209000 27/10/2017 85 14 99 2111 Detached Kersal Moor
19 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP 245000 23/01/2018 102 14 116 2112 Detached Kersal Moor
2 Stubbs Close, Salford, M7 3BD 220000 27/07/2017 94 14 108 2037 Detached Kersal Moor
9 Racecourse Way, Salford, M7 3AA  265000 19/12/2017 102 14 116 2284 Detached Kersal Moor
105 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  115000 06/10/2017 55 0 55 2093 Flat Kersal Moor
77 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  95000 27/10/2017 44 0 44 2145 Flat Kersal Moor
131 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  167500 24/04/2017 78 0 78 2160 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
64 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 195000 17/11/2017 84 0 84 2321 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
28 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 186000 19/12/2017 96 0 96 1938 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
49 Greene Way, Salford, M7 3BP  168000 21/07/2017 68 0 68 2471 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
5 Racecourse Way, Salford, M7 3AA  192000 06/12/2017 83 0 83 2313 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
28 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 186000 19/12/2017 96 0 96 1938 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
64 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BN 195000 17/12/2017 84 0 84 2321 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
131 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL 167500 24/04/2017 78 0 78 2147 Semi‐detached Kersal Moor
121 Christie Lane, Salford, M7 3BL  171000 15/01/2018 95 0 95 1800 Terraced Kersal Moor
Sample size 19 MEAN 2120

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Langworthy
38 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  145000 31/07/2017 56 0 56 2574 Terraced Langworthy
48 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  141000 12/05/2017 70 0 70 2003 Terraced Langworthy
12 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  135000 09/02/2018 68 0 68 1985 Terraced Langworthy
4 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  150500 08/09/2017 54 0 54 2787 Terraced Langworthy
54 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  133000 05/05/2017 70 0 70 1889 Terraced Langworthy
5 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5NA  135000 10/04/2017 69 0 69 1957 Terraced Langworthy
11 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  140000 31/03/2017 54 0 54 2594 Terraced Langworthy
29 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  167000 13/10/2017 53 0 53 3151 Terraced Langworthy
39 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  142000 15/12/2017 67 0 67 2119 Terraced Langworthy
45 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  145000 08/01/2018 69 0 69 2101 Terraced Langworthy
57 Ash Street, Salford, M6 5WA  146000 07/02/2018 52 0 52 2808 Terraced Langworthy
42 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  146500 01/03/2018 70 0 70 2093 Terraced Langworthy
9 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  146000 13/11/2017 67 0 67 2179 Terraced Langworthy
16 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  145000 15/09/2017 70 0 70 2071 Terraced Langworthy
28 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  161000 01/11/2017 84 0 84 1917 Terraced Langworthy
30 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  141000 17/03/2017 70 0 70 2003 Terraced Langworthy
22 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB  132500 10/03/2017 70 0 70 1882 Terraced Langworthy
31 Reservoir Street, Salford, M6 5WB 135000 15/03/2017 52 0 52 2587 Terraced Langworthy
72 Laburnum Street, Salford, M6 5LZ  160000 05/05/2017 66 0 66 2422 Terraced Langworthy
50 Laburnum Street, Salford, M6 5LZ  142000 08/12/2017 68 0 68 2088 Terraced Langworthy
48 Laburnum Street, Salford, M6 5LZ  133000 24/03/2017 50 0 50 2660 Terraced Langworthy
18 Field Street, Salford, M6 5EY  159000 10/02/2017 67 0 67 2373 Terraced Langworthy
8 Field Street, Salford, M6 5EY  175000 24/08/2017 103 0 103 1699 Terraced Langworthy
Sample size 23 MEAN 2258

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Little Hulton
27 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  162500 21/07/2017 79 14 93 1742 Detached Little Huilton
3 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  212000 17/08/2017 112 14 126 1683 Detached Little Huilton
108 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YG  141000 28/11/2017 67 0 67 2104 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
16 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  178200 21/07/2017 95 0 95 1876 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
18 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  132000 26/01/2018 57 0 57 2316 Semi‐detached Little Huilton

P
age 2379



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

46 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YH  128850 11/12/2017 71 0 71 1815 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
40 Courtyard Drive, Manchester, M28 0YR  142500 19/05/2017 67 0 67 2135 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
42 Courtyard Drive, Manchester, M28 0YR  130000 27/10/2017 67 0 67 1932 Semi‐detached Little Huilton
38 Hallview Way, Manchester, M28 0BF  125000 22/05/2017 75 0 75 1665 Terraced Little Huilton
142 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YG  116000 26/01/2018 57 0 57 2035 Terraced Little Huilton
143 Quarry Pond Road, Manchester, M28 0YG  130000 21/07/2017 70 0 70 1857 Terraced Little Huilton
Sample size 11 MEAN 1924

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per sqm 

Lower Broughton
39 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AE  169950 06/06/2017 83 0 83 2036 Apartment Lower Broughton
43 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AE  93000 17/12/2017 37 0 37 2514 Apartment Lower Broughton
Apartment 5, 2 Oriel Gardens, Salford, M7 1AA 104000 23/06/2017 37 0 37 2811 Apartment Lower Broughton
Apartment 4, 132 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UF  89000 02/03/2017 37 0 37 2405 Apartment Lower Broughton
Apartment 125, The Vibe, 175 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UZ  120000 28/03/2017 48 0 48 2511 Apartment Lower Broughton
406 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1ZN 125000 06/11/2017 61 0 61 2049 Apartment Lower Broughton
238 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1ZN 115000 06/01/2017 57 0 57 2018 Apartment Lower Broughton
24 River View Drive, Salford, M7 1BG 240000 24/11/2017 114 14 128 1875 Detached Lower Broughton
7 Water Meadow Lane, Salford, M7 1AR 255000 20/02/2018 105 14 119 2143 Detached Lower Broughton
25 Lord Street, Salford, M7 1UA  212000 28/04/2017 121 0 121 1752 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
38 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AD  188000 12/05/2017 88 0 88 2147 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
61 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AE 222500 07/07/2017 112 0 112 1991 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
61 Meadow Road, Salford, M7 1PA  200000 08/05/2017 97 0 97 2062 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
79 Meadow Road, Salford, M7 1PA  207950 30/09/2016 115 0 115 1808 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
21 Hatton Gardens, Salford, M7 1AH 220000 31/03/2017 121 0 121 1818 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
17 Dragonfly Close, Salford, M7 1BH 188000 21/08/2017 83 0 83 2265 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
9 Harrison Street, Salford, M7 1AU 260000 26/10/2017 103 0 103 2524 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
8 Cowslip Close, Salford, m7 1tb 213000 29/01/2018 97 0 97 2196 Semi‐detached Lower Broughton
34 Kempster Gardens, Salford, M7 1AD  219995 07/11/2017 112 0 112 1964 Terraced Lower Broughton
182 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UF 215000 23/10/2017 111 0 111 1937 Terraced Lower Broughton
162 Broughton Lane, Salford, M7 1UF 213500 13/12/2017 102 0 102 2093 Terraced Lower Broughton
68 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1LG  172000 20/01/2017 88 0 88 1964 Terraced Lower Broughton
70 Camp Street, Salford, M7 1LG  180000 21/04/2017 88 0 88 2055 Terraced Lower Broughton
Sample size 23 MEAN 2128

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Lower Kersal
5 Cowling Street, Salford, M7 3NT  110000 03/03/2017 64 0 64 1728 Terraced Lower Kersal
54 Castlewood Road, Salford, M7 3GN  152000 16/01/2017 71 0 71 2141 Detached Lower Kersal
57 Castlewood Road, Salford, M7 3QW  137000 22/06/2017 78 0 78 1767 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
242 Littleton Road, M7 3QS 112000 01/08/2017 84 0 84 1333 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
5 Illona Drive, Salford, M7 3GE 127000 07/09/2017 77 0 77 1649 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
5 Matlock Avenue, Salford, M7 3RN 160000 27/10/2017 102 0 102 1569 Semi‐detached Lower Kersal
8 Tideway Close, Salford, M7 3AR 99950 11/07/2016 54 0 54 1851 Terraced Lower Kersal
6 Lamorna Close, Salford, M7 3GT 111000 30/11/2017 72 0 72 1542 Terraced Lower Kersal
13 Ukraine Road, Salford, M7 3TE 95000 11/12/2017 65 0 65 1462 Terraced Lower Kersal
5 Valencia Road, Salford, M7 3TD 90000 08/06/2017 67 0 67 1343 Terraced Lower Kersal
Sample size 10 MEAN 1638

Proposed 
value area Low £1,800 per sqm

Mid Swinton
2 Safflower Avenue, Manchester, M27 9LA  175000 02/03/2017 89 14 103 1699 Detached Mid Swinton
11 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  205000 27/10/2017 86 14 100 2050 Detached Mid Swinton

P
age 2380



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

53 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 120000 17/11/2017 59 14 73 1644 Detached Mid Swinton
17 Borchardt Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FN 249950 23/08/2017 86 14 100 2500 Detached Mid Swinton
36 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FR  253000 21/04/2017 113 14 127 1992 Detached Mid Swinton
1 Sillavan Close, Manchester, M27 4FS 243000 25/08/2017 107 14 121 2008 Detached Mid Swinton
82 Hospital Road, Manchester, M27 4EY  257000 15/12/2017 112 14 126 2040 Detached Mid Swinton
1 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  183000 27/10/2017 71.88 0 71.88 2546 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
2 Liebert Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FP 180000 18/09/2017 77 0 77 2338 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
7 Liebert Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FP 155000 18/08/2017 61 0 61 2541 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
16 Liebert Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FP 217250 22/09/2017 87 0 87 2497 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
21 Stancliff Drive, Pendlebury, Manchester, M27 4FY 205000 24/11/2017 80 0 80 2563 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
77 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  150000 19/01/2018 80 0 80 1875 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
2 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FR 217000 29/09/2017 108 0 108 2009 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
4 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FR 205000 16/08/2017 108 0 108 1898 Semi‐detached Mid Swinton
63 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 155000 04/08/2017 95 0 95 1632 Terraced Mid Swinton
71 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 145000 21/06/2017 88 0 88 1648 Terraced Mid Swinton
73 Victoria Lane, Swinton, Manchester, M27 9LS 165000 20/10/2017 95 0 95 1737 Terraced Mid Swinton
31 Wrigley Avenue, Pendlebury, Manchester 195000 01/12/2017 75 0 75 2600 Terraced Mid Swinton
101 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  185000 18/08/2017 76 0 76 2434 Terraced Mid Swinton
43 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  145000 24/02/2017 58 0 58 2500 Terraced Mid Swinton
89 Holden Drive, Manchester, M27 4FQ  210000 23/08/2017 113 0 113 1858 Terraced Mid Swinton
25 Sillavan Close, Manchester, M27 4FS 208000 21/04/2017 92 0 92 2261 Terraced Mid Swinton
60 Hospital Road, Manchester, M27 4EY  205000 14/07/2017 80 0 80 2563 Terraced Mid Swinton
70 Hospital Road, Manchester, M27 4EY  205000 21/06/2017 113 0 113 1814 Terraced Mid Swinton
Sample size 25 MEAN 2130

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

North Swinton and Clifton West
77 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  87000 10/03/2017 57 0 57 1525 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
Flat 1, Ashley Court, Hall Street, Manchester, M27 6FL  59950 11/01/2017 34 0 34 1763 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
Flat 12, Ashley Court, Hall Street, Manchester, M27 6FL  63500 17/03/2017 30 0 30 2110 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
Flat 14, Ashley Court, Hall Street, Manchester, M27 6FL  55000 03/05/2017 34 0 34 1642 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
43, Scholars Court, Collegiate Way, Manchester, M27 4LA  93000 18/08/2017 52 0 52 1788 Apartment North Swinton and Clifton West
2 Safflower Avenue, Manchester, M27 9LA  202000 19/01/2018 89 14 103 2270 Detached North Swinton and Clifton West
11 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  205000 27/10/2017 86 14 100 2384 Detached North Swinton and Clifton West
36 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  138000 26/01/2018 52 0 52 2654 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
79 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  90000 06/07/2017 52 0 52 1744 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
24 Ealinger Way, Manchester, M27 6HG  132000 12/06/2017 57 0 57 2316 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
3 Cheesington Rise, Clifton, Manchester, M27 8LB 119000 09/03/2018 51 0 51 2333 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
18a Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  120000 13/10/2017 58 0 58 2069 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
16 Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  115000 18/08/2017 58 0 58 1983 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
29 Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  162000 27/07/2017 77 0 77 2095 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
44 Ellerby Avenue, Manchester, M27 8LA  100000 08/05/2017 71 0 71 1401 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
1 Threadmill Lane, Manchester, M27 9LJ  183000 27/10/2017 72 0 72 2546 Semi‐detached North Swinton and Clifton West
60 Hinchley Way, Manchester, M27 6HB  88000 10/03/2017 53 0 53 1668 Terraced North Swinton and Clifton West
22 Brightsmith Way, Manchester, M27 9GE  114500 20/01/2017 72 0 72 1590 Terraced North Swinton and Clifton West
25 Queensmere Drive, Manchester, M27 8PY  150000 24/03/2017 99 0 99 1510 Terraced North Swinton and Clifton West
Sample size 19 MEAN 1992

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per sqm 

North Walkden 
33 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  80000 13/08/2017 44 0 44 1818 Apartment North Walkden 
33 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA 85000 31/10/2017 44 0 44 1932 Apartment North Walkden 

P
age 2381



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

14 Spinners Drive, Manchester, M28 3UB  94000 02/06/2017 43 0 43 2186 Apartment North Walkden 
52 Oakwood Drive, Manchester, M28 3HN  116000 27/06/2017 71 0 71 1634 Apartment North Walkden 
35 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 107995 21/12/2017 63 0 63 1714 Apartment North Walkden 
37 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 111995 21/12/2017 63 0 63 1778 Apartment North Walkden 
26 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA 255000 19/10/2017 121 14 135 2107 Detached North Walkden 
47 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  265000 09/11/2017 121 14 135 2190 Detached North Walkden 
23 Spinners Drive, Manchester, M28 3UB  275000 21/12/2017 121 14 135 2273 Detached North Walkden 
20 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF  274950 26/05/2017 116 14 130 2370 Detached North Walkden 
22 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF 229950 19/05/2017 103 14 117 2233 Detached North Walkden 
50 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF  275000 16/06/2017 115 14 129 2391 Detached North Walkden 
70 Moss Lane, Manchester, M28 3NF 246000 27/01/2007 116 14 130 2121 Detached North Walkden 
29 Greenhaven Close, Manchester, M28 3TX  215000 17/02/2017 90 14 104 2381 Detached North Walkden 
4 Thorne Crescent, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3YF 239950 29/09/2017 116 14 130 2069 Detached North Walkden 
6 Thorne Crescent, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3YF 279950 28/09/2017 120 14 134 2333 Detached North Walkden 
4 Herringborne Road, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3YK 279950 15/12/2017 120 14 134 2333 Detached North Walkden 
4 Oakwood Drive, Salford, M6 7NQ  165000 24/03/2017 78 14 92 2115 Detached North Walkden 
29 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 205995 15/12/2017 77 14 91 2675 Detached North Walkden 
7 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 255995 14/08/2017 112 14 126 2286 Detached North Walkden 
19 Spinners Drive, Manchester, M28 3UB  212000 27/10/2017 103 0 103 2058 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
1 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 190995 20/10/2017 77 0 77 2480 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
11 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 225995 20/10/2017 111 0 111 2036 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
15 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 225995 20/10/2017 111 0 111 2036 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
17 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 224995 24/11/2017 103 0 103 2184 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
19 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 220995 24/11/2017 103 0 103 2146 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
25 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 222995 07/12/2017 89 0 89 2506 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
27 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 197995 26/01/2018 77 0 77 2571 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
31 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 226995 15/12/2017 103 0 103 2204 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
33 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 226995 21/12/2017 103 0 103 2204 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
1 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 207995 06/05/2017 89 0 89 2337 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
3 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 222995 29/06/2017 103 0 103 2165 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
5 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 224995 25/08/2017 103 0 103 2184 Semi‐detached North Walkden 
43 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA 165000 16/08/2017 82 0 82 2012 Terraced North Walkden 
56 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  158000 24/03/2017 82 0 82 1927 Terraced North Walkden 
59 Cotton Fields, Manchester, M28 3UA  158500 11/10/2017 82 0 82 1933 Terraced North Walkden 
32 Yarn Close, Manchester, M28 3UG  149950 13/01/2017 67 0 67 2238 Terraced North Walkden 
43 Yarn Close, Manchester, M28 3UG  130000 30/06/2017 59 0 59 2203 Terraced North Walkden 
21 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 139995 01/12/2017 59 0 59 2373 Terraced North Walkden 
23 Whitewood Road, Manchester, M28 7GU 142995 01/12/2017 59 0 59 2424 Terraced North Walkden 
10 Palmetto Lane, Manchester, M28 7GW 193995 23/02/2018 77 0 77 2519 Terraced North Walkden 
Sample size 41 MEAN 2187

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Ordsall
Apartment 3 C, Quay 5, 236 Ordsall Lane, Salford, M5 3NE  90000 10/02/2017 49 0 49 1853 Apartment Ordsall
6 West Craven Street, Salford, M5 3GN  112500 24/02/2017 59 0 59 1923 Apartment Ordsall
29 Hulton Street, Salford, M5 3GE  176000 03/03/2017 83 0 83 2120 Apartment Ordsall
Apartment 21 B, Quay 5, 234 Ordsall Lane, Salford, M5 3WJ  99000 09/02/2017 45 0 45 2208 Apartment Ordsall
45 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GH  149500 24/10/2017 63 0 63 2377 Apartment Ordsall
6 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GG  112000 20/12/2017 44 0 44 2545 Apartment Ordsall
28 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GG  170000 26/09/2017 83 0 83 2048 Semi‐detached Ordsall
43 Whimberry Close, Salford, M5 3WL 154950 03/07/2017 75 0 75 2069 Semi‐detached Ordsall
18 Greenwood Terrace, Salford, M5 3GG  177000 13/04/2017 83 0 83 2133 Semi‐detached Ordsall

P
age 2382



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

3 Cooke Place, Salford, M5 3LJ  188750 30/03/2017 107 0 107 1757 Terraced Ordsall
72 Taylorson Street, Salford, M5 3EX  168000 04/08/2017 71 0 71 2353 Terraced Ordsall
78 Taylorson Street, Salford, M5 3EX  178000 11/07/2017 73 0 73 2432 Terraced Ordsall
Sample size 12 MEAN 2152

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Ordsall Riverside
3, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  165000 08/02/2018 58 0 58 2845 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
204, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  179950 22/11/2017 55 0 55 3268 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
206, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  187000 13/10/2017 94 0 94 1997 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
409, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  172000 04/01/2017 44 0 44 3935 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
609, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  171000 01/08/2017 71 0 71 2408 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
808, The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4JH  134000 10/11/2017 49 0 49 2735 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 49 Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB 91000 25/08/2017 32 0 32 2844 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24 Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB 123000 28/07/2017 43 0 43 2860 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 53 Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB 115000 10/02/2017 32 0 32 3594 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 63, Steele House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UU  157000 31/01/2018 47 0 47 3340 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 4, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  145000 08/12/2017 60 0 60 2417 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 48, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  160000 02/03/2018 57 0 57 2807 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  143000 19/10/2017 61 0 61 2344 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 42, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  132000 01/09/2017 43 0 43 3085 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 50, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  128500 06/01/2017 53 0 53 2425 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 57, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  145000 07/04/2017 62 0 62 2339 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 61, Slater House, Woden Street, Salford, M5 4UE  125000 03/07/2017 43 0 43 2879 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 15, Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB  128500 09/06/2017 60 0 60 2142 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB  123000 28/07/2017 43 0 43 2860 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 53, Renolds House, Everard Street, Salford, M5 4UB  115000 10/02/2017 32 0 32 3549 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 17, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  145000 25/04/2017 55 0 55 2636 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 22, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  154950 02/02/2018 59 0 59 2626 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 32, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  169500 07/07/2017 74 0 74 2291 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 53, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  125000 28/07/2017 49 0 49 2551 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 61, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  165000 15/12/2017 58 0 58 2845 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 65, Delaney Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4SR  155050 31/03/2017 55 0 55 2819 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 15, The Riley Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4TA  182000 05/09/2017 73 0 73 2493 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 18, The Riley Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4TA  185000 30/10/2017 73 0 73 2534 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 29, The Riley Building, Lowry Wharf, Salford, M5 4TA  172500 18/10/2017 73 0 73 2363 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1106, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  137000 19/10/2017 47 0 47 2932 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1113, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  186000 27/01/2017 66 0 66 2818 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1120, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  180000 07/07/2017 59 0 59 3066 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 1010, X Q 7 Building, Taylorson Street South, Salford, M5 3FY  133000 12/12/2017 46 0 46 2891 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 12, Gilbert House, 2 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DE  168000 15/09/2017 59 0 59 2828 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Gilbert House, 2 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DE 160000 10/07/2017 60 0 60 2678 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 30, Gilbert House, 2 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DE 160000 31/07/2017 58 0 58 2759 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 24, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  155000 20/02/2017 74 0 74 2095 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 30, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  152000 10/11/2017 59 0 59 2576 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 33, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  125000 19/01/2017 59 0 59 2128 Apartment Ordsall Riverside

P
age 2383



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 42, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  153000 09/06/2017 55 0 55 2775 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 44, Egerton House, 3 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DH  173000 22/09/2017 60 0 60 2893 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 19, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  154000 21/07/2017 57 0 57 2702 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 22, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  146000 15/03/2017 59 0 59 2463 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 27, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  160000 26/09/2017 58 0 58 2746 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 32, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  145000 29/01/2018 54 0 54 2685 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 33, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  156000 07/07/2017 73 0 73 2127 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 35, Adamson House, 4 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DL  149950 10/11/2017 69 0 69 2173 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 12, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR  150000 02/02/2017 58 0 58 2573 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 2, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR  170000 23/10/2017 68 0 68 2499 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 25, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR 152000 30/10/2017 60 0 60 2533 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 35, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR 171000 07/03/2017 53 0 53 3226 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 5, Platt House, 5 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DR  145000 30/06/2017 69 0 69 2108 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 14, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  166766 20/12/2017 70 0 70 2382 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 38, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  162000 10/03/2017 61 0 61 2677 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 41, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  158000 28/04/2017 58 0 58 2717 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 42, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  173000 17/11/2017 59 0 59 2932 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 55, Walker House, 6 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3DU  155000 28/04/2017 59 0 59 2642 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 104, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  132500 20/06/2017 61 0 61 2172 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 107, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  132500 20/06/2017 65 0 65 2038 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 305, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  135000 25/09/2017 45 0 45 3000 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 406, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  165000 16/08/2017 62 0 62 2661 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 504, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  170000 28/07/2017 61 0 61 2787 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 601, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NQ  185000 03/03/2017 57 0 57 3246 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Apartment 709, The Exchange, 8 Elmira Way, Salford, M5 3NY  165000 15/08/2017 53 0 53 3113 Apartment Ordsall Riverside
Sample size 64 MEAN 2693

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

Pendleton
25 Amersham Park Road, Salford, M6 5TQ  166995 29/07/2016 85 0 85 1965 Terraced Pendleton
19 Amersham Park Road, Salford, M6 5TQ  168000 24/11/2017 85 0 85 1976 Terraced Pendleton
21 Amersham Park Road, Salford, M6 5TQ  164995 01/07/2016 85 0 85 1941 Terraced Pendleton
7 Scanlon Lane, Salford, M5 4GW 176995 29/06/2017 85 0 85 2082 Terraced Pendleton
10 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  136995 03/06/2016 71 0 71 1930 Terraced Pendleton
12 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  162995 10/06/2016 85 0 85 1918 Terraced Pendleton
16 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF 160995 15/04/2016 86 0 86 1872 Terraced Pendleton
2 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  191995 01/07/2016 119 0 119 1613 Terraced Pendleton
22 Florin Lane, Salford, M6 5TF  157995 18/03/2016 86 0 86 1837 Terraced Pendleton
11 Langshaw Street, Salford, M6 5TG  161995 12/05/2016 59 0 59 2746 Terraced Pendleton
19 Langshaw Street, Salford, M6 5TG  156995 29/04/2016 86 0 86 1826 Terraced Pendleton
11 Coconut Grove, Salford, M6 5UE 130000 24/10/2016 63 0 63 2063 Semi‐detached Pendleton
Sample size 12 MEAN 1973

Proposed 
value area Low/mid £2,000 per sqm 

Salford Quays
Apartment 10, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  300000 09/02/2017 103 0 103 2913 Apartment Salford Quays

P
age 2384



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 11, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  172500 23/01/2018 67 0 67 2575 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 27, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  295000 28/11/2017 103 0 103 2864 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 50, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  170000 25/05/2017 53 0 53 3208 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 54, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  190000 01/02/2017 53 0 53 3603 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 56, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  175000 19/05/2017 54 0 54 3247 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 59, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  180000 09/06/2017 49 0 49 3666 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 65, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  182500 31/10/2017 32 0 32 5634 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 73, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  295000 30/11/2017 95 0 95 3105 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 79, N V Building, 96 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BB  585000 19/05/2017 164 0 164 3577 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 90, N V Building, 98 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BD  180500 15/01/2018 47 0 47 3840 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 104, N V Building, 98 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BD  305000 01/02/2017 113 0 113 2707 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 125, N V Building, 98 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BD  185000 29/09/2017 58 0 58 3180 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 167, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  310000 16/02/2018 100 0 100 3100 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 177, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  200000 18/08/2017 53 0 53 3774 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 186, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  315000 28/07/2017 104 0 104 3029 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 208, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  187500 23/02/2018 47 0 47 3989 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 228, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  270000 21/12/2017 80 0 80 3375 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 240, N V Building, 100 The Quays, Salford, M50 3BE  600000 13/07/2017 171 0 171 3509 Apartment Salford Quays
204, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  275000 14/03/2017 79 0 79 3481 Apartment Salford Quays
208, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  200000 14/07/2017 77 0 77 2597 Apartment Salford Quays
217, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  162000 25/01/2017 57 0 57 2827 Apartment Salford Quays
407, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  265000 30/01/2018 80 0 80 3313 Apartment Salford Quays
409, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  265000 20/02/2017 79 0 79 3373 Apartment Salford Quays
509, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  252000 09/08/2017 80 0 80 3158 Apartment Salford Quays
708, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  273500 31/10/2017 79 0 79 3462 Apartment Salford Quays
711, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RA  210000 19/12/2017 73 0 73 2877 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1012, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  270000 15/09/2017 62 0 62 4383 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 802, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  330000 14/12/2017 93 0 93 3548 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment P3, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  500000 16/02/2017 122 0 122 4106 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment P8, Imperial Point, The Quays, Salford, M50 3RB  520000 16/02/2017 177 0 177 2939 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 204, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AX 290000 18/08/2017 94 0 94 3085 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 406, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AX  218000 11/10/2017 60 0 60 3633 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1301, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AY  330000 25/07/2017 108 0 108 3046 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1401, Sovereign Point, 31 The Quays, Salford, M50 3AY  315000 14/06/2017 100 0 100 3142 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1803, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  140000 16/02/2017 42 0 42 3310 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 2004, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  115300 29/06/2017 32 0 32 3614 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 2005, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  228000 13/11/2017 66 0 66 3465 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 2306, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TH  111000 03/01/2017 33 0 33 3314 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1106, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TJ  128000 08/09/2017 33 0 33 3822 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1107, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TJ  154950 28/02/2017 66 0 66 2356 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 805, The Heart, Blue, Salford, M50 2TJ  237000 21/06/2017 66 0 66 3602 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 18, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  220000 16/01/2018 64 0 64 3438 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 46, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  163000 09/06/2017 50 0 50 3241 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 49, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  215000 24/02/2017 69 0 69 3110 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 65, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TS  245000 24/01/2017 58 0 58 4224 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 102, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 238000 31/05/2017 66 0 66 3606 Apartment Salford Quays

P
age 2385



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Apartment 124, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 242000 07/09/2017 69 0 69 3507 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 132, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 170000 05/05/2017 55 0 55 3091 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 137, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TW 335000 11/01/2018 72 0 72 4653 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 186, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 135000 06/10/2017 39 0 39 3462 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 174, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 231000 14/09/2017 73 0 73 3164 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 198, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 245000 01/09/2017 72 0 72 3403 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 143, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 232000 03/08/2017 85 0 85 2729 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 190, City Loft, 94 The Quays, Salford, M50 3TZ 205000 17/02/2017 72 0 72 2847 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 206, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  90000 10/10/2017 30 0 30 2972 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 404, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  152500 21/04/2017 50 0 50 3039 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 406, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  88000 24/08/2017 30 0 30 2893 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 507, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  117500 01/12/2017 43 0 43 2733 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 801, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  160000 15/09/2017 80 0 80 2000 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 805, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  158000 19/12/2017 65 0 65 2431 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 907, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SA  119950 27/10/2017 41 0 41 2917 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1102, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SB 145000 01/03/2018 56 0 56 2589 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1306, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SB 117500 29/01/2018 31 0 31 3790 Apartment Salford Quays
Apartment 1603, Millennium Tower, 250 The Quays, Salford, M50 3SB 225000 26/01/2018 79 0 79 2848 Apartment Salford Quays
Sample size 65 MEAN 3293

Proposed 
value area Premium £3,400 per sqm

Seedley
1 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG 206995 29/04/2016 90 0 90 2300 Detached Seedley
10 De La Salle Way, Salford, M6 8ER 189895 29/07/2016 80 0 80 2374 Semi‐detached Seedley
15 De La Salle Way, Salford, M6 8ER  202995 01/07/2016 104 0 104 1952 Semi‐detached Seedley
Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford 200000 67 0 67 2985 Semi‐detached Seedley
25 Peveril Road, Salford, M6 6LN 148500 84 0 84 1768 Semi‐detached Seedley
38 Lostock Road, Salford, M5 5LH 125000 25/09/2017 68 0 68 1838 Semi‐detached Seedley
7 Lostock Road, Salford, M5 5LH 173000 15/09/2017 83 0 83 2084 Semi‐detached Seedley
3 Joslyn Road, Salford, M5 5LQ 165000 16/02/2018 82 0 82 2012 Semi‐detached Seedley
15 Hart Hill Drive, Salford, M5 5LX 163000 25/09/2017 76 0 76 2145 Semi‐detached Seedley
11 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG  176995 01/04/2016 80 0 80 2212 Terraced Seedley
17 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG  179995 01/04/2016 80 0 80 2250 Terraced Seedley
3 Ivy Grange Avenue, Salford, M6 8EG  180995 18/04/2016 80 0 80 2262 Terraced Seedley
Sample size 12 MEAN 2182

Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

South Swinton
Apartment 9 Worsley Point, 251 Worsley Road, M27 0YE 167000 28/04/2016 83 0 83 2012 Apartment South Swinton
Apartment 20 Worsley Point, 251 Worsley Road, M27 0YE 187000 31/03/2016 129 0 129 1450 Apartment South Swinton
11 Hardy Grove, Manchester, M27 0DA  350000 15/06/2017 129 14 143 2448 Detached South Swinton
31 Hardy Grove, Manchester, M27 0DA  290000 26/06/2017 117 14 131 2214 Detached South Swinton
15 Houghton Lane, Manchester, M27 0DX  405000 22/08/2017 139 14 153 2647 Detached South Swinton
7 Knights Grove, Manchester, M27 0GL  235000 02/03/2017 74 0 74 3159 Semi‐detached South Swinton
4 Lambton Road, Manchester, M28 2ST  320000 30/08/2017 101 0 101 3168 Semi‐detached South Swinton
40 Lambton Road, Manchester, M28 2ST  370000 16/02/2018 153 0 153 2418 Semi‐detached South Swinton

P
age 2386



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

60 Thorn Road, Manchester, M27 5QT  238000 11/07/2017 108 0 108 2195 Semi‐detached South Swinton
33 Houghton Lane, Manchester, M27 0DZ  264000 11/09/2017 86 0 86 3070 Semi‐detached South Swinton
Sample size 10 MEAN 2478

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 per sqm

South Walkden
2a Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 294995 03/08/2017 109 14 123 2398 Detached South Walkden
2B Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 339995 17/08/2017 128 14 142 2394 Detached South Walkden
4 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 314995 23/08/2017 128 14 142 2218 Detached South Walkden
6 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 334995 17/08/2017 128 14 142 2359 Detached South Walkden
8 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 359995 25/08/2017 138 14 152 2368 Detached South Walkden
10 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 324995 17/03/2017 128 14 142 2289 Detached South Walkden
12 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 259995 24/03/2017 95 14 109 2385 Detached South Walkden
14 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 269995 31/03/2017 105 14 119 2269 Detached South Walkden
16 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 294995 05/05/2017 113 14 127 2323 Detached South Walkden
18 Dowley Gap Road, Manchester, M28 3UQ 271995 10/05/2017 105 14 119 2286 Detached South Walkden
33 Avoncliffe Road, Manchester, M28 3UJ 364995 24/11/2017 128 14 142 2570 Detached South Walkden
14 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 318995 02/06/2017 133 14 147 2170 Detached South Walkden
15 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 254995 28/04/2017 104 14 118 2161 Detached South Walkden
16 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 380995 05/06/2017 157 14 171 2228 Detached South Walkden
17 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 305995 28/04/2017 119 14 133 2301 Detached South Walkden
18 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 342995 22/06/2017 135 14 149 2302 Detached South Walkden
20 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 343500 31/05/2017 135 14 149 2305 Detached South Walkden
22 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 389995 31/05/2017 157 14 171 2281 Detached South Walkden
24 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 349995 07/07/2017 122 14 136 2573 Detached South Walkden
26 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 359995 30/06/2017 156 14 170 2118 Detached South Walkden
28 Horsley Avenue, Manchester, M28 3YA 305995 30/06/2017 119 14 133 2301 Detached South Walkden
1 Bullbridge View, Manchester, M28 3YB 249995 30/11/2017 89 14 103 2427 Detached South Walkden
26 Bullbridge View, Manchester, M28 3YB 322995 31/01/2018 133 14 147 2197 Detached South Walkden
28 Bullbridge View, Manchester, M28 3YB 269995 09/01/2018 104 14 118 2288 Detached South Walkden
1 Edge Green, Worsley, M28 7XP 265000 03/02/2017 75 14 89 2978 Detached South Walkden
23 Langtree Close, Worsley, M28 7XT 270000 03/11/2017 82 14 96 2813 Detached South Walkden
33 Eden Vale, Worsley, M28 1YR 400000 01/12/2017 115 14 129 3101 Detached South Walkden
17 Hindburn Drive, Worsley, M28 1XY 335000 09/11/2017 121 14 135 2481 Detached South Walkden
25 Bellpit Close, Manchester, M28 7XH  325000 25/08/2017 120.18 14 134.18 2422 Detached South Walkden
43 Bellpit Close, Manchester, M28 7XH  350000 14/09/2017 119.24 14 133.24 2627 Detached South Walkden
24Greylag Crescent, Manchester, M28 7AB 180000 24/11/2017 65 0 65 2769 Terraced South Walkden
Sample size 31 MEAN 2410

Proposed 
value area Mid/high £2,500 per sqm

Trinity
30 Linen Court, Salford, M3 6JG  115000 14/09/2016 58 0 58 1989 Apartment Trinity
65 Linen Court, Salford, M3 6JG  165000 17/01/2017 95 0 95 1737 Apartment Trinity
6 Angora Drive, Salford, M3 6AL 101000 03/11/2017 53 0 53 1906 Flat Trinity
26 Bevill Square, Salford, M3 6BB  113000 28/07/2017 63 0 63 1794 Flat Trinity
Apartment 22 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 145000 20/12/2017 68 0 68 2132 Flat Trinity
Apartment 41 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 150000 18/12/2017 66 0 66 2273 Flat Trinity
Apartment 46 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 182000 28/12/2017 75 0 75 2427 Flat Trinity
Apartment 36 delta Point, 76 Blackfriars Road, Salford, M3 7EL 173000 07/06/2017 66 0 66 2621 Flat Trinity
7 Tysoe Gardens, Salford, M3 6BL  165000 13/05/2016 63 0 63 2617 Semi‐detached Trinity
59 Calico Close, Salford, M3 6AH  130000 11/10/2017 64 0 64 2031 Semi‐detached Trinity
14 Chiffon Way, Salford, M3 6AB  142500 12/08/2016 56 0 56 2523 Semi‐detached Trinity
2 Brocade Close, Salford, M3 6AG  140000 31/08/2016 57 0 57 2470 Terraced Trinity

P
age 2387



Address Price Paid (£) Transaction date
EPC 
floorspace m2

Garage 
allowance 
(m2)

Total 
floorspace 
(m2) £ per sqm  Property type  Value area

Sample size 12 MEAN 2210
Proposed 
value area Mid £2,200 per sqm

Winton
155 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  96750 08/12/2017 49 0 49 1974 Apartment Winton 
119 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  82500 05/09/2017 39 0 39 2128 Apartment Winton 
143 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  92000 24/03/2017 38 0 38 2421 Apartment Winton 
30 Chesterfield Close, Manchester, M30 8EJ  235000 10/02/2017 110 14 124 1895 Detached Winton 
4 Chesterfield Close, Manchester, M30 8EJ  240000 30/01/2018 72 14 86 2791 Detached Winton 
2 Chesterfield Close, Manchester, M30 8EJ  234995 21/12/2016 72 14 86 2733 Detached Winton 
35 Calder Lane, Manchester, M30 8EL  235000 28/09/2017 110 14 124 1895 Detached Winton 
35 Calder Lane, Manchester, M30 8EL  235000 28/09/2017 110 14 124 1895 Detached Winton 
1 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  172995 10/03/2017 68 0 68 2544 Semi‐detached Winton 
4 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  234995 03/02/2017 68 0 68 3456 Semi‐detached Winton 
7 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  162995 27/01/2017 68 0 68 2397 Semi‐detached Winton 
23 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  157995 07/10/2016 68 0 68 2323 Semi‐detached Winton 
25 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  157995 29/09/2016 68 0 68 2323 Semi‐detached Winton 
26 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  171995 30/06/2016 80 0 80 2150 Semi‐detached Winton 
43 Chelmer Way, Manchester, M30 8EN  156995 27/05/2016 68 0 68 2309 Semi‐detached Winton 
10 Calder Lane, Manchester, M30 8EL  175000 27/10/2016 74 0 74 2365 Semi‐detached Winton 
58 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BG  161000 11/08/2017 58 0 58 2791 Semi‐detached Winton 
163 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  177500 10/08/2017 64 0 64 2773 Semi‐detached Winton 
7 Montonmill Gardens, Manchester, M30 8BQ  236000 02/10/2017 74 0 74 3189 Semi‐detached Winton 
65 Montonfields Road, Manchester, M30 8AW  198000 31/03/2017 95 0 95 2084 Semi‐detached Winton 
Sample size 20 MEAN 2422

Proposed 
value area Mid/high  £2,500 per sqm

Worsley
58 Manthorpe Avenue, Manchester, M28 2AZ  125500 17/02/2017 54 0 54 2340 Apartment Worsley
47 Drywood Avenue, Manchester, M28 2QA  595000 29/09/2017 208 14 222 2680 Detached Worsley
67 Drywood Avenue, Manchester, M28 2QA 575000 11/05/2017 232 14 246 2337 Detached Worsley
5 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  390000 13/04/2017 156 14 170 2300 Detached Worsley
2 Manthorpe Avenue, Manchester, M28 2AZ  385000 11/05/2017 126 14 140 2750 Detached Worsley
11 Woodstock Drive, Manchester, M28 2NP  428000 18/08/2017 126 14 140 3057 Detached Worsley
16 Leaconfield Drive, M28 2WE 485375 12/09/2017 198 14 212 2290 Detached Worsley
3 Broadoak Road, Manchester, M28 2TL  700000 21/04/2017 206 14 220 3182 Detached Worsley
144 Chatsworth Road, Manchester, M28 2NT  950000 28/06/2017 308 14 322 2950 Detached Worsley
2 The Coppice, Manchester, M28 2NS  385000 17/02/2017 101 0 101 3822 Semi‐detached Worsley
18 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  380000 15/03/2017 156 0 156 2443 Semi‐detached Worsley
27 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  370000 09/02/2018 156 0 156 2372 Semi‐detached Worsley
12 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  360000 29/09/2017 156 0 156 2308 Semi‐detached Worsley
10 Manthorpe Avenue, Manchester, M28 2AZ  240000 23/02/2017 102 0 102 2353 Semi‐detached Worsley
19 Broadoak Road, Manchester, M28 2TL  650000 21/04/2017 174 0 174 3736 Semi‐detached Worsley
15 The Moorings, Manchester, M28 2QE  353000 30/06/2017 144 0 144 2451 Terraced Worsley
Sample size 16 MEAN 2711

Proposed 
value area High £2,800 per sqm

P
age 2388



Annex E – Literature review of cost for providing electric vehicle charging 
points 
 

Organisation / 
Local Authority 

Cost / commentary Cost source 

Chelmsford City 
Council 

The additional costs of providing a car 
charging point is modest. An allowance of 
£500/unit is made. 

Chelmsford City Council  
Local Plan viability assessment 
including CIL viability review 
 
HDH Planning and Development Ltd. 
 
January 2018 

Havant Borough 
Council 

£500 / unit. Local plan and CIL viability study 
 
Dixon Searle Partnership 
 
November 2017 

Leeds City 
Council 

For the purpose of this assessment we 
have assumed that all dwellings (houses) 
will be provided with an electric vehicle 
charging point, which is clearly a worst 
case scenario. With respect to apartment 
schemes in the City Centre we have 
assumed that 1 charging point will be 
provided for every 10 apartments. 
 
We have modelled the viability of policy 
EN8 by including an extra over cost of 
£100 for every charging point. 
 

Economic Viability Study (EVS) 
Update 2018 
 
GVA 
 
January 2018 

Greater London 
Authority 

In addition, £1,500 per space has been 
allowed for active electric car charging, 
which was based on quotations received 
on recent projects for standard residential 
projects in London.  This is a conservative 
approach since the draft London Plan 
allows for a proportion of parking spaces 
to have passive electric charging which 
will have a lesser cost at the start of a 
development. 
 

London Plan Viability Study  
 
Three Dragons 
 
December 2017 

Wealden District 
Council 

External development costs factor in an 
allowance of 10% - this includes 
requirement for EVC.  
 

Wealden Local Plan – viability study 
 
BPS  
 
July 2017 

South 
Kensington 
District Council 

A £500 allowance has been made.  
 

Whole Plan Viability Study 
 
AECOM 
 
February 2018 

Borough of 
Broxbourne  

The costs for individual dwellings are 
£500-£1,500 per dwelling. This is less 
than 1% of the likely value on individual 
dwellings. If developers are unable to 
meet this requirement, viability appraisal 
is the recognised route for challenge and 
this is not therefore considered to be a 
Local Plan matter. 

Local Plan Deliverability Report 
 
June 2018 
 
 

Page 2389

http://www.chelmsford.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/1121291.pdf
http://www.chelmsford.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/1121291.pdf
http://www.chelmsford.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/1121291.pdf
http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Appendix%20I%20-%20Assumptions%20Summary.pdf
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/Local%20Plans/Publication%20Draft%20Plan%20Supporting%20Documents/8.Economic%20Viability%20Study%20Update%202018.pdf
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/Local%20Plans/Publication%20Draft%20Plan%20Supporting%20Documents/8.Economic%20Viability%20Study%20Update%202018.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_plan_viability_study_dec_2017.pdf
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/nmsruntime/saveasdialog.aspx?lID=23308&sID=1617
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23239&p=0
https://www.broxbourne.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Documents/Planning_Policy/EXAM%203B%20-%20BBC%20-%20Local%20Plan%20Deliverability%20Report%20JUNE%202018.pdf


Organisation / 
Local Authority 

Cost / commentary Cost source 

 
A similar conclusion was reached by the 
London Plan viability assessment: “It 
should be noted that whilst it is important 
to make an allowance for any of these 
additional costs, some (e.g. affordable 
workspace, cycle parking [£758 per 
space]) have a minimal impact on overall 
build costs as they are a very small 
percentage, often less than 1% of GDV 
[Gross Development Value]. Therefore, 
any minor amendments of the policy 
through the plan process, or its 
application, will have very limited effect on 
overall viability” (London Plan Viability 
Study (Greater London Authority, 
December 2017), paragraph 7.2.10 page 
50.   
 

Tandridge 
District Council 

The Council has advised that electric car 
charging points can be installed at a cost 
of £250 per unit. We have incorporated 
this cost into our appraisals. 

Tandridge Draft Local Plan: Viability 
Assessment  
 
BNP Paribas 
 
June 2018  

 

Page 2390

https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Planning%20and%20building/Planning%20strategies%20and%20policies/Local%20plan/Evidence%20base%20and%20technical%20studies/Tandridge-Draft-Local-Plan-Viability-Assessment-%282018%29.pdf
https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Planning%20and%20building/Planning%20strategies%20and%20policies/Local%20plan/Evidence%20base%20and%20technical%20studies/Tandridge-Draft-Local-Plan-Viability-Assessment-%282018%29.pdf


 

 
Annex F – Cost of policy requirements and planning obligations (excluding affordable housing) 
 
        Planning obligations Policy requirements         

 
Scheme type Value area Number 

of 
dwellings 

A .Open 
space 

B. 
Education 

C. 
Transport 

D. Public 
realm 

E. 
Allotme-

nts 

F. 
Accessible 

and 
adaptable 

homes 

G. 
Electric 
vehicle 

charging 

H. Energy 
efficiency 

Total 
obligations 

(A to E) 

Total 
policy 

require-
ments (F 

to H) 

Overall 
total (A to 

H)) 

Cost per 
dwelling 

1 High density 
apartments 

Premium 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

2 Mid density 
apartments 

Premium 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £168,482 £652,713 £283,507 £936,220 £7,490 

3 Houses Premium 70 £522,480 £221,960 £67,200 £0 £18,340 £36,424 £35,000 £162,842 £829,980 £234,266 £1,064,246 £15,204 

4 High density 
apartments 

High 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

5 Mid density 
apartments 

High 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

6 Houses High 70 £522,480 £221,960 £67,200 £0 £18,340 £36,424 £35,000 £162,842 £829,980 £234,266 £1,064,246 £15,204 

7 High density 
apartments 

Mid/high 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

8 Mid density 
apartments 

Mid/high 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

9 Houses Mid/high 75 £519,370 £208,371 £66,800 £0 £19,650 £39,039 £37,500 £163,297 £814,191 £239,836 £1,054,026 £14,054 

10 High density 
apartments 

Mid 150 £445,831 £0 £79,400 £218,350 £39,300 £138,030 £0 £353,879 £782,881 £491,909 £1,274,790 £8,499 

11 Mid density 
apartments 

Mid 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

12 Houses Mid 80 £522,480 £199,311 £67,200 £0 £20,960 £41,675 £40,000 £168,482 £809,951 £250,158 £1,060,109 £13,251 

13 Mid density 
apartments 

Low/mid 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

14 Houses Low/mid 100 £583,125 £198,179 £75,000 £0 £26,200 £52,253 £50,000 £181,457 £882,504 £283,709 £1,166,213 £11,662 

15 Mid density 
apartments 

Low 125 £371,713 £0 £66,200 £182,050 £32,750 £115,025 £0 £188,974 £652,713 £303,999 £956,712 £7,654 

16 Houses Low 100 £583,125 £198,179 £75,000 £0 £26,200 £52,253 £50,000 £181,457 £882,504 £283,709 £1,166,213 £11,662 

 

P
age 2391



 

Page 2392



Annex G: Appraisals G1 to G16 – impact of policy requirements and 

non-affordable housing planning obligations 

Page 2393



 

Page 2394



Appraisal G1.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £2,815,703
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 1. High density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £30,730,900 £0 £0 £0 £0 £30,730,900

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £30,730,900

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £30,730,900 £ 2,805 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £12,506,545

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2395



Appraisal G1.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,406,545

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,406,545

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.1% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.4% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 1.6% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 2.8% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,881 5,219

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £921,927 6,146
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £921,927

Total Direct Costs £21,305,749

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £386,750 2,578 per OM home 773,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2396



Appraisal G1.

Agents Fees £3,868
Legal Fees £2,901
Stamp Duty £8,838
Total Interest Paid £1,180,789

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,583,144

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £5,531,562 36,877 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £5,531,562
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £28,420,456

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 £3,210,444

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £2,815,703

Scheme Investment MIRR 25.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.2% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,845,874

Site Value (PV) per hectare £5,631,406 per hectare £2,598,498 per acre

Page 2397



 

Page 2398



Appraisal G2.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £7,273,489
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £25,620,700 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,620,700

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £25,620,700

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £25,620,700 £ 2,890 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,895,916

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2399



Appraisal G2.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,270,916

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £16,270,916

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 1,348 0.6% 168,482
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.4% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£283,507 1.1% 283,507
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 1.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £755,584 6,045

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £768,621 6,149
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £768,621

Total Direct Costs £11,901,702

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2400



Appraisal G2.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £566,938

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,318,633

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,611,726 36,894 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,611,726
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,832,062

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £8,163,638

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £7,273,489

Scheme Investment MIRR 58.7% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 2.7% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,737,058

Site Value (PV) per hectare £7,273,489 per hectare £3,303,779 per acre

Page 2401



 

Page 2402



Appraisal G3.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £8,359,729
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 3. Houses,  premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £327,533 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £406,543 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £26,798,800 £0 £0 £0 £0 £26,798,800

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £26,798,800

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £26,798,800 £ 3,400 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,412,431

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2403



Appraisal G3.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,412,431

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £18,412,431

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.6% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.1% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.1% 17,500

£234,266 0.9% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.5% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Other 1 £522,480 7,464
Other 2 £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £829,980 11,857

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £803,964 11,485
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £803,964

Total Direct Costs £10,661,684

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2404



Appraisal G3.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £116,486

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,630,376

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,823,784 68,911 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,823,784
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,115,845

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £9,682,955

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £8,359,729

Scheme Investment MIRR 111.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£3,404,022

Site Value (PV) per hectare £4,179,864 per hectare £1,959,319 per acre

Page 2405



 

Page 2406



Appraisal G4.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£981,749
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 4. High density apartments, high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 4. High density apartments, high value Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £140,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £183,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £240,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £25,307,800 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,307,800

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £25,307,800

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £25,307,800 £ 2,310 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £7,083,445

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2407



Appraisal G4.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £26,207,800
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £7,983,445

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £26,207,800
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £7,983,445

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.4% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.5% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 1.9% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 3.4% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,931 2,973
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,981 5,220

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £759,234 5,062
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £759,234

Total Direct Costs £21,143,156

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £386,750 2,578 per OM home 773,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2408



Appraisal G4.

Agents Fees £3,868
Legal Fees £2,901
Stamp Duty £8,838
Total Interest Paid £1,226,268

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,628,623

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,555,404 30,369 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,555,404
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £27,327,184

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 (£1,119,384)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£981,749)

Scheme Investment MIRR 14.6% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,845,980

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£1,963,499 per hectare -£906,017 per acre

Page 2409



 

Page 2410



Appraisal G5.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £4,054,523
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 5. Mid density apartments, high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 5. Mid density apartments, high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £140,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £183,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £240,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £21,099,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £21,099,400

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £21,099,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £21,099,400 £ 2,380 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,616

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2411



Appraisal G5.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,749,616

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,749,616

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 0.9% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.5% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.4% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.2% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £632,982 5,064
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £632,982

Total Direct Costs £11,786,555

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2412



Appraisal G5.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £587,531

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,339,226

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,797,892 30,383 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,797,892
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,923,673

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £4,550,727

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £4,054,523

Scheme Investment MIRR 42.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,800,875

Site Value (PV) per hectare £4,054,523 per hectare £1,841,654 per acre

Page 2413



 

Page 2414



Appraisal G6.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £5,118,722
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 6. Houses,  high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £269,733 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £334,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £22,069,600 £0 £0 £0 £0 £22,069,600

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £22,069,600

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £22,069,600 £ 2,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £13,683,231

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2415



Appraisal G6.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,683,231

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,683,231

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.7% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.2% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.2% 17,500

£234,266 1.1% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.8% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 7,464
Allotments £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £829,980 11,857

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £662,088 9,458
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £662,088

Total Direct Costs £10,519,808

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2416



Appraisal G6.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £134,430

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,648,320

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,972,528 56,750 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,972,528
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,140,656

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £5,928,944

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £5,118,722

Scheme Investment MIRR 86.5% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£3,404,022

Site Value (PV) per hectare £2,559,361 per hectare £1,199,705 per acre

Page 2417



 

Page 2418



Appraisal G7.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£2,819,399
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 7. High density apartments, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 7. High density apartments, mid/high value Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £125,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £163,750 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £215,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £22,596,250 £0 £0 £0 £0 £22,596,250

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £22,596,250

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £22,596,250 £ 2,063 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £4,371,895

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2419



Appraisal G7.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £23,496,250
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £5,271,895

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £23,496,250
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £5,271,895

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.5% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.6% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 2.1% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 3.8% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,881 5,219

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £677,888 4,519
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £677,888

Total Direct Costs £21,061,710

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £321,750 2,145 per OM home 643,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2420



Appraisal G7.

Agents Fees £3,218
Legal Fees £2,413
Stamp Duty £5,588
Total Interest Paid £1,248,906

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,581,874

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,067,325 27,116 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,067,325
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £26,710,909

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 (£3,214,659)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£2,819,399)

Scheme Investment MIRR 8.7% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.4% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,768,402

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£5,638,798 per hectare -£2,601,909 per acre

Page 2421



 

Page 2422



Appraisal G8.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £2,582,382
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £125,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £163,750 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £215,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,838,750 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,838,750

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,838,750

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,838,750 £ 2,125 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,113,966

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2423



Appraisal G8.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,488,966

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,488,966

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.0% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.6% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.6% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.5% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £565,163 4,521
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £565,163

Total Direct Costs £11,718,736

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2424



Appraisal G8.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £582,024

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,205,619

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,390,975 27,128 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,390,975
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,315,330

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £2,898,420

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £2,582,382

Scheme Investment MIRR 34.5% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.1% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,660,084

Site Value (PV) per hectare £2,582,382 per hectare £1,172,975 per acre

Page 2425



 

Page 2426



Appraisal G9.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £3,296,485
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 9. Houses, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 75 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 75 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,921 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 38 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,961 sq m / hectare equals 17,250                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £242,744 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £289,706 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £19,802,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19,802,500

 Net Area (sq m) 7,921 - - - - 7,921
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £19,802,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £19,802,500 £ 2,500 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,427,865 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,635

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2427



Appraisal G9.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,374,635

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,374,635

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,246 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £163,297 2,177 0.8% 81,649
Electric vehicle charging £37,500 500 0.2% 18,750

£369,279 1.9% 184,640
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £409,120 5,455 2.1% 204,560
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £778,399 10,379

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £208,371 2,778
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,800 891
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £519,370 6,925
Allotments £19,650 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £814,191 10,856

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £594,075 7,921
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £594,075

Total Direct Costs £10,614,529

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 15,840 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2428



Appraisal G9.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £507,272

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,764,962

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,564,450 47,526 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,564,450
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,943,941

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £3,858,559

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £3,296,485

Scheme Investment MIRR 38.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.0% Peak Cash Requirement -£7,656,882

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,648,243 per hectare £780,769 per acre

Page 2429



 

Page 2430



Appraisal G10.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£4,738,688
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 10. High density apartments, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 10. High density apartments, mid value Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £110,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £144,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £189,200 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £19,884,700 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19,884,700

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £19,884,700

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £19,884,700 £ 1,815 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £1,660,345

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2431



Appraisal G10.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £20,784,700
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £2,560,345

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £20,784,700
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £2,560,345

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.7% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.7% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 2.4% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 4.3% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £782,881 5,219

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £596,541 3,977
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £596,541

Total Direct Costs £20,980,363

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £321,750 2,145 per OM home 643,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2432



Appraisal G10.

Agents Fees £3,218
Legal Fees £2,413
Stamp Duty £5,588
Total Interest Paid £1,295,141

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,628,109

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,579,246 23,862 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,579,246
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £26,187,718

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 (£5,403,018)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£4,738,688)

Scheme Investment MIRR 2.2% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£20,768,402

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£9,477,375 per hectare -£4,373,143 per acre

Page 2433



 

Page 2434



Appraisal G11.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £985,218
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £110,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £144,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £189,200 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £16,578,100 £0 £0 £0 £0 £16,578,100

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £16,578,100

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £16,578,100 £ 1,870 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,853,316

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2435



Appraisal G11.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £7,228,316

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £7,228,316

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.1% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.7% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.8% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £497,343 3,979
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £497,343

Total Direct Costs £11,650,916

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2436



Appraisal G11.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £588,740

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,212,335

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,984,058 23,872 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,984,058
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,847,309

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £1,105,791

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £985,218

Scheme Investment MIRR 25.4% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,579,981

Site Value (PV) per hectare £985,218 per hectare £447,508 per acre

Page 2437



 

Page 2438



Appraisal G12.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £1,908,510
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 12. Houses, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 80 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 80 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,182 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 40 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,091 sq m / hectare equals 17,818                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £163,900 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £220,943 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £248,600 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,000,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,000,400

 Net Area (sq m) 8,182 - - - - 8,182
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,000,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,000,400 £ 2,200 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,705,566 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,294,834

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2439



Appraisal G12.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,294,834

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,294,834

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,106 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £41,675 521 0.2% 20,838
Electric vehicle charging £40,000 500 0.2% 20,000

£250,157 1.4% 125,079
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £422,600 5,283 2.3% 211,300
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £672,757 8,409

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £199,311 2,491
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £67,200 840
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 6,531
Allotments £20,960 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £809,951 10,124

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £540,012 6,750
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £540,012

Total Direct Costs £10,728,286

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 14,850 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2440



Appraisal G12.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £540,428

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,798,118

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,240,072 40,501 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,240,072
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,766,476

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £2,233,924

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £1,908,510

Scheme Investment MIRR 30.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£7,715,573

Site Value (PV) per hectare £954,255 per hectare £452,028 per acre

Page 2441



 

Page 2442



Appraisal G13.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£4,019
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 13. Mid density apartments, low/mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 13. Mid density apartments, low/mid value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £100,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £131,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £172,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £15,071,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,071,000

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,000 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £15,071,000

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,071,000 £ 1,700 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £5,346,216

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2443



Appraisal G13.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £15,446,000
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £5,721,216

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £15,446,000
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £5,721,216

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £189,974 1,520 1.2% 189,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.7% 115,025
Electirc vehicle charging £0

£304,999 2.0% 304,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 3.1% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £777,076 6,217

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £452,130 3,617
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £452,130

Total Direct Costs £11,606,703

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £516,000 4,128 per OM home 516,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2444



Appraisal G13.

Agents Fees £5,160
Legal Fees £3,870
Stamp Duty £15,300
Total Interest Paid £590,698

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,131,028

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,712,780 21,702 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,712,780
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,450,511

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 (£4,511)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£4,019)

Scheme Investment MIRR 19.4% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,489,445

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£4,019 per hectare -£1,826 per acre

Page 2445



 

Page 2446



Appraisal G14.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £1,368,903
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 14. Houses, low/mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £149,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £186,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £212,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £17,565,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £17,565,000

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,000 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £17,565,000

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £17,565,000 £ 2,000 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £8,220,508

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2447



Appraisal G14.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,220,508

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £8,220,508

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.0% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.6% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.6% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £882,504 8,825

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £526,950 5,270
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £526,950

Total Direct Costs £11,491,272

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,032,000 10,320 per OM home 516,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2448



Appraisal G14.

Agents Fees £10,320
Legal Fees £7,740
Stamp Duty £41,100
Total Interest Paid £158,602

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,249,762

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,161,700 31,617 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,161,700
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,902,734

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £1,662,266

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £1,368,903

Scheme Investment MIRR 45.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.9% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,652,038

Site Value (PV) per hectare £684,451 per hectare £336,355 per acre

Page 2449



 

Page 2450



Appraisal G15.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 -£1,005,308
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 15. Mid density apartments, low value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 15. Mid density apartments, low value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £90,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £117,900 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £154,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £13,563,900 £0 £0 £0 £0 £13,563,900

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £1,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £13,563,900

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £13,563,900 £ 1,530 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £3,839,116

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2451



Appraisal G15.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,938,900
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £4,214,116

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £13,938,900
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £4,214,116

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.4% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.8% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 2.2% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 3.4% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £652,713 5,222

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £406,917 3,255
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £406,917

Total Direct Costs £11,560,490

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £444,000 3,552 per OM home 444,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2452



Appraisal G15.

Agents Fees £4,440
Legal Fees £3,330
Stamp Duty £11,700
Total Interest Paid £601,778

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,065,248

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,441,502 19,532 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,441,502
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,067,240

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 (£1,128,340)

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 (£1,005,308)

Scheme Investment MIRR 13.0% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.2% Peak Cash Requirement -£11,466,335

Site Value (PV) per hectare -£1,005,308 per hectare -£456,633 per acre

Page 2453



 

Page 2454



Appraisal G16.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £334,158
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 16. Houses, low value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £134,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £167,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £190,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £15,808,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,808,500

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £1,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £15,808,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,808,500 £ 1,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,464,008

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2455



Appraisal G16.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £6,464,008

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £6,464,008

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.1% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.8% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.9% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £0
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £882,504 8,825

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £474,255 4,743
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £474,255

Total Direct Costs £11,438,577

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £888,000 8,880 per OM home 444,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2456



Appraisal G16.

Agents Fees £8,880
Legal Fees £6,660
Stamp Duty £33,900
Total Interest Paid £181,183

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,118,623

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,845,530 28,455 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,845,530
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,402,730

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £405,770

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £334,158

Scheme Investment MIRR 36.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,492,567

Site Value (PV) per hectare £167,079 per hectare £82,106 per acre

Page 2457



 

Page 2458



Annex H: Appraisals H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H14 and 
H16 – cumulative impact of policy requirements, planning obligations 
and affordable housing 
 

Page 2459



 

Page 2460



Appraisal H1.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £609,949
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 1. High density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 0.5
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 150 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 150 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 9,039 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 300 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Site Area 0.50 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 18,077 sq m / hectare equals 78,733                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £30,730,900 £0 £0 £0 £0 £30,730,900

 Net Area (sq m) 9,039 - - - - 9,039
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £30,730,900

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £30,730,900 £ 2,805 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £18,224,355 £ 1,663 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £12,506,545

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2461



Appraisal H1.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £900,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £900,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,406,545

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £31,630,900
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £18,224,355
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,406,545

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £353,879 2,359 1.1% 707,758
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £138,030 920 0.4% 276,060
Electric vehicle charging £0

£491,909 1.6% 983,818
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £884,677 5,898 2.8% 1,769,355
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £1,376,586 9,177

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £218,350 1,456
Affordable Housing - 15% on site £2,362,438 15,750
Transport £79,400 529
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £445,831 2,972
Allotments £39,300 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £3,145,319 20,969

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £921,927 6,146
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £921,927

Total Direct Costs £23,668,187

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £386,750 2,578 per OM home 773,500 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2462



Appraisal H1.

Agents Fees £3,868
Legal Fees £2,901
Stamp Duty £8,838
Total Interest Paid £1,333,336

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,735,691

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £5,531,562 36,877 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £5,531,562
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £30,935,441

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2020 £695,459

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £609,949

Scheme Investment MIRR 19.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 1.2% Peak Cash Requirement -£23,199,254

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,219,898 per hectare £562,897 per acre

Page 2463



 

Page 2464



Appraisal H2.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £1,167,713
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 2. Mid density apartments, premium value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £170,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £222,700 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £292,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £25,620,700 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,620,700

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £25,620,700

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £25,620,700 £ 2,890 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,895,916

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2465



Appraisal H2.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,270,916

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £25,995,700
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £16,270,916

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 1,348 0.6% 168,482
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.4% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£283,507 1.1% 283,507
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 1.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £755,584 6,045

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 50% on site £6,565,304 52,522
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £7,218,017 57,744

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £768,621 6,149
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £768,621

Total Direct Costs £18,467,006

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2466



Appraisal H2.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £854,652

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,606,347

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,611,726 36,894 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,611,726
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £24,685,079

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £1,310,621

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £1,167,713

Scheme Investment MIRR 25.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 2.7% Peak Cash Requirement -£17,143,819

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,167,713 per hectare £530,401 per acre

Page 2467



 

Page 2468



Appraisal H3.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £2,330,214
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 3. Houses,  premium value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £327,533 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £406,543 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £26,798,800 £0 £0 £0 £0 £26,798,800

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £3,400 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £26,798,800

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £26,798,800 £ 3,400 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,412,431

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2469



Appraisal H3.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,412,431

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £26,798,800
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £18,412,431

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.6% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.1% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.1% 17,500

£234,266 0.9% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.5% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 50% on site £6,867,193 98,103
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Other 1 £522,480 7,464
Other 2 £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £7,697,173 109,960

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £803,964 11,485
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £803,964

Total Direct Costs £17,528,877

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2470



Appraisal H3.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £233,195

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,747,085

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £4,823,784 68,911 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £4,823,784
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £24,099,746

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £2,699,054

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £2,330,214

Scheme Investment MIRR 57.0% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£4,669,113

Site Value (PV) per hectare £1,165,107 per hectare £546,146 per acre

Page 2471



 

Page 2472



Appraisal H5.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £503,823
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 5. Mid density apartments, high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 5. Mid density apartments, high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £140,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £183,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £240,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £21,099,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £21,099,400

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £21,099,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £21,099,400 £ 2,380 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,616

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2473



Appraisal H5.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,749,616

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £21,474,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,749,616

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 0.9% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.5% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.4% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.2% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 35% on site £3,784,705 30,278
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £4,437,418 35,499

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £632,982 5,064
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £632,982

Total Direct Costs £15,571,260

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £714,000 5,712 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2474



Appraisal H5.

Agents Fees £7,140
Legal Fees £5,355
Stamp Duty £25,200
Total Interest Paid £788,070

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,539,765

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,797,892 30,383 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,797,892
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £20,908,917

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £565,483

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £503,823

Scheme Investment MIRR 21.8% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.3% Peak Cash Requirement -£15,502,121

Site Value (PV) per hectare £503,823 per hectare £228,848 per acre

Page 2475



 

Page 2476



Appraisal H6.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £93,823
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 6. Houses,  high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 70 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 70 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,882 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 35 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,941 sq m / hectare equals 17,165                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £269,733 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £334,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £22,069,600 £0 £0 £0 £0 £22,069,600

 Net Area (sq m) 7,882 - - - - 7,882
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £22,069,600

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £22,069,600 £ 2,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,386,369 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £13,683,231

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2477



Appraisal H6.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £13,683,231

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £22,069,600
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,386,369
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £13,683,231

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £162,842 2,326 0.7% 81,421
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £36,424 520 0.2% 18,212
Electric vehicle charging £35,000 500 0.2% 17,500

£234,266 1.1% 117,133
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £407,105 5,816 1.8% 203,553
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £641,371 9,162

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £221,960 3,171
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 50% on site £5,655,335 80,791
Transport £67,200 960
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 7,464
Allotments £18,340 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £6,485,315 92,647

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £662,088 9,458
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £662,088

Total Direct Costs £16,175,143

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,428,000 20,400 per OM home 714,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2478



Appraisal H6.

Agents Fees £14,280
Legal Fees £10,710
Stamp Duty £60,900
Total Interest Paid £299,365

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,813,255

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,972,528 56,750 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,972,528
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £21,960,926

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/11/2020 £108,674

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £93,823

Scheme Investment MIRR 38.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£4,445,862

Site Value (PV) per hectare £46,911 per hectare £21,990 per acre

Page 2479



 

Page 2480



Appraisal H8.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £315,673
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 8. Mid density apartments, mid/high value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £125,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £163,750 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £215,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,838,750 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,838,750

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,838,750

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,838,750 £ 2,125 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,113,966

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2481



Appraisal H8.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,488,966

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,213,750
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,488,966

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.0% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.6% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.6% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.5% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 25% on site £2,413,715 19,310
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £3,066,428 24,531

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £565,163 4,521
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £565,163

Total Direct Costs £14,132,451

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2482



Appraisal H8.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £712,423

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,336,018

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,390,975 27,128 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,390,975
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £18,859,444

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £354,306

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £315,673

Scheme Investment MIRR 21.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.1% Peak Cash Requirement -£14,020,573

Site Value (PV) per hectare £315,673 per hectare £143,386 per acre

Page 2483



 

Page 2484



Appraisal H9.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £64,767
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 9. Houses, mid/high value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 75 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 75 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,921 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 38 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 3,961 sq m / hectare equals 17,250                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £242,744 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £289,706 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £19,802,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £19,802,500

 Net Area (sq m) 7,921 - - - - 7,921
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,500 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £19,802,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £19,802,500 £ 2,500 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,427,865 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £11,374,635

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2485



Appraisal H9.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £11,374,635

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £19,802,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,427,865
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £11,374,635

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,246 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £163,297 2,177 0.8% 81,649
Electric vehicle charging £37,500 500 0.2% 18,750

£369,279 1.9% 184,640
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £409,120 5,455 2.1% 204,560
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £778,399 10,379

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £208,371 2,778
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 35% on site £3,552,073 47,361
Transport £66,800 891
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £519,370 6,925
Allotments £19,650 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £4,366,264 58,217

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £594,075 7,921
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £594,075

Total Direct Costs £14,166,602

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 15,840 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2486



Appraisal H9.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £737,947

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,995,637

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,564,450 47,526 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,564,450
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £19,726,690

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £75,810

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £64,767

Scheme Investment MIRR 20.1% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.0% Peak Cash Requirement -£9,812,587

Site Value (PV) per hectare £32,383 per hectare £15,340 per acre

Page 2487



 

Page 2488



Appraisal H11.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £243,659
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference 11. Mid density apartments, mid value Net Residential Site Area 1
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 125 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 125 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 7,536 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 125 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Site Area 1.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 7,536 sq m / hectare equals 32,820                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £110,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £144,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £189,200 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £16,578,100 £0 £0 £0 £0 £16,578,100

 Net Area (sq m) 7,536 - - - - 7,536
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £16,578,100

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £16,578,100 £ 1,870 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,724,784 £ 1,097 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,853,316

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2489



Appraisal H11.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £375,000
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £375,000

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £7,228,316

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £16,953,100
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,724,784
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £7,228,316

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £188,974 1,512 1.1% 188,974
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £115,025 920 0.7% 115,025
Electric vehicle charging £0

£303,999 1.8% 303,999
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £472,077 3,777 2.8% 472,077
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £776,076 6,209

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £0
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £182,050 1,456
Affordable Housing - 10% on site £787,460 6,300
Transport £66,200 530
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £371,713 2,974
Allotments £32,750 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £1,440,173 11,521

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £497,343 3,979
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £497,343

Total Direct Costs £12,438,376

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £594,000 4,752 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2490



Appraisal H11.

Agents Fees £5,940
Legal Fees £4,455
Stamp Duty £19,200
Total Interest Paid £633,592

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,257,187

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,984,058 23,872 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,984,058
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £16,679,621

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/5/2020 £273,479

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £243,659

Scheme Investment MIRR 20.9% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 3.5% Peak Cash Requirement -£12,350,077

Site Value (PV) per hectare £243,659 per hectare £110,675 per acre

Page 2491



 

Page 2492



Appraisal H12.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £353,330
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 12. Houses, mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 80 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 80 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,182 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 40 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,091 sq m / hectare equals 17,818                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £163,900 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £220,943 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £248,600 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £18,000,400 £0 £0 £0 £0 £18,000,400

 Net Area (sq m) 8,182 - - - - 8,182
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,200 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £18,000,400

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £18,000,400 £ 2,200 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £8,705,566 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £9,294,834

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2493



Appraisal H12.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,294,834

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £18,000,400
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £8,705,566
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £9,294,834

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £168,482 2,106 0.9% 84,241
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £41,675 521 0.2% 20,838
Electric vehicle charging £40,000 500 0.2% 20,000

£250,157 1.4% 125,079
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £422,600 5,283 2.3% 211,300
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £672,757 8,409

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £199,311 2,491
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 20% on site £1,710,038 21,375
Transport £67,200 840
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £522,480 6,531
Allotments £20,960 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £2,519,989 31,500

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £540,012 6,750
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £540,012

Total Direct Costs £12,438,324

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,188,000 14,850 per OM home 594,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2494



Appraisal H12.

Agents Fees £11,880
Legal Fees £8,910
Stamp Duty £48,900
Total Interest Paid £650,738

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,908,428

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,240,072 40,501 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,240,072
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,586,825

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/1/2021 £413,575

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £353,330

Scheme Investment MIRR 21.7% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 6.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£8,711,860

Site Value (PV) per hectare £176,665 per hectare £83,686 per acre

Page 2495



 

Page 2496



Appraisal H14.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £297,615
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 14. Houses, low/mid value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £149,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £186,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £212,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £17,565,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £17,565,000

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £2,000 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £17,565,000

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £17,565,000 £ 2,000 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £8,220,508

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2497



Appraisal H14.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £8,220,508

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £17,565,000
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £8,220,508

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.0% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.6% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.6% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing £1,251,506 12,515
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £2,134,010 21,340

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £526,950 5,270
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £526,950

Total Direct Costs £12,742,778

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £1,032,000 10,320 per OM home 516,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2498



Appraisal H14.

Agents Fees £10,320
Legal Fees £7,740
Stamp Duty £41,100
Total Interest Paid £207,967

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,299,127

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £3,161,700 31,617 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £3,161,700
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £17,203,605

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £361,395

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £297,615

Scheme Investment MIRR 35.3% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.9% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,815,659

Site Value (PV) per hectare £148,807 per hectare £73,127 per acre

Page 2499



 

Page 2500



Appraisal H16.

Surplus (Deficit) from Input land valuation at 1/7/2018 £34,060
HCA DEVELOPMENT APPRAISAL TOOL

SCHEME
Site Address 16. Houses, low value Date of appraisal 01/07/2018
Site Reference Net Residential Site Area 2
File Source Author & Organisation Salford City Council
Scheme Description Registered Provider (wher0
Housing Mix (Affordable + Open Market)

Total Number of Units 100 units
Total Number of Open Market Units 100 units
Total Number of Affordable Units 0 units
Total Net Internal Area (sq m) 8,783 sq m
% Affordable by Unit 0.0%
% Affordable by Area 0.0%
Density 50 units/ hectare
Total Number of A/H Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Open Market Persons 0 Persons
Total Number of Persons 0 Persons
Gross site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Site Area 2.00 hectares
Net Internal Housing Area / Hectare 4,391 sq m / hectare equals 19,126                    sqft per acre

Average  value (£ per unit) Open Market Phase 1: Open Market Phase 2: Open Market Phase 3:
Open Market 

Phase 4:
Open Market 

Phase 5: Total
1 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat Low rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
1 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + Flat High rise £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
2 Bed House £134,100 £0 £0 £0 £0
3 Bed House £167,400 £0 £0 £0 £0
4 Bed + House £190,800 £0 £0 £0 £0
Total Revenue £ £15,808,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,808,500

 Net Area (sq m) 8,783 - - - - 8,783
 Revenue (£ / sq m) £1,800 - - - -

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET SALES £15,808,500

Capital Value of Private Rental
Phase 1 £0
Phase 2 £0
Phase 3 £0
Phase 4 £0
Phase 5 £0
Total PR £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING £15,808,500 £ 1,800 psqm
BUILD COST OF OPEN MARKET HOUSING  inc Contingency £9,344,492 £ 1,064 psqm
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM OPEN MARKET HOUSING £6,464,008

AH Residential Values
AH & RENTAL VALUES BASED ON NET RENTS

Type of Unit Social Rented Shared Ownership (all 
phases)

Affordable Rent (all 
phases) Total

1 Bed Flat Low rise
2 Bed Flat  Low rise
3 Bed Flat Low rise
4 Bed + Flat Low rise
1 Bed Flat High rise
2 Bed Flat  High rise
3 Bed Flat High rise
4 Bed + Flat High rise
2 Bed House
3 Bed House
4 Bed + House

£0 £0 £0 £0
£ psqm  of CV (phase 1) -                                 -                                 -                                 

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (EXCLUDING  OTHER FUNDING) £0
RP Cross Subsidy (use of own assets) £0
LA s106 commuted in lieu £0
RP Re-cycled SHG £0
Use of AR rent conversion income £0
Other source of AH funding £0

OTHER SOURCES OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUNDING £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF ALL AFFORDABLE HOUSING (INCLUDING OTHER FUNDING) £0
BUILD COST OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  inc Contingency £0 #DIV/0!
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM AFFORDABLE HOUSING £0

Car Parking

No. of Spaces Price per Space (£) Value
- - £0

Value of Residential Car Parking £0
Car Parking Build Costs £0Page 2501



Appraisal H16.

Ground rent
Capitalised annual 

ground rent
Social Rented £0
Shared Ownership £0
Affordable Rent £0

Open market (all phases) £0
Capitalised Annual Ground Rents £0

TOTAL CAPITAL VALUE OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COST OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION OF RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £6,464,008

Non-Residential
Cost Values

Office £0 £0
Retail £0 £0
Industrial £0 £0
Leisure £0 £0
Community Use £0 £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0

CAPITAL VALUE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
COSTS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL SCHEME £0
CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS FROM NON-RESIDENTIAL £0

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE OF SCHEME £15,808,500
TOTAL BUILD COSTS £9,344,492
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION TO SCHEME COSTS £6,464,008

External Works & Infrastructure Costs (£) Per unit % of GDV per Hectare
Site Preparation/Demolition £0
Roads and Sewers £0
Services (Power, Water, Gas, Telco and IT) £0
Strategic Landscaping £0
Off Site Works £0
Public Open Space £0
Site Specific Sustainability Initiatives £181,457 1,815 1.1% 90,729
Plot specific external works £0
M4(2) Accessible homes £52,253 523 0.3% 26,127
Electric vehicle charging £50,000 500 0.3% 25,000

£283,710 1.8% 141,855
Other site costs
Fees and certification 5.0% £453,616 4,536 2.9% 226,808
Other Acquisition Costs (£) £0

Site Abnormals (£)
De-canting tenants £0
Decontamination £0
Other £0
Other 2 £0
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0
Other 5 £0

£0

Total Site Costs inc Fees £737,326 7,373

Statutory 106 Costs (£)
Education £198,179 1,982
Sport & Recreation £0
Social Infrastructure £0
Public Realm £0
Affordable Housing - 5% on site £345,811 3,458
Transport £75,000 750
Highway £0
Health £0
Public Art £0
Flood work £0
Community Infrastructure Levy £0
Other Tariff £0
Open space £583,125 5,831
Allotments £26,200 262
Other 3 £0
Other 4 £0

£0
Statutory 106 costs £1,228,315 12,283

Marketing (Open Market Housing ONLY) per OM unit
Sales/letting Fees 3.0% £474,255 4,743
Legal Fees (per Open Market unit): £0 £0

Marketing (Affordable Housing) per affordable unit
Developer cost of sale to RP (£) £0
RP purchase costs (£) £0
Intermediate Housing Sales and Marketing (£) £0

Total Marketing Costs £474,255

Total Direct Costs £11,784,388

Finance and acquisition costs
Land Payment £888,000 8,880 per OM home 444,000 per hectare
Arrangement Fee £0 0.0% of interest
Misc Fees (Surveyors etc) £0 0.00% of scheme valuePage 2502



Appraisal H16.

Agents Fees £8,880
Legal Fees £6,660
Stamp Duty £33,900
Total Interest Paid £199,783

Total Finance and Acquisition Costs £1,137,223

Developer's return for risk and profit

Residential
Market Housing Return (inc OH) on Valu 18.0% £2,845,530 28,455 per OM unit
Affordable Housing Return on Cost 0.0% £0 per affordable unit
Return on sale of Private Rent 0.0% £0 #DIV/0! per PR unit
Non-residential
Office £0
Retail £0
Industrial £0
Leisure £0
Community-use £0 £0

Total Operating Profit £2,845,530
(i.e. profit after deducting sales and site specific finance costs but before deducting developer overheads and taxation)

TOTAL COST £15,767,141

Surplus/(Deficit) at completion 1/8/2021 £41,359

Present Value of Surplus (Deficit) at 1/7/2018 £34,060

Scheme Investment MIRR 33.2% (before Developer's returns and interest to avoid double counting returns)

Site Value as a Percentage of Total Scheme Value 5.6% Peak Cash Requirement -£2,537,777

Site Value (PV) per hectare £17,030 per hectare £8,369 per acre

Page 2503



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Salford Revised Draft Local Plan
	Revised Draft Local Plan
	190107 Revised Draft Local Plan MERGED with covers.docx.pdf
	Revised Draft Local Plan Front + Back Cover 2019.pdf
	190107 Revised Draft Local Plan MERGED.pdf

	Annex A of the Draft Local Plan - Nationally Described Space Standard.pdf

	Revised Draft Local Plan Policies Map
	Sustainability Appraisal of the Revised Draft Local Plan main report
	Appendix 1 List of plans policies and programmes reviewed
	Appendix 2 Review of plans policies and programmes
	Appendix 3 Details of baseline information
	Appendix 4 Details of sustainability indicators
	Appendix 5 Appraisal of Local Plan strategic options
	Appendix 6 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan site allocations
	Appendix 7 Sites not considered reasonable alternatives to Local Plan site allocations
	Appendix 8 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan allocation reasonable alternatives
	Appendix 9 Appraisal of Revised Draft Local Plan policies and reaonable alternatives
	Community Impact Assessment Screening
	Community Impact Assessment
	Consultation statement
	Consultation Statement Appendices
	190107 Schedules Merged.pdf
	0-1 General comments.pdf
	0-2 Introduction.pdf
	0-3 Spatial portrait.pdf
	0-3 Strategic objectives.pdf
	0-4 Spatial vision.pdf
	5 Chapter 5 General Comments.pdf
	5 CC1 City Centre.pdf
	5 CC2 Greengate Park.pdf
	5 SQ1 Salford Quays.pdf
	5 OW1 Ordsall Waterfront.pdf
	5 C1 Cambridge.pdf
	6 DP Chapter general comments.pdf
	6 DP1 Efficient use of land.pdf
	6 DP2 Co-ordinated development.pdf
	6 DP3 Planning conditions and obligations.pdf
	7 Chapter 7 Economic Development (General).pdf
	7 EC1 Economic Development Spatial Strategy.pdf
	7 EC2 Office Development.pdf
	7 EC3 Industrial and Warehousing Development.pdf
	7 EC4 Employment Allocations (General).pdf
	7 EC4-1 Port Salford Expansion.pdf
	7 EC4-2 Clifton Junction.pdf
	7 EC4-3 Ashtons Field.pdf
	7 EC5 Existing Employment Areas.pdf
	8 CT1 Tourism Development.pdf
	8 CT2 Art and Culture.pdf
	8 CT3-1 Land around the AJ Bell Stadium (Irlam).pdf
	8 CT3-2 RHS Bridgewater.pdf
	9 Chapter 9 Housing (general).pdf
	9 H1 Housing strategy.pdf
	9 H2 Scale, phasing, distribution.pdf
	9 H3 and H4 General comments.pdf
	9 H3-1 Land east of Boothstown.pdf
	9 H3-2 Land west of Boothstown.pdf
	9 H3-3 Land west of Hayes Road.pdf
	9 H3-4 Western Cadishead and Irlam.pdf
	9 H3-5 Charlestown Riverside.pdf
	9 H3-6 Brackley golf course.pdf
	9 H3-7 Ladwell Avenue.pdf
	9 H3-8 Land west of Burgess Farm.pdf
	9 H3-9 Land west of Kenyon Way.pdf
	9 H3-10 Clifton Business Park.pdf
	9 H3-11 Land south of St Augustines Church.pdf
	9 H3-12 Swinton Hall Road employment area.pdf
	9 H3-13 Land south of Hill Top Road.pdf
	9 H3-14 Land south of Moss Lane.pdf
	9 H3-15 Hazelhurst Farm.pdf
	9 H3-16 Land north of Lumber Lane.pdf
	9 H4-1 Duncan Mathieson.pdf
	9 H4-2 Former Swinton Wastewater works.pdf
	9 H5 Size of dwellings.pdf
	9 H6 Housing design.pdf
	9 H7 - Affordable housing.pdf
	9 H8 Conversion of existing homes.pdf
	9 H9 Housing for older people.pdf
	9 H10 gypsies and travellers.pdf
	9 H11 purpose-built student housing.pdf
	10 TC General comments.pdf
	10 TC1 Town centres spatial strategy.pdf
	10 TC2 Development involving main town centre uses.pdf
	10 TC3 Retail frontages, changes of use and redevelopments within centres.pdf
	11 ED0 Education general comments.pdf
	11 ED1 Schools and further education facilities.pdf
	11 ED2 Residential development and school places.pdf
	11 ED3 University of Salford.pdf
	12 HH General.pdf
	12 HH1 Provision of primary health care facilities.pdf
	12 HH2 Salford Royal Hospital.pdf
	13 A0 Accessibility general comments.pdf
	13 A1 Sustainable transport strategy.pdf
	13 A2 Transport hierarchy.pdf
	13 A3 Walking and cycling.pdf
	13 A4 Public transport.pdf
	13 A5 Sustainable movement of freight.pdf
	13 A6 Highway Network.pdf
	13 A7 Parking provision and drop off facilities in new developments.pdf
	13 A8 City Centre Car Parking.pdf
	13 A9 Park and ride facilities.pdf
	13 A10 Electric vehicle charging points.pdf
	13 A11 Barton Aerodrome.pdf
	13 A12 Protection of aviation safety at Manchester Airport.pdf
	13 A13 Safeguarding potential transport routes.pdf
	14 EG General.pdf
	14 EG1 Sustainable energy.pdf
	14 EG2 Wind development.pdf
	15 WA0 Water general.pdf
	15 WA1 Water strategy.pdf
	15 WA2 Water supply and water efficiency.pdf
	15 WA3 Water quality.pdf
	15 WA4 Flood related infrastructure.pdf
	15 WA5 Development and Flood Risk.pdf
	15 WA6 Surface water and sustainable drainage.pdf
	16 D1 Design Principles.pdf
	16 D2 Local character and Distinctiveness.pdf
	16 D3 Layout and Access.pdf
	16 D4 Views.pdf
	16 D5 Spaces.pdf
	16 D6 Architectural Design.pdf
	16 D7 Alterations and Extensions.pdf
	16 D8 Materials.pdf
	16 D9 Amenity.pdf
	16 D10 Microclimate.pdf
	16 D11 Design and Crime.pdf
	16 D12 Waterside Development.pdf
	17 HE Heritage General.pdf
	17 HE1 Heritage Spatial Strategy.pdf
	17 HE2 A positive future for heritage assets.pdf
	18 GI1 Green infrastructure spatial strategy.pdf
	18 GI2 Green infrastructure requirements for development.pdf
	18 GI3 Chat Moss.pdf
	18 GI4 Irwell Valley.pdf
	18 GI5 Local Green Space.pdf
	18 GI5-1 Local Green Space - The Meadow.pdf
	18 GI5-2 Local Green Space - Brickfield Wood.pdf
	18 GI5-3 Local Green Space - Three Sisters.pdf
	18 GI5-4 Local Green Space - Blackleach Country Park.pdf
	18 GI5-5 Local Green Space - West Salford Greenway.pdf
	18 GI5-6 Local Green Space - Worsley Green.pdf
	18 GI6 Trees and woodland.pdf
	19 GB1 Green Belt.pdf
	19 GB2 Agricultural, foresty and other occupational dwellings within the Green Belt.pdf
	19 GB3 Farm Diversification.pdf
	20 BG Biodiversity General.pdf
	20 BG1 Biodiversity spatial strategy.pdf
	20 BG2 Development and biodiversity.pdf
	20 BG3 Geological diversity.pdf
	21 R1 Recreation spatial strategy.pdf
	21 R2 Recreation standards.pdf
	21 R3 Recreation facilities and residential amenity.pdf
	21 R4 Protection of recreation land and facilities.pdf
	21 R5 Strategic recreation routes.pdf
	22 PH General Comments.pdf
	22 PH1 Pollution control.pdf
	22 PH2 Control of hazardous uses.pdf
	22 PH3 Development near hazardous installations.pdf
	23 Minerals and waste.pdf
	24 Implementation and monitoring.pdf
	Annex E.pdf
	AddItional allocations suggested.pdf
	Evidence base - Assessment of residential viability.pdf
	Evidence base - CIA.pdf
	Evidence base - HELAA.pdf
	Sustainability Appraisal.pdf


	Draft Salford Local Plan Statement of Common Ground - January 2019
	Residential vability assessment main report
	Residential vability assessment annexes
	Annexes A, B, C, D, E, F.pdf
	Annexes cover.docx.pdf
	Blank page.pdf
	Residential value areas - annex E.pdf
	G1. Premium, high density A.pdf
	G10. Mid, high density A.pdf
	G11. Mid, mid density A.pdf
	G12. Mid, houses.pdf
	G13. Low-mid, mid density A.pdf
	G14. Low-mid, houses.pdf
	G15. Low, mid density A.pdf
	G16. Low, houses.pdf
	G2. Premium, MID density A.pdf
	G3. Premium, houses.pdf
	G4. High, high density A.pdf
	G5. High, mid density A.pdf
	G6. High, houses.pdf
	G7. Mid high, high density A.pdf
	G8. Mid-high, mid density A.pdf
	G9. Mid-high, houses.pdf
	H1. Premium, high density A - 15%.pdf
	H11. Mid, mid density A - 10%.pdf
	H12. Mid, houses - 20%.pdf
	H14. Low-mid, houses - 15%.pdf
	H16. Low, houses - 5%.pdf
	H2. Premium, mid density A - 50%.pdf
	H3. Premium, houses - 50%.pdf
	H5. High, mid density A - 35%.pdf
	H6. High, houses - 50%.pdf
	H8. Mid-high, mid density A - 25%.pdf
	H9. Mid-high, houses - 35%.pdf


	3b Salford Revised Planning Obligations SPD.
	1. Draft Planning obligations SPD
	2. SA-SEA determination statement
	3. Consultation statement
	4a. Residential viability assessment main report
	4b. Residential viability assessment annexes
	Annexes A, B, C, D, E, F.pdf
	Annexes cover.docx.pdf
	Blank page.pdf
	Residential value areas - annex E.pdf
	G1. Premium, high density A.pdf
	G10. Mid, high density A.pdf
	G11. Mid, mid density A.pdf
	G12. Mid, houses.pdf
	G13. Low-mid, mid density A.pdf
	G14. Low-mid, houses.pdf
	G15. Low, mid density A.pdf
	G16. Low, houses.pdf
	G2. Premium, MID density A.pdf
	G3. Premium, houses.pdf
	G4. High, high density A.pdf
	G5. High, mid density A.pdf
	G6. High, houses.pdf
	G7. Mid high, high density A.pdf
	G8. Mid-high, mid density A.pdf
	G9. Mid-high, houses.pdf
	H1. Premium, high density A - 15%.pdf
	H11. Mid, mid density A - 10%.pdf
	H12. Mid, houses - 20%.pdf
	H14. Low-mid, houses - 15%.pdf
	H16. Low, houses - 5%.pdf
	H2. Premium, mid density A - 50%.pdf
	H3. Premium, houses - 50%.pdf
	H5. High, mid density A - 35%.pdf
	H6. High, houses - 50%.pdf
	H8. Mid-high, mid density A - 25%.pdf
	H9. Mid-high, houses - 35%.pdf





